
           

NOTICE TO THE PUBLIC
WILLIAMSON COUNTY COMMISSIONER’S COURT

APRIL 18TH, 2017 
9:30 A.M.

             

The Commissioner’s Court of Williamson County, Texas will meet in regular
session in the Commissioner's Courtroom, 710 Main Street, in Georgetown,
Texas to consider the following items:

 

1. Review and approval of minutes.
 

2. Consider noting in minutes any off right-of-way work on any County road done by Road & Bridge Division.
 

3. Hear County Auditor concerning invoices, bills, Quick Check Report, wire transfers and electronic
payments submitted for payment and take appropriate action including, but not limited to approval for
payment provided said items are found by the County Auditor to be legal obligations of the county. 

 

4. Citizen comments. Except when public hearings are scheduled for later in the meeting, this will be the
only opportunity for citizen input. The Court invites comments on any matter affecting the county, whether
on the Agenda or not. Speakers should limit their comments to three minutes. Note that the members of
the Court may not comment at the meeting about matters that are not on the agenda.

 

CONSENT AGENDA 
The Consent Agenda includes non-controversial and routine items that the Court may act on with one
single vote. The Judge or a Commissioner may pull any item from the consent agenda in order that the
court discuss and act upon it individually as part of the Regular Agenda.
( Items 5 – 10 )

 

5.   Discuss, consider and take appropriate action on approving compensation changes, position
titles changes, position grade changes and any corresponding line item transfers.

 

6.   Discuss, consider and take appropriate action on authorizing the disposal of various county assets
through auction including (25) Chairs, (2) Desks, (1) Table, (1) Box of VHS movies, (1) Tower fan, (1)
Fridge, (1) Filing cabinet, (1) Outdoor plastic bench, (1) Power supply, (4) Widescreen privacy filters,
(1) Christmas tree, (3) Printers, (1) Number roll pull system, (1) Catalog rack, (6) Wall Pictures, (1)
Radio, (1) Shelf, (1) Below desk keyboard holder, (4) Keyboards, (2) Mice, (3) Calculators, (1)
Open/close sign, Misc. wires and cables, (2) Metal lock boxes, (1) Docking station, (1) Foot rest, (1)
vacuum, (1) DVD Burner, (1) Picnic table, (1) Microwave, (1) TV, (1) Floor mat, (5) phones,(1) 2009
Chevy 1500 X-Cab, (1) 2006 Ford Crown-Vic. (see attached lists) pursuant to Tx. Local Gov't code
263.152.

 

7.   Discuss, consider and take appropriate action on authorizing the disposal of (1) Dell 21in monitor,
through inter-departmental transfer (see attached sheet) pursuant to Tx. Local Gov't Code 263.152.

 

8.   Discuss, consider and take appropriate action on authorizing the disposal of various county assets
through destruction including (7) Boxes of security tapes and (2) Mattresses (see attached sheet)
pursuant to Tx. Local Gov't code 263.152.

 



9.   Discuss, consider and take any appropriate action regarding approval and receipt of Vehicle
Reimbursement Agreement with City National Bank (Refill ATMs in Eastern WILCO).

 

10.   Consider acknowledgement or acceptance and record into the minutes the revised Amendment Two to
Interlocal Cooperation Agreement for Austin Regional Intelligence Center (ARIC) and for sustainment
funding agreement with ARIC under authority of Williamson County Sheriff's Office to update
information for current administration. 

 

REGULAR AGENDA
 

11.   Receive and acknowledge the April 2017 Construction Summary Report for the Road Bond and Pass
Through Financing Programs.

 

12.   Discuss, consider and take appropriate action on the Department of Infrastructure projects and issues
update.

 

13.   Discuss, consider and take appropriate action on a contract amendment no. 1 for Neenah Avenue
Widening road project between Williamson County and Stantec Consulting Services, Inc. relating to the
2013 Road Bond Program.

 

14.   Discuss, consider and take appropriate action on an Encroachment Agreement with Oncor Electric
Delivery Company, LLC (Oncor) to allow for a detention pond to encroach upon Oncor’s easement at
the North Campus Facility Project.

 

15.   Discuss, consider and take appropriate action on approving 2013 Road Bond Budget Transfer per Mike
Weaver, Road Bond Manager, to move $200,000 from 2013 Road Non-Departmental (P290) to
Bagdad Road @ CR 278 (P438).

 

16.   Discuss, consider and take appropriate action on a real estate contract with TRIBAR for ROW needed
near CR 258. 

 

17.   Discuss, consider and take appropriate action on a real estate contract with Paul J. Anderson for right
of way needed on CR 101 (Parcel 15). 

 

18.   Discuss, consider, and take appropriate action on authorizing Purchasing Agent to advertise and
receive sealed bids for Crack Seal under IFB # 1704-156.

 

19.   Discuss, consider, and take appropriate action on authorizing Purchasing Agent to advertise and
receive bids for Milling & Overlay Ronald Regan Blvd From FM 3405 To RM 2338 under IFB #
1704-157.

 

20.   Discuss, consider and take appropriate action on awarding IFB # 1702-147 Cul-De-Sac Fog Seal to the
lowest and best bidder, Alpha Paving Industries LLC, as recommended by the Road and Bridge
Department and authorizing the County Judge to sign the attached Agreement. 

 

21.   Discuss, consider and take appropriate action on awarding RFP 1612-131 for Payroll Services for
Existing Temporary Labor for Elections, to the best proposer, Evins Personnel Consultants, Inc.

 

22.   Discuss, consider and take appropriate action on approving the additional Terms & Conditions
between Sungard Public Sector and Williamson County ITS for Sungard Public Sector add-ons.

 



23.   Discuss, consider, and take appropriate action on rejecting the only proposal received for RFP#
1701-139, Renovations to 355 Texas Avenue Facility in Round Rock, Texas and authorize Purchasing
Agent to advertise and receive proposals for RFP# 1704-153, Renovations to 355 Texas Avenue
Facility in Round Rock, TX.

 

24.   Discuss, consider and take appropriate action on an order declaring an emergency and a grave
necessity due to unforeseeable circumstances and approve budget amendment acknowledging
additional revenues for Animal Shelter Donations:

 

Fiscal Impact

From/To Acct No. Description Amount
0546.0000.367404 Animal Shelter Donations $20,278.17

0546.0000.367440 Jane's Fund Donations $18,090.69

0546.0000.367441 ASPCA Donations $0.00

0546.0000.367442 Play Yard Donation $140.00

0546.0000.367443 Heart Worm Trmt Donations $6,791.78

0546.0000.367445 Sit Team Donations $405.00

0546.0000.370150 Sale of Pet Care Products $543.31

 

25.   Discuss, consider and take appropriate action on an order declaring an emergency and a grave
necessity due to unforeseeable circumstances and approve budget amendment acknowledging
additional expenditures for the use of Animal Shelter Donations:

 

Fiscal Impact

From/To Acct No. Description Amount
0546.0546.003510 Purchase for Resale $543.31

0546.0546.003670 Use of Donations $20,278.17

0546.0546.004100 Professional Services $18,090.69

0546.0546.004109 Special Needs $0.00

0546.0546.004232 Training $405.00

0546.0546.004509 Facility Enhancements $140.00

0546.0546.004975 Animal Medical Care $6,791.78

 

26.   Discuss, consider and take appropriate action on an order declaring an emergency and a grave
necessity due to unforeseeable circumstances and approve budget amendment to acknowledge
additional revenues for Park Donations:

 

Fiscal Impact

From/To Acct No. Description Amount
0100.0000.367403 Park Donations $271.80

 

27.   Discuss, consider and take appropriate action on an order declaring an emergency and a grave
necessity due to unforeseeable circumstances and approve a budget amendment to acknowledge
additional expenditures for Park Donations:

 

Fiscal Impact



From/To Acct No. Description Amount
0100.0510.003670 Use of Donations $271.80

 

28.   Consider an order declaring an emergency and grave necessity due to unforeseeable circumstances
and approve a budget amendment for the Williamson County EMS share of the FY 16 Capital Area
Trauma Advisory Council (CATRAC) Trauma System Funds.

 

Fiscal Impact

From/To Acct No. Description Amount
0100.0000.333220 Payment from Other Entities $25523.18

 

29.   Discuss, consider and take appropriate action on an order declaring an emergency and a grave
necessity due to unforeseeable circumstances and approve a budget amendment to acknowledge
additional expenditures for EMS.

 

Fiscal Impact

From/To Acct No. Description Amount
0100.0540.004232 Training, Conf. & Seminars $4400.00

0100.0540.003311 Uniforms $4176.00

0100.0540.005000 Capital Outlay $12779.61

0100.0540.004350 Printed Mat. & Binding $1097.98

0100.0540.003010 Computer Equipment $2313.85

0100.0540.003001 Small Equip & Tools $755.74

 

EXECUTIVE SESSION
"The Commissioners Court for Williamson County reserves the right to
adjourn into executive session at any time during the course of this
meeting to discuss any of the matters listed above, as authorized by Texas
Government Code Sections 551.071 (Consultations with Attorney), 551.072
(Deliberations regarding Real Property), 551.073 (Deliberations regarding
Gifts and Donations), 551.074 (Personnel Matters), 551.076 (Deliberations
regarding Security Devices) and 551.087 (Deliberations regarding
Economic Development Negotiations)."

 

30.   Discussion regarding economic development negotiations pursuant to Texas Government Code,
Section 551.087:
a) Business prospect(s) that may locate or expand within Williamson County.
b) Discuss Pearson Road District.
c) Discuss North Woods Road District.
d) Project Columbus Balbo
e) Mega Site

 

31.   Discuss real estate matters (EXECUTIVE SESSION as per VTCA Govt. Code sec. 551.072



31.   Discuss real estate matters (EXECUTIVE SESSION as per VTCA Govt. Code sec. 551.072
Deliberation Regarding Real Estate Property if deliberation in an open meeting would have a
detrimental effect on the position of the governmental body in negotiations with third person.)
A. Real Estate Owned by Third Parties
1. Preliminary discussions relating to proposed or potential purchase or lease of property owned by
third parties
a) Discuss the acquisition of real property for right-of-way for Mays St. Extension 
b) Discuss the acquisition of real property for SW 183 and SH 29 Loop. 
c) Discuss the acquisition of real property for CR 176 at RM 2243
d) Discuss the acquisition of real property with endangered species for mitigation purposes.
e) Discuss the acquisition of real property: CR 101
f) Discuss the acquisition of real property: CR 111
g) Discuss the acquisition of real property for CR 278 at Bagdad Rd.
h) Discuss the acquisition of real property for proposed CR 110 project. (All sections)
i) Discuss the acquisition of real property for County Facilities.
j) Discuss the acquisition of real property on CR 305. 
k) Discuss the acquisition of Easement interests for the Brushy Creek Trail Project. 
l) Discuss acquisition of property located at NEC of Toll 130 and Gattis School Rd. 
m) Discuss the acquisition of a drainage easement for CR 108.
n) Discuss easement acquisitions from San Gabriel River Ranch Subdivision.
o) Discuss the acquisition of real property for CR 258.
p) Discuss the acquisition of real property for Lakeline Blvd.
q) Discuss the acquisition of real property for US 183.
r) Discuss the acquisition of real property for Hairy Man Rd. 
s) Discuss the acquisition of real property for SW Bypass.
t) Discuss the acquisition of real property for Crossroad Acres.

B. Property or Real Estate owned by Williamson County
1). Preliminary discussions relating to proposed or potential sale or lease of property owned by the
County
a) Discuss County owned real estate containing underground water rights and interests.
b) Discuss possible sale of 183 A excess right of way
c) Discuss proposed sale of real estate of Blue Springs Blvd
d) Discuss transfer of right of way for Westinghouse Rd. to the City of Georgetown.
e) Discuss wastewater easements in Berry Springs Park
f) Discuss Development Agreement with Ashby Capital Investments, LLC
g) Discuss sale of County property on Ronald Reagan Blvd.
h) Discuss abandonment of County property on CR 123. 

C. Consider intervention in lawsuit regarding de-listing of Bone Cave harvestman. 
 

32. Discuss pending or contemplated litigation, settlement matters and other confidential attorney-client legal
matters (EXECUTIVE SESSION as per VTCA Govt. Code sec. 551.071 consultation with attorney.),
including the following:

a) Litigation or claims or potential litigation or claims against the County or by the County
b) Status Update-Pending Cases or Claims;
c) Civil Action No.1:13- CV- 505, Robert Lloyd v. Lisa Birkman, et al, In The United States District Court
for the Western District of Texas, Austin Division
d) Employee/personnel related matters
e) Other confidential attorney-client matters, including contracts and certain matters related to county
defense issues in which the duty of the attorney to the governmental body within the attorney/client
relationship clearly conflicts with Chapter 551 of the Texas Government Code.
f) Cause No. 15-0064-C277, Gordon v. Dollahite et al, In The District Court of Williamson County, Texas,
277th District
g) County Road 241 utility and Right-of-Way Issues and matters;
h) Civil Action No. 1:15-cv-431; Herman Crisp v. Williamson County, et al; In the USDC-WD-Austin
Division
i) Carolyn Barnes, et al v. Texas Attorney General, et al; Cause # D-1-GN-15-000877, in the 419th



Judicial District Court of Travis County
j) Appeal of IRS Proposed Worker Classification Changes and Proposed Tax Adjustments 2011 -2013;
and Payment of Disputed Employment Taxes Pending Appeal
k) Potential claims and litigation against Volkswagen and Audi related to Volkswagen and Audi emission
control systems on diesel engine vehicles in the period 2009 – 2015
l) Discuss proposed acquisition of property for SW 183 and SH 29 Loop
m) Claims of Texas Association for Children and Families
n) Civil Action; American Stewards of Liberty, et al. v. Sally Jewell, et al., In the Western District Court,
Western District of Texas, Austin Division
o) Legislative changes to firearms laws and possession of firearms on county property
p) SOAH Docket No. 473-16-4342; PUC Docket No. 45866 –Application of LCRA Transmission Services
Corporation to Amend its Certificate of Convenience and Necessity for the Proposed Leander to Round
Rock 138-KV Transmission Line Project
q) Notice of claim and demand of Morgan Lee Roach.
r) Labor and employment law review of Employee Policy Manual provisions and amendments.
s) Berry Springs Park and Preserve pipeline
t) Discuss subrogation claims related to medical claims incurred during the County’s contract with
Allegiance Benefit Plan Management (TPA).
u) Discuss requirements related to health benefit plan.
v) Case No. 1:16-cv-00505-LY, Saturn v. Barnett et al, In The United States District Court For The
Western District of Texas-Austin Division
w) Civil Action No. 1:16-cv-1023 LY, Brian Carrier v. Lt. McKnight, et al, In The United States District
Court For The Western District Of Texas, Austin Division
x) Cause No. 1JC-16-1540; Roy Earl Briggs v. Lt. Doug Wheless, In The Justice Court Precinct 1,
Williamson County, Texas 
y) Civil Action No. 1:16-cv-01185-SS-ML, Jose Refugio Fernandez-Madrid v. Keefe Commissary and the
Williamson County Sheriff, In the United States District Court for the Western District of Texas – Austin
Division
z) Law relating requests for the closure, abandonment or vacation of roadway(s) in the Woodland Park
Subdivision. 
aa) Civil Action No. Case 1:17-cv-00068; Dennis Farmer & Linda Schlueter v. Williamson County and
Deputy Damon Grant; In The United States District Court for the Western District of Texas, Austin
Division

 

33. Deliberate the appointment, employment, evaluation, reassignment, duties, discipline
and/or dismissal of Williamson County officers, directors, employees and/or positions,
including but not limited to conducting deliberation and discussion pertaining to annual
reviews of department heads and appointed officials (Executive Session as per Tex. Gov.
Code Section 551.074 – Personnel Matters).

 

34. Discuss the deployment or specific occasions for implementation of security personnel or
devices in relation to the Williamson County Justice Center (Executive Session as per
Texas Gov’t. Code § 551.076).

 

REGULAR AGENDA (continued)
 

35. Discuss and take appropriate action concerning economic development.
 

36. Discuss and take appropriate action concerning real estate.
 

37. Discuss and take appropriate action on pending or contemplated litigation, settlement matters and other



37. Discuss and take appropriate action on pending or contemplated litigation, settlement matters and other
confidential attorney-client legal matters, including the following:

a) Litigation or claims or potential litigation or claims against the County or by the County
b) Status Update-Pending Cases or Claims;
c) Civil Action No.1:13- CV- 505, Robert Lloyd v. Lisa Birkman, et al, In The United States District Court
for the Western District of Texas, Austin Division
d) Employee/personnel related matters
e) Other confidential attorney-client matters, including contracts and certain matters related to county
defense issues in which the duty of the attorney to the governmental body within the attorney/client
relationship clearly conflicts with Chapter 551 of the Texas Government Code.
f) Cause No. 15-0064-C277, Gordon v. Dollahite et al, In The District Court of Williamson County, Texas,
277th District
g) County Road 241 utility and Right-of-Way Issues and matters;
h) Civil Action No. 1:15-cv-431; Herman Crisp v. Williamson County, et al; In the USDC-WD-Austin
Division
i) Carolyn Barnes, et al v. Texas Attorney General, et al; Cause # D-1-GN-15-000877, in the 419th
Judicial District Court of Travis County
j) Discuss, consider and take appropriate action regarding possible appeal of IRS Proposed Worker
Classification Changes and Proposed Tax Adjustments 2011 -2013; and approval of payment of disputed
employment taxes pending appeal
k) Potential claims and litigation against Volkswagen and Audi related to Volkswagen and Audi emission
control systems on diesel engine vehicles in the period 2009 – 2015
l) Discuss proposed acquisition of property for SW 183 and SH 29 Loop
m) Claims of Texas Association for Children and Families
n) Civil Action; American Stewards of Liberty, et al. v. Sally Jewell, et al., In the Western District Court,
Western District of Texas, Austin Division
o) Action regarding legislative changes to firearms laws, to include but not be limited to the adoption and
implementation of regulations and policies relating to the possession of firearms on and within Williamson
County property and facilities.
p) SOAH Docket No. 473-16-4342; PUC Docket No. 45866 –Application of LCRA Transmission Services
Corporation to Amend its Certificate of Convenience and Necessity for the Proposed Leander to Round
Rock 138-KV Transmission Line Project
q) Notice of claim and demand of Morgan Lee Roach.
r) Berry Springs Park and Preserve pipeline
s) Discuss, consider, and take appropriate action regarding the handling, including but not limited to, the
negotiating and approval of settlement offers, of subrogation claims related to medical claims incurred
during the County’s contract with Allegiance Benefit Plan Management (TPA).
t) Discuss requirements related to health benefit plan.
u) Case No. 1:16-cv-00505-LY, Saturn v. Barnett et al, In The United States District Court For The
Western District of Texas-Austin Division
v) Civil Action No. 1:16-cv-1023 LY, Brian Carrier v. Lt. McKnight, et al, In The United States District
Court For The Western District Of Texas, Austin Division
w) Cause No. 1JC-16-1540; Roy Earl Briggs v. Lt. Doug Wheless, In The Justice Court Precinct 1,
Williamson County, Texas 
x) Civil Action No. 1:16-cv-01185-SS-ML, Jose Refugio Fernandez-Madrid v. Keefe Commissary and the
Williamson County Sheriff, In the United States District Court for the Western District of Texas – Austin
Division
y) Law relating requests for the closure, abandonment or vacation of roadway(s) in the Woodland Park
Subdivision. 
z) Civil Action No. Case 1:17-cv-00068; Dennis Farmer & Linda Schlueter v. Williamson County and
Deputy Damon Grant; In The United States District Court for the Western District of Texas, Austin
Division

 

38. Discuss, consider and take appropriate action regarding the appointment, employment,
evaluation, reassignment, duties, discipline and/or dismissal of Williamson County
officers, directors or employees, including but not limited to any necessary action
pertaining to conducting annual reviews of department heads and appointed officials.



 

39. Comments from Commissioners.
 

_________________________ 
Dan A. Gattis, County Judge 

This notice of meeting was posted in the locked box located on the south side of the Williamson County Courthouse,
a place readily accessible to the general public at all times, on the ______ day of ________, 2017 at ________ and
remained posted for at least 72 continuous hours preceding the scheduled time of said meeting.



   

Commissioners Court - Regular Session   5.           
Meeting Date: 04/18/2017  

Compensation Items
Submitted For: Tara Raymore  Submitted By: Kristy Sutton, Human Resources
Department: Human Resources
Agenda Category: Consent

Information
Agenda Item
Discuss, consider and take appropriate action on approving compensation changes, position titles
changes, position grade changes and any corresponding line item transfers.

Background
See attached documentation for details.

Fiscal Impact

From/To Acct No. Description Amount

Attachments
Comp Item

Form Review
Inbox Reviewed By Date
Human Resources (Originator) Tammy Fennell 04/12/2017 09:02 AM
County Judge Exec Asst. Wendy Coco 04/12/2017 09:48 AM
Form Started By: Kristy Sutton Started On: 04/11/2017 09:26 AM
Final Approval Date: 04/12/2017 



Department PCN EE ID

Budget 

Amount

*Requested 

Amount

Change 

Amount % Change Reason for Change Available Funds

Earliest Oracle 

Effective Date

Road and Bridge 1557 Vacant $32,500.00 $33,500.00 $1,000.00 3.08%

Salary increase vacant 

position Unallocated 4/7/2017

Road and Bridge 1564 Vacant $32,500.00 $33,500.00 $1,000.00 3.08%

Salary increase vacant 

position Unallocated 4/7/2017

Road and Bridge 1555 Vacant $33,500.00 N/A N/A N/A

Title, Grade change; 

Operator II (B.19) to 

Operator I (B.17) N/A 4/7/2017

Corrections 0344 Vacant $41,582.32 $51,944.88 $10,362.56 24.92%

Salary increase to vacant 

position; from C2.1 to 

C2.14 to accommodate 

tenure Unallocated 4/7/2017

Fleet Services 0918 14044 $63,379.16 $66,548.12 $3,168.96 5.00% Merit Unallocated 4/7/2017

*Amount may vary slightly due to Oracle rounding



   

Commissioners Court - Regular Session   6.           
Meeting Date: 04/18/2017  

Asset Transfer
Submitted By: Jayme Jasso, Purchasing
Department: Purchasing
Agenda Category: Consent

Information
Agenda Item
Discuss, consider and take appropriate action on authorizing the disposal of various county assets through auction
including (25) Chairs, (2) Desks, (1) Table, (1) Box of VHS movies, (1) Tower fan, (1) Fridge, (1) Filing cabinet, (1)
Outdoor plastic bench, (1) Power supply, (4) Widescreen privacy filters, (1) Christmas tree, (3) Printers, (1) Number
roll pull system, (1) Catalog rack, (6) Wall Pictures, (1) Radio, (1) Shelf, (1) Below desk keyboard holder, (4)
Keyboards, (2) Mice, (3) Calculators, (1) Open/close sign, Misc. wires and cables, (2) Metal lock boxes, (1) Docking
station, (1) Foot rest, (1) vacuum, (1) DVD Burner, (1) Picnic table, (1) Microwave, (1) TV, (1) Floor mat, (5)
phones,(1) 2009 Chevy 1500 X-Cab, (1) 2006 Ford Crown-Vic. (see attached lists) pursuant to Tx. Local Gov't
code 263.152.

Background

Fiscal Impact

From/To Acct No. Description Amount

Attachments
Asset Auction
Asset Auction 1
Asset Auction 2

Form Review
Inbox Reviewed By Date
County Judge Exec Asst. Wendy Coco 04/12/2017 08:51 AM
Form Started By: Jayme Jasso Started On: 04/11/2017 10:29 AM
Final Approval Date: 04/12/2017 























Court Document

Vehicle Status Change

Human Resources 

 County VIN/Serial #:  Department:

 Equipment Number (Door Number):

 License Plate:  Year: Make: Model:

 Reason for Status Change:

High Mileage: List actual mileage 

Not mechanically sound: Explain below

Transfer (complete Receiving Department sec,on) 

Other: Explain below

 Explana,on:   

 Elected Official/Department Head/Authorized Staff Signature  Date:

Vehicle Status Change/Title Determina�on - To be completed by Fleet Services Manager

 Method of Status change: This vehicle is to be considered for: (select one)

Sale at the earliest auc,on

Salvage for parts

Trade-in for new assets of same general type for the county

Transfer

Sale to insurance

SALE to a government en,ty/civil or charitable organiza,on in the county

    at fair market value

Other

Authorized Fleet Staff Digital Signature   Date   

To be completed by Human Resources (hr_risk@wilco.org):

 All applicable accident paperwork has been received and there is no

 li,ga,on pending on this unit. It has been cleared for re,rement.

 Employee Authorizing Digital Signature Date

Vehicle Status Change/Title Determina�on - To be completed by the Auditors Office:

2FAFP71W16X142584 540 - EMS

EA0623

115-6647 2006 Ford Crown-Victoria

134,033

i:0#.f|membership|mknipstein@wilco.org2017-04-04T08:15:39 2017-04-04

i:0#.f|membership|kevin.teller@wilco.org2017-04-04T12:38:35 2017-04-04

i:0#.f|membership|heather.kirkwood@wilco.org  2017-04-05T09:19:56 2017-04-05

Vehicle Status Change Form - 2FAFP71W16X142584 EA0623 https://wilco365.sharepoint.com/HR-Services/_layouts/15/FormServer.a...

1 of 2 4/10/2017 3:12 PM



Check box indicates the Vehicle Transfer has been reviewed and approved:  

Title Approved for:

Salvage Title

Non-repairable Title

No change needed; current ,tle is s,ll valid

 Authorized Employee Digital Signature   

  Date

Human Resources

Created by Williamson County Technology Services

i:0#.f|membership|angela.schmidt@wilco.org  2017-04-07T14:29:45 2017-04-07

Vehicle Status Change Form - 2FAFP71W16X142584 EA0623 https://wilco365.sharepoint.com/HR-Services/_layouts/15/FormServer.a...

2 of 2 4/10/2017 3:12 PM



Court Document

Vehicle Status Change

Human Resources 

 County VIN/Serial #:  Department:

 Equipment Number (Door Number):

 License Plate:  Year: Make: Model:

 Reason for Status Change:

High Mileage: List actual mileage 

Not mechanically sound: Explain below

Transfer (complete Receiving Department sec,on) 

Other: Explain below

 Explana,on:   

 Elected Official/Department Head/Authorized Staff Signature  Date:

Vehicle Status Change/Title Determina�on - To be completed by Fleet Services Manager

 Method of Status change: This vehicle is to be considered for: (select one)

Sale at the earliest auc,on

Salvage for parts

Trade-in for new assets of same general type for the county

Transfer

Sale to insurance

SALE to a government en,ty/civil or charitable organiza,on in the county

    at fair market value

Other

Authorized Fleet Staff Digital Signature   Date   

To be completed by Human Resources (hr_risk@wilco.org):

 All applicable accident paperwork has been received and there is no

 li,ga,on pending on this unit. It has been cleared for re,rement.

 Employee Authorizing Digital Signature Date

Vehicle Status Change/Title Determina�on - To be completed by the Auditors Office:

1GCEC19019Z296743 210 - Unified Road Systems

UB0946

1090302 2009 CHEVROLET 1500 X-CAB

119002

i:0#.f|membership|jivey@wilco.org2017-03-28T14:33:39 2017-03-28

i:0#.f|membership|kevin.teller@wilco.org2017-04-04T15:54:41 2017-04-04

i:0#.f|membership|heather.kirkwood@wilco.org  2017-04-05T09:05:39 2017-04-05

Vehicle Status Change Form - 1GCEC19019Z296743 UB0946 https://wilco365.sharepoint.com/HR-Services/_layouts/15/FormServer.a...

1 of 2 4/10/2017 3:06 PM



Check box indicates the Vehicle Transfer has been reviewed and approved:  

Title Approved for:

Salvage Title

Non-repairable Title

No change needed; current ,tle is s,ll valid

 Authorized Employee Digital Signature   

  Date

Human Resources

Created by Williamson County Technology Services

i:0#.f|membership|angela.schmidt@wilco.org  2017-04-07T14:26:12 2017-04-07

Vehicle Status Change Form - 1GCEC19019Z296743 UB0946 https://wilco365.sharepoint.com/HR-Services/_layouts/15/FormServer.a...

2 of 2 4/10/2017 3:06 PM



   

Commissioners Court - Regular Session   7.           
Meeting Date: 04/18/2017  

Asset Transfer 4-18-2017
Submitted By: Jayme Jasso, Purchasing
Department: Purchasing
Agenda Category: Consent

Information
Agenda Item
Discuss, consider and take appropriate action on authorizing the disposal of (1) Dell 21in monitor, through
inter-departmental transfer (see attached sheet) pursuant to Tx. Local Gov't Code 263.152.

Background

Fiscal Impact

From/To Acct No. Description Amount

Attachments
Asset Transfer

Form Review
Inbox Reviewed By Date
County Judge Exec Asst. Wendy Coco 04/12/2017 08:51 AM
Form Started By: Jayme Jasso Started On: 04/11/2017 10:44 AM
Final Approval Date: 04/12/2017 





   

Commissioners Court - Regular Session   8.           
Meeting Date: 04/18/2017  

Asset Destruction 4-18-2017
Submitted By: Jayme Jasso, Purchasing
Department: Purchasing
Agenda Category: Consent

Information
Agenda Item
Discuss, consider and take appropriate action on authorizing the disposal of various county assets through
destruction including (7) Boxes of security tapes and (2) Mattresses (see attached sheet) pursuant to Tx. Local
Gov't code 263.152.

Background

Fiscal Impact

From/To Acct No. Description Amount

Attachments
Asset Destruction

Form Review
Inbox Reviewed By Date
County Judge Exec Asst. Wendy Coco 04/12/2017 08:51 AM
Form Started By: Jayme Jasso Started On: 04/11/2017 10:52 AM
Final Approval Date: 04/12/2017 





   

Commissioners Court - Regular Session   9.           
Meeting Date: 04/18/2017  

Vehicle Reimbursement Agreement for County Sheriff
Submitted For: Robert Chody  Submitted By: Starla Hall, Sheriff
Department: Sheriff
Agenda Category: Consent

Information
Agenda Item
Discuss, consider and take any appropriate action regarding approval and receipt of Vehicle Reimbursement
Agreement with City National Bank (Refill ATMs in Eastern WILCO).

Background
This agreement gives permission for City National Bank to contract County Deputies in a private capacity and the
County to invoice them for deputies' vehicle usage. We are updating our agreements since Sheriff Chody took
office on January 1st. 

Fiscal Impact

From/To Acct No. Description Amount

Attachments
City National Bank

Form Review
Inbox Reviewed By Date
County Judge Exec Asst. Wendy Coco 04/12/2017 08:51 AM
Form Started By: Starla Hall Started On: 04/11/2017 06:49 PM
Final Approval Date: 04/12/2017 











   

Commissioners Court - Regular Session   10.           
Meeting Date: 04/18/2017  

Austin Regional Intelligence Center Interlocal Cooperation Agreement for County Sheriff
Submitted For: Robert Chody  Submitted By: Starla Hall, Sheriff
Department: Sheriff
Agenda Category: Consent

Information
Agenda Item
Consider acknowledgement or acceptance and record into the minutes the revised Amendment Two to Interlocal
Cooperation Agreement for Austin Regional Intelligence Center (ARIC) and for sustainment funding agreement
with ARIC under authority of Williamson County Sheriff's Office to update information for current administration. 

Background
The Austin Regional Intelligence Center (ARIC) is a collaborative effort of public safety agencies in surrounding
counties to work together to provide resources, expertise and information to the Center. ARIC focuses on regional
public safety data analysis. The mission of ARIC is to maximize the ability to detect, prevent, apprehend, and
respond to criminal and terrorist activity. Williamson County Sheriff's Office has been an original partner since
2010. During the fall of 2012 each of the original partner agencies governing bodies approved a second interlocal
cooperation agreement that established funding mechanism to sustain the operation of ARIC known as the ARIC
Sustainment Funding Agreement. The two purposes of this Amendment Two are to add the New Partner Agencies
to the ARIC Sustainment Funding Agreement and to authorize the City of Austin to enter into separate collateral
agreements with non-governmental entities, as necessary, to provide these non-governmental entities with
obligations and benefits equivalent to Partner Agencies. The annual operating costs shall be shared based on the
participation levels of each Partner Agency and the number of sworn personnel in each agency that will use the
services provided by this agreement. In the past our cost has been previously paid from the County Sheriff Asset
Forfeiture Fund and now this funding has been approved to be paid from the Sheriff's General Fund
(0100-0560-004100) budget beginning this fiscal year. Our responsibility is $26,325.00. This agreement allows for
free training of our deputies which we have taken advantage of. 

Fiscal Impact

From/To Acct No. Description Amount

Attachments
Original ARIC ILA
Original ARIC Sustainment Funding ILA
New Amendment Two ARIC ILA
New Amendment Two ARIC Sustainment Funding
Amendment One ARIC ILA
Amendment One ARIC Sustainment Funding

Form Review
Inbox Reviewed By Date
County Judge Exec Asst. Wendy Coco 04/12/2017 11:34 AM
Form Started By: Starla Hall Started On: 04/12/2017 09:32 AM
Final Approval Date: 04/12/2017 

















































































































   

Commissioners Court - Regular Session   11.           
Meeting Date: 04/18/2017  

Road Bond and Pass Through Financing Construction Summary Report
Submitted By: Dawn Haggard, Road Bond
Department: Road Bond
Agenda Category: Regular Agenda Items

Information
Agenda Item
Receive and acknowledge the April 2017 Construction Summary Report for the Road Bond and Pass Through
Financing Programs.

Background

Fiscal Impact

From/To Acct No. Description Amount

Attachments
April 2017 CSR

Form Review
Inbox Reviewed By Date
County Judge Exec Asst. Wendy Coco 04/12/2017 09:48 AM
Form Started By: Dawn Haggard Started On: 04/12/2017 09:09 AM
Final Approval Date: 04/12/2017 



ROAD BOND & 
PASS THROUGH FINANCING

Construction Summary Report

WWW.ROADBOND.ORG

April 2017

Volume XVI - Issue No.04

County Judge
Dan Gattis

Commissioners
Terry Cook

Cynthia Long
Valerie Covey
Larry Madsen

Presented By:



i 

Table of  Contents 

Completed Projects ........................................................................................................ 1 

PRECINCT No. 1 – Commissioner Terry Cook .......................................................... 4 

Forest North Drainage Phase 1  ................................................................................ 6 

Pearson Ranch Road (Iveans to SH 45 ROW)  ......................................................... 8 

RM 620 Phase 2 (Wyoming Springs to Deep Wood) ............................................... 10 

PRECINCT No. 2 – Commissioner Cynthia Long .................................................... 12 

CR 258 (Sunset Ridge to Ronald Reagan Blvd) ...................................................... 14 

PRECINCT No. 3 – Commissioner Valerie Covey .................................................... 16 

CR 245 (North of FM 2338) ..................................................................................... 18 

Arterial H Ph 1 (Sam Bass Road to existing Arterial H) ......................................... 19 

PRECINCT No. 4 – Commissioner Larry Madsen .................................................... 20 

Multi Site Traffic Signals (CR 110/University & Gattis School/Winterfield) ......... 22 

Bill Pickett Trail (East Williamson County Event Center Access Rd) .................... 23 

CR 110 South (US 79 to Limmer Loop) ................................................................... 24 



WWIILLLLIIAAMMSSOONN  CCOOUUNNTTYY  
RROOAADD  BBOONNDD  PPRROOGGRRAAMM  

CCOOMMPPLLEETTEEDD  PPRROOJJEECCTTSS  
CCOONNSSTTRRUUCCTTIIOONN  SSUUBBSSTTAANNTTIIAALLLLYY  CCOOMMPPLLEETTEE//OOPPEENN  TTOO  TTRRAAFFFFIICC  --  AASS  OOFF  MMAARRCCHH  22001177

PPrreecciinncctt  11
 PPoonndd  SSpprriinnggss  RRooaadd  ((ssiiggnnaall))  ––  AApprr  22000022
 MMccNNeeiill  RRooaadd,,  PPhhaassee  11  ––  JJaann  22000055
 MMccNNeeiill  RRooaadd,,  PPhhaassee  22  ––  FFeebb  22000077
 RRMM  662200,,  PPhhaassee  11  ––  JJaann  22000099
 PPoonndd  SSpprriinnggss  RRooaadd  ––  SSeepp  22001100
 CCoouunnttyy  RRooaadd  117744  aatt  BBrruusshhyy  CCrreeeekk  ––  JJuunn  22001111
 OO’’CCoonnnnoorr  DDrriivvee  EExxtteennssiioonn  ––  AApprr  22001122
 KKiinngg  ooff  KKiinnggss  CCrroossssiinngg  ––  AAuugg  22001122
 RRMM  662200  SSaaffeettyy  IImmpprroovveemmeennttss  ––  DDeecc  22001144

PPrreecciinncctt  22
 RRMM  11886699  aatt  SSHH  2299  ((ssiiggnnaall))  ––  AAuugg  22000022
 RRiivveerr  BBeenndd  OOaakkss  ––  FFeebb  22000033
 CCoouunnttyy  RRooaadd  117755  ––  JJuunn  22000033
 CCoouunnttyy  RRooaadd  220000  ––  SSeepp  22000033
 RRoonnaalldd  RReeaaggaann  BBllvvdd,,  SSoouutthh  PPhh..  11  ––  DDeecc  22000044
 CCoouunnttyy  RRooaadd  221144  ––  FFeebb  22000055
 CCoouunnttyy  RRooaadd  225588  ––  SSeepp  22000066
 SSaann  GGaabbrriieell  PPkkwwyy,,  PPhh..  11  ––  FFeebb  22000077
 RRoonnaalldd  RReeaaggaann  BBllvvdd  NNoorrtthh  PPhh..  11  ––  MMaarr  22000077
 LLaakkeelliinnee  BBllvvdd  ––  JJuull  22000077
 RRoonnaalldd  RReeaaggaann  BBllvvdd  SSoouutthh  PPhh..  22  ––  FFeebb  22000088
 UUSS  118833  aatt  CCRR  227744  ––  FFeebb  22000088
 CCoouunnttyy  RRooaadd  117755  PPhhaassee  22AA  ––  JJaann  22001100
 UUSS  118833  aatt  FFMM  33440055  TTrraaffffiicc  SSiiggnnaall  ––  MMaarr  22001100
 UUSS  118833  aatt  FFMM  33440055  LLeefftt  TTuurrnn  LLaanneess  ––  MMaayy  22001100
 CCoouunnttyy  RRooaadd  221144  PPhhaassee  22AA  ––  JJaann  22001111
 SSaann  GGaabbrriieell  PPaarrkkwwaayy  PPhh..  22  ––  OOcctt  22001111
 UUSS  118833  ((PPTTFF))  ––  AApprr  22001122
 SSHH  2299  TTWWLLTTLL  LLiibbeerrttyy  HHiillll  ––  DDeecc  22001122
 HHeerroo  WWaayy  ––  FFeebb  22001133
 CCoouunnttyy  RRooaaddss  226600//226666  ––  AApprr  22001133
 CCoouunnttyy  RRooaadd  227777  ––  JJuull  22001144
 LLaakkeelliinnee  BBllvvdd  aatt  UUSS  118833  ––  NNoovv  22001144
 LLaakkeelliinnee  BBllvvdd  PPhh..  22  ––  AApprr  22001155

1



WWIILLLLIIAAMMSSOONN  CCOOUUNNTTYY  
RROOAADD  BBOONNDD  PPRROOGGRRAAMM  

CCOOMMPPLLEETTEEDD  PPRROOJJEECCTTSS  
CCOONNSSTTRRUUCCTTIIOONN  SSUUBBSSTTAANNTTIIAALLLLYY  CCOOMMPPLLEETTEE//OOPPEENN  TTOO  TTRRAAFFFFIICC  --  AASS  OOFF  MMAARRCCHH  22001177

PPrreecciinncctt  33
 CCeeddaarr  HHoollllooww  aatt  SSHH  2299  ((ssiiggnnaall))  ––  AAuugg  22000022
 GGeeoorrggeettoowwnn  IInnnneerr  LLoooopp  PPrroojjeecctt  22  ––  AAuugg  22000033
 GGeeoorrggeettoowwnn  IInnnneerr  LLoooopp  PPrroojjeecctt  11  ––  JJuunn  22000044
 GGeeoorrggeettoowwnn  IInnnneerr  LLoooopp  EEaasstt  EExxtteennssiioonn  ––  SSeepp  22000044
 CCoouunnttyy  RRooaadd  115522  BBrriiddggee  RReeppllaacceemmeenntt  ––  SSeepp  22000044
 IInnnneerr  LLoooopp  EEaasstt  ((CCRR  115511  ttoo  BBuuss  3355))  ––  OOcctt  22000055
 RRoonnaalldd  RReeaaggaann  BBllvvdd  NNoorrtthh,,  PPhh..  22  ––  MMaayy  22000088
 1122””  WWaatteerr  MMaaiinn  RReellooccaattiioonn  ffoorr  SSHH  2299  WWiiddeenniinngg  ––  JJuunn  22000088
 SSHH  2299  //  CCRR  110044,,  PPhh..  11  ––  JJuull  22000088
 IIHH  3355  aatt  SSHH  2299  TTuurrnnaarroouunnddss  ((PPTTFF))  ––  AAuugg  22000088
 SSEE  IInnnneerr  LLoooopp  aatt  FFMM  11446600  ––  NNoovv  22000099
 CCoouunnttyy  RRooaadd  111111  ((WWeessttiinngghhoouussee  RRooaadd))  ––  JJuunn  22001100
 WWiilllliiaammss  DDrriivvee  ––  AApprr  22001111
 CCoouunnttyy  RRooaadd  110044,,  PPhhaassee  22  ––  MMaayy  22001111
 RRMM  22333388  ((PPTTFF))  ––  JJuull  22001111
 SSHH  2299  aatt  PPaarrkk  PPll  aanndd  JJaacckk  NNiicckkllaauuss  ––  MMaayy  22001122
 RRoonnaalldd  RReeaaggaann  BBllvvdd..  NNoorrtthh  PPhhaassee  33  ––  JJuunn  22001133
 RRoonnaalldd  RReeaaggaann  BBllvvdd..  NNoorrtthh  PPhhaassee  44  ––  MMaarr  22001144
 MMaaddrriidd  DDrriivvee  EExxtteennssiioonn  ––  SSeepp  22001144
 CCRR  224455  ––  SSeepp  22001155
 IIHH  3355  NNoorrtthhbboouunndd  FFrroonnttaaggee  RRooaadd  ((PPTTFF))  ––  OOcctt  22001155
 RRoonnaalldd  RReeaaggaann  NNoorrtthh  PPhhaassee  44  FFeenncciinngg  ––  JJaann  22001166
 IIHH  3355  NNoorrtthhbboouunndd  FFrroonnttaaggee  RRooaadd  DDrriivveewwaayy  ((PPTTFF))  ––  MMaarr  22001166
 SSoouutthhwweesstt  BByyppaassss  DDrriivveewwaayyss  ––  AAuugg  22001166
 RRMM  22224433  aatt  EEssccaalleerraa  RRiigghhtt  TTuurrnn  LLaannee  ––  AAuugg  22001166
 SSHH  2299  aatt  CCeeddaarr  HHoollllooww  RRiigghhtt  TTuurrnn  LLaannee  ––  AAuugg  22001166

2



WWIILLLLIIAAMMSSOONN  CCOOUUNNTTYY  
RROOAADD  BBOONNDD  PPRROOGGRRAAMM  

CCOOMMPPLLEETTEEDD  PPRROOJJEECCTTSS  
CCOONNSSTTRRUUCCTTIIOONN  SSUUBBSSTTAANNTTIIAALLLLYY  CCOOMMPPLLEETTEE//OOPPEENN  TTOO  TTRRAAFFFFIICC  --  AASS  OOFF  MMAARRCCHH  22001177

PPrreecciinncctt  44
 BBrriiddggee  RReeppllaacceemmeennttss  ((CCRR  339900,,  440066  &&  442277))  ––  NNoovv  22000022
 CCoouunnttyy  RRooaadd  336688  aanndd  336699  ––  NNoovv  22000022
 CCoouunnttyy  RRooaadd  441122  ––  AAuugg  22000033
 CCoouunnttyy  RRooaadd  330000  aanndd  330011  ––  DDeecc  22000033
 CCoouunnttyy  RRooaadd  442244  BBrriiddggee  RReeppllaacceemmeenntt  ––  JJaann  22000044
 CChhaannddlleerr  RRdd..  EExxtteennssiioonn,,  PPhh..  11  ––  MMaarr  22000055
 CCoouunnttyy  RRooaadd  111122,,  PPhh..  11  ––  AAuugg  22000055
 CCoouunnttyy  RRooaadd  113377  ––  OOcctt  22000055
 LLiimmmmeerr  LLoooopp,,  PPhh..  11AA  ––  JJuull  22000066
 CChhaannddlleerr  RRdd,,  PPhh..  22  ––  DDeecc  22000077
 LLiimmmmeerr  LLoooopp,,  PPhh..  11BB  ––  MMaarr  22000088
 LLiimmmmeerr  LLoooopp,,  PPhh..  11CC  ––  OOcctt  22000088
 UUSS  7799,,  SSeeccttiioonn  55BB  ((PPTTFF))  ––  AAuugg  22001100
 CChhaannddlleerr  RRdd,,  PPhh..  33BB  ––  OOcctt  22001100
 UUSS  7799,,  SSeeccttiioonn  55AA  ((PPTTFF))  ––  MMaayy  22001111
 FFMM11666600  aatt  LLaannddffiillll  RRdd..  ––  SSeepp  22001111
 SSeeccoonndd  SSttrreeeett  DDrraaiinnaaggee  IImmpprroovveemmeennttss  ––  DDeecc  22001111
 UUSS  7799  SSeeccttiioonn  33  ((PPTTFF))  ––  JJuull  22001122
 CChhaannddlleerr  RRdd,,  PPhh..  33AA  ––  DDeecc  22001122
 SSeeccoonndd  SSttrreeeett  RRooaaddwwaayy  IImmpprroovveemmeennttss  ––  FFeebb  22001133
 CCoouunnttyy  RRooaadd  113388  ––  JJuunn  22001133
 CCoouunnttyy  RRooaadd  110088  ––  NNoovv  22001133
 CCoouunnttyy  RRooaadd  117700  ––  FFeebb  22001155
 MMuullttii  SSiittee  TTrraaffffiicc  SSiiggnnaallss  ––  JJuunn  22001166
 BBiillll  PPiicckkeetttt  TTrraaiill  ((EEaasstt  WWiilllliiaammssoonn  CCoouunnttyy  EExxppoo  CCeenntteerr  AAcccceessss  RRooaadd))  ––  NNoovv  22001166

3



183

PARMER

NEENA
HAVE

LAKE
LINEB

LVD
AVERY

RANC
HBLVD

P ARMERLN

UNIVE
RSITY

ANDE
RSON

 MILL 
RD

Åõ620

O'CONNOR DR

SAMBASSRD

MC
NIE
LR
D

UV1.25

UV1.08

UV1.18

UV1.21

UV1.01

UV1.04

UV1.20

UV1.11

UV1.17

UV1.09

UV1.02

UV1.06

UV1.14UV1.19

UV1.07
UV1.03

UV1.10

UV1.29

UV1.30

UV1.26

UV1.28

UV1.24

UV1.31

UV1.23 UV1.31

!"#$35

CR
17
2

2006 2006 RROAD OAD BBOND OND PPROGRAM ROGRAM PPROJECTS ROJECTS 
PPRECINCT 1 - RECINCT 1 - CCOMMISSIONEROMMISSIONER  CCOOKOOK

In Design
1.28   IH 35 Opera tiona l Ana lysis
1.29   RM 620 (IH 35 to Deep Wood Dr.)
1.30   Grea t Oa ks a t Brush y Creek
1.31   Forest North  Dra ina g e Im provem ents - P h a se 2

Completed/
Open to Traffic 
1.01   Anderson Mill Rd. 
1.02   Avery Ra nch  Blvd. (183 to P a rm er La ne) 
1.03   La ke Creek Dra ina g e – P h a se 1 
1.04   La ke Creek Dra ina g e – P h a se 2 
1.06   McNeil Road - P h a se 1 
1.07   McNeil Road - P h a se 2  
1.08   P ond Spring s a t Turtle Rock Sig na l 
1.09   RM 620 Fea sib ility Study 
1.10   Wyom ing  Spring s North  Study 
1.11   RM 620 Interim  Im provem ents – P h a se 1 
1.14   O’Connor Extension
1.17   P ond Spring s Road 
1.18   O’Connor Overpa ss a t SH 45 
1.19   RM 620 (Cornerwood Dr. to Wyom ing  Spring s) 
1.20   Wyom ing  Spring s (620 to Brig h twa ter Blvd.) 
1.21   CR 174 (Ha iry Ma n Rd.) Bridg e Ra il Reh a b  
1.23   Forest North  Dra ina g e Study
1.25   King  of King s Crossing
1.26   P ea rson Ra nch  Road (Desig n)
1.24   P ea rson Ra nch  Underpa ss a t SH 45/ RM 620
1.31   Forest North  Dra ina g e Im provem ents - P h a se 1 (desig n)



UV281

LAKELINE BLVD

AVERY RAN CH BLV D

O'CONNO R DR

SAM BASS RD

PARMER LN

MCN
IEL

RD

UNIVERSITY

UV221UV278

UV224

UV235

UV284

UV227

UV225

!"#$35

CR
17

2

2013 2013 RROAD OAD BBOND OND PPROGRAM ROGRAM PPROJECTS ROJECTS 
PPRECINCT 1 - RECINCT 1 - CCOMMISSIONEROMMISSIONER  CCOOKOOK

In Design
224   North Mays Street Extension (La Paloma to Oakmont Dr.)
227   University Blvd Widening (IH 35 to Sunrise Rd.)
278   Neenah Avenue Widening (Olive Hill Drive to end)
281   O'Connor Drive North of RM 620 (Traffic Study)
284   Hairy Man Rd/Brushy Creek Rd Safety Improvements (Arrowhead Trail to Sam Bass Road)

Åõ3406

Åõ620

Under Construction/Bidding
221   Pearson Ranch Road
225   Forest North Drainage Improvements - Phase 1
235   RM 620 Phase 2 (Wyoming Springs to Deep Wood Drive)



Project Location 

Forest North Drainage Ph 1
(Residential Drainage of the Forest North Subdivision)

Project Length: Residential Neighborhood
Roadway Classification: Drainage Improvements

Project Schedule: August 2016 - April 2018
Estimated Construction Cost: $3.6 Million

MARCH 2017 IN REVIEW

3/03/2017: DeNucci continued installing the 30” RCP and storm boxes. The 
new 8” and 12” water lines were tied in at the Broadmeade/Braeburn Glen 
intersection.  Subcontractor Sisk/Robb removed 8” and 12” asbestos concrete 
(AC) pipe at the Broadmeade/Braeburn Glen intersection.

3/10/2017: Concrete pipe and culvert installations continued in the Braeburn 
Zone. Subcontractor Sisk/Robb removed 6” and 8” AC pipe at the 
Woodthorpe/Moorberry and Braeburn Glen/Moorberry intersections.

3/17/2017: Concrete pipe and culvert installations continued. The 30” RCP 
installation at Moorberry/Braeburn intersection was completed and the 30” 
RCP installation at Woodthorpe/Moorberry intersection began.

3/24/2017: Concrete crews began forming and pouring aprons around various 
area inlets on Braeburn Glen and Moorberry Streets.

3/31/2017: Concrete pipe and culvert installations in the Braeburn Zone 
continued. Concrete crews continued forming and pouring aprons around 
various area inlets.  Forming and pouring concrete driveways began on 
Braeburn Glen and Moorberry Streets.

Design Engineer: K Friese and Cobb 
Fendley
Contractor: DeNucci Constructors
Construction Observation:
Ryan Rivera, HNTB

Williamson County 
Road Bond Program

6



Forest North Drainage Ph 1
Project No. 1604-068 Original Contract Price = $3,556,659.50

Letting Award Notice To Begin Substantial Work Total Bid Days Total
Proceed Work Completion Accepted Days Added Days

6/9/2016 7/1/2016 8/1/2016 8/11/2016 600 0 600

Invoice Beginning Ending Days Current Invoice Current Total % ($) % Time
Number Date Date Charged Invoice Total Retainage Retainage Used Used

1 8/11/2016 8/31/2016 21 $152,734.50 $152,734.50 $16,970.50 $16,970.50 5 4
2 9/1/2016 9/30/2016 30 $208,685.70 $361,420.20 $23,187.30 $40,157.80 11 9
3 10/1/2016 10/31/2016 31 $266,921.68 $628,341.88 $29,657.96 $69,815.76 19 14
4 11/1/2016 12/2/2016 32 $182,471.22 $810,813.10 $20,274.58 $90,090.34 25 19
5 12/3/2016 12/31/2016 29 $177,314.97 $988,128.07 $19,701.67 $109,792.01 31 24
6 1/1/2017 1/31/2017 31 $231,302.70 $1,219,430.77 $25,700.30 $135,492.31 38 29
7 2/1/2017 2/28/2017 28 $304,664.67 $1,524,095.44 $33,851.63 $169,343.94 47 34

Change Order Number Approved Cost  This CO Total COs
01 3/21/2017 31,806.00 31,806.00

Adjusted Price = $3,588,465.50

1A: Design Error or Omission. Incorrect PS&E . This Change Order revises work along Broadmeade Ave., between Sherbrooke St. and Meadowheath Dr in the 
Sherbrooke zone.  The original plans called for a ditch in this location but, due to the depth of the original planned ditch, which created slopes steeper than 3:1, the 
ditch was replaced with an underground storm sewer system with inlets.  3F: County Convenience. Additional work desired by the County. New pay items have 
been added to the contract to reimburse the contractor for removal of trees larger than what was called out in the original contract.  

7



Project Location 

Pearson Ranch Road
(Iveans Way to SH 45 ROW)

Project Length: 1.3 Miles
Roadway Classification: Minor Arterial

Project Schedule: November 2016 - October 2017
Estimated Construction Cost: $4.5 Million

MARCH 2017 IN REVIEW

3/03/2017: Jimmy Evans remixed lime treated subgrade at the Iveans Way tie-
in. Flexbase was placed south of the Neenah intersection north to Elsa England 
Elementary School (EEES). Flex base was placed north of the Round Rock ISD 
(RRISD) Bus Garage. The excavation for the water quality detention pond in 
TxDOT ROW continued.

3/10/2017: Flexbase was placed south of the Neenah intersection north to 
EEES. Lime was placed on the south end of the project. 

3/17/2017: Lime was remixed for both lanes on the south end of the project. 
Asphalt was placed at the RRISD Bus Garage and Iveans Way intersection. 
Subcontractor Greater Austin prepped and poured the curb.

3/24/2017: Flexbase was placed on the south end of the project.  Excavation 
continued for the water quality detention pond in the TxDOT ROW.

3/31/2017: Manhole adjustments began between the RRISD Bus Garage and 
the north end of the project. Excavation continued for the water quality 
detention pond on the TxDOT ROW. Subcontractor Greater Austin continued to 
prep and pour the curb from the Round Rock Bus Garage to the north.

Design Engineer: Cunningham-Allen
Contractor: Jimmy Evans
Construction Observation:
Seth Turvey, HNTB

Williamson County 
Road Bond Program

8



Pearson Ranch Road (Iveans Way to RM 620)
Project No. 1607-102 Original Contract Price = $4,516,178.77

Letting Award Notice To Begin Substantial Work Total Bid Days Total
Proceed Work Completion Accepted Days Added Days

9/20/2016 10/11/2016 11/18/2016 11/28/2016 330 0 330

Invoice Beginning Ending Days Current Invoice Current Total % ($) % Time
Number Date Date Charged Invoice Total Retainage Retainage Used Used

1 11/28/2016 11/30/2016 3 $195,710.04 $195,710.04 $21,745.56 $21,745.56 5 1
2 12/1/2016 12/31/2016 31 $243,555.13 $439,265.17 $27,061.68 $48,807.24 11 10
3 1/1/2017 1/31/2017 31 $202,139.71 $641,404.88 $22,459.97 $71,267.21 16 20
4 2/1/2017 2/28/2017 28 $508,271.85 $1,149,676.73 $56,474.65 $127,741.86 28 28
5 3/1/2017 3/31/2017 31 $369,038.84 $1,518,715.57 $41,004.32 $168,746.18 37 38

Adjusted Price = $4,516,178.77

9



Project Location 

RM 620 Phase 2
(Wyoming Springs to Deep Wood Drive)

Project Length: .9 Miles
Roadway Classification: Urban Principal Arterial

Project Schedule: January 2017-March 2018
Estimated Construction Cost: $6.1 Million

MARCH 2017 IN REVIEW

3/03/2017: Cox Commercial Construction continued to install storm sewer 
pipe and box culvert on the south ROW from Oaklands Drive east to Deep 
Wood.  Embankment was placed from Oakwood Drive to the hospital driveway 
on the south ROW.  

3/10/2017: Storm sewer pipe and curb inlets installations continued on the 
south right of way. The placement of embankment continued on the south 
ROW. Subcontractor Austin Traffic Signals installed poles for temporary 
signals at Oaklands Drive on the south ROW.      

3/17/2017: Storm sewer pipe and curb inlets installations continued.  Storm 
Trooper devices were installed.  Embankment was placed on the west end of 
the project on the south ROW.      

3/24/2017: Storm sewer pipe and curb inlets installations continued. 
Embankment continued to be placed on the west end of the project.    

3/31/2017: Storm sewer pipe and curb inlets installations continued on the 
south ROW. Crews excavated the tie-in on the north side of the roadway to 
confirm elevation and location of the existing box culvert.      

Design Engineer: Halff Associates
Contractor: Cox Commercial 
Construction
Construction Observation:
Clayton Weber, HNTB

Williamson County 
Road Bond Program

10



RM 620 Safety Improvements (Cornerwood to Wyoming Springs)
Project No.  1608-108 Original Contract Price = $6,082,225.70

Letting Award Notice To Begin Substantially Work Total Bid Days Total
Proceed Work Complete Accepted Days Added Days

9/28/2016 11/30/2016 1/3/2017 1/13/2017 425 0 425

Invoice Beginning Ending Days Current Invoice % ($) % Time
Number Date Date Charged Invoice Total Used Used

1 1/13/2017 1/31/2017 19 $459,169.50 $459,169.50 8 4
2 2/1/2017 2/28/2017 28 $280,194.00 $739,363.50 12 11
3 3/1/2017 3/31/2017 31 $392,444.00 $1,131,807.50 19 18

Adjusted Price = $6,082,225.70

11



Åõ279

BAGDADRD

LAKE
LINE

BLVD
AVERY

RANC
HBL
VD

SAMBASSRDP ARMER
LN

RONALD
W
REAGAN

LAKELINEBLVD

UV2.07
UV2.15

UV2.45

UV2.42

UV2.48

UV2.41

UV2.05

UV2.31

UV2.11

UV2.14

UV2.03

UV2.13

UV2.24

UV2.16

UV2.34

UV2.06

UV2.23

UV2.17

UV2.37

UV2.08

UV2.26

UV2.01

UV2.27

UV2.25UV2.12

UV2.38

UV2.50

UV2.26

UV2.49

UV2.44

UV2.52

UV2.20

UV2.40
UV2.47

UV2.32

UV2.28

UV2.10

UV2.09

UV2.22UV2.21

UV2.18

UV2.19

UV2.36

UV2.35
UV2.51

UV2.55
UV2.57

UV2.53

UV2.56

UV2.54

UV2.46

CR
207

CR
279

CR 288

CR 281

CR 2
76

CR280

CR

260

CR 25
8

CR
21
2

ANNVILLE DR

BURBA LNCR 28
4

CR 201

CR 23
6

CR 2
04

CR

283

MELMATHISAVE

CR209

CR 269

WCR202

CR 20
5

CR 286

CR 206

CR208
E CR 

202

CR
200

CR 282

CR

287

CR

28
7

CR285

DO
UB
LE

FILETRCE

CR 203

CR
21
4

2006 2006 RROAD OAD BBOND OND PPROGRAM ROGRAM PPROJECTS ROJECTS 
PPRECINCT 2 - RECINCT 2 - CCOMMISSIONEROMMISSIONER  LLONGONG

In Design
2.49   La keline Blvd. Rig ht Turn La nes

UU29

2.01   Vista Ridg e Blvd. 
2.03   Brushy Creek Road 
2.05   Cypress Creek Road 
2.06   La keline Blvd. (Crysta l Fa lls P kwy to New Hope Dr) 
2.07   River Bend Oa ks Subdivision
2.08   Rona ld W. Rea g a n South – P ha se 1 
2.09   Rona ld W. Rea g a n North – P ha se 1 
2.10   CR 175 (RM 1431 to Reg iona l P a rk)
2.11   CR 185 
2.12   CR 200 (CR 201 to Lackey Creek) 
2.13   CR 214 (SH 29 to Rolling  Hills Dr.)
2.14   CR 258 (US 183 to Sunset Ridg e) 
2.15   RM 1869 at SH 29  
2.16   La keline Blvd. (Lyndhurst to P a rm er)
2.17   Sa n Gabriel P a rkway – P ha se 1 
2.18   US 183 Widening  at CR 274 
2.19   Rona ld W. Rea g a n South – P ha se 2 
2.20   Kauffm a n Loop 
2.21   CR 175 Extension – P ha se 2A 
2.22   CR 179 
2.23   Sa n Gabriel P a rkway – P ha se 2  
2.24   CR 214 – P ha se 2A 
2.25   CR 214 – P ha se 2B
          Schem atic 
2.26   SH 29 Im provem ents 
          Study & Schem atic 
2.27   US 183 (P TF) 
2.28   CR 272 
2.31   Brushy Creek Road 
2.32   RM 1431 
2.34   Hero Way 
2.35   US 183 at FM 3405 Tra ffic Sig na l 
2.36   US 183 at FM 3405 Left Turn La ne 
2.37   SH 29 TWLTL in Liberty Hill 
2.38   CR 260 / CR 266 at SH 29 
2.40   La keline Blvd. P ha se 2  (Old Qua rry Rd. to Old 2243)
2.41   Sewa rd Junction Im provem ents Study 
2.42   Sa n Gabriel P a rkway West 
2.44   US 183 at RM 1869
2.45   La keline Blvd. at US 183
2.46   CR 258 (Sunset Ridg e to Rea g a n Blvd) (Desig n)
2.47   La keline Blvd. P ha se 3 (Crysta l Fa lls P kwy. to Old Qua rry Rd.) 
2.48   Sewa rd Junction Schem atic (SE a nd SW) 
2.50   Ba g dad Rd. North P ha se 2 Schem a tic  (CR 280 to SH 29)
2.52   RM 1431 at P a rm er/ Rea g a n CFI
2.53   Cypress Creek Road at US 183
2.54   CR 272 Overla y
2.55   Brushy Creek Ea st Overla y
2.56   Cypress Creek Road at La keline
2.57   Brushy Creek Road at P a rm er La ne

Completed/Open to Traffic



BAGDAD RD

LAKELINE BLVDAVERY R ANCH BLVD

SAM B A SS RD

PARMER
LN

RONALD
W

REAGAN

LAKELINE BLVD

UV285

UV274

UV271

UV242

UV229

UV314

UV317

UV282

UV318

UV438

UV256
ab183

¿À29

CR272

CR
207

CR
279

CR 270

CR 266

CR 288

CR 281

CR 276
CR 280

CR
260

CR 175

CR 257

CR
21

2

ANNVILLE DR

CR 284
CR 201

CR 236

CR 204

CR 180

CR

283

MELMATHIS AVE

CR 209

CR 269

WCR 202

CR 205
CR

 27
7

CR 278

CR 286

CR 206

CR 208

E CR 202

CR
26

7

CR 282

CR

287

CR

28
7

RONALD
W

REAGAN
BLVD

CR
 17

8

CR 285

DO
UB

LE

FILE TRCE

CR 213

CR 203

CR 211
CR

214

2013 2013 RROAD OAD BBOND OND PPROGRAM ROGRAM PPROJECTS ROJECTS 
PPRECINCT 2 - RECINCT 2 - CCOMMISSIONEROMMISSIONER  LLONGONG

In Design
271   Seward Junction Southeast (US 183 at CR 259 to SH 29 at CR 266)
274   Seward Junction Southwest (SH 29 at CR 213 to US 183 at CR 259)
282   New Hope Drive Phase 1 (Cottonwood Creek Trail to Ronald Reagan Blvd)
285   CR 200 - Preliminary Design (SH 29 to CR 236)
438   Bagdad Road at CR 278

Under Construction/Bidding
256   CR 258 (Sunset Ridge to Reagan Blvd)
314   Old 2243/Hero Way West (Lakeline Blvd to W of US 183)
317   Bagdad Rd. North (CR 280 to RM 2243)
318   Anderson Mill Rd. (RM 1431 to Lime Creek, Zeppelin Dr. to Cypress Creek)

Completed/Open to Traffic
229   RM 1431 (Cottonwood Creek Tr. to Market St.)
242   Little Elm Trail (Lakeline Blvd to US 183)



Project Location 

CR 258
(Sunset Ridge to Ronald Reagan Blvd.)

Project Length: 1.75 Miles
Roadway Classification: Suburban Collector

Project Schedule: July 2016 - July 2017
Estimated Construction Cost: $5.8 Million

MARCH 2017 IN REVIEW

3/03/2017: Chasco processed flexbase from the west end of the project to 
Craigen Ln. Concrete was placed for the riprap and the dissipaters in the 
downstream channel at Culvert 2. Utility relocations are ongoing (AT&T). 

3/10/2017: Subcontractor RSI installed the metal beam guard (MBGF) fence at 
Culvert 1 and 2. Concrete mow strip and safety end treatments were placed at 
several driveway locations. 

3/17/2017: Riprap was placed under the MBGF at Culvert 1 and 2. Flexbase 
continued to be processed and compacted from the east end to west of Crable. 
M-T Line (AT&T) removed 3 remaining utility poles in conflict.

3/24/2017: The French Drain was completed along the south side of the 
project. The curb at the MBGF for Culverts 1 and 2 was placed. Subcontractor 
Wheeler placed the prime coat and 2” of Ty C asphalt from the west end of the 
project to west of Craigen.  

3/31/2017: Flexbase placement began east of Culvert 2. Subcontractors DIJ 
and Flasher striped prior to the traffic switch at the west end of the project. 
Excavation began on the old roadway west of Rock House.    

Design Engineer: Civil Engineering 
Consultants and Cobb Fendley
Contractor: Chasco Constructors
Construction Observation:
Steven Shull, HNTB

Williamson County 
Road Bond Program

14



CR 258 (Sunset Ridge to Ronald Reagan North)
Project No.  1603-062 Original Contract Price = $5,808,856.58

Letting Award Notice To Begin Substantial Work Total Bid Days Total
Proceed Work Completion Accepted Days Added Days

4/20/2016 5/10/2016 7/29/2016 8/8/2016 360 0 360

Invoice Beginning Ending Days Current Invoice Current Total % ($) % Time
Number Date Date Charged Invoice Total Retainage Retainage Used Used

1 7/1/2016 7/31/2016 0 $204,692.63 $204,692.63 $22,743.63 $22,743.63 4 0
2 8/8/2016 8/31/2016 24 $647,625.15 $852,317.78 $71,958.35 $94,701.98 16 7
3 9/1/2016 9/30/2016 30 $768,046.95 $1,620,364.73 $85,338.55 $180,040.53 30 15
4 10/1/2016 10/31/2016 31 $523,476.94 $2,143,841.67 $58,164.10 $238,204.63 40 24
5 11/1/2016 11/30/2016 30 $98,689.54 $2,242,531.21 $10,965.50 $249,170.13 42 32
6 12/1/2016 12/31/2016 31 $38,127.37 $2,280,658.58 $4,236.38 $253,406.51 43 41
7 1/1/2017 1/31/2017 31 $636,301.80 $2,916,960.38 $70,700.20 $324,106.71 54 49
8 2/1/2017 2/28/2017 28 $395,763.89 $3,312,724.27 $43,973.76 $368,080.47 62 57
9 3/1/2017 3/31/2017 31 $456,281.18 $3,769,005.45 $50,697.91 $418,778.38 70 66

Change Order Number Approved Cost  This CO Total COs
01 10/4/2016 9,660.00 9,660.00

Change Order Number Approved Cost  This CO Total COs
02 1/31/2017 33,848.00 43,508.00

Change Order Number Approved Cost  This CO Total COs
03 2/28/2017 38,765.00 82,273.00

Change Order Number Approved Cost  This CO Total COs
04 3/21/2017 14,907.69 97,180.69

Change Order Number Approved Cost  This CO Total COs
05 3/21/2017 51,199.00 148,379.69

Adjusted Price = $5,957,236.27

2C: Differing Site Conditions (Unforseeable).  New development (conditions changing after PS&E completed).  4B: Third Party Accommodation.  Third part 
requested work.   This change order reflects multiple driveway changes including, extending a driveway culvert to accommodate a new driveway location, 
relocating a proposed driveway, extending a driveway culvert to save a heritage oak tree, adding a driveway to the project and shortening the guardrail at a 
proposed driveway location.

6C: Untimely ROW/Utilities Utilities Not Clear: This Change Order compensates the Contractor for additional costs to locate and avoid impacts to the AT&T line 
and to ensure uninterrupted service to adjacent properties. Utilities AT&T and PEC were scheduled to be clear by August 31, 2016, but were not clear until 
February 2017. The Contractor worked to avoid impacts to the existing AT&T line during the installation of the new City of Georgetown water line.  

2J: Differing Site Conditions. (unforeseeable) Other. This change order revises various erosion control measures on the project, including the addition of soil 
retention blanket to the contract to prevent erosion and help to establish vegetation quicker on the slopes and in the ditches. 3H: County Convenience. Cost savings 
opportunity discovered during construction. This change order replaces the 12" Gabion mattresses with Flexamat. The use of this product was approved by the 
County Road and Bridge Department.   The 3' x 3' gabions were deleted due to changes at the downstream end of Culvert #2.  

 4B: Third Party Accommodation. Third Party Requested Work.  This Change Order adds an encasement pipe crossing for a future waterline under CR 258 at 
Station 160+50.  The installation of the additional encasement pipe was requested by the Property owner for future water service.  The additional cost of the 
encasement pipe will be deducted from the Right of Way acquisition agreement with the property owner.  

3B: County Convenience.  Public relations improvement. 3F: County Convenience.  Additional work desired by the County.  This Change Order changes the hot 
mix pavement section on CR 258 from one 3" lift of Type C HMAC PG 70-22 to one 2" lift of Type C HMAC PG 64-22 and one 1.5" lift of Type D HMAC PG 64-
22 and deletes the one course surface treatment on Ronald Reagan.   

15



RED
BUD

LN

LAKELIN EBLVD
UV3.04

UV3.47

UV1.16

UV3.03

UV3.10

UV1.12

UV3.07

UV3.15

UV3.05
UV3.23

UV3.06

UV3.28

UV3.40

UV3.08

UV3.11

UV3.24

UV3.02

UV3.30

UV3.17

UV3.31

UV3.34

UV3.37

UV3.09

UV3.21

UV3.18

UV3.29

UV3.16

UV3.27

UV3.36

UV3.46

UV3.39

UV3.42

UV3.44
UV3.41

UV3.35

UV3.25
UV3.22

UV3.12

UV2.04

UV3.20

UV3.13

UV3.14

UV2.09

UV2.08

UV3.26
UV3.43
UV3.45

UV3.01

UV3.48

!"#$35

¿À29

¿À138

¿À195

CR

262
CR
261

CR 146

CR 15
0

CR 23
9

CR227

CR 31
4

CR175

CR 31
1

CR
105

CR 12
4

CR 31
0

CR 2
28

W  CR 304

CR 237

SHE
LLR

D CR 19
6

CR 372

CR 226

CR

145

CR 30
9

CR 252

CR 14
9

CR 24
1CR 241

CR 25
4

CR
316

CR 306

CR 230

CR 311

CR 257

CR

317

CR155

CR 375

CR 223

CR 10
7

CR1
62

CR 313

CR 154

CR 12
1

CR

224

CR 21
7

RAE LN

CR

248

CR222

SCR289

CR 3001

CR 37
0

CR 25
3

HID
DE
N L
N

CR 24
3

CR250

CR 18
9

CR 24
0

CR147

RAMMS DR

CR 141

CR
303

CR148

CR2
38

CR
244

CR
32
8

CR 22
1

CR 315

CR 22
0

CR 2
19 CR

233

CR 234

CR
12
0

CR 30
5

RON ALDW REAGAN
BLVD

CR 245
CR

15
3

CR

176

CR 215

CR
194

CR 14
4

CR 251

CR 126

CR

25
5

CR 22
9 CR 307

CR 216

CR
303

CR 231

CR232 CR
34
4

CR

22
5

2006 2006 RROAD OAD BBOND OND PPROGRAM ROGRAM PPROJECTS ROJECTS 
PPRECINCT 3 - RECINCT 3 - CCOMMISSIONEROMMISSIONER  CCOVEYOVEY

In Design
3.41   CR 110 / Arte ria l A Study
3.42   CR 111 / CR 105 W esting house Rd. 
          (FM 1460 to SH 130)
3.45   CR 110 Middle  (N orth of Lim m e r Loop to CR 107)

Under Construction/Bidding
3.46   FM 1460 N orth

3.28   Rona ld W . Re a g a n N orth - P ha se 3 
3.29   Rona ld W . Re a g a n N orth - P ha se 4 
3.30   RM 2338 (P TF) 
3.31   SH 29 Im prove m e nts Study & Sche m a tic
3.34   SH 195 P roje ct 1  
3.35   SH 29 at P a rk P la ce Dr. & Ja ck N ickla us Blvd. 
3.36   SH 195 P roje ct 2 
3.37   SH 195 P roje ct 3
3.39   CR 245 Re a lig nm e nt  
3.40   CR 179  
3.43   Unive rsity Blvd. (Cha ndle r Rd) Expa nsion (De sig n)
3.44   CR 110 N orth
          (N orth of CR 107 to N orth of Sa m  Houston) (Desig n)
3.47   Madrid Drive Exte nsion

Completed/Open to Traffic
1.12   W esting house Rd. (CR 111)
1.16   SE Inne r Loop a t FM 1460 
2.04   Ceda r Hollow a t SH 29 
2.08   Rona ld W . Re a g a n South – P h. 1 
2.09   Rona ld W . Re a g a n N orth – P h. 1
3.01   FM 1460 to CR 110 
3.02   Ge org e town Inne r Loop Ea st 
3.03   Ge org e town Inne r Loop Ea st Exte nsion 
3.04   Ge org e town Inne r Loop – P roje ct 1 
3.05   Ge org e town Inne r Loop – P roje ct 2 
3.06   Ge org e town Inne r Loop – 
          P roje ct 3 Study 
3.07   Ge org e town Inne r Loop – 
          P roje ct 4 Study 
3.08   Ge org e town Inne r Loop – 
          P roje ct 5 Study 
3.09   CR 124  
3.10   CR 142
3.11   CR 145 
3.12   CR 152 Bridg e  Re pla ce m e nt 
3.13   CR 157 
3.14   CR 175
3.15   CR 234 
3.16   CR 245 
3.17   CR 311 
3.18   CR 314
3.20   Rona ld W . Re a g a n South - P ha se 2 
3.21   Rona ld W . Re a g a n N orth - P ha se 2 
3.22   IH-35 a t SH 29 Turna rounds (P TF) 
3.48   SH 29 W ide ning  - 12" W a te r Ma in Re location
3.23   SH 29/CR 104 – P ha se  1
3.24   W illia m s Drive  (RM 2338)  
3.25   CR 104 – P ha se  2 
3.26   CR 175 Exte nsion - P ha se 2A
3.27   IH 35 N orthbound Fronta g e  Rd. a nd Ra m ps



B
A

G
D

A
D

R
D

SAM
B ASS RD

C
R

110

CR 112

R
E

D
B

U
D

L
N

C
R

11
9

S
E

IN
NE

R
LO

O
P

D
B

W
O

O
D

R
D

R
O

N
A

L
D

W
R

E
AG

A
N

LA
K

E
LIN

E
B

LV
D

UV251

UV306

UV276

UV293

UV237
UV226

UV231

UV243

UV243

UV241

UV234

UV291

!"#$35
¿À29

¿À138

¿À195

C
R

262

WESTINGHOUSE RD

C
R

 261

CR 146

UNIVERSITY BLVD

CR 264

CR 17
7

CR 150

CR 239

C
R

227

CR 314

C
R

 175

CR 311

CR 105

CR 310

C
R

106

CR 228

C
R

 140

CR 313

PA
T

R
IO

T
W

A
Y

C
R

 388

SHELL R
D CR 196

C
R

 372

CR 143

STADIUM DR

C
R

226

C
R

 
145

CR 309

CR 252

CR 149

CR 241

JOURNEY PKWY

C
R

 2
4

1

C
R

318

C
R

 237

CR 254

C
R

31
6

C
R

 230

CR 311

CR

31
7

CR 147

C
R

 155

C
R

 375

C
R

 223

CR 107

CR

24
9

CR 162

CR 313

R
A

B
B

IT
H

ILL
R

D

CR 154

C
R

 2
35

CR 121

C
R

224

CR 217

C
R

 396

C
R

 3
3

1

C
R

248

CR222

SC
R

289

C
R

 3001

CR 370

CR156

CR 253

C
R

 307

SPEARSRANCH RDHID
DEN

LN

CR 243

CR 166

CR250

CR 189

CR 247

CR 246

CR 240

CR 147

W
HITAKERR

D

CR 329

R
A

M
M

S
 D

R

C
R

 127

C
R

 141

C
R

303

CR14
8

CR 244

C
R

32
8

CR 221

C
R

315

CR 220

CR 219 CR 233

C
R

23
4

C
R

152

C
R

1
2 0

C
R

 305

R
O

N
AL

D

W
REAGAN

BLVD

R
O

N
A

LD
W

R
E

A
G

A
N

B
LV

D

C
R

 239

CR 239

C
R

 332

C
R

 245

CR 153

CR

1
53

C
R

 215

CR
194

CR 107

CR 144

C
R

 251

C
R

 1
2

6

C
R2

55

CR 229

C
R

 103

CR142
C

R
 307

CR
307

C
R

 216

C
R

 231

CR 232

C
R

34
4

C
R

225

2013 2013 RROAD OAD BBOND OND PPROGRAM ROGRAM PPROJECTS ROJECTS 
PPRECINCT 3 - RECINCT 3 - CCOMMISSIONEROMMISSIONER  CCOVEYOVEY

In Design
226   Inner Loop Safety Improvements (Rockride Lane to Wilco Way)
231   Ronald Reagan at IH 35 (Bridge Replacement)
231   IH 35 Ramp Reversal and Frontage Road Conversion (FM 972 to CR 312)
237   DB Wood At SH 29
241   CR 176 at RM 2243 (Safety Improvements)
243   Southwest Bypass (RM 2243 to IH 35)
251   Inner Loop Safety Improvements (Belmont Drive to Rockride Lane)
306   CR 305 At IH 35 - Design (Bridge Replacement)

Under Construction/Bidding
276   Arterial H Extension Phase 1

 (CR 175 to Massey Way)

Completed/ Open to Traffic
234   RM 2243 At Escalera Parkway 
243   Southwest Bypass Driveways
291   SH 29 At Cedar Hollow
293   Kauffman Loop Phase 1

 (NE quadrant of Reagan at SH 29)



CR 245 Realignment
Project No. 15IFB102 Original Contract Price = $589,829.11

Letting Award Notice To Begin Substantially Work Total Bid Days Total
Proceed Work Complete Accepted Days Added Days

2/18/2015 3/11/2015 4/10/2015 4/20/2015 9/26/2015 150 10 160

Invoice Beginning Ending Days Current Invoice Current Total % ($) % Time
Number Date Date Charged Invoice Total Retainage Retainage Used Used

1 4/20/2015 5/31/2015 42 $37,176.75 $37,176.75 $4,130.75 $4,130.75 7 26
2 6/1/2015 9/26/2015 118 $418,332.94 $455,509.69 $46,481.44 $50,612.19 87 100
3 10/7/2015 6/24/2016 0 $62,633.56 $518,143.25 $6,959.28 $57,571.47 99 100

3/31/2017 Comments -

Change Order Number Approved Cost  This CO Total COs
01 10/20/2015 29,428.53 29,428.53

Change Order Number Approved Cost  This CO Total COs
02 2/28/2017 -35,569.89 -6,141.36

Adjusted Price = $583,687.75

The Contractor is working on the Maintenance Bond wording.

4B:  Third Party Accommodation. Third party requested work. This Change Order adds a new Contract item to compensate the Contractor for installing a 
Pressure Reducing Valve (PRV) on the proposed 6 inch waterline, as required by the City of Georgetown. 2E: Differing Site Conditions (unforeseeable). 
Miscellaneous difference in site conditions (unforeseeable)(Item 9). The existing waterline was in a different location than shown on the plans, which allowed 
the Contractor to tie into the line at the new location, reducing the contract quantity of new waterline required to be installed.

2E: Differing Site Conditions (unforeseeable). Miscellaneous difference in site conditions (unforeseeable)(Item 9).  This Change Order provides the final 
balancing for the overrun/underrun of Contract quantities on the project as a result of addressing field conditions not accounted for in the original plans. The 
underruns documented by this Change Order result in a cost savings for the County. This Change Order adds Item 169-2001 (Soil Retention Blanket (Ty 1)(Cl 
A)) which replaced the 3" Erosion Control Compost due to the unavailability of the compost. 

18



Arterial H Phase 1 (Sam Bass Rd to existing Arterial H)
Project No.  1603-064 Original Contract Price = $3,210,934.80

Letting Award Notice To Begin Substantial Work Total Bid Days Total
Proceed Work Completion Accepted Days Added Days

4/20/2016 5/16/2016
2/17/2017 
(Limited) 180 0 180

Invoice Beginning Ending Days Current Invoice Current Total % ($) % Time
Number Date Date Charged Invoice Total Retainage Retainage Used Used

1 6/1/2016 6/30/2016 0 $134,198.10 $134,198.10 $14,910.90 $14,910.90 5 0
2 7/1/2016 7/31/2016 0 $182,746.89 $316,944.99 $35,216.11 $50,127.01 11 0
3 8/1/2016 8/31/2016 0 $93,893.40 $410,838.39 $10,432.60 $60,559.61 15 0
4 9/1/2016 9/30/2016 0 $206,817.21 $617,655.60 $22,979.69 $83,539.30 22 0

Adjusted Price = $3,210,934.80

19



SE

IN

NE
R
LO
OP

UNIVE
RSITY

UV4.43

UV4.20

UV4.50

UV4.43

UV4.45

UV4.02

UV4.23

UV4.10
UV4.07 UV4.06

UV4.24

UV4.08

UV4.26UV4.04

UV4.29

UV4.13

UV4.25

UV4.27

UV4.34

UV4.41

UV4.28 UV4.22

UV4.30
UV4.55

UV4.54

UV4.48

UV4.35
UV4.53

UV4.05

UV4.36 UV4.21UV4.51

UV4.15

UV4.16

UV4.17

UV4.18

UV4.14

UV4.19

UV4.12

UV4.33

UV4.31

UV4.37
UV4.38

UV4.39
UV4.40

UV4.44
UV4.49

UV4.52

UV4.03UV4.56

UV4.57

UV4.46

UV3.13

UV4.11

UV4.09

UV4.01

UV4.01

UV4.01UV4.29

UV4.58

ab79

ab79

¿À95

CR 460

CR 431

CR
42
7

CR 324

CR 435

CR 101

CR 340

CR458

CR
 
42
8

CR 4
93

CR
 40
1

CR 455

CR 404

CR 351

CR426

CR 495

CR 432

CR 424

CR 100
CR 130

CR
 11
0

CR 364

CR 414

CR
403

CR 36
5

CR
 35
2

CR 479

CR 3
99

CR 469

CR354

CR 365

CR 405

CR
 38
6

CR 48
9

CR
 35
9

CR 365

CR 4
53

CR
 30
1

CR 336

CR
 36
3

CR 383

CR
35
0

CR
 41
9

CR 13
1

CR 407

CR 379

CR 391

CR 422

CR
 49
9

CR 441

CR 41
2

CR 39
4

CR 3
68

CR 485

CR 3
69

CR 449

CR

487

CR
156

CR 488

CR

472

CR 376

CR
 49
2

CR 43
4

CR 477

CR 34
7

CR

358

CR 390

CR 302

CR 450

CR 44
5

CR 3
26

CR 494

CR 36
7

CR
 4
06

CR
336

CR
465

CR 192

CR3
71

CR 49
8

CR 41
1

CR
45
6

CR 497

CR 4
20

CR 45
1

CR 329

CR 464

CR 16
0

CR 42
5

CR
48
0

CR 46
6

CR 335

CR
 36
2

CR447

CR 41
0

CR 440

CR 4
30

CR 43
3

CR 478

CR 45
4

CR 437

CR
377

CR41
5

CR 49
0

CR 381

CR 337

CR342

CR387

CR423

CR446

CR330
CR 341

CR 41
3

CR356

CR 439

CR 357

CR 345

CR 483CR
 13
4

CR

343

CR 4
71

CR

348

LO RAX  LN

CR 421 CR 436

CR
 12
9

CR 47
0

CR
374

CR 417

CR

417

CR 46
7

CR 467

CR 320

CR
382

CR
 38
4

CR384

CR 424

CR
 42
4

CR 48
1

CR
 48
1

CR
 35
5

CR
 40
5

CR360

CR 4
73

CR
473

CR4
91

CR 463

CR327

CR327
CR
 45
2

CR 361

CR 442

CR
46
8

CR

30
1

CR 347

CR 347

NCR
366

CR
448

CR
409

CR
 39
3

CR303

CR
31
9

CR

482

CR
474

CR
 33
9

CR
 42
9

CR 43
8

CR
348

2006 2006 RROAD OAD BBOND OND PPROGRAM ROGRAM PPROJECTS ROJECTS 
PPRECINCT 4 - RECINCT 4 - CCOMMISSIONEROMMISSIONER  MMADSENADSEN

In Design
4.35   FM 1660 (PTF)
4.48   CR 119
4.51   CR 110/ Arte rial A Study Are a
4.53   IH 35 O pe rational Analysis
4.55   CR 110 Mid d le  (North of Lim m e r Loop to CR 107)

4.22   Lim m e r Loop – Phase  1A
4.23   Thrall Sc hool Zone  
4.24   US 79 – Se c tion 1 
4.25   US 79 – Se c tion 2 
4.26   US 79 – Se c tion 3A 
4.27   Chand le r Rd . – Phase  2 
4.28   Lim m e r Loop – Phase  1B
4.29   CR 113 / O ld  Se ttle rs Blvd.
4.30   Lim m e r Loop – Phase  1C 
4.31   Ke nne y Fort Boule vard – Phase  1
4.33   Chand le r Rd . – Phase  3A 
4.34   Chand le r Rd . – Phase  3B

Completed/Open to Traffic
4.36   Gattis Sc hool Road 
4.37   US 79 - Se c tion 3 (PTF)
4.38   2nd Stre e t Im prove m e nts 
4.39   2nd Stre e t Drainage  Im prove m e nts
4.40   US 79 Se c tion 5A (PTF) 
4.41   US 79 Se c tion 5B (PTF)
4.43   FM 1460 Se c tion 2 
4.44   CR 138 
4.45   CR 170 
4.46   FM 1660 at Land fill Rd. (CR 128) 
4.49   CR 108 
4.50   CR 351 at Donahoe  Cre e k
4.52   Unive rsity Blvd . (Chand le r Rd.)
          Expansion
4.54   CR 110 South - (De sign) 
          (US 79 to Lim m e r Lp)
4.56   CR 110 at Unive rsity Blvd. (Signal)
4.57   Gattis Sc hool Rd. at 
          Winte rfie ld  Dr. (Signal)
4.58   Trad e sm an Park Crossing

3.13    CR 157
4.01   Brid ge  Re plac e m e nts Phase  1
          (CR 390, 406, 427)
4.02   CR 424 Brid ge  Re plac e m e nt 
4.03   Chand le r Rd . – Phase  1 
4.04   CR 100 
4.05   CR 112 – Phase  1 
4.06   CR 119 
4.07   CR 122 at US 79 
4.08   CR 124
4.09   CR 132
4.10   CR 136
4.11   CR 137
4.12   CR 138 & CR 139
          Alignm e nt Stud y
4.13   CR 300 & CR 301 
4.14   CR 302 
4.15   CR 347 & CR 348 
4.16   CR 368 & CR 369
          (CR 101 to CR 366)
4.17   CR 404 
4.18   CR 412 
4.19   CR 466
4.20   FM 397 at SH 95 Signal 
4.21   Gattis Sc hool Rd. RO W



CR 110
RED

BUD
LN

C R
11

9

SE

IN

NE
R

LO
OP

S CR
366

2ND ST

UNIVERSITY

UV297

UV302

UV269

UV228
UV441

UV260

ab79

¿À95

CR 460

UNIVERSITY BLVD

CR 431

CR
42

7

CR 324

CR 435

CR 101

CR 340
CHANDLER RD

CR 458

CR
 

42
8

CR 493

CR
 40

1

CR 455

CR 404

CR 351

CR 426

CR 495

CR 432

CR 424

CR 100
CR 130

CR
 11

0

CR 364

CR 414

CR 403

CR 365

CR
 35

2

CR 479CR
13

7

CR 118

CR 135

CR
 13

2

CR 399

CR 469
CR 354

CR 365

CR 405

CR 112

CR

117

CR
 38

6

CR 489

CR
 35

9

CR 119

CR 453

CR 408

CR 133

CR
 30

1

CR 197

S CR 366

CR 138

CR 336

CR
 36

3

CR 383

CR
35

0

CR
 41

9

CR 131

CR 407

CR 379

CR 391
CR 422

CR
 49

9

CR 441

CR 412

CR 394
CR 368

CR 485

CR 369
CR 300

CR
 15

9

CR 449

CR

487

CR
156

CR 488

CR

472

CR 376

CR
 49

2

CR 434

CR 389

CR 477

CR 347

CR

358

CR 390

CR 302

CR 450

CR 445

CR 326

CR 494

CR
 4

06

CR 158

CR
336

CR465

CR 192

CR 371

CR 498

CR 411
CR

45
6

CR 497

CR 420

CR 451

CR 329
CR 464

CR 160

CR 425

CR
48

0

CR 466

CR 335

CR
 36

2
CR 447

CR 410

CR 440

CR 430

CR 433

CR 478

CR 454

CR 398

CR 437

CR 377

CR 415

CR 490

CR 381

CR 337

CR 342

CR 387

CR 423

CR446

CR 353

CR 330

CR 341

CR 413

CR356

CR

325

CR 439

CR 357

CR 345

CR 483

CR
 13

4

CR

343

CR 471

CR

348
CR

461

LORAX LN

CR 421

CR 436

CR
 12

9

CR 470

CR 417

CR

417

CR 123

CR 198
CR 467

CR 467

CR 320

CR
382

CR
 38

4

CR 384

CR 424

CR
 42

4

CR 48
1

CR
 48

1

CR
 35

5
CR

 40
5

CR360

CR 473

CR
473

CR 108

CR 491

CR 463

CR 327

CR
 45

2

CR 361

CR
 13

9

CR 442

CR
468

CR 30
1

CR 347

CR 347

NCR
366

CR 448

CR 409

CR 199

CR
 32

2

CR
 39

3

CR 303

CR
31

9

CR 161

CR

482

CR
474

CR 333

CR
 33

9 CR
 42

9

CR 349

CR 438

CR
348

2013 2013 RROAD OAD BBOND OND PPROGRAM ROGRAM PPROJECTS ROJECTS 
PPRECINCT 4 - RECINCT 4 - CCOMMISSIONEROMMISSIONER  MMADSENADSEN

In Design
228   Kenney Fort Blvd. Ph. 1 (Forest Creek Blvd. to Gattis School Rd.)
269   CR 101 (US 79 to North of Chandler Rd.)
302   SH 130 Frontage Roads Phase 3 (SBFR US 79 to Limmer Loop)
441   Roundville Lane (A.W. Grimes Blvd. to EBFR of SH 45)

Under Construction/Bidding
260   CR 110 South (US 79 to Limmer Loop)

Completed/Open to Traffic
297   Bill Pickett Trail (Carlos Parker Blvd to Chandler Road)



Multi Site Traffic Signals (CR 110 at Univ, Gattis School Rd at Winterfield)
Project No. 1512-036 Original Contract Price = $328,802.95

Letting Award Notice To Begin Substantial Work Total Bid Days Total
Proceed Work Completion Accepted Days Added Days

2/3/2016 2/17/2016 3/11/2016 3/21/2016 6/24/2016 90 6 96

Invoice Beginning Ending Days Current Invoice Current Total % ($) % Time
Number Date Date Charged Invoice Total Retainage Retainage Used Used

1 3/21/2016 4/30/2016 41 $23,553.00 $23,553.00 $2,617.00 $2,617.00 8 43
2 5/1/2016 5/31/2016 31 $35,329.50 $58,882.50 $3,925.50 $6,542.50 20 75
3 6/1/2016 6/24/2016 24 $195,889.50 $254,772.00 $21,765.50 $28,308.00 88 100
4 6/25/2016 9/30/2016 0 $32,280.08 $287,052.08 $3,586.68 $31,894.68 99 100

3/31/2017 Comments -

Change Order Number Approved Cost  This CO Total COs
01 11/29/2016 -7,856.20 -7,856.20

Adjusted Price = $320,946.75

The Contractor is working on Closeout Documents including as-builts.

2E: Differing Site Conditions  (unforeseeable). Miscellaneous difference in site conditions (unforeseeable)(Item 9).  This Change Order provides the final 
balancing for the overrun/underrun of Contract quantities on the project as a result of addressing field conditions not accounted for in the original plans. 2J: 
Differing Site Conditions  (unforeseeable). Other. This change order also adds time to the contract to cover the time it took the electrical service application and 
installation to be completed at the Gattis School site for Williamson County.

22



Bill Pickett Trail (East Williamson County Access Road)
Project No. 1601-045 Original Contract Price = $3,806,133.30

Letting Award Notice To Begin Substantial Work Total Bid Days Total
Proceed Work Completion Accepted Days Added Days

3/16/2016 4/5/2016 5/2/2016 5/12/2016 11/11/2016 100 30 130

Invoice Beginning Ending Days Current Invoice Current Total % ($) % Time
Number Date Date Charged Invoice Total Retainage Retainage Used Used

1 5/12/2016 5/31/2016 20 $643,105.80 $643,105.80 $71,456.20 $71,456.20 19 15
2 6/1/2016 6/30/2016 30 $268,272.41 $911,378.21 $29,808.05 $101,264.25 28 38
3 7/1/2016 7/31/2016 31 $378,344.61 $1,289,722.82 $42,038.29 $143,302.54 39 62
4 8/1/2016 8/31/2016 31 $476,356.92 $1,766,079.74 $52,928.54 $196,231.08 53 86
5 9/1/2016 9/30/2016 30 $463,467.16 $2,229,546.90 $51,496.35 $247,727.43 67 109
6 10/1/2016 10/31/2016 31 $776,046.85 $3,005,593.75 $86,227.43 $333,954.86 91 133
7 11/1/2016 11/30/2016 30 $150,073.08 $3,155,666.83 $16,674.79 $350,629.65 95 156
8 12/1/2016 12/31/2016 0 $11,444.91 $3,167,111.74 $1,271.65 $351,901.30 96 156

3/31/2017 Comments -

Change Order Number Approved Cost  This CO Total COs
01 6/7/2016 -85.80 -85.80

Change Order Number Approved Cost  This CO Total COs
02 8/9/2016 3,305.00 3,219.20

Change Order Number Approved Cost  This CO Total COs
03 9/6/2016 -102,204.38 -98,985.18

Change Order Number Approved Cost  This CO Total COs
04 9/20/2016 -24,873.50 -123,858.68

Adjusted Price = $3,682,274.62

3H: County Convenience. Cost savings opportunity discovered during construction.  This Change Order removes the Erosion Control Compost (3") called for in 
the plans and replaces it with new contract items for Fertilizer and Soil Retention Blanket. Vegetation can be established and erosion can be minimized by 
using fertilizer and soil retention blanket in lieu of the Erosion Control Compost at a substantial cost savings for the County.  

3H: County Convenience. Cost savings opportunity discovered during construction.  This Change Order replaces the Tier II Asphalt and Type D Grade 5 Sac B 
Aggregate in the contract with a Hot-Applied Non-Tracking Underseal (TFT-H). This is a substitution for a traditional underseal and eliminates the need for 
aggregate in the application process.  

The Contractor is working on the punchlist items, including vegetation watering and re-seeding various locations.

3K: This Change Order adds Select Fill material to be used in lieu of Lime Treated Subgrade. This change requires adjustments to the earthwork quantities and 
deletes the lime related items from the Contract.

3H: County Convenience. Cost savings opportunity discovered during construction. This Change Order adds a new contract item to change the Type C SAC A 
PG 76-22 surface asphalt to Type D SAC B PG 70-22 surface asphalt which provides a cost savings to the County. 1A:  Design Error or Omission. Incorrect 
PS&E. This Change Order adds asphalt quantity for the school driveway to account for a 4" thickness rather than 2" inadvertently included in the plans. 6B: 
Untimely ROW/Utilities. Right of Way not clear (County responsible for ROW). Thirty days are being added for delays associated in acquiring Right of Way.

23



                          Project Location 
 
 
 
 

County Road 110 South
(US 79 to Limmer Loop)

Project Length: 2.25 Miles
Roadway Classification: Minor Urban Arterial

Project Schedule: January 2017-June 2018
Estimated Construction Cost: $11.2 Million

MARCH 2017 IN REVIEW

3/03/2017: Chasco Constructors continued water line installation between 
Parma St and Mozart Ln. AT&T continued tying lines and installing junction 
pedestals. Oncor’s subcontractor Willbros continued placing poles and 
installing electrical lines. 

3/10/2017: Water line installation between Parma St and Mozart Ln continued. 
Two houses within the ROW were removed. Subcontractor Bryant/Frey 
completed boring under Mozart Ln. 

3/17/2017: Water line installation continued north of Mozart Ln. Subcontractor 
Bryant/Frey bored under Limmer Loop.  AT&T continued tying in their lines 
and installing junction pedestals. 

3/24/2017: An 8” water line was installed across CR 110 at Sophia. 
Subcontractor Bryant/Frey bored under CR 110 at Sophia. 

3/31/2017: A 16” water line was installed south of Limmer Loop and an 8” 
water line was installed at Porano. Subcontractor H-D Drilling bored the 
encased water line under CR 110 north of Porano.  Oncor’s subcontractor 
Willbros continued installing electrical lines. Two poles remain to be installed.

Design Engineer: Dannenbaum
Contractor: Chasco Constructors
Construction Observation:
David Boone, HNTB

Williamson County 
Road Bond Program

24



CR 110 South (US 79 to Limmer Loop)
Project No. 1604-075 Original Contract Price = $11,224,589.02

Letting Award Notice To Begin Substantial Work Total Bid Days Total
Proceed Work Completion Accepted Days Added Days

9/27/2016 10/17/2016 1/3/2017 1/13/2017 510 0 510

Invoice Beginning Ending Days Current Invoice Current Total % ($) % Time
Number Date Date Charged Invoice Total Retainage Retainage Used Used

1 1/13/2017 3/31/2017 78 $1,679,979.60 $1,679,979.60 $186,664.40 $186,664.40 17 15

Adjusted Price = $11,224,589.02

25



   

Commissioners Court - Regular Session   12.           
Meeting Date: 04/18/2017  

Discuss consider and take appropriate action on the Department of Infrastructure projects and issues update
Submitted For: Robert Daigh  Submitted By: Vicky Edwards, Unified Road System
Department: Unified Road System
Agenda Category: Regular Agenda Items

Information
Agenda Item
Discuss, consider and take appropriate action on the Department of Infrastructure projects and issues update.

Background

Fiscal Impact

From/To Acct No. Description Amount

Attachments
No file(s) attached.

Form Review
Inbox Reviewed By Date
County Judge Exec Asst. Wendy Coco 03/29/2017 01:41 PM
Form Started By: Vicky Edwards Started On: 03/29/2017 08:53 AM
Final Approval Date: 03/29/2017 



   

Commissioners Court - Regular Session   13.           
Meeting Date: 04/18/2017  

Stantec Neenah Avenue Widening Contract Amendment No 1
Submitted By: Marie Walters, Road Bond
Department: Road Bond
Agenda Category: Regular Agenda Items

Information
Agenda Item
Discuss, consider and take appropriate action on a contract amendment no. 1 for Neenah Avenue Widening road
project between Williamson County and Stantec Consulting Services, Inc. relating to the 2013 Road Bond Program.

Background

Fiscal Impact

From/To Acct No. Description Amount

Attachments
Neenah-Stantec-ContractAmendment1
Neenah-Stantec-Supp4WA1

Form Review
Inbox Reviewed By Date
County Judge Exec Asst. Wendy Coco 04/12/2017 11:55 AM
Form Started By: Marie Walters Started On: 04/12/2017 11:49 AM
Final Approval Date: 04/12/2017 























   

Commissioners Court - Regular Session   14.           
Meeting Date: 04/18/2017  

North Campus Facility - Oncor Easement Agreement
Submitted By: Gina Wrehsnig, Facilities Maintenance
Department: Facilities Maintenance
Agenda Category: Regular Agenda Items

Information
Agenda Item
Discuss, consider and take appropriate action on an Encroachment Agreement with Oncor Electric Delivery
Company, LLC (Oncor) to allow for a detention pond to encroach upon Oncor’s easement at the North Campus
Facility Project.

Background
In order to install the detention pond at the North Campus Facility, we have to encroach into Oncor Electric's utility
easement.

Fiscal Impact

From/To Acct No. Description Amount

Attachments
Oncor Easement Agreement

Form Review
Inbox Reviewed By Date
County Judge Exec Asst. Wendy Coco 04/12/2017 08:51 AM
Form Started By: Gina Wrehsnig Started On: 04/11/2017 01:22 PM
Final Approval Date: 04/12/2017 



















   

Commissioners Court - Regular Session   15.           
Meeting Date: 04/18/2017  

2013 Road Bond Budget Transfer
Submitted By: Emmeline Palma, County Auditor
Department: County Auditor
Agenda Category: Regular Agenda Items

Information
Agenda Item
Discuss, consider and take appropriate action on approving 2013 Road Bond Budget Transfer per Mike Weaver,
Road Bond Manager, to move $200,000 from 2013 Road Non-Departmental (P290) to Bagdad Road @ CR 278
(P438).

Background

Fiscal Impact

From/To Acct No. Description Amount

Attachments
2013 Road Bond Budget Transfer

Form Review
Inbox Reviewed By Date
County Judge Exec Asst. Wendy Coco 04/12/2017 08:51 AM
Form Started By: Emmeline Palma Started On: 04/12/2017 08:12 AM
Final Approval Date: 04/12/2017 



C:\Users\emmeline.palma\Desktop\AgendaMemo\201704\041817\Memo_Auditors_2013RBBudgetTra
nsfers_04112017.doc 

1508 S. Lamar Blvd. 

Austin, Texas 78704 

(512) 445-7074 voice 

(512) 445-7064 fax 

Prime Strategies, Inc. 

Memo 

To: Tomika Lynce, Williamson County Auditor’s Office 

 Emmeline Palma, Williamson County Auditor’s Office 
 Pam Navarrette, Williamson County Auditor’s Office 

From: Michael J. Weaver 

Date: April 11, 2017 

Re: 2013 Road Bond Budget Transfers 

Please make the following budget adjustment for 2013 Road Bond project: 

 Move $200,000.00 from P-290 Unallocated to P-438 Bagdad Road @ 
CR 278 

If you have any questions, please let me know. 

 

Cc: Bob Daigh, Williamson County Sr. Director of Infrastructure 
 Marie Walters, PSI 
 Christen Eschberger, P.E., HNTB 

   

 

 



   

Commissioners Court - Regular Session   16.           
Meeting Date: 04/18/2017  

CR 258 Contract
Submitted For: Charlie Crossfield  Submitted By: Charlie Crossfield, Road Bond
Department: Road Bond
Agenda Category: Regular Agenda Items

Information
Agenda Item
Discuss, consider and take appropriate action on a real estate contract with TRIBAR for ROW needed near CR
258. 

Background

Fiscal Impact

From/To Acct No. Description Amount

Attachments
Tribar Contract

Form Review
Inbox Reviewed By Date
County Judge Exec Asst. Wendy Coco 04/12/2017 08:51 AM
Form Started By: Charlie Crossfield Started On: 04/12/2017 08:38 AM
Final Approval Date: 04/12/2017 



 

374519bk 

REAL ESTATE CONTRACT 

 

 

 THIS REAL ESTATE CONTRACT (“Contract”) is made by TRIBAR, a Texas general 

partnership (referred to in this Contract as “Seller”) and WILLIAMSON COUNTY, TEXAS 

(referred to in this Contract as “Purchaser”), upon the terms and conditions set forth in this 

Contract. 

 

ARTICLE I 

PURCHASE AND SALE 

 

 By this Contract, Seller sells and agrees to convey, and Purchaser purchases and agrees to 

pay for, the tract(s) of land described as follows:  

 

All of those certain tracts of land being more fully described by metes and bounds 

in Exhibits “A” and “B”, attached hereto and incorporated herein; and  

  

together with all and singular the rights and appurtenances pertaining to the property, including 

any right, title and interest of Seller in and to adjacent streets, alleys or rights-of-way (all of such 

real property, rights, and appurtenances being referred to in this Contract as the “Property”), and 

any improvements situated on and attached to the Property described in Exhibits “A” and “B” not 

otherwise agreed herein to be retained by Seller, for the consideration and upon and subject to the 

terms, provisions, and conditions set forth below. 

 

ARTICLE II 

PURCHASE PRICE 
 

Purchase Price  

 

2.01. The Purchase Price for the Property described in Exhibits “A” and “B”, 

compensation for any improvements on the Property, and any damage or cost of cure for the 

remaining property of Seller shall be the sum of ONE HUNDRED NINTY THREE THOUSAND 

and 00/100 Dollars ($193,000.00). 

 

Special Provisions 

 

 2.02. As additional consideration for this transaction, and as an obligation and agreement 

which shall survive Closing, Purchaser agrees to enter into a license agreement with Seller to 

provide for Seller’s access across the Property until Purchaser is ready to construct a roadway on 

the Property. 

 

Payment of Purchase Price  

 

 2.03. The Purchase Price shall be payable in cash at the Closing. 

DocuSign Envelope ID: C5ED97BC-C6F3-4B02-9770-1CF55A1CCE45



 

 2 

 

ARTICLE III 

 PURCHASER’S OBLIGATIONS 

 

Conditions to Purchaser’s Obligations 

 

 3.01. The obligations of Purchaser hereunder to consummate the transactions 

contemplated hereby are subject to the satisfaction of each of the following conditions (any of 

which may be waived in whole or in part by Purchaser at or prior to the Closing). 

 

Miscellaneous Conditions 

 

 3.02. Seller shall have performed, observed, and complied with all of the covenants, 

agreements, and conditions required by this Contract to be performed, observed, and complied 

with by Seller prior to or as of the closing.  

 

ARTICLE IV 

REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES 

OF SELLER 
 

 Seller hereby represents and warrants to Purchaser as follows, which representations and 

warranties shall be deemed made by Seller to Purchaser also as of the Closing Date, to the best of 

Seller’s current actual knowledge: 

 

 (1) There are no parties in possession of any portion of the Property as lessees, tenants 

at sufferance, or trespassers, other than as previously disclosed to Purchaser; 

 

 (2)  Seller has complied with all applicable laws, ordinances, regulations, statutes, rules 

and restrictions relating to the Property, or any part thereof; 

 

 The Property herein is being conveyed to Purchaser under threat of condemnation. 

 

ARTICLE V 

CLOSING 

 

Closing Date 

 

 5.01. The Closing shall be held at the office of Independence Title, 101 Jonathan Drive, 

#2, Liberty Hill, Texas 78642 on or before April 14, 2017, or at such time, date, and place as 

Seller and Purchaser may agree upon, or within 10 days after the completion of any title curative 

matters if necessary for items as shown on the Title Commitment or in the contract (which date is 

herein referred to as the “Closing Date”). 

 

 

DocuSign Envelope ID: C5ED97BC-C6F3-4B02-9770-1CF55A1CCE45



 

 3 

 

Seller’s Obligations at Closing 

 

 5.02. At the Closing Seller shall: 

 

 (1) Deliver to Purchaser a duly executed and acknowledged Special Warranty Deed 

conveying good and indefeasible title to Williamson County, Texas in fee simple to all of the 

Property described in Exhibits “A” and “B”, free and clear of any and all liens and restrictions by, 

through, or under Grantor, but not otherwise, except for the following: 

 

(a) General real estate taxes for the year of closing and subsequent years not 

yet due and payable; 

 

(b) Any exceptions approved by Purchaser pursuant to Article III hereof; and 

 

(c) Any exceptions approved by Purchaser in writing. 

 

 The Deed shall be in the form of Exhibit “C”, attached hereto. 

 

 (2) Deliver to Purchaser a Texas Owner’s Title Policy at Purchaser's sole expense, issued 

by Title Company, in Grantee’s favor in the full amount of the purchase price, insuring 

Purchaser’s contracted interests in and to the Property subject only to those title exceptions listed 

herein, such other exceptions as may be approved in writing by Purchaser, and the standard 

printed exceptions contained in the usual form of Texas Owner’s Title Policy, provided, however: 

 

(a) The boundary and survey exceptions shall be deleted; 

 

(b) The exception as to restrictive covenants shall be endorsed “None of 

Record”, if applicable; and 

 

(c) The exception as to the lien for taxes shall be limited to the year of Closing 

and shall be endorsed “Not Yet Due and Payable”. 

 

(d) Deliver to Purchaser possession of the Property if not previously done. 

 

Purchaser’s Obligations at Closing 

 

 5.03. At the Closing, Purchaser shall:  

 

(a) Pay the cash portion of the Purchase Price. 

 

 

 

 

DocuSign Envelope ID: C5ED97BC-C6F3-4B02-9770-1CF55A1CCE45



 

 4 

Prorations 

 

 5.04. General real estate taxes for the then current year relating to the Property shall be 

prorated as of the Closing Date and shall be adjusted in cash at the closing. If the Closing shall 

occur before the tax rate is fixed for the then current year, the apportionment of taxes shall be 

upon the basis of the tax rate for the next preceding year applied to the latest assessed valuation. 

Agricultural roll-back taxes, if any, shall be paid by Purchaser. 

Closing Costs 

 

 5.05. All costs and expenses of closing in consummating the sale and purchase of the 

Property shall be borne and paid as follows: 

 

(1) Owner’s Title Policy and survey to be paid by Purchaser. 

 

 (2) Deed, tax certificates, and title curative matters, if any, paid by Purchaser. 

 

(3) All other closing costs shall be paid by Purchaser. 

 

(4) Attorney’s fees paid by each respectively. 

 

ARTICLE VI 

BREACH BY SELLER 

 

 In the event Seller shall fail to fully and timely perform any of its obligations hereunder or 

shall fail to consummate the sale of the Property for any reason, except Purchaser’s default, 

Purchaser may: (1) enforce specific performance of this Contract; or (2) request that the Escrow 

Deposit, if any, shall be forthwith returned by the title company to Purchaser. 

 

ARTICLE VII 

BREACH BY PURCHASER 

 

In the event Purchaser should fail to consummate the purchase of the Property, the 

conditions to Purchaser’s obligations set forth in Article III having been satisfied and Purchaser 

being in default and Seller not being in default hereunder, Seller shall have the right to receive the 

Escrow Deposit, if any, from the title company, the sum being agreed on as liquidated damages 

for the failure of Purchaser to perform the duties, liabilities, and obligations imposed upon it by 

the terms and provisions of this Contract, and Seller agrees to accept and take this cash payment 

as its total damages and relief and as Seller’s sole remedy hereunder in such event.  If no Escrow 

Deposit has been made then Seller shall receive the amount of $500 as liquidated damages for any 

failure by Purchaser. 

 

 

 

 

DocuSign Envelope ID: C5ED97BC-C6F3-4B02-9770-1CF55A1CCE45



 

 5 

ARTICLE VIII 

MISCELLANEOUS 

 

Notice 

 

 8.01. Any notice required or permitted to be delivered hereunder shall be deemed received 

when sent by United States mail, postage prepaid, certified mail, return receipt requested, 

addressed to Seller or Purchaser, as the case may be, at the address set forth opposite the signature 

of the party. 

 

Texas Law to Apply 

 

 8.02. This Contract shall be construed under and in accordance with the laws of the State 

of Texas, and all obligations of the parties created hereunder are performable in Williamson 

County, Texas. 

 

Parties Bound 

 

 8.03. This Contract shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties and their 

respective heirs, executors, administrators, legal representatives, successors and assigns where 

permitted by this Contract. 

 

Legal Construction 

 

 8.04. In case any one or more of the provisions contained in this Contract shall for any 

reason be held to be invalid, illegal, or unenforceable in any respect, this invalidity, illegality, or 

unenforceability shall not affect any other provision hereof, and this Contract shall be construed as 

if the invalid, illegal, or unenforceable provision had never been contained herein. 

 

Prior Agreements Superseded 

 

 8.05. This Contract constitutes the sole and only agreement of the parties and supersedes 

any prior understandings or written or oral agreements between the parties respecting the within 

subject matter. 

 

Time of Essence 

 

 8.06. Time is of the essence in this Contract. 

 

Gender 

 

 8.07. Words of any gender used in this Contract shall be held and construed to include any 

other gender, and words in the singular number shall be held to include the plural, and vice versa, 

unless the context requires otherwise. 

DocuSign Envelope ID: C5ED97BC-C6F3-4B02-9770-1CF55A1CCE45



 

 6 

Memorandum of Contract 

 

 8.08. Upon request of either party, the parties shall promptly execute a memorandum of 

this Contract suitable for filing of record. 

 

Compliance 

 

 8.09.  In accordance with the requirements of Section 20 of the Texas Real Estate License 

Act, Purchaser is hereby advised that it should be furnished with or obtain a policy of title 

insurance or Purchaser should have the abstract covering the Property examined by an attorney of 

Purchaser’s own selection. 

 

 Effective Date 

 

 8.10.  This Contract shall be effective as of the date it is approved by Williamson County, 

Texas which date is indicated beneath the County Judge’s signature below. 

 

Counterparts 

 

8.11. This Contract may be executed in any number of counterparts, which may together 

constitute the Contract.  Signatures transmitted by facsimile or electronic mail may be considered 

effective as originals for purposes of this Contract. 

 

SELLER: 

 

TRIBAR,  

a general Texas Partnership 

 

 

By: _________________________  Address:_______________________ 

___________________, its      ________________________ 

 ___________________ 

 

Date:___________________________ 

 

PURCHASER: 

 

WILLIAMSON COUNTY, TEXAS 

 

 

By: _________________________  Address: 710 Main Street, Suite 101  

Dan A. Gattis, County Judge          Georgetown, Texas 78626 

 

Date: ___________________________     

DocuSign Envelope ID: C5ED97BC-C6F3-4B02-9770-1CF55A1CCE45

8103B BAYWOOD 
DR AUSTIN, TX 
78759

Brian Barnes



























375966bk 

SPECIAL WARRANTY DEED 

THE STATE OF TEXAS §
§ 

COUNTY OF WILLIAMSON § 

NOTICE OF CONFIDENTIALITY RIGHTS: IF YOU ARE A NATURAL PERSON, YOU 
MAY REMOVE OR STRIKE ANY OF THE FOLLOWING INFORMATION FROM THIS 
INSTRUMENT BEFORE IT IS FILED FOR RECORD IN THE PUBLIC RECORDS: YOUR 
SOCIAL SECURITY NUMBER OR YOUR DRIVER'S LICENSE NUMBER. 

NOW, THEREFORE, KNOW ALL BY THESE PRESENTS: 

That TRIBAR, a Texas general partnership, hereinafter referred to as “Grantor”, 
whether one or more, for and in consideration of the sum of Ten Dollars ($10.00) and other 
good and valuable consideration to Grantor in hand paid by WILLIAMSON COUNTY, a 
Texas political subdivision, hereinafter referred to as “Grantee”, receipt and sufficiency of 
which is hereby acknowledged, and for which no lien is retained, either expressed or 
implied, have this day Sold and by these presents do Grant, Bargain, Sell and Convey unto 
Grantee, all of those certain tracts or parcels of land lying and being situated in the County 
of Williamson, State of Texas, along with any improvements thereon, being more 
particularly described as follows: 

All of those certain tracts of land being more fully described by metes and bounds in 
Exhibits “A” and “B”, attached hereto and incorporated herein. 

RESERVATIONS FROM AND EXCEPTIONS TO CONVEYANCE AND 
WARRANTY:      Easements and rights-of-way of record; all presently recorded 
restrictions, reservations, covenants, conditions, oil and gas leases, and other instruments, 
other than liens and conveyances, that affect the property; rights of adjoining owners in any 
walls and fences situated on a common boundary; and any encroachments or overlapping of 
improvements. 

TO HAVE AND TO HOLD the premises herein described and herein conveyed together 
with all and singular the rights and appurtenances thereto in any wise belonging unto 
Grantee and its successors and assigns forever; and Grantor does hereby bind itself and its 
successors and assigns to Warrant and Forever Defend all and singular the said premises 
herein conveyed unto Grantee and its successors and assigns against every person 
whomsoever lawfully claiming or to claim the same or any part thereof by, through, or 
under Grantor, but not otherwise. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, this instrument is executed on this the day of 
   _______________, 2017. 

EXHIBIT C



2 
 

 
      GRANTOR: 

TRIBAR, a Texas general partnership 
 
       

By:  
 
      ____________________, as ________________ 
 
 
 

 
 

ACKNOWLEDGMENT 
 
STATE OF TEXAS § 
 § 
COUNTY OF WILLIAMSON § 
 
 This instrument was acknowledged before me on the _____ day of ____________, 2017, by 
_____________________, as ______________ of Tribar, in the capacity and for the purposes and 
consideration recited herein. 
 
 

  
Notary Public, State of Texas 
 

 
 
 
AFTER RECORDING RETURN TO: 
Sheets & Crossfield, P.C. 
309 E. Main St. 
Round Rock, Texas  78664 
 



   

Commissioners Court - Regular Session   17.           
Meeting Date: 04/18/2017  

CR 101 Contract
Submitted For: Charlie Crossfield  Submitted By: Charlie Crossfield, Road Bond
Department: Road Bond
Agenda Category: Regular Agenda Items

Information
Agenda Item
Discuss, consider and take appropriate action on a real estate contract with Paul J. Anderson for right of way
needed on CR 101 (Parcel 15). 

Background

Fiscal Impact

From/To Acct No. Description Amount

Attachments
Anderson Contract

Form Review
Inbox Reviewed By Date
County Judge Exec Asst. Wendy Coco 04/12/2017 08:51 AM
Form Started By: Charlie Crossfield Started On: 04/12/2017 08:39 AM
Final Approval Date: 04/12/2017 































   

Commissioners Court - Regular Session   18.           
Meeting Date: 04/18/2017  

Advertisement Approval IFB 1704-156 Crack Seal
Submitted For: Randy Barker  Submitted By: Thomas Skiles, Purchasing
Department: Purchasing
Agenda Category: Regular Agenda Items

Information
Agenda Item
Discuss, consider, and take appropriate action on authorizing Purchasing Agent to advertise and receive sealed
bids for Crack Seal under IFB # 1704-156.

Background

Fiscal Impact

From/To Acct No. Description Amount

Attachments
Bid Packet

Form Review
Inbox Reviewed By Date
County Judge Exec Asst. Wendy Coco 04/10/2017 09:05 AM
Form Started By: Thomas Skiles Started On: 04/07/2017 11:40 AM
Final Approval Date: 04/10/2017 



5

6

PUBLIC ANNOUNCEMENT AND GENERAL INFORMATION

WILLIAMSON COUNTY PURCHASING DEPARTMENT
SOLICIATION 1704-156

Crack Seal

BIDS MUST BE RECEIVED ON OR BEFORE: 
May 8, 2017 3:00:00 PM CDT

BIDS WILL BE PUBLICLY OPENED: 
May 8, 2017 3:00:00 PM CDT

Notice is hereby given that sealed Bids for the above-mentioned goods and/or services will be
accepted by the Williamson County Purchasing Department. Williamson County uses BidSync to 
distribute and receive bids.  Specifications for this IFB may be obtained by registering at
www.bidsync.com .

Williamson County prefers and requests electronic submittal of this 
Bid. 

All electronic bids must be submitted via:  www.bidsync.com

Electronic bids are requested, however paper bids will currently still be received, until further notice 
and may be mailed or delivered to the address listed below.

Bidders are strongly encouraged to carefully read this entire IFB.

All interested Bidders are invited to submit a Bid in accordance with the Instructions and General 
Requirements, Bid Format, Bid Specifications, and Definitions, Terms and Condit ions stated in this
IFB.

Please note that a complete package must be submitted choosing one of the above two 
methods. Split packages submitted will be considered “unresponsive”  and will not be 
accepted or evaluated.

Williamson County will not accept any Bids received after the
submittal deadline, and shall return such Bids unopened to the

Bidder.

General Information:

· If mailed or delivered in person, Bids and Bid addenda are to be delivered in sealed envelope 
on or before the submittal deadline, a s noted in the Public Announcement and General
Information listed above for this IFB, to:

Williamson County Purchasing Department
Attn: BID NAME AND NUMBER
901 South Austin Avenue 
Georgetown, Texas 78626

o Bidders should list the Bid Number, Bid Name, Name and Address of Bidder, and 
the Date of the Bid opening on the outside of the box or envelope and note
“Sealed Bid Enclosed.”

o Bidder should submit one (1) original.
o Williamson County will NOT be responsible for unmarked or improperly marked 

envelopes.
o Williamson County will not accept any responsibility for Bids being delivered by

third party carriers.
o Facsimile transmittals will NOT be accepted.

· Bids will be opened publicly in a manner; however, to avoid public disclosure of contents only 
the names and of Bidders and prices will be read aloud.

· All submitted questions with their answers will be posted and updated on www.bidsync.com.

· It is the Bidder ’s responsibility to review all documents in BidSync, including any Addenda that 
may have been added after the document packet was originally released and posted. 

o Any Addenda and/or other information relevant to the IFB will be posted on
www.bidsync.com. 

o The Williamson County Purchasing Department takes no responsibility to ensure
any interested Bidder has obtained any outstanding addenda or additional
information. 

Bid 1704-156Williamson County, Texas

4/6/2017 1:22 PM p. 1



5

6

PUBLIC ANNOUNCEMENT AND GENERAL INFORMATION

WILLIAMSON COUNTY PURCHASING DEPARTMENT
SOLICIATION 1704-156

Crack Seal

BIDS MUST BE RECEIVED ON OR BEFORE: 
May 8, 2017 3:00:00 PM CDT

BIDS WILL BE PUBLICLY OPENED: 
May 8, 2017 3:00:00 PM CDT

Notice is hereby given that sealed Bids for the above-mentioned goods and/or services will be
accepted by the Williamson County Purchasing Department. Williamson County uses BidSync to 
distribute and receive bids.  Specifications for this IFB may be obtained by registering at
www.bidsync.com .

Williamson County prefers and requests electronic submittal of this 
Bid. 

All electronic bids must be submitted via:  www.bidsync.com

Electronic bids are requested, however paper bids will currently still be received, until further notice 
and may be mailed or delivered to the address listed below.

Bidders are strongly encouraged to carefully read this entire IFB.

All interested Bidders are invited to submit a Bid in accordance with the Instructions and General 
Requirements, Bid Format, Bid Specifications, and Definitions, Terms and Condit ions stated in this
IFB.

Please note that a complete package must be submitted choosing one of the above two 
methods. Split packages submitted will be considered “unresponsive”  and will not be 
accepted or evaluated.

Williamson County will not accept any Bids received after the
submittal deadline, and shall return such Bids unopened to the

Bidder.

General Information:

· If mailed or delivered in person, Bids and Bid addenda are to be delivered in sealed envelope 
on or before the submittal deadline, a s noted in the Public Announcement and General
Information listed above for this IFB, to:

Williamson County Purchasing Department
Attn: BID NAME AND NUMBER
901 South Austin Avenue 
Georgetown, Texas 78626

o Bidders should list the Bid Number, Bid Name, Name and Address of Bidder, and 
the Date of the Bid opening on the outside of the box or envelope and note
“Sealed Bid Enclosed.”

o Bidder should submit one (1) original.
o Williamson County will NOT be responsible for unmarked or improperly marked 

envelopes.
o Williamson County will not accept any responsibility for Bids being delivered by

third party carriers.
o Facsimile transmittals will NOT be accepted.

· Bids will be opened publicly in a manner; however, to avoid public disclosure of contents only 
the names and of Bidders and prices will be read aloud.

· All submitted questions with their answers will be posted and updated on www.bidsync.com.

· It is the Bidder ’s responsibility to review all documents in BidSync, including any Addenda that 
may have been added after the document packet was originally released and posted. 

o Any Addenda and/or other information relevant to the IFB will be posted on
www.bidsync.com. 

o The Williamson County Purchasing Department takes no responsibility to ensure
any interested Bidder has obtained any outstanding addenda or additional
information. 

Bid 1704-156Williamson County, Texas

4/6/2017 1:22 PM p. 2



55

66

Bid 1704-156

Crack Seal

Bid Number     1704 -156 

Bid Title     Crack Seal 

Bid Start Date  In Held

Bid End Date  May 8, 2017 3:00:00 PM CDT

Question & Answer 

End Date
 May 5, 2017 5:00:00 PM CDT

Bid Contact     Blake Skiles 

 Purchasing Specialist III 

 512 -943 -1478 

 blake.skiles@wilco.org 

Contract Duration    1 year 

Contract Renewal    2 annual renewals   

Prices Good for    90 days 

Pre-Bid Conference   Apr 27, 2017 10:30:00 AM CDT

Attendance is optional

Location: 3151 S.E. Inner Loop 

Georgetown, TX 78626

Bid Comments Williamson County is seeking qualified companies to provide Crack Seal.

Item Response Form

Item     1704-156 -01-01 -  Please Attach All Documents To This Line

Quantity    1 each

Prices are not requested for this item. 

Delivery Location          Williamson County, Texas

No Location Specified

Qty  1 

Description
Please Attach All Documents To This Line 

Bid 1704-156Williamson County, Texas

4/6/2017 1:22 PM p. 3



GENERAL NOTES AND TECHNICAL SPECS 
 

General Information 
 
Williamson County is seeking qualified companies to provide Asphalt Emulsions per Item 300, 
Texas Department of Transportation, Standard Specifications for Construction and Maintenance 
of Highways, Streets and Bridges 2014. 
 
Quantities shown are estimated quantities.  The actual quantity purchased may be more or 
less.  The County is not obligated to purchase any minimum amount and the County may 
purchase any reasonable amount greater than the estimate for the same unit price.  Items will 
be ordered on an “As Needed” basis.   
 
Williamson County reserves the right to award the bid in whole to one contractor or to award a 
contract on each separate item or combination of items as may be most advantageous to the 
County. A primary, secondary, tertiary, and/or subsequent award may be made for this bid by 
the County. 
 
It is expressly understood and agreed that in case Williamson County should need any item(s) 
not available within the time frame needed from the successful vendor(s) during the term of this 
contract, the County reserves the right to purchase the item(s) vendors from other than the 
successful vendor(s) and shall not be in violation of any terms or conditions of said contract.   
 
Provide three (3) references where like services have been performed by your firm. Include 
name of firm, address, telephone number and name of representative. 
 
Definition of Terms 
 
County:  Williamson County Road and Bridge Division 
 
Contractor: Successful bidder of the attached invitation to bid.   
 
Engineer: County Engineer 
 
Inspector: Employee of Williamson County supplied full time to the contractor's crew for the 
selection, prosecution, and quality control of the work.  Should the work, as well as the 
geographical location, allow, the County may supply one foreman for multiple crews. 
 
Specifications: Texas Department of Transportation Standard Specifications for Construction 
and Maintenance of Highways, Streets, and Bridges 2014. 
 
Department:  Road and Bridge Division 
 
Control of Materials 
 
Source Control. Use only materials that meet Contract requirements.  Unless otherwise 
specified or approved, use new materials for the work.  Secure the Engineer’s approval of the 
proposed source of materials to be used before their delivery.  Materials can be approved at a 
supply source or staging area but may be re-inspected. 
 

Bid 1704-156Williamson County, Texas

4/6/2017 1:22 PM p. 4



The Contractor shall submit the following test reports from an approved independent testing 
laboratory, providing the proposed materials compliance and adequacy. 
Emulsions and Specialty Emulsions: 
 
  CRM content, Grade B, % by wt. 
  Virgin rubber content, % by wt. 
  Penetration, 77oF, 150 g, 5 sec.  
  Penetration, 32oF, 200 g, 60 sec 
 
Material Quality. Correct or remove materials that fail to meet the contract requirements, for 
cost incurred if additional sampling and testing is required by a change of source.  Materials not 
meeting Contract requirements will be rejected, unless the Engineer approves corrective 
actions.  Upon rejection, immediately remove and replace rejected materials.  If the Contractor 
does not comply with this Article, the County may remove and replace defective material.  The 
cost of testing, removal, and replacement will be deducted from invoice. 
 
Manufacturer Warranties. Transfer to the County warranties and guarantees required by the 
Contract or received as part of normal trade practice. 
 
Plant Inspection and Testing. The Engineer may but is not obligated to inspect materials at 
the acquisition or manufacturing source.  Material samples will be obtained and tested for 
compliance with quality requirements.  Materials produced under County inspection are for 
County use only unless released in writing by the Engineer. 
If inspection is at the plant, meet the following conditions unless otherwise specified: 

• Cooperate fully and assist the Engineer during the inspection 
• Ensure the Engineer has full access to all parts of the plant used to manufacture or 

produce materials. 
• In accordance with pertinent items and the Contract, provide a facility at the plant for use 

by the Engineer as an office or laboratory. 
• Provide and maintain adequate safety measures and restroom facilities. 
• Furnish and calibrate scales, measuring devices, and other necessary equipment. 

The Engineer may provide inspection for periods other than daylight hours if: 

• Continuous production of materials for County use is necessary due to the production 
volume being handled at the plant and  

• The lighting is adequate to allow satisfactory inspection. 

ITEM 300 – Asphalts, Oils and Emulsions 

• Contractor to provide crack sealer that is Class B, Asphalt Rubber Blocks. 
• Sample of the material to be provided prior to purchase. 
• Sealant shall be hot-applied, single component polymer/rubber modified asphalt 

supplied in a solid form that when melted is flexible and an adhesive compound able to 
be applied in accordance with Item 712, TxDOT specifications. 

• Product’s preferred safe heating temperature shall be 400oF, with a recommended pour 
temperature of 380oF.  

Bid 1704-156Williamson County, Texas

4/6/2017 1:22 PM p. 5



300
Rubber-Asphalt Crack Sealer 

(TxDOT Item 300.2H Table 15)
350,000 lbs  

Bid Items and Estimate of Quantities
Price per 

Box
Pounds per 

Box
Item # Description Estimated Quantity

Bid 1704-156Williamson County, Texas

4/6/2017 1:22 PM p. 6



5

6

3 4

Williamson County – Invitation for Bid (IFB)

SECTION 1 - DEFINITIONS 

Addendum/Addenda – means any written or graphic instruments issued by the County prior to the 
consideration of Bids which modify or interpret the Bid Documents by additions, deletions, clarifications, 
or corrections.

Agreement/Ensuing Agreement(s) – means the Successful Bidder may be required by the County to 
sign an additional Agreement containing terms necessary to ensure compliance with the IFB and the 
Bidder ’s Bid.  Such Ensuing Agreement(s) shall contain the Bid specifications, terms and conditions that 
are derived from the IFB.

Bid Documents – means the Legal Notice, IFB including attachments, and any Addenda issued by the 
County prior to the consideration of any Bids.

Bid – means the completed and signed bid form, (sometimes referred to as the Price Sheet), and ALL 
required forms and documentation listed in the IFB package which have been submitted in accordance 
with the terms and conditions described in the IFB package.  A Bid submitted in accordance with this IFB 
is irrevocable during the specified period for evaluation and acceptance of Bids unless a waiver is 
obtained from the Williamson County Purchasing Agent.

Bidder – means a person or entity who submits a Bid in response to this IFB.

Contract – means this IFB and the Bid of the Successful Bidder shall become a Contract between the 
Successful Bidder and the County once the Successful Bidder ’s Bid is properly accepted by the 
Williamson County Commissioners Court.

Commissioner ’s Court – means the Williamson County Commissioners Court. 

County – means Williamson County, a political subdivision of the State of Texas.

Invitation for Bid (IFB) – means this document, together with the attachments thereto and any future 
Addenda issued by the County.

Successful Bidder – means the liable Bidder to whom the County intends to award the Contract.

SECTION 2 - BID FORMAT AND SUBMISSION

2.1 ORGANIZATION OF BID CONTENTS FOR SUBMITTAL 

Each Bid should be organized and items submitted in the order described below: 

A. Transmittal Letter. Please see Section 2.3, Transmittal Letter, for more information. 

B. Price Sheet.

C. Conflict of Interest Questionnaire. Please see Section 2.2, Conflict of Interest, for more 
information in regards to this. Please note that even if you deem there to be no Conflict of Interest, 
this signed questionnaire must be included in your package. 

D. References. Please see Section 3.15, References, for more information. 

E. Bid Affidavit.

F. Form 1295. Please see Section 2.4, Certificate of Interested Parties – Form 1295. 

2.2 CONFLICT OF INTEREST

No public official shall have interest in a Contract, in accordance with Vernon ’s Texas Codes Annotated, 
Local Government Code, Title 5, Subtitle C, Chapter 171, as amended. 

As of January 1, 2006, all Bidders are responsible for complying with Local Government Code, Title 5, 
Subtitle C, Chapter 176.  Additional information may be obtained from the County’s website at the 
following link: 

http://www.wilco.org/CountyDepartments/Purchasing/ConflictofInterestDisclosure/tabid/689/language/en
US/Default.aspx

Each Bidder must disclose any existing or potential conflict of interest relative to the performance of the 
requirements of this IFB.  Examples of potential conflicts of interest may include an existing 
business or personal relationship between the Bidder, its principal, or any affiliate or 
subcontractor with the County or any other entity or person involved in any way with the project 
that is subject to this IFB .  Similarly, any personal or business relationship between the Bidder, the 

principals, or any affiliate or subcontractor with any employee, or official of the County or its suppliers 
must be disclosed.  Any such relationship that might be perceived or represented as a conflict must be 
disclosed. Failure to disclose any such relationship or reveal personal relationships with the County 
employees or officials may be cause for termination. 

The County will decide if an actual or perceived conflict should result in Bid disqualification. 

By submitting a Bid in response to this IFB, all Bidders affirm they have not given, nor intend to give, at 
any time hereafter, any economic opportunity, future employment, gift, loan, gratuity, special discount, 
trip, favor, or service to a the County public servant or any employee, official or representative of same, in 
connection with this procurement. 

Each Bidder must provide a Conflict of Interest Statement with their Bid Package.  Package may 

be deemed incomplete without this form.  

2.3 TRANSMITTAL LETTER

The Bidder should submit a Transmittal Letter that provides the following information: 

A. Name and address of individual or business entity submitting the Bid. 

B. Name, physical address, email address, business and fax number of the Bidder ’s principal 
contact person regarding all contractual matters relating to this IFB.

C. The Bid ’s Federal Employer Identification Number.

D. If the Proposal being submitted will have an effect on air quality for the County (as it relates to any 
state, federal, or voluntary air quality standard), then the Respondent is encouraged to provide
information in narrative indicating the anticipated air quality impact. See Section 4.36, Air Quality 
for more information. 

2.4 CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PARTIES – FORM 1295

As of January 1, 2016, all Successful Bidders are responsible for complying with the Texas Government 
Code, Section 2252.908.  The law states that the County may not enter into certain contracts with a 
Bidder unless the Bidder submits a disclosure of interested parties to the County at the time the Bidder 
submits the signed Contract.  The law applies only to a Contract of the County on or after January 1, 
2016 that either:

A. Requires an action or vote by the Commissioners Court before the Contract may be signed (all 
contracts that fall under the jurisdiction of the Commissioners Court approval, such as contracts 
resulting from an Initiation for Bid (IFB), RFP, Request for Qualifications (RFQ), etc., excluding, 
but not limited to, certain Juvenile Service contracts, contracts funded with Sheriff ’s seized fun 
monies, etc.); or

B. Has a value of at least $1,000,000. 

By January 1, 2016, the Texas Ethics Commission will make available on its website, a new filing 
application that must be used to file Form 1295.  Information regarding how to use the filing application is 
available on the Texas Ethics Commission website at the following link:

https://www.ethics.state.tx.us/whatsnew/elf_info_form1295.htm

A Respondent must:

A. Use the online application to process the required information on Form 1295.

B. Print a copy of the form which will contain a unique certification number.

C. An authorized agent of the Bidder must sign the printed copy of the form.

D. Have the form notarized.

E. File the completed Form 1295 and certification of filing (scanning and emailing form is sufficient) 
with Williamson County Purchasing Agent at the time the signed Contract is submitted for 
approval.

After the Commissioners Court award of the Contract, the County shall notify the Texas Ethics 
Commission, using the Texas Ethics Commission ’s filing application, of the receipt of the filed Form 
1295 and certification of filing not later than the 30th day after the date the Contract binds all parties to the 
Contract. The Texas Ethics Commission will post the completed Form 1295 to its website within seven 
business days after receiving notice from the County.

2.5 ETHICS

The Bidder shall not accept or offer gifts or anything of value nor enter into any business arrangement 
with any employee, official or agent of the County.

2.6 BID SUBMITTAL DEADLINE

The Bid is due no later than the submittal date and time set forth in the Public Announcement and 
General Information listed in this IFB package.  Contents of each Bid shall be submitted in accordance 
with this IFB.

2.7 DELIVERY OF BIDS

The County uses BidSync to distribute and receive Bids and proposals.  It is preferred that Bids
submitted electronically through BidSync; however, Bidders can submit a hard copy.  

Refer to www.bidsync.com for further information on how to submit electronically.

If mailed or delivered in person, Bids and Bid Addenda are to be delivered in sealed envelope on or before
the submittal deadline, as noted in the Public Announcement and General Information listed in this IFB 
package, to:

            Williamson County Purchasing Department
            Attn: Bid Name and Number
            901 South Austin Avenue
            Georgetown, Texas 78626

Also, all Bidders should list their Name and Address, and the Date of the Bid opening on the outside
the box or envelope and note “Sealed Bid Enclosed.” The County will not accept any Bids received after 
the submittal deadline, and shall return such Bids unopened to the Bidder.  The County will not accept 
any responsibility for Bids being delivered by third party carriers.  

Bids will be opened publically and the names of Bidders and pricing will be read aloud.

SECTION 3 - INSTRUCTIONS AND GENERAL REQUIREMENTS

3.1 INSTRUCTIONS

Read this document carefully, and follow all instructions and requirements.  All Bidders are responsible 
for fulfilling all requirements and specifications.  Be sure to have a clear understanding of this IFB.

General requirements apply to all advertised IFBs; however, these may be superseded, in whole or in 
part, by the bid specifications, Addenda and modifications issued as a part of this IFB.  Be sure your Bid 
package is complete.

3.2 AMBIGUITY, CONFLICT, OR OTHER ERRORS IN THIS IFB

If a Bidder discovers any ambiguity, conflict, discrepancy, omission or other error in this IFB, the Bidder 
shall immediately notify the County Purchasing Department of such error in writing and request
modification or clarification of the document.

Modifications will be made by issuing Addenda. If the Bidder fails to notify the County prior to the date
and time fixed for submission of Bids of an error or ambiguity in the IFB known to the Bidder, or an error
or ambiguity that reasonably should have been known to the Bidder, then the Bidder shall be deemed to 
have waived the error or ambiguity or its later resolution.

The County may also modify the IFB, no later than forty-eight (48) hours prior to the date and time fixed
for submission of Bids, by issuance of an Addendum.  All Addenda will be numbered consecutively, 
beginning with one (1).

3.3 NOTIFICATION OF MOST CURRENT ADDRESS

All Bidders in receipt of this IFB shall notify the Williamson County Purchasing Department of any
address changes, contact person changes, and/or telephone number changes no later than forty-eight 
(48) hours prior to the date and time fixed for submission of Bids.

3.4 SIGNATURE OF BIDDER

A. If the Bidder is a Corporation or Limited Liability Company, the legal name of the Corporation
Limited Liability Company shall be provided together with the signature of the officer or officers 
authorized to sign on behalf of such entity.

B. If the Bidder is a General Partnership, the true name of the firm shall be provided with the
signature of each partner authorized to sign.

C. If the Bidder is a Limited Partnership, the name of the Limited Partner ’s General Partner shall
provided with the signature of the officer authorized to sign on behalf of the General Partner.

D. If the Bidder is a Sole Proprietor(s) (individual), each Sole Proprietor(s) shall sign.

E. If signature is by an agent, other than the Sole Proprietor(s) or an officer of a Corporation, Limited 
Liability Company, General Partner or a member of a General Partnership, a power of attorney
equivalent document must be submitted to the Williamson County Purchasing Department.

3.5 ASSUMED BUSINESS NAME

If the Bidder operates business under an Assumed Business Name, the Bidder must have on file with the
Williamson County Clerk a current Assumed Name Certificate and provide a file marked copy of same.

3.6 BID OBLIGATION 

The contents of the IFB, Bid, and any clarification thereof submitted by the Successful Bidder shall
become part of the contractual obligation and incorporated by reference into the Contract and any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

3.7 COMPLIANCE WITH IFB SPECIFICATIONS

It is intended that this IFB describe the requirements and the Bid format in sufficient detail to secure 
comparable Bids.  Failure to comply with all provisions of the IFB may, at the sole discretion of the 
County, result in disqualification.

3.8 WITHDRAWAL OF BID

The Bidder may withdraw its Bid by submitting a written request with the company letterhead and the 
signature of an authorized individual, as described in Section 3.4, Signature of Bidder, to the Williamson 
County Purchasing Department any time prior to the submission deadline.  

The Bidder may submit a new Bid prior to the deadline. Alterations of the Bid in any manner will not be 
considered if submitted after the deadline.  Withdrawal of a Bid after the deadline will be subject to written 
approval of the Williamson County Purchasing Agent.

3.9 EVALUATION AND AWARD

The County reserves the right to use all pertinent information (also learned from sources other than 
disclosed in the Bid process) that might affect the County ’s judgment as to the appropriateness of
award to the lowest and best evaluated Bid. This information may be appended to the Bid evaluation
process results. Information on a Bidder from reliable sources, and not within the Bidder ’s Bid, may also 
be noted and made part of the evaluation fi le.  The County shall have sole discretion for determining 
the reliability of the source.

To ensure the proper and fair evaluation of a solicitation, the County prohibits unsolicited communication 
initiated by the Bidder to the County Official or Employee evaluating or considering the Bids prior to the 
time an award has been made. Unsolicited communication may be ground for disqualifying the 
offending Bidder from consideration or award of the solicitation, or any future solicitation.

Communication between the Bidder and the County will be initiated by the appropriate County Official
Employee in order to obtain information or clarification needed to develop a proper and accurate 
evaluation of the solicitation.

The County intends to award a Contract to the most responsible and responsive Bidder whose Bid will 
be most advantageous to the County. In accordance with Texas Government Code and Local
Government Code, the County may consider, to the extent allowed by law, the following:

A. Price;
B. The Bidder ’s experience and reputation;
C. Quality of the Bidder ’s goods and/or services; 
D. The Bidder ’s safety record;
E. The Bidder ’s proposed personnel; 
F. The Bidder ’s financial capabilities; and 
G. Any other relevant factors specifically listed in this IFB or authorized by law.

3.10 CONDISERATION OF LOCATION OF PRINCIPAL OFFICE 

Pursuant to Texas Local Government Code, Section 271.905 , in purchasing any real property or personal
property that is not affixed to real property, if the County receives one or more Bids from a Bidder whose
principal place of business is in Williamson County and whose Bid is within three (3 )  percent of the
lowest Bid price received by the County from a Bidder who is not a resident of Williamson County, the 
County may enter into a contract with:

A. The lowest Bidder; or the Bidder whose principal place of business is in Williamson County if the
Commissioners Court determines, in writing, that the local Bidder offers the County the best 
combination of contract price and addit ional economic development opportunities
Williamson County created by the contract award, including the employment of residents
Williamson County and increased tax revenues to Williamson County.

It is understood that the Commissioners Court of Williamson County, Texas, reserves the right to accept
or reject any and/or all Bids for any or all goods and/or services covered in this IFB, and to waive
informalities or defects in the Bid or to accept such Bid, if it shall deem to be in the best interest of the 
County.

Awards should be made approximately sixty (60) business days after the Bid opening date. Results may
be obtained by viewing the Williamson County vendor portal at the following link:

http://www.wilco.org/CountyDepartments/Purchasing/SearchforaPastBid/tabid/5213/language/en-
US/Default.aspx

3.11 RESPONSIBILITY 

It is expected that a prospective Bidder will be able to affirmatively demonstrate responsibility.  A 
prospective Bidder should be able to meet the following requirements:

A. Have adequate financial resources, or the ability to obtain such resources as required;
B. Be able to comply with the required or proposed delivery schedule;
C. Have a satisfactory record of performance that can be determined thru references provided; and 
D. Be otherwise qualified and eligible to receive an award.

The County may request representation and other information sufficient to determine the Bidder's ability 
to meet these minimum standards listed above.

3.12 FIRM PRICING 

For unit price items, all of the items listed are to be on a “per unit” basis, stating a firm price per unit or 
unit quantity of each item.  The Bidder must submit a firm price that must be good from the date of Bid 
opening for the fixed period of time set out in this IFB.  Unless the IFB expressly states otherwise, this 
period shall be until the end of the Initial Contract Period.

Bids which do not state a fixed price, or which are subject to change without notice, will not be 
considered.  The Court may award a Contract for the period implied or expressly stated in the lowest and 
best Bid.

3.13 PURCHASE ORDERS

If required by the Williamson County Purchasing Department, a purchase order(s) may be generated to 
the Successful Bidder for goods and/or services.  If a purchase order is issued, the purchase order 
number must appear on all itemized invoices and/or requests for payment.

3.14 SILENCE OF SPECIFICATIONS

The apparent silence of these specifications as to any detail or to the apparent omission from it of a 
detailed description concerning any point, shall be regarded as meaning that only the best practices are 
to prevail.  All interpretations of these specifications shall be made on the basis of this statement.

3.15 REFERENCES

The County may require the Bidder to supply a list of at least three (3) references where like services
and/or goods have been supplied by their firm within the past five (5) years, to include names, titles, 
phone numbers and email addresses of key personnel, and dates of performance.

The County may contact some or all of the references in order to determine the Respondent
performance record on work similar to that described in this RFP.  The County reserves the right to 
contact references other than those provided in the response and to use the information gained from 
them in the evaluation process.

References, if requested, should be provided in accordance with this IFB.  Bid may not be deemed 
complete without the inclusion of requested references.

SECTION 4 - TERMS AND CONDITIONS

4.1 VENUE AND GOVERNING LAW

The Bidder hereby agrees and acknowledges that venue and jurisdiction of any suit, right, or cause of 
action arising out of or in connection with this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s), shall lie 
exclusively in either Williamson County, Texas or in the Austin Division of the Western Federal District of 
Texas, and the parties hereto expressly consent and submit to such jurisdiction.  Furthermore, except to 
the extent that this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) is governed by the laws of the United 
States, this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be governed by and construed in 
accordance with the laws of the State of Texas, excluding, however, its choice of law rules.

4.2 INCORPORATION BY REFERENCE AND PRECEDENCE

A. The Contract shall be derived from the IFB and its Addenda (if applicable), and the Bidder ’ s Bid.  In 
the event of a dispute under the Contract, applicable documents will be referred to for the purpose 
of clarification or for additional detail in the following order of precedence:

1. The IFB and its Addenda (if applicable); and

2. The Bidder ’s Bid.

B. In the event the County requires that an Ensuing Agreement be executed following award and a 
dispute arises between the terms and conditions of the Ensuing Agreement, the IFB and its 
Addenda (if applicable), and the Bidder ’s Bid, applicable documents will be referred to for the 
purpose of clarification or for additional detail in the following order of precedence: 

1. Terms and conditions of the Ensuing Agreement;

2. The IFB its Addenda; and 

3. The Bidder ’s Bid.

4.3 OWNERSHIP OF BID

Each Bid shall become the property of the County upon submittal and will not be returned to Bidders 
unless received after the submittal deadline.

4.4 DISQUALIFICATION OF BIDDER

Upon signing and submittal of the Bid, a Bidder offering to sell supplies, materials, services, or equipment 
to the County, certifies that the Bidder has not violated the antitrust laws of the State of Texas codified in 
Business & Commerce Code, Section 15.01, or the Federal Antitrust Laws, and has not communicated 
directly or indirectly the offer made to any competitor or any other person engaged in such line of 
business.  Any or all Bids may be rejected if the County believes that collusion exists among the Bidders.

4.5 FUNDING

The County intends to budget and make sufficient funds available and authorize funds for expenditure to 
finance the costs of the Contract.  All Bidders understand and agree that the County’s payment of 
amounts under the Contract shall be contingent on the County receiving appropriations or other 
expenditure authority sufficient to allow the County, in the exercise of reasonable administrative 
discretion, to make payments under this Contract.

4.6 ASSIGNMENT, SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS 

The Successful Bidder may not assign, sell, or otherwise transfer the Contract or any other rights or 
interests obtained under the Contract without written permission of the Commissioners Court.  The 
Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the contracting 
parties hereto and their respective successors and permitted assigns.

4.7 IMPLIED REQUIREMENTS

Products or services not specifically described or required in the IFB, but are necessary to provide the 
functional capabilities described by the Bidder, shall be implied and deemed to be included in the Bid.

4.8 TERMINATION

A. Termination for Cause: The County reserves the right to terminate the Contract and/or any 
Ensuing Agreement(s) for default if the Successful Bidder breaches any of the Bid specifications,
terms and conditions, including warranties of the Bidder, if any, or if the Successful Bidder 
becomes insolvent or commits acts of bankruptcy.  Such right of termination is in addition to and
not in lieu of any other remedies the County may have at law or in equity or as may otherwise
provided hereunder.  Default may be construed as, but not limited to, failure to deliver the proper 
goods and/or services within the proper amount of time, and/or to properly perform any and all 
other requirements to the County ’s satisfaction, and/or to meet all other obligations and
requirements.

B. Termination for Convenience: The County may terminate the Contract and/or any Ensuing 
Agreement(s) for convenience and without cause or further liability, upon no less than thirty (30) 
calendar days written notice to the Successful Bidder. The County reserves the right to extend 
this period if it is in the best interest of the County.  In the event the County exercises its right to 
terminate without cause, it is understood and agreed that only the amounts due to the Successful 
Bidder for goods, commodities and/or services provided and expenses incurred to and including 
the date of termination, will be due and payable.  No penalty will be assessed for the County
termination for convenience.

4.9 NON-PERFORMANCE

It is the objective of the County to obtain complete and satisfactory performance of the requirements set 
forth herein.  In addition to any other remedies available at law, in equity or that may be set out herein, 
failure to perform may result in a deduction of payment equal to the amount of the goods and/or services 
that were not provided and/or performed to the County ’s satisfaction.  

In the event of such non-performance, the County shall have the right, but shall not be obligated, to 
complete the services itself or by others and/or purchase the goods from other sources.  If the County 
elects to acquire the goods or perform the services itself or by others, pursuant to the foregoing, the 
Successful Bidder shall reimburse the County, within ten (10) calendar days of demand, for all costs 
incurred by the County (including, without limitation, applicable, general, and administrative expenses, 
and field overhead, and the cost of necessary equipment, materials, and field labor) in correcting the 
nonperformance which the Successful Bidder fails to meet pursuant to the requirements set out herein.  
In the event the Successful Bidder refuses to reimburse the County as set out in this provision, the 
County shall have the right to deduct such reimbursement amounts from any amounts that may be then 
owing or that may become owing in the future to the Successful Bidder.

4.10 PROPRIETARY INFORMATION AND THE TEXAS PUBLIC INFORMATION ACT

All material submitted to the County shall become public property and subject to the Texas Public 
Information Act upon receipt. If a Bidder does not desire proprietary information in the Bid to be 
disclosed, each page must be clearly identified and marked proprietary at time of submittal or, more 
preferably, all proprietary information may be placed in a folder or appendix and be clearly identified and 
marked as being proprietary.  Failure to clearly identify and mark information as being proprietary as set 
forth under this provision will result in all unmarked information being deemed non-proprietary and 
available to the public.  For all information that has not been clearly identified and marked as proprietary 
by the Bidder, the County may choose to place such information on the County ’s website and/or a similar 
public database without obtaining any type of prior consent from the Bidder.

The County will, to the extent allowed by law, endeavor to protect from public disclosure the information 
that has been identified and marked as proprietary.  The final decision as to what information must be 
disclosed, however, lies with the Texas Attorney General.  

To the extent, if any, that any provision in this IFB or in the Bidder ’s Bid is in conflict with Texas 
Government Code, Chapter 552, as amended (the “Public Information Act”), the same shall be of no 
force or effect.  Furthermore, it is expressly understood, and agreed, that the County, and its officers and 
employees, may request advice, decisions and opinions of the Attorney General of the State of Texas in 
regard to the application of the Public Information Act to any items or data furnished to the County as to 
whether or not the same are available to the public.  It is further understood that the County, and its 
officers and employees, shall have the right to rely on the advice, decisions and opinions of the Attorney 
General, and that the County, its officers and employees shall have no liability or obligation to any party 
hereto for the disclosure to the public, or to any person or persons, of any items or data furnished to the 
County by a party hereto, in reliance of any advice, decision or opinion of the Attorney General of the 
State of Texas.

4.11 RIGHT TO AUDIT

The Successful Bidder agrees that the County or its duly authorized representatives shall, until the 
expiration of three (3) years after termination or expiration of the services to be performed, have access 
to and the right to examine and photocopy any and all books, documents, papers and records of the 
Successful Bidder, which are directly pertinent to the services to be performed or goods to be delivered 
for the purposes of making audits, examinations, excerpts and transcriptions.  The Successful Bidder 
agrees that the County shall have access during normal working hours to all necessary facilities and 
shall be provided adequate and appropriate work space in order to conduct audits in compliance with the 
provisions of this section.  The County shall give the Successful Bidder reasonable advance notice of 
intended audits.

4.12 TESTING AND INSPECTIONS

The County reserves the right to inspect and test equipment, supplies, materials and goods for quality 
and compliance with this IFB, and ability to meet the needs of the user.  Demonstration units must be 
available for review.  Should the goods or services fail to meet requirements and/or be unavailable for 
evaluation, the County can deem the Bidder to be in breach and terminate the Contract and/or any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

4.13 BID PREPARATION COSTS

The cost of developing Bids is the sole responsibility of the Bidders and shall not be charged to the 
County.  There is no expressed or implied obligation for the County to reimburse the Bidders for any 
expense incurred in preparing a Bid in response to this IFB and the County will not reimburse the Bidders 
for such expenses.

4.14 INDEMNIFICATION

The Successful Bidder shall indemnify, defend and save harmless, the County, its officials, employees, 
agents and agent ’s employees from, and against, all claims, liability, and expenses including reasonable 
attorneys ’   fees, arising from activities of the Bidder, its agents, servants or employees, performed 
hereunder that result from the negligent act, error, or omission of the Bidder or any of the Bidder
agents, servants or employees, as well as all claims of loss or damage to the Bidder ’s and the County
property, equipment, and/or supplies. 

Furthermore, the County, its officials, employees, agents and agents ’ employees shall not be liable for 
damages to the Successful Bidder arising from any act of any third party, including, but not limited to, 
theft.  The Successful Bidder further agrees to indemnify, defend and save harmless, the County from its 
officials, employee, agents and agents ’ employees against all claims of whatever nature arising from any 
accident, injury, or damage whatsoever, caused to any person, or the property of any person, occurring 
in relation to the Successful Bidder ’s performance of any services requested hereunder during the term 
of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s). 

The Successful Bidder shall timely report all claims, demands, suits, actions, proceedings, liens or 
judgements to the County and shall, upon the receipt of any claim, demand, suit, action, proceeding, lien 

or judgement, not later than the fifteenth (15 th) day of each month; provide the County with a written 
report on each such matter, setting forth the status of each matter, the schedule or planned proceedings 
with respect to each matter and the cooperation or assistance, if any, of the County required by the 
Successful Bidder in the defense of each matter.  The Successful Bidder’s duty to defend, indemnify and 
hold the County harmless shall be absolute.  It shall not abate or end by reason of the expiration or 
termination of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s), unless otherwise agreed by the County in 
writing.  The provisions of this section shall survive the termination of the Contract and shall remain in full 
force and effect with respect to all such matters no matter when they arise. 

In the event of any dispute between the parties, as to whether a claim, demand, suit, action, proceeding, 
lien or judgement, that appears to have been caused by or appears to have arisen out of or in connection 
with acts or omissions of the County, the Bidder shall nevertheless fully defend such claim, demand, suit 
or action, proceeding, lien or judgement, until and unless there is a determination by a court of competent 
jurisdiction that the acts and omissions of the Bidder are not an issue in the matter. 

The Successful Bidder ’s indemnification shall cover, and the Successful Bidder agrees to, indemnify the 
County, in the event the County is found to have been negligent for having selected the Successful 
Bidder to perform the work described in this request.  The provision by the Successful Bidder of 
insurance shall not limit the liability of the Successful Bidder under the Contract and/or any Ensuing 
Agreement(s). 

4.15 WAIVER OF SUBROGATION

The Successful Bidder and the Successful Bidder ’s insurance carrier waive any and all rights 
whatsoever with regard to subrogation against the County as an indirect party to any suit arising out of 
personal or property damages resulting from the Bidder ’s performance under this Contract and any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

4.16 RELATIONSHIP OF THE PARTIES

The Successful Bidder shall be an independent contractor and shall assume all of the rights, obligations, 
liabilities, applicable to it as such independent contractor hereunder and any provisions herein which may 
appear to give the County the right to direct the Successful Bidder as to details of doing work herein 
covered, or to exercise a measure of control over the work, shall be deemed to mean that the Successful 
Bidder shall follow the desires of the County in the results of the work only.  The County shall not retain or 
have the right to control the Successful Bidder ’s means, methods or details pertaining to the Successful 
Bidder ’s performance of the work.  The County and the Successful Bidder hereby agree and declare that 
the Successful Bidder is an independent contractor and as such meets the qualifications of an 
“Independent Contractor” under Texas Workers Compensation Act, Texas Labor Code, Section 406.141, 
that the Successful Bidder is not an employee of  the County, and that the Successful Bidder and its 
employees, agents and subcontractors shall not be entitled to workers compensation coverage or any 
other type of insurance coverage held by the County.

4.17 SOLE PROVIDER

The Successful Bidder agrees and acknowledges that it shall not be considered a sole provider of the 
goods and/or services described herein and that the County may contract with other providers of such 
goods and/or services if the County deems, at its sole discretion, that multiple providers of the same 
goods and/or services will serve the best interest of the County.

4.18 FORCE MAJEURE

If the party obligated to perform is prevented from performance by an act of war, order of legal authority, 
act of God, or other unavoidable cause not attributable to the fault or negligence of said party, the other 
party shall grant such party relief from the performance.  The burden of proof for the need of such relief 
shall rest upon the party obligated to perform.  To obtain release based on force majeure, the party 
obligated to perform shall file a written request with the other party.

4.19 SEVERABILITY

If any provision of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be held invalid or 
unenforceable by any court of competent jurisdiction, such holding shall not invalidate or render 
unenforceable any other provision thereof, but rather the entire IFB, Contract or any Ensuing Agreement
(s) will be construed as if not containing the particular invalid or unenforceable provision or provisions, 
and the rights and obligation of the parties shall be construed and enforced in accordance therewith.  The 
parties acknowledge that if any provision of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) is 
determined to be invalid or unenforceable, it is the desire and intention of each that such provision be 
reformed and construed in such a manner that it will, to the maximum extent practicable, give effect to
the intent of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) and be deemed to be validated and
enforceable.

4.20 EQUAL OPPORTUNITY

Neither party shall discriminate against any employee or applicant for employment because of race, 
color, sex, religion or national origin.

4.21 NOTICE

Any notice to be given shall be in writing and may be distributed by personal delivery, or by registered or 
certified mail, return receipt requested, addressed to the proper party, at the following address:

The County:    Williamson County Purchasing Department 
            Attn: Purchasing Agent 
            901 South Austin Avenue 
            Georgetown, Texas 78626

The Bidder:     Address set out in Bidder’s Transmittal Letter.

Notices given in accordance with this provision shall be effective upon (1) receipt by the party to which 
notice is given, or (2) on the third (3rd) calendar day following mailing, whichever occurs first.

4.22 SALES AND USE TAX EXEMPTION

The County is a body, corporate and politic, under the laws of the State of Texas and claims exemption 
from sales and use taxes under Texas Tax Code, Section 151.309, as amended, and the services and/or 
goods subject hereof are being secured for use by the County.

4.23 COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS

The County and the Successful Bidder shall comply with all federal, state, and local laws, statutes,
ordinances, rules and regulations, and the orders and decrees of any courts or administrative bodies or 
tribunals in any matter affecting the performance of the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s),
including, without limitation, Workers ’ Compensation laws, salary and wage statutes and regulations, 
licensing laws and regulations.  When required, the Successful Bidder shall furnish the County with 
certification of compliance with said laws, statues, ordinances, rules, regulations, orders, and decrees 
above specified.

4.24 INCORPORATION OF EXHIBITS, APPENDICES AND ATTACHMENTS

All of the Exhibits, Appendices and Attachments referred to herein are incorporated by reference as if set 
forth verbatim herein.  Any conflicting terms in the Contract documents will be resolved at the sole 
discretion of the Commissioners Court.

4.25 NO WAIVER OF IMMUNITIES

Nothing herein shall be deemed to waive, modify or amend any legal defense available at law or in equity 
to the County, its past or present officers, employees, or agents, nor to create any legal rights or claim on 
behalf of any third party.  The County does not waive, modify, or alter to any extent whatsoever the 
availability of the defense of governmental immunity under the laws of the State of Texas and of the 
United States.

4.26 NO WAIVER

The failure or delay of any party to enforce at any time or any period of time any of the provisions of this 
IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall not constitute a present or future waiver of such 
provisions nor the right of either party to enforce each and every provision.  Furthermore, no term or 
provision hereof shall be deemed waived and no breach excused unless such waiver or consent shall be 
in writing and signed by the party claimed to have waived or consented.  Any consent by any party to, or 
waiver of, a breach by the other, whether expressed or implied, shall not constitute a consent to, waiver 
of or excuse for any other, different or subsequent breach.

4.27 CURRENT REVENUES

The obligations of the parties under the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) do not constitute a 
general obligation or indebtedness of the County for which the County is obligated to levy, pledge, or 
collect any of taxation.  It is understood and agreed that the County shall have the right to terminate the 
Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) at the end of any the County fiscal year if the governing body of 
the County does not appropriate sufficient funds as determined by the County ’s budget for the fiscal year 
in question.  The County may effect such termination by giving written notice of termination to the 
Successful Bidder at the end of its then-current fiscal year.

4.28 FOB DESTINATION

To the extent applicable to this IFB, all of the items listed are to be Free On Board to final destination 
(FOB Destination) with all transportation charges if applicable to be included in the Bid, unless otherwise 
specified in the Invitation for Bids.  The title and risk of loss of the goods shall not pass to the County until 
receipt and acceptance takes place at the FOB Destination point.

4.29 BINDING EFFECT

This Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties 
and their respective permitted assigns and successors.

4.30 ASSIGNMENT

The Successful Bidder ’s interest and duties hereunder may not be assigned or delegated to a third party 
without the express written consent of the County.

4.31 SAFETY

The Successful Bidder is responsible for initiating, maintaining, and supervising all safety precautions 
and programs in connection with any services to be provided hereunder. The safety program shall 
comply with all applicable requirements of the current federal Occupational Safety and Health Act and all 
other applicable federal, state and local laws and regulations.

4.32 GENERAL OBLIGATIONS AND RELIANCE

The Successful Bidder shall perform all services and/or provide all goods, as well as those reasonably
inferable and necessary for completion and provision of services and/or goods required hereunder. The
Successful Bidder shall keep the County informed of the progress and quality of the services.  The 
Successful Bidder agrees and acknowledges that the County is relying on the Successful Bidder's 
represented expertise and ability to provide the goods and/or services described herein.  The Successful
Bidder agrees to use its best efforts, skill, judgment, and abilities to perform its obligations in accordance
with the highest standards used in the profession and to further the interests of the County 
accordance with the County ’s requirements and procedures.    T h e   Successful Bidder ’s duties,
set forth herein, shall at no time be in any way diminished by reason of any approval by the County, nor
shall the Successful Bidder be released from any liability by reason of such approval by the County, it 
being understood that the County at all times is ultimately relying upon the Successful Bidder ’s skill and 
knowledge in performing the services and providing any goods required hereunder.

4.33 ESTIMATED QUANTITIES

To the extent applicable to this IFB, the estimated quantity of each item listed in this IFB is only
estimate; the actual quantity to be purchased may be more or less. The County is not obligated
purchase any minimum amount, and the County may purchase any reasonable amount greater than the
estimate for the same unit price. Any limit on quantities available must be stated expressly in the Bid.

4.34 CONTRACTUAL DEVELOPMENT

The contents of the IFB and the Successful Bidder ’s Bid will become an integral part of the Contract, but 
may be modified, at the County ’s sole discretion, by provisions of an Ensuing Agreement.  Therefore, the 
Bidder must agree to an inclusion of an Ensuing Agreement of the Bid specifications, terms and 
conditions of this IFB.  If an Ensuing Agreement is required under this IFB, information relative to the 
Agreement will be located in the Special Provisions Section of this IFB.

4.35 SURVIVABILITY 

All applicable agreements that were entered into between the Successful Bidder and the County, under 
the terms and conditions of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s), shall survive the expiration or 
termination thereof for ninety (90) days unless a new contract has been awarded.

The County may exercise, by written notice to the Successful Bidder no later than ten (10) calendar days 
of the Contract expiration, this clause for emergencies only. 

4.36 AIR QUALITY

In determining the overall best Bid, the County may, to the extent applicable, exercise the option granted 
to local governments under the Texas Local Government Code, Section 271.907.

This option allows the County to evaluate Bids and give preference to goods and/or services of a Bidder 
that demonstrates that the Bidder meets or exceeds any and all state or federal environmental 
standards, including voluntary standards, relating to air quality.  If the Bid being submitted will have an 
effect on air quality for the County (as it relates to any state, federal, or voluntary air quality standard), 
then the Bidder is encouraged to provide information in narrative indicating the anticipated air quality 
impact.  All Bidders are expected to meet all mandated state and federal air quality standards.

4.37 ENTIRE AGREEMENT

The Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall supersede all prior Agreements, written or oral 
between the Successful Bidder and the County and shall constitute the entire Agreement and 
understanding between the parties with respect to the services and/or goods to be provided.  Each of the 
provisions herein shall be binding upon the parties and may not be waived, modified, amended or altered, 
except by writing signed by the Successful Bidder and the County.

4.38 PAYMENT

The County ’s payment for goods and services shall be governed by the Texas Government Code, 

Chapter 2251.  An invoice shall be deemed overdue the thirty-first (31st) day after the later of the 
following: 

A. The date the County receives the goods under the Contract; 
B. The date the performance of the service under the Contract is completed; or 
C. The date the Williamson County Auditor receives an invoice for the goods or services.  

Interest charges for any overdue payments shall be paid by the County in accordance with Texas 
Government Code, Section 2251.025.  More specifically, the rate of interest that shall accrue on a late 
payment is the rate in effect on September 1 of the County ’s fiscal year in which the payment becomes 
due.  The said rate in effect on September 1 shall be equal to the sum of one (1) percent, and the prime 

rate published in the Wall Street Journal on the first (1st) day of July of the preceding fiscal year that does 
not fall on a Saturday or Sunday.

In the event that an error appears in an invoice submitted by the Successful Bidder, the County shall 
notify the Successful Bidder of the error not later than the twenty-first (21st) day after the date the County 
receives the invoice.  If the error is resolved in favor of the Successful Bidder, the Successful Bidder 
shall be entitled to receive interest on the unpaid balance of the invoice submitted by the Successful 
Bidder beginning on the date that the payment for the invoice became overdue.  If the error is resolved in 
favor of the County, the Successful Bidder shall submit a corrected invoice that must be paid in 
accordance within the time set forth above.  The unpaid balance accrues interest as provided by the 
Texas Government Code, Chapter 2251, if the corrected invoice is not paid by the appropriate date.

As a minimum, invoices shall include:

A. Name, address, and telephone number of the Successful Bidder and similar information in the 
event the payment is to be made to a different address. 

B. The County Contract, Purchase Order. 

C. Identification of items or service as outlined in the Contract. 

D. Quantity or quantities, applicable unit prices, total prices and total amount. 

E. Any additional payment information which may be called for by the Contract. 

Payment inquiries should be directed to the following address:        

            Williamson County Auditor’s Office, Accounts Payable Department
            Email: accountspayable@wilco.org
            Phone: 512-943-1500

4.39 CONTRACTUAL FORMATION AND ENSUING AGREEMENT

The IFB and the Bidder ’s Bid, when properly accepted by the Commissioners Court, shall constitute a
Contract equally binding between the Successful Bidder and the County.

If an Ensuing Agreement is required by this IFB, that information will be provided in Special 
Provisions section of this IFB.  The Successful Bidder shall be required to execute the Agreement at 
the Williamson County Purchasing Department approximately ten (10) calendar days after the 
Successful Bidder is notified of award.  The Ensuing Agreement shall be in the same form as the 
Agreement which is attached to the end of this IFB.  The only anticipated changes in the Ensuing 
Agreement will be to include additional exhibits, to fill in blanks to identify the Successful Bidder, and 
terms relating to the compensation, or to revise the Agreement to accommodate corrections, changes in 
the scope of services, or changes pursuant to Addenda issued.  Bidders should raise any questions 
regarding the terms of the Agreement in the form of written questions or submittals as 
described in the Public Announcement and General Information portion of this IFB.  Because the 
signed Ensuing Agreement will be substantively and substantially derived from the attached Agreement, 
each Bidder is urged to seek independent legal counsel as to any questions about the terms, conditions 
or provisions contained in the Agreement before submitting a Bid.  Again, the attached Agreement, if 
applicable, contains important legal provisions and is considered part and parcel of this IFB.  Failure or 
refusal to sign aforesaid Agreement shall be grounds for the County to revoke any award which has been 
issued, forfeit Bid security, if applicable, and select another Bidder.

4.40 COOPERATIVE PURCHASING PROGRAM 

During the term of the Contract resulting from this IFB, the County would like to afford the same prices, 
terms and conditions to other political subdivisions or public entities.  Another entity’s participation in the 
Contract resulting from this IFB is subject to a properly authorized Purchasing Cooperative Inter- local 
Agreement with the County.  Any liability created by purchase orders issued against the Contract shall be 
the sole responsibility of the governmental agency placing the order.

4.41 INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS

To the extent applicable Insurance information will appear in the Additional Stipulations section that is in 
this IFB Package. 

4.42 BIDDERS BOND, WARRANTY BOND, PERFORMANCE AND PAYMENT BONDS

To the extent applicable Bond information will appear in the Additional Stipulations section that is in this 
IFB Package. 

4.43 LEGAL LIABILITY INFORMATION

The Successful Bidder shall disclose all legal liability information by listing any pending litigation
anticipated litigation that your firm is involved in including, but not limited to, potential or actual legal
matters with private parties and any local, state, federal or international governmental entities. The
County reserves the right to consider legal liability information in the recommendation of any proposed 
contract to the Commissioners Court.

4.44 INCLEMENT WEATHER

In case of inclement weather or any other unforeseen event causing the County to close for business on 
the date of a Bid submission deadline, the Bid closing will automatically be postponed until the next 
business day the County is open.  If inclement weather conditions or any other unforeseen event causes 
delays in carrier service operations, the County may issue an Addendum to all known Bidders interested 
in the project to extend the deadline.  It will be the responsibility of the Bidder to notify the County of their 
interest in the project if these conditions are impacting their ability to turn in a submission within the 
stated deadline.  The County reserves the right to make the final judgement call to extend any deadline. 

4.45 CONFIDENTIALITY 

The Bidder expressly agrees that it will not use any direct or incidental confidential information that may 
be obtained while working in a governmental setting for its own benefit, and agrees that it will not access 
unauthorized areas or confidential information and it will not disclose any information to unauthorized 
third parties, and will take care to guard the security of the information at all times.

Bid 1704-156Williamson County, Texas

4/6/2017 1:22 PM p. 7



5

6

3 4

Williamson County – Invitation for Bid (IFB)

SECTION 1 - DEFINITIONS 

Addendum/Addenda – means any written or graphic instruments issued by the County prior to the 
consideration of Bids which modify or interpret the Bid Documents by additions, deletions, clarifications, 
or corrections.

Agreement/Ensuing Agreement(s) – means the Successful Bidder may be required by the County to 
sign an additional Agreement containing terms necessary to ensure compliance with the IFB and the 
Bidder ’s Bid.  Such Ensuing Agreement(s) shall contain the Bid specifications, terms and conditions that 
are derived from the IFB.

Bid Documents – means the Legal Notice, IFB including attachments, and any Addenda issued by the 
County prior to the consideration of any Bids.

Bid – means the completed and signed bid form, (sometimes referred to as the Price Sheet), and ALL 
required forms and documentation listed in the IFB package which have been submitted in accordance 
with the terms and conditions described in the IFB package.  A Bid submitted in accordance with this IFB 
is irrevocable during the specified period for evaluation and acceptance of Bids unless a waiver is 
obtained from the Williamson County Purchasing Agent.

Bidder – means a person or entity who submits a Bid in response to this IFB.

Contract – means this IFB and the Bid of the Successful Bidder shall become a Contract between the 
Successful Bidder and the County once the Successful Bidder ’s Bid is properly accepted by the 
Williamson County Commissioners Court.

Commissioner ’s Court – means the Williamson County Commissioners Court. 

County – means Williamson County, a political subdivision of the State of Texas.

Invitation for Bid (IFB) – means this document, together with the attachments thereto and any future 
Addenda issued by the County.

Successful Bidder – means the liable Bidder to whom the County intends to award the Contract.

SECTION 2 - BID FORMAT AND SUBMISSION

2.1 ORGANIZATION OF BID CONTENTS FOR SUBMITTAL 

Each Bid should be organized and items submitted in the order described below: 

A. Transmittal Letter. Please see Section 2.3, Transmittal Letter, for more information. 

B. Price Sheet.

C. Conflict of Interest Questionnaire. Please see Section 2.2, Conflict of Interest, for more 
information in regards to this. Please note that even if you deem there to be no Conflict of Interest, 
this signed questionnaire must be included in your package. 

D. References. Please see Section 3.15, References, for more information. 

E. Bid Affidavit.

F. Form 1295. Please see Section 2.4, Certificate of Interested Parties – Form 1295. 

2.2 CONFLICT OF INTEREST

No public official shall have interest in a Contract, in accordance with Vernon ’s Texas Codes Annotated, 
Local Government Code, Title 5, Subtitle C, Chapter 171, as amended. 

As of January 1, 2006, all Bidders are responsible for complying with Local Government Code, Title 5, 
Subtitle C, Chapter 176.  Additional information may be obtained from the County’s website at the 
following link: 

http://www.wilco.org/CountyDepartments/Purchasing/ConflictofInterestDisclosure/tabid/689/language/en
US/Default.aspx

Each Bidder must disclose any existing or potential conflict of interest relative to the performance of the 
requirements of this IFB.  Examples of potential conflicts of interest may include an existing 
business or personal relationship between the Bidder, its principal, or any affiliate or 
subcontractor with the County or any other entity or person involved in any way with the project 
that is subject to this IFB .  Similarly, any personal or business relationship between the Bidder, the 

principals, or any affiliate or subcontractor with any employee, or official of the County or its suppliers 
must be disclosed.  Any such relationship that might be perceived or represented as a conflict must be 
disclosed. Failure to disclose any such relationship or reveal personal relationships with the County 
employees or officials may be cause for termination. 

The County will decide if an actual or perceived conflict should result in Bid disqualification. 

By submitting a Bid in response to this IFB, all Bidders affirm they have not given, nor intend to give, at 
any time hereafter, any economic opportunity, future employment, gift, loan, gratuity, special discount, 
trip, favor, or service to a the County public servant or any employee, official or representative of same, in 
connection with this procurement. 

Each Bidder must provide a Conflict of Interest Statement with their Bid Package.  Package may 

be deemed incomplete without this form.  

2.3 TRANSMITTAL LETTER

The Bidder should submit a Transmittal Letter that provides the following information: 

A. Name and address of individual or business entity submitting the Bid. 

B. Name, physical address, email address, business and fax number of the Bidder ’s principal 
contact person regarding all contractual matters relating to this IFB.

C. The Bid ’s Federal Employer Identification Number.

D. If the Proposal being submitted will have an effect on air quality for the County (as it relates to any 
state, federal, or voluntary air quality standard), then the Respondent is encouraged to provide
information in narrative indicating the anticipated air quality impact. See Section 4.36, Air Quality 
for more information. 

2.4 CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PARTIES – FORM 1295

As of January 1, 2016, all Successful Bidders are responsible for complying with the Texas Government 
Code, Section 2252.908.  The law states that the County may not enter into certain contracts with a 
Bidder unless the Bidder submits a disclosure of interested parties to the County at the time the Bidder 
submits the signed Contract.  The law applies only to a Contract of the County on or after January 1, 
2016 that either:

A. Requires an action or vote by the Commissioners Court before the Contract may be signed (all 
contracts that fall under the jurisdiction of the Commissioners Court approval, such as contracts 
resulting from an Initiation for Bid (IFB), RFP, Request for Qualifications (RFQ), etc., excluding, 
but not limited to, certain Juvenile Service contracts, contracts funded with Sheriff ’s seized fun 
monies, etc.); or

B. Has a value of at least $1,000,000. 

By January 1, 2016, the Texas Ethics Commission will make available on its website, a new filing 
application that must be used to file Form 1295.  Information regarding how to use the filing application is 
available on the Texas Ethics Commission website at the following link:

https://www.ethics.state.tx.us/whatsnew/elf_info_form1295.htm

A Respondent must:

A. Use the online application to process the required information on Form 1295.

B. Print a copy of the form which will contain a unique certification number.

C. An authorized agent of the Bidder must sign the printed copy of the form.

D. Have the form notarized.

E. File the completed Form 1295 and certification of filing (scanning and emailing form is sufficient) 
with Williamson County Purchasing Agent at the time the signed Contract is submitted for 
approval.

After the Commissioners Court award of the Contract, the County shall notify the Texas Ethics 
Commission, using the Texas Ethics Commission ’s filing application, of the receipt of the filed Form 
1295 and certification of filing not later than the 30th day after the date the Contract binds all parties to the 
Contract. The Texas Ethics Commission will post the completed Form 1295 to its website within seven 
business days after receiving notice from the County.

2.5 ETHICS

The Bidder shall not accept or offer gifts or anything of value nor enter into any business arrangement 
with any employee, official or agent of the County.

2.6 BID SUBMITTAL DEADLINE

The Bid is due no later than the submittal date and time set forth in the Public Announcement and 
General Information listed in this IFB package.  Contents of each Bid shall be submitted in accordance 
with this IFB.

2.7 DELIVERY OF BIDS

The County uses BidSync to distribute and receive Bids and proposals.  It is preferred that Bids
submitted electronically through BidSync; however, Bidders can submit a hard copy.  

Refer to www.bidsync.com for further information on how to submit electronically.

If mailed or delivered in person, Bids and Bid Addenda are to be delivered in sealed envelope on or before
the submittal deadline, as noted in the Public Announcement and General Information listed in this IFB 
package, to:

            Williamson County Purchasing Department
            Attn: Bid Name and Number
            901 South Austin Avenue
            Georgetown, Texas 78626

Also, all Bidders should list their Name and Address, and the Date of the Bid opening on the outside
the box or envelope and note “Sealed Bid Enclosed.” The County will not accept any Bids received after 
the submittal deadline, and shall return such Bids unopened to the Bidder.  The County will not accept 
any responsibility for Bids being delivered by third party carriers.  

Bids will be opened publically and the names of Bidders and pricing will be read aloud.

SECTION 3 - INSTRUCTIONS AND GENERAL REQUIREMENTS

3.1 INSTRUCTIONS

Read this document carefully, and follow all instructions and requirements.  All Bidders are responsible 
for fulfilling all requirements and specifications.  Be sure to have a clear understanding of this IFB.

General requirements apply to all advertised IFBs; however, these may be superseded, in whole or in 
part, by the bid specifications, Addenda and modifications issued as a part of this IFB.  Be sure your Bid 
package is complete.

3.2 AMBIGUITY, CONFLICT, OR OTHER ERRORS IN THIS IFB

If a Bidder discovers any ambiguity, conflict, discrepancy, omission or other error in this IFB, the Bidder 
shall immediately notify the County Purchasing Department of such error in writing and request
modification or clarification of the document.

Modifications will be made by issuing Addenda. If the Bidder fails to notify the County prior to the date
and time fixed for submission of Bids of an error or ambiguity in the IFB known to the Bidder, or an error
or ambiguity that reasonably should have been known to the Bidder, then the Bidder shall be deemed to 
have waived the error or ambiguity or its later resolution.

The County may also modify the IFB, no later than forty-eight (48) hours prior to the date and time fixed
for submission of Bids, by issuance of an Addendum.  All Addenda will be numbered consecutively, 
beginning with one (1).

3.3 NOTIFICATION OF MOST CURRENT ADDRESS

All Bidders in receipt of this IFB shall notify the Williamson County Purchasing Department of any
address changes, contact person changes, and/or telephone number changes no later than forty-eight 
(48) hours prior to the date and time fixed for submission of Bids.

3.4 SIGNATURE OF BIDDER

A. If the Bidder is a Corporation or Limited Liability Company, the legal name of the Corporation
Limited Liability Company shall be provided together with the signature of the officer or officers 
authorized to sign on behalf of such entity.

B. If the Bidder is a General Partnership, the true name of the firm shall be provided with the
signature of each partner authorized to sign.

C. If the Bidder is a Limited Partnership, the name of the Limited Partner ’s General Partner shall
provided with the signature of the officer authorized to sign on behalf of the General Partner.

D. If the Bidder is a Sole Proprietor(s) (individual), each Sole Proprietor(s) shall sign.

E. If signature is by an agent, other than the Sole Proprietor(s) or an officer of a Corporation, Limited 
Liability Company, General Partner or a member of a General Partnership, a power of attorney
equivalent document must be submitted to the Williamson County Purchasing Department.

3.5 ASSUMED BUSINESS NAME

If the Bidder operates business under an Assumed Business Name, the Bidder must have on file with the
Williamson County Clerk a current Assumed Name Certificate and provide a file marked copy of same.

3.6 BID OBLIGATION 

The contents of the IFB, Bid, and any clarification thereof submitted by the Successful Bidder shall
become part of the contractual obligation and incorporated by reference into the Contract and any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

3.7 COMPLIANCE WITH IFB SPECIFICATIONS

It is intended that this IFB describe the requirements and the Bid format in sufficient detail to secure 
comparable Bids.  Failure to comply with all provisions of the IFB may, at the sole discretion of the 
County, result in disqualification.

3.8 WITHDRAWAL OF BID

The Bidder may withdraw its Bid by submitting a written request with the company letterhead and the 
signature of an authorized individual, as described in Section 3.4, Signature of Bidder, to the Williamson 
County Purchasing Department any time prior to the submission deadline.  

The Bidder may submit a new Bid prior to the deadline. Alterations of the Bid in any manner will not be 
considered if submitted after the deadline.  Withdrawal of a Bid after the deadline will be subject to written 
approval of the Williamson County Purchasing Agent.

3.9 EVALUATION AND AWARD

The County reserves the right to use all pertinent information (also learned from sources other than 
disclosed in the Bid process) that might affect the County ’s judgment as to the appropriateness of
award to the lowest and best evaluated Bid. This information may be appended to the Bid evaluation
process results. Information on a Bidder from reliable sources, and not within the Bidder ’s Bid, may also 
be noted and made part of the evaluation fi le.  The County shall have sole discretion for determining 
the reliability of the source.

To ensure the proper and fair evaluation of a solicitation, the County prohibits unsolicited communication 
initiated by the Bidder to the County Official or Employee evaluating or considering the Bids prior to the 
time an award has been made. Unsolicited communication may be ground for disqualifying the 
offending Bidder from consideration or award of the solicitation, or any future solicitation.

Communication between the Bidder and the County will be initiated by the appropriate County Official
Employee in order to obtain information or clarification needed to develop a proper and accurate 
evaluation of the solicitation.

The County intends to award a Contract to the most responsible and responsive Bidder whose Bid will 
be most advantageous to the County. In accordance with Texas Government Code and Local
Government Code, the County may consider, to the extent allowed by law, the following:

A. Price;
B. The Bidder ’s experience and reputation;
C. Quality of the Bidder ’s goods and/or services; 
D. The Bidder ’s safety record;
E. The Bidder ’s proposed personnel; 
F. The Bidder ’s financial capabilities; and 
G. Any other relevant factors specifically listed in this IFB or authorized by law.

3.10 CONDISERATION OF LOCATION OF PRINCIPAL OFFICE 

Pursuant to Texas Local Government Code, Section 271.905 , in purchasing any real property or personal
property that is not affixed to real property, if the County receives one or more Bids from a Bidder whose
principal place of business is in Williamson County and whose Bid is within three (3 )  percent of the
lowest Bid price received by the County from a Bidder who is not a resident of Williamson County, the 
County may enter into a contract with:

A. The lowest Bidder; or the Bidder whose principal place of business is in Williamson County if the
Commissioners Court determines, in writing, that the local Bidder offers the County the best 
combination of contract price and addit ional economic development opportunities
Williamson County created by the contract award, including the employment of residents
Williamson County and increased tax revenues to Williamson County.

It is understood that the Commissioners Court of Williamson County, Texas, reserves the right to accept
or reject any and/or all Bids for any or all goods and/or services covered in this IFB, and to waive
informalities or defects in the Bid or to accept such Bid, if it shall deem to be in the best interest of the 
County.

Awards should be made approximately sixty (60) business days after the Bid opening date. Results may
be obtained by viewing the Williamson County vendor portal at the following link:

http://www.wilco.org/CountyDepartments/Purchasing/SearchforaPastBid/tabid/5213/language/en-
US/Default.aspx

3.11 RESPONSIBILITY 

It is expected that a prospective Bidder will be able to affirmatively demonstrate responsibility.  A 
prospective Bidder should be able to meet the following requirements:

A. Have adequate financial resources, or the ability to obtain such resources as required;
B. Be able to comply with the required or proposed delivery schedule;
C. Have a satisfactory record of performance that can be determined thru references provided; and 
D. Be otherwise qualified and eligible to receive an award.

The County may request representation and other information sufficient to determine the Bidder's ability 
to meet these minimum standards listed above.

3.12 FIRM PRICING 

For unit price items, all of the items listed are to be on a “per unit” basis, stating a firm price per unit or 
unit quantity of each item.  The Bidder must submit a firm price that must be good from the date of Bid 
opening for the fixed period of time set out in this IFB.  Unless the IFB expressly states otherwise, this 
period shall be until the end of the Initial Contract Period.

Bids which do not state a fixed price, or which are subject to change without notice, will not be 
considered.  The Court may award a Contract for the period implied or expressly stated in the lowest and 
best Bid.

3.13 PURCHASE ORDERS

If required by the Williamson County Purchasing Department, a purchase order(s) may be generated to 
the Successful Bidder for goods and/or services.  If a purchase order is issued, the purchase order 
number must appear on all itemized invoices and/or requests for payment.

3.14 SILENCE OF SPECIFICATIONS

The apparent silence of these specifications as to any detail or to the apparent omission from it of a 
detailed description concerning any point, shall be regarded as meaning that only the best practices are 
to prevail.  All interpretations of these specifications shall be made on the basis of this statement.

3.15 REFERENCES

The County may require the Bidder to supply a list of at least three (3) references where like services
and/or goods have been supplied by their firm within the past five (5) years, to include names, titles, 
phone numbers and email addresses of key personnel, and dates of performance.

The County may contact some or all of the references in order to determine the Respondent
performance record on work similar to that described in this RFP.  The County reserves the right to 
contact references other than those provided in the response and to use the information gained from 
them in the evaluation process.

References, if requested, should be provided in accordance with this IFB.  Bid may not be deemed 
complete without the inclusion of requested references.

SECTION 4 - TERMS AND CONDITIONS

4.1 VENUE AND GOVERNING LAW

The Bidder hereby agrees and acknowledges that venue and jurisdiction of any suit, right, or cause of 
action arising out of or in connection with this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s), shall lie 
exclusively in either Williamson County, Texas or in the Austin Division of the Western Federal District of 
Texas, and the parties hereto expressly consent and submit to such jurisdiction.  Furthermore, except to 
the extent that this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) is governed by the laws of the United 
States, this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be governed by and construed in 
accordance with the laws of the State of Texas, excluding, however, its choice of law rules.

4.2 INCORPORATION BY REFERENCE AND PRECEDENCE

A. The Contract shall be derived from the IFB and its Addenda (if applicable), and the Bidder ’ s Bid.  In 
the event of a dispute under the Contract, applicable documents will be referred to for the purpose 
of clarification or for additional detail in the following order of precedence:

1. The IFB and its Addenda (if applicable); and

2. The Bidder ’s Bid.

B. In the event the County requires that an Ensuing Agreement be executed following award and a 
dispute arises between the terms and conditions of the Ensuing Agreement, the IFB and its 
Addenda (if applicable), and the Bidder ’s Bid, applicable documents will be referred to for the 
purpose of clarification or for additional detail in the following order of precedence: 

1. Terms and conditions of the Ensuing Agreement;

2. The IFB its Addenda; and 

3. The Bidder ’s Bid.

4.3 OWNERSHIP OF BID

Each Bid shall become the property of the County upon submittal and will not be returned to Bidders 
unless received after the submittal deadline.

4.4 DISQUALIFICATION OF BIDDER

Upon signing and submittal of the Bid, a Bidder offering to sell supplies, materials, services, or equipment 
to the County, certifies that the Bidder has not violated the antitrust laws of the State of Texas codified in 
Business & Commerce Code, Section 15.01, or the Federal Antitrust Laws, and has not communicated 
directly or indirectly the offer made to any competitor or any other person engaged in such line of 
business.  Any or all Bids may be rejected if the County believes that collusion exists among the Bidders.

4.5 FUNDING

The County intends to budget and make sufficient funds available and authorize funds for expenditure to 
finance the costs of the Contract.  All Bidders understand and agree that the County’s payment of 
amounts under the Contract shall be contingent on the County receiving appropriations or other 
expenditure authority sufficient to allow the County, in the exercise of reasonable administrative 
discretion, to make payments under this Contract.

4.6 ASSIGNMENT, SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS 

The Successful Bidder may not assign, sell, or otherwise transfer the Contract or any other rights or 
interests obtained under the Contract without written permission of the Commissioners Court.  The 
Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the contracting 
parties hereto and their respective successors and permitted assigns.

4.7 IMPLIED REQUIREMENTS

Products or services not specifically described or required in the IFB, but are necessary to provide the 
functional capabilities described by the Bidder, shall be implied and deemed to be included in the Bid.

4.8 TERMINATION

A. Termination for Cause: The County reserves the right to terminate the Contract and/or any 
Ensuing Agreement(s) for default if the Successful Bidder breaches any of the Bid specifications,
terms and conditions, including warranties of the Bidder, if any, or if the Successful Bidder 
becomes insolvent or commits acts of bankruptcy.  Such right of termination is in addition to and
not in lieu of any other remedies the County may have at law or in equity or as may otherwise
provided hereunder.  Default may be construed as, but not limited to, failure to deliver the proper 
goods and/or services within the proper amount of time, and/or to properly perform any and all 
other requirements to the County ’s satisfaction, and/or to meet all other obligations and
requirements.

B. Termination for Convenience: The County may terminate the Contract and/or any Ensuing 
Agreement(s) for convenience and without cause or further liability, upon no less than thirty (30) 
calendar days written notice to the Successful Bidder. The County reserves the right to extend 
this period if it is in the best interest of the County.  In the event the County exercises its right to 
terminate without cause, it is understood and agreed that only the amounts due to the Successful 
Bidder for goods, commodities and/or services provided and expenses incurred to and including 
the date of termination, will be due and payable.  No penalty will be assessed for the County
termination for convenience.

4.9 NON-PERFORMANCE

It is the objective of the County to obtain complete and satisfactory performance of the requirements set 
forth herein.  In addition to any other remedies available at law, in equity or that may be set out herein, 
failure to perform may result in a deduction of payment equal to the amount of the goods and/or services 
that were not provided and/or performed to the County ’s satisfaction.  

In the event of such non-performance, the County shall have the right, but shall not be obligated, to 
complete the services itself or by others and/or purchase the goods from other sources.  If the County 
elects to acquire the goods or perform the services itself or by others, pursuant to the foregoing, the 
Successful Bidder shall reimburse the County, within ten (10) calendar days of demand, for all costs 
incurred by the County (including, without limitation, applicable, general, and administrative expenses, 
and field overhead, and the cost of necessary equipment, materials, and field labor) in correcting the 
nonperformance which the Successful Bidder fails to meet pursuant to the requirements set out herein.  
In the event the Successful Bidder refuses to reimburse the County as set out in this provision, the 
County shall have the right to deduct such reimbursement amounts from any amounts that may be then 
owing or that may become owing in the future to the Successful Bidder.

4.10 PROPRIETARY INFORMATION AND THE TEXAS PUBLIC INFORMATION ACT

All material submitted to the County shall become public property and subject to the Texas Public 
Information Act upon receipt. If a Bidder does not desire proprietary information in the Bid to be 
disclosed, each page must be clearly identified and marked proprietary at time of submittal or, more 
preferably, all proprietary information may be placed in a folder or appendix and be clearly identified and 
marked as being proprietary.  Failure to clearly identify and mark information as being proprietary as set 
forth under this provision will result in all unmarked information being deemed non-proprietary and 
available to the public.  For all information that has not been clearly identified and marked as proprietary 
by the Bidder, the County may choose to place such information on the County ’s website and/or a similar 
public database without obtaining any type of prior consent from the Bidder.

The County will, to the extent allowed by law, endeavor to protect from public disclosure the information 
that has been identified and marked as proprietary.  The final decision as to what information must be 
disclosed, however, lies with the Texas Attorney General.  

To the extent, if any, that any provision in this IFB or in the Bidder ’s Bid is in conflict with Texas 
Government Code, Chapter 552, as amended (the “Public Information Act”), the same shall be of no 
force or effect.  Furthermore, it is expressly understood, and agreed, that the County, and its officers and 
employees, may request advice, decisions and opinions of the Attorney General of the State of Texas in 
regard to the application of the Public Information Act to any items or data furnished to the County as to 
whether or not the same are available to the public.  It is further understood that the County, and its 
officers and employees, shall have the right to rely on the advice, decisions and opinions of the Attorney 
General, and that the County, its officers and employees shall have no liability or obligation to any party 
hereto for the disclosure to the public, or to any person or persons, of any items or data furnished to the 
County by a party hereto, in reliance of any advice, decision or opinion of the Attorney General of the 
State of Texas.

4.11 RIGHT TO AUDIT

The Successful Bidder agrees that the County or its duly authorized representatives shall, until the 
expiration of three (3) years after termination or expiration of the services to be performed, have access 
to and the right to examine and photocopy any and all books, documents, papers and records of the 
Successful Bidder, which are directly pertinent to the services to be performed or goods to be delivered 
for the purposes of making audits, examinations, excerpts and transcriptions.  The Successful Bidder 
agrees that the County shall have access during normal working hours to all necessary facilities and 
shall be provided adequate and appropriate work space in order to conduct audits in compliance with the 
provisions of this section.  The County shall give the Successful Bidder reasonable advance notice of 
intended audits.

4.12 TESTING AND INSPECTIONS

The County reserves the right to inspect and test equipment, supplies, materials and goods for quality 
and compliance with this IFB, and ability to meet the needs of the user.  Demonstration units must be 
available for review.  Should the goods or services fail to meet requirements and/or be unavailable for 
evaluation, the County can deem the Bidder to be in breach and terminate the Contract and/or any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

4.13 BID PREPARATION COSTS

The cost of developing Bids is the sole responsibility of the Bidders and shall not be charged to the 
County.  There is no expressed or implied obligation for the County to reimburse the Bidders for any 
expense incurred in preparing a Bid in response to this IFB and the County will not reimburse the Bidders 
for such expenses.

4.14 INDEMNIFICATION

The Successful Bidder shall indemnify, defend and save harmless, the County, its officials, employees, 
agents and agent ’s employees from, and against, all claims, liability, and expenses including reasonable 
attorneys ’   fees, arising from activities of the Bidder, its agents, servants or employees, performed 
hereunder that result from the negligent act, error, or omission of the Bidder or any of the Bidder
agents, servants or employees, as well as all claims of loss or damage to the Bidder ’s and the County
property, equipment, and/or supplies. 

Furthermore, the County, its officials, employees, agents and agents ’ employees shall not be liable for 
damages to the Successful Bidder arising from any act of any third party, including, but not limited to, 
theft.  The Successful Bidder further agrees to indemnify, defend and save harmless, the County from its 
officials, employee, agents and agents ’ employees against all claims of whatever nature arising from any 
accident, injury, or damage whatsoever, caused to any person, or the property of any person, occurring 
in relation to the Successful Bidder ’s performance of any services requested hereunder during the term 
of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s). 

The Successful Bidder shall timely report all claims, demands, suits, actions, proceedings, liens or 
judgements to the County and shall, upon the receipt of any claim, demand, suit, action, proceeding, lien 

or judgement, not later than the fifteenth (15 th) day of each month; provide the County with a written 
report on each such matter, setting forth the status of each matter, the schedule or planned proceedings 
with respect to each matter and the cooperation or assistance, if any, of the County required by the 
Successful Bidder in the defense of each matter.  The Successful Bidder’s duty to defend, indemnify and 
hold the County harmless shall be absolute.  It shall not abate or end by reason of the expiration or 
termination of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s), unless otherwise agreed by the County in 
writing.  The provisions of this section shall survive the termination of the Contract and shall remain in full 
force and effect with respect to all such matters no matter when they arise. 

In the event of any dispute between the parties, as to whether a claim, demand, suit, action, proceeding, 
lien or judgement, that appears to have been caused by or appears to have arisen out of or in connection 
with acts or omissions of the County, the Bidder shall nevertheless fully defend such claim, demand, suit 
or action, proceeding, lien or judgement, until and unless there is a determination by a court of competent 
jurisdiction that the acts and omissions of the Bidder are not an issue in the matter. 

The Successful Bidder ’s indemnification shall cover, and the Successful Bidder agrees to, indemnify the 
County, in the event the County is found to have been negligent for having selected the Successful 
Bidder to perform the work described in this request.  The provision by the Successful Bidder of 
insurance shall not limit the liability of the Successful Bidder under the Contract and/or any Ensuing 
Agreement(s). 

4.15 WAIVER OF SUBROGATION

The Successful Bidder and the Successful Bidder ’s insurance carrier waive any and all rights 
whatsoever with regard to subrogation against the County as an indirect party to any suit arising out of 
personal or property damages resulting from the Bidder ’s performance under this Contract and any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

4.16 RELATIONSHIP OF THE PARTIES

The Successful Bidder shall be an independent contractor and shall assume all of the rights, obligations, 
liabilities, applicable to it as such independent contractor hereunder and any provisions herein which may 
appear to give the County the right to direct the Successful Bidder as to details of doing work herein 
covered, or to exercise a measure of control over the work, shall be deemed to mean that the Successful 
Bidder shall follow the desires of the County in the results of the work only.  The County shall not retain or 
have the right to control the Successful Bidder ’s means, methods or details pertaining to the Successful 
Bidder ’s performance of the work.  The County and the Successful Bidder hereby agree and declare that 
the Successful Bidder is an independent contractor and as such meets the qualifications of an 
“Independent Contractor” under Texas Workers Compensation Act, Texas Labor Code, Section 406.141, 
that the Successful Bidder is not an employee of  the County, and that the Successful Bidder and its 
employees, agents and subcontractors shall not be entitled to workers compensation coverage or any 
other type of insurance coverage held by the County.

4.17 SOLE PROVIDER

The Successful Bidder agrees and acknowledges that it shall not be considered a sole provider of the 
goods and/or services described herein and that the County may contract with other providers of such 
goods and/or services if the County deems, at its sole discretion, that multiple providers of the same 
goods and/or services will serve the best interest of the County.

4.18 FORCE MAJEURE

If the party obligated to perform is prevented from performance by an act of war, order of legal authority, 
act of God, or other unavoidable cause not attributable to the fault or negligence of said party, the other 
party shall grant such party relief from the performance.  The burden of proof for the need of such relief 
shall rest upon the party obligated to perform.  To obtain release based on force majeure, the party 
obligated to perform shall file a written request with the other party.

4.19 SEVERABILITY

If any provision of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be held invalid or 
unenforceable by any court of competent jurisdiction, such holding shall not invalidate or render 
unenforceable any other provision thereof, but rather the entire IFB, Contract or any Ensuing Agreement
(s) will be construed as if not containing the particular invalid or unenforceable provision or provisions, 
and the rights and obligation of the parties shall be construed and enforced in accordance therewith.  The 
parties acknowledge that if any provision of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) is 
determined to be invalid or unenforceable, it is the desire and intention of each that such provision be 
reformed and construed in such a manner that it will, to the maximum extent practicable, give effect to
the intent of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) and be deemed to be validated and
enforceable.

4.20 EQUAL OPPORTUNITY

Neither party shall discriminate against any employee or applicant for employment because of race, 
color, sex, religion or national origin.

4.21 NOTICE

Any notice to be given shall be in writing and may be distributed by personal delivery, or by registered or 
certified mail, return receipt requested, addressed to the proper party, at the following address:

The County:    Williamson County Purchasing Department 
            Attn: Purchasing Agent 
            901 South Austin Avenue 
            Georgetown, Texas 78626

The Bidder:     Address set out in Bidder’s Transmittal Letter.

Notices given in accordance with this provision shall be effective upon (1) receipt by the party to which 
notice is given, or (2) on the third (3rd) calendar day following mailing, whichever occurs first.

4.22 SALES AND USE TAX EXEMPTION

The County is a body, corporate and politic, under the laws of the State of Texas and claims exemption 
from sales and use taxes under Texas Tax Code, Section 151.309, as amended, and the services and/or 
goods subject hereof are being secured for use by the County.

4.23 COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS

The County and the Successful Bidder shall comply with all federal, state, and local laws, statutes,
ordinances, rules and regulations, and the orders and decrees of any courts or administrative bodies or 
tribunals in any matter affecting the performance of the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s),
including, without limitation, Workers ’ Compensation laws, salary and wage statutes and regulations, 
licensing laws and regulations.  When required, the Successful Bidder shall furnish the County with 
certification of compliance with said laws, statues, ordinances, rules, regulations, orders, and decrees 
above specified.

4.24 INCORPORATION OF EXHIBITS, APPENDICES AND ATTACHMENTS

All of the Exhibits, Appendices and Attachments referred to herein are incorporated by reference as if set 
forth verbatim herein.  Any conflicting terms in the Contract documents will be resolved at the sole 
discretion of the Commissioners Court.

4.25 NO WAIVER OF IMMUNITIES

Nothing herein shall be deemed to waive, modify or amend any legal defense available at law or in equity 
to the County, its past or present officers, employees, or agents, nor to create any legal rights or claim on 
behalf of any third party.  The County does not waive, modify, or alter to any extent whatsoever the 
availability of the defense of governmental immunity under the laws of the State of Texas and of the 
United States.

4.26 NO WAIVER

The failure or delay of any party to enforce at any time or any period of time any of the provisions of this 
IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall not constitute a present or future waiver of such 
provisions nor the right of either party to enforce each and every provision.  Furthermore, no term or 
provision hereof shall be deemed waived and no breach excused unless such waiver or consent shall be 
in writing and signed by the party claimed to have waived or consented.  Any consent by any party to, or 
waiver of, a breach by the other, whether expressed or implied, shall not constitute a consent to, waiver 
of or excuse for any other, different or subsequent breach.

4.27 CURRENT REVENUES

The obligations of the parties under the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) do not constitute a 
general obligation or indebtedness of the County for which the County is obligated to levy, pledge, or 
collect any of taxation.  It is understood and agreed that the County shall have the right to terminate the 
Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) at the end of any the County fiscal year if the governing body of 
the County does not appropriate sufficient funds as determined by the County ’s budget for the fiscal year 
in question.  The County may effect such termination by giving written notice of termination to the 
Successful Bidder at the end of its then-current fiscal year.

4.28 FOB DESTINATION

To the extent applicable to this IFB, all of the items listed are to be Free On Board to final destination 
(FOB Destination) with all transportation charges if applicable to be included in the Bid, unless otherwise 
specified in the Invitation for Bids.  The title and risk of loss of the goods shall not pass to the County until 
receipt and acceptance takes place at the FOB Destination point.

4.29 BINDING EFFECT

This Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties 
and their respective permitted assigns and successors.

4.30 ASSIGNMENT

The Successful Bidder ’s interest and duties hereunder may not be assigned or delegated to a third party 
without the express written consent of the County.

4.31 SAFETY

The Successful Bidder is responsible for initiating, maintaining, and supervising all safety precautions 
and programs in connection with any services to be provided hereunder. The safety program shall 
comply with all applicable requirements of the current federal Occupational Safety and Health Act and all 
other applicable federal, state and local laws and regulations.

4.32 GENERAL OBLIGATIONS AND RELIANCE

The Successful Bidder shall perform all services and/or provide all goods, as well as those reasonably
inferable and necessary for completion and provision of services and/or goods required hereunder. The
Successful Bidder shall keep the County informed of the progress and quality of the services.  The 
Successful Bidder agrees and acknowledges that the County is relying on the Successful Bidder's 
represented expertise and ability to provide the goods and/or services described herein.  The Successful
Bidder agrees to use its best efforts, skill, judgment, and abilities to perform its obligations in accordance
with the highest standards used in the profession and to further the interests of the County 
accordance with the County ’s requirements and procedures.    T h e   Successful Bidder ’s duties,
set forth herein, shall at no time be in any way diminished by reason of any approval by the County, nor
shall the Successful Bidder be released from any liability by reason of such approval by the County, it 
being understood that the County at all times is ultimately relying upon the Successful Bidder ’s skill and 
knowledge in performing the services and providing any goods required hereunder.

4.33 ESTIMATED QUANTITIES

To the extent applicable to this IFB, the estimated quantity of each item listed in this IFB is only
estimate; the actual quantity to be purchased may be more or less. The County is not obligated
purchase any minimum amount, and the County may purchase any reasonable amount greater than the
estimate for the same unit price. Any limit on quantities available must be stated expressly in the Bid.

4.34 CONTRACTUAL DEVELOPMENT

The contents of the IFB and the Successful Bidder ’s Bid will become an integral part of the Contract, but 
may be modified, at the County ’s sole discretion, by provisions of an Ensuing Agreement.  Therefore, the 
Bidder must agree to an inclusion of an Ensuing Agreement of the Bid specifications, terms and 
conditions of this IFB.  If an Ensuing Agreement is required under this IFB, information relative to the 
Agreement will be located in the Special Provisions Section of this IFB.

4.35 SURVIVABILITY 

All applicable agreements that were entered into between the Successful Bidder and the County, under 
the terms and conditions of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s), shall survive the expiration or 
termination thereof for ninety (90) days unless a new contract has been awarded.

The County may exercise, by written notice to the Successful Bidder no later than ten (10) calendar days 
of the Contract expiration, this clause for emergencies only. 

4.36 AIR QUALITY

In determining the overall best Bid, the County may, to the extent applicable, exercise the option granted 
to local governments under the Texas Local Government Code, Section 271.907.

This option allows the County to evaluate Bids and give preference to goods and/or services of a Bidder 
that demonstrates that the Bidder meets or exceeds any and all state or federal environmental 
standards, including voluntary standards, relating to air quality.  If the Bid being submitted will have an 
effect on air quality for the County (as it relates to any state, federal, or voluntary air quality standard), 
then the Bidder is encouraged to provide information in narrative indicating the anticipated air quality 
impact.  All Bidders are expected to meet all mandated state and federal air quality standards.

4.37 ENTIRE AGREEMENT

The Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall supersede all prior Agreements, written or oral 
between the Successful Bidder and the County and shall constitute the entire Agreement and 
understanding between the parties with respect to the services and/or goods to be provided.  Each of the 
provisions herein shall be binding upon the parties and may not be waived, modified, amended or altered, 
except by writing signed by the Successful Bidder and the County.

4.38 PAYMENT

The County ’s payment for goods and services shall be governed by the Texas Government Code, 

Chapter 2251.  An invoice shall be deemed overdue the thirty-first (31st) day after the later of the 
following: 

A. The date the County receives the goods under the Contract; 
B. The date the performance of the service under the Contract is completed; or 
C. The date the Williamson County Auditor receives an invoice for the goods or services.  

Interest charges for any overdue payments shall be paid by the County in accordance with Texas 
Government Code, Section 2251.025.  More specifically, the rate of interest that shall accrue on a late 
payment is the rate in effect on September 1 of the County ’s fiscal year in which the payment becomes 
due.  The said rate in effect on September 1 shall be equal to the sum of one (1) percent, and the prime 

rate published in the Wall Street Journal on the first (1st) day of July of the preceding fiscal year that does 
not fall on a Saturday or Sunday.

In the event that an error appears in an invoice submitted by the Successful Bidder, the County shall 
notify the Successful Bidder of the error not later than the twenty-first (21st) day after the date the County 
receives the invoice.  If the error is resolved in favor of the Successful Bidder, the Successful Bidder 
shall be entitled to receive interest on the unpaid balance of the invoice submitted by the Successful 
Bidder beginning on the date that the payment for the invoice became overdue.  If the error is resolved in 
favor of the County, the Successful Bidder shall submit a corrected invoice that must be paid in 
accordance within the time set forth above.  The unpaid balance accrues interest as provided by the 
Texas Government Code, Chapter 2251, if the corrected invoice is not paid by the appropriate date.

As a minimum, invoices shall include:

A. Name, address, and telephone number of the Successful Bidder and similar information in the 
event the payment is to be made to a different address. 

B. The County Contract, Purchase Order. 

C. Identification of items or service as outlined in the Contract. 

D. Quantity or quantities, applicable unit prices, total prices and total amount. 

E. Any additional payment information which may be called for by the Contract. 

Payment inquiries should be directed to the following address:        

            Williamson County Auditor’s Office, Accounts Payable Department
            Email: accountspayable@wilco.org
            Phone: 512-943-1500

4.39 CONTRACTUAL FORMATION AND ENSUING AGREEMENT

The IFB and the Bidder ’s Bid, when properly accepted by the Commissioners Court, shall constitute a
Contract equally binding between the Successful Bidder and the County.

If an Ensuing Agreement is required by this IFB, that information will be provided in Special 
Provisions section of this IFB.  The Successful Bidder shall be required to execute the Agreement at 
the Williamson County Purchasing Department approximately ten (10) calendar days after the 
Successful Bidder is notified of award.  The Ensuing Agreement shall be in the same form as the 
Agreement which is attached to the end of this IFB.  The only anticipated changes in the Ensuing 
Agreement will be to include additional exhibits, to fill in blanks to identify the Successful Bidder, and 
terms relating to the compensation, or to revise the Agreement to accommodate corrections, changes in 
the scope of services, or changes pursuant to Addenda issued.  Bidders should raise any questions 
regarding the terms of the Agreement in the form of written questions or submittals as 
described in the Public Announcement and General Information portion of this IFB.  Because the 
signed Ensuing Agreement will be substantively and substantially derived from the attached Agreement, 
each Bidder is urged to seek independent legal counsel as to any questions about the terms, conditions 
or provisions contained in the Agreement before submitting a Bid.  Again, the attached Agreement, if 
applicable, contains important legal provisions and is considered part and parcel of this IFB.  Failure or 
refusal to sign aforesaid Agreement shall be grounds for the County to revoke any award which has been 
issued, forfeit Bid security, if applicable, and select another Bidder.

4.40 COOPERATIVE PURCHASING PROGRAM 

During the term of the Contract resulting from this IFB, the County would like to afford the same prices, 
terms and conditions to other political subdivisions or public entities.  Another entity’s participation in the 
Contract resulting from this IFB is subject to a properly authorized Purchasing Cooperative Inter- local 
Agreement with the County.  Any liability created by purchase orders issued against the Contract shall be 
the sole responsibility of the governmental agency placing the order.

4.41 INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS

To the extent applicable Insurance information will appear in the Additional Stipulations section that is in 
this IFB Package. 

4.42 BIDDERS BOND, WARRANTY BOND, PERFORMANCE AND PAYMENT BONDS

To the extent applicable Bond information will appear in the Additional Stipulations section that is in this 
IFB Package. 

4.43 LEGAL LIABILITY INFORMATION

The Successful Bidder shall disclose all legal liability information by listing any pending litigation
anticipated litigation that your firm is involved in including, but not limited to, potential or actual legal
matters with private parties and any local, state, federal or international governmental entities. The
County reserves the right to consider legal liability information in the recommendation of any proposed 
contract to the Commissioners Court.

4.44 INCLEMENT WEATHER

In case of inclement weather or any other unforeseen event causing the County to close for business on 
the date of a Bid submission deadline, the Bid closing will automatically be postponed until the next 
business day the County is open.  If inclement weather conditions or any other unforeseen event causes 
delays in carrier service operations, the County may issue an Addendum to all known Bidders interested 
in the project to extend the deadline.  It will be the responsibility of the Bidder to notify the County of their 
interest in the project if these conditions are impacting their ability to turn in a submission within the 
stated deadline.  The County reserves the right to make the final judgement call to extend any deadline. 

4.45 CONFIDENTIALITY 

The Bidder expressly agrees that it will not use any direct or incidental confidential information that may 
be obtained while working in a governmental setting for its own benefit, and agrees that it will not access 
unauthorized areas or confidential information and it will not disclose any information to unauthorized 
third parties, and will take care to guard the security of the information at all times.

Bid 1704-156Williamson County, Texas

4/6/2017 1:22 PM p. 8



5

6

3 4

Williamson County – Invitation for Bid (IFB)

SECTION 1 - DEFINITIONS 

Addendum/Addenda – means any written or graphic instruments issued by the County prior to the 
consideration of Bids which modify or interpret the Bid Documents by additions, deletions, clarifications, 
or corrections.

Agreement/Ensuing Agreement(s) – means the Successful Bidder may be required by the County to 
sign an additional Agreement containing terms necessary to ensure compliance with the IFB and the 
Bidder ’s Bid.  Such Ensuing Agreement(s) shall contain the Bid specifications, terms and conditions that 
are derived from the IFB.

Bid Documents – means the Legal Notice, IFB including attachments, and any Addenda issued by the 
County prior to the consideration of any Bids.

Bid – means the completed and signed bid form, (sometimes referred to as the Price Sheet), and ALL 
required forms and documentation listed in the IFB package which have been submitted in accordance 
with the terms and conditions described in the IFB package.  A Bid submitted in accordance with this IFB 
is irrevocable during the specified period for evaluation and acceptance of Bids unless a waiver is 
obtained from the Williamson County Purchasing Agent.

Bidder – means a person or entity who submits a Bid in response to this IFB.

Contract – means this IFB and the Bid of the Successful Bidder shall become a Contract between the 
Successful Bidder and the County once the Successful Bidder ’s Bid is properly accepted by the 
Williamson County Commissioners Court.

Commissioner ’s Court – means the Williamson County Commissioners Court. 

County – means Williamson County, a political subdivision of the State of Texas.

Invitation for Bid (IFB) – means this document, together with the attachments thereto and any future 
Addenda issued by the County.

Successful Bidder – means the liable Bidder to whom the County intends to award the Contract.

SECTION 2 - BID FORMAT AND SUBMISSION

2.1 ORGANIZATION OF BID CONTENTS FOR SUBMITTAL 

Each Bid should be organized and items submitted in the order described below: 

A. Transmittal Letter. Please see Section 2.3, Transmittal Letter, for more information. 

B. Price Sheet.

C. Conflict of Interest Questionnaire. Please see Section 2.2, Conflict of Interest, for more 
information in regards to this. Please note that even if you deem there to be no Conflict of Interest, 
this signed questionnaire must be included in your package. 

D. References. Please see Section 3.15, References, for more information. 

E. Bid Affidavit.

F. Form 1295. Please see Section 2.4, Certificate of Interested Parties – Form 1295. 

2.2 CONFLICT OF INTEREST

No public official shall have interest in a Contract, in accordance with Vernon ’s Texas Codes Annotated, 
Local Government Code, Title 5, Subtitle C, Chapter 171, as amended. 

As of January 1, 2006, all Bidders are responsible for complying with Local Government Code, Title 5, 
Subtitle C, Chapter 176.  Additional information may be obtained from the County’s website at the 
following link: 

http://www.wilco.org/CountyDepartments/Purchasing/ConflictofInterestDisclosure/tabid/689/language/en
US/Default.aspx

Each Bidder must disclose any existing or potential conflict of interest relative to the performance of the 
requirements of this IFB.  Examples of potential conflicts of interest may include an existing 
business or personal relationship between the Bidder, its principal, or any affiliate or 
subcontractor with the County or any other entity or person involved in any way with the project 
that is subject to this IFB .  Similarly, any personal or business relationship between the Bidder, the 

principals, or any affiliate or subcontractor with any employee, or official of the County or its suppliers 
must be disclosed.  Any such relationship that might be perceived or represented as a conflict must be 
disclosed. Failure to disclose any such relationship or reveal personal relationships with the County 
employees or officials may be cause for termination. 

The County will decide if an actual or perceived conflict should result in Bid disqualification. 

By submitting a Bid in response to this IFB, all Bidders affirm they have not given, nor intend to give, at 
any time hereafter, any economic opportunity, future employment, gift, loan, gratuity, special discount, 
trip, favor, or service to a the County public servant or any employee, official or representative of same, in 
connection with this procurement. 

Each Bidder must provide a Conflict of Interest Statement with their Bid Package.  Package may 

be deemed incomplete without this form.  

2.3 TRANSMITTAL LETTER

The Bidder should submit a Transmittal Letter that provides the following information: 

A. Name and address of individual or business entity submitting the Bid. 

B. Name, physical address, email address, business and fax number of the Bidder ’s principal 
contact person regarding all contractual matters relating to this IFB.

C. The Bid ’s Federal Employer Identification Number.

D. If the Proposal being submitted will have an effect on air quality for the County (as it relates to any 
state, federal, or voluntary air quality standard), then the Respondent is encouraged to provide
information in narrative indicating the anticipated air quality impact. See Section 4.36, Air Quality 
for more information. 

2.4 CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PARTIES – FORM 1295

As of January 1, 2016, all Successful Bidders are responsible for complying with the Texas Government 
Code, Section 2252.908.  The law states that the County may not enter into certain contracts with a 
Bidder unless the Bidder submits a disclosure of interested parties to the County at the time the Bidder 
submits the signed Contract.  The law applies only to a Contract of the County on or after January 1, 
2016 that either:

A. Requires an action or vote by the Commissioners Court before the Contract may be signed (all 
contracts that fall under the jurisdiction of the Commissioners Court approval, such as contracts 
resulting from an Initiation for Bid (IFB), RFP, Request for Qualifications (RFQ), etc., excluding, 
but not limited to, certain Juvenile Service contracts, contracts funded with Sheriff ’s seized fun 
monies, etc.); or

B. Has a value of at least $1,000,000. 

By January 1, 2016, the Texas Ethics Commission will make available on its website, a new filing 
application that must be used to file Form 1295.  Information regarding how to use the filing application is 
available on the Texas Ethics Commission website at the following link:

https://www.ethics.state.tx.us/whatsnew/elf_info_form1295.htm

A Respondent must:

A. Use the online application to process the required information on Form 1295.

B. Print a copy of the form which will contain a unique certification number.

C. An authorized agent of the Bidder must sign the printed copy of the form.

D. Have the form notarized.

E. File the completed Form 1295 and certification of filing (scanning and emailing form is sufficient) 
with Williamson County Purchasing Agent at the time the signed Contract is submitted for 
approval.

After the Commissioners Court award of the Contract, the County shall notify the Texas Ethics 
Commission, using the Texas Ethics Commission ’s filing application, of the receipt of the filed Form 
1295 and certification of filing not later than the 30th day after the date the Contract binds all parties to the 
Contract. The Texas Ethics Commission will post the completed Form 1295 to its website within seven 
business days after receiving notice from the County.

2.5 ETHICS

The Bidder shall not accept or offer gifts or anything of value nor enter into any business arrangement 
with any employee, official or agent of the County.

2.6 BID SUBMITTAL DEADLINE

The Bid is due no later than the submittal date and time set forth in the Public Announcement and 
General Information listed in this IFB package.  Contents of each Bid shall be submitted in accordance 
with this IFB.

2.7 DELIVERY OF BIDS

The County uses BidSync to distribute and receive Bids and proposals.  It is preferred that Bids
submitted electronically through BidSync; however, Bidders can submit a hard copy.  

Refer to www.bidsync.com for further information on how to submit electronically.

If mailed or delivered in person, Bids and Bid Addenda are to be delivered in sealed envelope on or before
the submittal deadline, as noted in the Public Announcement and General Information listed in this IFB 
package, to:

            Williamson County Purchasing Department
            Attn: Bid Name and Number
            901 South Austin Avenue
            Georgetown, Texas 78626

Also, all Bidders should list their Name and Address, and the Date of the Bid opening on the outside
the box or envelope and note “Sealed Bid Enclosed.” The County will not accept any Bids received after 
the submittal deadline, and shall return such Bids unopened to the Bidder.  The County will not accept 
any responsibility for Bids being delivered by third party carriers.  

Bids will be opened publically and the names of Bidders and pricing will be read aloud.

SECTION 3 - INSTRUCTIONS AND GENERAL REQUIREMENTS

3.1 INSTRUCTIONS

Read this document carefully, and follow all instructions and requirements.  All Bidders are responsible 
for fulfilling all requirements and specifications.  Be sure to have a clear understanding of this IFB.

General requirements apply to all advertised IFBs; however, these may be superseded, in whole or in 
part, by the bid specifications, Addenda and modifications issued as a part of this IFB.  Be sure your Bid 
package is complete.

3.2 AMBIGUITY, CONFLICT, OR OTHER ERRORS IN THIS IFB

If a Bidder discovers any ambiguity, conflict, discrepancy, omission or other error in this IFB, the Bidder 
shall immediately notify the County Purchasing Department of such error in writing and request
modification or clarification of the document.

Modifications will be made by issuing Addenda. If the Bidder fails to notify the County prior to the date
and time fixed for submission of Bids of an error or ambiguity in the IFB known to the Bidder, or an error
or ambiguity that reasonably should have been known to the Bidder, then the Bidder shall be deemed to 
have waived the error or ambiguity or its later resolution.

The County may also modify the IFB, no later than forty-eight (48) hours prior to the date and time fixed
for submission of Bids, by issuance of an Addendum.  All Addenda will be numbered consecutively, 
beginning with one (1).

3.3 NOTIFICATION OF MOST CURRENT ADDRESS

All Bidders in receipt of this IFB shall notify the Williamson County Purchasing Department of any
address changes, contact person changes, and/or telephone number changes no later than forty-eight 
(48) hours prior to the date and time fixed for submission of Bids.

3.4 SIGNATURE OF BIDDER

A. If the Bidder is a Corporation or Limited Liability Company, the legal name of the Corporation
Limited Liability Company shall be provided together with the signature of the officer or officers 
authorized to sign on behalf of such entity.

B. If the Bidder is a General Partnership, the true name of the firm shall be provided with the
signature of each partner authorized to sign.

C. If the Bidder is a Limited Partnership, the name of the Limited Partner ’s General Partner shall
provided with the signature of the officer authorized to sign on behalf of the General Partner.

D. If the Bidder is a Sole Proprietor(s) (individual), each Sole Proprietor(s) shall sign.

E. If signature is by an agent, other than the Sole Proprietor(s) or an officer of a Corporation, Limited 
Liability Company, General Partner or a member of a General Partnership, a power of attorney
equivalent document must be submitted to the Williamson County Purchasing Department.

3.5 ASSUMED BUSINESS NAME

If the Bidder operates business under an Assumed Business Name, the Bidder must have on file with the
Williamson County Clerk a current Assumed Name Certificate and provide a file marked copy of same.

3.6 BID OBLIGATION 

The contents of the IFB, Bid, and any clarification thereof submitted by the Successful Bidder shall
become part of the contractual obligation and incorporated by reference into the Contract and any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

3.7 COMPLIANCE WITH IFB SPECIFICATIONS

It is intended that this IFB describe the requirements and the Bid format in sufficient detail to secure 
comparable Bids.  Failure to comply with all provisions of the IFB may, at the sole discretion of the 
County, result in disqualification.

3.8 WITHDRAWAL OF BID

The Bidder may withdraw its Bid by submitting a written request with the company letterhead and the 
signature of an authorized individual, as described in Section 3.4, Signature of Bidder, to the Williamson 
County Purchasing Department any time prior to the submission deadline.  

The Bidder may submit a new Bid prior to the deadline. Alterations of the Bid in any manner will not be 
considered if submitted after the deadline.  Withdrawal of a Bid after the deadline will be subject to written 
approval of the Williamson County Purchasing Agent.

3.9 EVALUATION AND AWARD

The County reserves the right to use all pertinent information (also learned from sources other than 
disclosed in the Bid process) that might affect the County ’s judgment as to the appropriateness of
award to the lowest and best evaluated Bid. This information may be appended to the Bid evaluation
process results. Information on a Bidder from reliable sources, and not within the Bidder ’s Bid, may also 
be noted and made part of the evaluation fi le.  The County shall have sole discretion for determining 
the reliability of the source.

To ensure the proper and fair evaluation of a solicitation, the County prohibits unsolicited communication 
initiated by the Bidder to the County Official or Employee evaluating or considering the Bids prior to the 
time an award has been made. Unsolicited communication may be ground for disqualifying the 
offending Bidder from consideration or award of the solicitation, or any future solicitation.

Communication between the Bidder and the County will be initiated by the appropriate County Official
Employee in order to obtain information or clarification needed to develop a proper and accurate 
evaluation of the solicitation.

The County intends to award a Contract to the most responsible and responsive Bidder whose Bid will 
be most advantageous to the County. In accordance with Texas Government Code and Local
Government Code, the County may consider, to the extent allowed by law, the following:

A. Price;
B. The Bidder ’s experience and reputation;
C. Quality of the Bidder ’s goods and/or services; 
D. The Bidder ’s safety record;
E. The Bidder ’s proposed personnel; 
F. The Bidder ’s financial capabilities; and 
G. Any other relevant factors specifically listed in this IFB or authorized by law.

3.10 CONDISERATION OF LOCATION OF PRINCIPAL OFFICE 

Pursuant to Texas Local Government Code, Section 271.905 , in purchasing any real property or personal
property that is not affixed to real property, if the County receives one or more Bids from a Bidder whose
principal place of business is in Williamson County and whose Bid is within three (3 )  percent of the
lowest Bid price received by the County from a Bidder who is not a resident of Williamson County, the 
County may enter into a contract with:

A. The lowest Bidder; or the Bidder whose principal place of business is in Williamson County if the
Commissioners Court determines, in writing, that the local Bidder offers the County the best 
combination of contract price and addit ional economic development opportunities
Williamson County created by the contract award, including the employment of residents
Williamson County and increased tax revenues to Williamson County.

It is understood that the Commissioners Court of Williamson County, Texas, reserves the right to accept
or reject any and/or all Bids for any or all goods and/or services covered in this IFB, and to waive
informalities or defects in the Bid or to accept such Bid, if it shall deem to be in the best interest of the 
County.

Awards should be made approximately sixty (60) business days after the Bid opening date. Results may
be obtained by viewing the Williamson County vendor portal at the following link:

http://www.wilco.org/CountyDepartments/Purchasing/SearchforaPastBid/tabid/5213/language/en-
US/Default.aspx

3.11 RESPONSIBILITY 

It is expected that a prospective Bidder will be able to affirmatively demonstrate responsibility.  A 
prospective Bidder should be able to meet the following requirements:

A. Have adequate financial resources, or the ability to obtain such resources as required;
B. Be able to comply with the required or proposed delivery schedule;
C. Have a satisfactory record of performance that can be determined thru references provided; and 
D. Be otherwise qualified and eligible to receive an award.

The County may request representation and other information sufficient to determine the Bidder's ability 
to meet these minimum standards listed above.

3.12 FIRM PRICING 

For unit price items, all of the items listed are to be on a “per unit” basis, stating a firm price per unit or 
unit quantity of each item.  The Bidder must submit a firm price that must be good from the date of Bid 
opening for the fixed period of time set out in this IFB.  Unless the IFB expressly states otherwise, this 
period shall be until the end of the Initial Contract Period.

Bids which do not state a fixed price, or which are subject to change without notice, will not be 
considered.  The Court may award a Contract for the period implied or expressly stated in the lowest and 
best Bid.

3.13 PURCHASE ORDERS

If required by the Williamson County Purchasing Department, a purchase order(s) may be generated to 
the Successful Bidder for goods and/or services.  If a purchase order is issued, the purchase order 
number must appear on all itemized invoices and/or requests for payment.

3.14 SILENCE OF SPECIFICATIONS

The apparent silence of these specifications as to any detail or to the apparent omission from it of a 
detailed description concerning any point, shall be regarded as meaning that only the best practices are 
to prevail.  All interpretations of these specifications shall be made on the basis of this statement.

3.15 REFERENCES

The County may require the Bidder to supply a list of at least three (3) references where like services
and/or goods have been supplied by their firm within the past five (5) years, to include names, titles, 
phone numbers and email addresses of key personnel, and dates of performance.

The County may contact some or all of the references in order to determine the Respondent
performance record on work similar to that described in this RFP.  The County reserves the right to 
contact references other than those provided in the response and to use the information gained from 
them in the evaluation process.

References, if requested, should be provided in accordance with this IFB.  Bid may not be deemed 
complete without the inclusion of requested references.

SECTION 4 - TERMS AND CONDITIONS

4.1 VENUE AND GOVERNING LAW

The Bidder hereby agrees and acknowledges that venue and jurisdiction of any suit, right, or cause of 
action arising out of or in connection with this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s), shall lie 
exclusively in either Williamson County, Texas or in the Austin Division of the Western Federal District of 
Texas, and the parties hereto expressly consent and submit to such jurisdiction.  Furthermore, except to 
the extent that this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) is governed by the laws of the United 
States, this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be governed by and construed in 
accordance with the laws of the State of Texas, excluding, however, its choice of law rules.

4.2 INCORPORATION BY REFERENCE AND PRECEDENCE

A. The Contract shall be derived from the IFB and its Addenda (if applicable), and the Bidder ’ s Bid.  In 
the event of a dispute under the Contract, applicable documents will be referred to for the purpose 
of clarification or for additional detail in the following order of precedence:

1. The IFB and its Addenda (if applicable); and

2. The Bidder ’s Bid.

B. In the event the County requires that an Ensuing Agreement be executed following award and a 
dispute arises between the terms and conditions of the Ensuing Agreement, the IFB and its 
Addenda (if applicable), and the Bidder ’s Bid, applicable documents will be referred to for the 
purpose of clarification or for additional detail in the following order of precedence: 

1. Terms and conditions of the Ensuing Agreement;

2. The IFB its Addenda; and 

3. The Bidder ’s Bid.

4.3 OWNERSHIP OF BID

Each Bid shall become the property of the County upon submittal and will not be returned to Bidders 
unless received after the submittal deadline.

4.4 DISQUALIFICATION OF BIDDER

Upon signing and submittal of the Bid, a Bidder offering to sell supplies, materials, services, or equipment 
to the County, certifies that the Bidder has not violated the antitrust laws of the State of Texas codified in 
Business & Commerce Code, Section 15.01, or the Federal Antitrust Laws, and has not communicated 
directly or indirectly the offer made to any competitor or any other person engaged in such line of 
business.  Any or all Bids may be rejected if the County believes that collusion exists among the Bidders.

4.5 FUNDING

The County intends to budget and make sufficient funds available and authorize funds for expenditure to 
finance the costs of the Contract.  All Bidders understand and agree that the County’s payment of 
amounts under the Contract shall be contingent on the County receiving appropriations or other 
expenditure authority sufficient to allow the County, in the exercise of reasonable administrative 
discretion, to make payments under this Contract.

4.6 ASSIGNMENT, SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS 

The Successful Bidder may not assign, sell, or otherwise transfer the Contract or any other rights or 
interests obtained under the Contract without written permission of the Commissioners Court.  The 
Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the contracting 
parties hereto and their respective successors and permitted assigns.

4.7 IMPLIED REQUIREMENTS

Products or services not specifically described or required in the IFB, but are necessary to provide the 
functional capabilities described by the Bidder, shall be implied and deemed to be included in the Bid.

4.8 TERMINATION

A. Termination for Cause: The County reserves the right to terminate the Contract and/or any 
Ensuing Agreement(s) for default if the Successful Bidder breaches any of the Bid specifications,
terms and conditions, including warranties of the Bidder, if any, or if the Successful Bidder 
becomes insolvent or commits acts of bankruptcy.  Such right of termination is in addition to and
not in lieu of any other remedies the County may have at law or in equity or as may otherwise
provided hereunder.  Default may be construed as, but not limited to, failure to deliver the proper 
goods and/or services within the proper amount of time, and/or to properly perform any and all 
other requirements to the County ’s satisfaction, and/or to meet all other obligations and
requirements.

B. Termination for Convenience: The County may terminate the Contract and/or any Ensuing 
Agreement(s) for convenience and without cause or further liability, upon no less than thirty (30) 
calendar days written notice to the Successful Bidder. The County reserves the right to extend 
this period if it is in the best interest of the County.  In the event the County exercises its right to 
terminate without cause, it is understood and agreed that only the amounts due to the Successful 
Bidder for goods, commodities and/or services provided and expenses incurred to and including 
the date of termination, will be due and payable.  No penalty will be assessed for the County
termination for convenience.

4.9 NON-PERFORMANCE

It is the objective of the County to obtain complete and satisfactory performance of the requirements set 
forth herein.  In addition to any other remedies available at law, in equity or that may be set out herein, 
failure to perform may result in a deduction of payment equal to the amount of the goods and/or services 
that were not provided and/or performed to the County ’s satisfaction.  

In the event of such non-performance, the County shall have the right, but shall not be obligated, to 
complete the services itself or by others and/or purchase the goods from other sources.  If the County 
elects to acquire the goods or perform the services itself or by others, pursuant to the foregoing, the 
Successful Bidder shall reimburse the County, within ten (10) calendar days of demand, for all costs 
incurred by the County (including, without limitation, applicable, general, and administrative expenses, 
and field overhead, and the cost of necessary equipment, materials, and field labor) in correcting the 
nonperformance which the Successful Bidder fails to meet pursuant to the requirements set out herein.  
In the event the Successful Bidder refuses to reimburse the County as set out in this provision, the 
County shall have the right to deduct such reimbursement amounts from any amounts that may be then 
owing or that may become owing in the future to the Successful Bidder.

4.10 PROPRIETARY INFORMATION AND THE TEXAS PUBLIC INFORMATION ACT

All material submitted to the County shall become public property and subject to the Texas Public 
Information Act upon receipt. If a Bidder does not desire proprietary information in the Bid to be 
disclosed, each page must be clearly identified and marked proprietary at time of submittal or, more 
preferably, all proprietary information may be placed in a folder or appendix and be clearly identified and 
marked as being proprietary.  Failure to clearly identify and mark information as being proprietary as set 
forth under this provision will result in all unmarked information being deemed non-proprietary and 
available to the public.  For all information that has not been clearly identified and marked as proprietary 
by the Bidder, the County may choose to place such information on the County ’s website and/or a similar 
public database without obtaining any type of prior consent from the Bidder.

The County will, to the extent allowed by law, endeavor to protect from public disclosure the information 
that has been identified and marked as proprietary.  The final decision as to what information must be 
disclosed, however, lies with the Texas Attorney General.  

To the extent, if any, that any provision in this IFB or in the Bidder ’s Bid is in conflict with Texas 
Government Code, Chapter 552, as amended (the “Public Information Act”), the same shall be of no 
force or effect.  Furthermore, it is expressly understood, and agreed, that the County, and its officers and 
employees, may request advice, decisions and opinions of the Attorney General of the State of Texas in 
regard to the application of the Public Information Act to any items or data furnished to the County as to 
whether or not the same are available to the public.  It is further understood that the County, and its 
officers and employees, shall have the right to rely on the advice, decisions and opinions of the Attorney 
General, and that the County, its officers and employees shall have no liability or obligation to any party 
hereto for the disclosure to the public, or to any person or persons, of any items or data furnished to the 
County by a party hereto, in reliance of any advice, decision or opinion of the Attorney General of the 
State of Texas.

4.11 RIGHT TO AUDIT

The Successful Bidder agrees that the County or its duly authorized representatives shall, until the 
expiration of three (3) years after termination or expiration of the services to be performed, have access 
to and the right to examine and photocopy any and all books, documents, papers and records of the 
Successful Bidder, which are directly pertinent to the services to be performed or goods to be delivered 
for the purposes of making audits, examinations, excerpts and transcriptions.  The Successful Bidder 
agrees that the County shall have access during normal working hours to all necessary facilities and 
shall be provided adequate and appropriate work space in order to conduct audits in compliance with the 
provisions of this section.  The County shall give the Successful Bidder reasonable advance notice of 
intended audits.

4.12 TESTING AND INSPECTIONS

The County reserves the right to inspect and test equipment, supplies, materials and goods for quality 
and compliance with this IFB, and ability to meet the needs of the user.  Demonstration units must be 
available for review.  Should the goods or services fail to meet requirements and/or be unavailable for 
evaluation, the County can deem the Bidder to be in breach and terminate the Contract and/or any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

4.13 BID PREPARATION COSTS

The cost of developing Bids is the sole responsibility of the Bidders and shall not be charged to the 
County.  There is no expressed or implied obligation for the County to reimburse the Bidders for any 
expense incurred in preparing a Bid in response to this IFB and the County will not reimburse the Bidders 
for such expenses.

4.14 INDEMNIFICATION

The Successful Bidder shall indemnify, defend and save harmless, the County, its officials, employees, 
agents and agent ’s employees from, and against, all claims, liability, and expenses including reasonable 
attorneys ’   fees, arising from activities of the Bidder, its agents, servants or employees, performed 
hereunder that result from the negligent act, error, or omission of the Bidder or any of the Bidder
agents, servants or employees, as well as all claims of loss or damage to the Bidder ’s and the County
property, equipment, and/or supplies. 

Furthermore, the County, its officials, employees, agents and agents ’ employees shall not be liable for 
damages to the Successful Bidder arising from any act of any third party, including, but not limited to, 
theft.  The Successful Bidder further agrees to indemnify, defend and save harmless, the County from its 
officials, employee, agents and agents ’ employees against all claims of whatever nature arising from any 
accident, injury, or damage whatsoever, caused to any person, or the property of any person, occurring 
in relation to the Successful Bidder ’s performance of any services requested hereunder during the term 
of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s). 

The Successful Bidder shall timely report all claims, demands, suits, actions, proceedings, liens or 
judgements to the County and shall, upon the receipt of any claim, demand, suit, action, proceeding, lien 

or judgement, not later than the fifteenth (15 th) day of each month; provide the County with a written 
report on each such matter, setting forth the status of each matter, the schedule or planned proceedings 
with respect to each matter and the cooperation or assistance, if any, of the County required by the 
Successful Bidder in the defense of each matter.  The Successful Bidder’s duty to defend, indemnify and 
hold the County harmless shall be absolute.  It shall not abate or end by reason of the expiration or 
termination of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s), unless otherwise agreed by the County in 
writing.  The provisions of this section shall survive the termination of the Contract and shall remain in full 
force and effect with respect to all such matters no matter when they arise. 

In the event of any dispute between the parties, as to whether a claim, demand, suit, action, proceeding, 
lien or judgement, that appears to have been caused by or appears to have arisen out of or in connection 
with acts or omissions of the County, the Bidder shall nevertheless fully defend such claim, demand, suit 
or action, proceeding, lien or judgement, until and unless there is a determination by a court of competent 
jurisdiction that the acts and omissions of the Bidder are not an issue in the matter. 

The Successful Bidder ’s indemnification shall cover, and the Successful Bidder agrees to, indemnify the 
County, in the event the County is found to have been negligent for having selected the Successful 
Bidder to perform the work described in this request.  The provision by the Successful Bidder of 
insurance shall not limit the liability of the Successful Bidder under the Contract and/or any Ensuing 
Agreement(s). 

4.15 WAIVER OF SUBROGATION

The Successful Bidder and the Successful Bidder ’s insurance carrier waive any and all rights 
whatsoever with regard to subrogation against the County as an indirect party to any suit arising out of 
personal or property damages resulting from the Bidder ’s performance under this Contract and any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

4.16 RELATIONSHIP OF THE PARTIES

The Successful Bidder shall be an independent contractor and shall assume all of the rights, obligations, 
liabilities, applicable to it as such independent contractor hereunder and any provisions herein which may 
appear to give the County the right to direct the Successful Bidder as to details of doing work herein 
covered, or to exercise a measure of control over the work, shall be deemed to mean that the Successful 
Bidder shall follow the desires of the County in the results of the work only.  The County shall not retain or 
have the right to control the Successful Bidder ’s means, methods or details pertaining to the Successful 
Bidder ’s performance of the work.  The County and the Successful Bidder hereby agree and declare that 
the Successful Bidder is an independent contractor and as such meets the qualifications of an 
“Independent Contractor” under Texas Workers Compensation Act, Texas Labor Code, Section 406.141, 
that the Successful Bidder is not an employee of  the County, and that the Successful Bidder and its 
employees, agents and subcontractors shall not be entitled to workers compensation coverage or any 
other type of insurance coverage held by the County.

4.17 SOLE PROVIDER

The Successful Bidder agrees and acknowledges that it shall not be considered a sole provider of the 
goods and/or services described herein and that the County may contract with other providers of such 
goods and/or services if the County deems, at its sole discretion, that multiple providers of the same 
goods and/or services will serve the best interest of the County.

4.18 FORCE MAJEURE

If the party obligated to perform is prevented from performance by an act of war, order of legal authority, 
act of God, or other unavoidable cause not attributable to the fault or negligence of said party, the other 
party shall grant such party relief from the performance.  The burden of proof for the need of such relief 
shall rest upon the party obligated to perform.  To obtain release based on force majeure, the party 
obligated to perform shall file a written request with the other party.

4.19 SEVERABILITY

If any provision of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be held invalid or 
unenforceable by any court of competent jurisdiction, such holding shall not invalidate or render 
unenforceable any other provision thereof, but rather the entire IFB, Contract or any Ensuing Agreement
(s) will be construed as if not containing the particular invalid or unenforceable provision or provisions, 
and the rights and obligation of the parties shall be construed and enforced in accordance therewith.  The 
parties acknowledge that if any provision of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) is 
determined to be invalid or unenforceable, it is the desire and intention of each that such provision be 
reformed and construed in such a manner that it will, to the maximum extent practicable, give effect to
the intent of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) and be deemed to be validated and
enforceable.

4.20 EQUAL OPPORTUNITY

Neither party shall discriminate against any employee or applicant for employment because of race, 
color, sex, religion or national origin.

4.21 NOTICE

Any notice to be given shall be in writing and may be distributed by personal delivery, or by registered or 
certified mail, return receipt requested, addressed to the proper party, at the following address:

The County:    Williamson County Purchasing Department 
            Attn: Purchasing Agent 
            901 South Austin Avenue 
            Georgetown, Texas 78626

The Bidder:     Address set out in Bidder’s Transmittal Letter.

Notices given in accordance with this provision shall be effective upon (1) receipt by the party to which 
notice is given, or (2) on the third (3rd) calendar day following mailing, whichever occurs first.

4.22 SALES AND USE TAX EXEMPTION

The County is a body, corporate and politic, under the laws of the State of Texas and claims exemption 
from sales and use taxes under Texas Tax Code, Section 151.309, as amended, and the services and/or 
goods subject hereof are being secured for use by the County.

4.23 COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS

The County and the Successful Bidder shall comply with all federal, state, and local laws, statutes,
ordinances, rules and regulations, and the orders and decrees of any courts or administrative bodies or 
tribunals in any matter affecting the performance of the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s),
including, without limitation, Workers ’ Compensation laws, salary and wage statutes and regulations, 
licensing laws and regulations.  When required, the Successful Bidder shall furnish the County with 
certification of compliance with said laws, statues, ordinances, rules, regulations, orders, and decrees 
above specified.

4.24 INCORPORATION OF EXHIBITS, APPENDICES AND ATTACHMENTS

All of the Exhibits, Appendices and Attachments referred to herein are incorporated by reference as if set 
forth verbatim herein.  Any conflicting terms in the Contract documents will be resolved at the sole 
discretion of the Commissioners Court.

4.25 NO WAIVER OF IMMUNITIES

Nothing herein shall be deemed to waive, modify or amend any legal defense available at law or in equity 
to the County, its past or present officers, employees, or agents, nor to create any legal rights or claim on 
behalf of any third party.  The County does not waive, modify, or alter to any extent whatsoever the 
availability of the defense of governmental immunity under the laws of the State of Texas and of the 
United States.

4.26 NO WAIVER

The failure or delay of any party to enforce at any time or any period of time any of the provisions of this 
IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall not constitute a present or future waiver of such 
provisions nor the right of either party to enforce each and every provision.  Furthermore, no term or 
provision hereof shall be deemed waived and no breach excused unless such waiver or consent shall be 
in writing and signed by the party claimed to have waived or consented.  Any consent by any party to, or 
waiver of, a breach by the other, whether expressed or implied, shall not constitute a consent to, waiver 
of or excuse for any other, different or subsequent breach.

4.27 CURRENT REVENUES

The obligations of the parties under the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) do not constitute a 
general obligation or indebtedness of the County for which the County is obligated to levy, pledge, or 
collect any of taxation.  It is understood and agreed that the County shall have the right to terminate the 
Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) at the end of any the County fiscal year if the governing body of 
the County does not appropriate sufficient funds as determined by the County ’s budget for the fiscal year 
in question.  The County may effect such termination by giving written notice of termination to the 
Successful Bidder at the end of its then-current fiscal year.

4.28 FOB DESTINATION

To the extent applicable to this IFB, all of the items listed are to be Free On Board to final destination 
(FOB Destination) with all transportation charges if applicable to be included in the Bid, unless otherwise 
specified in the Invitation for Bids.  The title and risk of loss of the goods shall not pass to the County until 
receipt and acceptance takes place at the FOB Destination point.

4.29 BINDING EFFECT

This Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties 
and their respective permitted assigns and successors.

4.30 ASSIGNMENT

The Successful Bidder ’s interest and duties hereunder may not be assigned or delegated to a third party 
without the express written consent of the County.

4.31 SAFETY

The Successful Bidder is responsible for initiating, maintaining, and supervising all safety precautions 
and programs in connection with any services to be provided hereunder. The safety program shall 
comply with all applicable requirements of the current federal Occupational Safety and Health Act and all 
other applicable federal, state and local laws and regulations.

4.32 GENERAL OBLIGATIONS AND RELIANCE

The Successful Bidder shall perform all services and/or provide all goods, as well as those reasonably
inferable and necessary for completion and provision of services and/or goods required hereunder. The
Successful Bidder shall keep the County informed of the progress and quality of the services.  The 
Successful Bidder agrees and acknowledges that the County is relying on the Successful Bidder's 
represented expertise and ability to provide the goods and/or services described herein.  The Successful
Bidder agrees to use its best efforts, skill, judgment, and abilities to perform its obligations in accordance
with the highest standards used in the profession and to further the interests of the County 
accordance with the County ’s requirements and procedures.    T h e   Successful Bidder ’s duties,
set forth herein, shall at no time be in any way diminished by reason of any approval by the County, nor
shall the Successful Bidder be released from any liability by reason of such approval by the County, it 
being understood that the County at all times is ultimately relying upon the Successful Bidder ’s skill and 
knowledge in performing the services and providing any goods required hereunder.

4.33 ESTIMATED QUANTITIES

To the extent applicable to this IFB, the estimated quantity of each item listed in this IFB is only
estimate; the actual quantity to be purchased may be more or less. The County is not obligated
purchase any minimum amount, and the County may purchase any reasonable amount greater than the
estimate for the same unit price. Any limit on quantities available must be stated expressly in the Bid.

4.34 CONTRACTUAL DEVELOPMENT

The contents of the IFB and the Successful Bidder ’s Bid will become an integral part of the Contract, but 
may be modified, at the County ’s sole discretion, by provisions of an Ensuing Agreement.  Therefore, the 
Bidder must agree to an inclusion of an Ensuing Agreement of the Bid specifications, terms and 
conditions of this IFB.  If an Ensuing Agreement is required under this IFB, information relative to the 
Agreement will be located in the Special Provisions Section of this IFB.

4.35 SURVIVABILITY 

All applicable agreements that were entered into between the Successful Bidder and the County, under 
the terms and conditions of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s), shall survive the expiration or 
termination thereof for ninety (90) days unless a new contract has been awarded.

The County may exercise, by written notice to the Successful Bidder no later than ten (10) calendar days 
of the Contract expiration, this clause for emergencies only. 

4.36 AIR QUALITY

In determining the overall best Bid, the County may, to the extent applicable, exercise the option granted 
to local governments under the Texas Local Government Code, Section 271.907.

This option allows the County to evaluate Bids and give preference to goods and/or services of a Bidder 
that demonstrates that the Bidder meets or exceeds any and all state or federal environmental 
standards, including voluntary standards, relating to air quality.  If the Bid being submitted will have an 
effect on air quality for the County (as it relates to any state, federal, or voluntary air quality standard), 
then the Bidder is encouraged to provide information in narrative indicating the anticipated air quality 
impact.  All Bidders are expected to meet all mandated state and federal air quality standards.

4.37 ENTIRE AGREEMENT

The Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall supersede all prior Agreements, written or oral 
between the Successful Bidder and the County and shall constitute the entire Agreement and 
understanding between the parties with respect to the services and/or goods to be provided.  Each of the 
provisions herein shall be binding upon the parties and may not be waived, modified, amended or altered, 
except by writing signed by the Successful Bidder and the County.

4.38 PAYMENT

The County ’s payment for goods and services shall be governed by the Texas Government Code, 

Chapter 2251.  An invoice shall be deemed overdue the thirty-first (31st) day after the later of the 
following: 

A. The date the County receives the goods under the Contract; 
B. The date the performance of the service under the Contract is completed; or 
C. The date the Williamson County Auditor receives an invoice for the goods or services.  

Interest charges for any overdue payments shall be paid by the County in accordance with Texas 
Government Code, Section 2251.025.  More specifically, the rate of interest that shall accrue on a late 
payment is the rate in effect on September 1 of the County ’s fiscal year in which the payment becomes 
due.  The said rate in effect on September 1 shall be equal to the sum of one (1) percent, and the prime 

rate published in the Wall Street Journal on the first (1st) day of July of the preceding fiscal year that does 
not fall on a Saturday or Sunday.

In the event that an error appears in an invoice submitted by the Successful Bidder, the County shall 
notify the Successful Bidder of the error not later than the twenty-first (21st) day after the date the County 
receives the invoice.  If the error is resolved in favor of the Successful Bidder, the Successful Bidder 
shall be entitled to receive interest on the unpaid balance of the invoice submitted by the Successful 
Bidder beginning on the date that the payment for the invoice became overdue.  If the error is resolved in 
favor of the County, the Successful Bidder shall submit a corrected invoice that must be paid in 
accordance within the time set forth above.  The unpaid balance accrues interest as provided by the 
Texas Government Code, Chapter 2251, if the corrected invoice is not paid by the appropriate date.

As a minimum, invoices shall include:

A. Name, address, and telephone number of the Successful Bidder and similar information in the 
event the payment is to be made to a different address. 

B. The County Contract, Purchase Order. 

C. Identification of items or service as outlined in the Contract. 

D. Quantity or quantities, applicable unit prices, total prices and total amount. 

E. Any additional payment information which may be called for by the Contract. 

Payment inquiries should be directed to the following address:        

            Williamson County Auditor’s Office, Accounts Payable Department
            Email: accountspayable@wilco.org
            Phone: 512-943-1500

4.39 CONTRACTUAL FORMATION AND ENSUING AGREEMENT

The IFB and the Bidder ’s Bid, when properly accepted by the Commissioners Court, shall constitute a
Contract equally binding between the Successful Bidder and the County.

If an Ensuing Agreement is required by this IFB, that information will be provided in Special 
Provisions section of this IFB.  The Successful Bidder shall be required to execute the Agreement at 
the Williamson County Purchasing Department approximately ten (10) calendar days after the 
Successful Bidder is notified of award.  The Ensuing Agreement shall be in the same form as the 
Agreement which is attached to the end of this IFB.  The only anticipated changes in the Ensuing 
Agreement will be to include additional exhibits, to fill in blanks to identify the Successful Bidder, and 
terms relating to the compensation, or to revise the Agreement to accommodate corrections, changes in 
the scope of services, or changes pursuant to Addenda issued.  Bidders should raise any questions 
regarding the terms of the Agreement in the form of written questions or submittals as 
described in the Public Announcement and General Information portion of this IFB.  Because the 
signed Ensuing Agreement will be substantively and substantially derived from the attached Agreement, 
each Bidder is urged to seek independent legal counsel as to any questions about the terms, conditions 
or provisions contained in the Agreement before submitting a Bid.  Again, the attached Agreement, if 
applicable, contains important legal provisions and is considered part and parcel of this IFB.  Failure or 
refusal to sign aforesaid Agreement shall be grounds for the County to revoke any award which has been 
issued, forfeit Bid security, if applicable, and select another Bidder.

4.40 COOPERATIVE PURCHASING PROGRAM 

During the term of the Contract resulting from this IFB, the County would like to afford the same prices, 
terms and conditions to other political subdivisions or public entities.  Another entity’s participation in the 
Contract resulting from this IFB is subject to a properly authorized Purchasing Cooperative Inter- local 
Agreement with the County.  Any liability created by purchase orders issued against the Contract shall be 
the sole responsibility of the governmental agency placing the order.

4.41 INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS

To the extent applicable Insurance information will appear in the Additional Stipulations section that is in 
this IFB Package. 

4.42 BIDDERS BOND, WARRANTY BOND, PERFORMANCE AND PAYMENT BONDS

To the extent applicable Bond information will appear in the Additional Stipulations section that is in this 
IFB Package. 

4.43 LEGAL LIABILITY INFORMATION

The Successful Bidder shall disclose all legal liability information by listing any pending litigation
anticipated litigation that your firm is involved in including, but not limited to, potential or actual legal
matters with private parties and any local, state, federal or international governmental entities. The
County reserves the right to consider legal liability information in the recommendation of any proposed 
contract to the Commissioners Court.

4.44 INCLEMENT WEATHER

In case of inclement weather or any other unforeseen event causing the County to close for business on 
the date of a Bid submission deadline, the Bid closing will automatically be postponed until the next 
business day the County is open.  If inclement weather conditions or any other unforeseen event causes 
delays in carrier service operations, the County may issue an Addendum to all known Bidders interested 
in the project to extend the deadline.  It will be the responsibility of the Bidder to notify the County of their 
interest in the project if these conditions are impacting their ability to turn in a submission within the 
stated deadline.  The County reserves the right to make the final judgement call to extend any deadline. 

4.45 CONFIDENTIALITY 

The Bidder expressly agrees that it will not use any direct or incidental confidential information that may 
be obtained while working in a governmental setting for its own benefit, and agrees that it will not access 
unauthorized areas or confidential information and it will not disclose any information to unauthorized 
third parties, and will take care to guard the security of the information at all times.

Bid 1704-156Williamson County, Texas

4/6/2017 1:22 PM p. 9



5

6

3 4

Williamson County – Invitation for Bid (IFB)

SECTION 1 - DEFINITIONS 

Addendum/Addenda – means any written or graphic instruments issued by the County prior to the 
consideration of Bids which modify or interpret the Bid Documents by additions, deletions, clarifications, 
or corrections.

Agreement/Ensuing Agreement(s) – means the Successful Bidder may be required by the County to 
sign an additional Agreement containing terms necessary to ensure compliance with the IFB and the 
Bidder ’s Bid.  Such Ensuing Agreement(s) shall contain the Bid specifications, terms and conditions that 
are derived from the IFB.

Bid Documents – means the Legal Notice, IFB including attachments, and any Addenda issued by the 
County prior to the consideration of any Bids.

Bid – means the completed and signed bid form, (sometimes referred to as the Price Sheet), and ALL 
required forms and documentation listed in the IFB package which have been submitted in accordance 
with the terms and conditions described in the IFB package.  A Bid submitted in accordance with this IFB 
is irrevocable during the specified period for evaluation and acceptance of Bids unless a waiver is 
obtained from the Williamson County Purchasing Agent.

Bidder – means a person or entity who submits a Bid in response to this IFB.

Contract – means this IFB and the Bid of the Successful Bidder shall become a Contract between the 
Successful Bidder and the County once the Successful Bidder ’s Bid is properly accepted by the 
Williamson County Commissioners Court.

Commissioner ’s Court – means the Williamson County Commissioners Court. 

County – means Williamson County, a political subdivision of the State of Texas.

Invitation for Bid (IFB) – means this document, together with the attachments thereto and any future 
Addenda issued by the County.

Successful Bidder – means the liable Bidder to whom the County intends to award the Contract.

SECTION 2 - BID FORMAT AND SUBMISSION

2.1 ORGANIZATION OF BID CONTENTS FOR SUBMITTAL 

Each Bid should be organized and items submitted in the order described below: 

A. Transmittal Letter. Please see Section 2.3, Transmittal Letter, for more information. 

B. Price Sheet.

C. Conflict of Interest Questionnaire. Please see Section 2.2, Conflict of Interest, for more 
information in regards to this. Please note that even if you deem there to be no Conflict of Interest, 
this signed questionnaire must be included in your package. 

D. References. Please see Section 3.15, References, for more information. 

E. Bid Affidavit.

F. Form 1295. Please see Section 2.4, Certificate of Interested Parties – Form 1295. 

2.2 CONFLICT OF INTEREST

No public official shall have interest in a Contract, in accordance with Vernon ’s Texas Codes Annotated, 
Local Government Code, Title 5, Subtitle C, Chapter 171, as amended. 

As of January 1, 2006, all Bidders are responsible for complying with Local Government Code, Title 5, 
Subtitle C, Chapter 176.  Additional information may be obtained from the County’s website at the 
following link: 

http://www.wilco.org/CountyDepartments/Purchasing/ConflictofInterestDisclosure/tabid/689/language/en
US/Default.aspx

Each Bidder must disclose any existing or potential conflict of interest relative to the performance of the 
requirements of this IFB.  Examples of potential conflicts of interest may include an existing 
business or personal relationship between the Bidder, its principal, or any affiliate or 
subcontractor with the County or any other entity or person involved in any way with the project 
that is subject to this IFB .  Similarly, any personal or business relationship between the Bidder, the 

principals, or any affiliate or subcontractor with any employee, or official of the County or its suppliers 
must be disclosed.  Any such relationship that might be perceived or represented as a conflict must be 
disclosed. Failure to disclose any such relationship or reveal personal relationships with the County 
employees or officials may be cause for termination. 

The County will decide if an actual or perceived conflict should result in Bid disqualification. 

By submitting a Bid in response to this IFB, all Bidders affirm they have not given, nor intend to give, at 
any time hereafter, any economic opportunity, future employment, gift, loan, gratuity, special discount, 
trip, favor, or service to a the County public servant or any employee, official or representative of same, in 
connection with this procurement. 

Each Bidder must provide a Conflict of Interest Statement with their Bid Package.  Package may 

be deemed incomplete without this form.  

2.3 TRANSMITTAL LETTER

The Bidder should submit a Transmittal Letter that provides the following information: 

A. Name and address of individual or business entity submitting the Bid. 

B. Name, physical address, email address, business and fax number of the Bidder ’s principal 
contact person regarding all contractual matters relating to this IFB.

C. The Bid ’s Federal Employer Identification Number.

D. If the Proposal being submitted will have an effect on air quality for the County (as it relates to any 
state, federal, or voluntary air quality standard), then the Respondent is encouraged to provide
information in narrative indicating the anticipated air quality impact. See Section 4.36, Air Quality 
for more information. 

2.4 CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PARTIES – FORM 1295

As of January 1, 2016, all Successful Bidders are responsible for complying with the Texas Government 
Code, Section 2252.908.  The law states that the County may not enter into certain contracts with a 
Bidder unless the Bidder submits a disclosure of interested parties to the County at the time the Bidder 
submits the signed Contract.  The law applies only to a Contract of the County on or after January 1, 
2016 that either:

A. Requires an action or vote by the Commissioners Court before the Contract may be signed (all 
contracts that fall under the jurisdiction of the Commissioners Court approval, such as contracts 
resulting from an Initiation for Bid (IFB), RFP, Request for Qualifications (RFQ), etc., excluding, 
but not limited to, certain Juvenile Service contracts, contracts funded with Sheriff ’s seized fun 
monies, etc.); or

B. Has a value of at least $1,000,000. 

By January 1, 2016, the Texas Ethics Commission will make available on its website, a new filing 
application that must be used to file Form 1295.  Information regarding how to use the filing application is 
available on the Texas Ethics Commission website at the following link:

https://www.ethics.state.tx.us/whatsnew/elf_info_form1295.htm

A Respondent must:

A. Use the online application to process the required information on Form 1295.

B. Print a copy of the form which will contain a unique certification number.

C. An authorized agent of the Bidder must sign the printed copy of the form.

D. Have the form notarized.

E. File the completed Form 1295 and certification of filing (scanning and emailing form is sufficient) 
with Williamson County Purchasing Agent at the time the signed Contract is submitted for 
approval.

After the Commissioners Court award of the Contract, the County shall notify the Texas Ethics 
Commission, using the Texas Ethics Commission ’s filing application, of the receipt of the filed Form 
1295 and certification of filing not later than the 30th day after the date the Contract binds all parties to the 
Contract. The Texas Ethics Commission will post the completed Form 1295 to its website within seven 
business days after receiving notice from the County.

2.5 ETHICS

The Bidder shall not accept or offer gifts or anything of value nor enter into any business arrangement 
with any employee, official or agent of the County.

2.6 BID SUBMITTAL DEADLINE

The Bid is due no later than the submittal date and time set forth in the Public Announcement and 
General Information listed in this IFB package.  Contents of each Bid shall be submitted in accordance 
with this IFB.

2.7 DELIVERY OF BIDS

The County uses BidSync to distribute and receive Bids and proposals.  It is preferred that Bids
submitted electronically through BidSync; however, Bidders can submit a hard copy.  

Refer to www.bidsync.com for further information on how to submit electronically.

If mailed or delivered in person, Bids and Bid Addenda are to be delivered in sealed envelope on or before
the submittal deadline, as noted in the Public Announcement and General Information listed in this IFB 
package, to:

            Williamson County Purchasing Department
            Attn: Bid Name and Number
            901 South Austin Avenue
            Georgetown, Texas 78626

Also, all Bidders should list their Name and Address, and the Date of the Bid opening on the outside
the box or envelope and note “Sealed Bid Enclosed.” The County will not accept any Bids received after 
the submittal deadline, and shall return such Bids unopened to the Bidder.  The County will not accept 
any responsibility for Bids being delivered by third party carriers.  

Bids will be opened publically and the names of Bidders and pricing will be read aloud.

SECTION 3 - INSTRUCTIONS AND GENERAL REQUIREMENTS

3.1 INSTRUCTIONS

Read this document carefully, and follow all instructions and requirements.  All Bidders are responsible 
for fulfilling all requirements and specifications.  Be sure to have a clear understanding of this IFB.

General requirements apply to all advertised IFBs; however, these may be superseded, in whole or in 
part, by the bid specifications, Addenda and modifications issued as a part of this IFB.  Be sure your Bid 
package is complete.

3.2 AMBIGUITY, CONFLICT, OR OTHER ERRORS IN THIS IFB

If a Bidder discovers any ambiguity, conflict, discrepancy, omission or other error in this IFB, the Bidder 
shall immediately notify the County Purchasing Department of such error in writing and request
modification or clarification of the document.

Modifications will be made by issuing Addenda. If the Bidder fails to notify the County prior to the date
and time fixed for submission of Bids of an error or ambiguity in the IFB known to the Bidder, or an error
or ambiguity that reasonably should have been known to the Bidder, then the Bidder shall be deemed to 
have waived the error or ambiguity or its later resolution.

The County may also modify the IFB, no later than forty-eight (48) hours prior to the date and time fixed
for submission of Bids, by issuance of an Addendum.  All Addenda will be numbered consecutively, 
beginning with one (1).

3.3 NOTIFICATION OF MOST CURRENT ADDRESS

All Bidders in receipt of this IFB shall notify the Williamson County Purchasing Department of any
address changes, contact person changes, and/or telephone number changes no later than forty-eight 
(48) hours prior to the date and time fixed for submission of Bids.

3.4 SIGNATURE OF BIDDER

A. If the Bidder is a Corporation or Limited Liability Company, the legal name of the Corporation
Limited Liability Company shall be provided together with the signature of the officer or officers 
authorized to sign on behalf of such entity.

B. If the Bidder is a General Partnership, the true name of the firm shall be provided with the
signature of each partner authorized to sign.

C. If the Bidder is a Limited Partnership, the name of the Limited Partner ’s General Partner shall
provided with the signature of the officer authorized to sign on behalf of the General Partner.

D. If the Bidder is a Sole Proprietor(s) (individual), each Sole Proprietor(s) shall sign.

E. If signature is by an agent, other than the Sole Proprietor(s) or an officer of a Corporation, Limited 
Liability Company, General Partner or a member of a General Partnership, a power of attorney
equivalent document must be submitted to the Williamson County Purchasing Department.

3.5 ASSUMED BUSINESS NAME

If the Bidder operates business under an Assumed Business Name, the Bidder must have on file with the
Williamson County Clerk a current Assumed Name Certificate and provide a file marked copy of same.

3.6 BID OBLIGATION 

The contents of the IFB, Bid, and any clarification thereof submitted by the Successful Bidder shall
become part of the contractual obligation and incorporated by reference into the Contract and any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

3.7 COMPLIANCE WITH IFB SPECIFICATIONS

It is intended that this IFB describe the requirements and the Bid format in sufficient detail to secure 
comparable Bids.  Failure to comply with all provisions of the IFB may, at the sole discretion of the 
County, result in disqualification.

3.8 WITHDRAWAL OF BID

The Bidder may withdraw its Bid by submitting a written request with the company letterhead and the 
signature of an authorized individual, as described in Section 3.4, Signature of Bidder, to the Williamson 
County Purchasing Department any time prior to the submission deadline.  

The Bidder may submit a new Bid prior to the deadline. Alterations of the Bid in any manner will not be 
considered if submitted after the deadline.  Withdrawal of a Bid after the deadline will be subject to written 
approval of the Williamson County Purchasing Agent.

3.9 EVALUATION AND AWARD

The County reserves the right to use all pertinent information (also learned from sources other than 
disclosed in the Bid process) that might affect the County ’s judgment as to the appropriateness of
award to the lowest and best evaluated Bid. This information may be appended to the Bid evaluation
process results. Information on a Bidder from reliable sources, and not within the Bidder ’s Bid, may also 
be noted and made part of the evaluation fi le.  The County shall have sole discretion for determining 
the reliability of the source.

To ensure the proper and fair evaluation of a solicitation, the County prohibits unsolicited communication 
initiated by the Bidder to the County Official or Employee evaluating or considering the Bids prior to the 
time an award has been made. Unsolicited communication may be ground for disqualifying the 
offending Bidder from consideration or award of the solicitation, or any future solicitation.

Communication between the Bidder and the County will be initiated by the appropriate County Official
Employee in order to obtain information or clarification needed to develop a proper and accurate 
evaluation of the solicitation.

The County intends to award a Contract to the most responsible and responsive Bidder whose Bid will 
be most advantageous to the County. In accordance with Texas Government Code and Local
Government Code, the County may consider, to the extent allowed by law, the following:

A. Price;
B. The Bidder ’s experience and reputation;
C. Quality of the Bidder ’s goods and/or services; 
D. The Bidder ’s safety record;
E. The Bidder ’s proposed personnel; 
F. The Bidder ’s financial capabilities; and 
G. Any other relevant factors specifically listed in this IFB or authorized by law.

3.10 CONDISERATION OF LOCATION OF PRINCIPAL OFFICE 

Pursuant to Texas Local Government Code, Section 271.905 , in purchasing any real property or personal
property that is not affixed to real property, if the County receives one or more Bids from a Bidder whose
principal place of business is in Williamson County and whose Bid is within three (3 )  percent of the
lowest Bid price received by the County from a Bidder who is not a resident of Williamson County, the 
County may enter into a contract with:

A. The lowest Bidder; or the Bidder whose principal place of business is in Williamson County if the
Commissioners Court determines, in writing, that the local Bidder offers the County the best 
combination of contract price and addit ional economic development opportunities
Williamson County created by the contract award, including the employment of residents
Williamson County and increased tax revenues to Williamson County.

It is understood that the Commissioners Court of Williamson County, Texas, reserves the right to accept
or reject any and/or all Bids for any or all goods and/or services covered in this IFB, and to waive
informalities or defects in the Bid or to accept such Bid, if it shall deem to be in the best interest of the 
County.

Awards should be made approximately sixty (60) business days after the Bid opening date. Results may
be obtained by viewing the Williamson County vendor portal at the following link:

http://www.wilco.org/CountyDepartments/Purchasing/SearchforaPastBid/tabid/5213/language/en-
US/Default.aspx

3.11 RESPONSIBILITY 

It is expected that a prospective Bidder will be able to affirmatively demonstrate responsibility.  A 
prospective Bidder should be able to meet the following requirements:

A. Have adequate financial resources, or the ability to obtain such resources as required;
B. Be able to comply with the required or proposed delivery schedule;
C. Have a satisfactory record of performance that can be determined thru references provided; and 
D. Be otherwise qualified and eligible to receive an award.

The County may request representation and other information sufficient to determine the Bidder's ability 
to meet these minimum standards listed above.

3.12 FIRM PRICING 

For unit price items, all of the items listed are to be on a “per unit” basis, stating a firm price per unit or 
unit quantity of each item.  The Bidder must submit a firm price that must be good from the date of Bid 
opening for the fixed period of time set out in this IFB.  Unless the IFB expressly states otherwise, this 
period shall be until the end of the Initial Contract Period.

Bids which do not state a fixed price, or which are subject to change without notice, will not be 
considered.  The Court may award a Contract for the period implied or expressly stated in the lowest and 
best Bid.

3.13 PURCHASE ORDERS

If required by the Williamson County Purchasing Department, a purchase order(s) may be generated to 
the Successful Bidder for goods and/or services.  If a purchase order is issued, the purchase order 
number must appear on all itemized invoices and/or requests for payment.

3.14 SILENCE OF SPECIFICATIONS

The apparent silence of these specifications as to any detail or to the apparent omission from it of a 
detailed description concerning any point, shall be regarded as meaning that only the best practices are 
to prevail.  All interpretations of these specifications shall be made on the basis of this statement.

3.15 REFERENCES

The County may require the Bidder to supply a list of at least three (3) references where like services
and/or goods have been supplied by their firm within the past five (5) years, to include names, titles, 
phone numbers and email addresses of key personnel, and dates of performance.

The County may contact some or all of the references in order to determine the Respondent
performance record on work similar to that described in this RFP.  The County reserves the right to 
contact references other than those provided in the response and to use the information gained from 
them in the evaluation process.

References, if requested, should be provided in accordance with this IFB.  Bid may not be deemed 
complete without the inclusion of requested references.

SECTION 4 - TERMS AND CONDITIONS

4.1 VENUE AND GOVERNING LAW

The Bidder hereby agrees and acknowledges that venue and jurisdiction of any suit, right, or cause of 
action arising out of or in connection with this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s), shall lie 
exclusively in either Williamson County, Texas or in the Austin Division of the Western Federal District of 
Texas, and the parties hereto expressly consent and submit to such jurisdiction.  Furthermore, except to 
the extent that this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) is governed by the laws of the United 
States, this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be governed by and construed in 
accordance with the laws of the State of Texas, excluding, however, its choice of law rules.

4.2 INCORPORATION BY REFERENCE AND PRECEDENCE

A. The Contract shall be derived from the IFB and its Addenda (if applicable), and the Bidder ’ s Bid.  In 
the event of a dispute under the Contract, applicable documents will be referred to for the purpose 
of clarification or for additional detail in the following order of precedence:

1. The IFB and its Addenda (if applicable); and

2. The Bidder ’s Bid.

B. In the event the County requires that an Ensuing Agreement be executed following award and a 
dispute arises between the terms and conditions of the Ensuing Agreement, the IFB and its 
Addenda (if applicable), and the Bidder ’s Bid, applicable documents will be referred to for the 
purpose of clarification or for additional detail in the following order of precedence: 

1. Terms and conditions of the Ensuing Agreement;

2. The IFB its Addenda; and 

3. The Bidder ’s Bid.

4.3 OWNERSHIP OF BID

Each Bid shall become the property of the County upon submittal and will not be returned to Bidders 
unless received after the submittal deadline.

4.4 DISQUALIFICATION OF BIDDER

Upon signing and submittal of the Bid, a Bidder offering to sell supplies, materials, services, or equipment 
to the County, certifies that the Bidder has not violated the antitrust laws of the State of Texas codified in 
Business & Commerce Code, Section 15.01, or the Federal Antitrust Laws, and has not communicated 
directly or indirectly the offer made to any competitor or any other person engaged in such line of 
business.  Any or all Bids may be rejected if the County believes that collusion exists among the Bidders.

4.5 FUNDING

The County intends to budget and make sufficient funds available and authorize funds for expenditure to 
finance the costs of the Contract.  All Bidders understand and agree that the County’s payment of 
amounts under the Contract shall be contingent on the County receiving appropriations or other 
expenditure authority sufficient to allow the County, in the exercise of reasonable administrative 
discretion, to make payments under this Contract.

4.6 ASSIGNMENT, SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS 

The Successful Bidder may not assign, sell, or otherwise transfer the Contract or any other rights or 
interests obtained under the Contract without written permission of the Commissioners Court.  The 
Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the contracting 
parties hereto and their respective successors and permitted assigns.

4.7 IMPLIED REQUIREMENTS

Products or services not specifically described or required in the IFB, but are necessary to provide the 
functional capabilities described by the Bidder, shall be implied and deemed to be included in the Bid.

4.8 TERMINATION

A. Termination for Cause: The County reserves the right to terminate the Contract and/or any 
Ensuing Agreement(s) for default if the Successful Bidder breaches any of the Bid specifications,
terms and conditions, including warranties of the Bidder, if any, or if the Successful Bidder 
becomes insolvent or commits acts of bankruptcy.  Such right of termination is in addition to and
not in lieu of any other remedies the County may have at law or in equity or as may otherwise
provided hereunder.  Default may be construed as, but not limited to, failure to deliver the proper 
goods and/or services within the proper amount of time, and/or to properly perform any and all 
other requirements to the County ’s satisfaction, and/or to meet all other obligations and
requirements.

B. Termination for Convenience: The County may terminate the Contract and/or any Ensuing 
Agreement(s) for convenience and without cause or further liability, upon no less than thirty (30) 
calendar days written notice to the Successful Bidder. The County reserves the right to extend 
this period if it is in the best interest of the County.  In the event the County exercises its right to 
terminate without cause, it is understood and agreed that only the amounts due to the Successful 
Bidder for goods, commodities and/or services provided and expenses incurred to and including 
the date of termination, will be due and payable.  No penalty will be assessed for the County
termination for convenience.

4.9 NON-PERFORMANCE

It is the objective of the County to obtain complete and satisfactory performance of the requirements set 
forth herein.  In addition to any other remedies available at law, in equity or that may be set out herein, 
failure to perform may result in a deduction of payment equal to the amount of the goods and/or services 
that were not provided and/or performed to the County ’s satisfaction.  

In the event of such non-performance, the County shall have the right, but shall not be obligated, to 
complete the services itself or by others and/or purchase the goods from other sources.  If the County 
elects to acquire the goods or perform the services itself or by others, pursuant to the foregoing, the 
Successful Bidder shall reimburse the County, within ten (10) calendar days of demand, for all costs 
incurred by the County (including, without limitation, applicable, general, and administrative expenses, 
and field overhead, and the cost of necessary equipment, materials, and field labor) in correcting the 
nonperformance which the Successful Bidder fails to meet pursuant to the requirements set out herein.  
In the event the Successful Bidder refuses to reimburse the County as set out in this provision, the 
County shall have the right to deduct such reimbursement amounts from any amounts that may be then 
owing or that may become owing in the future to the Successful Bidder.

4.10 PROPRIETARY INFORMATION AND THE TEXAS PUBLIC INFORMATION ACT

All material submitted to the County shall become public property and subject to the Texas Public 
Information Act upon receipt. If a Bidder does not desire proprietary information in the Bid to be 
disclosed, each page must be clearly identified and marked proprietary at time of submittal or, more 
preferably, all proprietary information may be placed in a folder or appendix and be clearly identified and 
marked as being proprietary.  Failure to clearly identify and mark information as being proprietary as set 
forth under this provision will result in all unmarked information being deemed non-proprietary and 
available to the public.  For all information that has not been clearly identified and marked as proprietary 
by the Bidder, the County may choose to place such information on the County ’s website and/or a similar 
public database without obtaining any type of prior consent from the Bidder.

The County will, to the extent allowed by law, endeavor to protect from public disclosure the information 
that has been identified and marked as proprietary.  The final decision as to what information must be 
disclosed, however, lies with the Texas Attorney General.  

To the extent, if any, that any provision in this IFB or in the Bidder ’s Bid is in conflict with Texas 
Government Code, Chapter 552, as amended (the “Public Information Act”), the same shall be of no 
force or effect.  Furthermore, it is expressly understood, and agreed, that the County, and its officers and 
employees, may request advice, decisions and opinions of the Attorney General of the State of Texas in 
regard to the application of the Public Information Act to any items or data furnished to the County as to 
whether or not the same are available to the public.  It is further understood that the County, and its 
officers and employees, shall have the right to rely on the advice, decisions and opinions of the Attorney 
General, and that the County, its officers and employees shall have no liability or obligation to any party 
hereto for the disclosure to the public, or to any person or persons, of any items or data furnished to the 
County by a party hereto, in reliance of any advice, decision or opinion of the Attorney General of the 
State of Texas.

4.11 RIGHT TO AUDIT

The Successful Bidder agrees that the County or its duly authorized representatives shall, until the 
expiration of three (3) years after termination or expiration of the services to be performed, have access 
to and the right to examine and photocopy any and all books, documents, papers and records of the 
Successful Bidder, which are directly pertinent to the services to be performed or goods to be delivered 
for the purposes of making audits, examinations, excerpts and transcriptions.  The Successful Bidder 
agrees that the County shall have access during normal working hours to all necessary facilities and 
shall be provided adequate and appropriate work space in order to conduct audits in compliance with the 
provisions of this section.  The County shall give the Successful Bidder reasonable advance notice of 
intended audits.

4.12 TESTING AND INSPECTIONS

The County reserves the right to inspect and test equipment, supplies, materials and goods for quality 
and compliance with this IFB, and ability to meet the needs of the user.  Demonstration units must be 
available for review.  Should the goods or services fail to meet requirements and/or be unavailable for 
evaluation, the County can deem the Bidder to be in breach and terminate the Contract and/or any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

4.13 BID PREPARATION COSTS

The cost of developing Bids is the sole responsibility of the Bidders and shall not be charged to the 
County.  There is no expressed or implied obligation for the County to reimburse the Bidders for any 
expense incurred in preparing a Bid in response to this IFB and the County will not reimburse the Bidders 
for such expenses.

4.14 INDEMNIFICATION

The Successful Bidder shall indemnify, defend and save harmless, the County, its officials, employees, 
agents and agent ’s employees from, and against, all claims, liability, and expenses including reasonable 
attorneys ’   fees, arising from activities of the Bidder, its agents, servants or employees, performed 
hereunder that result from the negligent act, error, or omission of the Bidder or any of the Bidder
agents, servants or employees, as well as all claims of loss or damage to the Bidder ’s and the County
property, equipment, and/or supplies. 

Furthermore, the County, its officials, employees, agents and agents ’ employees shall not be liable for 
damages to the Successful Bidder arising from any act of any third party, including, but not limited to, 
theft.  The Successful Bidder further agrees to indemnify, defend and save harmless, the County from its 
officials, employee, agents and agents ’ employees against all claims of whatever nature arising from any 
accident, injury, or damage whatsoever, caused to any person, or the property of any person, occurring 
in relation to the Successful Bidder ’s performance of any services requested hereunder during the term 
of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s). 

The Successful Bidder shall timely report all claims, demands, suits, actions, proceedings, liens or 
judgements to the County and shall, upon the receipt of any claim, demand, suit, action, proceeding, lien 

or judgement, not later than the fifteenth (15 th) day of each month; provide the County with a written 
report on each such matter, setting forth the status of each matter, the schedule or planned proceedings 
with respect to each matter and the cooperation or assistance, if any, of the County required by the 
Successful Bidder in the defense of each matter.  The Successful Bidder’s duty to defend, indemnify and 
hold the County harmless shall be absolute.  It shall not abate or end by reason of the expiration or 
termination of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s), unless otherwise agreed by the County in 
writing.  The provisions of this section shall survive the termination of the Contract and shall remain in full 
force and effect with respect to all such matters no matter when they arise. 

In the event of any dispute between the parties, as to whether a claim, demand, suit, action, proceeding, 
lien or judgement, that appears to have been caused by or appears to have arisen out of or in connection 
with acts or omissions of the County, the Bidder shall nevertheless fully defend such claim, demand, suit 
or action, proceeding, lien or judgement, until and unless there is a determination by a court of competent 
jurisdiction that the acts and omissions of the Bidder are not an issue in the matter. 

The Successful Bidder ’s indemnification shall cover, and the Successful Bidder agrees to, indemnify the 
County, in the event the County is found to have been negligent for having selected the Successful 
Bidder to perform the work described in this request.  The provision by the Successful Bidder of 
insurance shall not limit the liability of the Successful Bidder under the Contract and/or any Ensuing 
Agreement(s). 

4.15 WAIVER OF SUBROGATION

The Successful Bidder and the Successful Bidder ’s insurance carrier waive any and all rights 
whatsoever with regard to subrogation against the County as an indirect party to any suit arising out of 
personal or property damages resulting from the Bidder ’s performance under this Contract and any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

4.16 RELATIONSHIP OF THE PARTIES

The Successful Bidder shall be an independent contractor and shall assume all of the rights, obligations, 
liabilities, applicable to it as such independent contractor hereunder and any provisions herein which may 
appear to give the County the right to direct the Successful Bidder as to details of doing work herein 
covered, or to exercise a measure of control over the work, shall be deemed to mean that the Successful 
Bidder shall follow the desires of the County in the results of the work only.  The County shall not retain or 
have the right to control the Successful Bidder ’s means, methods or details pertaining to the Successful 
Bidder ’s performance of the work.  The County and the Successful Bidder hereby agree and declare that 
the Successful Bidder is an independent contractor and as such meets the qualifications of an 
“Independent Contractor” under Texas Workers Compensation Act, Texas Labor Code, Section 406.141, 
that the Successful Bidder is not an employee of  the County, and that the Successful Bidder and its 
employees, agents and subcontractors shall not be entitled to workers compensation coverage or any 
other type of insurance coverage held by the County.

4.17 SOLE PROVIDER

The Successful Bidder agrees and acknowledges that it shall not be considered a sole provider of the 
goods and/or services described herein and that the County may contract with other providers of such 
goods and/or services if the County deems, at its sole discretion, that multiple providers of the same 
goods and/or services will serve the best interest of the County.

4.18 FORCE MAJEURE

If the party obligated to perform is prevented from performance by an act of war, order of legal authority, 
act of God, or other unavoidable cause not attributable to the fault or negligence of said party, the other 
party shall grant such party relief from the performance.  The burden of proof for the need of such relief 
shall rest upon the party obligated to perform.  To obtain release based on force majeure, the party 
obligated to perform shall file a written request with the other party.

4.19 SEVERABILITY

If any provision of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be held invalid or 
unenforceable by any court of competent jurisdiction, such holding shall not invalidate or render 
unenforceable any other provision thereof, but rather the entire IFB, Contract or any Ensuing Agreement
(s) will be construed as if not containing the particular invalid or unenforceable provision or provisions, 
and the rights and obligation of the parties shall be construed and enforced in accordance therewith.  The 
parties acknowledge that if any provision of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) is 
determined to be invalid or unenforceable, it is the desire and intention of each that such provision be 
reformed and construed in such a manner that it will, to the maximum extent practicable, give effect to
the intent of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) and be deemed to be validated and
enforceable.

4.20 EQUAL OPPORTUNITY

Neither party shall discriminate against any employee or applicant for employment because of race, 
color, sex, religion or national origin.

4.21 NOTICE

Any notice to be given shall be in writing and may be distributed by personal delivery, or by registered or 
certified mail, return receipt requested, addressed to the proper party, at the following address:

The County:    Williamson County Purchasing Department 
            Attn: Purchasing Agent 
            901 South Austin Avenue 
            Georgetown, Texas 78626

The Bidder:     Address set out in Bidder’s Transmittal Letter.

Notices given in accordance with this provision shall be effective upon (1) receipt by the party to which 
notice is given, or (2) on the third (3rd) calendar day following mailing, whichever occurs first.

4.22 SALES AND USE TAX EXEMPTION

The County is a body, corporate and politic, under the laws of the State of Texas and claims exemption 
from sales and use taxes under Texas Tax Code, Section 151.309, as amended, and the services and/or 
goods subject hereof are being secured for use by the County.

4.23 COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS

The County and the Successful Bidder shall comply with all federal, state, and local laws, statutes,
ordinances, rules and regulations, and the orders and decrees of any courts or administrative bodies or 
tribunals in any matter affecting the performance of the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s),
including, without limitation, Workers ’ Compensation laws, salary and wage statutes and regulations, 
licensing laws and regulations.  When required, the Successful Bidder shall furnish the County with 
certification of compliance with said laws, statues, ordinances, rules, regulations, orders, and decrees 
above specified.

4.24 INCORPORATION OF EXHIBITS, APPENDICES AND ATTACHMENTS

All of the Exhibits, Appendices and Attachments referred to herein are incorporated by reference as if set 
forth verbatim herein.  Any conflicting terms in the Contract documents will be resolved at the sole 
discretion of the Commissioners Court.

4.25 NO WAIVER OF IMMUNITIES

Nothing herein shall be deemed to waive, modify or amend any legal defense available at law or in equity 
to the County, its past or present officers, employees, or agents, nor to create any legal rights or claim on 
behalf of any third party.  The County does not waive, modify, or alter to any extent whatsoever the 
availability of the defense of governmental immunity under the laws of the State of Texas and of the 
United States.

4.26 NO WAIVER

The failure or delay of any party to enforce at any time or any period of time any of the provisions of this 
IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall not constitute a present or future waiver of such 
provisions nor the right of either party to enforce each and every provision.  Furthermore, no term or 
provision hereof shall be deemed waived and no breach excused unless such waiver or consent shall be 
in writing and signed by the party claimed to have waived or consented.  Any consent by any party to, or 
waiver of, a breach by the other, whether expressed or implied, shall not constitute a consent to, waiver 
of or excuse for any other, different or subsequent breach.

4.27 CURRENT REVENUES

The obligations of the parties under the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) do not constitute a 
general obligation or indebtedness of the County for which the County is obligated to levy, pledge, or 
collect any of taxation.  It is understood and agreed that the County shall have the right to terminate the 
Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) at the end of any the County fiscal year if the governing body of 
the County does not appropriate sufficient funds as determined by the County ’s budget for the fiscal year 
in question.  The County may effect such termination by giving written notice of termination to the 
Successful Bidder at the end of its then-current fiscal year.

4.28 FOB DESTINATION

To the extent applicable to this IFB, all of the items listed are to be Free On Board to final destination 
(FOB Destination) with all transportation charges if applicable to be included in the Bid, unless otherwise 
specified in the Invitation for Bids.  The title and risk of loss of the goods shall not pass to the County until 
receipt and acceptance takes place at the FOB Destination point.

4.29 BINDING EFFECT

This Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties 
and their respective permitted assigns and successors.

4.30 ASSIGNMENT

The Successful Bidder ’s interest and duties hereunder may not be assigned or delegated to a third party 
without the express written consent of the County.

4.31 SAFETY

The Successful Bidder is responsible for initiating, maintaining, and supervising all safety precautions 
and programs in connection with any services to be provided hereunder. The safety program shall 
comply with all applicable requirements of the current federal Occupational Safety and Health Act and all 
other applicable federal, state and local laws and regulations.

4.32 GENERAL OBLIGATIONS AND RELIANCE

The Successful Bidder shall perform all services and/or provide all goods, as well as those reasonably
inferable and necessary for completion and provision of services and/or goods required hereunder. The
Successful Bidder shall keep the County informed of the progress and quality of the services.  The 
Successful Bidder agrees and acknowledges that the County is relying on the Successful Bidder's 
represented expertise and ability to provide the goods and/or services described herein.  The Successful
Bidder agrees to use its best efforts, skill, judgment, and abilities to perform its obligations in accordance
with the highest standards used in the profession and to further the interests of the County 
accordance with the County ’s requirements and procedures.    T h e   Successful Bidder ’s duties,
set forth herein, shall at no time be in any way diminished by reason of any approval by the County, nor
shall the Successful Bidder be released from any liability by reason of such approval by the County, it 
being understood that the County at all times is ultimately relying upon the Successful Bidder ’s skill and 
knowledge in performing the services and providing any goods required hereunder.

4.33 ESTIMATED QUANTITIES

To the extent applicable to this IFB, the estimated quantity of each item listed in this IFB is only
estimate; the actual quantity to be purchased may be more or less. The County is not obligated
purchase any minimum amount, and the County may purchase any reasonable amount greater than the
estimate for the same unit price. Any limit on quantities available must be stated expressly in the Bid.

4.34 CONTRACTUAL DEVELOPMENT

The contents of the IFB and the Successful Bidder ’s Bid will become an integral part of the Contract, but 
may be modified, at the County ’s sole discretion, by provisions of an Ensuing Agreement.  Therefore, the 
Bidder must agree to an inclusion of an Ensuing Agreement of the Bid specifications, terms and 
conditions of this IFB.  If an Ensuing Agreement is required under this IFB, information relative to the 
Agreement will be located in the Special Provisions Section of this IFB.

4.35 SURVIVABILITY 

All applicable agreements that were entered into between the Successful Bidder and the County, under 
the terms and conditions of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s), shall survive the expiration or 
termination thereof for ninety (90) days unless a new contract has been awarded.

The County may exercise, by written notice to the Successful Bidder no later than ten (10) calendar days 
of the Contract expiration, this clause for emergencies only. 

4.36 AIR QUALITY

In determining the overall best Bid, the County may, to the extent applicable, exercise the option granted 
to local governments under the Texas Local Government Code, Section 271.907.

This option allows the County to evaluate Bids and give preference to goods and/or services of a Bidder 
that demonstrates that the Bidder meets or exceeds any and all state or federal environmental 
standards, including voluntary standards, relating to air quality.  If the Bid being submitted will have an 
effect on air quality for the County (as it relates to any state, federal, or voluntary air quality standard), 
then the Bidder is encouraged to provide information in narrative indicating the anticipated air quality 
impact.  All Bidders are expected to meet all mandated state and federal air quality standards.

4.37 ENTIRE AGREEMENT

The Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall supersede all prior Agreements, written or oral 
between the Successful Bidder and the County and shall constitute the entire Agreement and 
understanding between the parties with respect to the services and/or goods to be provided.  Each of the 
provisions herein shall be binding upon the parties and may not be waived, modified, amended or altered, 
except by writing signed by the Successful Bidder and the County.

4.38 PAYMENT

The County ’s payment for goods and services shall be governed by the Texas Government Code, 

Chapter 2251.  An invoice shall be deemed overdue the thirty-first (31st) day after the later of the 
following: 

A. The date the County receives the goods under the Contract; 
B. The date the performance of the service under the Contract is completed; or 
C. The date the Williamson County Auditor receives an invoice for the goods or services.  

Interest charges for any overdue payments shall be paid by the County in accordance with Texas 
Government Code, Section 2251.025.  More specifically, the rate of interest that shall accrue on a late 
payment is the rate in effect on September 1 of the County ’s fiscal year in which the payment becomes 
due.  The said rate in effect on September 1 shall be equal to the sum of one (1) percent, and the prime 

rate published in the Wall Street Journal on the first (1st) day of July of the preceding fiscal year that does 
not fall on a Saturday or Sunday.

In the event that an error appears in an invoice submitted by the Successful Bidder, the County shall 
notify the Successful Bidder of the error not later than the twenty-first (21st) day after the date the County 
receives the invoice.  If the error is resolved in favor of the Successful Bidder, the Successful Bidder 
shall be entitled to receive interest on the unpaid balance of the invoice submitted by the Successful 
Bidder beginning on the date that the payment for the invoice became overdue.  If the error is resolved in 
favor of the County, the Successful Bidder shall submit a corrected invoice that must be paid in 
accordance within the time set forth above.  The unpaid balance accrues interest as provided by the 
Texas Government Code, Chapter 2251, if the corrected invoice is not paid by the appropriate date.

As a minimum, invoices shall include:

A. Name, address, and telephone number of the Successful Bidder and similar information in the 
event the payment is to be made to a different address. 

B. The County Contract, Purchase Order. 

C. Identification of items or service as outlined in the Contract. 

D. Quantity or quantities, applicable unit prices, total prices and total amount. 

E. Any additional payment information which may be called for by the Contract. 

Payment inquiries should be directed to the following address:        

            Williamson County Auditor’s Office, Accounts Payable Department
            Email: accountspayable@wilco.org
            Phone: 512-943-1500

4.39 CONTRACTUAL FORMATION AND ENSUING AGREEMENT

The IFB and the Bidder ’s Bid, when properly accepted by the Commissioners Court, shall constitute a
Contract equally binding between the Successful Bidder and the County.

If an Ensuing Agreement is required by this IFB, that information will be provided in Special 
Provisions section of this IFB.  The Successful Bidder shall be required to execute the Agreement at 
the Williamson County Purchasing Department approximately ten (10) calendar days after the 
Successful Bidder is notified of award.  The Ensuing Agreement shall be in the same form as the 
Agreement which is attached to the end of this IFB.  The only anticipated changes in the Ensuing 
Agreement will be to include additional exhibits, to fill in blanks to identify the Successful Bidder, and 
terms relating to the compensation, or to revise the Agreement to accommodate corrections, changes in 
the scope of services, or changes pursuant to Addenda issued.  Bidders should raise any questions 
regarding the terms of the Agreement in the form of written questions or submittals as 
described in the Public Announcement and General Information portion of this IFB.  Because the 
signed Ensuing Agreement will be substantively and substantially derived from the attached Agreement, 
each Bidder is urged to seek independent legal counsel as to any questions about the terms, conditions 
or provisions contained in the Agreement before submitting a Bid.  Again, the attached Agreement, if 
applicable, contains important legal provisions and is considered part and parcel of this IFB.  Failure or 
refusal to sign aforesaid Agreement shall be grounds for the County to revoke any award which has been 
issued, forfeit Bid security, if applicable, and select another Bidder.

4.40 COOPERATIVE PURCHASING PROGRAM 

During the term of the Contract resulting from this IFB, the County would like to afford the same prices, 
terms and conditions to other political subdivisions or public entities.  Another entity’s participation in the 
Contract resulting from this IFB is subject to a properly authorized Purchasing Cooperative Inter- local 
Agreement with the County.  Any liability created by purchase orders issued against the Contract shall be 
the sole responsibility of the governmental agency placing the order.

4.41 INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS

To the extent applicable Insurance information will appear in the Additional Stipulations section that is in 
this IFB Package. 

4.42 BIDDERS BOND, WARRANTY BOND, PERFORMANCE AND PAYMENT BONDS

To the extent applicable Bond information will appear in the Additional Stipulations section that is in this 
IFB Package. 

4.43 LEGAL LIABILITY INFORMATION

The Successful Bidder shall disclose all legal liability information by listing any pending litigation
anticipated litigation that your firm is involved in including, but not limited to, potential or actual legal
matters with private parties and any local, state, federal or international governmental entities. The
County reserves the right to consider legal liability information in the recommendation of any proposed 
contract to the Commissioners Court.

4.44 INCLEMENT WEATHER

In case of inclement weather or any other unforeseen event causing the County to close for business on 
the date of a Bid submission deadline, the Bid closing will automatically be postponed until the next 
business day the County is open.  If inclement weather conditions or any other unforeseen event causes 
delays in carrier service operations, the County may issue an Addendum to all known Bidders interested 
in the project to extend the deadline.  It will be the responsibility of the Bidder to notify the County of their 
interest in the project if these conditions are impacting their ability to turn in a submission within the 
stated deadline.  The County reserves the right to make the final judgement call to extend any deadline. 

4.45 CONFIDENTIALITY 

The Bidder expressly agrees that it will not use any direct or incidental confidential information that may 
be obtained while working in a governmental setting for its own benefit, and agrees that it will not access 
unauthorized areas or confidential information and it will not disclose any information to unauthorized 
third parties, and will take care to guard the security of the information at all times.

Bid 1704-156Williamson County, Texas

4/6/2017 1:22 PM p. 10



5

6

3 4

Williamson County – Invitation for Bid (IFB)

SECTION 1 - DEFINITIONS 

Addendum/Addenda – means any written or graphic instruments issued by the County prior to the 
consideration of Bids which modify or interpret the Bid Documents by additions, deletions, clarifications, 
or corrections.

Agreement/Ensuing Agreement(s) – means the Successful Bidder may be required by the County to 
sign an additional Agreement containing terms necessary to ensure compliance with the IFB and the 
Bidder ’s Bid.  Such Ensuing Agreement(s) shall contain the Bid specifications, terms and conditions that 
are derived from the IFB.

Bid Documents – means the Legal Notice, IFB including attachments, and any Addenda issued by the 
County prior to the consideration of any Bids.

Bid – means the completed and signed bid form, (sometimes referred to as the Price Sheet), and ALL 
required forms and documentation listed in the IFB package which have been submitted in accordance 
with the terms and conditions described in the IFB package.  A Bid submitted in accordance with this IFB 
is irrevocable during the specified period for evaluation and acceptance of Bids unless a waiver is 
obtained from the Williamson County Purchasing Agent.

Bidder – means a person or entity who submits a Bid in response to this IFB.

Contract – means this IFB and the Bid of the Successful Bidder shall become a Contract between the 
Successful Bidder and the County once the Successful Bidder ’s Bid is properly accepted by the 
Williamson County Commissioners Court.

Commissioner ’s Court – means the Williamson County Commissioners Court. 

County – means Williamson County, a political subdivision of the State of Texas.

Invitation for Bid (IFB) – means this document, together with the attachments thereto and any future 
Addenda issued by the County.

Successful Bidder – means the liable Bidder to whom the County intends to award the Contract.

SECTION 2 - BID FORMAT AND SUBMISSION

2.1 ORGANIZATION OF BID CONTENTS FOR SUBMITTAL 

Each Bid should be organized and items submitted in the order described below: 

A. Transmittal Letter. Please see Section 2.3, Transmittal Letter, for more information. 

B. Price Sheet.

C. Conflict of Interest Questionnaire. Please see Section 2.2, Conflict of Interest, for more 
information in regards to this. Please note that even if you deem there to be no Conflict of Interest, 
this signed questionnaire must be included in your package. 

D. References. Please see Section 3.15, References, for more information. 

E. Bid Affidavit.

F. Form 1295. Please see Section 2.4, Certificate of Interested Parties – Form 1295. 

2.2 CONFLICT OF INTEREST

No public official shall have interest in a Contract, in accordance with Vernon ’s Texas Codes Annotated, 
Local Government Code, Title 5, Subtitle C, Chapter 171, as amended. 

As of January 1, 2006, all Bidders are responsible for complying with Local Government Code, Title 5, 
Subtitle C, Chapter 176.  Additional information may be obtained from the County’s website at the 
following link: 

http://www.wilco.org/CountyDepartments/Purchasing/ConflictofInterestDisclosure/tabid/689/language/en
US/Default.aspx

Each Bidder must disclose any existing or potential conflict of interest relative to the performance of the 
requirements of this IFB.  Examples of potential conflicts of interest may include an existing 
business or personal relationship between the Bidder, its principal, or any affiliate or 
subcontractor with the County or any other entity or person involved in any way with the project 
that is subject to this IFB .  Similarly, any personal or business relationship between the Bidder, the 

principals, or any affiliate or subcontractor with any employee, or official of the County or its suppliers 
must be disclosed.  Any such relationship that might be perceived or represented as a conflict must be 
disclosed. Failure to disclose any such relationship or reveal personal relationships with the County 
employees or officials may be cause for termination. 

The County will decide if an actual or perceived conflict should result in Bid disqualification. 

By submitting a Bid in response to this IFB, all Bidders affirm they have not given, nor intend to give, at 
any time hereafter, any economic opportunity, future employment, gift, loan, gratuity, special discount, 
trip, favor, or service to a the County public servant or any employee, official or representative of same, in 
connection with this procurement. 

Each Bidder must provide a Conflict of Interest Statement with their Bid Package.  Package may 

be deemed incomplete without this form.  

2.3 TRANSMITTAL LETTER

The Bidder should submit a Transmittal Letter that provides the following information: 

A. Name and address of individual or business entity submitting the Bid. 

B. Name, physical address, email address, business and fax number of the Bidder ’s principal 
contact person regarding all contractual matters relating to this IFB.

C. The Bid ’s Federal Employer Identification Number.

D. If the Proposal being submitted will have an effect on air quality for the County (as it relates to any 
state, federal, or voluntary air quality standard), then the Respondent is encouraged to provide
information in narrative indicating the anticipated air quality impact. See Section 4.36, Air Quality 
for more information. 

2.4 CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PARTIES – FORM 1295

As of January 1, 2016, all Successful Bidders are responsible for complying with the Texas Government 
Code, Section 2252.908.  The law states that the County may not enter into certain contracts with a 
Bidder unless the Bidder submits a disclosure of interested parties to the County at the time the Bidder 
submits the signed Contract.  The law applies only to a Contract of the County on or after January 1, 
2016 that either:

A. Requires an action or vote by the Commissioners Court before the Contract may be signed (all 
contracts that fall under the jurisdiction of the Commissioners Court approval, such as contracts 
resulting from an Initiation for Bid (IFB), RFP, Request for Qualifications (RFQ), etc., excluding, 
but not limited to, certain Juvenile Service contracts, contracts funded with Sheriff ’s seized fun 
monies, etc.); or

B. Has a value of at least $1,000,000. 

By January 1, 2016, the Texas Ethics Commission will make available on its website, a new filing 
application that must be used to file Form 1295.  Information regarding how to use the filing application is 
available on the Texas Ethics Commission website at the following link:

https://www.ethics.state.tx.us/whatsnew/elf_info_form1295.htm

A Respondent must:

A. Use the online application to process the required information on Form 1295.

B. Print a copy of the form which will contain a unique certification number.

C. An authorized agent of the Bidder must sign the printed copy of the form.

D. Have the form notarized.

E. File the completed Form 1295 and certification of filing (scanning and emailing form is sufficient) 
with Williamson County Purchasing Agent at the time the signed Contract is submitted for 
approval.

After the Commissioners Court award of the Contract, the County shall notify the Texas Ethics 
Commission, using the Texas Ethics Commission ’s filing application, of the receipt of the filed Form 
1295 and certification of filing not later than the 30th day after the date the Contract binds all parties to the 
Contract. The Texas Ethics Commission will post the completed Form 1295 to its website within seven 
business days after receiving notice from the County.

2.5 ETHICS

The Bidder shall not accept or offer gifts or anything of value nor enter into any business arrangement 
with any employee, official or agent of the County.

2.6 BID SUBMITTAL DEADLINE

The Bid is due no later than the submittal date and time set forth in the Public Announcement and 
General Information listed in this IFB package.  Contents of each Bid shall be submitted in accordance 
with this IFB.

2.7 DELIVERY OF BIDS

The County uses BidSync to distribute and receive Bids and proposals.  It is preferred that Bids
submitted electronically through BidSync; however, Bidders can submit a hard copy.  

Refer to www.bidsync.com for further information on how to submit electronically.

If mailed or delivered in person, Bids and Bid Addenda are to be delivered in sealed envelope on or before
the submittal deadline, as noted in the Public Announcement and General Information listed in this IFB 
package, to:

            Williamson County Purchasing Department
            Attn: Bid Name and Number
            901 South Austin Avenue
            Georgetown, Texas 78626

Also, all Bidders should list their Name and Address, and the Date of the Bid opening on the outside
the box or envelope and note “Sealed Bid Enclosed.” The County will not accept any Bids received after 
the submittal deadline, and shall return such Bids unopened to the Bidder.  The County will not accept 
any responsibility for Bids being delivered by third party carriers.  

Bids will be opened publically and the names of Bidders and pricing will be read aloud.

SECTION 3 - INSTRUCTIONS AND GENERAL REQUIREMENTS

3.1 INSTRUCTIONS

Read this document carefully, and follow all instructions and requirements.  All Bidders are responsible 
for fulfilling all requirements and specifications.  Be sure to have a clear understanding of this IFB.

General requirements apply to all advertised IFBs; however, these may be superseded, in whole or in 
part, by the bid specifications, Addenda and modifications issued as a part of this IFB.  Be sure your Bid 
package is complete.

3.2 AMBIGUITY, CONFLICT, OR OTHER ERRORS IN THIS IFB

If a Bidder discovers any ambiguity, conflict, discrepancy, omission or other error in this IFB, the Bidder 
shall immediately notify the County Purchasing Department of such error in writing and request
modification or clarification of the document.

Modifications will be made by issuing Addenda. If the Bidder fails to notify the County prior to the date
and time fixed for submission of Bids of an error or ambiguity in the IFB known to the Bidder, or an error
or ambiguity that reasonably should have been known to the Bidder, then the Bidder shall be deemed to 
have waived the error or ambiguity or its later resolution.

The County may also modify the IFB, no later than forty-eight (48) hours prior to the date and time fixed
for submission of Bids, by issuance of an Addendum.  All Addenda will be numbered consecutively, 
beginning with one (1).

3.3 NOTIFICATION OF MOST CURRENT ADDRESS

All Bidders in receipt of this IFB shall notify the Williamson County Purchasing Department of any
address changes, contact person changes, and/or telephone number changes no later than forty-eight 
(48) hours prior to the date and time fixed for submission of Bids.

3.4 SIGNATURE OF BIDDER

A. If the Bidder is a Corporation or Limited Liability Company, the legal name of the Corporation
Limited Liability Company shall be provided together with the signature of the officer or officers 
authorized to sign on behalf of such entity.

B. If the Bidder is a General Partnership, the true name of the firm shall be provided with the
signature of each partner authorized to sign.

C. If the Bidder is a Limited Partnership, the name of the Limited Partner ’s General Partner shall
provided with the signature of the officer authorized to sign on behalf of the General Partner.

D. If the Bidder is a Sole Proprietor(s) (individual), each Sole Proprietor(s) shall sign.

E. If signature is by an agent, other than the Sole Proprietor(s) or an officer of a Corporation, Limited 
Liability Company, General Partner or a member of a General Partnership, a power of attorney
equivalent document must be submitted to the Williamson County Purchasing Department.

3.5 ASSUMED BUSINESS NAME

If the Bidder operates business under an Assumed Business Name, the Bidder must have on file with the
Williamson County Clerk a current Assumed Name Certificate and provide a file marked copy of same.

3.6 BID OBLIGATION 

The contents of the IFB, Bid, and any clarification thereof submitted by the Successful Bidder shall
become part of the contractual obligation and incorporated by reference into the Contract and any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

3.7 COMPLIANCE WITH IFB SPECIFICATIONS

It is intended that this IFB describe the requirements and the Bid format in sufficient detail to secure 
comparable Bids.  Failure to comply with all provisions of the IFB may, at the sole discretion of the 
County, result in disqualification.

3.8 WITHDRAWAL OF BID

The Bidder may withdraw its Bid by submitting a written request with the company letterhead and the 
signature of an authorized individual, as described in Section 3.4, Signature of Bidder, to the Williamson 
County Purchasing Department any time prior to the submission deadline.  

The Bidder may submit a new Bid prior to the deadline. Alterations of the Bid in any manner will not be 
considered if submitted after the deadline.  Withdrawal of a Bid after the deadline will be subject to written 
approval of the Williamson County Purchasing Agent.

3.9 EVALUATION AND AWARD

The County reserves the right to use all pertinent information (also learned from sources other than 
disclosed in the Bid process) that might affect the County ’s judgment as to the appropriateness of
award to the lowest and best evaluated Bid. This information may be appended to the Bid evaluation
process results. Information on a Bidder from reliable sources, and not within the Bidder ’s Bid, may also 
be noted and made part of the evaluation fi le.  The County shall have sole discretion for determining 
the reliability of the source.

To ensure the proper and fair evaluation of a solicitation, the County prohibits unsolicited communication 
initiated by the Bidder to the County Official or Employee evaluating or considering the Bids prior to the 
time an award has been made. Unsolicited communication may be ground for disqualifying the 
offending Bidder from consideration or award of the solicitation, or any future solicitation.

Communication between the Bidder and the County will be initiated by the appropriate County Official
Employee in order to obtain information or clarification needed to develop a proper and accurate 
evaluation of the solicitation.

The County intends to award a Contract to the most responsible and responsive Bidder whose Bid will 
be most advantageous to the County. In accordance with Texas Government Code and Local
Government Code, the County may consider, to the extent allowed by law, the following:

A. Price;
B. The Bidder ’s experience and reputation;
C. Quality of the Bidder ’s goods and/or services; 
D. The Bidder ’s safety record;
E. The Bidder ’s proposed personnel; 
F. The Bidder ’s financial capabilities; and 
G. Any other relevant factors specifically listed in this IFB or authorized by law.

3.10 CONDISERATION OF LOCATION OF PRINCIPAL OFFICE 

Pursuant to Texas Local Government Code, Section 271.905 , in purchasing any real property or personal
property that is not affixed to real property, if the County receives one or more Bids from a Bidder whose
principal place of business is in Williamson County and whose Bid is within three (3 )  percent of the
lowest Bid price received by the County from a Bidder who is not a resident of Williamson County, the 
County may enter into a contract with:

A. The lowest Bidder; or the Bidder whose principal place of business is in Williamson County if the
Commissioners Court determines, in writing, that the local Bidder offers the County the best 
combination of contract price and addit ional economic development opportunities
Williamson County created by the contract award, including the employment of residents
Williamson County and increased tax revenues to Williamson County.

It is understood that the Commissioners Court of Williamson County, Texas, reserves the right to accept
or reject any and/or all Bids for any or all goods and/or services covered in this IFB, and to waive
informalities or defects in the Bid or to accept such Bid, if it shall deem to be in the best interest of the 
County.

Awards should be made approximately sixty (60) business days after the Bid opening date. Results may
be obtained by viewing the Williamson County vendor portal at the following link:

http://www.wilco.org/CountyDepartments/Purchasing/SearchforaPastBid/tabid/5213/language/en-
US/Default.aspx

3.11 RESPONSIBILITY 

It is expected that a prospective Bidder will be able to affirmatively demonstrate responsibility.  A 
prospective Bidder should be able to meet the following requirements:

A. Have adequate financial resources, or the ability to obtain such resources as required;
B. Be able to comply with the required or proposed delivery schedule;
C. Have a satisfactory record of performance that can be determined thru references provided; and 
D. Be otherwise qualified and eligible to receive an award.

The County may request representation and other information sufficient to determine the Bidder's ability 
to meet these minimum standards listed above.

3.12 FIRM PRICING 

For unit price items, all of the items listed are to be on a “per unit” basis, stating a firm price per unit or 
unit quantity of each item.  The Bidder must submit a firm price that must be good from the date of Bid 
opening for the fixed period of time set out in this IFB.  Unless the IFB expressly states otherwise, this 
period shall be until the end of the Initial Contract Period.

Bids which do not state a fixed price, or which are subject to change without notice, will not be 
considered.  The Court may award a Contract for the period implied or expressly stated in the lowest and 
best Bid.

3.13 PURCHASE ORDERS

If required by the Williamson County Purchasing Department, a purchase order(s) may be generated to 
the Successful Bidder for goods and/or services.  If a purchase order is issued, the purchase order 
number must appear on all itemized invoices and/or requests for payment.

3.14 SILENCE OF SPECIFICATIONS

The apparent silence of these specifications as to any detail or to the apparent omission from it of a 
detailed description concerning any point, shall be regarded as meaning that only the best practices are 
to prevail.  All interpretations of these specifications shall be made on the basis of this statement.

3.15 REFERENCES

The County may require the Bidder to supply a list of at least three (3) references where like services
and/or goods have been supplied by their firm within the past five (5) years, to include names, titles, 
phone numbers and email addresses of key personnel, and dates of performance.

The County may contact some or all of the references in order to determine the Respondent
performance record on work similar to that described in this RFP.  The County reserves the right to 
contact references other than those provided in the response and to use the information gained from 
them in the evaluation process.

References, if requested, should be provided in accordance with this IFB.  Bid may not be deemed 
complete without the inclusion of requested references.

SECTION 4 - TERMS AND CONDITIONS

4.1 VENUE AND GOVERNING LAW

The Bidder hereby agrees and acknowledges that venue and jurisdiction of any suit, right, or cause of 
action arising out of or in connection with this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s), shall lie 
exclusively in either Williamson County, Texas or in the Austin Division of the Western Federal District of 
Texas, and the parties hereto expressly consent and submit to such jurisdiction.  Furthermore, except to 
the extent that this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) is governed by the laws of the United 
States, this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be governed by and construed in 
accordance with the laws of the State of Texas, excluding, however, its choice of law rules.

4.2 INCORPORATION BY REFERENCE AND PRECEDENCE

A. The Contract shall be derived from the IFB and its Addenda (if applicable), and the Bidder ’ s Bid.  In 
the event of a dispute under the Contract, applicable documents will be referred to for the purpose 
of clarification or for additional detail in the following order of precedence:

1. The IFB and its Addenda (if applicable); and

2. The Bidder ’s Bid.

B. In the event the County requires that an Ensuing Agreement be executed following award and a 
dispute arises between the terms and conditions of the Ensuing Agreement, the IFB and its 
Addenda (if applicable), and the Bidder ’s Bid, applicable documents will be referred to for the 
purpose of clarification or for additional detail in the following order of precedence: 

1. Terms and conditions of the Ensuing Agreement;

2. The IFB its Addenda; and 

3. The Bidder ’s Bid.

4.3 OWNERSHIP OF BID

Each Bid shall become the property of the County upon submittal and will not be returned to Bidders 
unless received after the submittal deadline.

4.4 DISQUALIFICATION OF BIDDER

Upon signing and submittal of the Bid, a Bidder offering to sell supplies, materials, services, or equipment 
to the County, certifies that the Bidder has not violated the antitrust laws of the State of Texas codified in 
Business & Commerce Code, Section 15.01, or the Federal Antitrust Laws, and has not communicated 
directly or indirectly the offer made to any competitor or any other person engaged in such line of 
business.  Any or all Bids may be rejected if the County believes that collusion exists among the Bidders.

4.5 FUNDING

The County intends to budget and make sufficient funds available and authorize funds for expenditure to 
finance the costs of the Contract.  All Bidders understand and agree that the County’s payment of 
amounts under the Contract shall be contingent on the County receiving appropriations or other 
expenditure authority sufficient to allow the County, in the exercise of reasonable administrative 
discretion, to make payments under this Contract.

4.6 ASSIGNMENT, SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS 

The Successful Bidder may not assign, sell, or otherwise transfer the Contract or any other rights or 
interests obtained under the Contract without written permission of the Commissioners Court.  The 
Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the contracting 
parties hereto and their respective successors and permitted assigns.

4.7 IMPLIED REQUIREMENTS

Products or services not specifically described or required in the IFB, but are necessary to provide the 
functional capabilities described by the Bidder, shall be implied and deemed to be included in the Bid.

4.8 TERMINATION

A. Termination for Cause: The County reserves the right to terminate the Contract and/or any 
Ensuing Agreement(s) for default if the Successful Bidder breaches any of the Bid specifications,
terms and conditions, including warranties of the Bidder, if any, or if the Successful Bidder 
becomes insolvent or commits acts of bankruptcy.  Such right of termination is in addition to and
not in lieu of any other remedies the County may have at law or in equity or as may otherwise
provided hereunder.  Default may be construed as, but not limited to, failure to deliver the proper 
goods and/or services within the proper amount of time, and/or to properly perform any and all 
other requirements to the County ’s satisfaction, and/or to meet all other obligations and
requirements.

B. Termination for Convenience: The County may terminate the Contract and/or any Ensuing 
Agreement(s) for convenience and without cause or further liability, upon no less than thirty (30) 
calendar days written notice to the Successful Bidder. The County reserves the right to extend 
this period if it is in the best interest of the County.  In the event the County exercises its right to 
terminate without cause, it is understood and agreed that only the amounts due to the Successful 
Bidder for goods, commodities and/or services provided and expenses incurred to and including 
the date of termination, will be due and payable.  No penalty will be assessed for the County
termination for convenience.

4.9 NON-PERFORMANCE

It is the objective of the County to obtain complete and satisfactory performance of the requirements set 
forth herein.  In addition to any other remedies available at law, in equity or that may be set out herein, 
failure to perform may result in a deduction of payment equal to the amount of the goods and/or services 
that were not provided and/or performed to the County ’s satisfaction.  

In the event of such non-performance, the County shall have the right, but shall not be obligated, to 
complete the services itself or by others and/or purchase the goods from other sources.  If the County 
elects to acquire the goods or perform the services itself or by others, pursuant to the foregoing, the 
Successful Bidder shall reimburse the County, within ten (10) calendar days of demand, for all costs 
incurred by the County (including, without limitation, applicable, general, and administrative expenses, 
and field overhead, and the cost of necessary equipment, materials, and field labor) in correcting the 
nonperformance which the Successful Bidder fails to meet pursuant to the requirements set out herein.  
In the event the Successful Bidder refuses to reimburse the County as set out in this provision, the 
County shall have the right to deduct such reimbursement amounts from any amounts that may be then 
owing or that may become owing in the future to the Successful Bidder.

4.10 PROPRIETARY INFORMATION AND THE TEXAS PUBLIC INFORMATION ACT

All material submitted to the County shall become public property and subject to the Texas Public 
Information Act upon receipt. If a Bidder does not desire proprietary information in the Bid to be 
disclosed, each page must be clearly identified and marked proprietary at time of submittal or, more 
preferably, all proprietary information may be placed in a folder or appendix and be clearly identified and 
marked as being proprietary.  Failure to clearly identify and mark information as being proprietary as set 
forth under this provision will result in all unmarked information being deemed non-proprietary and 
available to the public.  For all information that has not been clearly identified and marked as proprietary 
by the Bidder, the County may choose to place such information on the County ’s website and/or a similar 
public database without obtaining any type of prior consent from the Bidder.

The County will, to the extent allowed by law, endeavor to protect from public disclosure the information 
that has been identified and marked as proprietary.  The final decision as to what information must be 
disclosed, however, lies with the Texas Attorney General.  

To the extent, if any, that any provision in this IFB or in the Bidder ’s Bid is in conflict with Texas 
Government Code, Chapter 552, as amended (the “Public Information Act”), the same shall be of no 
force or effect.  Furthermore, it is expressly understood, and agreed, that the County, and its officers and 
employees, may request advice, decisions and opinions of the Attorney General of the State of Texas in 
regard to the application of the Public Information Act to any items or data furnished to the County as to 
whether or not the same are available to the public.  It is further understood that the County, and its 
officers and employees, shall have the right to rely on the advice, decisions and opinions of the Attorney 
General, and that the County, its officers and employees shall have no liability or obligation to any party 
hereto for the disclosure to the public, or to any person or persons, of any items or data furnished to the 
County by a party hereto, in reliance of any advice, decision or opinion of the Attorney General of the 
State of Texas.

4.11 RIGHT TO AUDIT

The Successful Bidder agrees that the County or its duly authorized representatives shall, until the 
expiration of three (3) years after termination or expiration of the services to be performed, have access 
to and the right to examine and photocopy any and all books, documents, papers and records of the 
Successful Bidder, which are directly pertinent to the services to be performed or goods to be delivered 
for the purposes of making audits, examinations, excerpts and transcriptions.  The Successful Bidder 
agrees that the County shall have access during normal working hours to all necessary facilities and 
shall be provided adequate and appropriate work space in order to conduct audits in compliance with the 
provisions of this section.  The County shall give the Successful Bidder reasonable advance notice of 
intended audits.

4.12 TESTING AND INSPECTIONS

The County reserves the right to inspect and test equipment, supplies, materials and goods for quality 
and compliance with this IFB, and ability to meet the needs of the user.  Demonstration units must be 
available for review.  Should the goods or services fail to meet requirements and/or be unavailable for 
evaluation, the County can deem the Bidder to be in breach and terminate the Contract and/or any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

4.13 BID PREPARATION COSTS

The cost of developing Bids is the sole responsibility of the Bidders and shall not be charged to the 
County.  There is no expressed or implied obligation for the County to reimburse the Bidders for any 
expense incurred in preparing a Bid in response to this IFB and the County will not reimburse the Bidders 
for such expenses.

4.14 INDEMNIFICATION

The Successful Bidder shall indemnify, defend and save harmless, the County, its officials, employees, 
agents and agent ’s employees from, and against, all claims, liability, and expenses including reasonable 
attorneys ’   fees, arising from activities of the Bidder, its agents, servants or employees, performed 
hereunder that result from the negligent act, error, or omission of the Bidder or any of the Bidder
agents, servants or employees, as well as all claims of loss or damage to the Bidder ’s and the County
property, equipment, and/or supplies. 

Furthermore, the County, its officials, employees, agents and agents ’ employees shall not be liable for 
damages to the Successful Bidder arising from any act of any third party, including, but not limited to, 
theft.  The Successful Bidder further agrees to indemnify, defend and save harmless, the County from its 
officials, employee, agents and agents ’ employees against all claims of whatever nature arising from any 
accident, injury, or damage whatsoever, caused to any person, or the property of any person, occurring 
in relation to the Successful Bidder ’s performance of any services requested hereunder during the term 
of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s). 

The Successful Bidder shall timely report all claims, demands, suits, actions, proceedings, liens or 
judgements to the County and shall, upon the receipt of any claim, demand, suit, action, proceeding, lien 

or judgement, not later than the fifteenth (15 th) day of each month; provide the County with a written 
report on each such matter, setting forth the status of each matter, the schedule or planned proceedings 
with respect to each matter and the cooperation or assistance, if any, of the County required by the 
Successful Bidder in the defense of each matter.  The Successful Bidder’s duty to defend, indemnify and 
hold the County harmless shall be absolute.  It shall not abate or end by reason of the expiration or 
termination of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s), unless otherwise agreed by the County in 
writing.  The provisions of this section shall survive the termination of the Contract and shall remain in full 
force and effect with respect to all such matters no matter when they arise. 

In the event of any dispute between the parties, as to whether a claim, demand, suit, action, proceeding, 
lien or judgement, that appears to have been caused by or appears to have arisen out of or in connection 
with acts or omissions of the County, the Bidder shall nevertheless fully defend such claim, demand, suit 
or action, proceeding, lien or judgement, until and unless there is a determination by a court of competent 
jurisdiction that the acts and omissions of the Bidder are not an issue in the matter. 

The Successful Bidder ’s indemnification shall cover, and the Successful Bidder agrees to, indemnify the 
County, in the event the County is found to have been negligent for having selected the Successful 
Bidder to perform the work described in this request.  The provision by the Successful Bidder of 
insurance shall not limit the liability of the Successful Bidder under the Contract and/or any Ensuing 
Agreement(s). 

4.15 WAIVER OF SUBROGATION

The Successful Bidder and the Successful Bidder ’s insurance carrier waive any and all rights 
whatsoever with regard to subrogation against the County as an indirect party to any suit arising out of 
personal or property damages resulting from the Bidder ’s performance under this Contract and any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

4.16 RELATIONSHIP OF THE PARTIES

The Successful Bidder shall be an independent contractor and shall assume all of the rights, obligations, 
liabilities, applicable to it as such independent contractor hereunder and any provisions herein which may 
appear to give the County the right to direct the Successful Bidder as to details of doing work herein 
covered, or to exercise a measure of control over the work, shall be deemed to mean that the Successful 
Bidder shall follow the desires of the County in the results of the work only.  The County shall not retain or 
have the right to control the Successful Bidder ’s means, methods or details pertaining to the Successful 
Bidder ’s performance of the work.  The County and the Successful Bidder hereby agree and declare that 
the Successful Bidder is an independent contractor and as such meets the qualifications of an 
“Independent Contractor” under Texas Workers Compensation Act, Texas Labor Code, Section 406.141, 
that the Successful Bidder is not an employee of  the County, and that the Successful Bidder and its 
employees, agents and subcontractors shall not be entitled to workers compensation coverage or any 
other type of insurance coverage held by the County.

4.17 SOLE PROVIDER

The Successful Bidder agrees and acknowledges that it shall not be considered a sole provider of the 
goods and/or services described herein and that the County may contract with other providers of such 
goods and/or services if the County deems, at its sole discretion, that multiple providers of the same 
goods and/or services will serve the best interest of the County.

4.18 FORCE MAJEURE

If the party obligated to perform is prevented from performance by an act of war, order of legal authority, 
act of God, or other unavoidable cause not attributable to the fault or negligence of said party, the other 
party shall grant such party relief from the performance.  The burden of proof for the need of such relief 
shall rest upon the party obligated to perform.  To obtain release based on force majeure, the party 
obligated to perform shall file a written request with the other party.

4.19 SEVERABILITY

If any provision of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be held invalid or 
unenforceable by any court of competent jurisdiction, such holding shall not invalidate or render 
unenforceable any other provision thereof, but rather the entire IFB, Contract or any Ensuing Agreement
(s) will be construed as if not containing the particular invalid or unenforceable provision or provisions, 
and the rights and obligation of the parties shall be construed and enforced in accordance therewith.  The 
parties acknowledge that if any provision of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) is 
determined to be invalid or unenforceable, it is the desire and intention of each that such provision be 
reformed and construed in such a manner that it will, to the maximum extent practicable, give effect to
the intent of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) and be deemed to be validated and
enforceable.

4.20 EQUAL OPPORTUNITY

Neither party shall discriminate against any employee or applicant for employment because of race, 
color, sex, religion or national origin.

4.21 NOTICE

Any notice to be given shall be in writing and may be distributed by personal delivery, or by registered or 
certified mail, return receipt requested, addressed to the proper party, at the following address:

The County:    Williamson County Purchasing Department 
            Attn: Purchasing Agent 
            901 South Austin Avenue 
            Georgetown, Texas 78626

The Bidder:     Address set out in Bidder’s Transmittal Letter.

Notices given in accordance with this provision shall be effective upon (1) receipt by the party to which 
notice is given, or (2) on the third (3rd) calendar day following mailing, whichever occurs first.

4.22 SALES AND USE TAX EXEMPTION

The County is a body, corporate and politic, under the laws of the State of Texas and claims exemption 
from sales and use taxes under Texas Tax Code, Section 151.309, as amended, and the services and/or 
goods subject hereof are being secured for use by the County.

4.23 COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS

The County and the Successful Bidder shall comply with all federal, state, and local laws, statutes,
ordinances, rules and regulations, and the orders and decrees of any courts or administrative bodies or 
tribunals in any matter affecting the performance of the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s),
including, without limitation, Workers ’ Compensation laws, salary and wage statutes and regulations, 
licensing laws and regulations.  When required, the Successful Bidder shall furnish the County with 
certification of compliance with said laws, statues, ordinances, rules, regulations, orders, and decrees 
above specified.

4.24 INCORPORATION OF EXHIBITS, APPENDICES AND ATTACHMENTS

All of the Exhibits, Appendices and Attachments referred to herein are incorporated by reference as if set 
forth verbatim herein.  Any conflicting terms in the Contract documents will be resolved at the sole 
discretion of the Commissioners Court.

4.25 NO WAIVER OF IMMUNITIES

Nothing herein shall be deemed to waive, modify or amend any legal defense available at law or in equity 
to the County, its past or present officers, employees, or agents, nor to create any legal rights or claim on 
behalf of any third party.  The County does not waive, modify, or alter to any extent whatsoever the 
availability of the defense of governmental immunity under the laws of the State of Texas and of the 
United States.

4.26 NO WAIVER

The failure or delay of any party to enforce at any time or any period of time any of the provisions of this 
IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall not constitute a present or future waiver of such 
provisions nor the right of either party to enforce each and every provision.  Furthermore, no term or 
provision hereof shall be deemed waived and no breach excused unless such waiver or consent shall be 
in writing and signed by the party claimed to have waived or consented.  Any consent by any party to, or 
waiver of, a breach by the other, whether expressed or implied, shall not constitute a consent to, waiver 
of or excuse for any other, different or subsequent breach.

4.27 CURRENT REVENUES

The obligations of the parties under the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) do not constitute a 
general obligation or indebtedness of the County for which the County is obligated to levy, pledge, or 
collect any of taxation.  It is understood and agreed that the County shall have the right to terminate the 
Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) at the end of any the County fiscal year if the governing body of 
the County does not appropriate sufficient funds as determined by the County ’s budget for the fiscal year 
in question.  The County may effect such termination by giving written notice of termination to the 
Successful Bidder at the end of its then-current fiscal year.

4.28 FOB DESTINATION

To the extent applicable to this IFB, all of the items listed are to be Free On Board to final destination 
(FOB Destination) with all transportation charges if applicable to be included in the Bid, unless otherwise 
specified in the Invitation for Bids.  The title and risk of loss of the goods shall not pass to the County until 
receipt and acceptance takes place at the FOB Destination point.

4.29 BINDING EFFECT

This Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties 
and their respective permitted assigns and successors.

4.30 ASSIGNMENT

The Successful Bidder ’s interest and duties hereunder may not be assigned or delegated to a third party 
without the express written consent of the County.

4.31 SAFETY

The Successful Bidder is responsible for initiating, maintaining, and supervising all safety precautions 
and programs in connection with any services to be provided hereunder. The safety program shall 
comply with all applicable requirements of the current federal Occupational Safety and Health Act and all 
other applicable federal, state and local laws and regulations.

4.32 GENERAL OBLIGATIONS AND RELIANCE

The Successful Bidder shall perform all services and/or provide all goods, as well as those reasonably
inferable and necessary for completion and provision of services and/or goods required hereunder. The
Successful Bidder shall keep the County informed of the progress and quality of the services.  The 
Successful Bidder agrees and acknowledges that the County is relying on the Successful Bidder's 
represented expertise and ability to provide the goods and/or services described herein.  The Successful
Bidder agrees to use its best efforts, skill, judgment, and abilities to perform its obligations in accordance
with the highest standards used in the profession and to further the interests of the County 
accordance with the County ’s requirements and procedures.    T h e   Successful Bidder ’s duties,
set forth herein, shall at no time be in any way diminished by reason of any approval by the County, nor
shall the Successful Bidder be released from any liability by reason of such approval by the County, it 
being understood that the County at all times is ultimately relying upon the Successful Bidder ’s skill and 
knowledge in performing the services and providing any goods required hereunder.

4.33 ESTIMATED QUANTITIES

To the extent applicable to this IFB, the estimated quantity of each item listed in this IFB is only
estimate; the actual quantity to be purchased may be more or less. The County is not obligated
purchase any minimum amount, and the County may purchase any reasonable amount greater than the
estimate for the same unit price. Any limit on quantities available must be stated expressly in the Bid.

4.34 CONTRACTUAL DEVELOPMENT

The contents of the IFB and the Successful Bidder ’s Bid will become an integral part of the Contract, but 
may be modified, at the County ’s sole discretion, by provisions of an Ensuing Agreement.  Therefore, the 
Bidder must agree to an inclusion of an Ensuing Agreement of the Bid specifications, terms and 
conditions of this IFB.  If an Ensuing Agreement is required under this IFB, information relative to the 
Agreement will be located in the Special Provisions Section of this IFB.

4.35 SURVIVABILITY 

All applicable agreements that were entered into between the Successful Bidder and the County, under 
the terms and conditions of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s), shall survive the expiration or 
termination thereof for ninety (90) days unless a new contract has been awarded.

The County may exercise, by written notice to the Successful Bidder no later than ten (10) calendar days 
of the Contract expiration, this clause for emergencies only. 

4.36 AIR QUALITY

In determining the overall best Bid, the County may, to the extent applicable, exercise the option granted 
to local governments under the Texas Local Government Code, Section 271.907.

This option allows the County to evaluate Bids and give preference to goods and/or services of a Bidder 
that demonstrates that the Bidder meets or exceeds any and all state or federal environmental 
standards, including voluntary standards, relating to air quality.  If the Bid being submitted will have an 
effect on air quality for the County (as it relates to any state, federal, or voluntary air quality standard), 
then the Bidder is encouraged to provide information in narrative indicating the anticipated air quality 
impact.  All Bidders are expected to meet all mandated state and federal air quality standards.

4.37 ENTIRE AGREEMENT

The Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall supersede all prior Agreements, written or oral 
between the Successful Bidder and the County and shall constitute the entire Agreement and 
understanding between the parties with respect to the services and/or goods to be provided.  Each of the 
provisions herein shall be binding upon the parties and may not be waived, modified, amended or altered, 
except by writing signed by the Successful Bidder and the County.

4.38 PAYMENT

The County ’s payment for goods and services shall be governed by the Texas Government Code, 

Chapter 2251.  An invoice shall be deemed overdue the thirty-first (31st) day after the later of the 
following: 

A. The date the County receives the goods under the Contract; 
B. The date the performance of the service under the Contract is completed; or 
C. The date the Williamson County Auditor receives an invoice for the goods or services.  

Interest charges for any overdue payments shall be paid by the County in accordance with Texas 
Government Code, Section 2251.025.  More specifically, the rate of interest that shall accrue on a late 
payment is the rate in effect on September 1 of the County ’s fiscal year in which the payment becomes 
due.  The said rate in effect on September 1 shall be equal to the sum of one (1) percent, and the prime 

rate published in the Wall Street Journal on the first (1st) day of July of the preceding fiscal year that does 
not fall on a Saturday or Sunday.

In the event that an error appears in an invoice submitted by the Successful Bidder, the County shall 
notify the Successful Bidder of the error not later than the twenty-first (21st) day after the date the County 
receives the invoice.  If the error is resolved in favor of the Successful Bidder, the Successful Bidder 
shall be entitled to receive interest on the unpaid balance of the invoice submitted by the Successful 
Bidder beginning on the date that the payment for the invoice became overdue.  If the error is resolved in 
favor of the County, the Successful Bidder shall submit a corrected invoice that must be paid in 
accordance within the time set forth above.  The unpaid balance accrues interest as provided by the 
Texas Government Code, Chapter 2251, if the corrected invoice is not paid by the appropriate date.

As a minimum, invoices shall include:

A. Name, address, and telephone number of the Successful Bidder and similar information in the 
event the payment is to be made to a different address. 

B. The County Contract, Purchase Order. 

C. Identification of items or service as outlined in the Contract. 

D. Quantity or quantities, applicable unit prices, total prices and total amount. 

E. Any additional payment information which may be called for by the Contract. 

Payment inquiries should be directed to the following address:        

            Williamson County Auditor’s Office, Accounts Payable Department
            Email: accountspayable@wilco.org
            Phone: 512-943-1500

4.39 CONTRACTUAL FORMATION AND ENSUING AGREEMENT

The IFB and the Bidder ’s Bid, when properly accepted by the Commissioners Court, shall constitute a
Contract equally binding between the Successful Bidder and the County.

If an Ensuing Agreement is required by this IFB, that information will be provided in Special 
Provisions section of this IFB.  The Successful Bidder shall be required to execute the Agreement at 
the Williamson County Purchasing Department approximately ten (10) calendar days after the 
Successful Bidder is notified of award.  The Ensuing Agreement shall be in the same form as the 
Agreement which is attached to the end of this IFB.  The only anticipated changes in the Ensuing 
Agreement will be to include additional exhibits, to fill in blanks to identify the Successful Bidder, and 
terms relating to the compensation, or to revise the Agreement to accommodate corrections, changes in 
the scope of services, or changes pursuant to Addenda issued.  Bidders should raise any questions 
regarding the terms of the Agreement in the form of written questions or submittals as 
described in the Public Announcement and General Information portion of this IFB.  Because the 
signed Ensuing Agreement will be substantively and substantially derived from the attached Agreement, 
each Bidder is urged to seek independent legal counsel as to any questions about the terms, conditions 
or provisions contained in the Agreement before submitting a Bid.  Again, the attached Agreement, if 
applicable, contains important legal provisions and is considered part and parcel of this IFB.  Failure or 
refusal to sign aforesaid Agreement shall be grounds for the County to revoke any award which has been 
issued, forfeit Bid security, if applicable, and select another Bidder.

4.40 COOPERATIVE PURCHASING PROGRAM 

During the term of the Contract resulting from this IFB, the County would like to afford the same prices, 
terms and conditions to other political subdivisions or public entities.  Another entity’s participation in the 
Contract resulting from this IFB is subject to a properly authorized Purchasing Cooperative Inter- local 
Agreement with the County.  Any liability created by purchase orders issued against the Contract shall be 
the sole responsibility of the governmental agency placing the order.

4.41 INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS

To the extent applicable Insurance information will appear in the Additional Stipulations section that is in 
this IFB Package. 

4.42 BIDDERS BOND, WARRANTY BOND, PERFORMANCE AND PAYMENT BONDS

To the extent applicable Bond information will appear in the Additional Stipulations section that is in this 
IFB Package. 

4.43 LEGAL LIABILITY INFORMATION

The Successful Bidder shall disclose all legal liability information by listing any pending litigation
anticipated litigation that your firm is involved in including, but not limited to, potential or actual legal
matters with private parties and any local, state, federal or international governmental entities. The
County reserves the right to consider legal liability information in the recommendation of any proposed 
contract to the Commissioners Court.

4.44 INCLEMENT WEATHER

In case of inclement weather or any other unforeseen event causing the County to close for business on 
the date of a Bid submission deadline, the Bid closing will automatically be postponed until the next 
business day the County is open.  If inclement weather conditions or any other unforeseen event causes 
delays in carrier service operations, the County may issue an Addendum to all known Bidders interested 
in the project to extend the deadline.  It will be the responsibility of the Bidder to notify the County of their 
interest in the project if these conditions are impacting their ability to turn in a submission within the 
stated deadline.  The County reserves the right to make the final judgement call to extend any deadline. 

4.45 CONFIDENTIALITY 

The Bidder expressly agrees that it will not use any direct or incidental confidential information that may 
be obtained while working in a governmental setting for its own benefit, and agrees that it will not access 
unauthorized areas or confidential information and it will not disclose any information to unauthorized 
third parties, and will take care to guard the security of the information at all times.

Bid 1704-156Williamson County, Texas

4/6/2017 1:22 PM p. 11



5

6

3 4

Williamson County – Invitation for Bid (IFB)

SECTION 1 - DEFINITIONS 

Addendum/Addenda – means any written or graphic instruments issued by the County prior to the 
consideration of Bids which modify or interpret the Bid Documents by additions, deletions, clarifications, 
or corrections.

Agreement/Ensuing Agreement(s) – means the Successful Bidder may be required by the County to 
sign an additional Agreement containing terms necessary to ensure compliance with the IFB and the 
Bidder ’s Bid.  Such Ensuing Agreement(s) shall contain the Bid specifications, terms and conditions that 
are derived from the IFB.

Bid Documents – means the Legal Notice, IFB including attachments, and any Addenda issued by the 
County prior to the consideration of any Bids.

Bid – means the completed and signed bid form, (sometimes referred to as the Price Sheet), and ALL 
required forms and documentation listed in the IFB package which have been submitted in accordance 
with the terms and conditions described in the IFB package.  A Bid submitted in accordance with this IFB 
is irrevocable during the specified period for evaluation and acceptance of Bids unless a waiver is 
obtained from the Williamson County Purchasing Agent.

Bidder – means a person or entity who submits a Bid in response to this IFB.

Contract – means this IFB and the Bid of the Successful Bidder shall become a Contract between the 
Successful Bidder and the County once the Successful Bidder ’s Bid is properly accepted by the 
Williamson County Commissioners Court.

Commissioner ’s Court – means the Williamson County Commissioners Court. 

County – means Williamson County, a political subdivision of the State of Texas.

Invitation for Bid (IFB) – means this document, together with the attachments thereto and any future 
Addenda issued by the County.

Successful Bidder – means the liable Bidder to whom the County intends to award the Contract.

SECTION 2 - BID FORMAT AND SUBMISSION

2.1 ORGANIZATION OF BID CONTENTS FOR SUBMITTAL 

Each Bid should be organized and items submitted in the order described below: 

A. Transmittal Letter. Please see Section 2.3, Transmittal Letter, for more information. 

B. Price Sheet.

C. Conflict of Interest Questionnaire. Please see Section 2.2, Conflict of Interest, for more 
information in regards to this. Please note that even if you deem there to be no Conflict of Interest, 
this signed questionnaire must be included in your package. 

D. References. Please see Section 3.15, References, for more information. 

E. Bid Affidavit.

F. Form 1295. Please see Section 2.4, Certificate of Interested Parties – Form 1295. 

2.2 CONFLICT OF INTEREST

No public official shall have interest in a Contract, in accordance with Vernon ’s Texas Codes Annotated, 
Local Government Code, Title 5, Subtitle C, Chapter 171, as amended. 

As of January 1, 2006, all Bidders are responsible for complying with Local Government Code, Title 5, 
Subtitle C, Chapter 176.  Additional information may be obtained from the County’s website at the 
following link: 

http://www.wilco.org/CountyDepartments/Purchasing/ConflictofInterestDisclosure/tabid/689/language/en
US/Default.aspx

Each Bidder must disclose any existing or potential conflict of interest relative to the performance of the 
requirements of this IFB.  Examples of potential conflicts of interest may include an existing 
business or personal relationship between the Bidder, its principal, or any affiliate or 
subcontractor with the County or any other entity or person involved in any way with the project 
that is subject to this IFB .  Similarly, any personal or business relationship between the Bidder, the 

principals, or any affiliate or subcontractor with any employee, or official of the County or its suppliers 
must be disclosed.  Any such relationship that might be perceived or represented as a conflict must be 
disclosed. Failure to disclose any such relationship or reveal personal relationships with the County 
employees or officials may be cause for termination. 

The County will decide if an actual or perceived conflict should result in Bid disqualification. 

By submitting a Bid in response to this IFB, all Bidders affirm they have not given, nor intend to give, at 
any time hereafter, any economic opportunity, future employment, gift, loan, gratuity, special discount, 
trip, favor, or service to a the County public servant or any employee, official or representative of same, in 
connection with this procurement. 

Each Bidder must provide a Conflict of Interest Statement with their Bid Package.  Package may 

be deemed incomplete without this form.  

2.3 TRANSMITTAL LETTER

The Bidder should submit a Transmittal Letter that provides the following information: 

A. Name and address of individual or business entity submitting the Bid. 

B. Name, physical address, email address, business and fax number of the Bidder ’s principal 
contact person regarding all contractual matters relating to this IFB.

C. The Bid ’s Federal Employer Identification Number.

D. If the Proposal being submitted will have an effect on air quality for the County (as it relates to any 
state, federal, or voluntary air quality standard), then the Respondent is encouraged to provide
information in narrative indicating the anticipated air quality impact. See Section 4.36, Air Quality 
for more information. 

2.4 CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PARTIES – FORM 1295

As of January 1, 2016, all Successful Bidders are responsible for complying with the Texas Government 
Code, Section 2252.908.  The law states that the County may not enter into certain contracts with a 
Bidder unless the Bidder submits a disclosure of interested parties to the County at the time the Bidder 
submits the signed Contract.  The law applies only to a Contract of the County on or after January 1, 
2016 that either:

A. Requires an action or vote by the Commissioners Court before the Contract may be signed (all 
contracts that fall under the jurisdiction of the Commissioners Court approval, such as contracts 
resulting from an Initiation for Bid (IFB), RFP, Request for Qualifications (RFQ), etc., excluding, 
but not limited to, certain Juvenile Service contracts, contracts funded with Sheriff ’s seized fun 
monies, etc.); or

B. Has a value of at least $1,000,000. 

By January 1, 2016, the Texas Ethics Commission will make available on its website, a new filing 
application that must be used to file Form 1295.  Information regarding how to use the filing application is 
available on the Texas Ethics Commission website at the following link:

https://www.ethics.state.tx.us/whatsnew/elf_info_form1295.htm

A Respondent must:

A. Use the online application to process the required information on Form 1295.

B. Print a copy of the form which will contain a unique certification number.

C. An authorized agent of the Bidder must sign the printed copy of the form.

D. Have the form notarized.

E. File the completed Form 1295 and certification of filing (scanning and emailing form is sufficient) 
with Williamson County Purchasing Agent at the time the signed Contract is submitted for 
approval.

After the Commissioners Court award of the Contract, the County shall notify the Texas Ethics 
Commission, using the Texas Ethics Commission ’s filing application, of the receipt of the filed Form 
1295 and certification of filing not later than the 30th day after the date the Contract binds all parties to the 
Contract. The Texas Ethics Commission will post the completed Form 1295 to its website within seven 
business days after receiving notice from the County.

2.5 ETHICS

The Bidder shall not accept or offer gifts or anything of value nor enter into any business arrangement 
with any employee, official or agent of the County.

2.6 BID SUBMITTAL DEADLINE

The Bid is due no later than the submittal date and time set forth in the Public Announcement and 
General Information listed in this IFB package.  Contents of each Bid shall be submitted in accordance 
with this IFB.

2.7 DELIVERY OF BIDS

The County uses BidSync to distribute and receive Bids and proposals.  It is preferred that Bids
submitted electronically through BidSync; however, Bidders can submit a hard copy.  

Refer to www.bidsync.com for further information on how to submit electronically.

If mailed or delivered in person, Bids and Bid Addenda are to be delivered in sealed envelope on or before
the submittal deadline, as noted in the Public Announcement and General Information listed in this IFB 
package, to:

            Williamson County Purchasing Department
            Attn: Bid Name and Number
            901 South Austin Avenue
            Georgetown, Texas 78626

Also, all Bidders should list their Name and Address, and the Date of the Bid opening on the outside
the box or envelope and note “Sealed Bid Enclosed.” The County will not accept any Bids received after 
the submittal deadline, and shall return such Bids unopened to the Bidder.  The County will not accept 
any responsibility for Bids being delivered by third party carriers.  

Bids will be opened publically and the names of Bidders and pricing will be read aloud.

SECTION 3 - INSTRUCTIONS AND GENERAL REQUIREMENTS

3.1 INSTRUCTIONS

Read this document carefully, and follow all instructions and requirements.  All Bidders are responsible 
for fulfilling all requirements and specifications.  Be sure to have a clear understanding of this IFB.

General requirements apply to all advertised IFBs; however, these may be superseded, in whole or in 
part, by the bid specifications, Addenda and modifications issued as a part of this IFB.  Be sure your Bid 
package is complete.

3.2 AMBIGUITY, CONFLICT, OR OTHER ERRORS IN THIS IFB

If a Bidder discovers any ambiguity, conflict, discrepancy, omission or other error in this IFB, the Bidder 
shall immediately notify the County Purchasing Department of such error in writing and request
modification or clarification of the document.

Modifications will be made by issuing Addenda. If the Bidder fails to notify the County prior to the date
and time fixed for submission of Bids of an error or ambiguity in the IFB known to the Bidder, or an error
or ambiguity that reasonably should have been known to the Bidder, then the Bidder shall be deemed to 
have waived the error or ambiguity or its later resolution.

The County may also modify the IFB, no later than forty-eight (48) hours prior to the date and time fixed
for submission of Bids, by issuance of an Addendum.  All Addenda will be numbered consecutively, 
beginning with one (1).

3.3 NOTIFICATION OF MOST CURRENT ADDRESS

All Bidders in receipt of this IFB shall notify the Williamson County Purchasing Department of any
address changes, contact person changes, and/or telephone number changes no later than forty-eight 
(48) hours prior to the date and time fixed for submission of Bids.

3.4 SIGNATURE OF BIDDER

A. If the Bidder is a Corporation or Limited Liability Company, the legal name of the Corporation
Limited Liability Company shall be provided together with the signature of the officer or officers 
authorized to sign on behalf of such entity.

B. If the Bidder is a General Partnership, the true name of the firm shall be provided with the
signature of each partner authorized to sign.

C. If the Bidder is a Limited Partnership, the name of the Limited Partner ’s General Partner shall
provided with the signature of the officer authorized to sign on behalf of the General Partner.

D. If the Bidder is a Sole Proprietor(s) (individual), each Sole Proprietor(s) shall sign.

E. If signature is by an agent, other than the Sole Proprietor(s) or an officer of a Corporation, Limited 
Liability Company, General Partner or a member of a General Partnership, a power of attorney
equivalent document must be submitted to the Williamson County Purchasing Department.

3.5 ASSUMED BUSINESS NAME

If the Bidder operates business under an Assumed Business Name, the Bidder must have on file with the
Williamson County Clerk a current Assumed Name Certificate and provide a file marked copy of same.

3.6 BID OBLIGATION 

The contents of the IFB, Bid, and any clarification thereof submitted by the Successful Bidder shall
become part of the contractual obligation and incorporated by reference into the Contract and any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

3.7 COMPLIANCE WITH IFB SPECIFICATIONS

It is intended that this IFB describe the requirements and the Bid format in sufficient detail to secure 
comparable Bids.  Failure to comply with all provisions of the IFB may, at the sole discretion of the 
County, result in disqualification.

3.8 WITHDRAWAL OF BID

The Bidder may withdraw its Bid by submitting a written request with the company letterhead and the 
signature of an authorized individual, as described in Section 3.4, Signature of Bidder, to the Williamson 
County Purchasing Department any time prior to the submission deadline.  

The Bidder may submit a new Bid prior to the deadline. Alterations of the Bid in any manner will not be 
considered if submitted after the deadline.  Withdrawal of a Bid after the deadline will be subject to written 
approval of the Williamson County Purchasing Agent.

3.9 EVALUATION AND AWARD

The County reserves the right to use all pertinent information (also learned from sources other than 
disclosed in the Bid process) that might affect the County ’s judgment as to the appropriateness of
award to the lowest and best evaluated Bid. This information may be appended to the Bid evaluation
process results. Information on a Bidder from reliable sources, and not within the Bidder ’s Bid, may also 
be noted and made part of the evaluation fi le.  The County shall have sole discretion for determining 
the reliability of the source.

To ensure the proper and fair evaluation of a solicitation, the County prohibits unsolicited communication 
initiated by the Bidder to the County Official or Employee evaluating or considering the Bids prior to the 
time an award has been made. Unsolicited communication may be ground for disqualifying the 
offending Bidder from consideration or award of the solicitation, or any future solicitation.

Communication between the Bidder and the County will be initiated by the appropriate County Official
Employee in order to obtain information or clarification needed to develop a proper and accurate 
evaluation of the solicitation.

The County intends to award a Contract to the most responsible and responsive Bidder whose Bid will 
be most advantageous to the County. In accordance with Texas Government Code and Local
Government Code, the County may consider, to the extent allowed by law, the following:

A. Price;
B. The Bidder ’s experience and reputation;
C. Quality of the Bidder ’s goods and/or services; 
D. The Bidder ’s safety record;
E. The Bidder ’s proposed personnel; 
F. The Bidder ’s financial capabilities; and 
G. Any other relevant factors specifically listed in this IFB or authorized by law.

3.10 CONDISERATION OF LOCATION OF PRINCIPAL OFFICE 

Pursuant to Texas Local Government Code, Section 271.905 , in purchasing any real property or personal
property that is not affixed to real property, if the County receives one or more Bids from a Bidder whose
principal place of business is in Williamson County and whose Bid is within three (3 )  percent of the
lowest Bid price received by the County from a Bidder who is not a resident of Williamson County, the 
County may enter into a contract with:

A. The lowest Bidder; or the Bidder whose principal place of business is in Williamson County if the
Commissioners Court determines, in writing, that the local Bidder offers the County the best 
combination of contract price and addit ional economic development opportunities
Williamson County created by the contract award, including the employment of residents
Williamson County and increased tax revenues to Williamson County.

It is understood that the Commissioners Court of Williamson County, Texas, reserves the right to accept
or reject any and/or all Bids for any or all goods and/or services covered in this IFB, and to waive
informalities or defects in the Bid or to accept such Bid, if it shall deem to be in the best interest of the 
County.

Awards should be made approximately sixty (60) business days after the Bid opening date. Results may
be obtained by viewing the Williamson County vendor portal at the following link:

http://www.wilco.org/CountyDepartments/Purchasing/SearchforaPastBid/tabid/5213/language/en-
US/Default.aspx

3.11 RESPONSIBILITY 

It is expected that a prospective Bidder will be able to affirmatively demonstrate responsibility.  A 
prospective Bidder should be able to meet the following requirements:

A. Have adequate financial resources, or the ability to obtain such resources as required;
B. Be able to comply with the required or proposed delivery schedule;
C. Have a satisfactory record of performance that can be determined thru references provided; and 
D. Be otherwise qualified and eligible to receive an award.

The County may request representation and other information sufficient to determine the Bidder's ability 
to meet these minimum standards listed above.

3.12 FIRM PRICING 

For unit price items, all of the items listed are to be on a “per unit” basis, stating a firm price per unit or 
unit quantity of each item.  The Bidder must submit a firm price that must be good from the date of Bid 
opening for the fixed period of time set out in this IFB.  Unless the IFB expressly states otherwise, this 
period shall be until the end of the Initial Contract Period.

Bids which do not state a fixed price, or which are subject to change without notice, will not be 
considered.  The Court may award a Contract for the period implied or expressly stated in the lowest and 
best Bid.

3.13 PURCHASE ORDERS

If required by the Williamson County Purchasing Department, a purchase order(s) may be generated to 
the Successful Bidder for goods and/or services.  If a purchase order is issued, the purchase order 
number must appear on all itemized invoices and/or requests for payment.

3.14 SILENCE OF SPECIFICATIONS

The apparent silence of these specifications as to any detail or to the apparent omission from it of a 
detailed description concerning any point, shall be regarded as meaning that only the best practices are 
to prevail.  All interpretations of these specifications shall be made on the basis of this statement.

3.15 REFERENCES

The County may require the Bidder to supply a list of at least three (3) references where like services
and/or goods have been supplied by their firm within the past five (5) years, to include names, titles, 
phone numbers and email addresses of key personnel, and dates of performance.

The County may contact some or all of the references in order to determine the Respondent
performance record on work similar to that described in this RFP.  The County reserves the right to 
contact references other than those provided in the response and to use the information gained from 
them in the evaluation process.

References, if requested, should be provided in accordance with this IFB.  Bid may not be deemed 
complete without the inclusion of requested references.

SECTION 4 - TERMS AND CONDITIONS

4.1 VENUE AND GOVERNING LAW

The Bidder hereby agrees and acknowledges that venue and jurisdiction of any suit, right, or cause of 
action arising out of or in connection with this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s), shall lie 
exclusively in either Williamson County, Texas or in the Austin Division of the Western Federal District of 
Texas, and the parties hereto expressly consent and submit to such jurisdiction.  Furthermore, except to 
the extent that this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) is governed by the laws of the United 
States, this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be governed by and construed in 
accordance with the laws of the State of Texas, excluding, however, its choice of law rules.

4.2 INCORPORATION BY REFERENCE AND PRECEDENCE

A. The Contract shall be derived from the IFB and its Addenda (if applicable), and the Bidder ’ s Bid.  In 
the event of a dispute under the Contract, applicable documents will be referred to for the purpose 
of clarification or for additional detail in the following order of precedence:

1. The IFB and its Addenda (if applicable); and

2. The Bidder ’s Bid.

B. In the event the County requires that an Ensuing Agreement be executed following award and a 
dispute arises between the terms and conditions of the Ensuing Agreement, the IFB and its 
Addenda (if applicable), and the Bidder ’s Bid, applicable documents will be referred to for the 
purpose of clarification or for additional detail in the following order of precedence: 

1. Terms and conditions of the Ensuing Agreement;

2. The IFB its Addenda; and 

3. The Bidder ’s Bid.

4.3 OWNERSHIP OF BID

Each Bid shall become the property of the County upon submittal and will not be returned to Bidders 
unless received after the submittal deadline.

4.4 DISQUALIFICATION OF BIDDER

Upon signing and submittal of the Bid, a Bidder offering to sell supplies, materials, services, or equipment 
to the County, certifies that the Bidder has not violated the antitrust laws of the State of Texas codified in 
Business & Commerce Code, Section 15.01, or the Federal Antitrust Laws, and has not communicated 
directly or indirectly the offer made to any competitor or any other person engaged in such line of 
business.  Any or all Bids may be rejected if the County believes that collusion exists among the Bidders.

4.5 FUNDING

The County intends to budget and make sufficient funds available and authorize funds for expenditure to 
finance the costs of the Contract.  All Bidders understand and agree that the County’s payment of 
amounts under the Contract shall be contingent on the County receiving appropriations or other 
expenditure authority sufficient to allow the County, in the exercise of reasonable administrative 
discretion, to make payments under this Contract.

4.6 ASSIGNMENT, SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS 

The Successful Bidder may not assign, sell, or otherwise transfer the Contract or any other rights or 
interests obtained under the Contract without written permission of the Commissioners Court.  The 
Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the contracting 
parties hereto and their respective successors and permitted assigns.

4.7 IMPLIED REQUIREMENTS

Products or services not specifically described or required in the IFB, but are necessary to provide the 
functional capabilities described by the Bidder, shall be implied and deemed to be included in the Bid.

4.8 TERMINATION

A. Termination for Cause: The County reserves the right to terminate the Contract and/or any 
Ensuing Agreement(s) for default if the Successful Bidder breaches any of the Bid specifications,
terms and conditions, including warranties of the Bidder, if any, or if the Successful Bidder 
becomes insolvent or commits acts of bankruptcy.  Such right of termination is in addition to and
not in lieu of any other remedies the County may have at law or in equity or as may otherwise
provided hereunder.  Default may be construed as, but not limited to, failure to deliver the proper 
goods and/or services within the proper amount of time, and/or to properly perform any and all 
other requirements to the County ’s satisfaction, and/or to meet all other obligations and
requirements.

B. Termination for Convenience: The County may terminate the Contract and/or any Ensuing 
Agreement(s) for convenience and without cause or further liability, upon no less than thirty (30) 
calendar days written notice to the Successful Bidder. The County reserves the right to extend 
this period if it is in the best interest of the County.  In the event the County exercises its right to 
terminate without cause, it is understood and agreed that only the amounts due to the Successful 
Bidder for goods, commodities and/or services provided and expenses incurred to and including 
the date of termination, will be due and payable.  No penalty will be assessed for the County
termination for convenience.

4.9 NON-PERFORMANCE

It is the objective of the County to obtain complete and satisfactory performance of the requirements set 
forth herein.  In addition to any other remedies available at law, in equity or that may be set out herein, 
failure to perform may result in a deduction of payment equal to the amount of the goods and/or services 
that were not provided and/or performed to the County ’s satisfaction.  

In the event of such non-performance, the County shall have the right, but shall not be obligated, to 
complete the services itself or by others and/or purchase the goods from other sources.  If the County 
elects to acquire the goods or perform the services itself or by others, pursuant to the foregoing, the 
Successful Bidder shall reimburse the County, within ten (10) calendar days of demand, for all costs 
incurred by the County (including, without limitation, applicable, general, and administrative expenses, 
and field overhead, and the cost of necessary equipment, materials, and field labor) in correcting the 
nonperformance which the Successful Bidder fails to meet pursuant to the requirements set out herein.  
In the event the Successful Bidder refuses to reimburse the County as set out in this provision, the 
County shall have the right to deduct such reimbursement amounts from any amounts that may be then 
owing or that may become owing in the future to the Successful Bidder.

4.10 PROPRIETARY INFORMATION AND THE TEXAS PUBLIC INFORMATION ACT

All material submitted to the County shall become public property and subject to the Texas Public 
Information Act upon receipt. If a Bidder does not desire proprietary information in the Bid to be 
disclosed, each page must be clearly identified and marked proprietary at time of submittal or, more 
preferably, all proprietary information may be placed in a folder or appendix and be clearly identified and 
marked as being proprietary.  Failure to clearly identify and mark information as being proprietary as set 
forth under this provision will result in all unmarked information being deemed non-proprietary and 
available to the public.  For all information that has not been clearly identified and marked as proprietary 
by the Bidder, the County may choose to place such information on the County ’s website and/or a similar 
public database without obtaining any type of prior consent from the Bidder.

The County will, to the extent allowed by law, endeavor to protect from public disclosure the information 
that has been identified and marked as proprietary.  The final decision as to what information must be 
disclosed, however, lies with the Texas Attorney General.  

To the extent, if any, that any provision in this IFB or in the Bidder ’s Bid is in conflict with Texas 
Government Code, Chapter 552, as amended (the “Public Information Act”), the same shall be of no 
force or effect.  Furthermore, it is expressly understood, and agreed, that the County, and its officers and 
employees, may request advice, decisions and opinions of the Attorney General of the State of Texas in 
regard to the application of the Public Information Act to any items or data furnished to the County as to 
whether or not the same are available to the public.  It is further understood that the County, and its 
officers and employees, shall have the right to rely on the advice, decisions and opinions of the Attorney 
General, and that the County, its officers and employees shall have no liability or obligation to any party 
hereto for the disclosure to the public, or to any person or persons, of any items or data furnished to the 
County by a party hereto, in reliance of any advice, decision or opinion of the Attorney General of the 
State of Texas.

4.11 RIGHT TO AUDIT

The Successful Bidder agrees that the County or its duly authorized representatives shall, until the 
expiration of three (3) years after termination or expiration of the services to be performed, have access 
to and the right to examine and photocopy any and all books, documents, papers and records of the 
Successful Bidder, which are directly pertinent to the services to be performed or goods to be delivered 
for the purposes of making audits, examinations, excerpts and transcriptions.  The Successful Bidder 
agrees that the County shall have access during normal working hours to all necessary facilities and 
shall be provided adequate and appropriate work space in order to conduct audits in compliance with the 
provisions of this section.  The County shall give the Successful Bidder reasonable advance notice of 
intended audits.

4.12 TESTING AND INSPECTIONS

The County reserves the right to inspect and test equipment, supplies, materials and goods for quality 
and compliance with this IFB, and ability to meet the needs of the user.  Demonstration units must be 
available for review.  Should the goods or services fail to meet requirements and/or be unavailable for 
evaluation, the County can deem the Bidder to be in breach and terminate the Contract and/or any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

4.13 BID PREPARATION COSTS

The cost of developing Bids is the sole responsibility of the Bidders and shall not be charged to the 
County.  There is no expressed or implied obligation for the County to reimburse the Bidders for any 
expense incurred in preparing a Bid in response to this IFB and the County will not reimburse the Bidders 
for such expenses.

4.14 INDEMNIFICATION

The Successful Bidder shall indemnify, defend and save harmless, the County, its officials, employees, 
agents and agent ’s employees from, and against, all claims, liability, and expenses including reasonable 
attorneys ’   fees, arising from activities of the Bidder, its agents, servants or employees, performed 
hereunder that result from the negligent act, error, or omission of the Bidder or any of the Bidder
agents, servants or employees, as well as all claims of loss or damage to the Bidder ’s and the County
property, equipment, and/or supplies. 

Furthermore, the County, its officials, employees, agents and agents ’ employees shall not be liable for 
damages to the Successful Bidder arising from any act of any third party, including, but not limited to, 
theft.  The Successful Bidder further agrees to indemnify, defend and save harmless, the County from its 
officials, employee, agents and agents ’ employees against all claims of whatever nature arising from any 
accident, injury, or damage whatsoever, caused to any person, or the property of any person, occurring 
in relation to the Successful Bidder ’s performance of any services requested hereunder during the term 
of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s). 

The Successful Bidder shall timely report all claims, demands, suits, actions, proceedings, liens or 
judgements to the County and shall, upon the receipt of any claim, demand, suit, action, proceeding, lien 

or judgement, not later than the fifteenth (15 th) day of each month; provide the County with a written 
report on each such matter, setting forth the status of each matter, the schedule or planned proceedings 
with respect to each matter and the cooperation or assistance, if any, of the County required by the 
Successful Bidder in the defense of each matter.  The Successful Bidder’s duty to defend, indemnify and 
hold the County harmless shall be absolute.  It shall not abate or end by reason of the expiration or 
termination of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s), unless otherwise agreed by the County in 
writing.  The provisions of this section shall survive the termination of the Contract and shall remain in full 
force and effect with respect to all such matters no matter when they arise. 

In the event of any dispute between the parties, as to whether a claim, demand, suit, action, proceeding, 
lien or judgement, that appears to have been caused by or appears to have arisen out of or in connection 
with acts or omissions of the County, the Bidder shall nevertheless fully defend such claim, demand, suit 
or action, proceeding, lien or judgement, until and unless there is a determination by a court of competent 
jurisdiction that the acts and omissions of the Bidder are not an issue in the matter. 

The Successful Bidder ’s indemnification shall cover, and the Successful Bidder agrees to, indemnify the 
County, in the event the County is found to have been negligent for having selected the Successful 
Bidder to perform the work described in this request.  The provision by the Successful Bidder of 
insurance shall not limit the liability of the Successful Bidder under the Contract and/or any Ensuing 
Agreement(s). 

4.15 WAIVER OF SUBROGATION

The Successful Bidder and the Successful Bidder ’s insurance carrier waive any and all rights 
whatsoever with regard to subrogation against the County as an indirect party to any suit arising out of 
personal or property damages resulting from the Bidder ’s performance under this Contract and any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

4.16 RELATIONSHIP OF THE PARTIES

The Successful Bidder shall be an independent contractor and shall assume all of the rights, obligations, 
liabilities, applicable to it as such independent contractor hereunder and any provisions herein which may 
appear to give the County the right to direct the Successful Bidder as to details of doing work herein 
covered, or to exercise a measure of control over the work, shall be deemed to mean that the Successful 
Bidder shall follow the desires of the County in the results of the work only.  The County shall not retain or 
have the right to control the Successful Bidder ’s means, methods or details pertaining to the Successful 
Bidder ’s performance of the work.  The County and the Successful Bidder hereby agree and declare that 
the Successful Bidder is an independent contractor and as such meets the qualifications of an 
“Independent Contractor” under Texas Workers Compensation Act, Texas Labor Code, Section 406.141, 
that the Successful Bidder is not an employee of  the County, and that the Successful Bidder and its 
employees, agents and subcontractors shall not be entitled to workers compensation coverage or any 
other type of insurance coverage held by the County.

4.17 SOLE PROVIDER

The Successful Bidder agrees and acknowledges that it shall not be considered a sole provider of the 
goods and/or services described herein and that the County may contract with other providers of such 
goods and/or services if the County deems, at its sole discretion, that multiple providers of the same 
goods and/or services will serve the best interest of the County.

4.18 FORCE MAJEURE

If the party obligated to perform is prevented from performance by an act of war, order of legal authority, 
act of God, or other unavoidable cause not attributable to the fault or negligence of said party, the other 
party shall grant such party relief from the performance.  The burden of proof for the need of such relief 
shall rest upon the party obligated to perform.  To obtain release based on force majeure, the party 
obligated to perform shall file a written request with the other party.

4.19 SEVERABILITY

If any provision of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be held invalid or 
unenforceable by any court of competent jurisdiction, such holding shall not invalidate or render 
unenforceable any other provision thereof, but rather the entire IFB, Contract or any Ensuing Agreement
(s) will be construed as if not containing the particular invalid or unenforceable provision or provisions, 
and the rights and obligation of the parties shall be construed and enforced in accordance therewith.  The 
parties acknowledge that if any provision of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) is 
determined to be invalid or unenforceable, it is the desire and intention of each that such provision be 
reformed and construed in such a manner that it will, to the maximum extent practicable, give effect to
the intent of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) and be deemed to be validated and
enforceable.

4.20 EQUAL OPPORTUNITY

Neither party shall discriminate against any employee or applicant for employment because of race, 
color, sex, religion or national origin.

4.21 NOTICE

Any notice to be given shall be in writing and may be distributed by personal delivery, or by registered or 
certified mail, return receipt requested, addressed to the proper party, at the following address:

The County:    Williamson County Purchasing Department 
            Attn: Purchasing Agent 
            901 South Austin Avenue 
            Georgetown, Texas 78626

The Bidder:     Address set out in Bidder’s Transmittal Letter.

Notices given in accordance with this provision shall be effective upon (1) receipt by the party to which 
notice is given, or (2) on the third (3rd) calendar day following mailing, whichever occurs first.

4.22 SALES AND USE TAX EXEMPTION

The County is a body, corporate and politic, under the laws of the State of Texas and claims exemption 
from sales and use taxes under Texas Tax Code, Section 151.309, as amended, and the services and/or 
goods subject hereof are being secured for use by the County.

4.23 COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS

The County and the Successful Bidder shall comply with all federal, state, and local laws, statutes,
ordinances, rules and regulations, and the orders and decrees of any courts or administrative bodies or 
tribunals in any matter affecting the performance of the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s),
including, without limitation, Workers ’ Compensation laws, salary and wage statutes and regulations, 
licensing laws and regulations.  When required, the Successful Bidder shall furnish the County with 
certification of compliance with said laws, statues, ordinances, rules, regulations, orders, and decrees 
above specified.

4.24 INCORPORATION OF EXHIBITS, APPENDICES AND ATTACHMENTS

All of the Exhibits, Appendices and Attachments referred to herein are incorporated by reference as if set 
forth verbatim herein.  Any conflicting terms in the Contract documents will be resolved at the sole 
discretion of the Commissioners Court.

4.25 NO WAIVER OF IMMUNITIES

Nothing herein shall be deemed to waive, modify or amend any legal defense available at law or in equity 
to the County, its past or present officers, employees, or agents, nor to create any legal rights or claim on 
behalf of any third party.  The County does not waive, modify, or alter to any extent whatsoever the 
availability of the defense of governmental immunity under the laws of the State of Texas and of the 
United States.

4.26 NO WAIVER

The failure or delay of any party to enforce at any time or any period of time any of the provisions of this 
IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall not constitute a present or future waiver of such 
provisions nor the right of either party to enforce each and every provision.  Furthermore, no term or 
provision hereof shall be deemed waived and no breach excused unless such waiver or consent shall be 
in writing and signed by the party claimed to have waived or consented.  Any consent by any party to, or 
waiver of, a breach by the other, whether expressed or implied, shall not constitute a consent to, waiver 
of or excuse for any other, different or subsequent breach.

4.27 CURRENT REVENUES

The obligations of the parties under the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) do not constitute a 
general obligation or indebtedness of the County for which the County is obligated to levy, pledge, or 
collect any of taxation.  It is understood and agreed that the County shall have the right to terminate the 
Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) at the end of any the County fiscal year if the governing body of 
the County does not appropriate sufficient funds as determined by the County ’s budget for the fiscal year 
in question.  The County may effect such termination by giving written notice of termination to the 
Successful Bidder at the end of its then-current fiscal year.

4.28 FOB DESTINATION

To the extent applicable to this IFB, all of the items listed are to be Free On Board to final destination 
(FOB Destination) with all transportation charges if applicable to be included in the Bid, unless otherwise 
specified in the Invitation for Bids.  The title and risk of loss of the goods shall not pass to the County until 
receipt and acceptance takes place at the FOB Destination point.

4.29 BINDING EFFECT

This Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties 
and their respective permitted assigns and successors.

4.30 ASSIGNMENT

The Successful Bidder ’s interest and duties hereunder may not be assigned or delegated to a third party 
without the express written consent of the County.

4.31 SAFETY

The Successful Bidder is responsible for initiating, maintaining, and supervising all safety precautions 
and programs in connection with any services to be provided hereunder. The safety program shall 
comply with all applicable requirements of the current federal Occupational Safety and Health Act and all 
other applicable federal, state and local laws and regulations.

4.32 GENERAL OBLIGATIONS AND RELIANCE

The Successful Bidder shall perform all services and/or provide all goods, as well as those reasonably
inferable and necessary for completion and provision of services and/or goods required hereunder. The
Successful Bidder shall keep the County informed of the progress and quality of the services.  The 
Successful Bidder agrees and acknowledges that the County is relying on the Successful Bidder's 
represented expertise and ability to provide the goods and/or services described herein.  The Successful
Bidder agrees to use its best efforts, skill, judgment, and abilities to perform its obligations in accordance
with the highest standards used in the profession and to further the interests of the County 
accordance with the County ’s requirements and procedures.    T h e   Successful Bidder ’s duties,
set forth herein, shall at no time be in any way diminished by reason of any approval by the County, nor
shall the Successful Bidder be released from any liability by reason of such approval by the County, it 
being understood that the County at all times is ultimately relying upon the Successful Bidder ’s skill and 
knowledge in performing the services and providing any goods required hereunder.

4.33 ESTIMATED QUANTITIES

To the extent applicable to this IFB, the estimated quantity of each item listed in this IFB is only
estimate; the actual quantity to be purchased may be more or less. The County is not obligated
purchase any minimum amount, and the County may purchase any reasonable amount greater than the
estimate for the same unit price. Any limit on quantities available must be stated expressly in the Bid.

4.34 CONTRACTUAL DEVELOPMENT

The contents of the IFB and the Successful Bidder ’s Bid will become an integral part of the Contract, but 
may be modified, at the County ’s sole discretion, by provisions of an Ensuing Agreement.  Therefore, the 
Bidder must agree to an inclusion of an Ensuing Agreement of the Bid specifications, terms and 
conditions of this IFB.  If an Ensuing Agreement is required under this IFB, information relative to the 
Agreement will be located in the Special Provisions Section of this IFB.

4.35 SURVIVABILITY 

All applicable agreements that were entered into between the Successful Bidder and the County, under 
the terms and conditions of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s), shall survive the expiration or 
termination thereof for ninety (90) days unless a new contract has been awarded.

The County may exercise, by written notice to the Successful Bidder no later than ten (10) calendar days 
of the Contract expiration, this clause for emergencies only. 

4.36 AIR QUALITY

In determining the overall best Bid, the County may, to the extent applicable, exercise the option granted 
to local governments under the Texas Local Government Code, Section 271.907.

This option allows the County to evaluate Bids and give preference to goods and/or services of a Bidder 
that demonstrates that the Bidder meets or exceeds any and all state or federal environmental 
standards, including voluntary standards, relating to air quality.  If the Bid being submitted will have an 
effect on air quality for the County (as it relates to any state, federal, or voluntary air quality standard), 
then the Bidder is encouraged to provide information in narrative indicating the anticipated air quality 
impact.  All Bidders are expected to meet all mandated state and federal air quality standards.

4.37 ENTIRE AGREEMENT

The Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall supersede all prior Agreements, written or oral 
between the Successful Bidder and the County and shall constitute the entire Agreement and 
understanding between the parties with respect to the services and/or goods to be provided.  Each of the 
provisions herein shall be binding upon the parties and may not be waived, modified, amended or altered, 
except by writing signed by the Successful Bidder and the County.

4.38 PAYMENT

The County ’s payment for goods and services shall be governed by the Texas Government Code, 

Chapter 2251.  An invoice shall be deemed overdue the thirty-first (31st) day after the later of the 
following: 

A. The date the County receives the goods under the Contract; 
B. The date the performance of the service under the Contract is completed; or 
C. The date the Williamson County Auditor receives an invoice for the goods or services.  

Interest charges for any overdue payments shall be paid by the County in accordance with Texas 
Government Code, Section 2251.025.  More specifically, the rate of interest that shall accrue on a late 
payment is the rate in effect on September 1 of the County ’s fiscal year in which the payment becomes 
due.  The said rate in effect on September 1 shall be equal to the sum of one (1) percent, and the prime 

rate published in the Wall Street Journal on the first (1st) day of July of the preceding fiscal year that does 
not fall on a Saturday or Sunday.

In the event that an error appears in an invoice submitted by the Successful Bidder, the County shall 
notify the Successful Bidder of the error not later than the twenty-first (21st) day after the date the County 
receives the invoice.  If the error is resolved in favor of the Successful Bidder, the Successful Bidder 
shall be entitled to receive interest on the unpaid balance of the invoice submitted by the Successful 
Bidder beginning on the date that the payment for the invoice became overdue.  If the error is resolved in 
favor of the County, the Successful Bidder shall submit a corrected invoice that must be paid in 
accordance within the time set forth above.  The unpaid balance accrues interest as provided by the 
Texas Government Code, Chapter 2251, if the corrected invoice is not paid by the appropriate date.

As a minimum, invoices shall include:

A. Name, address, and telephone number of the Successful Bidder and similar information in the 
event the payment is to be made to a different address. 

B. The County Contract, Purchase Order. 

C. Identification of items or service as outlined in the Contract. 

D. Quantity or quantities, applicable unit prices, total prices and total amount. 

E. Any additional payment information which may be called for by the Contract. 

Payment inquiries should be directed to the following address:        

            Williamson County Auditor’s Office, Accounts Payable Department
            Email: accountspayable@wilco.org
            Phone: 512-943-1500

4.39 CONTRACTUAL FORMATION AND ENSUING AGREEMENT

The IFB and the Bidder ’s Bid, when properly accepted by the Commissioners Court, shall constitute a
Contract equally binding between the Successful Bidder and the County.

If an Ensuing Agreement is required by this IFB, that information will be provided in Special 
Provisions section of this IFB.  The Successful Bidder shall be required to execute the Agreement at 
the Williamson County Purchasing Department approximately ten (10) calendar days after the 
Successful Bidder is notified of award.  The Ensuing Agreement shall be in the same form as the 
Agreement which is attached to the end of this IFB.  The only anticipated changes in the Ensuing 
Agreement will be to include additional exhibits, to fill in blanks to identify the Successful Bidder, and 
terms relating to the compensation, or to revise the Agreement to accommodate corrections, changes in 
the scope of services, or changes pursuant to Addenda issued.  Bidders should raise any questions 
regarding the terms of the Agreement in the form of written questions or submittals as 
described in the Public Announcement and General Information portion of this IFB.  Because the 
signed Ensuing Agreement will be substantively and substantially derived from the attached Agreement, 
each Bidder is urged to seek independent legal counsel as to any questions about the terms, conditions 
or provisions contained in the Agreement before submitting a Bid.  Again, the attached Agreement, if 
applicable, contains important legal provisions and is considered part and parcel of this IFB.  Failure or 
refusal to sign aforesaid Agreement shall be grounds for the County to revoke any award which has been 
issued, forfeit Bid security, if applicable, and select another Bidder.

4.40 COOPERATIVE PURCHASING PROGRAM 

During the term of the Contract resulting from this IFB, the County would like to afford the same prices, 
terms and conditions to other political subdivisions or public entities.  Another entity’s participation in the 
Contract resulting from this IFB is subject to a properly authorized Purchasing Cooperative Inter- local 
Agreement with the County.  Any liability created by purchase orders issued against the Contract shall be 
the sole responsibility of the governmental agency placing the order.

4.41 INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS

To the extent applicable Insurance information will appear in the Additional Stipulations section that is in 
this IFB Package. 

4.42 BIDDERS BOND, WARRANTY BOND, PERFORMANCE AND PAYMENT BONDS

To the extent applicable Bond information will appear in the Additional Stipulations section that is in this 
IFB Package. 

4.43 LEGAL LIABILITY INFORMATION

The Successful Bidder shall disclose all legal liability information by listing any pending litigation
anticipated litigation that your firm is involved in including, but not limited to, potential or actual legal
matters with private parties and any local, state, federal or international governmental entities. The
County reserves the right to consider legal liability information in the recommendation of any proposed 
contract to the Commissioners Court.

4.44 INCLEMENT WEATHER

In case of inclement weather or any other unforeseen event causing the County to close for business on 
the date of a Bid submission deadline, the Bid closing will automatically be postponed until the next 
business day the County is open.  If inclement weather conditions or any other unforeseen event causes 
delays in carrier service operations, the County may issue an Addendum to all known Bidders interested 
in the project to extend the deadline.  It will be the responsibility of the Bidder to notify the County of their 
interest in the project if these conditions are impacting their ability to turn in a submission within the 
stated deadline.  The County reserves the right to make the final judgement call to extend any deadline. 

4.45 CONFIDENTIALITY 

The Bidder expressly agrees that it will not use any direct or incidental confidential information that may 
be obtained while working in a governmental setting for its own benefit, and agrees that it will not access 
unauthorized areas or confidential information and it will not disclose any information to unauthorized 
third parties, and will take care to guard the security of the information at all times.

Bid 1704-156Williamson County, Texas

4/6/2017 1:22 PM p. 12



5

6

3 4

Williamson County – Invitation for Bid (IFB)

SECTION 1 - DEFINITIONS 

Addendum/Addenda – means any written or graphic instruments issued by the County prior to the 
consideration of Bids which modify or interpret the Bid Documents by additions, deletions, clarifications, 
or corrections.

Agreement/Ensuing Agreement(s) – means the Successful Bidder may be required by the County to 
sign an additional Agreement containing terms necessary to ensure compliance with the IFB and the 
Bidder ’s Bid.  Such Ensuing Agreement(s) shall contain the Bid specifications, terms and conditions that 
are derived from the IFB.

Bid Documents – means the Legal Notice, IFB including attachments, and any Addenda issued by the 
County prior to the consideration of any Bids.

Bid – means the completed and signed bid form, (sometimes referred to as the Price Sheet), and ALL 
required forms and documentation listed in the IFB package which have been submitted in accordance 
with the terms and conditions described in the IFB package.  A Bid submitted in accordance with this IFB 
is irrevocable during the specified period for evaluation and acceptance of Bids unless a waiver is 
obtained from the Williamson County Purchasing Agent.

Bidder – means a person or entity who submits a Bid in response to this IFB.

Contract – means this IFB and the Bid of the Successful Bidder shall become a Contract between the 
Successful Bidder and the County once the Successful Bidder ’s Bid is properly accepted by the 
Williamson County Commissioners Court.

Commissioner ’s Court – means the Williamson County Commissioners Court. 

County – means Williamson County, a political subdivision of the State of Texas.

Invitation for Bid (IFB) – means this document, together with the attachments thereto and any future 
Addenda issued by the County.

Successful Bidder – means the liable Bidder to whom the County intends to award the Contract.

SECTION 2 - BID FORMAT AND SUBMISSION

2.1 ORGANIZATION OF BID CONTENTS FOR SUBMITTAL 

Each Bid should be organized and items submitted in the order described below: 

A. Transmittal Letter. Please see Section 2.3, Transmittal Letter, for more information. 

B. Price Sheet.

C. Conflict of Interest Questionnaire. Please see Section 2.2, Conflict of Interest, for more 
information in regards to this. Please note that even if you deem there to be no Conflict of Interest, 
this signed questionnaire must be included in your package. 

D. References. Please see Section 3.15, References, for more information. 

E. Bid Affidavit.

F. Form 1295. Please see Section 2.4, Certificate of Interested Parties – Form 1295. 

2.2 CONFLICT OF INTEREST

No public official shall have interest in a Contract, in accordance with Vernon ’s Texas Codes Annotated, 
Local Government Code, Title 5, Subtitle C, Chapter 171, as amended. 

As of January 1, 2006, all Bidders are responsible for complying with Local Government Code, Title 5, 
Subtitle C, Chapter 176.  Additional information may be obtained from the County’s website at the 
following link: 

http://www.wilco.org/CountyDepartments/Purchasing/ConflictofInterestDisclosure/tabid/689/language/en
US/Default.aspx

Each Bidder must disclose any existing or potential conflict of interest relative to the performance of the 
requirements of this IFB.  Examples of potential conflicts of interest may include an existing 
business or personal relationship between the Bidder, its principal, or any affiliate or 
subcontractor with the County or any other entity or person involved in any way with the project 
that is subject to this IFB .  Similarly, any personal or business relationship between the Bidder, the 

principals, or any affiliate or subcontractor with any employee, or official of the County or its suppliers 
must be disclosed.  Any such relationship that might be perceived or represented as a conflict must be 
disclosed. Failure to disclose any such relationship or reveal personal relationships with the County 
employees or officials may be cause for termination. 

The County will decide if an actual or perceived conflict should result in Bid disqualification. 

By submitting a Bid in response to this IFB, all Bidders affirm they have not given, nor intend to give, at 
any time hereafter, any economic opportunity, future employment, gift, loan, gratuity, special discount, 
trip, favor, or service to a the County public servant or any employee, official or representative of same, in 
connection with this procurement. 

Each Bidder must provide a Conflict of Interest Statement with their Bid Package.  Package may 

be deemed incomplete without this form.  

2.3 TRANSMITTAL LETTER

The Bidder should submit a Transmittal Letter that provides the following information: 

A. Name and address of individual or business entity submitting the Bid. 

B. Name, physical address, email address, business and fax number of the Bidder ’s principal 
contact person regarding all contractual matters relating to this IFB.

C. The Bid ’s Federal Employer Identification Number.

D. If the Proposal being submitted will have an effect on air quality for the County (as it relates to any 
state, federal, or voluntary air quality standard), then the Respondent is encouraged to provide
information in narrative indicating the anticipated air quality impact. See Section 4.36, Air Quality 
for more information. 

2.4 CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PARTIES – FORM 1295

As of January 1, 2016, all Successful Bidders are responsible for complying with the Texas Government 
Code, Section 2252.908.  The law states that the County may not enter into certain contracts with a 
Bidder unless the Bidder submits a disclosure of interested parties to the County at the time the Bidder 
submits the signed Contract.  The law applies only to a Contract of the County on or after January 1, 
2016 that either:

A. Requires an action or vote by the Commissioners Court before the Contract may be signed (all 
contracts that fall under the jurisdiction of the Commissioners Court approval, such as contracts 
resulting from an Initiation for Bid (IFB), RFP, Request for Qualifications (RFQ), etc., excluding, 
but not limited to, certain Juvenile Service contracts, contracts funded with Sheriff ’s seized fun 
monies, etc.); or

B. Has a value of at least $1,000,000. 

By January 1, 2016, the Texas Ethics Commission will make available on its website, a new filing 
application that must be used to file Form 1295.  Information regarding how to use the filing application is 
available on the Texas Ethics Commission website at the following link:

https://www.ethics.state.tx.us/whatsnew/elf_info_form1295.htm

A Respondent must:

A. Use the online application to process the required information on Form 1295.

B. Print a copy of the form which will contain a unique certification number.

C. An authorized agent of the Bidder must sign the printed copy of the form.

D. Have the form notarized.

E. File the completed Form 1295 and certification of filing (scanning and emailing form is sufficient) 
with Williamson County Purchasing Agent at the time the signed Contract is submitted for 
approval.

After the Commissioners Court award of the Contract, the County shall notify the Texas Ethics 
Commission, using the Texas Ethics Commission ’s filing application, of the receipt of the filed Form 
1295 and certification of filing not later than the 30th day after the date the Contract binds all parties to the 
Contract. The Texas Ethics Commission will post the completed Form 1295 to its website within seven 
business days after receiving notice from the County.

2.5 ETHICS

The Bidder shall not accept or offer gifts or anything of value nor enter into any business arrangement 
with any employee, official or agent of the County.

2.6 BID SUBMITTAL DEADLINE

The Bid is due no later than the submittal date and time set forth in the Public Announcement and 
General Information listed in this IFB package.  Contents of each Bid shall be submitted in accordance 
with this IFB.

2.7 DELIVERY OF BIDS

The County uses BidSync to distribute and receive Bids and proposals.  It is preferred that Bids
submitted electronically through BidSync; however, Bidders can submit a hard copy.  

Refer to www.bidsync.com for further information on how to submit electronically.

If mailed or delivered in person, Bids and Bid Addenda are to be delivered in sealed envelope on or before
the submittal deadline, as noted in the Public Announcement and General Information listed in this IFB 
package, to:

            Williamson County Purchasing Department
            Attn: Bid Name and Number
            901 South Austin Avenue
            Georgetown, Texas 78626

Also, all Bidders should list their Name and Address, and the Date of the Bid opening on the outside
the box or envelope and note “Sealed Bid Enclosed.” The County will not accept any Bids received after 
the submittal deadline, and shall return such Bids unopened to the Bidder.  The County will not accept 
any responsibility for Bids being delivered by third party carriers.  

Bids will be opened publically and the names of Bidders and pricing will be read aloud.

SECTION 3 - INSTRUCTIONS AND GENERAL REQUIREMENTS

3.1 INSTRUCTIONS

Read this document carefully, and follow all instructions and requirements.  All Bidders are responsible 
for fulfilling all requirements and specifications.  Be sure to have a clear understanding of this IFB.

General requirements apply to all advertised IFBs; however, these may be superseded, in whole or in 
part, by the bid specifications, Addenda and modifications issued as a part of this IFB.  Be sure your Bid 
package is complete.

3.2 AMBIGUITY, CONFLICT, OR OTHER ERRORS IN THIS IFB

If a Bidder discovers any ambiguity, conflict, discrepancy, omission or other error in this IFB, the Bidder 
shall immediately notify the County Purchasing Department of such error in writing and request
modification or clarification of the document.

Modifications will be made by issuing Addenda. If the Bidder fails to notify the County prior to the date
and time fixed for submission of Bids of an error or ambiguity in the IFB known to the Bidder, or an error
or ambiguity that reasonably should have been known to the Bidder, then the Bidder shall be deemed to 
have waived the error or ambiguity or its later resolution.

The County may also modify the IFB, no later than forty-eight (48) hours prior to the date and time fixed
for submission of Bids, by issuance of an Addendum.  All Addenda will be numbered consecutively, 
beginning with one (1).

3.3 NOTIFICATION OF MOST CURRENT ADDRESS

All Bidders in receipt of this IFB shall notify the Williamson County Purchasing Department of any
address changes, contact person changes, and/or telephone number changes no later than forty-eight 
(48) hours prior to the date and time fixed for submission of Bids.

3.4 SIGNATURE OF BIDDER

A. If the Bidder is a Corporation or Limited Liability Company, the legal name of the Corporation
Limited Liability Company shall be provided together with the signature of the officer or officers 
authorized to sign on behalf of such entity.

B. If the Bidder is a General Partnership, the true name of the firm shall be provided with the
signature of each partner authorized to sign.

C. If the Bidder is a Limited Partnership, the name of the Limited Partner ’s General Partner shall
provided with the signature of the officer authorized to sign on behalf of the General Partner.

D. If the Bidder is a Sole Proprietor(s) (individual), each Sole Proprietor(s) shall sign.

E. If signature is by an agent, other than the Sole Proprietor(s) or an officer of a Corporation, Limited 
Liability Company, General Partner or a member of a General Partnership, a power of attorney
equivalent document must be submitted to the Williamson County Purchasing Department.

3.5 ASSUMED BUSINESS NAME

If the Bidder operates business under an Assumed Business Name, the Bidder must have on file with the
Williamson County Clerk a current Assumed Name Certificate and provide a file marked copy of same.

3.6 BID OBLIGATION 

The contents of the IFB, Bid, and any clarification thereof submitted by the Successful Bidder shall
become part of the contractual obligation and incorporated by reference into the Contract and any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

3.7 COMPLIANCE WITH IFB SPECIFICATIONS

It is intended that this IFB describe the requirements and the Bid format in sufficient detail to secure 
comparable Bids.  Failure to comply with all provisions of the IFB may, at the sole discretion of the 
County, result in disqualification.

3.8 WITHDRAWAL OF BID

The Bidder may withdraw its Bid by submitting a written request with the company letterhead and the 
signature of an authorized individual, as described in Section 3.4, Signature of Bidder, to the Williamson 
County Purchasing Department any time prior to the submission deadline.  

The Bidder may submit a new Bid prior to the deadline. Alterations of the Bid in any manner will not be 
considered if submitted after the deadline.  Withdrawal of a Bid after the deadline will be subject to written 
approval of the Williamson County Purchasing Agent.

3.9 EVALUATION AND AWARD

The County reserves the right to use all pertinent information (also learned from sources other than 
disclosed in the Bid process) that might affect the County ’s judgment as to the appropriateness of
award to the lowest and best evaluated Bid. This information may be appended to the Bid evaluation
process results. Information on a Bidder from reliable sources, and not within the Bidder ’s Bid, may also 
be noted and made part of the evaluation fi le.  The County shall have sole discretion for determining 
the reliability of the source.

To ensure the proper and fair evaluation of a solicitation, the County prohibits unsolicited communication 
initiated by the Bidder to the County Official or Employee evaluating or considering the Bids prior to the 
time an award has been made. Unsolicited communication may be ground for disqualifying the 
offending Bidder from consideration or award of the solicitation, or any future solicitation.

Communication between the Bidder and the County will be initiated by the appropriate County Official
Employee in order to obtain information or clarification needed to develop a proper and accurate 
evaluation of the solicitation.

The County intends to award a Contract to the most responsible and responsive Bidder whose Bid will 
be most advantageous to the County. In accordance with Texas Government Code and Local
Government Code, the County may consider, to the extent allowed by law, the following:

A. Price;
B. The Bidder ’s experience and reputation;
C. Quality of the Bidder ’s goods and/or services; 
D. The Bidder ’s safety record;
E. The Bidder ’s proposed personnel; 
F. The Bidder ’s financial capabilities; and 
G. Any other relevant factors specifically listed in this IFB or authorized by law.

3.10 CONDISERATION OF LOCATION OF PRINCIPAL OFFICE 

Pursuant to Texas Local Government Code, Section 271.905 , in purchasing any real property or personal
property that is not affixed to real property, if the County receives one or more Bids from a Bidder whose
principal place of business is in Williamson County and whose Bid is within three (3 )  percent of the
lowest Bid price received by the County from a Bidder who is not a resident of Williamson County, the 
County may enter into a contract with:

A. The lowest Bidder; or the Bidder whose principal place of business is in Williamson County if the
Commissioners Court determines, in writing, that the local Bidder offers the County the best 
combination of contract price and addit ional economic development opportunities
Williamson County created by the contract award, including the employment of residents
Williamson County and increased tax revenues to Williamson County.

It is understood that the Commissioners Court of Williamson County, Texas, reserves the right to accept
or reject any and/or all Bids for any or all goods and/or services covered in this IFB, and to waive
informalities or defects in the Bid or to accept such Bid, if it shall deem to be in the best interest of the 
County.

Awards should be made approximately sixty (60) business days after the Bid opening date. Results may
be obtained by viewing the Williamson County vendor portal at the following link:

http://www.wilco.org/CountyDepartments/Purchasing/SearchforaPastBid/tabid/5213/language/en-
US/Default.aspx

3.11 RESPONSIBILITY 

It is expected that a prospective Bidder will be able to affirmatively demonstrate responsibility.  A 
prospective Bidder should be able to meet the following requirements:

A. Have adequate financial resources, or the ability to obtain such resources as required;
B. Be able to comply with the required or proposed delivery schedule;
C. Have a satisfactory record of performance that can be determined thru references provided; and 
D. Be otherwise qualified and eligible to receive an award.

The County may request representation and other information sufficient to determine the Bidder's ability 
to meet these minimum standards listed above.

3.12 FIRM PRICING 

For unit price items, all of the items listed are to be on a “per unit” basis, stating a firm price per unit or 
unit quantity of each item.  The Bidder must submit a firm price that must be good from the date of Bid 
opening for the fixed period of time set out in this IFB.  Unless the IFB expressly states otherwise, this 
period shall be until the end of the Initial Contract Period.

Bids which do not state a fixed price, or which are subject to change without notice, will not be 
considered.  The Court may award a Contract for the period implied or expressly stated in the lowest and 
best Bid.

3.13 PURCHASE ORDERS

If required by the Williamson County Purchasing Department, a purchase order(s) may be generated to 
the Successful Bidder for goods and/or services.  If a purchase order is issued, the purchase order 
number must appear on all itemized invoices and/or requests for payment.

3.14 SILENCE OF SPECIFICATIONS

The apparent silence of these specifications as to any detail or to the apparent omission from it of a 
detailed description concerning any point, shall be regarded as meaning that only the best practices are 
to prevail.  All interpretations of these specifications shall be made on the basis of this statement.

3.15 REFERENCES

The County may require the Bidder to supply a list of at least three (3) references where like services
and/or goods have been supplied by their firm within the past five (5) years, to include names, titles, 
phone numbers and email addresses of key personnel, and dates of performance.

The County may contact some or all of the references in order to determine the Respondent
performance record on work similar to that described in this RFP.  The County reserves the right to 
contact references other than those provided in the response and to use the information gained from 
them in the evaluation process.

References, if requested, should be provided in accordance with this IFB.  Bid may not be deemed 
complete without the inclusion of requested references.

SECTION 4 - TERMS AND CONDITIONS

4.1 VENUE AND GOVERNING LAW

The Bidder hereby agrees and acknowledges that venue and jurisdiction of any suit, right, or cause of 
action arising out of or in connection with this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s), shall lie 
exclusively in either Williamson County, Texas or in the Austin Division of the Western Federal District of 
Texas, and the parties hereto expressly consent and submit to such jurisdiction.  Furthermore, except to 
the extent that this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) is governed by the laws of the United 
States, this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be governed by and construed in 
accordance with the laws of the State of Texas, excluding, however, its choice of law rules.

4.2 INCORPORATION BY REFERENCE AND PRECEDENCE

A. The Contract shall be derived from the IFB and its Addenda (if applicable), and the Bidder ’ s Bid.  In 
the event of a dispute under the Contract, applicable documents will be referred to for the purpose 
of clarification or for additional detail in the following order of precedence:

1. The IFB and its Addenda (if applicable); and

2. The Bidder ’s Bid.

B. In the event the County requires that an Ensuing Agreement be executed following award and a 
dispute arises between the terms and conditions of the Ensuing Agreement, the IFB and its 
Addenda (if applicable), and the Bidder ’s Bid, applicable documents will be referred to for the 
purpose of clarification or for additional detail in the following order of precedence: 

1. Terms and conditions of the Ensuing Agreement;

2. The IFB its Addenda; and 

3. The Bidder ’s Bid.

4.3 OWNERSHIP OF BID

Each Bid shall become the property of the County upon submittal and will not be returned to Bidders 
unless received after the submittal deadline.

4.4 DISQUALIFICATION OF BIDDER

Upon signing and submittal of the Bid, a Bidder offering to sell supplies, materials, services, or equipment 
to the County, certifies that the Bidder has not violated the antitrust laws of the State of Texas codified in 
Business & Commerce Code, Section 15.01, or the Federal Antitrust Laws, and has not communicated 
directly or indirectly the offer made to any competitor or any other person engaged in such line of 
business.  Any or all Bids may be rejected if the County believes that collusion exists among the Bidders.

4.5 FUNDING

The County intends to budget and make sufficient funds available and authorize funds for expenditure to 
finance the costs of the Contract.  All Bidders understand and agree that the County’s payment of 
amounts under the Contract shall be contingent on the County receiving appropriations or other 
expenditure authority sufficient to allow the County, in the exercise of reasonable administrative 
discretion, to make payments under this Contract.

4.6 ASSIGNMENT, SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS 

The Successful Bidder may not assign, sell, or otherwise transfer the Contract or any other rights or 
interests obtained under the Contract without written permission of the Commissioners Court.  The 
Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the contracting 
parties hereto and their respective successors and permitted assigns.

4.7 IMPLIED REQUIREMENTS

Products or services not specifically described or required in the IFB, but are necessary to provide the 
functional capabilities described by the Bidder, shall be implied and deemed to be included in the Bid.

4.8 TERMINATION

A. Termination for Cause: The County reserves the right to terminate the Contract and/or any 
Ensuing Agreement(s) for default if the Successful Bidder breaches any of the Bid specifications,
terms and conditions, including warranties of the Bidder, if any, or if the Successful Bidder 
becomes insolvent or commits acts of bankruptcy.  Such right of termination is in addition to and
not in lieu of any other remedies the County may have at law or in equity or as may otherwise
provided hereunder.  Default may be construed as, but not limited to, failure to deliver the proper 
goods and/or services within the proper amount of time, and/or to properly perform any and all 
other requirements to the County ’s satisfaction, and/or to meet all other obligations and
requirements.

B. Termination for Convenience: The County may terminate the Contract and/or any Ensuing 
Agreement(s) for convenience and without cause or further liability, upon no less than thirty (30) 
calendar days written notice to the Successful Bidder. The County reserves the right to extend 
this period if it is in the best interest of the County.  In the event the County exercises its right to 
terminate without cause, it is understood and agreed that only the amounts due to the Successful 
Bidder for goods, commodities and/or services provided and expenses incurred to and including 
the date of termination, will be due and payable.  No penalty will be assessed for the County
termination for convenience.

4.9 NON-PERFORMANCE

It is the objective of the County to obtain complete and satisfactory performance of the requirements set 
forth herein.  In addition to any other remedies available at law, in equity or that may be set out herein, 
failure to perform may result in a deduction of payment equal to the amount of the goods and/or services 
that were not provided and/or performed to the County ’s satisfaction.  

In the event of such non-performance, the County shall have the right, but shall not be obligated, to 
complete the services itself or by others and/or purchase the goods from other sources.  If the County 
elects to acquire the goods or perform the services itself or by others, pursuant to the foregoing, the 
Successful Bidder shall reimburse the County, within ten (10) calendar days of demand, for all costs 
incurred by the County (including, without limitation, applicable, general, and administrative expenses, 
and field overhead, and the cost of necessary equipment, materials, and field labor) in correcting the 
nonperformance which the Successful Bidder fails to meet pursuant to the requirements set out herein.  
In the event the Successful Bidder refuses to reimburse the County as set out in this provision, the 
County shall have the right to deduct such reimbursement amounts from any amounts that may be then 
owing or that may become owing in the future to the Successful Bidder.

4.10 PROPRIETARY INFORMATION AND THE TEXAS PUBLIC INFORMATION ACT

All material submitted to the County shall become public property and subject to the Texas Public 
Information Act upon receipt. If a Bidder does not desire proprietary information in the Bid to be 
disclosed, each page must be clearly identified and marked proprietary at time of submittal or, more 
preferably, all proprietary information may be placed in a folder or appendix and be clearly identified and 
marked as being proprietary.  Failure to clearly identify and mark information as being proprietary as set 
forth under this provision will result in all unmarked information being deemed non-proprietary and 
available to the public.  For all information that has not been clearly identified and marked as proprietary 
by the Bidder, the County may choose to place such information on the County ’s website and/or a similar 
public database without obtaining any type of prior consent from the Bidder.

The County will, to the extent allowed by law, endeavor to protect from public disclosure the information 
that has been identified and marked as proprietary.  The final decision as to what information must be 
disclosed, however, lies with the Texas Attorney General.  

To the extent, if any, that any provision in this IFB or in the Bidder ’s Bid is in conflict with Texas 
Government Code, Chapter 552, as amended (the “Public Information Act”), the same shall be of no 
force or effect.  Furthermore, it is expressly understood, and agreed, that the County, and its officers and 
employees, may request advice, decisions and opinions of the Attorney General of the State of Texas in 
regard to the application of the Public Information Act to any items or data furnished to the County as to 
whether or not the same are available to the public.  It is further understood that the County, and its 
officers and employees, shall have the right to rely on the advice, decisions and opinions of the Attorney 
General, and that the County, its officers and employees shall have no liability or obligation to any party 
hereto for the disclosure to the public, or to any person or persons, of any items or data furnished to the 
County by a party hereto, in reliance of any advice, decision or opinion of the Attorney General of the 
State of Texas.

4.11 RIGHT TO AUDIT

The Successful Bidder agrees that the County or its duly authorized representatives shall, until the 
expiration of three (3) years after termination or expiration of the services to be performed, have access 
to and the right to examine and photocopy any and all books, documents, papers and records of the 
Successful Bidder, which are directly pertinent to the services to be performed or goods to be delivered 
for the purposes of making audits, examinations, excerpts and transcriptions.  The Successful Bidder 
agrees that the County shall have access during normal working hours to all necessary facilities and 
shall be provided adequate and appropriate work space in order to conduct audits in compliance with the 
provisions of this section.  The County shall give the Successful Bidder reasonable advance notice of 
intended audits.

4.12 TESTING AND INSPECTIONS

The County reserves the right to inspect and test equipment, supplies, materials and goods for quality 
and compliance with this IFB, and ability to meet the needs of the user.  Demonstration units must be 
available for review.  Should the goods or services fail to meet requirements and/or be unavailable for 
evaluation, the County can deem the Bidder to be in breach and terminate the Contract and/or any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

4.13 BID PREPARATION COSTS

The cost of developing Bids is the sole responsibility of the Bidders and shall not be charged to the 
County.  There is no expressed or implied obligation for the County to reimburse the Bidders for any 
expense incurred in preparing a Bid in response to this IFB and the County will not reimburse the Bidders 
for such expenses.

4.14 INDEMNIFICATION

The Successful Bidder shall indemnify, defend and save harmless, the County, its officials, employees, 
agents and agent ’s employees from, and against, all claims, liability, and expenses including reasonable 
attorneys ’   fees, arising from activities of the Bidder, its agents, servants or employees, performed 
hereunder that result from the negligent act, error, or omission of the Bidder or any of the Bidder
agents, servants or employees, as well as all claims of loss or damage to the Bidder ’s and the County
property, equipment, and/or supplies. 

Furthermore, the County, its officials, employees, agents and agents ’ employees shall not be liable for 
damages to the Successful Bidder arising from any act of any third party, including, but not limited to, 
theft.  The Successful Bidder further agrees to indemnify, defend and save harmless, the County from its 
officials, employee, agents and agents ’ employees against all claims of whatever nature arising from any 
accident, injury, or damage whatsoever, caused to any person, or the property of any person, occurring 
in relation to the Successful Bidder ’s performance of any services requested hereunder during the term 
of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s). 

The Successful Bidder shall timely report all claims, demands, suits, actions, proceedings, liens or 
judgements to the County and shall, upon the receipt of any claim, demand, suit, action, proceeding, lien 

or judgement, not later than the fifteenth (15 th) day of each month; provide the County with a written 
report on each such matter, setting forth the status of each matter, the schedule or planned proceedings 
with respect to each matter and the cooperation or assistance, if any, of the County required by the 
Successful Bidder in the defense of each matter.  The Successful Bidder’s duty to defend, indemnify and 
hold the County harmless shall be absolute.  It shall not abate or end by reason of the expiration or 
termination of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s), unless otherwise agreed by the County in 
writing.  The provisions of this section shall survive the termination of the Contract and shall remain in full 
force and effect with respect to all such matters no matter when they arise. 

In the event of any dispute between the parties, as to whether a claim, demand, suit, action, proceeding, 
lien or judgement, that appears to have been caused by or appears to have arisen out of or in connection 
with acts or omissions of the County, the Bidder shall nevertheless fully defend such claim, demand, suit 
or action, proceeding, lien or judgement, until and unless there is a determination by a court of competent 
jurisdiction that the acts and omissions of the Bidder are not an issue in the matter. 

The Successful Bidder ’s indemnification shall cover, and the Successful Bidder agrees to, indemnify the 
County, in the event the County is found to have been negligent for having selected the Successful 
Bidder to perform the work described in this request.  The provision by the Successful Bidder of 
insurance shall not limit the liability of the Successful Bidder under the Contract and/or any Ensuing 
Agreement(s). 

4.15 WAIVER OF SUBROGATION

The Successful Bidder and the Successful Bidder ’s insurance carrier waive any and all rights 
whatsoever with regard to subrogation against the County as an indirect party to any suit arising out of 
personal or property damages resulting from the Bidder ’s performance under this Contract and any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

4.16 RELATIONSHIP OF THE PARTIES

The Successful Bidder shall be an independent contractor and shall assume all of the rights, obligations, 
liabilities, applicable to it as such independent contractor hereunder and any provisions herein which may 
appear to give the County the right to direct the Successful Bidder as to details of doing work herein 
covered, or to exercise a measure of control over the work, shall be deemed to mean that the Successful 
Bidder shall follow the desires of the County in the results of the work only.  The County shall not retain or 
have the right to control the Successful Bidder ’s means, methods or details pertaining to the Successful 
Bidder ’s performance of the work.  The County and the Successful Bidder hereby agree and declare that 
the Successful Bidder is an independent contractor and as such meets the qualifications of an 
“Independent Contractor” under Texas Workers Compensation Act, Texas Labor Code, Section 406.141, 
that the Successful Bidder is not an employee of  the County, and that the Successful Bidder and its 
employees, agents and subcontractors shall not be entitled to workers compensation coverage or any 
other type of insurance coverage held by the County.

4.17 SOLE PROVIDER

The Successful Bidder agrees and acknowledges that it shall not be considered a sole provider of the 
goods and/or services described herein and that the County may contract with other providers of such 
goods and/or services if the County deems, at its sole discretion, that multiple providers of the same 
goods and/or services will serve the best interest of the County.

4.18 FORCE MAJEURE

If the party obligated to perform is prevented from performance by an act of war, order of legal authority, 
act of God, or other unavoidable cause not attributable to the fault or negligence of said party, the other 
party shall grant such party relief from the performance.  The burden of proof for the need of such relief 
shall rest upon the party obligated to perform.  To obtain release based on force majeure, the party 
obligated to perform shall file a written request with the other party.

4.19 SEVERABILITY

If any provision of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be held invalid or 
unenforceable by any court of competent jurisdiction, such holding shall not invalidate or render 
unenforceable any other provision thereof, but rather the entire IFB, Contract or any Ensuing Agreement
(s) will be construed as if not containing the particular invalid or unenforceable provision or provisions, 
and the rights and obligation of the parties shall be construed and enforced in accordance therewith.  The 
parties acknowledge that if any provision of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) is 
determined to be invalid or unenforceable, it is the desire and intention of each that such provision be 
reformed and construed in such a manner that it will, to the maximum extent practicable, give effect to
the intent of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) and be deemed to be validated and
enforceable.

4.20 EQUAL OPPORTUNITY

Neither party shall discriminate against any employee or applicant for employment because of race, 
color, sex, religion or national origin.

4.21 NOTICE

Any notice to be given shall be in writing and may be distributed by personal delivery, or by registered or 
certified mail, return receipt requested, addressed to the proper party, at the following address:

The County:    Williamson County Purchasing Department 
            Attn: Purchasing Agent 
            901 South Austin Avenue 
            Georgetown, Texas 78626

The Bidder:     Address set out in Bidder’s Transmittal Letter.

Notices given in accordance with this provision shall be effective upon (1) receipt by the party to which 
notice is given, or (2) on the third (3rd) calendar day following mailing, whichever occurs first.

4.22 SALES AND USE TAX EXEMPTION

The County is a body, corporate and politic, under the laws of the State of Texas and claims exemption 
from sales and use taxes under Texas Tax Code, Section 151.309, as amended, and the services and/or 
goods subject hereof are being secured for use by the County.

4.23 COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS

The County and the Successful Bidder shall comply with all federal, state, and local laws, statutes,
ordinances, rules and regulations, and the orders and decrees of any courts or administrative bodies or 
tribunals in any matter affecting the performance of the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s),
including, without limitation, Workers ’ Compensation laws, salary and wage statutes and regulations, 
licensing laws and regulations.  When required, the Successful Bidder shall furnish the County with 
certification of compliance with said laws, statues, ordinances, rules, regulations, orders, and decrees 
above specified.

4.24 INCORPORATION OF EXHIBITS, APPENDICES AND ATTACHMENTS

All of the Exhibits, Appendices and Attachments referred to herein are incorporated by reference as if set 
forth verbatim herein.  Any conflicting terms in the Contract documents will be resolved at the sole 
discretion of the Commissioners Court.

4.25 NO WAIVER OF IMMUNITIES

Nothing herein shall be deemed to waive, modify or amend any legal defense available at law or in equity 
to the County, its past or present officers, employees, or agents, nor to create any legal rights or claim on 
behalf of any third party.  The County does not waive, modify, or alter to any extent whatsoever the 
availability of the defense of governmental immunity under the laws of the State of Texas and of the 
United States.

4.26 NO WAIVER

The failure or delay of any party to enforce at any time or any period of time any of the provisions of this 
IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall not constitute a present or future waiver of such 
provisions nor the right of either party to enforce each and every provision.  Furthermore, no term or 
provision hereof shall be deemed waived and no breach excused unless such waiver or consent shall be 
in writing and signed by the party claimed to have waived or consented.  Any consent by any party to, or 
waiver of, a breach by the other, whether expressed or implied, shall not constitute a consent to, waiver 
of or excuse for any other, different or subsequent breach.

4.27 CURRENT REVENUES

The obligations of the parties under the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) do not constitute a 
general obligation or indebtedness of the County for which the County is obligated to levy, pledge, or 
collect any of taxation.  It is understood and agreed that the County shall have the right to terminate the 
Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) at the end of any the County fiscal year if the governing body of 
the County does not appropriate sufficient funds as determined by the County ’s budget for the fiscal year 
in question.  The County may effect such termination by giving written notice of termination to the 
Successful Bidder at the end of its then-current fiscal year.

4.28 FOB DESTINATION

To the extent applicable to this IFB, all of the items listed are to be Free On Board to final destination 
(FOB Destination) with all transportation charges if applicable to be included in the Bid, unless otherwise 
specified in the Invitation for Bids.  The title and risk of loss of the goods shall not pass to the County until 
receipt and acceptance takes place at the FOB Destination point.

4.29 BINDING EFFECT

This Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties 
and their respective permitted assigns and successors.

4.30 ASSIGNMENT

The Successful Bidder ’s interest and duties hereunder may not be assigned or delegated to a third party 
without the express written consent of the County.

4.31 SAFETY

The Successful Bidder is responsible for initiating, maintaining, and supervising all safety precautions 
and programs in connection with any services to be provided hereunder. The safety program shall 
comply with all applicable requirements of the current federal Occupational Safety and Health Act and all 
other applicable federal, state and local laws and regulations.

4.32 GENERAL OBLIGATIONS AND RELIANCE

The Successful Bidder shall perform all services and/or provide all goods, as well as those reasonably
inferable and necessary for completion and provision of services and/or goods required hereunder. The
Successful Bidder shall keep the County informed of the progress and quality of the services.  The 
Successful Bidder agrees and acknowledges that the County is relying on the Successful Bidder's 
represented expertise and ability to provide the goods and/or services described herein.  The Successful
Bidder agrees to use its best efforts, skill, judgment, and abilities to perform its obligations in accordance
with the highest standards used in the profession and to further the interests of the County 
accordance with the County ’s requirements and procedures.    T h e   Successful Bidder ’s duties,
set forth herein, shall at no time be in any way diminished by reason of any approval by the County, nor
shall the Successful Bidder be released from any liability by reason of such approval by the County, it 
being understood that the County at all times is ultimately relying upon the Successful Bidder ’s skill and 
knowledge in performing the services and providing any goods required hereunder.

4.33 ESTIMATED QUANTITIES

To the extent applicable to this IFB, the estimated quantity of each item listed in this IFB is only
estimate; the actual quantity to be purchased may be more or less. The County is not obligated
purchase any minimum amount, and the County may purchase any reasonable amount greater than the
estimate for the same unit price. Any limit on quantities available must be stated expressly in the Bid.

4.34 CONTRACTUAL DEVELOPMENT

The contents of the IFB and the Successful Bidder ’s Bid will become an integral part of the Contract, but 
may be modified, at the County ’s sole discretion, by provisions of an Ensuing Agreement.  Therefore, the 
Bidder must agree to an inclusion of an Ensuing Agreement of the Bid specifications, terms and 
conditions of this IFB.  If an Ensuing Agreement is required under this IFB, information relative to the 
Agreement will be located in the Special Provisions Section of this IFB.

4.35 SURVIVABILITY 

All applicable agreements that were entered into between the Successful Bidder and the County, under 
the terms and conditions of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s), shall survive the expiration or 
termination thereof for ninety (90) days unless a new contract has been awarded.

The County may exercise, by written notice to the Successful Bidder no later than ten (10) calendar days 
of the Contract expiration, this clause for emergencies only. 

4.36 AIR QUALITY

In determining the overall best Bid, the County may, to the extent applicable, exercise the option granted 
to local governments under the Texas Local Government Code, Section 271.907.

This option allows the County to evaluate Bids and give preference to goods and/or services of a Bidder 
that demonstrates that the Bidder meets or exceeds any and all state or federal environmental 
standards, including voluntary standards, relating to air quality.  If the Bid being submitted will have an 
effect on air quality for the County (as it relates to any state, federal, or voluntary air quality standard), 
then the Bidder is encouraged to provide information in narrative indicating the anticipated air quality 
impact.  All Bidders are expected to meet all mandated state and federal air quality standards.

4.37 ENTIRE AGREEMENT

The Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall supersede all prior Agreements, written or oral 
between the Successful Bidder and the County and shall constitute the entire Agreement and 
understanding between the parties with respect to the services and/or goods to be provided.  Each of the 
provisions herein shall be binding upon the parties and may not be waived, modified, amended or altered, 
except by writing signed by the Successful Bidder and the County.

4.38 PAYMENT

The County ’s payment for goods and services shall be governed by the Texas Government Code, 

Chapter 2251.  An invoice shall be deemed overdue the thirty-first (31st) day after the later of the 
following: 

A. The date the County receives the goods under the Contract; 
B. The date the performance of the service under the Contract is completed; or 
C. The date the Williamson County Auditor receives an invoice for the goods or services.  

Interest charges for any overdue payments shall be paid by the County in accordance with Texas 
Government Code, Section 2251.025.  More specifically, the rate of interest that shall accrue on a late 
payment is the rate in effect on September 1 of the County ’s fiscal year in which the payment becomes 
due.  The said rate in effect on September 1 shall be equal to the sum of one (1) percent, and the prime 

rate published in the Wall Street Journal on the first (1st) day of July of the preceding fiscal year that does 
not fall on a Saturday or Sunday.

In the event that an error appears in an invoice submitted by the Successful Bidder, the County shall 
notify the Successful Bidder of the error not later than the twenty-first (21st) day after the date the County 
receives the invoice.  If the error is resolved in favor of the Successful Bidder, the Successful Bidder 
shall be entitled to receive interest on the unpaid balance of the invoice submitted by the Successful 
Bidder beginning on the date that the payment for the invoice became overdue.  If the error is resolved in 
favor of the County, the Successful Bidder shall submit a corrected invoice that must be paid in 
accordance within the time set forth above.  The unpaid balance accrues interest as provided by the 
Texas Government Code, Chapter 2251, if the corrected invoice is not paid by the appropriate date.

As a minimum, invoices shall include:

A. Name, address, and telephone number of the Successful Bidder and similar information in the 
event the payment is to be made to a different address. 

B. The County Contract, Purchase Order. 

C. Identification of items or service as outlined in the Contract. 

D. Quantity or quantities, applicable unit prices, total prices and total amount. 

E. Any additional payment information which may be called for by the Contract. 

Payment inquiries should be directed to the following address:        

            Williamson County Auditor’s Office, Accounts Payable Department
            Email: accountspayable@wilco.org
            Phone: 512-943-1500

4.39 CONTRACTUAL FORMATION AND ENSUING AGREEMENT

The IFB and the Bidder ’s Bid, when properly accepted by the Commissioners Court, shall constitute a
Contract equally binding between the Successful Bidder and the County.

If an Ensuing Agreement is required by this IFB, that information will be provided in Special 
Provisions section of this IFB.  The Successful Bidder shall be required to execute the Agreement at 
the Williamson County Purchasing Department approximately ten (10) calendar days after the 
Successful Bidder is notified of award.  The Ensuing Agreement shall be in the same form as the 
Agreement which is attached to the end of this IFB.  The only anticipated changes in the Ensuing 
Agreement will be to include additional exhibits, to fill in blanks to identify the Successful Bidder, and 
terms relating to the compensation, or to revise the Agreement to accommodate corrections, changes in 
the scope of services, or changes pursuant to Addenda issued.  Bidders should raise any questions 
regarding the terms of the Agreement in the form of written questions or submittals as 
described in the Public Announcement and General Information portion of this IFB.  Because the 
signed Ensuing Agreement will be substantively and substantially derived from the attached Agreement, 
each Bidder is urged to seek independent legal counsel as to any questions about the terms, conditions 
or provisions contained in the Agreement before submitting a Bid.  Again, the attached Agreement, if 
applicable, contains important legal provisions and is considered part and parcel of this IFB.  Failure or 
refusal to sign aforesaid Agreement shall be grounds for the County to revoke any award which has been 
issued, forfeit Bid security, if applicable, and select another Bidder.

4.40 COOPERATIVE PURCHASING PROGRAM 

During the term of the Contract resulting from this IFB, the County would like to afford the same prices, 
terms and conditions to other political subdivisions or public entities.  Another entity’s participation in the 
Contract resulting from this IFB is subject to a properly authorized Purchasing Cooperative Inter- local 
Agreement with the County.  Any liability created by purchase orders issued against the Contract shall be 
the sole responsibility of the governmental agency placing the order.

4.41 INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS

To the extent applicable Insurance information will appear in the Additional Stipulations section that is in 
this IFB Package. 

4.42 BIDDERS BOND, WARRANTY BOND, PERFORMANCE AND PAYMENT BONDS

To the extent applicable Bond information will appear in the Additional Stipulations section that is in this 
IFB Package. 

4.43 LEGAL LIABILITY INFORMATION

The Successful Bidder shall disclose all legal liability information by listing any pending litigation
anticipated litigation that your firm is involved in including, but not limited to, potential or actual legal
matters with private parties and any local, state, federal or international governmental entities. The
County reserves the right to consider legal liability information in the recommendation of any proposed 
contract to the Commissioners Court.

4.44 INCLEMENT WEATHER

In case of inclement weather or any other unforeseen event causing the County to close for business on 
the date of a Bid submission deadline, the Bid closing will automatically be postponed until the next 
business day the County is open.  If inclement weather conditions or any other unforeseen event causes 
delays in carrier service operations, the County may issue an Addendum to all known Bidders interested 
in the project to extend the deadline.  It will be the responsibility of the Bidder to notify the County of their 
interest in the project if these conditions are impacting their ability to turn in a submission within the 
stated deadline.  The County reserves the right to make the final judgement call to extend any deadline. 

4.45 CONFIDENTIALITY 

The Bidder expressly agrees that it will not use any direct or incidental confidential information that may 
be obtained while working in a governmental setting for its own benefit, and agrees that it will not access 
unauthorized areas or confidential information and it will not disclose any information to unauthorized 
third parties, and will take care to guard the security of the information at all times.

Bid 1704-156Williamson County, Texas

4/6/2017 1:22 PM p. 13



5

6

3 4

Williamson County – Invitation for Bid (IFB)

SECTION 1 - DEFINITIONS 

Addendum/Addenda – means any written or graphic instruments issued by the County prior to the 
consideration of Bids which modify or interpret the Bid Documents by additions, deletions, clarifications, 
or corrections.

Agreement/Ensuing Agreement(s) – means the Successful Bidder may be required by the County to 
sign an additional Agreement containing terms necessary to ensure compliance with the IFB and the 
Bidder ’s Bid.  Such Ensuing Agreement(s) shall contain the Bid specifications, terms and conditions that 
are derived from the IFB.

Bid Documents – means the Legal Notice, IFB including attachments, and any Addenda issued by the 
County prior to the consideration of any Bids.

Bid – means the completed and signed bid form, (sometimes referred to as the Price Sheet), and ALL 
required forms and documentation listed in the IFB package which have been submitted in accordance 
with the terms and conditions described in the IFB package.  A Bid submitted in accordance with this IFB 
is irrevocable during the specified period for evaluation and acceptance of Bids unless a waiver is 
obtained from the Williamson County Purchasing Agent.

Bidder – means a person or entity who submits a Bid in response to this IFB.

Contract – means this IFB and the Bid of the Successful Bidder shall become a Contract between the 
Successful Bidder and the County once the Successful Bidder ’s Bid is properly accepted by the 
Williamson County Commissioners Court.

Commissioner ’s Court – means the Williamson County Commissioners Court. 

County – means Williamson County, a political subdivision of the State of Texas.

Invitation for Bid (IFB) – means this document, together with the attachments thereto and any future 
Addenda issued by the County.

Successful Bidder – means the liable Bidder to whom the County intends to award the Contract.

SECTION 2 - BID FORMAT AND SUBMISSION

2.1 ORGANIZATION OF BID CONTENTS FOR SUBMITTAL 

Each Bid should be organized and items submitted in the order described below: 

A. Transmittal Letter. Please see Section 2.3, Transmittal Letter, for more information. 

B. Price Sheet.

C. Conflict of Interest Questionnaire. Please see Section 2.2, Conflict of Interest, for more 
information in regards to this. Please note that even if you deem there to be no Conflict of Interest, 
this signed questionnaire must be included in your package. 

D. References. Please see Section 3.15, References, for more information. 

E. Bid Affidavit.

F. Form 1295. Please see Section 2.4, Certificate of Interested Parties – Form 1295. 

2.2 CONFLICT OF INTEREST

No public official shall have interest in a Contract, in accordance with Vernon ’s Texas Codes Annotated, 
Local Government Code, Title 5, Subtitle C, Chapter 171, as amended. 

As of January 1, 2006, all Bidders are responsible for complying with Local Government Code, Title 5, 
Subtitle C, Chapter 176.  Additional information may be obtained from the County’s website at the 
following link: 

http://www.wilco.org/CountyDepartments/Purchasing/ConflictofInterestDisclosure/tabid/689/language/en
US/Default.aspx

Each Bidder must disclose any existing or potential conflict of interest relative to the performance of the 
requirements of this IFB.  Examples of potential conflicts of interest may include an existing 
business or personal relationship between the Bidder, its principal, or any affiliate or 
subcontractor with the County or any other entity or person involved in any way with the project 
that is subject to this IFB .  Similarly, any personal or business relationship between the Bidder, the 

principals, or any affiliate or subcontractor with any employee, or official of the County or its suppliers 
must be disclosed.  Any such relationship that might be perceived or represented as a conflict must be 
disclosed. Failure to disclose any such relationship or reveal personal relationships with the County 
employees or officials may be cause for termination. 

The County will decide if an actual or perceived conflict should result in Bid disqualification. 

By submitting a Bid in response to this IFB, all Bidders affirm they have not given, nor intend to give, at 
any time hereafter, any economic opportunity, future employment, gift, loan, gratuity, special discount, 
trip, favor, or service to a the County public servant or any employee, official or representative of same, in 
connection with this procurement. 

Each Bidder must provide a Conflict of Interest Statement with their Bid Package.  Package may 

be deemed incomplete without this form.  

2.3 TRANSMITTAL LETTER

The Bidder should submit a Transmittal Letter that provides the following information: 

A. Name and address of individual or business entity submitting the Bid. 

B. Name, physical address, email address, business and fax number of the Bidder ’s principal 
contact person regarding all contractual matters relating to this IFB.

C. The Bid ’s Federal Employer Identification Number.

D. If the Proposal being submitted will have an effect on air quality for the County (as it relates to any 
state, federal, or voluntary air quality standard), then the Respondent is encouraged to provide
information in narrative indicating the anticipated air quality impact. See Section 4.36, Air Quality 
for more information. 

2.4 CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PARTIES – FORM 1295

As of January 1, 2016, all Successful Bidders are responsible for complying with the Texas Government 
Code, Section 2252.908.  The law states that the County may not enter into certain contracts with a 
Bidder unless the Bidder submits a disclosure of interested parties to the County at the time the Bidder 
submits the signed Contract.  The law applies only to a Contract of the County on or after January 1, 
2016 that either:

A. Requires an action or vote by the Commissioners Court before the Contract may be signed (all 
contracts that fall under the jurisdiction of the Commissioners Court approval, such as contracts 
resulting from an Initiation for Bid (IFB), RFP, Request for Qualifications (RFQ), etc., excluding, 
but not limited to, certain Juvenile Service contracts, contracts funded with Sheriff ’s seized fun 
monies, etc.); or

B. Has a value of at least $1,000,000. 

By January 1, 2016, the Texas Ethics Commission will make available on its website, a new filing 
application that must be used to file Form 1295.  Information regarding how to use the filing application is 
available on the Texas Ethics Commission website at the following link:

https://www.ethics.state.tx.us/whatsnew/elf_info_form1295.htm

A Respondent must:

A. Use the online application to process the required information on Form 1295.

B. Print a copy of the form which will contain a unique certification number.

C. An authorized agent of the Bidder must sign the printed copy of the form.

D. Have the form notarized.

E. File the completed Form 1295 and certification of filing (scanning and emailing form is sufficient) 
with Williamson County Purchasing Agent at the time the signed Contract is submitted for 
approval.

After the Commissioners Court award of the Contract, the County shall notify the Texas Ethics 
Commission, using the Texas Ethics Commission ’s filing application, of the receipt of the filed Form 
1295 and certification of filing not later than the 30th day after the date the Contract binds all parties to the 
Contract. The Texas Ethics Commission will post the completed Form 1295 to its website within seven 
business days after receiving notice from the County.

2.5 ETHICS

The Bidder shall not accept or offer gifts or anything of value nor enter into any business arrangement 
with any employee, official or agent of the County.

2.6 BID SUBMITTAL DEADLINE

The Bid is due no later than the submittal date and time set forth in the Public Announcement and 
General Information listed in this IFB package.  Contents of each Bid shall be submitted in accordance 
with this IFB.

2.7 DELIVERY OF BIDS

The County uses BidSync to distribute and receive Bids and proposals.  It is preferred that Bids
submitted electronically through BidSync; however, Bidders can submit a hard copy.  

Refer to www.bidsync.com for further information on how to submit electronically.

If mailed or delivered in person, Bids and Bid Addenda are to be delivered in sealed envelope on or before
the submittal deadline, as noted in the Public Announcement and General Information listed in this IFB 
package, to:

            Williamson County Purchasing Department
            Attn: Bid Name and Number
            901 South Austin Avenue
            Georgetown, Texas 78626

Also, all Bidders should list their Name and Address, and the Date of the Bid opening on the outside
the box or envelope and note “Sealed Bid Enclosed.” The County will not accept any Bids received after 
the submittal deadline, and shall return such Bids unopened to the Bidder.  The County will not accept 
any responsibility for Bids being delivered by third party carriers.  

Bids will be opened publically and the names of Bidders and pricing will be read aloud.

SECTION 3 - INSTRUCTIONS AND GENERAL REQUIREMENTS

3.1 INSTRUCTIONS

Read this document carefully, and follow all instructions and requirements.  All Bidders are responsible 
for fulfilling all requirements and specifications.  Be sure to have a clear understanding of this IFB.

General requirements apply to all advertised IFBs; however, these may be superseded, in whole or in 
part, by the bid specifications, Addenda and modifications issued as a part of this IFB.  Be sure your Bid 
package is complete.

3.2 AMBIGUITY, CONFLICT, OR OTHER ERRORS IN THIS IFB

If a Bidder discovers any ambiguity, conflict, discrepancy, omission or other error in this IFB, the Bidder 
shall immediately notify the County Purchasing Department of such error in writing and request
modification or clarification of the document.

Modifications will be made by issuing Addenda. If the Bidder fails to notify the County prior to the date
and time fixed for submission of Bids of an error or ambiguity in the IFB known to the Bidder, or an error
or ambiguity that reasonably should have been known to the Bidder, then the Bidder shall be deemed to 
have waived the error or ambiguity or its later resolution.

The County may also modify the IFB, no later than forty-eight (48) hours prior to the date and time fixed
for submission of Bids, by issuance of an Addendum.  All Addenda will be numbered consecutively, 
beginning with one (1).

3.3 NOTIFICATION OF MOST CURRENT ADDRESS

All Bidders in receipt of this IFB shall notify the Williamson County Purchasing Department of any
address changes, contact person changes, and/or telephone number changes no later than forty-eight 
(48) hours prior to the date and time fixed for submission of Bids.

3.4 SIGNATURE OF BIDDER

A. If the Bidder is a Corporation or Limited Liability Company, the legal name of the Corporation
Limited Liability Company shall be provided together with the signature of the officer or officers 
authorized to sign on behalf of such entity.

B. If the Bidder is a General Partnership, the true name of the firm shall be provided with the
signature of each partner authorized to sign.

C. If the Bidder is a Limited Partnership, the name of the Limited Partner ’s General Partner shall
provided with the signature of the officer authorized to sign on behalf of the General Partner.

D. If the Bidder is a Sole Proprietor(s) (individual), each Sole Proprietor(s) shall sign.

E. If signature is by an agent, other than the Sole Proprietor(s) or an officer of a Corporation, Limited 
Liability Company, General Partner or a member of a General Partnership, a power of attorney
equivalent document must be submitted to the Williamson County Purchasing Department.

3.5 ASSUMED BUSINESS NAME

If the Bidder operates business under an Assumed Business Name, the Bidder must have on file with the
Williamson County Clerk a current Assumed Name Certificate and provide a file marked copy of same.

3.6 BID OBLIGATION 

The contents of the IFB, Bid, and any clarification thereof submitted by the Successful Bidder shall
become part of the contractual obligation and incorporated by reference into the Contract and any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

3.7 COMPLIANCE WITH IFB SPECIFICATIONS

It is intended that this IFB describe the requirements and the Bid format in sufficient detail to secure 
comparable Bids.  Failure to comply with all provisions of the IFB may, at the sole discretion of the 
County, result in disqualification.

3.8 WITHDRAWAL OF BID

The Bidder may withdraw its Bid by submitting a written request with the company letterhead and the 
signature of an authorized individual, as described in Section 3.4, Signature of Bidder, to the Williamson 
County Purchasing Department any time prior to the submission deadline.  

The Bidder may submit a new Bid prior to the deadline. Alterations of the Bid in any manner will not be 
considered if submitted after the deadline.  Withdrawal of a Bid after the deadline will be subject to written 
approval of the Williamson County Purchasing Agent.

3.9 EVALUATION AND AWARD

The County reserves the right to use all pertinent information (also learned from sources other than 
disclosed in the Bid process) that might affect the County ’s judgment as to the appropriateness of
award to the lowest and best evaluated Bid. This information may be appended to the Bid evaluation
process results. Information on a Bidder from reliable sources, and not within the Bidder ’s Bid, may also 
be noted and made part of the evaluation fi le.  The County shall have sole discretion for determining 
the reliability of the source.

To ensure the proper and fair evaluation of a solicitation, the County prohibits unsolicited communication 
initiated by the Bidder to the County Official or Employee evaluating or considering the Bids prior to the 
time an award has been made. Unsolicited communication may be ground for disqualifying the 
offending Bidder from consideration or award of the solicitation, or any future solicitation.

Communication between the Bidder and the County will be initiated by the appropriate County Official
Employee in order to obtain information or clarification needed to develop a proper and accurate 
evaluation of the solicitation.

The County intends to award a Contract to the most responsible and responsive Bidder whose Bid will 
be most advantageous to the County. In accordance with Texas Government Code and Local
Government Code, the County may consider, to the extent allowed by law, the following:

A. Price;
B. The Bidder ’s experience and reputation;
C. Quality of the Bidder ’s goods and/or services; 
D. The Bidder ’s safety record;
E. The Bidder ’s proposed personnel; 
F. The Bidder ’s financial capabilities; and 
G. Any other relevant factors specifically listed in this IFB or authorized by law.

3.10 CONDISERATION OF LOCATION OF PRINCIPAL OFFICE 

Pursuant to Texas Local Government Code, Section 271.905 , in purchasing any real property or personal
property that is not affixed to real property, if the County receives one or more Bids from a Bidder whose
principal place of business is in Williamson County and whose Bid is within three (3 )  percent of the
lowest Bid price received by the County from a Bidder who is not a resident of Williamson County, the 
County may enter into a contract with:

A. The lowest Bidder; or the Bidder whose principal place of business is in Williamson County if the
Commissioners Court determines, in writing, that the local Bidder offers the County the best 
combination of contract price and addit ional economic development opportunities
Williamson County created by the contract award, including the employment of residents
Williamson County and increased tax revenues to Williamson County.

It is understood that the Commissioners Court of Williamson County, Texas, reserves the right to accept
or reject any and/or all Bids for any or all goods and/or services covered in this IFB, and to waive
informalities or defects in the Bid or to accept such Bid, if it shall deem to be in the best interest of the 
County.

Awards should be made approximately sixty (60) business days after the Bid opening date. Results may
be obtained by viewing the Williamson County vendor portal at the following link:

http://www.wilco.org/CountyDepartments/Purchasing/SearchforaPastBid/tabid/5213/language/en-
US/Default.aspx

3.11 RESPONSIBILITY 

It is expected that a prospective Bidder will be able to affirmatively demonstrate responsibility.  A 
prospective Bidder should be able to meet the following requirements:

A. Have adequate financial resources, or the ability to obtain such resources as required;
B. Be able to comply with the required or proposed delivery schedule;
C. Have a satisfactory record of performance that can be determined thru references provided; and 
D. Be otherwise qualified and eligible to receive an award.

The County may request representation and other information sufficient to determine the Bidder's ability 
to meet these minimum standards listed above.

3.12 FIRM PRICING 

For unit price items, all of the items listed are to be on a “per unit” basis, stating a firm price per unit or 
unit quantity of each item.  The Bidder must submit a firm price that must be good from the date of Bid 
opening for the fixed period of time set out in this IFB.  Unless the IFB expressly states otherwise, this 
period shall be until the end of the Initial Contract Period.

Bids which do not state a fixed price, or which are subject to change without notice, will not be 
considered.  The Court may award a Contract for the period implied or expressly stated in the lowest and 
best Bid.

3.13 PURCHASE ORDERS

If required by the Williamson County Purchasing Department, a purchase order(s) may be generated to 
the Successful Bidder for goods and/or services.  If a purchase order is issued, the purchase order 
number must appear on all itemized invoices and/or requests for payment.

3.14 SILENCE OF SPECIFICATIONS

The apparent silence of these specifications as to any detail or to the apparent omission from it of a 
detailed description concerning any point, shall be regarded as meaning that only the best practices are 
to prevail.  All interpretations of these specifications shall be made on the basis of this statement.

3.15 REFERENCES

The County may require the Bidder to supply a list of at least three (3) references where like services
and/or goods have been supplied by their firm within the past five (5) years, to include names, titles, 
phone numbers and email addresses of key personnel, and dates of performance.

The County may contact some or all of the references in order to determine the Respondent
performance record on work similar to that described in this RFP.  The County reserves the right to 
contact references other than those provided in the response and to use the information gained from 
them in the evaluation process.

References, if requested, should be provided in accordance with this IFB.  Bid may not be deemed 
complete without the inclusion of requested references.

SECTION 4 - TERMS AND CONDITIONS

4.1 VENUE AND GOVERNING LAW

The Bidder hereby agrees and acknowledges that venue and jurisdiction of any suit, right, or cause of 
action arising out of or in connection with this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s), shall lie 
exclusively in either Williamson County, Texas or in the Austin Division of the Western Federal District of 
Texas, and the parties hereto expressly consent and submit to such jurisdiction.  Furthermore, except to 
the extent that this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) is governed by the laws of the United 
States, this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be governed by and construed in 
accordance with the laws of the State of Texas, excluding, however, its choice of law rules.

4.2 INCORPORATION BY REFERENCE AND PRECEDENCE

A. The Contract shall be derived from the IFB and its Addenda (if applicable), and the Bidder ’ s Bid.  In 
the event of a dispute under the Contract, applicable documents will be referred to for the purpose 
of clarification or for additional detail in the following order of precedence:

1. The IFB and its Addenda (if applicable); and

2. The Bidder ’s Bid.

B. In the event the County requires that an Ensuing Agreement be executed following award and a 
dispute arises between the terms and conditions of the Ensuing Agreement, the IFB and its 
Addenda (if applicable), and the Bidder ’s Bid, applicable documents will be referred to for the 
purpose of clarification or for additional detail in the following order of precedence: 

1. Terms and conditions of the Ensuing Agreement;

2. The IFB its Addenda; and 

3. The Bidder ’s Bid.

4.3 OWNERSHIP OF BID

Each Bid shall become the property of the County upon submittal and will not be returned to Bidders 
unless received after the submittal deadline.

4.4 DISQUALIFICATION OF BIDDER

Upon signing and submittal of the Bid, a Bidder offering to sell supplies, materials, services, or equipment 
to the County, certifies that the Bidder has not violated the antitrust laws of the State of Texas codified in 
Business & Commerce Code, Section 15.01, or the Federal Antitrust Laws, and has not communicated 
directly or indirectly the offer made to any competitor or any other person engaged in such line of 
business.  Any or all Bids may be rejected if the County believes that collusion exists among the Bidders.

4.5 FUNDING

The County intends to budget and make sufficient funds available and authorize funds for expenditure to 
finance the costs of the Contract.  All Bidders understand and agree that the County’s payment of 
amounts under the Contract shall be contingent on the County receiving appropriations or other 
expenditure authority sufficient to allow the County, in the exercise of reasonable administrative 
discretion, to make payments under this Contract.

4.6 ASSIGNMENT, SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS 

The Successful Bidder may not assign, sell, or otherwise transfer the Contract or any other rights or 
interests obtained under the Contract without written permission of the Commissioners Court.  The 
Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the contracting 
parties hereto and their respective successors and permitted assigns.

4.7 IMPLIED REQUIREMENTS

Products or services not specifically described or required in the IFB, but are necessary to provide the 
functional capabilities described by the Bidder, shall be implied and deemed to be included in the Bid.

4.8 TERMINATION

A. Termination for Cause: The County reserves the right to terminate the Contract and/or any 
Ensuing Agreement(s) for default if the Successful Bidder breaches any of the Bid specifications,
terms and conditions, including warranties of the Bidder, if any, or if the Successful Bidder 
becomes insolvent or commits acts of bankruptcy.  Such right of termination is in addition to and
not in lieu of any other remedies the County may have at law or in equity or as may otherwise
provided hereunder.  Default may be construed as, but not limited to, failure to deliver the proper 
goods and/or services within the proper amount of time, and/or to properly perform any and all 
other requirements to the County ’s satisfaction, and/or to meet all other obligations and
requirements.

B. Termination for Convenience: The County may terminate the Contract and/or any Ensuing 
Agreement(s) for convenience and without cause or further liability, upon no less than thirty (30) 
calendar days written notice to the Successful Bidder. The County reserves the right to extend 
this period if it is in the best interest of the County.  In the event the County exercises its right to 
terminate without cause, it is understood and agreed that only the amounts due to the Successful 
Bidder for goods, commodities and/or services provided and expenses incurred to and including 
the date of termination, will be due and payable.  No penalty will be assessed for the County
termination for convenience.

4.9 NON-PERFORMANCE

It is the objective of the County to obtain complete and satisfactory performance of the requirements set 
forth herein.  In addition to any other remedies available at law, in equity or that may be set out herein, 
failure to perform may result in a deduction of payment equal to the amount of the goods and/or services 
that were not provided and/or performed to the County ’s satisfaction.  

In the event of such non-performance, the County shall have the right, but shall not be obligated, to 
complete the services itself or by others and/or purchase the goods from other sources.  If the County 
elects to acquire the goods or perform the services itself or by others, pursuant to the foregoing, the 
Successful Bidder shall reimburse the County, within ten (10) calendar days of demand, for all costs 
incurred by the County (including, without limitation, applicable, general, and administrative expenses, 
and field overhead, and the cost of necessary equipment, materials, and field labor) in correcting the 
nonperformance which the Successful Bidder fails to meet pursuant to the requirements set out herein.  
In the event the Successful Bidder refuses to reimburse the County as set out in this provision, the 
County shall have the right to deduct such reimbursement amounts from any amounts that may be then 
owing or that may become owing in the future to the Successful Bidder.

4.10 PROPRIETARY INFORMATION AND THE TEXAS PUBLIC INFORMATION ACT

All material submitted to the County shall become public property and subject to the Texas Public 
Information Act upon receipt. If a Bidder does not desire proprietary information in the Bid to be 
disclosed, each page must be clearly identified and marked proprietary at time of submittal or, more 
preferably, all proprietary information may be placed in a folder or appendix and be clearly identified and 
marked as being proprietary.  Failure to clearly identify and mark information as being proprietary as set 
forth under this provision will result in all unmarked information being deemed non-proprietary and 
available to the public.  For all information that has not been clearly identified and marked as proprietary 
by the Bidder, the County may choose to place such information on the County ’s website and/or a similar 
public database without obtaining any type of prior consent from the Bidder.

The County will, to the extent allowed by law, endeavor to protect from public disclosure the information 
that has been identified and marked as proprietary.  The final decision as to what information must be 
disclosed, however, lies with the Texas Attorney General.  

To the extent, if any, that any provision in this IFB or in the Bidder ’s Bid is in conflict with Texas 
Government Code, Chapter 552, as amended (the “Public Information Act”), the same shall be of no 
force or effect.  Furthermore, it is expressly understood, and agreed, that the County, and its officers and 
employees, may request advice, decisions and opinions of the Attorney General of the State of Texas in 
regard to the application of the Public Information Act to any items or data furnished to the County as to 
whether or not the same are available to the public.  It is further understood that the County, and its 
officers and employees, shall have the right to rely on the advice, decisions and opinions of the Attorney 
General, and that the County, its officers and employees shall have no liability or obligation to any party 
hereto for the disclosure to the public, or to any person or persons, of any items or data furnished to the 
County by a party hereto, in reliance of any advice, decision or opinion of the Attorney General of the 
State of Texas.

4.11 RIGHT TO AUDIT

The Successful Bidder agrees that the County or its duly authorized representatives shall, until the 
expiration of three (3) years after termination or expiration of the services to be performed, have access 
to and the right to examine and photocopy any and all books, documents, papers and records of the 
Successful Bidder, which are directly pertinent to the services to be performed or goods to be delivered 
for the purposes of making audits, examinations, excerpts and transcriptions.  The Successful Bidder 
agrees that the County shall have access during normal working hours to all necessary facilities and 
shall be provided adequate and appropriate work space in order to conduct audits in compliance with the 
provisions of this section.  The County shall give the Successful Bidder reasonable advance notice of 
intended audits.

4.12 TESTING AND INSPECTIONS

The County reserves the right to inspect and test equipment, supplies, materials and goods for quality 
and compliance with this IFB, and ability to meet the needs of the user.  Demonstration units must be 
available for review.  Should the goods or services fail to meet requirements and/or be unavailable for 
evaluation, the County can deem the Bidder to be in breach and terminate the Contract and/or any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

4.13 BID PREPARATION COSTS

The cost of developing Bids is the sole responsibility of the Bidders and shall not be charged to the 
County.  There is no expressed or implied obligation for the County to reimburse the Bidders for any 
expense incurred in preparing a Bid in response to this IFB and the County will not reimburse the Bidders 
for such expenses.

4.14 INDEMNIFICATION

The Successful Bidder shall indemnify, defend and save harmless, the County, its officials, employees, 
agents and agent ’s employees from, and against, all claims, liability, and expenses including reasonable 
attorneys ’   fees, arising from activities of the Bidder, its agents, servants or employees, performed 
hereunder that result from the negligent act, error, or omission of the Bidder or any of the Bidder
agents, servants or employees, as well as all claims of loss or damage to the Bidder ’s and the County
property, equipment, and/or supplies. 

Furthermore, the County, its officials, employees, agents and agents ’ employees shall not be liable for 
damages to the Successful Bidder arising from any act of any third party, including, but not limited to, 
theft.  The Successful Bidder further agrees to indemnify, defend and save harmless, the County from its 
officials, employee, agents and agents ’ employees against all claims of whatever nature arising from any 
accident, injury, or damage whatsoever, caused to any person, or the property of any person, occurring 
in relation to the Successful Bidder ’s performance of any services requested hereunder during the term 
of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s). 

The Successful Bidder shall timely report all claims, demands, suits, actions, proceedings, liens or 
judgements to the County and shall, upon the receipt of any claim, demand, suit, action, proceeding, lien 

or judgement, not later than the fifteenth (15 th) day of each month; provide the County with a written 
report on each such matter, setting forth the status of each matter, the schedule or planned proceedings 
with respect to each matter and the cooperation or assistance, if any, of the County required by the 
Successful Bidder in the defense of each matter.  The Successful Bidder’s duty to defend, indemnify and 
hold the County harmless shall be absolute.  It shall not abate or end by reason of the expiration or 
termination of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s), unless otherwise agreed by the County in 
writing.  The provisions of this section shall survive the termination of the Contract and shall remain in full 
force and effect with respect to all such matters no matter when they arise. 

In the event of any dispute between the parties, as to whether a claim, demand, suit, action, proceeding, 
lien or judgement, that appears to have been caused by or appears to have arisen out of or in connection 
with acts or omissions of the County, the Bidder shall nevertheless fully defend such claim, demand, suit 
or action, proceeding, lien or judgement, until and unless there is a determination by a court of competent 
jurisdiction that the acts and omissions of the Bidder are not an issue in the matter. 

The Successful Bidder ’s indemnification shall cover, and the Successful Bidder agrees to, indemnify the 
County, in the event the County is found to have been negligent for having selected the Successful 
Bidder to perform the work described in this request.  The provision by the Successful Bidder of 
insurance shall not limit the liability of the Successful Bidder under the Contract and/or any Ensuing 
Agreement(s). 

4.15 WAIVER OF SUBROGATION

The Successful Bidder and the Successful Bidder ’s insurance carrier waive any and all rights 
whatsoever with regard to subrogation against the County as an indirect party to any suit arising out of 
personal or property damages resulting from the Bidder ’s performance under this Contract and any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

4.16 RELATIONSHIP OF THE PARTIES

The Successful Bidder shall be an independent contractor and shall assume all of the rights, obligations, 
liabilities, applicable to it as such independent contractor hereunder and any provisions herein which may 
appear to give the County the right to direct the Successful Bidder as to details of doing work herein 
covered, or to exercise a measure of control over the work, shall be deemed to mean that the Successful 
Bidder shall follow the desires of the County in the results of the work only.  The County shall not retain or 
have the right to control the Successful Bidder ’s means, methods or details pertaining to the Successful 
Bidder ’s performance of the work.  The County and the Successful Bidder hereby agree and declare that 
the Successful Bidder is an independent contractor and as such meets the qualifications of an 
“Independent Contractor” under Texas Workers Compensation Act, Texas Labor Code, Section 406.141, 
that the Successful Bidder is not an employee of  the County, and that the Successful Bidder and its 
employees, agents and subcontractors shall not be entitled to workers compensation coverage or any 
other type of insurance coverage held by the County.

4.17 SOLE PROVIDER

The Successful Bidder agrees and acknowledges that it shall not be considered a sole provider of the 
goods and/or services described herein and that the County may contract with other providers of such 
goods and/or services if the County deems, at its sole discretion, that multiple providers of the same 
goods and/or services will serve the best interest of the County.

4.18 FORCE MAJEURE

If the party obligated to perform is prevented from performance by an act of war, order of legal authority, 
act of God, or other unavoidable cause not attributable to the fault or negligence of said party, the other 
party shall grant such party relief from the performance.  The burden of proof for the need of such relief 
shall rest upon the party obligated to perform.  To obtain release based on force majeure, the party 
obligated to perform shall file a written request with the other party.

4.19 SEVERABILITY

If any provision of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be held invalid or 
unenforceable by any court of competent jurisdiction, such holding shall not invalidate or render 
unenforceable any other provision thereof, but rather the entire IFB, Contract or any Ensuing Agreement
(s) will be construed as if not containing the particular invalid or unenforceable provision or provisions, 
and the rights and obligation of the parties shall be construed and enforced in accordance therewith.  The 
parties acknowledge that if any provision of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) is 
determined to be invalid or unenforceable, it is the desire and intention of each that such provision be 
reformed and construed in such a manner that it will, to the maximum extent practicable, give effect to
the intent of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) and be deemed to be validated and
enforceable.

4.20 EQUAL OPPORTUNITY

Neither party shall discriminate against any employee or applicant for employment because of race, 
color, sex, religion or national origin.

4.21 NOTICE

Any notice to be given shall be in writing and may be distributed by personal delivery, or by registered or 
certified mail, return receipt requested, addressed to the proper party, at the following address:

The County:    Williamson County Purchasing Department 
            Attn: Purchasing Agent 
            901 South Austin Avenue 
            Georgetown, Texas 78626

The Bidder:     Address set out in Bidder’s Transmittal Letter.

Notices given in accordance with this provision shall be effective upon (1) receipt by the party to which 
notice is given, or (2) on the third (3rd) calendar day following mailing, whichever occurs first.

4.22 SALES AND USE TAX EXEMPTION

The County is a body, corporate and politic, under the laws of the State of Texas and claims exemption 
from sales and use taxes under Texas Tax Code, Section 151.309, as amended, and the services and/or 
goods subject hereof are being secured for use by the County.

4.23 COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS

The County and the Successful Bidder shall comply with all federal, state, and local laws, statutes,
ordinances, rules and regulations, and the orders and decrees of any courts or administrative bodies or 
tribunals in any matter affecting the performance of the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s),
including, without limitation, Workers ’ Compensation laws, salary and wage statutes and regulations, 
licensing laws and regulations.  When required, the Successful Bidder shall furnish the County with 
certification of compliance with said laws, statues, ordinances, rules, regulations, orders, and decrees 
above specified.

4.24 INCORPORATION OF EXHIBITS, APPENDICES AND ATTACHMENTS

All of the Exhibits, Appendices and Attachments referred to herein are incorporated by reference as if set 
forth verbatim herein.  Any conflicting terms in the Contract documents will be resolved at the sole 
discretion of the Commissioners Court.

4.25 NO WAIVER OF IMMUNITIES

Nothing herein shall be deemed to waive, modify or amend any legal defense available at law or in equity 
to the County, its past or present officers, employees, or agents, nor to create any legal rights or claim on 
behalf of any third party.  The County does not waive, modify, or alter to any extent whatsoever the 
availability of the defense of governmental immunity under the laws of the State of Texas and of the 
United States.

4.26 NO WAIVER

The failure or delay of any party to enforce at any time or any period of time any of the provisions of this 
IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall not constitute a present or future waiver of such 
provisions nor the right of either party to enforce each and every provision.  Furthermore, no term or 
provision hereof shall be deemed waived and no breach excused unless such waiver or consent shall be 
in writing and signed by the party claimed to have waived or consented.  Any consent by any party to, or 
waiver of, a breach by the other, whether expressed or implied, shall not constitute a consent to, waiver 
of or excuse for any other, different or subsequent breach.

4.27 CURRENT REVENUES

The obligations of the parties under the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) do not constitute a 
general obligation or indebtedness of the County for which the County is obligated to levy, pledge, or 
collect any of taxation.  It is understood and agreed that the County shall have the right to terminate the 
Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) at the end of any the County fiscal year if the governing body of 
the County does not appropriate sufficient funds as determined by the County ’s budget for the fiscal year 
in question.  The County may effect such termination by giving written notice of termination to the 
Successful Bidder at the end of its then-current fiscal year.

4.28 FOB DESTINATION

To the extent applicable to this IFB, all of the items listed are to be Free On Board to final destination 
(FOB Destination) with all transportation charges if applicable to be included in the Bid, unless otherwise 
specified in the Invitation for Bids.  The title and risk of loss of the goods shall not pass to the County until 
receipt and acceptance takes place at the FOB Destination point.

4.29 BINDING EFFECT

This Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties 
and their respective permitted assigns and successors.

4.30 ASSIGNMENT

The Successful Bidder ’s interest and duties hereunder may not be assigned or delegated to a third party 
without the express written consent of the County.

4.31 SAFETY

The Successful Bidder is responsible for initiating, maintaining, and supervising all safety precautions 
and programs in connection with any services to be provided hereunder. The safety program shall 
comply with all applicable requirements of the current federal Occupational Safety and Health Act and all 
other applicable federal, state and local laws and regulations.

4.32 GENERAL OBLIGATIONS AND RELIANCE

The Successful Bidder shall perform all services and/or provide all goods, as well as those reasonably
inferable and necessary for completion and provision of services and/or goods required hereunder. The
Successful Bidder shall keep the County informed of the progress and quality of the services.  The 
Successful Bidder agrees and acknowledges that the County is relying on the Successful Bidder's 
represented expertise and ability to provide the goods and/or services described herein.  The Successful
Bidder agrees to use its best efforts, skill, judgment, and abilities to perform its obligations in accordance
with the highest standards used in the profession and to further the interests of the County 
accordance with the County ’s requirements and procedures.    T h e   Successful Bidder ’s duties,
set forth herein, shall at no time be in any way diminished by reason of any approval by the County, nor
shall the Successful Bidder be released from any liability by reason of such approval by the County, it 
being understood that the County at all times is ultimately relying upon the Successful Bidder ’s skill and 
knowledge in performing the services and providing any goods required hereunder.

4.33 ESTIMATED QUANTITIES

To the extent applicable to this IFB, the estimated quantity of each item listed in this IFB is only
estimate; the actual quantity to be purchased may be more or less. The County is not obligated
purchase any minimum amount, and the County may purchase any reasonable amount greater than the
estimate for the same unit price. Any limit on quantities available must be stated expressly in the Bid.

4.34 CONTRACTUAL DEVELOPMENT

The contents of the IFB and the Successful Bidder ’s Bid will become an integral part of the Contract, but 
may be modified, at the County ’s sole discretion, by provisions of an Ensuing Agreement.  Therefore, the 
Bidder must agree to an inclusion of an Ensuing Agreement of the Bid specifications, terms and 
conditions of this IFB.  If an Ensuing Agreement is required under this IFB, information relative to the 
Agreement will be located in the Special Provisions Section of this IFB.

4.35 SURVIVABILITY 

All applicable agreements that were entered into between the Successful Bidder and the County, under 
the terms and conditions of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s), shall survive the expiration or 
termination thereof for ninety (90) days unless a new contract has been awarded.

The County may exercise, by written notice to the Successful Bidder no later than ten (10) calendar days 
of the Contract expiration, this clause for emergencies only. 

4.36 AIR QUALITY

In determining the overall best Bid, the County may, to the extent applicable, exercise the option granted 
to local governments under the Texas Local Government Code, Section 271.907.

This option allows the County to evaluate Bids and give preference to goods and/or services of a Bidder 
that demonstrates that the Bidder meets or exceeds any and all state or federal environmental 
standards, including voluntary standards, relating to air quality.  If the Bid being submitted will have an 
effect on air quality for the County (as it relates to any state, federal, or voluntary air quality standard), 
then the Bidder is encouraged to provide information in narrative indicating the anticipated air quality 
impact.  All Bidders are expected to meet all mandated state and federal air quality standards.

4.37 ENTIRE AGREEMENT

The Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall supersede all prior Agreements, written or oral 
between the Successful Bidder and the County and shall constitute the entire Agreement and 
understanding between the parties with respect to the services and/or goods to be provided.  Each of the 
provisions herein shall be binding upon the parties and may not be waived, modified, amended or altered, 
except by writing signed by the Successful Bidder and the County.

4.38 PAYMENT

The County ’s payment for goods and services shall be governed by the Texas Government Code, 

Chapter 2251.  An invoice shall be deemed overdue the thirty-first (31st) day after the later of the 
following: 

A. The date the County receives the goods under the Contract; 
B. The date the performance of the service under the Contract is completed; or 
C. The date the Williamson County Auditor receives an invoice for the goods or services.  

Interest charges for any overdue payments shall be paid by the County in accordance with Texas 
Government Code, Section 2251.025.  More specifically, the rate of interest that shall accrue on a late 
payment is the rate in effect on September 1 of the County ’s fiscal year in which the payment becomes 
due.  The said rate in effect on September 1 shall be equal to the sum of one (1) percent, and the prime 

rate published in the Wall Street Journal on the first (1st) day of July of the preceding fiscal year that does 
not fall on a Saturday or Sunday.

In the event that an error appears in an invoice submitted by the Successful Bidder, the County shall 
notify the Successful Bidder of the error not later than the twenty-first (21st) day after the date the County 
receives the invoice.  If the error is resolved in favor of the Successful Bidder, the Successful Bidder 
shall be entitled to receive interest on the unpaid balance of the invoice submitted by the Successful 
Bidder beginning on the date that the payment for the invoice became overdue.  If the error is resolved in 
favor of the County, the Successful Bidder shall submit a corrected invoice that must be paid in 
accordance within the time set forth above.  The unpaid balance accrues interest as provided by the 
Texas Government Code, Chapter 2251, if the corrected invoice is not paid by the appropriate date.

As a minimum, invoices shall include:

A. Name, address, and telephone number of the Successful Bidder and similar information in the 
event the payment is to be made to a different address. 

B. The County Contract, Purchase Order. 

C. Identification of items or service as outlined in the Contract. 

D. Quantity or quantities, applicable unit prices, total prices and total amount. 

E. Any additional payment information which may be called for by the Contract. 

Payment inquiries should be directed to the following address:        

            Williamson County Auditor’s Office, Accounts Payable Department
            Email: accountspayable@wilco.org
            Phone: 512-943-1500

4.39 CONTRACTUAL FORMATION AND ENSUING AGREEMENT

The IFB and the Bidder ’s Bid, when properly accepted by the Commissioners Court, shall constitute a
Contract equally binding between the Successful Bidder and the County.

If an Ensuing Agreement is required by this IFB, that information will be provided in Special 
Provisions section of this IFB.  The Successful Bidder shall be required to execute the Agreement at 
the Williamson County Purchasing Department approximately ten (10) calendar days after the 
Successful Bidder is notified of award.  The Ensuing Agreement shall be in the same form as the 
Agreement which is attached to the end of this IFB.  The only anticipated changes in the Ensuing 
Agreement will be to include additional exhibits, to fill in blanks to identify the Successful Bidder, and 
terms relating to the compensation, or to revise the Agreement to accommodate corrections, changes in 
the scope of services, or changes pursuant to Addenda issued.  Bidders should raise any questions 
regarding the terms of the Agreement in the form of written questions or submittals as 
described in the Public Announcement and General Information portion of this IFB.  Because the 
signed Ensuing Agreement will be substantively and substantially derived from the attached Agreement, 
each Bidder is urged to seek independent legal counsel as to any questions about the terms, conditions 
or provisions contained in the Agreement before submitting a Bid.  Again, the attached Agreement, if 
applicable, contains important legal provisions and is considered part and parcel of this IFB.  Failure or 
refusal to sign aforesaid Agreement shall be grounds for the County to revoke any award which has been 
issued, forfeit Bid security, if applicable, and select another Bidder.

4.40 COOPERATIVE PURCHASING PROGRAM 

During the term of the Contract resulting from this IFB, the County would like to afford the same prices, 
terms and conditions to other political subdivisions or public entities.  Another entity’s participation in the 
Contract resulting from this IFB is subject to a properly authorized Purchasing Cooperative Inter- local 
Agreement with the County.  Any liability created by purchase orders issued against the Contract shall be 
the sole responsibility of the governmental agency placing the order.

4.41 INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS

To the extent applicable Insurance information will appear in the Additional Stipulations section that is in 
this IFB Package. 

4.42 BIDDERS BOND, WARRANTY BOND, PERFORMANCE AND PAYMENT BONDS

To the extent applicable Bond information will appear in the Additional Stipulations section that is in this 
IFB Package. 

4.43 LEGAL LIABILITY INFORMATION

The Successful Bidder shall disclose all legal liability information by listing any pending litigation
anticipated litigation that your firm is involved in including, but not limited to, potential or actual legal
matters with private parties and any local, state, federal or international governmental entities. The
County reserves the right to consider legal liability information in the recommendation of any proposed 
contract to the Commissioners Court.

4.44 INCLEMENT WEATHER

In case of inclement weather or any other unforeseen event causing the County to close for business on 
the date of a Bid submission deadline, the Bid closing will automatically be postponed until the next 
business day the County is open.  If inclement weather conditions or any other unforeseen event causes 
delays in carrier service operations, the County may issue an Addendum to all known Bidders interested 
in the project to extend the deadline.  It will be the responsibility of the Bidder to notify the County of their 
interest in the project if these conditions are impacting their ability to turn in a submission within the 
stated deadline.  The County reserves the right to make the final judgement call to extend any deadline. 

4.45 CONFIDENTIALITY 

The Bidder expressly agrees that it will not use any direct or incidental confidential information that may 
be obtained while working in a governmental setting for its own benefit, and agrees that it will not access 
unauthorized areas or confidential information and it will not disclose any information to unauthorized 
third parties, and will take care to guard the security of the information at all times.

Bid 1704-156Williamson County, Texas

4/6/2017 1:22 PM p. 14



5

6

3 4

Williamson County – Invitation for Bid (IFB)

SECTION 1 - DEFINITIONS 

Addendum/Addenda – means any written or graphic instruments issued by the County prior to the 
consideration of Bids which modify or interpret the Bid Documents by additions, deletions, clarifications, 
or corrections.

Agreement/Ensuing Agreement(s) – means the Successful Bidder may be required by the County to 
sign an additional Agreement containing terms necessary to ensure compliance with the IFB and the 
Bidder ’s Bid.  Such Ensuing Agreement(s) shall contain the Bid specifications, terms and conditions that 
are derived from the IFB.

Bid Documents – means the Legal Notice, IFB including attachments, and any Addenda issued by the 
County prior to the consideration of any Bids.

Bid – means the completed and signed bid form, (sometimes referred to as the Price Sheet), and ALL 
required forms and documentation listed in the IFB package which have been submitted in accordance 
with the terms and conditions described in the IFB package.  A Bid submitted in accordance with this IFB 
is irrevocable during the specified period for evaluation and acceptance of Bids unless a waiver is 
obtained from the Williamson County Purchasing Agent.

Bidder – means a person or entity who submits a Bid in response to this IFB.

Contract – means this IFB and the Bid of the Successful Bidder shall become a Contract between the 
Successful Bidder and the County once the Successful Bidder ’s Bid is properly accepted by the 
Williamson County Commissioners Court.

Commissioner ’s Court – means the Williamson County Commissioners Court. 

County – means Williamson County, a political subdivision of the State of Texas.

Invitation for Bid (IFB) – means this document, together with the attachments thereto and any future 
Addenda issued by the County.

Successful Bidder – means the liable Bidder to whom the County intends to award the Contract.

SECTION 2 - BID FORMAT AND SUBMISSION

2.1 ORGANIZATION OF BID CONTENTS FOR SUBMITTAL 

Each Bid should be organized and items submitted in the order described below: 

A. Transmittal Letter. Please see Section 2.3, Transmittal Letter, for more information. 

B. Price Sheet.

C. Conflict of Interest Questionnaire. Please see Section 2.2, Conflict of Interest, for more 
information in regards to this. Please note that even if you deem there to be no Conflict of Interest, 
this signed questionnaire must be included in your package. 

D. References. Please see Section 3.15, References, for more information. 

E. Bid Affidavit.

F. Form 1295. Please see Section 2.4, Certificate of Interested Parties – Form 1295. 

2.2 CONFLICT OF INTEREST

No public official shall have interest in a Contract, in accordance with Vernon ’s Texas Codes Annotated, 
Local Government Code, Title 5, Subtitle C, Chapter 171, as amended. 

As of January 1, 2006, all Bidders are responsible for complying with Local Government Code, Title 5, 
Subtitle C, Chapter 176.  Additional information may be obtained from the County’s website at the 
following link: 

http://www.wilco.org/CountyDepartments/Purchasing/ConflictofInterestDisclosure/tabid/689/language/en
US/Default.aspx

Each Bidder must disclose any existing or potential conflict of interest relative to the performance of the 
requirements of this IFB.  Examples of potential conflicts of interest may include an existing 
business or personal relationship between the Bidder, its principal, or any affiliate or 
subcontractor with the County or any other entity or person involved in any way with the project 
that is subject to this IFB .  Similarly, any personal or business relationship between the Bidder, the 

principals, or any affiliate or subcontractor with any employee, or official of the County or its suppliers 
must be disclosed.  Any such relationship that might be perceived or represented as a conflict must be 
disclosed. Failure to disclose any such relationship or reveal personal relationships with the County 
employees or officials may be cause for termination. 

The County will decide if an actual or perceived conflict should result in Bid disqualification. 

By submitting a Bid in response to this IFB, all Bidders affirm they have not given, nor intend to give, at 
any time hereafter, any economic opportunity, future employment, gift, loan, gratuity, special discount, 
trip, favor, or service to a the County public servant or any employee, official or representative of same, in 
connection with this procurement. 

Each Bidder must provide a Conflict of Interest Statement with their Bid Package.  Package may 

be deemed incomplete without this form.  

2.3 TRANSMITTAL LETTER

The Bidder should submit a Transmittal Letter that provides the following information: 

A. Name and address of individual or business entity submitting the Bid. 

B. Name, physical address, email address, business and fax number of the Bidder ’s principal 
contact person regarding all contractual matters relating to this IFB.

C. The Bid ’s Federal Employer Identification Number.

D. If the Proposal being submitted will have an effect on air quality for the County (as it relates to any 
state, federal, or voluntary air quality standard), then the Respondent is encouraged to provide
information in narrative indicating the anticipated air quality impact. See Section 4.36, Air Quality 
for more information. 

2.4 CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PARTIES – FORM 1295

As of January 1, 2016, all Successful Bidders are responsible for complying with the Texas Government 
Code, Section 2252.908.  The law states that the County may not enter into certain contracts with a 
Bidder unless the Bidder submits a disclosure of interested parties to the County at the time the Bidder 
submits the signed Contract.  The law applies only to a Contract of the County on or after January 1, 
2016 that either:

A. Requires an action or vote by the Commissioners Court before the Contract may be signed (all 
contracts that fall under the jurisdiction of the Commissioners Court approval, such as contracts 
resulting from an Initiation for Bid (IFB), RFP, Request for Qualifications (RFQ), etc., excluding, 
but not limited to, certain Juvenile Service contracts, contracts funded with Sheriff ’s seized fun 
monies, etc.); or

B. Has a value of at least $1,000,000. 

By January 1, 2016, the Texas Ethics Commission will make available on its website, a new filing 
application that must be used to file Form 1295.  Information regarding how to use the filing application is 
available on the Texas Ethics Commission website at the following link:

https://www.ethics.state.tx.us/whatsnew/elf_info_form1295.htm

A Respondent must:

A. Use the online application to process the required information on Form 1295.

B. Print a copy of the form which will contain a unique certification number.

C. An authorized agent of the Bidder must sign the printed copy of the form.

D. Have the form notarized.

E. File the completed Form 1295 and certification of filing (scanning and emailing form is sufficient) 
with Williamson County Purchasing Agent at the time the signed Contract is submitted for 
approval.

After the Commissioners Court award of the Contract, the County shall notify the Texas Ethics 
Commission, using the Texas Ethics Commission ’s filing application, of the receipt of the filed Form 
1295 and certification of filing not later than the 30th day after the date the Contract binds all parties to the 
Contract. The Texas Ethics Commission will post the completed Form 1295 to its website within seven 
business days after receiving notice from the County.

2.5 ETHICS

The Bidder shall not accept or offer gifts or anything of value nor enter into any business arrangement 
with any employee, official or agent of the County.

2.6 BID SUBMITTAL DEADLINE

The Bid is due no later than the submittal date and time set forth in the Public Announcement and 
General Information listed in this IFB package.  Contents of each Bid shall be submitted in accordance 
with this IFB.

2.7 DELIVERY OF BIDS

The County uses BidSync to distribute and receive Bids and proposals.  It is preferred that Bids
submitted electronically through BidSync; however, Bidders can submit a hard copy.  

Refer to www.bidsync.com for further information on how to submit electronically.

If mailed or delivered in person, Bids and Bid Addenda are to be delivered in sealed envelope on or before
the submittal deadline, as noted in the Public Announcement and General Information listed in this IFB 
package, to:

            Williamson County Purchasing Department
            Attn: Bid Name and Number
            901 South Austin Avenue
            Georgetown, Texas 78626

Also, all Bidders should list their Name and Address, and the Date of the Bid opening on the outside
the box or envelope and note “Sealed Bid Enclosed.” The County will not accept any Bids received after 
the submittal deadline, and shall return such Bids unopened to the Bidder.  The County will not accept 
any responsibility for Bids being delivered by third party carriers.  

Bids will be opened publically and the names of Bidders and pricing will be read aloud.

SECTION 3 - INSTRUCTIONS AND GENERAL REQUIREMENTS

3.1 INSTRUCTIONS

Read this document carefully, and follow all instructions and requirements.  All Bidders are responsible 
for fulfilling all requirements and specifications.  Be sure to have a clear understanding of this IFB.

General requirements apply to all advertised IFBs; however, these may be superseded, in whole or in 
part, by the bid specifications, Addenda and modifications issued as a part of this IFB.  Be sure your Bid 
package is complete.

3.2 AMBIGUITY, CONFLICT, OR OTHER ERRORS IN THIS IFB

If a Bidder discovers any ambiguity, conflict, discrepancy, omission or other error in this IFB, the Bidder 
shall immediately notify the County Purchasing Department of such error in writing and request
modification or clarification of the document.

Modifications will be made by issuing Addenda. If the Bidder fails to notify the County prior to the date
and time fixed for submission of Bids of an error or ambiguity in the IFB known to the Bidder, or an error
or ambiguity that reasonably should have been known to the Bidder, then the Bidder shall be deemed to 
have waived the error or ambiguity or its later resolution.

The County may also modify the IFB, no later than forty-eight (48) hours prior to the date and time fixed
for submission of Bids, by issuance of an Addendum.  All Addenda will be numbered consecutively, 
beginning with one (1).

3.3 NOTIFICATION OF MOST CURRENT ADDRESS

All Bidders in receipt of this IFB shall notify the Williamson County Purchasing Department of any
address changes, contact person changes, and/or telephone number changes no later than forty-eight 
(48) hours prior to the date and time fixed for submission of Bids.

3.4 SIGNATURE OF BIDDER

A. If the Bidder is a Corporation or Limited Liability Company, the legal name of the Corporation
Limited Liability Company shall be provided together with the signature of the officer or officers 
authorized to sign on behalf of such entity.

B. If the Bidder is a General Partnership, the true name of the firm shall be provided with the
signature of each partner authorized to sign.

C. If the Bidder is a Limited Partnership, the name of the Limited Partner ’s General Partner shall
provided with the signature of the officer authorized to sign on behalf of the General Partner.

D. If the Bidder is a Sole Proprietor(s) (individual), each Sole Proprietor(s) shall sign.

E. If signature is by an agent, other than the Sole Proprietor(s) or an officer of a Corporation, Limited 
Liability Company, General Partner or a member of a General Partnership, a power of attorney
equivalent document must be submitted to the Williamson County Purchasing Department.

3.5 ASSUMED BUSINESS NAME

If the Bidder operates business under an Assumed Business Name, the Bidder must have on file with the
Williamson County Clerk a current Assumed Name Certificate and provide a file marked copy of same.

3.6 BID OBLIGATION 

The contents of the IFB, Bid, and any clarification thereof submitted by the Successful Bidder shall
become part of the contractual obligation and incorporated by reference into the Contract and any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

3.7 COMPLIANCE WITH IFB SPECIFICATIONS

It is intended that this IFB describe the requirements and the Bid format in sufficient detail to secure 
comparable Bids.  Failure to comply with all provisions of the IFB may, at the sole discretion of the 
County, result in disqualification.

3.8 WITHDRAWAL OF BID

The Bidder may withdraw its Bid by submitting a written request with the company letterhead and the 
signature of an authorized individual, as described in Section 3.4, Signature of Bidder, to the Williamson 
County Purchasing Department any time prior to the submission deadline.  

The Bidder may submit a new Bid prior to the deadline. Alterations of the Bid in any manner will not be 
considered if submitted after the deadline.  Withdrawal of a Bid after the deadline will be subject to written 
approval of the Williamson County Purchasing Agent.

3.9 EVALUATION AND AWARD

The County reserves the right to use all pertinent information (also learned from sources other than 
disclosed in the Bid process) that might affect the County ’s judgment as to the appropriateness of
award to the lowest and best evaluated Bid. This information may be appended to the Bid evaluation
process results. Information on a Bidder from reliable sources, and not within the Bidder ’s Bid, may also 
be noted and made part of the evaluation fi le.  The County shall have sole discretion for determining 
the reliability of the source.

To ensure the proper and fair evaluation of a solicitation, the County prohibits unsolicited communication 
initiated by the Bidder to the County Official or Employee evaluating or considering the Bids prior to the 
time an award has been made. Unsolicited communication may be ground for disqualifying the 
offending Bidder from consideration or award of the solicitation, or any future solicitation.

Communication between the Bidder and the County will be initiated by the appropriate County Official
Employee in order to obtain information or clarification needed to develop a proper and accurate 
evaluation of the solicitation.

The County intends to award a Contract to the most responsible and responsive Bidder whose Bid will 
be most advantageous to the County. In accordance with Texas Government Code and Local
Government Code, the County may consider, to the extent allowed by law, the following:

A. Price;
B. The Bidder ’s experience and reputation;
C. Quality of the Bidder ’s goods and/or services; 
D. The Bidder ’s safety record;
E. The Bidder ’s proposed personnel; 
F. The Bidder ’s financial capabilities; and 
G. Any other relevant factors specifically listed in this IFB or authorized by law.

3.10 CONDISERATION OF LOCATION OF PRINCIPAL OFFICE 

Pursuant to Texas Local Government Code, Section 271.905 , in purchasing any real property or personal
property that is not affixed to real property, if the County receives one or more Bids from a Bidder whose
principal place of business is in Williamson County and whose Bid is within three (3 )  percent of the
lowest Bid price received by the County from a Bidder who is not a resident of Williamson County, the 
County may enter into a contract with:

A. The lowest Bidder; or the Bidder whose principal place of business is in Williamson County if the
Commissioners Court determines, in writing, that the local Bidder offers the County the best 
combination of contract price and addit ional economic development opportunities
Williamson County created by the contract award, including the employment of residents
Williamson County and increased tax revenues to Williamson County.

It is understood that the Commissioners Court of Williamson County, Texas, reserves the right to accept
or reject any and/or all Bids for any or all goods and/or services covered in this IFB, and to waive
informalities or defects in the Bid or to accept such Bid, if it shall deem to be in the best interest of the 
County.

Awards should be made approximately sixty (60) business days after the Bid opening date. Results may
be obtained by viewing the Williamson County vendor portal at the following link:

http://www.wilco.org/CountyDepartments/Purchasing/SearchforaPastBid/tabid/5213/language/en-
US/Default.aspx

3.11 RESPONSIBILITY 

It is expected that a prospective Bidder will be able to affirmatively demonstrate responsibility.  A 
prospective Bidder should be able to meet the following requirements:

A. Have adequate financial resources, or the ability to obtain such resources as required;
B. Be able to comply with the required or proposed delivery schedule;
C. Have a satisfactory record of performance that can be determined thru references provided; and 
D. Be otherwise qualified and eligible to receive an award.

The County may request representation and other information sufficient to determine the Bidder's ability 
to meet these minimum standards listed above.

3.12 FIRM PRICING 

For unit price items, all of the items listed are to be on a “per unit” basis, stating a firm price per unit or 
unit quantity of each item.  The Bidder must submit a firm price that must be good from the date of Bid 
opening for the fixed period of time set out in this IFB.  Unless the IFB expressly states otherwise, this 
period shall be until the end of the Initial Contract Period.

Bids which do not state a fixed price, or which are subject to change without notice, will not be 
considered.  The Court may award a Contract for the period implied or expressly stated in the lowest and 
best Bid.

3.13 PURCHASE ORDERS

If required by the Williamson County Purchasing Department, a purchase order(s) may be generated to 
the Successful Bidder for goods and/or services.  If a purchase order is issued, the purchase order 
number must appear on all itemized invoices and/or requests for payment.

3.14 SILENCE OF SPECIFICATIONS

The apparent silence of these specifications as to any detail or to the apparent omission from it of a 
detailed description concerning any point, shall be regarded as meaning that only the best practices are 
to prevail.  All interpretations of these specifications shall be made on the basis of this statement.

3.15 REFERENCES

The County may require the Bidder to supply a list of at least three (3) references where like services
and/or goods have been supplied by their firm within the past five (5) years, to include names, titles, 
phone numbers and email addresses of key personnel, and dates of performance.

The County may contact some or all of the references in order to determine the Respondent
performance record on work similar to that described in this RFP.  The County reserves the right to 
contact references other than those provided in the response and to use the information gained from 
them in the evaluation process.

References, if requested, should be provided in accordance with this IFB.  Bid may not be deemed 
complete without the inclusion of requested references.

SECTION 4 - TERMS AND CONDITIONS

4.1 VENUE AND GOVERNING LAW

The Bidder hereby agrees and acknowledges that venue and jurisdiction of any suit, right, or cause of 
action arising out of or in connection with this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s), shall lie 
exclusively in either Williamson County, Texas or in the Austin Division of the Western Federal District of 
Texas, and the parties hereto expressly consent and submit to such jurisdiction.  Furthermore, except to 
the extent that this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) is governed by the laws of the United 
States, this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be governed by and construed in 
accordance with the laws of the State of Texas, excluding, however, its choice of law rules.

4.2 INCORPORATION BY REFERENCE AND PRECEDENCE

A. The Contract shall be derived from the IFB and its Addenda (if applicable), and the Bidder ’ s Bid.  In 
the event of a dispute under the Contract, applicable documents will be referred to for the purpose 
of clarification or for additional detail in the following order of precedence:

1. The IFB and its Addenda (if applicable); and

2. The Bidder ’s Bid.

B. In the event the County requires that an Ensuing Agreement be executed following award and a 
dispute arises between the terms and conditions of the Ensuing Agreement, the IFB and its 
Addenda (if applicable), and the Bidder ’s Bid, applicable documents will be referred to for the 
purpose of clarification or for additional detail in the following order of precedence: 

1. Terms and conditions of the Ensuing Agreement;

2. The IFB its Addenda; and 

3. The Bidder ’s Bid.

4.3 OWNERSHIP OF BID

Each Bid shall become the property of the County upon submittal and will not be returned to Bidders 
unless received after the submittal deadline.

4.4 DISQUALIFICATION OF BIDDER

Upon signing and submittal of the Bid, a Bidder offering to sell supplies, materials, services, or equipment 
to the County, certifies that the Bidder has not violated the antitrust laws of the State of Texas codified in 
Business & Commerce Code, Section 15.01, or the Federal Antitrust Laws, and has not communicated 
directly or indirectly the offer made to any competitor or any other person engaged in such line of 
business.  Any or all Bids may be rejected if the County believes that collusion exists among the Bidders.

4.5 FUNDING

The County intends to budget and make sufficient funds available and authorize funds for expenditure to 
finance the costs of the Contract.  All Bidders understand and agree that the County’s payment of 
amounts under the Contract shall be contingent on the County receiving appropriations or other 
expenditure authority sufficient to allow the County, in the exercise of reasonable administrative 
discretion, to make payments under this Contract.

4.6 ASSIGNMENT, SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS 

The Successful Bidder may not assign, sell, or otherwise transfer the Contract or any other rights or 
interests obtained under the Contract without written permission of the Commissioners Court.  The 
Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the contracting 
parties hereto and their respective successors and permitted assigns.

4.7 IMPLIED REQUIREMENTS

Products or services not specifically described or required in the IFB, but are necessary to provide the 
functional capabilities described by the Bidder, shall be implied and deemed to be included in the Bid.

4.8 TERMINATION

A. Termination for Cause: The County reserves the right to terminate the Contract and/or any 
Ensuing Agreement(s) for default if the Successful Bidder breaches any of the Bid specifications,
terms and conditions, including warranties of the Bidder, if any, or if the Successful Bidder 
becomes insolvent or commits acts of bankruptcy.  Such right of termination is in addition to and
not in lieu of any other remedies the County may have at law or in equity or as may otherwise
provided hereunder.  Default may be construed as, but not limited to, failure to deliver the proper 
goods and/or services within the proper amount of time, and/or to properly perform any and all 
other requirements to the County ’s satisfaction, and/or to meet all other obligations and
requirements.

B. Termination for Convenience: The County may terminate the Contract and/or any Ensuing 
Agreement(s) for convenience and without cause or further liability, upon no less than thirty (30) 
calendar days written notice to the Successful Bidder. The County reserves the right to extend 
this period if it is in the best interest of the County.  In the event the County exercises its right to 
terminate without cause, it is understood and agreed that only the amounts due to the Successful 
Bidder for goods, commodities and/or services provided and expenses incurred to and including 
the date of termination, will be due and payable.  No penalty will be assessed for the County
termination for convenience.

4.9 NON-PERFORMANCE

It is the objective of the County to obtain complete and satisfactory performance of the requirements set 
forth herein.  In addition to any other remedies available at law, in equity or that may be set out herein, 
failure to perform may result in a deduction of payment equal to the amount of the goods and/or services 
that were not provided and/or performed to the County ’s satisfaction.  

In the event of such non-performance, the County shall have the right, but shall not be obligated, to 
complete the services itself or by others and/or purchase the goods from other sources.  If the County 
elects to acquire the goods or perform the services itself or by others, pursuant to the foregoing, the 
Successful Bidder shall reimburse the County, within ten (10) calendar days of demand, for all costs 
incurred by the County (including, without limitation, applicable, general, and administrative expenses, 
and field overhead, and the cost of necessary equipment, materials, and field labor) in correcting the 
nonperformance which the Successful Bidder fails to meet pursuant to the requirements set out herein.  
In the event the Successful Bidder refuses to reimburse the County as set out in this provision, the 
County shall have the right to deduct such reimbursement amounts from any amounts that may be then 
owing or that may become owing in the future to the Successful Bidder.

4.10 PROPRIETARY INFORMATION AND THE TEXAS PUBLIC INFORMATION ACT

All material submitted to the County shall become public property and subject to the Texas Public 
Information Act upon receipt. If a Bidder does not desire proprietary information in the Bid to be 
disclosed, each page must be clearly identified and marked proprietary at time of submittal or, more 
preferably, all proprietary information may be placed in a folder or appendix and be clearly identified and 
marked as being proprietary.  Failure to clearly identify and mark information as being proprietary as set 
forth under this provision will result in all unmarked information being deemed non-proprietary and 
available to the public.  For all information that has not been clearly identified and marked as proprietary 
by the Bidder, the County may choose to place such information on the County ’s website and/or a similar 
public database without obtaining any type of prior consent from the Bidder.

The County will, to the extent allowed by law, endeavor to protect from public disclosure the information 
that has been identified and marked as proprietary.  The final decision as to what information must be 
disclosed, however, lies with the Texas Attorney General.  

To the extent, if any, that any provision in this IFB or in the Bidder ’s Bid is in conflict with Texas 
Government Code, Chapter 552, as amended (the “Public Information Act”), the same shall be of no 
force or effect.  Furthermore, it is expressly understood, and agreed, that the County, and its officers and 
employees, may request advice, decisions and opinions of the Attorney General of the State of Texas in 
regard to the application of the Public Information Act to any items or data furnished to the County as to 
whether or not the same are available to the public.  It is further understood that the County, and its 
officers and employees, shall have the right to rely on the advice, decisions and opinions of the Attorney 
General, and that the County, its officers and employees shall have no liability or obligation to any party 
hereto for the disclosure to the public, or to any person or persons, of any items or data furnished to the 
County by a party hereto, in reliance of any advice, decision or opinion of the Attorney General of the 
State of Texas.

4.11 RIGHT TO AUDIT

The Successful Bidder agrees that the County or its duly authorized representatives shall, until the 
expiration of three (3) years after termination or expiration of the services to be performed, have access 
to and the right to examine and photocopy any and all books, documents, papers and records of the 
Successful Bidder, which are directly pertinent to the services to be performed or goods to be delivered 
for the purposes of making audits, examinations, excerpts and transcriptions.  The Successful Bidder 
agrees that the County shall have access during normal working hours to all necessary facilities and 
shall be provided adequate and appropriate work space in order to conduct audits in compliance with the 
provisions of this section.  The County shall give the Successful Bidder reasonable advance notice of 
intended audits.

4.12 TESTING AND INSPECTIONS

The County reserves the right to inspect and test equipment, supplies, materials and goods for quality 
and compliance with this IFB, and ability to meet the needs of the user.  Demonstration units must be 
available for review.  Should the goods or services fail to meet requirements and/or be unavailable for 
evaluation, the County can deem the Bidder to be in breach and terminate the Contract and/or any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

4.13 BID PREPARATION COSTS

The cost of developing Bids is the sole responsibility of the Bidders and shall not be charged to the 
County.  There is no expressed or implied obligation for the County to reimburse the Bidders for any 
expense incurred in preparing a Bid in response to this IFB and the County will not reimburse the Bidders 
for such expenses.

4.14 INDEMNIFICATION

The Successful Bidder shall indemnify, defend and save harmless, the County, its officials, employees, 
agents and agent ’s employees from, and against, all claims, liability, and expenses including reasonable 
attorneys ’   fees, arising from activities of the Bidder, its agents, servants or employees, performed 
hereunder that result from the negligent act, error, or omission of the Bidder or any of the Bidder
agents, servants or employees, as well as all claims of loss or damage to the Bidder ’s and the County
property, equipment, and/or supplies. 

Furthermore, the County, its officials, employees, agents and agents ’ employees shall not be liable for 
damages to the Successful Bidder arising from any act of any third party, including, but not limited to, 
theft.  The Successful Bidder further agrees to indemnify, defend and save harmless, the County from its 
officials, employee, agents and agents ’ employees against all claims of whatever nature arising from any 
accident, injury, or damage whatsoever, caused to any person, or the property of any person, occurring 
in relation to the Successful Bidder ’s performance of any services requested hereunder during the term 
of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s). 

The Successful Bidder shall timely report all claims, demands, suits, actions, proceedings, liens or 
judgements to the County and shall, upon the receipt of any claim, demand, suit, action, proceeding, lien 

or judgement, not later than the fifteenth (15 th) day of each month; provide the County with a written 
report on each such matter, setting forth the status of each matter, the schedule or planned proceedings 
with respect to each matter and the cooperation or assistance, if any, of the County required by the 
Successful Bidder in the defense of each matter.  The Successful Bidder’s duty to defend, indemnify and 
hold the County harmless shall be absolute.  It shall not abate or end by reason of the expiration or 
termination of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s), unless otherwise agreed by the County in 
writing.  The provisions of this section shall survive the termination of the Contract and shall remain in full 
force and effect with respect to all such matters no matter when they arise. 

In the event of any dispute between the parties, as to whether a claim, demand, suit, action, proceeding, 
lien or judgement, that appears to have been caused by or appears to have arisen out of or in connection 
with acts or omissions of the County, the Bidder shall nevertheless fully defend such claim, demand, suit 
or action, proceeding, lien or judgement, until and unless there is a determination by a court of competent 
jurisdiction that the acts and omissions of the Bidder are not an issue in the matter. 

The Successful Bidder ’s indemnification shall cover, and the Successful Bidder agrees to, indemnify the 
County, in the event the County is found to have been negligent for having selected the Successful 
Bidder to perform the work described in this request.  The provision by the Successful Bidder of 
insurance shall not limit the liability of the Successful Bidder under the Contract and/or any Ensuing 
Agreement(s). 

4.15 WAIVER OF SUBROGATION

The Successful Bidder and the Successful Bidder ’s insurance carrier waive any and all rights 
whatsoever with regard to subrogation against the County as an indirect party to any suit arising out of 
personal or property damages resulting from the Bidder ’s performance under this Contract and any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

4.16 RELATIONSHIP OF THE PARTIES

The Successful Bidder shall be an independent contractor and shall assume all of the rights, obligations, 
liabilities, applicable to it as such independent contractor hereunder and any provisions herein which may 
appear to give the County the right to direct the Successful Bidder as to details of doing work herein 
covered, or to exercise a measure of control over the work, shall be deemed to mean that the Successful 
Bidder shall follow the desires of the County in the results of the work only.  The County shall not retain or 
have the right to control the Successful Bidder ’s means, methods or details pertaining to the Successful 
Bidder ’s performance of the work.  The County and the Successful Bidder hereby agree and declare that 
the Successful Bidder is an independent contractor and as such meets the qualifications of an 
“Independent Contractor” under Texas Workers Compensation Act, Texas Labor Code, Section 406.141, 
that the Successful Bidder is not an employee of  the County, and that the Successful Bidder and its 
employees, agents and subcontractors shall not be entitled to workers compensation coverage or any 
other type of insurance coverage held by the County.

4.17 SOLE PROVIDER

The Successful Bidder agrees and acknowledges that it shall not be considered a sole provider of the 
goods and/or services described herein and that the County may contract with other providers of such 
goods and/or services if the County deems, at its sole discretion, that multiple providers of the same 
goods and/or services will serve the best interest of the County.

4.18 FORCE MAJEURE

If the party obligated to perform is prevented from performance by an act of war, order of legal authority, 
act of God, or other unavoidable cause not attributable to the fault or negligence of said party, the other 
party shall grant such party relief from the performance.  The burden of proof for the need of such relief 
shall rest upon the party obligated to perform.  To obtain release based on force majeure, the party 
obligated to perform shall file a written request with the other party.

4.19 SEVERABILITY

If any provision of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be held invalid or 
unenforceable by any court of competent jurisdiction, such holding shall not invalidate or render 
unenforceable any other provision thereof, but rather the entire IFB, Contract or any Ensuing Agreement
(s) will be construed as if not containing the particular invalid or unenforceable provision or provisions, 
and the rights and obligation of the parties shall be construed and enforced in accordance therewith.  The 
parties acknowledge that if any provision of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) is 
determined to be invalid or unenforceable, it is the desire and intention of each that such provision be 
reformed and construed in such a manner that it will, to the maximum extent practicable, give effect to
the intent of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) and be deemed to be validated and
enforceable.

4.20 EQUAL OPPORTUNITY

Neither party shall discriminate against any employee or applicant for employment because of race, 
color, sex, religion or national origin.

4.21 NOTICE

Any notice to be given shall be in writing and may be distributed by personal delivery, or by registered or 
certified mail, return receipt requested, addressed to the proper party, at the following address:

The County:    Williamson County Purchasing Department 
            Attn: Purchasing Agent 
            901 South Austin Avenue 
            Georgetown, Texas 78626

The Bidder:     Address set out in Bidder’s Transmittal Letter.

Notices given in accordance with this provision shall be effective upon (1) receipt by the party to which 
notice is given, or (2) on the third (3rd) calendar day following mailing, whichever occurs first.

4.22 SALES AND USE TAX EXEMPTION

The County is a body, corporate and politic, under the laws of the State of Texas and claims exemption 
from sales and use taxes under Texas Tax Code, Section 151.309, as amended, and the services and/or 
goods subject hereof are being secured for use by the County.

4.23 COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS

The County and the Successful Bidder shall comply with all federal, state, and local laws, statutes,
ordinances, rules and regulations, and the orders and decrees of any courts or administrative bodies or 
tribunals in any matter affecting the performance of the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s),
including, without limitation, Workers ’ Compensation laws, salary and wage statutes and regulations, 
licensing laws and regulations.  When required, the Successful Bidder shall furnish the County with 
certification of compliance with said laws, statues, ordinances, rules, regulations, orders, and decrees 
above specified.

4.24 INCORPORATION OF EXHIBITS, APPENDICES AND ATTACHMENTS

All of the Exhibits, Appendices and Attachments referred to herein are incorporated by reference as if set 
forth verbatim herein.  Any conflicting terms in the Contract documents will be resolved at the sole 
discretion of the Commissioners Court.

4.25 NO WAIVER OF IMMUNITIES

Nothing herein shall be deemed to waive, modify or amend any legal defense available at law or in equity 
to the County, its past or present officers, employees, or agents, nor to create any legal rights or claim on 
behalf of any third party.  The County does not waive, modify, or alter to any extent whatsoever the 
availability of the defense of governmental immunity under the laws of the State of Texas and of the 
United States.

4.26 NO WAIVER

The failure or delay of any party to enforce at any time or any period of time any of the provisions of this 
IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall not constitute a present or future waiver of such 
provisions nor the right of either party to enforce each and every provision.  Furthermore, no term or 
provision hereof shall be deemed waived and no breach excused unless such waiver or consent shall be 
in writing and signed by the party claimed to have waived or consented.  Any consent by any party to, or 
waiver of, a breach by the other, whether expressed or implied, shall not constitute a consent to, waiver 
of or excuse for any other, different or subsequent breach.

4.27 CURRENT REVENUES

The obligations of the parties under the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) do not constitute a 
general obligation or indebtedness of the County for which the County is obligated to levy, pledge, or 
collect any of taxation.  It is understood and agreed that the County shall have the right to terminate the 
Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) at the end of any the County fiscal year if the governing body of 
the County does not appropriate sufficient funds as determined by the County ’s budget for the fiscal year 
in question.  The County may effect such termination by giving written notice of termination to the 
Successful Bidder at the end of its then-current fiscal year.

4.28 FOB DESTINATION

To the extent applicable to this IFB, all of the items listed are to be Free On Board to final destination 
(FOB Destination) with all transportation charges if applicable to be included in the Bid, unless otherwise 
specified in the Invitation for Bids.  The title and risk of loss of the goods shall not pass to the County until 
receipt and acceptance takes place at the FOB Destination point.

4.29 BINDING EFFECT

This Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties 
and their respective permitted assigns and successors.

4.30 ASSIGNMENT

The Successful Bidder ’s interest and duties hereunder may not be assigned or delegated to a third party 
without the express written consent of the County.

4.31 SAFETY

The Successful Bidder is responsible for initiating, maintaining, and supervising all safety precautions 
and programs in connection with any services to be provided hereunder. The safety program shall 
comply with all applicable requirements of the current federal Occupational Safety and Health Act and all 
other applicable federal, state and local laws and regulations.

4.32 GENERAL OBLIGATIONS AND RELIANCE

The Successful Bidder shall perform all services and/or provide all goods, as well as those reasonably
inferable and necessary for completion and provision of services and/or goods required hereunder. The
Successful Bidder shall keep the County informed of the progress and quality of the services.  The 
Successful Bidder agrees and acknowledges that the County is relying on the Successful Bidder's 
represented expertise and ability to provide the goods and/or services described herein.  The Successful
Bidder agrees to use its best efforts, skill, judgment, and abilities to perform its obligations in accordance
with the highest standards used in the profession and to further the interests of the County 
accordance with the County ’s requirements and procedures.    T h e   Successful Bidder ’s duties,
set forth herein, shall at no time be in any way diminished by reason of any approval by the County, nor
shall the Successful Bidder be released from any liability by reason of such approval by the County, it 
being understood that the County at all times is ultimately relying upon the Successful Bidder ’s skill and 
knowledge in performing the services and providing any goods required hereunder.

4.33 ESTIMATED QUANTITIES

To the extent applicable to this IFB, the estimated quantity of each item listed in this IFB is only
estimate; the actual quantity to be purchased may be more or less. The County is not obligated
purchase any minimum amount, and the County may purchase any reasonable amount greater than the
estimate for the same unit price. Any limit on quantities available must be stated expressly in the Bid.

4.34 CONTRACTUAL DEVELOPMENT

The contents of the IFB and the Successful Bidder ’s Bid will become an integral part of the Contract, but 
may be modified, at the County ’s sole discretion, by provisions of an Ensuing Agreement.  Therefore, the 
Bidder must agree to an inclusion of an Ensuing Agreement of the Bid specifications, terms and 
conditions of this IFB.  If an Ensuing Agreement is required under this IFB, information relative to the 
Agreement will be located in the Special Provisions Section of this IFB.

4.35 SURVIVABILITY 

All applicable agreements that were entered into between the Successful Bidder and the County, under 
the terms and conditions of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s), shall survive the expiration or 
termination thereof for ninety (90) days unless a new contract has been awarded.

The County may exercise, by written notice to the Successful Bidder no later than ten (10) calendar days 
of the Contract expiration, this clause for emergencies only. 

4.36 AIR QUALITY

In determining the overall best Bid, the County may, to the extent applicable, exercise the option granted 
to local governments under the Texas Local Government Code, Section 271.907.

This option allows the County to evaluate Bids and give preference to goods and/or services of a Bidder 
that demonstrates that the Bidder meets or exceeds any and all state or federal environmental 
standards, including voluntary standards, relating to air quality.  If the Bid being submitted will have an 
effect on air quality for the County (as it relates to any state, federal, or voluntary air quality standard), 
then the Bidder is encouraged to provide information in narrative indicating the anticipated air quality 
impact.  All Bidders are expected to meet all mandated state and federal air quality standards.

4.37 ENTIRE AGREEMENT

The Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall supersede all prior Agreements, written or oral 
between the Successful Bidder and the County and shall constitute the entire Agreement and 
understanding between the parties with respect to the services and/or goods to be provided.  Each of the 
provisions herein shall be binding upon the parties and may not be waived, modified, amended or altered, 
except by writing signed by the Successful Bidder and the County.

4.38 PAYMENT

The County ’s payment for goods and services shall be governed by the Texas Government Code, 

Chapter 2251.  An invoice shall be deemed overdue the thirty-first (31st) day after the later of the 
following: 

A. The date the County receives the goods under the Contract; 
B. The date the performance of the service under the Contract is completed; or 
C. The date the Williamson County Auditor receives an invoice for the goods or services.  

Interest charges for any overdue payments shall be paid by the County in accordance with Texas 
Government Code, Section 2251.025.  More specifically, the rate of interest that shall accrue on a late 
payment is the rate in effect on September 1 of the County ’s fiscal year in which the payment becomes 
due.  The said rate in effect on September 1 shall be equal to the sum of one (1) percent, and the prime 

rate published in the Wall Street Journal on the first (1st) day of July of the preceding fiscal year that does 
not fall on a Saturday or Sunday.

In the event that an error appears in an invoice submitted by the Successful Bidder, the County shall 
notify the Successful Bidder of the error not later than the twenty-first (21st) day after the date the County 
receives the invoice.  If the error is resolved in favor of the Successful Bidder, the Successful Bidder 
shall be entitled to receive interest on the unpaid balance of the invoice submitted by the Successful 
Bidder beginning on the date that the payment for the invoice became overdue.  If the error is resolved in 
favor of the County, the Successful Bidder shall submit a corrected invoice that must be paid in 
accordance within the time set forth above.  The unpaid balance accrues interest as provided by the 
Texas Government Code, Chapter 2251, if the corrected invoice is not paid by the appropriate date.

As a minimum, invoices shall include:

A. Name, address, and telephone number of the Successful Bidder and similar information in the 
event the payment is to be made to a different address. 

B. The County Contract, Purchase Order. 

C. Identification of items or service as outlined in the Contract. 

D. Quantity or quantities, applicable unit prices, total prices and total amount. 

E. Any additional payment information which may be called for by the Contract. 

Payment inquiries should be directed to the following address:        

            Williamson County Auditor’s Office, Accounts Payable Department
            Email: accountspayable@wilco.org
            Phone: 512-943-1500

4.39 CONTRACTUAL FORMATION AND ENSUING AGREEMENT

The IFB and the Bidder ’s Bid, when properly accepted by the Commissioners Court, shall constitute a
Contract equally binding between the Successful Bidder and the County.

If an Ensuing Agreement is required by this IFB, that information will be provided in Special 
Provisions section of this IFB.  The Successful Bidder shall be required to execute the Agreement at 
the Williamson County Purchasing Department approximately ten (10) calendar days after the 
Successful Bidder is notified of award.  The Ensuing Agreement shall be in the same form as the 
Agreement which is attached to the end of this IFB.  The only anticipated changes in the Ensuing 
Agreement will be to include additional exhibits, to fill in blanks to identify the Successful Bidder, and 
terms relating to the compensation, or to revise the Agreement to accommodate corrections, changes in 
the scope of services, or changes pursuant to Addenda issued.  Bidders should raise any questions 
regarding the terms of the Agreement in the form of written questions or submittals as 
described in the Public Announcement and General Information portion of this IFB.  Because the 
signed Ensuing Agreement will be substantively and substantially derived from the attached Agreement, 
each Bidder is urged to seek independent legal counsel as to any questions about the terms, conditions 
or provisions contained in the Agreement before submitting a Bid.  Again, the attached Agreement, if 
applicable, contains important legal provisions and is considered part and parcel of this IFB.  Failure or 
refusal to sign aforesaid Agreement shall be grounds for the County to revoke any award which has been 
issued, forfeit Bid security, if applicable, and select another Bidder.

4.40 COOPERATIVE PURCHASING PROGRAM 

During the term of the Contract resulting from this IFB, the County would like to afford the same prices, 
terms and conditions to other political subdivisions or public entities.  Another entity’s participation in the 
Contract resulting from this IFB is subject to a properly authorized Purchasing Cooperative Inter- local 
Agreement with the County.  Any liability created by purchase orders issued against the Contract shall be 
the sole responsibility of the governmental agency placing the order.

4.41 INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS

To the extent applicable Insurance information will appear in the Additional Stipulations section that is in 
this IFB Package. 

4.42 BIDDERS BOND, WARRANTY BOND, PERFORMANCE AND PAYMENT BONDS

To the extent applicable Bond information will appear in the Additional Stipulations section that is in this 
IFB Package. 

4.43 LEGAL LIABILITY INFORMATION

The Successful Bidder shall disclose all legal liability information by listing any pending litigation
anticipated litigation that your firm is involved in including, but not limited to, potential or actual legal
matters with private parties and any local, state, federal or international governmental entities. The
County reserves the right to consider legal liability information in the recommendation of any proposed 
contract to the Commissioners Court.

4.44 INCLEMENT WEATHER

In case of inclement weather or any other unforeseen event causing the County to close for business on 
the date of a Bid submission deadline, the Bid closing will automatically be postponed until the next 
business day the County is open.  If inclement weather conditions or any other unforeseen event causes 
delays in carrier service operations, the County may issue an Addendum to all known Bidders interested 
in the project to extend the deadline.  It will be the responsibility of the Bidder to notify the County of their 
interest in the project if these conditions are impacting their ability to turn in a submission within the 
stated deadline.  The County reserves the right to make the final judgement call to extend any deadline. 

4.45 CONFIDENTIALITY 

The Bidder expressly agrees that it will not use any direct or incidental confidential information that may 
be obtained while working in a governmental setting for its own benefit, and agrees that it will not access 
unauthorized areas or confidential information and it will not disclose any information to unauthorized 
third parties, and will take care to guard the security of the information at all times.

Bid 1704-156Williamson County, Texas

4/6/2017 1:22 PM p. 15



5

6

3 4

Williamson County – Invitation for Bid (IFB)

SECTION 1 - DEFINITIONS 

Addendum/Addenda – means any written or graphic instruments issued by the County prior to the 
consideration of Bids which modify or interpret the Bid Documents by additions, deletions, clarifications, 
or corrections.

Agreement/Ensuing Agreement(s) – means the Successful Bidder may be required by the County to 
sign an additional Agreement containing terms necessary to ensure compliance with the IFB and the 
Bidder ’s Bid.  Such Ensuing Agreement(s) shall contain the Bid specifications, terms and conditions that 
are derived from the IFB.

Bid Documents – means the Legal Notice, IFB including attachments, and any Addenda issued by the 
County prior to the consideration of any Bids.

Bid – means the completed and signed bid form, (sometimes referred to as the Price Sheet), and ALL 
required forms and documentation listed in the IFB package which have been submitted in accordance 
with the terms and conditions described in the IFB package.  A Bid submitted in accordance with this IFB 
is irrevocable during the specified period for evaluation and acceptance of Bids unless a waiver is 
obtained from the Williamson County Purchasing Agent.

Bidder – means a person or entity who submits a Bid in response to this IFB.

Contract – means this IFB and the Bid of the Successful Bidder shall become a Contract between the 
Successful Bidder and the County once the Successful Bidder ’s Bid is properly accepted by the 
Williamson County Commissioners Court.

Commissioner ’s Court – means the Williamson County Commissioners Court. 

County – means Williamson County, a political subdivision of the State of Texas.

Invitation for Bid (IFB) – means this document, together with the attachments thereto and any future 
Addenda issued by the County.

Successful Bidder – means the liable Bidder to whom the County intends to award the Contract.

SECTION 2 - BID FORMAT AND SUBMISSION

2.1 ORGANIZATION OF BID CONTENTS FOR SUBMITTAL 

Each Bid should be organized and items submitted in the order described below: 

A. Transmittal Letter. Please see Section 2.3, Transmittal Letter, for more information. 

B. Price Sheet.

C. Conflict of Interest Questionnaire. Please see Section 2.2, Conflict of Interest, for more 
information in regards to this. Please note that even if you deem there to be no Conflict of Interest, 
this signed questionnaire must be included in your package. 

D. References. Please see Section 3.15, References, for more information. 

E. Bid Affidavit.

F. Form 1295. Please see Section 2.4, Certificate of Interested Parties – Form 1295. 

2.2 CONFLICT OF INTEREST

No public official shall have interest in a Contract, in accordance with Vernon ’s Texas Codes Annotated, 
Local Government Code, Title 5, Subtitle C, Chapter 171, as amended. 

As of January 1, 2006, all Bidders are responsible for complying with Local Government Code, Title 5, 
Subtitle C, Chapter 176.  Additional information may be obtained from the County’s website at the 
following link: 

http://www.wilco.org/CountyDepartments/Purchasing/ConflictofInterestDisclosure/tabid/689/language/en
US/Default.aspx

Each Bidder must disclose any existing or potential conflict of interest relative to the performance of the 
requirements of this IFB.  Examples of potential conflicts of interest may include an existing 
business or personal relationship between the Bidder, its principal, or any affiliate or 
subcontractor with the County or any other entity or person involved in any way with the project 
that is subject to this IFB .  Similarly, any personal or business relationship between the Bidder, the 

principals, or any affiliate or subcontractor with any employee, or official of the County or its suppliers 
must be disclosed.  Any such relationship that might be perceived or represented as a conflict must be 
disclosed. Failure to disclose any such relationship or reveal personal relationships with the County 
employees or officials may be cause for termination. 

The County will decide if an actual or perceived conflict should result in Bid disqualification. 

By submitting a Bid in response to this IFB, all Bidders affirm they have not given, nor intend to give, at 
any time hereafter, any economic opportunity, future employment, gift, loan, gratuity, special discount, 
trip, favor, or service to a the County public servant or any employee, official or representative of same, in 
connection with this procurement. 

Each Bidder must provide a Conflict of Interest Statement with their Bid Package.  Package may 

be deemed incomplete without this form.  

2.3 TRANSMITTAL LETTER

The Bidder should submit a Transmittal Letter that provides the following information: 

A. Name and address of individual or business entity submitting the Bid. 

B. Name, physical address, email address, business and fax number of the Bidder ’s principal 
contact person regarding all contractual matters relating to this IFB.

C. The Bid ’s Federal Employer Identification Number.

D. If the Proposal being submitted will have an effect on air quality for the County (as it relates to any 
state, federal, or voluntary air quality standard), then the Respondent is encouraged to provide
information in narrative indicating the anticipated air quality impact. See Section 4.36, Air Quality 
for more information. 

2.4 CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PARTIES – FORM 1295

As of January 1, 2016, all Successful Bidders are responsible for complying with the Texas Government 
Code, Section 2252.908.  The law states that the County may not enter into certain contracts with a 
Bidder unless the Bidder submits a disclosure of interested parties to the County at the time the Bidder 
submits the signed Contract.  The law applies only to a Contract of the County on or after January 1, 
2016 that either:

A. Requires an action or vote by the Commissioners Court before the Contract may be signed (all 
contracts that fall under the jurisdiction of the Commissioners Court approval, such as contracts 
resulting from an Initiation for Bid (IFB), RFP, Request for Qualifications (RFQ), etc., excluding, 
but not limited to, certain Juvenile Service contracts, contracts funded with Sheriff ’s seized fun 
monies, etc.); or

B. Has a value of at least $1,000,000. 

By January 1, 2016, the Texas Ethics Commission will make available on its website, a new filing 
application that must be used to file Form 1295.  Information regarding how to use the filing application is 
available on the Texas Ethics Commission website at the following link:

https://www.ethics.state.tx.us/whatsnew/elf_info_form1295.htm

A Respondent must:

A. Use the online application to process the required information on Form 1295.

B. Print a copy of the form which will contain a unique certification number.

C. An authorized agent of the Bidder must sign the printed copy of the form.

D. Have the form notarized.

E. File the completed Form 1295 and certification of filing (scanning and emailing form is sufficient) 
with Williamson County Purchasing Agent at the time the signed Contract is submitted for 
approval.

After the Commissioners Court award of the Contract, the County shall notify the Texas Ethics 
Commission, using the Texas Ethics Commission ’s filing application, of the receipt of the filed Form 
1295 and certification of filing not later than the 30th day after the date the Contract binds all parties to the 
Contract. The Texas Ethics Commission will post the completed Form 1295 to its website within seven 
business days after receiving notice from the County.

2.5 ETHICS

The Bidder shall not accept or offer gifts or anything of value nor enter into any business arrangement 
with any employee, official or agent of the County.

2.6 BID SUBMITTAL DEADLINE

The Bid is due no later than the submittal date and time set forth in the Public Announcement and 
General Information listed in this IFB package.  Contents of each Bid shall be submitted in accordance 
with this IFB.

2.7 DELIVERY OF BIDS

The County uses BidSync to distribute and receive Bids and proposals.  It is preferred that Bids
submitted electronically through BidSync; however, Bidders can submit a hard copy.  

Refer to www.bidsync.com for further information on how to submit electronically.

If mailed or delivered in person, Bids and Bid Addenda are to be delivered in sealed envelope on or before
the submittal deadline, as noted in the Public Announcement and General Information listed in this IFB 
package, to:

            Williamson County Purchasing Department
            Attn: Bid Name and Number
            901 South Austin Avenue
            Georgetown, Texas 78626

Also, all Bidders should list their Name and Address, and the Date of the Bid opening on the outside
the box or envelope and note “Sealed Bid Enclosed.” The County will not accept any Bids received after 
the submittal deadline, and shall return such Bids unopened to the Bidder.  The County will not accept 
any responsibility for Bids being delivered by third party carriers.  

Bids will be opened publically and the names of Bidders and pricing will be read aloud.

SECTION 3 - INSTRUCTIONS AND GENERAL REQUIREMENTS

3.1 INSTRUCTIONS

Read this document carefully, and follow all instructions and requirements.  All Bidders are responsible 
for fulfilling all requirements and specifications.  Be sure to have a clear understanding of this IFB.

General requirements apply to all advertised IFBs; however, these may be superseded, in whole or in 
part, by the bid specifications, Addenda and modifications issued as a part of this IFB.  Be sure your Bid 
package is complete.

3.2 AMBIGUITY, CONFLICT, OR OTHER ERRORS IN THIS IFB

If a Bidder discovers any ambiguity, conflict, discrepancy, omission or other error in this IFB, the Bidder 
shall immediately notify the County Purchasing Department of such error in writing and request
modification or clarification of the document.

Modifications will be made by issuing Addenda. If the Bidder fails to notify the County prior to the date
and time fixed for submission of Bids of an error or ambiguity in the IFB known to the Bidder, or an error
or ambiguity that reasonably should have been known to the Bidder, then the Bidder shall be deemed to 
have waived the error or ambiguity or its later resolution.

The County may also modify the IFB, no later than forty-eight (48) hours prior to the date and time fixed
for submission of Bids, by issuance of an Addendum.  All Addenda will be numbered consecutively, 
beginning with one (1).

3.3 NOTIFICATION OF MOST CURRENT ADDRESS

All Bidders in receipt of this IFB shall notify the Williamson County Purchasing Department of any
address changes, contact person changes, and/or telephone number changes no later than forty-eight 
(48) hours prior to the date and time fixed for submission of Bids.

3.4 SIGNATURE OF BIDDER

A. If the Bidder is a Corporation or Limited Liability Company, the legal name of the Corporation
Limited Liability Company shall be provided together with the signature of the officer or officers 
authorized to sign on behalf of such entity.

B. If the Bidder is a General Partnership, the true name of the firm shall be provided with the
signature of each partner authorized to sign.

C. If the Bidder is a Limited Partnership, the name of the Limited Partner ’s General Partner shall
provided with the signature of the officer authorized to sign on behalf of the General Partner.

D. If the Bidder is a Sole Proprietor(s) (individual), each Sole Proprietor(s) shall sign.

E. If signature is by an agent, other than the Sole Proprietor(s) or an officer of a Corporation, Limited 
Liability Company, General Partner or a member of a General Partnership, a power of attorney
equivalent document must be submitted to the Williamson County Purchasing Department.

3.5 ASSUMED BUSINESS NAME

If the Bidder operates business under an Assumed Business Name, the Bidder must have on file with the
Williamson County Clerk a current Assumed Name Certificate and provide a file marked copy of same.

3.6 BID OBLIGATION 

The contents of the IFB, Bid, and any clarification thereof submitted by the Successful Bidder shall
become part of the contractual obligation and incorporated by reference into the Contract and any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

3.7 COMPLIANCE WITH IFB SPECIFICATIONS

It is intended that this IFB describe the requirements and the Bid format in sufficient detail to secure 
comparable Bids.  Failure to comply with all provisions of the IFB may, at the sole discretion of the 
County, result in disqualification.

3.8 WITHDRAWAL OF BID

The Bidder may withdraw its Bid by submitting a written request with the company letterhead and the 
signature of an authorized individual, as described in Section 3.4, Signature of Bidder, to the Williamson 
County Purchasing Department any time prior to the submission deadline.  

The Bidder may submit a new Bid prior to the deadline. Alterations of the Bid in any manner will not be 
considered if submitted after the deadline.  Withdrawal of a Bid after the deadline will be subject to written 
approval of the Williamson County Purchasing Agent.

3.9 EVALUATION AND AWARD

The County reserves the right to use all pertinent information (also learned from sources other than 
disclosed in the Bid process) that might affect the County ’s judgment as to the appropriateness of
award to the lowest and best evaluated Bid. This information may be appended to the Bid evaluation
process results. Information on a Bidder from reliable sources, and not within the Bidder ’s Bid, may also 
be noted and made part of the evaluation fi le.  The County shall have sole discretion for determining 
the reliability of the source.

To ensure the proper and fair evaluation of a solicitation, the County prohibits unsolicited communication 
initiated by the Bidder to the County Official or Employee evaluating or considering the Bids prior to the 
time an award has been made. Unsolicited communication may be ground for disqualifying the 
offending Bidder from consideration or award of the solicitation, or any future solicitation.

Communication between the Bidder and the County will be initiated by the appropriate County Official
Employee in order to obtain information or clarification needed to develop a proper and accurate 
evaluation of the solicitation.

The County intends to award a Contract to the most responsible and responsive Bidder whose Bid will 
be most advantageous to the County. In accordance with Texas Government Code and Local
Government Code, the County may consider, to the extent allowed by law, the following:

A. Price;
B. The Bidder ’s experience and reputation;
C. Quality of the Bidder ’s goods and/or services; 
D. The Bidder ’s safety record;
E. The Bidder ’s proposed personnel; 
F. The Bidder ’s financial capabilities; and 
G. Any other relevant factors specifically listed in this IFB or authorized by law.

3.10 CONDISERATION OF LOCATION OF PRINCIPAL OFFICE 

Pursuant to Texas Local Government Code, Section 271.905 , in purchasing any real property or personal
property that is not affixed to real property, if the County receives one or more Bids from a Bidder whose
principal place of business is in Williamson County and whose Bid is within three (3 )  percent of the
lowest Bid price received by the County from a Bidder who is not a resident of Williamson County, the 
County may enter into a contract with:

A. The lowest Bidder; or the Bidder whose principal place of business is in Williamson County if the
Commissioners Court determines, in writing, that the local Bidder offers the County the best 
combination of contract price and addit ional economic development opportunities
Williamson County created by the contract award, including the employment of residents
Williamson County and increased tax revenues to Williamson County.

It is understood that the Commissioners Court of Williamson County, Texas, reserves the right to accept
or reject any and/or all Bids for any or all goods and/or services covered in this IFB, and to waive
informalities or defects in the Bid or to accept such Bid, if it shall deem to be in the best interest of the 
County.

Awards should be made approximately sixty (60) business days after the Bid opening date. Results may
be obtained by viewing the Williamson County vendor portal at the following link:

http://www.wilco.org/CountyDepartments/Purchasing/SearchforaPastBid/tabid/5213/language/en-
US/Default.aspx

3.11 RESPONSIBILITY 

It is expected that a prospective Bidder will be able to affirmatively demonstrate responsibility.  A 
prospective Bidder should be able to meet the following requirements:

A. Have adequate financial resources, or the ability to obtain such resources as required;
B. Be able to comply with the required or proposed delivery schedule;
C. Have a satisfactory record of performance that can be determined thru references provided; and 
D. Be otherwise qualified and eligible to receive an award.

The County may request representation and other information sufficient to determine the Bidder's ability 
to meet these minimum standards listed above.

3.12 FIRM PRICING 

For unit price items, all of the items listed are to be on a “per unit” basis, stating a firm price per unit or 
unit quantity of each item.  The Bidder must submit a firm price that must be good from the date of Bid 
opening for the fixed period of time set out in this IFB.  Unless the IFB expressly states otherwise, this 
period shall be until the end of the Initial Contract Period.

Bids which do not state a fixed price, or which are subject to change without notice, will not be 
considered.  The Court may award a Contract for the period implied or expressly stated in the lowest and 
best Bid.

3.13 PURCHASE ORDERS

If required by the Williamson County Purchasing Department, a purchase order(s) may be generated to 
the Successful Bidder for goods and/or services.  If a purchase order is issued, the purchase order 
number must appear on all itemized invoices and/or requests for payment.

3.14 SILENCE OF SPECIFICATIONS

The apparent silence of these specifications as to any detail or to the apparent omission from it of a 
detailed description concerning any point, shall be regarded as meaning that only the best practices are 
to prevail.  All interpretations of these specifications shall be made on the basis of this statement.

3.15 REFERENCES

The County may require the Bidder to supply a list of at least three (3) references where like services
and/or goods have been supplied by their firm within the past five (5) years, to include names, titles, 
phone numbers and email addresses of key personnel, and dates of performance.

The County may contact some or all of the references in order to determine the Respondent
performance record on work similar to that described in this RFP.  The County reserves the right to 
contact references other than those provided in the response and to use the information gained from 
them in the evaluation process.

References, if requested, should be provided in accordance with this IFB.  Bid may not be deemed 
complete without the inclusion of requested references.

SECTION 4 - TERMS AND CONDITIONS

4.1 VENUE AND GOVERNING LAW

The Bidder hereby agrees and acknowledges that venue and jurisdiction of any suit, right, or cause of 
action arising out of or in connection with this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s), shall lie 
exclusively in either Williamson County, Texas or in the Austin Division of the Western Federal District of 
Texas, and the parties hereto expressly consent and submit to such jurisdiction.  Furthermore, except to 
the extent that this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) is governed by the laws of the United 
States, this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be governed by and construed in 
accordance with the laws of the State of Texas, excluding, however, its choice of law rules.

4.2 INCORPORATION BY REFERENCE AND PRECEDENCE

A. The Contract shall be derived from the IFB and its Addenda (if applicable), and the Bidder ’ s Bid.  In 
the event of a dispute under the Contract, applicable documents will be referred to for the purpose 
of clarification or for additional detail in the following order of precedence:

1. The IFB and its Addenda (if applicable); and

2. The Bidder ’s Bid.

B. In the event the County requires that an Ensuing Agreement be executed following award and a 
dispute arises between the terms and conditions of the Ensuing Agreement, the IFB and its 
Addenda (if applicable), and the Bidder ’s Bid, applicable documents will be referred to for the 
purpose of clarification or for additional detail in the following order of precedence: 

1. Terms and conditions of the Ensuing Agreement;

2. The IFB its Addenda; and 

3. The Bidder ’s Bid.

4.3 OWNERSHIP OF BID

Each Bid shall become the property of the County upon submittal and will not be returned to Bidders 
unless received after the submittal deadline.

4.4 DISQUALIFICATION OF BIDDER

Upon signing and submittal of the Bid, a Bidder offering to sell supplies, materials, services, or equipment 
to the County, certifies that the Bidder has not violated the antitrust laws of the State of Texas codified in 
Business & Commerce Code, Section 15.01, or the Federal Antitrust Laws, and has not communicated 
directly or indirectly the offer made to any competitor or any other person engaged in such line of 
business.  Any or all Bids may be rejected if the County believes that collusion exists among the Bidders.

4.5 FUNDING

The County intends to budget and make sufficient funds available and authorize funds for expenditure to 
finance the costs of the Contract.  All Bidders understand and agree that the County’s payment of 
amounts under the Contract shall be contingent on the County receiving appropriations or other 
expenditure authority sufficient to allow the County, in the exercise of reasonable administrative 
discretion, to make payments under this Contract.

4.6 ASSIGNMENT, SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS 

The Successful Bidder may not assign, sell, or otherwise transfer the Contract or any other rights or 
interests obtained under the Contract without written permission of the Commissioners Court.  The 
Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the contracting 
parties hereto and their respective successors and permitted assigns.

4.7 IMPLIED REQUIREMENTS

Products or services not specifically described or required in the IFB, but are necessary to provide the 
functional capabilities described by the Bidder, shall be implied and deemed to be included in the Bid.

4.8 TERMINATION

A. Termination for Cause: The County reserves the right to terminate the Contract and/or any 
Ensuing Agreement(s) for default if the Successful Bidder breaches any of the Bid specifications,
terms and conditions, including warranties of the Bidder, if any, or if the Successful Bidder 
becomes insolvent or commits acts of bankruptcy.  Such right of termination is in addition to and
not in lieu of any other remedies the County may have at law or in equity or as may otherwise
provided hereunder.  Default may be construed as, but not limited to, failure to deliver the proper 
goods and/or services within the proper amount of time, and/or to properly perform any and all 
other requirements to the County ’s satisfaction, and/or to meet all other obligations and
requirements.

B. Termination for Convenience: The County may terminate the Contract and/or any Ensuing 
Agreement(s) for convenience and without cause or further liability, upon no less than thirty (30) 
calendar days written notice to the Successful Bidder. The County reserves the right to extend 
this period if it is in the best interest of the County.  In the event the County exercises its right to 
terminate without cause, it is understood and agreed that only the amounts due to the Successful 
Bidder for goods, commodities and/or services provided and expenses incurred to and including 
the date of termination, will be due and payable.  No penalty will be assessed for the County
termination for convenience.

4.9 NON-PERFORMANCE

It is the objective of the County to obtain complete and satisfactory performance of the requirements set 
forth herein.  In addition to any other remedies available at law, in equity or that may be set out herein, 
failure to perform may result in a deduction of payment equal to the amount of the goods and/or services 
that were not provided and/or performed to the County ’s satisfaction.  

In the event of such non-performance, the County shall have the right, but shall not be obligated, to 
complete the services itself or by others and/or purchase the goods from other sources.  If the County 
elects to acquire the goods or perform the services itself or by others, pursuant to the foregoing, the 
Successful Bidder shall reimburse the County, within ten (10) calendar days of demand, for all costs 
incurred by the County (including, without limitation, applicable, general, and administrative expenses, 
and field overhead, and the cost of necessary equipment, materials, and field labor) in correcting the 
nonperformance which the Successful Bidder fails to meet pursuant to the requirements set out herein.  
In the event the Successful Bidder refuses to reimburse the County as set out in this provision, the 
County shall have the right to deduct such reimbursement amounts from any amounts that may be then 
owing or that may become owing in the future to the Successful Bidder.

4.10 PROPRIETARY INFORMATION AND THE TEXAS PUBLIC INFORMATION ACT

All material submitted to the County shall become public property and subject to the Texas Public 
Information Act upon receipt. If a Bidder does not desire proprietary information in the Bid to be 
disclosed, each page must be clearly identified and marked proprietary at time of submittal or, more 
preferably, all proprietary information may be placed in a folder or appendix and be clearly identified and 
marked as being proprietary.  Failure to clearly identify and mark information as being proprietary as set 
forth under this provision will result in all unmarked information being deemed non-proprietary and 
available to the public.  For all information that has not been clearly identified and marked as proprietary 
by the Bidder, the County may choose to place such information on the County ’s website and/or a similar 
public database without obtaining any type of prior consent from the Bidder.

The County will, to the extent allowed by law, endeavor to protect from public disclosure the information 
that has been identified and marked as proprietary.  The final decision as to what information must be 
disclosed, however, lies with the Texas Attorney General.  

To the extent, if any, that any provision in this IFB or in the Bidder ’s Bid is in conflict with Texas 
Government Code, Chapter 552, as amended (the “Public Information Act”), the same shall be of no 
force or effect.  Furthermore, it is expressly understood, and agreed, that the County, and its officers and 
employees, may request advice, decisions and opinions of the Attorney General of the State of Texas in 
regard to the application of the Public Information Act to any items or data furnished to the County as to 
whether or not the same are available to the public.  It is further understood that the County, and its 
officers and employees, shall have the right to rely on the advice, decisions and opinions of the Attorney 
General, and that the County, its officers and employees shall have no liability or obligation to any party 
hereto for the disclosure to the public, or to any person or persons, of any items or data furnished to the 
County by a party hereto, in reliance of any advice, decision or opinion of the Attorney General of the 
State of Texas.

4.11 RIGHT TO AUDIT

The Successful Bidder agrees that the County or its duly authorized representatives shall, until the 
expiration of three (3) years after termination or expiration of the services to be performed, have access 
to and the right to examine and photocopy any and all books, documents, papers and records of the 
Successful Bidder, which are directly pertinent to the services to be performed or goods to be delivered 
for the purposes of making audits, examinations, excerpts and transcriptions.  The Successful Bidder 
agrees that the County shall have access during normal working hours to all necessary facilities and 
shall be provided adequate and appropriate work space in order to conduct audits in compliance with the 
provisions of this section.  The County shall give the Successful Bidder reasonable advance notice of 
intended audits.

4.12 TESTING AND INSPECTIONS

The County reserves the right to inspect and test equipment, supplies, materials and goods for quality 
and compliance with this IFB, and ability to meet the needs of the user.  Demonstration units must be 
available for review.  Should the goods or services fail to meet requirements and/or be unavailable for 
evaluation, the County can deem the Bidder to be in breach and terminate the Contract and/or any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

4.13 BID PREPARATION COSTS

The cost of developing Bids is the sole responsibility of the Bidders and shall not be charged to the 
County.  There is no expressed or implied obligation for the County to reimburse the Bidders for any 
expense incurred in preparing a Bid in response to this IFB and the County will not reimburse the Bidders 
for such expenses.

4.14 INDEMNIFICATION

The Successful Bidder shall indemnify, defend and save harmless, the County, its officials, employees, 
agents and agent ’s employees from, and against, all claims, liability, and expenses including reasonable 
attorneys ’   fees, arising from activities of the Bidder, its agents, servants or employees, performed 
hereunder that result from the negligent act, error, or omission of the Bidder or any of the Bidder
agents, servants or employees, as well as all claims of loss or damage to the Bidder ’s and the County
property, equipment, and/or supplies. 

Furthermore, the County, its officials, employees, agents and agents ’ employees shall not be liable for 
damages to the Successful Bidder arising from any act of any third party, including, but not limited to, 
theft.  The Successful Bidder further agrees to indemnify, defend and save harmless, the County from its 
officials, employee, agents and agents ’ employees against all claims of whatever nature arising from any 
accident, injury, or damage whatsoever, caused to any person, or the property of any person, occurring 
in relation to the Successful Bidder ’s performance of any services requested hereunder during the term 
of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s). 

The Successful Bidder shall timely report all claims, demands, suits, actions, proceedings, liens or 
judgements to the County and shall, upon the receipt of any claim, demand, suit, action, proceeding, lien 

or judgement, not later than the fifteenth (15 th) day of each month; provide the County with a written 
report on each such matter, setting forth the status of each matter, the schedule or planned proceedings 
with respect to each matter and the cooperation or assistance, if any, of the County required by the 
Successful Bidder in the defense of each matter.  The Successful Bidder’s duty to defend, indemnify and 
hold the County harmless shall be absolute.  It shall not abate or end by reason of the expiration or 
termination of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s), unless otherwise agreed by the County in 
writing.  The provisions of this section shall survive the termination of the Contract and shall remain in full 
force and effect with respect to all such matters no matter when they arise. 

In the event of any dispute between the parties, as to whether a claim, demand, suit, action, proceeding, 
lien or judgement, that appears to have been caused by or appears to have arisen out of or in connection 
with acts or omissions of the County, the Bidder shall nevertheless fully defend such claim, demand, suit 
or action, proceeding, lien or judgement, until and unless there is a determination by a court of competent 
jurisdiction that the acts and omissions of the Bidder are not an issue in the matter. 

The Successful Bidder ’s indemnification shall cover, and the Successful Bidder agrees to, indemnify the 
County, in the event the County is found to have been negligent for having selected the Successful 
Bidder to perform the work described in this request.  The provision by the Successful Bidder of 
insurance shall not limit the liability of the Successful Bidder under the Contract and/or any Ensuing 
Agreement(s). 

4.15 WAIVER OF SUBROGATION

The Successful Bidder and the Successful Bidder ’s insurance carrier waive any and all rights 
whatsoever with regard to subrogation against the County as an indirect party to any suit arising out of 
personal or property damages resulting from the Bidder ’s performance under this Contract and any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

4.16 RELATIONSHIP OF THE PARTIES

The Successful Bidder shall be an independent contractor and shall assume all of the rights, obligations, 
liabilities, applicable to it as such independent contractor hereunder and any provisions herein which may 
appear to give the County the right to direct the Successful Bidder as to details of doing work herein 
covered, or to exercise a measure of control over the work, shall be deemed to mean that the Successful 
Bidder shall follow the desires of the County in the results of the work only.  The County shall not retain or 
have the right to control the Successful Bidder ’s means, methods or details pertaining to the Successful 
Bidder ’s performance of the work.  The County and the Successful Bidder hereby agree and declare that 
the Successful Bidder is an independent contractor and as such meets the qualifications of an 
“Independent Contractor” under Texas Workers Compensation Act, Texas Labor Code, Section 406.141, 
that the Successful Bidder is not an employee of  the County, and that the Successful Bidder and its 
employees, agents and subcontractors shall not be entitled to workers compensation coverage or any 
other type of insurance coverage held by the County.

4.17 SOLE PROVIDER

The Successful Bidder agrees and acknowledges that it shall not be considered a sole provider of the 
goods and/or services described herein and that the County may contract with other providers of such 
goods and/or services if the County deems, at its sole discretion, that multiple providers of the same 
goods and/or services will serve the best interest of the County.

4.18 FORCE MAJEURE

If the party obligated to perform is prevented from performance by an act of war, order of legal authority, 
act of God, or other unavoidable cause not attributable to the fault or negligence of said party, the other 
party shall grant such party relief from the performance.  The burden of proof for the need of such relief 
shall rest upon the party obligated to perform.  To obtain release based on force majeure, the party 
obligated to perform shall file a written request with the other party.

4.19 SEVERABILITY

If any provision of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be held invalid or 
unenforceable by any court of competent jurisdiction, such holding shall not invalidate or render 
unenforceable any other provision thereof, but rather the entire IFB, Contract or any Ensuing Agreement
(s) will be construed as if not containing the particular invalid or unenforceable provision or provisions, 
and the rights and obligation of the parties shall be construed and enforced in accordance therewith.  The 
parties acknowledge that if any provision of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) is 
determined to be invalid or unenforceable, it is the desire and intention of each that such provision be 
reformed and construed in such a manner that it will, to the maximum extent practicable, give effect to
the intent of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) and be deemed to be validated and
enforceable.

4.20 EQUAL OPPORTUNITY

Neither party shall discriminate against any employee or applicant for employment because of race, 
color, sex, religion or national origin.

4.21 NOTICE

Any notice to be given shall be in writing and may be distributed by personal delivery, or by registered or 
certified mail, return receipt requested, addressed to the proper party, at the following address:

The County:    Williamson County Purchasing Department 
            Attn: Purchasing Agent 
            901 South Austin Avenue 
            Georgetown, Texas 78626

The Bidder:     Address set out in Bidder’s Transmittal Letter.

Notices given in accordance with this provision shall be effective upon (1) receipt by the party to which 
notice is given, or (2) on the third (3rd) calendar day following mailing, whichever occurs first.

4.22 SALES AND USE TAX EXEMPTION

The County is a body, corporate and politic, under the laws of the State of Texas and claims exemption 
from sales and use taxes under Texas Tax Code, Section 151.309, as amended, and the services and/or 
goods subject hereof are being secured for use by the County.

4.23 COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS

The County and the Successful Bidder shall comply with all federal, state, and local laws, statutes,
ordinances, rules and regulations, and the orders and decrees of any courts or administrative bodies or 
tribunals in any matter affecting the performance of the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s),
including, without limitation, Workers ’ Compensation laws, salary and wage statutes and regulations, 
licensing laws and regulations.  When required, the Successful Bidder shall furnish the County with 
certification of compliance with said laws, statues, ordinances, rules, regulations, orders, and decrees 
above specified.

4.24 INCORPORATION OF EXHIBITS, APPENDICES AND ATTACHMENTS

All of the Exhibits, Appendices and Attachments referred to herein are incorporated by reference as if set 
forth verbatim herein.  Any conflicting terms in the Contract documents will be resolved at the sole 
discretion of the Commissioners Court.

4.25 NO WAIVER OF IMMUNITIES

Nothing herein shall be deemed to waive, modify or amend any legal defense available at law or in equity 
to the County, its past or present officers, employees, or agents, nor to create any legal rights or claim on 
behalf of any third party.  The County does not waive, modify, or alter to any extent whatsoever the 
availability of the defense of governmental immunity under the laws of the State of Texas and of the 
United States.

4.26 NO WAIVER

The failure or delay of any party to enforce at any time or any period of time any of the provisions of this 
IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall not constitute a present or future waiver of such 
provisions nor the right of either party to enforce each and every provision.  Furthermore, no term or 
provision hereof shall be deemed waived and no breach excused unless such waiver or consent shall be 
in writing and signed by the party claimed to have waived or consented.  Any consent by any party to, or 
waiver of, a breach by the other, whether expressed or implied, shall not constitute a consent to, waiver 
of or excuse for any other, different or subsequent breach.

4.27 CURRENT REVENUES

The obligations of the parties under the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) do not constitute a 
general obligation or indebtedness of the County for which the County is obligated to levy, pledge, or 
collect any of taxation.  It is understood and agreed that the County shall have the right to terminate the 
Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) at the end of any the County fiscal year if the governing body of 
the County does not appropriate sufficient funds as determined by the County ’s budget for the fiscal year 
in question.  The County may effect such termination by giving written notice of termination to the 
Successful Bidder at the end of its then-current fiscal year.

4.28 FOB DESTINATION

To the extent applicable to this IFB, all of the items listed are to be Free On Board to final destination 
(FOB Destination) with all transportation charges if applicable to be included in the Bid, unless otherwise 
specified in the Invitation for Bids.  The title and risk of loss of the goods shall not pass to the County until 
receipt and acceptance takes place at the FOB Destination point.

4.29 BINDING EFFECT

This Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties 
and their respective permitted assigns and successors.

4.30 ASSIGNMENT

The Successful Bidder ’s interest and duties hereunder may not be assigned or delegated to a third party 
without the express written consent of the County.

4.31 SAFETY

The Successful Bidder is responsible for initiating, maintaining, and supervising all safety precautions 
and programs in connection with any services to be provided hereunder. The safety program shall 
comply with all applicable requirements of the current federal Occupational Safety and Health Act and all 
other applicable federal, state and local laws and regulations.

4.32 GENERAL OBLIGATIONS AND RELIANCE

The Successful Bidder shall perform all services and/or provide all goods, as well as those reasonably
inferable and necessary for completion and provision of services and/or goods required hereunder. The
Successful Bidder shall keep the County informed of the progress and quality of the services.  The 
Successful Bidder agrees and acknowledges that the County is relying on the Successful Bidder's 
represented expertise and ability to provide the goods and/or services described herein.  The Successful
Bidder agrees to use its best efforts, skill, judgment, and abilities to perform its obligations in accordance
with the highest standards used in the profession and to further the interests of the County 
accordance with the County ’s requirements and procedures.    T h e   Successful Bidder ’s duties,
set forth herein, shall at no time be in any way diminished by reason of any approval by the County, nor
shall the Successful Bidder be released from any liability by reason of such approval by the County, it 
being understood that the County at all times is ultimately relying upon the Successful Bidder ’s skill and 
knowledge in performing the services and providing any goods required hereunder.

4.33 ESTIMATED QUANTITIES

To the extent applicable to this IFB, the estimated quantity of each item listed in this IFB is only
estimate; the actual quantity to be purchased may be more or less. The County is not obligated
purchase any minimum amount, and the County may purchase any reasonable amount greater than the
estimate for the same unit price. Any limit on quantities available must be stated expressly in the Bid.

4.34 CONTRACTUAL DEVELOPMENT

The contents of the IFB and the Successful Bidder ’s Bid will become an integral part of the Contract, but 
may be modified, at the County ’s sole discretion, by provisions of an Ensuing Agreement.  Therefore, the 
Bidder must agree to an inclusion of an Ensuing Agreement of the Bid specifications, terms and 
conditions of this IFB.  If an Ensuing Agreement is required under this IFB, information relative to the 
Agreement will be located in the Special Provisions Section of this IFB.

4.35 SURVIVABILITY 

All applicable agreements that were entered into between the Successful Bidder and the County, under 
the terms and conditions of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s), shall survive the expiration or 
termination thereof for ninety (90) days unless a new contract has been awarded.

The County may exercise, by written notice to the Successful Bidder no later than ten (10) calendar days 
of the Contract expiration, this clause for emergencies only. 

4.36 AIR QUALITY

In determining the overall best Bid, the County may, to the extent applicable, exercise the option granted 
to local governments under the Texas Local Government Code, Section 271.907.

This option allows the County to evaluate Bids and give preference to goods and/or services of a Bidder 
that demonstrates that the Bidder meets or exceeds any and all state or federal environmental 
standards, including voluntary standards, relating to air quality.  If the Bid being submitted will have an 
effect on air quality for the County (as it relates to any state, federal, or voluntary air quality standard), 
then the Bidder is encouraged to provide information in narrative indicating the anticipated air quality 
impact.  All Bidders are expected to meet all mandated state and federal air quality standards.

4.37 ENTIRE AGREEMENT

The Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall supersede all prior Agreements, written or oral 
between the Successful Bidder and the County and shall constitute the entire Agreement and 
understanding between the parties with respect to the services and/or goods to be provided.  Each of the 
provisions herein shall be binding upon the parties and may not be waived, modified, amended or altered, 
except by writing signed by the Successful Bidder and the County.

4.38 PAYMENT

The County ’s payment for goods and services shall be governed by the Texas Government Code, 

Chapter 2251.  An invoice shall be deemed overdue the thirty-first (31st) day after the later of the 
following: 

A. The date the County receives the goods under the Contract; 
B. The date the performance of the service under the Contract is completed; or 
C. The date the Williamson County Auditor receives an invoice for the goods or services.  

Interest charges for any overdue payments shall be paid by the County in accordance with Texas 
Government Code, Section 2251.025.  More specifically, the rate of interest that shall accrue on a late 
payment is the rate in effect on September 1 of the County ’s fiscal year in which the payment becomes 
due.  The said rate in effect on September 1 shall be equal to the sum of one (1) percent, and the prime 

rate published in the Wall Street Journal on the first (1st) day of July of the preceding fiscal year that does 
not fall on a Saturday or Sunday.

In the event that an error appears in an invoice submitted by the Successful Bidder, the County shall 
notify the Successful Bidder of the error not later than the twenty-first (21st) day after the date the County 
receives the invoice.  If the error is resolved in favor of the Successful Bidder, the Successful Bidder 
shall be entitled to receive interest on the unpaid balance of the invoice submitted by the Successful 
Bidder beginning on the date that the payment for the invoice became overdue.  If the error is resolved in 
favor of the County, the Successful Bidder shall submit a corrected invoice that must be paid in 
accordance within the time set forth above.  The unpaid balance accrues interest as provided by the 
Texas Government Code, Chapter 2251, if the corrected invoice is not paid by the appropriate date.

As a minimum, invoices shall include:

A. Name, address, and telephone number of the Successful Bidder and similar information in the 
event the payment is to be made to a different address. 

B. The County Contract, Purchase Order. 

C. Identification of items or service as outlined in the Contract. 

D. Quantity or quantities, applicable unit prices, total prices and total amount. 

E. Any additional payment information which may be called for by the Contract. 

Payment inquiries should be directed to the following address:        

            Williamson County Auditor’s Office, Accounts Payable Department
            Email: accountspayable@wilco.org
            Phone: 512-943-1500

4.39 CONTRACTUAL FORMATION AND ENSUING AGREEMENT

The IFB and the Bidder ’s Bid, when properly accepted by the Commissioners Court, shall constitute a
Contract equally binding between the Successful Bidder and the County.

If an Ensuing Agreement is required by this IFB, that information will be provided in Special 
Provisions section of this IFB.  The Successful Bidder shall be required to execute the Agreement at 
the Williamson County Purchasing Department approximately ten (10) calendar days after the 
Successful Bidder is notified of award.  The Ensuing Agreement shall be in the same form as the 
Agreement which is attached to the end of this IFB.  The only anticipated changes in the Ensuing 
Agreement will be to include additional exhibits, to fill in blanks to identify the Successful Bidder, and 
terms relating to the compensation, or to revise the Agreement to accommodate corrections, changes in 
the scope of services, or changes pursuant to Addenda issued.  Bidders should raise any questions 
regarding the terms of the Agreement in the form of written questions or submittals as 
described in the Public Announcement and General Information portion of this IFB.  Because the 
signed Ensuing Agreement will be substantively and substantially derived from the attached Agreement, 
each Bidder is urged to seek independent legal counsel as to any questions about the terms, conditions 
or provisions contained in the Agreement before submitting a Bid.  Again, the attached Agreement, if 
applicable, contains important legal provisions and is considered part and parcel of this IFB.  Failure or 
refusal to sign aforesaid Agreement shall be grounds for the County to revoke any award which has been 
issued, forfeit Bid security, if applicable, and select another Bidder.

4.40 COOPERATIVE PURCHASING PROGRAM 

During the term of the Contract resulting from this IFB, the County would like to afford the same prices, 
terms and conditions to other political subdivisions or public entities.  Another entity’s participation in the 
Contract resulting from this IFB is subject to a properly authorized Purchasing Cooperative Inter- local 
Agreement with the County.  Any liability created by purchase orders issued against the Contract shall be 
the sole responsibility of the governmental agency placing the order.

4.41 INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS

To the extent applicable Insurance information will appear in the Additional Stipulations section that is in 
this IFB Package. 

4.42 BIDDERS BOND, WARRANTY BOND, PERFORMANCE AND PAYMENT BONDS

To the extent applicable Bond information will appear in the Additional Stipulations section that is in this 
IFB Package. 

4.43 LEGAL LIABILITY INFORMATION

The Successful Bidder shall disclose all legal liability information by listing any pending litigation
anticipated litigation that your firm is involved in including, but not limited to, potential or actual legal
matters with private parties and any local, state, federal or international governmental entities. The
County reserves the right to consider legal liability information in the recommendation of any proposed 
contract to the Commissioners Court.

4.44 INCLEMENT WEATHER

In case of inclement weather or any other unforeseen event causing the County to close for business on 
the date of a Bid submission deadline, the Bid closing will automatically be postponed until the next 
business day the County is open.  If inclement weather conditions or any other unforeseen event causes 
delays in carrier service operations, the County may issue an Addendum to all known Bidders interested 
in the project to extend the deadline.  It will be the responsibility of the Bidder to notify the County of their 
interest in the project if these conditions are impacting their ability to turn in a submission within the 
stated deadline.  The County reserves the right to make the final judgement call to extend any deadline. 

4.45 CONFIDENTIALITY 

The Bidder expressly agrees that it will not use any direct or incidental confidential information that may 
be obtained while working in a governmental setting for its own benefit, and agrees that it will not access 
unauthorized areas or confidential information and it will not disclose any information to unauthorized 
third parties, and will take care to guard the security of the information at all times.

Bid 1704-156Williamson County, Texas

4/6/2017 1:22 PM p. 16



5

6

3 4

Williamson County – Invitation for Bid (IFB)

SECTION 1 - DEFINITIONS 

Addendum/Addenda – means any written or graphic instruments issued by the County prior to the 
consideration of Bids which modify or interpret the Bid Documents by additions, deletions, clarifications, 
or corrections.

Agreement/Ensuing Agreement(s) – means the Successful Bidder may be required by the County to 
sign an additional Agreement containing terms necessary to ensure compliance with the IFB and the 
Bidder ’s Bid.  Such Ensuing Agreement(s) shall contain the Bid specifications, terms and conditions that 
are derived from the IFB.

Bid Documents – means the Legal Notice, IFB including attachments, and any Addenda issued by the 
County prior to the consideration of any Bids.

Bid – means the completed and signed bid form, (sometimes referred to as the Price Sheet), and ALL 
required forms and documentation listed in the IFB package which have been submitted in accordance 
with the terms and conditions described in the IFB package.  A Bid submitted in accordance with this IFB 
is irrevocable during the specified period for evaluation and acceptance of Bids unless a waiver is 
obtained from the Williamson County Purchasing Agent.

Bidder – means a person or entity who submits a Bid in response to this IFB.

Contract – means this IFB and the Bid of the Successful Bidder shall become a Contract between the 
Successful Bidder and the County once the Successful Bidder ’s Bid is properly accepted by the 
Williamson County Commissioners Court.

Commissioner ’s Court – means the Williamson County Commissioners Court. 

County – means Williamson County, a political subdivision of the State of Texas.

Invitation for Bid (IFB) – means this document, together with the attachments thereto and any future 
Addenda issued by the County.

Successful Bidder – means the liable Bidder to whom the County intends to award the Contract.

SECTION 2 - BID FORMAT AND SUBMISSION

2.1 ORGANIZATION OF BID CONTENTS FOR SUBMITTAL 

Each Bid should be organized and items submitted in the order described below: 

A. Transmittal Letter. Please see Section 2.3, Transmittal Letter, for more information. 

B. Price Sheet.

C. Conflict of Interest Questionnaire. Please see Section 2.2, Conflict of Interest, for more 
information in regards to this. Please note that even if you deem there to be no Conflict of Interest, 
this signed questionnaire must be included in your package. 

D. References. Please see Section 3.15, References, for more information. 

E. Bid Affidavit.

F. Form 1295. Please see Section 2.4, Certificate of Interested Parties – Form 1295. 

2.2 CONFLICT OF INTEREST

No public official shall have interest in a Contract, in accordance with Vernon ’s Texas Codes Annotated, 
Local Government Code, Title 5, Subtitle C, Chapter 171, as amended. 

As of January 1, 2006, all Bidders are responsible for complying with Local Government Code, Title 5, 
Subtitle C, Chapter 176.  Additional information may be obtained from the County’s website at the 
following link: 

http://www.wilco.org/CountyDepartments/Purchasing/ConflictofInterestDisclosure/tabid/689/language/en
US/Default.aspx

Each Bidder must disclose any existing or potential conflict of interest relative to the performance of the 
requirements of this IFB.  Examples of potential conflicts of interest may include an existing 
business or personal relationship between the Bidder, its principal, or any affiliate or 
subcontractor with the County or any other entity or person involved in any way with the project 
that is subject to this IFB .  Similarly, any personal or business relationship between the Bidder, the 

principals, or any affiliate or subcontractor with any employee, or official of the County or its suppliers 
must be disclosed.  Any such relationship that might be perceived or represented as a conflict must be 
disclosed. Failure to disclose any such relationship or reveal personal relationships with the County 
employees or officials may be cause for termination. 

The County will decide if an actual or perceived conflict should result in Bid disqualification. 

By submitting a Bid in response to this IFB, all Bidders affirm they have not given, nor intend to give, at 
any time hereafter, any economic opportunity, future employment, gift, loan, gratuity, special discount, 
trip, favor, or service to a the County public servant or any employee, official or representative of same, in 
connection with this procurement. 

Each Bidder must provide a Conflict of Interest Statement with their Bid Package.  Package may 

be deemed incomplete without this form.  

2.3 TRANSMITTAL LETTER

The Bidder should submit a Transmittal Letter that provides the following information: 

A. Name and address of individual or business entity submitting the Bid. 

B. Name, physical address, email address, business and fax number of the Bidder ’s principal 
contact person regarding all contractual matters relating to this IFB.

C. The Bid ’s Federal Employer Identification Number.

D. If the Proposal being submitted will have an effect on air quality for the County (as it relates to any 
state, federal, or voluntary air quality standard), then the Respondent is encouraged to provide
information in narrative indicating the anticipated air quality impact. See Section 4.36, Air Quality 
for more information. 

2.4 CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PARTIES – FORM 1295

As of January 1, 2016, all Successful Bidders are responsible for complying with the Texas Government 
Code, Section 2252.908.  The law states that the County may not enter into certain contracts with a 
Bidder unless the Bidder submits a disclosure of interested parties to the County at the time the Bidder 
submits the signed Contract.  The law applies only to a Contract of the County on or after January 1, 
2016 that either:

A. Requires an action or vote by the Commissioners Court before the Contract may be signed (all 
contracts that fall under the jurisdiction of the Commissioners Court approval, such as contracts 
resulting from an Initiation for Bid (IFB), RFP, Request for Qualifications (RFQ), etc., excluding, 
but not limited to, certain Juvenile Service contracts, contracts funded with Sheriff ’s seized fun 
monies, etc.); or

B. Has a value of at least $1,000,000. 

By January 1, 2016, the Texas Ethics Commission will make available on its website, a new filing 
application that must be used to file Form 1295.  Information regarding how to use the filing application is 
available on the Texas Ethics Commission website at the following link:

https://www.ethics.state.tx.us/whatsnew/elf_info_form1295.htm

A Respondent must:

A. Use the online application to process the required information on Form 1295.

B. Print a copy of the form which will contain a unique certification number.

C. An authorized agent of the Bidder must sign the printed copy of the form.

D. Have the form notarized.

E. File the completed Form 1295 and certification of filing (scanning and emailing form is sufficient) 
with Williamson County Purchasing Agent at the time the signed Contract is submitted for 
approval.

After the Commissioners Court award of the Contract, the County shall notify the Texas Ethics 
Commission, using the Texas Ethics Commission ’s filing application, of the receipt of the filed Form 
1295 and certification of filing not later than the 30th day after the date the Contract binds all parties to the 
Contract. The Texas Ethics Commission will post the completed Form 1295 to its website within seven 
business days after receiving notice from the County.

2.5 ETHICS

The Bidder shall not accept or offer gifts or anything of value nor enter into any business arrangement 
with any employee, official or agent of the County.

2.6 BID SUBMITTAL DEADLINE

The Bid is due no later than the submittal date and time set forth in the Public Announcement and 
General Information listed in this IFB package.  Contents of each Bid shall be submitted in accordance 
with this IFB.

2.7 DELIVERY OF BIDS

The County uses BidSync to distribute and receive Bids and proposals.  It is preferred that Bids
submitted electronically through BidSync; however, Bidders can submit a hard copy.  

Refer to www.bidsync.com for further information on how to submit electronically.

If mailed or delivered in person, Bids and Bid Addenda are to be delivered in sealed envelope on or before
the submittal deadline, as noted in the Public Announcement and General Information listed in this IFB 
package, to:

            Williamson County Purchasing Department
            Attn: Bid Name and Number
            901 South Austin Avenue
            Georgetown, Texas 78626

Also, all Bidders should list their Name and Address, and the Date of the Bid opening on the outside
the box or envelope and note “Sealed Bid Enclosed.” The County will not accept any Bids received after 
the submittal deadline, and shall return such Bids unopened to the Bidder.  The County will not accept 
any responsibility for Bids being delivered by third party carriers.  

Bids will be opened publically and the names of Bidders and pricing will be read aloud.

SECTION 3 - INSTRUCTIONS AND GENERAL REQUIREMENTS

3.1 INSTRUCTIONS

Read this document carefully, and follow all instructions and requirements.  All Bidders are responsible 
for fulfilling all requirements and specifications.  Be sure to have a clear understanding of this IFB.

General requirements apply to all advertised IFBs; however, these may be superseded, in whole or in 
part, by the bid specifications, Addenda and modifications issued as a part of this IFB.  Be sure your Bid 
package is complete.

3.2 AMBIGUITY, CONFLICT, OR OTHER ERRORS IN THIS IFB

If a Bidder discovers any ambiguity, conflict, discrepancy, omission or other error in this IFB, the Bidder 
shall immediately notify the County Purchasing Department of such error in writing and request
modification or clarification of the document.

Modifications will be made by issuing Addenda. If the Bidder fails to notify the County prior to the date
and time fixed for submission of Bids of an error or ambiguity in the IFB known to the Bidder, or an error
or ambiguity that reasonably should have been known to the Bidder, then the Bidder shall be deemed to 
have waived the error or ambiguity or its later resolution.

The County may also modify the IFB, no later than forty-eight (48) hours prior to the date and time fixed
for submission of Bids, by issuance of an Addendum.  All Addenda will be numbered consecutively, 
beginning with one (1).

3.3 NOTIFICATION OF MOST CURRENT ADDRESS

All Bidders in receipt of this IFB shall notify the Williamson County Purchasing Department of any
address changes, contact person changes, and/or telephone number changes no later than forty-eight 
(48) hours prior to the date and time fixed for submission of Bids.

3.4 SIGNATURE OF BIDDER

A. If the Bidder is a Corporation or Limited Liability Company, the legal name of the Corporation
Limited Liability Company shall be provided together with the signature of the officer or officers 
authorized to sign on behalf of such entity.

B. If the Bidder is a General Partnership, the true name of the firm shall be provided with the
signature of each partner authorized to sign.

C. If the Bidder is a Limited Partnership, the name of the Limited Partner ’s General Partner shall
provided with the signature of the officer authorized to sign on behalf of the General Partner.

D. If the Bidder is a Sole Proprietor(s) (individual), each Sole Proprietor(s) shall sign.

E. If signature is by an agent, other than the Sole Proprietor(s) or an officer of a Corporation, Limited 
Liability Company, General Partner or a member of a General Partnership, a power of attorney
equivalent document must be submitted to the Williamson County Purchasing Department.

3.5 ASSUMED BUSINESS NAME

If the Bidder operates business under an Assumed Business Name, the Bidder must have on file with the
Williamson County Clerk a current Assumed Name Certificate and provide a file marked copy of same.

3.6 BID OBLIGATION 

The contents of the IFB, Bid, and any clarification thereof submitted by the Successful Bidder shall
become part of the contractual obligation and incorporated by reference into the Contract and any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

3.7 COMPLIANCE WITH IFB SPECIFICATIONS

It is intended that this IFB describe the requirements and the Bid format in sufficient detail to secure 
comparable Bids.  Failure to comply with all provisions of the IFB may, at the sole discretion of the 
County, result in disqualification.

3.8 WITHDRAWAL OF BID

The Bidder may withdraw its Bid by submitting a written request with the company letterhead and the 
signature of an authorized individual, as described in Section 3.4, Signature of Bidder, to the Williamson 
County Purchasing Department any time prior to the submission deadline.  

The Bidder may submit a new Bid prior to the deadline. Alterations of the Bid in any manner will not be 
considered if submitted after the deadline.  Withdrawal of a Bid after the deadline will be subject to written 
approval of the Williamson County Purchasing Agent.

3.9 EVALUATION AND AWARD

The County reserves the right to use all pertinent information (also learned from sources other than 
disclosed in the Bid process) that might affect the County ’s judgment as to the appropriateness of
award to the lowest and best evaluated Bid. This information may be appended to the Bid evaluation
process results. Information on a Bidder from reliable sources, and not within the Bidder ’s Bid, may also 
be noted and made part of the evaluation fi le.  The County shall have sole discretion for determining 
the reliability of the source.

To ensure the proper and fair evaluation of a solicitation, the County prohibits unsolicited communication 
initiated by the Bidder to the County Official or Employee evaluating or considering the Bids prior to the 
time an award has been made. Unsolicited communication may be ground for disqualifying the 
offending Bidder from consideration or award of the solicitation, or any future solicitation.

Communication between the Bidder and the County will be initiated by the appropriate County Official
Employee in order to obtain information or clarification needed to develop a proper and accurate 
evaluation of the solicitation.

The County intends to award a Contract to the most responsible and responsive Bidder whose Bid will 
be most advantageous to the County. In accordance with Texas Government Code and Local
Government Code, the County may consider, to the extent allowed by law, the following:

A. Price;
B. The Bidder ’s experience and reputation;
C. Quality of the Bidder ’s goods and/or services; 
D. The Bidder ’s safety record;
E. The Bidder ’s proposed personnel; 
F. The Bidder ’s financial capabilities; and 
G. Any other relevant factors specifically listed in this IFB or authorized by law.

3.10 CONDISERATION OF LOCATION OF PRINCIPAL OFFICE 

Pursuant to Texas Local Government Code, Section 271.905 , in purchasing any real property or personal
property that is not affixed to real property, if the County receives one or more Bids from a Bidder whose
principal place of business is in Williamson County and whose Bid is within three (3 )  percent of the
lowest Bid price received by the County from a Bidder who is not a resident of Williamson County, the 
County may enter into a contract with:

A. The lowest Bidder; or the Bidder whose principal place of business is in Williamson County if the
Commissioners Court determines, in writing, that the local Bidder offers the County the best 
combination of contract price and addit ional economic development opportunities
Williamson County created by the contract award, including the employment of residents
Williamson County and increased tax revenues to Williamson County.

It is understood that the Commissioners Court of Williamson County, Texas, reserves the right to accept
or reject any and/or all Bids for any or all goods and/or services covered in this IFB, and to waive
informalities or defects in the Bid or to accept such Bid, if it shall deem to be in the best interest of the 
County.

Awards should be made approximately sixty (60) business days after the Bid opening date. Results may
be obtained by viewing the Williamson County vendor portal at the following link:

http://www.wilco.org/CountyDepartments/Purchasing/SearchforaPastBid/tabid/5213/language/en-
US/Default.aspx

3.11 RESPONSIBILITY 

It is expected that a prospective Bidder will be able to affirmatively demonstrate responsibility.  A 
prospective Bidder should be able to meet the following requirements:

A. Have adequate financial resources, or the ability to obtain such resources as required;
B. Be able to comply with the required or proposed delivery schedule;
C. Have a satisfactory record of performance that can be determined thru references provided; and 
D. Be otherwise qualified and eligible to receive an award.

The County may request representation and other information sufficient to determine the Bidder's ability 
to meet these minimum standards listed above.

3.12 FIRM PRICING 

For unit price items, all of the items listed are to be on a “per unit” basis, stating a firm price per unit or 
unit quantity of each item.  The Bidder must submit a firm price that must be good from the date of Bid 
opening for the fixed period of time set out in this IFB.  Unless the IFB expressly states otherwise, this 
period shall be until the end of the Initial Contract Period.

Bids which do not state a fixed price, or which are subject to change without notice, will not be 
considered.  The Court may award a Contract for the period implied or expressly stated in the lowest and 
best Bid.

3.13 PURCHASE ORDERS

If required by the Williamson County Purchasing Department, a purchase order(s) may be generated to 
the Successful Bidder for goods and/or services.  If a purchase order is issued, the purchase order 
number must appear on all itemized invoices and/or requests for payment.

3.14 SILENCE OF SPECIFICATIONS

The apparent silence of these specifications as to any detail or to the apparent omission from it of a 
detailed description concerning any point, shall be regarded as meaning that only the best practices are 
to prevail.  All interpretations of these specifications shall be made on the basis of this statement.

3.15 REFERENCES

The County may require the Bidder to supply a list of at least three (3) references where like services
and/or goods have been supplied by their firm within the past five (5) years, to include names, titles, 
phone numbers and email addresses of key personnel, and dates of performance.

The County may contact some or all of the references in order to determine the Respondent
performance record on work similar to that described in this RFP.  The County reserves the right to 
contact references other than those provided in the response and to use the information gained from 
them in the evaluation process.

References, if requested, should be provided in accordance with this IFB.  Bid may not be deemed 
complete without the inclusion of requested references.

SECTION 4 - TERMS AND CONDITIONS

4.1 VENUE AND GOVERNING LAW

The Bidder hereby agrees and acknowledges that venue and jurisdiction of any suit, right, or cause of 
action arising out of or in connection with this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s), shall lie 
exclusively in either Williamson County, Texas or in the Austin Division of the Western Federal District of 
Texas, and the parties hereto expressly consent and submit to such jurisdiction.  Furthermore, except to 
the extent that this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) is governed by the laws of the United 
States, this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be governed by and construed in 
accordance with the laws of the State of Texas, excluding, however, its choice of law rules.

4.2 INCORPORATION BY REFERENCE AND PRECEDENCE

A. The Contract shall be derived from the IFB and its Addenda (if applicable), and the Bidder ’ s Bid.  In 
the event of a dispute under the Contract, applicable documents will be referred to for the purpose 
of clarification or for additional detail in the following order of precedence:

1. The IFB and its Addenda (if applicable); and

2. The Bidder ’s Bid.

B. In the event the County requires that an Ensuing Agreement be executed following award and a 
dispute arises between the terms and conditions of the Ensuing Agreement, the IFB and its 
Addenda (if applicable), and the Bidder ’s Bid, applicable documents will be referred to for the 
purpose of clarification or for additional detail in the following order of precedence: 

1. Terms and conditions of the Ensuing Agreement;

2. The IFB its Addenda; and 

3. The Bidder ’s Bid.

4.3 OWNERSHIP OF BID

Each Bid shall become the property of the County upon submittal and will not be returned to Bidders 
unless received after the submittal deadline.

4.4 DISQUALIFICATION OF BIDDER

Upon signing and submittal of the Bid, a Bidder offering to sell supplies, materials, services, or equipment 
to the County, certifies that the Bidder has not violated the antitrust laws of the State of Texas codified in 
Business & Commerce Code, Section 15.01, or the Federal Antitrust Laws, and has not communicated 
directly or indirectly the offer made to any competitor or any other person engaged in such line of 
business.  Any or all Bids may be rejected if the County believes that collusion exists among the Bidders.

4.5 FUNDING

The County intends to budget and make sufficient funds available and authorize funds for expenditure to 
finance the costs of the Contract.  All Bidders understand and agree that the County’s payment of 
amounts under the Contract shall be contingent on the County receiving appropriations or other 
expenditure authority sufficient to allow the County, in the exercise of reasonable administrative 
discretion, to make payments under this Contract.

4.6 ASSIGNMENT, SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS 

The Successful Bidder may not assign, sell, or otherwise transfer the Contract or any other rights or 
interests obtained under the Contract without written permission of the Commissioners Court.  The 
Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the contracting 
parties hereto and their respective successors and permitted assigns.

4.7 IMPLIED REQUIREMENTS

Products or services not specifically described or required in the IFB, but are necessary to provide the 
functional capabilities described by the Bidder, shall be implied and deemed to be included in the Bid.

4.8 TERMINATION

A. Termination for Cause: The County reserves the right to terminate the Contract and/or any 
Ensuing Agreement(s) for default if the Successful Bidder breaches any of the Bid specifications,
terms and conditions, including warranties of the Bidder, if any, or if the Successful Bidder 
becomes insolvent or commits acts of bankruptcy.  Such right of termination is in addition to and
not in lieu of any other remedies the County may have at law or in equity or as may otherwise
provided hereunder.  Default may be construed as, but not limited to, failure to deliver the proper 
goods and/or services within the proper amount of time, and/or to properly perform any and all 
other requirements to the County ’s satisfaction, and/or to meet all other obligations and
requirements.

B. Termination for Convenience: The County may terminate the Contract and/or any Ensuing 
Agreement(s) for convenience and without cause or further liability, upon no less than thirty (30) 
calendar days written notice to the Successful Bidder. The County reserves the right to extend 
this period if it is in the best interest of the County.  In the event the County exercises its right to 
terminate without cause, it is understood and agreed that only the amounts due to the Successful 
Bidder for goods, commodities and/or services provided and expenses incurred to and including 
the date of termination, will be due and payable.  No penalty will be assessed for the County
termination for convenience.

4.9 NON-PERFORMANCE

It is the objective of the County to obtain complete and satisfactory performance of the requirements set 
forth herein.  In addition to any other remedies available at law, in equity or that may be set out herein, 
failure to perform may result in a deduction of payment equal to the amount of the goods and/or services 
that were not provided and/or performed to the County ’s satisfaction.  

In the event of such non-performance, the County shall have the right, but shall not be obligated, to 
complete the services itself or by others and/or purchase the goods from other sources.  If the County 
elects to acquire the goods or perform the services itself or by others, pursuant to the foregoing, the 
Successful Bidder shall reimburse the County, within ten (10) calendar days of demand, for all costs 
incurred by the County (including, without limitation, applicable, general, and administrative expenses, 
and field overhead, and the cost of necessary equipment, materials, and field labor) in correcting the 
nonperformance which the Successful Bidder fails to meet pursuant to the requirements set out herein.  
In the event the Successful Bidder refuses to reimburse the County as set out in this provision, the 
County shall have the right to deduct such reimbursement amounts from any amounts that may be then 
owing or that may become owing in the future to the Successful Bidder.

4.10 PROPRIETARY INFORMATION AND THE TEXAS PUBLIC INFORMATION ACT

All material submitted to the County shall become public property and subject to the Texas Public 
Information Act upon receipt. If a Bidder does not desire proprietary information in the Bid to be 
disclosed, each page must be clearly identified and marked proprietary at time of submittal or, more 
preferably, all proprietary information may be placed in a folder or appendix and be clearly identified and 
marked as being proprietary.  Failure to clearly identify and mark information as being proprietary as set 
forth under this provision will result in all unmarked information being deemed non-proprietary and 
available to the public.  For all information that has not been clearly identified and marked as proprietary 
by the Bidder, the County may choose to place such information on the County ’s website and/or a similar 
public database without obtaining any type of prior consent from the Bidder.

The County will, to the extent allowed by law, endeavor to protect from public disclosure the information 
that has been identified and marked as proprietary.  The final decision as to what information must be 
disclosed, however, lies with the Texas Attorney General.  

To the extent, if any, that any provision in this IFB or in the Bidder ’s Bid is in conflict with Texas 
Government Code, Chapter 552, as amended (the “Public Information Act”), the same shall be of no 
force or effect.  Furthermore, it is expressly understood, and agreed, that the County, and its officers and 
employees, may request advice, decisions and opinions of the Attorney General of the State of Texas in 
regard to the application of the Public Information Act to any items or data furnished to the County as to 
whether or not the same are available to the public.  It is further understood that the County, and its 
officers and employees, shall have the right to rely on the advice, decisions and opinions of the Attorney 
General, and that the County, its officers and employees shall have no liability or obligation to any party 
hereto for the disclosure to the public, or to any person or persons, of any items or data furnished to the 
County by a party hereto, in reliance of any advice, decision or opinion of the Attorney General of the 
State of Texas.

4.11 RIGHT TO AUDIT

The Successful Bidder agrees that the County or its duly authorized representatives shall, until the 
expiration of three (3) years after termination or expiration of the services to be performed, have access 
to and the right to examine and photocopy any and all books, documents, papers and records of the 
Successful Bidder, which are directly pertinent to the services to be performed or goods to be delivered 
for the purposes of making audits, examinations, excerpts and transcriptions.  The Successful Bidder 
agrees that the County shall have access during normal working hours to all necessary facilities and 
shall be provided adequate and appropriate work space in order to conduct audits in compliance with the 
provisions of this section.  The County shall give the Successful Bidder reasonable advance notice of 
intended audits.

4.12 TESTING AND INSPECTIONS

The County reserves the right to inspect and test equipment, supplies, materials and goods for quality 
and compliance with this IFB, and ability to meet the needs of the user.  Demonstration units must be 
available for review.  Should the goods or services fail to meet requirements and/or be unavailable for 
evaluation, the County can deem the Bidder to be in breach and terminate the Contract and/or any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

4.13 BID PREPARATION COSTS

The cost of developing Bids is the sole responsibility of the Bidders and shall not be charged to the 
County.  There is no expressed or implied obligation for the County to reimburse the Bidders for any 
expense incurred in preparing a Bid in response to this IFB and the County will not reimburse the Bidders 
for such expenses.

4.14 INDEMNIFICATION

The Successful Bidder shall indemnify, defend and save harmless, the County, its officials, employees, 
agents and agent ’s employees from, and against, all claims, liability, and expenses including reasonable 
attorneys ’   fees, arising from activities of the Bidder, its agents, servants or employees, performed 
hereunder that result from the negligent act, error, or omission of the Bidder or any of the Bidder
agents, servants or employees, as well as all claims of loss or damage to the Bidder ’s and the County
property, equipment, and/or supplies. 

Furthermore, the County, its officials, employees, agents and agents ’ employees shall not be liable for 
damages to the Successful Bidder arising from any act of any third party, including, but not limited to, 
theft.  The Successful Bidder further agrees to indemnify, defend and save harmless, the County from its 
officials, employee, agents and agents ’ employees against all claims of whatever nature arising from any 
accident, injury, or damage whatsoever, caused to any person, or the property of any person, occurring 
in relation to the Successful Bidder ’s performance of any services requested hereunder during the term 
of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s). 

The Successful Bidder shall timely report all claims, demands, suits, actions, proceedings, liens or 
judgements to the County and shall, upon the receipt of any claim, demand, suit, action, proceeding, lien 

or judgement, not later than the fifteenth (15 th) day of each month; provide the County with a written 
report on each such matter, setting forth the status of each matter, the schedule or planned proceedings 
with respect to each matter and the cooperation or assistance, if any, of the County required by the 
Successful Bidder in the defense of each matter.  The Successful Bidder’s duty to defend, indemnify and 
hold the County harmless shall be absolute.  It shall not abate or end by reason of the expiration or 
termination of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s), unless otherwise agreed by the County in 
writing.  The provisions of this section shall survive the termination of the Contract and shall remain in full 
force and effect with respect to all such matters no matter when they arise. 

In the event of any dispute between the parties, as to whether a claim, demand, suit, action, proceeding, 
lien or judgement, that appears to have been caused by or appears to have arisen out of or in connection 
with acts or omissions of the County, the Bidder shall nevertheless fully defend such claim, demand, suit 
or action, proceeding, lien or judgement, until and unless there is a determination by a court of competent 
jurisdiction that the acts and omissions of the Bidder are not an issue in the matter. 

The Successful Bidder ’s indemnification shall cover, and the Successful Bidder agrees to, indemnify the 
County, in the event the County is found to have been negligent for having selected the Successful 
Bidder to perform the work described in this request.  The provision by the Successful Bidder of 
insurance shall not limit the liability of the Successful Bidder under the Contract and/or any Ensuing 
Agreement(s). 

4.15 WAIVER OF SUBROGATION

The Successful Bidder and the Successful Bidder ’s insurance carrier waive any and all rights 
whatsoever with regard to subrogation against the County as an indirect party to any suit arising out of 
personal or property damages resulting from the Bidder ’s performance under this Contract and any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

4.16 RELATIONSHIP OF THE PARTIES

The Successful Bidder shall be an independent contractor and shall assume all of the rights, obligations, 
liabilities, applicable to it as such independent contractor hereunder and any provisions herein which may 
appear to give the County the right to direct the Successful Bidder as to details of doing work herein 
covered, or to exercise a measure of control over the work, shall be deemed to mean that the Successful 
Bidder shall follow the desires of the County in the results of the work only.  The County shall not retain or 
have the right to control the Successful Bidder ’s means, methods or details pertaining to the Successful 
Bidder ’s performance of the work.  The County and the Successful Bidder hereby agree and declare that 
the Successful Bidder is an independent contractor and as such meets the qualifications of an 
“Independent Contractor” under Texas Workers Compensation Act, Texas Labor Code, Section 406.141, 
that the Successful Bidder is not an employee of  the County, and that the Successful Bidder and its 
employees, agents and subcontractors shall not be entitled to workers compensation coverage or any 
other type of insurance coverage held by the County.

4.17 SOLE PROVIDER

The Successful Bidder agrees and acknowledges that it shall not be considered a sole provider of the 
goods and/or services described herein and that the County may contract with other providers of such 
goods and/or services if the County deems, at its sole discretion, that multiple providers of the same 
goods and/or services will serve the best interest of the County.

4.18 FORCE MAJEURE

If the party obligated to perform is prevented from performance by an act of war, order of legal authority, 
act of God, or other unavoidable cause not attributable to the fault or negligence of said party, the other 
party shall grant such party relief from the performance.  The burden of proof for the need of such relief 
shall rest upon the party obligated to perform.  To obtain release based on force majeure, the party 
obligated to perform shall file a written request with the other party.

4.19 SEVERABILITY

If any provision of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be held invalid or 
unenforceable by any court of competent jurisdiction, such holding shall not invalidate or render 
unenforceable any other provision thereof, but rather the entire IFB, Contract or any Ensuing Agreement
(s) will be construed as if not containing the particular invalid or unenforceable provision or provisions, 
and the rights and obligation of the parties shall be construed and enforced in accordance therewith.  The 
parties acknowledge that if any provision of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) is 
determined to be invalid or unenforceable, it is the desire and intention of each that such provision be 
reformed and construed in such a manner that it will, to the maximum extent practicable, give effect to
the intent of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) and be deemed to be validated and
enforceable.

4.20 EQUAL OPPORTUNITY

Neither party shall discriminate against any employee or applicant for employment because of race, 
color, sex, religion or national origin.

4.21 NOTICE

Any notice to be given shall be in writing and may be distributed by personal delivery, or by registered or 
certified mail, return receipt requested, addressed to the proper party, at the following address:

The County:    Williamson County Purchasing Department 
            Attn: Purchasing Agent 
            901 South Austin Avenue 
            Georgetown, Texas 78626

The Bidder:     Address set out in Bidder’s Transmittal Letter.

Notices given in accordance with this provision shall be effective upon (1) receipt by the party to which 
notice is given, or (2) on the third (3rd) calendar day following mailing, whichever occurs first.

4.22 SALES AND USE TAX EXEMPTION

The County is a body, corporate and politic, under the laws of the State of Texas and claims exemption 
from sales and use taxes under Texas Tax Code, Section 151.309, as amended, and the services and/or 
goods subject hereof are being secured for use by the County.

4.23 COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS

The County and the Successful Bidder shall comply with all federal, state, and local laws, statutes,
ordinances, rules and regulations, and the orders and decrees of any courts or administrative bodies or 
tribunals in any matter affecting the performance of the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s),
including, without limitation, Workers ’ Compensation laws, salary and wage statutes and regulations, 
licensing laws and regulations.  When required, the Successful Bidder shall furnish the County with 
certification of compliance with said laws, statues, ordinances, rules, regulations, orders, and decrees 
above specified.

4.24 INCORPORATION OF EXHIBITS, APPENDICES AND ATTACHMENTS

All of the Exhibits, Appendices and Attachments referred to herein are incorporated by reference as if set 
forth verbatim herein.  Any conflicting terms in the Contract documents will be resolved at the sole 
discretion of the Commissioners Court.

4.25 NO WAIVER OF IMMUNITIES

Nothing herein shall be deemed to waive, modify or amend any legal defense available at law or in equity 
to the County, its past or present officers, employees, or agents, nor to create any legal rights or claim on 
behalf of any third party.  The County does not waive, modify, or alter to any extent whatsoever the 
availability of the defense of governmental immunity under the laws of the State of Texas and of the 
United States.

4.26 NO WAIVER

The failure or delay of any party to enforce at any time or any period of time any of the provisions of this 
IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall not constitute a present or future waiver of such 
provisions nor the right of either party to enforce each and every provision.  Furthermore, no term or 
provision hereof shall be deemed waived and no breach excused unless such waiver or consent shall be 
in writing and signed by the party claimed to have waived or consented.  Any consent by any party to, or 
waiver of, a breach by the other, whether expressed or implied, shall not constitute a consent to, waiver 
of or excuse for any other, different or subsequent breach.

4.27 CURRENT REVENUES

The obligations of the parties under the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) do not constitute a 
general obligation or indebtedness of the County for which the County is obligated to levy, pledge, or 
collect any of taxation.  It is understood and agreed that the County shall have the right to terminate the 
Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) at the end of any the County fiscal year if the governing body of 
the County does not appropriate sufficient funds as determined by the County ’s budget for the fiscal year 
in question.  The County may effect such termination by giving written notice of termination to the 
Successful Bidder at the end of its then-current fiscal year.

4.28 FOB DESTINATION

To the extent applicable to this IFB, all of the items listed are to be Free On Board to final destination 
(FOB Destination) with all transportation charges if applicable to be included in the Bid, unless otherwise 
specified in the Invitation for Bids.  The title and risk of loss of the goods shall not pass to the County until 
receipt and acceptance takes place at the FOB Destination point.

4.29 BINDING EFFECT

This Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties 
and their respective permitted assigns and successors.

4.30 ASSIGNMENT

The Successful Bidder ’s interest and duties hereunder may not be assigned or delegated to a third party 
without the express written consent of the County.

4.31 SAFETY

The Successful Bidder is responsible for initiating, maintaining, and supervising all safety precautions 
and programs in connection with any services to be provided hereunder. The safety program shall 
comply with all applicable requirements of the current federal Occupational Safety and Health Act and all 
other applicable federal, state and local laws and regulations.

4.32 GENERAL OBLIGATIONS AND RELIANCE

The Successful Bidder shall perform all services and/or provide all goods, as well as those reasonably
inferable and necessary for completion and provision of services and/or goods required hereunder. The
Successful Bidder shall keep the County informed of the progress and quality of the services.  The 
Successful Bidder agrees and acknowledges that the County is relying on the Successful Bidder's 
represented expertise and ability to provide the goods and/or services described herein.  The Successful
Bidder agrees to use its best efforts, skill, judgment, and abilities to perform its obligations in accordance
with the highest standards used in the profession and to further the interests of the County 
accordance with the County ’s requirements and procedures.    T h e   Successful Bidder ’s duties,
set forth herein, shall at no time be in any way diminished by reason of any approval by the County, nor
shall the Successful Bidder be released from any liability by reason of such approval by the County, it 
being understood that the County at all times is ultimately relying upon the Successful Bidder ’s skill and 
knowledge in performing the services and providing any goods required hereunder.

4.33 ESTIMATED QUANTITIES

To the extent applicable to this IFB, the estimated quantity of each item listed in this IFB is only
estimate; the actual quantity to be purchased may be more or less. The County is not obligated
purchase any minimum amount, and the County may purchase any reasonable amount greater than the
estimate for the same unit price. Any limit on quantities available must be stated expressly in the Bid.

4.34 CONTRACTUAL DEVELOPMENT

The contents of the IFB and the Successful Bidder ’s Bid will become an integral part of the Contract, but 
may be modified, at the County ’s sole discretion, by provisions of an Ensuing Agreement.  Therefore, the 
Bidder must agree to an inclusion of an Ensuing Agreement of the Bid specifications, terms and 
conditions of this IFB.  If an Ensuing Agreement is required under this IFB, information relative to the 
Agreement will be located in the Special Provisions Section of this IFB.

4.35 SURVIVABILITY 

All applicable agreements that were entered into between the Successful Bidder and the County, under 
the terms and conditions of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s), shall survive the expiration or 
termination thereof for ninety (90) days unless a new contract has been awarded.

The County may exercise, by written notice to the Successful Bidder no later than ten (10) calendar days 
of the Contract expiration, this clause for emergencies only. 

4.36 AIR QUALITY

In determining the overall best Bid, the County may, to the extent applicable, exercise the option granted 
to local governments under the Texas Local Government Code, Section 271.907.

This option allows the County to evaluate Bids and give preference to goods and/or services of a Bidder 
that demonstrates that the Bidder meets or exceeds any and all state or federal environmental 
standards, including voluntary standards, relating to air quality.  If the Bid being submitted will have an 
effect on air quality for the County (as it relates to any state, federal, or voluntary air quality standard), 
then the Bidder is encouraged to provide information in narrative indicating the anticipated air quality 
impact.  All Bidders are expected to meet all mandated state and federal air quality standards.

4.37 ENTIRE AGREEMENT

The Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall supersede all prior Agreements, written or oral 
between the Successful Bidder and the County and shall constitute the entire Agreement and 
understanding between the parties with respect to the services and/or goods to be provided.  Each of the 
provisions herein shall be binding upon the parties and may not be waived, modified, amended or altered, 
except by writing signed by the Successful Bidder and the County.

4.38 PAYMENT

The County ’s payment for goods and services shall be governed by the Texas Government Code, 

Chapter 2251.  An invoice shall be deemed overdue the thirty-first (31st) day after the later of the 
following: 

A. The date the County receives the goods under the Contract; 
B. The date the performance of the service under the Contract is completed; or 
C. The date the Williamson County Auditor receives an invoice for the goods or services.  

Interest charges for any overdue payments shall be paid by the County in accordance with Texas 
Government Code, Section 2251.025.  More specifically, the rate of interest that shall accrue on a late 
payment is the rate in effect on September 1 of the County ’s fiscal year in which the payment becomes 
due.  The said rate in effect on September 1 shall be equal to the sum of one (1) percent, and the prime 

rate published in the Wall Street Journal on the first (1st) day of July of the preceding fiscal year that does 
not fall on a Saturday or Sunday.

In the event that an error appears in an invoice submitted by the Successful Bidder, the County shall 
notify the Successful Bidder of the error not later than the twenty-first (21st) day after the date the County 
receives the invoice.  If the error is resolved in favor of the Successful Bidder, the Successful Bidder 
shall be entitled to receive interest on the unpaid balance of the invoice submitted by the Successful 
Bidder beginning on the date that the payment for the invoice became overdue.  If the error is resolved in 
favor of the County, the Successful Bidder shall submit a corrected invoice that must be paid in 
accordance within the time set forth above.  The unpaid balance accrues interest as provided by the 
Texas Government Code, Chapter 2251, if the corrected invoice is not paid by the appropriate date.

As a minimum, invoices shall include:

A. Name, address, and telephone number of the Successful Bidder and similar information in the 
event the payment is to be made to a different address. 

B. The County Contract, Purchase Order. 

C. Identification of items or service as outlined in the Contract. 

D. Quantity or quantities, applicable unit prices, total prices and total amount. 

E. Any additional payment information which may be called for by the Contract. 

Payment inquiries should be directed to the following address:        

            Williamson County Auditor’s Office, Accounts Payable Department
            Email: accountspayable@wilco.org
            Phone: 512-943-1500

4.39 CONTRACTUAL FORMATION AND ENSUING AGREEMENT

The IFB and the Bidder ’s Bid, when properly accepted by the Commissioners Court, shall constitute a
Contract equally binding between the Successful Bidder and the County.

If an Ensuing Agreement is required by this IFB, that information will be provided in Special 
Provisions section of this IFB.  The Successful Bidder shall be required to execute the Agreement at 
the Williamson County Purchasing Department approximately ten (10) calendar days after the 
Successful Bidder is notified of award.  The Ensuing Agreement shall be in the same form as the 
Agreement which is attached to the end of this IFB.  The only anticipated changes in the Ensuing 
Agreement will be to include additional exhibits, to fill in blanks to identify the Successful Bidder, and 
terms relating to the compensation, or to revise the Agreement to accommodate corrections, changes in 
the scope of services, or changes pursuant to Addenda issued.  Bidders should raise any questions 
regarding the terms of the Agreement in the form of written questions or submittals as 
described in the Public Announcement and General Information portion of this IFB.  Because the 
signed Ensuing Agreement will be substantively and substantially derived from the attached Agreement, 
each Bidder is urged to seek independent legal counsel as to any questions about the terms, conditions 
or provisions contained in the Agreement before submitting a Bid.  Again, the attached Agreement, if 
applicable, contains important legal provisions and is considered part and parcel of this IFB.  Failure or 
refusal to sign aforesaid Agreement shall be grounds for the County to revoke any award which has been 
issued, forfeit Bid security, if applicable, and select another Bidder.

4.40 COOPERATIVE PURCHASING PROGRAM 

During the term of the Contract resulting from this IFB, the County would like to afford the same prices, 
terms and conditions to other political subdivisions or public entities.  Another entity’s participation in the 
Contract resulting from this IFB is subject to a properly authorized Purchasing Cooperative Inter- local 
Agreement with the County.  Any liability created by purchase orders issued against the Contract shall be 
the sole responsibility of the governmental agency placing the order.

4.41 INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS

To the extent applicable Insurance information will appear in the Additional Stipulations section that is in 
this IFB Package. 

4.42 BIDDERS BOND, WARRANTY BOND, PERFORMANCE AND PAYMENT BONDS

To the extent applicable Bond information will appear in the Additional Stipulations section that is in this 
IFB Package. 

4.43 LEGAL LIABILITY INFORMATION

The Successful Bidder shall disclose all legal liability information by listing any pending litigation
anticipated litigation that your firm is involved in including, but not limited to, potential or actual legal
matters with private parties and any local, state, federal or international governmental entities. The
County reserves the right to consider legal liability information in the recommendation of any proposed 
contract to the Commissioners Court.

4.44 INCLEMENT WEATHER

In case of inclement weather or any other unforeseen event causing the County to close for business on 
the date of a Bid submission deadline, the Bid closing will automatically be postponed until the next 
business day the County is open.  If inclement weather conditions or any other unforeseen event causes 
delays in carrier service operations, the County may issue an Addendum to all known Bidders interested 
in the project to extend the deadline.  It will be the responsibility of the Bidder to notify the County of their 
interest in the project if these conditions are impacting their ability to turn in a submission within the 
stated deadline.  The County reserves the right to make the final judgement call to extend any deadline. 

4.45 CONFIDENTIALITY 

The Bidder expressly agrees that it will not use any direct or incidental confidential information that may 
be obtained while working in a governmental setting for its own benefit, and agrees that it will not access 
unauthorized areas or confidential information and it will not disclose any information to unauthorized 
third parties, and will take care to guard the security of the information at all times.

Bid 1704-156Williamson County, Texas

4/6/2017 1:22 PM p. 17



5

6

3 4

Williamson County – Invitation for Bid (IFB)

SECTION 1 - DEFINITIONS 

Addendum/Addenda – means any written or graphic instruments issued by the County prior to the 
consideration of Bids which modify or interpret the Bid Documents by additions, deletions, clarifications, 
or corrections.

Agreement/Ensuing Agreement(s) – means the Successful Bidder may be required by the County to 
sign an additional Agreement containing terms necessary to ensure compliance with the IFB and the 
Bidder ’s Bid.  Such Ensuing Agreement(s) shall contain the Bid specifications, terms and conditions that 
are derived from the IFB.

Bid Documents – means the Legal Notice, IFB including attachments, and any Addenda issued by the 
County prior to the consideration of any Bids.

Bid – means the completed and signed bid form, (sometimes referred to as the Price Sheet), and ALL 
required forms and documentation listed in the IFB package which have been submitted in accordance 
with the terms and conditions described in the IFB package.  A Bid submitted in accordance with this IFB 
is irrevocable during the specified period for evaluation and acceptance of Bids unless a waiver is 
obtained from the Williamson County Purchasing Agent.

Bidder – means a person or entity who submits a Bid in response to this IFB.

Contract – means this IFB and the Bid of the Successful Bidder shall become a Contract between the 
Successful Bidder and the County once the Successful Bidder ’s Bid is properly accepted by the 
Williamson County Commissioners Court.

Commissioner ’s Court – means the Williamson County Commissioners Court. 

County – means Williamson County, a political subdivision of the State of Texas.

Invitation for Bid (IFB) – means this document, together with the attachments thereto and any future 
Addenda issued by the County.

Successful Bidder – means the liable Bidder to whom the County intends to award the Contract.

SECTION 2 - BID FORMAT AND SUBMISSION

2.1 ORGANIZATION OF BID CONTENTS FOR SUBMITTAL 

Each Bid should be organized and items submitted in the order described below: 

A. Transmittal Letter. Please see Section 2.3, Transmittal Letter, for more information. 

B. Price Sheet.

C. Conflict of Interest Questionnaire. Please see Section 2.2, Conflict of Interest, for more 
information in regards to this. Please note that even if you deem there to be no Conflict of Interest, 
this signed questionnaire must be included in your package. 

D. References. Please see Section 3.15, References, for more information. 

E. Bid Affidavit.

F. Form 1295. Please see Section 2.4, Certificate of Interested Parties – Form 1295. 

2.2 CONFLICT OF INTEREST

No public official shall have interest in a Contract, in accordance with Vernon ’s Texas Codes Annotated, 
Local Government Code, Title 5, Subtitle C, Chapter 171, as amended. 

As of January 1, 2006, all Bidders are responsible for complying with Local Government Code, Title 5, 
Subtitle C, Chapter 176.  Additional information may be obtained from the County’s website at the 
following link: 

http://www.wilco.org/CountyDepartments/Purchasing/ConflictofInterestDisclosure/tabid/689/language/en
US/Default.aspx

Each Bidder must disclose any existing or potential conflict of interest relative to the performance of the 
requirements of this IFB.  Examples of potential conflicts of interest may include an existing 
business or personal relationship between the Bidder, its principal, or any affiliate or 
subcontractor with the County or any other entity or person involved in any way with the project 
that is subject to this IFB .  Similarly, any personal or business relationship between the Bidder, the 

principals, or any affiliate or subcontractor with any employee, or official of the County or its suppliers 
must be disclosed.  Any such relationship that might be perceived or represented as a conflict must be 
disclosed. Failure to disclose any such relationship or reveal personal relationships with the County 
employees or officials may be cause for termination. 

The County will decide if an actual or perceived conflict should result in Bid disqualification. 

By submitting a Bid in response to this IFB, all Bidders affirm they have not given, nor intend to give, at 
any time hereafter, any economic opportunity, future employment, gift, loan, gratuity, special discount, 
trip, favor, or service to a the County public servant or any employee, official or representative of same, in 
connection with this procurement. 

Each Bidder must provide a Conflict of Interest Statement with their Bid Package.  Package may 

be deemed incomplete without this form.  

2.3 TRANSMITTAL LETTER

The Bidder should submit a Transmittal Letter that provides the following information: 

A. Name and address of individual or business entity submitting the Bid. 

B. Name, physical address, email address, business and fax number of the Bidder ’s principal 
contact person regarding all contractual matters relating to this IFB.

C. The Bid ’s Federal Employer Identification Number.

D. If the Proposal being submitted will have an effect on air quality for the County (as it relates to any 
state, federal, or voluntary air quality standard), then the Respondent is encouraged to provide
information in narrative indicating the anticipated air quality impact. See Section 4.36, Air Quality 
for more information. 

2.4 CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PARTIES – FORM 1295

As of January 1, 2016, all Successful Bidders are responsible for complying with the Texas Government 
Code, Section 2252.908.  The law states that the County may not enter into certain contracts with a 
Bidder unless the Bidder submits a disclosure of interested parties to the County at the time the Bidder 
submits the signed Contract.  The law applies only to a Contract of the County on or after January 1, 
2016 that either:

A. Requires an action or vote by the Commissioners Court before the Contract may be signed (all 
contracts that fall under the jurisdiction of the Commissioners Court approval, such as contracts 
resulting from an Initiation for Bid (IFB), RFP, Request for Qualifications (RFQ), etc., excluding, 
but not limited to, certain Juvenile Service contracts, contracts funded with Sheriff ’s seized fun 
monies, etc.); or

B. Has a value of at least $1,000,000. 

By January 1, 2016, the Texas Ethics Commission will make available on its website, a new filing 
application that must be used to file Form 1295.  Information regarding how to use the filing application is 
available on the Texas Ethics Commission website at the following link:

https://www.ethics.state.tx.us/whatsnew/elf_info_form1295.htm

A Respondent must:

A. Use the online application to process the required information on Form 1295.

B. Print a copy of the form which will contain a unique certification number.

C. An authorized agent of the Bidder must sign the printed copy of the form.

D. Have the form notarized.

E. File the completed Form 1295 and certification of filing (scanning and emailing form is sufficient) 
with Williamson County Purchasing Agent at the time the signed Contract is submitted for 
approval.

After the Commissioners Court award of the Contract, the County shall notify the Texas Ethics 
Commission, using the Texas Ethics Commission ’s filing application, of the receipt of the filed Form 
1295 and certification of filing not later than the 30th day after the date the Contract binds all parties to the 
Contract. The Texas Ethics Commission will post the completed Form 1295 to its website within seven 
business days after receiving notice from the County.

2.5 ETHICS

The Bidder shall not accept or offer gifts or anything of value nor enter into any business arrangement 
with any employee, official or agent of the County.

2.6 BID SUBMITTAL DEADLINE

The Bid is due no later than the submittal date and time set forth in the Public Announcement and 
General Information listed in this IFB package.  Contents of each Bid shall be submitted in accordance 
with this IFB.

2.7 DELIVERY OF BIDS

The County uses BidSync to distribute and receive Bids and proposals.  It is preferred that Bids
submitted electronically through BidSync; however, Bidders can submit a hard copy.  

Refer to www.bidsync.com for further information on how to submit electronically.

If mailed or delivered in person, Bids and Bid Addenda are to be delivered in sealed envelope on or before
the submittal deadline, as noted in the Public Announcement and General Information listed in this IFB 
package, to:

            Williamson County Purchasing Department
            Attn: Bid Name and Number
            901 South Austin Avenue
            Georgetown, Texas 78626

Also, all Bidders should list their Name and Address, and the Date of the Bid opening on the outside
the box or envelope and note “Sealed Bid Enclosed.” The County will not accept any Bids received after 
the submittal deadline, and shall return such Bids unopened to the Bidder.  The County will not accept 
any responsibility for Bids being delivered by third party carriers.  

Bids will be opened publically and the names of Bidders and pricing will be read aloud.

SECTION 3 - INSTRUCTIONS AND GENERAL REQUIREMENTS

3.1 INSTRUCTIONS

Read this document carefully, and follow all instructions and requirements.  All Bidders are responsible 
for fulfilling all requirements and specifications.  Be sure to have a clear understanding of this IFB.

General requirements apply to all advertised IFBs; however, these may be superseded, in whole or in 
part, by the bid specifications, Addenda and modifications issued as a part of this IFB.  Be sure your Bid 
package is complete.

3.2 AMBIGUITY, CONFLICT, OR OTHER ERRORS IN THIS IFB

If a Bidder discovers any ambiguity, conflict, discrepancy, omission or other error in this IFB, the Bidder 
shall immediately notify the County Purchasing Department of such error in writing and request
modification or clarification of the document.

Modifications will be made by issuing Addenda. If the Bidder fails to notify the County prior to the date
and time fixed for submission of Bids of an error or ambiguity in the IFB known to the Bidder, or an error
or ambiguity that reasonably should have been known to the Bidder, then the Bidder shall be deemed to 
have waived the error or ambiguity or its later resolution.

The County may also modify the IFB, no later than forty-eight (48) hours prior to the date and time fixed
for submission of Bids, by issuance of an Addendum.  All Addenda will be numbered consecutively, 
beginning with one (1).

3.3 NOTIFICATION OF MOST CURRENT ADDRESS

All Bidders in receipt of this IFB shall notify the Williamson County Purchasing Department of any
address changes, contact person changes, and/or telephone number changes no later than forty-eight 
(48) hours prior to the date and time fixed for submission of Bids.

3.4 SIGNATURE OF BIDDER

A. If the Bidder is a Corporation or Limited Liability Company, the legal name of the Corporation
Limited Liability Company shall be provided together with the signature of the officer or officers 
authorized to sign on behalf of such entity.

B. If the Bidder is a General Partnership, the true name of the firm shall be provided with the
signature of each partner authorized to sign.

C. If the Bidder is a Limited Partnership, the name of the Limited Partner ’s General Partner shall
provided with the signature of the officer authorized to sign on behalf of the General Partner.

D. If the Bidder is a Sole Proprietor(s) (individual), each Sole Proprietor(s) shall sign.

E. If signature is by an agent, other than the Sole Proprietor(s) or an officer of a Corporation, Limited 
Liability Company, General Partner or a member of a General Partnership, a power of attorney
equivalent document must be submitted to the Williamson County Purchasing Department.

3.5 ASSUMED BUSINESS NAME

If the Bidder operates business under an Assumed Business Name, the Bidder must have on file with the
Williamson County Clerk a current Assumed Name Certificate and provide a file marked copy of same.

3.6 BID OBLIGATION 

The contents of the IFB, Bid, and any clarification thereof submitted by the Successful Bidder shall
become part of the contractual obligation and incorporated by reference into the Contract and any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

3.7 COMPLIANCE WITH IFB SPECIFICATIONS

It is intended that this IFB describe the requirements and the Bid format in sufficient detail to secure 
comparable Bids.  Failure to comply with all provisions of the IFB may, at the sole discretion of the 
County, result in disqualification.

3.8 WITHDRAWAL OF BID

The Bidder may withdraw its Bid by submitting a written request with the company letterhead and the 
signature of an authorized individual, as described in Section 3.4, Signature of Bidder, to the Williamson 
County Purchasing Department any time prior to the submission deadline.  

The Bidder may submit a new Bid prior to the deadline. Alterations of the Bid in any manner will not be 
considered if submitted after the deadline.  Withdrawal of a Bid after the deadline will be subject to written 
approval of the Williamson County Purchasing Agent.

3.9 EVALUATION AND AWARD

The County reserves the right to use all pertinent information (also learned from sources other than 
disclosed in the Bid process) that might affect the County ’s judgment as to the appropriateness of
award to the lowest and best evaluated Bid. This information may be appended to the Bid evaluation
process results. Information on a Bidder from reliable sources, and not within the Bidder ’s Bid, may also 
be noted and made part of the evaluation fi le.  The County shall have sole discretion for determining 
the reliability of the source.

To ensure the proper and fair evaluation of a solicitation, the County prohibits unsolicited communication 
initiated by the Bidder to the County Official or Employee evaluating or considering the Bids prior to the 
time an award has been made. Unsolicited communication may be ground for disqualifying the 
offending Bidder from consideration or award of the solicitation, or any future solicitation.

Communication between the Bidder and the County will be initiated by the appropriate County Official
Employee in order to obtain information or clarification needed to develop a proper and accurate 
evaluation of the solicitation.

The County intends to award a Contract to the most responsible and responsive Bidder whose Bid will 
be most advantageous to the County. In accordance with Texas Government Code and Local
Government Code, the County may consider, to the extent allowed by law, the following:

A. Price;
B. The Bidder ’s experience and reputation;
C. Quality of the Bidder ’s goods and/or services; 
D. The Bidder ’s safety record;
E. The Bidder ’s proposed personnel; 
F. The Bidder ’s financial capabilities; and 
G. Any other relevant factors specifically listed in this IFB or authorized by law.

3.10 CONDISERATION OF LOCATION OF PRINCIPAL OFFICE 

Pursuant to Texas Local Government Code, Section 271.905 , in purchasing any real property or personal
property that is not affixed to real property, if the County receives one or more Bids from a Bidder whose
principal place of business is in Williamson County and whose Bid is within three (3 )  percent of the
lowest Bid price received by the County from a Bidder who is not a resident of Williamson County, the 
County may enter into a contract with:

A. The lowest Bidder; or the Bidder whose principal place of business is in Williamson County if the
Commissioners Court determines, in writing, that the local Bidder offers the County the best 
combination of contract price and addit ional economic development opportunities
Williamson County created by the contract award, including the employment of residents
Williamson County and increased tax revenues to Williamson County.

It is understood that the Commissioners Court of Williamson County, Texas, reserves the right to accept
or reject any and/or all Bids for any or all goods and/or services covered in this IFB, and to waive
informalities or defects in the Bid or to accept such Bid, if it shall deem to be in the best interest of the 
County.

Awards should be made approximately sixty (60) business days after the Bid opening date. Results may
be obtained by viewing the Williamson County vendor portal at the following link:

http://www.wilco.org/CountyDepartments/Purchasing/SearchforaPastBid/tabid/5213/language/en-
US/Default.aspx

3.11 RESPONSIBILITY 

It is expected that a prospective Bidder will be able to affirmatively demonstrate responsibility.  A 
prospective Bidder should be able to meet the following requirements:

A. Have adequate financial resources, or the ability to obtain such resources as required;
B. Be able to comply with the required or proposed delivery schedule;
C. Have a satisfactory record of performance that can be determined thru references provided; and 
D. Be otherwise qualified and eligible to receive an award.

The County may request representation and other information sufficient to determine the Bidder's ability 
to meet these minimum standards listed above.

3.12 FIRM PRICING 

For unit price items, all of the items listed are to be on a “per unit” basis, stating a firm price per unit or 
unit quantity of each item.  The Bidder must submit a firm price that must be good from the date of Bid 
opening for the fixed period of time set out in this IFB.  Unless the IFB expressly states otherwise, this 
period shall be until the end of the Initial Contract Period.

Bids which do not state a fixed price, or which are subject to change without notice, will not be 
considered.  The Court may award a Contract for the period implied or expressly stated in the lowest and 
best Bid.

3.13 PURCHASE ORDERS

If required by the Williamson County Purchasing Department, a purchase order(s) may be generated to 
the Successful Bidder for goods and/or services.  If a purchase order is issued, the purchase order 
number must appear on all itemized invoices and/or requests for payment.

3.14 SILENCE OF SPECIFICATIONS

The apparent silence of these specifications as to any detail or to the apparent omission from it of a 
detailed description concerning any point, shall be regarded as meaning that only the best practices are 
to prevail.  All interpretations of these specifications shall be made on the basis of this statement.

3.15 REFERENCES

The County may require the Bidder to supply a list of at least three (3) references where like services
and/or goods have been supplied by their firm within the past five (5) years, to include names, titles, 
phone numbers and email addresses of key personnel, and dates of performance.

The County may contact some or all of the references in order to determine the Respondent
performance record on work similar to that described in this RFP.  The County reserves the right to 
contact references other than those provided in the response and to use the information gained from 
them in the evaluation process.

References, if requested, should be provided in accordance with this IFB.  Bid may not be deemed 
complete without the inclusion of requested references.

SECTION 4 - TERMS AND CONDITIONS

4.1 VENUE AND GOVERNING LAW

The Bidder hereby agrees and acknowledges that venue and jurisdiction of any suit, right, or cause of 
action arising out of or in connection with this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s), shall lie 
exclusively in either Williamson County, Texas or in the Austin Division of the Western Federal District of 
Texas, and the parties hereto expressly consent and submit to such jurisdiction.  Furthermore, except to 
the extent that this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) is governed by the laws of the United 
States, this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be governed by and construed in 
accordance with the laws of the State of Texas, excluding, however, its choice of law rules.

4.2 INCORPORATION BY REFERENCE AND PRECEDENCE

A. The Contract shall be derived from the IFB and its Addenda (if applicable), and the Bidder ’ s Bid.  In 
the event of a dispute under the Contract, applicable documents will be referred to for the purpose 
of clarification or for additional detail in the following order of precedence:

1. The IFB and its Addenda (if applicable); and

2. The Bidder ’s Bid.

B. In the event the County requires that an Ensuing Agreement be executed following award and a 
dispute arises between the terms and conditions of the Ensuing Agreement, the IFB and its 
Addenda (if applicable), and the Bidder ’s Bid, applicable documents will be referred to for the 
purpose of clarification or for additional detail in the following order of precedence: 

1. Terms and conditions of the Ensuing Agreement;

2. The IFB its Addenda; and 

3. The Bidder ’s Bid.

4.3 OWNERSHIP OF BID

Each Bid shall become the property of the County upon submittal and will not be returned to Bidders 
unless received after the submittal deadline.

4.4 DISQUALIFICATION OF BIDDER

Upon signing and submittal of the Bid, a Bidder offering to sell supplies, materials, services, or equipment 
to the County, certifies that the Bidder has not violated the antitrust laws of the State of Texas codified in 
Business & Commerce Code, Section 15.01, or the Federal Antitrust Laws, and has not communicated 
directly or indirectly the offer made to any competitor or any other person engaged in such line of 
business.  Any or all Bids may be rejected if the County believes that collusion exists among the Bidders.

4.5 FUNDING

The County intends to budget and make sufficient funds available and authorize funds for expenditure to 
finance the costs of the Contract.  All Bidders understand and agree that the County’s payment of 
amounts under the Contract shall be contingent on the County receiving appropriations or other 
expenditure authority sufficient to allow the County, in the exercise of reasonable administrative 
discretion, to make payments under this Contract.

4.6 ASSIGNMENT, SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS 

The Successful Bidder may not assign, sell, or otherwise transfer the Contract or any other rights or 
interests obtained under the Contract without written permission of the Commissioners Court.  The 
Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the contracting 
parties hereto and their respective successors and permitted assigns.

4.7 IMPLIED REQUIREMENTS

Products or services not specifically described or required in the IFB, but are necessary to provide the 
functional capabilities described by the Bidder, shall be implied and deemed to be included in the Bid.

4.8 TERMINATION

A. Termination for Cause: The County reserves the right to terminate the Contract and/or any 
Ensuing Agreement(s) for default if the Successful Bidder breaches any of the Bid specifications,
terms and conditions, including warranties of the Bidder, if any, or if the Successful Bidder 
becomes insolvent or commits acts of bankruptcy.  Such right of termination is in addition to and
not in lieu of any other remedies the County may have at law or in equity or as may otherwise
provided hereunder.  Default may be construed as, but not limited to, failure to deliver the proper 
goods and/or services within the proper amount of time, and/or to properly perform any and all 
other requirements to the County ’s satisfaction, and/or to meet all other obligations and
requirements.

B. Termination for Convenience: The County may terminate the Contract and/or any Ensuing 
Agreement(s) for convenience and without cause or further liability, upon no less than thirty (30) 
calendar days written notice to the Successful Bidder. The County reserves the right to extend 
this period if it is in the best interest of the County.  In the event the County exercises its right to 
terminate without cause, it is understood and agreed that only the amounts due to the Successful 
Bidder for goods, commodities and/or services provided and expenses incurred to and including 
the date of termination, will be due and payable.  No penalty will be assessed for the County
termination for convenience.

4.9 NON-PERFORMANCE

It is the objective of the County to obtain complete and satisfactory performance of the requirements set 
forth herein.  In addition to any other remedies available at law, in equity or that may be set out herein, 
failure to perform may result in a deduction of payment equal to the amount of the goods and/or services 
that were not provided and/or performed to the County ’s satisfaction.  

In the event of such non-performance, the County shall have the right, but shall not be obligated, to 
complete the services itself or by others and/or purchase the goods from other sources.  If the County 
elects to acquire the goods or perform the services itself or by others, pursuant to the foregoing, the 
Successful Bidder shall reimburse the County, within ten (10) calendar days of demand, for all costs 
incurred by the County (including, without limitation, applicable, general, and administrative expenses, 
and field overhead, and the cost of necessary equipment, materials, and field labor) in correcting the 
nonperformance which the Successful Bidder fails to meet pursuant to the requirements set out herein.  
In the event the Successful Bidder refuses to reimburse the County as set out in this provision, the 
County shall have the right to deduct such reimbursement amounts from any amounts that may be then 
owing or that may become owing in the future to the Successful Bidder.

4.10 PROPRIETARY INFORMATION AND THE TEXAS PUBLIC INFORMATION ACT

All material submitted to the County shall become public property and subject to the Texas Public 
Information Act upon receipt. If a Bidder does not desire proprietary information in the Bid to be 
disclosed, each page must be clearly identified and marked proprietary at time of submittal or, more 
preferably, all proprietary information may be placed in a folder or appendix and be clearly identified and 
marked as being proprietary.  Failure to clearly identify and mark information as being proprietary as set 
forth under this provision will result in all unmarked information being deemed non-proprietary and 
available to the public.  For all information that has not been clearly identified and marked as proprietary 
by the Bidder, the County may choose to place such information on the County ’s website and/or a similar 
public database without obtaining any type of prior consent from the Bidder.

The County will, to the extent allowed by law, endeavor to protect from public disclosure the information 
that has been identified and marked as proprietary.  The final decision as to what information must be 
disclosed, however, lies with the Texas Attorney General.  

To the extent, if any, that any provision in this IFB or in the Bidder ’s Bid is in conflict with Texas 
Government Code, Chapter 552, as amended (the “Public Information Act”), the same shall be of no 
force or effect.  Furthermore, it is expressly understood, and agreed, that the County, and its officers and 
employees, may request advice, decisions and opinions of the Attorney General of the State of Texas in 
regard to the application of the Public Information Act to any items or data furnished to the County as to 
whether or not the same are available to the public.  It is further understood that the County, and its 
officers and employees, shall have the right to rely on the advice, decisions and opinions of the Attorney 
General, and that the County, its officers and employees shall have no liability or obligation to any party 
hereto for the disclosure to the public, or to any person or persons, of any items or data furnished to the 
County by a party hereto, in reliance of any advice, decision or opinion of the Attorney General of the 
State of Texas.

4.11 RIGHT TO AUDIT

The Successful Bidder agrees that the County or its duly authorized representatives shall, until the 
expiration of three (3) years after termination or expiration of the services to be performed, have access 
to and the right to examine and photocopy any and all books, documents, papers and records of the 
Successful Bidder, which are directly pertinent to the services to be performed or goods to be delivered 
for the purposes of making audits, examinations, excerpts and transcriptions.  The Successful Bidder 
agrees that the County shall have access during normal working hours to all necessary facilities and 
shall be provided adequate and appropriate work space in order to conduct audits in compliance with the 
provisions of this section.  The County shall give the Successful Bidder reasonable advance notice of 
intended audits.

4.12 TESTING AND INSPECTIONS

The County reserves the right to inspect and test equipment, supplies, materials and goods for quality 
and compliance with this IFB, and ability to meet the needs of the user.  Demonstration units must be 
available for review.  Should the goods or services fail to meet requirements and/or be unavailable for 
evaluation, the County can deem the Bidder to be in breach and terminate the Contract and/or any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

4.13 BID PREPARATION COSTS

The cost of developing Bids is the sole responsibility of the Bidders and shall not be charged to the 
County.  There is no expressed or implied obligation for the County to reimburse the Bidders for any 
expense incurred in preparing a Bid in response to this IFB and the County will not reimburse the Bidders 
for such expenses.

4.14 INDEMNIFICATION

The Successful Bidder shall indemnify, defend and save harmless, the County, its officials, employees, 
agents and agent ’s employees from, and against, all claims, liability, and expenses including reasonable 
attorneys ’   fees, arising from activities of the Bidder, its agents, servants or employees, performed 
hereunder that result from the negligent act, error, or omission of the Bidder or any of the Bidder
agents, servants or employees, as well as all claims of loss or damage to the Bidder ’s and the County
property, equipment, and/or supplies. 

Furthermore, the County, its officials, employees, agents and agents ’ employees shall not be liable for 
damages to the Successful Bidder arising from any act of any third party, including, but not limited to, 
theft.  The Successful Bidder further agrees to indemnify, defend and save harmless, the County from its 
officials, employee, agents and agents ’ employees against all claims of whatever nature arising from any 
accident, injury, or damage whatsoever, caused to any person, or the property of any person, occurring 
in relation to the Successful Bidder ’s performance of any services requested hereunder during the term 
of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s). 

The Successful Bidder shall timely report all claims, demands, suits, actions, proceedings, liens or 
judgements to the County and shall, upon the receipt of any claim, demand, suit, action, proceeding, lien 

or judgement, not later than the fifteenth (15 th) day of each month; provide the County with a written 
report on each such matter, setting forth the status of each matter, the schedule or planned proceedings 
with respect to each matter and the cooperation or assistance, if any, of the County required by the 
Successful Bidder in the defense of each matter.  The Successful Bidder’s duty to defend, indemnify and 
hold the County harmless shall be absolute.  It shall not abate or end by reason of the expiration or 
termination of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s), unless otherwise agreed by the County in 
writing.  The provisions of this section shall survive the termination of the Contract and shall remain in full 
force and effect with respect to all such matters no matter when they arise. 

In the event of any dispute between the parties, as to whether a claim, demand, suit, action, proceeding, 
lien or judgement, that appears to have been caused by or appears to have arisen out of or in connection 
with acts or omissions of the County, the Bidder shall nevertheless fully defend such claim, demand, suit 
or action, proceeding, lien or judgement, until and unless there is a determination by a court of competent 
jurisdiction that the acts and omissions of the Bidder are not an issue in the matter. 

The Successful Bidder ’s indemnification shall cover, and the Successful Bidder agrees to, indemnify the 
County, in the event the County is found to have been negligent for having selected the Successful 
Bidder to perform the work described in this request.  The provision by the Successful Bidder of 
insurance shall not limit the liability of the Successful Bidder under the Contract and/or any Ensuing 
Agreement(s). 

4.15 WAIVER OF SUBROGATION

The Successful Bidder and the Successful Bidder ’s insurance carrier waive any and all rights 
whatsoever with regard to subrogation against the County as an indirect party to any suit arising out of 
personal or property damages resulting from the Bidder ’s performance under this Contract and any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

4.16 RELATIONSHIP OF THE PARTIES

The Successful Bidder shall be an independent contractor and shall assume all of the rights, obligations, 
liabilities, applicable to it as such independent contractor hereunder and any provisions herein which may 
appear to give the County the right to direct the Successful Bidder as to details of doing work herein 
covered, or to exercise a measure of control over the work, shall be deemed to mean that the Successful 
Bidder shall follow the desires of the County in the results of the work only.  The County shall not retain or 
have the right to control the Successful Bidder ’s means, methods or details pertaining to the Successful 
Bidder ’s performance of the work.  The County and the Successful Bidder hereby agree and declare that 
the Successful Bidder is an independent contractor and as such meets the qualifications of an 
“Independent Contractor” under Texas Workers Compensation Act, Texas Labor Code, Section 406.141, 
that the Successful Bidder is not an employee of  the County, and that the Successful Bidder and its 
employees, agents and subcontractors shall not be entitled to workers compensation coverage or any 
other type of insurance coverage held by the County.

4.17 SOLE PROVIDER

The Successful Bidder agrees and acknowledges that it shall not be considered a sole provider of the 
goods and/or services described herein and that the County may contract with other providers of such 
goods and/or services if the County deems, at its sole discretion, that multiple providers of the same 
goods and/or services will serve the best interest of the County.

4.18 FORCE MAJEURE

If the party obligated to perform is prevented from performance by an act of war, order of legal authority, 
act of God, or other unavoidable cause not attributable to the fault or negligence of said party, the other 
party shall grant such party relief from the performance.  The burden of proof for the need of such relief 
shall rest upon the party obligated to perform.  To obtain release based on force majeure, the party 
obligated to perform shall file a written request with the other party.

4.19 SEVERABILITY

If any provision of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be held invalid or 
unenforceable by any court of competent jurisdiction, such holding shall not invalidate or render 
unenforceable any other provision thereof, but rather the entire IFB, Contract or any Ensuing Agreement
(s) will be construed as if not containing the particular invalid or unenforceable provision or provisions, 
and the rights and obligation of the parties shall be construed and enforced in accordance therewith.  The 
parties acknowledge that if any provision of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) is 
determined to be invalid or unenforceable, it is the desire and intention of each that such provision be 
reformed and construed in such a manner that it will, to the maximum extent practicable, give effect to
the intent of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) and be deemed to be validated and
enforceable.

4.20 EQUAL OPPORTUNITY

Neither party shall discriminate against any employee or applicant for employment because of race, 
color, sex, religion or national origin.

4.21 NOTICE

Any notice to be given shall be in writing and may be distributed by personal delivery, or by registered or 
certified mail, return receipt requested, addressed to the proper party, at the following address:

The County:    Williamson County Purchasing Department 
            Attn: Purchasing Agent 
            901 South Austin Avenue 
            Georgetown, Texas 78626

The Bidder:     Address set out in Bidder’s Transmittal Letter.

Notices given in accordance with this provision shall be effective upon (1) receipt by the party to which 
notice is given, or (2) on the third (3rd) calendar day following mailing, whichever occurs first.

4.22 SALES AND USE TAX EXEMPTION

The County is a body, corporate and politic, under the laws of the State of Texas and claims exemption 
from sales and use taxes under Texas Tax Code, Section 151.309, as amended, and the services and/or 
goods subject hereof are being secured for use by the County.

4.23 COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS

The County and the Successful Bidder shall comply with all federal, state, and local laws, statutes,
ordinances, rules and regulations, and the orders and decrees of any courts or administrative bodies or 
tribunals in any matter affecting the performance of the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s),
including, without limitation, Workers ’ Compensation laws, salary and wage statutes and regulations, 
licensing laws and regulations.  When required, the Successful Bidder shall furnish the County with 
certification of compliance with said laws, statues, ordinances, rules, regulations, orders, and decrees 
above specified.

4.24 INCORPORATION OF EXHIBITS, APPENDICES AND ATTACHMENTS

All of the Exhibits, Appendices and Attachments referred to herein are incorporated by reference as if set 
forth verbatim herein.  Any conflicting terms in the Contract documents will be resolved at the sole 
discretion of the Commissioners Court.

4.25 NO WAIVER OF IMMUNITIES

Nothing herein shall be deemed to waive, modify or amend any legal defense available at law or in equity 
to the County, its past or present officers, employees, or agents, nor to create any legal rights or claim on 
behalf of any third party.  The County does not waive, modify, or alter to any extent whatsoever the 
availability of the defense of governmental immunity under the laws of the State of Texas and of the 
United States.

4.26 NO WAIVER

The failure or delay of any party to enforce at any time or any period of time any of the provisions of this 
IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall not constitute a present or future waiver of such 
provisions nor the right of either party to enforce each and every provision.  Furthermore, no term or 
provision hereof shall be deemed waived and no breach excused unless such waiver or consent shall be 
in writing and signed by the party claimed to have waived or consented.  Any consent by any party to, or 
waiver of, a breach by the other, whether expressed or implied, shall not constitute a consent to, waiver 
of or excuse for any other, different or subsequent breach.

4.27 CURRENT REVENUES

The obligations of the parties under the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) do not constitute a 
general obligation or indebtedness of the County for which the County is obligated to levy, pledge, or 
collect any of taxation.  It is understood and agreed that the County shall have the right to terminate the 
Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) at the end of any the County fiscal year if the governing body of 
the County does not appropriate sufficient funds as determined by the County ’s budget for the fiscal year 
in question.  The County may effect such termination by giving written notice of termination to the 
Successful Bidder at the end of its then-current fiscal year.

4.28 FOB DESTINATION

To the extent applicable to this IFB, all of the items listed are to be Free On Board to final destination 
(FOB Destination) with all transportation charges if applicable to be included in the Bid, unless otherwise 
specified in the Invitation for Bids.  The title and risk of loss of the goods shall not pass to the County until 
receipt and acceptance takes place at the FOB Destination point.

4.29 BINDING EFFECT

This Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties 
and their respective permitted assigns and successors.

4.30 ASSIGNMENT

The Successful Bidder ’s interest and duties hereunder may not be assigned or delegated to a third party 
without the express written consent of the County.

4.31 SAFETY

The Successful Bidder is responsible for initiating, maintaining, and supervising all safety precautions 
and programs in connection with any services to be provided hereunder. The safety program shall 
comply with all applicable requirements of the current federal Occupational Safety and Health Act and all 
other applicable federal, state and local laws and regulations.

4.32 GENERAL OBLIGATIONS AND RELIANCE

The Successful Bidder shall perform all services and/or provide all goods, as well as those reasonably
inferable and necessary for completion and provision of services and/or goods required hereunder. The
Successful Bidder shall keep the County informed of the progress and quality of the services.  The 
Successful Bidder agrees and acknowledges that the County is relying on the Successful Bidder's 
represented expertise and ability to provide the goods and/or services described herein.  The Successful
Bidder agrees to use its best efforts, skill, judgment, and abilities to perform its obligations in accordance
with the highest standards used in the profession and to further the interests of the County 
accordance with the County ’s requirements and procedures.    T h e   Successful Bidder ’s duties,
set forth herein, shall at no time be in any way diminished by reason of any approval by the County, nor
shall the Successful Bidder be released from any liability by reason of such approval by the County, it 
being understood that the County at all times is ultimately relying upon the Successful Bidder ’s skill and 
knowledge in performing the services and providing any goods required hereunder.

4.33 ESTIMATED QUANTITIES

To the extent applicable to this IFB, the estimated quantity of each item listed in this IFB is only
estimate; the actual quantity to be purchased may be more or less. The County is not obligated
purchase any minimum amount, and the County may purchase any reasonable amount greater than the
estimate for the same unit price. Any limit on quantities available must be stated expressly in the Bid.

4.34 CONTRACTUAL DEVELOPMENT

The contents of the IFB and the Successful Bidder ’s Bid will become an integral part of the Contract, but 
may be modified, at the County ’s sole discretion, by provisions of an Ensuing Agreement.  Therefore, the 
Bidder must agree to an inclusion of an Ensuing Agreement of the Bid specifications, terms and 
conditions of this IFB.  If an Ensuing Agreement is required under this IFB, information relative to the 
Agreement will be located in the Special Provisions Section of this IFB.

4.35 SURVIVABILITY 

All applicable agreements that were entered into between the Successful Bidder and the County, under 
the terms and conditions of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s), shall survive the expiration or 
termination thereof for ninety (90) days unless a new contract has been awarded.

The County may exercise, by written notice to the Successful Bidder no later than ten (10) calendar days 
of the Contract expiration, this clause for emergencies only. 

4.36 AIR QUALITY

In determining the overall best Bid, the County may, to the extent applicable, exercise the option granted 
to local governments under the Texas Local Government Code, Section 271.907.

This option allows the County to evaluate Bids and give preference to goods and/or services of a Bidder 
that demonstrates that the Bidder meets or exceeds any and all state or federal environmental 
standards, including voluntary standards, relating to air quality.  If the Bid being submitted will have an 
effect on air quality for the County (as it relates to any state, federal, or voluntary air quality standard), 
then the Bidder is encouraged to provide information in narrative indicating the anticipated air quality 
impact.  All Bidders are expected to meet all mandated state and federal air quality standards.

4.37 ENTIRE AGREEMENT

The Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall supersede all prior Agreements, written or oral 
between the Successful Bidder and the County and shall constitute the entire Agreement and 
understanding between the parties with respect to the services and/or goods to be provided.  Each of the 
provisions herein shall be binding upon the parties and may not be waived, modified, amended or altered, 
except by writing signed by the Successful Bidder and the County.

4.38 PAYMENT

The County ’s payment for goods and services shall be governed by the Texas Government Code, 

Chapter 2251.  An invoice shall be deemed overdue the thirty-first (31st) day after the later of the 
following: 

A. The date the County receives the goods under the Contract; 
B. The date the performance of the service under the Contract is completed; or 
C. The date the Williamson County Auditor receives an invoice for the goods or services.  

Interest charges for any overdue payments shall be paid by the County in accordance with Texas 
Government Code, Section 2251.025.  More specifically, the rate of interest that shall accrue on a late 
payment is the rate in effect on September 1 of the County ’s fiscal year in which the payment becomes 
due.  The said rate in effect on September 1 shall be equal to the sum of one (1) percent, and the prime 

rate published in the Wall Street Journal on the first (1st) day of July of the preceding fiscal year that does 
not fall on a Saturday or Sunday.

In the event that an error appears in an invoice submitted by the Successful Bidder, the County shall 
notify the Successful Bidder of the error not later than the twenty-first (21st) day after the date the County 
receives the invoice.  If the error is resolved in favor of the Successful Bidder, the Successful Bidder 
shall be entitled to receive interest on the unpaid balance of the invoice submitted by the Successful 
Bidder beginning on the date that the payment for the invoice became overdue.  If the error is resolved in 
favor of the County, the Successful Bidder shall submit a corrected invoice that must be paid in 
accordance within the time set forth above.  The unpaid balance accrues interest as provided by the 
Texas Government Code, Chapter 2251, if the corrected invoice is not paid by the appropriate date.

As a minimum, invoices shall include:

A. Name, address, and telephone number of the Successful Bidder and similar information in the 
event the payment is to be made to a different address. 

B. The County Contract, Purchase Order. 

C. Identification of items or service as outlined in the Contract. 

D. Quantity or quantities, applicable unit prices, total prices and total amount. 

E. Any additional payment information which may be called for by the Contract. 

Payment inquiries should be directed to the following address:        

            Williamson County Auditor’s Office, Accounts Payable Department
            Email: accountspayable@wilco.org
            Phone: 512-943-1500

4.39 CONTRACTUAL FORMATION AND ENSUING AGREEMENT

The IFB and the Bidder ’s Bid, when properly accepted by the Commissioners Court, shall constitute a
Contract equally binding between the Successful Bidder and the County.

If an Ensuing Agreement is required by this IFB, that information will be provided in Special 
Provisions section of this IFB.  The Successful Bidder shall be required to execute the Agreement at 
the Williamson County Purchasing Department approximately ten (10) calendar days after the 
Successful Bidder is notified of award.  The Ensuing Agreement shall be in the same form as the 
Agreement which is attached to the end of this IFB.  The only anticipated changes in the Ensuing 
Agreement will be to include additional exhibits, to fill in blanks to identify the Successful Bidder, and 
terms relating to the compensation, or to revise the Agreement to accommodate corrections, changes in 
the scope of services, or changes pursuant to Addenda issued.  Bidders should raise any questions 
regarding the terms of the Agreement in the form of written questions or submittals as 
described in the Public Announcement and General Information portion of this IFB.  Because the 
signed Ensuing Agreement will be substantively and substantially derived from the attached Agreement, 
each Bidder is urged to seek independent legal counsel as to any questions about the terms, conditions 
or provisions contained in the Agreement before submitting a Bid.  Again, the attached Agreement, if 
applicable, contains important legal provisions and is considered part and parcel of this IFB.  Failure or 
refusal to sign aforesaid Agreement shall be grounds for the County to revoke any award which has been 
issued, forfeit Bid security, if applicable, and select another Bidder.

4.40 COOPERATIVE PURCHASING PROGRAM 

During the term of the Contract resulting from this IFB, the County would like to afford the same prices, 
terms and conditions to other political subdivisions or public entities.  Another entity’s participation in the 
Contract resulting from this IFB is subject to a properly authorized Purchasing Cooperative Inter- local 
Agreement with the County.  Any liability created by purchase orders issued against the Contract shall be 
the sole responsibility of the governmental agency placing the order.

4.41 INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS

To the extent applicable Insurance information will appear in the Additional Stipulations section that is in 
this IFB Package. 

4.42 BIDDERS BOND, WARRANTY BOND, PERFORMANCE AND PAYMENT BONDS

To the extent applicable Bond information will appear in the Additional Stipulations section that is in this 
IFB Package. 

4.43 LEGAL LIABILITY INFORMATION

The Successful Bidder shall disclose all legal liability information by listing any pending litigation
anticipated litigation that your firm is involved in including, but not limited to, potential or actual legal
matters with private parties and any local, state, federal or international governmental entities. The
County reserves the right to consider legal liability information in the recommendation of any proposed 
contract to the Commissioners Court.

4.44 INCLEMENT WEATHER

In case of inclement weather or any other unforeseen event causing the County to close for business on 
the date of a Bid submission deadline, the Bid closing will automatically be postponed until the next 
business day the County is open.  If inclement weather conditions or any other unforeseen event causes 
delays in carrier service operations, the County may issue an Addendum to all known Bidders interested 
in the project to extend the deadline.  It will be the responsibility of the Bidder to notify the County of their 
interest in the project if these conditions are impacting their ability to turn in a submission within the 
stated deadline.  The County reserves the right to make the final judgement call to extend any deadline. 

4.45 CONFIDENTIALITY 

The Bidder expressly agrees that it will not use any direct or incidental confidential information that may 
be obtained while working in a governmental setting for its own benefit, and agrees that it will not access 
unauthorized areas or confidential information and it will not disclose any information to unauthorized 
third parties, and will take care to guard the security of the information at all times.

Bid 1704-156Williamson County, Texas

4/6/2017 1:22 PM p. 18



5

6

3 4

Williamson County – Invitation for Bid (IFB)

SECTION 1 - DEFINITIONS 

Addendum/Addenda – means any written or graphic instruments issued by the County prior to the 
consideration of Bids which modify or interpret the Bid Documents by additions, deletions, clarifications, 
or corrections.

Agreement/Ensuing Agreement(s) – means the Successful Bidder may be required by the County to 
sign an additional Agreement containing terms necessary to ensure compliance with the IFB and the 
Bidder ’s Bid.  Such Ensuing Agreement(s) shall contain the Bid specifications, terms and conditions that 
are derived from the IFB.

Bid Documents – means the Legal Notice, IFB including attachments, and any Addenda issued by the 
County prior to the consideration of any Bids.

Bid – means the completed and signed bid form, (sometimes referred to as the Price Sheet), and ALL 
required forms and documentation listed in the IFB package which have been submitted in accordance 
with the terms and conditions described in the IFB package.  A Bid submitted in accordance with this IFB 
is irrevocable during the specified period for evaluation and acceptance of Bids unless a waiver is 
obtained from the Williamson County Purchasing Agent.

Bidder – means a person or entity who submits a Bid in response to this IFB.

Contract – means this IFB and the Bid of the Successful Bidder shall become a Contract between the 
Successful Bidder and the County once the Successful Bidder ’s Bid is properly accepted by the 
Williamson County Commissioners Court.

Commissioner ’s Court – means the Williamson County Commissioners Court. 

County – means Williamson County, a political subdivision of the State of Texas.

Invitation for Bid (IFB) – means this document, together with the attachments thereto and any future 
Addenda issued by the County.

Successful Bidder – means the liable Bidder to whom the County intends to award the Contract.

SECTION 2 - BID FORMAT AND SUBMISSION

2.1 ORGANIZATION OF BID CONTENTS FOR SUBMITTAL 

Each Bid should be organized and items submitted in the order described below: 

A. Transmittal Letter. Please see Section 2.3, Transmittal Letter, for more information. 

B. Price Sheet.

C. Conflict of Interest Questionnaire. Please see Section 2.2, Conflict of Interest, for more 
information in regards to this. Please note that even if you deem there to be no Conflict of Interest, 
this signed questionnaire must be included in your package. 

D. References. Please see Section 3.15, References, for more information. 

E. Bid Affidavit.

F. Form 1295. Please see Section 2.4, Certificate of Interested Parties – Form 1295. 

2.2 CONFLICT OF INTEREST

No public official shall have interest in a Contract, in accordance with Vernon ’s Texas Codes Annotated, 
Local Government Code, Title 5, Subtitle C, Chapter 171, as amended. 

As of January 1, 2006, all Bidders are responsible for complying with Local Government Code, Title 5, 
Subtitle C, Chapter 176.  Additional information may be obtained from the County’s website at the 
following link: 

http://www.wilco.org/CountyDepartments/Purchasing/ConflictofInterestDisclosure/tabid/689/language/en
US/Default.aspx

Each Bidder must disclose any existing or potential conflict of interest relative to the performance of the 
requirements of this IFB.  Examples of potential conflicts of interest may include an existing 
business or personal relationship between the Bidder, its principal, or any affiliate or 
subcontractor with the County or any other entity or person involved in any way with the project 
that is subject to this IFB .  Similarly, any personal or business relationship between the Bidder, the 

principals, or any affiliate or subcontractor with any employee, or official of the County or its suppliers 
must be disclosed.  Any such relationship that might be perceived or represented as a conflict must be 
disclosed. Failure to disclose any such relationship or reveal personal relationships with the County 
employees or officials may be cause for termination. 

The County will decide if an actual or perceived conflict should result in Bid disqualification. 

By submitting a Bid in response to this IFB, all Bidders affirm they have not given, nor intend to give, at 
any time hereafter, any economic opportunity, future employment, gift, loan, gratuity, special discount, 
trip, favor, or service to a the County public servant or any employee, official or representative of same, in 
connection with this procurement. 

Each Bidder must provide a Conflict of Interest Statement with their Bid Package.  Package may 

be deemed incomplete without this form.  

2.3 TRANSMITTAL LETTER

The Bidder should submit a Transmittal Letter that provides the following information: 

A. Name and address of individual or business entity submitting the Bid. 

B. Name, physical address, email address, business and fax number of the Bidder ’s principal 
contact person regarding all contractual matters relating to this IFB.

C. The Bid ’s Federal Employer Identification Number.

D. If the Proposal being submitted will have an effect on air quality for the County (as it relates to any 
state, federal, or voluntary air quality standard), then the Respondent is encouraged to provide
information in narrative indicating the anticipated air quality impact. See Section 4.36, Air Quality 
for more information. 

2.4 CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PARTIES – FORM 1295

As of January 1, 2016, all Successful Bidders are responsible for complying with the Texas Government 
Code, Section 2252.908.  The law states that the County may not enter into certain contracts with a 
Bidder unless the Bidder submits a disclosure of interested parties to the County at the time the Bidder 
submits the signed Contract.  The law applies only to a Contract of the County on or after January 1, 
2016 that either:

A. Requires an action or vote by the Commissioners Court before the Contract may be signed (all 
contracts that fall under the jurisdiction of the Commissioners Court approval, such as contracts 
resulting from an Initiation for Bid (IFB), RFP, Request for Qualifications (RFQ), etc., excluding, 
but not limited to, certain Juvenile Service contracts, contracts funded with Sheriff ’s seized fun 
monies, etc.); or

B. Has a value of at least $1,000,000. 

By January 1, 2016, the Texas Ethics Commission will make available on its website, a new filing 
application that must be used to file Form 1295.  Information regarding how to use the filing application is 
available on the Texas Ethics Commission website at the following link:

https://www.ethics.state.tx.us/whatsnew/elf_info_form1295.htm

A Respondent must:

A. Use the online application to process the required information on Form 1295.

B. Print a copy of the form which will contain a unique certification number.

C. An authorized agent of the Bidder must sign the printed copy of the form.

D. Have the form notarized.

E. File the completed Form 1295 and certification of filing (scanning and emailing form is sufficient) 
with Williamson County Purchasing Agent at the time the signed Contract is submitted for 
approval.

After the Commissioners Court award of the Contract, the County shall notify the Texas Ethics 
Commission, using the Texas Ethics Commission ’s filing application, of the receipt of the filed Form 
1295 and certification of filing not later than the 30th day after the date the Contract binds all parties to the 
Contract. The Texas Ethics Commission will post the completed Form 1295 to its website within seven 
business days after receiving notice from the County.

2.5 ETHICS

The Bidder shall not accept or offer gifts or anything of value nor enter into any business arrangement 
with any employee, official or agent of the County.

2.6 BID SUBMITTAL DEADLINE

The Bid is due no later than the submittal date and time set forth in the Public Announcement and 
General Information listed in this IFB package.  Contents of each Bid shall be submitted in accordance 
with this IFB.

2.7 DELIVERY OF BIDS

The County uses BidSync to distribute and receive Bids and proposals.  It is preferred that Bids
submitted electronically through BidSync; however, Bidders can submit a hard copy.  

Refer to www.bidsync.com for further information on how to submit electronically.

If mailed or delivered in person, Bids and Bid Addenda are to be delivered in sealed envelope on or before
the submittal deadline, as noted in the Public Announcement and General Information listed in this IFB 
package, to:

            Williamson County Purchasing Department
            Attn: Bid Name and Number
            901 South Austin Avenue
            Georgetown, Texas 78626

Also, all Bidders should list their Name and Address, and the Date of the Bid opening on the outside
the box or envelope and note “Sealed Bid Enclosed.” The County will not accept any Bids received after 
the submittal deadline, and shall return such Bids unopened to the Bidder.  The County will not accept 
any responsibility for Bids being delivered by third party carriers.  

Bids will be opened publically and the names of Bidders and pricing will be read aloud.

SECTION 3 - INSTRUCTIONS AND GENERAL REQUIREMENTS

3.1 INSTRUCTIONS

Read this document carefully, and follow all instructions and requirements.  All Bidders are responsible 
for fulfilling all requirements and specifications.  Be sure to have a clear understanding of this IFB.

General requirements apply to all advertised IFBs; however, these may be superseded, in whole or in 
part, by the bid specifications, Addenda and modifications issued as a part of this IFB.  Be sure your Bid 
package is complete.

3.2 AMBIGUITY, CONFLICT, OR OTHER ERRORS IN THIS IFB

If a Bidder discovers any ambiguity, conflict, discrepancy, omission or other error in this IFB, the Bidder 
shall immediately notify the County Purchasing Department of such error in writing and request
modification or clarification of the document.

Modifications will be made by issuing Addenda. If the Bidder fails to notify the County prior to the date
and time fixed for submission of Bids of an error or ambiguity in the IFB known to the Bidder, or an error
or ambiguity that reasonably should have been known to the Bidder, then the Bidder shall be deemed to 
have waived the error or ambiguity or its later resolution.

The County may also modify the IFB, no later than forty-eight (48) hours prior to the date and time fixed
for submission of Bids, by issuance of an Addendum.  All Addenda will be numbered consecutively, 
beginning with one (1).

3.3 NOTIFICATION OF MOST CURRENT ADDRESS

All Bidders in receipt of this IFB shall notify the Williamson County Purchasing Department of any
address changes, contact person changes, and/or telephone number changes no later than forty-eight 
(48) hours prior to the date and time fixed for submission of Bids.

3.4 SIGNATURE OF BIDDER

A. If the Bidder is a Corporation or Limited Liability Company, the legal name of the Corporation
Limited Liability Company shall be provided together with the signature of the officer or officers 
authorized to sign on behalf of such entity.

B. If the Bidder is a General Partnership, the true name of the firm shall be provided with the
signature of each partner authorized to sign.

C. If the Bidder is a Limited Partnership, the name of the Limited Partner ’s General Partner shall
provided with the signature of the officer authorized to sign on behalf of the General Partner.

D. If the Bidder is a Sole Proprietor(s) (individual), each Sole Proprietor(s) shall sign.

E. If signature is by an agent, other than the Sole Proprietor(s) or an officer of a Corporation, Limited 
Liability Company, General Partner or a member of a General Partnership, a power of attorney
equivalent document must be submitted to the Williamson County Purchasing Department.

3.5 ASSUMED BUSINESS NAME

If the Bidder operates business under an Assumed Business Name, the Bidder must have on file with the
Williamson County Clerk a current Assumed Name Certificate and provide a file marked copy of same.

3.6 BID OBLIGATION 

The contents of the IFB, Bid, and any clarification thereof submitted by the Successful Bidder shall
become part of the contractual obligation and incorporated by reference into the Contract and any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

3.7 COMPLIANCE WITH IFB SPECIFICATIONS

It is intended that this IFB describe the requirements and the Bid format in sufficient detail to secure 
comparable Bids.  Failure to comply with all provisions of the IFB may, at the sole discretion of the 
County, result in disqualification.

3.8 WITHDRAWAL OF BID

The Bidder may withdraw its Bid by submitting a written request with the company letterhead and the 
signature of an authorized individual, as described in Section 3.4, Signature of Bidder, to the Williamson 
County Purchasing Department any time prior to the submission deadline.  

The Bidder may submit a new Bid prior to the deadline. Alterations of the Bid in any manner will not be 
considered if submitted after the deadline.  Withdrawal of a Bid after the deadline will be subject to written 
approval of the Williamson County Purchasing Agent.

3.9 EVALUATION AND AWARD

The County reserves the right to use all pertinent information (also learned from sources other than 
disclosed in the Bid process) that might affect the County ’s judgment as to the appropriateness of
award to the lowest and best evaluated Bid. This information may be appended to the Bid evaluation
process results. Information on a Bidder from reliable sources, and not within the Bidder ’s Bid, may also 
be noted and made part of the evaluation fi le.  The County shall have sole discretion for determining 
the reliability of the source.

To ensure the proper and fair evaluation of a solicitation, the County prohibits unsolicited communication 
initiated by the Bidder to the County Official or Employee evaluating or considering the Bids prior to the 
time an award has been made. Unsolicited communication may be ground for disqualifying the 
offending Bidder from consideration or award of the solicitation, or any future solicitation.

Communication between the Bidder and the County will be initiated by the appropriate County Official
Employee in order to obtain information or clarification needed to develop a proper and accurate 
evaluation of the solicitation.

The County intends to award a Contract to the most responsible and responsive Bidder whose Bid will 
be most advantageous to the County. In accordance with Texas Government Code and Local
Government Code, the County may consider, to the extent allowed by law, the following:

A. Price;
B. The Bidder ’s experience and reputation;
C. Quality of the Bidder ’s goods and/or services; 
D. The Bidder ’s safety record;
E. The Bidder ’s proposed personnel; 
F. The Bidder ’s financial capabilities; and 
G. Any other relevant factors specifically listed in this IFB or authorized by law.

3.10 CONDISERATION OF LOCATION OF PRINCIPAL OFFICE 

Pursuant to Texas Local Government Code, Section 271.905 , in purchasing any real property or personal
property that is not affixed to real property, if the County receives one or more Bids from a Bidder whose
principal place of business is in Williamson County and whose Bid is within three (3 )  percent of the
lowest Bid price received by the County from a Bidder who is not a resident of Williamson County, the 
County may enter into a contract with:

A. The lowest Bidder; or the Bidder whose principal place of business is in Williamson County if the
Commissioners Court determines, in writing, that the local Bidder offers the County the best 
combination of contract price and addit ional economic development opportunities
Williamson County created by the contract award, including the employment of residents
Williamson County and increased tax revenues to Williamson County.

It is understood that the Commissioners Court of Williamson County, Texas, reserves the right to accept
or reject any and/or all Bids for any or all goods and/or services covered in this IFB, and to waive
informalities or defects in the Bid or to accept such Bid, if it shall deem to be in the best interest of the 
County.

Awards should be made approximately sixty (60) business days after the Bid opening date. Results may
be obtained by viewing the Williamson County vendor portal at the following link:

http://www.wilco.org/CountyDepartments/Purchasing/SearchforaPastBid/tabid/5213/language/en-
US/Default.aspx

3.11 RESPONSIBILITY 

It is expected that a prospective Bidder will be able to affirmatively demonstrate responsibility.  A 
prospective Bidder should be able to meet the following requirements:

A. Have adequate financial resources, or the ability to obtain such resources as required;
B. Be able to comply with the required or proposed delivery schedule;
C. Have a satisfactory record of performance that can be determined thru references provided; and 
D. Be otherwise qualified and eligible to receive an award.

The County may request representation and other information sufficient to determine the Bidder's ability 
to meet these minimum standards listed above.

3.12 FIRM PRICING 

For unit price items, all of the items listed are to be on a “per unit” basis, stating a firm price per unit or 
unit quantity of each item.  The Bidder must submit a firm price that must be good from the date of Bid 
opening for the fixed period of time set out in this IFB.  Unless the IFB expressly states otherwise, this 
period shall be until the end of the Initial Contract Period.

Bids which do not state a fixed price, or which are subject to change without notice, will not be 
considered.  The Court may award a Contract for the period implied or expressly stated in the lowest and 
best Bid.

3.13 PURCHASE ORDERS

If required by the Williamson County Purchasing Department, a purchase order(s) may be generated to 
the Successful Bidder for goods and/or services.  If a purchase order is issued, the purchase order 
number must appear on all itemized invoices and/or requests for payment.

3.14 SILENCE OF SPECIFICATIONS

The apparent silence of these specifications as to any detail or to the apparent omission from it of a 
detailed description concerning any point, shall be regarded as meaning that only the best practices are 
to prevail.  All interpretations of these specifications shall be made on the basis of this statement.

3.15 REFERENCES

The County may require the Bidder to supply a list of at least three (3) references where like services
and/or goods have been supplied by their firm within the past five (5) years, to include names, titles, 
phone numbers and email addresses of key personnel, and dates of performance.

The County may contact some or all of the references in order to determine the Respondent
performance record on work similar to that described in this RFP.  The County reserves the right to 
contact references other than those provided in the response and to use the information gained from 
them in the evaluation process.

References, if requested, should be provided in accordance with this IFB.  Bid may not be deemed 
complete without the inclusion of requested references.

SECTION 4 - TERMS AND CONDITIONS

4.1 VENUE AND GOVERNING LAW

The Bidder hereby agrees and acknowledges that venue and jurisdiction of any suit, right, or cause of 
action arising out of or in connection with this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s), shall lie 
exclusively in either Williamson County, Texas or in the Austin Division of the Western Federal District of 
Texas, and the parties hereto expressly consent and submit to such jurisdiction.  Furthermore, except to 
the extent that this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) is governed by the laws of the United 
States, this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be governed by and construed in 
accordance with the laws of the State of Texas, excluding, however, its choice of law rules.

4.2 INCORPORATION BY REFERENCE AND PRECEDENCE

A. The Contract shall be derived from the IFB and its Addenda (if applicable), and the Bidder ’ s Bid.  In 
the event of a dispute under the Contract, applicable documents will be referred to for the purpose 
of clarification or for additional detail in the following order of precedence:

1. The IFB and its Addenda (if applicable); and

2. The Bidder ’s Bid.

B. In the event the County requires that an Ensuing Agreement be executed following award and a 
dispute arises between the terms and conditions of the Ensuing Agreement, the IFB and its 
Addenda (if applicable), and the Bidder ’s Bid, applicable documents will be referred to for the 
purpose of clarification or for additional detail in the following order of precedence: 

1. Terms and conditions of the Ensuing Agreement;

2. The IFB its Addenda; and 

3. The Bidder ’s Bid.

4.3 OWNERSHIP OF BID

Each Bid shall become the property of the County upon submittal and will not be returned to Bidders 
unless received after the submittal deadline.

4.4 DISQUALIFICATION OF BIDDER

Upon signing and submittal of the Bid, a Bidder offering to sell supplies, materials, services, or equipment 
to the County, certifies that the Bidder has not violated the antitrust laws of the State of Texas codified in 
Business & Commerce Code, Section 15.01, or the Federal Antitrust Laws, and has not communicated 
directly or indirectly the offer made to any competitor or any other person engaged in such line of 
business.  Any or all Bids may be rejected if the County believes that collusion exists among the Bidders.

4.5 FUNDING

The County intends to budget and make sufficient funds available and authorize funds for expenditure to 
finance the costs of the Contract.  All Bidders understand and agree that the County’s payment of 
amounts under the Contract shall be contingent on the County receiving appropriations or other 
expenditure authority sufficient to allow the County, in the exercise of reasonable administrative 
discretion, to make payments under this Contract.

4.6 ASSIGNMENT, SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS 

The Successful Bidder may not assign, sell, or otherwise transfer the Contract or any other rights or 
interests obtained under the Contract without written permission of the Commissioners Court.  The 
Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the contracting 
parties hereto and their respective successors and permitted assigns.

4.7 IMPLIED REQUIREMENTS

Products or services not specifically described or required in the IFB, but are necessary to provide the 
functional capabilities described by the Bidder, shall be implied and deemed to be included in the Bid.

4.8 TERMINATION

A. Termination for Cause: The County reserves the right to terminate the Contract and/or any 
Ensuing Agreement(s) for default if the Successful Bidder breaches any of the Bid specifications,
terms and conditions, including warranties of the Bidder, if any, or if the Successful Bidder 
becomes insolvent or commits acts of bankruptcy.  Such right of termination is in addition to and
not in lieu of any other remedies the County may have at law or in equity or as may otherwise
provided hereunder.  Default may be construed as, but not limited to, failure to deliver the proper 
goods and/or services within the proper amount of time, and/or to properly perform any and all 
other requirements to the County ’s satisfaction, and/or to meet all other obligations and
requirements.

B. Termination for Convenience: The County may terminate the Contract and/or any Ensuing 
Agreement(s) for convenience and without cause or further liability, upon no less than thirty (30) 
calendar days written notice to the Successful Bidder. The County reserves the right to extend 
this period if it is in the best interest of the County.  In the event the County exercises its right to 
terminate without cause, it is understood and agreed that only the amounts due to the Successful 
Bidder for goods, commodities and/or services provided and expenses incurred to and including 
the date of termination, will be due and payable.  No penalty will be assessed for the County
termination for convenience.

4.9 NON-PERFORMANCE

It is the objective of the County to obtain complete and satisfactory performance of the requirements set 
forth herein.  In addition to any other remedies available at law, in equity or that may be set out herein, 
failure to perform may result in a deduction of payment equal to the amount of the goods and/or services 
that were not provided and/or performed to the County ’s satisfaction.  

In the event of such non-performance, the County shall have the right, but shall not be obligated, to 
complete the services itself or by others and/or purchase the goods from other sources.  If the County 
elects to acquire the goods or perform the services itself or by others, pursuant to the foregoing, the 
Successful Bidder shall reimburse the County, within ten (10) calendar days of demand, for all costs 
incurred by the County (including, without limitation, applicable, general, and administrative expenses, 
and field overhead, and the cost of necessary equipment, materials, and field labor) in correcting the 
nonperformance which the Successful Bidder fails to meet pursuant to the requirements set out herein.  
In the event the Successful Bidder refuses to reimburse the County as set out in this provision, the 
County shall have the right to deduct such reimbursement amounts from any amounts that may be then 
owing or that may become owing in the future to the Successful Bidder.

4.10 PROPRIETARY INFORMATION AND THE TEXAS PUBLIC INFORMATION ACT

All material submitted to the County shall become public property and subject to the Texas Public 
Information Act upon receipt. If a Bidder does not desire proprietary information in the Bid to be 
disclosed, each page must be clearly identified and marked proprietary at time of submittal or, more 
preferably, all proprietary information may be placed in a folder or appendix and be clearly identified and 
marked as being proprietary.  Failure to clearly identify and mark information as being proprietary as set 
forth under this provision will result in all unmarked information being deemed non-proprietary and 
available to the public.  For all information that has not been clearly identified and marked as proprietary 
by the Bidder, the County may choose to place such information on the County ’s website and/or a similar 
public database without obtaining any type of prior consent from the Bidder.

The County will, to the extent allowed by law, endeavor to protect from public disclosure the information 
that has been identified and marked as proprietary.  The final decision as to what information must be 
disclosed, however, lies with the Texas Attorney General.  

To the extent, if any, that any provision in this IFB or in the Bidder ’s Bid is in conflict with Texas 
Government Code, Chapter 552, as amended (the “Public Information Act”), the same shall be of no 
force or effect.  Furthermore, it is expressly understood, and agreed, that the County, and its officers and 
employees, may request advice, decisions and opinions of the Attorney General of the State of Texas in 
regard to the application of the Public Information Act to any items or data furnished to the County as to 
whether or not the same are available to the public.  It is further understood that the County, and its 
officers and employees, shall have the right to rely on the advice, decisions and opinions of the Attorney 
General, and that the County, its officers and employees shall have no liability or obligation to any party 
hereto for the disclosure to the public, or to any person or persons, of any items or data furnished to the 
County by a party hereto, in reliance of any advice, decision or opinion of the Attorney General of the 
State of Texas.

4.11 RIGHT TO AUDIT

The Successful Bidder agrees that the County or its duly authorized representatives shall, until the 
expiration of three (3) years after termination or expiration of the services to be performed, have access 
to and the right to examine and photocopy any and all books, documents, papers and records of the 
Successful Bidder, which are directly pertinent to the services to be performed or goods to be delivered 
for the purposes of making audits, examinations, excerpts and transcriptions.  The Successful Bidder 
agrees that the County shall have access during normal working hours to all necessary facilities and 
shall be provided adequate and appropriate work space in order to conduct audits in compliance with the 
provisions of this section.  The County shall give the Successful Bidder reasonable advance notice of 
intended audits.

4.12 TESTING AND INSPECTIONS

The County reserves the right to inspect and test equipment, supplies, materials and goods for quality 
and compliance with this IFB, and ability to meet the needs of the user.  Demonstration units must be 
available for review.  Should the goods or services fail to meet requirements and/or be unavailable for 
evaluation, the County can deem the Bidder to be in breach and terminate the Contract and/or any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

4.13 BID PREPARATION COSTS

The cost of developing Bids is the sole responsibility of the Bidders and shall not be charged to the 
County.  There is no expressed or implied obligation for the County to reimburse the Bidders for any 
expense incurred in preparing a Bid in response to this IFB and the County will not reimburse the Bidders 
for such expenses.

4.14 INDEMNIFICATION

The Successful Bidder shall indemnify, defend and save harmless, the County, its officials, employees, 
agents and agent ’s employees from, and against, all claims, liability, and expenses including reasonable 
attorneys ’   fees, arising from activities of the Bidder, its agents, servants or employees, performed 
hereunder that result from the negligent act, error, or omission of the Bidder or any of the Bidder
agents, servants or employees, as well as all claims of loss or damage to the Bidder ’s and the County
property, equipment, and/or supplies. 

Furthermore, the County, its officials, employees, agents and agents ’ employees shall not be liable for 
damages to the Successful Bidder arising from any act of any third party, including, but not limited to, 
theft.  The Successful Bidder further agrees to indemnify, defend and save harmless, the County from its 
officials, employee, agents and agents ’ employees against all claims of whatever nature arising from any 
accident, injury, or damage whatsoever, caused to any person, or the property of any person, occurring 
in relation to the Successful Bidder ’s performance of any services requested hereunder during the term 
of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s). 

The Successful Bidder shall timely report all claims, demands, suits, actions, proceedings, liens or 
judgements to the County and shall, upon the receipt of any claim, demand, suit, action, proceeding, lien 

or judgement, not later than the fifteenth (15 th) day of each month; provide the County with a written 
report on each such matter, setting forth the status of each matter, the schedule or planned proceedings 
with respect to each matter and the cooperation or assistance, if any, of the County required by the 
Successful Bidder in the defense of each matter.  The Successful Bidder’s duty to defend, indemnify and 
hold the County harmless shall be absolute.  It shall not abate or end by reason of the expiration or 
termination of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s), unless otherwise agreed by the County in 
writing.  The provisions of this section shall survive the termination of the Contract and shall remain in full 
force and effect with respect to all such matters no matter when they arise. 

In the event of any dispute between the parties, as to whether a claim, demand, suit, action, proceeding, 
lien or judgement, that appears to have been caused by or appears to have arisen out of or in connection 
with acts or omissions of the County, the Bidder shall nevertheless fully defend such claim, demand, suit 
or action, proceeding, lien or judgement, until and unless there is a determination by a court of competent 
jurisdiction that the acts and omissions of the Bidder are not an issue in the matter. 

The Successful Bidder ’s indemnification shall cover, and the Successful Bidder agrees to, indemnify the 
County, in the event the County is found to have been negligent for having selected the Successful 
Bidder to perform the work described in this request.  The provision by the Successful Bidder of 
insurance shall not limit the liability of the Successful Bidder under the Contract and/or any Ensuing 
Agreement(s). 

4.15 WAIVER OF SUBROGATION

The Successful Bidder and the Successful Bidder ’s insurance carrier waive any and all rights 
whatsoever with regard to subrogation against the County as an indirect party to any suit arising out of 
personal or property damages resulting from the Bidder ’s performance under this Contract and any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

4.16 RELATIONSHIP OF THE PARTIES

The Successful Bidder shall be an independent contractor and shall assume all of the rights, obligations, 
liabilities, applicable to it as such independent contractor hereunder and any provisions herein which may 
appear to give the County the right to direct the Successful Bidder as to details of doing work herein 
covered, or to exercise a measure of control over the work, shall be deemed to mean that the Successful 
Bidder shall follow the desires of the County in the results of the work only.  The County shall not retain or 
have the right to control the Successful Bidder ’s means, methods or details pertaining to the Successful 
Bidder ’s performance of the work.  The County and the Successful Bidder hereby agree and declare that 
the Successful Bidder is an independent contractor and as such meets the qualifications of an 
“Independent Contractor” under Texas Workers Compensation Act, Texas Labor Code, Section 406.141, 
that the Successful Bidder is not an employee of  the County, and that the Successful Bidder and its 
employees, agents and subcontractors shall not be entitled to workers compensation coverage or any 
other type of insurance coverage held by the County.

4.17 SOLE PROVIDER

The Successful Bidder agrees and acknowledges that it shall not be considered a sole provider of the 
goods and/or services described herein and that the County may contract with other providers of such 
goods and/or services if the County deems, at its sole discretion, that multiple providers of the same 
goods and/or services will serve the best interest of the County.

4.18 FORCE MAJEURE

If the party obligated to perform is prevented from performance by an act of war, order of legal authority, 
act of God, or other unavoidable cause not attributable to the fault or negligence of said party, the other 
party shall grant such party relief from the performance.  The burden of proof for the need of such relief 
shall rest upon the party obligated to perform.  To obtain release based on force majeure, the party 
obligated to perform shall file a written request with the other party.

4.19 SEVERABILITY

If any provision of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be held invalid or 
unenforceable by any court of competent jurisdiction, such holding shall not invalidate or render 
unenforceable any other provision thereof, but rather the entire IFB, Contract or any Ensuing Agreement
(s) will be construed as if not containing the particular invalid or unenforceable provision or provisions, 
and the rights and obligation of the parties shall be construed and enforced in accordance therewith.  The 
parties acknowledge that if any provision of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) is 
determined to be invalid or unenforceable, it is the desire and intention of each that such provision be 
reformed and construed in such a manner that it will, to the maximum extent practicable, give effect to
the intent of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) and be deemed to be validated and
enforceable.

4.20 EQUAL OPPORTUNITY

Neither party shall discriminate against any employee or applicant for employment because of race, 
color, sex, religion or national origin.

4.21 NOTICE

Any notice to be given shall be in writing and may be distributed by personal delivery, or by registered or 
certified mail, return receipt requested, addressed to the proper party, at the following address:

The County:    Williamson County Purchasing Department 
            Attn: Purchasing Agent 
            901 South Austin Avenue 
            Georgetown, Texas 78626

The Bidder:     Address set out in Bidder’s Transmittal Letter.

Notices given in accordance with this provision shall be effective upon (1) receipt by the party to which 
notice is given, or (2) on the third (3rd) calendar day following mailing, whichever occurs first.

4.22 SALES AND USE TAX EXEMPTION

The County is a body, corporate and politic, under the laws of the State of Texas and claims exemption 
from sales and use taxes under Texas Tax Code, Section 151.309, as amended, and the services and/or 
goods subject hereof are being secured for use by the County.

4.23 COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS

The County and the Successful Bidder shall comply with all federal, state, and local laws, statutes,
ordinances, rules and regulations, and the orders and decrees of any courts or administrative bodies or 
tribunals in any matter affecting the performance of the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s),
including, without limitation, Workers ’ Compensation laws, salary and wage statutes and regulations, 
licensing laws and regulations.  When required, the Successful Bidder shall furnish the County with 
certification of compliance with said laws, statues, ordinances, rules, regulations, orders, and decrees 
above specified.

4.24 INCORPORATION OF EXHIBITS, APPENDICES AND ATTACHMENTS

All of the Exhibits, Appendices and Attachments referred to herein are incorporated by reference as if set 
forth verbatim herein.  Any conflicting terms in the Contract documents will be resolved at the sole 
discretion of the Commissioners Court.

4.25 NO WAIVER OF IMMUNITIES

Nothing herein shall be deemed to waive, modify or amend any legal defense available at law or in equity 
to the County, its past or present officers, employees, or agents, nor to create any legal rights or claim on 
behalf of any third party.  The County does not waive, modify, or alter to any extent whatsoever the 
availability of the defense of governmental immunity under the laws of the State of Texas and of the 
United States.

4.26 NO WAIVER

The failure or delay of any party to enforce at any time or any period of time any of the provisions of this 
IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall not constitute a present or future waiver of such 
provisions nor the right of either party to enforce each and every provision.  Furthermore, no term or 
provision hereof shall be deemed waived and no breach excused unless such waiver or consent shall be 
in writing and signed by the party claimed to have waived or consented.  Any consent by any party to, or 
waiver of, a breach by the other, whether expressed or implied, shall not constitute a consent to, waiver 
of or excuse for any other, different or subsequent breach.

4.27 CURRENT REVENUES

The obligations of the parties under the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) do not constitute a 
general obligation or indebtedness of the County for which the County is obligated to levy, pledge, or 
collect any of taxation.  It is understood and agreed that the County shall have the right to terminate the 
Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) at the end of any the County fiscal year if the governing body of 
the County does not appropriate sufficient funds as determined by the County ’s budget for the fiscal year 
in question.  The County may effect such termination by giving written notice of termination to the 
Successful Bidder at the end of its then-current fiscal year.

4.28 FOB DESTINATION

To the extent applicable to this IFB, all of the items listed are to be Free On Board to final destination 
(FOB Destination) with all transportation charges if applicable to be included in the Bid, unless otherwise 
specified in the Invitation for Bids.  The title and risk of loss of the goods shall not pass to the County until 
receipt and acceptance takes place at the FOB Destination point.

4.29 BINDING EFFECT

This Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties 
and their respective permitted assigns and successors.

4.30 ASSIGNMENT

The Successful Bidder ’s interest and duties hereunder may not be assigned or delegated to a third party 
without the express written consent of the County.

4.31 SAFETY

The Successful Bidder is responsible for initiating, maintaining, and supervising all safety precautions 
and programs in connection with any services to be provided hereunder. The safety program shall 
comply with all applicable requirements of the current federal Occupational Safety and Health Act and all 
other applicable federal, state and local laws and regulations.

4.32 GENERAL OBLIGATIONS AND RELIANCE

The Successful Bidder shall perform all services and/or provide all goods, as well as those reasonably
inferable and necessary for completion and provision of services and/or goods required hereunder. The
Successful Bidder shall keep the County informed of the progress and quality of the services.  The 
Successful Bidder agrees and acknowledges that the County is relying on the Successful Bidder's 
represented expertise and ability to provide the goods and/or services described herein.  The Successful
Bidder agrees to use its best efforts, skill, judgment, and abilities to perform its obligations in accordance
with the highest standards used in the profession and to further the interests of the County 
accordance with the County ’s requirements and procedures.    T h e   Successful Bidder ’s duties,
set forth herein, shall at no time be in any way diminished by reason of any approval by the County, nor
shall the Successful Bidder be released from any liability by reason of such approval by the County, it 
being understood that the County at all times is ultimately relying upon the Successful Bidder ’s skill and 
knowledge in performing the services and providing any goods required hereunder.

4.33 ESTIMATED QUANTITIES

To the extent applicable to this IFB, the estimated quantity of each item listed in this IFB is only
estimate; the actual quantity to be purchased may be more or less. The County is not obligated
purchase any minimum amount, and the County may purchase any reasonable amount greater than the
estimate for the same unit price. Any limit on quantities available must be stated expressly in the Bid.

4.34 CONTRACTUAL DEVELOPMENT

The contents of the IFB and the Successful Bidder ’s Bid will become an integral part of the Contract, but 
may be modified, at the County ’s sole discretion, by provisions of an Ensuing Agreement.  Therefore, the 
Bidder must agree to an inclusion of an Ensuing Agreement of the Bid specifications, terms and 
conditions of this IFB.  If an Ensuing Agreement is required under this IFB, information relative to the 
Agreement will be located in the Special Provisions Section of this IFB.

4.35 SURVIVABILITY 

All applicable agreements that were entered into between the Successful Bidder and the County, under 
the terms and conditions of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s), shall survive the expiration or 
termination thereof for ninety (90) days unless a new contract has been awarded.

The County may exercise, by written notice to the Successful Bidder no later than ten (10) calendar days 
of the Contract expiration, this clause for emergencies only. 

4.36 AIR QUALITY

In determining the overall best Bid, the County may, to the extent applicable, exercise the option granted 
to local governments under the Texas Local Government Code, Section 271.907.

This option allows the County to evaluate Bids and give preference to goods and/or services of a Bidder 
that demonstrates that the Bidder meets or exceeds any and all state or federal environmental 
standards, including voluntary standards, relating to air quality.  If the Bid being submitted will have an 
effect on air quality for the County (as it relates to any state, federal, or voluntary air quality standard), 
then the Bidder is encouraged to provide information in narrative indicating the anticipated air quality 
impact.  All Bidders are expected to meet all mandated state and federal air quality standards.

4.37 ENTIRE AGREEMENT

The Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall supersede all prior Agreements, written or oral 
between the Successful Bidder and the County and shall constitute the entire Agreement and 
understanding between the parties with respect to the services and/or goods to be provided.  Each of the 
provisions herein shall be binding upon the parties and may not be waived, modified, amended or altered, 
except by writing signed by the Successful Bidder and the County.

4.38 PAYMENT

The County ’s payment for goods and services shall be governed by the Texas Government Code, 

Chapter 2251.  An invoice shall be deemed overdue the thirty-first (31st) day after the later of the 
following: 

A. The date the County receives the goods under the Contract; 
B. The date the performance of the service under the Contract is completed; or 
C. The date the Williamson County Auditor receives an invoice for the goods or services.  

Interest charges for any overdue payments shall be paid by the County in accordance with Texas 
Government Code, Section 2251.025.  More specifically, the rate of interest that shall accrue on a late 
payment is the rate in effect on September 1 of the County ’s fiscal year in which the payment becomes 
due.  The said rate in effect on September 1 shall be equal to the sum of one (1) percent, and the prime 

rate published in the Wall Street Journal on the first (1st) day of July of the preceding fiscal year that does 
not fall on a Saturday or Sunday.

In the event that an error appears in an invoice submitted by the Successful Bidder, the County shall 
notify the Successful Bidder of the error not later than the twenty-first (21st) day after the date the County 
receives the invoice.  If the error is resolved in favor of the Successful Bidder, the Successful Bidder 
shall be entitled to receive interest on the unpaid balance of the invoice submitted by the Successful 
Bidder beginning on the date that the payment for the invoice became overdue.  If the error is resolved in 
favor of the County, the Successful Bidder shall submit a corrected invoice that must be paid in 
accordance within the time set forth above.  The unpaid balance accrues interest as provided by the 
Texas Government Code, Chapter 2251, if the corrected invoice is not paid by the appropriate date.

As a minimum, invoices shall include:

A. Name, address, and telephone number of the Successful Bidder and similar information in the 
event the payment is to be made to a different address. 

B. The County Contract, Purchase Order. 

C. Identification of items or service as outlined in the Contract. 

D. Quantity or quantities, applicable unit prices, total prices and total amount. 

E. Any additional payment information which may be called for by the Contract. 

Payment inquiries should be directed to the following address:        

            Williamson County Auditor’s Office, Accounts Payable Department
            Email: accountspayable@wilco.org
            Phone: 512-943-1500

4.39 CONTRACTUAL FORMATION AND ENSUING AGREEMENT

The IFB and the Bidder ’s Bid, when properly accepted by the Commissioners Court, shall constitute a
Contract equally binding between the Successful Bidder and the County.

If an Ensuing Agreement is required by this IFB, that information will be provided in Special 
Provisions section of this IFB.  The Successful Bidder shall be required to execute the Agreement at 
the Williamson County Purchasing Department approximately ten (10) calendar days after the 
Successful Bidder is notified of award.  The Ensuing Agreement shall be in the same form as the 
Agreement which is attached to the end of this IFB.  The only anticipated changes in the Ensuing 
Agreement will be to include additional exhibits, to fill in blanks to identify the Successful Bidder, and 
terms relating to the compensation, or to revise the Agreement to accommodate corrections, changes in 
the scope of services, or changes pursuant to Addenda issued.  Bidders should raise any questions 
regarding the terms of the Agreement in the form of written questions or submittals as 
described in the Public Announcement and General Information portion of this IFB.  Because the 
signed Ensuing Agreement will be substantively and substantially derived from the attached Agreement, 
each Bidder is urged to seek independent legal counsel as to any questions about the terms, conditions 
or provisions contained in the Agreement before submitting a Bid.  Again, the attached Agreement, if 
applicable, contains important legal provisions and is considered part and parcel of this IFB.  Failure or 
refusal to sign aforesaid Agreement shall be grounds for the County to revoke any award which has been 
issued, forfeit Bid security, if applicable, and select another Bidder.

4.40 COOPERATIVE PURCHASING PROGRAM 

During the term of the Contract resulting from this IFB, the County would like to afford the same prices, 
terms and conditions to other political subdivisions or public entities.  Another entity’s participation in the 
Contract resulting from this IFB is subject to a properly authorized Purchasing Cooperative Inter- local 
Agreement with the County.  Any liability created by purchase orders issued against the Contract shall be 
the sole responsibility of the governmental agency placing the order.

4.41 INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS

To the extent applicable Insurance information will appear in the Additional Stipulations section that is in 
this IFB Package. 

4.42 BIDDERS BOND, WARRANTY BOND, PERFORMANCE AND PAYMENT BONDS

To the extent applicable Bond information will appear in the Additional Stipulations section that is in this 
IFB Package. 

4.43 LEGAL LIABILITY INFORMATION

The Successful Bidder shall disclose all legal liability information by listing any pending litigation
anticipated litigation that your firm is involved in including, but not limited to, potential or actual legal
matters with private parties and any local, state, federal or international governmental entities. The
County reserves the right to consider legal liability information in the recommendation of any proposed 
contract to the Commissioners Court.

4.44 INCLEMENT WEATHER

In case of inclement weather or any other unforeseen event causing the County to close for business on 
the date of a Bid submission deadline, the Bid closing will automatically be postponed until the next 
business day the County is open.  If inclement weather conditions or any other unforeseen event causes 
delays in carrier service operations, the County may issue an Addendum to all known Bidders interested 
in the project to extend the deadline.  It will be the responsibility of the Bidder to notify the County of their 
interest in the project if these conditions are impacting their ability to turn in a submission within the 
stated deadline.  The County reserves the right to make the final judgement call to extend any deadline. 

4.45 CONFIDENTIALITY 

The Bidder expressly agrees that it will not use any direct or incidental confidential information that may 
be obtained while working in a governmental setting for its own benefit, and agrees that it will not access 
unauthorized areas or confidential information and it will not disclose any information to unauthorized 
third parties, and will take care to guard the security of the information at all times.

Bid 1704-156Williamson County, Texas

4/6/2017 1:22 PM p. 19



5

6

3 4

Williamson County – Invitation for Bid (IFB)

SECTION 1 - DEFINITIONS 

Addendum/Addenda – means any written or graphic instruments issued by the County prior to the 
consideration of Bids which modify or interpret the Bid Documents by additions, deletions, clarifications, 
or corrections.

Agreement/Ensuing Agreement(s) – means the Successful Bidder may be required by the County to 
sign an additional Agreement containing terms necessary to ensure compliance with the IFB and the 
Bidder ’s Bid.  Such Ensuing Agreement(s) shall contain the Bid specifications, terms and conditions that 
are derived from the IFB.

Bid Documents – means the Legal Notice, IFB including attachments, and any Addenda issued by the 
County prior to the consideration of any Bids.

Bid – means the completed and signed bid form, (sometimes referred to as the Price Sheet), and ALL 
required forms and documentation listed in the IFB package which have been submitted in accordance 
with the terms and conditions described in the IFB package.  A Bid submitted in accordance with this IFB 
is irrevocable during the specified period for evaluation and acceptance of Bids unless a waiver is 
obtained from the Williamson County Purchasing Agent.

Bidder – means a person or entity who submits a Bid in response to this IFB.

Contract – means this IFB and the Bid of the Successful Bidder shall become a Contract between the 
Successful Bidder and the County once the Successful Bidder ’s Bid is properly accepted by the 
Williamson County Commissioners Court.

Commissioner ’s Court – means the Williamson County Commissioners Court. 

County – means Williamson County, a political subdivision of the State of Texas.

Invitation for Bid (IFB) – means this document, together with the attachments thereto and any future 
Addenda issued by the County.

Successful Bidder – means the liable Bidder to whom the County intends to award the Contract.

SECTION 2 - BID FORMAT AND SUBMISSION

2.1 ORGANIZATION OF BID CONTENTS FOR SUBMITTAL 

Each Bid should be organized and items submitted in the order described below: 

A. Transmittal Letter. Please see Section 2.3, Transmittal Letter, for more information. 

B. Price Sheet.

C. Conflict of Interest Questionnaire. Please see Section 2.2, Conflict of Interest, for more 
information in regards to this. Please note that even if you deem there to be no Conflict of Interest, 
this signed questionnaire must be included in your package. 

D. References. Please see Section 3.15, References, for more information. 

E. Bid Affidavit.

F. Form 1295. Please see Section 2.4, Certificate of Interested Parties – Form 1295. 

2.2 CONFLICT OF INTEREST

No public official shall have interest in a Contract, in accordance with Vernon ’s Texas Codes Annotated, 
Local Government Code, Title 5, Subtitle C, Chapter 171, as amended. 

As of January 1, 2006, all Bidders are responsible for complying with Local Government Code, Title 5, 
Subtitle C, Chapter 176.  Additional information may be obtained from the County’s website at the 
following link: 

http://www.wilco.org/CountyDepartments/Purchasing/ConflictofInterestDisclosure/tabid/689/language/en
US/Default.aspx

Each Bidder must disclose any existing or potential conflict of interest relative to the performance of the 
requirements of this IFB.  Examples of potential conflicts of interest may include an existing 
business or personal relationship between the Bidder, its principal, or any affiliate or 
subcontractor with the County or any other entity or person involved in any way with the project 
that is subject to this IFB .  Similarly, any personal or business relationship between the Bidder, the 

principals, or any affiliate or subcontractor with any employee, or official of the County or its suppliers 
must be disclosed.  Any such relationship that might be perceived or represented as a conflict must be 
disclosed. Failure to disclose any such relationship or reveal personal relationships with the County 
employees or officials may be cause for termination. 

The County will decide if an actual or perceived conflict should result in Bid disqualification. 

By submitting a Bid in response to this IFB, all Bidders affirm they have not given, nor intend to give, at 
any time hereafter, any economic opportunity, future employment, gift, loan, gratuity, special discount, 
trip, favor, or service to a the County public servant or any employee, official or representative of same, in 
connection with this procurement. 

Each Bidder must provide a Conflict of Interest Statement with their Bid Package.  Package may 

be deemed incomplete without this form.  

2.3 TRANSMITTAL LETTER

The Bidder should submit a Transmittal Letter that provides the following information: 

A. Name and address of individual or business entity submitting the Bid. 

B. Name, physical address, email address, business and fax number of the Bidder ’s principal 
contact person regarding all contractual matters relating to this IFB.

C. The Bid ’s Federal Employer Identification Number.

D. If the Proposal being submitted will have an effect on air quality for the County (as it relates to any 
state, federal, or voluntary air quality standard), then the Respondent is encouraged to provide
information in narrative indicating the anticipated air quality impact. See Section 4.36, Air Quality 
for more information. 

2.4 CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PARTIES – FORM 1295

As of January 1, 2016, all Successful Bidders are responsible for complying with the Texas Government 
Code, Section 2252.908.  The law states that the County may not enter into certain contracts with a 
Bidder unless the Bidder submits a disclosure of interested parties to the County at the time the Bidder 
submits the signed Contract.  The law applies only to a Contract of the County on or after January 1, 
2016 that either:

A. Requires an action or vote by the Commissioners Court before the Contract may be signed (all 
contracts that fall under the jurisdiction of the Commissioners Court approval, such as contracts 
resulting from an Initiation for Bid (IFB), RFP, Request for Qualifications (RFQ), etc., excluding, 
but not limited to, certain Juvenile Service contracts, contracts funded with Sheriff ’s seized fun 
monies, etc.); or

B. Has a value of at least $1,000,000. 

By January 1, 2016, the Texas Ethics Commission will make available on its website, a new filing 
application that must be used to file Form 1295.  Information regarding how to use the filing application is 
available on the Texas Ethics Commission website at the following link:

https://www.ethics.state.tx.us/whatsnew/elf_info_form1295.htm

A Respondent must:

A. Use the online application to process the required information on Form 1295.

B. Print a copy of the form which will contain a unique certification number.

C. An authorized agent of the Bidder must sign the printed copy of the form.

D. Have the form notarized.

E. File the completed Form 1295 and certification of filing (scanning and emailing form is sufficient) 
with Williamson County Purchasing Agent at the time the signed Contract is submitted for 
approval.

After the Commissioners Court award of the Contract, the County shall notify the Texas Ethics 
Commission, using the Texas Ethics Commission ’s filing application, of the receipt of the filed Form 
1295 and certification of filing not later than the 30th day after the date the Contract binds all parties to the 
Contract. The Texas Ethics Commission will post the completed Form 1295 to its website within seven 
business days after receiving notice from the County.

2.5 ETHICS

The Bidder shall not accept or offer gifts or anything of value nor enter into any business arrangement 
with any employee, official or agent of the County.

2.6 BID SUBMITTAL DEADLINE

The Bid is due no later than the submittal date and time set forth in the Public Announcement and 
General Information listed in this IFB package.  Contents of each Bid shall be submitted in accordance 
with this IFB.

2.7 DELIVERY OF BIDS

The County uses BidSync to distribute and receive Bids and proposals.  It is preferred that Bids
submitted electronically through BidSync; however, Bidders can submit a hard copy.  

Refer to www.bidsync.com for further information on how to submit electronically.

If mailed or delivered in person, Bids and Bid Addenda are to be delivered in sealed envelope on or before
the submittal deadline, as noted in the Public Announcement and General Information listed in this IFB 
package, to:

            Williamson County Purchasing Department
            Attn: Bid Name and Number
            901 South Austin Avenue
            Georgetown, Texas 78626

Also, all Bidders should list their Name and Address, and the Date of the Bid opening on the outside
the box or envelope and note “Sealed Bid Enclosed.” The County will not accept any Bids received after 
the submittal deadline, and shall return such Bids unopened to the Bidder.  The County will not accept 
any responsibility for Bids being delivered by third party carriers.  

Bids will be opened publically and the names of Bidders and pricing will be read aloud.

SECTION 3 - INSTRUCTIONS AND GENERAL REQUIREMENTS

3.1 INSTRUCTIONS

Read this document carefully, and follow all instructions and requirements.  All Bidders are responsible 
for fulfilling all requirements and specifications.  Be sure to have a clear understanding of this IFB.

General requirements apply to all advertised IFBs; however, these may be superseded, in whole or in 
part, by the bid specifications, Addenda and modifications issued as a part of this IFB.  Be sure your Bid 
package is complete.

3.2 AMBIGUITY, CONFLICT, OR OTHER ERRORS IN THIS IFB

If a Bidder discovers any ambiguity, conflict, discrepancy, omission or other error in this IFB, the Bidder 
shall immediately notify the County Purchasing Department of such error in writing and request
modification or clarification of the document.

Modifications will be made by issuing Addenda. If the Bidder fails to notify the County prior to the date
and time fixed for submission of Bids of an error or ambiguity in the IFB known to the Bidder, or an error
or ambiguity that reasonably should have been known to the Bidder, then the Bidder shall be deemed to 
have waived the error or ambiguity or its later resolution.

The County may also modify the IFB, no later than forty-eight (48) hours prior to the date and time fixed
for submission of Bids, by issuance of an Addendum.  All Addenda will be numbered consecutively, 
beginning with one (1).

3.3 NOTIFICATION OF MOST CURRENT ADDRESS

All Bidders in receipt of this IFB shall notify the Williamson County Purchasing Department of any
address changes, contact person changes, and/or telephone number changes no later than forty-eight 
(48) hours prior to the date and time fixed for submission of Bids.

3.4 SIGNATURE OF BIDDER

A. If the Bidder is a Corporation or Limited Liability Company, the legal name of the Corporation
Limited Liability Company shall be provided together with the signature of the officer or officers 
authorized to sign on behalf of such entity.

B. If the Bidder is a General Partnership, the true name of the firm shall be provided with the
signature of each partner authorized to sign.

C. If the Bidder is a Limited Partnership, the name of the Limited Partner ’s General Partner shall
provided with the signature of the officer authorized to sign on behalf of the General Partner.

D. If the Bidder is a Sole Proprietor(s) (individual), each Sole Proprietor(s) shall sign.

E. If signature is by an agent, other than the Sole Proprietor(s) or an officer of a Corporation, Limited 
Liability Company, General Partner or a member of a General Partnership, a power of attorney
equivalent document must be submitted to the Williamson County Purchasing Department.

3.5 ASSUMED BUSINESS NAME

If the Bidder operates business under an Assumed Business Name, the Bidder must have on file with the
Williamson County Clerk a current Assumed Name Certificate and provide a file marked copy of same.

3.6 BID OBLIGATION 

The contents of the IFB, Bid, and any clarification thereof submitted by the Successful Bidder shall
become part of the contractual obligation and incorporated by reference into the Contract and any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

3.7 COMPLIANCE WITH IFB SPECIFICATIONS

It is intended that this IFB describe the requirements and the Bid format in sufficient detail to secure 
comparable Bids.  Failure to comply with all provisions of the IFB may, at the sole discretion of the 
County, result in disqualification.

3.8 WITHDRAWAL OF BID

The Bidder may withdraw its Bid by submitting a written request with the company letterhead and the 
signature of an authorized individual, as described in Section 3.4, Signature of Bidder, to the Williamson 
County Purchasing Department any time prior to the submission deadline.  

The Bidder may submit a new Bid prior to the deadline. Alterations of the Bid in any manner will not be 
considered if submitted after the deadline.  Withdrawal of a Bid after the deadline will be subject to written 
approval of the Williamson County Purchasing Agent.

3.9 EVALUATION AND AWARD

The County reserves the right to use all pertinent information (also learned from sources other than 
disclosed in the Bid process) that might affect the County ’s judgment as to the appropriateness of
award to the lowest and best evaluated Bid. This information may be appended to the Bid evaluation
process results. Information on a Bidder from reliable sources, and not within the Bidder ’s Bid, may also 
be noted and made part of the evaluation fi le.  The County shall have sole discretion for determining 
the reliability of the source.

To ensure the proper and fair evaluation of a solicitation, the County prohibits unsolicited communication 
initiated by the Bidder to the County Official or Employee evaluating or considering the Bids prior to the 
time an award has been made. Unsolicited communication may be ground for disqualifying the 
offending Bidder from consideration or award of the solicitation, or any future solicitation.

Communication between the Bidder and the County will be initiated by the appropriate County Official
Employee in order to obtain information or clarification needed to develop a proper and accurate 
evaluation of the solicitation.

The County intends to award a Contract to the most responsible and responsive Bidder whose Bid will 
be most advantageous to the County. In accordance with Texas Government Code and Local
Government Code, the County may consider, to the extent allowed by law, the following:

A. Price;
B. The Bidder ’s experience and reputation;
C. Quality of the Bidder ’s goods and/or services; 
D. The Bidder ’s safety record;
E. The Bidder ’s proposed personnel; 
F. The Bidder ’s financial capabilities; and 
G. Any other relevant factors specifically listed in this IFB or authorized by law.

3.10 CONDISERATION OF LOCATION OF PRINCIPAL OFFICE 

Pursuant to Texas Local Government Code, Section 271.905 , in purchasing any real property or personal
property that is not affixed to real property, if the County receives one or more Bids from a Bidder whose
principal place of business is in Williamson County and whose Bid is within three (3 )  percent of the
lowest Bid price received by the County from a Bidder who is not a resident of Williamson County, the 
County may enter into a contract with:

A. The lowest Bidder; or the Bidder whose principal place of business is in Williamson County if the
Commissioners Court determines, in writing, that the local Bidder offers the County the best 
combination of contract price and addit ional economic development opportunities
Williamson County created by the contract award, including the employment of residents
Williamson County and increased tax revenues to Williamson County.

It is understood that the Commissioners Court of Williamson County, Texas, reserves the right to accept
or reject any and/or all Bids for any or all goods and/or services covered in this IFB, and to waive
informalities or defects in the Bid or to accept such Bid, if it shall deem to be in the best interest of the 
County.

Awards should be made approximately sixty (60) business days after the Bid opening date. Results may
be obtained by viewing the Williamson County vendor portal at the following link:

http://www.wilco.org/CountyDepartments/Purchasing/SearchforaPastBid/tabid/5213/language/en-
US/Default.aspx

3.11 RESPONSIBILITY 

It is expected that a prospective Bidder will be able to affirmatively demonstrate responsibility.  A 
prospective Bidder should be able to meet the following requirements:

A. Have adequate financial resources, or the ability to obtain such resources as required;
B. Be able to comply with the required or proposed delivery schedule;
C. Have a satisfactory record of performance that can be determined thru references provided; and 
D. Be otherwise qualified and eligible to receive an award.

The County may request representation and other information sufficient to determine the Bidder's ability 
to meet these minimum standards listed above.

3.12 FIRM PRICING 

For unit price items, all of the items listed are to be on a “per unit” basis, stating a firm price per unit or 
unit quantity of each item.  The Bidder must submit a firm price that must be good from the date of Bid 
opening for the fixed period of time set out in this IFB.  Unless the IFB expressly states otherwise, this 
period shall be until the end of the Initial Contract Period.

Bids which do not state a fixed price, or which are subject to change without notice, will not be 
considered.  The Court may award a Contract for the period implied or expressly stated in the lowest and 
best Bid.

3.13 PURCHASE ORDERS

If required by the Williamson County Purchasing Department, a purchase order(s) may be generated to 
the Successful Bidder for goods and/or services.  If a purchase order is issued, the purchase order 
number must appear on all itemized invoices and/or requests for payment.

3.14 SILENCE OF SPECIFICATIONS

The apparent silence of these specifications as to any detail or to the apparent omission from it of a 
detailed description concerning any point, shall be regarded as meaning that only the best practices are 
to prevail.  All interpretations of these specifications shall be made on the basis of this statement.

3.15 REFERENCES

The County may require the Bidder to supply a list of at least three (3) references where like services
and/or goods have been supplied by their firm within the past five (5) years, to include names, titles, 
phone numbers and email addresses of key personnel, and dates of performance.

The County may contact some or all of the references in order to determine the Respondent
performance record on work similar to that described in this RFP.  The County reserves the right to 
contact references other than those provided in the response and to use the information gained from 
them in the evaluation process.

References, if requested, should be provided in accordance with this IFB.  Bid may not be deemed 
complete without the inclusion of requested references.

SECTION 4 - TERMS AND CONDITIONS

4.1 VENUE AND GOVERNING LAW

The Bidder hereby agrees and acknowledges that venue and jurisdiction of any suit, right, or cause of 
action arising out of or in connection with this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s), shall lie 
exclusively in either Williamson County, Texas or in the Austin Division of the Western Federal District of 
Texas, and the parties hereto expressly consent and submit to such jurisdiction.  Furthermore, except to 
the extent that this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) is governed by the laws of the United 
States, this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be governed by and construed in 
accordance with the laws of the State of Texas, excluding, however, its choice of law rules.

4.2 INCORPORATION BY REFERENCE AND PRECEDENCE

A. The Contract shall be derived from the IFB and its Addenda (if applicable), and the Bidder ’ s Bid.  In 
the event of a dispute under the Contract, applicable documents will be referred to for the purpose 
of clarification or for additional detail in the following order of precedence:

1. The IFB and its Addenda (if applicable); and

2. The Bidder ’s Bid.

B. In the event the County requires that an Ensuing Agreement be executed following award and a 
dispute arises between the terms and conditions of the Ensuing Agreement, the IFB and its 
Addenda (if applicable), and the Bidder ’s Bid, applicable documents will be referred to for the 
purpose of clarification or for additional detail in the following order of precedence: 

1. Terms and conditions of the Ensuing Agreement;

2. The IFB its Addenda; and 

3. The Bidder ’s Bid.

4.3 OWNERSHIP OF BID

Each Bid shall become the property of the County upon submittal and will not be returned to Bidders 
unless received after the submittal deadline.

4.4 DISQUALIFICATION OF BIDDER

Upon signing and submittal of the Bid, a Bidder offering to sell supplies, materials, services, or equipment 
to the County, certifies that the Bidder has not violated the antitrust laws of the State of Texas codified in 
Business & Commerce Code, Section 15.01, or the Federal Antitrust Laws, and has not communicated 
directly or indirectly the offer made to any competitor or any other person engaged in such line of 
business.  Any or all Bids may be rejected if the County believes that collusion exists among the Bidders.

4.5 FUNDING

The County intends to budget and make sufficient funds available and authorize funds for expenditure to 
finance the costs of the Contract.  All Bidders understand and agree that the County’s payment of 
amounts under the Contract shall be contingent on the County receiving appropriations or other 
expenditure authority sufficient to allow the County, in the exercise of reasonable administrative 
discretion, to make payments under this Contract.

4.6 ASSIGNMENT, SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS 

The Successful Bidder may not assign, sell, or otherwise transfer the Contract or any other rights or 
interests obtained under the Contract without written permission of the Commissioners Court.  The 
Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the contracting 
parties hereto and their respective successors and permitted assigns.

4.7 IMPLIED REQUIREMENTS

Products or services not specifically described or required in the IFB, but are necessary to provide the 
functional capabilities described by the Bidder, shall be implied and deemed to be included in the Bid.

4.8 TERMINATION

A. Termination for Cause: The County reserves the right to terminate the Contract and/or any 
Ensuing Agreement(s) for default if the Successful Bidder breaches any of the Bid specifications,
terms and conditions, including warranties of the Bidder, if any, or if the Successful Bidder 
becomes insolvent or commits acts of bankruptcy.  Such right of termination is in addition to and
not in lieu of any other remedies the County may have at law or in equity or as may otherwise
provided hereunder.  Default may be construed as, but not limited to, failure to deliver the proper 
goods and/or services within the proper amount of time, and/or to properly perform any and all 
other requirements to the County ’s satisfaction, and/or to meet all other obligations and
requirements.

B. Termination for Convenience: The County may terminate the Contract and/or any Ensuing 
Agreement(s) for convenience and without cause or further liability, upon no less than thirty (30) 
calendar days written notice to the Successful Bidder. The County reserves the right to extend 
this period if it is in the best interest of the County.  In the event the County exercises its right to 
terminate without cause, it is understood and agreed that only the amounts due to the Successful 
Bidder for goods, commodities and/or services provided and expenses incurred to and including 
the date of termination, will be due and payable.  No penalty will be assessed for the County
termination for convenience.

4.9 NON-PERFORMANCE

It is the objective of the County to obtain complete and satisfactory performance of the requirements set 
forth herein.  In addition to any other remedies available at law, in equity or that may be set out herein, 
failure to perform may result in a deduction of payment equal to the amount of the goods and/or services 
that were not provided and/or performed to the County ’s satisfaction.  

In the event of such non-performance, the County shall have the right, but shall not be obligated, to 
complete the services itself or by others and/or purchase the goods from other sources.  If the County 
elects to acquire the goods or perform the services itself or by others, pursuant to the foregoing, the 
Successful Bidder shall reimburse the County, within ten (10) calendar days of demand, for all costs 
incurred by the County (including, without limitation, applicable, general, and administrative expenses, 
and field overhead, and the cost of necessary equipment, materials, and field labor) in correcting the 
nonperformance which the Successful Bidder fails to meet pursuant to the requirements set out herein.  
In the event the Successful Bidder refuses to reimburse the County as set out in this provision, the 
County shall have the right to deduct such reimbursement amounts from any amounts that may be then 
owing or that may become owing in the future to the Successful Bidder.

4.10 PROPRIETARY INFORMATION AND THE TEXAS PUBLIC INFORMATION ACT

All material submitted to the County shall become public property and subject to the Texas Public 
Information Act upon receipt. If a Bidder does not desire proprietary information in the Bid to be 
disclosed, each page must be clearly identified and marked proprietary at time of submittal or, more 
preferably, all proprietary information may be placed in a folder or appendix and be clearly identified and 
marked as being proprietary.  Failure to clearly identify and mark information as being proprietary as set 
forth under this provision will result in all unmarked information being deemed non-proprietary and 
available to the public.  For all information that has not been clearly identified and marked as proprietary 
by the Bidder, the County may choose to place such information on the County ’s website and/or a similar 
public database without obtaining any type of prior consent from the Bidder.

The County will, to the extent allowed by law, endeavor to protect from public disclosure the information 
that has been identified and marked as proprietary.  The final decision as to what information must be 
disclosed, however, lies with the Texas Attorney General.  

To the extent, if any, that any provision in this IFB or in the Bidder ’s Bid is in conflict with Texas 
Government Code, Chapter 552, as amended (the “Public Information Act”), the same shall be of no 
force or effect.  Furthermore, it is expressly understood, and agreed, that the County, and its officers and 
employees, may request advice, decisions and opinions of the Attorney General of the State of Texas in 
regard to the application of the Public Information Act to any items or data furnished to the County as to 
whether or not the same are available to the public.  It is further understood that the County, and its 
officers and employees, shall have the right to rely on the advice, decisions and opinions of the Attorney 
General, and that the County, its officers and employees shall have no liability or obligation to any party 
hereto for the disclosure to the public, or to any person or persons, of any items or data furnished to the 
County by a party hereto, in reliance of any advice, decision or opinion of the Attorney General of the 
State of Texas.

4.11 RIGHT TO AUDIT

The Successful Bidder agrees that the County or its duly authorized representatives shall, until the 
expiration of three (3) years after termination or expiration of the services to be performed, have access 
to and the right to examine and photocopy any and all books, documents, papers and records of the 
Successful Bidder, which are directly pertinent to the services to be performed or goods to be delivered 
for the purposes of making audits, examinations, excerpts and transcriptions.  The Successful Bidder 
agrees that the County shall have access during normal working hours to all necessary facilities and 
shall be provided adequate and appropriate work space in order to conduct audits in compliance with the 
provisions of this section.  The County shall give the Successful Bidder reasonable advance notice of 
intended audits.

4.12 TESTING AND INSPECTIONS

The County reserves the right to inspect and test equipment, supplies, materials and goods for quality 
and compliance with this IFB, and ability to meet the needs of the user.  Demonstration units must be 
available for review.  Should the goods or services fail to meet requirements and/or be unavailable for 
evaluation, the County can deem the Bidder to be in breach and terminate the Contract and/or any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

4.13 BID PREPARATION COSTS

The cost of developing Bids is the sole responsibility of the Bidders and shall not be charged to the 
County.  There is no expressed or implied obligation for the County to reimburse the Bidders for any 
expense incurred in preparing a Bid in response to this IFB and the County will not reimburse the Bidders 
for such expenses.

4.14 INDEMNIFICATION

The Successful Bidder shall indemnify, defend and save harmless, the County, its officials, employees, 
agents and agent ’s employees from, and against, all claims, liability, and expenses including reasonable 
attorneys ’   fees, arising from activities of the Bidder, its agents, servants or employees, performed 
hereunder that result from the negligent act, error, or omission of the Bidder or any of the Bidder
agents, servants or employees, as well as all claims of loss or damage to the Bidder ’s and the County
property, equipment, and/or supplies. 

Furthermore, the County, its officials, employees, agents and agents ’ employees shall not be liable for 
damages to the Successful Bidder arising from any act of any third party, including, but not limited to, 
theft.  The Successful Bidder further agrees to indemnify, defend and save harmless, the County from its 
officials, employee, agents and agents ’ employees against all claims of whatever nature arising from any 
accident, injury, or damage whatsoever, caused to any person, or the property of any person, occurring 
in relation to the Successful Bidder ’s performance of any services requested hereunder during the term 
of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s). 

The Successful Bidder shall timely report all claims, demands, suits, actions, proceedings, liens or 
judgements to the County and shall, upon the receipt of any claim, demand, suit, action, proceeding, lien 

or judgement, not later than the fifteenth (15 th) day of each month; provide the County with a written 
report on each such matter, setting forth the status of each matter, the schedule or planned proceedings 
with respect to each matter and the cooperation or assistance, if any, of the County required by the 
Successful Bidder in the defense of each matter.  The Successful Bidder’s duty to defend, indemnify and 
hold the County harmless shall be absolute.  It shall not abate or end by reason of the expiration or 
termination of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s), unless otherwise agreed by the County in 
writing.  The provisions of this section shall survive the termination of the Contract and shall remain in full 
force and effect with respect to all such matters no matter when they arise. 

In the event of any dispute between the parties, as to whether a claim, demand, suit, action, proceeding, 
lien or judgement, that appears to have been caused by or appears to have arisen out of or in connection 
with acts or omissions of the County, the Bidder shall nevertheless fully defend such claim, demand, suit 
or action, proceeding, lien or judgement, until and unless there is a determination by a court of competent 
jurisdiction that the acts and omissions of the Bidder are not an issue in the matter. 

The Successful Bidder ’s indemnification shall cover, and the Successful Bidder agrees to, indemnify the 
County, in the event the County is found to have been negligent for having selected the Successful 
Bidder to perform the work described in this request.  The provision by the Successful Bidder of 
insurance shall not limit the liability of the Successful Bidder under the Contract and/or any Ensuing 
Agreement(s). 

4.15 WAIVER OF SUBROGATION

The Successful Bidder and the Successful Bidder ’s insurance carrier waive any and all rights 
whatsoever with regard to subrogation against the County as an indirect party to any suit arising out of 
personal or property damages resulting from the Bidder ’s performance under this Contract and any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

4.16 RELATIONSHIP OF THE PARTIES

The Successful Bidder shall be an independent contractor and shall assume all of the rights, obligations, 
liabilities, applicable to it as such independent contractor hereunder and any provisions herein which may 
appear to give the County the right to direct the Successful Bidder as to details of doing work herein 
covered, or to exercise a measure of control over the work, shall be deemed to mean that the Successful 
Bidder shall follow the desires of the County in the results of the work only.  The County shall not retain or 
have the right to control the Successful Bidder ’s means, methods or details pertaining to the Successful 
Bidder ’s performance of the work.  The County and the Successful Bidder hereby agree and declare that 
the Successful Bidder is an independent contractor and as such meets the qualifications of an 
“Independent Contractor” under Texas Workers Compensation Act, Texas Labor Code, Section 406.141, 
that the Successful Bidder is not an employee of  the County, and that the Successful Bidder and its 
employees, agents and subcontractors shall not be entitled to workers compensation coverage or any 
other type of insurance coverage held by the County.

4.17 SOLE PROVIDER

The Successful Bidder agrees and acknowledges that it shall not be considered a sole provider of the 
goods and/or services described herein and that the County may contract with other providers of such 
goods and/or services if the County deems, at its sole discretion, that multiple providers of the same 
goods and/or services will serve the best interest of the County.

4.18 FORCE MAJEURE

If the party obligated to perform is prevented from performance by an act of war, order of legal authority, 
act of God, or other unavoidable cause not attributable to the fault or negligence of said party, the other 
party shall grant such party relief from the performance.  The burden of proof for the need of such relief 
shall rest upon the party obligated to perform.  To obtain release based on force majeure, the party 
obligated to perform shall file a written request with the other party.

4.19 SEVERABILITY

If any provision of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be held invalid or 
unenforceable by any court of competent jurisdiction, such holding shall not invalidate or render 
unenforceable any other provision thereof, but rather the entire IFB, Contract or any Ensuing Agreement
(s) will be construed as if not containing the particular invalid or unenforceable provision or provisions, 
and the rights and obligation of the parties shall be construed and enforced in accordance therewith.  The 
parties acknowledge that if any provision of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) is 
determined to be invalid or unenforceable, it is the desire and intention of each that such provision be 
reformed and construed in such a manner that it will, to the maximum extent practicable, give effect to
the intent of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) and be deemed to be validated and
enforceable.

4.20 EQUAL OPPORTUNITY

Neither party shall discriminate against any employee or applicant for employment because of race, 
color, sex, religion or national origin.

4.21 NOTICE

Any notice to be given shall be in writing and may be distributed by personal delivery, or by registered or 
certified mail, return receipt requested, addressed to the proper party, at the following address:

The County:    Williamson County Purchasing Department 
            Attn: Purchasing Agent 
            901 South Austin Avenue 
            Georgetown, Texas 78626

The Bidder:     Address set out in Bidder’s Transmittal Letter.

Notices given in accordance with this provision shall be effective upon (1) receipt by the party to which 
notice is given, or (2) on the third (3rd) calendar day following mailing, whichever occurs first.

4.22 SALES AND USE TAX EXEMPTION

The County is a body, corporate and politic, under the laws of the State of Texas and claims exemption 
from sales and use taxes under Texas Tax Code, Section 151.309, as amended, and the services and/or 
goods subject hereof are being secured for use by the County.

4.23 COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS

The County and the Successful Bidder shall comply with all federal, state, and local laws, statutes,
ordinances, rules and regulations, and the orders and decrees of any courts or administrative bodies or 
tribunals in any matter affecting the performance of the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s),
including, without limitation, Workers ’ Compensation laws, salary and wage statutes and regulations, 
licensing laws and regulations.  When required, the Successful Bidder shall furnish the County with 
certification of compliance with said laws, statues, ordinances, rules, regulations, orders, and decrees 
above specified.

4.24 INCORPORATION OF EXHIBITS, APPENDICES AND ATTACHMENTS

All of the Exhibits, Appendices and Attachments referred to herein are incorporated by reference as if set 
forth verbatim herein.  Any conflicting terms in the Contract documents will be resolved at the sole 
discretion of the Commissioners Court.

4.25 NO WAIVER OF IMMUNITIES

Nothing herein shall be deemed to waive, modify or amend any legal defense available at law or in equity 
to the County, its past or present officers, employees, or agents, nor to create any legal rights or claim on 
behalf of any third party.  The County does not waive, modify, or alter to any extent whatsoever the 
availability of the defense of governmental immunity under the laws of the State of Texas and of the 
United States.

4.26 NO WAIVER

The failure or delay of any party to enforce at any time or any period of time any of the provisions of this 
IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall not constitute a present or future waiver of such 
provisions nor the right of either party to enforce each and every provision.  Furthermore, no term or 
provision hereof shall be deemed waived and no breach excused unless such waiver or consent shall be 
in writing and signed by the party claimed to have waived or consented.  Any consent by any party to, or 
waiver of, a breach by the other, whether expressed or implied, shall not constitute a consent to, waiver 
of or excuse for any other, different or subsequent breach.

4.27 CURRENT REVENUES

The obligations of the parties under the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) do not constitute a 
general obligation or indebtedness of the County for which the County is obligated to levy, pledge, or 
collect any of taxation.  It is understood and agreed that the County shall have the right to terminate the 
Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) at the end of any the County fiscal year if the governing body of 
the County does not appropriate sufficient funds as determined by the County ’s budget for the fiscal year 
in question.  The County may effect such termination by giving written notice of termination to the 
Successful Bidder at the end of its then-current fiscal year.

4.28 FOB DESTINATION

To the extent applicable to this IFB, all of the items listed are to be Free On Board to final destination 
(FOB Destination) with all transportation charges if applicable to be included in the Bid, unless otherwise 
specified in the Invitation for Bids.  The title and risk of loss of the goods shall not pass to the County until 
receipt and acceptance takes place at the FOB Destination point.

4.29 BINDING EFFECT

This Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties 
and their respective permitted assigns and successors.

4.30 ASSIGNMENT

The Successful Bidder ’s interest and duties hereunder may not be assigned or delegated to a third party 
without the express written consent of the County.

4.31 SAFETY

The Successful Bidder is responsible for initiating, maintaining, and supervising all safety precautions 
and programs in connection with any services to be provided hereunder. The safety program shall 
comply with all applicable requirements of the current federal Occupational Safety and Health Act and all 
other applicable federal, state and local laws and regulations.

4.32 GENERAL OBLIGATIONS AND RELIANCE

The Successful Bidder shall perform all services and/or provide all goods, as well as those reasonably
inferable and necessary for completion and provision of services and/or goods required hereunder. The
Successful Bidder shall keep the County informed of the progress and quality of the services.  The 
Successful Bidder agrees and acknowledges that the County is relying on the Successful Bidder's 
represented expertise and ability to provide the goods and/or services described herein.  The Successful
Bidder agrees to use its best efforts, skill, judgment, and abilities to perform its obligations in accordance
with the highest standards used in the profession and to further the interests of the County 
accordance with the County ’s requirements and procedures.    T h e   Successful Bidder ’s duties,
set forth herein, shall at no time be in any way diminished by reason of any approval by the County, nor
shall the Successful Bidder be released from any liability by reason of such approval by the County, it 
being understood that the County at all times is ultimately relying upon the Successful Bidder ’s skill and 
knowledge in performing the services and providing any goods required hereunder.

4.33 ESTIMATED QUANTITIES

To the extent applicable to this IFB, the estimated quantity of each item listed in this IFB is only
estimate; the actual quantity to be purchased may be more or less. The County is not obligated
purchase any minimum amount, and the County may purchase any reasonable amount greater than the
estimate for the same unit price. Any limit on quantities available must be stated expressly in the Bid.

4.34 CONTRACTUAL DEVELOPMENT

The contents of the IFB and the Successful Bidder ’s Bid will become an integral part of the Contract, but 
may be modified, at the County ’s sole discretion, by provisions of an Ensuing Agreement.  Therefore, the 
Bidder must agree to an inclusion of an Ensuing Agreement of the Bid specifications, terms and 
conditions of this IFB.  If an Ensuing Agreement is required under this IFB, information relative to the 
Agreement will be located in the Special Provisions Section of this IFB.

4.35 SURVIVABILITY 

All applicable agreements that were entered into between the Successful Bidder and the County, under 
the terms and conditions of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s), shall survive the expiration or 
termination thereof for ninety (90) days unless a new contract has been awarded.

The County may exercise, by written notice to the Successful Bidder no later than ten (10) calendar days 
of the Contract expiration, this clause for emergencies only. 

4.36 AIR QUALITY

In determining the overall best Bid, the County may, to the extent applicable, exercise the option granted 
to local governments under the Texas Local Government Code, Section 271.907.

This option allows the County to evaluate Bids and give preference to goods and/or services of a Bidder 
that demonstrates that the Bidder meets or exceeds any and all state or federal environmental 
standards, including voluntary standards, relating to air quality.  If the Bid being submitted will have an 
effect on air quality for the County (as it relates to any state, federal, or voluntary air quality standard), 
then the Bidder is encouraged to provide information in narrative indicating the anticipated air quality 
impact.  All Bidders are expected to meet all mandated state and federal air quality standards.

4.37 ENTIRE AGREEMENT

The Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall supersede all prior Agreements, written or oral 
between the Successful Bidder and the County and shall constitute the entire Agreement and 
understanding between the parties with respect to the services and/or goods to be provided.  Each of the 
provisions herein shall be binding upon the parties and may not be waived, modified, amended or altered, 
except by writing signed by the Successful Bidder and the County.

4.38 PAYMENT

The County ’s payment for goods and services shall be governed by the Texas Government Code, 

Chapter 2251.  An invoice shall be deemed overdue the thirty-first (31st) day after the later of the 
following: 

A. The date the County receives the goods under the Contract; 
B. The date the performance of the service under the Contract is completed; or 
C. The date the Williamson County Auditor receives an invoice for the goods or services.  

Interest charges for any overdue payments shall be paid by the County in accordance with Texas 
Government Code, Section 2251.025.  More specifically, the rate of interest that shall accrue on a late 
payment is the rate in effect on September 1 of the County ’s fiscal year in which the payment becomes 
due.  The said rate in effect on September 1 shall be equal to the sum of one (1) percent, and the prime 

rate published in the Wall Street Journal on the first (1st) day of July of the preceding fiscal year that does 
not fall on a Saturday or Sunday.

In the event that an error appears in an invoice submitted by the Successful Bidder, the County shall 
notify the Successful Bidder of the error not later than the twenty-first (21st) day after the date the County 
receives the invoice.  If the error is resolved in favor of the Successful Bidder, the Successful Bidder 
shall be entitled to receive interest on the unpaid balance of the invoice submitted by the Successful 
Bidder beginning on the date that the payment for the invoice became overdue.  If the error is resolved in 
favor of the County, the Successful Bidder shall submit a corrected invoice that must be paid in 
accordance within the time set forth above.  The unpaid balance accrues interest as provided by the 
Texas Government Code, Chapter 2251, if the corrected invoice is not paid by the appropriate date.

As a minimum, invoices shall include:

A. Name, address, and telephone number of the Successful Bidder and similar information in the 
event the payment is to be made to a different address. 

B. The County Contract, Purchase Order. 

C. Identification of items or service as outlined in the Contract. 

D. Quantity or quantities, applicable unit prices, total prices and total amount. 

E. Any additional payment information which may be called for by the Contract. 

Payment inquiries should be directed to the following address:        

            Williamson County Auditor’s Office, Accounts Payable Department
            Email: accountspayable@wilco.org
            Phone: 512-943-1500

4.39 CONTRACTUAL FORMATION AND ENSUING AGREEMENT

The IFB and the Bidder ’s Bid, when properly accepted by the Commissioners Court, shall constitute a
Contract equally binding between the Successful Bidder and the County.

If an Ensuing Agreement is required by this IFB, that information will be provided in Special 
Provisions section of this IFB.  The Successful Bidder shall be required to execute the Agreement at 
the Williamson County Purchasing Department approximately ten (10) calendar days after the 
Successful Bidder is notified of award.  The Ensuing Agreement shall be in the same form as the 
Agreement which is attached to the end of this IFB.  The only anticipated changes in the Ensuing 
Agreement will be to include additional exhibits, to fill in blanks to identify the Successful Bidder, and 
terms relating to the compensation, or to revise the Agreement to accommodate corrections, changes in 
the scope of services, or changes pursuant to Addenda issued.  Bidders should raise any questions 
regarding the terms of the Agreement in the form of written questions or submittals as 
described in the Public Announcement and General Information portion of this IFB.  Because the 
signed Ensuing Agreement will be substantively and substantially derived from the attached Agreement, 
each Bidder is urged to seek independent legal counsel as to any questions about the terms, conditions 
or provisions contained in the Agreement before submitting a Bid.  Again, the attached Agreement, if 
applicable, contains important legal provisions and is considered part and parcel of this IFB.  Failure or 
refusal to sign aforesaid Agreement shall be grounds for the County to revoke any award which has been 
issued, forfeit Bid security, if applicable, and select another Bidder.

4.40 COOPERATIVE PURCHASING PROGRAM 

During the term of the Contract resulting from this IFB, the County would like to afford the same prices, 
terms and conditions to other political subdivisions or public entities.  Another entity’s participation in the 
Contract resulting from this IFB is subject to a properly authorized Purchasing Cooperative Inter- local 
Agreement with the County.  Any liability created by purchase orders issued against the Contract shall be 
the sole responsibility of the governmental agency placing the order.

4.41 INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS

To the extent applicable Insurance information will appear in the Additional Stipulations section that is in 
this IFB Package. 

4.42 BIDDERS BOND, WARRANTY BOND, PERFORMANCE AND PAYMENT BONDS

To the extent applicable Bond information will appear in the Additional Stipulations section that is in this 
IFB Package. 

4.43 LEGAL LIABILITY INFORMATION

The Successful Bidder shall disclose all legal liability information by listing any pending litigation
anticipated litigation that your firm is involved in including, but not limited to, potential or actual legal
matters with private parties and any local, state, federal or international governmental entities. The
County reserves the right to consider legal liability information in the recommendation of any proposed 
contract to the Commissioners Court.

4.44 INCLEMENT WEATHER

In case of inclement weather or any other unforeseen event causing the County to close for business on 
the date of a Bid submission deadline, the Bid closing will automatically be postponed until the next 
business day the County is open.  If inclement weather conditions or any other unforeseen event causes 
delays in carrier service operations, the County may issue an Addendum to all known Bidders interested 
in the project to extend the deadline.  It will be the responsibility of the Bidder to notify the County of their 
interest in the project if these conditions are impacting their ability to turn in a submission within the 
stated deadline.  The County reserves the right to make the final judgement call to extend any deadline. 

4.45 CONFIDENTIALITY 

The Bidder expressly agrees that it will not use any direct or incidental confidential information that may 
be obtained while working in a governmental setting for its own benefit, and agrees that it will not access 
unauthorized areas or confidential information and it will not disclose any information to unauthorized 
third parties, and will take care to guard the security of the information at all times.

Bid 1704-156Williamson County, Texas

4/6/2017 1:22 PM p. 20



5

6

3 4

Williamson County – Invitation for Bid (IFB)

SECTION 1 - DEFINITIONS 

Addendum/Addenda – means any written or graphic instruments issued by the County prior to the 
consideration of Bids which modify or interpret the Bid Documents by additions, deletions, clarifications, 
or corrections.

Agreement/Ensuing Agreement(s) – means the Successful Bidder may be required by the County to 
sign an additional Agreement containing terms necessary to ensure compliance with the IFB and the 
Bidder ’s Bid.  Such Ensuing Agreement(s) shall contain the Bid specifications, terms and conditions that 
are derived from the IFB.

Bid Documents – means the Legal Notice, IFB including attachments, and any Addenda issued by the 
County prior to the consideration of any Bids.

Bid – means the completed and signed bid form, (sometimes referred to as the Price Sheet), and ALL 
required forms and documentation listed in the IFB package which have been submitted in accordance 
with the terms and conditions described in the IFB package.  A Bid submitted in accordance with this IFB 
is irrevocable during the specified period for evaluation and acceptance of Bids unless a waiver is 
obtained from the Williamson County Purchasing Agent.

Bidder – means a person or entity who submits a Bid in response to this IFB.

Contract – means this IFB and the Bid of the Successful Bidder shall become a Contract between the 
Successful Bidder and the County once the Successful Bidder ’s Bid is properly accepted by the 
Williamson County Commissioners Court.

Commissioner ’s Court – means the Williamson County Commissioners Court. 

County – means Williamson County, a political subdivision of the State of Texas.

Invitation for Bid (IFB) – means this document, together with the attachments thereto and any future 
Addenda issued by the County.

Successful Bidder – means the liable Bidder to whom the County intends to award the Contract.

SECTION 2 - BID FORMAT AND SUBMISSION

2.1 ORGANIZATION OF BID CONTENTS FOR SUBMITTAL 

Each Bid should be organized and items submitted in the order described below: 

A. Transmittal Letter. Please see Section 2.3, Transmittal Letter, for more information. 

B. Price Sheet.

C. Conflict of Interest Questionnaire. Please see Section 2.2, Conflict of Interest, for more 
information in regards to this. Please note that even if you deem there to be no Conflict of Interest, 
this signed questionnaire must be included in your package. 

D. References. Please see Section 3.15, References, for more information. 

E. Bid Affidavit.

F. Form 1295. Please see Section 2.4, Certificate of Interested Parties – Form 1295. 

2.2 CONFLICT OF INTEREST

No public official shall have interest in a Contract, in accordance with Vernon ’s Texas Codes Annotated, 
Local Government Code, Title 5, Subtitle C, Chapter 171, as amended. 

As of January 1, 2006, all Bidders are responsible for complying with Local Government Code, Title 5, 
Subtitle C, Chapter 176.  Additional information may be obtained from the County’s website at the 
following link: 

http://www.wilco.org/CountyDepartments/Purchasing/ConflictofInterestDisclosure/tabid/689/language/en
US/Default.aspx

Each Bidder must disclose any existing or potential conflict of interest relative to the performance of the 
requirements of this IFB.  Examples of potential conflicts of interest may include an existing 
business or personal relationship between the Bidder, its principal, or any affiliate or 
subcontractor with the County or any other entity or person involved in any way with the project 
that is subject to this IFB .  Similarly, any personal or business relationship between the Bidder, the 

principals, or any affiliate or subcontractor with any employee, or official of the County or its suppliers 
must be disclosed.  Any such relationship that might be perceived or represented as a conflict must be 
disclosed. Failure to disclose any such relationship or reveal personal relationships with the County 
employees or officials may be cause for termination. 

The County will decide if an actual or perceived conflict should result in Bid disqualification. 

By submitting a Bid in response to this IFB, all Bidders affirm they have not given, nor intend to give, at 
any time hereafter, any economic opportunity, future employment, gift, loan, gratuity, special discount, 
trip, favor, or service to a the County public servant or any employee, official or representative of same, in 
connection with this procurement. 

Each Bidder must provide a Conflict of Interest Statement with their Bid Package.  Package may 

be deemed incomplete without this form.  

2.3 TRANSMITTAL LETTER

The Bidder should submit a Transmittal Letter that provides the following information: 

A. Name and address of individual or business entity submitting the Bid. 

B. Name, physical address, email address, business and fax number of the Bidder ’s principal 
contact person regarding all contractual matters relating to this IFB.

C. The Bid ’s Federal Employer Identification Number.

D. If the Proposal being submitted will have an effect on air quality for the County (as it relates to any 
state, federal, or voluntary air quality standard), then the Respondent is encouraged to provide
information in narrative indicating the anticipated air quality impact. See Section 4.36, Air Quality 
for more information. 

2.4 CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PARTIES – FORM 1295

As of January 1, 2016, all Successful Bidders are responsible for complying with the Texas Government 
Code, Section 2252.908.  The law states that the County may not enter into certain contracts with a 
Bidder unless the Bidder submits a disclosure of interested parties to the County at the time the Bidder 
submits the signed Contract.  The law applies only to a Contract of the County on or after January 1, 
2016 that either:

A. Requires an action or vote by the Commissioners Court before the Contract may be signed (all 
contracts that fall under the jurisdiction of the Commissioners Court approval, such as contracts 
resulting from an Initiation for Bid (IFB), RFP, Request for Qualifications (RFQ), etc., excluding, 
but not limited to, certain Juvenile Service contracts, contracts funded with Sheriff ’s seized fun 
monies, etc.); or

B. Has a value of at least $1,000,000. 

By January 1, 2016, the Texas Ethics Commission will make available on its website, a new filing 
application that must be used to file Form 1295.  Information regarding how to use the filing application is 
available on the Texas Ethics Commission website at the following link:

https://www.ethics.state.tx.us/whatsnew/elf_info_form1295.htm

A Respondent must:

A. Use the online application to process the required information on Form 1295.

B. Print a copy of the form which will contain a unique certification number.

C. An authorized agent of the Bidder must sign the printed copy of the form.

D. Have the form notarized.

E. File the completed Form 1295 and certification of filing (scanning and emailing form is sufficient) 
with Williamson County Purchasing Agent at the time the signed Contract is submitted for 
approval.

After the Commissioners Court award of the Contract, the County shall notify the Texas Ethics 
Commission, using the Texas Ethics Commission ’s filing application, of the receipt of the filed Form 
1295 and certification of filing not later than the 30th day after the date the Contract binds all parties to the 
Contract. The Texas Ethics Commission will post the completed Form 1295 to its website within seven 
business days after receiving notice from the County.

2.5 ETHICS

The Bidder shall not accept or offer gifts or anything of value nor enter into any business arrangement 
with any employee, official or agent of the County.

2.6 BID SUBMITTAL DEADLINE

The Bid is due no later than the submittal date and time set forth in the Public Announcement and 
General Information listed in this IFB package.  Contents of each Bid shall be submitted in accordance 
with this IFB.

2.7 DELIVERY OF BIDS

The County uses BidSync to distribute and receive Bids and proposals.  It is preferred that Bids
submitted electronically through BidSync; however, Bidders can submit a hard copy.  

Refer to www.bidsync.com for further information on how to submit electronically.

If mailed or delivered in person, Bids and Bid Addenda are to be delivered in sealed envelope on or before
the submittal deadline, as noted in the Public Announcement and General Information listed in this IFB 
package, to:

            Williamson County Purchasing Department
            Attn: Bid Name and Number
            901 South Austin Avenue
            Georgetown, Texas 78626

Also, all Bidders should list their Name and Address, and the Date of the Bid opening on the outside
the box or envelope and note “Sealed Bid Enclosed.” The County will not accept any Bids received after 
the submittal deadline, and shall return such Bids unopened to the Bidder.  The County will not accept 
any responsibility for Bids being delivered by third party carriers.  

Bids will be opened publically and the names of Bidders and pricing will be read aloud.

SECTION 3 - INSTRUCTIONS AND GENERAL REQUIREMENTS

3.1 INSTRUCTIONS

Read this document carefully, and follow all instructions and requirements.  All Bidders are responsible 
for fulfilling all requirements and specifications.  Be sure to have a clear understanding of this IFB.

General requirements apply to all advertised IFBs; however, these may be superseded, in whole or in 
part, by the bid specifications, Addenda and modifications issued as a part of this IFB.  Be sure your Bid 
package is complete.

3.2 AMBIGUITY, CONFLICT, OR OTHER ERRORS IN THIS IFB

If a Bidder discovers any ambiguity, conflict, discrepancy, omission or other error in this IFB, the Bidder 
shall immediately notify the County Purchasing Department of such error in writing and request
modification or clarification of the document.

Modifications will be made by issuing Addenda. If the Bidder fails to notify the County prior to the date
and time fixed for submission of Bids of an error or ambiguity in the IFB known to the Bidder, or an error
or ambiguity that reasonably should have been known to the Bidder, then the Bidder shall be deemed to 
have waived the error or ambiguity or its later resolution.

The County may also modify the IFB, no later than forty-eight (48) hours prior to the date and time fixed
for submission of Bids, by issuance of an Addendum.  All Addenda will be numbered consecutively, 
beginning with one (1).

3.3 NOTIFICATION OF MOST CURRENT ADDRESS

All Bidders in receipt of this IFB shall notify the Williamson County Purchasing Department of any
address changes, contact person changes, and/or telephone number changes no later than forty-eight 
(48) hours prior to the date and time fixed for submission of Bids.

3.4 SIGNATURE OF BIDDER

A. If the Bidder is a Corporation or Limited Liability Company, the legal name of the Corporation
Limited Liability Company shall be provided together with the signature of the officer or officers 
authorized to sign on behalf of such entity.

B. If the Bidder is a General Partnership, the true name of the firm shall be provided with the
signature of each partner authorized to sign.

C. If the Bidder is a Limited Partnership, the name of the Limited Partner ’s General Partner shall
provided with the signature of the officer authorized to sign on behalf of the General Partner.

D. If the Bidder is a Sole Proprietor(s) (individual), each Sole Proprietor(s) shall sign.

E. If signature is by an agent, other than the Sole Proprietor(s) or an officer of a Corporation, Limited 
Liability Company, General Partner or a member of a General Partnership, a power of attorney
equivalent document must be submitted to the Williamson County Purchasing Department.

3.5 ASSUMED BUSINESS NAME

If the Bidder operates business under an Assumed Business Name, the Bidder must have on file with the
Williamson County Clerk a current Assumed Name Certificate and provide a file marked copy of same.

3.6 BID OBLIGATION 

The contents of the IFB, Bid, and any clarification thereof submitted by the Successful Bidder shall
become part of the contractual obligation and incorporated by reference into the Contract and any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

3.7 COMPLIANCE WITH IFB SPECIFICATIONS

It is intended that this IFB describe the requirements and the Bid format in sufficient detail to secure 
comparable Bids.  Failure to comply with all provisions of the IFB may, at the sole discretion of the 
County, result in disqualification.

3.8 WITHDRAWAL OF BID

The Bidder may withdraw its Bid by submitting a written request with the company letterhead and the 
signature of an authorized individual, as described in Section 3.4, Signature of Bidder, to the Williamson 
County Purchasing Department any time prior to the submission deadline.  

The Bidder may submit a new Bid prior to the deadline. Alterations of the Bid in any manner will not be 
considered if submitted after the deadline.  Withdrawal of a Bid after the deadline will be subject to written 
approval of the Williamson County Purchasing Agent.

3.9 EVALUATION AND AWARD

The County reserves the right to use all pertinent information (also learned from sources other than 
disclosed in the Bid process) that might affect the County ’s judgment as to the appropriateness of
award to the lowest and best evaluated Bid. This information may be appended to the Bid evaluation
process results. Information on a Bidder from reliable sources, and not within the Bidder ’s Bid, may also 
be noted and made part of the evaluation fi le.  The County shall have sole discretion for determining 
the reliability of the source.

To ensure the proper and fair evaluation of a solicitation, the County prohibits unsolicited communication 
initiated by the Bidder to the County Official or Employee evaluating or considering the Bids prior to the 
time an award has been made. Unsolicited communication may be ground for disqualifying the 
offending Bidder from consideration or award of the solicitation, or any future solicitation.

Communication between the Bidder and the County will be initiated by the appropriate County Official
Employee in order to obtain information or clarification needed to develop a proper and accurate 
evaluation of the solicitation.

The County intends to award a Contract to the most responsible and responsive Bidder whose Bid will 
be most advantageous to the County. In accordance with Texas Government Code and Local
Government Code, the County may consider, to the extent allowed by law, the following:

A. Price;
B. The Bidder ’s experience and reputation;
C. Quality of the Bidder ’s goods and/or services; 
D. The Bidder ’s safety record;
E. The Bidder ’s proposed personnel; 
F. The Bidder ’s financial capabilities; and 
G. Any other relevant factors specifically listed in this IFB or authorized by law.

3.10 CONDISERATION OF LOCATION OF PRINCIPAL OFFICE 

Pursuant to Texas Local Government Code, Section 271.905 , in purchasing any real property or personal
property that is not affixed to real property, if the County receives one or more Bids from a Bidder whose
principal place of business is in Williamson County and whose Bid is within three (3 )  percent of the
lowest Bid price received by the County from a Bidder who is not a resident of Williamson County, the 
County may enter into a contract with:

A. The lowest Bidder; or the Bidder whose principal place of business is in Williamson County if the
Commissioners Court determines, in writing, that the local Bidder offers the County the best 
combination of contract price and addit ional economic development opportunities
Williamson County created by the contract award, including the employment of residents
Williamson County and increased tax revenues to Williamson County.

It is understood that the Commissioners Court of Williamson County, Texas, reserves the right to accept
or reject any and/or all Bids for any or all goods and/or services covered in this IFB, and to waive
informalities or defects in the Bid or to accept such Bid, if it shall deem to be in the best interest of the 
County.

Awards should be made approximately sixty (60) business days after the Bid opening date. Results may
be obtained by viewing the Williamson County vendor portal at the following link:

http://www.wilco.org/CountyDepartments/Purchasing/SearchforaPastBid/tabid/5213/language/en-
US/Default.aspx

3.11 RESPONSIBILITY 

It is expected that a prospective Bidder will be able to affirmatively demonstrate responsibility.  A 
prospective Bidder should be able to meet the following requirements:

A. Have adequate financial resources, or the ability to obtain such resources as required;
B. Be able to comply with the required or proposed delivery schedule;
C. Have a satisfactory record of performance that can be determined thru references provided; and 
D. Be otherwise qualified and eligible to receive an award.

The County may request representation and other information sufficient to determine the Bidder's ability 
to meet these minimum standards listed above.

3.12 FIRM PRICING 

For unit price items, all of the items listed are to be on a “per unit” basis, stating a firm price per unit or 
unit quantity of each item.  The Bidder must submit a firm price that must be good from the date of Bid 
opening for the fixed period of time set out in this IFB.  Unless the IFB expressly states otherwise, this 
period shall be until the end of the Initial Contract Period.

Bids which do not state a fixed price, or which are subject to change without notice, will not be 
considered.  The Court may award a Contract for the period implied or expressly stated in the lowest and 
best Bid.

3.13 PURCHASE ORDERS

If required by the Williamson County Purchasing Department, a purchase order(s) may be generated to 
the Successful Bidder for goods and/or services.  If a purchase order is issued, the purchase order 
number must appear on all itemized invoices and/or requests for payment.

3.14 SILENCE OF SPECIFICATIONS

The apparent silence of these specifications as to any detail or to the apparent omission from it of a 
detailed description concerning any point, shall be regarded as meaning that only the best practices are 
to prevail.  All interpretations of these specifications shall be made on the basis of this statement.

3.15 REFERENCES

The County may require the Bidder to supply a list of at least three (3) references where like services
and/or goods have been supplied by their firm within the past five (5) years, to include names, titles, 
phone numbers and email addresses of key personnel, and dates of performance.

The County may contact some or all of the references in order to determine the Respondent
performance record on work similar to that described in this RFP.  The County reserves the right to 
contact references other than those provided in the response and to use the information gained from 
them in the evaluation process.

References, if requested, should be provided in accordance with this IFB.  Bid may not be deemed 
complete without the inclusion of requested references.

SECTION 4 - TERMS AND CONDITIONS

4.1 VENUE AND GOVERNING LAW

The Bidder hereby agrees and acknowledges that venue and jurisdiction of any suit, right, or cause of 
action arising out of or in connection with this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s), shall lie 
exclusively in either Williamson County, Texas or in the Austin Division of the Western Federal District of 
Texas, and the parties hereto expressly consent and submit to such jurisdiction.  Furthermore, except to 
the extent that this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) is governed by the laws of the United 
States, this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be governed by and construed in 
accordance with the laws of the State of Texas, excluding, however, its choice of law rules.

4.2 INCORPORATION BY REFERENCE AND PRECEDENCE

A. The Contract shall be derived from the IFB and its Addenda (if applicable), and the Bidder ’ s Bid.  In 
the event of a dispute under the Contract, applicable documents will be referred to for the purpose 
of clarification or for additional detail in the following order of precedence:

1. The IFB and its Addenda (if applicable); and

2. The Bidder ’s Bid.

B. In the event the County requires that an Ensuing Agreement be executed following award and a 
dispute arises between the terms and conditions of the Ensuing Agreement, the IFB and its 
Addenda (if applicable), and the Bidder ’s Bid, applicable documents will be referred to for the 
purpose of clarification or for additional detail in the following order of precedence: 

1. Terms and conditions of the Ensuing Agreement;

2. The IFB its Addenda; and 

3. The Bidder ’s Bid.

4.3 OWNERSHIP OF BID

Each Bid shall become the property of the County upon submittal and will not be returned to Bidders 
unless received after the submittal deadline.

4.4 DISQUALIFICATION OF BIDDER

Upon signing and submittal of the Bid, a Bidder offering to sell supplies, materials, services, or equipment 
to the County, certifies that the Bidder has not violated the antitrust laws of the State of Texas codified in 
Business & Commerce Code, Section 15.01, or the Federal Antitrust Laws, and has not communicated 
directly or indirectly the offer made to any competitor or any other person engaged in such line of 
business.  Any or all Bids may be rejected if the County believes that collusion exists among the Bidders.

4.5 FUNDING

The County intends to budget and make sufficient funds available and authorize funds for expenditure to 
finance the costs of the Contract.  All Bidders understand and agree that the County’s payment of 
amounts under the Contract shall be contingent on the County receiving appropriations or other 
expenditure authority sufficient to allow the County, in the exercise of reasonable administrative 
discretion, to make payments under this Contract.

4.6 ASSIGNMENT, SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS 

The Successful Bidder may not assign, sell, or otherwise transfer the Contract or any other rights or 
interests obtained under the Contract without written permission of the Commissioners Court.  The 
Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the contracting 
parties hereto and their respective successors and permitted assigns.

4.7 IMPLIED REQUIREMENTS

Products or services not specifically described or required in the IFB, but are necessary to provide the 
functional capabilities described by the Bidder, shall be implied and deemed to be included in the Bid.

4.8 TERMINATION

A. Termination for Cause: The County reserves the right to terminate the Contract and/or any 
Ensuing Agreement(s) for default if the Successful Bidder breaches any of the Bid specifications,
terms and conditions, including warranties of the Bidder, if any, or if the Successful Bidder 
becomes insolvent or commits acts of bankruptcy.  Such right of termination is in addition to and
not in lieu of any other remedies the County may have at law or in equity or as may otherwise
provided hereunder.  Default may be construed as, but not limited to, failure to deliver the proper 
goods and/or services within the proper amount of time, and/or to properly perform any and all 
other requirements to the County ’s satisfaction, and/or to meet all other obligations and
requirements.

B. Termination for Convenience: The County may terminate the Contract and/or any Ensuing 
Agreement(s) for convenience and without cause or further liability, upon no less than thirty (30) 
calendar days written notice to the Successful Bidder. The County reserves the right to extend 
this period if it is in the best interest of the County.  In the event the County exercises its right to 
terminate without cause, it is understood and agreed that only the amounts due to the Successful 
Bidder for goods, commodities and/or services provided and expenses incurred to and including 
the date of termination, will be due and payable.  No penalty will be assessed for the County
termination for convenience.

4.9 NON-PERFORMANCE

It is the objective of the County to obtain complete and satisfactory performance of the requirements set 
forth herein.  In addition to any other remedies available at law, in equity or that may be set out herein, 
failure to perform may result in a deduction of payment equal to the amount of the goods and/or services 
that were not provided and/or performed to the County ’s satisfaction.  

In the event of such non-performance, the County shall have the right, but shall not be obligated, to 
complete the services itself or by others and/or purchase the goods from other sources.  If the County 
elects to acquire the goods or perform the services itself or by others, pursuant to the foregoing, the 
Successful Bidder shall reimburse the County, within ten (10) calendar days of demand, for all costs 
incurred by the County (including, without limitation, applicable, general, and administrative expenses, 
and field overhead, and the cost of necessary equipment, materials, and field labor) in correcting the 
nonperformance which the Successful Bidder fails to meet pursuant to the requirements set out herein.  
In the event the Successful Bidder refuses to reimburse the County as set out in this provision, the 
County shall have the right to deduct such reimbursement amounts from any amounts that may be then 
owing or that may become owing in the future to the Successful Bidder.

4.10 PROPRIETARY INFORMATION AND THE TEXAS PUBLIC INFORMATION ACT

All material submitted to the County shall become public property and subject to the Texas Public 
Information Act upon receipt. If a Bidder does not desire proprietary information in the Bid to be 
disclosed, each page must be clearly identified and marked proprietary at time of submittal or, more 
preferably, all proprietary information may be placed in a folder or appendix and be clearly identified and 
marked as being proprietary.  Failure to clearly identify and mark information as being proprietary as set 
forth under this provision will result in all unmarked information being deemed non-proprietary and 
available to the public.  For all information that has not been clearly identified and marked as proprietary 
by the Bidder, the County may choose to place such information on the County ’s website and/or a similar 
public database without obtaining any type of prior consent from the Bidder.

The County will, to the extent allowed by law, endeavor to protect from public disclosure the information 
that has been identified and marked as proprietary.  The final decision as to what information must be 
disclosed, however, lies with the Texas Attorney General.  

To the extent, if any, that any provision in this IFB or in the Bidder ’s Bid is in conflict with Texas 
Government Code, Chapter 552, as amended (the “Public Information Act”), the same shall be of no 
force or effect.  Furthermore, it is expressly understood, and agreed, that the County, and its officers and 
employees, may request advice, decisions and opinions of the Attorney General of the State of Texas in 
regard to the application of the Public Information Act to any items or data furnished to the County as to 
whether or not the same are available to the public.  It is further understood that the County, and its 
officers and employees, shall have the right to rely on the advice, decisions and opinions of the Attorney 
General, and that the County, its officers and employees shall have no liability or obligation to any party 
hereto for the disclosure to the public, or to any person or persons, of any items or data furnished to the 
County by a party hereto, in reliance of any advice, decision or opinion of the Attorney General of the 
State of Texas.

4.11 RIGHT TO AUDIT

The Successful Bidder agrees that the County or its duly authorized representatives shall, until the 
expiration of three (3) years after termination or expiration of the services to be performed, have access 
to and the right to examine and photocopy any and all books, documents, papers and records of the 
Successful Bidder, which are directly pertinent to the services to be performed or goods to be delivered 
for the purposes of making audits, examinations, excerpts and transcriptions.  The Successful Bidder 
agrees that the County shall have access during normal working hours to all necessary facilities and 
shall be provided adequate and appropriate work space in order to conduct audits in compliance with the 
provisions of this section.  The County shall give the Successful Bidder reasonable advance notice of 
intended audits.

4.12 TESTING AND INSPECTIONS

The County reserves the right to inspect and test equipment, supplies, materials and goods for quality 
and compliance with this IFB, and ability to meet the needs of the user.  Demonstration units must be 
available for review.  Should the goods or services fail to meet requirements and/or be unavailable for 
evaluation, the County can deem the Bidder to be in breach and terminate the Contract and/or any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

4.13 BID PREPARATION COSTS

The cost of developing Bids is the sole responsibility of the Bidders and shall not be charged to the 
County.  There is no expressed or implied obligation for the County to reimburse the Bidders for any 
expense incurred in preparing a Bid in response to this IFB and the County will not reimburse the Bidders 
for such expenses.

4.14 INDEMNIFICATION

The Successful Bidder shall indemnify, defend and save harmless, the County, its officials, employees, 
agents and agent ’s employees from, and against, all claims, liability, and expenses including reasonable 
attorneys ’   fees, arising from activities of the Bidder, its agents, servants or employees, performed 
hereunder that result from the negligent act, error, or omission of the Bidder or any of the Bidder
agents, servants or employees, as well as all claims of loss or damage to the Bidder ’s and the County
property, equipment, and/or supplies. 

Furthermore, the County, its officials, employees, agents and agents ’ employees shall not be liable for 
damages to the Successful Bidder arising from any act of any third party, including, but not limited to, 
theft.  The Successful Bidder further agrees to indemnify, defend and save harmless, the County from its 
officials, employee, agents and agents ’ employees against all claims of whatever nature arising from any 
accident, injury, or damage whatsoever, caused to any person, or the property of any person, occurring 
in relation to the Successful Bidder ’s performance of any services requested hereunder during the term 
of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s). 

The Successful Bidder shall timely report all claims, demands, suits, actions, proceedings, liens or 
judgements to the County and shall, upon the receipt of any claim, demand, suit, action, proceeding, lien 

or judgement, not later than the fifteenth (15 th) day of each month; provide the County with a written 
report on each such matter, setting forth the status of each matter, the schedule or planned proceedings 
with respect to each matter and the cooperation or assistance, if any, of the County required by the 
Successful Bidder in the defense of each matter.  The Successful Bidder’s duty to defend, indemnify and 
hold the County harmless shall be absolute.  It shall not abate or end by reason of the expiration or 
termination of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s), unless otherwise agreed by the County in 
writing.  The provisions of this section shall survive the termination of the Contract and shall remain in full 
force and effect with respect to all such matters no matter when they arise. 

In the event of any dispute between the parties, as to whether a claim, demand, suit, action, proceeding, 
lien or judgement, that appears to have been caused by or appears to have arisen out of or in connection 
with acts or omissions of the County, the Bidder shall nevertheless fully defend such claim, demand, suit 
or action, proceeding, lien or judgement, until and unless there is a determination by a court of competent 
jurisdiction that the acts and omissions of the Bidder are not an issue in the matter. 

The Successful Bidder ’s indemnification shall cover, and the Successful Bidder agrees to, indemnify the 
County, in the event the County is found to have been negligent for having selected the Successful 
Bidder to perform the work described in this request.  The provision by the Successful Bidder of 
insurance shall not limit the liability of the Successful Bidder under the Contract and/or any Ensuing 
Agreement(s). 

4.15 WAIVER OF SUBROGATION

The Successful Bidder and the Successful Bidder ’s insurance carrier waive any and all rights 
whatsoever with regard to subrogation against the County as an indirect party to any suit arising out of 
personal or property damages resulting from the Bidder ’s performance under this Contract and any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

4.16 RELATIONSHIP OF THE PARTIES

The Successful Bidder shall be an independent contractor and shall assume all of the rights, obligations, 
liabilities, applicable to it as such independent contractor hereunder and any provisions herein which may 
appear to give the County the right to direct the Successful Bidder as to details of doing work herein 
covered, or to exercise a measure of control over the work, shall be deemed to mean that the Successful 
Bidder shall follow the desires of the County in the results of the work only.  The County shall not retain or 
have the right to control the Successful Bidder ’s means, methods or details pertaining to the Successful 
Bidder ’s performance of the work.  The County and the Successful Bidder hereby agree and declare that 
the Successful Bidder is an independent contractor and as such meets the qualifications of an 
“Independent Contractor” under Texas Workers Compensation Act, Texas Labor Code, Section 406.141, 
that the Successful Bidder is not an employee of  the County, and that the Successful Bidder and its 
employees, agents and subcontractors shall not be entitled to workers compensation coverage or any 
other type of insurance coverage held by the County.

4.17 SOLE PROVIDER

The Successful Bidder agrees and acknowledges that it shall not be considered a sole provider of the 
goods and/or services described herein and that the County may contract with other providers of such 
goods and/or services if the County deems, at its sole discretion, that multiple providers of the same 
goods and/or services will serve the best interest of the County.

4.18 FORCE MAJEURE

If the party obligated to perform is prevented from performance by an act of war, order of legal authority, 
act of God, or other unavoidable cause not attributable to the fault or negligence of said party, the other 
party shall grant such party relief from the performance.  The burden of proof for the need of such relief 
shall rest upon the party obligated to perform.  To obtain release based on force majeure, the party 
obligated to perform shall file a written request with the other party.

4.19 SEVERABILITY

If any provision of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be held invalid or 
unenforceable by any court of competent jurisdiction, such holding shall not invalidate or render 
unenforceable any other provision thereof, but rather the entire IFB, Contract or any Ensuing Agreement
(s) will be construed as if not containing the particular invalid or unenforceable provision or provisions, 
and the rights and obligation of the parties shall be construed and enforced in accordance therewith.  The 
parties acknowledge that if any provision of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) is 
determined to be invalid or unenforceable, it is the desire and intention of each that such provision be 
reformed and construed in such a manner that it will, to the maximum extent practicable, give effect to
the intent of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) and be deemed to be validated and
enforceable.

4.20 EQUAL OPPORTUNITY

Neither party shall discriminate against any employee or applicant for employment because of race, 
color, sex, religion or national origin.

4.21 NOTICE

Any notice to be given shall be in writing and may be distributed by personal delivery, or by registered or 
certified mail, return receipt requested, addressed to the proper party, at the following address:

The County:    Williamson County Purchasing Department 
            Attn: Purchasing Agent 
            901 South Austin Avenue 
            Georgetown, Texas 78626

The Bidder:     Address set out in Bidder’s Transmittal Letter.

Notices given in accordance with this provision shall be effective upon (1) receipt by the party to which 
notice is given, or (2) on the third (3rd) calendar day following mailing, whichever occurs first.

4.22 SALES AND USE TAX EXEMPTION

The County is a body, corporate and politic, under the laws of the State of Texas and claims exemption 
from sales and use taxes under Texas Tax Code, Section 151.309, as amended, and the services and/or 
goods subject hereof are being secured for use by the County.

4.23 COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS

The County and the Successful Bidder shall comply with all federal, state, and local laws, statutes,
ordinances, rules and regulations, and the orders and decrees of any courts or administrative bodies or 
tribunals in any matter affecting the performance of the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s),
including, without limitation, Workers ’ Compensation laws, salary and wage statutes and regulations, 
licensing laws and regulations.  When required, the Successful Bidder shall furnish the County with 
certification of compliance with said laws, statues, ordinances, rules, regulations, orders, and decrees 
above specified.

4.24 INCORPORATION OF EXHIBITS, APPENDICES AND ATTACHMENTS

All of the Exhibits, Appendices and Attachments referred to herein are incorporated by reference as if set 
forth verbatim herein.  Any conflicting terms in the Contract documents will be resolved at the sole 
discretion of the Commissioners Court.

4.25 NO WAIVER OF IMMUNITIES

Nothing herein shall be deemed to waive, modify or amend any legal defense available at law or in equity 
to the County, its past or present officers, employees, or agents, nor to create any legal rights or claim on 
behalf of any third party.  The County does not waive, modify, or alter to any extent whatsoever the 
availability of the defense of governmental immunity under the laws of the State of Texas and of the 
United States.

4.26 NO WAIVER

The failure or delay of any party to enforce at any time or any period of time any of the provisions of this 
IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall not constitute a present or future waiver of such 
provisions nor the right of either party to enforce each and every provision.  Furthermore, no term or 
provision hereof shall be deemed waived and no breach excused unless such waiver or consent shall be 
in writing and signed by the party claimed to have waived or consented.  Any consent by any party to, or 
waiver of, a breach by the other, whether expressed or implied, shall not constitute a consent to, waiver 
of or excuse for any other, different or subsequent breach.

4.27 CURRENT REVENUES

The obligations of the parties under the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) do not constitute a 
general obligation or indebtedness of the County for which the County is obligated to levy, pledge, or 
collect any of taxation.  It is understood and agreed that the County shall have the right to terminate the 
Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) at the end of any the County fiscal year if the governing body of 
the County does not appropriate sufficient funds as determined by the County ’s budget for the fiscal year 
in question.  The County may effect such termination by giving written notice of termination to the 
Successful Bidder at the end of its then-current fiscal year.

4.28 FOB DESTINATION

To the extent applicable to this IFB, all of the items listed are to be Free On Board to final destination 
(FOB Destination) with all transportation charges if applicable to be included in the Bid, unless otherwise 
specified in the Invitation for Bids.  The title and risk of loss of the goods shall not pass to the County until 
receipt and acceptance takes place at the FOB Destination point.

4.29 BINDING EFFECT

This Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties 
and their respective permitted assigns and successors.

4.30 ASSIGNMENT

The Successful Bidder ’s interest and duties hereunder may not be assigned or delegated to a third party 
without the express written consent of the County.

4.31 SAFETY

The Successful Bidder is responsible for initiating, maintaining, and supervising all safety precautions 
and programs in connection with any services to be provided hereunder. The safety program shall 
comply with all applicable requirements of the current federal Occupational Safety and Health Act and all 
other applicable federal, state and local laws and regulations.

4.32 GENERAL OBLIGATIONS AND RELIANCE

The Successful Bidder shall perform all services and/or provide all goods, as well as those reasonably
inferable and necessary for completion and provision of services and/or goods required hereunder. The
Successful Bidder shall keep the County informed of the progress and quality of the services.  The 
Successful Bidder agrees and acknowledges that the County is relying on the Successful Bidder's 
represented expertise and ability to provide the goods and/or services described herein.  The Successful
Bidder agrees to use its best efforts, skill, judgment, and abilities to perform its obligations in accordance
with the highest standards used in the profession and to further the interests of the County 
accordance with the County ’s requirements and procedures.    T h e   Successful Bidder ’s duties,
set forth herein, shall at no time be in any way diminished by reason of any approval by the County, nor
shall the Successful Bidder be released from any liability by reason of such approval by the County, it 
being understood that the County at all times is ultimately relying upon the Successful Bidder ’s skill and 
knowledge in performing the services and providing any goods required hereunder.

4.33 ESTIMATED QUANTITIES

To the extent applicable to this IFB, the estimated quantity of each item listed in this IFB is only
estimate; the actual quantity to be purchased may be more or less. The County is not obligated
purchase any minimum amount, and the County may purchase any reasonable amount greater than the
estimate for the same unit price. Any limit on quantities available must be stated expressly in the Bid.

4.34 CONTRACTUAL DEVELOPMENT

The contents of the IFB and the Successful Bidder ’s Bid will become an integral part of the Contract, but 
may be modified, at the County ’s sole discretion, by provisions of an Ensuing Agreement.  Therefore, the 
Bidder must agree to an inclusion of an Ensuing Agreement of the Bid specifications, terms and 
conditions of this IFB.  If an Ensuing Agreement is required under this IFB, information relative to the 
Agreement will be located in the Special Provisions Section of this IFB.

4.35 SURVIVABILITY 

All applicable agreements that were entered into between the Successful Bidder and the County, under 
the terms and conditions of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s), shall survive the expiration or 
termination thereof for ninety (90) days unless a new contract has been awarded.

The County may exercise, by written notice to the Successful Bidder no later than ten (10) calendar days 
of the Contract expiration, this clause for emergencies only. 

4.36 AIR QUALITY

In determining the overall best Bid, the County may, to the extent applicable, exercise the option granted 
to local governments under the Texas Local Government Code, Section 271.907.

This option allows the County to evaluate Bids and give preference to goods and/or services of a Bidder 
that demonstrates that the Bidder meets or exceeds any and all state or federal environmental 
standards, including voluntary standards, relating to air quality.  If the Bid being submitted will have an 
effect on air quality for the County (as it relates to any state, federal, or voluntary air quality standard), 
then the Bidder is encouraged to provide information in narrative indicating the anticipated air quality 
impact.  All Bidders are expected to meet all mandated state and federal air quality standards.

4.37 ENTIRE AGREEMENT

The Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall supersede all prior Agreements, written or oral 
between the Successful Bidder and the County and shall constitute the entire Agreement and 
understanding between the parties with respect to the services and/or goods to be provided.  Each of the 
provisions herein shall be binding upon the parties and may not be waived, modified, amended or altered, 
except by writing signed by the Successful Bidder and the County.

4.38 PAYMENT

The County ’s payment for goods and services shall be governed by the Texas Government Code, 

Chapter 2251.  An invoice shall be deemed overdue the thirty-first (31st) day after the later of the 
following: 

A. The date the County receives the goods under the Contract; 
B. The date the performance of the service under the Contract is completed; or 
C. The date the Williamson County Auditor receives an invoice for the goods or services.  

Interest charges for any overdue payments shall be paid by the County in accordance with Texas 
Government Code, Section 2251.025.  More specifically, the rate of interest that shall accrue on a late 
payment is the rate in effect on September 1 of the County ’s fiscal year in which the payment becomes 
due.  The said rate in effect on September 1 shall be equal to the sum of one (1) percent, and the prime 

rate published in the Wall Street Journal on the first (1st) day of July of the preceding fiscal year that does 
not fall on a Saturday or Sunday.

In the event that an error appears in an invoice submitted by the Successful Bidder, the County shall 
notify the Successful Bidder of the error not later than the twenty-first (21st) day after the date the County 
receives the invoice.  If the error is resolved in favor of the Successful Bidder, the Successful Bidder 
shall be entitled to receive interest on the unpaid balance of the invoice submitted by the Successful 
Bidder beginning on the date that the payment for the invoice became overdue.  If the error is resolved in 
favor of the County, the Successful Bidder shall submit a corrected invoice that must be paid in 
accordance within the time set forth above.  The unpaid balance accrues interest as provided by the 
Texas Government Code, Chapter 2251, if the corrected invoice is not paid by the appropriate date.

As a minimum, invoices shall include:

A. Name, address, and telephone number of the Successful Bidder and similar information in the 
event the payment is to be made to a different address. 

B. The County Contract, Purchase Order. 

C. Identification of items or service as outlined in the Contract. 

D. Quantity or quantities, applicable unit prices, total prices and total amount. 

E. Any additional payment information which may be called for by the Contract. 

Payment inquiries should be directed to the following address:        

            Williamson County Auditor’s Office, Accounts Payable Department
            Email: accountspayable@wilco.org
            Phone: 512-943-1500

4.39 CONTRACTUAL FORMATION AND ENSUING AGREEMENT

The IFB and the Bidder ’s Bid, when properly accepted by the Commissioners Court, shall constitute a
Contract equally binding between the Successful Bidder and the County.

If an Ensuing Agreement is required by this IFB, that information will be provided in Special 
Provisions section of this IFB.  The Successful Bidder shall be required to execute the Agreement at 
the Williamson County Purchasing Department approximately ten (10) calendar days after the 
Successful Bidder is notified of award.  The Ensuing Agreement shall be in the same form as the 
Agreement which is attached to the end of this IFB.  The only anticipated changes in the Ensuing 
Agreement will be to include additional exhibits, to fill in blanks to identify the Successful Bidder, and 
terms relating to the compensation, or to revise the Agreement to accommodate corrections, changes in 
the scope of services, or changes pursuant to Addenda issued.  Bidders should raise any questions 
regarding the terms of the Agreement in the form of written questions or submittals as 
described in the Public Announcement and General Information portion of this IFB.  Because the 
signed Ensuing Agreement will be substantively and substantially derived from the attached Agreement, 
each Bidder is urged to seek independent legal counsel as to any questions about the terms, conditions 
or provisions contained in the Agreement before submitting a Bid.  Again, the attached Agreement, if 
applicable, contains important legal provisions and is considered part and parcel of this IFB.  Failure or 
refusal to sign aforesaid Agreement shall be grounds for the County to revoke any award which has been 
issued, forfeit Bid security, if applicable, and select another Bidder.

4.40 COOPERATIVE PURCHASING PROGRAM 

During the term of the Contract resulting from this IFB, the County would like to afford the same prices, 
terms and conditions to other political subdivisions or public entities.  Another entity’s participation in the 
Contract resulting from this IFB is subject to a properly authorized Purchasing Cooperative Inter- local 
Agreement with the County.  Any liability created by purchase orders issued against the Contract shall be 
the sole responsibility of the governmental agency placing the order.

4.41 INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS

To the extent applicable Insurance information will appear in the Additional Stipulations section that is in 
this IFB Package. 

4.42 BIDDERS BOND, WARRANTY BOND, PERFORMANCE AND PAYMENT BONDS

To the extent applicable Bond information will appear in the Additional Stipulations section that is in this 
IFB Package. 

4.43 LEGAL LIABILITY INFORMATION

The Successful Bidder shall disclose all legal liability information by listing any pending litigation
anticipated litigation that your firm is involved in including, but not limited to, potential or actual legal
matters with private parties and any local, state, federal or international governmental entities. The
County reserves the right to consider legal liability information in the recommendation of any proposed 
contract to the Commissioners Court.

4.44 INCLEMENT WEATHER

In case of inclement weather or any other unforeseen event causing the County to close for business on 
the date of a Bid submission deadline, the Bid closing will automatically be postponed until the next 
business day the County is open.  If inclement weather conditions or any other unforeseen event causes 
delays in carrier service operations, the County may issue an Addendum to all known Bidders interested 
in the project to extend the deadline.  It will be the responsibility of the Bidder to notify the County of their 
interest in the project if these conditions are impacting their ability to turn in a submission within the 
stated deadline.  The County reserves the right to make the final judgement call to extend any deadline. 

4.45 CONFIDENTIALITY 

The Bidder expressly agrees that it will not use any direct or incidental confidential information that may 
be obtained while working in a governmental setting for its own benefit, and agrees that it will not access 
unauthorized areas or confidential information and it will not disclose any information to unauthorized 
third parties, and will take care to guard the security of the information at all times.

Bid 1704-156Williamson County, Texas

4/6/2017 1:22 PM p. 21



5

6

3 4

Williamson County – Invitation for Bid (IFB)

SECTION 1 - DEFINITIONS 

Addendum/Addenda – means any written or graphic instruments issued by the County prior to the 
consideration of Bids which modify or interpret the Bid Documents by additions, deletions, clarifications, 
or corrections.

Agreement/Ensuing Agreement(s) – means the Successful Bidder may be required by the County to 
sign an additional Agreement containing terms necessary to ensure compliance with the IFB and the 
Bidder ’s Bid.  Such Ensuing Agreement(s) shall contain the Bid specifications, terms and conditions that 
are derived from the IFB.

Bid Documents – means the Legal Notice, IFB including attachments, and any Addenda issued by the 
County prior to the consideration of any Bids.

Bid – means the completed and signed bid form, (sometimes referred to as the Price Sheet), and ALL 
required forms and documentation listed in the IFB package which have been submitted in accordance 
with the terms and conditions described in the IFB package.  A Bid submitted in accordance with this IFB 
is irrevocable during the specified period for evaluation and acceptance of Bids unless a waiver is 
obtained from the Williamson County Purchasing Agent.

Bidder – means a person or entity who submits a Bid in response to this IFB.

Contract – means this IFB and the Bid of the Successful Bidder shall become a Contract between the 
Successful Bidder and the County once the Successful Bidder ’s Bid is properly accepted by the 
Williamson County Commissioners Court.

Commissioner ’s Court – means the Williamson County Commissioners Court. 

County – means Williamson County, a political subdivision of the State of Texas.

Invitation for Bid (IFB) – means this document, together with the attachments thereto and any future 
Addenda issued by the County.

Successful Bidder – means the liable Bidder to whom the County intends to award the Contract.

SECTION 2 - BID FORMAT AND SUBMISSION

2.1 ORGANIZATION OF BID CONTENTS FOR SUBMITTAL 

Each Bid should be organized and items submitted in the order described below: 

A. Transmittal Letter. Please see Section 2.3, Transmittal Letter, for more information. 

B. Price Sheet.

C. Conflict of Interest Questionnaire. Please see Section 2.2, Conflict of Interest, for more 
information in regards to this. Please note that even if you deem there to be no Conflict of Interest, 
this signed questionnaire must be included in your package. 

D. References. Please see Section 3.15, References, for more information. 

E. Bid Affidavit.

F. Form 1295. Please see Section 2.4, Certificate of Interested Parties – Form 1295. 

2.2 CONFLICT OF INTEREST

No public official shall have interest in a Contract, in accordance with Vernon ’s Texas Codes Annotated, 
Local Government Code, Title 5, Subtitle C, Chapter 171, as amended. 

As of January 1, 2006, all Bidders are responsible for complying with Local Government Code, Title 5, 
Subtitle C, Chapter 176.  Additional information may be obtained from the County’s website at the 
following link: 

http://www.wilco.org/CountyDepartments/Purchasing/ConflictofInterestDisclosure/tabid/689/language/en
US/Default.aspx

Each Bidder must disclose any existing or potential conflict of interest relative to the performance of the 
requirements of this IFB.  Examples of potential conflicts of interest may include an existing 
business or personal relationship between the Bidder, its principal, or any affiliate or 
subcontractor with the County or any other entity or person involved in any way with the project 
that is subject to this IFB .  Similarly, any personal or business relationship between the Bidder, the 

principals, or any affiliate or subcontractor with any employee, or official of the County or its suppliers 
must be disclosed.  Any such relationship that might be perceived or represented as a conflict must be 
disclosed. Failure to disclose any such relationship or reveal personal relationships with the County 
employees or officials may be cause for termination. 

The County will decide if an actual or perceived conflict should result in Bid disqualification. 

By submitting a Bid in response to this IFB, all Bidders affirm they have not given, nor intend to give, at 
any time hereafter, any economic opportunity, future employment, gift, loan, gratuity, special discount, 
trip, favor, or service to a the County public servant or any employee, official or representative of same, in 
connection with this procurement. 

Each Bidder must provide a Conflict of Interest Statement with their Bid Package.  Package may 

be deemed incomplete without this form.  

2.3 TRANSMITTAL LETTER

The Bidder should submit a Transmittal Letter that provides the following information: 

A. Name and address of individual or business entity submitting the Bid. 

B. Name, physical address, email address, business and fax number of the Bidder ’s principal 
contact person regarding all contractual matters relating to this IFB.

C. The Bid ’s Federal Employer Identification Number.

D. If the Proposal being submitted will have an effect on air quality for the County (as it relates to any 
state, federal, or voluntary air quality standard), then the Respondent is encouraged to provide
information in narrative indicating the anticipated air quality impact. See Section 4.36, Air Quality 
for more information. 

2.4 CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PARTIES – FORM 1295

As of January 1, 2016, all Successful Bidders are responsible for complying with the Texas Government 
Code, Section 2252.908.  The law states that the County may not enter into certain contracts with a 
Bidder unless the Bidder submits a disclosure of interested parties to the County at the time the Bidder 
submits the signed Contract.  The law applies only to a Contract of the County on or after January 1, 
2016 that either:

A. Requires an action or vote by the Commissioners Court before the Contract may be signed (all 
contracts that fall under the jurisdiction of the Commissioners Court approval, such as contracts 
resulting from an Initiation for Bid (IFB), RFP, Request for Qualifications (RFQ), etc., excluding, 
but not limited to, certain Juvenile Service contracts, contracts funded with Sheriff ’s seized fun 
monies, etc.); or

B. Has a value of at least $1,000,000. 

By January 1, 2016, the Texas Ethics Commission will make available on its website, a new filing 
application that must be used to file Form 1295.  Information regarding how to use the filing application is 
available on the Texas Ethics Commission website at the following link:

https://www.ethics.state.tx.us/whatsnew/elf_info_form1295.htm

A Respondent must:

A. Use the online application to process the required information on Form 1295.

B. Print a copy of the form which will contain a unique certification number.

C. An authorized agent of the Bidder must sign the printed copy of the form.

D. Have the form notarized.

E. File the completed Form 1295 and certification of filing (scanning and emailing form is sufficient) 
with Williamson County Purchasing Agent at the time the signed Contract is submitted for 
approval.

After the Commissioners Court award of the Contract, the County shall notify the Texas Ethics 
Commission, using the Texas Ethics Commission ’s filing application, of the receipt of the filed Form 
1295 and certification of filing not later than the 30th day after the date the Contract binds all parties to the 
Contract. The Texas Ethics Commission will post the completed Form 1295 to its website within seven 
business days after receiving notice from the County.

2.5 ETHICS

The Bidder shall not accept or offer gifts or anything of value nor enter into any business arrangement 
with any employee, official or agent of the County.

2.6 BID SUBMITTAL DEADLINE

The Bid is due no later than the submittal date and time set forth in the Public Announcement and 
General Information listed in this IFB package.  Contents of each Bid shall be submitted in accordance 
with this IFB.

2.7 DELIVERY OF BIDS

The County uses BidSync to distribute and receive Bids and proposals.  It is preferred that Bids
submitted electronically through BidSync; however, Bidders can submit a hard copy.  

Refer to www.bidsync.com for further information on how to submit electronically.

If mailed or delivered in person, Bids and Bid Addenda are to be delivered in sealed envelope on or before
the submittal deadline, as noted in the Public Announcement and General Information listed in this IFB 
package, to:

            Williamson County Purchasing Department
            Attn: Bid Name and Number
            901 South Austin Avenue
            Georgetown, Texas 78626

Also, all Bidders should list their Name and Address, and the Date of the Bid opening on the outside
the box or envelope and note “Sealed Bid Enclosed.” The County will not accept any Bids received after 
the submittal deadline, and shall return such Bids unopened to the Bidder.  The County will not accept 
any responsibility for Bids being delivered by third party carriers.  

Bids will be opened publically and the names of Bidders and pricing will be read aloud.

SECTION 3 - INSTRUCTIONS AND GENERAL REQUIREMENTS

3.1 INSTRUCTIONS

Read this document carefully, and follow all instructions and requirements.  All Bidders are responsible 
for fulfilling all requirements and specifications.  Be sure to have a clear understanding of this IFB.

General requirements apply to all advertised IFBs; however, these may be superseded, in whole or in 
part, by the bid specifications, Addenda and modifications issued as a part of this IFB.  Be sure your Bid 
package is complete.

3.2 AMBIGUITY, CONFLICT, OR OTHER ERRORS IN THIS IFB

If a Bidder discovers any ambiguity, conflict, discrepancy, omission or other error in this IFB, the Bidder 
shall immediately notify the County Purchasing Department of such error in writing and request
modification or clarification of the document.

Modifications will be made by issuing Addenda. If the Bidder fails to notify the County prior to the date
and time fixed for submission of Bids of an error or ambiguity in the IFB known to the Bidder, or an error
or ambiguity that reasonably should have been known to the Bidder, then the Bidder shall be deemed to 
have waived the error or ambiguity or its later resolution.

The County may also modify the IFB, no later than forty-eight (48) hours prior to the date and time fixed
for submission of Bids, by issuance of an Addendum.  All Addenda will be numbered consecutively, 
beginning with one (1).

3.3 NOTIFICATION OF MOST CURRENT ADDRESS

All Bidders in receipt of this IFB shall notify the Williamson County Purchasing Department of any
address changes, contact person changes, and/or telephone number changes no later than forty-eight 
(48) hours prior to the date and time fixed for submission of Bids.

3.4 SIGNATURE OF BIDDER

A. If the Bidder is a Corporation or Limited Liability Company, the legal name of the Corporation
Limited Liability Company shall be provided together with the signature of the officer or officers 
authorized to sign on behalf of such entity.

B. If the Bidder is a General Partnership, the true name of the firm shall be provided with the
signature of each partner authorized to sign.

C. If the Bidder is a Limited Partnership, the name of the Limited Partner ’s General Partner shall
provided with the signature of the officer authorized to sign on behalf of the General Partner.

D. If the Bidder is a Sole Proprietor(s) (individual), each Sole Proprietor(s) shall sign.

E. If signature is by an agent, other than the Sole Proprietor(s) or an officer of a Corporation, Limited 
Liability Company, General Partner or a member of a General Partnership, a power of attorney
equivalent document must be submitted to the Williamson County Purchasing Department.

3.5 ASSUMED BUSINESS NAME

If the Bidder operates business under an Assumed Business Name, the Bidder must have on file with the
Williamson County Clerk a current Assumed Name Certificate and provide a file marked copy of same.

3.6 BID OBLIGATION 

The contents of the IFB, Bid, and any clarification thereof submitted by the Successful Bidder shall
become part of the contractual obligation and incorporated by reference into the Contract and any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

3.7 COMPLIANCE WITH IFB SPECIFICATIONS

It is intended that this IFB describe the requirements and the Bid format in sufficient detail to secure 
comparable Bids.  Failure to comply with all provisions of the IFB may, at the sole discretion of the 
County, result in disqualification.

3.8 WITHDRAWAL OF BID

The Bidder may withdraw its Bid by submitting a written request with the company letterhead and the 
signature of an authorized individual, as described in Section 3.4, Signature of Bidder, to the Williamson 
County Purchasing Department any time prior to the submission deadline.  

The Bidder may submit a new Bid prior to the deadline. Alterations of the Bid in any manner will not be 
considered if submitted after the deadline.  Withdrawal of a Bid after the deadline will be subject to written 
approval of the Williamson County Purchasing Agent.

3.9 EVALUATION AND AWARD

The County reserves the right to use all pertinent information (also learned from sources other than 
disclosed in the Bid process) that might affect the County ’s judgment as to the appropriateness of
award to the lowest and best evaluated Bid. This information may be appended to the Bid evaluation
process results. Information on a Bidder from reliable sources, and not within the Bidder ’s Bid, may also 
be noted and made part of the evaluation fi le.  The County shall have sole discretion for determining 
the reliability of the source.

To ensure the proper and fair evaluation of a solicitation, the County prohibits unsolicited communication 
initiated by the Bidder to the County Official or Employee evaluating or considering the Bids prior to the 
time an award has been made. Unsolicited communication may be ground for disqualifying the 
offending Bidder from consideration or award of the solicitation, or any future solicitation.

Communication between the Bidder and the County will be initiated by the appropriate County Official
Employee in order to obtain information or clarification needed to develop a proper and accurate 
evaluation of the solicitation.

The County intends to award a Contract to the most responsible and responsive Bidder whose Bid will 
be most advantageous to the County. In accordance with Texas Government Code and Local
Government Code, the County may consider, to the extent allowed by law, the following:

A. Price;
B. The Bidder ’s experience and reputation;
C. Quality of the Bidder ’s goods and/or services; 
D. The Bidder ’s safety record;
E. The Bidder ’s proposed personnel; 
F. The Bidder ’s financial capabilities; and 
G. Any other relevant factors specifically listed in this IFB or authorized by law.

3.10 CONDISERATION OF LOCATION OF PRINCIPAL OFFICE 

Pursuant to Texas Local Government Code, Section 271.905 , in purchasing any real property or personal
property that is not affixed to real property, if the County receives one or more Bids from a Bidder whose
principal place of business is in Williamson County and whose Bid is within three (3 )  percent of the
lowest Bid price received by the County from a Bidder who is not a resident of Williamson County, the 
County may enter into a contract with:

A. The lowest Bidder; or the Bidder whose principal place of business is in Williamson County if the
Commissioners Court determines, in writing, that the local Bidder offers the County the best 
combination of contract price and addit ional economic development opportunities
Williamson County created by the contract award, including the employment of residents
Williamson County and increased tax revenues to Williamson County.

It is understood that the Commissioners Court of Williamson County, Texas, reserves the right to accept
or reject any and/or all Bids for any or all goods and/or services covered in this IFB, and to waive
informalities or defects in the Bid or to accept such Bid, if it shall deem to be in the best interest of the 
County.

Awards should be made approximately sixty (60) business days after the Bid opening date. Results may
be obtained by viewing the Williamson County vendor portal at the following link:

http://www.wilco.org/CountyDepartments/Purchasing/SearchforaPastBid/tabid/5213/language/en-
US/Default.aspx

3.11 RESPONSIBILITY 

It is expected that a prospective Bidder will be able to affirmatively demonstrate responsibility.  A 
prospective Bidder should be able to meet the following requirements:

A. Have adequate financial resources, or the ability to obtain such resources as required;
B. Be able to comply with the required or proposed delivery schedule;
C. Have a satisfactory record of performance that can be determined thru references provided; and 
D. Be otherwise qualified and eligible to receive an award.

The County may request representation and other information sufficient to determine the Bidder's ability 
to meet these minimum standards listed above.

3.12 FIRM PRICING 

For unit price items, all of the items listed are to be on a “per unit” basis, stating a firm price per unit or 
unit quantity of each item.  The Bidder must submit a firm price that must be good from the date of Bid 
opening for the fixed period of time set out in this IFB.  Unless the IFB expressly states otherwise, this 
period shall be until the end of the Initial Contract Period.

Bids which do not state a fixed price, or which are subject to change without notice, will not be 
considered.  The Court may award a Contract for the period implied or expressly stated in the lowest and 
best Bid.

3.13 PURCHASE ORDERS

If required by the Williamson County Purchasing Department, a purchase order(s) may be generated to 
the Successful Bidder for goods and/or services.  If a purchase order is issued, the purchase order 
number must appear on all itemized invoices and/or requests for payment.

3.14 SILENCE OF SPECIFICATIONS

The apparent silence of these specifications as to any detail or to the apparent omission from it of a 
detailed description concerning any point, shall be regarded as meaning that only the best practices are 
to prevail.  All interpretations of these specifications shall be made on the basis of this statement.

3.15 REFERENCES

The County may require the Bidder to supply a list of at least three (3) references where like services
and/or goods have been supplied by their firm within the past five (5) years, to include names, titles, 
phone numbers and email addresses of key personnel, and dates of performance.

The County may contact some or all of the references in order to determine the Respondent
performance record on work similar to that described in this RFP.  The County reserves the right to 
contact references other than those provided in the response and to use the information gained from 
them in the evaluation process.

References, if requested, should be provided in accordance with this IFB.  Bid may not be deemed 
complete without the inclusion of requested references.

SECTION 4 - TERMS AND CONDITIONS

4.1 VENUE AND GOVERNING LAW

The Bidder hereby agrees and acknowledges that venue and jurisdiction of any suit, right, or cause of 
action arising out of or in connection with this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s), shall lie 
exclusively in either Williamson County, Texas or in the Austin Division of the Western Federal District of 
Texas, and the parties hereto expressly consent and submit to such jurisdiction.  Furthermore, except to 
the extent that this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) is governed by the laws of the United 
States, this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be governed by and construed in 
accordance with the laws of the State of Texas, excluding, however, its choice of law rules.

4.2 INCORPORATION BY REFERENCE AND PRECEDENCE

A. The Contract shall be derived from the IFB and its Addenda (if applicable), and the Bidder ’ s Bid.  In 
the event of a dispute under the Contract, applicable documents will be referred to for the purpose 
of clarification or for additional detail in the following order of precedence:

1. The IFB and its Addenda (if applicable); and

2. The Bidder ’s Bid.

B. In the event the County requires that an Ensuing Agreement be executed following award and a 
dispute arises between the terms and conditions of the Ensuing Agreement, the IFB and its 
Addenda (if applicable), and the Bidder ’s Bid, applicable documents will be referred to for the 
purpose of clarification or for additional detail in the following order of precedence: 

1. Terms and conditions of the Ensuing Agreement;

2. The IFB its Addenda; and 

3. The Bidder ’s Bid.

4.3 OWNERSHIP OF BID

Each Bid shall become the property of the County upon submittal and will not be returned to Bidders 
unless received after the submittal deadline.

4.4 DISQUALIFICATION OF BIDDER

Upon signing and submittal of the Bid, a Bidder offering to sell supplies, materials, services, or equipment 
to the County, certifies that the Bidder has not violated the antitrust laws of the State of Texas codified in 
Business & Commerce Code, Section 15.01, or the Federal Antitrust Laws, and has not communicated 
directly or indirectly the offer made to any competitor or any other person engaged in such line of 
business.  Any or all Bids may be rejected if the County believes that collusion exists among the Bidders.

4.5 FUNDING

The County intends to budget and make sufficient funds available and authorize funds for expenditure to 
finance the costs of the Contract.  All Bidders understand and agree that the County’s payment of 
amounts under the Contract shall be contingent on the County receiving appropriations or other 
expenditure authority sufficient to allow the County, in the exercise of reasonable administrative 
discretion, to make payments under this Contract.

4.6 ASSIGNMENT, SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS 

The Successful Bidder may not assign, sell, or otherwise transfer the Contract or any other rights or 
interests obtained under the Contract without written permission of the Commissioners Court.  The 
Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the contracting 
parties hereto and their respective successors and permitted assigns.

4.7 IMPLIED REQUIREMENTS

Products or services not specifically described or required in the IFB, but are necessary to provide the 
functional capabilities described by the Bidder, shall be implied and deemed to be included in the Bid.

4.8 TERMINATION

A. Termination for Cause: The County reserves the right to terminate the Contract and/or any 
Ensuing Agreement(s) for default if the Successful Bidder breaches any of the Bid specifications,
terms and conditions, including warranties of the Bidder, if any, or if the Successful Bidder 
becomes insolvent or commits acts of bankruptcy.  Such right of termination is in addition to and
not in lieu of any other remedies the County may have at law or in equity or as may otherwise
provided hereunder.  Default may be construed as, but not limited to, failure to deliver the proper 
goods and/or services within the proper amount of time, and/or to properly perform any and all 
other requirements to the County ’s satisfaction, and/or to meet all other obligations and
requirements.

B. Termination for Convenience: The County may terminate the Contract and/or any Ensuing 
Agreement(s) for convenience and without cause or further liability, upon no less than thirty (30) 
calendar days written notice to the Successful Bidder. The County reserves the right to extend 
this period if it is in the best interest of the County.  In the event the County exercises its right to 
terminate without cause, it is understood and agreed that only the amounts due to the Successful 
Bidder for goods, commodities and/or services provided and expenses incurred to and including 
the date of termination, will be due and payable.  No penalty will be assessed for the County
termination for convenience.

4.9 NON-PERFORMANCE

It is the objective of the County to obtain complete and satisfactory performance of the requirements set 
forth herein.  In addition to any other remedies available at law, in equity or that may be set out herein, 
failure to perform may result in a deduction of payment equal to the amount of the goods and/or services 
that were not provided and/or performed to the County ’s satisfaction.  

In the event of such non-performance, the County shall have the right, but shall not be obligated, to 
complete the services itself or by others and/or purchase the goods from other sources.  If the County 
elects to acquire the goods or perform the services itself or by others, pursuant to the foregoing, the 
Successful Bidder shall reimburse the County, within ten (10) calendar days of demand, for all costs 
incurred by the County (including, without limitation, applicable, general, and administrative expenses, 
and field overhead, and the cost of necessary equipment, materials, and field labor) in correcting the 
nonperformance which the Successful Bidder fails to meet pursuant to the requirements set out herein.  
In the event the Successful Bidder refuses to reimburse the County as set out in this provision, the 
County shall have the right to deduct such reimbursement amounts from any amounts that may be then 
owing or that may become owing in the future to the Successful Bidder.

4.10 PROPRIETARY INFORMATION AND THE TEXAS PUBLIC INFORMATION ACT

All material submitted to the County shall become public property and subject to the Texas Public 
Information Act upon receipt. If a Bidder does not desire proprietary information in the Bid to be 
disclosed, each page must be clearly identified and marked proprietary at time of submittal or, more 
preferably, all proprietary information may be placed in a folder or appendix and be clearly identified and 
marked as being proprietary.  Failure to clearly identify and mark information as being proprietary as set 
forth under this provision will result in all unmarked information being deemed non-proprietary and 
available to the public.  For all information that has not been clearly identified and marked as proprietary 
by the Bidder, the County may choose to place such information on the County ’s website and/or a similar 
public database without obtaining any type of prior consent from the Bidder.

The County will, to the extent allowed by law, endeavor to protect from public disclosure the information 
that has been identified and marked as proprietary.  The final decision as to what information must be 
disclosed, however, lies with the Texas Attorney General.  

To the extent, if any, that any provision in this IFB or in the Bidder ’s Bid is in conflict with Texas 
Government Code, Chapter 552, as amended (the “Public Information Act”), the same shall be of no 
force or effect.  Furthermore, it is expressly understood, and agreed, that the County, and its officers and 
employees, may request advice, decisions and opinions of the Attorney General of the State of Texas in 
regard to the application of the Public Information Act to any items or data furnished to the County as to 
whether or not the same are available to the public.  It is further understood that the County, and its 
officers and employees, shall have the right to rely on the advice, decisions and opinions of the Attorney 
General, and that the County, its officers and employees shall have no liability or obligation to any party 
hereto for the disclosure to the public, or to any person or persons, of any items or data furnished to the 
County by a party hereto, in reliance of any advice, decision or opinion of the Attorney General of the 
State of Texas.

4.11 RIGHT TO AUDIT

The Successful Bidder agrees that the County or its duly authorized representatives shall, until the 
expiration of three (3) years after termination or expiration of the services to be performed, have access 
to and the right to examine and photocopy any and all books, documents, papers and records of the 
Successful Bidder, which are directly pertinent to the services to be performed or goods to be delivered 
for the purposes of making audits, examinations, excerpts and transcriptions.  The Successful Bidder 
agrees that the County shall have access during normal working hours to all necessary facilities and 
shall be provided adequate and appropriate work space in order to conduct audits in compliance with the 
provisions of this section.  The County shall give the Successful Bidder reasonable advance notice of 
intended audits.

4.12 TESTING AND INSPECTIONS

The County reserves the right to inspect and test equipment, supplies, materials and goods for quality 
and compliance with this IFB, and ability to meet the needs of the user.  Demonstration units must be 
available for review.  Should the goods or services fail to meet requirements and/or be unavailable for 
evaluation, the County can deem the Bidder to be in breach and terminate the Contract and/or any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

4.13 BID PREPARATION COSTS

The cost of developing Bids is the sole responsibility of the Bidders and shall not be charged to the 
County.  There is no expressed or implied obligation for the County to reimburse the Bidders for any 
expense incurred in preparing a Bid in response to this IFB and the County will not reimburse the Bidders 
for such expenses.

4.14 INDEMNIFICATION

The Successful Bidder shall indemnify, defend and save harmless, the County, its officials, employees, 
agents and agent ’s employees from, and against, all claims, liability, and expenses including reasonable 
attorneys ’   fees, arising from activities of the Bidder, its agents, servants or employees, performed 
hereunder that result from the negligent act, error, or omission of the Bidder or any of the Bidder
agents, servants or employees, as well as all claims of loss or damage to the Bidder ’s and the County
property, equipment, and/or supplies. 

Furthermore, the County, its officials, employees, agents and agents ’ employees shall not be liable for 
damages to the Successful Bidder arising from any act of any third party, including, but not limited to, 
theft.  The Successful Bidder further agrees to indemnify, defend and save harmless, the County from its 
officials, employee, agents and agents ’ employees against all claims of whatever nature arising from any 
accident, injury, or damage whatsoever, caused to any person, or the property of any person, occurring 
in relation to the Successful Bidder ’s performance of any services requested hereunder during the term 
of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s). 

The Successful Bidder shall timely report all claims, demands, suits, actions, proceedings, liens or 
judgements to the County and shall, upon the receipt of any claim, demand, suit, action, proceeding, lien 

or judgement, not later than the fifteenth (15 th) day of each month; provide the County with a written 
report on each such matter, setting forth the status of each matter, the schedule or planned proceedings 
with respect to each matter and the cooperation or assistance, if any, of the County required by the 
Successful Bidder in the defense of each matter.  The Successful Bidder’s duty to defend, indemnify and 
hold the County harmless shall be absolute.  It shall not abate or end by reason of the expiration or 
termination of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s), unless otherwise agreed by the County in 
writing.  The provisions of this section shall survive the termination of the Contract and shall remain in full 
force and effect with respect to all such matters no matter when they arise. 

In the event of any dispute between the parties, as to whether a claim, demand, suit, action, proceeding, 
lien or judgement, that appears to have been caused by or appears to have arisen out of or in connection 
with acts or omissions of the County, the Bidder shall nevertheless fully defend such claim, demand, suit 
or action, proceeding, lien or judgement, until and unless there is a determination by a court of competent 
jurisdiction that the acts and omissions of the Bidder are not an issue in the matter. 

The Successful Bidder ’s indemnification shall cover, and the Successful Bidder agrees to, indemnify the 
County, in the event the County is found to have been negligent for having selected the Successful 
Bidder to perform the work described in this request.  The provision by the Successful Bidder of 
insurance shall not limit the liability of the Successful Bidder under the Contract and/or any Ensuing 
Agreement(s). 

4.15 WAIVER OF SUBROGATION

The Successful Bidder and the Successful Bidder ’s insurance carrier waive any and all rights 
whatsoever with regard to subrogation against the County as an indirect party to any suit arising out of 
personal or property damages resulting from the Bidder ’s performance under this Contract and any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

4.16 RELATIONSHIP OF THE PARTIES

The Successful Bidder shall be an independent contractor and shall assume all of the rights, obligations, 
liabilities, applicable to it as such independent contractor hereunder and any provisions herein which may 
appear to give the County the right to direct the Successful Bidder as to details of doing work herein 
covered, or to exercise a measure of control over the work, shall be deemed to mean that the Successful 
Bidder shall follow the desires of the County in the results of the work only.  The County shall not retain or 
have the right to control the Successful Bidder ’s means, methods or details pertaining to the Successful 
Bidder ’s performance of the work.  The County and the Successful Bidder hereby agree and declare that 
the Successful Bidder is an independent contractor and as such meets the qualifications of an 
“Independent Contractor” under Texas Workers Compensation Act, Texas Labor Code, Section 406.141, 
that the Successful Bidder is not an employee of  the County, and that the Successful Bidder and its 
employees, agents and subcontractors shall not be entitled to workers compensation coverage or any 
other type of insurance coverage held by the County.

4.17 SOLE PROVIDER

The Successful Bidder agrees and acknowledges that it shall not be considered a sole provider of the 
goods and/or services described herein and that the County may contract with other providers of such 
goods and/or services if the County deems, at its sole discretion, that multiple providers of the same 
goods and/or services will serve the best interest of the County.

4.18 FORCE MAJEURE

If the party obligated to perform is prevented from performance by an act of war, order of legal authority, 
act of God, or other unavoidable cause not attributable to the fault or negligence of said party, the other 
party shall grant such party relief from the performance.  The burden of proof for the need of such relief 
shall rest upon the party obligated to perform.  To obtain release based on force majeure, the party 
obligated to perform shall file a written request with the other party.

4.19 SEVERABILITY

If any provision of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be held invalid or 
unenforceable by any court of competent jurisdiction, such holding shall not invalidate or render 
unenforceable any other provision thereof, but rather the entire IFB, Contract or any Ensuing Agreement
(s) will be construed as if not containing the particular invalid or unenforceable provision or provisions, 
and the rights and obligation of the parties shall be construed and enforced in accordance therewith.  The 
parties acknowledge that if any provision of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) is 
determined to be invalid or unenforceable, it is the desire and intention of each that such provision be 
reformed and construed in such a manner that it will, to the maximum extent practicable, give effect to
the intent of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) and be deemed to be validated and
enforceable.

4.20 EQUAL OPPORTUNITY

Neither party shall discriminate against any employee or applicant for employment because of race, 
color, sex, religion or national origin.

4.21 NOTICE

Any notice to be given shall be in writing and may be distributed by personal delivery, or by registered or 
certified mail, return receipt requested, addressed to the proper party, at the following address:

The County:    Williamson County Purchasing Department 
            Attn: Purchasing Agent 
            901 South Austin Avenue 
            Georgetown, Texas 78626

The Bidder:     Address set out in Bidder’s Transmittal Letter.

Notices given in accordance with this provision shall be effective upon (1) receipt by the party to which 
notice is given, or (2) on the third (3rd) calendar day following mailing, whichever occurs first.

4.22 SALES AND USE TAX EXEMPTION

The County is a body, corporate and politic, under the laws of the State of Texas and claims exemption 
from sales and use taxes under Texas Tax Code, Section 151.309, as amended, and the services and/or 
goods subject hereof are being secured for use by the County.

4.23 COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS

The County and the Successful Bidder shall comply with all federal, state, and local laws, statutes,
ordinances, rules and regulations, and the orders and decrees of any courts or administrative bodies or 
tribunals in any matter affecting the performance of the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s),
including, without limitation, Workers ’ Compensation laws, salary and wage statutes and regulations, 
licensing laws and regulations.  When required, the Successful Bidder shall furnish the County with 
certification of compliance with said laws, statues, ordinances, rules, regulations, orders, and decrees 
above specified.

4.24 INCORPORATION OF EXHIBITS, APPENDICES AND ATTACHMENTS

All of the Exhibits, Appendices and Attachments referred to herein are incorporated by reference as if set 
forth verbatim herein.  Any conflicting terms in the Contract documents will be resolved at the sole 
discretion of the Commissioners Court.

4.25 NO WAIVER OF IMMUNITIES

Nothing herein shall be deemed to waive, modify or amend any legal defense available at law or in equity 
to the County, its past or present officers, employees, or agents, nor to create any legal rights or claim on 
behalf of any third party.  The County does not waive, modify, or alter to any extent whatsoever the 
availability of the defense of governmental immunity under the laws of the State of Texas and of the 
United States.

4.26 NO WAIVER

The failure or delay of any party to enforce at any time or any period of time any of the provisions of this 
IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall not constitute a present or future waiver of such 
provisions nor the right of either party to enforce each and every provision.  Furthermore, no term or 
provision hereof shall be deemed waived and no breach excused unless such waiver or consent shall be 
in writing and signed by the party claimed to have waived or consented.  Any consent by any party to, or 
waiver of, a breach by the other, whether expressed or implied, shall not constitute a consent to, waiver 
of or excuse for any other, different or subsequent breach.

4.27 CURRENT REVENUES

The obligations of the parties under the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) do not constitute a 
general obligation or indebtedness of the County for which the County is obligated to levy, pledge, or 
collect any of taxation.  It is understood and agreed that the County shall have the right to terminate the 
Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) at the end of any the County fiscal year if the governing body of 
the County does not appropriate sufficient funds as determined by the County ’s budget for the fiscal year 
in question.  The County may effect such termination by giving written notice of termination to the 
Successful Bidder at the end of its then-current fiscal year.

4.28 FOB DESTINATION

To the extent applicable to this IFB, all of the items listed are to be Free On Board to final destination 
(FOB Destination) with all transportation charges if applicable to be included in the Bid, unless otherwise 
specified in the Invitation for Bids.  The title and risk of loss of the goods shall not pass to the County until 
receipt and acceptance takes place at the FOB Destination point.

4.29 BINDING EFFECT

This Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties 
and their respective permitted assigns and successors.

4.30 ASSIGNMENT

The Successful Bidder ’s interest and duties hereunder may not be assigned or delegated to a third party 
without the express written consent of the County.

4.31 SAFETY

The Successful Bidder is responsible for initiating, maintaining, and supervising all safety precautions 
and programs in connection with any services to be provided hereunder. The safety program shall 
comply with all applicable requirements of the current federal Occupational Safety and Health Act and all 
other applicable federal, state and local laws and regulations.

4.32 GENERAL OBLIGATIONS AND RELIANCE

The Successful Bidder shall perform all services and/or provide all goods, as well as those reasonably
inferable and necessary for completion and provision of services and/or goods required hereunder. The
Successful Bidder shall keep the County informed of the progress and quality of the services.  The 
Successful Bidder agrees and acknowledges that the County is relying on the Successful Bidder's 
represented expertise and ability to provide the goods and/or services described herein.  The Successful
Bidder agrees to use its best efforts, skill, judgment, and abilities to perform its obligations in accordance
with the highest standards used in the profession and to further the interests of the County 
accordance with the County ’s requirements and procedures.    T h e   Successful Bidder ’s duties,
set forth herein, shall at no time be in any way diminished by reason of any approval by the County, nor
shall the Successful Bidder be released from any liability by reason of such approval by the County, it 
being understood that the County at all times is ultimately relying upon the Successful Bidder ’s skill and 
knowledge in performing the services and providing any goods required hereunder.

4.33 ESTIMATED QUANTITIES

To the extent applicable to this IFB, the estimated quantity of each item listed in this IFB is only
estimate; the actual quantity to be purchased may be more or less. The County is not obligated
purchase any minimum amount, and the County may purchase any reasonable amount greater than the
estimate for the same unit price. Any limit on quantities available must be stated expressly in the Bid.

4.34 CONTRACTUAL DEVELOPMENT

The contents of the IFB and the Successful Bidder ’s Bid will become an integral part of the Contract, but 
may be modified, at the County ’s sole discretion, by provisions of an Ensuing Agreement.  Therefore, the 
Bidder must agree to an inclusion of an Ensuing Agreement of the Bid specifications, terms and 
conditions of this IFB.  If an Ensuing Agreement is required under this IFB, information relative to the 
Agreement will be located in the Special Provisions Section of this IFB.

4.35 SURVIVABILITY 

All applicable agreements that were entered into between the Successful Bidder and the County, under 
the terms and conditions of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s), shall survive the expiration or 
termination thereof for ninety (90) days unless a new contract has been awarded.

The County may exercise, by written notice to the Successful Bidder no later than ten (10) calendar days 
of the Contract expiration, this clause for emergencies only. 

4.36 AIR QUALITY

In determining the overall best Bid, the County may, to the extent applicable, exercise the option granted 
to local governments under the Texas Local Government Code, Section 271.907.

This option allows the County to evaluate Bids and give preference to goods and/or services of a Bidder 
that demonstrates that the Bidder meets or exceeds any and all state or federal environmental 
standards, including voluntary standards, relating to air quality.  If the Bid being submitted will have an 
effect on air quality for the County (as it relates to any state, federal, or voluntary air quality standard), 
then the Bidder is encouraged to provide information in narrative indicating the anticipated air quality 
impact.  All Bidders are expected to meet all mandated state and federal air quality standards.

4.37 ENTIRE AGREEMENT

The Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall supersede all prior Agreements, written or oral 
between the Successful Bidder and the County and shall constitute the entire Agreement and 
understanding between the parties with respect to the services and/or goods to be provided.  Each of the 
provisions herein shall be binding upon the parties and may not be waived, modified, amended or altered, 
except by writing signed by the Successful Bidder and the County.

4.38 PAYMENT

The County ’s payment for goods and services shall be governed by the Texas Government Code, 

Chapter 2251.  An invoice shall be deemed overdue the thirty-first (31st) day after the later of the 
following: 

A. The date the County receives the goods under the Contract; 
B. The date the performance of the service under the Contract is completed; or 
C. The date the Williamson County Auditor receives an invoice for the goods or services.  

Interest charges for any overdue payments shall be paid by the County in accordance with Texas 
Government Code, Section 2251.025.  More specifically, the rate of interest that shall accrue on a late 
payment is the rate in effect on September 1 of the County ’s fiscal year in which the payment becomes 
due.  The said rate in effect on September 1 shall be equal to the sum of one (1) percent, and the prime 

rate published in the Wall Street Journal on the first (1st) day of July of the preceding fiscal year that does 
not fall on a Saturday or Sunday.

In the event that an error appears in an invoice submitted by the Successful Bidder, the County shall 
notify the Successful Bidder of the error not later than the twenty-first (21st) day after the date the County 
receives the invoice.  If the error is resolved in favor of the Successful Bidder, the Successful Bidder 
shall be entitled to receive interest on the unpaid balance of the invoice submitted by the Successful 
Bidder beginning on the date that the payment for the invoice became overdue.  If the error is resolved in 
favor of the County, the Successful Bidder shall submit a corrected invoice that must be paid in 
accordance within the time set forth above.  The unpaid balance accrues interest as provided by the 
Texas Government Code, Chapter 2251, if the corrected invoice is not paid by the appropriate date.

As a minimum, invoices shall include:

A. Name, address, and telephone number of the Successful Bidder and similar information in the 
event the payment is to be made to a different address. 

B. The County Contract, Purchase Order. 

C. Identification of items or service as outlined in the Contract. 

D. Quantity or quantities, applicable unit prices, total prices and total amount. 

E. Any additional payment information which may be called for by the Contract. 

Payment inquiries should be directed to the following address:        

            Williamson County Auditor’s Office, Accounts Payable Department
            Email: accountspayable@wilco.org
            Phone: 512-943-1500

4.39 CONTRACTUAL FORMATION AND ENSUING AGREEMENT

The IFB and the Bidder ’s Bid, when properly accepted by the Commissioners Court, shall constitute a
Contract equally binding between the Successful Bidder and the County.

If an Ensuing Agreement is required by this IFB, that information will be provided in Special 
Provisions section of this IFB.  The Successful Bidder shall be required to execute the Agreement at 
the Williamson County Purchasing Department approximately ten (10) calendar days after the 
Successful Bidder is notified of award.  The Ensuing Agreement shall be in the same form as the 
Agreement which is attached to the end of this IFB.  The only anticipated changes in the Ensuing 
Agreement will be to include additional exhibits, to fill in blanks to identify the Successful Bidder, and 
terms relating to the compensation, or to revise the Agreement to accommodate corrections, changes in 
the scope of services, or changes pursuant to Addenda issued.  Bidders should raise any questions 
regarding the terms of the Agreement in the form of written questions or submittals as 
described in the Public Announcement and General Information portion of this IFB.  Because the 
signed Ensuing Agreement will be substantively and substantially derived from the attached Agreement, 
each Bidder is urged to seek independent legal counsel as to any questions about the terms, conditions 
or provisions contained in the Agreement before submitting a Bid.  Again, the attached Agreement, if 
applicable, contains important legal provisions and is considered part and parcel of this IFB.  Failure or 
refusal to sign aforesaid Agreement shall be grounds for the County to revoke any award which has been 
issued, forfeit Bid security, if applicable, and select another Bidder.

4.40 COOPERATIVE PURCHASING PROGRAM 

During the term of the Contract resulting from this IFB, the County would like to afford the same prices, 
terms and conditions to other political subdivisions or public entities.  Another entity’s participation in the 
Contract resulting from this IFB is subject to a properly authorized Purchasing Cooperative Inter- local 
Agreement with the County.  Any liability created by purchase orders issued against the Contract shall be 
the sole responsibility of the governmental agency placing the order.

4.41 INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS

To the extent applicable Insurance information will appear in the Additional Stipulations section that is in 
this IFB Package. 

4.42 BIDDERS BOND, WARRANTY BOND, PERFORMANCE AND PAYMENT BONDS

To the extent applicable Bond information will appear in the Additional Stipulations section that is in this 
IFB Package. 

4.43 LEGAL LIABILITY INFORMATION

The Successful Bidder shall disclose all legal liability information by listing any pending litigation
anticipated litigation that your firm is involved in including, but not limited to, potential or actual legal
matters with private parties and any local, state, federal or international governmental entities. The
County reserves the right to consider legal liability information in the recommendation of any proposed 
contract to the Commissioners Court.

4.44 INCLEMENT WEATHER

In case of inclement weather or any other unforeseen event causing the County to close for business on 
the date of a Bid submission deadline, the Bid closing will automatically be postponed until the next 
business day the County is open.  If inclement weather conditions or any other unforeseen event causes 
delays in carrier service operations, the County may issue an Addendum to all known Bidders interested 
in the project to extend the deadline.  It will be the responsibility of the Bidder to notify the County of their 
interest in the project if these conditions are impacting their ability to turn in a submission within the 
stated deadline.  The County reserves the right to make the final judgement call to extend any deadline. 

4.45 CONFIDENTIALITY 

The Bidder expressly agrees that it will not use any direct or incidental confidential information that may 
be obtained while working in a governmental setting for its own benefit, and agrees that it will not access 
unauthorized areas or confidential information and it will not disclose any information to unauthorized 
third parties, and will take care to guard the security of the information at all times.

Bid 1704-156Williamson County, Texas

4/6/2017 1:22 PM p. 22



5

6

3 4

Williamson County – Invitation for Bid (IFB)

SECTION 1 - DEFINITIONS 

Addendum/Addenda – means any written or graphic instruments issued by the County prior to the 
consideration of Bids which modify or interpret the Bid Documents by additions, deletions, clarifications, 
or corrections.

Agreement/Ensuing Agreement(s) – means the Successful Bidder may be required by the County to 
sign an additional Agreement containing terms necessary to ensure compliance with the IFB and the 
Bidder ’s Bid.  Such Ensuing Agreement(s) shall contain the Bid specifications, terms and conditions that 
are derived from the IFB.

Bid Documents – means the Legal Notice, IFB including attachments, and any Addenda issued by the 
County prior to the consideration of any Bids.

Bid – means the completed and signed bid form, (sometimes referred to as the Price Sheet), and ALL 
required forms and documentation listed in the IFB package which have been submitted in accordance 
with the terms and conditions described in the IFB package.  A Bid submitted in accordance with this IFB 
is irrevocable during the specified period for evaluation and acceptance of Bids unless a waiver is 
obtained from the Williamson County Purchasing Agent.

Bidder – means a person or entity who submits a Bid in response to this IFB.

Contract – means this IFB and the Bid of the Successful Bidder shall become a Contract between the 
Successful Bidder and the County once the Successful Bidder ’s Bid is properly accepted by the 
Williamson County Commissioners Court.

Commissioner ’s Court – means the Williamson County Commissioners Court. 

County – means Williamson County, a political subdivision of the State of Texas.

Invitation for Bid (IFB) – means this document, together with the attachments thereto and any future 
Addenda issued by the County.

Successful Bidder – means the liable Bidder to whom the County intends to award the Contract.

SECTION 2 - BID FORMAT AND SUBMISSION

2.1 ORGANIZATION OF BID CONTENTS FOR SUBMITTAL 

Each Bid should be organized and items submitted in the order described below: 

A. Transmittal Letter. Please see Section 2.3, Transmittal Letter, for more information. 

B. Price Sheet.

C. Conflict of Interest Questionnaire. Please see Section 2.2, Conflict of Interest, for more 
information in regards to this. Please note that even if you deem there to be no Conflict of Interest, 
this signed questionnaire must be included in your package. 

D. References. Please see Section 3.15, References, for more information. 

E. Bid Affidavit.

F. Form 1295. Please see Section 2.4, Certificate of Interested Parties – Form 1295. 

2.2 CONFLICT OF INTEREST

No public official shall have interest in a Contract, in accordance with Vernon ’s Texas Codes Annotated, 
Local Government Code, Title 5, Subtitle C, Chapter 171, as amended. 

As of January 1, 2006, all Bidders are responsible for complying with Local Government Code, Title 5, 
Subtitle C, Chapter 176.  Additional information may be obtained from the County’s website at the 
following link: 

http://www.wilco.org/CountyDepartments/Purchasing/ConflictofInterestDisclosure/tabid/689/language/en
US/Default.aspx

Each Bidder must disclose any existing or potential conflict of interest relative to the performance of the 
requirements of this IFB.  Examples of potential conflicts of interest may include an existing 
business or personal relationship between the Bidder, its principal, or any affiliate or 
subcontractor with the County or any other entity or person involved in any way with the project 
that is subject to this IFB .  Similarly, any personal or business relationship between the Bidder, the 

principals, or any affiliate or subcontractor with any employee, or official of the County or its suppliers 
must be disclosed.  Any such relationship that might be perceived or represented as a conflict must be 
disclosed. Failure to disclose any such relationship or reveal personal relationships with the County 
employees or officials may be cause for termination. 

The County will decide if an actual or perceived conflict should result in Bid disqualification. 

By submitting a Bid in response to this IFB, all Bidders affirm they have not given, nor intend to give, at 
any time hereafter, any economic opportunity, future employment, gift, loan, gratuity, special discount, 
trip, favor, or service to a the County public servant or any employee, official or representative of same, in 
connection with this procurement. 

Each Bidder must provide a Conflict of Interest Statement with their Bid Package.  Package may 

be deemed incomplete without this form.  

2.3 TRANSMITTAL LETTER

The Bidder should submit a Transmittal Letter that provides the following information: 

A. Name and address of individual or business entity submitting the Bid. 

B. Name, physical address, email address, business and fax number of the Bidder ’s principal 
contact person regarding all contractual matters relating to this IFB.

C. The Bid ’s Federal Employer Identification Number.

D. If the Proposal being submitted will have an effect on air quality for the County (as it relates to any 
state, federal, or voluntary air quality standard), then the Respondent is encouraged to provide
information in narrative indicating the anticipated air quality impact. See Section 4.36, Air Quality 
for more information. 

2.4 CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PARTIES – FORM 1295

As of January 1, 2016, all Successful Bidders are responsible for complying with the Texas Government 
Code, Section 2252.908.  The law states that the County may not enter into certain contracts with a 
Bidder unless the Bidder submits a disclosure of interested parties to the County at the time the Bidder 
submits the signed Contract.  The law applies only to a Contract of the County on or after January 1, 
2016 that either:

A. Requires an action or vote by the Commissioners Court before the Contract may be signed (all 
contracts that fall under the jurisdiction of the Commissioners Court approval, such as contracts 
resulting from an Initiation for Bid (IFB), RFP, Request for Qualifications (RFQ), etc., excluding, 
but not limited to, certain Juvenile Service contracts, contracts funded with Sheriff ’s seized fun 
monies, etc.); or

B. Has a value of at least $1,000,000. 

By January 1, 2016, the Texas Ethics Commission will make available on its website, a new filing 
application that must be used to file Form 1295.  Information regarding how to use the filing application is 
available on the Texas Ethics Commission website at the following link:

https://www.ethics.state.tx.us/whatsnew/elf_info_form1295.htm

A Respondent must:

A. Use the online application to process the required information on Form 1295.

B. Print a copy of the form which will contain a unique certification number.

C. An authorized agent of the Bidder must sign the printed copy of the form.

D. Have the form notarized.

E. File the completed Form 1295 and certification of filing (scanning and emailing form is sufficient) 
with Williamson County Purchasing Agent at the time the signed Contract is submitted for 
approval.

After the Commissioners Court award of the Contract, the County shall notify the Texas Ethics 
Commission, using the Texas Ethics Commission ’s filing application, of the receipt of the filed Form 
1295 and certification of filing not later than the 30th day after the date the Contract binds all parties to the 
Contract. The Texas Ethics Commission will post the completed Form 1295 to its website within seven 
business days after receiving notice from the County.

2.5 ETHICS

The Bidder shall not accept or offer gifts or anything of value nor enter into any business arrangement 
with any employee, official or agent of the County.

2.6 BID SUBMITTAL DEADLINE

The Bid is due no later than the submittal date and time set forth in the Public Announcement and 
General Information listed in this IFB package.  Contents of each Bid shall be submitted in accordance 
with this IFB.

2.7 DELIVERY OF BIDS

The County uses BidSync to distribute and receive Bids and proposals.  It is preferred that Bids
submitted electronically through BidSync; however, Bidders can submit a hard copy.  

Refer to www.bidsync.com for further information on how to submit electronically.

If mailed or delivered in person, Bids and Bid Addenda are to be delivered in sealed envelope on or before
the submittal deadline, as noted in the Public Announcement and General Information listed in this IFB 
package, to:

            Williamson County Purchasing Department
            Attn: Bid Name and Number
            901 South Austin Avenue
            Georgetown, Texas 78626

Also, all Bidders should list their Name and Address, and the Date of the Bid opening on the outside
the box or envelope and note “Sealed Bid Enclosed.” The County will not accept any Bids received after 
the submittal deadline, and shall return such Bids unopened to the Bidder.  The County will not accept 
any responsibility for Bids being delivered by third party carriers.  

Bids will be opened publically and the names of Bidders and pricing will be read aloud.

SECTION 3 - INSTRUCTIONS AND GENERAL REQUIREMENTS

3.1 INSTRUCTIONS

Read this document carefully, and follow all instructions and requirements.  All Bidders are responsible 
for fulfilling all requirements and specifications.  Be sure to have a clear understanding of this IFB.

General requirements apply to all advertised IFBs; however, these may be superseded, in whole or in 
part, by the bid specifications, Addenda and modifications issued as a part of this IFB.  Be sure your Bid 
package is complete.

3.2 AMBIGUITY, CONFLICT, OR OTHER ERRORS IN THIS IFB

If a Bidder discovers any ambiguity, conflict, discrepancy, omission or other error in this IFB, the Bidder 
shall immediately notify the County Purchasing Department of such error in writing and request
modification or clarification of the document.

Modifications will be made by issuing Addenda. If the Bidder fails to notify the County prior to the date
and time fixed for submission of Bids of an error or ambiguity in the IFB known to the Bidder, or an error
or ambiguity that reasonably should have been known to the Bidder, then the Bidder shall be deemed to 
have waived the error or ambiguity or its later resolution.

The County may also modify the IFB, no later than forty-eight (48) hours prior to the date and time fixed
for submission of Bids, by issuance of an Addendum.  All Addenda will be numbered consecutively, 
beginning with one (1).

3.3 NOTIFICATION OF MOST CURRENT ADDRESS

All Bidders in receipt of this IFB shall notify the Williamson County Purchasing Department of any
address changes, contact person changes, and/or telephone number changes no later than forty-eight 
(48) hours prior to the date and time fixed for submission of Bids.

3.4 SIGNATURE OF BIDDER

A. If the Bidder is a Corporation or Limited Liability Company, the legal name of the Corporation
Limited Liability Company shall be provided together with the signature of the officer or officers 
authorized to sign on behalf of such entity.

B. If the Bidder is a General Partnership, the true name of the firm shall be provided with the
signature of each partner authorized to sign.

C. If the Bidder is a Limited Partnership, the name of the Limited Partner ’s General Partner shall
provided with the signature of the officer authorized to sign on behalf of the General Partner.

D. If the Bidder is a Sole Proprietor(s) (individual), each Sole Proprietor(s) shall sign.

E. If signature is by an agent, other than the Sole Proprietor(s) or an officer of a Corporation, Limited 
Liability Company, General Partner or a member of a General Partnership, a power of attorney
equivalent document must be submitted to the Williamson County Purchasing Department.

3.5 ASSUMED BUSINESS NAME

If the Bidder operates business under an Assumed Business Name, the Bidder must have on file with the
Williamson County Clerk a current Assumed Name Certificate and provide a file marked copy of same.

3.6 BID OBLIGATION 

The contents of the IFB, Bid, and any clarification thereof submitted by the Successful Bidder shall
become part of the contractual obligation and incorporated by reference into the Contract and any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

3.7 COMPLIANCE WITH IFB SPECIFICATIONS

It is intended that this IFB describe the requirements and the Bid format in sufficient detail to secure 
comparable Bids.  Failure to comply with all provisions of the IFB may, at the sole discretion of the 
County, result in disqualification.

3.8 WITHDRAWAL OF BID

The Bidder may withdraw its Bid by submitting a written request with the company letterhead and the 
signature of an authorized individual, as described in Section 3.4, Signature of Bidder, to the Williamson 
County Purchasing Department any time prior to the submission deadline.  

The Bidder may submit a new Bid prior to the deadline. Alterations of the Bid in any manner will not be 
considered if submitted after the deadline.  Withdrawal of a Bid after the deadline will be subject to written 
approval of the Williamson County Purchasing Agent.

3.9 EVALUATION AND AWARD

The County reserves the right to use all pertinent information (also learned from sources other than 
disclosed in the Bid process) that might affect the County ’s judgment as to the appropriateness of
award to the lowest and best evaluated Bid. This information may be appended to the Bid evaluation
process results. Information on a Bidder from reliable sources, and not within the Bidder ’s Bid, may also 
be noted and made part of the evaluation fi le.  The County shall have sole discretion for determining 
the reliability of the source.

To ensure the proper and fair evaluation of a solicitation, the County prohibits unsolicited communication 
initiated by the Bidder to the County Official or Employee evaluating or considering the Bids prior to the 
time an award has been made. Unsolicited communication may be ground for disqualifying the 
offending Bidder from consideration or award of the solicitation, or any future solicitation.

Communication between the Bidder and the County will be initiated by the appropriate County Official
Employee in order to obtain information or clarification needed to develop a proper and accurate 
evaluation of the solicitation.

The County intends to award a Contract to the most responsible and responsive Bidder whose Bid will 
be most advantageous to the County. In accordance with Texas Government Code and Local
Government Code, the County may consider, to the extent allowed by law, the following:

A. Price;
B. The Bidder ’s experience and reputation;
C. Quality of the Bidder ’s goods and/or services; 
D. The Bidder ’s safety record;
E. The Bidder ’s proposed personnel; 
F. The Bidder ’s financial capabilities; and 
G. Any other relevant factors specifically listed in this IFB or authorized by law.

3.10 CONDISERATION OF LOCATION OF PRINCIPAL OFFICE 

Pursuant to Texas Local Government Code, Section 271.905 , in purchasing any real property or personal
property that is not affixed to real property, if the County receives one or more Bids from a Bidder whose
principal place of business is in Williamson County and whose Bid is within three (3 )  percent of the
lowest Bid price received by the County from a Bidder who is not a resident of Williamson County, the 
County may enter into a contract with:

A. The lowest Bidder; or the Bidder whose principal place of business is in Williamson County if the
Commissioners Court determines, in writing, that the local Bidder offers the County the best 
combination of contract price and addit ional economic development opportunities
Williamson County created by the contract award, including the employment of residents
Williamson County and increased tax revenues to Williamson County.

It is understood that the Commissioners Court of Williamson County, Texas, reserves the right to accept
or reject any and/or all Bids for any or all goods and/or services covered in this IFB, and to waive
informalities or defects in the Bid or to accept such Bid, if it shall deem to be in the best interest of the 
County.

Awards should be made approximately sixty (60) business days after the Bid opening date. Results may
be obtained by viewing the Williamson County vendor portal at the following link:

http://www.wilco.org/CountyDepartments/Purchasing/SearchforaPastBid/tabid/5213/language/en-
US/Default.aspx

3.11 RESPONSIBILITY 

It is expected that a prospective Bidder will be able to affirmatively demonstrate responsibility.  A 
prospective Bidder should be able to meet the following requirements:

A. Have adequate financial resources, or the ability to obtain such resources as required;
B. Be able to comply with the required or proposed delivery schedule;
C. Have a satisfactory record of performance that can be determined thru references provided; and 
D. Be otherwise qualified and eligible to receive an award.

The County may request representation and other information sufficient to determine the Bidder's ability 
to meet these minimum standards listed above.

3.12 FIRM PRICING 

For unit price items, all of the items listed are to be on a “per unit” basis, stating a firm price per unit or 
unit quantity of each item.  The Bidder must submit a firm price that must be good from the date of Bid 
opening for the fixed period of time set out in this IFB.  Unless the IFB expressly states otherwise, this 
period shall be until the end of the Initial Contract Period.

Bids which do not state a fixed price, or which are subject to change without notice, will not be 
considered.  The Court may award a Contract for the period implied or expressly stated in the lowest and 
best Bid.

3.13 PURCHASE ORDERS

If required by the Williamson County Purchasing Department, a purchase order(s) may be generated to 
the Successful Bidder for goods and/or services.  If a purchase order is issued, the purchase order 
number must appear on all itemized invoices and/or requests for payment.

3.14 SILENCE OF SPECIFICATIONS

The apparent silence of these specifications as to any detail or to the apparent omission from it of a 
detailed description concerning any point, shall be regarded as meaning that only the best practices are 
to prevail.  All interpretations of these specifications shall be made on the basis of this statement.

3.15 REFERENCES

The County may require the Bidder to supply a list of at least three (3) references where like services
and/or goods have been supplied by their firm within the past five (5) years, to include names, titles, 
phone numbers and email addresses of key personnel, and dates of performance.

The County may contact some or all of the references in order to determine the Respondent
performance record on work similar to that described in this RFP.  The County reserves the right to 
contact references other than those provided in the response and to use the information gained from 
them in the evaluation process.

References, if requested, should be provided in accordance with this IFB.  Bid may not be deemed 
complete without the inclusion of requested references.

SECTION 4 - TERMS AND CONDITIONS

4.1 VENUE AND GOVERNING LAW

The Bidder hereby agrees and acknowledges that venue and jurisdiction of any suit, right, or cause of 
action arising out of or in connection with this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s), shall lie 
exclusively in either Williamson County, Texas or in the Austin Division of the Western Federal District of 
Texas, and the parties hereto expressly consent and submit to such jurisdiction.  Furthermore, except to 
the extent that this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) is governed by the laws of the United 
States, this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be governed by and construed in 
accordance with the laws of the State of Texas, excluding, however, its choice of law rules.

4.2 INCORPORATION BY REFERENCE AND PRECEDENCE

A. The Contract shall be derived from the IFB and its Addenda (if applicable), and the Bidder ’ s Bid.  In 
the event of a dispute under the Contract, applicable documents will be referred to for the purpose 
of clarification or for additional detail in the following order of precedence:

1. The IFB and its Addenda (if applicable); and

2. The Bidder ’s Bid.

B. In the event the County requires that an Ensuing Agreement be executed following award and a 
dispute arises between the terms and conditions of the Ensuing Agreement, the IFB and its 
Addenda (if applicable), and the Bidder ’s Bid, applicable documents will be referred to for the 
purpose of clarification or for additional detail in the following order of precedence: 

1. Terms and conditions of the Ensuing Agreement;

2. The IFB its Addenda; and 

3. The Bidder ’s Bid.

4.3 OWNERSHIP OF BID

Each Bid shall become the property of the County upon submittal and will not be returned to Bidders 
unless received after the submittal deadline.

4.4 DISQUALIFICATION OF BIDDER

Upon signing and submittal of the Bid, a Bidder offering to sell supplies, materials, services, or equipment 
to the County, certifies that the Bidder has not violated the antitrust laws of the State of Texas codified in 
Business & Commerce Code, Section 15.01, or the Federal Antitrust Laws, and has not communicated 
directly or indirectly the offer made to any competitor or any other person engaged in such line of 
business.  Any or all Bids may be rejected if the County believes that collusion exists among the Bidders.

4.5 FUNDING

The County intends to budget and make sufficient funds available and authorize funds for expenditure to 
finance the costs of the Contract.  All Bidders understand and agree that the County’s payment of 
amounts under the Contract shall be contingent on the County receiving appropriations or other 
expenditure authority sufficient to allow the County, in the exercise of reasonable administrative 
discretion, to make payments under this Contract.

4.6 ASSIGNMENT, SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS 

The Successful Bidder may not assign, sell, or otherwise transfer the Contract or any other rights or 
interests obtained under the Contract without written permission of the Commissioners Court.  The 
Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the contracting 
parties hereto and their respective successors and permitted assigns.

4.7 IMPLIED REQUIREMENTS

Products or services not specifically described or required in the IFB, but are necessary to provide the 
functional capabilities described by the Bidder, shall be implied and deemed to be included in the Bid.

4.8 TERMINATION

A. Termination for Cause: The County reserves the right to terminate the Contract and/or any 
Ensuing Agreement(s) for default if the Successful Bidder breaches any of the Bid specifications,
terms and conditions, including warranties of the Bidder, if any, or if the Successful Bidder 
becomes insolvent or commits acts of bankruptcy.  Such right of termination is in addition to and
not in lieu of any other remedies the County may have at law or in equity or as may otherwise
provided hereunder.  Default may be construed as, but not limited to, failure to deliver the proper 
goods and/or services within the proper amount of time, and/or to properly perform any and all 
other requirements to the County ’s satisfaction, and/or to meet all other obligations and
requirements.

B. Termination for Convenience: The County may terminate the Contract and/or any Ensuing 
Agreement(s) for convenience and without cause or further liability, upon no less than thirty (30) 
calendar days written notice to the Successful Bidder. The County reserves the right to extend 
this period if it is in the best interest of the County.  In the event the County exercises its right to 
terminate without cause, it is understood and agreed that only the amounts due to the Successful 
Bidder for goods, commodities and/or services provided and expenses incurred to and including 
the date of termination, will be due and payable.  No penalty will be assessed for the County
termination for convenience.

4.9 NON-PERFORMANCE

It is the objective of the County to obtain complete and satisfactory performance of the requirements set 
forth herein.  In addition to any other remedies available at law, in equity or that may be set out herein, 
failure to perform may result in a deduction of payment equal to the amount of the goods and/or services 
that were not provided and/or performed to the County ’s satisfaction.  

In the event of such non-performance, the County shall have the right, but shall not be obligated, to 
complete the services itself or by others and/or purchase the goods from other sources.  If the County 
elects to acquire the goods or perform the services itself or by others, pursuant to the foregoing, the 
Successful Bidder shall reimburse the County, within ten (10) calendar days of demand, for all costs 
incurred by the County (including, without limitation, applicable, general, and administrative expenses, 
and field overhead, and the cost of necessary equipment, materials, and field labor) in correcting the 
nonperformance which the Successful Bidder fails to meet pursuant to the requirements set out herein.  
In the event the Successful Bidder refuses to reimburse the County as set out in this provision, the 
County shall have the right to deduct such reimbursement amounts from any amounts that may be then 
owing or that may become owing in the future to the Successful Bidder.

4.10 PROPRIETARY INFORMATION AND THE TEXAS PUBLIC INFORMATION ACT

All material submitted to the County shall become public property and subject to the Texas Public 
Information Act upon receipt. If a Bidder does not desire proprietary information in the Bid to be 
disclosed, each page must be clearly identified and marked proprietary at time of submittal or, more 
preferably, all proprietary information may be placed in a folder or appendix and be clearly identified and 
marked as being proprietary.  Failure to clearly identify and mark information as being proprietary as set 
forth under this provision will result in all unmarked information being deemed non-proprietary and 
available to the public.  For all information that has not been clearly identified and marked as proprietary 
by the Bidder, the County may choose to place such information on the County ’s website and/or a similar 
public database without obtaining any type of prior consent from the Bidder.

The County will, to the extent allowed by law, endeavor to protect from public disclosure the information 
that has been identified and marked as proprietary.  The final decision as to what information must be 
disclosed, however, lies with the Texas Attorney General.  

To the extent, if any, that any provision in this IFB or in the Bidder ’s Bid is in conflict with Texas 
Government Code, Chapter 552, as amended (the “Public Information Act”), the same shall be of no 
force or effect.  Furthermore, it is expressly understood, and agreed, that the County, and its officers and 
employees, may request advice, decisions and opinions of the Attorney General of the State of Texas in 
regard to the application of the Public Information Act to any items or data furnished to the County as to 
whether or not the same are available to the public.  It is further understood that the County, and its 
officers and employees, shall have the right to rely on the advice, decisions and opinions of the Attorney 
General, and that the County, its officers and employees shall have no liability or obligation to any party 
hereto for the disclosure to the public, or to any person or persons, of any items or data furnished to the 
County by a party hereto, in reliance of any advice, decision or opinion of the Attorney General of the 
State of Texas.

4.11 RIGHT TO AUDIT

The Successful Bidder agrees that the County or its duly authorized representatives shall, until the 
expiration of three (3) years after termination or expiration of the services to be performed, have access 
to and the right to examine and photocopy any and all books, documents, papers and records of the 
Successful Bidder, which are directly pertinent to the services to be performed or goods to be delivered 
for the purposes of making audits, examinations, excerpts and transcriptions.  The Successful Bidder 
agrees that the County shall have access during normal working hours to all necessary facilities and 
shall be provided adequate and appropriate work space in order to conduct audits in compliance with the 
provisions of this section.  The County shall give the Successful Bidder reasonable advance notice of 
intended audits.

4.12 TESTING AND INSPECTIONS

The County reserves the right to inspect and test equipment, supplies, materials and goods for quality 
and compliance with this IFB, and ability to meet the needs of the user.  Demonstration units must be 
available for review.  Should the goods or services fail to meet requirements and/or be unavailable for 
evaluation, the County can deem the Bidder to be in breach and terminate the Contract and/or any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

4.13 BID PREPARATION COSTS

The cost of developing Bids is the sole responsibility of the Bidders and shall not be charged to the 
County.  There is no expressed or implied obligation for the County to reimburse the Bidders for any 
expense incurred in preparing a Bid in response to this IFB and the County will not reimburse the Bidders 
for such expenses.

4.14 INDEMNIFICATION

The Successful Bidder shall indemnify, defend and save harmless, the County, its officials, employees, 
agents and agent ’s employees from, and against, all claims, liability, and expenses including reasonable 
attorneys ’   fees, arising from activities of the Bidder, its agents, servants or employees, performed 
hereunder that result from the negligent act, error, or omission of the Bidder or any of the Bidder
agents, servants or employees, as well as all claims of loss or damage to the Bidder ’s and the County
property, equipment, and/or supplies. 

Furthermore, the County, its officials, employees, agents and agents ’ employees shall not be liable for 
damages to the Successful Bidder arising from any act of any third party, including, but not limited to, 
theft.  The Successful Bidder further agrees to indemnify, defend and save harmless, the County from its 
officials, employee, agents and agents ’ employees against all claims of whatever nature arising from any 
accident, injury, or damage whatsoever, caused to any person, or the property of any person, occurring 
in relation to the Successful Bidder ’s performance of any services requested hereunder during the term 
of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s). 

The Successful Bidder shall timely report all claims, demands, suits, actions, proceedings, liens or 
judgements to the County and shall, upon the receipt of any claim, demand, suit, action, proceeding, lien 

or judgement, not later than the fifteenth (15 th) day of each month; provide the County with a written 
report on each such matter, setting forth the status of each matter, the schedule or planned proceedings 
with respect to each matter and the cooperation or assistance, if any, of the County required by the 
Successful Bidder in the defense of each matter.  The Successful Bidder’s duty to defend, indemnify and 
hold the County harmless shall be absolute.  It shall not abate or end by reason of the expiration or 
termination of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s), unless otherwise agreed by the County in 
writing.  The provisions of this section shall survive the termination of the Contract and shall remain in full 
force and effect with respect to all such matters no matter when they arise. 

In the event of any dispute between the parties, as to whether a claim, demand, suit, action, proceeding, 
lien or judgement, that appears to have been caused by or appears to have arisen out of or in connection 
with acts or omissions of the County, the Bidder shall nevertheless fully defend such claim, demand, suit 
or action, proceeding, lien or judgement, until and unless there is a determination by a court of competent 
jurisdiction that the acts and omissions of the Bidder are not an issue in the matter. 

The Successful Bidder ’s indemnification shall cover, and the Successful Bidder agrees to, indemnify the 
County, in the event the County is found to have been negligent for having selected the Successful 
Bidder to perform the work described in this request.  The provision by the Successful Bidder of 
insurance shall not limit the liability of the Successful Bidder under the Contract and/or any Ensuing 
Agreement(s). 

4.15 WAIVER OF SUBROGATION

The Successful Bidder and the Successful Bidder ’s insurance carrier waive any and all rights 
whatsoever with regard to subrogation against the County as an indirect party to any suit arising out of 
personal or property damages resulting from the Bidder ’s performance under this Contract and any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

4.16 RELATIONSHIP OF THE PARTIES

The Successful Bidder shall be an independent contractor and shall assume all of the rights, obligations, 
liabilities, applicable to it as such independent contractor hereunder and any provisions herein which may 
appear to give the County the right to direct the Successful Bidder as to details of doing work herein 
covered, or to exercise a measure of control over the work, shall be deemed to mean that the Successful 
Bidder shall follow the desires of the County in the results of the work only.  The County shall not retain or 
have the right to control the Successful Bidder ’s means, methods or details pertaining to the Successful 
Bidder ’s performance of the work.  The County and the Successful Bidder hereby agree and declare that 
the Successful Bidder is an independent contractor and as such meets the qualifications of an 
“Independent Contractor” under Texas Workers Compensation Act, Texas Labor Code, Section 406.141, 
that the Successful Bidder is not an employee of  the County, and that the Successful Bidder and its 
employees, agents and subcontractors shall not be entitled to workers compensation coverage or any 
other type of insurance coverage held by the County.

4.17 SOLE PROVIDER

The Successful Bidder agrees and acknowledges that it shall not be considered a sole provider of the 
goods and/or services described herein and that the County may contract with other providers of such 
goods and/or services if the County deems, at its sole discretion, that multiple providers of the same 
goods and/or services will serve the best interest of the County.

4.18 FORCE MAJEURE

If the party obligated to perform is prevented from performance by an act of war, order of legal authority, 
act of God, or other unavoidable cause not attributable to the fault or negligence of said party, the other 
party shall grant such party relief from the performance.  The burden of proof for the need of such relief 
shall rest upon the party obligated to perform.  To obtain release based on force majeure, the party 
obligated to perform shall file a written request with the other party.

4.19 SEVERABILITY

If any provision of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be held invalid or 
unenforceable by any court of competent jurisdiction, such holding shall not invalidate or render 
unenforceable any other provision thereof, but rather the entire IFB, Contract or any Ensuing Agreement
(s) will be construed as if not containing the particular invalid or unenforceable provision or provisions, 
and the rights and obligation of the parties shall be construed and enforced in accordance therewith.  The 
parties acknowledge that if any provision of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) is 
determined to be invalid or unenforceable, it is the desire and intention of each that such provision be 
reformed and construed in such a manner that it will, to the maximum extent practicable, give effect to
the intent of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) and be deemed to be validated and
enforceable.

4.20 EQUAL OPPORTUNITY

Neither party shall discriminate against any employee or applicant for employment because of race, 
color, sex, religion or national origin.

4.21 NOTICE

Any notice to be given shall be in writing and may be distributed by personal delivery, or by registered or 
certified mail, return receipt requested, addressed to the proper party, at the following address:

The County:    Williamson County Purchasing Department 
            Attn: Purchasing Agent 
            901 South Austin Avenue 
            Georgetown, Texas 78626

The Bidder:     Address set out in Bidder’s Transmittal Letter.

Notices given in accordance with this provision shall be effective upon (1) receipt by the party to which 
notice is given, or (2) on the third (3rd) calendar day following mailing, whichever occurs first.

4.22 SALES AND USE TAX EXEMPTION

The County is a body, corporate and politic, under the laws of the State of Texas and claims exemption 
from sales and use taxes under Texas Tax Code, Section 151.309, as amended, and the services and/or 
goods subject hereof are being secured for use by the County.

4.23 COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS

The County and the Successful Bidder shall comply with all federal, state, and local laws, statutes,
ordinances, rules and regulations, and the orders and decrees of any courts or administrative bodies or 
tribunals in any matter affecting the performance of the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s),
including, without limitation, Workers ’ Compensation laws, salary and wage statutes and regulations, 
licensing laws and regulations.  When required, the Successful Bidder shall furnish the County with 
certification of compliance with said laws, statues, ordinances, rules, regulations, orders, and decrees 
above specified.

4.24 INCORPORATION OF EXHIBITS, APPENDICES AND ATTACHMENTS

All of the Exhibits, Appendices and Attachments referred to herein are incorporated by reference as if set 
forth verbatim herein.  Any conflicting terms in the Contract documents will be resolved at the sole 
discretion of the Commissioners Court.

4.25 NO WAIVER OF IMMUNITIES

Nothing herein shall be deemed to waive, modify or amend any legal defense available at law or in equity 
to the County, its past or present officers, employees, or agents, nor to create any legal rights or claim on 
behalf of any third party.  The County does not waive, modify, or alter to any extent whatsoever the 
availability of the defense of governmental immunity under the laws of the State of Texas and of the 
United States.

4.26 NO WAIVER

The failure or delay of any party to enforce at any time or any period of time any of the provisions of this 
IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall not constitute a present or future waiver of such 
provisions nor the right of either party to enforce each and every provision.  Furthermore, no term or 
provision hereof shall be deemed waived and no breach excused unless such waiver or consent shall be 
in writing and signed by the party claimed to have waived or consented.  Any consent by any party to, or 
waiver of, a breach by the other, whether expressed or implied, shall not constitute a consent to, waiver 
of or excuse for any other, different or subsequent breach.

4.27 CURRENT REVENUES

The obligations of the parties under the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) do not constitute a 
general obligation or indebtedness of the County for which the County is obligated to levy, pledge, or 
collect any of taxation.  It is understood and agreed that the County shall have the right to terminate the 
Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) at the end of any the County fiscal year if the governing body of 
the County does not appropriate sufficient funds as determined by the County ’s budget for the fiscal year 
in question.  The County may effect such termination by giving written notice of termination to the 
Successful Bidder at the end of its then-current fiscal year.

4.28 FOB DESTINATION

To the extent applicable to this IFB, all of the items listed are to be Free On Board to final destination 
(FOB Destination) with all transportation charges if applicable to be included in the Bid, unless otherwise 
specified in the Invitation for Bids.  The title and risk of loss of the goods shall not pass to the County until 
receipt and acceptance takes place at the FOB Destination point.

4.29 BINDING EFFECT

This Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties 
and their respective permitted assigns and successors.

4.30 ASSIGNMENT

The Successful Bidder ’s interest and duties hereunder may not be assigned or delegated to a third party 
without the express written consent of the County.

4.31 SAFETY

The Successful Bidder is responsible for initiating, maintaining, and supervising all safety precautions 
and programs in connection with any services to be provided hereunder. The safety program shall 
comply with all applicable requirements of the current federal Occupational Safety and Health Act and all 
other applicable federal, state and local laws and regulations.

4.32 GENERAL OBLIGATIONS AND RELIANCE

The Successful Bidder shall perform all services and/or provide all goods, as well as those reasonably
inferable and necessary for completion and provision of services and/or goods required hereunder. The
Successful Bidder shall keep the County informed of the progress and quality of the services.  The 
Successful Bidder agrees and acknowledges that the County is relying on the Successful Bidder's 
represented expertise and ability to provide the goods and/or services described herein.  The Successful
Bidder agrees to use its best efforts, skill, judgment, and abilities to perform its obligations in accordance
with the highest standards used in the profession and to further the interests of the County 
accordance with the County ’s requirements and procedures.    T h e   Successful Bidder ’s duties,
set forth herein, shall at no time be in any way diminished by reason of any approval by the County, nor
shall the Successful Bidder be released from any liability by reason of such approval by the County, it 
being understood that the County at all times is ultimately relying upon the Successful Bidder ’s skill and 
knowledge in performing the services and providing any goods required hereunder.

4.33 ESTIMATED QUANTITIES

To the extent applicable to this IFB, the estimated quantity of each item listed in this IFB is only
estimate; the actual quantity to be purchased may be more or less. The County is not obligated
purchase any minimum amount, and the County may purchase any reasonable amount greater than the
estimate for the same unit price. Any limit on quantities available must be stated expressly in the Bid.

4.34 CONTRACTUAL DEVELOPMENT

The contents of the IFB and the Successful Bidder ’s Bid will become an integral part of the Contract, but 
may be modified, at the County ’s sole discretion, by provisions of an Ensuing Agreement.  Therefore, the 
Bidder must agree to an inclusion of an Ensuing Agreement of the Bid specifications, terms and 
conditions of this IFB.  If an Ensuing Agreement is required under this IFB, information relative to the 
Agreement will be located in the Special Provisions Section of this IFB.

4.35 SURVIVABILITY 

All applicable agreements that were entered into between the Successful Bidder and the County, under 
the terms and conditions of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s), shall survive the expiration or 
termination thereof for ninety (90) days unless a new contract has been awarded.

The County may exercise, by written notice to the Successful Bidder no later than ten (10) calendar days 
of the Contract expiration, this clause for emergencies only. 

4.36 AIR QUALITY

In determining the overall best Bid, the County may, to the extent applicable, exercise the option granted 
to local governments under the Texas Local Government Code, Section 271.907.

This option allows the County to evaluate Bids and give preference to goods and/or services of a Bidder 
that demonstrates that the Bidder meets or exceeds any and all state or federal environmental 
standards, including voluntary standards, relating to air quality.  If the Bid being submitted will have an 
effect on air quality for the County (as it relates to any state, federal, or voluntary air quality standard), 
then the Bidder is encouraged to provide information in narrative indicating the anticipated air quality 
impact.  All Bidders are expected to meet all mandated state and federal air quality standards.

4.37 ENTIRE AGREEMENT

The Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall supersede all prior Agreements, written or oral 
between the Successful Bidder and the County and shall constitute the entire Agreement and 
understanding between the parties with respect to the services and/or goods to be provided.  Each of the 
provisions herein shall be binding upon the parties and may not be waived, modified, amended or altered, 
except by writing signed by the Successful Bidder and the County.

4.38 PAYMENT

The County ’s payment for goods and services shall be governed by the Texas Government Code, 

Chapter 2251.  An invoice shall be deemed overdue the thirty-first (31st) day after the later of the 
following: 

A. The date the County receives the goods under the Contract; 
B. The date the performance of the service under the Contract is completed; or 
C. The date the Williamson County Auditor receives an invoice for the goods or services.  

Interest charges for any overdue payments shall be paid by the County in accordance with Texas 
Government Code, Section 2251.025.  More specifically, the rate of interest that shall accrue on a late 
payment is the rate in effect on September 1 of the County ’s fiscal year in which the payment becomes 
due.  The said rate in effect on September 1 shall be equal to the sum of one (1) percent, and the prime 

rate published in the Wall Street Journal on the first (1st) day of July of the preceding fiscal year that does 
not fall on a Saturday or Sunday.

In the event that an error appears in an invoice submitted by the Successful Bidder, the County shall 
notify the Successful Bidder of the error not later than the twenty-first (21st) day after the date the County 
receives the invoice.  If the error is resolved in favor of the Successful Bidder, the Successful Bidder 
shall be entitled to receive interest on the unpaid balance of the invoice submitted by the Successful 
Bidder beginning on the date that the payment for the invoice became overdue.  If the error is resolved in 
favor of the County, the Successful Bidder shall submit a corrected invoice that must be paid in 
accordance within the time set forth above.  The unpaid balance accrues interest as provided by the 
Texas Government Code, Chapter 2251, if the corrected invoice is not paid by the appropriate date.

As a minimum, invoices shall include:

A. Name, address, and telephone number of the Successful Bidder and similar information in the 
event the payment is to be made to a different address. 

B. The County Contract, Purchase Order. 

C. Identification of items or service as outlined in the Contract. 

D. Quantity or quantities, applicable unit prices, total prices and total amount. 

E. Any additional payment information which may be called for by the Contract. 

Payment inquiries should be directed to the following address:        

            Williamson County Auditor’s Office, Accounts Payable Department
            Email: accountspayable@wilco.org
            Phone: 512-943-1500

4.39 CONTRACTUAL FORMATION AND ENSUING AGREEMENT

The IFB and the Bidder ’s Bid, when properly accepted by the Commissioners Court, shall constitute a
Contract equally binding between the Successful Bidder and the County.

If an Ensuing Agreement is required by this IFB, that information will be provided in Special 
Provisions section of this IFB.  The Successful Bidder shall be required to execute the Agreement at 
the Williamson County Purchasing Department approximately ten (10) calendar days after the 
Successful Bidder is notified of award.  The Ensuing Agreement shall be in the same form as the 
Agreement which is attached to the end of this IFB.  The only anticipated changes in the Ensuing 
Agreement will be to include additional exhibits, to fill in blanks to identify the Successful Bidder, and 
terms relating to the compensation, or to revise the Agreement to accommodate corrections, changes in 
the scope of services, or changes pursuant to Addenda issued.  Bidders should raise any questions 
regarding the terms of the Agreement in the form of written questions or submittals as 
described in the Public Announcement and General Information portion of this IFB.  Because the 
signed Ensuing Agreement will be substantively and substantially derived from the attached Agreement, 
each Bidder is urged to seek independent legal counsel as to any questions about the terms, conditions 
or provisions contained in the Agreement before submitting a Bid.  Again, the attached Agreement, if 
applicable, contains important legal provisions and is considered part and parcel of this IFB.  Failure or 
refusal to sign aforesaid Agreement shall be grounds for the County to revoke any award which has been 
issued, forfeit Bid security, if applicable, and select another Bidder.

4.40 COOPERATIVE PURCHASING PROGRAM 

During the term of the Contract resulting from this IFB, the County would like to afford the same prices, 
terms and conditions to other political subdivisions or public entities.  Another entity’s participation in the 
Contract resulting from this IFB is subject to a properly authorized Purchasing Cooperative Inter- local 
Agreement with the County.  Any liability created by purchase orders issued against the Contract shall be 
the sole responsibility of the governmental agency placing the order.

4.41 INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS

To the extent applicable Insurance information will appear in the Additional Stipulations section that is in 
this IFB Package. 

4.42 BIDDERS BOND, WARRANTY BOND, PERFORMANCE AND PAYMENT BONDS

To the extent applicable Bond information will appear in the Additional Stipulations section that is in this 
IFB Package. 

4.43 LEGAL LIABILITY INFORMATION

The Successful Bidder shall disclose all legal liability information by listing any pending litigation
anticipated litigation that your firm is involved in including, but not limited to, potential or actual legal
matters with private parties and any local, state, federal or international governmental entities. The
County reserves the right to consider legal liability information in the recommendation of any proposed 
contract to the Commissioners Court.

4.44 INCLEMENT WEATHER

In case of inclement weather or any other unforeseen event causing the County to close for business on 
the date of a Bid submission deadline, the Bid closing will automatically be postponed until the next 
business day the County is open.  If inclement weather conditions or any other unforeseen event causes 
delays in carrier service operations, the County may issue an Addendum to all known Bidders interested 
in the project to extend the deadline.  It will be the responsibility of the Bidder to notify the County of their 
interest in the project if these conditions are impacting their ability to turn in a submission within the 
stated deadline.  The County reserves the right to make the final judgement call to extend any deadline. 

4.45 CONFIDENTIALITY 

The Bidder expressly agrees that it will not use any direct or incidental confidential information that may 
be obtained while working in a governmental setting for its own benefit, and agrees that it will not access 
unauthorized areas or confidential information and it will not disclose any information to unauthorized 
third parties, and will take care to guard the security of the information at all times.

Bid 1704-156Williamson County, Texas

4/6/2017 1:22 PM p. 23



5

6

3 4

Williamson County – Invitation for Bid (IFB)

SECTION 1 - DEFINITIONS 

Addendum/Addenda – means any written or graphic instruments issued by the County prior to the 
consideration of Bids which modify or interpret the Bid Documents by additions, deletions, clarifications, 
or corrections.

Agreement/Ensuing Agreement(s) – means the Successful Bidder may be required by the County to 
sign an additional Agreement containing terms necessary to ensure compliance with the IFB and the 
Bidder ’s Bid.  Such Ensuing Agreement(s) shall contain the Bid specifications, terms and conditions that 
are derived from the IFB.

Bid Documents – means the Legal Notice, IFB including attachments, and any Addenda issued by the 
County prior to the consideration of any Bids.

Bid – means the completed and signed bid form, (sometimes referred to as the Price Sheet), and ALL 
required forms and documentation listed in the IFB package which have been submitted in accordance 
with the terms and conditions described in the IFB package.  A Bid submitted in accordance with this IFB 
is irrevocable during the specified period for evaluation and acceptance of Bids unless a waiver is 
obtained from the Williamson County Purchasing Agent.

Bidder – means a person or entity who submits a Bid in response to this IFB.

Contract – means this IFB and the Bid of the Successful Bidder shall become a Contract between the 
Successful Bidder and the County once the Successful Bidder ’s Bid is properly accepted by the 
Williamson County Commissioners Court.

Commissioner ’s Court – means the Williamson County Commissioners Court. 

County – means Williamson County, a political subdivision of the State of Texas.

Invitation for Bid (IFB) – means this document, together with the attachments thereto and any future 
Addenda issued by the County.

Successful Bidder – means the liable Bidder to whom the County intends to award the Contract.

SECTION 2 - BID FORMAT AND SUBMISSION

2.1 ORGANIZATION OF BID CONTENTS FOR SUBMITTAL 

Each Bid should be organized and items submitted in the order described below: 

A. Transmittal Letter. Please see Section 2.3, Transmittal Letter, for more information. 

B. Price Sheet.

C. Conflict of Interest Questionnaire. Please see Section 2.2, Conflict of Interest, for more 
information in regards to this. Please note that even if you deem there to be no Conflict of Interest, 
this signed questionnaire must be included in your package. 

D. References. Please see Section 3.15, References, for more information. 

E. Bid Affidavit.

F. Form 1295. Please see Section 2.4, Certificate of Interested Parties – Form 1295. 

2.2 CONFLICT OF INTEREST

No public official shall have interest in a Contract, in accordance with Vernon ’s Texas Codes Annotated, 
Local Government Code, Title 5, Subtitle C, Chapter 171, as amended. 

As of January 1, 2006, all Bidders are responsible for complying with Local Government Code, Title 5, 
Subtitle C, Chapter 176.  Additional information may be obtained from the County’s website at the 
following link: 

http://www.wilco.org/CountyDepartments/Purchasing/ConflictofInterestDisclosure/tabid/689/language/en
US/Default.aspx

Each Bidder must disclose any existing or potential conflict of interest relative to the performance of the 
requirements of this IFB.  Examples of potential conflicts of interest may include an existing 
business or personal relationship between the Bidder, its principal, or any affiliate or 
subcontractor with the County or any other entity or person involved in any way with the project 
that is subject to this IFB .  Similarly, any personal or business relationship between the Bidder, the 

principals, or any affiliate or subcontractor with any employee, or official of the County or its suppliers 
must be disclosed.  Any such relationship that might be perceived or represented as a conflict must be 
disclosed. Failure to disclose any such relationship or reveal personal relationships with the County 
employees or officials may be cause for termination. 

The County will decide if an actual or perceived conflict should result in Bid disqualification. 

By submitting a Bid in response to this IFB, all Bidders affirm they have not given, nor intend to give, at 
any time hereafter, any economic opportunity, future employment, gift, loan, gratuity, special discount, 
trip, favor, or service to a the County public servant or any employee, official or representative of same, in 
connection with this procurement. 

Each Bidder must provide a Conflict of Interest Statement with their Bid Package.  Package may 

be deemed incomplete without this form.  

2.3 TRANSMITTAL LETTER

The Bidder should submit a Transmittal Letter that provides the following information: 

A. Name and address of individual or business entity submitting the Bid. 

B. Name, physical address, email address, business and fax number of the Bidder ’s principal 
contact person regarding all contractual matters relating to this IFB.

C. The Bid ’s Federal Employer Identification Number.

D. If the Proposal being submitted will have an effect on air quality for the County (as it relates to any 
state, federal, or voluntary air quality standard), then the Respondent is encouraged to provide
information in narrative indicating the anticipated air quality impact. See Section 4.36, Air Quality 
for more information. 

2.4 CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PARTIES – FORM 1295

As of January 1, 2016, all Successful Bidders are responsible for complying with the Texas Government 
Code, Section 2252.908.  The law states that the County may not enter into certain contracts with a 
Bidder unless the Bidder submits a disclosure of interested parties to the County at the time the Bidder 
submits the signed Contract.  The law applies only to a Contract of the County on or after January 1, 
2016 that either:

A. Requires an action or vote by the Commissioners Court before the Contract may be signed (all 
contracts that fall under the jurisdiction of the Commissioners Court approval, such as contracts 
resulting from an Initiation for Bid (IFB), RFP, Request for Qualifications (RFQ), etc., excluding, 
but not limited to, certain Juvenile Service contracts, contracts funded with Sheriff ’s seized fun 
monies, etc.); or

B. Has a value of at least $1,000,000. 

By January 1, 2016, the Texas Ethics Commission will make available on its website, a new filing 
application that must be used to file Form 1295.  Information regarding how to use the filing application is 
available on the Texas Ethics Commission website at the following link:

https://www.ethics.state.tx.us/whatsnew/elf_info_form1295.htm

A Respondent must:

A. Use the online application to process the required information on Form 1295.

B. Print a copy of the form which will contain a unique certification number.

C. An authorized agent of the Bidder must sign the printed copy of the form.

D. Have the form notarized.

E. File the completed Form 1295 and certification of filing (scanning and emailing form is sufficient) 
with Williamson County Purchasing Agent at the time the signed Contract is submitted for 
approval.

After the Commissioners Court award of the Contract, the County shall notify the Texas Ethics 
Commission, using the Texas Ethics Commission ’s filing application, of the receipt of the filed Form 
1295 and certification of filing not later than the 30th day after the date the Contract binds all parties to the 
Contract. The Texas Ethics Commission will post the completed Form 1295 to its website within seven 
business days after receiving notice from the County.

2.5 ETHICS

The Bidder shall not accept or offer gifts or anything of value nor enter into any business arrangement 
with any employee, official or agent of the County.

2.6 BID SUBMITTAL DEADLINE

The Bid is due no later than the submittal date and time set forth in the Public Announcement and 
General Information listed in this IFB package.  Contents of each Bid shall be submitted in accordance 
with this IFB.

2.7 DELIVERY OF BIDS

The County uses BidSync to distribute and receive Bids and proposals.  It is preferred that Bids
submitted electronically through BidSync; however, Bidders can submit a hard copy.  

Refer to www.bidsync.com for further information on how to submit electronically.

If mailed or delivered in person, Bids and Bid Addenda are to be delivered in sealed envelope on or before
the submittal deadline, as noted in the Public Announcement and General Information listed in this IFB 
package, to:

            Williamson County Purchasing Department
            Attn: Bid Name and Number
            901 South Austin Avenue
            Georgetown, Texas 78626

Also, all Bidders should list their Name and Address, and the Date of the Bid opening on the outside
the box or envelope and note “Sealed Bid Enclosed.” The County will not accept any Bids received after 
the submittal deadline, and shall return such Bids unopened to the Bidder.  The County will not accept 
any responsibility for Bids being delivered by third party carriers.  

Bids will be opened publically and the names of Bidders and pricing will be read aloud.

SECTION 3 - INSTRUCTIONS AND GENERAL REQUIREMENTS

3.1 INSTRUCTIONS

Read this document carefully, and follow all instructions and requirements.  All Bidders are responsible 
for fulfilling all requirements and specifications.  Be sure to have a clear understanding of this IFB.

General requirements apply to all advertised IFBs; however, these may be superseded, in whole or in 
part, by the bid specifications, Addenda and modifications issued as a part of this IFB.  Be sure your Bid 
package is complete.

3.2 AMBIGUITY, CONFLICT, OR OTHER ERRORS IN THIS IFB

If a Bidder discovers any ambiguity, conflict, discrepancy, omission or other error in this IFB, the Bidder 
shall immediately notify the County Purchasing Department of such error in writing and request
modification or clarification of the document.

Modifications will be made by issuing Addenda. If the Bidder fails to notify the County prior to the date
and time fixed for submission of Bids of an error or ambiguity in the IFB known to the Bidder, or an error
or ambiguity that reasonably should have been known to the Bidder, then the Bidder shall be deemed to 
have waived the error or ambiguity or its later resolution.

The County may also modify the IFB, no later than forty-eight (48) hours prior to the date and time fixed
for submission of Bids, by issuance of an Addendum.  All Addenda will be numbered consecutively, 
beginning with one (1).

3.3 NOTIFICATION OF MOST CURRENT ADDRESS

All Bidders in receipt of this IFB shall notify the Williamson County Purchasing Department of any
address changes, contact person changes, and/or telephone number changes no later than forty-eight 
(48) hours prior to the date and time fixed for submission of Bids.

3.4 SIGNATURE OF BIDDER

A. If the Bidder is a Corporation or Limited Liability Company, the legal name of the Corporation
Limited Liability Company shall be provided together with the signature of the officer or officers 
authorized to sign on behalf of such entity.

B. If the Bidder is a General Partnership, the true name of the firm shall be provided with the
signature of each partner authorized to sign.

C. If the Bidder is a Limited Partnership, the name of the Limited Partner ’s General Partner shall
provided with the signature of the officer authorized to sign on behalf of the General Partner.

D. If the Bidder is a Sole Proprietor(s) (individual), each Sole Proprietor(s) shall sign.

E. If signature is by an agent, other than the Sole Proprietor(s) or an officer of a Corporation, Limited 
Liability Company, General Partner or a member of a General Partnership, a power of attorney
equivalent document must be submitted to the Williamson County Purchasing Department.

3.5 ASSUMED BUSINESS NAME

If the Bidder operates business under an Assumed Business Name, the Bidder must have on file with the
Williamson County Clerk a current Assumed Name Certificate and provide a file marked copy of same.

3.6 BID OBLIGATION 

The contents of the IFB, Bid, and any clarification thereof submitted by the Successful Bidder shall
become part of the contractual obligation and incorporated by reference into the Contract and any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

3.7 COMPLIANCE WITH IFB SPECIFICATIONS

It is intended that this IFB describe the requirements and the Bid format in sufficient detail to secure 
comparable Bids.  Failure to comply with all provisions of the IFB may, at the sole discretion of the 
County, result in disqualification.

3.8 WITHDRAWAL OF BID

The Bidder may withdraw its Bid by submitting a written request with the company letterhead and the 
signature of an authorized individual, as described in Section 3.4, Signature of Bidder, to the Williamson 
County Purchasing Department any time prior to the submission deadline.  

The Bidder may submit a new Bid prior to the deadline. Alterations of the Bid in any manner will not be 
considered if submitted after the deadline.  Withdrawal of a Bid after the deadline will be subject to written 
approval of the Williamson County Purchasing Agent.

3.9 EVALUATION AND AWARD

The County reserves the right to use all pertinent information (also learned from sources other than 
disclosed in the Bid process) that might affect the County ’s judgment as to the appropriateness of
award to the lowest and best evaluated Bid. This information may be appended to the Bid evaluation
process results. Information on a Bidder from reliable sources, and not within the Bidder ’s Bid, may also 
be noted and made part of the evaluation fi le.  The County shall have sole discretion for determining 
the reliability of the source.

To ensure the proper and fair evaluation of a solicitation, the County prohibits unsolicited communication 
initiated by the Bidder to the County Official or Employee evaluating or considering the Bids prior to the 
time an award has been made. Unsolicited communication may be ground for disqualifying the 
offending Bidder from consideration or award of the solicitation, or any future solicitation.

Communication between the Bidder and the County will be initiated by the appropriate County Official
Employee in order to obtain information or clarification needed to develop a proper and accurate 
evaluation of the solicitation.

The County intends to award a Contract to the most responsible and responsive Bidder whose Bid will 
be most advantageous to the County. In accordance with Texas Government Code and Local
Government Code, the County may consider, to the extent allowed by law, the following:

A. Price;
B. The Bidder ’s experience and reputation;
C. Quality of the Bidder ’s goods and/or services; 
D. The Bidder ’s safety record;
E. The Bidder ’s proposed personnel; 
F. The Bidder ’s financial capabilities; and 
G. Any other relevant factors specifically listed in this IFB or authorized by law.

3.10 CONDISERATION OF LOCATION OF PRINCIPAL OFFICE 

Pursuant to Texas Local Government Code, Section 271.905 , in purchasing any real property or personal
property that is not affixed to real property, if the County receives one or more Bids from a Bidder whose
principal place of business is in Williamson County and whose Bid is within three (3 )  percent of the
lowest Bid price received by the County from a Bidder who is not a resident of Williamson County, the 
County may enter into a contract with:

A. The lowest Bidder; or the Bidder whose principal place of business is in Williamson County if the
Commissioners Court determines, in writing, that the local Bidder offers the County the best 
combination of contract price and addit ional economic development opportunities
Williamson County created by the contract award, including the employment of residents
Williamson County and increased tax revenues to Williamson County.

It is understood that the Commissioners Court of Williamson County, Texas, reserves the right to accept
or reject any and/or all Bids for any or all goods and/or services covered in this IFB, and to waive
informalities or defects in the Bid or to accept such Bid, if it shall deem to be in the best interest of the 
County.

Awards should be made approximately sixty (60) business days after the Bid opening date. Results may
be obtained by viewing the Williamson County vendor portal at the following link:

http://www.wilco.org/CountyDepartments/Purchasing/SearchforaPastBid/tabid/5213/language/en-
US/Default.aspx

3.11 RESPONSIBILITY 

It is expected that a prospective Bidder will be able to affirmatively demonstrate responsibility.  A 
prospective Bidder should be able to meet the following requirements:

A. Have adequate financial resources, or the ability to obtain such resources as required;
B. Be able to comply with the required or proposed delivery schedule;
C. Have a satisfactory record of performance that can be determined thru references provided; and 
D. Be otherwise qualified and eligible to receive an award.

The County may request representation and other information sufficient to determine the Bidder's ability 
to meet these minimum standards listed above.

3.12 FIRM PRICING 

For unit price items, all of the items listed are to be on a “per unit” basis, stating a firm price per unit or 
unit quantity of each item.  The Bidder must submit a firm price that must be good from the date of Bid 
opening for the fixed period of time set out in this IFB.  Unless the IFB expressly states otherwise, this 
period shall be until the end of the Initial Contract Period.

Bids which do not state a fixed price, or which are subject to change without notice, will not be 
considered.  The Court may award a Contract for the period implied or expressly stated in the lowest and 
best Bid.

3.13 PURCHASE ORDERS

If required by the Williamson County Purchasing Department, a purchase order(s) may be generated to 
the Successful Bidder for goods and/or services.  If a purchase order is issued, the purchase order 
number must appear on all itemized invoices and/or requests for payment.

3.14 SILENCE OF SPECIFICATIONS

The apparent silence of these specifications as to any detail or to the apparent omission from it of a 
detailed description concerning any point, shall be regarded as meaning that only the best practices are 
to prevail.  All interpretations of these specifications shall be made on the basis of this statement.

3.15 REFERENCES

The County may require the Bidder to supply a list of at least three (3) references where like services
and/or goods have been supplied by their firm within the past five (5) years, to include names, titles, 
phone numbers and email addresses of key personnel, and dates of performance.

The County may contact some or all of the references in order to determine the Respondent
performance record on work similar to that described in this RFP.  The County reserves the right to 
contact references other than those provided in the response and to use the information gained from 
them in the evaluation process.

References, if requested, should be provided in accordance with this IFB.  Bid may not be deemed 
complete without the inclusion of requested references.

SECTION 4 - TERMS AND CONDITIONS

4.1 VENUE AND GOVERNING LAW

The Bidder hereby agrees and acknowledges that venue and jurisdiction of any suit, right, or cause of 
action arising out of or in connection with this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s), shall lie 
exclusively in either Williamson County, Texas or in the Austin Division of the Western Federal District of 
Texas, and the parties hereto expressly consent and submit to such jurisdiction.  Furthermore, except to 
the extent that this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) is governed by the laws of the United 
States, this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be governed by and construed in 
accordance with the laws of the State of Texas, excluding, however, its choice of law rules.

4.2 INCORPORATION BY REFERENCE AND PRECEDENCE

A. The Contract shall be derived from the IFB and its Addenda (if applicable), and the Bidder ’ s Bid.  In 
the event of a dispute under the Contract, applicable documents will be referred to for the purpose 
of clarification or for additional detail in the following order of precedence:

1. The IFB and its Addenda (if applicable); and

2. The Bidder ’s Bid.

B. In the event the County requires that an Ensuing Agreement be executed following award and a 
dispute arises between the terms and conditions of the Ensuing Agreement, the IFB and its 
Addenda (if applicable), and the Bidder ’s Bid, applicable documents will be referred to for the 
purpose of clarification or for additional detail in the following order of precedence: 

1. Terms and conditions of the Ensuing Agreement;

2. The IFB its Addenda; and 

3. The Bidder ’s Bid.

4.3 OWNERSHIP OF BID

Each Bid shall become the property of the County upon submittal and will not be returned to Bidders 
unless received after the submittal deadline.

4.4 DISQUALIFICATION OF BIDDER

Upon signing and submittal of the Bid, a Bidder offering to sell supplies, materials, services, or equipment 
to the County, certifies that the Bidder has not violated the antitrust laws of the State of Texas codified in 
Business & Commerce Code, Section 15.01, or the Federal Antitrust Laws, and has not communicated 
directly or indirectly the offer made to any competitor or any other person engaged in such line of 
business.  Any or all Bids may be rejected if the County believes that collusion exists among the Bidders.

4.5 FUNDING

The County intends to budget and make sufficient funds available and authorize funds for expenditure to 
finance the costs of the Contract.  All Bidders understand and agree that the County’s payment of 
amounts under the Contract shall be contingent on the County receiving appropriations or other 
expenditure authority sufficient to allow the County, in the exercise of reasonable administrative 
discretion, to make payments under this Contract.

4.6 ASSIGNMENT, SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS 

The Successful Bidder may not assign, sell, or otherwise transfer the Contract or any other rights or 
interests obtained under the Contract without written permission of the Commissioners Court.  The 
Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the contracting 
parties hereto and their respective successors and permitted assigns.

4.7 IMPLIED REQUIREMENTS

Products or services not specifically described or required in the IFB, but are necessary to provide the 
functional capabilities described by the Bidder, shall be implied and deemed to be included in the Bid.

4.8 TERMINATION

A. Termination for Cause: The County reserves the right to terminate the Contract and/or any 
Ensuing Agreement(s) for default if the Successful Bidder breaches any of the Bid specifications,
terms and conditions, including warranties of the Bidder, if any, or if the Successful Bidder 
becomes insolvent or commits acts of bankruptcy.  Such right of termination is in addition to and
not in lieu of any other remedies the County may have at law or in equity or as may otherwise
provided hereunder.  Default may be construed as, but not limited to, failure to deliver the proper 
goods and/or services within the proper amount of time, and/or to properly perform any and all 
other requirements to the County ’s satisfaction, and/or to meet all other obligations and
requirements.

B. Termination for Convenience: The County may terminate the Contract and/or any Ensuing 
Agreement(s) for convenience and without cause or further liability, upon no less than thirty (30) 
calendar days written notice to the Successful Bidder. The County reserves the right to extend 
this period if it is in the best interest of the County.  In the event the County exercises its right to 
terminate without cause, it is understood and agreed that only the amounts due to the Successful 
Bidder for goods, commodities and/or services provided and expenses incurred to and including 
the date of termination, will be due and payable.  No penalty will be assessed for the County
termination for convenience.

4.9 NON-PERFORMANCE

It is the objective of the County to obtain complete and satisfactory performance of the requirements set 
forth herein.  In addition to any other remedies available at law, in equity or that may be set out herein, 
failure to perform may result in a deduction of payment equal to the amount of the goods and/or services 
that were not provided and/or performed to the County ’s satisfaction.  

In the event of such non-performance, the County shall have the right, but shall not be obligated, to 
complete the services itself or by others and/or purchase the goods from other sources.  If the County 
elects to acquire the goods or perform the services itself or by others, pursuant to the foregoing, the 
Successful Bidder shall reimburse the County, within ten (10) calendar days of demand, for all costs 
incurred by the County (including, without limitation, applicable, general, and administrative expenses, 
and field overhead, and the cost of necessary equipment, materials, and field labor) in correcting the 
nonperformance which the Successful Bidder fails to meet pursuant to the requirements set out herein.  
In the event the Successful Bidder refuses to reimburse the County as set out in this provision, the 
County shall have the right to deduct such reimbursement amounts from any amounts that may be then 
owing or that may become owing in the future to the Successful Bidder.

4.10 PROPRIETARY INFORMATION AND THE TEXAS PUBLIC INFORMATION ACT

All material submitted to the County shall become public property and subject to the Texas Public 
Information Act upon receipt. If a Bidder does not desire proprietary information in the Bid to be 
disclosed, each page must be clearly identified and marked proprietary at time of submittal or, more 
preferably, all proprietary information may be placed in a folder or appendix and be clearly identified and 
marked as being proprietary.  Failure to clearly identify and mark information as being proprietary as set 
forth under this provision will result in all unmarked information being deemed non-proprietary and 
available to the public.  For all information that has not been clearly identified and marked as proprietary 
by the Bidder, the County may choose to place such information on the County ’s website and/or a similar 
public database without obtaining any type of prior consent from the Bidder.

The County will, to the extent allowed by law, endeavor to protect from public disclosure the information 
that has been identified and marked as proprietary.  The final decision as to what information must be 
disclosed, however, lies with the Texas Attorney General.  

To the extent, if any, that any provision in this IFB or in the Bidder ’s Bid is in conflict with Texas 
Government Code, Chapter 552, as amended (the “Public Information Act”), the same shall be of no 
force or effect.  Furthermore, it is expressly understood, and agreed, that the County, and its officers and 
employees, may request advice, decisions and opinions of the Attorney General of the State of Texas in 
regard to the application of the Public Information Act to any items or data furnished to the County as to 
whether or not the same are available to the public.  It is further understood that the County, and its 
officers and employees, shall have the right to rely on the advice, decisions and opinions of the Attorney 
General, and that the County, its officers and employees shall have no liability or obligation to any party 
hereto for the disclosure to the public, or to any person or persons, of any items or data furnished to the 
County by a party hereto, in reliance of any advice, decision or opinion of the Attorney General of the 
State of Texas.

4.11 RIGHT TO AUDIT

The Successful Bidder agrees that the County or its duly authorized representatives shall, until the 
expiration of three (3) years after termination or expiration of the services to be performed, have access 
to and the right to examine and photocopy any and all books, documents, papers and records of the 
Successful Bidder, which are directly pertinent to the services to be performed or goods to be delivered 
for the purposes of making audits, examinations, excerpts and transcriptions.  The Successful Bidder 
agrees that the County shall have access during normal working hours to all necessary facilities and 
shall be provided adequate and appropriate work space in order to conduct audits in compliance with the 
provisions of this section.  The County shall give the Successful Bidder reasonable advance notice of 
intended audits.

4.12 TESTING AND INSPECTIONS

The County reserves the right to inspect and test equipment, supplies, materials and goods for quality 
and compliance with this IFB, and ability to meet the needs of the user.  Demonstration units must be 
available for review.  Should the goods or services fail to meet requirements and/or be unavailable for 
evaluation, the County can deem the Bidder to be in breach and terminate the Contract and/or any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

4.13 BID PREPARATION COSTS

The cost of developing Bids is the sole responsibility of the Bidders and shall not be charged to the 
County.  There is no expressed or implied obligation for the County to reimburse the Bidders for any 
expense incurred in preparing a Bid in response to this IFB and the County will not reimburse the Bidders 
for such expenses.

4.14 INDEMNIFICATION

The Successful Bidder shall indemnify, defend and save harmless, the County, its officials, employees, 
agents and agent ’s employees from, and against, all claims, liability, and expenses including reasonable 
attorneys ’   fees, arising from activities of the Bidder, its agents, servants or employees, performed 
hereunder that result from the negligent act, error, or omission of the Bidder or any of the Bidder
agents, servants or employees, as well as all claims of loss or damage to the Bidder ’s and the County
property, equipment, and/or supplies. 

Furthermore, the County, its officials, employees, agents and agents ’ employees shall not be liable for 
damages to the Successful Bidder arising from any act of any third party, including, but not limited to, 
theft.  The Successful Bidder further agrees to indemnify, defend and save harmless, the County from its 
officials, employee, agents and agents ’ employees against all claims of whatever nature arising from any 
accident, injury, or damage whatsoever, caused to any person, or the property of any person, occurring 
in relation to the Successful Bidder ’s performance of any services requested hereunder during the term 
of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s). 

The Successful Bidder shall timely report all claims, demands, suits, actions, proceedings, liens or 
judgements to the County and shall, upon the receipt of any claim, demand, suit, action, proceeding, lien 

or judgement, not later than the fifteenth (15 th) day of each month; provide the County with a written 
report on each such matter, setting forth the status of each matter, the schedule or planned proceedings 
with respect to each matter and the cooperation or assistance, if any, of the County required by the 
Successful Bidder in the defense of each matter.  The Successful Bidder’s duty to defend, indemnify and 
hold the County harmless shall be absolute.  It shall not abate or end by reason of the expiration or 
termination of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s), unless otherwise agreed by the County in 
writing.  The provisions of this section shall survive the termination of the Contract and shall remain in full 
force and effect with respect to all such matters no matter when they arise. 

In the event of any dispute between the parties, as to whether a claim, demand, suit, action, proceeding, 
lien or judgement, that appears to have been caused by or appears to have arisen out of or in connection 
with acts or omissions of the County, the Bidder shall nevertheless fully defend such claim, demand, suit 
or action, proceeding, lien or judgement, until and unless there is a determination by a court of competent 
jurisdiction that the acts and omissions of the Bidder are not an issue in the matter. 

The Successful Bidder ’s indemnification shall cover, and the Successful Bidder agrees to, indemnify the 
County, in the event the County is found to have been negligent for having selected the Successful 
Bidder to perform the work described in this request.  The provision by the Successful Bidder of 
insurance shall not limit the liability of the Successful Bidder under the Contract and/or any Ensuing 
Agreement(s). 

4.15 WAIVER OF SUBROGATION

The Successful Bidder and the Successful Bidder ’s insurance carrier waive any and all rights 
whatsoever with regard to subrogation against the County as an indirect party to any suit arising out of 
personal or property damages resulting from the Bidder ’s performance under this Contract and any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

4.16 RELATIONSHIP OF THE PARTIES

The Successful Bidder shall be an independent contractor and shall assume all of the rights, obligations, 
liabilities, applicable to it as such independent contractor hereunder and any provisions herein which may 
appear to give the County the right to direct the Successful Bidder as to details of doing work herein 
covered, or to exercise a measure of control over the work, shall be deemed to mean that the Successful 
Bidder shall follow the desires of the County in the results of the work only.  The County shall not retain or 
have the right to control the Successful Bidder ’s means, methods or details pertaining to the Successful 
Bidder ’s performance of the work.  The County and the Successful Bidder hereby agree and declare that 
the Successful Bidder is an independent contractor and as such meets the qualifications of an 
“Independent Contractor” under Texas Workers Compensation Act, Texas Labor Code, Section 406.141, 
that the Successful Bidder is not an employee of  the County, and that the Successful Bidder and its 
employees, agents and subcontractors shall not be entitled to workers compensation coverage or any 
other type of insurance coverage held by the County.

4.17 SOLE PROVIDER

The Successful Bidder agrees and acknowledges that it shall not be considered a sole provider of the 
goods and/or services described herein and that the County may contract with other providers of such 
goods and/or services if the County deems, at its sole discretion, that multiple providers of the same 
goods and/or services will serve the best interest of the County.

4.18 FORCE MAJEURE

If the party obligated to perform is prevented from performance by an act of war, order of legal authority, 
act of God, or other unavoidable cause not attributable to the fault or negligence of said party, the other 
party shall grant such party relief from the performance.  The burden of proof for the need of such relief 
shall rest upon the party obligated to perform.  To obtain release based on force majeure, the party 
obligated to perform shall file a written request with the other party.

4.19 SEVERABILITY

If any provision of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be held invalid or 
unenforceable by any court of competent jurisdiction, such holding shall not invalidate or render 
unenforceable any other provision thereof, but rather the entire IFB, Contract or any Ensuing Agreement
(s) will be construed as if not containing the particular invalid or unenforceable provision or provisions, 
and the rights and obligation of the parties shall be construed and enforced in accordance therewith.  The 
parties acknowledge that if any provision of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) is 
determined to be invalid or unenforceable, it is the desire and intention of each that such provision be 
reformed and construed in such a manner that it will, to the maximum extent practicable, give effect to
the intent of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) and be deemed to be validated and
enforceable.

4.20 EQUAL OPPORTUNITY

Neither party shall discriminate against any employee or applicant for employment because of race, 
color, sex, religion or national origin.

4.21 NOTICE

Any notice to be given shall be in writing and may be distributed by personal delivery, or by registered or 
certified mail, return receipt requested, addressed to the proper party, at the following address:

The County:    Williamson County Purchasing Department 
            Attn: Purchasing Agent 
            901 South Austin Avenue 
            Georgetown, Texas 78626

The Bidder:     Address set out in Bidder’s Transmittal Letter.

Notices given in accordance with this provision shall be effective upon (1) receipt by the party to which 
notice is given, or (2) on the third (3rd) calendar day following mailing, whichever occurs first.

4.22 SALES AND USE TAX EXEMPTION

The County is a body, corporate and politic, under the laws of the State of Texas and claims exemption 
from sales and use taxes under Texas Tax Code, Section 151.309, as amended, and the services and/or 
goods subject hereof are being secured for use by the County.

4.23 COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS

The County and the Successful Bidder shall comply with all federal, state, and local laws, statutes,
ordinances, rules and regulations, and the orders and decrees of any courts or administrative bodies or 
tribunals in any matter affecting the performance of the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s),
including, without limitation, Workers ’ Compensation laws, salary and wage statutes and regulations, 
licensing laws and regulations.  When required, the Successful Bidder shall furnish the County with 
certification of compliance with said laws, statues, ordinances, rules, regulations, orders, and decrees 
above specified.

4.24 INCORPORATION OF EXHIBITS, APPENDICES AND ATTACHMENTS

All of the Exhibits, Appendices and Attachments referred to herein are incorporated by reference as if set 
forth verbatim herein.  Any conflicting terms in the Contract documents will be resolved at the sole 
discretion of the Commissioners Court.

4.25 NO WAIVER OF IMMUNITIES

Nothing herein shall be deemed to waive, modify or amend any legal defense available at law or in equity 
to the County, its past or present officers, employees, or agents, nor to create any legal rights or claim on 
behalf of any third party.  The County does not waive, modify, or alter to any extent whatsoever the 
availability of the defense of governmental immunity under the laws of the State of Texas and of the 
United States.

4.26 NO WAIVER

The failure or delay of any party to enforce at any time or any period of time any of the provisions of this 
IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall not constitute a present or future waiver of such 
provisions nor the right of either party to enforce each and every provision.  Furthermore, no term or 
provision hereof shall be deemed waived and no breach excused unless such waiver or consent shall be 
in writing and signed by the party claimed to have waived or consented.  Any consent by any party to, or 
waiver of, a breach by the other, whether expressed or implied, shall not constitute a consent to, waiver 
of or excuse for any other, different or subsequent breach.

4.27 CURRENT REVENUES

The obligations of the parties under the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) do not constitute a 
general obligation or indebtedness of the County for which the County is obligated to levy, pledge, or 
collect any of taxation.  It is understood and agreed that the County shall have the right to terminate the 
Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) at the end of any the County fiscal year if the governing body of 
the County does not appropriate sufficient funds as determined by the County ’s budget for the fiscal year 
in question.  The County may effect such termination by giving written notice of termination to the 
Successful Bidder at the end of its then-current fiscal year.

4.28 FOB DESTINATION

To the extent applicable to this IFB, all of the items listed are to be Free On Board to final destination 
(FOB Destination) with all transportation charges if applicable to be included in the Bid, unless otherwise 
specified in the Invitation for Bids.  The title and risk of loss of the goods shall not pass to the County until 
receipt and acceptance takes place at the FOB Destination point.

4.29 BINDING EFFECT

This Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties 
and their respective permitted assigns and successors.

4.30 ASSIGNMENT

The Successful Bidder ’s interest and duties hereunder may not be assigned or delegated to a third party 
without the express written consent of the County.

4.31 SAFETY

The Successful Bidder is responsible for initiating, maintaining, and supervising all safety precautions 
and programs in connection with any services to be provided hereunder. The safety program shall 
comply with all applicable requirements of the current federal Occupational Safety and Health Act and all 
other applicable federal, state and local laws and regulations.

4.32 GENERAL OBLIGATIONS AND RELIANCE

The Successful Bidder shall perform all services and/or provide all goods, as well as those reasonably
inferable and necessary for completion and provision of services and/or goods required hereunder. The
Successful Bidder shall keep the County informed of the progress and quality of the services.  The 
Successful Bidder agrees and acknowledges that the County is relying on the Successful Bidder's 
represented expertise and ability to provide the goods and/or services described herein.  The Successful
Bidder agrees to use its best efforts, skill, judgment, and abilities to perform its obligations in accordance
with the highest standards used in the profession and to further the interests of the County 
accordance with the County ’s requirements and procedures.    T h e   Successful Bidder ’s duties,
set forth herein, shall at no time be in any way diminished by reason of any approval by the County, nor
shall the Successful Bidder be released from any liability by reason of such approval by the County, it 
being understood that the County at all times is ultimately relying upon the Successful Bidder ’s skill and 
knowledge in performing the services and providing any goods required hereunder.

4.33 ESTIMATED QUANTITIES

To the extent applicable to this IFB, the estimated quantity of each item listed in this IFB is only
estimate; the actual quantity to be purchased may be more or less. The County is not obligated
purchase any minimum amount, and the County may purchase any reasonable amount greater than the
estimate for the same unit price. Any limit on quantities available must be stated expressly in the Bid.

4.34 CONTRACTUAL DEVELOPMENT

The contents of the IFB and the Successful Bidder ’s Bid will become an integral part of the Contract, but 
may be modified, at the County ’s sole discretion, by provisions of an Ensuing Agreement.  Therefore, the 
Bidder must agree to an inclusion of an Ensuing Agreement of the Bid specifications, terms and 
conditions of this IFB.  If an Ensuing Agreement is required under this IFB, information relative to the 
Agreement will be located in the Special Provisions Section of this IFB.

4.35 SURVIVABILITY 

All applicable agreements that were entered into between the Successful Bidder and the County, under 
the terms and conditions of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s), shall survive the expiration or 
termination thereof for ninety (90) days unless a new contract has been awarded.

The County may exercise, by written notice to the Successful Bidder no later than ten (10) calendar days 
of the Contract expiration, this clause for emergencies only. 

4.36 AIR QUALITY

In determining the overall best Bid, the County may, to the extent applicable, exercise the option granted 
to local governments under the Texas Local Government Code, Section 271.907.

This option allows the County to evaluate Bids and give preference to goods and/or services of a Bidder 
that demonstrates that the Bidder meets or exceeds any and all state or federal environmental 
standards, including voluntary standards, relating to air quality.  If the Bid being submitted will have an 
effect on air quality for the County (as it relates to any state, federal, or voluntary air quality standard), 
then the Bidder is encouraged to provide information in narrative indicating the anticipated air quality 
impact.  All Bidders are expected to meet all mandated state and federal air quality standards.

4.37 ENTIRE AGREEMENT

The Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall supersede all prior Agreements, written or oral 
between the Successful Bidder and the County and shall constitute the entire Agreement and 
understanding between the parties with respect to the services and/or goods to be provided.  Each of the 
provisions herein shall be binding upon the parties and may not be waived, modified, amended or altered, 
except by writing signed by the Successful Bidder and the County.

4.38 PAYMENT

The County ’s payment for goods and services shall be governed by the Texas Government Code, 

Chapter 2251.  An invoice shall be deemed overdue the thirty-first (31st) day after the later of the 
following: 

A. The date the County receives the goods under the Contract; 
B. The date the performance of the service under the Contract is completed; or 
C. The date the Williamson County Auditor receives an invoice for the goods or services.  

Interest charges for any overdue payments shall be paid by the County in accordance with Texas 
Government Code, Section 2251.025.  More specifically, the rate of interest that shall accrue on a late 
payment is the rate in effect on September 1 of the County ’s fiscal year in which the payment becomes 
due.  The said rate in effect on September 1 shall be equal to the sum of one (1) percent, and the prime 

rate published in the Wall Street Journal on the first (1st) day of July of the preceding fiscal year that does 
not fall on a Saturday or Sunday.

In the event that an error appears in an invoice submitted by the Successful Bidder, the County shall 
notify the Successful Bidder of the error not later than the twenty-first (21st) day after the date the County 
receives the invoice.  If the error is resolved in favor of the Successful Bidder, the Successful Bidder 
shall be entitled to receive interest on the unpaid balance of the invoice submitted by the Successful 
Bidder beginning on the date that the payment for the invoice became overdue.  If the error is resolved in 
favor of the County, the Successful Bidder shall submit a corrected invoice that must be paid in 
accordance within the time set forth above.  The unpaid balance accrues interest as provided by the 
Texas Government Code, Chapter 2251, if the corrected invoice is not paid by the appropriate date.

As a minimum, invoices shall include:

A. Name, address, and telephone number of the Successful Bidder and similar information in the 
event the payment is to be made to a different address. 

B. The County Contract, Purchase Order. 

C. Identification of items or service as outlined in the Contract. 

D. Quantity or quantities, applicable unit prices, total prices and total amount. 

E. Any additional payment information which may be called for by the Contract. 

Payment inquiries should be directed to the following address:        

            Williamson County Auditor’s Office, Accounts Payable Department
            Email: accountspayable@wilco.org
            Phone: 512-943-1500

4.39 CONTRACTUAL FORMATION AND ENSUING AGREEMENT

The IFB and the Bidder ’s Bid, when properly accepted by the Commissioners Court, shall constitute a
Contract equally binding between the Successful Bidder and the County.

If an Ensuing Agreement is required by this IFB, that information will be provided in Special 
Provisions section of this IFB.  The Successful Bidder shall be required to execute the Agreement at 
the Williamson County Purchasing Department approximately ten (10) calendar days after the 
Successful Bidder is notified of award.  The Ensuing Agreement shall be in the same form as the 
Agreement which is attached to the end of this IFB.  The only anticipated changes in the Ensuing 
Agreement will be to include additional exhibits, to fill in blanks to identify the Successful Bidder, and 
terms relating to the compensation, or to revise the Agreement to accommodate corrections, changes in 
the scope of services, or changes pursuant to Addenda issued.  Bidders should raise any questions 
regarding the terms of the Agreement in the form of written questions or submittals as 
described in the Public Announcement and General Information portion of this IFB.  Because the 
signed Ensuing Agreement will be substantively and substantially derived from the attached Agreement, 
each Bidder is urged to seek independent legal counsel as to any questions about the terms, conditions 
or provisions contained in the Agreement before submitting a Bid.  Again, the attached Agreement, if 
applicable, contains important legal provisions and is considered part and parcel of this IFB.  Failure or 
refusal to sign aforesaid Agreement shall be grounds for the County to revoke any award which has been 
issued, forfeit Bid security, if applicable, and select another Bidder.

4.40 COOPERATIVE PURCHASING PROGRAM 

During the term of the Contract resulting from this IFB, the County would like to afford the same prices, 
terms and conditions to other political subdivisions or public entities.  Another entity’s participation in the 
Contract resulting from this IFB is subject to a properly authorized Purchasing Cooperative Inter- local 
Agreement with the County.  Any liability created by purchase orders issued against the Contract shall be 
the sole responsibility of the governmental agency placing the order.

4.41 INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS

To the extent applicable Insurance information will appear in the Additional Stipulations section that is in 
this IFB Package. 

4.42 BIDDERS BOND, WARRANTY BOND, PERFORMANCE AND PAYMENT BONDS

To the extent applicable Bond information will appear in the Additional Stipulations section that is in this 
IFB Package. 

4.43 LEGAL LIABILITY INFORMATION

The Successful Bidder shall disclose all legal liability information by listing any pending litigation
anticipated litigation that your firm is involved in including, but not limited to, potential or actual legal
matters with private parties and any local, state, federal or international governmental entities. The
County reserves the right to consider legal liability information in the recommendation of any proposed 
contract to the Commissioners Court.

4.44 INCLEMENT WEATHER

In case of inclement weather or any other unforeseen event causing the County to close for business on 
the date of a Bid submission deadline, the Bid closing will automatically be postponed until the next 
business day the County is open.  If inclement weather conditions or any other unforeseen event causes 
delays in carrier service operations, the County may issue an Addendum to all known Bidders interested 
in the project to extend the deadline.  It will be the responsibility of the Bidder to notify the County of their 
interest in the project if these conditions are impacting their ability to turn in a submission within the 
stated deadline.  The County reserves the right to make the final judgement call to extend any deadline. 

4.45 CONFIDENTIALITY 

The Bidder expressly agrees that it will not use any direct or incidental confidential information that may 
be obtained while working in a governmental setting for its own benefit, and agrees that it will not access 
unauthorized areas or confidential information and it will not disclose any information to unauthorized 
third parties, and will take care to guard the security of the information at all times.

Bid 1704-156Williamson County, Texas

4/6/2017 1:22 PM p. 24



5

6

BID AFFIDAVIT

This form must be completed, signed, notarized and returned with Bid package

The undersigned certi fies that the IFB and the Bidder ’s Bid have been carefully reviewed and are submitted as 
correct and final.  Bidder further certi fies and agrees to furnish any and/or all goods and/or services upon which 
pr ices are extended at the price Bid, and upon the condit ions contained in the IFB.

I hereby cert i fy that the foregoing Bid has not been prepared in collusion with any other Bidder or other person
or persons engaged in the same line of business prior to the official opening of this Bid. Further, I certi fy that the
Bidder is not now, nor has been for the past six (6) months, directly or indirectly concerned in any pool or
agreement or combination, to control the price of services/commodities Bid on, or to influence any person or
persons to submit a Bid or not to submit a Bid thereon. ”

Cooperative Purchasing Program
Check one of the following options below . A non-affirmative Bid will in no way have a negative impact on the 
County ’s evaluation of the Bid.

*If no box is checked, the Bidder agrees to make best efforts in good faith to offer the quoted prices to 
all authorized entities.*

SIGNATURE AND NOTARY NOT REQUIRED IF COMPLETING IN BIDSYNC ELECTRONICALLY.

Name of Bidder:

Address of Bidder:

Email:

Telephone:

Printed Name of Person Submitting 
Affidavit:

Signature of Person Submitting 
Affidavit:

I will offer the quoted prices to all authorized entities during the term of the County ’s Contract.

I will not offer the quoted prices to all authorized entities.

BEFORE ME, the undersigned authority, a Notary Public, personally appeared 

(Name of Signer), who after being by me duly sworn, did depose and say: “I, , 

(Name of Signer) am a duly author ized officer of/agent for (Name of Bidder) and 

have been duly authorized to execute the foregoing on behalf of the said (Name of

Bidder).

SUBSCRIBED AND SWORN to before me by the above-named 

on this the day of , 20 .

Notary Public in and for

The State of 

The County of 

Bid 1704-156Williamson County, Texas

4/6/2017 1:22 PM p. 25



5

6

3 4

Bidder References

List the last (3) companies or governmental agencies, where the same or similar
goods and/or services as contained in this IFB package, were recently provided
by Bidder.

Reference 1

Client Name:                                                         Location:

Contact Name:                                                      Title:

Phone:                                                                  E-mail

Contract Date To:                  Contract Date From:             Contract Value: $

Scope of Work:

Reference 2

Client Name:                                                         Location:

Contact Name:                                                      Title:

Phone:                                                                  E-mail

Contract Date To:                  Contract Date From:             Contract Value: $

Scope of Work:

Reference 3

Client Name:                                                         Location:

Contact Name:                                                      Title:

Phone:                                                                  E-mail

Contract Date To:                  Contract Date From:             Contract Value: $

Scope of Work:

55

66

55

66

55

66

Bid 1704-156Williamson County, Texas

4/6/2017 1:22 PM p. 26



5

6

3 4

Bidder References

List the last (3) companies or governmental agencies, where the same or similar
goods and/or services as contained in this IFB package, were recently provided
by Bidder.

Reference 1

Client Name:                                                         Location:

Contact Name:                                                      Title:

Phone:                                                                  E-mail

Contract Date To:                  Contract Date From:             Contract Value: $

Scope of Work:

Reference 2

Client Name:                                                         Location:

Contact Name:                                                      Title:

Phone:                                                                  E-mail

Contract Date To:                  Contract Date From:             Contract Value: $

Scope of Work:

Reference 3

Client Name:                                                         Location:

Contact Name:                                                      Title:

Phone:                                                                  E-mail

Contract Date To:                  Contract Date From:             Contract Value: $

Scope of Work:

55

66

55

66

55

66

Bid 1704-156Williamson County, Texas

4/6/2017 1:22 PM p. 27



5

6

CONFLICT OF INTEREST QUESTIONNAIRE
For vendor or other person doing business with local governmental entity

Form 
CIQ

This questionnaire is being filed in accordance with chapter 176 of the Local 
Government Code by a person doing business with the governmental entity.

By law this questionnaire must be filed with the records administrator of the 
local government not later than the 7th business day after the date the person 

becomes aware of facts that require the statement to be filed. See Section 
176.006, Local Government Code.

A person commits an offense if the person violates Section 176.006, Local 
Government Code. An offense under this section is a Class C misdemeanor.

   Date Received 

OFFICE USE ONLY

1 Name of person doing business with local governmental entity.

2
Check this box if you are filing an update to a previously filed questionnaire.

(The law requires that you file an updated completed questionnaire with the appropriate filing authority not later 

than September 1 of the year for which an activity described in Section 176.006(a), Local Government Code, is 

pending and not later than the 7th business day after the date the originally filed questionnaire becomes 

incomplete or inaccurate.)

3
Describe each affiliation or business relationship with an employee or contractor of the local governmental 

entity who makes recommendations to a local government officer of the local governmental entity with 
respect to expenditure of money.

55

66

4
Describe each affiliation or business relationship with a person who is a local government officer and who 
appoints or employs a local government officer of the local governmental entity that is the subject of this 

questionnaire.

55

66

CONFLICT OF INTEREST QUESTIONNAIRE
For vendor or other person doing business with local governmental 

entity

Form 
CIQ

Page 2

5 Name of local government officer with whom filer has affiliation or business relationship. 
(Complete this section only if the answer to A, B, or C is YES.)

This section, item 5 including subparts A, B, C & D, must be completed for each officer with whom the filer 
has affiliation or other relationship. Attach additional pages to this Form CIQ as necessary.

A. Is the local government officer named in this section receiving or likely to receive taxable income from 
the filer of the questionnaire?

Yes No

B. Is the filer of the questionnaire receiving or likely to receive taxable income from or at the direction of the 
local government officer named in this section AND the taxable income is not from the local 

governmental entity?

Yes No

C. Is the filer of this questionnaire affiliated with a corporation or other business entity that the local 
government officer serves as an officer or director, or holds an ownership of 10 percent or more?

Yes No

D. Describe each affiliation or business relationship.

6. Describe any other affiliation or business relationship that might cause conflict of interest:

55

66

55

66

7

Signature of person doing business with the governmental entity Date

Signature not required if completing in BIDSYNC electronically.

Bid 1704-156Williamson County, Texas

4/6/2017 1:22 PM p. 28



5

6

CONFLICT OF INTEREST QUESTIONNAIRE
For vendor or other person doing business with local governmental entity

Form 
CIQ

This questionnaire is being filed in accordance with chapter 176 of the Local 
Government Code by a person doing business with the governmental entity.

By law this questionnaire must be filed with the records administrator of the 
local government not later than the 7th business day after the date the person 

becomes aware of facts that require the statement to be filed. See Section 
176.006, Local Government Code.

A person commits an offense if the person violates Section 176.006, Local 
Government Code. An offense under this section is a Class C misdemeanor.

   Date Received 

OFFICE USE ONLY

1 Name of person doing business with local governmental entity.

2
Check this box if you are filing an update to a previously filed questionnaire.

(The law requires that you file an updated completed questionnaire with the appropriate filing authority not later 

than September 1 of the year for which an activity described in Section 176.006(a), Local Government Code, is 

pending and not later than the 7th business day after the date the originally filed questionnaire becomes 

incomplete or inaccurate.)

3
Describe each affiliation or business relationship with an employee or contractor of the local governmental 

entity who makes recommendations to a local government officer of the local governmental entity with 
respect to expenditure of money.

55

66

4
Describe each affiliation or business relationship with a person who is a local government officer and who 
appoints or employs a local government officer of the local governmental entity that is the subject of this 

questionnaire.

55

66

CONFLICT OF INTEREST QUESTIONNAIRE
For vendor or other person doing business with local governmental 

entity

Form 
CIQ

Page 2

5 Name of local government officer with whom filer has affiliation or business relationship. 
(Complete this section only if the answer to A, B, or C is YES.)

This section, item 5 including subparts A, B, C & D, must be completed for each officer with whom the filer 
has affiliation or other relationship. Attach additional pages to this Form CIQ as necessary.

A. Is the local government officer named in this section receiving or likely to receive taxable income from 
the filer of the questionnaire?

Yes No

B. Is the filer of the questionnaire receiving or likely to receive taxable income from or at the direction of the 
local government officer named in this section AND the taxable income is not from the local 

governmental entity?

Yes No

C. Is the filer of this questionnaire affiliated with a corporation or other business entity that the local 
government officer serves as an officer or director, or holds an ownership of 10 percent or more?

Yes No

D. Describe each affiliation or business relationship.

6. Describe any other affiliation or business relationship that might cause conflict of interest:

55

66

55

66

7

Signature of person doing business with the governmental entity Date

Signature not required if completing in BIDSYNC electronically.

Bid 1704-156Williamson County, Texas

4/6/2017 1:22 PM p. 29



55

66

Question and Answers for Bid #1704 -156 - Crack Seal 

Overall Bid Questions

There are no questions associated with this bid.   

Bid 1704-156Williamson County, Texas

4/6/2017 1:22 PM p. 30



   

Commissioners Court - Regular Session   19.           
Meeting Date: 04/18/2017  

Advertisement Approval IFB 1704-157 Milling And Overlay RR Blvd
Submitted For: Randy Barker  Submitted By: Thomas Skiles, Purchasing
Department: Purchasing
Agenda Category: Regular Agenda Items

Information
Agenda Item
Discuss, consider, and take appropriate action on authorizing Purchasing Agent to advertise and receive bids for
Milling & Overlay Ronald Regan Blvd From FM 3405 To RM 2338 under IFB # 1704-157.

Background

Fiscal Impact

From/To Acct No. Description Amount

Attachments
Bid Packet

Form Review
Inbox Reviewed By Date
County Judge Exec Asst. Wendy Coco 04/10/2017 09:05 AM
Form Started By: Thomas Skiles Started On: 04/07/2017 02:58 PM
Final Approval Date: 04/10/2017 



5

6

PUBLIC ANNOUNCEMENT AND GENERAL INFORMATION

WILLIAMSON COUNTY PURCHASING DEPARTMENT
SOLICIATION 1704-157

Milling & Overlay - Ronald Regan Blvd From FM 3405 To RM 2338

BIDS MUST BE RECEIVED ON OR BEFORE: 
May 17, 2017 3:00:00 PM CDT

BIDS WILL BE PUBLICLY OPENED: 
May 17, 2017 3:00:00 PM CDT

Notice is hereby given that sealed Bids for the above-mentioned goods and/or services will be
accepted by the Williamson County Purchasing Department. Williamson County uses BidSync to 
distribute and receive bids.  Specifications for this IFB may be obtained by registering at
www.bidsync.com .

Williamson County prefers and requests electronic submittal of this 
Bid. 

All electronic bids must be submitted via:  www.bidsync.com

Electronic bids are requested, however paper bids will currently still be received, until further notice 
and may be mailed or delivered to the address listed below.

Bidders are strongly encouraged to carefully read this entire IFB.

All interested Bidders are invited to submit a Bid in accordance with the Instructions and General 
Requirements, Bid Format, Bid Specifications, and Definitions, Terms and Condit ions stated in this
IFB.

Please note that a complete package must be submitted choosing one of the above two 
methods. Split packages submitted will be considered “unresponsive”  and will not be 
accepted or evaluated.

Williamson County will not accept any Bids received after the
submittal deadline, and shall return such Bids unopened to the

Bidder.

General Information:

· If mailed or delivered in person, Bids and Bid addenda are to be delivered in sealed envelope 
on or before the submittal deadline, a s noted in the Public Announcement and General
Information listed above for this IFB, to:

Williamson County Purchasing Department
Attn: BID NAME AND NUMBER
901 South Austin Avenue 
Georgetown, Texas 78626

o Bidders should list the Bid Number, Bid Name, Name and Address of Bidder, and 
the Date of the Bid opening on the outside of the box or envelope and note
“Sealed Bid Enclosed.”

o Bidder should submit one (1) original.
o Williamson County will NOT be responsible for unmarked or improperly marked 

envelopes.
o Williamson County will not accept any responsibility for Bids being delivered by

third party carriers.
o Facsimile transmittals will NOT be accepted.

· Bids will be opened publicly in a manner; however, to avoid public disclosure of contents only 
the names and of Bidders and prices will be read aloud.

· All submitted questions with their answers will be posted and updated on www.bidsync.com.

· It is the Bidder ’s responsibility to review all documents in BidSync, including any Addenda that 
may have been added after the document packet was originally released and posted. 

o Any Addenda and/or other information relevant to the IFB will be posted on
www.bidsync.com. 

o The Williamson County Purchasing Department takes no responsibility to ensure
any interested Bidder has obtained any outstanding addenda or additional
information. 

Bid 1704-157Williamson County, Texas

4/7/2017 9:30 AM p. 1



5

6

PUBLIC ANNOUNCEMENT AND GENERAL INFORMATION

WILLIAMSON COUNTY PURCHASING DEPARTMENT
SOLICIATION 1704-157

Milling & Overlay - Ronald Regan Blvd From FM 3405 To RM 2338

BIDS MUST BE RECEIVED ON OR BEFORE: 
May 17, 2017 3:00:00 PM CDT

BIDS WILL BE PUBLICLY OPENED: 
May 17, 2017 3:00:00 PM CDT

Notice is hereby given that sealed Bids for the above-mentioned goods and/or services will be
accepted by the Williamson County Purchasing Department. Williamson County uses BidSync to 
distribute and receive bids.  Specifications for this IFB may be obtained by registering at
www.bidsync.com .

Williamson County prefers and requests electronic submittal of this 
Bid. 

All electronic bids must be submitted via:  www.bidsync.com

Electronic bids are requested, however paper bids will currently still be received, until further notice 
and may be mailed or delivered to the address listed below.

Bidders are strongly encouraged to carefully read this entire IFB.

All interested Bidders are invited to submit a Bid in accordance with the Instructions and General 
Requirements, Bid Format, Bid Specifications, and Definitions, Terms and Condit ions stated in this
IFB.

Please note that a complete package must be submitted choosing one of the above two 
methods. Split packages submitted will be considered “unresponsive”  and will not be 
accepted or evaluated.

Williamson County will not accept any Bids received after the
submittal deadline, and shall return such Bids unopened to the

Bidder.

General Information:

· If mailed or delivered in person, Bids and Bid addenda are to be delivered in sealed envelope 
on or before the submittal deadline, a s noted in the Public Announcement and General
Information listed above for this IFB, to:

Williamson County Purchasing Department
Attn: BID NAME AND NUMBER
901 South Austin Avenue 
Georgetown, Texas 78626

o Bidders should list the Bid Number, Bid Name, Name and Address of Bidder, and 
the Date of the Bid opening on the outside of the box or envelope and note
“Sealed Bid Enclosed.”

o Bidder should submit one (1) original.
o Williamson County will NOT be responsible for unmarked or improperly marked 

envelopes.
o Williamson County will not accept any responsibility for Bids being delivered by

third party carriers.
o Facsimile transmittals will NOT be accepted.

· Bids will be opened publicly in a manner; however, to avoid public disclosure of contents only 
the names and of Bidders and prices will be read aloud.

· All submitted questions with their answers will be posted and updated on www.bidsync.com.

· It is the Bidder ’s responsibility to review all documents in BidSync, including any Addenda that 
may have been added after the document packet was originally released and posted. 

o Any Addenda and/or other information relevant to the IFB will be posted on
www.bidsync.com. 

o The Williamson County Purchasing Department takes no responsibility to ensure
any interested Bidder has obtained any outstanding addenda or additional
information. 

Bid 1704-157Williamson County, Texas

4/7/2017 9:30 AM p. 2



55

66

Bid 1704-157

Milling & Overlay - Ronald Regan Blvd From FM 3405 To RM 2338

Bid Number     1704 -157 

Bid Title     Milling & Overlay -  Ronald Regan Blvd From FM 3405 To RM 2338 

Expected Expenditure    $1,767,296.00 (This price is expected -  not guaranteed)

Bid Start Date  In Held

Bid End Date  May 17, 2017 3:00:00 PM CDT

Question & Answer 

End Date
 May 12, 2017 5:00:00 PM CDT

Bid Contact     Blake Skiles 

 Purchasing Specialist III 

 512 -943 -1478 

 blake.skiles@wilco.org 

Contract Duration    One Time Purchase 

Contract Renewal    Not Applicable   

Prices Good for    90 days 

Pre-Bid Conference   May 10, 2017 10:00:00 AM CDT

Attendance is mandatory

Location: 3151 S.E. Inner Loop 

Georgetown, TX 78626

Bid Comments Williamson County is seeking qualified Contractors to provide materials, experienced milling, overlay, and 
striping crews and equipment to resurface Ronald Reagan Blvd from approximately FM 3405 to RM 2338.
Substantial Completion 35 Days
Final Completion 40 Days
Liquidated Damages $200/Day
Bonds Required (Performance, Payment, & Warranty)

Item Response Form

Item     1704-157 --01 -01 -  Please Attach All Documents To This Line

Quantity    1 each

Prices are not requested for this item. 

Delivery Location          Williamson County, Texas

No Location Specified

Qty  1 

Description
Please Attach All Documents To This Line 

Bid 1704-157Williamson County, Texas

4/7/2017 9:30 AM p. 3



5

6

3 4

Williamson County – Invitation for Bid (IFB)

SECTION 1 - DEFINITIONS 

Addendum/Addenda – means any written or graphic instruments issued by the County prior to the 
consideration of Bids which modify or interpret the Bid Documents by additions, deletions, clarifications, 
or corrections.

Agreement/Ensuing Agreement(s) – means the Successful Bidder may be required by the County to 
sign an additional Agreement containing terms necessary to ensure compliance with the IFB and the 
Bidder ’s Bid.  Such Ensuing Agreement(s) shall contain the Bid specifications, terms and conditions that 
are derived from the IFB.

Bid Documents – means the Legal Notice, IFB including attachments, and any Addenda issued by the 
County prior to the consideration of any Bids.

Bid – means the completed and signed bid form, (sometimes referred to as the Price Sheet), and ALL 
required forms and documentation listed in the IFB package which have been submitted in accordance 
with the terms and conditions described in the IFB package.  A Bid submitted in accordance with this IFB 
is irrevocable during the specified period for evaluation and acceptance of Bids unless a waiver is 
obtained from the Williamson County Purchasing Agent.

Bidder – means a person or entity who submits a Bid in response to this IFB.

Contract – means this IFB and the Bid of the Successful Bidder shall become a Contract between the 
Successful Bidder and the County once the Successful Bidder ’s Bid is properly accepted by the 
Williamson County Commissioners Court.

Commissioner ’s Court – means the Williamson County Commissioners Court. 

County – means Williamson County, a political subdivision of the State of Texas.

Invitation for Bid (IFB) – means this document, together with the attachments thereto and any future 
Addenda issued by the County.

Successful Bidder – means the liable Bidder to whom the County intends to award the Contract.

SECTION 2 - BID FORMAT AND SUBMISSION

2.1 ORGANIZATION OF BID CONTENTS FOR SUBMITTAL 

Each Bid should be organized and items submitted in the order described below: 

A. Transmittal Letter. Please see Section 2.3, Transmittal Letter, for more information. 

B. Price Sheet.

C. Conflict of Interest Questionnaire. Please see Section 2.2, Conflict of Interest, for more 
information in regards to this. Please note that even if you deem there to be no Conflict of Interest, 
this signed questionnaire must be included in your package. 

D. References. Please see Section 3.15, References, for more information. 

E. Bid Affidavit.

F. Form 1295. Please see Section 2.4, Certificate of Interested Parties – Form 1295. 

2.2 CONFLICT OF INTEREST

No public official shall have interest in a Contract, in accordance with Vernon ’s Texas Codes Annotated, 
Local Government Code, Title 5, Subtitle C, Chapter 171, as amended. 

As of January 1, 2006, all Bidders are responsible for complying with Local Government Code, Title 5, 
Subtitle C, Chapter 176.  Additional information may be obtained from the County’s website at the 
following link: 

http://www.wilco.org/CountyDepartments/Purchasing/ConflictofInterestDisclosure/tabid/689/language/en
US/Default.aspx

Each Bidder must disclose any existing or potential conflict of interest relative to the performance of the 
requirements of this IFB.  Examples of potential conflicts of interest may include an existing 
business or personal relationship between the Bidder, its principal, or any affiliate or 
subcontractor with the County or any other entity or person involved in any way with the project 
that is subject to this IFB .  Similarly, any personal or business relationship between the Bidder, the 

principals, or any affiliate or subcontractor with any employee, or official of the County or its suppliers 
must be disclosed.  Any such relationship that might be perceived or represented as a conflict must be 
disclosed. Failure to disclose any such relationship or reveal personal relationships with the County 
employees or officials may be cause for termination. 

The County will decide if an actual or perceived conflict should result in Bid disqualification. 

By submitting a Bid in response to this IFB, all Bidders affirm they have not given, nor intend to give, at 
any time hereafter, any economic opportunity, future employment, gift, loan, gratuity, special discount, 
trip, favor, or service to a the County public servant or any employee, official or representative of same, in 
connection with this procurement. 

Each Bidder must provide a Conflict of Interest Statement with their Bid Package.  Package may 

be deemed incomplete without this form.  

2.3 TRANSMITTAL LETTER

The Bidder should submit a Transmittal Letter that provides the following information: 

A. Name and address of individual or business entity submitting the Bid. 

B. Name, physical address, email address, business and fax number of the Bidder ’s principal 
contact person regarding all contractual matters relating to this IFB.

C. The Bid ’s Federal Employer Identification Number.

D. If the Proposal being submitted will have an effect on air quality for the County (as it relates to any 
state, federal, or voluntary air quality standard), then the Respondent is encouraged to provide
information in narrative indicating the anticipated air quality impact. See Section 4.36, Air Quality 
for more information. 

2.4 CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PARTIES – FORM 1295

As of January 1, 2016, all Successful Bidders are responsible for complying with the Texas Government 
Code, Section 2252.908.  The law states that the County may not enter into certain contracts with a 
Bidder unless the Bidder submits a disclosure of interested parties to the County at the time the Bidder 
submits the signed Contract.  The law applies only to a Contract of the County on or after January 1, 
2016 that either:

A. Requires an action or vote by the Commissioners Court before the Contract may be signed (all 
contracts that fall under the jurisdiction of the Commissioners Court approval, such as contracts 
resulting from an Initiation for Bid (IFB), RFP, Request for Qualifications (RFQ), etc., excluding, 
but not limited to, certain Juvenile Service contracts, contracts funded with Sheriff ’s seized fun 
monies, etc.); or

B. Has a value of at least $1,000,000. 

By January 1, 2016, the Texas Ethics Commission will make available on its website, a new filing 
application that must be used to file Form 1295.  Information regarding how to use the filing application is 
available on the Texas Ethics Commission website at the following link:

https://www.ethics.state.tx.us/whatsnew/elf_info_form1295.htm

A Respondent must:

A. Use the online application to process the required information on Form 1295.

B. Print a copy of the form which will contain a unique certification number.

C. An authorized agent of the Bidder must sign the printed copy of the form.

D. Have the form notarized.

E. File the completed Form 1295 and certification of filing (scanning and emailing form is sufficient) 
with Williamson County Purchasing Agent at the time the signed Contract is submitted for 
approval.

After the Commissioners Court award of the Contract, the County shall notify the Texas Ethics 
Commission, using the Texas Ethics Commission ’s filing application, of the receipt of the filed Form 
1295 and certification of filing not later than the 30th day after the date the Contract binds all parties to the 
Contract. The Texas Ethics Commission will post the completed Form 1295 to its website within seven 
business days after receiving notice from the County.

2.5 ETHICS

The Bidder shall not accept or offer gifts or anything of value nor enter into any business arrangement 
with any employee, official or agent of the County.

2.6 BID SUBMITTAL DEADLINE

The Bid is due no later than the submittal date and time set forth in the Public Announcement and 
General Information listed in this IFB package.  Contents of each Bid shall be submitted in accordance 
with this IFB.

2.7 DELIVERY OF BIDS

The County uses BidSync to distribute and receive Bids and proposals.  It is preferred that Bids
submitted electronically through BidSync; however, Bidders can submit a hard copy.  

Refer to www.bidsync.com for further information on how to submit electronically.

If mailed or delivered in person, Bids and Bid Addenda are to be delivered in sealed envelope on or before
the submittal deadline, as noted in the Public Announcement and General Information listed in this IFB 
package, to:

            Williamson County Purchasing Department
            Attn: Bid Name and Number
            901 South Austin Avenue
            Georgetown, Texas 78626

Also, all Bidders should list their Name and Address, and the Date of the Bid opening on the outside
the box or envelope and note “Sealed Bid Enclosed.” The County will not accept any Bids received after 
the submittal deadline, and shall return such Bids unopened to the Bidder.  The County will not accept 
any responsibility for Bids being delivered by third party carriers.  

Bids will be opened publically and the names of Bidders and pricing will be read aloud.

SECTION 3 - INSTRUCTIONS AND GENERAL REQUIREMENTS

3.1 INSTRUCTIONS

Read this document carefully, and follow all instructions and requirements.  All Bidders are responsible 
for fulfilling all requirements and specifications.  Be sure to have a clear understanding of this IFB.

General requirements apply to all advertised IFBs; however, these may be superseded, in whole or in 
part, by the bid specifications, Addenda and modifications issued as a part of this IFB.  Be sure your Bid 
package is complete.

3.2 AMBIGUITY, CONFLICT, OR OTHER ERRORS IN THIS IFB

If a Bidder discovers any ambiguity, conflict, discrepancy, omission or other error in this IFB, the Bidder 
shall immediately notify the County Purchasing Department of such error in writing and request
modification or clarification of the document.

Modifications will be made by issuing Addenda. If the Bidder fails to notify the County prior to the date
and time fixed for submission of Bids of an error or ambiguity in the IFB known to the Bidder, or an error
or ambiguity that reasonably should have been known to the Bidder, then the Bidder shall be deemed to 
have waived the error or ambiguity or its later resolution.

The County may also modify the IFB, no later than forty-eight (48) hours prior to the date and time fixed
for submission of Bids, by issuance of an Addendum.  All Addenda will be numbered consecutively, 
beginning with one (1).

3.3 NOTIFICATION OF MOST CURRENT ADDRESS

All Bidders in receipt of this IFB shall notify the Williamson County Purchasing Department of any
address changes, contact person changes, and/or telephone number changes no later than forty-eight 
(48) hours prior to the date and time fixed for submission of Bids.

3.4 SIGNATURE OF BIDDER

A. If the Bidder is a Corporation or Limited Liability Company, the legal name of the Corporation
Limited Liability Company shall be provided together with the signature of the officer or officers 
authorized to sign on behalf of such entity.

B. If the Bidder is a General Partnership, the true name of the firm shall be provided with the
signature of each partner authorized to sign.

C. If the Bidder is a Limited Partnership, the name of the Limited Partner ’s General Partner shall
provided with the signature of the officer authorized to sign on behalf of the General Partner.

D. If the Bidder is a Sole Proprietor(s) (individual), each Sole Proprietor(s) shall sign.

E. If signature is by an agent, other than the Sole Proprietor(s) or an officer of a Corporation, Limited 
Liability Company, General Partner or a member of a General Partnership, a power of attorney
equivalent document must be submitted to the Williamson County Purchasing Department.

3.5 ASSUMED BUSINESS NAME

If the Bidder operates business under an Assumed Business Name, the Bidder must have on file with the
Williamson County Clerk a current Assumed Name Certificate and provide a file marked copy of same.

3.6 BID OBLIGATION 

The contents of the IFB, Bid, and any clarification thereof submitted by the Successful Bidder shall
become part of the contractual obligation and incorporated by reference into the Contract and any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

3.7 COMPLIANCE WITH IFB SPECIFICATIONS

It is intended that this IFB describe the requirements and the Bid format in sufficient detail to secure 
comparable Bids.  Failure to comply with all provisions of the IFB may, at the sole discretion of the 
County, result in disqualification.

3.8 WITHDRAWAL OF BID

The Bidder may withdraw its Bid by submitting a written request with the company letterhead and the 
signature of an authorized individual, as described in Section 3.4, Signature of Bidder, to the Williamson 
County Purchasing Department any time prior to the submission deadline.  

The Bidder may submit a new Bid prior to the deadline. Alterations of the Bid in any manner will not be 
considered if submitted after the deadline.  Withdrawal of a Bid after the deadline will be subject to written 
approval of the Williamson County Purchasing Agent.

3.9 EVALUATION AND AWARD

The County reserves the right to use all pertinent information (also learned from sources other than 
disclosed in the Bid process) that might affect the County ’s judgment as to the appropriateness of
award to the lowest and best evaluated Bid. This information may be appended to the Bid evaluation
process results. Information on a Bidder from reliable sources, and not within the Bidder ’s Bid, may also 
be noted and made part of the evaluation fi le.  The County shall have sole discretion for determining 
the reliability of the source.

To ensure the proper and fair evaluation of a solicitation, the County prohibits unsolicited communication 
initiated by the Bidder to the County Official or Employee evaluating or considering the Bids prior to the 
time an award has been made. Unsolicited communication may be ground for disqualifying the 
offending Bidder from consideration or award of the solicitation, or any future solicitation.

Communication between the Bidder and the County will be initiated by the appropriate County Official
Employee in order to obtain information or clarification needed to develop a proper and accurate 
evaluation of the solicitation.

The County intends to award a Contract to the most responsible and responsive Bidder whose Bid will 
be most advantageous to the County. In accordance with Texas Government Code and Local
Government Code, the County may consider, to the extent allowed by law, the following:

A. Price;
B. The Bidder ’s experience and reputation;
C. Quality of the Bidder ’s goods and/or services; 
D. The Bidder ’s safety record;
E. The Bidder ’s proposed personnel; 
F. The Bidder ’s financial capabilities; and 
G. Any other relevant factors specifically listed in this IFB or authorized by law.

3.10 CONDISERATION OF LOCATION OF PRINCIPAL OFFICE 

Pursuant to Texas Local Government Code, Section 271.905 , in purchasing any real property or personal
property that is not affixed to real property, if the County receives one or more Bids from a Bidder whose
principal place of business is in Williamson County and whose Bid is within three (3 )  percent of the
lowest Bid price received by the County from a Bidder who is not a resident of Williamson County, the 
County may enter into a contract with:

A. The lowest Bidder; or the Bidder whose principal place of business is in Williamson County if the
Commissioners Court determines, in writing, that the local Bidder offers the County the best 
combination of contract price and addit ional economic development opportunities
Williamson County created by the contract award, including the employment of residents
Williamson County and increased tax revenues to Williamson County.

It is understood that the Commissioners Court of Williamson County, Texas, reserves the right to accept
or reject any and/or all Bids for any or all goods and/or services covered in this IFB, and to waive
informalities or defects in the Bid or to accept such Bid, if it shall deem to be in the best interest of the 
County.

Awards should be made approximately sixty (60) business days after the Bid opening date. Results may
be obtained by viewing the Williamson County vendor portal at the following link:

http://www.wilco.org/CountyDepartments/Purchasing/SearchforaPastBid/tabid/5213/language/en-
US/Default.aspx

3.11 RESPONSIBILITY 

It is expected that a prospective Bidder will be able to affirmatively demonstrate responsibility.  A 
prospective Bidder should be able to meet the following requirements:

A. Have adequate financial resources, or the ability to obtain such resources as required;
B. Be able to comply with the required or proposed delivery schedule;
C. Have a satisfactory record of performance that can be determined thru references provided; and 
D. Be otherwise qualified and eligible to receive an award.

The County may request representation and other information sufficient to determine the Bidder's ability 
to meet these minimum standards listed above.

3.12 FIRM PRICING 

For unit price items, all of the items listed are to be on a “per unit” basis, stating a firm price per unit or 
unit quantity of each item.  The Bidder must submit a firm price that must be good from the date of Bid 
opening for the fixed period of time set out in this IFB.  Unless the IFB expressly states otherwise, this 
period shall be until the end of the Initial Contract Period.

Bids which do not state a fixed price, or which are subject to change without notice, will not be 
considered.  The Court may award a Contract for the period implied or expressly stated in the lowest and 
best Bid.

3.13 PURCHASE ORDERS

If required by the Williamson County Purchasing Department, a purchase order(s) may be generated to 
the Successful Bidder for goods and/or services.  If a purchase order is issued, the purchase order 
number must appear on all itemized invoices and/or requests for payment.

3.14 SILENCE OF SPECIFICATIONS

The apparent silence of these specifications as to any detail or to the apparent omission from it of a 
detailed description concerning any point, shall be regarded as meaning that only the best practices are 
to prevail.  All interpretations of these specifications shall be made on the basis of this statement.

3.15 REFERENCES

The County may require the Bidder to supply a list of at least three (3) references where like services
and/or goods have been supplied by their firm within the past five (5) years, to include names, titles, 
phone numbers and email addresses of key personnel, and dates of performance.

The County may contact some or all of the references in order to determine the Respondent
performance record on work similar to that described in this RFP.  The County reserves the right to 
contact references other than those provided in the response and to use the information gained from 
them in the evaluation process.

References, if requested, should be provided in accordance with this IFB.  Bid may not be deemed 
complete without the inclusion of requested references.

SECTION 4 - TERMS AND CONDITIONS

4.1 VENUE AND GOVERNING LAW

The Bidder hereby agrees and acknowledges that venue and jurisdiction of any suit, right, or cause of 
action arising out of or in connection with this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s), shall lie 
exclusively in either Williamson County, Texas or in the Austin Division of the Western Federal District of 
Texas, and the parties hereto expressly consent and submit to such jurisdiction.  Furthermore, except to 
the extent that this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) is governed by the laws of the United 
States, this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be governed by and construed in 
accordance with the laws of the State of Texas, excluding, however, its choice of law rules.

4.2 INCORPORATION BY REFERENCE AND PRECEDENCE

A. The Contract shall be derived from the IFB and its Addenda (if applicable), and the Bidder ’ s Bid.  In 
the event of a dispute under the Contract, applicable documents will be referred to for the purpose 
of clarification or for additional detail in the following order of precedence:

1. The IFB and its Addenda (if applicable); and

2. The Bidder ’s Bid.

B. In the event the County requires that an Ensuing Agreement be executed following award and a 
dispute arises between the terms and conditions of the Ensuing Agreement, the IFB and its 
Addenda (if applicable), and the Bidder ’s Bid, applicable documents will be referred to for the 
purpose of clarification or for additional detail in the following order of precedence: 

1. Terms and conditions of the Ensuing Agreement;

2. The IFB its Addenda; and 

3. The Bidder ’s Bid.

4.3 OWNERSHIP OF BID

Each Bid shall become the property of the County upon submittal and will not be returned to Bidders 
unless received after the submittal deadline.

4.4 DISQUALIFICATION OF BIDDER

Upon signing and submittal of the Bid, a Bidder offering to sell supplies, materials, services, or equipment 
to the County, certifies that the Bidder has not violated the antitrust laws of the State of Texas codified in 
Business & Commerce Code, Section 15.01, or the Federal Antitrust Laws, and has not communicated 
directly or indirectly the offer made to any competitor or any other person engaged in such line of 
business.  Any or all Bids may be rejected if the County believes that collusion exists among the Bidders.

4.5 FUNDING

The County intends to budget and make sufficient funds available and authorize funds for expenditure to 
finance the costs of the Contract.  All Bidders understand and agree that the County’s payment of 
amounts under the Contract shall be contingent on the County receiving appropriations or other 
expenditure authority sufficient to allow the County, in the exercise of reasonable administrative 
discretion, to make payments under this Contract.

4.6 ASSIGNMENT, SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS 

The Successful Bidder may not assign, sell, or otherwise transfer the Contract or any other rights or 
interests obtained under the Contract without written permission of the Commissioners Court.  The 
Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the contracting 
parties hereto and their respective successors and permitted assigns.

4.7 IMPLIED REQUIREMENTS

Products or services not specifically described or required in the IFB, but are necessary to provide the 
functional capabilities described by the Bidder, shall be implied and deemed to be included in the Bid.

4.8 TERMINATION

A. Termination for Cause: The County reserves the right to terminate the Contract and/or any 
Ensuing Agreement(s) for default if the Successful Bidder breaches any of the Bid specifications,
terms and conditions, including warranties of the Bidder, if any, or if the Successful Bidder 
becomes insolvent or commits acts of bankruptcy.  Such right of termination is in addition to and
not in lieu of any other remedies the County may have at law or in equity or as may otherwise
provided hereunder.  Default may be construed as, but not limited to, failure to deliver the proper 
goods and/or services within the proper amount of time, and/or to properly perform any and all 
other requirements to the County ’s satisfaction, and/or to meet all other obligations and
requirements.

B. Termination for Convenience: The County may terminate the Contract and/or any Ensuing 
Agreement(s) for convenience and without cause or further liability, upon no less than thirty (30) 
calendar days written notice to the Successful Bidder. The County reserves the right to extend 
this period if it is in the best interest of the County.  In the event the County exercises its right to 
terminate without cause, it is understood and agreed that only the amounts due to the Successful 
Bidder for goods, commodities and/or services provided and expenses incurred to and including 
the date of termination, will be due and payable.  No penalty will be assessed for the County
termination for convenience.

4.9 NON-PERFORMANCE

It is the objective of the County to obtain complete and satisfactory performance of the requirements set 
forth herein.  In addition to any other remedies available at law, in equity or that may be set out herein, 
failure to perform may result in a deduction of payment equal to the amount of the goods and/or services 
that were not provided and/or performed to the County ’s satisfaction.  

In the event of such non-performance, the County shall have the right, but shall not be obligated, to 
complete the services itself or by others and/or purchase the goods from other sources.  If the County 
elects to acquire the goods or perform the services itself or by others, pursuant to the foregoing, the 
Successful Bidder shall reimburse the County, within ten (10) calendar days of demand, for all costs 
incurred by the County (including, without limitation, applicable, general, and administrative expenses, 
and field overhead, and the cost of necessary equipment, materials, and field labor) in correcting the 
nonperformance which the Successful Bidder fails to meet pursuant to the requirements set out herein.  
In the event the Successful Bidder refuses to reimburse the County as set out in this provision, the 
County shall have the right to deduct such reimbursement amounts from any amounts that may be then 
owing or that may become owing in the future to the Successful Bidder.

4.10 PROPRIETARY INFORMATION AND THE TEXAS PUBLIC INFORMATION ACT

All material submitted to the County shall become public property and subject to the Texas Public 
Information Act upon receipt. If a Bidder does not desire proprietary information in the Bid to be 
disclosed, each page must be clearly identified and marked proprietary at time of submittal or, more 
preferably, all proprietary information may be placed in a folder or appendix and be clearly identified and 
marked as being proprietary.  Failure to clearly identify and mark information as being proprietary as set 
forth under this provision will result in all unmarked information being deemed non-proprietary and 
available to the public.  For all information that has not been clearly identified and marked as proprietary 
by the Bidder, the County may choose to place such information on the County ’s website and/or a similar 
public database without obtaining any type of prior consent from the Bidder.

The County will, to the extent allowed by law, endeavor to protect from public disclosure the information 
that has been identified and marked as proprietary.  The final decision as to what information must be 
disclosed, however, lies with the Texas Attorney General.  

To the extent, if any, that any provision in this IFB or in the Bidder ’s Bid is in conflict with Texas 
Government Code, Chapter 552, as amended (the “Public Information Act”), the same shall be of no 
force or effect.  Furthermore, it is expressly understood, and agreed, that the County, and its officers and 
employees, may request advice, decisions and opinions of the Attorney General of the State of Texas in 
regard to the application of the Public Information Act to any items or data furnished to the County as to 
whether or not the same are available to the public.  It is further understood that the County, and its 
officers and employees, shall have the right to rely on the advice, decisions and opinions of the Attorney 
General, and that the County, its officers and employees shall have no liability or obligation to any party 
hereto for the disclosure to the public, or to any person or persons, of any items or data furnished to the 
County by a party hereto, in reliance of any advice, decision or opinion of the Attorney General of the 
State of Texas.

4.11 RIGHT TO AUDIT

The Successful Bidder agrees that the County or its duly authorized representatives shall, until the 
expiration of three (3) years after termination or expiration of the services to be performed, have access 
to and the right to examine and photocopy any and all books, documents, papers and records of the 
Successful Bidder, which are directly pertinent to the services to be performed or goods to be delivered 
for the purposes of making audits, examinations, excerpts and transcriptions.  The Successful Bidder 
agrees that the County shall have access during normal working hours to all necessary facilities and 
shall be provided adequate and appropriate work space in order to conduct audits in compliance with the 
provisions of this section.  The County shall give the Successful Bidder reasonable advance notice of 
intended audits.

4.12 TESTING AND INSPECTIONS

The County reserves the right to inspect and test equipment, supplies, materials and goods for quality 
and compliance with this IFB, and ability to meet the needs of the user.  Demonstration units must be 
available for review.  Should the goods or services fail to meet requirements and/or be unavailable for 
evaluation, the County can deem the Bidder to be in breach and terminate the Contract and/or any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

4.13 BID PREPARATION COSTS

The cost of developing Bids is the sole responsibility of the Bidders and shall not be charged to the 
County.  There is no expressed or implied obligation for the County to reimburse the Bidders for any 
expense incurred in preparing a Bid in response to this IFB and the County will not reimburse the Bidders 
for such expenses.

4.14 INDEMNIFICATION

The Successful Bidder shall indemnify, defend and save harmless, the County, its officials, employees, 
agents and agent ’s employees from, and against, all claims, liability, and expenses including reasonable 
attorneys ’   fees, arising from activities of the Bidder, its agents, servants or employees, performed 
hereunder that result from the negligent act, error, or omission of the Bidder or any of the Bidder
agents, servants or employees, as well as all claims of loss or damage to the Bidder ’s and the County
property, equipment, and/or supplies. 

Furthermore, the County, its officials, employees, agents and agents ’ employees shall not be liable for 
damages to the Successful Bidder arising from any act of any third party, including, but not limited to, 
theft.  The Successful Bidder further agrees to indemnify, defend and save harmless, the County from its 
officials, employee, agents and agents ’ employees against all claims of whatever nature arising from any 
accident, injury, or damage whatsoever, caused to any person, or the property of any person, occurring 
in relation to the Successful Bidder ’s performance of any services requested hereunder during the term 
of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s). 

The Successful Bidder shall timely report all claims, demands, suits, actions, proceedings, liens or 
judgements to the County and shall, upon the receipt of any claim, demand, suit, action, proceeding, lien 

or judgement, not later than the fifteenth (15 th) day of each month; provide the County with a written 
report on each such matter, setting forth the status of each matter, the schedule or planned proceedings 
with respect to each matter and the cooperation or assistance, if any, of the County required by the 
Successful Bidder in the defense of each matter.  The Successful Bidder’s duty to defend, indemnify and 
hold the County harmless shall be absolute.  It shall not abate or end by reason of the expiration or 
termination of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s), unless otherwise agreed by the County in 
writing.  The provisions of this section shall survive the termination of the Contract and shall remain in full 
force and effect with respect to all such matters no matter when they arise. 

In the event of any dispute between the parties, as to whether a claim, demand, suit, action, proceeding, 
lien or judgement, that appears to have been caused by or appears to have arisen out of or in connection 
with acts or omissions of the County, the Bidder shall nevertheless fully defend such claim, demand, suit 
or action, proceeding, lien or judgement, until and unless there is a determination by a court of competent 
jurisdiction that the acts and omissions of the Bidder are not an issue in the matter. 

The Successful Bidder ’s indemnification shall cover, and the Successful Bidder agrees to, indemnify the 
County, in the event the County is found to have been negligent for having selected the Successful 
Bidder to perform the work described in this request.  The provision by the Successful Bidder of 
insurance shall not limit the liability of the Successful Bidder under the Contract and/or any Ensuing 
Agreement(s). 

4.15 WAIVER OF SUBROGATION

The Successful Bidder and the Successful Bidder ’s insurance carrier waive any and all rights 
whatsoever with regard to subrogation against the County as an indirect party to any suit arising out of 
personal or property damages resulting from the Bidder ’s performance under this Contract and any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

4.16 RELATIONSHIP OF THE PARTIES

The Successful Bidder shall be an independent contractor and shall assume all of the rights, obligations, 
liabilities, applicable to it as such independent contractor hereunder and any provisions herein which may 
appear to give the County the right to direct the Successful Bidder as to details of doing work herein 
covered, or to exercise a measure of control over the work, shall be deemed to mean that the Successful 
Bidder shall follow the desires of the County in the results of the work only.  The County shall not retain or 
have the right to control the Successful Bidder ’s means, methods or details pertaining to the Successful 
Bidder ’s performance of the work.  The County and the Successful Bidder hereby agree and declare that 
the Successful Bidder is an independent contractor and as such meets the qualifications of an 
“Independent Contractor” under Texas Workers Compensation Act, Texas Labor Code, Section 406.141, 
that the Successful Bidder is not an employee of  the County, and that the Successful Bidder and its 
employees, agents and subcontractors shall not be entitled to workers compensation coverage or any 
other type of insurance coverage held by the County.

4.17 SOLE PROVIDER

The Successful Bidder agrees and acknowledges that it shall not be considered a sole provider of the 
goods and/or services described herein and that the County may contract with other providers of such 
goods and/or services if the County deems, at its sole discretion, that multiple providers of the same 
goods and/or services will serve the best interest of the County.

4.18 FORCE MAJEURE

If the party obligated to perform is prevented from performance by an act of war, order of legal authority, 
act of God, or other unavoidable cause not attributable to the fault or negligence of said party, the other 
party shall grant such party relief from the performance.  The burden of proof for the need of such relief 
shall rest upon the party obligated to perform.  To obtain release based on force majeure, the party 
obligated to perform shall file a written request with the other party.

4.19 SEVERABILITY

If any provision of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be held invalid or 
unenforceable by any court of competent jurisdiction, such holding shall not invalidate or render 
unenforceable any other provision thereof, but rather the entire IFB, Contract or any Ensuing Agreement
(s) will be construed as if not containing the particular invalid or unenforceable provision or provisions, 
and the rights and obligation of the parties shall be construed and enforced in accordance therewith.  The 
parties acknowledge that if any provision of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) is 
determined to be invalid or unenforceable, it is the desire and intention of each that such provision be 
reformed and construed in such a manner that it will, to the maximum extent practicable, give effect to
the intent of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) and be deemed to be validated and
enforceable.

4.20 EQUAL OPPORTUNITY

Neither party shall discriminate against any employee or applicant for employment because of race, 
color, sex, religion or national origin.

4.21 NOTICE

Any notice to be given shall be in writing and may be distributed by personal delivery, or by registered or 
certified mail, return receipt requested, addressed to the proper party, at the following address:

The County:    Williamson County Purchasing Department 
            Attn: Purchasing Agent 
            901 South Austin Avenue 
            Georgetown, Texas 78626

The Bidder:     Address set out in Bidder’s Transmittal Letter.

Notices given in accordance with this provision shall be effective upon (1) receipt by the party to which 
notice is given, or (2) on the third (3rd) calendar day following mailing, whichever occurs first.

4.22 SALES AND USE TAX EXEMPTION

The County is a body, corporate and politic, under the laws of the State of Texas and claims exemption 
from sales and use taxes under Texas Tax Code, Section 151.309, as amended, and the services and/or 
goods subject hereof are being secured for use by the County.

4.23 COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS

The County and the Successful Bidder shall comply with all federal, state, and local laws, statutes,
ordinances, rules and regulations, and the orders and decrees of any courts or administrative bodies or 
tribunals in any matter affecting the performance of the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s),
including, without limitation, Workers ’ Compensation laws, salary and wage statutes and regulations, 
licensing laws and regulations.  When required, the Successful Bidder shall furnish the County with 
certification of compliance with said laws, statues, ordinances, rules, regulations, orders, and decrees 
above specified.

4.24 INCORPORATION OF EXHIBITS, APPENDICES AND ATTACHMENTS

All of the Exhibits, Appendices and Attachments referred to herein are incorporated by reference as if set 
forth verbatim herein.  Any conflicting terms in the Contract documents will be resolved at the sole 
discretion of the Commissioners Court.

4.25 NO WAIVER OF IMMUNITIES

Nothing herein shall be deemed to waive, modify or amend any legal defense available at law or in equity 
to the County, its past or present officers, employees, or agents, nor to create any legal rights or claim on 
behalf of any third party.  The County does not waive, modify, or alter to any extent whatsoever the 
availability of the defense of governmental immunity under the laws of the State of Texas and of the 
United States.

4.26 NO WAIVER

The failure or delay of any party to enforce at any time or any period of time any of the provisions of this 
IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall not constitute a present or future waiver of such 
provisions nor the right of either party to enforce each and every provision.  Furthermore, no term or 
provision hereof shall be deemed waived and no breach excused unless such waiver or consent shall be 
in writing and signed by the party claimed to have waived or consented.  Any consent by any party to, or 
waiver of, a breach by the other, whether expressed or implied, shall not constitute a consent to, waiver 
of or excuse for any other, different or subsequent breach.

4.27 CURRENT REVENUES

The obligations of the parties under the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) do not constitute a 
general obligation or indebtedness of the County for which the County is obligated to levy, pledge, or 
collect any of taxation.  It is understood and agreed that the County shall have the right to terminate the 
Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) at the end of any the County fiscal year if the governing body of 
the County does not appropriate sufficient funds as determined by the County ’s budget for the fiscal year 
in question.  The County may effect such termination by giving written notice of termination to the 
Successful Bidder at the end of its then-current fiscal year.

4.28 FOB DESTINATION

To the extent applicable to this IFB, all of the items listed are to be Free On Board to final destination 
(FOB Destination) with all transportation charges if applicable to be included in the Bid, unless otherwise 
specified in the Invitation for Bids.  The title and risk of loss of the goods shall not pass to the County until 
receipt and acceptance takes place at the FOB Destination point.

4.29 BINDING EFFECT

This Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties 
and their respective permitted assigns and successors.

4.30 ASSIGNMENT

The Successful Bidder ’s interest and duties hereunder may not be assigned or delegated to a third party 
without the express written consent of the County.

4.31 SAFETY

The Successful Bidder is responsible for initiating, maintaining, and supervising all safety precautions 
and programs in connection with any services to be provided hereunder. The safety program shall 
comply with all applicable requirements of the current federal Occupational Safety and Health Act and all 
other applicable federal, state and local laws and regulations.

4.32 GENERAL OBLIGATIONS AND RELIANCE

The Successful Bidder shall perform all services and/or provide all goods, as well as those reasonably
inferable and necessary for completion and provision of services and/or goods required hereunder. The
Successful Bidder shall keep the County informed of the progress and quality of the services.  The 
Successful Bidder agrees and acknowledges that the County is relying on the Successful Bidder's 
represented expertise and ability to provide the goods and/or services described herein.  The Successful
Bidder agrees to use its best efforts, skill, judgment, and abilities to perform its obligations in accordance
with the highest standards used in the profession and to further the interests of the County 
accordance with the County ’s requirements and procedures.    T h e   Successful Bidder ’s duties,
set forth herein, shall at no time be in any way diminished by reason of any approval by the County, nor
shall the Successful Bidder be released from any liability by reason of such approval by the County, it 
being understood that the County at all times is ultimately relying upon the Successful Bidder ’s skill and 
knowledge in performing the services and providing any goods required hereunder.

4.33 ESTIMATED QUANTITIES

To the extent applicable to this IFB, the estimated quantity of each item listed in this IFB is only
estimate; the actual quantity to be purchased may be more or less. The County is not obligated
purchase any minimum amount, and the County may purchase any reasonable amount greater than the
estimate for the same unit price. Any limit on quantities available must be stated expressly in the Bid.

4.34 CONTRACTUAL DEVELOPMENT

The contents of the IFB and the Successful Bidder ’s Bid will become an integral part of the Contract, but 
may be modified, at the County ’s sole discretion, by provisions of an Ensuing Agreement.  Therefore, the 
Bidder must agree to an inclusion of an Ensuing Agreement of the Bid specifications, terms and 
conditions of this IFB.  If an Ensuing Agreement is required under this IFB, information relative to the 
Agreement will be located in the Special Provisions Section of this IFB.

4.35 SURVIVABILITY 

All applicable agreements that were entered into between the Successful Bidder and the County, under 
the terms and conditions of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s), shall survive the expiration or 
termination thereof for ninety (90) days unless a new contract has been awarded.

The County may exercise, by written notice to the Successful Bidder no later than ten (10) calendar days 
of the Contract expiration, this clause for emergencies only. 

4.36 AIR QUALITY

In determining the overall best Bid, the County may, to the extent applicable, exercise the option granted 
to local governments under the Texas Local Government Code, Section 271.907.

This option allows the County to evaluate Bids and give preference to goods and/or services of a Bidder 
that demonstrates that the Bidder meets or exceeds any and all state or federal environmental 
standards, including voluntary standards, relating to air quality.  If the Bid being submitted will have an 
effect on air quality for the County (as it relates to any state, federal, or voluntary air quality standard), 
then the Bidder is encouraged to provide information in narrative indicating the anticipated air quality 
impact.  All Bidders are expected to meet all mandated state and federal air quality standards.

4.37 ENTIRE AGREEMENT

The Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall supersede all prior Agreements, written or oral 
between the Successful Bidder and the County and shall constitute the entire Agreement and 
understanding between the parties with respect to the services and/or goods to be provided.  Each of the 
provisions herein shall be binding upon the parties and may not be waived, modified, amended or altered, 
except by writing signed by the Successful Bidder and the County.

4.38 PAYMENT

The County ’s payment for goods and services shall be governed by the Texas Government Code, 

Chapter 2251.  An invoice shall be deemed overdue the thirty-first (31st) day after the later of the 
following: 

A. The date the County receives the goods under the Contract; 
B. The date the performance of the service under the Contract is completed; or 
C. The date the Williamson County Auditor receives an invoice for the goods or services.  

Interest charges for any overdue payments shall be paid by the County in accordance with Texas 
Government Code, Section 2251.025.  More specifically, the rate of interest that shall accrue on a late 
payment is the rate in effect on September 1 of the County ’s fiscal year in which the payment becomes 
due.  The said rate in effect on September 1 shall be equal to the sum of one (1) percent, and the prime 

rate published in the Wall Street Journal on the first (1st) day of July of the preceding fiscal year that does 
not fall on a Saturday or Sunday.

In the event that an error appears in an invoice submitted by the Successful Bidder, the County shall 
notify the Successful Bidder of the error not later than the twenty-first (21st) day after the date the County 
receives the invoice.  If the error is resolved in favor of the Successful Bidder, the Successful Bidder 
shall be entitled to receive interest on the unpaid balance of the invoice submitted by the Successful 
Bidder beginning on the date that the payment for the invoice became overdue.  If the error is resolved in 
favor of the County, the Successful Bidder shall submit a corrected invoice that must be paid in 
accordance within the time set forth above.  The unpaid balance accrues interest as provided by the 
Texas Government Code, Chapter 2251, if the corrected invoice is not paid by the appropriate date.

As a minimum, invoices shall include:

A. Name, address, and telephone number of the Successful Bidder and similar information in the 
event the payment is to be made to a different address. 

B. The County Contract, Purchase Order. 

C. Identification of items or service as outlined in the Contract. 

D. Quantity or quantities, applicable unit prices, total prices and total amount. 

E. Any additional payment information which may be called for by the Contract. 

Payment inquiries should be directed to the following address:        

            Williamson County Auditor’s Office, Accounts Payable Department
            Email: accountspayable@wilco.org
            Phone: 512-943-1500

4.39 CONTRACTUAL FORMATION AND ENSUING AGREEMENT

The IFB and the Bidder ’s Bid, when properly accepted by the Commissioners Court, shall constitute a
Contract equally binding between the Successful Bidder and the County.

If an Ensuing Agreement is required by this IFB, that information will be provided in Special 
Provisions section of this IFB.  The Successful Bidder shall be required to execute the Agreement at 
the Williamson County Purchasing Department approximately ten (10) calendar days after the 
Successful Bidder is notified of award.  The Ensuing Agreement shall be in the same form as the 
Agreement which is attached to the end of this IFB.  The only anticipated changes in the Ensuing 
Agreement will be to include additional exhibits, to fill in blanks to identify the Successful Bidder, and 
terms relating to the compensation, or to revise the Agreement to accommodate corrections, changes in 
the scope of services, or changes pursuant to Addenda issued.  Bidders should raise any questions 
regarding the terms of the Agreement in the form of written questions or submittals as 
described in the Public Announcement and General Information portion of this IFB.  Because the 
signed Ensuing Agreement will be substantively and substantially derived from the attached Agreement, 
each Bidder is urged to seek independent legal counsel as to any questions about the terms, conditions 
or provisions contained in the Agreement before submitting a Bid.  Again, the attached Agreement, if 
applicable, contains important legal provisions and is considered part and parcel of this IFB.  Failure or 
refusal to sign aforesaid Agreement shall be grounds for the County to revoke any award which has been 
issued, forfeit Bid security, if applicable, and select another Bidder.

4.40 COOPERATIVE PURCHASING PROGRAM 

During the term of the Contract resulting from this IFB, the County would like to afford the same prices, 
terms and conditions to other political subdivisions or public entities.  Another entity’s participation in the 
Contract resulting from this IFB is subject to a properly authorized Purchasing Cooperative Inter- local 
Agreement with the County.  Any liability created by purchase orders issued against the Contract shall be 
the sole responsibility of the governmental agency placing the order.

4.41 INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS

To the extent applicable Insurance information will appear in the Additional Stipulations section that is in 
this IFB Package. 

4.42 BIDDERS BOND, WARRANTY BOND, PERFORMANCE AND PAYMENT BONDS

To the extent applicable Bond information will appear in the Additional Stipulations section that is in this 
IFB Package. 

4.43 LEGAL LIABILITY INFORMATION

The Successful Bidder shall disclose all legal liability information by listing any pending litigation
anticipated litigation that your firm is involved in including, but not limited to, potential or actual legal
matters with private parties and any local, state, federal or international governmental entities. The
County reserves the right to consider legal liability information in the recommendation of any proposed 
contract to the Commissioners Court.

4.44 INCLEMENT WEATHER

In case of inclement weather or any other unforeseen event causing the County to close for business on 
the date of a Bid submission deadline, the Bid closing will automatically be postponed until the next 
business day the County is open.  If inclement weather conditions or any other unforeseen event causes 
delays in carrier service operations, the County may issue an Addendum to all known Bidders interested 
in the project to extend the deadline.  It will be the responsibility of the Bidder to notify the County of their 
interest in the project if these conditions are impacting their ability to turn in a submission within the 
stated deadline.  The County reserves the right to make the final judgement call to extend any deadline. 

4.45 PREVAILING WAGE RATES

To the extent this procurement is for the construction of a public work, including a building, highway, 
road, excavation, and repair work or other project development or improvement, paid for in whole or in 
part from public funds, without regard to whether the work is done under public supervision or direction, 
Texas Government Code, Chapter 2258, shall apply and the contractor shall pay not less than the wage 
scale of the various classes of labor as shown on the “Prevailing Wage Schedule” provided by the 
County. Pursuant to Texas Government Code, Section 2258.022(a)(2), the County has determined the 
general prevailing rate of the “Prevailing Wage Schedule”  in the locality in which the public work is to be 
performed for each craft or type of worker needed to execute the contract and the prevailing rate for legal 
holiday and overtime work by using the prevailing wage rate as determined by the United States 
Department of Labor in accordance with the United States Code, Section 276a (Davis-Bacon Act). 

The specified wage rates are minimum rates only, and are not representations that qualified labor 
adequate to perform the work is available locally at the prevailing wage rates. The County is not bound to 
pay—and will not consider—any claims for additional compensation made by any contractor because the 
contractor pays wages in excess of the applicable minimum rate contained in the Contract Documents. 
The “Prevailing Wage Schedule”  is not a representation that quantities of qualified labor adequate to 
perform the work may be found locally at the specified wage rates.

For classifications not shown, workers shall not be paid less than the wage indicated for laborers. The 
contractor shall notify each worker commencing work on the project the worker ’s job classification and 
the established minimum wage rate required to be paid, as well as the actual amount being paid. The 
notice must be delivered to and signed in acknowledgement of receipt by the employee and must list 
both the monetary wages and fringe benefits to be paid or furnished for each classification in which the 
worker is assigned duties. When requested by the County, competent evidence of compliance with the 
Texas Prevailing Wage Law shall be furnished by contractor. A copy of each worker wage rate 
notification shall be submitted to the County with the Application for Payment for the period during which 
the worker began on-site activities.

Should the contractor at any time become aware that a particular skill or trade not reflected on the 
County ’s “Prevailing Wage Schedule” will be or is being employed in the work, whether by the contractor 
or by a subcontractor, the contractor shall promptly inform the County and shall specify a wage rate for 
that skill or trade, which shall bind the contractor.

The contractor and any subcontractor shall pay to the County a penalty of sixty dollars ($60.00) for each 
worker employed for each calendar day, or portion thereof, that the worker is paid less than the wage 
rates stipulated in the “Prevailing Wage Schedule” or any supplement thereto. The contractor and each 
subcontractor shall keep, or cause to be kept, an accurate record showing the names and occupations 
of all workers employed in connection with the work, and showing the actual per diem wages paid to 
each worker, which records shall be open at all reasonable hours for the inspection by the County.

Within thirty-one (31) days of receipt of information concerning a violation of the Texas Government Code 
Chapter 2258, the County shall make an initial determination as to whether good cause exists to believe 
a violation occurred. The County ’s decision on the initial determination shall be reduced to writing and 
sent to the contractor or subcontractor against whom the violation was alleged, and to the affected 
worker. When a good cause finding is made, the County shall retain the full amounts claimed by the 
claimant or claimants as the difference between wages paid and wages due under the “Prevailing Wage 
Schedule” and any supplements thereto, together with the applicable penalties, such amounts being 
subtracted from successive progress payments pending a final decision on the violation.

After the County makes its initial determination, the affected contractor or subcontractor and worker have 
fourteen (14) calendar days in which to resolve the issue of whether a violation occurred, including the 
amount that should be retained by the County or paid to the affected worker. If the contractor or 
subcontractor and affected worker reach an agreement concerning the worker ’s claim, the contractor 
shall promptly notify the County in a written document signed by the worker. It the contractor or 

Subcontractor and affected worker do not agree before the fifteenth (15 th) calendar day after the County
determination, the contractor or subcontractor and affected worker must participate in binding arbitration 
in accordance with the Texas General Arbitration Act, Chapter 171, (Texas Civil Practice and Remedies 
Code). The parties to the arbitration have ten (10) calendar days after the expiration of the fifteen (15) 

calendar days referred to above, to agree on an arbitrator; if by the eleventh (11 th) calendar day there is 
no agreement to an arbitrator, a district court shall appoint an arbitrator on the petition of any of the 
parties to the arbitration.

If an arbitrator determines that a violation has occurred, the arbitrator shall assess and award against the 
contractor or subcontractor the amount of penalty as provided above and the amount owed the worker. 
The County may use any amounts retained hereunder to pay the worker the amount as designated in the 
arbitration award. If the County has not retained enough from the contractor or subcontractor to pay the 
worker in accordance with the arbitration award, the worker has a right of action against the contractor 
and subcontractor as appropriate, and the surety of either to receive the amount owed, attorneys ’  fees 
and court costs. The contractor shall promptly furnish a copy of the arbitration award to the County.

Money retained pursuant to the provisions above shall be used to pay the claimant or claimants the 
difference between the amount the worker received in wages for labor on the project at the rate paid by 
the contractor or subcontractor and the amount the worker would have received at the general prevailing 
wage rate as provided by the agreement of the claimant and the contractor or subcontractor affected, or 
in the arbitrator ’s award. The full statutory penalty of sixty dollars ($60.00) per calendar day of violation 
per worker shall be retained by Williamson County to offset its administrative costs, pursuant to Texas 
Government Code, Section, 2258.023. Any retained funds in excess of these amounts shall be paid to 
the contractor on the earlier of the next progress payment or final payment. Provided, however, that the 
County shall have no duty to release any funds to either the claimant or the contractor until it has 
received the notices of agreement or the arbitration award as provided under the provision herein-above.

4.46 CONFIDENTIALITY

The Bidder expressly agrees that it will not use any direct or incidental confidential information that may 
be obtained while working in a governmental setting for its own benefit, and agrees that it will not access 
unauthorized areas or confidential information and it will not disclose any information to unauthorized 
third parties, and will take care to guard the security of the information at all times.

Bid 1704-157Williamson County, Texas

4/7/2017 9:30 AM p. 4



5

6

3 4

Williamson County – Invitation for Bid (IFB)

SECTION 1 - DEFINITIONS 

Addendum/Addenda – means any written or graphic instruments issued by the County prior to the 
consideration of Bids which modify or interpret the Bid Documents by additions, deletions, clarifications, 
or corrections.

Agreement/Ensuing Agreement(s) – means the Successful Bidder may be required by the County to 
sign an additional Agreement containing terms necessary to ensure compliance with the IFB and the 
Bidder ’s Bid.  Such Ensuing Agreement(s) shall contain the Bid specifications, terms and conditions that 
are derived from the IFB.

Bid Documents – means the Legal Notice, IFB including attachments, and any Addenda issued by the 
County prior to the consideration of any Bids.

Bid – means the completed and signed bid form, (sometimes referred to as the Price Sheet), and ALL 
required forms and documentation listed in the IFB package which have been submitted in accordance 
with the terms and conditions described in the IFB package.  A Bid submitted in accordance with this IFB 
is irrevocable during the specified period for evaluation and acceptance of Bids unless a waiver is 
obtained from the Williamson County Purchasing Agent.

Bidder – means a person or entity who submits a Bid in response to this IFB.

Contract – means this IFB and the Bid of the Successful Bidder shall become a Contract between the 
Successful Bidder and the County once the Successful Bidder ’s Bid is properly accepted by the 
Williamson County Commissioners Court.

Commissioner ’s Court – means the Williamson County Commissioners Court. 

County – means Williamson County, a political subdivision of the State of Texas.

Invitation for Bid (IFB) – means this document, together with the attachments thereto and any future 
Addenda issued by the County.

Successful Bidder – means the liable Bidder to whom the County intends to award the Contract.

SECTION 2 - BID FORMAT AND SUBMISSION

2.1 ORGANIZATION OF BID CONTENTS FOR SUBMITTAL 

Each Bid should be organized and items submitted in the order described below: 

A. Transmittal Letter. Please see Section 2.3, Transmittal Letter, for more information. 

B. Price Sheet.

C. Conflict of Interest Questionnaire. Please see Section 2.2, Conflict of Interest, for more 
information in regards to this. Please note that even if you deem there to be no Conflict of Interest, 
this signed questionnaire must be included in your package. 

D. References. Please see Section 3.15, References, for more information. 

E. Bid Affidavit.

F. Form 1295. Please see Section 2.4, Certificate of Interested Parties – Form 1295. 

2.2 CONFLICT OF INTEREST

No public official shall have interest in a Contract, in accordance with Vernon ’s Texas Codes Annotated, 
Local Government Code, Title 5, Subtitle C, Chapter 171, as amended. 

As of January 1, 2006, all Bidders are responsible for complying with Local Government Code, Title 5, 
Subtitle C, Chapter 176.  Additional information may be obtained from the County’s website at the 
following link: 

http://www.wilco.org/CountyDepartments/Purchasing/ConflictofInterestDisclosure/tabid/689/language/en
US/Default.aspx

Each Bidder must disclose any existing or potential conflict of interest relative to the performance of the 
requirements of this IFB.  Examples of potential conflicts of interest may include an existing 
business or personal relationship between the Bidder, its principal, or any affiliate or 
subcontractor with the County or any other entity or person involved in any way with the project 
that is subject to this IFB .  Similarly, any personal or business relationship between the Bidder, the 

principals, or any affiliate or subcontractor with any employee, or official of the County or its suppliers 
must be disclosed.  Any such relationship that might be perceived or represented as a conflict must be 
disclosed. Failure to disclose any such relationship or reveal personal relationships with the County 
employees or officials may be cause for termination. 

The County will decide if an actual or perceived conflict should result in Bid disqualification. 

By submitting a Bid in response to this IFB, all Bidders affirm they have not given, nor intend to give, at 
any time hereafter, any economic opportunity, future employment, gift, loan, gratuity, special discount, 
trip, favor, or service to a the County public servant or any employee, official or representative of same, in 
connection with this procurement. 

Each Bidder must provide a Conflict of Interest Statement with their Bid Package.  Package may 

be deemed incomplete without this form.  

2.3 TRANSMITTAL LETTER

The Bidder should submit a Transmittal Letter that provides the following information: 

A. Name and address of individual or business entity submitting the Bid. 

B. Name, physical address, email address, business and fax number of the Bidder ’s principal 
contact person regarding all contractual matters relating to this IFB.

C. The Bid ’s Federal Employer Identification Number.

D. If the Proposal being submitted will have an effect on air quality for the County (as it relates to any 
state, federal, or voluntary air quality standard), then the Respondent is encouraged to provide
information in narrative indicating the anticipated air quality impact. See Section 4.36, Air Quality 
for more information. 

2.4 CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PARTIES – FORM 1295

As of January 1, 2016, all Successful Bidders are responsible for complying with the Texas Government 
Code, Section 2252.908.  The law states that the County may not enter into certain contracts with a 
Bidder unless the Bidder submits a disclosure of interested parties to the County at the time the Bidder 
submits the signed Contract.  The law applies only to a Contract of the County on or after January 1, 
2016 that either:

A. Requires an action or vote by the Commissioners Court before the Contract may be signed (all 
contracts that fall under the jurisdiction of the Commissioners Court approval, such as contracts 
resulting from an Initiation for Bid (IFB), RFP, Request for Qualifications (RFQ), etc., excluding, 
but not limited to, certain Juvenile Service contracts, contracts funded with Sheriff ’s seized fun 
monies, etc.); or

B. Has a value of at least $1,000,000. 

By January 1, 2016, the Texas Ethics Commission will make available on its website, a new filing 
application that must be used to file Form 1295.  Information regarding how to use the filing application is 
available on the Texas Ethics Commission website at the following link:

https://www.ethics.state.tx.us/whatsnew/elf_info_form1295.htm

A Respondent must:

A. Use the online application to process the required information on Form 1295.

B. Print a copy of the form which will contain a unique certification number.

C. An authorized agent of the Bidder must sign the printed copy of the form.

D. Have the form notarized.

E. File the completed Form 1295 and certification of filing (scanning and emailing form is sufficient) 
with Williamson County Purchasing Agent at the time the signed Contract is submitted for 
approval.

After the Commissioners Court award of the Contract, the County shall notify the Texas Ethics 
Commission, using the Texas Ethics Commission ’s filing application, of the receipt of the filed Form 
1295 and certification of filing not later than the 30th day after the date the Contract binds all parties to the 
Contract. The Texas Ethics Commission will post the completed Form 1295 to its website within seven 
business days after receiving notice from the County.

2.5 ETHICS

The Bidder shall not accept or offer gifts or anything of value nor enter into any business arrangement 
with any employee, official or agent of the County.

2.6 BID SUBMITTAL DEADLINE

The Bid is due no later than the submittal date and time set forth in the Public Announcement and 
General Information listed in this IFB package.  Contents of each Bid shall be submitted in accordance 
with this IFB.

2.7 DELIVERY OF BIDS

The County uses BidSync to distribute and receive Bids and proposals.  It is preferred that Bids
submitted electronically through BidSync; however, Bidders can submit a hard copy.  

Refer to www.bidsync.com for further information on how to submit electronically.

If mailed or delivered in person, Bids and Bid Addenda are to be delivered in sealed envelope on or before
the submittal deadline, as noted in the Public Announcement and General Information listed in this IFB 
package, to:

            Williamson County Purchasing Department
            Attn: Bid Name and Number
            901 South Austin Avenue
            Georgetown, Texas 78626

Also, all Bidders should list their Name and Address, and the Date of the Bid opening on the outside
the box or envelope and note “Sealed Bid Enclosed.” The County will not accept any Bids received after 
the submittal deadline, and shall return such Bids unopened to the Bidder.  The County will not accept 
any responsibility for Bids being delivered by third party carriers.  

Bids will be opened publically and the names of Bidders and pricing will be read aloud.

SECTION 3 - INSTRUCTIONS AND GENERAL REQUIREMENTS

3.1 INSTRUCTIONS

Read this document carefully, and follow all instructions and requirements.  All Bidders are responsible 
for fulfilling all requirements and specifications.  Be sure to have a clear understanding of this IFB.

General requirements apply to all advertised IFBs; however, these may be superseded, in whole or in 
part, by the bid specifications, Addenda and modifications issued as a part of this IFB.  Be sure your Bid 
package is complete.

3.2 AMBIGUITY, CONFLICT, OR OTHER ERRORS IN THIS IFB

If a Bidder discovers any ambiguity, conflict, discrepancy, omission or other error in this IFB, the Bidder 
shall immediately notify the County Purchasing Department of such error in writing and request
modification or clarification of the document.

Modifications will be made by issuing Addenda. If the Bidder fails to notify the County prior to the date
and time fixed for submission of Bids of an error or ambiguity in the IFB known to the Bidder, or an error
or ambiguity that reasonably should have been known to the Bidder, then the Bidder shall be deemed to 
have waived the error or ambiguity or its later resolution.

The County may also modify the IFB, no later than forty-eight (48) hours prior to the date and time fixed
for submission of Bids, by issuance of an Addendum.  All Addenda will be numbered consecutively, 
beginning with one (1).

3.3 NOTIFICATION OF MOST CURRENT ADDRESS

All Bidders in receipt of this IFB shall notify the Williamson County Purchasing Department of any
address changes, contact person changes, and/or telephone number changes no later than forty-eight 
(48) hours prior to the date and time fixed for submission of Bids.

3.4 SIGNATURE OF BIDDER

A. If the Bidder is a Corporation or Limited Liability Company, the legal name of the Corporation
Limited Liability Company shall be provided together with the signature of the officer or officers 
authorized to sign on behalf of such entity.

B. If the Bidder is a General Partnership, the true name of the firm shall be provided with the
signature of each partner authorized to sign.

C. If the Bidder is a Limited Partnership, the name of the Limited Partner ’s General Partner shall
provided with the signature of the officer authorized to sign on behalf of the General Partner.

D. If the Bidder is a Sole Proprietor(s) (individual), each Sole Proprietor(s) shall sign.

E. If signature is by an agent, other than the Sole Proprietor(s) or an officer of a Corporation, Limited 
Liability Company, General Partner or a member of a General Partnership, a power of attorney
equivalent document must be submitted to the Williamson County Purchasing Department.

3.5 ASSUMED BUSINESS NAME

If the Bidder operates business under an Assumed Business Name, the Bidder must have on file with the
Williamson County Clerk a current Assumed Name Certificate and provide a file marked copy of same.

3.6 BID OBLIGATION 

The contents of the IFB, Bid, and any clarification thereof submitted by the Successful Bidder shall
become part of the contractual obligation and incorporated by reference into the Contract and any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

3.7 COMPLIANCE WITH IFB SPECIFICATIONS

It is intended that this IFB describe the requirements and the Bid format in sufficient detail to secure 
comparable Bids.  Failure to comply with all provisions of the IFB may, at the sole discretion of the 
County, result in disqualification.

3.8 WITHDRAWAL OF BID

The Bidder may withdraw its Bid by submitting a written request with the company letterhead and the 
signature of an authorized individual, as described in Section 3.4, Signature of Bidder, to the Williamson 
County Purchasing Department any time prior to the submission deadline.  

The Bidder may submit a new Bid prior to the deadline. Alterations of the Bid in any manner will not be 
considered if submitted after the deadline.  Withdrawal of a Bid after the deadline will be subject to written 
approval of the Williamson County Purchasing Agent.

3.9 EVALUATION AND AWARD

The County reserves the right to use all pertinent information (also learned from sources other than 
disclosed in the Bid process) that might affect the County ’s judgment as to the appropriateness of
award to the lowest and best evaluated Bid. This information may be appended to the Bid evaluation
process results. Information on a Bidder from reliable sources, and not within the Bidder ’s Bid, may also 
be noted and made part of the evaluation fi le.  The County shall have sole discretion for determining 
the reliability of the source.

To ensure the proper and fair evaluation of a solicitation, the County prohibits unsolicited communication 
initiated by the Bidder to the County Official or Employee evaluating or considering the Bids prior to the 
time an award has been made. Unsolicited communication may be ground for disqualifying the 
offending Bidder from consideration or award of the solicitation, or any future solicitation.

Communication between the Bidder and the County will be initiated by the appropriate County Official
Employee in order to obtain information or clarification needed to develop a proper and accurate 
evaluation of the solicitation.

The County intends to award a Contract to the most responsible and responsive Bidder whose Bid will 
be most advantageous to the County. In accordance with Texas Government Code and Local
Government Code, the County may consider, to the extent allowed by law, the following:

A. Price;
B. The Bidder ’s experience and reputation;
C. Quality of the Bidder ’s goods and/or services; 
D. The Bidder ’s safety record;
E. The Bidder ’s proposed personnel; 
F. The Bidder ’s financial capabilities; and 
G. Any other relevant factors specifically listed in this IFB or authorized by law.

3.10 CONDISERATION OF LOCATION OF PRINCIPAL OFFICE 

Pursuant to Texas Local Government Code, Section 271.905 , in purchasing any real property or personal
property that is not affixed to real property, if the County receives one or more Bids from a Bidder whose
principal place of business is in Williamson County and whose Bid is within three (3 )  percent of the
lowest Bid price received by the County from a Bidder who is not a resident of Williamson County, the 
County may enter into a contract with:

A. The lowest Bidder; or the Bidder whose principal place of business is in Williamson County if the
Commissioners Court determines, in writing, that the local Bidder offers the County the best 
combination of contract price and addit ional economic development opportunities
Williamson County created by the contract award, including the employment of residents
Williamson County and increased tax revenues to Williamson County.

It is understood that the Commissioners Court of Williamson County, Texas, reserves the right to accept
or reject any and/or all Bids for any or all goods and/or services covered in this IFB, and to waive
informalities or defects in the Bid or to accept such Bid, if it shall deem to be in the best interest of the 
County.

Awards should be made approximately sixty (60) business days after the Bid opening date. Results may
be obtained by viewing the Williamson County vendor portal at the following link:

http://www.wilco.org/CountyDepartments/Purchasing/SearchforaPastBid/tabid/5213/language/en-
US/Default.aspx

3.11 RESPONSIBILITY 

It is expected that a prospective Bidder will be able to affirmatively demonstrate responsibility.  A 
prospective Bidder should be able to meet the following requirements:

A. Have adequate financial resources, or the ability to obtain such resources as required;
B. Be able to comply with the required or proposed delivery schedule;
C. Have a satisfactory record of performance that can be determined thru references provided; and 
D. Be otherwise qualified and eligible to receive an award.

The County may request representation and other information sufficient to determine the Bidder's ability 
to meet these minimum standards listed above.

3.12 FIRM PRICING 

For unit price items, all of the items listed are to be on a “per unit” basis, stating a firm price per unit or 
unit quantity of each item.  The Bidder must submit a firm price that must be good from the date of Bid 
opening for the fixed period of time set out in this IFB.  Unless the IFB expressly states otherwise, this 
period shall be until the end of the Initial Contract Period.

Bids which do not state a fixed price, or which are subject to change without notice, will not be 
considered.  The Court may award a Contract for the period implied or expressly stated in the lowest and 
best Bid.

3.13 PURCHASE ORDERS

If required by the Williamson County Purchasing Department, a purchase order(s) may be generated to 
the Successful Bidder for goods and/or services.  If a purchase order is issued, the purchase order 
number must appear on all itemized invoices and/or requests for payment.

3.14 SILENCE OF SPECIFICATIONS

The apparent silence of these specifications as to any detail or to the apparent omission from it of a 
detailed description concerning any point, shall be regarded as meaning that only the best practices are 
to prevail.  All interpretations of these specifications shall be made on the basis of this statement.

3.15 REFERENCES

The County may require the Bidder to supply a list of at least three (3) references where like services
and/or goods have been supplied by their firm within the past five (5) years, to include names, titles, 
phone numbers and email addresses of key personnel, and dates of performance.

The County may contact some or all of the references in order to determine the Respondent
performance record on work similar to that described in this RFP.  The County reserves the right to 
contact references other than those provided in the response and to use the information gained from 
them in the evaluation process.

References, if requested, should be provided in accordance with this IFB.  Bid may not be deemed 
complete without the inclusion of requested references.

SECTION 4 - TERMS AND CONDITIONS

4.1 VENUE AND GOVERNING LAW

The Bidder hereby agrees and acknowledges that venue and jurisdiction of any suit, right, or cause of 
action arising out of or in connection with this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s), shall lie 
exclusively in either Williamson County, Texas or in the Austin Division of the Western Federal District of 
Texas, and the parties hereto expressly consent and submit to such jurisdiction.  Furthermore, except to 
the extent that this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) is governed by the laws of the United 
States, this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be governed by and construed in 
accordance with the laws of the State of Texas, excluding, however, its choice of law rules.

4.2 INCORPORATION BY REFERENCE AND PRECEDENCE

A. The Contract shall be derived from the IFB and its Addenda (if applicable), and the Bidder ’ s Bid.  In 
the event of a dispute under the Contract, applicable documents will be referred to for the purpose 
of clarification or for additional detail in the following order of precedence:

1. The IFB and its Addenda (if applicable); and

2. The Bidder ’s Bid.

B. In the event the County requires that an Ensuing Agreement be executed following award and a 
dispute arises between the terms and conditions of the Ensuing Agreement, the IFB and its 
Addenda (if applicable), and the Bidder ’s Bid, applicable documents will be referred to for the 
purpose of clarification or for additional detail in the following order of precedence: 

1. Terms and conditions of the Ensuing Agreement;

2. The IFB its Addenda; and 

3. The Bidder ’s Bid.

4.3 OWNERSHIP OF BID

Each Bid shall become the property of the County upon submittal and will not be returned to Bidders 
unless received after the submittal deadline.

4.4 DISQUALIFICATION OF BIDDER

Upon signing and submittal of the Bid, a Bidder offering to sell supplies, materials, services, or equipment 
to the County, certifies that the Bidder has not violated the antitrust laws of the State of Texas codified in 
Business & Commerce Code, Section 15.01, or the Federal Antitrust Laws, and has not communicated 
directly or indirectly the offer made to any competitor or any other person engaged in such line of 
business.  Any or all Bids may be rejected if the County believes that collusion exists among the Bidders.

4.5 FUNDING

The County intends to budget and make sufficient funds available and authorize funds for expenditure to 
finance the costs of the Contract.  All Bidders understand and agree that the County’s payment of 
amounts under the Contract shall be contingent on the County receiving appropriations or other 
expenditure authority sufficient to allow the County, in the exercise of reasonable administrative 
discretion, to make payments under this Contract.

4.6 ASSIGNMENT, SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS 

The Successful Bidder may not assign, sell, or otherwise transfer the Contract or any other rights or 
interests obtained under the Contract without written permission of the Commissioners Court.  The 
Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the contracting 
parties hereto and their respective successors and permitted assigns.

4.7 IMPLIED REQUIREMENTS

Products or services not specifically described or required in the IFB, but are necessary to provide the 
functional capabilities described by the Bidder, shall be implied and deemed to be included in the Bid.

4.8 TERMINATION

A. Termination for Cause: The County reserves the right to terminate the Contract and/or any 
Ensuing Agreement(s) for default if the Successful Bidder breaches any of the Bid specifications,
terms and conditions, including warranties of the Bidder, if any, or if the Successful Bidder 
becomes insolvent or commits acts of bankruptcy.  Such right of termination is in addition to and
not in lieu of any other remedies the County may have at law or in equity or as may otherwise
provided hereunder.  Default may be construed as, but not limited to, failure to deliver the proper 
goods and/or services within the proper amount of time, and/or to properly perform any and all 
other requirements to the County ’s satisfaction, and/or to meet all other obligations and
requirements.

B. Termination for Convenience: The County may terminate the Contract and/or any Ensuing 
Agreement(s) for convenience and without cause or further liability, upon no less than thirty (30) 
calendar days written notice to the Successful Bidder. The County reserves the right to extend 
this period if it is in the best interest of the County.  In the event the County exercises its right to 
terminate without cause, it is understood and agreed that only the amounts due to the Successful 
Bidder for goods, commodities and/or services provided and expenses incurred to and including 
the date of termination, will be due and payable.  No penalty will be assessed for the County
termination for convenience.

4.9 NON-PERFORMANCE

It is the objective of the County to obtain complete and satisfactory performance of the requirements set 
forth herein.  In addition to any other remedies available at law, in equity or that may be set out herein, 
failure to perform may result in a deduction of payment equal to the amount of the goods and/or services 
that were not provided and/or performed to the County ’s satisfaction.  

In the event of such non-performance, the County shall have the right, but shall not be obligated, to 
complete the services itself or by others and/or purchase the goods from other sources.  If the County 
elects to acquire the goods or perform the services itself or by others, pursuant to the foregoing, the 
Successful Bidder shall reimburse the County, within ten (10) calendar days of demand, for all costs 
incurred by the County (including, without limitation, applicable, general, and administrative expenses, 
and field overhead, and the cost of necessary equipment, materials, and field labor) in correcting the 
nonperformance which the Successful Bidder fails to meet pursuant to the requirements set out herein.  
In the event the Successful Bidder refuses to reimburse the County as set out in this provision, the 
County shall have the right to deduct such reimbursement amounts from any amounts that may be then 
owing or that may become owing in the future to the Successful Bidder.

4.10 PROPRIETARY INFORMATION AND THE TEXAS PUBLIC INFORMATION ACT

All material submitted to the County shall become public property and subject to the Texas Public 
Information Act upon receipt. If a Bidder does not desire proprietary information in the Bid to be 
disclosed, each page must be clearly identified and marked proprietary at time of submittal or, more 
preferably, all proprietary information may be placed in a folder or appendix and be clearly identified and 
marked as being proprietary.  Failure to clearly identify and mark information as being proprietary as set 
forth under this provision will result in all unmarked information being deemed non-proprietary and 
available to the public.  For all information that has not been clearly identified and marked as proprietary 
by the Bidder, the County may choose to place such information on the County ’s website and/or a similar 
public database without obtaining any type of prior consent from the Bidder.

The County will, to the extent allowed by law, endeavor to protect from public disclosure the information 
that has been identified and marked as proprietary.  The final decision as to what information must be 
disclosed, however, lies with the Texas Attorney General.  

To the extent, if any, that any provision in this IFB or in the Bidder ’s Bid is in conflict with Texas 
Government Code, Chapter 552, as amended (the “Public Information Act”), the same shall be of no 
force or effect.  Furthermore, it is expressly understood, and agreed, that the County, and its officers and 
employees, may request advice, decisions and opinions of the Attorney General of the State of Texas in 
regard to the application of the Public Information Act to any items or data furnished to the County as to 
whether or not the same are available to the public.  It is further understood that the County, and its 
officers and employees, shall have the right to rely on the advice, decisions and opinions of the Attorney 
General, and that the County, its officers and employees shall have no liability or obligation to any party 
hereto for the disclosure to the public, or to any person or persons, of any items or data furnished to the 
County by a party hereto, in reliance of any advice, decision or opinion of the Attorney General of the 
State of Texas.

4.11 RIGHT TO AUDIT

The Successful Bidder agrees that the County or its duly authorized representatives shall, until the 
expiration of three (3) years after termination or expiration of the services to be performed, have access 
to and the right to examine and photocopy any and all books, documents, papers and records of the 
Successful Bidder, which are directly pertinent to the services to be performed or goods to be delivered 
for the purposes of making audits, examinations, excerpts and transcriptions.  The Successful Bidder 
agrees that the County shall have access during normal working hours to all necessary facilities and 
shall be provided adequate and appropriate work space in order to conduct audits in compliance with the 
provisions of this section.  The County shall give the Successful Bidder reasonable advance notice of 
intended audits.

4.12 TESTING AND INSPECTIONS

The County reserves the right to inspect and test equipment, supplies, materials and goods for quality 
and compliance with this IFB, and ability to meet the needs of the user.  Demonstration units must be 
available for review.  Should the goods or services fail to meet requirements and/or be unavailable for 
evaluation, the County can deem the Bidder to be in breach and terminate the Contract and/or any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

4.13 BID PREPARATION COSTS

The cost of developing Bids is the sole responsibility of the Bidders and shall not be charged to the 
County.  There is no expressed or implied obligation for the County to reimburse the Bidders for any 
expense incurred in preparing a Bid in response to this IFB and the County will not reimburse the Bidders 
for such expenses.

4.14 INDEMNIFICATION

The Successful Bidder shall indemnify, defend and save harmless, the County, its officials, employees, 
agents and agent ’s employees from, and against, all claims, liability, and expenses including reasonable 
attorneys ’   fees, arising from activities of the Bidder, its agents, servants or employees, performed 
hereunder that result from the negligent act, error, or omission of the Bidder or any of the Bidder
agents, servants or employees, as well as all claims of loss or damage to the Bidder ’s and the County
property, equipment, and/or supplies. 

Furthermore, the County, its officials, employees, agents and agents ’ employees shall not be liable for 
damages to the Successful Bidder arising from any act of any third party, including, but not limited to, 
theft.  The Successful Bidder further agrees to indemnify, defend and save harmless, the County from its 
officials, employee, agents and agents ’ employees against all claims of whatever nature arising from any 
accident, injury, or damage whatsoever, caused to any person, or the property of any person, occurring 
in relation to the Successful Bidder ’s performance of any services requested hereunder during the term 
of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s). 

The Successful Bidder shall timely report all claims, demands, suits, actions, proceedings, liens or 
judgements to the County and shall, upon the receipt of any claim, demand, suit, action, proceeding, lien 

or judgement, not later than the fifteenth (15 th) day of each month; provide the County with a written 
report on each such matter, setting forth the status of each matter, the schedule or planned proceedings 
with respect to each matter and the cooperation or assistance, if any, of the County required by the 
Successful Bidder in the defense of each matter.  The Successful Bidder’s duty to defend, indemnify and 
hold the County harmless shall be absolute.  It shall not abate or end by reason of the expiration or 
termination of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s), unless otherwise agreed by the County in 
writing.  The provisions of this section shall survive the termination of the Contract and shall remain in full 
force and effect with respect to all such matters no matter when they arise. 

In the event of any dispute between the parties, as to whether a claim, demand, suit, action, proceeding, 
lien or judgement, that appears to have been caused by or appears to have arisen out of or in connection 
with acts or omissions of the County, the Bidder shall nevertheless fully defend such claim, demand, suit 
or action, proceeding, lien or judgement, until and unless there is a determination by a court of competent 
jurisdiction that the acts and omissions of the Bidder are not an issue in the matter. 

The Successful Bidder ’s indemnification shall cover, and the Successful Bidder agrees to, indemnify the 
County, in the event the County is found to have been negligent for having selected the Successful 
Bidder to perform the work described in this request.  The provision by the Successful Bidder of 
insurance shall not limit the liability of the Successful Bidder under the Contract and/or any Ensuing 
Agreement(s). 

4.15 WAIVER OF SUBROGATION

The Successful Bidder and the Successful Bidder ’s insurance carrier waive any and all rights 
whatsoever with regard to subrogation against the County as an indirect party to any suit arising out of 
personal or property damages resulting from the Bidder ’s performance under this Contract and any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

4.16 RELATIONSHIP OF THE PARTIES

The Successful Bidder shall be an independent contractor and shall assume all of the rights, obligations, 
liabilities, applicable to it as such independent contractor hereunder and any provisions herein which may 
appear to give the County the right to direct the Successful Bidder as to details of doing work herein 
covered, or to exercise a measure of control over the work, shall be deemed to mean that the Successful 
Bidder shall follow the desires of the County in the results of the work only.  The County shall not retain or 
have the right to control the Successful Bidder ’s means, methods or details pertaining to the Successful 
Bidder ’s performance of the work.  The County and the Successful Bidder hereby agree and declare that 
the Successful Bidder is an independent contractor and as such meets the qualifications of an 
“Independent Contractor” under Texas Workers Compensation Act, Texas Labor Code, Section 406.141, 
that the Successful Bidder is not an employee of  the County, and that the Successful Bidder and its 
employees, agents and subcontractors shall not be entitled to workers compensation coverage or any 
other type of insurance coverage held by the County.

4.17 SOLE PROVIDER

The Successful Bidder agrees and acknowledges that it shall not be considered a sole provider of the 
goods and/or services described herein and that the County may contract with other providers of such 
goods and/or services if the County deems, at its sole discretion, that multiple providers of the same 
goods and/or services will serve the best interest of the County.

4.18 FORCE MAJEURE

If the party obligated to perform is prevented from performance by an act of war, order of legal authority, 
act of God, or other unavoidable cause not attributable to the fault or negligence of said party, the other 
party shall grant such party relief from the performance.  The burden of proof for the need of such relief 
shall rest upon the party obligated to perform.  To obtain release based on force majeure, the party 
obligated to perform shall file a written request with the other party.

4.19 SEVERABILITY

If any provision of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be held invalid or 
unenforceable by any court of competent jurisdiction, such holding shall not invalidate or render 
unenforceable any other provision thereof, but rather the entire IFB, Contract or any Ensuing Agreement
(s) will be construed as if not containing the particular invalid or unenforceable provision or provisions, 
and the rights and obligation of the parties shall be construed and enforced in accordance therewith.  The 
parties acknowledge that if any provision of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) is 
determined to be invalid or unenforceable, it is the desire and intention of each that such provision be 
reformed and construed in such a manner that it will, to the maximum extent practicable, give effect to
the intent of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) and be deemed to be validated and
enforceable.

4.20 EQUAL OPPORTUNITY

Neither party shall discriminate against any employee or applicant for employment because of race, 
color, sex, religion or national origin.

4.21 NOTICE

Any notice to be given shall be in writing and may be distributed by personal delivery, or by registered or 
certified mail, return receipt requested, addressed to the proper party, at the following address:

The County:    Williamson County Purchasing Department 
            Attn: Purchasing Agent 
            901 South Austin Avenue 
            Georgetown, Texas 78626

The Bidder:     Address set out in Bidder’s Transmittal Letter.

Notices given in accordance with this provision shall be effective upon (1) receipt by the party to which 
notice is given, or (2) on the third (3rd) calendar day following mailing, whichever occurs first.

4.22 SALES AND USE TAX EXEMPTION

The County is a body, corporate and politic, under the laws of the State of Texas and claims exemption 
from sales and use taxes under Texas Tax Code, Section 151.309, as amended, and the services and/or 
goods subject hereof are being secured for use by the County.

4.23 COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS

The County and the Successful Bidder shall comply with all federal, state, and local laws, statutes,
ordinances, rules and regulations, and the orders and decrees of any courts or administrative bodies or 
tribunals in any matter affecting the performance of the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s),
including, without limitation, Workers ’ Compensation laws, salary and wage statutes and regulations, 
licensing laws and regulations.  When required, the Successful Bidder shall furnish the County with 
certification of compliance with said laws, statues, ordinances, rules, regulations, orders, and decrees 
above specified.

4.24 INCORPORATION OF EXHIBITS, APPENDICES AND ATTACHMENTS

All of the Exhibits, Appendices and Attachments referred to herein are incorporated by reference as if set 
forth verbatim herein.  Any conflicting terms in the Contract documents will be resolved at the sole 
discretion of the Commissioners Court.

4.25 NO WAIVER OF IMMUNITIES

Nothing herein shall be deemed to waive, modify or amend any legal defense available at law or in equity 
to the County, its past or present officers, employees, or agents, nor to create any legal rights or claim on 
behalf of any third party.  The County does not waive, modify, or alter to any extent whatsoever the 
availability of the defense of governmental immunity under the laws of the State of Texas and of the 
United States.

4.26 NO WAIVER

The failure or delay of any party to enforce at any time or any period of time any of the provisions of this 
IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall not constitute a present or future waiver of such 
provisions nor the right of either party to enforce each and every provision.  Furthermore, no term or 
provision hereof shall be deemed waived and no breach excused unless such waiver or consent shall be 
in writing and signed by the party claimed to have waived or consented.  Any consent by any party to, or 
waiver of, a breach by the other, whether expressed or implied, shall not constitute a consent to, waiver 
of or excuse for any other, different or subsequent breach.

4.27 CURRENT REVENUES

The obligations of the parties under the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) do not constitute a 
general obligation or indebtedness of the County for which the County is obligated to levy, pledge, or 
collect any of taxation.  It is understood and agreed that the County shall have the right to terminate the 
Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) at the end of any the County fiscal year if the governing body of 
the County does not appropriate sufficient funds as determined by the County ’s budget for the fiscal year 
in question.  The County may effect such termination by giving written notice of termination to the 
Successful Bidder at the end of its then-current fiscal year.

4.28 FOB DESTINATION

To the extent applicable to this IFB, all of the items listed are to be Free On Board to final destination 
(FOB Destination) with all transportation charges if applicable to be included in the Bid, unless otherwise 
specified in the Invitation for Bids.  The title and risk of loss of the goods shall not pass to the County until 
receipt and acceptance takes place at the FOB Destination point.

4.29 BINDING EFFECT

This Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties 
and their respective permitted assigns and successors.

4.30 ASSIGNMENT

The Successful Bidder ’s interest and duties hereunder may not be assigned or delegated to a third party 
without the express written consent of the County.

4.31 SAFETY

The Successful Bidder is responsible for initiating, maintaining, and supervising all safety precautions 
and programs in connection with any services to be provided hereunder. The safety program shall 
comply with all applicable requirements of the current federal Occupational Safety and Health Act and all 
other applicable federal, state and local laws and regulations.

4.32 GENERAL OBLIGATIONS AND RELIANCE

The Successful Bidder shall perform all services and/or provide all goods, as well as those reasonably
inferable and necessary for completion and provision of services and/or goods required hereunder. The
Successful Bidder shall keep the County informed of the progress and quality of the services.  The 
Successful Bidder agrees and acknowledges that the County is relying on the Successful Bidder's 
represented expertise and ability to provide the goods and/or services described herein.  The Successful
Bidder agrees to use its best efforts, skill, judgment, and abilities to perform its obligations in accordance
with the highest standards used in the profession and to further the interests of the County 
accordance with the County ’s requirements and procedures.    T h e   Successful Bidder ’s duties,
set forth herein, shall at no time be in any way diminished by reason of any approval by the County, nor
shall the Successful Bidder be released from any liability by reason of such approval by the County, it 
being understood that the County at all times is ultimately relying upon the Successful Bidder ’s skill and 
knowledge in performing the services and providing any goods required hereunder.

4.33 ESTIMATED QUANTITIES

To the extent applicable to this IFB, the estimated quantity of each item listed in this IFB is only
estimate; the actual quantity to be purchased may be more or less. The County is not obligated
purchase any minimum amount, and the County may purchase any reasonable amount greater than the
estimate for the same unit price. Any limit on quantities available must be stated expressly in the Bid.

4.34 CONTRACTUAL DEVELOPMENT

The contents of the IFB and the Successful Bidder ’s Bid will become an integral part of the Contract, but 
may be modified, at the County ’s sole discretion, by provisions of an Ensuing Agreement.  Therefore, the 
Bidder must agree to an inclusion of an Ensuing Agreement of the Bid specifications, terms and 
conditions of this IFB.  If an Ensuing Agreement is required under this IFB, information relative to the 
Agreement will be located in the Special Provisions Section of this IFB.

4.35 SURVIVABILITY 

All applicable agreements that were entered into between the Successful Bidder and the County, under 
the terms and conditions of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s), shall survive the expiration or 
termination thereof for ninety (90) days unless a new contract has been awarded.

The County may exercise, by written notice to the Successful Bidder no later than ten (10) calendar days 
of the Contract expiration, this clause for emergencies only. 

4.36 AIR QUALITY

In determining the overall best Bid, the County may, to the extent applicable, exercise the option granted 
to local governments under the Texas Local Government Code, Section 271.907.

This option allows the County to evaluate Bids and give preference to goods and/or services of a Bidder 
that demonstrates that the Bidder meets or exceeds any and all state or federal environmental 
standards, including voluntary standards, relating to air quality.  If the Bid being submitted will have an 
effect on air quality for the County (as it relates to any state, federal, or voluntary air quality standard), 
then the Bidder is encouraged to provide information in narrative indicating the anticipated air quality 
impact.  All Bidders are expected to meet all mandated state and federal air quality standards.

4.37 ENTIRE AGREEMENT

The Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall supersede all prior Agreements, written or oral 
between the Successful Bidder and the County and shall constitute the entire Agreement and 
understanding between the parties with respect to the services and/or goods to be provided.  Each of the 
provisions herein shall be binding upon the parties and may not be waived, modified, amended or altered, 
except by writing signed by the Successful Bidder and the County.

4.38 PAYMENT

The County ’s payment for goods and services shall be governed by the Texas Government Code, 

Chapter 2251.  An invoice shall be deemed overdue the thirty-first (31st) day after the later of the 
following: 

A. The date the County receives the goods under the Contract; 
B. The date the performance of the service under the Contract is completed; or 
C. The date the Williamson County Auditor receives an invoice for the goods or services.  

Interest charges for any overdue payments shall be paid by the County in accordance with Texas 
Government Code, Section 2251.025.  More specifically, the rate of interest that shall accrue on a late 
payment is the rate in effect on September 1 of the County ’s fiscal year in which the payment becomes 
due.  The said rate in effect on September 1 shall be equal to the sum of one (1) percent, and the prime 

rate published in the Wall Street Journal on the first (1st) day of July of the preceding fiscal year that does 
not fall on a Saturday or Sunday.

In the event that an error appears in an invoice submitted by the Successful Bidder, the County shall 
notify the Successful Bidder of the error not later than the twenty-first (21st) day after the date the County 
receives the invoice.  If the error is resolved in favor of the Successful Bidder, the Successful Bidder 
shall be entitled to receive interest on the unpaid balance of the invoice submitted by the Successful 
Bidder beginning on the date that the payment for the invoice became overdue.  If the error is resolved in 
favor of the County, the Successful Bidder shall submit a corrected invoice that must be paid in 
accordance within the time set forth above.  The unpaid balance accrues interest as provided by the 
Texas Government Code, Chapter 2251, if the corrected invoice is not paid by the appropriate date.

As a minimum, invoices shall include:

A. Name, address, and telephone number of the Successful Bidder and similar information in the 
event the payment is to be made to a different address. 

B. The County Contract, Purchase Order. 

C. Identification of items or service as outlined in the Contract. 

D. Quantity or quantities, applicable unit prices, total prices and total amount. 

E. Any additional payment information which may be called for by the Contract. 

Payment inquiries should be directed to the following address:        

            Williamson County Auditor’s Office, Accounts Payable Department
            Email: accountspayable@wilco.org
            Phone: 512-943-1500

4.39 CONTRACTUAL FORMATION AND ENSUING AGREEMENT

The IFB and the Bidder ’s Bid, when properly accepted by the Commissioners Court, shall constitute a
Contract equally binding between the Successful Bidder and the County.

If an Ensuing Agreement is required by this IFB, that information will be provided in Special 
Provisions section of this IFB.  The Successful Bidder shall be required to execute the Agreement at 
the Williamson County Purchasing Department approximately ten (10) calendar days after the 
Successful Bidder is notified of award.  The Ensuing Agreement shall be in the same form as the 
Agreement which is attached to the end of this IFB.  The only anticipated changes in the Ensuing 
Agreement will be to include additional exhibits, to fill in blanks to identify the Successful Bidder, and 
terms relating to the compensation, or to revise the Agreement to accommodate corrections, changes in 
the scope of services, or changes pursuant to Addenda issued.  Bidders should raise any questions 
regarding the terms of the Agreement in the form of written questions or submittals as 
described in the Public Announcement and General Information portion of this IFB.  Because the 
signed Ensuing Agreement will be substantively and substantially derived from the attached Agreement, 
each Bidder is urged to seek independent legal counsel as to any questions about the terms, conditions 
or provisions contained in the Agreement before submitting a Bid.  Again, the attached Agreement, if 
applicable, contains important legal provisions and is considered part and parcel of this IFB.  Failure or 
refusal to sign aforesaid Agreement shall be grounds for the County to revoke any award which has been 
issued, forfeit Bid security, if applicable, and select another Bidder.

4.40 COOPERATIVE PURCHASING PROGRAM 

During the term of the Contract resulting from this IFB, the County would like to afford the same prices, 
terms and conditions to other political subdivisions or public entities.  Another entity’s participation in the 
Contract resulting from this IFB is subject to a properly authorized Purchasing Cooperative Inter- local 
Agreement with the County.  Any liability created by purchase orders issued against the Contract shall be 
the sole responsibility of the governmental agency placing the order.

4.41 INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS

To the extent applicable Insurance information will appear in the Additional Stipulations section that is in 
this IFB Package. 

4.42 BIDDERS BOND, WARRANTY BOND, PERFORMANCE AND PAYMENT BONDS

To the extent applicable Bond information will appear in the Additional Stipulations section that is in this 
IFB Package. 

4.43 LEGAL LIABILITY INFORMATION

The Successful Bidder shall disclose all legal liability information by listing any pending litigation
anticipated litigation that your firm is involved in including, but not limited to, potential or actual legal
matters with private parties and any local, state, federal or international governmental entities. The
County reserves the right to consider legal liability information in the recommendation of any proposed 
contract to the Commissioners Court.

4.44 INCLEMENT WEATHER

In case of inclement weather or any other unforeseen event causing the County to close for business on 
the date of a Bid submission deadline, the Bid closing will automatically be postponed until the next 
business day the County is open.  If inclement weather conditions or any other unforeseen event causes 
delays in carrier service operations, the County may issue an Addendum to all known Bidders interested 
in the project to extend the deadline.  It will be the responsibility of the Bidder to notify the County of their 
interest in the project if these conditions are impacting their ability to turn in a submission within the 
stated deadline.  The County reserves the right to make the final judgement call to extend any deadline. 

4.45 PREVAILING WAGE RATES

To the extent this procurement is for the construction of a public work, including a building, highway, 
road, excavation, and repair work or other project development or improvement, paid for in whole or in 
part from public funds, without regard to whether the work is done under public supervision or direction, 
Texas Government Code, Chapter 2258, shall apply and the contractor shall pay not less than the wage 
scale of the various classes of labor as shown on the “Prevailing Wage Schedule” provided by the 
County. Pursuant to Texas Government Code, Section 2258.022(a)(2), the County has determined the 
general prevailing rate of the “Prevailing Wage Schedule”  in the locality in which the public work is to be 
performed for each craft or type of worker needed to execute the contract and the prevailing rate for legal 
holiday and overtime work by using the prevailing wage rate as determined by the United States 
Department of Labor in accordance with the United States Code, Section 276a (Davis-Bacon Act). 

The specified wage rates are minimum rates only, and are not representations that qualified labor 
adequate to perform the work is available locally at the prevailing wage rates. The County is not bound to 
pay—and will not consider—any claims for additional compensation made by any contractor because the 
contractor pays wages in excess of the applicable minimum rate contained in the Contract Documents. 
The “Prevailing Wage Schedule”  is not a representation that quantities of qualified labor adequate to 
perform the work may be found locally at the specified wage rates.

For classifications not shown, workers shall not be paid less than the wage indicated for laborers. The 
contractor shall notify each worker commencing work on the project the worker ’s job classification and 
the established minimum wage rate required to be paid, as well as the actual amount being paid. The 
notice must be delivered to and signed in acknowledgement of receipt by the employee and must list 
both the monetary wages and fringe benefits to be paid or furnished for each classification in which the 
worker is assigned duties. When requested by the County, competent evidence of compliance with the 
Texas Prevailing Wage Law shall be furnished by contractor. A copy of each worker wage rate 
notification shall be submitted to the County with the Application for Payment for the period during which 
the worker began on-site activities.

Should the contractor at any time become aware that a particular skill or trade not reflected on the 
County ’s “Prevailing Wage Schedule” will be or is being employed in the work, whether by the contractor 
or by a subcontractor, the contractor shall promptly inform the County and shall specify a wage rate for 
that skill or trade, which shall bind the contractor.

The contractor and any subcontractor shall pay to the County a penalty of sixty dollars ($60.00) for each 
worker employed for each calendar day, or portion thereof, that the worker is paid less than the wage 
rates stipulated in the “Prevailing Wage Schedule” or any supplement thereto. The contractor and each 
subcontractor shall keep, or cause to be kept, an accurate record showing the names and occupations 
of all workers employed in connection with the work, and showing the actual per diem wages paid to 
each worker, which records shall be open at all reasonable hours for the inspection by the County.

Within thirty-one (31) days of receipt of information concerning a violation of the Texas Government Code 
Chapter 2258, the County shall make an initial determination as to whether good cause exists to believe 
a violation occurred. The County ’s decision on the initial determination shall be reduced to writing and 
sent to the contractor or subcontractor against whom the violation was alleged, and to the affected 
worker. When a good cause finding is made, the County shall retain the full amounts claimed by the 
claimant or claimants as the difference between wages paid and wages due under the “Prevailing Wage 
Schedule” and any supplements thereto, together with the applicable penalties, such amounts being 
subtracted from successive progress payments pending a final decision on the violation.

After the County makes its initial determination, the affected contractor or subcontractor and worker have 
fourteen (14) calendar days in which to resolve the issue of whether a violation occurred, including the 
amount that should be retained by the County or paid to the affected worker. If the contractor or 
subcontractor and affected worker reach an agreement concerning the worker ’s claim, the contractor 
shall promptly notify the County in a written document signed by the worker. It the contractor or 

Subcontractor and affected worker do not agree before the fifteenth (15 th) calendar day after the County
determination, the contractor or subcontractor and affected worker must participate in binding arbitration 
in accordance with the Texas General Arbitration Act, Chapter 171, (Texas Civil Practice and Remedies 
Code). The parties to the arbitration have ten (10) calendar days after the expiration of the fifteen (15) 

calendar days referred to above, to agree on an arbitrator; if by the eleventh (11 th) calendar day there is 
no agreement to an arbitrator, a district court shall appoint an arbitrator on the petition of any of the 
parties to the arbitration.

If an arbitrator determines that a violation has occurred, the arbitrator shall assess and award against the 
contractor or subcontractor the amount of penalty as provided above and the amount owed the worker. 
The County may use any amounts retained hereunder to pay the worker the amount as designated in the 
arbitration award. If the County has not retained enough from the contractor or subcontractor to pay the 
worker in accordance with the arbitration award, the worker has a right of action against the contractor 
and subcontractor as appropriate, and the surety of either to receive the amount owed, attorneys ’  fees 
and court costs. The contractor shall promptly furnish a copy of the arbitration award to the County.

Money retained pursuant to the provisions above shall be used to pay the claimant or claimants the 
difference between the amount the worker received in wages for labor on the project at the rate paid by 
the contractor or subcontractor and the amount the worker would have received at the general prevailing 
wage rate as provided by the agreement of the claimant and the contractor or subcontractor affected, or 
in the arbitrator ’s award. The full statutory penalty of sixty dollars ($60.00) per calendar day of violation 
per worker shall be retained by Williamson County to offset its administrative costs, pursuant to Texas 
Government Code, Section, 2258.023. Any retained funds in excess of these amounts shall be paid to 
the contractor on the earlier of the next progress payment or final payment. Provided, however, that the 
County shall have no duty to release any funds to either the claimant or the contractor until it has 
received the notices of agreement or the arbitration award as provided under the provision herein-above.

4.46 CONFIDENTIALITY

The Bidder expressly agrees that it will not use any direct or incidental confidential information that may 
be obtained while working in a governmental setting for its own benefit, and agrees that it will not access 
unauthorized areas or confidential information and it will not disclose any information to unauthorized 
third parties, and will take care to guard the security of the information at all times.

Bid 1704-157Williamson County, Texas

4/7/2017 9:30 AM p. 5



5

6

3 4

Williamson County – Invitation for Bid (IFB)

SECTION 1 - DEFINITIONS 

Addendum/Addenda – means any written or graphic instruments issued by the County prior to the 
consideration of Bids which modify or interpret the Bid Documents by additions, deletions, clarifications, 
or corrections.

Agreement/Ensuing Agreement(s) – means the Successful Bidder may be required by the County to 
sign an additional Agreement containing terms necessary to ensure compliance with the IFB and the 
Bidder ’s Bid.  Such Ensuing Agreement(s) shall contain the Bid specifications, terms and conditions that 
are derived from the IFB.

Bid Documents – means the Legal Notice, IFB including attachments, and any Addenda issued by the 
County prior to the consideration of any Bids.

Bid – means the completed and signed bid form, (sometimes referred to as the Price Sheet), and ALL 
required forms and documentation listed in the IFB package which have been submitted in accordance 
with the terms and conditions described in the IFB package.  A Bid submitted in accordance with this IFB 
is irrevocable during the specified period for evaluation and acceptance of Bids unless a waiver is 
obtained from the Williamson County Purchasing Agent.

Bidder – means a person or entity who submits a Bid in response to this IFB.

Contract – means this IFB and the Bid of the Successful Bidder shall become a Contract between the 
Successful Bidder and the County once the Successful Bidder ’s Bid is properly accepted by the 
Williamson County Commissioners Court.

Commissioner ’s Court – means the Williamson County Commissioners Court. 

County – means Williamson County, a political subdivision of the State of Texas.

Invitation for Bid (IFB) – means this document, together with the attachments thereto and any future 
Addenda issued by the County.

Successful Bidder – means the liable Bidder to whom the County intends to award the Contract.

SECTION 2 - BID FORMAT AND SUBMISSION

2.1 ORGANIZATION OF BID CONTENTS FOR SUBMITTAL 

Each Bid should be organized and items submitted in the order described below: 

A. Transmittal Letter. Please see Section 2.3, Transmittal Letter, for more information. 

B. Price Sheet.

C. Conflict of Interest Questionnaire. Please see Section 2.2, Conflict of Interest, for more 
information in regards to this. Please note that even if you deem there to be no Conflict of Interest, 
this signed questionnaire must be included in your package. 

D. References. Please see Section 3.15, References, for more information. 

E. Bid Affidavit.

F. Form 1295. Please see Section 2.4, Certificate of Interested Parties – Form 1295. 

2.2 CONFLICT OF INTEREST

No public official shall have interest in a Contract, in accordance with Vernon ’s Texas Codes Annotated, 
Local Government Code, Title 5, Subtitle C, Chapter 171, as amended. 

As of January 1, 2006, all Bidders are responsible for complying with Local Government Code, Title 5, 
Subtitle C, Chapter 176.  Additional information may be obtained from the County’s website at the 
following link: 

http://www.wilco.org/CountyDepartments/Purchasing/ConflictofInterestDisclosure/tabid/689/language/en
US/Default.aspx

Each Bidder must disclose any existing or potential conflict of interest relative to the performance of the 
requirements of this IFB.  Examples of potential conflicts of interest may include an existing 
business or personal relationship between the Bidder, its principal, or any affiliate or 
subcontractor with the County or any other entity or person involved in any way with the project 
that is subject to this IFB .  Similarly, any personal or business relationship between the Bidder, the 

principals, or any affiliate or subcontractor with any employee, or official of the County or its suppliers 
must be disclosed.  Any such relationship that might be perceived or represented as a conflict must be 
disclosed. Failure to disclose any such relationship or reveal personal relationships with the County 
employees or officials may be cause for termination. 

The County will decide if an actual or perceived conflict should result in Bid disqualification. 

By submitting a Bid in response to this IFB, all Bidders affirm they have not given, nor intend to give, at 
any time hereafter, any economic opportunity, future employment, gift, loan, gratuity, special discount, 
trip, favor, or service to a the County public servant or any employee, official or representative of same, in 
connection with this procurement. 

Each Bidder must provide a Conflict of Interest Statement with their Bid Package.  Package may 

be deemed incomplete without this form.  

2.3 TRANSMITTAL LETTER

The Bidder should submit a Transmittal Letter that provides the following information: 

A. Name and address of individual or business entity submitting the Bid. 

B. Name, physical address, email address, business and fax number of the Bidder ’s principal 
contact person regarding all contractual matters relating to this IFB.

C. The Bid ’s Federal Employer Identification Number.

D. If the Proposal being submitted will have an effect on air quality for the County (as it relates to any 
state, federal, or voluntary air quality standard), then the Respondent is encouraged to provide
information in narrative indicating the anticipated air quality impact. See Section 4.36, Air Quality 
for more information. 

2.4 CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PARTIES – FORM 1295

As of January 1, 2016, all Successful Bidders are responsible for complying with the Texas Government 
Code, Section 2252.908.  The law states that the County may not enter into certain contracts with a 
Bidder unless the Bidder submits a disclosure of interested parties to the County at the time the Bidder 
submits the signed Contract.  The law applies only to a Contract of the County on or after January 1, 
2016 that either:

A. Requires an action or vote by the Commissioners Court before the Contract may be signed (all 
contracts that fall under the jurisdiction of the Commissioners Court approval, such as contracts 
resulting from an Initiation for Bid (IFB), RFP, Request for Qualifications (RFQ), etc., excluding, 
but not limited to, certain Juvenile Service contracts, contracts funded with Sheriff ’s seized fun 
monies, etc.); or

B. Has a value of at least $1,000,000. 

By January 1, 2016, the Texas Ethics Commission will make available on its website, a new filing 
application that must be used to file Form 1295.  Information regarding how to use the filing application is 
available on the Texas Ethics Commission website at the following link:

https://www.ethics.state.tx.us/whatsnew/elf_info_form1295.htm

A Respondent must:

A. Use the online application to process the required information on Form 1295.

B. Print a copy of the form which will contain a unique certification number.

C. An authorized agent of the Bidder must sign the printed copy of the form.

D. Have the form notarized.

E. File the completed Form 1295 and certification of filing (scanning and emailing form is sufficient) 
with Williamson County Purchasing Agent at the time the signed Contract is submitted for 
approval.

After the Commissioners Court award of the Contract, the County shall notify the Texas Ethics 
Commission, using the Texas Ethics Commission ’s filing application, of the receipt of the filed Form 
1295 and certification of filing not later than the 30th day after the date the Contract binds all parties to the 
Contract. The Texas Ethics Commission will post the completed Form 1295 to its website within seven 
business days after receiving notice from the County.

2.5 ETHICS

The Bidder shall not accept or offer gifts or anything of value nor enter into any business arrangement 
with any employee, official or agent of the County.

2.6 BID SUBMITTAL DEADLINE

The Bid is due no later than the submittal date and time set forth in the Public Announcement and 
General Information listed in this IFB package.  Contents of each Bid shall be submitted in accordance 
with this IFB.

2.7 DELIVERY OF BIDS

The County uses BidSync to distribute and receive Bids and proposals.  It is preferred that Bids
submitted electronically through BidSync; however, Bidders can submit a hard copy.  

Refer to www.bidsync.com for further information on how to submit electronically.

If mailed or delivered in person, Bids and Bid Addenda are to be delivered in sealed envelope on or before
the submittal deadline, as noted in the Public Announcement and General Information listed in this IFB 
package, to:

            Williamson County Purchasing Department
            Attn: Bid Name and Number
            901 South Austin Avenue
            Georgetown, Texas 78626

Also, all Bidders should list their Name and Address, and the Date of the Bid opening on the outside
the box or envelope and note “Sealed Bid Enclosed.” The County will not accept any Bids received after 
the submittal deadline, and shall return such Bids unopened to the Bidder.  The County will not accept 
any responsibility for Bids being delivered by third party carriers.  

Bids will be opened publically and the names of Bidders and pricing will be read aloud.

SECTION 3 - INSTRUCTIONS AND GENERAL REQUIREMENTS

3.1 INSTRUCTIONS

Read this document carefully, and follow all instructions and requirements.  All Bidders are responsible 
for fulfilling all requirements and specifications.  Be sure to have a clear understanding of this IFB.

General requirements apply to all advertised IFBs; however, these may be superseded, in whole or in 
part, by the bid specifications, Addenda and modifications issued as a part of this IFB.  Be sure your Bid 
package is complete.

3.2 AMBIGUITY, CONFLICT, OR OTHER ERRORS IN THIS IFB

If a Bidder discovers any ambiguity, conflict, discrepancy, omission or other error in this IFB, the Bidder 
shall immediately notify the County Purchasing Department of such error in writing and request
modification or clarification of the document.

Modifications will be made by issuing Addenda. If the Bidder fails to notify the County prior to the date
and time fixed for submission of Bids of an error or ambiguity in the IFB known to the Bidder, or an error
or ambiguity that reasonably should have been known to the Bidder, then the Bidder shall be deemed to 
have waived the error or ambiguity or its later resolution.

The County may also modify the IFB, no later than forty-eight (48) hours prior to the date and time fixed
for submission of Bids, by issuance of an Addendum.  All Addenda will be numbered consecutively, 
beginning with one (1).

3.3 NOTIFICATION OF MOST CURRENT ADDRESS

All Bidders in receipt of this IFB shall notify the Williamson County Purchasing Department of any
address changes, contact person changes, and/or telephone number changes no later than forty-eight 
(48) hours prior to the date and time fixed for submission of Bids.

3.4 SIGNATURE OF BIDDER

A. If the Bidder is a Corporation or Limited Liability Company, the legal name of the Corporation
Limited Liability Company shall be provided together with the signature of the officer or officers 
authorized to sign on behalf of such entity.

B. If the Bidder is a General Partnership, the true name of the firm shall be provided with the
signature of each partner authorized to sign.

C. If the Bidder is a Limited Partnership, the name of the Limited Partner ’s General Partner shall
provided with the signature of the officer authorized to sign on behalf of the General Partner.

D. If the Bidder is a Sole Proprietor(s) (individual), each Sole Proprietor(s) shall sign.

E. If signature is by an agent, other than the Sole Proprietor(s) or an officer of a Corporation, Limited 
Liability Company, General Partner or a member of a General Partnership, a power of attorney
equivalent document must be submitted to the Williamson County Purchasing Department.

3.5 ASSUMED BUSINESS NAME

If the Bidder operates business under an Assumed Business Name, the Bidder must have on file with the
Williamson County Clerk a current Assumed Name Certificate and provide a file marked copy of same.

3.6 BID OBLIGATION 

The contents of the IFB, Bid, and any clarification thereof submitted by the Successful Bidder shall
become part of the contractual obligation and incorporated by reference into the Contract and any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

3.7 COMPLIANCE WITH IFB SPECIFICATIONS

It is intended that this IFB describe the requirements and the Bid format in sufficient detail to secure 
comparable Bids.  Failure to comply with all provisions of the IFB may, at the sole discretion of the 
County, result in disqualification.

3.8 WITHDRAWAL OF BID

The Bidder may withdraw its Bid by submitting a written request with the company letterhead and the 
signature of an authorized individual, as described in Section 3.4, Signature of Bidder, to the Williamson 
County Purchasing Department any time prior to the submission deadline.  

The Bidder may submit a new Bid prior to the deadline. Alterations of the Bid in any manner will not be 
considered if submitted after the deadline.  Withdrawal of a Bid after the deadline will be subject to written 
approval of the Williamson County Purchasing Agent.

3.9 EVALUATION AND AWARD

The County reserves the right to use all pertinent information (also learned from sources other than 
disclosed in the Bid process) that might affect the County ’s judgment as to the appropriateness of
award to the lowest and best evaluated Bid. This information may be appended to the Bid evaluation
process results. Information on a Bidder from reliable sources, and not within the Bidder ’s Bid, may also 
be noted and made part of the evaluation fi le.  The County shall have sole discretion for determining 
the reliability of the source.

To ensure the proper and fair evaluation of a solicitation, the County prohibits unsolicited communication 
initiated by the Bidder to the County Official or Employee evaluating or considering the Bids prior to the 
time an award has been made. Unsolicited communication may be ground for disqualifying the 
offending Bidder from consideration or award of the solicitation, or any future solicitation.

Communication between the Bidder and the County will be initiated by the appropriate County Official
Employee in order to obtain information or clarification needed to develop a proper and accurate 
evaluation of the solicitation.

The County intends to award a Contract to the most responsible and responsive Bidder whose Bid will 
be most advantageous to the County. In accordance with Texas Government Code and Local
Government Code, the County may consider, to the extent allowed by law, the following:

A. Price;
B. The Bidder ’s experience and reputation;
C. Quality of the Bidder ’s goods and/or services; 
D. The Bidder ’s safety record;
E. The Bidder ’s proposed personnel; 
F. The Bidder ’s financial capabilities; and 
G. Any other relevant factors specifically listed in this IFB or authorized by law.

3.10 CONDISERATION OF LOCATION OF PRINCIPAL OFFICE 

Pursuant to Texas Local Government Code, Section 271.905 , in purchasing any real property or personal
property that is not affixed to real property, if the County receives one or more Bids from a Bidder whose
principal place of business is in Williamson County and whose Bid is within three (3 )  percent of the
lowest Bid price received by the County from a Bidder who is not a resident of Williamson County, the 
County may enter into a contract with:

A. The lowest Bidder; or the Bidder whose principal place of business is in Williamson County if the
Commissioners Court determines, in writing, that the local Bidder offers the County the best 
combination of contract price and addit ional economic development opportunities
Williamson County created by the contract award, including the employment of residents
Williamson County and increased tax revenues to Williamson County.

It is understood that the Commissioners Court of Williamson County, Texas, reserves the right to accept
or reject any and/or all Bids for any or all goods and/or services covered in this IFB, and to waive
informalities or defects in the Bid or to accept such Bid, if it shall deem to be in the best interest of the 
County.

Awards should be made approximately sixty (60) business days after the Bid opening date. Results may
be obtained by viewing the Williamson County vendor portal at the following link:

http://www.wilco.org/CountyDepartments/Purchasing/SearchforaPastBid/tabid/5213/language/en-
US/Default.aspx

3.11 RESPONSIBILITY 

It is expected that a prospective Bidder will be able to affirmatively demonstrate responsibility.  A 
prospective Bidder should be able to meet the following requirements:

A. Have adequate financial resources, or the ability to obtain such resources as required;
B. Be able to comply with the required or proposed delivery schedule;
C. Have a satisfactory record of performance that can be determined thru references provided; and 
D. Be otherwise qualified and eligible to receive an award.

The County may request representation and other information sufficient to determine the Bidder's ability 
to meet these minimum standards listed above.

3.12 FIRM PRICING 

For unit price items, all of the items listed are to be on a “per unit” basis, stating a firm price per unit or 
unit quantity of each item.  The Bidder must submit a firm price that must be good from the date of Bid 
opening for the fixed period of time set out in this IFB.  Unless the IFB expressly states otherwise, this 
period shall be until the end of the Initial Contract Period.

Bids which do not state a fixed price, or which are subject to change without notice, will not be 
considered.  The Court may award a Contract for the period implied or expressly stated in the lowest and 
best Bid.

3.13 PURCHASE ORDERS

If required by the Williamson County Purchasing Department, a purchase order(s) may be generated to 
the Successful Bidder for goods and/or services.  If a purchase order is issued, the purchase order 
number must appear on all itemized invoices and/or requests for payment.

3.14 SILENCE OF SPECIFICATIONS

The apparent silence of these specifications as to any detail or to the apparent omission from it of a 
detailed description concerning any point, shall be regarded as meaning that only the best practices are 
to prevail.  All interpretations of these specifications shall be made on the basis of this statement.

3.15 REFERENCES

The County may require the Bidder to supply a list of at least three (3) references where like services
and/or goods have been supplied by their firm within the past five (5) years, to include names, titles, 
phone numbers and email addresses of key personnel, and dates of performance.

The County may contact some or all of the references in order to determine the Respondent
performance record on work similar to that described in this RFP.  The County reserves the right to 
contact references other than those provided in the response and to use the information gained from 
them in the evaluation process.

References, if requested, should be provided in accordance with this IFB.  Bid may not be deemed 
complete without the inclusion of requested references.

SECTION 4 - TERMS AND CONDITIONS

4.1 VENUE AND GOVERNING LAW

The Bidder hereby agrees and acknowledges that venue and jurisdiction of any suit, right, or cause of 
action arising out of or in connection with this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s), shall lie 
exclusively in either Williamson County, Texas or in the Austin Division of the Western Federal District of 
Texas, and the parties hereto expressly consent and submit to such jurisdiction.  Furthermore, except to 
the extent that this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) is governed by the laws of the United 
States, this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be governed by and construed in 
accordance with the laws of the State of Texas, excluding, however, its choice of law rules.

4.2 INCORPORATION BY REFERENCE AND PRECEDENCE

A. The Contract shall be derived from the IFB and its Addenda (if applicable), and the Bidder ’ s Bid.  In 
the event of a dispute under the Contract, applicable documents will be referred to for the purpose 
of clarification or for additional detail in the following order of precedence:

1. The IFB and its Addenda (if applicable); and

2. The Bidder ’s Bid.

B. In the event the County requires that an Ensuing Agreement be executed following award and a 
dispute arises between the terms and conditions of the Ensuing Agreement, the IFB and its 
Addenda (if applicable), and the Bidder ’s Bid, applicable documents will be referred to for the 
purpose of clarification or for additional detail in the following order of precedence: 

1. Terms and conditions of the Ensuing Agreement;

2. The IFB its Addenda; and 

3. The Bidder ’s Bid.

4.3 OWNERSHIP OF BID

Each Bid shall become the property of the County upon submittal and will not be returned to Bidders 
unless received after the submittal deadline.

4.4 DISQUALIFICATION OF BIDDER

Upon signing and submittal of the Bid, a Bidder offering to sell supplies, materials, services, or equipment 
to the County, certifies that the Bidder has not violated the antitrust laws of the State of Texas codified in 
Business & Commerce Code, Section 15.01, or the Federal Antitrust Laws, and has not communicated 
directly or indirectly the offer made to any competitor or any other person engaged in such line of 
business.  Any or all Bids may be rejected if the County believes that collusion exists among the Bidders.

4.5 FUNDING

The County intends to budget and make sufficient funds available and authorize funds for expenditure to 
finance the costs of the Contract.  All Bidders understand and agree that the County’s payment of 
amounts under the Contract shall be contingent on the County receiving appropriations or other 
expenditure authority sufficient to allow the County, in the exercise of reasonable administrative 
discretion, to make payments under this Contract.

4.6 ASSIGNMENT, SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS 

The Successful Bidder may not assign, sell, or otherwise transfer the Contract or any other rights or 
interests obtained under the Contract without written permission of the Commissioners Court.  The 
Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the contracting 
parties hereto and their respective successors and permitted assigns.

4.7 IMPLIED REQUIREMENTS

Products or services not specifically described or required in the IFB, but are necessary to provide the 
functional capabilities described by the Bidder, shall be implied and deemed to be included in the Bid.

4.8 TERMINATION

A. Termination for Cause: The County reserves the right to terminate the Contract and/or any 
Ensuing Agreement(s) for default if the Successful Bidder breaches any of the Bid specifications,
terms and conditions, including warranties of the Bidder, if any, or if the Successful Bidder 
becomes insolvent or commits acts of bankruptcy.  Such right of termination is in addition to and
not in lieu of any other remedies the County may have at law or in equity or as may otherwise
provided hereunder.  Default may be construed as, but not limited to, failure to deliver the proper 
goods and/or services within the proper amount of time, and/or to properly perform any and all 
other requirements to the County ’s satisfaction, and/or to meet all other obligations and
requirements.

B. Termination for Convenience: The County may terminate the Contract and/or any Ensuing 
Agreement(s) for convenience and without cause or further liability, upon no less than thirty (30) 
calendar days written notice to the Successful Bidder. The County reserves the right to extend 
this period if it is in the best interest of the County.  In the event the County exercises its right to 
terminate without cause, it is understood and agreed that only the amounts due to the Successful 
Bidder for goods, commodities and/or services provided and expenses incurred to and including 
the date of termination, will be due and payable.  No penalty will be assessed for the County
termination for convenience.

4.9 NON-PERFORMANCE

It is the objective of the County to obtain complete and satisfactory performance of the requirements set 
forth herein.  In addition to any other remedies available at law, in equity or that may be set out herein, 
failure to perform may result in a deduction of payment equal to the amount of the goods and/or services 
that were not provided and/or performed to the County ’s satisfaction.  

In the event of such non-performance, the County shall have the right, but shall not be obligated, to 
complete the services itself or by others and/or purchase the goods from other sources.  If the County 
elects to acquire the goods or perform the services itself or by others, pursuant to the foregoing, the 
Successful Bidder shall reimburse the County, within ten (10) calendar days of demand, for all costs 
incurred by the County (including, without limitation, applicable, general, and administrative expenses, 
and field overhead, and the cost of necessary equipment, materials, and field labor) in correcting the 
nonperformance which the Successful Bidder fails to meet pursuant to the requirements set out herein.  
In the event the Successful Bidder refuses to reimburse the County as set out in this provision, the 
County shall have the right to deduct such reimbursement amounts from any amounts that may be then 
owing or that may become owing in the future to the Successful Bidder.

4.10 PROPRIETARY INFORMATION AND THE TEXAS PUBLIC INFORMATION ACT

All material submitted to the County shall become public property and subject to the Texas Public 
Information Act upon receipt. If a Bidder does not desire proprietary information in the Bid to be 
disclosed, each page must be clearly identified and marked proprietary at time of submittal or, more 
preferably, all proprietary information may be placed in a folder or appendix and be clearly identified and 
marked as being proprietary.  Failure to clearly identify and mark information as being proprietary as set 
forth under this provision will result in all unmarked information being deemed non-proprietary and 
available to the public.  For all information that has not been clearly identified and marked as proprietary 
by the Bidder, the County may choose to place such information on the County ’s website and/or a similar 
public database without obtaining any type of prior consent from the Bidder.

The County will, to the extent allowed by law, endeavor to protect from public disclosure the information 
that has been identified and marked as proprietary.  The final decision as to what information must be 
disclosed, however, lies with the Texas Attorney General.  

To the extent, if any, that any provision in this IFB or in the Bidder ’s Bid is in conflict with Texas 
Government Code, Chapter 552, as amended (the “Public Information Act”), the same shall be of no 
force or effect.  Furthermore, it is expressly understood, and agreed, that the County, and its officers and 
employees, may request advice, decisions and opinions of the Attorney General of the State of Texas in 
regard to the application of the Public Information Act to any items or data furnished to the County as to 
whether or not the same are available to the public.  It is further understood that the County, and its 
officers and employees, shall have the right to rely on the advice, decisions and opinions of the Attorney 
General, and that the County, its officers and employees shall have no liability or obligation to any party 
hereto for the disclosure to the public, or to any person or persons, of any items or data furnished to the 
County by a party hereto, in reliance of any advice, decision or opinion of the Attorney General of the 
State of Texas.

4.11 RIGHT TO AUDIT

The Successful Bidder agrees that the County or its duly authorized representatives shall, until the 
expiration of three (3) years after termination or expiration of the services to be performed, have access 
to and the right to examine and photocopy any and all books, documents, papers and records of the 
Successful Bidder, which are directly pertinent to the services to be performed or goods to be delivered 
for the purposes of making audits, examinations, excerpts and transcriptions.  The Successful Bidder 
agrees that the County shall have access during normal working hours to all necessary facilities and 
shall be provided adequate and appropriate work space in order to conduct audits in compliance with the 
provisions of this section.  The County shall give the Successful Bidder reasonable advance notice of 
intended audits.

4.12 TESTING AND INSPECTIONS

The County reserves the right to inspect and test equipment, supplies, materials and goods for quality 
and compliance with this IFB, and ability to meet the needs of the user.  Demonstration units must be 
available for review.  Should the goods or services fail to meet requirements and/or be unavailable for 
evaluation, the County can deem the Bidder to be in breach and terminate the Contract and/or any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

4.13 BID PREPARATION COSTS

The cost of developing Bids is the sole responsibility of the Bidders and shall not be charged to the 
County.  There is no expressed or implied obligation for the County to reimburse the Bidders for any 
expense incurred in preparing a Bid in response to this IFB and the County will not reimburse the Bidders 
for such expenses.

4.14 INDEMNIFICATION

The Successful Bidder shall indemnify, defend and save harmless, the County, its officials, employees, 
agents and agent ’s employees from, and against, all claims, liability, and expenses including reasonable 
attorneys ’   fees, arising from activities of the Bidder, its agents, servants or employees, performed 
hereunder that result from the negligent act, error, or omission of the Bidder or any of the Bidder
agents, servants or employees, as well as all claims of loss or damage to the Bidder ’s and the County
property, equipment, and/or supplies. 

Furthermore, the County, its officials, employees, agents and agents ’ employees shall not be liable for 
damages to the Successful Bidder arising from any act of any third party, including, but not limited to, 
theft.  The Successful Bidder further agrees to indemnify, defend and save harmless, the County from its 
officials, employee, agents and agents ’ employees against all claims of whatever nature arising from any 
accident, injury, or damage whatsoever, caused to any person, or the property of any person, occurring 
in relation to the Successful Bidder ’s performance of any services requested hereunder during the term 
of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s). 

The Successful Bidder shall timely report all claims, demands, suits, actions, proceedings, liens or 
judgements to the County and shall, upon the receipt of any claim, demand, suit, action, proceeding, lien 

or judgement, not later than the fifteenth (15 th) day of each month; provide the County with a written 
report on each such matter, setting forth the status of each matter, the schedule or planned proceedings 
with respect to each matter and the cooperation or assistance, if any, of the County required by the 
Successful Bidder in the defense of each matter.  The Successful Bidder’s duty to defend, indemnify and 
hold the County harmless shall be absolute.  It shall not abate or end by reason of the expiration or 
termination of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s), unless otherwise agreed by the County in 
writing.  The provisions of this section shall survive the termination of the Contract and shall remain in full 
force and effect with respect to all such matters no matter when they arise. 

In the event of any dispute between the parties, as to whether a claim, demand, suit, action, proceeding, 
lien or judgement, that appears to have been caused by or appears to have arisen out of or in connection 
with acts or omissions of the County, the Bidder shall nevertheless fully defend such claim, demand, suit 
or action, proceeding, lien or judgement, until and unless there is a determination by a court of competent 
jurisdiction that the acts and omissions of the Bidder are not an issue in the matter. 

The Successful Bidder ’s indemnification shall cover, and the Successful Bidder agrees to, indemnify the 
County, in the event the County is found to have been negligent for having selected the Successful 
Bidder to perform the work described in this request.  The provision by the Successful Bidder of 
insurance shall not limit the liability of the Successful Bidder under the Contract and/or any Ensuing 
Agreement(s). 

4.15 WAIVER OF SUBROGATION

The Successful Bidder and the Successful Bidder ’s insurance carrier waive any and all rights 
whatsoever with regard to subrogation against the County as an indirect party to any suit arising out of 
personal or property damages resulting from the Bidder ’s performance under this Contract and any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

4.16 RELATIONSHIP OF THE PARTIES

The Successful Bidder shall be an independent contractor and shall assume all of the rights, obligations, 
liabilities, applicable to it as such independent contractor hereunder and any provisions herein which may 
appear to give the County the right to direct the Successful Bidder as to details of doing work herein 
covered, or to exercise a measure of control over the work, shall be deemed to mean that the Successful 
Bidder shall follow the desires of the County in the results of the work only.  The County shall not retain or 
have the right to control the Successful Bidder ’s means, methods or details pertaining to the Successful 
Bidder ’s performance of the work.  The County and the Successful Bidder hereby agree and declare that 
the Successful Bidder is an independent contractor and as such meets the qualifications of an 
“Independent Contractor” under Texas Workers Compensation Act, Texas Labor Code, Section 406.141, 
that the Successful Bidder is not an employee of  the County, and that the Successful Bidder and its 
employees, agents and subcontractors shall not be entitled to workers compensation coverage or any 
other type of insurance coverage held by the County.

4.17 SOLE PROVIDER

The Successful Bidder agrees and acknowledges that it shall not be considered a sole provider of the 
goods and/or services described herein and that the County may contract with other providers of such 
goods and/or services if the County deems, at its sole discretion, that multiple providers of the same 
goods and/or services will serve the best interest of the County.

4.18 FORCE MAJEURE

If the party obligated to perform is prevented from performance by an act of war, order of legal authority, 
act of God, or other unavoidable cause not attributable to the fault or negligence of said party, the other 
party shall grant such party relief from the performance.  The burden of proof for the need of such relief 
shall rest upon the party obligated to perform.  To obtain release based on force majeure, the party 
obligated to perform shall file a written request with the other party.

4.19 SEVERABILITY

If any provision of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be held invalid or 
unenforceable by any court of competent jurisdiction, such holding shall not invalidate or render 
unenforceable any other provision thereof, but rather the entire IFB, Contract or any Ensuing Agreement
(s) will be construed as if not containing the particular invalid or unenforceable provision or provisions, 
and the rights and obligation of the parties shall be construed and enforced in accordance therewith.  The 
parties acknowledge that if any provision of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) is 
determined to be invalid or unenforceable, it is the desire and intention of each that such provision be 
reformed and construed in such a manner that it will, to the maximum extent practicable, give effect to
the intent of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) and be deemed to be validated and
enforceable.

4.20 EQUAL OPPORTUNITY

Neither party shall discriminate against any employee or applicant for employment because of race, 
color, sex, religion or national origin.

4.21 NOTICE

Any notice to be given shall be in writing and may be distributed by personal delivery, or by registered or 
certified mail, return receipt requested, addressed to the proper party, at the following address:

The County:    Williamson County Purchasing Department 
            Attn: Purchasing Agent 
            901 South Austin Avenue 
            Georgetown, Texas 78626

The Bidder:     Address set out in Bidder’s Transmittal Letter.

Notices given in accordance with this provision shall be effective upon (1) receipt by the party to which 
notice is given, or (2) on the third (3rd) calendar day following mailing, whichever occurs first.

4.22 SALES AND USE TAX EXEMPTION

The County is a body, corporate and politic, under the laws of the State of Texas and claims exemption 
from sales and use taxes under Texas Tax Code, Section 151.309, as amended, and the services and/or 
goods subject hereof are being secured for use by the County.

4.23 COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS

The County and the Successful Bidder shall comply with all federal, state, and local laws, statutes,
ordinances, rules and regulations, and the orders and decrees of any courts or administrative bodies or 
tribunals in any matter affecting the performance of the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s),
including, without limitation, Workers ’ Compensation laws, salary and wage statutes and regulations, 
licensing laws and regulations.  When required, the Successful Bidder shall furnish the County with 
certification of compliance with said laws, statues, ordinances, rules, regulations, orders, and decrees 
above specified.

4.24 INCORPORATION OF EXHIBITS, APPENDICES AND ATTACHMENTS

All of the Exhibits, Appendices and Attachments referred to herein are incorporated by reference as if set 
forth verbatim herein.  Any conflicting terms in the Contract documents will be resolved at the sole 
discretion of the Commissioners Court.

4.25 NO WAIVER OF IMMUNITIES

Nothing herein shall be deemed to waive, modify or amend any legal defense available at law or in equity 
to the County, its past or present officers, employees, or agents, nor to create any legal rights or claim on 
behalf of any third party.  The County does not waive, modify, or alter to any extent whatsoever the 
availability of the defense of governmental immunity under the laws of the State of Texas and of the 
United States.

4.26 NO WAIVER

The failure or delay of any party to enforce at any time or any period of time any of the provisions of this 
IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall not constitute a present or future waiver of such 
provisions nor the right of either party to enforce each and every provision.  Furthermore, no term or 
provision hereof shall be deemed waived and no breach excused unless such waiver or consent shall be 
in writing and signed by the party claimed to have waived or consented.  Any consent by any party to, or 
waiver of, a breach by the other, whether expressed or implied, shall not constitute a consent to, waiver 
of or excuse for any other, different or subsequent breach.

4.27 CURRENT REVENUES

The obligations of the parties under the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) do not constitute a 
general obligation or indebtedness of the County for which the County is obligated to levy, pledge, or 
collect any of taxation.  It is understood and agreed that the County shall have the right to terminate the 
Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) at the end of any the County fiscal year if the governing body of 
the County does not appropriate sufficient funds as determined by the County ’s budget for the fiscal year 
in question.  The County may effect such termination by giving written notice of termination to the 
Successful Bidder at the end of its then-current fiscal year.

4.28 FOB DESTINATION

To the extent applicable to this IFB, all of the items listed are to be Free On Board to final destination 
(FOB Destination) with all transportation charges if applicable to be included in the Bid, unless otherwise 
specified in the Invitation for Bids.  The title and risk of loss of the goods shall not pass to the County until 
receipt and acceptance takes place at the FOB Destination point.

4.29 BINDING EFFECT

This Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties 
and their respective permitted assigns and successors.

4.30 ASSIGNMENT

The Successful Bidder ’s interest and duties hereunder may not be assigned or delegated to a third party 
without the express written consent of the County.

4.31 SAFETY

The Successful Bidder is responsible for initiating, maintaining, and supervising all safety precautions 
and programs in connection with any services to be provided hereunder. The safety program shall 
comply with all applicable requirements of the current federal Occupational Safety and Health Act and all 
other applicable federal, state and local laws and regulations.

4.32 GENERAL OBLIGATIONS AND RELIANCE

The Successful Bidder shall perform all services and/or provide all goods, as well as those reasonably
inferable and necessary for completion and provision of services and/or goods required hereunder. The
Successful Bidder shall keep the County informed of the progress and quality of the services.  The 
Successful Bidder agrees and acknowledges that the County is relying on the Successful Bidder's 
represented expertise and ability to provide the goods and/or services described herein.  The Successful
Bidder agrees to use its best efforts, skill, judgment, and abilities to perform its obligations in accordance
with the highest standards used in the profession and to further the interests of the County 
accordance with the County ’s requirements and procedures.    T h e   Successful Bidder ’s duties,
set forth herein, shall at no time be in any way diminished by reason of any approval by the County, nor
shall the Successful Bidder be released from any liability by reason of such approval by the County, it 
being understood that the County at all times is ultimately relying upon the Successful Bidder ’s skill and 
knowledge in performing the services and providing any goods required hereunder.

4.33 ESTIMATED QUANTITIES

To the extent applicable to this IFB, the estimated quantity of each item listed in this IFB is only
estimate; the actual quantity to be purchased may be more or less. The County is not obligated
purchase any minimum amount, and the County may purchase any reasonable amount greater than the
estimate for the same unit price. Any limit on quantities available must be stated expressly in the Bid.

4.34 CONTRACTUAL DEVELOPMENT

The contents of the IFB and the Successful Bidder ’s Bid will become an integral part of the Contract, but 
may be modified, at the County ’s sole discretion, by provisions of an Ensuing Agreement.  Therefore, the 
Bidder must agree to an inclusion of an Ensuing Agreement of the Bid specifications, terms and 
conditions of this IFB.  If an Ensuing Agreement is required under this IFB, information relative to the 
Agreement will be located in the Special Provisions Section of this IFB.

4.35 SURVIVABILITY 

All applicable agreements that were entered into between the Successful Bidder and the County, under 
the terms and conditions of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s), shall survive the expiration or 
termination thereof for ninety (90) days unless a new contract has been awarded.

The County may exercise, by written notice to the Successful Bidder no later than ten (10) calendar days 
of the Contract expiration, this clause for emergencies only. 

4.36 AIR QUALITY

In determining the overall best Bid, the County may, to the extent applicable, exercise the option granted 
to local governments under the Texas Local Government Code, Section 271.907.

This option allows the County to evaluate Bids and give preference to goods and/or services of a Bidder 
that demonstrates that the Bidder meets or exceeds any and all state or federal environmental 
standards, including voluntary standards, relating to air quality.  If the Bid being submitted will have an 
effect on air quality for the County (as it relates to any state, federal, or voluntary air quality standard), 
then the Bidder is encouraged to provide information in narrative indicating the anticipated air quality 
impact.  All Bidders are expected to meet all mandated state and federal air quality standards.

4.37 ENTIRE AGREEMENT

The Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall supersede all prior Agreements, written or oral 
between the Successful Bidder and the County and shall constitute the entire Agreement and 
understanding between the parties with respect to the services and/or goods to be provided.  Each of the 
provisions herein shall be binding upon the parties and may not be waived, modified, amended or altered, 
except by writing signed by the Successful Bidder and the County.

4.38 PAYMENT

The County ’s payment for goods and services shall be governed by the Texas Government Code, 

Chapter 2251.  An invoice shall be deemed overdue the thirty-first (31st) day after the later of the 
following: 

A. The date the County receives the goods under the Contract; 
B. The date the performance of the service under the Contract is completed; or 
C. The date the Williamson County Auditor receives an invoice for the goods or services.  

Interest charges for any overdue payments shall be paid by the County in accordance with Texas 
Government Code, Section 2251.025.  More specifically, the rate of interest that shall accrue on a late 
payment is the rate in effect on September 1 of the County ’s fiscal year in which the payment becomes 
due.  The said rate in effect on September 1 shall be equal to the sum of one (1) percent, and the prime 

rate published in the Wall Street Journal on the first (1st) day of July of the preceding fiscal year that does 
not fall on a Saturday or Sunday.

In the event that an error appears in an invoice submitted by the Successful Bidder, the County shall 
notify the Successful Bidder of the error not later than the twenty-first (21st) day after the date the County 
receives the invoice.  If the error is resolved in favor of the Successful Bidder, the Successful Bidder 
shall be entitled to receive interest on the unpaid balance of the invoice submitted by the Successful 
Bidder beginning on the date that the payment for the invoice became overdue.  If the error is resolved in 
favor of the County, the Successful Bidder shall submit a corrected invoice that must be paid in 
accordance within the time set forth above.  The unpaid balance accrues interest as provided by the 
Texas Government Code, Chapter 2251, if the corrected invoice is not paid by the appropriate date.

As a minimum, invoices shall include:

A. Name, address, and telephone number of the Successful Bidder and similar information in the 
event the payment is to be made to a different address. 

B. The County Contract, Purchase Order. 

C. Identification of items or service as outlined in the Contract. 

D. Quantity or quantities, applicable unit prices, total prices and total amount. 

E. Any additional payment information which may be called for by the Contract. 

Payment inquiries should be directed to the following address:        

            Williamson County Auditor’s Office, Accounts Payable Department
            Email: accountspayable@wilco.org
            Phone: 512-943-1500

4.39 CONTRACTUAL FORMATION AND ENSUING AGREEMENT

The IFB and the Bidder ’s Bid, when properly accepted by the Commissioners Court, shall constitute a
Contract equally binding between the Successful Bidder and the County.

If an Ensuing Agreement is required by this IFB, that information will be provided in Special 
Provisions section of this IFB.  The Successful Bidder shall be required to execute the Agreement at 
the Williamson County Purchasing Department approximately ten (10) calendar days after the 
Successful Bidder is notified of award.  The Ensuing Agreement shall be in the same form as the 
Agreement which is attached to the end of this IFB.  The only anticipated changes in the Ensuing 
Agreement will be to include additional exhibits, to fill in blanks to identify the Successful Bidder, and 
terms relating to the compensation, or to revise the Agreement to accommodate corrections, changes in 
the scope of services, or changes pursuant to Addenda issued.  Bidders should raise any questions 
regarding the terms of the Agreement in the form of written questions or submittals as 
described in the Public Announcement and General Information portion of this IFB.  Because the 
signed Ensuing Agreement will be substantively and substantially derived from the attached Agreement, 
each Bidder is urged to seek independent legal counsel as to any questions about the terms, conditions 
or provisions contained in the Agreement before submitting a Bid.  Again, the attached Agreement, if 
applicable, contains important legal provisions and is considered part and parcel of this IFB.  Failure or 
refusal to sign aforesaid Agreement shall be grounds for the County to revoke any award which has been 
issued, forfeit Bid security, if applicable, and select another Bidder.

4.40 COOPERATIVE PURCHASING PROGRAM 

During the term of the Contract resulting from this IFB, the County would like to afford the same prices, 
terms and conditions to other political subdivisions or public entities.  Another entity’s participation in the 
Contract resulting from this IFB is subject to a properly authorized Purchasing Cooperative Inter- local 
Agreement with the County.  Any liability created by purchase orders issued against the Contract shall be 
the sole responsibility of the governmental agency placing the order.

4.41 INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS

To the extent applicable Insurance information will appear in the Additional Stipulations section that is in 
this IFB Package. 

4.42 BIDDERS BOND, WARRANTY BOND, PERFORMANCE AND PAYMENT BONDS

To the extent applicable Bond information will appear in the Additional Stipulations section that is in this 
IFB Package. 

4.43 LEGAL LIABILITY INFORMATION

The Successful Bidder shall disclose all legal liability information by listing any pending litigation
anticipated litigation that your firm is involved in including, but not limited to, potential or actual legal
matters with private parties and any local, state, federal or international governmental entities. The
County reserves the right to consider legal liability information in the recommendation of any proposed 
contract to the Commissioners Court.

4.44 INCLEMENT WEATHER

In case of inclement weather or any other unforeseen event causing the County to close for business on 
the date of a Bid submission deadline, the Bid closing will automatically be postponed until the next 
business day the County is open.  If inclement weather conditions or any other unforeseen event causes 
delays in carrier service operations, the County may issue an Addendum to all known Bidders interested 
in the project to extend the deadline.  It will be the responsibility of the Bidder to notify the County of their 
interest in the project if these conditions are impacting their ability to turn in a submission within the 
stated deadline.  The County reserves the right to make the final judgement call to extend any deadline. 

4.45 PREVAILING WAGE RATES

To the extent this procurement is for the construction of a public work, including a building, highway, 
road, excavation, and repair work or other project development or improvement, paid for in whole or in 
part from public funds, without regard to whether the work is done under public supervision or direction, 
Texas Government Code, Chapter 2258, shall apply and the contractor shall pay not less than the wage 
scale of the various classes of labor as shown on the “Prevailing Wage Schedule” provided by the 
County. Pursuant to Texas Government Code, Section 2258.022(a)(2), the County has determined the 
general prevailing rate of the “Prevailing Wage Schedule”  in the locality in which the public work is to be 
performed for each craft or type of worker needed to execute the contract and the prevailing rate for legal 
holiday and overtime work by using the prevailing wage rate as determined by the United States 
Department of Labor in accordance with the United States Code, Section 276a (Davis-Bacon Act). 

The specified wage rates are minimum rates only, and are not representations that qualified labor 
adequate to perform the work is available locally at the prevailing wage rates. The County is not bound to 
pay—and will not consider—any claims for additional compensation made by any contractor because the 
contractor pays wages in excess of the applicable minimum rate contained in the Contract Documents. 
The “Prevailing Wage Schedule”  is not a representation that quantities of qualified labor adequate to 
perform the work may be found locally at the specified wage rates.

For classifications not shown, workers shall not be paid less than the wage indicated for laborers. The 
contractor shall notify each worker commencing work on the project the worker ’s job classification and 
the established minimum wage rate required to be paid, as well as the actual amount being paid. The 
notice must be delivered to and signed in acknowledgement of receipt by the employee and must list 
both the monetary wages and fringe benefits to be paid or furnished for each classification in which the 
worker is assigned duties. When requested by the County, competent evidence of compliance with the 
Texas Prevailing Wage Law shall be furnished by contractor. A copy of each worker wage rate 
notification shall be submitted to the County with the Application for Payment for the period during which 
the worker began on-site activities.

Should the contractor at any time become aware that a particular skill or trade not reflected on the 
County ’s “Prevailing Wage Schedule” will be or is being employed in the work, whether by the contractor 
or by a subcontractor, the contractor shall promptly inform the County and shall specify a wage rate for 
that skill or trade, which shall bind the contractor.

The contractor and any subcontractor shall pay to the County a penalty of sixty dollars ($60.00) for each 
worker employed for each calendar day, or portion thereof, that the worker is paid less than the wage 
rates stipulated in the “Prevailing Wage Schedule” or any supplement thereto. The contractor and each 
subcontractor shall keep, or cause to be kept, an accurate record showing the names and occupations 
of all workers employed in connection with the work, and showing the actual per diem wages paid to 
each worker, which records shall be open at all reasonable hours for the inspection by the County.

Within thirty-one (31) days of receipt of information concerning a violation of the Texas Government Code 
Chapter 2258, the County shall make an initial determination as to whether good cause exists to believe 
a violation occurred. The County ’s decision on the initial determination shall be reduced to writing and 
sent to the contractor or subcontractor against whom the violation was alleged, and to the affected 
worker. When a good cause finding is made, the County shall retain the full amounts claimed by the 
claimant or claimants as the difference between wages paid and wages due under the “Prevailing Wage 
Schedule” and any supplements thereto, together with the applicable penalties, such amounts being 
subtracted from successive progress payments pending a final decision on the violation.

After the County makes its initial determination, the affected contractor or subcontractor and worker have 
fourteen (14) calendar days in which to resolve the issue of whether a violation occurred, including the 
amount that should be retained by the County or paid to the affected worker. If the contractor or 
subcontractor and affected worker reach an agreement concerning the worker ’s claim, the contractor 
shall promptly notify the County in a written document signed by the worker. It the contractor or 

Subcontractor and affected worker do not agree before the fifteenth (15 th) calendar day after the County
determination, the contractor or subcontractor and affected worker must participate in binding arbitration 
in accordance with the Texas General Arbitration Act, Chapter 171, (Texas Civil Practice and Remedies 
Code). The parties to the arbitration have ten (10) calendar days after the expiration of the fifteen (15) 

calendar days referred to above, to agree on an arbitrator; if by the eleventh (11 th) calendar day there is 
no agreement to an arbitrator, a district court shall appoint an arbitrator on the petition of any of the 
parties to the arbitration.

If an arbitrator determines that a violation has occurred, the arbitrator shall assess and award against the 
contractor or subcontractor the amount of penalty as provided above and the amount owed the worker. 
The County may use any amounts retained hereunder to pay the worker the amount as designated in the 
arbitration award. If the County has not retained enough from the contractor or subcontractor to pay the 
worker in accordance with the arbitration award, the worker has a right of action against the contractor 
and subcontractor as appropriate, and the surety of either to receive the amount owed, attorneys ’  fees 
and court costs. The contractor shall promptly furnish a copy of the arbitration award to the County.

Money retained pursuant to the provisions above shall be used to pay the claimant or claimants the 
difference between the amount the worker received in wages for labor on the project at the rate paid by 
the contractor or subcontractor and the amount the worker would have received at the general prevailing 
wage rate as provided by the agreement of the claimant and the contractor or subcontractor affected, or 
in the arbitrator ’s award. The full statutory penalty of sixty dollars ($60.00) per calendar day of violation 
per worker shall be retained by Williamson County to offset its administrative costs, pursuant to Texas 
Government Code, Section, 2258.023. Any retained funds in excess of these amounts shall be paid to 
the contractor on the earlier of the next progress payment or final payment. Provided, however, that the 
County shall have no duty to release any funds to either the claimant or the contractor until it has 
received the notices of agreement or the arbitration award as provided under the provision herein-above.

4.46 CONFIDENTIALITY

The Bidder expressly agrees that it will not use any direct or incidental confidential information that may 
be obtained while working in a governmental setting for its own benefit, and agrees that it will not access 
unauthorized areas or confidential information and it will not disclose any information to unauthorized 
third parties, and will take care to guard the security of the information at all times.

Bid 1704-157Williamson County, Texas

4/7/2017 9:30 AM p. 6



5

6

3 4

Williamson County – Invitation for Bid (IFB)

SECTION 1 - DEFINITIONS 

Addendum/Addenda – means any written or graphic instruments issued by the County prior to the 
consideration of Bids which modify or interpret the Bid Documents by additions, deletions, clarifications, 
or corrections.

Agreement/Ensuing Agreement(s) – means the Successful Bidder may be required by the County to 
sign an additional Agreement containing terms necessary to ensure compliance with the IFB and the 
Bidder ’s Bid.  Such Ensuing Agreement(s) shall contain the Bid specifications, terms and conditions that 
are derived from the IFB.

Bid Documents – means the Legal Notice, IFB including attachments, and any Addenda issued by the 
County prior to the consideration of any Bids.

Bid – means the completed and signed bid form, (sometimes referred to as the Price Sheet), and ALL 
required forms and documentation listed in the IFB package which have been submitted in accordance 
with the terms and conditions described in the IFB package.  A Bid submitted in accordance with this IFB 
is irrevocable during the specified period for evaluation and acceptance of Bids unless a waiver is 
obtained from the Williamson County Purchasing Agent.

Bidder – means a person or entity who submits a Bid in response to this IFB.

Contract – means this IFB and the Bid of the Successful Bidder shall become a Contract between the 
Successful Bidder and the County once the Successful Bidder ’s Bid is properly accepted by the 
Williamson County Commissioners Court.

Commissioner ’s Court – means the Williamson County Commissioners Court. 

County – means Williamson County, a political subdivision of the State of Texas.

Invitation for Bid (IFB) – means this document, together with the attachments thereto and any future 
Addenda issued by the County.

Successful Bidder – means the liable Bidder to whom the County intends to award the Contract.

SECTION 2 - BID FORMAT AND SUBMISSION

2.1 ORGANIZATION OF BID CONTENTS FOR SUBMITTAL 

Each Bid should be organized and items submitted in the order described below: 

A. Transmittal Letter. Please see Section 2.3, Transmittal Letter, for more information. 

B. Price Sheet.

C. Conflict of Interest Questionnaire. Please see Section 2.2, Conflict of Interest, for more 
information in regards to this. Please note that even if you deem there to be no Conflict of Interest, 
this signed questionnaire must be included in your package. 

D. References. Please see Section 3.15, References, for more information. 

E. Bid Affidavit.

F. Form 1295. Please see Section 2.4, Certificate of Interested Parties – Form 1295. 

2.2 CONFLICT OF INTEREST

No public official shall have interest in a Contract, in accordance with Vernon ’s Texas Codes Annotated, 
Local Government Code, Title 5, Subtitle C, Chapter 171, as amended. 

As of January 1, 2006, all Bidders are responsible for complying with Local Government Code, Title 5, 
Subtitle C, Chapter 176.  Additional information may be obtained from the County’s website at the 
following link: 

http://www.wilco.org/CountyDepartments/Purchasing/ConflictofInterestDisclosure/tabid/689/language/en
US/Default.aspx

Each Bidder must disclose any existing or potential conflict of interest relative to the performance of the 
requirements of this IFB.  Examples of potential conflicts of interest may include an existing 
business or personal relationship between the Bidder, its principal, or any affiliate or 
subcontractor with the County or any other entity or person involved in any way with the project 
that is subject to this IFB .  Similarly, any personal or business relationship between the Bidder, the 

principals, or any affiliate or subcontractor with any employee, or official of the County or its suppliers 
must be disclosed.  Any such relationship that might be perceived or represented as a conflict must be 
disclosed. Failure to disclose any such relationship or reveal personal relationships with the County 
employees or officials may be cause for termination. 

The County will decide if an actual or perceived conflict should result in Bid disqualification. 

By submitting a Bid in response to this IFB, all Bidders affirm they have not given, nor intend to give, at 
any time hereafter, any economic opportunity, future employment, gift, loan, gratuity, special discount, 
trip, favor, or service to a the County public servant or any employee, official or representative of same, in 
connection with this procurement. 

Each Bidder must provide a Conflict of Interest Statement with their Bid Package.  Package may 

be deemed incomplete without this form.  

2.3 TRANSMITTAL LETTER

The Bidder should submit a Transmittal Letter that provides the following information: 

A. Name and address of individual or business entity submitting the Bid. 

B. Name, physical address, email address, business and fax number of the Bidder ’s principal 
contact person regarding all contractual matters relating to this IFB.

C. The Bid ’s Federal Employer Identification Number.

D. If the Proposal being submitted will have an effect on air quality for the County (as it relates to any 
state, federal, or voluntary air quality standard), then the Respondent is encouraged to provide
information in narrative indicating the anticipated air quality impact. See Section 4.36, Air Quality 
for more information. 

2.4 CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PARTIES – FORM 1295

As of January 1, 2016, all Successful Bidders are responsible for complying with the Texas Government 
Code, Section 2252.908.  The law states that the County may not enter into certain contracts with a 
Bidder unless the Bidder submits a disclosure of interested parties to the County at the time the Bidder 
submits the signed Contract.  The law applies only to a Contract of the County on or after January 1, 
2016 that either:

A. Requires an action or vote by the Commissioners Court before the Contract may be signed (all 
contracts that fall under the jurisdiction of the Commissioners Court approval, such as contracts 
resulting from an Initiation for Bid (IFB), RFP, Request for Qualifications (RFQ), etc., excluding, 
but not limited to, certain Juvenile Service contracts, contracts funded with Sheriff ’s seized fun 
monies, etc.); or

B. Has a value of at least $1,000,000. 

By January 1, 2016, the Texas Ethics Commission will make available on its website, a new filing 
application that must be used to file Form 1295.  Information regarding how to use the filing application is 
available on the Texas Ethics Commission website at the following link:

https://www.ethics.state.tx.us/whatsnew/elf_info_form1295.htm

A Respondent must:

A. Use the online application to process the required information on Form 1295.

B. Print a copy of the form which will contain a unique certification number.

C. An authorized agent of the Bidder must sign the printed copy of the form.

D. Have the form notarized.

E. File the completed Form 1295 and certification of filing (scanning and emailing form is sufficient) 
with Williamson County Purchasing Agent at the time the signed Contract is submitted for 
approval.

After the Commissioners Court award of the Contract, the County shall notify the Texas Ethics 
Commission, using the Texas Ethics Commission ’s filing application, of the receipt of the filed Form 
1295 and certification of filing not later than the 30th day after the date the Contract binds all parties to the 
Contract. The Texas Ethics Commission will post the completed Form 1295 to its website within seven 
business days after receiving notice from the County.

2.5 ETHICS

The Bidder shall not accept or offer gifts or anything of value nor enter into any business arrangement 
with any employee, official or agent of the County.

2.6 BID SUBMITTAL DEADLINE

The Bid is due no later than the submittal date and time set forth in the Public Announcement and 
General Information listed in this IFB package.  Contents of each Bid shall be submitted in accordance 
with this IFB.

2.7 DELIVERY OF BIDS

The County uses BidSync to distribute and receive Bids and proposals.  It is preferred that Bids
submitted electronically through BidSync; however, Bidders can submit a hard copy.  

Refer to www.bidsync.com for further information on how to submit electronically.

If mailed or delivered in person, Bids and Bid Addenda are to be delivered in sealed envelope on or before
the submittal deadline, as noted in the Public Announcement and General Information listed in this IFB 
package, to:

            Williamson County Purchasing Department
            Attn: Bid Name and Number
            901 South Austin Avenue
            Georgetown, Texas 78626

Also, all Bidders should list their Name and Address, and the Date of the Bid opening on the outside
the box or envelope and note “Sealed Bid Enclosed.” The County will not accept any Bids received after 
the submittal deadline, and shall return such Bids unopened to the Bidder.  The County will not accept 
any responsibility for Bids being delivered by third party carriers.  

Bids will be opened publically and the names of Bidders and pricing will be read aloud.

SECTION 3 - INSTRUCTIONS AND GENERAL REQUIREMENTS

3.1 INSTRUCTIONS

Read this document carefully, and follow all instructions and requirements.  All Bidders are responsible 
for fulfilling all requirements and specifications.  Be sure to have a clear understanding of this IFB.

General requirements apply to all advertised IFBs; however, these may be superseded, in whole or in 
part, by the bid specifications, Addenda and modifications issued as a part of this IFB.  Be sure your Bid 
package is complete.

3.2 AMBIGUITY, CONFLICT, OR OTHER ERRORS IN THIS IFB

If a Bidder discovers any ambiguity, conflict, discrepancy, omission or other error in this IFB, the Bidder 
shall immediately notify the County Purchasing Department of such error in writing and request
modification or clarification of the document.

Modifications will be made by issuing Addenda. If the Bidder fails to notify the County prior to the date
and time fixed for submission of Bids of an error or ambiguity in the IFB known to the Bidder, or an error
or ambiguity that reasonably should have been known to the Bidder, then the Bidder shall be deemed to 
have waived the error or ambiguity or its later resolution.

The County may also modify the IFB, no later than forty-eight (48) hours prior to the date and time fixed
for submission of Bids, by issuance of an Addendum.  All Addenda will be numbered consecutively, 
beginning with one (1).

3.3 NOTIFICATION OF MOST CURRENT ADDRESS

All Bidders in receipt of this IFB shall notify the Williamson County Purchasing Department of any
address changes, contact person changes, and/or telephone number changes no later than forty-eight 
(48) hours prior to the date and time fixed for submission of Bids.

3.4 SIGNATURE OF BIDDER

A. If the Bidder is a Corporation or Limited Liability Company, the legal name of the Corporation
Limited Liability Company shall be provided together with the signature of the officer or officers 
authorized to sign on behalf of such entity.

B. If the Bidder is a General Partnership, the true name of the firm shall be provided with the
signature of each partner authorized to sign.

C. If the Bidder is a Limited Partnership, the name of the Limited Partner ’s General Partner shall
provided with the signature of the officer authorized to sign on behalf of the General Partner.

D. If the Bidder is a Sole Proprietor(s) (individual), each Sole Proprietor(s) shall sign.

E. If signature is by an agent, other than the Sole Proprietor(s) or an officer of a Corporation, Limited 
Liability Company, General Partner or a member of a General Partnership, a power of attorney
equivalent document must be submitted to the Williamson County Purchasing Department.

3.5 ASSUMED BUSINESS NAME

If the Bidder operates business under an Assumed Business Name, the Bidder must have on file with the
Williamson County Clerk a current Assumed Name Certificate and provide a file marked copy of same.

3.6 BID OBLIGATION 

The contents of the IFB, Bid, and any clarification thereof submitted by the Successful Bidder shall
become part of the contractual obligation and incorporated by reference into the Contract and any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

3.7 COMPLIANCE WITH IFB SPECIFICATIONS

It is intended that this IFB describe the requirements and the Bid format in sufficient detail to secure 
comparable Bids.  Failure to comply with all provisions of the IFB may, at the sole discretion of the 
County, result in disqualification.

3.8 WITHDRAWAL OF BID

The Bidder may withdraw its Bid by submitting a written request with the company letterhead and the 
signature of an authorized individual, as described in Section 3.4, Signature of Bidder, to the Williamson 
County Purchasing Department any time prior to the submission deadline.  

The Bidder may submit a new Bid prior to the deadline. Alterations of the Bid in any manner will not be 
considered if submitted after the deadline.  Withdrawal of a Bid after the deadline will be subject to written 
approval of the Williamson County Purchasing Agent.

3.9 EVALUATION AND AWARD

The County reserves the right to use all pertinent information (also learned from sources other than 
disclosed in the Bid process) that might affect the County ’s judgment as to the appropriateness of
award to the lowest and best evaluated Bid. This information may be appended to the Bid evaluation
process results. Information on a Bidder from reliable sources, and not within the Bidder ’s Bid, may also 
be noted and made part of the evaluation fi le.  The County shall have sole discretion for determining 
the reliability of the source.

To ensure the proper and fair evaluation of a solicitation, the County prohibits unsolicited communication 
initiated by the Bidder to the County Official or Employee evaluating or considering the Bids prior to the 
time an award has been made. Unsolicited communication may be ground for disqualifying the 
offending Bidder from consideration or award of the solicitation, or any future solicitation.

Communication between the Bidder and the County will be initiated by the appropriate County Official
Employee in order to obtain information or clarification needed to develop a proper and accurate 
evaluation of the solicitation.

The County intends to award a Contract to the most responsible and responsive Bidder whose Bid will 
be most advantageous to the County. In accordance with Texas Government Code and Local
Government Code, the County may consider, to the extent allowed by law, the following:

A. Price;
B. The Bidder ’s experience and reputation;
C. Quality of the Bidder ’s goods and/or services; 
D. The Bidder ’s safety record;
E. The Bidder ’s proposed personnel; 
F. The Bidder ’s financial capabilities; and 
G. Any other relevant factors specifically listed in this IFB or authorized by law.

3.10 CONDISERATION OF LOCATION OF PRINCIPAL OFFICE 

Pursuant to Texas Local Government Code, Section 271.905 , in purchasing any real property or personal
property that is not affixed to real property, if the County receives one or more Bids from a Bidder whose
principal place of business is in Williamson County and whose Bid is within three (3 )  percent of the
lowest Bid price received by the County from a Bidder who is not a resident of Williamson County, the 
County may enter into a contract with:

A. The lowest Bidder; or the Bidder whose principal place of business is in Williamson County if the
Commissioners Court determines, in writing, that the local Bidder offers the County the best 
combination of contract price and addit ional economic development opportunities
Williamson County created by the contract award, including the employment of residents
Williamson County and increased tax revenues to Williamson County.

It is understood that the Commissioners Court of Williamson County, Texas, reserves the right to accept
or reject any and/or all Bids for any or all goods and/or services covered in this IFB, and to waive
informalities or defects in the Bid or to accept such Bid, if it shall deem to be in the best interest of the 
County.

Awards should be made approximately sixty (60) business days after the Bid opening date. Results may
be obtained by viewing the Williamson County vendor portal at the following link:

http://www.wilco.org/CountyDepartments/Purchasing/SearchforaPastBid/tabid/5213/language/en-
US/Default.aspx

3.11 RESPONSIBILITY 

It is expected that a prospective Bidder will be able to affirmatively demonstrate responsibility.  A 
prospective Bidder should be able to meet the following requirements:

A. Have adequate financial resources, or the ability to obtain such resources as required;
B. Be able to comply with the required or proposed delivery schedule;
C. Have a satisfactory record of performance that can be determined thru references provided; and 
D. Be otherwise qualified and eligible to receive an award.

The County may request representation and other information sufficient to determine the Bidder's ability 
to meet these minimum standards listed above.

3.12 FIRM PRICING 

For unit price items, all of the items listed are to be on a “per unit” basis, stating a firm price per unit or 
unit quantity of each item.  The Bidder must submit a firm price that must be good from the date of Bid 
opening for the fixed period of time set out in this IFB.  Unless the IFB expressly states otherwise, this 
period shall be until the end of the Initial Contract Period.

Bids which do not state a fixed price, or which are subject to change without notice, will not be 
considered.  The Court may award a Contract for the period implied or expressly stated in the lowest and 
best Bid.

3.13 PURCHASE ORDERS

If required by the Williamson County Purchasing Department, a purchase order(s) may be generated to 
the Successful Bidder for goods and/or services.  If a purchase order is issued, the purchase order 
number must appear on all itemized invoices and/or requests for payment.

3.14 SILENCE OF SPECIFICATIONS

The apparent silence of these specifications as to any detail or to the apparent omission from it of a 
detailed description concerning any point, shall be regarded as meaning that only the best practices are 
to prevail.  All interpretations of these specifications shall be made on the basis of this statement.

3.15 REFERENCES

The County may require the Bidder to supply a list of at least three (3) references where like services
and/or goods have been supplied by their firm within the past five (5) years, to include names, titles, 
phone numbers and email addresses of key personnel, and dates of performance.

The County may contact some or all of the references in order to determine the Respondent
performance record on work similar to that described in this RFP.  The County reserves the right to 
contact references other than those provided in the response and to use the information gained from 
them in the evaluation process.

References, if requested, should be provided in accordance with this IFB.  Bid may not be deemed 
complete without the inclusion of requested references.

SECTION 4 - TERMS AND CONDITIONS

4.1 VENUE AND GOVERNING LAW

The Bidder hereby agrees and acknowledges that venue and jurisdiction of any suit, right, or cause of 
action arising out of or in connection with this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s), shall lie 
exclusively in either Williamson County, Texas or in the Austin Division of the Western Federal District of 
Texas, and the parties hereto expressly consent and submit to such jurisdiction.  Furthermore, except to 
the extent that this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) is governed by the laws of the United 
States, this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be governed by and construed in 
accordance with the laws of the State of Texas, excluding, however, its choice of law rules.

4.2 INCORPORATION BY REFERENCE AND PRECEDENCE

A. The Contract shall be derived from the IFB and its Addenda (if applicable), and the Bidder ’ s Bid.  In 
the event of a dispute under the Contract, applicable documents will be referred to for the purpose 
of clarification or for additional detail in the following order of precedence:

1. The IFB and its Addenda (if applicable); and

2. The Bidder ’s Bid.

B. In the event the County requires that an Ensuing Agreement be executed following award and a 
dispute arises between the terms and conditions of the Ensuing Agreement, the IFB and its 
Addenda (if applicable), and the Bidder ’s Bid, applicable documents will be referred to for the 
purpose of clarification or for additional detail in the following order of precedence: 

1. Terms and conditions of the Ensuing Agreement;

2. The IFB its Addenda; and 

3. The Bidder ’s Bid.

4.3 OWNERSHIP OF BID

Each Bid shall become the property of the County upon submittal and will not be returned to Bidders 
unless received after the submittal deadline.

4.4 DISQUALIFICATION OF BIDDER

Upon signing and submittal of the Bid, a Bidder offering to sell supplies, materials, services, or equipment 
to the County, certifies that the Bidder has not violated the antitrust laws of the State of Texas codified in 
Business & Commerce Code, Section 15.01, or the Federal Antitrust Laws, and has not communicated 
directly or indirectly the offer made to any competitor or any other person engaged in such line of 
business.  Any or all Bids may be rejected if the County believes that collusion exists among the Bidders.

4.5 FUNDING

The County intends to budget and make sufficient funds available and authorize funds for expenditure to 
finance the costs of the Contract.  All Bidders understand and agree that the County’s payment of 
amounts under the Contract shall be contingent on the County receiving appropriations or other 
expenditure authority sufficient to allow the County, in the exercise of reasonable administrative 
discretion, to make payments under this Contract.

4.6 ASSIGNMENT, SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS 

The Successful Bidder may not assign, sell, or otherwise transfer the Contract or any other rights or 
interests obtained under the Contract without written permission of the Commissioners Court.  The 
Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the contracting 
parties hereto and their respective successors and permitted assigns.

4.7 IMPLIED REQUIREMENTS

Products or services not specifically described or required in the IFB, but are necessary to provide the 
functional capabilities described by the Bidder, shall be implied and deemed to be included in the Bid.

4.8 TERMINATION

A. Termination for Cause: The County reserves the right to terminate the Contract and/or any 
Ensuing Agreement(s) for default if the Successful Bidder breaches any of the Bid specifications,
terms and conditions, including warranties of the Bidder, if any, or if the Successful Bidder 
becomes insolvent or commits acts of bankruptcy.  Such right of termination is in addition to and
not in lieu of any other remedies the County may have at law or in equity or as may otherwise
provided hereunder.  Default may be construed as, but not limited to, failure to deliver the proper 
goods and/or services within the proper amount of time, and/or to properly perform any and all 
other requirements to the County ’s satisfaction, and/or to meet all other obligations and
requirements.

B. Termination for Convenience: The County may terminate the Contract and/or any Ensuing 
Agreement(s) for convenience and without cause or further liability, upon no less than thirty (30) 
calendar days written notice to the Successful Bidder. The County reserves the right to extend 
this period if it is in the best interest of the County.  In the event the County exercises its right to 
terminate without cause, it is understood and agreed that only the amounts due to the Successful 
Bidder for goods, commodities and/or services provided and expenses incurred to and including 
the date of termination, will be due and payable.  No penalty will be assessed for the County
termination for convenience.

4.9 NON-PERFORMANCE

It is the objective of the County to obtain complete and satisfactory performance of the requirements set 
forth herein.  In addition to any other remedies available at law, in equity or that may be set out herein, 
failure to perform may result in a deduction of payment equal to the amount of the goods and/or services 
that were not provided and/or performed to the County ’s satisfaction.  

In the event of such non-performance, the County shall have the right, but shall not be obligated, to 
complete the services itself or by others and/or purchase the goods from other sources.  If the County 
elects to acquire the goods or perform the services itself or by others, pursuant to the foregoing, the 
Successful Bidder shall reimburse the County, within ten (10) calendar days of demand, for all costs 
incurred by the County (including, without limitation, applicable, general, and administrative expenses, 
and field overhead, and the cost of necessary equipment, materials, and field labor) in correcting the 
nonperformance which the Successful Bidder fails to meet pursuant to the requirements set out herein.  
In the event the Successful Bidder refuses to reimburse the County as set out in this provision, the 
County shall have the right to deduct such reimbursement amounts from any amounts that may be then 
owing or that may become owing in the future to the Successful Bidder.

4.10 PROPRIETARY INFORMATION AND THE TEXAS PUBLIC INFORMATION ACT

All material submitted to the County shall become public property and subject to the Texas Public 
Information Act upon receipt. If a Bidder does not desire proprietary information in the Bid to be 
disclosed, each page must be clearly identified and marked proprietary at time of submittal or, more 
preferably, all proprietary information may be placed in a folder or appendix and be clearly identified and 
marked as being proprietary.  Failure to clearly identify and mark information as being proprietary as set 
forth under this provision will result in all unmarked information being deemed non-proprietary and 
available to the public.  For all information that has not been clearly identified and marked as proprietary 
by the Bidder, the County may choose to place such information on the County ’s website and/or a similar 
public database without obtaining any type of prior consent from the Bidder.

The County will, to the extent allowed by law, endeavor to protect from public disclosure the information 
that has been identified and marked as proprietary.  The final decision as to what information must be 
disclosed, however, lies with the Texas Attorney General.  

To the extent, if any, that any provision in this IFB or in the Bidder ’s Bid is in conflict with Texas 
Government Code, Chapter 552, as amended (the “Public Information Act”), the same shall be of no 
force or effect.  Furthermore, it is expressly understood, and agreed, that the County, and its officers and 
employees, may request advice, decisions and opinions of the Attorney General of the State of Texas in 
regard to the application of the Public Information Act to any items or data furnished to the County as to 
whether or not the same are available to the public.  It is further understood that the County, and its 
officers and employees, shall have the right to rely on the advice, decisions and opinions of the Attorney 
General, and that the County, its officers and employees shall have no liability or obligation to any party 
hereto for the disclosure to the public, or to any person or persons, of any items or data furnished to the 
County by a party hereto, in reliance of any advice, decision or opinion of the Attorney General of the 
State of Texas.

4.11 RIGHT TO AUDIT

The Successful Bidder agrees that the County or its duly authorized representatives shall, until the 
expiration of three (3) years after termination or expiration of the services to be performed, have access 
to and the right to examine and photocopy any and all books, documents, papers and records of the 
Successful Bidder, which are directly pertinent to the services to be performed or goods to be delivered 
for the purposes of making audits, examinations, excerpts and transcriptions.  The Successful Bidder 
agrees that the County shall have access during normal working hours to all necessary facilities and 
shall be provided adequate and appropriate work space in order to conduct audits in compliance with the 
provisions of this section.  The County shall give the Successful Bidder reasonable advance notice of 
intended audits.

4.12 TESTING AND INSPECTIONS

The County reserves the right to inspect and test equipment, supplies, materials and goods for quality 
and compliance with this IFB, and ability to meet the needs of the user.  Demonstration units must be 
available for review.  Should the goods or services fail to meet requirements and/or be unavailable for 
evaluation, the County can deem the Bidder to be in breach and terminate the Contract and/or any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

4.13 BID PREPARATION COSTS

The cost of developing Bids is the sole responsibility of the Bidders and shall not be charged to the 
County.  There is no expressed or implied obligation for the County to reimburse the Bidders for any 
expense incurred in preparing a Bid in response to this IFB and the County will not reimburse the Bidders 
for such expenses.

4.14 INDEMNIFICATION

The Successful Bidder shall indemnify, defend and save harmless, the County, its officials, employees, 
agents and agent ’s employees from, and against, all claims, liability, and expenses including reasonable 
attorneys ’   fees, arising from activities of the Bidder, its agents, servants or employees, performed 
hereunder that result from the negligent act, error, or omission of the Bidder or any of the Bidder
agents, servants or employees, as well as all claims of loss or damage to the Bidder ’s and the County
property, equipment, and/or supplies. 

Furthermore, the County, its officials, employees, agents and agents ’ employees shall not be liable for 
damages to the Successful Bidder arising from any act of any third party, including, but not limited to, 
theft.  The Successful Bidder further agrees to indemnify, defend and save harmless, the County from its 
officials, employee, agents and agents ’ employees against all claims of whatever nature arising from any 
accident, injury, or damage whatsoever, caused to any person, or the property of any person, occurring 
in relation to the Successful Bidder ’s performance of any services requested hereunder during the term 
of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s). 

The Successful Bidder shall timely report all claims, demands, suits, actions, proceedings, liens or 
judgements to the County and shall, upon the receipt of any claim, demand, suit, action, proceeding, lien 

or judgement, not later than the fifteenth (15 th) day of each month; provide the County with a written 
report on each such matter, setting forth the status of each matter, the schedule or planned proceedings 
with respect to each matter and the cooperation or assistance, if any, of the County required by the 
Successful Bidder in the defense of each matter.  The Successful Bidder’s duty to defend, indemnify and 
hold the County harmless shall be absolute.  It shall not abate or end by reason of the expiration or 
termination of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s), unless otherwise agreed by the County in 
writing.  The provisions of this section shall survive the termination of the Contract and shall remain in full 
force and effect with respect to all such matters no matter when they arise. 

In the event of any dispute between the parties, as to whether a claim, demand, suit, action, proceeding, 
lien or judgement, that appears to have been caused by or appears to have arisen out of or in connection 
with acts or omissions of the County, the Bidder shall nevertheless fully defend such claim, demand, suit 
or action, proceeding, lien or judgement, until and unless there is a determination by a court of competent 
jurisdiction that the acts and omissions of the Bidder are not an issue in the matter. 

The Successful Bidder ’s indemnification shall cover, and the Successful Bidder agrees to, indemnify the 
County, in the event the County is found to have been negligent for having selected the Successful 
Bidder to perform the work described in this request.  The provision by the Successful Bidder of 
insurance shall not limit the liability of the Successful Bidder under the Contract and/or any Ensuing 
Agreement(s). 

4.15 WAIVER OF SUBROGATION

The Successful Bidder and the Successful Bidder ’s insurance carrier waive any and all rights 
whatsoever with regard to subrogation against the County as an indirect party to any suit arising out of 
personal or property damages resulting from the Bidder ’s performance under this Contract and any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

4.16 RELATIONSHIP OF THE PARTIES

The Successful Bidder shall be an independent contractor and shall assume all of the rights, obligations, 
liabilities, applicable to it as such independent contractor hereunder and any provisions herein which may 
appear to give the County the right to direct the Successful Bidder as to details of doing work herein 
covered, or to exercise a measure of control over the work, shall be deemed to mean that the Successful 
Bidder shall follow the desires of the County in the results of the work only.  The County shall not retain or 
have the right to control the Successful Bidder ’s means, methods or details pertaining to the Successful 
Bidder ’s performance of the work.  The County and the Successful Bidder hereby agree and declare that 
the Successful Bidder is an independent contractor and as such meets the qualifications of an 
“Independent Contractor” under Texas Workers Compensation Act, Texas Labor Code, Section 406.141, 
that the Successful Bidder is not an employee of  the County, and that the Successful Bidder and its 
employees, agents and subcontractors shall not be entitled to workers compensation coverage or any 
other type of insurance coverage held by the County.

4.17 SOLE PROVIDER

The Successful Bidder agrees and acknowledges that it shall not be considered a sole provider of the 
goods and/or services described herein and that the County may contract with other providers of such 
goods and/or services if the County deems, at its sole discretion, that multiple providers of the same 
goods and/or services will serve the best interest of the County.

4.18 FORCE MAJEURE

If the party obligated to perform is prevented from performance by an act of war, order of legal authority, 
act of God, or other unavoidable cause not attributable to the fault or negligence of said party, the other 
party shall grant such party relief from the performance.  The burden of proof for the need of such relief 
shall rest upon the party obligated to perform.  To obtain release based on force majeure, the party 
obligated to perform shall file a written request with the other party.

4.19 SEVERABILITY

If any provision of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be held invalid or 
unenforceable by any court of competent jurisdiction, such holding shall not invalidate or render 
unenforceable any other provision thereof, but rather the entire IFB, Contract or any Ensuing Agreement
(s) will be construed as if not containing the particular invalid or unenforceable provision or provisions, 
and the rights and obligation of the parties shall be construed and enforced in accordance therewith.  The 
parties acknowledge that if any provision of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) is 
determined to be invalid or unenforceable, it is the desire and intention of each that such provision be 
reformed and construed in such a manner that it will, to the maximum extent practicable, give effect to
the intent of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) and be deemed to be validated and
enforceable.

4.20 EQUAL OPPORTUNITY

Neither party shall discriminate against any employee or applicant for employment because of race, 
color, sex, religion or national origin.

4.21 NOTICE

Any notice to be given shall be in writing and may be distributed by personal delivery, or by registered or 
certified mail, return receipt requested, addressed to the proper party, at the following address:

The County:    Williamson County Purchasing Department 
            Attn: Purchasing Agent 
            901 South Austin Avenue 
            Georgetown, Texas 78626

The Bidder:     Address set out in Bidder’s Transmittal Letter.

Notices given in accordance with this provision shall be effective upon (1) receipt by the party to which 
notice is given, or (2) on the third (3rd) calendar day following mailing, whichever occurs first.

4.22 SALES AND USE TAX EXEMPTION

The County is a body, corporate and politic, under the laws of the State of Texas and claims exemption 
from sales and use taxes under Texas Tax Code, Section 151.309, as amended, and the services and/or 
goods subject hereof are being secured for use by the County.

4.23 COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS

The County and the Successful Bidder shall comply with all federal, state, and local laws, statutes,
ordinances, rules and regulations, and the orders and decrees of any courts or administrative bodies or 
tribunals in any matter affecting the performance of the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s),
including, without limitation, Workers ’ Compensation laws, salary and wage statutes and regulations, 
licensing laws and regulations.  When required, the Successful Bidder shall furnish the County with 
certification of compliance with said laws, statues, ordinances, rules, regulations, orders, and decrees 
above specified.

4.24 INCORPORATION OF EXHIBITS, APPENDICES AND ATTACHMENTS

All of the Exhibits, Appendices and Attachments referred to herein are incorporated by reference as if set 
forth verbatim herein.  Any conflicting terms in the Contract documents will be resolved at the sole 
discretion of the Commissioners Court.

4.25 NO WAIVER OF IMMUNITIES

Nothing herein shall be deemed to waive, modify or amend any legal defense available at law or in equity 
to the County, its past or present officers, employees, or agents, nor to create any legal rights or claim on 
behalf of any third party.  The County does not waive, modify, or alter to any extent whatsoever the 
availability of the defense of governmental immunity under the laws of the State of Texas and of the 
United States.

4.26 NO WAIVER

The failure or delay of any party to enforce at any time or any period of time any of the provisions of this 
IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall not constitute a present or future waiver of such 
provisions nor the right of either party to enforce each and every provision.  Furthermore, no term or 
provision hereof shall be deemed waived and no breach excused unless such waiver or consent shall be 
in writing and signed by the party claimed to have waived or consented.  Any consent by any party to, or 
waiver of, a breach by the other, whether expressed or implied, shall not constitute a consent to, waiver 
of or excuse for any other, different or subsequent breach.

4.27 CURRENT REVENUES

The obligations of the parties under the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) do not constitute a 
general obligation or indebtedness of the County for which the County is obligated to levy, pledge, or 
collect any of taxation.  It is understood and agreed that the County shall have the right to terminate the 
Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) at the end of any the County fiscal year if the governing body of 
the County does not appropriate sufficient funds as determined by the County ’s budget for the fiscal year 
in question.  The County may effect such termination by giving written notice of termination to the 
Successful Bidder at the end of its then-current fiscal year.

4.28 FOB DESTINATION

To the extent applicable to this IFB, all of the items listed are to be Free On Board to final destination 
(FOB Destination) with all transportation charges if applicable to be included in the Bid, unless otherwise 
specified in the Invitation for Bids.  The title and risk of loss of the goods shall not pass to the County until 
receipt and acceptance takes place at the FOB Destination point.

4.29 BINDING EFFECT

This Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties 
and their respective permitted assigns and successors.

4.30 ASSIGNMENT

The Successful Bidder ’s interest and duties hereunder may not be assigned or delegated to a third party 
without the express written consent of the County.

4.31 SAFETY

The Successful Bidder is responsible for initiating, maintaining, and supervising all safety precautions 
and programs in connection with any services to be provided hereunder. The safety program shall 
comply with all applicable requirements of the current federal Occupational Safety and Health Act and all 
other applicable federal, state and local laws and regulations.

4.32 GENERAL OBLIGATIONS AND RELIANCE

The Successful Bidder shall perform all services and/or provide all goods, as well as those reasonably
inferable and necessary for completion and provision of services and/or goods required hereunder. The
Successful Bidder shall keep the County informed of the progress and quality of the services.  The 
Successful Bidder agrees and acknowledges that the County is relying on the Successful Bidder's 
represented expertise and ability to provide the goods and/or services described herein.  The Successful
Bidder agrees to use its best efforts, skill, judgment, and abilities to perform its obligations in accordance
with the highest standards used in the profession and to further the interests of the County 
accordance with the County ’s requirements and procedures.    T h e   Successful Bidder ’s duties,
set forth herein, shall at no time be in any way diminished by reason of any approval by the County, nor
shall the Successful Bidder be released from any liability by reason of such approval by the County, it 
being understood that the County at all times is ultimately relying upon the Successful Bidder ’s skill and 
knowledge in performing the services and providing any goods required hereunder.

4.33 ESTIMATED QUANTITIES

To the extent applicable to this IFB, the estimated quantity of each item listed in this IFB is only
estimate; the actual quantity to be purchased may be more or less. The County is not obligated
purchase any minimum amount, and the County may purchase any reasonable amount greater than the
estimate for the same unit price. Any limit on quantities available must be stated expressly in the Bid.

4.34 CONTRACTUAL DEVELOPMENT

The contents of the IFB and the Successful Bidder ’s Bid will become an integral part of the Contract, but 
may be modified, at the County ’s sole discretion, by provisions of an Ensuing Agreement.  Therefore, the 
Bidder must agree to an inclusion of an Ensuing Agreement of the Bid specifications, terms and 
conditions of this IFB.  If an Ensuing Agreement is required under this IFB, information relative to the 
Agreement will be located in the Special Provisions Section of this IFB.

4.35 SURVIVABILITY 

All applicable agreements that were entered into between the Successful Bidder and the County, under 
the terms and conditions of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s), shall survive the expiration or 
termination thereof for ninety (90) days unless a new contract has been awarded.

The County may exercise, by written notice to the Successful Bidder no later than ten (10) calendar days 
of the Contract expiration, this clause for emergencies only. 

4.36 AIR QUALITY

In determining the overall best Bid, the County may, to the extent applicable, exercise the option granted 
to local governments under the Texas Local Government Code, Section 271.907.

This option allows the County to evaluate Bids and give preference to goods and/or services of a Bidder 
that demonstrates that the Bidder meets or exceeds any and all state or federal environmental 
standards, including voluntary standards, relating to air quality.  If the Bid being submitted will have an 
effect on air quality for the County (as it relates to any state, federal, or voluntary air quality standard), 
then the Bidder is encouraged to provide information in narrative indicating the anticipated air quality 
impact.  All Bidders are expected to meet all mandated state and federal air quality standards.

4.37 ENTIRE AGREEMENT

The Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall supersede all prior Agreements, written or oral 
between the Successful Bidder and the County and shall constitute the entire Agreement and 
understanding between the parties with respect to the services and/or goods to be provided.  Each of the 
provisions herein shall be binding upon the parties and may not be waived, modified, amended or altered, 
except by writing signed by the Successful Bidder and the County.

4.38 PAYMENT

The County ’s payment for goods and services shall be governed by the Texas Government Code, 

Chapter 2251.  An invoice shall be deemed overdue the thirty-first (31st) day after the later of the 
following: 

A. The date the County receives the goods under the Contract; 
B. The date the performance of the service under the Contract is completed; or 
C. The date the Williamson County Auditor receives an invoice for the goods or services.  

Interest charges for any overdue payments shall be paid by the County in accordance with Texas 
Government Code, Section 2251.025.  More specifically, the rate of interest that shall accrue on a late 
payment is the rate in effect on September 1 of the County ’s fiscal year in which the payment becomes 
due.  The said rate in effect on September 1 shall be equal to the sum of one (1) percent, and the prime 

rate published in the Wall Street Journal on the first (1st) day of July of the preceding fiscal year that does 
not fall on a Saturday or Sunday.

In the event that an error appears in an invoice submitted by the Successful Bidder, the County shall 
notify the Successful Bidder of the error not later than the twenty-first (21st) day after the date the County 
receives the invoice.  If the error is resolved in favor of the Successful Bidder, the Successful Bidder 
shall be entitled to receive interest on the unpaid balance of the invoice submitted by the Successful 
Bidder beginning on the date that the payment for the invoice became overdue.  If the error is resolved in 
favor of the County, the Successful Bidder shall submit a corrected invoice that must be paid in 
accordance within the time set forth above.  The unpaid balance accrues interest as provided by the 
Texas Government Code, Chapter 2251, if the corrected invoice is not paid by the appropriate date.

As a minimum, invoices shall include:

A. Name, address, and telephone number of the Successful Bidder and similar information in the 
event the payment is to be made to a different address. 

B. The County Contract, Purchase Order. 

C. Identification of items or service as outlined in the Contract. 

D. Quantity or quantities, applicable unit prices, total prices and total amount. 

E. Any additional payment information which may be called for by the Contract. 

Payment inquiries should be directed to the following address:        

            Williamson County Auditor’s Office, Accounts Payable Department
            Email: accountspayable@wilco.org
            Phone: 512-943-1500

4.39 CONTRACTUAL FORMATION AND ENSUING AGREEMENT

The IFB and the Bidder ’s Bid, when properly accepted by the Commissioners Court, shall constitute a
Contract equally binding between the Successful Bidder and the County.

If an Ensuing Agreement is required by this IFB, that information will be provided in Special 
Provisions section of this IFB.  The Successful Bidder shall be required to execute the Agreement at 
the Williamson County Purchasing Department approximately ten (10) calendar days after the 
Successful Bidder is notified of award.  The Ensuing Agreement shall be in the same form as the 
Agreement which is attached to the end of this IFB.  The only anticipated changes in the Ensuing 
Agreement will be to include additional exhibits, to fill in blanks to identify the Successful Bidder, and 
terms relating to the compensation, or to revise the Agreement to accommodate corrections, changes in 
the scope of services, or changes pursuant to Addenda issued.  Bidders should raise any questions 
regarding the terms of the Agreement in the form of written questions or submittals as 
described in the Public Announcement and General Information portion of this IFB.  Because the 
signed Ensuing Agreement will be substantively and substantially derived from the attached Agreement, 
each Bidder is urged to seek independent legal counsel as to any questions about the terms, conditions 
or provisions contained in the Agreement before submitting a Bid.  Again, the attached Agreement, if 
applicable, contains important legal provisions and is considered part and parcel of this IFB.  Failure or 
refusal to sign aforesaid Agreement shall be grounds for the County to revoke any award which has been 
issued, forfeit Bid security, if applicable, and select another Bidder.

4.40 COOPERATIVE PURCHASING PROGRAM 

During the term of the Contract resulting from this IFB, the County would like to afford the same prices, 
terms and conditions to other political subdivisions or public entities.  Another entity’s participation in the 
Contract resulting from this IFB is subject to a properly authorized Purchasing Cooperative Inter- local 
Agreement with the County.  Any liability created by purchase orders issued against the Contract shall be 
the sole responsibility of the governmental agency placing the order.

4.41 INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS

To the extent applicable Insurance information will appear in the Additional Stipulations section that is in 
this IFB Package. 

4.42 BIDDERS BOND, WARRANTY BOND, PERFORMANCE AND PAYMENT BONDS

To the extent applicable Bond information will appear in the Additional Stipulations section that is in this 
IFB Package. 

4.43 LEGAL LIABILITY INFORMATION

The Successful Bidder shall disclose all legal liability information by listing any pending litigation
anticipated litigation that your firm is involved in including, but not limited to, potential or actual legal
matters with private parties and any local, state, federal or international governmental entities. The
County reserves the right to consider legal liability information in the recommendation of any proposed 
contract to the Commissioners Court.

4.44 INCLEMENT WEATHER

In case of inclement weather or any other unforeseen event causing the County to close for business on 
the date of a Bid submission deadline, the Bid closing will automatically be postponed until the next 
business day the County is open.  If inclement weather conditions or any other unforeseen event causes 
delays in carrier service operations, the County may issue an Addendum to all known Bidders interested 
in the project to extend the deadline.  It will be the responsibility of the Bidder to notify the County of their 
interest in the project if these conditions are impacting their ability to turn in a submission within the 
stated deadline.  The County reserves the right to make the final judgement call to extend any deadline. 

4.45 PREVAILING WAGE RATES

To the extent this procurement is for the construction of a public work, including a building, highway, 
road, excavation, and repair work or other project development or improvement, paid for in whole or in 
part from public funds, without regard to whether the work is done under public supervision or direction, 
Texas Government Code, Chapter 2258, shall apply and the contractor shall pay not less than the wage 
scale of the various classes of labor as shown on the “Prevailing Wage Schedule” provided by the 
County. Pursuant to Texas Government Code, Section 2258.022(a)(2), the County has determined the 
general prevailing rate of the “Prevailing Wage Schedule”  in the locality in which the public work is to be 
performed for each craft or type of worker needed to execute the contract and the prevailing rate for legal 
holiday and overtime work by using the prevailing wage rate as determined by the United States 
Department of Labor in accordance with the United States Code, Section 276a (Davis-Bacon Act). 

The specified wage rates are minimum rates only, and are not representations that qualified labor 
adequate to perform the work is available locally at the prevailing wage rates. The County is not bound to 
pay—and will not consider—any claims for additional compensation made by any contractor because the 
contractor pays wages in excess of the applicable minimum rate contained in the Contract Documents. 
The “Prevailing Wage Schedule”  is not a representation that quantities of qualified labor adequate to 
perform the work may be found locally at the specified wage rates.

For classifications not shown, workers shall not be paid less than the wage indicated for laborers. The 
contractor shall notify each worker commencing work on the project the worker ’s job classification and 
the established minimum wage rate required to be paid, as well as the actual amount being paid. The 
notice must be delivered to and signed in acknowledgement of receipt by the employee and must list 
both the monetary wages and fringe benefits to be paid or furnished for each classification in which the 
worker is assigned duties. When requested by the County, competent evidence of compliance with the 
Texas Prevailing Wage Law shall be furnished by contractor. A copy of each worker wage rate 
notification shall be submitted to the County with the Application for Payment for the period during which 
the worker began on-site activities.

Should the contractor at any time become aware that a particular skill or trade not reflected on the 
County ’s “Prevailing Wage Schedule” will be or is being employed in the work, whether by the contractor 
or by a subcontractor, the contractor shall promptly inform the County and shall specify a wage rate for 
that skill or trade, which shall bind the contractor.

The contractor and any subcontractor shall pay to the County a penalty of sixty dollars ($60.00) for each 
worker employed for each calendar day, or portion thereof, that the worker is paid less than the wage 
rates stipulated in the “Prevailing Wage Schedule” or any supplement thereto. The contractor and each 
subcontractor shall keep, or cause to be kept, an accurate record showing the names and occupations 
of all workers employed in connection with the work, and showing the actual per diem wages paid to 
each worker, which records shall be open at all reasonable hours for the inspection by the County.

Within thirty-one (31) days of receipt of information concerning a violation of the Texas Government Code 
Chapter 2258, the County shall make an initial determination as to whether good cause exists to believe 
a violation occurred. The County ’s decision on the initial determination shall be reduced to writing and 
sent to the contractor or subcontractor against whom the violation was alleged, and to the affected 
worker. When a good cause finding is made, the County shall retain the full amounts claimed by the 
claimant or claimants as the difference between wages paid and wages due under the “Prevailing Wage 
Schedule” and any supplements thereto, together with the applicable penalties, such amounts being 
subtracted from successive progress payments pending a final decision on the violation.

After the County makes its initial determination, the affected contractor or subcontractor and worker have 
fourteen (14) calendar days in which to resolve the issue of whether a violation occurred, including the 
amount that should be retained by the County or paid to the affected worker. If the contractor or 
subcontractor and affected worker reach an agreement concerning the worker ’s claim, the contractor 
shall promptly notify the County in a written document signed by the worker. It the contractor or 

Subcontractor and affected worker do not agree before the fifteenth (15 th) calendar day after the County
determination, the contractor or subcontractor and affected worker must participate in binding arbitration 
in accordance with the Texas General Arbitration Act, Chapter 171, (Texas Civil Practice and Remedies 
Code). The parties to the arbitration have ten (10) calendar days after the expiration of the fifteen (15) 

calendar days referred to above, to agree on an arbitrator; if by the eleventh (11 th) calendar day there is 
no agreement to an arbitrator, a district court shall appoint an arbitrator on the petition of any of the 
parties to the arbitration.

If an arbitrator determines that a violation has occurred, the arbitrator shall assess and award against the 
contractor or subcontractor the amount of penalty as provided above and the amount owed the worker. 
The County may use any amounts retained hereunder to pay the worker the amount as designated in the 
arbitration award. If the County has not retained enough from the contractor or subcontractor to pay the 
worker in accordance with the arbitration award, the worker has a right of action against the contractor 
and subcontractor as appropriate, and the surety of either to receive the amount owed, attorneys ’  fees 
and court costs. The contractor shall promptly furnish a copy of the arbitration award to the County.

Money retained pursuant to the provisions above shall be used to pay the claimant or claimants the 
difference between the amount the worker received in wages for labor on the project at the rate paid by 
the contractor or subcontractor and the amount the worker would have received at the general prevailing 
wage rate as provided by the agreement of the claimant and the contractor or subcontractor affected, or 
in the arbitrator ’s award. The full statutory penalty of sixty dollars ($60.00) per calendar day of violation 
per worker shall be retained by Williamson County to offset its administrative costs, pursuant to Texas 
Government Code, Section, 2258.023. Any retained funds in excess of these amounts shall be paid to 
the contractor on the earlier of the next progress payment or final payment. Provided, however, that the 
County shall have no duty to release any funds to either the claimant or the contractor until it has 
received the notices of agreement or the arbitration award as provided under the provision herein-above.

4.46 CONFIDENTIALITY

The Bidder expressly agrees that it will not use any direct or incidental confidential information that may 
be obtained while working in a governmental setting for its own benefit, and agrees that it will not access 
unauthorized areas or confidential information and it will not disclose any information to unauthorized 
third parties, and will take care to guard the security of the information at all times.

Bid 1704-157Williamson County, Texas

4/7/2017 9:30 AM p. 7



5

6

3 4

Williamson County – Invitation for Bid (IFB)

SECTION 1 - DEFINITIONS 

Addendum/Addenda – means any written or graphic instruments issued by the County prior to the 
consideration of Bids which modify or interpret the Bid Documents by additions, deletions, clarifications, 
or corrections.

Agreement/Ensuing Agreement(s) – means the Successful Bidder may be required by the County to 
sign an additional Agreement containing terms necessary to ensure compliance with the IFB and the 
Bidder ’s Bid.  Such Ensuing Agreement(s) shall contain the Bid specifications, terms and conditions that 
are derived from the IFB.

Bid Documents – means the Legal Notice, IFB including attachments, and any Addenda issued by the 
County prior to the consideration of any Bids.

Bid – means the completed and signed bid form, (sometimes referred to as the Price Sheet), and ALL 
required forms and documentation listed in the IFB package which have been submitted in accordance 
with the terms and conditions described in the IFB package.  A Bid submitted in accordance with this IFB 
is irrevocable during the specified period for evaluation and acceptance of Bids unless a waiver is 
obtained from the Williamson County Purchasing Agent.

Bidder – means a person or entity who submits a Bid in response to this IFB.

Contract – means this IFB and the Bid of the Successful Bidder shall become a Contract between the 
Successful Bidder and the County once the Successful Bidder ’s Bid is properly accepted by the 
Williamson County Commissioners Court.

Commissioner ’s Court – means the Williamson County Commissioners Court. 

County – means Williamson County, a political subdivision of the State of Texas.

Invitation for Bid (IFB) – means this document, together with the attachments thereto and any future 
Addenda issued by the County.

Successful Bidder – means the liable Bidder to whom the County intends to award the Contract.

SECTION 2 - BID FORMAT AND SUBMISSION

2.1 ORGANIZATION OF BID CONTENTS FOR SUBMITTAL 

Each Bid should be organized and items submitted in the order described below: 

A. Transmittal Letter. Please see Section 2.3, Transmittal Letter, for more information. 

B. Price Sheet.

C. Conflict of Interest Questionnaire. Please see Section 2.2, Conflict of Interest, for more 
information in regards to this. Please note that even if you deem there to be no Conflict of Interest, 
this signed questionnaire must be included in your package. 

D. References. Please see Section 3.15, References, for more information. 

E. Bid Affidavit.

F. Form 1295. Please see Section 2.4, Certificate of Interested Parties – Form 1295. 

2.2 CONFLICT OF INTEREST

No public official shall have interest in a Contract, in accordance with Vernon ’s Texas Codes Annotated, 
Local Government Code, Title 5, Subtitle C, Chapter 171, as amended. 

As of January 1, 2006, all Bidders are responsible for complying with Local Government Code, Title 5, 
Subtitle C, Chapter 176.  Additional information may be obtained from the County’s website at the 
following link: 

http://www.wilco.org/CountyDepartments/Purchasing/ConflictofInterestDisclosure/tabid/689/language/en
US/Default.aspx

Each Bidder must disclose any existing or potential conflict of interest relative to the performance of the 
requirements of this IFB.  Examples of potential conflicts of interest may include an existing 
business or personal relationship between the Bidder, its principal, or any affiliate or 
subcontractor with the County or any other entity or person involved in any way with the project 
that is subject to this IFB .  Similarly, any personal or business relationship between the Bidder, the 

principals, or any affiliate or subcontractor with any employee, or official of the County or its suppliers 
must be disclosed.  Any such relationship that might be perceived or represented as a conflict must be 
disclosed. Failure to disclose any such relationship or reveal personal relationships with the County 
employees or officials may be cause for termination. 

The County will decide if an actual or perceived conflict should result in Bid disqualification. 

By submitting a Bid in response to this IFB, all Bidders affirm they have not given, nor intend to give, at 
any time hereafter, any economic opportunity, future employment, gift, loan, gratuity, special discount, 
trip, favor, or service to a the County public servant or any employee, official or representative of same, in 
connection with this procurement. 

Each Bidder must provide a Conflict of Interest Statement with their Bid Package.  Package may 

be deemed incomplete without this form.  

2.3 TRANSMITTAL LETTER

The Bidder should submit a Transmittal Letter that provides the following information: 

A. Name and address of individual or business entity submitting the Bid. 

B. Name, physical address, email address, business and fax number of the Bidder ’s principal 
contact person regarding all contractual matters relating to this IFB.

C. The Bid ’s Federal Employer Identification Number.

D. If the Proposal being submitted will have an effect on air quality for the County (as it relates to any 
state, federal, or voluntary air quality standard), then the Respondent is encouraged to provide
information in narrative indicating the anticipated air quality impact. See Section 4.36, Air Quality 
for more information. 

2.4 CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PARTIES – FORM 1295

As of January 1, 2016, all Successful Bidders are responsible for complying with the Texas Government 
Code, Section 2252.908.  The law states that the County may not enter into certain contracts with a 
Bidder unless the Bidder submits a disclosure of interested parties to the County at the time the Bidder 
submits the signed Contract.  The law applies only to a Contract of the County on or after January 1, 
2016 that either:

A. Requires an action or vote by the Commissioners Court before the Contract may be signed (all 
contracts that fall under the jurisdiction of the Commissioners Court approval, such as contracts 
resulting from an Initiation for Bid (IFB), RFP, Request for Qualifications (RFQ), etc., excluding, 
but not limited to, certain Juvenile Service contracts, contracts funded with Sheriff ’s seized fun 
monies, etc.); or

B. Has a value of at least $1,000,000. 

By January 1, 2016, the Texas Ethics Commission will make available on its website, a new filing 
application that must be used to file Form 1295.  Information regarding how to use the filing application is 
available on the Texas Ethics Commission website at the following link:

https://www.ethics.state.tx.us/whatsnew/elf_info_form1295.htm

A Respondent must:

A. Use the online application to process the required information on Form 1295.

B. Print a copy of the form which will contain a unique certification number.

C. An authorized agent of the Bidder must sign the printed copy of the form.

D. Have the form notarized.

E. File the completed Form 1295 and certification of filing (scanning and emailing form is sufficient) 
with Williamson County Purchasing Agent at the time the signed Contract is submitted for 
approval.

After the Commissioners Court award of the Contract, the County shall notify the Texas Ethics 
Commission, using the Texas Ethics Commission ’s filing application, of the receipt of the filed Form 
1295 and certification of filing not later than the 30th day after the date the Contract binds all parties to the 
Contract. The Texas Ethics Commission will post the completed Form 1295 to its website within seven 
business days after receiving notice from the County.

2.5 ETHICS

The Bidder shall not accept or offer gifts or anything of value nor enter into any business arrangement 
with any employee, official or agent of the County.

2.6 BID SUBMITTAL DEADLINE

The Bid is due no later than the submittal date and time set forth in the Public Announcement and 
General Information listed in this IFB package.  Contents of each Bid shall be submitted in accordance 
with this IFB.

2.7 DELIVERY OF BIDS

The County uses BidSync to distribute and receive Bids and proposals.  It is preferred that Bids
submitted electronically through BidSync; however, Bidders can submit a hard copy.  

Refer to www.bidsync.com for further information on how to submit electronically.

If mailed or delivered in person, Bids and Bid Addenda are to be delivered in sealed envelope on or before
the submittal deadline, as noted in the Public Announcement and General Information listed in this IFB 
package, to:

            Williamson County Purchasing Department
            Attn: Bid Name and Number
            901 South Austin Avenue
            Georgetown, Texas 78626

Also, all Bidders should list their Name and Address, and the Date of the Bid opening on the outside
the box or envelope and note “Sealed Bid Enclosed.” The County will not accept any Bids received after 
the submittal deadline, and shall return such Bids unopened to the Bidder.  The County will not accept 
any responsibility for Bids being delivered by third party carriers.  

Bids will be opened publically and the names of Bidders and pricing will be read aloud.

SECTION 3 - INSTRUCTIONS AND GENERAL REQUIREMENTS

3.1 INSTRUCTIONS

Read this document carefully, and follow all instructions and requirements.  All Bidders are responsible 
for fulfilling all requirements and specifications.  Be sure to have a clear understanding of this IFB.

General requirements apply to all advertised IFBs; however, these may be superseded, in whole or in 
part, by the bid specifications, Addenda and modifications issued as a part of this IFB.  Be sure your Bid 
package is complete.

3.2 AMBIGUITY, CONFLICT, OR OTHER ERRORS IN THIS IFB

If a Bidder discovers any ambiguity, conflict, discrepancy, omission or other error in this IFB, the Bidder 
shall immediately notify the County Purchasing Department of such error in writing and request
modification or clarification of the document.

Modifications will be made by issuing Addenda. If the Bidder fails to notify the County prior to the date
and time fixed for submission of Bids of an error or ambiguity in the IFB known to the Bidder, or an error
or ambiguity that reasonably should have been known to the Bidder, then the Bidder shall be deemed to 
have waived the error or ambiguity or its later resolution.

The County may also modify the IFB, no later than forty-eight (48) hours prior to the date and time fixed
for submission of Bids, by issuance of an Addendum.  All Addenda will be numbered consecutively, 
beginning with one (1).

3.3 NOTIFICATION OF MOST CURRENT ADDRESS

All Bidders in receipt of this IFB shall notify the Williamson County Purchasing Department of any
address changes, contact person changes, and/or telephone number changes no later than forty-eight 
(48) hours prior to the date and time fixed for submission of Bids.

3.4 SIGNATURE OF BIDDER

A. If the Bidder is a Corporation or Limited Liability Company, the legal name of the Corporation
Limited Liability Company shall be provided together with the signature of the officer or officers 
authorized to sign on behalf of such entity.

B. If the Bidder is a General Partnership, the true name of the firm shall be provided with the
signature of each partner authorized to sign.

C. If the Bidder is a Limited Partnership, the name of the Limited Partner ’s General Partner shall
provided with the signature of the officer authorized to sign on behalf of the General Partner.

D. If the Bidder is a Sole Proprietor(s) (individual), each Sole Proprietor(s) shall sign.

E. If signature is by an agent, other than the Sole Proprietor(s) or an officer of a Corporation, Limited 
Liability Company, General Partner or a member of a General Partnership, a power of attorney
equivalent document must be submitted to the Williamson County Purchasing Department.

3.5 ASSUMED BUSINESS NAME

If the Bidder operates business under an Assumed Business Name, the Bidder must have on file with the
Williamson County Clerk a current Assumed Name Certificate and provide a file marked copy of same.

3.6 BID OBLIGATION 

The contents of the IFB, Bid, and any clarification thereof submitted by the Successful Bidder shall
become part of the contractual obligation and incorporated by reference into the Contract and any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

3.7 COMPLIANCE WITH IFB SPECIFICATIONS

It is intended that this IFB describe the requirements and the Bid format in sufficient detail to secure 
comparable Bids.  Failure to comply with all provisions of the IFB may, at the sole discretion of the 
County, result in disqualification.

3.8 WITHDRAWAL OF BID

The Bidder may withdraw its Bid by submitting a written request with the company letterhead and the 
signature of an authorized individual, as described in Section 3.4, Signature of Bidder, to the Williamson 
County Purchasing Department any time prior to the submission deadline.  

The Bidder may submit a new Bid prior to the deadline. Alterations of the Bid in any manner will not be 
considered if submitted after the deadline.  Withdrawal of a Bid after the deadline will be subject to written 
approval of the Williamson County Purchasing Agent.

3.9 EVALUATION AND AWARD

The County reserves the right to use all pertinent information (also learned from sources other than 
disclosed in the Bid process) that might affect the County ’s judgment as to the appropriateness of
award to the lowest and best evaluated Bid. This information may be appended to the Bid evaluation
process results. Information on a Bidder from reliable sources, and not within the Bidder ’s Bid, may also 
be noted and made part of the evaluation fi le.  The County shall have sole discretion for determining 
the reliability of the source.

To ensure the proper and fair evaluation of a solicitation, the County prohibits unsolicited communication 
initiated by the Bidder to the County Official or Employee evaluating or considering the Bids prior to the 
time an award has been made. Unsolicited communication may be ground for disqualifying the 
offending Bidder from consideration or award of the solicitation, or any future solicitation.

Communication between the Bidder and the County will be initiated by the appropriate County Official
Employee in order to obtain information or clarification needed to develop a proper and accurate 
evaluation of the solicitation.

The County intends to award a Contract to the most responsible and responsive Bidder whose Bid will 
be most advantageous to the County. In accordance with Texas Government Code and Local
Government Code, the County may consider, to the extent allowed by law, the following:

A. Price;
B. The Bidder ’s experience and reputation;
C. Quality of the Bidder ’s goods and/or services; 
D. The Bidder ’s safety record;
E. The Bidder ’s proposed personnel; 
F. The Bidder ’s financial capabilities; and 
G. Any other relevant factors specifically listed in this IFB or authorized by law.

3.10 CONDISERATION OF LOCATION OF PRINCIPAL OFFICE 

Pursuant to Texas Local Government Code, Section 271.905 , in purchasing any real property or personal
property that is not affixed to real property, if the County receives one or more Bids from a Bidder whose
principal place of business is in Williamson County and whose Bid is within three (3 )  percent of the
lowest Bid price received by the County from a Bidder who is not a resident of Williamson County, the 
County may enter into a contract with:

A. The lowest Bidder; or the Bidder whose principal place of business is in Williamson County if the
Commissioners Court determines, in writing, that the local Bidder offers the County the best 
combination of contract price and addit ional economic development opportunities
Williamson County created by the contract award, including the employment of residents
Williamson County and increased tax revenues to Williamson County.

It is understood that the Commissioners Court of Williamson County, Texas, reserves the right to accept
or reject any and/or all Bids for any or all goods and/or services covered in this IFB, and to waive
informalities or defects in the Bid or to accept such Bid, if it shall deem to be in the best interest of the 
County.

Awards should be made approximately sixty (60) business days after the Bid opening date. Results may
be obtained by viewing the Williamson County vendor portal at the following link:

http://www.wilco.org/CountyDepartments/Purchasing/SearchforaPastBid/tabid/5213/language/en-
US/Default.aspx

3.11 RESPONSIBILITY 

It is expected that a prospective Bidder will be able to affirmatively demonstrate responsibility.  A 
prospective Bidder should be able to meet the following requirements:

A. Have adequate financial resources, or the ability to obtain such resources as required;
B. Be able to comply with the required or proposed delivery schedule;
C. Have a satisfactory record of performance that can be determined thru references provided; and 
D. Be otherwise qualified and eligible to receive an award.

The County may request representation and other information sufficient to determine the Bidder's ability 
to meet these minimum standards listed above.

3.12 FIRM PRICING 

For unit price items, all of the items listed are to be on a “per unit” basis, stating a firm price per unit or 
unit quantity of each item.  The Bidder must submit a firm price that must be good from the date of Bid 
opening for the fixed period of time set out in this IFB.  Unless the IFB expressly states otherwise, this 
period shall be until the end of the Initial Contract Period.

Bids which do not state a fixed price, or which are subject to change without notice, will not be 
considered.  The Court may award a Contract for the period implied or expressly stated in the lowest and 
best Bid.

3.13 PURCHASE ORDERS

If required by the Williamson County Purchasing Department, a purchase order(s) may be generated to 
the Successful Bidder for goods and/or services.  If a purchase order is issued, the purchase order 
number must appear on all itemized invoices and/or requests for payment.

3.14 SILENCE OF SPECIFICATIONS

The apparent silence of these specifications as to any detail or to the apparent omission from it of a 
detailed description concerning any point, shall be regarded as meaning that only the best practices are 
to prevail.  All interpretations of these specifications shall be made on the basis of this statement.

3.15 REFERENCES

The County may require the Bidder to supply a list of at least three (3) references where like services
and/or goods have been supplied by their firm within the past five (5) years, to include names, titles, 
phone numbers and email addresses of key personnel, and dates of performance.

The County may contact some or all of the references in order to determine the Respondent
performance record on work similar to that described in this RFP.  The County reserves the right to 
contact references other than those provided in the response and to use the information gained from 
them in the evaluation process.

References, if requested, should be provided in accordance with this IFB.  Bid may not be deemed 
complete without the inclusion of requested references.

SECTION 4 - TERMS AND CONDITIONS

4.1 VENUE AND GOVERNING LAW

The Bidder hereby agrees and acknowledges that venue and jurisdiction of any suit, right, or cause of 
action arising out of or in connection with this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s), shall lie 
exclusively in either Williamson County, Texas or in the Austin Division of the Western Federal District of 
Texas, and the parties hereto expressly consent and submit to such jurisdiction.  Furthermore, except to 
the extent that this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) is governed by the laws of the United 
States, this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be governed by and construed in 
accordance with the laws of the State of Texas, excluding, however, its choice of law rules.

4.2 INCORPORATION BY REFERENCE AND PRECEDENCE

A. The Contract shall be derived from the IFB and its Addenda (if applicable), and the Bidder ’ s Bid.  In 
the event of a dispute under the Contract, applicable documents will be referred to for the purpose 
of clarification or for additional detail in the following order of precedence:

1. The IFB and its Addenda (if applicable); and

2. The Bidder ’s Bid.

B. In the event the County requires that an Ensuing Agreement be executed following award and a 
dispute arises between the terms and conditions of the Ensuing Agreement, the IFB and its 
Addenda (if applicable), and the Bidder ’s Bid, applicable documents will be referred to for the 
purpose of clarification or for additional detail in the following order of precedence: 

1. Terms and conditions of the Ensuing Agreement;

2. The IFB its Addenda; and 

3. The Bidder ’s Bid.

4.3 OWNERSHIP OF BID

Each Bid shall become the property of the County upon submittal and will not be returned to Bidders 
unless received after the submittal deadline.

4.4 DISQUALIFICATION OF BIDDER

Upon signing and submittal of the Bid, a Bidder offering to sell supplies, materials, services, or equipment 
to the County, certifies that the Bidder has not violated the antitrust laws of the State of Texas codified in 
Business & Commerce Code, Section 15.01, or the Federal Antitrust Laws, and has not communicated 
directly or indirectly the offer made to any competitor or any other person engaged in such line of 
business.  Any or all Bids may be rejected if the County believes that collusion exists among the Bidders.

4.5 FUNDING

The County intends to budget and make sufficient funds available and authorize funds for expenditure to 
finance the costs of the Contract.  All Bidders understand and agree that the County’s payment of 
amounts under the Contract shall be contingent on the County receiving appropriations or other 
expenditure authority sufficient to allow the County, in the exercise of reasonable administrative 
discretion, to make payments under this Contract.

4.6 ASSIGNMENT, SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS 

The Successful Bidder may not assign, sell, or otherwise transfer the Contract or any other rights or 
interests obtained under the Contract without written permission of the Commissioners Court.  The 
Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the contracting 
parties hereto and their respective successors and permitted assigns.

4.7 IMPLIED REQUIREMENTS

Products or services not specifically described or required in the IFB, but are necessary to provide the 
functional capabilities described by the Bidder, shall be implied and deemed to be included in the Bid.

4.8 TERMINATION

A. Termination for Cause: The County reserves the right to terminate the Contract and/or any 
Ensuing Agreement(s) for default if the Successful Bidder breaches any of the Bid specifications,
terms and conditions, including warranties of the Bidder, if any, or if the Successful Bidder 
becomes insolvent or commits acts of bankruptcy.  Such right of termination is in addition to and
not in lieu of any other remedies the County may have at law or in equity or as may otherwise
provided hereunder.  Default may be construed as, but not limited to, failure to deliver the proper 
goods and/or services within the proper amount of time, and/or to properly perform any and all 
other requirements to the County ’s satisfaction, and/or to meet all other obligations and
requirements.

B. Termination for Convenience: The County may terminate the Contract and/or any Ensuing 
Agreement(s) for convenience and without cause or further liability, upon no less than thirty (30) 
calendar days written notice to the Successful Bidder. The County reserves the right to extend 
this period if it is in the best interest of the County.  In the event the County exercises its right to 
terminate without cause, it is understood and agreed that only the amounts due to the Successful 
Bidder for goods, commodities and/or services provided and expenses incurred to and including 
the date of termination, will be due and payable.  No penalty will be assessed for the County
termination for convenience.

4.9 NON-PERFORMANCE

It is the objective of the County to obtain complete and satisfactory performance of the requirements set 
forth herein.  In addition to any other remedies available at law, in equity or that may be set out herein, 
failure to perform may result in a deduction of payment equal to the amount of the goods and/or services 
that were not provided and/or performed to the County ’s satisfaction.  

In the event of such non-performance, the County shall have the right, but shall not be obligated, to 
complete the services itself or by others and/or purchase the goods from other sources.  If the County 
elects to acquire the goods or perform the services itself or by others, pursuant to the foregoing, the 
Successful Bidder shall reimburse the County, within ten (10) calendar days of demand, for all costs 
incurred by the County (including, without limitation, applicable, general, and administrative expenses, 
and field overhead, and the cost of necessary equipment, materials, and field labor) in correcting the 
nonperformance which the Successful Bidder fails to meet pursuant to the requirements set out herein.  
In the event the Successful Bidder refuses to reimburse the County as set out in this provision, the 
County shall have the right to deduct such reimbursement amounts from any amounts that may be then 
owing or that may become owing in the future to the Successful Bidder.

4.10 PROPRIETARY INFORMATION AND THE TEXAS PUBLIC INFORMATION ACT

All material submitted to the County shall become public property and subject to the Texas Public 
Information Act upon receipt. If a Bidder does not desire proprietary information in the Bid to be 
disclosed, each page must be clearly identified and marked proprietary at time of submittal or, more 
preferably, all proprietary information may be placed in a folder or appendix and be clearly identified and 
marked as being proprietary.  Failure to clearly identify and mark information as being proprietary as set 
forth under this provision will result in all unmarked information being deemed non-proprietary and 
available to the public.  For all information that has not been clearly identified and marked as proprietary 
by the Bidder, the County may choose to place such information on the County ’s website and/or a similar 
public database without obtaining any type of prior consent from the Bidder.

The County will, to the extent allowed by law, endeavor to protect from public disclosure the information 
that has been identified and marked as proprietary.  The final decision as to what information must be 
disclosed, however, lies with the Texas Attorney General.  

To the extent, if any, that any provision in this IFB or in the Bidder ’s Bid is in conflict with Texas 
Government Code, Chapter 552, as amended (the “Public Information Act”), the same shall be of no 
force or effect.  Furthermore, it is expressly understood, and agreed, that the County, and its officers and 
employees, may request advice, decisions and opinions of the Attorney General of the State of Texas in 
regard to the application of the Public Information Act to any items or data furnished to the County as to 
whether or not the same are available to the public.  It is further understood that the County, and its 
officers and employees, shall have the right to rely on the advice, decisions and opinions of the Attorney 
General, and that the County, its officers and employees shall have no liability or obligation to any party 
hereto for the disclosure to the public, or to any person or persons, of any items or data furnished to the 
County by a party hereto, in reliance of any advice, decision or opinion of the Attorney General of the 
State of Texas.

4.11 RIGHT TO AUDIT

The Successful Bidder agrees that the County or its duly authorized representatives shall, until the 
expiration of three (3) years after termination or expiration of the services to be performed, have access 
to and the right to examine and photocopy any and all books, documents, papers and records of the 
Successful Bidder, which are directly pertinent to the services to be performed or goods to be delivered 
for the purposes of making audits, examinations, excerpts and transcriptions.  The Successful Bidder 
agrees that the County shall have access during normal working hours to all necessary facilities and 
shall be provided adequate and appropriate work space in order to conduct audits in compliance with the 
provisions of this section.  The County shall give the Successful Bidder reasonable advance notice of 
intended audits.

4.12 TESTING AND INSPECTIONS

The County reserves the right to inspect and test equipment, supplies, materials and goods for quality 
and compliance with this IFB, and ability to meet the needs of the user.  Demonstration units must be 
available for review.  Should the goods or services fail to meet requirements and/or be unavailable for 
evaluation, the County can deem the Bidder to be in breach and terminate the Contract and/or any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

4.13 BID PREPARATION COSTS

The cost of developing Bids is the sole responsibility of the Bidders and shall not be charged to the 
County.  There is no expressed or implied obligation for the County to reimburse the Bidders for any 
expense incurred in preparing a Bid in response to this IFB and the County will not reimburse the Bidders 
for such expenses.

4.14 INDEMNIFICATION

The Successful Bidder shall indemnify, defend and save harmless, the County, its officials, employees, 
agents and agent ’s employees from, and against, all claims, liability, and expenses including reasonable 
attorneys ’   fees, arising from activities of the Bidder, its agents, servants or employees, performed 
hereunder that result from the negligent act, error, or omission of the Bidder or any of the Bidder
agents, servants or employees, as well as all claims of loss or damage to the Bidder ’s and the County
property, equipment, and/or supplies. 

Furthermore, the County, its officials, employees, agents and agents ’ employees shall not be liable for 
damages to the Successful Bidder arising from any act of any third party, including, but not limited to, 
theft.  The Successful Bidder further agrees to indemnify, defend and save harmless, the County from its 
officials, employee, agents and agents ’ employees against all claims of whatever nature arising from any 
accident, injury, or damage whatsoever, caused to any person, or the property of any person, occurring 
in relation to the Successful Bidder ’s performance of any services requested hereunder during the term 
of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s). 

The Successful Bidder shall timely report all claims, demands, suits, actions, proceedings, liens or 
judgements to the County and shall, upon the receipt of any claim, demand, suit, action, proceeding, lien 

or judgement, not later than the fifteenth (15 th) day of each month; provide the County with a written 
report on each such matter, setting forth the status of each matter, the schedule or planned proceedings 
with respect to each matter and the cooperation or assistance, if any, of the County required by the 
Successful Bidder in the defense of each matter.  The Successful Bidder’s duty to defend, indemnify and 
hold the County harmless shall be absolute.  It shall not abate or end by reason of the expiration or 
termination of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s), unless otherwise agreed by the County in 
writing.  The provisions of this section shall survive the termination of the Contract and shall remain in full 
force and effect with respect to all such matters no matter when they arise. 

In the event of any dispute between the parties, as to whether a claim, demand, suit, action, proceeding, 
lien or judgement, that appears to have been caused by or appears to have arisen out of or in connection 
with acts or omissions of the County, the Bidder shall nevertheless fully defend such claim, demand, suit 
or action, proceeding, lien or judgement, until and unless there is a determination by a court of competent 
jurisdiction that the acts and omissions of the Bidder are not an issue in the matter. 

The Successful Bidder ’s indemnification shall cover, and the Successful Bidder agrees to, indemnify the 
County, in the event the County is found to have been negligent for having selected the Successful 
Bidder to perform the work described in this request.  The provision by the Successful Bidder of 
insurance shall not limit the liability of the Successful Bidder under the Contract and/or any Ensuing 
Agreement(s). 

4.15 WAIVER OF SUBROGATION

The Successful Bidder and the Successful Bidder ’s insurance carrier waive any and all rights 
whatsoever with regard to subrogation against the County as an indirect party to any suit arising out of 
personal or property damages resulting from the Bidder ’s performance under this Contract and any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

4.16 RELATIONSHIP OF THE PARTIES

The Successful Bidder shall be an independent contractor and shall assume all of the rights, obligations, 
liabilities, applicable to it as such independent contractor hereunder and any provisions herein which may 
appear to give the County the right to direct the Successful Bidder as to details of doing work herein 
covered, or to exercise a measure of control over the work, shall be deemed to mean that the Successful 
Bidder shall follow the desires of the County in the results of the work only.  The County shall not retain or 
have the right to control the Successful Bidder ’s means, methods or details pertaining to the Successful 
Bidder ’s performance of the work.  The County and the Successful Bidder hereby agree and declare that 
the Successful Bidder is an independent contractor and as such meets the qualifications of an 
“Independent Contractor” under Texas Workers Compensation Act, Texas Labor Code, Section 406.141, 
that the Successful Bidder is not an employee of  the County, and that the Successful Bidder and its 
employees, agents and subcontractors shall not be entitled to workers compensation coverage or any 
other type of insurance coverage held by the County.

4.17 SOLE PROVIDER

The Successful Bidder agrees and acknowledges that it shall not be considered a sole provider of the 
goods and/or services described herein and that the County may contract with other providers of such 
goods and/or services if the County deems, at its sole discretion, that multiple providers of the same 
goods and/or services will serve the best interest of the County.

4.18 FORCE MAJEURE

If the party obligated to perform is prevented from performance by an act of war, order of legal authority, 
act of God, or other unavoidable cause not attributable to the fault or negligence of said party, the other 
party shall grant such party relief from the performance.  The burden of proof for the need of such relief 
shall rest upon the party obligated to perform.  To obtain release based on force majeure, the party 
obligated to perform shall file a written request with the other party.

4.19 SEVERABILITY

If any provision of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be held invalid or 
unenforceable by any court of competent jurisdiction, such holding shall not invalidate or render 
unenforceable any other provision thereof, but rather the entire IFB, Contract or any Ensuing Agreement
(s) will be construed as if not containing the particular invalid or unenforceable provision or provisions, 
and the rights and obligation of the parties shall be construed and enforced in accordance therewith.  The 
parties acknowledge that if any provision of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) is 
determined to be invalid or unenforceable, it is the desire and intention of each that such provision be 
reformed and construed in such a manner that it will, to the maximum extent practicable, give effect to
the intent of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) and be deemed to be validated and
enforceable.

4.20 EQUAL OPPORTUNITY

Neither party shall discriminate against any employee or applicant for employment because of race, 
color, sex, religion or national origin.

4.21 NOTICE

Any notice to be given shall be in writing and may be distributed by personal delivery, or by registered or 
certified mail, return receipt requested, addressed to the proper party, at the following address:

The County:    Williamson County Purchasing Department 
            Attn: Purchasing Agent 
            901 South Austin Avenue 
            Georgetown, Texas 78626

The Bidder:     Address set out in Bidder’s Transmittal Letter.

Notices given in accordance with this provision shall be effective upon (1) receipt by the party to which 
notice is given, or (2) on the third (3rd) calendar day following mailing, whichever occurs first.

4.22 SALES AND USE TAX EXEMPTION

The County is a body, corporate and politic, under the laws of the State of Texas and claims exemption 
from sales and use taxes under Texas Tax Code, Section 151.309, as amended, and the services and/or 
goods subject hereof are being secured for use by the County.

4.23 COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS

The County and the Successful Bidder shall comply with all federal, state, and local laws, statutes,
ordinances, rules and regulations, and the orders and decrees of any courts or administrative bodies or 
tribunals in any matter affecting the performance of the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s),
including, without limitation, Workers ’ Compensation laws, salary and wage statutes and regulations, 
licensing laws and regulations.  When required, the Successful Bidder shall furnish the County with 
certification of compliance with said laws, statues, ordinances, rules, regulations, orders, and decrees 
above specified.

4.24 INCORPORATION OF EXHIBITS, APPENDICES AND ATTACHMENTS

All of the Exhibits, Appendices and Attachments referred to herein are incorporated by reference as if set 
forth verbatim herein.  Any conflicting terms in the Contract documents will be resolved at the sole 
discretion of the Commissioners Court.

4.25 NO WAIVER OF IMMUNITIES

Nothing herein shall be deemed to waive, modify or amend any legal defense available at law or in equity 
to the County, its past or present officers, employees, or agents, nor to create any legal rights or claim on 
behalf of any third party.  The County does not waive, modify, or alter to any extent whatsoever the 
availability of the defense of governmental immunity under the laws of the State of Texas and of the 
United States.

4.26 NO WAIVER

The failure or delay of any party to enforce at any time or any period of time any of the provisions of this 
IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall not constitute a present or future waiver of such 
provisions nor the right of either party to enforce each and every provision.  Furthermore, no term or 
provision hereof shall be deemed waived and no breach excused unless such waiver or consent shall be 
in writing and signed by the party claimed to have waived or consented.  Any consent by any party to, or 
waiver of, a breach by the other, whether expressed or implied, shall not constitute a consent to, waiver 
of or excuse for any other, different or subsequent breach.

4.27 CURRENT REVENUES

The obligations of the parties under the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) do not constitute a 
general obligation or indebtedness of the County for which the County is obligated to levy, pledge, or 
collect any of taxation.  It is understood and agreed that the County shall have the right to terminate the 
Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) at the end of any the County fiscal year if the governing body of 
the County does not appropriate sufficient funds as determined by the County ’s budget for the fiscal year 
in question.  The County may effect such termination by giving written notice of termination to the 
Successful Bidder at the end of its then-current fiscal year.

4.28 FOB DESTINATION

To the extent applicable to this IFB, all of the items listed are to be Free On Board to final destination 
(FOB Destination) with all transportation charges if applicable to be included in the Bid, unless otherwise 
specified in the Invitation for Bids.  The title and risk of loss of the goods shall not pass to the County until 
receipt and acceptance takes place at the FOB Destination point.

4.29 BINDING EFFECT

This Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties 
and their respective permitted assigns and successors.

4.30 ASSIGNMENT

The Successful Bidder ’s interest and duties hereunder may not be assigned or delegated to a third party 
without the express written consent of the County.

4.31 SAFETY

The Successful Bidder is responsible for initiating, maintaining, and supervising all safety precautions 
and programs in connection with any services to be provided hereunder. The safety program shall 
comply with all applicable requirements of the current federal Occupational Safety and Health Act and all 
other applicable federal, state and local laws and regulations.

4.32 GENERAL OBLIGATIONS AND RELIANCE

The Successful Bidder shall perform all services and/or provide all goods, as well as those reasonably
inferable and necessary for completion and provision of services and/or goods required hereunder. The
Successful Bidder shall keep the County informed of the progress and quality of the services.  The 
Successful Bidder agrees and acknowledges that the County is relying on the Successful Bidder's 
represented expertise and ability to provide the goods and/or services described herein.  The Successful
Bidder agrees to use its best efforts, skill, judgment, and abilities to perform its obligations in accordance
with the highest standards used in the profession and to further the interests of the County 
accordance with the County ’s requirements and procedures.    T h e   Successful Bidder ’s duties,
set forth herein, shall at no time be in any way diminished by reason of any approval by the County, nor
shall the Successful Bidder be released from any liability by reason of such approval by the County, it 
being understood that the County at all times is ultimately relying upon the Successful Bidder ’s skill and 
knowledge in performing the services and providing any goods required hereunder.

4.33 ESTIMATED QUANTITIES

To the extent applicable to this IFB, the estimated quantity of each item listed in this IFB is only
estimate; the actual quantity to be purchased may be more or less. The County is not obligated
purchase any minimum amount, and the County may purchase any reasonable amount greater than the
estimate for the same unit price. Any limit on quantities available must be stated expressly in the Bid.

4.34 CONTRACTUAL DEVELOPMENT

The contents of the IFB and the Successful Bidder ’s Bid will become an integral part of the Contract, but 
may be modified, at the County ’s sole discretion, by provisions of an Ensuing Agreement.  Therefore, the 
Bidder must agree to an inclusion of an Ensuing Agreement of the Bid specifications, terms and 
conditions of this IFB.  If an Ensuing Agreement is required under this IFB, information relative to the 
Agreement will be located in the Special Provisions Section of this IFB.

4.35 SURVIVABILITY 

All applicable agreements that were entered into between the Successful Bidder and the County, under 
the terms and conditions of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s), shall survive the expiration or 
termination thereof for ninety (90) days unless a new contract has been awarded.

The County may exercise, by written notice to the Successful Bidder no later than ten (10) calendar days 
of the Contract expiration, this clause for emergencies only. 

4.36 AIR QUALITY

In determining the overall best Bid, the County may, to the extent applicable, exercise the option granted 
to local governments under the Texas Local Government Code, Section 271.907.

This option allows the County to evaluate Bids and give preference to goods and/or services of a Bidder 
that demonstrates that the Bidder meets or exceeds any and all state or federal environmental 
standards, including voluntary standards, relating to air quality.  If the Bid being submitted will have an 
effect on air quality for the County (as it relates to any state, federal, or voluntary air quality standard), 
then the Bidder is encouraged to provide information in narrative indicating the anticipated air quality 
impact.  All Bidders are expected to meet all mandated state and federal air quality standards.

4.37 ENTIRE AGREEMENT

The Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall supersede all prior Agreements, written or oral 
between the Successful Bidder and the County and shall constitute the entire Agreement and 
understanding between the parties with respect to the services and/or goods to be provided.  Each of the 
provisions herein shall be binding upon the parties and may not be waived, modified, amended or altered, 
except by writing signed by the Successful Bidder and the County.

4.38 PAYMENT

The County ’s payment for goods and services shall be governed by the Texas Government Code, 

Chapter 2251.  An invoice shall be deemed overdue the thirty-first (31st) day after the later of the 
following: 

A. The date the County receives the goods under the Contract; 
B. The date the performance of the service under the Contract is completed; or 
C. The date the Williamson County Auditor receives an invoice for the goods or services.  

Interest charges for any overdue payments shall be paid by the County in accordance with Texas 
Government Code, Section 2251.025.  More specifically, the rate of interest that shall accrue on a late 
payment is the rate in effect on September 1 of the County ’s fiscal year in which the payment becomes 
due.  The said rate in effect on September 1 shall be equal to the sum of one (1) percent, and the prime 

rate published in the Wall Street Journal on the first (1st) day of July of the preceding fiscal year that does 
not fall on a Saturday or Sunday.

In the event that an error appears in an invoice submitted by the Successful Bidder, the County shall 
notify the Successful Bidder of the error not later than the twenty-first (21st) day after the date the County 
receives the invoice.  If the error is resolved in favor of the Successful Bidder, the Successful Bidder 
shall be entitled to receive interest on the unpaid balance of the invoice submitted by the Successful 
Bidder beginning on the date that the payment for the invoice became overdue.  If the error is resolved in 
favor of the County, the Successful Bidder shall submit a corrected invoice that must be paid in 
accordance within the time set forth above.  The unpaid balance accrues interest as provided by the 
Texas Government Code, Chapter 2251, if the corrected invoice is not paid by the appropriate date.

As a minimum, invoices shall include:

A. Name, address, and telephone number of the Successful Bidder and similar information in the 
event the payment is to be made to a different address. 

B. The County Contract, Purchase Order. 

C. Identification of items or service as outlined in the Contract. 

D. Quantity or quantities, applicable unit prices, total prices and total amount. 

E. Any additional payment information which may be called for by the Contract. 

Payment inquiries should be directed to the following address:        

            Williamson County Auditor’s Office, Accounts Payable Department
            Email: accountspayable@wilco.org
            Phone: 512-943-1500

4.39 CONTRACTUAL FORMATION AND ENSUING AGREEMENT

The IFB and the Bidder ’s Bid, when properly accepted by the Commissioners Court, shall constitute a
Contract equally binding between the Successful Bidder and the County.

If an Ensuing Agreement is required by this IFB, that information will be provided in Special 
Provisions section of this IFB.  The Successful Bidder shall be required to execute the Agreement at 
the Williamson County Purchasing Department approximately ten (10) calendar days after the 
Successful Bidder is notified of award.  The Ensuing Agreement shall be in the same form as the 
Agreement which is attached to the end of this IFB.  The only anticipated changes in the Ensuing 
Agreement will be to include additional exhibits, to fill in blanks to identify the Successful Bidder, and 
terms relating to the compensation, or to revise the Agreement to accommodate corrections, changes in 
the scope of services, or changes pursuant to Addenda issued.  Bidders should raise any questions 
regarding the terms of the Agreement in the form of written questions or submittals as 
described in the Public Announcement and General Information portion of this IFB.  Because the 
signed Ensuing Agreement will be substantively and substantially derived from the attached Agreement, 
each Bidder is urged to seek independent legal counsel as to any questions about the terms, conditions 
or provisions contained in the Agreement before submitting a Bid.  Again, the attached Agreement, if 
applicable, contains important legal provisions and is considered part and parcel of this IFB.  Failure or 
refusal to sign aforesaid Agreement shall be grounds for the County to revoke any award which has been 
issued, forfeit Bid security, if applicable, and select another Bidder.

4.40 COOPERATIVE PURCHASING PROGRAM 

During the term of the Contract resulting from this IFB, the County would like to afford the same prices, 
terms and conditions to other political subdivisions or public entities.  Another entity’s participation in the 
Contract resulting from this IFB is subject to a properly authorized Purchasing Cooperative Inter- local 
Agreement with the County.  Any liability created by purchase orders issued against the Contract shall be 
the sole responsibility of the governmental agency placing the order.

4.41 INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS

To the extent applicable Insurance information will appear in the Additional Stipulations section that is in 
this IFB Package. 

4.42 BIDDERS BOND, WARRANTY BOND, PERFORMANCE AND PAYMENT BONDS

To the extent applicable Bond information will appear in the Additional Stipulations section that is in this 
IFB Package. 

4.43 LEGAL LIABILITY INFORMATION

The Successful Bidder shall disclose all legal liability information by listing any pending litigation
anticipated litigation that your firm is involved in including, but not limited to, potential or actual legal
matters with private parties and any local, state, federal or international governmental entities. The
County reserves the right to consider legal liability information in the recommendation of any proposed 
contract to the Commissioners Court.

4.44 INCLEMENT WEATHER

In case of inclement weather or any other unforeseen event causing the County to close for business on 
the date of a Bid submission deadline, the Bid closing will automatically be postponed until the next 
business day the County is open.  If inclement weather conditions or any other unforeseen event causes 
delays in carrier service operations, the County may issue an Addendum to all known Bidders interested 
in the project to extend the deadline.  It will be the responsibility of the Bidder to notify the County of their 
interest in the project if these conditions are impacting their ability to turn in a submission within the 
stated deadline.  The County reserves the right to make the final judgement call to extend any deadline. 

4.45 PREVAILING WAGE RATES

To the extent this procurement is for the construction of a public work, including a building, highway, 
road, excavation, and repair work or other project development or improvement, paid for in whole or in 
part from public funds, without regard to whether the work is done under public supervision or direction, 
Texas Government Code, Chapter 2258, shall apply and the contractor shall pay not less than the wage 
scale of the various classes of labor as shown on the “Prevailing Wage Schedule” provided by the 
County. Pursuant to Texas Government Code, Section 2258.022(a)(2), the County has determined the 
general prevailing rate of the “Prevailing Wage Schedule”  in the locality in which the public work is to be 
performed for each craft or type of worker needed to execute the contract and the prevailing rate for legal 
holiday and overtime work by using the prevailing wage rate as determined by the United States 
Department of Labor in accordance with the United States Code, Section 276a (Davis-Bacon Act). 

The specified wage rates are minimum rates only, and are not representations that qualified labor 
adequate to perform the work is available locally at the prevailing wage rates. The County is not bound to 
pay—and will not consider—any claims for additional compensation made by any contractor because the 
contractor pays wages in excess of the applicable minimum rate contained in the Contract Documents. 
The “Prevailing Wage Schedule”  is not a representation that quantities of qualified labor adequate to 
perform the work may be found locally at the specified wage rates.

For classifications not shown, workers shall not be paid less than the wage indicated for laborers. The 
contractor shall notify each worker commencing work on the project the worker ’s job classification and 
the established minimum wage rate required to be paid, as well as the actual amount being paid. The 
notice must be delivered to and signed in acknowledgement of receipt by the employee and must list 
both the monetary wages and fringe benefits to be paid or furnished for each classification in which the 
worker is assigned duties. When requested by the County, competent evidence of compliance with the 
Texas Prevailing Wage Law shall be furnished by contractor. A copy of each worker wage rate 
notification shall be submitted to the County with the Application for Payment for the period during which 
the worker began on-site activities.

Should the contractor at any time become aware that a particular skill or trade not reflected on the 
County ’s “Prevailing Wage Schedule” will be or is being employed in the work, whether by the contractor 
or by a subcontractor, the contractor shall promptly inform the County and shall specify a wage rate for 
that skill or trade, which shall bind the contractor.

The contractor and any subcontractor shall pay to the County a penalty of sixty dollars ($60.00) for each 
worker employed for each calendar day, or portion thereof, that the worker is paid less than the wage 
rates stipulated in the “Prevailing Wage Schedule” or any supplement thereto. The contractor and each 
subcontractor shall keep, or cause to be kept, an accurate record showing the names and occupations 
of all workers employed in connection with the work, and showing the actual per diem wages paid to 
each worker, which records shall be open at all reasonable hours for the inspection by the County.

Within thirty-one (31) days of receipt of information concerning a violation of the Texas Government Code 
Chapter 2258, the County shall make an initial determination as to whether good cause exists to believe 
a violation occurred. The County ’s decision on the initial determination shall be reduced to writing and 
sent to the contractor or subcontractor against whom the violation was alleged, and to the affected 
worker. When a good cause finding is made, the County shall retain the full amounts claimed by the 
claimant or claimants as the difference between wages paid and wages due under the “Prevailing Wage 
Schedule” and any supplements thereto, together with the applicable penalties, such amounts being 
subtracted from successive progress payments pending a final decision on the violation.

After the County makes its initial determination, the affected contractor or subcontractor and worker have 
fourteen (14) calendar days in which to resolve the issue of whether a violation occurred, including the 
amount that should be retained by the County or paid to the affected worker. If the contractor or 
subcontractor and affected worker reach an agreement concerning the worker ’s claim, the contractor 
shall promptly notify the County in a written document signed by the worker. It the contractor or 

Subcontractor and affected worker do not agree before the fifteenth (15 th) calendar day after the County
determination, the contractor or subcontractor and affected worker must participate in binding arbitration 
in accordance with the Texas General Arbitration Act, Chapter 171, (Texas Civil Practice and Remedies 
Code). The parties to the arbitration have ten (10) calendar days after the expiration of the fifteen (15) 

calendar days referred to above, to agree on an arbitrator; if by the eleventh (11 th) calendar day there is 
no agreement to an arbitrator, a district court shall appoint an arbitrator on the petition of any of the 
parties to the arbitration.

If an arbitrator determines that a violation has occurred, the arbitrator shall assess and award against the 
contractor or subcontractor the amount of penalty as provided above and the amount owed the worker. 
The County may use any amounts retained hereunder to pay the worker the amount as designated in the 
arbitration award. If the County has not retained enough from the contractor or subcontractor to pay the 
worker in accordance with the arbitration award, the worker has a right of action against the contractor 
and subcontractor as appropriate, and the surety of either to receive the amount owed, attorneys ’  fees 
and court costs. The contractor shall promptly furnish a copy of the arbitration award to the County.

Money retained pursuant to the provisions above shall be used to pay the claimant or claimants the 
difference between the amount the worker received in wages for labor on the project at the rate paid by 
the contractor or subcontractor and the amount the worker would have received at the general prevailing 
wage rate as provided by the agreement of the claimant and the contractor or subcontractor affected, or 
in the arbitrator ’s award. The full statutory penalty of sixty dollars ($60.00) per calendar day of violation 
per worker shall be retained by Williamson County to offset its administrative costs, pursuant to Texas 
Government Code, Section, 2258.023. Any retained funds in excess of these amounts shall be paid to 
the contractor on the earlier of the next progress payment or final payment. Provided, however, that the 
County shall have no duty to release any funds to either the claimant or the contractor until it has 
received the notices of agreement or the arbitration award as provided under the provision herein-above.

4.46 CONFIDENTIALITY

The Bidder expressly agrees that it will not use any direct or incidental confidential information that may 
be obtained while working in a governmental setting for its own benefit, and agrees that it will not access 
unauthorized areas or confidential information and it will not disclose any information to unauthorized 
third parties, and will take care to guard the security of the information at all times.

Bid 1704-157Williamson County, Texas

4/7/2017 9:30 AM p. 8



5

6

3 4

Williamson County – Invitation for Bid (IFB)

SECTION 1 - DEFINITIONS 

Addendum/Addenda – means any written or graphic instruments issued by the County prior to the 
consideration of Bids which modify or interpret the Bid Documents by additions, deletions, clarifications, 
or corrections.

Agreement/Ensuing Agreement(s) – means the Successful Bidder may be required by the County to 
sign an additional Agreement containing terms necessary to ensure compliance with the IFB and the 
Bidder ’s Bid.  Such Ensuing Agreement(s) shall contain the Bid specifications, terms and conditions that 
are derived from the IFB.

Bid Documents – means the Legal Notice, IFB including attachments, and any Addenda issued by the 
County prior to the consideration of any Bids.

Bid – means the completed and signed bid form, (sometimes referred to as the Price Sheet), and ALL 
required forms and documentation listed in the IFB package which have been submitted in accordance 
with the terms and conditions described in the IFB package.  A Bid submitted in accordance with this IFB 
is irrevocable during the specified period for evaluation and acceptance of Bids unless a waiver is 
obtained from the Williamson County Purchasing Agent.

Bidder – means a person or entity who submits a Bid in response to this IFB.

Contract – means this IFB and the Bid of the Successful Bidder shall become a Contract between the 
Successful Bidder and the County once the Successful Bidder ’s Bid is properly accepted by the 
Williamson County Commissioners Court.

Commissioner ’s Court – means the Williamson County Commissioners Court. 

County – means Williamson County, a political subdivision of the State of Texas.

Invitation for Bid (IFB) – means this document, together with the attachments thereto and any future 
Addenda issued by the County.

Successful Bidder – means the liable Bidder to whom the County intends to award the Contract.

SECTION 2 - BID FORMAT AND SUBMISSION

2.1 ORGANIZATION OF BID CONTENTS FOR SUBMITTAL 

Each Bid should be organized and items submitted in the order described below: 

A. Transmittal Letter. Please see Section 2.3, Transmittal Letter, for more information. 

B. Price Sheet.

C. Conflict of Interest Questionnaire. Please see Section 2.2, Conflict of Interest, for more 
information in regards to this. Please note that even if you deem there to be no Conflict of Interest, 
this signed questionnaire must be included in your package. 

D. References. Please see Section 3.15, References, for more information. 

E. Bid Affidavit.

F. Form 1295. Please see Section 2.4, Certificate of Interested Parties – Form 1295. 

2.2 CONFLICT OF INTEREST

No public official shall have interest in a Contract, in accordance with Vernon ’s Texas Codes Annotated, 
Local Government Code, Title 5, Subtitle C, Chapter 171, as amended. 

As of January 1, 2006, all Bidders are responsible for complying with Local Government Code, Title 5, 
Subtitle C, Chapter 176.  Additional information may be obtained from the County’s website at the 
following link: 

http://www.wilco.org/CountyDepartments/Purchasing/ConflictofInterestDisclosure/tabid/689/language/en
US/Default.aspx

Each Bidder must disclose any existing or potential conflict of interest relative to the performance of the 
requirements of this IFB.  Examples of potential conflicts of interest may include an existing 
business or personal relationship between the Bidder, its principal, or any affiliate or 
subcontractor with the County or any other entity or person involved in any way with the project 
that is subject to this IFB .  Similarly, any personal or business relationship between the Bidder, the 

principals, or any affiliate or subcontractor with any employee, or official of the County or its suppliers 
must be disclosed.  Any such relationship that might be perceived or represented as a conflict must be 
disclosed. Failure to disclose any such relationship or reveal personal relationships with the County 
employees or officials may be cause for termination. 

The County will decide if an actual or perceived conflict should result in Bid disqualification. 

By submitting a Bid in response to this IFB, all Bidders affirm they have not given, nor intend to give, at 
any time hereafter, any economic opportunity, future employment, gift, loan, gratuity, special discount, 
trip, favor, or service to a the County public servant or any employee, official or representative of same, in 
connection with this procurement. 

Each Bidder must provide a Conflict of Interest Statement with their Bid Package.  Package may 

be deemed incomplete without this form.  

2.3 TRANSMITTAL LETTER

The Bidder should submit a Transmittal Letter that provides the following information: 

A. Name and address of individual or business entity submitting the Bid. 

B. Name, physical address, email address, business and fax number of the Bidder ’s principal 
contact person regarding all contractual matters relating to this IFB.

C. The Bid ’s Federal Employer Identification Number.

D. If the Proposal being submitted will have an effect on air quality for the County (as it relates to any 
state, federal, or voluntary air quality standard), then the Respondent is encouraged to provide
information in narrative indicating the anticipated air quality impact. See Section 4.36, Air Quality 
for more information. 

2.4 CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PARTIES – FORM 1295

As of January 1, 2016, all Successful Bidders are responsible for complying with the Texas Government 
Code, Section 2252.908.  The law states that the County may not enter into certain contracts with a 
Bidder unless the Bidder submits a disclosure of interested parties to the County at the time the Bidder 
submits the signed Contract.  The law applies only to a Contract of the County on or after January 1, 
2016 that either:

A. Requires an action or vote by the Commissioners Court before the Contract may be signed (all 
contracts that fall under the jurisdiction of the Commissioners Court approval, such as contracts 
resulting from an Initiation for Bid (IFB), RFP, Request for Qualifications (RFQ), etc., excluding, 
but not limited to, certain Juvenile Service contracts, contracts funded with Sheriff ’s seized fun 
monies, etc.); or

B. Has a value of at least $1,000,000. 

By January 1, 2016, the Texas Ethics Commission will make available on its website, a new filing 
application that must be used to file Form 1295.  Information regarding how to use the filing application is 
available on the Texas Ethics Commission website at the following link:

https://www.ethics.state.tx.us/whatsnew/elf_info_form1295.htm

A Respondent must:

A. Use the online application to process the required information on Form 1295.

B. Print a copy of the form which will contain a unique certification number.

C. An authorized agent of the Bidder must sign the printed copy of the form.

D. Have the form notarized.

E. File the completed Form 1295 and certification of filing (scanning and emailing form is sufficient) 
with Williamson County Purchasing Agent at the time the signed Contract is submitted for 
approval.

After the Commissioners Court award of the Contract, the County shall notify the Texas Ethics 
Commission, using the Texas Ethics Commission ’s filing application, of the receipt of the filed Form 
1295 and certification of filing not later than the 30th day after the date the Contract binds all parties to the 
Contract. The Texas Ethics Commission will post the completed Form 1295 to its website within seven 
business days after receiving notice from the County.

2.5 ETHICS

The Bidder shall not accept or offer gifts or anything of value nor enter into any business arrangement 
with any employee, official or agent of the County.

2.6 BID SUBMITTAL DEADLINE

The Bid is due no later than the submittal date and time set forth in the Public Announcement and 
General Information listed in this IFB package.  Contents of each Bid shall be submitted in accordance 
with this IFB.

2.7 DELIVERY OF BIDS

The County uses BidSync to distribute and receive Bids and proposals.  It is preferred that Bids
submitted electronically through BidSync; however, Bidders can submit a hard copy.  

Refer to www.bidsync.com for further information on how to submit electronically.

If mailed or delivered in person, Bids and Bid Addenda are to be delivered in sealed envelope on or before
the submittal deadline, as noted in the Public Announcement and General Information listed in this IFB 
package, to:

            Williamson County Purchasing Department
            Attn: Bid Name and Number
            901 South Austin Avenue
            Georgetown, Texas 78626

Also, all Bidders should list their Name and Address, and the Date of the Bid opening on the outside
the box or envelope and note “Sealed Bid Enclosed.” The County will not accept any Bids received after 
the submittal deadline, and shall return such Bids unopened to the Bidder.  The County will not accept 
any responsibility for Bids being delivered by third party carriers.  

Bids will be opened publically and the names of Bidders and pricing will be read aloud.

SECTION 3 - INSTRUCTIONS AND GENERAL REQUIREMENTS

3.1 INSTRUCTIONS

Read this document carefully, and follow all instructions and requirements.  All Bidders are responsible 
for fulfilling all requirements and specifications.  Be sure to have a clear understanding of this IFB.

General requirements apply to all advertised IFBs; however, these may be superseded, in whole or in 
part, by the bid specifications, Addenda and modifications issued as a part of this IFB.  Be sure your Bid 
package is complete.

3.2 AMBIGUITY, CONFLICT, OR OTHER ERRORS IN THIS IFB

If a Bidder discovers any ambiguity, conflict, discrepancy, omission or other error in this IFB, the Bidder 
shall immediately notify the County Purchasing Department of such error in writing and request
modification or clarification of the document.

Modifications will be made by issuing Addenda. If the Bidder fails to notify the County prior to the date
and time fixed for submission of Bids of an error or ambiguity in the IFB known to the Bidder, or an error
or ambiguity that reasonably should have been known to the Bidder, then the Bidder shall be deemed to 
have waived the error or ambiguity or its later resolution.

The County may also modify the IFB, no later than forty-eight (48) hours prior to the date and time fixed
for submission of Bids, by issuance of an Addendum.  All Addenda will be numbered consecutively, 
beginning with one (1).

3.3 NOTIFICATION OF MOST CURRENT ADDRESS

All Bidders in receipt of this IFB shall notify the Williamson County Purchasing Department of any
address changes, contact person changes, and/or telephone number changes no later than forty-eight 
(48) hours prior to the date and time fixed for submission of Bids.

3.4 SIGNATURE OF BIDDER

A. If the Bidder is a Corporation or Limited Liability Company, the legal name of the Corporation
Limited Liability Company shall be provided together with the signature of the officer or officers 
authorized to sign on behalf of such entity.

B. If the Bidder is a General Partnership, the true name of the firm shall be provided with the
signature of each partner authorized to sign.

C. If the Bidder is a Limited Partnership, the name of the Limited Partner ’s General Partner shall
provided with the signature of the officer authorized to sign on behalf of the General Partner.

D. If the Bidder is a Sole Proprietor(s) (individual), each Sole Proprietor(s) shall sign.

E. If signature is by an agent, other than the Sole Proprietor(s) or an officer of a Corporation, Limited 
Liability Company, General Partner or a member of a General Partnership, a power of attorney
equivalent document must be submitted to the Williamson County Purchasing Department.

3.5 ASSUMED BUSINESS NAME

If the Bidder operates business under an Assumed Business Name, the Bidder must have on file with the
Williamson County Clerk a current Assumed Name Certificate and provide a file marked copy of same.

3.6 BID OBLIGATION 

The contents of the IFB, Bid, and any clarification thereof submitted by the Successful Bidder shall
become part of the contractual obligation and incorporated by reference into the Contract and any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

3.7 COMPLIANCE WITH IFB SPECIFICATIONS

It is intended that this IFB describe the requirements and the Bid format in sufficient detail to secure 
comparable Bids.  Failure to comply with all provisions of the IFB may, at the sole discretion of the 
County, result in disqualification.

3.8 WITHDRAWAL OF BID

The Bidder may withdraw its Bid by submitting a written request with the company letterhead and the 
signature of an authorized individual, as described in Section 3.4, Signature of Bidder, to the Williamson 
County Purchasing Department any time prior to the submission deadline.  

The Bidder may submit a new Bid prior to the deadline. Alterations of the Bid in any manner will not be 
considered if submitted after the deadline.  Withdrawal of a Bid after the deadline will be subject to written 
approval of the Williamson County Purchasing Agent.

3.9 EVALUATION AND AWARD

The County reserves the right to use all pertinent information (also learned from sources other than 
disclosed in the Bid process) that might affect the County ’s judgment as to the appropriateness of
award to the lowest and best evaluated Bid. This information may be appended to the Bid evaluation
process results. Information on a Bidder from reliable sources, and not within the Bidder ’s Bid, may also 
be noted and made part of the evaluation fi le.  The County shall have sole discretion for determining 
the reliability of the source.

To ensure the proper and fair evaluation of a solicitation, the County prohibits unsolicited communication 
initiated by the Bidder to the County Official or Employee evaluating or considering the Bids prior to the 
time an award has been made. Unsolicited communication may be ground for disqualifying the 
offending Bidder from consideration or award of the solicitation, or any future solicitation.

Communication between the Bidder and the County will be initiated by the appropriate County Official
Employee in order to obtain information or clarification needed to develop a proper and accurate 
evaluation of the solicitation.

The County intends to award a Contract to the most responsible and responsive Bidder whose Bid will 
be most advantageous to the County. In accordance with Texas Government Code and Local
Government Code, the County may consider, to the extent allowed by law, the following:

A. Price;
B. The Bidder ’s experience and reputation;
C. Quality of the Bidder ’s goods and/or services; 
D. The Bidder ’s safety record;
E. The Bidder ’s proposed personnel; 
F. The Bidder ’s financial capabilities; and 
G. Any other relevant factors specifically listed in this IFB or authorized by law.

3.10 CONDISERATION OF LOCATION OF PRINCIPAL OFFICE 

Pursuant to Texas Local Government Code, Section 271.905 , in purchasing any real property or personal
property that is not affixed to real property, if the County receives one or more Bids from a Bidder whose
principal place of business is in Williamson County and whose Bid is within three (3 )  percent of the
lowest Bid price received by the County from a Bidder who is not a resident of Williamson County, the 
County may enter into a contract with:

A. The lowest Bidder; or the Bidder whose principal place of business is in Williamson County if the
Commissioners Court determines, in writing, that the local Bidder offers the County the best 
combination of contract price and addit ional economic development opportunities
Williamson County created by the contract award, including the employment of residents
Williamson County and increased tax revenues to Williamson County.

It is understood that the Commissioners Court of Williamson County, Texas, reserves the right to accept
or reject any and/or all Bids for any or all goods and/or services covered in this IFB, and to waive
informalities or defects in the Bid or to accept such Bid, if it shall deem to be in the best interest of the 
County.

Awards should be made approximately sixty (60) business days after the Bid opening date. Results may
be obtained by viewing the Williamson County vendor portal at the following link:

http://www.wilco.org/CountyDepartments/Purchasing/SearchforaPastBid/tabid/5213/language/en-
US/Default.aspx

3.11 RESPONSIBILITY 

It is expected that a prospective Bidder will be able to affirmatively demonstrate responsibility.  A 
prospective Bidder should be able to meet the following requirements:

A. Have adequate financial resources, or the ability to obtain such resources as required;
B. Be able to comply with the required or proposed delivery schedule;
C. Have a satisfactory record of performance that can be determined thru references provided; and 
D. Be otherwise qualified and eligible to receive an award.

The County may request representation and other information sufficient to determine the Bidder's ability 
to meet these minimum standards listed above.

3.12 FIRM PRICING 

For unit price items, all of the items listed are to be on a “per unit” basis, stating a firm price per unit or 
unit quantity of each item.  The Bidder must submit a firm price that must be good from the date of Bid 
opening for the fixed period of time set out in this IFB.  Unless the IFB expressly states otherwise, this 
period shall be until the end of the Initial Contract Period.

Bids which do not state a fixed price, or which are subject to change without notice, will not be 
considered.  The Court may award a Contract for the period implied or expressly stated in the lowest and 
best Bid.

3.13 PURCHASE ORDERS

If required by the Williamson County Purchasing Department, a purchase order(s) may be generated to 
the Successful Bidder for goods and/or services.  If a purchase order is issued, the purchase order 
number must appear on all itemized invoices and/or requests for payment.

3.14 SILENCE OF SPECIFICATIONS

The apparent silence of these specifications as to any detail or to the apparent omission from it of a 
detailed description concerning any point, shall be regarded as meaning that only the best practices are 
to prevail.  All interpretations of these specifications shall be made on the basis of this statement.

3.15 REFERENCES

The County may require the Bidder to supply a list of at least three (3) references where like services
and/or goods have been supplied by their firm within the past five (5) years, to include names, titles, 
phone numbers and email addresses of key personnel, and dates of performance.

The County may contact some or all of the references in order to determine the Respondent
performance record on work similar to that described in this RFP.  The County reserves the right to 
contact references other than those provided in the response and to use the information gained from 
them in the evaluation process.

References, if requested, should be provided in accordance with this IFB.  Bid may not be deemed 
complete without the inclusion of requested references.

SECTION 4 - TERMS AND CONDITIONS

4.1 VENUE AND GOVERNING LAW

The Bidder hereby agrees and acknowledges that venue and jurisdiction of any suit, right, or cause of 
action arising out of or in connection with this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s), shall lie 
exclusively in either Williamson County, Texas or in the Austin Division of the Western Federal District of 
Texas, and the parties hereto expressly consent and submit to such jurisdiction.  Furthermore, except to 
the extent that this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) is governed by the laws of the United 
States, this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be governed by and construed in 
accordance with the laws of the State of Texas, excluding, however, its choice of law rules.

4.2 INCORPORATION BY REFERENCE AND PRECEDENCE

A. The Contract shall be derived from the IFB and its Addenda (if applicable), and the Bidder ’ s Bid.  In 
the event of a dispute under the Contract, applicable documents will be referred to for the purpose 
of clarification or for additional detail in the following order of precedence:

1. The IFB and its Addenda (if applicable); and

2. The Bidder ’s Bid.

B. In the event the County requires that an Ensuing Agreement be executed following award and a 
dispute arises between the terms and conditions of the Ensuing Agreement, the IFB and its 
Addenda (if applicable), and the Bidder ’s Bid, applicable documents will be referred to for the 
purpose of clarification or for additional detail in the following order of precedence: 

1. Terms and conditions of the Ensuing Agreement;

2. The IFB its Addenda; and 

3. The Bidder ’s Bid.

4.3 OWNERSHIP OF BID

Each Bid shall become the property of the County upon submittal and will not be returned to Bidders 
unless received after the submittal deadline.

4.4 DISQUALIFICATION OF BIDDER

Upon signing and submittal of the Bid, a Bidder offering to sell supplies, materials, services, or equipment 
to the County, certifies that the Bidder has not violated the antitrust laws of the State of Texas codified in 
Business & Commerce Code, Section 15.01, or the Federal Antitrust Laws, and has not communicated 
directly or indirectly the offer made to any competitor or any other person engaged in such line of 
business.  Any or all Bids may be rejected if the County believes that collusion exists among the Bidders.

4.5 FUNDING

The County intends to budget and make sufficient funds available and authorize funds for expenditure to 
finance the costs of the Contract.  All Bidders understand and agree that the County’s payment of 
amounts under the Contract shall be contingent on the County receiving appropriations or other 
expenditure authority sufficient to allow the County, in the exercise of reasonable administrative 
discretion, to make payments under this Contract.

4.6 ASSIGNMENT, SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS 

The Successful Bidder may not assign, sell, or otherwise transfer the Contract or any other rights or 
interests obtained under the Contract without written permission of the Commissioners Court.  The 
Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the contracting 
parties hereto and their respective successors and permitted assigns.

4.7 IMPLIED REQUIREMENTS

Products or services not specifically described or required in the IFB, but are necessary to provide the 
functional capabilities described by the Bidder, shall be implied and deemed to be included in the Bid.

4.8 TERMINATION

A. Termination for Cause: The County reserves the right to terminate the Contract and/or any 
Ensuing Agreement(s) for default if the Successful Bidder breaches any of the Bid specifications,
terms and conditions, including warranties of the Bidder, if any, or if the Successful Bidder 
becomes insolvent or commits acts of bankruptcy.  Such right of termination is in addition to and
not in lieu of any other remedies the County may have at law or in equity or as may otherwise
provided hereunder.  Default may be construed as, but not limited to, failure to deliver the proper 
goods and/or services within the proper amount of time, and/or to properly perform any and all 
other requirements to the County ’s satisfaction, and/or to meet all other obligations and
requirements.

B. Termination for Convenience: The County may terminate the Contract and/or any Ensuing 
Agreement(s) for convenience and without cause or further liability, upon no less than thirty (30) 
calendar days written notice to the Successful Bidder. The County reserves the right to extend 
this period if it is in the best interest of the County.  In the event the County exercises its right to 
terminate without cause, it is understood and agreed that only the amounts due to the Successful 
Bidder for goods, commodities and/or services provided and expenses incurred to and including 
the date of termination, will be due and payable.  No penalty will be assessed for the County
termination for convenience.

4.9 NON-PERFORMANCE

It is the objective of the County to obtain complete and satisfactory performance of the requirements set 
forth herein.  In addition to any other remedies available at law, in equity or that may be set out herein, 
failure to perform may result in a deduction of payment equal to the amount of the goods and/or services 
that were not provided and/or performed to the County ’s satisfaction.  

In the event of such non-performance, the County shall have the right, but shall not be obligated, to 
complete the services itself or by others and/or purchase the goods from other sources.  If the County 
elects to acquire the goods or perform the services itself or by others, pursuant to the foregoing, the 
Successful Bidder shall reimburse the County, within ten (10) calendar days of demand, for all costs 
incurred by the County (including, without limitation, applicable, general, and administrative expenses, 
and field overhead, and the cost of necessary equipment, materials, and field labor) in correcting the 
nonperformance which the Successful Bidder fails to meet pursuant to the requirements set out herein.  
In the event the Successful Bidder refuses to reimburse the County as set out in this provision, the 
County shall have the right to deduct such reimbursement amounts from any amounts that may be then 
owing or that may become owing in the future to the Successful Bidder.

4.10 PROPRIETARY INFORMATION AND THE TEXAS PUBLIC INFORMATION ACT

All material submitted to the County shall become public property and subject to the Texas Public 
Information Act upon receipt. If a Bidder does not desire proprietary information in the Bid to be 
disclosed, each page must be clearly identified and marked proprietary at time of submittal or, more 
preferably, all proprietary information may be placed in a folder or appendix and be clearly identified and 
marked as being proprietary.  Failure to clearly identify and mark information as being proprietary as set 
forth under this provision will result in all unmarked information being deemed non-proprietary and 
available to the public.  For all information that has not been clearly identified and marked as proprietary 
by the Bidder, the County may choose to place such information on the County ’s website and/or a similar 
public database without obtaining any type of prior consent from the Bidder.

The County will, to the extent allowed by law, endeavor to protect from public disclosure the information 
that has been identified and marked as proprietary.  The final decision as to what information must be 
disclosed, however, lies with the Texas Attorney General.  

To the extent, if any, that any provision in this IFB or in the Bidder ’s Bid is in conflict with Texas 
Government Code, Chapter 552, as amended (the “Public Information Act”), the same shall be of no 
force or effect.  Furthermore, it is expressly understood, and agreed, that the County, and its officers and 
employees, may request advice, decisions and opinions of the Attorney General of the State of Texas in 
regard to the application of the Public Information Act to any items or data furnished to the County as to 
whether or not the same are available to the public.  It is further understood that the County, and its 
officers and employees, shall have the right to rely on the advice, decisions and opinions of the Attorney 
General, and that the County, its officers and employees shall have no liability or obligation to any party 
hereto for the disclosure to the public, or to any person or persons, of any items or data furnished to the 
County by a party hereto, in reliance of any advice, decision or opinion of the Attorney General of the 
State of Texas.

4.11 RIGHT TO AUDIT

The Successful Bidder agrees that the County or its duly authorized representatives shall, until the 
expiration of three (3) years after termination or expiration of the services to be performed, have access 
to and the right to examine and photocopy any and all books, documents, papers and records of the 
Successful Bidder, which are directly pertinent to the services to be performed or goods to be delivered 
for the purposes of making audits, examinations, excerpts and transcriptions.  The Successful Bidder 
agrees that the County shall have access during normal working hours to all necessary facilities and 
shall be provided adequate and appropriate work space in order to conduct audits in compliance with the 
provisions of this section.  The County shall give the Successful Bidder reasonable advance notice of 
intended audits.

4.12 TESTING AND INSPECTIONS

The County reserves the right to inspect and test equipment, supplies, materials and goods for quality 
and compliance with this IFB, and ability to meet the needs of the user.  Demonstration units must be 
available for review.  Should the goods or services fail to meet requirements and/or be unavailable for 
evaluation, the County can deem the Bidder to be in breach and terminate the Contract and/or any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

4.13 BID PREPARATION COSTS

The cost of developing Bids is the sole responsibility of the Bidders and shall not be charged to the 
County.  There is no expressed or implied obligation for the County to reimburse the Bidders for any 
expense incurred in preparing a Bid in response to this IFB and the County will not reimburse the Bidders 
for such expenses.

4.14 INDEMNIFICATION

The Successful Bidder shall indemnify, defend and save harmless, the County, its officials, employees, 
agents and agent ’s employees from, and against, all claims, liability, and expenses including reasonable 
attorneys ’   fees, arising from activities of the Bidder, its agents, servants or employees, performed 
hereunder that result from the negligent act, error, or omission of the Bidder or any of the Bidder
agents, servants or employees, as well as all claims of loss or damage to the Bidder ’s and the County
property, equipment, and/or supplies. 

Furthermore, the County, its officials, employees, agents and agents ’ employees shall not be liable for 
damages to the Successful Bidder arising from any act of any third party, including, but not limited to, 
theft.  The Successful Bidder further agrees to indemnify, defend and save harmless, the County from its 
officials, employee, agents and agents ’ employees against all claims of whatever nature arising from any 
accident, injury, or damage whatsoever, caused to any person, or the property of any person, occurring 
in relation to the Successful Bidder ’s performance of any services requested hereunder during the term 
of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s). 

The Successful Bidder shall timely report all claims, demands, suits, actions, proceedings, liens or 
judgements to the County and shall, upon the receipt of any claim, demand, suit, action, proceeding, lien 

or judgement, not later than the fifteenth (15 th) day of each month; provide the County with a written 
report on each such matter, setting forth the status of each matter, the schedule or planned proceedings 
with respect to each matter and the cooperation or assistance, if any, of the County required by the 
Successful Bidder in the defense of each matter.  The Successful Bidder’s duty to defend, indemnify and 
hold the County harmless shall be absolute.  It shall not abate or end by reason of the expiration or 
termination of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s), unless otherwise agreed by the County in 
writing.  The provisions of this section shall survive the termination of the Contract and shall remain in full 
force and effect with respect to all such matters no matter when they arise. 

In the event of any dispute between the parties, as to whether a claim, demand, suit, action, proceeding, 
lien or judgement, that appears to have been caused by or appears to have arisen out of or in connection 
with acts or omissions of the County, the Bidder shall nevertheless fully defend such claim, demand, suit 
or action, proceeding, lien or judgement, until and unless there is a determination by a court of competent 
jurisdiction that the acts and omissions of the Bidder are not an issue in the matter. 

The Successful Bidder ’s indemnification shall cover, and the Successful Bidder agrees to, indemnify the 
County, in the event the County is found to have been negligent for having selected the Successful 
Bidder to perform the work described in this request.  The provision by the Successful Bidder of 
insurance shall not limit the liability of the Successful Bidder under the Contract and/or any Ensuing 
Agreement(s). 

4.15 WAIVER OF SUBROGATION

The Successful Bidder and the Successful Bidder ’s insurance carrier waive any and all rights 
whatsoever with regard to subrogation against the County as an indirect party to any suit arising out of 
personal or property damages resulting from the Bidder ’s performance under this Contract and any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

4.16 RELATIONSHIP OF THE PARTIES

The Successful Bidder shall be an independent contractor and shall assume all of the rights, obligations, 
liabilities, applicable to it as such independent contractor hereunder and any provisions herein which may 
appear to give the County the right to direct the Successful Bidder as to details of doing work herein 
covered, or to exercise a measure of control over the work, shall be deemed to mean that the Successful 
Bidder shall follow the desires of the County in the results of the work only.  The County shall not retain or 
have the right to control the Successful Bidder ’s means, methods or details pertaining to the Successful 
Bidder ’s performance of the work.  The County and the Successful Bidder hereby agree and declare that 
the Successful Bidder is an independent contractor and as such meets the qualifications of an 
“Independent Contractor” under Texas Workers Compensation Act, Texas Labor Code, Section 406.141, 
that the Successful Bidder is not an employee of  the County, and that the Successful Bidder and its 
employees, agents and subcontractors shall not be entitled to workers compensation coverage or any 
other type of insurance coverage held by the County.

4.17 SOLE PROVIDER

The Successful Bidder agrees and acknowledges that it shall not be considered a sole provider of the 
goods and/or services described herein and that the County may contract with other providers of such 
goods and/or services if the County deems, at its sole discretion, that multiple providers of the same 
goods and/or services will serve the best interest of the County.

4.18 FORCE MAJEURE

If the party obligated to perform is prevented from performance by an act of war, order of legal authority, 
act of God, or other unavoidable cause not attributable to the fault or negligence of said party, the other 
party shall grant such party relief from the performance.  The burden of proof for the need of such relief 
shall rest upon the party obligated to perform.  To obtain release based on force majeure, the party 
obligated to perform shall file a written request with the other party.

4.19 SEVERABILITY

If any provision of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be held invalid or 
unenforceable by any court of competent jurisdiction, such holding shall not invalidate or render 
unenforceable any other provision thereof, but rather the entire IFB, Contract or any Ensuing Agreement
(s) will be construed as if not containing the particular invalid or unenforceable provision or provisions, 
and the rights and obligation of the parties shall be construed and enforced in accordance therewith.  The 
parties acknowledge that if any provision of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) is 
determined to be invalid or unenforceable, it is the desire and intention of each that such provision be 
reformed and construed in such a manner that it will, to the maximum extent practicable, give effect to
the intent of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) and be deemed to be validated and
enforceable.

4.20 EQUAL OPPORTUNITY

Neither party shall discriminate against any employee or applicant for employment because of race, 
color, sex, religion or national origin.

4.21 NOTICE

Any notice to be given shall be in writing and may be distributed by personal delivery, or by registered or 
certified mail, return receipt requested, addressed to the proper party, at the following address:

The County:    Williamson County Purchasing Department 
            Attn: Purchasing Agent 
            901 South Austin Avenue 
            Georgetown, Texas 78626

The Bidder:     Address set out in Bidder’s Transmittal Letter.

Notices given in accordance with this provision shall be effective upon (1) receipt by the party to which 
notice is given, or (2) on the third (3rd) calendar day following mailing, whichever occurs first.

4.22 SALES AND USE TAX EXEMPTION

The County is a body, corporate and politic, under the laws of the State of Texas and claims exemption 
from sales and use taxes under Texas Tax Code, Section 151.309, as amended, and the services and/or 
goods subject hereof are being secured for use by the County.

4.23 COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS

The County and the Successful Bidder shall comply with all federal, state, and local laws, statutes,
ordinances, rules and regulations, and the orders and decrees of any courts or administrative bodies or 
tribunals in any matter affecting the performance of the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s),
including, without limitation, Workers ’ Compensation laws, salary and wage statutes and regulations, 
licensing laws and regulations.  When required, the Successful Bidder shall furnish the County with 
certification of compliance with said laws, statues, ordinances, rules, regulations, orders, and decrees 
above specified.

4.24 INCORPORATION OF EXHIBITS, APPENDICES AND ATTACHMENTS

All of the Exhibits, Appendices and Attachments referred to herein are incorporated by reference as if set 
forth verbatim herein.  Any conflicting terms in the Contract documents will be resolved at the sole 
discretion of the Commissioners Court.

4.25 NO WAIVER OF IMMUNITIES

Nothing herein shall be deemed to waive, modify or amend any legal defense available at law or in equity 
to the County, its past or present officers, employees, or agents, nor to create any legal rights or claim on 
behalf of any third party.  The County does not waive, modify, or alter to any extent whatsoever the 
availability of the defense of governmental immunity under the laws of the State of Texas and of the 
United States.

4.26 NO WAIVER

The failure or delay of any party to enforce at any time or any period of time any of the provisions of this 
IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall not constitute a present or future waiver of such 
provisions nor the right of either party to enforce each and every provision.  Furthermore, no term or 
provision hereof shall be deemed waived and no breach excused unless such waiver or consent shall be 
in writing and signed by the party claimed to have waived or consented.  Any consent by any party to, or 
waiver of, a breach by the other, whether expressed or implied, shall not constitute a consent to, waiver 
of or excuse for any other, different or subsequent breach.

4.27 CURRENT REVENUES

The obligations of the parties under the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) do not constitute a 
general obligation or indebtedness of the County for which the County is obligated to levy, pledge, or 
collect any of taxation.  It is understood and agreed that the County shall have the right to terminate the 
Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) at the end of any the County fiscal year if the governing body of 
the County does not appropriate sufficient funds as determined by the County ’s budget for the fiscal year 
in question.  The County may effect such termination by giving written notice of termination to the 
Successful Bidder at the end of its then-current fiscal year.

4.28 FOB DESTINATION

To the extent applicable to this IFB, all of the items listed are to be Free On Board to final destination 
(FOB Destination) with all transportation charges if applicable to be included in the Bid, unless otherwise 
specified in the Invitation for Bids.  The title and risk of loss of the goods shall not pass to the County until 
receipt and acceptance takes place at the FOB Destination point.

4.29 BINDING EFFECT

This Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties 
and their respective permitted assigns and successors.

4.30 ASSIGNMENT

The Successful Bidder ’s interest and duties hereunder may not be assigned or delegated to a third party 
without the express written consent of the County.

4.31 SAFETY

The Successful Bidder is responsible for initiating, maintaining, and supervising all safety precautions 
and programs in connection with any services to be provided hereunder. The safety program shall 
comply with all applicable requirements of the current federal Occupational Safety and Health Act and all 
other applicable federal, state and local laws and regulations.

4.32 GENERAL OBLIGATIONS AND RELIANCE

The Successful Bidder shall perform all services and/or provide all goods, as well as those reasonably
inferable and necessary for completion and provision of services and/or goods required hereunder. The
Successful Bidder shall keep the County informed of the progress and quality of the services.  The 
Successful Bidder agrees and acknowledges that the County is relying on the Successful Bidder's 
represented expertise and ability to provide the goods and/or services described herein.  The Successful
Bidder agrees to use its best efforts, skill, judgment, and abilities to perform its obligations in accordance
with the highest standards used in the profession and to further the interests of the County 
accordance with the County ’s requirements and procedures.    T h e   Successful Bidder ’s duties,
set forth herein, shall at no time be in any way diminished by reason of any approval by the County, nor
shall the Successful Bidder be released from any liability by reason of such approval by the County, it 
being understood that the County at all times is ultimately relying upon the Successful Bidder ’s skill and 
knowledge in performing the services and providing any goods required hereunder.

4.33 ESTIMATED QUANTITIES

To the extent applicable to this IFB, the estimated quantity of each item listed in this IFB is only
estimate; the actual quantity to be purchased may be more or less. The County is not obligated
purchase any minimum amount, and the County may purchase any reasonable amount greater than the
estimate for the same unit price. Any limit on quantities available must be stated expressly in the Bid.

4.34 CONTRACTUAL DEVELOPMENT

The contents of the IFB and the Successful Bidder ’s Bid will become an integral part of the Contract, but 
may be modified, at the County ’s sole discretion, by provisions of an Ensuing Agreement.  Therefore, the 
Bidder must agree to an inclusion of an Ensuing Agreement of the Bid specifications, terms and 
conditions of this IFB.  If an Ensuing Agreement is required under this IFB, information relative to the 
Agreement will be located in the Special Provisions Section of this IFB.

4.35 SURVIVABILITY 

All applicable agreements that were entered into between the Successful Bidder and the County, under 
the terms and conditions of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s), shall survive the expiration or 
termination thereof for ninety (90) days unless a new contract has been awarded.

The County may exercise, by written notice to the Successful Bidder no later than ten (10) calendar days 
of the Contract expiration, this clause for emergencies only. 

4.36 AIR QUALITY

In determining the overall best Bid, the County may, to the extent applicable, exercise the option granted 
to local governments under the Texas Local Government Code, Section 271.907.

This option allows the County to evaluate Bids and give preference to goods and/or services of a Bidder 
that demonstrates that the Bidder meets or exceeds any and all state or federal environmental 
standards, including voluntary standards, relating to air quality.  If the Bid being submitted will have an 
effect on air quality for the County (as it relates to any state, federal, or voluntary air quality standard), 
then the Bidder is encouraged to provide information in narrative indicating the anticipated air quality 
impact.  All Bidders are expected to meet all mandated state and federal air quality standards.

4.37 ENTIRE AGREEMENT

The Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall supersede all prior Agreements, written or oral 
between the Successful Bidder and the County and shall constitute the entire Agreement and 
understanding between the parties with respect to the services and/or goods to be provided.  Each of the 
provisions herein shall be binding upon the parties and may not be waived, modified, amended or altered, 
except by writing signed by the Successful Bidder and the County.

4.38 PAYMENT

The County ’s payment for goods and services shall be governed by the Texas Government Code, 

Chapter 2251.  An invoice shall be deemed overdue the thirty-first (31st) day after the later of the 
following: 

A. The date the County receives the goods under the Contract; 
B. The date the performance of the service under the Contract is completed; or 
C. The date the Williamson County Auditor receives an invoice for the goods or services.  

Interest charges for any overdue payments shall be paid by the County in accordance with Texas 
Government Code, Section 2251.025.  More specifically, the rate of interest that shall accrue on a late 
payment is the rate in effect on September 1 of the County ’s fiscal year in which the payment becomes 
due.  The said rate in effect on September 1 shall be equal to the sum of one (1) percent, and the prime 

rate published in the Wall Street Journal on the first (1st) day of July of the preceding fiscal year that does 
not fall on a Saturday or Sunday.

In the event that an error appears in an invoice submitted by the Successful Bidder, the County shall 
notify the Successful Bidder of the error not later than the twenty-first (21st) day after the date the County 
receives the invoice.  If the error is resolved in favor of the Successful Bidder, the Successful Bidder 
shall be entitled to receive interest on the unpaid balance of the invoice submitted by the Successful 
Bidder beginning on the date that the payment for the invoice became overdue.  If the error is resolved in 
favor of the County, the Successful Bidder shall submit a corrected invoice that must be paid in 
accordance within the time set forth above.  The unpaid balance accrues interest as provided by the 
Texas Government Code, Chapter 2251, if the corrected invoice is not paid by the appropriate date.

As a minimum, invoices shall include:

A. Name, address, and telephone number of the Successful Bidder and similar information in the 
event the payment is to be made to a different address. 

B. The County Contract, Purchase Order. 

C. Identification of items or service as outlined in the Contract. 

D. Quantity or quantities, applicable unit prices, total prices and total amount. 

E. Any additional payment information which may be called for by the Contract. 

Payment inquiries should be directed to the following address:        

            Williamson County Auditor’s Office, Accounts Payable Department
            Email: accountspayable@wilco.org
            Phone: 512-943-1500

4.39 CONTRACTUAL FORMATION AND ENSUING AGREEMENT

The IFB and the Bidder ’s Bid, when properly accepted by the Commissioners Court, shall constitute a
Contract equally binding between the Successful Bidder and the County.

If an Ensuing Agreement is required by this IFB, that information will be provided in Special 
Provisions section of this IFB.  The Successful Bidder shall be required to execute the Agreement at 
the Williamson County Purchasing Department approximately ten (10) calendar days after the 
Successful Bidder is notified of award.  The Ensuing Agreement shall be in the same form as the 
Agreement which is attached to the end of this IFB.  The only anticipated changes in the Ensuing 
Agreement will be to include additional exhibits, to fill in blanks to identify the Successful Bidder, and 
terms relating to the compensation, or to revise the Agreement to accommodate corrections, changes in 
the scope of services, or changes pursuant to Addenda issued.  Bidders should raise any questions 
regarding the terms of the Agreement in the form of written questions or submittals as 
described in the Public Announcement and General Information portion of this IFB.  Because the 
signed Ensuing Agreement will be substantively and substantially derived from the attached Agreement, 
each Bidder is urged to seek independent legal counsel as to any questions about the terms, conditions 
or provisions contained in the Agreement before submitting a Bid.  Again, the attached Agreement, if 
applicable, contains important legal provisions and is considered part and parcel of this IFB.  Failure or 
refusal to sign aforesaid Agreement shall be grounds for the County to revoke any award which has been 
issued, forfeit Bid security, if applicable, and select another Bidder.

4.40 COOPERATIVE PURCHASING PROGRAM 

During the term of the Contract resulting from this IFB, the County would like to afford the same prices, 
terms and conditions to other political subdivisions or public entities.  Another entity’s participation in the 
Contract resulting from this IFB is subject to a properly authorized Purchasing Cooperative Inter- local 
Agreement with the County.  Any liability created by purchase orders issued against the Contract shall be 
the sole responsibility of the governmental agency placing the order.

4.41 INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS

To the extent applicable Insurance information will appear in the Additional Stipulations section that is in 
this IFB Package. 

4.42 BIDDERS BOND, WARRANTY BOND, PERFORMANCE AND PAYMENT BONDS

To the extent applicable Bond information will appear in the Additional Stipulations section that is in this 
IFB Package. 

4.43 LEGAL LIABILITY INFORMATION

The Successful Bidder shall disclose all legal liability information by listing any pending litigation
anticipated litigation that your firm is involved in including, but not limited to, potential or actual legal
matters with private parties and any local, state, federal or international governmental entities. The
County reserves the right to consider legal liability information in the recommendation of any proposed 
contract to the Commissioners Court.

4.44 INCLEMENT WEATHER

In case of inclement weather or any other unforeseen event causing the County to close for business on 
the date of a Bid submission deadline, the Bid closing will automatically be postponed until the next 
business day the County is open.  If inclement weather conditions or any other unforeseen event causes 
delays in carrier service operations, the County may issue an Addendum to all known Bidders interested 
in the project to extend the deadline.  It will be the responsibility of the Bidder to notify the County of their 
interest in the project if these conditions are impacting their ability to turn in a submission within the 
stated deadline.  The County reserves the right to make the final judgement call to extend any deadline. 

4.45 PREVAILING WAGE RATES

To the extent this procurement is for the construction of a public work, including a building, highway, 
road, excavation, and repair work or other project development or improvement, paid for in whole or in 
part from public funds, without regard to whether the work is done under public supervision or direction, 
Texas Government Code, Chapter 2258, shall apply and the contractor shall pay not less than the wage 
scale of the various classes of labor as shown on the “Prevailing Wage Schedule” provided by the 
County. Pursuant to Texas Government Code, Section 2258.022(a)(2), the County has determined the 
general prevailing rate of the “Prevailing Wage Schedule”  in the locality in which the public work is to be 
performed for each craft or type of worker needed to execute the contract and the prevailing rate for legal 
holiday and overtime work by using the prevailing wage rate as determined by the United States 
Department of Labor in accordance with the United States Code, Section 276a (Davis-Bacon Act). 

The specified wage rates are minimum rates only, and are not representations that qualified labor 
adequate to perform the work is available locally at the prevailing wage rates. The County is not bound to 
pay—and will not consider—any claims for additional compensation made by any contractor because the 
contractor pays wages in excess of the applicable minimum rate contained in the Contract Documents. 
The “Prevailing Wage Schedule”  is not a representation that quantities of qualified labor adequate to 
perform the work may be found locally at the specified wage rates.

For classifications not shown, workers shall not be paid less than the wage indicated for laborers. The 
contractor shall notify each worker commencing work on the project the worker ’s job classification and 
the established minimum wage rate required to be paid, as well as the actual amount being paid. The 
notice must be delivered to and signed in acknowledgement of receipt by the employee and must list 
both the monetary wages and fringe benefits to be paid or furnished for each classification in which the 
worker is assigned duties. When requested by the County, competent evidence of compliance with the 
Texas Prevailing Wage Law shall be furnished by contractor. A copy of each worker wage rate 
notification shall be submitted to the County with the Application for Payment for the period during which 
the worker began on-site activities.

Should the contractor at any time become aware that a particular skill or trade not reflected on the 
County ’s “Prevailing Wage Schedule” will be or is being employed in the work, whether by the contractor 
or by a subcontractor, the contractor shall promptly inform the County and shall specify a wage rate for 
that skill or trade, which shall bind the contractor.

The contractor and any subcontractor shall pay to the County a penalty of sixty dollars ($60.00) for each 
worker employed for each calendar day, or portion thereof, that the worker is paid less than the wage 
rates stipulated in the “Prevailing Wage Schedule” or any supplement thereto. The contractor and each 
subcontractor shall keep, or cause to be kept, an accurate record showing the names and occupations 
of all workers employed in connection with the work, and showing the actual per diem wages paid to 
each worker, which records shall be open at all reasonable hours for the inspection by the County.

Within thirty-one (31) days of receipt of information concerning a violation of the Texas Government Code 
Chapter 2258, the County shall make an initial determination as to whether good cause exists to believe 
a violation occurred. The County ’s decision on the initial determination shall be reduced to writing and 
sent to the contractor or subcontractor against whom the violation was alleged, and to the affected 
worker. When a good cause finding is made, the County shall retain the full amounts claimed by the 
claimant or claimants as the difference between wages paid and wages due under the “Prevailing Wage 
Schedule” and any supplements thereto, together with the applicable penalties, such amounts being 
subtracted from successive progress payments pending a final decision on the violation.

After the County makes its initial determination, the affected contractor or subcontractor and worker have 
fourteen (14) calendar days in which to resolve the issue of whether a violation occurred, including the 
amount that should be retained by the County or paid to the affected worker. If the contractor or 
subcontractor and affected worker reach an agreement concerning the worker ’s claim, the contractor 
shall promptly notify the County in a written document signed by the worker. It the contractor or 

Subcontractor and affected worker do not agree before the fifteenth (15 th) calendar day after the County
determination, the contractor or subcontractor and affected worker must participate in binding arbitration 
in accordance with the Texas General Arbitration Act, Chapter 171, (Texas Civil Practice and Remedies 
Code). The parties to the arbitration have ten (10) calendar days after the expiration of the fifteen (15) 

calendar days referred to above, to agree on an arbitrator; if by the eleventh (11 th) calendar day there is 
no agreement to an arbitrator, a district court shall appoint an arbitrator on the petition of any of the 
parties to the arbitration.

If an arbitrator determines that a violation has occurred, the arbitrator shall assess and award against the 
contractor or subcontractor the amount of penalty as provided above and the amount owed the worker. 
The County may use any amounts retained hereunder to pay the worker the amount as designated in the 
arbitration award. If the County has not retained enough from the contractor or subcontractor to pay the 
worker in accordance with the arbitration award, the worker has a right of action against the contractor 
and subcontractor as appropriate, and the surety of either to receive the amount owed, attorneys ’  fees 
and court costs. The contractor shall promptly furnish a copy of the arbitration award to the County.

Money retained pursuant to the provisions above shall be used to pay the claimant or claimants the 
difference between the amount the worker received in wages for labor on the project at the rate paid by 
the contractor or subcontractor and the amount the worker would have received at the general prevailing 
wage rate as provided by the agreement of the claimant and the contractor or subcontractor affected, or 
in the arbitrator ’s award. The full statutory penalty of sixty dollars ($60.00) per calendar day of violation 
per worker shall be retained by Williamson County to offset its administrative costs, pursuant to Texas 
Government Code, Section, 2258.023. Any retained funds in excess of these amounts shall be paid to 
the contractor on the earlier of the next progress payment or final payment. Provided, however, that the 
County shall have no duty to release any funds to either the claimant or the contractor until it has 
received the notices of agreement or the arbitration award as provided under the provision herein-above.

4.46 CONFIDENTIALITY

The Bidder expressly agrees that it will not use any direct or incidental confidential information that may 
be obtained while working in a governmental setting for its own benefit, and agrees that it will not access 
unauthorized areas or confidential information and it will not disclose any information to unauthorized 
third parties, and will take care to guard the security of the information at all times.

Bid 1704-157Williamson County, Texas

4/7/2017 9:30 AM p. 9



5

6

3 4

Williamson County – Invitation for Bid (IFB)

SECTION 1 - DEFINITIONS 

Addendum/Addenda – means any written or graphic instruments issued by the County prior to the 
consideration of Bids which modify or interpret the Bid Documents by additions, deletions, clarifications, 
or corrections.

Agreement/Ensuing Agreement(s) – means the Successful Bidder may be required by the County to 
sign an additional Agreement containing terms necessary to ensure compliance with the IFB and the 
Bidder ’s Bid.  Such Ensuing Agreement(s) shall contain the Bid specifications, terms and conditions that 
are derived from the IFB.

Bid Documents – means the Legal Notice, IFB including attachments, and any Addenda issued by the 
County prior to the consideration of any Bids.

Bid – means the completed and signed bid form, (sometimes referred to as the Price Sheet), and ALL 
required forms and documentation listed in the IFB package which have been submitted in accordance 
with the terms and conditions described in the IFB package.  A Bid submitted in accordance with this IFB 
is irrevocable during the specified period for evaluation and acceptance of Bids unless a waiver is 
obtained from the Williamson County Purchasing Agent.

Bidder – means a person or entity who submits a Bid in response to this IFB.

Contract – means this IFB and the Bid of the Successful Bidder shall become a Contract between the 
Successful Bidder and the County once the Successful Bidder ’s Bid is properly accepted by the 
Williamson County Commissioners Court.

Commissioner ’s Court – means the Williamson County Commissioners Court. 

County – means Williamson County, a political subdivision of the State of Texas.

Invitation for Bid (IFB) – means this document, together with the attachments thereto and any future 
Addenda issued by the County.

Successful Bidder – means the liable Bidder to whom the County intends to award the Contract.

SECTION 2 - BID FORMAT AND SUBMISSION

2.1 ORGANIZATION OF BID CONTENTS FOR SUBMITTAL 

Each Bid should be organized and items submitted in the order described below: 

A. Transmittal Letter. Please see Section 2.3, Transmittal Letter, for more information. 

B. Price Sheet.

C. Conflict of Interest Questionnaire. Please see Section 2.2, Conflict of Interest, for more 
information in regards to this. Please note that even if you deem there to be no Conflict of Interest, 
this signed questionnaire must be included in your package. 

D. References. Please see Section 3.15, References, for more information. 

E. Bid Affidavit.

F. Form 1295. Please see Section 2.4, Certificate of Interested Parties – Form 1295. 

2.2 CONFLICT OF INTEREST

No public official shall have interest in a Contract, in accordance with Vernon ’s Texas Codes Annotated, 
Local Government Code, Title 5, Subtitle C, Chapter 171, as amended. 

As of January 1, 2006, all Bidders are responsible for complying with Local Government Code, Title 5, 
Subtitle C, Chapter 176.  Additional information may be obtained from the County’s website at the 
following link: 

http://www.wilco.org/CountyDepartments/Purchasing/ConflictofInterestDisclosure/tabid/689/language/en
US/Default.aspx

Each Bidder must disclose any existing or potential conflict of interest relative to the performance of the 
requirements of this IFB.  Examples of potential conflicts of interest may include an existing 
business or personal relationship between the Bidder, its principal, or any affiliate or 
subcontractor with the County or any other entity or person involved in any way with the project 
that is subject to this IFB .  Similarly, any personal or business relationship between the Bidder, the 

principals, or any affiliate or subcontractor with any employee, or official of the County or its suppliers 
must be disclosed.  Any such relationship that might be perceived or represented as a conflict must be 
disclosed. Failure to disclose any such relationship or reveal personal relationships with the County 
employees or officials may be cause for termination. 

The County will decide if an actual or perceived conflict should result in Bid disqualification. 

By submitting a Bid in response to this IFB, all Bidders affirm they have not given, nor intend to give, at 
any time hereafter, any economic opportunity, future employment, gift, loan, gratuity, special discount, 
trip, favor, or service to a the County public servant or any employee, official or representative of same, in 
connection with this procurement. 

Each Bidder must provide a Conflict of Interest Statement with their Bid Package.  Package may 

be deemed incomplete without this form.  

2.3 TRANSMITTAL LETTER

The Bidder should submit a Transmittal Letter that provides the following information: 

A. Name and address of individual or business entity submitting the Bid. 

B. Name, physical address, email address, business and fax number of the Bidder ’s principal 
contact person regarding all contractual matters relating to this IFB.

C. The Bid ’s Federal Employer Identification Number.

D. If the Proposal being submitted will have an effect on air quality for the County (as it relates to any 
state, federal, or voluntary air quality standard), then the Respondent is encouraged to provide
information in narrative indicating the anticipated air quality impact. See Section 4.36, Air Quality 
for more information. 

2.4 CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PARTIES – FORM 1295

As of January 1, 2016, all Successful Bidders are responsible for complying with the Texas Government 
Code, Section 2252.908.  The law states that the County may not enter into certain contracts with a 
Bidder unless the Bidder submits a disclosure of interested parties to the County at the time the Bidder 
submits the signed Contract.  The law applies only to a Contract of the County on or after January 1, 
2016 that either:

A. Requires an action or vote by the Commissioners Court before the Contract may be signed (all 
contracts that fall under the jurisdiction of the Commissioners Court approval, such as contracts 
resulting from an Initiation for Bid (IFB), RFP, Request for Qualifications (RFQ), etc., excluding, 
but not limited to, certain Juvenile Service contracts, contracts funded with Sheriff ’s seized fun 
monies, etc.); or

B. Has a value of at least $1,000,000. 

By January 1, 2016, the Texas Ethics Commission will make available on its website, a new filing 
application that must be used to file Form 1295.  Information regarding how to use the filing application is 
available on the Texas Ethics Commission website at the following link:

https://www.ethics.state.tx.us/whatsnew/elf_info_form1295.htm

A Respondent must:

A. Use the online application to process the required information on Form 1295.

B. Print a copy of the form which will contain a unique certification number.

C. An authorized agent of the Bidder must sign the printed copy of the form.

D. Have the form notarized.

E. File the completed Form 1295 and certification of filing (scanning and emailing form is sufficient) 
with Williamson County Purchasing Agent at the time the signed Contract is submitted for 
approval.

After the Commissioners Court award of the Contract, the County shall notify the Texas Ethics 
Commission, using the Texas Ethics Commission ’s filing application, of the receipt of the filed Form 
1295 and certification of filing not later than the 30th day after the date the Contract binds all parties to the 
Contract. The Texas Ethics Commission will post the completed Form 1295 to its website within seven 
business days after receiving notice from the County.

2.5 ETHICS

The Bidder shall not accept or offer gifts or anything of value nor enter into any business arrangement 
with any employee, official or agent of the County.

2.6 BID SUBMITTAL DEADLINE

The Bid is due no later than the submittal date and time set forth in the Public Announcement and 
General Information listed in this IFB package.  Contents of each Bid shall be submitted in accordance 
with this IFB.

2.7 DELIVERY OF BIDS

The County uses BidSync to distribute and receive Bids and proposals.  It is preferred that Bids
submitted electronically through BidSync; however, Bidders can submit a hard copy.  

Refer to www.bidsync.com for further information on how to submit electronically.

If mailed or delivered in person, Bids and Bid Addenda are to be delivered in sealed envelope on or before
the submittal deadline, as noted in the Public Announcement and General Information listed in this IFB 
package, to:

            Williamson County Purchasing Department
            Attn: Bid Name and Number
            901 South Austin Avenue
            Georgetown, Texas 78626

Also, all Bidders should list their Name and Address, and the Date of the Bid opening on the outside
the box or envelope and note “Sealed Bid Enclosed.” The County will not accept any Bids received after 
the submittal deadline, and shall return such Bids unopened to the Bidder.  The County will not accept 
any responsibility for Bids being delivered by third party carriers.  

Bids will be opened publically and the names of Bidders and pricing will be read aloud.

SECTION 3 - INSTRUCTIONS AND GENERAL REQUIREMENTS

3.1 INSTRUCTIONS

Read this document carefully, and follow all instructions and requirements.  All Bidders are responsible 
for fulfilling all requirements and specifications.  Be sure to have a clear understanding of this IFB.

General requirements apply to all advertised IFBs; however, these may be superseded, in whole or in 
part, by the bid specifications, Addenda and modifications issued as a part of this IFB.  Be sure your Bid 
package is complete.

3.2 AMBIGUITY, CONFLICT, OR OTHER ERRORS IN THIS IFB

If a Bidder discovers any ambiguity, conflict, discrepancy, omission or other error in this IFB, the Bidder 
shall immediately notify the County Purchasing Department of such error in writing and request
modification or clarification of the document.

Modifications will be made by issuing Addenda. If the Bidder fails to notify the County prior to the date
and time fixed for submission of Bids of an error or ambiguity in the IFB known to the Bidder, or an error
or ambiguity that reasonably should have been known to the Bidder, then the Bidder shall be deemed to 
have waived the error or ambiguity or its later resolution.

The County may also modify the IFB, no later than forty-eight (48) hours prior to the date and time fixed
for submission of Bids, by issuance of an Addendum.  All Addenda will be numbered consecutively, 
beginning with one (1).

3.3 NOTIFICATION OF MOST CURRENT ADDRESS

All Bidders in receipt of this IFB shall notify the Williamson County Purchasing Department of any
address changes, contact person changes, and/or telephone number changes no later than forty-eight 
(48) hours prior to the date and time fixed for submission of Bids.

3.4 SIGNATURE OF BIDDER

A. If the Bidder is a Corporation or Limited Liability Company, the legal name of the Corporation
Limited Liability Company shall be provided together with the signature of the officer or officers 
authorized to sign on behalf of such entity.

B. If the Bidder is a General Partnership, the true name of the firm shall be provided with the
signature of each partner authorized to sign.

C. If the Bidder is a Limited Partnership, the name of the Limited Partner ’s General Partner shall
provided with the signature of the officer authorized to sign on behalf of the General Partner.

D. If the Bidder is a Sole Proprietor(s) (individual), each Sole Proprietor(s) shall sign.

E. If signature is by an agent, other than the Sole Proprietor(s) or an officer of a Corporation, Limited 
Liability Company, General Partner or a member of a General Partnership, a power of attorney
equivalent document must be submitted to the Williamson County Purchasing Department.

3.5 ASSUMED BUSINESS NAME

If the Bidder operates business under an Assumed Business Name, the Bidder must have on file with the
Williamson County Clerk a current Assumed Name Certificate and provide a file marked copy of same.

3.6 BID OBLIGATION 

The contents of the IFB, Bid, and any clarification thereof submitted by the Successful Bidder shall
become part of the contractual obligation and incorporated by reference into the Contract and any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

3.7 COMPLIANCE WITH IFB SPECIFICATIONS

It is intended that this IFB describe the requirements and the Bid format in sufficient detail to secure 
comparable Bids.  Failure to comply with all provisions of the IFB may, at the sole discretion of the 
County, result in disqualification.

3.8 WITHDRAWAL OF BID

The Bidder may withdraw its Bid by submitting a written request with the company letterhead and the 
signature of an authorized individual, as described in Section 3.4, Signature of Bidder, to the Williamson 
County Purchasing Department any time prior to the submission deadline.  

The Bidder may submit a new Bid prior to the deadline. Alterations of the Bid in any manner will not be 
considered if submitted after the deadline.  Withdrawal of a Bid after the deadline will be subject to written 
approval of the Williamson County Purchasing Agent.

3.9 EVALUATION AND AWARD

The County reserves the right to use all pertinent information (also learned from sources other than 
disclosed in the Bid process) that might affect the County ’s judgment as to the appropriateness of
award to the lowest and best evaluated Bid. This information may be appended to the Bid evaluation
process results. Information on a Bidder from reliable sources, and not within the Bidder ’s Bid, may also 
be noted and made part of the evaluation fi le.  The County shall have sole discretion for determining 
the reliability of the source.

To ensure the proper and fair evaluation of a solicitation, the County prohibits unsolicited communication 
initiated by the Bidder to the County Official or Employee evaluating or considering the Bids prior to the 
time an award has been made. Unsolicited communication may be ground for disqualifying the 
offending Bidder from consideration or award of the solicitation, or any future solicitation.

Communication between the Bidder and the County will be initiated by the appropriate County Official
Employee in order to obtain information or clarification needed to develop a proper and accurate 
evaluation of the solicitation.

The County intends to award a Contract to the most responsible and responsive Bidder whose Bid will 
be most advantageous to the County. In accordance with Texas Government Code and Local
Government Code, the County may consider, to the extent allowed by law, the following:

A. Price;
B. The Bidder ’s experience and reputation;
C. Quality of the Bidder ’s goods and/or services; 
D. The Bidder ’s safety record;
E. The Bidder ’s proposed personnel; 
F. The Bidder ’s financial capabilities; and 
G. Any other relevant factors specifically listed in this IFB or authorized by law.

3.10 CONDISERATION OF LOCATION OF PRINCIPAL OFFICE 

Pursuant to Texas Local Government Code, Section 271.905 , in purchasing any real property or personal
property that is not affixed to real property, if the County receives one or more Bids from a Bidder whose
principal place of business is in Williamson County and whose Bid is within three (3 )  percent of the
lowest Bid price received by the County from a Bidder who is not a resident of Williamson County, the 
County may enter into a contract with:

A. The lowest Bidder; or the Bidder whose principal place of business is in Williamson County if the
Commissioners Court determines, in writing, that the local Bidder offers the County the best 
combination of contract price and addit ional economic development opportunities
Williamson County created by the contract award, including the employment of residents
Williamson County and increased tax revenues to Williamson County.

It is understood that the Commissioners Court of Williamson County, Texas, reserves the right to accept
or reject any and/or all Bids for any or all goods and/or services covered in this IFB, and to waive
informalities or defects in the Bid or to accept such Bid, if it shall deem to be in the best interest of the 
County.

Awards should be made approximately sixty (60) business days after the Bid opening date. Results may
be obtained by viewing the Williamson County vendor portal at the following link:

http://www.wilco.org/CountyDepartments/Purchasing/SearchforaPastBid/tabid/5213/language/en-
US/Default.aspx

3.11 RESPONSIBILITY 

It is expected that a prospective Bidder will be able to affirmatively demonstrate responsibility.  A 
prospective Bidder should be able to meet the following requirements:

A. Have adequate financial resources, or the ability to obtain such resources as required;
B. Be able to comply with the required or proposed delivery schedule;
C. Have a satisfactory record of performance that can be determined thru references provided; and 
D. Be otherwise qualified and eligible to receive an award.

The County may request representation and other information sufficient to determine the Bidder's ability 
to meet these minimum standards listed above.

3.12 FIRM PRICING 

For unit price items, all of the items listed are to be on a “per unit” basis, stating a firm price per unit or 
unit quantity of each item.  The Bidder must submit a firm price that must be good from the date of Bid 
opening for the fixed period of time set out in this IFB.  Unless the IFB expressly states otherwise, this 
period shall be until the end of the Initial Contract Period.

Bids which do not state a fixed price, or which are subject to change without notice, will not be 
considered.  The Court may award a Contract for the period implied or expressly stated in the lowest and 
best Bid.

3.13 PURCHASE ORDERS

If required by the Williamson County Purchasing Department, a purchase order(s) may be generated to 
the Successful Bidder for goods and/or services.  If a purchase order is issued, the purchase order 
number must appear on all itemized invoices and/or requests for payment.

3.14 SILENCE OF SPECIFICATIONS

The apparent silence of these specifications as to any detail or to the apparent omission from it of a 
detailed description concerning any point, shall be regarded as meaning that only the best practices are 
to prevail.  All interpretations of these specifications shall be made on the basis of this statement.

3.15 REFERENCES

The County may require the Bidder to supply a list of at least three (3) references where like services
and/or goods have been supplied by their firm within the past five (5) years, to include names, titles, 
phone numbers and email addresses of key personnel, and dates of performance.

The County may contact some or all of the references in order to determine the Respondent
performance record on work similar to that described in this RFP.  The County reserves the right to 
contact references other than those provided in the response and to use the information gained from 
them in the evaluation process.

References, if requested, should be provided in accordance with this IFB.  Bid may not be deemed 
complete without the inclusion of requested references.

SECTION 4 - TERMS AND CONDITIONS

4.1 VENUE AND GOVERNING LAW

The Bidder hereby agrees and acknowledges that venue and jurisdiction of any suit, right, or cause of 
action arising out of or in connection with this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s), shall lie 
exclusively in either Williamson County, Texas or in the Austin Division of the Western Federal District of 
Texas, and the parties hereto expressly consent and submit to such jurisdiction.  Furthermore, except to 
the extent that this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) is governed by the laws of the United 
States, this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be governed by and construed in 
accordance with the laws of the State of Texas, excluding, however, its choice of law rules.

4.2 INCORPORATION BY REFERENCE AND PRECEDENCE

A. The Contract shall be derived from the IFB and its Addenda (if applicable), and the Bidder ’ s Bid.  In 
the event of a dispute under the Contract, applicable documents will be referred to for the purpose 
of clarification or for additional detail in the following order of precedence:

1. The IFB and its Addenda (if applicable); and

2. The Bidder ’s Bid.

B. In the event the County requires that an Ensuing Agreement be executed following award and a 
dispute arises between the terms and conditions of the Ensuing Agreement, the IFB and its 
Addenda (if applicable), and the Bidder ’s Bid, applicable documents will be referred to for the 
purpose of clarification or for additional detail in the following order of precedence: 

1. Terms and conditions of the Ensuing Agreement;

2. The IFB its Addenda; and 

3. The Bidder ’s Bid.

4.3 OWNERSHIP OF BID

Each Bid shall become the property of the County upon submittal and will not be returned to Bidders 
unless received after the submittal deadline.

4.4 DISQUALIFICATION OF BIDDER

Upon signing and submittal of the Bid, a Bidder offering to sell supplies, materials, services, or equipment 
to the County, certifies that the Bidder has not violated the antitrust laws of the State of Texas codified in 
Business & Commerce Code, Section 15.01, or the Federal Antitrust Laws, and has not communicated 
directly or indirectly the offer made to any competitor or any other person engaged in such line of 
business.  Any or all Bids may be rejected if the County believes that collusion exists among the Bidders.

4.5 FUNDING

The County intends to budget and make sufficient funds available and authorize funds for expenditure to 
finance the costs of the Contract.  All Bidders understand and agree that the County’s payment of 
amounts under the Contract shall be contingent on the County receiving appropriations or other 
expenditure authority sufficient to allow the County, in the exercise of reasonable administrative 
discretion, to make payments under this Contract.

4.6 ASSIGNMENT, SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS 

The Successful Bidder may not assign, sell, or otherwise transfer the Contract or any other rights or 
interests obtained under the Contract without written permission of the Commissioners Court.  The 
Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the contracting 
parties hereto and their respective successors and permitted assigns.

4.7 IMPLIED REQUIREMENTS

Products or services not specifically described or required in the IFB, but are necessary to provide the 
functional capabilities described by the Bidder, shall be implied and deemed to be included in the Bid.

4.8 TERMINATION

A. Termination for Cause: The County reserves the right to terminate the Contract and/or any 
Ensuing Agreement(s) for default if the Successful Bidder breaches any of the Bid specifications,
terms and conditions, including warranties of the Bidder, if any, or if the Successful Bidder 
becomes insolvent or commits acts of bankruptcy.  Such right of termination is in addition to and
not in lieu of any other remedies the County may have at law or in equity or as may otherwise
provided hereunder.  Default may be construed as, but not limited to, failure to deliver the proper 
goods and/or services within the proper amount of time, and/or to properly perform any and all 
other requirements to the County ’s satisfaction, and/or to meet all other obligations and
requirements.

B. Termination for Convenience: The County may terminate the Contract and/or any Ensuing 
Agreement(s) for convenience and without cause or further liability, upon no less than thirty (30) 
calendar days written notice to the Successful Bidder. The County reserves the right to extend 
this period if it is in the best interest of the County.  In the event the County exercises its right to 
terminate without cause, it is understood and agreed that only the amounts due to the Successful 
Bidder for goods, commodities and/or services provided and expenses incurred to and including 
the date of termination, will be due and payable.  No penalty will be assessed for the County
termination for convenience.

4.9 NON-PERFORMANCE

It is the objective of the County to obtain complete and satisfactory performance of the requirements set 
forth herein.  In addition to any other remedies available at law, in equity or that may be set out herein, 
failure to perform may result in a deduction of payment equal to the amount of the goods and/or services 
that were not provided and/or performed to the County ’s satisfaction.  

In the event of such non-performance, the County shall have the right, but shall not be obligated, to 
complete the services itself or by others and/or purchase the goods from other sources.  If the County 
elects to acquire the goods or perform the services itself or by others, pursuant to the foregoing, the 
Successful Bidder shall reimburse the County, within ten (10) calendar days of demand, for all costs 
incurred by the County (including, without limitation, applicable, general, and administrative expenses, 
and field overhead, and the cost of necessary equipment, materials, and field labor) in correcting the 
nonperformance which the Successful Bidder fails to meet pursuant to the requirements set out herein.  
In the event the Successful Bidder refuses to reimburse the County as set out in this provision, the 
County shall have the right to deduct such reimbursement amounts from any amounts that may be then 
owing or that may become owing in the future to the Successful Bidder.

4.10 PROPRIETARY INFORMATION AND THE TEXAS PUBLIC INFORMATION ACT

All material submitted to the County shall become public property and subject to the Texas Public 
Information Act upon receipt. If a Bidder does not desire proprietary information in the Bid to be 
disclosed, each page must be clearly identified and marked proprietary at time of submittal or, more 
preferably, all proprietary information may be placed in a folder or appendix and be clearly identified and 
marked as being proprietary.  Failure to clearly identify and mark information as being proprietary as set 
forth under this provision will result in all unmarked information being deemed non-proprietary and 
available to the public.  For all information that has not been clearly identified and marked as proprietary 
by the Bidder, the County may choose to place such information on the County ’s website and/or a similar 
public database without obtaining any type of prior consent from the Bidder.

The County will, to the extent allowed by law, endeavor to protect from public disclosure the information 
that has been identified and marked as proprietary.  The final decision as to what information must be 
disclosed, however, lies with the Texas Attorney General.  

To the extent, if any, that any provision in this IFB or in the Bidder ’s Bid is in conflict with Texas 
Government Code, Chapter 552, as amended (the “Public Information Act”), the same shall be of no 
force or effect.  Furthermore, it is expressly understood, and agreed, that the County, and its officers and 
employees, may request advice, decisions and opinions of the Attorney General of the State of Texas in 
regard to the application of the Public Information Act to any items or data furnished to the County as to 
whether or not the same are available to the public.  It is further understood that the County, and its 
officers and employees, shall have the right to rely on the advice, decisions and opinions of the Attorney 
General, and that the County, its officers and employees shall have no liability or obligation to any party 
hereto for the disclosure to the public, or to any person or persons, of any items or data furnished to the 
County by a party hereto, in reliance of any advice, decision or opinion of the Attorney General of the 
State of Texas.

4.11 RIGHT TO AUDIT

The Successful Bidder agrees that the County or its duly authorized representatives shall, until the 
expiration of three (3) years after termination or expiration of the services to be performed, have access 
to and the right to examine and photocopy any and all books, documents, papers and records of the 
Successful Bidder, which are directly pertinent to the services to be performed or goods to be delivered 
for the purposes of making audits, examinations, excerpts and transcriptions.  The Successful Bidder 
agrees that the County shall have access during normal working hours to all necessary facilities and 
shall be provided adequate and appropriate work space in order to conduct audits in compliance with the 
provisions of this section.  The County shall give the Successful Bidder reasonable advance notice of 
intended audits.

4.12 TESTING AND INSPECTIONS

The County reserves the right to inspect and test equipment, supplies, materials and goods for quality 
and compliance with this IFB, and ability to meet the needs of the user.  Demonstration units must be 
available for review.  Should the goods or services fail to meet requirements and/or be unavailable for 
evaluation, the County can deem the Bidder to be in breach and terminate the Contract and/or any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

4.13 BID PREPARATION COSTS

The cost of developing Bids is the sole responsibility of the Bidders and shall not be charged to the 
County.  There is no expressed or implied obligation for the County to reimburse the Bidders for any 
expense incurred in preparing a Bid in response to this IFB and the County will not reimburse the Bidders 
for such expenses.

4.14 INDEMNIFICATION

The Successful Bidder shall indemnify, defend and save harmless, the County, its officials, employees, 
agents and agent ’s employees from, and against, all claims, liability, and expenses including reasonable 
attorneys ’   fees, arising from activities of the Bidder, its agents, servants or employees, performed 
hereunder that result from the negligent act, error, or omission of the Bidder or any of the Bidder
agents, servants or employees, as well as all claims of loss or damage to the Bidder ’s and the County
property, equipment, and/or supplies. 

Furthermore, the County, its officials, employees, agents and agents ’ employees shall not be liable for 
damages to the Successful Bidder arising from any act of any third party, including, but not limited to, 
theft.  The Successful Bidder further agrees to indemnify, defend and save harmless, the County from its 
officials, employee, agents and agents ’ employees against all claims of whatever nature arising from any 
accident, injury, or damage whatsoever, caused to any person, or the property of any person, occurring 
in relation to the Successful Bidder ’s performance of any services requested hereunder during the term 
of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s). 

The Successful Bidder shall timely report all claims, demands, suits, actions, proceedings, liens or 
judgements to the County and shall, upon the receipt of any claim, demand, suit, action, proceeding, lien 

or judgement, not later than the fifteenth (15 th) day of each month; provide the County with a written 
report on each such matter, setting forth the status of each matter, the schedule or planned proceedings 
with respect to each matter and the cooperation or assistance, if any, of the County required by the 
Successful Bidder in the defense of each matter.  The Successful Bidder’s duty to defend, indemnify and 
hold the County harmless shall be absolute.  It shall not abate or end by reason of the expiration or 
termination of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s), unless otherwise agreed by the County in 
writing.  The provisions of this section shall survive the termination of the Contract and shall remain in full 
force and effect with respect to all such matters no matter when they arise. 

In the event of any dispute between the parties, as to whether a claim, demand, suit, action, proceeding, 
lien or judgement, that appears to have been caused by or appears to have arisen out of or in connection 
with acts or omissions of the County, the Bidder shall nevertheless fully defend such claim, demand, suit 
or action, proceeding, lien or judgement, until and unless there is a determination by a court of competent 
jurisdiction that the acts and omissions of the Bidder are not an issue in the matter. 

The Successful Bidder ’s indemnification shall cover, and the Successful Bidder agrees to, indemnify the 
County, in the event the County is found to have been negligent for having selected the Successful 
Bidder to perform the work described in this request.  The provision by the Successful Bidder of 
insurance shall not limit the liability of the Successful Bidder under the Contract and/or any Ensuing 
Agreement(s). 

4.15 WAIVER OF SUBROGATION

The Successful Bidder and the Successful Bidder ’s insurance carrier waive any and all rights 
whatsoever with regard to subrogation against the County as an indirect party to any suit arising out of 
personal or property damages resulting from the Bidder ’s performance under this Contract and any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

4.16 RELATIONSHIP OF THE PARTIES

The Successful Bidder shall be an independent contractor and shall assume all of the rights, obligations, 
liabilities, applicable to it as such independent contractor hereunder and any provisions herein which may 
appear to give the County the right to direct the Successful Bidder as to details of doing work herein 
covered, or to exercise a measure of control over the work, shall be deemed to mean that the Successful 
Bidder shall follow the desires of the County in the results of the work only.  The County shall not retain or 
have the right to control the Successful Bidder ’s means, methods or details pertaining to the Successful 
Bidder ’s performance of the work.  The County and the Successful Bidder hereby agree and declare that 
the Successful Bidder is an independent contractor and as such meets the qualifications of an 
“Independent Contractor” under Texas Workers Compensation Act, Texas Labor Code, Section 406.141, 
that the Successful Bidder is not an employee of  the County, and that the Successful Bidder and its 
employees, agents and subcontractors shall not be entitled to workers compensation coverage or any 
other type of insurance coverage held by the County.

4.17 SOLE PROVIDER

The Successful Bidder agrees and acknowledges that it shall not be considered a sole provider of the 
goods and/or services described herein and that the County may contract with other providers of such 
goods and/or services if the County deems, at its sole discretion, that multiple providers of the same 
goods and/or services will serve the best interest of the County.

4.18 FORCE MAJEURE

If the party obligated to perform is prevented from performance by an act of war, order of legal authority, 
act of God, or other unavoidable cause not attributable to the fault or negligence of said party, the other 
party shall grant such party relief from the performance.  The burden of proof for the need of such relief 
shall rest upon the party obligated to perform.  To obtain release based on force majeure, the party 
obligated to perform shall file a written request with the other party.

4.19 SEVERABILITY

If any provision of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be held invalid or 
unenforceable by any court of competent jurisdiction, such holding shall not invalidate or render 
unenforceable any other provision thereof, but rather the entire IFB, Contract or any Ensuing Agreement
(s) will be construed as if not containing the particular invalid or unenforceable provision or provisions, 
and the rights and obligation of the parties shall be construed and enforced in accordance therewith.  The 
parties acknowledge that if any provision of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) is 
determined to be invalid or unenforceable, it is the desire and intention of each that such provision be 
reformed and construed in such a manner that it will, to the maximum extent practicable, give effect to
the intent of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) and be deemed to be validated and
enforceable.

4.20 EQUAL OPPORTUNITY

Neither party shall discriminate against any employee or applicant for employment because of race, 
color, sex, religion or national origin.

4.21 NOTICE

Any notice to be given shall be in writing and may be distributed by personal delivery, or by registered or 
certified mail, return receipt requested, addressed to the proper party, at the following address:

The County:    Williamson County Purchasing Department 
            Attn: Purchasing Agent 
            901 South Austin Avenue 
            Georgetown, Texas 78626

The Bidder:     Address set out in Bidder’s Transmittal Letter.

Notices given in accordance with this provision shall be effective upon (1) receipt by the party to which 
notice is given, or (2) on the third (3rd) calendar day following mailing, whichever occurs first.

4.22 SALES AND USE TAX EXEMPTION

The County is a body, corporate and politic, under the laws of the State of Texas and claims exemption 
from sales and use taxes under Texas Tax Code, Section 151.309, as amended, and the services and/or 
goods subject hereof are being secured for use by the County.

4.23 COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS

The County and the Successful Bidder shall comply with all federal, state, and local laws, statutes,
ordinances, rules and regulations, and the orders and decrees of any courts or administrative bodies or 
tribunals in any matter affecting the performance of the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s),
including, without limitation, Workers ’ Compensation laws, salary and wage statutes and regulations, 
licensing laws and regulations.  When required, the Successful Bidder shall furnish the County with 
certification of compliance with said laws, statues, ordinances, rules, regulations, orders, and decrees 
above specified.

4.24 INCORPORATION OF EXHIBITS, APPENDICES AND ATTACHMENTS

All of the Exhibits, Appendices and Attachments referred to herein are incorporated by reference as if set 
forth verbatim herein.  Any conflicting terms in the Contract documents will be resolved at the sole 
discretion of the Commissioners Court.

4.25 NO WAIVER OF IMMUNITIES

Nothing herein shall be deemed to waive, modify or amend any legal defense available at law or in equity 
to the County, its past or present officers, employees, or agents, nor to create any legal rights or claim on 
behalf of any third party.  The County does not waive, modify, or alter to any extent whatsoever the 
availability of the defense of governmental immunity under the laws of the State of Texas and of the 
United States.

4.26 NO WAIVER

The failure or delay of any party to enforce at any time or any period of time any of the provisions of this 
IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall not constitute a present or future waiver of such 
provisions nor the right of either party to enforce each and every provision.  Furthermore, no term or 
provision hereof shall be deemed waived and no breach excused unless such waiver or consent shall be 
in writing and signed by the party claimed to have waived or consented.  Any consent by any party to, or 
waiver of, a breach by the other, whether expressed or implied, shall not constitute a consent to, waiver 
of or excuse for any other, different or subsequent breach.

4.27 CURRENT REVENUES

The obligations of the parties under the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) do not constitute a 
general obligation or indebtedness of the County for which the County is obligated to levy, pledge, or 
collect any of taxation.  It is understood and agreed that the County shall have the right to terminate the 
Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) at the end of any the County fiscal year if the governing body of 
the County does not appropriate sufficient funds as determined by the County ’s budget for the fiscal year 
in question.  The County may effect such termination by giving written notice of termination to the 
Successful Bidder at the end of its then-current fiscal year.

4.28 FOB DESTINATION

To the extent applicable to this IFB, all of the items listed are to be Free On Board to final destination 
(FOB Destination) with all transportation charges if applicable to be included in the Bid, unless otherwise 
specified in the Invitation for Bids.  The title and risk of loss of the goods shall not pass to the County until 
receipt and acceptance takes place at the FOB Destination point.

4.29 BINDING EFFECT

This Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties 
and their respective permitted assigns and successors.

4.30 ASSIGNMENT

The Successful Bidder ’s interest and duties hereunder may not be assigned or delegated to a third party 
without the express written consent of the County.

4.31 SAFETY

The Successful Bidder is responsible for initiating, maintaining, and supervising all safety precautions 
and programs in connection with any services to be provided hereunder. The safety program shall 
comply with all applicable requirements of the current federal Occupational Safety and Health Act and all 
other applicable federal, state and local laws and regulations.

4.32 GENERAL OBLIGATIONS AND RELIANCE

The Successful Bidder shall perform all services and/or provide all goods, as well as those reasonably
inferable and necessary for completion and provision of services and/or goods required hereunder. The
Successful Bidder shall keep the County informed of the progress and quality of the services.  The 
Successful Bidder agrees and acknowledges that the County is relying on the Successful Bidder's 
represented expertise and ability to provide the goods and/or services described herein.  The Successful
Bidder agrees to use its best efforts, skill, judgment, and abilities to perform its obligations in accordance
with the highest standards used in the profession and to further the interests of the County 
accordance with the County ’s requirements and procedures.    T h e   Successful Bidder ’s duties,
set forth herein, shall at no time be in any way diminished by reason of any approval by the County, nor
shall the Successful Bidder be released from any liability by reason of such approval by the County, it 
being understood that the County at all times is ultimately relying upon the Successful Bidder ’s skill and 
knowledge in performing the services and providing any goods required hereunder.

4.33 ESTIMATED QUANTITIES

To the extent applicable to this IFB, the estimated quantity of each item listed in this IFB is only
estimate; the actual quantity to be purchased may be more or less. The County is not obligated
purchase any minimum amount, and the County may purchase any reasonable amount greater than the
estimate for the same unit price. Any limit on quantities available must be stated expressly in the Bid.

4.34 CONTRACTUAL DEVELOPMENT

The contents of the IFB and the Successful Bidder ’s Bid will become an integral part of the Contract, but 
may be modified, at the County ’s sole discretion, by provisions of an Ensuing Agreement.  Therefore, the 
Bidder must agree to an inclusion of an Ensuing Agreement of the Bid specifications, terms and 
conditions of this IFB.  If an Ensuing Agreement is required under this IFB, information relative to the 
Agreement will be located in the Special Provisions Section of this IFB.

4.35 SURVIVABILITY 

All applicable agreements that were entered into between the Successful Bidder and the County, under 
the terms and conditions of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s), shall survive the expiration or 
termination thereof for ninety (90) days unless a new contract has been awarded.

The County may exercise, by written notice to the Successful Bidder no later than ten (10) calendar days 
of the Contract expiration, this clause for emergencies only. 

4.36 AIR QUALITY

In determining the overall best Bid, the County may, to the extent applicable, exercise the option granted 
to local governments under the Texas Local Government Code, Section 271.907.

This option allows the County to evaluate Bids and give preference to goods and/or services of a Bidder 
that demonstrates that the Bidder meets or exceeds any and all state or federal environmental 
standards, including voluntary standards, relating to air quality.  If the Bid being submitted will have an 
effect on air quality for the County (as it relates to any state, federal, or voluntary air quality standard), 
then the Bidder is encouraged to provide information in narrative indicating the anticipated air quality 
impact.  All Bidders are expected to meet all mandated state and federal air quality standards.

4.37 ENTIRE AGREEMENT

The Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall supersede all prior Agreements, written or oral 
between the Successful Bidder and the County and shall constitute the entire Agreement and 
understanding between the parties with respect to the services and/or goods to be provided.  Each of the 
provisions herein shall be binding upon the parties and may not be waived, modified, amended or altered, 
except by writing signed by the Successful Bidder and the County.

4.38 PAYMENT

The County ’s payment for goods and services shall be governed by the Texas Government Code, 

Chapter 2251.  An invoice shall be deemed overdue the thirty-first (31st) day after the later of the 
following: 

A. The date the County receives the goods under the Contract; 
B. The date the performance of the service under the Contract is completed; or 
C. The date the Williamson County Auditor receives an invoice for the goods or services.  

Interest charges for any overdue payments shall be paid by the County in accordance with Texas 
Government Code, Section 2251.025.  More specifically, the rate of interest that shall accrue on a late 
payment is the rate in effect on September 1 of the County ’s fiscal year in which the payment becomes 
due.  The said rate in effect on September 1 shall be equal to the sum of one (1) percent, and the prime 

rate published in the Wall Street Journal on the first (1st) day of July of the preceding fiscal year that does 
not fall on a Saturday or Sunday.

In the event that an error appears in an invoice submitted by the Successful Bidder, the County shall 
notify the Successful Bidder of the error not later than the twenty-first (21st) day after the date the County 
receives the invoice.  If the error is resolved in favor of the Successful Bidder, the Successful Bidder 
shall be entitled to receive interest on the unpaid balance of the invoice submitted by the Successful 
Bidder beginning on the date that the payment for the invoice became overdue.  If the error is resolved in 
favor of the County, the Successful Bidder shall submit a corrected invoice that must be paid in 
accordance within the time set forth above.  The unpaid balance accrues interest as provided by the 
Texas Government Code, Chapter 2251, if the corrected invoice is not paid by the appropriate date.

As a minimum, invoices shall include:

A. Name, address, and telephone number of the Successful Bidder and similar information in the 
event the payment is to be made to a different address. 

B. The County Contract, Purchase Order. 

C. Identification of items or service as outlined in the Contract. 

D. Quantity or quantities, applicable unit prices, total prices and total amount. 

E. Any additional payment information which may be called for by the Contract. 

Payment inquiries should be directed to the following address:        

            Williamson County Auditor’s Office, Accounts Payable Department
            Email: accountspayable@wilco.org
            Phone: 512-943-1500

4.39 CONTRACTUAL FORMATION AND ENSUING AGREEMENT

The IFB and the Bidder ’s Bid, when properly accepted by the Commissioners Court, shall constitute a
Contract equally binding between the Successful Bidder and the County.

If an Ensuing Agreement is required by this IFB, that information will be provided in Special 
Provisions section of this IFB.  The Successful Bidder shall be required to execute the Agreement at 
the Williamson County Purchasing Department approximately ten (10) calendar days after the 
Successful Bidder is notified of award.  The Ensuing Agreement shall be in the same form as the 
Agreement which is attached to the end of this IFB.  The only anticipated changes in the Ensuing 
Agreement will be to include additional exhibits, to fill in blanks to identify the Successful Bidder, and 
terms relating to the compensation, or to revise the Agreement to accommodate corrections, changes in 
the scope of services, or changes pursuant to Addenda issued.  Bidders should raise any questions 
regarding the terms of the Agreement in the form of written questions or submittals as 
described in the Public Announcement and General Information portion of this IFB.  Because the 
signed Ensuing Agreement will be substantively and substantially derived from the attached Agreement, 
each Bidder is urged to seek independent legal counsel as to any questions about the terms, conditions 
or provisions contained in the Agreement before submitting a Bid.  Again, the attached Agreement, if 
applicable, contains important legal provisions and is considered part and parcel of this IFB.  Failure or 
refusal to sign aforesaid Agreement shall be grounds for the County to revoke any award which has been 
issued, forfeit Bid security, if applicable, and select another Bidder.

4.40 COOPERATIVE PURCHASING PROGRAM 

During the term of the Contract resulting from this IFB, the County would like to afford the same prices, 
terms and conditions to other political subdivisions or public entities.  Another entity’s participation in the 
Contract resulting from this IFB is subject to a properly authorized Purchasing Cooperative Inter- local 
Agreement with the County.  Any liability created by purchase orders issued against the Contract shall be 
the sole responsibility of the governmental agency placing the order.

4.41 INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS

To the extent applicable Insurance information will appear in the Additional Stipulations section that is in 
this IFB Package. 

4.42 BIDDERS BOND, WARRANTY BOND, PERFORMANCE AND PAYMENT BONDS

To the extent applicable Bond information will appear in the Additional Stipulations section that is in this 
IFB Package. 

4.43 LEGAL LIABILITY INFORMATION

The Successful Bidder shall disclose all legal liability information by listing any pending litigation
anticipated litigation that your firm is involved in including, but not limited to, potential or actual legal
matters with private parties and any local, state, federal or international governmental entities. The
County reserves the right to consider legal liability information in the recommendation of any proposed 
contract to the Commissioners Court.

4.44 INCLEMENT WEATHER

In case of inclement weather or any other unforeseen event causing the County to close for business on 
the date of a Bid submission deadline, the Bid closing will automatically be postponed until the next 
business day the County is open.  If inclement weather conditions or any other unforeseen event causes 
delays in carrier service operations, the County may issue an Addendum to all known Bidders interested 
in the project to extend the deadline.  It will be the responsibility of the Bidder to notify the County of their 
interest in the project if these conditions are impacting their ability to turn in a submission within the 
stated deadline.  The County reserves the right to make the final judgement call to extend any deadline. 

4.45 PREVAILING WAGE RATES

To the extent this procurement is for the construction of a public work, including a building, highway, 
road, excavation, and repair work or other project development or improvement, paid for in whole or in 
part from public funds, without regard to whether the work is done under public supervision or direction, 
Texas Government Code, Chapter 2258, shall apply and the contractor shall pay not less than the wage 
scale of the various classes of labor as shown on the “Prevailing Wage Schedule” provided by the 
County. Pursuant to Texas Government Code, Section 2258.022(a)(2), the County has determined the 
general prevailing rate of the “Prevailing Wage Schedule”  in the locality in which the public work is to be 
performed for each craft or type of worker needed to execute the contract and the prevailing rate for legal 
holiday and overtime work by using the prevailing wage rate as determined by the United States 
Department of Labor in accordance with the United States Code, Section 276a (Davis-Bacon Act). 

The specified wage rates are minimum rates only, and are not representations that qualified labor 
adequate to perform the work is available locally at the prevailing wage rates. The County is not bound to 
pay—and will not consider—any claims for additional compensation made by any contractor because the 
contractor pays wages in excess of the applicable minimum rate contained in the Contract Documents. 
The “Prevailing Wage Schedule”  is not a representation that quantities of qualified labor adequate to 
perform the work may be found locally at the specified wage rates.

For classifications not shown, workers shall not be paid less than the wage indicated for laborers. The 
contractor shall notify each worker commencing work on the project the worker ’s job classification and 
the established minimum wage rate required to be paid, as well as the actual amount being paid. The 
notice must be delivered to and signed in acknowledgement of receipt by the employee and must list 
both the monetary wages and fringe benefits to be paid or furnished for each classification in which the 
worker is assigned duties. When requested by the County, competent evidence of compliance with the 
Texas Prevailing Wage Law shall be furnished by contractor. A copy of each worker wage rate 
notification shall be submitted to the County with the Application for Payment for the period during which 
the worker began on-site activities.

Should the contractor at any time become aware that a particular skill or trade not reflected on the 
County ’s “Prevailing Wage Schedule” will be or is being employed in the work, whether by the contractor 
or by a subcontractor, the contractor shall promptly inform the County and shall specify a wage rate for 
that skill or trade, which shall bind the contractor.

The contractor and any subcontractor shall pay to the County a penalty of sixty dollars ($60.00) for each 
worker employed for each calendar day, or portion thereof, that the worker is paid less than the wage 
rates stipulated in the “Prevailing Wage Schedule” or any supplement thereto. The contractor and each 
subcontractor shall keep, or cause to be kept, an accurate record showing the names and occupations 
of all workers employed in connection with the work, and showing the actual per diem wages paid to 
each worker, which records shall be open at all reasonable hours for the inspection by the County.

Within thirty-one (31) days of receipt of information concerning a violation of the Texas Government Code 
Chapter 2258, the County shall make an initial determination as to whether good cause exists to believe 
a violation occurred. The County ’s decision on the initial determination shall be reduced to writing and 
sent to the contractor or subcontractor against whom the violation was alleged, and to the affected 
worker. When a good cause finding is made, the County shall retain the full amounts claimed by the 
claimant or claimants as the difference between wages paid and wages due under the “Prevailing Wage 
Schedule” and any supplements thereto, together with the applicable penalties, such amounts being 
subtracted from successive progress payments pending a final decision on the violation.

After the County makes its initial determination, the affected contractor or subcontractor and worker have 
fourteen (14) calendar days in which to resolve the issue of whether a violation occurred, including the 
amount that should be retained by the County or paid to the affected worker. If the contractor or 
subcontractor and affected worker reach an agreement concerning the worker ’s claim, the contractor 
shall promptly notify the County in a written document signed by the worker. It the contractor or 

Subcontractor and affected worker do not agree before the fifteenth (15 th) calendar day after the County
determination, the contractor or subcontractor and affected worker must participate in binding arbitration 
in accordance with the Texas General Arbitration Act, Chapter 171, (Texas Civil Practice and Remedies 
Code). The parties to the arbitration have ten (10) calendar days after the expiration of the fifteen (15) 

calendar days referred to above, to agree on an arbitrator; if by the eleventh (11 th) calendar day there is 
no agreement to an arbitrator, a district court shall appoint an arbitrator on the petition of any of the 
parties to the arbitration.

If an arbitrator determines that a violation has occurred, the arbitrator shall assess and award against the 
contractor or subcontractor the amount of penalty as provided above and the amount owed the worker. 
The County may use any amounts retained hereunder to pay the worker the amount as designated in the 
arbitration award. If the County has not retained enough from the contractor or subcontractor to pay the 
worker in accordance with the arbitration award, the worker has a right of action against the contractor 
and subcontractor as appropriate, and the surety of either to receive the amount owed, attorneys ’  fees 
and court costs. The contractor shall promptly furnish a copy of the arbitration award to the County.

Money retained pursuant to the provisions above shall be used to pay the claimant or claimants the 
difference between the amount the worker received in wages for labor on the project at the rate paid by 
the contractor or subcontractor and the amount the worker would have received at the general prevailing 
wage rate as provided by the agreement of the claimant and the contractor or subcontractor affected, or 
in the arbitrator ’s award. The full statutory penalty of sixty dollars ($60.00) per calendar day of violation 
per worker shall be retained by Williamson County to offset its administrative costs, pursuant to Texas 
Government Code, Section, 2258.023. Any retained funds in excess of these amounts shall be paid to 
the contractor on the earlier of the next progress payment or final payment. Provided, however, that the 
County shall have no duty to release any funds to either the claimant or the contractor until it has 
received the notices of agreement or the arbitration award as provided under the provision herein-above.

4.46 CONFIDENTIALITY

The Bidder expressly agrees that it will not use any direct or incidental confidential information that may 
be obtained while working in a governmental setting for its own benefit, and agrees that it will not access 
unauthorized areas or confidential information and it will not disclose any information to unauthorized 
third parties, and will take care to guard the security of the information at all times.

Bid 1704-157Williamson County, Texas

4/7/2017 9:30 AM p. 10



5

6

3 4

Williamson County – Invitation for Bid (IFB)

SECTION 1 - DEFINITIONS 

Addendum/Addenda – means any written or graphic instruments issued by the County prior to the 
consideration of Bids which modify or interpret the Bid Documents by additions, deletions, clarifications, 
or corrections.

Agreement/Ensuing Agreement(s) – means the Successful Bidder may be required by the County to 
sign an additional Agreement containing terms necessary to ensure compliance with the IFB and the 
Bidder ’s Bid.  Such Ensuing Agreement(s) shall contain the Bid specifications, terms and conditions that 
are derived from the IFB.

Bid Documents – means the Legal Notice, IFB including attachments, and any Addenda issued by the 
County prior to the consideration of any Bids.

Bid – means the completed and signed bid form, (sometimes referred to as the Price Sheet), and ALL 
required forms and documentation listed in the IFB package which have been submitted in accordance 
with the terms and conditions described in the IFB package.  A Bid submitted in accordance with this IFB 
is irrevocable during the specified period for evaluation and acceptance of Bids unless a waiver is 
obtained from the Williamson County Purchasing Agent.

Bidder – means a person or entity who submits a Bid in response to this IFB.

Contract – means this IFB and the Bid of the Successful Bidder shall become a Contract between the 
Successful Bidder and the County once the Successful Bidder ’s Bid is properly accepted by the 
Williamson County Commissioners Court.

Commissioner ’s Court – means the Williamson County Commissioners Court. 

County – means Williamson County, a political subdivision of the State of Texas.

Invitation for Bid (IFB) – means this document, together with the attachments thereto and any future 
Addenda issued by the County.

Successful Bidder – means the liable Bidder to whom the County intends to award the Contract.

SECTION 2 - BID FORMAT AND SUBMISSION

2.1 ORGANIZATION OF BID CONTENTS FOR SUBMITTAL 

Each Bid should be organized and items submitted in the order described below: 

A. Transmittal Letter. Please see Section 2.3, Transmittal Letter, for more information. 

B. Price Sheet.

C. Conflict of Interest Questionnaire. Please see Section 2.2, Conflict of Interest, for more 
information in regards to this. Please note that even if you deem there to be no Conflict of Interest, 
this signed questionnaire must be included in your package. 

D. References. Please see Section 3.15, References, for more information. 

E. Bid Affidavit.

F. Form 1295. Please see Section 2.4, Certificate of Interested Parties – Form 1295. 

2.2 CONFLICT OF INTEREST

No public official shall have interest in a Contract, in accordance with Vernon ’s Texas Codes Annotated, 
Local Government Code, Title 5, Subtitle C, Chapter 171, as amended. 

As of January 1, 2006, all Bidders are responsible for complying with Local Government Code, Title 5, 
Subtitle C, Chapter 176.  Additional information may be obtained from the County’s website at the 
following link: 

http://www.wilco.org/CountyDepartments/Purchasing/ConflictofInterestDisclosure/tabid/689/language/en
US/Default.aspx

Each Bidder must disclose any existing or potential conflict of interest relative to the performance of the 
requirements of this IFB.  Examples of potential conflicts of interest may include an existing 
business or personal relationship between the Bidder, its principal, or any affiliate or 
subcontractor with the County or any other entity or person involved in any way with the project 
that is subject to this IFB .  Similarly, any personal or business relationship between the Bidder, the 

principals, or any affiliate or subcontractor with any employee, or official of the County or its suppliers 
must be disclosed.  Any such relationship that might be perceived or represented as a conflict must be 
disclosed. Failure to disclose any such relationship or reveal personal relationships with the County 
employees or officials may be cause for termination. 

The County will decide if an actual or perceived conflict should result in Bid disqualification. 

By submitting a Bid in response to this IFB, all Bidders affirm they have not given, nor intend to give, at 
any time hereafter, any economic opportunity, future employment, gift, loan, gratuity, special discount, 
trip, favor, or service to a the County public servant or any employee, official or representative of same, in 
connection with this procurement. 

Each Bidder must provide a Conflict of Interest Statement with their Bid Package.  Package may 

be deemed incomplete without this form.  

2.3 TRANSMITTAL LETTER

The Bidder should submit a Transmittal Letter that provides the following information: 

A. Name and address of individual or business entity submitting the Bid. 

B. Name, physical address, email address, business and fax number of the Bidder ’s principal 
contact person regarding all contractual matters relating to this IFB.

C. The Bid ’s Federal Employer Identification Number.

D. If the Proposal being submitted will have an effect on air quality for the County (as it relates to any 
state, federal, or voluntary air quality standard), then the Respondent is encouraged to provide
information in narrative indicating the anticipated air quality impact. See Section 4.36, Air Quality 
for more information. 

2.4 CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PARTIES – FORM 1295

As of January 1, 2016, all Successful Bidders are responsible for complying with the Texas Government 
Code, Section 2252.908.  The law states that the County may not enter into certain contracts with a 
Bidder unless the Bidder submits a disclosure of interested parties to the County at the time the Bidder 
submits the signed Contract.  The law applies only to a Contract of the County on or after January 1, 
2016 that either:

A. Requires an action or vote by the Commissioners Court before the Contract may be signed (all 
contracts that fall under the jurisdiction of the Commissioners Court approval, such as contracts 
resulting from an Initiation for Bid (IFB), RFP, Request for Qualifications (RFQ), etc., excluding, 
but not limited to, certain Juvenile Service contracts, contracts funded with Sheriff ’s seized fun 
monies, etc.); or

B. Has a value of at least $1,000,000. 

By January 1, 2016, the Texas Ethics Commission will make available on its website, a new filing 
application that must be used to file Form 1295.  Information regarding how to use the filing application is 
available on the Texas Ethics Commission website at the following link:

https://www.ethics.state.tx.us/whatsnew/elf_info_form1295.htm

A Respondent must:

A. Use the online application to process the required information on Form 1295.

B. Print a copy of the form which will contain a unique certification number.

C. An authorized agent of the Bidder must sign the printed copy of the form.

D. Have the form notarized.

E. File the completed Form 1295 and certification of filing (scanning and emailing form is sufficient) 
with Williamson County Purchasing Agent at the time the signed Contract is submitted for 
approval.

After the Commissioners Court award of the Contract, the County shall notify the Texas Ethics 
Commission, using the Texas Ethics Commission ’s filing application, of the receipt of the filed Form 
1295 and certification of filing not later than the 30th day after the date the Contract binds all parties to the 
Contract. The Texas Ethics Commission will post the completed Form 1295 to its website within seven 
business days after receiving notice from the County.

2.5 ETHICS

The Bidder shall not accept or offer gifts or anything of value nor enter into any business arrangement 
with any employee, official or agent of the County.

2.6 BID SUBMITTAL DEADLINE

The Bid is due no later than the submittal date and time set forth in the Public Announcement and 
General Information listed in this IFB package.  Contents of each Bid shall be submitted in accordance 
with this IFB.

2.7 DELIVERY OF BIDS

The County uses BidSync to distribute and receive Bids and proposals.  It is preferred that Bids
submitted electronically through BidSync; however, Bidders can submit a hard copy.  

Refer to www.bidsync.com for further information on how to submit electronically.

If mailed or delivered in person, Bids and Bid Addenda are to be delivered in sealed envelope on or before
the submittal deadline, as noted in the Public Announcement and General Information listed in this IFB 
package, to:

            Williamson County Purchasing Department
            Attn: Bid Name and Number
            901 South Austin Avenue
            Georgetown, Texas 78626

Also, all Bidders should list their Name and Address, and the Date of the Bid opening on the outside
the box or envelope and note “Sealed Bid Enclosed.” The County will not accept any Bids received after 
the submittal deadline, and shall return such Bids unopened to the Bidder.  The County will not accept 
any responsibility for Bids being delivered by third party carriers.  

Bids will be opened publically and the names of Bidders and pricing will be read aloud.

SECTION 3 - INSTRUCTIONS AND GENERAL REQUIREMENTS

3.1 INSTRUCTIONS

Read this document carefully, and follow all instructions and requirements.  All Bidders are responsible 
for fulfilling all requirements and specifications.  Be sure to have a clear understanding of this IFB.

General requirements apply to all advertised IFBs; however, these may be superseded, in whole or in 
part, by the bid specifications, Addenda and modifications issued as a part of this IFB.  Be sure your Bid 
package is complete.

3.2 AMBIGUITY, CONFLICT, OR OTHER ERRORS IN THIS IFB

If a Bidder discovers any ambiguity, conflict, discrepancy, omission or other error in this IFB, the Bidder 
shall immediately notify the County Purchasing Department of such error in writing and request
modification or clarification of the document.

Modifications will be made by issuing Addenda. If the Bidder fails to notify the County prior to the date
and time fixed for submission of Bids of an error or ambiguity in the IFB known to the Bidder, or an error
or ambiguity that reasonably should have been known to the Bidder, then the Bidder shall be deemed to 
have waived the error or ambiguity or its later resolution.

The County may also modify the IFB, no later than forty-eight (48) hours prior to the date and time fixed
for submission of Bids, by issuance of an Addendum.  All Addenda will be numbered consecutively, 
beginning with one (1).

3.3 NOTIFICATION OF MOST CURRENT ADDRESS

All Bidders in receipt of this IFB shall notify the Williamson County Purchasing Department of any
address changes, contact person changes, and/or telephone number changes no later than forty-eight 
(48) hours prior to the date and time fixed for submission of Bids.

3.4 SIGNATURE OF BIDDER

A. If the Bidder is a Corporation or Limited Liability Company, the legal name of the Corporation
Limited Liability Company shall be provided together with the signature of the officer or officers 
authorized to sign on behalf of such entity.

B. If the Bidder is a General Partnership, the true name of the firm shall be provided with the
signature of each partner authorized to sign.

C. If the Bidder is a Limited Partnership, the name of the Limited Partner ’s General Partner shall
provided with the signature of the officer authorized to sign on behalf of the General Partner.

D. If the Bidder is a Sole Proprietor(s) (individual), each Sole Proprietor(s) shall sign.

E. If signature is by an agent, other than the Sole Proprietor(s) or an officer of a Corporation, Limited 
Liability Company, General Partner or a member of a General Partnership, a power of attorney
equivalent document must be submitted to the Williamson County Purchasing Department.

3.5 ASSUMED BUSINESS NAME

If the Bidder operates business under an Assumed Business Name, the Bidder must have on file with the
Williamson County Clerk a current Assumed Name Certificate and provide a file marked copy of same.

3.6 BID OBLIGATION 

The contents of the IFB, Bid, and any clarification thereof submitted by the Successful Bidder shall
become part of the contractual obligation and incorporated by reference into the Contract and any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

3.7 COMPLIANCE WITH IFB SPECIFICATIONS

It is intended that this IFB describe the requirements and the Bid format in sufficient detail to secure 
comparable Bids.  Failure to comply with all provisions of the IFB may, at the sole discretion of the 
County, result in disqualification.

3.8 WITHDRAWAL OF BID

The Bidder may withdraw its Bid by submitting a written request with the company letterhead and the 
signature of an authorized individual, as described in Section 3.4, Signature of Bidder, to the Williamson 
County Purchasing Department any time prior to the submission deadline.  

The Bidder may submit a new Bid prior to the deadline. Alterations of the Bid in any manner will not be 
considered if submitted after the deadline.  Withdrawal of a Bid after the deadline will be subject to written 
approval of the Williamson County Purchasing Agent.

3.9 EVALUATION AND AWARD

The County reserves the right to use all pertinent information (also learned from sources other than 
disclosed in the Bid process) that might affect the County ’s judgment as to the appropriateness of
award to the lowest and best evaluated Bid. This information may be appended to the Bid evaluation
process results. Information on a Bidder from reliable sources, and not within the Bidder ’s Bid, may also 
be noted and made part of the evaluation fi le.  The County shall have sole discretion for determining 
the reliability of the source.

To ensure the proper and fair evaluation of a solicitation, the County prohibits unsolicited communication 
initiated by the Bidder to the County Official or Employee evaluating or considering the Bids prior to the 
time an award has been made. Unsolicited communication may be ground for disqualifying the 
offending Bidder from consideration or award of the solicitation, or any future solicitation.

Communication between the Bidder and the County will be initiated by the appropriate County Official
Employee in order to obtain information or clarification needed to develop a proper and accurate 
evaluation of the solicitation.

The County intends to award a Contract to the most responsible and responsive Bidder whose Bid will 
be most advantageous to the County. In accordance with Texas Government Code and Local
Government Code, the County may consider, to the extent allowed by law, the following:

A. Price;
B. The Bidder ’s experience and reputation;
C. Quality of the Bidder ’s goods and/or services; 
D. The Bidder ’s safety record;
E. The Bidder ’s proposed personnel; 
F. The Bidder ’s financial capabilities; and 
G. Any other relevant factors specifically listed in this IFB or authorized by law.

3.10 CONDISERATION OF LOCATION OF PRINCIPAL OFFICE 

Pursuant to Texas Local Government Code, Section 271.905 , in purchasing any real property or personal
property that is not affixed to real property, if the County receives one or more Bids from a Bidder whose
principal place of business is in Williamson County and whose Bid is within three (3 )  percent of the
lowest Bid price received by the County from a Bidder who is not a resident of Williamson County, the 
County may enter into a contract with:

A. The lowest Bidder; or the Bidder whose principal place of business is in Williamson County if the
Commissioners Court determines, in writing, that the local Bidder offers the County the best 
combination of contract price and addit ional economic development opportunities
Williamson County created by the contract award, including the employment of residents
Williamson County and increased tax revenues to Williamson County.

It is understood that the Commissioners Court of Williamson County, Texas, reserves the right to accept
or reject any and/or all Bids for any or all goods and/or services covered in this IFB, and to waive
informalities or defects in the Bid or to accept such Bid, if it shall deem to be in the best interest of the 
County.

Awards should be made approximately sixty (60) business days after the Bid opening date. Results may
be obtained by viewing the Williamson County vendor portal at the following link:

http://www.wilco.org/CountyDepartments/Purchasing/SearchforaPastBid/tabid/5213/language/en-
US/Default.aspx

3.11 RESPONSIBILITY 

It is expected that a prospective Bidder will be able to affirmatively demonstrate responsibility.  A 
prospective Bidder should be able to meet the following requirements:

A. Have adequate financial resources, or the ability to obtain such resources as required;
B. Be able to comply with the required or proposed delivery schedule;
C. Have a satisfactory record of performance that can be determined thru references provided; and 
D. Be otherwise qualified and eligible to receive an award.

The County may request representation and other information sufficient to determine the Bidder's ability 
to meet these minimum standards listed above.

3.12 FIRM PRICING 

For unit price items, all of the items listed are to be on a “per unit” basis, stating a firm price per unit or 
unit quantity of each item.  The Bidder must submit a firm price that must be good from the date of Bid 
opening for the fixed period of time set out in this IFB.  Unless the IFB expressly states otherwise, this 
period shall be until the end of the Initial Contract Period.

Bids which do not state a fixed price, or which are subject to change without notice, will not be 
considered.  The Court may award a Contract for the period implied or expressly stated in the lowest and 
best Bid.

3.13 PURCHASE ORDERS

If required by the Williamson County Purchasing Department, a purchase order(s) may be generated to 
the Successful Bidder for goods and/or services.  If a purchase order is issued, the purchase order 
number must appear on all itemized invoices and/or requests for payment.

3.14 SILENCE OF SPECIFICATIONS

The apparent silence of these specifications as to any detail or to the apparent omission from it of a 
detailed description concerning any point, shall be regarded as meaning that only the best practices are 
to prevail.  All interpretations of these specifications shall be made on the basis of this statement.

3.15 REFERENCES

The County may require the Bidder to supply a list of at least three (3) references where like services
and/or goods have been supplied by their firm within the past five (5) years, to include names, titles, 
phone numbers and email addresses of key personnel, and dates of performance.

The County may contact some or all of the references in order to determine the Respondent
performance record on work similar to that described in this RFP.  The County reserves the right to 
contact references other than those provided in the response and to use the information gained from 
them in the evaluation process.

References, if requested, should be provided in accordance with this IFB.  Bid may not be deemed 
complete without the inclusion of requested references.

SECTION 4 - TERMS AND CONDITIONS

4.1 VENUE AND GOVERNING LAW

The Bidder hereby agrees and acknowledges that venue and jurisdiction of any suit, right, or cause of 
action arising out of or in connection with this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s), shall lie 
exclusively in either Williamson County, Texas or in the Austin Division of the Western Federal District of 
Texas, and the parties hereto expressly consent and submit to such jurisdiction.  Furthermore, except to 
the extent that this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) is governed by the laws of the United 
States, this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be governed by and construed in 
accordance with the laws of the State of Texas, excluding, however, its choice of law rules.

4.2 INCORPORATION BY REFERENCE AND PRECEDENCE

A. The Contract shall be derived from the IFB and its Addenda (if applicable), and the Bidder ’ s Bid.  In 
the event of a dispute under the Contract, applicable documents will be referred to for the purpose 
of clarification or for additional detail in the following order of precedence:

1. The IFB and its Addenda (if applicable); and

2. The Bidder ’s Bid.

B. In the event the County requires that an Ensuing Agreement be executed following award and a 
dispute arises between the terms and conditions of the Ensuing Agreement, the IFB and its 
Addenda (if applicable), and the Bidder ’s Bid, applicable documents will be referred to for the 
purpose of clarification or for additional detail in the following order of precedence: 

1. Terms and conditions of the Ensuing Agreement;

2. The IFB its Addenda; and 

3. The Bidder ’s Bid.

4.3 OWNERSHIP OF BID

Each Bid shall become the property of the County upon submittal and will not be returned to Bidders 
unless received after the submittal deadline.

4.4 DISQUALIFICATION OF BIDDER

Upon signing and submittal of the Bid, a Bidder offering to sell supplies, materials, services, or equipment 
to the County, certifies that the Bidder has not violated the antitrust laws of the State of Texas codified in 
Business & Commerce Code, Section 15.01, or the Federal Antitrust Laws, and has not communicated 
directly or indirectly the offer made to any competitor or any other person engaged in such line of 
business.  Any or all Bids may be rejected if the County believes that collusion exists among the Bidders.

4.5 FUNDING

The County intends to budget and make sufficient funds available and authorize funds for expenditure to 
finance the costs of the Contract.  All Bidders understand and agree that the County’s payment of 
amounts under the Contract shall be contingent on the County receiving appropriations or other 
expenditure authority sufficient to allow the County, in the exercise of reasonable administrative 
discretion, to make payments under this Contract.

4.6 ASSIGNMENT, SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS 

The Successful Bidder may not assign, sell, or otherwise transfer the Contract or any other rights or 
interests obtained under the Contract without written permission of the Commissioners Court.  The 
Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the contracting 
parties hereto and their respective successors and permitted assigns.

4.7 IMPLIED REQUIREMENTS

Products or services not specifically described or required in the IFB, but are necessary to provide the 
functional capabilities described by the Bidder, shall be implied and deemed to be included in the Bid.

4.8 TERMINATION

A. Termination for Cause: The County reserves the right to terminate the Contract and/or any 
Ensuing Agreement(s) for default if the Successful Bidder breaches any of the Bid specifications,
terms and conditions, including warranties of the Bidder, if any, or if the Successful Bidder 
becomes insolvent or commits acts of bankruptcy.  Such right of termination is in addition to and
not in lieu of any other remedies the County may have at law or in equity or as may otherwise
provided hereunder.  Default may be construed as, but not limited to, failure to deliver the proper 
goods and/or services within the proper amount of time, and/or to properly perform any and all 
other requirements to the County ’s satisfaction, and/or to meet all other obligations and
requirements.

B. Termination for Convenience: The County may terminate the Contract and/or any Ensuing 
Agreement(s) for convenience and without cause or further liability, upon no less than thirty (30) 
calendar days written notice to the Successful Bidder. The County reserves the right to extend 
this period if it is in the best interest of the County.  In the event the County exercises its right to 
terminate without cause, it is understood and agreed that only the amounts due to the Successful 
Bidder for goods, commodities and/or services provided and expenses incurred to and including 
the date of termination, will be due and payable.  No penalty will be assessed for the County
termination for convenience.

4.9 NON-PERFORMANCE

It is the objective of the County to obtain complete and satisfactory performance of the requirements set 
forth herein.  In addition to any other remedies available at law, in equity or that may be set out herein, 
failure to perform may result in a deduction of payment equal to the amount of the goods and/or services 
that were not provided and/or performed to the County ’s satisfaction.  

In the event of such non-performance, the County shall have the right, but shall not be obligated, to 
complete the services itself or by others and/or purchase the goods from other sources.  If the County 
elects to acquire the goods or perform the services itself or by others, pursuant to the foregoing, the 
Successful Bidder shall reimburse the County, within ten (10) calendar days of demand, for all costs 
incurred by the County (including, without limitation, applicable, general, and administrative expenses, 
and field overhead, and the cost of necessary equipment, materials, and field labor) in correcting the 
nonperformance which the Successful Bidder fails to meet pursuant to the requirements set out herein.  
In the event the Successful Bidder refuses to reimburse the County as set out in this provision, the 
County shall have the right to deduct such reimbursement amounts from any amounts that may be then 
owing or that may become owing in the future to the Successful Bidder.

4.10 PROPRIETARY INFORMATION AND THE TEXAS PUBLIC INFORMATION ACT

All material submitted to the County shall become public property and subject to the Texas Public 
Information Act upon receipt. If a Bidder does not desire proprietary information in the Bid to be 
disclosed, each page must be clearly identified and marked proprietary at time of submittal or, more 
preferably, all proprietary information may be placed in a folder or appendix and be clearly identified and 
marked as being proprietary.  Failure to clearly identify and mark information as being proprietary as set 
forth under this provision will result in all unmarked information being deemed non-proprietary and 
available to the public.  For all information that has not been clearly identified and marked as proprietary 
by the Bidder, the County may choose to place such information on the County ’s website and/or a similar 
public database without obtaining any type of prior consent from the Bidder.

The County will, to the extent allowed by law, endeavor to protect from public disclosure the information 
that has been identified and marked as proprietary.  The final decision as to what information must be 
disclosed, however, lies with the Texas Attorney General.  

To the extent, if any, that any provision in this IFB or in the Bidder ’s Bid is in conflict with Texas 
Government Code, Chapter 552, as amended (the “Public Information Act”), the same shall be of no 
force or effect.  Furthermore, it is expressly understood, and agreed, that the County, and its officers and 
employees, may request advice, decisions and opinions of the Attorney General of the State of Texas in 
regard to the application of the Public Information Act to any items or data furnished to the County as to 
whether or not the same are available to the public.  It is further understood that the County, and its 
officers and employees, shall have the right to rely on the advice, decisions and opinions of the Attorney 
General, and that the County, its officers and employees shall have no liability or obligation to any party 
hereto for the disclosure to the public, or to any person or persons, of any items or data furnished to the 
County by a party hereto, in reliance of any advice, decision or opinion of the Attorney General of the 
State of Texas.

4.11 RIGHT TO AUDIT

The Successful Bidder agrees that the County or its duly authorized representatives shall, until the 
expiration of three (3) years after termination or expiration of the services to be performed, have access 
to and the right to examine and photocopy any and all books, documents, papers and records of the 
Successful Bidder, which are directly pertinent to the services to be performed or goods to be delivered 
for the purposes of making audits, examinations, excerpts and transcriptions.  The Successful Bidder 
agrees that the County shall have access during normal working hours to all necessary facilities and 
shall be provided adequate and appropriate work space in order to conduct audits in compliance with the 
provisions of this section.  The County shall give the Successful Bidder reasonable advance notice of 
intended audits.

4.12 TESTING AND INSPECTIONS

The County reserves the right to inspect and test equipment, supplies, materials and goods for quality 
and compliance with this IFB, and ability to meet the needs of the user.  Demonstration units must be 
available for review.  Should the goods or services fail to meet requirements and/or be unavailable for 
evaluation, the County can deem the Bidder to be in breach and terminate the Contract and/or any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

4.13 BID PREPARATION COSTS

The cost of developing Bids is the sole responsibility of the Bidders and shall not be charged to the 
County.  There is no expressed or implied obligation for the County to reimburse the Bidders for any 
expense incurred in preparing a Bid in response to this IFB and the County will not reimburse the Bidders 
for such expenses.

4.14 INDEMNIFICATION

The Successful Bidder shall indemnify, defend and save harmless, the County, its officials, employees, 
agents and agent ’s employees from, and against, all claims, liability, and expenses including reasonable 
attorneys ’   fees, arising from activities of the Bidder, its agents, servants or employees, performed 
hereunder that result from the negligent act, error, or omission of the Bidder or any of the Bidder
agents, servants or employees, as well as all claims of loss or damage to the Bidder ’s and the County
property, equipment, and/or supplies. 

Furthermore, the County, its officials, employees, agents and agents ’ employees shall not be liable for 
damages to the Successful Bidder arising from any act of any third party, including, but not limited to, 
theft.  The Successful Bidder further agrees to indemnify, defend and save harmless, the County from its 
officials, employee, agents and agents ’ employees against all claims of whatever nature arising from any 
accident, injury, or damage whatsoever, caused to any person, or the property of any person, occurring 
in relation to the Successful Bidder ’s performance of any services requested hereunder during the term 
of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s). 

The Successful Bidder shall timely report all claims, demands, suits, actions, proceedings, liens or 
judgements to the County and shall, upon the receipt of any claim, demand, suit, action, proceeding, lien 

or judgement, not later than the fifteenth (15 th) day of each month; provide the County with a written 
report on each such matter, setting forth the status of each matter, the schedule or planned proceedings 
with respect to each matter and the cooperation or assistance, if any, of the County required by the 
Successful Bidder in the defense of each matter.  The Successful Bidder’s duty to defend, indemnify and 
hold the County harmless shall be absolute.  It shall not abate or end by reason of the expiration or 
termination of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s), unless otherwise agreed by the County in 
writing.  The provisions of this section shall survive the termination of the Contract and shall remain in full 
force and effect with respect to all such matters no matter when they arise. 

In the event of any dispute between the parties, as to whether a claim, demand, suit, action, proceeding, 
lien or judgement, that appears to have been caused by or appears to have arisen out of or in connection 
with acts or omissions of the County, the Bidder shall nevertheless fully defend such claim, demand, suit 
or action, proceeding, lien or judgement, until and unless there is a determination by a court of competent 
jurisdiction that the acts and omissions of the Bidder are not an issue in the matter. 

The Successful Bidder ’s indemnification shall cover, and the Successful Bidder agrees to, indemnify the 
County, in the event the County is found to have been negligent for having selected the Successful 
Bidder to perform the work described in this request.  The provision by the Successful Bidder of 
insurance shall not limit the liability of the Successful Bidder under the Contract and/or any Ensuing 
Agreement(s). 

4.15 WAIVER OF SUBROGATION

The Successful Bidder and the Successful Bidder ’s insurance carrier waive any and all rights 
whatsoever with regard to subrogation against the County as an indirect party to any suit arising out of 
personal or property damages resulting from the Bidder ’s performance under this Contract and any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

4.16 RELATIONSHIP OF THE PARTIES

The Successful Bidder shall be an independent contractor and shall assume all of the rights, obligations, 
liabilities, applicable to it as such independent contractor hereunder and any provisions herein which may 
appear to give the County the right to direct the Successful Bidder as to details of doing work herein 
covered, or to exercise a measure of control over the work, shall be deemed to mean that the Successful 
Bidder shall follow the desires of the County in the results of the work only.  The County shall not retain or 
have the right to control the Successful Bidder ’s means, methods or details pertaining to the Successful 
Bidder ’s performance of the work.  The County and the Successful Bidder hereby agree and declare that 
the Successful Bidder is an independent contractor and as such meets the qualifications of an 
“Independent Contractor” under Texas Workers Compensation Act, Texas Labor Code, Section 406.141, 
that the Successful Bidder is not an employee of  the County, and that the Successful Bidder and its 
employees, agents and subcontractors shall not be entitled to workers compensation coverage or any 
other type of insurance coverage held by the County.

4.17 SOLE PROVIDER

The Successful Bidder agrees and acknowledges that it shall not be considered a sole provider of the 
goods and/or services described herein and that the County may contract with other providers of such 
goods and/or services if the County deems, at its sole discretion, that multiple providers of the same 
goods and/or services will serve the best interest of the County.

4.18 FORCE MAJEURE

If the party obligated to perform is prevented from performance by an act of war, order of legal authority, 
act of God, or other unavoidable cause not attributable to the fault or negligence of said party, the other 
party shall grant such party relief from the performance.  The burden of proof for the need of such relief 
shall rest upon the party obligated to perform.  To obtain release based on force majeure, the party 
obligated to perform shall file a written request with the other party.

4.19 SEVERABILITY

If any provision of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be held invalid or 
unenforceable by any court of competent jurisdiction, such holding shall not invalidate or render 
unenforceable any other provision thereof, but rather the entire IFB, Contract or any Ensuing Agreement
(s) will be construed as if not containing the particular invalid or unenforceable provision or provisions, 
and the rights and obligation of the parties shall be construed and enforced in accordance therewith.  The 
parties acknowledge that if any provision of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) is 
determined to be invalid or unenforceable, it is the desire and intention of each that such provision be 
reformed and construed in such a manner that it will, to the maximum extent practicable, give effect to
the intent of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) and be deemed to be validated and
enforceable.

4.20 EQUAL OPPORTUNITY

Neither party shall discriminate against any employee or applicant for employment because of race, 
color, sex, religion or national origin.

4.21 NOTICE

Any notice to be given shall be in writing and may be distributed by personal delivery, or by registered or 
certified mail, return receipt requested, addressed to the proper party, at the following address:

The County:    Williamson County Purchasing Department 
            Attn: Purchasing Agent 
            901 South Austin Avenue 
            Georgetown, Texas 78626

The Bidder:     Address set out in Bidder’s Transmittal Letter.

Notices given in accordance with this provision shall be effective upon (1) receipt by the party to which 
notice is given, or (2) on the third (3rd) calendar day following mailing, whichever occurs first.

4.22 SALES AND USE TAX EXEMPTION

The County is a body, corporate and politic, under the laws of the State of Texas and claims exemption 
from sales and use taxes under Texas Tax Code, Section 151.309, as amended, and the services and/or 
goods subject hereof are being secured for use by the County.

4.23 COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS

The County and the Successful Bidder shall comply with all federal, state, and local laws, statutes,
ordinances, rules and regulations, and the orders and decrees of any courts or administrative bodies or 
tribunals in any matter affecting the performance of the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s),
including, without limitation, Workers ’ Compensation laws, salary and wage statutes and regulations, 
licensing laws and regulations.  When required, the Successful Bidder shall furnish the County with 
certification of compliance with said laws, statues, ordinances, rules, regulations, orders, and decrees 
above specified.

4.24 INCORPORATION OF EXHIBITS, APPENDICES AND ATTACHMENTS

All of the Exhibits, Appendices and Attachments referred to herein are incorporated by reference as if set 
forth verbatim herein.  Any conflicting terms in the Contract documents will be resolved at the sole 
discretion of the Commissioners Court.

4.25 NO WAIVER OF IMMUNITIES

Nothing herein shall be deemed to waive, modify or amend any legal defense available at law or in equity 
to the County, its past or present officers, employees, or agents, nor to create any legal rights or claim on 
behalf of any third party.  The County does not waive, modify, or alter to any extent whatsoever the 
availability of the defense of governmental immunity under the laws of the State of Texas and of the 
United States.

4.26 NO WAIVER

The failure or delay of any party to enforce at any time or any period of time any of the provisions of this 
IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall not constitute a present or future waiver of such 
provisions nor the right of either party to enforce each and every provision.  Furthermore, no term or 
provision hereof shall be deemed waived and no breach excused unless such waiver or consent shall be 
in writing and signed by the party claimed to have waived or consented.  Any consent by any party to, or 
waiver of, a breach by the other, whether expressed or implied, shall not constitute a consent to, waiver 
of or excuse for any other, different or subsequent breach.

4.27 CURRENT REVENUES

The obligations of the parties under the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) do not constitute a 
general obligation or indebtedness of the County for which the County is obligated to levy, pledge, or 
collect any of taxation.  It is understood and agreed that the County shall have the right to terminate the 
Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) at the end of any the County fiscal year if the governing body of 
the County does not appropriate sufficient funds as determined by the County ’s budget for the fiscal year 
in question.  The County may effect such termination by giving written notice of termination to the 
Successful Bidder at the end of its then-current fiscal year.

4.28 FOB DESTINATION

To the extent applicable to this IFB, all of the items listed are to be Free On Board to final destination 
(FOB Destination) with all transportation charges if applicable to be included in the Bid, unless otherwise 
specified in the Invitation for Bids.  The title and risk of loss of the goods shall not pass to the County until 
receipt and acceptance takes place at the FOB Destination point.

4.29 BINDING EFFECT

This Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties 
and their respective permitted assigns and successors.

4.30 ASSIGNMENT

The Successful Bidder ’s interest and duties hereunder may not be assigned or delegated to a third party 
without the express written consent of the County.

4.31 SAFETY

The Successful Bidder is responsible for initiating, maintaining, and supervising all safety precautions 
and programs in connection with any services to be provided hereunder. The safety program shall 
comply with all applicable requirements of the current federal Occupational Safety and Health Act and all 
other applicable federal, state and local laws and regulations.

4.32 GENERAL OBLIGATIONS AND RELIANCE

The Successful Bidder shall perform all services and/or provide all goods, as well as those reasonably
inferable and necessary for completion and provision of services and/or goods required hereunder. The
Successful Bidder shall keep the County informed of the progress and quality of the services.  The 
Successful Bidder agrees and acknowledges that the County is relying on the Successful Bidder's 
represented expertise and ability to provide the goods and/or services described herein.  The Successful
Bidder agrees to use its best efforts, skill, judgment, and abilities to perform its obligations in accordance
with the highest standards used in the profession and to further the interests of the County 
accordance with the County ’s requirements and procedures.    T h e   Successful Bidder ’s duties,
set forth herein, shall at no time be in any way diminished by reason of any approval by the County, nor
shall the Successful Bidder be released from any liability by reason of such approval by the County, it 
being understood that the County at all times is ultimately relying upon the Successful Bidder ’s skill and 
knowledge in performing the services and providing any goods required hereunder.

4.33 ESTIMATED QUANTITIES

To the extent applicable to this IFB, the estimated quantity of each item listed in this IFB is only
estimate; the actual quantity to be purchased may be more or less. The County is not obligated
purchase any minimum amount, and the County may purchase any reasonable amount greater than the
estimate for the same unit price. Any limit on quantities available must be stated expressly in the Bid.

4.34 CONTRACTUAL DEVELOPMENT

The contents of the IFB and the Successful Bidder ’s Bid will become an integral part of the Contract, but 
may be modified, at the County ’s sole discretion, by provisions of an Ensuing Agreement.  Therefore, the 
Bidder must agree to an inclusion of an Ensuing Agreement of the Bid specifications, terms and 
conditions of this IFB.  If an Ensuing Agreement is required under this IFB, information relative to the 
Agreement will be located in the Special Provisions Section of this IFB.

4.35 SURVIVABILITY 

All applicable agreements that were entered into between the Successful Bidder and the County, under 
the terms and conditions of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s), shall survive the expiration or 
termination thereof for ninety (90) days unless a new contract has been awarded.

The County may exercise, by written notice to the Successful Bidder no later than ten (10) calendar days 
of the Contract expiration, this clause for emergencies only. 

4.36 AIR QUALITY

In determining the overall best Bid, the County may, to the extent applicable, exercise the option granted 
to local governments under the Texas Local Government Code, Section 271.907.

This option allows the County to evaluate Bids and give preference to goods and/or services of a Bidder 
that demonstrates that the Bidder meets or exceeds any and all state or federal environmental 
standards, including voluntary standards, relating to air quality.  If the Bid being submitted will have an 
effect on air quality for the County (as it relates to any state, federal, or voluntary air quality standard), 
then the Bidder is encouraged to provide information in narrative indicating the anticipated air quality 
impact.  All Bidders are expected to meet all mandated state and federal air quality standards.

4.37 ENTIRE AGREEMENT

The Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall supersede all prior Agreements, written or oral 
between the Successful Bidder and the County and shall constitute the entire Agreement and 
understanding between the parties with respect to the services and/or goods to be provided.  Each of the 
provisions herein shall be binding upon the parties and may not be waived, modified, amended or altered, 
except by writing signed by the Successful Bidder and the County.

4.38 PAYMENT

The County ’s payment for goods and services shall be governed by the Texas Government Code, 

Chapter 2251.  An invoice shall be deemed overdue the thirty-first (31st) day after the later of the 
following: 

A. The date the County receives the goods under the Contract; 
B. The date the performance of the service under the Contract is completed; or 
C. The date the Williamson County Auditor receives an invoice for the goods or services.  

Interest charges for any overdue payments shall be paid by the County in accordance with Texas 
Government Code, Section 2251.025.  More specifically, the rate of interest that shall accrue on a late 
payment is the rate in effect on September 1 of the County ’s fiscal year in which the payment becomes 
due.  The said rate in effect on September 1 shall be equal to the sum of one (1) percent, and the prime 

rate published in the Wall Street Journal on the first (1st) day of July of the preceding fiscal year that does 
not fall on a Saturday or Sunday.

In the event that an error appears in an invoice submitted by the Successful Bidder, the County shall 
notify the Successful Bidder of the error not later than the twenty-first (21st) day after the date the County 
receives the invoice.  If the error is resolved in favor of the Successful Bidder, the Successful Bidder 
shall be entitled to receive interest on the unpaid balance of the invoice submitted by the Successful 
Bidder beginning on the date that the payment for the invoice became overdue.  If the error is resolved in 
favor of the County, the Successful Bidder shall submit a corrected invoice that must be paid in 
accordance within the time set forth above.  The unpaid balance accrues interest as provided by the 
Texas Government Code, Chapter 2251, if the corrected invoice is not paid by the appropriate date.

As a minimum, invoices shall include:

A. Name, address, and telephone number of the Successful Bidder and similar information in the 
event the payment is to be made to a different address. 

B. The County Contract, Purchase Order. 

C. Identification of items or service as outlined in the Contract. 

D. Quantity or quantities, applicable unit prices, total prices and total amount. 

E. Any additional payment information which may be called for by the Contract. 

Payment inquiries should be directed to the following address:        

            Williamson County Auditor’s Office, Accounts Payable Department
            Email: accountspayable@wilco.org
            Phone: 512-943-1500

4.39 CONTRACTUAL FORMATION AND ENSUING AGREEMENT

The IFB and the Bidder ’s Bid, when properly accepted by the Commissioners Court, shall constitute a
Contract equally binding between the Successful Bidder and the County.

If an Ensuing Agreement is required by this IFB, that information will be provided in Special 
Provisions section of this IFB.  The Successful Bidder shall be required to execute the Agreement at 
the Williamson County Purchasing Department approximately ten (10) calendar days after the 
Successful Bidder is notified of award.  The Ensuing Agreement shall be in the same form as the 
Agreement which is attached to the end of this IFB.  The only anticipated changes in the Ensuing 
Agreement will be to include additional exhibits, to fill in blanks to identify the Successful Bidder, and 
terms relating to the compensation, or to revise the Agreement to accommodate corrections, changes in 
the scope of services, or changes pursuant to Addenda issued.  Bidders should raise any questions 
regarding the terms of the Agreement in the form of written questions or submittals as 
described in the Public Announcement and General Information portion of this IFB.  Because the 
signed Ensuing Agreement will be substantively and substantially derived from the attached Agreement, 
each Bidder is urged to seek independent legal counsel as to any questions about the terms, conditions 
or provisions contained in the Agreement before submitting a Bid.  Again, the attached Agreement, if 
applicable, contains important legal provisions and is considered part and parcel of this IFB.  Failure or 
refusal to sign aforesaid Agreement shall be grounds for the County to revoke any award which has been 
issued, forfeit Bid security, if applicable, and select another Bidder.

4.40 COOPERATIVE PURCHASING PROGRAM 

During the term of the Contract resulting from this IFB, the County would like to afford the same prices, 
terms and conditions to other political subdivisions or public entities.  Another entity’s participation in the 
Contract resulting from this IFB is subject to a properly authorized Purchasing Cooperative Inter- local 
Agreement with the County.  Any liability created by purchase orders issued against the Contract shall be 
the sole responsibility of the governmental agency placing the order.

4.41 INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS

To the extent applicable Insurance information will appear in the Additional Stipulations section that is in 
this IFB Package. 

4.42 BIDDERS BOND, WARRANTY BOND, PERFORMANCE AND PAYMENT BONDS

To the extent applicable Bond information will appear in the Additional Stipulations section that is in this 
IFB Package. 

4.43 LEGAL LIABILITY INFORMATION

The Successful Bidder shall disclose all legal liability information by listing any pending litigation
anticipated litigation that your firm is involved in including, but not limited to, potential or actual legal
matters with private parties and any local, state, federal or international governmental entities. The
County reserves the right to consider legal liability information in the recommendation of any proposed 
contract to the Commissioners Court.

4.44 INCLEMENT WEATHER

In case of inclement weather or any other unforeseen event causing the County to close for business on 
the date of a Bid submission deadline, the Bid closing will automatically be postponed until the next 
business day the County is open.  If inclement weather conditions or any other unforeseen event causes 
delays in carrier service operations, the County may issue an Addendum to all known Bidders interested 
in the project to extend the deadline.  It will be the responsibility of the Bidder to notify the County of their 
interest in the project if these conditions are impacting their ability to turn in a submission within the 
stated deadline.  The County reserves the right to make the final judgement call to extend any deadline. 

4.45 PREVAILING WAGE RATES

To the extent this procurement is for the construction of a public work, including a building, highway, 
road, excavation, and repair work or other project development or improvement, paid for in whole or in 
part from public funds, without regard to whether the work is done under public supervision or direction, 
Texas Government Code, Chapter 2258, shall apply and the contractor shall pay not less than the wage 
scale of the various classes of labor as shown on the “Prevailing Wage Schedule” provided by the 
County. Pursuant to Texas Government Code, Section 2258.022(a)(2), the County has determined the 
general prevailing rate of the “Prevailing Wage Schedule”  in the locality in which the public work is to be 
performed for each craft or type of worker needed to execute the contract and the prevailing rate for legal 
holiday and overtime work by using the prevailing wage rate as determined by the United States 
Department of Labor in accordance with the United States Code, Section 276a (Davis-Bacon Act). 

The specified wage rates are minimum rates only, and are not representations that qualified labor 
adequate to perform the work is available locally at the prevailing wage rates. The County is not bound to 
pay—and will not consider—any claims for additional compensation made by any contractor because the 
contractor pays wages in excess of the applicable minimum rate contained in the Contract Documents. 
The “Prevailing Wage Schedule”  is not a representation that quantities of qualified labor adequate to 
perform the work may be found locally at the specified wage rates.

For classifications not shown, workers shall not be paid less than the wage indicated for laborers. The 
contractor shall notify each worker commencing work on the project the worker ’s job classification and 
the established minimum wage rate required to be paid, as well as the actual amount being paid. The 
notice must be delivered to and signed in acknowledgement of receipt by the employee and must list 
both the monetary wages and fringe benefits to be paid or furnished for each classification in which the 
worker is assigned duties. When requested by the County, competent evidence of compliance with the 
Texas Prevailing Wage Law shall be furnished by contractor. A copy of each worker wage rate 
notification shall be submitted to the County with the Application for Payment for the period during which 
the worker began on-site activities.

Should the contractor at any time become aware that a particular skill or trade not reflected on the 
County ’s “Prevailing Wage Schedule” will be or is being employed in the work, whether by the contractor 
or by a subcontractor, the contractor shall promptly inform the County and shall specify a wage rate for 
that skill or trade, which shall bind the contractor.

The contractor and any subcontractor shall pay to the County a penalty of sixty dollars ($60.00) for each 
worker employed for each calendar day, or portion thereof, that the worker is paid less than the wage 
rates stipulated in the “Prevailing Wage Schedule” or any supplement thereto. The contractor and each 
subcontractor shall keep, or cause to be kept, an accurate record showing the names and occupations 
of all workers employed in connection with the work, and showing the actual per diem wages paid to 
each worker, which records shall be open at all reasonable hours for the inspection by the County.

Within thirty-one (31) days of receipt of information concerning a violation of the Texas Government Code 
Chapter 2258, the County shall make an initial determination as to whether good cause exists to believe 
a violation occurred. The County ’s decision on the initial determination shall be reduced to writing and 
sent to the contractor or subcontractor against whom the violation was alleged, and to the affected 
worker. When a good cause finding is made, the County shall retain the full amounts claimed by the 
claimant or claimants as the difference between wages paid and wages due under the “Prevailing Wage 
Schedule” and any supplements thereto, together with the applicable penalties, such amounts being 
subtracted from successive progress payments pending a final decision on the violation.

After the County makes its initial determination, the affected contractor or subcontractor and worker have 
fourteen (14) calendar days in which to resolve the issue of whether a violation occurred, including the 
amount that should be retained by the County or paid to the affected worker. If the contractor or 
subcontractor and affected worker reach an agreement concerning the worker ’s claim, the contractor 
shall promptly notify the County in a written document signed by the worker. It the contractor or 

Subcontractor and affected worker do not agree before the fifteenth (15 th) calendar day after the County
determination, the contractor or subcontractor and affected worker must participate in binding arbitration 
in accordance with the Texas General Arbitration Act, Chapter 171, (Texas Civil Practice and Remedies 
Code). The parties to the arbitration have ten (10) calendar days after the expiration of the fifteen (15) 

calendar days referred to above, to agree on an arbitrator; if by the eleventh (11 th) calendar day there is 
no agreement to an arbitrator, a district court shall appoint an arbitrator on the petition of any of the 
parties to the arbitration.

If an arbitrator determines that a violation has occurred, the arbitrator shall assess and award against the 
contractor or subcontractor the amount of penalty as provided above and the amount owed the worker. 
The County may use any amounts retained hereunder to pay the worker the amount as designated in the 
arbitration award. If the County has not retained enough from the contractor or subcontractor to pay the 
worker in accordance with the arbitration award, the worker has a right of action against the contractor 
and subcontractor as appropriate, and the surety of either to receive the amount owed, attorneys ’  fees 
and court costs. The contractor shall promptly furnish a copy of the arbitration award to the County.

Money retained pursuant to the provisions above shall be used to pay the claimant or claimants the 
difference between the amount the worker received in wages for labor on the project at the rate paid by 
the contractor or subcontractor and the amount the worker would have received at the general prevailing 
wage rate as provided by the agreement of the claimant and the contractor or subcontractor affected, or 
in the arbitrator ’s award. The full statutory penalty of sixty dollars ($60.00) per calendar day of violation 
per worker shall be retained by Williamson County to offset its administrative costs, pursuant to Texas 
Government Code, Section, 2258.023. Any retained funds in excess of these amounts shall be paid to 
the contractor on the earlier of the next progress payment or final payment. Provided, however, that the 
County shall have no duty to release any funds to either the claimant or the contractor until it has 
received the notices of agreement or the arbitration award as provided under the provision herein-above.

4.46 CONFIDENTIALITY

The Bidder expressly agrees that it will not use any direct or incidental confidential information that may 
be obtained while working in a governmental setting for its own benefit, and agrees that it will not access 
unauthorized areas or confidential information and it will not disclose any information to unauthorized 
third parties, and will take care to guard the security of the information at all times.

Bid 1704-157Williamson County, Texas

4/7/2017 9:30 AM p. 11



5

6

3 4

Williamson County – Invitation for Bid (IFB)

SECTION 1 - DEFINITIONS 

Addendum/Addenda – means any written or graphic instruments issued by the County prior to the 
consideration of Bids which modify or interpret the Bid Documents by additions, deletions, clarifications, 
or corrections.

Agreement/Ensuing Agreement(s) – means the Successful Bidder may be required by the County to 
sign an additional Agreement containing terms necessary to ensure compliance with the IFB and the 
Bidder ’s Bid.  Such Ensuing Agreement(s) shall contain the Bid specifications, terms and conditions that 
are derived from the IFB.

Bid Documents – means the Legal Notice, IFB including attachments, and any Addenda issued by the 
County prior to the consideration of any Bids.

Bid – means the completed and signed bid form, (sometimes referred to as the Price Sheet), and ALL 
required forms and documentation listed in the IFB package which have been submitted in accordance 
with the terms and conditions described in the IFB package.  A Bid submitted in accordance with this IFB 
is irrevocable during the specified period for evaluation and acceptance of Bids unless a waiver is 
obtained from the Williamson County Purchasing Agent.

Bidder – means a person or entity who submits a Bid in response to this IFB.

Contract – means this IFB and the Bid of the Successful Bidder shall become a Contract between the 
Successful Bidder and the County once the Successful Bidder ’s Bid is properly accepted by the 
Williamson County Commissioners Court.

Commissioner ’s Court – means the Williamson County Commissioners Court. 

County – means Williamson County, a political subdivision of the State of Texas.

Invitation for Bid (IFB) – means this document, together with the attachments thereto and any future 
Addenda issued by the County.

Successful Bidder – means the liable Bidder to whom the County intends to award the Contract.

SECTION 2 - BID FORMAT AND SUBMISSION

2.1 ORGANIZATION OF BID CONTENTS FOR SUBMITTAL 

Each Bid should be organized and items submitted in the order described below: 

A. Transmittal Letter. Please see Section 2.3, Transmittal Letter, for more information. 

B. Price Sheet.

C. Conflict of Interest Questionnaire. Please see Section 2.2, Conflict of Interest, for more 
information in regards to this. Please note that even if you deem there to be no Conflict of Interest, 
this signed questionnaire must be included in your package. 

D. References. Please see Section 3.15, References, for more information. 

E. Bid Affidavit.

F. Form 1295. Please see Section 2.4, Certificate of Interested Parties – Form 1295. 

2.2 CONFLICT OF INTEREST

No public official shall have interest in a Contract, in accordance with Vernon ’s Texas Codes Annotated, 
Local Government Code, Title 5, Subtitle C, Chapter 171, as amended. 

As of January 1, 2006, all Bidders are responsible for complying with Local Government Code, Title 5, 
Subtitle C, Chapter 176.  Additional information may be obtained from the County’s website at the 
following link: 

http://www.wilco.org/CountyDepartments/Purchasing/ConflictofInterestDisclosure/tabid/689/language/en
US/Default.aspx

Each Bidder must disclose any existing or potential conflict of interest relative to the performance of the 
requirements of this IFB.  Examples of potential conflicts of interest may include an existing 
business or personal relationship between the Bidder, its principal, or any affiliate or 
subcontractor with the County or any other entity or person involved in any way with the project 
that is subject to this IFB .  Similarly, any personal or business relationship between the Bidder, the 

principals, or any affiliate or subcontractor with any employee, or official of the County or its suppliers 
must be disclosed.  Any such relationship that might be perceived or represented as a conflict must be 
disclosed. Failure to disclose any such relationship or reveal personal relationships with the County 
employees or officials may be cause for termination. 

The County will decide if an actual or perceived conflict should result in Bid disqualification. 

By submitting a Bid in response to this IFB, all Bidders affirm they have not given, nor intend to give, at 
any time hereafter, any economic opportunity, future employment, gift, loan, gratuity, special discount, 
trip, favor, or service to a the County public servant or any employee, official or representative of same, in 
connection with this procurement. 

Each Bidder must provide a Conflict of Interest Statement with their Bid Package.  Package may 

be deemed incomplete without this form.  

2.3 TRANSMITTAL LETTER

The Bidder should submit a Transmittal Letter that provides the following information: 

A. Name and address of individual or business entity submitting the Bid. 

B. Name, physical address, email address, business and fax number of the Bidder ’s principal 
contact person regarding all contractual matters relating to this IFB.

C. The Bid ’s Federal Employer Identification Number.

D. If the Proposal being submitted will have an effect on air quality for the County (as it relates to any 
state, federal, or voluntary air quality standard), then the Respondent is encouraged to provide
information in narrative indicating the anticipated air quality impact. See Section 4.36, Air Quality 
for more information. 

2.4 CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PARTIES – FORM 1295

As of January 1, 2016, all Successful Bidders are responsible for complying with the Texas Government 
Code, Section 2252.908.  The law states that the County may not enter into certain contracts with a 
Bidder unless the Bidder submits a disclosure of interested parties to the County at the time the Bidder 
submits the signed Contract.  The law applies only to a Contract of the County on or after January 1, 
2016 that either:

A. Requires an action or vote by the Commissioners Court before the Contract may be signed (all 
contracts that fall under the jurisdiction of the Commissioners Court approval, such as contracts 
resulting from an Initiation for Bid (IFB), RFP, Request for Qualifications (RFQ), etc., excluding, 
but not limited to, certain Juvenile Service contracts, contracts funded with Sheriff ’s seized fun 
monies, etc.); or

B. Has a value of at least $1,000,000. 

By January 1, 2016, the Texas Ethics Commission will make available on its website, a new filing 
application that must be used to file Form 1295.  Information regarding how to use the filing application is 
available on the Texas Ethics Commission website at the following link:

https://www.ethics.state.tx.us/whatsnew/elf_info_form1295.htm

A Respondent must:

A. Use the online application to process the required information on Form 1295.

B. Print a copy of the form which will contain a unique certification number.

C. An authorized agent of the Bidder must sign the printed copy of the form.

D. Have the form notarized.

E. File the completed Form 1295 and certification of filing (scanning and emailing form is sufficient) 
with Williamson County Purchasing Agent at the time the signed Contract is submitted for 
approval.

After the Commissioners Court award of the Contract, the County shall notify the Texas Ethics 
Commission, using the Texas Ethics Commission ’s filing application, of the receipt of the filed Form 
1295 and certification of filing not later than the 30th day after the date the Contract binds all parties to the 
Contract. The Texas Ethics Commission will post the completed Form 1295 to its website within seven 
business days after receiving notice from the County.

2.5 ETHICS

The Bidder shall not accept or offer gifts or anything of value nor enter into any business arrangement 
with any employee, official or agent of the County.

2.6 BID SUBMITTAL DEADLINE

The Bid is due no later than the submittal date and time set forth in the Public Announcement and 
General Information listed in this IFB package.  Contents of each Bid shall be submitted in accordance 
with this IFB.

2.7 DELIVERY OF BIDS

The County uses BidSync to distribute and receive Bids and proposals.  It is preferred that Bids
submitted electronically through BidSync; however, Bidders can submit a hard copy.  

Refer to www.bidsync.com for further information on how to submit electronically.

If mailed or delivered in person, Bids and Bid Addenda are to be delivered in sealed envelope on or before
the submittal deadline, as noted in the Public Announcement and General Information listed in this IFB 
package, to:

            Williamson County Purchasing Department
            Attn: Bid Name and Number
            901 South Austin Avenue
            Georgetown, Texas 78626

Also, all Bidders should list their Name and Address, and the Date of the Bid opening on the outside
the box or envelope and note “Sealed Bid Enclosed.” The County will not accept any Bids received after 
the submittal deadline, and shall return such Bids unopened to the Bidder.  The County will not accept 
any responsibility for Bids being delivered by third party carriers.  

Bids will be opened publically and the names of Bidders and pricing will be read aloud.

SECTION 3 - INSTRUCTIONS AND GENERAL REQUIREMENTS

3.1 INSTRUCTIONS

Read this document carefully, and follow all instructions and requirements.  All Bidders are responsible 
for fulfilling all requirements and specifications.  Be sure to have a clear understanding of this IFB.

General requirements apply to all advertised IFBs; however, these may be superseded, in whole or in 
part, by the bid specifications, Addenda and modifications issued as a part of this IFB.  Be sure your Bid 
package is complete.

3.2 AMBIGUITY, CONFLICT, OR OTHER ERRORS IN THIS IFB

If a Bidder discovers any ambiguity, conflict, discrepancy, omission or other error in this IFB, the Bidder 
shall immediately notify the County Purchasing Department of such error in writing and request
modification or clarification of the document.

Modifications will be made by issuing Addenda. If the Bidder fails to notify the County prior to the date
and time fixed for submission of Bids of an error or ambiguity in the IFB known to the Bidder, or an error
or ambiguity that reasonably should have been known to the Bidder, then the Bidder shall be deemed to 
have waived the error or ambiguity or its later resolution.

The County may also modify the IFB, no later than forty-eight (48) hours prior to the date and time fixed
for submission of Bids, by issuance of an Addendum.  All Addenda will be numbered consecutively, 
beginning with one (1).

3.3 NOTIFICATION OF MOST CURRENT ADDRESS

All Bidders in receipt of this IFB shall notify the Williamson County Purchasing Department of any
address changes, contact person changes, and/or telephone number changes no later than forty-eight 
(48) hours prior to the date and time fixed for submission of Bids.

3.4 SIGNATURE OF BIDDER

A. If the Bidder is a Corporation or Limited Liability Company, the legal name of the Corporation
Limited Liability Company shall be provided together with the signature of the officer or officers 
authorized to sign on behalf of such entity.

B. If the Bidder is a General Partnership, the true name of the firm shall be provided with the
signature of each partner authorized to sign.

C. If the Bidder is a Limited Partnership, the name of the Limited Partner ’s General Partner shall
provided with the signature of the officer authorized to sign on behalf of the General Partner.

D. If the Bidder is a Sole Proprietor(s) (individual), each Sole Proprietor(s) shall sign.

E. If signature is by an agent, other than the Sole Proprietor(s) or an officer of a Corporation, Limited 
Liability Company, General Partner or a member of a General Partnership, a power of attorney
equivalent document must be submitted to the Williamson County Purchasing Department.

3.5 ASSUMED BUSINESS NAME

If the Bidder operates business under an Assumed Business Name, the Bidder must have on file with the
Williamson County Clerk a current Assumed Name Certificate and provide a file marked copy of same.

3.6 BID OBLIGATION 

The contents of the IFB, Bid, and any clarification thereof submitted by the Successful Bidder shall
become part of the contractual obligation and incorporated by reference into the Contract and any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

3.7 COMPLIANCE WITH IFB SPECIFICATIONS

It is intended that this IFB describe the requirements and the Bid format in sufficient detail to secure 
comparable Bids.  Failure to comply with all provisions of the IFB may, at the sole discretion of the 
County, result in disqualification.

3.8 WITHDRAWAL OF BID

The Bidder may withdraw its Bid by submitting a written request with the company letterhead and the 
signature of an authorized individual, as described in Section 3.4, Signature of Bidder, to the Williamson 
County Purchasing Department any time prior to the submission deadline.  

The Bidder may submit a new Bid prior to the deadline. Alterations of the Bid in any manner will not be 
considered if submitted after the deadline.  Withdrawal of a Bid after the deadline will be subject to written 
approval of the Williamson County Purchasing Agent.

3.9 EVALUATION AND AWARD

The County reserves the right to use all pertinent information (also learned from sources other than 
disclosed in the Bid process) that might affect the County ’s judgment as to the appropriateness of
award to the lowest and best evaluated Bid. This information may be appended to the Bid evaluation
process results. Information on a Bidder from reliable sources, and not within the Bidder ’s Bid, may also 
be noted and made part of the evaluation fi le.  The County shall have sole discretion for determining 
the reliability of the source.

To ensure the proper and fair evaluation of a solicitation, the County prohibits unsolicited communication 
initiated by the Bidder to the County Official or Employee evaluating or considering the Bids prior to the 
time an award has been made. Unsolicited communication may be ground for disqualifying the 
offending Bidder from consideration or award of the solicitation, or any future solicitation.

Communication between the Bidder and the County will be initiated by the appropriate County Official
Employee in order to obtain information or clarification needed to develop a proper and accurate 
evaluation of the solicitation.

The County intends to award a Contract to the most responsible and responsive Bidder whose Bid will 
be most advantageous to the County. In accordance with Texas Government Code and Local
Government Code, the County may consider, to the extent allowed by law, the following:

A. Price;
B. The Bidder ’s experience and reputation;
C. Quality of the Bidder ’s goods and/or services; 
D. The Bidder ’s safety record;
E. The Bidder ’s proposed personnel; 
F. The Bidder ’s financial capabilities; and 
G. Any other relevant factors specifically listed in this IFB or authorized by law.

3.10 CONDISERATION OF LOCATION OF PRINCIPAL OFFICE 

Pursuant to Texas Local Government Code, Section 271.905 , in purchasing any real property or personal
property that is not affixed to real property, if the County receives one or more Bids from a Bidder whose
principal place of business is in Williamson County and whose Bid is within three (3 )  percent of the
lowest Bid price received by the County from a Bidder who is not a resident of Williamson County, the 
County may enter into a contract with:

A. The lowest Bidder; or the Bidder whose principal place of business is in Williamson County if the
Commissioners Court determines, in writing, that the local Bidder offers the County the best 
combination of contract price and addit ional economic development opportunities
Williamson County created by the contract award, including the employment of residents
Williamson County and increased tax revenues to Williamson County.

It is understood that the Commissioners Court of Williamson County, Texas, reserves the right to accept
or reject any and/or all Bids for any or all goods and/or services covered in this IFB, and to waive
informalities or defects in the Bid or to accept such Bid, if it shall deem to be in the best interest of the 
County.

Awards should be made approximately sixty (60) business days after the Bid opening date. Results may
be obtained by viewing the Williamson County vendor portal at the following link:

http://www.wilco.org/CountyDepartments/Purchasing/SearchforaPastBid/tabid/5213/language/en-
US/Default.aspx

3.11 RESPONSIBILITY 

It is expected that a prospective Bidder will be able to affirmatively demonstrate responsibility.  A 
prospective Bidder should be able to meet the following requirements:

A. Have adequate financial resources, or the ability to obtain such resources as required;
B. Be able to comply with the required or proposed delivery schedule;
C. Have a satisfactory record of performance that can be determined thru references provided; and 
D. Be otherwise qualified and eligible to receive an award.

The County may request representation and other information sufficient to determine the Bidder's ability 
to meet these minimum standards listed above.

3.12 FIRM PRICING 

For unit price items, all of the items listed are to be on a “per unit” basis, stating a firm price per unit or 
unit quantity of each item.  The Bidder must submit a firm price that must be good from the date of Bid 
opening for the fixed period of time set out in this IFB.  Unless the IFB expressly states otherwise, this 
period shall be until the end of the Initial Contract Period.

Bids which do not state a fixed price, or which are subject to change without notice, will not be 
considered.  The Court may award a Contract for the period implied or expressly stated in the lowest and 
best Bid.

3.13 PURCHASE ORDERS

If required by the Williamson County Purchasing Department, a purchase order(s) may be generated to 
the Successful Bidder for goods and/or services.  If a purchase order is issued, the purchase order 
number must appear on all itemized invoices and/or requests for payment.

3.14 SILENCE OF SPECIFICATIONS

The apparent silence of these specifications as to any detail or to the apparent omission from it of a 
detailed description concerning any point, shall be regarded as meaning that only the best practices are 
to prevail.  All interpretations of these specifications shall be made on the basis of this statement.

3.15 REFERENCES

The County may require the Bidder to supply a list of at least three (3) references where like services
and/or goods have been supplied by their firm within the past five (5) years, to include names, titles, 
phone numbers and email addresses of key personnel, and dates of performance.

The County may contact some or all of the references in order to determine the Respondent
performance record on work similar to that described in this RFP.  The County reserves the right to 
contact references other than those provided in the response and to use the information gained from 
them in the evaluation process.

References, if requested, should be provided in accordance with this IFB.  Bid may not be deemed 
complete without the inclusion of requested references.

SECTION 4 - TERMS AND CONDITIONS

4.1 VENUE AND GOVERNING LAW

The Bidder hereby agrees and acknowledges that venue and jurisdiction of any suit, right, or cause of 
action arising out of or in connection with this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s), shall lie 
exclusively in either Williamson County, Texas or in the Austin Division of the Western Federal District of 
Texas, and the parties hereto expressly consent and submit to such jurisdiction.  Furthermore, except to 
the extent that this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) is governed by the laws of the United 
States, this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be governed by and construed in 
accordance with the laws of the State of Texas, excluding, however, its choice of law rules.

4.2 INCORPORATION BY REFERENCE AND PRECEDENCE

A. The Contract shall be derived from the IFB and its Addenda (if applicable), and the Bidder ’ s Bid.  In 
the event of a dispute under the Contract, applicable documents will be referred to for the purpose 
of clarification or for additional detail in the following order of precedence:

1. The IFB and its Addenda (if applicable); and

2. The Bidder ’s Bid.

B. In the event the County requires that an Ensuing Agreement be executed following award and a 
dispute arises between the terms and conditions of the Ensuing Agreement, the IFB and its 
Addenda (if applicable), and the Bidder ’s Bid, applicable documents will be referred to for the 
purpose of clarification or for additional detail in the following order of precedence: 

1. Terms and conditions of the Ensuing Agreement;

2. The IFB its Addenda; and 

3. The Bidder ’s Bid.

4.3 OWNERSHIP OF BID

Each Bid shall become the property of the County upon submittal and will not be returned to Bidders 
unless received after the submittal deadline.

4.4 DISQUALIFICATION OF BIDDER

Upon signing and submittal of the Bid, a Bidder offering to sell supplies, materials, services, or equipment 
to the County, certifies that the Bidder has not violated the antitrust laws of the State of Texas codified in 
Business & Commerce Code, Section 15.01, or the Federal Antitrust Laws, and has not communicated 
directly or indirectly the offer made to any competitor or any other person engaged in such line of 
business.  Any or all Bids may be rejected if the County believes that collusion exists among the Bidders.

4.5 FUNDING

The County intends to budget and make sufficient funds available and authorize funds for expenditure to 
finance the costs of the Contract.  All Bidders understand and agree that the County’s payment of 
amounts under the Contract shall be contingent on the County receiving appropriations or other 
expenditure authority sufficient to allow the County, in the exercise of reasonable administrative 
discretion, to make payments under this Contract.

4.6 ASSIGNMENT, SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS 

The Successful Bidder may not assign, sell, or otherwise transfer the Contract or any other rights or 
interests obtained under the Contract without written permission of the Commissioners Court.  The 
Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the contracting 
parties hereto and their respective successors and permitted assigns.

4.7 IMPLIED REQUIREMENTS

Products or services not specifically described or required in the IFB, but are necessary to provide the 
functional capabilities described by the Bidder, shall be implied and deemed to be included in the Bid.

4.8 TERMINATION

A. Termination for Cause: The County reserves the right to terminate the Contract and/or any 
Ensuing Agreement(s) for default if the Successful Bidder breaches any of the Bid specifications,
terms and conditions, including warranties of the Bidder, if any, or if the Successful Bidder 
becomes insolvent or commits acts of bankruptcy.  Such right of termination is in addition to and
not in lieu of any other remedies the County may have at law or in equity or as may otherwise
provided hereunder.  Default may be construed as, but not limited to, failure to deliver the proper 
goods and/or services within the proper amount of time, and/or to properly perform any and all 
other requirements to the County ’s satisfaction, and/or to meet all other obligations and
requirements.

B. Termination for Convenience: The County may terminate the Contract and/or any Ensuing 
Agreement(s) for convenience and without cause or further liability, upon no less than thirty (30) 
calendar days written notice to the Successful Bidder. The County reserves the right to extend 
this period if it is in the best interest of the County.  In the event the County exercises its right to 
terminate without cause, it is understood and agreed that only the amounts due to the Successful 
Bidder for goods, commodities and/or services provided and expenses incurred to and including 
the date of termination, will be due and payable.  No penalty will be assessed for the County
termination for convenience.

4.9 NON-PERFORMANCE

It is the objective of the County to obtain complete and satisfactory performance of the requirements set 
forth herein.  In addition to any other remedies available at law, in equity or that may be set out herein, 
failure to perform may result in a deduction of payment equal to the amount of the goods and/or services 
that were not provided and/or performed to the County ’s satisfaction.  

In the event of such non-performance, the County shall have the right, but shall not be obligated, to 
complete the services itself or by others and/or purchase the goods from other sources.  If the County 
elects to acquire the goods or perform the services itself or by others, pursuant to the foregoing, the 
Successful Bidder shall reimburse the County, within ten (10) calendar days of demand, for all costs 
incurred by the County (including, without limitation, applicable, general, and administrative expenses, 
and field overhead, and the cost of necessary equipment, materials, and field labor) in correcting the 
nonperformance which the Successful Bidder fails to meet pursuant to the requirements set out herein.  
In the event the Successful Bidder refuses to reimburse the County as set out in this provision, the 
County shall have the right to deduct such reimbursement amounts from any amounts that may be then 
owing or that may become owing in the future to the Successful Bidder.

4.10 PROPRIETARY INFORMATION AND THE TEXAS PUBLIC INFORMATION ACT

All material submitted to the County shall become public property and subject to the Texas Public 
Information Act upon receipt. If a Bidder does not desire proprietary information in the Bid to be 
disclosed, each page must be clearly identified and marked proprietary at time of submittal or, more 
preferably, all proprietary information may be placed in a folder or appendix and be clearly identified and 
marked as being proprietary.  Failure to clearly identify and mark information as being proprietary as set 
forth under this provision will result in all unmarked information being deemed non-proprietary and 
available to the public.  For all information that has not been clearly identified and marked as proprietary 
by the Bidder, the County may choose to place such information on the County ’s website and/or a similar 
public database without obtaining any type of prior consent from the Bidder.

The County will, to the extent allowed by law, endeavor to protect from public disclosure the information 
that has been identified and marked as proprietary.  The final decision as to what information must be 
disclosed, however, lies with the Texas Attorney General.  

To the extent, if any, that any provision in this IFB or in the Bidder ’s Bid is in conflict with Texas 
Government Code, Chapter 552, as amended (the “Public Information Act”), the same shall be of no 
force or effect.  Furthermore, it is expressly understood, and agreed, that the County, and its officers and 
employees, may request advice, decisions and opinions of the Attorney General of the State of Texas in 
regard to the application of the Public Information Act to any items or data furnished to the County as to 
whether or not the same are available to the public.  It is further understood that the County, and its 
officers and employees, shall have the right to rely on the advice, decisions and opinions of the Attorney 
General, and that the County, its officers and employees shall have no liability or obligation to any party 
hereto for the disclosure to the public, or to any person or persons, of any items or data furnished to the 
County by a party hereto, in reliance of any advice, decision or opinion of the Attorney General of the 
State of Texas.

4.11 RIGHT TO AUDIT

The Successful Bidder agrees that the County or its duly authorized representatives shall, until the 
expiration of three (3) years after termination or expiration of the services to be performed, have access 
to and the right to examine and photocopy any and all books, documents, papers and records of the 
Successful Bidder, which are directly pertinent to the services to be performed or goods to be delivered 
for the purposes of making audits, examinations, excerpts and transcriptions.  The Successful Bidder 
agrees that the County shall have access during normal working hours to all necessary facilities and 
shall be provided adequate and appropriate work space in order to conduct audits in compliance with the 
provisions of this section.  The County shall give the Successful Bidder reasonable advance notice of 
intended audits.

4.12 TESTING AND INSPECTIONS

The County reserves the right to inspect and test equipment, supplies, materials and goods for quality 
and compliance with this IFB, and ability to meet the needs of the user.  Demonstration units must be 
available for review.  Should the goods or services fail to meet requirements and/or be unavailable for 
evaluation, the County can deem the Bidder to be in breach and terminate the Contract and/or any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

4.13 BID PREPARATION COSTS

The cost of developing Bids is the sole responsibility of the Bidders and shall not be charged to the 
County.  There is no expressed or implied obligation for the County to reimburse the Bidders for any 
expense incurred in preparing a Bid in response to this IFB and the County will not reimburse the Bidders 
for such expenses.

4.14 INDEMNIFICATION

The Successful Bidder shall indemnify, defend and save harmless, the County, its officials, employees, 
agents and agent ’s employees from, and against, all claims, liability, and expenses including reasonable 
attorneys ’   fees, arising from activities of the Bidder, its agents, servants or employees, performed 
hereunder that result from the negligent act, error, or omission of the Bidder or any of the Bidder
agents, servants or employees, as well as all claims of loss or damage to the Bidder ’s and the County
property, equipment, and/or supplies. 

Furthermore, the County, its officials, employees, agents and agents ’ employees shall not be liable for 
damages to the Successful Bidder arising from any act of any third party, including, but not limited to, 
theft.  The Successful Bidder further agrees to indemnify, defend and save harmless, the County from its 
officials, employee, agents and agents ’ employees against all claims of whatever nature arising from any 
accident, injury, or damage whatsoever, caused to any person, or the property of any person, occurring 
in relation to the Successful Bidder ’s performance of any services requested hereunder during the term 
of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s). 

The Successful Bidder shall timely report all claims, demands, suits, actions, proceedings, liens or 
judgements to the County and shall, upon the receipt of any claim, demand, suit, action, proceeding, lien 

or judgement, not later than the fifteenth (15 th) day of each month; provide the County with a written 
report on each such matter, setting forth the status of each matter, the schedule or planned proceedings 
with respect to each matter and the cooperation or assistance, if any, of the County required by the 
Successful Bidder in the defense of each matter.  The Successful Bidder’s duty to defend, indemnify and 
hold the County harmless shall be absolute.  It shall not abate or end by reason of the expiration or 
termination of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s), unless otherwise agreed by the County in 
writing.  The provisions of this section shall survive the termination of the Contract and shall remain in full 
force and effect with respect to all such matters no matter when they arise. 

In the event of any dispute between the parties, as to whether a claim, demand, suit, action, proceeding, 
lien or judgement, that appears to have been caused by or appears to have arisen out of or in connection 
with acts or omissions of the County, the Bidder shall nevertheless fully defend such claim, demand, suit 
or action, proceeding, lien or judgement, until and unless there is a determination by a court of competent 
jurisdiction that the acts and omissions of the Bidder are not an issue in the matter. 

The Successful Bidder ’s indemnification shall cover, and the Successful Bidder agrees to, indemnify the 
County, in the event the County is found to have been negligent for having selected the Successful 
Bidder to perform the work described in this request.  The provision by the Successful Bidder of 
insurance shall not limit the liability of the Successful Bidder under the Contract and/or any Ensuing 
Agreement(s). 

4.15 WAIVER OF SUBROGATION

The Successful Bidder and the Successful Bidder ’s insurance carrier waive any and all rights 
whatsoever with regard to subrogation against the County as an indirect party to any suit arising out of 
personal or property damages resulting from the Bidder ’s performance under this Contract and any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

4.16 RELATIONSHIP OF THE PARTIES

The Successful Bidder shall be an independent contractor and shall assume all of the rights, obligations, 
liabilities, applicable to it as such independent contractor hereunder and any provisions herein which may 
appear to give the County the right to direct the Successful Bidder as to details of doing work herein 
covered, or to exercise a measure of control over the work, shall be deemed to mean that the Successful 
Bidder shall follow the desires of the County in the results of the work only.  The County shall not retain or 
have the right to control the Successful Bidder ’s means, methods or details pertaining to the Successful 
Bidder ’s performance of the work.  The County and the Successful Bidder hereby agree and declare that 
the Successful Bidder is an independent contractor and as such meets the qualifications of an 
“Independent Contractor” under Texas Workers Compensation Act, Texas Labor Code, Section 406.141, 
that the Successful Bidder is not an employee of  the County, and that the Successful Bidder and its 
employees, agents and subcontractors shall not be entitled to workers compensation coverage or any 
other type of insurance coverage held by the County.

4.17 SOLE PROVIDER

The Successful Bidder agrees and acknowledges that it shall not be considered a sole provider of the 
goods and/or services described herein and that the County may contract with other providers of such 
goods and/or services if the County deems, at its sole discretion, that multiple providers of the same 
goods and/or services will serve the best interest of the County.

4.18 FORCE MAJEURE

If the party obligated to perform is prevented from performance by an act of war, order of legal authority, 
act of God, or other unavoidable cause not attributable to the fault or negligence of said party, the other 
party shall grant such party relief from the performance.  The burden of proof for the need of such relief 
shall rest upon the party obligated to perform.  To obtain release based on force majeure, the party 
obligated to perform shall file a written request with the other party.

4.19 SEVERABILITY

If any provision of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be held invalid or 
unenforceable by any court of competent jurisdiction, such holding shall not invalidate or render 
unenforceable any other provision thereof, but rather the entire IFB, Contract or any Ensuing Agreement
(s) will be construed as if not containing the particular invalid or unenforceable provision or provisions, 
and the rights and obligation of the parties shall be construed and enforced in accordance therewith.  The 
parties acknowledge that if any provision of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) is 
determined to be invalid or unenforceable, it is the desire and intention of each that such provision be 
reformed and construed in such a manner that it will, to the maximum extent practicable, give effect to
the intent of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) and be deemed to be validated and
enforceable.

4.20 EQUAL OPPORTUNITY

Neither party shall discriminate against any employee or applicant for employment because of race, 
color, sex, religion or national origin.

4.21 NOTICE

Any notice to be given shall be in writing and may be distributed by personal delivery, or by registered or 
certified mail, return receipt requested, addressed to the proper party, at the following address:

The County:    Williamson County Purchasing Department 
            Attn: Purchasing Agent 
            901 South Austin Avenue 
            Georgetown, Texas 78626

The Bidder:     Address set out in Bidder’s Transmittal Letter.

Notices given in accordance with this provision shall be effective upon (1) receipt by the party to which 
notice is given, or (2) on the third (3rd) calendar day following mailing, whichever occurs first.

4.22 SALES AND USE TAX EXEMPTION

The County is a body, corporate and politic, under the laws of the State of Texas and claims exemption 
from sales and use taxes under Texas Tax Code, Section 151.309, as amended, and the services and/or 
goods subject hereof are being secured for use by the County.

4.23 COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS

The County and the Successful Bidder shall comply with all federal, state, and local laws, statutes,
ordinances, rules and regulations, and the orders and decrees of any courts or administrative bodies or 
tribunals in any matter affecting the performance of the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s),
including, without limitation, Workers ’ Compensation laws, salary and wage statutes and regulations, 
licensing laws and regulations.  When required, the Successful Bidder shall furnish the County with 
certification of compliance with said laws, statues, ordinances, rules, regulations, orders, and decrees 
above specified.

4.24 INCORPORATION OF EXHIBITS, APPENDICES AND ATTACHMENTS

All of the Exhibits, Appendices and Attachments referred to herein are incorporated by reference as if set 
forth verbatim herein.  Any conflicting terms in the Contract documents will be resolved at the sole 
discretion of the Commissioners Court.

4.25 NO WAIVER OF IMMUNITIES

Nothing herein shall be deemed to waive, modify or amend any legal defense available at law or in equity 
to the County, its past or present officers, employees, or agents, nor to create any legal rights or claim on 
behalf of any third party.  The County does not waive, modify, or alter to any extent whatsoever the 
availability of the defense of governmental immunity under the laws of the State of Texas and of the 
United States.

4.26 NO WAIVER

The failure or delay of any party to enforce at any time or any period of time any of the provisions of this 
IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall not constitute a present or future waiver of such 
provisions nor the right of either party to enforce each and every provision.  Furthermore, no term or 
provision hereof shall be deemed waived and no breach excused unless such waiver or consent shall be 
in writing and signed by the party claimed to have waived or consented.  Any consent by any party to, or 
waiver of, a breach by the other, whether expressed or implied, shall not constitute a consent to, waiver 
of or excuse for any other, different or subsequent breach.

4.27 CURRENT REVENUES

The obligations of the parties under the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) do not constitute a 
general obligation or indebtedness of the County for which the County is obligated to levy, pledge, or 
collect any of taxation.  It is understood and agreed that the County shall have the right to terminate the 
Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) at the end of any the County fiscal year if the governing body of 
the County does not appropriate sufficient funds as determined by the County ’s budget for the fiscal year 
in question.  The County may effect such termination by giving written notice of termination to the 
Successful Bidder at the end of its then-current fiscal year.

4.28 FOB DESTINATION

To the extent applicable to this IFB, all of the items listed are to be Free On Board to final destination 
(FOB Destination) with all transportation charges if applicable to be included in the Bid, unless otherwise 
specified in the Invitation for Bids.  The title and risk of loss of the goods shall not pass to the County until 
receipt and acceptance takes place at the FOB Destination point.

4.29 BINDING EFFECT

This Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties 
and their respective permitted assigns and successors.

4.30 ASSIGNMENT

The Successful Bidder ’s interest and duties hereunder may not be assigned or delegated to a third party 
without the express written consent of the County.

4.31 SAFETY

The Successful Bidder is responsible for initiating, maintaining, and supervising all safety precautions 
and programs in connection with any services to be provided hereunder. The safety program shall 
comply with all applicable requirements of the current federal Occupational Safety and Health Act and all 
other applicable federal, state and local laws and regulations.

4.32 GENERAL OBLIGATIONS AND RELIANCE

The Successful Bidder shall perform all services and/or provide all goods, as well as those reasonably
inferable and necessary for completion and provision of services and/or goods required hereunder. The
Successful Bidder shall keep the County informed of the progress and quality of the services.  The 
Successful Bidder agrees and acknowledges that the County is relying on the Successful Bidder's 
represented expertise and ability to provide the goods and/or services described herein.  The Successful
Bidder agrees to use its best efforts, skill, judgment, and abilities to perform its obligations in accordance
with the highest standards used in the profession and to further the interests of the County 
accordance with the County ’s requirements and procedures.    T h e   Successful Bidder ’s duties,
set forth herein, shall at no time be in any way diminished by reason of any approval by the County, nor
shall the Successful Bidder be released from any liability by reason of such approval by the County, it 
being understood that the County at all times is ultimately relying upon the Successful Bidder ’s skill and 
knowledge in performing the services and providing any goods required hereunder.

4.33 ESTIMATED QUANTITIES

To the extent applicable to this IFB, the estimated quantity of each item listed in this IFB is only
estimate; the actual quantity to be purchased may be more or less. The County is not obligated
purchase any minimum amount, and the County may purchase any reasonable amount greater than the
estimate for the same unit price. Any limit on quantities available must be stated expressly in the Bid.

4.34 CONTRACTUAL DEVELOPMENT

The contents of the IFB and the Successful Bidder ’s Bid will become an integral part of the Contract, but 
may be modified, at the County ’s sole discretion, by provisions of an Ensuing Agreement.  Therefore, the 
Bidder must agree to an inclusion of an Ensuing Agreement of the Bid specifications, terms and 
conditions of this IFB.  If an Ensuing Agreement is required under this IFB, information relative to the 
Agreement will be located in the Special Provisions Section of this IFB.

4.35 SURVIVABILITY 

All applicable agreements that were entered into between the Successful Bidder and the County, under 
the terms and conditions of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s), shall survive the expiration or 
termination thereof for ninety (90) days unless a new contract has been awarded.

The County may exercise, by written notice to the Successful Bidder no later than ten (10) calendar days 
of the Contract expiration, this clause for emergencies only. 

4.36 AIR QUALITY

In determining the overall best Bid, the County may, to the extent applicable, exercise the option granted 
to local governments under the Texas Local Government Code, Section 271.907.

This option allows the County to evaluate Bids and give preference to goods and/or services of a Bidder 
that demonstrates that the Bidder meets or exceeds any and all state or federal environmental 
standards, including voluntary standards, relating to air quality.  If the Bid being submitted will have an 
effect on air quality for the County (as it relates to any state, federal, or voluntary air quality standard), 
then the Bidder is encouraged to provide information in narrative indicating the anticipated air quality 
impact.  All Bidders are expected to meet all mandated state and federal air quality standards.

4.37 ENTIRE AGREEMENT

The Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall supersede all prior Agreements, written or oral 
between the Successful Bidder and the County and shall constitute the entire Agreement and 
understanding between the parties with respect to the services and/or goods to be provided.  Each of the 
provisions herein shall be binding upon the parties and may not be waived, modified, amended or altered, 
except by writing signed by the Successful Bidder and the County.

4.38 PAYMENT

The County ’s payment for goods and services shall be governed by the Texas Government Code, 

Chapter 2251.  An invoice shall be deemed overdue the thirty-first (31st) day after the later of the 
following: 

A. The date the County receives the goods under the Contract; 
B. The date the performance of the service under the Contract is completed; or 
C. The date the Williamson County Auditor receives an invoice for the goods or services.  

Interest charges for any overdue payments shall be paid by the County in accordance with Texas 
Government Code, Section 2251.025.  More specifically, the rate of interest that shall accrue on a late 
payment is the rate in effect on September 1 of the County ’s fiscal year in which the payment becomes 
due.  The said rate in effect on September 1 shall be equal to the sum of one (1) percent, and the prime 

rate published in the Wall Street Journal on the first (1st) day of July of the preceding fiscal year that does 
not fall on a Saturday or Sunday.

In the event that an error appears in an invoice submitted by the Successful Bidder, the County shall 
notify the Successful Bidder of the error not later than the twenty-first (21st) day after the date the County 
receives the invoice.  If the error is resolved in favor of the Successful Bidder, the Successful Bidder 
shall be entitled to receive interest on the unpaid balance of the invoice submitted by the Successful 
Bidder beginning on the date that the payment for the invoice became overdue.  If the error is resolved in 
favor of the County, the Successful Bidder shall submit a corrected invoice that must be paid in 
accordance within the time set forth above.  The unpaid balance accrues interest as provided by the 
Texas Government Code, Chapter 2251, if the corrected invoice is not paid by the appropriate date.

As a minimum, invoices shall include:

A. Name, address, and telephone number of the Successful Bidder and similar information in the 
event the payment is to be made to a different address. 

B. The County Contract, Purchase Order. 

C. Identification of items or service as outlined in the Contract. 

D. Quantity or quantities, applicable unit prices, total prices and total amount. 

E. Any additional payment information which may be called for by the Contract. 

Payment inquiries should be directed to the following address:        

            Williamson County Auditor’s Office, Accounts Payable Department
            Email: accountspayable@wilco.org
            Phone: 512-943-1500

4.39 CONTRACTUAL FORMATION AND ENSUING AGREEMENT

The IFB and the Bidder ’s Bid, when properly accepted by the Commissioners Court, shall constitute a
Contract equally binding between the Successful Bidder and the County.

If an Ensuing Agreement is required by this IFB, that information will be provided in Special 
Provisions section of this IFB.  The Successful Bidder shall be required to execute the Agreement at 
the Williamson County Purchasing Department approximately ten (10) calendar days after the 
Successful Bidder is notified of award.  The Ensuing Agreement shall be in the same form as the 
Agreement which is attached to the end of this IFB.  The only anticipated changes in the Ensuing 
Agreement will be to include additional exhibits, to fill in blanks to identify the Successful Bidder, and 
terms relating to the compensation, or to revise the Agreement to accommodate corrections, changes in 
the scope of services, or changes pursuant to Addenda issued.  Bidders should raise any questions 
regarding the terms of the Agreement in the form of written questions or submittals as 
described in the Public Announcement and General Information portion of this IFB.  Because the 
signed Ensuing Agreement will be substantively and substantially derived from the attached Agreement, 
each Bidder is urged to seek independent legal counsel as to any questions about the terms, conditions 
or provisions contained in the Agreement before submitting a Bid.  Again, the attached Agreement, if 
applicable, contains important legal provisions and is considered part and parcel of this IFB.  Failure or 
refusal to sign aforesaid Agreement shall be grounds for the County to revoke any award which has been 
issued, forfeit Bid security, if applicable, and select another Bidder.

4.40 COOPERATIVE PURCHASING PROGRAM 

During the term of the Contract resulting from this IFB, the County would like to afford the same prices, 
terms and conditions to other political subdivisions or public entities.  Another entity’s participation in the 
Contract resulting from this IFB is subject to a properly authorized Purchasing Cooperative Inter- local 
Agreement with the County.  Any liability created by purchase orders issued against the Contract shall be 
the sole responsibility of the governmental agency placing the order.

4.41 INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS

To the extent applicable Insurance information will appear in the Additional Stipulations section that is in 
this IFB Package. 

4.42 BIDDERS BOND, WARRANTY BOND, PERFORMANCE AND PAYMENT BONDS

To the extent applicable Bond information will appear in the Additional Stipulations section that is in this 
IFB Package. 

4.43 LEGAL LIABILITY INFORMATION

The Successful Bidder shall disclose all legal liability information by listing any pending litigation
anticipated litigation that your firm is involved in including, but not limited to, potential or actual legal
matters with private parties and any local, state, federal or international governmental entities. The
County reserves the right to consider legal liability information in the recommendation of any proposed 
contract to the Commissioners Court.

4.44 INCLEMENT WEATHER

In case of inclement weather or any other unforeseen event causing the County to close for business on 
the date of a Bid submission deadline, the Bid closing will automatically be postponed until the next 
business day the County is open.  If inclement weather conditions or any other unforeseen event causes 
delays in carrier service operations, the County may issue an Addendum to all known Bidders interested 
in the project to extend the deadline.  It will be the responsibility of the Bidder to notify the County of their 
interest in the project if these conditions are impacting their ability to turn in a submission within the 
stated deadline.  The County reserves the right to make the final judgement call to extend any deadline. 

4.45 PREVAILING WAGE RATES

To the extent this procurement is for the construction of a public work, including a building, highway, 
road, excavation, and repair work or other project development or improvement, paid for in whole or in 
part from public funds, without regard to whether the work is done under public supervision or direction, 
Texas Government Code, Chapter 2258, shall apply and the contractor shall pay not less than the wage 
scale of the various classes of labor as shown on the “Prevailing Wage Schedule” provided by the 
County. Pursuant to Texas Government Code, Section 2258.022(a)(2), the County has determined the 
general prevailing rate of the “Prevailing Wage Schedule”  in the locality in which the public work is to be 
performed for each craft or type of worker needed to execute the contract and the prevailing rate for legal 
holiday and overtime work by using the prevailing wage rate as determined by the United States 
Department of Labor in accordance with the United States Code, Section 276a (Davis-Bacon Act). 

The specified wage rates are minimum rates only, and are not representations that qualified labor 
adequate to perform the work is available locally at the prevailing wage rates. The County is not bound to 
pay—and will not consider—any claims for additional compensation made by any contractor because the 
contractor pays wages in excess of the applicable minimum rate contained in the Contract Documents. 
The “Prevailing Wage Schedule”  is not a representation that quantities of qualified labor adequate to 
perform the work may be found locally at the specified wage rates.

For classifications not shown, workers shall not be paid less than the wage indicated for laborers. The 
contractor shall notify each worker commencing work on the project the worker ’s job classification and 
the established minimum wage rate required to be paid, as well as the actual amount being paid. The 
notice must be delivered to and signed in acknowledgement of receipt by the employee and must list 
both the monetary wages and fringe benefits to be paid or furnished for each classification in which the 
worker is assigned duties. When requested by the County, competent evidence of compliance with the 
Texas Prevailing Wage Law shall be furnished by contractor. A copy of each worker wage rate 
notification shall be submitted to the County with the Application for Payment for the period during which 
the worker began on-site activities.

Should the contractor at any time become aware that a particular skill or trade not reflected on the 
County ’s “Prevailing Wage Schedule” will be or is being employed in the work, whether by the contractor 
or by a subcontractor, the contractor shall promptly inform the County and shall specify a wage rate for 
that skill or trade, which shall bind the contractor.

The contractor and any subcontractor shall pay to the County a penalty of sixty dollars ($60.00) for each 
worker employed for each calendar day, or portion thereof, that the worker is paid less than the wage 
rates stipulated in the “Prevailing Wage Schedule” or any supplement thereto. The contractor and each 
subcontractor shall keep, or cause to be kept, an accurate record showing the names and occupations 
of all workers employed in connection with the work, and showing the actual per diem wages paid to 
each worker, which records shall be open at all reasonable hours for the inspection by the County.

Within thirty-one (31) days of receipt of information concerning a violation of the Texas Government Code 
Chapter 2258, the County shall make an initial determination as to whether good cause exists to believe 
a violation occurred. The County ’s decision on the initial determination shall be reduced to writing and 
sent to the contractor or subcontractor against whom the violation was alleged, and to the affected 
worker. When a good cause finding is made, the County shall retain the full amounts claimed by the 
claimant or claimants as the difference between wages paid and wages due under the “Prevailing Wage 
Schedule” and any supplements thereto, together with the applicable penalties, such amounts being 
subtracted from successive progress payments pending a final decision on the violation.

After the County makes its initial determination, the affected contractor or subcontractor and worker have 
fourteen (14) calendar days in which to resolve the issue of whether a violation occurred, including the 
amount that should be retained by the County or paid to the affected worker. If the contractor or 
subcontractor and affected worker reach an agreement concerning the worker ’s claim, the contractor 
shall promptly notify the County in a written document signed by the worker. It the contractor or 

Subcontractor and affected worker do not agree before the fifteenth (15 th) calendar day after the County
determination, the contractor or subcontractor and affected worker must participate in binding arbitration 
in accordance with the Texas General Arbitration Act, Chapter 171, (Texas Civil Practice and Remedies 
Code). The parties to the arbitration have ten (10) calendar days after the expiration of the fifteen (15) 

calendar days referred to above, to agree on an arbitrator; if by the eleventh (11 th) calendar day there is 
no agreement to an arbitrator, a district court shall appoint an arbitrator on the petition of any of the 
parties to the arbitration.

If an arbitrator determines that a violation has occurred, the arbitrator shall assess and award against the 
contractor or subcontractor the amount of penalty as provided above and the amount owed the worker. 
The County may use any amounts retained hereunder to pay the worker the amount as designated in the 
arbitration award. If the County has not retained enough from the contractor or subcontractor to pay the 
worker in accordance with the arbitration award, the worker has a right of action against the contractor 
and subcontractor as appropriate, and the surety of either to receive the amount owed, attorneys ’  fees 
and court costs. The contractor shall promptly furnish a copy of the arbitration award to the County.

Money retained pursuant to the provisions above shall be used to pay the claimant or claimants the 
difference between the amount the worker received in wages for labor on the project at the rate paid by 
the contractor or subcontractor and the amount the worker would have received at the general prevailing 
wage rate as provided by the agreement of the claimant and the contractor or subcontractor affected, or 
in the arbitrator ’s award. The full statutory penalty of sixty dollars ($60.00) per calendar day of violation 
per worker shall be retained by Williamson County to offset its administrative costs, pursuant to Texas 
Government Code, Section, 2258.023. Any retained funds in excess of these amounts shall be paid to 
the contractor on the earlier of the next progress payment or final payment. Provided, however, that the 
County shall have no duty to release any funds to either the claimant or the contractor until it has 
received the notices of agreement or the arbitration award as provided under the provision herein-above.

4.46 CONFIDENTIALITY

The Bidder expressly agrees that it will not use any direct or incidental confidential information that may 
be obtained while working in a governmental setting for its own benefit, and agrees that it will not access 
unauthorized areas or confidential information and it will not disclose any information to unauthorized 
third parties, and will take care to guard the security of the information at all times.

Bid 1704-157Williamson County, Texas

4/7/2017 9:30 AM p. 12



5

6

3 4

Williamson County – Invitation for Bid (IFB)

SECTION 1 - DEFINITIONS 

Addendum/Addenda – means any written or graphic instruments issued by the County prior to the 
consideration of Bids which modify or interpret the Bid Documents by additions, deletions, clarifications, 
or corrections.

Agreement/Ensuing Agreement(s) – means the Successful Bidder may be required by the County to 
sign an additional Agreement containing terms necessary to ensure compliance with the IFB and the 
Bidder ’s Bid.  Such Ensuing Agreement(s) shall contain the Bid specifications, terms and conditions that 
are derived from the IFB.

Bid Documents – means the Legal Notice, IFB including attachments, and any Addenda issued by the 
County prior to the consideration of any Bids.

Bid – means the completed and signed bid form, (sometimes referred to as the Price Sheet), and ALL 
required forms and documentation listed in the IFB package which have been submitted in accordance 
with the terms and conditions described in the IFB package.  A Bid submitted in accordance with this IFB 
is irrevocable during the specified period for evaluation and acceptance of Bids unless a waiver is 
obtained from the Williamson County Purchasing Agent.

Bidder – means a person or entity who submits a Bid in response to this IFB.

Contract – means this IFB and the Bid of the Successful Bidder shall become a Contract between the 
Successful Bidder and the County once the Successful Bidder ’s Bid is properly accepted by the 
Williamson County Commissioners Court.

Commissioner ’s Court – means the Williamson County Commissioners Court. 

County – means Williamson County, a political subdivision of the State of Texas.

Invitation for Bid (IFB) – means this document, together with the attachments thereto and any future 
Addenda issued by the County.

Successful Bidder – means the liable Bidder to whom the County intends to award the Contract.

SECTION 2 - BID FORMAT AND SUBMISSION

2.1 ORGANIZATION OF BID CONTENTS FOR SUBMITTAL 

Each Bid should be organized and items submitted in the order described below: 

A. Transmittal Letter. Please see Section 2.3, Transmittal Letter, for more information. 

B. Price Sheet.

C. Conflict of Interest Questionnaire. Please see Section 2.2, Conflict of Interest, for more 
information in regards to this. Please note that even if you deem there to be no Conflict of Interest, 
this signed questionnaire must be included in your package. 

D. References. Please see Section 3.15, References, for more information. 

E. Bid Affidavit.

F. Form 1295. Please see Section 2.4, Certificate of Interested Parties – Form 1295. 

2.2 CONFLICT OF INTEREST

No public official shall have interest in a Contract, in accordance with Vernon ’s Texas Codes Annotated, 
Local Government Code, Title 5, Subtitle C, Chapter 171, as amended. 

As of January 1, 2006, all Bidders are responsible for complying with Local Government Code, Title 5, 
Subtitle C, Chapter 176.  Additional information may be obtained from the County’s website at the 
following link: 

http://www.wilco.org/CountyDepartments/Purchasing/ConflictofInterestDisclosure/tabid/689/language/en
US/Default.aspx

Each Bidder must disclose any existing or potential conflict of interest relative to the performance of the 
requirements of this IFB.  Examples of potential conflicts of interest may include an existing 
business or personal relationship between the Bidder, its principal, or any affiliate or 
subcontractor with the County or any other entity or person involved in any way with the project 
that is subject to this IFB .  Similarly, any personal or business relationship between the Bidder, the 

principals, or any affiliate or subcontractor with any employee, or official of the County or its suppliers 
must be disclosed.  Any such relationship that might be perceived or represented as a conflict must be 
disclosed. Failure to disclose any such relationship or reveal personal relationships with the County 
employees or officials may be cause for termination. 

The County will decide if an actual or perceived conflict should result in Bid disqualification. 

By submitting a Bid in response to this IFB, all Bidders affirm they have not given, nor intend to give, at 
any time hereafter, any economic opportunity, future employment, gift, loan, gratuity, special discount, 
trip, favor, or service to a the County public servant or any employee, official or representative of same, in 
connection with this procurement. 

Each Bidder must provide a Conflict of Interest Statement with their Bid Package.  Package may 

be deemed incomplete without this form.  

2.3 TRANSMITTAL LETTER

The Bidder should submit a Transmittal Letter that provides the following information: 

A. Name and address of individual or business entity submitting the Bid. 

B. Name, physical address, email address, business and fax number of the Bidder ’s principal 
contact person regarding all contractual matters relating to this IFB.

C. The Bid ’s Federal Employer Identification Number.

D. If the Proposal being submitted will have an effect on air quality for the County (as it relates to any 
state, federal, or voluntary air quality standard), then the Respondent is encouraged to provide
information in narrative indicating the anticipated air quality impact. See Section 4.36, Air Quality 
for more information. 

2.4 CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PARTIES – FORM 1295

As of January 1, 2016, all Successful Bidders are responsible for complying with the Texas Government 
Code, Section 2252.908.  The law states that the County may not enter into certain contracts with a 
Bidder unless the Bidder submits a disclosure of interested parties to the County at the time the Bidder 
submits the signed Contract.  The law applies only to a Contract of the County on or after January 1, 
2016 that either:

A. Requires an action or vote by the Commissioners Court before the Contract may be signed (all 
contracts that fall under the jurisdiction of the Commissioners Court approval, such as contracts 
resulting from an Initiation for Bid (IFB), RFP, Request for Qualifications (RFQ), etc., excluding, 
but not limited to, certain Juvenile Service contracts, contracts funded with Sheriff ’s seized fun 
monies, etc.); or

B. Has a value of at least $1,000,000. 

By January 1, 2016, the Texas Ethics Commission will make available on its website, a new filing 
application that must be used to file Form 1295.  Information regarding how to use the filing application is 
available on the Texas Ethics Commission website at the following link:

https://www.ethics.state.tx.us/whatsnew/elf_info_form1295.htm

A Respondent must:

A. Use the online application to process the required information on Form 1295.

B. Print a copy of the form which will contain a unique certification number.

C. An authorized agent of the Bidder must sign the printed copy of the form.

D. Have the form notarized.

E. File the completed Form 1295 and certification of filing (scanning and emailing form is sufficient) 
with Williamson County Purchasing Agent at the time the signed Contract is submitted for 
approval.

After the Commissioners Court award of the Contract, the County shall notify the Texas Ethics 
Commission, using the Texas Ethics Commission ’s filing application, of the receipt of the filed Form 
1295 and certification of filing not later than the 30th day after the date the Contract binds all parties to the 
Contract. The Texas Ethics Commission will post the completed Form 1295 to its website within seven 
business days after receiving notice from the County.

2.5 ETHICS

The Bidder shall not accept or offer gifts or anything of value nor enter into any business arrangement 
with any employee, official or agent of the County.

2.6 BID SUBMITTAL DEADLINE

The Bid is due no later than the submittal date and time set forth in the Public Announcement and 
General Information listed in this IFB package.  Contents of each Bid shall be submitted in accordance 
with this IFB.

2.7 DELIVERY OF BIDS

The County uses BidSync to distribute and receive Bids and proposals.  It is preferred that Bids
submitted electronically through BidSync; however, Bidders can submit a hard copy.  

Refer to www.bidsync.com for further information on how to submit electronically.

If mailed or delivered in person, Bids and Bid Addenda are to be delivered in sealed envelope on or before
the submittal deadline, as noted in the Public Announcement and General Information listed in this IFB 
package, to:

            Williamson County Purchasing Department
            Attn: Bid Name and Number
            901 South Austin Avenue
            Georgetown, Texas 78626

Also, all Bidders should list their Name and Address, and the Date of the Bid opening on the outside
the box or envelope and note “Sealed Bid Enclosed.” The County will not accept any Bids received after 
the submittal deadline, and shall return such Bids unopened to the Bidder.  The County will not accept 
any responsibility for Bids being delivered by third party carriers.  

Bids will be opened publically and the names of Bidders and pricing will be read aloud.

SECTION 3 - INSTRUCTIONS AND GENERAL REQUIREMENTS

3.1 INSTRUCTIONS

Read this document carefully, and follow all instructions and requirements.  All Bidders are responsible 
for fulfilling all requirements and specifications.  Be sure to have a clear understanding of this IFB.

General requirements apply to all advertised IFBs; however, these may be superseded, in whole or in 
part, by the bid specifications, Addenda and modifications issued as a part of this IFB.  Be sure your Bid 
package is complete.

3.2 AMBIGUITY, CONFLICT, OR OTHER ERRORS IN THIS IFB

If a Bidder discovers any ambiguity, conflict, discrepancy, omission or other error in this IFB, the Bidder 
shall immediately notify the County Purchasing Department of such error in writing and request
modification or clarification of the document.

Modifications will be made by issuing Addenda. If the Bidder fails to notify the County prior to the date
and time fixed for submission of Bids of an error or ambiguity in the IFB known to the Bidder, or an error
or ambiguity that reasonably should have been known to the Bidder, then the Bidder shall be deemed to 
have waived the error or ambiguity or its later resolution.

The County may also modify the IFB, no later than forty-eight (48) hours prior to the date and time fixed
for submission of Bids, by issuance of an Addendum.  All Addenda will be numbered consecutively, 
beginning with one (1).

3.3 NOTIFICATION OF MOST CURRENT ADDRESS

All Bidders in receipt of this IFB shall notify the Williamson County Purchasing Department of any
address changes, contact person changes, and/or telephone number changes no later than forty-eight 
(48) hours prior to the date and time fixed for submission of Bids.

3.4 SIGNATURE OF BIDDER

A. If the Bidder is a Corporation or Limited Liability Company, the legal name of the Corporation
Limited Liability Company shall be provided together with the signature of the officer or officers 
authorized to sign on behalf of such entity.

B. If the Bidder is a General Partnership, the true name of the firm shall be provided with the
signature of each partner authorized to sign.

C. If the Bidder is a Limited Partnership, the name of the Limited Partner ’s General Partner shall
provided with the signature of the officer authorized to sign on behalf of the General Partner.

D. If the Bidder is a Sole Proprietor(s) (individual), each Sole Proprietor(s) shall sign.

E. If signature is by an agent, other than the Sole Proprietor(s) or an officer of a Corporation, Limited 
Liability Company, General Partner or a member of a General Partnership, a power of attorney
equivalent document must be submitted to the Williamson County Purchasing Department.

3.5 ASSUMED BUSINESS NAME

If the Bidder operates business under an Assumed Business Name, the Bidder must have on file with the
Williamson County Clerk a current Assumed Name Certificate and provide a file marked copy of same.

3.6 BID OBLIGATION 

The contents of the IFB, Bid, and any clarification thereof submitted by the Successful Bidder shall
become part of the contractual obligation and incorporated by reference into the Contract and any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

3.7 COMPLIANCE WITH IFB SPECIFICATIONS

It is intended that this IFB describe the requirements and the Bid format in sufficient detail to secure 
comparable Bids.  Failure to comply with all provisions of the IFB may, at the sole discretion of the 
County, result in disqualification.

3.8 WITHDRAWAL OF BID

The Bidder may withdraw its Bid by submitting a written request with the company letterhead and the 
signature of an authorized individual, as described in Section 3.4, Signature of Bidder, to the Williamson 
County Purchasing Department any time prior to the submission deadline.  

The Bidder may submit a new Bid prior to the deadline. Alterations of the Bid in any manner will not be 
considered if submitted after the deadline.  Withdrawal of a Bid after the deadline will be subject to written 
approval of the Williamson County Purchasing Agent.

3.9 EVALUATION AND AWARD

The County reserves the right to use all pertinent information (also learned from sources other than 
disclosed in the Bid process) that might affect the County ’s judgment as to the appropriateness of
award to the lowest and best evaluated Bid. This information may be appended to the Bid evaluation
process results. Information on a Bidder from reliable sources, and not within the Bidder ’s Bid, may also 
be noted and made part of the evaluation fi le.  The County shall have sole discretion for determining 
the reliability of the source.

To ensure the proper and fair evaluation of a solicitation, the County prohibits unsolicited communication 
initiated by the Bidder to the County Official or Employee evaluating or considering the Bids prior to the 
time an award has been made. Unsolicited communication may be ground for disqualifying the 
offending Bidder from consideration or award of the solicitation, or any future solicitation.

Communication between the Bidder and the County will be initiated by the appropriate County Official
Employee in order to obtain information or clarification needed to develop a proper and accurate 
evaluation of the solicitation.

The County intends to award a Contract to the most responsible and responsive Bidder whose Bid will 
be most advantageous to the County. In accordance with Texas Government Code and Local
Government Code, the County may consider, to the extent allowed by law, the following:

A. Price;
B. The Bidder ’s experience and reputation;
C. Quality of the Bidder ’s goods and/or services; 
D. The Bidder ’s safety record;
E. The Bidder ’s proposed personnel; 
F. The Bidder ’s financial capabilities; and 
G. Any other relevant factors specifically listed in this IFB or authorized by law.

3.10 CONDISERATION OF LOCATION OF PRINCIPAL OFFICE 

Pursuant to Texas Local Government Code, Section 271.905 , in purchasing any real property or personal
property that is not affixed to real property, if the County receives one or more Bids from a Bidder whose
principal place of business is in Williamson County and whose Bid is within three (3 )  percent of the
lowest Bid price received by the County from a Bidder who is not a resident of Williamson County, the 
County may enter into a contract with:

A. The lowest Bidder; or the Bidder whose principal place of business is in Williamson County if the
Commissioners Court determines, in writing, that the local Bidder offers the County the best 
combination of contract price and addit ional economic development opportunities
Williamson County created by the contract award, including the employment of residents
Williamson County and increased tax revenues to Williamson County.

It is understood that the Commissioners Court of Williamson County, Texas, reserves the right to accept
or reject any and/or all Bids for any or all goods and/or services covered in this IFB, and to waive
informalities or defects in the Bid or to accept such Bid, if it shall deem to be in the best interest of the 
County.

Awards should be made approximately sixty (60) business days after the Bid opening date. Results may
be obtained by viewing the Williamson County vendor portal at the following link:

http://www.wilco.org/CountyDepartments/Purchasing/SearchforaPastBid/tabid/5213/language/en-
US/Default.aspx

3.11 RESPONSIBILITY 

It is expected that a prospective Bidder will be able to affirmatively demonstrate responsibility.  A 
prospective Bidder should be able to meet the following requirements:

A. Have adequate financial resources, or the ability to obtain such resources as required;
B. Be able to comply with the required or proposed delivery schedule;
C. Have a satisfactory record of performance that can be determined thru references provided; and 
D. Be otherwise qualified and eligible to receive an award.

The County may request representation and other information sufficient to determine the Bidder's ability 
to meet these minimum standards listed above.

3.12 FIRM PRICING 

For unit price items, all of the items listed are to be on a “per unit” basis, stating a firm price per unit or 
unit quantity of each item.  The Bidder must submit a firm price that must be good from the date of Bid 
opening for the fixed period of time set out in this IFB.  Unless the IFB expressly states otherwise, this 
period shall be until the end of the Initial Contract Period.

Bids which do not state a fixed price, or which are subject to change without notice, will not be 
considered.  The Court may award a Contract for the period implied or expressly stated in the lowest and 
best Bid.

3.13 PURCHASE ORDERS

If required by the Williamson County Purchasing Department, a purchase order(s) may be generated to 
the Successful Bidder for goods and/or services.  If a purchase order is issued, the purchase order 
number must appear on all itemized invoices and/or requests for payment.

3.14 SILENCE OF SPECIFICATIONS

The apparent silence of these specifications as to any detail or to the apparent omission from it of a 
detailed description concerning any point, shall be regarded as meaning that only the best practices are 
to prevail.  All interpretations of these specifications shall be made on the basis of this statement.

3.15 REFERENCES

The County may require the Bidder to supply a list of at least three (3) references where like services
and/or goods have been supplied by their firm within the past five (5) years, to include names, titles, 
phone numbers and email addresses of key personnel, and dates of performance.

The County may contact some or all of the references in order to determine the Respondent
performance record on work similar to that described in this RFP.  The County reserves the right to 
contact references other than those provided in the response and to use the information gained from 
them in the evaluation process.

References, if requested, should be provided in accordance with this IFB.  Bid may not be deemed 
complete without the inclusion of requested references.

SECTION 4 - TERMS AND CONDITIONS

4.1 VENUE AND GOVERNING LAW

The Bidder hereby agrees and acknowledges that venue and jurisdiction of any suit, right, or cause of 
action arising out of or in connection with this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s), shall lie 
exclusively in either Williamson County, Texas or in the Austin Division of the Western Federal District of 
Texas, and the parties hereto expressly consent and submit to such jurisdiction.  Furthermore, except to 
the extent that this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) is governed by the laws of the United 
States, this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be governed by and construed in 
accordance with the laws of the State of Texas, excluding, however, its choice of law rules.

4.2 INCORPORATION BY REFERENCE AND PRECEDENCE

A. The Contract shall be derived from the IFB and its Addenda (if applicable), and the Bidder ’ s Bid.  In 
the event of a dispute under the Contract, applicable documents will be referred to for the purpose 
of clarification or for additional detail in the following order of precedence:

1. The IFB and its Addenda (if applicable); and

2. The Bidder ’s Bid.

B. In the event the County requires that an Ensuing Agreement be executed following award and a 
dispute arises between the terms and conditions of the Ensuing Agreement, the IFB and its 
Addenda (if applicable), and the Bidder ’s Bid, applicable documents will be referred to for the 
purpose of clarification or for additional detail in the following order of precedence: 

1. Terms and conditions of the Ensuing Agreement;

2. The IFB its Addenda; and 

3. The Bidder ’s Bid.

4.3 OWNERSHIP OF BID

Each Bid shall become the property of the County upon submittal and will not be returned to Bidders 
unless received after the submittal deadline.

4.4 DISQUALIFICATION OF BIDDER

Upon signing and submittal of the Bid, a Bidder offering to sell supplies, materials, services, or equipment 
to the County, certifies that the Bidder has not violated the antitrust laws of the State of Texas codified in 
Business & Commerce Code, Section 15.01, or the Federal Antitrust Laws, and has not communicated 
directly or indirectly the offer made to any competitor or any other person engaged in such line of 
business.  Any or all Bids may be rejected if the County believes that collusion exists among the Bidders.

4.5 FUNDING

The County intends to budget and make sufficient funds available and authorize funds for expenditure to 
finance the costs of the Contract.  All Bidders understand and agree that the County’s payment of 
amounts under the Contract shall be contingent on the County receiving appropriations or other 
expenditure authority sufficient to allow the County, in the exercise of reasonable administrative 
discretion, to make payments under this Contract.

4.6 ASSIGNMENT, SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS 

The Successful Bidder may not assign, sell, or otherwise transfer the Contract or any other rights or 
interests obtained under the Contract without written permission of the Commissioners Court.  The 
Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the contracting 
parties hereto and their respective successors and permitted assigns.

4.7 IMPLIED REQUIREMENTS

Products or services not specifically described or required in the IFB, but are necessary to provide the 
functional capabilities described by the Bidder, shall be implied and deemed to be included in the Bid.

4.8 TERMINATION

A. Termination for Cause: The County reserves the right to terminate the Contract and/or any 
Ensuing Agreement(s) for default if the Successful Bidder breaches any of the Bid specifications,
terms and conditions, including warranties of the Bidder, if any, or if the Successful Bidder 
becomes insolvent or commits acts of bankruptcy.  Such right of termination is in addition to and
not in lieu of any other remedies the County may have at law or in equity or as may otherwise
provided hereunder.  Default may be construed as, but not limited to, failure to deliver the proper 
goods and/or services within the proper amount of time, and/or to properly perform any and all 
other requirements to the County ’s satisfaction, and/or to meet all other obligations and
requirements.

B. Termination for Convenience: The County may terminate the Contract and/or any Ensuing 
Agreement(s) for convenience and without cause or further liability, upon no less than thirty (30) 
calendar days written notice to the Successful Bidder. The County reserves the right to extend 
this period if it is in the best interest of the County.  In the event the County exercises its right to 
terminate without cause, it is understood and agreed that only the amounts due to the Successful 
Bidder for goods, commodities and/or services provided and expenses incurred to and including 
the date of termination, will be due and payable.  No penalty will be assessed for the County
termination for convenience.

4.9 NON-PERFORMANCE

It is the objective of the County to obtain complete and satisfactory performance of the requirements set 
forth herein.  In addition to any other remedies available at law, in equity or that may be set out herein, 
failure to perform may result in a deduction of payment equal to the amount of the goods and/or services 
that were not provided and/or performed to the County ’s satisfaction.  

In the event of such non-performance, the County shall have the right, but shall not be obligated, to 
complete the services itself or by others and/or purchase the goods from other sources.  If the County 
elects to acquire the goods or perform the services itself or by others, pursuant to the foregoing, the 
Successful Bidder shall reimburse the County, within ten (10) calendar days of demand, for all costs 
incurred by the County (including, without limitation, applicable, general, and administrative expenses, 
and field overhead, and the cost of necessary equipment, materials, and field labor) in correcting the 
nonperformance which the Successful Bidder fails to meet pursuant to the requirements set out herein.  
In the event the Successful Bidder refuses to reimburse the County as set out in this provision, the 
County shall have the right to deduct such reimbursement amounts from any amounts that may be then 
owing or that may become owing in the future to the Successful Bidder.

4.10 PROPRIETARY INFORMATION AND THE TEXAS PUBLIC INFORMATION ACT

All material submitted to the County shall become public property and subject to the Texas Public 
Information Act upon receipt. If a Bidder does not desire proprietary information in the Bid to be 
disclosed, each page must be clearly identified and marked proprietary at time of submittal or, more 
preferably, all proprietary information may be placed in a folder or appendix and be clearly identified and 
marked as being proprietary.  Failure to clearly identify and mark information as being proprietary as set 
forth under this provision will result in all unmarked information being deemed non-proprietary and 
available to the public.  For all information that has not been clearly identified and marked as proprietary 
by the Bidder, the County may choose to place such information on the County ’s website and/or a similar 
public database without obtaining any type of prior consent from the Bidder.

The County will, to the extent allowed by law, endeavor to protect from public disclosure the information 
that has been identified and marked as proprietary.  The final decision as to what information must be 
disclosed, however, lies with the Texas Attorney General.  

To the extent, if any, that any provision in this IFB or in the Bidder ’s Bid is in conflict with Texas 
Government Code, Chapter 552, as amended (the “Public Information Act”), the same shall be of no 
force or effect.  Furthermore, it is expressly understood, and agreed, that the County, and its officers and 
employees, may request advice, decisions and opinions of the Attorney General of the State of Texas in 
regard to the application of the Public Information Act to any items or data furnished to the County as to 
whether or not the same are available to the public.  It is further understood that the County, and its 
officers and employees, shall have the right to rely on the advice, decisions and opinions of the Attorney 
General, and that the County, its officers and employees shall have no liability or obligation to any party 
hereto for the disclosure to the public, or to any person or persons, of any items or data furnished to the 
County by a party hereto, in reliance of any advice, decision or opinion of the Attorney General of the 
State of Texas.

4.11 RIGHT TO AUDIT

The Successful Bidder agrees that the County or its duly authorized representatives shall, until the 
expiration of three (3) years after termination or expiration of the services to be performed, have access 
to and the right to examine and photocopy any and all books, documents, papers and records of the 
Successful Bidder, which are directly pertinent to the services to be performed or goods to be delivered 
for the purposes of making audits, examinations, excerpts and transcriptions.  The Successful Bidder 
agrees that the County shall have access during normal working hours to all necessary facilities and 
shall be provided adequate and appropriate work space in order to conduct audits in compliance with the 
provisions of this section.  The County shall give the Successful Bidder reasonable advance notice of 
intended audits.

4.12 TESTING AND INSPECTIONS

The County reserves the right to inspect and test equipment, supplies, materials and goods for quality 
and compliance with this IFB, and ability to meet the needs of the user.  Demonstration units must be 
available for review.  Should the goods or services fail to meet requirements and/or be unavailable for 
evaluation, the County can deem the Bidder to be in breach and terminate the Contract and/or any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

4.13 BID PREPARATION COSTS

The cost of developing Bids is the sole responsibility of the Bidders and shall not be charged to the 
County.  There is no expressed or implied obligation for the County to reimburse the Bidders for any 
expense incurred in preparing a Bid in response to this IFB and the County will not reimburse the Bidders 
for such expenses.

4.14 INDEMNIFICATION

The Successful Bidder shall indemnify, defend and save harmless, the County, its officials, employees, 
agents and agent ’s employees from, and against, all claims, liability, and expenses including reasonable 
attorneys ’   fees, arising from activities of the Bidder, its agents, servants or employees, performed 
hereunder that result from the negligent act, error, or omission of the Bidder or any of the Bidder
agents, servants or employees, as well as all claims of loss or damage to the Bidder ’s and the County
property, equipment, and/or supplies. 

Furthermore, the County, its officials, employees, agents and agents ’ employees shall not be liable for 
damages to the Successful Bidder arising from any act of any third party, including, but not limited to, 
theft.  The Successful Bidder further agrees to indemnify, defend and save harmless, the County from its 
officials, employee, agents and agents ’ employees against all claims of whatever nature arising from any 
accident, injury, or damage whatsoever, caused to any person, or the property of any person, occurring 
in relation to the Successful Bidder ’s performance of any services requested hereunder during the term 
of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s). 

The Successful Bidder shall timely report all claims, demands, suits, actions, proceedings, liens or 
judgements to the County and shall, upon the receipt of any claim, demand, suit, action, proceeding, lien 

or judgement, not later than the fifteenth (15 th) day of each month; provide the County with a written 
report on each such matter, setting forth the status of each matter, the schedule or planned proceedings 
with respect to each matter and the cooperation or assistance, if any, of the County required by the 
Successful Bidder in the defense of each matter.  The Successful Bidder’s duty to defend, indemnify and 
hold the County harmless shall be absolute.  It shall not abate or end by reason of the expiration or 
termination of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s), unless otherwise agreed by the County in 
writing.  The provisions of this section shall survive the termination of the Contract and shall remain in full 
force and effect with respect to all such matters no matter when they arise. 

In the event of any dispute between the parties, as to whether a claim, demand, suit, action, proceeding, 
lien or judgement, that appears to have been caused by or appears to have arisen out of or in connection 
with acts or omissions of the County, the Bidder shall nevertheless fully defend such claim, demand, suit 
or action, proceeding, lien or judgement, until and unless there is a determination by a court of competent 
jurisdiction that the acts and omissions of the Bidder are not an issue in the matter. 

The Successful Bidder ’s indemnification shall cover, and the Successful Bidder agrees to, indemnify the 
County, in the event the County is found to have been negligent for having selected the Successful 
Bidder to perform the work described in this request.  The provision by the Successful Bidder of 
insurance shall not limit the liability of the Successful Bidder under the Contract and/or any Ensuing 
Agreement(s). 

4.15 WAIVER OF SUBROGATION

The Successful Bidder and the Successful Bidder ’s insurance carrier waive any and all rights 
whatsoever with regard to subrogation against the County as an indirect party to any suit arising out of 
personal or property damages resulting from the Bidder ’s performance under this Contract and any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

4.16 RELATIONSHIP OF THE PARTIES

The Successful Bidder shall be an independent contractor and shall assume all of the rights, obligations, 
liabilities, applicable to it as such independent contractor hereunder and any provisions herein which may 
appear to give the County the right to direct the Successful Bidder as to details of doing work herein 
covered, or to exercise a measure of control over the work, shall be deemed to mean that the Successful 
Bidder shall follow the desires of the County in the results of the work only.  The County shall not retain or 
have the right to control the Successful Bidder ’s means, methods or details pertaining to the Successful 
Bidder ’s performance of the work.  The County and the Successful Bidder hereby agree and declare that 
the Successful Bidder is an independent contractor and as such meets the qualifications of an 
“Independent Contractor” under Texas Workers Compensation Act, Texas Labor Code, Section 406.141, 
that the Successful Bidder is not an employee of  the County, and that the Successful Bidder and its 
employees, agents and subcontractors shall not be entitled to workers compensation coverage or any 
other type of insurance coverage held by the County.

4.17 SOLE PROVIDER

The Successful Bidder agrees and acknowledges that it shall not be considered a sole provider of the 
goods and/or services described herein and that the County may contract with other providers of such 
goods and/or services if the County deems, at its sole discretion, that multiple providers of the same 
goods and/or services will serve the best interest of the County.

4.18 FORCE MAJEURE

If the party obligated to perform is prevented from performance by an act of war, order of legal authority, 
act of God, or other unavoidable cause not attributable to the fault or negligence of said party, the other 
party shall grant such party relief from the performance.  The burden of proof for the need of such relief 
shall rest upon the party obligated to perform.  To obtain release based on force majeure, the party 
obligated to perform shall file a written request with the other party.

4.19 SEVERABILITY

If any provision of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be held invalid or 
unenforceable by any court of competent jurisdiction, such holding shall not invalidate or render 
unenforceable any other provision thereof, but rather the entire IFB, Contract or any Ensuing Agreement
(s) will be construed as if not containing the particular invalid or unenforceable provision or provisions, 
and the rights and obligation of the parties shall be construed and enforced in accordance therewith.  The 
parties acknowledge that if any provision of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) is 
determined to be invalid or unenforceable, it is the desire and intention of each that such provision be 
reformed and construed in such a manner that it will, to the maximum extent practicable, give effect to
the intent of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) and be deemed to be validated and
enforceable.

4.20 EQUAL OPPORTUNITY

Neither party shall discriminate against any employee or applicant for employment because of race, 
color, sex, religion or national origin.

4.21 NOTICE

Any notice to be given shall be in writing and may be distributed by personal delivery, or by registered or 
certified mail, return receipt requested, addressed to the proper party, at the following address:

The County:    Williamson County Purchasing Department 
            Attn: Purchasing Agent 
            901 South Austin Avenue 
            Georgetown, Texas 78626

The Bidder:     Address set out in Bidder’s Transmittal Letter.

Notices given in accordance with this provision shall be effective upon (1) receipt by the party to which 
notice is given, or (2) on the third (3rd) calendar day following mailing, whichever occurs first.

4.22 SALES AND USE TAX EXEMPTION

The County is a body, corporate and politic, under the laws of the State of Texas and claims exemption 
from sales and use taxes under Texas Tax Code, Section 151.309, as amended, and the services and/or 
goods subject hereof are being secured for use by the County.

4.23 COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS

The County and the Successful Bidder shall comply with all federal, state, and local laws, statutes,
ordinances, rules and regulations, and the orders and decrees of any courts or administrative bodies or 
tribunals in any matter affecting the performance of the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s),
including, without limitation, Workers ’ Compensation laws, salary and wage statutes and regulations, 
licensing laws and regulations.  When required, the Successful Bidder shall furnish the County with 
certification of compliance with said laws, statues, ordinances, rules, regulations, orders, and decrees 
above specified.

4.24 INCORPORATION OF EXHIBITS, APPENDICES AND ATTACHMENTS

All of the Exhibits, Appendices and Attachments referred to herein are incorporated by reference as if set 
forth verbatim herein.  Any conflicting terms in the Contract documents will be resolved at the sole 
discretion of the Commissioners Court.

4.25 NO WAIVER OF IMMUNITIES

Nothing herein shall be deemed to waive, modify or amend any legal defense available at law or in equity 
to the County, its past or present officers, employees, or agents, nor to create any legal rights or claim on 
behalf of any third party.  The County does not waive, modify, or alter to any extent whatsoever the 
availability of the defense of governmental immunity under the laws of the State of Texas and of the 
United States.

4.26 NO WAIVER

The failure or delay of any party to enforce at any time or any period of time any of the provisions of this 
IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall not constitute a present or future waiver of such 
provisions nor the right of either party to enforce each and every provision.  Furthermore, no term or 
provision hereof shall be deemed waived and no breach excused unless such waiver or consent shall be 
in writing and signed by the party claimed to have waived or consented.  Any consent by any party to, or 
waiver of, a breach by the other, whether expressed or implied, shall not constitute a consent to, waiver 
of or excuse for any other, different or subsequent breach.

4.27 CURRENT REVENUES

The obligations of the parties under the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) do not constitute a 
general obligation or indebtedness of the County for which the County is obligated to levy, pledge, or 
collect any of taxation.  It is understood and agreed that the County shall have the right to terminate the 
Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) at the end of any the County fiscal year if the governing body of 
the County does not appropriate sufficient funds as determined by the County ’s budget for the fiscal year 
in question.  The County may effect such termination by giving written notice of termination to the 
Successful Bidder at the end of its then-current fiscal year.

4.28 FOB DESTINATION

To the extent applicable to this IFB, all of the items listed are to be Free On Board to final destination 
(FOB Destination) with all transportation charges if applicable to be included in the Bid, unless otherwise 
specified in the Invitation for Bids.  The title and risk of loss of the goods shall not pass to the County until 
receipt and acceptance takes place at the FOB Destination point.

4.29 BINDING EFFECT

This Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties 
and their respective permitted assigns and successors.

4.30 ASSIGNMENT

The Successful Bidder ’s interest and duties hereunder may not be assigned or delegated to a third party 
without the express written consent of the County.

4.31 SAFETY

The Successful Bidder is responsible for initiating, maintaining, and supervising all safety precautions 
and programs in connection with any services to be provided hereunder. The safety program shall 
comply with all applicable requirements of the current federal Occupational Safety and Health Act and all 
other applicable federal, state and local laws and regulations.

4.32 GENERAL OBLIGATIONS AND RELIANCE

The Successful Bidder shall perform all services and/or provide all goods, as well as those reasonably
inferable and necessary for completion and provision of services and/or goods required hereunder. The
Successful Bidder shall keep the County informed of the progress and quality of the services.  The 
Successful Bidder agrees and acknowledges that the County is relying on the Successful Bidder's 
represented expertise and ability to provide the goods and/or services described herein.  The Successful
Bidder agrees to use its best efforts, skill, judgment, and abilities to perform its obligations in accordance
with the highest standards used in the profession and to further the interests of the County 
accordance with the County ’s requirements and procedures.    T h e   Successful Bidder ’s duties,
set forth herein, shall at no time be in any way diminished by reason of any approval by the County, nor
shall the Successful Bidder be released from any liability by reason of such approval by the County, it 
being understood that the County at all times is ultimately relying upon the Successful Bidder ’s skill and 
knowledge in performing the services and providing any goods required hereunder.

4.33 ESTIMATED QUANTITIES

To the extent applicable to this IFB, the estimated quantity of each item listed in this IFB is only
estimate; the actual quantity to be purchased may be more or less. The County is not obligated
purchase any minimum amount, and the County may purchase any reasonable amount greater than the
estimate for the same unit price. Any limit on quantities available must be stated expressly in the Bid.

4.34 CONTRACTUAL DEVELOPMENT

The contents of the IFB and the Successful Bidder ’s Bid will become an integral part of the Contract, but 
may be modified, at the County ’s sole discretion, by provisions of an Ensuing Agreement.  Therefore, the 
Bidder must agree to an inclusion of an Ensuing Agreement of the Bid specifications, terms and 
conditions of this IFB.  If an Ensuing Agreement is required under this IFB, information relative to the 
Agreement will be located in the Special Provisions Section of this IFB.

4.35 SURVIVABILITY 

All applicable agreements that were entered into between the Successful Bidder and the County, under 
the terms and conditions of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s), shall survive the expiration or 
termination thereof for ninety (90) days unless a new contract has been awarded.

The County may exercise, by written notice to the Successful Bidder no later than ten (10) calendar days 
of the Contract expiration, this clause for emergencies only. 

4.36 AIR QUALITY

In determining the overall best Bid, the County may, to the extent applicable, exercise the option granted 
to local governments under the Texas Local Government Code, Section 271.907.

This option allows the County to evaluate Bids and give preference to goods and/or services of a Bidder 
that demonstrates that the Bidder meets or exceeds any and all state or federal environmental 
standards, including voluntary standards, relating to air quality.  If the Bid being submitted will have an 
effect on air quality for the County (as it relates to any state, federal, or voluntary air quality standard), 
then the Bidder is encouraged to provide information in narrative indicating the anticipated air quality 
impact.  All Bidders are expected to meet all mandated state and federal air quality standards.

4.37 ENTIRE AGREEMENT

The Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall supersede all prior Agreements, written or oral 
between the Successful Bidder and the County and shall constitute the entire Agreement and 
understanding between the parties with respect to the services and/or goods to be provided.  Each of the 
provisions herein shall be binding upon the parties and may not be waived, modified, amended or altered, 
except by writing signed by the Successful Bidder and the County.

4.38 PAYMENT

The County ’s payment for goods and services shall be governed by the Texas Government Code, 

Chapter 2251.  An invoice shall be deemed overdue the thirty-first (31st) day after the later of the 
following: 

A. The date the County receives the goods under the Contract; 
B. The date the performance of the service under the Contract is completed; or 
C. The date the Williamson County Auditor receives an invoice for the goods or services.  

Interest charges for any overdue payments shall be paid by the County in accordance with Texas 
Government Code, Section 2251.025.  More specifically, the rate of interest that shall accrue on a late 
payment is the rate in effect on September 1 of the County ’s fiscal year in which the payment becomes 
due.  The said rate in effect on September 1 shall be equal to the sum of one (1) percent, and the prime 

rate published in the Wall Street Journal on the first (1st) day of July of the preceding fiscal year that does 
not fall on a Saturday or Sunday.

In the event that an error appears in an invoice submitted by the Successful Bidder, the County shall 
notify the Successful Bidder of the error not later than the twenty-first (21st) day after the date the County 
receives the invoice.  If the error is resolved in favor of the Successful Bidder, the Successful Bidder 
shall be entitled to receive interest on the unpaid balance of the invoice submitted by the Successful 
Bidder beginning on the date that the payment for the invoice became overdue.  If the error is resolved in 
favor of the County, the Successful Bidder shall submit a corrected invoice that must be paid in 
accordance within the time set forth above.  The unpaid balance accrues interest as provided by the 
Texas Government Code, Chapter 2251, if the corrected invoice is not paid by the appropriate date.

As a minimum, invoices shall include:

A. Name, address, and telephone number of the Successful Bidder and similar information in the 
event the payment is to be made to a different address. 

B. The County Contract, Purchase Order. 

C. Identification of items or service as outlined in the Contract. 

D. Quantity or quantities, applicable unit prices, total prices and total amount. 

E. Any additional payment information which may be called for by the Contract. 

Payment inquiries should be directed to the following address:        

            Williamson County Auditor’s Office, Accounts Payable Department
            Email: accountspayable@wilco.org
            Phone: 512-943-1500

4.39 CONTRACTUAL FORMATION AND ENSUING AGREEMENT

The IFB and the Bidder ’s Bid, when properly accepted by the Commissioners Court, shall constitute a
Contract equally binding between the Successful Bidder and the County.

If an Ensuing Agreement is required by this IFB, that information will be provided in Special 
Provisions section of this IFB.  The Successful Bidder shall be required to execute the Agreement at 
the Williamson County Purchasing Department approximately ten (10) calendar days after the 
Successful Bidder is notified of award.  The Ensuing Agreement shall be in the same form as the 
Agreement which is attached to the end of this IFB.  The only anticipated changes in the Ensuing 
Agreement will be to include additional exhibits, to fill in blanks to identify the Successful Bidder, and 
terms relating to the compensation, or to revise the Agreement to accommodate corrections, changes in 
the scope of services, or changes pursuant to Addenda issued.  Bidders should raise any questions 
regarding the terms of the Agreement in the form of written questions or submittals as 
described in the Public Announcement and General Information portion of this IFB.  Because the 
signed Ensuing Agreement will be substantively and substantially derived from the attached Agreement, 
each Bidder is urged to seek independent legal counsel as to any questions about the terms, conditions 
or provisions contained in the Agreement before submitting a Bid.  Again, the attached Agreement, if 
applicable, contains important legal provisions and is considered part and parcel of this IFB.  Failure or 
refusal to sign aforesaid Agreement shall be grounds for the County to revoke any award which has been 
issued, forfeit Bid security, if applicable, and select another Bidder.

4.40 COOPERATIVE PURCHASING PROGRAM 

During the term of the Contract resulting from this IFB, the County would like to afford the same prices, 
terms and conditions to other political subdivisions or public entities.  Another entity’s participation in the 
Contract resulting from this IFB is subject to a properly authorized Purchasing Cooperative Inter- local 
Agreement with the County.  Any liability created by purchase orders issued against the Contract shall be 
the sole responsibility of the governmental agency placing the order.

4.41 INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS

To the extent applicable Insurance information will appear in the Additional Stipulations section that is in 
this IFB Package. 

4.42 BIDDERS BOND, WARRANTY BOND, PERFORMANCE AND PAYMENT BONDS

To the extent applicable Bond information will appear in the Additional Stipulations section that is in this 
IFB Package. 

4.43 LEGAL LIABILITY INFORMATION

The Successful Bidder shall disclose all legal liability information by listing any pending litigation
anticipated litigation that your firm is involved in including, but not limited to, potential or actual legal
matters with private parties and any local, state, federal or international governmental entities. The
County reserves the right to consider legal liability information in the recommendation of any proposed 
contract to the Commissioners Court.

4.44 INCLEMENT WEATHER

In case of inclement weather or any other unforeseen event causing the County to close for business on 
the date of a Bid submission deadline, the Bid closing will automatically be postponed until the next 
business day the County is open.  If inclement weather conditions or any other unforeseen event causes 
delays in carrier service operations, the County may issue an Addendum to all known Bidders interested 
in the project to extend the deadline.  It will be the responsibility of the Bidder to notify the County of their 
interest in the project if these conditions are impacting their ability to turn in a submission within the 
stated deadline.  The County reserves the right to make the final judgement call to extend any deadline. 

4.45 PREVAILING WAGE RATES

To the extent this procurement is for the construction of a public work, including a building, highway, 
road, excavation, and repair work or other project development or improvement, paid for in whole or in 
part from public funds, without regard to whether the work is done under public supervision or direction, 
Texas Government Code, Chapter 2258, shall apply and the contractor shall pay not less than the wage 
scale of the various classes of labor as shown on the “Prevailing Wage Schedule” provided by the 
County. Pursuant to Texas Government Code, Section 2258.022(a)(2), the County has determined the 
general prevailing rate of the “Prevailing Wage Schedule”  in the locality in which the public work is to be 
performed for each craft or type of worker needed to execute the contract and the prevailing rate for legal 
holiday and overtime work by using the prevailing wage rate as determined by the United States 
Department of Labor in accordance with the United States Code, Section 276a (Davis-Bacon Act). 

The specified wage rates are minimum rates only, and are not representations that qualified labor 
adequate to perform the work is available locally at the prevailing wage rates. The County is not bound to 
pay—and will not consider—any claims for additional compensation made by any contractor because the 
contractor pays wages in excess of the applicable minimum rate contained in the Contract Documents. 
The “Prevailing Wage Schedule”  is not a representation that quantities of qualified labor adequate to 
perform the work may be found locally at the specified wage rates.

For classifications not shown, workers shall not be paid less than the wage indicated for laborers. The 
contractor shall notify each worker commencing work on the project the worker ’s job classification and 
the established minimum wage rate required to be paid, as well as the actual amount being paid. The 
notice must be delivered to and signed in acknowledgement of receipt by the employee and must list 
both the monetary wages and fringe benefits to be paid or furnished for each classification in which the 
worker is assigned duties. When requested by the County, competent evidence of compliance with the 
Texas Prevailing Wage Law shall be furnished by contractor. A copy of each worker wage rate 
notification shall be submitted to the County with the Application for Payment for the period during which 
the worker began on-site activities.

Should the contractor at any time become aware that a particular skill or trade not reflected on the 
County ’s “Prevailing Wage Schedule” will be or is being employed in the work, whether by the contractor 
or by a subcontractor, the contractor shall promptly inform the County and shall specify a wage rate for 
that skill or trade, which shall bind the contractor.

The contractor and any subcontractor shall pay to the County a penalty of sixty dollars ($60.00) for each 
worker employed for each calendar day, or portion thereof, that the worker is paid less than the wage 
rates stipulated in the “Prevailing Wage Schedule” or any supplement thereto. The contractor and each 
subcontractor shall keep, or cause to be kept, an accurate record showing the names and occupations 
of all workers employed in connection with the work, and showing the actual per diem wages paid to 
each worker, which records shall be open at all reasonable hours for the inspection by the County.

Within thirty-one (31) days of receipt of information concerning a violation of the Texas Government Code 
Chapter 2258, the County shall make an initial determination as to whether good cause exists to believe 
a violation occurred. The County ’s decision on the initial determination shall be reduced to writing and 
sent to the contractor or subcontractor against whom the violation was alleged, and to the affected 
worker. When a good cause finding is made, the County shall retain the full amounts claimed by the 
claimant or claimants as the difference between wages paid and wages due under the “Prevailing Wage 
Schedule” and any supplements thereto, together with the applicable penalties, such amounts being 
subtracted from successive progress payments pending a final decision on the violation.

After the County makes its initial determination, the affected contractor or subcontractor and worker have 
fourteen (14) calendar days in which to resolve the issue of whether a violation occurred, including the 
amount that should be retained by the County or paid to the affected worker. If the contractor or 
subcontractor and affected worker reach an agreement concerning the worker ’s claim, the contractor 
shall promptly notify the County in a written document signed by the worker. It the contractor or 

Subcontractor and affected worker do not agree before the fifteenth (15 th) calendar day after the County
determination, the contractor or subcontractor and affected worker must participate in binding arbitration 
in accordance with the Texas General Arbitration Act, Chapter 171, (Texas Civil Practice and Remedies 
Code). The parties to the arbitration have ten (10) calendar days after the expiration of the fifteen (15) 

calendar days referred to above, to agree on an arbitrator; if by the eleventh (11 th) calendar day there is 
no agreement to an arbitrator, a district court shall appoint an arbitrator on the petition of any of the 
parties to the arbitration.

If an arbitrator determines that a violation has occurred, the arbitrator shall assess and award against the 
contractor or subcontractor the amount of penalty as provided above and the amount owed the worker. 
The County may use any amounts retained hereunder to pay the worker the amount as designated in the 
arbitration award. If the County has not retained enough from the contractor or subcontractor to pay the 
worker in accordance with the arbitration award, the worker has a right of action against the contractor 
and subcontractor as appropriate, and the surety of either to receive the amount owed, attorneys ’  fees 
and court costs. The contractor shall promptly furnish a copy of the arbitration award to the County.

Money retained pursuant to the provisions above shall be used to pay the claimant or claimants the 
difference between the amount the worker received in wages for labor on the project at the rate paid by 
the contractor or subcontractor and the amount the worker would have received at the general prevailing 
wage rate as provided by the agreement of the claimant and the contractor or subcontractor affected, or 
in the arbitrator ’s award. The full statutory penalty of sixty dollars ($60.00) per calendar day of violation 
per worker shall be retained by Williamson County to offset its administrative costs, pursuant to Texas 
Government Code, Section, 2258.023. Any retained funds in excess of these amounts shall be paid to 
the contractor on the earlier of the next progress payment or final payment. Provided, however, that the 
County shall have no duty to release any funds to either the claimant or the contractor until it has 
received the notices of agreement or the arbitration award as provided under the provision herein-above.

4.46 CONFIDENTIALITY

The Bidder expressly agrees that it will not use any direct or incidental confidential information that may 
be obtained while working in a governmental setting for its own benefit, and agrees that it will not access 
unauthorized areas or confidential information and it will not disclose any information to unauthorized 
third parties, and will take care to guard the security of the information at all times.

Bid 1704-157Williamson County, Texas

4/7/2017 9:30 AM p. 13



5

6

3 4

Williamson County – Invitation for Bid (IFB)

SECTION 1 - DEFINITIONS 

Addendum/Addenda – means any written or graphic instruments issued by the County prior to the 
consideration of Bids which modify or interpret the Bid Documents by additions, deletions, clarifications, 
or corrections.

Agreement/Ensuing Agreement(s) – means the Successful Bidder may be required by the County to 
sign an additional Agreement containing terms necessary to ensure compliance with the IFB and the 
Bidder ’s Bid.  Such Ensuing Agreement(s) shall contain the Bid specifications, terms and conditions that 
are derived from the IFB.

Bid Documents – means the Legal Notice, IFB including attachments, and any Addenda issued by the 
County prior to the consideration of any Bids.

Bid – means the completed and signed bid form, (sometimes referred to as the Price Sheet), and ALL 
required forms and documentation listed in the IFB package which have been submitted in accordance 
with the terms and conditions described in the IFB package.  A Bid submitted in accordance with this IFB 
is irrevocable during the specified period for evaluation and acceptance of Bids unless a waiver is 
obtained from the Williamson County Purchasing Agent.

Bidder – means a person or entity who submits a Bid in response to this IFB.

Contract – means this IFB and the Bid of the Successful Bidder shall become a Contract between the 
Successful Bidder and the County once the Successful Bidder ’s Bid is properly accepted by the 
Williamson County Commissioners Court.

Commissioner ’s Court – means the Williamson County Commissioners Court. 

County – means Williamson County, a political subdivision of the State of Texas.

Invitation for Bid (IFB) – means this document, together with the attachments thereto and any future 
Addenda issued by the County.

Successful Bidder – means the liable Bidder to whom the County intends to award the Contract.

SECTION 2 - BID FORMAT AND SUBMISSION

2.1 ORGANIZATION OF BID CONTENTS FOR SUBMITTAL 

Each Bid should be organized and items submitted in the order described below: 

A. Transmittal Letter. Please see Section 2.3, Transmittal Letter, for more information. 

B. Price Sheet.

C. Conflict of Interest Questionnaire. Please see Section 2.2, Conflict of Interest, for more 
information in regards to this. Please note that even if you deem there to be no Conflict of Interest, 
this signed questionnaire must be included in your package. 

D. References. Please see Section 3.15, References, for more information. 

E. Bid Affidavit.

F. Form 1295. Please see Section 2.4, Certificate of Interested Parties – Form 1295. 

2.2 CONFLICT OF INTEREST

No public official shall have interest in a Contract, in accordance with Vernon ’s Texas Codes Annotated, 
Local Government Code, Title 5, Subtitle C, Chapter 171, as amended. 

As of January 1, 2006, all Bidders are responsible for complying with Local Government Code, Title 5, 
Subtitle C, Chapter 176.  Additional information may be obtained from the County’s website at the 
following link: 

http://www.wilco.org/CountyDepartments/Purchasing/ConflictofInterestDisclosure/tabid/689/language/en
US/Default.aspx

Each Bidder must disclose any existing or potential conflict of interest relative to the performance of the 
requirements of this IFB.  Examples of potential conflicts of interest may include an existing 
business or personal relationship between the Bidder, its principal, or any affiliate or 
subcontractor with the County or any other entity or person involved in any way with the project 
that is subject to this IFB .  Similarly, any personal or business relationship between the Bidder, the 

principals, or any affiliate or subcontractor with any employee, or official of the County or its suppliers 
must be disclosed.  Any such relationship that might be perceived or represented as a conflict must be 
disclosed. Failure to disclose any such relationship or reveal personal relationships with the County 
employees or officials may be cause for termination. 

The County will decide if an actual or perceived conflict should result in Bid disqualification. 

By submitting a Bid in response to this IFB, all Bidders affirm they have not given, nor intend to give, at 
any time hereafter, any economic opportunity, future employment, gift, loan, gratuity, special discount, 
trip, favor, or service to a the County public servant or any employee, official or representative of same, in 
connection with this procurement. 

Each Bidder must provide a Conflict of Interest Statement with their Bid Package.  Package may 

be deemed incomplete without this form.  

2.3 TRANSMITTAL LETTER

The Bidder should submit a Transmittal Letter that provides the following information: 

A. Name and address of individual or business entity submitting the Bid. 

B. Name, physical address, email address, business and fax number of the Bidder ’s principal 
contact person regarding all contractual matters relating to this IFB.

C. The Bid ’s Federal Employer Identification Number.

D. If the Proposal being submitted will have an effect on air quality for the County (as it relates to any 
state, federal, or voluntary air quality standard), then the Respondent is encouraged to provide
information in narrative indicating the anticipated air quality impact. See Section 4.36, Air Quality 
for more information. 

2.4 CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PARTIES – FORM 1295

As of January 1, 2016, all Successful Bidders are responsible for complying with the Texas Government 
Code, Section 2252.908.  The law states that the County may not enter into certain contracts with a 
Bidder unless the Bidder submits a disclosure of interested parties to the County at the time the Bidder 
submits the signed Contract.  The law applies only to a Contract of the County on or after January 1, 
2016 that either:

A. Requires an action or vote by the Commissioners Court before the Contract may be signed (all 
contracts that fall under the jurisdiction of the Commissioners Court approval, such as contracts 
resulting from an Initiation for Bid (IFB), RFP, Request for Qualifications (RFQ), etc., excluding, 
but not limited to, certain Juvenile Service contracts, contracts funded with Sheriff ’s seized fun 
monies, etc.); or

B. Has a value of at least $1,000,000. 

By January 1, 2016, the Texas Ethics Commission will make available on its website, a new filing 
application that must be used to file Form 1295.  Information regarding how to use the filing application is 
available on the Texas Ethics Commission website at the following link:

https://www.ethics.state.tx.us/whatsnew/elf_info_form1295.htm

A Respondent must:

A. Use the online application to process the required information on Form 1295.

B. Print a copy of the form which will contain a unique certification number.

C. An authorized agent of the Bidder must sign the printed copy of the form.

D. Have the form notarized.

E. File the completed Form 1295 and certification of filing (scanning and emailing form is sufficient) 
with Williamson County Purchasing Agent at the time the signed Contract is submitted for 
approval.

After the Commissioners Court award of the Contract, the County shall notify the Texas Ethics 
Commission, using the Texas Ethics Commission ’s filing application, of the receipt of the filed Form 
1295 and certification of filing not later than the 30th day after the date the Contract binds all parties to the 
Contract. The Texas Ethics Commission will post the completed Form 1295 to its website within seven 
business days after receiving notice from the County.

2.5 ETHICS

The Bidder shall not accept or offer gifts or anything of value nor enter into any business arrangement 
with any employee, official or agent of the County.

2.6 BID SUBMITTAL DEADLINE

The Bid is due no later than the submittal date and time set forth in the Public Announcement and 
General Information listed in this IFB package.  Contents of each Bid shall be submitted in accordance 
with this IFB.

2.7 DELIVERY OF BIDS

The County uses BidSync to distribute and receive Bids and proposals.  It is preferred that Bids
submitted electronically through BidSync; however, Bidders can submit a hard copy.  

Refer to www.bidsync.com for further information on how to submit electronically.

If mailed or delivered in person, Bids and Bid Addenda are to be delivered in sealed envelope on or before
the submittal deadline, as noted in the Public Announcement and General Information listed in this IFB 
package, to:

            Williamson County Purchasing Department
            Attn: Bid Name and Number
            901 South Austin Avenue
            Georgetown, Texas 78626

Also, all Bidders should list their Name and Address, and the Date of the Bid opening on the outside
the box or envelope and note “Sealed Bid Enclosed.” The County will not accept any Bids received after 
the submittal deadline, and shall return such Bids unopened to the Bidder.  The County will not accept 
any responsibility for Bids being delivered by third party carriers.  

Bids will be opened publically and the names of Bidders and pricing will be read aloud.

SECTION 3 - INSTRUCTIONS AND GENERAL REQUIREMENTS

3.1 INSTRUCTIONS

Read this document carefully, and follow all instructions and requirements.  All Bidders are responsible 
for fulfilling all requirements and specifications.  Be sure to have a clear understanding of this IFB.

General requirements apply to all advertised IFBs; however, these may be superseded, in whole or in 
part, by the bid specifications, Addenda and modifications issued as a part of this IFB.  Be sure your Bid 
package is complete.

3.2 AMBIGUITY, CONFLICT, OR OTHER ERRORS IN THIS IFB

If a Bidder discovers any ambiguity, conflict, discrepancy, omission or other error in this IFB, the Bidder 
shall immediately notify the County Purchasing Department of such error in writing and request
modification or clarification of the document.

Modifications will be made by issuing Addenda. If the Bidder fails to notify the County prior to the date
and time fixed for submission of Bids of an error or ambiguity in the IFB known to the Bidder, or an error
or ambiguity that reasonably should have been known to the Bidder, then the Bidder shall be deemed to 
have waived the error or ambiguity or its later resolution.

The County may also modify the IFB, no later than forty-eight (48) hours prior to the date and time fixed
for submission of Bids, by issuance of an Addendum.  All Addenda will be numbered consecutively, 
beginning with one (1).

3.3 NOTIFICATION OF MOST CURRENT ADDRESS

All Bidders in receipt of this IFB shall notify the Williamson County Purchasing Department of any
address changes, contact person changes, and/or telephone number changes no later than forty-eight 
(48) hours prior to the date and time fixed for submission of Bids.

3.4 SIGNATURE OF BIDDER

A. If the Bidder is a Corporation or Limited Liability Company, the legal name of the Corporation
Limited Liability Company shall be provided together with the signature of the officer or officers 
authorized to sign on behalf of such entity.

B. If the Bidder is a General Partnership, the true name of the firm shall be provided with the
signature of each partner authorized to sign.

C. If the Bidder is a Limited Partnership, the name of the Limited Partner ’s General Partner shall
provided with the signature of the officer authorized to sign on behalf of the General Partner.

D. If the Bidder is a Sole Proprietor(s) (individual), each Sole Proprietor(s) shall sign.

E. If signature is by an agent, other than the Sole Proprietor(s) or an officer of a Corporation, Limited 
Liability Company, General Partner or a member of a General Partnership, a power of attorney
equivalent document must be submitted to the Williamson County Purchasing Department.

3.5 ASSUMED BUSINESS NAME

If the Bidder operates business under an Assumed Business Name, the Bidder must have on file with the
Williamson County Clerk a current Assumed Name Certificate and provide a file marked copy of same.

3.6 BID OBLIGATION 

The contents of the IFB, Bid, and any clarification thereof submitted by the Successful Bidder shall
become part of the contractual obligation and incorporated by reference into the Contract and any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

3.7 COMPLIANCE WITH IFB SPECIFICATIONS

It is intended that this IFB describe the requirements and the Bid format in sufficient detail to secure 
comparable Bids.  Failure to comply with all provisions of the IFB may, at the sole discretion of the 
County, result in disqualification.

3.8 WITHDRAWAL OF BID

The Bidder may withdraw its Bid by submitting a written request with the company letterhead and the 
signature of an authorized individual, as described in Section 3.4, Signature of Bidder, to the Williamson 
County Purchasing Department any time prior to the submission deadline.  

The Bidder may submit a new Bid prior to the deadline. Alterations of the Bid in any manner will not be 
considered if submitted after the deadline.  Withdrawal of a Bid after the deadline will be subject to written 
approval of the Williamson County Purchasing Agent.

3.9 EVALUATION AND AWARD

The County reserves the right to use all pertinent information (also learned from sources other than 
disclosed in the Bid process) that might affect the County ’s judgment as to the appropriateness of
award to the lowest and best evaluated Bid. This information may be appended to the Bid evaluation
process results. Information on a Bidder from reliable sources, and not within the Bidder ’s Bid, may also 
be noted and made part of the evaluation fi le.  The County shall have sole discretion for determining 
the reliability of the source.

To ensure the proper and fair evaluation of a solicitation, the County prohibits unsolicited communication 
initiated by the Bidder to the County Official or Employee evaluating or considering the Bids prior to the 
time an award has been made. Unsolicited communication may be ground for disqualifying the 
offending Bidder from consideration or award of the solicitation, or any future solicitation.

Communication between the Bidder and the County will be initiated by the appropriate County Official
Employee in order to obtain information or clarification needed to develop a proper and accurate 
evaluation of the solicitation.

The County intends to award a Contract to the most responsible and responsive Bidder whose Bid will 
be most advantageous to the County. In accordance with Texas Government Code and Local
Government Code, the County may consider, to the extent allowed by law, the following:

A. Price;
B. The Bidder ’s experience and reputation;
C. Quality of the Bidder ’s goods and/or services; 
D. The Bidder ’s safety record;
E. The Bidder ’s proposed personnel; 
F. The Bidder ’s financial capabilities; and 
G. Any other relevant factors specifically listed in this IFB or authorized by law.

3.10 CONDISERATION OF LOCATION OF PRINCIPAL OFFICE 

Pursuant to Texas Local Government Code, Section 271.905 , in purchasing any real property or personal
property that is not affixed to real property, if the County receives one or more Bids from a Bidder whose
principal place of business is in Williamson County and whose Bid is within three (3 )  percent of the
lowest Bid price received by the County from a Bidder who is not a resident of Williamson County, the 
County may enter into a contract with:

A. The lowest Bidder; or the Bidder whose principal place of business is in Williamson County if the
Commissioners Court determines, in writing, that the local Bidder offers the County the best 
combination of contract price and addit ional economic development opportunities
Williamson County created by the contract award, including the employment of residents
Williamson County and increased tax revenues to Williamson County.

It is understood that the Commissioners Court of Williamson County, Texas, reserves the right to accept
or reject any and/or all Bids for any or all goods and/or services covered in this IFB, and to waive
informalities or defects in the Bid or to accept such Bid, if it shall deem to be in the best interest of the 
County.

Awards should be made approximately sixty (60) business days after the Bid opening date. Results may
be obtained by viewing the Williamson County vendor portal at the following link:

http://www.wilco.org/CountyDepartments/Purchasing/SearchforaPastBid/tabid/5213/language/en-
US/Default.aspx

3.11 RESPONSIBILITY 

It is expected that a prospective Bidder will be able to affirmatively demonstrate responsibility.  A 
prospective Bidder should be able to meet the following requirements:

A. Have adequate financial resources, or the ability to obtain such resources as required;
B. Be able to comply with the required or proposed delivery schedule;
C. Have a satisfactory record of performance that can be determined thru references provided; and 
D. Be otherwise qualified and eligible to receive an award.

The County may request representation and other information sufficient to determine the Bidder's ability 
to meet these minimum standards listed above.

3.12 FIRM PRICING 

For unit price items, all of the items listed are to be on a “per unit” basis, stating a firm price per unit or 
unit quantity of each item.  The Bidder must submit a firm price that must be good from the date of Bid 
opening for the fixed period of time set out in this IFB.  Unless the IFB expressly states otherwise, this 
period shall be until the end of the Initial Contract Period.

Bids which do not state a fixed price, or which are subject to change without notice, will not be 
considered.  The Court may award a Contract for the period implied or expressly stated in the lowest and 
best Bid.

3.13 PURCHASE ORDERS

If required by the Williamson County Purchasing Department, a purchase order(s) may be generated to 
the Successful Bidder for goods and/or services.  If a purchase order is issued, the purchase order 
number must appear on all itemized invoices and/or requests for payment.

3.14 SILENCE OF SPECIFICATIONS

The apparent silence of these specifications as to any detail or to the apparent omission from it of a 
detailed description concerning any point, shall be regarded as meaning that only the best practices are 
to prevail.  All interpretations of these specifications shall be made on the basis of this statement.

3.15 REFERENCES

The County may require the Bidder to supply a list of at least three (3) references where like services
and/or goods have been supplied by their firm within the past five (5) years, to include names, titles, 
phone numbers and email addresses of key personnel, and dates of performance.

The County may contact some or all of the references in order to determine the Respondent
performance record on work similar to that described in this RFP.  The County reserves the right to 
contact references other than those provided in the response and to use the information gained from 
them in the evaluation process.

References, if requested, should be provided in accordance with this IFB.  Bid may not be deemed 
complete without the inclusion of requested references.

SECTION 4 - TERMS AND CONDITIONS

4.1 VENUE AND GOVERNING LAW

The Bidder hereby agrees and acknowledges that venue and jurisdiction of any suit, right, or cause of 
action arising out of or in connection with this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s), shall lie 
exclusively in either Williamson County, Texas or in the Austin Division of the Western Federal District of 
Texas, and the parties hereto expressly consent and submit to such jurisdiction.  Furthermore, except to 
the extent that this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) is governed by the laws of the United 
States, this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be governed by and construed in 
accordance with the laws of the State of Texas, excluding, however, its choice of law rules.

4.2 INCORPORATION BY REFERENCE AND PRECEDENCE

A. The Contract shall be derived from the IFB and its Addenda (if applicable), and the Bidder ’ s Bid.  In 
the event of a dispute under the Contract, applicable documents will be referred to for the purpose 
of clarification or for additional detail in the following order of precedence:

1. The IFB and its Addenda (if applicable); and

2. The Bidder ’s Bid.

B. In the event the County requires that an Ensuing Agreement be executed following award and a 
dispute arises between the terms and conditions of the Ensuing Agreement, the IFB and its 
Addenda (if applicable), and the Bidder ’s Bid, applicable documents will be referred to for the 
purpose of clarification or for additional detail in the following order of precedence: 

1. Terms and conditions of the Ensuing Agreement;

2. The IFB its Addenda; and 

3. The Bidder ’s Bid.

4.3 OWNERSHIP OF BID

Each Bid shall become the property of the County upon submittal and will not be returned to Bidders 
unless received after the submittal deadline.

4.4 DISQUALIFICATION OF BIDDER

Upon signing and submittal of the Bid, a Bidder offering to sell supplies, materials, services, or equipment 
to the County, certifies that the Bidder has not violated the antitrust laws of the State of Texas codified in 
Business & Commerce Code, Section 15.01, or the Federal Antitrust Laws, and has not communicated 
directly or indirectly the offer made to any competitor or any other person engaged in such line of 
business.  Any or all Bids may be rejected if the County believes that collusion exists among the Bidders.

4.5 FUNDING

The County intends to budget and make sufficient funds available and authorize funds for expenditure to 
finance the costs of the Contract.  All Bidders understand and agree that the County’s payment of 
amounts under the Contract shall be contingent on the County receiving appropriations or other 
expenditure authority sufficient to allow the County, in the exercise of reasonable administrative 
discretion, to make payments under this Contract.

4.6 ASSIGNMENT, SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS 

The Successful Bidder may not assign, sell, or otherwise transfer the Contract or any other rights or 
interests obtained under the Contract without written permission of the Commissioners Court.  The 
Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the contracting 
parties hereto and their respective successors and permitted assigns.

4.7 IMPLIED REQUIREMENTS

Products or services not specifically described or required in the IFB, but are necessary to provide the 
functional capabilities described by the Bidder, shall be implied and deemed to be included in the Bid.

4.8 TERMINATION

A. Termination for Cause: The County reserves the right to terminate the Contract and/or any 
Ensuing Agreement(s) for default if the Successful Bidder breaches any of the Bid specifications,
terms and conditions, including warranties of the Bidder, if any, or if the Successful Bidder 
becomes insolvent or commits acts of bankruptcy.  Such right of termination is in addition to and
not in lieu of any other remedies the County may have at law or in equity or as may otherwise
provided hereunder.  Default may be construed as, but not limited to, failure to deliver the proper 
goods and/or services within the proper amount of time, and/or to properly perform any and all 
other requirements to the County ’s satisfaction, and/or to meet all other obligations and
requirements.

B. Termination for Convenience: The County may terminate the Contract and/or any Ensuing 
Agreement(s) for convenience and without cause or further liability, upon no less than thirty (30) 
calendar days written notice to the Successful Bidder. The County reserves the right to extend 
this period if it is in the best interest of the County.  In the event the County exercises its right to 
terminate without cause, it is understood and agreed that only the amounts due to the Successful 
Bidder for goods, commodities and/or services provided and expenses incurred to and including 
the date of termination, will be due and payable.  No penalty will be assessed for the County
termination for convenience.

4.9 NON-PERFORMANCE

It is the objective of the County to obtain complete and satisfactory performance of the requirements set 
forth herein.  In addition to any other remedies available at law, in equity or that may be set out herein, 
failure to perform may result in a deduction of payment equal to the amount of the goods and/or services 
that were not provided and/or performed to the County ’s satisfaction.  

In the event of such non-performance, the County shall have the right, but shall not be obligated, to 
complete the services itself or by others and/or purchase the goods from other sources.  If the County 
elects to acquire the goods or perform the services itself or by others, pursuant to the foregoing, the 
Successful Bidder shall reimburse the County, within ten (10) calendar days of demand, for all costs 
incurred by the County (including, without limitation, applicable, general, and administrative expenses, 
and field overhead, and the cost of necessary equipment, materials, and field labor) in correcting the 
nonperformance which the Successful Bidder fails to meet pursuant to the requirements set out herein.  
In the event the Successful Bidder refuses to reimburse the County as set out in this provision, the 
County shall have the right to deduct such reimbursement amounts from any amounts that may be then 
owing or that may become owing in the future to the Successful Bidder.

4.10 PROPRIETARY INFORMATION AND THE TEXAS PUBLIC INFORMATION ACT

All material submitted to the County shall become public property and subject to the Texas Public 
Information Act upon receipt. If a Bidder does not desire proprietary information in the Bid to be 
disclosed, each page must be clearly identified and marked proprietary at time of submittal or, more 
preferably, all proprietary information may be placed in a folder or appendix and be clearly identified and 
marked as being proprietary.  Failure to clearly identify and mark information as being proprietary as set 
forth under this provision will result in all unmarked information being deemed non-proprietary and 
available to the public.  For all information that has not been clearly identified and marked as proprietary 
by the Bidder, the County may choose to place such information on the County ’s website and/or a similar 
public database without obtaining any type of prior consent from the Bidder.

The County will, to the extent allowed by law, endeavor to protect from public disclosure the information 
that has been identified and marked as proprietary.  The final decision as to what information must be 
disclosed, however, lies with the Texas Attorney General.  

To the extent, if any, that any provision in this IFB or in the Bidder ’s Bid is in conflict with Texas 
Government Code, Chapter 552, as amended (the “Public Information Act”), the same shall be of no 
force or effect.  Furthermore, it is expressly understood, and agreed, that the County, and its officers and 
employees, may request advice, decisions and opinions of the Attorney General of the State of Texas in 
regard to the application of the Public Information Act to any items or data furnished to the County as to 
whether or not the same are available to the public.  It is further understood that the County, and its 
officers and employees, shall have the right to rely on the advice, decisions and opinions of the Attorney 
General, and that the County, its officers and employees shall have no liability or obligation to any party 
hereto for the disclosure to the public, or to any person or persons, of any items or data furnished to the 
County by a party hereto, in reliance of any advice, decision or opinion of the Attorney General of the 
State of Texas.

4.11 RIGHT TO AUDIT

The Successful Bidder agrees that the County or its duly authorized representatives shall, until the 
expiration of three (3) years after termination or expiration of the services to be performed, have access 
to and the right to examine and photocopy any and all books, documents, papers and records of the 
Successful Bidder, which are directly pertinent to the services to be performed or goods to be delivered 
for the purposes of making audits, examinations, excerpts and transcriptions.  The Successful Bidder 
agrees that the County shall have access during normal working hours to all necessary facilities and 
shall be provided adequate and appropriate work space in order to conduct audits in compliance with the 
provisions of this section.  The County shall give the Successful Bidder reasonable advance notice of 
intended audits.

4.12 TESTING AND INSPECTIONS

The County reserves the right to inspect and test equipment, supplies, materials and goods for quality 
and compliance with this IFB, and ability to meet the needs of the user.  Demonstration units must be 
available for review.  Should the goods or services fail to meet requirements and/or be unavailable for 
evaluation, the County can deem the Bidder to be in breach and terminate the Contract and/or any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

4.13 BID PREPARATION COSTS

The cost of developing Bids is the sole responsibility of the Bidders and shall not be charged to the 
County.  There is no expressed or implied obligation for the County to reimburse the Bidders for any 
expense incurred in preparing a Bid in response to this IFB and the County will not reimburse the Bidders 
for such expenses.

4.14 INDEMNIFICATION

The Successful Bidder shall indemnify, defend and save harmless, the County, its officials, employees, 
agents and agent ’s employees from, and against, all claims, liability, and expenses including reasonable 
attorneys ’   fees, arising from activities of the Bidder, its agents, servants or employees, performed 
hereunder that result from the negligent act, error, or omission of the Bidder or any of the Bidder
agents, servants or employees, as well as all claims of loss or damage to the Bidder ’s and the County
property, equipment, and/or supplies. 

Furthermore, the County, its officials, employees, agents and agents ’ employees shall not be liable for 
damages to the Successful Bidder arising from any act of any third party, including, but not limited to, 
theft.  The Successful Bidder further agrees to indemnify, defend and save harmless, the County from its 
officials, employee, agents and agents ’ employees against all claims of whatever nature arising from any 
accident, injury, or damage whatsoever, caused to any person, or the property of any person, occurring 
in relation to the Successful Bidder ’s performance of any services requested hereunder during the term 
of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s). 

The Successful Bidder shall timely report all claims, demands, suits, actions, proceedings, liens or 
judgements to the County and shall, upon the receipt of any claim, demand, suit, action, proceeding, lien 

or judgement, not later than the fifteenth (15 th) day of each month; provide the County with a written 
report on each such matter, setting forth the status of each matter, the schedule or planned proceedings 
with respect to each matter and the cooperation or assistance, if any, of the County required by the 
Successful Bidder in the defense of each matter.  The Successful Bidder’s duty to defend, indemnify and 
hold the County harmless shall be absolute.  It shall not abate or end by reason of the expiration or 
termination of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s), unless otherwise agreed by the County in 
writing.  The provisions of this section shall survive the termination of the Contract and shall remain in full 
force and effect with respect to all such matters no matter when they arise. 

In the event of any dispute between the parties, as to whether a claim, demand, suit, action, proceeding, 
lien or judgement, that appears to have been caused by or appears to have arisen out of or in connection 
with acts or omissions of the County, the Bidder shall nevertheless fully defend such claim, demand, suit 
or action, proceeding, lien or judgement, until and unless there is a determination by a court of competent 
jurisdiction that the acts and omissions of the Bidder are not an issue in the matter. 

The Successful Bidder ’s indemnification shall cover, and the Successful Bidder agrees to, indemnify the 
County, in the event the County is found to have been negligent for having selected the Successful 
Bidder to perform the work described in this request.  The provision by the Successful Bidder of 
insurance shall not limit the liability of the Successful Bidder under the Contract and/or any Ensuing 
Agreement(s). 

4.15 WAIVER OF SUBROGATION

The Successful Bidder and the Successful Bidder ’s insurance carrier waive any and all rights 
whatsoever with regard to subrogation against the County as an indirect party to any suit arising out of 
personal or property damages resulting from the Bidder ’s performance under this Contract and any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

4.16 RELATIONSHIP OF THE PARTIES

The Successful Bidder shall be an independent contractor and shall assume all of the rights, obligations, 
liabilities, applicable to it as such independent contractor hereunder and any provisions herein which may 
appear to give the County the right to direct the Successful Bidder as to details of doing work herein 
covered, or to exercise a measure of control over the work, shall be deemed to mean that the Successful 
Bidder shall follow the desires of the County in the results of the work only.  The County shall not retain or 
have the right to control the Successful Bidder ’s means, methods or details pertaining to the Successful 
Bidder ’s performance of the work.  The County and the Successful Bidder hereby agree and declare that 
the Successful Bidder is an independent contractor and as such meets the qualifications of an 
“Independent Contractor” under Texas Workers Compensation Act, Texas Labor Code, Section 406.141, 
that the Successful Bidder is not an employee of  the County, and that the Successful Bidder and its 
employees, agents and subcontractors shall not be entitled to workers compensation coverage or any 
other type of insurance coverage held by the County.

4.17 SOLE PROVIDER

The Successful Bidder agrees and acknowledges that it shall not be considered a sole provider of the 
goods and/or services described herein and that the County may contract with other providers of such 
goods and/or services if the County deems, at its sole discretion, that multiple providers of the same 
goods and/or services will serve the best interest of the County.

4.18 FORCE MAJEURE

If the party obligated to perform is prevented from performance by an act of war, order of legal authority, 
act of God, or other unavoidable cause not attributable to the fault or negligence of said party, the other 
party shall grant such party relief from the performance.  The burden of proof for the need of such relief 
shall rest upon the party obligated to perform.  To obtain release based on force majeure, the party 
obligated to perform shall file a written request with the other party.

4.19 SEVERABILITY

If any provision of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be held invalid or 
unenforceable by any court of competent jurisdiction, such holding shall not invalidate or render 
unenforceable any other provision thereof, but rather the entire IFB, Contract or any Ensuing Agreement
(s) will be construed as if not containing the particular invalid or unenforceable provision or provisions, 
and the rights and obligation of the parties shall be construed and enforced in accordance therewith.  The 
parties acknowledge that if any provision of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) is 
determined to be invalid or unenforceable, it is the desire and intention of each that such provision be 
reformed and construed in such a manner that it will, to the maximum extent practicable, give effect to
the intent of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) and be deemed to be validated and
enforceable.

4.20 EQUAL OPPORTUNITY

Neither party shall discriminate against any employee or applicant for employment because of race, 
color, sex, religion or national origin.

4.21 NOTICE

Any notice to be given shall be in writing and may be distributed by personal delivery, or by registered or 
certified mail, return receipt requested, addressed to the proper party, at the following address:

The County:    Williamson County Purchasing Department 
            Attn: Purchasing Agent 
            901 South Austin Avenue 
            Georgetown, Texas 78626

The Bidder:     Address set out in Bidder’s Transmittal Letter.

Notices given in accordance with this provision shall be effective upon (1) receipt by the party to which 
notice is given, or (2) on the third (3rd) calendar day following mailing, whichever occurs first.

4.22 SALES AND USE TAX EXEMPTION

The County is a body, corporate and politic, under the laws of the State of Texas and claims exemption 
from sales and use taxes under Texas Tax Code, Section 151.309, as amended, and the services and/or 
goods subject hereof are being secured for use by the County.

4.23 COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS

The County and the Successful Bidder shall comply with all federal, state, and local laws, statutes,
ordinances, rules and regulations, and the orders and decrees of any courts or administrative bodies or 
tribunals in any matter affecting the performance of the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s),
including, without limitation, Workers ’ Compensation laws, salary and wage statutes and regulations, 
licensing laws and regulations.  When required, the Successful Bidder shall furnish the County with 
certification of compliance with said laws, statues, ordinances, rules, regulations, orders, and decrees 
above specified.

4.24 INCORPORATION OF EXHIBITS, APPENDICES AND ATTACHMENTS

All of the Exhibits, Appendices and Attachments referred to herein are incorporated by reference as if set 
forth verbatim herein.  Any conflicting terms in the Contract documents will be resolved at the sole 
discretion of the Commissioners Court.

4.25 NO WAIVER OF IMMUNITIES

Nothing herein shall be deemed to waive, modify or amend any legal defense available at law or in equity 
to the County, its past or present officers, employees, or agents, nor to create any legal rights or claim on 
behalf of any third party.  The County does not waive, modify, or alter to any extent whatsoever the 
availability of the defense of governmental immunity under the laws of the State of Texas and of the 
United States.

4.26 NO WAIVER

The failure or delay of any party to enforce at any time or any period of time any of the provisions of this 
IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall not constitute a present or future waiver of such 
provisions nor the right of either party to enforce each and every provision.  Furthermore, no term or 
provision hereof shall be deemed waived and no breach excused unless such waiver or consent shall be 
in writing and signed by the party claimed to have waived or consented.  Any consent by any party to, or 
waiver of, a breach by the other, whether expressed or implied, shall not constitute a consent to, waiver 
of or excuse for any other, different or subsequent breach.

4.27 CURRENT REVENUES

The obligations of the parties under the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) do not constitute a 
general obligation or indebtedness of the County for which the County is obligated to levy, pledge, or 
collect any of taxation.  It is understood and agreed that the County shall have the right to terminate the 
Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) at the end of any the County fiscal year if the governing body of 
the County does not appropriate sufficient funds as determined by the County ’s budget for the fiscal year 
in question.  The County may effect such termination by giving written notice of termination to the 
Successful Bidder at the end of its then-current fiscal year.

4.28 FOB DESTINATION

To the extent applicable to this IFB, all of the items listed are to be Free On Board to final destination 
(FOB Destination) with all transportation charges if applicable to be included in the Bid, unless otherwise 
specified in the Invitation for Bids.  The title and risk of loss of the goods shall not pass to the County until 
receipt and acceptance takes place at the FOB Destination point.

4.29 BINDING EFFECT

This Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties 
and their respective permitted assigns and successors.

4.30 ASSIGNMENT

The Successful Bidder ’s interest and duties hereunder may not be assigned or delegated to a third party 
without the express written consent of the County.

4.31 SAFETY

The Successful Bidder is responsible for initiating, maintaining, and supervising all safety precautions 
and programs in connection with any services to be provided hereunder. The safety program shall 
comply with all applicable requirements of the current federal Occupational Safety and Health Act and all 
other applicable federal, state and local laws and regulations.

4.32 GENERAL OBLIGATIONS AND RELIANCE

The Successful Bidder shall perform all services and/or provide all goods, as well as those reasonably
inferable and necessary for completion and provision of services and/or goods required hereunder. The
Successful Bidder shall keep the County informed of the progress and quality of the services.  The 
Successful Bidder agrees and acknowledges that the County is relying on the Successful Bidder's 
represented expertise and ability to provide the goods and/or services described herein.  The Successful
Bidder agrees to use its best efforts, skill, judgment, and abilities to perform its obligations in accordance
with the highest standards used in the profession and to further the interests of the County 
accordance with the County ’s requirements and procedures.    T h e   Successful Bidder ’s duties,
set forth herein, shall at no time be in any way diminished by reason of any approval by the County, nor
shall the Successful Bidder be released from any liability by reason of such approval by the County, it 
being understood that the County at all times is ultimately relying upon the Successful Bidder ’s skill and 
knowledge in performing the services and providing any goods required hereunder.

4.33 ESTIMATED QUANTITIES

To the extent applicable to this IFB, the estimated quantity of each item listed in this IFB is only
estimate; the actual quantity to be purchased may be more or less. The County is not obligated
purchase any minimum amount, and the County may purchase any reasonable amount greater than the
estimate for the same unit price. Any limit on quantities available must be stated expressly in the Bid.

4.34 CONTRACTUAL DEVELOPMENT

The contents of the IFB and the Successful Bidder ’s Bid will become an integral part of the Contract, but 
may be modified, at the County ’s sole discretion, by provisions of an Ensuing Agreement.  Therefore, the 
Bidder must agree to an inclusion of an Ensuing Agreement of the Bid specifications, terms and 
conditions of this IFB.  If an Ensuing Agreement is required under this IFB, information relative to the 
Agreement will be located in the Special Provisions Section of this IFB.

4.35 SURVIVABILITY 

All applicable agreements that were entered into between the Successful Bidder and the County, under 
the terms and conditions of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s), shall survive the expiration or 
termination thereof for ninety (90) days unless a new contract has been awarded.

The County may exercise, by written notice to the Successful Bidder no later than ten (10) calendar days 
of the Contract expiration, this clause for emergencies only. 

4.36 AIR QUALITY

In determining the overall best Bid, the County may, to the extent applicable, exercise the option granted 
to local governments under the Texas Local Government Code, Section 271.907.

This option allows the County to evaluate Bids and give preference to goods and/or services of a Bidder 
that demonstrates that the Bidder meets or exceeds any and all state or federal environmental 
standards, including voluntary standards, relating to air quality.  If the Bid being submitted will have an 
effect on air quality for the County (as it relates to any state, federal, or voluntary air quality standard), 
then the Bidder is encouraged to provide information in narrative indicating the anticipated air quality 
impact.  All Bidders are expected to meet all mandated state and federal air quality standards.

4.37 ENTIRE AGREEMENT

The Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall supersede all prior Agreements, written or oral 
between the Successful Bidder and the County and shall constitute the entire Agreement and 
understanding between the parties with respect to the services and/or goods to be provided.  Each of the 
provisions herein shall be binding upon the parties and may not be waived, modified, amended or altered, 
except by writing signed by the Successful Bidder and the County.

4.38 PAYMENT

The County ’s payment for goods and services shall be governed by the Texas Government Code, 

Chapter 2251.  An invoice shall be deemed overdue the thirty-first (31st) day after the later of the 
following: 

A. The date the County receives the goods under the Contract; 
B. The date the performance of the service under the Contract is completed; or 
C. The date the Williamson County Auditor receives an invoice for the goods or services.  

Interest charges for any overdue payments shall be paid by the County in accordance with Texas 
Government Code, Section 2251.025.  More specifically, the rate of interest that shall accrue on a late 
payment is the rate in effect on September 1 of the County ’s fiscal year in which the payment becomes 
due.  The said rate in effect on September 1 shall be equal to the sum of one (1) percent, and the prime 

rate published in the Wall Street Journal on the first (1st) day of July of the preceding fiscal year that does 
not fall on a Saturday or Sunday.

In the event that an error appears in an invoice submitted by the Successful Bidder, the County shall 
notify the Successful Bidder of the error not later than the twenty-first (21st) day after the date the County 
receives the invoice.  If the error is resolved in favor of the Successful Bidder, the Successful Bidder 
shall be entitled to receive interest on the unpaid balance of the invoice submitted by the Successful 
Bidder beginning on the date that the payment for the invoice became overdue.  If the error is resolved in 
favor of the County, the Successful Bidder shall submit a corrected invoice that must be paid in 
accordance within the time set forth above.  The unpaid balance accrues interest as provided by the 
Texas Government Code, Chapter 2251, if the corrected invoice is not paid by the appropriate date.

As a minimum, invoices shall include:

A. Name, address, and telephone number of the Successful Bidder and similar information in the 
event the payment is to be made to a different address. 

B. The County Contract, Purchase Order. 

C. Identification of items or service as outlined in the Contract. 

D. Quantity or quantities, applicable unit prices, total prices and total amount. 

E. Any additional payment information which may be called for by the Contract. 

Payment inquiries should be directed to the following address:        

            Williamson County Auditor’s Office, Accounts Payable Department
            Email: accountspayable@wilco.org
            Phone: 512-943-1500

4.39 CONTRACTUAL FORMATION AND ENSUING AGREEMENT

The IFB and the Bidder ’s Bid, when properly accepted by the Commissioners Court, shall constitute a
Contract equally binding between the Successful Bidder and the County.

If an Ensuing Agreement is required by this IFB, that information will be provided in Special 
Provisions section of this IFB.  The Successful Bidder shall be required to execute the Agreement at 
the Williamson County Purchasing Department approximately ten (10) calendar days after the 
Successful Bidder is notified of award.  The Ensuing Agreement shall be in the same form as the 
Agreement which is attached to the end of this IFB.  The only anticipated changes in the Ensuing 
Agreement will be to include additional exhibits, to fill in blanks to identify the Successful Bidder, and 
terms relating to the compensation, or to revise the Agreement to accommodate corrections, changes in 
the scope of services, or changes pursuant to Addenda issued.  Bidders should raise any questions 
regarding the terms of the Agreement in the form of written questions or submittals as 
described in the Public Announcement and General Information portion of this IFB.  Because the 
signed Ensuing Agreement will be substantively and substantially derived from the attached Agreement, 
each Bidder is urged to seek independent legal counsel as to any questions about the terms, conditions 
or provisions contained in the Agreement before submitting a Bid.  Again, the attached Agreement, if 
applicable, contains important legal provisions and is considered part and parcel of this IFB.  Failure or 
refusal to sign aforesaid Agreement shall be grounds for the County to revoke any award which has been 
issued, forfeit Bid security, if applicable, and select another Bidder.

4.40 COOPERATIVE PURCHASING PROGRAM 

During the term of the Contract resulting from this IFB, the County would like to afford the same prices, 
terms and conditions to other political subdivisions or public entities.  Another entity’s participation in the 
Contract resulting from this IFB is subject to a properly authorized Purchasing Cooperative Inter- local 
Agreement with the County.  Any liability created by purchase orders issued against the Contract shall be 
the sole responsibility of the governmental agency placing the order.

4.41 INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS

To the extent applicable Insurance information will appear in the Additional Stipulations section that is in 
this IFB Package. 

4.42 BIDDERS BOND, WARRANTY BOND, PERFORMANCE AND PAYMENT BONDS

To the extent applicable Bond information will appear in the Additional Stipulations section that is in this 
IFB Package. 

4.43 LEGAL LIABILITY INFORMATION

The Successful Bidder shall disclose all legal liability information by listing any pending litigation
anticipated litigation that your firm is involved in including, but not limited to, potential or actual legal
matters with private parties and any local, state, federal or international governmental entities. The
County reserves the right to consider legal liability information in the recommendation of any proposed 
contract to the Commissioners Court.

4.44 INCLEMENT WEATHER

In case of inclement weather or any other unforeseen event causing the County to close for business on 
the date of a Bid submission deadline, the Bid closing will automatically be postponed until the next 
business day the County is open.  If inclement weather conditions or any other unforeseen event causes 
delays in carrier service operations, the County may issue an Addendum to all known Bidders interested 
in the project to extend the deadline.  It will be the responsibility of the Bidder to notify the County of their 
interest in the project if these conditions are impacting their ability to turn in a submission within the 
stated deadline.  The County reserves the right to make the final judgement call to extend any deadline. 

4.45 PREVAILING WAGE RATES

To the extent this procurement is for the construction of a public work, including a building, highway, 
road, excavation, and repair work or other project development or improvement, paid for in whole or in 
part from public funds, without regard to whether the work is done under public supervision or direction, 
Texas Government Code, Chapter 2258, shall apply and the contractor shall pay not less than the wage 
scale of the various classes of labor as shown on the “Prevailing Wage Schedule” provided by the 
County. Pursuant to Texas Government Code, Section 2258.022(a)(2), the County has determined the 
general prevailing rate of the “Prevailing Wage Schedule”  in the locality in which the public work is to be 
performed for each craft or type of worker needed to execute the contract and the prevailing rate for legal 
holiday and overtime work by using the prevailing wage rate as determined by the United States 
Department of Labor in accordance with the United States Code, Section 276a (Davis-Bacon Act). 

The specified wage rates are minimum rates only, and are not representations that qualified labor 
adequate to perform the work is available locally at the prevailing wage rates. The County is not bound to 
pay—and will not consider—any claims for additional compensation made by any contractor because the 
contractor pays wages in excess of the applicable minimum rate contained in the Contract Documents. 
The “Prevailing Wage Schedule”  is not a representation that quantities of qualified labor adequate to 
perform the work may be found locally at the specified wage rates.

For classifications not shown, workers shall not be paid less than the wage indicated for laborers. The 
contractor shall notify each worker commencing work on the project the worker ’s job classification and 
the established minimum wage rate required to be paid, as well as the actual amount being paid. The 
notice must be delivered to and signed in acknowledgement of receipt by the employee and must list 
both the monetary wages and fringe benefits to be paid or furnished for each classification in which the 
worker is assigned duties. When requested by the County, competent evidence of compliance with the 
Texas Prevailing Wage Law shall be furnished by contractor. A copy of each worker wage rate 
notification shall be submitted to the County with the Application for Payment for the period during which 
the worker began on-site activities.

Should the contractor at any time become aware that a particular skill or trade not reflected on the 
County ’s “Prevailing Wage Schedule” will be or is being employed in the work, whether by the contractor 
or by a subcontractor, the contractor shall promptly inform the County and shall specify a wage rate for 
that skill or trade, which shall bind the contractor.

The contractor and any subcontractor shall pay to the County a penalty of sixty dollars ($60.00) for each 
worker employed for each calendar day, or portion thereof, that the worker is paid less than the wage 
rates stipulated in the “Prevailing Wage Schedule” or any supplement thereto. The contractor and each 
subcontractor shall keep, or cause to be kept, an accurate record showing the names and occupations 
of all workers employed in connection with the work, and showing the actual per diem wages paid to 
each worker, which records shall be open at all reasonable hours for the inspection by the County.

Within thirty-one (31) days of receipt of information concerning a violation of the Texas Government Code 
Chapter 2258, the County shall make an initial determination as to whether good cause exists to believe 
a violation occurred. The County ’s decision on the initial determination shall be reduced to writing and 
sent to the contractor or subcontractor against whom the violation was alleged, and to the affected 
worker. When a good cause finding is made, the County shall retain the full amounts claimed by the 
claimant or claimants as the difference between wages paid and wages due under the “Prevailing Wage 
Schedule” and any supplements thereto, together with the applicable penalties, such amounts being 
subtracted from successive progress payments pending a final decision on the violation.

After the County makes its initial determination, the affected contractor or subcontractor and worker have 
fourteen (14) calendar days in which to resolve the issue of whether a violation occurred, including the 
amount that should be retained by the County or paid to the affected worker. If the contractor or 
subcontractor and affected worker reach an agreement concerning the worker ’s claim, the contractor 
shall promptly notify the County in a written document signed by the worker. It the contractor or 

Subcontractor and affected worker do not agree before the fifteenth (15 th) calendar day after the County
determination, the contractor or subcontractor and affected worker must participate in binding arbitration 
in accordance with the Texas General Arbitration Act, Chapter 171, (Texas Civil Practice and Remedies 
Code). The parties to the arbitration have ten (10) calendar days after the expiration of the fifteen (15) 

calendar days referred to above, to agree on an arbitrator; if by the eleventh (11 th) calendar day there is 
no agreement to an arbitrator, a district court shall appoint an arbitrator on the petition of any of the 
parties to the arbitration.

If an arbitrator determines that a violation has occurred, the arbitrator shall assess and award against the 
contractor or subcontractor the amount of penalty as provided above and the amount owed the worker. 
The County may use any amounts retained hereunder to pay the worker the amount as designated in the 
arbitration award. If the County has not retained enough from the contractor or subcontractor to pay the 
worker in accordance with the arbitration award, the worker has a right of action against the contractor 
and subcontractor as appropriate, and the surety of either to receive the amount owed, attorneys ’  fees 
and court costs. The contractor shall promptly furnish a copy of the arbitration award to the County.

Money retained pursuant to the provisions above shall be used to pay the claimant or claimants the 
difference between the amount the worker received in wages for labor on the project at the rate paid by 
the contractor or subcontractor and the amount the worker would have received at the general prevailing 
wage rate as provided by the agreement of the claimant and the contractor or subcontractor affected, or 
in the arbitrator ’s award. The full statutory penalty of sixty dollars ($60.00) per calendar day of violation 
per worker shall be retained by Williamson County to offset its administrative costs, pursuant to Texas 
Government Code, Section, 2258.023. Any retained funds in excess of these amounts shall be paid to 
the contractor on the earlier of the next progress payment or final payment. Provided, however, that the 
County shall have no duty to release any funds to either the claimant or the contractor until it has 
received the notices of agreement or the arbitration award as provided under the provision herein-above.

4.46 CONFIDENTIALITY

The Bidder expressly agrees that it will not use any direct or incidental confidential information that may 
be obtained while working in a governmental setting for its own benefit, and agrees that it will not access 
unauthorized areas or confidential information and it will not disclose any information to unauthorized 
third parties, and will take care to guard the security of the information at all times.

Bid 1704-157Williamson County, Texas

4/7/2017 9:30 AM p. 14



5

6

3 4

Williamson County – Invitation for Bid (IFB)

SECTION 1 - DEFINITIONS 

Addendum/Addenda – means any written or graphic instruments issued by the County prior to the 
consideration of Bids which modify or interpret the Bid Documents by additions, deletions, clarifications, 
or corrections.

Agreement/Ensuing Agreement(s) – means the Successful Bidder may be required by the County to 
sign an additional Agreement containing terms necessary to ensure compliance with the IFB and the 
Bidder ’s Bid.  Such Ensuing Agreement(s) shall contain the Bid specifications, terms and conditions that 
are derived from the IFB.

Bid Documents – means the Legal Notice, IFB including attachments, and any Addenda issued by the 
County prior to the consideration of any Bids.

Bid – means the completed and signed bid form, (sometimes referred to as the Price Sheet), and ALL 
required forms and documentation listed in the IFB package which have been submitted in accordance 
with the terms and conditions described in the IFB package.  A Bid submitted in accordance with this IFB 
is irrevocable during the specified period for evaluation and acceptance of Bids unless a waiver is 
obtained from the Williamson County Purchasing Agent.

Bidder – means a person or entity who submits a Bid in response to this IFB.

Contract – means this IFB and the Bid of the Successful Bidder shall become a Contract between the 
Successful Bidder and the County once the Successful Bidder ’s Bid is properly accepted by the 
Williamson County Commissioners Court.

Commissioner ’s Court – means the Williamson County Commissioners Court. 

County – means Williamson County, a political subdivision of the State of Texas.

Invitation for Bid (IFB) – means this document, together with the attachments thereto and any future 
Addenda issued by the County.

Successful Bidder – means the liable Bidder to whom the County intends to award the Contract.

SECTION 2 - BID FORMAT AND SUBMISSION

2.1 ORGANIZATION OF BID CONTENTS FOR SUBMITTAL 

Each Bid should be organized and items submitted in the order described below: 

A. Transmittal Letter. Please see Section 2.3, Transmittal Letter, for more information. 

B. Price Sheet.

C. Conflict of Interest Questionnaire. Please see Section 2.2, Conflict of Interest, for more 
information in regards to this. Please note that even if you deem there to be no Conflict of Interest, 
this signed questionnaire must be included in your package. 

D. References. Please see Section 3.15, References, for more information. 

E. Bid Affidavit.

F. Form 1295. Please see Section 2.4, Certificate of Interested Parties – Form 1295. 

2.2 CONFLICT OF INTEREST

No public official shall have interest in a Contract, in accordance with Vernon ’s Texas Codes Annotated, 
Local Government Code, Title 5, Subtitle C, Chapter 171, as amended. 

As of January 1, 2006, all Bidders are responsible for complying with Local Government Code, Title 5, 
Subtitle C, Chapter 176.  Additional information may be obtained from the County’s website at the 
following link: 

http://www.wilco.org/CountyDepartments/Purchasing/ConflictofInterestDisclosure/tabid/689/language/en
US/Default.aspx

Each Bidder must disclose any existing or potential conflict of interest relative to the performance of the 
requirements of this IFB.  Examples of potential conflicts of interest may include an existing 
business or personal relationship between the Bidder, its principal, or any affiliate or 
subcontractor with the County or any other entity or person involved in any way with the project 
that is subject to this IFB .  Similarly, any personal or business relationship between the Bidder, the 

principals, or any affiliate or subcontractor with any employee, or official of the County or its suppliers 
must be disclosed.  Any such relationship that might be perceived or represented as a conflict must be 
disclosed. Failure to disclose any such relationship or reveal personal relationships with the County 
employees or officials may be cause for termination. 

The County will decide if an actual or perceived conflict should result in Bid disqualification. 

By submitting a Bid in response to this IFB, all Bidders affirm they have not given, nor intend to give, at 
any time hereafter, any economic opportunity, future employment, gift, loan, gratuity, special discount, 
trip, favor, or service to a the County public servant or any employee, official or representative of same, in 
connection with this procurement. 

Each Bidder must provide a Conflict of Interest Statement with their Bid Package.  Package may 

be deemed incomplete without this form.  

2.3 TRANSMITTAL LETTER

The Bidder should submit a Transmittal Letter that provides the following information: 

A. Name and address of individual or business entity submitting the Bid. 

B. Name, physical address, email address, business and fax number of the Bidder ’s principal 
contact person regarding all contractual matters relating to this IFB.

C. The Bid ’s Federal Employer Identification Number.

D. If the Proposal being submitted will have an effect on air quality for the County (as it relates to any 
state, federal, or voluntary air quality standard), then the Respondent is encouraged to provide
information in narrative indicating the anticipated air quality impact. See Section 4.36, Air Quality 
for more information. 

2.4 CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PARTIES – FORM 1295

As of January 1, 2016, all Successful Bidders are responsible for complying with the Texas Government 
Code, Section 2252.908.  The law states that the County may not enter into certain contracts with a 
Bidder unless the Bidder submits a disclosure of interested parties to the County at the time the Bidder 
submits the signed Contract.  The law applies only to a Contract of the County on or after January 1, 
2016 that either:

A. Requires an action or vote by the Commissioners Court before the Contract may be signed (all 
contracts that fall under the jurisdiction of the Commissioners Court approval, such as contracts 
resulting from an Initiation for Bid (IFB), RFP, Request for Qualifications (RFQ), etc., excluding, 
but not limited to, certain Juvenile Service contracts, contracts funded with Sheriff ’s seized fun 
monies, etc.); or

B. Has a value of at least $1,000,000. 

By January 1, 2016, the Texas Ethics Commission will make available on its website, a new filing 
application that must be used to file Form 1295.  Information regarding how to use the filing application is 
available on the Texas Ethics Commission website at the following link:

https://www.ethics.state.tx.us/whatsnew/elf_info_form1295.htm

A Respondent must:

A. Use the online application to process the required information on Form 1295.

B. Print a copy of the form which will contain a unique certification number.

C. An authorized agent of the Bidder must sign the printed copy of the form.

D. Have the form notarized.

E. File the completed Form 1295 and certification of filing (scanning and emailing form is sufficient) 
with Williamson County Purchasing Agent at the time the signed Contract is submitted for 
approval.

After the Commissioners Court award of the Contract, the County shall notify the Texas Ethics 
Commission, using the Texas Ethics Commission ’s filing application, of the receipt of the filed Form 
1295 and certification of filing not later than the 30th day after the date the Contract binds all parties to the 
Contract. The Texas Ethics Commission will post the completed Form 1295 to its website within seven 
business days after receiving notice from the County.

2.5 ETHICS

The Bidder shall not accept or offer gifts or anything of value nor enter into any business arrangement 
with any employee, official or agent of the County.

2.6 BID SUBMITTAL DEADLINE

The Bid is due no later than the submittal date and time set forth in the Public Announcement and 
General Information listed in this IFB package.  Contents of each Bid shall be submitted in accordance 
with this IFB.

2.7 DELIVERY OF BIDS

The County uses BidSync to distribute and receive Bids and proposals.  It is preferred that Bids
submitted electronically through BidSync; however, Bidders can submit a hard copy.  

Refer to www.bidsync.com for further information on how to submit electronically.

If mailed or delivered in person, Bids and Bid Addenda are to be delivered in sealed envelope on or before
the submittal deadline, as noted in the Public Announcement and General Information listed in this IFB 
package, to:

            Williamson County Purchasing Department
            Attn: Bid Name and Number
            901 South Austin Avenue
            Georgetown, Texas 78626

Also, all Bidders should list their Name and Address, and the Date of the Bid opening on the outside
the box or envelope and note “Sealed Bid Enclosed.” The County will not accept any Bids received after 
the submittal deadline, and shall return such Bids unopened to the Bidder.  The County will not accept 
any responsibility for Bids being delivered by third party carriers.  

Bids will be opened publically and the names of Bidders and pricing will be read aloud.

SECTION 3 - INSTRUCTIONS AND GENERAL REQUIREMENTS

3.1 INSTRUCTIONS

Read this document carefully, and follow all instructions and requirements.  All Bidders are responsible 
for fulfilling all requirements and specifications.  Be sure to have a clear understanding of this IFB.

General requirements apply to all advertised IFBs; however, these may be superseded, in whole or in 
part, by the bid specifications, Addenda and modifications issued as a part of this IFB.  Be sure your Bid 
package is complete.

3.2 AMBIGUITY, CONFLICT, OR OTHER ERRORS IN THIS IFB

If a Bidder discovers any ambiguity, conflict, discrepancy, omission or other error in this IFB, the Bidder 
shall immediately notify the County Purchasing Department of such error in writing and request
modification or clarification of the document.

Modifications will be made by issuing Addenda. If the Bidder fails to notify the County prior to the date
and time fixed for submission of Bids of an error or ambiguity in the IFB known to the Bidder, or an error
or ambiguity that reasonably should have been known to the Bidder, then the Bidder shall be deemed to 
have waived the error or ambiguity or its later resolution.

The County may also modify the IFB, no later than forty-eight (48) hours prior to the date and time fixed
for submission of Bids, by issuance of an Addendum.  All Addenda will be numbered consecutively, 
beginning with one (1).

3.3 NOTIFICATION OF MOST CURRENT ADDRESS

All Bidders in receipt of this IFB shall notify the Williamson County Purchasing Department of any
address changes, contact person changes, and/or telephone number changes no later than forty-eight 
(48) hours prior to the date and time fixed for submission of Bids.

3.4 SIGNATURE OF BIDDER

A. If the Bidder is a Corporation or Limited Liability Company, the legal name of the Corporation
Limited Liability Company shall be provided together with the signature of the officer or officers 
authorized to sign on behalf of such entity.

B. If the Bidder is a General Partnership, the true name of the firm shall be provided with the
signature of each partner authorized to sign.

C. If the Bidder is a Limited Partnership, the name of the Limited Partner ’s General Partner shall
provided with the signature of the officer authorized to sign on behalf of the General Partner.

D. If the Bidder is a Sole Proprietor(s) (individual), each Sole Proprietor(s) shall sign.

E. If signature is by an agent, other than the Sole Proprietor(s) or an officer of a Corporation, Limited 
Liability Company, General Partner or a member of a General Partnership, a power of attorney
equivalent document must be submitted to the Williamson County Purchasing Department.

3.5 ASSUMED BUSINESS NAME

If the Bidder operates business under an Assumed Business Name, the Bidder must have on file with the
Williamson County Clerk a current Assumed Name Certificate and provide a file marked copy of same.

3.6 BID OBLIGATION 

The contents of the IFB, Bid, and any clarification thereof submitted by the Successful Bidder shall
become part of the contractual obligation and incorporated by reference into the Contract and any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

3.7 COMPLIANCE WITH IFB SPECIFICATIONS

It is intended that this IFB describe the requirements and the Bid format in sufficient detail to secure 
comparable Bids.  Failure to comply with all provisions of the IFB may, at the sole discretion of the 
County, result in disqualification.

3.8 WITHDRAWAL OF BID

The Bidder may withdraw its Bid by submitting a written request with the company letterhead and the 
signature of an authorized individual, as described in Section 3.4, Signature of Bidder, to the Williamson 
County Purchasing Department any time prior to the submission deadline.  

The Bidder may submit a new Bid prior to the deadline. Alterations of the Bid in any manner will not be 
considered if submitted after the deadline.  Withdrawal of a Bid after the deadline will be subject to written 
approval of the Williamson County Purchasing Agent.

3.9 EVALUATION AND AWARD

The County reserves the right to use all pertinent information (also learned from sources other than 
disclosed in the Bid process) that might affect the County ’s judgment as to the appropriateness of
award to the lowest and best evaluated Bid. This information may be appended to the Bid evaluation
process results. Information on a Bidder from reliable sources, and not within the Bidder ’s Bid, may also 
be noted and made part of the evaluation fi le.  The County shall have sole discretion for determining 
the reliability of the source.

To ensure the proper and fair evaluation of a solicitation, the County prohibits unsolicited communication 
initiated by the Bidder to the County Official or Employee evaluating or considering the Bids prior to the 
time an award has been made. Unsolicited communication may be ground for disqualifying the 
offending Bidder from consideration or award of the solicitation, or any future solicitation.

Communication between the Bidder and the County will be initiated by the appropriate County Official
Employee in order to obtain information or clarification needed to develop a proper and accurate 
evaluation of the solicitation.

The County intends to award a Contract to the most responsible and responsive Bidder whose Bid will 
be most advantageous to the County. In accordance with Texas Government Code and Local
Government Code, the County may consider, to the extent allowed by law, the following:

A. Price;
B. The Bidder ’s experience and reputation;
C. Quality of the Bidder ’s goods and/or services; 
D. The Bidder ’s safety record;
E. The Bidder ’s proposed personnel; 
F. The Bidder ’s financial capabilities; and 
G. Any other relevant factors specifically listed in this IFB or authorized by law.

3.10 CONDISERATION OF LOCATION OF PRINCIPAL OFFICE 

Pursuant to Texas Local Government Code, Section 271.905 , in purchasing any real property or personal
property that is not affixed to real property, if the County receives one or more Bids from a Bidder whose
principal place of business is in Williamson County and whose Bid is within three (3 )  percent of the
lowest Bid price received by the County from a Bidder who is not a resident of Williamson County, the 
County may enter into a contract with:

A. The lowest Bidder; or the Bidder whose principal place of business is in Williamson County if the
Commissioners Court determines, in writing, that the local Bidder offers the County the best 
combination of contract price and addit ional economic development opportunities
Williamson County created by the contract award, including the employment of residents
Williamson County and increased tax revenues to Williamson County.

It is understood that the Commissioners Court of Williamson County, Texas, reserves the right to accept
or reject any and/or all Bids for any or all goods and/or services covered in this IFB, and to waive
informalities or defects in the Bid or to accept such Bid, if it shall deem to be in the best interest of the 
County.

Awards should be made approximately sixty (60) business days after the Bid opening date. Results may
be obtained by viewing the Williamson County vendor portal at the following link:

http://www.wilco.org/CountyDepartments/Purchasing/SearchforaPastBid/tabid/5213/language/en-
US/Default.aspx

3.11 RESPONSIBILITY 

It is expected that a prospective Bidder will be able to affirmatively demonstrate responsibility.  A 
prospective Bidder should be able to meet the following requirements:

A. Have adequate financial resources, or the ability to obtain such resources as required;
B. Be able to comply with the required or proposed delivery schedule;
C. Have a satisfactory record of performance that can be determined thru references provided; and 
D. Be otherwise qualified and eligible to receive an award.

The County may request representation and other information sufficient to determine the Bidder's ability 
to meet these minimum standards listed above.

3.12 FIRM PRICING 

For unit price items, all of the items listed are to be on a “per unit” basis, stating a firm price per unit or 
unit quantity of each item.  The Bidder must submit a firm price that must be good from the date of Bid 
opening for the fixed period of time set out in this IFB.  Unless the IFB expressly states otherwise, this 
period shall be until the end of the Initial Contract Period.

Bids which do not state a fixed price, or which are subject to change without notice, will not be 
considered.  The Court may award a Contract for the period implied or expressly stated in the lowest and 
best Bid.

3.13 PURCHASE ORDERS

If required by the Williamson County Purchasing Department, a purchase order(s) may be generated to 
the Successful Bidder for goods and/or services.  If a purchase order is issued, the purchase order 
number must appear on all itemized invoices and/or requests for payment.

3.14 SILENCE OF SPECIFICATIONS

The apparent silence of these specifications as to any detail or to the apparent omission from it of a 
detailed description concerning any point, shall be regarded as meaning that only the best practices are 
to prevail.  All interpretations of these specifications shall be made on the basis of this statement.

3.15 REFERENCES

The County may require the Bidder to supply a list of at least three (3) references where like services
and/or goods have been supplied by their firm within the past five (5) years, to include names, titles, 
phone numbers and email addresses of key personnel, and dates of performance.

The County may contact some or all of the references in order to determine the Respondent
performance record on work similar to that described in this RFP.  The County reserves the right to 
contact references other than those provided in the response and to use the information gained from 
them in the evaluation process.

References, if requested, should be provided in accordance with this IFB.  Bid may not be deemed 
complete without the inclusion of requested references.

SECTION 4 - TERMS AND CONDITIONS

4.1 VENUE AND GOVERNING LAW

The Bidder hereby agrees and acknowledges that venue and jurisdiction of any suit, right, or cause of 
action arising out of or in connection with this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s), shall lie 
exclusively in either Williamson County, Texas or in the Austin Division of the Western Federal District of 
Texas, and the parties hereto expressly consent and submit to such jurisdiction.  Furthermore, except to 
the extent that this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) is governed by the laws of the United 
States, this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be governed by and construed in 
accordance with the laws of the State of Texas, excluding, however, its choice of law rules.

4.2 INCORPORATION BY REFERENCE AND PRECEDENCE

A. The Contract shall be derived from the IFB and its Addenda (if applicable), and the Bidder ’ s Bid.  In 
the event of a dispute under the Contract, applicable documents will be referred to for the purpose 
of clarification or for additional detail in the following order of precedence:

1. The IFB and its Addenda (if applicable); and

2. The Bidder ’s Bid.

B. In the event the County requires that an Ensuing Agreement be executed following award and a 
dispute arises between the terms and conditions of the Ensuing Agreement, the IFB and its 
Addenda (if applicable), and the Bidder ’s Bid, applicable documents will be referred to for the 
purpose of clarification or for additional detail in the following order of precedence: 

1. Terms and conditions of the Ensuing Agreement;

2. The IFB its Addenda; and 

3. The Bidder ’s Bid.

4.3 OWNERSHIP OF BID

Each Bid shall become the property of the County upon submittal and will not be returned to Bidders 
unless received after the submittal deadline.

4.4 DISQUALIFICATION OF BIDDER

Upon signing and submittal of the Bid, a Bidder offering to sell supplies, materials, services, or equipment 
to the County, certifies that the Bidder has not violated the antitrust laws of the State of Texas codified in 
Business & Commerce Code, Section 15.01, or the Federal Antitrust Laws, and has not communicated 
directly or indirectly the offer made to any competitor or any other person engaged in such line of 
business.  Any or all Bids may be rejected if the County believes that collusion exists among the Bidders.

4.5 FUNDING

The County intends to budget and make sufficient funds available and authorize funds for expenditure to 
finance the costs of the Contract.  All Bidders understand and agree that the County’s payment of 
amounts under the Contract shall be contingent on the County receiving appropriations or other 
expenditure authority sufficient to allow the County, in the exercise of reasonable administrative 
discretion, to make payments under this Contract.

4.6 ASSIGNMENT, SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS 

The Successful Bidder may not assign, sell, or otherwise transfer the Contract or any other rights or 
interests obtained under the Contract without written permission of the Commissioners Court.  The 
Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the contracting 
parties hereto and their respective successors and permitted assigns.

4.7 IMPLIED REQUIREMENTS

Products or services not specifically described or required in the IFB, but are necessary to provide the 
functional capabilities described by the Bidder, shall be implied and deemed to be included in the Bid.

4.8 TERMINATION

A. Termination for Cause: The County reserves the right to terminate the Contract and/or any 
Ensuing Agreement(s) for default if the Successful Bidder breaches any of the Bid specifications,
terms and conditions, including warranties of the Bidder, if any, or if the Successful Bidder 
becomes insolvent or commits acts of bankruptcy.  Such right of termination is in addition to and
not in lieu of any other remedies the County may have at law or in equity or as may otherwise
provided hereunder.  Default may be construed as, but not limited to, failure to deliver the proper 
goods and/or services within the proper amount of time, and/or to properly perform any and all 
other requirements to the County ’s satisfaction, and/or to meet all other obligations and
requirements.

B. Termination for Convenience: The County may terminate the Contract and/or any Ensuing 
Agreement(s) for convenience and without cause or further liability, upon no less than thirty (30) 
calendar days written notice to the Successful Bidder. The County reserves the right to extend 
this period if it is in the best interest of the County.  In the event the County exercises its right to 
terminate without cause, it is understood and agreed that only the amounts due to the Successful 
Bidder for goods, commodities and/or services provided and expenses incurred to and including 
the date of termination, will be due and payable.  No penalty will be assessed for the County
termination for convenience.

4.9 NON-PERFORMANCE

It is the objective of the County to obtain complete and satisfactory performance of the requirements set 
forth herein.  In addition to any other remedies available at law, in equity or that may be set out herein, 
failure to perform may result in a deduction of payment equal to the amount of the goods and/or services 
that were not provided and/or performed to the County ’s satisfaction.  

In the event of such non-performance, the County shall have the right, but shall not be obligated, to 
complete the services itself or by others and/or purchase the goods from other sources.  If the County 
elects to acquire the goods or perform the services itself or by others, pursuant to the foregoing, the 
Successful Bidder shall reimburse the County, within ten (10) calendar days of demand, for all costs 
incurred by the County (including, without limitation, applicable, general, and administrative expenses, 
and field overhead, and the cost of necessary equipment, materials, and field labor) in correcting the 
nonperformance which the Successful Bidder fails to meet pursuant to the requirements set out herein.  
In the event the Successful Bidder refuses to reimburse the County as set out in this provision, the 
County shall have the right to deduct such reimbursement amounts from any amounts that may be then 
owing or that may become owing in the future to the Successful Bidder.

4.10 PROPRIETARY INFORMATION AND THE TEXAS PUBLIC INFORMATION ACT

All material submitted to the County shall become public property and subject to the Texas Public 
Information Act upon receipt. If a Bidder does not desire proprietary information in the Bid to be 
disclosed, each page must be clearly identified and marked proprietary at time of submittal or, more 
preferably, all proprietary information may be placed in a folder or appendix and be clearly identified and 
marked as being proprietary.  Failure to clearly identify and mark information as being proprietary as set 
forth under this provision will result in all unmarked information being deemed non-proprietary and 
available to the public.  For all information that has not been clearly identified and marked as proprietary 
by the Bidder, the County may choose to place such information on the County ’s website and/or a similar 
public database without obtaining any type of prior consent from the Bidder.

The County will, to the extent allowed by law, endeavor to protect from public disclosure the information 
that has been identified and marked as proprietary.  The final decision as to what information must be 
disclosed, however, lies with the Texas Attorney General.  

To the extent, if any, that any provision in this IFB or in the Bidder ’s Bid is in conflict with Texas 
Government Code, Chapter 552, as amended (the “Public Information Act”), the same shall be of no 
force or effect.  Furthermore, it is expressly understood, and agreed, that the County, and its officers and 
employees, may request advice, decisions and opinions of the Attorney General of the State of Texas in 
regard to the application of the Public Information Act to any items or data furnished to the County as to 
whether or not the same are available to the public.  It is further understood that the County, and its 
officers and employees, shall have the right to rely on the advice, decisions and opinions of the Attorney 
General, and that the County, its officers and employees shall have no liability or obligation to any party 
hereto for the disclosure to the public, or to any person or persons, of any items or data furnished to the 
County by a party hereto, in reliance of any advice, decision or opinion of the Attorney General of the 
State of Texas.

4.11 RIGHT TO AUDIT

The Successful Bidder agrees that the County or its duly authorized representatives shall, until the 
expiration of three (3) years after termination or expiration of the services to be performed, have access 
to and the right to examine and photocopy any and all books, documents, papers and records of the 
Successful Bidder, which are directly pertinent to the services to be performed or goods to be delivered 
for the purposes of making audits, examinations, excerpts and transcriptions.  The Successful Bidder 
agrees that the County shall have access during normal working hours to all necessary facilities and 
shall be provided adequate and appropriate work space in order to conduct audits in compliance with the 
provisions of this section.  The County shall give the Successful Bidder reasonable advance notice of 
intended audits.

4.12 TESTING AND INSPECTIONS

The County reserves the right to inspect and test equipment, supplies, materials and goods for quality 
and compliance with this IFB, and ability to meet the needs of the user.  Demonstration units must be 
available for review.  Should the goods or services fail to meet requirements and/or be unavailable for 
evaluation, the County can deem the Bidder to be in breach and terminate the Contract and/or any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

4.13 BID PREPARATION COSTS

The cost of developing Bids is the sole responsibility of the Bidders and shall not be charged to the 
County.  There is no expressed or implied obligation for the County to reimburse the Bidders for any 
expense incurred in preparing a Bid in response to this IFB and the County will not reimburse the Bidders 
for such expenses.

4.14 INDEMNIFICATION

The Successful Bidder shall indemnify, defend and save harmless, the County, its officials, employees, 
agents and agent ’s employees from, and against, all claims, liability, and expenses including reasonable 
attorneys ’   fees, arising from activities of the Bidder, its agents, servants or employees, performed 
hereunder that result from the negligent act, error, or omission of the Bidder or any of the Bidder
agents, servants or employees, as well as all claims of loss or damage to the Bidder ’s and the County
property, equipment, and/or supplies. 

Furthermore, the County, its officials, employees, agents and agents ’ employees shall not be liable for 
damages to the Successful Bidder arising from any act of any third party, including, but not limited to, 
theft.  The Successful Bidder further agrees to indemnify, defend and save harmless, the County from its 
officials, employee, agents and agents ’ employees against all claims of whatever nature arising from any 
accident, injury, or damage whatsoever, caused to any person, or the property of any person, occurring 
in relation to the Successful Bidder ’s performance of any services requested hereunder during the term 
of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s). 

The Successful Bidder shall timely report all claims, demands, suits, actions, proceedings, liens or 
judgements to the County and shall, upon the receipt of any claim, demand, suit, action, proceeding, lien 

or judgement, not later than the fifteenth (15 th) day of each month; provide the County with a written 
report on each such matter, setting forth the status of each matter, the schedule or planned proceedings 
with respect to each matter and the cooperation or assistance, if any, of the County required by the 
Successful Bidder in the defense of each matter.  The Successful Bidder’s duty to defend, indemnify and 
hold the County harmless shall be absolute.  It shall not abate or end by reason of the expiration or 
termination of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s), unless otherwise agreed by the County in 
writing.  The provisions of this section shall survive the termination of the Contract and shall remain in full 
force and effect with respect to all such matters no matter when they arise. 

In the event of any dispute between the parties, as to whether a claim, demand, suit, action, proceeding, 
lien or judgement, that appears to have been caused by or appears to have arisen out of or in connection 
with acts or omissions of the County, the Bidder shall nevertheless fully defend such claim, demand, suit 
or action, proceeding, lien or judgement, until and unless there is a determination by a court of competent 
jurisdiction that the acts and omissions of the Bidder are not an issue in the matter. 

The Successful Bidder ’s indemnification shall cover, and the Successful Bidder agrees to, indemnify the 
County, in the event the County is found to have been negligent for having selected the Successful 
Bidder to perform the work described in this request.  The provision by the Successful Bidder of 
insurance shall not limit the liability of the Successful Bidder under the Contract and/or any Ensuing 
Agreement(s). 

4.15 WAIVER OF SUBROGATION

The Successful Bidder and the Successful Bidder ’s insurance carrier waive any and all rights 
whatsoever with regard to subrogation against the County as an indirect party to any suit arising out of 
personal or property damages resulting from the Bidder ’s performance under this Contract and any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

4.16 RELATIONSHIP OF THE PARTIES

The Successful Bidder shall be an independent contractor and shall assume all of the rights, obligations, 
liabilities, applicable to it as such independent contractor hereunder and any provisions herein which may 
appear to give the County the right to direct the Successful Bidder as to details of doing work herein 
covered, or to exercise a measure of control over the work, shall be deemed to mean that the Successful 
Bidder shall follow the desires of the County in the results of the work only.  The County shall not retain or 
have the right to control the Successful Bidder ’s means, methods or details pertaining to the Successful 
Bidder ’s performance of the work.  The County and the Successful Bidder hereby agree and declare that 
the Successful Bidder is an independent contractor and as such meets the qualifications of an 
“Independent Contractor” under Texas Workers Compensation Act, Texas Labor Code, Section 406.141, 
that the Successful Bidder is not an employee of  the County, and that the Successful Bidder and its 
employees, agents and subcontractors shall not be entitled to workers compensation coverage or any 
other type of insurance coverage held by the County.

4.17 SOLE PROVIDER

The Successful Bidder agrees and acknowledges that it shall not be considered a sole provider of the 
goods and/or services described herein and that the County may contract with other providers of such 
goods and/or services if the County deems, at its sole discretion, that multiple providers of the same 
goods and/or services will serve the best interest of the County.

4.18 FORCE MAJEURE

If the party obligated to perform is prevented from performance by an act of war, order of legal authority, 
act of God, or other unavoidable cause not attributable to the fault or negligence of said party, the other 
party shall grant such party relief from the performance.  The burden of proof for the need of such relief 
shall rest upon the party obligated to perform.  To obtain release based on force majeure, the party 
obligated to perform shall file a written request with the other party.

4.19 SEVERABILITY

If any provision of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be held invalid or 
unenforceable by any court of competent jurisdiction, such holding shall not invalidate or render 
unenforceable any other provision thereof, but rather the entire IFB, Contract or any Ensuing Agreement
(s) will be construed as if not containing the particular invalid or unenforceable provision or provisions, 
and the rights and obligation of the parties shall be construed and enforced in accordance therewith.  The 
parties acknowledge that if any provision of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) is 
determined to be invalid or unenforceable, it is the desire and intention of each that such provision be 
reformed and construed in such a manner that it will, to the maximum extent practicable, give effect to
the intent of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) and be deemed to be validated and
enforceable.

4.20 EQUAL OPPORTUNITY

Neither party shall discriminate against any employee or applicant for employment because of race, 
color, sex, religion or national origin.

4.21 NOTICE

Any notice to be given shall be in writing and may be distributed by personal delivery, or by registered or 
certified mail, return receipt requested, addressed to the proper party, at the following address:

The County:    Williamson County Purchasing Department 
            Attn: Purchasing Agent 
            901 South Austin Avenue 
            Georgetown, Texas 78626

The Bidder:     Address set out in Bidder’s Transmittal Letter.

Notices given in accordance with this provision shall be effective upon (1) receipt by the party to which 
notice is given, or (2) on the third (3rd) calendar day following mailing, whichever occurs first.

4.22 SALES AND USE TAX EXEMPTION

The County is a body, corporate and politic, under the laws of the State of Texas and claims exemption 
from sales and use taxes under Texas Tax Code, Section 151.309, as amended, and the services and/or 
goods subject hereof are being secured for use by the County.

4.23 COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS

The County and the Successful Bidder shall comply with all federal, state, and local laws, statutes,
ordinances, rules and regulations, and the orders and decrees of any courts or administrative bodies or 
tribunals in any matter affecting the performance of the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s),
including, without limitation, Workers ’ Compensation laws, salary and wage statutes and regulations, 
licensing laws and regulations.  When required, the Successful Bidder shall furnish the County with 
certification of compliance with said laws, statues, ordinances, rules, regulations, orders, and decrees 
above specified.

4.24 INCORPORATION OF EXHIBITS, APPENDICES AND ATTACHMENTS

All of the Exhibits, Appendices and Attachments referred to herein are incorporated by reference as if set 
forth verbatim herein.  Any conflicting terms in the Contract documents will be resolved at the sole 
discretion of the Commissioners Court.

4.25 NO WAIVER OF IMMUNITIES

Nothing herein shall be deemed to waive, modify or amend any legal defense available at law or in equity 
to the County, its past or present officers, employees, or agents, nor to create any legal rights or claim on 
behalf of any third party.  The County does not waive, modify, or alter to any extent whatsoever the 
availability of the defense of governmental immunity under the laws of the State of Texas and of the 
United States.

4.26 NO WAIVER

The failure or delay of any party to enforce at any time or any period of time any of the provisions of this 
IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall not constitute a present or future waiver of such 
provisions nor the right of either party to enforce each and every provision.  Furthermore, no term or 
provision hereof shall be deemed waived and no breach excused unless such waiver or consent shall be 
in writing and signed by the party claimed to have waived or consented.  Any consent by any party to, or 
waiver of, a breach by the other, whether expressed or implied, shall not constitute a consent to, waiver 
of or excuse for any other, different or subsequent breach.

4.27 CURRENT REVENUES

The obligations of the parties under the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) do not constitute a 
general obligation or indebtedness of the County for which the County is obligated to levy, pledge, or 
collect any of taxation.  It is understood and agreed that the County shall have the right to terminate the 
Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) at the end of any the County fiscal year if the governing body of 
the County does not appropriate sufficient funds as determined by the County ’s budget for the fiscal year 
in question.  The County may effect such termination by giving written notice of termination to the 
Successful Bidder at the end of its then-current fiscal year.

4.28 FOB DESTINATION

To the extent applicable to this IFB, all of the items listed are to be Free On Board to final destination 
(FOB Destination) with all transportation charges if applicable to be included in the Bid, unless otherwise 
specified in the Invitation for Bids.  The title and risk of loss of the goods shall not pass to the County until 
receipt and acceptance takes place at the FOB Destination point.

4.29 BINDING EFFECT

This Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties 
and their respective permitted assigns and successors.

4.30 ASSIGNMENT

The Successful Bidder ’s interest and duties hereunder may not be assigned or delegated to a third party 
without the express written consent of the County.

4.31 SAFETY

The Successful Bidder is responsible for initiating, maintaining, and supervising all safety precautions 
and programs in connection with any services to be provided hereunder. The safety program shall 
comply with all applicable requirements of the current federal Occupational Safety and Health Act and all 
other applicable federal, state and local laws and regulations.

4.32 GENERAL OBLIGATIONS AND RELIANCE

The Successful Bidder shall perform all services and/or provide all goods, as well as those reasonably
inferable and necessary for completion and provision of services and/or goods required hereunder. The
Successful Bidder shall keep the County informed of the progress and quality of the services.  The 
Successful Bidder agrees and acknowledges that the County is relying on the Successful Bidder's 
represented expertise and ability to provide the goods and/or services described herein.  The Successful
Bidder agrees to use its best efforts, skill, judgment, and abilities to perform its obligations in accordance
with the highest standards used in the profession and to further the interests of the County 
accordance with the County ’s requirements and procedures.    T h e   Successful Bidder ’s duties,
set forth herein, shall at no time be in any way diminished by reason of any approval by the County, nor
shall the Successful Bidder be released from any liability by reason of such approval by the County, it 
being understood that the County at all times is ultimately relying upon the Successful Bidder ’s skill and 
knowledge in performing the services and providing any goods required hereunder.

4.33 ESTIMATED QUANTITIES

To the extent applicable to this IFB, the estimated quantity of each item listed in this IFB is only
estimate; the actual quantity to be purchased may be more or less. The County is not obligated
purchase any minimum amount, and the County may purchase any reasonable amount greater than the
estimate for the same unit price. Any limit on quantities available must be stated expressly in the Bid.

4.34 CONTRACTUAL DEVELOPMENT

The contents of the IFB and the Successful Bidder ’s Bid will become an integral part of the Contract, but 
may be modified, at the County ’s sole discretion, by provisions of an Ensuing Agreement.  Therefore, the 
Bidder must agree to an inclusion of an Ensuing Agreement of the Bid specifications, terms and 
conditions of this IFB.  If an Ensuing Agreement is required under this IFB, information relative to the 
Agreement will be located in the Special Provisions Section of this IFB.

4.35 SURVIVABILITY 

All applicable agreements that were entered into between the Successful Bidder and the County, under 
the terms and conditions of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s), shall survive the expiration or 
termination thereof for ninety (90) days unless a new contract has been awarded.

The County may exercise, by written notice to the Successful Bidder no later than ten (10) calendar days 
of the Contract expiration, this clause for emergencies only. 

4.36 AIR QUALITY

In determining the overall best Bid, the County may, to the extent applicable, exercise the option granted 
to local governments under the Texas Local Government Code, Section 271.907.

This option allows the County to evaluate Bids and give preference to goods and/or services of a Bidder 
that demonstrates that the Bidder meets or exceeds any and all state or federal environmental 
standards, including voluntary standards, relating to air quality.  If the Bid being submitted will have an 
effect on air quality for the County (as it relates to any state, federal, or voluntary air quality standard), 
then the Bidder is encouraged to provide information in narrative indicating the anticipated air quality 
impact.  All Bidders are expected to meet all mandated state and federal air quality standards.

4.37 ENTIRE AGREEMENT

The Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall supersede all prior Agreements, written or oral 
between the Successful Bidder and the County and shall constitute the entire Agreement and 
understanding between the parties with respect to the services and/or goods to be provided.  Each of the 
provisions herein shall be binding upon the parties and may not be waived, modified, amended or altered, 
except by writing signed by the Successful Bidder and the County.

4.38 PAYMENT

The County ’s payment for goods and services shall be governed by the Texas Government Code, 

Chapter 2251.  An invoice shall be deemed overdue the thirty-first (31st) day after the later of the 
following: 

A. The date the County receives the goods under the Contract; 
B. The date the performance of the service under the Contract is completed; or 
C. The date the Williamson County Auditor receives an invoice for the goods or services.  

Interest charges for any overdue payments shall be paid by the County in accordance with Texas 
Government Code, Section 2251.025.  More specifically, the rate of interest that shall accrue on a late 
payment is the rate in effect on September 1 of the County ’s fiscal year in which the payment becomes 
due.  The said rate in effect on September 1 shall be equal to the sum of one (1) percent, and the prime 

rate published in the Wall Street Journal on the first (1st) day of July of the preceding fiscal year that does 
not fall on a Saturday or Sunday.

In the event that an error appears in an invoice submitted by the Successful Bidder, the County shall 
notify the Successful Bidder of the error not later than the twenty-first (21st) day after the date the County 
receives the invoice.  If the error is resolved in favor of the Successful Bidder, the Successful Bidder 
shall be entitled to receive interest on the unpaid balance of the invoice submitted by the Successful 
Bidder beginning on the date that the payment for the invoice became overdue.  If the error is resolved in 
favor of the County, the Successful Bidder shall submit a corrected invoice that must be paid in 
accordance within the time set forth above.  The unpaid balance accrues interest as provided by the 
Texas Government Code, Chapter 2251, if the corrected invoice is not paid by the appropriate date.

As a minimum, invoices shall include:

A. Name, address, and telephone number of the Successful Bidder and similar information in the 
event the payment is to be made to a different address. 

B. The County Contract, Purchase Order. 

C. Identification of items or service as outlined in the Contract. 

D. Quantity or quantities, applicable unit prices, total prices and total amount. 

E. Any additional payment information which may be called for by the Contract. 

Payment inquiries should be directed to the following address:        

            Williamson County Auditor’s Office, Accounts Payable Department
            Email: accountspayable@wilco.org
            Phone: 512-943-1500

4.39 CONTRACTUAL FORMATION AND ENSUING AGREEMENT

The IFB and the Bidder ’s Bid, when properly accepted by the Commissioners Court, shall constitute a
Contract equally binding between the Successful Bidder and the County.

If an Ensuing Agreement is required by this IFB, that information will be provided in Special 
Provisions section of this IFB.  The Successful Bidder shall be required to execute the Agreement at 
the Williamson County Purchasing Department approximately ten (10) calendar days after the 
Successful Bidder is notified of award.  The Ensuing Agreement shall be in the same form as the 
Agreement which is attached to the end of this IFB.  The only anticipated changes in the Ensuing 
Agreement will be to include additional exhibits, to fill in blanks to identify the Successful Bidder, and 
terms relating to the compensation, or to revise the Agreement to accommodate corrections, changes in 
the scope of services, or changes pursuant to Addenda issued.  Bidders should raise any questions 
regarding the terms of the Agreement in the form of written questions or submittals as 
described in the Public Announcement and General Information portion of this IFB.  Because the 
signed Ensuing Agreement will be substantively and substantially derived from the attached Agreement, 
each Bidder is urged to seek independent legal counsel as to any questions about the terms, conditions 
or provisions contained in the Agreement before submitting a Bid.  Again, the attached Agreement, if 
applicable, contains important legal provisions and is considered part and parcel of this IFB.  Failure or 
refusal to sign aforesaid Agreement shall be grounds for the County to revoke any award which has been 
issued, forfeit Bid security, if applicable, and select another Bidder.

4.40 COOPERATIVE PURCHASING PROGRAM 

During the term of the Contract resulting from this IFB, the County would like to afford the same prices, 
terms and conditions to other political subdivisions or public entities.  Another entity’s participation in the 
Contract resulting from this IFB is subject to a properly authorized Purchasing Cooperative Inter- local 
Agreement with the County.  Any liability created by purchase orders issued against the Contract shall be 
the sole responsibility of the governmental agency placing the order.

4.41 INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS

To the extent applicable Insurance information will appear in the Additional Stipulations section that is in 
this IFB Package. 

4.42 BIDDERS BOND, WARRANTY BOND, PERFORMANCE AND PAYMENT BONDS

To the extent applicable Bond information will appear in the Additional Stipulations section that is in this 
IFB Package. 

4.43 LEGAL LIABILITY INFORMATION

The Successful Bidder shall disclose all legal liability information by listing any pending litigation
anticipated litigation that your firm is involved in including, but not limited to, potential or actual legal
matters with private parties and any local, state, federal or international governmental entities. The
County reserves the right to consider legal liability information in the recommendation of any proposed 
contract to the Commissioners Court.

4.44 INCLEMENT WEATHER

In case of inclement weather or any other unforeseen event causing the County to close for business on 
the date of a Bid submission deadline, the Bid closing will automatically be postponed until the next 
business day the County is open.  If inclement weather conditions or any other unforeseen event causes 
delays in carrier service operations, the County may issue an Addendum to all known Bidders interested 
in the project to extend the deadline.  It will be the responsibility of the Bidder to notify the County of their 
interest in the project if these conditions are impacting their ability to turn in a submission within the 
stated deadline.  The County reserves the right to make the final judgement call to extend any deadline. 

4.45 PREVAILING WAGE RATES

To the extent this procurement is for the construction of a public work, including a building, highway, 
road, excavation, and repair work or other project development or improvement, paid for in whole or in 
part from public funds, without regard to whether the work is done under public supervision or direction, 
Texas Government Code, Chapter 2258, shall apply and the contractor shall pay not less than the wage 
scale of the various classes of labor as shown on the “Prevailing Wage Schedule” provided by the 
County. Pursuant to Texas Government Code, Section 2258.022(a)(2), the County has determined the 
general prevailing rate of the “Prevailing Wage Schedule”  in the locality in which the public work is to be 
performed for each craft or type of worker needed to execute the contract and the prevailing rate for legal 
holiday and overtime work by using the prevailing wage rate as determined by the United States 
Department of Labor in accordance with the United States Code, Section 276a (Davis-Bacon Act). 

The specified wage rates are minimum rates only, and are not representations that qualified labor 
adequate to perform the work is available locally at the prevailing wage rates. The County is not bound to 
pay—and will not consider—any claims for additional compensation made by any contractor because the 
contractor pays wages in excess of the applicable minimum rate contained in the Contract Documents. 
The “Prevailing Wage Schedule”  is not a representation that quantities of qualified labor adequate to 
perform the work may be found locally at the specified wage rates.

For classifications not shown, workers shall not be paid less than the wage indicated for laborers. The 
contractor shall notify each worker commencing work on the project the worker ’s job classification and 
the established minimum wage rate required to be paid, as well as the actual amount being paid. The 
notice must be delivered to and signed in acknowledgement of receipt by the employee and must list 
both the monetary wages and fringe benefits to be paid or furnished for each classification in which the 
worker is assigned duties. When requested by the County, competent evidence of compliance with the 
Texas Prevailing Wage Law shall be furnished by contractor. A copy of each worker wage rate 
notification shall be submitted to the County with the Application for Payment for the period during which 
the worker began on-site activities.

Should the contractor at any time become aware that a particular skill or trade not reflected on the 
County ’s “Prevailing Wage Schedule” will be or is being employed in the work, whether by the contractor 
or by a subcontractor, the contractor shall promptly inform the County and shall specify a wage rate for 
that skill or trade, which shall bind the contractor.

The contractor and any subcontractor shall pay to the County a penalty of sixty dollars ($60.00) for each 
worker employed for each calendar day, or portion thereof, that the worker is paid less than the wage 
rates stipulated in the “Prevailing Wage Schedule” or any supplement thereto. The contractor and each 
subcontractor shall keep, or cause to be kept, an accurate record showing the names and occupations 
of all workers employed in connection with the work, and showing the actual per diem wages paid to 
each worker, which records shall be open at all reasonable hours for the inspection by the County.

Within thirty-one (31) days of receipt of information concerning a violation of the Texas Government Code 
Chapter 2258, the County shall make an initial determination as to whether good cause exists to believe 
a violation occurred. The County ’s decision on the initial determination shall be reduced to writing and 
sent to the contractor or subcontractor against whom the violation was alleged, and to the affected 
worker. When a good cause finding is made, the County shall retain the full amounts claimed by the 
claimant or claimants as the difference between wages paid and wages due under the “Prevailing Wage 
Schedule” and any supplements thereto, together with the applicable penalties, such amounts being 
subtracted from successive progress payments pending a final decision on the violation.

After the County makes its initial determination, the affected contractor or subcontractor and worker have 
fourteen (14) calendar days in which to resolve the issue of whether a violation occurred, including the 
amount that should be retained by the County or paid to the affected worker. If the contractor or 
subcontractor and affected worker reach an agreement concerning the worker ’s claim, the contractor 
shall promptly notify the County in a written document signed by the worker. It the contractor or 

Subcontractor and affected worker do not agree before the fifteenth (15 th) calendar day after the County
determination, the contractor or subcontractor and affected worker must participate in binding arbitration 
in accordance with the Texas General Arbitration Act, Chapter 171, (Texas Civil Practice and Remedies 
Code). The parties to the arbitration have ten (10) calendar days after the expiration of the fifteen (15) 

calendar days referred to above, to agree on an arbitrator; if by the eleventh (11 th) calendar day there is 
no agreement to an arbitrator, a district court shall appoint an arbitrator on the petition of any of the 
parties to the arbitration.

If an arbitrator determines that a violation has occurred, the arbitrator shall assess and award against the 
contractor or subcontractor the amount of penalty as provided above and the amount owed the worker. 
The County may use any amounts retained hereunder to pay the worker the amount as designated in the 
arbitration award. If the County has not retained enough from the contractor or subcontractor to pay the 
worker in accordance with the arbitration award, the worker has a right of action against the contractor 
and subcontractor as appropriate, and the surety of either to receive the amount owed, attorneys ’  fees 
and court costs. The contractor shall promptly furnish a copy of the arbitration award to the County.

Money retained pursuant to the provisions above shall be used to pay the claimant or claimants the 
difference between the amount the worker received in wages for labor on the project at the rate paid by 
the contractor or subcontractor and the amount the worker would have received at the general prevailing 
wage rate as provided by the agreement of the claimant and the contractor or subcontractor affected, or 
in the arbitrator ’s award. The full statutory penalty of sixty dollars ($60.00) per calendar day of violation 
per worker shall be retained by Williamson County to offset its administrative costs, pursuant to Texas 
Government Code, Section, 2258.023. Any retained funds in excess of these amounts shall be paid to 
the contractor on the earlier of the next progress payment or final payment. Provided, however, that the 
County shall have no duty to release any funds to either the claimant or the contractor until it has 
received the notices of agreement or the arbitration award as provided under the provision herein-above.

4.46 CONFIDENTIALITY

The Bidder expressly agrees that it will not use any direct or incidental confidential information that may 
be obtained while working in a governmental setting for its own benefit, and agrees that it will not access 
unauthorized areas or confidential information and it will not disclose any information to unauthorized 
third parties, and will take care to guard the security of the information at all times.

Bid 1704-157Williamson County, Texas

4/7/2017 9:30 AM p. 15



5

6

3 4

Williamson County – Invitation for Bid (IFB)

SECTION 1 - DEFINITIONS 

Addendum/Addenda – means any written or graphic instruments issued by the County prior to the 
consideration of Bids which modify or interpret the Bid Documents by additions, deletions, clarifications, 
or corrections.

Agreement/Ensuing Agreement(s) – means the Successful Bidder may be required by the County to 
sign an additional Agreement containing terms necessary to ensure compliance with the IFB and the 
Bidder ’s Bid.  Such Ensuing Agreement(s) shall contain the Bid specifications, terms and conditions that 
are derived from the IFB.

Bid Documents – means the Legal Notice, IFB including attachments, and any Addenda issued by the 
County prior to the consideration of any Bids.

Bid – means the completed and signed bid form, (sometimes referred to as the Price Sheet), and ALL 
required forms and documentation listed in the IFB package which have been submitted in accordance 
with the terms and conditions described in the IFB package.  A Bid submitted in accordance with this IFB 
is irrevocable during the specified period for evaluation and acceptance of Bids unless a waiver is 
obtained from the Williamson County Purchasing Agent.

Bidder – means a person or entity who submits a Bid in response to this IFB.

Contract – means this IFB and the Bid of the Successful Bidder shall become a Contract between the 
Successful Bidder and the County once the Successful Bidder ’s Bid is properly accepted by the 
Williamson County Commissioners Court.

Commissioner ’s Court – means the Williamson County Commissioners Court. 

County – means Williamson County, a political subdivision of the State of Texas.

Invitation for Bid (IFB) – means this document, together with the attachments thereto and any future 
Addenda issued by the County.

Successful Bidder – means the liable Bidder to whom the County intends to award the Contract.

SECTION 2 - BID FORMAT AND SUBMISSION

2.1 ORGANIZATION OF BID CONTENTS FOR SUBMITTAL 

Each Bid should be organized and items submitted in the order described below: 

A. Transmittal Letter. Please see Section 2.3, Transmittal Letter, for more information. 

B. Price Sheet.

C. Conflict of Interest Questionnaire. Please see Section 2.2, Conflict of Interest, for more 
information in regards to this. Please note that even if you deem there to be no Conflict of Interest, 
this signed questionnaire must be included in your package. 

D. References. Please see Section 3.15, References, for more information. 

E. Bid Affidavit.

F. Form 1295. Please see Section 2.4, Certificate of Interested Parties – Form 1295. 

2.2 CONFLICT OF INTEREST

No public official shall have interest in a Contract, in accordance with Vernon ’s Texas Codes Annotated, 
Local Government Code, Title 5, Subtitle C, Chapter 171, as amended. 

As of January 1, 2006, all Bidders are responsible for complying with Local Government Code, Title 5, 
Subtitle C, Chapter 176.  Additional information may be obtained from the County’s website at the 
following link: 

http://www.wilco.org/CountyDepartments/Purchasing/ConflictofInterestDisclosure/tabid/689/language/en
US/Default.aspx

Each Bidder must disclose any existing or potential conflict of interest relative to the performance of the 
requirements of this IFB.  Examples of potential conflicts of interest may include an existing 
business or personal relationship between the Bidder, its principal, or any affiliate or 
subcontractor with the County or any other entity or person involved in any way with the project 
that is subject to this IFB .  Similarly, any personal or business relationship between the Bidder, the 

principals, or any affiliate or subcontractor with any employee, or official of the County or its suppliers 
must be disclosed.  Any such relationship that might be perceived or represented as a conflict must be 
disclosed. Failure to disclose any such relationship or reveal personal relationships with the County 
employees or officials may be cause for termination. 

The County will decide if an actual or perceived conflict should result in Bid disqualification. 

By submitting a Bid in response to this IFB, all Bidders affirm they have not given, nor intend to give, at 
any time hereafter, any economic opportunity, future employment, gift, loan, gratuity, special discount, 
trip, favor, or service to a the County public servant or any employee, official or representative of same, in 
connection with this procurement. 

Each Bidder must provide a Conflict of Interest Statement with their Bid Package.  Package may 

be deemed incomplete without this form.  

2.3 TRANSMITTAL LETTER

The Bidder should submit a Transmittal Letter that provides the following information: 

A. Name and address of individual or business entity submitting the Bid. 

B. Name, physical address, email address, business and fax number of the Bidder ’s principal 
contact person regarding all contractual matters relating to this IFB.

C. The Bid ’s Federal Employer Identification Number.

D. If the Proposal being submitted will have an effect on air quality for the County (as it relates to any 
state, federal, or voluntary air quality standard), then the Respondent is encouraged to provide
information in narrative indicating the anticipated air quality impact. See Section 4.36, Air Quality 
for more information. 

2.4 CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PARTIES – FORM 1295

As of January 1, 2016, all Successful Bidders are responsible for complying with the Texas Government 
Code, Section 2252.908.  The law states that the County may not enter into certain contracts with a 
Bidder unless the Bidder submits a disclosure of interested parties to the County at the time the Bidder 
submits the signed Contract.  The law applies only to a Contract of the County on or after January 1, 
2016 that either:

A. Requires an action or vote by the Commissioners Court before the Contract may be signed (all 
contracts that fall under the jurisdiction of the Commissioners Court approval, such as contracts 
resulting from an Initiation for Bid (IFB), RFP, Request for Qualifications (RFQ), etc., excluding, 
but not limited to, certain Juvenile Service contracts, contracts funded with Sheriff ’s seized fun 
monies, etc.); or

B. Has a value of at least $1,000,000. 

By January 1, 2016, the Texas Ethics Commission will make available on its website, a new filing 
application that must be used to file Form 1295.  Information regarding how to use the filing application is 
available on the Texas Ethics Commission website at the following link:

https://www.ethics.state.tx.us/whatsnew/elf_info_form1295.htm

A Respondent must:

A. Use the online application to process the required information on Form 1295.

B. Print a copy of the form which will contain a unique certification number.

C. An authorized agent of the Bidder must sign the printed copy of the form.

D. Have the form notarized.

E. File the completed Form 1295 and certification of filing (scanning and emailing form is sufficient) 
with Williamson County Purchasing Agent at the time the signed Contract is submitted for 
approval.

After the Commissioners Court award of the Contract, the County shall notify the Texas Ethics 
Commission, using the Texas Ethics Commission ’s filing application, of the receipt of the filed Form 
1295 and certification of filing not later than the 30th day after the date the Contract binds all parties to the 
Contract. The Texas Ethics Commission will post the completed Form 1295 to its website within seven 
business days after receiving notice from the County.

2.5 ETHICS

The Bidder shall not accept or offer gifts or anything of value nor enter into any business arrangement 
with any employee, official or agent of the County.

2.6 BID SUBMITTAL DEADLINE

The Bid is due no later than the submittal date and time set forth in the Public Announcement and 
General Information listed in this IFB package.  Contents of each Bid shall be submitted in accordance 
with this IFB.

2.7 DELIVERY OF BIDS

The County uses BidSync to distribute and receive Bids and proposals.  It is preferred that Bids
submitted electronically through BidSync; however, Bidders can submit a hard copy.  

Refer to www.bidsync.com for further information on how to submit electronically.

If mailed or delivered in person, Bids and Bid Addenda are to be delivered in sealed envelope on or before
the submittal deadline, as noted in the Public Announcement and General Information listed in this IFB 
package, to:

            Williamson County Purchasing Department
            Attn: Bid Name and Number
            901 South Austin Avenue
            Georgetown, Texas 78626

Also, all Bidders should list their Name and Address, and the Date of the Bid opening on the outside
the box or envelope and note “Sealed Bid Enclosed.” The County will not accept any Bids received after 
the submittal deadline, and shall return such Bids unopened to the Bidder.  The County will not accept 
any responsibility for Bids being delivered by third party carriers.  

Bids will be opened publically and the names of Bidders and pricing will be read aloud.

SECTION 3 - INSTRUCTIONS AND GENERAL REQUIREMENTS

3.1 INSTRUCTIONS

Read this document carefully, and follow all instructions and requirements.  All Bidders are responsible 
for fulfilling all requirements and specifications.  Be sure to have a clear understanding of this IFB.

General requirements apply to all advertised IFBs; however, these may be superseded, in whole or in 
part, by the bid specifications, Addenda and modifications issued as a part of this IFB.  Be sure your Bid 
package is complete.

3.2 AMBIGUITY, CONFLICT, OR OTHER ERRORS IN THIS IFB

If a Bidder discovers any ambiguity, conflict, discrepancy, omission or other error in this IFB, the Bidder 
shall immediately notify the County Purchasing Department of such error in writing and request
modification or clarification of the document.

Modifications will be made by issuing Addenda. If the Bidder fails to notify the County prior to the date
and time fixed for submission of Bids of an error or ambiguity in the IFB known to the Bidder, or an error
or ambiguity that reasonably should have been known to the Bidder, then the Bidder shall be deemed to 
have waived the error or ambiguity or its later resolution.

The County may also modify the IFB, no later than forty-eight (48) hours prior to the date and time fixed
for submission of Bids, by issuance of an Addendum.  All Addenda will be numbered consecutively, 
beginning with one (1).

3.3 NOTIFICATION OF MOST CURRENT ADDRESS

All Bidders in receipt of this IFB shall notify the Williamson County Purchasing Department of any
address changes, contact person changes, and/or telephone number changes no later than forty-eight 
(48) hours prior to the date and time fixed for submission of Bids.

3.4 SIGNATURE OF BIDDER

A. If the Bidder is a Corporation or Limited Liability Company, the legal name of the Corporation
Limited Liability Company shall be provided together with the signature of the officer or officers 
authorized to sign on behalf of such entity.

B. If the Bidder is a General Partnership, the true name of the firm shall be provided with the
signature of each partner authorized to sign.

C. If the Bidder is a Limited Partnership, the name of the Limited Partner ’s General Partner shall
provided with the signature of the officer authorized to sign on behalf of the General Partner.

D. If the Bidder is a Sole Proprietor(s) (individual), each Sole Proprietor(s) shall sign.

E. If signature is by an agent, other than the Sole Proprietor(s) or an officer of a Corporation, Limited 
Liability Company, General Partner or a member of a General Partnership, a power of attorney
equivalent document must be submitted to the Williamson County Purchasing Department.

3.5 ASSUMED BUSINESS NAME

If the Bidder operates business under an Assumed Business Name, the Bidder must have on file with the
Williamson County Clerk a current Assumed Name Certificate and provide a file marked copy of same.

3.6 BID OBLIGATION 

The contents of the IFB, Bid, and any clarification thereof submitted by the Successful Bidder shall
become part of the contractual obligation and incorporated by reference into the Contract and any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

3.7 COMPLIANCE WITH IFB SPECIFICATIONS

It is intended that this IFB describe the requirements and the Bid format in sufficient detail to secure 
comparable Bids.  Failure to comply with all provisions of the IFB may, at the sole discretion of the 
County, result in disqualification.

3.8 WITHDRAWAL OF BID

The Bidder may withdraw its Bid by submitting a written request with the company letterhead and the 
signature of an authorized individual, as described in Section 3.4, Signature of Bidder, to the Williamson 
County Purchasing Department any time prior to the submission deadline.  

The Bidder may submit a new Bid prior to the deadline. Alterations of the Bid in any manner will not be 
considered if submitted after the deadline.  Withdrawal of a Bid after the deadline will be subject to written 
approval of the Williamson County Purchasing Agent.

3.9 EVALUATION AND AWARD

The County reserves the right to use all pertinent information (also learned from sources other than 
disclosed in the Bid process) that might affect the County ’s judgment as to the appropriateness of
award to the lowest and best evaluated Bid. This information may be appended to the Bid evaluation
process results. Information on a Bidder from reliable sources, and not within the Bidder ’s Bid, may also 
be noted and made part of the evaluation fi le.  The County shall have sole discretion for determining 
the reliability of the source.

To ensure the proper and fair evaluation of a solicitation, the County prohibits unsolicited communication 
initiated by the Bidder to the County Official or Employee evaluating or considering the Bids prior to the 
time an award has been made. Unsolicited communication may be ground for disqualifying the 
offending Bidder from consideration or award of the solicitation, or any future solicitation.

Communication between the Bidder and the County will be initiated by the appropriate County Official
Employee in order to obtain information or clarification needed to develop a proper and accurate 
evaluation of the solicitation.

The County intends to award a Contract to the most responsible and responsive Bidder whose Bid will 
be most advantageous to the County. In accordance with Texas Government Code and Local
Government Code, the County may consider, to the extent allowed by law, the following:

A. Price;
B. The Bidder ’s experience and reputation;
C. Quality of the Bidder ’s goods and/or services; 
D. The Bidder ’s safety record;
E. The Bidder ’s proposed personnel; 
F. The Bidder ’s financial capabilities; and 
G. Any other relevant factors specifically listed in this IFB or authorized by law.

3.10 CONDISERATION OF LOCATION OF PRINCIPAL OFFICE 

Pursuant to Texas Local Government Code, Section 271.905 , in purchasing any real property or personal
property that is not affixed to real property, if the County receives one or more Bids from a Bidder whose
principal place of business is in Williamson County and whose Bid is within three (3 )  percent of the
lowest Bid price received by the County from a Bidder who is not a resident of Williamson County, the 
County may enter into a contract with:

A. The lowest Bidder; or the Bidder whose principal place of business is in Williamson County if the
Commissioners Court determines, in writing, that the local Bidder offers the County the best 
combination of contract price and addit ional economic development opportunities
Williamson County created by the contract award, including the employment of residents
Williamson County and increased tax revenues to Williamson County.

It is understood that the Commissioners Court of Williamson County, Texas, reserves the right to accept
or reject any and/or all Bids for any or all goods and/or services covered in this IFB, and to waive
informalities or defects in the Bid or to accept such Bid, if it shall deem to be in the best interest of the 
County.

Awards should be made approximately sixty (60) business days after the Bid opening date. Results may
be obtained by viewing the Williamson County vendor portal at the following link:

http://www.wilco.org/CountyDepartments/Purchasing/SearchforaPastBid/tabid/5213/language/en-
US/Default.aspx

3.11 RESPONSIBILITY 

It is expected that a prospective Bidder will be able to affirmatively demonstrate responsibility.  A 
prospective Bidder should be able to meet the following requirements:

A. Have adequate financial resources, or the ability to obtain such resources as required;
B. Be able to comply with the required or proposed delivery schedule;
C. Have a satisfactory record of performance that can be determined thru references provided; and 
D. Be otherwise qualified and eligible to receive an award.

The County may request representation and other information sufficient to determine the Bidder's ability 
to meet these minimum standards listed above.

3.12 FIRM PRICING 

For unit price items, all of the items listed are to be on a “per unit” basis, stating a firm price per unit or 
unit quantity of each item.  The Bidder must submit a firm price that must be good from the date of Bid 
opening for the fixed period of time set out in this IFB.  Unless the IFB expressly states otherwise, this 
period shall be until the end of the Initial Contract Period.

Bids which do not state a fixed price, or which are subject to change without notice, will not be 
considered.  The Court may award a Contract for the period implied or expressly stated in the lowest and 
best Bid.

3.13 PURCHASE ORDERS

If required by the Williamson County Purchasing Department, a purchase order(s) may be generated to 
the Successful Bidder for goods and/or services.  If a purchase order is issued, the purchase order 
number must appear on all itemized invoices and/or requests for payment.

3.14 SILENCE OF SPECIFICATIONS

The apparent silence of these specifications as to any detail or to the apparent omission from it of a 
detailed description concerning any point, shall be regarded as meaning that only the best practices are 
to prevail.  All interpretations of these specifications shall be made on the basis of this statement.

3.15 REFERENCES

The County may require the Bidder to supply a list of at least three (3) references where like services
and/or goods have been supplied by their firm within the past five (5) years, to include names, titles, 
phone numbers and email addresses of key personnel, and dates of performance.

The County may contact some or all of the references in order to determine the Respondent
performance record on work similar to that described in this RFP.  The County reserves the right to 
contact references other than those provided in the response and to use the information gained from 
them in the evaluation process.

References, if requested, should be provided in accordance with this IFB.  Bid may not be deemed 
complete without the inclusion of requested references.

SECTION 4 - TERMS AND CONDITIONS

4.1 VENUE AND GOVERNING LAW

The Bidder hereby agrees and acknowledges that venue and jurisdiction of any suit, right, or cause of 
action arising out of or in connection with this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s), shall lie 
exclusively in either Williamson County, Texas or in the Austin Division of the Western Federal District of 
Texas, and the parties hereto expressly consent and submit to such jurisdiction.  Furthermore, except to 
the extent that this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) is governed by the laws of the United 
States, this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be governed by and construed in 
accordance with the laws of the State of Texas, excluding, however, its choice of law rules.

4.2 INCORPORATION BY REFERENCE AND PRECEDENCE

A. The Contract shall be derived from the IFB and its Addenda (if applicable), and the Bidder ’ s Bid.  In 
the event of a dispute under the Contract, applicable documents will be referred to for the purpose 
of clarification or for additional detail in the following order of precedence:

1. The IFB and its Addenda (if applicable); and

2. The Bidder ’s Bid.

B. In the event the County requires that an Ensuing Agreement be executed following award and a 
dispute arises between the terms and conditions of the Ensuing Agreement, the IFB and its 
Addenda (if applicable), and the Bidder ’s Bid, applicable documents will be referred to for the 
purpose of clarification or for additional detail in the following order of precedence: 

1. Terms and conditions of the Ensuing Agreement;

2. The IFB its Addenda; and 

3. The Bidder ’s Bid.

4.3 OWNERSHIP OF BID

Each Bid shall become the property of the County upon submittal and will not be returned to Bidders 
unless received after the submittal deadline.

4.4 DISQUALIFICATION OF BIDDER

Upon signing and submittal of the Bid, a Bidder offering to sell supplies, materials, services, or equipment 
to the County, certifies that the Bidder has not violated the antitrust laws of the State of Texas codified in 
Business & Commerce Code, Section 15.01, or the Federal Antitrust Laws, and has not communicated 
directly or indirectly the offer made to any competitor or any other person engaged in such line of 
business.  Any or all Bids may be rejected if the County believes that collusion exists among the Bidders.

4.5 FUNDING

The County intends to budget and make sufficient funds available and authorize funds for expenditure to 
finance the costs of the Contract.  All Bidders understand and agree that the County’s payment of 
amounts under the Contract shall be contingent on the County receiving appropriations or other 
expenditure authority sufficient to allow the County, in the exercise of reasonable administrative 
discretion, to make payments under this Contract.

4.6 ASSIGNMENT, SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS 

The Successful Bidder may not assign, sell, or otherwise transfer the Contract or any other rights or 
interests obtained under the Contract without written permission of the Commissioners Court.  The 
Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the contracting 
parties hereto and their respective successors and permitted assigns.

4.7 IMPLIED REQUIREMENTS

Products or services not specifically described or required in the IFB, but are necessary to provide the 
functional capabilities described by the Bidder, shall be implied and deemed to be included in the Bid.

4.8 TERMINATION

A. Termination for Cause: The County reserves the right to terminate the Contract and/or any 
Ensuing Agreement(s) for default if the Successful Bidder breaches any of the Bid specifications,
terms and conditions, including warranties of the Bidder, if any, or if the Successful Bidder 
becomes insolvent or commits acts of bankruptcy.  Such right of termination is in addition to and
not in lieu of any other remedies the County may have at law or in equity or as may otherwise
provided hereunder.  Default may be construed as, but not limited to, failure to deliver the proper 
goods and/or services within the proper amount of time, and/or to properly perform any and all 
other requirements to the County ’s satisfaction, and/or to meet all other obligations and
requirements.

B. Termination for Convenience: The County may terminate the Contract and/or any Ensuing 
Agreement(s) for convenience and without cause or further liability, upon no less than thirty (30) 
calendar days written notice to the Successful Bidder. The County reserves the right to extend 
this period if it is in the best interest of the County.  In the event the County exercises its right to 
terminate without cause, it is understood and agreed that only the amounts due to the Successful 
Bidder for goods, commodities and/or services provided and expenses incurred to and including 
the date of termination, will be due and payable.  No penalty will be assessed for the County
termination for convenience.

4.9 NON-PERFORMANCE

It is the objective of the County to obtain complete and satisfactory performance of the requirements set 
forth herein.  In addition to any other remedies available at law, in equity or that may be set out herein, 
failure to perform may result in a deduction of payment equal to the amount of the goods and/or services 
that were not provided and/or performed to the County ’s satisfaction.  

In the event of such non-performance, the County shall have the right, but shall not be obligated, to 
complete the services itself or by others and/or purchase the goods from other sources.  If the County 
elects to acquire the goods or perform the services itself or by others, pursuant to the foregoing, the 
Successful Bidder shall reimburse the County, within ten (10) calendar days of demand, for all costs 
incurred by the County (including, without limitation, applicable, general, and administrative expenses, 
and field overhead, and the cost of necessary equipment, materials, and field labor) in correcting the 
nonperformance which the Successful Bidder fails to meet pursuant to the requirements set out herein.  
In the event the Successful Bidder refuses to reimburse the County as set out in this provision, the 
County shall have the right to deduct such reimbursement amounts from any amounts that may be then 
owing or that may become owing in the future to the Successful Bidder.

4.10 PROPRIETARY INFORMATION AND THE TEXAS PUBLIC INFORMATION ACT

All material submitted to the County shall become public property and subject to the Texas Public 
Information Act upon receipt. If a Bidder does not desire proprietary information in the Bid to be 
disclosed, each page must be clearly identified and marked proprietary at time of submittal or, more 
preferably, all proprietary information may be placed in a folder or appendix and be clearly identified and 
marked as being proprietary.  Failure to clearly identify and mark information as being proprietary as set 
forth under this provision will result in all unmarked information being deemed non-proprietary and 
available to the public.  For all information that has not been clearly identified and marked as proprietary 
by the Bidder, the County may choose to place such information on the County ’s website and/or a similar 
public database without obtaining any type of prior consent from the Bidder.

The County will, to the extent allowed by law, endeavor to protect from public disclosure the information 
that has been identified and marked as proprietary.  The final decision as to what information must be 
disclosed, however, lies with the Texas Attorney General.  

To the extent, if any, that any provision in this IFB or in the Bidder ’s Bid is in conflict with Texas 
Government Code, Chapter 552, as amended (the “Public Information Act”), the same shall be of no 
force or effect.  Furthermore, it is expressly understood, and agreed, that the County, and its officers and 
employees, may request advice, decisions and opinions of the Attorney General of the State of Texas in 
regard to the application of the Public Information Act to any items or data furnished to the County as to 
whether or not the same are available to the public.  It is further understood that the County, and its 
officers and employees, shall have the right to rely on the advice, decisions and opinions of the Attorney 
General, and that the County, its officers and employees shall have no liability or obligation to any party 
hereto for the disclosure to the public, or to any person or persons, of any items or data furnished to the 
County by a party hereto, in reliance of any advice, decision or opinion of the Attorney General of the 
State of Texas.

4.11 RIGHT TO AUDIT

The Successful Bidder agrees that the County or its duly authorized representatives shall, until the 
expiration of three (3) years after termination or expiration of the services to be performed, have access 
to and the right to examine and photocopy any and all books, documents, papers and records of the 
Successful Bidder, which are directly pertinent to the services to be performed or goods to be delivered 
for the purposes of making audits, examinations, excerpts and transcriptions.  The Successful Bidder 
agrees that the County shall have access during normal working hours to all necessary facilities and 
shall be provided adequate and appropriate work space in order to conduct audits in compliance with the 
provisions of this section.  The County shall give the Successful Bidder reasonable advance notice of 
intended audits.

4.12 TESTING AND INSPECTIONS

The County reserves the right to inspect and test equipment, supplies, materials and goods for quality 
and compliance with this IFB, and ability to meet the needs of the user.  Demonstration units must be 
available for review.  Should the goods or services fail to meet requirements and/or be unavailable for 
evaluation, the County can deem the Bidder to be in breach and terminate the Contract and/or any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

4.13 BID PREPARATION COSTS

The cost of developing Bids is the sole responsibility of the Bidders and shall not be charged to the 
County.  There is no expressed or implied obligation for the County to reimburse the Bidders for any 
expense incurred in preparing a Bid in response to this IFB and the County will not reimburse the Bidders 
for such expenses.

4.14 INDEMNIFICATION

The Successful Bidder shall indemnify, defend and save harmless, the County, its officials, employees, 
agents and agent ’s employees from, and against, all claims, liability, and expenses including reasonable 
attorneys ’   fees, arising from activities of the Bidder, its agents, servants or employees, performed 
hereunder that result from the negligent act, error, or omission of the Bidder or any of the Bidder
agents, servants or employees, as well as all claims of loss or damage to the Bidder ’s and the County
property, equipment, and/or supplies. 

Furthermore, the County, its officials, employees, agents and agents ’ employees shall not be liable for 
damages to the Successful Bidder arising from any act of any third party, including, but not limited to, 
theft.  The Successful Bidder further agrees to indemnify, defend and save harmless, the County from its 
officials, employee, agents and agents ’ employees against all claims of whatever nature arising from any 
accident, injury, or damage whatsoever, caused to any person, or the property of any person, occurring 
in relation to the Successful Bidder ’s performance of any services requested hereunder during the term 
of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s). 

The Successful Bidder shall timely report all claims, demands, suits, actions, proceedings, liens or 
judgements to the County and shall, upon the receipt of any claim, demand, suit, action, proceeding, lien 

or judgement, not later than the fifteenth (15 th) day of each month; provide the County with a written 
report on each such matter, setting forth the status of each matter, the schedule or planned proceedings 
with respect to each matter and the cooperation or assistance, if any, of the County required by the 
Successful Bidder in the defense of each matter.  The Successful Bidder’s duty to defend, indemnify and 
hold the County harmless shall be absolute.  It shall not abate or end by reason of the expiration or 
termination of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s), unless otherwise agreed by the County in 
writing.  The provisions of this section shall survive the termination of the Contract and shall remain in full 
force and effect with respect to all such matters no matter when they arise. 

In the event of any dispute between the parties, as to whether a claim, demand, suit, action, proceeding, 
lien or judgement, that appears to have been caused by or appears to have arisen out of or in connection 
with acts or omissions of the County, the Bidder shall nevertheless fully defend such claim, demand, suit 
or action, proceeding, lien or judgement, until and unless there is a determination by a court of competent 
jurisdiction that the acts and omissions of the Bidder are not an issue in the matter. 

The Successful Bidder ’s indemnification shall cover, and the Successful Bidder agrees to, indemnify the 
County, in the event the County is found to have been negligent for having selected the Successful 
Bidder to perform the work described in this request.  The provision by the Successful Bidder of 
insurance shall not limit the liability of the Successful Bidder under the Contract and/or any Ensuing 
Agreement(s). 

4.15 WAIVER OF SUBROGATION

The Successful Bidder and the Successful Bidder ’s insurance carrier waive any and all rights 
whatsoever with regard to subrogation against the County as an indirect party to any suit arising out of 
personal or property damages resulting from the Bidder ’s performance under this Contract and any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

4.16 RELATIONSHIP OF THE PARTIES

The Successful Bidder shall be an independent contractor and shall assume all of the rights, obligations, 
liabilities, applicable to it as such independent contractor hereunder and any provisions herein which may 
appear to give the County the right to direct the Successful Bidder as to details of doing work herein 
covered, or to exercise a measure of control over the work, shall be deemed to mean that the Successful 
Bidder shall follow the desires of the County in the results of the work only.  The County shall not retain or 
have the right to control the Successful Bidder ’s means, methods or details pertaining to the Successful 
Bidder ’s performance of the work.  The County and the Successful Bidder hereby agree and declare that 
the Successful Bidder is an independent contractor and as such meets the qualifications of an 
“Independent Contractor” under Texas Workers Compensation Act, Texas Labor Code, Section 406.141, 
that the Successful Bidder is not an employee of  the County, and that the Successful Bidder and its 
employees, agents and subcontractors shall not be entitled to workers compensation coverage or any 
other type of insurance coverage held by the County.

4.17 SOLE PROVIDER

The Successful Bidder agrees and acknowledges that it shall not be considered a sole provider of the 
goods and/or services described herein and that the County may contract with other providers of such 
goods and/or services if the County deems, at its sole discretion, that multiple providers of the same 
goods and/or services will serve the best interest of the County.

4.18 FORCE MAJEURE

If the party obligated to perform is prevented from performance by an act of war, order of legal authority, 
act of God, or other unavoidable cause not attributable to the fault or negligence of said party, the other 
party shall grant such party relief from the performance.  The burden of proof for the need of such relief 
shall rest upon the party obligated to perform.  To obtain release based on force majeure, the party 
obligated to perform shall file a written request with the other party.

4.19 SEVERABILITY

If any provision of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be held invalid or 
unenforceable by any court of competent jurisdiction, such holding shall not invalidate or render 
unenforceable any other provision thereof, but rather the entire IFB, Contract or any Ensuing Agreement
(s) will be construed as if not containing the particular invalid or unenforceable provision or provisions, 
and the rights and obligation of the parties shall be construed and enforced in accordance therewith.  The 
parties acknowledge that if any provision of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) is 
determined to be invalid or unenforceable, it is the desire and intention of each that such provision be 
reformed and construed in such a manner that it will, to the maximum extent practicable, give effect to
the intent of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) and be deemed to be validated and
enforceable.

4.20 EQUAL OPPORTUNITY

Neither party shall discriminate against any employee or applicant for employment because of race, 
color, sex, religion or national origin.

4.21 NOTICE

Any notice to be given shall be in writing and may be distributed by personal delivery, or by registered or 
certified mail, return receipt requested, addressed to the proper party, at the following address:

The County:    Williamson County Purchasing Department 
            Attn: Purchasing Agent 
            901 South Austin Avenue 
            Georgetown, Texas 78626

The Bidder:     Address set out in Bidder’s Transmittal Letter.

Notices given in accordance with this provision shall be effective upon (1) receipt by the party to which 
notice is given, or (2) on the third (3rd) calendar day following mailing, whichever occurs first.

4.22 SALES AND USE TAX EXEMPTION

The County is a body, corporate and politic, under the laws of the State of Texas and claims exemption 
from sales and use taxes under Texas Tax Code, Section 151.309, as amended, and the services and/or 
goods subject hereof are being secured for use by the County.

4.23 COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS

The County and the Successful Bidder shall comply with all federal, state, and local laws, statutes,
ordinances, rules and regulations, and the orders and decrees of any courts or administrative bodies or 
tribunals in any matter affecting the performance of the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s),
including, without limitation, Workers ’ Compensation laws, salary and wage statutes and regulations, 
licensing laws and regulations.  When required, the Successful Bidder shall furnish the County with 
certification of compliance with said laws, statues, ordinances, rules, regulations, orders, and decrees 
above specified.

4.24 INCORPORATION OF EXHIBITS, APPENDICES AND ATTACHMENTS

All of the Exhibits, Appendices and Attachments referred to herein are incorporated by reference as if set 
forth verbatim herein.  Any conflicting terms in the Contract documents will be resolved at the sole 
discretion of the Commissioners Court.

4.25 NO WAIVER OF IMMUNITIES

Nothing herein shall be deemed to waive, modify or amend any legal defense available at law or in equity 
to the County, its past or present officers, employees, or agents, nor to create any legal rights or claim on 
behalf of any third party.  The County does not waive, modify, or alter to any extent whatsoever the 
availability of the defense of governmental immunity under the laws of the State of Texas and of the 
United States.

4.26 NO WAIVER

The failure or delay of any party to enforce at any time or any period of time any of the provisions of this 
IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall not constitute a present or future waiver of such 
provisions nor the right of either party to enforce each and every provision.  Furthermore, no term or 
provision hereof shall be deemed waived and no breach excused unless such waiver or consent shall be 
in writing and signed by the party claimed to have waived or consented.  Any consent by any party to, or 
waiver of, a breach by the other, whether expressed or implied, shall not constitute a consent to, waiver 
of or excuse for any other, different or subsequent breach.

4.27 CURRENT REVENUES

The obligations of the parties under the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) do not constitute a 
general obligation or indebtedness of the County for which the County is obligated to levy, pledge, or 
collect any of taxation.  It is understood and agreed that the County shall have the right to terminate the 
Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) at the end of any the County fiscal year if the governing body of 
the County does not appropriate sufficient funds as determined by the County ’s budget for the fiscal year 
in question.  The County may effect such termination by giving written notice of termination to the 
Successful Bidder at the end of its then-current fiscal year.

4.28 FOB DESTINATION

To the extent applicable to this IFB, all of the items listed are to be Free On Board to final destination 
(FOB Destination) with all transportation charges if applicable to be included in the Bid, unless otherwise 
specified in the Invitation for Bids.  The title and risk of loss of the goods shall not pass to the County until 
receipt and acceptance takes place at the FOB Destination point.

4.29 BINDING EFFECT

This Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties 
and their respective permitted assigns and successors.

4.30 ASSIGNMENT

The Successful Bidder ’s interest and duties hereunder may not be assigned or delegated to a third party 
without the express written consent of the County.

4.31 SAFETY

The Successful Bidder is responsible for initiating, maintaining, and supervising all safety precautions 
and programs in connection with any services to be provided hereunder. The safety program shall 
comply with all applicable requirements of the current federal Occupational Safety and Health Act and all 
other applicable federal, state and local laws and regulations.

4.32 GENERAL OBLIGATIONS AND RELIANCE

The Successful Bidder shall perform all services and/or provide all goods, as well as those reasonably
inferable and necessary for completion and provision of services and/or goods required hereunder. The
Successful Bidder shall keep the County informed of the progress and quality of the services.  The 
Successful Bidder agrees and acknowledges that the County is relying on the Successful Bidder's 
represented expertise and ability to provide the goods and/or services described herein.  The Successful
Bidder agrees to use its best efforts, skill, judgment, and abilities to perform its obligations in accordance
with the highest standards used in the profession and to further the interests of the County 
accordance with the County ’s requirements and procedures.    T h e   Successful Bidder ’s duties,
set forth herein, shall at no time be in any way diminished by reason of any approval by the County, nor
shall the Successful Bidder be released from any liability by reason of such approval by the County, it 
being understood that the County at all times is ultimately relying upon the Successful Bidder ’s skill and 
knowledge in performing the services and providing any goods required hereunder.

4.33 ESTIMATED QUANTITIES

To the extent applicable to this IFB, the estimated quantity of each item listed in this IFB is only
estimate; the actual quantity to be purchased may be more or less. The County is not obligated
purchase any minimum amount, and the County may purchase any reasonable amount greater than the
estimate for the same unit price. Any limit on quantities available must be stated expressly in the Bid.

4.34 CONTRACTUAL DEVELOPMENT

The contents of the IFB and the Successful Bidder ’s Bid will become an integral part of the Contract, but 
may be modified, at the County ’s sole discretion, by provisions of an Ensuing Agreement.  Therefore, the 
Bidder must agree to an inclusion of an Ensuing Agreement of the Bid specifications, terms and 
conditions of this IFB.  If an Ensuing Agreement is required under this IFB, information relative to the 
Agreement will be located in the Special Provisions Section of this IFB.

4.35 SURVIVABILITY 

All applicable agreements that were entered into between the Successful Bidder and the County, under 
the terms and conditions of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s), shall survive the expiration or 
termination thereof for ninety (90) days unless a new contract has been awarded.

The County may exercise, by written notice to the Successful Bidder no later than ten (10) calendar days 
of the Contract expiration, this clause for emergencies only. 

4.36 AIR QUALITY

In determining the overall best Bid, the County may, to the extent applicable, exercise the option granted 
to local governments under the Texas Local Government Code, Section 271.907.

This option allows the County to evaluate Bids and give preference to goods and/or services of a Bidder 
that demonstrates that the Bidder meets or exceeds any and all state or federal environmental 
standards, including voluntary standards, relating to air quality.  If the Bid being submitted will have an 
effect on air quality for the County (as it relates to any state, federal, or voluntary air quality standard), 
then the Bidder is encouraged to provide information in narrative indicating the anticipated air quality 
impact.  All Bidders are expected to meet all mandated state and federal air quality standards.

4.37 ENTIRE AGREEMENT

The Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall supersede all prior Agreements, written or oral 
between the Successful Bidder and the County and shall constitute the entire Agreement and 
understanding between the parties with respect to the services and/or goods to be provided.  Each of the 
provisions herein shall be binding upon the parties and may not be waived, modified, amended or altered, 
except by writing signed by the Successful Bidder and the County.

4.38 PAYMENT

The County ’s payment for goods and services shall be governed by the Texas Government Code, 

Chapter 2251.  An invoice shall be deemed overdue the thirty-first (31st) day after the later of the 
following: 

A. The date the County receives the goods under the Contract; 
B. The date the performance of the service under the Contract is completed; or 
C. The date the Williamson County Auditor receives an invoice for the goods or services.  

Interest charges for any overdue payments shall be paid by the County in accordance with Texas 
Government Code, Section 2251.025.  More specifically, the rate of interest that shall accrue on a late 
payment is the rate in effect on September 1 of the County ’s fiscal year in which the payment becomes 
due.  The said rate in effect on September 1 shall be equal to the sum of one (1) percent, and the prime 

rate published in the Wall Street Journal on the first (1st) day of July of the preceding fiscal year that does 
not fall on a Saturday or Sunday.

In the event that an error appears in an invoice submitted by the Successful Bidder, the County shall 
notify the Successful Bidder of the error not later than the twenty-first (21st) day after the date the County 
receives the invoice.  If the error is resolved in favor of the Successful Bidder, the Successful Bidder 
shall be entitled to receive interest on the unpaid balance of the invoice submitted by the Successful 
Bidder beginning on the date that the payment for the invoice became overdue.  If the error is resolved in 
favor of the County, the Successful Bidder shall submit a corrected invoice that must be paid in 
accordance within the time set forth above.  The unpaid balance accrues interest as provided by the 
Texas Government Code, Chapter 2251, if the corrected invoice is not paid by the appropriate date.

As a minimum, invoices shall include:

A. Name, address, and telephone number of the Successful Bidder and similar information in the 
event the payment is to be made to a different address. 

B. The County Contract, Purchase Order. 

C. Identification of items or service as outlined in the Contract. 

D. Quantity or quantities, applicable unit prices, total prices and total amount. 

E. Any additional payment information which may be called for by the Contract. 

Payment inquiries should be directed to the following address:        

            Williamson County Auditor’s Office, Accounts Payable Department
            Email: accountspayable@wilco.org
            Phone: 512-943-1500

4.39 CONTRACTUAL FORMATION AND ENSUING AGREEMENT

The IFB and the Bidder ’s Bid, when properly accepted by the Commissioners Court, shall constitute a
Contract equally binding between the Successful Bidder and the County.

If an Ensuing Agreement is required by this IFB, that information will be provided in Special 
Provisions section of this IFB.  The Successful Bidder shall be required to execute the Agreement at 
the Williamson County Purchasing Department approximately ten (10) calendar days after the 
Successful Bidder is notified of award.  The Ensuing Agreement shall be in the same form as the 
Agreement which is attached to the end of this IFB.  The only anticipated changes in the Ensuing 
Agreement will be to include additional exhibits, to fill in blanks to identify the Successful Bidder, and 
terms relating to the compensation, or to revise the Agreement to accommodate corrections, changes in 
the scope of services, or changes pursuant to Addenda issued.  Bidders should raise any questions 
regarding the terms of the Agreement in the form of written questions or submittals as 
described in the Public Announcement and General Information portion of this IFB.  Because the 
signed Ensuing Agreement will be substantively and substantially derived from the attached Agreement, 
each Bidder is urged to seek independent legal counsel as to any questions about the terms, conditions 
or provisions contained in the Agreement before submitting a Bid.  Again, the attached Agreement, if 
applicable, contains important legal provisions and is considered part and parcel of this IFB.  Failure or 
refusal to sign aforesaid Agreement shall be grounds for the County to revoke any award which has been 
issued, forfeit Bid security, if applicable, and select another Bidder.

4.40 COOPERATIVE PURCHASING PROGRAM 

During the term of the Contract resulting from this IFB, the County would like to afford the same prices, 
terms and conditions to other political subdivisions or public entities.  Another entity’s participation in the 
Contract resulting from this IFB is subject to a properly authorized Purchasing Cooperative Inter- local 
Agreement with the County.  Any liability created by purchase orders issued against the Contract shall be 
the sole responsibility of the governmental agency placing the order.

4.41 INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS

To the extent applicable Insurance information will appear in the Additional Stipulations section that is in 
this IFB Package. 

4.42 BIDDERS BOND, WARRANTY BOND, PERFORMANCE AND PAYMENT BONDS

To the extent applicable Bond information will appear in the Additional Stipulations section that is in this 
IFB Package. 

4.43 LEGAL LIABILITY INFORMATION

The Successful Bidder shall disclose all legal liability information by listing any pending litigation
anticipated litigation that your firm is involved in including, but not limited to, potential or actual legal
matters with private parties and any local, state, federal or international governmental entities. The
County reserves the right to consider legal liability information in the recommendation of any proposed 
contract to the Commissioners Court.

4.44 INCLEMENT WEATHER

In case of inclement weather or any other unforeseen event causing the County to close for business on 
the date of a Bid submission deadline, the Bid closing will automatically be postponed until the next 
business day the County is open.  If inclement weather conditions or any other unforeseen event causes 
delays in carrier service operations, the County may issue an Addendum to all known Bidders interested 
in the project to extend the deadline.  It will be the responsibility of the Bidder to notify the County of their 
interest in the project if these conditions are impacting their ability to turn in a submission within the 
stated deadline.  The County reserves the right to make the final judgement call to extend any deadline. 

4.45 PREVAILING WAGE RATES

To the extent this procurement is for the construction of a public work, including a building, highway, 
road, excavation, and repair work or other project development or improvement, paid for in whole or in 
part from public funds, without regard to whether the work is done under public supervision or direction, 
Texas Government Code, Chapter 2258, shall apply and the contractor shall pay not less than the wage 
scale of the various classes of labor as shown on the “Prevailing Wage Schedule” provided by the 
County. Pursuant to Texas Government Code, Section 2258.022(a)(2), the County has determined the 
general prevailing rate of the “Prevailing Wage Schedule”  in the locality in which the public work is to be 
performed for each craft or type of worker needed to execute the contract and the prevailing rate for legal 
holiday and overtime work by using the prevailing wage rate as determined by the United States 
Department of Labor in accordance with the United States Code, Section 276a (Davis-Bacon Act). 

The specified wage rates are minimum rates only, and are not representations that qualified labor 
adequate to perform the work is available locally at the prevailing wage rates. The County is not bound to 
pay—and will not consider—any claims for additional compensation made by any contractor because the 
contractor pays wages in excess of the applicable minimum rate contained in the Contract Documents. 
The “Prevailing Wage Schedule”  is not a representation that quantities of qualified labor adequate to 
perform the work may be found locally at the specified wage rates.

For classifications not shown, workers shall not be paid less than the wage indicated for laborers. The 
contractor shall notify each worker commencing work on the project the worker ’s job classification and 
the established minimum wage rate required to be paid, as well as the actual amount being paid. The 
notice must be delivered to and signed in acknowledgement of receipt by the employee and must list 
both the monetary wages and fringe benefits to be paid or furnished for each classification in which the 
worker is assigned duties. When requested by the County, competent evidence of compliance with the 
Texas Prevailing Wage Law shall be furnished by contractor. A copy of each worker wage rate 
notification shall be submitted to the County with the Application for Payment for the period during which 
the worker began on-site activities.

Should the contractor at any time become aware that a particular skill or trade not reflected on the 
County ’s “Prevailing Wage Schedule” will be or is being employed in the work, whether by the contractor 
or by a subcontractor, the contractor shall promptly inform the County and shall specify a wage rate for 
that skill or trade, which shall bind the contractor.

The contractor and any subcontractor shall pay to the County a penalty of sixty dollars ($60.00) for each 
worker employed for each calendar day, or portion thereof, that the worker is paid less than the wage 
rates stipulated in the “Prevailing Wage Schedule” or any supplement thereto. The contractor and each 
subcontractor shall keep, or cause to be kept, an accurate record showing the names and occupations 
of all workers employed in connection with the work, and showing the actual per diem wages paid to 
each worker, which records shall be open at all reasonable hours for the inspection by the County.

Within thirty-one (31) days of receipt of information concerning a violation of the Texas Government Code 
Chapter 2258, the County shall make an initial determination as to whether good cause exists to believe 
a violation occurred. The County ’s decision on the initial determination shall be reduced to writing and 
sent to the contractor or subcontractor against whom the violation was alleged, and to the affected 
worker. When a good cause finding is made, the County shall retain the full amounts claimed by the 
claimant or claimants as the difference between wages paid and wages due under the “Prevailing Wage 
Schedule” and any supplements thereto, together with the applicable penalties, such amounts being 
subtracted from successive progress payments pending a final decision on the violation.

After the County makes its initial determination, the affected contractor or subcontractor and worker have 
fourteen (14) calendar days in which to resolve the issue of whether a violation occurred, including the 
amount that should be retained by the County or paid to the affected worker. If the contractor or 
subcontractor and affected worker reach an agreement concerning the worker ’s claim, the contractor 
shall promptly notify the County in a written document signed by the worker. It the contractor or 

Subcontractor and affected worker do not agree before the fifteenth (15 th) calendar day after the County
determination, the contractor or subcontractor and affected worker must participate in binding arbitration 
in accordance with the Texas General Arbitration Act, Chapter 171, (Texas Civil Practice and Remedies 
Code). The parties to the arbitration have ten (10) calendar days after the expiration of the fifteen (15) 

calendar days referred to above, to agree on an arbitrator; if by the eleventh (11 th) calendar day there is 
no agreement to an arbitrator, a district court shall appoint an arbitrator on the petition of any of the 
parties to the arbitration.

If an arbitrator determines that a violation has occurred, the arbitrator shall assess and award against the 
contractor or subcontractor the amount of penalty as provided above and the amount owed the worker. 
The County may use any amounts retained hereunder to pay the worker the amount as designated in the 
arbitration award. If the County has not retained enough from the contractor or subcontractor to pay the 
worker in accordance with the arbitration award, the worker has a right of action against the contractor 
and subcontractor as appropriate, and the surety of either to receive the amount owed, attorneys ’  fees 
and court costs. The contractor shall promptly furnish a copy of the arbitration award to the County.

Money retained pursuant to the provisions above shall be used to pay the claimant or claimants the 
difference between the amount the worker received in wages for labor on the project at the rate paid by 
the contractor or subcontractor and the amount the worker would have received at the general prevailing 
wage rate as provided by the agreement of the claimant and the contractor or subcontractor affected, or 
in the arbitrator ’s award. The full statutory penalty of sixty dollars ($60.00) per calendar day of violation 
per worker shall be retained by Williamson County to offset its administrative costs, pursuant to Texas 
Government Code, Section, 2258.023. Any retained funds in excess of these amounts shall be paid to 
the contractor on the earlier of the next progress payment or final payment. Provided, however, that the 
County shall have no duty to release any funds to either the claimant or the contractor until it has 
received the notices of agreement or the arbitration award as provided under the provision herein-above.

4.46 CONFIDENTIALITY

The Bidder expressly agrees that it will not use any direct or incidental confidential information that may 
be obtained while working in a governmental setting for its own benefit, and agrees that it will not access 
unauthorized areas or confidential information and it will not disclose any information to unauthorized 
third parties, and will take care to guard the security of the information at all times.

Bid 1704-157Williamson County, Texas

4/7/2017 9:30 AM p. 16



5

6

3 4

Williamson County – Invitation for Bid (IFB)

SECTION 1 - DEFINITIONS 

Addendum/Addenda – means any written or graphic instruments issued by the County prior to the 
consideration of Bids which modify or interpret the Bid Documents by additions, deletions, clarifications, 
or corrections.

Agreement/Ensuing Agreement(s) – means the Successful Bidder may be required by the County to 
sign an additional Agreement containing terms necessary to ensure compliance with the IFB and the 
Bidder ’s Bid.  Such Ensuing Agreement(s) shall contain the Bid specifications, terms and conditions that 
are derived from the IFB.

Bid Documents – means the Legal Notice, IFB including attachments, and any Addenda issued by the 
County prior to the consideration of any Bids.

Bid – means the completed and signed bid form, (sometimes referred to as the Price Sheet), and ALL 
required forms and documentation listed in the IFB package which have been submitted in accordance 
with the terms and conditions described in the IFB package.  A Bid submitted in accordance with this IFB 
is irrevocable during the specified period for evaluation and acceptance of Bids unless a waiver is 
obtained from the Williamson County Purchasing Agent.

Bidder – means a person or entity who submits a Bid in response to this IFB.

Contract – means this IFB and the Bid of the Successful Bidder shall become a Contract between the 
Successful Bidder and the County once the Successful Bidder ’s Bid is properly accepted by the 
Williamson County Commissioners Court.

Commissioner ’s Court – means the Williamson County Commissioners Court. 

County – means Williamson County, a political subdivision of the State of Texas.

Invitation for Bid (IFB) – means this document, together with the attachments thereto and any future 
Addenda issued by the County.

Successful Bidder – means the liable Bidder to whom the County intends to award the Contract.

SECTION 2 - BID FORMAT AND SUBMISSION

2.1 ORGANIZATION OF BID CONTENTS FOR SUBMITTAL 

Each Bid should be organized and items submitted in the order described below: 

A. Transmittal Letter. Please see Section 2.3, Transmittal Letter, for more information. 

B. Price Sheet.

C. Conflict of Interest Questionnaire. Please see Section 2.2, Conflict of Interest, for more 
information in regards to this. Please note that even if you deem there to be no Conflict of Interest, 
this signed questionnaire must be included in your package. 

D. References. Please see Section 3.15, References, for more information. 

E. Bid Affidavit.

F. Form 1295. Please see Section 2.4, Certificate of Interested Parties – Form 1295. 

2.2 CONFLICT OF INTEREST

No public official shall have interest in a Contract, in accordance with Vernon ’s Texas Codes Annotated, 
Local Government Code, Title 5, Subtitle C, Chapter 171, as amended. 

As of January 1, 2006, all Bidders are responsible for complying with Local Government Code, Title 5, 
Subtitle C, Chapter 176.  Additional information may be obtained from the County’s website at the 
following link: 

http://www.wilco.org/CountyDepartments/Purchasing/ConflictofInterestDisclosure/tabid/689/language/en
US/Default.aspx

Each Bidder must disclose any existing or potential conflict of interest relative to the performance of the 
requirements of this IFB.  Examples of potential conflicts of interest may include an existing 
business or personal relationship between the Bidder, its principal, or any affiliate or 
subcontractor with the County or any other entity or person involved in any way with the project 
that is subject to this IFB .  Similarly, any personal or business relationship between the Bidder, the 

principals, or any affiliate or subcontractor with any employee, or official of the County or its suppliers 
must be disclosed.  Any such relationship that might be perceived or represented as a conflict must be 
disclosed. Failure to disclose any such relationship or reveal personal relationships with the County 
employees or officials may be cause for termination. 

The County will decide if an actual or perceived conflict should result in Bid disqualification. 

By submitting a Bid in response to this IFB, all Bidders affirm they have not given, nor intend to give, at 
any time hereafter, any economic opportunity, future employment, gift, loan, gratuity, special discount, 
trip, favor, or service to a the County public servant or any employee, official or representative of same, in 
connection with this procurement. 

Each Bidder must provide a Conflict of Interest Statement with their Bid Package.  Package may 

be deemed incomplete without this form.  

2.3 TRANSMITTAL LETTER

The Bidder should submit a Transmittal Letter that provides the following information: 

A. Name and address of individual or business entity submitting the Bid. 

B. Name, physical address, email address, business and fax number of the Bidder ’s principal 
contact person regarding all contractual matters relating to this IFB.

C. The Bid ’s Federal Employer Identification Number.

D. If the Proposal being submitted will have an effect on air quality for the County (as it relates to any 
state, federal, or voluntary air quality standard), then the Respondent is encouraged to provide
information in narrative indicating the anticipated air quality impact. See Section 4.36, Air Quality 
for more information. 

2.4 CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PARTIES – FORM 1295

As of January 1, 2016, all Successful Bidders are responsible for complying with the Texas Government 
Code, Section 2252.908.  The law states that the County may not enter into certain contracts with a 
Bidder unless the Bidder submits a disclosure of interested parties to the County at the time the Bidder 
submits the signed Contract.  The law applies only to a Contract of the County on or after January 1, 
2016 that either:

A. Requires an action or vote by the Commissioners Court before the Contract may be signed (all 
contracts that fall under the jurisdiction of the Commissioners Court approval, such as contracts 
resulting from an Initiation for Bid (IFB), RFP, Request for Qualifications (RFQ), etc., excluding, 
but not limited to, certain Juvenile Service contracts, contracts funded with Sheriff ’s seized fun 
monies, etc.); or

B. Has a value of at least $1,000,000. 

By January 1, 2016, the Texas Ethics Commission will make available on its website, a new filing 
application that must be used to file Form 1295.  Information regarding how to use the filing application is 
available on the Texas Ethics Commission website at the following link:

https://www.ethics.state.tx.us/whatsnew/elf_info_form1295.htm

A Respondent must:

A. Use the online application to process the required information on Form 1295.

B. Print a copy of the form which will contain a unique certification number.

C. An authorized agent of the Bidder must sign the printed copy of the form.

D. Have the form notarized.

E. File the completed Form 1295 and certification of filing (scanning and emailing form is sufficient) 
with Williamson County Purchasing Agent at the time the signed Contract is submitted for 
approval.

After the Commissioners Court award of the Contract, the County shall notify the Texas Ethics 
Commission, using the Texas Ethics Commission ’s filing application, of the receipt of the filed Form 
1295 and certification of filing not later than the 30th day after the date the Contract binds all parties to the 
Contract. The Texas Ethics Commission will post the completed Form 1295 to its website within seven 
business days after receiving notice from the County.

2.5 ETHICS

The Bidder shall not accept or offer gifts or anything of value nor enter into any business arrangement 
with any employee, official or agent of the County.

2.6 BID SUBMITTAL DEADLINE

The Bid is due no later than the submittal date and time set forth in the Public Announcement and 
General Information listed in this IFB package.  Contents of each Bid shall be submitted in accordance 
with this IFB.

2.7 DELIVERY OF BIDS

The County uses BidSync to distribute and receive Bids and proposals.  It is preferred that Bids
submitted electronically through BidSync; however, Bidders can submit a hard copy.  

Refer to www.bidsync.com for further information on how to submit electronically.

If mailed or delivered in person, Bids and Bid Addenda are to be delivered in sealed envelope on or before
the submittal deadline, as noted in the Public Announcement and General Information listed in this IFB 
package, to:

            Williamson County Purchasing Department
            Attn: Bid Name and Number
            901 South Austin Avenue
            Georgetown, Texas 78626

Also, all Bidders should list their Name and Address, and the Date of the Bid opening on the outside
the box or envelope and note “Sealed Bid Enclosed.” The County will not accept any Bids received after 
the submittal deadline, and shall return such Bids unopened to the Bidder.  The County will not accept 
any responsibility for Bids being delivered by third party carriers.  

Bids will be opened publically and the names of Bidders and pricing will be read aloud.

SECTION 3 - INSTRUCTIONS AND GENERAL REQUIREMENTS

3.1 INSTRUCTIONS

Read this document carefully, and follow all instructions and requirements.  All Bidders are responsible 
for fulfilling all requirements and specifications.  Be sure to have a clear understanding of this IFB.

General requirements apply to all advertised IFBs; however, these may be superseded, in whole or in 
part, by the bid specifications, Addenda and modifications issued as a part of this IFB.  Be sure your Bid 
package is complete.

3.2 AMBIGUITY, CONFLICT, OR OTHER ERRORS IN THIS IFB

If a Bidder discovers any ambiguity, conflict, discrepancy, omission or other error in this IFB, the Bidder 
shall immediately notify the County Purchasing Department of such error in writing and request
modification or clarification of the document.

Modifications will be made by issuing Addenda. If the Bidder fails to notify the County prior to the date
and time fixed for submission of Bids of an error or ambiguity in the IFB known to the Bidder, or an error
or ambiguity that reasonably should have been known to the Bidder, then the Bidder shall be deemed to 
have waived the error or ambiguity or its later resolution.

The County may also modify the IFB, no later than forty-eight (48) hours prior to the date and time fixed
for submission of Bids, by issuance of an Addendum.  All Addenda will be numbered consecutively, 
beginning with one (1).

3.3 NOTIFICATION OF MOST CURRENT ADDRESS

All Bidders in receipt of this IFB shall notify the Williamson County Purchasing Department of any
address changes, contact person changes, and/or telephone number changes no later than forty-eight 
(48) hours prior to the date and time fixed for submission of Bids.

3.4 SIGNATURE OF BIDDER

A. If the Bidder is a Corporation or Limited Liability Company, the legal name of the Corporation
Limited Liability Company shall be provided together with the signature of the officer or officers 
authorized to sign on behalf of such entity.

B. If the Bidder is a General Partnership, the true name of the firm shall be provided with the
signature of each partner authorized to sign.

C. If the Bidder is a Limited Partnership, the name of the Limited Partner ’s General Partner shall
provided with the signature of the officer authorized to sign on behalf of the General Partner.

D. If the Bidder is a Sole Proprietor(s) (individual), each Sole Proprietor(s) shall sign.

E. If signature is by an agent, other than the Sole Proprietor(s) or an officer of a Corporation, Limited 
Liability Company, General Partner or a member of a General Partnership, a power of attorney
equivalent document must be submitted to the Williamson County Purchasing Department.

3.5 ASSUMED BUSINESS NAME

If the Bidder operates business under an Assumed Business Name, the Bidder must have on file with the
Williamson County Clerk a current Assumed Name Certificate and provide a file marked copy of same.

3.6 BID OBLIGATION 

The contents of the IFB, Bid, and any clarification thereof submitted by the Successful Bidder shall
become part of the contractual obligation and incorporated by reference into the Contract and any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

3.7 COMPLIANCE WITH IFB SPECIFICATIONS

It is intended that this IFB describe the requirements and the Bid format in sufficient detail to secure 
comparable Bids.  Failure to comply with all provisions of the IFB may, at the sole discretion of the 
County, result in disqualification.

3.8 WITHDRAWAL OF BID

The Bidder may withdraw its Bid by submitting a written request with the company letterhead and the 
signature of an authorized individual, as described in Section 3.4, Signature of Bidder, to the Williamson 
County Purchasing Department any time prior to the submission deadline.  

The Bidder may submit a new Bid prior to the deadline. Alterations of the Bid in any manner will not be 
considered if submitted after the deadline.  Withdrawal of a Bid after the deadline will be subject to written 
approval of the Williamson County Purchasing Agent.

3.9 EVALUATION AND AWARD

The County reserves the right to use all pertinent information (also learned from sources other than 
disclosed in the Bid process) that might affect the County ’s judgment as to the appropriateness of
award to the lowest and best evaluated Bid. This information may be appended to the Bid evaluation
process results. Information on a Bidder from reliable sources, and not within the Bidder ’s Bid, may also 
be noted and made part of the evaluation fi le.  The County shall have sole discretion for determining 
the reliability of the source.

To ensure the proper and fair evaluation of a solicitation, the County prohibits unsolicited communication 
initiated by the Bidder to the County Official or Employee evaluating or considering the Bids prior to the 
time an award has been made. Unsolicited communication may be ground for disqualifying the 
offending Bidder from consideration or award of the solicitation, or any future solicitation.

Communication between the Bidder and the County will be initiated by the appropriate County Official
Employee in order to obtain information or clarification needed to develop a proper and accurate 
evaluation of the solicitation.

The County intends to award a Contract to the most responsible and responsive Bidder whose Bid will 
be most advantageous to the County. In accordance with Texas Government Code and Local
Government Code, the County may consider, to the extent allowed by law, the following:

A. Price;
B. The Bidder ’s experience and reputation;
C. Quality of the Bidder ’s goods and/or services; 
D. The Bidder ’s safety record;
E. The Bidder ’s proposed personnel; 
F. The Bidder ’s financial capabilities; and 
G. Any other relevant factors specifically listed in this IFB or authorized by law.

3.10 CONDISERATION OF LOCATION OF PRINCIPAL OFFICE 

Pursuant to Texas Local Government Code, Section 271.905 , in purchasing any real property or personal
property that is not affixed to real property, if the County receives one or more Bids from a Bidder whose
principal place of business is in Williamson County and whose Bid is within three (3 )  percent of the
lowest Bid price received by the County from a Bidder who is not a resident of Williamson County, the 
County may enter into a contract with:

A. The lowest Bidder; or the Bidder whose principal place of business is in Williamson County if the
Commissioners Court determines, in writing, that the local Bidder offers the County the best 
combination of contract price and addit ional economic development opportunities
Williamson County created by the contract award, including the employment of residents
Williamson County and increased tax revenues to Williamson County.

It is understood that the Commissioners Court of Williamson County, Texas, reserves the right to accept
or reject any and/or all Bids for any or all goods and/or services covered in this IFB, and to waive
informalities or defects in the Bid or to accept such Bid, if it shall deem to be in the best interest of the 
County.

Awards should be made approximately sixty (60) business days after the Bid opening date. Results may
be obtained by viewing the Williamson County vendor portal at the following link:

http://www.wilco.org/CountyDepartments/Purchasing/SearchforaPastBid/tabid/5213/language/en-
US/Default.aspx

3.11 RESPONSIBILITY 

It is expected that a prospective Bidder will be able to affirmatively demonstrate responsibility.  A 
prospective Bidder should be able to meet the following requirements:

A. Have adequate financial resources, or the ability to obtain such resources as required;
B. Be able to comply with the required or proposed delivery schedule;
C. Have a satisfactory record of performance that can be determined thru references provided; and 
D. Be otherwise qualified and eligible to receive an award.

The County may request representation and other information sufficient to determine the Bidder's ability 
to meet these minimum standards listed above.

3.12 FIRM PRICING 

For unit price items, all of the items listed are to be on a “per unit” basis, stating a firm price per unit or 
unit quantity of each item.  The Bidder must submit a firm price that must be good from the date of Bid 
opening for the fixed period of time set out in this IFB.  Unless the IFB expressly states otherwise, this 
period shall be until the end of the Initial Contract Period.

Bids which do not state a fixed price, or which are subject to change without notice, will not be 
considered.  The Court may award a Contract for the period implied or expressly stated in the lowest and 
best Bid.

3.13 PURCHASE ORDERS

If required by the Williamson County Purchasing Department, a purchase order(s) may be generated to 
the Successful Bidder for goods and/or services.  If a purchase order is issued, the purchase order 
number must appear on all itemized invoices and/or requests for payment.

3.14 SILENCE OF SPECIFICATIONS

The apparent silence of these specifications as to any detail or to the apparent omission from it of a 
detailed description concerning any point, shall be regarded as meaning that only the best practices are 
to prevail.  All interpretations of these specifications shall be made on the basis of this statement.

3.15 REFERENCES

The County may require the Bidder to supply a list of at least three (3) references where like services
and/or goods have been supplied by their firm within the past five (5) years, to include names, titles, 
phone numbers and email addresses of key personnel, and dates of performance.

The County may contact some or all of the references in order to determine the Respondent
performance record on work similar to that described in this RFP.  The County reserves the right to 
contact references other than those provided in the response and to use the information gained from 
them in the evaluation process.

References, if requested, should be provided in accordance with this IFB.  Bid may not be deemed 
complete without the inclusion of requested references.

SECTION 4 - TERMS AND CONDITIONS

4.1 VENUE AND GOVERNING LAW

The Bidder hereby agrees and acknowledges that venue and jurisdiction of any suit, right, or cause of 
action arising out of or in connection with this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s), shall lie 
exclusively in either Williamson County, Texas or in the Austin Division of the Western Federal District of 
Texas, and the parties hereto expressly consent and submit to such jurisdiction.  Furthermore, except to 
the extent that this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) is governed by the laws of the United 
States, this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be governed by and construed in 
accordance with the laws of the State of Texas, excluding, however, its choice of law rules.

4.2 INCORPORATION BY REFERENCE AND PRECEDENCE

A. The Contract shall be derived from the IFB and its Addenda (if applicable), and the Bidder ’ s Bid.  In 
the event of a dispute under the Contract, applicable documents will be referred to for the purpose 
of clarification or for additional detail in the following order of precedence:

1. The IFB and its Addenda (if applicable); and

2. The Bidder ’s Bid.

B. In the event the County requires that an Ensuing Agreement be executed following award and a 
dispute arises between the terms and conditions of the Ensuing Agreement, the IFB and its 
Addenda (if applicable), and the Bidder ’s Bid, applicable documents will be referred to for the 
purpose of clarification or for additional detail in the following order of precedence: 

1. Terms and conditions of the Ensuing Agreement;

2. The IFB its Addenda; and 

3. The Bidder ’s Bid.

4.3 OWNERSHIP OF BID

Each Bid shall become the property of the County upon submittal and will not be returned to Bidders 
unless received after the submittal deadline.

4.4 DISQUALIFICATION OF BIDDER

Upon signing and submittal of the Bid, a Bidder offering to sell supplies, materials, services, or equipment 
to the County, certifies that the Bidder has not violated the antitrust laws of the State of Texas codified in 
Business & Commerce Code, Section 15.01, or the Federal Antitrust Laws, and has not communicated 
directly or indirectly the offer made to any competitor or any other person engaged in such line of 
business.  Any or all Bids may be rejected if the County believes that collusion exists among the Bidders.

4.5 FUNDING

The County intends to budget and make sufficient funds available and authorize funds for expenditure to 
finance the costs of the Contract.  All Bidders understand and agree that the County’s payment of 
amounts under the Contract shall be contingent on the County receiving appropriations or other 
expenditure authority sufficient to allow the County, in the exercise of reasonable administrative 
discretion, to make payments under this Contract.

4.6 ASSIGNMENT, SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS 

The Successful Bidder may not assign, sell, or otherwise transfer the Contract or any other rights or 
interests obtained under the Contract without written permission of the Commissioners Court.  The 
Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the contracting 
parties hereto and their respective successors and permitted assigns.

4.7 IMPLIED REQUIREMENTS

Products or services not specifically described or required in the IFB, but are necessary to provide the 
functional capabilities described by the Bidder, shall be implied and deemed to be included in the Bid.

4.8 TERMINATION

A. Termination for Cause: The County reserves the right to terminate the Contract and/or any 
Ensuing Agreement(s) for default if the Successful Bidder breaches any of the Bid specifications,
terms and conditions, including warranties of the Bidder, if any, or if the Successful Bidder 
becomes insolvent or commits acts of bankruptcy.  Such right of termination is in addition to and
not in lieu of any other remedies the County may have at law or in equity or as may otherwise
provided hereunder.  Default may be construed as, but not limited to, failure to deliver the proper 
goods and/or services within the proper amount of time, and/or to properly perform any and all 
other requirements to the County ’s satisfaction, and/or to meet all other obligations and
requirements.

B. Termination for Convenience: The County may terminate the Contract and/or any Ensuing 
Agreement(s) for convenience and without cause or further liability, upon no less than thirty (30) 
calendar days written notice to the Successful Bidder. The County reserves the right to extend 
this period if it is in the best interest of the County.  In the event the County exercises its right to 
terminate without cause, it is understood and agreed that only the amounts due to the Successful 
Bidder for goods, commodities and/or services provided and expenses incurred to and including 
the date of termination, will be due and payable.  No penalty will be assessed for the County
termination for convenience.

4.9 NON-PERFORMANCE

It is the objective of the County to obtain complete and satisfactory performance of the requirements set 
forth herein.  In addition to any other remedies available at law, in equity or that may be set out herein, 
failure to perform may result in a deduction of payment equal to the amount of the goods and/or services 
that were not provided and/or performed to the County ’s satisfaction.  

In the event of such non-performance, the County shall have the right, but shall not be obligated, to 
complete the services itself or by others and/or purchase the goods from other sources.  If the County 
elects to acquire the goods or perform the services itself or by others, pursuant to the foregoing, the 
Successful Bidder shall reimburse the County, within ten (10) calendar days of demand, for all costs 
incurred by the County (including, without limitation, applicable, general, and administrative expenses, 
and field overhead, and the cost of necessary equipment, materials, and field labor) in correcting the 
nonperformance which the Successful Bidder fails to meet pursuant to the requirements set out herein.  
In the event the Successful Bidder refuses to reimburse the County as set out in this provision, the 
County shall have the right to deduct such reimbursement amounts from any amounts that may be then 
owing or that may become owing in the future to the Successful Bidder.

4.10 PROPRIETARY INFORMATION AND THE TEXAS PUBLIC INFORMATION ACT

All material submitted to the County shall become public property and subject to the Texas Public 
Information Act upon receipt. If a Bidder does not desire proprietary information in the Bid to be 
disclosed, each page must be clearly identified and marked proprietary at time of submittal or, more 
preferably, all proprietary information may be placed in a folder or appendix and be clearly identified and 
marked as being proprietary.  Failure to clearly identify and mark information as being proprietary as set 
forth under this provision will result in all unmarked information being deemed non-proprietary and 
available to the public.  For all information that has not been clearly identified and marked as proprietary 
by the Bidder, the County may choose to place such information on the County ’s website and/or a similar 
public database without obtaining any type of prior consent from the Bidder.

The County will, to the extent allowed by law, endeavor to protect from public disclosure the information 
that has been identified and marked as proprietary.  The final decision as to what information must be 
disclosed, however, lies with the Texas Attorney General.  

To the extent, if any, that any provision in this IFB or in the Bidder ’s Bid is in conflict with Texas 
Government Code, Chapter 552, as amended (the “Public Information Act”), the same shall be of no 
force or effect.  Furthermore, it is expressly understood, and agreed, that the County, and its officers and 
employees, may request advice, decisions and opinions of the Attorney General of the State of Texas in 
regard to the application of the Public Information Act to any items or data furnished to the County as to 
whether or not the same are available to the public.  It is further understood that the County, and its 
officers and employees, shall have the right to rely on the advice, decisions and opinions of the Attorney 
General, and that the County, its officers and employees shall have no liability or obligation to any party 
hereto for the disclosure to the public, or to any person or persons, of any items or data furnished to the 
County by a party hereto, in reliance of any advice, decision or opinion of the Attorney General of the 
State of Texas.

4.11 RIGHT TO AUDIT

The Successful Bidder agrees that the County or its duly authorized representatives shall, until the 
expiration of three (3) years after termination or expiration of the services to be performed, have access 
to and the right to examine and photocopy any and all books, documents, papers and records of the 
Successful Bidder, which are directly pertinent to the services to be performed or goods to be delivered 
for the purposes of making audits, examinations, excerpts and transcriptions.  The Successful Bidder 
agrees that the County shall have access during normal working hours to all necessary facilities and 
shall be provided adequate and appropriate work space in order to conduct audits in compliance with the 
provisions of this section.  The County shall give the Successful Bidder reasonable advance notice of 
intended audits.

4.12 TESTING AND INSPECTIONS

The County reserves the right to inspect and test equipment, supplies, materials and goods for quality 
and compliance with this IFB, and ability to meet the needs of the user.  Demonstration units must be 
available for review.  Should the goods or services fail to meet requirements and/or be unavailable for 
evaluation, the County can deem the Bidder to be in breach and terminate the Contract and/or any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

4.13 BID PREPARATION COSTS

The cost of developing Bids is the sole responsibility of the Bidders and shall not be charged to the 
County.  There is no expressed or implied obligation for the County to reimburse the Bidders for any 
expense incurred in preparing a Bid in response to this IFB and the County will not reimburse the Bidders 
for such expenses.

4.14 INDEMNIFICATION

The Successful Bidder shall indemnify, defend and save harmless, the County, its officials, employees, 
agents and agent ’s employees from, and against, all claims, liability, and expenses including reasonable 
attorneys ’   fees, arising from activities of the Bidder, its agents, servants or employees, performed 
hereunder that result from the negligent act, error, or omission of the Bidder or any of the Bidder
agents, servants or employees, as well as all claims of loss or damage to the Bidder ’s and the County
property, equipment, and/or supplies. 

Furthermore, the County, its officials, employees, agents and agents ’ employees shall not be liable for 
damages to the Successful Bidder arising from any act of any third party, including, but not limited to, 
theft.  The Successful Bidder further agrees to indemnify, defend and save harmless, the County from its 
officials, employee, agents and agents ’ employees against all claims of whatever nature arising from any 
accident, injury, or damage whatsoever, caused to any person, or the property of any person, occurring 
in relation to the Successful Bidder ’s performance of any services requested hereunder during the term 
of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s). 

The Successful Bidder shall timely report all claims, demands, suits, actions, proceedings, liens or 
judgements to the County and shall, upon the receipt of any claim, demand, suit, action, proceeding, lien 

or judgement, not later than the fifteenth (15 th) day of each month; provide the County with a written 
report on each such matter, setting forth the status of each matter, the schedule or planned proceedings 
with respect to each matter and the cooperation or assistance, if any, of the County required by the 
Successful Bidder in the defense of each matter.  The Successful Bidder’s duty to defend, indemnify and 
hold the County harmless shall be absolute.  It shall not abate or end by reason of the expiration or 
termination of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s), unless otherwise agreed by the County in 
writing.  The provisions of this section shall survive the termination of the Contract and shall remain in full 
force and effect with respect to all such matters no matter when they arise. 

In the event of any dispute between the parties, as to whether a claim, demand, suit, action, proceeding, 
lien or judgement, that appears to have been caused by or appears to have arisen out of or in connection 
with acts or omissions of the County, the Bidder shall nevertheless fully defend such claim, demand, suit 
or action, proceeding, lien or judgement, until and unless there is a determination by a court of competent 
jurisdiction that the acts and omissions of the Bidder are not an issue in the matter. 

The Successful Bidder ’s indemnification shall cover, and the Successful Bidder agrees to, indemnify the 
County, in the event the County is found to have been negligent for having selected the Successful 
Bidder to perform the work described in this request.  The provision by the Successful Bidder of 
insurance shall not limit the liability of the Successful Bidder under the Contract and/or any Ensuing 
Agreement(s). 

4.15 WAIVER OF SUBROGATION

The Successful Bidder and the Successful Bidder ’s insurance carrier waive any and all rights 
whatsoever with regard to subrogation against the County as an indirect party to any suit arising out of 
personal or property damages resulting from the Bidder ’s performance under this Contract and any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

4.16 RELATIONSHIP OF THE PARTIES

The Successful Bidder shall be an independent contractor and shall assume all of the rights, obligations, 
liabilities, applicable to it as such independent contractor hereunder and any provisions herein which may 
appear to give the County the right to direct the Successful Bidder as to details of doing work herein 
covered, or to exercise a measure of control over the work, shall be deemed to mean that the Successful 
Bidder shall follow the desires of the County in the results of the work only.  The County shall not retain or 
have the right to control the Successful Bidder ’s means, methods or details pertaining to the Successful 
Bidder ’s performance of the work.  The County and the Successful Bidder hereby agree and declare that 
the Successful Bidder is an independent contractor and as such meets the qualifications of an 
“Independent Contractor” under Texas Workers Compensation Act, Texas Labor Code, Section 406.141, 
that the Successful Bidder is not an employee of  the County, and that the Successful Bidder and its 
employees, agents and subcontractors shall not be entitled to workers compensation coverage or any 
other type of insurance coverage held by the County.

4.17 SOLE PROVIDER

The Successful Bidder agrees and acknowledges that it shall not be considered a sole provider of the 
goods and/or services described herein and that the County may contract with other providers of such 
goods and/or services if the County deems, at its sole discretion, that multiple providers of the same 
goods and/or services will serve the best interest of the County.

4.18 FORCE MAJEURE

If the party obligated to perform is prevented from performance by an act of war, order of legal authority, 
act of God, or other unavoidable cause not attributable to the fault or negligence of said party, the other 
party shall grant such party relief from the performance.  The burden of proof for the need of such relief 
shall rest upon the party obligated to perform.  To obtain release based on force majeure, the party 
obligated to perform shall file a written request with the other party.

4.19 SEVERABILITY

If any provision of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be held invalid or 
unenforceable by any court of competent jurisdiction, such holding shall not invalidate or render 
unenforceable any other provision thereof, but rather the entire IFB, Contract or any Ensuing Agreement
(s) will be construed as if not containing the particular invalid or unenforceable provision or provisions, 
and the rights and obligation of the parties shall be construed and enforced in accordance therewith.  The 
parties acknowledge that if any provision of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) is 
determined to be invalid or unenforceable, it is the desire and intention of each that such provision be 
reformed and construed in such a manner that it will, to the maximum extent practicable, give effect to
the intent of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) and be deemed to be validated and
enforceable.

4.20 EQUAL OPPORTUNITY

Neither party shall discriminate against any employee or applicant for employment because of race, 
color, sex, religion or national origin.

4.21 NOTICE

Any notice to be given shall be in writing and may be distributed by personal delivery, or by registered or 
certified mail, return receipt requested, addressed to the proper party, at the following address:

The County:    Williamson County Purchasing Department 
            Attn: Purchasing Agent 
            901 South Austin Avenue 
            Georgetown, Texas 78626

The Bidder:     Address set out in Bidder’s Transmittal Letter.

Notices given in accordance with this provision shall be effective upon (1) receipt by the party to which 
notice is given, or (2) on the third (3rd) calendar day following mailing, whichever occurs first.

4.22 SALES AND USE TAX EXEMPTION

The County is a body, corporate and politic, under the laws of the State of Texas and claims exemption 
from sales and use taxes under Texas Tax Code, Section 151.309, as amended, and the services and/or 
goods subject hereof are being secured for use by the County.

4.23 COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS

The County and the Successful Bidder shall comply with all federal, state, and local laws, statutes,
ordinances, rules and regulations, and the orders and decrees of any courts or administrative bodies or 
tribunals in any matter affecting the performance of the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s),
including, without limitation, Workers ’ Compensation laws, salary and wage statutes and regulations, 
licensing laws and regulations.  When required, the Successful Bidder shall furnish the County with 
certification of compliance with said laws, statues, ordinances, rules, regulations, orders, and decrees 
above specified.

4.24 INCORPORATION OF EXHIBITS, APPENDICES AND ATTACHMENTS

All of the Exhibits, Appendices and Attachments referred to herein are incorporated by reference as if set 
forth verbatim herein.  Any conflicting terms in the Contract documents will be resolved at the sole 
discretion of the Commissioners Court.

4.25 NO WAIVER OF IMMUNITIES

Nothing herein shall be deemed to waive, modify or amend any legal defense available at law or in equity 
to the County, its past or present officers, employees, or agents, nor to create any legal rights or claim on 
behalf of any third party.  The County does not waive, modify, or alter to any extent whatsoever the 
availability of the defense of governmental immunity under the laws of the State of Texas and of the 
United States.

4.26 NO WAIVER

The failure or delay of any party to enforce at any time or any period of time any of the provisions of this 
IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall not constitute a present or future waiver of such 
provisions nor the right of either party to enforce each and every provision.  Furthermore, no term or 
provision hereof shall be deemed waived and no breach excused unless such waiver or consent shall be 
in writing and signed by the party claimed to have waived or consented.  Any consent by any party to, or 
waiver of, a breach by the other, whether expressed or implied, shall not constitute a consent to, waiver 
of or excuse for any other, different or subsequent breach.

4.27 CURRENT REVENUES

The obligations of the parties under the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) do not constitute a 
general obligation or indebtedness of the County for which the County is obligated to levy, pledge, or 
collect any of taxation.  It is understood and agreed that the County shall have the right to terminate the 
Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) at the end of any the County fiscal year if the governing body of 
the County does not appropriate sufficient funds as determined by the County ’s budget for the fiscal year 
in question.  The County may effect such termination by giving written notice of termination to the 
Successful Bidder at the end of its then-current fiscal year.

4.28 FOB DESTINATION

To the extent applicable to this IFB, all of the items listed are to be Free On Board to final destination 
(FOB Destination) with all transportation charges if applicable to be included in the Bid, unless otherwise 
specified in the Invitation for Bids.  The title and risk of loss of the goods shall not pass to the County until 
receipt and acceptance takes place at the FOB Destination point.

4.29 BINDING EFFECT

This Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties 
and their respective permitted assigns and successors.

4.30 ASSIGNMENT

The Successful Bidder ’s interest and duties hereunder may not be assigned or delegated to a third party 
without the express written consent of the County.

4.31 SAFETY

The Successful Bidder is responsible for initiating, maintaining, and supervising all safety precautions 
and programs in connection with any services to be provided hereunder. The safety program shall 
comply with all applicable requirements of the current federal Occupational Safety and Health Act and all 
other applicable federal, state and local laws and regulations.

4.32 GENERAL OBLIGATIONS AND RELIANCE

The Successful Bidder shall perform all services and/or provide all goods, as well as those reasonably
inferable and necessary for completion and provision of services and/or goods required hereunder. The
Successful Bidder shall keep the County informed of the progress and quality of the services.  The 
Successful Bidder agrees and acknowledges that the County is relying on the Successful Bidder's 
represented expertise and ability to provide the goods and/or services described herein.  The Successful
Bidder agrees to use its best efforts, skill, judgment, and abilities to perform its obligations in accordance
with the highest standards used in the profession and to further the interests of the County 
accordance with the County ’s requirements and procedures.    T h e   Successful Bidder ’s duties,
set forth herein, shall at no time be in any way diminished by reason of any approval by the County, nor
shall the Successful Bidder be released from any liability by reason of such approval by the County, it 
being understood that the County at all times is ultimately relying upon the Successful Bidder ’s skill and 
knowledge in performing the services and providing any goods required hereunder.

4.33 ESTIMATED QUANTITIES

To the extent applicable to this IFB, the estimated quantity of each item listed in this IFB is only
estimate; the actual quantity to be purchased may be more or less. The County is not obligated
purchase any minimum amount, and the County may purchase any reasonable amount greater than the
estimate for the same unit price. Any limit on quantities available must be stated expressly in the Bid.

4.34 CONTRACTUAL DEVELOPMENT

The contents of the IFB and the Successful Bidder ’s Bid will become an integral part of the Contract, but 
may be modified, at the County ’s sole discretion, by provisions of an Ensuing Agreement.  Therefore, the 
Bidder must agree to an inclusion of an Ensuing Agreement of the Bid specifications, terms and 
conditions of this IFB.  If an Ensuing Agreement is required under this IFB, information relative to the 
Agreement will be located in the Special Provisions Section of this IFB.

4.35 SURVIVABILITY 

All applicable agreements that were entered into between the Successful Bidder and the County, under 
the terms and conditions of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s), shall survive the expiration or 
termination thereof for ninety (90) days unless a new contract has been awarded.

The County may exercise, by written notice to the Successful Bidder no later than ten (10) calendar days 
of the Contract expiration, this clause for emergencies only. 

4.36 AIR QUALITY

In determining the overall best Bid, the County may, to the extent applicable, exercise the option granted 
to local governments under the Texas Local Government Code, Section 271.907.

This option allows the County to evaluate Bids and give preference to goods and/or services of a Bidder 
that demonstrates that the Bidder meets or exceeds any and all state or federal environmental 
standards, including voluntary standards, relating to air quality.  If the Bid being submitted will have an 
effect on air quality for the County (as it relates to any state, federal, or voluntary air quality standard), 
then the Bidder is encouraged to provide information in narrative indicating the anticipated air quality 
impact.  All Bidders are expected to meet all mandated state and federal air quality standards.

4.37 ENTIRE AGREEMENT

The Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall supersede all prior Agreements, written or oral 
between the Successful Bidder and the County and shall constitute the entire Agreement and 
understanding between the parties with respect to the services and/or goods to be provided.  Each of the 
provisions herein shall be binding upon the parties and may not be waived, modified, amended or altered, 
except by writing signed by the Successful Bidder and the County.

4.38 PAYMENT

The County ’s payment for goods and services shall be governed by the Texas Government Code, 

Chapter 2251.  An invoice shall be deemed overdue the thirty-first (31st) day after the later of the 
following: 

A. The date the County receives the goods under the Contract; 
B. The date the performance of the service under the Contract is completed; or 
C. The date the Williamson County Auditor receives an invoice for the goods or services.  

Interest charges for any overdue payments shall be paid by the County in accordance with Texas 
Government Code, Section 2251.025.  More specifically, the rate of interest that shall accrue on a late 
payment is the rate in effect on September 1 of the County ’s fiscal year in which the payment becomes 
due.  The said rate in effect on September 1 shall be equal to the sum of one (1) percent, and the prime 

rate published in the Wall Street Journal on the first (1st) day of July of the preceding fiscal year that does 
not fall on a Saturday or Sunday.

In the event that an error appears in an invoice submitted by the Successful Bidder, the County shall 
notify the Successful Bidder of the error not later than the twenty-first (21st) day after the date the County 
receives the invoice.  If the error is resolved in favor of the Successful Bidder, the Successful Bidder 
shall be entitled to receive interest on the unpaid balance of the invoice submitted by the Successful 
Bidder beginning on the date that the payment for the invoice became overdue.  If the error is resolved in 
favor of the County, the Successful Bidder shall submit a corrected invoice that must be paid in 
accordance within the time set forth above.  The unpaid balance accrues interest as provided by the 
Texas Government Code, Chapter 2251, if the corrected invoice is not paid by the appropriate date.

As a minimum, invoices shall include:

A. Name, address, and telephone number of the Successful Bidder and similar information in the 
event the payment is to be made to a different address. 

B. The County Contract, Purchase Order. 

C. Identification of items or service as outlined in the Contract. 

D. Quantity or quantities, applicable unit prices, total prices and total amount. 

E. Any additional payment information which may be called for by the Contract. 

Payment inquiries should be directed to the following address:        

            Williamson County Auditor’s Office, Accounts Payable Department
            Email: accountspayable@wilco.org
            Phone: 512-943-1500

4.39 CONTRACTUAL FORMATION AND ENSUING AGREEMENT

The IFB and the Bidder ’s Bid, when properly accepted by the Commissioners Court, shall constitute a
Contract equally binding between the Successful Bidder and the County.

If an Ensuing Agreement is required by this IFB, that information will be provided in Special 
Provisions section of this IFB.  The Successful Bidder shall be required to execute the Agreement at 
the Williamson County Purchasing Department approximately ten (10) calendar days after the 
Successful Bidder is notified of award.  The Ensuing Agreement shall be in the same form as the 
Agreement which is attached to the end of this IFB.  The only anticipated changes in the Ensuing 
Agreement will be to include additional exhibits, to fill in blanks to identify the Successful Bidder, and 
terms relating to the compensation, or to revise the Agreement to accommodate corrections, changes in 
the scope of services, or changes pursuant to Addenda issued.  Bidders should raise any questions 
regarding the terms of the Agreement in the form of written questions or submittals as 
described in the Public Announcement and General Information portion of this IFB.  Because the 
signed Ensuing Agreement will be substantively and substantially derived from the attached Agreement, 
each Bidder is urged to seek independent legal counsel as to any questions about the terms, conditions 
or provisions contained in the Agreement before submitting a Bid.  Again, the attached Agreement, if 
applicable, contains important legal provisions and is considered part and parcel of this IFB.  Failure or 
refusal to sign aforesaid Agreement shall be grounds for the County to revoke any award which has been 
issued, forfeit Bid security, if applicable, and select another Bidder.

4.40 COOPERATIVE PURCHASING PROGRAM 

During the term of the Contract resulting from this IFB, the County would like to afford the same prices, 
terms and conditions to other political subdivisions or public entities.  Another entity’s participation in the 
Contract resulting from this IFB is subject to a properly authorized Purchasing Cooperative Inter- local 
Agreement with the County.  Any liability created by purchase orders issued against the Contract shall be 
the sole responsibility of the governmental agency placing the order.

4.41 INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS

To the extent applicable Insurance information will appear in the Additional Stipulations section that is in 
this IFB Package. 

4.42 BIDDERS BOND, WARRANTY BOND, PERFORMANCE AND PAYMENT BONDS

To the extent applicable Bond information will appear in the Additional Stipulations section that is in this 
IFB Package. 

4.43 LEGAL LIABILITY INFORMATION

The Successful Bidder shall disclose all legal liability information by listing any pending litigation
anticipated litigation that your firm is involved in including, but not limited to, potential or actual legal
matters with private parties and any local, state, federal or international governmental entities. The
County reserves the right to consider legal liability information in the recommendation of any proposed 
contract to the Commissioners Court.

4.44 INCLEMENT WEATHER

In case of inclement weather or any other unforeseen event causing the County to close for business on 
the date of a Bid submission deadline, the Bid closing will automatically be postponed until the next 
business day the County is open.  If inclement weather conditions or any other unforeseen event causes 
delays in carrier service operations, the County may issue an Addendum to all known Bidders interested 
in the project to extend the deadline.  It will be the responsibility of the Bidder to notify the County of their 
interest in the project if these conditions are impacting their ability to turn in a submission within the 
stated deadline.  The County reserves the right to make the final judgement call to extend any deadline. 

4.45 PREVAILING WAGE RATES

To the extent this procurement is for the construction of a public work, including a building, highway, 
road, excavation, and repair work or other project development or improvement, paid for in whole or in 
part from public funds, without regard to whether the work is done under public supervision or direction, 
Texas Government Code, Chapter 2258, shall apply and the contractor shall pay not less than the wage 
scale of the various classes of labor as shown on the “Prevailing Wage Schedule” provided by the 
County. Pursuant to Texas Government Code, Section 2258.022(a)(2), the County has determined the 
general prevailing rate of the “Prevailing Wage Schedule”  in the locality in which the public work is to be 
performed for each craft or type of worker needed to execute the contract and the prevailing rate for legal 
holiday and overtime work by using the prevailing wage rate as determined by the United States 
Department of Labor in accordance with the United States Code, Section 276a (Davis-Bacon Act). 

The specified wage rates are minimum rates only, and are not representations that qualified labor 
adequate to perform the work is available locally at the prevailing wage rates. The County is not bound to 
pay—and will not consider—any claims for additional compensation made by any contractor because the 
contractor pays wages in excess of the applicable minimum rate contained in the Contract Documents. 
The “Prevailing Wage Schedule”  is not a representation that quantities of qualified labor adequate to 
perform the work may be found locally at the specified wage rates.

For classifications not shown, workers shall not be paid less than the wage indicated for laborers. The 
contractor shall notify each worker commencing work on the project the worker ’s job classification and 
the established minimum wage rate required to be paid, as well as the actual amount being paid. The 
notice must be delivered to and signed in acknowledgement of receipt by the employee and must list 
both the monetary wages and fringe benefits to be paid or furnished for each classification in which the 
worker is assigned duties. When requested by the County, competent evidence of compliance with the 
Texas Prevailing Wage Law shall be furnished by contractor. A copy of each worker wage rate 
notification shall be submitted to the County with the Application for Payment for the period during which 
the worker began on-site activities.

Should the contractor at any time become aware that a particular skill or trade not reflected on the 
County ’s “Prevailing Wage Schedule” will be or is being employed in the work, whether by the contractor 
or by a subcontractor, the contractor shall promptly inform the County and shall specify a wage rate for 
that skill or trade, which shall bind the contractor.

The contractor and any subcontractor shall pay to the County a penalty of sixty dollars ($60.00) for each 
worker employed for each calendar day, or portion thereof, that the worker is paid less than the wage 
rates stipulated in the “Prevailing Wage Schedule” or any supplement thereto. The contractor and each 
subcontractor shall keep, or cause to be kept, an accurate record showing the names and occupations 
of all workers employed in connection with the work, and showing the actual per diem wages paid to 
each worker, which records shall be open at all reasonable hours for the inspection by the County.

Within thirty-one (31) days of receipt of information concerning a violation of the Texas Government Code 
Chapter 2258, the County shall make an initial determination as to whether good cause exists to believe 
a violation occurred. The County ’s decision on the initial determination shall be reduced to writing and 
sent to the contractor or subcontractor against whom the violation was alleged, and to the affected 
worker. When a good cause finding is made, the County shall retain the full amounts claimed by the 
claimant or claimants as the difference between wages paid and wages due under the “Prevailing Wage 
Schedule” and any supplements thereto, together with the applicable penalties, such amounts being 
subtracted from successive progress payments pending a final decision on the violation.

After the County makes its initial determination, the affected contractor or subcontractor and worker have 
fourteen (14) calendar days in which to resolve the issue of whether a violation occurred, including the 
amount that should be retained by the County or paid to the affected worker. If the contractor or 
subcontractor and affected worker reach an agreement concerning the worker ’s claim, the contractor 
shall promptly notify the County in a written document signed by the worker. It the contractor or 

Subcontractor and affected worker do not agree before the fifteenth (15 th) calendar day after the County
determination, the contractor or subcontractor and affected worker must participate in binding arbitration 
in accordance with the Texas General Arbitration Act, Chapter 171, (Texas Civil Practice and Remedies 
Code). The parties to the arbitration have ten (10) calendar days after the expiration of the fifteen (15) 

calendar days referred to above, to agree on an arbitrator; if by the eleventh (11 th) calendar day there is 
no agreement to an arbitrator, a district court shall appoint an arbitrator on the petition of any of the 
parties to the arbitration.

If an arbitrator determines that a violation has occurred, the arbitrator shall assess and award against the 
contractor or subcontractor the amount of penalty as provided above and the amount owed the worker. 
The County may use any amounts retained hereunder to pay the worker the amount as designated in the 
arbitration award. If the County has not retained enough from the contractor or subcontractor to pay the 
worker in accordance with the arbitration award, the worker has a right of action against the contractor 
and subcontractor as appropriate, and the surety of either to receive the amount owed, attorneys ’  fees 
and court costs. The contractor shall promptly furnish a copy of the arbitration award to the County.

Money retained pursuant to the provisions above shall be used to pay the claimant or claimants the 
difference between the amount the worker received in wages for labor on the project at the rate paid by 
the contractor or subcontractor and the amount the worker would have received at the general prevailing 
wage rate as provided by the agreement of the claimant and the contractor or subcontractor affected, or 
in the arbitrator ’s award. The full statutory penalty of sixty dollars ($60.00) per calendar day of violation 
per worker shall be retained by Williamson County to offset its administrative costs, pursuant to Texas 
Government Code, Section, 2258.023. Any retained funds in excess of these amounts shall be paid to 
the contractor on the earlier of the next progress payment or final payment. Provided, however, that the 
County shall have no duty to release any funds to either the claimant or the contractor until it has 
received the notices of agreement or the arbitration award as provided under the provision herein-above.

4.46 CONFIDENTIALITY

The Bidder expressly agrees that it will not use any direct or incidental confidential information that may 
be obtained while working in a governmental setting for its own benefit, and agrees that it will not access 
unauthorized areas or confidential information and it will not disclose any information to unauthorized 
third parties, and will take care to guard the security of the information at all times.

Bid 1704-157Williamson County, Texas

4/7/2017 9:30 AM p. 17



5

6

3 4

Williamson County – Invitation for Bid (IFB)

SECTION 1 - DEFINITIONS 

Addendum/Addenda – means any written or graphic instruments issued by the County prior to the 
consideration of Bids which modify or interpret the Bid Documents by additions, deletions, clarifications, 
or corrections.

Agreement/Ensuing Agreement(s) – means the Successful Bidder may be required by the County to 
sign an additional Agreement containing terms necessary to ensure compliance with the IFB and the 
Bidder ’s Bid.  Such Ensuing Agreement(s) shall contain the Bid specifications, terms and conditions that 
are derived from the IFB.

Bid Documents – means the Legal Notice, IFB including attachments, and any Addenda issued by the 
County prior to the consideration of any Bids.

Bid – means the completed and signed bid form, (sometimes referred to as the Price Sheet), and ALL 
required forms and documentation listed in the IFB package which have been submitted in accordance 
with the terms and conditions described in the IFB package.  A Bid submitted in accordance with this IFB 
is irrevocable during the specified period for evaluation and acceptance of Bids unless a waiver is 
obtained from the Williamson County Purchasing Agent.

Bidder – means a person or entity who submits a Bid in response to this IFB.

Contract – means this IFB and the Bid of the Successful Bidder shall become a Contract between the 
Successful Bidder and the County once the Successful Bidder ’s Bid is properly accepted by the 
Williamson County Commissioners Court.

Commissioner ’s Court – means the Williamson County Commissioners Court. 

County – means Williamson County, a political subdivision of the State of Texas.

Invitation for Bid (IFB) – means this document, together with the attachments thereto and any future 
Addenda issued by the County.

Successful Bidder – means the liable Bidder to whom the County intends to award the Contract.

SECTION 2 - BID FORMAT AND SUBMISSION

2.1 ORGANIZATION OF BID CONTENTS FOR SUBMITTAL 

Each Bid should be organized and items submitted in the order described below: 

A. Transmittal Letter. Please see Section 2.3, Transmittal Letter, for more information. 

B. Price Sheet.

C. Conflict of Interest Questionnaire. Please see Section 2.2, Conflict of Interest, for more 
information in regards to this. Please note that even if you deem there to be no Conflict of Interest, 
this signed questionnaire must be included in your package. 

D. References. Please see Section 3.15, References, for more information. 

E. Bid Affidavit.

F. Form 1295. Please see Section 2.4, Certificate of Interested Parties – Form 1295. 

2.2 CONFLICT OF INTEREST

No public official shall have interest in a Contract, in accordance with Vernon ’s Texas Codes Annotated, 
Local Government Code, Title 5, Subtitle C, Chapter 171, as amended. 

As of January 1, 2006, all Bidders are responsible for complying with Local Government Code, Title 5, 
Subtitle C, Chapter 176.  Additional information may be obtained from the County’s website at the 
following link: 

http://www.wilco.org/CountyDepartments/Purchasing/ConflictofInterestDisclosure/tabid/689/language/en
US/Default.aspx

Each Bidder must disclose any existing or potential conflict of interest relative to the performance of the 
requirements of this IFB.  Examples of potential conflicts of interest may include an existing 
business or personal relationship between the Bidder, its principal, or any affiliate or 
subcontractor with the County or any other entity or person involved in any way with the project 
that is subject to this IFB .  Similarly, any personal or business relationship between the Bidder, the 

principals, or any affiliate or subcontractor with any employee, or official of the County or its suppliers 
must be disclosed.  Any such relationship that might be perceived or represented as a conflict must be 
disclosed. Failure to disclose any such relationship or reveal personal relationships with the County 
employees or officials may be cause for termination. 

The County will decide if an actual or perceived conflict should result in Bid disqualification. 

By submitting a Bid in response to this IFB, all Bidders affirm they have not given, nor intend to give, at 
any time hereafter, any economic opportunity, future employment, gift, loan, gratuity, special discount, 
trip, favor, or service to a the County public servant or any employee, official or representative of same, in 
connection with this procurement. 

Each Bidder must provide a Conflict of Interest Statement with their Bid Package.  Package may 

be deemed incomplete without this form.  

2.3 TRANSMITTAL LETTER

The Bidder should submit a Transmittal Letter that provides the following information: 

A. Name and address of individual or business entity submitting the Bid. 

B. Name, physical address, email address, business and fax number of the Bidder ’s principal 
contact person regarding all contractual matters relating to this IFB.

C. The Bid ’s Federal Employer Identification Number.

D. If the Proposal being submitted will have an effect on air quality for the County (as it relates to any 
state, federal, or voluntary air quality standard), then the Respondent is encouraged to provide
information in narrative indicating the anticipated air quality impact. See Section 4.36, Air Quality 
for more information. 

2.4 CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PARTIES – FORM 1295

As of January 1, 2016, all Successful Bidders are responsible for complying with the Texas Government 
Code, Section 2252.908.  The law states that the County may not enter into certain contracts with a 
Bidder unless the Bidder submits a disclosure of interested parties to the County at the time the Bidder 
submits the signed Contract.  The law applies only to a Contract of the County on or after January 1, 
2016 that either:

A. Requires an action or vote by the Commissioners Court before the Contract may be signed (all 
contracts that fall under the jurisdiction of the Commissioners Court approval, such as contracts 
resulting from an Initiation for Bid (IFB), RFP, Request for Qualifications (RFQ), etc., excluding, 
but not limited to, certain Juvenile Service contracts, contracts funded with Sheriff ’s seized fun 
monies, etc.); or

B. Has a value of at least $1,000,000. 

By January 1, 2016, the Texas Ethics Commission will make available on its website, a new filing 
application that must be used to file Form 1295.  Information regarding how to use the filing application is 
available on the Texas Ethics Commission website at the following link:

https://www.ethics.state.tx.us/whatsnew/elf_info_form1295.htm

A Respondent must:

A. Use the online application to process the required information on Form 1295.

B. Print a copy of the form which will contain a unique certification number.

C. An authorized agent of the Bidder must sign the printed copy of the form.

D. Have the form notarized.

E. File the completed Form 1295 and certification of filing (scanning and emailing form is sufficient) 
with Williamson County Purchasing Agent at the time the signed Contract is submitted for 
approval.

After the Commissioners Court award of the Contract, the County shall notify the Texas Ethics 
Commission, using the Texas Ethics Commission ’s filing application, of the receipt of the filed Form 
1295 and certification of filing not later than the 30th day after the date the Contract binds all parties to the 
Contract. The Texas Ethics Commission will post the completed Form 1295 to its website within seven 
business days after receiving notice from the County.

2.5 ETHICS

The Bidder shall not accept or offer gifts or anything of value nor enter into any business arrangement 
with any employee, official or agent of the County.

2.6 BID SUBMITTAL DEADLINE

The Bid is due no later than the submittal date and time set forth in the Public Announcement and 
General Information listed in this IFB package.  Contents of each Bid shall be submitted in accordance 
with this IFB.

2.7 DELIVERY OF BIDS

The County uses BidSync to distribute and receive Bids and proposals.  It is preferred that Bids
submitted electronically through BidSync; however, Bidders can submit a hard copy.  

Refer to www.bidsync.com for further information on how to submit electronically.

If mailed or delivered in person, Bids and Bid Addenda are to be delivered in sealed envelope on or before
the submittal deadline, as noted in the Public Announcement and General Information listed in this IFB 
package, to:

            Williamson County Purchasing Department
            Attn: Bid Name and Number
            901 South Austin Avenue
            Georgetown, Texas 78626

Also, all Bidders should list their Name and Address, and the Date of the Bid opening on the outside
the box or envelope and note “Sealed Bid Enclosed.” The County will not accept any Bids received after 
the submittal deadline, and shall return such Bids unopened to the Bidder.  The County will not accept 
any responsibility for Bids being delivered by third party carriers.  

Bids will be opened publically and the names of Bidders and pricing will be read aloud.

SECTION 3 - INSTRUCTIONS AND GENERAL REQUIREMENTS

3.1 INSTRUCTIONS

Read this document carefully, and follow all instructions and requirements.  All Bidders are responsible 
for fulfilling all requirements and specifications.  Be sure to have a clear understanding of this IFB.

General requirements apply to all advertised IFBs; however, these may be superseded, in whole or in 
part, by the bid specifications, Addenda and modifications issued as a part of this IFB.  Be sure your Bid 
package is complete.

3.2 AMBIGUITY, CONFLICT, OR OTHER ERRORS IN THIS IFB

If a Bidder discovers any ambiguity, conflict, discrepancy, omission or other error in this IFB, the Bidder 
shall immediately notify the County Purchasing Department of such error in writing and request
modification or clarification of the document.

Modifications will be made by issuing Addenda. If the Bidder fails to notify the County prior to the date
and time fixed for submission of Bids of an error or ambiguity in the IFB known to the Bidder, or an error
or ambiguity that reasonably should have been known to the Bidder, then the Bidder shall be deemed to 
have waived the error or ambiguity or its later resolution.

The County may also modify the IFB, no later than forty-eight (48) hours prior to the date and time fixed
for submission of Bids, by issuance of an Addendum.  All Addenda will be numbered consecutively, 
beginning with one (1).

3.3 NOTIFICATION OF MOST CURRENT ADDRESS

All Bidders in receipt of this IFB shall notify the Williamson County Purchasing Department of any
address changes, contact person changes, and/or telephone number changes no later than forty-eight 
(48) hours prior to the date and time fixed for submission of Bids.

3.4 SIGNATURE OF BIDDER

A. If the Bidder is a Corporation or Limited Liability Company, the legal name of the Corporation
Limited Liability Company shall be provided together with the signature of the officer or officers 
authorized to sign on behalf of such entity.

B. If the Bidder is a General Partnership, the true name of the firm shall be provided with the
signature of each partner authorized to sign.

C. If the Bidder is a Limited Partnership, the name of the Limited Partner ’s General Partner shall
provided with the signature of the officer authorized to sign on behalf of the General Partner.

D. If the Bidder is a Sole Proprietor(s) (individual), each Sole Proprietor(s) shall sign.

E. If signature is by an agent, other than the Sole Proprietor(s) or an officer of a Corporation, Limited 
Liability Company, General Partner or a member of a General Partnership, a power of attorney
equivalent document must be submitted to the Williamson County Purchasing Department.

3.5 ASSUMED BUSINESS NAME

If the Bidder operates business under an Assumed Business Name, the Bidder must have on file with the
Williamson County Clerk a current Assumed Name Certificate and provide a file marked copy of same.

3.6 BID OBLIGATION 

The contents of the IFB, Bid, and any clarification thereof submitted by the Successful Bidder shall
become part of the contractual obligation and incorporated by reference into the Contract and any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

3.7 COMPLIANCE WITH IFB SPECIFICATIONS

It is intended that this IFB describe the requirements and the Bid format in sufficient detail to secure 
comparable Bids.  Failure to comply with all provisions of the IFB may, at the sole discretion of the 
County, result in disqualification.

3.8 WITHDRAWAL OF BID

The Bidder may withdraw its Bid by submitting a written request with the company letterhead and the 
signature of an authorized individual, as described in Section 3.4, Signature of Bidder, to the Williamson 
County Purchasing Department any time prior to the submission deadline.  

The Bidder may submit a new Bid prior to the deadline. Alterations of the Bid in any manner will not be 
considered if submitted after the deadline.  Withdrawal of a Bid after the deadline will be subject to written 
approval of the Williamson County Purchasing Agent.

3.9 EVALUATION AND AWARD

The County reserves the right to use all pertinent information (also learned from sources other than 
disclosed in the Bid process) that might affect the County ’s judgment as to the appropriateness of
award to the lowest and best evaluated Bid. This information may be appended to the Bid evaluation
process results. Information on a Bidder from reliable sources, and not within the Bidder ’s Bid, may also 
be noted and made part of the evaluation fi le.  The County shall have sole discretion for determining 
the reliability of the source.

To ensure the proper and fair evaluation of a solicitation, the County prohibits unsolicited communication 
initiated by the Bidder to the County Official or Employee evaluating or considering the Bids prior to the 
time an award has been made. Unsolicited communication may be ground for disqualifying the 
offending Bidder from consideration or award of the solicitation, or any future solicitation.

Communication between the Bidder and the County will be initiated by the appropriate County Official
Employee in order to obtain information or clarification needed to develop a proper and accurate 
evaluation of the solicitation.

The County intends to award a Contract to the most responsible and responsive Bidder whose Bid will 
be most advantageous to the County. In accordance with Texas Government Code and Local
Government Code, the County may consider, to the extent allowed by law, the following:

A. Price;
B. The Bidder ’s experience and reputation;
C. Quality of the Bidder ’s goods and/or services; 
D. The Bidder ’s safety record;
E. The Bidder ’s proposed personnel; 
F. The Bidder ’s financial capabilities; and 
G. Any other relevant factors specifically listed in this IFB or authorized by law.

3.10 CONDISERATION OF LOCATION OF PRINCIPAL OFFICE 

Pursuant to Texas Local Government Code, Section 271.905 , in purchasing any real property or personal
property that is not affixed to real property, if the County receives one or more Bids from a Bidder whose
principal place of business is in Williamson County and whose Bid is within three (3 )  percent of the
lowest Bid price received by the County from a Bidder who is not a resident of Williamson County, the 
County may enter into a contract with:

A. The lowest Bidder; or the Bidder whose principal place of business is in Williamson County if the
Commissioners Court determines, in writing, that the local Bidder offers the County the best 
combination of contract price and addit ional economic development opportunities
Williamson County created by the contract award, including the employment of residents
Williamson County and increased tax revenues to Williamson County.

It is understood that the Commissioners Court of Williamson County, Texas, reserves the right to accept
or reject any and/or all Bids for any or all goods and/or services covered in this IFB, and to waive
informalities or defects in the Bid or to accept such Bid, if it shall deem to be in the best interest of the 
County.

Awards should be made approximately sixty (60) business days after the Bid opening date. Results may
be obtained by viewing the Williamson County vendor portal at the following link:

http://www.wilco.org/CountyDepartments/Purchasing/SearchforaPastBid/tabid/5213/language/en-
US/Default.aspx

3.11 RESPONSIBILITY 

It is expected that a prospective Bidder will be able to affirmatively demonstrate responsibility.  A 
prospective Bidder should be able to meet the following requirements:

A. Have adequate financial resources, or the ability to obtain such resources as required;
B. Be able to comply with the required or proposed delivery schedule;
C. Have a satisfactory record of performance that can be determined thru references provided; and 
D. Be otherwise qualified and eligible to receive an award.

The County may request representation and other information sufficient to determine the Bidder's ability 
to meet these minimum standards listed above.

3.12 FIRM PRICING 

For unit price items, all of the items listed are to be on a “per unit” basis, stating a firm price per unit or 
unit quantity of each item.  The Bidder must submit a firm price that must be good from the date of Bid 
opening for the fixed period of time set out in this IFB.  Unless the IFB expressly states otherwise, this 
period shall be until the end of the Initial Contract Period.

Bids which do not state a fixed price, or which are subject to change without notice, will not be 
considered.  The Court may award a Contract for the period implied or expressly stated in the lowest and 
best Bid.

3.13 PURCHASE ORDERS

If required by the Williamson County Purchasing Department, a purchase order(s) may be generated to 
the Successful Bidder for goods and/or services.  If a purchase order is issued, the purchase order 
number must appear on all itemized invoices and/or requests for payment.

3.14 SILENCE OF SPECIFICATIONS

The apparent silence of these specifications as to any detail or to the apparent omission from it of a 
detailed description concerning any point, shall be regarded as meaning that only the best practices are 
to prevail.  All interpretations of these specifications shall be made on the basis of this statement.

3.15 REFERENCES

The County may require the Bidder to supply a list of at least three (3) references where like services
and/or goods have been supplied by their firm within the past five (5) years, to include names, titles, 
phone numbers and email addresses of key personnel, and dates of performance.

The County may contact some or all of the references in order to determine the Respondent
performance record on work similar to that described in this RFP.  The County reserves the right to 
contact references other than those provided in the response and to use the information gained from 
them in the evaluation process.

References, if requested, should be provided in accordance with this IFB.  Bid may not be deemed 
complete without the inclusion of requested references.

SECTION 4 - TERMS AND CONDITIONS

4.1 VENUE AND GOVERNING LAW

The Bidder hereby agrees and acknowledges that venue and jurisdiction of any suit, right, or cause of 
action arising out of or in connection with this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s), shall lie 
exclusively in either Williamson County, Texas or in the Austin Division of the Western Federal District of 
Texas, and the parties hereto expressly consent and submit to such jurisdiction.  Furthermore, except to 
the extent that this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) is governed by the laws of the United 
States, this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be governed by and construed in 
accordance with the laws of the State of Texas, excluding, however, its choice of law rules.

4.2 INCORPORATION BY REFERENCE AND PRECEDENCE

A. The Contract shall be derived from the IFB and its Addenda (if applicable), and the Bidder ’ s Bid.  In 
the event of a dispute under the Contract, applicable documents will be referred to for the purpose 
of clarification or for additional detail in the following order of precedence:

1. The IFB and its Addenda (if applicable); and

2. The Bidder ’s Bid.

B. In the event the County requires that an Ensuing Agreement be executed following award and a 
dispute arises between the terms and conditions of the Ensuing Agreement, the IFB and its 
Addenda (if applicable), and the Bidder ’s Bid, applicable documents will be referred to for the 
purpose of clarification or for additional detail in the following order of precedence: 

1. Terms and conditions of the Ensuing Agreement;

2. The IFB its Addenda; and 

3. The Bidder ’s Bid.

4.3 OWNERSHIP OF BID

Each Bid shall become the property of the County upon submittal and will not be returned to Bidders 
unless received after the submittal deadline.

4.4 DISQUALIFICATION OF BIDDER

Upon signing and submittal of the Bid, a Bidder offering to sell supplies, materials, services, or equipment 
to the County, certifies that the Bidder has not violated the antitrust laws of the State of Texas codified in 
Business & Commerce Code, Section 15.01, or the Federal Antitrust Laws, and has not communicated 
directly or indirectly the offer made to any competitor or any other person engaged in such line of 
business.  Any or all Bids may be rejected if the County believes that collusion exists among the Bidders.

4.5 FUNDING

The County intends to budget and make sufficient funds available and authorize funds for expenditure to 
finance the costs of the Contract.  All Bidders understand and agree that the County’s payment of 
amounts under the Contract shall be contingent on the County receiving appropriations or other 
expenditure authority sufficient to allow the County, in the exercise of reasonable administrative 
discretion, to make payments under this Contract.

4.6 ASSIGNMENT, SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS 

The Successful Bidder may not assign, sell, or otherwise transfer the Contract or any other rights or 
interests obtained under the Contract without written permission of the Commissioners Court.  The 
Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the contracting 
parties hereto and their respective successors and permitted assigns.

4.7 IMPLIED REQUIREMENTS

Products or services not specifically described or required in the IFB, but are necessary to provide the 
functional capabilities described by the Bidder, shall be implied and deemed to be included in the Bid.

4.8 TERMINATION

A. Termination for Cause: The County reserves the right to terminate the Contract and/or any 
Ensuing Agreement(s) for default if the Successful Bidder breaches any of the Bid specifications,
terms and conditions, including warranties of the Bidder, if any, or if the Successful Bidder 
becomes insolvent or commits acts of bankruptcy.  Such right of termination is in addition to and
not in lieu of any other remedies the County may have at law or in equity or as may otherwise
provided hereunder.  Default may be construed as, but not limited to, failure to deliver the proper 
goods and/or services within the proper amount of time, and/or to properly perform any and all 
other requirements to the County ’s satisfaction, and/or to meet all other obligations and
requirements.

B. Termination for Convenience: The County may terminate the Contract and/or any Ensuing 
Agreement(s) for convenience and without cause or further liability, upon no less than thirty (30) 
calendar days written notice to the Successful Bidder. The County reserves the right to extend 
this period if it is in the best interest of the County.  In the event the County exercises its right to 
terminate without cause, it is understood and agreed that only the amounts due to the Successful 
Bidder for goods, commodities and/or services provided and expenses incurred to and including 
the date of termination, will be due and payable.  No penalty will be assessed for the County
termination for convenience.

4.9 NON-PERFORMANCE

It is the objective of the County to obtain complete and satisfactory performance of the requirements set 
forth herein.  In addition to any other remedies available at law, in equity or that may be set out herein, 
failure to perform may result in a deduction of payment equal to the amount of the goods and/or services 
that were not provided and/or performed to the County ’s satisfaction.  

In the event of such non-performance, the County shall have the right, but shall not be obligated, to 
complete the services itself or by others and/or purchase the goods from other sources.  If the County 
elects to acquire the goods or perform the services itself or by others, pursuant to the foregoing, the 
Successful Bidder shall reimburse the County, within ten (10) calendar days of demand, for all costs 
incurred by the County (including, without limitation, applicable, general, and administrative expenses, 
and field overhead, and the cost of necessary equipment, materials, and field labor) in correcting the 
nonperformance which the Successful Bidder fails to meet pursuant to the requirements set out herein.  
In the event the Successful Bidder refuses to reimburse the County as set out in this provision, the 
County shall have the right to deduct such reimbursement amounts from any amounts that may be then 
owing or that may become owing in the future to the Successful Bidder.

4.10 PROPRIETARY INFORMATION AND THE TEXAS PUBLIC INFORMATION ACT

All material submitted to the County shall become public property and subject to the Texas Public 
Information Act upon receipt. If a Bidder does not desire proprietary information in the Bid to be 
disclosed, each page must be clearly identified and marked proprietary at time of submittal or, more 
preferably, all proprietary information may be placed in a folder or appendix and be clearly identified and 
marked as being proprietary.  Failure to clearly identify and mark information as being proprietary as set 
forth under this provision will result in all unmarked information being deemed non-proprietary and 
available to the public.  For all information that has not been clearly identified and marked as proprietary 
by the Bidder, the County may choose to place such information on the County ’s website and/or a similar 
public database without obtaining any type of prior consent from the Bidder.

The County will, to the extent allowed by law, endeavor to protect from public disclosure the information 
that has been identified and marked as proprietary.  The final decision as to what information must be 
disclosed, however, lies with the Texas Attorney General.  

To the extent, if any, that any provision in this IFB or in the Bidder ’s Bid is in conflict with Texas 
Government Code, Chapter 552, as amended (the “Public Information Act”), the same shall be of no 
force or effect.  Furthermore, it is expressly understood, and agreed, that the County, and its officers and 
employees, may request advice, decisions and opinions of the Attorney General of the State of Texas in 
regard to the application of the Public Information Act to any items or data furnished to the County as to 
whether or not the same are available to the public.  It is further understood that the County, and its 
officers and employees, shall have the right to rely on the advice, decisions and opinions of the Attorney 
General, and that the County, its officers and employees shall have no liability or obligation to any party 
hereto for the disclosure to the public, or to any person or persons, of any items or data furnished to the 
County by a party hereto, in reliance of any advice, decision or opinion of the Attorney General of the 
State of Texas.

4.11 RIGHT TO AUDIT

The Successful Bidder agrees that the County or its duly authorized representatives shall, until the 
expiration of three (3) years after termination or expiration of the services to be performed, have access 
to and the right to examine and photocopy any and all books, documents, papers and records of the 
Successful Bidder, which are directly pertinent to the services to be performed or goods to be delivered 
for the purposes of making audits, examinations, excerpts and transcriptions.  The Successful Bidder 
agrees that the County shall have access during normal working hours to all necessary facilities and 
shall be provided adequate and appropriate work space in order to conduct audits in compliance with the 
provisions of this section.  The County shall give the Successful Bidder reasonable advance notice of 
intended audits.

4.12 TESTING AND INSPECTIONS

The County reserves the right to inspect and test equipment, supplies, materials and goods for quality 
and compliance with this IFB, and ability to meet the needs of the user.  Demonstration units must be 
available for review.  Should the goods or services fail to meet requirements and/or be unavailable for 
evaluation, the County can deem the Bidder to be in breach and terminate the Contract and/or any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

4.13 BID PREPARATION COSTS

The cost of developing Bids is the sole responsibility of the Bidders and shall not be charged to the 
County.  There is no expressed or implied obligation for the County to reimburse the Bidders for any 
expense incurred in preparing a Bid in response to this IFB and the County will not reimburse the Bidders 
for such expenses.

4.14 INDEMNIFICATION

The Successful Bidder shall indemnify, defend and save harmless, the County, its officials, employees, 
agents and agent ’s employees from, and against, all claims, liability, and expenses including reasonable 
attorneys ’   fees, arising from activities of the Bidder, its agents, servants or employees, performed 
hereunder that result from the negligent act, error, or omission of the Bidder or any of the Bidder
agents, servants or employees, as well as all claims of loss or damage to the Bidder ’s and the County
property, equipment, and/or supplies. 

Furthermore, the County, its officials, employees, agents and agents ’ employees shall not be liable for 
damages to the Successful Bidder arising from any act of any third party, including, but not limited to, 
theft.  The Successful Bidder further agrees to indemnify, defend and save harmless, the County from its 
officials, employee, agents and agents ’ employees against all claims of whatever nature arising from any 
accident, injury, or damage whatsoever, caused to any person, or the property of any person, occurring 
in relation to the Successful Bidder ’s performance of any services requested hereunder during the term 
of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s). 

The Successful Bidder shall timely report all claims, demands, suits, actions, proceedings, liens or 
judgements to the County and shall, upon the receipt of any claim, demand, suit, action, proceeding, lien 

or judgement, not later than the fifteenth (15 th) day of each month; provide the County with a written 
report on each such matter, setting forth the status of each matter, the schedule or planned proceedings 
with respect to each matter and the cooperation or assistance, if any, of the County required by the 
Successful Bidder in the defense of each matter.  The Successful Bidder’s duty to defend, indemnify and 
hold the County harmless shall be absolute.  It shall not abate or end by reason of the expiration or 
termination of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s), unless otherwise agreed by the County in 
writing.  The provisions of this section shall survive the termination of the Contract and shall remain in full 
force and effect with respect to all such matters no matter when they arise. 

In the event of any dispute between the parties, as to whether a claim, demand, suit, action, proceeding, 
lien or judgement, that appears to have been caused by or appears to have arisen out of or in connection 
with acts or omissions of the County, the Bidder shall nevertheless fully defend such claim, demand, suit 
or action, proceeding, lien or judgement, until and unless there is a determination by a court of competent 
jurisdiction that the acts and omissions of the Bidder are not an issue in the matter. 

The Successful Bidder ’s indemnification shall cover, and the Successful Bidder agrees to, indemnify the 
County, in the event the County is found to have been negligent for having selected the Successful 
Bidder to perform the work described in this request.  The provision by the Successful Bidder of 
insurance shall not limit the liability of the Successful Bidder under the Contract and/or any Ensuing 
Agreement(s). 

4.15 WAIVER OF SUBROGATION

The Successful Bidder and the Successful Bidder ’s insurance carrier waive any and all rights 
whatsoever with regard to subrogation against the County as an indirect party to any suit arising out of 
personal or property damages resulting from the Bidder ’s performance under this Contract and any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

4.16 RELATIONSHIP OF THE PARTIES

The Successful Bidder shall be an independent contractor and shall assume all of the rights, obligations, 
liabilities, applicable to it as such independent contractor hereunder and any provisions herein which may 
appear to give the County the right to direct the Successful Bidder as to details of doing work herein 
covered, or to exercise a measure of control over the work, shall be deemed to mean that the Successful 
Bidder shall follow the desires of the County in the results of the work only.  The County shall not retain or 
have the right to control the Successful Bidder ’s means, methods or details pertaining to the Successful 
Bidder ’s performance of the work.  The County and the Successful Bidder hereby agree and declare that 
the Successful Bidder is an independent contractor and as such meets the qualifications of an 
“Independent Contractor” under Texas Workers Compensation Act, Texas Labor Code, Section 406.141, 
that the Successful Bidder is not an employee of  the County, and that the Successful Bidder and its 
employees, agents and subcontractors shall not be entitled to workers compensation coverage or any 
other type of insurance coverage held by the County.

4.17 SOLE PROVIDER

The Successful Bidder agrees and acknowledges that it shall not be considered a sole provider of the 
goods and/or services described herein and that the County may contract with other providers of such 
goods and/or services if the County deems, at its sole discretion, that multiple providers of the same 
goods and/or services will serve the best interest of the County.

4.18 FORCE MAJEURE

If the party obligated to perform is prevented from performance by an act of war, order of legal authority, 
act of God, or other unavoidable cause not attributable to the fault or negligence of said party, the other 
party shall grant such party relief from the performance.  The burden of proof for the need of such relief 
shall rest upon the party obligated to perform.  To obtain release based on force majeure, the party 
obligated to perform shall file a written request with the other party.

4.19 SEVERABILITY

If any provision of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be held invalid or 
unenforceable by any court of competent jurisdiction, such holding shall not invalidate or render 
unenforceable any other provision thereof, but rather the entire IFB, Contract or any Ensuing Agreement
(s) will be construed as if not containing the particular invalid or unenforceable provision or provisions, 
and the rights and obligation of the parties shall be construed and enforced in accordance therewith.  The 
parties acknowledge that if any provision of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) is 
determined to be invalid or unenforceable, it is the desire and intention of each that such provision be 
reformed and construed in such a manner that it will, to the maximum extent practicable, give effect to
the intent of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) and be deemed to be validated and
enforceable.

4.20 EQUAL OPPORTUNITY

Neither party shall discriminate against any employee or applicant for employment because of race, 
color, sex, religion or national origin.

4.21 NOTICE

Any notice to be given shall be in writing and may be distributed by personal delivery, or by registered or 
certified mail, return receipt requested, addressed to the proper party, at the following address:

The County:    Williamson County Purchasing Department 
            Attn: Purchasing Agent 
            901 South Austin Avenue 
            Georgetown, Texas 78626

The Bidder:     Address set out in Bidder’s Transmittal Letter.

Notices given in accordance with this provision shall be effective upon (1) receipt by the party to which 
notice is given, or (2) on the third (3rd) calendar day following mailing, whichever occurs first.

4.22 SALES AND USE TAX EXEMPTION

The County is a body, corporate and politic, under the laws of the State of Texas and claims exemption 
from sales and use taxes under Texas Tax Code, Section 151.309, as amended, and the services and/or 
goods subject hereof are being secured for use by the County.

4.23 COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS

The County and the Successful Bidder shall comply with all federal, state, and local laws, statutes,
ordinances, rules and regulations, and the orders and decrees of any courts or administrative bodies or 
tribunals in any matter affecting the performance of the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s),
including, without limitation, Workers ’ Compensation laws, salary and wage statutes and regulations, 
licensing laws and regulations.  When required, the Successful Bidder shall furnish the County with 
certification of compliance with said laws, statues, ordinances, rules, regulations, orders, and decrees 
above specified.

4.24 INCORPORATION OF EXHIBITS, APPENDICES AND ATTACHMENTS

All of the Exhibits, Appendices and Attachments referred to herein are incorporated by reference as if set 
forth verbatim herein.  Any conflicting terms in the Contract documents will be resolved at the sole 
discretion of the Commissioners Court.

4.25 NO WAIVER OF IMMUNITIES

Nothing herein shall be deemed to waive, modify or amend any legal defense available at law or in equity 
to the County, its past or present officers, employees, or agents, nor to create any legal rights or claim on 
behalf of any third party.  The County does not waive, modify, or alter to any extent whatsoever the 
availability of the defense of governmental immunity under the laws of the State of Texas and of the 
United States.

4.26 NO WAIVER

The failure or delay of any party to enforce at any time or any period of time any of the provisions of this 
IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall not constitute a present or future waiver of such 
provisions nor the right of either party to enforce each and every provision.  Furthermore, no term or 
provision hereof shall be deemed waived and no breach excused unless such waiver or consent shall be 
in writing and signed by the party claimed to have waived or consented.  Any consent by any party to, or 
waiver of, a breach by the other, whether expressed or implied, shall not constitute a consent to, waiver 
of or excuse for any other, different or subsequent breach.

4.27 CURRENT REVENUES

The obligations of the parties under the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) do not constitute a 
general obligation or indebtedness of the County for which the County is obligated to levy, pledge, or 
collect any of taxation.  It is understood and agreed that the County shall have the right to terminate the 
Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) at the end of any the County fiscal year if the governing body of 
the County does not appropriate sufficient funds as determined by the County ’s budget for the fiscal year 
in question.  The County may effect such termination by giving written notice of termination to the 
Successful Bidder at the end of its then-current fiscal year.

4.28 FOB DESTINATION

To the extent applicable to this IFB, all of the items listed are to be Free On Board to final destination 
(FOB Destination) with all transportation charges if applicable to be included in the Bid, unless otherwise 
specified in the Invitation for Bids.  The title and risk of loss of the goods shall not pass to the County until 
receipt and acceptance takes place at the FOB Destination point.

4.29 BINDING EFFECT

This Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties 
and their respective permitted assigns and successors.

4.30 ASSIGNMENT

The Successful Bidder ’s interest and duties hereunder may not be assigned or delegated to a third party 
without the express written consent of the County.

4.31 SAFETY

The Successful Bidder is responsible for initiating, maintaining, and supervising all safety precautions 
and programs in connection with any services to be provided hereunder. The safety program shall 
comply with all applicable requirements of the current federal Occupational Safety and Health Act and all 
other applicable federal, state and local laws and regulations.

4.32 GENERAL OBLIGATIONS AND RELIANCE

The Successful Bidder shall perform all services and/or provide all goods, as well as those reasonably
inferable and necessary for completion and provision of services and/or goods required hereunder. The
Successful Bidder shall keep the County informed of the progress and quality of the services.  The 
Successful Bidder agrees and acknowledges that the County is relying on the Successful Bidder's 
represented expertise and ability to provide the goods and/or services described herein.  The Successful
Bidder agrees to use its best efforts, skill, judgment, and abilities to perform its obligations in accordance
with the highest standards used in the profession and to further the interests of the County 
accordance with the County ’s requirements and procedures.    T h e   Successful Bidder ’s duties,
set forth herein, shall at no time be in any way diminished by reason of any approval by the County, nor
shall the Successful Bidder be released from any liability by reason of such approval by the County, it 
being understood that the County at all times is ultimately relying upon the Successful Bidder ’s skill and 
knowledge in performing the services and providing any goods required hereunder.

4.33 ESTIMATED QUANTITIES

To the extent applicable to this IFB, the estimated quantity of each item listed in this IFB is only
estimate; the actual quantity to be purchased may be more or less. The County is not obligated
purchase any minimum amount, and the County may purchase any reasonable amount greater than the
estimate for the same unit price. Any limit on quantities available must be stated expressly in the Bid.

4.34 CONTRACTUAL DEVELOPMENT

The contents of the IFB and the Successful Bidder ’s Bid will become an integral part of the Contract, but 
may be modified, at the County ’s sole discretion, by provisions of an Ensuing Agreement.  Therefore, the 
Bidder must agree to an inclusion of an Ensuing Agreement of the Bid specifications, terms and 
conditions of this IFB.  If an Ensuing Agreement is required under this IFB, information relative to the 
Agreement will be located in the Special Provisions Section of this IFB.

4.35 SURVIVABILITY 

All applicable agreements that were entered into between the Successful Bidder and the County, under 
the terms and conditions of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s), shall survive the expiration or 
termination thereof for ninety (90) days unless a new contract has been awarded.

The County may exercise, by written notice to the Successful Bidder no later than ten (10) calendar days 
of the Contract expiration, this clause for emergencies only. 

4.36 AIR QUALITY

In determining the overall best Bid, the County may, to the extent applicable, exercise the option granted 
to local governments under the Texas Local Government Code, Section 271.907.

This option allows the County to evaluate Bids and give preference to goods and/or services of a Bidder 
that demonstrates that the Bidder meets or exceeds any and all state or federal environmental 
standards, including voluntary standards, relating to air quality.  If the Bid being submitted will have an 
effect on air quality for the County (as it relates to any state, federal, or voluntary air quality standard), 
then the Bidder is encouraged to provide information in narrative indicating the anticipated air quality 
impact.  All Bidders are expected to meet all mandated state and federal air quality standards.

4.37 ENTIRE AGREEMENT

The Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall supersede all prior Agreements, written or oral 
between the Successful Bidder and the County and shall constitute the entire Agreement and 
understanding between the parties with respect to the services and/or goods to be provided.  Each of the 
provisions herein shall be binding upon the parties and may not be waived, modified, amended or altered, 
except by writing signed by the Successful Bidder and the County.

4.38 PAYMENT

The County ’s payment for goods and services shall be governed by the Texas Government Code, 

Chapter 2251.  An invoice shall be deemed overdue the thirty-first (31st) day after the later of the 
following: 

A. The date the County receives the goods under the Contract; 
B. The date the performance of the service under the Contract is completed; or 
C. The date the Williamson County Auditor receives an invoice for the goods or services.  

Interest charges for any overdue payments shall be paid by the County in accordance with Texas 
Government Code, Section 2251.025.  More specifically, the rate of interest that shall accrue on a late 
payment is the rate in effect on September 1 of the County ’s fiscal year in which the payment becomes 
due.  The said rate in effect on September 1 shall be equal to the sum of one (1) percent, and the prime 

rate published in the Wall Street Journal on the first (1st) day of July of the preceding fiscal year that does 
not fall on a Saturday or Sunday.

In the event that an error appears in an invoice submitted by the Successful Bidder, the County shall 
notify the Successful Bidder of the error not later than the twenty-first (21st) day after the date the County 
receives the invoice.  If the error is resolved in favor of the Successful Bidder, the Successful Bidder 
shall be entitled to receive interest on the unpaid balance of the invoice submitted by the Successful 
Bidder beginning on the date that the payment for the invoice became overdue.  If the error is resolved in 
favor of the County, the Successful Bidder shall submit a corrected invoice that must be paid in 
accordance within the time set forth above.  The unpaid balance accrues interest as provided by the 
Texas Government Code, Chapter 2251, if the corrected invoice is not paid by the appropriate date.

As a minimum, invoices shall include:

A. Name, address, and telephone number of the Successful Bidder and similar information in the 
event the payment is to be made to a different address. 

B. The County Contract, Purchase Order. 

C. Identification of items or service as outlined in the Contract. 

D. Quantity or quantities, applicable unit prices, total prices and total amount. 

E. Any additional payment information which may be called for by the Contract. 

Payment inquiries should be directed to the following address:        

            Williamson County Auditor’s Office, Accounts Payable Department
            Email: accountspayable@wilco.org
            Phone: 512-943-1500

4.39 CONTRACTUAL FORMATION AND ENSUING AGREEMENT

The IFB and the Bidder ’s Bid, when properly accepted by the Commissioners Court, shall constitute a
Contract equally binding between the Successful Bidder and the County.

If an Ensuing Agreement is required by this IFB, that information will be provided in Special 
Provisions section of this IFB.  The Successful Bidder shall be required to execute the Agreement at 
the Williamson County Purchasing Department approximately ten (10) calendar days after the 
Successful Bidder is notified of award.  The Ensuing Agreement shall be in the same form as the 
Agreement which is attached to the end of this IFB.  The only anticipated changes in the Ensuing 
Agreement will be to include additional exhibits, to fill in blanks to identify the Successful Bidder, and 
terms relating to the compensation, or to revise the Agreement to accommodate corrections, changes in 
the scope of services, or changes pursuant to Addenda issued.  Bidders should raise any questions 
regarding the terms of the Agreement in the form of written questions or submittals as 
described in the Public Announcement and General Information portion of this IFB.  Because the 
signed Ensuing Agreement will be substantively and substantially derived from the attached Agreement, 
each Bidder is urged to seek independent legal counsel as to any questions about the terms, conditions 
or provisions contained in the Agreement before submitting a Bid.  Again, the attached Agreement, if 
applicable, contains important legal provisions and is considered part and parcel of this IFB.  Failure or 
refusal to sign aforesaid Agreement shall be grounds for the County to revoke any award which has been 
issued, forfeit Bid security, if applicable, and select another Bidder.

4.40 COOPERATIVE PURCHASING PROGRAM 

During the term of the Contract resulting from this IFB, the County would like to afford the same prices, 
terms and conditions to other political subdivisions or public entities.  Another entity’s participation in the 
Contract resulting from this IFB is subject to a properly authorized Purchasing Cooperative Inter- local 
Agreement with the County.  Any liability created by purchase orders issued against the Contract shall be 
the sole responsibility of the governmental agency placing the order.

4.41 INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS

To the extent applicable Insurance information will appear in the Additional Stipulations section that is in 
this IFB Package. 

4.42 BIDDERS BOND, WARRANTY BOND, PERFORMANCE AND PAYMENT BONDS

To the extent applicable Bond information will appear in the Additional Stipulations section that is in this 
IFB Package. 

4.43 LEGAL LIABILITY INFORMATION

The Successful Bidder shall disclose all legal liability information by listing any pending litigation
anticipated litigation that your firm is involved in including, but not limited to, potential or actual legal
matters with private parties and any local, state, federal or international governmental entities. The
County reserves the right to consider legal liability information in the recommendation of any proposed 
contract to the Commissioners Court.

4.44 INCLEMENT WEATHER

In case of inclement weather or any other unforeseen event causing the County to close for business on 
the date of a Bid submission deadline, the Bid closing will automatically be postponed until the next 
business day the County is open.  If inclement weather conditions or any other unforeseen event causes 
delays in carrier service operations, the County may issue an Addendum to all known Bidders interested 
in the project to extend the deadline.  It will be the responsibility of the Bidder to notify the County of their 
interest in the project if these conditions are impacting their ability to turn in a submission within the 
stated deadline.  The County reserves the right to make the final judgement call to extend any deadline. 

4.45 PREVAILING WAGE RATES

To the extent this procurement is for the construction of a public work, including a building, highway, 
road, excavation, and repair work or other project development or improvement, paid for in whole or in 
part from public funds, without regard to whether the work is done under public supervision or direction, 
Texas Government Code, Chapter 2258, shall apply and the contractor shall pay not less than the wage 
scale of the various classes of labor as shown on the “Prevailing Wage Schedule” provided by the 
County. Pursuant to Texas Government Code, Section 2258.022(a)(2), the County has determined the 
general prevailing rate of the “Prevailing Wage Schedule”  in the locality in which the public work is to be 
performed for each craft or type of worker needed to execute the contract and the prevailing rate for legal 
holiday and overtime work by using the prevailing wage rate as determined by the United States 
Department of Labor in accordance with the United States Code, Section 276a (Davis-Bacon Act). 

The specified wage rates are minimum rates only, and are not representations that qualified labor 
adequate to perform the work is available locally at the prevailing wage rates. The County is not bound to 
pay—and will not consider—any claims for additional compensation made by any contractor because the 
contractor pays wages in excess of the applicable minimum rate contained in the Contract Documents. 
The “Prevailing Wage Schedule”  is not a representation that quantities of qualified labor adequate to 
perform the work may be found locally at the specified wage rates.

For classifications not shown, workers shall not be paid less than the wage indicated for laborers. The 
contractor shall notify each worker commencing work on the project the worker ’s job classification and 
the established minimum wage rate required to be paid, as well as the actual amount being paid. The 
notice must be delivered to and signed in acknowledgement of receipt by the employee and must list 
both the monetary wages and fringe benefits to be paid or furnished for each classification in which the 
worker is assigned duties. When requested by the County, competent evidence of compliance with the 
Texas Prevailing Wage Law shall be furnished by contractor. A copy of each worker wage rate 
notification shall be submitted to the County with the Application for Payment for the period during which 
the worker began on-site activities.

Should the contractor at any time become aware that a particular skill or trade not reflected on the 
County ’s “Prevailing Wage Schedule” will be or is being employed in the work, whether by the contractor 
or by a subcontractor, the contractor shall promptly inform the County and shall specify a wage rate for 
that skill or trade, which shall bind the contractor.

The contractor and any subcontractor shall pay to the County a penalty of sixty dollars ($60.00) for each 
worker employed for each calendar day, or portion thereof, that the worker is paid less than the wage 
rates stipulated in the “Prevailing Wage Schedule” or any supplement thereto. The contractor and each 
subcontractor shall keep, or cause to be kept, an accurate record showing the names and occupations 
of all workers employed in connection with the work, and showing the actual per diem wages paid to 
each worker, which records shall be open at all reasonable hours for the inspection by the County.

Within thirty-one (31) days of receipt of information concerning a violation of the Texas Government Code 
Chapter 2258, the County shall make an initial determination as to whether good cause exists to believe 
a violation occurred. The County ’s decision on the initial determination shall be reduced to writing and 
sent to the contractor or subcontractor against whom the violation was alleged, and to the affected 
worker. When a good cause finding is made, the County shall retain the full amounts claimed by the 
claimant or claimants as the difference between wages paid and wages due under the “Prevailing Wage 
Schedule” and any supplements thereto, together with the applicable penalties, such amounts being 
subtracted from successive progress payments pending a final decision on the violation.

After the County makes its initial determination, the affected contractor or subcontractor and worker have 
fourteen (14) calendar days in which to resolve the issue of whether a violation occurred, including the 
amount that should be retained by the County or paid to the affected worker. If the contractor or 
subcontractor and affected worker reach an agreement concerning the worker ’s claim, the contractor 
shall promptly notify the County in a written document signed by the worker. It the contractor or 

Subcontractor and affected worker do not agree before the fifteenth (15 th) calendar day after the County
determination, the contractor or subcontractor and affected worker must participate in binding arbitration 
in accordance with the Texas General Arbitration Act, Chapter 171, (Texas Civil Practice and Remedies 
Code). The parties to the arbitration have ten (10) calendar days after the expiration of the fifteen (15) 

calendar days referred to above, to agree on an arbitrator; if by the eleventh (11 th) calendar day there is 
no agreement to an arbitrator, a district court shall appoint an arbitrator on the petition of any of the 
parties to the arbitration.

If an arbitrator determines that a violation has occurred, the arbitrator shall assess and award against the 
contractor or subcontractor the amount of penalty as provided above and the amount owed the worker. 
The County may use any amounts retained hereunder to pay the worker the amount as designated in the 
arbitration award. If the County has not retained enough from the contractor or subcontractor to pay the 
worker in accordance with the arbitration award, the worker has a right of action against the contractor 
and subcontractor as appropriate, and the surety of either to receive the amount owed, attorneys ’  fees 
and court costs. The contractor shall promptly furnish a copy of the arbitration award to the County.

Money retained pursuant to the provisions above shall be used to pay the claimant or claimants the 
difference between the amount the worker received in wages for labor on the project at the rate paid by 
the contractor or subcontractor and the amount the worker would have received at the general prevailing 
wage rate as provided by the agreement of the claimant and the contractor or subcontractor affected, or 
in the arbitrator ’s award. The full statutory penalty of sixty dollars ($60.00) per calendar day of violation 
per worker shall be retained by Williamson County to offset its administrative costs, pursuant to Texas 
Government Code, Section, 2258.023. Any retained funds in excess of these amounts shall be paid to 
the contractor on the earlier of the next progress payment or final payment. Provided, however, that the 
County shall have no duty to release any funds to either the claimant or the contractor until it has 
received the notices of agreement or the arbitration award as provided under the provision herein-above.

4.46 CONFIDENTIALITY

The Bidder expressly agrees that it will not use any direct or incidental confidential information that may 
be obtained while working in a governmental setting for its own benefit, and agrees that it will not access 
unauthorized areas or confidential information and it will not disclose any information to unauthorized 
third parties, and will take care to guard the security of the information at all times.

Bid 1704-157Williamson County, Texas

4/7/2017 9:30 AM p. 18



5

6

3 4

Williamson County – Invitation for Bid (IFB)

SECTION 1 - DEFINITIONS 

Addendum/Addenda – means any written or graphic instruments issued by the County prior to the 
consideration of Bids which modify or interpret the Bid Documents by additions, deletions, clarifications, 
or corrections.

Agreement/Ensuing Agreement(s) – means the Successful Bidder may be required by the County to 
sign an additional Agreement containing terms necessary to ensure compliance with the IFB and the 
Bidder ’s Bid.  Such Ensuing Agreement(s) shall contain the Bid specifications, terms and conditions that 
are derived from the IFB.

Bid Documents – means the Legal Notice, IFB including attachments, and any Addenda issued by the 
County prior to the consideration of any Bids.

Bid – means the completed and signed bid form, (sometimes referred to as the Price Sheet), and ALL 
required forms and documentation listed in the IFB package which have been submitted in accordance 
with the terms and conditions described in the IFB package.  A Bid submitted in accordance with this IFB 
is irrevocable during the specified period for evaluation and acceptance of Bids unless a waiver is 
obtained from the Williamson County Purchasing Agent.

Bidder – means a person or entity who submits a Bid in response to this IFB.

Contract – means this IFB and the Bid of the Successful Bidder shall become a Contract between the 
Successful Bidder and the County once the Successful Bidder ’s Bid is properly accepted by the 
Williamson County Commissioners Court.

Commissioner ’s Court – means the Williamson County Commissioners Court. 

County – means Williamson County, a political subdivision of the State of Texas.

Invitation for Bid (IFB) – means this document, together with the attachments thereto and any future 
Addenda issued by the County.

Successful Bidder – means the liable Bidder to whom the County intends to award the Contract.

SECTION 2 - BID FORMAT AND SUBMISSION

2.1 ORGANIZATION OF BID CONTENTS FOR SUBMITTAL 

Each Bid should be organized and items submitted in the order described below: 

A. Transmittal Letter. Please see Section 2.3, Transmittal Letter, for more information. 

B. Price Sheet.

C. Conflict of Interest Questionnaire. Please see Section 2.2, Conflict of Interest, for more 
information in regards to this. Please note that even if you deem there to be no Conflict of Interest, 
this signed questionnaire must be included in your package. 

D. References. Please see Section 3.15, References, for more information. 

E. Bid Affidavit.

F. Form 1295. Please see Section 2.4, Certificate of Interested Parties – Form 1295. 

2.2 CONFLICT OF INTEREST

No public official shall have interest in a Contract, in accordance with Vernon ’s Texas Codes Annotated, 
Local Government Code, Title 5, Subtitle C, Chapter 171, as amended. 

As of January 1, 2006, all Bidders are responsible for complying with Local Government Code, Title 5, 
Subtitle C, Chapter 176.  Additional information may be obtained from the County’s website at the 
following link: 

http://www.wilco.org/CountyDepartments/Purchasing/ConflictofInterestDisclosure/tabid/689/language/en
US/Default.aspx

Each Bidder must disclose any existing or potential conflict of interest relative to the performance of the 
requirements of this IFB.  Examples of potential conflicts of interest may include an existing 
business or personal relationship between the Bidder, its principal, or any affiliate or 
subcontractor with the County or any other entity or person involved in any way with the project 
that is subject to this IFB .  Similarly, any personal or business relationship between the Bidder, the 

principals, or any affiliate or subcontractor with any employee, or official of the County or its suppliers 
must be disclosed.  Any such relationship that might be perceived or represented as a conflict must be 
disclosed. Failure to disclose any such relationship or reveal personal relationships with the County 
employees or officials may be cause for termination. 

The County will decide if an actual or perceived conflict should result in Bid disqualification. 

By submitting a Bid in response to this IFB, all Bidders affirm they have not given, nor intend to give, at 
any time hereafter, any economic opportunity, future employment, gift, loan, gratuity, special discount, 
trip, favor, or service to a the County public servant or any employee, official or representative of same, in 
connection with this procurement. 

Each Bidder must provide a Conflict of Interest Statement with their Bid Package.  Package may 

be deemed incomplete without this form.  

2.3 TRANSMITTAL LETTER

The Bidder should submit a Transmittal Letter that provides the following information: 

A. Name and address of individual or business entity submitting the Bid. 

B. Name, physical address, email address, business and fax number of the Bidder ’s principal 
contact person regarding all contractual matters relating to this IFB.

C. The Bid ’s Federal Employer Identification Number.

D. If the Proposal being submitted will have an effect on air quality for the County (as it relates to any 
state, federal, or voluntary air quality standard), then the Respondent is encouraged to provide
information in narrative indicating the anticipated air quality impact. See Section 4.36, Air Quality 
for more information. 

2.4 CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PARTIES – FORM 1295

As of January 1, 2016, all Successful Bidders are responsible for complying with the Texas Government 
Code, Section 2252.908.  The law states that the County may not enter into certain contracts with a 
Bidder unless the Bidder submits a disclosure of interested parties to the County at the time the Bidder 
submits the signed Contract.  The law applies only to a Contract of the County on or after January 1, 
2016 that either:

A. Requires an action or vote by the Commissioners Court before the Contract may be signed (all 
contracts that fall under the jurisdiction of the Commissioners Court approval, such as contracts 
resulting from an Initiation for Bid (IFB), RFP, Request for Qualifications (RFQ), etc., excluding, 
but not limited to, certain Juvenile Service contracts, contracts funded with Sheriff ’s seized fun 
monies, etc.); or

B. Has a value of at least $1,000,000. 

By January 1, 2016, the Texas Ethics Commission will make available on its website, a new filing 
application that must be used to file Form 1295.  Information regarding how to use the filing application is 
available on the Texas Ethics Commission website at the following link:

https://www.ethics.state.tx.us/whatsnew/elf_info_form1295.htm

A Respondent must:

A. Use the online application to process the required information on Form 1295.

B. Print a copy of the form which will contain a unique certification number.

C. An authorized agent of the Bidder must sign the printed copy of the form.

D. Have the form notarized.

E. File the completed Form 1295 and certification of filing (scanning and emailing form is sufficient) 
with Williamson County Purchasing Agent at the time the signed Contract is submitted for 
approval.

After the Commissioners Court award of the Contract, the County shall notify the Texas Ethics 
Commission, using the Texas Ethics Commission ’s filing application, of the receipt of the filed Form 
1295 and certification of filing not later than the 30th day after the date the Contract binds all parties to the 
Contract. The Texas Ethics Commission will post the completed Form 1295 to its website within seven 
business days after receiving notice from the County.

2.5 ETHICS

The Bidder shall not accept or offer gifts or anything of value nor enter into any business arrangement 
with any employee, official or agent of the County.

2.6 BID SUBMITTAL DEADLINE

The Bid is due no later than the submittal date and time set forth in the Public Announcement and 
General Information listed in this IFB package.  Contents of each Bid shall be submitted in accordance 
with this IFB.

2.7 DELIVERY OF BIDS

The County uses BidSync to distribute and receive Bids and proposals.  It is preferred that Bids
submitted electronically through BidSync; however, Bidders can submit a hard copy.  

Refer to www.bidsync.com for further information on how to submit electronically.

If mailed or delivered in person, Bids and Bid Addenda are to be delivered in sealed envelope on or before
the submittal deadline, as noted in the Public Announcement and General Information listed in this IFB 
package, to:

            Williamson County Purchasing Department
            Attn: Bid Name and Number
            901 South Austin Avenue
            Georgetown, Texas 78626

Also, all Bidders should list their Name and Address, and the Date of the Bid opening on the outside
the box or envelope and note “Sealed Bid Enclosed.” The County will not accept any Bids received after 
the submittal deadline, and shall return such Bids unopened to the Bidder.  The County will not accept 
any responsibility for Bids being delivered by third party carriers.  

Bids will be opened publically and the names of Bidders and pricing will be read aloud.

SECTION 3 - INSTRUCTIONS AND GENERAL REQUIREMENTS

3.1 INSTRUCTIONS

Read this document carefully, and follow all instructions and requirements.  All Bidders are responsible 
for fulfilling all requirements and specifications.  Be sure to have a clear understanding of this IFB.

General requirements apply to all advertised IFBs; however, these may be superseded, in whole or in 
part, by the bid specifications, Addenda and modifications issued as a part of this IFB.  Be sure your Bid 
package is complete.

3.2 AMBIGUITY, CONFLICT, OR OTHER ERRORS IN THIS IFB

If a Bidder discovers any ambiguity, conflict, discrepancy, omission or other error in this IFB, the Bidder 
shall immediately notify the County Purchasing Department of such error in writing and request
modification or clarification of the document.

Modifications will be made by issuing Addenda. If the Bidder fails to notify the County prior to the date
and time fixed for submission of Bids of an error or ambiguity in the IFB known to the Bidder, or an error
or ambiguity that reasonably should have been known to the Bidder, then the Bidder shall be deemed to 
have waived the error or ambiguity or its later resolution.

The County may also modify the IFB, no later than forty-eight (48) hours prior to the date and time fixed
for submission of Bids, by issuance of an Addendum.  All Addenda will be numbered consecutively, 
beginning with one (1).

3.3 NOTIFICATION OF MOST CURRENT ADDRESS

All Bidders in receipt of this IFB shall notify the Williamson County Purchasing Department of any
address changes, contact person changes, and/or telephone number changes no later than forty-eight 
(48) hours prior to the date and time fixed for submission of Bids.

3.4 SIGNATURE OF BIDDER

A. If the Bidder is a Corporation or Limited Liability Company, the legal name of the Corporation
Limited Liability Company shall be provided together with the signature of the officer or officers 
authorized to sign on behalf of such entity.

B. If the Bidder is a General Partnership, the true name of the firm shall be provided with the
signature of each partner authorized to sign.

C. If the Bidder is a Limited Partnership, the name of the Limited Partner ’s General Partner shall
provided with the signature of the officer authorized to sign on behalf of the General Partner.

D. If the Bidder is a Sole Proprietor(s) (individual), each Sole Proprietor(s) shall sign.

E. If signature is by an agent, other than the Sole Proprietor(s) or an officer of a Corporation, Limited 
Liability Company, General Partner or a member of a General Partnership, a power of attorney
equivalent document must be submitted to the Williamson County Purchasing Department.

3.5 ASSUMED BUSINESS NAME

If the Bidder operates business under an Assumed Business Name, the Bidder must have on file with the
Williamson County Clerk a current Assumed Name Certificate and provide a file marked copy of same.

3.6 BID OBLIGATION 

The contents of the IFB, Bid, and any clarification thereof submitted by the Successful Bidder shall
become part of the contractual obligation and incorporated by reference into the Contract and any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

3.7 COMPLIANCE WITH IFB SPECIFICATIONS

It is intended that this IFB describe the requirements and the Bid format in sufficient detail to secure 
comparable Bids.  Failure to comply with all provisions of the IFB may, at the sole discretion of the 
County, result in disqualification.

3.8 WITHDRAWAL OF BID

The Bidder may withdraw its Bid by submitting a written request with the company letterhead and the 
signature of an authorized individual, as described in Section 3.4, Signature of Bidder, to the Williamson 
County Purchasing Department any time prior to the submission deadline.  

The Bidder may submit a new Bid prior to the deadline. Alterations of the Bid in any manner will not be 
considered if submitted after the deadline.  Withdrawal of a Bid after the deadline will be subject to written 
approval of the Williamson County Purchasing Agent.

3.9 EVALUATION AND AWARD

The County reserves the right to use all pertinent information (also learned from sources other than 
disclosed in the Bid process) that might affect the County ’s judgment as to the appropriateness of
award to the lowest and best evaluated Bid. This information may be appended to the Bid evaluation
process results. Information on a Bidder from reliable sources, and not within the Bidder ’s Bid, may also 
be noted and made part of the evaluation fi le.  The County shall have sole discretion for determining 
the reliability of the source.

To ensure the proper and fair evaluation of a solicitation, the County prohibits unsolicited communication 
initiated by the Bidder to the County Official or Employee evaluating or considering the Bids prior to the 
time an award has been made. Unsolicited communication may be ground for disqualifying the 
offending Bidder from consideration or award of the solicitation, or any future solicitation.

Communication between the Bidder and the County will be initiated by the appropriate County Official
Employee in order to obtain information or clarification needed to develop a proper and accurate 
evaluation of the solicitation.

The County intends to award a Contract to the most responsible and responsive Bidder whose Bid will 
be most advantageous to the County. In accordance with Texas Government Code and Local
Government Code, the County may consider, to the extent allowed by law, the following:

A. Price;
B. The Bidder ’s experience and reputation;
C. Quality of the Bidder ’s goods and/or services; 
D. The Bidder ’s safety record;
E. The Bidder ’s proposed personnel; 
F. The Bidder ’s financial capabilities; and 
G. Any other relevant factors specifically listed in this IFB or authorized by law.

3.10 CONDISERATION OF LOCATION OF PRINCIPAL OFFICE 

Pursuant to Texas Local Government Code, Section 271.905 , in purchasing any real property or personal
property that is not affixed to real property, if the County receives one or more Bids from a Bidder whose
principal place of business is in Williamson County and whose Bid is within three (3 )  percent of the
lowest Bid price received by the County from a Bidder who is not a resident of Williamson County, the 
County may enter into a contract with:

A. The lowest Bidder; or the Bidder whose principal place of business is in Williamson County if the
Commissioners Court determines, in writing, that the local Bidder offers the County the best 
combination of contract price and addit ional economic development opportunities
Williamson County created by the contract award, including the employment of residents
Williamson County and increased tax revenues to Williamson County.

It is understood that the Commissioners Court of Williamson County, Texas, reserves the right to accept
or reject any and/or all Bids for any or all goods and/or services covered in this IFB, and to waive
informalities or defects in the Bid or to accept such Bid, if it shall deem to be in the best interest of the 
County.

Awards should be made approximately sixty (60) business days after the Bid opening date. Results may
be obtained by viewing the Williamson County vendor portal at the following link:

http://www.wilco.org/CountyDepartments/Purchasing/SearchforaPastBid/tabid/5213/language/en-
US/Default.aspx

3.11 RESPONSIBILITY 

It is expected that a prospective Bidder will be able to affirmatively demonstrate responsibility.  A 
prospective Bidder should be able to meet the following requirements:

A. Have adequate financial resources, or the ability to obtain such resources as required;
B. Be able to comply with the required or proposed delivery schedule;
C. Have a satisfactory record of performance that can be determined thru references provided; and 
D. Be otherwise qualified and eligible to receive an award.

The County may request representation and other information sufficient to determine the Bidder's ability 
to meet these minimum standards listed above.

3.12 FIRM PRICING 

For unit price items, all of the items listed are to be on a “per unit” basis, stating a firm price per unit or 
unit quantity of each item.  The Bidder must submit a firm price that must be good from the date of Bid 
opening for the fixed period of time set out in this IFB.  Unless the IFB expressly states otherwise, this 
period shall be until the end of the Initial Contract Period.

Bids which do not state a fixed price, or which are subject to change without notice, will not be 
considered.  The Court may award a Contract for the period implied or expressly stated in the lowest and 
best Bid.

3.13 PURCHASE ORDERS

If required by the Williamson County Purchasing Department, a purchase order(s) may be generated to 
the Successful Bidder for goods and/or services.  If a purchase order is issued, the purchase order 
number must appear on all itemized invoices and/or requests for payment.

3.14 SILENCE OF SPECIFICATIONS

The apparent silence of these specifications as to any detail or to the apparent omission from it of a 
detailed description concerning any point, shall be regarded as meaning that only the best practices are 
to prevail.  All interpretations of these specifications shall be made on the basis of this statement.

3.15 REFERENCES

The County may require the Bidder to supply a list of at least three (3) references where like services
and/or goods have been supplied by their firm within the past five (5) years, to include names, titles, 
phone numbers and email addresses of key personnel, and dates of performance.

The County may contact some or all of the references in order to determine the Respondent
performance record on work similar to that described in this RFP.  The County reserves the right to 
contact references other than those provided in the response and to use the information gained from 
them in the evaluation process.

References, if requested, should be provided in accordance with this IFB.  Bid may not be deemed 
complete without the inclusion of requested references.

SECTION 4 - TERMS AND CONDITIONS

4.1 VENUE AND GOVERNING LAW

The Bidder hereby agrees and acknowledges that venue and jurisdiction of any suit, right, or cause of 
action arising out of or in connection with this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s), shall lie 
exclusively in either Williamson County, Texas or in the Austin Division of the Western Federal District of 
Texas, and the parties hereto expressly consent and submit to such jurisdiction.  Furthermore, except to 
the extent that this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) is governed by the laws of the United 
States, this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be governed by and construed in 
accordance with the laws of the State of Texas, excluding, however, its choice of law rules.

4.2 INCORPORATION BY REFERENCE AND PRECEDENCE

A. The Contract shall be derived from the IFB and its Addenda (if applicable), and the Bidder ’ s Bid.  In 
the event of a dispute under the Contract, applicable documents will be referred to for the purpose 
of clarification or for additional detail in the following order of precedence:

1. The IFB and its Addenda (if applicable); and

2. The Bidder ’s Bid.

B. In the event the County requires that an Ensuing Agreement be executed following award and a 
dispute arises between the terms and conditions of the Ensuing Agreement, the IFB and its 
Addenda (if applicable), and the Bidder ’s Bid, applicable documents will be referred to for the 
purpose of clarification or for additional detail in the following order of precedence: 

1. Terms and conditions of the Ensuing Agreement;

2. The IFB its Addenda; and 

3. The Bidder ’s Bid.

4.3 OWNERSHIP OF BID

Each Bid shall become the property of the County upon submittal and will not be returned to Bidders 
unless received after the submittal deadline.

4.4 DISQUALIFICATION OF BIDDER

Upon signing and submittal of the Bid, a Bidder offering to sell supplies, materials, services, or equipment 
to the County, certifies that the Bidder has not violated the antitrust laws of the State of Texas codified in 
Business & Commerce Code, Section 15.01, or the Federal Antitrust Laws, and has not communicated 
directly or indirectly the offer made to any competitor or any other person engaged in such line of 
business.  Any or all Bids may be rejected if the County believes that collusion exists among the Bidders.

4.5 FUNDING

The County intends to budget and make sufficient funds available and authorize funds for expenditure to 
finance the costs of the Contract.  All Bidders understand and agree that the County’s payment of 
amounts under the Contract shall be contingent on the County receiving appropriations or other 
expenditure authority sufficient to allow the County, in the exercise of reasonable administrative 
discretion, to make payments under this Contract.

4.6 ASSIGNMENT, SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS 

The Successful Bidder may not assign, sell, or otherwise transfer the Contract or any other rights or 
interests obtained under the Contract without written permission of the Commissioners Court.  The 
Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the contracting 
parties hereto and their respective successors and permitted assigns.

4.7 IMPLIED REQUIREMENTS

Products or services not specifically described or required in the IFB, but are necessary to provide the 
functional capabilities described by the Bidder, shall be implied and deemed to be included in the Bid.

4.8 TERMINATION

A. Termination for Cause: The County reserves the right to terminate the Contract and/or any 
Ensuing Agreement(s) for default if the Successful Bidder breaches any of the Bid specifications,
terms and conditions, including warranties of the Bidder, if any, or if the Successful Bidder 
becomes insolvent or commits acts of bankruptcy.  Such right of termination is in addition to and
not in lieu of any other remedies the County may have at law or in equity or as may otherwise
provided hereunder.  Default may be construed as, but not limited to, failure to deliver the proper 
goods and/or services within the proper amount of time, and/or to properly perform any and all 
other requirements to the County ’s satisfaction, and/or to meet all other obligations and
requirements.

B. Termination for Convenience: The County may terminate the Contract and/or any Ensuing 
Agreement(s) for convenience and without cause or further liability, upon no less than thirty (30) 
calendar days written notice to the Successful Bidder. The County reserves the right to extend 
this period if it is in the best interest of the County.  In the event the County exercises its right to 
terminate without cause, it is understood and agreed that only the amounts due to the Successful 
Bidder for goods, commodities and/or services provided and expenses incurred to and including 
the date of termination, will be due and payable.  No penalty will be assessed for the County
termination for convenience.

4.9 NON-PERFORMANCE

It is the objective of the County to obtain complete and satisfactory performance of the requirements set 
forth herein.  In addition to any other remedies available at law, in equity or that may be set out herein, 
failure to perform may result in a deduction of payment equal to the amount of the goods and/or services 
that were not provided and/or performed to the County ’s satisfaction.  

In the event of such non-performance, the County shall have the right, but shall not be obligated, to 
complete the services itself or by others and/or purchase the goods from other sources.  If the County 
elects to acquire the goods or perform the services itself or by others, pursuant to the foregoing, the 
Successful Bidder shall reimburse the County, within ten (10) calendar days of demand, for all costs 
incurred by the County (including, without limitation, applicable, general, and administrative expenses, 
and field overhead, and the cost of necessary equipment, materials, and field labor) in correcting the 
nonperformance which the Successful Bidder fails to meet pursuant to the requirements set out herein.  
In the event the Successful Bidder refuses to reimburse the County as set out in this provision, the 
County shall have the right to deduct such reimbursement amounts from any amounts that may be then 
owing or that may become owing in the future to the Successful Bidder.

4.10 PROPRIETARY INFORMATION AND THE TEXAS PUBLIC INFORMATION ACT

All material submitted to the County shall become public property and subject to the Texas Public 
Information Act upon receipt. If a Bidder does not desire proprietary information in the Bid to be 
disclosed, each page must be clearly identified and marked proprietary at time of submittal or, more 
preferably, all proprietary information may be placed in a folder or appendix and be clearly identified and 
marked as being proprietary.  Failure to clearly identify and mark information as being proprietary as set 
forth under this provision will result in all unmarked information being deemed non-proprietary and 
available to the public.  For all information that has not been clearly identified and marked as proprietary 
by the Bidder, the County may choose to place such information on the County ’s website and/or a similar 
public database without obtaining any type of prior consent from the Bidder.

The County will, to the extent allowed by law, endeavor to protect from public disclosure the information 
that has been identified and marked as proprietary.  The final decision as to what information must be 
disclosed, however, lies with the Texas Attorney General.  

To the extent, if any, that any provision in this IFB or in the Bidder ’s Bid is in conflict with Texas 
Government Code, Chapter 552, as amended (the “Public Information Act”), the same shall be of no 
force or effect.  Furthermore, it is expressly understood, and agreed, that the County, and its officers and 
employees, may request advice, decisions and opinions of the Attorney General of the State of Texas in 
regard to the application of the Public Information Act to any items or data furnished to the County as to 
whether or not the same are available to the public.  It is further understood that the County, and its 
officers and employees, shall have the right to rely on the advice, decisions and opinions of the Attorney 
General, and that the County, its officers and employees shall have no liability or obligation to any party 
hereto for the disclosure to the public, or to any person or persons, of any items or data furnished to the 
County by a party hereto, in reliance of any advice, decision or opinion of the Attorney General of the 
State of Texas.

4.11 RIGHT TO AUDIT

The Successful Bidder agrees that the County or its duly authorized representatives shall, until the 
expiration of three (3) years after termination or expiration of the services to be performed, have access 
to and the right to examine and photocopy any and all books, documents, papers and records of the 
Successful Bidder, which are directly pertinent to the services to be performed or goods to be delivered 
for the purposes of making audits, examinations, excerpts and transcriptions.  The Successful Bidder 
agrees that the County shall have access during normal working hours to all necessary facilities and 
shall be provided adequate and appropriate work space in order to conduct audits in compliance with the 
provisions of this section.  The County shall give the Successful Bidder reasonable advance notice of 
intended audits.

4.12 TESTING AND INSPECTIONS

The County reserves the right to inspect and test equipment, supplies, materials and goods for quality 
and compliance with this IFB, and ability to meet the needs of the user.  Demonstration units must be 
available for review.  Should the goods or services fail to meet requirements and/or be unavailable for 
evaluation, the County can deem the Bidder to be in breach and terminate the Contract and/or any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

4.13 BID PREPARATION COSTS

The cost of developing Bids is the sole responsibility of the Bidders and shall not be charged to the 
County.  There is no expressed or implied obligation for the County to reimburse the Bidders for any 
expense incurred in preparing a Bid in response to this IFB and the County will not reimburse the Bidders 
for such expenses.

4.14 INDEMNIFICATION

The Successful Bidder shall indemnify, defend and save harmless, the County, its officials, employees, 
agents and agent ’s employees from, and against, all claims, liability, and expenses including reasonable 
attorneys ’   fees, arising from activities of the Bidder, its agents, servants or employees, performed 
hereunder that result from the negligent act, error, or omission of the Bidder or any of the Bidder
agents, servants or employees, as well as all claims of loss or damage to the Bidder ’s and the County
property, equipment, and/or supplies. 

Furthermore, the County, its officials, employees, agents and agents ’ employees shall not be liable for 
damages to the Successful Bidder arising from any act of any third party, including, but not limited to, 
theft.  The Successful Bidder further agrees to indemnify, defend and save harmless, the County from its 
officials, employee, agents and agents ’ employees against all claims of whatever nature arising from any 
accident, injury, or damage whatsoever, caused to any person, or the property of any person, occurring 
in relation to the Successful Bidder ’s performance of any services requested hereunder during the term 
of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s). 

The Successful Bidder shall timely report all claims, demands, suits, actions, proceedings, liens or 
judgements to the County and shall, upon the receipt of any claim, demand, suit, action, proceeding, lien 

or judgement, not later than the fifteenth (15 th) day of each month; provide the County with a written 
report on each such matter, setting forth the status of each matter, the schedule or planned proceedings 
with respect to each matter and the cooperation or assistance, if any, of the County required by the 
Successful Bidder in the defense of each matter.  The Successful Bidder’s duty to defend, indemnify and 
hold the County harmless shall be absolute.  It shall not abate or end by reason of the expiration or 
termination of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s), unless otherwise agreed by the County in 
writing.  The provisions of this section shall survive the termination of the Contract and shall remain in full 
force and effect with respect to all such matters no matter when they arise. 

In the event of any dispute between the parties, as to whether a claim, demand, suit, action, proceeding, 
lien or judgement, that appears to have been caused by or appears to have arisen out of or in connection 
with acts or omissions of the County, the Bidder shall nevertheless fully defend such claim, demand, suit 
or action, proceeding, lien or judgement, until and unless there is a determination by a court of competent 
jurisdiction that the acts and omissions of the Bidder are not an issue in the matter. 

The Successful Bidder ’s indemnification shall cover, and the Successful Bidder agrees to, indemnify the 
County, in the event the County is found to have been negligent for having selected the Successful 
Bidder to perform the work described in this request.  The provision by the Successful Bidder of 
insurance shall not limit the liability of the Successful Bidder under the Contract and/or any Ensuing 
Agreement(s). 

4.15 WAIVER OF SUBROGATION

The Successful Bidder and the Successful Bidder ’s insurance carrier waive any and all rights 
whatsoever with regard to subrogation against the County as an indirect party to any suit arising out of 
personal or property damages resulting from the Bidder ’s performance under this Contract and any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

4.16 RELATIONSHIP OF THE PARTIES

The Successful Bidder shall be an independent contractor and shall assume all of the rights, obligations, 
liabilities, applicable to it as such independent contractor hereunder and any provisions herein which may 
appear to give the County the right to direct the Successful Bidder as to details of doing work herein 
covered, or to exercise a measure of control over the work, shall be deemed to mean that the Successful 
Bidder shall follow the desires of the County in the results of the work only.  The County shall not retain or 
have the right to control the Successful Bidder ’s means, methods or details pertaining to the Successful 
Bidder ’s performance of the work.  The County and the Successful Bidder hereby agree and declare that 
the Successful Bidder is an independent contractor and as such meets the qualifications of an 
“Independent Contractor” under Texas Workers Compensation Act, Texas Labor Code, Section 406.141, 
that the Successful Bidder is not an employee of  the County, and that the Successful Bidder and its 
employees, agents and subcontractors shall not be entitled to workers compensation coverage or any 
other type of insurance coverage held by the County.

4.17 SOLE PROVIDER

The Successful Bidder agrees and acknowledges that it shall not be considered a sole provider of the 
goods and/or services described herein and that the County may contract with other providers of such 
goods and/or services if the County deems, at its sole discretion, that multiple providers of the same 
goods and/or services will serve the best interest of the County.

4.18 FORCE MAJEURE

If the party obligated to perform is prevented from performance by an act of war, order of legal authority, 
act of God, or other unavoidable cause not attributable to the fault or negligence of said party, the other 
party shall grant such party relief from the performance.  The burden of proof for the need of such relief 
shall rest upon the party obligated to perform.  To obtain release based on force majeure, the party 
obligated to perform shall file a written request with the other party.

4.19 SEVERABILITY

If any provision of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be held invalid or 
unenforceable by any court of competent jurisdiction, such holding shall not invalidate or render 
unenforceable any other provision thereof, but rather the entire IFB, Contract or any Ensuing Agreement
(s) will be construed as if not containing the particular invalid or unenforceable provision or provisions, 
and the rights and obligation of the parties shall be construed and enforced in accordance therewith.  The 
parties acknowledge that if any provision of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) is 
determined to be invalid or unenforceable, it is the desire and intention of each that such provision be 
reformed and construed in such a manner that it will, to the maximum extent practicable, give effect to
the intent of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) and be deemed to be validated and
enforceable.

4.20 EQUAL OPPORTUNITY

Neither party shall discriminate against any employee or applicant for employment because of race, 
color, sex, religion or national origin.

4.21 NOTICE

Any notice to be given shall be in writing and may be distributed by personal delivery, or by registered or 
certified mail, return receipt requested, addressed to the proper party, at the following address:

The County:    Williamson County Purchasing Department 
            Attn: Purchasing Agent 
            901 South Austin Avenue 
            Georgetown, Texas 78626

The Bidder:     Address set out in Bidder’s Transmittal Letter.

Notices given in accordance with this provision shall be effective upon (1) receipt by the party to which 
notice is given, or (2) on the third (3rd) calendar day following mailing, whichever occurs first.

4.22 SALES AND USE TAX EXEMPTION

The County is a body, corporate and politic, under the laws of the State of Texas and claims exemption 
from sales and use taxes under Texas Tax Code, Section 151.309, as amended, and the services and/or 
goods subject hereof are being secured for use by the County.

4.23 COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS

The County and the Successful Bidder shall comply with all federal, state, and local laws, statutes,
ordinances, rules and regulations, and the orders and decrees of any courts or administrative bodies or 
tribunals in any matter affecting the performance of the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s),
including, without limitation, Workers ’ Compensation laws, salary and wage statutes and regulations, 
licensing laws and regulations.  When required, the Successful Bidder shall furnish the County with 
certification of compliance with said laws, statues, ordinances, rules, regulations, orders, and decrees 
above specified.

4.24 INCORPORATION OF EXHIBITS, APPENDICES AND ATTACHMENTS

All of the Exhibits, Appendices and Attachments referred to herein are incorporated by reference as if set 
forth verbatim herein.  Any conflicting terms in the Contract documents will be resolved at the sole 
discretion of the Commissioners Court.

4.25 NO WAIVER OF IMMUNITIES

Nothing herein shall be deemed to waive, modify or amend any legal defense available at law or in equity 
to the County, its past or present officers, employees, or agents, nor to create any legal rights or claim on 
behalf of any third party.  The County does not waive, modify, or alter to any extent whatsoever the 
availability of the defense of governmental immunity under the laws of the State of Texas and of the 
United States.

4.26 NO WAIVER

The failure or delay of any party to enforce at any time or any period of time any of the provisions of this 
IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall not constitute a present or future waiver of such 
provisions nor the right of either party to enforce each and every provision.  Furthermore, no term or 
provision hereof shall be deemed waived and no breach excused unless such waiver or consent shall be 
in writing and signed by the party claimed to have waived or consented.  Any consent by any party to, or 
waiver of, a breach by the other, whether expressed or implied, shall not constitute a consent to, waiver 
of or excuse for any other, different or subsequent breach.

4.27 CURRENT REVENUES

The obligations of the parties under the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) do not constitute a 
general obligation or indebtedness of the County for which the County is obligated to levy, pledge, or 
collect any of taxation.  It is understood and agreed that the County shall have the right to terminate the 
Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) at the end of any the County fiscal year if the governing body of 
the County does not appropriate sufficient funds as determined by the County ’s budget for the fiscal year 
in question.  The County may effect such termination by giving written notice of termination to the 
Successful Bidder at the end of its then-current fiscal year.

4.28 FOB DESTINATION

To the extent applicable to this IFB, all of the items listed are to be Free On Board to final destination 
(FOB Destination) with all transportation charges if applicable to be included in the Bid, unless otherwise 
specified in the Invitation for Bids.  The title and risk of loss of the goods shall not pass to the County until 
receipt and acceptance takes place at the FOB Destination point.

4.29 BINDING EFFECT

This Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties 
and their respective permitted assigns and successors.

4.30 ASSIGNMENT

The Successful Bidder ’s interest and duties hereunder may not be assigned or delegated to a third party 
without the express written consent of the County.

4.31 SAFETY

The Successful Bidder is responsible for initiating, maintaining, and supervising all safety precautions 
and programs in connection with any services to be provided hereunder. The safety program shall 
comply with all applicable requirements of the current federal Occupational Safety and Health Act and all 
other applicable federal, state and local laws and regulations.

4.32 GENERAL OBLIGATIONS AND RELIANCE

The Successful Bidder shall perform all services and/or provide all goods, as well as those reasonably
inferable and necessary for completion and provision of services and/or goods required hereunder. The
Successful Bidder shall keep the County informed of the progress and quality of the services.  The 
Successful Bidder agrees and acknowledges that the County is relying on the Successful Bidder's 
represented expertise and ability to provide the goods and/or services described herein.  The Successful
Bidder agrees to use its best efforts, skill, judgment, and abilities to perform its obligations in accordance
with the highest standards used in the profession and to further the interests of the County 
accordance with the County ’s requirements and procedures.    T h e   Successful Bidder ’s duties,
set forth herein, shall at no time be in any way diminished by reason of any approval by the County, nor
shall the Successful Bidder be released from any liability by reason of such approval by the County, it 
being understood that the County at all times is ultimately relying upon the Successful Bidder ’s skill and 
knowledge in performing the services and providing any goods required hereunder.

4.33 ESTIMATED QUANTITIES

To the extent applicable to this IFB, the estimated quantity of each item listed in this IFB is only
estimate; the actual quantity to be purchased may be more or less. The County is not obligated
purchase any minimum amount, and the County may purchase any reasonable amount greater than the
estimate for the same unit price. Any limit on quantities available must be stated expressly in the Bid.

4.34 CONTRACTUAL DEVELOPMENT

The contents of the IFB and the Successful Bidder ’s Bid will become an integral part of the Contract, but 
may be modified, at the County ’s sole discretion, by provisions of an Ensuing Agreement.  Therefore, the 
Bidder must agree to an inclusion of an Ensuing Agreement of the Bid specifications, terms and 
conditions of this IFB.  If an Ensuing Agreement is required under this IFB, information relative to the 
Agreement will be located in the Special Provisions Section of this IFB.

4.35 SURVIVABILITY 

All applicable agreements that were entered into between the Successful Bidder and the County, under 
the terms and conditions of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s), shall survive the expiration or 
termination thereof for ninety (90) days unless a new contract has been awarded.

The County may exercise, by written notice to the Successful Bidder no later than ten (10) calendar days 
of the Contract expiration, this clause for emergencies only. 

4.36 AIR QUALITY

In determining the overall best Bid, the County may, to the extent applicable, exercise the option granted 
to local governments under the Texas Local Government Code, Section 271.907.

This option allows the County to evaluate Bids and give preference to goods and/or services of a Bidder 
that demonstrates that the Bidder meets or exceeds any and all state or federal environmental 
standards, including voluntary standards, relating to air quality.  If the Bid being submitted will have an 
effect on air quality for the County (as it relates to any state, federal, or voluntary air quality standard), 
then the Bidder is encouraged to provide information in narrative indicating the anticipated air quality 
impact.  All Bidders are expected to meet all mandated state and federal air quality standards.

4.37 ENTIRE AGREEMENT

The Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall supersede all prior Agreements, written or oral 
between the Successful Bidder and the County and shall constitute the entire Agreement and 
understanding between the parties with respect to the services and/or goods to be provided.  Each of the 
provisions herein shall be binding upon the parties and may not be waived, modified, amended or altered, 
except by writing signed by the Successful Bidder and the County.

4.38 PAYMENT

The County ’s payment for goods and services shall be governed by the Texas Government Code, 

Chapter 2251.  An invoice shall be deemed overdue the thirty-first (31st) day after the later of the 
following: 

A. The date the County receives the goods under the Contract; 
B. The date the performance of the service under the Contract is completed; or 
C. The date the Williamson County Auditor receives an invoice for the goods or services.  

Interest charges for any overdue payments shall be paid by the County in accordance with Texas 
Government Code, Section 2251.025.  More specifically, the rate of interest that shall accrue on a late 
payment is the rate in effect on September 1 of the County ’s fiscal year in which the payment becomes 
due.  The said rate in effect on September 1 shall be equal to the sum of one (1) percent, and the prime 

rate published in the Wall Street Journal on the first (1st) day of July of the preceding fiscal year that does 
not fall on a Saturday or Sunday.

In the event that an error appears in an invoice submitted by the Successful Bidder, the County shall 
notify the Successful Bidder of the error not later than the twenty-first (21st) day after the date the County 
receives the invoice.  If the error is resolved in favor of the Successful Bidder, the Successful Bidder 
shall be entitled to receive interest on the unpaid balance of the invoice submitted by the Successful 
Bidder beginning on the date that the payment for the invoice became overdue.  If the error is resolved in 
favor of the County, the Successful Bidder shall submit a corrected invoice that must be paid in 
accordance within the time set forth above.  The unpaid balance accrues interest as provided by the 
Texas Government Code, Chapter 2251, if the corrected invoice is not paid by the appropriate date.

As a minimum, invoices shall include:

A. Name, address, and telephone number of the Successful Bidder and similar information in the 
event the payment is to be made to a different address. 

B. The County Contract, Purchase Order. 

C. Identification of items or service as outlined in the Contract. 

D. Quantity or quantities, applicable unit prices, total prices and total amount. 

E. Any additional payment information which may be called for by the Contract. 

Payment inquiries should be directed to the following address:        

            Williamson County Auditor’s Office, Accounts Payable Department
            Email: accountspayable@wilco.org
            Phone: 512-943-1500

4.39 CONTRACTUAL FORMATION AND ENSUING AGREEMENT

The IFB and the Bidder ’s Bid, when properly accepted by the Commissioners Court, shall constitute a
Contract equally binding between the Successful Bidder and the County.

If an Ensuing Agreement is required by this IFB, that information will be provided in Special 
Provisions section of this IFB.  The Successful Bidder shall be required to execute the Agreement at 
the Williamson County Purchasing Department approximately ten (10) calendar days after the 
Successful Bidder is notified of award.  The Ensuing Agreement shall be in the same form as the 
Agreement which is attached to the end of this IFB.  The only anticipated changes in the Ensuing 
Agreement will be to include additional exhibits, to fill in blanks to identify the Successful Bidder, and 
terms relating to the compensation, or to revise the Agreement to accommodate corrections, changes in 
the scope of services, or changes pursuant to Addenda issued.  Bidders should raise any questions 
regarding the terms of the Agreement in the form of written questions or submittals as 
described in the Public Announcement and General Information portion of this IFB.  Because the 
signed Ensuing Agreement will be substantively and substantially derived from the attached Agreement, 
each Bidder is urged to seek independent legal counsel as to any questions about the terms, conditions 
or provisions contained in the Agreement before submitting a Bid.  Again, the attached Agreement, if 
applicable, contains important legal provisions and is considered part and parcel of this IFB.  Failure or 
refusal to sign aforesaid Agreement shall be grounds for the County to revoke any award which has been 
issued, forfeit Bid security, if applicable, and select another Bidder.

4.40 COOPERATIVE PURCHASING PROGRAM 

During the term of the Contract resulting from this IFB, the County would like to afford the same prices, 
terms and conditions to other political subdivisions or public entities.  Another entity’s participation in the 
Contract resulting from this IFB is subject to a properly authorized Purchasing Cooperative Inter- local 
Agreement with the County.  Any liability created by purchase orders issued against the Contract shall be 
the sole responsibility of the governmental agency placing the order.

4.41 INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS

To the extent applicable Insurance information will appear in the Additional Stipulations section that is in 
this IFB Package. 

4.42 BIDDERS BOND, WARRANTY BOND, PERFORMANCE AND PAYMENT BONDS

To the extent applicable Bond information will appear in the Additional Stipulations section that is in this 
IFB Package. 

4.43 LEGAL LIABILITY INFORMATION

The Successful Bidder shall disclose all legal liability information by listing any pending litigation
anticipated litigation that your firm is involved in including, but not limited to, potential or actual legal
matters with private parties and any local, state, federal or international governmental entities. The
County reserves the right to consider legal liability information in the recommendation of any proposed 
contract to the Commissioners Court.

4.44 INCLEMENT WEATHER

In case of inclement weather or any other unforeseen event causing the County to close for business on 
the date of a Bid submission deadline, the Bid closing will automatically be postponed until the next 
business day the County is open.  If inclement weather conditions or any other unforeseen event causes 
delays in carrier service operations, the County may issue an Addendum to all known Bidders interested 
in the project to extend the deadline.  It will be the responsibility of the Bidder to notify the County of their 
interest in the project if these conditions are impacting their ability to turn in a submission within the 
stated deadline.  The County reserves the right to make the final judgement call to extend any deadline. 

4.45 PREVAILING WAGE RATES

To the extent this procurement is for the construction of a public work, including a building, highway, 
road, excavation, and repair work or other project development or improvement, paid for in whole or in 
part from public funds, without regard to whether the work is done under public supervision or direction, 
Texas Government Code, Chapter 2258, shall apply and the contractor shall pay not less than the wage 
scale of the various classes of labor as shown on the “Prevailing Wage Schedule” provided by the 
County. Pursuant to Texas Government Code, Section 2258.022(a)(2), the County has determined the 
general prevailing rate of the “Prevailing Wage Schedule”  in the locality in which the public work is to be 
performed for each craft or type of worker needed to execute the contract and the prevailing rate for legal 
holiday and overtime work by using the prevailing wage rate as determined by the United States 
Department of Labor in accordance with the United States Code, Section 276a (Davis-Bacon Act). 

The specified wage rates are minimum rates only, and are not representations that qualified labor 
adequate to perform the work is available locally at the prevailing wage rates. The County is not bound to 
pay—and will not consider—any claims for additional compensation made by any contractor because the 
contractor pays wages in excess of the applicable minimum rate contained in the Contract Documents. 
The “Prevailing Wage Schedule”  is not a representation that quantities of qualified labor adequate to 
perform the work may be found locally at the specified wage rates.

For classifications not shown, workers shall not be paid less than the wage indicated for laborers. The 
contractor shall notify each worker commencing work on the project the worker ’s job classification and 
the established minimum wage rate required to be paid, as well as the actual amount being paid. The 
notice must be delivered to and signed in acknowledgement of receipt by the employee and must list 
both the monetary wages and fringe benefits to be paid or furnished for each classification in which the 
worker is assigned duties. When requested by the County, competent evidence of compliance with the 
Texas Prevailing Wage Law shall be furnished by contractor. A copy of each worker wage rate 
notification shall be submitted to the County with the Application for Payment for the period during which 
the worker began on-site activities.

Should the contractor at any time become aware that a particular skill or trade not reflected on the 
County ’s “Prevailing Wage Schedule” will be or is being employed in the work, whether by the contractor 
or by a subcontractor, the contractor shall promptly inform the County and shall specify a wage rate for 
that skill or trade, which shall bind the contractor.

The contractor and any subcontractor shall pay to the County a penalty of sixty dollars ($60.00) for each 
worker employed for each calendar day, or portion thereof, that the worker is paid less than the wage 
rates stipulated in the “Prevailing Wage Schedule” or any supplement thereto. The contractor and each 
subcontractor shall keep, or cause to be kept, an accurate record showing the names and occupations 
of all workers employed in connection with the work, and showing the actual per diem wages paid to 
each worker, which records shall be open at all reasonable hours for the inspection by the County.

Within thirty-one (31) days of receipt of information concerning a violation of the Texas Government Code 
Chapter 2258, the County shall make an initial determination as to whether good cause exists to believe 
a violation occurred. The County ’s decision on the initial determination shall be reduced to writing and 
sent to the contractor or subcontractor against whom the violation was alleged, and to the affected 
worker. When a good cause finding is made, the County shall retain the full amounts claimed by the 
claimant or claimants as the difference between wages paid and wages due under the “Prevailing Wage 
Schedule” and any supplements thereto, together with the applicable penalties, such amounts being 
subtracted from successive progress payments pending a final decision on the violation.

After the County makes its initial determination, the affected contractor or subcontractor and worker have 
fourteen (14) calendar days in which to resolve the issue of whether a violation occurred, including the 
amount that should be retained by the County or paid to the affected worker. If the contractor or 
subcontractor and affected worker reach an agreement concerning the worker ’s claim, the contractor 
shall promptly notify the County in a written document signed by the worker. It the contractor or 

Subcontractor and affected worker do not agree before the fifteenth (15 th) calendar day after the County
determination, the contractor or subcontractor and affected worker must participate in binding arbitration 
in accordance with the Texas General Arbitration Act, Chapter 171, (Texas Civil Practice and Remedies 
Code). The parties to the arbitration have ten (10) calendar days after the expiration of the fifteen (15) 

calendar days referred to above, to agree on an arbitrator; if by the eleventh (11 th) calendar day there is 
no agreement to an arbitrator, a district court shall appoint an arbitrator on the petition of any of the 
parties to the arbitration.

If an arbitrator determines that a violation has occurred, the arbitrator shall assess and award against the 
contractor or subcontractor the amount of penalty as provided above and the amount owed the worker. 
The County may use any amounts retained hereunder to pay the worker the amount as designated in the 
arbitration award. If the County has not retained enough from the contractor or subcontractor to pay the 
worker in accordance with the arbitration award, the worker has a right of action against the contractor 
and subcontractor as appropriate, and the surety of either to receive the amount owed, attorneys ’  fees 
and court costs. The contractor shall promptly furnish a copy of the arbitration award to the County.

Money retained pursuant to the provisions above shall be used to pay the claimant or claimants the 
difference between the amount the worker received in wages for labor on the project at the rate paid by 
the contractor or subcontractor and the amount the worker would have received at the general prevailing 
wage rate as provided by the agreement of the claimant and the contractor or subcontractor affected, or 
in the arbitrator ’s award. The full statutory penalty of sixty dollars ($60.00) per calendar day of violation 
per worker shall be retained by Williamson County to offset its administrative costs, pursuant to Texas 
Government Code, Section, 2258.023. Any retained funds in excess of these amounts shall be paid to 
the contractor on the earlier of the next progress payment or final payment. Provided, however, that the 
County shall have no duty to release any funds to either the claimant or the contractor until it has 
received the notices of agreement or the arbitration award as provided under the provision herein-above.

4.46 CONFIDENTIALITY

The Bidder expressly agrees that it will not use any direct or incidental confidential information that may 
be obtained while working in a governmental setting for its own benefit, and agrees that it will not access 
unauthorized areas or confidential information and it will not disclose any information to unauthorized 
third parties, and will take care to guard the security of the information at all times.

Bid 1704-157Williamson County, Texas

4/7/2017 9:30 AM p. 19



5

6

3 4

Williamson County – Invitation for Bid (IFB)

SECTION 1 - DEFINITIONS 

Addendum/Addenda – means any written or graphic instruments issued by the County prior to the 
consideration of Bids which modify or interpret the Bid Documents by additions, deletions, clarifications, 
or corrections.

Agreement/Ensuing Agreement(s) – means the Successful Bidder may be required by the County to 
sign an additional Agreement containing terms necessary to ensure compliance with the IFB and the 
Bidder ’s Bid.  Such Ensuing Agreement(s) shall contain the Bid specifications, terms and conditions that 
are derived from the IFB.

Bid Documents – means the Legal Notice, IFB including attachments, and any Addenda issued by the 
County prior to the consideration of any Bids.

Bid – means the completed and signed bid form, (sometimes referred to as the Price Sheet), and ALL 
required forms and documentation listed in the IFB package which have been submitted in accordance 
with the terms and conditions described in the IFB package.  A Bid submitted in accordance with this IFB 
is irrevocable during the specified period for evaluation and acceptance of Bids unless a waiver is 
obtained from the Williamson County Purchasing Agent.

Bidder – means a person or entity who submits a Bid in response to this IFB.

Contract – means this IFB and the Bid of the Successful Bidder shall become a Contract between the 
Successful Bidder and the County once the Successful Bidder ’s Bid is properly accepted by the 
Williamson County Commissioners Court.

Commissioner ’s Court – means the Williamson County Commissioners Court. 

County – means Williamson County, a political subdivision of the State of Texas.

Invitation for Bid (IFB) – means this document, together with the attachments thereto and any future 
Addenda issued by the County.

Successful Bidder – means the liable Bidder to whom the County intends to award the Contract.

SECTION 2 - BID FORMAT AND SUBMISSION

2.1 ORGANIZATION OF BID CONTENTS FOR SUBMITTAL 

Each Bid should be organized and items submitted in the order described below: 

A. Transmittal Letter. Please see Section 2.3, Transmittal Letter, for more information. 

B. Price Sheet.

C. Conflict of Interest Questionnaire. Please see Section 2.2, Conflict of Interest, for more 
information in regards to this. Please note that even if you deem there to be no Conflict of Interest, 
this signed questionnaire must be included in your package. 

D. References. Please see Section 3.15, References, for more information. 

E. Bid Affidavit.

F. Form 1295. Please see Section 2.4, Certificate of Interested Parties – Form 1295. 

2.2 CONFLICT OF INTEREST

No public official shall have interest in a Contract, in accordance with Vernon ’s Texas Codes Annotated, 
Local Government Code, Title 5, Subtitle C, Chapter 171, as amended. 

As of January 1, 2006, all Bidders are responsible for complying with Local Government Code, Title 5, 
Subtitle C, Chapter 176.  Additional information may be obtained from the County’s website at the 
following link: 

http://www.wilco.org/CountyDepartments/Purchasing/ConflictofInterestDisclosure/tabid/689/language/en
US/Default.aspx

Each Bidder must disclose any existing or potential conflict of interest relative to the performance of the 
requirements of this IFB.  Examples of potential conflicts of interest may include an existing 
business or personal relationship between the Bidder, its principal, or any affiliate or 
subcontractor with the County or any other entity or person involved in any way with the project 
that is subject to this IFB .  Similarly, any personal or business relationship between the Bidder, the 

principals, or any affiliate or subcontractor with any employee, or official of the County or its suppliers 
must be disclosed.  Any such relationship that might be perceived or represented as a conflict must be 
disclosed. Failure to disclose any such relationship or reveal personal relationships with the County 
employees or officials may be cause for termination. 

The County will decide if an actual or perceived conflict should result in Bid disqualification. 

By submitting a Bid in response to this IFB, all Bidders affirm they have not given, nor intend to give, at 
any time hereafter, any economic opportunity, future employment, gift, loan, gratuity, special discount, 
trip, favor, or service to a the County public servant or any employee, official or representative of same, in 
connection with this procurement. 

Each Bidder must provide a Conflict of Interest Statement with their Bid Package.  Package may 

be deemed incomplete without this form.  

2.3 TRANSMITTAL LETTER

The Bidder should submit a Transmittal Letter that provides the following information: 

A. Name and address of individual or business entity submitting the Bid. 

B. Name, physical address, email address, business and fax number of the Bidder ’s principal 
contact person regarding all contractual matters relating to this IFB.

C. The Bid ’s Federal Employer Identification Number.

D. If the Proposal being submitted will have an effect on air quality for the County (as it relates to any 
state, federal, or voluntary air quality standard), then the Respondent is encouraged to provide
information in narrative indicating the anticipated air quality impact. See Section 4.36, Air Quality 
for more information. 

2.4 CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PARTIES – FORM 1295

As of January 1, 2016, all Successful Bidders are responsible for complying with the Texas Government 
Code, Section 2252.908.  The law states that the County may not enter into certain contracts with a 
Bidder unless the Bidder submits a disclosure of interested parties to the County at the time the Bidder 
submits the signed Contract.  The law applies only to a Contract of the County on or after January 1, 
2016 that either:

A. Requires an action or vote by the Commissioners Court before the Contract may be signed (all 
contracts that fall under the jurisdiction of the Commissioners Court approval, such as contracts 
resulting from an Initiation for Bid (IFB), RFP, Request for Qualifications (RFQ), etc., excluding, 
but not limited to, certain Juvenile Service contracts, contracts funded with Sheriff ’s seized fun 
monies, etc.); or

B. Has a value of at least $1,000,000. 

By January 1, 2016, the Texas Ethics Commission will make available on its website, a new filing 
application that must be used to file Form 1295.  Information regarding how to use the filing application is 
available on the Texas Ethics Commission website at the following link:

https://www.ethics.state.tx.us/whatsnew/elf_info_form1295.htm

A Respondent must:

A. Use the online application to process the required information on Form 1295.

B. Print a copy of the form which will contain a unique certification number.

C. An authorized agent of the Bidder must sign the printed copy of the form.

D. Have the form notarized.

E. File the completed Form 1295 and certification of filing (scanning and emailing form is sufficient) 
with Williamson County Purchasing Agent at the time the signed Contract is submitted for 
approval.

After the Commissioners Court award of the Contract, the County shall notify the Texas Ethics 
Commission, using the Texas Ethics Commission ’s filing application, of the receipt of the filed Form 
1295 and certification of filing not later than the 30th day after the date the Contract binds all parties to the 
Contract. The Texas Ethics Commission will post the completed Form 1295 to its website within seven 
business days after receiving notice from the County.

2.5 ETHICS

The Bidder shall not accept or offer gifts or anything of value nor enter into any business arrangement 
with any employee, official or agent of the County.

2.6 BID SUBMITTAL DEADLINE

The Bid is due no later than the submittal date and time set forth in the Public Announcement and 
General Information listed in this IFB package.  Contents of each Bid shall be submitted in accordance 
with this IFB.

2.7 DELIVERY OF BIDS

The County uses BidSync to distribute and receive Bids and proposals.  It is preferred that Bids
submitted electronically through BidSync; however, Bidders can submit a hard copy.  

Refer to www.bidsync.com for further information on how to submit electronically.

If mailed or delivered in person, Bids and Bid Addenda are to be delivered in sealed envelope on or before
the submittal deadline, as noted in the Public Announcement and General Information listed in this IFB 
package, to:

            Williamson County Purchasing Department
            Attn: Bid Name and Number
            901 South Austin Avenue
            Georgetown, Texas 78626

Also, all Bidders should list their Name and Address, and the Date of the Bid opening on the outside
the box or envelope and note “Sealed Bid Enclosed.” The County will not accept any Bids received after 
the submittal deadline, and shall return such Bids unopened to the Bidder.  The County will not accept 
any responsibility for Bids being delivered by third party carriers.  

Bids will be opened publically and the names of Bidders and pricing will be read aloud.

SECTION 3 - INSTRUCTIONS AND GENERAL REQUIREMENTS

3.1 INSTRUCTIONS

Read this document carefully, and follow all instructions and requirements.  All Bidders are responsible 
for fulfilling all requirements and specifications.  Be sure to have a clear understanding of this IFB.

General requirements apply to all advertised IFBs; however, these may be superseded, in whole or in 
part, by the bid specifications, Addenda and modifications issued as a part of this IFB.  Be sure your Bid 
package is complete.

3.2 AMBIGUITY, CONFLICT, OR OTHER ERRORS IN THIS IFB

If a Bidder discovers any ambiguity, conflict, discrepancy, omission or other error in this IFB, the Bidder 
shall immediately notify the County Purchasing Department of such error in writing and request
modification or clarification of the document.

Modifications will be made by issuing Addenda. If the Bidder fails to notify the County prior to the date
and time fixed for submission of Bids of an error or ambiguity in the IFB known to the Bidder, or an error
or ambiguity that reasonably should have been known to the Bidder, then the Bidder shall be deemed to 
have waived the error or ambiguity or its later resolution.

The County may also modify the IFB, no later than forty-eight (48) hours prior to the date and time fixed
for submission of Bids, by issuance of an Addendum.  All Addenda will be numbered consecutively, 
beginning with one (1).

3.3 NOTIFICATION OF MOST CURRENT ADDRESS

All Bidders in receipt of this IFB shall notify the Williamson County Purchasing Department of any
address changes, contact person changes, and/or telephone number changes no later than forty-eight 
(48) hours prior to the date and time fixed for submission of Bids.

3.4 SIGNATURE OF BIDDER

A. If the Bidder is a Corporation or Limited Liability Company, the legal name of the Corporation
Limited Liability Company shall be provided together with the signature of the officer or officers 
authorized to sign on behalf of such entity.

B. If the Bidder is a General Partnership, the true name of the firm shall be provided with the
signature of each partner authorized to sign.

C. If the Bidder is a Limited Partnership, the name of the Limited Partner ’s General Partner shall
provided with the signature of the officer authorized to sign on behalf of the General Partner.

D. If the Bidder is a Sole Proprietor(s) (individual), each Sole Proprietor(s) shall sign.

E. If signature is by an agent, other than the Sole Proprietor(s) or an officer of a Corporation, Limited 
Liability Company, General Partner or a member of a General Partnership, a power of attorney
equivalent document must be submitted to the Williamson County Purchasing Department.

3.5 ASSUMED BUSINESS NAME

If the Bidder operates business under an Assumed Business Name, the Bidder must have on file with the
Williamson County Clerk a current Assumed Name Certificate and provide a file marked copy of same.

3.6 BID OBLIGATION 

The contents of the IFB, Bid, and any clarification thereof submitted by the Successful Bidder shall
become part of the contractual obligation and incorporated by reference into the Contract and any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

3.7 COMPLIANCE WITH IFB SPECIFICATIONS

It is intended that this IFB describe the requirements and the Bid format in sufficient detail to secure 
comparable Bids.  Failure to comply with all provisions of the IFB may, at the sole discretion of the 
County, result in disqualification.

3.8 WITHDRAWAL OF BID

The Bidder may withdraw its Bid by submitting a written request with the company letterhead and the 
signature of an authorized individual, as described in Section 3.4, Signature of Bidder, to the Williamson 
County Purchasing Department any time prior to the submission deadline.  

The Bidder may submit a new Bid prior to the deadline. Alterations of the Bid in any manner will not be 
considered if submitted after the deadline.  Withdrawal of a Bid after the deadline will be subject to written 
approval of the Williamson County Purchasing Agent.

3.9 EVALUATION AND AWARD

The County reserves the right to use all pertinent information (also learned from sources other than 
disclosed in the Bid process) that might affect the County ’s judgment as to the appropriateness of
award to the lowest and best evaluated Bid. This information may be appended to the Bid evaluation
process results. Information on a Bidder from reliable sources, and not within the Bidder ’s Bid, may also 
be noted and made part of the evaluation fi le.  The County shall have sole discretion for determining 
the reliability of the source.

To ensure the proper and fair evaluation of a solicitation, the County prohibits unsolicited communication 
initiated by the Bidder to the County Official or Employee evaluating or considering the Bids prior to the 
time an award has been made. Unsolicited communication may be ground for disqualifying the 
offending Bidder from consideration or award of the solicitation, or any future solicitation.

Communication between the Bidder and the County will be initiated by the appropriate County Official
Employee in order to obtain information or clarification needed to develop a proper and accurate 
evaluation of the solicitation.

The County intends to award a Contract to the most responsible and responsive Bidder whose Bid will 
be most advantageous to the County. In accordance with Texas Government Code and Local
Government Code, the County may consider, to the extent allowed by law, the following:

A. Price;
B. The Bidder ’s experience and reputation;
C. Quality of the Bidder ’s goods and/or services; 
D. The Bidder ’s safety record;
E. The Bidder ’s proposed personnel; 
F. The Bidder ’s financial capabilities; and 
G. Any other relevant factors specifically listed in this IFB or authorized by law.

3.10 CONDISERATION OF LOCATION OF PRINCIPAL OFFICE 

Pursuant to Texas Local Government Code, Section 271.905 , in purchasing any real property or personal
property that is not affixed to real property, if the County receives one or more Bids from a Bidder whose
principal place of business is in Williamson County and whose Bid is within three (3 )  percent of the
lowest Bid price received by the County from a Bidder who is not a resident of Williamson County, the 
County may enter into a contract with:

A. The lowest Bidder; or the Bidder whose principal place of business is in Williamson County if the
Commissioners Court determines, in writing, that the local Bidder offers the County the best 
combination of contract price and addit ional economic development opportunities
Williamson County created by the contract award, including the employment of residents
Williamson County and increased tax revenues to Williamson County.

It is understood that the Commissioners Court of Williamson County, Texas, reserves the right to accept
or reject any and/or all Bids for any or all goods and/or services covered in this IFB, and to waive
informalities or defects in the Bid or to accept such Bid, if it shall deem to be in the best interest of the 
County.

Awards should be made approximately sixty (60) business days after the Bid opening date. Results may
be obtained by viewing the Williamson County vendor portal at the following link:

http://www.wilco.org/CountyDepartments/Purchasing/SearchforaPastBid/tabid/5213/language/en-
US/Default.aspx

3.11 RESPONSIBILITY 

It is expected that a prospective Bidder will be able to affirmatively demonstrate responsibility.  A 
prospective Bidder should be able to meet the following requirements:

A. Have adequate financial resources, or the ability to obtain such resources as required;
B. Be able to comply with the required or proposed delivery schedule;
C. Have a satisfactory record of performance that can be determined thru references provided; and 
D. Be otherwise qualified and eligible to receive an award.

The County may request representation and other information sufficient to determine the Bidder's ability 
to meet these minimum standards listed above.

3.12 FIRM PRICING 

For unit price items, all of the items listed are to be on a “per unit” basis, stating a firm price per unit or 
unit quantity of each item.  The Bidder must submit a firm price that must be good from the date of Bid 
opening for the fixed period of time set out in this IFB.  Unless the IFB expressly states otherwise, this 
period shall be until the end of the Initial Contract Period.

Bids which do not state a fixed price, or which are subject to change without notice, will not be 
considered.  The Court may award a Contract for the period implied or expressly stated in the lowest and 
best Bid.

3.13 PURCHASE ORDERS

If required by the Williamson County Purchasing Department, a purchase order(s) may be generated to 
the Successful Bidder for goods and/or services.  If a purchase order is issued, the purchase order 
number must appear on all itemized invoices and/or requests for payment.

3.14 SILENCE OF SPECIFICATIONS

The apparent silence of these specifications as to any detail or to the apparent omission from it of a 
detailed description concerning any point, shall be regarded as meaning that only the best practices are 
to prevail.  All interpretations of these specifications shall be made on the basis of this statement.

3.15 REFERENCES

The County may require the Bidder to supply a list of at least three (3) references where like services
and/or goods have been supplied by their firm within the past five (5) years, to include names, titles, 
phone numbers and email addresses of key personnel, and dates of performance.

The County may contact some or all of the references in order to determine the Respondent
performance record on work similar to that described in this RFP.  The County reserves the right to 
contact references other than those provided in the response and to use the information gained from 
them in the evaluation process.

References, if requested, should be provided in accordance with this IFB.  Bid may not be deemed 
complete without the inclusion of requested references.

SECTION 4 - TERMS AND CONDITIONS

4.1 VENUE AND GOVERNING LAW

The Bidder hereby agrees and acknowledges that venue and jurisdiction of any suit, right, or cause of 
action arising out of or in connection with this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s), shall lie 
exclusively in either Williamson County, Texas or in the Austin Division of the Western Federal District of 
Texas, and the parties hereto expressly consent and submit to such jurisdiction.  Furthermore, except to 
the extent that this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) is governed by the laws of the United 
States, this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be governed by and construed in 
accordance with the laws of the State of Texas, excluding, however, its choice of law rules.

4.2 INCORPORATION BY REFERENCE AND PRECEDENCE

A. The Contract shall be derived from the IFB and its Addenda (if applicable), and the Bidder ’ s Bid.  In 
the event of a dispute under the Contract, applicable documents will be referred to for the purpose 
of clarification or for additional detail in the following order of precedence:

1. The IFB and its Addenda (if applicable); and

2. The Bidder ’s Bid.

B. In the event the County requires that an Ensuing Agreement be executed following award and a 
dispute arises between the terms and conditions of the Ensuing Agreement, the IFB and its 
Addenda (if applicable), and the Bidder ’s Bid, applicable documents will be referred to for the 
purpose of clarification or for additional detail in the following order of precedence: 

1. Terms and conditions of the Ensuing Agreement;

2. The IFB its Addenda; and 

3. The Bidder ’s Bid.

4.3 OWNERSHIP OF BID

Each Bid shall become the property of the County upon submittal and will not be returned to Bidders 
unless received after the submittal deadline.

4.4 DISQUALIFICATION OF BIDDER

Upon signing and submittal of the Bid, a Bidder offering to sell supplies, materials, services, or equipment 
to the County, certifies that the Bidder has not violated the antitrust laws of the State of Texas codified in 
Business & Commerce Code, Section 15.01, or the Federal Antitrust Laws, and has not communicated 
directly or indirectly the offer made to any competitor or any other person engaged in such line of 
business.  Any or all Bids may be rejected if the County believes that collusion exists among the Bidders.

4.5 FUNDING

The County intends to budget and make sufficient funds available and authorize funds for expenditure to 
finance the costs of the Contract.  All Bidders understand and agree that the County’s payment of 
amounts under the Contract shall be contingent on the County receiving appropriations or other 
expenditure authority sufficient to allow the County, in the exercise of reasonable administrative 
discretion, to make payments under this Contract.

4.6 ASSIGNMENT, SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS 

The Successful Bidder may not assign, sell, or otherwise transfer the Contract or any other rights or 
interests obtained under the Contract without written permission of the Commissioners Court.  The 
Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the contracting 
parties hereto and their respective successors and permitted assigns.

4.7 IMPLIED REQUIREMENTS

Products or services not specifically described or required in the IFB, but are necessary to provide the 
functional capabilities described by the Bidder, shall be implied and deemed to be included in the Bid.

4.8 TERMINATION

A. Termination for Cause: The County reserves the right to terminate the Contract and/or any 
Ensuing Agreement(s) for default if the Successful Bidder breaches any of the Bid specifications,
terms and conditions, including warranties of the Bidder, if any, or if the Successful Bidder 
becomes insolvent or commits acts of bankruptcy.  Such right of termination is in addition to and
not in lieu of any other remedies the County may have at law or in equity or as may otherwise
provided hereunder.  Default may be construed as, but not limited to, failure to deliver the proper 
goods and/or services within the proper amount of time, and/or to properly perform any and all 
other requirements to the County ’s satisfaction, and/or to meet all other obligations and
requirements.

B. Termination for Convenience: The County may terminate the Contract and/or any Ensuing 
Agreement(s) for convenience and without cause or further liability, upon no less than thirty (30) 
calendar days written notice to the Successful Bidder. The County reserves the right to extend 
this period if it is in the best interest of the County.  In the event the County exercises its right to 
terminate without cause, it is understood and agreed that only the amounts due to the Successful 
Bidder for goods, commodities and/or services provided and expenses incurred to and including 
the date of termination, will be due and payable.  No penalty will be assessed for the County
termination for convenience.

4.9 NON-PERFORMANCE

It is the objective of the County to obtain complete and satisfactory performance of the requirements set 
forth herein.  In addition to any other remedies available at law, in equity or that may be set out herein, 
failure to perform may result in a deduction of payment equal to the amount of the goods and/or services 
that were not provided and/or performed to the County ’s satisfaction.  

In the event of such non-performance, the County shall have the right, but shall not be obligated, to 
complete the services itself or by others and/or purchase the goods from other sources.  If the County 
elects to acquire the goods or perform the services itself or by others, pursuant to the foregoing, the 
Successful Bidder shall reimburse the County, within ten (10) calendar days of demand, for all costs 
incurred by the County (including, without limitation, applicable, general, and administrative expenses, 
and field overhead, and the cost of necessary equipment, materials, and field labor) in correcting the 
nonperformance which the Successful Bidder fails to meet pursuant to the requirements set out herein.  
In the event the Successful Bidder refuses to reimburse the County as set out in this provision, the 
County shall have the right to deduct such reimbursement amounts from any amounts that may be then 
owing or that may become owing in the future to the Successful Bidder.

4.10 PROPRIETARY INFORMATION AND THE TEXAS PUBLIC INFORMATION ACT

All material submitted to the County shall become public property and subject to the Texas Public 
Information Act upon receipt. If a Bidder does not desire proprietary information in the Bid to be 
disclosed, each page must be clearly identified and marked proprietary at time of submittal or, more 
preferably, all proprietary information may be placed in a folder or appendix and be clearly identified and 
marked as being proprietary.  Failure to clearly identify and mark information as being proprietary as set 
forth under this provision will result in all unmarked information being deemed non-proprietary and 
available to the public.  For all information that has not been clearly identified and marked as proprietary 
by the Bidder, the County may choose to place such information on the County ’s website and/or a similar 
public database without obtaining any type of prior consent from the Bidder.

The County will, to the extent allowed by law, endeavor to protect from public disclosure the information 
that has been identified and marked as proprietary.  The final decision as to what information must be 
disclosed, however, lies with the Texas Attorney General.  

To the extent, if any, that any provision in this IFB or in the Bidder ’s Bid is in conflict with Texas 
Government Code, Chapter 552, as amended (the “Public Information Act”), the same shall be of no 
force or effect.  Furthermore, it is expressly understood, and agreed, that the County, and its officers and 
employees, may request advice, decisions and opinions of the Attorney General of the State of Texas in 
regard to the application of the Public Information Act to any items or data furnished to the County as to 
whether or not the same are available to the public.  It is further understood that the County, and its 
officers and employees, shall have the right to rely on the advice, decisions and opinions of the Attorney 
General, and that the County, its officers and employees shall have no liability or obligation to any party 
hereto for the disclosure to the public, or to any person or persons, of any items or data furnished to the 
County by a party hereto, in reliance of any advice, decision or opinion of the Attorney General of the 
State of Texas.

4.11 RIGHT TO AUDIT

The Successful Bidder agrees that the County or its duly authorized representatives shall, until the 
expiration of three (3) years after termination or expiration of the services to be performed, have access 
to and the right to examine and photocopy any and all books, documents, papers and records of the 
Successful Bidder, which are directly pertinent to the services to be performed or goods to be delivered 
for the purposes of making audits, examinations, excerpts and transcriptions.  The Successful Bidder 
agrees that the County shall have access during normal working hours to all necessary facilities and 
shall be provided adequate and appropriate work space in order to conduct audits in compliance with the 
provisions of this section.  The County shall give the Successful Bidder reasonable advance notice of 
intended audits.

4.12 TESTING AND INSPECTIONS

The County reserves the right to inspect and test equipment, supplies, materials and goods for quality 
and compliance with this IFB, and ability to meet the needs of the user.  Demonstration units must be 
available for review.  Should the goods or services fail to meet requirements and/or be unavailable for 
evaluation, the County can deem the Bidder to be in breach and terminate the Contract and/or any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

4.13 BID PREPARATION COSTS

The cost of developing Bids is the sole responsibility of the Bidders and shall not be charged to the 
County.  There is no expressed or implied obligation for the County to reimburse the Bidders for any 
expense incurred in preparing a Bid in response to this IFB and the County will not reimburse the Bidders 
for such expenses.

4.14 INDEMNIFICATION

The Successful Bidder shall indemnify, defend and save harmless, the County, its officials, employees, 
agents and agent ’s employees from, and against, all claims, liability, and expenses including reasonable 
attorneys ’   fees, arising from activities of the Bidder, its agents, servants or employees, performed 
hereunder that result from the negligent act, error, or omission of the Bidder or any of the Bidder
agents, servants or employees, as well as all claims of loss or damage to the Bidder ’s and the County
property, equipment, and/or supplies. 

Furthermore, the County, its officials, employees, agents and agents ’ employees shall not be liable for 
damages to the Successful Bidder arising from any act of any third party, including, but not limited to, 
theft.  The Successful Bidder further agrees to indemnify, defend and save harmless, the County from its 
officials, employee, agents and agents ’ employees against all claims of whatever nature arising from any 
accident, injury, or damage whatsoever, caused to any person, or the property of any person, occurring 
in relation to the Successful Bidder ’s performance of any services requested hereunder during the term 
of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s). 

The Successful Bidder shall timely report all claims, demands, suits, actions, proceedings, liens or 
judgements to the County and shall, upon the receipt of any claim, demand, suit, action, proceeding, lien 

or judgement, not later than the fifteenth (15 th) day of each month; provide the County with a written 
report on each such matter, setting forth the status of each matter, the schedule or planned proceedings 
with respect to each matter and the cooperation or assistance, if any, of the County required by the 
Successful Bidder in the defense of each matter.  The Successful Bidder’s duty to defend, indemnify and 
hold the County harmless shall be absolute.  It shall not abate or end by reason of the expiration or 
termination of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s), unless otherwise agreed by the County in 
writing.  The provisions of this section shall survive the termination of the Contract and shall remain in full 
force and effect with respect to all such matters no matter when they arise. 

In the event of any dispute between the parties, as to whether a claim, demand, suit, action, proceeding, 
lien or judgement, that appears to have been caused by or appears to have arisen out of or in connection 
with acts or omissions of the County, the Bidder shall nevertheless fully defend such claim, demand, suit 
or action, proceeding, lien or judgement, until and unless there is a determination by a court of competent 
jurisdiction that the acts and omissions of the Bidder are not an issue in the matter. 

The Successful Bidder ’s indemnification shall cover, and the Successful Bidder agrees to, indemnify the 
County, in the event the County is found to have been negligent for having selected the Successful 
Bidder to perform the work described in this request.  The provision by the Successful Bidder of 
insurance shall not limit the liability of the Successful Bidder under the Contract and/or any Ensuing 
Agreement(s). 

4.15 WAIVER OF SUBROGATION

The Successful Bidder and the Successful Bidder ’s insurance carrier waive any and all rights 
whatsoever with regard to subrogation against the County as an indirect party to any suit arising out of 
personal or property damages resulting from the Bidder ’s performance under this Contract and any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

4.16 RELATIONSHIP OF THE PARTIES

The Successful Bidder shall be an independent contractor and shall assume all of the rights, obligations, 
liabilities, applicable to it as such independent contractor hereunder and any provisions herein which may 
appear to give the County the right to direct the Successful Bidder as to details of doing work herein 
covered, or to exercise a measure of control over the work, shall be deemed to mean that the Successful 
Bidder shall follow the desires of the County in the results of the work only.  The County shall not retain or 
have the right to control the Successful Bidder ’s means, methods or details pertaining to the Successful 
Bidder ’s performance of the work.  The County and the Successful Bidder hereby agree and declare that 
the Successful Bidder is an independent contractor and as such meets the qualifications of an 
“Independent Contractor” under Texas Workers Compensation Act, Texas Labor Code, Section 406.141, 
that the Successful Bidder is not an employee of  the County, and that the Successful Bidder and its 
employees, agents and subcontractors shall not be entitled to workers compensation coverage or any 
other type of insurance coverage held by the County.

4.17 SOLE PROVIDER

The Successful Bidder agrees and acknowledges that it shall not be considered a sole provider of the 
goods and/or services described herein and that the County may contract with other providers of such 
goods and/or services if the County deems, at its sole discretion, that multiple providers of the same 
goods and/or services will serve the best interest of the County.

4.18 FORCE MAJEURE

If the party obligated to perform is prevented from performance by an act of war, order of legal authority, 
act of God, or other unavoidable cause not attributable to the fault or negligence of said party, the other 
party shall grant such party relief from the performance.  The burden of proof for the need of such relief 
shall rest upon the party obligated to perform.  To obtain release based on force majeure, the party 
obligated to perform shall file a written request with the other party.

4.19 SEVERABILITY

If any provision of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be held invalid or 
unenforceable by any court of competent jurisdiction, such holding shall not invalidate or render 
unenforceable any other provision thereof, but rather the entire IFB, Contract or any Ensuing Agreement
(s) will be construed as if not containing the particular invalid or unenforceable provision or provisions, 
and the rights and obligation of the parties shall be construed and enforced in accordance therewith.  The 
parties acknowledge that if any provision of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) is 
determined to be invalid or unenforceable, it is the desire and intention of each that such provision be 
reformed and construed in such a manner that it will, to the maximum extent practicable, give effect to
the intent of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) and be deemed to be validated and
enforceable.

4.20 EQUAL OPPORTUNITY

Neither party shall discriminate against any employee or applicant for employment because of race, 
color, sex, religion or national origin.

4.21 NOTICE

Any notice to be given shall be in writing and may be distributed by personal delivery, or by registered or 
certified mail, return receipt requested, addressed to the proper party, at the following address:

The County:    Williamson County Purchasing Department 
            Attn: Purchasing Agent 
            901 South Austin Avenue 
            Georgetown, Texas 78626

The Bidder:     Address set out in Bidder’s Transmittal Letter.

Notices given in accordance with this provision shall be effective upon (1) receipt by the party to which 
notice is given, or (2) on the third (3rd) calendar day following mailing, whichever occurs first.

4.22 SALES AND USE TAX EXEMPTION

The County is a body, corporate and politic, under the laws of the State of Texas and claims exemption 
from sales and use taxes under Texas Tax Code, Section 151.309, as amended, and the services and/or 
goods subject hereof are being secured for use by the County.

4.23 COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS

The County and the Successful Bidder shall comply with all federal, state, and local laws, statutes,
ordinances, rules and regulations, and the orders and decrees of any courts or administrative bodies or 
tribunals in any matter affecting the performance of the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s),
including, without limitation, Workers ’ Compensation laws, salary and wage statutes and regulations, 
licensing laws and regulations.  When required, the Successful Bidder shall furnish the County with 
certification of compliance with said laws, statues, ordinances, rules, regulations, orders, and decrees 
above specified.

4.24 INCORPORATION OF EXHIBITS, APPENDICES AND ATTACHMENTS

All of the Exhibits, Appendices and Attachments referred to herein are incorporated by reference as if set 
forth verbatim herein.  Any conflicting terms in the Contract documents will be resolved at the sole 
discretion of the Commissioners Court.

4.25 NO WAIVER OF IMMUNITIES

Nothing herein shall be deemed to waive, modify or amend any legal defense available at law or in equity 
to the County, its past or present officers, employees, or agents, nor to create any legal rights or claim on 
behalf of any third party.  The County does not waive, modify, or alter to any extent whatsoever the 
availability of the defense of governmental immunity under the laws of the State of Texas and of the 
United States.

4.26 NO WAIVER

The failure or delay of any party to enforce at any time or any period of time any of the provisions of this 
IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall not constitute a present or future waiver of such 
provisions nor the right of either party to enforce each and every provision.  Furthermore, no term or 
provision hereof shall be deemed waived and no breach excused unless such waiver or consent shall be 
in writing and signed by the party claimed to have waived or consented.  Any consent by any party to, or 
waiver of, a breach by the other, whether expressed or implied, shall not constitute a consent to, waiver 
of or excuse for any other, different or subsequent breach.

4.27 CURRENT REVENUES

The obligations of the parties under the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) do not constitute a 
general obligation or indebtedness of the County for which the County is obligated to levy, pledge, or 
collect any of taxation.  It is understood and agreed that the County shall have the right to terminate the 
Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) at the end of any the County fiscal year if the governing body of 
the County does not appropriate sufficient funds as determined by the County ’s budget for the fiscal year 
in question.  The County may effect such termination by giving written notice of termination to the 
Successful Bidder at the end of its then-current fiscal year.

4.28 FOB DESTINATION

To the extent applicable to this IFB, all of the items listed are to be Free On Board to final destination 
(FOB Destination) with all transportation charges if applicable to be included in the Bid, unless otherwise 
specified in the Invitation for Bids.  The title and risk of loss of the goods shall not pass to the County until 
receipt and acceptance takes place at the FOB Destination point.

4.29 BINDING EFFECT

This Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties 
and their respective permitted assigns and successors.

4.30 ASSIGNMENT

The Successful Bidder ’s interest and duties hereunder may not be assigned or delegated to a third party 
without the express written consent of the County.

4.31 SAFETY

The Successful Bidder is responsible for initiating, maintaining, and supervising all safety precautions 
and programs in connection with any services to be provided hereunder. The safety program shall 
comply with all applicable requirements of the current federal Occupational Safety and Health Act and all 
other applicable federal, state and local laws and regulations.

4.32 GENERAL OBLIGATIONS AND RELIANCE

The Successful Bidder shall perform all services and/or provide all goods, as well as those reasonably
inferable and necessary for completion and provision of services and/or goods required hereunder. The
Successful Bidder shall keep the County informed of the progress and quality of the services.  The 
Successful Bidder agrees and acknowledges that the County is relying on the Successful Bidder's 
represented expertise and ability to provide the goods and/or services described herein.  The Successful
Bidder agrees to use its best efforts, skill, judgment, and abilities to perform its obligations in accordance
with the highest standards used in the profession and to further the interests of the County 
accordance with the County ’s requirements and procedures.    T h e   Successful Bidder ’s duties,
set forth herein, shall at no time be in any way diminished by reason of any approval by the County, nor
shall the Successful Bidder be released from any liability by reason of such approval by the County, it 
being understood that the County at all times is ultimately relying upon the Successful Bidder ’s skill and 
knowledge in performing the services and providing any goods required hereunder.

4.33 ESTIMATED QUANTITIES

To the extent applicable to this IFB, the estimated quantity of each item listed in this IFB is only
estimate; the actual quantity to be purchased may be more or less. The County is not obligated
purchase any minimum amount, and the County may purchase any reasonable amount greater than the
estimate for the same unit price. Any limit on quantities available must be stated expressly in the Bid.

4.34 CONTRACTUAL DEVELOPMENT

The contents of the IFB and the Successful Bidder ’s Bid will become an integral part of the Contract, but 
may be modified, at the County ’s sole discretion, by provisions of an Ensuing Agreement.  Therefore, the 
Bidder must agree to an inclusion of an Ensuing Agreement of the Bid specifications, terms and 
conditions of this IFB.  If an Ensuing Agreement is required under this IFB, information relative to the 
Agreement will be located in the Special Provisions Section of this IFB.

4.35 SURVIVABILITY 

All applicable agreements that were entered into between the Successful Bidder and the County, under 
the terms and conditions of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s), shall survive the expiration or 
termination thereof for ninety (90) days unless a new contract has been awarded.

The County may exercise, by written notice to the Successful Bidder no later than ten (10) calendar days 
of the Contract expiration, this clause for emergencies only. 

4.36 AIR QUALITY

In determining the overall best Bid, the County may, to the extent applicable, exercise the option granted 
to local governments under the Texas Local Government Code, Section 271.907.

This option allows the County to evaluate Bids and give preference to goods and/or services of a Bidder 
that demonstrates that the Bidder meets or exceeds any and all state or federal environmental 
standards, including voluntary standards, relating to air quality.  If the Bid being submitted will have an 
effect on air quality for the County (as it relates to any state, federal, or voluntary air quality standard), 
then the Bidder is encouraged to provide information in narrative indicating the anticipated air quality 
impact.  All Bidders are expected to meet all mandated state and federal air quality standards.

4.37 ENTIRE AGREEMENT

The Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall supersede all prior Agreements, written or oral 
between the Successful Bidder and the County and shall constitute the entire Agreement and 
understanding between the parties with respect to the services and/or goods to be provided.  Each of the 
provisions herein shall be binding upon the parties and may not be waived, modified, amended or altered, 
except by writing signed by the Successful Bidder and the County.

4.38 PAYMENT

The County ’s payment for goods and services shall be governed by the Texas Government Code, 

Chapter 2251.  An invoice shall be deemed overdue the thirty-first (31st) day after the later of the 
following: 

A. The date the County receives the goods under the Contract; 
B. The date the performance of the service under the Contract is completed; or 
C. The date the Williamson County Auditor receives an invoice for the goods or services.  

Interest charges for any overdue payments shall be paid by the County in accordance with Texas 
Government Code, Section 2251.025.  More specifically, the rate of interest that shall accrue on a late 
payment is the rate in effect on September 1 of the County ’s fiscal year in which the payment becomes 
due.  The said rate in effect on September 1 shall be equal to the sum of one (1) percent, and the prime 

rate published in the Wall Street Journal on the first (1st) day of July of the preceding fiscal year that does 
not fall on a Saturday or Sunday.

In the event that an error appears in an invoice submitted by the Successful Bidder, the County shall 
notify the Successful Bidder of the error not later than the twenty-first (21st) day after the date the County 
receives the invoice.  If the error is resolved in favor of the Successful Bidder, the Successful Bidder 
shall be entitled to receive interest on the unpaid balance of the invoice submitted by the Successful 
Bidder beginning on the date that the payment for the invoice became overdue.  If the error is resolved in 
favor of the County, the Successful Bidder shall submit a corrected invoice that must be paid in 
accordance within the time set forth above.  The unpaid balance accrues interest as provided by the 
Texas Government Code, Chapter 2251, if the corrected invoice is not paid by the appropriate date.

As a minimum, invoices shall include:

A. Name, address, and telephone number of the Successful Bidder and similar information in the 
event the payment is to be made to a different address. 

B. The County Contract, Purchase Order. 

C. Identification of items or service as outlined in the Contract. 

D. Quantity or quantities, applicable unit prices, total prices and total amount. 

E. Any additional payment information which may be called for by the Contract. 

Payment inquiries should be directed to the following address:        

            Williamson County Auditor’s Office, Accounts Payable Department
            Email: accountspayable@wilco.org
            Phone: 512-943-1500

4.39 CONTRACTUAL FORMATION AND ENSUING AGREEMENT

The IFB and the Bidder ’s Bid, when properly accepted by the Commissioners Court, shall constitute a
Contract equally binding between the Successful Bidder and the County.

If an Ensuing Agreement is required by this IFB, that information will be provided in Special 
Provisions section of this IFB.  The Successful Bidder shall be required to execute the Agreement at 
the Williamson County Purchasing Department approximately ten (10) calendar days after the 
Successful Bidder is notified of award.  The Ensuing Agreement shall be in the same form as the 
Agreement which is attached to the end of this IFB.  The only anticipated changes in the Ensuing 
Agreement will be to include additional exhibits, to fill in blanks to identify the Successful Bidder, and 
terms relating to the compensation, or to revise the Agreement to accommodate corrections, changes in 
the scope of services, or changes pursuant to Addenda issued.  Bidders should raise any questions 
regarding the terms of the Agreement in the form of written questions or submittals as 
described in the Public Announcement and General Information portion of this IFB.  Because the 
signed Ensuing Agreement will be substantively and substantially derived from the attached Agreement, 
each Bidder is urged to seek independent legal counsel as to any questions about the terms, conditions 
or provisions contained in the Agreement before submitting a Bid.  Again, the attached Agreement, if 
applicable, contains important legal provisions and is considered part and parcel of this IFB.  Failure or 
refusal to sign aforesaid Agreement shall be grounds for the County to revoke any award which has been 
issued, forfeit Bid security, if applicable, and select another Bidder.

4.40 COOPERATIVE PURCHASING PROGRAM 

During the term of the Contract resulting from this IFB, the County would like to afford the same prices, 
terms and conditions to other political subdivisions or public entities.  Another entity’s participation in the 
Contract resulting from this IFB is subject to a properly authorized Purchasing Cooperative Inter- local 
Agreement with the County.  Any liability created by purchase orders issued against the Contract shall be 
the sole responsibility of the governmental agency placing the order.

4.41 INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS

To the extent applicable Insurance information will appear in the Additional Stipulations section that is in 
this IFB Package. 

4.42 BIDDERS BOND, WARRANTY BOND, PERFORMANCE AND PAYMENT BONDS

To the extent applicable Bond information will appear in the Additional Stipulations section that is in this 
IFB Package. 

4.43 LEGAL LIABILITY INFORMATION

The Successful Bidder shall disclose all legal liability information by listing any pending litigation
anticipated litigation that your firm is involved in including, but not limited to, potential or actual legal
matters with private parties and any local, state, federal or international governmental entities. The
County reserves the right to consider legal liability information in the recommendation of any proposed 
contract to the Commissioners Court.

4.44 INCLEMENT WEATHER

In case of inclement weather or any other unforeseen event causing the County to close for business on 
the date of a Bid submission deadline, the Bid closing will automatically be postponed until the next 
business day the County is open.  If inclement weather conditions or any other unforeseen event causes 
delays in carrier service operations, the County may issue an Addendum to all known Bidders interested 
in the project to extend the deadline.  It will be the responsibility of the Bidder to notify the County of their 
interest in the project if these conditions are impacting their ability to turn in a submission within the 
stated deadline.  The County reserves the right to make the final judgement call to extend any deadline. 

4.45 PREVAILING WAGE RATES

To the extent this procurement is for the construction of a public work, including a building, highway, 
road, excavation, and repair work or other project development or improvement, paid for in whole or in 
part from public funds, without regard to whether the work is done under public supervision or direction, 
Texas Government Code, Chapter 2258, shall apply and the contractor shall pay not less than the wage 
scale of the various classes of labor as shown on the “Prevailing Wage Schedule” provided by the 
County. Pursuant to Texas Government Code, Section 2258.022(a)(2), the County has determined the 
general prevailing rate of the “Prevailing Wage Schedule”  in the locality in which the public work is to be 
performed for each craft or type of worker needed to execute the contract and the prevailing rate for legal 
holiday and overtime work by using the prevailing wage rate as determined by the United States 
Department of Labor in accordance with the United States Code, Section 276a (Davis-Bacon Act). 

The specified wage rates are minimum rates only, and are not representations that qualified labor 
adequate to perform the work is available locally at the prevailing wage rates. The County is not bound to 
pay—and will not consider—any claims for additional compensation made by any contractor because the 
contractor pays wages in excess of the applicable minimum rate contained in the Contract Documents. 
The “Prevailing Wage Schedule”  is not a representation that quantities of qualified labor adequate to 
perform the work may be found locally at the specified wage rates.

For classifications not shown, workers shall not be paid less than the wage indicated for laborers. The 
contractor shall notify each worker commencing work on the project the worker ’s job classification and 
the established minimum wage rate required to be paid, as well as the actual amount being paid. The 
notice must be delivered to and signed in acknowledgement of receipt by the employee and must list 
both the monetary wages and fringe benefits to be paid or furnished for each classification in which the 
worker is assigned duties. When requested by the County, competent evidence of compliance with the 
Texas Prevailing Wage Law shall be furnished by contractor. A copy of each worker wage rate 
notification shall be submitted to the County with the Application for Payment for the period during which 
the worker began on-site activities.

Should the contractor at any time become aware that a particular skill or trade not reflected on the 
County ’s “Prevailing Wage Schedule” will be or is being employed in the work, whether by the contractor 
or by a subcontractor, the contractor shall promptly inform the County and shall specify a wage rate for 
that skill or trade, which shall bind the contractor.

The contractor and any subcontractor shall pay to the County a penalty of sixty dollars ($60.00) for each 
worker employed for each calendar day, or portion thereof, that the worker is paid less than the wage 
rates stipulated in the “Prevailing Wage Schedule” or any supplement thereto. The contractor and each 
subcontractor shall keep, or cause to be kept, an accurate record showing the names and occupations 
of all workers employed in connection with the work, and showing the actual per diem wages paid to 
each worker, which records shall be open at all reasonable hours for the inspection by the County.

Within thirty-one (31) days of receipt of information concerning a violation of the Texas Government Code 
Chapter 2258, the County shall make an initial determination as to whether good cause exists to believe 
a violation occurred. The County ’s decision on the initial determination shall be reduced to writing and 
sent to the contractor or subcontractor against whom the violation was alleged, and to the affected 
worker. When a good cause finding is made, the County shall retain the full amounts claimed by the 
claimant or claimants as the difference between wages paid and wages due under the “Prevailing Wage 
Schedule” and any supplements thereto, together with the applicable penalties, such amounts being 
subtracted from successive progress payments pending a final decision on the violation.

After the County makes its initial determination, the affected contractor or subcontractor and worker have 
fourteen (14) calendar days in which to resolve the issue of whether a violation occurred, including the 
amount that should be retained by the County or paid to the affected worker. If the contractor or 
subcontractor and affected worker reach an agreement concerning the worker ’s claim, the contractor 
shall promptly notify the County in a written document signed by the worker. It the contractor or 

Subcontractor and affected worker do not agree before the fifteenth (15 th) calendar day after the County
determination, the contractor or subcontractor and affected worker must participate in binding arbitration 
in accordance with the Texas General Arbitration Act, Chapter 171, (Texas Civil Practice and Remedies 
Code). The parties to the arbitration have ten (10) calendar days after the expiration of the fifteen (15) 

calendar days referred to above, to agree on an arbitrator; if by the eleventh (11 th) calendar day there is 
no agreement to an arbitrator, a district court shall appoint an arbitrator on the petition of any of the 
parties to the arbitration.

If an arbitrator determines that a violation has occurred, the arbitrator shall assess and award against the 
contractor or subcontractor the amount of penalty as provided above and the amount owed the worker. 
The County may use any amounts retained hereunder to pay the worker the amount as designated in the 
arbitration award. If the County has not retained enough from the contractor or subcontractor to pay the 
worker in accordance with the arbitration award, the worker has a right of action against the contractor 
and subcontractor as appropriate, and the surety of either to receive the amount owed, attorneys ’  fees 
and court costs. The contractor shall promptly furnish a copy of the arbitration award to the County.

Money retained pursuant to the provisions above shall be used to pay the claimant or claimants the 
difference between the amount the worker received in wages for labor on the project at the rate paid by 
the contractor or subcontractor and the amount the worker would have received at the general prevailing 
wage rate as provided by the agreement of the claimant and the contractor or subcontractor affected, or 
in the arbitrator ’s award. The full statutory penalty of sixty dollars ($60.00) per calendar day of violation 
per worker shall be retained by Williamson County to offset its administrative costs, pursuant to Texas 
Government Code, Section, 2258.023. Any retained funds in excess of these amounts shall be paid to 
the contractor on the earlier of the next progress payment or final payment. Provided, however, that the 
County shall have no duty to release any funds to either the claimant or the contractor until it has 
received the notices of agreement or the arbitration award as provided under the provision herein-above.

4.46 CONFIDENTIALITY

The Bidder expressly agrees that it will not use any direct or incidental confidential information that may 
be obtained while working in a governmental setting for its own benefit, and agrees that it will not access 
unauthorized areas or confidential information and it will not disclose any information to unauthorized 
third parties, and will take care to guard the security of the information at all times.

Bid 1704-157Williamson County, Texas

4/7/2017 9:30 AM p. 20



5

6

3 4

Williamson County – Invitation for Bid (IFB)

SECTION 1 - DEFINITIONS 

Addendum/Addenda – means any written or graphic instruments issued by the County prior to the 
consideration of Bids which modify or interpret the Bid Documents by additions, deletions, clarifications, 
or corrections.

Agreement/Ensuing Agreement(s) – means the Successful Bidder may be required by the County to 
sign an additional Agreement containing terms necessary to ensure compliance with the IFB and the 
Bidder ’s Bid.  Such Ensuing Agreement(s) shall contain the Bid specifications, terms and conditions that 
are derived from the IFB.

Bid Documents – means the Legal Notice, IFB including attachments, and any Addenda issued by the 
County prior to the consideration of any Bids.

Bid – means the completed and signed bid form, (sometimes referred to as the Price Sheet), and ALL 
required forms and documentation listed in the IFB package which have been submitted in accordance 
with the terms and conditions described in the IFB package.  A Bid submitted in accordance with this IFB 
is irrevocable during the specified period for evaluation and acceptance of Bids unless a waiver is 
obtained from the Williamson County Purchasing Agent.

Bidder – means a person or entity who submits a Bid in response to this IFB.

Contract – means this IFB and the Bid of the Successful Bidder shall become a Contract between the 
Successful Bidder and the County once the Successful Bidder ’s Bid is properly accepted by the 
Williamson County Commissioners Court.

Commissioner ’s Court – means the Williamson County Commissioners Court. 

County – means Williamson County, a political subdivision of the State of Texas.

Invitation for Bid (IFB) – means this document, together with the attachments thereto and any future 
Addenda issued by the County.

Successful Bidder – means the liable Bidder to whom the County intends to award the Contract.

SECTION 2 - BID FORMAT AND SUBMISSION

2.1 ORGANIZATION OF BID CONTENTS FOR SUBMITTAL 

Each Bid should be organized and items submitted in the order described below: 

A. Transmittal Letter. Please see Section 2.3, Transmittal Letter, for more information. 

B. Price Sheet.

C. Conflict of Interest Questionnaire. Please see Section 2.2, Conflict of Interest, for more 
information in regards to this. Please note that even if you deem there to be no Conflict of Interest, 
this signed questionnaire must be included in your package. 

D. References. Please see Section 3.15, References, for more information. 

E. Bid Affidavit.

F. Form 1295. Please see Section 2.4, Certificate of Interested Parties – Form 1295. 

2.2 CONFLICT OF INTEREST

No public official shall have interest in a Contract, in accordance with Vernon ’s Texas Codes Annotated, 
Local Government Code, Title 5, Subtitle C, Chapter 171, as amended. 

As of January 1, 2006, all Bidders are responsible for complying with Local Government Code, Title 5, 
Subtitle C, Chapter 176.  Additional information may be obtained from the County’s website at the 
following link: 

http://www.wilco.org/CountyDepartments/Purchasing/ConflictofInterestDisclosure/tabid/689/language/en
US/Default.aspx

Each Bidder must disclose any existing or potential conflict of interest relative to the performance of the 
requirements of this IFB.  Examples of potential conflicts of interest may include an existing 
business or personal relationship between the Bidder, its principal, or any affiliate or 
subcontractor with the County or any other entity or person involved in any way with the project 
that is subject to this IFB .  Similarly, any personal or business relationship between the Bidder, the 

principals, or any affiliate or subcontractor with any employee, or official of the County or its suppliers 
must be disclosed.  Any such relationship that might be perceived or represented as a conflict must be 
disclosed. Failure to disclose any such relationship or reveal personal relationships with the County 
employees or officials may be cause for termination. 

The County will decide if an actual or perceived conflict should result in Bid disqualification. 

By submitting a Bid in response to this IFB, all Bidders affirm they have not given, nor intend to give, at 
any time hereafter, any economic opportunity, future employment, gift, loan, gratuity, special discount, 
trip, favor, or service to a the County public servant or any employee, official or representative of same, in 
connection with this procurement. 

Each Bidder must provide a Conflict of Interest Statement with their Bid Package.  Package may 

be deemed incomplete without this form.  

2.3 TRANSMITTAL LETTER

The Bidder should submit a Transmittal Letter that provides the following information: 

A. Name and address of individual or business entity submitting the Bid. 

B. Name, physical address, email address, business and fax number of the Bidder ’s principal 
contact person regarding all contractual matters relating to this IFB.

C. The Bid ’s Federal Employer Identification Number.

D. If the Proposal being submitted will have an effect on air quality for the County (as it relates to any 
state, federal, or voluntary air quality standard), then the Respondent is encouraged to provide
information in narrative indicating the anticipated air quality impact. See Section 4.36, Air Quality 
for more information. 

2.4 CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PARTIES – FORM 1295

As of January 1, 2016, all Successful Bidders are responsible for complying with the Texas Government 
Code, Section 2252.908.  The law states that the County may not enter into certain contracts with a 
Bidder unless the Bidder submits a disclosure of interested parties to the County at the time the Bidder 
submits the signed Contract.  The law applies only to a Contract of the County on or after January 1, 
2016 that either:

A. Requires an action or vote by the Commissioners Court before the Contract may be signed (all 
contracts that fall under the jurisdiction of the Commissioners Court approval, such as contracts 
resulting from an Initiation for Bid (IFB), RFP, Request for Qualifications (RFQ), etc., excluding, 
but not limited to, certain Juvenile Service contracts, contracts funded with Sheriff ’s seized fun 
monies, etc.); or

B. Has a value of at least $1,000,000. 

By January 1, 2016, the Texas Ethics Commission will make available on its website, a new filing 
application that must be used to file Form 1295.  Information regarding how to use the filing application is 
available on the Texas Ethics Commission website at the following link:

https://www.ethics.state.tx.us/whatsnew/elf_info_form1295.htm

A Respondent must:

A. Use the online application to process the required information on Form 1295.

B. Print a copy of the form which will contain a unique certification number.

C. An authorized agent of the Bidder must sign the printed copy of the form.

D. Have the form notarized.

E. File the completed Form 1295 and certification of filing (scanning and emailing form is sufficient) 
with Williamson County Purchasing Agent at the time the signed Contract is submitted for 
approval.

After the Commissioners Court award of the Contract, the County shall notify the Texas Ethics 
Commission, using the Texas Ethics Commission ’s filing application, of the receipt of the filed Form 
1295 and certification of filing not later than the 30th day after the date the Contract binds all parties to the 
Contract. The Texas Ethics Commission will post the completed Form 1295 to its website within seven 
business days after receiving notice from the County.

2.5 ETHICS

The Bidder shall not accept or offer gifts or anything of value nor enter into any business arrangement 
with any employee, official or agent of the County.

2.6 BID SUBMITTAL DEADLINE

The Bid is due no later than the submittal date and time set forth in the Public Announcement and 
General Information listed in this IFB package.  Contents of each Bid shall be submitted in accordance 
with this IFB.

2.7 DELIVERY OF BIDS

The County uses BidSync to distribute and receive Bids and proposals.  It is preferred that Bids
submitted electronically through BidSync; however, Bidders can submit a hard copy.  

Refer to www.bidsync.com for further information on how to submit electronically.

If mailed or delivered in person, Bids and Bid Addenda are to be delivered in sealed envelope on or before
the submittal deadline, as noted in the Public Announcement and General Information listed in this IFB 
package, to:

            Williamson County Purchasing Department
            Attn: Bid Name and Number
            901 South Austin Avenue
            Georgetown, Texas 78626

Also, all Bidders should list their Name and Address, and the Date of the Bid opening on the outside
the box or envelope and note “Sealed Bid Enclosed.” The County will not accept any Bids received after 
the submittal deadline, and shall return such Bids unopened to the Bidder.  The County will not accept 
any responsibility for Bids being delivered by third party carriers.  

Bids will be opened publically and the names of Bidders and pricing will be read aloud.

SECTION 3 - INSTRUCTIONS AND GENERAL REQUIREMENTS

3.1 INSTRUCTIONS

Read this document carefully, and follow all instructions and requirements.  All Bidders are responsible 
for fulfilling all requirements and specifications.  Be sure to have a clear understanding of this IFB.

General requirements apply to all advertised IFBs; however, these may be superseded, in whole or in 
part, by the bid specifications, Addenda and modifications issued as a part of this IFB.  Be sure your Bid 
package is complete.

3.2 AMBIGUITY, CONFLICT, OR OTHER ERRORS IN THIS IFB

If a Bidder discovers any ambiguity, conflict, discrepancy, omission or other error in this IFB, the Bidder 
shall immediately notify the County Purchasing Department of such error in writing and request
modification or clarification of the document.

Modifications will be made by issuing Addenda. If the Bidder fails to notify the County prior to the date
and time fixed for submission of Bids of an error or ambiguity in the IFB known to the Bidder, or an error
or ambiguity that reasonably should have been known to the Bidder, then the Bidder shall be deemed to 
have waived the error or ambiguity or its later resolution.

The County may also modify the IFB, no later than forty-eight (48) hours prior to the date and time fixed
for submission of Bids, by issuance of an Addendum.  All Addenda will be numbered consecutively, 
beginning with one (1).

3.3 NOTIFICATION OF MOST CURRENT ADDRESS

All Bidders in receipt of this IFB shall notify the Williamson County Purchasing Department of any
address changes, contact person changes, and/or telephone number changes no later than forty-eight 
(48) hours prior to the date and time fixed for submission of Bids.

3.4 SIGNATURE OF BIDDER

A. If the Bidder is a Corporation or Limited Liability Company, the legal name of the Corporation
Limited Liability Company shall be provided together with the signature of the officer or officers 
authorized to sign on behalf of such entity.

B. If the Bidder is a General Partnership, the true name of the firm shall be provided with the
signature of each partner authorized to sign.

C. If the Bidder is a Limited Partnership, the name of the Limited Partner ’s General Partner shall
provided with the signature of the officer authorized to sign on behalf of the General Partner.

D. If the Bidder is a Sole Proprietor(s) (individual), each Sole Proprietor(s) shall sign.

E. If signature is by an agent, other than the Sole Proprietor(s) or an officer of a Corporation, Limited 
Liability Company, General Partner or a member of a General Partnership, a power of attorney
equivalent document must be submitted to the Williamson County Purchasing Department.

3.5 ASSUMED BUSINESS NAME

If the Bidder operates business under an Assumed Business Name, the Bidder must have on file with the
Williamson County Clerk a current Assumed Name Certificate and provide a file marked copy of same.

3.6 BID OBLIGATION 

The contents of the IFB, Bid, and any clarification thereof submitted by the Successful Bidder shall
become part of the contractual obligation and incorporated by reference into the Contract and any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

3.7 COMPLIANCE WITH IFB SPECIFICATIONS

It is intended that this IFB describe the requirements and the Bid format in sufficient detail to secure 
comparable Bids.  Failure to comply with all provisions of the IFB may, at the sole discretion of the 
County, result in disqualification.

3.8 WITHDRAWAL OF BID

The Bidder may withdraw its Bid by submitting a written request with the company letterhead and the 
signature of an authorized individual, as described in Section 3.4, Signature of Bidder, to the Williamson 
County Purchasing Department any time prior to the submission deadline.  

The Bidder may submit a new Bid prior to the deadline. Alterations of the Bid in any manner will not be 
considered if submitted after the deadline.  Withdrawal of a Bid after the deadline will be subject to written 
approval of the Williamson County Purchasing Agent.

3.9 EVALUATION AND AWARD

The County reserves the right to use all pertinent information (also learned from sources other than 
disclosed in the Bid process) that might affect the County ’s judgment as to the appropriateness of
award to the lowest and best evaluated Bid. This information may be appended to the Bid evaluation
process results. Information on a Bidder from reliable sources, and not within the Bidder ’s Bid, may also 
be noted and made part of the evaluation fi le.  The County shall have sole discretion for determining 
the reliability of the source.

To ensure the proper and fair evaluation of a solicitation, the County prohibits unsolicited communication 
initiated by the Bidder to the County Official or Employee evaluating or considering the Bids prior to the 
time an award has been made. Unsolicited communication may be ground for disqualifying the 
offending Bidder from consideration or award of the solicitation, or any future solicitation.

Communication between the Bidder and the County will be initiated by the appropriate County Official
Employee in order to obtain information or clarification needed to develop a proper and accurate 
evaluation of the solicitation.

The County intends to award a Contract to the most responsible and responsive Bidder whose Bid will 
be most advantageous to the County. In accordance with Texas Government Code and Local
Government Code, the County may consider, to the extent allowed by law, the following:

A. Price;
B. The Bidder ’s experience and reputation;
C. Quality of the Bidder ’s goods and/or services; 
D. The Bidder ’s safety record;
E. The Bidder ’s proposed personnel; 
F. The Bidder ’s financial capabilities; and 
G. Any other relevant factors specifically listed in this IFB or authorized by law.

3.10 CONDISERATION OF LOCATION OF PRINCIPAL OFFICE 

Pursuant to Texas Local Government Code, Section 271.905 , in purchasing any real property or personal
property that is not affixed to real property, if the County receives one or more Bids from a Bidder whose
principal place of business is in Williamson County and whose Bid is within three (3 )  percent of the
lowest Bid price received by the County from a Bidder who is not a resident of Williamson County, the 
County may enter into a contract with:

A. The lowest Bidder; or the Bidder whose principal place of business is in Williamson County if the
Commissioners Court determines, in writing, that the local Bidder offers the County the best 
combination of contract price and addit ional economic development opportunities
Williamson County created by the contract award, including the employment of residents
Williamson County and increased tax revenues to Williamson County.

It is understood that the Commissioners Court of Williamson County, Texas, reserves the right to accept
or reject any and/or all Bids for any or all goods and/or services covered in this IFB, and to waive
informalities or defects in the Bid or to accept such Bid, if it shall deem to be in the best interest of the 
County.

Awards should be made approximately sixty (60) business days after the Bid opening date. Results may
be obtained by viewing the Williamson County vendor portal at the following link:

http://www.wilco.org/CountyDepartments/Purchasing/SearchforaPastBid/tabid/5213/language/en-
US/Default.aspx

3.11 RESPONSIBILITY 

It is expected that a prospective Bidder will be able to affirmatively demonstrate responsibility.  A 
prospective Bidder should be able to meet the following requirements:

A. Have adequate financial resources, or the ability to obtain such resources as required;
B. Be able to comply with the required or proposed delivery schedule;
C. Have a satisfactory record of performance that can be determined thru references provided; and 
D. Be otherwise qualified and eligible to receive an award.

The County may request representation and other information sufficient to determine the Bidder's ability 
to meet these minimum standards listed above.

3.12 FIRM PRICING 

For unit price items, all of the items listed are to be on a “per unit” basis, stating a firm price per unit or 
unit quantity of each item.  The Bidder must submit a firm price that must be good from the date of Bid 
opening for the fixed period of time set out in this IFB.  Unless the IFB expressly states otherwise, this 
period shall be until the end of the Initial Contract Period.

Bids which do not state a fixed price, or which are subject to change without notice, will not be 
considered.  The Court may award a Contract for the period implied or expressly stated in the lowest and 
best Bid.

3.13 PURCHASE ORDERS

If required by the Williamson County Purchasing Department, a purchase order(s) may be generated to 
the Successful Bidder for goods and/or services.  If a purchase order is issued, the purchase order 
number must appear on all itemized invoices and/or requests for payment.

3.14 SILENCE OF SPECIFICATIONS

The apparent silence of these specifications as to any detail or to the apparent omission from it of a 
detailed description concerning any point, shall be regarded as meaning that only the best practices are 
to prevail.  All interpretations of these specifications shall be made on the basis of this statement.

3.15 REFERENCES

The County may require the Bidder to supply a list of at least three (3) references where like services
and/or goods have been supplied by their firm within the past five (5) years, to include names, titles, 
phone numbers and email addresses of key personnel, and dates of performance.

The County may contact some or all of the references in order to determine the Respondent
performance record on work similar to that described in this RFP.  The County reserves the right to 
contact references other than those provided in the response and to use the information gained from 
them in the evaluation process.

References, if requested, should be provided in accordance with this IFB.  Bid may not be deemed 
complete without the inclusion of requested references.

SECTION 4 - TERMS AND CONDITIONS

4.1 VENUE AND GOVERNING LAW

The Bidder hereby agrees and acknowledges that venue and jurisdiction of any suit, right, or cause of 
action arising out of or in connection with this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s), shall lie 
exclusively in either Williamson County, Texas or in the Austin Division of the Western Federal District of 
Texas, and the parties hereto expressly consent and submit to such jurisdiction.  Furthermore, except to 
the extent that this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) is governed by the laws of the United 
States, this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be governed by and construed in 
accordance with the laws of the State of Texas, excluding, however, its choice of law rules.

4.2 INCORPORATION BY REFERENCE AND PRECEDENCE

A. The Contract shall be derived from the IFB and its Addenda (if applicable), and the Bidder ’ s Bid.  In 
the event of a dispute under the Contract, applicable documents will be referred to for the purpose 
of clarification or for additional detail in the following order of precedence:

1. The IFB and its Addenda (if applicable); and

2. The Bidder ’s Bid.

B. In the event the County requires that an Ensuing Agreement be executed following award and a 
dispute arises between the terms and conditions of the Ensuing Agreement, the IFB and its 
Addenda (if applicable), and the Bidder ’s Bid, applicable documents will be referred to for the 
purpose of clarification or for additional detail in the following order of precedence: 

1. Terms and conditions of the Ensuing Agreement;

2. The IFB its Addenda; and 

3. The Bidder ’s Bid.

4.3 OWNERSHIP OF BID

Each Bid shall become the property of the County upon submittal and will not be returned to Bidders 
unless received after the submittal deadline.

4.4 DISQUALIFICATION OF BIDDER

Upon signing and submittal of the Bid, a Bidder offering to sell supplies, materials, services, or equipment 
to the County, certifies that the Bidder has not violated the antitrust laws of the State of Texas codified in 
Business & Commerce Code, Section 15.01, or the Federal Antitrust Laws, and has not communicated 
directly or indirectly the offer made to any competitor or any other person engaged in such line of 
business.  Any or all Bids may be rejected if the County believes that collusion exists among the Bidders.

4.5 FUNDING

The County intends to budget and make sufficient funds available and authorize funds for expenditure to 
finance the costs of the Contract.  All Bidders understand and agree that the County’s payment of 
amounts under the Contract shall be contingent on the County receiving appropriations or other 
expenditure authority sufficient to allow the County, in the exercise of reasonable administrative 
discretion, to make payments under this Contract.

4.6 ASSIGNMENT, SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS 

The Successful Bidder may not assign, sell, or otherwise transfer the Contract or any other rights or 
interests obtained under the Contract without written permission of the Commissioners Court.  The 
Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the contracting 
parties hereto and their respective successors and permitted assigns.

4.7 IMPLIED REQUIREMENTS

Products or services not specifically described or required in the IFB, but are necessary to provide the 
functional capabilities described by the Bidder, shall be implied and deemed to be included in the Bid.

4.8 TERMINATION

A. Termination for Cause: The County reserves the right to terminate the Contract and/or any 
Ensuing Agreement(s) for default if the Successful Bidder breaches any of the Bid specifications,
terms and conditions, including warranties of the Bidder, if any, or if the Successful Bidder 
becomes insolvent or commits acts of bankruptcy.  Such right of termination is in addition to and
not in lieu of any other remedies the County may have at law or in equity or as may otherwise
provided hereunder.  Default may be construed as, but not limited to, failure to deliver the proper 
goods and/or services within the proper amount of time, and/or to properly perform any and all 
other requirements to the County ’s satisfaction, and/or to meet all other obligations and
requirements.

B. Termination for Convenience: The County may terminate the Contract and/or any Ensuing 
Agreement(s) for convenience and without cause or further liability, upon no less than thirty (30) 
calendar days written notice to the Successful Bidder. The County reserves the right to extend 
this period if it is in the best interest of the County.  In the event the County exercises its right to 
terminate without cause, it is understood and agreed that only the amounts due to the Successful 
Bidder for goods, commodities and/or services provided and expenses incurred to and including 
the date of termination, will be due and payable.  No penalty will be assessed for the County
termination for convenience.

4.9 NON-PERFORMANCE

It is the objective of the County to obtain complete and satisfactory performance of the requirements set 
forth herein.  In addition to any other remedies available at law, in equity or that may be set out herein, 
failure to perform may result in a deduction of payment equal to the amount of the goods and/or services 
that were not provided and/or performed to the County ’s satisfaction.  

In the event of such non-performance, the County shall have the right, but shall not be obligated, to 
complete the services itself or by others and/or purchase the goods from other sources.  If the County 
elects to acquire the goods or perform the services itself or by others, pursuant to the foregoing, the 
Successful Bidder shall reimburse the County, within ten (10) calendar days of demand, for all costs 
incurred by the County (including, without limitation, applicable, general, and administrative expenses, 
and field overhead, and the cost of necessary equipment, materials, and field labor) in correcting the 
nonperformance which the Successful Bidder fails to meet pursuant to the requirements set out herein.  
In the event the Successful Bidder refuses to reimburse the County as set out in this provision, the 
County shall have the right to deduct such reimbursement amounts from any amounts that may be then 
owing or that may become owing in the future to the Successful Bidder.

4.10 PROPRIETARY INFORMATION AND THE TEXAS PUBLIC INFORMATION ACT

All material submitted to the County shall become public property and subject to the Texas Public 
Information Act upon receipt. If a Bidder does not desire proprietary information in the Bid to be 
disclosed, each page must be clearly identified and marked proprietary at time of submittal or, more 
preferably, all proprietary information may be placed in a folder or appendix and be clearly identified and 
marked as being proprietary.  Failure to clearly identify and mark information as being proprietary as set 
forth under this provision will result in all unmarked information being deemed non-proprietary and 
available to the public.  For all information that has not been clearly identified and marked as proprietary 
by the Bidder, the County may choose to place such information on the County ’s website and/or a similar 
public database without obtaining any type of prior consent from the Bidder.

The County will, to the extent allowed by law, endeavor to protect from public disclosure the information 
that has been identified and marked as proprietary.  The final decision as to what information must be 
disclosed, however, lies with the Texas Attorney General.  

To the extent, if any, that any provision in this IFB or in the Bidder ’s Bid is in conflict with Texas 
Government Code, Chapter 552, as amended (the “Public Information Act”), the same shall be of no 
force or effect.  Furthermore, it is expressly understood, and agreed, that the County, and its officers and 
employees, may request advice, decisions and opinions of the Attorney General of the State of Texas in 
regard to the application of the Public Information Act to any items or data furnished to the County as to 
whether or not the same are available to the public.  It is further understood that the County, and its 
officers and employees, shall have the right to rely on the advice, decisions and opinions of the Attorney 
General, and that the County, its officers and employees shall have no liability or obligation to any party 
hereto for the disclosure to the public, or to any person or persons, of any items or data furnished to the 
County by a party hereto, in reliance of any advice, decision or opinion of the Attorney General of the 
State of Texas.

4.11 RIGHT TO AUDIT

The Successful Bidder agrees that the County or its duly authorized representatives shall, until the 
expiration of three (3) years after termination or expiration of the services to be performed, have access 
to and the right to examine and photocopy any and all books, documents, papers and records of the 
Successful Bidder, which are directly pertinent to the services to be performed or goods to be delivered 
for the purposes of making audits, examinations, excerpts and transcriptions.  The Successful Bidder 
agrees that the County shall have access during normal working hours to all necessary facilities and 
shall be provided adequate and appropriate work space in order to conduct audits in compliance with the 
provisions of this section.  The County shall give the Successful Bidder reasonable advance notice of 
intended audits.

4.12 TESTING AND INSPECTIONS

The County reserves the right to inspect and test equipment, supplies, materials and goods for quality 
and compliance with this IFB, and ability to meet the needs of the user.  Demonstration units must be 
available for review.  Should the goods or services fail to meet requirements and/or be unavailable for 
evaluation, the County can deem the Bidder to be in breach and terminate the Contract and/or any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

4.13 BID PREPARATION COSTS

The cost of developing Bids is the sole responsibility of the Bidders and shall not be charged to the 
County.  There is no expressed or implied obligation for the County to reimburse the Bidders for any 
expense incurred in preparing a Bid in response to this IFB and the County will not reimburse the Bidders 
for such expenses.

4.14 INDEMNIFICATION

The Successful Bidder shall indemnify, defend and save harmless, the County, its officials, employees, 
agents and agent ’s employees from, and against, all claims, liability, and expenses including reasonable 
attorneys ’   fees, arising from activities of the Bidder, its agents, servants or employees, performed 
hereunder that result from the negligent act, error, or omission of the Bidder or any of the Bidder
agents, servants or employees, as well as all claims of loss or damage to the Bidder ’s and the County
property, equipment, and/or supplies. 

Furthermore, the County, its officials, employees, agents and agents ’ employees shall not be liable for 
damages to the Successful Bidder arising from any act of any third party, including, but not limited to, 
theft.  The Successful Bidder further agrees to indemnify, defend and save harmless, the County from its 
officials, employee, agents and agents ’ employees against all claims of whatever nature arising from any 
accident, injury, or damage whatsoever, caused to any person, or the property of any person, occurring 
in relation to the Successful Bidder ’s performance of any services requested hereunder during the term 
of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s). 

The Successful Bidder shall timely report all claims, demands, suits, actions, proceedings, liens or 
judgements to the County and shall, upon the receipt of any claim, demand, suit, action, proceeding, lien 

or judgement, not later than the fifteenth (15 th) day of each month; provide the County with a written 
report on each such matter, setting forth the status of each matter, the schedule or planned proceedings 
with respect to each matter and the cooperation or assistance, if any, of the County required by the 
Successful Bidder in the defense of each matter.  The Successful Bidder’s duty to defend, indemnify and 
hold the County harmless shall be absolute.  It shall not abate or end by reason of the expiration or 
termination of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s), unless otherwise agreed by the County in 
writing.  The provisions of this section shall survive the termination of the Contract and shall remain in full 
force and effect with respect to all such matters no matter when they arise. 

In the event of any dispute between the parties, as to whether a claim, demand, suit, action, proceeding, 
lien or judgement, that appears to have been caused by or appears to have arisen out of or in connection 
with acts or omissions of the County, the Bidder shall nevertheless fully defend such claim, demand, suit 
or action, proceeding, lien or judgement, until and unless there is a determination by a court of competent 
jurisdiction that the acts and omissions of the Bidder are not an issue in the matter. 

The Successful Bidder ’s indemnification shall cover, and the Successful Bidder agrees to, indemnify the 
County, in the event the County is found to have been negligent for having selected the Successful 
Bidder to perform the work described in this request.  The provision by the Successful Bidder of 
insurance shall not limit the liability of the Successful Bidder under the Contract and/or any Ensuing 
Agreement(s). 

4.15 WAIVER OF SUBROGATION

The Successful Bidder and the Successful Bidder ’s insurance carrier waive any and all rights 
whatsoever with regard to subrogation against the County as an indirect party to any suit arising out of 
personal or property damages resulting from the Bidder ’s performance under this Contract and any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

4.16 RELATIONSHIP OF THE PARTIES

The Successful Bidder shall be an independent contractor and shall assume all of the rights, obligations, 
liabilities, applicable to it as such independent contractor hereunder and any provisions herein which may 
appear to give the County the right to direct the Successful Bidder as to details of doing work herein 
covered, or to exercise a measure of control over the work, shall be deemed to mean that the Successful 
Bidder shall follow the desires of the County in the results of the work only.  The County shall not retain or 
have the right to control the Successful Bidder ’s means, methods or details pertaining to the Successful 
Bidder ’s performance of the work.  The County and the Successful Bidder hereby agree and declare that 
the Successful Bidder is an independent contractor and as such meets the qualifications of an 
“Independent Contractor” under Texas Workers Compensation Act, Texas Labor Code, Section 406.141, 
that the Successful Bidder is not an employee of  the County, and that the Successful Bidder and its 
employees, agents and subcontractors shall not be entitled to workers compensation coverage or any 
other type of insurance coverage held by the County.

4.17 SOLE PROVIDER

The Successful Bidder agrees and acknowledges that it shall not be considered a sole provider of the 
goods and/or services described herein and that the County may contract with other providers of such 
goods and/or services if the County deems, at its sole discretion, that multiple providers of the same 
goods and/or services will serve the best interest of the County.

4.18 FORCE MAJEURE

If the party obligated to perform is prevented from performance by an act of war, order of legal authority, 
act of God, or other unavoidable cause not attributable to the fault or negligence of said party, the other 
party shall grant such party relief from the performance.  The burden of proof for the need of such relief 
shall rest upon the party obligated to perform.  To obtain release based on force majeure, the party 
obligated to perform shall file a written request with the other party.

4.19 SEVERABILITY

If any provision of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be held invalid or 
unenforceable by any court of competent jurisdiction, such holding shall not invalidate or render 
unenforceable any other provision thereof, but rather the entire IFB, Contract or any Ensuing Agreement
(s) will be construed as if not containing the particular invalid or unenforceable provision or provisions, 
and the rights and obligation of the parties shall be construed and enforced in accordance therewith.  The 
parties acknowledge that if any provision of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) is 
determined to be invalid or unenforceable, it is the desire and intention of each that such provision be 
reformed and construed in such a manner that it will, to the maximum extent practicable, give effect to
the intent of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) and be deemed to be validated and
enforceable.

4.20 EQUAL OPPORTUNITY

Neither party shall discriminate against any employee or applicant for employment because of race, 
color, sex, religion or national origin.

4.21 NOTICE

Any notice to be given shall be in writing and may be distributed by personal delivery, or by registered or 
certified mail, return receipt requested, addressed to the proper party, at the following address:

The County:    Williamson County Purchasing Department 
            Attn: Purchasing Agent 
            901 South Austin Avenue 
            Georgetown, Texas 78626

The Bidder:     Address set out in Bidder’s Transmittal Letter.

Notices given in accordance with this provision shall be effective upon (1) receipt by the party to which 
notice is given, or (2) on the third (3rd) calendar day following mailing, whichever occurs first.

4.22 SALES AND USE TAX EXEMPTION

The County is a body, corporate and politic, under the laws of the State of Texas and claims exemption 
from sales and use taxes under Texas Tax Code, Section 151.309, as amended, and the services and/or 
goods subject hereof are being secured for use by the County.

4.23 COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS

The County and the Successful Bidder shall comply with all federal, state, and local laws, statutes,
ordinances, rules and regulations, and the orders and decrees of any courts or administrative bodies or 
tribunals in any matter affecting the performance of the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s),
including, without limitation, Workers ’ Compensation laws, salary and wage statutes and regulations, 
licensing laws and regulations.  When required, the Successful Bidder shall furnish the County with 
certification of compliance with said laws, statues, ordinances, rules, regulations, orders, and decrees 
above specified.

4.24 INCORPORATION OF EXHIBITS, APPENDICES AND ATTACHMENTS

All of the Exhibits, Appendices and Attachments referred to herein are incorporated by reference as if set 
forth verbatim herein.  Any conflicting terms in the Contract documents will be resolved at the sole 
discretion of the Commissioners Court.

4.25 NO WAIVER OF IMMUNITIES

Nothing herein shall be deemed to waive, modify or amend any legal defense available at law or in equity 
to the County, its past or present officers, employees, or agents, nor to create any legal rights or claim on 
behalf of any third party.  The County does not waive, modify, or alter to any extent whatsoever the 
availability of the defense of governmental immunity under the laws of the State of Texas and of the 
United States.

4.26 NO WAIVER

The failure or delay of any party to enforce at any time or any period of time any of the provisions of this 
IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall not constitute a present or future waiver of such 
provisions nor the right of either party to enforce each and every provision.  Furthermore, no term or 
provision hereof shall be deemed waived and no breach excused unless such waiver or consent shall be 
in writing and signed by the party claimed to have waived or consented.  Any consent by any party to, or 
waiver of, a breach by the other, whether expressed or implied, shall not constitute a consent to, waiver 
of or excuse for any other, different or subsequent breach.

4.27 CURRENT REVENUES

The obligations of the parties under the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) do not constitute a 
general obligation or indebtedness of the County for which the County is obligated to levy, pledge, or 
collect any of taxation.  It is understood and agreed that the County shall have the right to terminate the 
Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) at the end of any the County fiscal year if the governing body of 
the County does not appropriate sufficient funds as determined by the County ’s budget for the fiscal year 
in question.  The County may effect such termination by giving written notice of termination to the 
Successful Bidder at the end of its then-current fiscal year.

4.28 FOB DESTINATION

To the extent applicable to this IFB, all of the items listed are to be Free On Board to final destination 
(FOB Destination) with all transportation charges if applicable to be included in the Bid, unless otherwise 
specified in the Invitation for Bids.  The title and risk of loss of the goods shall not pass to the County until 
receipt and acceptance takes place at the FOB Destination point.

4.29 BINDING EFFECT

This Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties 
and their respective permitted assigns and successors.

4.30 ASSIGNMENT

The Successful Bidder ’s interest and duties hereunder may not be assigned or delegated to a third party 
without the express written consent of the County.

4.31 SAFETY

The Successful Bidder is responsible for initiating, maintaining, and supervising all safety precautions 
and programs in connection with any services to be provided hereunder. The safety program shall 
comply with all applicable requirements of the current federal Occupational Safety and Health Act and all 
other applicable federal, state and local laws and regulations.

4.32 GENERAL OBLIGATIONS AND RELIANCE

The Successful Bidder shall perform all services and/or provide all goods, as well as those reasonably
inferable and necessary for completion and provision of services and/or goods required hereunder. The
Successful Bidder shall keep the County informed of the progress and quality of the services.  The 
Successful Bidder agrees and acknowledges that the County is relying on the Successful Bidder's 
represented expertise and ability to provide the goods and/or services described herein.  The Successful
Bidder agrees to use its best efforts, skill, judgment, and abilities to perform its obligations in accordance
with the highest standards used in the profession and to further the interests of the County 
accordance with the County ’s requirements and procedures.    T h e   Successful Bidder ’s duties,
set forth herein, shall at no time be in any way diminished by reason of any approval by the County, nor
shall the Successful Bidder be released from any liability by reason of such approval by the County, it 
being understood that the County at all times is ultimately relying upon the Successful Bidder ’s skill and 
knowledge in performing the services and providing any goods required hereunder.

4.33 ESTIMATED QUANTITIES

To the extent applicable to this IFB, the estimated quantity of each item listed in this IFB is only
estimate; the actual quantity to be purchased may be more or less. The County is not obligated
purchase any minimum amount, and the County may purchase any reasonable amount greater than the
estimate for the same unit price. Any limit on quantities available must be stated expressly in the Bid.

4.34 CONTRACTUAL DEVELOPMENT

The contents of the IFB and the Successful Bidder ’s Bid will become an integral part of the Contract, but 
may be modified, at the County ’s sole discretion, by provisions of an Ensuing Agreement.  Therefore, the 
Bidder must agree to an inclusion of an Ensuing Agreement of the Bid specifications, terms and 
conditions of this IFB.  If an Ensuing Agreement is required under this IFB, information relative to the 
Agreement will be located in the Special Provisions Section of this IFB.

4.35 SURVIVABILITY 

All applicable agreements that were entered into between the Successful Bidder and the County, under 
the terms and conditions of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s), shall survive the expiration or 
termination thereof for ninety (90) days unless a new contract has been awarded.

The County may exercise, by written notice to the Successful Bidder no later than ten (10) calendar days 
of the Contract expiration, this clause for emergencies only. 

4.36 AIR QUALITY

In determining the overall best Bid, the County may, to the extent applicable, exercise the option granted 
to local governments under the Texas Local Government Code, Section 271.907.

This option allows the County to evaluate Bids and give preference to goods and/or services of a Bidder 
that demonstrates that the Bidder meets or exceeds any and all state or federal environmental 
standards, including voluntary standards, relating to air quality.  If the Bid being submitted will have an 
effect on air quality for the County (as it relates to any state, federal, or voluntary air quality standard), 
then the Bidder is encouraged to provide information in narrative indicating the anticipated air quality 
impact.  All Bidders are expected to meet all mandated state and federal air quality standards.

4.37 ENTIRE AGREEMENT

The Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall supersede all prior Agreements, written or oral 
between the Successful Bidder and the County and shall constitute the entire Agreement and 
understanding between the parties with respect to the services and/or goods to be provided.  Each of the 
provisions herein shall be binding upon the parties and may not be waived, modified, amended or altered, 
except by writing signed by the Successful Bidder and the County.

4.38 PAYMENT

The County ’s payment for goods and services shall be governed by the Texas Government Code, 

Chapter 2251.  An invoice shall be deemed overdue the thirty-first (31st) day after the later of the 
following: 

A. The date the County receives the goods under the Contract; 
B. The date the performance of the service under the Contract is completed; or 
C. The date the Williamson County Auditor receives an invoice for the goods or services.  

Interest charges for any overdue payments shall be paid by the County in accordance with Texas 
Government Code, Section 2251.025.  More specifically, the rate of interest that shall accrue on a late 
payment is the rate in effect on September 1 of the County ’s fiscal year in which the payment becomes 
due.  The said rate in effect on September 1 shall be equal to the sum of one (1) percent, and the prime 

rate published in the Wall Street Journal on the first (1st) day of July of the preceding fiscal year that does 
not fall on a Saturday or Sunday.

In the event that an error appears in an invoice submitted by the Successful Bidder, the County shall 
notify the Successful Bidder of the error not later than the twenty-first (21st) day after the date the County 
receives the invoice.  If the error is resolved in favor of the Successful Bidder, the Successful Bidder 
shall be entitled to receive interest on the unpaid balance of the invoice submitted by the Successful 
Bidder beginning on the date that the payment for the invoice became overdue.  If the error is resolved in 
favor of the County, the Successful Bidder shall submit a corrected invoice that must be paid in 
accordance within the time set forth above.  The unpaid balance accrues interest as provided by the 
Texas Government Code, Chapter 2251, if the corrected invoice is not paid by the appropriate date.

As a minimum, invoices shall include:

A. Name, address, and telephone number of the Successful Bidder and similar information in the 
event the payment is to be made to a different address. 

B. The County Contract, Purchase Order. 

C. Identification of items or service as outlined in the Contract. 

D. Quantity or quantities, applicable unit prices, total prices and total amount. 

E. Any additional payment information which may be called for by the Contract. 

Payment inquiries should be directed to the following address:        

            Williamson County Auditor’s Office, Accounts Payable Department
            Email: accountspayable@wilco.org
            Phone: 512-943-1500

4.39 CONTRACTUAL FORMATION AND ENSUING AGREEMENT

The IFB and the Bidder ’s Bid, when properly accepted by the Commissioners Court, shall constitute a
Contract equally binding between the Successful Bidder and the County.

If an Ensuing Agreement is required by this IFB, that information will be provided in Special 
Provisions section of this IFB.  The Successful Bidder shall be required to execute the Agreement at 
the Williamson County Purchasing Department approximately ten (10) calendar days after the 
Successful Bidder is notified of award.  The Ensuing Agreement shall be in the same form as the 
Agreement which is attached to the end of this IFB.  The only anticipated changes in the Ensuing 
Agreement will be to include additional exhibits, to fill in blanks to identify the Successful Bidder, and 
terms relating to the compensation, or to revise the Agreement to accommodate corrections, changes in 
the scope of services, or changes pursuant to Addenda issued.  Bidders should raise any questions 
regarding the terms of the Agreement in the form of written questions or submittals as 
described in the Public Announcement and General Information portion of this IFB.  Because the 
signed Ensuing Agreement will be substantively and substantially derived from the attached Agreement, 
each Bidder is urged to seek independent legal counsel as to any questions about the terms, conditions 
or provisions contained in the Agreement before submitting a Bid.  Again, the attached Agreement, if 
applicable, contains important legal provisions and is considered part and parcel of this IFB.  Failure or 
refusal to sign aforesaid Agreement shall be grounds for the County to revoke any award which has been 
issued, forfeit Bid security, if applicable, and select another Bidder.

4.40 COOPERATIVE PURCHASING PROGRAM 

During the term of the Contract resulting from this IFB, the County would like to afford the same prices, 
terms and conditions to other political subdivisions or public entities.  Another entity’s participation in the 
Contract resulting from this IFB is subject to a properly authorized Purchasing Cooperative Inter- local 
Agreement with the County.  Any liability created by purchase orders issued against the Contract shall be 
the sole responsibility of the governmental agency placing the order.

4.41 INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS

To the extent applicable Insurance information will appear in the Additional Stipulations section that is in 
this IFB Package. 

4.42 BIDDERS BOND, WARRANTY BOND, PERFORMANCE AND PAYMENT BONDS

To the extent applicable Bond information will appear in the Additional Stipulations section that is in this 
IFB Package. 

4.43 LEGAL LIABILITY INFORMATION

The Successful Bidder shall disclose all legal liability information by listing any pending litigation
anticipated litigation that your firm is involved in including, but not limited to, potential or actual legal
matters with private parties and any local, state, federal or international governmental entities. The
County reserves the right to consider legal liability information in the recommendation of any proposed 
contract to the Commissioners Court.

4.44 INCLEMENT WEATHER

In case of inclement weather or any other unforeseen event causing the County to close for business on 
the date of a Bid submission deadline, the Bid closing will automatically be postponed until the next 
business day the County is open.  If inclement weather conditions or any other unforeseen event causes 
delays in carrier service operations, the County may issue an Addendum to all known Bidders interested 
in the project to extend the deadline.  It will be the responsibility of the Bidder to notify the County of their 
interest in the project if these conditions are impacting their ability to turn in a submission within the 
stated deadline.  The County reserves the right to make the final judgement call to extend any deadline. 

4.45 PREVAILING WAGE RATES

To the extent this procurement is for the construction of a public work, including a building, highway, 
road, excavation, and repair work or other project development or improvement, paid for in whole or in 
part from public funds, without regard to whether the work is done under public supervision or direction, 
Texas Government Code, Chapter 2258, shall apply and the contractor shall pay not less than the wage 
scale of the various classes of labor as shown on the “Prevailing Wage Schedule” provided by the 
County. Pursuant to Texas Government Code, Section 2258.022(a)(2), the County has determined the 
general prevailing rate of the “Prevailing Wage Schedule”  in the locality in which the public work is to be 
performed for each craft or type of worker needed to execute the contract and the prevailing rate for legal 
holiday and overtime work by using the prevailing wage rate as determined by the United States 
Department of Labor in accordance with the United States Code, Section 276a (Davis-Bacon Act). 

The specified wage rates are minimum rates only, and are not representations that qualified labor 
adequate to perform the work is available locally at the prevailing wage rates. The County is not bound to 
pay—and will not consider—any claims for additional compensation made by any contractor because the 
contractor pays wages in excess of the applicable minimum rate contained in the Contract Documents. 
The “Prevailing Wage Schedule”  is not a representation that quantities of qualified labor adequate to 
perform the work may be found locally at the specified wage rates.

For classifications not shown, workers shall not be paid less than the wage indicated for laborers. The 
contractor shall notify each worker commencing work on the project the worker ’s job classification and 
the established minimum wage rate required to be paid, as well as the actual amount being paid. The 
notice must be delivered to and signed in acknowledgement of receipt by the employee and must list 
both the monetary wages and fringe benefits to be paid or furnished for each classification in which the 
worker is assigned duties. When requested by the County, competent evidence of compliance with the 
Texas Prevailing Wage Law shall be furnished by contractor. A copy of each worker wage rate 
notification shall be submitted to the County with the Application for Payment for the period during which 
the worker began on-site activities.

Should the contractor at any time become aware that a particular skill or trade not reflected on the 
County ’s “Prevailing Wage Schedule” will be or is being employed in the work, whether by the contractor 
or by a subcontractor, the contractor shall promptly inform the County and shall specify a wage rate for 
that skill or trade, which shall bind the contractor.

The contractor and any subcontractor shall pay to the County a penalty of sixty dollars ($60.00) for each 
worker employed for each calendar day, or portion thereof, that the worker is paid less than the wage 
rates stipulated in the “Prevailing Wage Schedule” or any supplement thereto. The contractor and each 
subcontractor shall keep, or cause to be kept, an accurate record showing the names and occupations 
of all workers employed in connection with the work, and showing the actual per diem wages paid to 
each worker, which records shall be open at all reasonable hours for the inspection by the County.

Within thirty-one (31) days of receipt of information concerning a violation of the Texas Government Code 
Chapter 2258, the County shall make an initial determination as to whether good cause exists to believe 
a violation occurred. The County ’s decision on the initial determination shall be reduced to writing and 
sent to the contractor or subcontractor against whom the violation was alleged, and to the affected 
worker. When a good cause finding is made, the County shall retain the full amounts claimed by the 
claimant or claimants as the difference between wages paid and wages due under the “Prevailing Wage 
Schedule” and any supplements thereto, together with the applicable penalties, such amounts being 
subtracted from successive progress payments pending a final decision on the violation.

After the County makes its initial determination, the affected contractor or subcontractor and worker have 
fourteen (14) calendar days in which to resolve the issue of whether a violation occurred, including the 
amount that should be retained by the County or paid to the affected worker. If the contractor or 
subcontractor and affected worker reach an agreement concerning the worker ’s claim, the contractor 
shall promptly notify the County in a written document signed by the worker. It the contractor or 

Subcontractor and affected worker do not agree before the fifteenth (15 th) calendar day after the County
determination, the contractor or subcontractor and affected worker must participate in binding arbitration 
in accordance with the Texas General Arbitration Act, Chapter 171, (Texas Civil Practice and Remedies 
Code). The parties to the arbitration have ten (10) calendar days after the expiration of the fifteen (15) 

calendar days referred to above, to agree on an arbitrator; if by the eleventh (11 th) calendar day there is 
no agreement to an arbitrator, a district court shall appoint an arbitrator on the petition of any of the 
parties to the arbitration.

If an arbitrator determines that a violation has occurred, the arbitrator shall assess and award against the 
contractor or subcontractor the amount of penalty as provided above and the amount owed the worker. 
The County may use any amounts retained hereunder to pay the worker the amount as designated in the 
arbitration award. If the County has not retained enough from the contractor or subcontractor to pay the 
worker in accordance with the arbitration award, the worker has a right of action against the contractor 
and subcontractor as appropriate, and the surety of either to receive the amount owed, attorneys ’  fees 
and court costs. The contractor shall promptly furnish a copy of the arbitration award to the County.

Money retained pursuant to the provisions above shall be used to pay the claimant or claimants the 
difference between the amount the worker received in wages for labor on the project at the rate paid by 
the contractor or subcontractor and the amount the worker would have received at the general prevailing 
wage rate as provided by the agreement of the claimant and the contractor or subcontractor affected, or 
in the arbitrator ’s award. The full statutory penalty of sixty dollars ($60.00) per calendar day of violation 
per worker shall be retained by Williamson County to offset its administrative costs, pursuant to Texas 
Government Code, Section, 2258.023. Any retained funds in excess of these amounts shall be paid to 
the contractor on the earlier of the next progress payment or final payment. Provided, however, that the 
County shall have no duty to release any funds to either the claimant or the contractor until it has 
received the notices of agreement or the arbitration award as provided under the provision herein-above.

4.46 CONFIDENTIALITY

The Bidder expressly agrees that it will not use any direct or incidental confidential information that may 
be obtained while working in a governmental setting for its own benefit, and agrees that it will not access 
unauthorized areas or confidential information and it will not disclose any information to unauthorized 
third parties, and will take care to guard the security of the information at all times.

Bid 1704-157Williamson County, Texas

4/7/2017 9:30 AM p. 21



5

6

3 4

Williamson County – Invitation for Bid (IFB)

SECTION 1 - DEFINITIONS 

Addendum/Addenda – means any written or graphic instruments issued by the County prior to the 
consideration of Bids which modify or interpret the Bid Documents by additions, deletions, clarifications, 
or corrections.

Agreement/Ensuing Agreement(s) – means the Successful Bidder may be required by the County to 
sign an additional Agreement containing terms necessary to ensure compliance with the IFB and the 
Bidder ’s Bid.  Such Ensuing Agreement(s) shall contain the Bid specifications, terms and conditions that 
are derived from the IFB.

Bid Documents – means the Legal Notice, IFB including attachments, and any Addenda issued by the 
County prior to the consideration of any Bids.

Bid – means the completed and signed bid form, (sometimes referred to as the Price Sheet), and ALL 
required forms and documentation listed in the IFB package which have been submitted in accordance 
with the terms and conditions described in the IFB package.  A Bid submitted in accordance with this IFB 
is irrevocable during the specified period for evaluation and acceptance of Bids unless a waiver is 
obtained from the Williamson County Purchasing Agent.

Bidder – means a person or entity who submits a Bid in response to this IFB.

Contract – means this IFB and the Bid of the Successful Bidder shall become a Contract between the 
Successful Bidder and the County once the Successful Bidder ’s Bid is properly accepted by the 
Williamson County Commissioners Court.

Commissioner ’s Court – means the Williamson County Commissioners Court. 

County – means Williamson County, a political subdivision of the State of Texas.

Invitation for Bid (IFB) – means this document, together with the attachments thereto and any future 
Addenda issued by the County.

Successful Bidder – means the liable Bidder to whom the County intends to award the Contract.

SECTION 2 - BID FORMAT AND SUBMISSION

2.1 ORGANIZATION OF BID CONTENTS FOR SUBMITTAL 

Each Bid should be organized and items submitted in the order described below: 

A. Transmittal Letter. Please see Section 2.3, Transmittal Letter, for more information. 

B. Price Sheet.

C. Conflict of Interest Questionnaire. Please see Section 2.2, Conflict of Interest, for more 
information in regards to this. Please note that even if you deem there to be no Conflict of Interest, 
this signed questionnaire must be included in your package. 

D. References. Please see Section 3.15, References, for more information. 

E. Bid Affidavit.

F. Form 1295. Please see Section 2.4, Certificate of Interested Parties – Form 1295. 

2.2 CONFLICT OF INTEREST

No public official shall have interest in a Contract, in accordance with Vernon ’s Texas Codes Annotated, 
Local Government Code, Title 5, Subtitle C, Chapter 171, as amended. 

As of January 1, 2006, all Bidders are responsible for complying with Local Government Code, Title 5, 
Subtitle C, Chapter 176.  Additional information may be obtained from the County’s website at the 
following link: 

http://www.wilco.org/CountyDepartments/Purchasing/ConflictofInterestDisclosure/tabid/689/language/en
US/Default.aspx

Each Bidder must disclose any existing or potential conflict of interest relative to the performance of the 
requirements of this IFB.  Examples of potential conflicts of interest may include an existing 
business or personal relationship between the Bidder, its principal, or any affiliate or 
subcontractor with the County or any other entity or person involved in any way with the project 
that is subject to this IFB .  Similarly, any personal or business relationship between the Bidder, the 

principals, or any affiliate or subcontractor with any employee, or official of the County or its suppliers 
must be disclosed.  Any such relationship that might be perceived or represented as a conflict must be 
disclosed. Failure to disclose any such relationship or reveal personal relationships with the County 
employees or officials may be cause for termination. 

The County will decide if an actual or perceived conflict should result in Bid disqualification. 

By submitting a Bid in response to this IFB, all Bidders affirm they have not given, nor intend to give, at 
any time hereafter, any economic opportunity, future employment, gift, loan, gratuity, special discount, 
trip, favor, or service to a the County public servant or any employee, official or representative of same, in 
connection with this procurement. 

Each Bidder must provide a Conflict of Interest Statement with their Bid Package.  Package may 

be deemed incomplete without this form.  

2.3 TRANSMITTAL LETTER

The Bidder should submit a Transmittal Letter that provides the following information: 

A. Name and address of individual or business entity submitting the Bid. 

B. Name, physical address, email address, business and fax number of the Bidder ’s principal 
contact person regarding all contractual matters relating to this IFB.

C. The Bid ’s Federal Employer Identification Number.

D. If the Proposal being submitted will have an effect on air quality for the County (as it relates to any 
state, federal, or voluntary air quality standard), then the Respondent is encouraged to provide
information in narrative indicating the anticipated air quality impact. See Section 4.36, Air Quality 
for more information. 

2.4 CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PARTIES – FORM 1295

As of January 1, 2016, all Successful Bidders are responsible for complying with the Texas Government 
Code, Section 2252.908.  The law states that the County may not enter into certain contracts with a 
Bidder unless the Bidder submits a disclosure of interested parties to the County at the time the Bidder 
submits the signed Contract.  The law applies only to a Contract of the County on or after January 1, 
2016 that either:

A. Requires an action or vote by the Commissioners Court before the Contract may be signed (all 
contracts that fall under the jurisdiction of the Commissioners Court approval, such as contracts 
resulting from an Initiation for Bid (IFB), RFP, Request for Qualifications (RFQ), etc., excluding, 
but not limited to, certain Juvenile Service contracts, contracts funded with Sheriff ’s seized fun 
monies, etc.); or

B. Has a value of at least $1,000,000. 

By January 1, 2016, the Texas Ethics Commission will make available on its website, a new filing 
application that must be used to file Form 1295.  Information regarding how to use the filing application is 
available on the Texas Ethics Commission website at the following link:

https://www.ethics.state.tx.us/whatsnew/elf_info_form1295.htm

A Respondent must:

A. Use the online application to process the required information on Form 1295.

B. Print a copy of the form which will contain a unique certification number.

C. An authorized agent of the Bidder must sign the printed copy of the form.

D. Have the form notarized.

E. File the completed Form 1295 and certification of filing (scanning and emailing form is sufficient) 
with Williamson County Purchasing Agent at the time the signed Contract is submitted for 
approval.

After the Commissioners Court award of the Contract, the County shall notify the Texas Ethics 
Commission, using the Texas Ethics Commission ’s filing application, of the receipt of the filed Form 
1295 and certification of filing not later than the 30th day after the date the Contract binds all parties to the 
Contract. The Texas Ethics Commission will post the completed Form 1295 to its website within seven 
business days after receiving notice from the County.

2.5 ETHICS

The Bidder shall not accept or offer gifts or anything of value nor enter into any business arrangement 
with any employee, official or agent of the County.

2.6 BID SUBMITTAL DEADLINE

The Bid is due no later than the submittal date and time set forth in the Public Announcement and 
General Information listed in this IFB package.  Contents of each Bid shall be submitted in accordance 
with this IFB.

2.7 DELIVERY OF BIDS

The County uses BidSync to distribute and receive Bids and proposals.  It is preferred that Bids
submitted electronically through BidSync; however, Bidders can submit a hard copy.  

Refer to www.bidsync.com for further information on how to submit electronically.

If mailed or delivered in person, Bids and Bid Addenda are to be delivered in sealed envelope on or before
the submittal deadline, as noted in the Public Announcement and General Information listed in this IFB 
package, to:

            Williamson County Purchasing Department
            Attn: Bid Name and Number
            901 South Austin Avenue
            Georgetown, Texas 78626

Also, all Bidders should list their Name and Address, and the Date of the Bid opening on the outside
the box or envelope and note “Sealed Bid Enclosed.” The County will not accept any Bids received after 
the submittal deadline, and shall return such Bids unopened to the Bidder.  The County will not accept 
any responsibility for Bids being delivered by third party carriers.  

Bids will be opened publically and the names of Bidders and pricing will be read aloud.

SECTION 3 - INSTRUCTIONS AND GENERAL REQUIREMENTS

3.1 INSTRUCTIONS

Read this document carefully, and follow all instructions and requirements.  All Bidders are responsible 
for fulfilling all requirements and specifications.  Be sure to have a clear understanding of this IFB.

General requirements apply to all advertised IFBs; however, these may be superseded, in whole or in 
part, by the bid specifications, Addenda and modifications issued as a part of this IFB.  Be sure your Bid 
package is complete.

3.2 AMBIGUITY, CONFLICT, OR OTHER ERRORS IN THIS IFB

If a Bidder discovers any ambiguity, conflict, discrepancy, omission or other error in this IFB, the Bidder 
shall immediately notify the County Purchasing Department of such error in writing and request
modification or clarification of the document.

Modifications will be made by issuing Addenda. If the Bidder fails to notify the County prior to the date
and time fixed for submission of Bids of an error or ambiguity in the IFB known to the Bidder, or an error
or ambiguity that reasonably should have been known to the Bidder, then the Bidder shall be deemed to 
have waived the error or ambiguity or its later resolution.

The County may also modify the IFB, no later than forty-eight (48) hours prior to the date and time fixed
for submission of Bids, by issuance of an Addendum.  All Addenda will be numbered consecutively, 
beginning with one (1).

3.3 NOTIFICATION OF MOST CURRENT ADDRESS

All Bidders in receipt of this IFB shall notify the Williamson County Purchasing Department of any
address changes, contact person changes, and/or telephone number changes no later than forty-eight 
(48) hours prior to the date and time fixed for submission of Bids.

3.4 SIGNATURE OF BIDDER

A. If the Bidder is a Corporation or Limited Liability Company, the legal name of the Corporation
Limited Liability Company shall be provided together with the signature of the officer or officers 
authorized to sign on behalf of such entity.

B. If the Bidder is a General Partnership, the true name of the firm shall be provided with the
signature of each partner authorized to sign.

C. If the Bidder is a Limited Partnership, the name of the Limited Partner ’s General Partner shall
provided with the signature of the officer authorized to sign on behalf of the General Partner.

D. If the Bidder is a Sole Proprietor(s) (individual), each Sole Proprietor(s) shall sign.

E. If signature is by an agent, other than the Sole Proprietor(s) or an officer of a Corporation, Limited 
Liability Company, General Partner or a member of a General Partnership, a power of attorney
equivalent document must be submitted to the Williamson County Purchasing Department.

3.5 ASSUMED BUSINESS NAME

If the Bidder operates business under an Assumed Business Name, the Bidder must have on file with the
Williamson County Clerk a current Assumed Name Certificate and provide a file marked copy of same.

3.6 BID OBLIGATION 

The contents of the IFB, Bid, and any clarification thereof submitted by the Successful Bidder shall
become part of the contractual obligation and incorporated by reference into the Contract and any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

3.7 COMPLIANCE WITH IFB SPECIFICATIONS

It is intended that this IFB describe the requirements and the Bid format in sufficient detail to secure 
comparable Bids.  Failure to comply with all provisions of the IFB may, at the sole discretion of the 
County, result in disqualification.

3.8 WITHDRAWAL OF BID

The Bidder may withdraw its Bid by submitting a written request with the company letterhead and the 
signature of an authorized individual, as described in Section 3.4, Signature of Bidder, to the Williamson 
County Purchasing Department any time prior to the submission deadline.  

The Bidder may submit a new Bid prior to the deadline. Alterations of the Bid in any manner will not be 
considered if submitted after the deadline.  Withdrawal of a Bid after the deadline will be subject to written 
approval of the Williamson County Purchasing Agent.

3.9 EVALUATION AND AWARD

The County reserves the right to use all pertinent information (also learned from sources other than 
disclosed in the Bid process) that might affect the County ’s judgment as to the appropriateness of
award to the lowest and best evaluated Bid. This information may be appended to the Bid evaluation
process results. Information on a Bidder from reliable sources, and not within the Bidder ’s Bid, may also 
be noted and made part of the evaluation fi le.  The County shall have sole discretion for determining 
the reliability of the source.

To ensure the proper and fair evaluation of a solicitation, the County prohibits unsolicited communication 
initiated by the Bidder to the County Official or Employee evaluating or considering the Bids prior to the 
time an award has been made. Unsolicited communication may be ground for disqualifying the 
offending Bidder from consideration or award of the solicitation, or any future solicitation.

Communication between the Bidder and the County will be initiated by the appropriate County Official
Employee in order to obtain information or clarification needed to develop a proper and accurate 
evaluation of the solicitation.

The County intends to award a Contract to the most responsible and responsive Bidder whose Bid will 
be most advantageous to the County. In accordance with Texas Government Code and Local
Government Code, the County may consider, to the extent allowed by law, the following:

A. Price;
B. The Bidder ’s experience and reputation;
C. Quality of the Bidder ’s goods and/or services; 
D. The Bidder ’s safety record;
E. The Bidder ’s proposed personnel; 
F. The Bidder ’s financial capabilities; and 
G. Any other relevant factors specifically listed in this IFB or authorized by law.

3.10 CONDISERATION OF LOCATION OF PRINCIPAL OFFICE 

Pursuant to Texas Local Government Code, Section 271.905 , in purchasing any real property or personal
property that is not affixed to real property, if the County receives one or more Bids from a Bidder whose
principal place of business is in Williamson County and whose Bid is within three (3 )  percent of the
lowest Bid price received by the County from a Bidder who is not a resident of Williamson County, the 
County may enter into a contract with:

A. The lowest Bidder; or the Bidder whose principal place of business is in Williamson County if the
Commissioners Court determines, in writing, that the local Bidder offers the County the best 
combination of contract price and addit ional economic development opportunities
Williamson County created by the contract award, including the employment of residents
Williamson County and increased tax revenues to Williamson County.

It is understood that the Commissioners Court of Williamson County, Texas, reserves the right to accept
or reject any and/or all Bids for any or all goods and/or services covered in this IFB, and to waive
informalities or defects in the Bid or to accept such Bid, if it shall deem to be in the best interest of the 
County.

Awards should be made approximately sixty (60) business days after the Bid opening date. Results may
be obtained by viewing the Williamson County vendor portal at the following link:

http://www.wilco.org/CountyDepartments/Purchasing/SearchforaPastBid/tabid/5213/language/en-
US/Default.aspx

3.11 RESPONSIBILITY 

It is expected that a prospective Bidder will be able to affirmatively demonstrate responsibility.  A 
prospective Bidder should be able to meet the following requirements:

A. Have adequate financial resources, or the ability to obtain such resources as required;
B. Be able to comply with the required or proposed delivery schedule;
C. Have a satisfactory record of performance that can be determined thru references provided; and 
D. Be otherwise qualified and eligible to receive an award.

The County may request representation and other information sufficient to determine the Bidder's ability 
to meet these minimum standards listed above.

3.12 FIRM PRICING 

For unit price items, all of the items listed are to be on a “per unit” basis, stating a firm price per unit or 
unit quantity of each item.  The Bidder must submit a firm price that must be good from the date of Bid 
opening for the fixed period of time set out in this IFB.  Unless the IFB expressly states otherwise, this 
period shall be until the end of the Initial Contract Period.

Bids which do not state a fixed price, or which are subject to change without notice, will not be 
considered.  The Court may award a Contract for the period implied or expressly stated in the lowest and 
best Bid.

3.13 PURCHASE ORDERS

If required by the Williamson County Purchasing Department, a purchase order(s) may be generated to 
the Successful Bidder for goods and/or services.  If a purchase order is issued, the purchase order 
number must appear on all itemized invoices and/or requests for payment.

3.14 SILENCE OF SPECIFICATIONS

The apparent silence of these specifications as to any detail or to the apparent omission from it of a 
detailed description concerning any point, shall be regarded as meaning that only the best practices are 
to prevail.  All interpretations of these specifications shall be made on the basis of this statement.

3.15 REFERENCES

The County may require the Bidder to supply a list of at least three (3) references where like services
and/or goods have been supplied by their firm within the past five (5) years, to include names, titles, 
phone numbers and email addresses of key personnel, and dates of performance.

The County may contact some or all of the references in order to determine the Respondent
performance record on work similar to that described in this RFP.  The County reserves the right to 
contact references other than those provided in the response and to use the information gained from 
them in the evaluation process.

References, if requested, should be provided in accordance with this IFB.  Bid may not be deemed 
complete without the inclusion of requested references.

SECTION 4 - TERMS AND CONDITIONS

4.1 VENUE AND GOVERNING LAW

The Bidder hereby agrees and acknowledges that venue and jurisdiction of any suit, right, or cause of 
action arising out of or in connection with this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s), shall lie 
exclusively in either Williamson County, Texas or in the Austin Division of the Western Federal District of 
Texas, and the parties hereto expressly consent and submit to such jurisdiction.  Furthermore, except to 
the extent that this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) is governed by the laws of the United 
States, this IFB, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be governed by and construed in 
accordance with the laws of the State of Texas, excluding, however, its choice of law rules.

4.2 INCORPORATION BY REFERENCE AND PRECEDENCE

A. The Contract shall be derived from the IFB and its Addenda (if applicable), and the Bidder ’ s Bid.  In 
the event of a dispute under the Contract, applicable documents will be referred to for the purpose 
of clarification or for additional detail in the following order of precedence:

1. The IFB and its Addenda (if applicable); and

2. The Bidder ’s Bid.

B. In the event the County requires that an Ensuing Agreement be executed following award and a 
dispute arises between the terms and conditions of the Ensuing Agreement, the IFB and its 
Addenda (if applicable), and the Bidder ’s Bid, applicable documents will be referred to for the 
purpose of clarification or for additional detail in the following order of precedence: 

1. Terms and conditions of the Ensuing Agreement;

2. The IFB its Addenda; and 

3. The Bidder ’s Bid.

4.3 OWNERSHIP OF BID

Each Bid shall become the property of the County upon submittal and will not be returned to Bidders 
unless received after the submittal deadline.

4.4 DISQUALIFICATION OF BIDDER

Upon signing and submittal of the Bid, a Bidder offering to sell supplies, materials, services, or equipment 
to the County, certifies that the Bidder has not violated the antitrust laws of the State of Texas codified in 
Business & Commerce Code, Section 15.01, or the Federal Antitrust Laws, and has not communicated 
directly or indirectly the offer made to any competitor or any other person engaged in such line of 
business.  Any or all Bids may be rejected if the County believes that collusion exists among the Bidders.

4.5 FUNDING

The County intends to budget and make sufficient funds available and authorize funds for expenditure to 
finance the costs of the Contract.  All Bidders understand and agree that the County’s payment of 
amounts under the Contract shall be contingent on the County receiving appropriations or other 
expenditure authority sufficient to allow the County, in the exercise of reasonable administrative 
discretion, to make payments under this Contract.

4.6 ASSIGNMENT, SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS 

The Successful Bidder may not assign, sell, or otherwise transfer the Contract or any other rights or 
interests obtained under the Contract without written permission of the Commissioners Court.  The 
Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the contracting 
parties hereto and their respective successors and permitted assigns.

4.7 IMPLIED REQUIREMENTS

Products or services not specifically described or required in the IFB, but are necessary to provide the 
functional capabilities described by the Bidder, shall be implied and deemed to be included in the Bid.

4.8 TERMINATION

A. Termination for Cause: The County reserves the right to terminate the Contract and/or any 
Ensuing Agreement(s) for default if the Successful Bidder breaches any of the Bid specifications,
terms and conditions, including warranties of the Bidder, if any, or if the Successful Bidder 
becomes insolvent or commits acts of bankruptcy.  Such right of termination is in addition to and
not in lieu of any other remedies the County may have at law or in equity or as may otherwise
provided hereunder.  Default may be construed as, but not limited to, failure to deliver the proper 
goods and/or services within the proper amount of time, and/or to properly perform any and all 
other requirements to the County ’s satisfaction, and/or to meet all other obligations and
requirements.

B. Termination for Convenience: The County may terminate the Contract and/or any Ensuing 
Agreement(s) for convenience and without cause or further liability, upon no less than thirty (30) 
calendar days written notice to the Successful Bidder. The County reserves the right to extend 
this period if it is in the best interest of the County.  In the event the County exercises its right to 
terminate without cause, it is understood and agreed that only the amounts due to the Successful 
Bidder for goods, commodities and/or services provided and expenses incurred to and including 
the date of termination, will be due and payable.  No penalty will be assessed for the County
termination for convenience.

4.9 NON-PERFORMANCE

It is the objective of the County to obtain complete and satisfactory performance of the requirements set 
forth herein.  In addition to any other remedies available at law, in equity or that may be set out herein, 
failure to perform may result in a deduction of payment equal to the amount of the goods and/or services 
that were not provided and/or performed to the County ’s satisfaction.  

In the event of such non-performance, the County shall have the right, but shall not be obligated, to 
complete the services itself or by others and/or purchase the goods from other sources.  If the County 
elects to acquire the goods or perform the services itself or by others, pursuant to the foregoing, the 
Successful Bidder shall reimburse the County, within ten (10) calendar days of demand, for all costs 
incurred by the County (including, without limitation, applicable, general, and administrative expenses, 
and field overhead, and the cost of necessary equipment, materials, and field labor) in correcting the 
nonperformance which the Successful Bidder fails to meet pursuant to the requirements set out herein.  
In the event the Successful Bidder refuses to reimburse the County as set out in this provision, the 
County shall have the right to deduct such reimbursement amounts from any amounts that may be then 
owing or that may become owing in the future to the Successful Bidder.

4.10 PROPRIETARY INFORMATION AND THE TEXAS PUBLIC INFORMATION ACT

All material submitted to the County shall become public property and subject to the Texas Public 
Information Act upon receipt. If a Bidder does not desire proprietary information in the Bid to be 
disclosed, each page must be clearly identified and marked proprietary at time of submittal or, more 
preferably, all proprietary information may be placed in a folder or appendix and be clearly identified and 
marked as being proprietary.  Failure to clearly identify and mark information as being proprietary as set 
forth under this provision will result in all unmarked information being deemed non-proprietary and 
available to the public.  For all information that has not been clearly identified and marked as proprietary 
by the Bidder, the County may choose to place such information on the County ’s website and/or a similar 
public database without obtaining any type of prior consent from the Bidder.

The County will, to the extent allowed by law, endeavor to protect from public disclosure the information 
that has been identified and marked as proprietary.  The final decision as to what information must be 
disclosed, however, lies with the Texas Attorney General.  

To the extent, if any, that any provision in this IFB or in the Bidder ’s Bid is in conflict with Texas 
Government Code, Chapter 552, as amended (the “Public Information Act”), the same shall be of no 
force or effect.  Furthermore, it is expressly understood, and agreed, that the County, and its officers and 
employees, may request advice, decisions and opinions of the Attorney General of the State of Texas in 
regard to the application of the Public Information Act to any items or data furnished to the County as to 
whether or not the same are available to the public.  It is further understood that the County, and its 
officers and employees, shall have the right to rely on the advice, decisions and opinions of the Attorney 
General, and that the County, its officers and employees shall have no liability or obligation to any party 
hereto for the disclosure to the public, or to any person or persons, of any items or data furnished to the 
County by a party hereto, in reliance of any advice, decision or opinion of the Attorney General of the 
State of Texas.

4.11 RIGHT TO AUDIT

The Successful Bidder agrees that the County or its duly authorized representatives shall, until the 
expiration of three (3) years after termination or expiration of the services to be performed, have access 
to and the right to examine and photocopy any and all books, documents, papers and records of the 
Successful Bidder, which are directly pertinent to the services to be performed or goods to be delivered 
for the purposes of making audits, examinations, excerpts and transcriptions.  The Successful Bidder 
agrees that the County shall have access during normal working hours to all necessary facilities and 
shall be provided adequate and appropriate work space in order to conduct audits in compliance with the 
provisions of this section.  The County shall give the Successful Bidder reasonable advance notice of 
intended audits.

4.12 TESTING AND INSPECTIONS

The County reserves the right to inspect and test equipment, supplies, materials and goods for quality 
and compliance with this IFB, and ability to meet the needs of the user.  Demonstration units must be 
available for review.  Should the goods or services fail to meet requirements and/or be unavailable for 
evaluation, the County can deem the Bidder to be in breach and terminate the Contract and/or any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

4.13 BID PREPARATION COSTS

The cost of developing Bids is the sole responsibility of the Bidders and shall not be charged to the 
County.  There is no expressed or implied obligation for the County to reimburse the Bidders for any 
expense incurred in preparing a Bid in response to this IFB and the County will not reimburse the Bidders 
for such expenses.

4.14 INDEMNIFICATION

The Successful Bidder shall indemnify, defend and save harmless, the County, its officials, employees, 
agents and agent ’s employees from, and against, all claims, liability, and expenses including reasonable 
attorneys ’   fees, arising from activities of the Bidder, its agents, servants or employees, performed 
hereunder that result from the negligent act, error, or omission of the Bidder or any of the Bidder
agents, servants or employees, as well as all claims of loss or damage to the Bidder ’s and the County
property, equipment, and/or supplies. 

Furthermore, the County, its officials, employees, agents and agents ’ employees shall not be liable for 
damages to the Successful Bidder arising from any act of any third party, including, but not limited to, 
theft.  The Successful Bidder further agrees to indemnify, defend and save harmless, the County from its 
officials, employee, agents and agents ’ employees against all claims of whatever nature arising from any 
accident, injury, or damage whatsoever, caused to any person, or the property of any person, occurring 
in relation to the Successful Bidder ’s performance of any services requested hereunder during the term 
of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s). 

The Successful Bidder shall timely report all claims, demands, suits, actions, proceedings, liens or 
judgements to the County and shall, upon the receipt of any claim, demand, suit, action, proceeding, lien 

or judgement, not later than the fifteenth (15 th) day of each month; provide the County with a written 
report on each such matter, setting forth the status of each matter, the schedule or planned proceedings 
with respect to each matter and the cooperation or assistance, if any, of the County required by the 
Successful Bidder in the defense of each matter.  The Successful Bidder’s duty to defend, indemnify and 
hold the County harmless shall be absolute.  It shall not abate or end by reason of the expiration or 
termination of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s), unless otherwise agreed by the County in 
writing.  The provisions of this section shall survive the termination of the Contract and shall remain in full 
force and effect with respect to all such matters no matter when they arise. 

In the event of any dispute between the parties, as to whether a claim, demand, suit, action, proceeding, 
lien or judgement, that appears to have been caused by or appears to have arisen out of or in connection 
with acts or omissions of the County, the Bidder shall nevertheless fully defend such claim, demand, suit 
or action, proceeding, lien or judgement, until and unless there is a determination by a court of competent 
jurisdiction that the acts and omissions of the Bidder are not an issue in the matter. 

The Successful Bidder ’s indemnification shall cover, and the Successful Bidder agrees to, indemnify the 
County, in the event the County is found to have been negligent for having selected the Successful 
Bidder to perform the work described in this request.  The provision by the Successful Bidder of 
insurance shall not limit the liability of the Successful Bidder under the Contract and/or any Ensuing 
Agreement(s). 

4.15 WAIVER OF SUBROGATION

The Successful Bidder and the Successful Bidder ’s insurance carrier waive any and all rights 
whatsoever with regard to subrogation against the County as an indirect party to any suit arising out of 
personal or property damages resulting from the Bidder ’s performance under this Contract and any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

4.16 RELATIONSHIP OF THE PARTIES

The Successful Bidder shall be an independent contractor and shall assume all of the rights, obligations, 
liabilities, applicable to it as such independent contractor hereunder and any provisions herein which may 
appear to give the County the right to direct the Successful Bidder as to details of doing work herein 
covered, or to exercise a measure of control over the work, shall be deemed to mean that the Successful 
Bidder shall follow the desires of the County in the results of the work only.  The County shall not retain or 
have the right to control the Successful Bidder ’s means, methods or details pertaining to the Successful 
Bidder ’s performance of the work.  The County and the Successful Bidder hereby agree and declare that 
the Successful Bidder is an independent contractor and as such meets the qualifications of an 
“Independent Contractor” under Texas Workers Compensation Act, Texas Labor Code, Section 406.141, 
that the Successful Bidder is not an employee of  the County, and that the Successful Bidder and its 
employees, agents and subcontractors shall not be entitled to workers compensation coverage or any 
other type of insurance coverage held by the County.

4.17 SOLE PROVIDER

The Successful Bidder agrees and acknowledges that it shall not be considered a sole provider of the 
goods and/or services described herein and that the County may contract with other providers of such 
goods and/or services if the County deems, at its sole discretion, that multiple providers of the same 
goods and/or services will serve the best interest of the County.

4.18 FORCE MAJEURE

If the party obligated to perform is prevented from performance by an act of war, order of legal authority, 
act of God, or other unavoidable cause not attributable to the fault or negligence of said party, the other 
party shall grant such party relief from the performance.  The burden of proof for the need of such relief 
shall rest upon the party obligated to perform.  To obtain release based on force majeure, the party 
obligated to perform shall file a written request with the other party.

4.19 SEVERABILITY

If any provision of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be held invalid or 
unenforceable by any court of competent jurisdiction, such holding shall not invalidate or render 
unenforceable any other provision thereof, but rather the entire IFB, Contract or any Ensuing Agreement
(s) will be construed as if not containing the particular invalid or unenforceable provision or provisions, 
and the rights and obligation of the parties shall be construed and enforced in accordance therewith.  The 
parties acknowledge that if any provision of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) is 
determined to be invalid or unenforceable, it is the desire and intention of each that such provision be 
reformed and construed in such a manner that it will, to the maximum extent practicable, give effect to
the intent of this IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) and be deemed to be validated and
enforceable.

4.20 EQUAL OPPORTUNITY

Neither party shall discriminate against any employee or applicant for employment because of race, 
color, sex, religion or national origin.

4.21 NOTICE

Any notice to be given shall be in writing and may be distributed by personal delivery, or by registered or 
certified mail, return receipt requested, addressed to the proper party, at the following address:

The County:    Williamson County Purchasing Department 
            Attn: Purchasing Agent 
            901 South Austin Avenue 
            Georgetown, Texas 78626

The Bidder:     Address set out in Bidder’s Transmittal Letter.

Notices given in accordance with this provision shall be effective upon (1) receipt by the party to which 
notice is given, or (2) on the third (3rd) calendar day following mailing, whichever occurs first.

4.22 SALES AND USE TAX EXEMPTION

The County is a body, corporate and politic, under the laws of the State of Texas and claims exemption 
from sales and use taxes under Texas Tax Code, Section 151.309, as amended, and the services and/or 
goods subject hereof are being secured for use by the County.

4.23 COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS

The County and the Successful Bidder shall comply with all federal, state, and local laws, statutes,
ordinances, rules and regulations, and the orders and decrees of any courts or administrative bodies or 
tribunals in any matter affecting the performance of the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s),
including, without limitation, Workers ’ Compensation laws, salary and wage statutes and regulations, 
licensing laws and regulations.  When required, the Successful Bidder shall furnish the County with 
certification of compliance with said laws, statues, ordinances, rules, regulations, orders, and decrees 
above specified.

4.24 INCORPORATION OF EXHIBITS, APPENDICES AND ATTACHMENTS

All of the Exhibits, Appendices and Attachments referred to herein are incorporated by reference as if set 
forth verbatim herein.  Any conflicting terms in the Contract documents will be resolved at the sole 
discretion of the Commissioners Court.

4.25 NO WAIVER OF IMMUNITIES

Nothing herein shall be deemed to waive, modify or amend any legal defense available at law or in equity 
to the County, its past or present officers, employees, or agents, nor to create any legal rights or claim on 
behalf of any third party.  The County does not waive, modify, or alter to any extent whatsoever the 
availability of the defense of governmental immunity under the laws of the State of Texas and of the 
United States.

4.26 NO WAIVER

The failure or delay of any party to enforce at any time or any period of time any of the provisions of this 
IFB, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall not constitute a present or future waiver of such 
provisions nor the right of either party to enforce each and every provision.  Furthermore, no term or 
provision hereof shall be deemed waived and no breach excused unless such waiver or consent shall be 
in writing and signed by the party claimed to have waived or consented.  Any consent by any party to, or 
waiver of, a breach by the other, whether expressed or implied, shall not constitute a consent to, waiver 
of or excuse for any other, different or subsequent breach.

4.27 CURRENT REVENUES

The obligations of the parties under the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) do not constitute a 
general obligation or indebtedness of the County for which the County is obligated to levy, pledge, or 
collect any of taxation.  It is understood and agreed that the County shall have the right to terminate the 
Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) at the end of any the County fiscal year if the governing body of 
the County does not appropriate sufficient funds as determined by the County ’s budget for the fiscal year 
in question.  The County may effect such termination by giving written notice of termination to the 
Successful Bidder at the end of its then-current fiscal year.

4.28 FOB DESTINATION

To the extent applicable to this IFB, all of the items listed are to be Free On Board to final destination 
(FOB Destination) with all transportation charges if applicable to be included in the Bid, unless otherwise 
specified in the Invitation for Bids.  The title and risk of loss of the goods shall not pass to the County until 
receipt and acceptance takes place at the FOB Destination point.

4.29 BINDING EFFECT

This Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties 
and their respective permitted assigns and successors.

4.30 ASSIGNMENT

The Successful Bidder ’s interest and duties hereunder may not be assigned or delegated to a third party 
without the express written consent of the County.

4.31 SAFETY

The Successful Bidder is responsible for initiating, maintaining, and supervising all safety precautions 
and programs in connection with any services to be provided hereunder. The safety program shall 
comply with all applicable requirements of the current federal Occupational Safety and Health Act and all 
other applicable federal, state and local laws and regulations.

4.32 GENERAL OBLIGATIONS AND RELIANCE

The Successful Bidder shall perform all services and/or provide all goods, as well as those reasonably
inferable and necessary for completion and provision of services and/or goods required hereunder. The
Successful Bidder shall keep the County informed of the progress and quality of the services.  The 
Successful Bidder agrees and acknowledges that the County is relying on the Successful Bidder's 
represented expertise and ability to provide the goods and/or services described herein.  The Successful
Bidder agrees to use its best efforts, skill, judgment, and abilities to perform its obligations in accordance
with the highest standards used in the profession and to further the interests of the County 
accordance with the County ’s requirements and procedures.    T h e   Successful Bidder ’s duties,
set forth herein, shall at no time be in any way diminished by reason of any approval by the County, nor
shall the Successful Bidder be released from any liability by reason of such approval by the County, it 
being understood that the County at all times is ultimately relying upon the Successful Bidder ’s skill and 
knowledge in performing the services and providing any goods required hereunder.

4.33 ESTIMATED QUANTITIES

To the extent applicable to this IFB, the estimated quantity of each item listed in this IFB is only
estimate; the actual quantity to be purchased may be more or less. The County is not obligated
purchase any minimum amount, and the County may purchase any reasonable amount greater than the
estimate for the same unit price. Any limit on quantities available must be stated expressly in the Bid.

4.34 CONTRACTUAL DEVELOPMENT

The contents of the IFB and the Successful Bidder ’s Bid will become an integral part of the Contract, but 
may be modified, at the County ’s sole discretion, by provisions of an Ensuing Agreement.  Therefore, the 
Bidder must agree to an inclusion of an Ensuing Agreement of the Bid specifications, terms and 
conditions of this IFB.  If an Ensuing Agreement is required under this IFB, information relative to the 
Agreement will be located in the Special Provisions Section of this IFB.

4.35 SURVIVABILITY 

All applicable agreements that were entered into between the Successful Bidder and the County, under 
the terms and conditions of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s), shall survive the expiration or 
termination thereof for ninety (90) days unless a new contract has been awarded.

The County may exercise, by written notice to the Successful Bidder no later than ten (10) calendar days 
of the Contract expiration, this clause for emergencies only. 

4.36 AIR QUALITY

In determining the overall best Bid, the County may, to the extent applicable, exercise the option granted 
to local governments under the Texas Local Government Code, Section 271.907.

This option allows the County to evaluate Bids and give preference to goods and/or services of a Bidder 
that demonstrates that the Bidder meets or exceeds any and all state or federal environmental 
standards, including voluntary standards, relating to air quality.  If the Bid being submitted will have an 
effect on air quality for the County (as it relates to any state, federal, or voluntary air quality standard), 
then the Bidder is encouraged to provide information in narrative indicating the anticipated air quality 
impact.  All Bidders are expected to meet all mandated state and federal air quality standards.

4.37 ENTIRE AGREEMENT

The Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall supersede all prior Agreements, written or oral 
between the Successful Bidder and the County and shall constitute the entire Agreement and 
understanding between the parties with respect to the services and/or goods to be provided.  Each of the 
provisions herein shall be binding upon the parties and may not be waived, modified, amended or altered, 
except by writing signed by the Successful Bidder and the County.

4.38 PAYMENT

The County ’s payment for goods and services shall be governed by the Texas Government Code, 

Chapter 2251.  An invoice shall be deemed overdue the thirty-first (31st) day after the later of the 
following: 

A. The date the County receives the goods under the Contract; 
B. The date the performance of the service under the Contract is completed; or 
C. The date the Williamson County Auditor receives an invoice for the goods or services.  

Interest charges for any overdue payments shall be paid by the County in accordance with Texas 
Government Code, Section 2251.025.  More specifically, the rate of interest that shall accrue on a late 
payment is the rate in effect on September 1 of the County ’s fiscal year in which the payment becomes 
due.  The said rate in effect on September 1 shall be equal to the sum of one (1) percent, and the prime 

rate published in the Wall Street Journal on the first (1st) day of July of the preceding fiscal year that does 
not fall on a Saturday or Sunday.

In the event that an error appears in an invoice submitted by the Successful Bidder, the County shall 
notify the Successful Bidder of the error not later than the twenty-first (21st) day after the date the County 
receives the invoice.  If the error is resolved in favor of the Successful Bidder, the Successful Bidder 
shall be entitled to receive interest on the unpaid balance of the invoice submitted by the Successful 
Bidder beginning on the date that the payment for the invoice became overdue.  If the error is resolved in 
favor of the County, the Successful Bidder shall submit a corrected invoice that must be paid in 
accordance within the time set forth above.  The unpaid balance accrues interest as provided by the 
Texas Government Code, Chapter 2251, if the corrected invoice is not paid by the appropriate date.

As a minimum, invoices shall include:

A. Name, address, and telephone number of the Successful Bidder and similar information in the 
event the payment is to be made to a different address. 

B. The County Contract, Purchase Order. 

C. Identification of items or service as outlined in the Contract. 

D. Quantity or quantities, applicable unit prices, total prices and total amount. 

E. Any additional payment information which may be called for by the Contract. 

Payment inquiries should be directed to the following address:        

            Williamson County Auditor’s Office, Accounts Payable Department
            Email: accountspayable@wilco.org
            Phone: 512-943-1500

4.39 CONTRACTUAL FORMATION AND ENSUING AGREEMENT

The IFB and the Bidder ’s Bid, when properly accepted by the Commissioners Court, shall constitute a
Contract equally binding between the Successful Bidder and the County.

If an Ensuing Agreement is required by this IFB, that information will be provided in Special 
Provisions section of this IFB.  The Successful Bidder shall be required to execute the Agreement at 
the Williamson County Purchasing Department approximately ten (10) calendar days after the 
Successful Bidder is notified of award.  The Ensuing Agreement shall be in the same form as the 
Agreement which is attached to the end of this IFB.  The only anticipated changes in the Ensuing 
Agreement will be to include additional exhibits, to fill in blanks to identify the Successful Bidder, and 
terms relating to the compensation, or to revise the Agreement to accommodate corrections, changes in 
the scope of services, or changes pursuant to Addenda issued.  Bidders should raise any questions 
regarding the terms of the Agreement in the form of written questions or submittals as 
described in the Public Announcement and General Information portion of this IFB.  Because the 
signed Ensuing Agreement will be substantively and substantially derived from the attached Agreement, 
each Bidder is urged to seek independent legal counsel as to any questions about the terms, conditions 
or provisions contained in the Agreement before submitting a Bid.  Again, the attached Agreement, if 
applicable, contains important legal provisions and is considered part and parcel of this IFB.  Failure or 
refusal to sign aforesaid Agreement shall be grounds for the County to revoke any award which has been 
issued, forfeit Bid security, if applicable, and select another Bidder.

4.40 COOPERATIVE PURCHASING PROGRAM 

During the term of the Contract resulting from this IFB, the County would like to afford the same prices, 
terms and conditions to other political subdivisions or public entities.  Another entity’s participation in the 
Contract resulting from this IFB is subject to a properly authorized Purchasing Cooperative Inter- local 
Agreement with the County.  Any liability created by purchase orders issued against the Contract shall be 
the sole responsibility of the governmental agency placing the order.

4.41 INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS

To the extent applicable Insurance information will appear in the Additional Stipulations section that is in 
this IFB Package. 

4.42 BIDDERS BOND, WARRANTY BOND, PERFORMANCE AND PAYMENT BONDS

To the extent applicable Bond information will appear in the Additional Stipulations section that is in this 
IFB Package. 

4.43 LEGAL LIABILITY INFORMATION

The Successful Bidder shall disclose all legal liability information by listing any pending litigation
anticipated litigation that your firm is involved in including, but not limited to, potential or actual legal
matters with private parties and any local, state, federal or international governmental entities. The
County reserves the right to consider legal liability information in the recommendation of any proposed 
contract to the Commissioners Court.

4.44 INCLEMENT WEATHER

In case of inclement weather or any other unforeseen event causing the County to close for business on 
the date of a Bid submission deadline, the Bid closing will automatically be postponed until the next 
business day the County is open.  If inclement weather conditions or any other unforeseen event causes 
delays in carrier service operations, the County may issue an Addendum to all known Bidders interested 
in the project to extend the deadline.  It will be the responsibility of the Bidder to notify the County of their 
interest in the project if these conditions are impacting their ability to turn in a submission within the 
stated deadline.  The County reserves the right to make the final judgement call to extend any deadline. 

4.45 PREVAILING WAGE RATES

To the extent this procurement is for the construction of a public work, including a building, highway, 
road, excavation, and repair work or other project development or improvement, paid for in whole or in 
part from public funds, without regard to whether the work is done under public supervision or direction, 
Texas Government Code, Chapter 2258, shall apply and the contractor shall pay not less than the wage 
scale of the various classes of labor as shown on the “Prevailing Wage Schedule” provided by the 
County. Pursuant to Texas Government Code, Section 2258.022(a)(2), the County has determined the 
general prevailing rate of the “Prevailing Wage Schedule”  in the locality in which the public work is to be 
performed for each craft or type of worker needed to execute the contract and the prevailing rate for legal 
holiday and overtime work by using the prevailing wage rate as determined by the United States 
Department of Labor in accordance with the United States Code, Section 276a (Davis-Bacon Act). 

The specified wage rates are minimum rates only, and are not representations that qualified labor 
adequate to perform the work is available locally at the prevailing wage rates. The County is not bound to 
pay—and will not consider—any claims for additional compensation made by any contractor because the 
contractor pays wages in excess of the applicable minimum rate contained in the Contract Documents. 
The “Prevailing Wage Schedule”  is not a representation that quantities of qualified labor adequate to 
perform the work may be found locally at the specified wage rates.

For classifications not shown, workers shall not be paid less than the wage indicated for laborers. The 
contractor shall notify each worker commencing work on the project the worker ’s job classification and 
the established minimum wage rate required to be paid, as well as the actual amount being paid. The 
notice must be delivered to and signed in acknowledgement of receipt by the employee and must list 
both the monetary wages and fringe benefits to be paid or furnished for each classification in which the 
worker is assigned duties. When requested by the County, competent evidence of compliance with the 
Texas Prevailing Wage Law shall be furnished by contractor. A copy of each worker wage rate 
notification shall be submitted to the County with the Application for Payment for the period during which 
the worker began on-site activities.

Should the contractor at any time become aware that a particular skill or trade not reflected on the 
County ’s “Prevailing Wage Schedule” will be or is being employed in the work, whether by the contractor 
or by a subcontractor, the contractor shall promptly inform the County and shall specify a wage rate for 
that skill or trade, which shall bind the contractor.

The contractor and any subcontractor shall pay to the County a penalty of sixty dollars ($60.00) for each 
worker employed for each calendar day, or portion thereof, that the worker is paid less than the wage 
rates stipulated in the “Prevailing Wage Schedule” or any supplement thereto. The contractor and each 
subcontractor shall keep, or cause to be kept, an accurate record showing the names and occupations 
of all workers employed in connection with the work, and showing the actual per diem wages paid to 
each worker, which records shall be open at all reasonable hours for the inspection by the County.

Within thirty-one (31) days of receipt of information concerning a violation of the Texas Government Code 
Chapter 2258, the County shall make an initial determination as to whether good cause exists to believe 
a violation occurred. The County ’s decision on the initial determination shall be reduced to writing and 
sent to the contractor or subcontractor against whom the violation was alleged, and to the affected 
worker. When a good cause finding is made, the County shall retain the full amounts claimed by the 
claimant or claimants as the difference between wages paid and wages due under the “Prevailing Wage 
Schedule” and any supplements thereto, together with the applicable penalties, such amounts being 
subtracted from successive progress payments pending a final decision on the violation.

After the County makes its initial determination, the affected contractor or subcontractor and worker have 
fourteen (14) calendar days in which to resolve the issue of whether a violation occurred, including the 
amount that should be retained by the County or paid to the affected worker. If the contractor or 
subcontractor and affected worker reach an agreement concerning the worker ’s claim, the contractor 
shall promptly notify the County in a written document signed by the worker. It the contractor or 

Subcontractor and affected worker do not agree before the fifteenth (15 th) calendar day after the County
determination, the contractor or subcontractor and affected worker must participate in binding arbitration 
in accordance with the Texas General Arbitration Act, Chapter 171, (Texas Civil Practice and Remedies 
Code). The parties to the arbitration have ten (10) calendar days after the expiration of the fifteen (15) 

calendar days referred to above, to agree on an arbitrator; if by the eleventh (11 th) calendar day there is 
no agreement to an arbitrator, a district court shall appoint an arbitrator on the petition of any of the 
parties to the arbitration.

If an arbitrator determines that a violation has occurred, the arbitrator shall assess and award against the 
contractor or subcontractor the amount of penalty as provided above and the amount owed the worker. 
The County may use any amounts retained hereunder to pay the worker the amount as designated in the 
arbitration award. If the County has not retained enough from the contractor or subcontractor to pay the 
worker in accordance with the arbitration award, the worker has a right of action against the contractor 
and subcontractor as appropriate, and the surety of either to receive the amount owed, attorneys ’  fees 
and court costs. The contractor shall promptly furnish a copy of the arbitration award to the County.

Money retained pursuant to the provisions above shall be used to pay the claimant or claimants the 
difference between the amount the worker received in wages for labor on the project at the rate paid by 
the contractor or subcontractor and the amount the worker would have received at the general prevailing 
wage rate as provided by the agreement of the claimant and the contractor or subcontractor affected, or 
in the arbitrator ’s award. The full statutory penalty of sixty dollars ($60.00) per calendar day of violation 
per worker shall be retained by Williamson County to offset its administrative costs, pursuant to Texas 
Government Code, Section, 2258.023. Any retained funds in excess of these amounts shall be paid to 
the contractor on the earlier of the next progress payment or final payment. Provided, however, that the 
County shall have no duty to release any funds to either the claimant or the contractor until it has 
received the notices of agreement or the arbitration award as provided under the provision herein-above.

4.46 CONFIDENTIALITY

The Bidder expressly agrees that it will not use any direct or incidental confidential information that may 
be obtained while working in a governmental setting for its own benefit, and agrees that it will not access 
unauthorized areas or confidential information and it will not disclose any information to unauthorized 
third parties, and will take care to guard the security of the information at all times.

Bid 1704-157Williamson County, Texas

4/7/2017 9:30 AM p. 22



Additional Stipulations - Bid 
 

 

 
 

Additional Stipulations 
 

1 Additional Stipulations 
 

1.1 Introduction 
 
The Bid evaluation and selection process is detailed in this section, as are other factors, 
and the format in which the Price Bid of each Bid should be submitted. 
 
1.2 Contract Administrator  
 
J. Terron Evertson, P.E. (or successor), County Engineer, Williamson County 3151 South 
East Inner Loop, Suite B, Georgetown, Texas shall serve as the County’s Technical Contact 
with designated responsibility to ensure compliance with the requirements of the Contract 
and any Ensuing Agreement, such as, but not limited to, acceptance, inspection and delivery. 
The Technical Contact together with the Purchasing Department will serve as a liaison 
between the Williamson County Commissioners Court and the Successful Bidder. 
 
1.3 Time for Performance 
 
A time frame of forty (40) days (thirty-five (35) to substantial completion/forty (40) to final 
completion) is given for completion of plans on this bid. This may begin at the time specified 
by the County within the three hundred sixty-five (365) days of the pricing quoted on this bid, 
starting on the day of award. The Contractor will be given written notice to begin work on this 
project. The Work on this project shall begin within five (5) calendar days after such 
notification.  
 
Liquidated damages for failure to substantially complete the work within the allotted time will 
be applied. Liquidated damages are $200 per working day. 
 
The Contractor will be given written notice to begin work on this project. Work on this project 
shall begin within five (5) working days after such notification. Failure to begin work within the 
allotted time will result in liquidated damages being incurred at the rate of $200.00 per working 
day. 

Bid 1704-157Williamson County, Texas

4/7/2017 9:30 AM p. 23



Additional Stipulations - Bid 
 

 
1.4 Performance and Payment Bonds 
 
To the extent, this IFB is for the procurement of a public work contract, and the following shall 
apply: 
 
Texas Local Government Code, Chapter 262.032, governs the requirements for 
performance bonds for government entities making public work contracts. A performance 
bond is required if the contract is in excess of $50,000 and is to be made for the full amount 
of the contract. 
 
Texas Government Code, Chapter 2253.021, governs the requirements for payment bonds 
for government entities making public work contracts. A payment bond is required if the 
contract is in excess of $25,000 and is to be made for the full amount of the contract. 
 
The bonds are to be executed and delivered to the County prior to issuing Notice to 
Proceed. The bonds must be executed by a corporate surety or sureties in accordance 
with the Texas Insurance Code. For unit price contracts, the total contract price shall be 
estimated and calculated by multiplying the estimated quantities to the Bidder’s unit bid price. 
 
If the public works contract is less than $50,000, the performance bond will not be required 
as long as the contract provides that payment is not due until the work is completed and 
accepted by the County. 
 
1.5 Bidder’s Bonds 
 
All Bids requiring a Bid Bond shall be accompanied by a certified cashier's check upon a 
National or State bank in an amount not less than five (5) percent of the total maximum bid 
price, payable without recourse to the County, or a bid bond in the same amount from a 
reliable surety company, as a guarantee that the Bidder will enter into a contract and execute 
and deliver to the County performance and payment bonds prior to being 
recommended for award of the Contract. Bid guarantees must be submitted in the 
same sealed envelope with the Bid. Bids submitted without check or bid bonds will not be 
considered. For unit price contracts, the total maximum bid price shall be estimated and 
calculated by multiplying the estimated quantities to the unit bid price. 
 
1.6 Warranty Bonds 
 
When a Warranty Bond is required it shall be submitted by the Successful Bidder 
prior to issuing Notice to Proceed, and shall be in the amount of twenty (20) percent of 
the total project construction cost. This Warranty Bond shall be security for the true and 
faithful performance of all warranties for one (1) year from the date of final payment. For 
unit price contracts, the total project construction cost shall be estimated and calculated by 
multiplying the estimated quantities to the bidder’s unit bid price. 
 

Bid 1704-157Williamson County, Texas

4/7/2017 9:30 AM p. 24



Additional Stipulations - Bid 
 

1.7 Insurance Requirements 
 

By signing its Bid, the Bidder agrees to maintain at all times during any term of the Contract 
and any ensuing Agreement at Bidder's cost, insurance in accordance with this provision. 

Bidder will be required to submit Certificates of Insurance prior to contract award and any 
renewals. 

All certificates of insurance coverage as specified below must be provided to the following 
location: 

Williamson County Purchasing Department 
901 S Austin Ave 
Georgetown, Texas  78626 
 

Failure to comply with these Insurance Requirements may result in the termination of the 
Contract and any ensuing Agreement(s) between the Successful Bidder and County. 

The following coverage limits shall be required at a minimum: 

A. Worker's Compensation    Statutory – Texas Law 

B. Employer's Liability:   
 

 Bodily Injury by Accident $500,000 Ea. Accident 
Bodily Injury by Disease $500,000 Ea. Employee  
Bodily Injury by Disease $500,000 Policy Limit 

 
C. Comprehensive general liability including completed operations and 

contractual liability insurance for bodily injury, death, or property damages 
in the following amounts: 
 
COVERAGE          PER PERSON     PER OCCURRENCE 
Comprehensive General Liability  $1,000,000 $1,000,000 

    Aggregate policy limits:        $1,000,000 
 
Successful Bidder’s property will not be covered by any insurance that may be carried by the 
County.  Successful Bidder assumes the risk of loss on its contents and property that are 
situated on/in/around the County property. The Successful Bidder is strongly encouraged to 
obtain insurance on its property to the extent deemed necessary by the Successful Bidder.  

The deductible for an insurance policy required hereunder shall not exceed $100,000. The 
County shall be named as an additional insured under any policy of insurance required 
hereunder. 
 
Successful Bidder shall not commence any work until it has obtained all required insurance 
and such insurance has been approved by County. Successful Bidder shall not allow any 
subcontractor(s) to commence work to be performed until all required insurance has been 
obtained by such subcontractor(s) and approved by County. Approval of the insurance by 
County shall not relieve or decrease the liability of Successful Bidder or its subcontractor(s) 
hereunder. 

Bid 1704-157Williamson County, Texas

4/7/2017 9:30 AM p. 25



Additional Stipulations - Bid 
 

The required insurance must be written by a company approved to do business in the State 
of Texas with a financial standing of at least an A- rating, as reflected in Best’s insurance 
ratings or by a similar rating system recognized within the insurance industry at the time the 
policy is issued. Successful Bidder shall furnish County with a certificate of coverage issued 
by the insurer. Successful Bidder shall not cause any insurance to be canceled nor permit 
any insurance to lapse. ALL INSURANCE CERTIFICATES SHALL INCLUDE A CLAUSE TO 
THE EFFECT THAT THE POLICY SHALL NOT BE CANCELED OR REDUCED, 
RESTRICTED OR LIMITED UNTIL TEN (10) CALENDAR DAYS AFTER COUNTY HAS 
RECEIVED WRITTEN NOTICE AS EVIDENCED BY RETURN RECEIPT OF REGISTERED 
OR CERTIFIED LETTER. 

It is the intention of the County, and agreed to and hereby acknowledged by the Successful 
Bidder, that no provision of this Contract or any ensuing Agreement shall be construed to 
require the County to submit to mandatory arbitration or mediation in the settlement of any 
claim, cause of action or dispute, except as specifically required in direct connection with an 
insurance claim or threat of claim under an insurance policy required hereunder which 
absolutely requires arbitration or mediation of such claim, or as otherwise required by law or 
a court of law with jurisdiction over the provisions of this Contract or any ensuing Agreement. 

Workers’ Compensation Coverage Requirements 
 

The Texas Labor Code, Section 406.096, requires workers' compensation insurance 
coverage for all persons providing services on a building or construction project for a 
governmental entity such as the County. The rule requires the County to timely obtain 
certificates of coverage and retain them for the duration of the project. The rule also sets out 
the language to be included in the Bid specifications and in contracts awarded by a 
governmental entity and the information required to be in the posted notice to employees. 
The rule is adopted under the Texas Labor Code, Section 402.061.  

 
The information provided below is a result of this rule. By submitting your Bid to the County, 
you are acknowledging that this rule is a part of these Bid specifications, and that you will 
observe and abide by all of the requirements outlined in the rule. You are further agreeing 
that should your Bid be accepted by the Williamson County Commissioners Court, the 
necessary certificates of coverage showing workers' compensation coverage, will be 
provided to the following name and address prior to beginning work:  

 
 Williamson County Purchasing Department  
 901 S. Austin Ave.  
 Georgetown, TX 78626 

 
Failure to comply with this request may result in termination of the Contract and any ensuing 
Agreement. If you have any questions related to this ruling and/or requirement, you are 
encouraged to contact either the Williamson County Purchasing Department at (512) 943-
1546, or you may call the Texas Workers' Compensation Commission at (800) 372-7713. 

 
A. The following words and terms, when used in this provision, shall have the following 

meanings. Terms not defined in this rule shall have the meaning defined in the Texas 
Labor Code, if so defined.  

 

Bid 1704-157Williamson County, Texas

4/7/2017 9:30 AM p. 26



Additional Stipulations - Bid 
 

1. Certificate of coverage (certificate) – A copy of a certificate of insurance, a 
certificate of authority to self-insure issued by the commission, or a workers' 
compensation coverage agreement (TWCC-81, TWCC-82, TWCC-83, or TWCC-
84), showing statutory workers' compensation insurance coverage for the 
person's or entity's employees (including those subject to a coverage agreement) 
providing services on a project, for the duration of the project. 
 

2. Building or Construction – Has the meaning defined in the Texas Labor Code, 
Section 406.096(e)(1). 

 
3. Contractor – A person bidding for or awarded a building or construction project by 

Williamson County. 
 

4. Coverage – Workers' compensation insurance meeting the statutory 
requirements of the Texas Labor Code, Section 401.011(44). 

 
5. Coverage agreement – A written agreement on form TWCC-81, form TWCC-82, 

form TWCC-83, or form TWCC-84, filed with the Texas Workers' Compensation 
Commission which establishes a relationship between the parties for purposes of 
the Texas Workers' Compensation Act, pursuant to the Texas Labor Code, 
Chapter 406, Subchapters F and G, as one of employer/employee and 
establishes who will be responsible for providing workers' compensation coverage 
for persons providing services on the project. 

 
6. Duration of the project--Includes the time from the beginning of work on the project 

until the work on the project has been completed and accepted by the County. 
 

7. Persons providing services on the project ("subcontractor" in the Texas Labor 
Code, Section 406.096) – includes all persons or entities performing all or part of 
the services the contractor has undertaken to perform on the project, regardless 
of whether that person contracted directly with the contractor and regardless of 
whether that person has employees. This includes, without limitation, 
independent contractors, subcontractors, leasing companies, motor carriers, 
owner-operators, employees of any such entity, or employees of any entity which 
furnishes persons to provide services on the project. "Services" include, without 
limitation, providing, hauling, or delivering equipment or materials, or providing 
labor, transportation, or other service related to a project. "Services" does not 
include activities unrelated to the project, such as food/beverage vendors, office 
supply deliveries, and delivery of portable toilets. 

 
8. Project – Includes the provision of all services related to a building or construction 

contract for the County. 
 

B. The contractor shall provide coverage, based on proper reporting of classification 
codes and payroll amounts and filing of any coverage agreements, which meets the 
statutory requirements of the Texas Labor Code, Section 401.011(44), for all 
employees of the contractor providing services on the project, for the duration of the 
project.  
 

C. The Contractor must provide a certificate of workers compensation coverage to 
Williamson County prior to being awarded the Contract. 

Bid 1704-157Williamson County, Texas

4/7/2017 9:30 AM p. 27



Additional Stipulations - Bid 
 

 
D. If the coverage period shown on the contractor's current certificate of coverage ends 

during the duration of the project, the contractor must, prior to the end of the coverage 
period, file a new certificate of coverage with Williamson County showing that 
coverage has been extended. 

 
E. The contractor shall obtain from each person providing services on a project, and 

provide to the County: 
 

1. A certificate of coverage, prior to that person beginning work on the project, so 
Williamson County will have on file certificates of coverage showing coverage for 
all persons providing services on the project; and  

 
2. No later than seven days after receipt by the contractor, a new certificate of 

coverage showing extension of coverage, if the coverage period shown on the 
current certificate of coverage ends during the duration of the project.  

 
F. The contractor shall retain all required certificates of coverage for the duration of the 

project and for one year thereafter. 
 

G. The contractor shall notify the County in writing by certified mail or personal delivery, 
within ten (10) days after the contractor knew or should have known, of any change 
that materially affects the provision of coverage of any person providing services on 
the project. 

 
H. The contractor shall post on each project site a notice, in the text, form and manner 

prescribed by the Texas Workers' Compensation Commission, informing all persons 
providing services on the project that they are required to be covered, and stating 
how a person may verify coverage and report lack of coverage.  

 
I. The contractor shall contractually require each person with whom it contracts to 

provide services on a project, to: 
 

1. Provide coverage, based on proper reporting of classification codes and payroll 
amounts and filing of any coverage agreements, which meets the statutory 
requirements of Texas Labor Code, Section 401.011(44), for all of its employees 
providing services on the project, for the duration of the project; 
 

2. Provide to the contractor, prior to that person beginning work on the project, a 
certificate of coverage showing that coverage is being provided for all 
employees of the person providing services on the project, for the duration of 
the project; 

 
3. Provide the contractor, prior to the end of the coverage period, a new certificate 

of coverage showing extension of coverage, if the coverage period shown on 
the current certificate of coverage ends during the duration of the project; 

 

Bid 1704-157Williamson County, Texas

4/7/2017 9:30 AM p. 28



Additional Stipulations - Bid 
 

4. Obtain from each other person with whom it contracts, and provide to the 
contractor: 

 
i. (a) a certificate of coverage, prior to the other person beginning work 

on the project; and 
ii. (b) a new certificate of coverage showing extension of coverage, prior 

to the end of the coverage period, if the coverage period shown on the 
current certificate of coverage ends during the duration of the project; 

 
5. Retain all required certificates of coverage on file for the duration of the project 

and for one year thereafter; 
 

6. Notify the County in writing by certified mail or personal delivery, within ten (10) 
days after the person knew or should have known, of any change that materially 
affects the provision of coverage of any person providing services on the 
project; and 

 
7. Contractually require each person with whom it contracts, to perform as required 

by paragraphs 1 – 7, with the certificates of coverage to be provided to the 
person for whom they are providing services 

 
J. By signing this Contract or providing or causing to be provided a certificate of 

coverage, the contractor is representing to Williamson County that all employees of 
the contractor who will provide services on the project will be covered by workers' 
compensation coverage for the duration of the project, that the coverage will be based 
on proper reporting of classification codes and payroll amounts, and that all coverage 
agreements will be filed with the appropriate insurance carrier or, in the case of a self-
insured, with the commission's Division of Self-Insurance Regulation. Providing false 
or misleading information may subject the contractor to administrative penalties, 
criminal penalties, civil penalties, or other civil actions.  
 

K. The contractor's failure to comply with any of these provisions is a breach of Contract 
by the contractor which entitles the County to declare the contract void if the 
contractor does not remedy the breach within ten (10) days after receipt of notice of 
breach from the County. 

Bid 1704-157Williamson County, Texas

4/7/2017 9:30 AM p. 29



Page 1 of 12 
 

GENERAL NOTES AND TECHNICAL SPECIFICATIONS 
 

Definition of Terms 
 
Asphalt Season:  April 1 through September 30. 
 
County:  Williamson County acting through the Road and Bridge Division. 
 
Contractor:  Successful bidder of the IFB.   
 
Engineer:  Williamson County Director of Road and Bridge, or designee. 
 
Inspector:  Engineer, or designee, supplied full time or part time to the contractor's crew 
for the oversight of the work. 
 
Specifications:  Texas Department of Transportation Standard Specifications for 
Construction and Maintenance of Highways, Streets, and Bridges 2014. 
 
TxDOT:  Texas Department of Transportation 
 
Working Day:  Monday through Friday (excluding County approved holidays), if weather 
permits the performance of the contract (as determined by the Inspector) for a continuous 
period of at least 8 hrs. (excluding lunch) between 7:00 A.M. and 6:00 P.M. Time begins 
with crews on site with equipment and ready for operation.  
 
General Notes 
 
Unless set forth otherwise, all Work performed shall comply with requirements which 
pertain to the various items of Work included as Standard Specification for Construction 
of Highways, Streets and Bridges of the Texas Department of Transportation, adopted 
November 1, 2014, which is incorporated herein by reference for all purposes. In the 
event that any specification set out herein conflicts with the said TxDOT specifications, 
the specification set out herein shall control and govern. 
 
The Contractor will be given written Notice to Proceed on this project.  The overlay 
project shall begin within five (5) working days after such notification and shall continue 
for forty (40) working days. 
 
Contractor shall not begin work prior to the beginning of the asphalt season (April 1), 
nor after the ending of the asphalt season (September 30), except with the approval of 
the Engineer. 
 
Contractor specifically acknowledges that Williamson County will sustain damages for 
each working day beyond the date in which overlay work is to begin.  Once the written 
Notice to Proceed is given by Williamson County, the Contractor has five (5) working 
days to begin the work.  Contractor agrees that two-hundred and No/100 Dollars 

Bid 1704-157Williamson County, Texas

4/7/2017 9:30 AM p. 30



Page 2 of 12 
 

($200.00) per working day shall be retained by Williamson County from any amounts 
due Contractor for every day that Contractor does not begin the overlay work. 
 
Contractor specifically acknowledges that Williamson County will sustain damages for 
each working day beyond the required dates of completion of the overlay 
work.  Because of the impracticality and extreme difficulty of fixing and ascertaining 
Williamson County's actual damages, Contractor agrees that two-hundred and No/100 
Dollars ($200.00 ) per working day shall be retained by Williamson County from any 
amounts due Contractor for every day that Contractor does not complete the overlay 
work. 
 
Periods of time (i) during which Williamson County suspends the work by written notice 
to Contractor, or (ii) during which contractor has performed work and is waiting for 
Williamson County’s acceptance, or (iii) during which a delay directly related to delays 
caused by "Acts of God", non-county governmental processes, national emergency, or 
any other causes beyond Contractor's or Williamson County's reasonable control, shall 
not be taken into account in computing the amount retained.  In the event that work 
received by Williamson County is found to be incomplete, the period of time from the 
end of the performance of the work to the receipt of subsequent performance necessary 
to produce completed work will be taken into account in computing the number of days 
and the amount retained. 
 
Contractor shall submit a basic work plan, bar chart, or schedule for the Engineer to 
review one week prior to commencement of work. 
 
Once work begins, Contractor shall continuously execute the work until completion, 
unless otherwise directed by Engineer. 
 
Nighttime, weekend and holiday work is allowed with prior approval by Engineer. 
 
The Contractor shall perform work during appropriate weather conditions, unless 
otherwise directed by the Engineer.  If work is performed at the Contractor’s option 
during, or prior to, inclement weather conditions and the work is damaged, the 
Contractor is responsible for all costs associated with replacing the work. 
 
Contractor shall determine the exact location of all existing utilities before commencing 
work, and is fully responsible for any and all damages associated by Contractor’s failure 
to locate and preserve utilities. 
 
Do not park equipment or make stockpiles where driver sight distance to businesses 
and side street intersections is obstructed, especially after work hours.  If it is necessary 
to park where drivers’ views are blocked, Contractor shall make every effort to flag 
traffic accordingly.  Give the travelling public first priority. 
 

Bid 1704-157Williamson County, Texas

4/7/2017 9:30 AM p. 31



Page 3 of 12 
 

An English-speaking Superintendent shall be available on the project at all times when 
work is being performed.  The Contractor shall provide the Inspector with contact 
information for the Superintendent. 
 
The contractor shall place two (2) “electronic” Portable Changeable Message Signs 
(PCMS) at locations requiring lane closures for one-week prior to the closures, or as 
directed.  Obtain approval from Engineer for the actual message that will appear on the 
boards.  If more than two phases of a message are required per board, then provide 
additional PCMS’s to meet the two-phases-per-board requirement. 
 
The Contractor will be required to maintain a minimum of one through lane with 
flaggers/pilot vehicle during milling or paving operations, except with written approval by 
the Inspector. 
 
If multiple days are required to complete work, Contractor shall not leave work in 
hazardous conditions, as determined by Engineer. 
 
Contractor shall maintain positive drainage for permanent and temporary site conditions 
for duration of project. 
 
Areas of the edge/end transition that are milled shall be under sealed and overlaid the 
same day and completely finished before opening to traffic. 
 
Contractor shall be responsible for hauling and disposing of all planing ACP materials off 
the project site.  Consider subsidiary to the pertinent Items. 
 
The Contractor shall configure the longitudinal joints of the surface course placement to 
be away from the wheel paths, preferably to coincide with lane lines. 
 
The actual quantity required may vary from the estimated quantities in the contract. The 
Contractor shall be compensated for completed work based on actual quantities per bid 
item. 
 
All accepted “Plane Asphalt Concrete Pavement” will be measured by the square yard 
of specified milling areas.  Thickness of milling for overlay transverse/longitudinal tapers 
shall be 0” to 2”. 
 
All accepted sealing will be measured by the gallon of asphalt (oil) and by cubic yard of 
aggregate.  Thickness of sealing shall be no greater than ¼”.   
 
All accepted “Dense-Graded Hot-Mix Asphalt” (Type D) will be measured by the ton of 
composite hot mix, which includes asphalt, aggregate, and additives.  Thickness of 
overlay application shall be 2”. 
 
County will pay to the Contractor, for the satisfactory performance of the work, a 
specified unit price per square yard of milling, per gallon of asphalt (oil), per cubic yard 

Bid 1704-157Williamson County, Texas

4/7/2017 9:30 AM p. 32



Page 4 of 12 
 

of aggregate, per ton of hot mix, and per linear-foot of striping.  This price shall be full 
compensation for furnishing all labor, equipment, time, materials and incidentals 
necessary to complete the Work.  Surface preparation and cleaning shall be considered 
a part of the work and will not be measured or paid in addition to the above stated unit 
price. 
 
Testing may be performed at the request of the County any time during the length of the 
contract through an independent testing laboratory.  Testing may be requested by the 
County on any and/or all items on this contract.  If the results determine the item did not 
meet specifications, then the cost of the testing will be borne by the Contractor.  If the 
results of the test determine that the item did meet specifications, the cost of the testing 
will be borne by the County. 
 
Final cleanup will include the removal of excess material considered detrimental to 
vegetation growth within the working area.  Materials such as excess asphalt and other 
materials, as specified by the Engineer, will be removed at the Contractor’s expense. 
 
All construction equipment involved in roadway work shall be equipped with a 
permanently mounted 360 degree revolving or strobe warning light with amber lens.  
This light shall have a minimum lens height of 5 inches and a diameter of 5 inches. 
 
This light shall have a mounting height of not less than 6 feet above the roadway 
surface and shall be visible from all sides.  This equipment shall also have attached at 
each side of the rear end of the vehicle an approved orange warning flag mounted not 
less than 6 feet above the roadway surface. 
 
Care shall be exercised to prevent damage to all property in and around the 
construction zone.  The Contractor shall be liable for the repair and restoration of any 
property damaged as a result of the contractor’s prosecution of the work.  
 
This shall include, but is not limited to, re-vegetation of all areas damaged or destroyed 
by construction.  Contractor will be held liable and responsible for such areas until 
growth is reestablished to the satisfaction of the County.   
 
Ornamental landscape plantings of trees, shrubs and grasses that are damaged or 
destroyed during construction shall be replaced with plant material of comparable size 
and quality approved by the County. 
 
The Contractor may be required to trim and remove brush and trees in order to 
construct the project or to provide a vertical clearance of at least 12 feet.  For this 
operation, the method shall be approved by the Inspector. 
 
Contractor’s equipment and vehicles shall not be maintained on-site during 
construction, except at designated sites as approved by the Inspector. 
 

Bid 1704-157Williamson County, Texas

4/7/2017 9:30 AM p. 33



Page 5 of 12 
 

Contractor shall mark and maintain 100 ft stations for the duration of the project, as 
directed. 
 
ITEM 160 – TOPSOIL   
 
Obtain approval of all topsoil sources before digging begins.  Ensure off-site topsoil has 
a minimum PI of 25, or as directed.  The County reserves the right to take samples, as 
needed, to assure that the material meets the PI and other requirements as indicated in 
the Specifications (Fertility, Organics, Erodability, etc.). 
 
No Sandy Loam allowed, unless the project dictates otherwise. 
 
Construct topsoil stockpiles of no more than five (5) feet in height. 
 
Track ALL topsoiled slopes left idle for more than 14 days, within or at the end of the 14-
day idle period, to prevent erosion.  Tracking consists of operating a tracked vehicle or 
equipment up and down the slope, leaving track marks perpendicular to the direction of 
the slope.  Retrack slopes after rain event, as directed.  Consider the tracking of slopes 
to prevent erosion as subsidiary to the pertinent Items. 
 
Upon final grading, immediately track all topsoiled slopes to prevent erosion as directed.  
Consider subsidiary to the pertinent Items. 
 
Place topsoil four (4) inches thick by eight (8) feet wide along roadside edges of the 
new/existing surface courses shown on the Typical Section in the plans. 
 
ITEM 164 – SEEDING FOR EROSION CONTROL 
 
Drill seeding to be distributed uniformly over the area shown on the Typical Section in 
the plans. 
 
After 60 days, areas with little or no growth shall be re-seeded at contractor’s expense. 
 
ITEM 166 – FERTILIZER 
 
Fertilizer shall be applied before seeding. 
 
Fertilizer shall be delivered in bags unless otherwise specified or approved prior to 
delivery.  Bags shall be clearly labeled showing contents.  When non-bagged, loose 
fertilizer is approved, documentation will be required for each load of material delivered 
verifying authenticity of material. 
 
Fertilizer shall be granular and essentially dust free. 
 
 
 

Bid 1704-157Williamson County, Texas

4/7/2017 9:30 AM p. 34



Page 6 of 12 
 

ITEM 168 – VEGETATIVE WATERING 
 
The Contractor shall obtain water at a source that is metered or shall furnish the 
manufacturer’s specifications showing tank capacity for each truck used. 
 
The Contractor shall notify the Inspector prior to watering that the Inspector may verify 
meter readings or truck counts. 
 
Water all areas of the project to be top soiled and seeded.  Maintain the seed bed in a 
condition favorable for the growth of grass. 
 
Watering can be postponed immediately after a rainfall on the site of ½ inch or grater, 
but shall be resumed before the soil dries out, continue watering until final acceptance. 
 
Watering rates shall be 12,000 gallons/acre per working day for 15 consecutive working 
days (the acreage is calculated based on a width of 10’ and the length of each roadway 
edge). 
 
Rate and frequency may be adjusted with the approval of the Engineer, to meet site 
conditions. 
 
ITEM 300 – ASPHALTS, OILS, AND EMULSIONS   
 
Asphalt season starts April 1 and ends September 30.   

No engine oil shall be used as a component of any asphalt or emulsion. 

Non-Tracking Tack Coat Emulsion shall be applied on milled edge/end transition prior to 
HMAC placement and considered subsidiary to the pertinent Items.  
 
ITEM 302 – AGGREGATES FOR SURFACE TREATMENTS  

Previously tested aggregates delivered to the project which are found to contain 
excessive quantities of dust (more than 0.5 percent passing the no. 40 sieve) during 
pre-coating, stockpiling or hauling operations, will be rejected, unless otherwise 
directed.  Use test method Tex-200-F, Part I, for testing.  

ITEM 316, 341  
 
Perform work during appropriate weather conditions, unless otherwise directed.  If work 
is performed at the Contractor’s option, during, or prior to, inclement weather conditions, 
and the work is damaged, the Contractor is responsible for all costs associated with 
replacing the work. 
 
 
 

Bid 1704-157Williamson County, Texas

4/7/2017 9:30 AM p. 35



Page 7 of 12 
 

ITEM 316 – SURFACE TREATMENTS  
 
Do not apply asphalt within 1½ hours of sunset, or later, unless otherwise directed.  
 
Ensure the accuracy of the Distance Measuring Instrument (DMI) with the Engineer, 
prior to marking the Asphalt and Rock Land shots.  

Surface all transitions, tapers, climbing lanes and intersections to the limits as directed.    

Remove and dispose of, off the right of way, any existing traffic buttons before 
beginning surfacing operations.  Remove dirt, dust or other harmful material prior to 
underseal application.  If necessary, blade pavement edges as directed by engineer. 
Consider subsidiary to the pertinent Items. 
 
ITEM 341 - DENSE-GRADED HOT-MIX ASPHALT 
 
Provide mixture Type D, where applicable, using PG binder 70-22.  Unless otherwise 
approved, provide Type D mixtures that have no less than 5% asphalt binder.   
 
Recycled Asphalt Shingles (RAS) or Recycled Asphalt Pavement (RAP) are not 
permitted. 
 
Target laboratory molded density is 96.5% for all mixtures without RAP and when using 
a Texas Gyratory Compactor (TGC) for designing the mixture. 
 
When using Superpave Gyratory Compactor (SGC) to design mixtures, submit the SGC 
mix design to the Engineer for approval. 
 
Minimum VMA during production shall be equal to or greater than Design VMA as shown 
in Table 8 for all mixture types. 
 
All mixtures must meet the Hamburg requirement as stated in the table below. 

 
 

High-
Temperature 
Binder Grade 

Test 
Method 

Hamburg Wheel Test 
Requirements 1 

Minimum # of Passes @ 0.5" 
Rut Depth, Tested @122°F 

PG 64 or lower Tex-242-F 7,000 
PG 70 Tex-242-F 15,000 

PG 76 or higher Tex-242-F 20,000 
 

1. The Engineer may accept Hamburg Wheel test results for production  
and placement if no more than 1of the 5 most recent tests is below  
the specified number of passes and the failing test is no more than  
2,000 passes below the specified number of passes. 
 

Bid 1704-157Williamson County, Texas

4/7/2017 9:30 AM p. 36



Page 8 of 12 
 

The County may at any time request that paving operation be stopped, if there is 
observance of pavement irregularities which could adversely affect the pavement 
quality.  
 
HMAC shall be placed in layers/lifts as identified in the plans. Lifts shall be compacted 
thoroughly and uniformly to obtain the compaction and cross section identified in the 
plans.  
 
Under no circumstances shall the HMA material be dumped on or near the job site and 
then reloaded for hauling to the site for placement.  
 
All HMA construction joints shall be staggered for each proceeding lift. Ensure placement 
sequence to avoid excess distance of longitudinal joint lapback not to exceed one day’s 
production rates.   
 
Submit any proposed adjustments or changes to a job mix formula to the Engineer before 
production of the new job mix formula. 
 
The Contractor shall provide saw cutting where necessary. This shall not be paid for 
directly, but shall be considered subsidiary to Bid Item Dense-Graded Hot Mix Asphalt. 
 
1. The Contractor shall utilize a material transfer device per Item 320, a grade 

reference (such as a ski) for the overlay operations.  Consider subsidiary to the 
pertinent Items. 

2. Incorporate a maintain a 3H:1V safety wedge for any roadway edge of 2 inches or 
greater against adjacent travel lanes.  Consider subsidiary to the pertinent Items. 

3. Taper transverse faces at ends of passes as directed. 
4. Make transverse tapers on each end of each pass using a minimum slope rate of 

60H:1V.  Tapers shall be removed directly before placement of the final HMA.  
Consider subsidiary to the pertinent Items. 

5. Use a 10 ft. straightedge, where allowed, on all surface and intermediate pavement 
layers, as directed by the Inspector. 

 
Acceptance Plan is not applicable to this project; no bonus and/or penalty are allowed.  
Acceptance of work will follow the specification as outlined with the clarification below. 

 
Provide performance grade (PG) binders that do not contain Recycled Engine Oil 
Bottoms (REOBs) or Poly Phosphoric Acid (PPA). 
 
For Mixture Design Verification, provide the Engineer with two 5-gallon buckets of each 
aggregate stockpile to be used on the project and three gallons of each PG binder from 
the plant to be used on the project.  Sufficient quantities of any other additives that will 
be used in the HMA mixture shall also be provided.   

Bid 1704-157Williamson County, Texas

4/7/2017 9:30 AM p. 37



Page 9 of 12 
 

Prior to allowing production of the trial batch, the Engineer will use the materials 
provided by the Contractor to perform the following tests to verify the HMA mixture 
design.  
 

1. Indirect Tensile Test in accordance with Tex-226-F 
2. Hamburg Wheel Test in accordance with Tex-242-F 
3. Overlay Test in accordance with Tex-248-F 
4. Cantabro Test in accordance with Tex-245-F 

For mixtures designed with a Texas Gyratory Compactor (TGC), the Engineer may 
require that the target laboratory molded density be raised to no more than 97.5% or 
may lower the design number of gyrations to no less than 35 for mixtures designed with 
an SGC if any of the following conditions exist.  
 

1. The Indirect Tensile Test results in a value greater than 200 PSI 
2. The Hamburg Wheel Test results in a value less than 3.0 mm 
3. The Overlay Test results in a value less than 100 cycles 
4. The Cantabro Test results in a value of more than 20% loss 

In lieu of or in addition to evaluating the mixture design prior to allowing a trial batch to 
be produced, the Engineer may also evaluate the mixture produced during the trial 
batch for compliance with the 4 tests listed above. 
 
ITEM 354 - PLANING AND TEXTURING PAVEMENT  
 
No milling operation can begin until passing test results of trial batch are received. 

A single cut will be permitted if at most a 1¼-inch vertical offset is created against adjacent 
lanes when opened to traffic at the end of a work period.  

A transverse transition taper (butt joint) will be sawcut, milled to a transition length of 50 
feet to 1 inch in depth for main roads and 25 feet to 1 inch in depth for side streets, unless 
otherwise shown on the plans. 

A longitudinal transition taper will be milled along all existing MBGF mow strips and 
driveways shown on the plans. 
 
Edge milling shall be done with a large miller with grade control. 
 
Remove the loose material from the roadway before opening to traffic. 
 
ITEM 502 - BARRICADES, SIGNS, AND TRAFFIC HANDLING 
  
The contractor shall provide two (2) “electronic” Portable Changeable Message Signs at 
locations requiring lane closures for one-week prior to the closures, or as directed.  This 
shall not be paid for directly, but shall be considered subsidiary to this Bid Item. 

Bid 1704-157Williamson County, Texas

4/7/2017 9:30 AM p. 38



Page 10 of 12 
 

 
Contractor shall provide all traffic control measures to prosecute the work and to ensure 
a minimum inconvenience to traffic around the construction area.  Should the 
contractor’s traffic control measures be found unsatisfactory by the Engineer or 
Inspector, overlay operations will cease. 
 
The Traffic Control Plan (TCP) for this project shall be as detailed on TxDOT standard 
plan sheet TCP (2-2)-12 thru TCP (2-4)-12, TCP (3-1)-13, TCP (3-3)-13, TCP (3-4)-13, 
TCP (7-1)-13, the Texas Manual on Uniform Traffic Control Devices, and the Work Zone 
Traffic Control Device List (WZTCDL). 
 
Utilize barrels or plastic drums for all merging tapers. 
 
Take immediate action to modify Closures / Traffic Control, if at any time backup (roadway 
queuing) becomes unreasonable (greater than 10 minutes).  Have in place a contingency 
plan of how this will occur.  

Do not set up any Lane Closure / TCP when the pavement is wet prior to the “setup,” 
unless otherwise directed.  Revise Traffic Control, when inclement weather is imminent, 
as directed.  

Within the limits of the project, provide standard barricades, warning signs, delineators, 
lights, 28-inch cones, and flaggers in sufficient numbers and combinations, as directed. 
All traffic control devices are listed in TxDOT’s WZTCDL. 

Use a minimum of two (2) flaggers, two (2) advance warning flashing arrow panels (TY 
C), two (2) of each signs CW20-5R or CW20-5L with appropriate distance plaques and 
CW9-2R or CW9-2L and 28-in. cones at each location in which milling or paving 
operations are in progress.  Flaggers must comply with all requirements outlined in 
TxDOT Specification Item 502.2B.  This shall not be paid for directly, but shall be 
considered subsidiary to bid Item Dense-Graded Hot Mix Asphalt. 
 
The contractor shall provide rumble strips at locations requiring flaggers, or as directed.  
This shall not be paid for directly, but shall be considered subsidiary to this Bid Item. 
  
Maintain access to all streets and driveways at all times, unless otherwise approved. 
Consider subsidiary to the pertinent Items.  

Maintain enough workers to revise traffic control as directed.  

Cover or remove any existing sign(s), which conflict with temporary traffic control 
operations. Install all permanent signs, delineation, and object markers necessary for the 
operation of any roadway before opening that section of roadway to traffic, regardless of 
the phase during which the roadway construction occurs.  Erect the signs on temporary 
mounts until the permanent mounts are installed. Consider any costs associated with the 
temporary mounts subsidiary.  Repair or replace any signs which are damaged by the 

Bid 1704-157Williamson County, Texas

4/7/2017 9:30 AM p. 39



Page 11 of 12 
 

Contractor’s operations during construction or which are deemed not sufficient.  The 
Engineer will be the sole judge of the adequacy of the sign(s). Consider this work 
subsidiary to the pertinent Items.  

Maintain Sandbags that are used for ballast, as directed.  Consider subsidiary to the 
pertinent Items.  
 
Contractor shall schedule work so that all lanes are open to traffic at night (after 6:00 
P.M.), unless otherwise approved. 
 
ITEM 666 – REFLECTORIZED PAVEMENT MARKINGS 
 
Type II Reflectorized Pavement Markings to be applied prior to Type I. Type I 
Reflectorized Pavement Markings to be applied no sooner than 14 days after applying 
Type II, unless otherwise directed. 
 
ITEM 677 – ELIMINATING EXISTING PAVEMENT MARKINGS AND MARKERS 
 
Blasting Method is required for the removal of existing pavement markings on bridge 
decks.  No other methods will be allowed. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Bid 1704-157Williamson County, Texas

4/7/2017 9:30 AM p. 40



Page 12 of 12 
 

GOVERNING SPECIFICATIONS (STANDARD SPECIFICATIONS, SPECIAL 
PROVISIONS, AND SPECIAL SPECIFICATIONS) 
 
WHERE DISCREPENCIES OCCUR BETWEEN THE VARIOUS GOVERNING 
SPECIFICATIONS, THE SPECIAL PROVISIONS SHALL GOVERN OVER BOTH 
STANDARD SPECIFICATIONS AND SPECIAL SPECIFICATIONS. 
 
ALL SPECIFICATIONS AND SPECIAL PROVISIONS APPLICABLE TO THIS 
PROJECT ARE IDENTIFIED AS FOLLOWS: 
 
STANDARD SPECIFICATIONS: ADOPTED BY THE TEXAS DEPARTMENT OF 

TRANSPORTATION NOVEMBER 1, 2014.  
STANDARD SPECIFICATIONS ARE 
INCORPORATED INTO THE CONTRACT BY 
REFERENCE. 

 
ITEMS 1 – 9 ARE SUPERSEDED BY THE CONTRACT GENERAL AND SPECIAL 
CONDITIONS, WHERE APPLICABLE.  WHEREVER, IN THE TXDOT STANDARD 
SPECIFICATIONS, REFERENCE IS MADE TO THE STATE OF TEXAS, THE 
DEPARTMENT AND ITS REPRESENTATIVES, SUCH REFERENCE SHALL BE 
TAKEN TO MEAN WILLIAMSON COUNTY AND ITS REPRESENTATIVES. 
 
ITEM 160 TOPSOIL 
ITEM 164 SEEDING FOR EROSION CONTROL 
ITEM 166 FERTILIZER 
ITEM 168 VEGETATIVE WATERING  
ITEM 300    ASPHALTS, OILS, AND EMULSIONS 
ITEM 302    AGGREGATES FOR SURFACE TREATMENTS (300)(301)   
ITEM 316 SURFACE TREATMENTS (210)(300)(302)  
ITEM 341 DENSE-GRADED HOT-MIX ASPHALT (300)(301)(320) (520)(585)  
ITEM 354 PLANING AND TEXTURING PAVEMENT  
ITEM 500 MOBILIZATION   
ITEM 502 BARRICADES, SIGNS, AND TRAFFIC HANDLING 
ITEM 666    REFLECTORIZED PAVEMENT MARKINGS 
ITEM 672    RAISED PAVEMENT MARKERS 
ITEM 677    ELIMINATING EXISTING PAVEMENT MARKINGS AND MARKERS 
 
 
SPECIAL PROVISIONS: THE CONTENT OF THE SPECIAL PROVISIONS ARE 
    INCLUDED ON THE FOLLOWING PAGES. 
 
SPECIAL PROVISION TO ITEM 300 (300-001) 
SPECIAL PROVISION TO ITEM 300 (300-005) 
SPECIAL PROVISION TO ITEM 300 (300-007) 
 
 

Bid 1704-157Williamson County, Texas

4/7/2017 9:30 AM p. 41



Bid 1704-157Williamson County, Texas

4/7/2017 9:30 AM p. 42



Bid 1704-157Williamson County, Texas

4/7/2017 9:30 AM p. 43



Bid 1704-157Williamson County, Texas

4/7/2017 9:30 AM p. 44



Bid 1704-157Williamson County, Texas

4/7/2017 9:30 AM p. 45



Bid 1704-157Williamson County, Texas

4/7/2017 9:30 AM p. 46



Bid 1704-157Williamson County, Texas

4/7/2017 9:30 AM p. 47



Bid 1704-157Williamson County, Texas

4/7/2017 9:30 AM p. 48



Bid 1704-157Williamson County, Texas

4/7/2017 9:30 AM p. 49



Bid 1704-157Williamson County, Texas

4/7/2017 9:30 AM p. 50



Bid 1704-157Williamson County, Texas

4/7/2017 9:30 AM p. 51



Bid 1704-157Williamson County, Texas

4/7/2017 9:30 AM p. 52



Bid 1704-157Williamson County, Texas

4/7/2017 9:30 AM p. 53



Bid 1704-157Williamson County, Texas

4/7/2017 9:30 AM p. 54



Bid 1704-157Williamson County, Texas

4/7/2017 9:30 AM p. 55



Bid 1704-157Williamson County, Texas

4/7/2017 9:30 AM p. 56



Bid 1704-157Williamson County, Texas

4/7/2017 9:30 AM p. 57



Bid 1704-157Williamson County, Texas

4/7/2017 9:30 AM p. 58



Bid 1704-157Williamson County, Texas

4/7/2017 9:30 AM p. 59



Bid 1704-157Williamson County, Texas

4/7/2017 9:30 AM p. 60



Bid 1704-157Williamson County, Texas

4/7/2017 9:30 AM p. 61



Bid 1704-157Williamson County, Texas

4/7/2017 9:30 AM p. 62



Bid 1704-157Williamson County, Texas

4/7/2017 9:30 AM p. 63



Bid 1704-157Williamson County, Texas

4/7/2017 9:30 AM p. 64



Bid 1704-157Williamson County, Texas

4/7/2017 9:30 AM p. 65



Bid 1704-157Williamson County, Texas

4/7/2017 9:30 AM p. 66



Bid 1704-157Williamson County, Texas

4/7/2017 9:30 AM p. 67



Bid 1704-157Williamson County, Texas

4/7/2017 9:30 AM p. 68



Bid 1704-157Williamson County, Texas

4/7/2017 9:30 AM p. 69



Bid 1704-157Williamson County, Texas

4/7/2017 9:30 AM p. 70



Bid 1704-157Williamson County, Texas

4/7/2017 9:30 AM p. 71



Bid 1704-157Williamson County, Texas

4/7/2017 9:30 AM p. 72



Bid 1704-157Williamson County, Texas

4/7/2017 9:30 AM p. 73



Bid 1704-157Williamson County, Texas

4/7/2017 9:30 AM p. 74



Bid 1704-157Williamson County, Texas

4/7/2017 9:30 AM p. 75



Bid 1704-157Williamson County, Texas

4/7/2017 9:30 AM p. 76



Bid 1704-157Williamson County, Texas

4/7/2017 9:30 AM p. 77



Bid 1704-157Williamson County, Texas

4/7/2017 9:30 AM p. 78



Bid 1704-157Williamson County, Texas

4/7/2017 9:30 AM p. 79



Bid 1704-157Williamson County, Texas

4/7/2017 9:30 AM p. 80



Bid 1704-157Williamson County, Texas

4/7/2017 9:30 AM p. 81



Bid 1704-157Williamson County, Texas

4/7/2017 9:30 AM p. 82



Bid 1704-157Williamson County, Texas

4/7/2017 9:30 AM p. 83



Bid 1704-157Williamson County, Texas

4/7/2017 9:30 AM p. 84



Bid 1704-157Williamson County, Texas

4/7/2017 9:30 AM p. 85



Bid 1704-157Williamson County, Texas

4/7/2017 9:30 AM p. 86



Bid 1704-157Williamson County, Texas

4/7/2017 9:30 AM p. 87



Bid 1704-157Williamson County, Texas

4/7/2017 9:30 AM p. 88



Bid 1704-157Williamson County, Texas

4/7/2017 9:30 AM p. 89



Bid 1704-157Williamson County, Texas

4/7/2017 9:30 AM p. 90



Bid 1704-157Williamson County, Texas

4/7/2017 9:30 AM p. 91



WILLIAMSON COUNTY ROAD & BRIDGE DIVISION 
RONALD REAGAN BLVD FROM FM 3405 TO RM 2338 - MILLING AND OVERLAY 1 of 2 
 

WILLIAMSON COUNTY BID FORM 
 

RONALD REAGAN BLVD FROM FM 3405 TO RM 2338 
MILLING AND OVERLAY 

  
WILLIAMSON COUNTY 

ROAD AND BRIDGE DIVISION 
 

BID NUMBER: IFB XXXX-XXX 
 
 

NAME OF BIDDER: ___________________________________________________________________ 
 
Mailing Address: ______________________________________________________________________ 
 

City: ________________________ State: __________ Zip:____________________  
 

Email Address: ___________________________________________________________________________________  
 
 
Telephone: (________) ________________________________ Fax: (________) ____________ _________________  
 
 
Mobile Phone: (________) ________________________________ 
 
 

ITEM NO DESCRIPTION UNITS QTY 
UNIT 

PRICE TOTAL PRICE 
160 6003 FURNISHING AND PLACING TOPSOIL (4") SY 35828     
164 6033 DRILL SEEDING (PERM) (RURAL) (SANDY) SY 35828     
166 6001 FERTILIZER AC 8     
168 6001 VEGETATIVE WATERING MG 1666     
316 6175 AGGR (TY-B GR-4 SAC-B) CY 845     
316 6466 ASPH (CHFRS-2P OR CRS-2P) GAL 33985     
341 6043 D - GR HMA TY - D PG70 - 22 TON 11750     
354 6021 PLANE ASPH CONC PAV (0" TO 2") SY 5006     
500 6001 MOBILIZATION LS 1     

502 6001 
BARRICADES, SIGNS AND TRAFFIC 
HANDLING MO 1     

TEMPORARY TABS         
662 6109 WK ZN PAV MRK SHT TERM (TAB) TY W EA 51     
662 6111 WK ZN PAV MRK SHT TERM (TAB) TY Y EA 1949     

PAINT           
666 6170 REFL PAV MRK TY II (W) 4" (SLD) LF 42004     
666 6178 REFL PAV MRK TY II (W) 8" (SLD) LF 875     
666 6182 REFL PAV MRK TY II (W) 24" (SLD) LF 92     
666 6184 REFL PAV MRK TY II (W) (ARROW) EA 8     
666 6192 REFL PAV MRK TY II (W) (WORD) EA 6     
666 6207 REFL PAV MRK TY II (Y) 4" (SLD) LF 31028     
666 6205 REFL PAV MRK TY II (Y) 4" (BRK) LF 13644     
666 6214 REFL PAV MRK TY II (Y) 24" (SLD) LF 680     

Bid 1704-157Williamson County, Texas

4/7/2017 9:30 AM p. 92



WILLIAMSON COUNTY ROAD & BRIDGE DIVISION 
RONALD REAGAN BLVD FROM FM 3405 TO RM 2338 - MILLING AND OVERLAY 2 of 2 
 

THERMO           

666 6302 
RE PM W / RET REQ TY I (W) 4" (SLD) 
(090MIL) LF 42004     

666 6035 REFL PAV MRK TY I (W) 8" (SLD) (090MIL) LF 875     
666 6047 REFL PAV MRK TY I (W) 24" (SLD) (090MIL) LF 92     
666 6053 REFL PAV MRK TY I (W) (ARROW) (090MIL) EA 8     
666 6077 REFL PAV MRK TY I (W) (WORD) (090MIL) EA 6     

666 6311 
RE PM W / RET REQ TY I (Y) 4" (BRK) 
(090MIL) LF 13644     

666 6314 
RE PM W / RET REQ TY I (Y) 4" (SLD) 
(090MIL) LF 31028     

666 6146 REFL PAV MRK TY I (Y) 24" (SLD) (090MIL) LF 680     
RPM             
672 6009 REFL PAV MRKR TY II-A-A  EA 944     
672 6007 REFL PAV MRKR TY I-C EA 44     

ELIMINATE           
677 6001 ELIM EXT REFL PAV MRK TY II (Y) 4" (SLD) LF 4040     

         
    PROJECT TOTAL          

 
 
 
 
 _______________________________________________________________   Date of Bid: __________________  
Signature of Person Authorized to Sign Bid  
 
 
 
Printed Name and Title of Signer:_____________________________________________________________________  
 
 
 
 

DO NOT SIGN OR SUBMIT WITHOUT READING ENTIRE DOCUMENT THIS FORM MUST BE 
COMPLETED, SIGNED, AND RETURNED WITH BID 

Bid 1704-157Williamson County, Texas

4/7/2017 9:30 AM p. 93



 Agreement for Construction Services 
 

This Agreement (“Agreement”) between Williamson County, Texas, a political subdivision of the State of 
Texas (“Owner”) and_________________________(“Contractor”) is entered into in accordance with the 
following terms and conditions: 
 
ARTICLE 1 SCOPE OF WORK:  The Owner desires to retain Contractor to provide the construction 
services described herein.  The Contractor shall have the overall responsibility for and shall provide 
complete construction services and furnish all materials, equipment, tools and labor as necessary or 
reasonably inferable to complete the following described construction services, or any phase of such services, 
in accordance with the Owner’s requirements and the terms of this Agreement (hereinafter collectively 
referred to as the “Work”): 
 
As described in the Invitation for Bid Solicitation #1704-157, Milling and Overlay for Ronald 
Reagan Blvd from FM 3405 to RM 2338; including the specifications set forth therein, which is 
incorporated herein as if copied in full.  
 
ARTICLE 2 CONTRACT PRICE:  Owner agrees to pay to the Contractor, for the satisfactory 
performance of the Work, the not-to-exceed amount of (One Million Seven Hundred Sixty Seven 
Thousand Two Hundred Ninety Six Dollars) ($1,767,296.00) in accordance with the terms and conditions 
of this Agreement. 
 
ARTICLE 3 PLANS AND SPECIFICATIONS:  The Work shall be performed pursuant to and in 
accordance with the following described plans and specifications, as well as any revisions made thereto: 
 
As described in the Invitation for Bid Solicitation #1704-157, including the specifications set forth 
therein, which is incorporated herein as if copied in full.  
 
Additional Work:  Should Owner choose to add additional work, such additional work shall be 
described in a separate written amendment to this Agreement wherein the additional work shall be 
described and the parties shall set forth the amount of compensation to be paid by Owner for the 
additional work.  Contractor shall not begin any additional work and Owner shall not be obligated to pay 
for any additional work unless a written amendment to this Agreement has been signed by both parties. 

 
ARTICLE 4  SUBSTANTIAL AND FINAL COMPLETION:   
 
4.1 Commencement of Work.  Contractor shall commence the Work upon instruction to do so from 
the Owner and Construction shall be deemed to have commenced on the date of such instruction. 
 
 
 

Bid 1704-157Williamson County, Texas

4/7/2017 9:30 AM p. 94



2 
 

 
4.2 Substantial Completion. “Substantial Completion” means the stage in the progress of the Work 
when the Work, or designated portions thereof, may still require minor modifications or adjustments but, 
in the Owner’s opinion, the Work has progressed to the point such that all parts of the Work under 
consideration are fully operational and usable for intended purposes, as evidenced by a Certificate of 
Substantial Completion approved by the Owner.  If a Certificate of Occupancy is required by public 
authorities having jurisdiction over the Work, said certificate shall be issued before the Work or any 
portion thereof is considered substantially complete.  When the Contractor considers that the Work, or a 
portion thereof which the Owner agrees to accept separately, is substantially complete, the Contractor 
shall notify Owner’s Designated Representative (sometimes referred to as the “ODR”) and request a 
determination as to whether the Work or designated portion thereof is substantially complete.  If the ODR 
does not consider the Work substantially complete, the ODR will notify the Contractor giving reasons 
therefore.   Failure on the Owner’s part to list a reason does not alter the responsibility of the Contractor 
to complete all Work in accordance with the terms of this Agreement.  After satisfactorily completing 
items identified by Owner’s Designated Representative, the Contractor shall then submit another request 
for the ODR to determine Substantial Completion.  If The ODR considers the Work substantially 
complete, The ODR will prepare and deliver a certificate of Substantial Completion which shall establish 
the date of Substantial Completion, shall include a punch list of items to be completed or corrected before 
final completion and final payment, shall establish the time within which the Contractor shall finish the 
punch list, and shall establish responsibilities of the Owner and the Contractor  for security, maintenance, 
heat, utilities, damage to the Work, warranty and insurance.  Failure to include an item on the punch list 
does not alter the responsibility of the Contractor to complete all Work in accordance with the terms and 
conditions of this Agreement.  The certificate of Substantial Completion shall be signed by the Owner and 
the Contractor to evidence acceptance of the responsibilities assigned to them in such certificate. 
 
Substantial Completion (as defined in this agreement) for all stages of the Work shall be achieved on or 
before the following Substantial Completion date: 
 
DATE FOR SUBSTANTIAL COMPLETION:   TBD   
 
Under no circumstances will the time for Substantial Completion exceed this date without a written 
amendment to this Agreement.  THE TIMES SET FORTH IN THE CONSTRUCTION 
DOCUMENTS ARE AN ESSENTIAL ELEMENT OF THE AGREEMENT.  TIME LIMITS 
STATED IN THE CONTRACT DOCUMENTS ARE OF THE ESSENCE OF THIS AGREEMENT.     
 
4.3 Final Completion. The Work shall be fully and finally completed on or before TBD; provided, 
however, Owner may extend said time period in the event bad weather affects the progress of the Work.  
Owner shall, at its sole discretion, determine when the Work has been fully and finally completed to its 
satisfaction. 
 
4.4 Liquidated Damages.  For each consecutive calendar day after the date of Substantial 
Completion that the Work is not Substantially Complete, the Owner may deduct the amount of Two 
Hundred Dollars per day ($200/day) from any money due or that becomes due the Contractor, not as a 
penalty but as liquidated damages representing the parties' estimate at the time of contract execution of 
the damages that the Owner will sustain for late completion.  The parties stipulate and agree that 
calculating Owner’s actual damages for late completion of the Work would be impractical, unduly 
burdensome, and cause unnecessary delay and that the amount of daily liquidated damages set forth is 
reasonable. 

Bid 1704-157Williamson County, Texas

4/7/2017 9:30 AM p. 95



3 
 

 
ARTICLE 5  PAYMENT:   
 
Contractor shall have a duty to submit to the ODR by the end of each month a statement showing 
the total value of the Work performed during such month.  The statement shall also include the 
value of all sound materials delivered on the Work site and to be included in the Work and all 
partially completed Work, whether bid as a lump sum or a unit item, which in the opinion of the 
ODR is acceptable.  The ODR shall examine and approve or modify and approve such statement.  
The Owner shall then pay the Contractor pursuant to Chapter 2251 of the Texas Government 
Code (“Texas Prompt Payment Act”), as set forth in Article 11.1 of this Agreement, the total 
amount of the approved statement less all previous payments and all further sums that may by 
retained by the Owner under the terms of this Agreement or under the law.  Statements are not 
considered “received” until reviewed by the ODR and an approved statement is submitted to 
the Williamson County Auditor’s Office; therefore, Contractor must ensure timely delivery 
of statements for review and processing. 
 
At any time following the completion of all Work, including all punch list items, cleanup, and the 
delivery of record documents, the Contractor shall submit a certified application for final payment, 
including all sums held as retainage if any, to the ODR for its review and approval.  Contractor 
shall submit, prior to or with the application for final payment, final copies of all close out 
documents, including maintenance and operating instructions, guarantees and warranties, 
certificates, and all other items required by this Agreement. Contractor shall also submit consent of 
surety to final payment, an affidavit that all payrolls, bills for materials and equipment, 
subcontracted work and other indebtedness connected with the Work, except as specifically noted, 
have been paid or will be paid or otherwise satisfied within the period of time required by Chapter 
2251, Texas Government Code.  Contractor shall furnish documentation establishing payment or 
satisfaction of all such obligations, such as receipts, releases and waivers of claims arising out of 
the Agreement.  Owner is entitled to rely upon this affidavit and the Contractor may not submit a 
claim on behalf of a subcontractor or vendor if that claim has not been noted as an exception in the 
affidavit. 
 
Owner may deduct from the final payment all sums due from Contractor for any reason, 
Liquidated Damages and all other deductions authorized by this Agreement.   
 
Final payment shall constitute a waiver of all claims by the Contractor except those specifically 
identified in writing and submitted to the ODR prior to the application for final payment. Provided, 
however, that the Work shall not be deemed fully performed by the Contractor and closed until the 
expiration of all warranty periods. 
 
ARTICLE 6 CONTRACTOR’S GENERAL RESPONSIBILITIES AND COVENANTS:   

 
6.1 Contractor shall perform all services specifically allocated to it hereunder, as well as those 
services reasonably inferable and necessary for completion of the Work.  The Contractor shall keep the 
Owner informed of the progress and quality of the Work.  Contractor agrees and acknowledges that 
Owner is entering into this Agreement in reliance on Contractor's represented expertise and ability to 
provide the Work described in this Agreement. Contractor agrees to use its best efforts, skill, judgment, 
and abilities to perform its obligations in accordance with the highest standards used in the profession and 
to further the interests of Owner in accordance with Owner’s requirements and procedures.   

Bid 1704-157Williamson County, Texas

4/7/2017 9:30 AM p. 96



4 
 

6.2 Contractor’s duties as set forth herein shall at no time be in any way diminished by reason of any 
approval by the Owner nor shall the Contractor be released from any liability by reason of such approval 
by the Owner, it being understood that the Owner at all times is ultimately relying upon the Contractor’s 
skill and knowledge in performing the services required hereunder. 

 
6.3 Contractor is responsible for initiating, maintaining, and supervising all safety precautions and 
programs in connection with the Work.  The safety program shall comply with all applicable requirements 
of the current federal Occupational Safety and Health Act and all other applicable federal, state and local 
laws and regulations.  

 
6.4  Contractor shall be an independent contractor under this Agreement and shall assume all of the 
rights, obligations, liabilities, applicable to it as such independent contractor hereunder and any provisions 
in this agreement which may appear to give Owner the right to direct Contractor as to details of doing the 
Work herein covered or to exercise a measure of control over the Work shall be deemed to mean that 
Contractor shall follow the desires of Owner in the results of the Work only.  Owner shall not retain or 
have the right to control the Contractor’s means, methods or details pertaining to the Contractor’s 
performance of the Work described herein, nor shall Owner have the power to direct the order in which 
Contractor’s Work is performed under this agreement.  Owner and Contractor hereby agree and declare 
that Contractor is an Independent Contractor and as such meets the qualifications of an Independent 
Contractor under Texas Worker’s Compensation Act, Texas Labor Code, Section 406.141, that the 
Contractor is not an employee of Owner for purposes of this Agreement, and that the Contractor and its 
employees, agents and sub-subcontractors shall not be entitled to worker’s compensation coverage or any 
other type of insurance coverage held by Owner.  
 
6.5 As part of Contractor obligation to coordinate the Work, Contract shall:  

a. cooperate with the ODR and endeavor to further the interests of the Owner and the Work; 
b. provide an on-site, full-time superintendent for the duration of the Work; 
c. visit the Work site and inspect the existing facilities, systems and conditions to insure an 

accurate understanding of the existing conditions as required; 
d. at Owner’s request, attend public meetings and hearings concerning the development of the 

Work; 
e. review all drawings, specifications, and other plans as they are developed by the Owner 

and/or its architect and advise Owner of any error, inconsistency or omission discovered in 
the drawings, specifications, and other plans; 

f. review the drawings, specifications, and other plans for compliance with all applicable laws 
and code requirements; 

g. advise Owner of any tests that should be performed; 
h. organize and maintain a competent, full-time staff at the Work site with clearly defined lines 

of authority and communication as necessary to coordinate construction activities, monitor 
and direct progress of the Work; 

i. attend Owner’s regularly scheduled Work progress meetings and fully advise the ODR of the 
Work status including schedule, costs, quality and changes; 

j. assist Owner in obtaining building permits and obtain special permits for permanent 
improvements as required by law; and 

k. shall coordinate, monitor and inspect the Work of subcontractors to ensure conformance with 
the drawings, specifications, other plans and with the terms of this Agreement. 
 

6.6 Contractor shall identify every subcontractor it intends to use for the Work to the Owner in 
writing at least ten (10) days before entering into any subcontract.  Contractor shall not use any 
subcontractor to which Owner has a reasonable objection.  If Owner does not object to a particular 
subcontractor with said ten (10) days, such subcontract may be considered acceptable to Owner.  

Bid 1704-157Williamson County, Texas

4/7/2017 9:30 AM p. 97



5 
 

Following Owner’s acceptance of a subcontractor, that subcontractor shall not be changed without 
Owner’s written consent, which shall not be unreasonably withheld. 
 
6.7  Contractor’s designated representative, which is set forth below Contractor’s signature herein 
below, shall be responsible for the day-to-day management of the Work on behalf of Contractor.  The 
designated representative shall be the Owner’s primary contact during the Work and shall be available as 
required for the benefit of the Work and the Owner.  The contractor’s designated representative shall be 
authorized to act on behalf of and bind the Contractor in all matters related to the Work including, but not 
limited to, execution of Change Orders.   

 
6.8 NO ALTERATIONS OR CHANGES SHALL BE MADE, HOWEVER, EXCEPT UPON 
THE WRITTEN ORDER OF THE OWNER, OR THE ODR.  
 
6.9 Contractor shall promptly correct any defective Work at Contractor’s sole expense, unless the 
Owner specifically agrees, in writing, to accept the Work.   

 
6.10 Contractor shall maintain and deliver the close out documents that describe changes or deviations 
from the original drawings, specifications and plans that occurred during construction and that reflect the 
actual “As Built” conditions of the completed Work. 
 
COMMISSIONING AND WARRANTY RESPONSIBILITIES 
 
6.11 Contractor shall provide commissioning, starting and check-out services for the systems installed 
as a part of the Work prior to completion and acceptance.  Operation manuals and instructions will be 
provided to the Owner, the systems will be demonstrated and training provided to Williamson County’s 
operators upon completion and prior to acceptance. 
 
6.12 Contractor hereby warrants that the materials and equipment provided for the Work will be of 
good quality and new unless otherwise required or permitted by the Owner; that the construction will be 
free from faults and defects; and that the construction will conform with the requirements of the plans, 
specifications, drawings and the terms of this Agreement. 

 
6.13 Contractor shall provide warranty services for the Work for a full 12 months (30 months for 
Work involving mechanical services, if any) following Final Completion and final payment.  Just before 
the warranty period expires, Contractor shall attend an on-site meeting with the Owner to ensure that all 
warranty issues have been identified and properly remedied. 
 
ARTICLE 7 OWNER’S RESPONSIBILITIES 
 
7.1 The Owner shall: 

a. provide the general schedule for the Work provided Owner is of the opinion such schedule is 
necessary.  The general schedule will set forth the Owner’s plan for milestone dates and 
completion of the Work; 

b. identify a person as its ODR who is authorized to act in the Owner's behalf with respect to the 
Work.  The ODR shall examine the documents submitted by the Contractor and shall render 
decisions on behalf of the Owner to the extent allowed by Texas law; 

c. at Owner’s cost, will secure the services of surveyors, soils engineers, existing facility surveys, 
testing and balancing, environmental surveys or other special consultants to develop such 
additional information as may be necessary for the design or construction of the Work; 

Bid 1704-157Williamson County, Texas

4/7/2017 9:30 AM p. 98



6 
 

d. furnish required information and services and shall render approvals and decisions as 
expeditiously as is consistent with reasonable skill and care and the orderly progress of the 
Contractor's services and of the Work; 

e. shall have the right to reject any defective Work.  Should Contractor refuse or neglect to 
correct any such Work within a reasonable time after notice, Owner may have the Work 
corrected and recover all expenses incurred from Contractor on demand; and 

f. Owner shall furnish to the Contractor a sufficient number of plans, drawings and specifications 
sets.   

 
ARTICLE 8 INSURANCE AND INDEMNITY 
 
8.1 Insurance.  The Contractor shall carry insurance in the types and amounts indicated below for 
the duration of the Agreement, which shall include items owned by Owner in the care, custody and 
control of Contractor prior to and during construction. Contractor must also complete and file the 
declaration pages from the insurance policies with Owner whenever a previously identified policy period 
expires during the term of the Agreement, as proof of continuing coverage.  Contractor shall update all 
expired policies prior to submission of any payment requests hereunder.  Failure to update policies shall 
be reason for payment to be withheld until evidence for renewal is provided to the Owner. 

 
8.1.1 The Contractor shall provide and maintain, until the Work covered in this Agreement is 
completed and accepted by the Owner, the minimum insurance coverage in the minimum amounts as 
described below.  Coverage shall be written on an occurrence basis by companies authorized and 
admitted to do business in the State of Texas and rated A- or better by A.M. Best Company or 
otherwise acceptable to Owner. 

 
 Type of Coverage Limits of Liability 

 
a.  Worker's Compensation Statutory 
 
b. Employer's Liability   
 Bodily Injury by Accident $500,000 Ea. Accident 

Bodily Injury by Disease $500,000 Ea. Employee  
Bodily Injury by Disease $500,000 Policy Limit 
 

c. Comprehensive general liability including completed operations and 
contractual liability insurance for bodily injury, death, or property damages 
in the following amounts: 

 
COVERAGE  PER PERSON  PER OCCURRENCE 

 
Comprehensive   
General Liability  $ 1,000,000  $  1,000,000 
(including premises, 
 completed operations 
 and contractual)    
   
Aggregate policy limits:   $1,000,000 
 
 
 
 

Bid 1704-157Williamson County, Texas

4/7/2017 9:30 AM p. 99



7 
 

d. Comprehensive automobile and auto liability insurance (covering owned, 
hired, leased and non-owned vehicles): 
 
COVERAGE  PER PERSON  PER OCCURRENCE 
   
Bodily injury  $1,000,000  $1,000,000  
(including death) 
 
Property damage  $1,000,000  $1,000,000  
 
Aggregate policy limits   No aggregate limit 
 

e. Builder’s Risk Insurance 
 (all risks) 
 
An all risks policy shall be in the amount equal at all times to 100% of the 
Contract Sum.  The policy shall include coverage for loss or damage caused 
by certified acts of terrorism as defined in the Terrorism Risk Insurance Act.  
The policy shall be issued in the name of the Contractor and shall name his 
Subcontractors as additional insureds.  The Owner shall be named as a loss 
payee on the policy.  The builders risk policy shall have endorsements as 
follow: 
 

1. This insurance shall be specific as to coverage and not 
considered as contributing insurance with any permanent 
insurance maintained on the present premises.  If off-site storage 
is permitted, coverage shall include transit and storage in an 
amount sufficient to protect property being transported or stored. 

 
2. For renovation projects and or portions of work contained within 

an existing structure, the Owner waives subrogation for damage 
by fire to existing building structure(s), if the Builder’s Risk 
Policy has been endorsed to include coverage for existing 
building structure(s) in the amount described in the Special 
Conditions.  However, Contractor shall not be required to obtain 
such an endorsement unless specifically required by the Special 
Conditions., in this Agreement.  The aforementioned waiver of 
subrogation shall not be effective unless such endorsement is 
obtained. 

 
f. Umbrella coverage in the amount of not less than $1,000,000. 
 

8.1.2 The above insurance requirements are not intended to be compounded with the Contractor's 
standing insurance policies.  If the Contractor already has in force insurance policies which provide the 
required coverage, there is no need to purchase duplicate coverage for this Work. 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Bid 1704-157Williamson County, Texas

4/7/2017 9:30 AM p. 100



8 
 

8.1.3 Policies must include the following clauses, as applicable. 
 

a. “This insurance shall not be canceled, limited in scope or coverage, or non-renewed 
until after thirty (30) days prior written notice, or ten (10) days for non-payment of 
premium, has been given to Williamson County.” 

b. “It is agreed that the Contractor’s insurance shall be deemed primary with respect to 
any insurance or self insurance carried by Williamson County for liability arising out 
of operations under the Agreement with Williamson County.” 

c. “Williamson County, it officials, directors, employees, representatives, and 
volunteers are added as additional insured as respects operations and activities of, or 
on behalf of the named insured performed under Agreement with the Owner.”  This 
is not applicable to the workers’ compensation policy. 

d. “The workers’ compensation and employers’ liability policy will provide a waiver of 
subrogation in favor of Williamson County.” 

 
8.1.4 Workers' Compensation Insurance Coverage: 
 

In the event that Contractor employs any individual to perform any portion of the Work, 
Contractor shall comply with Texas Labor Code, §406.096, which requires workers' 
compensation insurance coverage for all employees providing services on a building or 
construction project for a governmental entity. 

 
a. Definitions: 

(1) Certificate of Coverage ("certificate") - A copy of a certificate of insurance, a 
certificate of authority to self-insure issued by the Texas Workers' Compensation 
Commission, or a coverage agreement (TWCC-81, TWCC-82, TWCC-83, or TWCC-84), 
showing statutory workers' compensation insurance coverage for the person's or entity's 
employees providing services on a project, for the Duration of the Work. 
(2) Duration of the Work - includes the time from the beginning of the Work until the 
Work has been completed and accepted by the Owner. 
(3) Coverage – Workers’ compensation insurance meeting the statutory requirements 
of the Texas Labor Code, §401.011(44). 
(4) Persons providing services relating to the Work ("subcontractor") - includes all 
persons or entities performing all or part of the services the Contractor has undertaken to 
perform the Work, regardless of whether that person contracted directly with the Contractor 
and regardless of whether that person has employees.  This includes, without limitation, 
independent contractors, subcontractors, leasing companies, motor carriers, owner-
operators, employees of any such entity, or employees of any entity which furnishes 
persons to provide services in relation to the Work.  "Services" include, without limitation, 
providing, hauling, or delivering equipment or materials, or providing labor, transportation, 
or other service related to a project.  "Services" does not include activities unrelated to the 
Work, such as food/beverage vendors, office supply deliveries, and delivery of portable 
toilets. 

b. The Contractor shall provide Coverage, based on proper reporting of classification codes 
and payroll amounts and filing of any Coverage agreements, which meets the statutory requirements 
of Texas labor Code, §401.011(44) for all employees of the Contractor providing services in 
relation to the Work, for the Duration of the Work. 
c. The Contractor must provide a Certificate of Coverage to the Owner prior to or 
contemporaneously with the execution of this Agreement. 

 
 

Bid 1704-157Williamson County, Texas

4/7/2017 9:30 AM p. 101



9 
 

d. If the Coverage period shown on the Contractor’s current Certificate of Coverage ends 
during the Duration of the Work, the Contractor must, prior to the end of the Coverage period, file a 
new Certificate of Coverage with the Owner showing that Coverage has been extended. 
e. The Contractor shall obtain from each person providing services in relation to the Work, 
and provide to the Owner: 

(1) a Certificate of Coverage, prior to that person beginning any of the Work, so the 
Owner will have on file Certificates of Coverage showing Coverage for all persons 
providing services in relation to the Work; and 
(2) no later than seven days after receipt by the Contractor, a new Certificate of 
Coverage showing extension of Coverage, if the Coverage period shown on the current 
Certificate of Coverage ends during the Duration of the Work. 

f. The Contractor shall retain all required Certificates of Coverage for the Duration of the 
Work and for one year thereafter. 
g. The Contractor shall notify the Owner in writing by certified mail or personal delivery, 
within 10 days after the Contractor knew or should have known, of any change that materially 
affects the provision of Coverage of any person providing services in relation to the Work. 
h. The Contractor shall post on the Work site a notice, in the text, form and manner prescribed 
by the Texas Workers’ Compensation Commission, informing all persons providing services in 
relation to the Work that they are required to be covered, and stating how a person may verify 
Coverage and report lack of Coverage. 
i. By signing this Agreement or providing or causing to be provided a Certificate of 
Coverage, the Contractor is representing to the Owner that all employees of the Contractor who 
will provide services in relation to the Work and all persons providing services in relation to the 
Work will be covered by workers' compensation coverage for the Duration of the Work, that the 
coverage will be based on proper reporting of classification codes and payroll amounts, and that all 
coverage agreements will be filed with the appropriate insurance carrier or, in the case of a self-
insured, with the commission's Division of Self-Insurance Regulation.  Providing false or 
misleading information may subject the Contractor to administrative penalties, criminal penalties, 
civil penalties, or other civil actions. 
j. The Contractor's failure to comply with any of these provisions is a breach of Agreement 
by the Contractor which entitles the Owner to declare the Agreement void if the Contractor does 
not remedy the breach within ten (10) days after receipt of notice of breach from the Owner. 

 
8.1.5 The furnishing of the above listed insurance coverage must be tendered prior to execution 
of the Agreement, and in no event later than ten (10) calendar days from Notice of Award.  
Failure to provide the insurance in a timely fashion may result in loss of Contractor’s bid 
bond. 
 
8.1.6 The Contractor shall not cause or allow any of its required insurance to be canceled, nor 
permit any insurance to lapse during the term of the Agreement or as required in the Agreement.  If 
the Contractor fails to obtain, maintain or renew any insurance required by this Agreement, the 
Owner may, among other remedies available hereunder or at law, obtain insurance coverage directly 
and recover the cost of that insurance from the Contractor or declare this Agreement void if the 
Contractor does not remedy the breach within ten (10) days after receipt of notice of breach from the 
Owner. 

 
 
 

 

Bid 1704-157Williamson County, Texas

4/7/2017 9:30 AM p. 102



10 
 

8.1.7  The Owner reserves the right to review the insurance requirements set forth in this 
Article during the effective period of the Agreement and to make reasonable adjustments to the 
insurance coverage and their limits when deemed necessary and prudent by the Owner based upon 
changes in statutory law, court decisions, or the claims history of the industry as well as the 
Contractor. 

 
8.1.8 The Owner shall be entitled, upon request, and without expense, to receive complete 
copies of the policies with all endorsements and may make any reasonable requests for deletion, or 
revision or modification of particular policy terms, conditions, limitations, or exclusions, except 
where policy provisions are established by law or regulation binding upon the Parties or the 
underwriter of any of such polices.  Damages caused by the Contractor and not covered by insurance 
shall be paid by the Contractor. 

 
8.1.9 Contractor shall be responsible for payment of premiums for all of the insurance 
coverages required under this Agreement. Contractor further agrees that for each claim, suit 
or action made against insurance provided hereunder, with respect to all matters for which 
the Contractor is responsible hereunder, Contractor shall be solely responsible for all 
deductibles and self-insured retentions. Any deductibles or self-insured retentions over 
$50,000 in the Contractor’s insurance must be declared and approved in writing by 
Owner in advance. 

 
8.1.10 The Contractor shall contractually require each person or entity with whom it 
contracts to provide services in relation to the Work, to comply with each and every insurance 
requirement that Contractor must comply with hereunder.  More specifically, each person or 
entity with whom Contractor contracts to provide services on the in relation to the Work must 
comply with each insurance requirement under this Article 8 just as if such person or entity was 
the Contractor.  Thus, every reference to Contractor under each insurance requirement of this 
Article 8 shall mean and include each person or entity with whom Contractor contracts to 
provide services in relation to the Work.  If any such person or entity with whom Contractor 
contracts to provide services in relation to the Work fails to obtain, maintain or renew any 
insurance required by this Agreement, the Owner may, among other remedies available 
hereunder or at law, obtain insurance coverage directly and recover the cost of that insurance 
from the Contractor or declare this Agreement void if the Contractor does not remedy the 
breach within ten (10) days after receipt of notice of breach from the Owner.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Bid 1704-157Williamson County, Texas

4/7/2017 9:30 AM p. 103



11 
 

8.2 INDEMNITY.   
 

8.2.1 INDEMNIFICATION - EMPLOYEE PERSONAL INJURY CLAIMS.  TO THE FULLEST EXTENT 
PERMITTED BY LAW, THE CONTRACTOR SHALL INDEMNIFY, DEFEND (WITH COUNSEL 
OF OWNER’S CHOOSING), AND HOLD HARMLESS OWNER, AND OWNER’S EMPLOYEES, 
AGENTS, REPRESENTATIVES, PARTNERS, OFFICERS, AND DIRECTORS (COLLECTIVELY, 
THE “INDEMNITEES”) AND SHALL ASSUME ENTIRE RESPONSIBILITY AND LIABILITY 
(OTHER THAN AS A RESULT OF INDEMNITEES’ GROSS NEGLIGENCE) FOR ANY CLAIM OR 
ACTION BASED ON OR ARISING OUT OF THE PERSONAL INJURY, OR DEATH, OF ANY 
EMPLOYEE OF THE CONTRACTOR, OR OF ANY SUBCONTRACTOR, OR OF ANY OTHER 
ENTITY FOR WHOSE ACTS THEY MAY BE LIABLE, WHICH OCCURRED OR WAS ALLEGED 
TO HAVE OCCURRED ON THE  WORK SITE OR IN CONNECTION WITH THE PERFORMANCE 
OF THE WORK.  CONTRACTOR HEREBY INDEMNIFIES THE INDEMNITEES EVEN TO THE 
EXTENT THAT SUCH PERSONAL INJURY WAS CAUSED OR ALLEGED TO HAVE BEEN 
CAUSED BY THE SOLE, COMPARATIVE OR CONCURRENT NEGLIGENCE OF THE STRICT 
LIABILITY OF ANY INDEMNIFIED PARTY.  THIS INDEMNIFICATION SHALL NOT BE 
LIMITED TO DAMAGES, COMPENSATION, OR BENEFITS PAYABLE UNDER INSURANCE 
POLICIES, WORKERS COMPENSATION ACTS, DISABILITY BENEFITS ACTS, OR OTHER 
EMPLOYEES BENEFIT ACTS. 
 

8.2.2 INDEMNIFICATION - OTHER THAN EMPLOYEE PERSONAL INJURY CLAIMS.  TO THE 
FULLEST EXTENT PERMITTED BY LAW, CONTRACTOR SHALL INDEMNIFY, DEFEND 
(WITH COUNSEL OF OWNER’S CHOOSING), AND HOLD HARMLESS OWNER, AND 
OWNER’S EMPLOYEES, AGENTS, REPRESENTATIVES, PARTNERS, OFFICERS, AND 
DIRECTORS (COLLECTIVELY, THE “INDEMNITEES”) FROM AND AGAINST CLAIMS, 
DAMAGES, LOSSES AND EXPENSES, INCLUDING BUT NOT LIMITED TO ATTORNEYS’ FEES, 
ARISING OUT OF OR ALLEGED TO BE RESULTING FROM THE PERFORMANCE OF THIS 
AGREEMENT OR THE WORK DESCRIBED HEREIN, TO THE EXTENT CAUSED BY THE 
NEGLIGENCE, ACTS, ERRORS, OR OMISSIONS OF CONTRACTOR OR ITS 
SUBCONTRACTORS, ANYONE EMPLOYED BY THEM OR ANYONE FOR WHOSE ACTS THEY 
MAY BE LIABLE, REGARDLESS OF WHETHER OR NOT SUCH CLAIM, DAMAGE, LOSS OR 
EXPENSE IS CAUSED IN WHOLE OR IN PART BY A PARTY INDEMNIFIED HEREUNDER. 

 
8.3 Except for the obligation of Owner to pay Contractor the Contract Price pursuant to the terms of 
this Agreement, and to perform certain other obligations pursuant to the terms and conditions explicitly 
set forth herein, Owner shall have no liability to Contractor or to anyone claiming through or under 
Contractor by reason of the execution or performance of this Agreement.  Notwithstanding any obligation 
or liability of Owner to Contractor, no present or future partner or affiliate of Owner or any agent, officer, 
director, or employee of Owner, Williamson County, or of the various departments comprising 
Williamson County, or anyone claiming under Owner has or shall have any personal liability to 
Contractor or to anyone claming through or under Contractor by reason of the execution or performance 
of this Agreement. 
 
ARTICLE 9 BONDS 
 
9.1 Performance Bond.  Upon execution of this Agreement, Contractor shall provide a Performance 
Bond in the amount of 100% of the Contract Price.  The surety for a Performance Bond shall meet the 
requirements of Texas law.   
 
 

Bid 1704-157Williamson County, Texas

4/7/2017 9:30 AM p. 104



12 
 

9.2 Payment Bond.  Upon execution of this Agreement, Contractor shall provide a Payment Bond in 
the amount of 100% of the Contract Price, as security for the true and faithful payment in full of all 
subcontractors and persons performing labor, services, materials, machinery, and fixtures in connection 
with the Work. The surety for a Payment Bond shall meet the requirements of Texas law.  

 
9.3 Warranty Bond.  Upon execution of this Agreement, Contractor shall provide a Warranty Bond 
in the amount of 20% of the Contract Price, as security for the true and faithful performance of all 
warranties set forth in Bid Documents and this Agreement.   

 
ARTICLE 10 TERMINATION 
 
10.1 Termination for Cause.  If either party commits an Event of Breach (a breach of any of the 
covenants, terms and/or conditions of this Agreement), the non-breaching party shall deliver written 
notice of such Event of Breach to the breaching party.  Such notice must specify the nature of the Event 
of Breach and inform the breaching party that unless the Event of Breach is cured within three (3) 
business days of receipt of the notice, additional steps may be taken to terminate this Agreement.  If the 
breaching party begins a good faith attempt to cure the Event of Breach within three (3) business days, 
then and in that instance, the three (3) business day period may be extended by the non-breaching party, 
so long as the breaching party continues to prosecute a cure diligently to completion and continues to 
make a good faith attempt to cure the Event of Breach.  If, in the opinion of the non-breaching party, the 
breaching party does not cure the breach within three (3) business days or otherwise fails to make any 
diligent attempt to correct the Event of Breach, the breaching party shall be deemed to be in breach and 
the non-breaching party may, in addition to seeking the remedies available hereunder and under the law, 
terminate this Agreement. 
 
10.2 Termination for Convenience.  The Owner may terminate this Agreement for convenience and 
without cause or further liability upon thirty (30) days written notice to Contractor.  In the event of such 
termination, it is understood and agreed that only the amounts due to Contractor for goods, commodities 
and/or services provided and expenses incurred to and including the date of termination, will be due and 
payable.  No penalty will be assessed for Owner’s termination of this Agreement for convenience.  
 
ARTICLE 11 MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS 

 
11.1 Interest and Late Payments. Except as otherwise specifically set forth herein, Owner’s payment 
for goods and services shall be governed by Chapter 2251 of the Texas Government Code.  Interest 
charges for any overdue payments shall be paid by Owner in accordance with Texas Government Code 
Section 2251.025.  More specifically, the rate of interest that shall accrue on a late payment is the rate in 
effect on September 1 of Owner’s fiscal year in which the payment becomes due.  The said rate in effect 
on September 1 shall be equal to the sum of one percent (1%); and (2) the prime rate published in the 
Wall Street Journal on the first day of July of the preceding fiscal year that does not fall on a Saturday or 
Sunday.   
 
In the event that an error appears in an invoice/application for payment submitted by Contractor, Owner 
shall notify Contractor of the error not later than the twenty first (21st) day after the date Owner receives 
the invoice/application for payment.  If the error is resolved in favor of Contractor, Contractor shall be 
entitled to receive interest on the unpaid balance of the invoice/application for payment submitted by 
Contractor beginning on the date that the payment for the invoice/application for payment became 
overdue.  If the error is resolved in favor of the Owner, Contractor shall submit a corrected 
invoice/application for payment that must be paid in accordance within the time set forth above.  The 
unpaid balance accrues interest as provided by Chapter 2251 of the Texas Government Code if the 
corrected invoice/application for payment is not paid by the appropriate date. 

Bid 1704-157Williamson County, Texas

4/7/2017 9:30 AM p. 105



13 
 

 
11.2 Assignment; Successors and Assigns.  This Agreement is a personal service contract for the 
services of Contractor, and Contractor’s interest in this Agreement, duties hereunder and/or fees due 
hereunder may not be assigned or delegated to a third party.  This Agreement shall be binding upon and 
inure to the benefit of parties hereto and their respective successors and assigns.  
 
11.3 Captions.  The captions of paragraphs in this Agreement are for convenience only and shall not 
be considered or referred to in resolving questions of interpretation or construction. 
 
11.4 Governing Law and Venue.  This Agreement and all of the rights and obligations of the parties 
and all of the terms and conditions shall be construed, interpreted and applied in accordance with and 
governed by and enforced under the laws of the State of Texas without reference to its conflicts of law 
provisions.  Williamson County where the Work site is located shall be the sole place of venue for any 
legal action arising from or related to this Agreement or the project in which the Owner is a party. 
 
11.5 Waivers.  No delay or omission by either party in exercising any right or power arising from 
non-compliance or failure of performance by the other party with any of the provisions of this Agreement 
shall impair or constitute a waiver of any such right or power.  A waiver by either party of any covenant 
or condition of this Agreement shall not be construed as a waiver of any subsequent breach of that or of 
any other covenant or condition of the Agreement. 
 
11.6 Interpretation.  In the event of any dispute over the meaning or application of any provision of 
the Contract Documents, the Contract Documents shall be interpreted fairly and reasonably, and neither 
more strongly for or against any party, regardless of the actual drafter of the Contract Documents. 
 
11.7 Binding Effect.  This Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties and 
their respective permitted assigns and successors. 
 
11.8 Appointment.  Owner hereby expressly reserves the right from time to time to designate by 
notice to Contractor a representative(s) to act partially or wholly for Owner in connection with the 
performance of Owner's obligations.  Contractor shall act only upon instructions from the designated 
representative(s) unless otherwise specifically notified to the contrary. 
 
11.9 Audits.  Contractor agrees that Owner or its duly authorized representatives shall, until the 
expiration of three (3) years after final payment under this Agreement, have access to and the right to 
examine and photocopy any and all books, documents, papers and records of Contractor which are 
directly pertinent to the services to be performed under this Agreement for the purposes of making audits, 
examinations, excerpts, and transcriptions.  Contractor agrees that Owner shall have access during normal 
working hours to all necessary Contractor facilities and shall be provided adequate and appropriate work 
space in order to conduct audits in compliance with the provisions of this section.  Owner shall give 
Contractor reasonable advance notice of intended audits. 
 
11.10 Severability.  Should any term or provision of this Agreement be held invalid or unenforceable in 
any respect, the remaining terms and provisions shall not be affected and this Agreement shall be construed 
as if the invalid or unenforceable term or provision had never been included. 
 
11.11 No Waiver of Immunities.  Nothing in this Agreement shall be deemed to waive, modify or 
amend any legal defense available at law or in equity to Owner, its past or present officers, employees, or 
agents, nor to create any legal rights or claim on behalf of any third party.  Owner does not waive, 
modify, or alter to any extent whatsoever the availability of the defense of governmental immunity under 
the laws of the State of Texas and of the United States. 

Bid 1704-157Williamson County, Texas

4/7/2017 9:30 AM p. 106



14 
 

 
11.12 Current Revenues.  Under Texas law, a contract with a governmental entity that contains a claim 
against future revenues is void; therefore, each party paying for the performance of governmental 
functions or services must make those payments from current revenues available to the paying party.  
 
11.13  Compliance with Laws.  Contractor shall comply with all federal, state, and local laws, statutes, 
ordinances, rules and regulations, and the orders and decrees of any courts or administrative bodies or 
tribunals in any matter affecting the performance of this Agreement, including, without limitation, 
Worker’s Compensation laws, minimum and maximum salary and wage statutes and regulations, 
licensing laws and regulations.  When required, Contractor shall furnish the County with certification of 
compliance with said laws, statutes, ordinances, rules, regulations, orders, and decrees above specified. 
 
11.14 Sales and Use Tax Exemption.  Owner is a body corporate and politic under the laws of the State 
of Texas and claims exemption from sales and use taxes under Texas Tax Code Ann. § 151.309, as 
amended. 
 
11.15 Texas Public Information Act.  To the extent, if any, that any provision in this Agreement is in 
conflict with Tex. Gov’t Code 552.001 et seq., as amended (the “Public Information Act”), the same shall 
be of no force or effect.  Furthermore, it is expressly understood and agreed that Owner, its officers and 
employees may request advice, decisions and opinions of the Attorney General of the State of Texas in 
regard to the application of the Public Information Act to any information or data furnished to Owner 
whether or not the same are available to the public.  It is further understood that Owner, its officers and 
employees shall have the right to rely on the advice, decisions and opinions of the Attorney General, and 
that Owner, its officers and employees shall have no liability or obligation to Contractor for the disclosure 
to the public, or to any person or persons, of any software or a part thereof, or other items or data 
furnished to Owner by Contractor in reliance of any advice, decision or opinion of the Attorney General 
of the State of Texas. 

 
11.16 Force Majeure.  If the party obligated to perform is prevented from performance by an act of 
war, order of legal authority, act of God, or other unavoidable cause not attributable to the fault or 
negligence of said party, the other party shall grant such party relief from the performance of this 
Agreement.  The burden of proof for the need of such relief shall rest upon the party obligated to perform.  
To obtain release based on force majeure, the party obligated to perform shall file a written request with 
the other party. 

 
11.17 Equal Opportunity in Employment.  The parties to this Agreement agree that during the 
performance of the services under this Agreement they will not discriminate against any employee or 
applicant for employment because of race, color, religion, sex, or national origin. The parties to this 
Agreement will take affirmative action to ensure that applicants are employed, and that employees are 
treated during employment, without regard to their race, color, religion, sex or national origin. Such 
action shall include, but not be limited to the following: employment, upgrading, demotion, or transfer; 
termination; rates of pay or other forms of compensation, and selection for training, including 
apprenticeship.  

 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Bid 1704-157Williamson County, Texas

4/7/2017 9:30 AM p. 107



15 
 

11.18 Reports of Accidents.  Within 24 hours after Contractor becomes aware of the occurrence of any 
accident or other event which results in, or might result in, injury to the person or property of any third 
person (other than an employee of the Contractor), whether or not it results from or involves any action or 
failure to act by the Contractor or any employee or agent of the Contractor and which arises in any 
manner from the performance of this Agreement, the Contractor shall send a written report of such 
accident or other event to the County, setting forth a full and concise statement of the facts pertaining 
thereto.  The Contractor shall also immediately send the County a copy of any summons, subpoena, 
notice, or other documents served upon the Contractor, its agents, employees, or representatives, or 
received by it or them, in connection with any matter before any court arising in any manner from the 
Contractor’s performance of work under this Agreement. 

 
11.19 Relationship of the Parties.  Each party to this Agreement, in the performance of this 
Agreement, shall act in an individual capacity and not as agents, employees, partners, joint ventures or 
associates of one another.  The employees or agents of one party shall not be deemed or construed to be 
the employees or agents of the other party for any purposes whatsoever. 

 
11.20 Appropriation of Funds by Owner.  Owner believes it has sufficient funds currently available 
and authorized for expenditure to finance the costs of this Agreement.  Contractor understands and agrees 
that the Owner’s payment of amounts under this Agreement is contingent on the Owner receiving 
appropriations or other expenditure authority sufficient to allow the Owner, in the exercise of reasonable 
administrative discretion, to continue to make payments under this Agreement.  

 
11.21 Execution in Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in counterparts, each of which, 
when executed and delivered, shall be deemed to be an original and all of which together shall constitute 
one and the same document. 
 
11.22 Entire Agreement.   This Agreement represents the entire and integrated agreement between the 
parties hereto and supersedes all prior negotiations, representations, or agreements, either oral or written.  
This Agreement may be amended only by written instrument signed by each party to this Agreement. NO 
OFFICIAL, EMPLOYEE, AGENT, OR REPRESENTATIVE OF THE OWNER HAS ANY 
AUTHORITY, EITHER EXPRESS OR IMPLIED, TO AMEND THIS AGREEMENT, EXCEPT 
PURSUANT TO SUCH EXPRESS AUTHORITY AS MAY BE GRANTED BY THE WILLIAMSON 
COUNTY COMMISSIONERS COURT. 
 
BY SIGNING BELOW, the Parties have executed and bound themselves to this Agreement to be effective as 
of the date of the last party’s execution hereof (Effective Date). 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Bid 1704-157Williamson County, Texas

4/7/2017 9:30 AM p. 108



16 
 

OWNER:  
 
WILLIAMSON COUNTY, TEXAS,  
a political subdivision of the state of Texas 
 
 

CONTRACTOR: 
 
 

By:      
               
Printed Name:      
 
Title:          
 
Date:                         
 
Party Representatives 
 
Owner’s Designated Representative (“ODR”): 
 
_________________________________ 
_________________________________ 
_________________________________ 
____________ 
Phone _____________________ 
Fax _______________________ 
 

By:                                    
               
Printed Name:                                             
 
Title:                                                          
 
Date:                                      
 
 
 
Contractor’s Designated Representative: 
 
_________________________________ 
_________________________________ 
_________________________________ 
____________ 
Phone _____________________ 
Fax _______________________ 
 

  
         
 

 
 
  
 

Bid 1704-157Williamson County, Texas

4/7/2017 9:30 AM p. 109



5

6

BID AFFIDAVIT

This form must be completed, signed, notarized and returned with Bid package

The undersigned certi fies that the IFB and the Bidder ’s Bid have been carefully reviewed and are submitted as 
correct and final.  Bidder further certi fies and agrees to furnish any and/or all goods and/or services upon which 
pr ices are extended at the price Bid, and upon the condit ions contained in the IFB.

I hereby cert i fy that the foregoing Bid has not been prepared in collusion with any other Bidder or other person
or persons engaged in the same line of business prior to the official opening of this Bid. Further, I certi fy that the
Bidder is not now, nor has been for the past six (6) months, directly or indirectly concerned in any pool or
agreement or combination, to control the price of services/commodities Bid on, or to influence any person or
persons to submit a Bid or not to submit a Bid thereon. ”

Cooperative Purchasing Program
Check one of the following options below . A non-affirmative Bid will in no way have a negative impact on the 
County ’s evaluation of the Bid.

*If no box is checked, the Bidder agrees to make best efforts in good faith to offer the quoted prices to 
all authorized entities.*

SIGNATURE AND NOTARY NOT REQUIRED IF COMPLETING IN BIDSYNC ELECTRONICALLY.

Name of Bidder:

Address of Bidder:

Email:

Telephone:

Printed Name of Person Submitting 
Affidavit:

Signature of Person Submitting 
Affidavit:

I will offer the quoted prices to all authorized entities during the term of the County ’s Contract.

I will not offer the quoted prices to all authorized entities.

BEFORE ME, the undersigned authority, a Notary Public, personally appeared 

(Name of Signer), who after being by me duly sworn, did depose and say: “I, , 

(Name of Signer) am a duly author ized officer of/agent for (Name of Bidder) and 

have been duly authorized to execute the foregoing on behalf of the said (Name of

Bidder).

SUBSCRIBED AND SWORN to before me by the above-named 

on this the day of , 20 .

Notary Public in and for

The State of 

The County of 

Bid 1704-157Williamson County, Texas

4/7/2017 9:30 AM p. 110



5

6

3 4

Bidder References

List the last (3) companies or governmental agencies, where the same or similar
goods and/or services as contained in this IFB package, were recently provided
by Bidder.

Reference 1

Client Name:                                                         Location:

Contact Name:                                                      Title:

Phone:                                                                  E-mail

Contract Date To:                  Contract Date From:             Contract Value: $

Scope of Work:

Reference 2

Client Name:                                                         Location:

Contact Name:                                                      Title:

Phone:                                                                  E-mail

Contract Date To:                  Contract Date From:             Contract Value: $

Scope of Work:

Reference 3

Client Name:                                                         Location:

Contact Name:                                                      Title:

Phone:                                                                  E-mail

Contract Date To:                  Contract Date From:             Contract Value: $

Scope of Work:

55

66

55

66

55

66

Bid 1704-157Williamson County, Texas

4/7/2017 9:30 AM p. 111



5

6

3 4

Bidder References

List the last (3) companies or governmental agencies, where the same or similar
goods and/or services as contained in this IFB package, were recently provided
by Bidder.

Reference 1

Client Name:                                                         Location:

Contact Name:                                                      Title:

Phone:                                                                  E-mail

Contract Date To:                  Contract Date From:             Contract Value: $

Scope of Work:

Reference 2

Client Name:                                                         Location:

Contact Name:                                                      Title:

Phone:                                                                  E-mail

Contract Date To:                  Contract Date From:             Contract Value: $

Scope of Work:

Reference 3

Client Name:                                                         Location:

Contact Name:                                                      Title:

Phone:                                                                  E-mail

Contract Date To:                  Contract Date From:             Contract Value: $

Scope of Work:

55

66

55

66

55

66

Bid 1704-157Williamson County, Texas

4/7/2017 9:30 AM p. 112



5

6

CONFLICT OF INTEREST QUESTIONNAIRE
For vendor or other person doing business with local governmental entity

Form 
CIQ

This questionnaire is being filed in accordance with chapter 176 of the Local 
Government Code by a person doing business with the governmental entity.

By law this questionnaire must be filed with the records administrator of the 
local government not later than the 7th business day after the date the person 

becomes aware of facts that require the statement to be filed. See Section 
176.006, Local Government Code.

A person commits an offense if the person violates Section 176.006, Local 
Government Code. An offense under this section is a Class C misdemeanor.

   Date Received 

OFFICE USE ONLY

1 Name of person doing business with local governmental entity.

2
Check this box if you are filing an update to a previously filed questionnaire.

(The law requires that you file an updated completed questionnaire with the appropriate filing authority not later 

than September 1 of the year for which an activity described in Section 176.006(a), Local Government Code, is 

pending and not later than the 7th business day after the date the originally filed questionnaire becomes 

incomplete or inaccurate.)

3
Describe each affiliation or business relationship with an employee or contractor of the local governmental 

entity who makes recommendations to a local government officer of the local governmental entity with 
respect to expenditure of money.

55

66

4
Describe each affiliation or business relationship with a person who is a local government officer and who 
appoints or employs a local government officer of the local governmental entity that is the subject of this 

questionnaire.

55

66

CONFLICT OF INTEREST QUESTIONNAIRE
For vendor or other person doing business with local governmental 

entity

Form 
CIQ

Page 2

5 Name of local government officer with whom filer has affiliation or business relationship. 
(Complete this section only if the answer to A, B, or C is YES.)

This section, item 5 including subparts A, B, C & D, must be completed for each officer with whom the filer 
has affiliation or other relationship. Attach additional pages to this Form CIQ as necessary.

A. Is the local government officer named in this section receiving or likely to receive taxable income from 
the filer of the questionnaire?

Yes No

B. Is the filer of the questionnaire receiving or likely to receive taxable income from or at the direction of the 
local government officer named in this section AND the taxable income is not from the local 

governmental entity?

Yes No

C. Is the filer of this questionnaire affiliated with a corporation or other business entity that the local 
government officer serves as an officer or director, or holds an ownership of 10 percent or more?

Yes No

D. Describe each affiliation or business relationship.

6. Describe any other affiliation or business relationship that might cause conflict of interest:

55

66

55

66

7

Signature of person doing business with the governmental entity Date

Signature not required if completing in BIDSYNC electronically.

Bid 1704-157Williamson County, Texas

4/7/2017 9:30 AM p. 113



5

6

CONFLICT OF INTEREST QUESTIONNAIRE
For vendor or other person doing business with local governmental entity

Form 
CIQ

This questionnaire is being filed in accordance with chapter 176 of the Local 
Government Code by a person doing business with the governmental entity.

By law this questionnaire must be filed with the records administrator of the 
local government not later than the 7th business day after the date the person 

becomes aware of facts that require the statement to be filed. See Section 
176.006, Local Government Code.

A person commits an offense if the person violates Section 176.006, Local 
Government Code. An offense under this section is a Class C misdemeanor.

   Date Received 

OFFICE USE ONLY

1 Name of person doing business with local governmental entity.

2
Check this box if you are filing an update to a previously filed questionnaire.

(The law requires that you file an updated completed questionnaire with the appropriate filing authority not later 

than September 1 of the year for which an activity described in Section 176.006(a), Local Government Code, is 

pending and not later than the 7th business day after the date the originally filed questionnaire becomes 

incomplete or inaccurate.)

3
Describe each affiliation or business relationship with an employee or contractor of the local governmental 

entity who makes recommendations to a local government officer of the local governmental entity with 
respect to expenditure of money.

55

66

4
Describe each affiliation or business relationship with a person who is a local government officer and who 
appoints or employs a local government officer of the local governmental entity that is the subject of this 

questionnaire.

55

66

CONFLICT OF INTEREST QUESTIONNAIRE
For vendor or other person doing business with local governmental 

entity

Form 
CIQ

Page 2

5 Name of local government officer with whom filer has affiliation or business relationship. 
(Complete this section only if the answer to A, B, or C is YES.)

This section, item 5 including subparts A, B, C & D, must be completed for each officer with whom the filer 
has affiliation or other relationship. Attach additional pages to this Form CIQ as necessary.

A. Is the local government officer named in this section receiving or likely to receive taxable income from 
the filer of the questionnaire?

Yes No

B. Is the filer of the questionnaire receiving or likely to receive taxable income from or at the direction of the 
local government officer named in this section AND the taxable income is not from the local 

governmental entity?

Yes No

C. Is the filer of this questionnaire affiliated with a corporation or other business entity that the local 
government officer serves as an officer or director, or holds an ownership of 10 percent or more?

Yes No

D. Describe each affiliation or business relationship.

6. Describe any other affiliation or business relationship that might cause conflict of interest:

55

66

55

66

7

Signature of person doing business with the governmental entity Date

Signature not required if completing in BIDSYNC electronically.

Bid 1704-157Williamson County, Texas

4/7/2017 9:30 AM p. 114



55

66

Question and Answers for Bid #1704 -157 - Milling & Overlay - Ronald Regan Blvd 

From FM 3405 To RM 2338 

Overall Bid Questions

There are no questions associated with this bid.   

Bid 1704-157Williamson County, Texas

4/7/2017 9:30 AM p. 115



   

Commissioners Court - Regular Session   20.           
Meeting Date: 04/18/2017  

Cul-De-Sac Fog Seal
Submitted For: Randy Barker  Submitted By: Dianne West, Purchasing
Department: Purchasing
Agenda Category: Regular Agenda Items

Information
Agenda Item
Discuss, consider and take appropriate action on awarding IFB # 1702-147 Cul-De-Sac Fog Seal to the lowest and
best bidder, Alpha Paving Industries LLC, as recommended by the Road and Bridge Department and authorizing
the County Judge to sign the attached Agreement. 

Background
This project is to provide materials, experienced fog seal crews and equipment to resurface cul-de-sacs. Only
one bid was received, Alpha Paving for $342,826.50, the engineers estimate was $348,000.

Fiscal Impact

From/To Acct No. Description Amount

Attachments
Agreement for Construction Svcs - Cul-De-Sac

Form Review
Inbox Reviewed By Date
County Judge Exec Asst. Wendy Coco 04/12/2017 09:48 AM
Form Started By: Dianne West Started On: 04/12/2017 09:17 AM
Final Approval Date: 04/12/2017 



 Agreement for Construction Services 
 

This Agreement (“Agreement”) between Williamson County, Texas, a political subdivision of the State of 
Texas (“Owner”) and Alpha Paving Industries LLC (“Contractor”) is entered into in accordance with the 
following terms and conditions: 
 
ARTICLE 1 SCOPE OF WORK:  The Owner desires to retain Contractor to provide the construction 
services described herein.  The Contractor shall have the overall responsibility for and shall provide 
complete construction services and furnish all materials, equipment, tools and labor as necessary or 
reasonably inferable to complete the following described construction services, or any phase of such services, 
in accordance with the Owner’s requirements and the terms of this Agreement (hereinafter collectively 
referred to as the “Work”): 
 
As described in the Invitation for Bid Solicitation # 1702-147, Cul-De-Sac Fog Seal FY17; including 
the specifications set forth therein, which is incorporated herein as if copied in full.  
 
ARTICLE 2 CONTRACT PRICE:  Owner agrees to pay to the Contractor, for the satisfactory 
performance of the Work, the not-to-exceed amount of Three Hundred Forty Two Thousand Eight 
Hundred Twenty Six Dollars & Fifty Cents ($342,826.50) in accordance with the terms and conditions of 
this Agreement. 
 
ARTICLE 3 PLANS AND SPECIFICATIONS:  The Work shall be performed pursuant to and in 
accordance with the following described plans and specifications, as well as any revisions made thereto: 
 
As described in the Invitation for Bid Solicitation # 1704-147, including the specifications set forth 
therein, which is incorporated herein as if copied in full.  
 
Additional Work:  Should Owner choose to add additional work, such additional work shall be 
described in a separate written amendment to this Agreement wherein the additional work shall be 
described and the parties shall set forth the amount of compensation to be paid by Owner for the 
additional work.  Contractor shall not begin any additional work and Owner shall not be obligated to pay 
for any additional work unless a written amendment to this Agreement has been signed by both parties. 

 
ARTICLE 4  SUBSTANTIAL AND FINAL COMPLETION:   
 
4.1 Commencement of Work.  Contractor shall commence the Work upon instruction to do so from 
the Owner and Construction shall be deemed to have commenced on the date of such instruction. 
 
 
 
 
 



2 
 

4.2 Substantial Completion. “Substantial Completion” means the stage in the progress of the Work 
when the Work, or designated portions thereof, may still require minor modifications or adjustments but, 
in the Owner’s opinion, the Work has progressed to the point such that all parts of the Work under 
consideration are fully operational and usable for intended purposes, as evidenced by a Certificate of 
Substantial Completion approved by the Owner.  If a Certificate of Occupancy is required by public 
authorities having jurisdiction over the Work, said certificate shall be issued before the Work or any 
portion thereof is considered substantially complete.  When the Contractor considers that the Work, or a 
portion thereof which the Owner agrees to accept separately, is substantially complete, the Contractor 
shall notify Owner’s Designated Representative (sometimes referred to as the “ODR”) and request a 
determination as to whether the Work or designated portion thereof is substantially complete.  If the ODR 
does not consider the Work substantially complete, the ODR will notify the Contractor giving reasons 
therefore.   Failure on the Owner’s part to list a reason does not alter the responsibility of the Contractor 
to complete all Work in accordance with the terms of this Agreement.  After satisfactorily completing 
items identified by Owner’s Designated Representative, the Contractor shall then submit another request 
for the ODR to determine Substantial Completion.  If The ODR considers the Work substantially 
complete, The ODR will prepare and deliver a certificate of Substantial Completion which shall establish 
the date of Substantial Completion, shall include a punch list of items to be completed or corrected before 
final completion and final payment, shall establish the time within which the Contractor shall finish the 
punch list, and shall establish responsibilities of the Owner and the Contractor  for security, maintenance, 
heat, utilities, damage to the Work, warranty and insurance.  Failure to include an item on the punch list 
does not alter the responsibility of the Contractor to complete all Work in accordance with the terms and 
conditions of this Agreement.  The certificate of Substantial Completion shall be signed by the Owner and 
the Contractor to evidence acceptance of the responsibilities assigned to them in such certificate. 
 
Substantial Completion (as defined in this agreement) for all stages of the Work shall be achieved on or 
before the following Substantial Completion date: 
 
DATE FOR SUBSTANTIAL COMPLETION:   TBD (15 days from work authorizations) 
 
Under no circumstances will the time for Substantial Completion exceed this date without a written 
amendment to this Agreement.  THE TIMES SET FORTH IN THE CONSTRUCTION 
DOCUMENTS ARE AN ESSENTIAL ELEMENT OF THE AGREEMENT.  TIME LIMITS 
STATED IN THE CONTRACT DOCUMENTS ARE OF THE ESSENCE OF THIS AGREEMENT.     
 
4.3 Final Completion. The Work shall be fully and finally completed on or before TBD (20 days 
from work authorization); provided, however, Owner may extend said time period in the event bad 
weather affects the progress of the Work.  Owner shall, at its sole discretion, determine when the Work 
has been fully and finally completed to its satisfaction. 
 
4.4 Liquidated Damages.  For each consecutive calendar day after the date of Substantial 
Completion that the Work is not Substantially Complete, the Owner may deduct the amount of Two 
Hundred Dollars per day ($200/day) from any money due or that becomes due the Contractor, not as a 
penalty but as liquidated damages representing the parties' estimate at the time of contract execution of 
the damages that the Owner will sustain for late completion.  The parties stipulate and agree that 
calculating Owner’s actual damages for late completion of the Work would be impractical, unduly 
burdensome, and cause unnecessary delay and that the amount of daily liquidated damages set forth is 
reasonable. 
 



3 
 

 
ARTICLE 5  PAYMENT:   
 
Contractor shall have a duty to submit to the ODR by the end of each month a statement showing 
the total value of the Work performed during such month.  The statement shall also include the 
value of all sound materials delivered on the Work site and to be included in the Work and all 
partially completed Work, whether bid as a lump sum or a unit item, which in the opinion of the 
ODR is acceptable.  The ODR shall examine and approve or modify and approve such statement.  
The Owner shall then pay the Contractor pursuant to Chapter 2251 of the Texas Government 
Code (“Texas Prompt Payment Act”), as set forth in Article 11.1 of this Agreement, the total 
amount of the approved statement less all previous payments and all further sums that may by 
retained by the Owner under the terms of this Agreement or under the law.  Statements are not 
considered “received” until reviewed by the ODR and an approved statement is submitted to 
the Williamson County Auditor’s Office; therefore, Contractor must ensure timely delivery 
of statements for review and processing. 
 
At any time following the completion of all Work, including all punch list items, cleanup, and the 
delivery of record documents, the Contractor shall submit a certified application for final payment, 
including all sums held as retainage if any, to the ODR for its review and approval.  Contractor 
shall submit, prior to or with the application for final payment, final copies of all close out 
documents, including maintenance and operating instructions, guarantees and warranties, 
certificates, and all other items required by this Agreement. Contractor shall also submit consent of 
surety to final payment, an affidavit that all payrolls, bills for materials and equipment, 
subcontracted work and other indebtedness connected with the Work, except as specifically noted, 
have been paid or will be paid or otherwise satisfied within the period of time required by Chapter 
2251, Texas Government Code.  Contractor shall furnish documentation establishing payment or 
satisfaction of all such obligations, such as receipts, releases and waivers of claims arising out of 
the Agreement.  Owner is entitled to rely upon this affidavit and the Contractor may not submit a 
claim on behalf of a subcontractor or vendor if that claim has not been noted as an exception in the 
affidavit. 
 
Owner may deduct from the final payment all sums due from Contractor for any reason, 
Liquidated Damages and all other deductions authorized by this Agreement.   
 
Final payment shall constitute a waiver of all claims by the Contractor except those specifically 
identified in writing and submitted to the ODR prior to the application for final payment. Provided, 
however, that the Work shall not be deemed fully performed by the Contractor and closed until the 
expiration of all warranty periods. 
 
ARTICLE 6 CONTRACTOR’S GENERAL RESPONSIBILITIES AND COVENANTS:   

 
6.1 Contractor shall perform all services specifically allocated to it hereunder, as well as those 
services reasonably inferable and necessary for completion of the Work.  The Contractor shall keep the 
Owner informed of the progress and quality of the Work.  Contractor agrees and acknowledges that 
Owner is entering into this Agreement in reliance on Contractor's represented expertise and ability to 
provide the Work described in this Agreement. Contractor agrees to use its best efforts, skill, judgment, 
and abilities to perform its obligations in accordance with the highest standards used in the profession and 
to further the interests of Owner in accordance with Owner’s requirements and procedures.   



4 
 

6.2 Contractor’s duties as set forth herein shall at no time be in any way diminished by reason of any 
approval by the Owner nor shall the Contractor be released from any liability by reason of such approval 
by the Owner, it being understood that the Owner at all times is ultimately relying upon the Contractor’s 
skill and knowledge in performing the services required hereunder. 

 
6.3 Contractor is responsible for initiating, maintaining, and supervising all safety precautions and 
programs in connection with the Work.  The safety program shall comply with all applicable requirements 
of the current federal Occupational Safety and Health Act and all other applicable federal, state and local 
laws and regulations.  

 
6.4  Contractor shall be an independent contractor under this Agreement and shall assume all of the 
rights, obligations, liabilities, applicable to it as such independent contractor hereunder and any provisions 
in this agreement which may appear to give Owner the right to direct Contractor as to details of doing the 
Work herein covered or to exercise a measure of control over the Work shall be deemed to mean that 
Contractor shall follow the desires of Owner in the results of the Work only.  Owner shall not retain or 
have the right to control the Contractor’s means, methods or details pertaining to the Contractor’s 
performance of the Work described herein, nor shall Owner have the power to direct the order in which 
Contractor’s Work is performed under this agreement.  Owner and Contractor hereby agree and declare 
that Contractor is an Independent Contractor and as such meets the qualifications of an Independent 
Contractor under Texas Worker’s Compensation Act, Texas Labor Code, Section 406.141, that the 
Contractor is not an employee of Owner for purposes of this Agreement, and that the Contractor and its 
employees, agents and sub-subcontractors shall not be entitled to worker’s compensation coverage or any 
other type of insurance coverage held by Owner.  
 
6.5 As part of Contractor obligation to coordinate the Work, Contract shall:  

a. cooperate with the ODR and endeavor to further the interests of the Owner and the Work; 
b. provide an on-site, full-time superintendent for the duration of the Work; 
c. visit the Work site and inspect the existing facilities, systems and conditions to insure an 

accurate understanding of the existing conditions as required; 
d. at Owner’s request, attend public meetings and hearings concerning the development of the 

Work; 
e. review all drawings, specifications, and other plans as they are developed by the Owner 

and/or its architect and advise Owner of any error, inconsistency or omission discovered in 
the drawings, specifications, and other plans; 

f. review the drawings, specifications, and other plans for compliance with all applicable laws 
and code requirements; 

g. advise Owner of any tests that should be performed; 
h. organize and maintain a competent, full-time staff at the Work site with clearly defined lines 

of authority and communication as necessary to coordinate construction activities, monitor 
and direct progress of the Work; 

i. attend Owner’s regularly scheduled Work progress meetings and fully advise the ODR of the 
Work status including schedule, costs, quality and changes; 

j. assist Owner in obtaining building permits and obtain special permits for permanent 
improvements as required by law; and 

k. shall coordinate, monitor and inspect the Work of subcontractors to ensure conformance with 
the drawings, specifications, other plans and with the terms of this Agreement. 

 
 
 

 



5 
 

6.6 Contractor shall identify every subcontractor it intends to use for the Work to the Owner in 
writing at least ten (10) days before entering into any subcontract.  Contractor shall not use any 
subcontractor to which Owner has a reasonable objection.  If Owner does not object to a particular 
subcontractor with said ten (10) days, such subcontract may be considered acceptable to Owner.  
Following Owner’s acceptance of a subcontractor, that subcontractor shall not be changed without 
Owner’s written consent, which shall not be unreasonably withheld. 
 
6.7  Contractor’s designated representative, which is set forth below Contractor’s signature herein 
below, shall be responsible for the day-to-day management of the Work on behalf of Contractor.  The 
designated representative shall be the Owner’s primary contact during the Work and shall be available as 
required for the benefit of the Work and the Owner.  The contractor’s designated representative shall be 
authorized to act on behalf of and bind the Contractor in all matters related to the Work including, but not 
limited to, execution of Change Orders.   

 
6.8 NO ALTERATIONS OR CHANGES SHALL BE MADE, HOWEVER, EXCEPT UPON 
THE WRITTEN ORDER OF THE OWNER, OR THE ODR.  
 
6.9 Contractor shall promptly correct any defective Work at Contractor’s sole expense, unless the 
Owner specifically agrees, in writing, to accept the Work.   

 
6.10 Contractor shall maintain and deliver the close out documents that describe changes or deviations 
from the original drawings, specifications and plans that occurred during construction and that reflect the 
actual “As Built” conditions of the completed Work. 
 
COMMISSIONING AND WARRANTY RESPONSIBILITIES 
 
6.11 Contractor shall provide commissioning, starting and check-out services for the systems installed 
as a part of the Work prior to completion and acceptance.  Operation manuals and instructions will be 
provided to the Owner, the systems will be demonstrated and training provided to Williamson County’s 
operators upon completion and prior to acceptance. 
 
6.12 Contractor hereby warrants that the materials and equipment provided for the Work will be of 
good quality and new unless otherwise required or permitted by the Owner; that the construction will be 
free from faults and defects; and that the construction will conform with the requirements of the plans, 
specifications, drawings and the terms of this Agreement. 

 
6.13 Contractor shall provide warranty services for the Work for a full 12 months (30 months for 
Work involving mechanical services, if any) following Final Completion and final payment.  Just before 
the warranty period expires, Contractor shall attend an on-site meeting with the Owner to ensure that all 
warranty issues have been identified and properly remedied. 
 
ARTICLE 7 OWNER’S RESPONSIBILITIES 
 
7.1 The Owner shall: 

a. provide the general schedule for the Work provided Owner is of the opinion such schedule is 
necessary.  The general schedule will set forth the Owner’s plan for milestone dates and 
completion of the Work; 

b. identify a person as its ODR who is authorized to act in the Owner's behalf with respect to the 
Work.  The ODR shall examine the documents submitted by the Contractor and shall render 
decisions on behalf of the Owner to the extent allowed by Texas law; 



6 
 

c. at Owner’s cost, will secure the services of surveyors, soils engineers, existing facility surveys, 
testing and balancing, environmental surveys or other special consultants to develop such 
additional information as may be necessary for the design or construction of the Work; 

d. furnish required information and services and shall render approvals and decisions as 
expeditiously as is consistent with reasonable skill and care and the orderly progress of the 
Contractor's services and of the Work; 

e. shall have the right to reject any defective Work.  Should Contractor refuse or neglect to 
correct any such Work within a reasonable time after notice, Owner may have the Work 
corrected and recover all expenses incurred from Contractor on demand; and 

f. Owner shall furnish to the Contractor a sufficient number of plans, drawings and specifications 
sets.   

 
ARTICLE 8 INSURANCE AND INDEMNITY 
 
8.1 Insurance.  The Contractor shall carry insurance in the types and amounts indicated below for 
the duration of the Agreement, which shall include items owned by Owner in the care, custody and 
control of Contractor prior to and during construction. Contractor must also complete and file the 
declaration pages from the insurance policies with Owner whenever a previously identified policy period 
expires during the term of the Agreement, as proof of continuing coverage.  Contractor shall update all 
expired policies prior to submission of any payment requests hereunder.  Failure to update policies shall 
be reason for payment to be withheld until evidence for renewal is provided to the Owner. 

 
8.1.1 The Contractor shall provide and maintain, until the Work covered in this Agreement is 
completed and accepted by the Owner, the minimum insurance coverage in the minimum amounts as 
described below.  Coverage shall be written on an occurrence basis by companies authorized and 
admitted to do business in the State of Texas and rated A- or better by A.M. Best Company or 
otherwise acceptable to Owner. 

 
 Type of Coverage Limits of Liability 

 
a.  Worker's Compensation Statutory 
 
b. Employer's Liability   
 Bodily Injury by Accident $500,000 Ea. Accident 

Bodily Injury by Disease $500,000 Ea. Employee  
Bodily Injury by Disease $500,000 Policy Limit 
 

c. Comprehensive general liability including completed operations and 
contractual liability insurance for bodily injury, death, or property damages 
in the following amounts: 

 
COVERAGE  PER PERSON  PER OCCURRENCE 

 
Comprehensive   
General Liability  $ 1,000,000  $  1,000,000 
(including premises, 
 completed operations 
 and contractual)    
   
Aggregate policy limits:   $1,000,000 
 
 



7 
 

 
 

d. Comprehensive automobile and auto liability insurance (covering owned, 
hired, leased and non-owned vehicles): 
 
COVERAGE  PER PERSON  PER OCCURRENCE 
   
Bodily injury  $1,000,000  $1,000,000  
(including death) 
 
Property damage  $1,000,000  $1,000,000  
 
Aggregate policy limits   No aggregate limit 
 

e. Builder’s Risk Insurance 
 (all risks) 
 
An all risks policy shall be in the amount equal at all times to 100% of the 
Contract Sum.  The policy shall include coverage for loss or damage caused 
by certified acts of terrorism as defined in the Terrorism Risk Insurance Act.  
The policy shall be issued in the name of the Contractor and shall name his 
Subcontractors as additional insureds.  The Owner shall be named as a loss 
payee on the policy.  The builders risk policy shall have endorsements as 
follow: 
 

1. This insurance shall be specific as to coverage and not 
considered as contributing insurance with any permanent 
insurance maintained on the present premises.  If off-site storage 
is permitted, coverage shall include transit and storage in an 
amount sufficient to protect property being transported or stored. 

 
2. For renovation projects and or portions of work contained within 

an existing structure, the Owner waives subrogation for damage 
by fire to existing building structure(s), if the Builder’s Risk 
Policy has been endorsed to include coverage for existing 
building structure(s) in the amount described in the Special 
Conditions.  However, Contractor shall not be required to obtain 
such an endorsement unless specifically required by the Special 
Conditions., in this Agreement.  The aforementioned waiver of 
subrogation shall not be effective unless such endorsement is 
obtained. 

 
f. Umbrella coverage in the amount of not less than $1,000,000. 
 

8.1.2 The above insurance requirements are not intended to be compounded with the Contractor's 
standing insurance policies.  If the Contractor already has in force insurance policies which provide the 
required coverage, there is no need to purchase duplicate coverage for this Work. 

 
 
 
 
 



8 
 

 
 

8.1.3 Policies must include the following clauses, as applicable. 
 

a. “This insurance shall not be canceled, limited in scope or coverage, or non-renewed 
until after thirty (30) days prior written notice, or ten (10) days for non-payment of 
premium, has been given to Williamson County.” 

b. “It is agreed that the Contractor’s insurance shall be deemed primary with respect to 
any insurance or self insurance carried by Williamson County for liability arising out 
of operations under the Agreement with Williamson County.” 

c. “Williamson County, it officials, directors, employees, representatives, and 
volunteers are added as additional insured as respects operations and activities of, or 
on behalf of the named insured performed under Agreement with the Owner.”  This 
is not applicable to the workers’ compensation policy. 

d. “The workers’ compensation and employers’ liability policy will provide a waiver of 
subrogation in favor of Williamson County.” 

 
8.1.4 Workers' Compensation Insurance Coverage: 
 

In the event that Contractor employs any individual to perform any portion of the Work, 
Contractor shall comply with Texas Labor Code, §406.096, which requires workers' 
compensation insurance coverage for all employees providing services on a building or 
construction project for a governmental entity. 

 
a. Definitions: 

(1) Certificate of Coverage ("certificate") - A copy of a certificate of insurance, a 
certificate of authority to self-insure issued by the Texas Workers' Compensation 
Commission, or a coverage agreement (TWCC-81, TWCC-82, TWCC-83, or TWCC-84), 
showing statutory workers' compensation insurance coverage for the person's or entity's 
employees providing services on a project, for the Duration of the Work. 
(2) Duration of the Work - includes the time from the beginning of the Work until the 
Work has been completed and accepted by the Owner. 
(3) Coverage – Workers’ compensation insurance meeting the statutory requirements 
of the Texas Labor Code, §401.011(44). 
(4) Persons providing services relating to the Work ("subcontractor") - includes all 
persons or entities performing all or part of the services the Contractor has undertaken to 
perform the Work, regardless of whether that person contracted directly with the Contractor 
and regardless of whether that person has employees.  This includes, without limitation, 
independent contractors, subcontractors, leasing companies, motor carriers, owner-
operators, employees of any such entity, or employees of any entity which furnishes 
persons to provide services in relation to the Work.  "Services" include, without limitation, 
providing, hauling, or delivering equipment or materials, or providing labor, transportation, 
or other service related to a project.  "Services" does not include activities unrelated to the 
Work, such as food/beverage vendors, office supply deliveries, and delivery of portable 
toilets. 

b. The Contractor shall provide Coverage, based on proper reporting of classification codes 
and payroll amounts and filing of any Coverage agreements, which meets the statutory requirements 
of Texas labor Code, §401.011(44) for all employees of the Contractor providing services in 
relation to the Work, for the Duration of the Work. 
c. The Contractor must provide a Certificate of Coverage to the Owner prior to or 
contemporaneously with the execution of this Agreement. 



9 
 

 
 

d. If the Coverage period shown on the Contractor’s current Certificate of Coverage ends 
during the Duration of the Work, the Contractor must, prior to the end of the Coverage period, file a 
new Certificate of Coverage with the Owner showing that Coverage has been extended. 
e. The Contractor shall obtain from each person providing services in relation to the Work, 
and provide to the Owner: 

(1) a Certificate of Coverage, prior to that person beginning any of the Work, so the 
Owner will have on file Certificates of Coverage showing Coverage for all persons 
providing services in relation to the Work; and 
(2) no later than seven days after receipt by the Contractor, a new Certificate of 
Coverage showing extension of Coverage, if the Coverage period shown on the current 
Certificate of Coverage ends during the Duration of the Work. 

f. The Contractor shall retain all required Certificates of Coverage for the Duration of the 
Work and for one year thereafter. 
g. The Contractor shall notify the Owner in writing by certified mail or personal delivery, 
within 10 days after the Contractor knew or should have known, of any change that materially 
affects the provision of Coverage of any person providing services in relation to the Work. 
h. The Contractor shall post on the Work site a notice, in the text, form and manner prescribed 
by the Texas Workers’ Compensation Commission, informing all persons providing services in 
relation to the Work that they are required to be covered, and stating how a person may verify 
Coverage and report lack of Coverage. 
i. By signing this Agreement or providing or causing to be provided a Certificate of 
Coverage, the Contractor is representing to the Owner that all employees of the Contractor who 
will provide services in relation to the Work and all persons providing services in relation to the 
Work will be covered by workers' compensation coverage for the Duration of the Work, that the 
coverage will be based on proper reporting of classification codes and payroll amounts, and that all 
coverage agreements will be filed with the appropriate insurance carrier or, in the case of a self-
insured, with the commission's Division of Self-Insurance Regulation.  Providing false or 
misleading information may subject the Contractor to administrative penalties, criminal penalties, 
civil penalties, or other civil actions. 
j. The Contractor's failure to comply with any of these provisions is a breach of Agreement 
by the Contractor which entitles the Owner to declare the Agreement void if the Contractor does 
not remedy the breach within ten (10) days after receipt of notice of breach from the Owner. 

 
8.1.5 The furnishing of the above listed insurance coverage must be tendered prior to execution 
of the Agreement, and in no event later than ten (10) calendar days from Notice of Award.  
Failure to provide the insurance in a timely fashion may result in loss of Contractor’s bid 
bond. 
 
8.1.6 The Contractor shall not cause or allow any of its required insurance to be canceled, nor 
permit any insurance to lapse during the term of the Agreement or as required in the Agreement.  If 
the Contractor fails to obtain, maintain or renew any insurance required by this Agreement, the 
Owner may, among other remedies available hereunder or at law, obtain insurance coverage directly 
and recover the cost of that insurance from the Contractor or declare this Agreement void if the 
Contractor does not remedy the breach within ten (10) days after receipt of notice of breach from the 
Owner. 

 
 
 



10 
 

 
8.1.7  The Owner reserves the right to review the insurance requirements set forth in this 
Article during the effective period of the Agreement and to make reasonable adjustments to the 
insurance coverage and their limits when deemed necessary and prudent by the Owner based upon 
changes in statutory law, court decisions, or the claims history of the industry as well as the 
Contractor. 

 
8.1.8 The Owner shall be entitled, upon request, and without expense, to receive complete 
copies of the policies with all endorsements and may make any reasonable requests for deletion, or 
revision or modification of particular policy terms, conditions, limitations, or exclusions, except 
where policy provisions are established by law or regulation binding upon the Parties or the 
underwriter of any of such polices.  Damages caused by the Contractor and not covered by insurance 
shall be paid by the Contractor. 

 
8.1.9 Contractor shall be responsible for payment of premiums for all of the insurance 
coverages required under this Agreement. Contractor further agrees that for each claim, suit 
or action made against insurance provided hereunder, with respect to all matters for which 
the Contractor is responsible hereunder, Contractor shall be solely responsible for all 
deductibles and self-insured retentions. Any deductibles or self-insured retentions over 
$50,000 in the Contractor’s insurance must be declared and approved in writing by 
Owner in advance. 

 
8.1.10 The Contractor shall contractually require each person or entity with whom it 
contracts to provide services in relation to the Work, to comply with each and every insurance 
requirement that Contractor must comply with hereunder.  More specifically, each person or 
entity with whom Contractor contracts to provide services on the in relation to the Work must 
comply with each insurance requirement under this Article 8 just as if such person or entity was 
the Contractor.  Thus, every reference to Contractor under each insurance requirement of this 
Article 8 shall mean and include each person or entity with whom Contractor contracts to 
provide services in relation to the Work.  If any such person or entity with whom Contractor 
contracts to provide services in relation to the Work fails to obtain, maintain or renew any 
insurance required by this Agreement, the Owner may, among other remedies available 
hereunder or at law, obtain insurance coverage directly and recover the cost of that insurance 
from the Contractor or declare this Agreement void if the Contractor does not remedy the 
breach within ten (10) days after receipt of notice of breach from the Owner.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



11 
 

 
8.2 INDEMNITY.   
 

8.2.1 INDEMNIFICATION - EMPLOYEE PERSONAL INJURY CLAIMS.  TO THE FULLEST EXTENT 
PERMITTED BY LAW, THE CONTRACTOR SHALL INDEMNIFY, DEFEND (WITH COUNSEL 
OF OWNER’S CHOOSING), AND HOLD HARMLESS OWNER, AND OWNER’S EMPLOYEES, 
AGENTS, REPRESENTATIVES, PARTNERS, OFFICERS, AND DIRECTORS (COLLECTIVELY, 
THE “INDEMNITEES”) AND SHALL ASSUME ENTIRE RESPONSIBILITY AND LIABILITY 
(OTHER THAN AS A RESULT OF INDEMNITEES’ GROSS NEGLIGENCE) FOR ANY CLAIM OR 
ACTION BASED ON OR ARISING OUT OF THE PERSONAL INJURY, OR DEATH, OF ANY 
EMPLOYEE OF THE CONTRACTOR, OR OF ANY SUBCONTRACTOR, OR OF ANY OTHER 
ENTITY FOR WHOSE ACTS THEY MAY BE LIABLE, WHICH OCCURRED OR WAS ALLEGED 
TO HAVE OCCURRED ON THE  WORK SITE OR IN CONNECTION WITH THE PERFORMANCE 
OF THE WORK.  CONTRACTOR HEREBY INDEMNIFIES THE INDEMNITEES EVEN TO THE 
EXTENT THAT SUCH PERSONAL INJURY WAS CAUSED OR ALLEGED TO HAVE BEEN 
CAUSED BY THE SOLE, COMPARATIVE OR CONCURRENT NEGLIGENCE OF THE STRICT 
LIABILITY OF ANY INDEMNIFIED PARTY.  THIS INDEMNIFICATION SHALL NOT BE 
LIMITED TO DAMAGES, COMPENSATION, OR BENEFITS PAYABLE UNDER INSURANCE 
POLICIES, WORKERS COMPENSATION ACTS, DISABILITY BENEFITS ACTS, OR OTHER 
EMPLOYEES BENEFIT ACTS. 
 

8.2.2 INDEMNIFICATION - OTHER THAN EMPLOYEE PERSONAL INJURY CLAIMS.  TO THE 
FULLEST EXTENT PERMITTED BY LAW, CONTRACTOR SHALL INDEMNIFY, DEFEND 
(WITH COUNSEL OF OWNER’S CHOOSING), AND HOLD HARMLESS OWNER, AND 
OWNER’S EMPLOYEES, AGENTS, REPRESENTATIVES, PARTNERS, OFFICERS, AND 
DIRECTORS (COLLECTIVELY, THE “INDEMNITEES”) FROM AND AGAINST CLAIMS, 
DAMAGES, LOSSES AND EXPENSES, INCLUDING BUT NOT LIMITED TO ATTORNEYS’ FEES, 
ARISING OUT OF OR ALLEGED TO BE RESULTING FROM THE PERFORMANCE OF THIS 
AGREEMENT OR THE WORK DESCRIBED HEREIN, TO THE EXTENT CAUSED BY THE 
NEGLIGENCE, ACTS, ERRORS, OR OMISSIONS OF CONTRACTOR OR ITS 
SUBCONTRACTORS, ANYONE EMPLOYED BY THEM OR ANYONE FOR WHOSE ACTS THEY 
MAY BE LIABLE, REGARDLESS OF WHETHER OR NOT SUCH CLAIM, DAMAGE, LOSS OR 
EXPENSE IS CAUSED IN WHOLE OR IN PART BY A PARTY INDEMNIFIED HEREUNDER. 

 
8.3 Except for the obligation of Owner to pay Contractor the Contract Price pursuant to the terms of 
this Agreement, and to perform certain other obligations pursuant to the terms and conditions explicitly 
set forth herein, Owner shall have no liability to Contractor or to anyone claiming through or under 
Contractor by reason of the execution or performance of this Agreement.  Notwithstanding any obligation 
or liability of Owner to Contractor, no present or future partner or affiliate of Owner or any agent, officer, 
director, or employee of Owner, Williamson County, or of the various departments comprising 
Williamson County, or anyone claiming under Owner has or shall have any personal liability to 
Contractor or to anyone claming through or under Contractor by reason of the execution or performance 
of this Agreement. 
 
ARTICLE 9 BONDS 
 
9.1 Performance Bond.  Upon execution of this Agreement, Contractor shall provide a Performance 
Bond in the amount of 100% of the Contract Price.  The surety for a Performance Bond shall meet the 
requirements of Texas law.   
 
 



12 
 

9.2 Payment Bond.  Upon execution of this Agreement, Contractor shall provide a Payment Bond in 
the amount of 100% of the Contract Price, as security for the true and faithful payment in full of all 
subcontractors and persons performing labor, services, materials, machinery, and fixtures in connection 
with the Work. The surety for a Payment Bond shall meet the requirements of Texas law.  

 
9.3 Warranty Bond.  Upon execution of this Agreement, Contractor shall provide a Warranty Bond 
in the amount of 20% of the Contract Price, as security for the true and faithful performance of all 
warranties set forth in Bid Documents and this Agreement.   

 
ARTICLE 10 TERMINATION 
 
10.1 Termination for Cause.  If either party commits an Event of Breach (a breach of any of the 
covenants, terms and/or conditions of this Agreement), the non-breaching party shall deliver written 
notice of such Event of Breach to the breaching party.  Such notice must specify the nature of the Event 
of Breach and inform the breaching party that unless the Event of Breach is cured within three (3) 
business days of receipt of the notice, additional steps may be taken to terminate this Agreement.  If the 
breaching party begins a good faith attempt to cure the Event of Breach within three (3) business days, 
then and in that instance, the three (3) business day period may be extended by the non-breaching party, 
so long as the breaching party continues to prosecute a cure diligently to completion and continues to 
make a good faith attempt to cure the Event of Breach.  If, in the opinion of the non-breaching party, the 
breaching party does not cure the breach within three (3) business days or otherwise fails to make any 
diligent attempt to correct the Event of Breach, the breaching party shall be deemed to be in breach and 
the non-breaching party may, in addition to seeking the remedies available hereunder and under the law, 
terminate this Agreement. 
 
10.2 Termination for Convenience.  The Owner may terminate this Agreement for convenience and 
without cause or further liability upon thirty (30) days written notice to Contractor.  In the event of such 
termination, it is understood and agreed that only the amounts due to Contractor for goods, commodities 
and/or services provided and expenses incurred to and including the date of termination, will be due and 
payable.  No penalty will be assessed for Owner’s termination of this Agreement for convenience.  
 
ARTICLE 11 MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS 

 
11.1 Interest and Late Payments. Except as otherwise specifically set forth herein, Owner’s payment 
for goods and services shall be governed by Chapter 2251 of the Texas Government Code.  Interest 
charges for any overdue payments shall be paid by Owner in accordance with Texas Government Code 
Section 2251.025.  More specifically, the rate of interest that shall accrue on a late payment is the rate in 
effect on September 1 of Owner’s fiscal year in which the payment becomes due.  The said rate in effect 
on September 1 shall be equal to the sum of one percent (1%); and (2) the prime rate published in the 
Wall Street Journal on the first day of July of the preceding fiscal year that does not fall on a Saturday or 
Sunday.   
 
In the event that an error appears in an invoice/application for payment submitted by Contractor, Owner 
shall notify Contractor of the error not later than the twenty first (21st) day after the date Owner receives 
the invoice/application for payment.  If the error is resolved in favor of Contractor, Contractor shall be 
entitled to receive interest on the unpaid balance of the invoice/application for payment submitted by 
Contractor beginning on the date that the payment for the invoice/application for payment became 
overdue.  If the error is resolved in favor of the Owner, Contractor shall submit a corrected 
invoice/application for payment that must be paid in accordance within the time set forth above.  The 
unpaid balance accrues interest as provided by Chapter 2251 of the Texas Government Code if the 
corrected invoice/application for payment is not paid by the appropriate date. 



13 
 

 
11.2 Assignment; Successors and Assigns.  This Agreement is a personal service contract for the 
services of Contractor, and Contractor’s interest in this Agreement, duties hereunder and/or fees due 
hereunder may not be assigned or delegated to a third party.  This Agreement shall be binding upon and 
inure to the benefit of parties hereto and their respective successors and assigns.  
 
11.3 Captions.  The captions of paragraphs in this Agreement are for convenience only and shall not 
be considered or referred to in resolving questions of interpretation or construction. 
 
11.4 Governing Law and Venue.  This Agreement and all of the rights and obligations of the parties 
and all of the terms and conditions shall be construed, interpreted and applied in accordance with and 
governed by and enforced under the laws of the State of Texas without reference to its conflicts of law 
provisions.  Williamson County where the Work site is located shall be the sole place of venue for any 
legal action arising from or related to this Agreement or the project in which the Owner is a party. 
 
11.5 Waivers.  No delay or omission by either party in exercising any right or power arising from 
non-compliance or failure of performance by the other party with any of the provisions of this Agreement 
shall impair or constitute a waiver of any such right or power.  A waiver by either party of any covenant 
or condition of this Agreement shall not be construed as a waiver of any subsequent breach of that or of 
any other covenant or condition of the Agreement. 
 
11.6 Interpretation.  In the event of any dispute over the meaning or application of any provision of 
the Contract Documents, the Contract Documents shall be interpreted fairly and reasonably, and neither 
more strongly for or against any party, regardless of the actual drafter of the Contract Documents. 
 
11.7 Binding Effect.  This Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties and 
their respective permitted assigns and successors. 
 
11.8 Appointment.  Owner hereby expressly reserves the right from time to time to designate by 
notice to Contractor a representative(s) to act partially or wholly for Owner in connection with the 
performance of Owner's obligations.  Contractor shall act only upon instructions from the designated 
representative(s) unless otherwise specifically notified to the contrary. 
 
11.9 Audits.  Contractor agrees that Owner or its duly authorized representatives shall, until the 
expiration of three (3) years after final payment under this Agreement, have access to and the right to 
examine and photocopy any and all books, documents, papers and records of Contractor which are 
directly pertinent to the services to be performed under this Agreement for the purposes of making audits, 
examinations, excerpts, and transcriptions.  Contractor agrees that Owner shall have access during normal 
working hours to all necessary Contractor facilities and shall be provided adequate and appropriate work 
space in order to conduct audits in compliance with the provisions of this section.  Owner shall give 
Contractor reasonable advance notice of intended audits. 
 
11.10 Severability.  Should any term or provision of this Agreement be held invalid or unenforceable in 
any respect, the remaining terms and provisions shall not be affected and this Agreement shall be construed 
as if the invalid or unenforceable term or provision had never been included. 
 
11.11 No Waiver of Immunities.  Nothing in this Agreement shall be deemed to waive, modify or 
amend any legal defense available at law or in equity to Owner, its past or present officers, employees, or 
agents, nor to create any legal rights or claim on behalf of any third party.  Owner does not waive, 
modify, or alter to any extent whatsoever the availability of the defense of governmental immunity under 
the laws of the State of Texas and of the United States. 



14 
 

 
11.12 Current Revenues.  Under Texas law, a contract with a governmental entity that contains a claim 
against future revenues is void; therefore, each party paying for the performance of governmental 
functions or services must make those payments from current revenues available to the paying party.  
 
11.13  Compliance with Laws.  Contractor shall comply with all federal, state, and local laws, statutes, 
ordinances, rules and regulations, and the orders and decrees of any courts or administrative bodies or 
tribunals in any matter affecting the performance of this Agreement, including, without limitation, 
Worker’s Compensation laws, minimum and maximum salary and wage statutes and regulations, 
licensing laws and regulations.  When required, Contractor shall furnish the County with certification of 
compliance with said laws, statutes, ordinances, rules, regulations, orders, and decrees above specified. 
 
11.14 Sales and Use Tax Exemption.  Owner is a body corporate and politic under the laws of the State 
of Texas and claims exemption from sales and use taxes under Texas Tax Code Ann. § 151.309, as 
amended. 
 
11.15 Texas Public Information Act.  To the extent, if any, that any provision in this Agreement is in 
conflict with Tex. Gov’t Code 552.001 et seq., as amended (the “Public Information Act”), the same shall 
be of no force or effect.  Furthermore, it is expressly understood and agreed that Owner, its officers and 
employees may request advice, decisions and opinions of the Attorney General of the State of Texas in 
regard to the application of the Public Information Act to any information or data furnished to Owner 
whether or not the same are available to the public.  It is further understood that Owner, its officers and 
employees shall have the right to rely on the advice, decisions and opinions of the Attorney General, and 
that Owner, its officers and employees shall have no liability or obligation to Contractor for the disclosure 
to the public, or to any person or persons, of any software or a part thereof, or other items or data 
furnished to Owner by Contractor in reliance of any advice, decision or opinion of the Attorney General 
of the State of Texas. 

 
11.16 Force Majeure.  If the party obligated to perform is prevented from performance by an act of 
war, order of legal authority, act of God, or other unavoidable cause not attributable to the fault or 
negligence of said party, the other party shall grant such party relief from the performance of this 
Agreement.  The burden of proof for the need of such relief shall rest upon the party obligated to perform.  
To obtain release based on force majeure, the party obligated to perform shall file a written request with 
the other party. 

 
11.17 Equal Opportunity in Employment.  The parties to this Agreement agree that during the 
performance of the services under this Agreement they will not discriminate against any employee or 
applicant for employment because of race, color, religion, sex, or national origin. The parties to this 
Agreement will take affirmative action to ensure that applicants are employed, and that employees are 
treated during employment, without regard to their race, color, religion, sex or national origin. Such 
action shall include, but not be limited to the following: employment, upgrading, demotion, or transfer; 
termination; rates of pay or other forms of compensation, and selection for training, including 
apprenticeship.  

 
 
 
 
 
 

 



15 
 

11.18 Reports of Accidents.  Within 24 hours after Contractor becomes aware of the occurrence of any 
accident or other event which results in, or might result in, injury to the person or property of any third 
person (other than an employee of the Contractor), whether or not it results from or involves any action or 
failure to act by the Contractor or any employee or agent of the Contractor and which arises in any 
manner from the performance of this Agreement, the Contractor shall send a written report of such 
accident or other event to the County, setting forth a full and concise statement of the facts pertaining 
thereto.  The Contractor shall also immediately send the County a copy of any summons, subpoena, 
notice, or other documents served upon the Contractor, its agents, employees, or representatives, or 
received by it or them, in connection with any matter before any court arising in any manner from the 
Contractor’s performance of work under this Agreement. 

 
11.19 Relationship of the Parties.  Each party to this Agreement, in the performance of this 
Agreement, shall act in an individual capacity and not as agents, employees, partners, joint ventures or 
associates of one another.  The employees or agents of one party shall not be deemed or construed to be 
the employees or agents of the other party for any purposes whatsoever. 

 
11.20 Appropriation of Funds by Owner.  Owner believes it has sufficient funds currently available 
and authorized for expenditure to finance the costs of this Agreement.  Contractor understands and agrees 
that the Owner’s payment of amounts under this Agreement is contingent on the Owner receiving 
appropriations or other expenditure authority sufficient to allow the Owner, in the exercise of reasonable 
administrative discretion, to continue to make payments under this Agreement.  

 
11.21 Execution in Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in counterparts, each of which, 
when executed and delivered, shall be deemed to be an original and all of which together shall constitute 
one and the same document. 
 
11.22 Entire Agreement.   This Agreement represents the entire and integrated agreement between the 
parties hereto and supersedes all prior negotiations, representations, or agreements, either oral or written.  
This Agreement may be amended only by written instrument signed by each party to this Agreement. NO 
OFFICIAL, EMPLOYEE, AGENT, OR REPRESENTATIVE OF THE OWNER HAS ANY 
AUTHORITY, EITHER EXPRESS OR IMPLIED, TO AMEND THIS AGREEMENT, EXCEPT 
PURSUANT TO SUCH EXPRESS AUTHORITY AS MAY BE GRANTED BY THE WILLIAMSON 
COUNTY COMMISSIONERS COURT. 
 
BY SIGNING BELOW, the Parties have executed and bound themselves to this Agreement to be effective as 
of the date of the last party’s execution hereof (Effective Date). 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



16 
 

OWNER:  
 
WILLIAMSON COUNTY, TEXAS,  
a political subdivision of the state of Texas 
 
 

CONTRACTOR: 
 
 

By:      
               
Printed Name:      
 
Title:          
 
Date:                         
 
Party Representatives 
 
Owner’s Designated Representative (“ODR”): 
 
_________________________________ 
_________________________________ 
_________________________________ 
____________ 
Phone _____________________ 
Fax _______________________ 
 

By:                                    
               
Printed Name:                                             
 
Title:                                                          
 
Date:                                      
 
 
 
Contractor’s Designated Representative: 
 
_________________________________ 
_________________________________ 
_________________________________ 
____________ 
Phone _____________________ 
Fax _______________________ 
 

  
         
 

 
 
  
 



   

Commissioners Court - Regular Session   21.           
Meeting Date: 04/18/2017  

Award Payroll Services for Elections
Submitted By: Kerstin Hancock, Purchasing
Department: Purchasing
Agenda Category: Regular Agenda Items

Information
Agenda Item
Discuss, consider and take appropriate action on awarding RFP 1612-131 for Payroll Services for Existing
Temporary Labor for Elections, to the best proposer, Evins Personnel Consultants, Inc.

Background
After in depth evaluation, the Evaluation Committee is recommending Evins Personnel Consultants, Inc. to be
awarded the contract as this company demonstrated most experience with Elections and excellent adaptability to
the County's needs. The proximity to Williamson County and the ability to be present at events with only a short
notice, made Evins stand out and therefore resulted in the highest overall scoring

Fiscal Impact

From/To Acct No. Description Amount

Attachments
Evins contract
scoring
summary
comparison emp vs contr

Form Review
Inbox Reviewed By Date
County Judge Exec Asst. Wendy Coco 04/12/2017 11:34 AM
Form Started By: Kerstin Hancock Started On: 04/12/2017 09:24 AM
Final Approval Date: 04/12/2017 



























Oracle Licensing Non Election Dept ‐ Labor Total General Fund Contract Fund
First Year Cost $149,352.75 $23,376.43 $172,729.18 $58,165.73 $36,991.72
Second Year Cost $33,212.25 $16,821.81 $50,034.06 $19,144.54 $58,654.33
Third Year Cost $33,212.25 $16,821.81 $50,034.06 $69,568.71 $34,599.85

$272,797.29 $146,878.98 $130,245.89

Additional Information about Data

 Processed in Wilco Payroll  Processing by Staffing Agency (less FICA)

Processing in Wilco Payroll  VS Staffing Agency Cost

• Kronos licensing cost is not included in the projections ($137,750.00 new license cost/$29,000.00 per year), as we are not currently using Krono 
license Temporary Election Workers. All other Williamson County employee do use Kronos.
• Oracle licensing is based on 525 new licenses and maintenance fees on 725 licenses.
• Labor costs are based on year one labor figures for setting up 525 new employees, and yearly maintenance on 725 employees. The labor costs 
are primarily associate with HR/Payroll cost. Election Department costs are not included.
• Though over 70% of temporary elections workers were previously paid in Accounts Payable, over 70% of the total payments to election workers 
were paid out of Payroll. Based on this data, entities should not expect a significant increase due to FICA being included in either processing payroll 
or through a staffing agency.

Projected Costs 
per Year



?
?

IRS Tax Publications

IRS Electronic Services

INDEPENDENT 
CONTRACTOR

OR
EMPLOYEE



When You Are an Employee...

When You Are an Independent 
Contractor...

Behavioral Control

Financial Control

Relationship of the Parties

Which are you?
For federal tax purposes, this is an important distinction. Worker classification affects how you pay your federal income 
tax, social security and Medicare taxes, and how you file your tax return. Classification affects your eligibility for social 
security and Medicare benefits, employer provided benefits and your tax responsibilities. If you aren’t sure of your work 
status, you should find out now. This brochure can help you.

Independent Contractor or Employee



   

Commissioners Court - Regular Session   22.           
Meeting Date: 04/18/2017  

Sungard quotes
Submitted By: Jayme Jasso, Purchasing
Department: Purchasing
Agenda Category: Regular Agenda Items

Information
Agenda Item
Discuss, consider and take appropriate action on approving the additional Terms & Conditions between Sungard
Public Sector and Williamson County ITS for Sungard Public Sector add-ons.

Background

Fiscal Impact

From/To Acct No. Description Amount

Attachments
Sungard 1
Sungard 2

Form Review
Inbox Reviewed By Date
County Judge Exec Asst. Wendy Coco 04/12/2017 11:34 AM
Form Started By: Jayme Jasso Started On: 04/12/2017 10:05 AM
Final Approval Date: 04/12/2017 



   

 

 Add-On Quote 
 
 Quote Prepared By: Quote Prepared For: 
 
 Brian Rennie Janessa Poujade, Systems Administrator 
 4000 OSSI Court Williamson County 

 High Point, NC 27265 301 SE Inner Loop Ste. 107 

 Phone: 336-878-1287 Fax: (407) 304-1272 Georgetown, TX 78626 

 Email: brian.rennie@sungardps.com 512-943-1175 
 
       Quote                 Date               Valid Until 
 Q-00020945                   03/22/2017            06/20/2017 
 

 Professional Services 
 Services 
 
 Product Code Product Name Proj Mgmt Installation  Tech Svcs Training Impl Svcs Consulting Development Total Services 

 PS-CD Development Ext Price:    -    -    -    -    -    -    10,400.00  10,400.00 

 PS-IN Installation Ext Price:    -    700.00  -    -    -    -    -    700.00 

 PS-PM Project Management Ext Price:    640.00  -    -    -    -    -    -    640.00 

 Totals: $640.00 $700.00  -    -    -    -   $10,400.00 $11,740.00 

 Product & Services 

 Professional Services: $11,740.00 

 Subtotal: $11,740.00 

 Total: $11,740.00 

 Comments: 

 Customer would like to see AVL equipped units of all services responding to a common call for service on the CAD Map similar to the solution SunGard  

 previously developed in MCT (SOW #1678). SunGard will add a checkbox button to the Map toolbar to put the map in a “Show all Linked Units” mode.   

 When this mode is active (button pushed in), all AVL equipped units of ALL services responding to the event currently being viewed will be displayed on the  

 map.  The users map display will ONLY show units responding to the call they are viewing in the call taker form and the user will have to uncheck the “Show  

 all linked Units” button to go back to the regular AVL display mode.   

 

 This new mode can be configured to be under the users control/responsibility to turn the mode on and off manually OR it can be configured to automatically  

 turn off based on certain criteria.  There will be a system configurable timer that will cause the map to automatically return to the normal AVL view if the user  

 doesn’t uncheck the “Show all linked Units” within a specified time period (i.e. 30 seconds).  Also, when this timer is specified and the user moves to  

 another event the mode would automatically turn off and return to the normal AVL view.  If the timer is configured to 0 seconds the user will be responsible  

 for turning the mode off manually. 

 



   

 SunGard will add the functionality to right click on the AVL unit BMP on the CAD map, and through "view details" obtain the call reference number of the  

 event the unit is on. 

 

 Payment terms as follows, unless otherwise notated below for Special Payment Terms by Product: 

 

Project Management, Consulting, Technical Services, Conversion, Third Party Product Software and Hardware Fees are due upon execution of  

 this Quote. Training fees and Travel & Living expenses are due as incurred monthly. Installation is due upon completion. Custom Modifications, System Change Requests  

 or SOW's for customization, and Third Party Product Implementation Services fees are due 50% on execution of this Quote and 50% due upon invoice, upon completion.  

 Unless otherwise provided, other Professional Services are due monthly, as such services are delivered. Additional services, if requested, will be invoiced at then-current  

 rates. Any shipping charges shown are estimated only and actual shipping charges will be due upon invoice, upon delivery. 

 

 Additional Terms: 
 
 This Quote constitutes an Amendment to the Software License & Services Agreement and the Maintenance Agreement (together, the "Contract and Agreement") by and  

 between the parties hereto. The product and pricing information detailed above comprises the "Exhibit 1" schedule attached to this Amendment. Except as otherwise  

 provided herein, all terms and conditions of the Contract and Agreement shall remain in full force and effect. 

 

 Any interfaces listed above are interfaces only. Customer shall be responsible for obtaining the applicable software, hardware and system software from the appropriate  

 third party vendor. 

 

 Any software applications listed above which are solely owned by SunGard Public Sector are "Component Systems" under the provisions of the Contract and  

 Agreement. Before signing this Quote, please contact your Account manager if you are not certain which software applications are owned by SunGard Public Sector. 

 

 Any hardware or other third party products and services listed above, including third party software, are "Pay Agency Products" under the provisions of the Contract and  

 Agreement. 

 

 For training and on-site project management sessions which are cancelled at the request of Customer within fourteen (14) days of the scheduled start date, Customer is  

 responsible for entire price of the training or on-site project management plus incurred expenses. 
 
Texas Prompt Payment Act Compliance: Payment for goods and services shall be governed by Chapter 2251 of the Texas Government Code. An invoice shall be deemed 
overdue the 31st day after the later of (1) the date licensee receives the goods under the contract; (2) the date the performance of the service under the contract is 
completed; or (3) the date the Williamson County Auditor receives an invoice for the goods or services. Interest charges for any overdue payments shall be paid by 
licensee in accordance with Texas Government Code Section 2251.025. More specifically, the rate of interest that shall accrue on a late payment is the rate in effect on 
September 1 of licensee’s fiscal year in which the payment becomes due. The said rate in effect on September 1 shall be equal to the sum of one percent (1%); and (2) 
the prime rate published in the Wall Street Journal on the first day of July of the preceding fiscal year that does not fall on a Saturday or Sunday. 

 

 

 

Williamson County 

 

 

 Authorized Signature: _________________________________ Date: ____________________ Printed Name: ____________________________________ 
 
   



 SunGard Public Sector  

 

 Add-On Quote 
 
 Quote Prepared By: Quote Prepared For: 
 
 Brian Rennie Janessa Stephens, Systems Administrator 
 4000 OSSI Court Williamson County 

 High Point, NC 27265 301 SE Inner Loop Ste. 107 

 Phone: 336-878-1287 Fax: (407) 304-1272 Georgetown, TX 78626 

 Email: brian.rennie@sungardps.com 512-943-1175 
 
       Quote                 Date               Valid Until 
     Q-00024375               02/08/2017            05/09/2017 
 

 Professional Services 
 Services 
 
 Product Code Product Name Proj Mgmt Installation  Tech Svcs Training Impl Svcs Consulting Development Total Services 

 PS-CD Development Ext Price:    -    -    -    -    -    -    15,400.00  15,400.00 

 PS-PM Project Management Ext Price:    3,040.00  -    -    -    -    -    -    3,040.00 

 Product & Services 

 Professional Services: $18,440.00 

 Subtotal: $18,440.00 

 Discounts 

 Professional Services Discount: $18,440.00 

 Product & Services Totals 
 

 Total: $0.00 

 Comments: 

 SunGard will add functionality to change incident locations on associated spawned events if the incident location is changed on a single event. The CAD  

 user will be alerted with a message box asking if they are sure they want to change addresses on related events spawned events. The message box will  

 default to “YES”. There will be a system switch to turn this option on/off. SCR#1152 

 Payment terms as follows, unless otherwise notated below for Special Payment Terms by Product: 
 
 Project Management, Consulting, Technical Services, Conversion, Third Party Product Software and Hardware Fees are due upon execution of  

 this Quote. Project Management Fees will be invoiced as one combined fee. Training fees and Travel & Living expenses are due as incurred monthly. Installation is due  

 upon completion. Custom Modifications, System Change Requests or SOW's for customization, and Third Party Product Implementation Services fees are due 50% on  

 execution of this Quote and 50% due upon invoice, upon completion. Unless otherwise provided, other Professional Services are due monthly, as such services are  

 delivered. Additional services, if requested, will be invoiced at then-current rates. Any shipping charges shown are estimated only and actual shipping charges will be due  

 upon invoice, upon delivery. 



 SunGard Public Sector  

 

 Additional Terms: 
 
 This Quote constitutes an Amendment to the Software License & Services Agreement and the Maintenance Agreement (together, the "Contract and Agreement") by and  

 between the parties hereto. The product and pricing information detailed above comprises the "Exhibit 1" schedule attached to this Amendment. Except as otherwise  

 provided herein, all terms and conditions of the Contract and Agreement shall remain in full force and effect. 

 

 Any interfaces listed above are interfaces only. Customer shall be responsible for obtaining the applicable software, hardware and system software from the appropriate  

 third party vendor. 

 

 Any software applications listed above which are solely owned by SunGard Public Sector are "Component Systems" under the provisions of the Contract and  

 Agreement. Before signing this Quote, please contact your Account manager if you are not certain which software applications are owned by SunGard Public Sector. 

 

 Any hardware or other third party products and services listed above, including third party software, are "Pay Agency Products" under the provisions of the Contract and  

 Agreement. 

 

 For training and on-site project management sessions which are cancelled at the request of Customer within fourteen (14) days of the scheduled start date, Customer is  

 responsible for entire price of the training or on-site project management plus incurred expenses. 
 
 
Texas Prompt Payment Act Compliance: Payment for goods and services shall be governed by Chapter 2251 of the Texas Government Code. An invoice shall be deemed 
overdue the 31st day after the later of (1) the date licensee receives the goods under the contract; (2) the date the performance of the service under the contract is 
completed; or (3) the date the Williamson County Auditor receives an invoice for the goods or services. Interest charges for any overdue payments shall be paid by 
licensee in accordance with Texas Government Code Section 2251.025. More specifically, the rate of interest that shall accrue on a late payment is the rate in effect on 
September 1 of licensee’s fiscal year in which the payment becomes due. The said rate in effect on September 1 shall be equal to the sum of one percent (1%); and (2) 
the prime rate published in the Wall Street Journal on the first day of July of the preceding fiscal year that does not fall on a Saturday or Sunday. 
 
  

 

 

Williamson County 

 

 Authorized Signature: _______________________________ Date: __________________ Printed Name: _____________________________ 
 
   



   

Commissioners Court - Regular Session   23.           
Meeting Date: 04/18/2017  

Advertisement for rebid Renovations for 355 Texas Avenue
Submitted By: Kerstin Hancock, Purchasing
Department: Purchasing
Agenda Category: Regular Agenda Items

Information
Agenda Item
Discuss, consider, and take appropriate action on rejecting the only proposal received for RFP# 1701-139,
Renovations to 355 Texas Avenue Facility in Round Rock, Texas and authorize Purchasing Agent to advertise and
receive proposals for RFP# 1704-153, Renovations to 355 Texas Avenue Facility in Round Rock, TX.

Background
As the only proposal received was over budget, it is the recommendation of the Facilities Department to reject this
proposal and re-advertise the RFP. The specifications were amended in order to allow for additional competition.
Estimated budget for this project: $1,900,00.00. Substantial completion: 6 months. Final completion: 7 months.

Fiscal Impact

From/To Acct No. Description Amount

Attachments
RFP packet

Form Review
Inbox Reviewed By Date
County Judge Exec Asst. Wendy Coco 04/12/2017 11:34 AM
Form Started By: Kerstin Hancock Started On: 04/12/2017 11:05 AM
Final Approval Date: 04/12/2017 



55

66

Solicitation 1704-153

Renovations to 355 Texas Avenue Facility in Round 
Rock, TX

Bid Designation: Public

Williamson County, Texas

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 1



5

6

Bid 1704-153

Renovations to 355 Texas Avenue Facility in Round Rock, TX

Bid Number     1704 -153 

Bid Title     Renovations to 355 Texas Avenue Facility in Round Rock, TX 

Expected Expenditure    $1,900,000.00 (This price is expected - not guaranteed)

Bid Start Date  In Held

Bid End Date  May 10, 2017 2:00:00 PM CDT

Question & Answer 

End Date
 May 5, 2017 5:00:00 PM CDT

Bid Contact     Kerstin N Hancock 

 512 -943 -1546 

 khancock@wilco.org 

Contract Duration    7 months 

Contract Renewal    Not Applicable   

Prices Good for    1 year 

Pre-Bid Conference   Apr 25, 2017 10:00:00 AM CDT

Attendance is optional

Location: The meeting will be held at 

355 Texas Avenue, Round Rock, Texas. 

Contractors at their option are free to bring any personnel or tradesmen they deem 

necessary for clarif ication to the pre -proposal meeting. 

Pre-Bid Conference   May 3, 2017 11:00:00 AM CDT

Attendance is optional

Location: The meeting will be held at 

355 Texas Avenue 

Round Rock, Texas 

Contractors at their option are free to bring any personnel or tradesmen they deem 

necessary for clarif ication to the pre -proposal meeting. 

Bid Comments Williamson County is seeking proposals from qualified contractors to complete the renovations to 355 
Texas Avenue, Round Rock, Texas, (sometimes referred to as the Williamson County and Cities Health 
District).  The remodel is to be completed per the specifications provided by Haddon & Cowan Architects, 

provided with this RFP1704-153, along with directions from the County Project Manager. 

A summary of the scope of work to be completed is as follows, however, this is only a cursory 

description.  Work performance shall be as defined in the specifications and as required by the County 

personnel.
SUMMARY OF WORK :
Exterior Scope of Work
Resurfacing and re-striping of existing asphalt parking lot
Construction of (2) accessible ramps to the back entrances
Replacement of existing metal roof fasteners and various flashing connections
HVAC replacement
Various exterior finish repairs
Installation of a back-up generator to serve specific areas of the building

Interior Scope of Work
Demolition of all floor finishes, ceilings, lighting, HVAC, and select wall, door, electrical, IT/AV and millwork 
demolition
Installation of new floor finishes, ceilings, lights, HVAC, new paint and various other new finishes
Various renovations to existing wall configurations to accommodate new layouts
Installation of new plumbing lines to accommodate new exam rooms, new toilet room and lab areas
Modifications to various existing doors, frames and hardware to meet Williamson County standards
Installation of foam insulation system to the underside of the existing metal roof
New electrical wiring throughout the building, new receptacles and power in various areas

Pre-Proposal Meeting  :  The meeting will be held at 355 Texas Avenue, Round Rock, Texas. 

Additionally, it is suggested that contractor at his/her option is free to bring any tradesmen or personnel 
they deem necessary for this project.

Additional Stipulations:
Please fully review the attached ensuing agreement for all insurance requirements. Insurance 
certifications will be required within 30 days of the award of the contract. If you can provide those with 

your proposal that would appreciated, but not necessary.
Please fully review the evaluation criteria, to ensure full compliance. Please fully read the attached 

ensuing construction contract and required terms and conditions, to ensure you can fully comply with all 
insurance requirements. 

Desired Substantial Completion Date: Not later than 6 calendar months following Notice to Proceed.
Desired Final Completion Date: Not later than 1 calendar month following Substantial Completion.

Item Response Form

Item     1704-153 --01 -01 -  Add all required documents and proposal to this l ine item.

Quantity    1 each

Unit Price   

Delivery Location          Williamson County, Texas

Purchasing Department

  901 S. Austin Avenue

  Georgetown TX  78626

Qty  1 

Description
Please add all documents and proposal to this line item. 

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 2



5

6

Bid 1704-153

Renovations to 355 Texas Avenue Facility in Round Rock, TX

Bid Number     1704 -153 

Bid Title     Renovations to 355 Texas Avenue Facility in Round Rock, TX 

Expected Expenditure    $1,900,000.00 (This price is expected - not guaranteed)

Bid Start Date  In Held

Bid End Date  May 10, 2017 2:00:00 PM CDT

Question & Answer 

End Date
 May 5, 2017 5:00:00 PM CDT

Bid Contact     Kerstin N Hancock 

 512 -943 -1546 

 khancock@wilco.org 

Contract Duration    7 months 

Contract Renewal    Not Applicable   

Prices Good for    1 year 

Pre-Bid Conference   Apr 25, 2017 10:00:00 AM CDT

Attendance is optional

Location: The meeting will be held at 

355 Texas Avenue, Round Rock, Texas. 

Contractors at their option are free to bring any personnel or tradesmen they deem 

necessary for clarif ication to the pre -proposal meeting. 

Pre-Bid Conference   May 3, 2017 11:00:00 AM CDT

Attendance is optional

Location: The meeting will be held at 

355 Texas Avenue 

Round Rock, Texas 

Contractors at their option are free to bring any personnel or tradesmen they deem 

necessary for clarif ication to the pre -proposal meeting. 

Bid Comments Williamson County is seeking proposals from qualified contractors to complete the renovations to 355 
Texas Avenue, Round Rock, Texas, (sometimes referred to as the Williamson County and Cities Health 
District).  The remodel is to be completed per the specifications provided by Haddon & Cowan Architects, 

provided with this RFP1704-153, along with directions from the County Project Manager. 

A summary of the scope of work to be completed is as follows, however, this is only a cursory 

description.  Work performance shall be as defined in the specifications and as required by the County 

personnel.
SUMMARY OF WORK :
Exterior Scope of Work
Resurfacing and re-striping of existing asphalt parking lot
Construction of (2) accessible ramps to the back entrances
Replacement of existing metal roof fasteners and various flashing connections
HVAC replacement
Various exterior finish repairs
Installation of a back-up generator to serve specific areas of the building

Interior Scope of Work
Demolition of all floor finishes, ceilings, lighting, HVAC, and select wall, door, electrical, IT/AV and millwork 
demolition
Installation of new floor finishes, ceilings, lights, HVAC, new paint and various other new finishes
Various renovations to existing wall configurations to accommodate new layouts
Installation of new plumbing lines to accommodate new exam rooms, new toilet room and lab areas
Modifications to various existing doors, frames and hardware to meet Williamson County standards
Installation of foam insulation system to the underside of the existing metal roof
New electrical wiring throughout the building, new receptacles and power in various areas

Pre-Proposal Meeting  :  The meeting will be held at 355 Texas Avenue, Round Rock, Texas. 

Additionally, it is suggested that contractor at his/her option is free to bring any tradesmen or personnel 
they deem necessary for this project.

Additional Stipulations:
Please fully review the attached ensuing agreement for all insurance requirements. Insurance 
certifications will be required within 30 days of the award of the contract. If you can provide those with 

your proposal that would appreciated, but not necessary.
Please fully review the evaluation criteria, to ensure full compliance. Please fully read the attached 

ensuing construction contract and required terms and conditions, to ensure you can fully comply with all 
insurance requirements. 

Desired Substantial Completion Date: Not later than 6 calendar months following Notice to Proceed.
Desired Final Completion Date: Not later than 1 calendar month following Substantial Completion.

Item Response Form

Item     1704-153 --01 -01 -  Add all required documents and proposal to this l ine item.

Quantity    1 each

Unit Price   

Delivery Location          Williamson County, Texas

Purchasing Department

  901 S. Austin Avenue

  Georgetown TX  78626

Qty  1 

Description
Please add all documents and proposal to this line item. 

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 3



5

6

PUBLIC ANNOUNCEMENT AND GENERAL INFORMATION

WILLIAMSON COUNTY PURCHASING DEPARTMENT
SOLICIATION 1704-153

Renovations to 355 Texas Avenue Facility in Round Rock, TX

PROPOSALS MUST BE RECEIVED ON OR BEFORE: 
May 10, 2017 2:00:00 PM CDT

PROPOSAL WILL BE PUBLICLY OPENED: 
May 10, 2017 2:00:00 PM CDT

Notice is hereby given that sealed Proposals for the above-mentioned goods and/or services will be
accepted by the Williamson County Purchasing Department. Williamson County uses BidSync to 
distribute and receive proposals.  Specifications for this RFP may be obtained by registering at
www.bidsync.com .

Williamson County prefers and requests electronic submittal of this 
Proposal. 

All electronic proposal must be submitted via:  www.bidsync.com

Electronic proposals are requested, however paper proposals will currently still be received, until 
further notice and may be mailed or delivered to the address listed below.

Respondents are strongly encouraged to carefully read this entire 
RFP.

All interested Respondents are invited to submit a Proposal in accordance with the Instructions and
General Requirements, Proposal Format, Proposal Specifications, and Definitions, Terms and
Condit ions stated in this RFP.

Please note that a complete package must be submitted choosing one of the above two 
methods. Split packages submitted will be considered “unresponsive”  and will not be 
accepted or evaluated.

Williamson County will not accept any Proposals received after the
submittal deadline, and shall return such Proposals unopened to the

Respondent.

General Information:

· If mailed or delivered in person, Proposal and Proposal addenda are to be delivered in sealed 
envelope on or before the submittal deadline, as noted in the Public Announcement and 
General Information listed above for this RFP, to:

Williamson County Purchasing Department
Attn: PROPOSAL NAME AND NUMBER
901 South Austin Avenue 
Georgetown, Texas 78626

o Respondents should list the Proposal Number, Proposal Name, Name and 
Address of Respondent, and the Date of the Proposal opening on the outside of
the box or envelope and note “Sealed Proposal Enclosed.”

o Respondent should submit one (1) original.
o Williamson County will NOT be responsible for unmarked or improperly marked 

envelopes.
o Williamson County will not accept any responsibility for Proposals being delivered

by third party carriers.
o Facsimile transmittals will NOT be accepted.

· Proposals will be opened publicly in a manner; however, to avoid public disclosure of
contents, only the names of Respondents and pricing will be read aloud.

· All submitted questions with their answers will be posted and updated on www.bidsync.com.

· It is the Respondent ’s responsibility to review all documents in BidSync, including any 
Addenda that may have been added after the document packet was originally released and 
posted. 

o Any Addenda and/or other information relevant to the RFP will be posted on
www.bidsync.com. 

o The Williamson County Purchasing Department takes no responsibility to ensure
any interested Respondent has obtained any outstanding addenda or additional
information. 

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 4



5

6

PUBLIC ANNOUNCEMENT AND GENERAL INFORMATION

WILLIAMSON COUNTY PURCHASING DEPARTMENT
SOLICIATION 1704-153

Renovations to 355 Texas Avenue Facility in Round Rock, TX

PROPOSALS MUST BE RECEIVED ON OR BEFORE: 
May 10, 2017 2:00:00 PM CDT

PROPOSAL WILL BE PUBLICLY OPENED: 
May 10, 2017 2:00:00 PM CDT

Notice is hereby given that sealed Proposals for the above-mentioned goods and/or services will be
accepted by the Williamson County Purchasing Department. Williamson County uses BidSync to 
distribute and receive proposals.  Specifications for this RFP may be obtained by registering at
www.bidsync.com .

Williamson County prefers and requests electronic submittal of this 
Proposal. 

All electronic proposal must be submitted via:  www.bidsync.com

Electronic proposals are requested, however paper proposals will currently still be received, until 
further notice and may be mailed or delivered to the address listed below.

Respondents are strongly encouraged to carefully read this entire 
RFP.

All interested Respondents are invited to submit a Proposal in accordance with the Instructions and
General Requirements, Proposal Format, Proposal Specifications, and Definitions, Terms and
Condit ions stated in this RFP.

Please note that a complete package must be submitted choosing one of the above two 
methods. Split packages submitted will be considered “unresponsive”  and will not be 
accepted or evaluated.

Williamson County will not accept any Proposals received after the
submittal deadline, and shall return such Proposals unopened to the

Respondent.

General Information:

· If mailed or delivered in person, Proposal and Proposal addenda are to be delivered in sealed 
envelope on or before the submittal deadline, as noted in the Public Announcement and 
General Information listed above for this RFP, to:

Williamson County Purchasing Department
Attn: PROPOSAL NAME AND NUMBER
901 South Austin Avenue 
Georgetown, Texas 78626

o Respondents should list the Proposal Number, Proposal Name, Name and 
Address of Respondent, and the Date of the Proposal opening on the outside of
the box or envelope and note “Sealed Proposal Enclosed.”

o Respondent should submit one (1) original.
o Williamson County will NOT be responsible for unmarked or improperly marked 

envelopes.
o Williamson County will not accept any responsibility for Proposals being delivered

by third party carriers.
o Facsimile transmittals will NOT be accepted.

· Proposals will be opened publicly in a manner; however, to avoid public disclosure of
contents, only the names of Respondents and pricing will be read aloud.

· All submitted questions with their answers will be posted and updated on www.bidsync.com.

· It is the Respondent ’s responsibility to review all documents in BidSync, including any 
Addenda that may have been added after the document packet was originally released and 
posted. 

o Any Addenda and/or other information relevant to the RFP will be posted on
www.bidsync.com. 

o The Williamson County Purchasing Department takes no responsibility to ensure
any interested Respondent has obtained any outstanding addenda or additional
information. 

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 5



Texas Avenue Facility Office Renovations 
Located at 355 Texas Avenue, Round Rock, TX 

RFP 1701-139 

 

Summary Scope of Work  
Below is a general overview/summary of the project.  This is in no way intended to be diagnostic. Please 
ensure you fully read and respond based upon the attached specifications, conditions and requirements.  

Exterior Scope of Work 

- Resurfacing and re-striping of existing asphalt parking lot 
- Construction of (2) accessible ramps to the back entrances 
- Replacement of existing metal roof fasteners and various flashing connections 
- HVAC replacement 
- Various exterior finish repairs 
- Installation of a back-up generator to serve specific areas of the building 

 

Interior Scope of Work 

- Demolition of all floor finishes, ceilings, lighting, HVAC, and select wall, door, 
electrical, IT/AV and millwork demolition 

- Installation of new floor finishes, ceilings, lights, HVAC, new paint and various 
other new finishes 

- Various renovations to existing wall configurations to accommodate new 
layouts 

- Installation of new plumbing lines to accommodate new exam rooms, new 
toilet room and lab areas 

- Modifications to various existing doors, frames and hardware to meet 
Williamson County standards 

- Installation of foam insulation system to the underside of the existing metal 
roof 

- New electrical wiring throughout the building, new receptacles and power in 
various areas 

 

 

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 6



GENERAL NOTES:

WCCHD Office Renovations
 355 Texas Avenue | Round Rock, Texas

100% Construction
Document Issued Bid Set

April 7, 2017

WC
CH

D 
Of

fic
e R

en
ov

ati
on

s |
 10

0%
 C

D 
IS

SU
E 

BI
D 

SE
T |

 A
PR

 7,
 20

17

1ST FLOOR DEMOLITION PLAN

G0.00 COVER SHEET & SHEET LIST

A0.01

SHEET
NO.

TITLE

ARCHITECTURE

SHEET INDEX

1. ALL CONSTRUCTION AND DEMOLITION SHALL BE IN COMPLIANCE WITH THE 2015 INTERNATIONAL BUILDING CODE WITH LOCAL AMENDMENTS AND
WITH ALL OTHER CODES, ORDINANCES AND REQUIREMENTS SET FORTH BY THE CITY OF ROUND ROCK. SUBCONTRACTOR TO VERIFY
REQUIREMENTS / AMENDMENTS PER CITY OF ROUND ROCK PRIOR TO STARTING WORK.

2. ALL WORK RELATING TO THIS CONSTRUCTION AND DEMOLITION SHALL COMPLY WITH U.S. DEPARTMENT OF LABOR, THE OCCUPATIONAL SAFETY
AND HEALTH STANDARDS AND ALL RELATED LOCAL BUILDING CODES AND ORDINANCES.

3. DO NOT SCALE THE DOCUMENTS.

4. ALL DIMENSIONS ARE TO BE FIELD VERIFIED AND BACK CHECKED FOR CORRECTNESS.  IF ANY DEVIATIONS OR DISCREPANCIES OCCUR, CONTACT
THE GENERAL CONTRACTOR FOR VERIFICATION PRIOR TO PROCEEDING WITH THE WORK.

5. ALL SUBCONTRACTORS SHALL CAREFULLY REVIEW THE DRAWINGS, SPECIFICATIONS, DETAILS AND NOTES FOR INFORMATION REGARDING THE
SCOPE OF THE WORK INTENDED PRIOR TO PROCEEDING WITH THE WORK.

6. ALL PENETRATIONS THROUGH FIRE RATED PARTITIONS, FIRE RATED CEILING ASSEMBLIES SHALL BE INSTALLED ACCORDING TO U.L. STANDARDS
AND PER APPLICABLE CODES FOR REQUIRED HOUR FIRE RATED CONSTRUCTION.

7. ALL MATERIALS SHALL BE INSTALLED ACCORDING TO INDUSTRY STANDARDS, ALL AGENCIES OR "STANDARD" RECOMMENDATIONS REFERENCED
IN THE SPECIFICATIONS, OR MANUFACTURERS RECOMMENDED INSTALLATION PROCEDURES, WHICHEVER IS THE MOST STRINGENT, IN ORDER TO
PROVIDE A COMPLETE AND HIGH QUALITY PROJECT.

8. THE CONTRACTOR AND SUBCONTRACTORS REPRESENTS AND WARRANTS THAT IT HAS EXAMINED THE PLANS, DRAWINGS, SPECIFICATIONS AND
ALL CONSTRUCTION CRITERIA OF OWNER AND HAS SATISFIED ITSELF THAT THE INFORMATION CONTAINED THEREIN IS SUFFICIENT TO FULLY AND
COMPLETELY CONSTRUCT THE PROJECT.

9. CONTACT THE FIRE DEPT. FOR ANY SUBMITTALS, SCHEDULING OF INSPECTIONS OR FIRE FINALS (512-218-6628)

10. A COMMENTED/STAMPED SET OF PLANS MUST REMAIN ON SITE UNTIL THE PROJECT IS COMPLETE

2ND FLOOR DEMOLITION PLANA0.02

1ST FLOOR RENOVATION PLANA2.01
2ND FLOOR RENOVATION PLANA2.02

CONTROL OR CONSTRUCTION JOINT

CMU CONCRETE MASONRY UNIT
CLEAN OUT
COLUMNCOL

CO

CENTERLINE
CEILING
CLEAR

CAST IN PLACE

CLG
CLR

CL

CIP
CJ

BOTH WAYS

BASE PLATE
BEARING
BRACKET
BOTH SIDES

BOTTOM OF

CABINET

BO

CAB

BW

BRKT
BS

BRG
BP

BELOW FINISHED FLOOR

BACK OF CURB
BUILDING

BOC
BLDG

BFF

KNOCKOUT

INSULATION
INTERIOR

JOIST
JOINT

JANITOR
JST

KO

JT

JAN

INSUL
INT

EACH FACE

EACH WAY
ELECTRIC WATER COOLER
EXISTING
EXPANSION
EXTERIOREXT

EXP
EXIST
EWC
EW

EQUAL
ELECTRICAL

EQUIPMENT

ELEVATION
EXPANSION JOINT

EQUIP
EQ

EJ

EF

EL
ELEC

HYDRANT

INSIDE FACE
INCH OR INCHES
INCANDESCENT

INSIDE DIAMETER

INCAND
IN
IF
ID

HYD
HORIZONTAL
HOLLOW METALHM

HORIZ

AMERICAN WITH DISABILITIES ACT

AIR COOLED CONDENSING UNIT

ABOVE FINISHED FLOORAFF

ARCHITECT, ARCHITECTURAL
ACCESS PANEL

AIR HANDLING UNIT

ARCH
AP

AHU

ADJUSTABLE OR ADJACENT
ABOVE FINISHED CEILING

ACCESS DOOR

ACOUSTICAL
ABOVE

ACOUSTICAL CEILING TILE

AFC
ADJ
ADA

ACT
AD

ACOUST
ACCU

ABV

A

DOWEL

DOWN SPOUT
DRAWING

DAMP PROOFING

EAST
EACHEA

E

DWG
DS
DP

DWL

DEPTH

DETAIL

DOWN

DEGREES

DIAMETER
DIAGONAL
DIMENSION

DEG

DIM
DIAG
DIA

DN

DET

D

GROUND
GALVANIZED RIGID STEEL
GUTTER
GYPSUM WALL BOARD

HEIGHT
HOSE BIB
HANDICAP
HARDWAREHDW

HC
HB

GWB

GRS
GTR

GND

GALVANIZED
GRADE BEAM
GENERAL CONTRACTORGC

GALV
GB

CONC CONCRETE

CONTINUOUS

CENTER
CERAMIC TILE
CORRIDOR

CONSTRUCTION

CT
CTR

CONST

CORR
CONT

MASONRY OPENINGMO

STAINLESS STEEL

OUTSIDE FACEOF

OPPOSITE
OPENINGOPG

OPP

SS
SPECIFICATION

SHEET METAL

SLOPE
SAW JOINT

SQUARE FEET

SIMILAR
SHEET

SECTION

SHT MTL

SPEC

SJ
SL

SIM

SECT

SHT
SF

NOT TO SCALE

NOT IN CONTRACT
NEAR FACE

NOMINAL

ON CENTER
OVERFLOW DRAINOD

OC

NOM

NF
NIC

NTS

MOUNTED
METAL

NOT APPLICABLE
NORTH

N/A
N

MTL
MTD

ROUNDRND

ROOF TOP UNIT
RADIUS POINT
ROUGH OPENING

SCHEDULED
SOUTH

SCHED

S
RTU
RP
RO

REVISION, REVISE
REQUIRED
REINFORCING
REFERENCE, REFER
ROOF DRAIN

ROOMRM
REV

REINF
REQD

REF
RD

WATER HEATER
WORK POINTWP

WH

VENT THROUGH ROOF
VINYL TILE
VAPOR RETARDER

WITH
WATER CLOSETWC

w/

VTR
VT
VR

URINAL

VINYL COMPOSITION TILE
VERTICAL
VESTIBULE

VAPOR BARRIER

VEST
VERT

VB
VCT

UR

PRE-CAST CONCRETE

MARK

MANUFACTURER
MEZZANINE
MECHANICAL

MISCELLANEOUS
MINIMUM
MIDDLEMID

MIN
MISC
MK

MECH
MEZZ
MFR

LIGHTING

MAXIMUM
MATERIAL
MASONRY

MATL
MAX

LTG

MAS

PAINTED

QUANTITY
QUARRY TILE

REFLECTED CEILING PLAN

QTY

RCP

R

QT

PTD

PREFABRICATED
PRELIMINARY

PROPERTY LINE

PLYWOOD
PANEL

PLUMBING

PLATE

PR PAIR
PREFAB
PRELIM

PLYWD
PNL

PLBG

PL
P

LONGITUDINAL
LONG LEG VERTICAL
LONG LEG HORIZONTAL
LIVE LOAD
LEFT HAND

LINEAR FEET

LAVATORY

LONG

LANDING
POUNDS

LIGHT

LLH
LLV
LONG
LT

LB,#
LDG

LG

LAV

LF

LH
LL

LENGTHL

PERPENDICULAR
POINT OF INTERSECTION

PERIMETER
PERP
PERIM

PI

PC

TO

TEMPORARY

TYPICAL

UNLESS OTHERWISE NOTEDUON

TYP

TELEPHONE
TOP OF CURB

THROUGH
THREADED
THICKNESS

TEMP

THRD
THRU

THK

TEL
TC

SOUND TRANSMISSION CLASS

STEEL
STANDARD

SURFACE
STRUCTURAL

TOP OF
TREAD OR TOP

SURF
T

STRUCT
STL
STD
STC

INTERNATIONAL BUILDING CODEIBC

OVERFLOW THROUGH WALL SCUPPEROS

EXTERIOR FINISH SYSTEMEFS

HT

GLASS FIBER REINFORCED CONCRETEGFRC

ALUMINUMALUM

FIBERGLASS REINFORCED PLASTIC

FINISHED FLOOR

FIRE DEPARTMENT CONNECTION

FLOOR CLEAN OUT
FLOOR DRAIN

FIRE DEPARTMENT VALVE
FIRE EXTINGUISHER
FIRE EXTINGUISHER CABINET

FINISHED GRADE
FIRE HYDRANT
FIRE HOSE CABINET

FEC
FF
FG
FH
FHC

FCO
FD
FDC
FDV
FE

FIRE ALARM
FIRE ALARM CONTROL PANEL

FA
FACP

FIRE PROTECTION
FIRE RATEDF/R

FRP

FP

PLASTIC LAMINATEPLAM

EXTERIOR INSULATION FINISH SYSTEMEIFS

B

C

D

E

F

G

H

I

J

K

L

M

N

O

P

Q

R

S

T

U

V

W

X,Y, & Z
RESERVEDFIRE TREATEDFRT

BRACKET MOUNTED FIRE EXTINGUISHERBFE

RADIUS

ABBREVIATIONS:

TAS TEXAS ACCESSIBILITY STANDARDS

HARD WOODHDWD

OWNER FURNISHED CONTRACTOR INSTALLEDOFCI
OWNER FURNISHED OWNER INSTALLEDOFOI
OPPOSITE HANDOH

X

X

XX

SPOT ELEVATION

WINDOW TAG

PARTITION TAG

KEYED NOTE TAG

DELTA SYMBOL

SECTION TAGS

ELEVATION TAGS

ELEVATION TAGS

ROOM NAME

DRAWING TITLE

FINISH FLOOR
EL  XXX'-X"

XXX

EL XX'-X"

X/AX.XX PLAN TAGS

XX COLUMN TAG

DOOR NUMBER
XXXX

SCALE:
DETAIL NAME

X" = 1'-0"
XX 

X/AX.XX

X/
AX

.X
X

X/
AX

.X
X

X/AX.XX

X/
AX

.X
X

X/AX.XX

X/AX.XX

X/
AX

.X
X

PT 1G FINISH NOTE TAG

ARCHITECTURAL SYMBOLS:

ENTRY
101

MAIN

2ND LEVEL DEMO MECHANICAL PLANDM2.02

MEP

1ST LEVEL DEMO PLUMBING PLANDP2.01
2ND LEVEL DEMO PLUMBING PLANDP2.02

ELECTRICAL ONE-LINE DIAGRAMS & PANEL SCHEDULESE4.01
1ST LEVEL LIGHTING PLANEL2.01
2ND LEVEL LIGHTING PLANEL2.02
1ST LEVEL POWER PLANEP2.01

DENOTES NEW LIGHT FIXTURE

DENOTES GYPSUM CEILING

DENOTES SOFFIT

DENOTES NEW CAN LIGHT

Site Map Vicinity Map

Project Site

G0.01 LIFE SAFETY PLAN

1ST FLOOR REFLECTED CEILING PLANA3.01
2ND FLOOR REFLECTED CEILING PLANA3.02
DOOR SCHEDULE & DETAILSA5.01

INTERIOR ELEVATIONSA10.01
MILLWORK SECTIONS & PLAN DETAILSA11.01Project Site

Round Rock, Texas

8200 IH-10 West, Ste. 103 
San Antonio, Texas 78230
Phone : 210-698-7887

technology & security

901 S. Mopac
Bldg. 3, Ste. 400
Austin, Texas 78746
Phone : 512-433-2696

SAN ANTONIO     AUSTIN

TEXAS AVE

I-35

ROOF & SITE PLANA1.01

T001
TECHNOLOGY/SECURITY

T101

T301
T302

T102

T303

TECHNOLOGY SYMBOLS & LEGEND
1ST FLOOR PLAN-TECHNOLOGY

TECHNOLOGY DETAILS
SECURITY DETAILS
SECURITY DIAGRAMS/SCHEDULES

2ND FLOOR PLAN-TECHNOLOGY

1ST LEVEL DEMO LIGHTING PLANDEL2.01
2ND LEVEL DEMO LIGHTING PLANDEL2.02
1ST LEVEL DEMO POWER PLANDEP2.01
2ND LEVEL DEMO POWER PLANDEP2.02

1ST LEVEL DEMO MECHANICAL PLANDM2.01

2ND LEVEL POWER PLANEP2.02

1ST LEVEL MECHANICAL PLANM2.01
2ND LEVEL MECHANICAL PLANM2.02

1ST LEVEL PLUMBING PLANP2.01
2ND LEVEL PLUMBING PLANP2.02

PLUMBING SCHEDULESP5.01

4/7/2017

SS

F
TAT

O
E

AXET

TSI
GER

DERE

ET
IHCRA

T
C

ROOM FINISH SCHEDULE & LEGENDA7.01
1ST FLOOR FINISH PLANA7.02
2ND FLOOR FINISH PLANA7.03

PLUMBING RISERSP3.01

PLUMBING DETAILSP6.01

MECHANICAL SYMBOLS & ABBREVIATIONSM0.00

MECHANICAL DETAILSM3.01

MECHANICAL SCHEDULESM4.01
MECHANICAL SCHEDULESM4.02

ELECTRICAL SYMBOL & ABBREVIATIONSE0.00
ELECTRICAL NOTES, DETAILS & LIGHT FIXTURE SCHEDULEE3.01
ELECTRICAL DETAILSE3.02

TEXAS AVE

MECHANICAL CONTROL SCHEMATICSM3.02

MECHANICAL LOAD CALCULATIONSM4.03

PLUMBING SYMBOLS AND ABBREVIATIONSP0.00

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 7

AutoCAD SHX Text
ENGI NEERING CONSULTANTS  NEERING CONSULTANTS NEERING CONSULTANTS 7800 Shoal Creek Blvd. | Suite 100-W Austin, Texas 78757 512.637.4393 p  512.637.4396 f TBPE Firm Registration No. 2234



92'-3"

1

2

61
'-2

"

80
'-0

"

119'-2"

12
8'-

4"

3

3 3

3

3

ROOF BELOW

CANOPY BELOW

112'-1"

11
2'-

8"

11
9'-

9"

119'-9"

3

3

3

1/16"=1'-0"

Life Safety Plan

G0.01

SCALE:
1ST FLOOR LIFE SAFETY PLAN

1/16" = 1'-0"
1

REVISIONS

SHEET INFORMATION

TITLE

SHEET

Date
Job Number
Scale
Drawn
Checked
Approved

16-1010

No. Issue Date

In Association w/

In Association w/

April 7, 2017

Sheet Number

Sheet Name

WCCHD Office
Renovations

355 Texas Avenue
Round Rock, Texas

8200 IH-10 West, Ste. 103 
San Antonio, Texas 78230
Phone : 210-698-7887

technology & security

901 S. Mopac
Bldg. 3, Ste. 400
Austin, Texas 78746
Phone : 512-433-2696

SAN ANTONIO     AUSTIN

1 100% Construction Documents 12/5/2016

1/16/2017

SS

F
TAT

O
E

AXET

TSI
GER

DERE

ET
IHCRA

T
C

2 100% Construction Documents Issued for Bid 4/7/2017

CODE REVIEW:

PROJECT DATA:
PROJECT: WCCHD Office Renovations
ADDRESS: 355 Texas Avenue

Round Rock, Texas
BUILDING CODES:

2015 INTERNATIONAL BUILDING CODE
2015 INTERNATIONAL MECHANICAL CODE
2015 INTERNATIONAL PLUMBING CODE
2015 INTERNATIONAL FIRE CODE
2014 NATIONAL ELECTRICAL CODE
2015 INTERNATIONAL ENERGY CONSERVATION CODE
TEXAS ACCESSIBILITY STANDARDS

THESE RENOVATIONS DO NOT CHANGE THE OCCUPANCY OR USE OF THE FACILITY

BUILDING OCCUPANCY CLASSIFICATION [CHAPTER 3]:

OCCUPANCY CLASSIFICATION [SECT 302]: GROUP "B"

PROPOSED RENOVATION:  25,232 SF

LOCATION ON PROPERTY -
GREATER THAN 60'-0" ON THREE SIDES

OCCUPANCY CLASSIFICATION -
GROUP "B" BUSINESS

CONSTRUCTION CLASSIFICATION -
TYPE IIB

FIRE EXTINGUISHING SYSTEM -
BUILDING IS SPRINKLERED

GENERAL BUILDING HEIGHTS AND AREAS [CHAPTER 5]:

GENERAL HEIGHT AND AREA
LIMITATIONS [SECT 503]: SECT 503.1 GENERAL - THE HEIGHT AND AREA FOR BUILDINGS OF DIFFERENT CONSTRUCTION TYPES 

SHALL BE GOVERNED BY THE INTENDED USE OF THE BUILDING AND SHALL NOT EXCEED THE LIMITS IN TABLE 504.

PER TABLE 504 & 506 AND FOR TYPE "B" OCCUPANCY, THE FOLLOWING IS ALLOWED:

TYPE "B":
CONSTRUCTION TYPE: IIB
ALLOWED AREA PER FLOOR: 69,000 SF
MAXIMUM HEIGHT: 4 STORIES

PROPOSED BUILDING HEIGHT AND AREA:
TYPE "B" 25,232 SF, 2 STORIES
TOTAL BUILDING AREA 25,232 SF, 2 STORIES

TYPES OF CONSTRUCTION [CHAPTER 6]:

CONSTRUCTION CLASSIFICATION [SECT 602]: SECT 602.1 GENERAL - BUILDING AND STRUCTURES ERECTED OR TO BE ERECTED, ALTERED OR 
EXTENDED IN HEIGHT  OR AREA SHALL BE CLASSIFIED IN ONE OF THE FIVE CONSTRUCTION TYPES DEFINED IN SECT 602.2 THROUGH 602.5.  THE BUILDING
ELEMENTS SHALL HAVE A FIRE-RESISTANCE RATING NOT LESS THAN THAT SPECIFIED IN TABLE 601 AND EXTERIOR WALLS SHALL HAVE A 
FIRE-RESISTANCE RATING NOT LESS THAN THAT SPECIFIED IN TABLE 602.

PER TABLE 601 FOR "TYPE IIB" CONSTRUCTION:

BUILDING ELEMENT     FIRE-RESISTANCE
                        RATING

STRUCTURAL FRAME 0 HR
BEARING WALLS

EXTERIOR 0 HR
INTERIOR 0 HR

NON BEARING EXTERIOR PARTITIONS 0 HR
NON BEARING INTERIOR PARTITIONS 0 HR*
FLOOR CONSTRUCTION 0 HR
ROOF CONSTRUCTION 0 HR

*NOT LESS THAN REQUIRED BY OTHER SECTIONS OF THE CODE [EGRESS]

INTERIOR FINISHES [CHAPTER 8]:

WALL AND CEILING FINISHES [SECT 803]: SECT. 803.1 GENERAL - INTERIOR WALL AND CEILING FINISHES SHALL BE CLASSIFIED IN ACCORDANCE WITH
ASTM E84. SUCH INTERIOR FINISH MATERIALS SHALL BE GROUPED IN THE FOLLOWING CLASSES IN 
ACCORDANCE WITH THEIR FLAME SPREAD AND SMOKE-DEVELOPMENT INDEXES.

CLASS A - FLAME SPREAD 0-25; SMOKE-DEVELOPED 0-450
CLASS B - FLAME SPREAD 26-75; SMOKE-DEVELOPED 0-450
CLASS C - FLAME SPREAD 76-200; SMOKE-DEVELOPED 0-450

MEANS OF EGRESS [CHAPTER 10]:

              OCCUPANT LOAD [SECT 1004]: SECT 1004.1.2 NUMBER BY TABLE 1004.1.2 - THE NUMBER OF OCCUPANTS COMPUTED THE RATE OF ONE
OCCUPANT PER UNIT OF AREA AS PRESCRIBED IN TABLE 1004.1.2.

OCCUPANCY CALCULATIONS PER TABLE 1004.1.2:

OCCUPANCY              FLOOR AREA PER
 OCCUPANT [SF] SF    OCCUPANTS 

BUSINESS AREA (B) 100 GROSS 25,232 252

                                      
TOTAL OCCUPANCY 252

             EXIT ACCESS TRAVEL [SECT 1016.1]            TRAVEL DISTANCE LIMITATIONS - EXITS SHALL BE LOCATED ON EACH STORY SUCH THAT THE MAXIMUM LENGTH
                                                                                    OF DISTANCE [SECT 1016] EXIT ACCESS SHALL NOT EXCEED THE DISTANCES GIVEN IN TABLE 1017.2

                                                                                    PER TABLE 1017.2 IN A FULLY SPRINKLERED BUILDING, A MAXIMUM TRAVEL DISTANCE FOR GROUP "B" IS 300'-0".

     

SCALE:
2ND FLOOR LIFE SAFETY PLAN

1/16" = 1'-0"
2

PLUMBING FIXTURE CALCULATIONS:
PLUMBING FIXTURES AND FIXTURE FITTINGS [ CHAPTER 4]:

MINIMUM NUMBER OF REQUIRED FIXTURES [SECT 422] PLUBMING FIXTURES SHALL BE PROVIDED FOR THE TYPE OF BUILDING
OCCUPANCY AND IN THE MINIMUM NUMBER SHOWN IN TABLE 422.1. THE TOTAL OCCUPANT LOAD SHALL BE DETERMINED IN
ACCORDANCE WITH THE BUILDING CODE.

THE MINIMUM NUMBER OF FIXTURES SHALL BE CALCULATED AT 50 PERCENT MALE AND 50 PERCENT FEMALE BASE ON THE TOTAL
OCCUPANT LOAD.

BUILDING OCCUPANCY PER IBC TABLE 1004.1.4 = 252 OCCUPANTS

PLUMBING FIXTURE CALCULATIONS:
PER TABLE 2902.1 MINIMUM PLUMBING FACILITIES PER CITY OF ROUND ROCK AMENDMENTS

252 OCCUPANTS = 126 MEN AND 126 WOMEN

OCCUPANCY

B BUSINESS
OCCUPANCY
GREATER THAN
5,000 SF

FIXTURES
REQUIRED

EXISTING
FIXTURES

3: 101-200 1: 1-150 1: 1-200

8 12 8 8 8

MALE FEMALE MALE MALE FEMALE

WATER CLOSETS URINALS LAVATORIES

1: 1-2005: 101-200

0 UNISEX

28 TOTAL FIXTURES

0 UNISEX

16 TOTAL FIXTURES

FIXTURES
PROVIDED

0 0 0 0 0

1 UNISEX

1 TOTAL FIXTURE

1 UNISEX

1 TOTAL FIXTURE

DOOR HARDWARE TO BE DELAYED ACCESS TO
MEET REQUIREMENTS OF IFC 2015 1010.1.9.7

1

DOOR TO BE SIGNED "NOT AN EXIT"2
FIRE EXTINGUISHER MOUNTED IN SEMI-RECESSED CABINET.
EACH UNIT MUST HAVE A CURRENTLY INSPECTED AND
TAGGED FIRE EXTINGUISHER. EXTINGUISHER TYPE 3A40/BC
MOUNTED ON A VISIBLE WALL OR POST TO PERSONEEL AND
PUBLIC, WITH THE HANDLE 4'-0" AFF.

3

B
id

 1
7

0
4

-1
5

3
W

ill
ia

m
s
o

n
 C

o
u

n
ty

, 
T

e
x
a

s

4
/1

2
/2

0
1

7
 1

0
:2

3
 A

M
p

. 
8

AutoCAD SHX Text
UP

AutoCAD SHX Text
UP

AutoCAD SHX Text
DOWN

AutoCAD SHX Text
DOWN

AutoCAD SHX Text
ENGI NEERING CONSULTANTS  NEERING CONSULTANTS NEERING CONSULTANTS 7800 Shoal Creek Blvd. | Suite 100-W Austin, Texas 78757 512.637.4393 p  512.637.4396 f TBPE Firm Registration No. 2234



1 2 3 4 5

A

A.7
B

B.6
B.7

C
C.4
C.6
C.9
D

D.1

D.8
E

F

F.3

G

6 7

D144

D142

D1
43

D1
12

D1
36

D127 D163

D1
04

DC101

TB INTAKE
124

TB ENTRANCE
123

PLAN REVIEW 2 & 3
119

FIELD 1 & 2
118

OSSF LEAD
117

ELEC. ROOM
116

DIRECTOR
115

FILE RM COPIER 2 CSRs
114

2 CSRs
113

WAITING AREA
112

PLAN REVIEW 1
120

IMM AND EHS EQUP.
121

TB OFFICE
125

OFFICE
122

TB STORAGE
126

TB OFFICE 1
127

OFFICE 1
128

ASST. DIRECTOR
129

DIRECTOR
130

MD/HEALTH AUTHORITY
131

ROOM
OBSERVATION

ISOLATION
161

TB OFFICE 2
163

OFFICE 2
164

OFFICE 3
165

OFFICE 4
166

NURSE/NP 1
132

NURSE 2
133

NURSE 3
134

ROOM
135

NURSING
OFFICE 6 (NAVIGATOR)

101
OFFICE 5

102

OFFICE 4
103

(DIRECTOR)
104

OFFICE 10

PLAYROOM
136

EXAM 4
156

EXAM 2
158

PROC. ROOM
159

EXAM 1
160

TOILET RM
151

CHECKOUT
155 2 CSRs

154

RETAIL FOOD LEAD
109

MEETING 1
111

RF PLAN REVIEW 3
144

RF PLAN REVIEW 1
108

RF PLAN REVIEW 2
142

MEETING ROOM
147

OFFICE 2
106

1-2 CSRs SUPPLIES COPIER
137

OFFICE 8
139

WAITING AREA
146

STG.
145

RF FIELD CUBICLES
143

OFFICE 1
107

OFFICE 3
105

MEETING 2
110

OFFICE 7
138

FLEX/MEETING
141

OFFICE 9
140

IT
152

MECHANICAL
153

JANITOR
150

BREAKROOM
148

EXAM 3
157

LAB
149

DC102

D1
35

DC103

D1
03

13
4A13
4

13
3

13
2

10
1

10
2

13
7

13
8

13
9D155

156

131

130

129

166

165

164

162

161
125

126

D128

12
4

12
3

12
2

12
1

12
0

11
9

11
8

11
7

11
6

11
5

11
4

11
4A

ST2A

ST
2B

FR
1

160

159

158

168

16
7 WOMEN'S TLT RM

167

MEN'S TLT RM
168

149

151

WOMEN'S TLT RM
170

MEN'S TLT RM
169

150

169

170
D1

49

15
3

DS
T1

A

C104

104

105

106
140

107

108

109

172

110

WOMEN'S TLT RM
171

MEN'S TLT RM
172

141

152

17
1

14
7A

14
7B

14
8

E101

V1
01

A

V1
01

V1
02

A

V1
02

VESTIBULE
173

LOBBY
174

CORRIDOR
C103

CORRIDOR
C104

CORRIDOR
C101

CORRIDOR
C102

STAIRS
ST1

STAIRS
ST2

FIRE RISER
FR

3'-
0" 

FV

3'-
0" 

FV

4'-
10

" F
V

4'-
2"

3'-0"

7'-
5"

5

2

2 2 2 2

2

2

2

2

2 10

2

2

3
3 3

3

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

5

5

8

44

4

1

99

3'-4 1/2"

4'-
11

"

4'-
6 1

/2"

4'-
6 1

/2"

3'-
4"

3'-
4"4" 4"

6

6

6

6

6

6

3

7

5'-
8"

1'-8"

7'-0" 2'-7"

1'-
2"

2'-10" 6'-9"

101

1

DEMO
EXISTING
CONCRETE, RAMP,
LANDING & RAILINGS

2

1

1

1

10

1
E

D

A

F

BC

B

4'-
2"

3'-
8 1

/2"

4'-
0"

10

5'-
10

"

10

3'-
6"11

11

11

11

11

11

12

12

12

12

12

12

13

13

13

13

13

13

14

14

14

14

14

14

15

15

16

16

16

16

16

16

17

1/8"=1'-0"

1st Floor
Demolition Plan

A0.01
SCALE:
1ST FLOOR DEMOLITION PLAN

1/8" = 1'-0"
1

GENERAL DEMOLITION NOTES:

LEGEND
CONSTRUCTION TO REMAIN

CONSTRUCTION TO BE REMOVED

REVISIONS

SHEET INFORMATION

TITLE

SHEET

Date
Job Number
Scale
Drawn
Checked
Approved

16-1010

No. Issue Date

In Association w/

JPG
MDH
MDH

VARIES

In Association w/

No. Issue Date
1 Addendum #1 02/19/2014

THESE DOCUMENTS ARE FOR DESIGN REVIEW
ONLY AND NOT INTENDED FOR

CONSTRUCTION, BIDDING, OR PERMIT
PURPOSES.  THEY ARE PREPARED BY, OR

UNDER THE DIRECTION OF:

PRELIMINARY-FOR REVIEW ONLY

Michael D. Haddon  18020   2 March 2015

April 7, 2017

A6.03

Wall Sections
and Details

WCCHD Office
Renovations

355 Texas Avenue
Round Rock, Texas

8200 IH-10 West, Ste. 103 
San Antonio, Texas 78230
Phone : 210-698-7887

technology & security

901 S. Mopac
Bldg. 3, Ste. 400
Austin, Texas 78746
Phone : 512-433-2696

SAN ANTONIO     AUSTIN

1 100% Construction Documents 12/5/2016

1/16/2017

SS

F
TAT

O
E

AXET

TSI
GER

DERE

ET
IHCRA

T
C

2 100% Construction Documents Issued for Bid 4/7/2017

DEMOLITION KEYED NOTES:
1

2

3
4

5

WALL TO BE DEMOLISHED. AND POWER AND DATA, IF PRESENT,
NEEDS TO BE REMOVED BACK TO PANEL
DOOR TO BE SALVAGED & RE-INSTALLED.
REFER TO "RELOCATED & NEW" DOOR
SCHEDULE ON SHEET A5.01 FOR NEW
LOCATION/DESIGNATION.
MILLWORK TO BE DEMOLISHED INCLUDING HARDWARE, BACKSPLASH, ETC.

WINDOW TO BE DEMOLISHED. COORDINATE
ADDITIONAL DEMOLITION TO BE
COMPLETED IN THIS AREA WITH PROPOSED
WINDOW TYPE "D".
PORTION OF WALL TO BE DEMOLISHED TO
ADD WINDOW AND COUNTER @ 36" HIGH
MAX. REFER TO 15/A10.01 FOR SIZE AND
LOCATION

6 TOILET PARTITIONS TO BE DEMOLISHED

7 PLUMBING FIXTURE TO BE DEMOLISHED

8 DEMO WALL FOR WINDOW OPENING. REFER
TO A5.01 FOR SIZE AND LOCATION.

9 DEMO MOBILE PARTITION WALL INCLUDING
SUPPORTS, PANELS AND HARDWARE

10 DOOR AND FRAME TO BE DEMOLISHED

1. ALL FLOORS, FINISHES, CEILINGS, EXISTING BATT INSULATION ABOVE
CEILING, ASSOCIATED LIGHTING, EQUIPMENT & HVAC TO BE REMOVED.
REF MEP SHEETS FOR ADDITIONAL INFO

2.  ALL AREAS SCHEDULED TO RECEIVE NEW FINISHES ARE TO BE INSPECTED
FOR ANY PATCHING THAT MAY BE REQUIRED DUE TO EXISTING
CONDITIONS.  PERFORM ALL PATCHING AS REQUIRED PRIOR TO
APPLICATION OF NEW FINISHES.

3.  COORDINATE THE LOCATIONS OF THE LIGHTS WITH THE DUCTWORK, AND
OTHER CEILING ELEMENTS.

4.  CONTRACTOR SHALL FIELD VERIFY ALL EXISTING DIMENSIONS AND
CONDITIONS. DRAWN INFORMATION SHALL NOT SUPERCEDE ACTUAL
CONDITIONS.

5. PROTECT AREAS NOT SCHEDULED FOR RENOVATION FROM DEMOLITION
AND CONSTRUCTION ACTIVITIES.

6. SALVAGE DEMOLISHED DOORS ACCORDING TO THE DOOR SCHEDULE ON
A5.01. THEY ARE TO BE REMOVED AND STORED WITH PROPER CARE FOR
REUSE.

7. EXISTING FURR-OUTS ARE TO REMAIN UNLESS OTHERWISE NOTED. PATCH
AND REPAIR TO MAKE FLUSH AND REF. FINISH PLAN/SCHEDULE

8. REFER TO MEP & TECHNOLOGY DRAWINGS FOR ADDITIONAL DEMOLITION
SCOPE

11 PROTECT COUNTERTOP FROM TOILET
PARTITION DEMO

12 DEMO HORIZONTAL PLAM TRIM PIECE
DIRECTLY AFF. PROTECT THE
SURROUNDING PLAM BRACING

13 SALVAGE PLAM BACKSPLASH ATTACHED TO
TOILET PARTITION DURING DEMO

14 REMOVE & SALVAGE GRAB BARS

15 REMOVE EXISTING RUBBER BASE TREADS

16 REMOVE EXISTING FRP FROM TOILET
ROOMS

17 DEMO EXISTING WALL AS REQ'D FOR NEW
PLUMBING FIXTURES. REF. PLUMBING

B
id

 1
7

0
4

-1
5

3
W

ill
ia

m
s
o

n
 C

o
u

n
ty

, 
T

e
x
a

s

4
/1

2
/2

0
1

7
 1

0
:2

3
 A

M
p

. 
9

AutoCAD SHX Text
UP

AutoCAD SHX Text
UP

AutoCAD SHX Text
ENGI NEERING CONSULTANTS  NEERING CONSULTANTS NEERING CONSULTANTS 7800 Shoal Creek Blvd. | Suite 100-W Austin, Texas 78757 512.637.4393 p  512.637.4396 f TBPE Firm Registration No. 2234



1 2 3 4 5

A

C.9
D

D.1

D.8

F

F.3

G

249

D239 D233

D241

D238 D234 D230

D228

D227

D2
03

D235

D204

D2
24

D229A D229

EPR
210

STORAGE
209

EPR
208

ADMIN/FINANCE
205

DIRECTOR ADMIN/FINANCE
204

TVFC
249

DCP
213

COPIER
211

CLERICAL
240

CONFERENCE ROOM
241

STORAGE
239

MOSQ.
238

DCP
214

DCP
215

DCP
216

DCP
217

DCP
218

DCP
242

DCP
243

DCP
244

DCP
245

DCP
246

DCP
219

HR
220

HR
221

HR
222

HR
223

DEPUTY DIRECTOR
224

EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR
201

STORAGE
202

MARCOM
235

PHIP
233

CONFERENCE ROOM
229

WIC
226

BREAK ROOM
203

RECORD STORAGE
236

OFFICE
237

ADMIN/FINANCE
206

ADMIN/FINANCE
207

RECEPTION / ADMIN
225

PHIP
231

PHIP
234

PHIP
230

MARCOM
228

MARCOM
227

PHIP
232

WOMEN'S TLT RM
248

215

237

20
4

20
9

ST
1B

E

STAIRS
ST1

213

212

214

216

STAIRS
ST2

241

242

243

244

245

246

MEN'S TLT RM
247

20
5

20
6

20
8A 20

7

24
7

20
8

21
0

203

24
8

226A

226

202

201

22
4

22
3

22
2

22
1

22
0

21
9

21
8

236

238 229229A

231A 231B

ST2C CORRIDOR
C203

CORRIDOR
C202

CORRIDOR
C201

TVFC
212

10

2

2

2

2

102 2

2

2

2

2

10

1 1
1

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

1
1

1
1

1

1 1

5'-
3"

1'-2"

8 1
/4"

5'-5"

1'-
3"

5'-5"

1'-
3"

6'-8 3/8" 6'-7 7/8"

2 1

3

7FOUNTAINS TO BE
RELOCATED

10

10

6

6

11

11
12

12

13

13

14

14

15

15

16

16

1/8"=1'-0"

2nd Floor
Demolition Plan

A0.02

SCALE:
2ND FLOOR DEMOLITION PLAN

1/8"= 1'-0"
1

GENERAL NOTES:

REVISIONS

SHEET INFORMATION

TITLE

SHEET

Date
Job Number
Scale
Drawn
Checked
Approved

16-1010

No. Issue Date

In Association w/

In Association w/

April 7, 2017

WCCHD Office
Renovations

355 Texas Avenue
Round Rock, Texas

8200 IH-10 West, Ste. 103 
San Antonio, Texas 78230
Phone : 210-698-7887

technology & security

901 S. Mopac
Bldg. 3, Ste. 400
Austin, Texas 78746
Phone : 512-433-2696

SAN ANTONIO     AUSTIN

1 100% Construction Documents 12/5/2016

1/16/2017

SS

F
TAT

O
E

AXET

TSI
GER

DERE

ET
IHCRA

T
C

2 100% Construction Documents Issued for Bid 4/7/2017

LEGEND
CONSTRUCTION TO REMAIN

CONSTRUCTION TO BE REMOVED

DEMOLITION NOTES:
1

2

3
4

5

WALL TO BE DEMOLISHED. AND POWER AND DATA, IF PRESENT,
NEEDS TO BE REMOVED BACK TO PANEL
DOOR AND FRAME TO BE SALVAGED &
RE-INSTALLED. REFER TO "RELOCATED &
NEW" DOOR SCHEDULE ON SHEET A5.01
FOR NEW LOCATION/DESIGNATION.
MILLWORK TO BE DEMOLISHED INCLUDING HARDWARE, BACKSPLASH, ETC.

6
7
8

9

10

1. ALL FLOORS, FINISHES, CEILINGS, EXISTING BATT INSULATION ABOVE
CEILING, ASSOCIATED LIGHTING, EQUIPMENT & HVAC TO BE REMOVED.
REF MEP SHEETS FOR ADDITIONAL INFO

2.  ALL AREAS SCHEDULED TO RECEIVE NEW FINISHES ARE TO BE INSPECTED
FOR ANY PATCHING THAT MAY BE REQUIRED DUE TO EXISTING
CONDITIONS.  PERFORM ALL PATCHING AS REQUIRED PRIOR TO
APPLICATION OF NEW FINISHES.

3.  COORDINATE THE LOCATIONS OF THE LIGHTS WITH THE DUCTWORK, AND
OTHER CEILING ELEMENTS.

4.  CONTRACTOR SHALL FIELD VERIFY ALL EXISTING DIMENSIONS AND
CONDITIONS. DRAWN INFORMATION SHALL NOT SUPERCEDE ACTUAL
CONDITIONS.

5. PROTECT AREAS NOT SCHEDULED FOR RENOVATION FROM DEMOLITION
AND CONSTRUCTION ACTIVITIES.

6. SALVAGE DEMOLISHED DOORS ACCORDING TO THE DOOR SCHEDULE ON
A5.01. THEY ARE TO BE REMOVED AND STORED WITH PROPER CARE FOR
REUSE.

7. EXISTING FURR-OUTS ARE TO REMAIN UNLESS OTHERWISE NOTED. PATCH
AND REPAIR TO MAKE FLUSH AND REF. FINISH PLAN/SCHEDULE

8. REFER TO MEP & TECHNOLOGY DRAWINGS FOR ADDITIONAL DEMOLITION
SCOPE

11

12

13

14

WINDOW TO BE DEMOLISHED. COORDINATE
ADDITIONAL DEMOLITION TO BE
COMPLETED IN THIS AREA WITH PROPOSED
WINDOW TYPE "D".
PORTION OF WALL TO BE DEMOLISHED TO
ADD WINDOW AND COUNTER @ 36" HIGH
MAX. REFER TO 15/A10.01 FOR SIZE AND
LOCATION
TOILET PARTITIONS TO BE DEMOLISHED

PLUMBING FIXTURE TO BE DEMOLISHED
DEMO WALL FOR WINDOW OPENING. REFER
TO A5.01 FOR SIZE AND LOCATION.
DEMO MOBILE PARTITION WALL INCLUDING
SUPPORTS, PANELS AND HARDWARE
DOOR AND FRAME TO BE DEMOLISHED
PROTECT COUNTERTOP FROM TOILET
PARTITION DEMO
DEMO HORIZONTAL PLAM TRIM PIECE
DIRECTLY AFF. PROTECT THE
SURROUNDING PLAM BRACING
SALVAGE PLAM BACKSPLASH ATTACHED TO
TOILET PARTITION DURING DEMO
REMOVE & SALVAGE GRAB BARS

REMOVE EXISTING RUBBER BASE TREADS

REMOVE EXISTING FRP FROM TOILET
ROOMS

15
16

17 DEMO EXISTING WALL AS REQ'D FOR NEW
PLUMBING FIXTURES. REF. PLUMBING

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 10

AutoCAD SHX Text
DOWN

AutoCAD SHX Text
DOWN

AutoCAD SHX Text
ENGI NEERING CONSULTANTS  NEERING CONSULTANTS NEERING CONSULTANTS 7800 Shoal Creek Blvd. | Suite 100-W Austin, Texas 78757 512.637.4393 p  512.637.4396 f TBPE Firm Registration No. 2234



PRECAST CURB
STOP TYP.

NEW ASPHALT
TOP COAT &
MARKINGS

NEW ASPHALT
TOP COAT &
MARKINGS

NEW ASPHALT
TOP COAT &
MARKINGS

NEW ASPHALT
TOP COAT &
MARKINGSUPPER ROOF

UPPER ROOF

LOWER ROOF

LOWER ROOF

2:1
2

2:1
2

2:1
2

2:1
2

EXISTING
RETENTION POND

TO REMAIN

7'-
9"

7'-
11

 1/
2"

FH

LP

LP

FH

NOTE: RE-STRIPE ENTIRE
PARKING LOT AS SHOWN

NEW
MECHANICAL

PAD

NEW
MECHANICAL

PAD

233'-4 1/2"

9'-6"

8'-
6"

8'-6"

9'-9 3/4"

93
'-6

"
85

'-0
"

76'-11 1/2"

10
9'-

9"

47'-6 1/8"

8'-6" 11'-0"11'-0"8'-6" 8'-6" 92
'-1

1 1
/2"

150'-9 7/8" 15
'-0

"

10
8'-

9 1
/2"

8'-
6"

8'-
6"

"DO NOT ENTER"
SIGNAGE

8'-6"

9'-
9 3

/4"

9'-9 3/4"

8'-6"

EXISTING
DUMPSTERS

FIRE LANE

FIRE LANE

FIR
E 

LA
NE

FIR
E 

LA
NE

SL
OP

E
SL

OP
E

2:1
2

SL
OP

E
2:1

2
SL

OP
E

18'-6"

17
'-0

"

19
'-0

"

18'-6"

SL
OP

E
SL

OP
E

7'-6 1/2" 8'-6"

18
'-6

"

10
'-0

"

9'-7"

20
'-0

"

18'-6"

3/A1.01 4/A1.01
48'-10" FV

RIVER ROCK
TO BE ADDED

10'-2"

6'-
3"

GENERATOR TO
BE ADDED
REF.MEP

29'-8"

VERIFY LOCATION
OF TRANSVERSE
SEAMS

VERIFY LOCATION
OF TRANSVERSE
SEAMS

151'-2 1/8"

8'-6"

VAN ACCESSIBLE
PARKING SPACES

5'-0" 5'-0"

FIRE LANES SHALL
BE STRIPED AS PER CODE
AT FIRE FINAL

ROOFING SCOPE: REPAIR RECOMMENDATIONS

1. REPLACE ALL SCREWS AND NEOPRENE GROMMETS
2. TRANSVERSE SEAM REPAIR/RECAULK
3. RESEAL RAKE FLASHING JOINTS
4. REPLACE ROOF PENETRATION FLASHINGS

ROOFING SCOPE INSULATION

OPEN-CELL SPRAY FOAM W/ IGNITION BARRIER
COVERING ENTIRE ~14,678 SF OF ROOF AREA

PARKING

EXISTING
97 STANDARD SPACES
5 HANDICAP SPACES
TOTAL: 102 SPACES

RENOVATED
93 STANDARD SPACES
6 HANDICAP SPACES
TOTAL: 99 SPACES

1 1/2"
SEE DETAILS 3 &4/A1.01 FOR REF.

2" 2" 1 1/2"

4"

1'-
3"

1'-
9"

3'-
0" CORE AT

VERTICALS, TYP.

SLEEVE TO BE
ADDED UNDER

NEW RAMP

23'-1 1/4" 1 1/2"

7'-
0 1

/2"

5'-
0"

1 1
/2"

1 1
/2"

2/A
1.0

1

< 1:12 SLOPE

MA
TC

H 
WI

DT
H 

OF
EX

IS
TIN

G 
RA

MP

1'-0"

5'-0"

DOWEL TO CONNECT
NEW SLAB INTO EXISTING
FOUNDATION AT LANDINGS

NEW  1 12" GALVANIZED STEEL PIPE
AROUND PERIMETER OF NEW RAMP
2/A1.01 BROOM FINISH CONC. RAMP

5'-3"

19
'-1

1"
5'-

0"

1 1/2" 1 1/2"

2/A1.01

< 1
:12

 S
LO

PE

NEW  1 12" GALVANIZED STEEL PIPE
AROUND PERIMETER OF NEW RAMP
2/A1.01

DOWEL TO CONNECT
NEW SLAB INTO
EXISTING
FOUNDATION AT
LANDINGS

BROOM FINISH CONC. RAMP

REVISIONS

SHEET INFORMATION

TITLE

SHEET

Date
Job Number
Scale
Drawn
Checked
Approved

16-1010

No. Issue Date

In Association w/

In Association w/

April 7, 2017

WCCHD Office
Renovations

355 Texas Avenue
Round Rock, Texas

8200 IH-10 West, Ste. 103 
San Antonio, Texas 78230
Phone : 210-698-7887

technology & security

901 S. Mopac
Bldg. 3, Ste. 400
Austin, Texas 78746
Phone : 512-433-2696

SAN ANTONIO     AUSTIN

1 100% Construction Documents 12/5/2016

1/16/2017

SS

F
TAT

O
E

AXET

TSI
GER

DERE

ET
IHCRA

T
C

2 100% Construction Documents Issued for Bid 4/7/2017

Varies

Roof & Site Plan

A1.01
SCALE:
ROOF & SITE PLAN

1/16"= 1'-0"
1

SCALE:

RAMP
HANDRAILS

1/2"= 1'-0"
2

GENERAL SITE NOTES:

LEGEND

1. RE-USE EXISTING ACCESSIBLE PARKING SIGNS
2. RE-CENTER ACCESSIBLE PARKING SIGNS ON NEW RE-STRIPED

HANDICAPPED PARKING SPACES

FH

LP

EXISTING TREE

ACCESSIBLE PARKING SIGN

EXISTING FIRE HYDRANT

EXISTING LAMP POST

SCALE:

ENTRANCE 
RAMP 1

1/4"= 1'-0"
3

SCALE:

ENTRANCE 
RAMP 2

1/4"= 1'-0"
4

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 11

AutoCAD SHX Text
ENGI NEERING CONSULTANTS  NEERING CONSULTANTS NEERING CONSULTANTS 7800 Shoal Creek Blvd. | Suite 100-W Austin, Texas 78757 512.637.4393 p  512.637.4396 f TBPE Firm Registration No. 2234



111

143

13
7

14
2

14
4

145

E1
23

157

127

C1
01

163

C102

13
5

C103

TB INTAKE
124

TB ENTRANCE
123

PLAN REVIEW 2 & 3
119

FIELD 1 & 2
118

OSSF LEAD
117

ELEC. ROOM
116

DIRECTOR
115

FILE RM COPIER 2 CSRs
114

2 CSRs
113

WAITING AREA
112

PLAN REVIEW 1
120

IMM AND EHS EQUP.
121OFFICE

122

TB OFFICE
125

TB STORAGE
126

TB OFFICE 1
127

OFFICE 1
128

ASST. DIRECTOR
129

DIRECTOR
130

MD/HEALTH AUTHORITY
131

ISOLATION
161

ROOM
162

OBSERVATION

TB OFFICE 2
163

OFFICE 2
164

OFFICE 3
165

OFFICE 4
166

NURSE/NP 1
132

NURSE 2
133

NURSE 3
134

ROOM
135

NURSING OFFICE 6 (NAVIGATOR)
101

OFFICE 5
102

OFFICE 4
103 (DIRECTOR)

104

OFFICE 10
PLAYROOM

136

EXAM 4
156

EXAM 2
158

PROC. ROOM
159

EXAM 1
160

TOILET RM
151

CHECKOUT
155

2 CSRs
154

RETAIL FOOD LEAD
109

MEETING 1
111

RF PLAN REVIEW 3
144

RF PLAN REVIEW 1
108

RF PLAN REVIEW 2
142

MEETING ROOM
147

OFFICE 2
106

1-2 CSRs SUPPLIES COPIER
137

OFFICE 8
139

WAITING AREA
146

STG.
145

RF FIELD CUBICLES
143

OFFICE 1
107

OFFICE 3
105

MEETING 2
110

OFFICE 7
138

FLEX/MEETING
141

OFFICE 9
140

IT
152

MECHANICAL
153

JANITOR
150

BREAKROOM
148

EXAM 3
157

LAB
149

10
3

1 2 3 4 5

A

A.7
B

B.6
B.7

C
C.4
C.6
C.9
D

D.1

D.8
E

F

F.3

G

6 7

13
4A13
4

13
3

13
2

10
1

10
2

13
7A 13

8

13
9

156

131

130

129

166

165

164

162

161
125

126

12
4

12
3

12
2

12
1

12
0

11
9

11
8

11
7

11
6

11
5

11
4

11
4A

ST2A

ST
2B

FR
1

160

159

158

168

16
7 WOMEN'S TLT RM

167

MEN'S TLT RM
168

149

151

WOMEN'S TLT RM
170

MEN'S TLT RM
169

150

169

170 15
3 ST1A

C104

104

105

106
140

107

108

109

172

110

WOMEN'S TLT RM
171

MEN'S TLT RM
172

141

152

17
1

14
7A14
7

14
8

E101

STAIRS
ST1

STAIRS
ST2

FIRE RISER
FR

VESTIBULE
173

LOBBY
174

128

CORRIDOR
C103

CORRIDOR
C104

CORRIDOR
C101

CORRIDOR
C102

V1
01

A

V1
01

V1
02

A

V1
02

155

17
'-6

"
10

'-9
"

13'-9" FV 13'-8" FV

10
'-2

" F
V

5'-
11

" F
V

10
'-4

 1/
4"

10
'-4

 3/
8"

3'-9" 7'-
0"

11
'-7

"

10'-11 1/2"

A

A1

AA

A

A

A

A

A

A

A

A

A

A

A

A1

A

A

A1

A

A

7/A
10

.01

4/A10.01

5/A10.01

5'-0"

5'-
0"

5'-
0"

5'-0"

1'-
2"

8/A10.01

8/A10.01

8/A10.01

8/A10.01

8/A10.01

A

2/A2.01

8/A
10

.01

NEW COUNTER &
WINDOW TO
REPLACE EXISTING

A

NEW COUNTER
& PASS-THROUGH

NEW COUNTER &
WINDOW TO
BE ADDED

NEW
WINDOW
TO BE
ADDED

NEW COUNTER &
WINDOW TO BE

ADDED

9'-9"

1'-
6"

4'-7"

AL
IG

N

AL
IG

N

1'-
1"

9'-1"
6'-2"

1'-1"

3'-
6"

2 1
/4"

10
'-7

"

A1

A1

1'-3"

10
/A

10
.01

9/A
10

.01

12
/A

10
.01

13
/A

10
.01

15
/A

10
.01

A

D

A1

11
/A

10
.01

14
/A

10
.01

8/A11.01

9/A11.01

VEGETATIVE
GROWTH ON
EXTERIOR DOOR
FRAME

3'-4" 4'-3" 2'-0"1'-
7 1

/2"

E

B
C

F

3'-
6"

3'-
6 3

/4"
3'-4 1/2"

NEW
WINDOW &
COUNTER
TO BE
ADDED F

3'-
8 1

/2"

16
/A

10
.01

16
/A

10
.01

15
/A

10
.01

17
/A

10
.01

16
/A

10
.01

FRIDGE
OFOI

TELEVISION,
OFOI.
PROVIDE
BLOCKING AS REQ'D

TELEVISION,
OFOI.

PROVIDE
EXTRA BLOCKING

AL
IG

N

AL
IG

N
AL

IG
N

AL
IG

N

ALIGN

ALIGN

AL
IG

N

AL
IG

N

ALIGN

AL
IG

N

HOLD OPEN
REF. A5.01
DOOR SCHED.

ALIGN

TELEVISION,
OFOI.
PROVIDE
BLOCKING
AS REQ'D

6'-4"

A1AL
IG

N

4/A2.01

5/A2.01

6/A2.01

CL

C L

REF. 4/A1.01

REF. 4/A1.01

1'-6 5/8"

1'-
7 3

/4"
1'-

6 3
/4"

1'-11 3/8"LOW WATER FOUNTAIN
TO BE RELOCATED 15"
O.C. FROM SIDE WALL

1'-
3"

"NOT AN ACCESSIBLE
ENTRANCE" SIGNAGE
ON DOOR

TOILET ROOM
151

1/A10.01

3/A
10

.01

2/A
10

.01

HG

F

D

C

E

A

B

6'-
6 1

/8"

12'-6"

2'-3" 1'-6"

K
L

BOBRICK B-505
PASS-THROUGH CABINET

REF. 5/A10.01

P

SILL

PLAN

HEAD

2" DEEP LEG
TRACK

ACOUSTICAL
INSULATION

BASE AS SCHED

4 7/8" PARTITION TO 6" ABOVE CLG., WITH INSULATIONA -

4 7/8"

3 5/8" MTL STUD

5/8" GWB
BOTH
SIDES

SCHED CEILING

4 7/8" PARTITION DOOR INFILLA1 -

6"

BRACING TO
STRUCT

4'-1 1/8" 2'-8" 2'-6 1/2" 2'-10 1/2" 5'-0 1/2"

8'-
1"

2'-
0"

2'-
0"

4'-
7"

4'-4 7/8" 2'-11 1/4" 2'-10 1/2" 5'-0 1/2"

4'-
7 1

/8"

8'-
1 1

/8"

F
G G

C
D

C

D

D
C
E

DC

E

DC

E

G G

F

LL

L L

M

N

M

N

K
K

K K K

3'-
0 1

/8"
3'-

0 1
/8"

3'-
6"

3'-
6"

1'-11 3/8"

1'-6"

P

P

1'-
3"

8"
8"

10
"

10
"

8'-0 5/8"
2'-11 1/2"

2'-11 3/4"5'-2"

8'-
1"

4'-
7"

7'-
11

 5/
8"

6'-1"2'-6 1/2"2'-4 1/2"2'-11 3/4"5'-2"

4'-
5 3

/4"

2'-
0"

2'-
0"

E
C

D

D

E E

C D C
G G

F

D

C

D

C
G G

F

L L

L L

M

N

M

N
K

K

K
K K

3'-
0 1

/8"
3'-

0 1
/8"

3'-
6"

3'-
6"

1'-6 5/8"

1'-6"

P

P

8"
8"

10
"

10
"

7'-
8"

7'-7 3/4"2'-10"3'-0 1/2"5'-2"

4'-
2"

7'-
9 7

/8"

4'-
3 7

/8"

5'-6 3/8"2'-7"2'-5 1/2"2'-11 1/4"5'-2"

C

D

D C

E

C

E

G G

F

C
D

D

C

G G

F

L L

LL

M

N

M

N

2'-
0"

2'-
0"

K

K K

K K

3'-
0 1

/8"
3'-

0 1
/8"

3'-
6"

D

3'-
6"

1'-6"

P

P

8"
8"

E

10
"

10
"

NOTE: INSTALL NEW FRP AND TRIM AT FINISH FLOOR TO 48" AFF NOTE: INSTALL NEW FRP AND TRIM AT FINISH FLOOR TO 48" AFFNOTE: INSTALL NEW FRP AND TRIM AT FINISH FLOOR TO 48" AFF

Varies

1st Floor
Renovation Plan

A2.01
SCALE:
1ST FLOOR RENOVATION PLAN

1/8"= 1'-0"
3

LEGEND
CONSTRUCTION TO REMAIN

CONSTRUCTION TO BE ADDED

REVISIONS

SHEET INFORMATION

TITLE

SHEET

Date
Job Number
Scale
Drawn
Checked
Approved

16-1010

No. Issue Date

In Association w/

In Association w/

April 7, 2017

Sheet Number

Sheet Name

WCCHD Office
Renovations

355 Texas Avenue
Round Rock, Texas

8200 IH-10 West, Ste. 103 
San Antonio, Texas 78230
Phone : 210-698-7887

technology & security

901 S. Mopac
Bldg. 3, Ste. 400
Austin, Texas 78746
Phone : 512-433-2696

SAN ANTONIO     AUSTIN

1 100% Construction Documents 12/5/2016

1/16/2017

SS

F
TAT

O
E

AXET

TSI
GER

DERE

ET
IHCRA

T
C

2 100% Construction Documents Issued for Bid 4/7/2017

SCALE:
TOILET RM 154

3/8"= 1'-0"
2

GENERAL NOTES:
1. ALL FLOORS, FINISHES, CEILINGS, ASSOCIATED LIGHTING, EQUIPMENT & HVAC TO BE

REMOVED. REF MEP SHEETS FOR ADDITIONAL INFO
2.  ALL AREAS SCHEDULED TO RECEIVE NEW FINISHES ARE TO BE INSPECTED FOR ANY PATCHING

THAT MAY BE REQUIRED DUE TO EXISTING CONDITIONS.  PERFORM ALL PATCHING AS
REQUIRED PRIOR TO APPLICATION OF NEW FINISHES.

3.  COORDINATE THE LOCATIONS OF THE LIGHTS WITH THE DUCTWORK, AND OTHER CEILING
ELEMENTS.

4.  CONTRACTOR SHALL FIELD VERIFY ALL EXISTING DIMENSIONS AND CONDITIONS. DRAWN
INFORMATION SHALL NOT SUPERCEDE ACTUAL CONDITIONS.

5. PROTECT AREAS NOT SCHEDULED FOR RENOVATION FROM DEMOLITION AND CONSTRUCTION
ACTIVITIES.

6. SALVAGE DEMOLISHED DOORS ACCORDING TO THE DOOR SCHEDULE ON A5.01. THEY ARE TO
BE REMOVED AND STORED WITH PROPER CARE FOR REUSE.

7. REFER TO FINISH PLANS FOR NEW FINISHES AND CONDITIONS
8. EXISTING FURR-OUTS ARE TO REMAIN UNLESS OTHERWISE NOTED. PATCH AND REPAIR TO

MAKE FLUSH AND REF. FINISH PLAN/SCHEDULE
9. PROVIDE BLOCKING FOR TOILET ROOM ACCESSORIES AS REQ'D
10. REINSTALL SALVAGED PLAM BACKSPLASH  IN SAME LOCATION ONTO NEW TOILET PARTITIONS
11. ALL TOILET ROOM COMPARTMENT DOORS ARE TO BE SELF-CLOSING WITH A HANDLE ON BOTH

SIDES OF THE DOOR
12. SUBMIT PLANS/LETTER SHOWING CHANGES, IF ANY, AFFECTING THE SPRINKLER SYSTEM &

FIRE ALARM SYSTEM TO FIRE DEPARTMENT FOR REVIEW. SYSTEMS MUST BE CURRENTLY
INSPECTED & TAGGED AT THE FIRE FINAL

SCALE:
PARTITION TYPES

1"= 1'-0"
1

TOILET ROOM ACCESSORIES:
42" GRAB BARA
36" GRAB BARB
TOILET PAPER DISPENSER, SAN JAMAR R3590TBKC
TOILET SEAT COVER DISPENSER, HEALTH GARDS HALF-FOLDD
SANITARY NAPKIN DISPOSAL, 1ECK9E
PAPER TOWEL DISPENSER, SAN JAMAR T1790TBKF
SOAP DISPENSER, SAN JAMAR S890TBK, BOTTOM OF DISPENSERG
24" x 36" GLASS MIRRORH
FLUSH VALVE LOCATED ON THE OPEN SIDE
OF THE WATER CLOSET

K

ADA PIPE WRAPL

SCALE:

TLT RM 167 & 168
FLOOR PLAN

1/4"= 1'-0"
4

SCALE:

TLT RM 169 & 170
FLOOR PLAN

1/4"= 1'-0"
5

SCALE:

TLT RM 171 & 172
FLOOR PLAN

1/4"= 1'-0"
6

42" GRAB BAR TO BE REINSTALLED IN
PREVIOUS LOCATION

M

N 36" GRAB BAR TO BE REINSTALLED IN
PREVIOUS LOCATION

NOTE: REF. 2/A2.02 FOR TOILET ROOM ACCESSORY MOUNTING HEIGHTS

P SURFACE MOUNTED WASTE RECEPTACLE
TO BE MOUNTED UNDER PAPER TOWEL
DISPENSER, BOBRICK B-277 CONTURA
SERIES

B
id

 1
7

0
4

-1
5

3
W

ill
ia

m
s
o

n
 C

o
u

n
ty

, 
T

e
x
a

s

4
/1

2
/2

0
1

7
 1

0
:2

3
 A

M
p

. 
1

2

AutoCAD SHX Text
UP

AutoCAD SHX Text
UP

AutoCAD SHX Text
ENGI NEERING CONSULTANTS  NEERING CONSULTANTS NEERING CONSULTANTS 7800 Shoal Creek Blvd. | Suite 100-W Austin, Texas 78757 512.637.4393 p  512.637.4396 f TBPE Firm Registration No. 2234



22
5

23
0

23
4

C2
03 23
9

23
3

23
2

228

227

C201

C202

1 2 3 4 5

A

C.9
D

D.1

F

F.3

G
STORAGE

209

EPR
210

EPR
208

ADMIN/FINANCE
205 DIRECTOR ADMIN/FINANCE

204

TVFC
249

DCP
213

COPIER
211

CLERICAL
240

CONFERENCE ROOM
241

STORAGE
239

MOSQ.
238

DCP
214

DCP
215

DCP
216

DCP
217

DCP
218

DCP
242

DCP
243

DCP
244

DCP
245

DCP
246

DCP
219

HR
220

HR
221

HR
222

HR
223

DEPUTY DIRECTOR
224

EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR
201

STORAGE
202

MARCOM
235

PHIP
233

CONFERENCE ROOM
229

WIC
226

BREAK ROOM
203

RECORD STORAGE
236

OFFICE
237

ADMIN/FINANCE
206

ADMIN/FINANCE
207

RECEPTION / ADMIN
225

PHIP
231

PHIP
234

PHIP
230

MARCOM
228

MARCOM
227

PHIP
232

D.8

20
4

216

22
2

22
3

201

ST2C

21
9

231

STAIRS
ST1

214

212

213

215

242

241

244

243

245

246

20
6

20
5

20
7

20
9

20
8A20

8

21
0

24
7

24
8

203

226A

226

202

22
4

22
1

22
0

238

21
8

236

237

229A

231A

229

ST
1B

STAIRS
ST2

MEN'S TLT RM
247

WOMEN'S TLT RM
248

CORRIDOR
C203

CORRIDOR
C202

CORRIDOR
C201

249

TVFC
212

E

1'-
4 1

/8"

5'-
0"1'-

4 1
/4"

7'-
9 1

/8"

11'-3 1/8"

5'-0"

1'-5" 8'-
0 1

/2"

5'-0"

5'-0"

11
'-9

"

8'-5"

A

A

A

A

A
A

A

A1

A1

A1

A1

A1

A1

A1

A1

A1

A

A1

6/A
10

.01

A

8'-0"

5'-
0"

3'-
4"

4"

3'-
4"

3'-
4"

4"

3'-
4"

3'-
4"

3 3
/4" 3'-

4"

15'-4 1/2"
5'-

0"
5'-

0"

A1
A

A

A

A

A

A

A

8'-
2"

A

A

9'-
0"

11'-7" FV

3'-
4"

4"

3'-4"6'-1"

3'-
4"

4"

3'-
4"

6'-
4 1

/8"
3'-

4"
2"

10
 1/

2"

1'-4"

4"

5'-
0" PATCH & RESEAL

EXTERIOR WALL
BOARD

NOTE: REFER TO A2.01
FOR PARTITION TYPE DETAILS

HOLD OPEN
REF A5.01
DOOR
SCHEDULE

A

A

7/A11.01

FRIDGE
OFOI

PATCH EXISTING
DIFFUSER LOCATIONS

PATCH EXISTING
DIFFUSER

LOCATIONS

ALIGN

ALIGN

ALIGN

AL
IG

N
AL

IG
N

AL
IG

N
AL

IG
N

AL
IG

N

AL
IG

N
AL

IG
N

AL
IG

N
AL

IG
N

AL
IG

N

ALIGN

AL
IG

N

ALIGN

AL
IG

N
AL

IG
N

ALIGN

AL
IG

N

RELOCATED
FOUNTAINS

3 3
/4"

3 3
/4"

6'-
1 7

/8"

3'-
4"

3 3
/4"

1/A2.02

CANE SHIELD TO BE
ADDED TO HIGH WATER
FOUNTAIN

6'-3 5/8" 2'-8 1/2" 2'-8 1/2" 2'-11 1/2" 5'-0 1/2"

7'-
9 1

/4"

4'-
3 1

/4"

2'-
0"

2'-
0"

9'-0 1/8" 2'-10 7/8" 2'-9 1/8" 5'-0 1/2"

8'-
1"

4'-
7"

F
G G

G G

F

D C

E

C

E

D

D

C

E

C

D

D

C

M

N

M

N
K

KK

K
K

3'-
0 1

/8"
3'-

0 1
/8"

3'-
6"

3'-
6"

1'-6"

P

P

8"
8"

10
"

10
"

3'-
0" 

AF
F

36" & 42" GRAB
BARS

2'-
10

" A
FF

TOILET PAPER
DISPENSER

TOILET SEAT
COVER

DISPENSER

2'-
10

" A
FF

SANITARY
NAPKIN

DISPOSAL

2'-
10

" A
FF

4'-
0" 

AF
F

PAPER
TOWEL

DISPENSER

4'-
0" 

AF
F

SOAP
DISPENSER

24" X 36"
MIRROR

3'-
4" 

AF
F T

O 
BO

OF
 M

IR
RO

R

SURFACE
MOUNTED

TRASH CAN

3'-
0"

Varies

2nd Floor
Renovation Plan

A2.02

SCALE:
2ND FLOOR RENOVATION PLAN

1/8" = 1'-0"
3

LEGEND
CONSTRUCTION TO REMAIN

CONSTRUCTION TO BE ADDED

GENERAL NOTES:
1. ALL FLOORS, FINISHES, CEILINGS, ASSOCIATED LIGHTING, EQUIPMENT & HVAC TO BE

REMOVED. REF MEP SHEETS FOR ADDITIONAL INFO
2.  ALL AREAS SCHEDULED TO RECEIVE NEW FINISHES ARE TO BE INSPECTED FOR ANY PATCHING

THAT MAY BE REQUIRED DUE TO EXISTING CONDITIONS.  PERFORM ALL PATCHING AS
REQUIRED PRIOR TO APPLICATION OF NEW FINISHES.

3.  COORDINATE THE LOCATIONS OF THE LIGHTS WITH THE DUCTWORK, AND OTHER CEILING
ELEMENTS.

4.  CONTRACTOR SHALL FIELD VERIFY ALL EXISTING DIMENSIONS AND CONDITIONS. DRAWN
INFORMATION SHALL NOT SUPERCEDE ACTUAL CONDITIONS.

5. PROTECT AREAS NOT SCHEDULED FOR RENOVATION FROM DEMOLITION AND CONSTRUCTION
ACTIVITIES.

6. SALVAGE DEMOLISHED DOORS ACCORDING TO THE DOOR SCHEDULE ON A5.01. THEY ARE TO
BE REMOVED AND STORED WITH PROPER CARE FOR REUSE.

7. REFER TO FINISH PLAN FOR NEW FINISHES AND CONDITIONS
8. EXISTING FURR-OUTS ARE TO REMAIN UNLESS OTHERWISE NOTED. PATCH AND REPAIR TO

MAKE FLUSH AND REF. FINISH PLAN/SCHEDULE
9. PROVIDE BLOCKING FOR TOILET ROOM ACCESSORIES AS REQ'D
10.REINSTALL SALVAGED PLAM BACKSPLASH  IN SAME LOCATION ONTO NEW TOILET

PARTITIONS
11.ALL TOILET ROOM COMPARTMENT DOORS ARE TO BE SELF-CLOSING WITH A HANDLE ON

BOTH SIDES OF THE DOOR

SCALE:

TLT RM 247 & 248
FLOOR PLAN

1/4" = 1'-0"
1

TOILET ROOM ACCESSORIES:

SCALE:

TLT RM ACCESSORIES
MOUNTING HEIGHTS

1/8" = 1'-0"
2

42" GRAB BARA
36" GRAB BARB
TOILET PAPER DISPENSER, SAN JAMAR R3590TBKC
TOILET SEAT COVER DISPENSER, HEALTH GARDS HALF-FOLDD
SANITARY NAPKIN DISPOSAL, 1ECK9E
PAPER TOWEL DISPENSER, SAN JAMAR T1790TBKF
SOAP DISPENSER, SAN JAMAR S890TBK, BOTTOM OF DISPENSERG
24" x 36" GLASS MIRRORH
FLUSH VALVEK
ADA PIPE WRAPL
42" GRAB BAR TO BE REINSTALLED IN
PREVIOUS LOCATION

M

N 36" GRAB BAR TO BE REINSTALLED IN
PREVIOUS LOCATION

NOTE: REF. 2/A2.02 FOR TOILET ACCESSORY MOUNTING HEIGHTS

P SURFACE MOUNTED WASTE RECEPTACLE
TO BE MOUNTED UNDER PAPER TOWEL
DISPENSER, BOBRICK B-277 CONTURA
SERIES

REVISIONS

SHEET INFORMATION

TITLE

SHEET

Date
Job Number
Scale
Drawn
Checked
Approved

16-1010

No. Issue Date

In Association w/

In Association w/

April 7, 2017

Sheet Number

Sheet Name

WCCHD Office
Renovations

355 Texas Avenue
Round Rock, Texas

8200 IH-10 West, Ste. 103 
San Antonio, Texas 78230
Phone : 210-698-7887

technology & security

901 S. Mopac
Bldg. 3, Ste. 400
Austin, Texas 78746
Phone : 512-433-2696

SAN ANTONIO     AUSTIN

1 100% Construction Documents 12/5/2016

4/7/2017

SS

F
TAT

O
E

AXET

TSI
GER

DERE

ET
IHCRA

T
C

2 100% Construction Documents Issued for Bid 4/7/2017

B
id

 1
7

0
4

-1
5

3
W

ill
ia

m
s
o

n
 C

o
u

n
ty

, 
T

e
x
a

s

4
/1

2
/2

0
1

7
 1

0
:2

3
 A

M
p

. 
1

3

AutoCAD SHX Text
DOWN

AutoCAD SHX Text
DOWN

AutoCAD SHX Text
ENGI NEERING CONSULTANTS  NEERING CONSULTANTS NEERING CONSULTANTS 7800 Shoal Creek Blvd. | Suite 100-W Austin, Texas 78757 512.637.4393 p  512.637.4396 f TBPE Firm Registration No. 2234



TB INTAKE
124

TB ENTRANCE
123

PLAN REVIEW 2 & 3
119

FIELD 1 & 2
118

OSSF LEAD
117

ELEC. ROOM
116

DIRECTOR
115

FILE RM COPIER 2 CSRs
114

2 CSRs
113

WAITING AREA
112

PLAN REVIEW 1
120

IMM AND EHS EQUP.
121OFFICE

122

TB OFFICE
125

TB STORAGE
126

TB OFFICE 1
127

OFFICE 1
128

ASST. DIRECTOR
129

DIRECTOR
130

MD/HEALTH AUTHORITY
131

ISOLATION
161

ROOM
162

OBSERVATION

TB OFFICE 2
163

OFFICE 2
164

OFFICE 3
165

OFFICE 4
166

NURSE/NP 1
132

NURSE 2
133

NURSE 3
134

ROOM
135

NURSING OFFICE 6 (NAVIGATOR)
101

OFFICE 5
102

OFFICE 4
103 (DIRECTOR)

104

OFFICE 10
PLAYROOM

136

EXAM 4
156

EXAM 2
158

PROC. ROOM
159

EXAM 1
160

TOILET RM
151

CHECKOUT
155

2 CSRs
154

RETAIL FOOD LEAD
109

MEETING 1
111

RF PLAN REVIEW 3
144

RF PLAN REVIEW 1
108

RF PLAN REVIEW 2
142

MEETING ROOM
147

OFFICE 2
106

1-2 CSRs SUPPLIES COPIER
137

OFFICE 8
139

WAITING AREA
146

STG.
145

RF FIELD CUBICLES
143

OFFICE 1
107

OFFICE 3
105

MEETING 2
110

OFFICE 7
138

FLEX/MEETING
141

OFFICE 9
140

IT
152

MECHANICAL
153

JANITOR
150

BREAKROOM
148

EXAM 3
157

LAB
149

WOMEN'S TLT RM
167

MEN'S TLT RM
168

WOMEN'S TLT RM
170

MEN'S TLT RM
169

WOMEN'S TLT RM
171

MEN'S TLT RM
172

STAIRS
ST1

STAIRS
ST2

FIRE RISER
FR

VESTIBULE
173

LOBBY
174

CORRIDOR
C103

CORRIDOR
C104

CORRIDOR
C101

CORRIDOR
C102

X

X

X

X

XX

X

X

X

X

X

X XX

X

2'-6"

3'-
11

"

1'-
5"

5'-6 1/8" 2'-9"

2'-6"

3'-
11

"

2'-9"5'-6"

1'-
7"

2'-6"

3'-
0"

1'-
7"

6'-0" 5'-0"

2'-6"

4'-
0"

6'-0" 5'-0"

4'-3" 4'-0" 4'-3"

3'-
3"

1'-
6"

3'-7"

7'-9"

3'-
7"

4'-
0"

2'-6"

3'-9" 5'-7"

1'-
8"

2'-6"

4'-
0"

1'-
7"

2/A
3.0

1

2/A
3.0

1

2/A
3.0

1

2/A
3.0

1

2/A
3.0

1

2/A
3.0

1

2/A3.01

2/A3.01

CHAIN HUNG
FIXTURES

EL 8'-6"

EL 9'-0"

EL 9'-0"

EL 9'-0"

EL 9'-0"

EL 9'-0"

EL 9'-0"

EL 9'-0"

EL 8'-6"

EL 8'-6"
EL 8'-6"

EL 8'-6"

EXISTING
SURFACE
MOUNTED
FIXTURE

EL 8'-6"

4"

9'-
0"

AS
 S

CH
ED

.

LAY-IN CEILING AS
SCHED

LAY-IN CEILING AS
SCHED

5/8" GWB

5"

1/8"=1'-0"

1st Floor
Reflected Ceiling Plan

A3.01

SCALE:
1ST FLOOR REFLECTED CEILING PLAN

1/8" = 1'-0"
1

DENOTES NEW 2X2 LAY-IN CEILING

DENOTES NEW 2X2 LIGHT

DENOTES NEW RECESSED CAN LIGHT

DENOTES NEW GYPSUM CEILING

LEGEND

GENERAL NOTES:

REVISIONS

SHEET INFORMATION

TITLE

SHEET

Date
Job Number
Scale
Drawn
Checked
Approved

16-1010

No. Issue Date

In Association w/

JPG
MDH
MDH

VARIES

In Association w/

No. Issue Date
1 Addendum #1 02/19/2014

THESE DOCUMENTS ARE FOR DESIGN REVIEW
ONLY AND NOT INTENDED FOR

CONSTRUCTION, BIDDING, OR PERMIT
PURPOSES.  THEY ARE PREPARED BY, OR

UNDER THE DIRECTION OF:

PRELIMINARY-FOR REVIEW ONLY

Michael D. Haddon  18020   2 March 2015

April 7, 2017

A6.03

Wall Sections
and Details

WCCHD Office
Renovations

355 Texas Avenue
Round Rock, Texas

8200 IH-10 West, Ste. 103 
San Antonio, Texas 78230
Phone : 210-698-7887

technology & security

901 S. Mopac
Bldg. 3, Ste. 400
Austin, Texas 78746
Phone : 512-433-2696

SAN ANTONIO     AUSTIN

1 100% Construction Documents 12/5/2016

1/16/2017

SS

F
TAT

O
E

AXET

TSI
GER

DERE

ET
IHCRA

T
C

2 100% Construction Documents Issued for Bid 4/7/2017

TYPICAL SOFFIT REF. 2/A3.01

1.  ALL AREAS SCHEDULED TO RECEIVE NEW FINISHES ARE TO BE INSPECTED FOR ANY PATCHING
THAT MAY BE REQUIRED DUE TO EXISTING CONDITIONS.  PERFORM ALL PATCHING AS
REQUIRED PRIOR TO APPLICATION OF NEW FINISHES.

2.  COORDINATE THE LOCATIONS OF THE LIGHTS WITH THE DUCTWORK, AND OTHER CEILING
ELEMENTS.

3.  CONTRACTOR SHALL FIELD VERIFY ALL EXISTING DIMENSIONS AND CONDITIONS. DRAWN
INFORMATION SHALL NOT SUPERSEDE ACTUAL CONDITIONS.

4. PROTECT AREAS NOT SCHEDULED FOR RENOVATION FROM DEMOLITION AND CONSTRUCTION
ACTIVITIES.

SCALE:
TYPICAL SOFFIT

3" = 1'-0"
2

X EXIT SIGN. ARROWS AS INDICATED. SHADED
AREA DENOTES FACE(S)

NEW DIFFUSER REF. MEP

NEW EXHAUST REF. MEP

NEW WALL MOUNTED FIXTURE

B
id

 1
7

0
4

-1
5

3
W

ill
ia

m
s
o

n
 C

o
u

n
ty

, 
T

e
x
a

s

4
/1

2
/2

0
1

7
 1

0
:2

3
 A

M
p

. 
1

4

AutoCAD SHX Text
UP

AutoCAD SHX Text
UP

AutoCAD SHX Text
ENGI NEERING CONSULTANTS  NEERING CONSULTANTS NEERING CONSULTANTS 7800 Shoal Creek Blvd. | Suite 100-W Austin, Texas 78757 512.637.4393 p  512.637.4396 f TBPE Firm Registration No. 2234



STORAGE
209

EPR
210

EPR
208

ADMIN/FINANCE
205 DIRECTOR ADMIN/FINANCE

204

TVFC
249

DCP
213

COPIER
211

CLERICAL
240

CONFERENCE ROOM
241

STORAGE
239

MOSQ.
238

DCP
214

DCP
215

DCP
216

DCP
217

DCP
218

DCP
242

DCP
243

DCP
244

DCP
245

DCP
246

DCP
219

HR
220

HR
221

HR
222

HR
223

DEPUTY DIRECTOR
224

EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR
201

STORAGE
202

MARCOM
235

PHIP
233

CONFERENCE ROOM
229

WIC
226

BREAK ROOM
203

RECORD STORAGE
236

OFFICE
237

ADMIN/FINANCE
206

ADMIN/FINANCE
207

RECEPTION / ADMIN
225

PHIP
231

PHIP
234

PHIP
230

MARCOM
228

MARCOM
227

PHIP
232

STAIRS
ST1

STAIRS
ST2

MEN'S TLT RM
247

WOMEN'S TLT RM
248

CORRIDOR
C203

CORRIDOR
C202

CORRIDOR
C201

TVFC
212

X X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

4'-
0"

2'-4"

6'-0"3'-0"

2'-4"

3'-0" 6'-0"

1'-
7"

4'-
0"

2'-4"

4'-
0"

1'-
7"

2/A
3.0

1

2/A
3.0

1

2/A3.01

EL 9'-0"

EL 9'-0"

EL 8'-6"

EL 8'-6"

EL 8'-6"

1'-
7"

8'-3 1/4"

ACCESS HATCH
TO UNIT ABOVE

1/8"=1'-0"

2nd Floor
Reflected Ceiling Plan

A3.02

SCALE:
2ND FLOOR REFLECTED CEILING PLAN

1/8" = 1'-0"
1

DENOTES NEW 2X2 LAY-IN CEILING

DENOTES NEW 2X2 LIGHT

DENOTES NEW RECESSED CAN LIGHT

DENOTES NEW GYPSUM CEILING

LEGEND

GENERAL NOTES:

REVISIONS

SHEET INFORMATION

TITLE

SHEET

Date
Job Number
Scale
Drawn
Checked
Approved

16-1010

No. Issue Date

In Association w/

JPG
MDH
MDH

VARIES

In Association w/

No. Issue Date
1 Addendum #1 02/19/2014

THESE DOCUMENTS ARE FOR DESIGN REVIEW
ONLY AND NOT INTENDED FOR

CONSTRUCTION, BIDDING, OR PERMIT
PURPOSES.  THEY ARE PREPARED BY, OR

UNDER THE DIRECTION OF:

PRELIMINARY-FOR REVIEW ONLY

Michael D. Haddon  18020   2 March 2015

April 7, 2017

A6.03

Wall Sections
and Details

WCCHD Office
Renovations

355 Texas Avenue
Round Rock, Texas

8200 IH-10 West, Ste. 103 
San Antonio, Texas 78230
Phone : 210-698-7887

technology & security

901 S. Mopac
Bldg. 3, Ste. 400
Austin, Texas 78746
Phone : 512-433-2696

SAN ANTONIO     AUSTIN

1 100% Construction Documents 12/5/2016

1/16/2017

SS

F
TAT

O
E

AXET

TSI
GER

DERE

ET
IHCRA

T
C

2 100% Construction Documents Issued for Bid 4/7/2017

1.  ALL AREAS SCHEDULED TO RECEIVE NEW FINISHES ARE TO BE INSPECTED FOR ANY PATCHING
THAT MAY BE REQUIRED DUE TO EXISTING CONDITIONS.  PERFORM ALL PATCHING AS
REQUIRED PRIOR TO APPLICATION OF NEW FINISHES.

2.  COORDINATE THE LOCATIONS OF THE LIGHTS WITH THE DUCTWORK, AND OTHER CEILING
ELEMENTS.

3.  CONTRACTOR SHALL FIELD VERIFY ALL EXISTING DIMENSIONS AND CONDITIONS. DRAWN
INFORMATION SHALL NOT SUPERSEDE ACTUAL CONDITIONS.

4. PROTECT AREAS NOT SCHEDULED FOR RENOVATION FROM DEMOLITION AND CONSTRUCTION
ACTIVITIES.

TYPICAL CEILING HEADER
REF. 2/A3.01

X EXIT SIGN. ARROWS AS INDICATED. SHADED
AREA DENOTES FACE(S)

NEW DIFFUSER REF. MEP

NEW EXHAUST REF. MEP

NEW WALL MOUNTED FIXTURE

B
id

 1
7

0
4

-1
5

3
W

ill
ia

m
s
o

n
 C

o
u

n
ty

, 
T

e
x
a

s

4
/1

2
/2

0
1

7
 1

0
:2

3
 A

M
p

. 
1

5

AutoCAD SHX Text
ENGI NEERING CONSULTANTS  NEERING CONSULTANTS NEERING CONSULTANTS 7800 Shoal Creek Blvd. | Suite 100-W Austin, Texas 78757 512.637.4393 p  512.637.4396 f TBPE Firm Registration No. 2234



SECURE DBL STUDS
TO STRUCT ABOVE

PROVIDE ONE JAMB
ANCHOR ABOVE EACH
HINGE AND BELOW TOP
HINGE. LOCATION OF
ANCHORS ON STRIKE
JAMBS TO BE IDENTICAL

NOTES:
1. PROVIDE FRAME ANCHORS AT HEAD

FLOOR ANCHOR CLIPS
SECURED W/ NO LESS THAN 2
FASTENERS EACH SIDE.

METAL RUNNER TRACK
BETWEEN JAMB STUDS. TURN
DOWN, AND SECURE ENDS.

1 1/2" (38) CRC REINF. AT
OPENINGS OVER 3'-4" WIDE.
EXTEND STUDS BEYOND DBL
JAMB STUDS.

GWB CONTROL JOINT - ALIGN
WITH EDGES OF DOOR FRAME

DT 1DT 2

6"

6"

10
"

REF SCHED

RE
F S

CH
ED

SOLID CORE WOOD ALUMINUM W/
GLAZING

FINISH FLOOR

TEMP.
GLAZING

2'-
10

"

TYP. CARD
READER

COORDINATE
LOCATION W/ TECH.

REF SCHED

RE
F S

CH
ED

DT 3
HOLLOW METAL

DOOR
FRAME
BEYOND

DOOR AS
SCHED

TRANSITION
STRIP
REF. FINISH
SCHED. IF
REQ'D.

SC
HE

D 
DO

OR
 H

EI
GH

T

1/4
"

FLOOR
FINISH
AS
SCHEDULED

DOOR AND
FRAME AS
SCHED
PARTITION AS
SCHED

4" UNLESS OTHERWISE NOTED
SCHED OPENING

TYP 5'-0" CORRIDOR

18" CLEAR MIN

NOTES:
1. TYPICAL DOOR LOCATION UNLESS OTHERWISE NOTED.

INTERIOR ALUMINUM
TYPICAL

SINGLE OR PAIR

FT 1FT 2

REF.
STOREFRONT
WINDOW TYPE

2"

2"

REF DOOR

RE
F D

OO
R

FINISH FLOOR

EXTERIOR ALUMINUM
TYPICAL

SINGLE OR PAIR

INTERIOR HOLLOW
MTL. TYPICAL

SINGLE OR PAIR

FT 3

2"

2"

REF DOOR

RE
F D

OO
R

D

4'-
6"

SIGNAGE ON SWING
SIDE OF DOOR

9"

3'-0"

2'-
6"

4'-2"

4'-
2"

AB

11'-10"

4'-
2"

C

REF.
DOOR SCHED.7'-

2"

1'-10"

D

FINISH FLOOR

3'-
0"

7/A5.01

3'-
0" 4'-

0"

1'-11" 1'-11"6" 2'-0" 1'-10" 2'-0" 6"

12
/A5

.01

10/A5.01

12/A5.01

10
/A5

.01

7/A5.01

7/A5.01

9/A
5.0

1

7/A
5.0

1

3'-4"

2'-0" 2'-0"

9/A
5.0

1
8/A

5.0
1

8/A
5.0

1

7/A5.01

FINISH FLOOR

4'-2"

3'-
10

"

1'-11" 6" 2'-0" 1'-0" 2'-0" 6"

3'-
0"

2'-0" 2'-0"

3'-
0"

9/A
5.0

1
8/A

5.0
1

7/A5.01

E

4'-
2"

9/A
5.0

1

7/A5.01

1'-11"

F

11'-0"

8/A
5.0

1

13
/A5

.01

SC
HE

D 
DO

OR
  W

ID
TH

1 1
/2"

REF PARTITION TYPES

FRAME AS
SCHED.

DOOR AS
SCHED

DOUBLE STUDS

5/8" GYP BOARD

CONT.
SEALANT

SC
HE

D 
DO

OR

TRIM BOARD

Z-FLASHING

EXISTING EXTERIOR
SHEATHING

STOREFRONT FRAME

NEW DOOR
HEADER/JAMB

FLASH DOOR PER
MANUF. RECOMMENDATION

EXISTING HARDIE PANEL
STUCCO FINISH

EXISTING GWB

EXISTING
INSULATION

EXISTING MTL
FRAMING
BEYOND

FV

NEW 5/8" GWB

SC
HE

D
OP

EN
IN

G
2"

REF PARTITION TYPES

ALUM WINDOW
SYSTEM

DOUBLE STUDS

5/8" GYP BOARD

SEALANT

END CAP
BOTTOM
RAIL

ROLLER

GLAZING
RAIL

3/4" PLYWOOD
FINISH AS
SCHED

5/8" GWB

SC
HE

D 
OP

EN
IN

G
2"

ALUM WINDOW
SYSTEM

DOUBLE STUDS

5/8" GYP BOARD

BACKER ROD
& SEALANT

TRIM BOARD

Z-FLASHING

MATCH EXTERIOR
ASSEMBLY

TOP
GUIDE W/
WOOLPILE

3/4" PLYWOOD

FINISH AS
SCHED

1 2" M
AX

.

NEW STOREFRONT DOOR
AND FRAME

NEW ADA
T.A.S.THRESHOLD ON
FULL BED OF MASTIC.

EXISTING BUILDING
FOUNDATION

Varies

Door
Schedule & Details

A5.01
SCALE:
DOOR TYPES

1/4"= 1'-0"
1

REVISIONS

SHEET INFORMATION

TITLE

SHEET

Date
Job Number
Scale
Drawn
Checked
Approved

16-1010

No. Issue Date

In Association w/

JPG
MDH
MDH

VARIES

In Association w/

No. Issue Date
1 Addendum #1 02/19/2014

THESE DOCUMENTS ARE FOR DESIGN REVIEW
ONLY AND NOT INTENDED FOR

CONSTRUCTION, BIDDING, OR PERMIT
PURPOSES.  THEY ARE PREPARED BY, OR

UNDER THE DIRECTION OF:

PRELIMINARY-FOR REVIEW ONLY

Michael D. Haddon  18020   2 March 2015

April 7, 2017

A6.03

Wall Sections
and Details

WCCHD Office
Renovations

355 Texas Avenue
Round Rock, Texas

8200 IH-10 West, Ste. 103 
San Antonio, Texas 78230
Phone : 210-698-7887

technology & security

901 S. Mopac
Bldg. 3, Ste. 400
Austin, Texas 78746
Phone : 512-433-2696

SAN ANTONIO     AUSTIN

1 100% Construction Documents 12/5/2016

1/16/2017

SS

F
TAT

O
E

AXET

TSI
GER

DERE

ET
IHCRA

T
C

2 100% Construction Documents Issued for Bid 4/7/2017

103 - 3' - 0" 6' - 8" 1 3/4" - FT1 11/A5.01 11/A5.01 6/A5.01 D103 to be used
111 - 3' - 0" 6' - 8" 1 3/4" - FT1 6/A5.01 DC101 to be used

E123 DT1 3' - 0" 7' - 0" 1 3/4" FT2 12/A5.01 12/A5.01 13/A5.01
127 - 3' - 0" 6' - 8" 1 3/4" - FT1 6/A5.01 D104 to be used
128 3' - 0" 6' - 8" 1 3/4" - FT1 6/A5.01 D112 to be used
135 - 3' - 0" 6' - 8" 1 3/4" - FT1 6/A5.01 D136 to be used
137 - 3' - 0" 6' - 8" 1 3/4" - FT1 6/A5.01 D127 to be used
142 - 3' - 0" 6' - 8" 1 3/4" - FT1 6/A5.01 D135 to be used
143 - 3' - 0" 6' - 8" 1 3/4" - FT1 6/A5.01 D143 to be used
144 - 3' - 0" 6' - 8" 1 3/4" - FT1 6/A5.01 D142 to be used
145 - 3' - 0" 6' - 8" 1 3/4" - FT1 6/A5.01 DC102 to be used

157 - 3' - 0" 6' - 8" 1 3/4" - FT1 6/A5.01 D144 to be used
163 DT2 3' - 0" 6' - 8" 1 3/4" FT1 6/A5.01
C101 DT2 3' - 0" 6' - 8" 1 3/4" FT1 6/A5.01
C102 DT2 3' - 0" 6' - 8" 1 3/4" FT1 6/A5.01
C103 - 3' - 0" 6' - 8" 1 3/4" - FT1 6/A5.01 DC103 to be used
225 - 3' - 0" 6' - 8" 1 3/4" - FT1 6/A5.01 D228 to be used
227 - 3' - 0" 6' - 8" 1 3/4" - FT1 6/A5.01 D203 to be used
228 - 3' - 0" 6' - 8" 1 3/4" - FT1 6/A5.01 D229A to be used
230 - 3' - 0" 6' - 8" 1 3/4" - FT1 6/A5.01 D229 to be used
232 - 3' - 0" 6' - 8" 1 3/4" - FT1 6/A5.01 D204 to be used
233 - 3' - 0" 6' - 8" 1 3/4" - FT1 6/A5.01 D224 to be used
234 DT2 3' - 0" 6' - 8" 1 3/4" FT1 6/A5.01
239 - 3' - 0" 6' - 8" 1 3/4" - FT1 6/A5.01 D128 to be used

C201 - 3' - 0" 6' - 8" 1 3/4" - FT1 6/A5.01 D238 to be used
C202 - 3' - 0" 6' - 8" 1 3/4" - FT1 6/A5.01 D234 to be used
C203 - 3' - 0" 6' - 8" 1 3/4" - FT1 6/A5.01 D233 to be used
ST1A DT3 3' - 0" 7' - 0" 1 3/4" 2 FT3

SCALE:

TYPICAL
FRAMING DETAIL

1/4"= 1'-0"
2

SCALE:

TYPICAL
DOOR LOCATION

1/2"= 1'-0"
5

SCALE:
FRAME TYPES

1/4"= 1'-0"
3

SCALE:

HEADER DETAIL
/JAMB SIM

3"= 1'-0"
11

SCALE:
DOOR THRESHOLD

3"= 1'-0"
6

SCALE:

EXTERIOR DOOR
HEADER/JAMB SIM

3"= 1'-0"
12

SCALE:
WINDOW TYPES

1/4"= 1'-0"
4

101
102
104
105
106
107
108
109
110
114

114A
115
116
117
118
119
120
121
122
123
124
125
126
129
130
131
132
133
134

134A
137A
138
139
140
141
147

147A
148
149
150
151
152
153
156
158
159
160
161
162
164
165
166
167
168
169
170
171
172
V101

V101A
V102

V102A
ST2A
ST2B
E101
FR1

C104

201 - - - - - - FT1 - -
202 - - - - - - FT1 - 0.02
203 - - - - - - FT1 - -
204 - - - - - - FT1 - 0.01
205 - - - - - - FT1 - -
206 - - - - - - FT1 - -
207 - - - - - - FT1 - -
208 - - - - - - FT1 - -

208A - - - - - - FT1 - -
209 - - - - - - FT1 - 0.02
210 - - - - - - FT1 - 0.04
212 - - - - - - FT1 - -
213 - - - - - - FT1 - -
214 - - - - - - FT1 - -
215 - - - - - - FT1 - 0.04
216 - - - - - - FT1 - 0.04
218 - - - - - - FT1 - 0.01
219 - - - - - - FT1 - 0.04
220 - - - - - - FT1 - 0.01
221 - - - - - - FT1 - 0.01
222 - - - - - - FT1 - 0.01
223 - - - - - - FT1 - 0.01
224 - - - - - - FT1 - 0.01
226 - - - - - - FT1 - 0.01

226A - - - - - - FT1 - 0.01
229 - - - - - - FT1 - -

229A - - - - - - FT1 - -
231 - - - - - - FT1 - 0.04

231A - - - - - - FT1 - -
236 - - - - - - FT1 - 0.02
237 - - - - - - FT1 - -
238 - - - - - - FT1 - -
241 - - - - - - FT1 - 0.04
242 - - - - - - FT1 - -
243 - - - - - - FT1 - -
244 - - - - - - FT1 - -
245 - - - - - - FT1 - -
246 - - - - - - FT1 - -
247 - - - - - - FT1 - -
248 - - - - - - FT1 - -
249 - - - - - - FT1 - -

ST2C

SCALE:

WINDOW HEADER/
JAMB SIM

3"= 1'-0"
7

SCALE:

SLIDING
WINDOW SILL TYP.

3"= 1'-0"
8

TH
ICK

NE
SS

RA
TIN

G -
 LA

BE
L

WIDTH        HEIGHTTY
PE

WO
OD

HO
LL

OW
 M

ET
AL

AL
UM

INU
M 

& G
LA

SS

DOOR NEW FRAME HARDWARE DETAIL REFERENCEMARK
SIZE MATERIAL MATERIAL

TYPE321

HO
LL

OW
 M

ET
AL

ST
EE

L

AL
UM

INU
M

WO
OD

3 421FINISH FINISH

X

DOOR NUMBER HARDWARE SETS HEAD JAMB THRESHOLD

DOOR SCHEDULE - RELOCATED AND NEW DOORS

ST
 = 

ST
AIN

 TO
 

GL
 = 

GL
AS

S
BA

 = 
BL

AC
K A

NO
DIZ

ED
PF

 = 
PR

E-F
INI

SH
ED

PT
 = 

PA
INT

NOTES
NOTE:
ALL LOCKSETS
TO HAVE 7 PIN
INTER-
CHANGEABLE
CORE

3

MA
TC

H E
XIS

T

ST
ST

ST
ST
ST
ST
ST
ST
ST
ST

ST
ST
ST
ST
ST
ST
ST
ST
ST
ST
ST
ST
ST
ST
ST
ST

1

3

TH
ICK

NE
SS

RA
TIN

G -
 LA

BE
L

WIDTH        HEIGHTTY
PE

EX
IST

ING
 W

OO
D

HO
LL

OW
 M

ET
AL

AL
UM

INU
M 

& G
LA

SS

DOOR FRAME HARDWAREMARK
SIZE MATERIAL MATERIAL

TYPE321

HO
LL

OW
 M

ET
AL

ST
EE

L

AL
UM

INU
M

WO
OD

3 421FINISH FINISH

X

DOOR NUMBER HARDWARE SETS

DOOR SCHEDULE - 2ND FLOOR INTERIOR DOORS

ST
 = 

ST
AIN

 TO
 

GL
 = 

GL
AS

S
CA

 = 
CL

EA
R A

NO
DIZ

ED
PL

 = 
PL

AS
TIC

 LA
MI

NA
TE

PT
 = 

PA
INT

REMARKS
NOTE:
ALL LOCKSETS
TO HAVE 7 PIN
INTER-
CHANGEABLE
CORE

MA
TC

H E
XIS

T

- - - - - - FT1 - -
- - - - - - FT1 - 0.04
- - - - - - FT1 - 0.01
- - - - - - FT1 - -
- - - - - - FT1 - -
- - - - - - FT1 - -
- - - - - - FT1 - -
- - - - - - FT1 - -
- - - - - - FT1 - 0.04
- - - - - - FT1 - 0.01
- - - - - - FT1 - 0.01
- - - - - - FT1 - 0.01
- - - - - - FT1 - 0.02
- - - - - - FT1 - 0.04
- - - - - - FT1 - 0.04
- - - - - - FT1 - 0.04
- - - - - - FT1 - 0.04
- - - - - - FT1 - 0.02
- - - - - - FT1 - 0.04
- - - - - - FT1 - 0.04
- - - - - - FT1 - 0.04
- - - - - - FT1 - 0.04
- - - - - - FT1 - 0.02
- - - - - - FT1 - 0.01
- - - - - - FT1 - 0.01
- - - - - - FT1 - 0.01
- - - - - - FT1 - 0.04
- - - - - - FT1 - 0.04
- - - - - - FT1 - 0.04
- - - - - - FT1 - 0.04
- - - - - - FT1 - 0.01
- - - - - - FT1 - -
- - - - - - FT1 - 0.04
- - - - - - FT1 - 0.04
- - - - - - FT1 - 0.04
- - - - - - FT1 - 0.05
- - - - - - FT1 - 0.05
- - - - - - FT1 - -
- - - - - - FT1 - 0.02
- - - - - - FT1 - 0.02
- - - - - - FT1 - 0.03
- - - - - - FT1 - 0.02
- - - - - - FT1 - 0.02

TH
ICK

NE
SS

RA
TIN

G -
 LA

BE
L

WIDTH        HEIGHTTY
PE

EX
IST

ING
 W

OO
D

HO
LL

OW
 M

ET
AL

AL
UM

INU
M 

& G
LA

SS

DOOR FRAME HARDWAREMARK
SIZE MATERIAL MATERIAL

TYPE321

HO
LL

OW
 M

ET
AL

ST
EE

L

AL
UM

INU
M

WO
OD

3 421FINISH FINISH

X

DOOR NUMBER HARDWARE SETS

DOOR SCHEDULE - 1ST FLOOR INTERIOR DOORS

ST
 = 

ST
AIN

 TO
 

GL
 = 

GL
AS

S
CA

 = 
CL

EA
R A

NO
DIZ

ED
PL

 = 
PL

AS
TIC

 LA
MI

NA
TE

PT
 = 

PA
INT

NOTE:
ALL LOCKSETS
TO HAVE 7 PIN
INTER-
CHANGEABLE
CORE

MA
TC

H E
XIS

T

- - - - - - -
- - - - - - FT1 - -
- - - - - - FT1 - -
- - - - - - FT1 - 0.04
- - - - - - FT1 - 0.04
- - - - - - FT1 - 0.04
- - - - - - FT1 - 0.04
- - - - - - FT1 - 0.04
- - - - - - FT1 - 0.04
- - - - - - FT1 - 0.04
- - - - - - FT1 - -
- - - - - - FT1 - -
- - - - - - FT1 - -- - - - - - - -
- - - - - - FT1 - -
- - - - - - FT1 - -
- - - - - - FT1 - -
- - - - - - FT1 - -
- - - - - - FT1 - -
- - - - - - FT1 - -
- - - - - - FT1 - -
- - - - - - FT1 - -
- - - - - - FT1 -
- - - - - - FT1 -
- - - - - - FT1 - -
- - - - - - FT1 - 0.04

SCALE:

EXTERIOR WINDOW
HEADER/JAMB SIM

3"= 1'-0"
10

SCALE:

SLIDING
WINDOW HEADER TYP.

3"= 1'-0"
9

11/A5.01 11/A5.01

11/A5.01 11/A5.01
11/A5.01 11/A5.01
11/A5.01 11/A5.01
11/A5.01 11/A5.01
11/A5.01 11/A5.01
11/A5.01 11/A5.01
11/A5.01 11/A5.01
11/A5.01 11/A5.01

11/A5.01 11/A5.01
11/A5.01 11/A5.01
11/A5.01 11/A5.01
11/A5.01 11/A5.01
11/A5.01 11/A5.01
11/A5.01 11/A5.01
11/A5.01 11/A5.01
11/A5.01 11/A5.01
11/A5.01 11/A5.01
11/A5.01 11/A5.01
11/A5.01 11/A5.01
11/A5.01 11/A5.01
11/A5.01 11/A5.01
11/A5.01 11/A5.01
11/A5.01 11/A5.01
11/A5.01 11/A5.01

BA

- 3' - 0" 6' - 8" 1 3/4" - FT1 6/A5.01ST 11/A5.01 11/A5.01155 D235 to be used

GENERAL NOTES:
1. GENERAL CONTRACTOR TO CONFIRM EXISTING DOOR SIZE, CONDITION & HARDWARE.

COORDINATE ANY DISCREPANCIES WITH DOOR SCHEDULE WITH ARCHITECT
2. ALL DOORS TO BE PREPPED FOR CYLINDRICAL LOCKS
3. SEAL, PATCH & PAINT DOOR  WHERE TRIM REMOVE DOES NOT COVER

2
2

2
2
2
2
2
2
2
2
2
2
2
2
2
2
2
2
2
2
2
2
2
2
2
2
2

REMARKS

6/A5.0111/A5.01 11/A5.01

0.07
0.04
3.02
0.01
0.07
0.03
0.01
0.04
0.07
0.04
0.02
0.01
0.07
3.01
8.01
8.02
0.04
0.04
0.04
0.07
0.04
0.04
0.07
0.07
0.02
0.07
0.06
0.06
6.01

-

45 MIN

1
1
1

1

ST2A DT3 3' - 0" 7' - 0" 1 3/4" 2 FT3 1 6/A5.0111/A5.01 11/A5.0145 MIN
DT3 3' - 0" 7' - 0" 1 3/4" 2 FT3 1 6/A5.0111/A5.01 11/A5.0145 MIN

ST1B DT3 3' - 0" 7' - 0" 1 3/4" 2 FT3 1 6/A5.0111/A5.01 11/A5.0145 MIN

45 MIN

0.08

0.08
0.09

0.10
0.10

NEW

PF
PF

PF
PF
PF
PF
PF
PF
PF
PF
PF
PF
PF
PF
PF
PF
PF
PF
PF
PF
PF
PF
PF
PF
PF
PF
PF
PT
PT
PT
PT

NOTE:
DOORS IN THIS COLUMN
ARE LABELED WITH
ORIGINAL DOOR #'S.
SHOWN ON A0.01 & A0.02

Fire-rated
Fire-rated
Fire-rated
Fire-rated

SCALE:

STOREFRONT DOOR
THRESHOLD

3"= 1'-0"
13

P
P
P
P

P =
 PA

INT
ED

 

B
id

 1
7

0
4

-1
5

3
W

ill
ia

m
s
o

n
 C

o
u

n
ty

, 
T

e
x
a

s

4
/1

2
/2

0
1

7
 1

0
:2

3
 A

M
p

. 
1

6

AutoCAD SHX Text
ENGI NEERING CONSULTANTS  NEERING CONSULTANTS NEERING CONSULTANTS 7800 Shoal Creek Blvd. | Suite 100-W Austin, Texas 78757 512.637.4393 p  512.637.4396 f TBPE Firm Registration No. 2234



Varies

-

Room Finish Schedule
& Legend

A7.01

COUNTERS AND MILLWORK
MATERIAL CODE MANUFACTURE / PATTERN PRODUCT NO. COLORS FINISH DIMENSIONS REMARKS

PLASTIC LAMINATE PL-1 WILSONART 4877-38 GREY MESH 4'X8' SHEET COUNTERTOPS AND BACKSPLASH U.N.O.

PLASTIC LAMINATE PL-3 WILSONART 7975K-12 RAW CHESTNUT 4'X8' SHEET VERTICAL SURFACES

FLOORING

CARPET TILE CPT-1 TANDUS CENTIVA / SYLLABUS 10965 POWER GRID 76504 24X24 INSTALLATION
CARPET TILE CPT-2 TANDUS CENTIVA / OVERLAY ACCENT II CLEAN COAL 44030 24X24 INSTALLATION
VINYL COMPOSITION TILE VCT-1 ARMSTRONG EXCELON - FIELD GRAY 51927 - FIELD COLOR
VINYL COMPOSITION TILE VCT-2 ARMSTRONG EXCELON COOL WHITE 51899 ACCENT COLOR

WALLS

INTERIOR PAINT LATEX PT-1 SHERWIN WILLIAMS - LATEX SW7671 ON THE ROCKS EGGSHELL FIELD COLOR
INTERIOR PAINT LATEX PT-2 SHERWIN WILLIAMS - LATEX SW6710 MELANGE GREEN EGGSHELL ACCENT COLOR
INTERIOR PAINT LATEX PT-3 SHERWIN WILLIAMS - LATEX SW6493 EBBTIDE EGGSHELL ACCENT COLOR
INTERIOR PAINT LATEX PT-4 SHERWIN WILLIAMS - LATEX SW6669 YARROW EGGSHELL ACCENT COLOR

CEILING

ACOUSTIC CEILING TILE ACT-1 ARMSTRONG/ DUNE 1774 WHITE PROFILE: ANGLED
TEGULAR

24"X24"X5/8" SUSPENDED CEILING GRID: ARMSTRONG PREDLUDE XL EXPOSED TEE
SYSTEM, COLOR WHITE

INTERIOR PAINT LATEX PT-5 SHERWIN WILLIAMS - INTERIOR LATEX SW7005 PURE WHITE FLAT FINISH/EPOXY
AT CLEAN AREAS

PAINT AT GYP. CEILING - U.N.O.

MISC

BASE

CERAMIC WALL BASE CWB-2 DALTILE WALL SEMI-GLOSS COVE BASE 4-1/4" X 6"

ROOM FLOORS WALLS CEILING MILLWORK

NOTESRO
OM

 N
UM

BE
R

ROOM NAME FLOOR FINISH BASE NORTH EAST SOUTH WEST FINISH MLWK CTR TOPS
130 DIRECTOR
131 MD/HEALTH AUTHORITY
132 NURSE/NP 1
133 NURSE 2
134 NURSE 3
135 NURSING ROOM
136 PLAYROOM
137 1-2 CSRs SUPPLIES COPIER
138 OFFICE 7
139 OFFICE 8
140 OFFICE 9
141 FLEX/MEETING
142 RF PLAN REVIEW 2
143 RF FIELD CUBICLES
144 RF PLAN REVIEW 3
145 STG.
146 WAITING AREA
147 MEETING ROOM
148 BREAK ROOM
149 LAB
150 JANITOR
151 TOILET ROOM
152 IT
153 MECHANICAL
154 2 CSRs
155 CHECKOUT
156 EXAM 4
157 EXAM 3
158 EXAM 2
159 PROC. ROOM
160 EXAM 1
161 ISOLATION
162 ANTEROOM
163 TB OFFICE 2
164 OFFICE 2
165 OFFICE 3
166 OFFICE 4
167 WOMEN'S TLT RM

169 MEN'S TLT RM
170 WOMEN'S TLT RM
171 WOMEN'S TLT RM
172 MEN'S TLT RM
173 VESTIBULE
174 LOBBY
201 EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR
202 STORAGE
203 BREAK ROOM
204 DIRECTOR ADMIN/FINANCE
205 ADMIN/FINANCE
206 ADMIN/FINANCE
207 ADMIN/FINANCE
208 EPR
209 STORAGE
210 EPR
211 COPIER

249 TVFC

213 DCP
214 DCP
215 DCP
216 DCP
217 DCP
218 DCP
219 DCP
220 HR
221 HR
222 HR
223 HR
224 DEPUTY DIRECTOR
225 RECEPTION / ADMIN
226 WIC
227 MARCOM
228 MARCOM
229 CONFERENCE ROOM
230 PHIP
231 PHIP
232 PHIP
233 PHIP
234 PHIP
235 MARCOM
236 RECORD STORAGE
237 OFFICE
238 MOSQ.
239 STORAGE
240 CLERICAL
241 CONFERENCE ROOM
242 DCP
243 DCP
244 DCP
245 DCP
246 DCP

C101 CORRIDOR
C102 CORRIDOR
C103 CORRIDOR
C104 CORRIDOR
C201 CORRIDOR
C202 CORRIDOR
C203 CORRIDOR
ST1 STAIRS
ST2 STAIRS

SCALE:
 FINISH SCHEDULE

NTS
1

SCALE:
 FINISH LEGEND

NTS
2

ROOM FLOORS WALLS CEILING MILLWORK

NOTESRO
OM

 N
UM

BE
R

ROOM NAME FLOOR FINISH BASE NORTH EAST SOUTH WEST FINISH MLWK CTR TOPS
101 OFFICE 6 (NAVIGATOR) VCT-1 / VCT-2 RB-1 PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 ACT-1
102 OFFICE 5 VCT-1 / VCT-2 RB-1
103 OFFICE 4 RB-1
104 OFFICE 10 (DIRECTOR) RB-1
105 OFFICE 3 RB-1
106 OFFICE 2 RB-1
107 OFFICE 1 RB-1
108 RF PLAN REVIEW 1 RB-1
109 RETAIL FOOD LEAD RB-1
110 MEETING 2 RB-1
111 MEETING 1 RB-1
112 WAITING AREA
113 2 CSRs
114 FILE RM COPIER 2 CSRs
115 DIRECTOR
116 ELEC. ROOM
117 OSSF LEAD
118 FIELD 1 & 2
119 PLAN REVIEW 2 & 3
120 PLAN REVIEW 1
121 IMM AND EHS EQUP.
122 OFFICE
123 TB ENTRANCE
124 TB INTAKE
125 TB OFFICE
126 TB STORAGE
127 TB OFFICE 1
128 OFFICE 1
129 ASST. DIRECTOR

ROOM FINISH LEGEND ROOM FINISH SCHEDULE

ROOM FINISH SCHEDULE

MATERIAL CODE MANUFACTURE / PATTERN PRODUCT NO. COLORS FINISH DIMENSIONS REMARKS

MATERIAL CODE MANUFACTURE / PATTERN PRODUCT NO. COLORS FINISH DIMENSIONS REMARKS

MATERIAL CODE MANUFACTURE / PATTERN PRODUCT NO. COLORS FINISH DIMENSIONS REMARKS

MATERIAL CODE MANUFACTURE / PATTERN PRODUCT NO. COLORS FINISH DIMENSIONS REMARKS

MATERIAL CODE MANUFACTURE / PATTERN PRODUCT NO. COLORS FINISH DIMENSIONS REMARKS

RB-1
RB-1
RB-1
RB-1
RB-1
RB-1
RB-1
RB-1
RB-1
RB-1
RB-1
RB-1
RB-1
RB-1
RB-1
RB-1
RB-1
RB-1

RB-1
RB-1
RB-1
RB-1
RB-1
RB-1
RB-1
RB-1
RB-1
RB-1
RB-1
RB-1
RB-1
RB-1
RB-1
RB-1
RB-1
RB-1
RB-1
RB-1
RB-1

RB-1
RB-1
RB-1
RB-1
RB-1
RB-1
RB-1
RB-1
RB-1
RB-1
RB-1
RB-1
RB-1
RB-1
RB-1

RB-1
RB-1
RB-1
RB-1
RB-1
RB-1
RB-1
RB-1
RB-1
RB-1
RB-1
RB-1
RB-1

RB-1

RB-1
RB-1
RB-1
RB-1
RB-1
RB-1
RB-1
RB-1
RB-1
RB-1
RB-1
RB-1
RB-1
RB-1
RB-1
RB-1
RB-1
RB-1
RB-1
RB-1
RB-1
RB-1
RB-1
RB-1
RB-1
RB-1
RB-1
RB-1
RB-1
RB-1
RB-1
RB-1
RB-1
RB-1

RB-1
RB-1
RB-1
RB-1
RB-1
RB-1
RB-1

VCT-1 / VCT-2
VCT-1 / VCT-2
VCT-1 / VCT-2
VCT-1 / VCT-2
VCT-1 / VCT-2

VCT-1 / VCT-2
VCT-1 / VCT-2
VCT-1 / VCT-2

VCT-1
VCT-1 / VCT-2
VCT-1 / VCT-2
VCT-1
VCT-1 / VCT-2
VCT-1 / VCT-2
VCT-1 / VCT-2
VCT-1 / VCT-2
VCT-1 / VCT-2
VCT-1 / VCT-2
VCT-1 / VCT-2
VCT-1 / VCT-2
VCT-1 / VCT-2
VCT-1 / VCT-2
VCT-1 / VCT-2

VCT-1 / VCT-2

VCT-1 / VCT-2
VCT-1 / VCT-2
VCT-1 / VCT-2
VCT-1 / VCT-2
VCT-1 / VCT-2
VCT-1 / VCT-2
VCT-1 / VCT-2
VCT-1

VCT-1
VCT-1 / VCT-2
VCT-1
VCT-1 / VCT-2
VCT-1
VCT-1 / VCT-2
CPT-1 / CPT-2
VCT-1
VCT-1
VCT-1

VCT-1
VCT-1
VCT-1
VCT-1
VCT-1 / VCT-2
VCT-1 / VCT-2
VCT-1 / VCT-2
VCT-1 / VCT-2
VCT-1 / VCT-2
VCT-1 / VCT-2
VCT-1 / VCT-2
VCT-1 / VCT-2
VCT-1 / VCT-2
VCT-1 / VCT-2
VCT-1 / VCT-2

VCT-1

CPT-2
VCT-1
VCT-1

VCT-1

VCT-1 / VCT-2

VCT-1 / VCT-2

VCT-1 / VCT-2

CPT-1/ CPT-2

VCT-1

VCT-1
VCT-1 / VCT-2
CPT-1 / CPT-2

VCT-1 / VCT-2
VCT-1 / VCT-2
VCT-1 / VCT-2
VCT-1 / VCT-2
VCT-1 / VCT-2
VCT-1 / VCT-2
VCT-1 / VCT-2
VCT-2

EXISTING

212 TVFC RB-1

CPT-2
CPT-2
CPT-2
CPT-2
CPT-2

CPT-2

CPT-2

CPT-2
CPT-2
CPT-2
CPT-2
CPT-2

CPT-2
CPT-2
CPT-2
CPT-2
CPT-2
CPT-2
CPT-2

CPT-2
CPT-2
CPT-2

CPT-2
CPT-2
CPT-2
CPT-2
CPT-2
CPT-2

CPT-2

CPT-2
CPT-2
CPT-2
CPT-2
CPT-2

PT-1 PT-3 PT-1 PT-1 ACT-1 PL-2 PL-1

PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 PT-2 ACT-1 PL-2 PL-1
PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 PT-2 ACT-1 PL-2 PL-1

PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 PT-4 ACT-1

PT-4 PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 ACT-1

PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 PT-2 ACT-1

PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 PT-2 ACT-1 PL-2 PL-1
PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 PT-2 ACT-1 PL-2 PL-1
PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 PT-2 ACT-1 PL-2 PL-1
PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 PT-2 ACT-1 PL-2 PL-1
PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 PT-2 ACT-1 PL-2 PL-1
PT-2 PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 ACT-1 PL-2 PL-1

PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 PT-2 ACT-1 PL-1

PT-1 PT-1 PT-3 PT-1 ACT-1

PT-1 PT-1 PT-3 PT-1 ACT-1

PT-1 PT-3 PT-1 PT-1 ACT-1

PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 PT-2 ACT-1

PT-1 PT-3 PT-1 PT-1 ACT-1

PT-1 PT-1 PT-4 PT-1 ACT-1

PT-1 / PT-3 PT-1 / PT-3 PT-1 ACT-1PT-1

PT-1 PT-1 PT-2 PT-1 ACT-1

PT-1 PT-1 PT-2 PT-1 ACT-1

PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 ACT-1
PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 ACT-1
PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 ACT-1
PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 ACT-1
PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 ACT-1
PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 ACT-1
PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 ACT-1
PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 ACT-1
PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 ACT-1

PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 ACT-1
PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 ACT-1
PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 ACT-1
PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 ACT-1
PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 ACT-1
PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 ACT-1
PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 ACT-1
PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 ACT-1
PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 ACT-1
PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 ACT-1

PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 ACT-1

PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 ACT-1
PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 ACT-1
PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 ACT-1
PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 ACT-1
PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 ACT-1
PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 ACT-1

PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 ACT-1
PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 ACT-1
PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 ACT-1
PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 ACT-1
PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 ACT-1
PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 ACT-1
PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 ACT-1

PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 ACT-1
PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 ACT-1
PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 ACT-1
PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 ACT-1
PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 ACT-1
PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 ACT-1
PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 ACT-1

PT-4 PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 ACT-1
PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 ACT-1
PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 ACT-1
PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 ACT-1
PT-1 CT-2 / -3 CT-2 / -3 PT-1 ACT-1
PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 ACT-1
PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 ACT-1

PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 ACT-1
PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 ACT-1
PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 ACT-1
PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 ACT-1
PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 ACT-1

PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 ACT-1
PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 ACT-1
PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 ACT-1
PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 ACT-1
PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 ACT-1
PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 ACT-1
PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 ACT-1

PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 ACT-1

PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 ACT-1
PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 ACT-1
PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 ACT-1
PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 ACT-1
PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 ACT-1

PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 ACT-1
PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 ACT-1
PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 ACT-1
PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 ACT-1
PT-1 PT-1 PT-3 PT-1 ACT-1
PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 ACT-1
PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 ACT-1

PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 ACT-1
PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 ACT-1
PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 ACT-1
PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 ACT-1
PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 ACT-1
PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 ACT-1
PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 ACT-1
PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 ACT-1
PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 ACT-1
PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 ACT-1
PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 ACT-1
PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 ACT-1
PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 ACT-1
PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 ACT-1

PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 ACT-1

PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 ACT-1
PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 ACT-1
PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 ACT-1
PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 ACT-1
PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 ACT-1

PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 ACT-1
PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 ACT-1
PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 ACT-1
PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 ACT-1
PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 ACT-1
PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 ACT-1

PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 ACT-1

PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 ACT-1
PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 ACT-1
PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 ACT-1

CWB-1 / -2CT-1

PH-1 TOILETS PARTITION TO BE PH-1

247 MEN'S TLT RM
248 WOMEN'S TLT RM

PL-4
PL-4

TOILETS PARTITION TO BE PL-4
TOILETS PARTITION TO BE PL-4

PHENOLIC PARTITIONS PH-1 SCRANTON PRODUCTS HINY HIDERS TOILET PARTITIONS

STAIR TREADS
PL-4

20 CHARCOAL

ROTARY BRUSHED

RUBBER TILE RT-1 JOHNSONITE SOLID COLOR RUBBER
FLOORING

WALL PROTECTION WP-1

SANITARY TOP COVE S-3419T

TRANSITION STRIP TR-2 VCT TO CARPET-

JOHNSONITE VISUALLY IMPAIRED RUBBER
STAIR TREAD WITH INTEGRATED

20 CHARCOAL WG

NICKEL

JOHNSONITE SLIM LINE TRANSITION SLT-121-H

02977

REVISIONS

SHEET INFORMATION

TITLE

SHEET

Date
Job Number
Scale
Drawn
Checked
Approved

16-1010

No. Issue Date

In Association w/

In Association w/

April 7, 2017

WCCHD Office
Renovations

355 Texas Avenue
Round Rock, Texas

8200 IH-10 West, Ste. 103 
San Antonio, Texas 78230
Phone : 210-698-7887

technology & security

901 S. Mopac
Bldg. 3, Ste. 400
Austin, Texas 78746
Phone : 512-433-2696

SAN ANTONIO     AUSTIN

1 100% Construction Documents 12/5/2016

1/16/2017

SS

F
TAT

O
E

AXET

TSI
GER

DERE

ET
IHCRA

T
C

2 100% Construction Documents Issued for Bid 4/7/2017

TRANSITION STRIP TR-1  SCHLUTER SYSTEMS RENO-U EU80 VCT TO CERAMIC TILE- 5/16"BRUSHED STAINLESS STEEL

-

24X24 STAIRWELL LANDING

RUBBER WALL BASE RB-1 JOHNSONITE / TRADITIONAL WALL BASE 4" HIGH COIL LENGTH WITH TOEDC-121-4 20 CHARCOAL WG
CERAMIC WALL BASE CWB-1 DALTILE WALL SEMI-GLOSS COVE BASE 4-1/4" X 4-1/4"FLAT TOP COVE A-301 MATTE ARCTIC WHITE MATTE

CERAMIC WALL TILE CT-2 DALTILE WALL SEMI-GLOSS 4-1/4" X 4-1/4"MATTE ARCTIC WHITE FIELD COLOR

REPLACING EXISTING WALL PROTECTION  48" AFFCS ACROVYN WALL PROTECTION 262 DRIFTWOOD SUEDE

PLASTIC LAMINATE PL-2 WILSONART 4941K-18 COSMIC STRANDZ 4'X8' SHEET VERTICAL SURFACES

MATTE ARCTIC WHITE MATTE

MATTE

TRANSITION STRIP TR-3 VCT TO CONCRETE20 CHARCOAL WG -JOHNSONITE SLIM LINE TRANSITION SLT-121-J

STAIR TREAD WITH SOLID COLOR RUBBER INSERT 55 SILVER GREY

VCT-1 / VCT-2

VCT-1 / VCT-2

PL-1

VCT-1 / VCT-2

VCT-1 / VCT-2
VCT-1 / VCT-2
VCT-1 / VCT-2

PL-3 PL-1
PL-2 PL-1

PH-1 TOILETS PARTITION TO BE PH-1
PH-1 TOILETS PARTITION TO BE PH-1
PH-1 TOILETS PARTITION TO BE PH-1
PH-1 TOILETS PARTITION TO BE PH-1

VCT-1 / VCT-2

PL-3 PL-1

CPT-2

CERAMIC TILE CT-1 DALTILE KEYSTONES 2X2 RESTROOM FLOOR TILEWATERFALL D169
20 CHARCOAL BAMBOO

PLASTIC LAMINATE PARTITIONS PEWTER MESH -WILSONART 4878-38 TOILET PARTITIONS
ST-1

TRANSITION STRIP TR-4 VCT TO STAIR TREADS20 CHARCOALJOHNSONITE STAIR NOSING DTN-80

VIBMTRS BAMBOO

WB-1WINDOW BLINDS BRUSHED ALUMINUM 121BALI HORIZONTAL MINI BLINDS LOCATED ON ALL EXTERIOR WINDOWS1"

RB-1
RB-1VCT-2

CERAMIC WALL TILE CT-3 ACCENT COLORDALTILE WALL SEMI-GLOSS 4-1/4" X 4-1/4"WATERFALL 0169 SEMI-GLOSS

EXISTING
EXISTING
EXISTING
EXISTING

EXISTING

EXISTING
EXISTING
EXISTING
EXISTING

EXISTING
EXISTING

EXISTING
EXISTING

PT-5
PT-5

PT-5

PT-5
PT-5
PT-5
PT-5

PT-1 PT-1 / WP-1 PT-1

PT-1 PT-1 EXISTING
PT-1 PT-1

PT-1 PT-1
PT-1 PT-1

PT-1 / WP-1
168 MEN'S TLT RM EXISTING PH-1 TOILETS PARTITION TO BE PH-1EXISTING PT-5PT-1 / WP-1 PT-1PT-1PT-1 / WP-1

PT-1 / WP-1
EXISTING PT-1 / WP-1

PT-1 / WP-1PT-1 / WP-1
PT-1 / WP-1 PT-1 / WP-1

PT-1 PT-1
PT-1 PT-1

PT-1 / WP-1
PT-1 / WP-1PT-1 / WP-1

PT-1 / WP-1

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 17

AutoCAD SHX Text
ENGI NEERING CONSULTANTS  NEERING CONSULTANTS NEERING CONSULTANTS 7800 Shoal Creek Blvd. | Suite 100-W Austin, Texas 78757 512.637.4393 p  512.637.4396 f TBPE Firm Registration No. 2234



1/8"=1'-0"

& 

Room Finish Schedule
& Legend

A7.01

COUNTERS AND MILLWORK
MATERIAL CODE MANUFACTURE / PATTERN PRODUCT NO. COLORS FINISH DIMENSIONS REMARKS

PLASTIC LAMINATE PL-1 WILSONART 4877-38 GREY MESH 4'X8' SHEET COUNTERTOPS AND BACKSPLASH U.N.O.

PLASTIC LAMINATE PL-3 WILSONART 7975K-12 RAW CHESTNUT 4'X8' SHEET VERTICAL SURFACES

FLOORING

CARPET TILE CPT-1 TANDUS CENTIVA / SYLLABUS 10965 POWER GRID 76504 24X24 INSTALLATION
CARPET TILE CPT-2 TANDUS CENTIVA / OVERLAY ACCENT II CLEAN COAL 44030 24X24 INSTALLATION
VINYL COMPOSITION TILE VCT-1 ARMSTRONG EXCELON - FIELD GRAY 51927 - FIELD COLOR
VINYL COMPOSITION TILE VCT-2 ARMSTRONG EXCELON COOL WHITE 51899 ACCENT COLOR

WALLS

INTERIOR PAINT LATEX PT-1 SHERWIN WILLIAMS - LATEX SW7671 ON THE ROCKS EGGSHELL FIELD COLOR
INTERIOR PAINT LATEX PT-2 SHERWIN WILLIAMS - LATEX SW6710 MELANGE GREEN EGGSHELL ACCENT COLOR
INTERIOR PAINT LATEX PT-3 SHERWIN WILLIAMS - LATEX SW6493 EBBTIDE EGGSHELL ACCENT COLOR
INTERIOR PAINT LATEX PT-4 SHERWIN WILLIAMS - LATEX SW6669 YARROW EGGSHELL ACCENT COLOR

CEILING

ACOUSTIC CEILING TILE ACT-1 ARMSTRONG/ DUNE 1774 WHITE PROFILE: ANGLED
TEGULAR

24"X24"X5/8" SUSPENDED CEILING GRID: ARMSTRONG PREDLUDE XL EXPOSED TEE
SYSTEM, COLOR WHITE

INTERIOR PAINT LATEX PT-5 SHERWIN WILLIAMS - INTERIOR LATEX SW7005 PURE WHITE FLAT FINISH/EPOXY
AT CLEAN AREAS

PAINT AT GYP. CEILING - U.N.O.

MISC

BASE

CERAMIC WALL BASE CWB-2 DALTILE WALL SEMI-GLOSS COVE BASE 4-1/4" X 6"

ROOM FLOORS WALLS CEILING MILLWORK

NOTESRO
OM

 N
UM

BE
R

ROOM NAME FLOOR FINISH BASE NORTH EAST SOUTH WEST FINISH MLWK CTR TOPS
130 DIRECTOR
131 MD/HEALTH AUTHORITY
132 NURSE/NP 1
133 NURSE 2
134 NURSE 3
135 NURSING ROOM
136 PLAYROOM
137 1-2 CSRs SUPPLIES COPIER
138 OFFICE 7
139 OFFICE 8
140 OFFICE 9
141 FLEX/MEETING
142 RF PLAN REVIEW 2
143 RF FIELD CUBICLES
144 RF PLAN REVIEW 3
145 STG.
146 WAITING AREA
147 MEETING ROOM
148 BREAK ROOM
149 LAB
150 JANITOR
151 TOILET ROOM
152 IT
153 MECHANICAL
154 2 CSRs
155 CHECKOUT
156 EXAM 4
157 EXAM 3
158 EXAM 2
159 PROC. ROOM
160 EXAM 1
161 ISOLATION
162 ANTEROOM
163 TB OFFICE 2
164 OFFICE 2
165 OFFICE 3
166 OFFICE 4
167 WOMEN'S TLT RM

169 MEN'S TLT RM
170 WOMEN'S TLT RM
171 WOMEN'S TLT RM
172 MEN'S TLT RM
173 VESTIBULE
174 LOBBY
201 EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR
202 STORAGE
203 BREAK ROOM
204 DIRECTOR ADMIN/FINANCE
205 ADMIN/FINANCE
206 ADMIN/FINANCE
207 ADMIN/FINANCE
208 EPR
209 STORAGE
210 EPR
211 COPIER

249 TVFC

213 DCP
214 DCP
215 DCP
216 DCP
217 DCP
218 DCP
219 DCP
220 HR
221 HR
222 HR
223 HR
224 DEPUTY DIRECTOR
225 RECEPTION / ADMIN
226 WIC
227 MARCOM
228 MARCOM
229 CONFERENCE ROOM
230 PHIP
231 PHIP
232 PHIP
233 PHIP
234 PHIP
235 MARCOM
236 RECORD STORAGE
237 OFFICE
238 MOSQ.
239 STORAGE
240 CLERICAL
241 CONFERENCE ROOM
242 DCP
243 DCP
244 DCP
245 DCP
246 DCP

C101 CORRIDOR
C102 CORRIDOR
C103 CORRIDOR
C104 CORRIDOR
C201 CORRIDOR
C202 CORRIDOR
C203 CORRIDOR
ST1 STAIRS
ST2 STAIRS

SCALE:
 FINISH SCHEDULE

NTS
1

SCALE:
 FINISH LEGEND

NTS
2

ROOM FLOORS WALLS CEILING MILLWORK

NOTESRO
OM

 N
UM

BE
R

ROOM NAME FLOOR FINISH BASE NORTH EAST SOUTH WEST FINISH MLWK CTR TOPS
101 OFFICE 6 (NAVIGATOR) VCT-1 / VCT-2 RB-1 PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 ACT-1
102 OFFICE 5 VCT-1 / VCT-2 RB-1
103 OFFICE 4 RB-1
104 OFFICE 10 (DIRECTOR) RB-1
105 OFFICE 3 RB-1
106 OFFICE 2 RB-1
107 OFFICE 1 RB-1
108 RF PLAN REVIEW 1 RB-1
109 RETAIL FOOD LEAD RB-1
110 MEETING 2 RB-1
111 MEETING 1 RB-1
112 WAITING AREA
113 2 CSRs
114 FILE RM COPIER 2 CSRs
115 DIRECTOR
116 ELEC. ROOM
117 OSSF LEAD
118 FIELD 1 & 2
119 PLAN REVIEW 2 & 3
120 PLAN REVIEW 1
121 IMM AND EHS EQUP.
122 OFFICE
123 TB ENTRANCE
124 TB INTAKE
125 TB OFFICE
126 TB STORAGE
127 TB OFFICE 1
128 OFFICE 1
129 ASST. DIRECTOR

ROOM FINISH LEGEND ROOM FINISH SCHEDULE

ROOM FINISH SCHEDULE

MATERIAL CODE MANUFACTURE / PATTERN PRODUCT NO. COLORS FINISH DIMENSIONS REMARKS

MATERIAL CODE MANUFACTURE / PATTERN PRODUCT NO. COLORS FINISH DIMENSIONS REMARKS

MATERIAL CODE MANUFACTURE / PATTERN PRODUCT NO. COLORS FINISH DIMENSIONS REMARKS

MATERIAL CODE MANUFACTURE / PATTERN PRODUCT NO. COLORS FINISH DIMENSIONS REMARKS

MATERIAL CODE MANUFACTURE / PATTERN PRODUCT NO. COLORS FINISH DIMENSIONS REMARKS

RB-1
RB-1
RB-1
RB-1
RB-1
RB-1
RB-1
RB-1
RB-1
RB-1
RB-1
RB-1
RB-1
RB-1
RB-1
RB-1
RB-1
RB-1

RB-1
RB-1
RB-1
RB-1
RB-1
RB-1
RB-1
RB-1
RB-1
RB-1
RB-1
RB-1
RB-1
RB-1
RB-1
RB-1
RB-1
RB-1
RB-1
RB-1
RB-1

RB-1
RB-1
RB-1
RB-1
RB-1
RB-1
RB-1
RB-1
RB-1
RB-1
RB-1
RB-1
RB-1
RB-1
RB-1

RB-1
RB-1
RB-1
RB-1
RB-1
RB-1
RB-1
RB-1
RB-1
RB-1
RB-1
RB-1
RB-1

RB-1

RB-1
RB-1
RB-1
RB-1
RB-1
RB-1
RB-1
RB-1
RB-1
RB-1
RB-1
RB-1
RB-1
RB-1
RB-1
RB-1
RB-1
RB-1
RB-1
RB-1
RB-1
RB-1
RB-1
RB-1
RB-1
RB-1
RB-1
RB-1
RB-1
RB-1
RB-1
RB-1
RB-1
RB-1

RB-1
RB-1
RB-1
RB-1
RB-1
RB-1
RB-1

VCT-1 / VCT-2
VCT-1 / VCT-2
VCT-1 / VCT-2
VCT-1 / VCT-2
VCT-1 / VCT-2

VCT-1 / VCT-2
VCT-1 / VCT-2
VCT-1 / VCT-2

VCT-1
VCT-1 / VCT-2
VCT-1 / VCT-2
VCT-1
VCT-1 / VCT-2
VCT-1 / VCT-2
VCT-1 / VCT-2
VCT-1 / VCT-2
VCT-1 / VCT-2
VCT-1 / VCT-2
VCT-1 / VCT-2
VCT-1 / VCT-2
VCT-1 / VCT-2
VCT-1 / VCT-2
VCT-1 / VCT-2

VCT-1 / VCT-2

VCT-1 / VCT-2
VCT-1 / VCT-2
VCT-1 / VCT-2
VCT-1 / VCT-2
VCT-1 / VCT-2
VCT-1 / VCT-2
VCT-1 / VCT-2
VCT-1

VCT-1
VCT-1 / VCT-2
VCT-1
VCT-1 / VCT-2
VCT-1
VCT-1 / VCT-2
CPT-1 / CPT-2
VCT-1
VCT-1
VCT-1

VCT-1
VCT-1
VCT-1
VCT-1
VCT-1 / VCT-2
VCT-1 / VCT-2
VCT-1 / VCT-2
VCT-1 / VCT-2
VCT-1 / VCT-2
VCT-1 / VCT-2
VCT-1 / VCT-2
VCT-1 / VCT-2
VCT-1 / VCT-2
VCT-1 / VCT-2
VCT-1 / VCT-2

VCT-1

CPT-2
VCT-1
VCT-1

VCT-1

VCT-1 / VCT-2

VCT-1 / VCT-2

VCT-1 / VCT-2

CPT-1/ CPT-2

VCT-1

VCT-1
VCT-1 / VCT-2
CPT-1 / CPT-2

VCT-1 / VCT-2
VCT-1 / VCT-2
VCT-1 / VCT-2
VCT-1 / VCT-2
VCT-1 / VCT-2
VCT-1 / VCT-2
VCT-1 / VCT-2
VCT-2

EXISTING

212 TVFC RB-1

CPT-2
CPT-2
CPT-2
CPT-2
CPT-2

CPT-2

CPT-2

CPT-2
CPT-2
CPT-2
CPT-2
CPT-2

CPT-2
CPT-2
CPT-2
CPT-2
CPT-2
CPT-2
CPT-2

CPT-2
CPT-2
CPT-2

CPT-2
CPT-2
CPT-2
CPT-2
CPT-2
CPT-2

CPT-2

CPT-2
CPT-2
CPT-2
CPT-2
CPT-2

PT-1 PT-3 PT-1 PT-1 ACT-1 PL-2 PL-1

PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 PT-2 ACT-1 PL-2 PL-1
PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 PT-2 ACT-1 PL-2 PL-1

PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 PT-4 ACT-1

PT-4 PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 ACT-1

PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 PT-2 ACT-1

PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 PT-2 ACT-1 PL-2 PL-1
PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 PT-2 ACT-1 PL-2 PL-1
PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 PT-2 ACT-1 PL-2 PL-1
PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 PT-2 ACT-1 PL-2 PL-1
PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 PT-2 ACT-1 PL-2 PL-1
PT-2 PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 ACT-1 PL-2 PL-1

PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 PT-2 ACT-1 PL-1

PT-1 PT-1 PT-3 PT-1 ACT-1

PT-1 PT-1 PT-3 PT-1 ACT-1

PT-1 PT-3 PT-1 PT-1 ACT-1

PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 PT-2 ACT-1

PT-1 PT-3 PT-1 PT-1 ACT-1

PT-1 PT-1 PT-4 PT-1 ACT-1

PT-1 / PT-3 PT-1 / PT-3 PT-1 ACT-1PT-1

PT-1 PT-1 PT-2 PT-1 ACT-1

PT-1 PT-1 PT-2 PT-1 ACT-1

PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 ACT-1
PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 ACT-1
PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 ACT-1
PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 ACT-1
PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 ACT-1
PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 ACT-1
PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 ACT-1
PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 ACT-1
PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 ACT-1

PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 ACT-1
PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 ACT-1
PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 ACT-1
PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 ACT-1
PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 ACT-1
PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 ACT-1
PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 ACT-1
PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 ACT-1
PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 ACT-1
PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 ACT-1

PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 ACT-1

PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 ACT-1
PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 ACT-1
PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 ACT-1
PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 ACT-1
PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 ACT-1
PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 ACT-1

PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 ACT-1
PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 ACT-1
PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 ACT-1
PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 ACT-1
PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 ACT-1
PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 ACT-1
PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 ACT-1

PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 ACT-1
PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 ACT-1
PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 ACT-1
PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 ACT-1
PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 ACT-1
PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 ACT-1
PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 ACT-1

PT-4 PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 ACT-1
PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 ACT-1
PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 ACT-1
PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 ACT-1
PT-1 CT-2 / -3 CT-2 / -3 PT-1 ACT-1
PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 ACT-1
PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 ACT-1

PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 ACT-1
PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 ACT-1
PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 ACT-1
PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 ACT-1
PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 ACT-1

PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 ACT-1
PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 ACT-1
PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 ACT-1
PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 ACT-1
PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 ACT-1
PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 ACT-1
PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 ACT-1

PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 ACT-1

PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 ACT-1
PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 ACT-1
PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 ACT-1
PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 ACT-1
PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 ACT-1

PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 ACT-1
PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 ACT-1
PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 ACT-1
PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 ACT-1
PT-1 PT-1 PT-3 PT-1 ACT-1
PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 ACT-1
PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 ACT-1

PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 ACT-1
PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 ACT-1
PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 ACT-1
PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 ACT-1
PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 ACT-1
PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 ACT-1
PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 ACT-1
PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 ACT-1
PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 ACT-1
PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 ACT-1
PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 ACT-1
PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 ACT-1
PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 ACT-1
PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 ACT-1

PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 ACT-1

PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 ACT-1
PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 ACT-1
PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 ACT-1
PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 ACT-1
PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 ACT-1

PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 ACT-1
PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 ACT-1
PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 ACT-1
PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 ACT-1
PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 ACT-1
PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 ACT-1

PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 ACT-1

PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 ACT-1
PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 ACT-1
PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 PT-1 ACT-1

CWB-1 / -2CT-1

PH-1 TOILETS PARTITION TO BE PH-1

247 MEN'S TLT RM
248 WOMEN'S TLT RM

PL-4
PL-4

TOILETS PARTITION TO BE PL-4
TOILETS PARTITION TO BE PL-4

PHENOLIC PARTITIONS PH-1 SCRANTON PRODUCTS HINY HIDERS TOILET PARTITIONS

STAIR TREADS
PL-4

20 CHARCOAL

ROTARY BRUSHED

RUBBER TILE RT-1 JOHNSONITE SOLID COLOR RUBBER
FLOORING

WALL PROTECTION WP-1

SANITARY TOP COVE S-3419T

TRANSITION STRIP TR-2 VCT TO CARPET-

JOHNSONITE VISUALLY IMPAIRED RUBBER
STAIR TREAD WITH INTEGRATED

20 CHARCOAL WG

NICKEL

JOHNSONITE SLIM LINE TRANSITION SLT-121-H

02977

REVISIONS

SHEET INFORMATION

TITLE

SHEET

Date
Job Number
Scale
Drawn
Checked
Approved

16-1010

No. Issue Date

In Association w/

JPG
MDH
MDH

VARIES

In Association w/

No. Issue Date
1 Addendum #1 02/19/2014

THESE DOCUMENTS ARE FOR DESIGN REVIEW
ONLY AND NOT INTENDED FOR

CONSTRUCTION, BIDDING, OR PERMIT
PURPOSES.  THEY ARE PREPARED BY, OR

UNDER THE DIRECTION OF:

PRELIMINARY-FOR REVIEW ONLY

Michael D. Haddon  18020   2 March 2015

April 7, 2017

A6.03

Wall Sections
and Details

WCCHD Office
Renovations

355 Texas Avenue
Round Rock, Texas

8200 IH-10 West, Ste. 103 
San Antonio, Texas 78230
Phone : 210-698-7887

technology & security

901 S. Mopac
Bldg. 3, Ste. 400
Austin, Texas 78746
Phone : 512-433-2696

SAN ANTONIO     AUSTIN

1 100% Construction Documents 12/5/2016

1/16/2017

SS

F
TAT

O
E

AXET

TSI
GER

DERE

ET
IHCRA

T
C

2 100% Construction Documents Issued for Bid 4/7/2017

TRANSITION STRIP TR-1  SCHLUTER SYSTEMS RENO-U EU80 VCT TO CERAMIC TILE- 5/16"BRUSHED STAINLESS STEEL

-

24X24 STAIRWELL LANDING

RUBBER WALL BASE RB-1 JOHNSONITE / TRADITIONAL WALL BASE 4" HIGH COIL LENGTH WITH TOEDC-121-4 20 CHARCOAL WG
CERAMIC WALL BASE CWB-1 DALTILE WALL SEMI-GLOSS COVE BASE 4-1/4" X 4-1/4"FLAT TOP COVE A-301 MATTE ARCTIC WHITE MATTE

CERAMIC WALL TILE CT-2 DALTILE WALL SEMI-GLOSS 4-1/4" X 4-1/4"MATTE ARCTIC WHITE FIELD COLOR

REPLACING EXISTING WALL PROTECTION  48" AFFCS ACROVYN WALL PROTECTION 262 DRIFTWOOD SUEDE

PLASTIC LAMINATE PL-2 WILSONART 4941K-18 COSMIC STRANDZ 4'X8' SHEET VERTICAL SURFACES

MATTE ARCTIC WHITE MATTE

MATTE

TRANSITION STRIP TR-3 VCT TO CONCRETE20 CHARCOAL WG -JOHNSONITE SLIM LINE TRANSITION SLT-121-J

STAIR TREAD WITH SOLID COLOR RUBBER INSERT 55 SILVER GREY

VCT-1 / VCT-2

VCT-1 / VCT-2

PL-1

VCT-1 / VCT-2

VCT-1 / VCT-2
VCT-1 / VCT-2
VCT-1 / VCT-2

PL-3 PL-1
PL-2 PL-1

PH-1 TOILETS PARTITION TO BE PH-1
PH-1 TOILETS PARTITION TO BE PH-1
PH-1 TOILETS PARTITION TO BE PH-1
PH-1 TOILETS PARTITION TO BE PH-1

VCT-1 / VCT-2

PL-3 PL-1

CPT-2

CERAMIC TILE CT-1 DALTILE KEYSTONES 2X2 RESTROOM FLOOR TILEWATERFALL D169
20 CHARCOAL BAMBOO

PLASTIC LAMINATE PARTITIONS PEWTER MESH -WILSONART 4878-38 TOILET PARTITIONS
ST-1

TRANSITION STRIP TR-4 VCT TO STAIR TREADS20 CHARCOALJOHNSONITE STAIR NOSING DTN-80

VIBMTRS BAMBOO

WB-1WINDOW BLINDS BRUSHED ALUMINUM 121BALI HORIZONTAL MINI BLINDS LOCATED ON ALL EXTERIOR WINDOWS1"

RB-1
RB-1VCT-2

CERAMIC WALL TILE CT-3 ACCENT COLORDALTILE WALL SEMI-GLOSS 4-1/4" X 4-1/4"WATERFALL 0169 SEMI-GLOSS

EXISTING
EXISTING
EXISTING
EXISTING

EXISTING

EXISTING
EXISTING
EXISTING
EXISTING

EXISTING
EXISTING

EXISTING
EXISTING

PT-5
PT-5

PT-5

PT-5
PT-5
PT-5
PT-5

PT-1 PT-1 / WP-1 PT-1

PT-1 PT-1 EXISTING
PT-1 PT-1

PT-1 PT-1
PT-1 PT-1

PT-1 / WP-1
168 MEN'S TLT RM EXISTING PH-1 TOILETS PARTITION TO BE PH-1EXISTING PT-5PT-1 / WP-1 PT-1PT-1PT-1 / WP-1

PT-1 / WP-1
EXISTING PT-1 / WP-1

PT-1 / WP-1PT-1 / WP-1
PT-1 / WP-1 PT-1 / WP-1

PT-1 PT-1
PT-1 PT-1

PT-1 / WP-1
PT-1 / WP-1PT-1 / WP-1

PT-1 / WP-1

B
id

 1
7

0
4

-1
5

3
W

ill
ia

m
s
o

n
 C

o
u

n
ty

, 
T

e
x
a

s

4
/1

2
/2

0
1

7
 1

0
:2

3
 A

M
p

. 
1

8

AutoCAD SHX Text
ENGI NEERING CONSULTANTS  NEERING CONSULTANTS NEERING CONSULTANTS 7800 Shoal Creek Blvd. | Suite 100-W Austin, Texas 78757 512.637.4393 p  512.637.4396 f TBPE Firm Registration No. 2234



TB INTAKE
124

TB ENTRANCE
123

PLAN REVIEW 2 & 3
119

FIELD 1 & 2
118

OSSF LEAD
117

ELEC. ROOM
116

DIRECTOR
115

FILE RM COPIER 2 CSRs
114

2 CSRs
113

WAITING AREA
112

PLAN REVIEW 1
120

IMM AND EHS EQUP.
121OFFICE

122

TB OFFICE
125

TB STORAGE
126

TB OFFICE 1
127

OFFICE 1
128

ASST. DIRECTOR
129

DIRECTOR
130

MD/HEALTH AUTHORITY
131

ISOLATION
161

ROOM
162

OBSERVATION

TB OFFICE 2
163

OFFICE 2
164

OFFICE 3
165

OFFICE 4
166

NURSE/NP 1
132

NURSE 2
133

NURSE 3
134

ROOM
135

NURSING OFFICE 6 (NAVIGATOR)
101

OFFICE 5
102

OFFICE 4
103 (DIRECTOR)

104

OFFICE 10
PLAYROOM

136

EXAM 4
156

EXAM 2
158

PROC. ROOM
159

EXAM 1
160

TOILET RM
151

CHECKOUT
155

2 CSRs
154

RETAIL FOOD LEAD
109

MEETING 1
111

RF PLAN REVIEW 3
144

RF PLAN REVIEW 1
108

RF PLAN REVIEW 2
142

MEETING ROOM
147

OFFICE 2
106

1-2 CSRs SUPPLIES COPIER
137

OFFICE 8
139

WAITING AREA
146

STG.
145

RF FIELD CUBICLES
143

OFFICE 1
107

OFFICE 3
105

MEETING 2
110

OFFICE 7
138

FLEX/MEETING
141

OFFICE 9
140

IT
152

MECHANICAL
153

JANITOR
150

BREAKROOM
148

EXAM 3
157

LAB
149

WOMEN'S TLT RM
167

MEN'S TLT RM
168

WOMEN'S TLT RM
170

MEN'S TLT RM
169

WOMEN'S TLT RM
171

MEN'S TLT RM
172

STAIRS
ST1

STAIRS
ST2

FIRE RISER
FR

VESTIBULE
173

LOBBY
174

CORRIDOR
C103

CORRIDOR
C104

CORRIDOR
C101

CORRIDOR
C102

PT-2

PT-2

PT-2

PT-2

PT-2

PT-2

PT-2

PT-4

PT-4

PT-2

PT-3
PT-4

PT-4

PT-3

PT-3

PT-2

TR-1

TR-1

TR-1

TR-2 TR-2

TR-2

TR-1

TR-1

TR-1

TR-1

PT-4

PH-1PH-1PH-1

PH-1 PH-1 PH-1

PH-1
PH-1PH-1

PH-1PH-1

PH-1PH-1

PH-1 PH-1

VCT-2

VCT-2

VCT-2

VCT-2

VCT-2

VCT-2

VCT-2

VCT-2

VCT-2

VCT-2

VCT-2

VCT-2

VCT-2

VCT-2

VCT-2

VCT-2VCT-2

VCT-2VCT-2

VCT-2

VCT-2

VCT-2

VCT-2
VCT-2

VCT-2VCT-2

VCT-2
VCT-2VCT-2VCT-2 VCT-2VCT-2

VCT-2 VCT-2 VCT-2
VCT-2

VCT-2

VCT-2

VCT-2

VCT-2

VCT-2

CPT-2

CPT-2
CPT-1

VCT-2

VCT-2

VCT-2

VCT-2

VCT-2

VCT-2

VCT-2

VCT-2

VCT-2

VCT-2

VCT-2

VCT-2

VCT-2

VCT-2

VCT-1

VCT-1

VCT-1

VCT-1VCT-1VCT-1VCT-1VCT-1

VCT-1

VCT-1

VCT-1

VCT-1

VCT-1

PT-2

VCT-1

VCT-1

VCT-1

VCT-1

VCT-1

VCT-1

VCT-2

TR-4

ST-1

RT-1

ST-1

RT-1

VCT-1
TR-4

ST-1

ST-1

1/8"=1'-0"

1st Floor
Finish Plan

A7.02

SCALE:
1ST FLOOR FINISH PLAN

1/8"= 1'-0"
1

GENERAL NOTES:
1. INSTALL ALL FINISHES PER MANUFACTURER'S RECOMMENDATIONS AND

INSTRUCTIONS
2. FINISHES ON SCHEDULE TO BE LOCATED PER PLAN NORTH, NOT

DIRECTION NORTH
3. ALL WINDOWS TO THE EXTERIOR TO HAVE BLINDS (WB-1)

REVISIONS

SHEET INFORMATION

TITLE

SHEET

Date
Job Number
Scale
Drawn
Checked
Approved

16-1010

No. Issue Date

In Association w/

JPG
MDH
MDH

VARIES

In Association w/

No. Issue Date
1 Addendum #1 02/19/2014

THESE DOCUMENTS ARE FOR DESIGN REVIEW
ONLY AND NOT INTENDED FOR

CONSTRUCTION, BIDDING, OR PERMIT
PURPOSES.  THEY ARE PREPARED BY, OR

UNDER THE DIRECTION OF:

PRELIMINARY-FOR REVIEW ONLY

Michael D. Haddon  18020   2 March 2015

April 7, 2017

A6.03

Wall Sections
and Details

WCCHD Office
Renovations

355 Texas Avenue
Round Rock, Texas

8200 IH-10 West, Ste. 103 
San Antonio, Texas 78230
Phone : 210-698-7887

technology & security

901 S. Mopac
Bldg. 3, Ste. 400
Austin, Texas 78746
Phone : 512-433-2696

SAN ANTONIO     AUSTIN

1 100% Construction Documents 12/5/2016

1/16/2017

SS

F
TAT

O
E

AXET

TSI
GER

DERE

ET
IHCRA

T
C

2 100% Construction Documents Issued for Bid 4/7/2017

B
id

 1
7

0
4

-1
5

3
W

ill
ia

m
s
o

n
 C

o
u

n
ty

, 
T

e
x
a

s

4
/1

2
/2

0
1

7
 1

0
:2

3
 A

M
p

. 
1

9

AutoCAD SHX Text
UP

AutoCAD SHX Text
UP

AutoCAD SHX Text
ENGI NEERING CONSULTANTS  NEERING CONSULTANTS NEERING CONSULTANTS 7800 Shoal Creek Blvd. | Suite 100-W Austin, Texas 78757 512.637.4393 p  512.637.4396 f TBPE Firm Registration No. 2234



STORAGE
209

EPR
210

EPR
208

ADMIN/FINANCE
205 DIRECTOR ADMIN/FINANCE

204

TVFC
249

DCP
213

COPIER
211

CLERICAL
240

CONFERENCE ROOM
241

STORAGE
239

MOSQ.
238

DCP
214

DCP
215

DCP
216

DCP
217

DCP
218

DCP
242

DCP
243

DCP
244

DCP
245

DCP
246

DCP
219

HR
220

HR
221

HR
222

HR
223

DEPUTY DIRECTOR
224

EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR
201

STORAGE
202

MARCOM
235

PHIP
233

CONFERENCE ROOM
229

WIC
226

BREAK ROOM
203

RECORD STORAGE
236

OFFICE
237

ADMIN/FINANCE
206

ADMIN/FINANCE
207

RECEPTION / ADMIN
225

PHIP
231

PHIP
234

PHIP
230

MARCOM
228

MARCOM
227

PHIP
232

STAIRS
ST1

STAIRS
ST2

MEN'S TLT RM
247

WOMEN'S TLT RM
248

CORRIDOR
C203

CORRIDOR
C202

CORRIDOR
C201

TVFC
212

PT-2

PT-2

PT-2

PT-3

PT-3

PT-2

PT-3

PT-3

TR-1

TR-1

TR-2

TR-2

TR-2

TR-2

TR-2

TR-2

TR-2

TR-2

TR-2

TR-2

TR-2TR-2TR-2TR-2TR-2TR-2TR-2

TR-2

TR-2

TR-2

TR-2

TR-2

TR-2

TR-2 TR-2 TR-2 TR-2 TR-2 TR-2 TR-2 TR-2

TR-2

TR-2

TR-2

TR-2

TR-2

TR-2

TR-2

CPT-2

CPT-1

CPT-2

CPT-1

VCT-2VCT-2VCT-2

VCT-2

VCT-2

VCT-2

VCT-2

VCT-2

VCT-2

VCT-2
VCT-2 VCT-2 VCT-2 VCT-2

VCT-2

VCT-2VCT-2

VCT-2

VCT-2

VCT-2

VCT-2

VCT-2

VCT-2

VCT-2

VCT-1 VCT-1 VCT-1

VCT-1

VCT-1

VCT-1

VCT-1

VCT-1

VCT-1
VCT-1

VCT-1

VCT-1

VCT-1

VCT-1

PT-4

PT-4

VCT-2

TR-4

ST-1

RT-1

ST-1

RT-1

VCT-1

TR-4

ST-1

ST-1

1/8"=1'-0"

2nd Floor
Finish Plan

A7.03

SCALE:
2ND FLOOR FINISH PLAN

1/8" = 1'-0"
1

REVISIONS

SHEET INFORMATION

TITLE

SHEET

Date
Job Number
Scale
Drawn
Checked
Approved

16-1010

No. Issue Date

In Association w/

JPG
MDH
MDH

VARIES

In Association w/

No. Issue Date
1 Addendum #1 02/19/2014

THESE DOCUMENTS ARE FOR DESIGN REVIEW
ONLY AND NOT INTENDED FOR

CONSTRUCTION, BIDDING, OR PERMIT
PURPOSES.  THEY ARE PREPARED BY, OR

UNDER THE DIRECTION OF:

PRELIMINARY-FOR REVIEW ONLY

Michael D. Haddon  18020   2 March 2015

April 7, 2017

A6.03

Wall Sections
and Details

WCCHD Office
Renovations

355 Texas Avenue
Round Rock, Texas

8200 IH-10 West, Ste. 103 
San Antonio, Texas 78230
Phone : 210-698-7887

technology & security

901 S. Mopac
Bldg. 3, Ste. 400
Austin, Texas 78746
Phone : 512-433-2696

SAN ANTONIO     AUSTIN

1 100% Construction Documents 12/5/2016

1/16/2017

SS

F
TAT

O
E

AXET

TSI
GER

DERE

ET
IHCRA

T
C

2 100% Construction Documents Issued for Bid 4/7/2017

GENERAL NOTES:
1. INSTALL ALL FINISHES PER MANUFACTURER'S RECOMMENDATIONS AND

INSTRUCTIONS
2. FINISHES ON SCHEDULE TO BE LOCATED PER PLAN NORTH, NOT

DIRECTION NORTH
3. ALL WINDOWS TO THE EXTERIOR TO HAVE BLINDS (WB-1)

B
id

 1
7

0
4

-1
5

3
W

ill
ia

m
s
o

n
 C

o
u

n
ty

, 
T

e
x
a

s

4
/1

2
/2

0
1

7
 1

0
:2

3
 A

M
p

. 
2

0

AutoCAD SHX Text
DOWN

AutoCAD SHX Text
DOWN

AutoCAD SHX Text
ENGI NEERING CONSULTANTS  NEERING CONSULTANTS NEERING CONSULTANTS 7800 Shoal Creek Blvd. | Suite 100-W Austin, Texas 78757 512.637.4393 p  512.637.4396 f TBPE Firm Registration No. 2234



8"

2'-
10

"

3'-
0"

1'-
5"

4'-
0"

4'-
0"

6'-6 1/8"

9'-
0"

4"

6'-6 1/8"

12'-7 1/8"

9'-
0"

3'-
0"

2/A
11

.01

3/A
11

.01

1/A
11

.01

EQ. EQ.

3'-
0"

1'-
10

"
2'-

10
"

EQ. EQ.

2'-
10

"

1'-
5"

3'-0" 3'-0" 3'-0" 3'-0" 4'-0" 3'-0" 3'-0" 2'-0"

24'-7"

2'-
10

"
1'-

10
"

3'-
0"

2/A
11

.01

1/A
11

.01

ACCESS PANEL ACCESS PANEL

BOBRICK B-505
PASS-THROUGH

2'-6"

2'-10 7/8" 2'-6" 2'-6" 2'-10 7/8"

2'-
10

"

3'-0" 3'-0" 3'-0" 3'-0" 4'-0" 3'-0" 3'-0" 2'-0"

2'-7" 3'-0"

2'-
10

"
1'-

10
"

3'-
0"

ACCESS PANEL

3'-6" 3'-0" 3'-6"

2'-
10

"
1'-

10
"

3'-
0"

10'-0"

BA

CD
E

H
G

F

F

G

H

BA

D E

C

2/A
11

.01

2/A
11

.01

1/A
11

.01

1/A
11

.01

1/A
11

.01

3/A
11

.01

3/A
11

.01

3/A
11

.01

4'-
0"

1'-
7 1

/2"

7'-
0"

4'-2"

1 1
/2"

1'-
7 1

/2"

1'-0"

L

L

4/A
11

.01

3'-6" 1'-0"

LOCK ON
DOORS

4"

3/A
11

.01

4'-0" 4'-0" 2'-0"

6/A
11

.01

7'-
0"

PLAM BRACKETSPL-1
PLAM BRACKET

2'-
6 1

/2"

PLAM BRACKETS

6/A
11

.01

4'-
0"

7 1
/2"

1'-
4"

2'-
6 1

/2"

PLAM BRACKET

11
/A1

1.0
1 3'-

10
"

5 1
/2"

9"
1'-

4"

DOOR
PER SCHED.

2'-
10

 1/
2"

14
/A1

1.0
13'-

10
"

1 1
/2"

2'-
6 1

/2"

11
/A1

1.0
1

4'-
0"

2'-0"

2'-0" 10'-2" 2'-0"

DOOR
PER SCHED.

11'-10"

K

K

1'-
3"

1 1
/2"

11'-10"

REVEAL
PL-3 PLAM
FRONT
GWB

5/A
11

.01

REVEAL
PL-3
PLAM FRONT
GWB

4'-2"

1'-11" 1'-11" 6" 2'-0" 1'-10" 2'-0" 6"2'-0" 2'-0"

POWER &
DATA

POWER & DATA

2'-
6 1

/2"
5 1

/2"
4'-

0"

6" 2'-0" 1'-10" 2'-0" 6"2'-0" 2'-0"

4'-2"

5 1
/2"

11'-0"

POWER &
DATA

9" 9"

4" 5/A
11

.01

POWER &
DATA

4"

4"

1'-
3"

4"

3'-0" 3'-10" 3'-0"

6'-8" 6'-8"

4'-6"

1 1
/2"

4'-2"

POWER &
DATA

12
/A1

1.0
1

4"

ALUMINUM
ROLL-UP

PASS-THROUGH

3'-9"

4'-
2"

1 1
/2"

2'-
10

 1/
2"

2'-0" 7'-7" 2'-0"

13
/A1

1.0
1

13
/A1

1.0
1

13
/A1

1.0
1

1'-
0" PL-1 PLAM

COUNTER
PL-1 PLAM
COUNTER ACCESS PANEL

1'-
0"

3'-
4"

POWER &
DATA

1'-
0"

ACCESS PANEL

2'-7"

3'-0" 3'-0" 2'-0"

6" 2'-0" 1'-0" 2'-0" 6"2'-0" 2'-0"

PLAM BRACKET

5 1
/2"

4'-
0"

2'-
10

 1/
2"

11
/A1

1.0
1

4'-
0"

1 1
/2"

11'-0"

6" 2'-0" 1'-0" 2'-0" 6"2'-0" 2'-0"

1 1
/2"

3 1/2"

2'-
10

 1/
2"

14
/A1

1.0
13'-

10
"

1 1
/2"

4'-2"

1'-11" 1'-11"

4"

4"

4"

CWB-1

CT-3
4 FULL TILE
FROM CEILING

PL-2
PL-2

PL-1

PL-2

PL-2
PL-2

PL-2
PL-2

PL-2

CWB-1

CT-3
4 FULL TILE
FROM CEILING

CWB-1
PL-3
PL-3

PL-1

PL-3

PL-3
PL-3

PL-1

PL-3

PL-2
PL-2

PL-1

PL-2
PL-2

PL-1

PL-2

PT-2

PL-1

PL-1

RB-1

PT-2

RB-1

PL-1 PL-1

RB-1

PL-1

PT-3

PL-1

PL-3PL-3

PL-1

RB-1
PL-3PL-3 PL-3

PL-1 PL-1

PL-3
PL-3

PL-3
PL-3

PT-3

PT-2

PL-1

GROMMET GROMMET

GROMMET

GROMMET
GROMMET

GROMMET

RB-1RB-1

RB-1

2'-0"

RB-1

RB-1 RB-1

10
"

10
"

2"

2" 2"

2" 2" 2"

10
"

POWERPOWER POWER

POWER

10
"

POWER

10
"

POWER

10
"

POWER

10
"

POWER

10
"

POWER

10
"

3/8"=1'-0"

Interior Elevations

A10.01

REVISIONS

SHEET INFORMATION

TITLE

SHEET

Date
Job Number
Scale
Drawn
Checked
Approved

16-1010

No. Issue Date

In Association w/

JPG
MDH
MDH

VARIES

In Association w/

No. Issue Date
1 Addendum #1 02/19/2014

THESE DOCUMENTS ARE FOR DESIGN REVIEW
ONLY AND NOT INTENDED FOR

CONSTRUCTION, BIDDING, OR PERMIT
PURPOSES.  THEY ARE PREPARED BY, OR

UNDER THE DIRECTION OF:

PRELIMINARY-FOR REVIEW ONLY

Michael D. Haddon  18020   2 March 2015

April 7, 2017

A6.03

Wall Sections
and Details

WCCHD Office
Renovations

355 Texas Avenue
Round Rock, Texas

8200 IH-10 West, Ste. 103 
San Antonio, Texas 78230
Phone : 210-698-7887

technology & security

901 S. Mopac
Bldg. 3, Ste. 400
Austin, Texas 78746
Phone : 512-433-2696

SAN ANTONIO     AUSTIN

1 100% Construction Documents 12/5/2016

1/16/2017

SS

F
TAT

O
E

AXET

TSI
GER

DERE

ET
IHCRA

T
C

2 100% Construction Documents Issued for Bid 4/7/2017

TOILET ROOM ACCESSORIES:
42" GRAB BARA
36" GRAB BARB
TOILET PAPER DISPENSER, SAN JAMAR R3590TBKC
TOILET SEAT COVER DISPENSER, HEALTH GARDS HALF-FOLDD
SANITARY NAPKIN DISPOSAL, 1ECK9E
PAPER TOWEL DISPENSER, SAN JAMAR T1790TBKF
SOAP DISPENSER, SAN JAMAR S890TBKG
24" x 36" GLASS MIRRORH

SCALE:

TLT RM
151 A

3/8"= 1'-0"
1

SCALE:

TLT RM
151 C

3/8"= 1'-0"
3

SCALE:

TLT RM
151 B

3/8"= 1'-0"
2

SCALE:

RM 149
LAB A

3/8"= 1'-0"
5

SCALE:

RM 203
BREAKROOM

3/8"= 1'-0"
6

SCALE:

RM 149
LAB B

3/8"= 1'-0"
4

SCALE:

RM 148
BREAKROOM

3/8"= 1'-0"
7

SCALE:

STANDARD EXAM
MILLWORK TYP.

3/8"= 1'-0"
8SCALE:

RM 154
RECEPTION DESK

3/8"= 1'-0"
13

SCALE:

RM 174 LOBBY
COUNTER 1

3/8"= 1'-0"
10

SCALE:

RM 155
RECEPTION DESK

3/8"= 1'-0"
11

SCALE:

RM 174 LOBBY
COUNTER 2

3/8"= 1'-0"
9

FLUSH VALVEK
ADA PIPE WRAPL

SCALE:

RM 113
RECEPTION DESK

3/8"= 1'-0"
14

SCALE:

RM 137
RECEPTION DESK

3/8"= 1'-0"
12

SCALE:

RM 123/124/C103
COUNTER

3/8"= 1'-0"
18

SCALE:

RM 147/148
COUNTER

3/8"= 1'-0"
15

SCALE:

RM 112
COUNTER

3/8"= 1'-0"
17

SCALE:

RM 123/124
RECEPTION DESK

3/8"= 1'-0"
16

B
id

 1
7

0
4

-1
5

3
W

ill
ia

m
s
o

n
 C

o
u

n
ty

, 
T

e
x
a

s

4
/1

2
/2

0
1

7
 1

0
:2

3
 A

M
p

. 
2

1

AutoCAD SHX Text
ENGI NEERING CONSULTANTS  NEERING CONSULTANTS NEERING CONSULTANTS 7800 Shoal Creek Blvd. | Suite 100-W Austin, Texas 78757 512.637.4393 p  512.637.4396 f TBPE Firm Registration No. 2234



1'-
8"

1'-
4"

1'-0"

7"
1/2

"

7"

2"

3'-
0"

1 1
/2"

 R
EF

 E
LE

VA
TIO

N

2'-0"

4"

1 1
/2"

3'-
0"

3'-
0"

4"

4'-
2"

4"

ALUM
ROLL-UP

PASS
THROUGH

REF. MANUF. (EX 40)

PL-1

PL-1 PL-1

PL-3

3/4" SHEATHING

REVEAL

5/8" PTD
GWB

PL-1

5/8" GWB

2'-
6 1

/2"

1'-
8"

1'-
4"

1'-0"

7"
1/2

"

7"

4"

3'-
0"

1 1
/2"

(2) 3/4" PLYWOOD
PL-1

PL-3

3/4" SHEATHING

REVEAL

5/8" PTD
GWB

PLAM
BRACKET

2'-
6 1

/2"

2'-0"

1'-3"

PL-1

MTL
STUD

5/8" GWB

BATT
INSUL

MTL
STUD

4"

MTL STUD

MTL STUD

PL-1

(2) 3/4" PLYWOOD

8/A5.01

PL-1

MTL
STUD

(2) 3/4" PLYWOOD

MTL STUD

PL-1

MTL STUD

PL-1

2'-
6 1

/2"

(2) 3/4" PLYWOOD

7"

PLAM
BRACKET

7"

POWER & DATA
GROMMET

PL-3

PL-3

POWER & DATA

GROMMET

(2) 3/4"
PLYWOOD (2) 3/4" PLYWOOD

BLOCKING

(2) 3/4" PLYWOOD

PLAM
BRACKET

6"

BLOCKING

 (2) 3/4" PLYWOOD

GROMMET
POWER & DATA

(2) 3/4" PLYWOOD

PL-1 8/A5.01

BLOCKING

8/A5.01(2) 3/4"
PLYWOOD

(2) 3/4"
PLYWOOD

COIL BOX
BOX
HEADER

5/8" GWB

PROVIDE BLOCKING AS
REQ'D FOR ROLL-UP

PASS THROUGH

PTD GWB
JAMB BEYOND

FLOOR FINISH &
BASE AS SCHED.

FLOOR FINISH &
BASE AS SCHED.

FLOOR FINISH &
BASE AS SCHED.

FLOOR FINISH &
BASE AS SCHED.

EXISTING
COLUMN

5/8" GWB

EXISTING
GWB

MTL STUD

BATT
INSUL

MTL STUD

METAL
FRAME

DOOR
PER SCHED.

3 1/8"

1'-
7"

3 3
/8"

8"

ALIGN

EXISTING
COLUMN

5/8" GWB
BOTH SIDES

EXISTING
GWB

EXISTING
GWB

1'-1"

1'-
2"

1'-
1"

AL
IG

N

MTL STUD

 PULL

1x4 WOOD BLOCKING

BACK PANEL

SHELF SUPPORT
(4 PER SHELF)

1/4" PLAM CLAD 

SHELF
ADJUSTABLE

SHELF STANDARD

3/4" PLYWOOD

2X BLOCKING

DRAWER

DRAWER SLIDE

2'-0"

1 1
/2"

3 7
/8"

1/8
"

6"
1/8

"
4"

BASE CABINET FINISH
PLAM TO MATCH

6"

2'-
10

"

COUNTERTOP 
AS SCHEDULED

BACKSPLASH AS SCHEDULED

PULL

SHELF
STANDARDS

ADJUSTABLE
SHELF

SHELF SUPPORT
(4 PER SHELF)

BACK PANEL
1/4" PLAM CLAD 

5 3
/4"

1'-3 1/2"

2'-
10

"
2'-

10
"

1 1
/2"

1/8
"

COUNTERTOP AS SCHEDULED

2'-0"

2'-
10

"

6" MAX

9" 
MI

N

REMOVABLE
PLAM CLAD
PANEL

2'-
10

"

8" MIN.

2'-
3" 

MI
N.

PANEL BEYOND

PLAM CLAD
FIXED APRON

BACKSPLASH AS SCHEDULED

3'-
0"

SINK AS SCHEDULED

3"

4" CONDUIT
REF. TECH
DRAWINGS

MTL STUD

BATT
INSUL

EXISTING
GWB

5/8" GWB

EXISTING
COLUMN

1'-4"

2'-
7"

ALIGN

FIRE SEAL
AROUND
CONDUIT

EXISTING
WALL TO REMAIN

PULLSHELF
STANDARDS

ADJUSTABLE
SHELF

BACK PANEL
1/4" PLAM CLAD 

5 3
/4"

4'-
6"

SHELF SUPPORT
(4 PER SHELF)

2'-0"

BACK PANEL
1/4" PLAM CLAD 

4'-
2"

2X BLOCKING

BASE CABINET FINISH
PLAM TO MATCH

4"

3"

3/4"

2'-0"

4"

1x4 WOOD BLOCKING

3/4" PLYWOOD

BACK PANEL
1/4" PLAM CLAD 

DRAWER SLIDE

DRAWER SLIDE

DRAWER

DRAWER

BACKSPLASH AS SCHEDULED

2'-
6"

COUNTERTOP AS SCHEDULED

4"
2"

3 7
/8"

1 1
/2"

1'-
0"

1'-
6 1

/4"

PULL

PULL

4"4"

3'-
0"

PL-1PL-1

BLOCKING

BATT INSUL

5/8"  GWB

MTL STUD

8/A5.01
(2) 3/4"
PLYWOOD

(2) 3/4"
PLYWOOD

FLOOR FINISH &
BASE AS SCHED.

1 1/2"=1'-0"

Millwork Sections
& Plan Details

A11.01

REVISIONS

SHEET INFORMATION

TITLE

SHEET

Date
Job Number
Scale
Drawn
Checked
Approved

16-1010

No. Issue Date

In Association w/

JPG
MDH
MDH

VARIES

In Association w/

No. Issue Date
1 Addendum #1 02/19/2014

THESE DOCUMENTS ARE FOR DESIGN REVIEW
ONLY AND NOT INTENDED FOR

CONSTRUCTION, BIDDING, OR PERMIT
PURPOSES.  THEY ARE PREPARED BY, OR

UNDER THE DIRECTION OF:

PRELIMINARY-FOR REVIEW ONLY

Michael D. Haddon  18020   2 March 2015

April 7, 2017

A6.03

Wall Sections
and Details

WCCHD Office
Renovations

355 Texas Avenue
Round Rock, Texas

8200 IH-10 West, Ste. 103 
San Antonio, Texas 78230
Phone : 210-698-7887

technology & security

901 S. Mopac
Bldg. 3, Ste. 400
Austin, Texas 78746
Phone : 512-433-2696

SAN ANTONIO     AUSTIN

1 100% Construction Documents 12/5/2016

1/16/2017

SS

F
TAT

O
E

AXET

TSI
GER

DERE

ET
IHCRA

T
C

2 100% Construction Documents Issued for Bid 4/7/2017

SCALE:
BASE CABINET

1 1/2"= 1'-0"
1

SCALE:
UPPER CABINET

1 1/2"= 1'-0"
2

SCALE:
ADA SINK

1 1/2"= 1'-0"
3

SCALE:
LAB CABINET 

1 1/2"= 1'-0"
4

SCALE:

RM 154
COUNTER

1 1/2"= 1'-0"
5

SCALE:
WINDOW COUNTER

1 1/2"= 1'-0"
11

SCALE:

RM 137
COUNTER

1 1/2"= 1'-0"
6

SCALE:

RM 148
COUNTER

1 1/2"= 1'-0"
12

SCALE:
PLAN DETAIL

1 1/2"= 1'-0"
7

SCALE:
PLAN DETAIL

1 1/2"= 1'-0"
8

SCALE:
PLAN DETAIL

1 1/2"= 1'-0"
9

SCALE:

2 DRAWER
BASE CABINET

1 1/2"= 1'-0"
13

SCALE:

RM 123
COUNTER

1 1/2"= 1'-0"
14

B
id

 1
7

0
4

-1
5

3
W

ill
ia

m
s
o

n
 C

o
u

n
ty

, 
T

e
x
a

s

4
/1

2
/2

0
1

7
 1

0
:2

3
 A

M
p

. 
2

2

AutoCAD SHX Text
ENGI NEERING CONSULTANTS  NEERING CONSULTANTS NEERING CONSULTANTS 7800 Shoal Creek Blvd. | Suite 100-W Austin, Texas 78757 512.637.4393 p  512.637.4396 f TBPE Firm Registration No. 2234



NOTES

INDEX OF DRAWINGS

ABBREVIATIONS

T001 TECHNOLOGY SYMBOLS & LEGEND

T101 1ST FLOOR PLAN - TECHNOLOGY

T102 2ND FLOOR PLAN - TECHNOLOGY

T301 TECHNOLOGY DETAILS

T302 SECURITY DETAILS

T303 DIAGRAMS/SCHEDULES - SECURITY

A.F.F. ABOVE FINISHED FLOOR

A.F.G. ABOVE FINISHED GRADE

AER AERIAL

B BURIED

CAT.3/5 CATEGORY 3/5

CATV COMMUNITY ANTENNA TELEVISION

CCTV CLOSED CIRCUIT TELEVISION

CLT CLOSET

CO CENTRAL OFFICE

DEMARC DEMARCATION POINT

DPDT DOUBLE PULL DOUBLE THROW

EMT ELECTRIC METALLIC TUBE

F.O.C. FIBER OPTIC CABLE

GIP GALVANIZED IRON PIPE

HE PA/INTERCOM HEAD-END

IRC INTERMEDIATE RIGID CONDUIT

ISP INSIDE CABLE PLANT

IDF INTERMEDIATE DISTRIBUTION FRAME

MDF MAIN DISTRIBUTION FRAME

MH MANHOLE

MM MULTIMODE

OSP OUTSIDE CABLE PLANT

PB PULLBOX

PR PAIR

PBX PRIVATE BRANCH EXCHANGE

PVC POLYVINYL CHLORIDE

SM SINGLE MODE

SP SERVICE PROVIDER

STP SHIELDED TWISTED PAIR

TB TERMINAL BLOCK

UTP UNSHIELDED TWISTED PAIR

VOICE SYMBOLS

SINGLE VOICE OUTLET, CABLE TYPE AS SPECIFIED, MOUNTED +52-INCHES A.F.F. UNLESS

NOTED OTHERWISE.

SINGLE VOICE OUTLET, CABLE TYPE AS SPECIFIED, MOUNTED +6-INCHES ABOVE COUNTER

OR SPLASH UNLESS NOTED OTHERWISE.

SINGLE PUBLIC TELEPHONE OUTLET, CABLE TYPE AS SPECIFIED, MOUNTED HEIGHT AS

SPECIFIED.

VOICE OUTLET, CABLE TYPE AS SPECIFIED, MOUNTED +18-INCHES A.F.F. UNLESS NOTED

OTHERWISE. X-NUMBER OF CABLE TERMINATIONS PER LOCATION AS INDICATED.

SINGLE VOICE OUTLET, CABLE TYPE AS SPECIFIED, FLOOR MOUNTED.

W

P

X

R

TECHNOLOGY/SECURITY SYMBOL LEGEND

WIRELESS ACCESS POINT.  CABLING AND EQUIPMENT AS SPECIFIED.

X

VOICE OUTLET, CABLE TYPE AS SPECIFIED, MOUNTED +6-INCHES ABOVE COUNTER OR

SPLASH UNLESS NOTED OTHERWISE, X-NUMBER OF CABLE TERMINATIONS PER LOCATION AS

INDICATED.

X

VOICE OUTLET, CABLE TYPE AS SPECIFIED, FLOOR MOUNTED WITH X-NUMBER OF VOICE

TERMINATIONS PER LOCATION.

X

DATA SYMBOLS

SINGLE DATA OUTLET, CABLE TYPE AS SPECIFIED, MOUNTED +18-INCHES A.F.F. UNLESS

NOTED OTHERWISE.

SINGLE DATA OUTLET, CABLE TYPE AS SPECIFIED, MOUNTED +2-INCHES ABOVE COUNTER OR

SPLASH UNLESS NOTED OTHERWISE.

DATA OUTLET, CABLE TYPE AS SPECIFIED, MOUNTED +18-INCHES A.F.F. UNLESS NOTED

OTHERWISE. X-NUMBER OF CABLE TERMINATIONS PER LOCATION AS INDICATED.

SINGLE DATA OUTLET, CABLE TYPE AS SPECIFIED, FLOOR MOUNTED.

POWER/COMMUNICATIONS POLE WITH A SINGLE DATA TERMINATION PER LOCATION, CABLE

TYPE AS SPECIFIED.

POWER/COMMUNICATIONS POLE WITH X-NUMBER OF DATA TERMINATIONS PER LOCATION,

CABLE TYPE AS SPECIFIED.

DATA OUTLET, CABLE TYPE AS SPECIFIED, MOUNTED +2-INCHES ABOVE COUNTER OR SPLASH

UNLESS NOTED OTHERWISE, X-NUMBER OF CABLE TERMINATIONS PER LOCATION AS

INDICATED.

DATA OUTLET, CABLE TYPE AS SPECIFIED, FLOOR MOUNTED WITH X-NUMBER OF DATA

TERMINATIONS PER LOCATION.

SINGLE CEILING DATA OUTLET, CABLE TYPE AS SPECIFIED.

CEILING DATA OUTLET, CABLE TYPE AS SPECIFIED WITH X-NUMBER OF CABLE TERMINATIONS

PER LOCATION.

POWER/COMMUNICATIONS POLE WITH A SINGLE VOICE TERMINATION PER LOCATION, CABLE

TYPE AS SPECIFIED.

POWER/COMMUNICATIONS POLE WITH X-NUMBER OF VOICE TERMINATIONS PER LOCATION,

CABLE TYPE AS SPECIFIED.

ROUGH-IN & MISC. SYMBOLS

ROUGH-IN LOCATION, INFRASTRUCTURE AS SPECIFIED, MOUNTED +18-INCHES A.F.F. UNLESS

NOTED OTHERWISE.

ROUGH-IN LOCATION, INFRASTRUCTURE AS SPECIFIED, FLOOR MOUNTED.

R

ROUGH-IN LOCATION, INFRASTRUCTURE AS SPECIFIED, MOUNTED +6-INCHES ABOVE

COUNTER OR SPLASH UNLESS NOTED OTHERWISE.

R

SINGLE VOICE OUTLET, CABLE TYPE AS SPECIFIED, MOUNTED +18-INCHES A.F.F. UNLESS

NOTED OTHERWISE.

X

X

X

X

X

EMERGENCY PHONE.  CABLING AND EQUIPMENT AS SPECIFIED.

WAP

EP

SHEET

 #

SHEET

#

#SHEET

DETAIL CALLOUT, # = DETAIL NUMBER.

SECTION CALLOUT, # = DETAIL NUMBER.

ELEVATION CALLOUT, # = DETAIL NUMBER.

# KEYED NOTE.

# REVISION TRIANGLE, # = REVISION NUMBER (PER SHEET).

SCALE:

#

SHEET

SCALE

DRAWING TITLE

DRAWING TITLE CALLOUT, # = DETAIL NUMBER.

GENERAL SYMBOLS

INTERFACE TO AUTOMATIC DOOR CONTROL AND MONITORING.

PROVIDE CONCEALED DOOR POSITION SWITCH FLUSH MOUNTED IN HEAD OF DOOR FRAME 6" FROM STRIKE

SIDE OF FRAME.

PROVIDE SINGLE DOOR RELEASE PUSHBUTTON MOUNTED IN KNEE SPACE OF DESK, TABLE OR COUNTER

PROVIDE ARMORED CABLE FROM PUSHBUTTON TO JUNCTION BOX.

PROVIDE MULTIPLE DOOR RELEASE UNIT, AS INDICATED IN DETAILS, MOUNTED IN KNEE SPACE  OF DESK,

TABLE OR COUNTER. PROVIDE ARMORED CABLE FROM PUSHBUTTON TO JUNCTION  BOX.

INTERFACE TO EXIT DEVICE WITH ELECTRIC LATCH RETRACTION AND POWER TRANSFER.

INTERFACE TO ELEVATOR CONTROL/MONITORING.

INTERFACE TO FIRE ALARM SYSTEM.

PROVIDE PERSONAL IDENTIFICATION NUMBER KEYPAD MOUNTED 48" A.F.F.

INTERFACE TO 24VDC ELECTROMECHANICAL MORTISE  LOCKSET WITH INTEGRAL DOOR POSITION SWITCH.

INTERFACE TO 24VDC ELECTROMAGNETIC LOCK.

INTERFACE TO 24VDC ELECTROMAGNETIC LOCK WITH INTEGRAL DOOR POSITION SWITCH.

INTERFACE TO 24VDC MAGNETIC DOOR HOLD-OPEN.

PROVIDE CARD READER MOUNTED 42" A.F.F.

PROVIDE PRE-WIRE AND BLANK COVER PLATE FOR FUTURE DEVICE.

PROVIDE WIRELESS DURESS BUTTON RECEIVER ABOVE SUSPENDED CEILING.

PROVIDE WIRELESS DURESS BUTTON MOUNTED IN KNEE SPACE OF DESK, TABLE, OR COUNTER.

PROVIDE DESKTOP VIDEO INTERCOM MASTER STATION.

PROVIDE VIDEO INTERCOM SUBSTATION MOUNTED 54" A.F.F.

SECURITY SYSTEM RISER, DATA GATHERING PANEL AND LOW VOLTAGE POWER SUPPLY DISTRIBUTION

LOCATION.

INTERFACE TO SLIDING DOOR CONTROL/MONITORING.

INTERFACE TO 24VDC FAIL SECURE ELECTRIC STRIKE.

REQUEST-TO-EXIT IS INTEGRAL WITH ELECTRIFIED LOCKING HARDWARE.

ACCESS CONTROL MONITORING CLIENT WORKSTATION.

VIDEO MONITORING CLIENT WORKSTATION.

ACMW

VMMW

AD

DC

DR

EI

EL

FA

CR

MH

M2

M1

L2

KP

ES

SD

SR

VI

VM

WD

WR

DR1

REX FIXED SURVEILLANCE CAMERA, CAMERA MODEL AND MOUNTING HEIGHT AS SPECIFIED.

PAN, TILT & ZOOM SURVEILLANCE CAMERA, CAMERA MODEL AND MOUNTING HEIGHT AS SPECIFIED.

180° SURVEILLANCE CAMERA, CAMERA MODEL AND MOUNTING HEIGHT AS SPECIFIED.

360° SURVEILLANCE CAMERA, CAMERA MODEL AND MOUNTING HEIGHT AS SPECIFIED.

ACCESS CONTROL SYMBOLS ACCESS CONTROL SYMBOLS

PROVIDE ALARM ANNUNCIATOR LIGHT MOUNTED 96" A.F.F.

PROVIDE ANNUNCIATOR PANEL AS INDICATED IN BLOCK DIAGRAMS AND/OR DETAILS.

PROVIDE AUDIO VISUAL ANNUNCIATOR MOUNTED 96" A.F.F.

PROVIDE GLASS BREAK SENSOR MOUNTED TO CEILING.

PROVIDE GLASS BREAK SENSOR WALL MOUNTED 96" A.F.F.

PROVIDE SOUND DETECTION MICROPHONE MOUNTED TO CEILING.

PROVIDE 360° MOTION SENSOR MOUNTED TO CEILING.

PROVIDE MOTION SENSOR MOUNTED 96" A.F.F.

PROVIDE VIBRATION DETECTOR MOUNTED 96" A.F.F.

PROVIDE STROBE LIGHT MOUNTED 96" A.F.F.

PROVIDE STROBE LIGHT SURFACE MOUNTED TO CEILING.

M

MD

GB

ST

AL

AP

AV

MD

GB

ST

V

INTRUSION DETECTION SYMBOLS

ELECTRONIC SURVEILLANCE SYMBOLS

INTERFACE TO 24VDC ELECTROMECHANICAL MORTISE  LOCKSET AND POWER TRANSFER HINGE.

L1

PROVIDE LONG RANGE MOTION SENSOR MOUNTED 96" A.F.F.

MD

LR

1. CONTRACTOR SHALL REVIEW DRAWINGS AND SPECIFICATIONS THAT MAKE UP

THE CONTRACT DOCUMENTS AND COMPLETE ALL WORK INCLUDED THEREIN. 

2. SCALE OF TECHNOLOGY DRAWINGS IS PROVIDED FOR REFERENCE ONLY.

CONTRACTOR SHALL BE RESPONSIBLE FOR PROPER CABLE LENGTHS, SIZE OF

PATHWAYS, DIMENSIONS, ETC. 

3. TECHNOLOGY DRAWINGS SHALL BE USED TO COMPLEMENT THE WRITTEN

SPECIFICATIONS. 

4. DISCREPANCIES BETWEEN THE TECHNOLOGY DRAWINGS AND THE WRITTEN

SPECIFICATIONS SHALL BE BROUGHT TO THE ATTENTION OF THE

ARCHITECT/ENGINEER IN WRITING PRIOR TO SUBMITTING A BID/PROPOSAL

FOR THE WORK.

5. IN THE EVENT OF A DISCREPANCY BETWEEN THE TECHNOLOGY DRAWINGS

AND SPECIFICATIONS THE GREATER QUANTITY AND COST SHALL BE

FURNISHED.

6. VERIFY THE EXACT MOUNTING LOCATION OF ALL DEVICES WITH ARCHITECT.

7. THE MOUNTING HEIGHTS ARE TO THE CENTERLINE OF THE DEVICE UNLESS NOTED

OTHERWISE.

8. SEE THE SECURITY CONDUIT DRAWINGS FOR SECURITY DEVICE BACKBOXES AND

CONDUIT PROVIDED BY THE ELECTRICAL CONTRACTOR.

9. ALL MOUNTING SPECIFICS SHALL BE AS INDICATED IN THE LEGEND UNLESS

OTHERWISE NOTED IN THE PLAN DRAWINGS. MOUNTING CONDITIONS IDENTIFIED ON

THE PLANS SHALL TAKE PRECEDENCE OVER THE LEGEND DESCRIPTIONS.

EXISTING DATA OUTLET. CABLE TO BE DEMOLISHED, CONDUIT AND BACK BOX TO REMAIN

AND BE COVERED WITH CONTRACTOR PROVIDED BLANK PLATE, UNLESS OTHERWISE NOTED.

M/M

MULTIMEDIA OUTLET. CABLING AND INSERTS AS SPECIFIED.

PROVIDE ROUGH-IN FOR FUTURE CARD READER MOUNTED 42" A.F.F.

FR

REVISIONS

SHEET INFORMATION

TITLE

SHEET

Date
Job Number
Scale
Drawn
Checked
Approved

16-1010

No. Issue Date

H A D D O N     C O W A N
architects collaborative

Austin, Texas 78741
www.architectscollaborative.net

2301 E. Riverside Dr. #80
ph. 512-374-9120

In Association w/

EC
MT
MT

VARIES

In Association w/

WCCHD Office
Renovations

355 Texas Avenue
Round Rock, Texas

8200 IH-10 West, Ste. 103 
San Antonio, Texas 78230
Phone : 210-698-7887

technology & security

901 S. Mopac
Bldg. 3, Ste. 400
Austin, Texas 78746
Phone : 512-433-2696

SAN ANTONIO     AUSTIN

April 7, 2017

1 100% Construction Documents 12/5/2016
2 100% Construction Documents Issued for Bid 4/7/2017

T001

Technology
Symbols & Legend

B
id

 1
7

0
4

-1
5

3
W

ill
ia

m
s
o

n
 C

o
u

n
ty

, 
T

e
x
a

s

4
/1

2
/2

0
1

7
 1

0
:2

3
 A

M
p

. 
2

3

AutoCAD SHX Text
ENGI NEERING CONSULTANTS  NEERING CONSULTANTS NEERING CONSULTANTS 7800 Shoal Creek Blvd. | Suite 100-W Austin, Texas 78757 512.637.4393 p  512.637.4396 f TBPE Firm Registration No. 2234



13
5

H103

H102

163

H1
01

127
LAB
149

157

EXAM 3
157

12
3

113

145 14
4

14
2

13
7

143

111

BREAKROOM
148

JANITOR
150

MECHANICAL
153

IT
152

OFFICE 9
140

FLEX/MEETING
141

OFFICE 7
138

MEETING 2
110

OFFICE 3
105

OFFICE 1
107

RF FIELD CUBICLES
143

STG.
145

WAITING AREA
146

OFFICE 8
139

1-2 CSRs SUPPLIES COPIER
137

OFFICE 2
106

MEETING ROOM
147

RF PLAN REVIEW 2
142

RF PLAN REVIEW 1
108

RF PLAN REVIEW 3
144

MEETING 1
111

RETAIL FOOD LEAD
109

2 CSRs
154

CHECKOUT
155

TOILET ROOM
151

EXAM 1
160

PROC. ROOM
159

EXAM 2
158

EXAM 4
156

PLAYROOM
136

OFFICE 10 (DIRECTOR)
104

OFFICE 4
103OFFICE 5

102
OFFICE 6 (NAVIGATOR)

101
ROOM

135

NURSING
NURSE 3

134
NURSE 2

133
NURSE/NP 1

132

OFFICE 4
166

OFFICE 3
165

OFFICE 2
164

TB OFFICE 2
163

OBSERVATION ROOM
162

ISOLATION
161

MD/HEALTH AUTHORITY
131

DIRECTOR
130

ASST. DIRECTOR
129

OFFICE 1
128

TB OFFICE 1
127

TB STORAGE
126

TB OFFICE
125

OFFICE
122

IMM AND EHS EQUP.
121

PLAN REVIEW 1
120

WAITING AREA
112

2 CSRs
113

FILE RM COPIER 2 CSRs
114

DIRECTOR
115

ELEC. ROOM
116

OSSF LEAD
117

FIELD 1 & 2
118

PLAN REVIEW 2 & 3
119

TB ENTRANCE
123

TB INTAKE
124

MD

MD

MDMD

M

D

5

5

5

5 5 5

5

5
5

5
5 5

12

5

5

5

5

5

5

5

5

5

5

5 5 5
5

5

55

5

5

5

5

5

5

5

5

5

5

5

5

5

5

5

5

5

5

5

5

5

12

12

5

5

T101

2

7

FR

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

FR

FR

KP

FR

3 4

DC

DC

DC

6

6

6

6

6

6

8

5

M/M

M/M

9

9

M/M

M/M

9

11

10
84" AFF

60" AFF

18" AFF

60" AFF

18" AFF

CR

CR

12

12

12

12
12

12

12

12
12

12

12

12
12

12

12 12 12
12

1212

12

12
12

12

12

1212

12 12

12

12

12

DC

DC

DC DC

FR

R1-03

R1-01

R1-02

R1-04

R1-05

R1-06

R1-07

J

5
5

4

6 81

1

11

3

3

3

3

9

97

2

5

2
2

22 2

10

12

10

10

10

10

10

10

12

12

12

12

12

10

14

10
11

10
13

REVISIONS

SHEET INFORMATION

TITLE

SHEET

Date
Job Number
Scale
Drawn
Checked
Approved

16-1010

No. Issue Date

H A D D O N     C O W A N
architects collaborative

Austin, Texas 78741
www.architectscollaborative.net

2301 E. Riverside Dr. #80
ph. 512-374-9120

In Association w/

EC
MT
MT

VARIES

In Association w/

WCCHD Office
Renovations

355 Texas Avenue
Round Rock, Texas

8200 IH-10 West, Ste. 103 
San Antonio, Texas 78230
Phone : 210-698-7887

technology & security

901 S. Mopac
Bldg. 3, Ste. 400
Austin, Texas 78746
Phone : 512-433-2696

SAN ANTONIO     AUSTIN

April 7, 2017

1 100% Construction Documents 12/5/2016
2 100% Construction Documents Issued for Bid 4/7/2017

T101

1st Floor Plan -
Technology

SCALE:

1

T101

1/8" = 1'-0"

1ST FLOOR PLAN - TECHNOLOGY

FLOOR PLAN GENERAL NOTES

1. CONTRACTOR SHALL RESTORE ALL PENETRATIONS PROVIDED THROUGH FIRE RATED

WALLS/STRUCTURES FOR DATA AND VOICE CABLING BACK TO THE ORIGINAL RATING.

2. CONTRACTOR SHALL RESTORE ALL PENETRATIONS PROVIDED THROUGH NON-RATED

WALLS/STRUCTURES FOR DATA AND VOICE CABLING FOR SOUND TO REDUCE NOISE

TRAVELING THROUGH PENETRATIONS.

3. CABLING FOR DATA AND VOICE SHALL BE ROUTED IN SEPARATE PATHWAYS IN J-HOOKS,

CONDUITS, CONDUIT SLEEVES, CORES, ETC. THROUGHOUT THE ENTIRE PATHWAY.

DIFFERENT MEDIA TYPES (DATA, VOICE, VIDEO, SECURITY, ETC.) SHALL NOT SHARE THE

SAME J-HOOK, CONDUIT, CONDUIT SLEEVE, CORE, ETC.

4. ALL CONDUITS FOR DATA AND VOICE SHALL ROUTE FROM THE DEVICE LOCATION AND

TERMINATE ABOVE AN ACCESSIBLE CEILING IN THE SAME ROOM WHERE THE DEVICE IS

LOCATED.  IF THE ROOM WHERE THE DEVICE IS LOCATED DOES NOT HAVE AN

ACCESSIBLE CEILING, THE CONDUIT SHALL ROUTE TO THE NEAREST ACCESSIBLE

CEILING OFF OF A MAIN CORRIDOR.  CONDUIT PATHWAY SHALL TAKE THE SHORTEST

ROUTE TO THE APPLICABLE DATA ROOM TO MINIMIZE THE CABLE LENGTH.

5. CONDUIT SEGMENTS SHALL BE NO MORE THAN 100-FEET IN LENGTH WITH NO MORE

THAN THE EQUIVALENT OF (2) 90 DEGREE BENDS BETWEEN PULLING POINTS.

6. CONDUITS SHALL MAINTAIN A BEND RADIUS OF 6 TIMES THE DIAMETER OF THE CONDUIT

FOR CONDUITS 2-INCHES OR SMALLER AND 10 TIMES THE DIAMETER OF THE CONDUIT

FOR CONDUITS GREATER THAN 2-INCHES.

7. ALL CONDUITS SHALL HAVE A PULL STRING INSTALLED FOR PULLING OF CABLE.

8. ALL SPARE CONDUITS OR CONDUITS FILLED WITH LESS THAN THE MAXIMUM ALLOWED

FILL RATIO SHALL HAVE A PULL STRING INSTALLED AND LEFT FOR FUTURE PULLING OF

CABLE.  CLEARLY LABEL AS "PULL STRING" INDICATING OPPOSITE END LOCATION.

9. ALL CABLING INSTALLED IN OR BELOW SLAB, REGARDLESS OF THE USE OF CONDUIT,

SHALL BE RATED FOR USE IN A WET ENVIRONMENT.

10. ALL EXISTING DATA/VOICE CABLING SHALL BE REMOVED ENTIRELY, FROM END-TO-END.

NO ABANDONED DATA CABLING SHALL REMAIN ABOVE CEILING. ANY EXISTING

CONDUIT(S) AND/OR JUNCTION BOXES SERVING DATA DROPS SHALL REMAIN. EXISTING

JUNCTION BOXES SHALL BE COVERED WITH A BLANK FACEPLATE - COLOR TO MATCH

NEW DATA FACEPLATES SPECIFIED.

11. ALL NEW DATA CABLING SHALL ORIGINATE IN IT ROOM 152 ON LEVEL 1.

FLOOR PLAN KEYED NOTES

DATA CABLE WITH 20-FEET OF SLACK NEATLY COILED AND STORED ON J-HOOK ABOVE

ACCESSIBLE CEILING FOR OWNER PROVIDED / OWNER INSTALLED CEILING MOUNTED

WIRELESS ACCESS POINT.  CONTRACTOR SHALL PLACE A GREEN ADHESIVE DOT ON THE

CEILING GRID DIRECTLY BELOW THE OUTLET LOCATION FOR FUTURE IDENTIFICATION OF

THE OUTLET.

DATA CABLE WITH 20-FEET OF SLACK NEATLY COILED AND STORED ON J-HOOK ABOVE

ACCESSIBLE CEILING FOR OWNER PROVIDED / OWNER INSTALLED CEILING MOUNTED IP

CAMERA.  CONTRACTOR SHALL PLACE A GREEN ADHESIVE DOT ON THE CEILING GRID

DIRECTLY BELOW THE OUTLET LOCATION FOR FUTURE IDENTIFICATION OF THE OUTLET.

DATA CABLE FOR MECHANICAL CONTROLS. COORDINATE EXACT CONDUIT ROUGH-IN

LOCATION, HEIGHT AND TERMINATION REQUIREMENTS WITH THE MECHANICAL 

CONTRACTOR PRIOR TO INSTALLATION.

VOICE CABLE FOR ELEVATOR EMERGENCY TELEPHONE. COORDINATE EXACT CONDUIT

ROUGH-IN LOCATION, HEIGHT AND TERMINATION REQUIREMENTS WITH THE ELEVATOR

CONTRACTOR PRIOR TO INSTALLATION.

EXISTING ROUGH-IN LOCATION TO REMAIN. CONTRACTOR SHALL DEMOLISH EXISTING

DATA CABLES FEEDING THIS OUTLET IN THEIR ENTIRETY, FROM END-TO-END, AND

PROVIDE NEW CATEGORY-6 DATA CABLES IN THE QUANTITY INDICATED, TERMINATED ON

NEW INFORMATION OUTLETS WITH A NEW FACEPLATE.

EXISTING INTRUSION DETECTION DEVICE TO BE DEMOLISHED. DEVICE AND ALL

ASSOCIATED CABLING SHALL BE REMOVED FROM END TO END.

(2) TWO 4-INCH EMT CONDUIT SLEEVES THROUGH SLAB OF LEVEL 2 TO FEED DATA

DEVICES ON LEVEL 2.

DATA CABLE FOR IRRIGATION CONTROLLER. COORDINATE EXACT CONDUIT ROUGH-IN

LOCATION, HEIGHT AND TERMINATION REQUIREMENTS WITH THE OWNER / IRRIGATION

CONTROL CONTRACTOR PRIOR TO INSTALLATION.

MULTIMEDIA OUTLET LOCATION WITH HDMI PLATE LOCATED AT 18-INCHES ABOVE

FINISHED FLOOR, AND HDMI PLATE LOCATED AT 60-INCHES ABOVE FINISHED FLOOR

WITH PLENUM RATED HDMI CABLE BETWEEN THE TWO.

DATA OUTLET MOUNTED AT 84" AFF FOR OWNER PROVIDED / OWNER INSTALLED WALL

MOUNTED DISPLAY.

ANALOG LINE FOR OWNER PROVIDED / OWNER INSTALLED LAB EQUIPMENT. TERMINATE

CATEGORY 6 CABLE ON NEW 24-PORT RACK MOUNTED PATCH PANEL.

EXISTING ROUGH-IN LOCATION TO REMAIN. CONTRACTOR SHALL DEMOLISH EXISTING

DATA CABLES FEEDING THIS OUTLET IN THEIR ENTIRETY, FROM END-TO-END, AND

PROVIDE NEW BLANK FACEPLATE.

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

SCALE:

2

T101

1/8" = 1'-0"

ENLARGED IDF PLAN - TECHNOLOGY

SCALE:

3

T101

1/8" = 1'-0"

ELEVATION PLAN - TECHNOLOGY

ENLARGED/ELEVATION PLAN KEYED NOTES

4-FEET X 8-FEET X ¾-INCH BC GRADE VOID FREE FIRE RATED PLYWOOD

INSTALLED VERTICALLY STARTING AT 24-INCHES ABOVE FINISHED

FLOOR.  THE PLYWOOD SHALL BE INSTALLED WITH THE “B” GRADE SIDE

EXPOSED AND THE “C” GRADE SIDE AGAINST THE BUILDING WALL OR

STRUCTURE.  FIRE RATED PLYWOOD SHALL BE PAINTED WITH TWO COATS OF

FIRE RETARDANT PAINT.  FIRE RATED STAMPS SHALL BE VISIBLE FOR

INSPECTION AFTER INSTALLATION. (BY DIV. 27)

19-INCH WIDE X 84-INCH TALL X 29-INCH DEEP 4-POST EQUIPMENT RACK . (BY

DIV. 27)

12-INCH LADDER RACK MOUNTED AT 84-INCH ABOVE FINISHED FLOOR. (BY DIV.

27)

GROUND BUS BAR MOUNTED AT 84-INCHES ABOVE FINISHED FLOOR. (BY DIV.

27)

DEDICATED 20 AMP CIRCUIT WITH QUAD RECEPTACLE NEMA 5-20R FLUSH

MOUNTED TO THE LADDER RACK.  (BY DIV. 26)

DEDICATED 20 AMP CIRCUIT IN JUNCTION BOX FLUSH MOUNTED TO THE

FINISHED WALL SURFACE AT 48-INCHES ABOVE FINISHED FLOOR FOR ACCESS

CONTROL PANEL.  (BY DIV. 26)

(2) FOUR INCH EMT CONDUIT SLEEVES ROUTED THROUGH LEVEL 2 SLAB TO

ABOVE ACCESSIBLE CEILING OF LEVEL 2. SLEEVES SHALL BE USED FOR DATA

CABLING TO LEVEL 2 DEVICES ONLY. PROVIDE FIRE STOP AS REQUIRED. (BY

DIV. 26)

ACCESS CONTROL PANEL. (BY DIV. 28)

(2) FOUR INCH EMT WALL SLEEVES/CONDUITS WITH BUSHING ON EACH END

AND FIRESTOP AS REQUIRED. SLEEVES ARE FOR HORIZONTAL

DATA/VOICE/SECURITY CABLE ONLY. (BY DIV. 26)

DOUBLE-SIDED 2U HORIZONTAL CABLE MANAGER.  (BY DIV. 27)

RACK MOUNTED 24-PORT CATEGORY 3 PATCH PANEL FOR HIGH PAIR COUNT

COPPER BACKBONE CABLING FROM INCOMING SERVICE RJ-21X ON WALL.

CONTRACTOR SHALL PROVIDE AMPHENOL CABLE FROM RJ-21X TERMINATED ON

THIS PATCH PANEL. (BY DIV. 27)

RACK MOUNTED 48-PORT CATEGORY 6 PATCH PANEL FOR DATA.  (BY DIV. 27)

RACK MOUNTED 24-PORT PATCH PANEL FOR ANALOG TIE CABLING. ALL ANALOG

DROPS SHALL TERMINATE ON THIS PATCH PANEL. (BY DIV 27)

RACK MOUNTED 2U FIBER OPTIC ENCLOSURE FOR INCOMING FIBER SERVICE.

(BY DIV 27)

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

9

10

11

12

13

8

9

10

11

12

14

B
id

 1
7

0
4

-1
5

3
W

ill
ia

m
s
o

n
 C

o
u

n
ty

, 
T

e
x
a

s

4
/1

2
/2

0
1

7
 1

0
:2

3
 A

M
p

. 
2

4

AutoCAD SHX Text
UP

AutoCAD SHX Text
UP

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
3

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
T302

AutoCAD SHX Text
5

AutoCAD SHX Text
T302

AutoCAD SHX Text
5

AutoCAD SHX Text
T302

AutoCAD SHX Text
5

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
T302

AutoCAD SHX Text
5

AutoCAD SHX Text
T302

AutoCAD SHX Text
6

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
T101

AutoCAD SHX Text
3

AutoCAD SHX Text
9

AutoCAD SHX Text
33

AutoCAD SHX Text
31

AutoCAD SHX Text
32

AutoCAD SHX Text
7

AutoCAD SHX Text
8

AutoCAD SHX Text
19

AutoCAD SHX Text
43

AutoCAD SHX Text
38

AutoCAD SHX Text
36

AutoCAD SHX Text
34

AutoCAD SHX Text
35

AutoCAD SHX Text
37

AutoCAD SHX Text
41

AutoCAD SHX Text
39

AutoCAD SHX Text
40

AutoCAD SHX Text
42

AutoCAD SHX Text
14

AutoCAD SHX Text
12

AutoCAD SHX Text
10

AutoCAD SHX Text
11

AutoCAD SHX Text
13

AutoCAD SHX Text
17

AutoCAD SHX Text
15

AutoCAD SHX Text
16

AutoCAD SHX Text
18

AutoCAD SHX Text
46

AutoCAD SHX Text
44

AutoCAD SHX Text
45

AutoCAD SHX Text
47

AutoCAD SHX Text
48

AutoCAD SHX Text
22

AutoCAD SHX Text
20

AutoCAD SHX Text
21

AutoCAD SHX Text
23

AutoCAD SHX Text
24

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
4

AutoCAD SHX Text
3

AutoCAD SHX Text
5

AutoCAD SHX Text
6

AutoCAD SHX Text
29

AutoCAD SHX Text
27

AutoCAD SHX Text
25

AutoCAD SHX Text
26

AutoCAD SHX Text
28

AutoCAD SHX Text
30

AutoCAD SHX Text
9

AutoCAD SHX Text
33

AutoCAD SHX Text
31

AutoCAD SHX Text
32

AutoCAD SHX Text
7

AutoCAD SHX Text
8

AutoCAD SHX Text
19

AutoCAD SHX Text
43

AutoCAD SHX Text
38

AutoCAD SHX Text
36

AutoCAD SHX Text
34

AutoCAD SHX Text
35

AutoCAD SHX Text
37

AutoCAD SHX Text
41

AutoCAD SHX Text
39

AutoCAD SHX Text
40

AutoCAD SHX Text
42

AutoCAD SHX Text
14

AutoCAD SHX Text
12

AutoCAD SHX Text
10

AutoCAD SHX Text
11

AutoCAD SHX Text
13

AutoCAD SHX Text
17

AutoCAD SHX Text
15

AutoCAD SHX Text
16

AutoCAD SHX Text
18

AutoCAD SHX Text
46

AutoCAD SHX Text
44

AutoCAD SHX Text
45

AutoCAD SHX Text
47

AutoCAD SHX Text
48

AutoCAD SHX Text
22

AutoCAD SHX Text
20

AutoCAD SHX Text
21

AutoCAD SHX Text
23

AutoCAD SHX Text
24

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
4

AutoCAD SHX Text
3

AutoCAD SHX Text
5

AutoCAD SHX Text
6

AutoCAD SHX Text
29

AutoCAD SHX Text
27

AutoCAD SHX Text
25

AutoCAD SHX Text
26

AutoCAD SHX Text
28

AutoCAD SHX Text
30

AutoCAD SHX Text
9

AutoCAD SHX Text
33

AutoCAD SHX Text
31

AutoCAD SHX Text
32

AutoCAD SHX Text
7

AutoCAD SHX Text
8

AutoCAD SHX Text
19

AutoCAD SHX Text
43

AutoCAD SHX Text
38

AutoCAD SHX Text
36

AutoCAD SHX Text
34

AutoCAD SHX Text
35

AutoCAD SHX Text
37

AutoCAD SHX Text
41

AutoCAD SHX Text
39

AutoCAD SHX Text
40

AutoCAD SHX Text
42

AutoCAD SHX Text
14

AutoCAD SHX Text
12

AutoCAD SHX Text
10

AutoCAD SHX Text
11

AutoCAD SHX Text
13

AutoCAD SHX Text
17

AutoCAD SHX Text
15

AutoCAD SHX Text
16

AutoCAD SHX Text
18

AutoCAD SHX Text
46

AutoCAD SHX Text
44

AutoCAD SHX Text
45

AutoCAD SHX Text
47

AutoCAD SHX Text
48

AutoCAD SHX Text
22

AutoCAD SHX Text
20

AutoCAD SHX Text
21

AutoCAD SHX Text
23

AutoCAD SHX Text
24

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
4

AutoCAD SHX Text
3

AutoCAD SHX Text
5

AutoCAD SHX Text
6

AutoCAD SHX Text
29

AutoCAD SHX Text
27

AutoCAD SHX Text
25

AutoCAD SHX Text
26

AutoCAD SHX Text
28

AutoCAD SHX Text
30

AutoCAD SHX Text
9

AutoCAD SHX Text
33

AutoCAD SHX Text
31

AutoCAD SHX Text
32

AutoCAD SHX Text
7

AutoCAD SHX Text
8

AutoCAD SHX Text
19

AutoCAD SHX Text
43

AutoCAD SHX Text
38

AutoCAD SHX Text
36

AutoCAD SHX Text
34

AutoCAD SHX Text
35

AutoCAD SHX Text
37

AutoCAD SHX Text
41

AutoCAD SHX Text
39

AutoCAD SHX Text
40

AutoCAD SHX Text
42

AutoCAD SHX Text
14

AutoCAD SHX Text
12

AutoCAD SHX Text
10

AutoCAD SHX Text
11

AutoCAD SHX Text
13

AutoCAD SHX Text
17

AutoCAD SHX Text
15

AutoCAD SHX Text
16

AutoCAD SHX Text
18

AutoCAD SHX Text
46

AutoCAD SHX Text
44

AutoCAD SHX Text
45

AutoCAD SHX Text
47

AutoCAD SHX Text
48

AutoCAD SHX Text
22

AutoCAD SHX Text
20

AutoCAD SHX Text
21

AutoCAD SHX Text
23

AutoCAD SHX Text
24

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
4

AutoCAD SHX Text
3

AutoCAD SHX Text
5

AutoCAD SHX Text
6

AutoCAD SHX Text
29

AutoCAD SHX Text
27

AutoCAD SHX Text
25

AutoCAD SHX Text
26

AutoCAD SHX Text
28

AutoCAD SHX Text
30

AutoCAD SHX Text
9

AutoCAD SHX Text
33

AutoCAD SHX Text
31

AutoCAD SHX Text
32

AutoCAD SHX Text
7

AutoCAD SHX Text
8

AutoCAD SHX Text
19

AutoCAD SHX Text
43

AutoCAD SHX Text
38

AutoCAD SHX Text
36

AutoCAD SHX Text
34

AutoCAD SHX Text
35

AutoCAD SHX Text
37

AutoCAD SHX Text
41

AutoCAD SHX Text
39

AutoCAD SHX Text
40

AutoCAD SHX Text
42

AutoCAD SHX Text
14

AutoCAD SHX Text
12

AutoCAD SHX Text
10

AutoCAD SHX Text
11

AutoCAD SHX Text
13

AutoCAD SHX Text
17

AutoCAD SHX Text
15

AutoCAD SHX Text
16

AutoCAD SHX Text
18

AutoCAD SHX Text
46

AutoCAD SHX Text
44

AutoCAD SHX Text
45

AutoCAD SHX Text
47

AutoCAD SHX Text
48

AutoCAD SHX Text
22

AutoCAD SHX Text
20

AutoCAD SHX Text
21

AutoCAD SHX Text
23

AutoCAD SHX Text
24

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
4

AutoCAD SHX Text
3

AutoCAD SHX Text
5

AutoCAD SHX Text
6

AutoCAD SHX Text
29

AutoCAD SHX Text
27

AutoCAD SHX Text
25

AutoCAD SHX Text
26

AutoCAD SHX Text
28

AutoCAD SHX Text
30

AutoCAD SHX Text
9

AutoCAD SHX Text
33

AutoCAD SHX Text
31

AutoCAD SHX Text
32

AutoCAD SHX Text
7

AutoCAD SHX Text
8

AutoCAD SHX Text
19

AutoCAD SHX Text
43

AutoCAD SHX Text
38

AutoCAD SHX Text
36

AutoCAD SHX Text
34

AutoCAD SHX Text
35

AutoCAD SHX Text
37

AutoCAD SHX Text
41

AutoCAD SHX Text
39

AutoCAD SHX Text
40

AutoCAD SHX Text
42

AutoCAD SHX Text
14

AutoCAD SHX Text
12

AutoCAD SHX Text
10

AutoCAD SHX Text
11

AutoCAD SHX Text
13

AutoCAD SHX Text
17

AutoCAD SHX Text
15

AutoCAD SHX Text
16

AutoCAD SHX Text
18

AutoCAD SHX Text
46

AutoCAD SHX Text
44

AutoCAD SHX Text
45

AutoCAD SHX Text
47

AutoCAD SHX Text
48

AutoCAD SHX Text
22

AutoCAD SHX Text
20

AutoCAD SHX Text
21

AutoCAD SHX Text
23

AutoCAD SHX Text
24

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
4

AutoCAD SHX Text
3

AutoCAD SHX Text
5

AutoCAD SHX Text
6

AutoCAD SHX Text
29

AutoCAD SHX Text
27

AutoCAD SHX Text
25

AutoCAD SHX Text
26

AutoCAD SHX Text
28

AutoCAD SHX Text
30

AutoCAD SHX Text
SPACE RESERVED FOR OWNER PROVIDED/INSTALLED DATA NETWORK EQUIPMENT

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
3

AutoCAD SHX Text
4

AutoCAD SHX Text
6

AutoCAD SHX Text
5

AutoCAD SHX Text
7

AutoCAD SHX Text
8

AutoCAD SHX Text
10

AutoCAD SHX Text
9

AutoCAD SHX Text
11

AutoCAD SHX Text
12

AutoCAD SHX Text
15

AutoCAD SHX Text
13

AutoCAD SHX Text
14

AutoCAD SHX Text
16

AutoCAD SHX Text
17

AutoCAD SHX Text
19

AutoCAD SHX Text
18

AutoCAD SHX Text
20

AutoCAD SHX Text
21

AutoCAD SHX Text
24

AutoCAD SHX Text
22

AutoCAD SHX Text
23

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
3

AutoCAD SHX Text
4

AutoCAD SHX Text
6

AutoCAD SHX Text
5

AutoCAD SHX Text
7

AutoCAD SHX Text
8

AutoCAD SHX Text
10

AutoCAD SHX Text
9

AutoCAD SHX Text
11

AutoCAD SHX Text
12

AutoCAD SHX Text
15

AutoCAD SHX Text
13

AutoCAD SHX Text
14

AutoCAD SHX Text
16

AutoCAD SHX Text
17

AutoCAD SHX Text
19

AutoCAD SHX Text
18

AutoCAD SHX Text
20

AutoCAD SHX Text
21

AutoCAD SHX Text
24

AutoCAD SHX Text
22

AutoCAD SHX Text
23

AutoCAD SHX Text
ENGI NEERING CONSULTANTS  NEERING CONSULTANTS NEERING CONSULTANTS 7800 Shoal Creek Blvd. | Suite 100-W Austin, Texas 78757 512.637.4393 p  512.637.4396 f TBPE Firm Registration No. 2234



H202 H201
227

228

23
3

23
4

24
0

H2
03

23
5 23
1

22
5

PHIP
232

MARCOM
227

MARCOM
228

PHIP
230

PHIP
234

PHIP
231

RECEPTION / ADMIN
225

ADMIN/FINANCE
207

ADMIN/FINANCE
206

OFFICE
237

RECORD STORAGE
236

BREAK ROOM
203

WIC
226

CONFERENCE ROOM
229

PHIP
233

MARCOM
235

STORAGE
202

EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR
201

DEPUTY DIRECTOR
224

HR
223

HR
222

HR
221

HR
220

DCP
219

DCP
246

DCP
245

DCP
244

DCP
243

DCP
242

DCP
218

DCP
217

DCP
216

DCP
215

DCP
214

MOSQ.
238

STORAGE
239

CONFERENCE ROOM
241

CLERICAL
240

COPIER
211

DCP
213

TVFC
212

DIRECTOR ADMIN/FINANCE
204

ADMIN/FINANCE
205

EPR
208

STORAGE
209

EPR
210

5

5

5

5

5

5

5

5

5

5

5

5

5

5

5

55

5

5

5

5

5

5

5

5

5

5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5

5

5

5

5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5

5

5

5
5

5

5

5

7

CR

1

1

1

1

1

1

M/M

M/M

9

18" AFF

60" AFF

M/MM/M

9
18" AFF

60" AFF

CR

13 12

12

R2-01

R2-02

5

REVISIONS

SHEET INFORMATION

TITLE

SHEET

Date
Job Number
Scale
Drawn
Checked
Approved

16-1010

No. Issue Date

H A D D O N     C O W A N
architects collaborative

Austin, Texas 78741
www.architectscollaborative.net

2301 E. Riverside Dr. #80
ph. 512-374-9120

In Association w/

EC
MT
MT

VARIES

In Association w/

WCCHD Office
Renovations

355 Texas Avenue
Round Rock, Texas

8200 IH-10 West, Ste. 103 
San Antonio, Texas 78230
Phone : 210-698-7887

technology & security

901 S. Mopac
Bldg. 3, Ste. 400
Austin, Texas 78746
Phone : 512-433-2696

SAN ANTONIO     AUSTIN

April 7, 2017

1 100% Construction Documents 12/5/2016
2 100% Construction Documents Issued for Bid 4/7/2017

T102

2nd Floor Plan -
Technology

SCALE:

1

T102

1/8" = 1'-0"

2ND FLOOR PLAN - TECHNOLOGY

FLOOR PLAN GENERAL NOTES

1. CONTRACTOR SHALL RESTORE ALL PENETRATIONS PROVIDED THROUGH FIRE RATED

WALLS/STRUCTURES FOR DATA AND VOICE CABLING BACK TO THE ORIGINAL RATING.

2. CONTRACTOR SHALL RESTORE ALL PENETRATIONS PROVIDED THROUGH NON-RATED

WALLS/STRUCTURES FOR DATA AND VOICE CABLING FOR SOUND TO REDUCE NOISE

TRAVELING THROUGH PENETRATIONS.

3. CABLING FOR DATA AND VOICE SHALL BE ROUTED IN SEPARATE PATHWAYS IN J-HOOKS,

CONDUITS, CONDUIT SLEEVES, CORES, ETC. THROUGHOUT THE ENTIRE PATHWAY.

DIFFERENT MEDIA TYPES (DATA, VOICE, VIDEO, SECURITY, ETC.) SHALL NOT SHARE THE

SAME J-HOOK, CONDUIT, CONDUIT SLEEVE, CORE, ETC.

4. ALL CONDUITS FOR DATA AND VOICE SHALL ROUTE FROM THE DEVICE LOCATION AND

TERMINATE ABOVE AN ACCESSIBLE CEILING IN THE SAME ROOM WHERE THE DEVICE IS

LOCATED.  IF THE ROOM WHERE THE DEVICE IS LOCATED DOES NOT HAVE AN

ACCESSIBLE CEILING, THE CONDUIT SHALL ROUTE TO THE NEAREST ACCESSIBLE

CEILING OFF OF A MAIN CORRIDOR.  CONDUIT PATHWAY SHALL TAKE THE SHORTEST

ROUTE TO THE APPLICABLE DATA ROOM TO MINIMIZE THE CABLE LENGTH.

5. CONDUIT SEGMENTS SHALL BE NO MORE THAN 100-FEET IN LENGTH WITH NO MORE

THAN THE EQUIVALENT OF (2) 90 DEGREE BENDS BETWEEN PULLING POINTS.

6. CONDUITS SHALL MAINTAIN A BEND RADIUS OF 6 TIMES THE DIAMETER OF THE CONDUIT

FOR CONDUITS 2-INCHES OR SMALLER AND 10 TIMES THE DIAMETER OF THE CONDUIT

FOR CONDUITS GREATER THAN 2-INCHES.

7. ALL CONDUITS SHALL HAVE A PULL STRING INSTALLED FOR PULLING OF CABLE.

8. ALL SPARE CONDUITS OR CONDUITS FILLED WITH LESS THAN THE MAXIMUM ALLOWED

FILL RATIO SHALL HAVE A PULL STRING INSTALLED AND LEFT FOR FUTURE PULLING OF

CABLE.  CLEARLY LABEL AS "PULL STRING" INDICATING OPPOSITE END LOCATION.

9. ALL CABLING INSTALLED IN OR BELOW SLAB, REGARDLESS OF THE USE OF CONDUIT,

SHALL BE RATED FOR USE IN A WET ENVIRONMENT.

10. ALL EXISTING DATA/VOICE CABLING SHALL BE REMOVED ENTIRELY, FROM END-TO-END.

NO ABANDONED DATA CABLING SHALL REMAIN ABOVE CEILING. ANY EXISTING

CONDUIT(S) AND/OR JUNCTION BOXES SERVING DATA DROPS SHALL REMAIN. EXISTING

JUNCTION BOXES SHALL BE COVERED WITH A BLANK FACEPLATE - COLOR TO MATCH

NEW DATA FACEPLATES SPECIFIED.

11. ALL NEW DATA CABLING SHALL ORIGINATE IN IT ROOM 152 ON LEVEL 1.

FLOOR PLAN KEYED NOTES

DATA CABLE WITH 20-FEET OF SLACK NEATLY COILED AND STORED ON J-HOOK ABOVE

ACCESSIBLE CEILING FOR OWNER PROVIDED / OWNER INSTALLED CEILING MOUNTED

WIRELESS ACCESS POINT.  CONTRACTOR SHALL PLACE A GREEN ADHESIVE DOT ON THE

CEILING GRID DIRECTLY BELOW THE OUTLET LOCATION FOR FUTURE IDENTIFICATION OF

THE OUTLET.

DATA CABLE WITH 20-FEET OF SLACK NEATLY COILED AND STORED ON J-HOOK ABOVE

ACCESSIBLE CEILING FOR OWNER PROVIDED / OWNER INSTALLED CEILING MOUNTED IP

CAMERA.  CONTRACTOR SHALL PLACE A GREEN ADHESIVE DOT ON THE CEILING GRID

DIRECTLY BELOW THE OUTLET LOCATION FOR FUTURE IDENTIFICATION OF THE OUTLET.

DATA CABLE FOR MECHANICAL CONTROLS. COORDINATE EXACT CONDUIT ROUGH-IN

LOCATION, HEIGHT AND TERMINATION REQUIREMENTS WITH THE MECHANICAL 

CONTRACTOR PRIOR TO INSTALLATION.

VOICE CABLE FOR ELEVATOR EMERGENCY TELEPHONE. COORDINATE EXACT CONDUIT

ROUGH-IN LOCATION, HEIGHT AND TERMINATION REQUIREMENTS WITH THE ELEVATOR

CONTRACTOR PRIOR TO INSTALLATION.

EXISTING ROUGH-IN LOCATION TO REMAIN. CONTRACTOR SHALL DEMOLISH EXISTING

DATA CABLES FEEDING THIS OUTLET IN THEIR ENTIRETY, FROM END-TO-END, AND

PROVIDE NEW CATEGORY-6 DATA CABLES IN THE QUANTITY INDICATED, TERMINATED ON

NEW INFORMATION OUTLETS WITH A NEW FACEPLATE.

EXISTING INTRUSION DETECTION DEVICE TO BE DEMOLISHED. DEVICE AND ALL

ASSOCIATED CABLING SHALL BE REMOVED FROM END TO END.

(2) TWO 4-INCH EMT CONDUIT SLEEVES THROUGH SLAB OF LEVEL 2 TO FEED DATA

DEVICES ON LEVEL 2.

DATA CABLE FOR IRRIGATION CONTROLLER. COORDINATE EXACT CONDUIT ROUGH-IN

LOCATION, HEIGHT AND TERMINATION REQUIREMENTS WITH THE OWNER / IRRIGATION

CONTROL CONTRACTOR PRIOR TO INSTALLATION.

MULTIMEDIA OUTLET LOCATION WITH HDMI PLATE LOCATED AT 18-INCHES ABOVE

FINISHED FLOOR, AND HDMI PLATE LOCATED AT 60-INCHES ABOVE FINISHED FLOOR

WITH PLENUM RATED HDMI CABLE BETWEEN THE TWO.

DATA OUTLET MOUNTED AT 84" AFF FOR OWNER PROVIDED / OWNER INSTALLED WALL

MOUNTED DISPLAY.

ANALOG LINE FOR OWNER PROVIDED / OWNER INSTALLED LAB EQUIPMENT. TERMINATE

CATEGORY 6 CABLE ON NEW 24-PORT RACK MOUNTED PATCH PANEL IN IDF.

EXISTING ROUGH-IN LOCATION TO REMAIN. CONTRACTOR SHALL DEMOLISH EXISTING

DATA CABLES FEEDING THIS OUTLET IN THEIR ENTIRETY, FROM END-TO-END, AND

PROVIDE NEW BLANK FACEPLATE.

EXISTING ROUGH-IN LOCATION TO BE DEMOLISHED COMPLETELY, FROM END-TO-END,

INCLUDING BACK BOX AND CONDUIT.

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

B
id

 1
7

0
4

-1
5

3
W

ill
ia

m
s
o

n
 C

o
u

n
ty

, 
T

e
x
a

s

4
/1

2
/2

0
1

7
 1

0
:2

3
 A

M
p

. 
2

5

AutoCAD SHX Text
DOWN

AutoCAD SHX Text
DOWN

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
ENGI NEERING CONSULTANTS  NEERING CONSULTANTS NEERING CONSULTANTS 7800 Shoal Creek Blvd. | Suite 100-W Austin, Texas 78757 512.637.4393 p  512.637.4396 f TBPE Firm Registration No. 2234



SCALE:

2

T301

N.T.S.

TYPCIAL THREE DATA OUTLET CONFIGURATION 

KEYED NOTES:

4 11/16” x 4 11/16” x 2 1/8” RECESSED DOUBLE GANG BOX (BY DIV 26)

1-INCH EMT CONDUIT FROM DOUBLE GANG BOX WITH 200 LBS PULL STRING AND

NYLON BUSHING STUBBED OUT ABOVE ACCESSIBLE CEILING  IN THE SAME ROOM

WHERE THE DEVICE IS LOCATED.  IF THE ROOM WHERE THE DEVICE IS LOCATED

DOES NOT HAVE AN ACCESSIBLE CEILING, THE CONDUIT SHALL ROUTE TO THE

NEAREST ACCESSIBLE CEILING OFF OF A MAIN CORRIDOR.  CONDUIT PATHWAY

SHALL TAKE THE SHORTEST ROUTE TO THE APPLICABLE MDF/IDF ROOM TO

MINIMIZE THE CABLE LENGTH. (BY DIV 26)

SINGLE GANG REDUCER RING (BY DIV 26)

SINGLE GANG WALL PLATE WITH DESIGNATION IN WINDOW

(BY DIV 27)

DATA INSERTS (BY DIV 27)

ELECTRICAL RECEPTACLE, GANG BOX AND CONDUIT SHOWN FOR REFERENCE

ONLY (REFER TO DIV 26)

BLANK INSERT (BY DIV 27)

1

2

3

4

5

6

SCALE:

4

T301

N.T.S.

CAMERA/ACCESS POINT WITHOUT ACCESSIBLE CEILING

TYPICAL CONDUIT ROUGH-IN FOR SURVEILLANCE

4

5

KEYED NOTES:

4 11/16" X 4 11/16" X 2 1/8" RECESSED DOUBLE GANG BOX (BY DIV 26).

1-INCH EMT CONDUIT FROM DOUBLE GANG BOX WITH 200 LBS PULL STRING AND NYLON

BUSHING STUBBED OUT ABOVE ACCESSIBLE CEILING  IN THE SAME ROOM WHERE THE DEVICE

IS LOCATED.  IF THE ROOM WHERE THE DEVICE IS LOCATED DOES NOT HAVE AN ACCESSIBLE

CEILING, THE CONDUIT SHALL ROUTE TO THE NEAREST ACCESSIBLE CEILING OFF OF A MAIN

CORRIDOR.  CONDUIT PATHWAY SHALL TAKE THE SHORTEST ROUTE TO THE APPLICABLE

MDF/IDF ROOM TO MINIMIZE THE CABLE LENGTH (BY DIV 26).

DOUBLE GANG PLASTER RING (BY DIV 26).

SURFACE MOUNT BOX INSIDE THE 4 11/16-IN X 4 11/16-IN X 2 1/8-IN DOUBLE GANG BOX (BY DIV

27).

RJ-45 INSERT (BY DIV 27).

1

3

2 1

2

3

4

5

SCALE:

5

T301

N.T.S.

TYPICAL ABOVE CEILING DATA OUTLET

KEYED NOTES:

J-HOOK ABOVE ACCESSIBLE CEILING (BY DIV 27)

DATA CABLE ABOVE ACCESSIBLE CEILING (BY DIV 27)

20 FOOT SERVICE LOOP ABOVE ACCESSIBLE CEILING NEATLY COILED AND

SECURED TO J-HOOK (BY DIV 27)

SURFACE MOUNT BOX ABOVE ACCESSIBLE CEILING SECURED TO BUILDING

STRUCTURE (BY DIV 27)

DATA INSERT (BY DIV 27)

2

4

5

3

1

2

1

2

3

4

5

KEYED NOTES:

SCHEDULED WALL.

SCHEDULED CEILING.

SCHEDULED DECK ABOVE.

4 11/16” x 4 11/16” x 2 1/8” RECESSED DOUBLE GANG BOX WITH DOUBLE GANG PLASTER

RING (BY DIV 26)

1-INCH EMT CONDUIT FROM DOUBLE GANG BOX WITH 200 LBS PULL STRING AND NYLON

BUSHING STUBBED OUT ABOVE ACCESSIBLE CEILING  IN THE SAME ROOM WHERE THE

DEVICE IS LOCATED.  IF THE ROOM WHERE THE DEVICE IS LOCATED DOES NOT HAVE AN

ACCESSIBLE CEILING, THE CONDUIT SHALL ROUTE TO THE NEAREST ACCESSIBLE CEILING

OFF OF A MAIN CORRIDOR.  CONDUIT PATHWAY SHALL TAKE THE SHORTEST ROUTE TO

THE APPLICABLE MDF/IDF ROOM TO MINIMIZE THE CABLE LENGTH. (BY DIV 26)

SCALE:

7

T301

N.T.S.

TYPICAL TECHNOLOGY CONDUIT ROUGH-IN

1

2

3

4

5

SCALE:

1

T301

N.T.S.

TYPCIAL DUAL DATA OUTLET CONFIGURATION 

KEYED NOTES:

4 11/16” x 4 11/16” x 2 1/8” RECESSED DOUBLE GANG BOX (BY DIV 26)

1-INCH EMT CONDUIT FROM DOUBLE GANG BOX WITH 200 LBS PULL STRING AND

NYLON BUSHING STUBBED OUT ABOVE ACCESSIBLE CEILING  IN THE SAME ROOM

WHERE THE DEVICE IS LOCATED.  IF THE ROOM WHERE THE DEVICE IS LOCATED

DOES NOT HAVE AN ACCESSIBLE CEILING, THE CONDUIT SHALL ROUTE TO THE

NEAREST ACCESSIBLE CEILING OFF OF A MAIN CORRIDOR.  CONDUIT PATHWAY

SHALL TAKE THE SHORTEST ROUTE TO THE APPLICABLE MDF/IDF ROOM TO

MINIMIZE THE CABLE LENGTH. (BY DIV 26)

SINGLE GANG REDUCER RING (BY DIV 26)

SINGLE GANG WALL PLATE WITH DESIGNATION IN WINDOW

(BY DIV 27)

DATA INSERT (BY DIV 27)

ELECTRICAL RECEPTACLE, GANG BOX AND CONDUIT SHOWN FOR REFERENCE

ONLY (REFER TO DIV 26)

1

2

3

4

5

6

1

4

6

2

5

3

1

K
CAT6 1

K
CAT6

1

1

2

4

5

3

1

4

6

2

3

1

K
CAT6

1

K
CAT6

1

K
CAT6

7
5 7

SCALE:

8

T301

N.T.S.

THROUGH FLOOR OR DECK DETAIL

TYPICAL CONDUIT SLEEVE

KEYED NOTES:

SCHEDULED FLOOR OR DECK.

CONDUIT SLEEVE (BY DIV 26).

NYLON BUSHING (BY DIV 26).

3
2

1

3
2

1

2

3

SCALE:

9

T301

N.T.S.

SLEEVE GOING THROUGH WALL

TYPICAL CONDUIT

4

3

4

3

KEYED NOTES:

SCHEDULED WALL.

SCHEDULED CEILING.

CONDUIT SLEEVE (BY DIV 26).

NYLON BUSHING (BY DIV 26).

1

2

1

2

3

4

SCALE:

6

T301

N.T.S.

TYPICAL J-HOOK CABLE PATHWAY

KEYED NOTES:

J-HOOK ABOVE ACCESSIBLE CEILING (BY DIV 27).

DATA CABLE ABOVE ACCESSIBLE CEILING (BY DIV 27).

A/V CABLE ABOVE ACCESSIBLE CEILING

(BY DIV 27).

SECURITY CABLE ABOVE ACCESSIBLE CEILING

(BY DIV 28).

SPARE J-HOOK (BY DIV 27).

1

2

3

4

5

5

1

2

3

4

5

1

4

6

2

3

1

5

6

7

3

HDMI IN

KEYED NOTES:

4 11/16” x 4 11/16” x 2 1/8” RECESSED DOUBLE GANG BOX (BY DIV 26)

1-INCH EMT CONDUIT FROM DOUBLE GANG BOX WITH 200 LBS PULL STRING AND

NYLON BUSHING STUBBED OUT ABOVE ACCESSIBLE CEILING  IN THE SAME ROOM

WHERE THE DEVICE IS LOCATED.  IF THE ROOM WHERE THE DEVICE IS LOCATED

DOES NOT HAVE AN ACCESSIBLE CEILING, THE CONDUIT SHALL ROUTE TO THE

NEAREST ACCESSIBLE CEILING OFF OF A MAIN CORRIDOR.  CONDUIT PATHWAY

SHALL TAKE THE SHORTEST ROUTE TO THE APPLICABLE MDF/IDF ROOM TO

MINIMIZE THE CABLE LENGTH. (BY DIV 26)

SINGLE GANG REDUCER RING (BY DIV 26)

SINGLE GANG HDMI WALL PLATE (BY DIV 27)

SINGLE GANG WALL PLATE WITH HDMI AND CATEGORY 6 INSERTS (BY DIV 27)

ELECTRICAL RECEPTACLE, GANG BOX AND CONDUIT SHOWN FOR REFERENCE

ONLY (REFER TO DIV 26)

1-INCH EMT CONDUIT FROM "LOW" DOUBLE GANG BOX TO "HIGH" DOUBLE GANG

WALL BOX FRO ROU.  PROVIDE  AND NYLON BUSHING ON THE THROAT OF EACH

CONDUIT.(BY DIV 26)

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

HDMI IN

1

K
CAT6

7

SCALE:

3

T301

N.T.S.

TYPCIAL HDMI FACEPLATE CONFIGURATION 

REVISIONS

SHEET INFORMATION

TITLE

SHEET

Date
Job Number
Scale
Drawn
Checked
Approved

16-1010

No. Issue Date

H A D D O N     C O W A N
architects collaborative

Austin, Texas 78741
www.architectscollaborative.net

2301 E. Riverside Dr. #80
ph. 512-374-9120

In Association w/

EC
MT
MT

VARIES

In Association w/

WCCHD Office
Renovations

355 Texas Avenue
Round Rock, Texas

8200 IH-10 West, Ste. 103 
San Antonio, Texas 78230
Phone : 210-698-7887

technology & security

901 S. Mopac
Bldg. 3, Ste. 400
Austin, Texas 78746
Phone : 512-433-2696

SAN ANTONIO     AUSTIN

April 7, 2017

1 100% Construction Documents 12/5/2016
2 100% Construction Documents Issued for Bid 4/7/2017

T301

Technology Details

B
id

 1
7

0
4

-1
5

3
W

ill
ia

m
s
o

n
 C

o
u

n
ty

, 
T

e
x
a

s

4
/1

2
/2

0
1

7
 1

0
:2

3
 A

M
p

. 
2

6

AutoCAD SHX Text
AS INDICATED ON DRAWINGS

AutoCAD SHX Text
MIN. 6" MAX. 12"

AutoCAD SHX Text
18" A.F.F.

AutoCAD SHX Text
18"

AutoCAD SHX Text
FINISHED CEILING

AutoCAD SHX Text
MIN. 6" MAX. 12"

AutoCAD SHX Text
18" A.F.F.

AutoCAD SHX Text
LESS THAN 12 INCHES

AutoCAD SHX Text
MIN. 6" MAX. 12"

AutoCAD SHX Text
60" A.F.F.

AutoCAD SHX Text
MIN. 6" MAX. 12"

AutoCAD SHX Text
18" A.F.F.

AutoCAD SHX Text
ENGI NEERING CONSULTANTS  NEERING CONSULTANTS NEERING CONSULTANTS 7800 Shoal Creek Blvd. | Suite 100-W Austin, Texas 78757 512.637.4393 p  512.637.4396 f TBPE Firm Registration No. 2234



1

KEYED NOTES:

SCHEDULED PARTITION.

HEAD OF DOOR FRAME.  PROVIDE TAB AT DOOR FRAME TO

SECURE CONDUIT DIRECTLY ABOVE DOOR POSITION

SWITCH.

SCHEDULED DOOR.

15/16" DIAMETER HOLE IN THE HEAD OF FRAME FOR

CONCEALED DOOR CONTACT.

15/16" DIAMETER X 1 5/8" DEEP HOLE IN TOP OF DOOR FOR

CONCEALED DOOR CONTACT MAGNET.

1/2" CONDUIT FROM 6" X 6" X 4" JUNCTION BOX ABOVE

DOOR. (BY DIV 26)

DOOR CONTACT (REFERENCE SPECIFICATION).

2

3

4

5

6

7

SCALE:

1

T302

SCALE

SINGLE DOOR RECESSED

DOOR CONTACT -

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

KEYED NOTES:

SCHEDULED PARTITION.

HEAD OF DOOR FRAME.  PROVIDE TAB AT DOOR FRAME

TO SECURE CONDUIT DIRECTLY ABOVE DOOR POSITION

SWITCH.

SCHEDULED DOOR.

15/16" DIAMETER HOLE IN THE HEAD OF FRAME FOR

CONCEALED DOOR CONTACT.

15/16" DIAMETER X 1 5/8" DEEP HOLE IN TOP OF DOOR

FOR CONCEALED DOOR CONTACT MAGNET.

1/2" CONDUIT FROM 6" X 6" X 4" JUNCTION BOX ABOVE

DOOR (BY DIV 26).

DOOR CONTACT (REFERENCE SPECIFICATION).

SCALE:

2

T302

SCALE

DOUBLE DOOR RECESSED

DOOR CONTACT -

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

4

6

7

5

3

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

KEYED NOTES:

(1) 12-INCH WIDE X 12-INCH HIGH X 8-INCH DEEP JUNCTION BOX MOUNTED ABOVE ACCESSIBLE
CEILING ON SECURE SIDE OF DOOR (BY DIV. 26).

(1) 1-INCH EMT CONDUIT FROM 12-INCH WIDE X 12-INCH HIGH X 8-INCH DEEP JUNCTION BOX TO
ABOVE ACCESSIBLE CEILING ON SECURE SIDE OF DOOR FOR ACCESS CONTROL CABLE (BY DIV. 26).

(1) 1/2-INCH EMT CONDUIT FROM 12-INCH WIDE X 12-INCH HIGH X 8-INCH DEEP JUNCTION BOX TO
HEAD OF DOOR FRAME FOR CONCEALED DOOR POSITION SWITCH.  STUB CONDUIT INTO HEAD OF
DOOR FRAME 6-INCHES FROM THE STRIKE SIDE OF THE DOOR.  PROVIDE A 3-INCH BLOCKOUT FOR
GROUTED DOORS (BY DIV. 26).

CONCEALED DOOR POSITION SWITCH (BY DIV. 28).

(1) 1/2-INCH EMT CONDUIT FROM 12-INCH WIDE X 12-INCH HIGH X 12-INCH DEEP JUNCTION BOX TO A
RECESSED SINGLE GANG BOX WITH A SINGLE GANG PLASTER RING INSTALLED HORIZONTALLY 6-INCHES
ABOVE HEAD OF DOOR FRAME ON CENTERLINE OF DOOR AND ON SECURE SIDE OF DOOR FOR
REQUEST TO EXIT MOTION SENSOR (BY DIV. 26).

(1) REQUEST TO EXIT MOTION SENSOR ON SECURE SIDE OF DOOR (BY DIV. 28).

(1) 3/4-INCH EMT CONDUIT FROM 12-INCH WIDE X 12-INCH HIGH X 8-INCH DEEP JUNCTION BOX
DOWN DOOR FRAME FOR POWER TRANSFER HINGE (BY DIV. 26).

(1) ELECTRIFIED EXIT DEVICE ON SECURE SIDE OF DOOR (BY DIV. 8).

(1) 3/4-INCH EMT CONDUIT FROM 12-INCH WIDE X 12-INCH HIGH X 8-INCH DEEP JUNCTION BOX TO A
RECESSED DOUBLE GANG BOX WITH A SINGLE GANG PLASTER RING FOR CARD READER ON UNSECURE
SIDE OF DOOR (BY DIV. 26).

(1) CARD READER ON UNSECURE SIDE OF DOOR (BY DIV. 28).

SCALE:

3

T302

N.T.S.

MOUNTED REQUEST TO EXIT MOTION SENSOR

ELECTRIFIED EXIT DEVICE AND WALL

WALL MOUNTED CARD READER WITH

2

1

4

7

10

9

6

3

5

8

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

KEYED NOTES:

(1) 12-INCH WIDE X 12-INCH HIGH X 8-INCH DEEP JUNCTION BOX MOUNTED ABOVE ACCESSIBLE CEILING ON
SECURE SIDE OF DOOR (BY DIV. 26).

(1) 1-INCH EMT CONDUIT FROM 12-INCH WIDE X 12-INCH HIGH X 8-INCH DEEP JUNCTION BOX TO ABOVE
ACCESSIBLE CEILING ON SECURE SIDE OF DOOR FOR ACCESS CONTROL CABLE (BY DIV. 26).

(1) 1/2-INCH EMT CONDUIT FROM 12-INCH WIDE X 12-INCH HIGH X 8-INCH DEEP JUNCTION BOX TO HEAD OF
DOOR FRAME FOR CONCEALED DOOR POSITION SWITCH.  STUB CONDUIT INTO HEAD OF DOOR FRAME 6-INCHES
FROM THE STRIKE SIDE OF THE DOOR.  PROVIDE A 3-INCH BLOCKOUT FOR GROUTED DOORS (BY DIV. 26).

CONCEALED DOOR POSITION SWITCH (BY DIV. 28).

(1) 1/2-INCH EMT CONDUIT FROM 12-INCH WIDE X 12-INCH HIGH X 12-INCH DEEP JUNCTION BOX TO A RECESSED
SINGLE GANG BOX WITH A SINGLE GANG PLASTER RING INSTALLED HORIZONTALLY 6-INCHES ABOVE HEAD OF
DOOR FRAME ON CENTERLINE OF DOOR AND ON SECURE SIDE OF DOOR FOR REQUEST TO EXIT MOTION SENSOR 
(BY DIV. 26).

(1) REQUEST TO EXIT MOTION SENSOR ON SECURE SIDE OF DOOR (BY DIV. 28).

(1) 3/4-INCH EMT CONDUIT FROM 12-INCH WIDE X 12-INCH HIGH X 8-INCH DEEP JUNCTION BOX DOWN DOOR
FRAME FOR POWER TRANSFER HINGE (BY DIV. 26).

(1) ELECTRIFIED LEVERSET ON SECURE SIDE OF DOOR (BY DIV. 8).

(1) 3/4-INCH EMT CONDUIT FROM 12-INCH WIDE X 12-INCH HIGH X 8-INCH DEEP JUNCTION BOX TO A RECESSED
DOUBLE GANG BOX WITH A SINGLE GANG PLASTER RING FOR CARD READER ON UNSECURE SIDE OF DOOR (BY
DIV. 26).

(1) CARD READER ON UNSECURE SIDE OF DOOR (BY DIV. 28).

SCALE:

4

T302

N.T.S.

MOUNTED REQUEST TO EXIT MOTION SENSOR

ELECTRIFIED LEVERSET AND WALL

WALL MOUNTED CARD READER WITH

2

1

4

7

10

9

6

3

5

8

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

1

2

KEYED NOTES:

(1) 3/4-INCH EMT CONDUIT FROM 6-INCH WIDE X 6-INCH HIGH

X 4-INCH DEEP JUNCTION BOX TO A RECESSED DOUBLE

GANG BOX WITH A SINGLE GANG PLASTER RING FOR CARD

READER ON UNSECURE SIDE OF DOOR.  (BY DIV. 26)    

CARD READER ON UNSECURED SIDE OF DOOR (BY DIV.

28).

SCALE:

6

T302

N.T.S.

WALL MOUNTED DETAIL

CARD READER -

2

1

1

KEYED NOTES:

CONDUIT FEEDS FROM FIELD.

8-IN H X 8-IN D X 4-FT W GUTTER RACEWAY WITH COVER.

4-IN FINGERDUCT RACEWAY WITH COVER.

2-IN METALLIC CONDUIT.

4-IN METALLIC CONDUIT.

ACCESS CONTROL PANEL.

INTRUSION DETECTION CONTROL PANEL.

INPUT/OUPUT PANEL.

DEMARCATION ENCLOSURE.

DEVICE POWER SUPPLY.

LOCK POWER SUPPLY.

120VAC EMERGENCY POWER QUAD RECEPTACLE, NON-SWITCHED, DEDICATED 20AMP.

NETWORK OUTLET (BY DIV 27).

TELEPHONE INTERFACE (BY DIV 27).

8-FT H X 4-FT W 3/4 -IN FIRE RATED PLYWOOD BACKBOARD.

4

12

1110

9

1

2

5 5

5

5

6

7

8

4

4

4

4

4

4

3

4

4 4

13

14

15

SCALE:

7

T302

N.T.S.

TYPICAL SECURITY RISER BACKBOARD DETAIL

2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9
10
11
12
13
14
15

KEYED NOTES:

(1) 12-INCH WIDE X 12-INCH HIGH X 8-INCH DEEP JUNCTION BOX MOUNTED ABOVE ACCESSIBLE
CEILING ON SECURE SIDE OF DOOR (BY DIV. 26).

(1) 1-INCH EMT CONDUIT FROM 12-INCH WIDE X 12-INCH HIGH X 8-INCH DEEP JUNCTION BOX TO
ABOVE ACCESSIBLE CEILING ON SECURE SIDE OF DOOR FOR FUTURE ACCESS CONTROL CABLE (BY DIV.
26).

(1) 3/4-INCH EMT CONDUIT FROM 12-INCH WIDE X 12-INCH HIGH X 8-INCH DEEP JUNCTION BOX
DOWN DOOR FRAME FOR FUTURE POWER TRANSFER HINGE (BY DIV. 26).

CONCEALED DOOR POSITION SWITCH (BY DIV. 28).

(1) 3/4-INCH EMT CONDUIT FROM 12-INCH WIDE X 12-INCH HIGH X 8-INCH DEEP JUNCTION BOX TO A
RECESSED DOUBLE GANG BOX WITH A SINGLE GANG PLASTER RING FOR FUTURE CARD READER ON
UNSECURE SIDE OF DOOR (BY DIV. 26).

SCALE:

5

T302

N.T.S.

FUTURE SINGLE DOOR CARD READER ROUGH-IN

2

1

5

1

2

3

4
3

KEYED NOTES:

(1) 12-INCH WIDE X 12-INCH HIGH X 8-INCH DEEP JUNCTION BOX MOUNTED ABOVE ACCESSIBLE CEILING
ON SECURE SIDE OF DOOR (BY DIV. 26).

(1) 1-INCH EMT CONDUIT FROM 12-INCH WIDE X 12-INCH HIGH X 8-INCH DEEP JUNCTION BOX TO ABOVE
ACCESSIBLE CEILING ON SECURE SIDE OF DOOR FOR FUTURE ACCESS CONTROL CABLE (BY DIV. 26).

(1) 1/2-INCH EMT CONDUIT FROM 12-INCH WIDE X 12-INCH HIGH X 8-INCH DEEP JUNCTION BOX TO HEAD
OF DOOR FRAME FOR CONCEALED DOOR POSITION SWITCH.  STUB CONDUIT INTO HEAD OF DOOR FRAME
6-INCHES FROM THE STRIKE SIDE OF THE DOOR.  PROVIDE A 3-INCH BLOCKOUT FOR GROUTED DOORS (BY
DIV. 26).

CONCEALED DOOR POSITION SWITCH (BY DIV. 28).

(1) 3/4-INCH EMT CONDUIT FROM 12-INCH WIDE X 12-INCH HIGH X 8-INCH DEEP JUNCTION BOX DOWN
DOOR FRAME FOR FUTURE POWER TRANSFER HINGE (BY DIV. 26).

(1) 1/2-INCH EMT CONDUIT FROM 12-INCH WIDE X 12-INCH HIGH X 8-INCH DEEP JUNCTION BOX DOWN
DOOR FRAME TO 3/8-INCH HOLE IN FRAME AT 42-INCH A.F.F. FOR FUTURE CARD READER (BY DIV. 26).

1

4

4

3

3

5

1

2

3

4

5

SCALE:

6

T302

N.T.S.

FUTURE DOUBLE DOOR CARD READER ROUGH-IN

2

6

5

6

4

5

REVISIONS

SHEET INFORMATION

TITLE

SHEET

Date
Job Number
Scale
Drawn
Checked
Approved

16-1010

No. Issue Date

H A D D O N     C O W A N
architects collaborative

Austin, Texas 78741
www.architectscollaborative.net

2301 E. Riverside Dr. #80
ph. 512-374-9120

In Association w/

EC
MT
MT

VARIES

In Association w/

WCCHD Office
Renovations

355 Texas Avenue
Round Rock, Texas

8200 IH-10 West, Ste. 103 
San Antonio, Texas 78230
Phone : 210-698-7887

technology & security

901 S. Mopac
Bldg. 3, Ste. 400
Austin, Texas 78746
Phone : 512-433-2696

SAN ANTONIO     AUSTIN

April 7, 2017

1 100% Construction Documents 12/5/2016
2 100% Construction Documents Issued for Bid 4/7/2017

T302

Security Details

B
id

 1
7

0
4

-1
5

3
W

ill
ia

m
s
o

n
 C

o
u

n
ty

, 
T

e
x
a

s

4
/1

2
/2

0
1

7
 1

0
:2

3
 A

M
p

. 
2

7

AutoCAD SHX Text
4"

AutoCAD SHX Text
4"

AutoCAD SHX Text
4"

AutoCAD SHX Text
42"

AutoCAD SHX Text
FINISHED CEILING

AutoCAD SHX Text
42"

AutoCAD SHX Text
FINISHED CEILING

AutoCAD SHX Text
42" A.F.F.

AutoCAD SHX Text
4

AutoCAD SHX Text
42"

AutoCAD SHX Text
FINISHED CEILING

AutoCAD SHX Text
FINISHED CEILING

AutoCAD SHX Text
42"

AutoCAD SHX Text
ENGI NEERING CONSULTANTS  NEERING CONSULTANTS NEERING CONSULTANTS 7800 Shoal Creek Blvd. | Suite 100-W Austin, Texas 78757 512.637.4393 p  512.637.4396 f TBPE Firm Registration No. 2234



SCALE:

1

T303

N.T.S.

CARD READER - ELECTRIC EXIT DEVICE BLOCK DIAGRAM

SCALE:

2

T303

N.T.S.

LOCK OR ELECTRIC STRIKE BLOCK DIAGRAM

CARD READER - ELECTROMECHANICAL

FIRE ALARM / SECURITY SYSTEM INTERFACE

A. AUTOMATIC UNLOCK OF ELECTRIC LOCKING MECHANISMS

1. ELECTRIC LOCKING MECHANISMS CONTROLLED BY THE SECURITY SYSTEM SHALL BE AUTOMATICALLY UNLOCKED UPON A FIRE ALARM CONDITION AS REQUIRED BY

APPLICABLE CODES AND THE LOCAL AUTHORITY HAVING JURISDICTION (AHJ).

2. THE FIRE ALARM CONTRACTOR SHALL PROVIDE NORMALLY CLOSED AUXILIARY DRY OUTPUT CONTACTS SUCH THAT UPON A FIRE ALARM CONDITION, THE CONTACTS

SHALL OPEN AND THE SECURITY SYSTEM SHALL UNLOCK THE ELECTRIC LOCKING MECHANISMS.  THE CONTACTS SHALL REMAIN OPEN UNTIL THE FIRE ALARM SYSTEM

IS MANUALLY RESET.

B. AUXILIARY MONITORING OF FIRE ALARM AND TROUBLE CONDITIONS

1. THE SECURITY SYSTEM SHALL PROVIDE AUXILIARY MONITORING OF THE FIRE ALARM SYSTEM ALARM AND TROUBLE CONDITIONS.

2. THE FIRE ALARM CONTRACTOR SHALL PROVIDE SEPARATE NORMALLY CLOSED AUXILIARY DRY OUTPUT CONTACTS FOR ALARM AND TROUBLE CONDITIONS.  UPON AN

ALARM CONDITION OR TROUBLE CONDITION THE CONTACTS SHALL OPEN AND THE SECURITY SYSTEM SHALL ANNUNCIATE THE CONDITION.  THE CONTACTS SHALL

REMAIN OPEN UNTIL THE FIRE ALARM SYSTEM IS MANUALLY RESET.

C. FIRE ALARM/SECURITY SYSTEM INTERFACE

1. THE FIRE ALARM CONTRACTOR SHALL PROVIDE FIRE ALARM/SECURITY SYSTEM INTERFACE CABINETS IN THE FOLLOWING LOCATIONS:

LOCATION INTERFACE TERMINALS

SECURITY RISER CLOSETS AUTOMATIC UNLOCK

DELAYED EXIT DEVICE DOORS AUTOMATIC UNLOCK

D. INTERFACE CABINETS

1. PROVIDE A LOCKABLE CONTINUOUS HINGE COVER ENCLOSURE WITH DUAL SCREW BARRIER TERMINAL STRIPS FOR EACH INTERFACE POINT.

2. THE FIRE ALARM CONTRACTOR SHALL PROVIDE THE INTERFACE CABINETS IN A READILY ACCESSIBLE LOCATION NO MORE THAN 6'-0" A.F.F.  COORDINATE THE EXACT

INTERFACE CABINET LOCATION WITH THE SECURITY CONTRACTOR.

3. THE FIRE ALARM CONTRACTOR SHALL LABEL THE COVER OF THE INTERFACE CABINET TO IDENTIFY ITS FUNCTION AND LABEL ALL TERMINALS WITHIN THE CABINET TO

IDENTIFY THEIR FUNCTION.

4. THE FIRE ALARM CONTRACTOR SHALL PROVIDE ANY HARDWARE/SOFTWARE REQUIRED TO INTERFACE THE FIRE ALARM SYSTEM TO THE SECURITY SYSTEM.  ALL

SECURITY INTERFACE OUTPUTS AND WIRING SHALL BE SUPERVISED BY THE FIRE ALARM SYSTEM.

5. THE FIRE ALARM CONTRACTOR SHALL PROVIDE AND TERMINATE ALL CONDUIT, POWER AND WIRING REQUIRED FOR THE INSTALLATION OF THE INTERFACE CABINETS.

ALL WIRING SHALL BE UL LISTED FOR FIRE ALARM APPLICATIONS.

6. THE SECURITY CONTRACTOR SHALL PROVIDE AND TERMINATE ALL WIRING FROM THE INTERFACE CABINET TO THE SECURITY SYSTEM.  ALL WIRING SHALL BE UL LISTED

FOR FIRE ALARM APPLICATIONS.

FA

SCALE:

3

T303

N.T.S.

FIRE ALARM/SECURITY SYSTEM INTERFACE

SCALE:

4

T303

N.T.S.

ACCESS CONTROL SYSTEM SCHEDULE

REVISIONS

SHEET INFORMATION

TITLE

SHEET

Date
Job Number
Scale
Drawn
Checked
Approved

16-1010

No. Issue Date

H A D D O N     C O W A N
architects collaborative

Austin, Texas 78741
www.architectscollaborative.net

2301 E. Riverside Dr. #80
ph. 512-374-9120

In Association w/

EC
MT
MT

VARIES

In Association w/

WCCHD Office
Renovations

355 Texas Avenue
Round Rock, Texas

8200 IH-10 West, Ste. 103 
San Antonio, Texas 78230
Phone : 210-698-7887

technology & security

901 S. Mopac
Bldg. 3, Ste. 400
Austin, Texas 78746
Phone : 512-433-2696

SAN ANTONIO     AUSTIN

April 7, 2017

1 100% Construction Documents 12/5/2016
2 100% Construction Documents Issued for Bid 4/7/2017

T303

Security
Diagrams/Schedules

B
id

 1
7

0
4

-1
5

3
W

ill
ia

m
s
o

n
 C

o
u

n
ty

, 
T

e
x
a

s

4
/1

2
/2

0
1

7
 1

0
:2

3
 A

M
p

. 
2

8

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOCK CONTROL MODULE

AutoCAD SHX Text
BLOCK DIAGRAM REPRESENTS TYPICAL CONTROLLED DOOR WITH ELECTRIC EXIT DEVICE

AutoCAD SHX Text
SEE THE PLANS FOR THE EXACT DEVICES ASSOCIATED WITH EACH DOOR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
BLOCK DIAGRAM REPRESENTS FAIL-SECURE LOCK CONDITION FOR FAIL-SAFE WIRE 

AutoCAD SHX Text
ALL POWER SUPPLIES AND RELAYS SHALL BE U.L. LISTED. PROVIDE INDIVIDUALLY

AutoCAD SHX Text
FUSED OUTPUTS TO EACH LOCK/DEVICE. PROVIDE 4 HOUR BATTERY BACK-UP FOR

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOCK POWER THROUGH NORMALLY OPEN (CLOSES WHEN PANEL IS ENERGIZED) LOCK 

AutoCAD SHX Text
CONTROL RELAY CONTACTS, ADD INTERFACE WITH FIRE ALARM SYSTEM (AS REQUIRED ⤯䘠㘴⽎䴨摦扦搷〶ⵥ搶昭㑡扢ⴹ㠸挭晦㈶挸㠲攷㠳⤯倠ㄵ㘠〠刯剥捴嬹㠰‱㠶㘠㤶㘠㈲㔸崯卵扴祰支危畡牥⽔⡁畴潃䅄⁓䡘⁔數�

AutoCAD SHX Text
BY APPLICABLE CODES), CONNECT POWER SUPPLY TO NON-EMERGENCY BUILDING POWER, 

AutoCAD SHX Text
AND OMIT BATTERY BACKUP FOR THE LOCK POWER SUPPLY.

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOCK POWER SUPPLY (AT DOOR)

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
+

AutoCAD SHX Text
DEVICE POWER SUPPLY

AutoCAD SHX Text
DEVICE(S)

AutoCAD SHX Text
+

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
TO REQUEST-TO-EXIT

AutoCAD SHX Text
3.

AutoCAD SHX Text
1.

AutoCAD SHX Text
2.

AutoCAD SHX Text
%%uNOTES:

AutoCAD SHX Text
FUSE (TYP.)

AutoCAD SHX Text
GATHERING PANEL

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
+

AutoCAD SHX Text
TO DATA

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
+

AutoCAD SHX Text
READER

AutoCAD SHX Text
TO CARD

AutoCAD SHX Text
PANEL POWER SUPPLY

AutoCAD SHX Text
CARD READER POWER SUPPLY

AutoCAD SHX Text
BY CODE)

AutoCAD SHX Text
(AS REQUIRED⤯䘠㘴⽎䴨昴㤱攲愱ⴱ㝥昭㐴搱ⵢㄸ㤭㐳戸っ戶㡣慤⤯倠ㄵ㘠〠刯剥捴嬱㈰㌠ㄹ㠸‱ㄸ㠠㈰㔵崯卵扴祰支危畡牥⽔⡁畴潃䅄⁓䡘⁔數�

AutoCAD SHX Text
INTERFACE

AutoCAD SHX Text
FIRE ALARM

AutoCAD SHX Text
REMOTE

AutoCAD SHX Text
DEVICE

AutoCAD SHX Text
REQUEST-TO-EXIT

AutoCAD SHX Text
DOOR RELEASE

AutoCAD SHX Text
DEVICE

AutoCAD SHX Text
ELECTRIC EXIT

AutoCAD SHX Text
SWITCH

AutoCAD SHX Text
CARD READER

AutoCAD SHX Text
DOOR POSITION

AutoCAD SHX Text
CARD READER INPUT

AutoCAD SHX Text
DOOR STATUS INPUT

AutoCAD SHX Text
ALARM SHUNT

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOCK CONTROL RELAY

AutoCAD SHX Text
SMS DATA GATHERING PANEL (DGP)

AutoCAD SHX Text
ALARM SHUNT AND DOOR UNLOCK

AutoCAD SHX Text
EACH POWER SUPPLY.

AutoCAD SHX Text
DEDICATED TO SECURITY

AutoCAD SHX Text
120VAC EMERGENCY CIRCUIT

AutoCAD SHX Text
DEDICATED TO SECURITY

AutoCAD SHX Text
120VAC EMERGENCY CIRCUIT

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
WIRE LOCK POWER THROUGH NORMALLY OPEN (CLOSES WHEN PANEL IS⤯䘠㘴⽎䴨晥〹挰愹ⴱ㐷〭㑡㈴ⵢ〱攭㍥挲㜶㔵〳㠰⤯倠ㄵ㘠〠刯剥捴嬱〰ㄠㄲ㈶‹㠶‱㔶ㅝ⽓畢瑹灥⽓煵慲支吨䅵瑯䍁䐠午堠呥硴⤾㸼㰯䉯牤敲嬰‰‰崯䍯湴敮瑳⣾＀䈀䰀伀䌀䬀 䐀䤀䄀䜀刀䄀䴀 刀䔀倀刀䔀匀䔀一吀匀 䘀䄀䤀䰀ⴀ匀䔀䌀唀刀䔀 䰀伀䌀䬀 䌀伀一䐀䤀吀䤀伀一⸀ 䘀伀刀 䘀䄀䤀䰀ⴀ匀䄀䘀�

AutoCAD SHX Text
BLOCK DIAGRAM REPRESENTS FAIL-SECURE LOCK CONDITION. FOR FAIL-SAFE

AutoCAD SHX Text
ENERGIZED) DGP LOCK CONTROL RELAY CONTACTS, ADD INTERFACE WITH FIRE

AutoCAD SHX Text
ALARM SYSTEM (AS REQUIRED BY APPLICABLE CODES), CONNECT POWER SUPPLY

AutoCAD SHX Text
TO NON-EMERGENCY BUILDING POWER, AND OMIT BATTERY BACKUP FOR THE

AutoCAD SHX Text
ALL POWER SUPPLIES AND RELAYS SHALL BE U.L. LISTED. PROVIDE INDIVIDUALLY

AutoCAD SHX Text
ELECTROMECHANICAL LOCK OR ELECTRIC STRIKE. SEE THE PLANS FOR THE

AutoCAD SHX Text
BLOCK DIAGRAM REPRESENTS TYPICAL CONTROLLED DOOR WITH 

AutoCAD SHX Text
FUSED OUTPUTS TO EACH LOCK/DEVICE. PROVIDE 4 HOUR BATTERY BACK-UP FOR

AutoCAD SHX Text
120VAC EMERGENCY CIRCUIT DEDICATED TO SECURITY

AutoCAD SHX Text
GATHERING PANEL

AutoCAD SHX Text
FUSE (TYP.)

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOCK POWER SUPPLY.

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXACT DEVICES ASSOCIATED WITH EACH DOOR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
3.

AutoCAD SHX Text
1.

AutoCAD SHX Text
2.

AutoCAD SHX Text
%%uNOTES:

AutoCAD SHX Text
DEVICE POWER SUPPLY

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
+

AutoCAD SHX Text
BY CODE)

AutoCAD SHX Text
FIRE ALARM

AutoCAD SHX Text
(AS REQUIRED⤯䘠㘴⽎䴨㍢㍡戴㥦ⵣ戵㘭㐵㙢ⵡ㈰攭㔹愵慣昲慣㝣⤯倠ㄵ㘠〠刯剥捴嬱ㄹ㈠ㄳ㌲‱ㄷ㜠ㄴ〰崯卵扴祰支危畡牥⽔⡁畴潃䅄⁓䡘⁔數�

AutoCAD SHX Text
INTERFACE

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOCK POWER SUPPLY

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
+

AutoCAD SHX Text
PANEL POWER SUPPLY

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
+

AutoCAD SHX Text
STRIKE

AutoCAD SHX Text
ELECTRO-

AutoCAD SHX Text
ELECTRIC

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOCK

AutoCAD SHX Text
MECHANICAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
DEVICE(S)

AutoCAD SHX Text
TO REQUEST-TO-EXIT

AutoCAD SHX Text
OR

AutoCAD SHX Text
MOTION SENSOR

AutoCAD SHX Text
REQUEST-TO-EXIT

AutoCAD SHX Text
REMOTE

AutoCAD SHX Text
DOOR RELEASE

AutoCAD SHX Text
ALARM SHUNT AND DOOR UNLOCK

AutoCAD SHX Text
SMS DATA GATHERING PANEL (DGP)

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOCK CONTROL RELAY

AutoCAD SHX Text
TO DATA

AutoCAD SHX Text
ALARM SHUNT

AutoCAD SHX Text
DOOR STATUS INPUT

AutoCAD SHX Text
CARD READER INPUT

AutoCAD SHX Text
CARD READER POWER SUPPLY

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
+

AutoCAD SHX Text
TO CARD

AutoCAD SHX Text
READER

AutoCAD SHX Text
DOOR POSITION

AutoCAD SHX Text
CARD READER

AutoCAD SHX Text
SWITCH

AutoCAD SHX Text
EACH POWER SUPPLY.

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
ENGI NEERING CONSULTANTS  NEERING CONSULTANTS NEERING CONSULTANTS 7800 Shoal Creek Blvd. | Suite 100-W Austin, Texas 78757 512.637.4393 p  512.637.4396 f TBPE Firm Registration No. 2234



No. Issue Date

technology & security

SAN ANTONIO     AUSTIN

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 29



No. Issue Date

technology & security

SAN ANTONIO     AUSTIN

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 30



No. Issue Date

technology & security

SAN ANTONIO     AUSTIN

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 31



No. Issue Date

technology & security

SAN ANTONIO     AUSTIN

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 32



No. Issue Date

technology & security

SAN ANTONIO     AUSTIN

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 33



No. Issue Date

technology & security

SAN ANTONIO     AUSTIN

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 34



No. Issue Date

technology & security

SAN ANTONIO     AUSTIN

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 35



No. Issue Date

technology & security

SAN ANTONIO     AUSTIN

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 36



M

SD

No. Issue Date

technology & security

SAN ANTONIO     AUSTIN

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 37



Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 38



Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 39



D

No. Issue Date

technology & security

SAN ANTONIO     AUSTIN

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 40



No. Issue Date

technology & security

SAN ANTONIO     AUSTIN

T
AI - Zone Temp

AI - Zone Setpoint Adjust

RA DA

BO - Fan Start/Stop

BI - Fan Status
CT

M

DX

BO - Cooling Stage 1

T

SA

AI - Zone Temp

AI - Zone Setpoint Adjust

BI - Zone Override

H L

M

CT

Starter
BO - Supply Fan Start/Stop

BI - Supply Fan Status

T

BI - Supply Air Smoke Detector

S

BO - Outside Air Dampers

DX

BO - Cooling Stage 1

BO - Cooling Stage 2

Elec

BO - Heating Stage 1

BO - Heating Stage 2

AI - Prefilter Differential Pressure

OA

RA

AI - Supply Air Temp

SF

N.C.

T

SA

AI - Zone Temp

AI - Zone Setpoint Adjust

BI - Zone Override

H L

M

CT

Starter
BO - Supply Fan Start/Stop

BI - Supply Fan Status

T

BI - Supply Air Smoke Detector

S

BO - Outside Air Dampers

DX

BO - Cooling Stage 1

Elec

BO - Heating Stage 1

AI - Prefilter Differential Pressure

OA

RA

AI - Supply Air Temp

SF

N.C.

EA

BO - Fan Start/Stop

M

CT
BI - Fan Status

T
AI - Zone Temp

CT

Elec

M

BI - Fan Status

BO - Heating Stage 1

BO - Fan Start/Stop

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 41



No. Issue Date

technology & security

SAN ANTONIO     AUSTIN

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 42



No. Issue Date

technology & security

SAN ANTONIO     AUSTIN

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 43



No. Issue Date

technology & security

SAN ANTONIO     AUSTIN

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 44



No. Issue Date

technology & security

SAN ANTONIO     AUSTIN

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 45



No. Issue Date

technology & security

SAN ANTONIO     AUSTIN

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 46



No. Issue Date

technology & security

SAN ANTONIO     AUSTIN

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 47



No. Issue Date

technology & security

SAN ANTONIO     AUSTIN

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 48



No. Issue Date

technology & security

SAN ANTONIO     AUSTIN

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 49



ROOF BELOW

CANOPY BELOW

No. Issue Date

technology & security

SAN ANTONIO     AUSTIN

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 50



No. Issue Date

technology & security

SAN ANTONIO     AUSTIN

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 51



ROOF BELOW

CANOPY BELOW

No. Issue Date

technology & security

SAN ANTONIO     AUSTIN

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 52



No. Issue Date

technology & security

SAN ANTONIO     AUSTIN

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 53



No. Issue Date

technology & security

SAN ANTONIO     AUSTIN

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 54



ROOF BELOW

CANOPY BELOW

No. Issue Date

technology & security

SAN ANTONIO     AUSTIN

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 55



No. Issue Date

technology & security

SAN ANTONIO     AUSTIN

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 56



No. Issue Date

technology & security

SAN ANTONIO     AUSTIN

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 57



No. Issue Date

technology & security

SAN ANTONIO     AUSTIN

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 58



Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 59



16-1010 / WCCHD Renovations 00 0102 - 1 PROJECT INFORMATION

SECTION 00 0102
PROJECT INFORMATION

PART 1  GENERAL
1.01 PROJECT IDENTIFICATION

A. Project Name:  WCCHD Office Renovations, located at 355 Texas Avenue,  Round Rock, TX 
78664.

B. The Owner, hereinafter referred to as Owner:  Williamson County
C. Owner's Project Manager:  Bob Lubecker.

1. Department:  Williamson County Facilities.
2. Address:  3101 SE Inner Loop.
3. City, State, Zip:  Georgetown, TX  78626.
4. Phone/Fax:  512-943-1625.

1.02 NOTICE TO PROSPECTIVE BIDDERS
A. These documents constitute an Invitation to Bid to  General Contractors for the construction of

the project described below.
1.03 PROJECT DESCRIPTION

A. Summary Project Description:  Renovations to existing 2-story office building.  Exterior
renovations to include new secondary entry, ADA/TAS compliant ramps, replacement of
existing roof attachments and sealing/striping existing parking lot.  Interior work is to include
new finishes, new hvac, lighting, flooring, data/AV and miscellaneous partition changes.

1.04 PROJECT CONSULTANTS
A. The Architect, hereinafter referred to as Architect:  Haddon+Cowan Architects.

1. Address:  2301 E. Riverside Drive,  Bldg A, Suite 80.
2. City, State, Zip:  Austin, TX  78741.
3. Phone/Fax:  512-374-9120.

1.05 PROCUREMENT TIMETABLE
A. Desired Substantial Completion Date:  Not later than 6 calendar months following Notice to

Proceed.
B. Desired Final Completion Date:  Not later than 1 calendar month following Substantial

Completion.
C. The Owner reserves the right to change the schedule or terminate the entire procurement

process at any time.
PART 2  PRODUCTS (NOT USED)
PART 3  EXECUTION (NOT USED)

END OF SECTION

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 60



16-1010 / WCCHD Renovations 00 0110 - 1 TABLE OF CONTENTS

SECTION 00 0110
TABLE OF CONTENTS

PROCUREMENT AND CONTRACTING REQUIREMENTS
1.01 DIVISION 00 -- PROCUREMENT AND CONTRACTING REQUIREMENTS  

A. 00 0102 - Project Information
B. 00 0110 - Table of Contents
C. 00 0115 - List of Drawing Sheets

SPECIFICATIONS
2.01 DIVISION 01 -- GENERAL REQUIREMENTS  

A. 01 1000 - Summary
B. 01 2000 - Price and Payment Procedures
C. 01 3000 - Administrative Requirements
D. 01 5000 - Temporary Facilities and Controls
E. 01 6000 - Product Requirements
F. 01 6116 - Volatile Organic Compound (VOC) Content Restrictions
G. 01 7000 - Execution and Closeout Requirements
H. 01 7419 - Construction Waste Management and Disposal
I. 01 7800 - Closeout Submittals

2.02 DIVISION 02 -- EXISTING CONDITIONS  
A. 02 4100 - Demolition

2.03 DIVISION 03 -- CONCRETE  
A. 03 3000 - Cast-in-Place Concrete

2.04 DIVISION 04 -- MASONRY  
2.05 DIVISION 05 -- METALS  
2.06 DIVISION 06 -- WOOD, PLASTICS, AND COMPOSITES  

A. 06 1000 - Rough Carpentry
B. 06 4100 - Architectural Wood Casework

2.07 DIVISION 07 -- THERMAL AND MOISTURE PROTECTION  
A. 07 2119 - Foamed-In-Place Insulation
B. 07 9200 - Joint Sealants

2.08 DIVISION 08 -- OPENINGS  
A. 08 1217 - Prefinished Metal Frames
B. 08 3313 - Coiling Counter Doors
C. 08 4313 - Aluminum-Framed Storefronts
D. 08 5659 - Service and Teller Window Units
E. 08 7100 - Door Hardware
F. 08 8000 - Glazing

2.09 DIVISION 09 -- FINISHES  
A. 09 2116 - Gypsum Board Assemblies
B. 09 3000 - Tiling
C. 09 5100 - Acoustical Ceilings

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 61



16-1010 / WCCHD Renovations 00 0110 - 2 TABLE OF CONTENTS

D. 09 6500 - Resilient Flooring
E. 09 6813 - Tile Carpeting
F. 09 9123 - Interior Painting

2.10 DIVISION 10 -- SPECIALTIES  
A. 10 2113.16 - Plastic-Laminate-Clad Toilet Compartments
B. 10 2113.19 - Plastic Toilet Compartments

2.11 DIVISION 11 -- EQUIPMENT  
2.12 DIVISION 12 -- FURNISHINGS  

A. 12 2113 - Horizontal Louver Blinds
2.13 DIVISION 13 -- SPECIAL CONSTRUCTION  
2.14 DIVISION 14 -- CONVEYING EQUIPMENT  
2.15 DIVISION 21 -- FIRE SUPPRESSION  

21 1313 - WET PIPE SPRINKLER SYSTEM
2.16 DIVISION 22 -- PLUMBING  

A. 22 0200 - BASIC MATERIALS AND METHODS
B. 22 0529 - HANGERS AND SUPPORT FOR PLUMBING PIPING AND EQUIPMENT
C. 22 0548 - VIBRATION AND SEISMIC CONTROLS FOR PLUMBING PIPING
D. 22 0553 - IDENTIFICATION FOR PLUMBING PIPING AND EQUIPMENT
E. 22 0719 - PLUMBING PIPING INSULATION
F. 22 1000 - PLUMBING PIPING
G. 22 1119 - PLUMBING SPECIALTIES
H. 22 3000 - PLUMBING EQUIPMENT
I. 22 4000 - PLUMBING FIXTURES

2.17 DIVISION 23 -- HEATING, VENTILATING, AND AIR-CONDITIONING (HVAC)  
A. 23 0200 - BASIC MATERIALS AND METHODS
B. 23 0513 - COMMON MOTOR REQUIREMENTS FOR HVAC EQUIPMENT
C. 23 0529 - HANGERS AND SUPPORT FOR PIPING AND EQUIPMENT HVAC
D. 23 0548 - VIBRATION AND SEISMIC CONTROLS FOR HVAC PIPING AND EQUIPMENT
E. 23 0553 - IDENTIFICATION FOR HVAC PIPING AND EQUIPMENT
F. 23 0593 - TESTING, ADJUSTING, AND BALANCING OF HVAC SYSTEMS
G. 23 0713 - DUCT INSULATION
H. 23 0716 - HVAC EQUIPMENT INSULATION
I. 23 0719 - HVAC PIPING INSULATION
J. 23 2300 - REFRIGERANT PIPING
K. 23 3113 - METAL DUCTWORK
L. 23 3300 - DUCTWORK ACCESSORIES
M. 23 3400 - HVAC FANS
N. 23 3713 - AIR DISTRIBUTION DEVICES
O. 23 8126 - SPLIT-SYSTEM AIR-CONDITIONERS

2.18 DIVISION 26 -- ELECTRICAL  

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 62



16-1010 / WCCHD Renovations 00 0110 - 3 TABLE OF CONTENTS

A. 26 0200 - BASIC MATERIALS AND METHODS
B. 26 0313 - ELECTRICAL DEMOLITION FOR REMODELING
C. 26 0519 - WIRE, CABLE AND RELATED MATERIALS
D. 26 0526 - GROUNDING
E. 26 0533 - RACEWAYS
F. 26 2726 - WIRING DEVICES
G. 26 2816 - SAFETY AND DISCONNECT SWITCHES
H. 26 2926 - MISCELLANEOUS ELECTRICAL CONTROLS AND WIRING
I. 26 3213 - DIESEL ENGINE DRIVEN STANDYBY GENERATOR
J. 26 5100 - LIGHTING FIXTURES

2.19 DIVISION 27 -- COMMUNICATIONS  
A. 27 1000 - Structured Cabling System

2.20 DIVISION 28 -- ELECTRONIC SAFETY AND SECURITY  
A. 28 1300 - Access Control System

2.21 DIVISION 31 -- EARTHWORK  
2.22 DIVISION 32 -- EXTERIOR IMPROVEMENTS  

A. 32 1216 - Asphalt Paving
B. 32 1713 - Parking Bumpers
C. 32 1723.13 - Painted Pavement Markings

2.23 DIVISION 33 -- UTILITIES  
END OF SECTION

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 63



16-1010 / WCCHD Renovations 00 0115 - 1 LIST OF DRAWING SHEETS

SECTION 00 0115
LIST OF DRAWING SHEETS

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 64



16-1010 / WCCHD Renovations 00 0115 - 2 LIST OF DRAWING SHEETS

G0.01 LIFE SAFETY PLAN

ARCHITECTURE
A0.01 1ST FLOOR DEMOLITION PLAN
A0.02 2ND FLOOR DEMOLITION PLAN
A1.01 ROOF & SITE PLAN
A2.01 1ST FLOOR RENOVATION PLAN
A2.02 2ND FLOOR RENOVATION PLAN
A3.01 1ST FLOOR REFLECTED CEILING PLAN
A3.02 2ND FLOOR REFLECTED CEILING PLAN
A5.01 DOOR SCHEDULE & DETAILS
A7.01 ROOM FINISH SCHEDULE & LEGEND
A7.02 1ST FLOOR FINISH PLAN
A7.03 2ND FLOOR FINISH PLAN
A10.01 INTERIOR ELEVATIONS
A11.01 MILLWORK SECTIONS & PLAN DETAILS

TECHNOLOGY/SECURITY
T001 TECHNOLOGY SYMBOLS & LEGEND
T101 1ST FLOOR PLAN- TECHNOLOGY
T102 2ND FLOOR PLAN- TECHNOLOGY
T301 TECHNOLOGY DETAILS
T302 SECURITY DETAILS
T303 SECURITY DIAGRAMS/SCHEDULES

MECHANICAL/ELECTRICAL/PLUMBING
DM2.01 1ST LEVEL DEMO MECHANICAL PLAN
DM2.02 2ND LEVEL DEMO MECHANICAL PLAN
DEL2.01 1ST LEVEL DEMO LIGHTING PLAN
DEL2.02 2ND LEVEL DEMO LIGHTING PLAN
DEP2.01 1ST LEVEL DEMO POWER PLAN
DEP2.02 2ND LEVEL DEMO POWER PLAN
DP2.01 1ST LEVEL DEMO PLUMBING PLAN
DP2.02 2ND LEVEL DEMO PLUMBING PLAN
MEP2.01 MEP SITE PLAN
M0.00 MECHANICAL SYMBOLS & ABBREVIATIONS
M2.01 1ST LEVEL MECHANICAL PLAN
M2.02 2ND LEVEL MECHANICAL PLAN

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 65



16-1010 / WCCHD Renovations 00 0115 - 3 LIST OF DRAWING SHEETS

M3.01 MECHANICAL DETAILS
M4.01 MECHANICAL SCHEDULES
M4.02 MECHANICAL SCHEDULES
E0.00 ELECTRICAL SYMBOL & ABBREVIATIONS
E3.01 ELECTRICAL NOTES, DETAILS & LIGHT FIXTURE SCHEDULE
E3.02 ELECTRICAL DETAILS
E4.01 ELECTRICAL ONE-LINE DIAGRAMS & PANEL SCHEDULES
EL2.01 1ST LEVEL LIGHTING PLAN
EL2.02 2ND LEVEL LIGHTING PLAN
EP2.01 1ST LEVEL POWER PLAN
EP2.02 2ND LEVEL POWER PLAN
P2.01 1ST LEVEL PLUMBING PLAN
P2.02 2ND LEVEL PLUMBING PLAN
P3.01 PLUMBING RISERS
P5.01 PLUMBING SCHEDULES
P6.01 PLUMBING DETAILS

END OF SECTION

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 66



16-1010 / WCCHD Renovations 01 1000 - 1 SUMMARY

SECTION 01 1000
SUMMARY

PART 1  GENERAL
1.01 PROJECT

A. Project Name:  WCCHD Renovations
B. Owner's Name:  Williamson County.
C. Architect's Name:  Haddon+Cowan Architects.

1.02 DESCRIPTION OF ALTERATIONS WORK
A. Scope of demolition and removal work is shown on drawings and specified in Section 02 4100.
B. Scope of alterations work is shown on drawings.

1.03 WORK BY OWNER
A. Items noted NIC (Not in Contract) will be supplied and installed by Owner before Substantial

Completion.  
1.04 OWNER OCCUPANCY

A. Owner intends to occupy the Project upon Substantial Completion.
B. Cooperate with Owner to minimize conflict and to facilitate Owner's operations.
C. Schedule the Work to accommodate Owner occupancy.

1.05 CONTRACTOR USE OF SITE AND PREMISES
A. Construction Operations:  Limited to areas noted on Drawings. 
B. Provide access to and from site as required by law and by Owner:

1. Emergency Building Exits During Construction:  Keep all exits required by code open
during construction period; provide temporary exit signs if exit routes are temporarily
altered.

2. Do not obstruct roadways, sidewalks, or other public ways without permit.
C. Utility Outages and Shutdown:

1. Prevent accidental disruption of utility services to other facilities.
1.06 WORK SEQUENCE

END OF SECTION

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 67



16-1010 / WCCHD Renovations 01 2000 - 1 PRICE AND PAYMENT
PROCEDURES

SECTION 01 2000
PRICE AND PAYMENT PROCEDURES

PART 1  GENERAL
1.01 SECTION INCLUDES

A. Procedures for preparation and submittal of applications for progress payments.
1.02 SCHEDULE OF VALUES

A. Electronic media printout including equivalent information will be considered in lieu of standard
form specified; submit draft to Architect for approval.

B. Forms filled out by hand will not be accepted.
C. Submit Schedule of Values in duplicate within 15 days after date of Owner-Contractor

Agreement.
D. Format:  Utilize the Table of Contents of this Project Manual. Identify each line item with number

and title of the specification Section.  Identify site mobilization and bonds and insurance.
E. Revise schedule to list approved Change Orders, with each Application For Payment.

1.03 APPLICATIONS FOR PROGRESS PAYMENTS
A. Payment Period:  Submit at intervals stipulated in the Agreement.
B. Electronic media printout including equivalent information will be considered in lieu of standard

form specified; submit sample to Architect for approval.
C. Forms filled out by hand will not be accepted.
D. For each item, provide a column for listing each of the following:

1. Item Number.
2. Description of work.
3. Scheduled Values.
4. Previous Applications.
5. Work in Place and Stored Materials under this Application.
6. Authorized Change Orders.
7. Total Completed and Stored to Date of Application.
8. Percentage of Completion.
9. Balance to Finish.
10. Retainage.

E. Execute certification by signature of authorized officer.
F. Submit three copies of each Application for Payment.
G. Include the following with the application:

1. Partial release of liens from major Subcontractors and vendors.
2. Affidavits attesting to off-site stored products.

H. When Architect requires substantiating information, submit data justifying dollar amounts in
question.  

1.04 MODIFICATION PROCEDURES
A. For minor changes not involving an adjustment to the Contract Sum or Contract Time, Architect

will issue instructions directly to Contractor.
B. For changes for which advance pricing is desired, Architect will issue a document that includes

a detailed description of a proposed change with supplementary or revised drawings and
specifications, a change in Contract Time for executing the change and the period of time
during which the requested price will be considered valid.  Contractor shall prepare and submit
a fixed price quotation within 5 days.

C. Contractor may propose a change by submitting a request for change to Architect, describing
the proposed change and its full effect on the Work, with a statement describing the reason for

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 68



16-1010 / WCCHD Renovations 01 2000 - 2 PRICE AND PAYMENT
PROCEDURES

the change, and the effect on the Contract Sum and Contract Time with full documentation . 
Document any requested substitutions in accordance with Section 01 6000.

D. Computation of Change in Contract Amount:  As specified in the Agreement and Conditions of
the Contract.

E. Substantiation of Costs:  Provide full information required for evaluation.
1. On request, provide the following data:

a. Quantities of products, labor, and equipment.
b. Taxes, insurance, and bonds.
c. Overhead and profit.
d. Justification for any change in Contract Time.
e. Credit for deletions from Contract, similarly documented.

2. Support each claim for additional costs with additional information:
a. Dates and times work was performed, and by whom.
b. Invoices and receipts for products, equipment, and subcontracts, similarly

documented.
F. Execution of Change Orders:  Architect will issue Change Orders for signatures of parties as

provided in the Conditions of the Contract.
G. After execution of Change Order, promptly revise Schedule of Values and Application for

Payment forms to record each authorized Change Order as a separate line item and adjust the
Contract Sum.

H. Promptly enter changes in Project Record Documents.
1.05 APPLICATION FOR FINAL PAYMENT

A. Prepare Application for Final Payment as specified for progress payments, identifying total
adjusted Contract Sum, previous payments, and sum remaining due.

B. Application for Final Payment will not be considered until the following have been accomplished:
1. All closeout procedures specified in Section 01 7000.

END OF SECTION

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 69



16-1010 / WCCHD Renovations 01 3000 - 1 ADMINISTRATIVE
REQUIREMENTS

SECTION 01 3000
ADMINISTRATIVE REQUIREMENTS

PART 1  GENERAL
1.01 SECTION INCLUDES

A. Preconstruction meeting.
B. Progress meetings.
C. Construction progress schedule.
D. Coordination drawings.
E. Submittals for review, information, and project closeout.
F. Submittal procedures.

PART 2  PRODUCTS - NOT USED
PART 3  EXECUTION
3.01 PRECONSTRUCTION MEETING

A. Attendance Required:
1. Owner.
2. Architect.
3. Contractor.

B. Agenda:
1. Execution of Owner-Contractor Agreement.
2. Submission of executed bonds and insurance certificates.
3. Distribution of Contract Documents.
4. Submission of list of Subcontractors, list of Products, schedule of values, and progress

schedule.
5. Designation of personnel representing the parties to Contract, ________ and Architect.
6. Procedures and processing of field decisions, submittals, substitutions, applications for

payments, proposal request, Change Orders, and Contract closeout procedures.
7. Scheduling.

C. Record minutes and distribute copies within two days after meeting to participants, with two
copies to Architect, Owner, participants, and those affected by decisions made.

3.02 PROGRESS MEETINGS
A. Schedule and administer meetings throughout progress of the Work at maximum bi-monthly

intervals.
B. Make arrangements for meetings, prepare agenda with copies for participants, preside at

meetings.
C. Attendance Required:

1. Contractor.
2. Owner.
3. Architect.
4. Contractor's Superintendent.
5. Major Subcontractors as required or requested by Architect/Owner.

D. Agenda:
1. Review minutes of previous meetings.
2. Review of Work progress.
3. Field observations, problems, and decisions.
4. Identification of problems that impede, or will impede, planned progress.
5. Review of submittals schedule and status of submittals.
6. Maintenance of progress schedule.
7. Corrective measures to regain projected schedules.

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 70



16-1010 / WCCHD Renovations 01 3000 - 2 ADMINISTRATIVE
REQUIREMENTS

8. Planned progress during succeeding work period.
9. Maintenance of quality and work standards.
10. Effect of proposed changes on progress schedule and coordination.
11. Other business relating to Work.

E. Record minutes and distribute copies within two days after meeting to participants, with  copies
to Architect, Owner, participants, and those affected by decisions made.

3.03 CONSTRUCTION PROGRESS SCHEDULE
A. Within 10 days after date of the Agreement, submit preliminary schedule .
B. If preliminary schedule requires revision after review, submit revised schedule within 10 days.
C. Within 20 days after review of preliminary schedule, submit draft of proposed complete

schedule for review.
1. Include written certification that major contractors have reviewed and accepted proposed

schedule.
D. Within 10 days after joint review, submit complete schedule.
E. Submit updated schedule with each Application for Payment.

3.04 COORDINATION DRAWINGS
A. Review drawings prior to submission to Architect.  Uncoordinated submittals will be rejected out

of hand.
3.05 SUBMITTALS FOR REVIEW

A. When the following are specified in individual sections, submit them for review:
1. Product data.
2. Shop drawings.
3. Samples for selection.
4. Samples for verification.

B. Submit to Architect for review for the limited purpose of checking for conformance with
information given and the design concept expressed in the contract documents.

C. Samples will be reviewed only for aesthetic, color, or finish selection.
D. After review, provide copies and distribute in accordance with SUBMITTAL PROCEDURES

article below .
3.06 SUBMITTALS FOR INFORMATION

A. When the following are specified in individual sections, submit them for information:
1. Design data.
2. Certificates.
3. Test reports.
4. Inspection reports.
5. Manufacturer's instructions.
6. Manufacturer's field reports.
7. Other types indicated.

B. Submit for Architect's knowledge as contract administrator or for Owner.  
3.07 SUBMITTALS FOR PROJECT CLOSEOUT

A. Submit Correction Punch List for Substantial Completion.
B. Submit Final Correction Punch List for Substantial Completion.
C. When the following are specified in individual sections, submit them at project closeout:

1. Project record documents.
2. Operation and maintenance data.
3. Warranties.
4. Bonds.
5. Other types as indicated.

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 71



16-1010 / WCCHD Renovations 01 3000 - 3 ADMINISTRATIVE
REQUIREMENTS

D. Submit for Owner's benefit during and after project completion.
3.08 NUMBER OF COPIES OF SUBMITTALS

A. Electronic Documents:  Submit one electronic copy in PDF format; an electronically-marked up
file will be returned.  Create PDFs at native size and right-side up; illegible files will be rejected.

B. Samples:  Submit the number specified in individual specification sections; one of which will be
retained by Architect.
1. After review, produce duplicates.
2. Retained samples will not be returned to Contractor unless specifically so stated.

3.09 SUBMITTAL PROCEDURES
A. Shop Drawing Procedures:

1. Prepare accurate, drawn-to-scale, original shop drawing documentation by  interpreting the
Contract Documents and coordinating related Work.

2. Generic, non-project specific information submitted as shop drawings do not meet the
requirements for shop drawings.

B. Transmit each submittal with a copy of approved submittal form.
C. Sequentially number the transmittal form.  Revise submittals with original number and a

sequential alphabetic suffix.
D. Identify Project, Contractor, Subcontractor or supplier; pertinent drawing and detail number, and

specification section number, as appropriate on each copy.
E. Apply Contractor's stamp, signed or initialed certifying that review, approval, verification of

Products required, field dimensions, adjacent construction Work, and coordination of
information is in accordance with the requirements of the Work and Contract Documents.

F. Schedule submittals to expedite the Project, and coordinate submission of related items.
G. For each submittal for review, allow 15 days excluding delivery time to and from the Contractor.
H. Identify variations from Contract Documents and Product or system limitations that may be

detrimental to successful performance of the completed Work.
I. Provide space for Contractor and Architect review stamps.
J. When revised for resubmission, identify all changes made since previous submission.
K. Distribute reviewed submittals as appropriate.  Instruct parties to promptly report any inability to

comply with requirements.
L. Submittals not requested will not be recognized or processed.

END OF SECTION

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 72



16-1010 / WCCHD Renovations 01 5000 - 1 TEMPORARY FACILITIES AND
CONTROLS

SECTION 01 5000
TEMPORARY FACILITIES AND CONTROLS

PART 1  GENERAL
1.01 SECTION INCLUDES

A. Security requirements.
B. Waste removal facilities and services.

1.02 BARRIERS
A. Provide barriers to prevent unauthorized entry to construction areas, to prevent access to areas

that could be hazardous to workers or the public and to protect existing facilities and adjacent
properties from damage from construction operations and demolition.

B. Protect non-owned vehicular traffic, stored materials, site, and structures from damage.
1.03 EXTERIOR ENCLOSURES

A. Provide temporary  weather tight closure of exterior openings to accommodate acceptable
working conditions and protection for Products, to allow for temporary heating and maintenance
of required ambient temperatures identified in individual specification sections, and to prevent
entry of unauthorized persons.  Provide access doors with self-closing hardware and locks.

1.04 SECURITY - SEE SECTION 01 3553
A. Provide security and facilities to protect Work, existing facilities, and Owner's operations from

unauthorized entry, vandalism, or theft.
1.05 WASTE REMOVAL

A. Provide waste removal facilities and services as required to maintain the site in clean and
orderly condition.

B. Provide containers with lids.  Remove trash from site weekly.
C. If materials to be recycled or re-used on the project must be stored on-site, provide suitable

non-combustible containers; locate containers holding flammable material outside the structure
unless otherwise approved by the authorities having jurisdiction.

D. Open free-fall chutes are not permitted.  Terminate closed chutes into appropriate containers
with lids.

PART 2  PRODUCTS - NOT USED
PART 3  EXECUTION - NOT USED

END OF SECTION

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 73



16-1010 / WCCHD Renovations 01 6000 - 1 PRODUCT REQUIREMENTS

SECTION 01 6000
PRODUCT REQUIREMENTS

PART 1  GENERAL
1.01 SECTION INCLUDES

A. Re-use of existing products.
B. Transportation, handling, storage and protection.
C. Product option requirements.
D. Substitution limitations and procedures.
E. Maintenance materials, including extra materials, spare parts, tools, and software.

1.02 RELATED REQUIREMENTS
A. Section 01 6116 - Volatile Organic Compound (VOC) Content Restrictions:  Requirements for

VOC-restricted product categories.
1.03 REFERENCE STANDARDS

A. EN 15804 - Sustainability of construction works - Environmental product declarations - Core
rules for the product category of construction products; 2012.

B. GreenScreen (LIST) - GreenScreen for Safer Chemicals List Translator; Clean Production
Action; www.greenscreenchemicals.org.

C. GreenScreen (METH) - GreenScreen for Safer Chemicals Method v1.2; Clean Production
Action; www.greenscreenchemicals.org.

D. ISO 14025 - Environmental labels and declarations -- Type III environmental declarations --
Principles and procedures; 2006.

E. ISO 14040 - Environmental management -- Life cycle assessment -- Principles and framework;
2006.

F. ISO 14044 - Environmental management -- Life cycle assessment -- Requirements and
guidelines; 2006.

G. ISO 21930 - Sustainability in building construction -- Environmental declaration of building
products; 2007.

1.04 SUBMITTALS
A. Product Data Submittals:  Submit manufacturer's standard published data.  Mark each copy to

identify applicable products, models, options, and other data.  Supplement manufacturers'
standard data to provide information specific to this Project.

B. Shop Drawing Submittals:  Prepared specifically for this Project; indicate utility and electrical
characteristics, utility connection requirements, and location of utility outlets for service for
functional equipment and appliances.

C. Sample Submittals:  Illustrate functional and aesthetic characteristics of the product, with
integral parts and attachment devices. Coordinate sample submittals for interfacing work.
1. For selection from standard finishes, submit samples of the full range of the

manufacturer's standard colors, textures, and patterns.
1.05 QUALITY ASSURANCE

A. Environmental Product Declaration (EPD):  Publicly available, critically reviewed life cycle
analysis having at least a cradle-to-gate scope.
1. Good:  Product-specific; compliant with ISO 14044.
2. Better:  Industry-wide, generic; compliant with ISO 21930, or with ISO 14044, ISO 14040,

ISO 14025, and EN 15804; Type III third-party certification with external verification, in
which the manufacturer is recognized as the program operator.

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 74

http://global.ihs.com/doc_detail.cfm?rid=BSD&document_name=BS%20EN%20ISO%2014025
http://global.ihs.com/doc_detail.cfm?rid=BSD&document_name=BS%20EN%20ISO%2014025


16-1010 / WCCHD Renovations 01 6000 - 2 PRODUCT REQUIREMENTS

3. Best:  Commercial-product-specific; compliant with ISO 21930, or with ISO 14044, ISO
14040, ISO 14025, and EN 15804; Type III third-party certification with external verification,
in which the manufacturer is recognized as the program operator.

4. Where demonstration of impact reduction below industry average is required, submit both
industry-wide and commercial-product-specific declarations; or submit at least 5
declarations for products of the same type by other manufacturers in the same industry.

B. GreenScreen Chemical Hazard Analysis:  All ingredients of 100 parts-per-million or greater
evaluated using GreenScreen (METH).
1. Good:  GreenScreen (LIST) evaluation to identify Benchmark 1 hazards; a Health Product

Declaration includes this information.
2. Better:  GreenScreen Full Assessment.
3. Best:  GreenScreen Full Assessment by GreenScreen Licensed Profiler.
4. Acceptable Evidence:  GreenScreen report.

PART 2  PRODUCTS
2.01 EXISTING PRODUCTS

A. Existing materials and equipment indicated to be removed, but not to be re-used, relocated,
reinstalled, delivered to the Owner, or otherwise indicated as to remain the property of the
Owner, become the property of the Contractor; remove from site.

B. Specific Products to be Reused:  The reuse of certain materials and equipment already existing
on the project site is indicated on drawings.

2.02 NEW PRODUCTS
A. Provide new products unless specifically required or permitted by the Contract Documents.
B. DO NOT USE products having any of the following characteristics:

1. Made using or containing CFC's or HCFC's.
2. Made of wood from newly cut old growth timber.
3. Containing lead, cadmium, asbestos.

C. Where all other criteria are met, Contractor shall give preference to products that:
1. If used on interior, have lower emissions, as defined in Section 01 6116.
2. If wet-applied, have lower VOC content, as defined in Section 01 6116.
3. Have a published GreenScreen Chemical Hazard Analysis.

2.03 PRODUCT OPTIONS
A. Products Specified by Reference Standards or by Description Only:  Use any product meeting

those standards or description.
B. Products Specified by Naming One or More Manufacturers with a Provision for Substitutions: 

Submit a request for substitution for any manufacturer not named.
2.04 MAINTENANCE MATERIALS

A. Furnish extra materials, spare parts, tools, and software of types and in quantities specified in
individual specification sections.

B. Deliver and place in location as directed; obtain receipt prior to final payment.
PART 3  EXECUTION
3.01 SUBSTITUTION PROCEDURES

A. Document each request with complete data substantiating compliance of proposed substitution
with Contract Documents.

B. A request for substitution constitutes a representation that the submitter:
1. Has investigated proposed product and determined that it meets or exceeds the quality

level of the specified product.
2. Agrees to provide the same warranty for the substitution as for the specified product.
3. Agrees to coordinate installation and make changes to other Work that may be required

for the Work to be complete with no additional cost to Owner.

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 75

http://global.ihs.com/doc_detail.cfm?rid=BSD&document_name=BS%20EN%20ISO%2014025
http://global.ihs.com/doc_detail.cfm?rid=BSD&document_name=BS%20EN%20ISO%2014025
http://global.ihs.com/doc_detail.cfm?rid=BSD&document_name=BS%20EN%20ISO%2014040
http://global.ihs.com/doc_detail.cfm?rid=BSD&document_name=BS%20EN%20ISO%2014040
http://global.ihs.com/doc_detail.cfm?rid=BSD&document_name=BS%20EN%20ISO%2014040
http://global.ihs.com/doc_detail.cfm?rid=BSD&document_name=BS%20EN%20ISO%2014040
http://global.ihs.com/doc_detail.cfm?rid=BSD&document_name=BS%20EN%20ISO%2014040
http://global.ihs.com/doc_detail.cfm?rid=BSD&document_name=BS%20EN%20ISO%2014040
http://global.ihs.com/doc_detail.cfm?rid=BSD&document_name=BS%20EN%20ISO%2014040
http://global.ihs.com/doc_detail.cfm?rid=BSD&document_name=BS%20EN%20ISO%2014040
http://global.ihs.com/doc_detail.cfm?rid=BSD&document_name=BS%20EN%20ISO%2014040
http://global.ihs.com/doc_detail.cfm?rid=BSD&document_name=BS%20EN%20ISO%2014040
http://global.ihs.com/doc_detail.cfm?rid=BSD&document_name=BS%20EN%20ISO%2014040
http://global.ihs.com/doc_detail.cfm?rid=BSD&document_name=BS%20EN%20ISO%2014040
http://global.ihs.com/doc_detail.cfm?rid=BSD&document_name=BS%20EN%20ISO%2014040
http://global.ihs.com/doc_detail.cfm?rid=BSD&document_name=BS%20EN%20ISO%2014040
http://global.ihs.com/doc_detail.cfm?rid=BSD&document_name=BS%20EN%20ISO%2014040
http://global.ihs.com/doc_detail.cfm?rid=BSD&document_name=BS%20EN%20ISO%2014040
http://global.ihs.com/doc_detail.cfm?rid=BSD&document_name=BS%20EN%20ISO%2014040
http://global.ihs.com/doc_detail.cfm?rid=BSD&document_name=BS%20EN%20ISO%2014040
http://global.ihs.com/doc_detail.cfm?rid=BSD&document_name=BS%20EN%20ISO%2014040
http://global.ihs.com/doc_detail.cfm?rid=BSD&document_name=BS%20EN%20ISO%2014040
http://global.ihs.com/doc_detail.cfm?rid=BSD&document_name=BS%20EN%20ISO%2014040
http://global.ihs.com/doc_detail.cfm?rid=BSD&document_name=BS%20EN%20ISO%2014040
http://global.ihs.com/doc_detail.cfm?rid=BSD&document_name=BS%20EN%20ISO%2014040
http://global.ihs.com/doc_detail.cfm?rid=BSD&document_name=BS%20EN%20ISO%2014040
http://global.ihs.com/doc_detail.cfm?rid=BSD&document_name=BS%20EN%20ISO%2014040
http://global.ihs.com/doc_detail.cfm?rid=BSD&document_name=BS%20EN%20ISO%2014040
http://global.ihs.com/doc_detail.cfm?rid=BSD&document_name=BS%20EN%20ISO%2014040
http://global.ihs.com/doc_detail.cfm?rid=BSD&document_name=BS%20EN%20ISO%2014040
http://global.ihs.com/doc_detail.cfm?rid=BSD&document_name=BS%20EN%20ISO%2014040
http://global.ihs.com/doc_detail.cfm?rid=BSD&document_name=BS%20EN%20ISO%2014040
http://global.ihs.com/doc_detail.cfm?rid=BSD&document_name=BS%20EN%20ISO%2014040
http://global.ihs.com/doc_detail.cfm?rid=BSD&document_name=BS%20EN%20ISO%2014040
http://global.ihs.com/doc_detail.cfm?rid=BSD&document_name=BS%20EN%20ISO%2014040
http://global.ihs.com/doc_detail.cfm?rid=BSD&document_name=BS%20EN%20ISO%2014040
http://global.ihs.com/doc_detail.cfm?rid=BSD&document_name=BS%20EN%20ISO%2014040
http://global.ihs.com/doc_detail.cfm?rid=BSD&document_name=BS%20EN%20ISO%2014040
http://global.ihs.com/doc_detail.cfm?rid=BSD&document_name=BS%20EN%20ISO%2014040
http://global.ihs.com/doc_detail.cfm?rid=BSD&document_name=BS%20EN%20ISO%2014040
http://global.ihs.com/doc_detail.cfm?rid=BSD&document_name=BS%20EN%20ISO%2014040
http://global.ihs.com/doc_detail.cfm?rid=BSD&document_name=BS%20EN%20ISO%2014040
http://global.ihs.com/doc_detail.cfm?rid=BSD&document_name=BS%20EN%20ISO%2014040
http://global.ihs.com/doc_detail.cfm?rid=BSD&document_name=BS%20EN%20ISO%2014040
http://global.ihs.com/doc_detail.cfm?rid=BSD&document_name=BS%20EN%20ISO%2014040
http://global.ihs.com/doc_detail.cfm?rid=BSD&document_name=BS%20EN%20ISO%2014040
http://global.ihs.com/doc_detail.cfm?rid=BSD&document_name=BS%20EN%20ISO%2014040
http://global.ihs.com/doc_detail.cfm?rid=BSD&document_name=BS%20EN%20ISO%2014040
http://global.ihs.com/doc_detail.cfm?rid=BSD&document_name=BS%20EN%20ISO%2014040
http://global.ihs.com/doc_detail.cfm?rid=BSD&document_name=BS%20EN%20ISO%2014040


16-1010 / WCCHD Renovations 01 6000 - 3 PRODUCT REQUIREMENTS

4. Waives claims for additional costs or time extension that may subsequently become
apparent.

C. Substitutions will not be considered when they are indicated or implied on shop drawing or
product data submittals, without separate written request, or when acceptance will require
revision to the Contract Documents.

D. Substitution Submittal Procedure (after contract award):
1. Submit three copies of request for substitution for consideration.  Limit each request to one

proposed substitution.
2. Submit shop drawings, product data, and certified test results attesting to the proposed

product equivalence.  Burden of proof is on proposer.
3. Architect will notify Contractor in writing of decision to accept or reject request.

3.02 TRANSPORTATION AND HANDLING
A. Package products for shipment in manner to prevent damage; for equipment, package to avoid

loss of factory calibration.
B. If special precautions are required, attach instructions prominently and legibly on outside of

packaging.
C. Coordinate schedule of product delivery to designated prepared areas in order to minimize site

storage time and potential damage to stored materials.
D. Transport and handle products in accordance with manufacturer's instructions.
E. Transport materials in covered trucks to prevent contamination of product and littering of

surrounding areas.
F. Promptly inspect shipments to ensure that products comply with requirements, quantities are

correct, and products are undamaged.
G. Provide equipment and personnel to handle products by methods to prevent soiling,

disfigurement, or damage, and to minimize handling.
H. Arrange for the return of packing materials, such as wood pallets, where economically feasible.

3.03 STORAGE AND PROTECTION
A. Designate receiving/storage areas for incoming products so that they are delivered according to

installation schedule and placed convenient to work area in order to minimize waste due to
excessive materials handling and misapplication.

B. Store and protect products in accordance with manufacturers' instructions.
C. Store with seals and labels intact and legible.
D. Store sensitive products in weather tight, climate controlled, enclosures in an environment

favorable to product.
E. For exterior storage of fabricated products, place on sloped supports above ground.
F. Protect products from damage or deterioration due to construction operations, weather,

precipitation, humidity, temperature, sunlight and ultraviolet light, dirt, dust, and other
contaminants.

G. Comply with manufacturer's warranty conditions, if any.
H. Cover products subject to deterioration with impervious sheet covering.  Provide ventilation to

prevent condensation and degradation of products.
I. Prevent contact with material that may cause corrosion, discoloration, or staining.
J. Provide equipment and personnel to store products by methods to prevent soiling,

disfigurement, or damage.
K. Arrange storage of products to permit access for inspection. Periodically inspect to verify

products are undamaged and are maintained in acceptable condition.
END OF SECTION

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 76

http://global.ihs.com/doc_detail.cfm?rid=BSD&document_name=BS%20EN%20ISO%2014040
http://global.ihs.com/doc_detail.cfm?rid=BSD&document_name=BS%20EN%20ISO%2014040
http://global.ihs.com/doc_detail.cfm?rid=BSD&document_name=BS%20EN%20ISO%2014040
http://global.ihs.com/doc_detail.cfm?rid=BSD&document_name=BS%20EN%20ISO%2014040
http://global.ihs.com/doc_detail.cfm?rid=BSD&document_name=BS%20EN%20ISO%2014040
http://global.ihs.com/doc_detail.cfm?rid=BSD&document_name=BS%20EN%20ISO%2014040
http://global.ihs.com/doc_detail.cfm?rid=BSD&document_name=BS%20EN%20ISO%2014040
http://global.ihs.com/doc_detail.cfm?rid=BSD&document_name=BS%20EN%20ISO%2014040
http://global.ihs.com/doc_detail.cfm?rid=BSD&document_name=BS%20EN%20ISO%2014040
http://global.ihs.com/doc_detail.cfm?rid=BSD&document_name=BS%20EN%20ISO%2014040
http://global.ihs.com/doc_detail.cfm?rid=BSD&document_name=BS%20EN%20ISO%2014040
http://global.ihs.com/doc_detail.cfm?rid=BSD&document_name=BS%20EN%20ISO%2014040
http://global.ihs.com/doc_detail.cfm?rid=BSD&document_name=BS%20EN%20ISO%2014040
http://global.ihs.com/doc_detail.cfm?rid=BSD&document_name=BS%20EN%20ISO%2014040
http://global.ihs.com/doc_detail.cfm?rid=BSD&document_name=BS%20EN%20ISO%2014040
http://global.ihs.com/doc_detail.cfm?rid=BSD&document_name=BS%20EN%20ISO%2014040
http://global.ihs.com/doc_detail.cfm?rid=BSD&document_name=BS%20EN%20ISO%2014040
http://global.ihs.com/doc_detail.cfm?rid=BSD&document_name=BS%20EN%20ISO%2014040
http://global.ihs.com/doc_detail.cfm?rid=BSD&document_name=BS%20EN%20ISO%2014040
http://global.ihs.com/doc_detail.cfm?rid=BSD&document_name=BS%20EN%20ISO%2014040
http://global.ihs.com/doc_detail.cfm?rid=BSD&document_name=BS%20EN%20ISO%2014040
http://global.ihs.com/doc_detail.cfm?rid=BSD&document_name=BS%20EN%20ISO%2014040
http://global.ihs.com/doc_detail.cfm?rid=BSD&document_name=BS%20EN%20ISO%2014040
http://global.ihs.com/doc_detail.cfm?rid=BSD&document_name=BS%20EN%20ISO%2014040
http://global.ihs.com/doc_detail.cfm?rid=BSD&document_name=BS%20EN%20ISO%2014040
http://global.ihs.com/doc_detail.cfm?rid=BSD&document_name=BS%20EN%20ISO%2014040
http://global.ihs.com/doc_detail.cfm?rid=BSD&document_name=BS%20EN%20ISO%2014040
http://global.ihs.com/doc_detail.cfm?rid=BSD&document_name=BS%20EN%20ISO%2014040
http://global.ihs.com/doc_detail.cfm?rid=BSD&document_name=BS%20EN%20ISO%2014040
http://global.ihs.com/doc_detail.cfm?rid=BSD&document_name=BS%20EN%20ISO%2014040
http://global.ihs.com/doc_detail.cfm?rid=BSD&document_name=BS%20EN%20ISO%2014040
http://global.ihs.com/doc_detail.cfm?rid=BSD&document_name=BS%20EN%20ISO%2014040
http://global.ihs.com/doc_detail.cfm?rid=BSD&document_name=BS%20EN%20ISO%2014040
http://global.ihs.com/doc_detail.cfm?rid=BSD&document_name=BS%20EN%20ISO%2014040
http://global.ihs.com/doc_detail.cfm?rid=BSD&document_name=BS%20EN%20ISO%2014040
http://global.ihs.com/doc_detail.cfm?rid=BSD&document_name=BS%20EN%20ISO%2014040
http://global.ihs.com/doc_detail.cfm?rid=BSD&document_name=BS%20EN%20ISO%2014040
http://global.ihs.com/doc_detail.cfm?rid=BSD&document_name=BS%20EN%20ISO%2014040
http://global.ihs.com/doc_detail.cfm?rid=BSD&document_name=BS%20EN%20ISO%2014040
http://global.ihs.com/doc_detail.cfm?rid=BSD&document_name=BS%20EN%20ISO%2014040
http://global.ihs.com/doc_detail.cfm?rid=BSD&document_name=BS%20EN%20ISO%2014040
http://global.ihs.com/doc_detail.cfm?rid=BSD&document_name=BS%20EN%20ISO%2014040
http://global.ihs.com/doc_detail.cfm?rid=BSD&document_name=BS%20EN%20ISO%2014040
http://global.ihs.com/doc_detail.cfm?rid=BSD&document_name=BS%20EN%20ISO%2014040
http://global.ihs.com/doc_detail.cfm?rid=BSD&document_name=BS%20EN%20ISO%2014040
http://global.ihs.com/doc_detail.cfm?rid=BSD&document_name=BS%20EN%20ISO%2014040
http://global.ihs.com/doc_detail.cfm?rid=BSD&document_name=BS%20EN%20ISO%2014040
http://global.ihs.com/doc_detail.cfm?rid=BSD&document_name=BS%20EN%20ISO%2014040


16-1010 / WCCHD Renovations 01 6000 - 4 PRODUCT REQUIREMENTS

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 77

http://global.ihs.com/doc_detail.cfm?rid=BSD&document_name=BS%20EN%20ISO%2014040


16-1010 / WCCHD Renovations 01 6116 - 1 VOLATILE ORGANIC
COMPOUND (VOC) CONTENT

RESTRICTIONS

SECTION 01 6116
VOLATILE ORGANIC COMPOUND (VOC) CONTENT RESTRICTIONS

PART 1  GENERAL
1.01 SECTION INCLUDES

A. Requirements for Indoor-Emissions-Restricted products.
B. Requirements for VOC-Content-Restricted products.

1.02 DEFINITIONS
A. Indoor-Emissions-Restricted Products:  All products in the following product categories, whether

specified or not:
1. Interior paints and coatings.
2. Interior adhesives and sealants, including flooring adhesives.
3. Thermal and acoustical insulation.

B. VOC-Content-Restricted Products:  All products in the following product categories, whether
specified or not:
1. Interior paints and coatings.
2. Interior adhesives and sealants, including flooring adhesives.

C. Interior of Building:  Anywhere inside the exterior weather barrier.
D. Adhesives:  All gunnable, trowelable, liquid-applied, and aerosol adhesives, whether specified or

not; including flooring adhesives, resilient base adhesives, and pipe jointing adhesives.
E. Sealants:  All gunnable, trowelable, and liquid-applied joint sealants and sealant primers,

whether specified or not; including firestopping sealants and duct joint sealers.
F. Inherently Non-Emitting Materials:  Products composed wholly of minerals or metals, unless

they include organic-based surface coatings, binders, or sealants; and specifically the following:
1. Concrete.
2. Clay brick.
3. Metals that are plated, anodized, or powder-coated.
4. Glass.
5. Ceramics.
6. Solid wood flooring that is unfinished and untreated.

1.03 REFERENCE STANDARDS
A. 40 CFR 59, Subpart D - National Volatile Organic Compound Emission Standards for

Architectural Coatings; current edition.
B. ASTM D3960 - Standard Practice for Determining Volatile Organic Compound (VOC) Content of

Paints and Related Coatings; 2005 (Reapproved 2013).
C. CARB (SCM) - Suggested Control Measure for Architectural Coatings; California Air Resources

Board; 2007.
D. SCAQMD 1113 - South Coast Air Quality Management District Rule No.1113; current edition;

www.aqmd.gov.
E. SCAQMD 1168 - South Coast Air Quality Management District Rule No.1168; current edition;

www.aqmd.gov.
1.04 SUBMITTALS

A. See Section 01 3000 - Administrative Requirements, for submittal procedures.
B. Product Data:  For each VOC-restricted product used in the project, submit evidence of

compliance.
1.05 QUALITY ASSURANCE

A. VOC Content Test Method:  40 CFR 59, Subpart D (EPA Method 24), or ASTM D3960, unless
otherwise indicated.

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 78



16-1010 / WCCHD Renovations 01 6116 - 2 VOLATILE ORGANIC
COMPOUND (VOC) CONTENT

RESTRICTIONS

1. Evidence of Compliance:  Acceptable types of evidence are:
a. Report of laboratory testing performed in accordance with requirements.
b. Published product data showing compliance with requirements.
c. Certification by manufacturer that product complies with requirements.

B. Testing Agency Qualifications:  Independent firm specializing in performing testing and
inspections of the type specified in this section.

PART 2  PRODUCTS
2.01 MATERIALS

A. All Products:  Comply with the most stringent of federal, State, and local requirements, or these
specifications.

B. VOC-Content-Restricted Products:  VOC content not greater than required by the following:
1. Adhesives, Including Flooring Adhesives:  SCAQMD 1168 Rule.
2. Joint Sealants:  SCAQMD 1168 Rule.
3. Paints and Coatings:  Each color; most stringent of the following:

a. 40 CFR 59, Subpart D.
b. SCAQMD 1113 Rule.
c. CARB (SCM).

PART 3  EXECUTION
3.01 FIELD QUALITY CONTROL

A. Owner reserves the right to reject non-compliant products, whether installed or not, and require
their removal and replacement with compliant products at no extra cost to Owner.

B. Additional costs to restore indoor air quality due to installation of non-compliant products will be
borne by Contractor.

END OF SECTION

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 79



16-1010 / WCCHD Renovations 01 7000 - 1 EXECUTION AND CLOSEOUT
REQUIREMENTS

SECTION 01 7000
EXECUTION AND CLOSEOUT REQUIREMENTS

PART 1  GENERAL
1.01 SECTION INCLUDES

A. Examination, preparation, and general installation procedures.
B. Requirements for alterations work, including selective demolition, except removal, disposal,

and/or remediation of hazardous materials and toxic substances.
C. Cutting and patching.
D. Cleaning and protection.
E. Closeout procedures, including Contractor's Correction Punch List, except payment procedures.

1.02 SUBMITTALS
A. See Section 01 3000 - Administrative Requirements, for submittal procedures.
B. Cutting and Patching:  Submit written request in advance of cutting or alteration that affects:

1. Structural integrity of any element of Project.
2. Integrity of weather exposed or moisture resistant element.
3. Efficiency, maintenance, or safety of any operational element.
4. Work of Owner or separate Contractor.

1.03 PROJECT CONDITIONS
A. Grade site to drain.  Maintain excavations free of water.  Provide, operate, and maintain

pumping equipment.
B. Ventilate enclosed areas to assist cure of materials, to dissipate humidity, and to prevent

accumulation of dust, fumes, vapors, or gases.
PART 2  PRODUCTS
2.01 PATCHING MATERIALS

A. New Materials:  As specified in product sections; match existing products and work for patching
and extending work.

B. Type and Quality of Existing Products:  Determine by inspecting and testing products where
necessary, referring to existing work as a standard.

C. Product Substitution:  For any proposed change in materials, submit request for substitution
described in Section 01 6000 - Product Requirements.

PART 3  EXECUTION
3.01 EXAMINATION

A. Verify that existing site conditions and substrate surfaces are acceptable for subsequent work. 
Start of work means acceptance of existing conditions.

B. Verify that existing substrate is capable of structural support or attachment of new work being
applied or attached.

C. Examine and verify specific conditions described in individual specification sections.
D. Take field measurements before confirming product orders or beginning fabrication, to minimize

waste due to over-ordering or misfabrication.
E. Verify that utility services are available, of the correct characteristics, and in the correct

locations.
F. Prior to Cutting:  Examine existing conditions prior to commencing work, including elements

subject to damage or movement during cutting and patching.  After uncovering existing work,
assess conditions affecting performance of work.  Beginning of cutting or patching means
acceptance of existing conditions.

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 80



16-1010 / WCCHD Renovations 01 7000 - 2 EXECUTION AND CLOSEOUT
REQUIREMENTS

3.02 PREPARATION
A. Clean substrate surfaces prior to applying next material or substance.
B. Seal cracks or openings of substrate prior to applying next material or substance.
C. Apply manufacturer required or recommended substrate primer, sealer, or conditioner prior to

applying any new material or substance in contact or bond.
3.03 LAYING OUT THE WORK

A. Promptly notify Architect of any discrepancies discovered.
B. Establish elevations, lines and levels.  Locate and lay out by instrumentation and similar

appropriate means:
1. Site improvements including pavements; stakes for grading, fill and topsoil placement;

utility locations, slopes, and invert elevations; and ramp layouts.
2. Grid or axis for structures.
3. Building foundation, column locations, ground floor elevations.

C. Periodically verify layouts by same means.
3.04 GENERAL INSTALLATION REQUIREMENTS

A. Install products as specified in individual sections, in accordance with manufacturer's
instructions and recommendations, and so as to avoid waste due to necessity for replacement.

B. Make vertical elements plumb and horizontal elements level, unless otherwise indicated.
C. Install equipment and fittings plumb and level, neatly aligned with adjacent vertical and

horizontal lines, unless otherwise indicated.
D. Make consistent texture on surfaces, with seamless transitions, unless otherwise indicated.
E. Make neat transitions between different surfaces, maintaining texture and appearance.  

3.05 ALTERATIONS
A. Drawings showing existing construction and utilities are based on casual field observation and

existing record documents only.
1. Verify that construction and utility arrangements are as shown.
2. Report discrepancies to Architect before disturbing existing installation.
3. Beginning of alterations work constitutes acceptance of existing conditions.

B. Maintain weatherproof exterior building enclosure except for interruptions required for
replacement or modifications; take care to prevent water and humidity damage.
1. Where openings in exterior enclosure exist, provide construction to make exterior

enclosure weatherproof.
2. Insulate existing ducts or pipes that are exposed to outdoor ambient temperatures by

alterations work.
C. Remove existing work as indicated and as required to accomplish new work.

1. Remove items indicated on drawings.
2. Relocate items indicated on drawings.
3. Where new surface finishes are to be applied to existing work, perform removals, patch,

and prepare existing surfaces as required to receive new finish; remove existing finish if
necessary for successful application of new finish.

4. Where new surface finishes are not specified or indicated, patch holes and damaged
surfaces to match adjacent finished surfaces as closely as possible.

D. Services (Including but not limited to HVAC, Plumbing, Fire Protection, Electrical, and
Telecommunications):  Remove, relocate, and extend existing systems to accommodate new
construction.
1. Maintain existing active systems that are to remain in operation; maintain access to

equipment and operational components; if necessary, modify installation to allow access or
provide access panel.

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 81



16-1010 / WCCHD Renovations 01 7000 - 3 EXECUTION AND CLOSEOUT
REQUIREMENTS

2. Where existing systems or equipment are not active and Contract Documents require
reactivation, put back into operational condition; repair supply, distribution, and equipment
as required.

3. Where existing active systems serve occupied facilities but are to be replaced with new
services, maintain existing systems in service until new systems are complete and ready
for service.
a. Disable existing systems only to make switchovers and connections; minimize

duration of outages.
b. Provide temporary connections as required to maintain existing systems in service.

4. Verify that abandoned services serve only abandoned facilities.
5. Remove abandoned pipe, ducts, conduits, and equipment, including those above

accessible ceilings; remove back to source of supply where possible, otherwise cap stub
and tag with identification; patch holes left by removal using materials specified for new
construction.

E. Protect existing work to remain.
1. Prevent movement of structure; provide shoring and bracing if necessary.
2. Perform cutting to accomplish removals neatly and as specified for cutting new work.
3. Repair adjacent construction and finishes damaged during removal work.

F. Adapt existing work to fit new work:  Make as neat and smooth transition as possible.
G. Patching:  Where the existing surface is not indicated to be refinished, patch to match the

surface finish that existed prior to cutting.  Where the surface is indicated to be refinished, patch
so that the substrate is ready for the new finish.

H. Refinish existing surfaces as indicated:
1. Where rooms or spaces are indicated to be refinished, refinish all visible existing surfaces

to remain to the specified condition for each material, with a neat transition to adjacent
finishes.

2. If mechanical or electrical work is exposed accidentally during the work, re-cover and
refinish to match.

I. Clean existing systems and equipment.
J. Remove demolition debris and abandoned items from alterations areas and dispose of off-site;

do not burn or bury.
K. Do not begin new construction in alterations areas before demolition is complete.
L. Comply with all other applicable requirements of this section.

3.06 CUTTING AND PATCHING
A. Whenever possible, execute the work by methods that avoid cutting or patching.
B. See Alterations article above for additional requirements.
C. Perform whatever cutting and patching is necessary to:

1. Complete the work.
2. Fit products together to integrate with other work.
3. Provide openings for penetration of mechanical, electrical, and other services.
4. Match work that has been cut to adjacent work.
5. Repair areas adjacent to cuts to required condition.
6. Repair new work damaged by subsequent work.
7. Remove samples of installed work for testing when requested.
8. Remove and replace defective and non-conforming work.

D. Execute work by methods that avoid damage to other work and that will provide appropriate
surfaces to receive patching and finishing.  In existing work, minimize damage and restore to
original condition.

E. Employ skilled and experienced installer to perform cutting for weather exposed and moisture
resistant elements, and sight exposed surfaces.

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 82



16-1010 / WCCHD Renovations 01 7000 - 4 EXECUTION AND CLOSEOUT
REQUIREMENTS

F. Cut rigid materials using masonry saw or core drill.  Pneumatic tools not allowed without prior
approval.

G. Restore work with new products in accordance with requirements of Contract Documents.
H. Fit work air tight to pipes, sleeves, ducts, conduit, and other penetrations through surfaces.
I. At penetrations of fire rated walls, partitions, ceiling, or floor construction, completely seal voids

with fire rated material , to full thickness of the penetrated element.
J. Patching:

1. Finish patched surfaces to match finish that existed prior to patching.  On continuous
surfaces, refinish to nearest intersection or natural break.  For an assembly, refinish entire
unit.

2. Match color, texture, and appearance.
3. Repair patched surfaces that are damaged, lifted, discolored, or showing other

imperfections due to patching work. If defects are due to condition of substrate, repair
substrate prior to repairing finish.

3.07 PROGRESS CLEANING
A. Maintain areas free of waste materials, debris, and rubbish.  Maintain site in a clean and orderly

condition.
B. Remove debris and rubbish from pipe chases, plenums, attics, crawl spaces, and other closed

or remote spaces, prior to enclosing the space.
C. Broom and vacuum clean interior areas prior to start of surface finishing, and continue cleaning

to eliminate dust.
D. Collect and remove waste materials, debris, and trash/rubbish from site periodically and dispose

off-site; do not burn or bury.
3.08 PROTECTION OF INSTALLED WORK

A. Protect installed work from damage by construction operations.
B. Provide special protection where specified in individual specification sections.
C. Provide temporary and removable protection for installed products. Control activity in immediate

work area to prevent damage.
D. Provide protective coverings at walls, projections, jambs, sills, and soffits of openings.
E. Protect finished floors, stairs, and other surfaces from traffic, dirt, wear, damage, or movement

of heavy objects, by protecting with durable sheet materials.
F. Prohibit traffic or storage upon waterproofed or roofed surfaces.  If traffic or activity is

necessary, obtain recommendations for protection from waterproofing or roofing material
manufacturer.

G. Remove protective coverings when no longer needed; reuse or recycle coverings if possible.
3.09 ADJUSTING

A. Adjust operating products and equipment to ensure smooth and unhindered operation.
3.10 FINAL CLEANING

A. Use cleaning materials that are nonhazardous.
B. Clean interior and exterior glass, surfaces exposed to view; remove temporary labels, stains

and foreign substances, polish transparent and glossy surfaces, vacuum carpeted and soft
surfaces.

C. Remove all labels that are not permanent.  Do not paint or otherwise cover fire test labels or
nameplates on mechanical and electrical  equipment.

D. Clean equipment and fixtures to a sanitary condition with cleaning materials appropriate to the
surface and material being cleaned.

E. Clean filters of operating equipment.

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 83



16-1010 / WCCHD Renovations 01 7000 - 5 EXECUTION AND CLOSEOUT
REQUIREMENTS

F. Clean debris from roofs, gutters, downspouts, scuppers, overflow drains, area drains, and
drainage systems.

G. Clean site; sweep paved areas, rake clean landscaped surfaces.
H. Remove waste, surplus materials, trash/rubbish, and construction facilities from the site;

dispose of in legal manner; do not burn or bury.
3.11 CLOSEOUT PROCEDURES

A. Make submittals that are required by governing or other authorities.
B. Accompany Project Coordinator on preliminary inspection to determine items to be listed for

completion or correction in the Contractor's Correction Punch List for Contractor's Notice of
Substantial Completion.

C. Notify Architect when work is considered ready for Architect's Substantial Completion
inspection.

D. Submit written certification containing Contractor's Correction Punch List, that Contract
Documents have been reviewed, work has been inspected, and that work is complete in
accordance with Contract Documents and ready for Architect's Substantial Completion
inspection.

E. Conduct Substantial Completion inspection and create Final Correction Punch List containing
Architect's and Contractor's comprehensive list of items identified to be completed or corrected
and submit to Architect.

F. Correct items of work listed in Final Correction Punch List and comply with requirements for
access to Owner-occupied areas.

G. Notify Architect when work is considered finally complete and ready for Architect's Substantial
Completion final inspection.

H. Complete items of work determined by Architect listed in executed Certificate of Substantial
Completion.

END OF SECTION

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 84



16-1010 / WCCHD Renovations 01 7419 - 1 CONSTRUCTION WASTE
MANAGEMENT AND DISPOSAL

SECTION 01 7419
CONSTRUCTION WASTE MANAGEMENT AND DISPOSAL

PART 1  GENERAL
1.01 WASTE MANAGEMENT REQUIREMENTS

A. Owner requires that this project generate the least amount of trash and waste possible.
B. Employ processes that ensure the generation of as little waste as possible due to error, poor

planning, breakage, mishandling, contamination, or other factors.
C. Minimize trash/waste disposal in landfills; reuse, salvage, or recycle as much waste as

economically feasible.
D. Contractor shall submit periodic Waste Disposal Reports; all landfill disposal,  recycling,

salvage, and reuse must be reported regardless of to whom the cost or savings accrues; use
the same units of measure on all reports.

E. Methods of trash/waste disposal that are not acceptable are:
1. Burning on the project site.
2. Burying on the project site.
3. Dumping or burying on other property, public or private.
4. Other illegal dumping or burying.

F. Regulatory Requirements:  Contractor is responsible for knowing and complying with regulatory
requirements, including but not limited to Federal, state and local requirements, pertaining to
legal disposal of all construction and demolition waste materials.

1.02 DEFINITIONS
A. Clean:  Untreated and unpainted;  not contaminated with oils, solvents, caulk, or the like.
B. Construction and Demolition Waste:  Solid wastes typically including building materials,

packaging, trash, debris, and rubble resulting from construction, remodeling, repair and
demolition operations.

C. Hazardous:  Exhibiting the characteristics of hazardous substances, i.e., ignitibility, corrosivity,
toxicity or reactivity.

D. Nonhazardous:  Exhibiting none of the characteristics of hazardous substances, i.e., ignitibility,
corrosivity, toxicity, or reactivity.

E. Nontoxic:  Neither immediately poisonous to humans nor poisonous after a long period of
exposure.

F. Recyclable:  The ability of a product or material to be recovered at the end of its life cycle and
remanufactured into a new product for reuse by others.

G. Recycle:  To remove a waste material from the project site to another site for remanufacture
into a new product for reuse by others.

H. Recycling:  The process of sorting, cleansing, treating and reconstituting solid waste and other
discarded materials for the purpose of using the altered form.  Recycling does not include
burning, incinerating, or thermally destroying waste.

I. Return:  To give back reusable items or unused products to vendors for credit.
J. Reuse:  To reuse a construction waste material in some manner on the project site.
K. Salvage:  To remove a waste material from the project site to another site for resale or reuse by

others.
L. Sediment:  Soil and other debris that has been eroded and transported by storm or well

production run-off water.
M. Source Separation:  The act of keeping different types of waste materials separate beginning

from the first time they become waste.
N. Toxic:  Poisonous to humans either immediately or after a long period of exposure.

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 85



16-1010 / WCCHD Renovations 01 7419 - 2 CONSTRUCTION WASTE
MANAGEMENT AND DISPOSAL

O. Trash:  Any product or material unable to be reused, returned, recycled, or salvaged.
P. Waste:  Extra material or material that has reached the end of its useful life in its intended use. 

Waste includes salvageable, returnable, recyclable, and reusable material.
1.03 SUBMITTALS

A. See Section 01 3000 - Administrative Requirements, for submittal procedures.
B. Waste Disposal Reports:  Submit at specified intervals, with details of quantities of trash and

waste, means of disposal or reuse, and costs; show both totals to date and since last report.
1. Submit updated Report with each Application for Progress Payment; failure to submit

Report will delay payment.
2. Submit Report on a form acceptable to Owner.
3. Landfill Disposal:  Include the following information:

a. Identification of material.
b. Amount, in tons or cubic yards (cubic meters), of trash/waste material from the project

disposed of in landfills.
c. State the identity of landfills, total amount of tipping fees paid to landfill, and total

disposal cost.
d. Include manifests, weight tickets, receipts, and invoices as evidence of quantity and

cost.
4. Other Disposal Methods:  Include information similar to that described above, as

appropriate to disposal method.
PART 3  EXECUTION
2.01 WASTE MANAGEMENT PROCEDURES

A. See Section 01 3000 for additional requirements for project meetings, reports, submittal
procedures, and project documentation.

B. See Section 01 5000 for additional requirements related to trash/waste collection and removal
facilities and services.

C. See Section 01 6000 for waste prevention requirements related to delivery, storage, and
handling.

D. See Section 01 7000 for trash/waste prevention procedures related to demolition, cutting and
patching, installation, protection, and cleaning.

2.02 WASTE MANAGEMENT PLAN IMPLEMENTATION
A. Manager:  Designate an on-site person or persons responsible for instructing workers and

overseeing and documenting results of the Waste Management Plan.
B. Communication:  Distribute copies of the Waste Management Plan to job site foreman, each

subcontractor, Owner, and Architect.
C. Instruction:  Provide on-site instruction of appropriate separation, handling, and recycling,

salvage, reuse, and return methods to be used by all parties at the appropriate stages of the
project.

D. Meetings:  Discuss trash/waste management goals and issues at project meetings, particularly
at:
1. Pre-bid meeting.
2. Pre-construction meeting.
3. Regular job-site meetings.

E. Facilities:  Provide specific facilities for separation and storage of materials for recycling,
salvage, reuse, return, and trash disposal, for use by all contractors and installers.
1. Provide containers as required.
2. Provide adequate space for pick-up and delivery and convenience to subcontractors.
3. Keep recycling and trash/waste bin areas neat and clean and clearly marked in order to

avoid contamination of materials.

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 86



16-1010 / WCCHD Renovations 01 7419 - 3 CONSTRUCTION WASTE
MANAGEMENT AND DISPOSAL

F. Hazardous Wastes:  Separate, store, and dispose of hazardous wastes according to applicable
regulations.

G. Recycling:  Separate, store, protect, and handle at the site identified recyclable waste products
in order to prevent contamination of materials and to maximize recyclability of identified
materials.  Arrange for timely pickups from the site or deliveries to recycling facility in order to
prevent contamination of recyclable materials.

H. Reuse of Materials On-Site:  Set aside, sort, and protect separated products in preparation for
reuse.

I. Salvage:  Set aside, sort, and protect products to be salvaged for reuse off-site.
END OF SECTION

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 87



16-1010 / WCCHD Renovations 01 7800 - 1 CLOSEOUT SUBMITTALS

SECTION 01 7800
CLOSEOUT SUBMITTALS

PART 1  GENERAL
1.01 SECTION INCLUDES

A. Project Record Documents.
B. Operation and Maintenance Data.
C. Warranties and bonds.

1.02 RELATED REQUIREMENTS
A. Section 01 3000 - Administrative Requirements:  Submittals procedures, shop drawings,

product data, and samples.
B. Individual Product Sections:  Specific requirements for operation and maintenance data.
C. Individual Product Sections:  Warranties required for specific products or Work.

1.03 SUBMITTALS
A. Project Record Documents:  Submit documents to Architect with claim for final Application for

Payment.
B. Operation and Maintenance Data:

1. Submit two copies of preliminary draft or proposed formats and outlines of contents before
start of Work.  Architect will review draft and return one copy with comments.

2. For equipment, or component parts of equipment put into service during construction and
operated by Owner, submit completed documents within ten days after acceptance.

3. Submit one copy of completed documents 15 days prior to final inspection.  This copy will
be reviewed and returned after final inspection, with Architect comments.  Revise content
of all document sets as required prior to final submission.

4. Submit two sets of revised final documents in final form within 10 days after final
inspection.

C. Warranties and Bonds:
1. For equipment or component parts of equipment put into service during construction with

Owner's permission, submit documents within 10 days after acceptance.
2. Make other submittals within 10 days after Date of Substantial Completion, prior to final

Application for Payment.
3. For items of Work for which acceptance is delayed beyond Date of Substantial

Completion, submit within 10 days after acceptance, listing the date of acceptance as the
beginning of the warranty period.

PART 3  EXECUTION
2.01 PROJECT RECORD DOCUMENTS

A. Maintain on site one set of the following record documents; record actual revisions to the Work:
1. Drawings.
2. Addenda.
3. Change Orders and other modifications to the Contract.

B. Ensure entries are complete and accurate, enabling future reference by Owner.
C. Store record documents separate from documents used for construction.
D. Record information concurrent with construction progress.
E. Record Drawings :  Legibly mark each item to record actual construction including:

1. Field changes of dimension and detail.
2. Details not on original Contract drawings.

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 88



16-1010 / WCCHD Renovations 01 7800 - 2 CLOSEOUT SUBMITTALS

2.02 OPERATION AND MAINTENANCE DATA
A. Source Data:  For each product or system, list names, addresses and telephone numbers of

Subcontractors and suppliers, including local source of supplies and replacement parts.
B. Product Data:  Mark each sheet to clearly identify specific products and component parts, and

data applicable to installation.  Delete inapplicable information.
C. Drawings:  Supplement product data to illustrate relations of component parts of equipment and

systems, to show control and flow diagrams.  Do not use Project Record Documents as
maintenance drawings.

D. Typed Text:  As required to supplement product data.  Provide logical sequence of instructions
for each procedure, incorporating manufacturer's instructions.

2.03 OPERATION AND MAINTENANCE DATA FOR MATERIALS AND FINISHES
A. For Each Product, Applied Material, and Finish:
B. Instructions for Care and Maintenance:  Manufacturer's recommendations for cleaning agents

and methods, precautions against detrimental cleaning agents and methods, and
recommended schedule for cleaning and maintenance.

C. Where additional instructions are required, beyond the manufacturer's standard printed
instructions, have instructions prepared by personnel experienced in the operation and
maintenance of the specific products.

2.04 OPERATION AND MAINTENANCE DATA FOR EQUIPMENT AND SYSTEMS
A. For Each Item of Equipment and Each System:

1. Description of unit or system, and component parts.
2. Identify function, normal operating characteristics, and limiting conditions.
3. Include performance curves, with engineering data and tests.
4. Complete nomenclature and model number of replaceable parts.

B. Where additional instructions are required, beyond the manufacturer's standard printed
instructions, have instructions prepared by personnel experienced in the operation and
maintenance of the specific products.

C. Operating Procedures:  Include start-up, break-in, and routine normal operating instructions and
sequences.  Include regulation, control, stopping, shut-down, and emergency instructions. 
Include summer, winter, and any special operating instructions.

D. Maintenance Requirements:  Include routine procedures and guide for preventative
maintenance and trouble shooting; disassembly, repair, and reassembly instructions; and
alignment, adjusting, balancing, and checking instructions.

E. Provide servicing and lubrication schedule, and list of lubricants required.
F. Include manufacturer's printed operation and maintenance instructions.
G. Include sequence of operation by controls manufacturer.
H. Provide original manufacturer's parts list, illustrations, assembly drawings, and diagrams

required for maintenance.
I. Additional Requirements:  As specified in individual product specification sections.

2.05 ASSEMBLY OF  OPERATION AND MAINTENANCE MANUALS
A. Assemble operation and maintenance data into durable manuals for Owner's personnel use,

with data arranged in the same sequence as, and identified by, the specification sections.
B. Where systems involve more than one specification section, provide separate tabbed divider for

each system.
C. Binders:  Commercial quality, 8-1/2 by 11 inch (216 by 280 mm) three D side ring binders with

durable plastic covers; 2 inch (50 mm) maximum ring size.  When multiple binders are used,
correlate data into related consistent groupings.

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 89



16-1010 / WCCHD Renovations 01 7800 - 3 CLOSEOUT SUBMITTALS

D. Cover:  Identify each binder with typed or printed title OPERATION AND MAINTENANCE
INSTRUCTIONS; identify title of Project; identify subject matter of contents.

E. Project Directory:  Title and address of Project; names, addresses, and telephone numbers of
Architect, Consultants, Contractor and subcontractors, with names of responsible parties.

F. Tables of Contents:  List every item separated by a divider, using the same identification as on
the divider tab; where multiple volumes are required, include all volumes Tables of Contents in
each volume, with the current volume clearly identified.

G. Dividers:  Provide tabbed dividers for each separate product and system; identify the contents
on the divider tab; immediately following the divider tab include a description of product and
major component parts of equipment.

H. Text:  Manufacturer's printed data, or typewritten data on 20 pound paper.
I. Drawings:  Provide with reinforced punched binder tab.  Bind in with text; fold larger drawings to

size of text pages.
2.06 WARRANTIES AND BONDS

A. Obtain warranties and bonds, executed in duplicate by responsible Subcontractors, suppliers,
and manufacturers, within 10 days after completion of the applicable item of work.  Except for
items put into use with Owner's permission, leave date of beginning of time of warranty until
Date of Substantial completion is determined.

B. Verify that documents are in proper form, contain full information, and are notarized.
C. Co-execute submittals when required.
D. Retain warranties and bonds until time specified for submittal.

END OF SECTION

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 90



16-1010 / WCCHD Renovations 02 4100 - 1 DEMOLITION

SECTION 02 4100
DEMOLITION

PART 1  GENERAL
1.01 SECTION INCLUDES

A. Selective demolition of built site elements.
B. Selective demolition of building elements for alteration purposes.

1.02 RELATED REQUIREMENTS
A. Section 01 1000 - Summary:  Limitations on Contractor's use of site and premises.
B. Section 01 1000 - Summary:  Sequencing and staging requirements.
C. Section 01 1000 - Summary:  Description of items to be salvaged or removed for re-use by

Contractor.
D. Section 01 5000 - Temporary Facilities and Controls:  Site fences, security, protective barriers,

and waste removal.
E. Section 01 6000 - Product Requirements:  Handling and storage of items removed for salvage

and relocation.
F. Section 01 7000 - Execution and Closeout Requirements:  Project conditions; protection of

bench marks, survey control points, and existing construction to remain; reinstallation of
removed products; temporary bracing and shoring.

1.03 SUBMITTALS
A. See Section 01 3000 - Administrative Requirements, for submittal procedures.
B. Site Plan:  Showing:

1. Areas for temporary construction and field offices.
C. Project Record Documents:  Accurately record actual locations of capped and active utilities

and subsurface construction.
PART 3  EXECUTION
2.01 SCOPE

A. Remove portions of existing buildings in the following sequence:
1. as indicated on demolition drawings.  Refer to Architectural, MEP and Technology

demolition plans for items to be removed or relocated..
B. Remove other items indicated, for salvage and relocation.
C. Fill excavations, open pits, and holes in ground areas generated as result of removals, using

specified fill; compact fill as required so that required rough grade elevations do not subside
within one year after completion.

2.02 GENERAL PROCEDURES AND PROJECT CONDITIONS
A. Comply with applicable codes and regulations for demolition operations and safety of adjacent

structures and the public.
1. Obtain required permits.
2. Take precautions to prevent catastrophic or uncontrolled collapse of structures to be

removed; do not allow worker or public access within range of potential collapse of
unstable structures.

3. Provide, erect, and maintain temporary barriers and security devices.
4. Conduct operations to minimize effects on and interference with adjacent structures and

occupants.
5. Do not close or obstruct roadways or sidewalks without permit.
6. Conduct operations to minimize obstruction of public and private entrances and exits; do

not obstruct required exits at any time; protect persons using entrances and exits from
removal operations.

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 91



16-1010 / WCCHD Renovations 02 4100 - 2 DEMOLITION

7. Obtain written permission from owners of adjacent properties when demolition equipment
will traverse, infringe upon or limit access to their property.

B. Do not begin removal until receipt of notification to proceed from Owner.
C. Do not begin removal until built elements to be salvaged or relocated have been removed.
D. Protect existing structures and other elements that are not to be removed.

1. Provide bracing and shoring.
2. Prevent movement or settlement of adjacent structures.
3. Stop work immediately if adjacent structures appear to be in danger.

E. If hazardous materials are discovered during removal operations, stop work and notify Architect
and Owner; hazardous materials include regulated asbestos containing materials, lead, PCB's,
and mercury.

2.03 EXISTING UTILITIES
A. Coordinate work with utility companies; notify before starting work and comply with their

requirements; obtain required permits.
B. Protect existing utilities to remain from damage.
C. Do not disrupt public utilities without permit from authority having jurisdiction.
D. Do not close, shut off, or disrupt existing life safety systems that are in use without at least 7

days prior written notification to Owner.
E. Do not close, shut off, or disrupt existing utility branches or take-offs that are in use without at

least 3 days prior written notification to Owner.
F. Locate and mark utilities to remain; mark using highly visible tags or flags, with identification of

utility type; protect from damage due to subsequent construction, using substantial barricades if
necessary.

G. Remove exposed piping, valves, meters, equipment, supports, and foundations of disconnected
and abandoned utilities.

2.04 SELECTIVE DEMOLITION FOR ALTERATIONS
A. Drawings showing existing construction and utilities are based on casual field observation and

existing record documents only.
1. Verify that construction and utility arrangements are as shown.
2. Report discrepancies to Architect before disturbing existing installation.
3. Beginning of demolition work constitutes acceptance of existing conditions that would be

apparent upon examination prior to starting demolition.
B. Maintain weatherproof exterior building enclosure except for interruptions required for

replacement or modifications; take care to prevent water and humidity damage.
C. Remove existing work as indicated and as required to accomplish new work.

1. Remove items indicated on drawings.
D. Services (Including but not limited to HVAC, Plumbing, Fire Protection, Electrical, and

Telecommunications):  Remove existing systems and equipment as indicated.
1. Maintain existing active systems that are to remain in operation; maintain access to

equipment and operational components.
2. Verify that abandoned services serve only abandoned facilities before removal.
3. Remove abandoned pipe, ducts, conduits, and equipment, including those above

accessible ceilings; remove back to source of supply where possible, otherwise cap stub
and tag with identification.

E. Protect existing work to remain.
1. Prevent movement of structure; provide shoring and bracing if necessary.
2. Perform cutting to accomplish removals neatly and as specified for cutting new work.
3. Repair adjacent construction and finishes damaged during removal work.
4. Patch as specified for patching new work.

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 92



16-1010 / WCCHD Renovations 02 4100 - 3 DEMOLITION

2.05 DEBRIS AND WASTE REMOVAL
A. Remove debris, junk, and trash from site.
B. Leave site in clean condition, ready for subsequent work.
C. Clean up spillage and wind-blown debris from public and private lands.

END OF SECTION

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 93



16-1010 / WCCHD Renovations 03 3000 - 1 CAST-IN-PLACE CONCRETE

SECTION 03 3000
CAST-IN-PLACE CONCRETE

PART 1  GENERAL
1.01 SECTION INCLUDES

A. Concrete formwork.
B. Floors and slabs on grade.
C. Concrete reinforcement.
D. Joint devices associated with concrete work.
E. Miscellaneous concrete elements, including equipment pads and concrete ramps and plumbing

repair work.
F. Concrete curing.

1.02 RELATED REQUIREMENTS
A. Section 07 9200 - Joint Sealants:  Products and installation for sealants for saw cut joints and

isolation joints in slabs.
1.03 REFERENCE STANDARDS

A. ACI 211.1 - Standard Practice for Selecting Proportions for Normal, Heavyweight, and Mass
Concrete; 1991 (Reapproved 2009).

B. ACI 301 - Specifications for Structural Concrete; 2010 (Errata 2012).
C. ACI 302.1R - Guide for Concrete Floor and Slab Construction; 2004 (Errata 2007).
D. ACI 304R - Guide for Measuring, Mixing, Transporting, and Placing Concrete; 2000.
E. ACI 308R - Guide to Curing Concrete; 2001 (Reapproved 2008).
F. ACI 318 - Building Code Requirements for Structural Concrete and Commentary; 2014 (Errata

2016).
G. ASTM A615/A615M - Standard Specification for Deformed and Plain Carbon-Steel Bars for

Concrete Reinforcement; 2016.
H. ASTM C39/C39M - Standard Test Method for Compressive Strength of Cylindrical Concrete

Specimens; 2016b.
I. ASTM C150/C150M - Standard Specification for Portland Cement; 2016.
J. ASTM C1059/C1059M - Standard Specification for Latex Agents for Bonding Fresh to

Hardened Concrete; 2013.
K. NSF 61 - Drinking Water System Components - Health Effects; 2014 (Errata 2015).
L. NSF 372 - Drinking Water System Components - Lead Content; 2011.

1.04 SUBMITTALS
A. See Section 01 3000 - Administrative Requirements, for submittal procedures.
B. Mix Design:  Submit proposed concrete mix design.

1. Indicate proposed mix design complies with requirements of ACI 318, Chapter 5 -
Concrete Quality, Mixing and Placing.

1.05 QUALITY ASSURANCE
A. Perform work of this section in accordance with ACI 301 and ACI 318.

PART 2  PRODUCTS
2.01 FORMWORK

A. Form Materials:  Contractor's choice of standard products with sufficient strength to withstand
hydrostatic head without distortion in excess of permitted tolerances.
1. Form Facing for Exposed Finish Concrete:  Contractor's choice of materials that will

provide smooth, stain-free final appearance.

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 94



16-1010 / WCCHD Renovations 03 3000 - 2 CAST-IN-PLACE CONCRETE

2.02 REINFORCEMENT
A. Reinforcing Steel:  ASTM A615/A615M, Grade 60 (60,000 psi) (420 MPa).

2.03 CONCRETE MATERIALS
A. Cement:  ASTM C150/C150M, Type I - Normal Portland type.  

1. Acquire all cement for entire project from same source.
B. Fine and Coarse Aggregates:  ASTM C 33.
C. Water:  Clean and not detrimental to concrete.

2.04 BONDING AND JOINTING PRODUCTS
A. Latex Bonding Agent:  Non-redispersable acrylic latex, complying with ASTM C1059/C1059M,

Type II.
B. Waterstops:  Bentonite and butyl rubber, complying with NSF 61 and NSF 372.
C. Slab Isolation Joint Filler:  1/2 inch (13 mm) thick, height equal to slab thickness, with removable

top section that will form 1/2 inch (13 mm) deep sealant pocket after removal.
D. Slab Contraction Joint Device:  Preformed linear strip intended for pressing into wet concrete to

provide straight route for shrinkage cracking.
E. Slab Construction Joint Devices:  Combination keyed joint form and screed, galvanized steel,

with minimum 1 inch (25 mm) diameter holes for conduit or rebars to pass through at 6 inches
(150 mm) on center; ribbed steel stakes for setting.

2.05 CONCRETE MIX DESIGN
A. Proportioning Normal Weight Concrete:  Comply with ACI 211.1 recommendations.
B. Normal Weight Concrete:

1. Compressive Strength, when tested in accordance with ASTM C39/C39M at 28 days: 
3,000 pounds per square inch (20.7 MPa).

PART 3  EXECUTION
3.01 EXAMINATION

A. Verify lines, levels, and dimensions before proceeding with work of this section.
3.02 PREPARATION

A. Formwork:  Comply with requirements of ACI 301.  Design and fabricate forms to support all
applied loads until concrete is cured, and for easy removal without damage to concrete.

B. Where new concrete is to be bonded to previously placed concrete, prepare existing surface by
cleaning with steel brush and applying bonding agent in accordance with manufacturer's
instructions.
1. Use latex bonding agent only for non-load-bearing applications.

C. In locations where new concrete is doweled to existing work, drill holes in existing concrete,
insert steel dowels and pack solid with non-shrink grout.

D. Interior Slabs on Grade:  Install vapor retarder under interior slabs on grade.  Lap joints
minimum 6 inches (150 mm).  Seal joints, seams and penetrations watertight with
manufacturer's recommended products and follow manufacturer's written instructions.  Repair
damaged vapor retarder before covering.

3.03 INSTALLING REINFORCEMENT AND OTHER EMBEDDED ITEMS
A. Comply with requirements of ACI 301.  Clean reinforcement of loose rust and mill scale, and

accurately position, support, and secure in place to achieve not less than minimum concrete
coverage required for protection.

3.04 PLACING CONCRETE
A. Place concrete in accordance with ACI 304R.
B. Place concrete for floor slabs in accordance with ACI 302.1R.

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 95



16-1010 / WCCHD Renovations 03 3000 - 3 CAST-IN-PLACE CONCRETE

C. Ensure reinforcement, inserts, waterstops, embedded parts, and formed construction joint
devices will not be disturbed during concrete placement.

D. Finish floors level and flat, unless otherwise indicated, within the tolerances specified below.
3.05 SLAB JOINTING

A. Locate joints as indicated on the drawings.
B. Anchor joint fillers and devices to prevent movement during concrete placement.
C. Isolation Joints:  Use preformed joint filler with removable top section for joint sealant, total

height equal to thickness of slab, set flush with top of slab.
3.06 FLOOR FLATNESS AND LEVELNESS TOLERANCES

A. Maximum Variation of Surface Flatness:
1. Exposed Concrete Floors:  1/8 inch (3 mm) in 10 feet (3 m).
2. Under Seamless Resilient Flooring:  1/8 inch (3 mm) in 10 feet (3 m).
3. Under Carpeting:  1/8 inch (3 mm) in 10 feet (3 m).

B. Correct the slab surface if tolerances are less than specified.
C. Correct defects by grinding or by removal and replacement of the defective work.  Areas

requiring corrective work will be identified.  Re-measure corrected areas by the same process.
3.07 CONCRETE FINISHING

A. Concrete Slabs:  Finish to requirements of ACI 302.1R, and as follows:
1. Other Surfaces to Be Left Exposed:  Trowel as described in ACI 302.1R, minimizing

burnish marks and other appearance defects.
3.08 CURING AND PROTECTION

A. Comply with requirements of ACI 308R.  Immediately after placement, protect concrete from
premature drying, excessively hot or cold temperatures, and mechanical injury.

B. Maintain concrete with minimal moisture loss at relatively constant temperature for period
necessary for hydration of cement and hardening of concrete.

C. Surfaces Not in Contact with Forms:
1. Initial Curing:  Start as soon as free water has disappeared and before surface is dry. 

Keep continuously moist for not less than three days by water ponding, water-saturated
sand, water-fog spray, or saturated burlap.

2. Final Curing:  Begin after initial curing but before surface is dry.
3.09 DEFECTIVE CONCRETE
3.10 PROTECTION

A. Do not permit traffic over unprotected concrete floor surface until fully cured.
END OF SECTION

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 96



16-1010 / WCCHD Renovations 06 1000 - 1 ROUGH CARPENTRY

SECTION 06 1000
ROUGH CARPENTRY

PART 1  GENERAL
1.01 SECTION INCLUDES

A. Concealed wood blocking, nailers, and supports.
B. Miscellaneous wood nailers, furring, and grounds.

1.02 REFERENCE STANDARDS
A. PS 20 - American Softwood Lumber Standard; 2010.

1.03 DELIVERY, STORAGE, AND HANDLING
A. General: Cover wood products to protect against moisture. Support stacked products to prevent

deformation and to allow air circulation. 
PART 2  PRODUCTS
2.01 GENERAL REQUIREMENTS

A. Dimension Lumber:  Comply with PS 20 and requirements of specified grading agencies.
1. If no species is specified, provide any species graded by the agency specified; if no

grading agency is specified, provide lumber graded by any grading agency meeting the
specified requirements.

2. Grading Agency:  Any grading agency whose rules are approved by the Board of Review,
American Lumber Standard Committee (www.alsc.org) and who provides grading service
for the species and grade specified; provide lumber stamped with grade mark unless
otherwise indicated.

B. Lumber fabricated from old growth timber is not permitted.
2.02 DIMENSION LUMBER FOR CONCEALED APPLICATIONS

A. Sizes:  Nominal sizes as indicated on drawings, S4S.
B. Moisture Content:  S-dry or MC19.
C. Miscellaneous Framing, Blocking, Nailers, Grounds, and Furring:

1. Lumber:  S4S, No. 2 or Standard Grade.
2. Boards:  Standard or No. 3.

PART 3  EXECUTION
3.01 PREPARATION

A. Coordinate installation of rough carpentry members specified in other sections.
3.02 INSTALLATION - GENERAL

A. Select material sizes to minimize waste. 
B. Reuse scrap to the greatest extent possible; clearly separate scrap for use on site as accessory

components, including: shims, bracing, and blocking.
3.03 BLOCKING, NAILERS, AND SUPPORTS

A. Provide framing and blocking members as indicated or as required to support finishes, fixtures,
specialty items, and trim.

B. In framed assemblies that have concealed spaces, provide solid wood fireblocking as required
by applicable local code, to close concealed draft openings between floors and between top
story and roof/attic space; other material acceptable to code authorities may be used in lieu of
solid wood blocking.

C. In metal stud walls, provide continuous blocking around door and window openings for
anchorage of frames, securely attached to stud framing.

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 97



16-1010 / WCCHD Renovations 06 1000 - 2 ROUGH CARPENTRY

D. In walls, provide blocking attached to studs as backing and support for wall-mounted items,
unless item can be securely fastened to two or more studs or other method of support is
explicitly indicated.

E. Where ceiling-mounting is indicated, provide blocking and supplementary supports above
ceiling, unless other method of support is explicitly indicated.

F. Provide the following specific non-structural framing and blocking:
1. Cabinets and shelf supports.
2. Wall brackets.
3. Handrails.
4. Grab bars.
5. Towel and bath accessories.
6. Wall-mounted door stops.
7. Joints of rigid wall coverings that occur between studs.

END OF SECTION

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 98



16-1010 / WCCHD Renovations 06 4100 - 1 ARCHITECTURAL WOOD
CASEWORK

SECTION 06 4100
ARCHITECTURAL WOOD CASEWORK

PART 1  GENERAL
1.01 SECTION INCLUDES

A. Specially fabricated cabinet units.
B. Countertops.
C. Cabinet hardware.

1.02 REFERENCE STANDARDS
A. AWI/AWMAC/WI (AWS) - Architectural Woodwork Standards; 2014.
B. BHMA A156.9 - American National Standard for Cabinet Hardware; 2010.

1.03 SUBMITTALS
A. See Section 01 3000 - Administrative Requirements, for submittal procedures.
B. Shop Drawings:  Indicate materials, component profiles, fastening methods, jointing details, and

accessories.
1.04 QUALITY ASSURANCE

A. Fabricator Qualifications:  Company specializing in fabricating the products specified in this
section with minimum three years of documented experience.

1.05 DELIVERY, STORAGE, AND HANDLING
A. Protect units from moisture damage.

1.06 FIELD CONDITIONS
A. During and after installation of custom cabinets, maintain temperature and humidity conditions

in building spaces at same levels planned for occupancy.
PART 2  PRODUCTS
2.01 MANUFACTURERS 

A. Single Source Responsibility:  Provide and install this work from single fabricator.
2.02 CABINETS

A. Quality Grade:  Unless otherwise indicated provide products of quality specified by
AWI/AWMAC/WI (AWS) for Custom Grade.

B. Plastic Laminate Faced Cabinets:  Custom grade.
C. Breakroom Cabinets:  Plastic laminate faced, Custom grade.
D. Cabinets at Lobby counters:

1. Finish - Exposed Exterior Surfaces:  Decorative laminate.
2.03 WOOD-BASED COMPONENTS

A. Wood fabricated from old growth timber is not permitted.
2.04 LAMINATE MATERIALS

A. Manufacturers:
1. Wilsonart; ____:  www.wilsonart.com.
2. Substitutions:  See Section 01 6000 - Product Requirements.

2.05 COUNTERTOPS
A. Plastic Laminate Countertops:  Medium density fiberboard substrate covered with HPDL,

conventionally fabricated and self-edge banded. 
2.06 ACCESSORIES

A. Adhesive:  Type recommended by fabricator to suit application.

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 99

http://www.awinet.org/
http://www.awinet.org/
http://www.awinet.org/
http://www.awinet.org/
http://www.awinet.org/
http://www.awinet.org/
http://www.awinet.org/
http://www.awinet.org/
http://www.awinet.org/
http://www.awinet.org/
http://www.awinet.org/
http://www.awinet.org/
http://www.awinet.org/
http://www.awinet.org/
http://www.awinet.org/
http://www.awinet.org/


16-1010 / WCCHD Renovations 06 4100 - 2 ARCHITECTURAL WOOD
CASEWORK

2.07 HARDWARE
A. Hardware:  BHMA A156.9, types as recommended by fabricator for quality grade specified.
B. Drawer and Door Pulls:  "U" shaped wire pull, steel with chrome finish, 4 inch centers ("U"

shaped wire pull, steel with chrome finish, 100 mm centers).
C. Cabinet Locks:  Keyed cylinder, two keys per lock, master keyed, steel with chrome finish.
D. Drawer Slides:

1. Type:  Extension types as required.
2. Stops:  Integral type.
3. Features:  Provide self closing/stay closed type.

E. Hinges:  European style concealed self-closing type, steel with polished finish.
2.08 FABRICATION

A. Plastic Laminate:  Apply plastic laminate finish in full uninterrupted sheets consistent with
manufactured sizes.  Fit corners and joints hairline; secure with concealed fasteners.  Slightly
bevel arises.  Locate counter butt joints minimum 2 feet (600 mm) from sink cut-outs.
1. Cap exposed plastic laminate finish edges with material of same finish and pattern.

B. Mechanically fasten back splash to countertops as recommended by laminate manufacturer at
16 inches (400 mm) on center.

C. Provide cutouts for plumbing fixtures.  Verify locations of cutouts from on-site dimensions. 
Prime paint cut edges.

PART 3  EXECUTION
3.01 EXAMINATION

A. Verify adequacy of backing and support framing.
B. Verify location and sizes of utility rough-in associated with work of this section.

3.02 INSTALLATION
A. Set and secure custom cabinets in place, assuring that they are rigid, plumb, and level.
B. Carefully scribe casework abutting other components, with maximum gaps of 1/32 inch (0.79

mm).  Do not use additional overlay trim for this purpose.
3.03 ADJUSTING

A. Adjust installed work.
B. Adjust moving or operating parts to function smoothly and correctly.

3.04 CLEANING
A. Clean casework, counters, shelves, hardware, fittings, and fixtures.

END OF SECTION

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 100

http://www.awinet.org/
http://www.awinet.org/
http://www.awinet.org/
http://www.awinet.org/
http://www.awinet.org/
http://www.awinet.org/
http://www.awinet.org/
http://www.awinet.org/
http://www.awinet.org/
http://www.awinet.org/
http://www.awinet.org/
http://www.awinet.org/
http://www.awinet.org/
http://www.awinet.org/
http://www.awinet.org/
http://www.awinet.org/
http://www.awinet.org/
http://www.awinet.org/
http://www.awinet.org/
http://www.awinet.org/
http://www.awinet.org/
http://www.awinet.org/
http://www.awinet.org/
http://www.awinet.org/
http://www.awinet.org/
http://www.awinet.org/
http://www.awinet.org/
http://www.awinet.org/
http://www.awinet.org/
http://www.awinet.org/
http://www.awinet.org/
http://www.awinet.org/
http://www.awinet.org/
http://www.awinet.org/
http://www.awinet.org/


16-1010 / WCCHD Renovations 07 2119 - 1 FOAMED-IN-PLACE
INSULATION

SECTION 07 2119
FOAMED-IN-PLACE INSULATION

PART 1  GENERAL
1.01 SECTION INCLUDES

A. Foamed-in-place insulation.
B. Protective intumescent coating.

1.02 REFERENCE STANDARDS
A. ASTM C518 - Standard Test Method for Steady-State Thermal Transmission Properties by

Means of the Heat Flow Meter Apparatus; 2015.
B. ASTM E84 - Standard Test Method for Surface Burning Characteristics of Building Materials;

2016.
C. ASTM E283 - Standard Test Method for Determining the Rate of Air Leakage Through Exterior

Windows, Curtain Walls, and Doors Under Specified Pressure Differences Across the
Specimen; 2004 (Reapproved 2012).

D. ASTM E2178 - Standard Test Method for Air Permeance of Building Materials; 2013.
1.03 ADMINISTRATIVE REQUIREMENTS

A. Preinstallation Meeting:  Convene one week prior to commencing work of this section.
1.04 SUBMITTALS

A. See Section 01 3000 - Administrative Requirements, for submittal procedures.
B. Product Data:  Provide product description, insulation properties, and preparation requirements.

1.05 QUALITY ASSURANCE
A. Manufacturer Qualifications:  Company specializing in manufacturing products of the type

specified in this section, with not less than three years of documented experience.
1.06 FIELD CONDITIONS

A. Do not apply foam when temperature is below that specified by the manufacturer for ambient air
and substrate.

PART 2  PRODUCTS
2.01 MANUFACTURERS

A. Foamed-In-Place Insulation:
1. Johns Manville; JM ocSPF Open Cell Spray Polyurethane Foam:  www.jm.com/sle.
2. Substitutions:  See Section 01 6000 - Product Requirements.

2.02 MATERIALS
A. Foamed-In-Place Insulation:  Low-density, flexible, open celled, water vapor permeable

polyurethane foam; foamed on-site, using blowing agent of water or non-ozone-depleting gas.
1. Aged Thermal Resistance:  R-value (RSI-value) of 3 (deg F hr sq ft)/Btu (0.5 (K sqm)/W),

minimum, when tested at 1 inch (25.4 mm) thickness in accordance with ASTM C518 after
aging for 180 days at 41 degrees F (23 degrees C).

2. Air Permeance:  0.004 cfm/sq ft (0.2 L/second sq meter), maximum, when tested at
intended thickness in accordance with ASTM E2178 or ASTM E283 at 1.5 psf (75 Pa).

3. Surface Burning Characteristics:  Flame spread/Smoke developed index of 25/450,
maximum, when tested in accordance with ASTM E84.

4. Products:
a. Johns Manville; JM ocSPF Open Cell Spray Polyurethane Foam:  www.jm.com/sle.

2.03 ACCESSORIES
A. Primer:  As required by insulation manufacturer.

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 101



16-1010 / WCCHD Renovations 07 2119 - 2 FOAMED-IN-PLACE
INSULATION

B. Overcoat:  Intumescent coating of type recommended by insulation manufacturer and as
required to comply with applicable codes.

PART 3  EXECUTION
3.01 EXAMINATION

A. Verify work within construction spaces or crevices is complete prior to insulation application.
B. Verify that surfaces are clean, dry, and free of matter that may inhibit insulation or overcoat

adhesion.
3.02 PREPARATION

A. Mask and protect adjacent surfaces from over spray or dusting.
B. Apply primer in accordance with manufacturer's instructions.

3.03 APPLICATION
A. Apply insulation in accordance with manufacturer's instructions.
B. Apply insulation by spray method, to a uniform monolithic density without voids.
C. Apply to achieve a thermal resistance R-value of 25 (RSI-value of ____).
D. Apply overcoat monolithically, without voids to fully cover foam insulation.
E. Patch damaged areas.

3.04 FIELD QUALITY CONTROL
A. Inspection will include verification of insulation and overcoat thickness and density.

3.05 PROTECTION
A. Do not permit subsequent construction work to disturb applied insulation.

END OF SECTION

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 102



16-1010 / WCCHD Renovations 07 9200 - 1 JOINT SEALANTS

SECTION 07 9200
JOINT SEALANTS

PART 1  GENERAL
1.01 SECTION INCLUDES

A. Nonsag gunnable joint sealants.
B. Joint backings and accessories.

1.02 REFERENCE STANDARDS
A. ASTM C834 - Standard Specification for Latex Sealants; 2010.
B. ASTM C920 - Standard Specification for Elastomeric Joint Sealants; 2014.
C. ASTM C1193 - Standard Guide for Use of Joint Sealants; 2016.
D. SCAQMD 1168 - South Coast Air Quality Management District Rule No.1168; current edition;

www.aqmd.gov.
PART 2  PRODUCTS
2.01 MANUFACTURERS

A. Non-Sag Sealants:  Permits application in joints on vertical surfaces without sagging or
slumping.
1. Adhesives Technology Corporation; _____:  www.atcepoxy.com.
2. BASF Construction Chemicals-Building Systems; _____:  www.buildingsystems.basf.com.
3. Dow Corning Corporation:  www.dowcorning.com/construction/sle.
4. Franklin International, Inc; ____:  www.titebond.com.
5. Hilti, Inc; _____:  www.us.hilti.com/#sle.
6. Tremco Global Sealants; _____:  www.tremcosealants.com.
7. Sherwin-Williams Company; _____:  www.sherwin-williams.com.
8. Substitutions:  See Section 01 6000 - Product Requirements.

2.02 JOINT SEALANT APPLICATIONS
A. Scope:

1. Exterior Joints:  Seal open joints, whether or not the joint is indicated on the drawings,
unless specifically indicated not to be sealed. Exterior joints to be sealed include, but are
not limited to, the following items.
a. Joints between door, window, and other frames and adjacent construction.
b. Joints between different exposed materials.
c. Other joints indicated below.

2. Interior Joints:  Do not seal interior joints unless specifically indicated to be sealed. Interior
joints to be sealed include, but are not limited to, the following items.
a. Joints between door, window, and other frames and adjacent construction.
b. Other joints indicated below.

3. Do not seal the following types of joints.
a. Joints indicated to be treated with manufactured expansion joint cover or some other

type of sealing device.
b. Joints where sealant is specified to be provided by manufacturer of product to be

sealed.
c. Joints where installation of sealant is specified in another section.
d. Joints between suspended panel ceilings/grid and walls.

B. Exterior Joints:  Use non-sag non-staining silicone sealant, unless otherwise indicated.
C. Interior Joints:  Use non-sag polyurethane sealant, Type ____, unless otherwise indicated.

1. Wall and Ceiling Joints in Non-Wet Areas:  Acrylic emulsion latex sealant.
2. Floor Joints in Wet Areas:  Non-sag polyurethane "non-traffic-grade" sealant suitable for

continuous liquid immersion.
D. Interior Wet Areas:  restrooms; fixtures in wet areas include plumbing fixtures and countertops.

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 103



16-1010 / WCCHD Renovations 07 9200 - 2 JOINT SEALANTS

2.03 JOINT SEALANTS - GENERAL
A. Sealants and Primers:  Provide products having lower volatile organic compound (VOC) content

than indicated in SCAQMD 1168.
2.04 NONSAG JOINT SEALANTS

A. Non-Staining Silicone Sealant:  ASTM C920, Grade NS, Uses M and A; not expected to
withstand continuous water immersion or traffic.
1. Movement Capability:  Plus and minus 50 percent, minimum.
2. Color:  Match adjacent finished surfaces.

B. Polyurethane Sealant:  ASTM C920, Grade NS, Uses M and A; single or multi-component; not
expected to withstand continuous water immersion or traffic.
1. Movement Capability:  Plus and minus 25 percent, minimum.
2. Color:  Match adjacent finished surfaces.

C. Polyurethane Sealant for Continuous Water Immersion:  ASTM C920, Grade NS, Uses M and
A; single or multi-component; explicitly approved by manufacturer for continuous water
immersion; suitable for traffic exposure when recessed below traffic surface .
1. Movement Capability:  Plus and minus 35 percent, minimum.
2. Color:  Match adjacent finished surfaces.

D. Acrylic Emulsion Latex:  Water-based; ASTM C834, single component, non-staining,
non-bleeding, non-sagging; not intended for exterior use.
1. Color:  Standard colors matching finished surfaces, Type OP (opaque).

2.05 ACCESSORIES
A. Backer Rod:  Cylindrical cellular foam rod with surface that sealant will not adhere to,

compatible with specific sealant used, and recommended by backing and sealant
manufacturers for specific application.

B. Backing Tape:  Self-adhesive polyethylene tape with surface that sealant will not adhere to and
recommended by tape and sealant manufacturers for specific application.

C. Masking Tape:  Self-adhesive, nonabsorbent, non-staining, removable without adhesive
residue, and compatible with surfaces adjacent to joints and sealants.

PART 3  EXECUTION
3.01 EXAMINATION

A. Verify that  joints  are ready to receive work.
B. Verify that backing materials are compatible with sealants.
C. Verify that backer rods are of the correct size.

3.02 PREPARATION
A. Remove loose materials and foreign matter that could impair adhesion of sealant.
B. Clean joints, and prime as necessary, in accordance with manufacturer's instructions.
C. Perform preparation in accordance with manufacturer's instructions and ASTM C1193.
D. Mask elements and surfaces adjacent to joints from damage and disfigurement due to sealant

work; be aware that sealant drips and smears may not be completely removable.
3.03 INSTALLATION

A. Perform work in accordance with sealant manufacturer's requirements for preparation of
surfaces and material installation instructions.

B. Perform installation in accordance with ASTM C1193.
C. Install bond breaker backing tape where backer rod cannot be used.
D. Install sealant free of air pockets, foreign embedded matter, ridges, and sags, and without

getting sealant on adjacent surfaces.

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 104



16-1010 / WCCHD Renovations 07 9200 - 3 JOINT SEALANTS

E. Do not install sealant when ambient temperature is outside manufacturer's recommended
temperature range, or will be outside that range during the entire curing period, unless
manufacturer's approval is obtained and instructions are followed.

F. Nonsag Sealants:  Tool surface concave, unless otherwise indicated; remove masking tape
immediately after tooling sealant surface.

3.04 FIELD QUALITY CONTROL
A. Perform field quality control inspection/testing as specified in PART 1 under QUALITY

ASSURANCE article.
B. Remove and replace failed portions of sealants using same materials and procedures as

indicated for original installation.
END OF SECTION

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 105



16-1010 / WCCHD Renovations 08 1217 - 1 PRE-FINISHED STEEL DOOR
FRAMES

SECTION 08 1217
PRE-FINISHED STEEL DOOR FRAMES

PART 1 - GENERAL
1.01 WORK INCLUDED

The work under this section shall include the furnishing of all items shown on the drawings and
as specified, including but not limited to, the following:
1.  Knocked down, site assembled pre-finished steel door frames

1.02 RELATED SECTIONS
A. Section 08 71 00 - Hardware

1.03 REFERENCES
A. ASTM A653 - Standard for hot dipped galvanized steel material
B. UBC 7-2-97, UBC 7-4-97 Positive Pressure Fire Test Certification
C. UL 10B Fire test of Door Assemblies and UL10C Standard for Positive Pressure 

Fire Tests of Door Assemblies
D. NFPA 80 - Fire Doors and Windows (Latest Edition)
E. NFPA-101 - Life Safety Codes (Latest Edition)
F. ASTM D2197 - Standard Test Method for Adhesion of Organic Coatings by Scrape Adhesion.
G. ASTM D2247 - Practice for Testing Water Resistance of Coatings in 100% Relative Humidity.
H. ASTM D2794 - Standard Test Method for Resistance of Organic Coatings to the 

Effects of Rapid Deformation (Impact).
I. ASTM D3361 - Standard Practice for Unfiltered Open-Flame Carbon-Arc exposures of Paint

and Related Coatings.
J. ASTM B117 - Standard test for salt spray testing

1.04 SUBMITTALS
A. Section 01 33 00:  Submittal procedures.
B. Product Data:  Indicate frame material, gage, configuration and finishes.
C. Shop Drawings:  See section 08 06 00. Indicate frame elevations, details of frame anchorage,

reinforcements required, rough opening requirements, location of hardware embosses, and
finishes.  Detail each floor of the building separately.

D. Samples:  Submit 1 standard frame samples, illustrating factory finished frame colors.
E. Manufacturer's Installation Instructions:  Provide installation instructions for all products under

this section.
F. Manufacturer's Certificate of Warranty:  Provide manufacturer’s standard warranty certificate

stating material is warranted for a period of one year from date of building occupancy
1.05 QUALITY ASSURANCE

Quality Standards
1.  Material free from defects in material and according to project specifications for
pre-engineered opening systems
2.  Proven durability of factory finishes allowing for bending and shaping of material after
finish is applied

Fire Rated Frame Construction
1.  Conform to ASTM E152, NFPA 252, UL 10B and 10C.

Installed Frame Assembly:  Conform to NFPA 80
1.  Use only installers familiar with installation of pre-finished opening systems 
and applied casing frame installation

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 106



16-1010 / WCCHD Renovations 08 1217 - 2 PRE-FINISHED STEEL DOOR
FRAMES

1.06 DELIVERY, STORAGE AND HANDLING
A. Transport, handle, store, and protect products in a dry area off the ground.
B. Accept frames on site in manufacturer's box packaging with identification labels 

intact.  Inspect for damage.
C. Do not open individual boxes until installation is to begin.

PART 2 - PRODUCTS
2.01 ACCEPTABLE MANUFACTURERS

A. Timely Industries, A Division of SDS Industries, Inc., 10241 Norris Avenue, Pacoima, CA,
91331-2292; Phone toll free: 800-247-6242; Fax:  818-492-3530.  Web site:
www.timelyframes.com <http://www.timelyframes.com>.

B. Dunbarton Door and Entry Systems
<http://www.cmdgroup.com/companies/2923/dunbarton-door-and-entry-systems/>, 1101
Technology Drive, Dothan, AL 36303

Phone: (334) 794-0661 Fax: (334) 793-3462 Website:  www.dunbarton.com
<http://www.dunbarton.com/>  Rediframe

C. Frames:  Provide all interior frames for project from same manufacturer.  Provide exterior
frames as shown on plans

D. Substitutions: Refer to Section 01 60 00
2.02 FRAMES

A. Frame Material:  Hot dipped galvanized steel, for interior frames in normal atmospheric
exposures.

B. Frame Material:  Hot dipped galvanized steel for all frames used in the following 
locations:
1.  Exterior Locations
2.  Public and Private Restrooms
3.  Coastal locations for both interior and exterior applications exposed to salt air or salt 
spray within 10 miles of any ocean or salt water lake

C. Frame Throat Opening:  As shown on plan details to suit finished wall thickness.
D. Fire rated frames and Office Entry frames to be CK series with kerf formed into frame profile

with factory installed, pre-mitered smoke/sound control gasket
E. Frame Profile - Unequal Rabbet profile, standard with manufacturer
F. Casings

1.  Provide steel or aluminum casings formed to be applied to heat treated clips on frame face
after frame is anchored to wall
2.  Standard Steel - TA-8 with 6 mm (1/4 inch) reveal, on steel, stainless steel, and/or brass
frames.  Fit factory assembled units with MiterGard corner alignment clips.

2.03 FRAME REINFORCEMENT AND ACCESSORIES
A. Provide reinforcements shipped loose to project site for hardware application

1.  TA-10  - Regular arm closers, casing mounted coordinators
2.  TA-12 - Parallel arm closers, Rim Exit device strikes, other stop mounted surface hardware
3.  TA-47 - For CK frame, Parallel arm closers, Rim Exit device strikes, other stop mounted
surface hardware
4.  TA-25 - Double acting spring hinges, continuous hinges, other surface mounted hardware on
door rabbet or cased opening frame
5.  Provide hinge reinforcement (TA-11) of 14 gage steel pierced to create depth of thread for
hinge screws equal to or exceeding 7 gage steel.

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 107



16-1010 / WCCHD Renovations 08 1217 - 3 PRE-FINISHED STEEL DOOR
FRAMES

B. Prepare frames for ASA 4-7/8” strikes where required.  Provide minimum ¼” depth of threads in
factory tapped screw holes

C. Installation fasteners (Provided by others)
1.  Interior Frames: #6 Drywall type length sufficient to penetrate studs or structure at least
½”.
2.  Exterior Frames: Drywall type, corrosion resistant coating, same as G.1 above

2.04 FABRICATION
A. Openings for single swing, pair, borrowed light and sidelight frames to be pre- cut, notched

and fabricated at the manufacturer’s facility.
B. Provide minimum 14 gage hinge reinforcement plate tapped for machine screws supplied with

hinges.  Hinge plate to be mechanically attached to hinge emboss on frame
C. Casing Clips: Fabricate frames with factory applied, heat treated clips to ensure no deflection in

the clip upon application or removal of casing.  Attachment clips may not be of same material as
frame

D. Provide notches, tabs and/or stops for positive alignment of frame parts at all corners
E. Mullions to be notched as required to provide tight joints
F. Provide manufacturer’s standard mullion brackets for positive connection of frame and mullion

parts
G. Provide manufacturer’s standard steel glass stop pre-cut to exact length.  Fire rated glazed

openings to have hole for installation screw within 2” of each end of stop piece
H. Provide insert channel full width of borrowed lights installed on finish floor.  Provide full width

head channel for ceiling height units.
I. Provide adequate structural support (by others) for ceiling insert channel for ceiling height

frames
J. Attach approved mylar label to each fire-rated frame indicating fire rating details
K. Factory install TA-46 smoke gasket on all pre-finished, CK series frames.  Install 

with factory mitered corners to ensure adequate seal and pleasing appearance
2.05 FINISHING

A. Frame Units:  Pre-finished with factory applied impact resistant, polyurethane baked enamel
finish or optional electrostatic applied water based paint system

B. Frames for high humidity areas to be hot dipped galvanized prior to pre-finishing 
See 2.02.B for specific locations

C. Casing Finishes
1.  Steel:  Prefinished with factory applied impact resistant, polyurethane baked enamel
finish.
2.  Aluminum:  Prefinished with factory applied impact resistant, polyurethane baked
enamel finish or Clear anodized for Alumatone (SC108) paint finished frames

D. Colors:  Architect to select from Manufacturer’s standard color line.
PART 3 - EXECUTION
3.01 EXAMINATION

A. Verify acceptability of existing conditions before starting work.
B. Verify that opening sizes and wall thicknesses are within specified tolerances. Verify that all

finished walls are in plane to ensure proper door alignment.
3.02 INSTALLATION

A. Install frames in accordance with manufacturer’s requirements.

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 108



16-1010 / WCCHD Renovations 08 1217 - 4 PRE-FINISHED STEEL DOOR
FRAMES

B. Anchor frames with screws located at every casing clip or every 11” as shown on 
manufacturer’s instructions.  Field verify quantity and location of fasteners prior to installing
casing.

C. Install Pre-finished frames near end of the project after wall painting and wall coverings are
applied.

D. Install frames using qualified installers familiar with installation of pre-finished drywall frames.
E. Coordinate installation of glass and glazing in glazed units.
F. Coordinate installation of frames with installation of hardware specified in Section 08 71 00.
G. Touch-up blemishes on finished frames with factory prepared touch up paint.

END OF SECTION

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 109



16-1010 / WCCHD Renovations 08 3313 - 1 COILING COUNTER DOORS

SECTION 08 3313
COILING COUNTER DOORS

PART 1  GENERAL
1.01 SECTION INCLUDES

A. Non-fire-rated coiling counter doors and operating hardware.
1.02 REFERENCE STANDARDS

A. ASTM B221 - Standard Specification for Aluminum and Aluminum-Alloy Extruded Bars, Rods,
Wire, Profiles, and Tubes; 2014.

1.03 SUBMITTALS
A. See Section 01 3000 - Administrative Requirements, for submittal procedures.
B. Product Data:  Submit manufacturer's standard literature showing materials and details of

construction and finish. 
C. Shop Drawings:  Indicate rough and actual opening dimensions, anchorage methods, hardware

locations, and installation details.
PART 2  PRODUCTS
2.01 MANUFACTURERS

A. Coiling Counter Doors:
1. Alpine Overhead Doors, Inc; _____:  www.alpinedoors.com.
2. C.H.I. Overhead Doors; Model 6522 (steel):  www.chiohd.com/sle.
3. Substitutions:  See Section 01 6000 - Product Requirements.

2.02 COILING COUNTER DOORS
A. Coiling Counter Doors, Non-Fire-Rated:  Aluminum slat curtain.

1. Mounting:  Between jambs, within prepared opening.
2. Nominal Slat Size:  1-1/4 inches (32 mm) wide.
3. Slat Profile:  Flat, perforated.
4. Finish:  Anodized.
5. Guides:  Formed track; same material and finish unless otherwise indicated.
6. Hood Enclosure:  Manufacturer's standard; primed steel.

2.03 MATERIALS
A. Curtain Construction:  Interlocking, single thickness slats.

1. Slat Ends:  Alternate slats fitted with end locks to act as wearing surface in guides and to
prevent lateral movement.

2. Curtain Bottom:  Fitted with angles to provide reinforcement and positive contact in closed
position.

3. Aluminum Slats:  ASTM B221 (ASTM B221M), aluminum alloy Type 6063; minimum
thickness 0.05 inch (1.3 mm).

B. Guide Construction:  Continuous, of profile to retain door in place, with mounting brackets of
same metal. 
1. Aluminum Guides:  Extruded aluminum channel, with wool pile runners along inside.

C. Hood Enclosure:  Internally reinforced to maintain rigidity and shape.
D. Lock Hardware:

1. Latching Mechanism:  Inside mounted, adjustable keeper, spring activated latch bar
feature to keep in locked or retracted position.

2. Latch Handle:  Manufacturer's standard.
E. Roller Shaft Counterbalance:  Steel pipe and torsion steel spring system, capable of producing

torque sufficient to ensure smooth operation of curtain from any position and capable of holding
position at mid-travel; with adjustable spring tension; requiring 25 lb (10 kg) nominal force to
operate.

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 110



16-1010 / WCCHD Renovations 08 3313 - 2 COILING COUNTER DOORS

PART 3  EXECUTION
3.01 EXAMINATION

A. Verify that opening sizes, tolerances and conditions are acceptable.
3.02 INSTALLATION

A. Install units in accordance with manufacturer's instructions.
B. Use anchorage devices to securely fasten assembly to wall construction and building framing

without distortion or stress.
C. Securely and rigidly brace components suspended from structure.  
D. Fit and align assembly including hardware; level and plumb, to provide smooth operation.
E. Install perimeter trim as indicated.

3.03 TOLERANCES
A. Maintain dimensional tolerances and alignment with adjacent work.
B. Maximum Variation From Plumb:  1/16 inch (1.5 mm).
C. Maximum Variation From Level:  1/16 inch (1.5 mm).
D. Longitudinal or Diagonal Warp:  Plus or minus 1/8 inch per 10 ft (3 mm per 3 m) straight edge.

3.04 ADJUSTING
A. Adjust operating assemblies for smooth and noiseless operation.

3.05 CLEANING
A. Clean installed components.
B. Remove labels and visible markings.

END OF SECTION

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 111



16-1010 / WCCHD Renovations 08 4313 - 1 ALUMINUM-FRAMED
STOREFRONTS

SECTION 08 4313
ALUMINUM-FRAMED STOREFRONTS

PART 1  GENERAL
1.01 SECTION INCLUDES

A. Aluminum-framed storefront, with vision glass.
B. Weatherstripping.
C. Door hardware.

1.02 REFERENCE STANDARDS
A. AAMA CW-10 - Care and Handling of Architectural Aluminum From Shop to Site; 2015.
B. AAMA 611 - Voluntary Specification for Anodized Architectural Aluminum; 2014 (2015 Errata).
C. ASTM B221 - Standard Specification for Aluminum and Aluminum-Alloy Extruded Bars, Rods,

Wire, Profiles, and Tubes; 2014.
D. ASTM B221M - Standard Specification for Aluminum and Aluminum-Alloy Extruded Bars, Rods,

Wire, Profiles, and Tubes (Metric); 2013.
1.03 SUBMITTALS

A. See Section 01 3000 - Administrative Requirements, for submittal procedures.
B. Shop Drawings:  Indicate system dimensions, framed opening requirements and tolerances,

affected related Work, expansion and contraction joint location and details, and field welding
required.

C. Hardware Schedule:  Complete itemization of each item of hardware to be provided for each
door, cross-referenced to door identification numbers in Contract Documents.

D. Warranty:  Submit manufacturer warranty and ensure forms have been completed in Owner's
name and registered with manufacturer.

1.04 QUALITY ASSURANCE
A. Installer Qualifications:  Company specializing in performing work of type specified and with at

least three years of documented experience.
1.05 DELIVERY, STORAGE, AND HANDLING

A. Handle products of this section in accordance with AAMA CW-10.
B. Protect finished aluminum surfaces with wrapping.  Do not use adhesive papers or sprayed

coatings that bond to aluminum when exposed to sunlight or weather.
1.06 FIELD CONDITIONS

A. Do not install sealants when ambient temperature is less than 40 degrees F (5 degrees C). 
Maintain this minimum temperature during and 48 hours after installation.

1.07 WARRANTY
A. See Section 01 7800 - Closeout Submittals, for additional warranty requirements.
B. Correct defective Work within a five year period after Date of Substantial Completion.
C. Provide five year manufacturer warranty against failure of glass seal on insulating glass units,

including interpane dusting or misting.  Include provision for replacement of failed units.
D. Provide five year manufacturer warranty against excessive degradation of exterior finish. 

Include provision for replacement of units with excessive fading, chalking, or flaking.
PART 2  PRODUCTS
2.01 STOREFRONT

A. Aluminum-Framed Storefront:  Factory fabricated, factory finished aluminum framing members
with infill, and related flashings, anchorage and attachment devices.
1. Glazing Rabbet:  For 1 inch (25 mm) insulating glazing.

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 112



16-1010 / WCCHD Renovations 08 4313 - 2 ALUMINUM-FRAMED
STOREFRONTS

2. Glazing Position:  Centered (front to back).
3. Finish:  Class II natural anodized.

a. Factory finish all surfaces that will be exposed in completed assemblies.
4. Fabrication:  Joints and corners flush, hairline, and weatherproof, accurately fitted and

secured; prepared to receive anchors and hardware; fasteners and attachments concealed
from view; reinforced as required for imposed loads.

5. Construction:  Eliminate noises caused by wind and thermal movement, prevent vibration
harmonics, and prevent "stack effect" in internal spaces.

6. System Internal Drainage:  Drain to the exterior by means of a weep drainage network any
water entering joints, condensation occurring in glazing channel, and migrating moisture
occurring within system.

7. Expansion/Contraction:  Provide for expansion and contraction within system components
caused by cycling temperature range of 170 degrees F (95 degrees C) over a 12 hour
period without causing detrimental effect to system components, anchorages, and other
building elements.

8. Movement:  Allow for movement between storefront and adjacent construction, without
damage to components or deterioration of seals.

9. Perimeter Clearance:  Minimize space between framing members and adjacent
construction while allowing expected movement.

2.02 COMPONENTS
A. Aluminum Framing Members:  Tubular aluminum sections, thermally broken with interior section

insulated from exterior, drainage holes and internal weep drainage system.  
1. Glazing Stops:  Flush.

2.03 MATERIALS
A. Extruded Aluminum:  ASTM B221 (ASTM B221M).
B. Fasteners:  Stainless steel.
C. Glazing Gaskets:  Type to suit application to achieve weather, moisture, and air infiltration

requirements.
2.04 FINISHES

A. Class II Natural Anodized Finish:  AAMA 611 AA-M12C22A31 Clear anodic coating not less
than 0.4 mils (0.01 mm) thick.

2.05 HARDWARE
A. For each door, include weatherstripping, sill sweep strip, and threshold.
B. Weatherstripping:  Wool pile, continuous and replaceable; provide on all doors.
C. Sill Sweep Strips:  Resilient seal type, retracting, of neoprene; provide on all doors.
D. Threshold:  Extruded aluminum, one piece per door opening, ribbed surface; provide on all

doors.
PART 3  EXECUTION
3.01 EXAMINATION

A. Verify dimensions, tolerances, and method of attachment with other work.
B. Verify that wall openings and adjoining air and vapor seal materials are ready to receive work of

this section.
3.02 INSTALLATION

A. Install wall system in accordance with manufacturer's instructions.
B. Attach to structure to permit sufficient adjustment to accommodate construction tolerances and

other irregularities.
C. Provide alignment attachments and shims to permanently fasten system to building structure.

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 113



16-1010 / WCCHD Renovations 08 4313 - 3 ALUMINUM-FRAMED
STOREFRONTS

D. Align assembly plumb and level, free of warp or twist.  Maintain assembly dimensional
tolerances, aligning with adjacent work.

E. Provide thermal isolation where components penetrate or disrupt building insulation.
F. Install sill flashings.  Turn up ends and edges; seal to adjacent work to form water tight dam.
G. Where fasteners penetrate sill flashings, make watertight by seating and sealing fastener heads

to sill flashing.
H. Pack fibrous insulation in shim spaces at perimeter of assembly to maintain continuity of

thermal barrier.
I. Set thresholds in bed of sealant and  secure.
J. Install hardware using templates provided.
K. Touch-up minor damage to factory applied finish; replace components that cannot be

satisfactorily repaired.
3.03 TOLERANCES

A. Maximum Variation from Plumb:  0.06 inches every 3 ft (1.5 mm/m) non-cumulative or 1/16
inches per 10 ft (1.5 mm/3 m), whichever is less.

B. Maximum Misalignment of Two Adjoining Members Abutting in Plane: 1/32 inch (0.8 mm).
3.04 ADJUSTING

A. Adjust operating hardware and sash for smooth operation.
3.05 CLEANING

A. Remove protective material from pre-finished aluminum surfaces.
3.06 PROTECTION

A. Protect installed products from damage until Date of Substantial Completion.
END OF SECTION

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 114



16-1010 / WCCHD Renovations 08 5659 - 1 SERVICE AND TELLER
WINDOW UNITS

SECTION 08 5659
SERVICE AND TELLER WINDOW UNITS

PART 1  GENERAL
1.01 SECTION INCLUDES

A. Service window units.
1.02 REFERENCE STANDARDS

A. AAMA 611 - Voluntary Specification for Anodized Architectural Aluminum; 2014 (2015 Errata).
B. ASTM B221 - Standard Specification for Aluminum and Aluminum-Alloy Extruded Bars, Rods,

Wire, Profiles, and Tubes; 2014.
C. ASTM B221M - Standard Specification for Aluminum and Aluminum-Alloy Extruded Bars, Rods,

Wire, Profiles, and Tubes (Metric); 2013.
1.03 ADMINISTRATIVE REQUIREMENTS

A. Coordinate work with adjacent materials specified in other sections and as indicated on
drawings and approved shop drawings.

1.04 SUBMITTALS
A. See Section 01 3000 - Administrative Requirements, for submittal procedures.
B. Shop Drawings:  Indicate configuration, sizes, rough-in, mounting, anchors and fasteners, and

installation clearances.
1.05 DELIVERY, STORAGE, AND HANDLING

A. Deliver units in manufacturer's original packaging and unopened containers with identification
labels intact.

B. Store units in area protected from exposure to weather and vandalism.
PART 2  PRODUCTS
2.01 SERVICE AND TELLER WINDOW UNITS

A. Pass-Through Window:
1. Location:  Interior.
2. Window:  Single horizontal sliding.

a. Operation:  Manual, self-closing.
b. Mounting:  Projected from the wall surface.
c. Size:  As indicated on drawings.
d. Material:  Aluminum.
e. Finish:  Natural anodized.

3. Glazing:  Single (monolithic), clear.
a. Tempered safety glazing.

2.02 MATERIALS
A. Aluminum Extrusions:  Minimum 1/8 inch (3.2 mm) thick frame and sash material complying

with ASTM B221 and ASTM B221M.
2.03 FINISHES

A. Class II Natural Anodized Finish:  AAMA 611 AA-M12C22A31 Clear anodic coating not less
than 0.4 mils (0.01 mm) thick.

B. Color:  To be selected by Architect from manufacturer's standard range.
PART 3  EXECUTION
3.01 EXAMINATION

A. Verify that window openings are ready for installation of windows.
B. Notify Architect if conditions are not suitable for installation of units; do not proceed until

conditions are satisfactory.

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 115



16-1010 / WCCHD Renovations 08 5659 - 2 SERVICE AND TELLER
WINDOW UNITS

3.02 INSTALLATION
A. Install in accordance with manufacturer's instructions.
B. Install units in correct orientation (inside/outside or secure/non-secure).
C. Anchor units securely in manner so as to achieve performance specified.

3.03 ADJUSTING
A. Adjust operating components for smooth operation while also maintaining a secure,

weather-tight enclosure and a tight fit at the contact points; lubricate operating hardware.
3.04 CLEANING

A. Remove protective material from factory finished surfaces.
B. Clean exposed surfaces promptly after installation without damaging finishes.

END OF SECTION

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 116



 

 

SECTION 08710 
FINISH HARDWARE 

 
PART 1 – GENERAL: 
 
1.01 SUMMARY: 
 

A. Section includes the supply and installation of the Finish Hardware. 
 

B. Related Sections  
1. Openings – Division 8 / Division 8 
2. Electrical – Division 16 / Division 26 
3. Security – Division 16 / Division 28 

 
1.02 REFERENCES: 
 

A. Documents and Institutes that shall be used in estimating, detailing and installing the 
items specified.         
1. International Building Code – Current/Adopted Edition 
2. ICC/ANSI A117.1 – Accessible and Usable Building and Facilities - 
3.  Current/Adopted Edition 
4. NFPA80 –Standards For Fire Doors and Fire Windows – Current/Adopted 

Edition 
5. NFPA101 – Life Safety Code – Current/Adopted Edition 
6. NFPA105 – Installation of Smoke-Control Door Assemblies – Current/Adopted 

Edition. 
7. ANSI - American National Standards Institute  
8. BHMA – Builders Hardware Manufacturers Association 
9. UL – Underwriters Laboratory 
10. Texas Accessibility Standards – Current Adopted Edition 
11. Local Building Codes 

 
1.03 SUBMITTALS 
 

A. Comply with pertinent provisions of Section 01300. 
 

B. Finish Hardware Schedule to be in vertical format to include: 
1. Heading #/Hardware Set 
2. Door #, Location, Hand, Degree of Opening, Door Size and Type, Frame Size 

and Type, Fire Rating 
3. Quantity, type, style, function, product, product number, size, fasteners, finish 

and manufacturer of each hardware item.  
4. Location of hardware set cross-referenced to indications on Drawings both on 

floor plans and in door and frame schedule. 
5. Keying schedule 
6. Title Sheet, Index, Abbreviations, Manufacturers List, Template List and 

Templates. 
7. Mounting locations for hardware.  
8. Explanation of abbreviations, symbols, and codes contained in schedule. 

 
C. Product Data:  Provide product data in the form of a binder, manufacturer’s technical 

product fact sheets for each item of hardware.  Include whatever information may be 
necessary to show compliance with requirements, including instructions for installation 
and for maintenance of operating parts and finish.   

 

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 117



 

 

D. Wiring Diagrams:  Provide Riser/Elevation and Point to Point Wiring Diagrams for all 
openings with electrified hardware.  Include all information that is necessary for 
coordination with other trades.    

 
E. Samples:  Provide samples as requested by owner or architect with Heading # and Door# 

marked on boxes.  All samples will be returned to the contractor and used on doors for 
which they were marked. 

 
F. Templates:  Provide templates of finish hardware items to each fabricator of doors, 

frames and other work to be factory or shop prepared for the installation of hardware. 
 

G. Keying Schedule:  After meeting with the Owner, a keying schedule shall be submitted 
using keyset symbols referenced in DHI manual “Keying Systems and Nomenclature."  
The keying schedule shall be indexed by door number, keyset, hardware heading number, 
cross keying instructions and special key stamping instructions. 

 
H. Operations and maintenance data:  At the completion of the job, provide to the owner two 

copies of an Owner’s operation and maintenance manual.  The manual shall consist of a 
labeled hardcover three ring binder with the following technical information: 
1. Title page containing: Project name, address and phone numbers.  Supplier’s 

name, address and phone numbers.  
2. Table of Contents. 
3. Copy of final Finish Hardware Schedule and Keying Schedule 
4. Maintenance instruction for each item of hardware. 
5. Catalog pages for each product. 
6. Installation Instructions and Parts List for all Locks, Exit Devices and Door 

Closers. 
 
1.04 QUALITY ASSURANCES        
  

A. Substitutions:  Request for substitutions shall not be accepted within this project.  
Architect, owner and Hardware Consultant have selected one (1) specified and two (2) 
equals listed hereinafter in the Hardware Schedule.  By this selection process they have 
established three (3) equal products for competitive pricing, while insuring no 
unnecessary delays by a substitution process.  If any specified product is listed as a “No 
Substitution” product, this product will be supplied as specified, with no alteration or 
request of substitution.  The reason for this is to comply with the uniformity established 
at this project.  Parts and supplies are inventoried for these particular products for ease 
and standardization of replacement. 

  
B. Supplier Qualifications:  Supplier shall be recognized architectural finish hardware 

supplier, with warehousing facilities, who have been furnishing hardware in the project 
vicinity for a period of not less than 2 year and who is or employs a DHI Certified AHC 
or person with a minimum of 10 years of experience as a hardware supplier.  This person 
shall be available at reasonable times during the course of the work for consultation about 
products hardware requirements, to the owner, architect and contractor.    

 
C. Installer Qualifications (Mechanical Hardware):  All finish hardware shall be installed by 

the finish hardware installer with a minimum of at least two (2) years documented 
experience.  Installer shall attend a pre-installation meeting between the contractor, finish 
hardware supplier, hardware manufacturers representative for locks, closers and exit 
devices, all door / frame suppliers.  The finish hardware installer shall be responsible for 
the proper installation and function of all doors and hardware.   

 
D. Installer Qualifications (Electrified Hardware):  All electrified finish hardware (power, 

load, switch, conductor and monitoring device) shall be installed by a Electronic Access 

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 118



 

 

Control installer licensed by the Texas Department of Public Safety.  The electrified 
finish hardware installer shall have a minimum of at least two (2) years of documented 
experience.  Installer shall attend a pre-installation meeting between the contractor, finish 
hardware supplier, electrical contractor, fire alarm contractor, security contractor, 
hardware manufacturers representative for locks, closers and exit devices, all door / frame 
suppliers.  The electrified finish hardware installer shall be responsible for the proper 
installation and function of all doors and hardware.  Installation shall include wiring all 
electrified products (including the required wire to the power supply and/or junction 
box).  

 
1.05 DELIVERY, STORAGE AND HANDLING  
 

A. Marking and packaging:  Mark each item or package separately, with identification 
related to hardware set number, door number and keyset symbol. 

 
B. Delivery: 

1. Deliver individually packaged and properly marked finish hardware at the 
proper time and location to avoid any delays in construction or installation. 

2. At time of delivery, inventory hardware jointly with representatives of hardware 
supplier and hardware installer until each is satisfied that count is correct. 

 
C. Storage:  Store hardware in enclosed, dry and locked area.      

 
1.06 WARRANTY 
 

A. All finish hardware products shall be covered by a 1 year factory warranty from the date 
of substantial completion of the project.  Exit Devices shall carry a 3-year warranty, 
Mechanical Door Closers shall carry a 10-year warranty. 

 
B. Supply warranty verification to the owner for all products that provide factory warranty. 

 
 
1.07 MAINTENANCE: 
 

A. Maintenance Service  
1. None  

 
B. Extra Materials: 

1. All extra screws, fasteners, and all special installation tools furnished with the 
hardware shall be turned over to the owner at the completion of the job.  
  

PART 2 – PRODUCTS 
 
2.01 MATERIALS           
 

A. Screws and Fasteners: 
1. All closers and exit devices provided for exterior doors, hollow metal doors, and 

all other required shall be provided with thru-bolts. 
2. All finish hardware shall be installed to manufacturer’s recommendations, using 

screws, attachments and installation tools provided with the hardware.  No other 
screws or attachments are acceptable. 

3. All other products to meet door and frame conditions. 
 

B. Hinges: 
1. Template:  Provide templated units only. 
2. Exterior:  All exterior hinges shall be stainless steel base and finish.  

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 119



 

 

3. Interior:  All interior hinges steel based, satin chrome finish.  
4. Interior corrosive:  All interior hinges at corrosive areas shall be stainless steel 

base and finish.     
5. Exit devices:  All hinges on doors with exit devices shall be heavy weight.     
6. Electric Hinge :  Provide 8 wire. 
7. Provide non-removable pins for outswinging doors that are locked or are 

lockable.       
8. All hinges on doors with door closers shall be ball bearing. 
9. All hinges shall be five knuckle. 
10. All hinges shall be full mortise.   
11. Size:  Provide 4 ½ x 4 ½ hinges on doors up to 3’0” in width.  Provide 5 x 4 ½ 

hinges on door from 3’2” to 4’0” in width.  Reference manufacturers catalog for 
all other sizes. 

12. Number of Hinges:  Provide number of hinges indicated but not less than 3 
hinges for door leaf for doors 90” or less in height and one additional hinge for 
each 30” of additional height. 

13. The width of hinge shall be sufficient to clear all trim. 
14. Supply from the following list of manufacturers:     

Ives   IVE  www.ives.ingersollrand.com 
Hager   HAG  www.hagerhinge.com 
Bommer  BOM  www.bommer.com 

 
C. Cylindrical Locks/Latches 

1. Provide cylindrical locksets that comply with ANSI A156.2, Series 4000, Grade 1 
and 2. Functions as listed in Hardware Sets.   

2. Provide cylindrical locksets that meet ANSI A117.1, Accessibility Code. 
3. Provide cylindrical locksets that meet UL A label;  to have a minimum listing 

for single doors 4' x 8' 
4. Levers are to be solid. Manufacturers utilizing fillers of any kind are not 

acceptable.  
5. Latchbolt to be steel with minimum ½” throw deadlatch on keyed and exterior 

functions; ¾” throw anti-friction latchbolt on pairs of doors. 
6. Strike to be ANSI curved lip, 1 ¼” x 4 7/8”, 16 gauge, with 1” deep box 

construction.  
7. Supply from the following list of manufacturers: 

Best  BES  www.bestaccess.com 93K/7KC Series 
Falcon  FAL     T/B Series 
Sargent  SAR     10/6500 Line 
 

D. Exit Devices  
1. All exit device types on this project should be manufactured by the same 

manufacturer.   
2. Exit devices are to be architectural grade touch bar type.  Mechanism case to be 

smooth.   
3. Exit devices shall meet ANSI A156.3, 1994, Grade 1.  All exit devices are UL 

listed for Accident Hazard or Fire Exit Hardware. 
4. All lever trim to match lock trim in design and finish. 
5. Dogging:  All non-rated devices are to be provided with dogging.  Cylinder 

dogging as shown in hardware sets.  
6. Exit devices are to be supplied and installed with thru-bolts for exterior, hollow 

metal doors, or as required for application.   
7. Provide proper power supply for exit devices as required. 
8. Push pads shall be metal, no plastic inserts allowed.     
9. Exit devices shall have a flush end cap. 
10. Exit devices shall be ordered with the correct strike for application. 
11. Exit devices shall be order in the proper length to meet door width. 

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 120

http://www.hagerhinge.com/
http://www.bommer.com/
http://www.bestaccess.com/


 

 

12. Exit devices shall have deadlatching.  
13. Install exit devices with fasteners supplied by exit device manufacturer.   
14. Provide glass bead kits as required. 
15. Provide proper concealed vertical rods for wood or hollow metal doors as 

required.    
16. Supply from the following list of manufacturers: 

Von Duprin   VON www.vonduprin.com 99 Series  
Monarch/Falcon   FAL www.falconlock.com 25 Series 
Detex    DET www.detex.com  Advantex 

 
E. Door Closers 

1. All door closers on this project should be manufactured by the same 
manufacturer.  

2. Door closers shall meet the minimum requirements of the 1990 ADA act, in lieu 
of ANSI Standard A156.4 and ANSI, Grade 1 on interior fire rated openings. 

3. Door closers shall be furnished with standard cover.  Provide full cover as 
shown in hardware sets.   

4. Size in accordance with the manufacturers recommendations for door size and 
condition. 

5. Door closers shall be furnished with backcheck, delayed action, hold-open and 
advanced backcheck as listed in the Hardware Sets. 

6. Door closers shall be mounted out of the line of sight wherever possible (i.e., 
room side of corridor doors, etc.) with parallel arm mounting on out swinging 
doors.   

7. Provide and mount closer top jamb or on brackets and/or drop plates, where 
special conditions call for it.   

8. All closer installation shall include thru bolts on exterior, hollow metal doors or 
where required for application. 

9. Supply from the following list of manufacturers 
LCN     LCN  www.lcnclosers.com 
Doromatic/Falcon  DOR/FAL www.falconlock.com 
Norton    NOR  www.nortondoorcontrols.com 
 

 I. Door Protection Plates 
1. Protective plates shall meet ANSI A156.6 requirements for .050 thickness.  
2. Protection plates should be fabricated from stainless steel.   
3. Kickplates shall be 10” by 2” less than door width on single door and 1” less 

than door width on pair of doors or as indicated in hardware sets.  Beveled 3 
edges. 

4. Provide kickplate on all wood doors with closers, unless not required for 
aesthetic reasons.   

5. Supply from the following list of manufacturers: 
Ives   IVE  www.ives.ingersollrand.com  
Rockwood ROC  www.rockwoodmfg.com   
Trimco  TRI  www.trimcobbw.com 
 

I. Door Stops and Holders: 
1. Wall and Floor Stops:  Supply wall stops where needed to protect doors or door 

hardware.  When wall conditions do not permit use of wall stop provide floor 
stops with risers as needed to adjust for floor conditions. 

2. Overhead Stops:  Where wall or floors stops are not applicable provide 
concealed or surface overhead stops.  Provide concealed in public, jury or judges 
area.  Provide surface in all others.      

3. Exterior Stops:  Provide security floor stop.   
4. Supply from the following list of manufacturers: 

Ives  IVE  www.ives.ingersollrand.com 

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 121

http://www.vonduprin.com/
http://www.detex.com/
http://www.lcnclosers.com/
http://www.falconlock.com/


 

 

Glynn Johnson GLY  www.glynn-johnson.com 
Trimco  TRI  www.trimcobbw.com 

J. Silencers 
1. Provide silencers on all doors without seal.  3 for single doors and 2 for pairs. 
2. Provide silencers as required for frame conditions.  SR64 for hollow metal 

frames.  SR65 for wood frames.  
3. Supply from the following list of manufacturer’s 

Ives   IVE  www.ives.ingersollrand.com 
Rockwood ROC  www.rockwoodmfg.com   
Trimco  TRI  www.trimcobbw.com 

 
K. Thresholds/Weatherstripping 

1. All thresholds shall conform to state and local handicap codes.  
2. Smoke seal shall be teardrop design bulb seal. 
3. Exterior seal/thresholds shall be silicone or brush as shown in hardware sets. 
4. Sound seal shall be neoprene.   
5. Drip strips shall protrude 2 ½”. 
6. Provide door sweeps.   
7. Provide UL meeting stile gasketing for fire rated doors.     
8. Supply from the following list of manufacturer’s 

National Guard  NGP www.ngpinc.com 
Hager Hinge Company  HAG www.hagerhinge.com 
Pemko    PEM www.pemko.com 

 
2.03 KEYING: 
 

A. General:  Finish Hardware Supplier shall meet in person with owner to finalize keying 
requirements and match existing or start a new Best Restricted and Patented Master Key 
System for the project.   

 
B. Cylinders:  All cylinder/cores on this project should be manufactured and providing in the 

same keyway.     
 

C. Cylinders:  Provide the correct and quantity of cylinders for all applications.   
 

D. Keys:  Provide nickel silver keys only.  Furnish 2 change keys for each lock: 5 control keys: 5 
master keys for each master system and 5 grandmaster keys for each grandmaster key system.  
Deliver all keys to owners’ representative. 

 
E. Cores and keys shall be provided with identification stamping.   

 
F. Provide construction keying / construction cores for this project with constructions keys. 

 
PART 3 – EXECUTION: 
 
3.01 EXAMINATION: 
 

A. Examine doors, frames and related items for conditions that would prevent the proper 
application of any finish hardware items.  Do not proceed with installation until all 
defects are corrected. 

 
3.02 INSTALLATION:         
  

A. Follow Door and Hardware Institute Publication for: 
Recommended Location for Architectural Hardware for Standard Steel Doors and Frames 
Recommended Location for Builder’s Hardware for Custom Steel Doors and Frames 

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 122

http://www.hagerhinge.com/
http://www.pemko.com/


 

 

Recommended Locations for Architectural Hardware for Wood Flush Door 
 

B. Follow ANSI A117.1-1998 Accessible and Usable Building and Facilities  
 

C. Review mounting locations with Architect. 
 

D. Pre Installation meeting required with attendees to include Architect, Contractor, 
Mechanical Hardware and Electrified Hardware Installer, Finish Hardware Supplier and 
Manufacturer’s Representative for Exit Device, Locks and Closers before installation 
begins. 

 
3.03 FIELD QUALITY CONTROL: 
 

A. After installation has been completed, obtain the services of an Architectural Hardware 
Consultant to check for proper installation of finish hardware, according to the finish 
hardware schedule and keying schedule.  In addition, check all hardware for adjustments 
and proper operation.   

 
3.04 ADJUST AND CLEAN:          
 

A. Adjust, clean and inspect all hardware, to ensure proper operation and function of every 
opening.  Replace items, which cannot be adjusted to operate freely and smoothly as 
intended for the application made.  

 
3.05 PROTECTION: 

 
A. The general contractor shall use all means at his disposal to protect all finish hardware 

items from abuse, corrosion and other damage until the owner accepts the project as 
complete.    

 
3.07 TRAINING 
  
 A. After installation has been completed, provide training to the Owner on the operation of  

finish hardware and programming of any access control items. 
 
3.06 HARDWARE SCHEDULE        
 

A. These hardware set shown below are for use as a guideline.  Provide hardware as required 
to meet the requirements of the openings, security, and code requirements.   

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 123



 

 

HW SET: 00.01   
DOOR NUMBER: 
104 114 114A 115 127 129 
130 131 155 137 137A 204 
218 220 221 222 223 224 
226 226A     
  
EACH TO HAVE: 
1 EA ENTRANCE LOCK 73KC 7AB 16 D S3 626 BES 
1 EA WALL STOP W406/407CCV @ 127 137 155  630 IVE 
3 EA SILENCERS SR64 @ 127 137 155 GRY IVE 
 
VERIFY IN FIELD PRIOR TO BID DATE THAT NEW HARDWARE SPECIFIED CAN BE 
INSTALLED ON EXISTING DOOR/FRAME AND THAT BALANCE OF EXISTING HARDWARE 
OPERATES PROPERLY.  NOTIFY A/E IMMEDIATELY IF NEW HARDWARE SPECIFIED 
CANNOT BE INSTALLED ON EXISTING DOOR FRAME.  IN SUBMITTAL, PROVIDE 
NAME/COMPANY/DATE OF VERIFICATION IN FIELD.   
  
 
HW SET: 00.02   
DOOR NUMBER: 
116 121 126 145 149 150 
152 153 202 209 236 239 
  
EACH TO HAVE: 
1 EA STOREROOM LOCK 73KC 7D 16 D S3 626 BES 
1 EA WALL STOP W406/407CCV @ 239  630 IVE 
3 EA SILENCERS SR64 @ 239 GRY IVE 
 
VERIFY IN FIELD PRIOR TO BID DATE THAT NEW HARDWARE SPECIFIED CAN BE 
INSTALLED ON EXISTING DOOR/FRAME AND THAT BALANCE OF EXISTING HARDWARE 
OPERATES PROPERLY.  NOTIFY A/E IMMEDIATELY IF NEW HARDWARE SPECIFIED 
CANNOT BE INSTALLED ON EXISTING DOOR FRAME.  IN SUBMITTAL, PROVIDE 
NAME/COMPANY/DATE OF VERIFICATION IN FIELD.   
 
HW SET: 00.03   
DOOR NUMBER: 
135 151     
  
EACH TO HAVE: 
2 EA DUMMY TRIM 73KC 01DT 16 D  626 BES 
1 EA INDICATOR DEADBOLT D271 626 FAL 
1 EA WALL STOP W406/407CCV @ 135 630 IVE 
3 EA SILENCERS SR64 @ 135 GRY IVE 
 
PROVIDE FASTENERS REQUIRED TO MOUNT DUMMY LEVER BACK TO BACK.  VERIFY IN 
FIELD PRIOR TO BID DATE THAT NEW HARDWARE SPECIFIED CAN BE INSTALLED ON 
EXISTING DOOR/FRAME AND THAT BALANCE OF EXISTING HARDWARE OPERATES 
PROPERLY.  NOTIFY A/E IMMEDIATELY IF NEW HARDWARE SPECIFIED CANNOT BE 
INSTALLED ON EXISTING DOOR FRAME.  IN SUBMITTAL, PROVIDE NAME/COMPANY/DATE 
OF VERIFICATION IN FIELD 
 
 
 

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 124



 

 

HW SET: 00.04   
DOOR NUMBER: 
102 110 111 117 118 119 
120 122 123 124 125 132 
133 134 134A 139 140 141  
142 144 159 160 161 162 
164 165 166 C103 C104 210 
215 216 219 225 227 230 
231 232 241    
  
EACH TO HAVE: 
1 EA PASSAGE SET 73KC 0N 16 D S3 626 BES 
1 EA WALL STOP W406/407CCV @ 111 142 144 C103 225 227 230 232 630 IVE 
3 EA SILENCERS SR64 @ 111 142 144 C103 225 227 230 232 GRY IVE 
 
VERIFY IN FIELD PRIOR TO BID DATE THAT NEW HARDWARE SPECIFIED CAN BE 
INSTALLED ON EXISTING DOOR/FRAME AND THAT BALANCE OF EXISTING HARDWARE 
OPERATES PROPERLY.  NOTIFY A/E IMMEDIATELY IF NEW HARDWARE SPECIFIED 
CANNOT BE INSTALLED ON EXISTING DOOR FRAME.  IN SUBMITTAL, PROVIDE 
NAME/COMPANY/DATE OF VERIFICATION IN FIELD.   
 
 
HW SET: 00.05   
DOOR NUMBER: 
ST1B      
  
EACH TO HAVE: 
1 EA ELECTROMAGNETIC 

HOLD OPEN 
SEM7800 SERIES 689 LCN 

   BALANCE OF HARDWARE EXISTING   
 
PROVIDE MAGNETIC HOLD OPEN IN DIMENSION REQUIRED.  VERIFY IN FIELD PRIOR TO 
BID DATE THAT NEW HARDWARE SPECIFIED CAN BE INSTALLED ON EXISTING 
DOOR/FRAME AND THAT BALANCE OF EXISTING HARDWARE OPERATES PROPERLY.  
NOTIFY A/E IMMEDIATELY IF NEW HARDWARE SPECIFIED CANNOT BE INSTALLED ON 
EXISTING DOOR FRAME.  IN SUBMITTAL, PROVIDE NAME/COMPANY/DATE OF 
VERIFICATION IN FIELD 
 
 
HW SET: 00.06   
DOOR NUMBER: 
147 147A     
  
EACH TO HAVE: 
1 EA PANIC HARDWARE 99-L-07 628 VON 
1 EA CYLINDER 1E72 626 BES 
 
VERIFY IN FIELD PRIOR TO BID DATE THAT NEW HARDWARE SPECIFIED CAN BE 
INSTALLED ON EXISTING DOOR/FRAME AND THAT BALANCE OF EXISTING HARDWARE 
OPERATES PROPERLY.  PROVIDE CLOSER IF NOT EXISTING.  NOTIFY A/E IMMEDIATELY IF 
NEW HARDWARE SPECIFIED CANNOT BE INSTALLED ON EXISTING DOOR FRAME.  IN 
SUBMITTAL, PROVIDE NAME/COMPANY/DATE OF VERIFICATION IN FIELD.   
 
 

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 125



 

 

 
HW SET: 00.07 
DOOR NUMBER: 
C202 C203     
  
EACH TO HAVE: 
1 EA ELECTRIC HINGE 5BB1 WEIGHT/SIZE AS REQD TW8 652 IVE 
1 EA EU STOREROOM LOCK 93K 7DEU 16 D S3 RQE 626 BES 
1 EA WALL STOP W406/407CCV @ 127 137 155  630 IVE 
3 EA SILENCERS SR64 @ 127 137 155 GRY IVE 
  
 
VERIFY IN FIELD PRIOR TO BID DATE THAT NEW HARDWARE SPECIFIED CAN BE 
INSTALLED ON EXISTING DOOR/FRAME AND THAT BALANCE OF EXISTING HARDWARE 
OPERATES PROPERLY.  PROVIDE CLOSER IF NOT EXISITNG.  NOTIFY A/E IMMEDIATELY IF 
NEW HARDWARE SPECIFIED CANNOT BE INSTALLED ON EXISTING DOOR FRAME.  IN 
SUBMITTAL, PROVIDE NAME/COMPANY/DATE OF VERIFICATION IN FIELD.   
 
 
HW SET: 00.08   
DOOR NUMBER: 
103 128 143 157 228 233 
234 C201     
  
EACH TO HAVE: 
1 EA WALL STOP W406/407CCV  630 IVE 
3 EA SILENCERS SR64  GRY IVE 
 
VERIFY IN FIELD PRIOR TO BID DATE THAT NEW HARDWARE SPECIFIED CAN BE 
INSTALLED ON EXISTING DOOR/FRAME AND THAT BALANCE OF EXISTING HARDWARE 
OPERATES PROPERLY.  NOTIFY A/E IMMEDIATELY IF NEW HARDWARE SPECIFIED 
CANNOT BE INSTALLED ON EXISTING DOOR FRAME.  IN SUBMITTAL, PROVIDE 
NAME/COMPANY/DATE OF VERIFICATION IN FIELD.   
 
HW SET: 03.01   
DOOR NUMBER: 
163      
  
EACH TO HAVE: 
3 EA HINGE 5PB1 4.5 X 4.5 652 IVE 
1 EA ENTRANCE LOCK 73KC 7AB 16 D S3 626 BES 
1 EA WALL STOP WS406/407CCV 630 IVE 
3 EA SILENCERS SR64 GRY IVE 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 126



 

 

 
HW SET: 03.02   
DOOR NUMBER: 
E123      
  
EACH TO HAVE: 
3 EA HINGE 5BB1 4.5 X 4.5 NRP 630 IVE 
1 EA ENTRANCE LOCK 93K 7AB 16 D S3 626 BES 
1 EA CLOSER SC71 SS 689 FAL 
1 EA FLOOR STOP FS18L BLK IVE 
1 EA DOOR SWEEP 200SA AL NGP 
1 EA THRESHOLD 425 AL NGP 
 
PROVIDE MOUNTING ACCESSORIES FOR CLOSER, COORDINATE WITH DOOR/FRAME 
SUPPLIER.  SEAL PROVIDED BY DOOR/FRAME MANUFACTURER.   
 
 
 
HW SET: 06.01   
DOOR NUMBER: 
ST1A      
  
EACH TO HAVE: 
3 EA HINGE 5BB1 4.5 X 4.5 652 IVE 
1 EA PASSAGE SET  73KC 0N 16 D S3  626 BES 
1 EA SURFACE CLOSER SC81 RW/PA 689 FAL 
1 EA ELECTROMAGNETIC 

HOLD OPEN 
SEM7800 SERIES 689 LCN 

1 EA KICK PLATE 8400 10" X 2" LDW 630 IVE 
1 EA WALL STOP WS407CCV 630 IVE 
1 SET SEALS 5050 BWN NGP 
 
PROVIDE MAGNETIC HOLD OPEN IN DIMENSION REQUIRED. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 127



 

 

HW SET: 08.01   
DOOR NUMBER: 
C101      
  
EACH TO HAVE: 
3 EA HINGE 5BB1 4.5 X 4.5 652 IVE 
1 EA POWER TRANSFER EPT10 626 VON 
1 EA PASSAGE SET WITH RQE 93K 0N 16 D S3 RQE 626 BES 
1 EA DELAYED EGRESS 

MAGNETIC LOCK 
M490DE AL SCE 

1 EA SURFACE CLOSER SC81 RW/PA 689 FAL 
1 EA KICK PLATE 8400 10" X 2" LDW 630 IVE 
1 EA WALL STOP WS407CCV 630 IVE 
3 EA SILENCERS SR64 GRY IVE 
 
1008.1.9.7  Delayed egress locks.  Approved, listed, delayed egress locks shall be permitted to be installed 

on doors serving any occupancy except Group A, E and H occupancies in buildings that are 
equipped throughout with an automatic sprinkler system in accordance with Section 903.3.1.1. or 
an approved automatic smoke or heat detection system installed in accordance with Section 907, 
provide that the doors unlock in accordance with Items 1 through 6 below.  A building occupant 
shall not be required to pass through more than one door equipped with a delayed egress lock 
before entering an exit. 
1. The doors unlock upon actuation of the automatic sprinkler system or automatic fire 

detection system.   
2. The doors unlock upon loss of power controlling the lock or lock mechanism. 
3. The door locks shall have the capability of being unlocked by a signal from the fire 

command center. 
4. The initiation of an irreversible process which will release the latch in not more than 15 

seconds when a force of not more than 15 pounds (67 N) is applied for 1 second to the 
release device.  Initiation of the irreversible process shall activate an audible signal in the 
vicinity of the door.  Once the door lock has been released by the application of force to 
the releasing device, relocking shall be by manual means only.    

 Exception:  Where approved, a delay of not more than 30 seconds is permitted. 
5. A sign shall be provided on the door located above and within 12 inches (305 mm) of 

the release devices reading:  PUSH UNTIL ALARM SOUNDS, DOOR CAN BE 
OPENED IN 15 [30] SECONDS. 

6. Emergency lighting shall be provided at the door.   
 
 
HW SET: 08.02   
DOOR NUMBER: 
C102      
  
EACH TO HAVE: 
2 EA HINGE 5BB1 4.5 X 4.5 652 IVE 
1 EA THROUGH WIRE HINGE 5BB1 4.5 X 4.5 TW8 652 IVE 
1 EA FAIL SECURE LOCK WITH 

RQE 
93K 7DEU 16 D S3 RQE 626 BES 

1 EA SURFACE CLOSER SC81 RW/PA 689 FAL 
1 EA KICK PLATE 8400 10" X 2" LDW 630 IVE 
1 EA WALL STOP WS407CCV 630 IVE 
3 EA SILENCERS SR64 GRY IVE 

 
END OF SECTION 

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 128



16-1010 / WCCHD Renovations 08 8000 - 1 GLAZING

SECTION 08 8000
GLAZING

PART 1  GENERAL
1.01 SECTION INCLUDES

A. Insulating glass units.
B. Glazing units.

1.02 REFERENCE STANDARDS
A. ASTM C1036 - Standard Specification for Flat Glass; 2011.
B. ASTM C1048 - Standard Specification for Heat-Strengthened and Fully Tempered Flat Glass;

2012.
C. ASTM C1193 - Standard Guide for Use of Joint Sealants; 2016.
D. ASTM C1376 - Standard Specification for Pyrolytic and Vacuum Deposition Coatings on Flat

Glass; 2015.
E. ASTM E1300 - Standard Practice for Determining Load Resistance of Glass in Buildings; 2016.
F. ASTM E2190 - Standard Specification for Insulating Glass Unit Performance and Evaluation;

2010.
G. GANA (SM) - GANA Sealant Manual; 2008.
H. NFRC 100 - Procedure for Determining Fenestration Product U-factors; 2014.
I. NFRC 200 - Procedure for Determining Fenestration Product Solar Heat Gain Coefficient and

Visible Transmittance at Normal Incidence; 2014.
J. NFRC 300 - Test Method for Determining the Solar Optical Properties of Glazing Materials and

Systems; 2014.
1.03 SUBMITTALS

A. See Section 01 3000 - Administrative Requirements, for submittal procedures.
B. Warranty Documentation:  Submit manufacturer warranty and ensure that forms have been

completed in Owner's name and registered with manufacturer.
1.04 QUALITY ASSURANCE

A. Installer Qualifications:  Company specializing in performing work of the type specified and with
at least three years documented experience.

1.05 FIELD CONDITIONS
A. Do not install glazing when ambient temperature is less than 40 degrees F (4 degrees C).
B. Maintain minimum ambient temperature before, during and 24 hours after installation of glazing

compounds.
1.06 WARRANTY

A. See Section 01 7800 - Closeout Submittals, for additional warranty requirements.
B. Insulating Glass Units:  Provide a five (5) year manufacturer warranty to include coverage for

seal failure, interpane dusting or misting, including replacement of failed units.
PART 2  PRODUCTS
2.01 MANUFACTURERS

A. Glass Fabricators:
1. JE Berkowitz, LP; _____:  www.jeberkowitz.com.
2. Trulite Glass & Aluminum Solutions, LLC; _____:  www.trulite.com.
3. Viracon, Inc; _____:  www.viracon.com.
4. Substitutions:  Refer to Section 01 6000 - Product Requirements.

B. Float Glass Manufacturers:

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 129



16-1010 / WCCHD Renovations 08 8000 - 2 GLAZING

1. Pilkington North America Inc; _____:  www.pilkington.com/na.
2. PPG Industries, Inc; _____:  www.ppgideascapes.com.
3. Substitutions:  Refer to Section 01 6000 - Product Requirements.

2.02 PERFORMANCE REQUIREMENTS - EXTERIOR GLAZING ASSEMBLIES
A. Provide type and thickness of exterior glazing assemblies to support assembly dead loads, and

to withstand live loads caused by positive and negative wind pressure acting normal to plane of
glass.
1. Comply with ASTM E1300 for design load resistance of glass type, thickness, dimensions,

and maximum lateral deflection of supported glass.
2. Provide glass edge support system sufficiently stiff to limit the lateral deflection of

supported glass edges to less than 1/175 of their lengths under specified design load.
3. Glass thicknesses listed are minimum.

B. Vapor Retarder and Air Barrier Seals:  Provide completed assemblies that maintain continuity of
building enclosure vapor retarder and air barrier.
1. In conjunction with vapor retarder and joint sealer materials described in other sections.

C. Thermal and Optical Performance:  Provide glass products with performance properties as
indicated. Performance properties are in accordance with manufacturer's published data as
determined with the following procedures and/or test methods:
1. Center of Glass U-Value:  Comply with NFRC 100 using Lawrence Berkeley National

Laboratory (LBNL) WINDOW 6.3 computer program.
2. Center of Glass Solar Heat Gain Coefficient (SHGC):  Comply with NFRC 200 using

Lawrence Berkeley National Laboratory (LBNL) WINDOW 6.3 computer program.
3. Solar Optical Properties:  Comply with NFRC 300 test method.

2.03 GLASS MATERIALS
A. Float Glass:  Provide float glass based glazing unless noted otherwise.

1. Annealed Type:  ASTM C1036, Type I - Transparent Flat, Class 1 - Clear, Quality-Q3.
2. Heat-Strengthened and Fully Tempered Types:  ASTM C1048, Kind HS and FT.
3. Tinted Type:  ASTM C1036, Class 2 - Tinted, Quality-Q3, color and performance

characteristics as indicated.
4. Thicknesses:  As indicated; provide greater thickness as required for exterior glazing wind

load design.
2.04 INSULATING  GLASS UNITS

A. Manufacturers:
1. Pilkington North America Inc; _____:  www.pilkington.com/na.
2. PPG Industries, Inc; _____:  www.ppgideascapes.com.
3. Viracon, Apogee Enterprises, Inc; _____:  www.viracon.com.
4. Substitutions:  Refer to Section 01 6000 - Product Requirements.

B. Insulating Glass Units:  Types as indicated.
1. Durability:  Certified by an independent testing agency to comply with ASTM E2190.
2. Coated Glass:  Comply with requirements of ASTM C1376 for pyrolytic (hard-coat) or

magnetic sputter vapor deposition (soft-coat) type coatings on flat glass; coated vision
glass, Kind CV; coated overhead glass, Kind CO; or coated spandrel glass, Kind CS.

3. Spacer Color:  Black.
4. Edge Seal:
5. Color:  Black.
6. Purge interpane space with dry air, hermetically sealed.

2.05 BASIS OF DESIGN -  INSULATING GLASS UNITS
A. Basis of Design - Insulating Glass Units:  Vision glazing, with Low-E coating.

1. Applications:  Exterior insulating glass glazing unless otherwise indicated.
2. Space between lites filled with air.
3. Total Thickness:  1 inch (25.4 mm).

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 130



16-1010 / WCCHD Renovations 08 8000 - 3 GLAZING

2.06 GLAZING UNITS
A. Monolithic Interior Vision Glazing:

1. Applications:  Interior glazing unless otherwise indicated.
2. Glass Type:  Fully tempered float glass.
3. Tint:  Clear.
4. Thickness:  1/4 inch (6.4 mm), nominal.

PART 3  EXECUTION
3.01 VERIFICATION OF CONDITIONS

A. Verify that openings for glazing are correctly sized and within tolerances, including those for
size, squareness, and offsets at corners.

B. Verify that surfaces of glazing channels or recesses are clean, free of obstructions that may
impede moisture movement, weeps are clear, and support framing is ready to receive glazing
system.

3.02 PREPARATION
A. Clean contact surfaces with appropriate solvent and wipe dry within maximum of 24 hours

before glazing. Remove coatings that are not tightly bonded to substrates.
B. Seal porous glazing channels or recesses with substrate compatible primer or sealer.
C. Prime surfaces scheduled to receive sealant where required for proper sealant adhesion.

3.03 INSTALLATION, GENERAL
A. Install glazing sealants in accordance with ASTM C1193, GANA (SM), and manufacturer's

instructions.
3.04 CLEANING

A. Remove excess glazing materials from finish surfaces immediately after application using
solvents or cleaners recommended by manufacturers.

B. Remove non-permanent labels immediately after glazing installation is complete.
C. Clean glass and adjacent surfaces after sealants are fully cured.
D. Clean glass on both exposed surfaces not more than 4 days prior to Date of Substantial

Completion in accordance with glass manufacturer's written recommendations.
3.05 PROTECTION

A. After installation, mark pane with an 'X' by using removable plastic tape or paste.
B. Remove and replace glass that is damaged during construction period prior to Date of

Substantial Completion.
END OF SECTION

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 131



16-1010 / WCCHD Renovations 09 2116 - 1 GYPSUM BOARD ASSEMBLIES

SECTION 09 2116
GYPSUM BOARD ASSEMBLIES

PART 1  GENERAL
1.01 SECTION INCLUDES

A. Acoustic insulation.
B. Gypsum wallboard.
C. Joint treatment and accessories.

1.02 REFERENCE STANDARDS
A. ASTM C475/C475M - Standard Specification for Joint Compound and Joint Tape for Finishing

Gypsum Board; 2015.
B. ASTM C665 - Standard Specification for Mineral-Fiber Blanket Thermal Insulation for Light

Frame Construction and Manufactured Housing; 2012.
C. ASTM C840 - Standard Specification for Application and Finishing of Gypsum Board; 2013.
D. ASTM C1396/C1396M - Standard Specification for Gypsum Board; 2014a.
E. GA-216 - Application and Finishing of Gypsum Board; 2013.

PART 2  PRODUCTS
2.01 GYPSUM BOARD ASSEMBLIES

A. Provide completed assemblies complying with ASTM C840 and GA-216.
2.02 BOARD MATERIALS

A. Gypsum Wallboard:  Paper-faced gypsum panels as defined in ASTM C1396/C1396M; sizes to
minimize joints in place; ends square cut.
1. Application:  Use for vertical surfaces and ceilings, unless otherwise indicated.
2. Thickness:  

a. Vertical Surfaces:  1/2 inch (13 mm).
2.03 ACCESSORIES

A. Acoustic Insulation:  ASTM C665; preformed glass fiber, friction fit type, unfaced.  Thickness: 
_____ inch (_____ mm).

B. Joint Materials:  ASTM C475/C475M and as recommended by gypsum board manufacturer for
project conditions.

END OF SECTION

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 132



16-1010 / WCCHD Renovations 09 3000 - 1 TILING

SECTION 09 3000
TILING

PART 1  GENERAL
1.01 SECTION INCLUDES

A. Tile for floor applications.
B. Tile for wall applications.
C. Ceramic trim.

1.02 REFERENCE STANDARDS
A. ANSI A108/A118/A136.1 - American National Standard Specifications for the Installation of

Ceramic Tile (Compendium); 2013.1.
B. ANSI A108.1a - American National Standard Specifications for Installation of Ceramic Tile in the

Wet-Set Method, with Portland Cement Mortar; 2014.
C. ANSI A108.1b - American National Standard Specifications for Installation of Ceramic Tile on a

Cured Portland Cement Mortar Setting Bed with Dry-Set or Latex-Portland Cement Mortar; 1999
(Reaffirmed 2010).

D. ANSI A108.5 - American National Standard Specifications for Installation of Ceramic Tile with
Dry-Set Portland Cement Mortar or Latex-Portland Cement Mortar; 1999 (Reaffirmed 2010).

E. ANSI A108.6 - American National Standard Specifications for Installation of Ceramic Tile with
Chemical Resistant, Water Cleanable Tile-Setting and -Grouting Epoxy; 1999 (Reaffirmed
2010).

F. ANSI A108.8 - American National Standard Specifications for Installation of Ceramic Tile with
Chemical Resistant Furan Resin Mortar and Grout; 1999 (Reaffirmed 2010).

G. ANSI A108.9 - American National Standard Specifications for Installation of Ceramic Tile with
Modified Epoxy Emulsion Mortar/Grout; 1999 (Reaffirmed 2010).

H. ANSI A108.10 - American National Standard Specifications for Installation of Grout in Tilework;
1999 (Reaffirmed 2010).

I. ANSI A108.11 - American National Standard for Interior Installation of Cementitious Backer
Units; 2010 (Revised).

J. ANSI A108.12 - American National Standard for Installation of Ceramic Tile with EGP (Exterior
Glue Plywood) Latex-Portland Cement Mortar; 1999 (Reaffirmed 2010).

K. ANSI A108.13 - American National Standard for Installation of Load Bearing, Bonded,
Waterproof Membranes for Thin-Set Ceramic Tile and Dimension Stone; 2005 (Reaffirmed
2010).

L. ANSI A118.3 - American National Standard Specifications for Chemical Resistant, Water
Cleanable Tile-Setting and -Grouting Epoxy and Water Cleanable Tile-Setting Epoxy Adhesive;
2013 (Revised).

M. ANSI A118.7 - American National Standard Specifications for High Performance Cement
Grouts for Tile Installation; 2010 (Revised).

N. ANSI A137.1 - American National Standard Specifications for Ceramic Tile; 2013.1.
O. ASTM C373 - Standard Test Method for Water Absorption, Bulk Density, Apparent Porosity,

and Apparent Specific Gravity of Fired Whiteware Products, Ceramic Tiles, and Glass Tiles;
2014a.

P. TCNA (HB) - Handbook for Ceramic, Glass, and Stone Tile Installation; 2016.
1.03 SUBMITTALS

A. See Section 01 3000 - Administrative Requirements, for submittal procedures.
B. Product Data: Provide manufacturers' data sheets on tile, mortar, grout, and accessories.

Include instructions for using grouts and adhesives.

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 133



16-1010 / WCCHD Renovations 09 3000 - 2 TILING

1.04 QUALITY ASSURANCE
A. Maintain one copy of and ANSI A108/A118/A136.1 and TCNA (HB) on site.
B. Manufacturer Qualifications:  Company specializing in manufacturing the types of products

specified in this section, with minimum five years of documented experience.
C. Installer Qualifications:  Company specializing in performing tile installation, with minimum of

five years of documented experience.
PART 2  PRODUCTS
2.01 TILE

A. Manufacturers:  All products by the same manufacturer.
1. Dal-Tile Corporation:  www.daltile.com.

B. Ceramic Mosaic Tile, Type Keystone Mosaic:  ANSI A137.1, standard grade.
1. Moisture Absorption:  0 to 0.5 percent as tested in accordance with ASTM C373.
2. Size:  2 by 2 inch (51 by 51 mm), nominal.
3. Shape:  Square.
4. Edges:  Square.
5. Surface Finish:  Unglazed.
6. Color(s):  As shown on drawings.

C. Glazed Wall Tile, Type Dal-Tile Matte Wall Tile:  ANSI A137.1, standard grade.
1. Moisture Absorption:   7.0 to 20.0 percent as tested in accordance with ASTM C373.
2. Size:  4-1/4 by 4-1/4 inch (108 by 108 mm), nominal.
3. Edges:  Cushioned.
4. Surface Finish:  Matte glaze.
5. Color(s):  As scheduled.

2.02 TRIM AND ACCESSORIES
A. Ceramic Trim:  Matching bullnose, double bullnose, cove base, and cove ceramic shapes in

sizes coordinated with field tile.
1. Manufacturers:  Same as for tile.

2.03 SETTING MATERIALS
A. Manufacturers:

1. Custom Building Products; _____:  www.custombuildingproducts.com.
B. Epoxy Adhesive and Mortar Bond Coat:  ANSI A118.3.

1. Products:
a. Custom Building Products; EBM-Lite Epoxy Bonding Mortar: 

www.custombuildingproducts.com.
b. Substitutions:  See Section 01 6000 - Product Requirements.

2.04 GROUTS
A. Manufacturers:

1. Custom Building Products; _____:  www.custombuildingproducts.com.
B. Polymer Modified Grout:  ANSI A118.7 polymer modified cement grout.

1. Applications:  Use this type of grout where indicated and where no other type of grout is
indicated.

2. Use sanded grout for joints 1/8 inch (3.2 mm) wide and larger; use unsanded grout for
joints less than 1/8 inch (3.2 mm) wide.

3. Color(s):  As selected by Architect from manufacturer's full line.
4. Products:

a. Custom Building Products; Fusion Pro Single Component Grout: 
www.custombuildingproducts.com.

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 134



16-1010 / WCCHD Renovations 09 3000 - 3 TILING

PART 3  EXECUTION
3.01 EXAMINATION

A. Verify that sub-floor surfaces are smooth and flat within the tolerances specified for that type of
work and are ready to receive tile.

B. Verify that wall surfaces are smooth and flat within the tolerances specified for that type of work,
are dust-free, and are ready to receive tile.

C. Verify that sub-floor surfaces are dust-free and free of substances that could impair bonding of
setting materials to sub-floor surfaces.

D. Verify that concrete sub-floor surfaces are ready for tile installation by testing for moisture
emission rate and alkalinity; obtain instructions if test results are not within limits recommended
by tile manufacturer and setting materials manufacturer.

E. Verify that required floor-mounted utilities are in correct location.
3.02 PREPARATION

A. Protect surrounding work from damage.
B. Vacuum clean surfaces and damp clean.
C. Seal substrate surface cracks with filler.  Level existing substrate surfaces to acceptable

flatness tolerances.
3.03 INSTALLATION - GENERAL

A. Install tile, thresholds, and stair treads and grout in accordance with applicable requirements of
ANSI A108.1a through ANSI A108.13, manufacturer's instructions, and TCNA (HB)
recommendations.

B. Lay tile to pattern indicated.  Do not interrupt tile pattern through openings.
C. Cut and fit tile to penetrations through tile, leaving sealant joint space.  Form corners and bases

neatly.  Align floor joints.
D. Place tile joints uniform in width, subject to variance in tolerance allowed in tile size.  Make grout

joints without voids, cracks, excess mortar or excess grout, or too little grout.
E. Form internal angles square and external angles bullnosed.
F. Sound tile after setting.  Replace hollow sounding units.
G. Keep control and expansion joints free of mortar, grout, and adhesive.
H. Prior to grouting, allow installation to completely cure; minimum of 48 hours.
I. Grout tile joints unless otherwise indicated.  Use standard grout unless otherwise indicated.
J. At changes in plane and tile-to-tile control joints, use tile sealant instead of grout, with either

bond breaker tape or backer rod as appropriate to prevent three-sided bonding.
3.04 INSTALLATION - WALL TILE

END OF SECTION

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 135

http://global.ihs.com/doc_detail.cfm?rid=BSD&document_name=ANSI%20A108/A118/A136


16-1010 / WCCHD Renovations 09 5100 - 1 SUSPENDED ACOUSTICAL
CEILINGS

SECTION 09 5100
SUSPENDED ACOUSTICAL CEILINGS

PART 1  GENERAL
1.01 SECTION INCLUDES

A. Suspended metal grid ceiling system.
B. Acoustical units.

1.02 RELATED REQUIREMENTS
A. Section 01 6116 - Volatile Organic Compound (VOC) Content Restrictions.

1.03 REFERENCE STANDARDS
A. ASTM C635/C635M - Standard Specification for the Manufacture, Performance, and Testing of

Metal Suspension Systems for Acoustical Tile and Lay-in Panel Ceilings; 2013a.
B. ASTM C636/C636M - Standard Practice for Installation of Metal Ceiling Suspension Systems for

Acoustical Tile and Lay-In Panels; 2013.
C. ASTM E580/E580M - Standard Practice for Installation of Ceiling Suspension Systems for

Acoustical Tile and Lay-in Panels in Areas Subject to Earthquake Ground Motions; 2014.
D. ASTM E1264 - Standard Classification for Acoustical Ceiling Products; 2014.

1.04 ADMINISTRATIVE REQUIREMENTS
A. Sequence work to ensure acoustical ceilings are not installed until building is enclosed,

sufficient heat is provided, dust generating activities have terminated, and overhead work is
completed, tested, and approved.

B. Do not install acoustical units until after interior wet work is dry.
1.05 SUBMITTALS

A. See Section 01 3000 - Administrative Requirements, for submittal procedures.
B. Product Data:  Provide data on suspension system components.
C. Samples:  Submit two full size samples illustrating material and finish of acoustical units.
D. Maintenance Materials:  Furnish the following for Owner's use in maintenance of project.

1. See Section 01 6000 - Product Requirements, for additional provisions.
2. Extra Acoustical Units:  Quantity equal to 5 percent of total installed.

1.06 FIELD CONDITIONS
A. Maintain uniform temperature of minimum 60 degrees F (16 degrees C), and maximum

humidity of 40 percent prior to, during, and after acoustical unit installation.
PART 2  PRODUCTS
2.01 MANUFACTURERS

A. Acoustic Tiles/Panels:
1. Armstrong World Industries, Inc; as shown on drawings:  www.armstrong.com.

B. Suspension Systems:
1. Same as for acoustical units.

2.02 ACOUSTICAL UNITS
A. Acoustical Units - General:  ASTM E1264, Class A.
B. Acoustical Tile Type Dune 1774:  Painted mineral fiber, ASTM E1264 Type III, with the following

characteristics:
1. Size:  24 by 24 inches (___ by ___ mm).
2. Thickness:  5/8 inches (15.9 mm).
3. Edge:  Beveled tegular.
4. Surface Color:  White.

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 136



16-1010 / WCCHD Renovations 09 5100 - 2 SUSPENDED ACOUSTICAL
CEILINGS

2.03 SUSPENSION SYSTEM(S)
A. Suspension Systems - General:  Complying with ASTM C635/C635M; die cut and interlocking

components, with stabilizer bars, clips, splices, perimeter moldings, and hold down clips as
required.

B. Exposed Steel Suspension System Type Prelude XL :  Formed steel, commercial quality cold
rolled; heavy-duty.
1. Profile:  Tee; 15/16 inch (24 mm) wide face.
2. Construction:  Double web.
3. Finish:  As shown on the drawings.

2.04 ACCESSORIES
A. Support Channels and Hangers:  Galvanized steel; size and type to suit application, seismic

requirements, and ceiling system flatness requirement specified.
B. Perimeter Moldings:  Same material and finish as grid.

1. At Exposed Grid:  Provide L-shaped molding for mounting at same elevation as face of
grid.

C. Touch-up Paint:  Type and color to match acoustical and grid units.
PART 3  EXECUTION
3.01 EXAMINATION

A. Verify existing conditions before starting work.
B. Verify that layout of hangers will not interfere with other work.

3.02 INSTALLATION - SUSPENSION SYSTEM
A. Install suspension system in accordance with ASTM C636/C636M, ASTM E580/E580M, and

manufacturer's instructions and as supplemented in this section.
B. Rigidly secure system, including integral mechanical and electrical components, for maximum

deflection of 1:360.
C. Lay out system to a balanced grid design with edge units no less than 50 percent of acoustical

unit size.
D. Install after major above-ceiling work is complete.  Coordinate the location of hangers with other

work.
E. Hang suspension system independent of walls, columns, ducts, pipes and conduit.  Where

carrying members are spliced, avoid visible displacement of face plane of adjacent members.
F. Where ducts or other equipment prevent the regular spacing of hangers, reinforce the nearest

affected hangers and related carrying channels to span the extra distance.
G. Do not support components on main runners or cross runners if weight causes total dead load

to exceed deflection capability.
H. Support fixture loads using supplementary hangers located within 6 inches (150 mm) of each

corner, or support components independently.
I. Do not eccentrically load system or induce rotation of runners.
J. Perimeter Molding:  Install at intersection of ceiling and vertical surfaces and at junctions with

other interruptions.
1. Use longest practical lengths.
2. Overlap and rivet corners.

3.03 INSTALLATION - ACOUSTICAL UNITS
A. Install acoustical units in accordance with manufacturer's instructions.
B. Fit acoustical units in place, free from damaged edges or other defects detrimental to

appearance and function.
C. Fit border trim neatly against abutting surfaces.

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 137



16-1010 / WCCHD Renovations 09 5100 - 3 SUSPENDED ACOUSTICAL
CEILINGS

D. Install units after above-ceiling work is complete.
E. Install acoustical units level, in uniform plane, and free from twist, warp, and dents.
F. Cutting Acoustical Units:

1. Make field cut edges of same profile as factory edges.
3.04 TOLERANCES

A. Maximum Variation from Flat and Level Surface:  1/8 inch in 10 feet (3 mm in 3 m).
B. Maximum Variation from Plumb of Grid Members Caused by Eccentric Loads:  2 degrees.

END OF SECTION

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 138



16-1010 / WCCHD Renovations 09 6500 - 1 RESILIENT FLOORING

SECTION 09 6500
RESILIENT FLOORING

PART 1  GENERAL
1.01 SECTION INCLUDES

A. Resilient tile flooring.
B. Resilient base.
C. Resilient stair accessories.
D. Installation accessories.

1.02 RELATED REQUIREMENTS
A. Section 09 0561 - Common Work Results for Flooring Preparation:  Independent agency testing

of concrete slabs, removal of existing floor coverings, cleaning, and preparation.
1.03 SUBMITTALS

A. See Section 01 3000 - Administrative Requirements, for submittal procedures.
B. Product Data:  Provide data on specified products, describing physical and performance

characteristics; including sizes, patterns and colors available; and installation instructions.
C. Verification Samples:  Submit two samples, 3 by 3 inch (___ by ___ mm) in size illustrating color

and pattern for each resilient flooring product specified.
D. Maintenance Data:  Include maintenance procedures, recommended maintenance materials,

and suggested schedule for cleaning, stripping, and re-waxing.
E. Maintenance Materials:  Furnish the following for Owner's use in maintenance of project.

1. See Section 01 6000 - Product Requirements, for additional provisions.
2. Extra Materials:  Quantity equivalent to 5 percent of each type and color.

1.04 DELIVERY, STORAGE, AND HANDLING
A. Upon receipt, immediately remove any shrink-wrap and check materials for damage and the

correct style, color, quantity and run numbers.
B. Store all materials off of the floor in an acclimatized, weather-tight space.
C. Maintain temperature in storage area between 55 degrees F (13 degrees C) and 90 degrees F

(72 degrees C).
1.05 FIELD CONDITIONS

A. Store materials for not less than 48 hours prior to installation in area of installation at a
temperature of 70 degrees F (21 degrees C) to achieve temperature stability.  Thereafter,
maintain conditions above 55 degrees F (13 degrees C).

PART 2  PRODUCTS
2.01 TILE FLOORING

A. Vinyl Composition Tile:  Homogeneous, with color extending throughout thickness.
1. Manufacturers:

a. Armstrong World Industries, Inc; Standard Excelon:  www.armstrong.com.
b. Substitutions:  See Section 01 6000 - Product Requirements.

2. Minimum Requirements:  Comply with ASTM F1066, of Class corresponding to type
specified.

3. Size:  12 by 12 inch (305 by 305 mm).
4. Thickness:  0.125 inch (3.2 mm).
5. Pattern:  Solid color.

B. Rubber Tile:  Homogeneous color and pattern throughout thickness.
1. Manufacturers:

a. Johnsonite, a Tarkett Company; _______:  www.johnsonite.com.
b. Substitutions:  See Section 01 6000 - Product Requirements.

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 139



16-1010 / WCCHD Renovations 09 6500 - 2 RESILIENT FLOORING

2. Minimum Requirements:  Comply with ASTM F1344, of Class corresponding to type
specified.

3. Design:   as shown on drawings.
4. Size:  24 by 24 inch (___ by ___ mm).
5. Total Thickness:  1/8 inch (____ mm).
6. Pattern:  Solid color.

2.02 STAIR COVERING
A. Stair Treads:  Rubber; full width and depth of stair tread in one piece; tapered thickness; nosing 

not less than 1-5/8 inch (41 mm) deep.
1. Manufacturers:

a. Johnsonite, a Tarkett Company; Visually Impaired Rubber Stair Tread with Integraded
Riser:  www.johnsonite.com.

2. Style:  Contrasting color strips full width.
3. Color:  Solid.

2.03 RESILIENT BASE
A. Resilient Base:  ASTM F1861, Type TS rubber, vulcanized thermoset; top set Style B, Cove.

1. Manufacturers:
a. Johnsonite, a Tarkett Company; Traditional Wall Base:  www.johnsonite.com.

2. Height:  4 inch (100 mm).
3. Thickness:  0.125 inch (3.2 mm) thick.
4. Finish:  Satin.
5. Length:  Roll.
6. Color:  as shown on drawings.

2.04 ACCESSORIES
A. Subfloor Filler:  White premix latex; type recommended by adhesive material manufacturer.
B. Primers, Adhesives, and Seam Sealer:  Waterproof; types recommended by flooring

manufacturer.
C. Moldings, Transition and Edge Strips:  Same material as flooring.

PART 3  EXECUTION
3.01 EXAMINATION

A. Verify that surfaces are flat to tolerances acceptable to flooring manufacturer, free of cracks that
might telegraph through flooring, clean, dry, and free of curing compounds, surface hardeners,
and other chemicals that might interfere with bonding of flooring to substrate.

B. Verify that wall surfaces are smooth and flat within the tolerances specified for that type of work,
are dust-free, and are ready to receive resilient base.

C. Cementitious Sub-floor Surfaces:  Verify that substrates are dry enough and ready for resilient
flooring installation by testing for moisture and pH.

3.02 PREPARATION
A. Prepare floor substrates for installation of flooring in accordance with Section 09 0561.

3.03 INSTALLATION
A. Starting installation constitutes acceptance of sub-floor conditions.
B. Install in accordance with manufacturer's written instructions.
C. Spread only enough adhesive to permit installation of materials before initial set.
D. Fit joints and butt seams tightly.
E. Set flooring in place, press with heavy roller to attain full adhesion.
F. Where type of floor finish, pattern, or color are different on opposite sides of door, terminate

flooring under centerline of door.

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 140



16-1010 / WCCHD Renovations 09 6500 - 3 RESILIENT FLOORING

G. Install edge strips at unprotected or exposed edges, where flooring terminates, and where
indicated.

H. Scribe flooring to walls, columns, cabinets, floor outlets, and other appurtenances to produce
tight joints.

3.04 TILE FLOORING
A. Mix tile from container to ensure shade variations are consistent when tile is placed, unless

otherwise indicated in manufacturer's installation instructions.
3.05 RESILIENT BASE

A. Fit joints tightly and make vertical.  Maintain minimum dimension of 18 inches (45 mm) between
joints.

B. Install base on solid backing.  Bond tightly to wall and floor surfaces.
3.06 STAIR COVERINGS

A. Adhere over entire surface.  Fit accurately and securely.
3.07 CLEANING

A. Remove excess adhesive from floor, base, and wall surfaces without damage.
B. Clean in accordance with manufacturer's written instructions.

3.08 PROTECTION
A. Prohibit traffic on resilient flooring for 48 hours after installation.

END OF SECTION

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 141



16-1010 / WCCHD Renovations 09 6813 - 1 TILE CARPETING

SECTION 09 6813
TILE CARPETING

PART 1  GENERAL
1.01 SECTION INCLUDES

A. Carpet tile, fully adhered.
B. Removal of existing carpet tile.

1.02 RELATED REQUIREMENTS
A. Section 01 6116 - Volatile Organic Compound (VOC) Content Restrictions.
B. Section 01 7419 - Construction Waste Management and Disposal:  Reclamation/Recycling of

new carpet tile scrap, removed carpet tile, and ______.
1.03 REFERENCE STANDARDS

A. ASTM D2859 - Standard Test Method for Ignition Characteristics of Finished Textile Floor
Covering Materials; 2016.

B. ASTM F710 - Standard Practice for Preparing Concrete Floors to Receive Resilient Flooring;
2011.

C. CRI 104 - Standard for Installation of Commercial Carpet; 2015.
1.04 SUBMITTALS

A. See Section 01 3000 - Administrative Requirements, for submittal procedures.
B. Product Data:  Provide data on specified products, describing physical and performance

characteristics; sizes, patterns, colors available, and method of installation.
C. Samples:  Submit two carpet tiles illustrating color and pattern design for each carpet color

selected.
D. Manufacturer's Installation Instructions:  Indicate special procedures, perimeter conditions

requiring special attention, and ________.
E. Maintenance Data:  Include maintenance procedures, recommended maintenance materials,

and suggested schedule for cleaning.
F. Maintenance Materials:  Furnish the following for Owner's use in maintenance of project.

1. See Section 01 6000 - Product Requirements, for additional provisions.
2. Extra Carpet Tiles:  Quantity equal to 5 percent of total installed of each color and pattern

installed.
1.05 QUALITY ASSURANCE

A. Manufacturer Qualifications:  Company specializing in manufacturing specified carpet tile with
minimum three years documented experience.

B. Installer Qualifications:  Company specializing in installing carpet tile with minimum three years
documented experience and approved by carpet tile manufacturer.

1.06 FIELD CONDITIONS
A. Store materials in area of installation for minimum period of 24 hours prior to installation.

PART 2  PRODUCTS
2.01 MANUFACTURERS

A. Tile Carpeting:
1. Tandus; ____:  www.tandus.com.

2.02 MATERIALS
A. Tile Carpeting, Type as shown on drawings:  Tufted, manufactured in one color dye lot.

1. Product:  Overlay Accent II manufactured by Tandus.
2. Product:  [Syllabus] manufactured by [Tandus].

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 142



16-1010 / WCCHD Renovations 09 6813 - 2 TILE CARPETING

3. Tile Size:  24 by 24 inch (____by____ mm), nominal.
4. Thickness:.187 inch (____ mm).
5. Color:  as shown on drawings.
6. Primary Backing Material:  non woven synthetic fiber.
7. Secondary Backing Material:  ER3 Modular.

2.03 ACCESSORIES
A. Sub-Floor Filler:  White premix latex; type recommended by flooring material manufacturer.
B. Edge Strips:  Embossed aluminum, _____ color.
C. Adhesives:
D. Carpet Tile Adhesive:  Recommended by carpet tile manufacturer.

PART 3  EXECUTION
3.01 EXAMINATION

A. Verify that sub-floor surfaces are smooth and flat within tolerances specified for that type of
work and are ready to receive carpet tile.

B. Verify that sub-floor surfaces are dust-free and free of substances that could impair bonding of
adhesive materials to sub-floor surfaces.

C. Cementitious Sub-floor Surfaces:  Verify that substrates are dry enough and ready for flooring
installation by testing for moisture and pH.
1. Obtain instructions if test results are not within limits recommended by flooring material

manufacturer and adhesive materials manufacturer.
D. Verify that required floor-mounted utilities are in correct location.

3.02 PREPARATION
A. Remove existing carpet tile.
B. Prepare floor substrates for installation of flooring in accordance with Section 09 0561.

3.03 INSTALLATION
A. Starting installation constitutes acceptance of sub-floor conditions.
B. Install carpet tile in accordance with manufacturer's instructions.
C. Blend carpet from different cartons to ensure minimal variation in color match.
D. Cut carpet tile clean.  Fit carpet tight to intersection with vertical surfaces without gaps.
E. Lay carpet tile in square pattern, with pile direction parallel to next unit, set parallel to building

lines.
F. Fully adhere carpet tile to substrate.
G. Trim carpet tile neatly at walls and around interruptions.
H. Complete installation of edge strips, concealing exposed edges.

3.04 CLEANING
A. Remove excess adhesive without damage, from floor, base, and wall surfaces.
B. Clean and vacuum carpet surfaces.

END OF SECTION

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 143



16-1010 / WCCHD Renovations 09 9123 - 1 INTERIOR PAINTING

SECTION 09 9123
INTERIOR PAINTING

PART 1  GENERAL
1.01 SECTION INCLUDES

A. Surface preparation.
B. Field application of paints, stains, and varnishes.
C. Scope:  Finish interior surfaces exposed to view, unless fully factory-finished and unless

otherwise indicated.
1. Mechanical and Electrical:

a. In finished areas, paint insulated and exposed pipes, conduit, boxes, insulated and
exposed ducts, hangers, brackets, collars and supports, mechanical equipment, and
electrical equipment, unless otherwise indicated.

D. Do Not Paint or Finish the Following Items:
1. Items factory-finished unless otherwise indicated; materials and products having

factory-applied primers are not considered factory finished.
2. Items indicated to receive other finishes.
3. Items indicated to remain unfinished.
4. Fire rating labels, equipment serial number and capacity labels, bar code labels, and

operating parts of equipment.
5. Floors, unless specifically indicated.
6. Glass.
7. Concealed pipes, ducts, and conduits.

1.02 REFERENCE STANDARDS
A. ASTM D4442 - Standard Test Methods for Direct Moisture Content Measurement of Wood and

Wood-Base Materials; 2007.
B. MPI (APSM) - Master Painters Institute Architectural Painting Specification Manual; Current

Edition, www.paintinfo.com.
C. SSPC-SP 1 - Solvent Cleaning; 2015.
D. SSPC-SP 6 - Commercial Blast Cleaning; 2007.

1.03 SUBMITTALS
A. See Section 01 3000 - Administrative Requirements, for submittal procedures.
B. Product Data:  Provide complete list of products to be used, with the following information for

each:
1. Manufacturer's name, product name and/or catalog number, and general product category

(e.g. "alkyd enamel").
2. MPI product number (e.g. MPI #47).
3. Cross-reference to specified paint system(s) product is to be used in; include description of

each system.
4. Manufacturer's installation instructions.
5. If proposal of substitutions is allowed under submittal procedures, explanation of

substitutions proposed.
C. Samples:  Submit three paper "draw down" samples, 8-1/2 by 11 inches (216 by 279 mm) in

size, illustrating range of colors available for each finishing product specified.
1. Where sheen is specified, submit samples in only that sheen.
2. Where sheen is not specified, submit each color in each sheen available.

D. Certification:  By manufacturer that paints and finishes comply with VOC limits specified.
E. Manufacturer's Instructions:  Indicate special surface preparation procedures.
F. Maintenance Data:  Submit data including finish schedule showing where each

product/color/finish was used, product technical data sheets, material safety data sheets

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 144



16-1010 / WCCHD Renovations 09 9123 - 2 INTERIOR PAINTING

(MSDS), care and cleaning instructions, touch-up procedures, repair of painted and finished
surfaces, and color samples of each color and finish used.

G. Maintenance Materials:  Furnish the following for Owner's use in maintenance of project.
1. See Section 01 6000 - Product Requirements, for additional provisions.
2. Extra Paint and Finish Materials:  1 gallon (4 L) of each color; from the same product run,

store where directed.
3. Label each container with color in addition to the manufacturer's label.

1.04 QUALITY ASSURANCE
A. Manufacturer Qualifications:  Company specializing in manufacturing the products specified,

with minimum three years documented experience.
1.05 DELIVERY, STORAGE, AND HANDLING

A. Deliver products to site in sealed and labeled containers; inspect to verify acceptability.
B. Container Label:  Include manufacturer's name, type of paint, brand name, lot number, brand

code, coverage, surface preparation, drying time, cleanup requirements, color designation, and
instructions for mixing and reducing.

C. Paint Materials:  Store at minimum ambient temperature of 45 degrees F (7 degrees C) and a
maximum of 90 degrees F (32 degrees C), in ventilated area, and as required by manufacturer's
instructions.

1.06 FIELD CONDITIONS
A. Do not apply materials when surface and ambient temperatures are outside the temperature

ranges required by the paint product manufacturer.
B. Follow manufacturer's recommended procedures for producing best results, including testing of

substrates, moisture in substrates, and humidity and temperature limitations.
C. Provide lighting level of 80 ft candles (860 lx) measured mid-height at substrate surface.

PART 2  PRODUCTS
2.01 MANUFACTURERS

A. Provide paints and finishes used in any individual system from the same manufacturer; no
exceptions.

B. Paints:
1. Sherwin-Williams Company:  www.sherwin-williams.com.

C. Transparent Finishes:
1. Sherwin-Williams Company:  www.sherwin-williams.com.

D. Stains:
1. Sherwin-Williams Company:  www.sherwin-williams.com.

E. Substitutions:  See Section 01 6000 - Product Requirements.
2.02 PAINTS AND FINISHES - GENERAL

A. Paints and Finishes:  Ready mixed, unless intended to be a field-catalyzed paint.
1. Provide paints and finishes of a soft paste consistency, capable of being readily and

uniformly dispersed to a homogeneous coating, with good flow and brushing properties,
and capable of drying or curing free of streaks or sags.

2. Supply each paint material in quantity required to complete entire project's work from a
single production run.

3. Do not reduce, thin, or dilute paint or finishes or add materials unless such procedure is
specifically described in manufacturer's product instructions.

B. Sheens:  Provide the sheens specified; where sheen is not specified, sheen will be selected
later by Architect from the manufacturer's full line.

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 145



16-1010 / WCCHD Renovations 09 9123 - 3 INTERIOR PAINTING

2.03 PAINT SYSTEMS - INTERIOR
A. Paint I-OP -  Interior Surfaces to be Painted, Unless Otherwise Indicated:  Including gypsum

board, concrete, concrete masonry units, brick, wood, plaster, uncoated steel, shop primed
steel, galvanized steel, and aluminum.
1. Two top coats and one coat primer.
2. Top Coat(s):  Institutional Low Odor/VOC Interior Latex; MPI #143, 144, 145, 146, 147, or

148.
3. Top Coat Sheen:

a. Flat:  MPI gloss level 1; use this sheen for ceilings and other overhead surfaces.
b. Velvet:  MPI gloss level 2; use this sheen at all locations.
c. Eggshell:  MPI gloss level 3; use this sheen at all locations.
d. Satin:  MPI gloss level 4; use this sheen for items subject to frequent touching by

occupants, including door frames and railings.
e. Semi-Gloss:  MPI gloss level 5; use this sheen at all locations.
f. Gloss:  MPI gloss level 6; use this sheen at all locations.

4. Primer:  As recommended by top coat manufacturer for specific substrate.
B. Paint I-OP-MD-DT -  Medium Duty Door/Trim:  For surfaces subject to frequent contact by

occupants, including metals and wood:
1. Two top coats and one coat primer.
2. Top Coat(s):  Interior Epoxy-Modified Latex; MPI #115 or 215.

C. Paint I-OP-MD-WC - Medium Duty Vertical and Overhead:  Including gypsum board, plaster,
concrete, concrete masonry units, uncoated steel, shop primed steel, galvanized steel, and
aluminum.
1. Two top coats and one coat primer.
2. Top Coat(s):  Institutional Low Odor/VOC Interior Latex; MPI #143, 144, 145, 146, 147, or

148.
D. Paint I-OP-DF - Dry Fall:  Metals; exposed structure and overhead-mounted services in

utilitarian spaces, including shop primed steel deck, structural steel, metal fabrications,
galvanized ducts, galvanized conduit, galvanized piping, and _______.
1. Shop primer by others.
2. One top coat ______.
3. Top Coat:  Latex Dry Fall; MPI #118, 155, or 226.

E. Paint I-TR -W - Transparent Finish on Wood.
2.04 PRIMERS

A. Primers:  Provide the following unless other primer is required or recommended by
manufacturer of top coats.

2.05 ACCESSORY MATERIALS
A. Accessory Materials:  Provide primers, sealers, cleaning agents, cleaning cloths, sanding

materials, and clean-up materials as required for final completion of painted surfaces.
B. Patching Material:  Latex filler.

PART 3  EXECUTION
3.01 EXAMINATION

A. Do not begin application of paints and finishes until substrates have been properly prepared.
B. Verify that surfaces are ready to receive work as instructed by the product manufacturer.
C. Examine surfaces scheduled to be finished prior to commencement of work.  Report any

condition that may potentially effect proper application.
D. Test shop-applied primer for compatibility with subsequent cover materials.
E. Measure moisture content of surfaces using an electronic moisture meter.  Do not apply finishes

unless moisture content of surfaces are below the following maximums:

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 146



16-1010 / WCCHD Renovations 09 9123 - 4 INTERIOR PAINTING

1. Gypsum Wallboard:  12 percent.
2. Plaster and Stucco:  12 percent.
3. Masonry, Concrete, and Concrete Masonry Units :  12 percent.
4. Interior Wood:  15 percent, measured in accordance with ASTM D4442.

3.02 PREPARATION
A. Clean surfaces thoroughly and correct defects prior to application.
B. Prepare surfaces using the methods recommended by the manufacturer for achieving the best

result for the substrate under the project conditions.
C. Remove or mask surface appurtenances, including electrical plates, hardware, light fixture trim,

escutcheons, and fittings, prior to preparing surfaces or finishing.
D. Seal surfaces that might cause bleed through or staining of topcoat.
E. Masonry:
F. Gypsum Board:  Fill minor defects with filler compound.  Spot prime defects after repair.
G. Plaster:  Fill hairline cracks, small holes, and imperfections with latex patching plaster.  Make

smooth and flush with adjacent surfaces.  Wash and neutralize high alkali surfaces.
H. Aluminum:  Remove surface contamination and oils and wash with solvent according to

SSPC-SP 1.
I. Galvanized Surfaces:

1. Remove surface contamination and oils and wash with solvent according to SSPC-SP 1.
J. Ferrous Metal:

1. Solvent clean according to SSPC-SP 1.
2. Shop-Primed Surfaces:  Sand and scrape to remove loose primer and rust.  Feather edges

to make touch-up patches inconspicuous.  Clean surfaces with solvent.  Prime bare steel
surfaces.  Re-prime entire shop-primed item.

3. Remove rust, loose mill scale, and other foreign substances using using methods
recommended in writing by paint manufacturer and blast cleaning according to SSPC-SP 6
"Commercial Blast Cleaning".  Protect from corrosion until coated.

K. Wood Surfaces to Receive Opaque Finish:  Wipe off dust and grit prior to priming.  Seal knots,
pitch streaks, and sappy sections with sealer.  Fill nail holes and cracks after primer has dried;
sand between coats.  Back prime concealed surfaces before installation.

L. Wood Surfaces to Receive Transparent Finish:  Wipe off dust and grit prior to sealing, seal
knots, pitch streaks, and sappy sections with sealer.  Fill nail holes and cracks after sealer has
dried; sand lightly between coats.  Prime concealed surfaces with gloss varnish reduced 25
percent with thinner.

3.03 APPLICATION
A. Remove unfinished louvers, grilles, covers, and access panels on mechanical and electrical

components and paint separately.
B. Apply products in accordance with manufacturer's written instructions and recommendations in

"MPI Architectural Painting Specification Manual".
C. Do not apply finishes to surfaces that are not dry.  Allow applied coats to dry before next coat is

applied.
D. Apply each coat to uniform appearance in thicknesses specified by manufacturer.
E. Dark Colors and Deep Clear Colors:  Regardless of number of coats specified, apply as many

coats as necessary for complete hide.
F. Sand wood and metal surfaces lightly between coats to achieve required finish.
G. Vacuum clean surfaces of loose particles.  Use tack cloth to remove dust and particles just prior

to applying next coat.

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 147

https://global.ihs.com/doc_detail.cfm?&rid=BSD&input_doc_number=SSPC-Paint%2033&item_s_key=00093635&item_key_date=990329&org_code=SSPC&doc_type=TSDC&origin=SMDO
https://global.ihs.com/doc_detail.cfm?&rid=BSD&input_doc_number=SSPC-Paint%2033&item_s_key=00093635&item_key_date=990329&org_code=SSPC&doc_type=TSDC&origin=SMDO
https://global.ihs.com/doc_detail.cfm?&rid=BSD&input_doc_number=SSPC-Paint%2033&item_s_key=00093635&item_key_date=990329&org_code=SSPC&doc_type=TSDC&origin=SMDO
https://global.ihs.com/doc_detail.cfm?&rid=BSD&input_doc_number=SSPC-Paint%2033&item_s_key=00093635&item_key_date=990329&org_code=SSPC&doc_type=TSDC&origin=SMDO
https://global.ihs.com/doc_detail.cfm?&rid=BSD&input_doc_number=SSPC-Paint%2033&item_s_key=00093635&item_key_date=990329&org_code=SSPC&doc_type=TSDC&origin=SMDO
https://global.ihs.com/doc_detail.cfm?&rid=BSD&input_doc_number=SSPC-Paint%2033&item_s_key=00093635&item_key_date=990329&org_code=SSPC&doc_type=TSDC&origin=SMDO
https://global.ihs.com/doc_detail.cfm?&rid=BSD&input_doc_number=SSPC-Paint%2033&item_s_key=00093635&item_key_date=990329&org_code=SSPC&doc_type=TSDC&origin=SMDO
https://global.ihs.com/doc_detail.cfm?&rid=BSD&input_doc_number=SSPC-Paint%2033&item_s_key=00093635&item_key_date=990329&org_code=SSPC&doc_type=TSDC&origin=SMDO
https://global.ihs.com/doc_detail.cfm?&rid=BSD&input_doc_number=SSPC-Paint%2033&item_s_key=00093635&item_key_date=990329&org_code=SSPC&doc_type=TSDC&origin=SMDO
https://global.ihs.com/doc_detail.cfm?&rid=BSD&input_doc_number=SSPC-Paint%2033&item_s_key=00093635&item_key_date=990329&org_code=SSPC&doc_type=TSDC&origin=SMDO
https://global.ihs.com/doc_detail.cfm?&rid=BSD&input_doc_number=SSPC-Paint%2033&item_s_key=00093635&item_key_date=990329&org_code=SSPC&doc_type=TSDC&origin=SMDO
https://global.ihs.com/doc_detail.cfm?&rid=BSD&input_doc_number=SSPC-Paint%2033&item_s_key=00093635&item_key_date=990329&org_code=SSPC&doc_type=TSDC&origin=SMDO
https://global.ihs.com/doc_detail.cfm?&rid=BSD&input_doc_number=SSPC-Paint%2033&item_s_key=00093635&item_key_date=990329&org_code=SSPC&doc_type=TSDC&origin=SMDO
https://global.ihs.com/doc_detail.cfm?&rid=BSD&input_doc_number=SSPC-Paint%2033&item_s_key=00093635&item_key_date=990329&org_code=SSPC&doc_type=TSDC&origin=SMDO
https://global.ihs.com/doc_detail.cfm?&rid=BSD&input_doc_number=SSPC-Paint%2033&item_s_key=00093635&item_key_date=990329&org_code=SSPC&doc_type=TSDC&origin=SMDO
https://global.ihs.com/doc_detail.cfm?&rid=BSD&input_doc_number=SSPC-Paint%2033&item_s_key=00093635&item_key_date=990329&org_code=SSPC&doc_type=TSDC&origin=SMDO
https://global.ihs.com/doc_detail.cfm?&rid=BSD&input_doc_number=SSPC-Paint%2033&item_s_key=00093635&item_key_date=990329&org_code=SSPC&doc_type=TSDC&origin=SMDO
https://global.ihs.com/doc_detail.cfm?&rid=BSD&input_doc_number=SSPC-Paint%2033&item_s_key=00093635&item_key_date=990329&org_code=SSPC&doc_type=TSDC&origin=SMDO
https://global.ihs.com/doc_detail.cfm?&rid=BSD&input_doc_number=SSPC-Paint%2033&item_s_key=00093635&item_key_date=990329&org_code=SSPC&doc_type=TSDC&origin=SMDO
https://global.ihs.com/doc_detail.cfm?&rid=BSD&input_doc_number=SSPC-Paint%2033&item_s_key=00093635&item_key_date=990329&org_code=SSPC&doc_type=TSDC&origin=SMDO
https://global.ihs.com/doc_detail.cfm?&rid=BSD&input_doc_number=SSPC-Paint%2033&item_s_key=00093635&item_key_date=990329&org_code=SSPC&doc_type=TSDC&origin=SMDO
https://global.ihs.com/doc_detail.cfm?&rid=BSD&input_doc_number=SSPC-Paint%2033&item_s_key=00093635&item_key_date=990329&org_code=SSPC&doc_type=TSDC&origin=SMDO
https://global.ihs.com/doc_detail.cfm?&rid=BSD&input_doc_number=SSPC-Paint%2033&item_s_key=00093635&item_key_date=990329&org_code=SSPC&doc_type=TSDC&origin=SMDO
https://global.ihs.com/doc_detail.cfm?&rid=BSD&input_doc_number=SSPC-Paint%2033&item_s_key=00093635&item_key_date=990329&org_code=SSPC&doc_type=TSDC&origin=SMDO
https://global.ihs.com/doc_detail.cfm?&rid=BSD&input_doc_number=SSPC-Paint%2033&item_s_key=00093635&item_key_date=990329&org_code=SSPC&doc_type=TSDC&origin=SMDO
https://global.ihs.com/doc_detail.cfm?&rid=BSD&input_doc_number=SSPC-Paint%2033&item_s_key=00093635&item_key_date=990329&org_code=SSPC&doc_type=TSDC&origin=SMDO
https://global.ihs.com/doc_detail.cfm?&rid=BSD&input_doc_number=SSPC-Paint%2033&item_s_key=00093635&item_key_date=990329&org_code=SSPC&doc_type=TSDC&origin=SMDO
https://global.ihs.com/doc_detail.cfm?&rid=BSD&input_doc_number=SSPC-Paint%2033&item_s_key=00093635&item_key_date=990329&org_code=SSPC&doc_type=TSDC&origin=SMDO
https://global.ihs.com/doc_detail.cfm?&rid=BSD&input_doc_number=SSPC-Paint%2033&item_s_key=00093635&item_key_date=990329&org_code=SSPC&doc_type=TSDC&origin=SMDO
https://global.ihs.com/doc_detail.cfm?&rid=BSD&input_doc_number=SSPC-Paint%2033&item_s_key=00093635&item_key_date=990329&org_code=SSPC&doc_type=TSDC&origin=SMDO
https://global.ihs.com/doc_detail.cfm?&rid=BSD&input_doc_number=SSPC-Paint%2033&item_s_key=00093635&item_key_date=990329&org_code=SSPC&doc_type=TSDC&origin=SMDO


16-1010 / WCCHD Renovations 09 9123 - 5 INTERIOR PAINTING

H. Wood to Receive Transparent Finishes:  Tint fillers to match wood.  Work fillers into the grain
before set.  Wipe excess from surface.

I. Reinstall electrical cover plates, hardware, light fixture trim, escutcheons, and fittings removed
prior to finishing.

3.04 PROTECTION
A. Protect finishes until completion of project.
B. Touch-up damaged finishes after Substantial Completion.

3.05 SCHEDULE - PAINT SYSTEMS
END OF SECTION

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 148

https://global.ihs.com/doc_detail.cfm?&rid=BSD&input_doc_number=SSPC-Paint%2033&item_s_key=00093635&item_key_date=990329&org_code=SSPC&doc_type=TSDC&origin=SMDO
https://global.ihs.com/doc_detail.cfm?&rid=BSD&input_doc_number=SSPC-Paint%2033&item_s_key=00093635&item_key_date=990329&org_code=SSPC&doc_type=TSDC&origin=SMDO
https://global.ihs.com/doc_detail.cfm?&rid=BSD&input_doc_number=SSPC-Paint%2033&item_s_key=00093635&item_key_date=990329&org_code=SSPC&doc_type=TSDC&origin=SMDO
https://global.ihs.com/doc_detail.cfm?&rid=BSD&input_doc_number=SSPC-Paint%2033&item_s_key=00093635&item_key_date=990329&org_code=SSPC&doc_type=TSDC&origin=SMDO
https://global.ihs.com/doc_detail.cfm?&rid=BSD&input_doc_number=SSPC-Paint%2033&item_s_key=00093635&item_key_date=990329&org_code=SSPC&doc_type=TSDC&origin=SMDO
https://global.ihs.com/doc_detail.cfm?&rid=BSD&input_doc_number=SSPC-Paint%2033&item_s_key=00093635&item_key_date=990329&org_code=SSPC&doc_type=TSDC&origin=SMDO
https://global.ihs.com/doc_detail.cfm?&rid=BSD&input_doc_number=SSPC-Paint%2033&item_s_key=00093635&item_key_date=990329&org_code=SSPC&doc_type=TSDC&origin=SMDO
https://global.ihs.com/doc_detail.cfm?&rid=BSD&input_doc_number=SSPC-Paint%2033&item_s_key=00093635&item_key_date=990329&org_code=SSPC&doc_type=TSDC&origin=SMDO
https://global.ihs.com/doc_detail.cfm?&rid=BSD&input_doc_number=SSPC-Paint%2033&item_s_key=00093635&item_key_date=990329&org_code=SSPC&doc_type=TSDC&origin=SMDO
https://global.ihs.com/doc_detail.cfm?&rid=BSD&input_doc_number=SSPC-Paint%2033&item_s_key=00093635&item_key_date=990329&org_code=SSPC&doc_type=TSDC&origin=SMDO


16-1010 / WCCHD Renovations 10 2113.16 - 1 PLASTIC-LAMINATE-CLAD
TOILET COMPARTMENTS

SECTION 10 2113.16
PLASTIC-LAMINATE-CLAD TOILET COMPARTMENTS

PART 1  GENERAL
1.01 SECTION INCLUDES

A. Plastic laminate toilet compartments.
B. Urinal and Vestibule screens.

1.02 RELATED REQUIREMENTS
A. Section 05 1200 - Structural Steel Framing:  Concealed steel support members.
B. Section 05 5000 - Metal Fabrications:  Concealed steel support members.
C. Section 06 1000 - Rough Carpentry:  Blocking and supports.

1.03 ADMINISTRATIVE REQUIREMENTS
A. Coordination:  Coordinate the work with placement of support framing and anchors in walls and

ceilings.
1.04 SUBMITTALS

A. See Section 01 3000 - Administrative Requirements, for submittal procedures.
B. Shop Drawings:  Indicate partition plan, elevation views, dimensions, details of wall supports,

door swings.
C. Product Data:  Provide data on panel construction, hardware, and accessories.
D. Samples:  Submit two samples of partition panels, 3 x 3 inch (____x____ mm) in size illustrating

panel finish, color, and sheen.
PART 2  PRODUCTS
2.01 MANUFACTURERS

A. Plastic Laminate Toilet Compartments:
1. Global Steel Products Corp; ____:  www.globalpartitions.com.
2. Substitutions:  Section 01 6000 - Product Requirements.

2.02 MATERIALS
A. Particleboard for Core:  ANSI A208.1; composed of wood chips, sawdust or flakes, made with

waterproof resin binder; of grade to suit application; sanded faces.
B. Plastic Laminate:  NEMA LD 3, HGS.

2.03 COMPONENTS
A. Toilet Compartments:  Plastic laminate finished, floor-mounted unbraced.
B. Doors, Panels, and Pilasters:  Plastic laminate adhesive and pressure bonded to faces and

edges of particleboard core, with beveled corners and edges; edges of cut-outs sealed.
1. Plastic Laminate Color:  as shown on drawings, textured, low gloss finish.

C. Door and Panel Dimensions:
1. Thickness:  1 inch (25 mm).
2. Door Width:  24 inch (610 mm).
3. Door Width for Handicapped Use:  36 inch (915 mm), out-swinging.
4. Height:  58 inch (1 473 mm).
5. Thickness of Pilasters:  1-1/4 inch (32 mm).

D. Urinal Screens:  Wall mounted with two panel brackets, and floor-to-ceiling vertical upright
consisting of pilaster anchored to floor and ceiling.

2.04 ACCESSORIES
A. Pilaster Shoes:  Formed chromed steel with polished finish, 3 inches (75 mm) high, concealing

floor fastenings.

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 149



16-1010 / WCCHD Renovations 10 2113.16 - 2 PLASTIC-LAMINATE-CLAD
TOILET COMPARTMENTS

1. Provide adjustment for floor variations with screw jack through steel saddles integral with
pilaster.

2. Provide ceiling attachment using two adjustable hanging studs, attached to above-ceiling
framing.

B. Head Rails:  Hollow chrome plated steel tube, 1 x 1-5/8 inch (25 x 41 mm) size, with anti-grip
strips and cast socket wall brackets.

C. Wall and Pilaster Brackets:  Polished stainless steel.
D. Attachments, Screws, and Bolts:  Stainless steel, tamper proof type.

1. For attaching panels and pilasters to brackets:  Through-bolts and nuts; tamper proof.
E. Hardware:  Polished stainless steel:

1. Pivot hinges, gravity type, adjustable for door close positioning; two per door.
2. Thumb turn door latch with exterior emergency access feature.
3. Door strike and keeper with rubber bumper; mounted on pilaster in alignment with door

latch.
4. Coat hook with rubber bumper; one per compartment, mounted on door.
5. Provide door pull for outswinging doors.

PART 3  EXECUTION
3.01 EXAMINATION

A. Verify that field measurements are as indicated.
B. Verify correct spacing of and between plumbing fixtures.
C. Verify correct location of built-in framing, anchorage, and bracing.

3.02 INSTALLATION
A. Install partitions secure, rigid, plumb, and level in accordance with manufacturer's instructions.
B. Maintain 3/8 to 1/2 inch (9 to 13 mm) space between wall and panels and between wall and end

pilasters.
C. Attach panel brackets securely to walls using anchor devices.
D. Attach panels and pilasters to brackets.  Locate head rail joints at pilaster center lines.
E. Field touch-up of scratches or damaged finish will not be permitted.  Replace damaged or

scratched materials with new materials.
3.03 TOLERANCES

A. Maximum Variation From True Position:  1/4 inch (6 mm).
B. Maximum Variation From Plumb:  1/8 inch (3 mm).

3.04 ADJUSTING
A. Adjust and align hardware to uniform clearance at vertical edge of doors, not exceeding 3/16

inch (5 mm).
B. Adjust hinges to position doors in partial opening position when unlatched.  Return out-swinging

doors to closed position.
C. Adjust adjacent components for consistency of line or plane.

END OF SECTION

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 150



16-1010 / WCCHD Renovations 10 2113.19 - 1 PLASTIC TOILET
COMPARTMENTS

SECTION 10 2113.19
PLASTIC TOILET COMPARTMENTS

PART 1  GENERAL
1.01 SECTION INCLUDES

A. Solid plastic toilet compartments.
B. Urinal and vestibule screens.

1.02 RELATED REQUIREMENTS
A. Section 05 1200 - Structural Steel Framing:  Concealed steel support members.
B. Section 05 5000 - Metal Fabrications:  Concealed steel support members.
C. Section 06 1000 - Rough Carpentry:  Blocking and supports.

1.03 REFERENCE STANDARDS
A. NFPA 286 - Standard Methods of Fire Tests for Evaluating Contribution of Wall and Ceiling

Interior Finish to Room Fire Growth; 2015.
1.04 ADMINISTRATIVE REQUIREMENTS

A. Coordination:  Coordinate the work with placement of support framing and anchors in walls and
ceilings.

1.05 SUBMITTALS
A. See Section 01 3000 - Administrative Requirements, for submittal procedures.
B. Shop Drawings:  Indicate partition plan, elevation views, dimensions, details of wall supports,

door swings.
C. Product Data:  Provide data on panel construction, hardware, and accessories.
D. Samples:  Submit two samples of partition panels, 3 by 3 inch (____by____ mm) in size

illustrating panel finish, color, and sheen.
PART 2  PRODUCTS
2.01 MANUFACTURERS

A. Solid Plastic Toilet Compartments:
1. Scranton Products (Santana/Comtec/Capital); Hiny Hiders:  www.scrantonproducts.com.
2. Substitutions:  Section 01 6000 - Product Requirements.

2.02 SOLID PLASTIC TOILET COMPARTMENTS
A. Toilet Compartments:  Factory fabricated doors, pilasters, and divider panels made of solid

molded high density polyethylene (HDPE), tested in accordance with NFPA 286, floor-mounted
unbraced.
1. Color:  as shown on drawings.

B. Doors:
1. Thickness:  1 inch (25 mm).
2. Width:  24 inch (610 mm).
3. Width for Handicapped Use:  36 inch (915 mm), out-swinging.
4. Height:  55 inch (1397 mm).

C. Panels:
1. Thickness:  1 inch (25 mm).
2. Height:  55 inch (1397 mm).

D. Pilasters:
1. Thickness:  1 inch (25 mm).
2. Width:  As required to fit space; minimum 3 inch (76 mm).

E. Screens:  Without doors; to match compartments; mounted to wall with two panel brackets.

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 151



16-1010 / WCCHD Renovations 10 2113.19 - 2 PLASTIC TOILET
COMPARTMENTS

2.03 ACCESSORIES
A. Pilaster Shoes:  Formed chromed steel with polished finish, 3 in (75 mm) high, concealing floor

fastenings.
B. Pilaster Brackets:  Polished stainless steel.
C. Wall Brackets:  Continuous type, polished stainless steel.
D. Attachments, Screws, and Bolts:  Stainless steel, tamper proof type.
E. Hardware:  Polished stainless steel:

1. Pivot hinges, gravity type, adjustable for door close positioning; two per door.
2. Door Latch:  Slide type with exterior emergency access feature.
3. Door strike and keeper with rubber bumper; mounted on pilaster in alignment with door

latch.
4. Coat hook with rubber bumper; one per compartment, mounted on door.
5. Provide door pull for outswinging doors.

PART 3  EXECUTION
3.01 EXAMINATION

A. Verify that field measurements are as indicated.
B. Verify correct spacing of and between plumbing fixtures.
C. Verify correct location of built-in framing, anchorage, and bracing.

3.02 INSTALLATION
A. Install partitions secure, rigid, plumb, and level in accordance with manufacturer's instructions.
B. Maintain 3/8 to 1/2 inch (9 to 13 mm) space between wall and panels and between wall and end

pilasters.
C. Attach panel brackets securely to walls using anchor devices.
D. Attach panels and pilasters to brackets.  Locate head rail joints at pilaster center lines.
E. Field touch-up of scratches or damaged finish will not be permitted.  Replace damaged or

scratched materials with new materials.
3.03 TOLERANCES

A. Maximum Variation From True Position:  1/4 inch (6 mm).
B. Maximum Variation From Plumb:  1/8 inch (3 mm).

3.04 ADJUSTING
A. Adjust and align hardware to uniform clearance at vertical edge of doors, not exceeding 3/16

inch (5 mm).
B. Adjust hinges to position doors in partial opening position when unlatched.  Return out-swinging

doors to closed position.
C. Adjust adjacent components for consistency of line or plane.

END OF SECTION

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 152



16-1010 / WCCHD Renovations 12 2113 - 1 HORIZONTAL LOUVER BLINDS

SECTION 12 2113
HORIZONTAL LOUVER BLINDS

PART 1  GENERAL
1.01 SECTION INCLUDES

A. Horizontal slat louver blinds.
B. Operating hardware.

1.02 RELATED REQUIREMENTS
A. Section 06 1000 - Rough Carpentry:  Concealed wood blocking for attachment of headrail

brackets.
1.03 REFERENCE STANDARDS

A. WCMA A100.1 - Safety of Corded Window Covering Products; Current Edition, Including All
Revisions.

1.04 SUBMITTALS
A. See Section 01 3000 - Administrative Requirements, for submittal procedures.
B. Product Data:  Provide data indicating physical and dimensional characteristics.
C. Shop Drawings:  Indicate opening sizes, tolerances required, method of attachment,

clearances, and operation.
D. Samples:  Submit two samples, 6 inch (____ mm) long illustrating slat materials and finish, 

cord type and color.
E. Manufacturer's Installation Instructions:  Indicate special procedures.
F. Maintenance Materials:  Furnish the following for Owner's use in maintenance of project.

1. See Section 01 6000 - Product Requirements, for additional provisions.
2. Extra Blind Assemblies:  One of each size.
3. Extra Slats:  20 of each type and size.

1.05 QUALITY ASSURANCE
A. Manufacturer Qualifications:  Company specializing in manufacturing the products specified in

this section with minimum three years documented experience.
PART 2  PRODUCTS
2.01 MANUFACTURERS

A. Horizontal Louver Blinds Without Side Guides:
1. Bali.

2.02 BLINDS WITHOUT SIDE GUIDES
A. Description:  Horizontal slat louvers hung from full-width headrail with full-width bottom rail.
B. Manual Operation:  Control of raising and lowering by cord with full range locking; blade angle

adjustable by control wand.
C. Metal Slats:  Spring tempered pre-finished aluminum; square slat corners, with manufacturing

burrs removed.
1. Width:  1/2 inch (12 mm).
2. Thickness:  0.008 inch (0.20 mm).
3. Color:  As indicated on drawings.

D. Slat Support:  Woven polypropylene cord, ladder configuration.
E. Head Rail:  Pre-finished, formed aluminum box, with end caps; internally fitted with hardware,

pulleys, and bearings for operation; same depth as width of slats.
1. Color:  Same as slats.

F. Bottom Rail:  Pre-finished, formed PVC with top side shaped to match slat curvature; with end
caps.

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 153



16-1010 / WCCHD Renovations 12 2113 - 2 HORIZONTAL LOUVER BLINDS

1. Color:  Same as headrail.
G. Lift Cord:  Braided nylon; continuous loop; complying with WCMA A100.1.

1. Free end weighted.
2. Color:  As selected by Architect.

H. Control Wand:  Extruded hollow plastic; hexagonal shape.
1. Non-removable type.
2. Length of window opening height less 3 inch (76 mm).
3. Color:  Clear.

I. Headrail Attachment:  Wall brackets.
J. Accessory Hardware:  Type recommended by blind manufacturer.

2.03 FABRICATION
A. Determine sizes by field measurement.
B. Fabricate blinds to cover window frames completely.

PART 3  EXECUTION
3.01 EXAMINATION

A. Verify that openings are ready to receive the work.
3.02 INSTALLATION

A. Install blinds in accordance with manufacturer's instructions.
B. Secure in place with flush countersunk fasteners.

3.03 TOLERANCES
A. Maximum Variation of Gap at Window Opening Perimeter:  1/4 inch (6 mm).
B. Maximum Offset From Level:  1/8 inch (3 mm).

3.04 ADJUSTING
A. Adjust blinds for smooth operation.

3.05 CLEANING
A. Clean blind surfaces just prior to occupancy.

END OF SECTION

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 154



16-1010 / WCCHD Renovations  21 13 13 - 1                          WET PIPE SPRINKLER SYSTEM

SECTION 21 13 13

WET PIPE SPRINKLER SYSTEM

PART 1 - GENERAL

1.01 GENERAL REQUIREMENTS

A. The requirements of the General Conditions and Supplementary Conditions apply to all 
work herein. 

B. The Basic Materials and Methods, Section 22 02 00, are included as a part of this 
Section as though written in full in this document.

C. Refer to Section 21 00 00 for integral requirements.

1.02 SCOPE

A. Scope of the work shall include the furnishing and complete installation of the equipment 
covered by this Section, with all auxiliaries, ready for owner's use.

B. The scope and work shall include the complete flushing of the fire protection piping and 
providing treatment for MIC (Microbiologically Influenced Corrosion). The initial system fill 
shall be with treated water, biocides and corrosion inhibitors.

C. The Fire Protection Contractor shall provide the Owner with a periodic plan for the testing 
of the system’s water.

1.03 REGULATORY CODES

A. Work in accordance with:

1. NFPA.
2. Local municipal codes that have jurisdiction.

B. Products in accordance with:

1. United Laboratories (UL) listed.
2. Factory Mutual (FM) approved.

1.04 CERTIFICATE OF TESTING

A. Furnish Owner with test certificate certifying the system approved by:

1. City Fire Marshall.
2. Insurance Services Officials 

PART 2 - PRODUCTS

2.01 FIRE SPRINKLER SYSTEM

A. GENERAL:

1. Work Included:
a. Design, coordination and installation of inside and outside piping, 

including sprinkler heads, valves, hangers and supports sleeves.
b. The sprinkler system is a wet type and is designed to provide coverage 

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 155



16-1010 / WCCHD Renovations  21 13 13 - 2                          WET PIPE SPRINKLER SYSTEM

for entire building. The Contract Drawings indicate the extent and 
general arrangement, and the various occupancy classifications.

c. Sprinkler heads are not shown. 
d. The plans provide a preliminary layout with riser assembly location, flow 

switch locations, valve locations, and fire department Siamese 
connections. These are a guide for subsequent preparation of the 
Contractor's detailed working drawings.

e. Interface system with building fire and smoke alarm system.
2. Quality Assurance: Equipment and installation to meet requirements of NFPA 

Number 13, latest edition and local authority having jurisdiction. All components 
of the completed system shall be UL listed for the intended service.

2.02 SUBMITTALS:

A. Submit shop drawings in accordance with Section 22 02 00.

B. Submit preliminary layout showing only head locations for review by Architect/Engineer. 
Furnish additional heads which may be required for coordinated ceiling pattern without 
added cost, even though number of heads may exceed minimum code requirements.

C. Submit shop drawings of entire sprinkler system including hydraulic calculations to 
Architect/Engineer.

D. Provide Architect with six complete sets of final approved shop drawings before starting 
the installation. Include details of the sprinkler system showing sections, light fixtures, air 
conditioning, ducts, and a plan giving fire department connections, location of all exposed 
structures within twenty feet of this structure, and other equipment to be used. Drawings 
shall bear the stamp of review of the local fire insurance rating organization having 
jurisdiction.

E. Service Utility Diagram: Furnish Architect with an accurately marked print showing 
location of underground pipes and valves as installed upon completion of underground 
Work.

F. Provide a printed sheet giving brief instructions relative to all necessary aspects of 
sprinkler controls and emergency procedures next to sprinkler riser mains. Instruction 
sheet to be protected by glass or a transparent plastic cover.

G. Materials:

1. Piping:
a. All piping above grade shall be: 

- schedule 10 black steel pipe with a rolled groove ends, joined with 
mechanical coupling and cut groove cast iron fittings for pipe 2-1/2” 
and greater. 

- schedule 40 black steel threaded pipe and fittings for pipe 2” and 
smaller.

b. Acceptable manufacturer:
- American Tube
- Wheatland Tube
- Gem Sprinkler

c. Acceptable mechanical coupling manufacturer:
- Victaulic
- Grinnell
- Reliable
- Gruvlok

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 156



16-1010 / WCCHD Renovations  21 13 13 - 3                          WET PIPE SPRINKLER SYSTEM

2. Sprinkler Heads:
a. Suspended Ceiling Type: Standard Concealed pendant type with white 

cover plate.
b. Exposed Area Type: Standard upright type with brass finish.
c. Sidewall Type: Chrome plated finish with matching escutcheon.
d. Temperature rating on fusible links to suit specific hazard area with 

minimum margin or safety 50 degrees F.
e. Sprinkler heads of the “O”-ring seal type are not acceptable.
f. In natatoriums and pool equipment rooms provide chrome plated or wax 

coated heads for corrosive environments.
g. Flexible type sprinkler head connection systems are not acceptable.
h. Acceptable manufacturer:

- Reliable
- Grinnell
- Viking

3. Sprinkler Alarm Valve:
a. Provide approved automatic sprinkler valve with one or two pole (as 

required) flow detectors, pressure switch, [outside water motor gong], 
[outside electric gongs], and inside electric gong and circuit breaker.

b. Acceptable manufacturer:
- Reliable
- Grinnell
- Viking

4. Valves:
a. 2” and smaller: bronze, rising stem, inside screw, solid wedge, U.L. listed 

valve.
b. 2-1/2” and larger: iron body, bronze trim, rising stem, OS&Y, solid 

wedge, U.L. listed valve.
c. Check valve: cast iron flanged body, bronze fitted, non-slam type.
d. Install valves with stems upright or horizontal, not inverted.
e. Acceptable manufacturer:

- Nibco
- Grinnell
- Stockham
- Victaulic

5. Fire Department Connection: Refer to Section 21 00 00.
6. Insulation:

a. All piping and valves exposed to the weather or within building and 
exposed to the weather shall be insulated with Phenolic foam with ASJ 
and all joints sealed. Insulation density shall not be less than 1.5 pounds 

per cubic foot, and conductivity (K) not higher than 0.25 and 75F mean 
temperature difference, with factory applied all weather vapor barrier 
jacket.

b. All insulated pipe and valves subject to damage shall be protected with 
an aluminum jacket with sealed joints.

c. Refer to Section 22 07 19 for detailed specification. 
7. Products:

a. All piping, fitting, equipment, sprinkler heads, and valves shall be by a 
domestic manufacturer.

PART 3 - EXECUTION

3.01 All equipment shall be installed in accordance with the manufacturer’s recommendations and 
printed installation instructions.

3.02 All items required for a complete and proper installation are not necessarily indicated on the plans 

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 157



16-1010 / WCCHD Renovations  21 13 13 - 4                          WET PIPE SPRINKLER SYSTEM

or in the specifications. Provide all items as required by NFPA and installed as per manufacturer’s 
recommendations.

3.03 DESIGN

A. Design spacing of sprinkler heads and selection sizes shall conform to the requirement of 
NFPA 13 for the indicated occupancy.

B. Uniform discharge density design shall be based on hydraulic calculations utilizing the 
method outlined in NFPA 13. Density of discharge from sprinkler heads shall conform to 
NFPA 13.

C. Friction losses in pipe will be based on a value of "C" =120 in the Hazen - Williams 
formula.

D. Design and install the system so that no part will interfere with doors, windows, heating, 
plumbing, or electrical equipment. Do not locate sprinkler heads within 6 inches of lighting 
fixtures, HVAC diffusers and other obstructions. Sprinkler piping cannot penetrate 
ductwork or lighting fixtures. 

E. The Contractor shall conform to the National Fire Protection Association's Fire Code No. 
13, latest edition. Special attention shall be given to Article 1-9, working plans. It shall be 
the Registered Fire Protection Engineer’s responsibility to determine if any deficiency or 
deviations, such as an inadequate water supply, or any other item which would materially 
affect the acceptability of the system.

3.04 INSTALLATION

A. Install all items in accordance with applicable codes.

B. Install piping so that mains and branches are not located directly underneath HVAC 
equipment or other items needing access.

C. All sprinkler heads shall be located as near the center of ceiling tiles as is practical 

(1/2”). Location shall present a uniform pattern with all heads aligned when completely 
installed.

D. Run piping concealed above furred ceilings and in joists to minimize obstructions. Expose 
only heads. Exact routing of piping shall be approved by Architect or relocated as 
required at no additional cost to Owner.

E. Wire guards on all pendant or upright sprinklers heads in mechanical rooms, 
gymnasiums, athletic areas, wood and metal shops.

F. Protect sprinkler heads against mechanical injury with standard guards.

G. Locate outside alarms on wall of building adjacent to siamese fire department connection.

H. Provide on wall near sprinkler valve, cabinet containing four extra sprinkler heads of each 
type and wrench suitable for each head type.

I. Provide 1 inch diameter nipple and 1 inch x 1/2 inch reducing fitting for each upright 
head.

J. Painting shall be as follows:

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 158



16-1010 / WCCHD Renovations  21 13 13 - 5                          WET PIPE SPRINKLER SYSTEM

1. Exposed sprinkler riser, alarm valve and all related piping shall be painted red.
2. Exposed sprinkler piping in finished areas shall be painted as directed by 

Architect. 

3.05 REPLACEMENT

Upon receipt of written notice of failure of any part of the guaranteed equipment during the 
guaranteed period, the Contractor will replace the affected part or parts promptly at no additional 
cost.

3.06 TESTING

A. Prior to testing, the entire sprinkler system shall be thoroughly flushed clean.

B. Upon completion of the installation and flushing, test the system and obtain approval of 
the local fire insurance rating organization having jurisdiction. Particular attention is called 
to the requirements of NFPA 13 pamphlet.

3.07 TRAINING

A. Owner's people shall be fully briefed in the normal start-up of the system, operation, 
normal and emergency shutdown, and maintenance of the system.

B. Routine maintenance, yearly maintenance, winterization, and spring start-up shall be fully 
discussed and documented.

C. Names of those instructed and dates, as well as a list of information handed over to the 
owner, shall be included in the final report.

END OF SECTION

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 159



16-1010 / WCCHD Renovations 22 02 00 - 1                    BASIC MATERIALS AND METHODS

SECTION 22 02 00

BASIC MATERIALS AND METHODS

PART 1 - GENERAL

1.01 GENERAL REQUIREMENTS

A. The requirements of the General Conditions and Supplementary Conditions apply to all 
Work herein.

B. The Contract Drawings indicate the extent and general arrangement of the systems. If 
any departure from the Contract Drawings are deemed necessary by the Contractor, 
details of such departures and the reasons therefore, shall be submitted to the Architect 
for approval as soon as practicable. No such departures shall be made without the prior 
written approval of the Architect.

C. Notwithstanding any reference in the Specifications to any article, device, product, 
material, fixture, form or type of construction by name, make or catalog number, such 
reference shall not be construed as limiting competition; and the Contractor, in such 
cases, may at his option use any article, device, product, material, fixture, form or type of 
construction which in the judgment of the Architect, expressed in writing, is equal to that 
specified.

1.02 SCOPE OF WORK

A. The Work included under this Contract consists of the furnishing and installation of all 
equipment and material necessary and required to form the complete and functioning 
systems in all of its various phases, all as shown on the accompanying Drawings and/or 
described in these Specifications. The contractor shall review all pertinent drawings, 
including those of other contracts prior to commencement of Work.

B. This Division requires the furnishing and installing of all items Specified herein, indicated 
on the Drawings or reasonably inferred as necessary for safe and proper operation; 
including every article, device or accessory (whether or not specifically called for by item) 
reasonably necessary to facilitate each system's functioning as indicated by the design 
and the equipment specified. Elements of the work include, but are not limited to, 
materials, labor, supervision, transportation, storage, equipment, utilities, all required 
permits, licenses and inspections. All work performed under this Section shall be in 
accordance with the Project Manual, Drawings and Specifications and is subject to the 
terms and conditions of the Contract.

C. The approximate locations of Mechanical (HVAC) and Plumbing items are indicated on 
the Drawings. These Drawings are not intended to give complete and accurate details in 
regard to location of outlets, apparatus, etc. Exact locations are to be determined by 
actual measurements at the building, and will in all cases be subject to the Review of the 
Owner or Engineer, who reserves the right to make any reasonable changes in the 
locations indicated without additional cost to the Owner.

D. Items specifically mentioned in the Specifications but not shown on the Drawings and/or 
items shown on Drawings but not specifically mentioned in the Specifications shall be 
installed by the Contractor under the appropriate section of work as if they were both 
specified and shown.

E. All discrepancies between the Contract Documents and actual job-site conditions shall be 
reported to the Owner or Engineer so that they will be resolved prior to the bidding, where 
this cannot be done at least 7 working days prior to bid; the greater or more costly of the 

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 160



16-1010 / WCCHD Renovations 22 02 00 - 2                    BASIC MATERIALS AND METHODS

discrepancy shall be bid. All labor and materials required to perform the work described 
shall be included as part of this Contract.

F. It is the intention of this Section of the Specifications to outline minimum requirements to 
furnish the Owner with a turn-key and fully operating system in cooperation with other 
trades.

G. It is the intent of the above "Scope" to give the Contractor a general outline of the extent 
of the Work involved; however, it is not intended to include each and every item required 
for the Work. Anything omitted from the "Scope" but shown on the Drawings, or specified 
later, or necessary for a complete and functioning heating, ventilating and air conditioning 
system shall be considered a part of the overall "Scope".

H. The Contractor shall rough-in fixtures and equipment furnished by others from rough-in 
and placement drawings furnished by others. The Contractor shall make final connection 
to fixtures and equipment furnished by others. 

I. The Contractor shall participate in the commissioning process as required. Including, but 
not limited to meeting attendance, completion of checklists and participation in functional 
testing. 

1.03 SCHEMATIC NATURE OF CONTRACT DOCUMENTS

A. The contract documents are schematic in nature in that they are only to establish scope 
and a minimum level of quality. They are not to be used as actual working construction 
drawings. The actual working construction drawings shall be the approved shop 
drawings.

B. All piping or equipment locations as indicated on the documents do not indicate every 
transition, offset, or exact location. All transitions, offsets clearances and exact locations 
shall be established by actual field measurements, coordination with the structural, 
architectural and reflected ceiling plans, and other trades. Submit shop drawings for 
approval.

C. All transitions, offsets and relocations as required by actual field conditions shall be 
performed by the contractor at no additional cost to the owner.

D. Additional coordination with electrical contractor may be required to allow adequate 
clearances of electrical equipment, fixtures and associated appurtenances. Contractor to 
notify Architect and Engineer of unresolved clearances, conflicts or equipment locations.

1.04 SITE VISIT AND FAMILIARIZATION

A. Before submitting a bid, it will be necessary for each Contractor whose work is involved 
to visit the site and ascertain for himself the conditions to be met therein in installing his 
work and make due provision for same in his bid. It will be assumed that this Contractor 
in submitting his bid has visited the premises and that his bid covers all work necessary 
to properly install the equipment shown. Failure on the part of the Contractor to comply 
with this requirement shall not be considered justification for the omission or faulty 
installation of any work covered by these Specifications and Drawings.

B. Understand the existing utilities from which services will be supplied; verify locations of 
utility services, and determine requirements for connections.

C. Determine in advance that equipment and materials proposed for installation fit into the 
confines indicated.

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 161



16-1010 / WCCHD Renovations 22 02 00 - 3                    BASIC MATERIALS AND METHODS

1.05 WORK SPECIFIED IN OTHER SECTIONS

A. Finish painting is specified. Prime and protective painting are included in the work of this 
Division.

B. Owner and General Contractor furnished equipment shall be properly connected to 
Plumbing systems.

C. Furnishing and installing all required Plumbing equipment control relays and electrical 
interlock devices, conduit, wire and J-boxes are included in the Work of this Division.

1.06 PERMITS, TESTS, INSPECTIONS

A. Arrange and pay for all permits, fees, tests, and all inspections as required by 
governmental authorities.

1.07 DATE OF FINAL ACCEPTANCE

A. The date of final acceptance shall be the date of owner occupancy, or the date all punch 
list items have been completed or final payment has been received. Refer to Division 01 
for additional requirements.

B. The date of final acceptance shall be documented in writing and signed by the architect, 
owner and contractor.

1.08 DELIVERY, STORAGE, AND HANDLING

A. Deliver products to the project properly identified with names, model numbers, types, 
grades, compliance labels, and other information needed for identification.

B. Deliver products to the project at such time as the project is ready to receive the 
equipment, pipe or valves properly protected from incidental damage and weather 
damage.

C. Damaged equipment, valves or pipe shall be promptly removed from the site and new, 
undamaged equipment, pipe and valves shall be installed in its place promptly with no 
additional charge to the Owner.

1.09 NOISE AND VIBRATION

A. The pumping systems and the component parts there of, shall be guaranteed to operate 
without objectionable noise and vibration.

B. Provide foundations, supports and isolators as specified or indicated, properly adjusted to 
prevent transmission of vibration to the Building structure, piping and other items.

C. Carefully fabricate pipe and fittings with smooth interior finish to prevent turbulence and 
generation or regeneration of noise.

D. All equipment shall be selected to operate with minimum of noise and vibration. If, in the 
opinion of the Architect, objectionable noise or vibration is produced or transmitted to or 
through the building structure by equipment, piping or other parts of the Work, the 
Contractor shall rectify such conditions without extra cost to the Owner.

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 162



16-1010 / WCCHD Renovations 22 02 00 - 4                    BASIC MATERIALS AND METHODS

1.10 APPLICABLE CODES

A. Obtain all required permits and inspections for all work required by the Contract 
Documents and pay all required fees in connection thereof.

B. Arrange with the serving utility companies for the connection of all required utilities and 
pay all charges, meter charges, connection fees and inspection fees, if required.

C. Comply with all applicable codes, specifications, local ordinances, industry standards, 
utility company regulations and the applicable requirements of the following nationally 
accepted codes and standards:

1. American Society of Plumbing Engineers, ASPE.
2. American Standards Association, ASA.
3. American Society of Heating, Refrigerating, and Air-Conditioning Engineers, Inc., 

ASHRAE.
4. American Society of Mechanical Engineers, ASME.
5. American Society of Plumbing Engineers, ASPE.
6. American Society of Testing Materials, ASTM.
7. American Water Works Association, AWWA.
8. National Fire Protection Association, NFPA.
9. Underwriters' Laboratories, Inc., UL.
10. International Energy Conservation Code, IECC.

D. Where differences existing between the Contract Documents and applicable state or city 
building codes, state and local ordinances, industry standards, utility company 
regulations and the applicable requirements of the above listed nationally accepted codes 
and standards, the more stringent or costly application shall govern. Promptly notify the 
Engineer in writing of all differences.

E. When directed in writing by the Engineer, remove all work installed that does not comply 
with the Contract Documents and applicable state or city building codes, state and local 
ordinances, industry standards, utility company regulations and the applicable 
requirements of the above listed nationally accepted codes and standards, correct the 
deficiencies, and complete the work at no additional cost to the Owner.

1.11 DEFINITIONS AND SYMBOLS

A. General Explanation: A substantial amount of construction and Specification language 
constitutes definitions for terms found in other Contract Documents, including Drawings 
which must be recognized as diagrammatic and schematic in nature and not completely 
descriptive of requirements indicated thereon. Certain terms used in Contract Documents 
are defined generally in this article, unless defined otherwise in Division 01.

B. Definitions and explanations of this Section are not necessarily either complete or 
exclusive, but are general for work to the extent not stated more explicitly in another 
provision of the Contract Documents.

C. Indicated: The term "Indicated" is a cross-reference to details, notes or schedules on the 
Drawings, to other paragraphs or schedules in the Specifications and to similar means of 
recording requirements in Contract Documents. Where such terms as "Shown", "Noted", 
"Scheduled", "Specified" and "Detailed" are used in lieu of "Indicated", it is for the 
purpose of helping the reader locate cross-reference material, and no limitation of 
location is intended except as specifically shown.

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 163



16-1010 / WCCHD Renovations 22 02 00 - 5                    BASIC MATERIALS AND METHODS

D. Directed: Where not otherwise explained, terms such as "Directed", "Requested", 
"Accepted", and "Permitted" mean by the Architect or Engineer. However, no such 
implied meaning will be interpreted to extend the Architect's or Engineer's responsibility 
into the Contractor's area of construction supervision.

E. Reviewed: Where used in conjunction with the Engineer's response to submittals, 
requests for information, applications, inquiries, reports and claims by the Contractor the 
meaning of the term "Reviewed" will be held to limitations of Architect's and Engineer's 
responsibilities and duties as specified in the General and Supplemental Conditions. In 
no case will "Reviewed" by Engineer be interpreted as a release of the Contractor from 
responsibility to fulfill the terms and requirements of the Contract Documents.

F. Furnish: Except as otherwise defined in greater detail, the term "Furnish" is used to mean 
supply and deliver to the project site, ready for unloading, unpacking, assembly, 
installation, etc., as applicable in each instance.

G. Install: Except as otherwise defined in greater detail, the term "Install" is used to describe 
operations at the project site including unloading, unpacking, assembly, erection, placing, 
anchoring, applying, working to dimension, finishing, curing, protection, cleaning and 
similar operations, as applicable in each instance.

H. Provide: Except as otherwise defined in greater detail, the term "Provide" is used to mean 
"Furnish and Install", complete and ready for intended use, as applicable in each 
instance.

I. Installer: Entity firm engaged by the Contractor or its subcontractor or Sub-contractor for 
performance of a particular unit of work at the project site, including unloading, 
unpacking, assembly, erection, placing, anchoring, applying, working to dimension, 
finishing, curing, protection, cleaning and similar operations, as applicable in each 
instance. It is a general requirement that such entities (Installers) be expert in the 
operations they are engaged to perform.

J. Imperative Language: Used generally in Specifications. Except as otherwise indicated, 
requirements expressed imperatively are to be performed by the Contractor. For clarity of 
reading at certain locations, contrasting subjective language is used to describe 
responsibilities that must be fulfilled indirectly by the Contractor, or when so noted by 
other identified installers or entities.

K. Minimum Quality/Quantity: In every instance, the quality level or quantity shown or 
specified is intended as minimum quality level or quantity of work to be performed or 
provided. Except as otherwise specifically indicated, the actual work may either comply 
exactly with that minimum (within specified tolerances), or may exceed that minimum 
within reasonable tolerance limits. In complying with requirements, indicated or 
scheduled numeric values are either minimums or maximums as noted or as appropriate 
for the context of the requirements. Refer instances of uncertainty to Owner or Engineer 
via a request for information (RFI) for decision before proceeding.

L. Abbreviations and Symbols: The language of Specifications and other Contract 
Documents including Drawings is of an abbreviated type in certain instances, and implies 
words and meanings which will be appropriately interpreted. Actual word abbreviations of 
a self explanatory nature have been included in text of Specifications and Drawings. 
Specific abbreviations and symbols have been established, principally for lengthy 
technical terminology and primarily in conjunction with coordination of Specification 
requirements with notations on Drawings and in Schedules. These are frequently defined 
in Section at first instance of use or on a Legend and Symbol Drawing. Trade and 
industry association names and titles of generally recognized industry standards are 

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 164



16-1010 / WCCHD Renovations 22 02 00 - 6                    BASIC MATERIALS AND METHODS

frequently abbreviated. Singular words will be interpreted as plural and plural words will 
be interpreted as singular where applicable and where full context of Contract Documents 
so indicate. Except as otherwise indicated, graphic symbols and abbreviations used on 
Drawings and in Specifications are those recognized in construction industry for indicated 
purposes. Where not otherwise noted symbols and abbreviations are defined by 2009 
ASHRAE Fundamentals Handbook, chapter 34 "Abbreviations and Symbols", ASME and 
ASPE published standards.

1.12 DRAWINGS AND SPECIFICATIONS

A. These Specifications are intended to supplement the Drawings and it will not be the 
province of the Specifications to mention any part of the work which the Drawings are 
competent to fully explain in every particular and such omission is not to relieve the 
Contractor from carrying out portions indicated on the Drawings only.

B. Should items be required by these Specifications and not indicated on the Drawings, they 
are to be supplied even if of such nature that they could have been indicated thereon. In 
case of disagreement between Drawings and Specifications, or within either Drawings or 
Specifications, the better quality or greater quantity of work shall be estimated and the 
matter referred to the Architect or Engineer for review with a request for information and 
clarification at least 7 working days prior to bid opening date for issuance of an 
addendum.

C. The listing of product manufacturers, materials and methods in the various sections of the 
Specifications, and indicated on the Drawings, is intended to establish a standard of 
quality only. It is not the intention of the Owner or Engineer to discriminate against any 
product, material or method that is equal to the standards as indicated and/or specified, 
nor is it intended to preclude open, competitive bidding. The fact that a specific 
manufacturer is listed as an acceptable manufacturer should not be interpreted to mean 
that the manufacturers' standard product will meet the requirements of the project design, 
Drawings, Specifications and space constraints.

D. The Architect or Engineer and Owner shall be the sole judge of quality and equivalence 
of equipment, materials and methods.

E. Products by other reliable manufacturers, other materials, and other methods, will be 
accepted as outlined, provided they have equal capacity, construction, and performance. 
However, under no circumstances shall any substitution by made without the written 
permission of the Architect or Engineer and Owner. Request for prior approval must be 
made in writing 10 days prior to the bid date without fail.

F. Wherever a definite product, material or method is specified and there is not a statement 
that another product, material or method will be acceptable, it is the intention of the 
Owner or Engineer that the specified product, material or method is the only one that 
shall be used without prior approval.

G. Wherever a definite material or manufacturer's product is specified and the Specification 
states that products of similar design and equal construction from the specified list of 
manufacturers may be substituted, it is the intention of the Owner or Engineer that 
products of manufacturers that are specified are the only products that will be acceptable 
and that products of other manufacturers will not be considered for substitution without 
approval.

H. Wherever a definite product, material or method is specified and there is a statement that 
"OR EQUAL" product, material or method will be acceptable, it is the intention of the 
Owner or Engineer that the specified product, material or method or an "OR EQUAL" 

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 165



16-1010 / WCCHD Renovations 22 02 00 - 7                    BASIC MATERIALS AND METHODS

product, material or method may be used if it complies with the specifications and is 
submitted for review to the Engineer as outline herein.

I. Where permission to use substituted or alternative equipment on the project is granted by 
the Owner or Engineer in writing, it shall be the responsibility of the Contractor or 
Subcontractor involved to verify that the equipment will fit in the space available which 
includes allowances for all required Code and maintenance clearances, and to coordinate 
all equipment structural support, plumbing and electrical requirements and provisions 
with the Mechanical and Plumbing Design Documents and all other trades, including 
Division 26.

J. Changes in architectural, structural, electrical, mechanical, and plumbing requirements 
for the substitution shall be the responsibility of the bidder wishing to make the 
substitution. This shall include the cost of redesign by the affected designer(s). Any 
additional cost incurred by affected subcontractors shall be the responsibility of this 
bidder and not the owner.

K. If any request for a substitution of product, material or method is rejected, the Contractor 
will automatically be required to furnish the product, material or method named in the 
Specifications. Repetitive requests for substitutions will not be considered.

L. The Owner or Engineer will investigate all requests for substitutions when submitted in 
accordance with above and if accepted, will issue a letter allowing the substitutions.

M. Where equipment other than that used in the design as specified or shown on the 
Drawings is substituted (either from an approved manufacturers list or by submittal 
review), it shall be the responsibility of the substituting Contractor to coordinate space 
requirements, building provisions and connection requirements with his trades and all 
other trades and pay all additional costs to other trades, the Owner, the Architect or 
Engineer, if any, due to the substitutions.

1.13 SUBMITTALS

A. Coordinate with Division 01 for submittal timetable requirements, unless noted otherwise 
within thirty (30) days after the Contract is awarded. The Contractor shall submit an 
electronic copy of a complete set of shop drawings and complete data covering each item 
of equipment or material. The submittal of each item requiring a submittal must be 
received by the Architect or Engineer within the above thirty day period. The Architect or 
Engineer shall not be responsible for any delays or costs incurred due to excessive shop 
drawing review time for submittals received after the thirty (30) day time limit. The 
Architect and Engineer will retain a copy of all shop drawings for their files. All literature 
pertaining to items subject to Shop Drawing submittal shall be submitted at one time. 
Submittals shall be placed in one electronic file in PDF 8.0 format and bookmarked for 
individual specification sections. Individual electronic files of submittals for individual 
specifications shall not be permitted. Each submittal shall include the following items:

1. A cover sheet with the names and addresses of the Project, Architect, MEP 
Engineer, General Contractor and the Subcontractor making the submittal. The 
cover sheet shall also contain the section number covering the item or items 
submitted and the item nomenclature or description.

2. An index page with a listing of all data included in the Submittal.
3. A list of variations page with a listing all variations, including unfurnished or 

additional required accessories, items or other features, between the submitted 
equipment and the specified equipment. If there are no variations, then this page 
shall state "NO VARIATIONS". Where variations affect the work of other 
Contractors, then the Contractor shall certify on this page that these variations 

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 166



16-1010 / WCCHD Renovations 22 02 00 - 8                    BASIC MATERIALS AND METHODS

have been fully coordinated with the affected Contractors and that all expenses 
associated with the variations will be paid by the submitting Contractor. This 
page will be signed by the submitting Contractor.

4. Equipment information including manufacturer's name and designation, size, 
performance and capacity data as applicable. All applicable Listings, Labels, 
Approvals and Standards shall be clearly indicated.

5. Dimensional data and scaled drawings as applicable to show that the submitted 
equipment will fit the space available with all required Code and maintenance 
clearances clearly indicated and labeled at a minimum scale of 1/4" = 1'-0", as 
required to demonstrate that the alternate or substituted product will fit in the 
space available.

6. Identification of each item of material or equipment matching that indicated on 
the Drawings.

7. Sufficient pictorial, descriptive and diagrammatic data on each item to show its 
conformance with the Drawings and Specifications. Any options or special 
requirements or accessories shall be so indicated. All applicable information shall 
be clearly indicated with arrows or another approved method.

8. Additional information as required in other Sections of this Division.
9. Certification by the General Contractor and Subcontractor that the material 

submitted is in accordance with the Drawings and Specifications, signed and 
dated in long hand. Submittals that do not comply with the above requirements 
shall be returned to the Contractor and shall be marked "REVISE AND 
RESUBMIT".

B. Refer to Division 01 for additional information on shop drawings and submittals.

C. Equipment and materials submittals and shop drawings will be reviewed for compliance 
with design concept only. It will be assumed that the submitting Contractor has verified 
that all items submitted can be installed in the space allotted. Review of shop drawings 
and submittals shall not be considered as a verification or guarantee of measurements or 
building conditions.

D. Where shop drawings and submittals are marked "REVIEWED", the review of the 
submittal does not indicate that submittals have been checked in detail nor does it in any 
way relieve the Contractor from his responsibility to furnish material and perform work as 
required by the Contract Documents.

E. Shop drawings shall be reviewed and returned to the Contractor with one of the following 
categories indicated:

1. REVIEWED: Contractor need take no further submittal action, shall include this 
submittal in the O&M manual and may order the equipment submitted on.

2. REVIEWED AS NOTED: Contractor shall submit a letter verifying that required 
exceptions to the submittal have been received and complied with including 
additional accessories or coordination action as noted, and shall include this 
submittal and compliance letter in the O&M manual. The contractor may order 
the equipment submitted on at the time of the returned submittal providing the 
Contractor complies with the exceptions noted.

3. NOT APPROVED: Contractor shall resubmit new submittal on material, 
equipment or method of installation when the alternate or substitute is not 
approved, the Contractor will automatically be required to furnish the product, 
material or method named in the Specifications and/or drawings. Contractor shall 
not order equipment that is not approved. Repetitive requests for substitutions 
will not be considered.

4. REVISE AND RESUBMIT: Contractor shall resubmit new submittal on material, 
equipment or method of installation when the alternate or substitute is marked 

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 167



16-1010 / WCCHD Renovations 22 02 00 - 9                    BASIC MATERIALS AND METHODS

revise and resubmit, the Contractor will automatically be required to furnish the 
product, material or method named in the Specifications and/or provide as noted 
on previous shop drawings. Contractor shall not order equipment marked revise 
and resubmit. Repetitive requests for substitutions will not be considered.

5. CONTRACTOR’S CERTIFICATION REQUIRED: Contractor shall resubmit 
submittal on material, equipment or method of installation. The Contractor’s 
stamp is required stating the submittal meets all conditions of the contract 
documents. The stamp shall be signed by the General Contractor. The submittal 
will not be reviewed if the stamp is not placed and signed on all shop drawings.

6. MANUFACTURER NOT AS SPECIFIED: Contractor shall resubmit new 
submittal on material, equipment or method of installation when the alternate or 
substitute is marked manufacturer not as specified, the Contractor will 
automatically be required to furnish the product, material or method named in the 
specifications. Contractor shall not order equipment where submittal is marked 
manufacturer not as specified. Repetitive requests for substitutions will not be 
considered.

F. Materials and equipment which are purchased or installed without shop drawing review 
shall be at the risk of the Contractor and the cost for removal and replacement of such 
materials and equipment and related work which is judged unsatisfactory by the Owner or 
Engineer for any reason shall be at the expense of the Contractor. The responsible 
Contractor shall remove the material and equipment noted above and replace with 
specified equipment or material at his own expense when directed in writing by the 
Architect or Engineer.

G. Shop Drawing Submittals shall be complete and checked prior to submission to the 
Engineer for review.

H. Submittals are required for, but not limited to, the following items:

1. Basic Materials.
2. Plumbing Fixture and Valves.
3. Support and Couriers.
4. Floor Drain, Roof Drain and Cleanouts.
5. Interceptors/Traps (All Types).
6. Water Heaters
7. Water Softeners.
8. Water Treatment.
9. Domestic Water Booster Pumps.
10. Fire Pumps and Jockey Pumps.
11. Fire Pump Controllers
12. Backflow Preventers.
13. Plumbing Piping.
14. Expansion Compensation.
15. Variable Frequency Drives.
16. Noise and Vibration Controls.
17. Portable Pipe Hanger and Equipment Supports.
18. Plumbing Specialties.
19. Water Filters.
20. Test, Adjust and Balance Reports.
21. Testing, Adjusting and Balancing Contractor Qualifications.
22. Coordination Drawings.

I. Refer to Division 26 sections for additional shop drawing requirements. Provide samples 
of actual materials and/or equipment to be used on the Project upon request of the 
Owner or Engineer.

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 168



16-1010 / WCCHD Renovations 22 02 00 - 10                    BASIC MATERIALS AND METHODS

1.14 COORDINATION DRAWINGS

A. Prepare coordination drawings to a scale of 1/4"=1'-0" or larger; detailing major elements, 
components, and systems of mechanical equipment and materials in relationship with 
other systems, installations, and building components. Indicate locations where space is 
limited for installation and access and where sequencing and coordination of installations 
are of importance to the efficient flow of the Work, including (but not necessarily limited 
to) the following:

1. Indicate the proposed locations of pipe, equipment, and other materials. Include 
the following:
a. Wall and type locations.
b. Clearances for installing and maintaining insulation.
c. Locations of light fixtures and sprinkler heads.
d. Clearances for servicing and maintaining equipment, including tube 

removal and space for equipment disassembly required for periodic 
maintenance.

e. Equipment connections and support details.
f. Exterior wall and foundation penetrations.
g. Routing of storm, sanitary sewer piping and plumbing piping.
h. Fire-rated wall and floor penetrations.
i. Sizes and location of required concrete pads and bases.
j. Valve stem movement.
k. Structural floor, wall and roof opening sizes and details.

2. Indicate scheduling, sequencing, movement, and positioning of large equipment 
into the building during construction.

3. Prepare floor plans, elevations, and details to indicate penetrations in floors, 
walls, and ceilings and their relationship to other penetrations and installations.

B. This Contractor shall be responsible for coordination of all items that will affect the 
installation of the work of this Division. This coordination shall include, but not be limited 
to: voltage, ampacity, capacity, electrical and piping connections, space requirements, 
sequence of construction, building requirements and special conditions.

C. By submitting shop drawings on the project, this Contractor is indicating that all 
necessary coordination has been completed and that the systems, products and 
equipment submitted can be installed in the building and will operate as specified and 
intended, in full coordination with all other Contractors and Subcontractors.

1.15 RECORD DOCUMENTS

A. Prepare record documents in accordance with the requirements in Special Project 
Requirements, in addition to the requirements specified in Division 23, indicate the 
following installed conditions:

1. Mains and branches of piping systems, with valves and control devices located 
and numbered, concealed unions located, and with items requiring maintenance 
located (i.e., traps, strainers, expansion compensators, tanks, etc.). Valve 
location diagrams, complete with valve tag chart. Indicate actual inverts and 
horizontal locations of underground piping.

2. Equipment locations (exposed and concealed), dimensioned from prominent 
building lines.

3. Approved substitutions, Contract Modifications, and actual equipment and 
materials installed.

4. Contract Modifications, actual equipment and materials installed.

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 169



16-1010 / WCCHD Renovations 22 02 00 - 11                    BASIC MATERIALS AND METHODS

B. Engage the services of a Land Surveyor or Professional Engineer registered in the state 
in which the project is located as specified herein to record the locations and invert 
elevations of underground installations.

C. The Contractor shall maintain a set of clearly marked black line record "AS-BUILT" prints 
on the job site on which he shall mark all work details, alterations to meet site conditions 
and changes made by "Change Order" notices. These shall be kept available for 
inspection by the Owner, Architect or Engineer at all times.

 
D. Refer to Division 01 for additional requirements concerning record drawings. If the 

Contractor does not keep an accurate set of as-built drawings, the pay request may be 
altered or delayed at the request of the Architect. Mark the drawings with a colored 
pencil. Delivery of as-built prints and reproducibles is a condition of final acceptance.

E. The record prints shall be updated on a daily basis and shall indicate accurate 
dimensions for all buried or concealed work, precise locations of all concealed pipe or 
duct, locations of all concealed valves, controls and devices and any deviations from the 
work shown on the Construction Documents which are required for coordination. All 
dimensions shall include at least two dimensions to permanent structure points.

F. Submit three prints of the tracings for approval. Make corrections to tracings as directed 
and delivered "Auto Positive Tracings" to the architect. "As-Built" drawings shall be 
furnished in addition to shop drawings.

G. When the option described in paragraph F., above is not exercised then upon completion 
of the work, the Contractor shall transfer all marks from the submit a set of clear concise 
set of reproducible record "AS-BUILT" drawings and shall submit the reproducible 
drawings with corrections made by a competent draftsman and three (3) sets of black line 
prints to the Architect or Engineer for review prior to scheduling the final inspection at the 
completion of the work. The reproducible record "AS-BUILT" drawings shall have the 
Engineers Name and Seal removed or blanked out and shall be clearly marked and 
signed on each sheet as follows:

CERTIFIED RECORD DRAWINGS

DATE:

(NAME OF GENERAL CONTRACTOR)

BY:_______________________________
(SIGNATURE)

(NAME OF SUBCONTRACTOR)

BY:_______________________________
 (SIGNATURE)

1.16 OPERATING MANUALS

A. Prepare maintenance manuals in accordance with Division 01 and in addition to the 
requirements specified in Division 01, include the following information for equipment 
items:

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 170



16-1010 / WCCHD Renovations 22 02 00 - 12                    BASIC MATERIALS AND METHODS

1. Description of function, normal operating characteristics and limitations, 
performance curves, engineering data and tests, and complete nomenclature 
and commercial numbers of replacement parts.

2. Manufacturer's printed operating procedures to include start-up, break-in, and 
routine and normal operating instructions; regulation, control, stopping, 
shutdown, and emergency instructions; and summer and winter operating 
instructions.

3. Maintenance procedures for routine preventative maintenance and 
troubleshooting; disassembly, repair, and reassembly; aligning and adjusting 
instructions.

4. Servicing instructions and lubrication charts and schedules.

1.17 CERTIFICATIONS AND TEST REPORTS

A. Submit a detailed schedule for completion and testing of each system indicating 
scheduled dates for completion of system installation and outlining tests to be performed 
and schedule date for each test. This detailed completion and test schedule shall be 
submittal at least 90 days before the projected Project completion date.

B. Test result reporting forms shall be submitted for review no later than the date of the 
detailed schedule submitted.

C. Submit 4 copies of all certifications and test reports to the Architect or Engineer for review 
adequately in advance of completion of the Work to allow for remedial action as required 
to correct deficiencies discovered in equipment and systems.

D. Certifications and test reports to be submitted shall include, but not be limited to those 
items outlined in Section of Division 22.

1.18 MAINTENANCE MANUALS

A. Coordinate with Division 01 for maintenance manual requirements, unless noted 
otherwise bind together in “D ring type” binders by National model no. 79-883 or equal, 
binders shall be large enough to allow ¼” of spare capacity. Three (3) sets of all 
approved shop drawing submittals, fabrication drawings, bulletins, maintenance 
instructions, operating instructions and parts exploded views and lists for each and every 
piece of equipment furnished under this Specification. All sections shall be typed and 
indexed into sections and labeled for easy reference and shall utilize the individual 
specification section numbers shown in the Plumbing Specifications as an organization 
guideline. Bulletins containing information about equipment that is not installed on the 
project shall be properly marked up or stripped and reassembled. All pertinent 
information required by the Owner for proper operation and maintenance of equipment 
supplied by Division 22 shall be clearly and legibly set forth in memoranda that shall, 
likewise, be bound with bulletins.

B. Prepare maintenance manuals in accordance with Special Project Conditions, in addition 
to the requirements specified in Division 22, include the following information for 
equipment items:

1. Identifying names, name tags designations and locations for all equipment.
2. Valve tag lists with valve number, type, color coding, location and function.
3. Reviewed shop drawing submittals with exceptions noted compliance letter.
4. Fabrication drawings.
5. Equipment and device bulletins and data sheets clearly highlighted to show 

equipment installed on the project and including performance curves and data as 

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 171



16-1010 / WCCHD Renovations 22 02 00 - 13                    BASIC MATERIALS AND METHODS

applicable, i.e., description of function, normal operating characteristics and 
limitations, performance curves, engineering data and tests, and complete 
nomenclature and model numbers of replacement parts.

6. Manufacturer's printed operating procedures to include start-up, break-in, and 
routine and normal operating instructions; regulation, control, stopping, 
shutdown, and emergency instructions; and summer and winter operating 
instructions.

7. Maintenance procedures for routine preventative maintenance and 
troubleshooting; disassembly, repair, and reassembly; aligning and adjusting 
instructions, servicing instructions and lubrication charts and schedules.

8. Equipment and motor name plate data.
9. Wiring diagrams.
10. Exploded parts views and parts lists for all equipment and devices.
11. Color coding charts for all painted equipment and conduit.
12. Location and listing of all spare parts and special keys and tools furnished to the 

Owner.
13. Furnish recommended lubrication schedule for all required lubrication points with 

listing of type and approximate amount of lubricant required.

C. Refer to Division 1 for additional information on Operating and Maintenance Manuals.

D. Operating and Maintenance Manuals shall be turned over to the Owner or Engineer a 
minimum of 14 working days prior to the beginning of the operator training period.

1.19 OPERATOR TRAINING 

 
A. The Contractor shall furnish the services of factory trained specialists to instruct the 

Owner's operating personnel. The Owner's operator training shall include 12 hours of on 
site training in three 4 hour shifts.

 
B. Before proceeding with the instruction of Owner Personnel, prepare a typed outline in 

triplicate, listing the subjects that will be covered in this instruction, and submit the outline 
for review by the Owner. At the conclusion of the instruction period obtain the signature of 
each person being instructed on each copy of the reviewed outline to signify that he has 
a proper understanding of the operation and maintenance of the systems and resubmit 
the signed outlines. 

C. Refer to other Division 22 Sections for additional Operator Training requirements. 

1.20 FINAL COMPLETION

A. At the completion of the work, all equipment and systems shall be tested and faulty 
equipment and material shall be repaired or replaced. Refer to Sections of Division 26 for 
additional requirements.

B. Clean and adjust all valves and operational devices and replace faulty parts immediately 
prior to final acceptance. 

C. Touch up and/or refinish all scratched equipment and devices immediately prior to final 
acceptance. 

1.21 CONTRACTOR'S GUARANTEE 

A. Use of the Plumbing systems to provide temporary service during construction period will 
not be allowed without permission from the Owner in writing and if granted shall not be 
cause warranty period to start, except as defined below.

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 172



16-1010 / WCCHD Renovations 22 02 00 - 14                    BASIC MATERIALS AND METHODS

B. Contractor shall guarantee to keep the entire installation in repair and perfect working 
order for a period of one year after its completion and final acceptance, and shall furnish 
free of additional cost to the Owner all materials and labor necessary to comply with the 
above guarantee throughout the year beginning from the date of issue of Substantial 
Completion, Beneficial Occupancy by the Owner or the Certificate of Final Payment as 
agreed upon by all parties. 

 
C. This guarantee shall not include cleaning or changing equipment except as required by 

testing, adjusting and balancing. 

D. All air compressors shall have parts and labor guarantees for a period of not less than 5 
years beyond the date of final acceptance.

 
E. Refer to Sections in Division 22 for additional guarantee or warranty requirements. 

 
1.22 TRANSFER OF ELECTRONIC FILES

A. Project documents are not intended or represented to be suitable for reuse by 
Architect/Owner or others on extensions of this project or on any other project. Any such 
reuse or modification without written verification or adaptation by Engineer, as 
appropriate for the specific purpose intended, will be at Architect/Owner’s risk and without 
liability or legal exposure to Engineer or its consultants from all claims, damages, losses 
and expense, including attorney’s fees arising out of or resulting thereof.

B. Because data stored in electric media format can deteriorate or be modified inadvertently, 
or otherwise without authorization of the data’s creator, the party receiving the electronic 
files agrees that it will perform acceptance tests or procedures within sixty (60) days of 
receipt, after which time the receiving party shall be deemed to have accepted the data 
thus transferred to be acceptable. Any errors detected within the sixty (60) day 
acceptance period will be corrected by the party delivering the electronic files. Engineer is 
not responsible for maintaining documents stored in electronic media format after 
acceptance by the Architect/Owner.

C. When transferring documents in electronic media format, Engineer makes no 
representations as to the long term compatibility, usability or readability of documents 
resulting from the use of software application packages, operating systems, or computer 
hardware differing from those used by Engineer at the beginning of the Project.

D. Any reuse or modifications will be Contractor’s sole risk and without liability or legal 
exposure to Architect, Engineer or any consultant.

E. The Texas Board of Architectural Examiners (TBAE) has stated that it is in violation of 
Texas law for persons other than the Architect of record to revise the Architectural 
drawings without the Architect’s written consent.
It is agreed that “MEP” hard copy or computer-generated documents will not be issued to 
any other party except directly to the Architect/Owner. The contract documents are 
contractually copyrighted and cannot be used for any other project or purpose except as 
specifically indicated in AIA B-141 Standard Form of Agreement Between Architect and 
Owner.
If the client, Architect/Owner, or developer of the project requires electronic media for 
“record purposes”, then an AutoCAD based compact disc (“CD”) will be prepared. The 
“CD” will be submitted with all title block references intact and will be formatted in a “plot” 
format to permit the end user to only view and plot the drawings. Revisions will not be 
permitted in this configuration.

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 173



16-1010 / WCCHD Renovations 22 02 00 - 15                    BASIC MATERIALS AND METHODS

F. At the Architect/Owner’s request, Engineer will prepare one “CD” of electronic media to 
assist the contractor in the preparation of submittals. The Engineer will prepare and 
submit the “CD” to the Architect/Owner for distribution to the contractor. All copies of the 
“CD” will be reproduced for a cost of reproduction fee of Five Hundred Dollars ($500.00) 
per “CD”.
The “CD” will be prepared and all title blocks, names and dates will be removed. The 
“CD” will be prepared in a “.dwg” format to permit the end user to revise the drawings.

G. This Five Hundred Dollars ($500.00) per “CD” cost of reproduction will be paid directly 
from the Contractor to the Engineer. The “CD” will be prepared only after receipt of the 
Five Hundred Dollars ($500.00). The Five Hundred Dollars ($500.00) per “CD” cost of 
reproduction is to only recover the cost of the man-hours necessary to reproduce the 
documents. It is not a contractual agreement between the Contractor and Engineer to 
provide any engineering services, nor any other service.

PART 2 - PRODUCTS 

2.01 MATERIALS

A. Provide materials and equipment manufactured by a domestic United States 
manufacturer.

B. Access Doors: Provide access doors as required for access to equipment, valves, 
controls, cleanouts and other apparatus where concealed. Access doors shall have 
concealed hinges and screw driver cam locks.

C. All access panels located in wet areas such as restrooms, locker rooms, shower rooms, 
kitchen and any other wet areas shall be constructed of stainless steel.

D. Access Doors: shall be as follows:

1. Plastic Surfaces: Milcor Style K.
2. Ceramic Tile Surface: Milcor Style M.
3. Drywall Surfaces: Milcor Style DW.
4. Install panels only in locations approved by the Architect.

PART 3 - EXECUTION

3.01 ROUGH-IN

A. Verify final locations for rough-ins with field measurements and with the requirements of 
the actual equipment to be connected via reviewed submittals.

B. Refer to equipment specifications in Divisions 21 through 22 for additional rough-in 
requirements.

3.02 PLUMBING INSTALLATIONS

A. General: Sequence, coordinate, and integrate the various elements of plumbing and fire 
systems, materials, and equipment. Comply with the following requirements:

1. Coordinate plumbing systems, equipment, and materials installation with other 
building components.

2. Verify all dimensions by field measurements.
3. Arrange for chases, slots, and openings in other building components during 

progress of construction, to allow for plumbing installations.

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 174



16-1010 / WCCHD Renovations 22 02 00 - 16                    BASIC MATERIALS AND METHODS

4. Coordinate the installation of required supporting devices and sleeves to be set 
in poured-in-place concrete and other structural components, as they are 
constructed.

5. Sequence, coordinate, and integrate installations of plumbing materials and 
equipment for efficient flow of the Work. Give particular attention to large 
equipment requiring positioning prior to closing in the building.

6. Where mounting heights are not detailed or dimensioned, install systems, 
materials, and equipment to provide the maximum headroom possible.

7. Coordinate connection of plumbing systems with exterior underground and 
overhead utilities and services. Comply with requirements of governing 
regulations, franchised service companies, and controlling agencies. Provide 
required connection for each service.

8. Install systems, materials, and equipment to conform with architectural action 
markings on submittal, including coordination drawings, to greatest extent 
possible. Conform to arrangements indicated by the Contract Documents, 
recognizing that portions of the Work are shown only in diagrammatic form. 
Where coordination requirements conflict with individual system requirements, 
resolve conflicts and route proposed solution to the Architect for review.

9. Install systems, materials, and equipment level and plumb, parallel and 
perpendicular to other building systems and components, where installed 
exposed in finished spaces.

10. Install mechanical equipment to facilitate servicing, maintenance, and repair or 
replacement of equipment components. As much as practical, connect 
equipment for ease of disconnecting, with minimum of interference with other 
installations. Extend grease fittings to an accessible location and label.

11. Install access panel or doors where valves and equipment are concealed behind 
finished surfaces. Access panels and doors are specified.

12. Install systems, materials, and equipment giving right-of-way priority to systems 
required to be installed at a specified slope.

13. Provide roof curbs for all roof mounted equipment. Coordinate with roof 
construction for pitched roof. Provide roof curb to match roof slope. Refer to 
architectural drawings and details.

14. The equipment to be furnished under this Specification shall be essentially the 
standard product of the manufacturer. Where two or more units of the same class 
of equipment are required, these units shall be products of a single manufacturer; 
however, the component parts of the system need not be the product of the 
same manufacturer.

15. The architectural and structural features of the building and the space limitations 
shall be considered in selection of all equipment. No equipment shall be 
furnished which will not suit the arrangement and space limitations indicated.

16. Lubrication: Prior to start-up, check and properly lubricate all bearings as 
recommended by the manufacturer.

17. Where the word "Concealed" is used in these Specifications in connection with 
insulating, painting, piping, ducts, etc., it shall be understood to mean hidden 
from sight as in chases, furred spaces or suspended ceilings. "Exposed" shall be 
understood to mean the opposite of concealed.

18. Identification of Plumbing Equipment:
a. Plumbing equipment shall be identified by means of nameplates 

permanently attached to the equipment. Nameplates shall be engraved 
laminated plastic or etched metal. Shop drawings shall include 
dimensions and lettering format for approval. Attachments shall be with 
escutcheon pins, self-tapping screws, or machine screws.

b. Tags shall be attached to all valves, including control valves, with 
nonferrous chain. Tags shall be brass and at least 1-1/2 inches in 
diameter. Nameplate and tag symbols shall correspond to the 
identification symbols on the temperature control submittal and the "as-

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 175



16-1010 / WCCHD Renovations 22 02 00 - 17                    BASIC MATERIALS AND METHODS

built" drawings.

3.03 CUTTING AND PATCHING

A. Protection of Installed Work: During cutting and patching operations, protect adjacent 
installations.

B. Perform cutting, fitting, and patching of plumbing equipment and materials required to:

1. Uncover Work to provide for installation of ill-timed Work.
2. Remove and replace defective Work.
3. Remove and replace Work not conforming to requirements of the Contract 

Documents.
4. Remove samples of installed Work as specified for testing.
5. Install equipment and materials in existing structures.
6. Upon written instructions from the Engineer, uncover and restore Work to provide 

for Engineer/Owner's observation of concealed Work, without additional cost to 
the Owner.

7. Patch existing finished surfaces and building components using new materials 
matching existing materials and experienced Installers. Patch finished surfaces 
and building components using new materials specified for the original 
installation and experienced Installers; refer to the materials and methods 
required for the surface and building components being patched; Refer to 
Section "DEFINITIONS" for definition of "Installer."

C. Cut, remove and legally dispose of selected plumbing equipment, components, and 
materials as indicated, including but not limited to removal of plumbing piping, equipment, 
plumbing fixtures and trim, and other plumbing items made obsolete by the new Work.

D. Protect the structure, furnishings, finishes, and adjacent materials not indicated or 
scheduled to be removed.

E. Provide and maintain temporary partitions or dust barriers adequate to prevent the 
spread of dust and dirt to adjacent areas.

3.04 WORK SEQUENCE, TIMING, COORDINATION WITH OWNER

A. The Owner will cooperate with the Contractor, however, the following provisions must be 
observed:

1. A meeting will be held at the project site, prior to any construction, between the 
Owner's Representative, the General Contractor, the Sub-Contractors and the 
Engineer to discuss Contractor's employee parking space, access, storage of 
equipment or materials, and use of the Owner's facilities or utilities. The Owner's 
decisions regarding such matters shall be final.

2. During the construction of this project, normal facility activities will continue in 
existing buildings until renovated areas are completed. Plumbing, fire protection, 
lighting, electrical, communications, heating, air conditioning, and ventilation 
systems will have to be maintained in service within the occupied spaces of the 
existing building.

3.05 DEMOLITION AND WORK WITHIN EXISTING BUILDINGS

A. In the preparation of these documents every effort has been made to show the 
approximate locations of, and connections to the existing piping, duct, equipment and 
other apparatus related to this phase of the work. However, this Contractor shall be 

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 176



16-1010 / WCCHD Renovations 22 02 00 - 18                    BASIC MATERIALS AND METHODS

responsible for verifying all of the above information. This Contractor shall visit the 
existing site to inspect the facilities and related areas. This Contractor shall inspect and 
verify all details and requirements of all the Contract Documents, prior to the submission 
of a proposal. All discrepancies between the Contract Documents and actual job-site 
conditions shall be resolved by his contractor, who shall produce drawings that shall be 
submitted to the Architect/Engineer for review. All labor and materials required to perform 
the work described shall be apart of this Contract.

B. All equipment and/or systems noted on the Drawings "To Remain" shall be inspected and 
tested on site to certify its working condition. A written report on the condition of all 
equipment to remain, including a copy of the test results and recommended remedial 
actions and costs shall be made by this Contractor to the Architect/Engineer for review.

C. All equipment and/or systems noted on the Drawings "To Be Removed" shall be removed 
including, associated pipe and duct pipe and duct hangers and/or line supports. Where 
duct or pipe is to be capped for future or end of line use, it shall be properly tagged with 
its function or service appropriately identified. Where existing equipment is to be removed 
or relocated and has an electric motor or connection, the Electrical Contractor shall 
disconnect motor or connection, remove wiring to a safe point and this Contractor shall 
remove or relocate motor or connection along with the equipment.

D. During the construction and remodeling, portions of the Project shall remain in service. 
Construction equipment, material tools, extension cords, etc., shall be arranged so as to 
present minimum hazard or interruption to the occupants of the building. None of the 
construction work shall interfere with the proper operation of the existing facility or be so 
conducted as to cause harm or danger to persons on the premises. All fire exits, stairs or 
corridors required for proper access, circulation or exit shall remain clear of equipment, 
materials or debris. The General Contractor shall maintain barricades, other separations 
in corridors and other spaces where work is conducted.

E. Certain work during the demolition phase of construction may require overtime or night 
time shifts or temporary evacuation of the occupants. Coordinate and schedule all 
proposed down time at least seventy-two (72) hours in advance in writing.

F. Any salvageable equipment as determined by the Owner, shall be delivered to the 
Owner, and placed in storage at the location of his choice. All other debris shall be 
removed from the site immediately.

G. Equipment, piping or other potential hazards to the working occupants of the building 
shall not be left overnight outside of the designated working or construction area.

H. Make every effort to minimize damage to the existing building and the owner's property. 
Repair, patch or replace as required any damage that might occur as a result of work at 
the site. Care shall be taken to minimize interference with the Owner's activities during 
construction and to keep construction disrupted areas to a minimum. Corporate with the 
Owner and other trades in scheduling and performance of the work.

I. Include in the contract price all rerouting of existing pipe, duct, etc., and the reconnecting 
of the existing equipment and plumbing fixtures as necessitated by field conditions to 
allow the installation of the new systems regardless of whether or not such rerouting, 
reconnecting or relocating is shown on the drawings. Furnish all temporary pipe, duct, 
controls, etc., as required to maintain heating, cooling, ventilation and plumbing services 
for the existing areas with a minimum of interruption.

J. All existing plumbing fixtures, pipe, duct, materials, equipment, controls and 
appurtenances not included in the remodel or alteration areas are to remain in place.

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 177



16-1010 / WCCHD Renovations 22 02 00 - 19                    BASIC MATERIALS AND METHODS

K. Pipe, duct, equipment and controls serving mechanical, plumbing and owner's 
equipment, etc., which is to remain but which is served by pipe, duct, equipment and 
controls that are disturbed by the remodeling work, shall be reconnected in such a 
manner as to leave this equipment in proper operating condition.

L. It is the intention of this Section of the Specifications to outline minimum requirements to 
furnish the Owner with a turn-key and operating system in cooperation with other trades 
with a minimum of disruption or downtime.

M. Refer to Architectural "Demolition and/or Alteration" plans for actual location of walls, 
ceiling, etc., being removed and/or remodeled.

END OF SECTION

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 178



16-1010 / WCCHD Renovations 22 05 29 - 1 HANGERS AND SUPPORT FOR 
PLUMBING PIPING AND EQUIPMENT

SECTION 22 05 29
HANGERS AND SUPPORT FOR PLUMBING PIPING AND EQUIPMENT

PART 1 - GENERAL

1.01 WORK INCLUDED

A. Pipe, and equipment hangers, supports, and associated anchors.

B. Sleeves and seals.

C. Flashing and sealing equipment and pipe stacks.

1.02 RELATED WORK

A. Section 22 05 29 – Hangers and Support for Plumbing Piping and Equipment.

B. Section 22 07 19 – Plumbing Piping Insulation.

C. Section 22 07 16 – Plumbing Equipment Insulation.

D. Section 21 00 00 - Fire Protection and 21 13 13 Wet Pipe Sprinkler System.

E. Section 22 10 00 - Plumbing System.

F. Section 23 21 13 – Above Ground Hydronic Piping.

G. Section 23 23 00 – Refrigerant Piping

1.03 REFERENCES

A. ANSI/ASME B31.1 - Power Piping.

B. NFPA 13 - Standard for the Installation of Sprinkler Systems.

C. NFPA 14 - Standard for the Installation of Standpipe and Hose Systems.

1.04 QUALITY ASSURANCE

A. Supports for Sprinkler Piping: In conformance with NFPA 13.

B. Supports for Standpipes: In conformance with NFPA 14.

1.05 SUBMITTALS

A. Submit shop drawings and product data under provisions of Division One.

B. Indicate hanger and support framing and attachment methods.

PART 2 - PRODUCTS

2.01 PIPE HANGERS AND SUPPORTS

A. Hangers for Pipe Sizes 1/2 to 1-1/2 Inch Malleable iron, adjustable swivel, split ring.

B. Hangers for Pipe Sizes 2 to 4 Inches Carbon steel, adjustable, clevis.

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 179



16-1010 / WCCHD Renovations 22 05 29 - 2 HANGERS AND SUPPORT FOR 
PLUMBING PIPING AND EQUIPMENT

C. Hangers for Pipe Sizes 6 Inches and Over: Adjustable steel yoke, cast iron roll, double 
hanger.

D. Multiple or Trapeze Hangers: Steel channels with welded spacers and hanger rods; cast 
iron roll and stand for pipe sizes 6 inches and over.

E. Wall Support for Pipe Sizes to 3 Inches: Cast iron hook.

F. Wall Support for Pipe Sizes 4 Inches and Over: adjustable steel yoke and cast iron roll.

G. Vertical Support: Steel riser clamp.

H. Floor Support for Pipe Sizes to 4 Inches: Cast iron adjustable pipe saddle, locknut nipple, 
floor flange, and concrete pier or steel support.

I. Floor Support for Pipe Sizes 6 Inches and Over: Adjustable cast iron roll and stand, steel 
screws, and concrete pier or steel support.

J. Roof Pipe Supports and Hangers: Galvanized Steel Channel System as manufactured by 
Portable Pipe Hangers, Inc. or approved equal.

For pipes 2-1/2” and smaller – Type PP10 with roller
For pipes 3” through 8” – Type PS
For multiple pipes – Type PSE - Custom

K. Copper Pipe Support and Hangers: Electro-galvanized with thermoplastic elastomer 
cushions; Unistrut “Cush-A-Clamp” or equal. Hangers: Plastic coated; Unistrut or equal.

L. For installation of protective shields refer to specification section 22 07 19 -3.03.

M. Shields for Vertical Copper Pipe Risers: Sheet lead.

N. Pipe Rough-In Supports in Walls/Chases: Provide preformed plastic pipe supports, Sioux 
Chief “Pipe Titan” hold rite or equal.

2.02 HANGER RODS

A. Galvanized Hanger Rods: Threaded both ends, threaded one end, or continuous 
threaded.

2.03 INSERTS

A. Inserts: Malleable iron case of galvanized steel shell and expander plug for threaded 
connection with lateral adjustment, top slot for reinforcing rods, lugs for attaching to 
forms; size inserts to suit threaded hanger rods.

2.04 FLASHING

A. Metal Flashing: 20 gage galvanized steel.

B. Lead Flashing: 4 lb./sq. ft. sheet lead for waterproofing; 1 lb./sq. ft. sheet lead for 
soundproofing.

C. Caps: Steel, 20 gage minimum; 16 gage at fire resistant elements.

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 180



16-1010 / WCCHD Renovations 22 05 29 - 3 HANGERS AND SUPPORT FOR 
PLUMBING PIPING AND EQUIPMENT

D. Coordinate with roofing contractor/architect for type of flashing on metal roofs.

2.05 EQUIPMENT CURBS

A. Fabricate curbs of hot dipped galvanized steel.

2.06 SLEEVES

A. Sleeves for Pipes Through Non-fire Rated Floors: Form with 18 gage galvanized steel, 
tack welded to form a uniform sleeve.

B. Sleeves for Pipes Through Non-fire Rated Beams, Walls, Footings, and Potentially Wet 
Floors: Form with steel pipe, schedule 40.

C. Sleeves for Pipes Through Fire Rated and Fire Resistive Floors and Walls, and 
Fireproofing: Prefabricated fire rated steel sleeves including seals, UL listed.

D. Sleeves for Round Ductwork: Form with galvanized steel.

E. Sleeves for Rectangular Ductwork: Form with galvanized steel.

F. Fire Stopping Insulation: Glass fiber type, non-combustible, U.L. listed.

G. Caulk: Paintable 25-year acrylic sealant.

H. Pipe Alignment Guides: Factory fabricated, of cast semi-steel or heavy fabricated steel, 
consisting of bolted, two-section outer cylinder and base with two-section guiding spider 
that bolts tightly to pipe. Length of guides shall be as recommended by manufacturer to 
allow indicated travel.

2.07 FABRICATION

A. Size sleeves large enough to allow for movement due to expansion and contraction. 
Provide for continuous insulation wrapping.

B. Design hangers without disengagement of supported pipe.

C. Design roof supports without roof penetrations, flashing or damage to the roofing 
material.

2.08 FINISH

A. Prime coat exposed steel hangers and supports. Hangers and supports located in crawl 
spaces, pipe shafts, and suspended ceiling spaces are not considered exposed.

PART 3 - EXECUTION

3.01 INSERTS

A. Provide inserts for suspending hangers from reinforced concrete slabs and sides of 
reinforced concrete beams. Coordinate with structural engineer for placement of inserts.

B. Provide hooked rod to concrete reinforcement section for inserts carrying pipe over 4 
inches.

C. Where concrete slabs form finished ceiling, provide inserts to be flush with slab surface.

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 181



16-1010 / WCCHD Renovations 22 05 29 - 4 HANGERS AND SUPPORT FOR 
PLUMBING PIPING AND EQUIPMENT

D. Where inserts are omitted, drill through concrete slab from below and provide thru-bolt 
with recessed square steel plate and nut recessed into and grouted flush with slab. Verify 
with structural engineer prior to start of work.

3.02 PIPE HANGERS AND SUPPORTS

A. Support horizontal piping as follows:

PIPE SIZE MAX. HANGER SPACING HANGER DIAMETER

(Steel Pipe)
1/2 to 1-1/4 inch 7’-0” 3/8"
1-1/2 to 3 inch 10'-0" 3/8"
4 to 6 inch 10'-0" 1/2"
8 to 10 inch 10'-0" 5/8"
12 to 14 inch 10'-0" 3/4"
15 inch and over 10'-0" 7/8" 
(Copper Pipe)
1/2 to 1-1/4 inch 5'-0" 3/8"
1-1/2 to 2-1/2 inch 8'-0" 3/8"
3 to 4 inch 10'-0" 3/8"
6 to 8 inch 10'-0" 1/2"
(Cast Iron)
2 to 3 inch 5'-0" 3/8"
4 to 6 inch 10'-0" 1/2"
8 to 10 inch 10'-0" 5/8"
12 to 14 inch 10'-0" 3/4"
15 inch and over 10'-0" 7/8" 
(PVC Pipe)
1-1/2 to 4 inch 4'-0" 3/8"
6 to 8 inch 4'-0" 1/2"
10 and over 4'-0" 5/8"

B. Install hangers to provide minimum 1/2 inch space between finished covering and 
adjacent work.

C. Place a hanger within 12 inches of each horizontal elbow and at the vertical horizontal 
transition.

D. Use hangers with 1-1/2 inch minimum vertical adjustment.

E. Support horizontal cast iron pipe adjacent to each hub, with 5 feet maximum spacing 
between hangers.

F. Support vertical piping at every floor. Support vertical cast iron pipe at each floor at hub.

G. Where several pipes can be installed in parallel and at same elevation, provide multiple 
or trapeze hangers.

H. Support riser piping independently of connected horizontal piping.

I. Install hangers with nut at base and above hanger; tighten upper nut to hanger after final 
installation adjustments.

J. Portable pipe hanger systems shall be installed per manufactures instructions.

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 182



16-1010 / WCCHD Renovations 22 05 29 - 5 HANGERS AND SUPPORT FOR 
PLUMBING PIPING AND EQUIPMENT

3.03 Insulated Piping: Comply with the following installation requirements.

A. Clamps: Attach galvanized clamps, including spacers (if any), to piping with clamps 
projecting through insulation; do not exceed pipe stresses allowed by ASME B31.9.

B. Saddles: Install galvanized protection saddles MSS Type 39 where insulation without vapor 
barrier is indicated. Fill interior voids with segments of insulation that match adjoining pipe 
insulation.

C. Shields: Install protective shields MSS Type 40 on cold and chilled water piping that has 
vapor barrier. Shields shall span an arc of 180 degrees and shall have dimensions in 
inches not less than the following:

NPS LENGTH THICKNESS

1/4 THROUGH 3-1/2 12 0.048
4 12 0.060
5 & 6 18 0.060
8 THROUGH 14 24 0.075
16 THROUGH 24 24 0.105

D. Piping 2” and larger provide galvanized sheet metal shields with calcium silicate at 
hangers/supports.

E. Insert material shall be at least as long as the protective shield.

F. Thermal Hanger Shields: Install where indicated, with insulation of same thickness as 
piping.

3.04 EQUIPMENT BASES AND SUPPORTS

A. Provide equipment bases of concrete.

B. Provide templates, anchor bolts, and accessories for mounting and anchoring equipment.

C. Construct support of steel members. Brace and fasten with flanges bolted to structure.

D. Provide rigid anchors for pipes after vibration isolation components are installed.

3.05 FLASHING

A. Provide flexible flashing and metal counter flashing where piping and ductwork penetrate 
weather or waterproofed walls, floors, and roofs.

B. Flash vent and soil pipes projecting 8 inches minimum above finished roof surface with 
lead worked one inch minimum into hub, 8 inches minimum clear on sides with 24 x 24 
inches sheet size. For pipes through outside walls, turn flanges back into wall and caulk, 
metal counter flash and seal.

C. Flash floor drains in floors with topping over finished areas with lead, 10 inches clear on 
sides with minimum 36 x 36 inch sheet size. Fasten flashing to drain clamp device.

D. Seal floor shower mop sink and all other drains watertight to adjacent materials.

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 183



16-1010 / WCCHD Renovations 22 05 29 - 6 HANGERS AND SUPPORT FOR 
PLUMBING PIPING AND EQUIPMENT

E. Provide curbs for mechanical roof installations 8 inches minimum high above roofing 
surface. Contact architect for all flashing details and roof construction. Seal penetrations 
watertight.

3.06 SLEEVES

A. Set sleeves in position in formwork. Provide reinforcing around sleeves.

B. Extend sleeves through floors minimum one inch above finished floor level. Caulk 
sleeves full depth with fire rated thermfiber and 3M caulking and provide floor plate.

C. Where piping or ductwork penetrates floor, ceiling, or wall, close off space between pipe 
or duct and adjacent work with U.L. listed fire stopping insulation and caulk seal air tight. 
Provide close fitting metal collar or escutcheon covers at both sides of penetration.

D. Fire protection sleeves may be flush with floor of stairways.

END OF SECTION

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 184



16-1010 / WCCHD Renovations 22 05 48 - 1                                   VIBRATION AND SEISMIC 
                           CONTROLS FOR PLUMBING PIPING

SECTION 22 05 48

VIBRATION AND SEISMIC CONTROLS FOR PLUMBING PIPING

PART 1 - GENERAL

1.01 WORK INCLUDED

A. Vibration and sound control products.

1.02 RELATED DOCUMENTS

A. Drawings and general provisions of Contract including General and Supplementary 
Conditions and Division One specification sections, apply to work of this section

B. This section is Division-22 Basic Materials and Methods section, and is part of each 
Division-22 section making reference to vibration control products specified herein.

1.03 QUALITY ASSURANCE

A. Manufacturer’s Qualifications: Firms regularly engaged in manufacture of vibration control 
products, of type, size, and capacity required, whose products have been in satisfactory 
use in similar service for not less than 5 years.

B. Vibration and sound control products shall conform to ASHRAE criteria for average noise 
criteria curves for all equipment at full load conditions.

C. Except as otherwise indicated, sound and vibration control products shall be provided by 
a single manufacturer.

1.04 SUBMITTALS

A. SHOP DRAWINGS: Indicate size, material, and finish. Show locations and installation 
procedures. Include details of joints, attachments, and clearances.

B. PRODUCT DATA: Submit schedules, charts, literature, and illustrations to indicate the 
performance, fabrication procedures, product variations, and accessories.

PART 2 - PRODUCTS

2.01 ACCEPTABLE MANUFACTURERS

A. Amber/Booth Company, Inc.

B. Mason Industries, Inc.

C. Noise Control, Inc.

2.02 GENERAL

A. Provide vibration isolation supports for equipment, piping and ductwork, to prevent 
transmission of vibration and noise to the building structures that may cause discomfort 
to the occupants.

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 185



16-1010 / WCCHD Renovations 22 05 48 - 2                                   VIBRATION AND SEISMIC 
                           CONTROLS FOR PLUMBING PIPING

B. Model numbers of Amber/Booth products are included for identification. Products of the 
additional manufacturers will be acceptable provided they comply with all of the 
requirements of this specification.

2.03 BASE MOUNTED PUMPS 

A. Amber/Booth type SP-NR style E flexplate pad isolators consisting of two layers of 3/8’’ 
thick alternate ribbed neoprene pad bonded to a 16 gage galvanized steel separator 
plate.

B. Pads shall be sized for approximately 40 PSI loading and 1/8’’ deflection.

2.04 PIPING

A. Furnish line size flexible connectors at supply and return of pumps, amber/booth style 
2800 single sphere EPDM construction, connector shall include 150 lb. cadmium plated 
carbon steel floating flanges.

2.05 CORROSION PROTECTION

A. All vibration isolators shall be designed and treated for resistance to corrosion.

B. Steel components: PVC coated or phosphated and painted with industrial grade enamel. 
Nuts, bolts, and washers: zinc-electroplated.

PART 3 - EXECUTION

3.01 All equipment shall be installed in accordance with the manufacturers recommendations and 
printed installation instructions.

3.02 All items required for a complete and proper installation are not necessarily indicated on the plans 
or in the specifications. Provide all items required as per manufacturers requirements.

3.03 The vibration isolation supplier shall certify in writing that he has inspected the installation and 
that all external isolation materials and devices are installed correctly and functioning properly.

END OF SECTION

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 186



16-1010 / WCCHD Renovations 22 05 53 - 1 IDENTIFICATION FOR PLUMBING 
AND EQUIPMENT

SECTION 22 05 53

IDENTIFICATION FOR PLUMBING PIPING AND EQUIPMENT

PART 1 - GENERAL

1.01 GENERAL REQUIREMENTS

A. The requirements of the General Conditions and Supplementary Conditions apply to all 
work herein.

B. The Basic Materials and Methods, Section 22 02 00, are included as a part of this 
Section as though written in full in this document.

1.02 SCOPE

Scope of the Work shall include the furnishing and complete installation of the equipment covered 
by this Section, with all auxiliaries, ready for owner's use.

1.03 Refer to Architectural Sections for additional requirements.

PART 2 - PRODUCTS

2.01 VALVE AND PIPE IDENTIFICATION

A. Valves:

1. All valves shall be identified with a 1-1/2" diameter brass disc wired onto the 
handle. The disc shall be stamped with 1/2" high depressed black filled 
identifying numbers. These numbers shall be numerically sequenced for all 
valves on the job.

2. The number and description indicating make, size, model number and service of 
each valve shall be listed in proper operational sequence, properly typewritten. 
Three copies to be turned over to Owner at completion.

3. Tags shall be fastened with approved meter seal and 4 ply 0.018 smooth copper 
wire. Tags and fastenings shall be manufactured by the Seton Name Plate 
Company or approved equal.

4. All valves shall be numbered serially with all valves of any one system and/or 
trade grouped together.

B. Pipe Marking:

1. All interior visible piping located in accessible spaces such as above accessible 
ceilings, equipment rooms, attic space, under floor spaces, etc., shall be 
identified with all temperature pipe markers as manufactured by W.H. Brady 
Company, 431 West Rock Ave., New Haven, Connecticut, or approved equal.

2. All exterior visible piping shall be identified with UV and acid resistant outdoor 
grade acrylic plastic markers as manufactured by Set Mark distributed by Seton 
nameplate company. Factory location 20 Thompson Road, Branford, 
Connecticut, or approved equal.

3. Generally, markers shall be located on each side of each partition, on each side 
of each tee, on each side of each valve and/or valve group, on each side of each 
piece of equipment, and, for straight runs, at equally spaced intervals not to 
exceed 75 feet. In congested area, marks shall be placed on each pipe at the 
points where it enters and leaves the area and at the point of connection of each 
piece of equipment and automatic control valve. All markers shall have 
directional arrows.

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 187



16-1010 / WCCHD Renovations 22 05 53 - 2 IDENTIFICATION FOR PLUMBING 
AND EQUIPMENT

4. Markers shall be installed after final painting of all piping and equipment and in 
such a manner that they are visible from the normal maintenance position. 
Manufacturer's installation instructions shall be closely followed. 

5. Markers shall be colored as indicated below per ANSI/OSHA Standards:

SYSTEM COLOR LEGEND
Sanitary Sewer Green Vent 

Sanitary Sewer
Storm Drain Green Storm Drain 
Domestic Water Green Domestic Water 
Domestic Hot Water Yellow Domestic Hot 
Supply Water Supply 
Domestic Hot Water Yellow Domestic Hot
Recirculating Water Return
Fire Protection Red Fire Protection 
Automatic Red Fire 
Sprinkler Sprinkler
Gas Yellow Natural Gas
Compressed Air Blue Compressed Air
Oxygen Yellow Oxygen
Nitrogen Green Nitrogen
Deionized Water Green Deionized Water

C. Pipe Painting:

1. All piping exposed to view shall be painted as indicated or as directed by the 
Architect in the field. Confirm all color selections with Architect prior to 
installation.

2. The entire fire protection piping system shall be painted red.
3. All piping located in mechanical rooms and exterior piping shall be painted as 

indicated below:

System Color
Storm Sewer White
Sanitary Sewer Waste and Vent Light Gray
Domestic Cold Water Dark Blue
Domestic Hot Water Supply and Return Orange

PART 3 - EXECUTION

3.01 All labeling equipment shall be installed as per manufacturers printed installation instructions.

3.02 All items required for a complete and proper installation are not necessarily indicated on the plans 
or in the specifications. Contractor’s price shall include all items required as per manufacturers' 
requirements.

3.03 All piping shall be cleaned of rust, dirt, oil and all other contaminants prior to painting. Install 
primer and a quality latex paint over all surfaces of pipe.

END OF SECTION

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 188



16-1010 / WCCHD Renovations 22 07 19 - 1                         PLUMBING PIPING INSULATION

SECTION 22 07 19

PLUMBING PIPING INSULATION

PART 1 - GENERAL

1.01 GENERAL REQUIREMENTS

A. The requirements of the General Conditions and Supplementary Conditions apply to all 
work herein. 

B. The Basic Materials and Methods, Section 22 02 00, are included as a part of this 
Section as though written in full in this document.

1.02 SCOPE

A. Scope of the Work shall include the furnishing and complete installation of the equipment 
covered by this Section, with all auxiliaries, ready for owner's use.

B. Furnish and install piping insulation to:

1. Interior domestic hot and cold water piping.
2. Exterior domestic cold water piping.
3. Drain bodies and horizontal downspouts.
4. Condensate drainage piping.
5. All pipes subject to freezing conditions shall be insulated.

C. Work specified elsewhere.

1. Painting.
2. Pipe hangers and supports.

D. For insulation purpose piping is defined as the complete piping system including supplies 
and returns, pipes, valves, automatic control valve bodies, fittings, flanges, strainers, 
thermometer well, unions, reducing stations, and orifice assemblies.

1.03 WARRANTY

A. Warrant the Work specified herein for one year against becoming unserviceable or 
causing an objectionable appearance resulting from either defective or nonconforming 
materials or workmanship.

B. Defects shall include, but not be limited to, the following:

1. Mildewing.
2. Peeling, cracking, and blistering.
3. Condensation on exterior surfaces.

1.04 SUBMITTALS

A. SHOP DRAWINGS: Indicate size, material, and finish. Show locations and installation 
procedures. Include details of joints, attachments, and clearances.

B. PRODUCT DATA: Submit schedules, charts, literature, and illustrations to indicate the 
performance, fabrication procedures, project variations, and accessories.

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 189



16-1010 / WCCHD Renovations 22 07 19 - 2                         PLUMBING PIPING INSULATION

1.05 DELIVERY AND STORAGE

A. DELIVERY: Deliver undamaged materials in the manufacturer's unopened containers. 
Containers shall be clearly labeled with the insulation's flame and smoke ratings.

PART 2 - PRODUCTS

2.01 It is the intent of these specifications to secure superior quality workmanship resulting in an 
absolutely satisfactory installation of insulation from the standpoint of both function and 
appearance. Particular attention shall be given to valves, fittings, pumps, etc., requiring low 
temperature insulation to insure full thickness of insulation and proper application of the vapor 
seal. All flaps of vapor barrier jackets and/or canvas covering must be neatly and securely 
smoothed and sealed down.

2.02 The type of insulation and its installation shall be in strict accordance with these specifications for 
each service, and the application technique shall be as recommended by the manufacturer. All 
insulation types, together with adhesives and finishes shall be submitted and approved prior to 
installation.

2.03 A sample quantity of each type of insulation and each type application shall be installed and 
approval secured prior to proceeding with the main body of the work. Condensation caused by 
improper installation of insulation shall be corrected by Installing Contractor. Any damage caused 
by condensation shall be made good at no cost to the Owner or Architect/Engineer.

2.04 All insulation shall have composite (insulation, jacket or facing, and adhesive used to adhere the 
facing or jacket to insulation) fire and smoke hazard as tested by Procedure ASTM E084, NFPA 
255 and UL 723 not exceeding:

Flame Spread 25
Smoke Developed 50

2.05 Accessories, such as adhesives, mastics and cements shall have the same component ratings as 
listed above.

2.06 All products or their shipping cartons shall have a label affixed, indicating flame and smoke 
ratings do not exceed the above requirements.

2.07 APPROVED MANUFACTURERS

A. Calcium silicate materials shall be as manufactured by Johns Manville. 

B. Glass fiber materials shall be as manufactured by Johns Manville or Owens-Corning and 
shall have the same thermal properties, density, fire rating, vapor barrier, etc., as the 
types specified herein, subject to review by the Engineer.

C. Adhesives shall be as manufactured by Childers, Foster, HB Fuller or Armstrong, and 
shall have the same adhesive properties, fire rating, vapor seal, etc., as the types 
specified herein, subject to review by the Engineer.

D. Armaflex elastomeric cellular thermal insulation by Armstrong.

E. Phenolic foam insulation shall be as manufactured by Kooltherm Insulation (Koolphen).

F. Metal jacketing and fitting covers shall be as manufactured by Childers or RPR Products.

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 190



16-1010 / WCCHD Renovations 22 07 19 - 3                         PLUMBING PIPING INSULATION

2.08 MATERIALS

A. INTERIOR DOMESTIC WATER PIPE: provide fiberglass pipe insulation with all service 
jackets with self sealing lap joint.

B. EXTERIOR DOMESTIC WATER PIPE: Provide elastomeric cellular thermal, or 
preformed phenolic foam pipe insulation with secured metal jacketing.

C. DRAIN BODIES AND DOWN SPOUTS: Insulate horizontal roof drain down spouts, 
underside of roof drain bodies, chilled water waste lines from drinking fountain to junction 
with main waste stacks, and branch lines including traps and exposed underside of floor 
drains receiving cooling coil condensate, same as water piping where exposed to building 
occupant view. When concealed, insulation may be same as specified for external duct 
wrap.

D. CONDENSATE DRAINAGE PIPING: Fire resistant fiberglass insulation; insulation not 
required when piping is exposed on roof.

E. METAL JACKETING: Utilize Childers “Strap-On” jacketing. Provide preformed fitting 
covers for all elbows and tees.

PART 3 - EXECUTION

3.01 All insulation shall be installed in accordance with the manufacturers’ recommendations and 
printed installation instructions, including high density inserts at all hangers and pipe supports to 
prevent compression of insulation.

3.02 All items required for a complete and proper installation are not necessarily indicated on the plans 
or in the specifications. Provide all items required as per manufacturers requirements.

3.03 Pipes located outdoors or in tunnels shall be insulated same as concealed piping; and in addition 
shall have a jacket of 0.016 inch thick, smooth aluminum with longitudinal modified Pittsburg Z-
Lock seam and 2 inch overlap. Jacketing shall be easily removed and replaced without damage. 
All butt joints shall be sealed with gray silicone. Galvanized banding is not acceptable.

3.04 All insulated piping located over driveways shall have an aluminum shield permanently banded 
over insulation to protect it from damage from car antennas.

3.05 WATER PIPE INSULATION INSTALLATION

A. The insulation shall be applied to clean, dry pipes with all joints firmly butted together. 
Where piping is interrupted by fittings, flanges, valves or hangers and at intervals not to 
exceed 25 feet on straight runs, an isolating seal shall be formed between the vapor 
barrier jacket and the bare pipe. The seal shall be by the applications of adhesive to the 
exposed insulation joint faces, carried continuously down to and along 4 inches of pipe 
and up to and along 2 inches of jacket.

B. Pipe fittings and valves shall be insulated with pre-molded or shop fabricated glass fiber 
covers finished with two brush coats of vapor barrier mastic reinforced with glass fabric. 

C. All under lap surfaces shall be clean and free of dust, etc. before the SSL is sealed. 
These laps shall be firmly rubbed to insure a positive seal. A brush coat of vapor retarder 
shall be applied to all edges of the vapor barrier jacket.

D. At hangers and supports, provide a high density foam insulation insert that extends 2” 

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 191



16-1010 / WCCHD Renovations 22 07 19 - 4                         PLUMBING PIPING INSULATION

beyond the shield on each side and a protective shield/saddle to prevent 
compression/damage. Secure shield/saddle to insulation using mastic or strapping tape.

3.06 FIRE RATED INSULATION

A. All pipe penetrations through walls and concrete floors shall be fire rated by applying 
USG Thermafiber in the space between the concrete and the pipe.

B. The fire rating shall be additionally sealed by using 3M brand model CP 25 or 303 fire 
barrier caulk and putty.

C. All fire rating material shall be insulated in accordance with manufacturer's printed 
instructions.

PART 4 - SCHEDULES

4.01 LOW TEMPERATURE SURFACES MINIMUM INSULATION THICKNESS 

BASED ON FIBERGLASS

A. Exposed exterior domestic water pipe: 1½ inch

B. Interior domestic cold water pipe: 1 inch

C. Condensate drain lines: ¾ inch

D. Drains receiving condensate: 1 inch

E. Concealed horizontal leader from roof drain: 1½ inch blanket wrap

Exposed horizontal leader from roof drain: 1 inch thick rigid with 
all service jackets

4.02 HIGH TEMPERATURE SURFACES MINIMUM INSULATION

THICKNESS

A. Hot Water Piping:

1. Operating temperature 105°F or less: 1 inch
2. Operating temperature higher than 105°F 1 inch

and pipe size 1½ inch or smaller
3. Operating temperature higher than 105°F 2 inch

and pipe size more than 1½ inch 

B. Domestic Hot Water and Hot Water Circulating Piping 1 inch

END OF SECTION

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 192



16-1010 / WCCHD Renovations 22 10 00 - 1 PLUMBING PIPING

SECTION 22 10 00
PLUMBING PIPING

PART 1 - GENERAL

1.01 SECTION INCLUDES

A. Pipe and pipe fittings.

B. Valves.

C. Sanitary sewer piping system.

D. Domestic water piping system.

E. Excavation and backfill.

1.02 RELATED SECTIONS

A. Section 22 05 29 – Hangers and Support for Plumbing Piping and Equipment.

B. Section 22 05 48 – Vibration and Seismic Controls for Plumbing Piping.

C. Section 22 05 53 – Identification for Plumbing Piping and Equipment.

D. Section 22 07 19 – Plumbing Piping Insulation.

E. Section 22 11 19 - Plumbing Specialties.

F. Section 22 30 00 - Plumbing Equipment.

G. Section 22 40 00 - Plumbing Fixtures.

1.03 REFERENCES

A. ANSI B31.1 - Power Piping.

B. ANSI B31.9 - Building Service Piping.

C. ASME - Boiler and Pressure Vessel Code.

D. ASME Sec. 9 - Welding and Brazing Qualifications.

E. ASME B16.1 - Cast Iron Pipe Flanges and Flanged Fittings Class 25, 125, 250 and 800.

F. ASME B16.3 - Malleable Iron Threaded Fittings.

G. ASME B16.4 - Cast Iron Threaded Fittings Class 125 and 250.

H. ASME B16.22 - Wrought Copper and Bronze Solder-Joint Pressure Fittings

I. ASTM A47 - Ferritic Malleable Iron Castings.

J. ASTM A53 - Pipe, Steel, Black and Hot-Dipped Zinc Coated, Welded and Seamless.

K. ASTM A74 - Cast Iron Soil Pipe and Fittings.

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 193



16-1010 / WCCHD Renovations 22 10 00 - 2 PLUMBING PIPING

L. ASTM B32 - Solder Metal.

M. ASTM B42 - Seamless Copper Pipe.

N. ASTM B306 - Copper Drainage Tube (DWV).

O. ASTM D1785 - Poly (Vinyl Chloride) (PVC) Plastic Pipe, Schedule 40, 80, and 120.

P. ASTM D2241 - Poly (Vinyl Chloride) (PVC) Plastic Pipe (SDR-PR).

Q. ASTM D2466 - Poly (Vinyl Chloride) (PVC) Plastic Pipe Fittings, Schedule 40.

R. ASTM D2564 - Solvent Cements for Poly (Vinyl Chloride) (PVC) Plastic Pipe and Fittings.

S. ASTM D2729 - Poly (Vinyl Chloride) (PVC) Sewer Pipe and Fittings.

T. ASTM D2846 - Chlorinated Polyvinyl Chloride (CPVC) Pipe, Fittings, Solvent Cements 
and Adhesives for Potable Hot Water Systems.

U. ASTM F493 - Solvent Cements for Chlorinated Poly (Vinyl Chloride) (CPVC) Plastic Pipe 
and Fittings.

V. AWWA C111- Rubber-Gasket Joints for Ductile Iron and Gray-Iron Pressure Pipe and 
Fittings.

W. AWWA C651 - Disinfecting Water Mains.

X. CISPI 301 - Cast Iron Soil Pipe and Fittings for Hubless Cast Iron Sanitary Systems.

Y. CISPI 310 - Joints for Hubless Cast Iron Sanitary Systems. 

Z. ASSE 1003 Performance Requirements for Water Pressure Reducing Valves for 
Domestic Water Distribution Systems.

1.04 SUBMITTALS

A. Submit under provisions of Division One.

B. Product Data: Provide data on pipe materials, Pipe fittings, valves, and accessories. 
Provide manufacturers catalog information. Indicate valve data and ratings.

1.05 PROJECT RECORD DOCUMENTS

A. Submit under provisions of Division One.

B. Record actual locations of valves.

1.06 OPERATION AND MAINTENANCE DATA

A. Submit under provisions of Division One.

B. Maintenance Data: Include installation instructions, spare parts lists, exploded assembly 
views.

1.07 QUALITY ASSURANCE

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 194



16-1010 / WCCHD Renovations 22 10 00 - 3 PLUMBING PIPING

A. Valves: Manufacturer's name and pressure rating cast or marked on valve body.

B. Welding Materials and Procedures: Conform to ASME Code and applicable state labor 
regulations.

C. Welders Certification: In accordance with ASME Sec 9.

D. Foreign pipe, fittings or valves are unacceptable. All cast iron soil pipe and fittings shall 
be marked with the collective trademark of the Cast Iron Soil Pipe Institute and shall be 
listed by NSF International.

E. Piping shall be labeled along entire length indicating size, class, material specification, 
manufacturers name and country of origin.

1.08 QUALIFICATIONS

A. Manufacturer: Company specializing in manufacturing the Products specified in this 
section with minimum 5 years documented experience and must be a domestic 
manufacturer.

B. Installer: Company specializing in performing the work of this section with minimum 5 
years documented experience.

1.09 REGULATORY REQUIREMENTS

A. Perform Work in accordance with plumbing and building codes having jurisdiction.

B. Conform to applicable codes for the provision and installation of all required backflow 
prevention devices.

C. Provide certificate of compliance from authority having jurisdiction indicating approval of 
installation of backflow prevention devices.

D. No PVC pipe or fittings will be allowed for any areas where pipe is to penetrate a fire 
rated assembly or to be installed in a return air plenum unless the entire length of all such 
piping is encased within a minimum 2 hour fire rated enclosure.

E. Provide pressure regulating valve, maintaining 50 to 55 psi building service pressure, 
when supply pressure at building is greater than 70 psi.

1.10 DELIVERY, STORAGE, AND HANDLING

A. Deliver, store, protect and handle products to site under provisions of Division One.

B. Accept valves on site in shipping containers with labeling in place. Inspect for damage.

C. Provide temporary protective coating on cast iron and steel valves.

D. Provide temporary end caps and closures on piping and fittings. Maintain in place until 
installation.

E. Protect piping systems from entry of foreign materials by temporary covers, completing 
sections of the work, and isolating parts of completed system. Tape will not be allowed as 
an acceptable end cover.

1.11 EXTRA MATERIALS

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 195



16-1010 / WCCHD Renovations 22 10 00 - 4 PLUMBING PIPING

A. Furnish under provisions of Division One.

B. Provide two repacking kits for each size valve.

PART 2 - PRODUCTS

2.01 SANITARY SOIL, WASTE AND VENT PIPING, WITHIN BUILDING, ABOVE GRADE

A. Cast Iron Pipe: CISPI 301 or ASTM A 888, hubless, service weight. 

1. Fittings: Cast iron, CISPI 301 or ASTM A 888 drainage pattern.
2. Joints: No hub, ASTM C 564 neoprene gaskets with ASTM C1540 wide bodied 

stainless steel clamp and solid shield assembly constructed of type 300 series 
stainless steel. Couplings shall have four clamps for pipe sizes up to and 
including 4” and shall have six clamps for pipe sizes over 4” through 10”. Clamp 
assemblies shall conform to FM 1680 where required by the administrative 
authority.

2.02 DOMESTIC WATER PIPING, WITHIN BUILDING, ABOVE GRADE 

A. Copper Tubing: ASTM B 88, Type L, hard drawn.

1. Fittings: ASME B 16.18, cast bronze, or ASTM B 16.22 wrought copper alloy.
2. Joints: ASTM B 32, solder.

2.03 FLANGES, UNIONS AND COUPLINGS

A. Pipe size 2 inches and under:

1. Ferrous pipe: ANSI B16.39, 150 psig malleable iron threaded unions.
2. Copper tube and pipe: 150 psig bronze unions with soldered ends.
3. Ferrous pipe: ANSI B16.5, 150 psig forged steel flanges; screwed neck, 1/16" 

thick preformed neoprene gaskets.

B. Pipe size 2-1/2 inches and larger:

1. Ferrous pipe: 150 psig forged steel slip-on flanges; weld neck, 1/16" thick 
preformed neoprene gaskets.

2. Copper tube and pipe: 150 psig slip-on bronze flanges; 1/16" thick preformed 
neoprene gaskets.

C. Dielectric Connections:

1. Pipe size 2 inches and under: Union with galvanized or plated steel threaded 
end, copper solder end, water impervious isolation barrier.

2. Pipe size 2-1/2 inch and larger: flange, connection as above, with water 
impervious isolation barrier.

3. Pipe sizes 1 inch to 8 inches: Dielectric waterway grooved, plain end, or thread 
end. ASTMA-53 carbon steel or ASTMA-536 ductile iron body, zinc electroplated, 
with LTHS high temperature stabilized polyolefin polymer linear Victulic style 47.

D. Mechanical Couplings:

1. Grooved mechanical pipe couplings, fittings, valves and other grooved 
components may be used as an option to soldered or braised methods. Fittings 

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 196



16-1010 / WCCHD Renovations 22 10 00 - 5 PLUMBING PIPING

shall be cast of bronze for copper tubing systems. All grooved components shall 
be of one domestic manufacturer, and conform to local code approval and/or as 
listed by ANSI-B-31, B-31.3M B-31.9, ASME, UL/ULC, FM, IAPMO OR BOCA. 
Grooved end manufacturer to be ISO-9001 certified. Grooved couplings shall 
meet the requirements of ASTM F-1476. Manufacturer shall be Victaulic or 
approved equal.

2.04 GATE VALVES

A. Manufacturers:

1. Nibco No. T-111 up to 2-1/2"; F-617-O 3" and over.
2. Other acceptable manufacturers offering equivalent products.

a. Crane No. 428 up to 2-1/2"; 465-1/2 3" and over.
b. Stockham No. B-100 up to 2-1/2"; G-623 3" and over.
c. Milwaukee valve UP148 up to 2”, F-2885A 2 ½” and over.
d. Kitz No. 24 1/2"-3”;  No. 72 Flanged 2”-14”

B. Up to and including 2-1/2" Inches: Bronze body – (ASTM B584 C89833), bronze trim – 
(ASTM B584 C89833), rising stem, handwheel, inside screw, solid wedge threaded ends.

C. Over 3" Inches: Iron body, bronze trim, rising stem, handwheel, OS&Y, solid wedge, 
flanged ends.

D. Provide bronze tee or cast iron square nut operator for all valves installed below ground.

1. Valves 2-1/2" and smaller shall be equipped with ASTM B62 solid red bronze tee 
securely affixed to the valve stem.

2. Valves 3" and larger shall be equipped with a standard 2" square combination 
nut/socket securely affixed to the valve stem.

3. Provide owner with two extended tee handle operating wrenches for each type of 
valve head installed.

2.05 BALL VALVES

A. Manufacturers:

1. Nibco No. T-685-66-LF
2. Other acceptable manufacturers offering equivalent products.

a. Crane No. 9303-B
b. Stockham Model S-216BR-1R-T
c. Milwaukee valve UPBA-400S
d. Kitz No. 68M

B. Up to and including 2 Inches: Bronze – (ASTM B584 C8933), two 600 PSI piece body full 
port, stainless steel ball and stem, Teflon seats and stuffing box ring, lever handle and 
balancing stops, threaded ends with union.

C. Ball valves used for balancing shall have memory stops.

2.06 SWING CHECK VALVES

A. Manufacturers:

1. Nibco No. T-413-B up to 2-1/2"; F-918 3" and over.
2. Other acceptable manufacturers offering equivalent products.

a. Crane No. 37 up to 2-1/2"; 372 3" and over.

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 197



16-1010 / WCCHD Renovations 22 10 00 - 6 PLUMBING PIPING

b. Stockham No. B-319; up to 2-1/2"; G931 3" and over.
c. Kitz No. 22 up to 3”; No. 78 2”-10”.

3. Victualic (for grooved systems only).
4. Milwaukee valve UP509 up to 2”, F-2974A 2 ½” and over.

B. Up to and including 2-1/2 Inches: Bronze body ASTM B584 C89833, Bronze swing disc, 
screwed ends.

C. Over 2-1/2 Inches: Iron body, bronze trim, swing disc, renewable disc and seat, flanged 
ends. Include outside lever and adjustable weight where required for quiet operation.

2.07 SPRING LOADED (SILENT) CHECK VALVES

A. Manufacturers:

1. Nibco No. W-910

2. Other acceptable manufacturers offering equivalent products.
a. Grinnell No. 402

3. Victualic (for grooved systems only).
4. Milwaukee valve 1400 LF.

B. Iron body, bronze trim, stainless steel spring, renewable composition disc, screwed, 
wafer, grooved, or flanged ends.

2.08 REGULATING VALVES

A. Manufacturers:

1. Watts No. 223-S up to 2-1/2” size valve.
2. Watts No. F127W for 3” and Watts No. F127W-WR for 4” size valve.
3. Other acceptable manufacturers offering equivalent products.

B. Bronze body, teflon seat, stainless steel stem and springs, automatic, direct pressure 
actuated, capacities ASME certified and labeled.

C. Provide and install pressure regulating valves with inlet strainer and union fittings 
individually or as integral components of regulator.

D. Install pressure regulating valve within building immediately downstream of building shut-
off valve and prior to any building service branch connection.  Each building service PRV 
installation shall include an integral permanent bypass assembly with a normally closed 
bypass throttling globe or ball valve.

2.09 SOLDER

A. 95.5% tin, 4% copper, 0.5% silver.

B. Lead free, antimony free, zinc-free.

C. Silvabrite 100, by Engelhard Corporation or approved equal.

PART 3 - EXECUTION

3.01 EXAMINATION

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 198



16-1010 / WCCHD Renovations 22 10 00 - 7 PLUMBING PIPING

A. Coordinate and verify excavations under provisions of Division Two.

B. Verify that all excavations are to the required grade, dry, and not over-excavated.

3.02 PREPARATION

A. Ream pipe and tube ends. Remove burrs. Bevel plain end ferrous pipe.

B. Remove scale, oil and dirt, on inside and outside, before assembly.

C. Prepare piping connections to equipment with flanges or unions.

D. Install, clean bank sand backfill in trench to a minimum of 6 inches below pipe, and to 
cover all piping a minimum of 12 inches above pipe.

3.03 INSTALLATION

A. Install all materials in accordance with manufacturer's published instructions.

B. All exposed sewer and water pipe in toilet rooms or other finished areas of the building 
shall be chromium plated. 

C. Provide non-conducting dielectric connections wherever jointing dissimilar metals.

D. Route piping in orderly manner, parallel and perpendicular to building column grid lines, 
unless indicated otherwise on drawings, and maintain gradients.

E. Install piping to conserve building space and not conflict with other trades or interfere with 
intended use of space.

F. Group piping whenever practical at common elevations.

G. Install piping to allow for expansion and contraction without stressing pipe, joints, or 
connected equipment.

H. Provide clearance for installation of insulation and access to valves and fittings. Valves 
installed beyond reasonable reach shall be provided with chain operator.

I. Provide access doors where valves and operable fittings are not exposed. Access doors 
shall be of approved types set in locations pre-approved by submittal to the Architect.

J. Establish elevations of buried piping outside the building to ensure not less than 2 feet of 
cover, or maximum depth of frost penetration, which ever is the greater.

K. Where pipe support members are welded to structural building framing, scrape, brush 
clean, and apply one coat of zinc rich primer to welding.

L. Provide encasement for and support of utility meters in accordance with requirements of 
utility companies.

M. Gate valves installed below grade shall be covered with an adjustable cast iron roadway 
box extended to grade. Cover shall be cast iron with 'water' cast on top and set flush to 
finished paving or 2" above finished earthen grade. Box shall be supported from 
undisturbed soil or concrete base and shall not introduce any stress to piping under all 
traffic conditions.

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 199



16-1010 / WCCHD Renovations 22 10 00 - 8 PLUMBING PIPING

N. Prepare pipe, fittings, supports, and accessories not pre-finished, ready for finish 
painting.

O. Excavate in accordance with Division 22.

P. Backfill in accordance with Division 22.

Q. Install bell and spigot pipe with bell end upstream.

R. Maintain uniformity in the installation of piping materials and joining methods. Do not mix 
materials types.

S. Install valves with stems upright or horizontal, not inverted.

T. Solder joints shall be wiped clean at each joint, remove excess metal while molten and 
flux residue when cooled.

U. No PVC pipe or fittings will be allowed for any areas where pipe is installed in return air 
plenum unless the entire length of all such piping is encased within a minimum 2 hour fire 
rated enclosure.

V. Installations of thermoplastic piping systems shall be in strict conformity to the 
manufacturers published instructions. Under ground drainage pipe installations shall be in 
conformity to ASTM D 2321.

W. Installation of solvent cement joints for PVC piping shall be in strict conformity to the 
requirements outlined in ASTM D 2855.

X. Waste nipple from wall to tapped tee shall be schedule 40 threaded galvanized steel pipe 
or brass or copper with threaded adapter.

Y. Provide approved PVC slip by cast iron no hub adaptor at each transition from 
underground PVC piping to above ground cast iron pipe using heavy duty wide bodied no 
hub couplings as specified elsewhere in this section. Transition shall be made as close 
as possible to floor for sanitary DWV piping systems and at test tee “minimum 12 in. 
A.F.F.” for storm drainage piping. Support vertical cast iron pipe from floor anchors using 
riser clamp and galvanized all thread rod as specified in section 15140.

Z. Provide bracing to prevent axial movement for all storm drainage piping above ground 
floor. Provide restraints for all drainage piping at al changes in direction and at all 
diameter changes greater than two pipe sizes. Braces blocks, rodding and other 
permanent methods as prescribed by cast iron soil pipe institute.

AA. All grooved components (couplings, fittings, valves, gaskets and specialties) shall be of 
one domestic manufacturer.

BB. Grooved manufacturer shall provide on-site training for contractor’s field personnel by a 
factory trained representative in the proper use of grooving tools, application of groove, 
and product installation. Factory trained representative shall periodically visit the job site 
and inspect installation. Contractor shall remove and replace any improperly installed 
products.

3.04 APPLICATION

A. Install union downstream of all valves at equipment or apparatus connections.

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 200



16-1010 / WCCHD Renovations 22 10 00 - 9 PLUMBING PIPING

B. Install male adapters each side of threaded valves in copper piped system. Sweat solder 
adapters to tube prior to make-up of threaded connections.

C. Install ball valves for shut-off and to isolate all equipment items, distinct parts of systems, 
or vertical risers.

D. Each plumbing fixture shall have a shut-off valve on each hot water and cold water 
supply line.

E. Each plumbing water rough-in stub out shall be fitted with a shut off valve.

F. Install globe, ball or butterfly valves for throttling, bypass, or balancing (manual flow 
control) services.

G. Ball valves installed in insulated piping shall be fitted with extended lever operators of 
sufficient length to raise handle above the insulation jacket material. Where valve is used 
for throttling service valve handle shall be equipped with adjustable memory stop device.

H. Provide spring loaded, non-slam, check valves on discharge of water pumps.

3.05 ERECTION TOLERANCES

A. All drainage lines in the building shall have 1/4 inch to the foot fall where possible and not 
less than 1/8 inch to the foot fall toward the main sewer. Pipe must be so laid that the 
slope will be uniform and continuous. Permission shall be secured from the Architect and 
Engineer before proceeding with any Work where existing conditions prevent the 
installation at minimum grade specified.

B. Slope all water piping and arrange to drain at low points. Provide loose key operated, 
polished chrome, sill cock flush to wall where fixture stop will not suffice for this 
requirement.

3.06 DISINFECTION OF DOMESTIC WATER PIPING SYSTEM

A. Prior to starting work, all domestic water systems shall be complete, thoroughly flushed 
clean and free of all foreign matter or erection residue.

B. Ensure PH of water to be treated is between 7.4 and 7.6 by adding alkali (caustic soda or 
soda ash) or acid (hydrochloric).

C. On building side of the main shut off valve, provide a 3/4" connection through which 
chlorine can be introduced into the water piping

D. Inject disinfectant, free chlorine in liquid, powder, tablet or gas form, in sufficient quantity 
to obtain 50 to 80 mg/L residual free chlorine solution throughout the entire domestic 
water piping systems.

E. Bleed water from outlets as required to ensure complete distribution and test for 
disinfectant residual at a minimum 15 percent of total outlets.

F. Maintain disinfectant in system for 24 hours.

G. If final disinfectant residual tests less than 25 mg/L, repeat treatment.

H. Flush disinfectant from system until residual equal to that of incoming water or 1.0 mg/L.

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 201



16-1010 / WCCHD Renovations 22 10 00 - 10 PLUMBING PIPING

I. Take samples no sooner than 24 hours after flushing, from 5 percent of outlets and from 
water entry, and analyze in accordance with AWWA C651.

3.07 SERVICE CONNECTIONS

A. Provide new sanitary and storm sewer services connecting to existing building services 
or utility lines as shown on the drawings. 

B. Before commencing work, field verify invert elevations required for sewer connections, 
confirm inverts and ensure that these can be properly connected with slope for drainage 
and cover as required.

C. Provide new domestic water service connecting to existing building services or utility lines 
as shown on plans. Assure connections are in compliance with requirements of the 
jurisdiction having authority.

D. Extension of services to the building shall be fabricated from the same materials as the 
utility service lines or those materials specified herein.

E. Should points of connection vary from those indicated on the drawings contractor shall 
properly allow for this in the actual connections field fabricated.

3.08 RODDING SEWERS

A. All sanitary soil and waste lines, both in the building and out, shall be rodded out after 
completion of the installation.

B. This Work shall be done, as part of the contract, to make certain that all lines are clear, 
and any obstruction that may be discovered shall be removed immediately. Rodding shall 
be accomplished by utilizing a rotary cutter, which shall be full size of pipe being cleaned.

3.09 TESTING OF PLUMBING PIPING SYSTEMS

A. During the progress of the work and upon completion, tests shall be made as specified 
herein and as required by Authorities Having Jurisdiction, including Inspectors, Owner or 
Architect. The Architect or duly authorized Construction Inspector shall be notified in 
writing at least 2 working days prior to each test or other Specification requirement which 
requires action on the part of the Construction Inspector.

B. Tests shall be conducted as part of this work and shall include all necessary instruments, 
equipment, apparatus, and service as required to perform the tests with qualified 
personnel. Submit proposed test procedures, recording forms, and test equipment for 
approval prior to the execution of testing.

C. Tests shall be performed before piping of various systems have been covered or furred-
in. For insulated piping systems testing shall be accomplished prior to the application of 
insulation.

D. All piping systems shall be tested and proved absolutely tight for a period of not less than 
24 hours. Tests shall be witnessed by the Architect or an authorized representative and 
pronounced satisfactory before pressure is removed or any water drawn off.

E. Leaks, damage or defects discovered or resulting from test shall be repaired or replaced 
to a like new condition. Leaking pipe joints, or defective pipe, shall be removed and 
replaced with acceptable materials. Test shall be repeated after repairs are completed 

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 202



16-1010 / WCCHD Renovations 22 10 00 - 11 PLUMBING PIPING

and shall continue until such time as the entire test period expires without the discovery 
of any leaks.

F. Wherever conditions permit, each piping system shall thereafter be subjected to its 
normal operating pressure and temperature for a period of no less than five 5 days. 
During that period, it shall be kept under the most careful observation. The piping 
systems must demonstrate the propriety of their installation by remaining absolutely tight 
during this period. 

G. Domestic Water: 

1. Pressure test at one and one half times the normal working pressure or 125 psig, 
which ever is the greater, for 24 hours.

H. Sanitary Soil, Waste and Vents and Storm Sewer: 

1. After the rough-in soil, waste and vent and other parts of the sanitary sewer 
including branch laterals have been set from the lowest level, at point of 
connection to existing utility lines, to above the floor line, all outlets shall be 
temporarily plugged or capped, except as are required for testing as described 
herein. Ground work shall not permit the backfill of trenches to cover any joints 
until the completion of testing. Back fill shall be limited to mid sections of full 
joints of piping only. For pipe in ground the piping shall be readied as described 
herein and filled with water to a verifiable and visible level to 10' above the lowest 
portions of the system being tested.

2. On multi-level buildings only one floor level shall be tested at a time. Each floor 
shall be tested from a level below the structure of the floor, or the outlet of the 
building in the case of the lowest level, to a level of 12 inches above the floor 
immediately above the floor being tested, or the top of the highest vent in the 
case of the highest building level. The pipes for the level being tested shall be 
filled with water to a verifiable and visible level as described above and be 
allowed to remain so for 24 hours. If after 24 hours the level of the water has 
been lowered by leakage, the leaks must be found and stopped, and the water 
level shall again be raised to the level described, and the test repeated until, after 
a 24 hour retention period, there shall be no perceptible lowering of the water 
level in the system being tested.

3. Should the completion of these tests leave any reasonable question or doubt of 
the integrity of the installation, additional tests including peppermint smoke, or 
other measures shall be performed to demonstrate the reliability of these 
systems to the complete satisfaction of the Owner's duly authorized 
representative. Such tests shall be conducted and completed before any joints in 
plumbing are concealed or made inaccessible.

3.10 COMPLETE FUNCTIONING OF WORK

A. All work fairly implied as essential to the complete functioning of the systems shown on 
the Drawings and Specification shall be completed as part of the work of this Division 
unless specifically stated otherwise. It is the intention of the Drawings and Specification 
to establish the type and function of systems but not to set forth each item essential to 
the functioning of any system. In case of doubt as to the work intended or in the event of 
amplification or clarification thereof, the Contractor shall call upon the Architect for 
Supplementary Instructions and Drawings, etc.

END OF SECTION

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 203



16-1010 / WCCHD Renovations 22 11 19 - 1 PLUMBING SPECIALTIES

SECTION 22 11 19

PLUMBING SPECIALTIES

PART 1 - GENERAL

1.01 GENERAL REQUIREMENTS

A. The requirements of the General Conditions and Supplementary Conditions apply to all 
work herein.

B. The Basic Materials and Methods, Section 22 02 00, are included as a part of this 
Section as though written in full in this document.

1.02 SCOPE

A. The scope of the work shall include the furnishing and complete installation of the 
specialties covered by this Section, with all appurtenances, ready for the Owner’s use.

B. Include the following work in addition to items normally part of this Section:

1. Water Hammer Arrestors

2. Strainers and Filters

3. Thermostatic Mixing Valves

4. Floor Drains and Floor Sinks

5. Cleanouts

6. Trap Primers

1.03 RELATED WORK

A. Section 22 05 29 – Hangers and Support for Plumbing Piping and Equipment

B. Section 22 10 00 – Plumbing Piping

C. Section 22 30 00 – Plumbing Equipment

D. Section 22 40 00 – Plumbing Fixtures

1.04 REFERENCES

A. ANSI/ASSE 1011 – Performance Requirements for Hose Connection Vacuum Breakers

B. ANSI/ASSE 1012 – Performance Requirements for Backflow Preventers with an 
Intermediate Atmospheric Vent

C. ANSI/ASSE 1013 –- Performance Requirements for Reduced Pressure Principle 
Backflow Preventers and Reduced Pressure Principle Fire Protection Backflow 
Preventers

D. ANSI/ASSE 1015 – Performance Requirements for Double Check Backflow Prevention 
Assemblies and Double Check Fire Protection Backflow Prevention Assemblies

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 204



16-1010 / WCCHD Renovations 22 11 19 - 2 PLUMBING SPECIALTIES

E. ANSI/ASSE 1019 – Performance Requirements for Wall Hydrants with Backflow 
Protection and Freeze Resistance

F. ANSI/ASSE 1057 – Performance Requirements for Freeze Resistant Sanitary Yard 
Hydrants with Backflow Protection

G. ASME A112.6.3 – Floor Drains and Trench Drains

H. ASME A112.6.7 – Sanitary Floor Sinks

I. ASME A112.6.4 – Roof, Deck, and Balcony Drains

J. ASME A112.14.1 – Backwater Valves

K. ASME A112.14.3 – Grease Interceptors

L. ASME/ANSI A112.26.1 – Water Hammer Arresters

M. PDI WH-201 Water Hammer Arresters

N. AWWA C506 – Standard for Backflow Prevention Devices – Reduced Pressure Principle 
and Double Check Valve Types

O. AWWA C510 – Standard for Double Check Valve Backflow Prevention Assembly

P. ASSE 1069 – Performance Requirements for Automatic Temperature Control Mixing 
Valves

Q. ASSE 1070 – Performance Requirements for Water Temperature Limiting Devices

R. PDI G-101 – Testing and Rating Procedure for Hydro Mechanical Grease Interceptors

1.05 QUALITY ASSURANCE

A. Manufacturer: For each product specified, provide components by the same 
manufacturer throughout.

1.06 SUBMITTALS

A. Submit under provisions of Division One.

B. Submit shop drawings and product data under provisions of Division One.

C. Include component sizes, rough-in requirements, service sizes, and finishes.

D. Manufacturer's Installation Instructions: Indicate assembly and support requirements.

1.07 PROJECT RECORD DOCUMENTS

A. Submit under provisions of Division One.

B. Record actual locations of equipment and backflow preventers.

1.08 OPERATION AND MAINTENANCE DATA

A. Submit under provisions of Division One.

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 205



16-1010 / WCCHD Renovations 22 11 19 - 3 PLUMBING SPECIALTIES

B. Operation Data: Indicate frequency of treatment required for interceptors and separators.

C. Maintenance Data: Include installation instructions, spare parts lists, exploded assembly 
views.

D. Provide backflow prevention assembly test and maintenance report for all devices. A 
printed and signed form by the licensed tester that performed the work shall be provided 
both to the Owner and to the Public Water System in accordance with TCEQ (Texas 
Commission on Environmental Quality) requirements.

1.09 DELIVERY, STORAGE, AND HANDLING

A. DELIVERY: Deliver clearly labeled specialties to; and store, protect and handle products 
on site in accordance with the provisions of Division One.

B. TIMING AND COORDINATION: Arrange for delivery of materials to allow for minimum 
storage time at the project site. Coordinate with the scheduled time of installation.

C. ACCEPTANCE: Accept specialties on site in original factory packaging. Inspect for 
damage. Damaged specialties shall not be acceptable.

D. STORAGE: Store materials in a clean, dry location, protected from weather and damage.

1.10 EXTRA MATERIALS

A. Furnish under provisions of Division One.

B. Provide two loose keys for hose bibbs and hydrants and spare hose end vacuum 
breakers.

1.11 OPERATIONS PERSONNEL TRAINING

A. Provide a training session for the owner’s operations personnel. Training session shall be 
performed by a qualified person who is knowledgeable in the subject system/equipment. 
Submit a training agenda two weeks prior to the proposed training session for review and 
approval. Training session shall include at the minimum:

1. Purpose of equipment.
2. Principle of how the equipment works.
3. Important parts and assemblies.
4. How the equipment achieves its purpose and necessary operating conditions.
5. Most likely failure modes, causes, and corrections.
6. On site demonstration.

PART 2 - PRODUCTS

2.01 RECESSED VALVE BOX

A. Refrigerator: Pre-formed plastic rough-in box with brass long shank valve with wheel or 
quarter-turn handle and matching secured faceplate.

B. ACCEPTABLE MANUFACTURERS:

1. Guy Gray
2. Mifab

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 206



16-1010 / WCCHD Renovations 22 11 19 - 4 PLUMBING SPECIALTIES

3. Sioux Chief
4. Oatey

2.02 BACKFLOW PREVENTERS

A. Reduced Pressure Backflow Preventers: ANSI/ASSE 1013; Bronze or FDA approved 
epoxy coated cast iron body with corrosion resistant internal parts and stainless steel 
springs; two independently operating, spring loaded check valves; intermediate internal 
pressure intermediate relief valve with water outlet; test cocks and isolation valves.

B. Double Check Valve Assemblies: ANSI/ASSE 1015; Cast copper alloy or FDA approved 
epoxy coated cast iron body with corrosion resistant internal parts and stainless steel 
springs; two independently operating check valves, test cocks and isolation valves.

C. Dual Check Valve with Intermediate Atmospheric Vent: ANSI/ASSE 1012; Brass body 
with corrosion resistant internal parts and stainless steel springs; two independently 
operating check valves with intermediate atmospheric vent.

D. ACCEPTABLE MANUFACTURERS:

1. Watts
2. Wilkins
3. Ames
4. Febco
5. Beeco
6. Conbraco

2.03 WATER HAMMER ARRESTORS

A. ANSI A112.26.1; sized and located in accordance with PDI WH-201, pre-charged 
suitable for operation in temperature range -100 to 300 degrees F and maximum 250 
psig (1700 kPa) working pressure.

B. ACCEPTABLE MANUFACTURERS:

1. J.R. Smith
2. Zurn
3. Mifab
4. Watts
5. Wade
6. Josam
7. P.P.P.
8. Sioux Chief

2.04 THERMOSTATIC MIXING VALVES

A. Provide thermostatic mixing valves in accordance with manufacturer’s recommendations 
and as indicated and scheduled on Drawings. Unless scheduled otherwise, all units other 
than under-counter point of use units shall be provided complete in lockable cabinet of 16 
gage (1.5 mm) prime coated steel when located in finished areas.

B. ACCEPTABLE MANUFACTURERS:

1. Bradley
2. Powers
3. Symmons

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 207



16-1010 / WCCHD Renovations 22 11 19 - 5 PLUMBING SPECIALTIES

4. Lawler

2.05 FLOOR DRAINS AND FLOOR SINKS

A. Provide floor drains and floor sinks in accordance with manufacturer’s recommendations, 
as appropriate for floor construction, and as indicated and scheduled on Drawings.

B. Provide clamping devices for all drains in membrane floor areas.

C. ACCEPTABLE MANUFACTURERS:

1. J.R. Smith
2. Zurn
3. Mifab
4. Watts
5. Wade
6. Josam

2.06 CLEANOUTS

A. General: Provide cleanouts as indicated and scheduled on Drawings and also as 
required by the prevailing code, whether shown on the Drawings or not.

B. Construction: All cleanouts shall have tapered bronze plugs.

C. Provide clamping devices for all cleanouts in membrane floor areas.

D. Provide cleanouts of suitable and compatible material for specialized piping systems 
conveying acid waste.

E. Types:

1. Finished floor cleanouts: Provide cast iron body, with adjustable floor level 
assembly, and round nickel bronze scoriated top.

2. Resilient or tile finished floor cleanouts: Provide cast iron body, with adjustable 
floor level assembly, and round nickel-bronze top with gasketed water tight cover 
and depressed top to receive flooring finish material.

3. Interior finished wall cleanouts: Provide cast iron tee body or cleanout ferrule as 
required for wall construction and provide counter-sunk bronze plug with 
stainless steel access cover and securing screw(s).

4. Interior unfinished accessible cleanouts: Calked or threaded type. Provide bolted 
stack cleanouts on vertical rainwater leaders.

F. ACCEPTABLE MANUFACTURERS:

1. J.R. Smith
2. Zurn
3. Mifab
4. Watts
5. Wade
6. Josam

2.07 TRAP PRIMERS

A. General: Provide trap primers as indicated and scheduled on Drawings and in 
accordance with manufacturer’s recommendations.

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 208



16-1010 / WCCHD Renovations 22 11 19 - 6 PLUMBING SPECIALTIES

B. ACCEPTABLE MANUFACTURERS:

1. J.R. Smith
2. Zurn
3. Mifab
4. Watts
5. Wade
6. Josam
7. P.P.P.
8. Sioux Chief

PART 3 - EXECUTION

3.01 INSTALLATION AND APPLICATION

A. Install specialties in accordance with manufacturer's instructions to provide intended 
performance.

B. The contractor shall provide water hammer arrestors as shown on Drawings and also in 
accordance with PDI Standard WH-201, whether shown on Drawings or not. Water 
hammer arrestors shall be PDI certified and sized and placed as recommended by 
manufacturer. Provide above ceiling or otherwise accessible location complete with 
isolation valve to facilitate replacement.

C. Provide strainers at all backflow preventers.

D. Contractor shall certify all newly installed backflow preventers and provide proof of 
certification to the Owner.

E. Pipe relief line from backflow preventer via manufacturer’s air gap assembly, full size to 
nearest drain. Such routing shall not pose a trip hazard.

F. Extend cleanouts to finished floor or wall surface. Lubricate threaded cleanout plugs with 
mixture of graphite and linseed oil. Ensure clearance at cleanouts for rodding of drainage 
system.

G. All cleanouts outside of building on grade shall be set in an 18" x 18" x 4" thick concrete 
pad, flush with final grade/paving.

H. Coordinate with casework to ensure that all interceptors are readily accessible and 
removable for servicing and cleaning.

I. Provide approved sampling well downstream of centralized interceptors and separators.

END OF SECTION

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 209



16-1010 / WCCHD Renovations 22 30 00 - 1 PLUMBING EQUIPMENT

SECTION 22 30 00

PLUMBING EQUIPMENT

PART 1 - GENERAL

1.01 SECTION INCLUDES

A. Water Heaters.

1.02 RELATED SECTIONS

A. Section 22 05 29 – Hangers and Support for Plumbing Piping and Equipment.

B. Section 22 05 48 – Vibration and Seismic Controls for Plumbing Equipment.

C. Section 22 10 00 - Plumbing Piping.

D. Section 22 11 19 - Plumbing Specialties.

E. Section 26 05 19 - Wire, Cable, and Related Materials.

1.03 REFERENCES

A. ANSI/ASHRAE 90A - Energy Conservation in New Building Design.

B. ASME Section VIIID - Pressure Vessels; Boiler and Pressure Vessel Codes.

C. ANSI/NFPA 54 - National Fuel Gas Code.

D. ANSI/NFPA 70 - National Electrical Code.

E. ANSI/UL 1453 - Electric Booster and Commercial Storage Tank Water Heaters.

1.04 SUBMITTALS

A. Submit under provisions of Division One.

B. Shop Drawings:

1. Include water heater dimensions. size of tappings, and performance data.
2. Include dimensions of tanks, tank lining methods, anchors, attachments, lifting 

points, tappings, and drains.

C. Product Data:

1. Include dimension drawings of water heaters indicating components and 
connections to other equipment and piping.

2. Indicate pump type, capacity, power requirements, and affected adjacent 
construction.

3. Submit certified pump curves showing pump performance characteristics with 
pump and system operating point plotted. Include NPSH curve when applicable.

4. Provide electrical characteristics and connection requirements.

D. Manufacturer's Installation Instructions.

1.05 OPERATION AND MAINTENANCE DATA

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 210



16-1010 / WCCHD Renovations 22 30 00 - 2 PLUMBING EQUIPMENT

A. Submit under provisions of Division 22.

B. Include operation, maintenance, and inspection data, replacement part numbers and 
availability, and service depot location and telephone number.

1.06 QUALITY ASSURANCE

A. Perform Work in accordance with authorities having jurisdiction.

B. Provide pumps with manufacturer's name, model number, and rating/capacity identified.

C. Ensure products and installation of specified products are in conformance with 
recommendations and requirements of the following organizations:

1. American Gas Association (AGA).
2. National Sanitation Foundation (NSF).
3. American Society of Mechanical Engineers (ASME).
4. National Board of Boiler and Pressure Vessel Inspectors (NBBPVI).
5. National Electrical Manufacturers' Association (NEMA).
6. Underwriters Laboratories (UL).
7. American Society of Plumbing Engineers (ASPE)

D. Ensure pumps operate at specified system fluid temperatures without vapor binding and 
cavitation, are non-overloading in parallel or individual operation, operate within 25 
percent of midpoint of published maximum efficiency curve.

1.07 REGULATORY REQUIREMENTS

A. Conform to AGA NSF ANSI/NFPA 54 ANSI/NFPA 70 ANSI/UL 1453 requirements for 
water heaters.

B. Conform to ASME Section VIIID for manufacture of pressure vessels for heat 
exchangers.

1.08 DELIVERY, STORAGE, AND HANDLING

A. Deliver, store, protect and handle products to site under provisions of Section Division 
One.

B. Provide temporary inlet and outlet caps. Maintain caps in place until installation.

1.09 WARRANTY

A. Provide five year warranty under provisions of Division One.

B. Warranty: Include coverage of domestic water heaters, water storage tanks, and 
packaged water heating systems.

1.10 EXTRA MATERIALS

A. Furnish under provisions of Division One.

B. Provide two sets of electric heater elements.

1.11 OPERATIONS PERSONNEL TRAINING

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 211



16-1010 / WCCHD Renovations 22 30 00 - 3 PLUMBING EQUIPMENT

A. Provide a training session for the owner’s operations personnel.  Training session shall 
be performed by a qualified person who is knowledgeable in the subject 
system/equipment.  Submit a training agenda two weeks prior to the proposed training 
session for review and approval.  Training session shall include at the minimum:

1. Purpose of equipment.
2. Principle of how the equipment works
3. Important parts and assemblies
4. How the equipment achieves its purpose and necessary operating conditions
5. Most likely failure modes, causes and corrections
6. On site demonstration

PART 2 - PRODUCTS

2.01 COMMERCIAL ELECTRIC WATER HEATERS

A. Manufacturers:

1. A.O. Smith
2. Other acceptable manufacturers offering equivalent products.

a. State
b. Rheem.
c. Bradford White.
d. Bock. 

B. Type: Factory-assembled and wired, electric, vertical storage.

C. Tank: Glass lined welded steel; 4 inch diameter inspection port (when applicable), 
thermally insulated with minimum 2 inches glass fiber encased in corrosion-resistant steel 
jacket; baked-on enamel finish.

D. Controls: Automatic immersion water thermostat; externally adjustable temperature range 
from 60 to 180 degrees F, flanged or screw-in nichrome elements, high temperature limit 
thermostat.

E. Accessories: Brass water connections and dip tube, drain valve, high-density magnesium 
anode, and ASME rated temperature and pressure relief valve.

F. Provide training per 1.11.

PART 3 - EXECUTION

3.01 WATER HEATER INSTALLATION

A. Install water heaters in accordance with manufacturer's instructions and to AGA NSF 
ANSI/NFPA 54 UL requirements.

B. Coordinate with plumbing piping and related work to achieve operating system.

END OF SECTION

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 212



16-1010 / WCCHD Renovations 22 40 00 - 1 PLUMBING FIXTURES

SECTION 22 40 00

PLUMBING FIXTURES

PART 1 - GENERAL

1.01 GENERAL REQUIREMENTS

A. The requirements of the General Conditions and Supplementary Conditions apply to all 
work herein.

B. The Basic Materials and Methods, Section 22 02 00, are included as a part of this Section 
as though written in full in this document.

1.02 SCOPE

A. The scope of the work shall include the furnishing and complete installation of the fixtures 
covered by this Section, with all appurtenances, ready for the Owner’s use.

B. Include the following work in addition to items normally part of this Section:

1. Plumbing Fixtures

2. Fixture Carriers

3. Faucets, Supplies, and Trim

4. Flushometers

1.03 RELATED WORK

A. Section 22 05 29 – Hangers and Support for Plumbing Piping and Equipment

B. Section 22 10 00 – Plumbing Piping

C. Section 22 11 19 – Plumbing Specialties

D. Section 22 30 00 – Plumbing Equipment

1.04 REFERENCES

A. ASME A112.4.3 – Plastic Fittings for Connecting Water Closets to the Sanitary Drainage 
System

B. ASME A112.6.1M – Floor Affixed Supports for Off-the-Floor Plumbing Fixtures for Public 
Use

C. ASME A112.18.1 – Plumbing Supply Fittings

D. ASME A112.18.2 – Plumbing Waste Fittings

E. ASME A112.18.9 – Protectors/Insulators for Exposed Waste and Supplies on Accessible 
Fixtures

F. ASME A112.19.1 – Enameled Cast Iron and Enameled Steel Plumbing Fixtures

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 213



16-1010 / WCCHD Renovations 22 40 00 - 2 PLUMBING FIXTURES

G. ASME A112.19.2 – Ceramic Plumbing Fixtures

H. ASME A112.19.3 – Stainless Steel Plumbing Fixtures

I. ASME A112.19.7 – Hydromassage Bathtub Systems

J. NSF/ANSI 61 – Drinking Water System Components – Health Effects

K. ANSI Z358.1 – Emergency Eyewash and Shower Equipment

L. ASSE 1016 – Performance Requirements for Individual Thermostatic, Pressure Balancing, 
and Combination Pressure Balancing and Thermostatic Control Valves for Individual 
Fixture Fittings.

M. ASSE 1037 – Performance Requirements for Pressurized Flushing Devices for Plumbing 
Fixtures

N. ADA (Americans with Disabilities Act)

O. TAS (Texas Accessibility Standards)

1.05 QUALITY ASSURANCE

A. Manufacturer: For each product specified, provide components by the same manufacturer 
throughout.

B. Warranty: Warrant the work specified herein for one year against becoming unserviceable 
or causing an objectionable appearance resulting from defective or non-conforming 
materials and workmanship.

C. Defects shall include, but not necessarily be limited to, the following:

1. Noisy operation.
2. Noticeable deterioration of finish.
3. Leakage of water.

1.06 SUBMITTALS

A. Submit under provisions of Division One.

B. Submit product data under provisions of Division One.

C. Include component sizes, rough-in requirements, service sizes, finishes, materials, 
dimensions, performance information, and accessories.

D. Manufacturer’s Installation Instructions: Indicate assembly and support requirements.

1.07 OPERATION AND MAINTENANCE DATA

A. Submit under provisions of Division One.

B. Provide pre-printed operating and maintenance instructions for each item specified. 
Instruct and demonstrate the proper operation and maintenance to the Owner's designated 
representative.

1.08 DELIVERY, STORAGE, AND HANDLING

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 214



16-1010 / WCCHD Renovations 22 40 00 - 3 PLUMBING FIXTURES

A. DELIVERY: Deliver clearly labeled specialties to; and store, protect and handle products 
on site in accordance with the provisions of Division One.

B. TIMING AND COORDINATION: Arrange for delivery of materials to allow for minimum 
storage time at the project site. Coordinate with the scheduled time of installation.

C. ACCEPTANCE: Accept specialties on site in original factory packaging. Inspect for 
damage. Damaged specialties shall not be acceptable.

D. STORAGE: Store materials in a clean, dry location, protected from weather and damage.

1.09 FIELD MEASUREMENTS

A. Verify that field measurements are as indicated on the Contract Documents.

B. Confirm and field coordinate that millwork is constructed with adequate provisions for the 
installation of counter top lavatories and sinks.

PART 2 - PRODUCTS

2.01 PLUMBING FIXTURES

A. GENERAL: Provide plumbing fixtures in accordance with manufacturer’s 
recommendations and as indicated and scheduled on Drawings. Acceptable 
manufacturers of each fixture type are as indicated below.

1. Provide floor-affixed fixture carriers as appropriate for all wall-hung plumbing fixtures 
unless specifically noted otherwise.

2. Fixture drilling shall match faucet spread and match any related trim and accessories.

B. SINKS – COUNTER MOUNTED (Stainless Steel)

1. Elkay
2. Just
3. Moen Commercial

C. SHOWER SYSTEMS

1. Acorn
2. Bradley
3. Willoughby Industries
4. Symmons

2.02 FAUCETS, SUPPLIES, AND TRIM

A. GENERAL: Provide faucets, supplies, and trim in accordance with manufacturer’s 
recommendations, as appropriate for fixtures to be served, and as indicated and scheduled 
on Drawings. Acceptable manufacturers for each type of appurtenance are as indicated 
below.

1. Strainers shall be heavy cast brass chrome plated with matching grid type strainer, 
with or without overflow as required, 17 gauge seamless brass tailpiece of length 
determined by installation requirements. Provide complete with washers and brass 
locknut.

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 215



16-1010 / WCCHD Renovations 22 40 00 - 4 PLUMBING FIXTURES

2. P-traps shall be 17 gauge seamless chrome plated brass, adjustable type. Provide 
complete with cleanout plug, chrome plated brass slip nuts, wall bend, and wrought 
brass escutcheon of depth determined by installation requirements.

3. Angle stops shall be lead-free commercial pattern chrome plated brass, quarter turn 
ball type with loose key handles. Provide complete with chrome plated copper supply 
risers and wrought brass escutcheon of depth determined by installation requirements.

4. Pipe trim insulation shall be compliant, white molded vinyl, fade/discoloration-resistant, 
bacteria/fungal-resistant insulation.

B. FAUCETS

1. Chicago
2. T&S Brass
3. Zurn
4. Moen Commercial
5. Delta Commercial
6. Speakman
7. American Standard
8. Kohler
9. Symmons

C. SHOWER VALVES

1. Bradley
2. Symmons Commercial
3. Powers
4. Chicago
5. Speakman

D. SUPPLY STOPS

1. McGuire
2. Zurn
3. Chicago

E. CHROME PLATED TUBULAR BRASS

1. McGuire
2. Zurn
3. Kohler

F. PIPE TRIM INSULATION

1. Truebro
2. McGuire
3. Plumberex

PART 3 - EXECUTION

3.01 PREPARATION

A. EXAMINATION OF CONDITIONS: Examine conditions affecting this work. Report 
unsatisfactory conditions to the proper authority and do not proceed until those conditions 

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 216



16-1010 / WCCHD Renovations 22 40 00 - 5 PLUMBING FIXTURES

have been corrected. Commencing work implies acceptance of existing conditions as 
satisfactory to the outcome of this work.

B. Coordinate forming floor construction to receive drains to required invert elevations.

3.02 INSTALLATION

A. Install fixtures in locations and heights as shown on Drawings and as directed by the 
Architect.

B. Install materials plumb, level, securely, and in accordance with manufacturer's 
recommendations.

C. All rough-in pipe openings for final connections with supply, waste, vent, and storm 
systems shall be closed with caps or plugs during early stages of construction and 
installation. Tape shall not be considered sufficient protection.

D. Rough-in fixture piping connections in accordance with minimum sizes indicated in fixture 
rough-in schedule for particular fixtures.

E. Provide ball valves in piping serving batteries of fixtures. Label stops "Hot" and "Cold." 
Valves shall be located above accessible ceilings. If ceilings are not accessible, provide 
access panels of adequate size to ensure valves are fully accessible and can be fully 
operated.

F. Plumbing fixtures shall be supported by a concealed carrier where required to properly 
support the fixture specified. All carriers to be securely mounted, bolted and checked prior 
to concealment.

G. Caulk around fixtures with best grade white silicone caulking. Do not use grout.

H. All handles on supply and drainage fittings or other brass items shall be properly lined up 
and adjusted. Fittings shall not be left in any haphazard manner.

I. All fixtures shall have individual chrome plated heavy pattern loose key quarter-turn cutoff 
stops on supply lines, complete with escutcheons. Where same are not specified as a part 
of the fixture trim, they shall be installed as close to fixtures as possible in the hot and cold 
water supply.

J. Install each fixture with trap, easily removable for servicing and cleaning.

K. All showers and similar installations shall be installed with type “L” copper pipe between 
shower valve and shower head rough-in. The termination point shall have a brass drop ear 
elbow for shower head arm connection. Contractor shall provide proper anchoring support.

3.03 INTERFACE WITH OTHER PRODUCTS

A. Review millwork shop drawings. Confirm location and size of fixtures and openings before 
rough-in and installation.

B. Review architectural drawings. Confirm configuration and orientation of shower controls 
and trim prior to rough-in and installation.

3.04 ADJUSTING

A. Adjust work under provisions of Division One.

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 217



16-1010 / WCCHD Renovations 22 40 00 - 6 PLUMBING FIXTURES

B. Adjust stops or valves for intended water flow rate to fixtures without splashing, noise, or 
overflow.

3.05 CLEANING

A. Clean work under provisions of Division One.

B. At completion clean plumbing fixtures and appurtenances.

3.06 PROTECTION OF FINISHED WORK

A. Protect finished Work under provisions of Division One.

B. Do not permit use of fixtures.

3.07 ADA ACCESSIBLE FIXTURES

A. At all locations required to be accessible, such fixtures, controls, and final installations shall 
comply with the requirements of ADA and any applicable state accessibility standards. 
Install fixtures to heights, indicated on architectural drawings.

B. All exposed water supply and drain pipes under accessible lavatories and sinks shall be 
insulated with securely fastened pipe trim insulation kits of the proper model for the fixtures 
specified.

C. Wall mounted drinking fountains and coolers which protrude into passages or corridor 
space, whether single or paired with an adjacent accessible fixture, shall be supplied with 
a matching skirt or apron to lower the underside clearance of the non-accessible fixture 
equal to that required for accessible fixture.

END OF SECTION

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 218



16-1010 / WCCHD Renovations 23 02 00 - 1 BASIC MATERIALS AND METHODS

SECTION 23 02 00
BASIC MATERIALS AND METHODS

PART 1 - GENERAL

1.01 GENERAL REQUIREMENTS

A. The requirements of the General Conditions and Supplementary Conditions apply to all 
Work herein.

B. The Contract Drawings indicate the extent and general arrangement of the systems.  If 
any departure from the Contract Drawings is deemed necessary by the Contractor, 
details of such departures and the reasons therefore, shall be submitted to the 
Architect/Engineer for review as soon as practicable.  No such departures shall be made 
without the prior written approval of the Architect/Engineer.

C. Notwithstanding any reference in the Specifications to any article, device, product, 
material, fixture, form or type of construction by name, make or catalog number, such 
reference shall not be construed as limiting competition; and the Contractor, in such 
cases, may at his option use any article, device, product, material, fixture, form or type of 
construction which in the judgment of the Architect/Engineer, expressed in writing, is the 
equivalent of that specified.

1.02 SCOPE OF WORK

A. The Work included under this Contract consists of the furnishing and installation of all 
equipment and material necessary and required to form complete and functioning 
systems in all of their various phases, all as shown on the accompanying Drawings 
and/or described in these Specifications.  The Contractor shall review all pertinent 
drawings, including those of other contracts, prior to commencement of Work.

B. This Division requires the furnishing and installing of all items as specified herein, 
indicated on the Drawings or reasonably inferred as necessary for safe and proper 
operation; including every article, device or accessory (whether or not specifically called 
for by item) reasonably necessary to facilitate each system's functioning as indicated by 
the design and the equipment specified.  Elements of the work include, but are not limited 
to, materials, labor, supervision, transportation, storage, equipment, utilities, all required 
permits, licenses and inspections.  All work performed under this Section shall be in 
accordance with the Project Manual, Drawings and Specifications and is subject to the 
terms and conditions of the Contract.

C. The approximate locations of Mechanical (HVAC) items are indicated on the Drawings.  
These Drawings are not intended to give complete and accurate details in regard to 
location of outlets, apparatus, etc.  Exact locations are to be determined by actual 
measurements at the building, and will in all cases be subject to the review of the Owner 
or Engineer, who reserves the right to make any reasonable changes in the locations 
indicated without additional cost to the Owner.

D. Items specifically mentioned in the Specifications but not shown on the Drawings and/or 
items shown on Drawings but not specifically mentioned in the Specifications shall be 
installed by the Contractor under the appropriate section of work as if they were both 
specified and shown.

E. All discrepancies between the Contract Documents and actual job-site conditions shall be 
reported to the Owner or Engineer so that they will be resolved prior to bidding.  Where 
this cannot be done at least 7 working days prior to bid; the greater or more costly of the 

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 219



16-1010 / WCCHD Renovations 23 02 00 - 2 BASIC MATERIALS AND METHODS

discrepancy shall be bid.  All labor and materials required to perform the work described 
shall be included as part of this Contract.

F. It is the intention of this Section of the Specifications to outline minimum requirements to 
furnish the Owner with a turn-key and fully operating system in cooperation with other 
trades.

G. It is the intent of the above "Scope" to give the Contractor a general outline of the extent 
of the Work involved; however, it is not intended to include each and every item required 
for the Work.  Anything omitted from the "Scope" but shown on the Drawings, or specified 
later, or necessary for a complete and functioning heating, ventilating and air conditioning 
system shall be considered a part of the overall "Scope".

H. The Contractor shall rough-in fixtures and equipment furnished by others from rough-in 
and placement drawings furnished by others.  The Contractor shall make final connection 
to fixtures and equipment furnished by others. 

I. The Contractor shall participate in the commissioning process as required; including, but 
not limited to, meeting attendance, completion of checklists, and participation in 
functional testing.

1.03 SCHEMATIC NATURE OF CONTRACT DOCUMENTS

A. The Contract Documents are schematic in nature in that they are only to establish scope 
and a minimum level of quality.  They are not to be used as actual working construction 
drawings. The actual working construction drawings shall be the reviewed shop drawings.

B. All duct or pipe or equipment locations as indicated on the documents do not indicate 
every transition, offset, or exact location.  All transitions, offsets, clearances and exact 
locations shall be established by actual field measurements, coordination with the 
structural, architectural and reflected ceiling plans, and other trades.  Submit shop 
drawings for review.

C. All transitions, offsets and relocations as required by actual field conditions shall be 
performed by the Contractor at no additional cost to the Owner.

D. Additional coordination with electrical contractor may be required to allow adequate 
clearances of electrical equipment, fixtures and associated appurtenances.  Contractor to 
notify Architect and Engineer of unresolved clearances, conflicts or equipment locations.

1.04 SITE VISIT AND FAMILIARIZATION

A. Before submitting a bid, it will be necessary for each Contractor whose work is involved 
to visit the site and ascertain for himself the conditions to be met therein in installing his 
work and make due provision for same in his bid.  It will be assumed that this Contractor 
in submitting his bid has visited the premises and that his bid covers all work necessary 
to properly install the equipment shown.  Failure on the part of the Contractor to comply 
with this requirement shall not be considered justification for the omission or faulty 
installation of any work covered by these Specifications and Drawings.

B. Understand the existing utilities from which services will be supplied; verify locations of 
utility services, and determine requirements for connections.

C. Determine in advance that equipment and materials proposed for installation fit into the 
confines indicated.

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 220



16-1010 / WCCHD Renovations 23 02 00 - 3 BASIC MATERIALS AND METHODS

1.05 WORK SPECIFIED IN OTHER SECTIONS

A. Finish painting is specified. Prime and protective painting are included in the work of this 
Division.

B. Owner and General Contractor furnished equipment shall be properly connected to 
Mechanical (HVAC) systems.

C. Furnishing and installing all required Mechanical (HVAC) equipment control relays and 
electrical interlock devices, conduit, wire and J-boxes are included in the Work of this 
Division.

1.06 PERMITS, TESTS, INSPECTIONS

A. Arrange and pay for all permits, fees, tests, and all inspections as required by 
governmental authorities.

1.07 DATE OF FINAL ACCEPTANCE

A. The date of final acceptance shall be the date of Owner occupancy, or the date all punch 
list items have been completed, or the date final payment has been received.  Refer to 
Division One for additional requirements.

B. The date of final acceptance shall be documented in writing and signed by the Architect, 
Owner and Contractor.

1.08 DELIVERY, STORAGE, AND HANDLING

A. Deliver products to the project properly identified with names, model numbers, types, 
grades, compliance labels, and other information needed for identification.

B. Deliver products to the project at such time as the project is ready to receive the 
equipment, pipe or duct - properly protected from incidental damage and weather 
damage.

C. Damaged equipment, duct or pipe shall be promptly removed from the site and new, 
undamaged equipment, pipe or duct shall be installed in its place promptly with no 
additional charge to the Owner.

1.09 NOISE AND VIBRATION

A. The heating, ventilating and air conditioning systems, and the component parts thereof, 
shall be guaranteed to operate without objectionable noise and vibration.

B. Provide foundations, supports and isolators as specified or indicated, properly adjusted to 
prevent transmission of vibration to the building structure, piping and other items.

C. Carefully fabricate ductwork and fittings with smooth interior finish to prevent turbulence 
and generation or regeneration of noise.

D. All equipment shall be selected to operate with minimum of noise and vibration.  If, in the 
opinion of the Architect, objectionable noise or vibration is produced or transmitted to or 
through the building structure by equipment, piping, ducts or other parts of the Work, the 
Contractor shall rectify such conditions without extra cost to the Owner.

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 221



16-1010 / WCCHD Renovations 23 02 00 - 4 BASIC MATERIALS AND METHODS

1.10 APPLICABLE CODES

A. Obtain all required permits and inspections for all work required by the Contract 
Documents and pay all required fees in connection thereof.

B. Arrange with the serving utility companies for the connection of all required utilities and 
pay all charges, meter charges, connection fees and inspection fees, if required.

C. Comply with all applicable codes, specifications, local ordinances, industry standards, 
utility company regulations and the applicable requirements which includes and is not 
limited to the following nationally accepted codes and standards:

1. Air Moving & Conditioning Association, AMCA.
2. American Standards Association, ASA.
3. American Society of Heating, Refrigerating, and Air-Conditioning Engineers, Inc., 

ASHRAE.
4. American Society of Mechanical Engineers, ASME.
5. American Society of Plumbing Engineers, ASPE.
6. American Society of Testing Materials, ASTM.
7. American Water Works Association, AWWA.
8. National Bureau of Standards, NBS.
9. National Fire Protection Association, NFPA.
10. Sheet Metal & Air Conditioning Contractors' National Association, SMACNA.
11. Underwriters' Laboratories, Inc., UL.
12. International Energy Conservation Code, IECC.
13. International Fire Code. 
14. International Gas Code.

D. Where differences existing between the Contract Documents and applicable state or city 
building codes, state and local ordinances, industry standards, utility company 
regulations and the applicable requirements of the nationally accepted codes and 
standards, the more stringent or costly application shall govern.  Promptly notify the 
Engineer in writing of all differences.

E. When directed in writing by the Engineer, remove all work installed that does not comply 
with the Contract Documents and applicable state or city building codes, state and local 
ordinances, industry standards, utility company regulations and the applicable 
requirements of the above listed nationally accepted codes and standards, correct the 
deficiencies, and complete the work at no additional cost to the Owner.

1.11 DEFINITIONS AND SYMBOLS

A. General Explanation:  A substantial amount of construction and Specification language 
constitutes definitions for terms found in other Contract Documents, including Drawings 
which must be recognized as diagrammatic and schematic in nature and not completely 
descriptive of requirements indicated thereon.  Certain terms used in Contract 
Documents are defined generally in this article, unless defined otherwise in Division 01.

B. Definitions and explanations of this Section are not necessarily either complete or 
exclusive, but are general for work to the extent not stated more explicitly in another 
provision of the Contract Documents.

C. Indicated: The term "Indicated" is a cross-reference to details, notes or schedules on the 
Drawings, to other paragraphs or schedules in the Specifications and to similar means of 
recording requirements in Contract Documents.  Where such terms as "Shown", "Noted", 

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 222



16-1010 / WCCHD Renovations 23 02 00 - 5 BASIC MATERIALS AND METHODS

"Scheduled", "Specified" and  "Detailed" are used in lieu of "Indicated", it is for the 
purpose of helping the reader locate cross-reference material, and no limitation of 
location is intended except as specifically shown.

D. Directed:  Where not otherwise explained, terms such as "Directed", "Requested", 
"Accepted", and "Permitted" mean by the Architect or Engineer.  However, no such 
implied meaning will be interpreted to extend the Architect's or Engineer's responsibility 
into the Contractor's area of construction supervision.

E. Reviewed:  Where used in conjunction with the Engineer's response to submittals, 
requests for information, applications, inquiries, reports and claims by the Contractor the 
meaning of the term "Reviewed" will be held to limitations of Architect's and Engineer's 
responsibilities and duties as specified in the General and Supplemental Conditions.  In 
no case will "Reviewed" by Engineer be interpreted as a release of the Contractor from 
responsibility to fulfill the terms and requirements of the Contract Documents.

F. Furnish:  Except as otherwise defined in greater detail, the term "Furnish" is used to 
mean supply and deliver to the project site, ready for unloading, unpacking, assembly, 
installation, etc., as applicable in each instance.

G. Install:  Except as otherwise defined in greater detail, the term "Install" is used to describe 
operations at the project site including unloading, unpacking, assembly, erection, placing, 
anchoring, applying, working to dimension, finishing, curing, protection, cleaning and 
similar operations, as applicable in each instance.

H. Provide:  Except as otherwise defined in greater detail, the term "Provide" is used to 
mean "Furnish and Install", complete and ready for intended use, as applicable in each 
instance.

I. Installer:  Entity (person or firm) engaged by the Contractor, or its Subcontractor or 
Sub-subcontractor for performance of a particular unit of work at the project site, 
including unloading, unpacking, assembly, erection, placing, anchoring, applying, working 
to dimension, finishing, curing, protection, cleaning and similar operations, as applicable 
in each instance.  It is a general requirement that such entities (Installers) be expert in the 
operations they are engaged to perform.

J. Imperative Language:  Used generally in Specifications.  Except as otherwise indicated, 
requirements expressed imperatively are to be performed by the Contractor.  For clarity 
of reading at certain locations, contrasting subjective language is used to describe 
responsibilities that must be fulfilled indirectly by the Contractor or, when so noted, by 
other identified installers or entities.

K. Minimum Quality/Quantity: In every instance, the quality level or quantity shown or 
specified is intended as minimum quality level or quantity of work to be performed or 
provided.  Except as otherwise specifically indicated, the actual work may either comply 
exactly with that minimum (within specified tolerances), or may exceed that minimum 
within reasonable tolerance limits. In complying with requirements, indicated or 
scheduled numeric values are either minimums or maximums as noted or as appropriate 
for the context of the requirements. Refer instances of uncertainty to Owner or Engineer 
via a request for information (RFI) for decision before proceeding.

L. Abbreviations and Symbols:  The language of Specifications and other Contract 
Documents including Drawings is of an abbreviated type in certain instances, and implies 
words and meanings which will be appropriately interpreted.  Actual word abbreviations 
of a self explanatory nature have been included in text of Specifications and Drawings.  
Specific abbreviations and symbols have been established, principally for lengthy 

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 223



16-1010 / WCCHD Renovations 23 02 00 - 6 BASIC MATERIALS AND METHODS

technical terminology and primarily in conjunction with coordination of Specification 
requirements with notations on Drawings and in Schedules.  These are frequently defined 
in Section at first instance of use or on a Legend and Symbol Drawing.  Trade and 
industry association names and titles of generally recognized industry standards are 
frequently abbreviated.  Singular words will be interpreted as plural and plural words will 
be interpreted as singular where applicable and where full context of Contract Documents 
so indicate.  Except as otherwise indicated, graphic symbols and abbreviations used on 
Drawings and in Specifications are those recognized in construction industry for indicated 
purposes.  Where not otherwise noted symbols and abbreviations are defined by the 
latest ASHRAE Fundamentals Handbook, chapter 34 "Abbreviations and Symbols", 
ASME and ASPE published standards.

1.12 DRAWINGS AND SPECIFICATIONS

A. These Specifications are intended to supplement the Drawings and it will not be the 
province of the Specifications to mention any part of the Work which the Drawings are 
competent to fully explain in every particular and such omission is not to relieve the 
Contractor from carrying out portions indicated on the Drawings only.

B. Should items be required by these Specifications and not indicated on the Drawings, they 
are to be supplied even if of such nature that they could have been indicated thereon. In 
case of disagreement between Drawings and Specifications, or within either Drawings or 
Specifications, the better quality or greater quantity of work shall be estimated and the 
matter referred to the Architect or Engineer for review with a request for information and 
clarification at least 7 working days prior to bid opening date for issuance of an 
addendum.

C. The listing of product manufacturers, materials and methods in the various sections of the 
Specifications, and indicated on the Drawings, is intended to establish a standard of 
quality only.  It is not the intention of the Owner or Engineer to discriminate against any 
product, material or method that is the equivalent of the standards as indicated and/or 
specified, nor is it intended to preclude open, competitive bidding.  The fact that a specific 
manufacturer is listed as an acceptable manufacturer should not be interpreted to mean 
that the manufacturer’s standard product will meet the requirements of the project design, 
Drawings, Specifications and space constraints.

D. The Architect or Engineer and Owner shall be the sole judge of quality and equivalence 
of equipment, materials and methods.

E. Products by other reliable manufacturers, other materials, and other methods, will be 
accepted as outlined, provided they have equivalent capacity, construction, and 
performance.  However, under no circumstances shall any substitution be made without 
the written permission of the Architect or Engineer and Owner.  Request for prior 
approval must be made in writing 10 days prior to the bid date without fail.

F. Wherever a definite product, material or method is specified and there is not a statement 
that another product, material or method will be acceptable, it is the intention of the 
Owner or Engineer that the specified product, material or method is the only one that 
shall be used without prior approval.

G. Wherever a definite material or manufacturer's product is specified and the Specification 
states that products of similar design and equivalent construction from the specified list of 
manufacturers may be substituted, it is the intention of the Owner or Engineer that 
products of manufacturers that are specified are the only products that will be acceptable 
and that products of other manufacturers will not be considered for substitution without 
approval.

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 224



16-1010 / WCCHD Renovations 23 02 00 - 7 BASIC MATERIALS AND METHODS

H. Wherever a definite product, material or method is specified and there is a statement that 
"OR EQUIVALENT" product, material or method will be acceptable, it is the intention of 
the Owner or Engineer that the specified product, material or method or an "OR 
EQUIVALENT" product, material or method may be used if it complies with the 
Specifications and is submitted for review to the Engineer as outline herein.

I. Where permission to use substituted or alternative equipment on the project is granted by 
the Owner or Engineer in writing, it shall be the responsibility of the Contractor or 
Subcontractor involved to verify that the equipment will fit in the space available which 
includes allowances for all required Code and maintenance clearances, and to coordinate 
all equipment structural support, plumbing and electrical requirements and provisions 
with the Mechanical (HVAC) Design Documents and all other trades, including Division 
26.

J. Changes in architectural, structural, electrical, mechanical, and plumbing requirements 
for the substitution shall be the responsibility of the bidder wishing to make the 
substitution.  This shall include the cost of redesign by the affected designer(s).  Any 
additional cost incurred by affected Subcontractors shall be the responsibility of this 
bidder and not the Owner.

K. If any request for a substitution of product, material or method is rejected, the Contractor 
will automatically be required to furnish the product, material or method named in the 
Specifications.  Repetitive requests for substitutions will not be considered.

L. The Owner or Engineer will investigate all requests for substitutions when submitted in 
accordance with the requirements listed above; and if accepted, will issue a letter 
allowing the substitutions.

M. Where equipment other than that used in the design as specified or shown on the 
Drawings is substituted (either from an approved manufacturers list or by submittal 
review), it shall be the responsibility of the substituting Contractor to coordinate space 
requirements, building provisions and connection requirements with his trades and all 
other trades; and to pay all additional costs to other trades, the Owner, the Architect or 
Engineer, if any, due to the substitutions.

1.13 SUBMITTALS

A. Coordinate with Division 01 for submittal timetable requirements, unless noted otherwise 
within thirty (30) days after the Contract is awarded. The Contractor shall submit an 
electronic copy of a complete set of shop drawings and complete data covering each item 
of equipment or material. The submittal of each item requiring a submittal must be 
received by the Architect or Engineer within the above thirty day period. The Architect or 
Engineer shall not be responsible for any delays or costs incurred due to excessive shop 
drawing review time for submittals received after the thirty (30) day time limit. The 
Architect and Engineer will retain a copy of all shop drawings for their files. All literature 
pertaining to items subject to Shop Drawing submittal shall be submitted at one time. 
Submittals shall be placed in one electronic file in PDF 8.0 format and bookmarked for 
individual specification sections. Individual electronic files of submittals for individual 
specifications shall not be permitted. Each submittal shall include the following items:

1. A cover sheet with the names and addresses of the Project, Architect, MEP 
Engineer, General Contractor and the Subcontractor making the submittal.  The 
cover sheet shall also contain the section number covering the item or items 
submitted and the item nomenclature or description.

2. An index page with a listing of all data included in the Submittal.

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 225



16-1010 / WCCHD Renovations 23 02 00 - 8 BASIC MATERIALS AND METHODS

3. A list of variations page with a listing of all variations, including unfurnished or 
additional required accessories, items or other features, between the submitted 
equipment and the specified equipment.  If there are no variations, then this page 
shall state "NO VARIATIONS".  Where variations affect the work of other 
Contractors, then the Contractor shall certify on this page that these variations 
have been fully coordinated with the affected Contractors and that all expenses 
associated with the variations will be paid by the submitting Contractor.  This 
page will be signed by the submitting Contractor.

4. Equipment information including manufacturer's name and designation, size, 
performance and capacity data as applicable.  All applicable Listings, Labels, 
Approvals and Standards shall be clearly indicated.

5. Dimensional data and scaled drawings as applicable to show that the submitted 
equipment will fit the space available with all required Code and maintenance 
clearances clearly indicated and labeled at a minimum scale of 1/4" = 1'-0", as 
required to demonstrate that the alternate or substituted product will fit in the 
space available.

6. Identification of each item of material or equipment matching that indicated on 
the Drawings.

7. Sufficient pictorial, descriptive and diagrammatic data on each item to show its 
conformance with the Drawings and Specifications.  Any options or special 
requirements or accessories shall be so indicated.  All applicable information 
shall be clearly indicated with arrows or another approved method.

8. Additional information as required in other Sections of this Division.
9. Certification by the General Contractor and Subcontractor that the material 

submitted is in accordance with the Drawings and Specifications, signed and 
dated in long hand.  Submittals that do not comply with the above requirements 
shall be returned to the Contractor and shall be marked "REVISE AND 
RESUBMIT".

B. Refer to Division 00 and Division 01 for additional information on shop drawings and 
submittals.

C. Equipment and materials submittals and shop drawings will be reviewed for compliance 
with design concept only.  It will be assumed that the submitting Contractor has verified 
that all items submitted can be installed in the space allotted.  Review of shop drawings 
and submittals shall not be considered as a verification or guarantee of measurements or 
building conditions.

D. Where shop drawings and submittals are marked "REVIEWED", the review of the 
submittal does not indicate that submittals have been checked in detail nor does it in any 
way relieve the Contractor from his responsibility to furnish material and perform work as 
required by the Contract Documents.

E. Shop drawings shall be reviewed and returned to the Contractor with one of the following 
categories indicated:

1. REVIEWED:  Contractor need take no further submittal action, shall include this 
submittal in the O&M manual and may order the equipment submitted on.

2. REVIEWED AS NOTED:  Contractor shall submit a letter verifying that required 
exceptions to the submittal have been received and complied with including 
additional accessories or coordination action as noted, and shall include this 
submittal and compliance letter in the O&M manual.  The contractor may order 
the equipment submitted on at the time of the returned submittal providing the 
Contractor complies with the exceptions noted.

3. NOT APPROVED:  Contractor shall resubmit new submittal on material, 
equipment or method of installation when the alternate or substitute is not 

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 226



16-1010 / WCCHD Renovations 23 02 00 - 9 BASIC MATERIALS AND METHODS

approved.  The Contractor will automatically be required to furnish the product, 
material or method named in the Specifications and/or Drawings.  Contractor 
shall not order equipment that is not approved.  Repetitive requests for 
substitutions will not be considered.

4. REVISE AND RESUBMIT:  Contractor shall resubmit new submittal on material, 
equipment or method of installation when the alternate or substitute is marked 
revise and resubmit.  The Contractor will automatically be required to furnish the 
product, material or method named in the Specifications and/or provide as noted 
on previous shop drawings.  Contractor shall not order equipment marked revise 
and resubmit.  Repetitive requests for substitutions will not be considered.

5. CONTRACTOR’S CERTIFICATION REQUIRED:  Contractor shall resubmit 
submittal on material, equipment or method of installation. The Contractor’s 
stamp is required stating that the submittal meets all conditions of the Contract 
Documents.  The stamp shall be signed by the General Contractor.  The 
submittal will not be reviewed if the stamp is not placed and signed on all shop 
drawings.

6. MANUFACTURER NOT AS SPECIFIED:  Contractor shall resubmit new 
submittal on material, equipment or method of installation when the alternate or 
substitute is marked manufacturer not as specified.  The Contractor will 
automatically be required to furnish the product, material or method named in the 
Specifications.  Contractor shall not order equipment when submittal is marked 
manufacturer not as specified.  Repetitive requests for substitutions will not be 
considered.

F. Materials and equipment which are purchased or installed without submittal review shall 
be at the risk of the Contractor and the cost for removal and replacement of such 
materials and equipment and related work which is judged unsatisfactory by the Owner or 
Engineer for any reason shall be at the expense of the Contractor.  The responsible 
Contractor shall remove the material and equipment noted above and replace with 
specified equipment or material at his own expense when directed in writing by the 
Architect or Engineer.

G. Shop Drawing Submittals shall be complete and checked prior to submission to the 
Engineer for review.

H. Submittals are required for, but not limited to, the following items:

1. Pipe Material and Specialties.
2. Pipe Fabrication Drawings.
3. Basic Materials.
4. Variable Air Volume Boxes.
5. Air Handling Units.
6. Cooling Towers.
7. Chillers.
8. Air Cooled Condensing Units.
9. Water Treatment.
10. Expansion Compensation.
11. Variable Frequency Drives.
12. Noise and Vibration Controls.
13. HVAC Pipe and Duct Insulation.
14. Hydronic Valves.
15. Hydronic Piping and Accessories.
16. Hydronic Pumps.
17. Roof-Top A/C Units.
18. Heating Water Boiler.
19. Portable Pipe Hangers and Equipment Supports.

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 227



16-1010 / WCCHD Renovations 23 02 00 - 10 BASIC MATERIALS AND METHODS

20. Duct Specialties.
21. Duct Fabrication Drawings.
22. Air Distribution Devices.
23. Fan Coil Units.
24. Filters.
25. Fans.
26. Fire Dampers and Fire Smoke Dampers.
27. Temperature Controls and Control Sequences.
28. Test, Adjust and Balance Reports.
29. Testing, Adjusting and Balancing Contractor Qualifications.
30. Coordination Drawings.

I. Refer to other Division 23 sections for additional submittal requirements.  Provide 
samples of actual materials and/or equipment to be used on the Project upon request of 
the Owner or Engineer.

1.14 COORDINATION DRAWINGS

A. Prepare coordination drawings to a scale of 1/4"=1'-0" or larger; detailing major elements, 
components, and systems of mechanical equipment and materials in relationship with 
other systems, installations, and building components.  Indicate locations where space is 
limited for installation and access, and where sequencing and coordination of installations 
are of importance to the efficient flow of the Work, including (but not necessarily limited 
to) the following:

1. Indicate the proposed locations of pipe, duct, equipment, and other materials.  
Include the following:
a. Wall and type locations.
b. Clearances for installing and maintaining insulation.
c. Locations of light fixtures and sprinkler heads.
d. Clearances for servicing and maintaining equipment, including tube 

removal, filter removal, and space for equipment disassembly required 
for periodic maintenance.

e. Equipment connections and support details.
f. Exterior wall and foundation penetrations.
g. Routing of storm and sanitary sewer piping.
h. Fire-rated wall and floor penetrations.
i. Sizes and location of required concrete pads and bases.
j. Valve stem movement.
k. Structural floor, wall and roof opening sizes and details.

2. Indicate scheduling, sequencing, movement, and positioning of large equipment 
into the building during construction.

3. Prepare floor plans, elevations, and details to indicate penetrations in floors, 
walls, and ceilings and their relationship to other penetrations and installations.

4. Prepare reflected ceiling plans to coordinate and integrate installations, air 
distribution devices, light fixtures, communication systems components, and 
other ceiling-mounted items.

B. This Contractor shall be responsible for coordination of all items that will affect the 
installation of the work of this Division.  This coordination shall include, but not be limited 
to:  voltage, ampacity, capacity, electrical and piping connections, space requirements, 
sequence of construction, building requirements and special conditions.

C. By submitting coordination drawings on the project, this Contractor is indicating that all 
necessary coordination has been completed and that the systems, products and 

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 228



16-1010 / WCCHD Renovations 23 02 00 - 11 BASIC MATERIALS AND METHODS

equipment submitted can be installed in the building and will operate as specified and 
intended, in full coordination with all other Contractors and Subcontractors.

1.15 RECORD DOCUMENTS

A. Prepare Record Documents in accordance with the requirements in Special Project 
Requirements, in addition to the requirements specified in Division 23, indicate the 
following installed conditions:

1. Duct mains and branches, size and location, for both exterior and interior; 
locations of dampers, fire dampers, duct access panels, and other control 
devices; filters, fuel fired heaters, fan coils, condensing units, and roof-top A/C 
units requiring periodic maintenance or repair.

2. Mains and branches of piping systems, with valves and control devices located 
and numbered, concealed unions located, and with items requiring maintenance 
located (i.e., traps, strainers, expansion compensators, tanks, etc.).  Valve 
location diagrams, complete with valve tag chart.  Indicate actual inverts and 
horizontal locations of underground piping.

3. Equipment locations (exposed and concealed), dimensioned from prominent 
building lines.

4. Approved substitutions, Contract Modifications, and actual equipment and 
materials installed.

5. Contract Modifications, actual equipment and materials installed.

B. Engage the services of a Land Surveyor or Professional Engineer registered in the state 
in which the project is located as specified herein to record the locations and invert 
elevations of underground installations.

C. The Contractor shall maintain a set of clearly marked black line record "AS-BUILT" prints 
on the job site on which he shall mark all work details, alterations to meet site conditions 
and changes made by "Change Order" notices.  These shall be kept available for 
inspection by the Owner, Architect or Engineer at all times.

  
D. Refer to Division 00 and Division 01 for additional requirements concerning Record 

Drawings.  If the Contractor does not keep an accurate set of as-built drawings, the pay 
request may be altered or delayed at the request of the Architect.  Mark the drawings with 
a colored pencil. Delivery of as-built prints and reproducibles is a condition of substantial 
completion.

E. The record prints shall be updated on a daily basis and shall indicate accurate 
dimensions for all buried or concealed work, precise locations of all concealed pipe or 
duct, locations of all concealed valves, controls and devices and any deviations from the 
work shown on the Construction Documents which are required for coordination.  All 
dimensions shall include at least two dimensions to permanent structure points.

F. Submit three prints of the tracings for review.  Make corrections to tracings as directed 
and deliver "Auto Positive Tracings" to the Architect.  "As-Built" drawings shall be 
furnished in addition to submittals.

G. When the option described in paragraph F above is not exercised, then upon completion 
of the Work, the Contractor shall transfer all marks from the tracings and submit a set of 
clear concise reproducible record "AS-BUILT" drawings and shall submit the reproducible 
drawings with corrections made by a competent draftsman and three (3) sets of black line 
prints to the Architect or Engineer for review prior to scheduling the final inspection at the 
completion of the Work.  The reproducible record "AS-BUILT" drawings shall have the 
Engineer’s Name and Seal removed or blanked out and shall be clearly marked and 

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 229



16-1010 / WCCHD Renovations 23 02 00 - 12 BASIC MATERIALS AND METHODS

signed on each sheet as follows:

CERTIFIED RECORD DRAWINGS

DATE:

(NAME OF GENERAL CONTRACTOR)

BY:_______________________________
(SIGNATURE)

(NAME OF SUBCONTRACTOR)

BY:_______________________________
 (SIGNATURE)

1.16 OPERATING AND MAINTENANCE MANUALS

A. Prepare operating and maintenance manuals in accordance with Division 00 and Division 
01 and, in addition to the requirements specified in those Divisions, include the following 
information for equipment items:

1. Description of function, normal operating characteristics and limitations, 
performance curves, engineering data and tests, and complete nomenclature 
and commercial numbers of replacement parts.

2. Manufacturer's printed operating procedures to include start-up, break-in, and 
routine and normal operating instructions; regulation, control, stopping, 
shutdown, and emergency instructions; and summer and winter operating 
instructions.

3. Maintenance procedures for routine preventative maintenance and 
troubleshooting; disassembly, repair, and reassembly; aligning and adjusting 
instructions.

4. Servicing instructions and lubrication charts and schedules.

1.17 CERTIFICATIONS AND TEST REPORTS

A. Submit a detailed schedule for completion and testing of each system indicating 
scheduled dates for completion of system installation and outlining tests to be performed 
and scheduled date for each test.  This detailed completion and test schedule shall be 
submitted at least 90 days before the projected substantial completion date.

B. Test result reporting forms shall be submitted for review no later than the date of the 
detailed schedule.

C. Submit 4 copies of all certifications and test reports to the Architect or Engineer for review 
adequately in advance of substantial completion of the Work to allow for remedial action 
as required to correct deficiencies discovered in equipment and systems.

D. Certifications and test reports to be submitted shall include, but not be limited to, those 
items outlined in Section 23 02 00.

1.18 OPERATING AND MAINTENANCE MANUALS

A. Coordinate with Division 00 and Division 01 for operating and maintenance manual 
requirements.  Unless noted otherwise, bind together in “D ring type” binders (National 

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 230



16-1010 / WCCHD Renovations 23 02 00 - 13 BASIC MATERIALS AND METHODS

model no. 79-883 or equal).  Binders shall be large enough to allow ¼” of spare capacity.  
Three (3) sets of all reviewed submittals, fabrication drawings, bulletins, maintenance 
instructions, operating instructions and parts exploded views and lists for each and every 
piece of equipment furnished under these Specifications.  All sections shall be typed and 
indexed into sections and labeled for easy reference and shall utilize the individual 
specification section numbers shown in the Mechanical Specifications as an organization 
guideline.  Bulletins containing information about equipment that is not installed on the 
project shall be properly marked up or stripped and reassembled.  All pertinent 
information required by the Owner for proper operation and maintenance of equipment 
supplied by Division 23 shall be clearly and legibly set forth in memoranda that shall, 
likewise, be bound with bulletins.

B. Prepare maintenance manuals in accordance with Special Project Conditions. In addition 
to the requirements specified in Division 23, include the following information for 
equipment items:

1. Identifying names, name tag designations and locations for all equipment.
2. Valve tag lists with valve number, type, color coding, location and function.
3. Reviewed submittals with exceptions noted compliance letter.
4. Fabrication drawings.
5. Equipment and device bulletins and data sheets clearly highlighted to show 

equipment installed on the project and including performance curves and data as 
applicable (i.e., description of function, normal operating characteristics and 
limitations, performance curves, engineering data and tests, and complete 
nomenclature and model numbers of replacement parts).

6. Manufacturer's printed operating procedures to include start-up, break-in, and 
routine and normal operating instructions; regulation, control, stopping, 
shutdown, and emergency instructions; and summer and winter operating 
instructions.

7. Maintenance procedures for routine preventative maintenance and 
troubleshooting; disassembly, repair, and reassembly; aligning and adjusting 
instructions, servicing instructions and lubrication charts and schedules.

8. Equipment and motor name plate data.
9. Wiring diagrams.
10. Exploded parts views and parts lists for all equipment and devices.
11. Color coding charts for all painted equipment and piping.
12. Location and listing of all spare parts and special keys and tools furnished to the 

Owner.
13. Furnish recommended lubrication schedule for all required lubrication points with 

listing of type and approximate amount of lubricant required.

C. Refer to Division 00 and Division 01 for additional information on Operating and 
Maintenance Manuals.

D. Operating and Maintenance Manuals shall be turned over to the Owner or Engineer for 
review a minimum of 14 working days prior to the beginning of the operator training 
period.

1.19 OPERATOR TRAINING 
 

A. The Contractor shall furnish the services of factory trained specialists to instruct the 
Owner's operating personnel.  The Owner's operator training shall include a minimum of 
12 hours of onsite training in three 4 hour shifts.

 
B. Before proceeding with the instruction of Owner Personnel, prepare a typed outline in 

triplicate, listing the subjects that will be covered in this instruction, and submit the outline 

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 231



16-1010 / WCCHD Renovations 23 02 00 - 14 BASIC MATERIALS AND METHODS

for review by the Owner.  At the conclusion of the instruction period, obtain the signature 
of each person being instructed on each copy of the reviewed outline to signify that he 
has a proper understanding of the operation and maintenance of the systems and 
resubmit the signed outlines. 

C. Refer to other Division 23 Sections for additional Operator Training requirements. 

1.20 FINAL COMPLETION

A. At the completion of the Work, all equipment and systems shall be tested and faulty 
equipment and material shall be repaired or replaced.  Refer to Sections of Division 23 
for additional requirements.

B. Clean and adjust all air distribution devices and replace all air filters immediately prior to 
Substantial Completion.

C. Touch up and/or refinish all scratched equipment and devices immediately prior to 
Substantial Completion.

1.21 CONTRACTOR'S GUARANTEE 

A. Use of the HVAC systems to provide temporary service during construction period will not 
be allowed without permission from the Owner in writing; and, if granted, shall not cause 
the warranty period to start, except as defined below.

B. Contractor shall guarantee to keep the entire installation in repair and perfect working 
order for a period of one year after the date of the Substantial Completion, and shall 
furnish (free of additional cost to the Owner) all materials and labor necessary to comply 
with the above guarantee throughout the year beginning from the date of Substantial 
Completion, Beneficial Occupancy by the Owner, or the Certificate of Final Payment as 
agreed upon by all parties. 

 
C. This guarantee shall not include cleaning or changing filters except as required by 

testing, adjusting and balancing. 

D. All air conditioning compressors shall have parts and labor guarantees for a period of not 
less than 5 years beyond the date of Substantial Completion.

 
E. Refer to Sections in Division 23 for additional guarantee or warranty requirements. 

 
1.22 TRANSFER OF ELECTRONIC FILES

A. Project documents are not intended or represented to be suitable for reuse by 
Architect/Owner or others on extensions of this project or on any other project.  Any such 
reuse or modification without written verification or adaptation by Engineer, as 
appropriate for the specific purpose intended, will be at Architect/Owner’s risk and without 
liability or legal exposure to Engineer or its consultants from all claims, damages, losses 
and expense, including attorney’s fees arising out of or resulting thereof.

B. Because data stored in electronic media format can deteriorate or be modified 
inadvertently, or otherwise, without authorization of the data’s creator, the party receiving 
the electronic files agrees that it will perform acceptance tests or procedures within sixty 
(60) days of receipt, after which time the receiving party shall be deemed to have 
accepted the data thus transferred to be acceptable.  Any errors detected within the sixty 
(60) day acceptance period will be corrected by the party delivering the electronic files.  
Engineer is not responsible for maintaining documents stored in electronic media format 
after acceptance by the Architect/Owner.

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 232



16-1010 / WCCHD Renovations 23 02 00 - 15 BASIC MATERIALS AND METHODS

C. When transferring documents in electronic media format, Engineer makes no 
representations as to the long term compatibility, usability or readability of documents 
resulting from the use of software application packages, operating systems, or computer 
hardware differing from those used by Engineer at the beginning of the Project.

D. Any reuse or modifications will be at the Contractor’s sole risk and without liability or legal 
exposure to Architect, Engineer or any consultant.

E. The Texas Board of Architectural Examiners (TBAE) has stated that it is in violation of 
Texas law for persons other than the Architect of record to revise the Architectural 
drawings without the Architect’s written consent.

It is agreed that “MEP” hard copy or computer-generated documents will not be issued to 
any other party except directly to the Architect/Owner.  The Contract Documents are 
contractually copyrighted and cannot be used for any other project or purpose except as 
specifically indicated in AIA B-141 Standard Form of Agreement Between Architect and 
Owner.

If the client, Architect/Owner, or developer of the project requires electronic media for 
“record purposes”, then an AutoCAD based compact disc (“CD”) will be prepared.  The 
“CD” will be submitted with all title block references intact and will be formatted in a “plot” 
format to permit the end user to only view and plot the drawings.  Revisions will not be 
permitted in this configuration.

F. At the Architect/Owner’s request, Engineer will prepare one “CD” of electronic media to 
assist the Contractor in the preparation of submittals.  The Engineer will prepare and 
submit the “CD” to the Architect/Owner for distribution to the Contractor.

The “CD” will be prepared and all title blocks, names and dates will be removed.  The 
“CD” will be prepared in a “.dwg” format to permit the end user to revise the drawings.

PART 2 - PRODUCTS 

2.01 MATERIALS

A. Provide materials and equipment manufactured by a domestic United States 
manufacturer and assembled in the United States for all local and Federal Government 
projects.  These materials and equipment shall comply with “Buy American Act.”

B. Access Doors:  Provide access doors as required for access to equipment, valves, 
controls, cleanouts and other apparatus where concealed.  Access doors shall have 
concealed hinges and screw driver cam locks.

C. All access doors located in wet areas such as restrooms, locker rooms, shower rooms, 
kitchen and any other wet areas shall be constructed of stainless steel.

D. Access Doors: shall be as follows:

1. Plastic Surfaces:  Milcor Style K.
2. Ceramic Tile Surface:  Milcor Style M.
3. Drywall Surfaces:  Milcor Style DW.
4. Install doors only in locations approved by the Architect.

2.02 EQUIPMENT PADS (See 2.04 in Section 26 02 00)

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 233



16-1010 / WCCHD Renovations 23 02 00 - 16 BASIC MATERIALS AND METHODS

PART 3 - EXECUTION

3.01 ROUGH-IN

A. Verify final locations for rough-ins with field measurements and with the requirements of 
the actual equipment to be connected via reviewed submittals.

B. Refer to equipment specifications in Divisions 2 through 48 for additional rough-in 
requirements.

3.02 MECHANICAL INSTALLATIONS

A. General:  Sequence, coordinate, and integrate the various elements of mechanical 
systems, materials, and equipment.  Comply with the following requirements:

1. Coordinate mechanical systems, equipment, and materials installation with other 
building components.

2. Verify all dimensions by field measurements.
3. Arrange for chases, slots, and openings in other building components during 

progress of construction, to allow for mechanical installations.
4. Coordinate the installation of required supporting devices and sleeves to be set 

in poured-in-place concrete and other structural components, as they are 
constructed.

5. Sequence, coordinate, and integrate installations of mechanical materials and 
equipment for efficient flow of the Work.  Give particular attention to large 
equipment requiring positioning prior to closing in the building.

6. Where mounting heights are not detailed or dimensioned, install systems, 
materials, and equipment to provide the maximum headroom possible.

7. Coordinate connection of mechanical systems with exterior underground and 
overhead utilities and services.  Comply with requirements of governing 
regulations, franchised service companies, and controlling agencies.  Provide 
required connection for each service.

8. Install systems, materials, and equipment to conform with architectural action 
markings on submittal, including coordination drawings, to greatest extent 
possible. Conform to arrangements indicated by the Contract Documents, 
recognizing that portions of the Work are shown only in diagrammatic form.  
Where coordination requirements conflict with individual system requirements, 
resolve conflicts and submit proposed solution to the Architect for review.

9. Install systems, materials, and equipment level and plumb, parallel and 
perpendicular to other building systems and components, where installed 
exposed in finished spaces.

10. Install mechanical equipment to facilitate servicing, maintenance, and repair or 
replacement of equipment components.  As much as possible, connect 
equipment for ease of disconnecting, with minimum of interference with other 
installations.  Extend grease fittings to an accessible location and label.

11. Install access doors where units are concealed behind finished surfaces.  Refer 
to paragraph 2.01 in this section and architect for access doors specifications 
and location.

12. Install systems, materials, and equipment giving right-of-way priority to systems 
required to be installed at a specified slope.

13. Provide roof curbs for all roof mounted equipment.  Coordinate with roof 
construction for pitched roof.  Provide roof curbs which match the roof slope and 
provides a level top for equipment installation.  Refer to Architectural drawings 
and details.

14. The equipment to be furnished under these Specifications shall be essentially the 
standard product of the manufacturer.  Where two or more units of the same 

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 234



16-1010 / WCCHD Renovations 23 02 00 - 17 BASIC MATERIALS AND METHODS

class of equipment are required, these units shall be products of a single 
manufacturer; however, the component parts of the system need not be the 
product of the same manufacturer.

15. The Architectural and Structural features of the building and the space limitations 
shall be considered in selection of all equipment. No equipment shall be 
furnished which will not suit the arrangement and space limitations indicated.

16. Lubrication:  Prior to start-up, check and properly lubricate all bearings as 
recommended by the manufacturer.

17. Where the word "Concealed" is used in these Specifications in connection with 
insulating, painting, piping, ducts, etc., it shall be understood to mean hidden 
from sight as in chases, furred spaces or suspended ceilings.  "Exposed" shall be 
understood to mean the opposite of concealed.

18. Identification of Mechanical Equipment:
a. Mechanical equipment shall be identified by means of nameplates 

permanently attached to the equipment.  Nameplates shall be engraved 
laminated plastic or etched metal.  Submittals shall include dimensions 
and lettering format for approval.  Attachment shall be with escutcheon 
pins, self-tapping screws, or machine screws.

b. Tags shall be attached to all valves, including control valves, with 
nonferrous chain.  Tags shall be brass and at least 1-1/2 inches in 
diameter.  Nameplate and tag symbols shall correspond to the 
identification symbols on the temperature control submittal and the "as-
built" drawings.

19. Provide construction filters for all air handling units, fain coil unit, UAV boxes, and 
all other air handling equipment during the entire construction period.

3.03 CUTTING AND PATCHING

A. Protection of Installed Work:  During cutting and patching operations, protect adjacent 
installations.

B. Perform cutting, fitting, and patching of mechanical equipment and materials required to:

1. Uncover Work to provide for installation of ill-timed Work.
2. Remove and replace defective Work.
3. Remove and replace Work not conforming to requirements of the Contract 

Documents.
4. Remove samples of installed Work as specified for testing.
5. Install equipment and materials in existing structures.
6. Upon written instructions from the Engineer, uncover and restore Work to provide 

for Engineer/Owner's observation of concealed Work, without additional cost to 
the Owner.

7. Patch existing finished surfaces and building components using new materials 
matching existing materials and experienced Installers.  Patch finished surfaces 
and building components using new materials specified for the original 
installation and experienced Installers; refer to the materials and methods 
required for the surface and building components being patched; Refer to 
Paragraph 1.11 I for definition of "Installer."

C. Cut, remove and legally dispose of selected mechanical equipment, components, and 
materials as indicated, including but not limited to removal of mechanical piping, 
mechanical ducts and HVAC units, and other mechanical items made obsolete by the 
new Work.

D. Protect the structure, furnishings, finishes, and adjacent materials not indicated or 
scheduled to be removed.

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 235



16-1010 / WCCHD Renovations 23 02 00 - 18 BASIC MATERIALS AND METHODS

E. Provide and maintain temporary partitions or dust barriers adequate to prevent the 
spread of dust and dirt to adjacent areas.

3.04 WORK SEQUENCE, TIMING, COORDINATION WITH OWNER, ARCHITECT AND ENGINEER

A. The Owner will cooperate with the Contractor, however, the following provisions must be 
observed:

1. A meeting will be held at the project site, prior to any construction, between the 
Owner's Representative, the General Contractor, the Sub-Contractors and the 
Engineer to discuss Contractor's employee parking space, access, storage of 
equipment or materials, and use of the Owner's facilities or utilities.  The Owner's 
decisions regarding such matters shall be final.

2. During the construction of this project, normal facility activities will continue in 
existing buildings until renovated areas are completed.  Plumbing, fire protection, 
lighting, electrical, communications, heating, air conditioning, and ventilation 
systems shall be maintained in service within the occupied spaces of the existing 
building.

3. Contractor shall not start-up any of the HVAC equipment unless the Owner, 
Architect and Engineer are signed off.

4. Start-up for major HVAC equipment such as chillers, cooling towers, variable 
frequency drives and hot water boilers shall be performed by a factory technician.  
The start-up shall include a written report signed off by Contractor, Engineer and 
Owner.

3.05 DEMOLITION AND WORK WITHIN EXISTING BUILDINGS

A. In the preparation of these documents every effort has been made to show the 
approximate locations of, and connections to, the existing piping, duct, equipment and 
other apparatus related to this phase of the Work.  However, this Contractor shall be 
responsible for verifying all of the above information.  This Contractor shall visit the 
existing site to inspect the facilities and related areas.  This Contractor shall inspect and 
verify all details and requirements of all the Contract Documents, prior to the submission 
of a proposal.  All discrepancies between the Contract Documents and actual job-site 
conditions shall be resolved by the contractor, who shall produce drawings that shall be 
submitted to the Architect/Engineer for review.  All labor and materials required to 
perform the work described shall be a part of this Contract.

B. All equipment and/or systems noted on the Drawings "To Remain" shall be inspected and 
tested on site to certify its working condition.  A written report on the condition of all 
equipment to remain, including a copy of the test results and recommended remedial 
actions and costs shall be made by this Contractor to the Architect/Engineer for review.

C. All equipment and/or systems noted on the Drawings "To Be Removed" shall be removed 
including, associated pipe and duct, pipe and duct hangers and/or line supports.  Where 
duct or pipe is to be capped for future or end of line use, it shall be properly tagged with 
its function or service appropriately identified.  Where existing equipment is to be 
removed or relocated and has an electric motor or connection, the Electrical Contractor 
shall disconnect motor or connection, remove wiring to a safe point and this Contractor 
shall remove or relocate motor or connection along with the equipment.

D. During construction and remodeling, portions of the Project shall remain in service.  
Construction equipment, material, tools, extension cords, etc., shall be arranged so as to 
present minimum hazard or interruption to the occupants of the building.  None of the 
construction work shall interfere with the proper operation of the existing facility; or be so 

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 236



16-1010 / WCCHD Renovations 23 02 00 - 19 BASIC MATERIALS AND METHODS

conducted as to cause harm or danger to persons on the premises.  All fire exits, stairs or 
corridors required for proper access, circulation or exit shall remain clear of equipment, 
materials or debris.  The General Contractor shall maintain barricades, other separations 
in corridors and other spaces where work is conducted.

E. Certain work during the demolition and construction phases may require overtime or night 
time shifts or temporary evacuation of the occupants.  Coordinate and schedule all 
proposed down time with the Owner at least seventy-two (72) hours in advance in writing.

F. Any salvageable equipment as determined by the Owner, shall be delivered to the 
Owner, and placed in storage at the location of his choice.  All other debris shall be 
removed from the site immediately.

G. Equipment, piping or other potential hazards to the occupants of the building shall not be 
left overnight outside of the designated working or construction area.

H. Make every effort to minimize damage to the existing building and the Owner's property.  
Repair, patch or replace as required any damage that occurs as a result of work at the 
site.  Care shall be taken to minimize interference with the Owner's activities during 
construction and to keep construction disrupted areas to a minimum.  Coordinate with the 
Owner and other trades in scheduling and performance of the work.

I. Include in the contract price all rerouting of existing pipe, duct, etc., and the reconnecting 
of the existing equipment as necessitated by field conditions to allow the installation of 
the new systems regardless of whether or not such rerouting, reconnecting or relocating 
is shown on the Drawings.  Furnish all temporary pipe, duct, controls, etc., as required to 
maintain heating, cooling, and ventilation services for the existing areas with a minimum 
of interruption.

J. All existing pipe, duct, materials, equipment, controls and appurtenances not included in 
the remodel or alteration areas are to remain in place.

K. Pipe, duct, equipment and controls serving mechanical and other Owner's equipment, 
etc., which is to remain but is served by pipe, duct, equipment and controls that are 
disturbed by the remodeling work, shall be reconnected in such a manner as to leave this 
equipment in proper operating condition.

L. No portion of the fire protection systems shall be turned off, modified or changed in any 
way without the express knowledge and written permission of the Owner’s representative 
in order to protect systems that shall remain in service.

M. It is the intention of this Section of the Specifications to outline minimum requirements to 
furnish the Owner with a turn-key and operating system in cooperation with other trades 
with a minimum of disruption or downtime.

N. Refer to Architectural Demolition and/or Alteration plans for actual location of walls, 
ceilings, etc., being removed and/or remodeled.

END OF SECTION

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 237



16-1010 / WCCHD Renovations 23 05 13 - 1 COMMON MOTOR REQUIREMENTS 
FOR HVAC EQUIPMENT

SECTION 23 05 13
COMMON MOTOR REQUIREMENTS FOR HVAC EQUIPMENT

PART 1 - GENERAL

1.01 GENERAL REQUIREMENTS

A. The requirements of the General Conditions and Supplementary Conditions apply to all 
work herein.

B. The Basic Materials and Methods, Section 23 02 00, are included as a part of this 
Section as though written in full in this document.

1.02 SCOPE

A. Scope of the Work shall include the furnishing and complete installation of the equipment 
covered by this Section, with all auxiliaries, ready for owner's use.

B. WORK SPECIFIED ELSEWHERE:

1. Painting
2. Automatic temperature controls.
3. Power control wiring to motors and equipment.

1.03 WARRANTY

Warrant the Work specified herein for one year and motors for five years beginning on the date of 
substantial completion against becoming unserviceable or causing an objectionable appearance 
resulting from either defective or nonconforming materials and workmanship.

1.04 SUBMITTALS

A. SHOP DRAWINGS:  Indicate size material, and finish.  Show locations and installation 
procedures.  Include details of joints, attachments, and clearances.

B. PRODUCT DATA:  Submit schedules, charts, literature, and illustrations to indicate the 
performance, fabrication procedures variations, and accessories.

C. MOTOR NAMEPLATE INFORMATION:  Manufacturer's name, address, utility and 
operating data.

D. Refer to Division One for additional information.

1.05 DELIVERY AND STORAGE

A. DELIVERY:  Deliver clearly labeled, undamaged materials in the manufacturers' 
unopened containers.

B. TIME AND COORDINATION:  Deliver materials to allow for minimum storage time at the 
project site.  Coordinate delivery with the scheduled time of installation.

C. STORAGE:  Store materials in a clean, dry location, protected from weather and abuse.

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 238



16-1010 / WCCHD Renovations 23 05 13 - 2 COMMON MOTOR REQUIREMENTS 
FOR HVAC EQUIPMENT

PART 2 - PRODUCTS

2.01 ELECTRIC MOTORS

A. APPROVED MANUFACTURERS:  Provide motors by a single manufacturer as much as 
possible.

1. Baldor
2. Marathon
3. Siemens-Allis
4. General Electric

B. TEMPERATURE RATING:  Provide insulation as follows:

1. CLASS B:  40 degrees C maximum.
2. CLASS F:

a. Between 40 degrees C and 65 degrees C maximum.
b. Totally enclosed motors.

C. STARTING CAPABILITY:  As required for service indicated five starts minimum per hour.

D. PHASES AND CURRENT:  Verify electrical service compatibility with motors to be used.

1. UP TO 1/2 HP:  Provide permanent split, capacitor-start single phase with 
inherent overload protection.

2. 3/4 HP AND LARGER:  Provide squirrel-cage induction polyphone.
3. Provide two separate windings on 2-speed polyphone motors.
4. Name plate voltage shall be the same as the circuit's normal voltage, serving the 

motor.

E. SERVICE FACTOR:  1.15 for polyphase; 1.35 for single phase.

F. FRAMES:  U-frames 1.5 hp. and larger.

G. BEARINGS:  Provide sealed re-greasable ball bearings; with top mounted zerc 
lubrication fittings and bottom side drains minimum average life 100,000 hours typically, 
and others as follows:

1. Design for thrust where applicable.
2. PERMANENTLY SEALED:  Where not accessible for greasing.
3. SLEEVE-TYPE WITH OIL CUPS:  Light duty fractional hp. motors or polyphase 

requiring minimum noise level.

H. ENCLOSURE TYPE:  Provide enclosures as follows:

1. CONCEALED INDOOR:  Open drip proof.
2. EXPOSED INDOOR:  Guarded.
3. OUTDOOR TYPICAL:  Type II.  TEC.
4. OUTDOOR WEATHER PROTECTED:  Type I.  TEA.

I. OVERLOAD PROTECTION:  Built-in sensing device for stopping motor in all phase legs 
and signaling where indicated for fractional horse power motors.

J. NOISE RATING:  "Quiet" except where otherwise indicated.

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 239



16-1010 / WCCHD Renovations 23 05 13 - 3 COMMON MOTOR REQUIREMENTS 
FOR HVAC EQUIPMENT

K. EFFICIENCY:  Minimum full load efficiency listed in the following table, when tested in 
accordance with IEEE Test Procedure 112A, Method B, including stray load loss 
measure.

NEMA Efficiency
Motor Horsepower INDEX Letter Minimum Efficiency %

1800 RPM Synchronous Speed
7.5-10 F 89.5
15-20 E 91.0
25-30 E 92.4
40 D 93.0
50 C 93.0
60 C 93.6
75 C 94.1
100-125 B 94.5
150-200 B 95.0

1200 RPM Synchronous Speed
3-5 G 87.5
7.5 G 89.5
10 F 89.5
15 F 90.2
20 E 90.2
25-30 E 91.7
40-50 D 93.0
60 D 93.6
75 C 93.6
100-125 C 94.1
150-200 B 95.0

2.02 MOTOR CONTROLLERS (STARTERS)

A. All motor controllers (for equipment furnished under Division 23) shall be furnished under 
Division 23 and installed under Division 26 unless otherwise noted on the plans.

1. Starters shall be provided for 3 phase motors 3/4 horsepower and greater.

B. Motor starters shall be furnished as follows.

1. GENERAL:  Motor starters shall be Square D Company Class 8536 across-the-
line magnetic type, full-voltage, non-reversing (FAVOR) starter.  All starters shall 
be constructed and tested in accordance with the latest NEMA standards, sizes 
and horsepower.  ICE sizes are not acceptable.  Starters shall be mounted in a 
general purpose dead front, painted steel enclosure and surface-mounted.  
Provide size and number of poles as shown and required by equipment served.  
Provide two speed, two winding or two speed, single winding motor starter as 
required for two speed motors.

2. CONTACTS:  Magnetic starter contacts shall be double break solid silver alloy.  
All contacts shall be replaceable without removing power wiring or removing 
starter from panel.  The starter shall have straight-through wiring.

3. OPERATING COILS:  Operating coils shall be 120 volts and shall be of molded 
construction.  When the coil fails, the starter shall open and shall not lock in the 
closed position.

4. OVERLOAD RELAYS:  Provide manual reset, trip-free Class 20 overload relays 
in each phase conductor in of all starters.  Overload relays shall be melting alloy 

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 240



16-1010 / WCCHD Renovations 23 05 13 - 4 COMMON MOTOR REQUIREMENTS 
FOR HVAC EQUIPMENT

type with visual trip indication.  All 3 phase and single phase starters shall have 
one overload relay in each underground conductor.  Relay shall not be field 
adjustable from manual to automatic reset.  Provide 6 overload relays for two 
speed motor starters.

5. PILOT LIGHTS:  Provide a red running pilot light for all motor starters.  Pilot lights 
shall be mounted in the starter enclosure cover.  Pilot lights shall be operated 
from an interlock on the motor starter and shall not be wired across the operating 
coil.

6. CONTROLS:  Provide starters with HAND-OFF-AUTOMATIC switches.  
Coordinate additional motor starter controls with the requirements of Division 23.  
Motor starter controls shall be mounted in the starter enclosure cover.

7. CONTROL POWER TRANSFORMER:  Provide a single-phase 480 volt control 
power transformer with each starter for 120 volt control power.  Connect the 
primary side to the line side of the motor starter.  The primary side shall be 
protected by a fuse for each conductor.  The secondary side shall have one leg 
fused and one leg grounded.  Arrange transformer terminals so that wiring to 
terminals will not be located above the transformer.

8. AUXILIARY CONTACTS:  Each starter shall have one normally open and one 
normally closed convertible auxiliary contact in addition to the number of contacts 
required for the "holding interlock", remote monitoring, and control wiring.  In 
addition, it shall be possible to field-install three more additional auxiliary contacts 
without removing existing wiring or removing the starter from its enclosure.

9. UNIT WIRING:  Unit shall be completely pre-wired to terminals to eliminate any 
interior field wiring except for line and load power wiring and HVAC control 
wiring.

10. ENCLOSURES:  All motor starter enclosures shall be NEMA 1, general purpose 
enclosures or NEMA-3R if mounted exposed to high moisture conditions.  
Provide NEMA 4X when located by cooling towers.

11. POWER MONITOR:  Provide a square "D" 8430 MPS phase failure and under-
voltage relay, base and wiring required for starters serving all 3 phase motors.  
Set the under-voltage setting according to minimum voltage required for the 
motor to operate within its range.

C. APPROVED MANUFACTURERS:  Controller numbers are based on first named 
manufacturer.  Provide one of the following manufacturer's.

1. Siemens.
2. Square D.
3. General Electric.
4. Eaton. 

PART 3 - EXECUTION

3.01 All equipment shall be installed in accordance with the manufacturers’ recommendations and 
printed installation instructions.

3.02 All items required for a complete and proper installation are not necessarily indicated on the plans 
or in the specifications.  Contractors’ price shall include all items required as per manufacturers’ 
requirements.

3.03 INSTALLATION

A. GENERAL: Install in a professional manner.  Any part or parts not meeting this 
requirement shall be replaced or rebuilt without extra expense to Owner.

B. Install rotating equipment in static and dynamic balance.

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 241



16-1010 / WCCHD Renovations 23 05 13 - 5 COMMON MOTOR REQUIREMENTS 
FOR HVAC EQUIPMENT

C. Provide foundations, supports, and isolators properly adjusted to allow minimum vibration 
transmission within the building.

D. Correct objectionable noise or vibration transmission in order to operate equipment 
satisfactorily as determined by the Engineer.

END OF SECTION

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 242



16-1010 / WCCHD Renovations 23 05 29 - 1                           HANGERS AND SUPPORT FOR 
                                    PIPING AND EQUIPMENT HVAC

SECTION 23 05 29
HANGERS AND SUPPORTS FOR PIPING AND EQUIPMENT - HVAC

PART 1 - GENERAL

1.01 GENERAL REQUIREMENTS

A. The requirements of the General Conditions and Supplementary Conditions apply to all 
work herein.

B. Section 23 02 00 - Basic Materials and Methods is included as a part of this Section as 
though written in full in this document.

1.02 WORK INCLUDED

A. Pipe, and equipment hangers, supports and associated anchors.

B. Sleeves and seals.

C. Flashing and sealing equipment and pipe stacks.

1.03 RELATED WORK

A. Section 21 00 00 – Fire Suppression.

B. Section 22 10 00 – Plumbing Piping and Pumps.

C. Section 23 05 48 – Vibration and Seismic Controls for HVAC Piping and Equipment.

D. Section 23 07 16 – HVAC Equipment Insulation. 

1.04 REFERENCES

A. ANSI/ASME B31.1 - Power Piping.

B. NFPA 13 - Standard for the Installation of Sprinkler Systems.

C. NFPA 14 - Standard for the Installation of Standpipe and Hose Systems.

1.05 QUALITY ASSURANCE

A. Supports for Sprinkler Piping: In conformance with NFPA 13.

B. Supports for Standpipes: In conformance with NFPA 14.

1.06 SUBMITTALS

A. Submit shop drawings and product data under provisions of Division One.

B. Indicate hanger and support framing and attachment methods.

PART 2 - PRODUCTS

2.01 PIPE HANGERS AND SUPPORTS

A. Hangers for Pipe Sizes 1/2 to 1-1/2 Inch: Malleable iron, adjustable swivel, split ring.

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 243



16-1010 / WCCHD Renovations 23 05 29 - 2                           HANGERS AND SUPPORT FOR 
                                    PIPING AND EQUIPMENT HVAC

B. Multiple or Trapeze Hangers: Steel channels with welded spacers and hanger rods; cast 
iron roller and stand for pipe sizes 6 inches and over.

C. Vertical Support: Steel riser clamp.

D. Copper Pipe Support and Hangers:  Electro-galvanized with thermoplastic elastomer 
cushions; Unistrut “Cush-A-Clamp” or equal.    Hangers:  Plastic coated; Unistrut or 
equal.

E. For installation of protective shields refer to Section 22 05 29.

F. Shields for Vertical Copper Pipe Risers: Sheet lead.

G. Pipe Rough-In Supports in Walls/Chases:  Provide preformed plastic pipe supports, 
Sioux Chief “Pipe Titan” or equal.

2.02 HANGER RODS

A. Galvanized Hanger Rods: Threaded both ends, threaded one end, or continuous 
threaded.

2.03 INSERTS

A. Inserts: Malleable iron case with galvanized steel shell and expander plug for threaded 
connection with lateral adjustment, top slot for reinforcing rods, lugs for attaching to 
forms; size inserts to suit threaded hanger rods.

2.04 FLASHING

A. Metal Flashing: 20 gage galvanized steel.

B. Lead Flashing: 4 lb. /sq. ft. sheet lead for waterproofing; 1 lb. /sq. ft. sheet lead for 
soundproofing.

C. Caps: Steel, 20 gage minimum; 16 gage at fire resistant elements.

D. Coordinate with roofing contractor/Architect for type of flashing on metal roofs.

2.05 EQUIPMENT CURBS

A. Fabricate curbs of hot dipped galvanized steel.

B. For metal roof construction, roof curbs shall be made of aluminum or stainless steel.  
Coordinate with Architectural Drawings and details.

2.06 SLEEVES

A. Sleeves for Pipes through Non-fire Rated Floors: Form with 18 gage galvanized steel, 
tack welded to form a uniform sleeve.

B. Sleeves for Pipes through Non-fire Rated Beams, Walls, Footings, and Potentially Wet 
Floors: Form with steel pipe, Schedule 40.

C. Sleeves for Pipes through Fire Rated and Fire Resistive Floors and Walls, and 
Fireproofing: Prefabricated fire rated steel sleeves including seals, UL listed.

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 244



16-1010 / WCCHD Renovations 23 05 29 - 3                           HANGERS AND SUPPORT FOR 
                                    PIPING AND EQUIPMENT HVAC

D. Sleeves for Round Ductwork: Form with galvanized steel.

E. Sleeves for Rectangular Ductwork: Form with galvanized steel.

F. Fire Stopping Insulation: Glass fiber type, non-combustible, U.L. listed.

G. Caulk: Paintable 25-year acrylic sealant.

H. Pipe Alignment Guides:  Factory fabricated, of cast semi-steel or heavy fabricated steel, 
consisting of bolted, two-section outer cylinder and base with two-section guiding spider 
that bolts tightly to pipe.  Length of guides shall be as recommended by manufacturer to 
allow indicated travel.

2.07 FABRICATION

A. Size sleeves large enough to allow for movement due to expansion and contraction.  
Provide for continuous insulation wrapping.

B. Design hangers without disengagement of supported pipe.

C. Design roof supports without roof penetrations, flashing or damage to the roofing 
material.

2.08 FINISH

A. Prime coat exposed steel hangers and supports.  Hangers and supports located in crawl 
spaces, pipe shafts, and suspended ceiling spaces are not considered exposed.

PART 3 - EXECUTION

3.01 INSERTS

A. Provide inserts for suspending hangers from reinforced concrete slabs and sides of 
reinforced concrete beams.  Coordinate with Structural Engineer for placement of inserts.

B. Provide hooked rod to concrete reinforcement section for inserts carrying pipe over 4 
inches.

C. Where concrete slabs form finished ceiling, provide inserts to be flush with slab surface.

D. Where inserts are omitted, drill through concrete slab from below and provide thru-bolt 
with recessed square steel plate and nut recessed into and grouted flush with slab.  
Verify with Structural Engineer prior to start of work.

3.02 PIPE HANGERS AND SUPPORTS

A. Support horizontal piping as follows:

PIPE SIZE MAX. HANGER SPACING HANGER DIAMETER

 (Copper Pipe)
1/2 to 1-1/4 inch 5'-0" 3/8"

1-1/2 to 2-1/2 inch 8'-0" 3/8"

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 245



16-1010 / WCCHD Renovations 23 05 29 - 4                           HANGERS AND SUPPORT FOR 
                                    PIPING AND EQUIPMENT HVAC

3 to 4 inch 10'-0" 3/8"

6 to 8 inch 10'-0" 1/2"

B. Install hangers to provide minimum 1/2 inch space between finished covering and 
adjacent work.

C. Place a hanger within 12 inches of each horizontal elbow, and at the vertical to horizontal 
transition.

D. Use hangers with 1-1/2 inch minimum vertical adjustment.

E. Where several pipes can be installed in parallel and at same elevation, provide multiple 
or trapeze hangers.

F. Install hangers with nut at base and above hanger; tighten upper nut to hanger after final 
installation adjustments.

G. Portable pipe hanger systems shall be installed per manufacturer’s instructions.

H. Distances between supports are maximum distance. Supports shall be provided to carry 
the pipe/equipment load.

3.03 Insulated Piping:  Comply with the following installation requirements.

A. Clamps:  Attach galvanized clamps, including spacers (if any), to piping with clamps 
projecting through insulation; do not exceed pipe stresses allowed by ASME B31.9.

B. Saddles:  Install galvanized protection saddles MSS Type 39 where insulation without 
vapor barrier is indicated.  Fill interior voids with segments of insulation that match adjoining 
pipe insulation.

C. Shields:  Install protective shields MSS Type 40 on cold and chilled water piping that has 
vapor barrier.  Shields shall span an arc of 180 degrees and shall have dimensions in 
inches not less than the following:

NPS LENGTH THICKNESS

1/4 THROUGH 3-1/2 12 0.048
4 12 0.060
5 & 6 18 0.060
8 THROUGH 14 24 0.075
16 THROUGH 24 24 0.105

D. Piping 2” and larger: provide galvanized sheet metal shields with calcium silicate insulation 
at hangers/supports.

E. Insert material shall be at least as long as the protective shield.

F. Thermal Hanger Shields:  Install where indicated, with insulation of same thickness as 
piping.

3.04 EQUIPMENT BASES AND SUPPORTS

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 246



16-1010 / WCCHD Renovations 23 05 29 - 5                           HANGERS AND SUPPORT FOR 
                                    PIPING AND EQUIPMENT HVAC

A. Provide equipment bases of concrete.

B. Provide templates, anchor bolts, and accessories for mounting and anchoring equipment.

C. Construct support of steel members.  Brace and fasten with flanges bolted to structure.

D. Provide rigid anchors for pipes after vibration isolation components are installed.

3.05 FLASHING

A. Provide flexible flashing and metal counter flashing where piping and ductwork penetrate 
weather or waterproofed walls, floors, and roofs.

B. Flash vent and soil pipes projecting 8 inches minimum above finished roof surface with 
lead worked one inch minimum into hub, 8 inches minimum clear on sides with 24 x 24 
inches sheet size.  For pipes through outside walls, turn flanges back into wall and caulk.  
Provide metal counter flash and seal.

C. Flash floor drains in floors with topping over finished areas with lead, 10 inches clear on 
sides with minimum 36 x 36 inch sheet size.  Fasten flashing to drain clamp device.

D. Seal floor, shower, mop sink, and all other drains watertight to adjacent materials.

E. Provide curbs for mechanical roof installations 8 inches minimum high above roofing 
surface.  Contact Architect for all flashing details and roof construction.  Seal penetrations 
watertight.

3.06 SLEEVES

A. Set sleeves in position in formwork.  Provide reinforcing around sleeves.

B. Extend sleeves through floors minimum one inch above finished floor level.  Caulk 
sleeves full depth with fire rated thermfiber and 3M caulking and provide floor plate.

C. Where piping or ductwork penetrates floor, ceiling, or wall, close off space between pipe 
or duct and adjacent work with U.L. listed fire stopping insulation and caulk seal air tight.  
Provide close fitting metal collar or escutcheon covers at both sides of penetration.

D. Fire protection sleeves may be flush with floor of stairways.

END OF SECTION

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 247



16-1010 / WCCHD Renovations 23 05 48 - 1                VIBRATION AND SEISMIC CONTROLS 
                            FOR HVAC PIPING AND EQUIPMENT

SECTION 23 05 48

VIBRATION AND SEISMIC CONTROLS FOR HVAC PIPING AND EQUIPMENT

PART 1 - GENERAL

1.01 GENERAL REQUIREMENTS

A. The requirements of the General Conditions and Supplementary Conditions apply to all 
work herein.

B. This Section and Section 23 02 00 – Basic Materials and Methods are part of each 
Division 23 Section which references the vibration control products specified herein.

1.02 WORK INCLUDED

A. Vibration and sound control products.

1.03 QUALITY ASSURANCE

A. Manufacturer’s Qualifications:  Firms regularly engaged in manufacture of vibration 
control products of type, size, and capacity required, whose products have been in 
satisfactory use in similar service for not less than 5 years.

B. Vibration and sound control products shall conform to ASHRAE criteria for average noise 
criteria curves for all equipment at full load conditions.

C. Unless otherwise indicated, sound and vibration control products shall be provided by a 
single manufacturer.

1.04 SUBMITTALS

A. SHOP DRAWINGS:  Indicate size, material, and finish.  Show locations and installation 
procedures.  Include details of joints, attachments, and clearances.

B. PRODUCT DATA: Submit schedules, charts, literature, and illustrations to indicate the 
performance, fabrication procedures, product variations, and accessories.

PART 2 - PRODUCTS

2.01 ACCEPTABLE MANUFACTURERS

A. Amber/Booth Company, Inc.

B. Mason Industries, Inc.

C. Noise Control, Inc.

2.02 GENERAL

A. Provide vibration isolation supports for equipment, piping and ductwork, to prevent 
transmission of vibration and noise to the building structure that may cause discomfort to 
the occupants.

B. Model numbers of Amber/Booth products are included for identification.  Products of the 
additional manufacturers will be acceptable provided they comply with all of the 
requirements of this specification.

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 248



16-1010 / WCCHD Renovations 23 05 48 - 2                VIBRATION AND SEISMIC CONTROLS 
                            FOR HVAC PIPING AND EQUIPMENT

2.03 SUSPENDED FANS AND FAN COIL UNITS

A. Provide Amber/Booth type BSS spring hangers sized for 1’’ static deflection.

2.09 CORROSION PROTECTION

A. All vibration isolators shall be designed and treated for resistance to corrosion.

B. Steel components:  PVC coated or phosphated and painted with industrial grade enamel. 
Nuts, bolts, and washers:  zinc-electroplated.

PART 3 - EXECUTION

3.01 All equipment shall be installed in accordance with the manufacturer’s recommendations and 
printed installation instructions.

3.02 All items required for a complete and proper installation are not necessarily indicated on the plans 
or in the specifications.  Provide all items required as per manufacturer’s requirements.

3.03 If internal isolation option is used on air handling units, the mechanical contractor shall verify 
proper adjustment and operation of isolators prior to start-up.  All shipping brackets and 
temporary restraint devices shall be removed.

3.04 The vibration isolation supplier shall certify in writing that he has inspected the installation and 
that all external isolation materials and devices are installed correctly and functioning properly.

END OF SECTION 

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 249



16-1010 / WCCHD Renovations 23 05 53 - 1 IDENTIFICATION FOR HVAC
 PIPING AND EQUIPMENT

SECTION 23 05 53

IDENTIFICATION FOR HVAC EQUIPMENT

PART 1 - GENERAL

1.01 GENERAL REQUIREMENTS

A. The requirements of the General Conditions and Supplementary Conditions apply to all 
work herein.

B. Section 23 02 00 – Basic Materials and Methods is included as a part of this Section as 
though written in full in this document.

1.02 SCOPE

Scope of the Work shall include the furnishing and complete installation of the equipment covered 
by this Section, with all auxiliaries, ready for owner's use.

1.03 Refer to Architectural Sections for additional requirements.

PART 3 - EXECUTION

3.01 All labeling equipment shall be installed as per manufacturer’s printed installation instructions.

3.02 All items required for a complete and proper installation are not necessarily indicated on the plans 
or in the specifications.  Contractors price shall include all items required as per manufacturer’s 
requirements.

END OF SECTION

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 250



16-1010 / WCCHD Renovations 23 05 93 - 1 TESTING, ADJUSTING, AND BALANCING

SECTION 23 05 93
TESTING, ADJUSTING, AND BALANCING

PART 1 - GENERAL

1.01 GENERAL REQUIREMENTS

A. The requirements of the General Conditions and Supplementary Conditions apply to all 
work herein.

B. Section 23 02 00 – Basic Materials and Methods is included as a part of this Section as 
though written in full in this document.

1.02 RELATED DOCUMENTS

Approved submittal date on equipment installed, to accomplish the test procedures, outlined 
under paragraph 3.01 of this Section, will be provided by the Contractor.

1.03 DESCRIPTION

A. The TAB of the air conditioning systems shall be performed by an impartial technical firm 
hired by Owner whose operations are limited only to the field of professional TAB.  The 
TAB work will be done under the direct supervision of a qualified engineer employed by 
the TAB firm.

B. The TAB firm will be responsible for inspecting, adjusting, balancing, and logging the date 
on the performance of fans, dampers in the duct system, and air distribution devices.  
The Contractor and the various Subcontractors of the equipment installed shall cooperate 
with the TAB firm to furnish necessary data on the design and proper applications of the 
system components and provide labor and material required to eliminate deficiencies or 
malperformance.

1.04 QUALITY ASSURANCE

A. QUALIFICATIONS OF CONTRACTOR PERSONNEL:  Submit evidence to show that the 
personnel who shall be in charge of correcting deficiencies for balancing the systems are 
qualified.  The Owner and Engineer reserve the right to require that the originally 
approved personnel be replaced with other qualified personnel if, in the Owner and 
Engineer's opinion, the original personnel are not qualified to properly place the system in 
condition for balancing.

B. QUALIFICATIONS OF TAB FIRM PERSONNEL:

1. A minimum of one registered Professional Engineer licensed in the State, is 
required to be in permanent employment of the firm.

2. Personnel used on the jobsite shall be either Professional Engineers or 
technicians, who shall have been permanent, full time employees of the firm for a 
minimum of six months prior to the start of Work for that specified project.

3. Evidence shall be submitted to show that the personnel who actually balance the 
systems are qualified.  Evidence showing that the personnel have passed the 
tests required by the Associated Air Balance Council (AABC) shall be required.

C. CALIBRATION LIST:  Submit to the Engineer for approval, a list of the gauges, 
thermometers, velometer, and other balancing devices to be used in balancing the 
system. Submit evidence to show that the balancing devices are properly calibrated 

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 251



16-1010 / WCCHD Renovations 23 05 93 - 2 TESTING, ADJUSTING, AND BALANCING

before proceeding with system balancing.

1.05 OPERATIONS PERSONNEL TRAINING

A. Provide a training session for the owner’s operations personnel. Training session shall be 
performed by a qualified person who is knowledgeable in the subject system/equipment. 
Submit a training agenda two (2) weeks prior to the proposed training session for review 
and approval. Training session shall include at the minimum:

1. Purpose of equipment.
2. Principle of how the equipment works.
3. Important parts and assemblies.
4. How the equipment achieves its purpose and necessary operating conditions.
5. Most likely failure modes, causes and corrections.
6. On site demonstration.

PART 2 - PRODUCTS (NOT USED)

PART 3 - EXECUTION

3.01 SERVICES OF THE CONTRACTOR

A. The Drawings and Specifications have indicated valves, dampers, and miscellaneous 
adjustment devices for the purpose of adjustment to obtain optimum operating conditions.  
Install these devices in a manner that leaves them accessible, and provide access as 
requested by the TAB firm.

B. Have systems complete and in operational readiness prior to notifying the TAB firm that 
the project is ready for their services, and certify in writing to the Architect and Owner that 
such a condition exists.

C. As a part of the Work of this Section, make changes in the sheaves, belts, and dampers 
or the addition of dampers required for correct balance of the new work as required by 
the TAB firm, at no additional cost to the Owner.

D. Fully examine the existing system to be balanced, to determine whether or not sufficient 
volume dampers, balancing valves, thermometers, gauges, pressure and temperature 
taps, means of reading static pressure and total pressure in duct systems, means of 
determining water flow, and other means of taking data needed for proper water and air 
balancing are existing.  Submit to the Engineer in writing a listing of omitted items 
considered necessary to balance existing systems.  Submit the list and proposal as a 
cost add item.

E. Verify that fresh air louvers are free of blockage, coils are clean and fresh air ducts to 
each air handling unit have individually adjustable volume regulating dampers.

F. Provide, correct, repair, or replace deficient items or conditions found during the testing, 
adjusting, and balancing period.

G. In order that systems may be properly tested, balanced, and adjusted as specified, 
operate the systems at no expense to the Owner for the length of time necessary to 
properly verify their completion and readiness for TAB period.

H. Project construction schedules shall provide time to permit the successful completion of 
TAB services prior to Substantial Completion.  Complete, operational readiness, prior to 

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 252



16-1010 / WCCHD Renovations 23 05 93 - 3 TESTING, ADJUSTING, AND BALANCING

commencement of TAB services, shall include the following services of the Contractor:

1. Construction status of building shall permit the closing of doors, windows, 
ceilings installed and penetrations complete, to obtain project operating 
conditions.

2. AIR DISTRIBUTION SYSTEMS:
a. Verify installation for conformity to design.  Supply, return, and exhaust 

ducts terminated and pressure tested for leakage as specified.
b. Volume and fire dampers properly located and functional.  Dampers 

serving requirements of minimum and maximum outside air, return and 
relief shall provide tight closure and full opening, smooth and free 
operation.

c. Supply, return, exhaust and transfer grilles, registers and diffusers shall 
be installed.

d. Air handling systems, units and associated apparatus, such as heating 
and cooling coils, filter sections, access doors, etc., shall be blanked and 
sealed to eliminate excessive bypass or leakage of air.

e. Fans (supply and exhaust) operating and verified for freedom from 
vibrations, proper fan rotation and belt tension; overload heater elements 
shall be of proper size and rating; record motor amperage and voltage 
and verify that these functions do not exceed nameplate ratings.

f. Furnish or revise fan drives or motors as necessary to attain the 
specified air volumes.

I. Contractor shall repair any insulation removed from piping system by TAB Contractor 
during water balancing.

3.02 SERVICES OF THE TAB FIRM

A. The TAB firm will act as liaison between the Owner, Engineer, and the Contractor and 
inspect the installation of mechanical piping system, sheet metal work, temperature 
controls and other component parts of the heating, air conditioning and ventilating 
systems being retrofitted, repaired, or added under this Contract.  The reinspection of the 
Work will cover that part related to proper arrangement and adequate provision for the 
testing and balancing and will be done when the Work is 80 percent complete.

B. Upon completion of the installation and start-up of the mechanical equipment, to check, 
adjust, and balance system components to obtain optimum conditions in each 
conditioned space in the building.  Prepare and submit to the Engineer complete reports 
on the balance and operations of the systems.

C. Measurements and recorded readings of air, water, and electricity that appear in the 
reports will be done by the permanently employed technicians or engineers of the TAB 
firm.

D. Make an inspection in the building during the opposite season from that in which the 
initial adjustments were made.  At the time, make necessary modifications to the initial 
adjustments required to produce optimum operation of system components to affect the 
proper conditions as indicated on the Drawings.  At time of opposite season check-out, 
the Owner's representative will be notified before readings or adjustments are made.

E. In fan systems, the air quantities indicated on the Drawings may be varied as required to 
secure a maximum temperature variation of two degrees within each separately 
controlled space, but the total air quantity indicated for each zone must be obtained.  It 
shall be the obligation of the Contractor to furnish or revise fan drive and motors if 
necessary, without cost to the Owner, to attain the specified air volumes.

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 253



16-1010 / WCCHD Renovations 23 05 93 - 4 TESTING, ADJUSTING, AND BALANCING

3.03 PROFESSIONAL REPORT

A. Before the final acceptance of the report is made, the TAB firm will furnish the Engineer 
the following data to be approved by the Owner and Engineer:

1. Summary of main supply, return and exhaust duct pitot tube traverses and fan 
settings indicating minimum value required to achieve specified air volumes.

2. A listing of the measured air quantities at each outlet corresponding to the 
temperature tabulation as developed by the Engineer and TAB firm.

3. Air quantities at each return and exhaust air handling device.
4. Static pressure readings entering and leaving each supply fan, exhaust fan, filter, 

coil, balancing dampers and other components of the systems.  Including the 
retrofit Work.  These readings will be related to performance curves in terms of 
the CFM handled if available.

5. Motor current readings at each equipment motor on load side of capacitors.  The 
voltages at the time of the reading shall be listed.

6. The final report shall certify test methods and instrumentation used, final velocity 
reading obtained, temperatures, pressure drops, RPM of equipment, amperage 
of motors, air balancing problems encountered, recommendations and 
uncompleted punch list items.  The test results will be recorded on standard 
forms.

7. A summary of actual operating conditions shall be included with each system 
outlining normal and ventilation cycles of operation.  the final report will act as a 
reference of actual operating conditions for the Owner's operating personnel.

3.04 BALANCING AIR CONDITIONING SYSTEM

A. GENERAL:

1. Place all equipment into full operation, and continue operating during each 
working day of balancing and testing.  If the air conditioning system is balanced 
during Off-Peak cooling season Contractor shall return to rebalance air side 
system as required to put system in proper balance at that season.

2. The Contractor shall submit detailed balancing and recording forms for approval.  
After approval by the Engineer, prepare complete set of forms for recording test 
data on each system.  All Work shall be done under the supervision of a 
Registered Professional Engineer.  All instruments used shall be accurately 
calibrated to within 1% of scale and maintained in good working order.

3. Upon completion of the balancing and testing, the TAB Contractor shall compile 
the test data in report forms, and forward five copies to the Engineer for 
evaluation.

4. The final report shall contain logged results of all tests, including such data as:
a. Tabulation of air volume at each outlet.
b. Outside dry bulb and wet bulb temperature.
c. Inside dry bulb and wet bulb temperatures in each conditioned space 

room or area.
d. Actual fan capacities and static pressures.  Motor current and voltage 

readings at each fan.

B. AIR SYSTEMS:  Perform the following operations as applicable to balance and test 
systems:

1. Check fan rotation.
2. Check filters (balancing shall be done with clean filters).
3. Test and adjust blower rpm to design requirements.

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 254



16-1010 / WCCHD Renovations 23 05 93 - 5 TESTING, ADJUSTING, AND BALANCING

4. Test and record motor full load amperes.
5. Test and record system static pressures, suction and discharge.
6. Test and adjust system for design cfm, return air and outside air (±2%).  Change-

out fan sheaves as required to balance system.
7. Test and record entering air temperatures, db and wb.
8. Test and record leaving air temperatures, db and wb.
9. Adjust all zones to design cfm (±2%).
10. Test and adjust each diffuser, grille, and register to within 5% of design.

C. AIR DUCT LEAKAGE:  (From SMACNA Duct Standards latest edition)  Test all ductwork 
(designed to handle over 1000 CFM) as follows:

1. Test apparatus
The test apparatus shall consist of:
a. A source of high pressure air--a portable rotary blower or a tank type 

vacuum cleaner.
b. A flow measuring device consisting of straightening vanes and an orifice 

plate mounted in a straight tube with properly located pressure taps.  
Each orifice assembly shall be accurately calibrated with its own 
calibration curve.  Pressure and flow readings shall be taken with U-tube 
manometers.

2. Test Procedures
a. Test for audible leaks as follows:

1) Close off and seal all openings in the duct section to be tested.  
Connect the test apparatus to the duct by means of a section of 
flexible duct.

2) Start the blower with its control damper closed.
3) Gradually open the inlet damper until the duct pressure reaches 

1.2 times the standard designed duct operating pressure.
4) Survey all joints for audible leaks.  Mark each leak and repair 

after shutting down blower.   Do not apply a retest until sealants 
have set.

b. After all audible leaks have been sealed, the remaining leakage should 
be measured with the orifice section of the test apparatus as follows:
1) Start blower and open damper until pressure in duct reaches 

25% in excess of designed duct operating pressure.
2) Read the pressure differential across the orifice on manometer 

No. 2.  If there is no leakage, the pressure differential will be 
zero.

3) Total allowable leakage shall not exceed one (1) percent of the 
total system design air flow rate.   When partial sections of the 
duct system are tested, the summation of the leakage for all 
sections shall not exceed the total allowable leakage.

4) Even though a system may pass the measured leakage test, a 
concentration of leakage at one point may result in a noisy leak 
which must be corrected.

D. DX SYSTEMS:

1. Test and record suction and discharge pressures at each compressor and record 
ambient air temperature entering the condensing coils.

2. Test and record unit full load amps and voltage.
3. Test and record staging and unloading of unit required by sequence of operation 

or drawing schedule.

E. Automatic temperature controls shall be calibrated; and all thermostats and dampers 

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 255



16-1010 / WCCHD Renovations 23 05 93 - 6 TESTING, ADJUSTING, AND BALANCING

adjusted so that the control system is in proper operating condition, subject to the 
approval of the Engineer/Owner.

F. The TAB Contractor shall report to Engineer all air distribution devices or other 
equipment that operate noisily so that corrective measures may be implemented by the 
Contractor at no additional cost to the Owner or Architect/Engineer.

END OF SECTION

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 256



16-1010 / WCCHD Renovations 23 07 13 - 1 DUCT INSULATION

SECTION 23 07 13

DUCT INSULATION

PART 1 - GENERAL

1.01 GENERAL REQUIREMENTS

A. The requirements of the General Conditions and Supplementary Conditions apply to all 
work herein.

B. Section 23 02 00 - Basic Materials and Methods is included as a part of this Section as 
though written in full in this document.

1.02 WORK INCLUDED 

A. Ductwork system insulation.

1.03 RELATED SECTIONS

A. Section 23 05 13 – Common Motor Requirements for HVAC Equipment

B. Section 23 05 53 – Identification for HVAC Equipment

1.04 QUALITY ASSURANCE

A. Installer’s Qualifications:  Firm with at least 5 years successful installation experience on 
projects with mechanical insulations similar to that required for this project.

B. Flame/Smoke Ratings:  Provide composite mechanical insulation (insulation, jackets, 
coverings, sealers, mastics and adhesives) with flame-spread index of 25 or less, and 
smoke-developed index of 50 or less, as tested by ASTM E 84 (NFPA 255) method.

1. Exception:  Outdoor mechanical insulation may have flame spread index of 75 
and smoke developed index of 150.

C. Duct and plenum insulation shall comply with minimum R-value requirements of 2009 
International Energy Conservation Code.

D. Adhesive and other material shall comply with NFPA and NBFU Standards No. 90A and 
90B.

1.05 WARRANTY

A. Warrant the Work specified herein for one year against becoming unserviceable or 
causing an objectionable appearance resulting from either defective, or nonconforming 
materials and workmanship.

B. Defects shall include, but not be limited to, the following:

1. Mildewing.
2. Peeling, cracking, and blistering.
3. Condensation on exterior surfaces.

1.06 SUBMITTALS

A. SHOP DRAWINGS:  Indicate size, material, and finish.  Show locations and installation 

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 257



16-1010 / WCCHD Renovations 23 07 13 - 2 DUCT INSULATION

procedures.  Include details of joints, attachments, and clearances.
B. PRODUCT DATA: Submit schedules, charts, literature, and illustrations to indicate the 

performance, fabrication procedures, product variations, and accessories.

1.07 DELIVERY, STORAGE AND HANDLING

A. Deliver insulation, coverings, cements, adhesives, and coatings to site in unopened 
containers with manufacturer’s stamp, clearly labeled with flame and smoke rating, 
affixed showing fire hazard indexes of products.

B. Protect insulation against dirt, water and chemical and mechanical damage.  Do not 
install damaged or wet insulation; remove such from project site.

PART 2 - PRODUCTS

2.01 GENERAL DESCRIPTION

A. The type of insulation and its installation shall be in strict accordance with these 
specifications for each service, and the application technique shall be as recommended 
by the manufacturer. All insulation types, together with adhesives and finishes shall be 
submitted and approved before any insulation is installed.

B. A sample quantity of each type of insulation and each type of application shall be 
installed and approval secured prior to proceeding with the main body of the Work. 

2.02 ACCEPTABLE MANUFACTURERS

A. Glass fiber materials shall be as manufactured by Knauf, Certain-Teed, Johns-Manville or 
Owens-Corning and shall have the same thermal properties, density, fire rating, vapor 
barrier, etc., as the types specified herein, subject to review by the Engineer.

B. Adhesives shall be as manufactured by Minnesota Mining, Arabol, Benjamin-Foster, 
Armstrong or Insulmastic, Inc., and shall have the same adhesive properties, fire rating, 
vapor seal, etc., as the types specified herein, subject to review by the Engineer.

C. Ceramic fiber materials shall be as manufactured by Primer Refractories, A.P. Green 
Refractories or approved equal.

PART 3 - EXECUTION

3.01 GENERAL

A. All insulation shall be installed in accordance with the manufacturer's recommendations 
and printed installation instructions.

B. All items required for a complete and proper installation are not necessarily indicated on 
the plans or in the specifications.  Provide all items required as per manufacturer's 
requirements.

3.02 EXTERNAL DUCT INSULATION

A. Fasten all longitudinal and circumferential laps with outward clinching staples 3" on 
center. On rectangular ducts over 24" wide apply as above and hold insulation in place 
on bottom side with mechanical pins and clips on 12" centers.

B. Seal all joints, fastener penetrations and other breaks in vapor barrier with 3 inch wide 

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 258



16-1010 / WCCHD Renovations 23 07 13 - 3 DUCT INSULATION

strips of white glass fabric embedded between two coats of vapor barrier mastic, Childers 
CP-30 or approved equal.

C. All external duct insulation shall be Johns Manville Microlite EQ or Microlite XG fiberglass 
duct wrap insulation with reinforced aluminum facing or approved equal.

D. External duct wrap is required on all outside air ducts, supply and return air ducts that are 
not internally insulated.  Duct wrap shall be provided as follows: 

1. 1½” thick, 1.0 PCF density minimum when ducts are located in conditioned 
spaces.

2. 2” thick with a minimum installed R-value of 6 when ducts are located in 
unconditioned spaces, such as ceiling plenum space.

3.03 DUCT LINER

A. Duct liner shall be kept clean and dry during transportation, storage, installation, and 
throughout the construction process care should be taken to protect the liner from 
exposure to the elements or damage from mechanical abuse.

B. All portions of duct designed to receive duct liner shall be completely covered with liner 
as specified. The smooth, black, acrylic-coated surfaces with flexible glass cloth 
reinforcement shall face the airstream.  All duct liner shall be cut to assure tight, 
overlapped corner joints.  The top pieces shall be supported by the sidepieces.  Duct liner 
shall be installed following the guidelines in the NAIMA “Duct Liner Installation Standard”.

C. The duct liner shall be tested according to erosion test method in UL 181 and shall be 
guaranteed to withstand velocities in the duct system up to 5000 fpm without surface 
erosion.

D. Duct liner shall be adhered to the sheet metal with full coverage of an approved adhesive 
that conforms to ASTM C 916, and all exposed leading edges and transverse joints shall 
be coated with Permacote factory-applied or field-applied edge coating and shall be 
neatly butted without gaps.  Shop or field cuts shall be liberally coated with Johns 
Manville SuperSeal® duct butter and Edge Treatment or approved adhesive.

E. Metal nosings shall be securely installed over transversely oriented liner edges facing the 
airstream at forward discharge and at any point where lined duct is preceded by unlined 
duct.

F. When velocity exceeds 4000 fpm (20.3 m/sec), use metal nosing on every leading edge.  
Nosing may be formed on duct or be channel or zee attached by screws, rivets or welds.

G. The liner shall further be secured with Graham welding pins and washers on not more 
than 18 inch centers both vertical and horizontal surfaces, and the pins and washers shall 
be pointed up with adhesive. 

H. Duct liner shall be Johns Manville Linacoustic RC fiberglass duct liner with factory-
applied edge coating and acrylic coating on the mat surface of airstream side or 
approved equal.  The liner shall meet the Life Safety Standards as established by NFPA 
90A and 90B, FHC 25/50 and Limited Combustibility and the air stream surface coating 
should contain an immobilized, EPA-registered, anti-microbial agent so it will not support 
microbial growth as tested in accordance with ASTM G21 and G22.  The duct liner shall 
conform to the requirements of ASTM C 1071, with an NRC not less than .70 as tested 
per ASTM C 423 using a Type “A” mounting, and a thermal conductivity no higher than 

.25 BTU�in/(hr�ft2�F) at 75F mean temperature.

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 259



16-1010 / WCCHD Renovations 23 07 13 - 4 DUCT INSULATION

I. Line supply and return ductwork at connection of HVAC unit to a point of 15 feet 
upstream and downstream of the equipment and in return air boots. Attach with full cover 
coat of cement, duct dimensions up to 16 inches; provide stick clips or screws and cap 
for dimensions over 16 inches, spaced 16 inches o.c. maximum.  Provide sheet metal 
liner cap over all leading edges of internal insulation exposed to air stream.

J. Duct liner shall be provided as follows:

1. 1” Thick, 1.5 PCF density minimum when ducts are located in conditioned 
spaces.

2. 1 ½” Thick with a minimum installed R-value of 6 when ducts are located in 
unconditioned spaces, such as ceiling plenum space.

3. 2” Thick with a minimum installed R-value of 8 when ducts are located outdoors.

3.04 AIR DEVICE AND MISCELLANEOUS DUCT INSULATION

A. The backside of all supply air devices shall be insulated with taped and sealed 1½ inch 
thick external duct wrap.

B. The contractor shall install an additional layer of 1½ inch thick external fiberglass duct 
wrap on any portion of the supply air, return air, outside air, or exhaust air system that 
has condensation forming during any period of operation.  The insulation shall be taped 
and sealed and located until all evidence of the condensation has been eliminated, at no 
additional cost to the Owner.

END OF SECTION

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 260



16-1010 / WCCHD Renovations 23 07 16 - 1                          HVAC EQUIPMENT INSULATION

SECTION 23 07 16

HVAC EQUIPMENT INSULATION

PART 1 – GENERAL

1.01 GENERAL REQUIREMENTS

A. The requirements of the General Conditions and Supplementary Conditions apply to all 
work herein.

B. Section 23 02 00 – Basic Materials and Methods is included as a part of this Section as 
though written in full in this document.

1.02 SCOPE

A. Scope of the Work shall include the furnishing and complete installation of the equipment 
covered by this Section, with all auxiliaries, ready for Owner's use.

B. Work specified elsewhere.

1. Basic materials and methods.
2. Piping systems.
3. Air distribution equipment.

1.03 WARRANTY

A. Warrant the Work specified herein for one year against becoming unserviceable or 
causing an objectionable appearance resulting from either defective or nonconforming 
materials and workmanship.

B. Defects shall include, but not be limited to, the following:

1. Mildewing.
2. Peeling, cracking, and blistering.
3. Condensation on exterior surfaces.

1.04 SUBMITTALS

A. SHOP DRAWINGS:  Indicate size, material, and finish.  Show locations and installation 
procedures.  Include details of joints, attachments, and clearances.

B. PRODUCT DATA:  Submit schedules, charts, literature, and illustrations to indicate the 
performance, fabrication procedures, product variations, and accessories.

1.05 DELIVERY AND STORAGE

A. Deliver insulation, coverings, cements, adhesives, and coatings to site in unopened 
containers with manufacturer’s stamp, clearly labeled with flame and smoke rating, 
affixed showing fire hazard indexes of products.

B. Protect insulation against dirt, water and chemical and mechanical damage.  Do not 
install damaged or wet insulation; remove such from project site.

PART 2 – PRODUCTS

2.01 It is the intent of these specifications to secure superior quality workmanship resulting in an 

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 261



16-1010 / WCCHD Renovations 23 07 16 - 2                          HVAC EQUIPMENT INSULATION

absolutely satisfactory installation of insulation from the standpoint of both function and 
appearance.  Particular attention shall be given to valves, fittings, pumps, etc., requiring low 
temperature insulation to insure full thickness of insulation and proper application of the vapor 
seal.  All flaps of vapor barrier jackets and/or canvas covering must be neatly and securely 
smoothed and sealed down.

2.02 The type of insulation and its installation shall be in strict accordance with these specifications for 
each service, and the application technique shall be as recommended by the manufacturer. All 
insulation types, together with adhesives and finishes shall be submitted and reviewed before any 
insulation is installed.

2.03 A sample quantity of each type of insulation and each type application shall be installed and 
reviewed prior to proceeding with the main body of the work.  Condensation caused by improper 
installation of insulation shall be corrected by Installing Contractor.  Any damage caused by 
condensation shall be made good at no cost to the Owner or Architect/Engineer.

2.04 Glass fiber materials as manufactured by Owens/Corning, PPG, CSG, or Johns Manville will be 
acceptable, if they comply with the specifications.

2.05 All insulation shall have composite (insulation, jacket or facing, and adhesive used to adhere the 
facing or jacket to insulation) fire and smoke hazard as tested by Procedure ASTM E084, NFPA 
255 and UL 723 not exceeding:

Flame Spread 25
Smoke Developed 50

2.06 Accessories, such as adhesives, mastics and cements shall have the same component ratings as 
listed above.

2.07 All products or their shipping cartons shall have a label affixed, indicating flame and smoke 
ratings do not exceed the above requirements.

PART 3 – EXECUTION

3.01 All insulation shall be installed in accordance with the manufacturer’s recommendations and 
printed installation instructions.

3.02 All items required for a complete and proper installation are not necessarily indicated on the plans 
or in the specifications.  Provide all items required as per manufacturer’s requirements.

END OF SECTION

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 262



16-1010 / WCCHD Renovations 23 07 19 - 1 HVAC PIPING INSULATION

SECTION 23 07 19

HVAC PIPING INSULATION

PART 1 - GENERAL

1.01 GENERAL REQUIREMENTS

A. The requirements of the General Conditions and Supplementary Conditions apply to all 
work herein.  

B. Section 23 02 00 – Basic Materials and Methods is included as a part of this Section as 
though written in full in this document.

1.02 SCOPE

A. Scope of the Work shall include the furnishing and complete installation of the equipment 
covered by this Section, with all auxiliaries, ready for Owner's use.

B. Furnish and install piping insulation to:

1. Condensate drain piping.
2. Refrigerant piping.
3. All pipes subject to freezing conditions shall be insulated.

C. Work specified elsewhere.

1. Painting.
2. Pipe hangers and supports.

D. For insulation purpose piping is defined as the complete piping system including supplies 
and returns, pipes, valves, automatic control valve bodies, fittings, flanges, strainers, 
thermometer well, unions, reducing stations, and orifice assemblies.

1.03 WARRANTY

A. Warrant the Work specified herein for one year against becoming unserviceable or 
causing an objectionable appearance resulting from either defective or nonconforming 
materials or workmanship.

B. Defects shall include, but not be limited to, the following:

1. Mildewing.
2. Peeling, cracking, and blistering.
3. Condensation on exterior surfaces.

1.04 SUBMITTALS

A. SHOP DRAWINGS:  Indicate size, material, and finish.  Show locations and installation 
procedures.  Include details of joints, attachments, and clearances.

B. PRODUCT DATA:  Submit schedules, charts, literature, and illustrations to indicate the 
performance, fabrication procedures, project variations, and accessories.

1.05 DELIVERY AND STORAGE

A. Deliver insulation, coverings, cements, adhesives, and coatings to site in unopened 

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 263



16-1010 / WCCHD Renovations 23 07 19 - 2 HVAC PIPING INSULATION

containers with manufacturer’s stamp, clearly labeled with flame and smoke rating, 
affixed showing fire hazard indexes of products.

B. Protect insulation against dirt, water and chemical and mechanical damage.  Do not 
install damaged or wet insulation; remove such from project site.

PART 2 - PRODUCTS

2.01 It is the intent of these specifications to secure superior quality workmanship resulting in an 
absolutely satisfactory installation of insulation from the standpoint of both function and 
appearance.  Particular attention shall be given to valves, fittings, pumps, etc., requiring low 
temperature insulation to insure full thickness of insulation and proper application of the vapor 
seal. All flaps of vapor barrier jackets and/or canvas covering must be neatly and securely 
smoothed and sealed down.

2.02 The type of insulation and its installation shall be in strict accordance with these specifications for 
each service, and the application technique shall be as recommended by the manufacturer.  All 
insulation types, together with adhesives and finishes shall be submitted and reviewed prior to 
installation.

2.03 A sample quantity of each type of insulation and each type application shall be installed and 
accepted prior to proceeding with the main body of the work.  Condensation caused by improper 
installation of insulation shall be corrected by Installing Contractor.  Any damage caused by 
condensation shall be made good at no cost to the Owner or Architect/Engineer.

2.04 All insulation shall have composite (insulation, jacket or facing, and adhesive used to adhere the 
facing or jacket to insulation) fire and smoke hazard as tested by Procedure ASTM E084, NFPA 
255 and UL 723 not exceeding:

Flame Spread 25
Smoke Developed 50

2.05 Accessories, such as adhesives, mastics and cements shall have the same component ratings as 
listed above.

2.06 All products or their shipping cartons shall have a label affixed, indicating flame and smoke 
ratings do not exceed the above requirements.

2.07 APPROVED MANUFACTURERS

A. Calcium silicate materials shall be as manufactured by Johns Manville. 

B. Glass fiber materials shall be as manufactured by Johns Manville or Owens-Corning and 
shall have the same thermal properties, density, fire rating, vapor barrier, etc., as the 
types specified herein, subject to review by the Engineer.

C. Adhesives shall be as manufactured by Childers, Foster, HB Fuller or Armstrong, and 
shall have the same adhesive properties, fire rating, vapor seal, etc., as the types 
specified herein, subject to review by the Engineer.

D. Armaflex elastomeric cellular thermal insulation by Armstrong.

E. Phenolic foam insulation shall be as manufactured by Kooltherm Insulation (Koolphen).

F. Metal jacketing and fitting covers shall be as manufactured by Childers or RPR Products.

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 264



16-1010 / WCCHD Renovations 23 07 19 - 3 HVAC PIPING INSULATION

2.08 MATERIALS

A. CONDENSATE DRAINAGE PIPING:  Fire resistant fiberglass insulation; insulation not 
required when piping is exposed on roof.

B. REFRIGERANT PIPING:  Refrigerant pipe insulation shall be model "AP-2000", fire rated 
for use in environmental air plenums.  Apply manufacturers recommended finish and 
sealant for exterior applications.

C. METAL JACKETING:  Utilize Childers “Strap-On” jacketing.  Provide preformed fitting 
covers for all elbows and tees.

PART 3 - EXECUTION

3.01 All insulation shall be installed in accordance with the manufacturer’s recommendations and 
printed installation instructions, including high density inserts at all hangers and pipe supports to 
prevent compression of insulation.

3.02 All items required for a complete and proper installation are not necessarily indicated on the plans 
or in the specifications.  Provide all items required as per manufacturer’s requirements.

3.03 Pipes located outdoors or in tunnels shall be insulated same as concealed piping; and in addition 
shall have a jacket of 0.016 inch thick, smooth aluminum with longitudinal modified Pittsburg Z-
Lock seam and 2 inch overlap.  Jacketing shall be easily removed and replaced without damage.  
All insulation butt joints shall be sealed with gray silicone.  Galvanized banding is not acceptable.

3.04 All insulated piping located over driveways shall have an aluminum shield permanently banded 
over insulation to protect it from damage from car antennas.

3.05 FIRE RATED INSULATION

A. All pipe penetrations through walls and concrete floors shall be fire rated by applying 
USG Thermafiber in the space between the concrete and the pipe.

B. The penetration shall be additionally sealed by using 3M brand model CP 25 or 303 fire 
barrier caulk and putty.

C. All fire rating material shall be insulated in accordance with manufacturer's printed 
instructions.

PART 4 - SCHEDULES

4.01 LOW TEMPERATURE SURFACES MINIMUM INSULATION THICKNESS 

A. Condensate drain lines: ¾ inch

B. Refrigerant Piping 

1. 1½“ and smaller 1 inch
2. Larger than 1½ inch 1½ inch

END OF SECTION

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 265



16-1010 / WCCHD Renovations 23 23 00 - 1 REFRIGERANT PIPING

SECTION 23 23 00

REFRIGERANT PIPING

PART 1 - GENERAL

1.01 GENERAL REQUIREMENTS

A. The requirements of the General Conditions and Supplementary Conditions apply to all 
work herein.

B. Section 23 02 00 – Basic Materials and Methods is included as a part of this Section as 
though written in full in this document.

1.02 SCOPE

Scope of the Work shall include the furnishing and complete installation of the equipment covered 
by this Section, with all auxiliaries, ready for Owner's use.

PART 2 - PRODUCTS

2.01 GENERAL

Provide for the systems as shown.  Submit shop drawings of piping systems showing all traps, 
pipe sizes, and accessories; drawing to be marked "Approved", and signed by a representative of 
the Application Engineering Department of the condensing unit manufacturer.  Pipe sizes shall be 
as recommended by unit manufacturer.  Refer to piping schematic on Drawings.

2.02 MATERIAL

A. PIPE:  Copper ACR hard-drawn tubing.

B. FITTINGS:  Wrought copper streamlined sweat fitting.

C. SOLDER:  Sil-Fos; except on valves use solder recommended by valve manufacturer.

2.03 ACCESSORIES

All accessories shall be UL listed and rated in accordance with ARI Standard 710.

A. On systems 7-1/2 tons and larger, each separate refrigerant circuit shall have a separate 
filter dryer.  Each filter dryer shall have a replaceable core and a three valve bypass.  The 
filter drier shall be full line size and installed in the refrigerant liquid line.  The filter shall 
have a minimum 4-3/4 inches diameter shell with removable flange and gasket.  Flange 
shall be tapped for 1/4 inch FPT access valve.  Size filter-drier for maximum 2.0 psi 
pressure drop at evaporator operating temperature.  Similar to Mueller Brass Company 
model Drymaster micro-guard refillable filter series SD-485 through SD19217 or Sporlan 
catch-all.

B. On systems less than 7-1/2 tons, the filter dryer shall be the sealed type; sizes as above.  
One drier per refrigerant circuit.

C. Liquid-Moisture Indicator shall be installed in liquid refrigerant line; full line size similar to 
Mueller Brass Company model "Vuemaster" with soldered ends.

D. Thermostatic expansion valve shall have adjustable super heat and be as manufactured 
by Sporlan.

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 266



16-1010 / WCCHD Renovations 23 23 00 - 2 REFRIGERANT PIPING

2.04 EVACUATION

Evacuate moisture completely by applying a commercial vacuum pump for a minimum of 24 
hours.  Moisture indicator shall indicate a completely moisture-free condition at time of final 
inspection.  The vacuum pump shall run until the system indicates a maximum of 35 degrees 
FDB.  The system shall be flushed with the operating refrigerant and the vacuum pump 
connected and rerun to repeat the evacuation.  Evaluation shall be performed under supervision 
of the Engineer.

2.05 REFRIGERANT AND OIL

A. Contractor shall leave the refrigeration system with a full charge of refrigerant and oil and 
shall be responsible for the maintenance of a full charge of refrigerant and oil in the 
systems for a period of one year from date of Substantial Completion.

B. Should any leaks in the refrigeration system occur during the guarantee period, the 
Contractor shall eliminate such leaks and recharge system to a full charge of refrigerant 
and oil at no cost to the Owner.

PART 3 - EXECUTION

3.01 All equipment and piping shall be installed in accordance with the manufacturer’s 
recommendations and printed installation instructions.

3.02 All items required for a complete and proper installation are not necessarily indicated on the 
Drawings or in the Specifications.  Provide all items required as per manufacturer’s requirements.

END OF SECTION 

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 267



16-1010 / WCCHD Renovations 23 31 13 - 1 METAL DUCTWORK 

SECTION 23 31 13 
METAL DUCTWORK 

 
PART 1 - GENERAL 
 
1.01 WORK INCLUDED 
 

A. Low pressure ductwork. 
 

B. Medium and high pressure ductwork. 
 

C. Casings. 
 

D. Duct cleaning. 
 
1.02 RELATED SECTIONS 
 

Division 9 - Finishes: Weld priming, weather resistant, paint or coating. 
 

A. Section 23 02 00 - Basic Material and Methods. 
 

B. Section 23 05 29 – Hangers and Support for Piping and Equipment HVAC. 
 

C. Section 23 05 93 - Testing, Adjusting and Balancing. 
 

D. Section 23 07 13 - Duct Insulation. 
 

E. Section 23 33 00 - Ductwork Accessories. 
 

F. Section 23 37 13 - Air Distribution Devices. 
 
1.03 QUALITY ASSURANCE 
 

A. Manufacturer’s Qualifications: Firms regularly engaged in manufacture of metal ductwork 
products of types, materials and sizes required, whose products have been in satisfactory 
use in similar service for not less than 5 years. 

 
B. Installer’s Qualifications: Firms with least 3 years of successful installation experience on 

projects with metal ductwork systems similar to that required for project. 
 

C. Codes and Standards: 
 

1. SMACNA Standards: Comply with latest SMACNA’s “HVAC Duct Construction 
Standards, Metal and Flexible” for fabrication and installation of metal ductwork. 

2. ASHRAE Standards: Comply with ASHRAE Handbook, Equipment Volume, 
Chapter 1 “Duct Construction”, for fabrication and installation of metal ductwork. 

3. NFPA Compliance: Comply with NFPA 90A “Standard for the Installation of Air 
Conditioning and Ventilating Systems”, NFPA 90B “Standard for the Installation 
of Warm Air Heating and Air Conditioning Systems”, and NFPA 96 Standard. 

4. IECC 2000:  Comply with 2000 International Energy Conservation Code. 
 
1.04 GENERAL DESCRIPTION 
 

A. Extent of metal ductwork is indicated on drawings and in schedules, and by requirements 
of this section. 

 

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 268



16-1010 / WCCHD Renovations 23 31 13 - 2 METAL DUCTWORK 

1.05 SUBMITTALS 
 

A. Submit shop drawings, duct fabrication standards and product data under provisions of 
Division One. 

 
B. Indicate duct fittings, particulars such as gauges, sizes, welds, and configuration prior to 

start of work. 
 

C. The contract documents are schematic in nature and are to be used only for design 
intent. The contractor shall prepare sheet metal shop drawings, fully detailed and drawn 
to scale, indicating all structural conditions, all plumbing pipe and light fixture 
coordination, and all offsets and transitions as required to permit the duct to fit in the 
space allocated and built.  All duct revisions required as a result of the contractor not 
preparing fully detailed shop drawings will be performed at no additional cost. 

 
1.06 DEFINITIONS 
 

A. Duct Sizes: Inside clear dimensions.  For lined ducts, maintain indicated clear size inside 
lining.  Where offsets or transitions are required, the duct shall be the equivalent size 
based on constant friction rate. 

 
B. Low Pressure: Low pressure ductwork shall be rated for an operating pressure of 2”.  

Low pressure ductwork shall be defined as all return, exhaust, and outside air ducts, all 
supply ductwork associated with constant volume air handling units with a scheduled 
external static pressure of less than 2”, and all supply ductwork downstream of terminal 
units in variable volume systems. 

 
C. Medium Pressure: Medium pressure ductwork shall be rated for an operating pressure of 

4”.  Medium pressure ductwork shall be defined as all supply ductwork extending from 
variable volume air handling units to terminal units in variable volume systems with air 
handling units having a scheduled external static pressure of less than 4”.  The supply 
ductwork of constant volume air handling units having a scheduled external static 
pressure greater than 2” and less than 4” shall be rated for medium pressure. 

 
D. High Pressure: High pressure ductwork shall be rated for an operating pressure of 6”, or 

the scheduled external pressure of the equipment it is connected to, whichever is greater.  
The supply ductwork of air handling units having a scheduled external static pressure 
greater than 4” shall be high pressure. 

 
1.07 DELIVERY, STORAGE, AND HANDLING 
 

A. Protection: Protect shop-fabricated and factory-fabricated ductwork, accessories and 
purchased products from damage during shipping, storage and handling.  Prevent end 
damage and prevent dirt and moisture from entering ducts and fittings, use sheet metal 
end caps on any lined duct exposed to the weather. 

 
B. Storage: Where possible, store ductwork inside and protect from weather.  Where 

necessary to store outside, store above grade and enclose with waterproof wrapping. 
 
PART 2 - PRODUCTS 
 
2.01 DUCTWORK MATERIALS 
 

A. Exposed Ductwork Materials: Where ductwork is indicated to be exposed to view in 
occupied spaces, provide materials which are free from visual imperfections including 

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 269



16-1010 / WCCHD Renovations 23 31 13 - 3 METAL DUCTWORK 

pitting, seam marks, roller marks, stains and discolorations, and other imperfections, 
including those which would impair painting. 

 
B. Sheet Metal.: Except as otherwise indicated, fabricate ductwork from galvanized sheet 

steel complying with ASTM A 527, lockforming quality, with G 90 zinc coating in 
accordance with ASTM A 525; and mill phosphatized for exposed locations. 

 
2.02 MISCELLANEOUS DUCTWORK MATERIALS 
 

A. General: Non combustible and conforming to UL 181, Class 1 air duct materials. 
 

B. Flexible Ducts: Flexmaster U.S.A., Inc. Type 3M or approved equal, corrosive resistant 
galvanized steel formed and mechanically locked to inner fabric with 1” thick insulation 
when flexible ducts are located in conditioned spaces and with R-5 insulation when 
located in unconditioned spaces.  Flexible duct shall have reinforced metalized outer 
jacket comply with UL 181, Class 1 air duct. 

 
C. Sealants: Hard-Cast “iron grip” or approved equal, non-hardening, water resistant, fire 

resistive and shall not be a solvent curing product.  Sealants shall be compatible with 
mating materials, liquid used alone or with tape or heavy mastic. 

 
D. Ductwork Support Materials: Except as otherwise indicated, provide hot-dipped 

galvanized steel fasteners, anchors, rods, straps, trim and angles for support of ductwork. 
 

1. For exposed stainless steel ductwork, provide matching stainless steel support 
materials. 

2. For aluminum ductwork, provide aluminum support materials. 
 
2.03 LOW PRESSURE DUCTWORK 
 

A. Fabricate and support in accordance with latest SMACNA Duct Construction Standards 
and ASHRAE handbooks, except as indicated.  Provide duct material, gauges, 
reinforcing, and sealing for operating pressures indicated. 

 
B. Size round ducts installed in place of rectangular ducts in accordance with ASHRAE table 

of equivalent rectangular and round ducts.  No variation of duct configuration or sizes 
permitted except by approved shop drawings.  Obtain engineer’s approval prior to using 
round duct in lieu of rectangular duct. 

 
C. Construct T's, bends, and elbows with radius of not less than 1-1/2 times width of duct on 

centerline.  Where not possible and where rectangular elbows are used, provide airfoil-
turning vanes.  Where acoustical lining is indicated, provide turning vanes of perforated 
metal with glass fiber insulation. 

 
D. Increase duct sizes gradually, not exceeding 15 degrees divergence wherever possible.  

Divergence upstream of equipment shall not exceed 30 degrees; convergence 
downstream shall not exceed 45 degrees. 

 
E. Use crimp joints with bead for joining round duct sizes 6 inch smaller with crimp in 

direction of airflow. 
 

F. Use double nuts and lock washers on threaded rod supports. 
 
2.04 MEDIUM AND HIGH PRESSURE DUCTS 
 

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 270



16-1010 / WCCHD Renovations 23 31 13 - 4 METAL DUCTWORK 

A. Fabricate and support in accordance with SMACNA Duct Construction Standards and 
ASHRAE handbooks, except as indicated.  Provide duct material, gauges, reinforcing, 
and sealing for operating pressures indicated. 

 
B. Construct T's, bends, and elbows with radius of not less than 1½ times width of duct on 

centerline.  Where not possible and where rectangular elbows are used, provide airfoil-
turning vanes.  Where acoustical lining is required, provide turning vanes of perforated 
metal with glass fiber insulation.  Weld in place. 

 
C. Transform duct sizes gradually, not exceeding 15 degrees divergence and 30 degrees 

convergence. 
 

D. Fabricate continuously welded medium and high pressure round and oval duct fittings 
two gauges heavier than duct gauges indicated in SMACNA Standard.  Joints shall be 
minimum 4 inch cemented slip joint, brazed or electric welded.  Prime coat welded joints. 

 
E. Provide standard 45 degree lateral wye takeoffs unless otherwise indicated where 90 

degree conical tee connections may be used. 
 
2.05 CASINGS 
 

A. Fabricate casings in accordance with SMACNA Duct Construction Standards and 
SMACNA High Pressure Duct Construction Standards and construct for operating 
pressures indicated. 

 
B. Mount floor mounted casings on 4 inch high concrete curbs.  At floor, rivet panels on 8 

inch centers to angles.  Where floors are acoustically insulated, provide liner of 18 gauge 
galvanized expanded metal mesh supported at 12 inch centers, turned up 12 inches at 
sides with sheet metal shields. 

 
C. Reinforce doorframes with steel angles tied to horizontal and vertical plenum supporting 

angles.  Install hinged access doors where indicated or required for access to equipment 
for cleaning and inspection.  Provide clear wire glass observation ports, minimum 6 X 6 
inch size. 

 
D. Fabricate acoustic casings with reinforcing turned inward. Provide 16 gauge back facing 

and 22 gauge perforated front facing with 3/32 inch diameter holes on 5/32 inch centers.  
Construct panels 3 inches thick packed with 4.5 lb./cubic foot minimum glass fiber media, 
on inverted channels of 16 gauge. 

 
PART 3 - EXECUTION 
 
3.01 GENERAL INSTALLATION REQUIREMENTS 
 

A. Obtain manufacturer's inspection and acceptance of fabrication and installation of 
ductwork at beginning of installation. 

 
B. Provide openings in ductwork where required to accommodate thermometers and 

controllers.  Provide pitot tube openings where required for testing of systems, complete 
with metal can with spring device or screw to ensure against air leakage.  Where 
openings are provided in insulated ductwork, install insulation material inside a metal 
ring. 

 
C. Locate ducts with sufficient space around equipment to allow normal operating and 

maintenance activities. 
 

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 271



16-1010 / WCCHD Renovations 23 31 13 - 5 METAL DUCTWORK 

D. Connect diffusers or troffer boots to low pressure ducts with 6 feet maximum, 4 feet 
minimum, length of flexible duct.  Hold in place with strap or clamp. 

 
E. During construction provide temporary closures of metal or taped polyethylene on open 

ductwork to prevent construction dust from entering ductwork system. 
 

F. The interior surface of all ductwork shall be smooth.  No sheet metal parts, tabs, angles, 
or anything else may project into the ducts for any reason, except as specified to be so.  
All seams and joints shall be external. 

 
G. All ductwork located exposed on roof shall be "crowned" to prevent water from ponding.  

Ref: Insulation for additional requirements. 
 

H. Where ducts pass through floors, provide structural angles for duct support.  Where ducts 
pass through walls in exposed areas, install suitable sheet metal escutcheons as closers. 

 
I. All angles shall be carried around all four sides of the duct or group of ducts.  Angles 

shall overlap corners and be welded or riveted. 
 

J. All ductwork shall be fabricated in a manner to prevent the seams or joints being cut for 
the installation of grilles, registers, or ceiling outlets. 

 
K. All duct hangers shall be attached to building structure. Cutting slots in roof or floor 

decking for hanger straps to be cast in concrete is not acceptable. 
 
3.02 INSTALLATION OF FLEXIBLE DUCTS 
 

A. Maximum Length: For any duct run using flexible ductwork, do not exceed 6'-0" extended 
length. 
 

B. Installation: Install in accordance with Section III of SMACNA’s, “HVAC Duct Construction 
Standards, Metal and Flexible”. 

 
3.03 REQUIREMENTS FOR UNIT CASINGS 

 
A. Set plenum doors 6 to 12 inches above floor.  Arrange door swings so that fan static 

pressure holds door in closed position. 
 
 
3.04 DUCTWORK APPLICATION SCHEDULE 
 

AIR SYSTEM MATERIAL 
 
Low Pressure Supply Galvanized Steel 
 
Medium and High Pressure Supply Galvanized Steel 
 
Return and Relief Galvanized Steel 
 
General Exhaust Galvanized Steel 
 
Outside Air Intake  Steel 
 

 
3.05 DUCTWORK HANGERS AND SUPPORTS 
 

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 272



16-1010 / WCCHD Renovations 23 31 13 - 6 METAL DUCTWORK 

A. All ductwork shall be properly suspended or supported from the building structure.  
Hangers shall be galvanized steel straps or hot-dipped galvanized rod with threads 
pointed after installation.  Strap hanger shall be attached to the bottom of the ductwork, 
provide a minimum of two screws one at the bottom and one in the side of each strap on 
metal ductwork.  The spacing, size and installation of hangers shall be in accordance with 
the recommendations of the latest SMACNA edition. 

 
B. All duct risers shall be supported by angles or channels secured to the sides of the ducts 

at each floor with sheet metal screws or rivets.  The floor supports may also be secured 
to ducts by rods, angles or flat bar to the duct joint or reinforcing.  Structural steel 
supports for duct risers shall be provided under this Division. 

 
3.06 AIR DUCT LEAKAGE:  (From SMACNA Duct Standards Latest Edition) Test all ductwork 

(designed to handle over 1000 CFM) as follows: 
 

A. Test apparatus 
 

The test apparatus shall consist of: 
 
1. A source of high pressure air--a portable rotary blower or a tank type vacuum 

cleaner. 
2. A flow measuring device consisting of straightening vanes and an orifice plate 

mounted in a straight tube with properly located pressure taps.  Each orifice 
assembly shall be accurately calibrated with its own calibration curve.  Pressure 
and flow readings shall be taken with U-tube manometers. 

 
B. Test Procedures 

 
1. Test for audible leaks as follows: 
2. Close off and seal all openings in the duct section to be tested.  Connect the test 

apparatus to the duct by means of a section of flexible duct. 
a. Start the blower with its control damper closed. 
b. Gradually open the inlet damper until the duct pressure reaches 1.5 

times the standard designed duct operating pressure. 
c. Survey all joint for audible leaks.  Mark each leak and repair after 

shutting down blower.   Do not apply a retest until sealants have set. 
3. After all audible leaks have been sealed, the remaining leakage should be 

measured with the orifice section of the test apparatus as follows: 
a. Start blower and open damper until pressure in duct reaches 50% in 

excess of designed duct operating pressure. 
b. Read the pressure differential across the orifice on manometer No. 2.  If 

there is no leakage, the pressure differential will be zero. 
c. Total allowable leakage shall not exceed one (1) percent of the total 

system design air flow rate.   When partial sections of the duct system 
are tested, the summation of the leakage for all sections shall not exceed 
the total allowable leakage. 

d. Even though a system may pass the measured leakage test, a 
concentration of leakage at one point may result in a noisy leak which, 
must be corrected. 

4. Test Witness 
a. Air duct leakage test shall be witnessed by Owner/Engineer. 
b. The Architect or duly authorized construction inspector shall be notified 

in writing at least 2 working days prior to each test. 
 
3.07 DUCT SYSTEM CLEANING 
 

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 273



16-1010 / WCCHD Renovations 23 31 13 - 7 METAL DUCTWORK 

A. Duct system cleaning shall be performed in accordance with the current published 
standards of ASHRAE and NADCA. 
 

B. Duct system cleaning method used shall incorporate the use of vacuum collection 
devices that are operated continuously during cleaning.  A vacuum device shall be 
connected to the downstream end of the section being cleaned through a predetermined 
opening.  The vacuum collection device must be of sufficient power to render all areas 
being cleaned under negative pressure, such that containment of debris and the 
protection of the indoor environment is assured. 

 
C. All vacuum devices exhausting air inside the building shall be equipped with HEPA filters 

(minimum efficiency), including hand-held vacuums and wet-vacuums. 
 
D. All vacuum devices exhausting air outside the facility shall be equipped with Particulate 

Collection including adequate filtration to contain debris removed from the HVAC system.  
Such devices shall exhaust in a manner that will not allow contaminants to re-enter the 
facility.  Release of debris outdoors must not violate any outdoor environmental 
standards, codes or regulations. 

 
E. Fibrous glass thermal or acoustical insulation elements present in any equipment or 

ductwork shall be thoroughly cleaned with HEPA vacuuming equipment, while the HVAC 
system is under constant negative pressure, and not permitted to get wet in accordance 
with applicable NADCA and NAIMA standards and recommendations. 

 
F. Duct cleaning method used shall not damage the integrity of the ductwork, nor damage 

porous surface materials such as liners inside the ductwork or system components. 
 
G. Replace the fiberglass material if there is any evidence of damage, deterioration, 

delamination, friable material, mold or fungus growth, or moisture such that fibrous glass 
materials cannot be restored by cleaning or resurfacing with an acceptable insulation 
repair coating. 

 
H. Clean external surfaces of foreign substances which might cause corrosive deterioration 

of metal or, where ductwork is to be painted, might interfere with painting or cause paint 
deterioration. 

 
I. Strip protective paper from stainless ductwork surfaces, and repair finish wherever it has 

been damaged. 
 
J. Temporary Closure: At ends of ducts which are not connected to equipment or air 

distribution devices at time of ductwork installation, provide temporary closure of 
polyethylene film or other covering which will prevent entrance of dust and debris until 
time connections are to be completed. 
 

K. Cleaning Report: Contractor shall provide a report to the Owner indicating the completion 
of duct cleaning per specification and areas of the duct system found to be damaged 
and/or in need of repair. 

 
3.08 DUCT JOINTS AND SEAMS 
 

A. Seal all non-welded duct joints with duct sealant as indicated. 
 
 

END OF SECTION 

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 274



16-1010 / WCCHD Renovations 23 33 00 - 1 DUCTWORK ACCESSORIES 

SECTION 23 33 00 
DUCTWORK ACCESSORIES 

 
PART 1 – GENERAL 
 
1.01 WORK INCLUDED 

 
A. Volume control dampers. 

 
B. Round Duct Taps. 

 
C. Fire dampers. 

 
D. Combination fire and smoke dampers. 

 
E. Back draft dampers. 

 
F. Air turning devices. 

 
G. Flexible duct connections. 

 
H. Duct access doors. 

 
I. Duct test holes. 

 
1.02 RELATED WORK 

 
A. Section 23 05 48 - Vibration and Seismic Controls for HVAC Piping and Equipment. 

 
B. Section 23 31 13 - Metal Ductwork. 

 
1.03 REFERENCES 

 
A. NFPA 90A - Installation of Air Conditioning and Ventilating Systems. 

 
B. SMACNA - Low Pressure Duct Construction Standards. 

 
C. UL 33 - Heat Responsive Links for Fire-Protection Service. 

 
D. UL 555 - Fire Dampers and Ceiling Dampers. 

 
1.04 SUBMITTALS 
 

A. Submit shop drawings and product data under provisions of Division One. 
 

B. Provide shop drawings for shop fabricated assemblies indicated, including volume control 
dampers duct access doors duct test holes.  Provide product data for hardware used. 

 
C. Submit manufacturer's installation instructions under provisions of Division 1, for fire 

dampers and combination fire and smoke dampers. 
 

PART 2 - PRODUCTS 
 
2.01 VOLUME CONTROL DAMPERS 
 

A. Fabricate in accordance with SMACNA Low Pressure Duct Construction Standards, and 

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 275



16-1010 / WCCHD Renovations 23 33 00 - 2 DUCTWORK ACCESSORIES 

as indicated. 
B. Fabricate splitter dampers of material same gauge as duct to 24 inches size in either 

direction, and two gauges heavier for sizes over 24 inches. 
 

C. Fabricate splitter dampers of double thickness sheet metal to streamline shape.  Secure 
blade with continuous hinge or rod.  Operate with minimum 1/2 inch diameter rod in self 
aligning, universal joint, action flanged bushing, with set screw. 

 
D. Fabricate single blade dampers for duct sizes to 9-1/2 x 24 inch. 

 
E. Fabricate multi-blade damper of opposed blade pattern with maximum blade sizes 12 x 

72 inch.  
 
1. Assemble center and edge crimped blades in prime coated or galvanized 

channel frame with suitable hardware. 
2. On outside air, return air, and all other dampers required to be low leakage type, 

provide galvanized blades and frames, seven inches wide maximum, with 
replaceable vinyl, EPDM, silicone rubber seals on blade edges and stainless 
steel side seals.  Provide blades in a double sheet corrugated type construction 
for extra strength.  Provide hat channel shape frames for strength and blade 
linkage enclosure to keep linkage out of the air stream.  Construction leakage not 
to exceed 1/2%, based on 2,000 fpm and 4 inch static pressure. 

 
F. Except in round ductwork 12 inches and smaller, provide end bearings.  On multiple 

blade dampers, provide oil-impregnated nylon or sintered bronze bearings. 
 

G. Provide locking, indicating quadrant regulators on single and multi-blade dampers.  
Where rod lengths exceed 30 inches provide regulator at both ends. 

 
H. On insulated ducts mount quadrant regulators on stand-off mounting brackets, bases, or 

adapters. 
 
2.02 ROUND DUCT TAPS 

 
A. Taps to trunk duct for round flexible duct shall be spin-in fitting with locking quadrant 

butterfly damper, model no. FLD-B03 by Flexmaster or approved equal. 
 
2.03 ACCEPTABLE MANUFACTURERS - [FIRE DAMPERS] [AND] [COMBINATION FIRE AND 

SMOKE DAMPERS] 
 
A. Greenheck. 
 
B. Ruskin. 

 
C. Nailor Industries. 

 
D. Pottorff 
 

2.04 FIRE DAMPERS 
 
A. Fabricate in accordance with NFPA 90A and UL 555, and as indicated. 

 
B. Provide curtain type dampers of galvanized steel with interlocking blades.  Provide 

stainless steel closure springs and latches for horizontal installations. Configure with 
blades out of air stream. 

C. Fabricate multiple blade fire dampers per U.L. with 16 gauge minimum galvanized steel 

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 276



16-1010 / WCCHD Renovations 23 33 00 - 3 DUCTWORK ACCESSORIES 

frame and blades, oil-impregnated bronze or stainless steel sleeve bearings and plated 
steel axles, 1/8 x 1/2 inch plated steel concealed linkage, stainless steel closure spring, 
blade stops, and lock. 

 
D. Fusible links, UL 33, shall separate at 160 degrees F.  Provide adjustable link straps for 

combination fire/balancing dampers. 
 

2.05 COMBINATION FIRE AND SMOKE DAMPERS 
 
A. Fabricate in accordance with NFPA 90A and UL 555, and as indicated. 

 
B. Provide factory sleeve for each damper.  Install damper operator on exterior of sleeve 

and link to damper operating shaft. 
 

C. Fabricate with multiple blades with 16 gauge galvanized steel frame and blades, 
oil-impregnated bronze or stainless steel sleeve bearings and plated steel axles, 
stainless steel jamb seals, 1/8 x 1/2 inch plated steel concealed linkage, stainless steel 
closure spring, blade stops, and lock, and 1/2 inch actuator shaft. 

 
1. Operators shall be spring return electric type suitable to operate on 120 V AC, 60 

cycle. 
2. Operators shall be UL listed and labeled.   

 
2.06 SMOKE DAMPERS 

 
A. Fabricate in accordance with NFPA 90A and UL 555, and as indicated. 

 
B. Motorized Smoke Dampers: multi-blade type, normally open with power on, close 

automatically when power is interrupted, UL-listed and labeled damper and damper 
operator. 

 
2.07 ACCEPTABLE MANUFACTURERS – BACKDRAFT DAMPERS 

 
A. Greenheck 
 
B. Ruskin. 

 
C. Pottorff 

 
D. Substitutions: Under provisions of Division One. 
 

2.08 BACKDRAFT DAMPERS 
 

A. Gravity back draft dampers, size 18 x 18 inches or smaller, furnished with air moving 
equipment, may be air moving equipment manufacturers standard construction. 

 
B. Fabricate multi-blade, parallel action gravity balanced back draft dampers of 16 gauge 

galvanized steel, or extruded aluminum, with blades of maximum 6 inch width, with felt or 
flexible vinyl sealed edges, linked together in rattle-free manner with 90 degree stop, 
steel ball bearings, and plated steel pivot pin; adjustment device to permit setting for 
varying differential static pressure. 

 
2.09 ACCEPTABLE MANUFACTURERS – AIR TURNING DEVICES 

 
A. Young Regulator. 
B. Titus. 

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 277



16-1010 / WCCHD Renovations 23 33 00 - 4 DUCTWORK ACCESSORIES 

 
C. Tuttle and Bailey. 
D. Substitutions: Under provisions of Division One. 

 
2.10 AIR TURNING DEVICES 
 

A. On duct sizes less than 12 x 12, multi-blade device with blades aligned in short 
dimension; steel or aluminum construction; with individually adjustable blades, mounting 
straps. 

 
B. Multi-blade device with radius blades attached to pivoting frame and bracket, steel or 

aluminum construction, with worm drive mechanism with 18 inch long removable key 
operator. 

 
2.11 ACCEPTABLE MANUFACTURERS – FLEXIBLE DUCT CONNECTIONS 

 
A. Metaledge. 

 
B. Ventglass. 

 
C. Substitutions: Under provisions of Division One. 
 

2.12 FLEXIBLE DUCT CONNECTIONS TO AIR MOVING EQUIPMENT 
 
A. Fabricate in accordance with SMACNA Low Pressure Duct Construction Standards, and 

as indicated. 
 

B. UL listed fire-retardant neoprene coated woven glass fiber fabric to NFPA 90A, minimum 
density 20 oz per sq yd, approximately 6 inches wide, crimped into metal edging strip. 

 
2.13 ACCEPTABLE MANUFACTURERS – DUCT ACCESS DOORS 
 

A. Greenheck. 
 
B. Ruskin. 
 
C. Titus. 

 
D. Substitutions: Under provisions of Division One. 
 

2.14 DUCT ACCESS DOORS 
 
A. Fabricate in accordance with SMACNA Low Pressure Duct Construction Standards and 

as indicated. 
  

B. Review locations prior to fabrication. 
 

C. Fabricate rigid and close-fitting doors of galvanized steel with sealing gaskets and quick 
fastening locking devices.  For insulated ductwork, install minimum one inch thick 
insulation with sheet metal cover.  Insulation shall be replaceable without field cutting or 
patching. 

 
D. Access doors smaller than 12 inches square may be secured with sash locks. 

 
E. Provide two hinges and two sash locks for sizes up to 18 inches square, three hinges and 

two compression latches with outside and inside handles for sizes up to 24 x 48 inches.  

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 278



16-1010 / WCCHD Renovations 23 33 00 - 5 DUCTWORK ACCESSORIES 

Provide an additional hinge for larger sizes. 
 

F. Access doors with sheet metal screw fasteners are not acceptable. 
 
2.15 DUCT TEST HOLES 

 
A. Cut or drill temporary test holes in ducts as required. Cap with neat patches, neoprene 

plugs, threaded plugs, or threaded or twist-on metal caps. 
 

B. Permanent test holes shall be factory fabricated, air tight flanged fittings with screw cap.  
Provide extended neck fittings to clear insulation. 

 
PART 3 – EXECUTION 
 
3.01 INSTALLATION 

 
A. Install accessories in accordance with manufacturer's instructions. 

 
B. Balancing Dampers 

 
1. Provide at points on low pressure supply, return, and exhaust systems where 

branches are taken from larger ducts and as required for air balancing.  Use 
splitter dampers only where indicated. 

2. All regulators mounted on externally insulated ductwork shall have 16 gauge 
elevated platforms at least 1/8 inch higher than the thickness of the insulation.  
Damper shaft shall have Ventlock No. 607 bearing mounted on ductwork within 
elevated platform.  If duct is inaccessible the operating handle shall be extended 
and the regulator installed on the face of the wall or ceiling.  Where regulators 
are exposed in finished parts of the building, they shall be flush type, Ventlock 
No. 666.  All regulators shall be manufactured by Ventlock, or approved equal. 

3. All dampers in lined ductwork shall have bushing to prevent damper damage to 
liner. 

 
C. Provide fire dampers at locations indicated, where ducts and outlets pass through fire 

rated components, and where required by authorities having jurisdiction. Install with 
required perimeter mounting angles, sleeves, breakaway duct connections, corrosion 
resistant springs, bearings, bushings and hinges. 

 
D. Demonstrate re-setting of fire dampers to authorities having jurisdiction and Owner's 

representative. 
 

E. Provide back draft dampers on exhaust fans or exhaust ducts nearest to outside and 
where indicated. 

 
F. Provide flexible duct connections immediately adjacent to equipment in ducts associated 

with fans and motorized equipment.  Provide at least one inch slack at all flexible duct 
connections. 

 
G. Provide duct access doors for inspection and cleaning before and after filters, coils, fans, 

automatic dampers, at fire dampers, and elsewhere as indicated.  Provide minimum 8 x 8 
inch size for hand access, 18 x 18 inch size for shoulder access, and as indicated. 

 
H. Provide duct test holes where indicated and required for testing and balancing purposes. 
 
 

END OF SECTION 

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 279



16-1010 / WCCHD Renovations 23 34 00 - 1 HVAC FANS  

SECTION 23 34 00 
HVAC FANS 

 
PART 1 - GENERAL 
 
1.01 GENERAL REQUIREMENTS 

 
A. The requirements of the General Conditions and Supplementary Conditions apply to all 

work herein. 
 
B. Section 23 02 00 - Basic Materials and Methods is included as a part of this Section as 

though written in full in this document. 
 

1.02 WORK INCLUDED 
 

A. Ceiling and inline ventilators. 
 
1.03 RELATED SECTIONS 

 
A. Section 23 05 13 – Common Motor Requirements for HVAC Equipment  

 
B. Section 23 05 48 – Vibration and Seismic Controls for HVAC Piping and Equipment 
 
C. Section 23 05 93 – Testing, Adjusting and Balancing 

 
1.04 QUALITY ASSURANCE 
 

A. UL Compliance:  Fans shall be designed, manufactured, and tested in accordance with UL 
705 "Power Ventilators." 

 
B. UL Compliance:  Fans and components shall be UL listed and labeled. 

 
C. Nationally Recognized Testing Laboratory Compliance (NRTL):  Fans and components 

shall be NRTL listed and labeled.  The term "NRTL" shall be as defined in OSHA 
Regulation 1910.7. 

 
D. NEMA Compliance:  Motors and electrical accessories shall comply with NEMA standards. 

 
E. Electrical Component Standard: Components and installation shall comply with NFPA 70 

"National Electrical Code." 
 

F. Sound Power Level Ratings:  Comply with AMCA Standard 301 "Method for Calculating 
Fan Sound Ratings From Laboratory Test Data." Test fans in accordance with AMCA 
Standard 300 "Test Code for Sound Rating." Fans shall be licensed to bear the AMCA 
Certified Sound Ratings Seal. 

 
G. Fan Performance Ratings:  Establish flow rate, pressure, power, air density, speed of 

rotation, and efficiency by factory tests and ratings in accordance with AMCA Standard 
210/ASHRAE Standard 51 - Laboratory Methods of Testing Fans for Rating. 

 
1.05 SUBMITTALS 
 

A. General:  Submit the following in accordance with Conditions of Contract and Division 1 
Specification Sections: 

 
B. Product data for selected models, including specialties, accessories, and the following: 

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 280



16-1010 / WCCHD Renovations 23 34 00 - 2 HVAC FANS  

 
1. Certified fan performance curves with system operating conditions  indicated. 
2. Certified fan sound power ratings. 
3. Motor ratings and electrical characteristics plus motor and fan accessories. 
4. Materials, gages and finishes, include color charts. 
5. Dampers, including housings, linkages, and operators. 
6. Full color paint samples. 

 
C. Shop drawings from manufacturer detailing equipment assemblies and indicating 

dimensions, weights, required clearances, components, and location and size of field 
connections. 
 

D. Coordination drawings, in accordance with Division 23, Section "Basic Materials and 
Methods", for roof penetration requirements and for reflected ceiling plans drawn accurately 
to scale and coordinating penetrations and units mounted above ceiling.  Show the 
following: 

 
1. Roof framing and support members relative to duct penetrations. 
2. Ceiling suspension members. 
3. Method of attaching hangers to building structure. 
4. Size and location of initial access modules for acoustical tile. 
5. Ceiling-mounted items including light fixtures, diffusers, grilles, speakers, sprinkler 

heads, access panels, and special moldings. 
 

F. Wiring diagrams that detail power, signal, and control wiring. Differentiate between 
manufacturer installed wiring and field installed wiring. 
 

G. Product certificates, signed by manufacturer, certifying that their products comply with 
specified requirements. 
 

H. Maintenance data for inclusion in Operating and Maintenance Manual specified in Division 
1 and Division 23, Section "Basic Materials and Methods". 

 
1.06 DELIVERY, STORAGE, AND HANDLING 
 

A. Fans shall be stored and handled in accordance with the unit manufacturer’s instructions. 
 

B. Lift and support units with the manufacturer's designated lifting or supporting points. 
 

C. Disassemble and reassemble units as required for movement into the final location 
following manufacturer's written instructions. 

 
D. Deliver fan units as a factory-assembled unit to the extent allowable by shipping limitations, 

with protective crating and covering. 
 
1.07 ENVIRONMENTAL REQUIREMENTS 
 

A. Do not operate units for any purpose, temporary or permanent, until ductwork is clean, 
filters are in place, bearings lubricated, and fan has been test run under observation. 

 
1.08 OPERATIONS PERSONNEL TRAINING 
 

A. Provide a training session for the owner’s operations personnel. Training session shall be 
performed by a qualified person who is knowledgeable in the subject system/equipment. 
Submit a training agenda two (2) weeks prior to the proposed training session for review 
and approval. Training session shall include at the minimum: 

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 281



16-1010 / WCCHD Renovations 23 34 00 - 3 HVAC FANS  

 
1. Purpose of equipment. 
2. Principle of how the equipment works. 
3. Important parts and assemblies. 
4. How the equipment achieves its purpose and necessary operating conditions. 
5. Most likely failure modes, causes and corrections. 
6. On site demonstration. 

 
PART 2 - PRODUCTS 
 
2.01 ACCEPTABLE MANUFACTURERS 
 

A. PennBarry 
 

B. Loren Cook Company 
 
C. Greenheck Fan Corporation 
 
D. ACME 
 

 
2.02 GENERAL DESCRIPTION 
 

A. Provide fans that are factory fabricated and assembled, factory tested, and factory finished 
with indicated capacities and characteristics. 

 
B. Fans and Shafts shall be statically and dynamically balanced and designed for continuous 

operation at the maximum rated fan speed and motor horsepower. 
 
C. Provide factory baked-enamel finish coat after assembly.  Color for roof mounted fans shall 

be chosen by Architect during the submittal process. 
 
2.03 CEILING AND INLINE VENTILATORS 
 

A. Ceiling and inline ventilators shall be direct drive or belt drive as indicated, centrifugal 
blower type.  Fan wheel shall be constructed of galvanized steel and shall be dynamically 
balanced.  The housing shall be constructed of minimum 20 gauge corrosion resistant 
galvanized steel and acoustically insulated for quiet operation.  Blower and motor assembly 
shall be easily removable from the housing without disturbing the ductwork.  The motor 
shall be permanently lubricated with built-in thermal overload protection and shall be factory 
tested prior to shipment.  The ceiling ventilators shall be furnished standard with a powder-
painted white steel grille. 
 

B. Ventilators shall be certified and licensed to bear the AMCA Seal for Air and Sound 
Performance.  Ventilator performance shall be based on tests and procedures performed in 
accordance with AMCA publication 211 and comply with the requirements of the AMCA 
Certified Ratings Program.  Fan sound power level ratings shall be based on tests and 
procedures performed in accordance with AMCA publication 311 and comply with the 
requirements of the AMCA Certified Ratings Program.  Ventilators shall be UL listed and 
CSA certified. 

 
C. Accessories:  The following accessories are required. 
 

1. Dampers:   
a. Aluminum backdraft damper. 

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 282



16-1010 / WCCHD Renovations 23 34 00 - 4 HVAC FANS  

b. Motor-operated volume control damper. 
c. U.L. listed ceiling radiation damper for ceiling fans comply with NFPA 

Standard 90A rated for 3 hours. 
2. Disconnect Switch:  Nonfusible type with thermal overload protection. 
3. Speed Controls:  Fan mounted, solid state speed controller. 

 
 

PART 3 – EXECUTION 
 
3.01 Install in accordance with manufacturer’s instructions. 
 
3.02 All items required for a complete and proper installation are not necessarily indicated on the plans 

or in the specifications.  Provide all items required as per manufacturer’s requirements. 
 

 
END OF SECTION 

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 283



16-1010 / WCCHD Renovations 23 37 13 - 1 AIR DISTRIBUTION DEVICES 

SECTION 23 37 13 
AIR DISTRIBUTION DEVICES 

 
PART 1 - GENERAL 
 
1.01 WORK INCLUDED 
 

A. Ceiling air diffusers. 
 
B. Wall registers and grilles. 

 
C. Other air devices indicated on drawings and schedules. 

 
1.02 RELATED SECTIONS 
 

A. Section 23 02 00 – Basic Materials and Methods 
 

B. Section 23 05 93 – Testing, Adjusting and Balancing 
 
C. Section 23 31 13 – Metal Ductwork 
 
D. Section 23 31 19 – Ductwork Accessories 

 
1.03 QUALITY ASSURANCE 
 

A. Manufacturer's Qualifications:  Firms regularly engaged in manufacture of air distribution 
devices of types and capacities required, whose products have been in satisfactory use 
in similar service for not less than 5 years. 

 
B. Codes and Standards: 

 
1. ARI Compliance:  Test and rate air distribution devices in accordance with ARI 

650 "Standard for Air Outlets and Inlets". 
2. ASHRAE Compliance:  Test and rate air distribution devices in accordance with 

ASHRAE 70 "Method of Testing for Rating the Air Flow Performance of Outlets 
and Inlets". 

3. AMCA Compliance:  Test and rate louvers in accordance with AMCA 500 "Test 
Method for Louvers, Dampers and Shutters". 

4. AMCA Seal:  Provide louvers bearing AMCA Certified Rating Seal. 
5. NFPA Compliance:  Install air distribution devices in accordance with NFPA 90A 

"Standard for the Installation of Air Conditioning and Ventilating Systems". 
 
1.04 SUBMITTALS 
 

A. Product Data:  Submit manufacturer's technical product data for air distribution devices 
including the following: 

 
1. Schedule of air distribution devices indicating drawing designation, room location, 

number furnished, model number, size, and accessories furnished. 
2. Data sheet for each type of air distribution devices, and accessory furnished; 

indicating construction, finish, and mounting details. 
3. Performance data for each type of air distribution devices furnished, including 

aspiration ability, temperature and velocity traverses; throw and drop; and noise 
criteria ratings.  Indicate selections on data. 

 

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 284



16-1010 / WCCHD Renovations 23 37 13 - 2 AIR DISTRIBUTION DEVICES 

B. Shop Drawings:  Submit manufacturer's assembly-type shop drawing for each type of air 
distribution devices, indicating materials and methods of assembly of components. 

 
C. Maintenance Data:  Submit maintenance data, including cleaning instructions for finishes, 

and spare parts lists.  Include this data, product data, and shop drawings in maintenance 
manuals; in accordance with requirements of Division 1. 

 
1.05 PRODUCT DELIVERY, STORAGE AND HANDLING 
 

A. Deliver air distribution devices wrapped in factory-fabricated fiber-board type containers.  
Identify on outside of container type of outlet or inlet and location to be installed.  Avoid 
crushing or bending and prevent dirt and debris from entering and settling in devices. 

 
B. Store air distribution devices in original cartons and protect from weather and 

construction work traffic.  Where possible, store indoors; when necessary to store 
outdoors, store above grade and enclose with waterproof wrapping. 

 
1.06 WARRANTY 
 

A. Warrant the installation of the Work specified herein for one year against becoming 
unserviceable or causing an objectionable appearance resulting from defective or 
nonconforming workmanship. 

 
PART 2 – PRODUCTS 
 
2.01 ACCEPTABLE MANUFACTURERS 
 

A. Titus Company 
 

B. Nailor Industries 
 
C. Price 
 
D. Substitutions under provisions of Division One. 

 
2.02 GENERAL DESCRIPTION 
 

A. Unless otherwise indicated, provide manufacturer’s standard air devices when shown of 
size, shape, capacity, type and accessories indicated on drawings and schedules, 
constructed of materials and components as indicated and as required for complete 
installation and proper air distribution. 
 

B. Provide air devices that have, as minimum, temperature and velocity traverses, throw 
and drop, and noise criteria ratings for each size device and listed in manufacturer’s 
current data. 

 
C. Unless noted otherwise on drawings, the finish shall be #26 white.  The finish shall be an 

anodic acrylic paint, baked at 315F for 30 minutes.  The pencil hardness must be HB to 
H. The paint must pass a 100 hour ASTM D117 Corrosive Environments Salt Spray Test 
without creepage, blistering, or deterioration of film.  The paint must pass a 250 hour 
ASTM-870 Water Immersion Test.  The paint must also pass the ASTM D-2794 Reverse 
Impact Cracking Test with a 50 inch pound force applied. 

 
D. Provide air device with border styles that are compatible with adjacent ceiling  or wall 

system, and that are specially manufactured to fit into the wall construction or ceiling 

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 285



16-1010 / WCCHD Renovations 23 37 13 - 3 AIR DISTRIBUTION DEVICES 

module with accurate fit and adequate support.  Refer to architectural construction 
drawings and specifications for types of wall construction and ceiling systems. 

 
E. Provide integral volume damper with roll formed steel blades where indicated on 

drawings or schedules.  Dampers shall be opposed blade design with a screw driver slot 
or a concealed lever operator for adjustment through the face of the air device. 

 
F. Air devices designated for fire rated systems shall be pre-assembled with UL classified 

radiation damper and thermal blanket.  Fire rated air devices shall be shipped completely 
assembled; one assembly per carton,  Each assembly shall be enclosed in plastic shrink 
wrap with installation instructions. 

 
 
PART 3 – EXECUTION 
 
3.01 All interior surfaces of all air devices shall be painted flat black. 

 
3.02 See floor plans for type, neck size and CFM of air for all air distribution devices. 

 
3.03 Install all air distribution devices as detailed on plans and in accordance with manufacturer’s 

recommendations. 
  
 

END OF SECTION 

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 286



16-1010 / WCCHD Renovations 23 81 26 - 1 SPLIT-SYSTEM AIR-CONDITIONERS 

SECTION 23 81 26 

SPLIT-SYSTEM AIR-CONDITIONERS 

PART 1 - GENERAL 

1.1 RELATED DOCUMENTS 

A. Drawings and general provisions of the Contract, including General and Supplementary 
Conditions and Division 01 Specification Sections, apply to this Section. 

1.2 SUMMARY 

A. Section includes split-system air-conditioning and heat-pump units consisting of separate 
evaporator-fan and compressor-condenser components. 

1.3 ACTION SUBMITTALS 

A. Product Data:  For each type of product indicated.  Include rated capacities, operating 
characteristics, and furnished specialties and accessories.  Include performance data in terms of 
capacities, outlet velocities, static pressures, sound power characteristics, motor requirements, 
and electrical characteristics. 

B. Shop Drawings:  Include plans, elevations, sections, details, and attachments to other work. 
1. Detail equipment assemblies and indicate dimensions, weights, loads, required 

clearances, method of field assembly, components, and location and size of each field 
connection. 

2. Wiring Diagrams:  For power, signal, and control wiring. 
C. Samples for Initial Selection:  For units with factory-applied color finishes. 

1.4 INFORMATIONAL SUBMITTALS 

A. Field quality-control reports. 
B. Warranty:  Sample of special warranty. 

1.5 CLOSEOUT SUBMITTALS 

A. Operation and Maintenance Data:  For split-system air-conditioning units to include in emergency, 
operation, and maintenance manuals. 

1.6 MAINTENANCE MATERIAL SUBMITTALS 

A. Furnish extra materials that match products installed and that are packaged with protective 
covering for storage and identified with labels describing contents. 
1. Filters:  One set for each air-handling unit. 
2. Gaskets:  One set for each access door. 
3. Fan Belts:  One set for each air-handling unit fan. 

1.7 QUALITY ASSURANCE  

A. Electrical Components, Devices, and Accessories:  Listed and labeled as defined in NFPA 70, by 
a qualified testing agency, and marked for intended location and application. 

B. ASHRAE Compliance: 
1. Fabricate and label refrigeration system to comply with ASHRAE 15, "Safety Standard for 

Refrigeration Systems." 
2. ASHRAE Compliance:  Applicable requirements in ASHRAE 62.1,  Section 4 - "Outdoor 

Air Quality," Section 5 - "Systems and Equipment," Section 6 - " Procedures," and 
Section 7 - "Construction and System Start-up." 

C. ASHRAE/IESNA Compliance:  Applicable requirements in ASHRAE/IESNA 90.1. 

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 287



16-1010 / WCCHD Renovations 23 81 26 - 2 SPLIT-SYSTEM AIR-CONDITIONERS 

1.8 COORDINATION 

A. Coordinate sizes and locations of roof curbs, equipment supports, and roof penetrations with 
actual equipment provided. 

1.9 WARRANTY 

A. Special Warranty:  Manufacturer's standard form in which manufacturer agrees to repair or 
replace components of split-system air-conditioning units that fail in materials or workmanship 
within specified warranty period. 

1. For Compressor: Five years from date of Substantial Completion. 
2. For Parts: One years from date of Substantial Completion. 
3. For Labor: One year from date of Substantial Completion. 

PART 2 - PRODUCTS 

2.1 MANUFACTURERS 

A. Manufacturers:  Subject to compliance with requirements, provide products by one of the 
following: 
1. Carrier Corporation; Home Comfort and HVAC Building & Industrial Systems. 
2. Lennox International Inc. 
3. Trane; a business of American Standard companies. 
4. YORK; a Johnson Controls company. 

2.2 INDOOR UNITS (5 TONS OR LESS) 

A. Concealed Evaporator-Fan Components: 
1. Chassis:  Galvanized steel with flanged edges, removable panels for servicing, and 

insulation on back of panel. 
2. Insulation:  Faced, glass-fiber duct liner. 
3. Refrigerant Coil:  Copper tube, with mechanically bonded aluminum fins and thermal-

expansion valve.  Comply with ARI 206/110. 
4. Electric Coil:  Helical, nickel-chrome, resistance-wire heating elements; with refractory 

ceramic support bushings, automatic-reset thermal cutout, built-in magnetic contactors, 
manual-reset thermal cutout, airflow proving device, and one-time fuses in terminal box for 
overcurrent protection. 

5. Fan:  Forward-curved, double-width wheel of galvanized steel; directly connected to motor. 
6. Fan Motors: 

a. Comply with NEMA designation, temperature rating, service factor, enclosure type, 
and efficiency requirements specified in Section 230513 "Common Motor 
Requirements for HVAC Equipment." 

b. Multitapped, multispeed with internal thermal protection and permanent lubrication. 
c. Wiring Terminations:  Connect motor to chassis wiring with plug connection. 

7. Filters:  Permanent, cleanable. 
8. Condensate Drain Pans: 

a. Fabricated with one percent slope in at least two planes to collect condensate from 
cooling coils (including coil piping connections, coil headers, and return bends) and 
to direct water toward drain connection. 
Depth:  A minimum of 2 inches deep. 

b. Single-wall, stainless-steel sheet. 

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 288

http://www.specagent.com/LookUp/?uid=123456813850&mf=04&src=wd


16-1010 / WCCHD Renovations 23 81 26 - 3 SPLIT-SYSTEM AIR-CONDITIONERS 

c. Drain Connection:  Located at lowest point of pan and sized to prevent overflow.  
Terminate with threaded nipple on one end of pan. 

d. Units with stacked coils shall have an intermediate drain pan to collect condensate 
from top coil. 

2.3 OUTDOOR UNITS (5 TONS OR LESS) 

A. Air-Cooled, Compressor-Condenser Components: 
1. Casing:  Steel, finished with baked enamel in color selected by Architect, with removable 

panels for access to controls, weep holes for water drainage, and mounting holes in base.  
Provide brass service valves, fittings, and gage ports on exterior of casing. 

2. Compressor:  Hermetically sealed with crankcase heater and mounted on vibration 
isolation device.  Compressor motor shall have thermal- and current-sensitive overload 
devices, start capacitor, relay, and contactor. 
a. Compressor Type:  Scroll. 
b. Refrigerant Charge:  R-410A. 
c. Refrigerant Coil:  Copper tube, with mechanically bonded aluminum fins and liquid 

subcooler.  Comply with ARI 206/110. 
3. Heat-Pump Components:  Reversing valve and low-temperature-air cutoff thermostat. 
4. Fan:  Aluminum-propeller type, directly connected to motor. 
5. Motor:  Permanently lubricated, with integral thermal-overload protection. 
6. Low Ambient Kit:  Permits operation down to 45 deg F. 
7. Mounting Base:  Polyethylene. 

2.4 ACCESSORIES 

A. Thermostat:  Low voltage with subbase to control compressor and evaporator fan. 
B. Automatic-reset timer to prevent rapid cycling of compressor. 
C. Refrigerant Line Kits:  Soft-annealed copper suction and liquid lines factory cleaned, dried, 

pressurized, and sealed; factory-insulated suction line with flared fittings at both ends. 
D. Drain Hose:  For condensate. 

PART 3 - EXECUTION 

3.1 INSTALLATION 

A. Install units level and plumb. 
B. Install evaporator-fan components using manufacturer's standard mounting devices securely 

fastened to building structure. 
C. Install roof-mounted, compressor-condenser components on equipment supports specified in 

Section 077200 "Roof Accessories." Anchor units to supports with removable, cadmium-plated 
fasteners. 

D. Equipment Mounting: 
Comply with requirements for vibration isolation and seismic control devices specified in 

Section 230548 "Vibration and Seismic Controls for HVAC Piping and Equipment." 
E. Install and connect precharged refrigerant tubing to component's quick-connect fittings.  Install 

tubing to allow access to unit. 
3.2 CONNECTIONS 

A. Duct Connections:  Duct installation requirements are specified in Section 233113 "Metal Ducts." 
Drawings indicate the general arrangement of ducts.  Connect supply and return ducts to split-

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 289



16-1010 / WCCHD Renovations 23 81 26 - 4 SPLIT-SYSTEM AIR-CONDITIONERS 

system air-conditioning units with flexible duct connectors.  Flexible duct connectors are specified 
in Section 23 33 00 "Ductwork Accessories." 

3.3 FIELD QUALITY CONTROL 

A. Manufacturer's Field Service:  Engage a factory-authorized service representative to inspect, test, 
and adjust components, assemblies, and equipment installations, including connections. 

B. Tests and Inspections: 
1. Leak Test:  After installation, charge system and test for leaks.  Repair leaks and retest 

until no leaks exist. 
2. Operational Test:  After electrical circuitry has been energized, start units to confirm proper 

motor rotation and unit operation. 
3. Test and adjust controls and safeties.  Replace damaged and malfunctioning controls and 

equipment. 
C. Remove and replace malfunctioning units and retest as specified above. 
D. Prepare test and inspection reports. 

3.4 STARTUP SERVICE 

A. Engage a factory-authorized service representative to perform startup service. 
1. Complete installation and startup checks according to manufacturer's written instructions. 

3.5 DEMONSTRATION 

A. Train Owner's maintenance personnel to adjust, operate, and maintain units. 
END OF SECTION  

 

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 290



16-1010 / WCCHD Renovations 26 02 00 - 1 BASIC MATERIALS AND METHODS

SECTION 26 02 00
BASIC MATERIALS AND METHODS

PART 1 - GENERAL

1.01 GENERAL REQUIREMENTS

A. The requirements of the General Conditions and Supplementary Conditions apply to all 
Work herein.

B. The Contract Drawings indicate the extent and general arrangement of the systems.  If 
any departure from the Contract Drawings are deemed necessary by the Contractor, 
details of such departures and the reasons therefore, shall be submitted to the Architect 
for approval as soon as practicable.  No such departures shall be made without the prior 
written approval of the Architect.

1.02 SCOPE OF WORK

A. The Work included under this Contract consists of the furnishing and installation of all 
equipment and material necessary and required to form the complete and functioning 
systems in all of its various phases, all as shown on the accompanying Drawings and/or 
described in these Specifications.  The contractor shall review all pertinent drawings, 
including those of other contracts prior to commencement of Work.

B. This Division requires the furnishing and installing of all items Specified herein, indicated 
on the Drawings or reasonably inferred as necessary for safe and proper operation; 
including every article, device or accessory (whether or not specifically called for by item) 
reasonably necessary to facilitate each system's functioning as indicated by the design 
and the equipment specified.  Elements of the work include, but are not limited to, 
materials, labor, supervision, transportation, storage, equipment, utilities, all required 
permits, licenses and inspections.  All work performed under this Section shall be in 
accordance with the Project Manual, Drawings and Specifications and is subject to the 
terms and conditions of the Contract.

C. The approximate locations of Electrical items are indicated on the Drawings.  These 
Drawings are not intended to give complete and accurate details in regard to location of 
outlets, apparatus, etc.  Exact locations are to be determined by actual measurements at 
the building, and will in all cases be subject to the Review of the Owner or Engineer, who 
reserves the right to make any reasonable changes in the locations indicated without 
additional cost to the Owner.

D. Items specifically mentioned in the Specifications but not shown on the Drawings and/or 
items shown on Drawings but not specifically mentioned in the Specifications shall be 
installed by the Contractor under the appropriate section of work as if they were both 
specified and shown.

E. All discrepancies within the Contract Documents discrepancies between the Contract 
Documents and actual job-site conditions shall be reported to the Owner or Engineer so 
that they will be resolved prior to the bidding, where this cannot be done at least 7 
working days prior to bid; the greater or more costly of the discrepancy shall be bid.  All 
labor and materials required to perform the work described shall be included as part of 
this Contract.

F. It is the intention of this Section of the Specifications to outline minimum requirements to 
furnish the Owner with a turn-key and fully operating system in cooperation with other 
trades.

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 291



16-1010 / WCCHD Renovations 26 02 00 - 2 BASIC MATERIALS AND METHODS

G. It is the intent of the above "Scope" to give the Contractor a general outline of the extent 
of the Work involved; however, it is not intended to include each and every item required 
for the Work.  Anything omitted from the "Scope" but shown on the Drawings, or specified 
later, or necessary for a complete and functioning heating, ventilating and air conditioning 
system shall be considered a part of the overall "Scope".

H. The Contractor shall rough-in fixtures and equipment furnished by others from rough-in 
and placement drawings furnished by others.  The Contractor shall make final connection 
to fixtures and equipment furnished by others. 

I. Contractor shall participate in the commissioning process; including but not limited to 
meeting attendance, completion of checklists and participation in functional testing. 

1.03 RELATED SECTIONS

A. General Conditions

B. Supplementary Conditions

C. Division One

1.04 COOPERATION WITH TRADES:

A. Cooperation with trades of adjacent, related, or affected materials or operations shall be 
considered a part of this work in order to affect timely and accurate placing of work and 
bring together in proper and correct sequence, the work of such trades.

1.05 REFERENCES

A. National Electrical Code (NEC)

B. American Society for Testing and Materials (ASTM)

C. Underwriter's Laboratories, Inc. (UL)

D. Insulated Cable Engineer's Association (ICEA).

E. National Electrical Manufacturer's Association (NEMA).

F. Institute of Electrical and Electronic's Engineers (IEEE).

G. American National Standards Institute (ANSI).

H. National Fire Protection Association (NFPA).

I. International Energy Conservation Code (IECC).

1.06 COMPLETE FUNCTIONING OF WORK:

A. All work fairly implied as essential to the complete functioning of the electrical systems 
shown on the Drawings and Specifications shall be completed as part of the work of this 
Division unless specifically stated otherwise. It is the intention of the Drawings and 
Specifications to establish the types of the systems, but not set forth each item essential 
to the functioning of the system.  In case of doubt as to the work intended, or in the event 
of amplification or clarification thereof, the Contractor shall call upon the Architect for 

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 292



16-1010 / WCCHD Renovations 26 02 00 - 3 BASIC MATERIALS AND METHODS

supplementary instructions, Drawings, etc.

B. Contractor shall review all pertinent Drawings and adjust his work to all conditions shown 
there on.  Discrepancies between Plans, Specifications, and actual field conditions shall 
be brought to the prompt attention of the Architect.

1. Approximate location of feeders, branch circuits, outlets, lighting and power 
panels, etc., are indicated on the Drawings.  However, the Drawings, do not give 
complete and accurate detailed locations of such outlets, conduit runs, etc., and 
exact locations must be determined by actual field measurement.  Such locations 
will, at all times, be subject to the approval of the Architect.

2. Communicate with the Architect and secure his approval of any outlet (light 
fixture, receptacle, switch, etc.) location about which there may be the least 
question.  Outlets obviously placed in a location not suitable to the finished room 
or without specific approval, shall be removed and relocated when so directed by 
the Architect.  Location of light fixtures shall be coordinated with reflected ceiling 
plans.

C. Additional coordination with mechanical contractor may be required to allow adequate 
clearances of mechanical equipment, fixtures and associated appurtenances.  Contractor 
to notify Architect and Engineer of unresolved clearances, conflicts or equipment 
locations.

1.07 SCHEMATIC NATURE OF CONTRACT DOCUMENTS

A. The contract documents are schematic in nature in that they are only to establish scope 
and a minimum level of quality.  They are not to be used as actual working construction 
drawings.  The actual working construction drawings shall be the approved shop 
drawings.

1.08 CONTRACTOR’S QUALIFICATIONS

A. An approved contractor for the work under this division shall be:

1. A specialist in this field and have the personnel, experience, training, and skill, 
and the organization to provide a practical working system.

2. Able to furnish evidence of having contracted for and installed not less than 3 
systems of comparable size and type that have served their Owners satisfactorily 
for not less than 3 years.

3. Perform work by persons qualified to produce workmanship of specified quality. 
Persons performing electrical work shall be required to be licensed. Onsite 
supervision, journeyman shall have minimum of journeyman license. Helpers, 
apprentices shall have minimum of apprentice license.

1.09 DATE OF FINAL ACCEPTANCE

A. The date of final acceptance shall be the date of owner occupancy, or the date all punch 
list items have been completed or final payment has been received.  Refer to Division 
One for additional requirements.

B. The date of final acceptance shall be documented in writing and signed by the architect, 
owner and contractor.

1.10 DEFINITIONS AND SYMBOLS

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 293



16-1010 / WCCHD Renovations 26 02 00 - 4 BASIC MATERIALS AND METHODS

A. General Explanation:  A substantial amount of construction and Specification language 
constitutes definitions for terms found in other Contract Documents, including Drawings 
which must be recognized as diagrammatic and schematic in nature and not completely 
descriptive of requirements indicated thereon.  Certain terms used in Contract 
Documents are defined generally in this article, unless defined otherwise in Division 1.

B. Definitions and explanations of this Section are not necessarily either complete or 
exclusive, but are general for work to the extent not stated more explicitly in another 
provision of the Contract Documents.

C. Indicated: The term "Indicated" is a cross-reference to details, notes or schedules on the 
Drawings, to other paragraphs or schedules in the Specifications and to similar means of 
recording requirements in Contract Documents.  Where such terms as "Shown", "Noted", 
"Scheduled", "Specified" and "Detailed" are used in lieu of "Indicated", it is for the 
purpose of helping the reader locate cross-reference material, and no limitation of 
location is intended except as specifically shown.

D. Directed:  Where not otherwise explained, terms such as "Directed", "Requested", 
"Accepted", and "Permitted" mean by the Architect or Engineer.  However, no such 
implied meaning will be interpreted to extend the Architect's or Engineer's responsibility 
into the Contractor's area of construction supervision.

E. Reviewed:  Where used in conjunction with the Engineer's response to submittals, 
requests for information, applications, inquiries, reports and claims by the Contractor the 
meaning of the term "Reviewed" will be held to limitations of Architect's and Engineer's 
responsibilities and duties as specified in the General and Supplemental Conditions.  In 
no case will "Reviewed" by Engineer be interpreted as a release of the Contractor from 
responsibility to fulfill the terms and requirements of the Contract Documents.

F. Furnish:  Except as otherwise defined in greater detail, the term "Furnish" is used to 
mean supply and deliver to the project site, ready for unloading, unpacking, assembly, 
installation, etc., as applicable in each instance.

G. Install:  Except as otherwise defined in greater detail, the term "Install" is used to describe 
operations at the project site including unloading, unpacking, assembly, erection, placing, 
anchoring, applying, working to dimension, finishing, curing, protection, cleaning and 
similar operations, as applicable in each instance.

H. Provide:  Except as otherwise defined in greater detail, the term "Provide" is used to 
mean "Furnish and Install", complete and ready for intended use, as applicable in each 
instance.

I. Installer:  Entity (person or firm) engaged by the Contractor or its subcontractor or 
Sub-contractor for performance of a particular unit of work at the project site, including 
unloading, unpacking, assembly, erection, placing, anchoring, applying, working to 
dimension, finishing, curing, protection, cleaning and similar operations, as applicable in 
each instance.  It is a general requirement that such entities (Installers) be expert in the 
operations they are engaged to perform.

J. Imperative Language:  Used generally in Specifications.  Except as otherwise indicated, 
requirements expressed imperatively are to be performed by the Contractor.  For clarity 
of reading at certain locations, contrasting subjective language is used to describe 
responsibilities that must be fulfilled indirectly by the Contractor, or when so noted by 
other identified installers or entities.

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 294



16-1010 / WCCHD Renovations 26 02 00 - 5 BASIC MATERIALS AND METHODS

K. Minimum Quality/Quantity:  In every instance, the quality level or quantity shown or 
specified is intended as minimum quality level or quantity of work to be performed or 
provided.  Except as otherwise specifically indicated, the actual work may either comply 
exactly with that minimum (within specified tolerances), or may exceed that minimum 
within reasonable tolerance limits. In complying with requirements, indicated or 
scheduled numeric values are either minimums or maximums as noted or as appropriate 
for the context of the requirements. Refer instances of uncertainty to Owner or Engineer 
via a request for information (RFI) for decision before proceeding.

L. Abbreviations and Symbols: The language of Specifications and other Contract 
Documents including Drawings is of an abbreviated type in certain instances, and implies 
words and meanings which will be appropriately interpreted.  Actual word abbreviations 
of a self explanatory nature have been included in text of Specifications and Drawings.  
Specific abbreviations and symbols have been established, principally for lengthy 
technical terminology and primarily in conjunction with coordination of Specification 
requirements with notations on Drawings and in Schedules.  These are frequently defined 
in Section at first instance of use or on a Legend and Symbol Drawing.  Trade and 
industry association names and titles of generally recognized industry standards are 
frequently abbreviated.  Singular words will be interpreted as plural and plural words will 
be interpreted as singular where applicable and where full context of Contract Documents 
so indicate.  Except as otherwise indicated, graphic symbols and abbreviations used on 
Drawings and in Specifications are those recognized in construction industry for indicated 
purposes.  Where not otherwise noted symbols and abbreviations are defined by 1993 
ASHRAE Fundamentals Handbook, chapter 34 "Abbreviations and Symbols", ASME and 
ASPE published standards.

1.11 DELIVERY, STORAGE, AND HANDLING

A. Deliver products to the project properly identified with names, model numbers, types, 
grades, compliance labels, and other information needed for identification.

B. Deliver products to the project at such time as the project is ready to receive the 
equipment, pipe or duct properly protected from incidental damage and weather damage.

C. Damaged equipment shall be promptly removed from the site and new, undamaged 
equipment shall be installed in its place promptly with no additional charge to the Owner.

1.12 SUBMITTALS

A. Coordinate with Division 01 for submittal timetable requirements, unless noted otherwise 
within thirty (30) days after the Contract is awarded. The Contractor shall submit an 
electronic copy of a complete set of shop drawings and complete data covering each item 
of equipment or material. The submittal of each item requiring a submittal must be 
received by the Architect or Engineer within the above thirty day period. The Architect or 
Engineer shall not be responsible for any delays or costs incurred due to excessive shop 
drawing review time for submittals received after the thirty (30) day time limit. The 
Architect and Engineer will retain a copy of all shop drawings for their files. All literature 
pertaining to items subject to Shop Drawing submittal shall be submitted at one time. 
Submittals shall be placed in one electronic file in PDF 8.0 format and bookmarked for 
individual specification sections. Individual electronic files of submittals for individual 
specifications shall not be permitted. Each submittal shall include the following items:

1. A cover sheet with the names and addresses of the Project, Architect, MEP 
Engineer, General Contractor and the Subcontractor making the submittal.  The 
cover sheet shall also contain the section number covering the item or items 
submitted and the item nomenclature or description.

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 295



16-1010 / WCCHD Renovations 26 02 00 - 6 BASIC MATERIALS AND METHODS

2. An index page with a listing of all data included in the Submittal.
3. A list of variations page with a listing all variations, including unfurnished or 

additional required accessories, items or other features, between the submitted 
equipment and the specified equipment.  If there are no variations, then this page 
shall state "NO VARIATIONS".  Where variations affect the work of other 
Contractors, then the Contractor shall certify on this page that these variations 
have been fully coordinated with the affected Contractors and that all expenses 
associated with the variations will be paid by the submitting Contractor.  This 
page will be signed by the submitting Contractor.

4. Equipment information including manufacturer's name and designation, size, 
performance and capacity data as applicable.  All applicable Listings, Labels, 
Approvals and Standards shall be clearly indicated.

5. Dimensional data and scaled drawings as applicable to show that the submitted 
equipment will fit the space available with all required Code and maintenance 
clearances clearly indicated and labeled at a minimum scale of 1/4" = 1'-0", as 
required to demonstrate that the alternate or substituted product will fit in the 
space available.

6. Identification of each item of material or equipment matching that indicated on 
the Drawings.

7. Sufficient pictorial, descriptive and diagrammatic data on each item to show its 
conformance with the Drawings and Specifications.  Any options or special 
requirements or accessories shall be so indicated.  All applicable information 
shall be clearly indicated with arrows or another approved method.

8. Additional information as required in other Sections of this Division.
9. Certification by the General Contractor and Subcontractor that the material 

submitted is in accordance with the Drawings and Specifications, signed and 
dated in long hand.  Submittals that do not comply with the above requirements 
shall be returned to the Contractor and shall be marked "REVISE AND 
RESUBMIT".

B. Refer to Division 1 for additional information on shop drawings and submittals.

C. Equipment and materials submittals and shop drawings will be reviewed for compliance 
with design concept only.  It will be assumed that the submitting Contractor has verified 
that all items submitted can be installed in the space allotted.  Review of shop drawings 
and submittals shall not be considered as a verification or guarantee of measurements or 
building conditions.

D. Where shop drawings and submittals are marked "REVIEWED", the review of the 
submittal does not indicate that submittals have been checked in detail nor does it in any 
way relieve the Contractor from his responsibility to furnish material and perform work as 
required by the Contract Documents.

E. Shop drawings shall be reviewed and returned to the Contractor with one of the following 
categories indicated:

1. REVIEWED:  Contractor need take no further submittal action, shall include this 
submittal in the O&M manual and may order the equipment submitted on.

2. REVIEWED AS NOTED:  Contractor shall submit a letter verifying that required 
exceptions to the submittal have been received and complied with including 
additional accessories or coordination action as noted, and shall include this 
submittal and compliance letter in the O&M manual.  The contractor may order 
the equipment submitted on at the time of the returned submittal providing the 
Contractor complies with the exceptions noted.

3. NOT APPROVED:  Contractor shall resubmit new submittal on material, 
equipment or method of installation when the alternate or substitute is not 

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 296



16-1010 / WCCHD Renovations 26 02 00 - 7 BASIC MATERIALS AND METHODS

approved, the Contractor will automatically be required to furnish the product, 
material or method named in the Specifications and/or drawings. Contractor 
shall not order equipment that is not approved. Repetitive requests for 
substitutions will not be considered.

4. REVISE AND RESUBMIT:  Contractor shall resubmit new submittal on material, 
equipment or method of installation when the alternate or substitute is marked 
revise and resubmit, the Contractor will automatically be required to furnish the 
product, material or method named in the Specifications and/or provide as noted 
on previous shop drawings.  Contractor shall not order equipment marked revise 
and resubmit.  Repetitive requests for substitutions will not be considered.

5. CONTRACTOR’S CERTIFICATION REQUIRED:  Contractor shall resubmit 
submittal on material, equipment or method of installation. The Contractor’s 
stamp is required stating the submittal meets all conditions of the contract 
documents.  The stamp shall be signed by the General Contractor.  The 
submittal will not be reviewed if the stamp is not placed and signed on all shop 
drawings.

6. MANUFACTURER NOT AS SPECIFIED:  Contractor shall resubmit new 
submittal on material, equipment or method of installation when the alternate or 
substitute is marked manufacturer not as specified, the Contractor will 
automatically be required to furnish the product, material or method named in the 
specifications.  Contractor shall not order equipment where submittal is marked 
manufacturer not as specified.  Repetitive requests for substitutions will not be 
considered.

F. Materials and equipment which are purchased or installed without shop drawing review 
shall be at the risk of the Contractor and the cost for removal and replacement of such 
materials and equipment and related work which is judged unsatisfactory by the Owner or 
Engineer for any reason shall be at the expense of the Contractor.  The responsible 
Contractor shall remove the material and equipment noted above and replace with 
specified equipment or material at his own expense when directed in writing by the 
Architect or Engineer.

G. Shop Drawing Submittals shall be complete and checked prior to submission to the 
Engineer for review.

H. Furnish detailed shop drawings, descriptive literature, physical data and a specification 
critique for each section indicating "compliance" and/or "variations" for the following 
items:

Heavy Duty Disconnect Switches
Lighting Fixtures
Wiring Devices and Plates
Conduit and Fittings
Wire
Emergency Generator
Automatic Transfer Switches
Fire Alarm System

I. Refer to each specification section for additional requirements.

1.13 OPERATION AND MAINTENANCE MANUALS

A. Prepare maintenance manuals in accordance with Division 1 and in addition to the 
requirements specified in Division 1, include the following information for equipment 
items:

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 297



16-1010 / WCCHD Renovations 26 02 00 - 8 BASIC MATERIALS AND METHODS

1. Description of function, normal operating characteristics and limitations, 
performance curves, engineering data and tests, and complete nomenclature 
and commercial numbers of replacement parts.

2. Manufacturer's printed operating procedures to include start-up, break-in, and 
routine and normal operating instructions; regulation, control, stopping, 
shutdown, and emergency instructions; and summer and winter operating 
instructions.

3. Maintenance procedures for routine preventative maintenance and 
troubleshooting; disassembly, repair, and reassembly; aligning and adjusting 
instructions.

4. Servicing instructions and lubrication charts and schedules.

1.14 COORDINATION DRAWINGS

A. Prepare coordination drawings to a scale of 1/4"=1'-0" or larger; detailing major elements, 
components, and systems of mechanical equipment and materials in relationship with 
other systems, installations, and building components.  Indicate locations where space is 
limited for installation and access and where sequencing and coordination of installations 
are of importance to the efficient flow of the Work, including (but not necessarily limited 
to) the following:

1. Indicate the proposed locations of pipe, duct, equipment, and other materials.  
Include the following:
a. Wall and type locations.
b. Clearances for installing and maintaining insulation.
c. Locations of light fixtures and sprinkler heads.
d. Clearances for servicing and maintaining equipment, including tube 

removal, filter removal, and space for equipment disassembly required 
for periodic maintenance.

e. Equipment connections and support details.
f. Exterior wall and foundation penetrations.
g. Routing of storm and sanitary sewer piping.
h. Fire-rated wall and floor penetrations.
i. Sizes and location of required concrete pads and bases.
j. Valve stem movement.
k. Structural floor, wall and roof opening sizes and details.

2. Indicate scheduling, sequencing, movement, and positioning of large equipment 
into the building during construction.

3. Prepare floor plans, elevations, and details to indicate penetrations in floors, 
walls, and ceilings and their relationship to other penetrations and installations.

4. Prepare reflected ceiling plans to coordinate and integrate installations, air 
distribution devices, light fixtures, communication systems components, and 
other ceiling-mounted items.

B. This Contractor shall be responsible for coordination of all items that will affect the 
installation of the work of this Division.  This coordination shall include, but not be limited 
to:  voltage, ampacity, capacity, electrical and piping connections, space requirements, 
sequence of construction, building requirements and special conditions.

C. By submitting shop drawings on the project, this Contractor is indicating that all 
necessary coordination has been completed and that the systems, products and 
equipment submitted can be installed in the building and will operate as specified and 
intended, in full coordination with all other Contractors and Subcontractors.

1.15 RECORD DRAWINGS

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 298



16-1010 / WCCHD Renovations 26 02 00 - 9 BASIC MATERIALS AND METHODS

A. Maintain a continuous record during the course of construction of all changes and 
deviations in the work from the contract drawings.  Upon completion of the work, 
purchase a set of "Auto Positive Tracings" on vellum and make corrections as required to 
reflect the electrical systems as installed.  Location and size of all conduit shall be 
accurately shown to dimension.  Submit three prints of the tracings for approval.  Make 
corrections to tracings as directed and deliver "Auto Positive Tracings" to the Architect.  
Record drawings shall be furnished in addition to shop drawings.  Symbols on the Record 
drawings shall correspond to the identification symbols on the contract drawings and 
equipment identification plates and tags.

B. The Contractor shall maintain a set of clearly marked black line record "AS-BUILT" prints 
on the job site on which he shall mark all work details, alterations to meet site conditions 
and changes made by "Change Order" notices.  These shall be kept available for 
inspection by the Owner, Architect or Engineer at all times.

C. Refer to Division 1 for additional requirements concerning record drawings.  If the 
Contractor does not keep an accurate set of as-built drawings, the pay request may be 
altered or delayed at the request of the Architect.  Mark the drawings with a colored 
pencil. Delivery of as-built prints and reproducibles is a condition of final acceptance.

D. The record prints shall be updated on a daily basis and shall indicate accurate 
dimensions for all buried or concealed work, precise locations of all concealed pipe or 
duct, locations of all concealed valves, controls and devices and any deviations from the 
work shown on the Construction Documents which are required for coordination.  All 
dimensions shall include at least two dimensions to permanent structure points.

E. Submit three prints of the tracings for approval.  Make corrections to tracings as directed 
and delivered "Auto Positive Tracings" to the architect.  "As-Built" drawings shall be 
furnished in addition to shop drawings.

F. When the option described in paragraph F., above is not exercised then upon completion 
of the work, the Contractor shall transfer all marks from the submit a set of clear concise 
set of reproducible record "AS-BUILT" drawings and shall submit the reproducible 
drawings with corrections made by a competent draftsman and three (3) sets of black line 
prints to the Architect or Engineer for review prior to scheduling the final inspection at the 
completion of the work.  The reproducible record "AS-BUILT" drawings shall have the 
Engineers Name and Seal removed or blanked out and shall be clearly marked and 
signed on each sheet as follows:

CERTIFIED RECORD DRAWINGS

DATE:

(NAME OF GENERAL CONTRACTOR)

BY:_______________________________
(SIGNATURE)

(NAME OF SUBCONTRACTOR)

BY:_______________________________
 (SIGNATURE)

1.16 CERTIFICATIONS AND TEST REPORTS

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 299



16-1010 / WCCHD Renovations 26 02 00 - 10 BASIC MATERIALS AND METHODS

A. Submit a detailed schedule for completion and testing of each system indicating 
scheduled dates for completion of system installation and outlining tests to be performed 
and schedule date for each test.  This detailed completion and test schedule shall be 
submittal at least 90 days before the projected Project completion date.

B. Test result reporting forms shall be submitted for review no later than the date of the 
detailed schedule submitted.

C. Submit 4 copies of all certifications and test reports to the Architect or Engineer for review 
adequately in advance of completion of the Work to allow for remedial action as required 
to correct deficiencies discovered in equipment and systems.

D. Certifications and test reports to be submitted shall include, but not be limited to those 
items outlined in Section of Division 26.

1.17 MAINTENANCE MANUALS

A. Coordinate with Division 1 for maintenance manual requirements, unless noted otherwise 
bind together in “D ring type” binders by National model no. 79-883 or equal, binders 
shall be large enough to allow ¼” of spare capacity.  Three (3) sets of all approved shop 
drawing submittals, fabrication drawings, bulletins, maintenance instructions, operating 
instructions and parts exploded views and lists for each and every piece of equipment 
furnished under this Specification.  All sections shall be typed and indexed into sections 
and labeled for easy reference and shall utilize the individual specification section 
numbers shown in the Electrical Specifications as an organization guideline.  Bulletins 
containing information about equipment that is not installed on the project shall be 
properly marked up or stripped and reassembled.  All pertinent information required by 
the Owner for proper operation and maintenance of equipment supplied by Division 26 
shall be clearly and legibly set forth in memoranda that shall, likewise, be bound with 
bulletins.

B. Prepare maintenance manuals in accordance with Special Project Conditions, in addition 
to the requirements specified in Division 26, include the following information for 
equipment items:

1. Identifying names, name tags designations and locations for all equipment.
2. Fault Current calculations and Coordination Study.
3. Reviewed shop drawing submittals with exceptions noted compliance letter.
4. Fabrication drawings.
5. Equipment and device bulletins and data sheets clearly highlighted to show 

equipment installed on the project and including performance curves and data as 
applicable, i.e., description of function, normal operating characteristics and 
limitations, performance curves, engineering data and tests, and complete 
nomenclature and model numbers of replacement parts.

6. Manufacturer's printed operating procedures to include start-up, break-in, and 
routine and normal operating instructions; regulation, control, stopping, 
shutdown, and emergency instructions; and summer and winter operating 
instructions.

7. Maintenance procedures for routine preventative maintenance and 
troubleshooting; disassembly, repair, and reassembly; aligning and adjusting 
instructions, servicing instructions and lubrication charts and schedules.

8. Equipment name plate data.
9. Wiring diagrams.
10. Exploded parts views and parts lists for all equipment and devices.
11. Color coding charts for all painted equipment and conduit.

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 300



16-1010 / WCCHD Renovations 26 02 00 - 11 BASIC MATERIALS AND METHODS

12. Location and listing of all spare parts and special keys and tools furnished to the 
Owner.

13. Furnish recommended lubrication schedule for all required lubrication points with 
listing of type and approximate amount of lubricant required.

C. Refer to Division 1 for additional information on Operating and Maintenance Manuals.

D. Operating and Maintenance Manuals shall be turned over to the Owner or Engineer a 
minimum of 14 working days prior to the beginning of the operator training period.

1.18 OPERATOR TRAINING 

A. The Contractor shall furnish the services of factory trained specialists to instruct the 
Owner's operating personnel.  The Owner's operator training shall include 12 hours of 
onsite training in three 4 hour shifts.

 
B. Before proceeding with the instruction of Owner Personnel, prepare a typed outline in 

triplicate, listing the subjects that will be covered in this instruction, and submit the outline 
for review by the Owner.  At the conclusion of the instruction period obtain the signature 
of each person being instructed on each copy of the reviewed outline to signify that he 
has a proper understanding of the operation and maintenance of the systems and 
resubmit the signed outlines. 

C. Refer to other Division 26 Sections for additional Operator Training requirements. 

1.19 SITE VISITATION

A. Visit the site of the proposed construction in order to fully understand the facilities, 
difficulties and restriction attending the execution of the work.  

B. Before submitting a bid, it will be necessary for each Contractor whose work is involved 
to visit the site and ascertain for himself the conditions to be met therein in installing his 
work and make due provision for same in his bid.  It will be assumed that this Contractor 
in submitting his bid has visited the premises and that his bid covers all work necessary 
to properly install the equipment shown.  Failure on the part of the Contractor to comply 
with this requirement shall not be considered justification for the omission or faulty 
installation of any work covered by these Specifications and Drawings.

C. Understand the existing utilities from which services will be supplied; verify locations of 
utility services, and determine requirements for connections.

D. Determine in advance that equipment and materials proposed for installation fit into the 
confines indicated.

1.20 WARRANTY

A. The undertaking of the work described in this Division shall be considered equivalent to 
the issuance, as part of this work, of a specific guarantee extending one year beyond the 
date of completion of work and acceptance by Owner, against defects in materials and 
workmanship. Materials, appliances and labor necessary to effect repairs and 
replacement so as to maintain said work in good functioning order shall be provided as 
required.  Replacements necessitated by normal wear in use or by Owner's abuse are 
not included under this guarantee.

B. All normal and extended warranties shall include parts, labor, miscellaneous materials, 
travel time, incidental expenses, freight/shipping, refrigerant, oils, lubricants, belts, filters 

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 301



16-1010 / WCCHD Renovations 26 02 00 - 12 BASIC MATERIALS AND METHODS

and any expenses related to service call required to diagnose warranty problems. 

1.21 TRANSFER OF ELECTRONIC FILES

A. Project documents are not intended or represented to be suitable for reuse by 
Architect/Owner or others on extensions of this project or on any other project.  Any such 
reuse or modification without written verification or adaptation by Engineer, as 
appropriate for the specific purpose intended, will be at Architect/Owner’s risk and without 
liability or legal exposure to Engineer or its consultants from all claims, damages, losses 
and expense, including attorney’s fees arising out of or resulting thereof.

B. Because data stored in electric media format can deteriorate or be modified inadvertently, 
or otherwise without authorization of the data’s creator, the party receiving the electronic 
files agrees that it will perform acceptance tests or procedures within sixty (60) days of 
receipt, after which time the receiving party shall be deemed to have accepted the data 
thus transferred to be acceptable.  Any errors detected within the sixty (60) day 
acceptance period will be corrected by the party delivering the electronic files.  Engineer 
is not responsible for maintaining documents stored in electronic media format after 
acceptance by the Architect/Owner.

C. When transferring documents in electronic media format, Engineer makes no 
representations as to the long term compatibility, usability or readability of documents 
resulting from the use of software application packages, operating systems, or computer 
hardware differing from those used by Engineer at the beginning of the Project.

D. Any reuse or modifications will be Contractor’s sole risk and without liability or legal 
exposure to Architect, Engineer or any consultant.

E. The Texas Board of Architectural Examiners (TBAE) has stated that it is in violation of 
Texas law for persons other than the Architect of record to revise the Architectural 
drawings without the Architect’s written consent.

It is agreed that “MEP” hard copy or computer-generated documents will not be issued to 
any other party except directly to the Architect/Owner.  The contract documents are 
contractually copyrighted and cannot be used for any other project or purpose except as 
specifically indicated in AIA B-141 Standard Form of Agreement Between Architect and 
Owner.

If the client, Architect/Owner, or developer of the project requires electronic media for 
“record purposes”, then an AutoCAD based compact disc (“CD”) will be prepared.  The 
“CD” will be submitted with all title block references intact and will be formatted in a “plot” 
format to permit the end user to only view and plot the drawings.  Revisions will not be 
permitted in this configuration.

F. At the Architect/Owner’s request, Engineer will prepare one “CD” of electronic media to 
assist the contractor in the preparation of submittals.  The Engineer will prepare and 
submit the “CD” to the Architect/Owner for distribution to the contractor.  All copies of the 
“CD” will be reproduced for a cost of reproduction fee of Five Hundred Dollars ($500.00) 
per “CD”.

The “CD” will be prepared and all title blocks, names and dates will be removed.  The 
“CD” will be prepared in a “.dwg” format to permit the end user to revise the drawings.

G. This Five Hundred Dollars ($500.00) per “CD” cost of reproduction will be paid directly 
from the Contractor to the Engineer.  The “CD” will be prepared only after receipt of the 
Five Hundred Dollars ($500.00).  The Five Hundred Dollars ($500.00) per “CD” cost of 

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 302



16-1010 / WCCHD Renovations 26 02 00 - 13 BASIC MATERIALS AND METHODS

reproduction is to only recover the cost of the manhours necessary to reproduce the 
documents.  It is not a contractual agreement between the Contractor and Engineer to 
provide any engineering services, nor any other service.

PART 2 - PRODUCTS

2.01 SUBSTITUTIONS

A. The names and manufacturers and model numbers have been used in the Contract 
documents to establish types of equipment and standards of quality.  Where more than 
one manufacturer is named for a specific item of equipment, only one of the specified 
manufacturers will be considered for approval.  Where only one manufacturer is 
mentioned with the phrase "or approved equal", Contractor may submit an alternate 
manufacturer for consideration, provided the following conditions are met:

1. Submit alternate equipment with complete descriptive data in shop drawing form.  
Provide sample of equipment upon request for review by Architect.  Samples will 
be returned if requested in writing.

2. Alternate equipment must be equal from the standpoint of materials, construction 
and performance.

3. Alternate submittal must be presented to the Engineer/Architect ten (10) days 
prior to bid date for approval.

B. The Architect and Engineer shall be the sole judge of quality and equivalence of 
equipment, materials and methods.

2.02 All materials and products used on this project shall be listed by Underwriters' Laboratories.

2.03 ACCESS DOORS

A. Wherever access is required in walls or ceilings to concealed junction boxes, pull boxes, 
equipment, etc., installed under this Division, furnish a hinged access door and frame 
with flush latch handle to another Division for installation.  Doors shall be as follows:

1. Plaster Surfaces: Milcor Style K.
2. Ceramic Tile Surfaces: Milcor Style M.
3. Drywall Surfaces:  Milcor Style DW.
4. Install panels only in locations approved by the Architect.

2.04 EQUIPMENT PADS

A. Unless noted otherwise 4" high concrete pads for floor mounted equipment shall be 
installed under Division 3.  Pads shall conform to the shape of the equipment with a 
minimum of 3" margin at equipment supports.  Top and sides of pads shall be troweled to 
a smooth finish, equal to floor.  External corners shall be bullnosed to a 3/4" radius, 
unless shown otherwise.

2.05 ESCUTCHEONS

A. Provide heavy chrome or nickel plated plates, of approved pattern, on conduit passing 
through walls, floors and ceilings in finished areas.  Where conduit passes through a 
sleeve, no point of the conduit shall touch the building construction.  Caulk around such 
conduit with sufficient layers of two hour rated firesafing by Thermafiber 4.0 P.C.F. 
density, U.S.G. fire test 4/11/78 and seal off openings between conduit and sleeves with 
non-hardening mastic prior to application of escutcheon plate. Escutcheons shall be 
Gravler Sure-Lock, or approved equal.

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 303



16-1010 / WCCHD Renovations 26 02 00 - 14 BASIC MATERIALS AND METHODS

2.06 SPACE LIMITATIONS

A. Equipment shall be chosen which shall properly fit into the physical space provided and 
shown on the drawings, allowing ample room for access, servicing, removal and 
replacement of parts, etc.  Adequate space shall be allowed for clearances in accordance 
with Code requirements.  Physical dimensions and arrangement of equipment shall be 
subject to the approval of the Architect.

2.07 PAINTING

A. All factory assembled equipment for electrical work, except light fixtures, that normally is 
delivered with a factory applied finish shall be delivered with a hard surface factory 
applied finish such as baked-on machinery enamel which will not require additional field 
painting.  The finish shall consist of not less than 2 coats of medium gray color paint USA 
No. 61 Munsell Notation 8-3G, 6. 10/0.54 enamel.  This Contractor shall protect this finish 
from damage due to construction operations until acceptance of the building.  He shall be 
responsible for satisfactorily restoring any such finishes or replacing equipment that 
becomes stained or damaged.

2.08 ELECTRICAL SYSTEM IDENTIFICATION

A. Conduit Systems:  Provide adequate marking of major conduit which is exposed or 
concealed in accessible spaces to distinguish each run as either a power or 
signal/communication conduit.  Except as otherwise indicated, use orange banding with 
black lettering.  Provide self-adhesive or snap-on type plastic markers.  Indicate voltage 
for that raceway.  Locate markers at ends of conduit runs, on pull boxes, on junction 
boxes, near switches and other control devices, near items of equipment served by the 
conductors, at points where conduit passes through walls or floors, or enters non-
accessible construction and at spacings of not more than 50 feet along each run of 
conduit.  Switch-leg conduit and short branches for power connections do not have to be 
marked, except where conduit is larger than ¾ inch.  Branch circuit conduits, junction 
boxes and pull boxes shall be marked with a permanent marker indicating panel name 
and branch circuit numbers.

B. Underground Cable Identification:  Bury a continuous, preprinted, bright colored plastic 
ribbon cable marker with each underground cable (or group of cables), regardless of 
whether conductors are in conduit, duct bank, or direct buried.  Locate each directly over 
cables, 6 to 8 inches below finished grade.

C. Identification of Equipment:

1. All major equipment shall have a manufacturer’s label identifying the 
manufacturer’s address, equipment model and serial numbers, equipment size, 
and other pertinent data.  Care shall be taken not to obliterate this nameplate in 
any way.

2. A black-white-black laminated plastic engraved identifying nameplate shall be 
secured by stainless steel screws to each automatic transfer switch, switchboard, 
distribution panel, motor control center, motor starter panels and panelboards.
a. Identifying nameplates shall have ¼ inch high engraved letters and shall 

contain the following information:
1) Name
2) Voltage
3) Phase
4) “3” or “4” wire, and
5) Where it is fed from.

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 304



16-1010 / WCCHD Renovations 26 02 00 - 15 BASIC MATERIALS AND METHODS

b. An example of a panelboard nameplate is:
Center Panel – 1HB 
480/277 volt, 3 phase, 4 wire
Center Fed from DP2 

c. An example of an automatic transfer switch nameplate is:
Center ATS #2 
480/277 volt, 3 phase, 4 wire, 4 pole
Center Fed from MSB and DPE

3. Each feeder device in a switchboard, distribution panel, and motor control center 
device shall have a nameplate showing the load served in ½ inch high engraved 
letters.

4. A black-white-black laminated plastic engraved identifying nameplate shall be 
secured by screws to each safety switch, disconnect switch, individual motor 
starter, enclosed circuit breaker, wireway, and terminal cabinet.
a. Identifying nameplates shall have ¼ inch high engraved letters and shall 

indicate the equipment served.
b. An example if a disconnect switch is:  AHU-1.

5. Cardholders and directory cards shall be furnished for circuit identification in 
panelboards.  Cardholder shall be located on inside of panel door and shall be in 
a metal frame with clear plastic front.  Circuit lists shall be typewritten.  Circuit 
descriptions shall include location and name of each item of equipment served.  
Spares and spaces shall be written in erasable pencil for future use.  Circuit 
directory shall show the room served by each circuit.  The final graphs/signage 
room numbers shall be used.  Do not use Architectural numbering on plans.

6. Prohibited Markings:  Markings which are intended to identify the manufacturer, 
vendor, or other source from which the material has been obtained are prohibited 
for installation within public, tenant, or common areas within the project.  Also, 
prohibited are materials or devices which bear evidence that markings or 
insignias have been removed. Certification, testing (example, Underwriters’ 
Laboratories, Inc.), and approval labels are exceptions to this requirement.

7. Warning Signs:  Provide warning signs where there is hazardous exposure 
associated with access to or operation of electrical facilities.  Provide text of 
sufficient clarity and lettering of sufficient size to convey adequate information at 
each location; mount permanently in an appropriate and effective location.  
Comply with recognized industry standards for color and design.

8. Operational Tags:  Where needed for proper and adequate information on 
operation and maintenance of electrical system, provide tags of plasticized card 
stock, either preprinted or hand printed.  Tags shall convey the message, 
example:  “DO NOT OPEN THIS SWITCH WHEN BURNER IS OPERATING.”

PART 3 - EXECUTION

3.01 EXCAVATING AND BACKFILLING

A. Trenching and backfilling and other earthwork operations required to install the facilities 
specified herein shall conform to the applicable requirements of Division 2 (95% of 
maximum standard density).  Where trenching or excavation is required in improved 
areas, the backfill shall be compacted to a condition equal to that of adjacent undisturbed 
earth and the surface of the area restored to the condition existing prior to trenching or 
excavating operations.  Provide a minimum of 3” of sand underneath all conduits.  The 
plans indicate information pertaining to surface and sub-surface obstructions; however, 
this information is not guaranteed.  Should obstructions be encountered whether or not 
shown, the Contractor shall alter routing of new work, reroute existing lines, remove 
obstructions where permitted, or otherwise perform whatever work is necessary to satisfy 
the purpose of new work and leave existing surfaces and structures in a satisfactory and 
serviceable condition.  All work shall comply with OSHA Standards.

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 305



16-1010 / WCCHD Renovations 26 02 00 - 16 BASIC MATERIALS AND METHODS

3.02 WORKMANSHIP AND CONCEALMENT

A. The work of this Section shall be performed by workman skilled in their trade.  Installation 
shall be consistent in completeness whether concealed or exposed.  Each item of 
electrical work shall be concealed in walls, chases, under floors and above ceilings 
except:

1. Where shown to be exposed.
2. Where exposure is necessary to the proper function.

3.03 SLEEVES, CUTTING AND PATCHING

A. This section shall be responsible for placing sleeves for all conduit passing through walls, 
partitions, sound walls, beams, floors, roof, etc.  Sleeves through below-grade walls shall 
use water-tight fitting manufactured by O-Z/Gedney.

B. All cutting and patching will be done under another Division, but this Section will be 
responsible for timely performance of this work and layout of holes and setting sleeves.

C. All un-used sleeves shall be sealed with 2 hour UL approved fire sealant manufactured 
by “3M” or approved equal.

D. Refer to 26 05 33 for additional requirements.

3.04 ELECTRICAL GEAR

A. Install all electrical equipment in accordance with the National Electrical Code and as 
shown on the drawings.

B. Disconnect switches, etc. mounted in mechanical/electrical rooms shall be mounted at a 
working height not requiring a ladder, when wall space is available.  Installation of these 
devices at greater elevations shall be approved by the Engineer.  Contractor shall provide 
a coordination sketch of each mechanical/electrical room noting locations and mounting 
heights of all electrical devices(note bottom and top elevations) shown to be installed.  
Sketches shall be provided to the Engineer for review and the general contractor for 
coordination with other trades working in these rooms.

3.05 CLEANING

A. Clean lighting fixtures and equipment.

B. Touch-up and refinish scratches and marred surfaces on panels, switches, starters, and 
transformers.

3.06 TESTS AND INSPECTIONS

A. Tests and inspection requirements shall be coordinated with Division I.

B. Date for final acceptance test shall be sufficiently in advance of completion date of 
contract to permit alterations or adjustments necessary to achieve proper functioning of 
equipment prior to contract completion date.

C. Conduct re-tests as directed by Architect on portions of work or equipment altered or 
adjusted as determined to be necessary by final acceptance test.  No resultant delay or 

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 306



16-1010 / WCCHD Renovations 26 02 00 - 17 BASIC MATERIALS AND METHODS

consumption of time as a result of such necessary re-test beyond contract completion 
date shall relieve Contractor of his responsibility under contract.

D. Put circuits and equipment into service under normal conditions, collectively and 
separately, as may be required to determine satisfactory operation.  Demonstrate 
equipment to operate in accordance with requirements of these specifications.  Perform 
tests in the presence of Architect.  Furnish instruments and personnel required for tests.

E. Final Inspection:

1. At the time designated by the Architect, the entire system shall be inspected by 
the Architect and Engineer. The contractor or his representative shall be present 
at this inspection.

2. Panelboards, switches, fixtures, etc., shall be cleaned and in operating condition.
3. Certificates and documents required hereinbefore shall be in order and 

presented to the Architect prior to inspection.
4. Panel covers, junction box covers, etc., shall be removed for visual inspection of 

the wire, bus bars, etc.

5. After the inspection, any items which are noted as needing to be changed or 
corrected in order to comply with these specifications and the drawings shall be 
accomplished without delay.

F. The contractor shall provide a thermographic test using an independent testing laboratory 
using an infrared scanning device. This test shall include but not limited to all 
switchboards, distribution panelboards, panelboards, automatic transfer switches and 
other electrical distribution devices. This test shall be conducted to locate high 
temperature levels.  This test shall be conducted between 3 to 8 months after occupancy, 
but not beyond the one year warranty period.  Submit test to the architect and engineer 
using test reporting forms.  All unacceptable conditions shall be corrected prior to the end 
of the warranty period.

END OF SECTION 

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 307



16-1010 / WCCHD Renovations 26 03 13 - 1 ELECTRICAL DEMOLITION FOR REMODELING

SECTION 26 03 13
ELECTRICAL DEMOLITION FOR REMODELING

PART 1 – GENERAL

1.01 SECTION INCLUDES

A. Electrical demolition.

B. The contractor shall be responsible for loss or damage to the existing facilities caused by 
him and his workmen, and shall be responsible for repairing such loss or damage.  The 
contractor shall send proper notices, make necessary arrangements, and perform other 
services required for the care, protection and in-service maintenance of all electrical 
services for the new and existing facilities.  The contractor shall erect temporary 
barricades, with necessary safety devices, as required to protect personnel from injury, 
removing all such temporary protection upon completion of the work.

C. Outages of services as required by the new installation will be permitted but only at a 
time approved by the Owner. The contractor shall allow the Owner 2 weeks in order to 
schedule required outages. The time allowed for outages will not be during normal 
working hours unless otherwise approved by the Owner.  All costs of outages, including 
overtime charges, shall be included in the contract amount.

D. The contractor shall provide temporary or new services to all existing facilities as required 
to maintain their proper operation when normal services are disrupted as a result of the 
work being accomplished under this project.

1.02 RELATED SECTIONS

A. Section 01120 – Alteration Project Procedures.

B. Section 02072 – Minor Demolition for Remodeling.

PART 2 – PRODUCTS

2.01 MATERIALS AND EQUIPMENT

A. Materials and equipment for patching and extending work: As specified in individual 
Sections.

B. Include in the contract price all rerouting of existing conduits, wiring, outlet boxes, 
fixtures, etc., and the reconnecting of existing fixtures as necessitated by field conditions 
to allow the installation of the new systems.  Furnish all temporary conduit, wiring, boxes, 
etc., as required to maintain lighting and power service for the existing areas with a 
minimum of interruption.  Remove wire and conduit back to nearest accessible active 
junction box and extend to existing homeruns as required.

PART 3 – EXECUTION

3.01 EXAMINATION

A. Verify field measurements and circuiting arrangements are as shown on Drawings.

B. Verify that abandoned wiring and equipment serve only abandoned facilities.

C. Demolition Drawings are based on casual field observation and existing record 

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 308



16-1010 / WCCHD Renovations 26 03 13 - 1 ELECTRICAL DEMOLITION FOR REMODELING

documents. Report discrepancies to Owner before disturbing existing installation.
D. Beginning of demolition means installer accepts existing conditions.

3.02 PREPARATION

A. Disconnect electrical systems in walls, floors, and ceilings scheduled for removal.

B. Provide temporary wiring and connections to maintain existing systems in service during 
construction. When work must be performed on energized equipment or circuits use 
personnel experienced in such operations.

3.03 DEMOLITION AND EXTENSION OF EXISTING ELECTRICAL WORK

A. Demolish and extend existing electrical work under provisions of Section 01120, Section 
02072, and this Section.

B. Remove, relocate, and extend existing installations to accommodate new construction.

C. Remove abandoned wiring to source of supply.

D. Remove exposed abandoned conduit, including abandoned conduit above accessible 
ceiling finishes.  Cut conduit flush with walls and floors, and patch surfaces.

E. Disconnect abandoned outlets and remove devices.  Remove abandoned outlets if 
conduit servicing them is abandoned and removed.  Provide blank cover for abandoned 
outlets, which are not removed.

F. Disconnect and remove electrical devices and equipment serving utilization equipment 
that has been removed.

G. Disconnect and remove abandoned luminaires.  Remove brackets, stems, hangers, and 
other accessories.

H. Repair adjacent construction and finishes damaged during demolition and extension 
work.

I. Maintain access to existing electrical installations which remain active.  Modify installation 
or provide access panel as appropriate.

J. Extend existing installations using materials and methods compatible with existing 
electrical installations, or as specified.

K. Where existing construction is removed to provide working and extension access to 
existing utilities, contractor shall remove doors, piping, conduit, outlet boxes, wiring, light 
fixtures, air conditioning ductwork and equipment, etc., to provide this access and shall 
reinstall same upon completion of work in the areas affected.

L. Where partitions, walls, floors, or ceilings of existing construction are being removed, all 
contractors shall remove and reinstall in locations approved by the Architect all devices 
required for the operation of the various systems installed in the existing construction.

M. During the construction and remodeling, portions of the project shall remain in service.  
Construction equipment, materials, tools, extension cords, etc., shall be arranged so as 
to present minimum hazard or interruption to the occupants of the building.

N. Certain work during the demolition phase of construction may require overtime or 

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 309



16-1010 / WCCHD Renovations 26 03 13 - 1 ELECTRICAL DEMOLITION FOR REMODELING

nighttime shifts or temporary evacuation of the occupants.  Coordinate and schedule all 
proposed down time with the Owner's Representative at least 72 hours in advance.

O. All existing lighting fixtures, switches, outlets, speakers, materials, equipment and 
appurtenances not included in the remodel or alteration areas are to remain in place and 
shall remain in service.

P. Electrical equipment, outlets, speakers, circuits to mechanical and building systems 
equipment, etc., which are to remain but which are served by conduit and/or circuiting 
that is disturbed by the remodeling work, shall be reconnected in such as manner as to 
leave it in proper operating condition.

Q. Existing branch circuit wiring which is to be removed, shall be pulled from the raceways 
and the empty conduit shall be removed to a point of permanent concealment.

R. Within the remodeled or alteration areas where existing walls are being removed, all 
existing lighting fixtures, switches, receptacles, other materials and equipment and their 
appurtenances shall be removed, where required by the remodel work either shown or 
specified.

S. New circuiting indicated to be connected to existing panels shall be connected to 
"spares" and/or "released" breakers as applicable, or new breakers provided where 
space is available. Contractor shall verify the existing panel load and feeder capacity 
prior to adding any additional loads.

T. In all the remodeled areas where existing ceilings are being removed and reinstalled, all 
ceiling mounted devices (i.e. smoked detectors, speakers, etc.) and their appurtenances 
shall be removed and reinstalled, unless otherwise shown or specified.  This also applies 
to new ceiling installations.

3.04 CLEANING AND REPAIR

A. Clean and repair existing materials and equipment which remain or are to be reused.

B. Panelboards: Clean exposed surfaces and check tightness of electrical connections.  
Replace damaged circuit breakers and provide closure plates for vacant positions.  
Provide typed circuit directory showing revised circuiting arrangement.

3.05 INSTALLATION

A. Install relocated materials and equipment under the provisions of Section 01120.

3.06 REMOVAL OF MATERIALS

A. The contractor shall modify, remove, and/or relocate all materials and items so indicated 
on the drawings or required by the installation of new facilities.  All removals and/or 
dismantling shall be conducted in a manner as to produce maximum salvage.  Salvage 
materials shall remain the property of the Owner, and shall be delivered to such 
destination as directed by the Owner.  Materials and/or items scheduled for relocation 
and which are damaged during dismantling or reassembly operations shall be repaired 
and restored to good operative condition.  The contractor may, at his discretion and upon 
the approval of the Owner, substitute new materials and/or items of like design and 
quality in lieu of materials and/or items to be relocated.

B. All items which are to be relocated shall be carefully removed in reverse to original 
assembly or placement and protected until relocated.  The contractor shall clean, repair, 

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 310



16-1010 / WCCHD Renovations 26 03 13 - 1 ELECTRICAL DEMOLITION FOR REMODELING

and provide all new materials, fittings, and appurtenances required to complete the 
relocations and to restore to good operative order.  All relocations shall be performed by 
workmen skilled in the work and in accordance with standard practice of the trades 
involved.

C. When items scheduled for relocation are found to be in damaged condition before work 
has been started on dismantling, the contractor shall call the attention of the Owner to 
such items and receive further instructions before removal. Items damaged in 
repositioning operations are the contractor's responsibility and shall be repaired or 
replaced by the contractor as approved by the Owner, at no additional cost to the Owner.

D. Service lines and wiring to items to be removed, salvaged, or relocated shall be removed 
to points indicated on the drawings, specified, or acceptable to the Owner. Service lines 
and wiring not scheduled for reuse shall be removed to the points at which reuse is to be 
continued or service is to remain. Such services shall be sealed, capped, or otherwise 
tied-off or disconnected in a safe manner acceptable to the Owner. All disconnections or 
connections into the existing facilities shall be done in such a manner as to result in 
minimum interruption of services to adjacent occupied areas. Services to existing areas 
or facilities which must remain in operation during the construction period shall not be 
interrupted without prior specific approval of the Owner as hereinbefore specified.

END OF SECTION

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 311



16-1010 / WCCHD Renovations 26 05 19 - 1 WIRE, CABLE AND RELATED MATERIALS 
 

SECTION 26 05 19  
WIRE, CABLE AND RELATED MATERIALS 

 
PART 1 - GENERAL 
 
1.01 SCOPE 
 

A. Provide 600 volt building wire, cable and connectors and 300 volt wire, cable and 
connectors. 

 
B. WORK INCLUDED:  Include the following Work in addition to items normally part of this 

Section. 
 

1. Wiring for lighting and power. 
2. Automatic Control Wiring. 
3. Connection of equipment shown. 
4. Fire Alarm System. 

 
C. WORK SPECIFIED ELSEWHERE: 

 
1. Heating, ventilating, and air conditioning equipment. 
2. Structured cabling system. 
3. Coaxial cables 

 
1.02 STANDARDS 
 

A. UL83 
 
B. ASTM B-3 

 
C. All wire cable and connectors shall be UL approved. 

 
1.03 ACCEPTABLE MANUFACTURERS 
 

A. 300 VOLT WIRE AND CABLE 
 

1. Westpenn 
2. Beldon 
3. Alpha 
4. Tappan - Southwire 

 
B. FLEXIBLE CABLE SYSTEMS 

 
1. AFC Modular Cable Systems 

 
C. CONNECTORS 

 
1. Ilsco 
2. Cooper  
3. AMP - TYCO 
4. Burndy 
5. Ideal 
6. 3M 
7. O.Z. Gedney 
8. Thomas & Betts 
9. Buchanan  

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 312



16-1010 / WCCHD Renovations 26 05 19 - 2 WIRE, CABLE AND RELATED MATERIALS 
 

 
1.04 SUBMITTALS 
 

A. Shop drawings shall include, but not limited to: 
 

1. Cutsheets of wire, cable and connectors to indicate the performance, fabrication 
procedures, product variations, and accessories. 

 
1.05 REQUIREMENTS OF REGULATORY AGENCIES WORK IN ACCORDANCE WITH: 
 

A. National Electrical Code. 
 

B. Local, municipal, or state codes that have jurisdiction. 
 
PART 2 - PRODUCTS 
 
2.01 WIRING 
 

A. All wire shall be new and continuous without weld, splice, or joints throughout its length.  
It must be uniform in cross-section, free from flaws, scales and other imperfections. 

 
B. WIRE MATERIAL:  Conductors shall be soft drawn, annealed copper.  Aluminum wiring 

is not acceptable unless otherwise noted on drawings.  
 

C. TYPES: 
 

1. Provide type “THHN/THWN-2” insulation for all buried feeders and service 
entrance conductors. 

2. Provide type “THHN/THWN-2” insulation for all branch circuits and above grade 
feeders. 

3. All wire No. 8 and larger shall be stranded.  All wire No. 10 and smaller shall be 
stranded or solid.   

4. Provide type "XHHW" or other 90 degrees insulation wiring for branch circuit 
wiring installed through continuous rows of fluorescent fixture bodies. 

5. All 300-volt cable including but not limited to telephone, fire alarm, data, CATV 
and security shall be UL listed for use in return air plenums. 

 
D. CONDUCTOR SIZES 

 
1. Feeder conductors shall be sized for a maximum of 2% drop in rated voltage at 

scheduled load. 
2. Branch circuit conductors shall be sized for a maximum 3% drop in the rated 

voltage to the longest outlet on the circuit. 
3. Minimum wire shall be No. 12, unless otherwise shown on Drawings or required 

by Code. 
   

E. COLOR CODING:  No. 6 or larger shall use tape for color coding.  No. 8 and smaller wire 
shall be color coded in accordance with the governing authority requirements or as 
follows: 

 
120/208 VOLT  277/480 VOLT  120/240 VOLT 
NEUTRAL:  White Neutral:  Gray  Neutral:  White 
PHASE A:  Black Phase A:  Brown Phase A:  Black 
PHASE B:  Red  Phase B:  Purple Phase B:  Orange 
PHASE C:  Blue Phase C:  Yellow Phase C:  Blue 
GROUND:   Green Ground:   Green Ground:   Green 

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 313



16-1010 / WCCHD Renovations 26 05 19 - 3 WIRE, CABLE AND RELATED MATERIALS 
 

 
2.02 GROUNDING 

 
Permanently connect all conduit work, motors, starters, and other electrical equipment to 
grounding system in accordance with the National Electrical Code. 

 
  
PART 3 - EXECUTION 
 
3.01 WIRE 
 

A. Do not pull wire into conduit until Work of an injurious nature is completed.  Where two or 
more circuits run to a single outlet box, each circuit shall be properly tagged. Wyreze or 
approved equal may be used as a lubricant where necessary. 

 
B. Splices shall be fully made up in outlet boxes with compression crimp-on type splice 

connectors. 
 
C. Joints and splices will not be permitted in service entrance or in feeders.  Joints in branch 

circuits will be permitted where branch circuits divide, and then shall consist of one 
through-circuit to which the branch shall be spliced.  Joints shall not be left for the fixture 
hanger to make.  Connect joints and splices with Buchanan Series "2000" solderless 
connectors complete with insulating caps or properly sized twist on wire nuts. “Wago” 
push-in connectors are not acceptable. 

 
D. All stranded conductors shall be furnished with lugs or connectors. 
 
E. Connectors furnished with circuit breakers or switches shall be suitable for copper wire 

termination. 
 

F. “Sta-Cons” shall be used to terminate stranded conductors on all switches and 
receptacles. 

 
G. All stranded #10 and small conductors shall be terminated with an approved solderless 

terminal if the device or light fixture does not have provisions for clamp type securing of 
the conductor. 

 
H. The jacket for all travelers used on 3-way and 4-way switches shall be pink. 
 

3.02 BALANCING SYSTEM 
 

The load on each distribution and lighting panel shall be balanced to within 10% by proper 
arrangement of branch circuits on the different phase legs.  Provide written documentation 
showing results.  Submit with O & M manuals. 

 
3.03 LOW VOLTAGE WIRING 
 

A. Low voltage wiring shall be plenum rated.  All wiring in mechanical rooms, electrical 
rooms, drywall ceiling, inaccessible areas, underground, plaster ceiling, inside concealed 
walls areas exposed to occupant view, and other areas subject to physical damage shall 
be run in conduit. 
 

B. Low voltage wiring shall be routed in separate raceways from power wiring systems. 
 

C. Sleeves shall be placed in the forms of concrete, masonry and fire rated walls, floor slabs 
and beams, for the passage of wiring.  Sleeves should be set in place a sufficient time 

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 314



16-1010 / WCCHD Renovations 26 05 19 - 4 WIRE, CABLE AND RELATED MATERIALS 
 

ahead of the concrete work so as not to delay the work.  Sleeves shall be rigid galvanized 
steel. 

 
3.04 CABLE SUPPORTS 
 

A. Provide cable supports in all vertical raceways in accordance with Article 300-19 of the 
NEC. 

 
3.05 DEFECTS 
 

A. Defects shall include, but are not to limited to, the following: 
 

1. Tripping circuit breakers under normal operation. 
2. Improperly connected equipment. 
3. Damaged, torn, or skinned insulation. 

 
 

END OF SECTION 

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 315



 

16-1010 / WCCHD Renovations 26 05 26 - 1 GROUNDING 
 

SECTION 26 05 26 
GROUNDING 

 
PART 1 - GENERAL 
 
1.01 GENERAL REQUIREMENTS 
 

A. The requirements of the General Conditions and Supplementary Conditions apply to all 
work herein. 

 
1.02 SCOPE 
 

A. WORK COMBINED WITH OTHER SECTIONS:  Combine the work specified herein with 
the following Sections to form a single responsibility for the Work: 

 
1. Electrical. 
2. Basic materials and methods. 

 
B. Provide electrical service, equipment and wiring device grounding as shown, scheduled 

and as specified. 
 

C. The types of grounding include, but not limited to, the grounding bonding of all equipment 
devices, building steel piping, and as required by the National Electrical Code, Local 
Inspection Department and Power Company. 

 
1.03 STANDARDS 
 

A. NATIONAL ELECTRICAL CODE (NFPA-70) 
 

B. Local municipal and State codes that have jurisdiction. 
 

C. NECA 
 
1.04 ACCEPTABLE MANUFACTURES 
 

A. Provide grounding products manufactured by Copperweld and Cadweld. 
 
1.05 SUBMITTALS 
 

A. Shop drawings shall include, but not limited to the following: 
 

1. Cut sheets of ground rods, clamps and connectors. 
2. Grounding system diagram. 

 
PART 2 - PRODUCTS 
 

A. GENERAL:  Provide all materials required to construct a complete grounded electrical 
system. 

 
B. GROUND RODS:  Ground rods shall be 3/4" inch diameter by 10 feet long construction 

with copper jacket and a steel core. 
 
C. CLAMPS:  Ground clamps shall be copper except for steel or iron pipes in which the 

clamps shall be galvanized iron. 
 
D. CONDUCTORS:  Conductors shall be connected by means of an approved pressure 

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 316



 

16-1010 / WCCHD Renovations 26 05 26 - 2 GROUNDING 
 

connector or clamp. 
 
PART 3 - EXECUTION 
 
3.01 INSTALLATION 
 

A. GENERAL:  Install grounding system as shown and specified to ensure a properly 
grounded system. 

 
B. GROUNDING SEPARATELY DERIVED ALTERNATING CURRENT SYSTEM 

 
1. STANDBY EMERGENCY GENERATOR:  The generator neutral shall be bonded 

to the generator when a 4 pole switched neutral automatic transfer switch is 
specified. 

 
C. GROUNDING CONDUCTOR:  A grounding conductor and metallic conduit system shall 

bond all equipment served by the electrical system.  Provide a flexible bonding jumper for 
isolated metallic piping and ductwork and around expansion fittings and joints. 

 
D. CONDUIT GROUNDING BUSHING: 

 
Conduit terminating in equipment that has a ground bus such as panelboards, etc., shall 
have grounding bushings installed. Ground each conduit by means of a grounding 
bushing and to the ground bus in the equipment.   

 
E. MOTORS:  The frame of all motors shall be grounded. 

 
F. SPECIAL GROUNDING:  Provide a #6 AWG copper grounding conductor for each 

telephone board, television system, etc.  Terminate the grounding conductor on ground 
bus and to the building electrical grounding system.  Refer to 800-40(d) and 820-40(d) of 
the NEC. 

 
G. LIGHTING FIXTURES:  Flexible fixture whips containing a green grounding conductor 

shall be used to connect light fixtures.   Flexible fixture whips shall not exceed ten feet. 
 
H. RECEPTACLES:  All receptacles shall be grounded using the branch circuit grounding 

conductor.  Receptacles shall use an approved grounding yoke. 
 
 
 

END OF SECTION 

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 317



16-1010 / WCCHD Renovations 26 05 33 - 1 RACEWAYS

SECTION 26 05 33
RACEWAYS

PART 1 - GENERAL

1.01 SCOPE

A. Provide electrical raceways and fittings as shown, scheduled and specified.

B. The types of raceways and fittings required are as follows:

1. Rigid hot-dipped galvanized steel conduit (RGS)
2. Intermediate hot-dipped galvanized steel conduit (IMC)
3. Electrical metallic tubing (EMT)
4. PVC
5. Flexible metal conduit
6. Liquid-tight flexible metal conduit (non-metallic is not acceptable)
7. PVC coated rigid galvanized steel conduit
8. Aluminum Rigid Conduit (ARC)

1.02 STANDARDS

A. ANSI, C80.1 & C80.3

B. NEMA FB-1

C. NEMA TC3

D. UL, 6, 797 & 1242

1.03 ACCEPTABLE MANUFACTURERS

A. Raceways

1. Allied
2. Triangle
3. Republic
3. Carlon
4. Wheatland Tube
5. Cantex
6. Western Tube
7. Robroy Industries

B. Fittings

1. Appleton
2. Crouse Hinds
3. Steel City
4. O.Z. Gedney
5. Carlon
6. Raco, Inc.

1.04 SUBMITTALS

A. Shop drawing shall include but not be limited to:

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 318



16-1010 / WCCHD Renovations 26 05 33 - 2 RACEWAYS

1. Cutsheets for raceways and fitting.

1.05 REQUIREMENTS OF REGULATORY AGENCIES WORK IN ACCORDANCE WITH:

A. National Electrical Code.

B. Local, municipal, or state codes that have jurisdiction.

PART 2 - PRODUCTS

2.01 PROVIDE CONDUIT AS FOLLOWS:

A. Except as noted or otherwise specified, all wiring shall be installed in galvanized rigid 
steel, rigid aluminum conduit or electrical steel tube (EMT) of the proper size to contain 
the number of conductors required in accordance with the latest edition of the N.E.C.  
Where conduit sizes are shown on the drawings, these shall take preference. Contractor 
shall epoxy coat galvanized rigid steel conduit for use in natatoriums.

B. EMT in sizes up to 4 inches when concealed or not exposed to damage and located 
indoors only.

C. PVC coated rigid galvanized steel shall be used for all penetrations of slab on grade.

D. Rigid galvanized steel where embedded in concrete or masonry construction, mechanical 
yard or in exterior/interior applications where subject to damage.

E. Rigid aluminum shall be used in exterior applications. (i.e. roof, top of canopies)

F. Carlon Schedule 40 PVC may be utilized underground, in or below slab where shown on 
the construction documents.

G. MINIMUM SIZE: 3/4 inch.  All homeruns shall be 3/4" minimum.

H. PVC coated rigid galvanized steel conduit shall be coated inside and outside.

I. PVC coated rigid galvanized steel conduit shall be used at cooling towers, corrosive 
areas and pool pump rooms.

J. Fixture whips: Refer to 26 51 00 for additional information.

K. Flexible metal shall be used for connecting rotating equipment installed in conditioned 
spaces.

L. Liquidtight Flexible Metal Conduit (Sealtite) shall be used for connecting rotating 
equipment installed in non-conditioned spaces and outside.

M. Bear the stamped approval of the UL and be approved by the Architect and Engineer.

2.02 Branch circuits run underground shall be run in Carlon Schedule 40 PVC conduit.  Install ground 
wire in accordance with NEC table 250-122.

2.03 FITTINGS

A. Couplings for rigid steel or intermediate conduit shall be hot dipped galvanized steel.  Set 
screw type is not acceptable.

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 319



16-1010 / WCCHD Renovations 26 05 33 - 3 RACEWAYS

B. Steel or malleable iron fittings shall be used on all other raceway types except for PVC.

C. Couplings for aluminum raceways shall be threaded aluminum.

D. EMT systems shall utilize steel insulated throat, threadless, water tight compression type 
connectors and threadless steel water tight compression type couplings.

E. Coupling and connectors accessories and fittings for PVC coated rigid galvanized steel 
shall be PVC coated.

F. Metal Sealtite fittings shall be steel.  Plastic is not acceptable.

G. Provide nylon bushing on end of all low voltage cabling system conduits (sleeves, rough-
ins, etc.).

PART 3 - EXECUTION

3.01 CONDUIT

A. GENERAL

The Drawings are diagrammatic, and are intended to show the general location of outlets, 
devices, fixtures, and arrangement and control of circuits.  The Contractor shall 
determine exact locations by actual measurement of the building or by reference to the 
Architectural Drawings.

B. Of such size, and so installed that conductors may be drawn in without injury or 
excessive strain.

C. Where entering panels, pull boxes, junction boxes, or outlet boxes, shall be secured in 
place with lock nuts inside and outside, and insulated bushings inside.

D. Have Red seal type VCC or approved equal cable supports in risers, as required by 
N.E.C.

E. Have ends reamed after cutting and application of die.

F. Keep conduit corked and dry during construction, and swab out before conductors are 
pulled.

G. Have bends and offsets made with approved tools.  Bends or offsets in which the pipe is 
crushed or deformed shall not be installed.

H. Where not embedded in concrete or masonry, be firmly secured by approved clamps, 
half-straps or hangers.

I. Have O.Z. Gedney or approved equal expansion fittings where crossing building 
expansion joints.

J. EXPANSION JOINTS:  Make provision for expansion and shifting of metal or PVC 
conduits where risers occur from underground.

K. Except in the mechanical equipment rooms, run conduit concealed, and by the shortest 
practicable route between outlets.  Install risers, drops, and offsets necessary to avoid 
conflict with ductwork, piping, structural members, and similar items.

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 320



16-1010 / WCCHD Renovations 26 05 33 - 4 RACEWAYS

L. Install exposed conduit in mechanical rooms, and elsewhere as indicated, parallel to 
horizontal and vertical lines of walls, ceilings, and floors.

M. In general, light fixtures in finished areas having suspended acoustical ceilings shall be 
connected to outlet boxes of lighting grid by flexible metal conduit; length not to exceed 
ten feet.

N. Outlet boxes in partitions shall never be set back to back.  They shall be offset to prevent 
undue noise transmission from room to room.

O. Concealed conduit shall run in as direct manner as possible using long bends.  Exposed 
conduit shall be run parallel with or at right angles to the lines of the building; and all 
bends shall be made with standard conduit elbows or conduit benders.  Not more than 
equivalent of four quarter bends shall be used in any run between terminals and cabinet, 
of between outlet or junction boxes.  Approved condulets shall be used in lieu of conduit 
elbows where ease of installation and appearance warrants their use and approved by 
the engineer.  Conduit joints shall be made with approved couplings and unions.

P. Conduits shall be continuous from outlet to outlet and from outlets to cabinets, junction or 
pull boxes and shall be electrically continuous throughout.  Terminals of all conduits shall 
be provided with double lock nuts and bushing or terminated on conduit hubs.  Use of 
running threads is prohibited.

Q. Each entire conduit system shall be installed complete before any conductors are drawn 
in.  Every run of conduit shall be finished before covering up to guard against 
obstructions and omissions.

R. Sleeves shall be placed in the forms of concrete, masonry and fire rated walls, floor slabs 
and beams, for the passage of conduits.  Sleeves should be set in place a sufficient time 
ahead of the concrete work so as not to delay the work.  Sleeves shall be rigid galvanized 
steel and set to extend 4” above slab.

S. All pipe penetrations through walls and concrete floors shall be fire rated by applying 
USG Thermafiber in the space between the concrete and the pipe.  The fire rating shall 
be additionally sealed by using 3M brand model CP 25 or 303 fire barrier caulk and putty.  
All fire rating material shall be installed in accordance with manufacturer's printed 
instructions.

T. All conduit shall be cleaned and swabbed to remove all foreign matter and moisture prior 
to pulling wire and cable.  All boxes in which conduits terminate shall be cleaned of all 
concrete mortar and other foreign matter.  

U. Provide #30 nylon pulling line in all conduits in which permanent wiring is not installed.

V. All conduit shall be securely fastened and supported using hot galvanized malleable iron 
one-hole pipe straps, clamps, hanger or other means approved by the engineer.  
Supports shall be as required by NEC Table 344-3 (B)(2).  Tie wire shall not be used as 
support or securing means.  Support conduit independently of ceiling hanger wire.  Use 
all thread rods to support outlet boxes, junction boxes and conduit.

W. When PVC conduit is routed underground, all stub-up's and 90° elbows shall be PVC 
coated rigid galvanized steel.  Use PVC coated rigid galvanized steel when penetrating 
concrete on grade.

X. Route all conduit above grade unless otherwise noted on the construction documents.

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 321



16-1010 / WCCHD Renovations 26 05 33 - 5 RACEWAYS

Y. Contact the Architect and Engineer for an installation review before covering any below 
grade or above grade conduit.

Z. All new outlets shall be flush mounted.  In remodeled areas where wall construction 
prohibits flush mounting, provide wiremold 2400 series.  Verify exact location and routing 
with architect before installation.

AA. Contractor shall not penetrate water proof barriers without using proper fitting to maintain 
barriers. This shall include exterior walls and slabs. Coordinate with Architect for proper 
methods.

3.02 FITTINGS

A. Install approved expansion fitting in all conduit runs in excess of 150 feet or when 
crossing building expansion joints.

3.03 CONDUIT CORROSION PROTECTION

A. Branch circuit conduits installed in concrete slabs on fill or grade shall be positioned in a 
manner to ensure complete concrete cover.  In no case shall such conduits be exposed 
below or above the slab surfaces, or penetrate the waterproof membrane.

B. At locations where metallic conduits pass through slabs on grade or transitions below 
grade, PVC coated rigid galvanized conduit shall be used.

3.04 OUTLET AND JUNCTION BOXES

A. Provide an approved galvanized outlet box with adequate volume for number of 
conductors installed.

B. Provide standard galvanized switch boxes of the required number of gangs.  Switch 
boxes where conduit is exposed shall be handy boxes or approved equal.

C. Outlet boxes for receptacles shall be similar to Universal 52151 with suitable raised 
cover.  Receptacle boxes where conduit is exposed shall be handy boxes or approved 
equal.

D. Weatherproof boxes shall be FS or FD. Provide these boxes in all non-conditioned areas, 
exterior areas and natatoriums.

E. Outdoor boxes shall be NEMA 3R, with conduit connections made by Myers Hubs.

F. See notes and details on Drawings for special box requirements.

G. Provide junction boxes required to facilitate installation of the various conduit systems.  
Provide support boxes required for risers, each complete with approved cable supports 
as described elsewhere in this Division.

H. Outlet boxes for drywall shall be standard galvanized 4" square boxes with the 
appropriate device cover.

I. Provide floor outlet fittings for telephone to match fittings for duplex floor receptacles.

J. Provide 3-1/2” deep gangable masonry boxes in all masonry wall (CMU).   Steel City 
GW-135-G or approved equal.

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 322



16-1010 / WCCHD Renovations 26 05 33 - 6 RACEWAYS

K. Provide shallow 4”x4” boxes in all demountable partitions.

L. Metallic boxes located in fire rated walls or partitions shall be separated by a minimum 
horizontal distance of  24 in.  This minimum separation distance between metallic boxes 
may be reduced when “ Wall Opening Protective Materials” (CLIV) are installed according 
to the requirements of their Classification.  Metallic boxes shall not be installed on 
opposite side of walls or partitions of staggered stud construction unless “Wall Opening 
Protective Materials” are installed with the metallic boxes in accordance with 
Classification requirements for the protective materials.

M. Junction, pull boxes, condulets, gutters, disconnects, contactors, etc., above 2-foot x 2-
foot grid ceilings shall be mounted within 18-inches of ceiling grid. Above 2-foot x 4 – foot 
grid ceiling they shall be mounted within 30-inches of ceiling grid. All junction box, pull 
box, gutter openings shall be side or bottom accessible.

3.05 THRU-WALL SEALS

A. Provide O.Z. Gedney “Thru-wall” seals for all conduits passing through concrete structure 
below grade, above grade, and floor penetrations below grade.  These prevent moisture 
from entering the building.

B. Straight sleeves are not acceptable.

3.06 PULL BOXES

A. Pull boxes shall be provided for conduit systems as required and shall be constructed of 
galvanized steel of not less than gauge and size specified by National Electrical Code.

B. Where two or more feeders pass through a common pull box, they shall be tagged to 
indicate clearly their electrical characteristics, circuit number, and panel designation.

3.07 WIREWAYS

A. Wireways shall be installed as indicated or required and locations shall be coordinated 
with architect.

B. Wireways shall be made of not less than 16-gauge sheet steel for 4 inch and 6 inch 
square sizes and 14 gauge steel for 8 inch and 12 inch square sizes.  Couplings end 
plates, and knockouts shall be furnished as required.  Each section of wireways shall be 
rigidly supported.

C. Wiring in wireways shall be neatly bundled, tied and suitably tagged.

D. The finish shall be ANSI-49 gray epoxy paint applied by a cathodic electrode position 
paint process over a corrosion resistant phosphate preparation for NEMA 1 wireways.  
Provide galvanized steel for NEMA 3R wireways.  NEMA 3R wireways and auxiliary 
gutters are for horizontal mounting only.

END OF SECTION

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 323



 

 
16-1010 / WCCHD Renovations 26 27 26 - 1 WIRING DEVICES 

 

SECTION 26 27 26 
WIRING DEVICES 

 
PART 1 – GENERAL 
 
1.1 SCOPE 

 
A. Provide wiring devices as shown; scheduled, required and as specified. 

 
B. The types of wiring devices required include: 
 

1. Receptacles 
2. Switches 
3. Coverplates 

 
1.2 STANDARDS 

 
A. NEMAWD-1 

 
B. NEMA WD-5 

 
C. UL 

 
D. Federal Spec WC-596-F and WS-896 

 
1.3 ACCEPTABLE MANUFACTURERS 

 
A. Hubbell  

 
B. Leviton  

 
C. Pass & Seymour  

 
1.4 SUBMITTALS 

 
A. Shop drawings shall include but not be limited to: 

1. Cut sheets of all devices indicating NEMA configuration, rating, materials, color,  
and all accessories.  

2. Cut sheets of all coverplates indicating materials, color and any engraving  
specified on drawing or in the specifications.  

 
1.5 REQUIREMENTS OF REGULATORY AGENCIES WORK IN ACCORDANCE WITH: 
 

A. National Electric Code. 
 

B. Local, municipal, or state codes that have jurisdiction. 
 
PART 2 – PRODUCTS 
 
2.1 MATERIALS AND COMPONENTS 

 
A. GENERAL 

1. Provide factory assemble wiring devices with the rating type and color as 
required and specified for the service indicated. 

2. Provide matching one-piece multiple gang plates where switches are ganged. 

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 324



 

 
16-1010 / WCCHD Renovations 26 27 26 - 1 WIRING DEVICES 

 

3. Provide wall plates for each receptacle furnished. 
4. Architect reserves the right to select wiring device styles and colors to match wall 

finish. 
5. Wall plates shall be of same manufacturer as devices. 

 
2.2 SWITCHES 

 
A. Provide specification grade toggle switches where indicated on the Drawings. Coordinate 

exact locations and finish with architect.  
 

B. Wall switches shall be 20 amp, 120-277 volt and shall be Hubbell, Leviton or P&S as  
follows:  
1. SINGLE POLE SWITCHES: Leviton 1221-2, Hubbell 1221, P&S PS20AC1  
2. DOUBLE POLE SWITCHES: Leviton 1222-2, Hubbell Hubbell 1222, P&S 

PS20AC2  
3. THREE WAY SWITCHES: Leviton 1223-2, Hubbell Hubbell 1223, P&S PS20AC3  
4. FOUR WAY SWITCHES: Leviton 1224-2, Hubbell Hubbell 1224, P&S PS20AC4  

 
C. Dimmers: Provide Lutron Nova "T" series or Leviton or as shown on drawings. Wall box  

dimmers shall be sized to handle the load. Where fluorescent dimming ballasts are to be  
used, coordinate wall box dimmer with ballast manufacturer.  
 

2.3 RECEPTACLES 
 
A. Provide specification grade receptacles where indicated on the drawings. Provide “Red” 

receptacles for receptacles on emergency power. Coordinate exact location and finish 
with architect. 
 

B. Receptacles shall be Hubbell, Leviton or Pass & Seymour as follows: 
 

1. Duplex 20A-125V-self grounding:with Brass mounting yoke (NEMA configuration 5-20R):  
Hubbell HBL5352, Leviton 5362, P&S 5362A  

5. Ground fault circuit interrupter (GFCI) receptacle 20A-125V; (NEMA 
Configuration 5-20R, shall incorporate features which will lock-out or render the 
device incapable of being reset if ground fault protection is compromised, with 
"Feed through" connectors capable of protecting connected downstream 
receptacles on a single circuit, and of being installed in a 2-3/4" deep outlet box 
without adapter, Hubbell GF20L, Leviton N7899 or P & S 2095. 
Install Hubbell GFTR20, Leviton X7899 or P&S 2095TR Tamper Resistant type 
for locations requiring Tamper Resistant installations.  
Install Hubbell GFTR20, Leviton X7899 or P&S 2095TRWR Weather Resistant 
type for installations in damp or wet locations. 

 
2.4 PLATES 

 
A. Furnish and install plates on all outlet boxes. Oversize (Jumbo) plates are not acceptable. 

 
B. Plates shall be smooth nylon. 

Plates shall be 302/304 smooth stainless steel in kitchen and coffee bar areas. 
 

C. Provide Hubbell WP Series, Bell, Carlon or Leviton NEMA 3R weatherproof coverplates 
on all exterior wiring devices. Enclosure shall be suitable for wet locations when in use. 
 

D. Plates shall be Hubbell SS Series, Leviton, Pass & Seymour 302/304 smooth stainless 
steel on all receptacles 30 amps and larger. 

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 325



 

 
16-1010 / WCCHD Renovations 26 27 26 - 1 WIRING DEVICES 

 

 
E. Stainless steel device plates shall be provided at locations with tile or stone walls. 

 
 
PART 3 – EXECUTION 
 
3.1 WIRING DEVICE MOUNTING HEIGHTS 

A. Unless noted to the contrary on plans, or directed otherwise during the progress of the  
Work, wiring devices shall be set as follows:  

1. Switches 42" above finished floor.  
2. Wall mounted receptacles shall be installed vertically at 15 inches to the bottom  

outlet above finished floor unless otherwise noted or as required by local codes.  
3. Wall telephone outlets shall be mounted 15 inches to the bottom above finished  

floor unless otherwise noted. Mount even with wall mounted receptacles.  
4. At locations above counters, set devices at 6 inches above to the centerline  

counter tops, verify exact mounting height with the architect.  
 

3.2 INSTALLATION (Refer to 26 05 33 for outlet box specifications). 
 

A. Wall switches shall be set in a suitable steel box and shall be installed on the strike side  
of the door as finally hung, whether so indicated on the Drawings or not.  
 

B. Receptacles shall be installed in a suitable steel box.  
 

C. The Architect reserves the right to relocate wiring device up to a distance of 5 feet from  
the location shown, before rough-in, without additional cost.  

 
 D.  Provide multi-gang device covers at locations where devices gang together.  
 

E. Device locations are indicated schematically on the drawings along with the type and  
mounting height. Final locations and mounting heights shall be coordinated with the  
Architect on the jobsite, and with shop drawings of equipment; including equipment to 
be furnished and installed by the Owner. Devices installed in walls covered with vinyl, 
fabric wallpaper or other special finishes shall be coordinated and verified with the 
Architect on the job-site.  

 

F. Stranded wire termination to switches, receptacles, devices and miscellaneous control  
devices shall be with an approved solderless terminal if clamp type securing is not  
possible (i.e. Sta-Con crimp on fork tongue connectors; Burndy Type TP-F).  

 
 

END OF SECTION 

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 326



 

16-1010 / WCCHD Renovations 26 28 16 - 1 SAFETY AND DISCONNECT SWITCHES 
 

SECTION 26 28 16 
SAFETY AND DISCONNECT SWITCHES 

 
PART 1 - GENERAL 
 
1.01 SCOPE 
 

A. Provide safety and disconnect switches as shown, scheduled and as specified herein. 
 
1.02 STANDARDS 
 

A. Products shall be designed, manufactured, tested and installed in compliance with 
applicable standards. 
 
1. NEMA KS1 - Enclosed switches 
2. Federal specification W-S-865C-Heavy duty switches 

 
B. Products shall conform all applicable UL standards, including UL98 (standard for safety, 

enclosed and dead front switches) and shall be UL-labeled. 
 
1.03 ACCEPTABLE MANUFACTURERS 
 

A. Provide one of the following manufacturers: 
 
1. General Electric Company 
2. Square D Company 
3. Siemens 
4. Eaton 

 
1.04 SUBMITTALS 
 

A. Shop drawings shall include, but not be limited to: 
 
1. Cutsheets of switches with ratings, physical dimensions and all accessories 

clearly labeled. 
 
1.05 REQUIREMENTS OF REGULATORY AGENCIES 
 

A. WORK IN ACCORDANCE WITH: 
 
1. National Electrical Code. 
2. Local, municipal, or state codes that have jurisdiction. 

 
PART 2 - PRODUCTS 
 
2.01 GENERAL 
 

A. Furnish and install heavy duty type safety switches with the number of switched poles as 
indicated on the plans and specifications.  All safety switches shall be NEMA Heavy Duty 
Type HD, and Underwriters Laboratories listed. 

 
2.02 MATERIALS AND COMPONENTS 
 

A. Switch Interior 
 

All switches shall have switch blades that are fully visible in the "OFF" position when the 

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 327



 

16-1010 / WCCHD Renovations 26 28 16 - 2 SAFETY AND DISCONNECT SWITCHES 
 

door is open.  Switches shall have removable arc suppressor where necessary, to permit 
easy access to line side lugs.  Lugs shall be front removable and UL listed for 60ºC and 
75ºC copper or aluminum cables.  All switches blades and contacts shall be plated 
copper.  Adjust fuse block to accept Class J fuses. 

 
B. Switch Mechanism 

 
Switches shall have a quick-make and quick-break operating handle and mechanism, 
which shall be an integral part of the box, not the cover.  Padlocking provisions shall be 
provided for locking in the "OFF" position with at least three padlocks.  Switches shall 
have a dual cover interlock to prevent unauthorized opening of the switch door when the 
handle is in the "ON" position, and to prevent closing of the switch mechanism with the 
door open.  A means shall be provided to permit authorized personnel to release the 
interlock for inspection purposes.  Handle position shall indicate if switch is "ON" or 
"OFF". 

 
C. Neutral 

 
Provide a solid neutral with the safety switch where a neutral is present in the circuit. 

 
D. Ratings 

 
Switches shall be horsepower rated for ac and/or dc as indicated by the plans.  The fused 
switches shall have Class R rejection fuse clips or adjusted for Class J fuses.  UL listed 
short circuit ratings of the switches, when equipped with Class R fuses, shall be 200,000 
symmetrical amperes. 

 
E. Enclosures 

 
1.  Indoor switches shall be furnished in NEMA 1 enclosures. 
2. Outdoor switches, switches located in wet areas or sprinkled areas shall be 

furnished in NEMA 3R enclosures. 
3. Switches installed in kitchens shall be stainless steel. 

 
 
PART 3 - EXECUTION 
 
3.01 GENERAL 
 

A. Install safety and disconnect switches, including electrical connections, and fuses in 
accordance with manufacturer’s written instructions, NEC and recognized industry 
practices. 

 
B. Location:  Install switches within sight of controllers. 

 
C. Hubs:  Provide bolt-on hubs for rainproof or wet area applications. 

 
3.02 IDENTIFICATION 
 

A. Nameplate: Each disconnect switch shall have an engraved bakelite nameplate.  
Nameplates shall be white with black letters and show equipment served.  Nameplates 
shall be attached with stainless steel screws. 

 
 

END OF SECTION 
 

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 328



 

16-1010 / WCCHD Renovations 26 29 26 - 1     MISCELLANEOUS ELECTRICAL CONTROLS AND WIRING 

SECTION 26 29 26 
MISCELLANEOUS ELECTRICAL CONTROLS AND WIRING 

 
PART 1 - GENERAL 
 
1.01 GENERAL REQUIREMENTS 
 

A. The requirements of the General Conditions and Supplementary Conditions apply to all 
work herein.  

 
1.02 SCOPE 
 

A. Provide the various miscellaneous control devices, wiring and additional branch circuits 
as required, shown and specified. 

 
B. The types of miscellaneous control devices and wiring include but not limited to the 

following. 
 

1. Additional control wiring and safety devices as shown and specified. 
2. Connect power from fire alarm relays to starters to shut down air handling units. 

 
C. WORK SPECIFIED ELSEWHERE: 

 
1. Various control devices, of an electrical nature, for the safe operation and 

temperature control of the heating, ventilating, air conditioning and plumbing 
systems provided under Division 23. 

2. All control wiring and conduit shall be furnished under Division 23.  All power 
wiring 120 volt or larger shall be provided by Division 26. 

3. Refer to building controls specification, Division 23 for scope of work required to 
be performed by Division 26 (electrical contractor). 

 
1.03 REQUIREMENTS OF REGULATORY AGENCIES 
 

A. WORK IN ACCORDANCE WITH: 
 

1. National Electrical Code. 
2. Local municipal or state codes that have jurisdiction. 

 
 
PART 2 - PRODUCTS 
 
2.01 MATERIAL 
 

A. GENERAL:  This Section shall outline the basic installation of electric devices, conduit, 
boxes, fittings, and wiring required for complete interconnection of several systems, this 
may not reflect every required appurtenance.  It does not cover integral parts of 
mechanical equipment. 

 
B. Control wiring shall be not less than #14 AWG type TW, and shall be color coded and 

labeled with Brady markers throughout.  Bundle multiple conductors with Ty-Raps. 
 
PART 3 - EXECUTION 
 
3.01 Install miscellaneous electrical controls and wiring to provide a functioning system. 
 
3.02 DIVISION 22, 23, 27 AND 28 MISCELLANEOUS POWER AND CONTROLS 

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 329



 

16-1010 / WCCHD Renovations 26 29 26 - 2     MISCELLANEOUS ELECTRICAL CONTROLS AND WIRING 

 
A. Install electrical devices not an integral part of system equipment providing conduit, 

boxes, fittings, wiring, circuit breakers, disconnecting means and other devices. 
 
B. Contractor is responsible for providing all line voltage power to devices that require 

electrical power to operate.  Contractor shall terminate line voltage power to termination 
points. Contractor shall coordinate between all trades to determine sizing and quantities 
of line voltage circuits to adequately power and control devices.  Provide circuits from 
nearest low voltage panel using spare circuits provided, if device requires power not 
already available or indicated. 

 
C. Provide GFCI receptacle with weather proof cover within 25 feet of all heating, air 

conditioning and refrigeration equipment. 
 
3.03 Install contactor and relays in electrical/mechanical rooms unless otherwise noted. 
 
3.04 Install photocells on the roof unless otherwise directed by the architect.  Coordinate any roof 

penetrations with all other trades and shield from other light sources. 
 
3.05 Provide miscellaneous connections for signs and other furnished equipment as shown on the 

Drawings. 
 
 

END OF SECTION 

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 330



16-1010 / WCCHD Renovations 26 32 13 16 - 1    DIESEL ENGINE DRIVEN STANDBY GENERATOR  

SECTION 26 32 13 16 
DIESEL ENGINE DRIVEN STANDBY GENERATOR 

 
PART 1 - GENERAL 
 
1.01 GENERAL REQUIREMENTS 
 

A. The requirements of the General Conditions and Supplementary Conditions apply to all 
work herein. 

 
B. SCOPE 

 
1. Provide a standby electric generating system manufactured by Onan DQFAA 

series electric set rated for continuous standby service at 35 kW, 44 kVA at 0.8 
power factor, 3-phase, 120/208 VAC, 60 cycle.  The system shall be a package 
of new and current equipment consisting of: 
a. A diesel engine driven electric set installed indoors to provide emergency 

electric power. 
b. Automatic transfer switch(es) to provide automatic starting and stopping 

of the plant and switching of the load for separate transfer switch section. 
c. Mounted accessories as specified. 
d. Control wiring. 
e. Alternator oversized as shown. 

 
1.02 PERMITS, TEST INSPECTIONS 
 

A. This system shall be completely built, tested and shipped by a manufacturer who has 
been regularly engaged in the production of such equipment for the past ten years and 
who has parts and service facilities locally available so there is one source of supply and 
responsibility.  The performance of the electric plant shall be certified by an independent 
testing laboratory as to the plant's full power rating and voltage and frequency regulation.  
The complete system shall bear a seal showing that it is prototype test supported. 

 
1.03 REQUIREMENTS 
 

A. Level 1 applications are legally-required emergency systems.   
 

B. The electric generating system must meet all requirements of NFPA 110 (latest edition) 
including design specification, prototype tests, one-step full-load pickup, and installation 
acceptance.  Engine-generator system to provide source of power for Level 1. 

 
1.04 STANDARDS  
 

A. Equipment shall meet the latest versions of the following codes: 
 

1. N.E.C. 
2. NFPA 101, 110, 37, 99, 30 
3. IEEE - 446, 587 
4. NEMA - MG1, ICS 
5. ANSI 
6. UL – 1008 
7. MIL-STD 461 C – Part 9, IEC 801.2, IEC 801.3, IEC 801.5, IEC 1000-4-2,3,6 – 

RFI and EMI Performance. 
8. UL 2200 
 

1.05 SUBMITTALS 

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 331



16-1010 / WCCHD Renovations 26 32 13 16 - 1    DIESEL ENGINE DRIVEN STANDBY GENERATOR  

 
A. Shop drawings shall include but not be limited to: 

 
1. Catalog cut sheets with all equipment, fuel tank, accessories and devices 

including all ratings. 
2. Interconnection wiring diagrams. 
3. Complete bill of materials. 
4. Certified performance tests. 

 
B. Operation and Maintenance Data 
 

1. Submit under provisions of Division One. 
2. Furnish three copies of the manuals and books listed below in substantial three-

ring binders for each unit: 
a. Operating Instructions: Describe and illustrate all switchgear controls and 

indicators and engine and general controls.  Include instructions for 
operating transfer switch equipment under normal and emergency 
conditions when engine generator is running. 

b. Parts Books: Illustrate and list all assemblies, subassemblies and 
components, except standard fastening hardware (nuts, bolts, washers, 
etc.). 

c. Preventative Maintenance Instructions: Describe the daily, weekly, 
monthly biannual and annual maintenance requirements and include a 
complete lubrication chart. 

d. Routine Test Procedures: Describe procedure for engine, radiator, all 
electronic and electrical circuits, and the generator. 

e. Troubleshooting Chart: Describe and list all troubles, probable causes, 
and suggested remedies.   

f. Recommended Spare Parts List: List all consumables anticipated to be 
required during routing maintenance and testing.  List special tools, 
maintenance materials and replacement parts. 

g. Wiring Diagrams and Schematics: Show function of all electrical 
components. 

 
1.06 DELIVERY, STORAGE AND HANDLING 
 

A. Deliver, store, protect and handle products to site under provisions of Division One. 
 
B. Accept unit(s) on site on skids.  Inspect for damage. 
 
C. Protect equipment from dirt and moisture by securely wrapping in heavy plastic. 

 
1.07 ACCEPTABLE MANUFACTURERS 
 

A. Provide products complying with these specifications and produced by one of the 
following: 

 
1. Engine sets 

a. Caterpillar 
b. Cummins 
c. Detroit Diesel Allison 

2. Generators 
a. IEC – Baylor 
b. Kato 
c. Marathon 
d. Cummins Power Generation/Onan 

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 332



16-1010 / WCCHD Renovations 26 32 13 16 - 1    DIESEL ENGINE DRIVEN STANDBY GENERATOR  

3. Automatic Transfer Switches 
a. ASCO 
b. Kohler 
c. Cummins Power Generation/Onan 
d. GE/Zenith 

 
1.08 ACCEPTABLE SUPPLIERS 
 

A. All equipment provided shall be supplied by an authorized distributor of the manufacturer 
who has been continuously engaged in the distribution of industrial grade Power System 
products for a minimum of 15 years.  The supplier shall provide initial start-up services, 
conduct field acceptance testing, and warranty service.  The supplier be authorized to 
perform warranty service on all products provided. 

 
B. Within 50 mile of the job site, the supplier shall maintain; a minimum of 6 factory trained 

and qualified field technicians; a proper supply of spare parts for the supplied equipment; 
a shop with overhaul capabilities; and be able to provide 24 hour, 7 day per week, 365 
day per year field service capability. 

 
PART 2 - PRODUCTS 
 
2.01 ENGINE 
 

A. The engine shall be radiator cooled, diesel fueled, 4 cycle, 12 cylinder.  It shall have a 
total piston displacement of not less than 1860 cubic inches and develop not less than 
1490 brake horsepower at its operating speed.  A radiator air discharge duct flange shall 
be provided for a connecting duct to allow all heated air and gases to be discharged out 
of the building or enclosure through one opening.  The radiator cooling system shall be 
rated at 40 degrees C.  ambient against an external restriction of 0.5 inch water column.  
Engine cooling air requirements shall not exceed 34,000 CFM. 

 
B. The engine shall be of 1-piece cast alloy iron construction with cast alloy iron heads.  

Valves shall be overhead and free to rotate.  Valves shall be hard chrome-cobalt alloy 
faced with replaceable valve seat inserts of solid chrome-cobalt alloy.  The crankshaft 
shall be forged steel.  main bearings between all cylinders.  The connecting rods shall be 
forged steel with connecting rod bearings.  Fuel injection system with automatic fuel shut-
off, automatic positive head maintained on injectors, and a reusable air element air 
cleaner; mechanical fuel transfer pump with filters.  Provide full-flow, replaceable, oil filter 
with bypass; oil pressure gauge shall be included. 

 
C. Provide a 5000 watt, 208 VAC thermostatically controlled water jacket heater system.  

Contractor shall install normal power to the heater.   
 
D. Provide the following safety shutdown fault devices: 
 

1. Low oil pressure 
2. Over-speed 
3. Over-crank 
4. High temperature (with low water level)  

 
E. Provide the following alarms: 
 

1. Low engine temperature (indicating jacket heater malfunction) 
2. Marginally high engine temperature 
3. Marginally low oil pressure 
4. Low fuel 

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 333



16-1010 / WCCHD Renovations 26 32 13 16 - 1    DIESEL ENGINE DRIVEN STANDBY GENERATOR  

5. Flashing for control switch in "Stop" position. 
  
F. The engine shall be equipped with adjustable electronic governor isochronous (speed 

regulation 0.25 percent, no load to full load) with controls. 
 
G. Generator main circuit breaker: set-mounted and wired, UL listed, molded case type with 

electronic trip unit, rated at 100 amps frame with 100 amp trip, 3 pole, 240volts.  
Submittals shall demonstrate that the circuit breaker provides proper protection for the 
alternator by a comparison of the trip characteristic of the breaker with the thermal 
damage characteristic of the alternator.  Field circuit breakers shall not be acceptable for 
generator overcurrent protection.  (Lugs on breaker shall match “ATS” lugs.) 

 
H. Provide 24 volt electrical system and starting shall be a 24 volt electric starter. 

 
2.02 ALTERNATOR 
 

A. Rating 35 kW, 43 kVA, at 0.8 power factor, 208Y/120, 60 Hz at 1800 rpm and 125 degree 
C Temperature Rise above 40 degree C Ambient. 

 
B. The alternator shall be a single bearing revolving field type, 2/3 pitch, 4-pole and shall be 

completely brush less.  No commutator or commutator brushes shall be allowed.  The 
main alternator and exciter shall be vacuum impregnated.  The alternator shall be directly 
connected to the engine through a rigid coupling to insure permanent alignment.  Voltage 
regulation shall be within plus or minus 1% of rated voltage, from no load to full load.  
Voltage recovery to rated voltage after acceptance of 100% of rated load in one step 
shall occur within 10 seconds.  Provide a permanent magnet generator (PMG) excitation 
system.  Motor starting capability shall be a minimum of 45 kVA.    The generator set 
shall be capable of sustaining a minimum of 90% of rated no load voltage with the 
specified kVA load at near zero power factor applied to the generator set.  The 
instantaneous voltage dip shall be less than 10% of rated voltage when full load and 
rated power factor is applied to the alternator.  Stable or study-state operation is defined 
as operation with terminal voltage remaining constant within plus or minus 1% of rated 
voltage.  Temperature rise shall be within rating as defined by NEMA MG1-22.40.  Radio 
interference reduction shall exceed requirements for general civilian or commercial 
applications with TIF less than 50 and waveform deviation less than 0.06 line to line.   
 

C. Provide a 120 volt anti-condensation heater minimum (100 watts) to prevent 
condensation during non-operating periods.  Heater shall be thermostatically controlled, 
or rated for continuous use for the frame.  Provide normal power to the heater. 

 
D. Overload Rating: Capable of withstanding a three phase load of 300% rated current for 

10 seconds, 150% of rated current for 2 minutes and 110% rated current for 60 minutes 
with field set for normal rated load excitation, and capable of withstanding an overspeed 
of 125%. 

 
E. Performance Criteria: 
 

1. Waveform Deviation: Less than 5%. 
2. Crest Factor: 1.41 +/- 0.07. 
3. Form Factor: 1.11 +/-0.05. 
4. Total Harmonic Distortion: 5%. 
5. Single Harmonic Distortion: 3%. 
6. Telephone Interference Factor: 50% maximum. 
7. Dynamic Balance: Less than 1 mil displacement peak to peak. 

 
F. Enclosure: NEMA MG1, open drip proof. 

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 334



16-1010 / WCCHD Renovations 26 32 13 16 - 1    DIESEL ENGINE DRIVEN STANDBY GENERATOR  

 
G. Neutral Ground: As shown on drawings. 

 
2.03 CONTROLS AND INSTRUMENTS 
 

A. Provide comprehensive monitoring and control system integral to the Generator Set 
control to guard the electrical integrity of the alternator and power system.  Provide single 
and 3-phase fault current regulation, so that downstream protective devices have the 
maximum current available to quickly clear fault conditions, without subjecting the 
alternator to potentially catastrophic failure conditions.  Include provisions to either 
prevent over voltage due to single phase faults, or to shut down the generator set if line 
to neutral voltage on any phase exceeds 115% for more than 0.5 seconds.  Acceptable 
methods are a fully rated (100%) 600 volt Circuit Breaker, mounted in the generator 
enclosure, GE Programmable VersaTrip of size as indicated on drawings with handheld 
programmer or inherent protection provided by microprocessor-based GenSet 
AmpSentry protection.  Submittals shall demonstrate that the protective device provides 
proper protection for the alternator by a comparison of the trip characteristic of the 
breaker with the thermal damage characteristic of the alternator.  Field circuit breakers 
shall not be acceptable for generator overcurrent protection. 

 
B. An instrument panel mounted on top of the alternator shall contain the following:  
 

1. Run-stop-remote switch 
2. Lighted charge rate ammeter 
3. Lighted oil pressure gauge 
4. Lighted coolant temperature gauge 
5. Remote start-stop terminals 
6. Running time meter 
7. Full A.C.  instrument panel (A.C.  ammeter, A.C.  voltage, phase selector switch, 

frequency meter, and voltage adjusting rheostat.) All parameters shall have a 
readout that is not less than 2.5% accuracy.   

8. Red alarm lights shall be provided for each fault and alarm condition.   
9. Two sets of spare terminals shall be provided for customer selected faults.   
10. An Emergency Shutdown contact shall be provided through which customer's 

push button or other momentary-closing switch contacts shall shutdown the 
generator set engine.   

11. A fault reset switch contacts shall shutdown the generator set engine.   
12. A fault reset switch shall be provided to clear fault indications and allow restarting 

of the engine after shutdown faults.   
13. The control design shall be such that the fault indication shall remain until reset.  

The fault indicator memory shall not be dependent on the presence of either A-C 
or D-C voltage and shall retain the fault status memory even through complete 
removal and replacement of the starting batteries.   

14. A battery warning that included load testing the battery on each crank shall be 
provided.   

15. The fault reset function shall operate only when the RUN-STOP-REMOTE switch 
is in the STOP position.   

16. All devices for interconnection and compatibility with digital accuracy and 
response shall be provided.  Digital panels shall comply with electromagnetic 
interference requirements of Minimum Standard 461C – Part 9, and IEC 
Standard 801.2, 801.3 and 801.4.indication of voltage level 

17. Include a full wave rectified automatic digital voltage regulation system matched 
and prototype tested by the engine manufacturer with the governing system 
provided.  It shall be immune from misoperation due to load-induced voltage 
waveform distortion and provide a pulse width modulated output to the alternator 
exciter.  The voltage regulation system shall be equipped with three-phase RMS 

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 335



16-1010 / WCCHD Renovations 26 32 13 16 - 1    DIESEL ENGINE DRIVEN STANDBY GENERATOR  

sensing and shall control buildup of AC generator voltage to provide a linear rise 
and limit overshoot.  The system shall include a torque-matching characteristic, 
which shall reduce output voltage in proportion to frequency below an adjustable 
frequency threshold.  Torque matching characteristic shall be adjustable for roll-
off frequency and rate, and be capable of being curve-matched to the engine 
torque curve with adjustments in the field. 

18. The automatic voltage regulator shall be temperature compensated, solid-state 
design and include overvoltage and overexcitation protection functions.  The 
voltage regulator shall be equipped with three phase RMS sensing.  The 
regulator shall control buildup of AC generator voltage to provide a linear rise and 
limit overshoot.  Overvoltage protection shall sense the AC generator output 
voltage and in the event of regulator failure or loss of reference, shut down 
regulator output on a sustained overvoltage of one (1) second duration.  
Overexcitation protection shall sense regulator output and shutdown regulator 
output if overloads exceed ten (10) seconds in duration.  Both overvoltage and 
overexcitation protection shutdowns shall be latched, requiring the AC generator 
to be stopped for reset. 

19. The regulator shall include an under frequency rolloff torque-matching 
characteristics, which shall reduce output voltage in proportion to frequency 
below a threshold of 58-59 Hz).  The torque-matching characteristic shall include 
differential rate of frequency change compensation to use maximum available 
engine torque and provide optimal transient load response.  Regulators which 
use a fixed volts per hertz characteristic are not acceptable. 

20. An electronic governor system shall provide automatic isochronous frequency 
regulation.  The governing system dynamic capabilities shall be controlled as a 
function of engine coolant temperature to provide fast, stable operation at varying 
engine operating temperature conditions. 

21. All analog and digital metering shall be true-RMS indicating, and shall not be 
disrupted by non-linear load generated waveform distortion. 

22. Digital metering set shall indicate generator RMS voltage and current, frequency, 
output current, output kW, kW-hours, and power factor.  Generator output voltage 
shall be available in line-to-line neutral voltages, and shall display all three phase 
voltages (line to neutral or line-to-line) simultaneously. 

23. An under frequency sensing and protection system shall be provided which 
causes a shutdown of the generator set if true RMS frequency falls below 90% of 
rated for more than 20 seconds. 

24. The control system provided shall withstand the surge voltage produced by a 
70A DC battery charging alternator operating at full load when the battery bank is 
disconnected.  The test shall be successfully completed without tripping 
protective circuit breakers or blowing fuse protective devices. 

25. All switches, lamps and meters shall be oil-tight and dust-tight and the enclosure 
door shall be gasketed. 

26. All switches shall be provided with fully illuminated back-lit labels and all metering 
shall be individually lighted to allow for easy reading of functions in a completely 
dark room. 

27. The field connections shall be made on permanently labeled terminal blocks, 
which are designed and tested by the manufacturer of the generator set to be 
suitable for use without wire termination lugs.  Provisions shall be made for future 
addition of DIN-rail mounted components. 

28. Control panel and interconnection enclosures shall be UL508 listed as a unit 
assembly. 

29. Communications: 
a. Alarm Relay Mode: Provide Form C alarm contacts that can be 

individually linked to alarm or status outputs from the generator set to 
external devices. 

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 336



16-1010 / WCCHD Renovations 26 32 13 16 - 1    DIESEL ENGINE DRIVEN STANDBY GENERATOR  

b. Software: Provide software designed to operate on an IBM-compatible 
PC.  Monitor and control the on-site power system either locally or from a 
remote location through a modem and dedicated telephone line or other 
communications link. 

30. Interface to Site Monitoring System: Provide necessary electronic components 
and wiring to interface with and communicate the analog and digital status 
information to an owner provided 1 site monitoring system.  Include in this 
contract all work required for translation of proprietary protocol required to 
achieve this interface, and all licensing or other fees associated with this 
interface. 

 
2.04 ELECTRIC PLANT MOUNTING 
 

The plant shall be provided with shock or anti-vibration mounts with the plant.  Provide Korfund 
LKD spring-type isolators or type EU pads.  Vibration isolation may be integrally a part of the 
generator set to skid packaged from the set manufacturer.  The plants integral base shall have 
forklift sockets.  Battery rack shall be integral part of plant base. 

 
2.05 ACCESSORIES 

 
A. All accessories needed for the proper operation of each plant shall be furnished.  These 

shall include but not limited to the following:  
 

1. Critical rated side inlet silencers with installation attachments for mounting within 
the set housing, flexible exhaust connection.  Mount silencer on top of set 
housing. 

2. Belt driven battery charging alternator. 
3. Lead acid starting batteries 
4. Battery cables. 
5. Fully automatic 10 amp battery charger 120 volt, 325 watts (Onan Series 305-

0813-01).  Include in automatic transfer switch.   
6. Fuel/water separator. 
7. Separate aboveground skid mounted double wall fuel storage tank with 500 

gallons capacity.  Tank shall have 7 gauge steel walls.  The tank shall include the 
following features: 
a. Low level switch 
b. Low level fuel alarm 
c. Leak detection alarm 
d. Vent, drain 
e. Fuel gauge.   
f. High level switch. 
g. The tank shall be constructed of corrosion resistant steel and shall be UL 

listed. The equipment, as installed, shall meet all local and regional 
requirements for above ground tanks. 

8. Flexible fuel lines for return and supply of fuel to the engine from the tank, and 
detailed operation and maintenance manuals with parts list.   

9. An oil drain valve with hose extension shall be provided for draining oil at the side 
of the plant.   

10. Detailed operation and maintenance manuals with parts list.   
 
2.06 REMOTE ALARM ANNUNCIATOR 
 

Onan no.  541-0814-02 shall be provided for flush mounting at inside locations remote from the 
generator set located by the fire alarm control panel. 

 
2.07 AUTOMATIC TRANSFER SWITCH  

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 337



16-1010 / WCCHD Renovations 26 32 13 16 - 1    DIESEL ENGINE DRIVEN STANDBY GENERATOR  

 
A. Scope 

1. Furnish and install  open transition automatic transfer switches (ATS) 4 poles, 
amperage, voltage and withstand current ratings as shown on the plans.  Each 
automatic transfer shall consist of an inherently double throw power transfer 
switch unit and a control module interconnected to provide complete automatic 
operation. 

 
B. Codes and Standards 

 
1. UL 1008 - Standard for Automatic Transfer Switches 
2. NFPA 70 - National Electrical Code 
3. NFPA 99 - Essential Electrical Systems for Health Care Facilities 
4. NFPA 110 - Emergency and Standby Power Systems 
 

C. Acceptable Manufacturers 
 

1. ASCO 
2. Kohler 
3. GE/Zenith 
4. Cummins Power Generation/Onan 
 

D. Mechanically Held Transfer Switch 
 

1. The transfer switch unit shall be electrically operated and mechanically held.  The 
switch shall be mechanically interlocked to ensure only one of two possible 
positions, normal or emergency. 

2. All main contacts shall be silver composition. Switches rated 600 amperes and 
above shall have segmented, blow-on construction and be protected by separate 
arcing contacts. 

3. Inspection of all contacts shall be possible from the front of the switch without 
disassembly of operating linkages and without disconnection of power 
conductors. A manual operating handle shall be provided for maintenance 
purposes. 

4. Designs utilizing components of molded-case circuit breakers, contactors, or 
parts thereof are not acceptable. 

 
E. Microprocessor Control Panel 
 

1. The control panel shall direct the operation of the transfer switch.  The panel's 
sensing and logic shall be controlled by a built-in microprocessor. 

 
F. Enclosure 

 
1. The ATS shall be furnished in a NEMA type 3R enclosure. 

 
G. Voltage and Frequency Sensing 
 

1. The voltage of each phase of the normal source shall be monitored, with pickup 
adjustable from 85% to 100% of nominal and dropout adjustable from 75% to 
98% of pickup setting. 

2. Single-phase voltage sensing of the emergency source shall be provided, with 
pickup voltage adjustable from 85% to 100% of nominal and independent 
frequency sensing with pickup adjustable from 90% to 100% of nominal. 

 
H. Time Delays 

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 338



16-1010 / WCCHD Renovations 26 32 13 16 - 1    DIESEL ENGINE DRIVEN STANDBY GENERATOR  

 
1. A time delay shall be provided to override momentary normal source outages 

and delay all transfer and engine starting signals.  Adjustable from 0 to 6 
seconds. 

2. A time delay shall be provided on transfer to emergency, adjustable from 0 to 5 
minutes for controlled timing of transfer of loads to emergency.   

3. A time delay shall be provided on retransfer to normal, adjustable from 0 to 30 
minutes.  Time delay shall be automatically bypassed if emergency source fails 
and normal source is acceptable. 

4. A time delay shall be provided on shutdown of engine generator for cool down, 
adjustable from 0 to 60 minutes. 

 
I. Additional Features 
 

1. A set of DPDT gold-flashed contacts rated 10 amps, 32 VDC shall be provided 
for a low-voltage engine start signal. 

2. A momentary-type test switch shall be provided to simulate a normal source 
failure. 

3. One set of auxiliary contacts, rated 10 amps, 250 VAC shall be provided. 
4. Position indicating lights shall be provided. 
5. An inphase monitor or delayed transition shall be provided for motor load 

applications. 
 

J. Withstand and Closing Ratings 
 

1. The ATS shall be UL listed in accordance with UL 1008 and be labeled in 
accordance with that standard's 3 cycle, long-time ratings.  ATS’s that are not 
tested and labeled with 3 cycle (any breaker) ratings and have series, or specific 
breaker ratings only, are not acceptable unless the switch performance is 
guaranteed and UL listed for molded case circuit breakers or current limiting 
fuses.  If current limiting fuses are utilized, provide current limiting fuses and 
disconnect switch mounted in or on Automatic Transfer Switch. 

 
K. The ATS manufacturer shall maintain a national service organization of company-

employed personnel located throughout the contiguous United States.  The service 
center's personnel must be factory trained and must be on call 24 hours a day, 365 days 
a year. 

 
PART 3 - EXECUTION 
 
3.01 INSTALLATION 
 

A. Install generator on a 6 inch high reinforced concrete housekeeping pad.  Provide 
blackouts as required. 

 
B. Provide all power wiring, control wiring, additional contacts and relays required for a 

complete installation.  All conduit shall be in a two hour enclosure.  Underground conduits 
shall be concrete encased.  The wall mounted dual rate battery shall be taken off line 
during the starting of the generator.  The generator belt driven alternator shall charge the 
batteries when the generator is running. 

 
C. Install generator set and transfer switches in accordance with manufacturer’s instructions. 
 
D. Ground and bond transfer switches under provisions of Division 26. 
 
E. Provide engraved plastic nameplates under the provisions of Section 26 02 00. 

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 339



16-1010 / WCCHD Renovations 26 32 13 16 - 1    DIESEL ENGINE DRIVEN STANDBY GENERATOR  

 
 
3.02 WARRANTY 
 

A. The complete standby electric power system, including engine-generator set equipped 
with set exerciser, and running time meter, shall be warranted for a period of five years 
form the date of initial start-up.  Multiple warranties for individual components (engine, 
alternator, controls, etc.) will not be acceptable.  Satisfactory warranty documents must 
be provided.  This warranty shall be as detailed in available written documents.  In the 
judgement of the specifying authority, the manufacturer supplying the warranty for the 
complete system must have necessary financial strength and technical expertise with all 
components supplied to provide adequate warranty support.  All items of the engine, 
generator, and controls that are warranted in the first year shall be covered for the full five 
year term of the warranty. 

 
B. Extensions of warranty term up to 10 years from start-up and inclusion of comprehensive 

terms shall be available for one year after start-up. 
 
3.03 TESTS 
 

A. Factory production model tests: Before shipment of the equipment, the generator sets 
shall be tested under rated load and power factor for performance and proper functioning 
of control and interfacing circuits.  Testing at unity power factory only (resistance banks 
only) is not acceptable, since kW output is affected by the higher generator efficiency at 
unity power factor, and the kVAR for motor starting and regulation loads is not 
correlatable between unity and rated power factor.  Other tests shall include: 
 
1. Single step load pickup per NFPA 110. 
2. Transient response and steady state governing. 
3. Safety Shutdowns. 
4. Prototype tests in accordance with NFPA 110 level 1 have been done on a 

complete and functional set, component level type tests will not substitute for this 
requirement. 

 
The engineer shall be notified in advance of these test, and shall have the option of 
witnessing these tests.  Certified copies of test results shall be forwarded to the engineer 
for review. 

 
B. Field Test After Installation: 

 
1. The complete installation shall be initially started and checked out for operational 

compliance by factory-trained representative(s) of the engine-generator set and 
transfer switch manufacturer. The engine lubrication oil and antifreeze, as 
recommended by the manufacturer for operation under environmental conditions 
specified shall be provided by the engine-generator set supplier. 

2. Upon completion of initial start-up and system checkout, the supplier of the 
generator set shall perform a field test, with the engineer notified in advance, to 
demonstrate load carrying capability, stability, voltage, and frequency.  The 
engineer shall be present during the field test. 

3. The generator shall be run for four hours continuously with all available facilities 
emergency load connected to its output; in addition the generator set supplier 
must provide a portable load bank to supplement any existing load to enable full 
load testing.  Load shall not exceed 50% of generator-set rating for first 1/2 hour, 
during first initial run for proper engine break-in.  Records shall be maintained 
throughout this period to record water temperature, oil pressure, ambient air 
temperature, voltage, current, frequency, kilowatts, and power factor.  The above 

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 340



16-1010 / WCCHD Renovations 26 32 13 16 - 1    DIESEL ENGINE DRIVEN STANDBY GENERATOR  

data shall be recorded at 15 minute intervals throughout the test.  Generator set 
manufacturer shall confirm paralleling equipment is complete and performing 
properly.  There shall be a 10 minute unloaded run at the conclusion of the test to 
allow engine to cool before shutdown.  Three copies of the field test data shall be 
furnished to the engineer.  The contractor shall make all necessary hook-ups to 
accomplish field tests and shall furnish all fuel necessary for field test and start-
up.  The fuel oil tank shall be filled up at the completion of all testing and at 
the end of the project. 

 
C. Training 

 
1. Provide training designed for a minimum of  four persons, to include: 
2. Training in the system operation in all possible configurations. 
3. Training in the maintenance of the system. 
4. Minimum of four hours of instruction, but sufficient to cover all items specified. 
5. Four sets of instruction materials. 
6. Provide DVD of all owner training and instruction. 

 
 

END OF SECTION  

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 341



16-1010 / WCCHD Renovations 26 51 00- 1 LIGHTING FIXTURES 
  

SECTION 26 51 00 
LIGHTING FIXTURES 

 
PART 1 - GENERAL 
 
1.01 SCOPE 
 

A. Furnish and install general and emergency lighting fixtures as noted on the drawings.  
Fixtures shall be completely wired with lamps installed and shall be in perfect operating 
condition at the time of substantial completion. 

 
B. The types of lighting fixtures required for this project include: 
 

1. LED 
 
1.02 STANDARDS 
 

A. All fixtures shall conform to all applicable UL standards and shall be UL label including 
damp and wet location ratings. 

 
B. NFPA 101 

 
C. ANSI C82.1 

 
D. NEMA-LE 

 
E. IEEE Publication 587 Category "A" (Electronic Ballast) 
 
F. All LED drivers shall be UL recognized Class 2 per UL1310 or non-Class 2 per UL 1012 

as applicable. 
 
G. All LED drivers shall comply with applicable requirements of the Federal Communications 

Commission (FCC) rules and regulations, Title 47 CFR part 15, for Non-Consumer 
Equipment. 

 
H. All LED drivers shall be RoHS compliant. 
 
I. TM-21 
 
J. LM-80 
 
K. LM-79 
 
L. L70 
 
M. DLC 

 
1.03 ACCEPTABLE MANUFACTURERS 
 

A. Provide lighting fixtures produced by manufacturers as shown and scheduled. 
 

B. LAMPS: 
1. Provide one of the following manufacturers 

a. General Electric Company  
b. Osram Sylvania 
c. North American Philips 

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 342



16-1010 / WCCHD Renovations 26 51 00- 2 LIGHTING FIXTURES 
  

 
1.04 SUBMITTALS 
 

A. Shop drawings shall include a brochure with a separate cut sheet for each fixture type 
arranged in alphabetical order with fixture and all accessories/options clearly labeled.  
Provide performance data for each fixture.  Provide an independent test lab report for 
each fixture if requested by the Architect/Engineer. 

 
B. Provide data brochures indicating which lamp and ballast (if required) will be used in 

each fixture type. 
 
1.05 REQUIREMENTS OF REGULATORY AGENCIES 
 

A. WORK IN ACCORDANCE WITH: 
 
1. National Electrical Code. 
2. Local, municipal, or state codes that have jurisdiction. 
3. UL fire resistance directory. 

 
PART 2 - PRODUCTS 
 
2.01 MATERIALS AND COMPONENTS 
 

A. General: 
 

Provide the size, type and rating of each light fixture shown and scheduled.  All light 
fixtures shall complete with reflectors, lens, trim rings, flanges, lamps, lamp holders, 
ballast, starters, fuses, wiring, earthquake clips, etc. to provide a complete functioning 
light fixture. 

 
B. Lighting Fixture Types: 

 
1. LED Fixtures 

a. Fixtures shall be pre-wired with frame-in kit and integral thermal 
protection required by UL for recessed fixtures.  Driver shall be encased 
in metal-can construction for optimal thermal performance. 

b. Total fixture lumen output is dependent on the chip, thermal 
management, driver current and optical system.  LED fixtures shall be 
tested as a complete unit or system.  Only DOE recognized CALiPER 
testing laboratory results shall be utilized. 

c. LED fixtures shall have integral common mode and differential mode 
surge protection of 3kV(1.2/50µs, 2 ohm combination wave). 

2. Exit signs 
a. Exit signs shall meet all federal, state and local codes. 
b. Provide fire alarm interface relay when required to flash exit signs. 
c. Provide battery packs for emergency operation when not connected to 

emergency generator power. 
 

 
2.02 DRIVERS - COORDINATE WITH LIGHT FIXTURE SCHEDULE 
 

A. LED 
 
1. Driver manufacturer shall have a 10-year history producing electronic drivers for 

the North American market. 
2. Driver shall carry a five year limited warranty from date of manufacture against 

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 343



16-1010 / WCCHD Renovations 26 51 00- 3 LIGHTING FIXTURES 
  

defects in material or workmanship (including replacement) for operation at a 
maximum case temperature of 80 degrees Celsius. 

3. Drivers shall not contain any Polychlorinated Biphenyl (PCB). 
4. Provide driver with integral color-coded leads. 
5. Driver shall operate from 50/60 Hz input source of 120 Volt through 277 Volt or 

347 Volt through 480 Volt with sustained variations of +/- 10% (voltage) with no 
damage to the driver. 

6. Driver output shall be regulated to +/- 5% across published load range. And shall 
have a power factor greater than .90 for primary application to 50% of full load 
rating with an input current Total Harmonic Distortion (THD) of less than 20% to 
50% of full load rating. 

7. Provide drivers with a Class A sound rating. 
8. Provide LED drivers for outdoor fixtures with a minimum operating temperature of 

-40 degrees Celsius (-40 F).  Provide LED drivers for indoor fixtures with a 
minimum operating temperature of -20 degrees Celsius (-2F). 

9. Drivers shall tolerate sustained open circuit and short circuit output conditions 
without fail and auto-resetting without need for external fuses or trip devices. 

10. Driver output ripple current shall be less than 15% measured peak-to-average, 
with ripple frequency being greater than 100Hz. 

11. Driver performance requirements shall be met when operated to 50% of full load 
rating. 

12. Driver shall have integral thermal foldback to reduce driver power above rated 
case temperature to protect the driver if temperatures reach unacceptable levels. 

13. Drivers shall comply with NEMA 410 for in-rush current limits. 
14. Dimmable drivers shall be controlled by a Class 2 low voltage 0-10VDC controller 

with dimming range controlled between 1 and 8VDC with source current 150µA. 
 
PART 3 - EXECUTION 
 
3.01 INSTALLATIONS 
 

A. General 
 
1. Install the type of light fixture where shown and indicated in accordance with 

manufacturer's written instructions. 
2. Provide earthquake clips on all recessed lay-in light fixtures as required by 

building code. 
3. Adjust all adjustable light fixtures, as directed by the Architect. 
4. Provide safety chains and wire guards for light fixtures located in gymnasium, 

multi-purpose rooms, play areas, etc. 
 

B. Coordination 
 
1. The contractor shall verify the type of fixtures with the ceiling types as indicated 

on the drawings.  Any discrepancies shall immediately be brought to the 
architect's attention before the contractor places his order and accepts delivery.  
Fixtures shall fit exact in the type of ceiling scheduled.  Provide plaster frames, 
trim rings and other accessories required for a correct fit. 

2. Provide supports attached to structural member to support fixtures when the 
ceiling system cannot maintain support.   

3. Refer to architectural reflected ceiling plan for the exact location of all light 
fixtures.  Notify the architect for any discrepancies or conflicts with structural, 
architectural, mechanical piping or ductwork before installation. 

 
C. Mounting 

 

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 344



16-1010 / WCCHD Renovations 26 51 00- 4 LIGHTING FIXTURES 
  

1. Provide support channels to support outlet boxes used support surface mounted 
light fixtures such as exit signs or downlights. 

2. Pendant or surface mounted fixture shall be provided with required mounting 
devices and accessories, including hickeys and stud-extensions, ball-aligners, 
canopies and stems. Locations of fixtures in mechanical areas shall be 
coordinated with mechanical contractor. Mounting stems of pendant fixtures shall 
be of the correct length to uniformly maintain the fixture heights shown on the 
drawings or established in the field. The allowable variation tolerance in mounting 
individual fixtures shall not exceed 1/4 inch and shall not vary more than 1/2 inch 
from the floor mounting height shown on the Drawings.  Fixtures hung in 
continuous runs shall be installed absolutely level and in line with each other.  
Hanging devices shall comply with Code requirements. Fixtures shall employ 
single - not twin - stem hangers unless otherwise noted. 

3. All structure mounted fixtures (i.e. bracket mounted, pipe mounted and surface 
mounted) shall be provided with cables of suitable size and weight to support the 
weight of the fixture.  Cables shall be fastened around or fastened to the housing 
of the fixture. On pendant fixtures, one safety cable of suitable size and weight to 
support the weight of the fixture assembly shall connect the top of the pendant to 
the supporting structure by means of welding or bolting, and one safety cable 
shall connect the housing of the fixture to the bottom of the pendant. Where more 
than one pendant per fixture occurs, only one pendant must be cabled. Track 
fixtures for pendant mounted track shall also be supplied with clip-on safety 
cables of suitable size and weight to support the weight of the fixture. 

4. Provide secondary support wires from all four (4) corners of the lay-in fixtures to 
the structure above. Do not support fixtures from ceiling grid wire supports, 
piping, conduit, side walls, or mechanical equipment. Ceiling specifications do 
not supersede this requirement.  

 
D. Electrical Connection 

 
1. All light fixtures installed in an accessible suspended ceiling shall be connected 

from a branch circuit junction box using 1/2" flexible metal conduit or MC cable 
fixture pigtails not exceeding 8'- 0". All fixtures must be grounded by using a 
grounding conductor. Fixture to fixture wiring of fixtures installed in an accessible 
ceiling is not permitted. Fixture whips shall not lay-on ceiling tile or grid. Provide 
caddy clips to provide additional support. 

 
E. Fire Rated Ceiling 

 
1. Provide fire rated canopy or enclosure for all fixtures recessed in a fire rated 

ceiling.  The fire rated canopy or enclosure shall be as required by the UL design 
number listed in the UL fire resistance directory.  Refer to architectural drawing 
for the UL design number.  Coordinate with ceiling installer and manufacturer. 

 
3.02 FINAL INSPECTION 
 

A. Remove all plastic and protective coating from all fixtures.  Fixtures shall be thoroughly 
cleaned.  Replace any damaged fixture or fixture parts including reflectors, louvers, lens 
and metal parts that show signs of corrosion. 

 
B. All final incandescent lamps used during construction shall be replaced with new lamps.  

Replace all other defective ballast, lamps or discolored lamps, showing signs of 
excessive usage. 

 
C. Demonstrate proper operation of all fixtures and controls. 

END OF SECTION 

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 345



16-1010 / WCCHD Renovations 32 1216 - 1 ASPHALT PAVING

SECTION 32 1216
ASPHALT PAVING

PART 1  GENERAL
1.01 SECTION INCLUDES

A. Surface sealer.
1.02 RELATED REQUIREMENTS

A. Section 32 1723.13 - Painted Pavement Markings:  Concrete bumpers.
1.03 REFERENCE STANDARDS

A. AI MS-19 - A Basic Asphalt Emulsion Manual; Fourth Edition.
1.04 QUALITY ASSURANCE

A. Perform Work in accordance with State of ________ Highways standard.
B. Mixing Plant:  Conform to State of ________ Highways standard.
C. Obtain materials from same source throughout.

1.05 REGULATORY REQUIREMENTS
A. Conform to applicable code for paving work on public property.

PART 2  PRODUCTS
2.01 MATERIALS

A. Seal Coat:  AI MS-19, mineral type.  Provide MasterSeal manufactured by SealMaster or
approved substitute.

2.02 ASPHALT PAVING MIXES AND MIX DESIGN
PART 3  EXECUTION
3.01 EXAMINATION

A. Verify existing asphalt paving is ready to receive seal coat per manufacturer's required
conditions.

3.02 SEAL COAT
A. Apply seal coat to surface  in accordance with AI MS-19.

3.03 PROTECTION
A. Immediately after placement, protect pavement from mechanical injury until seal coat has

set/dried.
END OF SECTION

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 346



16-1010 / WCCHD Renovations 32 1713 - 1 PARKING BUMPERS

SECTION 32 1713
PARKING BUMPERS

PART 1  GENERAL
1.01 SECTION INCLUDES

A. Precast concrete parking bumpers and anchorage.
1.02 REFERENCE STANDARDS

A. ASTM A615/A615M - Standard Specification for Deformed and Plain Carbon-Steel Bars for
Concrete Reinforcement; 2015.

B. 11
C. ASTM C260/C260M - Standard Specification for Air-Entraining Admixtures for Concrete; 2010a.
D. ASTM C330/C330M - Standard Specification for Lightweight Aggregates for Structural

Concrete; 2014.
PART 2  PRODUCTS
2.01 MATERIALS

A. Parking Bumpers:  Precast concrete, conforming to the following:
1. Cement:  ASTM C150/C150M, Portland Type I - Normal; white color.
2. Concrete Materials:  ASTM C330/C330M aggregate, water, and sand.
3. Reinforcing Steel:  ASTM A615/A615M, deformed steel bars; unfinished, strength and size

commensurate with precast unit design.
4. Air Entrainment Admixture:  ASTM C260/C260M.
5. Concrete Mix:  Minimum 5,000 psi (34 MPa) compressive strength after 28 days, air

entrained to 5 to 7 percent.
6. Use rigid molds, constructed to maintain precast units uniform in shape, size and finish. 

Maintain consistent quality during manufacture.
7. Embed reinforcing steel, and drill or sleeve for two dowels.
8. Cure units to develop concrete quality, and to minimize appearance blemishes such as

non-uniformity, staining, or surface cracking.
9. Minor patching in plant is acceptable, providing appearance of units is not impaired.

PART 3  EXECUTION
3.01 INSTALLATION

A. Install units without damage to shape or finish.  Replace or repair damaged units.
B. Install units in alignment with adjacent work.
C. Fasten units in place with 2 dowels per unit.

END OF SECTION

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 347



16-1010 / WCCHD Renovations 32 1723.13 - 1 PAINTED PAVEMENT
MARKINGS

SECTION 32 1723.13
PAINTED PAVEMENT MARKINGS

PART 1  GENERAL
1.01 SECTION INCLUDES

A. Parking lot markings, including parking bays, arrows, and handicapped symbols.
1.02 RELATED REQUIREMENTS

A. Section 32 1216 - Asphalt Paving.
1.03 REFERENCE STANDARDS

A. MPI (APL) - Master Painters Institute Approved Products List; Master Painters and Decorators
Association; current edition, www.paintinfo.com.

B. FHWA MUTCD - Manual on Uniform Traffic Control Devices for Streets and Highways; U.S.
Department of Transportation, Federal Highway Administration; Current Edition.

1.04 SUBMITTALS
A. See Section 01 3000 - Administrative Requirements, for submittal procedures.
B. Product Data:  Manufacturer's data sheets on each product to be used, including:

1. Preparation instructions and recommendations.
2. Storage and handling requirements and recommendations.
3. Installation methods.

C. Maintenance Materials:  Furnish the following for Owner's use in maintenance of project.
1. Extra Paint:  2 containers, 1 gallon (4 liter) size, of each type and color.

1.05 DELIVERY, STORAGE, AND HANDLING
A. Deliver paint in containers of at least 5 gallons (18 L) accompanied by batch certificate.
B. Store products in manufacturer's unopened packaging until ready for installation.
C. Store and dispose of solvent-based materials, and materials used with solvent-based materials,

in accordance with requirements of local authorities having jurisdiction.
1.06 FIELD CONDITIONS

A. Do not install products under environmental conditions outside manufacturer's absolute limits.
PART 2  PRODUCTS
2.01 MATERIALS

A. Line and Zone Marking Paint:  MPI (APL) No. 97 Latex Traffic Marking Paint; white.
PART 3  EXECUTION
3.01 EXAMINATION

A. Do not begin installation until substrates have been properly prepared.
B. If substrate preparation is the responsibility of another installer, notify Architect of unsatisfactory

preparation before proceeding.
3.02 PREPARATION

A. Prepare surfaces using the methods recommended by the manufacturer for achieving the best
result for the substrate under the project conditions.

B. Clean surfaces thoroughly prior to installation.
1. Remove dust, dirt, and other granular surface deposits by sweeping, blowing with

compressed air, rinsing with water, or a combination of these methods. 
2. Completely remove rubber deposits, existing paint markings, and other coatings adhering

to the pavement, by scraping, wire brushing, sandblasting, mechanical abrasion, or
approved chemicals.

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 348



16-1010 / WCCHD Renovations 32 1723.13 - 2 PAINTED PAVEMENT
MARKINGS

3. Sandblasting:  Use equipment of size and capacity necessary, providing not less than 150
cfm (0.08 cu m per second) of air at pressure not less than 90 psi (625 kPa) at each
nozzle used.

C. Where oil or grease are present, scrub affected areas with several applications of trisodium
phosphate solution or other approved detergent or degreaser, and rinse thoroughly after each
application; after cleaning, seal oil-soaked areas with cut shellac to prevent bleeding through the
new paint.

3.03 INSTALLATION
A. Begin pavement marking as soon as practicable after surface has been cleaned and dried.
B. Do not apply paint if temperature of surface to be painted or the atmosphere is less than 50

degrees F (10 degrees C) or more than 95 degrees F (35 degrees C).
C. Apply in accordance with manufacturer's instructions using an experienced technician that is

thoroughly familiar with equipment, materials, and marking layouts. 
D. Comply with FHWA MUTCD manual (http://mutcd.fhwa.dot.gov) for details not shown.
E. Apply markings in locations determined by measurement from survey control points; preserve

control points until after markings have been accepted.
F. Apply uniformly painted markings of color(s), lengths, and widths as indicated on the drawings

true, sharp edges and ends.
1. Apply paint in one coat only.
2. Wet Film Thickness:  0.015 inch (0.4 mm), minimum.
3. Width Tolerance:  Plus or minus 1/8 inch (3 mm).

G. Parking Lots:  Apply parking space lines, entrance and exit arrows, painted curbs, and other
markings indicated on drawings.
1. Mark the International Handicapped Symbol at indicated parking spaces.
2. Hand application by pneumatic spray is acceptable.

H. Symbols:  Use a suitable template that will provide a pavement marking with true, sharp edges
and ends, of the design and size indicated.

3.04 DRYING, PROTECTION, AND REPLACEMENT
A. Protect newly painted markings so that paint is not picked up by tires, smeared, or tracked.
B. Provide barricades, warning signs, and flags as necessary to prevent traffic crossing newly

painted markings.
C. Allow paint to dry at least the minimum time specified by the applicable paint standard and not

less than that recommended by the manufacturer.
D. Remove and replace markings that are applied at less than minimum material rates; deviate

from true alignment; exceed length and width tolerances; or show light spots, smears, or other
deficiencies or irregularities.

E. Replace removed markings at no additional cost to Owner.
END OF SECTION

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 349



Evaluation of Respondents and Selection Criteria 

for 

 Texas Avenue Facility  

Located at 355 Texas Avenue, Round Rock, TX 

RFP 1704-153 

 

Evaluation of Respondents 

Pursuant to Chapter 2269 of the Texas Government Code, Williamson County shall 
receive, publicly open and read aloud the names of the Respondents and any 
monetary proposals made by the Respondents.  Not later than the 45th day after 
the date on which the proposals are opened, Williamson County shall evaluate and 
rank each proposal submitted in relation to the published selection criteria below. 

Williamson County shall thereafter select the Respondent that submits the 
proposal that offers the best value for Williamson County based on: 

(1)  the selection criteria set out below and the weighted value for 
those criteria; and 

(2)  the selection criteria’s ranking evaluation. 

Williamson County will first attempt to negotiate a contract with the selected 
Respondent.  Williamson County and its architect or engineer may discuss with the 
selected Respondent options for a scope or time modification and any price change 
associated with the modification.  If Williamson County is unable to negotiate a 
satisfactory contract with the selected Respondent, Williamson County shall, 
formally and in writing, end negotiations with that Respondent and proceed to the 
next Respondent in the order of the selection ranking until a contract is reached or 
all proposals are rejected. 

All Proposals will be evaluated by a Williamson County appointed Evaluation 
Committee.  The Evaluation Committee may be composed of County Staff that may 
have expertise, knowledge or experience with the services and/or goods being 
procured hereunder. As may be noted in this RFP, Respondents may receive further 

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 350



evaluation via telephone or in-person interviews with members of the Evaluation 
Committee.  

 

Selection Criteria 

 

1. The price (40% of score – 40 points max) 

Price project out based on Architectural plans and any addendums. 

2. The Respondent’s proposed personnel for the project (20% of score – 15 
points max) 

Respondent to provide list of proposed staff to be used on the project.  Provide 
names of Company Owner, Project Manager, Superintendent, etc. and or 
equivalents. 

3. Respondent’s experience and reputation (20% of score – 15 points max) 

Respondent to provide a list of 3 similar (or larger) projects performed in Texas.  
Please include project name, owner contact name & contact information, brief 
project description with size/square footage and contracted dollar amount. 

4. Respondent’s office location as it relates to distance from the project site 
(20% of score – 15 point max) 

Provide verifiable physical address of Respondent’s closest permanent location to 
project and length of time at that location. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 351



 

Each Selection Criteria will be scored as set out in the chart below.  Maximum 
score points on evaluation is 85. 

 

 

 

 

 

Criteria
Maximum 

Points Score can range from0-15
N/A N/A

1.1

Proposal pricing- based upon all 
architectural plans, specifications 

and instructions per the RFP
40

The Respondent with the lowest price proposa l  wi l l  
receive the maximum points  for proposa l  pricing.  Each 
particular remaining Respondent’s  points  for pricing wi l l  
be determined by multiplying the maximum points  for 
pricing by a  fraction, the numerator of which i s  the lowest 
price proposa l  amount and the denominator of which i s  
each particular Respondent’s  price proposa l  amount.  The 
product of the ca lculation sha l l  be the particular 
Respondent’s  points  for proposa l  pricing.  For example, 
the pricing points  for the Respondent with the next to 
lowest pricing proposa l  (“Respondent #2”) sha l l  be 
ca lculated as  fol lows:  40 Maximum Points  for Pricing  x  
(Lowest Respondent’s  Price Proposa l  Amount  ÷  
Respondent No. 2’s  Price Proposa l  Amount =  Respondent 

No. 2’s  Pricing Points .

1.2

Personnel for the project 15

15 = Significantly Exceeds Requirements 
12 = Exceed Requirements 
9 = Meets ALL Requirements 
6 = Marginally Meets Requirements 
1 = Does Not Meet Requirements

1.3

Respondent's experience 15

15 = Significantly Exceeds Requirements 
12 = Exceed Requirements 
9 = Meets ALL Requirements 
6 = Marginally Meets Requirements 
1 = Does Not Meet Requirements

1.4

Respondent's physical address 15

15 = Significantly Exceeds Requirements 
12 = Exceed Requirements 
9 = Meets ALL Requirements 
6 = Marginally Meets Requirements 
1 = Does Not Meet Requirements

 Total Evaluation Points 85 TOTAL 0 0 0

Evaluation Criteria for Texas Avenue Facility Remodel  RFP 1704-153

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 352



5

6

3 4

Williamson County – Request for Proposal (RFP)

SECTION 1 - DEFINITIONS 

Addendum/Addenda – means any written or graphic instruments issued by the County prior to the 
consideration of Proposals which modify or interpret the Proposal Documents by additions, deletions, 
clarifications, or corrections.

Agreement/Ensuing Agreement(s) – means the Successful Respondent may be required by the 
County to sign an additional Agreement containing terms necessary to ensure compliance with the RFP 
and the Respondent ’s Proposal.  Such Ensuing Agreement(s) shall contain the Proposal specifications, 
terms and conditions that are derived from the RFP.

Contract – means this RFP and the Proposal of the Successful Respondent shall become a Contract 
between the Successful Respondent and the County once the Successful Respondent ’s Proposal is 
properly accepted by the Williamson County Commissioners Court (sometimes referred to herein as the 
Commissioner ’s Court”).

Commissioner ’s Court – means the Williamson County Commissioners Court. 

County – means Williamson County, a political subdivision of the State of Texas.

Executive Summary – means the document submitted by Respondent that represents a concise 
summary of the contents of the Proposal. It does not include any information concerning costs. 

Proposal Documents – means the Legal Notice, RFP including attachments, and any Addenda issued 
by the County prior to the consideration of any Proposals.

Proposal – means the complete, properly signed document, and ALL required forms and documentation 
listed in the proposal package which have been submitted in accordance with this RFP package. A 
Proposal submitted in accordance with this RFP is irrevocable during the specified time period for 
evaluation and acceptance of Proposals, unless a waiver is obtained from the Williamson County 
Purchasing Agent.

Respondent – means a person or entity who submits a Proposal in response to this RFP.

Request for Proposals (RFP) – means this document, together with the attachments thereto and any 
future Addenda issued by the County.

Successful Respondent– means the responsible Respondent who, in the County ’s sole opinion, 
submits the Proposal which is in the best interest of the County, taking into account factors identified 
herein, and to whom the County intends to award the Contract.

SECTION 2 - RESPONSE FORMAT AND SUBMISSION

2.1 INTRODUCTION

Each Proposal submitted in response to this RFP should clearly reference the numbered sections of this 
RFP that require a response.  Failure to arrange the Proposal as requested may result in the 
disqualification of the Proposal.

Though there is not a page limit for Proposals, to save natural resources including paper, and to allow the 
County staff to efficiently evaluate all submitted Proposals, the County requests that Proposals be 
orderly, concise, but comprehensive in providing the requested information.  Conciseness and clarity of 
content are emphasized and encouraged.  If mailed or delivered in person, please limit additional, non
requested information.

Please provide your Proposal response using:

A. 8 ½” x 11” pages, inclusive of any cover letter or supporting materials.

B. The least amount of plastic/laminate or other non-recyclable binding materials.

C. Single-sided printing.

Vague and general Proposals will be considered non-responsive, and may, at the County ’s sole 
discretion, result in disqualification. Proposals must be legible and complete.  Failure to provide the 
required information may result in the disqualification of the Proposal. All pages of the Proposal should 
be numbered and the Proposal should contain an organized, paginated table of contents corresponding 
to the sections and pages of the Proposal.

2.2 ORGANIZATION OF PROPOSAL CONTENTS AND TABLE OF CONTENTS 

Each Proposal should be submitted with a table of contents that clearly identifies and denotes the 
location of all enclosures of the Proposal. The table of contents should follow the RFP ’s structure as 
much as is practical.

Each Proposal should be organized in the manner described below:

A. Transmittal Letter. Please see Section 2.3, Transmittal Letter, for more information. 

B. Table of Contents. 

C. Executive Summary. Please see Section 2.4, Executive Summary. 

D. Proposal Response to Criteria. (Please see the sections in this RFP package that list the 
Specifications & Cost Proposal, Experience and Qualifications, References, and Implementation 
Strategy to respond to our criteria in a clear and concise manner) 

E. Price Sheet. 

F. References: Identification of three (3) references within the last four (4) years, for which the 
Respondent is providing, or has provided, the goods and/or services (public sector) of the type 
requested in this RFP. Include the name, position/title, and telephone number of a contact person 
at each entity. 

G.  Conflict of Interest Questionnaire. 

H. Proposal Affidavit (Signature Page).

I. Attach your entities sample Contract, if applicable, for the County ’s review and consideration. This 
should include any additional terms or conditions. The County is not required to use the sample 
Contract submitted. 

2.3 TRANSMITTAL LETTER

The Respondent should submit a Transmittal Letter that provides the following information: 

A. Name and address of individual or business entity submitting the Proposal. 

B. Respondent ’s type of business entity (i.e., Corporation, General Partnership, Limited Partnership, 
LLC, etc.).  See Section 3.5, Signature of Respondent, for more information. 

C. Place of incorporation or organization, if applicable.

D. Name and location of major offices and other facilities that relate to the Respondent
performance under the terms of this RFP.

E. Name, physical address, email address, business and fax number of the Respondent ’s principal 
contact person regarding all contractual matters relating to this RFP.

F. The Respondent ’s Federal Employer Identification Number.

G. A commitment by the Respondent to provide the services required by the County;

H. A statement that the Proposal is valid for the time specified on page three (3), under the section 
named Prices Good for, of this Proposal packet. Any Proposal containing a term of less than the 
required amount, may at the County ’s sole discretion, be rejected as non-responsive.

I. If the Proposal being submitted will have an effect on air quality for the County (as it relates to any 
state, federal, or voluntary air quality standard), then the Respondent is encouraged to provide
information in narrative indicating the anticipated air quality impact. See Section 4.40, Air Quality 
for more information. 

The Transmittal Letter should be signed by a person legally authorized to bind the Respondent to the
representations in the Transmittal Letter and the Proposal.  In the case of a joint Proposal, each party 
must sign the Transmittal Letter.

2.4 EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

The Respondent should provide an Executive Summary of its Proposal that asserts that the Respondent 
is providing in its response all of the requirements of this RFP.  The Executive Summary should not 
include any information concerning the cost of the Proposal, but instead must represent a full and 
concise summary of the contents of the Proposal.  It is recommended the Executive Summary include 
the following information: 

A. Identify any goods and/or services that are provided beyond those specifically requested.  If the 
Respondent is providing services and/or goods that do not meet the specific requirements of this 
RFP, but in the opinion of the Respondent are equivalent or superior to those specifically 
requested, any such differences should be noted in the Executive Summary. However, the 
Respondent must realize that failure to provide the goods and/or services specifically required, at 
the County ’s sole discretion, may result in disqualification of the Proposal.

B. Indicate why the Respondent believes that it is the most qualified Respondent to provide the 
services described in this RFP.  The Successful Respondent must demonstrate extensive 
experience and understanding of the intent of this project.  The Respondent should describe in 
detail the current and historical experience the Respondent and its subcontractors have that 
would be relevant to completing the project.  References must contain the name of key personnel 
and telephone numbers for each contact, as described in Section 3.14, References.  

C. Briefly state why the Respondent believes its proposed goods and/or services best meet the 
County ’s needs and RFP requirements, and the Respondent also should concisely describe any 
additional features, aspects, or advantages of its goods and/or services in any relevant area not 
covered elsewhere in its Proposal.

2.5 CONFLICT OF INTEREST

No public official shall have interest in a contract, in accordance with Vernon ’s Texas Codes Annotated, 
Local Government Code, Title 5, Subtitle C, Chapter 171, as amended. 

As of January 1, 2006, all Respondents are responsible for complying with Local Government Code, Title 
5, Subtitle C, Chapter 176.  Additional information may be obtained from the County’s website at the 
following link: 

http://www.wilco.org/CountyDepartments/Purchasing/ConflictofInterestDisclosure/tabid/689/language/en
US/Default.aspx

Each Respondent must disclose any existing or potential conflict of interest relative to the performance of 
the requirements of this RFP.  Examples of potential conflicts of interest may include an existing 
business or personal relationship between the Respondent, its principal, or any affiliate or 
subcontractor with the County or any other entity or person involved in any way with the project 
that is subject to this RFP.  Similarly, any personal or business relationship between the Respondent, 
the principals, or any affiliate or subcontractor with any employee, or official of the County or its suppliers 
must be disclosed.  Any such relationship that might be perceived or represented as a conflict must be 
disclosed. Failure to disclose any such relationship or reveal personal relationships with the County 
employees or officials may be cause for termination. 

The County will decide if an actual or perceived conflict should result in Proposal disqualification. 

By submitting a Proposal in response to this RFP, all Respondents affirm they have not given, nor intend 
to give, at any time hereafter, any economic opportunity, future employment, gift, loan, gratuity, special 
discount, trip, favor, or service to a the County public servant or any employee, official or representative 
of same, in connection with this procurement. 

Each Respondent must provide a Conflict of Interest Statement with their Proposal Package.  

Package may be deemed incomplete without this form.  

2.6 CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PARTIES – FORM 1295

As of January 1, 2016, all Respondents are responsible for complying with the Texas Government Code, 
Section 2252.908.  The law states that the County may not enter into certain contracts with a 
Respondent unless the Respondent submits a disclosure of interested parties to the County at the time 
the Respondent submits the signed contract.  The law applies only to a contract of the County on or after 
January 1, 2016 that either:

A. Requires an action or vote by the Commissioners Court before the contract may be signed (all 
contracts that fall under the jurisdiction of the Commissioners Court approval, such as contracts 
resulting from an Initiation for Bid (IFB), RFP, Request for Qualifications (RFQ), etc., excluding, 
but not limited to, certain Juvenile Service contracts, contracts funded with Sheriff ’s seized fun 
monies, etc.); or

B. Has a value of at least $1,000,000. 

By January 1, 2016, the Texas Ethics Commission will make available on its website, a new filing 
application that must be used to file Form 1295.  Information regarding how to use the filing application is 
available on the Texas Ethics Commission website at the following link:

https://www.ethics.state.tx.us/whatsnew/elf_info_form1295.htm

A Respondent must:

A. Use the online application to process the required information on Form 1295.

B. Print a copy of the form which will contain a unique certification number.

C. An authorized agent of the Respondent must sign the printed copy of the form.

D. Have the form notarized.

E. File the completed Form 1295 and certification of filing (scanning and emailing form is sufficient) 
with Williamson County Purchasing Agent at the time the signed Contract is submitted for 
approval.

After the Commissioners Court award of the contract, the County shall notify the Texas Ethics 
Commission, using the Texas Ethics Commission ’s filing application, of the receipt of the filed Form 
1295 and certification of filing not later than the 30th day after the date the contract binds all parties to the 
contract. The Texas Ethics Commission will post the completed Form 1295 to its website within seven 
business days after receiving notice from the County.

2.7 PROPOSAL SUBMITTAL DEADLINE

The Proposal is due no later than the submittal date and time set forth in the Public Announcement and 
General Information listed in this RFP package.  Contents of each Proposal shall be submitted in 
accordance with this RFP.

2.8 ETHICS

The Respondent shall not accept or offer gifts or anything of value, nor enter into any business 
arrangement with any employee, official or agent of the County.

2.9 DELIVERY OF PROPOSALS

The County uses BidSync to distribute and receive bids and Proposals.  It is preferred that Proposals
be submitted electronically through BidSync; however, Respondents can submit a hard copy.  

Refer to www.bidsync.com for further information on how to submit electronically.

If mailed or delivered in person, Proposal and Proposal Addenda are to be delivered in sealed envelope
on or before the submittal deadline, as noted in the Public Announcement and General Information listed 
in this RFP package, to:

            Williamson County Purchasing Department
            Attn: Proposal Name and Number
            901 South Austin Avenue
            Georgetown, Texas 78626

Also, all Respondents should list their Name and Address, and the Date of the Proposal opening on the
outside of the box or envelope and note “Sealed Proposal Enclosed.” Williamson County will not accept 
any Proposals after the submittal deadline, and shall return such Proposals unopened to the 
Respondent.  The County will not accept any responsibility for Proposals being delivered by third party 
carriers. 

Proposals will be opened publicly; however, in a manner to avoid public disclosure of contents, only 
names of Respondents will be read aloud: no pricing will be announced at the opening. 

SECTION 3 - INSTRUCTIONS AND GENERAL REQUIREMENTS

3.1 INSTRUCTIONS

Read this document carefully, and follow all instructions and requirements.  All Respondents are 
responsible for fulfilling all requirements and specifications.  Be sure to have a clear understanding of this
RFP.

General requirements apply to all advertised RFPs; however, these may be superseded, in whole or in 
part, by the proposal specifications, Addenda and modifications issued as a part of this RFP.  Be sure 
your Proposal package is complete.

3.2 AMBIGUITY, CONFLICT, OR OTHER ERRORS IN THIS RFP

If a Respondent discovers any ambiguity, conflict, discrepancy, omission or other error in this RFP, the 
Respondent shall immediately notify the County Purchasing Department of such error in writing and
request modification or clarification of the document.

Modifications will be made by issuing Addenda. If the Respondent fails to notify the County prior to the
date and time fixed for submission of Proposals of an error or ambiguity in the RFP known to the
Respondent, or an error or ambiguity that reasonably should have been known to the Respondent, then 
the Respondent shall be deemed to have waived the error or ambiguity or its later resolution.

The County may also modify the RFP, no later than forty-eight (48) hours prior to the date and time fixed
for submission of Proposals, by issuance of an Addendum.  All Addenda will be numbered consecutively, 
beginning with one (1).

3.3 NOTIFICATION OF MOST CURRENT ADDRESS

All Respondents in receipt of this RFP shall notify the Williamson County Purchasing Department of any
address changes, contact person changes, and/or telephone number changes no later than forty-eight 
(48) hours prior to the date and time fixed for submission of Proposals.

3.4 SIGNATURE OF RESPONDENT

A Transmittal Letter, which shall be considered an integral part of the Proposal as stated in Section 2.3, 
Transmittal Letter, shall be signed by an individual who is authorized to bind the Respondent
contractually.

A. If the Respondent is a Corporation or Limited Liability Company, the legal name of the Corporation
or Limited Liability Company shall be provided together with the signature of the officer or officers 
authorized to sign on behalf of such entity.

B. If the Respondent is a General Partnership, the true name of the firm shall be provided with the
signature of each partner authorized to sign.

C. If the Respondent is a Limited Partnership, the name of the Limited Partner ’s General Partner
shall be provided with the signature of the officer authorized to sign on behalf of the General
Partner.

D. If the Respondent is a Sole Proprietor(s) (individual), each Sole Proprietor(s) shall sign.

E. If signature is by an agent, other than the Sole Proprietor(s) or an officer of a Corporation, Limited 
Liability Company, General Partner or a member of a General Partnership, a power of attorney
equivalent document must be submitted to the Williamson County Purchasing Department.

3.5 ASSUMED BUSINESS NAME

If the Respondent operates business under an Assumed Business Name, the Respondent must have
file with the Williamson County Clerk a current Assumed Name Certificate and provide a file marked copy 
of same prior to contract award.

3.6 ECONOMY OF PRESENTATION

Proposals should not contain promotional or display materials, except as they may directly answer in 
whole or in part questions contained in the RFP.  Such exhibits shall be clearly marked with the 
applicable reference number of the question in the RFP.  Proposals must address the technical 
requirements as specified in the RFP.  All questions posed by the RFP must be answered concisely and 
clearly. Proposals that do not address each criterion may be, at the sole discretion of the County, 
rejected and not considered.

3.7 PROPOSAL OBLIGATION 

The contents of the RFP, Proposal, and any clarification thereof submitted by the Successful
Respondent shall become part of the contractual obligation and incorporated by reference into the 
Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s).

3.8 COMPLIANCE WITH RFP SPECIFICATIONS

It is intended that this RFP describe the requirements and the Proposal format in sufficient detail to 
secure comparable Proposal.  Failure to comply with all provisions of the RFP may, at the sole discretion 
of the County, result in disqualification.

3.9 EVALUATION 

The County reserves the right to use all pertinent information (also learned from sources other than 
disclosed in the RFP process) that might affect the County ’s judgment as to the appropriateness of
award to the best evaluated Respondent. This information may be appended to the Proposal evaluation
process results. Information on a Respondent from reliable sources, and not within the Respondent
Proposal, may also be noted and made part of the evaluation fi le.  The County shall have sole 
discretion for determining the reliability of the source.  The County reserves the right to conduct written 
and/or oral discussions/interviews after the Proposal opening.  The purpose of such 
discussions/interviews is to provide clarification and/or additional information to make an award that is in 
the best interest of the County.

3.10 WITHDRAWAL OF PROPOSAL

The Respondent may withdraw its Proposal by submitting a written request with the company letterhead 
and the signature of an authorized individual, as described in Section 3.4, Signature of Respondent, to 
the Williamson County Purchasing Department any time prior to the submission deadline.  

The Respondent may submit a new Proposal prior to the deadline. Alterations of the Proposal in any 
manner will not be considered if submitted after the deadline.  Withdrawal of a Proposal after the deadline 
will be subject to written approval of the Williamson County Purchasing Agent.

3.11 RESPONSIBILITY 

It is expected that a Respondent will be able to affirmatively demonstrate responsibility.  A prospective
Respondent should be able to meet the following requirements:

A. Have adequate financial resources, or the ability to obtain such resources as required;
B. Be able to comply with the required or proposed delivery schedule;
C. Have a satisfactory record of performance that can be determined thru references provided; and 
D. Be otherwise qualified and eligible to receive an award.

The County may request representation and other information sufficient to determine the Respondent
ability to meet these minimum standards listed above.

3.12 PURCHASE ORDERS

If required by the Williamson County Purchasing Department, a purchase order(s) may be generated to 
the Successful Respondent for goods and/or services.  If a purchase order is issued, the purchase order 
number must appear on all itemized invoices and/or requests for payment.

3.13 SILENCE OF SPECIFICATIONS

The apparent silence of any RFP specifications as to any detail or to the apparent omission from it of a 
detailed description concerning any point, shall be regarded as meaning that only the best practices are 
to prevail.  All interpretations of these specifications shall be made on the basis of this statement.

3.14 REFERENCES

Respondents shall furnish a list of contracts where similar responsibilities and goods and/or services 
have been required and/or performed for the past five (5) years, to include names, titles, phone numbers 
and email addresses of reference contacts, contract numbers and dates of performance. 

Also, Respondents shall include a list of any contracts that have been cancelled or terminated within the 
last five (5) years, along with an explanation of the cancellation and the names, email address and phone 
number of a reference person with that institution. 

The County may contact some or all of the references in order to determine the Respondent
performance record on work similar to that described in this RFP.  The County reserves the right to 
contact references other than those provided in the response and to use the information gained from 
them in the evaluation process. 

References should be provided in accordance with this RFP.  Proposal may not be deemed complete 
without the inclusion of requested references.

SECTION 4 - TERMS AND CONDITIONS

4.1 VENUE AND GOVERNING LAW

The Respondent hereby agrees and acknowledges that venue and jurisdiction of any suit, right, or cause 
of action arising out of or in connection with this RFP, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s), shall 
lie exclusively in either Williamson County, Texas or in the Austin Division of the Western Federal District 
of Texas, and the parties hereto expressly consent and submit to such jurisdiction.  Furthermore, except 
to the extent that this RFP, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) is governed by the laws of the 
United States, this RFP, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be governed by and 
construed in accordance with the laws of the State of Texas, excluding, however, its choice of law rules.

4.2 INCORPORATION BY REFERENCE AND PRECEDENCE

A. The Contract shall be derived from the RFP and its Addenda (if applicable), and the Respondent
Proposal.  In the event of a dispute under the Contract, applicable documents will be referred to 
for the purpose of clarification or for additional detail in the following order of precedence:

1. The RFP and its Addenda (if applicable); and 

2. The Respondent ’s Proposal.

B. In the event the County requires that an Ensuing Agreement be executed following award and a 
dispute arises between the terms and conditions of the Ensuing Agreement, the RFP and its 
Addenda (if applicable), and the Respondent ’s Proposal, applicable documents will be referred to 
for the purpose of clarification or for additional detail in the following order of precedence: 

1. The terms and conditions of the Ensuing Agreement;

2. The RFP and its Addenda; and  

3. The Respondent ’s Proposal.

4.3 OWNERSHIP OF PROPOSAL

Each Proposal shall become the property of the County upon submittal and will not be returned to 
Respondents unless received after the submittal deadline.

4.4 DISQUALIFICATION OF RESPONDENT

Upon signing and submittal of the Proposal, a Respondent offering to sell supplies, materials, services, 
or equipment to the County, certifies that the Respondent has not violated the antitrust laws of the State 
of Texas codified in Business & Commerce Code, Section 15.01, or the Federal Antitrust Laws, and has 
not communicated directly or indirectly the offer made to any competitor or any other person engaged
such line of business.  Any or all Proposals may be rejected if the County believes that collusion exists 
among the Respondents.

4.5 FUNDING

The County intends to budget and make sufficient funds available and authorize funds for expenditure to 
finance the costs of the Contract.  All Respondents understand and agree that the County’s payment of 
amounts under the Contract shall be contingent on the County receiving appropriations or other 
expenditure authority sufficient to allow the County, in the exercise of reasonable administrative 
discretion, to make payments under this Contract.

4.6 ASSIGNMENT, SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS 

The Successful Respondent may not assign, sell, or otherwise transfer the Contract or any other rights 
or interests obtained under the Contract without written permission of the Williamson County the 
Commissioners Court.  The Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be binding upon and inure to 
the benefit of the contracting parties hereto and their respective successors and permitted assigns.

4.7 IMPLIED REQUIREMENTS

Products or services not specifically described or required in the RFP, but are necessary to provide the 
functional capabilities described by the Respondent, shall be implied and deemed to be included in the
Proposal.

4.8 TERMINATION

A. Termination for Cause: The County reserves the right to terminate the Contract and/or any 
Ensuing Agreement(s) for default if the Successful Respondent breaches any of the Proposal
specifications, terms and conditions, including warranties of the Respondent, if any, or if the 
Successful Respondent becomes insolvent or commits acts of bankruptcy.  Such right of 
termination is in addition to and not in lieu of any other remedies the County may have at law or
equity or as may otherwise be provided hereunder.  Default may be construed as, but not limited 
to, failure to deliver the proper goods and/or services within the proper amount of time, and/or to 
properly perform any and all other requirements to the County ’s satisfaction, and/or to meet all 
other obligations and requirements.

B. Termination for Convenience: The County may terminate the Contract and/or any Ensuing 
Agreement(s) for convenience and without cause or further liability, upon no less than thirty (30) 
calendar days written notice to the Successful Respondent. The County reserves the right to 
extend this period if it is in the best interest of the County.  In the event the County exercises its 
right to terminate without cause, it is understood and agreed that only the amounts due to the 
Successful Respondent for goods, commodities and/or services provided and expenses incurred 
to and including the date of termination, will be due and payable.  No penalty will be assessed for 
the County ’s termination for convenience.

4.9 NON-PERFORMANCE

It is the objective of the County to obtain complete and satisfactory performance of the requirements set 
forth herein.  In addition to any other remedies available at law, in equity or that may be set out herein, 
failure to perform may result in a deduction of payment equal to the amount of the goods and/or services 
that were not provided and/or performed to the County ’s satisfaction.  

In the event of such non-performance, the County shall have the right, but shall not be obligated, to 
complete the services itself or by others and/or purchase the goods from other sources.  If the County 
elects to acquire the goods or perform the services itself or by others, pursuant to the foregoing, the 
Successful Respondent shall reimburse the County, within ten (10) calendar days of demand, for all 
costs incurred by the County (including, without limitation, applicable, general, and administrative 
expenses, and field overhead, and the cost of necessary equipment, materials, and field labor) in 
correcting the nonperformance which the Successful Respondent fails to meet pursuant to the 
requirements set out herein.  In the event the Successful Respondent refuses to reimburse the County 
as set out in this provision, the County shall have the right to deduct such reimbursement amounts from 
any amounts that may be then owing or that may become owing in the future to the Successful
Respondent.

4.10 PROPRIETARY INFORMATION AND THE TEXAS PUBLIC INFORMATION ACT

All material submitted to the County shall become public property and subject to the Texas Public 
Information Act upon receipt. If a Respondent does not desire proprietary information in the Proposal to 
be disclosed, each page must be clearly identified and marked proprietary at time of submittal or, more 
preferably, all proprietary information may be placed in a folder or appendix and be clearly identified and 
marked as being proprietary.  Failure to clearly identify and mark information as being proprietary as set 
forth under this provision will result in all unmarked information being deemed non-proprietary and 
available to the public.  For all information that has not been clearly identified and marked as proprietary 
by the Respondent, the County may choose to place such information on the County ’s website and/or a 
similar public database without obtaining any type of prior consent from the Respondent.

The County will, to the extent allowed by law, endeavor to protect from public disclosure the information 
that has been identified and marked as proprietary.  The final decision as to what information must be 
disclosed, however, lies with the Texas Attorney General.  

To the extent, if any, that any provision in this RFP or in the Respondent ’s Proposal is in conflict with 
Texas Government Code, Chapter 552, as amended (the “Public Information Act”), the same shall be of 
no force or effect.  Furthermore, it is expressly understood, and agreed, that the County, and its officers 
and employees, may request advice, decisions and opinions of the Attorney General of the State of
Texas in regard to the application of the Public Information Act to any items or data furnished to the 
County as to whether or not the same are available to the public.  It is further understood that that the 
County, and its officers and employees, shall have the right to rely on the advice, decisions and opinions 
of the Attorney General, and that the County, its officers and employees shall have no liability or obligation 
to any party hereto for the disclosure to the public, or to any person or persons, of any items or data 
furnished to the County by a party hereto, in reliance of any advice, decision or opinion of the Attorney 
General of the State of Texas.

4.11 RIGHT TO AUDIT

The Successful Respondent agrees that the County or its duly authorized representatives shall, until the 
expiration of three (3) years after termination or expiration of the services to be performed, have access 
to and the right to examine and photocopy any and all books, documents, papers and records of the 
Successful Respondent, which are directly pertinent to the services to be performed or goods to
delivered for the purposes of making audits, examinations, excerpts and transcriptions.  The Successful 
Respondent agrees that the County shall have access during normal working hours to all necessary 
facilities and shall be provided adequate and appropriate work space in order to conduct audits in 
compliance with the provisions of this section.  The County shall give the Successful Respondent 
reasonable advance notice of intended audits.

4.12 TESTING AND INSPECTIONS

The County reserves the right to inspect and test equipment, supplies, materials and goods for quality 
and compliance with this RFP, and ability to meet the needs of the user.  Demonstration units must be 
available for review.  Should the goods or services fail to meet requirements and/or be unavailable for 
evaluation, the County can deem the Respondent to be in breach and terminate the Contract and/or any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

4.13 PROPOSAL PREPARATION COSTS

The cost of developing Proposals is the sole responsibility of the Respondents and shall not be charged 
to the County.  There is no expressed or implied obligation for the County to reimburse the Respondents 
for any expense incurred in preparing a Proposal in response to this RFP and the County will not 
reimburse the Respondents for such expenses.

4.14 INDEMNIFICATION

The Successful Respondent shall indemnify, defend and save harmless, the County, its officials, 
employees, agents and agent ’s employees from, and against, all claims, liability, and expenses including 
reasonable attorneys ’ fees, arising from activities of the Respondent, its agents, servants or employees, 
performed hereunder that result from the negligent act, error, or omission of the Respondent or any of 
the Respondent ’s agents, servants or employees, as well as all claims of loss or damage to the 
Respondent ’s and the County ’s property, equipment, and/or supplies. 

Furthermore, the County, its officials, employees, agents and agents ’ employees shall not be liable for 
damages to the Successful Respondent arising from any act of any third party, including, but not limited 
to, theft.  The Successful Respondent further agrees to indemnify, defend and save harmless, the 
County from its officials, employee, agents and agents ’ employees against all claims of whatever nature 
arising from any accident, injury, or damage whatsoever, caused to any person, or the property of any 
person, occurring in relation to the Successful Respondent ’s performance of any services requested 
hereunder during the term of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s). 

The Successful Respondent shall timely report all claims, demands, suits, actions, proceedings, liens or 
judgements to the County and shall, upon the receipt of any claim, demand, suit, action, proceeding, lien 

or judgement, not later than the fifteenth (15 th) day of each month; provide the County with a written 
report on each such matter, setting forth the status of each matter, the schedule or planned proceedings 
with respect to each matter and the cooperation or assistance, if any, of the County required by the 
Successful Respondent in the defense of each matter.  The Successful Respondent’s duty to defend, 
indemnify and hold the County harmless shall be absolute.  It shall not abate or end by reason of the 
expiration or termination of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s), unless otherwise agreed by 
the County in writing.  The provisions of this section shall survive the termination of the Contract and shall 
remain in full force and effect with respect to all such matters no matter when they arise. 

In the event of any dispute between the parties, as to whether a claim, demand, suit, action, proceeding, 
lien or judgement, that appears to have been caused by or appears to have arisen out of or in connection 
with acts or omissions of the County, the Respondent shall nevertheless fully defend such claim, 
demand, suit or action, proceeding, lien or judgement, until and unless there is  a determination by a 
court of competent jurisdiction that the acts and omissions of the Respondent are not an issue in the 
matter. 

The Successful Respondent ’s indemnification shall cover, and the Successful Respondent agrees to, 
indemnify the County, in the event the County is found to have been negligent for having selected the 
Successful Respondent to perform the work described in this request.  The provision by the Successful 
Respondent of insurance shall not limit the liability of the Successful Respondent under the Contract 
and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s). 

4.15 WAIVER OF SUBROGATION

The Successful Respondent and the Successful Respondent ’s insurance carrier waive any and all rights 
whatsoever with regard to subrogation against the County as an indirect party to any suit arising out of 
personal or property damages resulting from the Respondent ’s performance under this Contract and any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

4.16 RELATIONSHIP OF THE PARTIES

The Successful Respondent shall be an independent contractor and shall assume all of the rights, 
obligations, liabilities, applicable to it as such independent contractor hereunder and any provisions 
herein which may appear to give the County the right to direct the Successful Respondent as to details of 
doing work herein covered, or to exercise a measure of control over the work, shall be deemed to mean 
that the Successful Respondent shall follow the desires of the County in the results of the work only.  The 
County shall not retain or have the right to control the Successful Respondent ’s means, methods or 
details pertaining to the Successful Respondent ’s performance of the work.  The County and the 
Successful Respondent hereby agree and declare that the Successful Respondent is an independent 
contractor and as such meets the qualifications of an “Independent Contractor” under Texas Workers 
Compensation Act, Texas Labor Code, Section 406.141, that the Successful Respondent is not an 
employee of  the County, and that the Successful Respondent and its employees, agents and 
subcontractors shall not be entitled to workers compensation coverage or any other type of insurance 
coverage held by the County.

4.17 SOLE PROVIDER

The Successful Respondent agrees and acknowledges that it shall not be considered a sole provider of 
the goods and/or services described herein and that the County may contract with other providers of 
such goods and/or services if the County deems, at its sole discretion, that multiple providers of the 
same goods and/or services will serve the best interest of the County.

4.18 FORCE MAJEURE

If the party obligated to perform is prevented from performance by an act of war, order of legal authority, 
act of God, or other unavoidable cause not attributable to the fault or negligence of said party, the other 
party shall grant such party relief from the performance.  The burden of proof for the need of such relief 
shall rest upon the party obligated to perform.  To obtain release based on force majeure, the party 
obligated to perform shall file a written request with the other party.

4.19 SEVERABILITY

If any provision of this RFP, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be held invalid or 
unenforceable by any court of competent jurisdiction, such holding shall not invalidate or render 
unenforceable any other provision thereof, but rather the entire RFP, Contract or any Ensuing Agreement
(s) will be construed as if not containing the particular invalid or unenforceable provision or provisions, 
and the rights and obligation of the parties shall be construed and enforced in accordance therewith.  The 
parties acknowledge that if any provision of this RFP, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) is 
determined to be invalid or unenforceable, it is the desire and intention of each that such provision be 
reformed and construed in such a manner that it will, to the maximum extent practicable, give effect to
the intent of this RFP, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) and be deemed to be validated and
enforceable.

4.20 EQUAL OPPORTUNITY

Neither party shall discriminate against any employee or applicant for employment because of race, 
color, sex, religion or national origin.

4.21 NOTICE

Any notice to be given shall be in writing and may be distributed by personal delivery, or by registered or 
certified mail, return receipt requested, addressed to the proper party, at the following address:

The County:    Williamson County Purchasing Department 
            Attn: Purchasing Agent 
            901 South Austin Avenue 
            Georgetown, Texas 78626

The Respondent: Address set out in Respondent ’s Transmittal Letter

Notices given in accordance with this provision shall be effective upon (1) receipt by the party to which 
notice is given, or (2) on the third (3rd) calendar day following mailing, whichever occurs first.

4.22 SALES AND USE TAX EXEMPTION

The County is a body, corporate and politic, under the laws of the State of Texas and claims exemption 
from sales and use taxes under Texas Tax Code, Section 151.309, as amended, and the services and/or 
goods subject hereof are being secured for use by the County.

4.23 COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS

The County and the Successful Respondent shall comply with all federal, state, and local laws, statutes,
ordinances, rules and regulations, and the orders and decrees of any courts or administrative bodies or 
tribunals in any matter affecting the performance of the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s),
including, without limitation, Workers ’ Compensation laws, salary and wage statutes and regulations, 
licensing laws and regulations.  When required, the Successful Respondent shall furnish the County with 
certification of compliance with said laws, statues, ordinances, rules, regulations, orders, and decrees 
above specified.

4.24 INCORPORATION OF EXHIBITS, APPENDICES AND ATTACHMENTS

All of the Exhibits, Appendices and Attachments referred to herein are incorporated by reference as if set 
forth verbatim herein.  Any conflicting terms in the Contract documents will be resolved at the sole 
discretion of the Commissioners Court.

4.25 NO WAIVER OF IMMUNITIES

Nothing herein shall be deemed to waive, modify or amend any legal defense available at law or in equity 
to the County, its past or present officers, employees, or agents, nor to create any legal rights or claim on 
behalf of any third party.  The County does not waive, modify, or alter to any extent whatsoever the 
availability of the defense of governmental immunity under the laws of the State of Texas and of the 
United States.

4.26 NO WAIVER

The failure or delay of any party to enforce at any time or any period of time any of the provisions of this 
RFP, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall not constitute a present or future waiver of such 
provisions nor the right of either party to enforce each and every provision.  Furthermore, no term or 
provision hereof shall be deemed waived and no breach excused unless such waiver or consent shall be 
in writing and signed by the party claimed to have waived or consented.  Any consent by any party to, or 
waiver of, a breach by the other, whether expressed or implied, shall not constitute a consent to, waiver 
of or excuse for any other, different or subsequent breach.

4.27 CURRENT REVENUES

The obligations of the parties under the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) do not constitute a 
general obligation or indebtedness of the County for which the County is obligated to levy, pledge, or 
collect any of taxation.  It is understood and agreed that the County shall have the right to terminate the 
Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) at the end of any the County fiscal year if the governing body of 
the County does not appropriate sufficient funds as determined by the County ’s budget for the fiscal year 
in question.  The County may effect such termination by giving written notice of termination to the 
Successful Respondent at the end of its then-current fiscal year.

4.28 BINDING EFFECT

This Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties 
and their respective permitted assigns and successors.

4.29 ASSIGNMENT

The Successful Respondent ’s interest and duties hereunder may not be assigned or delegated to a third 
party without the express written consent of the County.

4.30 SAFETY

The Successful Respondent is responsible for initiating, maintaining, and supervising all safety 
precautions and programs in connection with any services to be provided hereunder. The safety program 
shall comply with all applicable requirements of the current federal Occupational Safety and Health Act 
and all other applicable federal, state and local laws and regulations.

4.31 GENERAL OBLIGATIONS AND RELIANCE

The Successful Respondent shall perform all services and/or provide all goods, as well as those
reasonably inferable and necessary for completion and provision of services and/or goods required
hereunder. The Successful Respondent shall keep the County informed of the progress and quality
the services.  The Successful Respondent agrees and acknowledges that the County is relying on the 
Successful Respondent's represented expertise and ability to provide the goods and/or services 
described herein.  The Successful Respondent agrees to use its best efforts, skill, judgment, and abilities
to perform its obligations in accordance with the highest standards used in the profession and to further 
the interests of the County in accordance with the County ’s requirements and procedures.  The 
Successful Respondent ’s duties, as set forth herein, shall at no time be in any way diminished by reason
of any approval by the County, nor shall the Successful Respondent be released from any liability
reason of such approval by the County, it being understood that the County at all times is ultimately 
relying upon the Successful Respondent ’s skill and knowledge in performing the services and providing 
any goods required hereunder.

4.32 CONTRACTUAL DEVELOPMENT

The Commissioners Court may award the Contract on the basis of the initial Proposals received, without
any further or additional discussions.  Therefore, each initial Proposal should contain the Respondent
best terms and offer.  The contents of the RFP and the selected Proposal will become an integral part of 
the Contract, but may be modified, at Williamson County ’s sole discretion, by provisions of an Ensuing 
Agreement.  Therefore, the Respondent must agree to inclusion in an Ensuing Agreement of the 
Proposal specifications, terms and conditions of this RFP.  Williamson County may, at its discretion, opt 
to conduct further discussions with responsible offerors and request the highest ranked firm ’s Best and 
Final Offer (BAFO).

4.33 ENTIRE AGREEMENT

The Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall supersede all prior Agreements, written or oral 
between the Successful Respondent and the County and shall constitute the entire Agreement and 
understanding between the parties with respect to the services and/or goods to be provided.  Each of the 
provisions herein shall be binding upon the parties and may not be waived, modified, amended or altered, 
except by writing signed by the Successful Respondent and the County.

4.34 SURVIVABILITY 

All applicable agreements that were entered into between the Successful Respondent and the County, 
under the terms and conditions of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s), shall survive the 
expiration or termination thereof for ninety (90) days unless a new contract has been awarded.

The County may exercise, by written notice to the Successful Respondent no later than ten (10) calendar 
days of the Contract expiration, this clause for emergency cases only. 

4.35 PAYMENT

The County ’s payment for goods and services shall be governed by the Texas Government Code, 

Chapter 2251.  An invoice shall be deemed overdue the thirty-first (31st) day after the later of the 
following: 

A. The date the County receives the goods under the Contract; 
B. The date the performance of the service under the Contract is completed; or 
C. The date the Williamson County Auditor receives an invoice for the goods or services.  

Interest charges for any overdue payments shall be paid by the County in accordance with Texas 
Government Code, Section 2251.025.  More specifically, the rate of interest that shall accrue on a late 
payment is the rate in effect on September 1 of the County ’s fiscal year in which the payment becomes 
due.  The said rate in effect on September 1 shall be equal to the sum of one (1) percent and the prime 

rate published in the Wall Street Journal on the first (1st) day of July of the preceding fiscal year that does 
not fall on a Saturday or Sunday.

In the event that an error appears in an invoice submitted by the Successful Respondent, the County 
shall notify the Successful Respondent of the error not later than the twenty-first (21st) day after the date 
the County receives the invoice.  If the error is resolved in favor of the Successful Respondent, the 
Successful Respondent shall be entitled to receive interest on the unpaid balance of the invoice 
submitted by the Successful Respondent beginning on the date that the payment for the invoice became 
overdue.  If the error is resolved in favor of the County, the Successful Respondent shall submit a 
corrected invoice that must be paid in accordance within the time set forth above.  The unpaid balance 
accrues interest as provided by the Texas Government Code, Chapter 2251, if the corrected invoice is 
not paid by the appropriate date.

As a minimum, invoices shall include:

A. Name, address, and telephone number of the Successful Respondent and similar information in 
the event the payment is to be made to a different address. 

B. The County Contract, Purchase Order. 

C. Identification of items or service as outlined in the Contract.

D. Quantity or quantities, applicable unit prices, total prices and total amount.

E. Any additional payment information which may be called for by the Contract.

Payment inquiries should be directed to the following address:        

            Williamson County Auditor’s Office, Accounts Payable Department
            Email: accountspayable@wilco.org
            Phone: 512-943-1500

4.36 CONTRACTUAL FORMATION AND ENSUING AGREEMENT

The RFP and the Respondent ’s Proposal, when properly accepted by the Commissioners Court, shall 
constitute a Contract equally binding between the Successful Respondent and the County.  The 
Successful Respondent may be required by Williamson County to sign an additional Agreement 
containing terms necessary to ensure compliance with the RFP and Respondent ’s Proposal.

4.37 LEGAL LIABILITY INFORMATION

The Successful Respondent shall disclose all legal liability information by listing any pending litigation
anticipated litigation that your firm is involved in including, but not limited to, potential or actual legal
matters with private parties and any local, state, federal or international governmental entities. The
County reserves the right to consider legal liability information in the recommendation of any proposed 
contract to the Commissioners Court.

4.38 CONFIDENTIALITY

Respondent expressly agrees that it will not use any direct or incidental confidential information that may
be obtained while working in a governmental setting for its own benefit, and agrees that it will not access
unauthorized areas or confidential information and it will not disclose any information to unauthorized
third parties, and will take care to guard the security of the information at all times.

4.39 INCLEMENT WEATHER

In case of inclement weather or any other unforeseen event causing the County to close for business on 
the date of a Proposal submission deadline, the Proposal closing will automatically be postponed until the 
next business day the County is open.  If inclement weather conditions or any other unforeseen event 
causes delays in carrier service operations, the County may issue an Addendum to all known 
Respondents interested in the project to extend the deadline.  It will be the responsibility of the 
Respondent to notify the County of their interest in the project if these conditions are impacting their 
ability to turn in a submission within the stated deadline.  The County reserves the right to make the final 
judgement call to extend any deadline. 

4.40 AIR QUALITY

In determining the overall best Proposal, the County may, to the extent applicable, exercise the option 
granted to local governments under the Texas Local Government Code, Section 271.907.

This option allows the County to evaluate Proposals and give preference to goods and/or services of
Respondent that demonstrates that the Respondent meets or exceeds any and all state or federal 
environmental standards, including voluntary standards, relating to air quality.  If the Proposal being 
submitted will have an effect on air quality for the County (as it relates to any state, federal, or voluntary 
air quality standard), then the Respondent is encouraged to provide information in narrative indicating the 
anticipated air quality impact.  All Respondents are expected to meet all mandated state and federal air 
quality standards.

4.41 COOPERATIVE PURCHASING PROGRAM 

During the term of the Contract resulting from this RFP, the County would like to afford the same prices, 
terms and conditions to other political subdivisions or public entities.  Another entity’s participation in the 
Contract resulting from this RFP is subject to a properly authorized Purchasing Cooperative Inter- local 
Agreement (ILA) with the County.  Any liability created by purchase orders issued against the Contract 
shall be the sole responsibility of the governmental agency placing the order.

4.42 PREVAILING WAGE RATES

To the extent this procurement is for the construction of a public work, including a building, highway, 
road, excavation, and repair work or other project development or improvement, paid for in whole or in 
part from public funds, without regard to whether the work is done under public supervision or direction, 
Texas Government Code, Chapter 2258, shall apply and the contractor shall pay not less than the wage 
scale of the various classes of labor as shown on the “Prevailing Wage Schedule” provided by the 
County. Pursuant to Texas Government Code, Section 2258.022(a)(2), the County has determined the 
general prevailing rate of the “Prevailing Wage Schedule”  in the locality in which the public work is to be 
performed for each craft or type of worker needed to execute the contract and the prevailing rate for legal 
holiday and overtime work by using the prevailing wage rate as determined by the United States 
Department of Labor in accordance with the United States Code, Section 276a (Davis-Bacon Act). 

The specified wage rates are minimum rates only, and are not representations that qualified labor 
adequate to perform the work is available locally at the prevailing wage rates. The County is not bound to 
pay—and will not consider—any claims for additional compensation made by any contractor because the 
contractor pays wages in excess of the applicable minimum rate contained in the Contract Documents. 
The “Prevailing Wage Schedule”  is not a representation that quantities of qualified labor adequate to 
perform the work may be found locally at the specified wage rates.

For classifications not shown, workers shall not be paid less than the wage indicated for laborers. The 
contractor shall notify each worker commencing work on the project the worker ’s job classification and 
the established minimum wage rate required to be paid, as well as the actual amount being paid. The 
notice must be delivered to and signed in acknowledgement of receipt by the employee and must list 
both the monetary wages and fringe benefits to be paid or furnished for each classification in which the 
worker is assigned duties. When requested by the County, competent evidence of compliance with the 
Texas Prevailing Wage Law shall be furnished by contractor. A copy of each worker wage rate 
notification shall be submitted to the County with the Application for Payment for the period during which 
the worker began on-site activities.

Should the contractor at any time become aware that a particular skill or trade not reflected on the 
County ’s “Prevailing Wage Schedule” will be or is being employed in the work, whether by the contractor 
or by a subcontractor, the contractor shall promptly inform the County and shall specify a wage rate for 
that skill or trade, which shall bind the contractor.

The contractor and any subcontractor shall pay to the County a penalty of sixty dollars ($60.00) for each 
worker employed for each calendar day, or portion thereof, that the worker is paid less than the wage 
rates stipulated in the “Prevailing Wage Schedule” or any supplement thereto. The contractor and each 
subcontractor shall keep, or cause to be kept, an accurate record showing the names and occupations 
of all workers employed in connection with the work, and showing the actual per diem wages paid to 
each worker, which records shall be open at all reasonable hours for the inspection by the County.

Within thirty-one (31) days of receipt of information concerning a violation of the Texas Government Code 
Chapter 2258, the County shall make an initial determination as to whether good cause exists to believe 
a violation occurred. The County ’s decision on the initial determination shall be reduced to writing and 
sent to the contractor or subcontractor against whom the violation was alleged, and to the affected 
worker. When a good cause finding is made, the County shall retain the full amounts claimed by the 
claimant or claimants as the difference between wages paid and wages due under the “Prevailing Wage 
Schedule” and any supplements thereto, together with the applicable penalties, such amounts being 
subtracted from successive progress payments pending a final decision on the violation.

After the County makes its initial determination, the affected contractor or subcontractor and worker have 
fourteen (14) calendar days in which to resolve the issue of whether a violation occurred, including the 
amount that should be retained by the County or paid to the affected worker. If the contractor or 
subcontractor and affected worker reach an agreement concerning the worker ’s claim, the contractor 
shall promptly notify the County in a written document signed by the worker. It the contractor or 

Subcontractor and affected worker do not agree before the fifteenth (15 th) calendar day after the County
determination, the contractor or subcontractor and affected worker must participate in binding arbitration 
in accordance with the Texas General Arbitration Act, Chapter 171, (Texas Civil Practice and Remedies 
Code). The parties to the arbitration have ten (10) calendar days after the expiration of the fifteen (15) 

calendar days referred to above, to agree on an arbitrator; if by the eleventh (11 th) calendar day there is 
no agreement to an arbitrator, a district court shall appoint an arbitrator on the petition of any of the 
parties to the arbitration.

If an arbitrator determines that a violation has occurred, the arbitrator shall assess and award against the 
contractor or subcontractor the amount of penalty as provided above and the amount owed the worker. 
The County may use any amounts retained hereunder to pay the worker the amount as designated in the 
arbitration award. If the County has not retained enough from the contractor or subcontractor to pay the 
worker in accordance with the arbitration award, the worker has a right of action against the contractor 
and subcontractor as appropriate, and the surety of either to receive the amount owed, attorneys ’  fees 
and court costs. The contractor shall promptly furnish a copy of the arbitration award to the County.

Money retained pursuant to the provisions above shall be used to pay the claimant or claimants the 
difference between the amount the worker received in wages for labor on the project at the rate paid by 
the contractor or subcontractor and the amount the worker would have received at the general prevailing 
wage rate as provided by the agreement of the claimant and the contractor or subcontractor affected, or 
in the arbitrator ’s award. The full statutory penalty of sixty dollars ($60.00) per calendar day of violation 
per worker shall be retained by Williamson County to offset its administrative costs, pursuant to Texas 
Government Code, Section, 2258.023. Any retained funds in excess of these amounts shall be paid to 
the contractor on the earlier of the next progress payment or final payment. Provided, however, that the 
County shall have no duty to release any funds to either the claimant or the contractor until it has 
received the notices of agreement or the arbitration award as provided under the provision herein-above.

4.43 CONFIDENTALITY

The Respondent expressly agrees that it will not use any direct or incidental confidential information that 
may be obtained while working in a governmental setting for its own benefit, and agrees that it will not 
access unauthorized areas or confidential information and it will not disclose any information to 
unauthorized third parties, and will take care to guard the security of the information at all times.

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 353



5

6

3 4

Williamson County – Request for Proposal (RFP)

SECTION 1 - DEFINITIONS 

Addendum/Addenda – means any written or graphic instruments issued by the County prior to the 
consideration of Proposals which modify or interpret the Proposal Documents by additions, deletions, 
clarifications, or corrections.

Agreement/Ensuing Agreement(s) – means the Successful Respondent may be required by the 
County to sign an additional Agreement containing terms necessary to ensure compliance with the RFP 
and the Respondent ’s Proposal.  Such Ensuing Agreement(s) shall contain the Proposal specifications, 
terms and conditions that are derived from the RFP.

Contract – means this RFP and the Proposal of the Successful Respondent shall become a Contract 
between the Successful Respondent and the County once the Successful Respondent ’s Proposal is 
properly accepted by the Williamson County Commissioners Court (sometimes referred to herein as the 
Commissioner ’s Court”).

Commissioner ’s Court – means the Williamson County Commissioners Court. 

County – means Williamson County, a political subdivision of the State of Texas.

Executive Summary – means the document submitted by Respondent that represents a concise 
summary of the contents of the Proposal. It does not include any information concerning costs. 

Proposal Documents – means the Legal Notice, RFP including attachments, and any Addenda issued 
by the County prior to the consideration of any Proposals.

Proposal – means the complete, properly signed document, and ALL required forms and documentation 
listed in the proposal package which have been submitted in accordance with this RFP package. A 
Proposal submitted in accordance with this RFP is irrevocable during the specified time period for 
evaluation and acceptance of Proposals, unless a waiver is obtained from the Williamson County 
Purchasing Agent.

Respondent – means a person or entity who submits a Proposal in response to this RFP.

Request for Proposals (RFP) – means this document, together with the attachments thereto and any 
future Addenda issued by the County.

Successful Respondent– means the responsible Respondent who, in the County ’s sole opinion, 
submits the Proposal which is in the best interest of the County, taking into account factors identified 
herein, and to whom the County intends to award the Contract.

SECTION 2 - RESPONSE FORMAT AND SUBMISSION

2.1 INTRODUCTION

Each Proposal submitted in response to this RFP should clearly reference the numbered sections of this 
RFP that require a response.  Failure to arrange the Proposal as requested may result in the 
disqualification of the Proposal.

Though there is not a page limit for Proposals, to save natural resources including paper, and to allow the 
County staff to efficiently evaluate all submitted Proposals, the County requests that Proposals be 
orderly, concise, but comprehensive in providing the requested information.  Conciseness and clarity of 
content are emphasized and encouraged.  If mailed or delivered in person, please limit additional, non
requested information.

Please provide your Proposal response using:

A. 8 ½” x 11” pages, inclusive of any cover letter or supporting materials.

B. The least amount of plastic/laminate or other non-recyclable binding materials.

C. Single-sided printing.

Vague and general Proposals will be considered non-responsive, and may, at the County ’s sole 
discretion, result in disqualification. Proposals must be legible and complete.  Failure to provide the 
required information may result in the disqualification of the Proposal. All pages of the Proposal should 
be numbered and the Proposal should contain an organized, paginated table of contents corresponding 
to the sections and pages of the Proposal.

2.2 ORGANIZATION OF PROPOSAL CONTENTS AND TABLE OF CONTENTS 

Each Proposal should be submitted with a table of contents that clearly identifies and denotes the 
location of all enclosures of the Proposal. The table of contents should follow the RFP ’s structure as 
much as is practical.

Each Proposal should be organized in the manner described below:

A. Transmittal Letter. Please see Section 2.3, Transmittal Letter, for more information. 

B. Table of Contents. 

C. Executive Summary. Please see Section 2.4, Executive Summary. 

D. Proposal Response to Criteria. (Please see the sections in this RFP package that list the 
Specifications & Cost Proposal, Experience and Qualifications, References, and Implementation 
Strategy to respond to our criteria in a clear and concise manner) 

E. Price Sheet. 

F. References: Identification of three (3) references within the last four (4) years, for which the 
Respondent is providing, or has provided, the goods and/or services (public sector) of the type 
requested in this RFP. Include the name, position/title, and telephone number of a contact person 
at each entity. 

G.  Conflict of Interest Questionnaire. 

H. Proposal Affidavit (Signature Page).

I. Attach your entities sample Contract, if applicable, for the County ’s review and consideration. This 
should include any additional terms or conditions. The County is not required to use the sample 
Contract submitted. 

2.3 TRANSMITTAL LETTER

The Respondent should submit a Transmittal Letter that provides the following information: 

A. Name and address of individual or business entity submitting the Proposal. 

B. Respondent ’s type of business entity (i.e., Corporation, General Partnership, Limited Partnership, 
LLC, etc.).  See Section 3.5, Signature of Respondent, for more information. 

C. Place of incorporation or organization, if applicable.

D. Name and location of major offices and other facilities that relate to the Respondent
performance under the terms of this RFP.

E. Name, physical address, email address, business and fax number of the Respondent ’s principal 
contact person regarding all contractual matters relating to this RFP.

F. The Respondent ’s Federal Employer Identification Number.

G. A commitment by the Respondent to provide the services required by the County;

H. A statement that the Proposal is valid for the time specified on page three (3), under the section 
named Prices Good for, of this Proposal packet. Any Proposal containing a term of less than the 
required amount, may at the County ’s sole discretion, be rejected as non-responsive.

I. If the Proposal being submitted will have an effect on air quality for the County (as it relates to any 
state, federal, or voluntary air quality standard), then the Respondent is encouraged to provide
information in narrative indicating the anticipated air quality impact. See Section 4.40, Air Quality 
for more information. 

The Transmittal Letter should be signed by a person legally authorized to bind the Respondent to the
representations in the Transmittal Letter and the Proposal.  In the case of a joint Proposal, each party 
must sign the Transmittal Letter.

2.4 EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

The Respondent should provide an Executive Summary of its Proposal that asserts that the Respondent 
is providing in its response all of the requirements of this RFP.  The Executive Summary should not 
include any information concerning the cost of the Proposal, but instead must represent a full and 
concise summary of the contents of the Proposal.  It is recommended the Executive Summary include 
the following information: 

A. Identify any goods and/or services that are provided beyond those specifically requested.  If the 
Respondent is providing services and/or goods that do not meet the specific requirements of this 
RFP, but in the opinion of the Respondent are equivalent or superior to those specifically 
requested, any such differences should be noted in the Executive Summary. However, the 
Respondent must realize that failure to provide the goods and/or services specifically required, at 
the County ’s sole discretion, may result in disqualification of the Proposal.

B. Indicate why the Respondent believes that it is the most qualified Respondent to provide the 
services described in this RFP.  The Successful Respondent must demonstrate extensive 
experience and understanding of the intent of this project.  The Respondent should describe in 
detail the current and historical experience the Respondent and its subcontractors have that 
would be relevant to completing the project.  References must contain the name of key personnel 
and telephone numbers for each contact, as described in Section 3.14, References.  

C. Briefly state why the Respondent believes its proposed goods and/or services best meet the 
County ’s needs and RFP requirements, and the Respondent also should concisely describe any 
additional features, aspects, or advantages of its goods and/or services in any relevant area not 
covered elsewhere in its Proposal.

2.5 CONFLICT OF INTEREST

No public official shall have interest in a contract, in accordance with Vernon ’s Texas Codes Annotated, 
Local Government Code, Title 5, Subtitle C, Chapter 171, as amended. 

As of January 1, 2006, all Respondents are responsible for complying with Local Government Code, Title 
5, Subtitle C, Chapter 176.  Additional information may be obtained from the County’s website at the 
following link: 

http://www.wilco.org/CountyDepartments/Purchasing/ConflictofInterestDisclosure/tabid/689/language/en
US/Default.aspx

Each Respondent must disclose any existing or potential conflict of interest relative to the performance of 
the requirements of this RFP.  Examples of potential conflicts of interest may include an existing 
business or personal relationship between the Respondent, its principal, or any affiliate or 
subcontractor with the County or any other entity or person involved in any way with the project 
that is subject to this RFP.  Similarly, any personal or business relationship between the Respondent, 
the principals, or any affiliate or subcontractor with any employee, or official of the County or its suppliers 
must be disclosed.  Any such relationship that might be perceived or represented as a conflict must be 
disclosed. Failure to disclose any such relationship or reveal personal relationships with the County 
employees or officials may be cause for termination. 

The County will decide if an actual or perceived conflict should result in Proposal disqualification. 

By submitting a Proposal in response to this RFP, all Respondents affirm they have not given, nor intend 
to give, at any time hereafter, any economic opportunity, future employment, gift, loan, gratuity, special 
discount, trip, favor, or service to a the County public servant or any employee, official or representative 
of same, in connection with this procurement. 

Each Respondent must provide a Conflict of Interest Statement with their Proposal Package.  

Package may be deemed incomplete without this form.  

2.6 CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PARTIES – FORM 1295

As of January 1, 2016, all Respondents are responsible for complying with the Texas Government Code, 
Section 2252.908.  The law states that the County may not enter into certain contracts with a 
Respondent unless the Respondent submits a disclosure of interested parties to the County at the time 
the Respondent submits the signed contract.  The law applies only to a contract of the County on or after 
January 1, 2016 that either:

A. Requires an action or vote by the Commissioners Court before the contract may be signed (all 
contracts that fall under the jurisdiction of the Commissioners Court approval, such as contracts 
resulting from an Initiation for Bid (IFB), RFP, Request for Qualifications (RFQ), etc., excluding, 
but not limited to, certain Juvenile Service contracts, contracts funded with Sheriff ’s seized fun 
monies, etc.); or

B. Has a value of at least $1,000,000. 

By January 1, 2016, the Texas Ethics Commission will make available on its website, a new filing 
application that must be used to file Form 1295.  Information regarding how to use the filing application is 
available on the Texas Ethics Commission website at the following link:

https://www.ethics.state.tx.us/whatsnew/elf_info_form1295.htm

A Respondent must:

A. Use the online application to process the required information on Form 1295.

B. Print a copy of the form which will contain a unique certification number.

C. An authorized agent of the Respondent must sign the printed copy of the form.

D. Have the form notarized.

E. File the completed Form 1295 and certification of filing (scanning and emailing form is sufficient) 
with Williamson County Purchasing Agent at the time the signed Contract is submitted for 
approval.

After the Commissioners Court award of the contract, the County shall notify the Texas Ethics 
Commission, using the Texas Ethics Commission ’s filing application, of the receipt of the filed Form 
1295 and certification of filing not later than the 30th day after the date the contract binds all parties to the 
contract. The Texas Ethics Commission will post the completed Form 1295 to its website within seven 
business days after receiving notice from the County.

2.7 PROPOSAL SUBMITTAL DEADLINE

The Proposal is due no later than the submittal date and time set forth in the Public Announcement and 
General Information listed in this RFP package.  Contents of each Proposal shall be submitted in 
accordance with this RFP.

2.8 ETHICS

The Respondent shall not accept or offer gifts or anything of value, nor enter into any business 
arrangement with any employee, official or agent of the County.

2.9 DELIVERY OF PROPOSALS

The County uses BidSync to distribute and receive bids and Proposals.  It is preferred that Proposals
be submitted electronically through BidSync; however, Respondents can submit a hard copy.  

Refer to www.bidsync.com for further information on how to submit electronically.

If mailed or delivered in person, Proposal and Proposal Addenda are to be delivered in sealed envelope
on or before the submittal deadline, as noted in the Public Announcement and General Information listed 
in this RFP package, to:

            Williamson County Purchasing Department
            Attn: Proposal Name and Number
            901 South Austin Avenue
            Georgetown, Texas 78626

Also, all Respondents should list their Name and Address, and the Date of the Proposal opening on the
outside of the box or envelope and note “Sealed Proposal Enclosed.” Williamson County will not accept 
any Proposals after the submittal deadline, and shall return such Proposals unopened to the 
Respondent.  The County will not accept any responsibility for Proposals being delivered by third party 
carriers. 

Proposals will be opened publicly; however, in a manner to avoid public disclosure of contents, only 
names of Respondents will be read aloud: no pricing will be announced at the opening. 

SECTION 3 - INSTRUCTIONS AND GENERAL REQUIREMENTS

3.1 INSTRUCTIONS

Read this document carefully, and follow all instructions and requirements.  All Respondents are 
responsible for fulfilling all requirements and specifications.  Be sure to have a clear understanding of this
RFP.

General requirements apply to all advertised RFPs; however, these may be superseded, in whole or in 
part, by the proposal specifications, Addenda and modifications issued as a part of this RFP.  Be sure 
your Proposal package is complete.

3.2 AMBIGUITY, CONFLICT, OR OTHER ERRORS IN THIS RFP

If a Respondent discovers any ambiguity, conflict, discrepancy, omission or other error in this RFP, the 
Respondent shall immediately notify the County Purchasing Department of such error in writing and
request modification or clarification of the document.

Modifications will be made by issuing Addenda. If the Respondent fails to notify the County prior to the
date and time fixed for submission of Proposals of an error or ambiguity in the RFP known to the
Respondent, or an error or ambiguity that reasonably should have been known to the Respondent, then 
the Respondent shall be deemed to have waived the error or ambiguity or its later resolution.

The County may also modify the RFP, no later than forty-eight (48) hours prior to the date and time fixed
for submission of Proposals, by issuance of an Addendum.  All Addenda will be numbered consecutively, 
beginning with one (1).

3.3 NOTIFICATION OF MOST CURRENT ADDRESS

All Respondents in receipt of this RFP shall notify the Williamson County Purchasing Department of any
address changes, contact person changes, and/or telephone number changes no later than forty-eight 
(48) hours prior to the date and time fixed for submission of Proposals.

3.4 SIGNATURE OF RESPONDENT

A Transmittal Letter, which shall be considered an integral part of the Proposal as stated in Section 2.3, 
Transmittal Letter, shall be signed by an individual who is authorized to bind the Respondent
contractually.

A. If the Respondent is a Corporation or Limited Liability Company, the legal name of the Corporation
or Limited Liability Company shall be provided together with the signature of the officer or officers 
authorized to sign on behalf of such entity.

B. If the Respondent is a General Partnership, the true name of the firm shall be provided with the
signature of each partner authorized to sign.

C. If the Respondent is a Limited Partnership, the name of the Limited Partner ’s General Partner
shall be provided with the signature of the officer authorized to sign on behalf of the General
Partner.

D. If the Respondent is a Sole Proprietor(s) (individual), each Sole Proprietor(s) shall sign.

E. If signature is by an agent, other than the Sole Proprietor(s) or an officer of a Corporation, Limited 
Liability Company, General Partner or a member of a General Partnership, a power of attorney
equivalent document must be submitted to the Williamson County Purchasing Department.

3.5 ASSUMED BUSINESS NAME

If the Respondent operates business under an Assumed Business Name, the Respondent must have
file with the Williamson County Clerk a current Assumed Name Certificate and provide a file marked copy 
of same prior to contract award.

3.6 ECONOMY OF PRESENTATION

Proposals should not contain promotional or display materials, except as they may directly answer in 
whole or in part questions contained in the RFP.  Such exhibits shall be clearly marked with the 
applicable reference number of the question in the RFP.  Proposals must address the technical 
requirements as specified in the RFP.  All questions posed by the RFP must be answered concisely and 
clearly. Proposals that do not address each criterion may be, at the sole discretion of the County, 
rejected and not considered.

3.7 PROPOSAL OBLIGATION 

The contents of the RFP, Proposal, and any clarification thereof submitted by the Successful
Respondent shall become part of the contractual obligation and incorporated by reference into the 
Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s).

3.8 COMPLIANCE WITH RFP SPECIFICATIONS

It is intended that this RFP describe the requirements and the Proposal format in sufficient detail to 
secure comparable Proposal.  Failure to comply with all provisions of the RFP may, at the sole discretion 
of the County, result in disqualification.

3.9 EVALUATION 

The County reserves the right to use all pertinent information (also learned from sources other than 
disclosed in the RFP process) that might affect the County ’s judgment as to the appropriateness of
award to the best evaluated Respondent. This information may be appended to the Proposal evaluation
process results. Information on a Respondent from reliable sources, and not within the Respondent
Proposal, may also be noted and made part of the evaluation fi le.  The County shall have sole 
discretion for determining the reliability of the source.  The County reserves the right to conduct written 
and/or oral discussions/interviews after the Proposal opening.  The purpose of such 
discussions/interviews is to provide clarification and/or additional information to make an award that is in 
the best interest of the County.

3.10 WITHDRAWAL OF PROPOSAL

The Respondent may withdraw its Proposal by submitting a written request with the company letterhead 
and the signature of an authorized individual, as described in Section 3.4, Signature of Respondent, to 
the Williamson County Purchasing Department any time prior to the submission deadline.  

The Respondent may submit a new Proposal prior to the deadline. Alterations of the Proposal in any 
manner will not be considered if submitted after the deadline.  Withdrawal of a Proposal after the deadline 
will be subject to written approval of the Williamson County Purchasing Agent.

3.11 RESPONSIBILITY 

It is expected that a Respondent will be able to affirmatively demonstrate responsibility.  A prospective
Respondent should be able to meet the following requirements:

A. Have adequate financial resources, or the ability to obtain such resources as required;
B. Be able to comply with the required or proposed delivery schedule;
C. Have a satisfactory record of performance that can be determined thru references provided; and 
D. Be otherwise qualified and eligible to receive an award.

The County may request representation and other information sufficient to determine the Respondent
ability to meet these minimum standards listed above.

3.12 PURCHASE ORDERS

If required by the Williamson County Purchasing Department, a purchase order(s) may be generated to 
the Successful Respondent for goods and/or services.  If a purchase order is issued, the purchase order 
number must appear on all itemized invoices and/or requests for payment.

3.13 SILENCE OF SPECIFICATIONS

The apparent silence of any RFP specifications as to any detail or to the apparent omission from it of a 
detailed description concerning any point, shall be regarded as meaning that only the best practices are 
to prevail.  All interpretations of these specifications shall be made on the basis of this statement.

3.14 REFERENCES

Respondents shall furnish a list of contracts where similar responsibilities and goods and/or services 
have been required and/or performed for the past five (5) years, to include names, titles, phone numbers 
and email addresses of reference contacts, contract numbers and dates of performance. 

Also, Respondents shall include a list of any contracts that have been cancelled or terminated within the 
last five (5) years, along with an explanation of the cancellation and the names, email address and phone 
number of a reference person with that institution. 

The County may contact some or all of the references in order to determine the Respondent
performance record on work similar to that described in this RFP.  The County reserves the right to 
contact references other than those provided in the response and to use the information gained from 
them in the evaluation process. 

References should be provided in accordance with this RFP.  Proposal may not be deemed complete 
without the inclusion of requested references.

SECTION 4 - TERMS AND CONDITIONS

4.1 VENUE AND GOVERNING LAW

The Respondent hereby agrees and acknowledges that venue and jurisdiction of any suit, right, or cause 
of action arising out of or in connection with this RFP, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s), shall 
lie exclusively in either Williamson County, Texas or in the Austin Division of the Western Federal District 
of Texas, and the parties hereto expressly consent and submit to such jurisdiction.  Furthermore, except 
to the extent that this RFP, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) is governed by the laws of the 
United States, this RFP, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be governed by and 
construed in accordance with the laws of the State of Texas, excluding, however, its choice of law rules.

4.2 INCORPORATION BY REFERENCE AND PRECEDENCE

A. The Contract shall be derived from the RFP and its Addenda (if applicable), and the Respondent
Proposal.  In the event of a dispute under the Contract, applicable documents will be referred to 
for the purpose of clarification or for additional detail in the following order of precedence:

1. The RFP and its Addenda (if applicable); and 

2. The Respondent ’s Proposal.

B. In the event the County requires that an Ensuing Agreement be executed following award and a 
dispute arises between the terms and conditions of the Ensuing Agreement, the RFP and its 
Addenda (if applicable), and the Respondent ’s Proposal, applicable documents will be referred to 
for the purpose of clarification or for additional detail in the following order of precedence: 

1. The terms and conditions of the Ensuing Agreement;

2. The RFP and its Addenda; and  

3. The Respondent ’s Proposal.

4.3 OWNERSHIP OF PROPOSAL

Each Proposal shall become the property of the County upon submittal and will not be returned to 
Respondents unless received after the submittal deadline.

4.4 DISQUALIFICATION OF RESPONDENT

Upon signing and submittal of the Proposal, a Respondent offering to sell supplies, materials, services, 
or equipment to the County, certifies that the Respondent has not violated the antitrust laws of the State 
of Texas codified in Business & Commerce Code, Section 15.01, or the Federal Antitrust Laws, and has 
not communicated directly or indirectly the offer made to any competitor or any other person engaged
such line of business.  Any or all Proposals may be rejected if the County believes that collusion exists 
among the Respondents.

4.5 FUNDING

The County intends to budget and make sufficient funds available and authorize funds for expenditure to 
finance the costs of the Contract.  All Respondents understand and agree that the County’s payment of 
amounts under the Contract shall be contingent on the County receiving appropriations or other 
expenditure authority sufficient to allow the County, in the exercise of reasonable administrative 
discretion, to make payments under this Contract.

4.6 ASSIGNMENT, SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS 

The Successful Respondent may not assign, sell, or otherwise transfer the Contract or any other rights 
or interests obtained under the Contract without written permission of the Williamson County the 
Commissioners Court.  The Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be binding upon and inure to 
the benefit of the contracting parties hereto and their respective successors and permitted assigns.

4.7 IMPLIED REQUIREMENTS

Products or services not specifically described or required in the RFP, but are necessary to provide the 
functional capabilities described by the Respondent, shall be implied and deemed to be included in the
Proposal.

4.8 TERMINATION

A. Termination for Cause: The County reserves the right to terminate the Contract and/or any 
Ensuing Agreement(s) for default if the Successful Respondent breaches any of the Proposal
specifications, terms and conditions, including warranties of the Respondent, if any, or if the 
Successful Respondent becomes insolvent or commits acts of bankruptcy.  Such right of 
termination is in addition to and not in lieu of any other remedies the County may have at law or
equity or as may otherwise be provided hereunder.  Default may be construed as, but not limited 
to, failure to deliver the proper goods and/or services within the proper amount of time, and/or to 
properly perform any and all other requirements to the County ’s satisfaction, and/or to meet all 
other obligations and requirements.

B. Termination for Convenience: The County may terminate the Contract and/or any Ensuing 
Agreement(s) for convenience and without cause or further liability, upon no less than thirty (30) 
calendar days written notice to the Successful Respondent. The County reserves the right to 
extend this period if it is in the best interest of the County.  In the event the County exercises its 
right to terminate without cause, it is understood and agreed that only the amounts due to the 
Successful Respondent for goods, commodities and/or services provided and expenses incurred 
to and including the date of termination, will be due and payable.  No penalty will be assessed for 
the County ’s termination for convenience.

4.9 NON-PERFORMANCE

It is the objective of the County to obtain complete and satisfactory performance of the requirements set 
forth herein.  In addition to any other remedies available at law, in equity or that may be set out herein, 
failure to perform may result in a deduction of payment equal to the amount of the goods and/or services 
that were not provided and/or performed to the County ’s satisfaction.  

In the event of such non-performance, the County shall have the right, but shall not be obligated, to 
complete the services itself or by others and/or purchase the goods from other sources.  If the County 
elects to acquire the goods or perform the services itself or by others, pursuant to the foregoing, the 
Successful Respondent shall reimburse the County, within ten (10) calendar days of demand, for all 
costs incurred by the County (including, without limitation, applicable, general, and administrative 
expenses, and field overhead, and the cost of necessary equipment, materials, and field labor) in 
correcting the nonperformance which the Successful Respondent fails to meet pursuant to the 
requirements set out herein.  In the event the Successful Respondent refuses to reimburse the County 
as set out in this provision, the County shall have the right to deduct such reimbursement amounts from 
any amounts that may be then owing or that may become owing in the future to the Successful
Respondent.

4.10 PROPRIETARY INFORMATION AND THE TEXAS PUBLIC INFORMATION ACT

All material submitted to the County shall become public property and subject to the Texas Public 
Information Act upon receipt. If a Respondent does not desire proprietary information in the Proposal to 
be disclosed, each page must be clearly identified and marked proprietary at time of submittal or, more 
preferably, all proprietary information may be placed in a folder or appendix and be clearly identified and 
marked as being proprietary.  Failure to clearly identify and mark information as being proprietary as set 
forth under this provision will result in all unmarked information being deemed non-proprietary and 
available to the public.  For all information that has not been clearly identified and marked as proprietary 
by the Respondent, the County may choose to place such information on the County ’s website and/or a 
similar public database without obtaining any type of prior consent from the Respondent.

The County will, to the extent allowed by law, endeavor to protect from public disclosure the information 
that has been identified and marked as proprietary.  The final decision as to what information must be 
disclosed, however, lies with the Texas Attorney General.  

To the extent, if any, that any provision in this RFP or in the Respondent ’s Proposal is in conflict with 
Texas Government Code, Chapter 552, as amended (the “Public Information Act”), the same shall be of 
no force or effect.  Furthermore, it is expressly understood, and agreed, that the County, and its officers 
and employees, may request advice, decisions and opinions of the Attorney General of the State of
Texas in regard to the application of the Public Information Act to any items or data furnished to the 
County as to whether or not the same are available to the public.  It is further understood that that the 
County, and its officers and employees, shall have the right to rely on the advice, decisions and opinions 
of the Attorney General, and that the County, its officers and employees shall have no liability or obligation 
to any party hereto for the disclosure to the public, or to any person or persons, of any items or data 
furnished to the County by a party hereto, in reliance of any advice, decision or opinion of the Attorney 
General of the State of Texas.

4.11 RIGHT TO AUDIT

The Successful Respondent agrees that the County or its duly authorized representatives shall, until the 
expiration of three (3) years after termination or expiration of the services to be performed, have access 
to and the right to examine and photocopy any and all books, documents, papers and records of the 
Successful Respondent, which are directly pertinent to the services to be performed or goods to
delivered for the purposes of making audits, examinations, excerpts and transcriptions.  The Successful 
Respondent agrees that the County shall have access during normal working hours to all necessary 
facilities and shall be provided adequate and appropriate work space in order to conduct audits in 
compliance with the provisions of this section.  The County shall give the Successful Respondent 
reasonable advance notice of intended audits.

4.12 TESTING AND INSPECTIONS

The County reserves the right to inspect and test equipment, supplies, materials and goods for quality 
and compliance with this RFP, and ability to meet the needs of the user.  Demonstration units must be 
available for review.  Should the goods or services fail to meet requirements and/or be unavailable for 
evaluation, the County can deem the Respondent to be in breach and terminate the Contract and/or any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

4.13 PROPOSAL PREPARATION COSTS

The cost of developing Proposals is the sole responsibility of the Respondents and shall not be charged 
to the County.  There is no expressed or implied obligation for the County to reimburse the Respondents 
for any expense incurred in preparing a Proposal in response to this RFP and the County will not 
reimburse the Respondents for such expenses.

4.14 INDEMNIFICATION

The Successful Respondent shall indemnify, defend and save harmless, the County, its officials, 
employees, agents and agent ’s employees from, and against, all claims, liability, and expenses including 
reasonable attorneys ’ fees, arising from activities of the Respondent, its agents, servants or employees, 
performed hereunder that result from the negligent act, error, or omission of the Respondent or any of 
the Respondent ’s agents, servants or employees, as well as all claims of loss or damage to the 
Respondent ’s and the County ’s property, equipment, and/or supplies. 

Furthermore, the County, its officials, employees, agents and agents ’ employees shall not be liable for 
damages to the Successful Respondent arising from any act of any third party, including, but not limited 
to, theft.  The Successful Respondent further agrees to indemnify, defend and save harmless, the 
County from its officials, employee, agents and agents ’ employees against all claims of whatever nature 
arising from any accident, injury, or damage whatsoever, caused to any person, or the property of any 
person, occurring in relation to the Successful Respondent ’s performance of any services requested 
hereunder during the term of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s). 

The Successful Respondent shall timely report all claims, demands, suits, actions, proceedings, liens or 
judgements to the County and shall, upon the receipt of any claim, demand, suit, action, proceeding, lien 

or judgement, not later than the fifteenth (15 th) day of each month; provide the County with a written 
report on each such matter, setting forth the status of each matter, the schedule or planned proceedings 
with respect to each matter and the cooperation or assistance, if any, of the County required by the 
Successful Respondent in the defense of each matter.  The Successful Respondent’s duty to defend, 
indemnify and hold the County harmless shall be absolute.  It shall not abate or end by reason of the 
expiration or termination of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s), unless otherwise agreed by 
the County in writing.  The provisions of this section shall survive the termination of the Contract and shall 
remain in full force and effect with respect to all such matters no matter when they arise. 

In the event of any dispute between the parties, as to whether a claim, demand, suit, action, proceeding, 
lien or judgement, that appears to have been caused by or appears to have arisen out of or in connection 
with acts or omissions of the County, the Respondent shall nevertheless fully defend such claim, 
demand, suit or action, proceeding, lien or judgement, until and unless there is  a determination by a 
court of competent jurisdiction that the acts and omissions of the Respondent are not an issue in the 
matter. 

The Successful Respondent ’s indemnification shall cover, and the Successful Respondent agrees to, 
indemnify the County, in the event the County is found to have been negligent for having selected the 
Successful Respondent to perform the work described in this request.  The provision by the Successful 
Respondent of insurance shall not limit the liability of the Successful Respondent under the Contract 
and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s). 

4.15 WAIVER OF SUBROGATION

The Successful Respondent and the Successful Respondent ’s insurance carrier waive any and all rights 
whatsoever with regard to subrogation against the County as an indirect party to any suit arising out of 
personal or property damages resulting from the Respondent ’s performance under this Contract and any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

4.16 RELATIONSHIP OF THE PARTIES

The Successful Respondent shall be an independent contractor and shall assume all of the rights, 
obligations, liabilities, applicable to it as such independent contractor hereunder and any provisions 
herein which may appear to give the County the right to direct the Successful Respondent as to details of 
doing work herein covered, or to exercise a measure of control over the work, shall be deemed to mean 
that the Successful Respondent shall follow the desires of the County in the results of the work only.  The 
County shall not retain or have the right to control the Successful Respondent ’s means, methods or 
details pertaining to the Successful Respondent ’s performance of the work.  The County and the 
Successful Respondent hereby agree and declare that the Successful Respondent is an independent 
contractor and as such meets the qualifications of an “Independent Contractor” under Texas Workers 
Compensation Act, Texas Labor Code, Section 406.141, that the Successful Respondent is not an 
employee of  the County, and that the Successful Respondent and its employees, agents and 
subcontractors shall not be entitled to workers compensation coverage or any other type of insurance 
coverage held by the County.

4.17 SOLE PROVIDER

The Successful Respondent agrees and acknowledges that it shall not be considered a sole provider of 
the goods and/or services described herein and that the County may contract with other providers of 
such goods and/or services if the County deems, at its sole discretion, that multiple providers of the 
same goods and/or services will serve the best interest of the County.

4.18 FORCE MAJEURE

If the party obligated to perform is prevented from performance by an act of war, order of legal authority, 
act of God, or other unavoidable cause not attributable to the fault or negligence of said party, the other 
party shall grant such party relief from the performance.  The burden of proof for the need of such relief 
shall rest upon the party obligated to perform.  To obtain release based on force majeure, the party 
obligated to perform shall file a written request with the other party.

4.19 SEVERABILITY

If any provision of this RFP, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be held invalid or 
unenforceable by any court of competent jurisdiction, such holding shall not invalidate or render 
unenforceable any other provision thereof, but rather the entire RFP, Contract or any Ensuing Agreement
(s) will be construed as if not containing the particular invalid or unenforceable provision or provisions, 
and the rights and obligation of the parties shall be construed and enforced in accordance therewith.  The 
parties acknowledge that if any provision of this RFP, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) is 
determined to be invalid or unenforceable, it is the desire and intention of each that such provision be 
reformed and construed in such a manner that it will, to the maximum extent practicable, give effect to
the intent of this RFP, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) and be deemed to be validated and
enforceable.

4.20 EQUAL OPPORTUNITY

Neither party shall discriminate against any employee or applicant for employment because of race, 
color, sex, religion or national origin.

4.21 NOTICE

Any notice to be given shall be in writing and may be distributed by personal delivery, or by registered or 
certified mail, return receipt requested, addressed to the proper party, at the following address:

The County:    Williamson County Purchasing Department 
            Attn: Purchasing Agent 
            901 South Austin Avenue 
            Georgetown, Texas 78626

The Respondent: Address set out in Respondent ’s Transmittal Letter

Notices given in accordance with this provision shall be effective upon (1) receipt by the party to which 
notice is given, or (2) on the third (3rd) calendar day following mailing, whichever occurs first.

4.22 SALES AND USE TAX EXEMPTION

The County is a body, corporate and politic, under the laws of the State of Texas and claims exemption 
from sales and use taxes under Texas Tax Code, Section 151.309, as amended, and the services and/or 
goods subject hereof are being secured for use by the County.

4.23 COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS

The County and the Successful Respondent shall comply with all federal, state, and local laws, statutes,
ordinances, rules and regulations, and the orders and decrees of any courts or administrative bodies or 
tribunals in any matter affecting the performance of the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s),
including, without limitation, Workers ’ Compensation laws, salary and wage statutes and regulations, 
licensing laws and regulations.  When required, the Successful Respondent shall furnish the County with 
certification of compliance with said laws, statues, ordinances, rules, regulations, orders, and decrees 
above specified.

4.24 INCORPORATION OF EXHIBITS, APPENDICES AND ATTACHMENTS

All of the Exhibits, Appendices and Attachments referred to herein are incorporated by reference as if set 
forth verbatim herein.  Any conflicting terms in the Contract documents will be resolved at the sole 
discretion of the Commissioners Court.

4.25 NO WAIVER OF IMMUNITIES

Nothing herein shall be deemed to waive, modify or amend any legal defense available at law or in equity 
to the County, its past or present officers, employees, or agents, nor to create any legal rights or claim on 
behalf of any third party.  The County does not waive, modify, or alter to any extent whatsoever the 
availability of the defense of governmental immunity under the laws of the State of Texas and of the 
United States.

4.26 NO WAIVER

The failure or delay of any party to enforce at any time or any period of time any of the provisions of this 
RFP, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall not constitute a present or future waiver of such 
provisions nor the right of either party to enforce each and every provision.  Furthermore, no term or 
provision hereof shall be deemed waived and no breach excused unless such waiver or consent shall be 
in writing and signed by the party claimed to have waived or consented.  Any consent by any party to, or 
waiver of, a breach by the other, whether expressed or implied, shall not constitute a consent to, waiver 
of or excuse for any other, different or subsequent breach.

4.27 CURRENT REVENUES

The obligations of the parties under the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) do not constitute a 
general obligation or indebtedness of the County for which the County is obligated to levy, pledge, or 
collect any of taxation.  It is understood and agreed that the County shall have the right to terminate the 
Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) at the end of any the County fiscal year if the governing body of 
the County does not appropriate sufficient funds as determined by the County ’s budget for the fiscal year 
in question.  The County may effect such termination by giving written notice of termination to the 
Successful Respondent at the end of its then-current fiscal year.

4.28 BINDING EFFECT

This Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties 
and their respective permitted assigns and successors.

4.29 ASSIGNMENT

The Successful Respondent ’s interest and duties hereunder may not be assigned or delegated to a third 
party without the express written consent of the County.

4.30 SAFETY

The Successful Respondent is responsible for initiating, maintaining, and supervising all safety 
precautions and programs in connection with any services to be provided hereunder. The safety program 
shall comply with all applicable requirements of the current federal Occupational Safety and Health Act 
and all other applicable federal, state and local laws and regulations.

4.31 GENERAL OBLIGATIONS AND RELIANCE

The Successful Respondent shall perform all services and/or provide all goods, as well as those
reasonably inferable and necessary for completion and provision of services and/or goods required
hereunder. The Successful Respondent shall keep the County informed of the progress and quality
the services.  The Successful Respondent agrees and acknowledges that the County is relying on the 
Successful Respondent's represented expertise and ability to provide the goods and/or services 
described herein.  The Successful Respondent agrees to use its best efforts, skill, judgment, and abilities
to perform its obligations in accordance with the highest standards used in the profession and to further 
the interests of the County in accordance with the County ’s requirements and procedures.  The 
Successful Respondent ’s duties, as set forth herein, shall at no time be in any way diminished by reason
of any approval by the County, nor shall the Successful Respondent be released from any liability
reason of such approval by the County, it being understood that the County at all times is ultimately 
relying upon the Successful Respondent ’s skill and knowledge in performing the services and providing 
any goods required hereunder.

4.32 CONTRACTUAL DEVELOPMENT

The Commissioners Court may award the Contract on the basis of the initial Proposals received, without
any further or additional discussions.  Therefore, each initial Proposal should contain the Respondent
best terms and offer.  The contents of the RFP and the selected Proposal will become an integral part of 
the Contract, but may be modified, at Williamson County ’s sole discretion, by provisions of an Ensuing 
Agreement.  Therefore, the Respondent must agree to inclusion in an Ensuing Agreement of the 
Proposal specifications, terms and conditions of this RFP.  Williamson County may, at its discretion, opt 
to conduct further discussions with responsible offerors and request the highest ranked firm ’s Best and 
Final Offer (BAFO).

4.33 ENTIRE AGREEMENT

The Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall supersede all prior Agreements, written or oral 
between the Successful Respondent and the County and shall constitute the entire Agreement and 
understanding between the parties with respect to the services and/or goods to be provided.  Each of the 
provisions herein shall be binding upon the parties and may not be waived, modified, amended or altered, 
except by writing signed by the Successful Respondent and the County.

4.34 SURVIVABILITY 

All applicable agreements that were entered into between the Successful Respondent and the County, 
under the terms and conditions of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s), shall survive the 
expiration or termination thereof for ninety (90) days unless a new contract has been awarded.

The County may exercise, by written notice to the Successful Respondent no later than ten (10) calendar 
days of the Contract expiration, this clause for emergency cases only. 

4.35 PAYMENT

The County ’s payment for goods and services shall be governed by the Texas Government Code, 

Chapter 2251.  An invoice shall be deemed overdue the thirty-first (31st) day after the later of the 
following: 

A. The date the County receives the goods under the Contract; 
B. The date the performance of the service under the Contract is completed; or 
C. The date the Williamson County Auditor receives an invoice for the goods or services.  

Interest charges for any overdue payments shall be paid by the County in accordance with Texas 
Government Code, Section 2251.025.  More specifically, the rate of interest that shall accrue on a late 
payment is the rate in effect on September 1 of the County ’s fiscal year in which the payment becomes 
due.  The said rate in effect on September 1 shall be equal to the sum of one (1) percent and the prime 

rate published in the Wall Street Journal on the first (1st) day of July of the preceding fiscal year that does 
not fall on a Saturday or Sunday.

In the event that an error appears in an invoice submitted by the Successful Respondent, the County 
shall notify the Successful Respondent of the error not later than the twenty-first (21st) day after the date 
the County receives the invoice.  If the error is resolved in favor of the Successful Respondent, the 
Successful Respondent shall be entitled to receive interest on the unpaid balance of the invoice 
submitted by the Successful Respondent beginning on the date that the payment for the invoice became 
overdue.  If the error is resolved in favor of the County, the Successful Respondent shall submit a 
corrected invoice that must be paid in accordance within the time set forth above.  The unpaid balance 
accrues interest as provided by the Texas Government Code, Chapter 2251, if the corrected invoice is 
not paid by the appropriate date.

As a minimum, invoices shall include:

A. Name, address, and telephone number of the Successful Respondent and similar information in 
the event the payment is to be made to a different address. 

B. The County Contract, Purchase Order. 

C. Identification of items or service as outlined in the Contract.

D. Quantity or quantities, applicable unit prices, total prices and total amount.

E. Any additional payment information which may be called for by the Contract.

Payment inquiries should be directed to the following address:        

            Williamson County Auditor’s Office, Accounts Payable Department
            Email: accountspayable@wilco.org
            Phone: 512-943-1500

4.36 CONTRACTUAL FORMATION AND ENSUING AGREEMENT

The RFP and the Respondent ’s Proposal, when properly accepted by the Commissioners Court, shall 
constitute a Contract equally binding between the Successful Respondent and the County.  The 
Successful Respondent may be required by Williamson County to sign an additional Agreement 
containing terms necessary to ensure compliance with the RFP and Respondent ’s Proposal.

4.37 LEGAL LIABILITY INFORMATION

The Successful Respondent shall disclose all legal liability information by listing any pending litigation
anticipated litigation that your firm is involved in including, but not limited to, potential or actual legal
matters with private parties and any local, state, federal or international governmental entities. The
County reserves the right to consider legal liability information in the recommendation of any proposed 
contract to the Commissioners Court.

4.38 CONFIDENTIALITY

Respondent expressly agrees that it will not use any direct or incidental confidential information that may
be obtained while working in a governmental setting for its own benefit, and agrees that it will not access
unauthorized areas or confidential information and it will not disclose any information to unauthorized
third parties, and will take care to guard the security of the information at all times.

4.39 INCLEMENT WEATHER

In case of inclement weather or any other unforeseen event causing the County to close for business on 
the date of a Proposal submission deadline, the Proposal closing will automatically be postponed until the 
next business day the County is open.  If inclement weather conditions or any other unforeseen event 
causes delays in carrier service operations, the County may issue an Addendum to all known 
Respondents interested in the project to extend the deadline.  It will be the responsibility of the 
Respondent to notify the County of their interest in the project if these conditions are impacting their 
ability to turn in a submission within the stated deadline.  The County reserves the right to make the final 
judgement call to extend any deadline. 

4.40 AIR QUALITY

In determining the overall best Proposal, the County may, to the extent applicable, exercise the option 
granted to local governments under the Texas Local Government Code, Section 271.907.

This option allows the County to evaluate Proposals and give preference to goods and/or services of
Respondent that demonstrates that the Respondent meets or exceeds any and all state or federal 
environmental standards, including voluntary standards, relating to air quality.  If the Proposal being 
submitted will have an effect on air quality for the County (as it relates to any state, federal, or voluntary 
air quality standard), then the Respondent is encouraged to provide information in narrative indicating the 
anticipated air quality impact.  All Respondents are expected to meet all mandated state and federal air 
quality standards.

4.41 COOPERATIVE PURCHASING PROGRAM 

During the term of the Contract resulting from this RFP, the County would like to afford the same prices, 
terms and conditions to other political subdivisions or public entities.  Another entity’s participation in the 
Contract resulting from this RFP is subject to a properly authorized Purchasing Cooperative Inter- local 
Agreement (ILA) with the County.  Any liability created by purchase orders issued against the Contract 
shall be the sole responsibility of the governmental agency placing the order.

4.42 PREVAILING WAGE RATES

To the extent this procurement is for the construction of a public work, including a building, highway, 
road, excavation, and repair work or other project development or improvement, paid for in whole or in 
part from public funds, without regard to whether the work is done under public supervision or direction, 
Texas Government Code, Chapter 2258, shall apply and the contractor shall pay not less than the wage 
scale of the various classes of labor as shown on the “Prevailing Wage Schedule” provided by the 
County. Pursuant to Texas Government Code, Section 2258.022(a)(2), the County has determined the 
general prevailing rate of the “Prevailing Wage Schedule”  in the locality in which the public work is to be 
performed for each craft or type of worker needed to execute the contract and the prevailing rate for legal 
holiday and overtime work by using the prevailing wage rate as determined by the United States 
Department of Labor in accordance with the United States Code, Section 276a (Davis-Bacon Act). 

The specified wage rates are minimum rates only, and are not representations that qualified labor 
adequate to perform the work is available locally at the prevailing wage rates. The County is not bound to 
pay—and will not consider—any claims for additional compensation made by any contractor because the 
contractor pays wages in excess of the applicable minimum rate contained in the Contract Documents. 
The “Prevailing Wage Schedule”  is not a representation that quantities of qualified labor adequate to 
perform the work may be found locally at the specified wage rates.

For classifications not shown, workers shall not be paid less than the wage indicated for laborers. The 
contractor shall notify each worker commencing work on the project the worker ’s job classification and 
the established minimum wage rate required to be paid, as well as the actual amount being paid. The 
notice must be delivered to and signed in acknowledgement of receipt by the employee and must list 
both the monetary wages and fringe benefits to be paid or furnished for each classification in which the 
worker is assigned duties. When requested by the County, competent evidence of compliance with the 
Texas Prevailing Wage Law shall be furnished by contractor. A copy of each worker wage rate 
notification shall be submitted to the County with the Application for Payment for the period during which 
the worker began on-site activities.

Should the contractor at any time become aware that a particular skill or trade not reflected on the 
County ’s “Prevailing Wage Schedule” will be or is being employed in the work, whether by the contractor 
or by a subcontractor, the contractor shall promptly inform the County and shall specify a wage rate for 
that skill or trade, which shall bind the contractor.

The contractor and any subcontractor shall pay to the County a penalty of sixty dollars ($60.00) for each 
worker employed for each calendar day, or portion thereof, that the worker is paid less than the wage 
rates stipulated in the “Prevailing Wage Schedule” or any supplement thereto. The contractor and each 
subcontractor shall keep, or cause to be kept, an accurate record showing the names and occupations 
of all workers employed in connection with the work, and showing the actual per diem wages paid to 
each worker, which records shall be open at all reasonable hours for the inspection by the County.

Within thirty-one (31) days of receipt of information concerning a violation of the Texas Government Code 
Chapter 2258, the County shall make an initial determination as to whether good cause exists to believe 
a violation occurred. The County ’s decision on the initial determination shall be reduced to writing and 
sent to the contractor or subcontractor against whom the violation was alleged, and to the affected 
worker. When a good cause finding is made, the County shall retain the full amounts claimed by the 
claimant or claimants as the difference between wages paid and wages due under the “Prevailing Wage 
Schedule” and any supplements thereto, together with the applicable penalties, such amounts being 
subtracted from successive progress payments pending a final decision on the violation.

After the County makes its initial determination, the affected contractor or subcontractor and worker have 
fourteen (14) calendar days in which to resolve the issue of whether a violation occurred, including the 
amount that should be retained by the County or paid to the affected worker. If the contractor or 
subcontractor and affected worker reach an agreement concerning the worker ’s claim, the contractor 
shall promptly notify the County in a written document signed by the worker. It the contractor or 

Subcontractor and affected worker do not agree before the fifteenth (15 th) calendar day after the County
determination, the contractor or subcontractor and affected worker must participate in binding arbitration 
in accordance with the Texas General Arbitration Act, Chapter 171, (Texas Civil Practice and Remedies 
Code). The parties to the arbitration have ten (10) calendar days after the expiration of the fifteen (15) 

calendar days referred to above, to agree on an arbitrator; if by the eleventh (11 th) calendar day there is 
no agreement to an arbitrator, a district court shall appoint an arbitrator on the petition of any of the 
parties to the arbitration.

If an arbitrator determines that a violation has occurred, the arbitrator shall assess and award against the 
contractor or subcontractor the amount of penalty as provided above and the amount owed the worker. 
The County may use any amounts retained hereunder to pay the worker the amount as designated in the 
arbitration award. If the County has not retained enough from the contractor or subcontractor to pay the 
worker in accordance with the arbitration award, the worker has a right of action against the contractor 
and subcontractor as appropriate, and the surety of either to receive the amount owed, attorneys ’  fees 
and court costs. The contractor shall promptly furnish a copy of the arbitration award to the County.

Money retained pursuant to the provisions above shall be used to pay the claimant or claimants the 
difference between the amount the worker received in wages for labor on the project at the rate paid by 
the contractor or subcontractor and the amount the worker would have received at the general prevailing 
wage rate as provided by the agreement of the claimant and the contractor or subcontractor affected, or 
in the arbitrator ’s award. The full statutory penalty of sixty dollars ($60.00) per calendar day of violation 
per worker shall be retained by Williamson County to offset its administrative costs, pursuant to Texas 
Government Code, Section, 2258.023. Any retained funds in excess of these amounts shall be paid to 
the contractor on the earlier of the next progress payment or final payment. Provided, however, that the 
County shall have no duty to release any funds to either the claimant or the contractor until it has 
received the notices of agreement or the arbitration award as provided under the provision herein-above.

4.43 CONFIDENTALITY

The Respondent expressly agrees that it will not use any direct or incidental confidential information that 
may be obtained while working in a governmental setting for its own benefit, and agrees that it will not 
access unauthorized areas or confidential information and it will not disclose any information to 
unauthorized third parties, and will take care to guard the security of the information at all times.

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 354



5

6

3 4

Williamson County – Request for Proposal (RFP)

SECTION 1 - DEFINITIONS 

Addendum/Addenda – means any written or graphic instruments issued by the County prior to the 
consideration of Proposals which modify or interpret the Proposal Documents by additions, deletions, 
clarifications, or corrections.

Agreement/Ensuing Agreement(s) – means the Successful Respondent may be required by the 
County to sign an additional Agreement containing terms necessary to ensure compliance with the RFP 
and the Respondent ’s Proposal.  Such Ensuing Agreement(s) shall contain the Proposal specifications, 
terms and conditions that are derived from the RFP.

Contract – means this RFP and the Proposal of the Successful Respondent shall become a Contract 
between the Successful Respondent and the County once the Successful Respondent ’s Proposal is 
properly accepted by the Williamson County Commissioners Court (sometimes referred to herein as the 
Commissioner ’s Court”).

Commissioner ’s Court – means the Williamson County Commissioners Court. 

County – means Williamson County, a political subdivision of the State of Texas.

Executive Summary – means the document submitted by Respondent that represents a concise 
summary of the contents of the Proposal. It does not include any information concerning costs. 

Proposal Documents – means the Legal Notice, RFP including attachments, and any Addenda issued 
by the County prior to the consideration of any Proposals.

Proposal – means the complete, properly signed document, and ALL required forms and documentation 
listed in the proposal package which have been submitted in accordance with this RFP package. A 
Proposal submitted in accordance with this RFP is irrevocable during the specified time period for 
evaluation and acceptance of Proposals, unless a waiver is obtained from the Williamson County 
Purchasing Agent.

Respondent – means a person or entity who submits a Proposal in response to this RFP.

Request for Proposals (RFP) – means this document, together with the attachments thereto and any 
future Addenda issued by the County.

Successful Respondent– means the responsible Respondent who, in the County ’s sole opinion, 
submits the Proposal which is in the best interest of the County, taking into account factors identified 
herein, and to whom the County intends to award the Contract.

SECTION 2 - RESPONSE FORMAT AND SUBMISSION

2.1 INTRODUCTION

Each Proposal submitted in response to this RFP should clearly reference the numbered sections of this 
RFP that require a response.  Failure to arrange the Proposal as requested may result in the 
disqualification of the Proposal.

Though there is not a page limit for Proposals, to save natural resources including paper, and to allow the 
County staff to efficiently evaluate all submitted Proposals, the County requests that Proposals be 
orderly, concise, but comprehensive in providing the requested information.  Conciseness and clarity of 
content are emphasized and encouraged.  If mailed or delivered in person, please limit additional, non
requested information.

Please provide your Proposal response using:

A. 8 ½” x 11” pages, inclusive of any cover letter or supporting materials.

B. The least amount of plastic/laminate or other non-recyclable binding materials.

C. Single-sided printing.

Vague and general Proposals will be considered non-responsive, and may, at the County ’s sole 
discretion, result in disqualification. Proposals must be legible and complete.  Failure to provide the 
required information may result in the disqualification of the Proposal. All pages of the Proposal should 
be numbered and the Proposal should contain an organized, paginated table of contents corresponding 
to the sections and pages of the Proposal.

2.2 ORGANIZATION OF PROPOSAL CONTENTS AND TABLE OF CONTENTS 

Each Proposal should be submitted with a table of contents that clearly identifies and denotes the 
location of all enclosures of the Proposal. The table of contents should follow the RFP ’s structure as 
much as is practical.

Each Proposal should be organized in the manner described below:

A. Transmittal Letter. Please see Section 2.3, Transmittal Letter, for more information. 

B. Table of Contents. 

C. Executive Summary. Please see Section 2.4, Executive Summary. 

D. Proposal Response to Criteria. (Please see the sections in this RFP package that list the 
Specifications & Cost Proposal, Experience and Qualifications, References, and Implementation 
Strategy to respond to our criteria in a clear and concise manner) 

E. Price Sheet. 

F. References: Identification of three (3) references within the last four (4) years, for which the 
Respondent is providing, or has provided, the goods and/or services (public sector) of the type 
requested in this RFP. Include the name, position/title, and telephone number of a contact person 
at each entity. 

G.  Conflict of Interest Questionnaire. 

H. Proposal Affidavit (Signature Page).

I. Attach your entities sample Contract, if applicable, for the County ’s review and consideration. This 
should include any additional terms or conditions. The County is not required to use the sample 
Contract submitted. 

2.3 TRANSMITTAL LETTER

The Respondent should submit a Transmittal Letter that provides the following information: 

A. Name and address of individual or business entity submitting the Proposal. 

B. Respondent ’s type of business entity (i.e., Corporation, General Partnership, Limited Partnership, 
LLC, etc.).  See Section 3.5, Signature of Respondent, for more information. 

C. Place of incorporation or organization, if applicable.

D. Name and location of major offices and other facilities that relate to the Respondent
performance under the terms of this RFP.

E. Name, physical address, email address, business and fax number of the Respondent ’s principal 
contact person regarding all contractual matters relating to this RFP.

F. The Respondent ’s Federal Employer Identification Number.

G. A commitment by the Respondent to provide the services required by the County;

H. A statement that the Proposal is valid for the time specified on page three (3), under the section 
named Prices Good for, of this Proposal packet. Any Proposal containing a term of less than the 
required amount, may at the County ’s sole discretion, be rejected as non-responsive.

I. If the Proposal being submitted will have an effect on air quality for the County (as it relates to any 
state, federal, or voluntary air quality standard), then the Respondent is encouraged to provide
information in narrative indicating the anticipated air quality impact. See Section 4.40, Air Quality 
for more information. 

The Transmittal Letter should be signed by a person legally authorized to bind the Respondent to the
representations in the Transmittal Letter and the Proposal.  In the case of a joint Proposal, each party 
must sign the Transmittal Letter.

2.4 EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

The Respondent should provide an Executive Summary of its Proposal that asserts that the Respondent 
is providing in its response all of the requirements of this RFP.  The Executive Summary should not 
include any information concerning the cost of the Proposal, but instead must represent a full and 
concise summary of the contents of the Proposal.  It is recommended the Executive Summary include 
the following information: 

A. Identify any goods and/or services that are provided beyond those specifically requested.  If the 
Respondent is providing services and/or goods that do not meet the specific requirements of this 
RFP, but in the opinion of the Respondent are equivalent or superior to those specifically 
requested, any such differences should be noted in the Executive Summary. However, the 
Respondent must realize that failure to provide the goods and/or services specifically required, at 
the County ’s sole discretion, may result in disqualification of the Proposal.

B. Indicate why the Respondent believes that it is the most qualified Respondent to provide the 
services described in this RFP.  The Successful Respondent must demonstrate extensive 
experience and understanding of the intent of this project.  The Respondent should describe in 
detail the current and historical experience the Respondent and its subcontractors have that 
would be relevant to completing the project.  References must contain the name of key personnel 
and telephone numbers for each contact, as described in Section 3.14, References.  

C. Briefly state why the Respondent believes its proposed goods and/or services best meet the 
County ’s needs and RFP requirements, and the Respondent also should concisely describe any 
additional features, aspects, or advantages of its goods and/or services in any relevant area not 
covered elsewhere in its Proposal.

2.5 CONFLICT OF INTEREST

No public official shall have interest in a contract, in accordance with Vernon ’s Texas Codes Annotated, 
Local Government Code, Title 5, Subtitle C, Chapter 171, as amended. 

As of January 1, 2006, all Respondents are responsible for complying with Local Government Code, Title 
5, Subtitle C, Chapter 176.  Additional information may be obtained from the County’s website at the 
following link: 

http://www.wilco.org/CountyDepartments/Purchasing/ConflictofInterestDisclosure/tabid/689/language/en
US/Default.aspx

Each Respondent must disclose any existing or potential conflict of interest relative to the performance of 
the requirements of this RFP.  Examples of potential conflicts of interest may include an existing 
business or personal relationship between the Respondent, its principal, or any affiliate or 
subcontractor with the County or any other entity or person involved in any way with the project 
that is subject to this RFP.  Similarly, any personal or business relationship between the Respondent, 
the principals, or any affiliate or subcontractor with any employee, or official of the County or its suppliers 
must be disclosed.  Any such relationship that might be perceived or represented as a conflict must be 
disclosed. Failure to disclose any such relationship or reveal personal relationships with the County 
employees or officials may be cause for termination. 

The County will decide if an actual or perceived conflict should result in Proposal disqualification. 

By submitting a Proposal in response to this RFP, all Respondents affirm they have not given, nor intend 
to give, at any time hereafter, any economic opportunity, future employment, gift, loan, gratuity, special 
discount, trip, favor, or service to a the County public servant or any employee, official or representative 
of same, in connection with this procurement. 

Each Respondent must provide a Conflict of Interest Statement with their Proposal Package.  

Package may be deemed incomplete without this form.  

2.6 CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PARTIES – FORM 1295

As of January 1, 2016, all Respondents are responsible for complying with the Texas Government Code, 
Section 2252.908.  The law states that the County may not enter into certain contracts with a 
Respondent unless the Respondent submits a disclosure of interested parties to the County at the time 
the Respondent submits the signed contract.  The law applies only to a contract of the County on or after 
January 1, 2016 that either:

A. Requires an action or vote by the Commissioners Court before the contract may be signed (all 
contracts that fall under the jurisdiction of the Commissioners Court approval, such as contracts 
resulting from an Initiation for Bid (IFB), RFP, Request for Qualifications (RFQ), etc., excluding, 
but not limited to, certain Juvenile Service contracts, contracts funded with Sheriff ’s seized fun 
monies, etc.); or

B. Has a value of at least $1,000,000. 

By January 1, 2016, the Texas Ethics Commission will make available on its website, a new filing 
application that must be used to file Form 1295.  Information regarding how to use the filing application is 
available on the Texas Ethics Commission website at the following link:

https://www.ethics.state.tx.us/whatsnew/elf_info_form1295.htm

A Respondent must:

A. Use the online application to process the required information on Form 1295.

B. Print a copy of the form which will contain a unique certification number.

C. An authorized agent of the Respondent must sign the printed copy of the form.

D. Have the form notarized.

E. File the completed Form 1295 and certification of filing (scanning and emailing form is sufficient) 
with Williamson County Purchasing Agent at the time the signed Contract is submitted for 
approval.

After the Commissioners Court award of the contract, the County shall notify the Texas Ethics 
Commission, using the Texas Ethics Commission ’s filing application, of the receipt of the filed Form 
1295 and certification of filing not later than the 30th day after the date the contract binds all parties to the 
contract. The Texas Ethics Commission will post the completed Form 1295 to its website within seven 
business days after receiving notice from the County.

2.7 PROPOSAL SUBMITTAL DEADLINE

The Proposal is due no later than the submittal date and time set forth in the Public Announcement and 
General Information listed in this RFP package.  Contents of each Proposal shall be submitted in 
accordance with this RFP.

2.8 ETHICS

The Respondent shall not accept or offer gifts or anything of value, nor enter into any business 
arrangement with any employee, official or agent of the County.

2.9 DELIVERY OF PROPOSALS

The County uses BidSync to distribute and receive bids and Proposals.  It is preferred that Proposals
be submitted electronically through BidSync; however, Respondents can submit a hard copy.  

Refer to www.bidsync.com for further information on how to submit electronically.

If mailed or delivered in person, Proposal and Proposal Addenda are to be delivered in sealed envelope
on or before the submittal deadline, as noted in the Public Announcement and General Information listed 
in this RFP package, to:

            Williamson County Purchasing Department
            Attn: Proposal Name and Number
            901 South Austin Avenue
            Georgetown, Texas 78626

Also, all Respondents should list their Name and Address, and the Date of the Proposal opening on the
outside of the box or envelope and note “Sealed Proposal Enclosed.” Williamson County will not accept 
any Proposals after the submittal deadline, and shall return such Proposals unopened to the 
Respondent.  The County will not accept any responsibility for Proposals being delivered by third party 
carriers. 

Proposals will be opened publicly; however, in a manner to avoid public disclosure of contents, only 
names of Respondents will be read aloud: no pricing will be announced at the opening. 

SECTION 3 - INSTRUCTIONS AND GENERAL REQUIREMENTS

3.1 INSTRUCTIONS

Read this document carefully, and follow all instructions and requirements.  All Respondents are 
responsible for fulfilling all requirements and specifications.  Be sure to have a clear understanding of this
RFP.

General requirements apply to all advertised RFPs; however, these may be superseded, in whole or in 
part, by the proposal specifications, Addenda and modifications issued as a part of this RFP.  Be sure 
your Proposal package is complete.

3.2 AMBIGUITY, CONFLICT, OR OTHER ERRORS IN THIS RFP

If a Respondent discovers any ambiguity, conflict, discrepancy, omission or other error in this RFP, the 
Respondent shall immediately notify the County Purchasing Department of such error in writing and
request modification or clarification of the document.

Modifications will be made by issuing Addenda. If the Respondent fails to notify the County prior to the
date and time fixed for submission of Proposals of an error or ambiguity in the RFP known to the
Respondent, or an error or ambiguity that reasonably should have been known to the Respondent, then 
the Respondent shall be deemed to have waived the error or ambiguity or its later resolution.

The County may also modify the RFP, no later than forty-eight (48) hours prior to the date and time fixed
for submission of Proposals, by issuance of an Addendum.  All Addenda will be numbered consecutively, 
beginning with one (1).

3.3 NOTIFICATION OF MOST CURRENT ADDRESS

All Respondents in receipt of this RFP shall notify the Williamson County Purchasing Department of any
address changes, contact person changes, and/or telephone number changes no later than forty-eight 
(48) hours prior to the date and time fixed for submission of Proposals.

3.4 SIGNATURE OF RESPONDENT

A Transmittal Letter, which shall be considered an integral part of the Proposal as stated in Section 2.3, 
Transmittal Letter, shall be signed by an individual who is authorized to bind the Respondent
contractually.

A. If the Respondent is a Corporation or Limited Liability Company, the legal name of the Corporation
or Limited Liability Company shall be provided together with the signature of the officer or officers 
authorized to sign on behalf of such entity.

B. If the Respondent is a General Partnership, the true name of the firm shall be provided with the
signature of each partner authorized to sign.

C. If the Respondent is a Limited Partnership, the name of the Limited Partner ’s General Partner
shall be provided with the signature of the officer authorized to sign on behalf of the General
Partner.

D. If the Respondent is a Sole Proprietor(s) (individual), each Sole Proprietor(s) shall sign.

E. If signature is by an agent, other than the Sole Proprietor(s) or an officer of a Corporation, Limited 
Liability Company, General Partner or a member of a General Partnership, a power of attorney
equivalent document must be submitted to the Williamson County Purchasing Department.

3.5 ASSUMED BUSINESS NAME

If the Respondent operates business under an Assumed Business Name, the Respondent must have
file with the Williamson County Clerk a current Assumed Name Certificate and provide a file marked copy 
of same prior to contract award.

3.6 ECONOMY OF PRESENTATION

Proposals should not contain promotional or display materials, except as they may directly answer in 
whole or in part questions contained in the RFP.  Such exhibits shall be clearly marked with the 
applicable reference number of the question in the RFP.  Proposals must address the technical 
requirements as specified in the RFP.  All questions posed by the RFP must be answered concisely and 
clearly. Proposals that do not address each criterion may be, at the sole discretion of the County, 
rejected and not considered.

3.7 PROPOSAL OBLIGATION 

The contents of the RFP, Proposal, and any clarification thereof submitted by the Successful
Respondent shall become part of the contractual obligation and incorporated by reference into the 
Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s).

3.8 COMPLIANCE WITH RFP SPECIFICATIONS

It is intended that this RFP describe the requirements and the Proposal format in sufficient detail to 
secure comparable Proposal.  Failure to comply with all provisions of the RFP may, at the sole discretion 
of the County, result in disqualification.

3.9 EVALUATION 

The County reserves the right to use all pertinent information (also learned from sources other than 
disclosed in the RFP process) that might affect the County ’s judgment as to the appropriateness of
award to the best evaluated Respondent. This information may be appended to the Proposal evaluation
process results. Information on a Respondent from reliable sources, and not within the Respondent
Proposal, may also be noted and made part of the evaluation fi le.  The County shall have sole 
discretion for determining the reliability of the source.  The County reserves the right to conduct written 
and/or oral discussions/interviews after the Proposal opening.  The purpose of such 
discussions/interviews is to provide clarification and/or additional information to make an award that is in 
the best interest of the County.

3.10 WITHDRAWAL OF PROPOSAL

The Respondent may withdraw its Proposal by submitting a written request with the company letterhead 
and the signature of an authorized individual, as described in Section 3.4, Signature of Respondent, to 
the Williamson County Purchasing Department any time prior to the submission deadline.  

The Respondent may submit a new Proposal prior to the deadline. Alterations of the Proposal in any 
manner will not be considered if submitted after the deadline.  Withdrawal of a Proposal after the deadline 
will be subject to written approval of the Williamson County Purchasing Agent.

3.11 RESPONSIBILITY 

It is expected that a Respondent will be able to affirmatively demonstrate responsibility.  A prospective
Respondent should be able to meet the following requirements:

A. Have adequate financial resources, or the ability to obtain such resources as required;
B. Be able to comply with the required or proposed delivery schedule;
C. Have a satisfactory record of performance that can be determined thru references provided; and 
D. Be otherwise qualified and eligible to receive an award.

The County may request representation and other information sufficient to determine the Respondent
ability to meet these minimum standards listed above.

3.12 PURCHASE ORDERS

If required by the Williamson County Purchasing Department, a purchase order(s) may be generated to 
the Successful Respondent for goods and/or services.  If a purchase order is issued, the purchase order 
number must appear on all itemized invoices and/or requests for payment.

3.13 SILENCE OF SPECIFICATIONS

The apparent silence of any RFP specifications as to any detail or to the apparent omission from it of a 
detailed description concerning any point, shall be regarded as meaning that only the best practices are 
to prevail.  All interpretations of these specifications shall be made on the basis of this statement.

3.14 REFERENCES

Respondents shall furnish a list of contracts where similar responsibilities and goods and/or services 
have been required and/or performed for the past five (5) years, to include names, titles, phone numbers 
and email addresses of reference contacts, contract numbers and dates of performance. 

Also, Respondents shall include a list of any contracts that have been cancelled or terminated within the 
last five (5) years, along with an explanation of the cancellation and the names, email address and phone 
number of a reference person with that institution. 

The County may contact some or all of the references in order to determine the Respondent
performance record on work similar to that described in this RFP.  The County reserves the right to 
contact references other than those provided in the response and to use the information gained from 
them in the evaluation process. 

References should be provided in accordance with this RFP.  Proposal may not be deemed complete 
without the inclusion of requested references.

SECTION 4 - TERMS AND CONDITIONS

4.1 VENUE AND GOVERNING LAW

The Respondent hereby agrees and acknowledges that venue and jurisdiction of any suit, right, or cause 
of action arising out of or in connection with this RFP, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s), shall 
lie exclusively in either Williamson County, Texas or in the Austin Division of the Western Federal District 
of Texas, and the parties hereto expressly consent and submit to such jurisdiction.  Furthermore, except 
to the extent that this RFP, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) is governed by the laws of the 
United States, this RFP, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be governed by and 
construed in accordance with the laws of the State of Texas, excluding, however, its choice of law rules.

4.2 INCORPORATION BY REFERENCE AND PRECEDENCE

A. The Contract shall be derived from the RFP and its Addenda (if applicable), and the Respondent
Proposal.  In the event of a dispute under the Contract, applicable documents will be referred to 
for the purpose of clarification or for additional detail in the following order of precedence:

1. The RFP and its Addenda (if applicable); and 

2. The Respondent ’s Proposal.

B. In the event the County requires that an Ensuing Agreement be executed following award and a 
dispute arises between the terms and conditions of the Ensuing Agreement, the RFP and its 
Addenda (if applicable), and the Respondent ’s Proposal, applicable documents will be referred to 
for the purpose of clarification or for additional detail in the following order of precedence: 

1. The terms and conditions of the Ensuing Agreement;

2. The RFP and its Addenda; and  

3. The Respondent ’s Proposal.

4.3 OWNERSHIP OF PROPOSAL

Each Proposal shall become the property of the County upon submittal and will not be returned to 
Respondents unless received after the submittal deadline.

4.4 DISQUALIFICATION OF RESPONDENT

Upon signing and submittal of the Proposal, a Respondent offering to sell supplies, materials, services, 
or equipment to the County, certifies that the Respondent has not violated the antitrust laws of the State 
of Texas codified in Business & Commerce Code, Section 15.01, or the Federal Antitrust Laws, and has 
not communicated directly or indirectly the offer made to any competitor or any other person engaged
such line of business.  Any or all Proposals may be rejected if the County believes that collusion exists 
among the Respondents.

4.5 FUNDING

The County intends to budget and make sufficient funds available and authorize funds for expenditure to 
finance the costs of the Contract.  All Respondents understand and agree that the County’s payment of 
amounts under the Contract shall be contingent on the County receiving appropriations or other 
expenditure authority sufficient to allow the County, in the exercise of reasonable administrative 
discretion, to make payments under this Contract.

4.6 ASSIGNMENT, SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS 

The Successful Respondent may not assign, sell, or otherwise transfer the Contract or any other rights 
or interests obtained under the Contract without written permission of the Williamson County the 
Commissioners Court.  The Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be binding upon and inure to 
the benefit of the contracting parties hereto and their respective successors and permitted assigns.

4.7 IMPLIED REQUIREMENTS

Products or services not specifically described or required in the RFP, but are necessary to provide the 
functional capabilities described by the Respondent, shall be implied and deemed to be included in the
Proposal.

4.8 TERMINATION

A. Termination for Cause: The County reserves the right to terminate the Contract and/or any 
Ensuing Agreement(s) for default if the Successful Respondent breaches any of the Proposal
specifications, terms and conditions, including warranties of the Respondent, if any, or if the 
Successful Respondent becomes insolvent or commits acts of bankruptcy.  Such right of 
termination is in addition to and not in lieu of any other remedies the County may have at law or
equity or as may otherwise be provided hereunder.  Default may be construed as, but not limited 
to, failure to deliver the proper goods and/or services within the proper amount of time, and/or to 
properly perform any and all other requirements to the County ’s satisfaction, and/or to meet all 
other obligations and requirements.

B. Termination for Convenience: The County may terminate the Contract and/or any Ensuing 
Agreement(s) for convenience and without cause or further liability, upon no less than thirty (30) 
calendar days written notice to the Successful Respondent. The County reserves the right to 
extend this period if it is in the best interest of the County.  In the event the County exercises its 
right to terminate without cause, it is understood and agreed that only the amounts due to the 
Successful Respondent for goods, commodities and/or services provided and expenses incurred 
to and including the date of termination, will be due and payable.  No penalty will be assessed for 
the County ’s termination for convenience.

4.9 NON-PERFORMANCE

It is the objective of the County to obtain complete and satisfactory performance of the requirements set 
forth herein.  In addition to any other remedies available at law, in equity or that may be set out herein, 
failure to perform may result in a deduction of payment equal to the amount of the goods and/or services 
that were not provided and/or performed to the County ’s satisfaction.  

In the event of such non-performance, the County shall have the right, but shall not be obligated, to 
complete the services itself or by others and/or purchase the goods from other sources.  If the County 
elects to acquire the goods or perform the services itself or by others, pursuant to the foregoing, the 
Successful Respondent shall reimburse the County, within ten (10) calendar days of demand, for all 
costs incurred by the County (including, without limitation, applicable, general, and administrative 
expenses, and field overhead, and the cost of necessary equipment, materials, and field labor) in 
correcting the nonperformance which the Successful Respondent fails to meet pursuant to the 
requirements set out herein.  In the event the Successful Respondent refuses to reimburse the County 
as set out in this provision, the County shall have the right to deduct such reimbursement amounts from 
any amounts that may be then owing or that may become owing in the future to the Successful
Respondent.

4.10 PROPRIETARY INFORMATION AND THE TEXAS PUBLIC INFORMATION ACT

All material submitted to the County shall become public property and subject to the Texas Public 
Information Act upon receipt. If a Respondent does not desire proprietary information in the Proposal to 
be disclosed, each page must be clearly identified and marked proprietary at time of submittal or, more 
preferably, all proprietary information may be placed in a folder or appendix and be clearly identified and 
marked as being proprietary.  Failure to clearly identify and mark information as being proprietary as set 
forth under this provision will result in all unmarked information being deemed non-proprietary and 
available to the public.  For all information that has not been clearly identified and marked as proprietary 
by the Respondent, the County may choose to place such information on the County ’s website and/or a 
similar public database without obtaining any type of prior consent from the Respondent.

The County will, to the extent allowed by law, endeavor to protect from public disclosure the information 
that has been identified and marked as proprietary.  The final decision as to what information must be 
disclosed, however, lies with the Texas Attorney General.  

To the extent, if any, that any provision in this RFP or in the Respondent ’s Proposal is in conflict with 
Texas Government Code, Chapter 552, as amended (the “Public Information Act”), the same shall be of 
no force or effect.  Furthermore, it is expressly understood, and agreed, that the County, and its officers 
and employees, may request advice, decisions and opinions of the Attorney General of the State of
Texas in regard to the application of the Public Information Act to any items or data furnished to the 
County as to whether or not the same are available to the public.  It is further understood that that the 
County, and its officers and employees, shall have the right to rely on the advice, decisions and opinions 
of the Attorney General, and that the County, its officers and employees shall have no liability or obligation 
to any party hereto for the disclosure to the public, or to any person or persons, of any items or data 
furnished to the County by a party hereto, in reliance of any advice, decision or opinion of the Attorney 
General of the State of Texas.

4.11 RIGHT TO AUDIT

The Successful Respondent agrees that the County or its duly authorized representatives shall, until the 
expiration of three (3) years after termination or expiration of the services to be performed, have access 
to and the right to examine and photocopy any and all books, documents, papers and records of the 
Successful Respondent, which are directly pertinent to the services to be performed or goods to
delivered for the purposes of making audits, examinations, excerpts and transcriptions.  The Successful 
Respondent agrees that the County shall have access during normal working hours to all necessary 
facilities and shall be provided adequate and appropriate work space in order to conduct audits in 
compliance with the provisions of this section.  The County shall give the Successful Respondent 
reasonable advance notice of intended audits.

4.12 TESTING AND INSPECTIONS

The County reserves the right to inspect and test equipment, supplies, materials and goods for quality 
and compliance with this RFP, and ability to meet the needs of the user.  Demonstration units must be 
available for review.  Should the goods or services fail to meet requirements and/or be unavailable for 
evaluation, the County can deem the Respondent to be in breach and terminate the Contract and/or any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

4.13 PROPOSAL PREPARATION COSTS

The cost of developing Proposals is the sole responsibility of the Respondents and shall not be charged 
to the County.  There is no expressed or implied obligation for the County to reimburse the Respondents 
for any expense incurred in preparing a Proposal in response to this RFP and the County will not 
reimburse the Respondents for such expenses.

4.14 INDEMNIFICATION

The Successful Respondent shall indemnify, defend and save harmless, the County, its officials, 
employees, agents and agent ’s employees from, and against, all claims, liability, and expenses including 
reasonable attorneys ’ fees, arising from activities of the Respondent, its agents, servants or employees, 
performed hereunder that result from the negligent act, error, or omission of the Respondent or any of 
the Respondent ’s agents, servants or employees, as well as all claims of loss or damage to the 
Respondent ’s and the County ’s property, equipment, and/or supplies. 

Furthermore, the County, its officials, employees, agents and agents ’ employees shall not be liable for 
damages to the Successful Respondent arising from any act of any third party, including, but not limited 
to, theft.  The Successful Respondent further agrees to indemnify, defend and save harmless, the 
County from its officials, employee, agents and agents ’ employees against all claims of whatever nature 
arising from any accident, injury, or damage whatsoever, caused to any person, or the property of any 
person, occurring in relation to the Successful Respondent ’s performance of any services requested 
hereunder during the term of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s). 

The Successful Respondent shall timely report all claims, demands, suits, actions, proceedings, liens or 
judgements to the County and shall, upon the receipt of any claim, demand, suit, action, proceeding, lien 

or judgement, not later than the fifteenth (15 th) day of each month; provide the County with a written 
report on each such matter, setting forth the status of each matter, the schedule or planned proceedings 
with respect to each matter and the cooperation or assistance, if any, of the County required by the 
Successful Respondent in the defense of each matter.  The Successful Respondent’s duty to defend, 
indemnify and hold the County harmless shall be absolute.  It shall not abate or end by reason of the 
expiration or termination of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s), unless otherwise agreed by 
the County in writing.  The provisions of this section shall survive the termination of the Contract and shall 
remain in full force and effect with respect to all such matters no matter when they arise. 

In the event of any dispute between the parties, as to whether a claim, demand, suit, action, proceeding, 
lien or judgement, that appears to have been caused by or appears to have arisen out of or in connection 
with acts or omissions of the County, the Respondent shall nevertheless fully defend such claim, 
demand, suit or action, proceeding, lien or judgement, until and unless there is  a determination by a 
court of competent jurisdiction that the acts and omissions of the Respondent are not an issue in the 
matter. 

The Successful Respondent ’s indemnification shall cover, and the Successful Respondent agrees to, 
indemnify the County, in the event the County is found to have been negligent for having selected the 
Successful Respondent to perform the work described in this request.  The provision by the Successful 
Respondent of insurance shall not limit the liability of the Successful Respondent under the Contract 
and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s). 

4.15 WAIVER OF SUBROGATION

The Successful Respondent and the Successful Respondent ’s insurance carrier waive any and all rights 
whatsoever with regard to subrogation against the County as an indirect party to any suit arising out of 
personal or property damages resulting from the Respondent ’s performance under this Contract and any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

4.16 RELATIONSHIP OF THE PARTIES

The Successful Respondent shall be an independent contractor and shall assume all of the rights, 
obligations, liabilities, applicable to it as such independent contractor hereunder and any provisions 
herein which may appear to give the County the right to direct the Successful Respondent as to details of 
doing work herein covered, or to exercise a measure of control over the work, shall be deemed to mean 
that the Successful Respondent shall follow the desires of the County in the results of the work only.  The 
County shall not retain or have the right to control the Successful Respondent ’s means, methods or 
details pertaining to the Successful Respondent ’s performance of the work.  The County and the 
Successful Respondent hereby agree and declare that the Successful Respondent is an independent 
contractor and as such meets the qualifications of an “Independent Contractor” under Texas Workers 
Compensation Act, Texas Labor Code, Section 406.141, that the Successful Respondent is not an 
employee of  the County, and that the Successful Respondent and its employees, agents and 
subcontractors shall not be entitled to workers compensation coverage or any other type of insurance 
coverage held by the County.

4.17 SOLE PROVIDER

The Successful Respondent agrees and acknowledges that it shall not be considered a sole provider of 
the goods and/or services described herein and that the County may contract with other providers of 
such goods and/or services if the County deems, at its sole discretion, that multiple providers of the 
same goods and/or services will serve the best interest of the County.

4.18 FORCE MAJEURE

If the party obligated to perform is prevented from performance by an act of war, order of legal authority, 
act of God, or other unavoidable cause not attributable to the fault or negligence of said party, the other 
party shall grant such party relief from the performance.  The burden of proof for the need of such relief 
shall rest upon the party obligated to perform.  To obtain release based on force majeure, the party 
obligated to perform shall file a written request with the other party.

4.19 SEVERABILITY

If any provision of this RFP, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be held invalid or 
unenforceable by any court of competent jurisdiction, such holding shall not invalidate or render 
unenforceable any other provision thereof, but rather the entire RFP, Contract or any Ensuing Agreement
(s) will be construed as if not containing the particular invalid or unenforceable provision or provisions, 
and the rights and obligation of the parties shall be construed and enforced in accordance therewith.  The 
parties acknowledge that if any provision of this RFP, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) is 
determined to be invalid or unenforceable, it is the desire and intention of each that such provision be 
reformed and construed in such a manner that it will, to the maximum extent practicable, give effect to
the intent of this RFP, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) and be deemed to be validated and
enforceable.

4.20 EQUAL OPPORTUNITY

Neither party shall discriminate against any employee or applicant for employment because of race, 
color, sex, religion or national origin.

4.21 NOTICE

Any notice to be given shall be in writing and may be distributed by personal delivery, or by registered or 
certified mail, return receipt requested, addressed to the proper party, at the following address:

The County:    Williamson County Purchasing Department 
            Attn: Purchasing Agent 
            901 South Austin Avenue 
            Georgetown, Texas 78626

The Respondent: Address set out in Respondent ’s Transmittal Letter

Notices given in accordance with this provision shall be effective upon (1) receipt by the party to which 
notice is given, or (2) on the third (3rd) calendar day following mailing, whichever occurs first.

4.22 SALES AND USE TAX EXEMPTION

The County is a body, corporate and politic, under the laws of the State of Texas and claims exemption 
from sales and use taxes under Texas Tax Code, Section 151.309, as amended, and the services and/or 
goods subject hereof are being secured for use by the County.

4.23 COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS

The County and the Successful Respondent shall comply with all federal, state, and local laws, statutes,
ordinances, rules and regulations, and the orders and decrees of any courts or administrative bodies or 
tribunals in any matter affecting the performance of the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s),
including, without limitation, Workers ’ Compensation laws, salary and wage statutes and regulations, 
licensing laws and regulations.  When required, the Successful Respondent shall furnish the County with 
certification of compliance with said laws, statues, ordinances, rules, regulations, orders, and decrees 
above specified.

4.24 INCORPORATION OF EXHIBITS, APPENDICES AND ATTACHMENTS

All of the Exhibits, Appendices and Attachments referred to herein are incorporated by reference as if set 
forth verbatim herein.  Any conflicting terms in the Contract documents will be resolved at the sole 
discretion of the Commissioners Court.

4.25 NO WAIVER OF IMMUNITIES

Nothing herein shall be deemed to waive, modify or amend any legal defense available at law or in equity 
to the County, its past or present officers, employees, or agents, nor to create any legal rights or claim on 
behalf of any third party.  The County does not waive, modify, or alter to any extent whatsoever the 
availability of the defense of governmental immunity under the laws of the State of Texas and of the 
United States.

4.26 NO WAIVER

The failure or delay of any party to enforce at any time or any period of time any of the provisions of this 
RFP, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall not constitute a present or future waiver of such 
provisions nor the right of either party to enforce each and every provision.  Furthermore, no term or 
provision hereof shall be deemed waived and no breach excused unless such waiver or consent shall be 
in writing and signed by the party claimed to have waived or consented.  Any consent by any party to, or 
waiver of, a breach by the other, whether expressed or implied, shall not constitute a consent to, waiver 
of or excuse for any other, different or subsequent breach.

4.27 CURRENT REVENUES

The obligations of the parties under the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) do not constitute a 
general obligation or indebtedness of the County for which the County is obligated to levy, pledge, or 
collect any of taxation.  It is understood and agreed that the County shall have the right to terminate the 
Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) at the end of any the County fiscal year if the governing body of 
the County does not appropriate sufficient funds as determined by the County ’s budget for the fiscal year 
in question.  The County may effect such termination by giving written notice of termination to the 
Successful Respondent at the end of its then-current fiscal year.

4.28 BINDING EFFECT

This Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties 
and their respective permitted assigns and successors.

4.29 ASSIGNMENT

The Successful Respondent ’s interest and duties hereunder may not be assigned or delegated to a third 
party without the express written consent of the County.

4.30 SAFETY

The Successful Respondent is responsible for initiating, maintaining, and supervising all safety 
precautions and programs in connection with any services to be provided hereunder. The safety program 
shall comply with all applicable requirements of the current federal Occupational Safety and Health Act 
and all other applicable federal, state and local laws and regulations.

4.31 GENERAL OBLIGATIONS AND RELIANCE

The Successful Respondent shall perform all services and/or provide all goods, as well as those
reasonably inferable and necessary for completion and provision of services and/or goods required
hereunder. The Successful Respondent shall keep the County informed of the progress and quality
the services.  The Successful Respondent agrees and acknowledges that the County is relying on the 
Successful Respondent's represented expertise and ability to provide the goods and/or services 
described herein.  The Successful Respondent agrees to use its best efforts, skill, judgment, and abilities
to perform its obligations in accordance with the highest standards used in the profession and to further 
the interests of the County in accordance with the County ’s requirements and procedures.  The 
Successful Respondent ’s duties, as set forth herein, shall at no time be in any way diminished by reason
of any approval by the County, nor shall the Successful Respondent be released from any liability
reason of such approval by the County, it being understood that the County at all times is ultimately 
relying upon the Successful Respondent ’s skill and knowledge in performing the services and providing 
any goods required hereunder.

4.32 CONTRACTUAL DEVELOPMENT

The Commissioners Court may award the Contract on the basis of the initial Proposals received, without
any further or additional discussions.  Therefore, each initial Proposal should contain the Respondent
best terms and offer.  The contents of the RFP and the selected Proposal will become an integral part of 
the Contract, but may be modified, at Williamson County ’s sole discretion, by provisions of an Ensuing 
Agreement.  Therefore, the Respondent must agree to inclusion in an Ensuing Agreement of the 
Proposal specifications, terms and conditions of this RFP.  Williamson County may, at its discretion, opt 
to conduct further discussions with responsible offerors and request the highest ranked firm ’s Best and 
Final Offer (BAFO).

4.33 ENTIRE AGREEMENT

The Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall supersede all prior Agreements, written or oral 
between the Successful Respondent and the County and shall constitute the entire Agreement and 
understanding between the parties with respect to the services and/or goods to be provided.  Each of the 
provisions herein shall be binding upon the parties and may not be waived, modified, amended or altered, 
except by writing signed by the Successful Respondent and the County.

4.34 SURVIVABILITY 

All applicable agreements that were entered into between the Successful Respondent and the County, 
under the terms and conditions of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s), shall survive the 
expiration or termination thereof for ninety (90) days unless a new contract has been awarded.

The County may exercise, by written notice to the Successful Respondent no later than ten (10) calendar 
days of the Contract expiration, this clause for emergency cases only. 

4.35 PAYMENT

The County ’s payment for goods and services shall be governed by the Texas Government Code, 

Chapter 2251.  An invoice shall be deemed overdue the thirty-first (31st) day after the later of the 
following: 

A. The date the County receives the goods under the Contract; 
B. The date the performance of the service under the Contract is completed; or 
C. The date the Williamson County Auditor receives an invoice for the goods or services.  

Interest charges for any overdue payments shall be paid by the County in accordance with Texas 
Government Code, Section 2251.025.  More specifically, the rate of interest that shall accrue on a late 
payment is the rate in effect on September 1 of the County ’s fiscal year in which the payment becomes 
due.  The said rate in effect on September 1 shall be equal to the sum of one (1) percent and the prime 

rate published in the Wall Street Journal on the first (1st) day of July of the preceding fiscal year that does 
not fall on a Saturday or Sunday.

In the event that an error appears in an invoice submitted by the Successful Respondent, the County 
shall notify the Successful Respondent of the error not later than the twenty-first (21st) day after the date 
the County receives the invoice.  If the error is resolved in favor of the Successful Respondent, the 
Successful Respondent shall be entitled to receive interest on the unpaid balance of the invoice 
submitted by the Successful Respondent beginning on the date that the payment for the invoice became 
overdue.  If the error is resolved in favor of the County, the Successful Respondent shall submit a 
corrected invoice that must be paid in accordance within the time set forth above.  The unpaid balance 
accrues interest as provided by the Texas Government Code, Chapter 2251, if the corrected invoice is 
not paid by the appropriate date.

As a minimum, invoices shall include:

A. Name, address, and telephone number of the Successful Respondent and similar information in 
the event the payment is to be made to a different address. 

B. The County Contract, Purchase Order. 

C. Identification of items or service as outlined in the Contract.

D. Quantity or quantities, applicable unit prices, total prices and total amount.

E. Any additional payment information which may be called for by the Contract.

Payment inquiries should be directed to the following address:        

            Williamson County Auditor’s Office, Accounts Payable Department
            Email: accountspayable@wilco.org
            Phone: 512-943-1500

4.36 CONTRACTUAL FORMATION AND ENSUING AGREEMENT

The RFP and the Respondent ’s Proposal, when properly accepted by the Commissioners Court, shall 
constitute a Contract equally binding between the Successful Respondent and the County.  The 
Successful Respondent may be required by Williamson County to sign an additional Agreement 
containing terms necessary to ensure compliance with the RFP and Respondent ’s Proposal.

4.37 LEGAL LIABILITY INFORMATION

The Successful Respondent shall disclose all legal liability information by listing any pending litigation
anticipated litigation that your firm is involved in including, but not limited to, potential or actual legal
matters with private parties and any local, state, federal or international governmental entities. The
County reserves the right to consider legal liability information in the recommendation of any proposed 
contract to the Commissioners Court.

4.38 CONFIDENTIALITY

Respondent expressly agrees that it will not use any direct or incidental confidential information that may
be obtained while working in a governmental setting for its own benefit, and agrees that it will not access
unauthorized areas or confidential information and it will not disclose any information to unauthorized
third parties, and will take care to guard the security of the information at all times.

4.39 INCLEMENT WEATHER

In case of inclement weather or any other unforeseen event causing the County to close for business on 
the date of a Proposal submission deadline, the Proposal closing will automatically be postponed until the 
next business day the County is open.  If inclement weather conditions or any other unforeseen event 
causes delays in carrier service operations, the County may issue an Addendum to all known 
Respondents interested in the project to extend the deadline.  It will be the responsibility of the 
Respondent to notify the County of their interest in the project if these conditions are impacting their 
ability to turn in a submission within the stated deadline.  The County reserves the right to make the final 
judgement call to extend any deadline. 

4.40 AIR QUALITY

In determining the overall best Proposal, the County may, to the extent applicable, exercise the option 
granted to local governments under the Texas Local Government Code, Section 271.907.

This option allows the County to evaluate Proposals and give preference to goods and/or services of
Respondent that demonstrates that the Respondent meets or exceeds any and all state or federal 
environmental standards, including voluntary standards, relating to air quality.  If the Proposal being 
submitted will have an effect on air quality for the County (as it relates to any state, federal, or voluntary 
air quality standard), then the Respondent is encouraged to provide information in narrative indicating the 
anticipated air quality impact.  All Respondents are expected to meet all mandated state and federal air 
quality standards.

4.41 COOPERATIVE PURCHASING PROGRAM 

During the term of the Contract resulting from this RFP, the County would like to afford the same prices, 
terms and conditions to other political subdivisions or public entities.  Another entity’s participation in the 
Contract resulting from this RFP is subject to a properly authorized Purchasing Cooperative Inter- local 
Agreement (ILA) with the County.  Any liability created by purchase orders issued against the Contract 
shall be the sole responsibility of the governmental agency placing the order.

4.42 PREVAILING WAGE RATES

To the extent this procurement is for the construction of a public work, including a building, highway, 
road, excavation, and repair work or other project development or improvement, paid for in whole or in 
part from public funds, without regard to whether the work is done under public supervision or direction, 
Texas Government Code, Chapter 2258, shall apply and the contractor shall pay not less than the wage 
scale of the various classes of labor as shown on the “Prevailing Wage Schedule” provided by the 
County. Pursuant to Texas Government Code, Section 2258.022(a)(2), the County has determined the 
general prevailing rate of the “Prevailing Wage Schedule”  in the locality in which the public work is to be 
performed for each craft or type of worker needed to execute the contract and the prevailing rate for legal 
holiday and overtime work by using the prevailing wage rate as determined by the United States 
Department of Labor in accordance with the United States Code, Section 276a (Davis-Bacon Act). 

The specified wage rates are minimum rates only, and are not representations that qualified labor 
adequate to perform the work is available locally at the prevailing wage rates. The County is not bound to 
pay—and will not consider—any claims for additional compensation made by any contractor because the 
contractor pays wages in excess of the applicable minimum rate contained in the Contract Documents. 
The “Prevailing Wage Schedule”  is not a representation that quantities of qualified labor adequate to 
perform the work may be found locally at the specified wage rates.

For classifications not shown, workers shall not be paid less than the wage indicated for laborers. The 
contractor shall notify each worker commencing work on the project the worker ’s job classification and 
the established minimum wage rate required to be paid, as well as the actual amount being paid. The 
notice must be delivered to and signed in acknowledgement of receipt by the employee and must list 
both the monetary wages and fringe benefits to be paid or furnished for each classification in which the 
worker is assigned duties. When requested by the County, competent evidence of compliance with the 
Texas Prevailing Wage Law shall be furnished by contractor. A copy of each worker wage rate 
notification shall be submitted to the County with the Application for Payment for the period during which 
the worker began on-site activities.

Should the contractor at any time become aware that a particular skill or trade not reflected on the 
County ’s “Prevailing Wage Schedule” will be or is being employed in the work, whether by the contractor 
or by a subcontractor, the contractor shall promptly inform the County and shall specify a wage rate for 
that skill or trade, which shall bind the contractor.

The contractor and any subcontractor shall pay to the County a penalty of sixty dollars ($60.00) for each 
worker employed for each calendar day, or portion thereof, that the worker is paid less than the wage 
rates stipulated in the “Prevailing Wage Schedule” or any supplement thereto. The contractor and each 
subcontractor shall keep, or cause to be kept, an accurate record showing the names and occupations 
of all workers employed in connection with the work, and showing the actual per diem wages paid to 
each worker, which records shall be open at all reasonable hours for the inspection by the County.

Within thirty-one (31) days of receipt of information concerning a violation of the Texas Government Code 
Chapter 2258, the County shall make an initial determination as to whether good cause exists to believe 
a violation occurred. The County ’s decision on the initial determination shall be reduced to writing and 
sent to the contractor or subcontractor against whom the violation was alleged, and to the affected 
worker. When a good cause finding is made, the County shall retain the full amounts claimed by the 
claimant or claimants as the difference between wages paid and wages due under the “Prevailing Wage 
Schedule” and any supplements thereto, together with the applicable penalties, such amounts being 
subtracted from successive progress payments pending a final decision on the violation.

After the County makes its initial determination, the affected contractor or subcontractor and worker have 
fourteen (14) calendar days in which to resolve the issue of whether a violation occurred, including the 
amount that should be retained by the County or paid to the affected worker. If the contractor or 
subcontractor and affected worker reach an agreement concerning the worker ’s claim, the contractor 
shall promptly notify the County in a written document signed by the worker. It the contractor or 

Subcontractor and affected worker do not agree before the fifteenth (15 th) calendar day after the County
determination, the contractor or subcontractor and affected worker must participate in binding arbitration 
in accordance with the Texas General Arbitration Act, Chapter 171, (Texas Civil Practice and Remedies 
Code). The parties to the arbitration have ten (10) calendar days after the expiration of the fifteen (15) 

calendar days referred to above, to agree on an arbitrator; if by the eleventh (11 th) calendar day there is 
no agreement to an arbitrator, a district court shall appoint an arbitrator on the petition of any of the 
parties to the arbitration.

If an arbitrator determines that a violation has occurred, the arbitrator shall assess and award against the 
contractor or subcontractor the amount of penalty as provided above and the amount owed the worker. 
The County may use any amounts retained hereunder to pay the worker the amount as designated in the 
arbitration award. If the County has not retained enough from the contractor or subcontractor to pay the 
worker in accordance with the arbitration award, the worker has a right of action against the contractor 
and subcontractor as appropriate, and the surety of either to receive the amount owed, attorneys ’  fees 
and court costs. The contractor shall promptly furnish a copy of the arbitration award to the County.

Money retained pursuant to the provisions above shall be used to pay the claimant or claimants the 
difference between the amount the worker received in wages for labor on the project at the rate paid by 
the contractor or subcontractor and the amount the worker would have received at the general prevailing 
wage rate as provided by the agreement of the claimant and the contractor or subcontractor affected, or 
in the arbitrator ’s award. The full statutory penalty of sixty dollars ($60.00) per calendar day of violation 
per worker shall be retained by Williamson County to offset its administrative costs, pursuant to Texas 
Government Code, Section, 2258.023. Any retained funds in excess of these amounts shall be paid to 
the contractor on the earlier of the next progress payment or final payment. Provided, however, that the 
County shall have no duty to release any funds to either the claimant or the contractor until it has 
received the notices of agreement or the arbitration award as provided under the provision herein-above.

4.43 CONFIDENTALITY

The Respondent expressly agrees that it will not use any direct or incidental confidential information that 
may be obtained while working in a governmental setting for its own benefit, and agrees that it will not 
access unauthorized areas or confidential information and it will not disclose any information to 
unauthorized third parties, and will take care to guard the security of the information at all times.

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 355



5

6

3 4

Williamson County – Request for Proposal (RFP)

SECTION 1 - DEFINITIONS 

Addendum/Addenda – means any written or graphic instruments issued by the County prior to the 
consideration of Proposals which modify or interpret the Proposal Documents by additions, deletions, 
clarifications, or corrections.

Agreement/Ensuing Agreement(s) – means the Successful Respondent may be required by the 
County to sign an additional Agreement containing terms necessary to ensure compliance with the RFP 
and the Respondent ’s Proposal.  Such Ensuing Agreement(s) shall contain the Proposal specifications, 
terms and conditions that are derived from the RFP.

Contract – means this RFP and the Proposal of the Successful Respondent shall become a Contract 
between the Successful Respondent and the County once the Successful Respondent ’s Proposal is 
properly accepted by the Williamson County Commissioners Court (sometimes referred to herein as the 
Commissioner ’s Court”).

Commissioner ’s Court – means the Williamson County Commissioners Court. 

County – means Williamson County, a political subdivision of the State of Texas.

Executive Summary – means the document submitted by Respondent that represents a concise 
summary of the contents of the Proposal. It does not include any information concerning costs. 

Proposal Documents – means the Legal Notice, RFP including attachments, and any Addenda issued 
by the County prior to the consideration of any Proposals.

Proposal – means the complete, properly signed document, and ALL required forms and documentation 
listed in the proposal package which have been submitted in accordance with this RFP package. A 
Proposal submitted in accordance with this RFP is irrevocable during the specified time period for 
evaluation and acceptance of Proposals, unless a waiver is obtained from the Williamson County 
Purchasing Agent.

Respondent – means a person or entity who submits a Proposal in response to this RFP.

Request for Proposals (RFP) – means this document, together with the attachments thereto and any 
future Addenda issued by the County.

Successful Respondent– means the responsible Respondent who, in the County ’s sole opinion, 
submits the Proposal which is in the best interest of the County, taking into account factors identified 
herein, and to whom the County intends to award the Contract.

SECTION 2 - RESPONSE FORMAT AND SUBMISSION

2.1 INTRODUCTION

Each Proposal submitted in response to this RFP should clearly reference the numbered sections of this 
RFP that require a response.  Failure to arrange the Proposal as requested may result in the 
disqualification of the Proposal.

Though there is not a page limit for Proposals, to save natural resources including paper, and to allow the 
County staff to efficiently evaluate all submitted Proposals, the County requests that Proposals be 
orderly, concise, but comprehensive in providing the requested information.  Conciseness and clarity of 
content are emphasized and encouraged.  If mailed or delivered in person, please limit additional, non
requested information.

Please provide your Proposal response using:

A. 8 ½” x 11” pages, inclusive of any cover letter or supporting materials.

B. The least amount of plastic/laminate or other non-recyclable binding materials.

C. Single-sided printing.

Vague and general Proposals will be considered non-responsive, and may, at the County ’s sole 
discretion, result in disqualification. Proposals must be legible and complete.  Failure to provide the 
required information may result in the disqualification of the Proposal. All pages of the Proposal should 
be numbered and the Proposal should contain an organized, paginated table of contents corresponding 
to the sections and pages of the Proposal.

2.2 ORGANIZATION OF PROPOSAL CONTENTS AND TABLE OF CONTENTS 

Each Proposal should be submitted with a table of contents that clearly identifies and denotes the 
location of all enclosures of the Proposal. The table of contents should follow the RFP ’s structure as 
much as is practical.

Each Proposal should be organized in the manner described below:

A. Transmittal Letter. Please see Section 2.3, Transmittal Letter, for more information. 

B. Table of Contents. 

C. Executive Summary. Please see Section 2.4, Executive Summary. 

D. Proposal Response to Criteria. (Please see the sections in this RFP package that list the 
Specifications & Cost Proposal, Experience and Qualifications, References, and Implementation 
Strategy to respond to our criteria in a clear and concise manner) 

E. Price Sheet. 

F. References: Identification of three (3) references within the last four (4) years, for which the 
Respondent is providing, or has provided, the goods and/or services (public sector) of the type 
requested in this RFP. Include the name, position/title, and telephone number of a contact person 
at each entity. 

G.  Conflict of Interest Questionnaire. 

H. Proposal Affidavit (Signature Page).

I. Attach your entities sample Contract, if applicable, for the County ’s review and consideration. This 
should include any additional terms or conditions. The County is not required to use the sample 
Contract submitted. 

2.3 TRANSMITTAL LETTER

The Respondent should submit a Transmittal Letter that provides the following information: 

A. Name and address of individual or business entity submitting the Proposal. 

B. Respondent ’s type of business entity (i.e., Corporation, General Partnership, Limited Partnership, 
LLC, etc.).  See Section 3.5, Signature of Respondent, for more information. 

C. Place of incorporation or organization, if applicable.

D. Name and location of major offices and other facilities that relate to the Respondent
performance under the terms of this RFP.

E. Name, physical address, email address, business and fax number of the Respondent ’s principal 
contact person regarding all contractual matters relating to this RFP.

F. The Respondent ’s Federal Employer Identification Number.

G. A commitment by the Respondent to provide the services required by the County;

H. A statement that the Proposal is valid for the time specified on page three (3), under the section 
named Prices Good for, of this Proposal packet. Any Proposal containing a term of less than the 
required amount, may at the County ’s sole discretion, be rejected as non-responsive.

I. If the Proposal being submitted will have an effect on air quality for the County (as it relates to any 
state, federal, or voluntary air quality standard), then the Respondent is encouraged to provide
information in narrative indicating the anticipated air quality impact. See Section 4.40, Air Quality 
for more information. 

The Transmittal Letter should be signed by a person legally authorized to bind the Respondent to the
representations in the Transmittal Letter and the Proposal.  In the case of a joint Proposal, each party 
must sign the Transmittal Letter.

2.4 EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

The Respondent should provide an Executive Summary of its Proposal that asserts that the Respondent 
is providing in its response all of the requirements of this RFP.  The Executive Summary should not 
include any information concerning the cost of the Proposal, but instead must represent a full and 
concise summary of the contents of the Proposal.  It is recommended the Executive Summary include 
the following information: 

A. Identify any goods and/or services that are provided beyond those specifically requested.  If the 
Respondent is providing services and/or goods that do not meet the specific requirements of this 
RFP, but in the opinion of the Respondent are equivalent or superior to those specifically 
requested, any such differences should be noted in the Executive Summary. However, the 
Respondent must realize that failure to provide the goods and/or services specifically required, at 
the County ’s sole discretion, may result in disqualification of the Proposal.

B. Indicate why the Respondent believes that it is the most qualified Respondent to provide the 
services described in this RFP.  The Successful Respondent must demonstrate extensive 
experience and understanding of the intent of this project.  The Respondent should describe in 
detail the current and historical experience the Respondent and its subcontractors have that 
would be relevant to completing the project.  References must contain the name of key personnel 
and telephone numbers for each contact, as described in Section 3.14, References.  

C. Briefly state why the Respondent believes its proposed goods and/or services best meet the 
County ’s needs and RFP requirements, and the Respondent also should concisely describe any 
additional features, aspects, or advantages of its goods and/or services in any relevant area not 
covered elsewhere in its Proposal.

2.5 CONFLICT OF INTEREST

No public official shall have interest in a contract, in accordance with Vernon ’s Texas Codes Annotated, 
Local Government Code, Title 5, Subtitle C, Chapter 171, as amended. 

As of January 1, 2006, all Respondents are responsible for complying with Local Government Code, Title 
5, Subtitle C, Chapter 176.  Additional information may be obtained from the County’s website at the 
following link: 

http://www.wilco.org/CountyDepartments/Purchasing/ConflictofInterestDisclosure/tabid/689/language/en
US/Default.aspx

Each Respondent must disclose any existing or potential conflict of interest relative to the performance of 
the requirements of this RFP.  Examples of potential conflicts of interest may include an existing 
business or personal relationship between the Respondent, its principal, or any affiliate or 
subcontractor with the County or any other entity or person involved in any way with the project 
that is subject to this RFP.  Similarly, any personal or business relationship between the Respondent, 
the principals, or any affiliate or subcontractor with any employee, or official of the County or its suppliers 
must be disclosed.  Any such relationship that might be perceived or represented as a conflict must be 
disclosed. Failure to disclose any such relationship or reveal personal relationships with the County 
employees or officials may be cause for termination. 

The County will decide if an actual or perceived conflict should result in Proposal disqualification. 

By submitting a Proposal in response to this RFP, all Respondents affirm they have not given, nor intend 
to give, at any time hereafter, any economic opportunity, future employment, gift, loan, gratuity, special 
discount, trip, favor, or service to a the County public servant or any employee, official or representative 
of same, in connection with this procurement. 

Each Respondent must provide a Conflict of Interest Statement with their Proposal Package.  

Package may be deemed incomplete without this form.  

2.6 CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PARTIES – FORM 1295

As of January 1, 2016, all Respondents are responsible for complying with the Texas Government Code, 
Section 2252.908.  The law states that the County may not enter into certain contracts with a 
Respondent unless the Respondent submits a disclosure of interested parties to the County at the time 
the Respondent submits the signed contract.  The law applies only to a contract of the County on or after 
January 1, 2016 that either:

A. Requires an action or vote by the Commissioners Court before the contract may be signed (all 
contracts that fall under the jurisdiction of the Commissioners Court approval, such as contracts 
resulting from an Initiation for Bid (IFB), RFP, Request for Qualifications (RFQ), etc., excluding, 
but not limited to, certain Juvenile Service contracts, contracts funded with Sheriff ’s seized fun 
monies, etc.); or

B. Has a value of at least $1,000,000. 

By January 1, 2016, the Texas Ethics Commission will make available on its website, a new filing 
application that must be used to file Form 1295.  Information regarding how to use the filing application is 
available on the Texas Ethics Commission website at the following link:

https://www.ethics.state.tx.us/whatsnew/elf_info_form1295.htm

A Respondent must:

A. Use the online application to process the required information on Form 1295.

B. Print a copy of the form which will contain a unique certification number.

C. An authorized agent of the Respondent must sign the printed copy of the form.

D. Have the form notarized.

E. File the completed Form 1295 and certification of filing (scanning and emailing form is sufficient) 
with Williamson County Purchasing Agent at the time the signed Contract is submitted for 
approval.

After the Commissioners Court award of the contract, the County shall notify the Texas Ethics 
Commission, using the Texas Ethics Commission ’s filing application, of the receipt of the filed Form 
1295 and certification of filing not later than the 30th day after the date the contract binds all parties to the 
contract. The Texas Ethics Commission will post the completed Form 1295 to its website within seven 
business days after receiving notice from the County.

2.7 PROPOSAL SUBMITTAL DEADLINE

The Proposal is due no later than the submittal date and time set forth in the Public Announcement and 
General Information listed in this RFP package.  Contents of each Proposal shall be submitted in 
accordance with this RFP.

2.8 ETHICS

The Respondent shall not accept or offer gifts or anything of value, nor enter into any business 
arrangement with any employee, official or agent of the County.

2.9 DELIVERY OF PROPOSALS

The County uses BidSync to distribute and receive bids and Proposals.  It is preferred that Proposals
be submitted electronically through BidSync; however, Respondents can submit a hard copy.  

Refer to www.bidsync.com for further information on how to submit electronically.

If mailed or delivered in person, Proposal and Proposal Addenda are to be delivered in sealed envelope
on or before the submittal deadline, as noted in the Public Announcement and General Information listed 
in this RFP package, to:

            Williamson County Purchasing Department
            Attn: Proposal Name and Number
            901 South Austin Avenue
            Georgetown, Texas 78626

Also, all Respondents should list their Name and Address, and the Date of the Proposal opening on the
outside of the box or envelope and note “Sealed Proposal Enclosed.” Williamson County will not accept 
any Proposals after the submittal deadline, and shall return such Proposals unopened to the 
Respondent.  The County will not accept any responsibility for Proposals being delivered by third party 
carriers. 

Proposals will be opened publicly; however, in a manner to avoid public disclosure of contents, only 
names of Respondents will be read aloud: no pricing will be announced at the opening. 

SECTION 3 - INSTRUCTIONS AND GENERAL REQUIREMENTS

3.1 INSTRUCTIONS

Read this document carefully, and follow all instructions and requirements.  All Respondents are 
responsible for fulfilling all requirements and specifications.  Be sure to have a clear understanding of this
RFP.

General requirements apply to all advertised RFPs; however, these may be superseded, in whole or in 
part, by the proposal specifications, Addenda and modifications issued as a part of this RFP.  Be sure 
your Proposal package is complete.

3.2 AMBIGUITY, CONFLICT, OR OTHER ERRORS IN THIS RFP

If a Respondent discovers any ambiguity, conflict, discrepancy, omission or other error in this RFP, the 
Respondent shall immediately notify the County Purchasing Department of such error in writing and
request modification or clarification of the document.

Modifications will be made by issuing Addenda. If the Respondent fails to notify the County prior to the
date and time fixed for submission of Proposals of an error or ambiguity in the RFP known to the
Respondent, or an error or ambiguity that reasonably should have been known to the Respondent, then 
the Respondent shall be deemed to have waived the error or ambiguity or its later resolution.

The County may also modify the RFP, no later than forty-eight (48) hours prior to the date and time fixed
for submission of Proposals, by issuance of an Addendum.  All Addenda will be numbered consecutively, 
beginning with one (1).

3.3 NOTIFICATION OF MOST CURRENT ADDRESS

All Respondents in receipt of this RFP shall notify the Williamson County Purchasing Department of any
address changes, contact person changes, and/or telephone number changes no later than forty-eight 
(48) hours prior to the date and time fixed for submission of Proposals.

3.4 SIGNATURE OF RESPONDENT

A Transmittal Letter, which shall be considered an integral part of the Proposal as stated in Section 2.3, 
Transmittal Letter, shall be signed by an individual who is authorized to bind the Respondent
contractually.

A. If the Respondent is a Corporation or Limited Liability Company, the legal name of the Corporation
or Limited Liability Company shall be provided together with the signature of the officer or officers 
authorized to sign on behalf of such entity.

B. If the Respondent is a General Partnership, the true name of the firm shall be provided with the
signature of each partner authorized to sign.

C. If the Respondent is a Limited Partnership, the name of the Limited Partner ’s General Partner
shall be provided with the signature of the officer authorized to sign on behalf of the General
Partner.

D. If the Respondent is a Sole Proprietor(s) (individual), each Sole Proprietor(s) shall sign.

E. If signature is by an agent, other than the Sole Proprietor(s) or an officer of a Corporation, Limited 
Liability Company, General Partner or a member of a General Partnership, a power of attorney
equivalent document must be submitted to the Williamson County Purchasing Department.

3.5 ASSUMED BUSINESS NAME

If the Respondent operates business under an Assumed Business Name, the Respondent must have
file with the Williamson County Clerk a current Assumed Name Certificate and provide a file marked copy 
of same prior to contract award.

3.6 ECONOMY OF PRESENTATION

Proposals should not contain promotional or display materials, except as they may directly answer in 
whole or in part questions contained in the RFP.  Such exhibits shall be clearly marked with the 
applicable reference number of the question in the RFP.  Proposals must address the technical 
requirements as specified in the RFP.  All questions posed by the RFP must be answered concisely and 
clearly. Proposals that do not address each criterion may be, at the sole discretion of the County, 
rejected and not considered.

3.7 PROPOSAL OBLIGATION 

The contents of the RFP, Proposal, and any clarification thereof submitted by the Successful
Respondent shall become part of the contractual obligation and incorporated by reference into the 
Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s).

3.8 COMPLIANCE WITH RFP SPECIFICATIONS

It is intended that this RFP describe the requirements and the Proposal format in sufficient detail to 
secure comparable Proposal.  Failure to comply with all provisions of the RFP may, at the sole discretion 
of the County, result in disqualification.

3.9 EVALUATION 

The County reserves the right to use all pertinent information (also learned from sources other than 
disclosed in the RFP process) that might affect the County ’s judgment as to the appropriateness of
award to the best evaluated Respondent. This information may be appended to the Proposal evaluation
process results. Information on a Respondent from reliable sources, and not within the Respondent
Proposal, may also be noted and made part of the evaluation fi le.  The County shall have sole 
discretion for determining the reliability of the source.  The County reserves the right to conduct written 
and/or oral discussions/interviews after the Proposal opening.  The purpose of such 
discussions/interviews is to provide clarification and/or additional information to make an award that is in 
the best interest of the County.

3.10 WITHDRAWAL OF PROPOSAL

The Respondent may withdraw its Proposal by submitting a written request with the company letterhead 
and the signature of an authorized individual, as described in Section 3.4, Signature of Respondent, to 
the Williamson County Purchasing Department any time prior to the submission deadline.  

The Respondent may submit a new Proposal prior to the deadline. Alterations of the Proposal in any 
manner will not be considered if submitted after the deadline.  Withdrawal of a Proposal after the deadline 
will be subject to written approval of the Williamson County Purchasing Agent.

3.11 RESPONSIBILITY 

It is expected that a Respondent will be able to affirmatively demonstrate responsibility.  A prospective
Respondent should be able to meet the following requirements:

A. Have adequate financial resources, or the ability to obtain such resources as required;
B. Be able to comply with the required or proposed delivery schedule;
C. Have a satisfactory record of performance that can be determined thru references provided; and 
D. Be otherwise qualified and eligible to receive an award.

The County may request representation and other information sufficient to determine the Respondent
ability to meet these minimum standards listed above.

3.12 PURCHASE ORDERS

If required by the Williamson County Purchasing Department, a purchase order(s) may be generated to 
the Successful Respondent for goods and/or services.  If a purchase order is issued, the purchase order 
number must appear on all itemized invoices and/or requests for payment.

3.13 SILENCE OF SPECIFICATIONS

The apparent silence of any RFP specifications as to any detail or to the apparent omission from it of a 
detailed description concerning any point, shall be regarded as meaning that only the best practices are 
to prevail.  All interpretations of these specifications shall be made on the basis of this statement.

3.14 REFERENCES

Respondents shall furnish a list of contracts where similar responsibilities and goods and/or services 
have been required and/or performed for the past five (5) years, to include names, titles, phone numbers 
and email addresses of reference contacts, contract numbers and dates of performance. 

Also, Respondents shall include a list of any contracts that have been cancelled or terminated within the 
last five (5) years, along with an explanation of the cancellation and the names, email address and phone 
number of a reference person with that institution. 

The County may contact some or all of the references in order to determine the Respondent
performance record on work similar to that described in this RFP.  The County reserves the right to 
contact references other than those provided in the response and to use the information gained from 
them in the evaluation process. 

References should be provided in accordance with this RFP.  Proposal may not be deemed complete 
without the inclusion of requested references.

SECTION 4 - TERMS AND CONDITIONS

4.1 VENUE AND GOVERNING LAW

The Respondent hereby agrees and acknowledges that venue and jurisdiction of any suit, right, or cause 
of action arising out of or in connection with this RFP, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s), shall 
lie exclusively in either Williamson County, Texas or in the Austin Division of the Western Federal District 
of Texas, and the parties hereto expressly consent and submit to such jurisdiction.  Furthermore, except 
to the extent that this RFP, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) is governed by the laws of the 
United States, this RFP, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be governed by and 
construed in accordance with the laws of the State of Texas, excluding, however, its choice of law rules.

4.2 INCORPORATION BY REFERENCE AND PRECEDENCE

A. The Contract shall be derived from the RFP and its Addenda (if applicable), and the Respondent
Proposal.  In the event of a dispute under the Contract, applicable documents will be referred to 
for the purpose of clarification or for additional detail in the following order of precedence:

1. The RFP and its Addenda (if applicable); and 

2. The Respondent ’s Proposal.

B. In the event the County requires that an Ensuing Agreement be executed following award and a 
dispute arises between the terms and conditions of the Ensuing Agreement, the RFP and its 
Addenda (if applicable), and the Respondent ’s Proposal, applicable documents will be referred to 
for the purpose of clarification or for additional detail in the following order of precedence: 

1. The terms and conditions of the Ensuing Agreement;

2. The RFP and its Addenda; and  

3. The Respondent ’s Proposal.

4.3 OWNERSHIP OF PROPOSAL

Each Proposal shall become the property of the County upon submittal and will not be returned to 
Respondents unless received after the submittal deadline.

4.4 DISQUALIFICATION OF RESPONDENT

Upon signing and submittal of the Proposal, a Respondent offering to sell supplies, materials, services, 
or equipment to the County, certifies that the Respondent has not violated the antitrust laws of the State 
of Texas codified in Business & Commerce Code, Section 15.01, or the Federal Antitrust Laws, and has 
not communicated directly or indirectly the offer made to any competitor or any other person engaged
such line of business.  Any or all Proposals may be rejected if the County believes that collusion exists 
among the Respondents.

4.5 FUNDING

The County intends to budget and make sufficient funds available and authorize funds for expenditure to 
finance the costs of the Contract.  All Respondents understand and agree that the County’s payment of 
amounts under the Contract shall be contingent on the County receiving appropriations or other 
expenditure authority sufficient to allow the County, in the exercise of reasonable administrative 
discretion, to make payments under this Contract.

4.6 ASSIGNMENT, SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS 

The Successful Respondent may not assign, sell, or otherwise transfer the Contract or any other rights 
or interests obtained under the Contract without written permission of the Williamson County the 
Commissioners Court.  The Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be binding upon and inure to 
the benefit of the contracting parties hereto and their respective successors and permitted assigns.

4.7 IMPLIED REQUIREMENTS

Products or services not specifically described or required in the RFP, but are necessary to provide the 
functional capabilities described by the Respondent, shall be implied and deemed to be included in the
Proposal.

4.8 TERMINATION

A. Termination for Cause: The County reserves the right to terminate the Contract and/or any 
Ensuing Agreement(s) for default if the Successful Respondent breaches any of the Proposal
specifications, terms and conditions, including warranties of the Respondent, if any, or if the 
Successful Respondent becomes insolvent or commits acts of bankruptcy.  Such right of 
termination is in addition to and not in lieu of any other remedies the County may have at law or
equity or as may otherwise be provided hereunder.  Default may be construed as, but not limited 
to, failure to deliver the proper goods and/or services within the proper amount of time, and/or to 
properly perform any and all other requirements to the County ’s satisfaction, and/or to meet all 
other obligations and requirements.

B. Termination for Convenience: The County may terminate the Contract and/or any Ensuing 
Agreement(s) for convenience and without cause or further liability, upon no less than thirty (30) 
calendar days written notice to the Successful Respondent. The County reserves the right to 
extend this period if it is in the best interest of the County.  In the event the County exercises its 
right to terminate without cause, it is understood and agreed that only the amounts due to the 
Successful Respondent for goods, commodities and/or services provided and expenses incurred 
to and including the date of termination, will be due and payable.  No penalty will be assessed for 
the County ’s termination for convenience.

4.9 NON-PERFORMANCE

It is the objective of the County to obtain complete and satisfactory performance of the requirements set 
forth herein.  In addition to any other remedies available at law, in equity or that may be set out herein, 
failure to perform may result in a deduction of payment equal to the amount of the goods and/or services 
that were not provided and/or performed to the County ’s satisfaction.  

In the event of such non-performance, the County shall have the right, but shall not be obligated, to 
complete the services itself or by others and/or purchase the goods from other sources.  If the County 
elects to acquire the goods or perform the services itself or by others, pursuant to the foregoing, the 
Successful Respondent shall reimburse the County, within ten (10) calendar days of demand, for all 
costs incurred by the County (including, without limitation, applicable, general, and administrative 
expenses, and field overhead, and the cost of necessary equipment, materials, and field labor) in 
correcting the nonperformance which the Successful Respondent fails to meet pursuant to the 
requirements set out herein.  In the event the Successful Respondent refuses to reimburse the County 
as set out in this provision, the County shall have the right to deduct such reimbursement amounts from 
any amounts that may be then owing or that may become owing in the future to the Successful
Respondent.

4.10 PROPRIETARY INFORMATION AND THE TEXAS PUBLIC INFORMATION ACT

All material submitted to the County shall become public property and subject to the Texas Public 
Information Act upon receipt. If a Respondent does not desire proprietary information in the Proposal to 
be disclosed, each page must be clearly identified and marked proprietary at time of submittal or, more 
preferably, all proprietary information may be placed in a folder or appendix and be clearly identified and 
marked as being proprietary.  Failure to clearly identify and mark information as being proprietary as set 
forth under this provision will result in all unmarked information being deemed non-proprietary and 
available to the public.  For all information that has not been clearly identified and marked as proprietary 
by the Respondent, the County may choose to place such information on the County ’s website and/or a 
similar public database without obtaining any type of prior consent from the Respondent.

The County will, to the extent allowed by law, endeavor to protect from public disclosure the information 
that has been identified and marked as proprietary.  The final decision as to what information must be 
disclosed, however, lies with the Texas Attorney General.  

To the extent, if any, that any provision in this RFP or in the Respondent ’s Proposal is in conflict with 
Texas Government Code, Chapter 552, as amended (the “Public Information Act”), the same shall be of 
no force or effect.  Furthermore, it is expressly understood, and agreed, that the County, and its officers 
and employees, may request advice, decisions and opinions of the Attorney General of the State of
Texas in regard to the application of the Public Information Act to any items or data furnished to the 
County as to whether or not the same are available to the public.  It is further understood that that the 
County, and its officers and employees, shall have the right to rely on the advice, decisions and opinions 
of the Attorney General, and that the County, its officers and employees shall have no liability or obligation 
to any party hereto for the disclosure to the public, or to any person or persons, of any items or data 
furnished to the County by a party hereto, in reliance of any advice, decision or opinion of the Attorney 
General of the State of Texas.

4.11 RIGHT TO AUDIT

The Successful Respondent agrees that the County or its duly authorized representatives shall, until the 
expiration of three (3) years after termination or expiration of the services to be performed, have access 
to and the right to examine and photocopy any and all books, documents, papers and records of the 
Successful Respondent, which are directly pertinent to the services to be performed or goods to
delivered for the purposes of making audits, examinations, excerpts and transcriptions.  The Successful 
Respondent agrees that the County shall have access during normal working hours to all necessary 
facilities and shall be provided adequate and appropriate work space in order to conduct audits in 
compliance with the provisions of this section.  The County shall give the Successful Respondent 
reasonable advance notice of intended audits.

4.12 TESTING AND INSPECTIONS

The County reserves the right to inspect and test equipment, supplies, materials and goods for quality 
and compliance with this RFP, and ability to meet the needs of the user.  Demonstration units must be 
available for review.  Should the goods or services fail to meet requirements and/or be unavailable for 
evaluation, the County can deem the Respondent to be in breach and terminate the Contract and/or any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

4.13 PROPOSAL PREPARATION COSTS

The cost of developing Proposals is the sole responsibility of the Respondents and shall not be charged 
to the County.  There is no expressed or implied obligation for the County to reimburse the Respondents 
for any expense incurred in preparing a Proposal in response to this RFP and the County will not 
reimburse the Respondents for such expenses.

4.14 INDEMNIFICATION

The Successful Respondent shall indemnify, defend and save harmless, the County, its officials, 
employees, agents and agent ’s employees from, and against, all claims, liability, and expenses including 
reasonable attorneys ’ fees, arising from activities of the Respondent, its agents, servants or employees, 
performed hereunder that result from the negligent act, error, or omission of the Respondent or any of 
the Respondent ’s agents, servants or employees, as well as all claims of loss or damage to the 
Respondent ’s and the County ’s property, equipment, and/or supplies. 

Furthermore, the County, its officials, employees, agents and agents ’ employees shall not be liable for 
damages to the Successful Respondent arising from any act of any third party, including, but not limited 
to, theft.  The Successful Respondent further agrees to indemnify, defend and save harmless, the 
County from its officials, employee, agents and agents ’ employees against all claims of whatever nature 
arising from any accident, injury, or damage whatsoever, caused to any person, or the property of any 
person, occurring in relation to the Successful Respondent ’s performance of any services requested 
hereunder during the term of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s). 

The Successful Respondent shall timely report all claims, demands, suits, actions, proceedings, liens or 
judgements to the County and shall, upon the receipt of any claim, demand, suit, action, proceeding, lien 

or judgement, not later than the fifteenth (15 th) day of each month; provide the County with a written 
report on each such matter, setting forth the status of each matter, the schedule or planned proceedings 
with respect to each matter and the cooperation or assistance, if any, of the County required by the 
Successful Respondent in the defense of each matter.  The Successful Respondent’s duty to defend, 
indemnify and hold the County harmless shall be absolute.  It shall not abate or end by reason of the 
expiration or termination of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s), unless otherwise agreed by 
the County in writing.  The provisions of this section shall survive the termination of the Contract and shall 
remain in full force and effect with respect to all such matters no matter when they arise. 

In the event of any dispute between the parties, as to whether a claim, demand, suit, action, proceeding, 
lien or judgement, that appears to have been caused by or appears to have arisen out of or in connection 
with acts or omissions of the County, the Respondent shall nevertheless fully defend such claim, 
demand, suit or action, proceeding, lien or judgement, until and unless there is  a determination by a 
court of competent jurisdiction that the acts and omissions of the Respondent are not an issue in the 
matter. 

The Successful Respondent ’s indemnification shall cover, and the Successful Respondent agrees to, 
indemnify the County, in the event the County is found to have been negligent for having selected the 
Successful Respondent to perform the work described in this request.  The provision by the Successful 
Respondent of insurance shall not limit the liability of the Successful Respondent under the Contract 
and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s). 

4.15 WAIVER OF SUBROGATION

The Successful Respondent and the Successful Respondent ’s insurance carrier waive any and all rights 
whatsoever with regard to subrogation against the County as an indirect party to any suit arising out of 
personal or property damages resulting from the Respondent ’s performance under this Contract and any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

4.16 RELATIONSHIP OF THE PARTIES

The Successful Respondent shall be an independent contractor and shall assume all of the rights, 
obligations, liabilities, applicable to it as such independent contractor hereunder and any provisions 
herein which may appear to give the County the right to direct the Successful Respondent as to details of 
doing work herein covered, or to exercise a measure of control over the work, shall be deemed to mean 
that the Successful Respondent shall follow the desires of the County in the results of the work only.  The 
County shall not retain or have the right to control the Successful Respondent ’s means, methods or 
details pertaining to the Successful Respondent ’s performance of the work.  The County and the 
Successful Respondent hereby agree and declare that the Successful Respondent is an independent 
contractor and as such meets the qualifications of an “Independent Contractor” under Texas Workers 
Compensation Act, Texas Labor Code, Section 406.141, that the Successful Respondent is not an 
employee of  the County, and that the Successful Respondent and its employees, agents and 
subcontractors shall not be entitled to workers compensation coverage or any other type of insurance 
coverage held by the County.

4.17 SOLE PROVIDER

The Successful Respondent agrees and acknowledges that it shall not be considered a sole provider of 
the goods and/or services described herein and that the County may contract with other providers of 
such goods and/or services if the County deems, at its sole discretion, that multiple providers of the 
same goods and/or services will serve the best interest of the County.

4.18 FORCE MAJEURE

If the party obligated to perform is prevented from performance by an act of war, order of legal authority, 
act of God, or other unavoidable cause not attributable to the fault or negligence of said party, the other 
party shall grant such party relief from the performance.  The burden of proof for the need of such relief 
shall rest upon the party obligated to perform.  To obtain release based on force majeure, the party 
obligated to perform shall file a written request with the other party.

4.19 SEVERABILITY

If any provision of this RFP, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be held invalid or 
unenforceable by any court of competent jurisdiction, such holding shall not invalidate or render 
unenforceable any other provision thereof, but rather the entire RFP, Contract or any Ensuing Agreement
(s) will be construed as if not containing the particular invalid or unenforceable provision or provisions, 
and the rights and obligation of the parties shall be construed and enforced in accordance therewith.  The 
parties acknowledge that if any provision of this RFP, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) is 
determined to be invalid or unenforceable, it is the desire and intention of each that such provision be 
reformed and construed in such a manner that it will, to the maximum extent practicable, give effect to
the intent of this RFP, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) and be deemed to be validated and
enforceable.

4.20 EQUAL OPPORTUNITY

Neither party shall discriminate against any employee or applicant for employment because of race, 
color, sex, religion or national origin.

4.21 NOTICE

Any notice to be given shall be in writing and may be distributed by personal delivery, or by registered or 
certified mail, return receipt requested, addressed to the proper party, at the following address:

The County:    Williamson County Purchasing Department 
            Attn: Purchasing Agent 
            901 South Austin Avenue 
            Georgetown, Texas 78626

The Respondent: Address set out in Respondent ’s Transmittal Letter

Notices given in accordance with this provision shall be effective upon (1) receipt by the party to which 
notice is given, or (2) on the third (3rd) calendar day following mailing, whichever occurs first.

4.22 SALES AND USE TAX EXEMPTION

The County is a body, corporate and politic, under the laws of the State of Texas and claims exemption 
from sales and use taxes under Texas Tax Code, Section 151.309, as amended, and the services and/or 
goods subject hereof are being secured for use by the County.

4.23 COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS

The County and the Successful Respondent shall comply with all federal, state, and local laws, statutes,
ordinances, rules and regulations, and the orders and decrees of any courts or administrative bodies or 
tribunals in any matter affecting the performance of the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s),
including, without limitation, Workers ’ Compensation laws, salary and wage statutes and regulations, 
licensing laws and regulations.  When required, the Successful Respondent shall furnish the County with 
certification of compliance with said laws, statues, ordinances, rules, regulations, orders, and decrees 
above specified.

4.24 INCORPORATION OF EXHIBITS, APPENDICES AND ATTACHMENTS

All of the Exhibits, Appendices and Attachments referred to herein are incorporated by reference as if set 
forth verbatim herein.  Any conflicting terms in the Contract documents will be resolved at the sole 
discretion of the Commissioners Court.

4.25 NO WAIVER OF IMMUNITIES

Nothing herein shall be deemed to waive, modify or amend any legal defense available at law or in equity 
to the County, its past or present officers, employees, or agents, nor to create any legal rights or claim on 
behalf of any third party.  The County does not waive, modify, or alter to any extent whatsoever the 
availability of the defense of governmental immunity under the laws of the State of Texas and of the 
United States.

4.26 NO WAIVER

The failure or delay of any party to enforce at any time or any period of time any of the provisions of this 
RFP, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall not constitute a present or future waiver of such 
provisions nor the right of either party to enforce each and every provision.  Furthermore, no term or 
provision hereof shall be deemed waived and no breach excused unless such waiver or consent shall be 
in writing and signed by the party claimed to have waived or consented.  Any consent by any party to, or 
waiver of, a breach by the other, whether expressed or implied, shall not constitute a consent to, waiver 
of or excuse for any other, different or subsequent breach.

4.27 CURRENT REVENUES

The obligations of the parties under the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) do not constitute a 
general obligation or indebtedness of the County for which the County is obligated to levy, pledge, or 
collect any of taxation.  It is understood and agreed that the County shall have the right to terminate the 
Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) at the end of any the County fiscal year if the governing body of 
the County does not appropriate sufficient funds as determined by the County ’s budget for the fiscal year 
in question.  The County may effect such termination by giving written notice of termination to the 
Successful Respondent at the end of its then-current fiscal year.

4.28 BINDING EFFECT

This Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties 
and their respective permitted assigns and successors.

4.29 ASSIGNMENT

The Successful Respondent ’s interest and duties hereunder may not be assigned or delegated to a third 
party without the express written consent of the County.

4.30 SAFETY

The Successful Respondent is responsible for initiating, maintaining, and supervising all safety 
precautions and programs in connection with any services to be provided hereunder. The safety program 
shall comply with all applicable requirements of the current federal Occupational Safety and Health Act 
and all other applicable federal, state and local laws and regulations.

4.31 GENERAL OBLIGATIONS AND RELIANCE

The Successful Respondent shall perform all services and/or provide all goods, as well as those
reasonably inferable and necessary for completion and provision of services and/or goods required
hereunder. The Successful Respondent shall keep the County informed of the progress and quality
the services.  The Successful Respondent agrees and acknowledges that the County is relying on the 
Successful Respondent's represented expertise and ability to provide the goods and/or services 
described herein.  The Successful Respondent agrees to use its best efforts, skill, judgment, and abilities
to perform its obligations in accordance with the highest standards used in the profession and to further 
the interests of the County in accordance with the County ’s requirements and procedures.  The 
Successful Respondent ’s duties, as set forth herein, shall at no time be in any way diminished by reason
of any approval by the County, nor shall the Successful Respondent be released from any liability
reason of such approval by the County, it being understood that the County at all times is ultimately 
relying upon the Successful Respondent ’s skill and knowledge in performing the services and providing 
any goods required hereunder.

4.32 CONTRACTUAL DEVELOPMENT

The Commissioners Court may award the Contract on the basis of the initial Proposals received, without
any further or additional discussions.  Therefore, each initial Proposal should contain the Respondent
best terms and offer.  The contents of the RFP and the selected Proposal will become an integral part of 
the Contract, but may be modified, at Williamson County ’s sole discretion, by provisions of an Ensuing 
Agreement.  Therefore, the Respondent must agree to inclusion in an Ensuing Agreement of the 
Proposal specifications, terms and conditions of this RFP.  Williamson County may, at its discretion, opt 
to conduct further discussions with responsible offerors and request the highest ranked firm ’s Best and 
Final Offer (BAFO).

4.33 ENTIRE AGREEMENT

The Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall supersede all prior Agreements, written or oral 
between the Successful Respondent and the County and shall constitute the entire Agreement and 
understanding between the parties with respect to the services and/or goods to be provided.  Each of the 
provisions herein shall be binding upon the parties and may not be waived, modified, amended or altered, 
except by writing signed by the Successful Respondent and the County.

4.34 SURVIVABILITY 

All applicable agreements that were entered into between the Successful Respondent and the County, 
under the terms and conditions of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s), shall survive the 
expiration or termination thereof for ninety (90) days unless a new contract has been awarded.

The County may exercise, by written notice to the Successful Respondent no later than ten (10) calendar 
days of the Contract expiration, this clause for emergency cases only. 

4.35 PAYMENT

The County ’s payment for goods and services shall be governed by the Texas Government Code, 

Chapter 2251.  An invoice shall be deemed overdue the thirty-first (31st) day after the later of the 
following: 

A. The date the County receives the goods under the Contract; 
B. The date the performance of the service under the Contract is completed; or 
C. The date the Williamson County Auditor receives an invoice for the goods or services.  

Interest charges for any overdue payments shall be paid by the County in accordance with Texas 
Government Code, Section 2251.025.  More specifically, the rate of interest that shall accrue on a late 
payment is the rate in effect on September 1 of the County ’s fiscal year in which the payment becomes 
due.  The said rate in effect on September 1 shall be equal to the sum of one (1) percent and the prime 

rate published in the Wall Street Journal on the first (1st) day of July of the preceding fiscal year that does 
not fall on a Saturday or Sunday.

In the event that an error appears in an invoice submitted by the Successful Respondent, the County 
shall notify the Successful Respondent of the error not later than the twenty-first (21st) day after the date 
the County receives the invoice.  If the error is resolved in favor of the Successful Respondent, the 
Successful Respondent shall be entitled to receive interest on the unpaid balance of the invoice 
submitted by the Successful Respondent beginning on the date that the payment for the invoice became 
overdue.  If the error is resolved in favor of the County, the Successful Respondent shall submit a 
corrected invoice that must be paid in accordance within the time set forth above.  The unpaid balance 
accrues interest as provided by the Texas Government Code, Chapter 2251, if the corrected invoice is 
not paid by the appropriate date.

As a minimum, invoices shall include:

A. Name, address, and telephone number of the Successful Respondent and similar information in 
the event the payment is to be made to a different address. 

B. The County Contract, Purchase Order. 

C. Identification of items or service as outlined in the Contract.

D. Quantity or quantities, applicable unit prices, total prices and total amount.

E. Any additional payment information which may be called for by the Contract.

Payment inquiries should be directed to the following address:        

            Williamson County Auditor’s Office, Accounts Payable Department
            Email: accountspayable@wilco.org
            Phone: 512-943-1500

4.36 CONTRACTUAL FORMATION AND ENSUING AGREEMENT

The RFP and the Respondent ’s Proposal, when properly accepted by the Commissioners Court, shall 
constitute a Contract equally binding between the Successful Respondent and the County.  The 
Successful Respondent may be required by Williamson County to sign an additional Agreement 
containing terms necessary to ensure compliance with the RFP and Respondent ’s Proposal.

4.37 LEGAL LIABILITY INFORMATION

The Successful Respondent shall disclose all legal liability information by listing any pending litigation
anticipated litigation that your firm is involved in including, but not limited to, potential or actual legal
matters with private parties and any local, state, federal or international governmental entities. The
County reserves the right to consider legal liability information in the recommendation of any proposed 
contract to the Commissioners Court.

4.38 CONFIDENTIALITY

Respondent expressly agrees that it will not use any direct or incidental confidential information that may
be obtained while working in a governmental setting for its own benefit, and agrees that it will not access
unauthorized areas or confidential information and it will not disclose any information to unauthorized
third parties, and will take care to guard the security of the information at all times.

4.39 INCLEMENT WEATHER

In case of inclement weather or any other unforeseen event causing the County to close for business on 
the date of a Proposal submission deadline, the Proposal closing will automatically be postponed until the 
next business day the County is open.  If inclement weather conditions or any other unforeseen event 
causes delays in carrier service operations, the County may issue an Addendum to all known 
Respondents interested in the project to extend the deadline.  It will be the responsibility of the 
Respondent to notify the County of their interest in the project if these conditions are impacting their 
ability to turn in a submission within the stated deadline.  The County reserves the right to make the final 
judgement call to extend any deadline. 

4.40 AIR QUALITY

In determining the overall best Proposal, the County may, to the extent applicable, exercise the option 
granted to local governments under the Texas Local Government Code, Section 271.907.

This option allows the County to evaluate Proposals and give preference to goods and/or services of
Respondent that demonstrates that the Respondent meets or exceeds any and all state or federal 
environmental standards, including voluntary standards, relating to air quality.  If the Proposal being 
submitted will have an effect on air quality for the County (as it relates to any state, federal, or voluntary 
air quality standard), then the Respondent is encouraged to provide information in narrative indicating the 
anticipated air quality impact.  All Respondents are expected to meet all mandated state and federal air 
quality standards.

4.41 COOPERATIVE PURCHASING PROGRAM 

During the term of the Contract resulting from this RFP, the County would like to afford the same prices, 
terms and conditions to other political subdivisions or public entities.  Another entity’s participation in the 
Contract resulting from this RFP is subject to a properly authorized Purchasing Cooperative Inter- local 
Agreement (ILA) with the County.  Any liability created by purchase orders issued against the Contract 
shall be the sole responsibility of the governmental agency placing the order.

4.42 PREVAILING WAGE RATES

To the extent this procurement is for the construction of a public work, including a building, highway, 
road, excavation, and repair work or other project development or improvement, paid for in whole or in 
part from public funds, without regard to whether the work is done under public supervision or direction, 
Texas Government Code, Chapter 2258, shall apply and the contractor shall pay not less than the wage 
scale of the various classes of labor as shown on the “Prevailing Wage Schedule” provided by the 
County. Pursuant to Texas Government Code, Section 2258.022(a)(2), the County has determined the 
general prevailing rate of the “Prevailing Wage Schedule”  in the locality in which the public work is to be 
performed for each craft or type of worker needed to execute the contract and the prevailing rate for legal 
holiday and overtime work by using the prevailing wage rate as determined by the United States 
Department of Labor in accordance with the United States Code, Section 276a (Davis-Bacon Act). 

The specified wage rates are minimum rates only, and are not representations that qualified labor 
adequate to perform the work is available locally at the prevailing wage rates. The County is not bound to 
pay—and will not consider—any claims for additional compensation made by any contractor because the 
contractor pays wages in excess of the applicable minimum rate contained in the Contract Documents. 
The “Prevailing Wage Schedule”  is not a representation that quantities of qualified labor adequate to 
perform the work may be found locally at the specified wage rates.

For classifications not shown, workers shall not be paid less than the wage indicated for laborers. The 
contractor shall notify each worker commencing work on the project the worker ’s job classification and 
the established minimum wage rate required to be paid, as well as the actual amount being paid. The 
notice must be delivered to and signed in acknowledgement of receipt by the employee and must list 
both the monetary wages and fringe benefits to be paid or furnished for each classification in which the 
worker is assigned duties. When requested by the County, competent evidence of compliance with the 
Texas Prevailing Wage Law shall be furnished by contractor. A copy of each worker wage rate 
notification shall be submitted to the County with the Application for Payment for the period during which 
the worker began on-site activities.

Should the contractor at any time become aware that a particular skill or trade not reflected on the 
County ’s “Prevailing Wage Schedule” will be or is being employed in the work, whether by the contractor 
or by a subcontractor, the contractor shall promptly inform the County and shall specify a wage rate for 
that skill or trade, which shall bind the contractor.

The contractor and any subcontractor shall pay to the County a penalty of sixty dollars ($60.00) for each 
worker employed for each calendar day, or portion thereof, that the worker is paid less than the wage 
rates stipulated in the “Prevailing Wage Schedule” or any supplement thereto. The contractor and each 
subcontractor shall keep, or cause to be kept, an accurate record showing the names and occupations 
of all workers employed in connection with the work, and showing the actual per diem wages paid to 
each worker, which records shall be open at all reasonable hours for the inspection by the County.

Within thirty-one (31) days of receipt of information concerning a violation of the Texas Government Code 
Chapter 2258, the County shall make an initial determination as to whether good cause exists to believe 
a violation occurred. The County ’s decision on the initial determination shall be reduced to writing and 
sent to the contractor or subcontractor against whom the violation was alleged, and to the affected 
worker. When a good cause finding is made, the County shall retain the full amounts claimed by the 
claimant or claimants as the difference between wages paid and wages due under the “Prevailing Wage 
Schedule” and any supplements thereto, together with the applicable penalties, such amounts being 
subtracted from successive progress payments pending a final decision on the violation.

After the County makes its initial determination, the affected contractor or subcontractor and worker have 
fourteen (14) calendar days in which to resolve the issue of whether a violation occurred, including the 
amount that should be retained by the County or paid to the affected worker. If the contractor or 
subcontractor and affected worker reach an agreement concerning the worker ’s claim, the contractor 
shall promptly notify the County in a written document signed by the worker. It the contractor or 

Subcontractor and affected worker do not agree before the fifteenth (15 th) calendar day after the County
determination, the contractor or subcontractor and affected worker must participate in binding arbitration 
in accordance with the Texas General Arbitration Act, Chapter 171, (Texas Civil Practice and Remedies 
Code). The parties to the arbitration have ten (10) calendar days after the expiration of the fifteen (15) 

calendar days referred to above, to agree on an arbitrator; if by the eleventh (11 th) calendar day there is 
no agreement to an arbitrator, a district court shall appoint an arbitrator on the petition of any of the 
parties to the arbitration.

If an arbitrator determines that a violation has occurred, the arbitrator shall assess and award against the 
contractor or subcontractor the amount of penalty as provided above and the amount owed the worker. 
The County may use any amounts retained hereunder to pay the worker the amount as designated in the 
arbitration award. If the County has not retained enough from the contractor or subcontractor to pay the 
worker in accordance with the arbitration award, the worker has a right of action against the contractor 
and subcontractor as appropriate, and the surety of either to receive the amount owed, attorneys ’  fees 
and court costs. The contractor shall promptly furnish a copy of the arbitration award to the County.

Money retained pursuant to the provisions above shall be used to pay the claimant or claimants the 
difference between the amount the worker received in wages for labor on the project at the rate paid by 
the contractor or subcontractor and the amount the worker would have received at the general prevailing 
wage rate as provided by the agreement of the claimant and the contractor or subcontractor affected, or 
in the arbitrator ’s award. The full statutory penalty of sixty dollars ($60.00) per calendar day of violation 
per worker shall be retained by Williamson County to offset its administrative costs, pursuant to Texas 
Government Code, Section, 2258.023. Any retained funds in excess of these amounts shall be paid to 
the contractor on the earlier of the next progress payment or final payment. Provided, however, that the 
County shall have no duty to release any funds to either the claimant or the contractor until it has 
received the notices of agreement or the arbitration award as provided under the provision herein-above.

4.43 CONFIDENTALITY

The Respondent expressly agrees that it will not use any direct or incidental confidential information that 
may be obtained while working in a governmental setting for its own benefit, and agrees that it will not 
access unauthorized areas or confidential information and it will not disclose any information to 
unauthorized third parties, and will take care to guard the security of the information at all times.

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 356



5

6

3 4

Williamson County – Request for Proposal (RFP)

SECTION 1 - DEFINITIONS 

Addendum/Addenda – means any written or graphic instruments issued by the County prior to the 
consideration of Proposals which modify or interpret the Proposal Documents by additions, deletions, 
clarifications, or corrections.

Agreement/Ensuing Agreement(s) – means the Successful Respondent may be required by the 
County to sign an additional Agreement containing terms necessary to ensure compliance with the RFP 
and the Respondent ’s Proposal.  Such Ensuing Agreement(s) shall contain the Proposal specifications, 
terms and conditions that are derived from the RFP.

Contract – means this RFP and the Proposal of the Successful Respondent shall become a Contract 
between the Successful Respondent and the County once the Successful Respondent ’s Proposal is 
properly accepted by the Williamson County Commissioners Court (sometimes referred to herein as the 
Commissioner ’s Court”).

Commissioner ’s Court – means the Williamson County Commissioners Court. 

County – means Williamson County, a political subdivision of the State of Texas.

Executive Summary – means the document submitted by Respondent that represents a concise 
summary of the contents of the Proposal. It does not include any information concerning costs. 

Proposal Documents – means the Legal Notice, RFP including attachments, and any Addenda issued 
by the County prior to the consideration of any Proposals.

Proposal – means the complete, properly signed document, and ALL required forms and documentation 
listed in the proposal package which have been submitted in accordance with this RFP package. A 
Proposal submitted in accordance with this RFP is irrevocable during the specified time period for 
evaluation and acceptance of Proposals, unless a waiver is obtained from the Williamson County 
Purchasing Agent.

Respondent – means a person or entity who submits a Proposal in response to this RFP.

Request for Proposals (RFP) – means this document, together with the attachments thereto and any 
future Addenda issued by the County.

Successful Respondent– means the responsible Respondent who, in the County ’s sole opinion, 
submits the Proposal which is in the best interest of the County, taking into account factors identified 
herein, and to whom the County intends to award the Contract.

SECTION 2 - RESPONSE FORMAT AND SUBMISSION

2.1 INTRODUCTION

Each Proposal submitted in response to this RFP should clearly reference the numbered sections of this 
RFP that require a response.  Failure to arrange the Proposal as requested may result in the 
disqualification of the Proposal.

Though there is not a page limit for Proposals, to save natural resources including paper, and to allow the 
County staff to efficiently evaluate all submitted Proposals, the County requests that Proposals be 
orderly, concise, but comprehensive in providing the requested information.  Conciseness and clarity of 
content are emphasized and encouraged.  If mailed or delivered in person, please limit additional, non
requested information.

Please provide your Proposal response using:

A. 8 ½” x 11” pages, inclusive of any cover letter or supporting materials.

B. The least amount of plastic/laminate or other non-recyclable binding materials.

C. Single-sided printing.

Vague and general Proposals will be considered non-responsive, and may, at the County ’s sole 
discretion, result in disqualification. Proposals must be legible and complete.  Failure to provide the 
required information may result in the disqualification of the Proposal. All pages of the Proposal should 
be numbered and the Proposal should contain an organized, paginated table of contents corresponding 
to the sections and pages of the Proposal.

2.2 ORGANIZATION OF PROPOSAL CONTENTS AND TABLE OF CONTENTS 

Each Proposal should be submitted with a table of contents that clearly identifies and denotes the 
location of all enclosures of the Proposal. The table of contents should follow the RFP ’s structure as 
much as is practical.

Each Proposal should be organized in the manner described below:

A. Transmittal Letter. Please see Section 2.3, Transmittal Letter, for more information. 

B. Table of Contents. 

C. Executive Summary. Please see Section 2.4, Executive Summary. 

D. Proposal Response to Criteria. (Please see the sections in this RFP package that list the 
Specifications & Cost Proposal, Experience and Qualifications, References, and Implementation 
Strategy to respond to our criteria in a clear and concise manner) 

E. Price Sheet. 

F. References: Identification of three (3) references within the last four (4) years, for which the 
Respondent is providing, or has provided, the goods and/or services (public sector) of the type 
requested in this RFP. Include the name, position/title, and telephone number of a contact person 
at each entity. 

G.  Conflict of Interest Questionnaire. 

H. Proposal Affidavit (Signature Page).

I. Attach your entities sample Contract, if applicable, for the County ’s review and consideration. This 
should include any additional terms or conditions. The County is not required to use the sample 
Contract submitted. 

2.3 TRANSMITTAL LETTER

The Respondent should submit a Transmittal Letter that provides the following information: 

A. Name and address of individual or business entity submitting the Proposal. 

B. Respondent ’s type of business entity (i.e., Corporation, General Partnership, Limited Partnership, 
LLC, etc.).  See Section 3.5, Signature of Respondent, for more information. 

C. Place of incorporation or organization, if applicable.

D. Name and location of major offices and other facilities that relate to the Respondent
performance under the terms of this RFP.

E. Name, physical address, email address, business and fax number of the Respondent ’s principal 
contact person regarding all contractual matters relating to this RFP.

F. The Respondent ’s Federal Employer Identification Number.

G. A commitment by the Respondent to provide the services required by the County;

H. A statement that the Proposal is valid for the time specified on page three (3), under the section 
named Prices Good for, of this Proposal packet. Any Proposal containing a term of less than the 
required amount, may at the County ’s sole discretion, be rejected as non-responsive.

I. If the Proposal being submitted will have an effect on air quality for the County (as it relates to any 
state, federal, or voluntary air quality standard), then the Respondent is encouraged to provide
information in narrative indicating the anticipated air quality impact. See Section 4.40, Air Quality 
for more information. 

The Transmittal Letter should be signed by a person legally authorized to bind the Respondent to the
representations in the Transmittal Letter and the Proposal.  In the case of a joint Proposal, each party 
must sign the Transmittal Letter.

2.4 EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

The Respondent should provide an Executive Summary of its Proposal that asserts that the Respondent 
is providing in its response all of the requirements of this RFP.  The Executive Summary should not 
include any information concerning the cost of the Proposal, but instead must represent a full and 
concise summary of the contents of the Proposal.  It is recommended the Executive Summary include 
the following information: 

A. Identify any goods and/or services that are provided beyond those specifically requested.  If the 
Respondent is providing services and/or goods that do not meet the specific requirements of this 
RFP, but in the opinion of the Respondent are equivalent or superior to those specifically 
requested, any such differences should be noted in the Executive Summary. However, the 
Respondent must realize that failure to provide the goods and/or services specifically required, at 
the County ’s sole discretion, may result in disqualification of the Proposal.

B. Indicate why the Respondent believes that it is the most qualified Respondent to provide the 
services described in this RFP.  The Successful Respondent must demonstrate extensive 
experience and understanding of the intent of this project.  The Respondent should describe in 
detail the current and historical experience the Respondent and its subcontractors have that 
would be relevant to completing the project.  References must contain the name of key personnel 
and telephone numbers for each contact, as described in Section 3.14, References.  

C. Briefly state why the Respondent believes its proposed goods and/or services best meet the 
County ’s needs and RFP requirements, and the Respondent also should concisely describe any 
additional features, aspects, or advantages of its goods and/or services in any relevant area not 
covered elsewhere in its Proposal.

2.5 CONFLICT OF INTEREST

No public official shall have interest in a contract, in accordance with Vernon ’s Texas Codes Annotated, 
Local Government Code, Title 5, Subtitle C, Chapter 171, as amended. 

As of January 1, 2006, all Respondents are responsible for complying with Local Government Code, Title 
5, Subtitle C, Chapter 176.  Additional information may be obtained from the County’s website at the 
following link: 

http://www.wilco.org/CountyDepartments/Purchasing/ConflictofInterestDisclosure/tabid/689/language/en
US/Default.aspx

Each Respondent must disclose any existing or potential conflict of interest relative to the performance of 
the requirements of this RFP.  Examples of potential conflicts of interest may include an existing 
business or personal relationship between the Respondent, its principal, or any affiliate or 
subcontractor with the County or any other entity or person involved in any way with the project 
that is subject to this RFP.  Similarly, any personal or business relationship between the Respondent, 
the principals, or any affiliate or subcontractor with any employee, or official of the County or its suppliers 
must be disclosed.  Any such relationship that might be perceived or represented as a conflict must be 
disclosed. Failure to disclose any such relationship or reveal personal relationships with the County 
employees or officials may be cause for termination. 

The County will decide if an actual or perceived conflict should result in Proposal disqualification. 

By submitting a Proposal in response to this RFP, all Respondents affirm they have not given, nor intend 
to give, at any time hereafter, any economic opportunity, future employment, gift, loan, gratuity, special 
discount, trip, favor, or service to a the County public servant or any employee, official or representative 
of same, in connection with this procurement. 

Each Respondent must provide a Conflict of Interest Statement with their Proposal Package.  

Package may be deemed incomplete without this form.  

2.6 CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PARTIES – FORM 1295

As of January 1, 2016, all Respondents are responsible for complying with the Texas Government Code, 
Section 2252.908.  The law states that the County may not enter into certain contracts with a 
Respondent unless the Respondent submits a disclosure of interested parties to the County at the time 
the Respondent submits the signed contract.  The law applies only to a contract of the County on or after 
January 1, 2016 that either:

A. Requires an action or vote by the Commissioners Court before the contract may be signed (all 
contracts that fall under the jurisdiction of the Commissioners Court approval, such as contracts 
resulting from an Initiation for Bid (IFB), RFP, Request for Qualifications (RFQ), etc., excluding, 
but not limited to, certain Juvenile Service contracts, contracts funded with Sheriff ’s seized fun 
monies, etc.); or

B. Has a value of at least $1,000,000. 

By January 1, 2016, the Texas Ethics Commission will make available on its website, a new filing 
application that must be used to file Form 1295.  Information regarding how to use the filing application is 
available on the Texas Ethics Commission website at the following link:

https://www.ethics.state.tx.us/whatsnew/elf_info_form1295.htm

A Respondent must:

A. Use the online application to process the required information on Form 1295.

B. Print a copy of the form which will contain a unique certification number.

C. An authorized agent of the Respondent must sign the printed copy of the form.

D. Have the form notarized.

E. File the completed Form 1295 and certification of filing (scanning and emailing form is sufficient) 
with Williamson County Purchasing Agent at the time the signed Contract is submitted for 
approval.

After the Commissioners Court award of the contract, the County shall notify the Texas Ethics 
Commission, using the Texas Ethics Commission ’s filing application, of the receipt of the filed Form 
1295 and certification of filing not later than the 30th day after the date the contract binds all parties to the 
contract. The Texas Ethics Commission will post the completed Form 1295 to its website within seven 
business days after receiving notice from the County.

2.7 PROPOSAL SUBMITTAL DEADLINE

The Proposal is due no later than the submittal date and time set forth in the Public Announcement and 
General Information listed in this RFP package.  Contents of each Proposal shall be submitted in 
accordance with this RFP.

2.8 ETHICS

The Respondent shall not accept or offer gifts or anything of value, nor enter into any business 
arrangement with any employee, official or agent of the County.

2.9 DELIVERY OF PROPOSALS

The County uses BidSync to distribute and receive bids and Proposals.  It is preferred that Proposals
be submitted electronically through BidSync; however, Respondents can submit a hard copy.  

Refer to www.bidsync.com for further information on how to submit electronically.

If mailed or delivered in person, Proposal and Proposal Addenda are to be delivered in sealed envelope
on or before the submittal deadline, as noted in the Public Announcement and General Information listed 
in this RFP package, to:

            Williamson County Purchasing Department
            Attn: Proposal Name and Number
            901 South Austin Avenue
            Georgetown, Texas 78626

Also, all Respondents should list their Name and Address, and the Date of the Proposal opening on the
outside of the box or envelope and note “Sealed Proposal Enclosed.” Williamson County will not accept 
any Proposals after the submittal deadline, and shall return such Proposals unopened to the 
Respondent.  The County will not accept any responsibility for Proposals being delivered by third party 
carriers. 

Proposals will be opened publicly; however, in a manner to avoid public disclosure of contents, only 
names of Respondents will be read aloud: no pricing will be announced at the opening. 

SECTION 3 - INSTRUCTIONS AND GENERAL REQUIREMENTS

3.1 INSTRUCTIONS

Read this document carefully, and follow all instructions and requirements.  All Respondents are 
responsible for fulfilling all requirements and specifications.  Be sure to have a clear understanding of this
RFP.

General requirements apply to all advertised RFPs; however, these may be superseded, in whole or in 
part, by the proposal specifications, Addenda and modifications issued as a part of this RFP.  Be sure 
your Proposal package is complete.

3.2 AMBIGUITY, CONFLICT, OR OTHER ERRORS IN THIS RFP

If a Respondent discovers any ambiguity, conflict, discrepancy, omission or other error in this RFP, the 
Respondent shall immediately notify the County Purchasing Department of such error in writing and
request modification or clarification of the document.

Modifications will be made by issuing Addenda. If the Respondent fails to notify the County prior to the
date and time fixed for submission of Proposals of an error or ambiguity in the RFP known to the
Respondent, or an error or ambiguity that reasonably should have been known to the Respondent, then 
the Respondent shall be deemed to have waived the error or ambiguity or its later resolution.

The County may also modify the RFP, no later than forty-eight (48) hours prior to the date and time fixed
for submission of Proposals, by issuance of an Addendum.  All Addenda will be numbered consecutively, 
beginning with one (1).

3.3 NOTIFICATION OF MOST CURRENT ADDRESS

All Respondents in receipt of this RFP shall notify the Williamson County Purchasing Department of any
address changes, contact person changes, and/or telephone number changes no later than forty-eight 
(48) hours prior to the date and time fixed for submission of Proposals.

3.4 SIGNATURE OF RESPONDENT

A Transmittal Letter, which shall be considered an integral part of the Proposal as stated in Section 2.3, 
Transmittal Letter, shall be signed by an individual who is authorized to bind the Respondent
contractually.

A. If the Respondent is a Corporation or Limited Liability Company, the legal name of the Corporation
or Limited Liability Company shall be provided together with the signature of the officer or officers 
authorized to sign on behalf of such entity.

B. If the Respondent is a General Partnership, the true name of the firm shall be provided with the
signature of each partner authorized to sign.

C. If the Respondent is a Limited Partnership, the name of the Limited Partner ’s General Partner
shall be provided with the signature of the officer authorized to sign on behalf of the General
Partner.

D. If the Respondent is a Sole Proprietor(s) (individual), each Sole Proprietor(s) shall sign.

E. If signature is by an agent, other than the Sole Proprietor(s) or an officer of a Corporation, Limited 
Liability Company, General Partner or a member of a General Partnership, a power of attorney
equivalent document must be submitted to the Williamson County Purchasing Department.

3.5 ASSUMED BUSINESS NAME

If the Respondent operates business under an Assumed Business Name, the Respondent must have
file with the Williamson County Clerk a current Assumed Name Certificate and provide a file marked copy 
of same prior to contract award.

3.6 ECONOMY OF PRESENTATION

Proposals should not contain promotional or display materials, except as they may directly answer in 
whole or in part questions contained in the RFP.  Such exhibits shall be clearly marked with the 
applicable reference number of the question in the RFP.  Proposals must address the technical 
requirements as specified in the RFP.  All questions posed by the RFP must be answered concisely and 
clearly. Proposals that do not address each criterion may be, at the sole discretion of the County, 
rejected and not considered.

3.7 PROPOSAL OBLIGATION 

The contents of the RFP, Proposal, and any clarification thereof submitted by the Successful
Respondent shall become part of the contractual obligation and incorporated by reference into the 
Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s).

3.8 COMPLIANCE WITH RFP SPECIFICATIONS

It is intended that this RFP describe the requirements and the Proposal format in sufficient detail to 
secure comparable Proposal.  Failure to comply with all provisions of the RFP may, at the sole discretion 
of the County, result in disqualification.

3.9 EVALUATION 

The County reserves the right to use all pertinent information (also learned from sources other than 
disclosed in the RFP process) that might affect the County ’s judgment as to the appropriateness of
award to the best evaluated Respondent. This information may be appended to the Proposal evaluation
process results. Information on a Respondent from reliable sources, and not within the Respondent
Proposal, may also be noted and made part of the evaluation fi le.  The County shall have sole 
discretion for determining the reliability of the source.  The County reserves the right to conduct written 
and/or oral discussions/interviews after the Proposal opening.  The purpose of such 
discussions/interviews is to provide clarification and/or additional information to make an award that is in 
the best interest of the County.

3.10 WITHDRAWAL OF PROPOSAL

The Respondent may withdraw its Proposal by submitting a written request with the company letterhead 
and the signature of an authorized individual, as described in Section 3.4, Signature of Respondent, to 
the Williamson County Purchasing Department any time prior to the submission deadline.  

The Respondent may submit a new Proposal prior to the deadline. Alterations of the Proposal in any 
manner will not be considered if submitted after the deadline.  Withdrawal of a Proposal after the deadline 
will be subject to written approval of the Williamson County Purchasing Agent.

3.11 RESPONSIBILITY 

It is expected that a Respondent will be able to affirmatively demonstrate responsibility.  A prospective
Respondent should be able to meet the following requirements:

A. Have adequate financial resources, or the ability to obtain such resources as required;
B. Be able to comply with the required or proposed delivery schedule;
C. Have a satisfactory record of performance that can be determined thru references provided; and 
D. Be otherwise qualified and eligible to receive an award.

The County may request representation and other information sufficient to determine the Respondent
ability to meet these minimum standards listed above.

3.12 PURCHASE ORDERS

If required by the Williamson County Purchasing Department, a purchase order(s) may be generated to 
the Successful Respondent for goods and/or services.  If a purchase order is issued, the purchase order 
number must appear on all itemized invoices and/or requests for payment.

3.13 SILENCE OF SPECIFICATIONS

The apparent silence of any RFP specifications as to any detail or to the apparent omission from it of a 
detailed description concerning any point, shall be regarded as meaning that only the best practices are 
to prevail.  All interpretations of these specifications shall be made on the basis of this statement.

3.14 REFERENCES

Respondents shall furnish a list of contracts where similar responsibilities and goods and/or services 
have been required and/or performed for the past five (5) years, to include names, titles, phone numbers 
and email addresses of reference contacts, contract numbers and dates of performance. 

Also, Respondents shall include a list of any contracts that have been cancelled or terminated within the 
last five (5) years, along with an explanation of the cancellation and the names, email address and phone 
number of a reference person with that institution. 

The County may contact some or all of the references in order to determine the Respondent
performance record on work similar to that described in this RFP.  The County reserves the right to 
contact references other than those provided in the response and to use the information gained from 
them in the evaluation process. 

References should be provided in accordance with this RFP.  Proposal may not be deemed complete 
without the inclusion of requested references.

SECTION 4 - TERMS AND CONDITIONS

4.1 VENUE AND GOVERNING LAW

The Respondent hereby agrees and acknowledges that venue and jurisdiction of any suit, right, or cause 
of action arising out of or in connection with this RFP, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s), shall 
lie exclusively in either Williamson County, Texas or in the Austin Division of the Western Federal District 
of Texas, and the parties hereto expressly consent and submit to such jurisdiction.  Furthermore, except 
to the extent that this RFP, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) is governed by the laws of the 
United States, this RFP, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be governed by and 
construed in accordance with the laws of the State of Texas, excluding, however, its choice of law rules.

4.2 INCORPORATION BY REFERENCE AND PRECEDENCE

A. The Contract shall be derived from the RFP and its Addenda (if applicable), and the Respondent
Proposal.  In the event of a dispute under the Contract, applicable documents will be referred to 
for the purpose of clarification or for additional detail in the following order of precedence:

1. The RFP and its Addenda (if applicable); and 

2. The Respondent ’s Proposal.

B. In the event the County requires that an Ensuing Agreement be executed following award and a 
dispute arises between the terms and conditions of the Ensuing Agreement, the RFP and its 
Addenda (if applicable), and the Respondent ’s Proposal, applicable documents will be referred to 
for the purpose of clarification or for additional detail in the following order of precedence: 

1. The terms and conditions of the Ensuing Agreement;

2. The RFP and its Addenda; and  

3. The Respondent ’s Proposal.

4.3 OWNERSHIP OF PROPOSAL

Each Proposal shall become the property of the County upon submittal and will not be returned to 
Respondents unless received after the submittal deadline.

4.4 DISQUALIFICATION OF RESPONDENT

Upon signing and submittal of the Proposal, a Respondent offering to sell supplies, materials, services, 
or equipment to the County, certifies that the Respondent has not violated the antitrust laws of the State 
of Texas codified in Business & Commerce Code, Section 15.01, or the Federal Antitrust Laws, and has 
not communicated directly or indirectly the offer made to any competitor or any other person engaged
such line of business.  Any or all Proposals may be rejected if the County believes that collusion exists 
among the Respondents.

4.5 FUNDING

The County intends to budget and make sufficient funds available and authorize funds for expenditure to 
finance the costs of the Contract.  All Respondents understand and agree that the County’s payment of 
amounts under the Contract shall be contingent on the County receiving appropriations or other 
expenditure authority sufficient to allow the County, in the exercise of reasonable administrative 
discretion, to make payments under this Contract.

4.6 ASSIGNMENT, SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS 

The Successful Respondent may not assign, sell, or otherwise transfer the Contract or any other rights 
or interests obtained under the Contract without written permission of the Williamson County the 
Commissioners Court.  The Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be binding upon and inure to 
the benefit of the contracting parties hereto and their respective successors and permitted assigns.

4.7 IMPLIED REQUIREMENTS

Products or services not specifically described or required in the RFP, but are necessary to provide the 
functional capabilities described by the Respondent, shall be implied and deemed to be included in the
Proposal.

4.8 TERMINATION

A. Termination for Cause: The County reserves the right to terminate the Contract and/or any 
Ensuing Agreement(s) for default if the Successful Respondent breaches any of the Proposal
specifications, terms and conditions, including warranties of the Respondent, if any, or if the 
Successful Respondent becomes insolvent or commits acts of bankruptcy.  Such right of 
termination is in addition to and not in lieu of any other remedies the County may have at law or
equity or as may otherwise be provided hereunder.  Default may be construed as, but not limited 
to, failure to deliver the proper goods and/or services within the proper amount of time, and/or to 
properly perform any and all other requirements to the County ’s satisfaction, and/or to meet all 
other obligations and requirements.

B. Termination for Convenience: The County may terminate the Contract and/or any Ensuing 
Agreement(s) for convenience and without cause or further liability, upon no less than thirty (30) 
calendar days written notice to the Successful Respondent. The County reserves the right to 
extend this period if it is in the best interest of the County.  In the event the County exercises its 
right to terminate without cause, it is understood and agreed that only the amounts due to the 
Successful Respondent for goods, commodities and/or services provided and expenses incurred 
to and including the date of termination, will be due and payable.  No penalty will be assessed for 
the County ’s termination for convenience.

4.9 NON-PERFORMANCE

It is the objective of the County to obtain complete and satisfactory performance of the requirements set 
forth herein.  In addition to any other remedies available at law, in equity or that may be set out herein, 
failure to perform may result in a deduction of payment equal to the amount of the goods and/or services 
that were not provided and/or performed to the County ’s satisfaction.  

In the event of such non-performance, the County shall have the right, but shall not be obligated, to 
complete the services itself or by others and/or purchase the goods from other sources.  If the County 
elects to acquire the goods or perform the services itself or by others, pursuant to the foregoing, the 
Successful Respondent shall reimburse the County, within ten (10) calendar days of demand, for all 
costs incurred by the County (including, without limitation, applicable, general, and administrative 
expenses, and field overhead, and the cost of necessary equipment, materials, and field labor) in 
correcting the nonperformance which the Successful Respondent fails to meet pursuant to the 
requirements set out herein.  In the event the Successful Respondent refuses to reimburse the County 
as set out in this provision, the County shall have the right to deduct such reimbursement amounts from 
any amounts that may be then owing or that may become owing in the future to the Successful
Respondent.

4.10 PROPRIETARY INFORMATION AND THE TEXAS PUBLIC INFORMATION ACT

All material submitted to the County shall become public property and subject to the Texas Public 
Information Act upon receipt. If a Respondent does not desire proprietary information in the Proposal to 
be disclosed, each page must be clearly identified and marked proprietary at time of submittal or, more 
preferably, all proprietary information may be placed in a folder or appendix and be clearly identified and 
marked as being proprietary.  Failure to clearly identify and mark information as being proprietary as set 
forth under this provision will result in all unmarked information being deemed non-proprietary and 
available to the public.  For all information that has not been clearly identified and marked as proprietary 
by the Respondent, the County may choose to place such information on the County ’s website and/or a 
similar public database without obtaining any type of prior consent from the Respondent.

The County will, to the extent allowed by law, endeavor to protect from public disclosure the information 
that has been identified and marked as proprietary.  The final decision as to what information must be 
disclosed, however, lies with the Texas Attorney General.  

To the extent, if any, that any provision in this RFP or in the Respondent ’s Proposal is in conflict with 
Texas Government Code, Chapter 552, as amended (the “Public Information Act”), the same shall be of 
no force or effect.  Furthermore, it is expressly understood, and agreed, that the County, and its officers 
and employees, may request advice, decisions and opinions of the Attorney General of the State of
Texas in regard to the application of the Public Information Act to any items or data furnished to the 
County as to whether or not the same are available to the public.  It is further understood that that the 
County, and its officers and employees, shall have the right to rely on the advice, decisions and opinions 
of the Attorney General, and that the County, its officers and employees shall have no liability or obligation 
to any party hereto for the disclosure to the public, or to any person or persons, of any items or data 
furnished to the County by a party hereto, in reliance of any advice, decision or opinion of the Attorney 
General of the State of Texas.

4.11 RIGHT TO AUDIT

The Successful Respondent agrees that the County or its duly authorized representatives shall, until the 
expiration of three (3) years after termination or expiration of the services to be performed, have access 
to and the right to examine and photocopy any and all books, documents, papers and records of the 
Successful Respondent, which are directly pertinent to the services to be performed or goods to
delivered for the purposes of making audits, examinations, excerpts and transcriptions.  The Successful 
Respondent agrees that the County shall have access during normal working hours to all necessary 
facilities and shall be provided adequate and appropriate work space in order to conduct audits in 
compliance with the provisions of this section.  The County shall give the Successful Respondent 
reasonable advance notice of intended audits.

4.12 TESTING AND INSPECTIONS

The County reserves the right to inspect and test equipment, supplies, materials and goods for quality 
and compliance with this RFP, and ability to meet the needs of the user.  Demonstration units must be 
available for review.  Should the goods or services fail to meet requirements and/or be unavailable for 
evaluation, the County can deem the Respondent to be in breach and terminate the Contract and/or any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

4.13 PROPOSAL PREPARATION COSTS

The cost of developing Proposals is the sole responsibility of the Respondents and shall not be charged 
to the County.  There is no expressed or implied obligation for the County to reimburse the Respondents 
for any expense incurred in preparing a Proposal in response to this RFP and the County will not 
reimburse the Respondents for such expenses.

4.14 INDEMNIFICATION

The Successful Respondent shall indemnify, defend and save harmless, the County, its officials, 
employees, agents and agent ’s employees from, and against, all claims, liability, and expenses including 
reasonable attorneys ’ fees, arising from activities of the Respondent, its agents, servants or employees, 
performed hereunder that result from the negligent act, error, or omission of the Respondent or any of 
the Respondent ’s agents, servants or employees, as well as all claims of loss or damage to the 
Respondent ’s and the County ’s property, equipment, and/or supplies. 

Furthermore, the County, its officials, employees, agents and agents ’ employees shall not be liable for 
damages to the Successful Respondent arising from any act of any third party, including, but not limited 
to, theft.  The Successful Respondent further agrees to indemnify, defend and save harmless, the 
County from its officials, employee, agents and agents ’ employees against all claims of whatever nature 
arising from any accident, injury, or damage whatsoever, caused to any person, or the property of any 
person, occurring in relation to the Successful Respondent ’s performance of any services requested 
hereunder during the term of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s). 

The Successful Respondent shall timely report all claims, demands, suits, actions, proceedings, liens or 
judgements to the County and shall, upon the receipt of any claim, demand, suit, action, proceeding, lien 

or judgement, not later than the fifteenth (15 th) day of each month; provide the County with a written 
report on each such matter, setting forth the status of each matter, the schedule or planned proceedings 
with respect to each matter and the cooperation or assistance, if any, of the County required by the 
Successful Respondent in the defense of each matter.  The Successful Respondent’s duty to defend, 
indemnify and hold the County harmless shall be absolute.  It shall not abate or end by reason of the 
expiration or termination of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s), unless otherwise agreed by 
the County in writing.  The provisions of this section shall survive the termination of the Contract and shall 
remain in full force and effect with respect to all such matters no matter when they arise. 

In the event of any dispute between the parties, as to whether a claim, demand, suit, action, proceeding, 
lien or judgement, that appears to have been caused by or appears to have arisen out of or in connection 
with acts or omissions of the County, the Respondent shall nevertheless fully defend such claim, 
demand, suit or action, proceeding, lien or judgement, until and unless there is  a determination by a 
court of competent jurisdiction that the acts and omissions of the Respondent are not an issue in the 
matter. 

The Successful Respondent ’s indemnification shall cover, and the Successful Respondent agrees to, 
indemnify the County, in the event the County is found to have been negligent for having selected the 
Successful Respondent to perform the work described in this request.  The provision by the Successful 
Respondent of insurance shall not limit the liability of the Successful Respondent under the Contract 
and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s). 

4.15 WAIVER OF SUBROGATION

The Successful Respondent and the Successful Respondent ’s insurance carrier waive any and all rights 
whatsoever with regard to subrogation against the County as an indirect party to any suit arising out of 
personal or property damages resulting from the Respondent ’s performance under this Contract and any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

4.16 RELATIONSHIP OF THE PARTIES

The Successful Respondent shall be an independent contractor and shall assume all of the rights, 
obligations, liabilities, applicable to it as such independent contractor hereunder and any provisions 
herein which may appear to give the County the right to direct the Successful Respondent as to details of 
doing work herein covered, or to exercise a measure of control over the work, shall be deemed to mean 
that the Successful Respondent shall follow the desires of the County in the results of the work only.  The 
County shall not retain or have the right to control the Successful Respondent ’s means, methods or 
details pertaining to the Successful Respondent ’s performance of the work.  The County and the 
Successful Respondent hereby agree and declare that the Successful Respondent is an independent 
contractor and as such meets the qualifications of an “Independent Contractor” under Texas Workers 
Compensation Act, Texas Labor Code, Section 406.141, that the Successful Respondent is not an 
employee of  the County, and that the Successful Respondent and its employees, agents and 
subcontractors shall not be entitled to workers compensation coverage or any other type of insurance 
coverage held by the County.

4.17 SOLE PROVIDER

The Successful Respondent agrees and acknowledges that it shall not be considered a sole provider of 
the goods and/or services described herein and that the County may contract with other providers of 
such goods and/or services if the County deems, at its sole discretion, that multiple providers of the 
same goods and/or services will serve the best interest of the County.

4.18 FORCE MAJEURE

If the party obligated to perform is prevented from performance by an act of war, order of legal authority, 
act of God, or other unavoidable cause not attributable to the fault or negligence of said party, the other 
party shall grant such party relief from the performance.  The burden of proof for the need of such relief 
shall rest upon the party obligated to perform.  To obtain release based on force majeure, the party 
obligated to perform shall file a written request with the other party.

4.19 SEVERABILITY

If any provision of this RFP, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be held invalid or 
unenforceable by any court of competent jurisdiction, such holding shall not invalidate or render 
unenforceable any other provision thereof, but rather the entire RFP, Contract or any Ensuing Agreement
(s) will be construed as if not containing the particular invalid or unenforceable provision or provisions, 
and the rights and obligation of the parties shall be construed and enforced in accordance therewith.  The 
parties acknowledge that if any provision of this RFP, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) is 
determined to be invalid or unenforceable, it is the desire and intention of each that such provision be 
reformed and construed in such a manner that it will, to the maximum extent practicable, give effect to
the intent of this RFP, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) and be deemed to be validated and
enforceable.

4.20 EQUAL OPPORTUNITY

Neither party shall discriminate against any employee or applicant for employment because of race, 
color, sex, religion or national origin.

4.21 NOTICE

Any notice to be given shall be in writing and may be distributed by personal delivery, or by registered or 
certified mail, return receipt requested, addressed to the proper party, at the following address:

The County:    Williamson County Purchasing Department 
            Attn: Purchasing Agent 
            901 South Austin Avenue 
            Georgetown, Texas 78626

The Respondent: Address set out in Respondent ’s Transmittal Letter

Notices given in accordance with this provision shall be effective upon (1) receipt by the party to which 
notice is given, or (2) on the third (3rd) calendar day following mailing, whichever occurs first.

4.22 SALES AND USE TAX EXEMPTION

The County is a body, corporate and politic, under the laws of the State of Texas and claims exemption 
from sales and use taxes under Texas Tax Code, Section 151.309, as amended, and the services and/or 
goods subject hereof are being secured for use by the County.

4.23 COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS

The County and the Successful Respondent shall comply with all federal, state, and local laws, statutes,
ordinances, rules and regulations, and the orders and decrees of any courts or administrative bodies or 
tribunals in any matter affecting the performance of the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s),
including, without limitation, Workers ’ Compensation laws, salary and wage statutes and regulations, 
licensing laws and regulations.  When required, the Successful Respondent shall furnish the County with 
certification of compliance with said laws, statues, ordinances, rules, regulations, orders, and decrees 
above specified.

4.24 INCORPORATION OF EXHIBITS, APPENDICES AND ATTACHMENTS

All of the Exhibits, Appendices and Attachments referred to herein are incorporated by reference as if set 
forth verbatim herein.  Any conflicting terms in the Contract documents will be resolved at the sole 
discretion of the Commissioners Court.

4.25 NO WAIVER OF IMMUNITIES

Nothing herein shall be deemed to waive, modify or amend any legal defense available at law or in equity 
to the County, its past or present officers, employees, or agents, nor to create any legal rights or claim on 
behalf of any third party.  The County does not waive, modify, or alter to any extent whatsoever the 
availability of the defense of governmental immunity under the laws of the State of Texas and of the 
United States.

4.26 NO WAIVER

The failure or delay of any party to enforce at any time or any period of time any of the provisions of this 
RFP, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall not constitute a present or future waiver of such 
provisions nor the right of either party to enforce each and every provision.  Furthermore, no term or 
provision hereof shall be deemed waived and no breach excused unless such waiver or consent shall be 
in writing and signed by the party claimed to have waived or consented.  Any consent by any party to, or 
waiver of, a breach by the other, whether expressed or implied, shall not constitute a consent to, waiver 
of or excuse for any other, different or subsequent breach.

4.27 CURRENT REVENUES

The obligations of the parties under the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) do not constitute a 
general obligation or indebtedness of the County for which the County is obligated to levy, pledge, or 
collect any of taxation.  It is understood and agreed that the County shall have the right to terminate the 
Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) at the end of any the County fiscal year if the governing body of 
the County does not appropriate sufficient funds as determined by the County ’s budget for the fiscal year 
in question.  The County may effect such termination by giving written notice of termination to the 
Successful Respondent at the end of its then-current fiscal year.

4.28 BINDING EFFECT

This Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties 
and their respective permitted assigns and successors.

4.29 ASSIGNMENT

The Successful Respondent ’s interest and duties hereunder may not be assigned or delegated to a third 
party without the express written consent of the County.

4.30 SAFETY

The Successful Respondent is responsible for initiating, maintaining, and supervising all safety 
precautions and programs in connection with any services to be provided hereunder. The safety program 
shall comply with all applicable requirements of the current federal Occupational Safety and Health Act 
and all other applicable federal, state and local laws and regulations.

4.31 GENERAL OBLIGATIONS AND RELIANCE

The Successful Respondent shall perform all services and/or provide all goods, as well as those
reasonably inferable and necessary for completion and provision of services and/or goods required
hereunder. The Successful Respondent shall keep the County informed of the progress and quality
the services.  The Successful Respondent agrees and acknowledges that the County is relying on the 
Successful Respondent's represented expertise and ability to provide the goods and/or services 
described herein.  The Successful Respondent agrees to use its best efforts, skill, judgment, and abilities
to perform its obligations in accordance with the highest standards used in the profession and to further 
the interests of the County in accordance with the County ’s requirements and procedures.  The 
Successful Respondent ’s duties, as set forth herein, shall at no time be in any way diminished by reason
of any approval by the County, nor shall the Successful Respondent be released from any liability
reason of such approval by the County, it being understood that the County at all times is ultimately 
relying upon the Successful Respondent ’s skill and knowledge in performing the services and providing 
any goods required hereunder.

4.32 CONTRACTUAL DEVELOPMENT

The Commissioners Court may award the Contract on the basis of the initial Proposals received, without
any further or additional discussions.  Therefore, each initial Proposal should contain the Respondent
best terms and offer.  The contents of the RFP and the selected Proposal will become an integral part of 
the Contract, but may be modified, at Williamson County ’s sole discretion, by provisions of an Ensuing 
Agreement.  Therefore, the Respondent must agree to inclusion in an Ensuing Agreement of the 
Proposal specifications, terms and conditions of this RFP.  Williamson County may, at its discretion, opt 
to conduct further discussions with responsible offerors and request the highest ranked firm ’s Best and 
Final Offer (BAFO).

4.33 ENTIRE AGREEMENT

The Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall supersede all prior Agreements, written or oral 
between the Successful Respondent and the County and shall constitute the entire Agreement and 
understanding between the parties with respect to the services and/or goods to be provided.  Each of the 
provisions herein shall be binding upon the parties and may not be waived, modified, amended or altered, 
except by writing signed by the Successful Respondent and the County.

4.34 SURVIVABILITY 

All applicable agreements that were entered into between the Successful Respondent and the County, 
under the terms and conditions of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s), shall survive the 
expiration or termination thereof for ninety (90) days unless a new contract has been awarded.

The County may exercise, by written notice to the Successful Respondent no later than ten (10) calendar 
days of the Contract expiration, this clause for emergency cases only. 

4.35 PAYMENT

The County ’s payment for goods and services shall be governed by the Texas Government Code, 

Chapter 2251.  An invoice shall be deemed overdue the thirty-first (31st) day after the later of the 
following: 

A. The date the County receives the goods under the Contract; 
B. The date the performance of the service under the Contract is completed; or 
C. The date the Williamson County Auditor receives an invoice for the goods or services.  

Interest charges for any overdue payments shall be paid by the County in accordance with Texas 
Government Code, Section 2251.025.  More specifically, the rate of interest that shall accrue on a late 
payment is the rate in effect on September 1 of the County ’s fiscal year in which the payment becomes 
due.  The said rate in effect on September 1 shall be equal to the sum of one (1) percent and the prime 

rate published in the Wall Street Journal on the first (1st) day of July of the preceding fiscal year that does 
not fall on a Saturday or Sunday.

In the event that an error appears in an invoice submitted by the Successful Respondent, the County 
shall notify the Successful Respondent of the error not later than the twenty-first (21st) day after the date 
the County receives the invoice.  If the error is resolved in favor of the Successful Respondent, the 
Successful Respondent shall be entitled to receive interest on the unpaid balance of the invoice 
submitted by the Successful Respondent beginning on the date that the payment for the invoice became 
overdue.  If the error is resolved in favor of the County, the Successful Respondent shall submit a 
corrected invoice that must be paid in accordance within the time set forth above.  The unpaid balance 
accrues interest as provided by the Texas Government Code, Chapter 2251, if the corrected invoice is 
not paid by the appropriate date.

As a minimum, invoices shall include:

A. Name, address, and telephone number of the Successful Respondent and similar information in 
the event the payment is to be made to a different address. 

B. The County Contract, Purchase Order. 

C. Identification of items or service as outlined in the Contract.

D. Quantity or quantities, applicable unit prices, total prices and total amount.

E. Any additional payment information which may be called for by the Contract.

Payment inquiries should be directed to the following address:        

            Williamson County Auditor’s Office, Accounts Payable Department
            Email: accountspayable@wilco.org
            Phone: 512-943-1500

4.36 CONTRACTUAL FORMATION AND ENSUING AGREEMENT

The RFP and the Respondent ’s Proposal, when properly accepted by the Commissioners Court, shall 
constitute a Contract equally binding between the Successful Respondent and the County.  The 
Successful Respondent may be required by Williamson County to sign an additional Agreement 
containing terms necessary to ensure compliance with the RFP and Respondent ’s Proposal.

4.37 LEGAL LIABILITY INFORMATION

The Successful Respondent shall disclose all legal liability information by listing any pending litigation
anticipated litigation that your firm is involved in including, but not limited to, potential or actual legal
matters with private parties and any local, state, federal or international governmental entities. The
County reserves the right to consider legal liability information in the recommendation of any proposed 
contract to the Commissioners Court.

4.38 CONFIDENTIALITY

Respondent expressly agrees that it will not use any direct or incidental confidential information that may
be obtained while working in a governmental setting for its own benefit, and agrees that it will not access
unauthorized areas or confidential information and it will not disclose any information to unauthorized
third parties, and will take care to guard the security of the information at all times.

4.39 INCLEMENT WEATHER

In case of inclement weather or any other unforeseen event causing the County to close for business on 
the date of a Proposal submission deadline, the Proposal closing will automatically be postponed until the 
next business day the County is open.  If inclement weather conditions or any other unforeseen event 
causes delays in carrier service operations, the County may issue an Addendum to all known 
Respondents interested in the project to extend the deadline.  It will be the responsibility of the 
Respondent to notify the County of their interest in the project if these conditions are impacting their 
ability to turn in a submission within the stated deadline.  The County reserves the right to make the final 
judgement call to extend any deadline. 

4.40 AIR QUALITY

In determining the overall best Proposal, the County may, to the extent applicable, exercise the option 
granted to local governments under the Texas Local Government Code, Section 271.907.

This option allows the County to evaluate Proposals and give preference to goods and/or services of
Respondent that demonstrates that the Respondent meets or exceeds any and all state or federal 
environmental standards, including voluntary standards, relating to air quality.  If the Proposal being 
submitted will have an effect on air quality for the County (as it relates to any state, federal, or voluntary 
air quality standard), then the Respondent is encouraged to provide information in narrative indicating the 
anticipated air quality impact.  All Respondents are expected to meet all mandated state and federal air 
quality standards.

4.41 COOPERATIVE PURCHASING PROGRAM 

During the term of the Contract resulting from this RFP, the County would like to afford the same prices, 
terms and conditions to other political subdivisions or public entities.  Another entity’s participation in the 
Contract resulting from this RFP is subject to a properly authorized Purchasing Cooperative Inter- local 
Agreement (ILA) with the County.  Any liability created by purchase orders issued against the Contract 
shall be the sole responsibility of the governmental agency placing the order.

4.42 PREVAILING WAGE RATES

To the extent this procurement is for the construction of a public work, including a building, highway, 
road, excavation, and repair work or other project development or improvement, paid for in whole or in 
part from public funds, without regard to whether the work is done under public supervision or direction, 
Texas Government Code, Chapter 2258, shall apply and the contractor shall pay not less than the wage 
scale of the various classes of labor as shown on the “Prevailing Wage Schedule” provided by the 
County. Pursuant to Texas Government Code, Section 2258.022(a)(2), the County has determined the 
general prevailing rate of the “Prevailing Wage Schedule”  in the locality in which the public work is to be 
performed for each craft or type of worker needed to execute the contract and the prevailing rate for legal 
holiday and overtime work by using the prevailing wage rate as determined by the United States 
Department of Labor in accordance with the United States Code, Section 276a (Davis-Bacon Act). 

The specified wage rates are minimum rates only, and are not representations that qualified labor 
adequate to perform the work is available locally at the prevailing wage rates. The County is not bound to 
pay—and will not consider—any claims for additional compensation made by any contractor because the 
contractor pays wages in excess of the applicable minimum rate contained in the Contract Documents. 
The “Prevailing Wage Schedule”  is not a representation that quantities of qualified labor adequate to 
perform the work may be found locally at the specified wage rates.

For classifications not shown, workers shall not be paid less than the wage indicated for laborers. The 
contractor shall notify each worker commencing work on the project the worker ’s job classification and 
the established minimum wage rate required to be paid, as well as the actual amount being paid. The 
notice must be delivered to and signed in acknowledgement of receipt by the employee and must list 
both the monetary wages and fringe benefits to be paid or furnished for each classification in which the 
worker is assigned duties. When requested by the County, competent evidence of compliance with the 
Texas Prevailing Wage Law shall be furnished by contractor. A copy of each worker wage rate 
notification shall be submitted to the County with the Application for Payment for the period during which 
the worker began on-site activities.

Should the contractor at any time become aware that a particular skill or trade not reflected on the 
County ’s “Prevailing Wage Schedule” will be or is being employed in the work, whether by the contractor 
or by a subcontractor, the contractor shall promptly inform the County and shall specify a wage rate for 
that skill or trade, which shall bind the contractor.

The contractor and any subcontractor shall pay to the County a penalty of sixty dollars ($60.00) for each 
worker employed for each calendar day, or portion thereof, that the worker is paid less than the wage 
rates stipulated in the “Prevailing Wage Schedule” or any supplement thereto. The contractor and each 
subcontractor shall keep, or cause to be kept, an accurate record showing the names and occupations 
of all workers employed in connection with the work, and showing the actual per diem wages paid to 
each worker, which records shall be open at all reasonable hours for the inspection by the County.

Within thirty-one (31) days of receipt of information concerning a violation of the Texas Government Code 
Chapter 2258, the County shall make an initial determination as to whether good cause exists to believe 
a violation occurred. The County ’s decision on the initial determination shall be reduced to writing and 
sent to the contractor or subcontractor against whom the violation was alleged, and to the affected 
worker. When a good cause finding is made, the County shall retain the full amounts claimed by the 
claimant or claimants as the difference between wages paid and wages due under the “Prevailing Wage 
Schedule” and any supplements thereto, together with the applicable penalties, such amounts being 
subtracted from successive progress payments pending a final decision on the violation.

After the County makes its initial determination, the affected contractor or subcontractor and worker have 
fourteen (14) calendar days in which to resolve the issue of whether a violation occurred, including the 
amount that should be retained by the County or paid to the affected worker. If the contractor or 
subcontractor and affected worker reach an agreement concerning the worker ’s claim, the contractor 
shall promptly notify the County in a written document signed by the worker. It the contractor or 

Subcontractor and affected worker do not agree before the fifteenth (15 th) calendar day after the County
determination, the contractor or subcontractor and affected worker must participate in binding arbitration 
in accordance with the Texas General Arbitration Act, Chapter 171, (Texas Civil Practice and Remedies 
Code). The parties to the arbitration have ten (10) calendar days after the expiration of the fifteen (15) 

calendar days referred to above, to agree on an arbitrator; if by the eleventh (11 th) calendar day there is 
no agreement to an arbitrator, a district court shall appoint an arbitrator on the petition of any of the 
parties to the arbitration.

If an arbitrator determines that a violation has occurred, the arbitrator shall assess and award against the 
contractor or subcontractor the amount of penalty as provided above and the amount owed the worker. 
The County may use any amounts retained hereunder to pay the worker the amount as designated in the 
arbitration award. If the County has not retained enough from the contractor or subcontractor to pay the 
worker in accordance with the arbitration award, the worker has a right of action against the contractor 
and subcontractor as appropriate, and the surety of either to receive the amount owed, attorneys ’  fees 
and court costs. The contractor shall promptly furnish a copy of the arbitration award to the County.

Money retained pursuant to the provisions above shall be used to pay the claimant or claimants the 
difference between the amount the worker received in wages for labor on the project at the rate paid by 
the contractor or subcontractor and the amount the worker would have received at the general prevailing 
wage rate as provided by the agreement of the claimant and the contractor or subcontractor affected, or 
in the arbitrator ’s award. The full statutory penalty of sixty dollars ($60.00) per calendar day of violation 
per worker shall be retained by Williamson County to offset its administrative costs, pursuant to Texas 
Government Code, Section, 2258.023. Any retained funds in excess of these amounts shall be paid to 
the contractor on the earlier of the next progress payment or final payment. Provided, however, that the 
County shall have no duty to release any funds to either the claimant or the contractor until it has 
received the notices of agreement or the arbitration award as provided under the provision herein-above.

4.43 CONFIDENTALITY

The Respondent expressly agrees that it will not use any direct or incidental confidential information that 
may be obtained while working in a governmental setting for its own benefit, and agrees that it will not 
access unauthorized areas or confidential information and it will not disclose any information to 
unauthorized third parties, and will take care to guard the security of the information at all times.

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 357



5

6

3 4

Williamson County – Request for Proposal (RFP)

SECTION 1 - DEFINITIONS 

Addendum/Addenda – means any written or graphic instruments issued by the County prior to the 
consideration of Proposals which modify or interpret the Proposal Documents by additions, deletions, 
clarifications, or corrections.

Agreement/Ensuing Agreement(s) – means the Successful Respondent may be required by the 
County to sign an additional Agreement containing terms necessary to ensure compliance with the RFP 
and the Respondent ’s Proposal.  Such Ensuing Agreement(s) shall contain the Proposal specifications, 
terms and conditions that are derived from the RFP.

Contract – means this RFP and the Proposal of the Successful Respondent shall become a Contract 
between the Successful Respondent and the County once the Successful Respondent ’s Proposal is 
properly accepted by the Williamson County Commissioners Court (sometimes referred to herein as the 
Commissioner ’s Court”).

Commissioner ’s Court – means the Williamson County Commissioners Court. 

County – means Williamson County, a political subdivision of the State of Texas.

Executive Summary – means the document submitted by Respondent that represents a concise 
summary of the contents of the Proposal. It does not include any information concerning costs. 

Proposal Documents – means the Legal Notice, RFP including attachments, and any Addenda issued 
by the County prior to the consideration of any Proposals.

Proposal – means the complete, properly signed document, and ALL required forms and documentation 
listed in the proposal package which have been submitted in accordance with this RFP package. A 
Proposal submitted in accordance with this RFP is irrevocable during the specified time period for 
evaluation and acceptance of Proposals, unless a waiver is obtained from the Williamson County 
Purchasing Agent.

Respondent – means a person or entity who submits a Proposal in response to this RFP.

Request for Proposals (RFP) – means this document, together with the attachments thereto and any 
future Addenda issued by the County.

Successful Respondent– means the responsible Respondent who, in the County ’s sole opinion, 
submits the Proposal which is in the best interest of the County, taking into account factors identified 
herein, and to whom the County intends to award the Contract.

SECTION 2 - RESPONSE FORMAT AND SUBMISSION

2.1 INTRODUCTION

Each Proposal submitted in response to this RFP should clearly reference the numbered sections of this 
RFP that require a response.  Failure to arrange the Proposal as requested may result in the 
disqualification of the Proposal.

Though there is not a page limit for Proposals, to save natural resources including paper, and to allow the 
County staff to efficiently evaluate all submitted Proposals, the County requests that Proposals be 
orderly, concise, but comprehensive in providing the requested information.  Conciseness and clarity of 
content are emphasized and encouraged.  If mailed or delivered in person, please limit additional, non
requested information.

Please provide your Proposal response using:

A. 8 ½” x 11” pages, inclusive of any cover letter or supporting materials.

B. The least amount of plastic/laminate or other non-recyclable binding materials.

C. Single-sided printing.

Vague and general Proposals will be considered non-responsive, and may, at the County ’s sole 
discretion, result in disqualification. Proposals must be legible and complete.  Failure to provide the 
required information may result in the disqualification of the Proposal. All pages of the Proposal should 
be numbered and the Proposal should contain an organized, paginated table of contents corresponding 
to the sections and pages of the Proposal.

2.2 ORGANIZATION OF PROPOSAL CONTENTS AND TABLE OF CONTENTS 

Each Proposal should be submitted with a table of contents that clearly identifies and denotes the 
location of all enclosures of the Proposal. The table of contents should follow the RFP ’s structure as 
much as is practical.

Each Proposal should be organized in the manner described below:

A. Transmittal Letter. Please see Section 2.3, Transmittal Letter, for more information. 

B. Table of Contents. 

C. Executive Summary. Please see Section 2.4, Executive Summary. 

D. Proposal Response to Criteria. (Please see the sections in this RFP package that list the 
Specifications & Cost Proposal, Experience and Qualifications, References, and Implementation 
Strategy to respond to our criteria in a clear and concise manner) 

E. Price Sheet. 

F. References: Identification of three (3) references within the last four (4) years, for which the 
Respondent is providing, or has provided, the goods and/or services (public sector) of the type 
requested in this RFP. Include the name, position/title, and telephone number of a contact person 
at each entity. 

G.  Conflict of Interest Questionnaire. 

H. Proposal Affidavit (Signature Page).

I. Attach your entities sample Contract, if applicable, for the County ’s review and consideration. This 
should include any additional terms or conditions. The County is not required to use the sample 
Contract submitted. 

2.3 TRANSMITTAL LETTER

The Respondent should submit a Transmittal Letter that provides the following information: 

A. Name and address of individual or business entity submitting the Proposal. 

B. Respondent ’s type of business entity (i.e., Corporation, General Partnership, Limited Partnership, 
LLC, etc.).  See Section 3.5, Signature of Respondent, for more information. 

C. Place of incorporation or organization, if applicable.

D. Name and location of major offices and other facilities that relate to the Respondent
performance under the terms of this RFP.

E. Name, physical address, email address, business and fax number of the Respondent ’s principal 
contact person regarding all contractual matters relating to this RFP.

F. The Respondent ’s Federal Employer Identification Number.

G. A commitment by the Respondent to provide the services required by the County;

H. A statement that the Proposal is valid for the time specified on page three (3), under the section 
named Prices Good for, of this Proposal packet. Any Proposal containing a term of less than the 
required amount, may at the County ’s sole discretion, be rejected as non-responsive.

I. If the Proposal being submitted will have an effect on air quality for the County (as it relates to any 
state, federal, or voluntary air quality standard), then the Respondent is encouraged to provide
information in narrative indicating the anticipated air quality impact. See Section 4.40, Air Quality 
for more information. 

The Transmittal Letter should be signed by a person legally authorized to bind the Respondent to the
representations in the Transmittal Letter and the Proposal.  In the case of a joint Proposal, each party 
must sign the Transmittal Letter.

2.4 EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

The Respondent should provide an Executive Summary of its Proposal that asserts that the Respondent 
is providing in its response all of the requirements of this RFP.  The Executive Summary should not 
include any information concerning the cost of the Proposal, but instead must represent a full and 
concise summary of the contents of the Proposal.  It is recommended the Executive Summary include 
the following information: 

A. Identify any goods and/or services that are provided beyond those specifically requested.  If the 
Respondent is providing services and/or goods that do not meet the specific requirements of this 
RFP, but in the opinion of the Respondent are equivalent or superior to those specifically 
requested, any such differences should be noted in the Executive Summary. However, the 
Respondent must realize that failure to provide the goods and/or services specifically required, at 
the County ’s sole discretion, may result in disqualification of the Proposal.

B. Indicate why the Respondent believes that it is the most qualified Respondent to provide the 
services described in this RFP.  The Successful Respondent must demonstrate extensive 
experience and understanding of the intent of this project.  The Respondent should describe in 
detail the current and historical experience the Respondent and its subcontractors have that 
would be relevant to completing the project.  References must contain the name of key personnel 
and telephone numbers for each contact, as described in Section 3.14, References.  

C. Briefly state why the Respondent believes its proposed goods and/or services best meet the 
County ’s needs and RFP requirements, and the Respondent also should concisely describe any 
additional features, aspects, or advantages of its goods and/or services in any relevant area not 
covered elsewhere in its Proposal.

2.5 CONFLICT OF INTEREST

No public official shall have interest in a contract, in accordance with Vernon ’s Texas Codes Annotated, 
Local Government Code, Title 5, Subtitle C, Chapter 171, as amended. 

As of January 1, 2006, all Respondents are responsible for complying with Local Government Code, Title 
5, Subtitle C, Chapter 176.  Additional information may be obtained from the County’s website at the 
following link: 

http://www.wilco.org/CountyDepartments/Purchasing/ConflictofInterestDisclosure/tabid/689/language/en
US/Default.aspx

Each Respondent must disclose any existing or potential conflict of interest relative to the performance of 
the requirements of this RFP.  Examples of potential conflicts of interest may include an existing 
business or personal relationship between the Respondent, its principal, or any affiliate or 
subcontractor with the County or any other entity or person involved in any way with the project 
that is subject to this RFP.  Similarly, any personal or business relationship between the Respondent, 
the principals, or any affiliate or subcontractor with any employee, or official of the County or its suppliers 
must be disclosed.  Any such relationship that might be perceived or represented as a conflict must be 
disclosed. Failure to disclose any such relationship or reveal personal relationships with the County 
employees or officials may be cause for termination. 

The County will decide if an actual or perceived conflict should result in Proposal disqualification. 

By submitting a Proposal in response to this RFP, all Respondents affirm they have not given, nor intend 
to give, at any time hereafter, any economic opportunity, future employment, gift, loan, gratuity, special 
discount, trip, favor, or service to a the County public servant or any employee, official or representative 
of same, in connection with this procurement. 

Each Respondent must provide a Conflict of Interest Statement with their Proposal Package.  

Package may be deemed incomplete without this form.  

2.6 CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PARTIES – FORM 1295

As of January 1, 2016, all Respondents are responsible for complying with the Texas Government Code, 
Section 2252.908.  The law states that the County may not enter into certain contracts with a 
Respondent unless the Respondent submits a disclosure of interested parties to the County at the time 
the Respondent submits the signed contract.  The law applies only to a contract of the County on or after 
January 1, 2016 that either:

A. Requires an action or vote by the Commissioners Court before the contract may be signed (all 
contracts that fall under the jurisdiction of the Commissioners Court approval, such as contracts 
resulting from an Initiation for Bid (IFB), RFP, Request for Qualifications (RFQ), etc., excluding, 
but not limited to, certain Juvenile Service contracts, contracts funded with Sheriff ’s seized fun 
monies, etc.); or

B. Has a value of at least $1,000,000. 

By January 1, 2016, the Texas Ethics Commission will make available on its website, a new filing 
application that must be used to file Form 1295.  Information regarding how to use the filing application is 
available on the Texas Ethics Commission website at the following link:

https://www.ethics.state.tx.us/whatsnew/elf_info_form1295.htm

A Respondent must:

A. Use the online application to process the required information on Form 1295.

B. Print a copy of the form which will contain a unique certification number.

C. An authorized agent of the Respondent must sign the printed copy of the form.

D. Have the form notarized.

E. File the completed Form 1295 and certification of filing (scanning and emailing form is sufficient) 
with Williamson County Purchasing Agent at the time the signed Contract is submitted for 
approval.

After the Commissioners Court award of the contract, the County shall notify the Texas Ethics 
Commission, using the Texas Ethics Commission ’s filing application, of the receipt of the filed Form 
1295 and certification of filing not later than the 30th day after the date the contract binds all parties to the 
contract. The Texas Ethics Commission will post the completed Form 1295 to its website within seven 
business days after receiving notice from the County.

2.7 PROPOSAL SUBMITTAL DEADLINE

The Proposal is due no later than the submittal date and time set forth in the Public Announcement and 
General Information listed in this RFP package.  Contents of each Proposal shall be submitted in 
accordance with this RFP.

2.8 ETHICS

The Respondent shall not accept or offer gifts or anything of value, nor enter into any business 
arrangement with any employee, official or agent of the County.

2.9 DELIVERY OF PROPOSALS

The County uses BidSync to distribute and receive bids and Proposals.  It is preferred that Proposals
be submitted electronically through BidSync; however, Respondents can submit a hard copy.  

Refer to www.bidsync.com for further information on how to submit electronically.

If mailed or delivered in person, Proposal and Proposal Addenda are to be delivered in sealed envelope
on or before the submittal deadline, as noted in the Public Announcement and General Information listed 
in this RFP package, to:

            Williamson County Purchasing Department
            Attn: Proposal Name and Number
            901 South Austin Avenue
            Georgetown, Texas 78626

Also, all Respondents should list their Name and Address, and the Date of the Proposal opening on the
outside of the box or envelope and note “Sealed Proposal Enclosed.” Williamson County will not accept 
any Proposals after the submittal deadline, and shall return such Proposals unopened to the 
Respondent.  The County will not accept any responsibility for Proposals being delivered by third party 
carriers. 

Proposals will be opened publicly; however, in a manner to avoid public disclosure of contents, only 
names of Respondents will be read aloud: no pricing will be announced at the opening. 

SECTION 3 - INSTRUCTIONS AND GENERAL REQUIREMENTS

3.1 INSTRUCTIONS

Read this document carefully, and follow all instructions and requirements.  All Respondents are 
responsible for fulfilling all requirements and specifications.  Be sure to have a clear understanding of this
RFP.

General requirements apply to all advertised RFPs; however, these may be superseded, in whole or in 
part, by the proposal specifications, Addenda and modifications issued as a part of this RFP.  Be sure 
your Proposal package is complete.

3.2 AMBIGUITY, CONFLICT, OR OTHER ERRORS IN THIS RFP

If a Respondent discovers any ambiguity, conflict, discrepancy, omission or other error in this RFP, the 
Respondent shall immediately notify the County Purchasing Department of such error in writing and
request modification or clarification of the document.

Modifications will be made by issuing Addenda. If the Respondent fails to notify the County prior to the
date and time fixed for submission of Proposals of an error or ambiguity in the RFP known to the
Respondent, or an error or ambiguity that reasonably should have been known to the Respondent, then 
the Respondent shall be deemed to have waived the error or ambiguity or its later resolution.

The County may also modify the RFP, no later than forty-eight (48) hours prior to the date and time fixed
for submission of Proposals, by issuance of an Addendum.  All Addenda will be numbered consecutively, 
beginning with one (1).

3.3 NOTIFICATION OF MOST CURRENT ADDRESS

All Respondents in receipt of this RFP shall notify the Williamson County Purchasing Department of any
address changes, contact person changes, and/or telephone number changes no later than forty-eight 
(48) hours prior to the date and time fixed for submission of Proposals.

3.4 SIGNATURE OF RESPONDENT

A Transmittal Letter, which shall be considered an integral part of the Proposal as stated in Section 2.3, 
Transmittal Letter, shall be signed by an individual who is authorized to bind the Respondent
contractually.

A. If the Respondent is a Corporation or Limited Liability Company, the legal name of the Corporation
or Limited Liability Company shall be provided together with the signature of the officer or officers 
authorized to sign on behalf of such entity.

B. If the Respondent is a General Partnership, the true name of the firm shall be provided with the
signature of each partner authorized to sign.

C. If the Respondent is a Limited Partnership, the name of the Limited Partner ’s General Partner
shall be provided with the signature of the officer authorized to sign on behalf of the General
Partner.

D. If the Respondent is a Sole Proprietor(s) (individual), each Sole Proprietor(s) shall sign.

E. If signature is by an agent, other than the Sole Proprietor(s) or an officer of a Corporation, Limited 
Liability Company, General Partner or a member of a General Partnership, a power of attorney
equivalent document must be submitted to the Williamson County Purchasing Department.

3.5 ASSUMED BUSINESS NAME

If the Respondent operates business under an Assumed Business Name, the Respondent must have
file with the Williamson County Clerk a current Assumed Name Certificate and provide a file marked copy 
of same prior to contract award.

3.6 ECONOMY OF PRESENTATION

Proposals should not contain promotional or display materials, except as they may directly answer in 
whole or in part questions contained in the RFP.  Such exhibits shall be clearly marked with the 
applicable reference number of the question in the RFP.  Proposals must address the technical 
requirements as specified in the RFP.  All questions posed by the RFP must be answered concisely and 
clearly. Proposals that do not address each criterion may be, at the sole discretion of the County, 
rejected and not considered.

3.7 PROPOSAL OBLIGATION 

The contents of the RFP, Proposal, and any clarification thereof submitted by the Successful
Respondent shall become part of the contractual obligation and incorporated by reference into the 
Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s).

3.8 COMPLIANCE WITH RFP SPECIFICATIONS

It is intended that this RFP describe the requirements and the Proposal format in sufficient detail to 
secure comparable Proposal.  Failure to comply with all provisions of the RFP may, at the sole discretion 
of the County, result in disqualification.

3.9 EVALUATION 

The County reserves the right to use all pertinent information (also learned from sources other than 
disclosed in the RFP process) that might affect the County ’s judgment as to the appropriateness of
award to the best evaluated Respondent. This information may be appended to the Proposal evaluation
process results. Information on a Respondent from reliable sources, and not within the Respondent
Proposal, may also be noted and made part of the evaluation fi le.  The County shall have sole 
discretion for determining the reliability of the source.  The County reserves the right to conduct written 
and/or oral discussions/interviews after the Proposal opening.  The purpose of such 
discussions/interviews is to provide clarification and/or additional information to make an award that is in 
the best interest of the County.

3.10 WITHDRAWAL OF PROPOSAL

The Respondent may withdraw its Proposal by submitting a written request with the company letterhead 
and the signature of an authorized individual, as described in Section 3.4, Signature of Respondent, to 
the Williamson County Purchasing Department any time prior to the submission deadline.  

The Respondent may submit a new Proposal prior to the deadline. Alterations of the Proposal in any 
manner will not be considered if submitted after the deadline.  Withdrawal of a Proposal after the deadline 
will be subject to written approval of the Williamson County Purchasing Agent.

3.11 RESPONSIBILITY 

It is expected that a Respondent will be able to affirmatively demonstrate responsibility.  A prospective
Respondent should be able to meet the following requirements:

A. Have adequate financial resources, or the ability to obtain such resources as required;
B. Be able to comply with the required or proposed delivery schedule;
C. Have a satisfactory record of performance that can be determined thru references provided; and 
D. Be otherwise qualified and eligible to receive an award.

The County may request representation and other information sufficient to determine the Respondent
ability to meet these minimum standards listed above.

3.12 PURCHASE ORDERS

If required by the Williamson County Purchasing Department, a purchase order(s) may be generated to 
the Successful Respondent for goods and/or services.  If a purchase order is issued, the purchase order 
number must appear on all itemized invoices and/or requests for payment.

3.13 SILENCE OF SPECIFICATIONS

The apparent silence of any RFP specifications as to any detail or to the apparent omission from it of a 
detailed description concerning any point, shall be regarded as meaning that only the best practices are 
to prevail.  All interpretations of these specifications shall be made on the basis of this statement.

3.14 REFERENCES

Respondents shall furnish a list of contracts where similar responsibilities and goods and/or services 
have been required and/or performed for the past five (5) years, to include names, titles, phone numbers 
and email addresses of reference contacts, contract numbers and dates of performance. 

Also, Respondents shall include a list of any contracts that have been cancelled or terminated within the 
last five (5) years, along with an explanation of the cancellation and the names, email address and phone 
number of a reference person with that institution. 

The County may contact some or all of the references in order to determine the Respondent
performance record on work similar to that described in this RFP.  The County reserves the right to 
contact references other than those provided in the response and to use the information gained from 
them in the evaluation process. 

References should be provided in accordance with this RFP.  Proposal may not be deemed complete 
without the inclusion of requested references.

SECTION 4 - TERMS AND CONDITIONS

4.1 VENUE AND GOVERNING LAW

The Respondent hereby agrees and acknowledges that venue and jurisdiction of any suit, right, or cause 
of action arising out of or in connection with this RFP, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s), shall 
lie exclusively in either Williamson County, Texas or in the Austin Division of the Western Federal District 
of Texas, and the parties hereto expressly consent and submit to such jurisdiction.  Furthermore, except 
to the extent that this RFP, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) is governed by the laws of the 
United States, this RFP, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be governed by and 
construed in accordance with the laws of the State of Texas, excluding, however, its choice of law rules.

4.2 INCORPORATION BY REFERENCE AND PRECEDENCE

A. The Contract shall be derived from the RFP and its Addenda (if applicable), and the Respondent
Proposal.  In the event of a dispute under the Contract, applicable documents will be referred to 
for the purpose of clarification or for additional detail in the following order of precedence:

1. The RFP and its Addenda (if applicable); and 

2. The Respondent ’s Proposal.

B. In the event the County requires that an Ensuing Agreement be executed following award and a 
dispute arises between the terms and conditions of the Ensuing Agreement, the RFP and its 
Addenda (if applicable), and the Respondent ’s Proposal, applicable documents will be referred to 
for the purpose of clarification or for additional detail in the following order of precedence: 

1. The terms and conditions of the Ensuing Agreement;

2. The RFP and its Addenda; and  

3. The Respondent ’s Proposal.

4.3 OWNERSHIP OF PROPOSAL

Each Proposal shall become the property of the County upon submittal and will not be returned to 
Respondents unless received after the submittal deadline.

4.4 DISQUALIFICATION OF RESPONDENT

Upon signing and submittal of the Proposal, a Respondent offering to sell supplies, materials, services, 
or equipment to the County, certifies that the Respondent has not violated the antitrust laws of the State 
of Texas codified in Business & Commerce Code, Section 15.01, or the Federal Antitrust Laws, and has 
not communicated directly or indirectly the offer made to any competitor or any other person engaged
such line of business.  Any or all Proposals may be rejected if the County believes that collusion exists 
among the Respondents.

4.5 FUNDING

The County intends to budget and make sufficient funds available and authorize funds for expenditure to 
finance the costs of the Contract.  All Respondents understand and agree that the County’s payment of 
amounts under the Contract shall be contingent on the County receiving appropriations or other 
expenditure authority sufficient to allow the County, in the exercise of reasonable administrative 
discretion, to make payments under this Contract.

4.6 ASSIGNMENT, SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS 

The Successful Respondent may not assign, sell, or otherwise transfer the Contract or any other rights 
or interests obtained under the Contract without written permission of the Williamson County the 
Commissioners Court.  The Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be binding upon and inure to 
the benefit of the contracting parties hereto and their respective successors and permitted assigns.

4.7 IMPLIED REQUIREMENTS

Products or services not specifically described or required in the RFP, but are necessary to provide the 
functional capabilities described by the Respondent, shall be implied and deemed to be included in the
Proposal.

4.8 TERMINATION

A. Termination for Cause: The County reserves the right to terminate the Contract and/or any 
Ensuing Agreement(s) for default if the Successful Respondent breaches any of the Proposal
specifications, terms and conditions, including warranties of the Respondent, if any, or if the 
Successful Respondent becomes insolvent or commits acts of bankruptcy.  Such right of 
termination is in addition to and not in lieu of any other remedies the County may have at law or
equity or as may otherwise be provided hereunder.  Default may be construed as, but not limited 
to, failure to deliver the proper goods and/or services within the proper amount of time, and/or to 
properly perform any and all other requirements to the County ’s satisfaction, and/or to meet all 
other obligations and requirements.

B. Termination for Convenience: The County may terminate the Contract and/or any Ensuing 
Agreement(s) for convenience and without cause or further liability, upon no less than thirty (30) 
calendar days written notice to the Successful Respondent. The County reserves the right to 
extend this period if it is in the best interest of the County.  In the event the County exercises its 
right to terminate without cause, it is understood and agreed that only the amounts due to the 
Successful Respondent for goods, commodities and/or services provided and expenses incurred 
to and including the date of termination, will be due and payable.  No penalty will be assessed for 
the County ’s termination for convenience.

4.9 NON-PERFORMANCE

It is the objective of the County to obtain complete and satisfactory performance of the requirements set 
forth herein.  In addition to any other remedies available at law, in equity or that may be set out herein, 
failure to perform may result in a deduction of payment equal to the amount of the goods and/or services 
that were not provided and/or performed to the County ’s satisfaction.  

In the event of such non-performance, the County shall have the right, but shall not be obligated, to 
complete the services itself or by others and/or purchase the goods from other sources.  If the County 
elects to acquire the goods or perform the services itself or by others, pursuant to the foregoing, the 
Successful Respondent shall reimburse the County, within ten (10) calendar days of demand, for all 
costs incurred by the County (including, without limitation, applicable, general, and administrative 
expenses, and field overhead, and the cost of necessary equipment, materials, and field labor) in 
correcting the nonperformance which the Successful Respondent fails to meet pursuant to the 
requirements set out herein.  In the event the Successful Respondent refuses to reimburse the County 
as set out in this provision, the County shall have the right to deduct such reimbursement amounts from 
any amounts that may be then owing or that may become owing in the future to the Successful
Respondent.

4.10 PROPRIETARY INFORMATION AND THE TEXAS PUBLIC INFORMATION ACT

All material submitted to the County shall become public property and subject to the Texas Public 
Information Act upon receipt. If a Respondent does not desire proprietary information in the Proposal to 
be disclosed, each page must be clearly identified and marked proprietary at time of submittal or, more 
preferably, all proprietary information may be placed in a folder or appendix and be clearly identified and 
marked as being proprietary.  Failure to clearly identify and mark information as being proprietary as set 
forth under this provision will result in all unmarked information being deemed non-proprietary and 
available to the public.  For all information that has not been clearly identified and marked as proprietary 
by the Respondent, the County may choose to place such information on the County ’s website and/or a 
similar public database without obtaining any type of prior consent from the Respondent.

The County will, to the extent allowed by law, endeavor to protect from public disclosure the information 
that has been identified and marked as proprietary.  The final decision as to what information must be 
disclosed, however, lies with the Texas Attorney General.  

To the extent, if any, that any provision in this RFP or in the Respondent ’s Proposal is in conflict with 
Texas Government Code, Chapter 552, as amended (the “Public Information Act”), the same shall be of 
no force or effect.  Furthermore, it is expressly understood, and agreed, that the County, and its officers 
and employees, may request advice, decisions and opinions of the Attorney General of the State of
Texas in regard to the application of the Public Information Act to any items or data furnished to the 
County as to whether or not the same are available to the public.  It is further understood that that the 
County, and its officers and employees, shall have the right to rely on the advice, decisions and opinions 
of the Attorney General, and that the County, its officers and employees shall have no liability or obligation 
to any party hereto for the disclosure to the public, or to any person or persons, of any items or data 
furnished to the County by a party hereto, in reliance of any advice, decision or opinion of the Attorney 
General of the State of Texas.

4.11 RIGHT TO AUDIT

The Successful Respondent agrees that the County or its duly authorized representatives shall, until the 
expiration of three (3) years after termination or expiration of the services to be performed, have access 
to and the right to examine and photocopy any and all books, documents, papers and records of the 
Successful Respondent, which are directly pertinent to the services to be performed or goods to
delivered for the purposes of making audits, examinations, excerpts and transcriptions.  The Successful 
Respondent agrees that the County shall have access during normal working hours to all necessary 
facilities and shall be provided adequate and appropriate work space in order to conduct audits in 
compliance with the provisions of this section.  The County shall give the Successful Respondent 
reasonable advance notice of intended audits.

4.12 TESTING AND INSPECTIONS

The County reserves the right to inspect and test equipment, supplies, materials and goods for quality 
and compliance with this RFP, and ability to meet the needs of the user.  Demonstration units must be 
available for review.  Should the goods or services fail to meet requirements and/or be unavailable for 
evaluation, the County can deem the Respondent to be in breach and terminate the Contract and/or any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

4.13 PROPOSAL PREPARATION COSTS

The cost of developing Proposals is the sole responsibility of the Respondents and shall not be charged 
to the County.  There is no expressed or implied obligation for the County to reimburse the Respondents 
for any expense incurred in preparing a Proposal in response to this RFP and the County will not 
reimburse the Respondents for such expenses.

4.14 INDEMNIFICATION

The Successful Respondent shall indemnify, defend and save harmless, the County, its officials, 
employees, agents and agent ’s employees from, and against, all claims, liability, and expenses including 
reasonable attorneys ’ fees, arising from activities of the Respondent, its agents, servants or employees, 
performed hereunder that result from the negligent act, error, or omission of the Respondent or any of 
the Respondent ’s agents, servants or employees, as well as all claims of loss or damage to the 
Respondent ’s and the County ’s property, equipment, and/or supplies. 

Furthermore, the County, its officials, employees, agents and agents ’ employees shall not be liable for 
damages to the Successful Respondent arising from any act of any third party, including, but not limited 
to, theft.  The Successful Respondent further agrees to indemnify, defend and save harmless, the 
County from its officials, employee, agents and agents ’ employees against all claims of whatever nature 
arising from any accident, injury, or damage whatsoever, caused to any person, or the property of any 
person, occurring in relation to the Successful Respondent ’s performance of any services requested 
hereunder during the term of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s). 

The Successful Respondent shall timely report all claims, demands, suits, actions, proceedings, liens or 
judgements to the County and shall, upon the receipt of any claim, demand, suit, action, proceeding, lien 

or judgement, not later than the fifteenth (15 th) day of each month; provide the County with a written 
report on each such matter, setting forth the status of each matter, the schedule or planned proceedings 
with respect to each matter and the cooperation or assistance, if any, of the County required by the 
Successful Respondent in the defense of each matter.  The Successful Respondent’s duty to defend, 
indemnify and hold the County harmless shall be absolute.  It shall not abate or end by reason of the 
expiration or termination of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s), unless otherwise agreed by 
the County in writing.  The provisions of this section shall survive the termination of the Contract and shall 
remain in full force and effect with respect to all such matters no matter when they arise. 

In the event of any dispute between the parties, as to whether a claim, demand, suit, action, proceeding, 
lien or judgement, that appears to have been caused by or appears to have arisen out of or in connection 
with acts or omissions of the County, the Respondent shall nevertheless fully defend such claim, 
demand, suit or action, proceeding, lien or judgement, until and unless there is  a determination by a 
court of competent jurisdiction that the acts and omissions of the Respondent are not an issue in the 
matter. 

The Successful Respondent ’s indemnification shall cover, and the Successful Respondent agrees to, 
indemnify the County, in the event the County is found to have been negligent for having selected the 
Successful Respondent to perform the work described in this request.  The provision by the Successful 
Respondent of insurance shall not limit the liability of the Successful Respondent under the Contract 
and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s). 

4.15 WAIVER OF SUBROGATION

The Successful Respondent and the Successful Respondent ’s insurance carrier waive any and all rights 
whatsoever with regard to subrogation against the County as an indirect party to any suit arising out of 
personal or property damages resulting from the Respondent ’s performance under this Contract and any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

4.16 RELATIONSHIP OF THE PARTIES

The Successful Respondent shall be an independent contractor and shall assume all of the rights, 
obligations, liabilities, applicable to it as such independent contractor hereunder and any provisions 
herein which may appear to give the County the right to direct the Successful Respondent as to details of 
doing work herein covered, or to exercise a measure of control over the work, shall be deemed to mean 
that the Successful Respondent shall follow the desires of the County in the results of the work only.  The 
County shall not retain or have the right to control the Successful Respondent ’s means, methods or 
details pertaining to the Successful Respondent ’s performance of the work.  The County and the 
Successful Respondent hereby agree and declare that the Successful Respondent is an independent 
contractor and as such meets the qualifications of an “Independent Contractor” under Texas Workers 
Compensation Act, Texas Labor Code, Section 406.141, that the Successful Respondent is not an 
employee of  the County, and that the Successful Respondent and its employees, agents and 
subcontractors shall not be entitled to workers compensation coverage or any other type of insurance 
coverage held by the County.

4.17 SOLE PROVIDER

The Successful Respondent agrees and acknowledges that it shall not be considered a sole provider of 
the goods and/or services described herein and that the County may contract with other providers of 
such goods and/or services if the County deems, at its sole discretion, that multiple providers of the 
same goods and/or services will serve the best interest of the County.

4.18 FORCE MAJEURE

If the party obligated to perform is prevented from performance by an act of war, order of legal authority, 
act of God, or other unavoidable cause not attributable to the fault or negligence of said party, the other 
party shall grant such party relief from the performance.  The burden of proof for the need of such relief 
shall rest upon the party obligated to perform.  To obtain release based on force majeure, the party 
obligated to perform shall file a written request with the other party.

4.19 SEVERABILITY

If any provision of this RFP, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be held invalid or 
unenforceable by any court of competent jurisdiction, such holding shall not invalidate or render 
unenforceable any other provision thereof, but rather the entire RFP, Contract or any Ensuing Agreement
(s) will be construed as if not containing the particular invalid or unenforceable provision or provisions, 
and the rights and obligation of the parties shall be construed and enforced in accordance therewith.  The 
parties acknowledge that if any provision of this RFP, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) is 
determined to be invalid or unenforceable, it is the desire and intention of each that such provision be 
reformed and construed in such a manner that it will, to the maximum extent practicable, give effect to
the intent of this RFP, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) and be deemed to be validated and
enforceable.

4.20 EQUAL OPPORTUNITY

Neither party shall discriminate against any employee or applicant for employment because of race, 
color, sex, religion or national origin.

4.21 NOTICE

Any notice to be given shall be in writing and may be distributed by personal delivery, or by registered or 
certified mail, return receipt requested, addressed to the proper party, at the following address:

The County:    Williamson County Purchasing Department 
            Attn: Purchasing Agent 
            901 South Austin Avenue 
            Georgetown, Texas 78626

The Respondent: Address set out in Respondent ’s Transmittal Letter

Notices given in accordance with this provision shall be effective upon (1) receipt by the party to which 
notice is given, or (2) on the third (3rd) calendar day following mailing, whichever occurs first.

4.22 SALES AND USE TAX EXEMPTION

The County is a body, corporate and politic, under the laws of the State of Texas and claims exemption 
from sales and use taxes under Texas Tax Code, Section 151.309, as amended, and the services and/or 
goods subject hereof are being secured for use by the County.

4.23 COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS

The County and the Successful Respondent shall comply with all federal, state, and local laws, statutes,
ordinances, rules and regulations, and the orders and decrees of any courts or administrative bodies or 
tribunals in any matter affecting the performance of the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s),
including, without limitation, Workers ’ Compensation laws, salary and wage statutes and regulations, 
licensing laws and regulations.  When required, the Successful Respondent shall furnish the County with 
certification of compliance with said laws, statues, ordinances, rules, regulations, orders, and decrees 
above specified.

4.24 INCORPORATION OF EXHIBITS, APPENDICES AND ATTACHMENTS

All of the Exhibits, Appendices and Attachments referred to herein are incorporated by reference as if set 
forth verbatim herein.  Any conflicting terms in the Contract documents will be resolved at the sole 
discretion of the Commissioners Court.

4.25 NO WAIVER OF IMMUNITIES

Nothing herein shall be deemed to waive, modify or amend any legal defense available at law or in equity 
to the County, its past or present officers, employees, or agents, nor to create any legal rights or claim on 
behalf of any third party.  The County does not waive, modify, or alter to any extent whatsoever the 
availability of the defense of governmental immunity under the laws of the State of Texas and of the 
United States.

4.26 NO WAIVER

The failure or delay of any party to enforce at any time or any period of time any of the provisions of this 
RFP, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall not constitute a present or future waiver of such 
provisions nor the right of either party to enforce each and every provision.  Furthermore, no term or 
provision hereof shall be deemed waived and no breach excused unless such waiver or consent shall be 
in writing and signed by the party claimed to have waived or consented.  Any consent by any party to, or 
waiver of, a breach by the other, whether expressed or implied, shall not constitute a consent to, waiver 
of or excuse for any other, different or subsequent breach.

4.27 CURRENT REVENUES

The obligations of the parties under the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) do not constitute a 
general obligation or indebtedness of the County for which the County is obligated to levy, pledge, or 
collect any of taxation.  It is understood and agreed that the County shall have the right to terminate the 
Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) at the end of any the County fiscal year if the governing body of 
the County does not appropriate sufficient funds as determined by the County ’s budget for the fiscal year 
in question.  The County may effect such termination by giving written notice of termination to the 
Successful Respondent at the end of its then-current fiscal year.

4.28 BINDING EFFECT

This Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties 
and their respective permitted assigns and successors.

4.29 ASSIGNMENT

The Successful Respondent ’s interest and duties hereunder may not be assigned or delegated to a third 
party without the express written consent of the County.

4.30 SAFETY

The Successful Respondent is responsible for initiating, maintaining, and supervising all safety 
precautions and programs in connection with any services to be provided hereunder. The safety program 
shall comply with all applicable requirements of the current federal Occupational Safety and Health Act 
and all other applicable federal, state and local laws and regulations.

4.31 GENERAL OBLIGATIONS AND RELIANCE

The Successful Respondent shall perform all services and/or provide all goods, as well as those
reasonably inferable and necessary for completion and provision of services and/or goods required
hereunder. The Successful Respondent shall keep the County informed of the progress and quality
the services.  The Successful Respondent agrees and acknowledges that the County is relying on the 
Successful Respondent's represented expertise and ability to provide the goods and/or services 
described herein.  The Successful Respondent agrees to use its best efforts, skill, judgment, and abilities
to perform its obligations in accordance with the highest standards used in the profession and to further 
the interests of the County in accordance with the County ’s requirements and procedures.  The 
Successful Respondent ’s duties, as set forth herein, shall at no time be in any way diminished by reason
of any approval by the County, nor shall the Successful Respondent be released from any liability
reason of such approval by the County, it being understood that the County at all times is ultimately 
relying upon the Successful Respondent ’s skill and knowledge in performing the services and providing 
any goods required hereunder.

4.32 CONTRACTUAL DEVELOPMENT

The Commissioners Court may award the Contract on the basis of the initial Proposals received, without
any further or additional discussions.  Therefore, each initial Proposal should contain the Respondent
best terms and offer.  The contents of the RFP and the selected Proposal will become an integral part of 
the Contract, but may be modified, at Williamson County ’s sole discretion, by provisions of an Ensuing 
Agreement.  Therefore, the Respondent must agree to inclusion in an Ensuing Agreement of the 
Proposal specifications, terms and conditions of this RFP.  Williamson County may, at its discretion, opt 
to conduct further discussions with responsible offerors and request the highest ranked firm ’s Best and 
Final Offer (BAFO).

4.33 ENTIRE AGREEMENT

The Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall supersede all prior Agreements, written or oral 
between the Successful Respondent and the County and shall constitute the entire Agreement and 
understanding between the parties with respect to the services and/or goods to be provided.  Each of the 
provisions herein shall be binding upon the parties and may not be waived, modified, amended or altered, 
except by writing signed by the Successful Respondent and the County.

4.34 SURVIVABILITY 

All applicable agreements that were entered into between the Successful Respondent and the County, 
under the terms and conditions of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s), shall survive the 
expiration or termination thereof for ninety (90) days unless a new contract has been awarded.

The County may exercise, by written notice to the Successful Respondent no later than ten (10) calendar 
days of the Contract expiration, this clause for emergency cases only. 

4.35 PAYMENT

The County ’s payment for goods and services shall be governed by the Texas Government Code, 

Chapter 2251.  An invoice shall be deemed overdue the thirty-first (31st) day after the later of the 
following: 

A. The date the County receives the goods under the Contract; 
B. The date the performance of the service under the Contract is completed; or 
C. The date the Williamson County Auditor receives an invoice for the goods or services.  

Interest charges for any overdue payments shall be paid by the County in accordance with Texas 
Government Code, Section 2251.025.  More specifically, the rate of interest that shall accrue on a late 
payment is the rate in effect on September 1 of the County ’s fiscal year in which the payment becomes 
due.  The said rate in effect on September 1 shall be equal to the sum of one (1) percent and the prime 

rate published in the Wall Street Journal on the first (1st) day of July of the preceding fiscal year that does 
not fall on a Saturday or Sunday.

In the event that an error appears in an invoice submitted by the Successful Respondent, the County 
shall notify the Successful Respondent of the error not later than the twenty-first (21st) day after the date 
the County receives the invoice.  If the error is resolved in favor of the Successful Respondent, the 
Successful Respondent shall be entitled to receive interest on the unpaid balance of the invoice 
submitted by the Successful Respondent beginning on the date that the payment for the invoice became 
overdue.  If the error is resolved in favor of the County, the Successful Respondent shall submit a 
corrected invoice that must be paid in accordance within the time set forth above.  The unpaid balance 
accrues interest as provided by the Texas Government Code, Chapter 2251, if the corrected invoice is 
not paid by the appropriate date.

As a minimum, invoices shall include:

A. Name, address, and telephone number of the Successful Respondent and similar information in 
the event the payment is to be made to a different address. 

B. The County Contract, Purchase Order. 

C. Identification of items or service as outlined in the Contract.

D. Quantity or quantities, applicable unit prices, total prices and total amount.

E. Any additional payment information which may be called for by the Contract.

Payment inquiries should be directed to the following address:        

            Williamson County Auditor’s Office, Accounts Payable Department
            Email: accountspayable@wilco.org
            Phone: 512-943-1500

4.36 CONTRACTUAL FORMATION AND ENSUING AGREEMENT

The RFP and the Respondent ’s Proposal, when properly accepted by the Commissioners Court, shall 
constitute a Contract equally binding between the Successful Respondent and the County.  The 
Successful Respondent may be required by Williamson County to sign an additional Agreement 
containing terms necessary to ensure compliance with the RFP and Respondent ’s Proposal.

4.37 LEGAL LIABILITY INFORMATION

The Successful Respondent shall disclose all legal liability information by listing any pending litigation
anticipated litigation that your firm is involved in including, but not limited to, potential or actual legal
matters with private parties and any local, state, federal or international governmental entities. The
County reserves the right to consider legal liability information in the recommendation of any proposed 
contract to the Commissioners Court.

4.38 CONFIDENTIALITY

Respondent expressly agrees that it will not use any direct or incidental confidential information that may
be obtained while working in a governmental setting for its own benefit, and agrees that it will not access
unauthorized areas or confidential information and it will not disclose any information to unauthorized
third parties, and will take care to guard the security of the information at all times.

4.39 INCLEMENT WEATHER

In case of inclement weather or any other unforeseen event causing the County to close for business on 
the date of a Proposal submission deadline, the Proposal closing will automatically be postponed until the 
next business day the County is open.  If inclement weather conditions or any other unforeseen event 
causes delays in carrier service operations, the County may issue an Addendum to all known 
Respondents interested in the project to extend the deadline.  It will be the responsibility of the 
Respondent to notify the County of their interest in the project if these conditions are impacting their 
ability to turn in a submission within the stated deadline.  The County reserves the right to make the final 
judgement call to extend any deadline. 

4.40 AIR QUALITY

In determining the overall best Proposal, the County may, to the extent applicable, exercise the option 
granted to local governments under the Texas Local Government Code, Section 271.907.

This option allows the County to evaluate Proposals and give preference to goods and/or services of
Respondent that demonstrates that the Respondent meets or exceeds any and all state or federal 
environmental standards, including voluntary standards, relating to air quality.  If the Proposal being 
submitted will have an effect on air quality for the County (as it relates to any state, federal, or voluntary 
air quality standard), then the Respondent is encouraged to provide information in narrative indicating the 
anticipated air quality impact.  All Respondents are expected to meet all mandated state and federal air 
quality standards.

4.41 COOPERATIVE PURCHASING PROGRAM 

During the term of the Contract resulting from this RFP, the County would like to afford the same prices, 
terms and conditions to other political subdivisions or public entities.  Another entity’s participation in the 
Contract resulting from this RFP is subject to a properly authorized Purchasing Cooperative Inter- local 
Agreement (ILA) with the County.  Any liability created by purchase orders issued against the Contract 
shall be the sole responsibility of the governmental agency placing the order.

4.42 PREVAILING WAGE RATES

To the extent this procurement is for the construction of a public work, including a building, highway, 
road, excavation, and repair work or other project development or improvement, paid for in whole or in 
part from public funds, without regard to whether the work is done under public supervision or direction, 
Texas Government Code, Chapter 2258, shall apply and the contractor shall pay not less than the wage 
scale of the various classes of labor as shown on the “Prevailing Wage Schedule” provided by the 
County. Pursuant to Texas Government Code, Section 2258.022(a)(2), the County has determined the 
general prevailing rate of the “Prevailing Wage Schedule”  in the locality in which the public work is to be 
performed for each craft or type of worker needed to execute the contract and the prevailing rate for legal 
holiday and overtime work by using the prevailing wage rate as determined by the United States 
Department of Labor in accordance with the United States Code, Section 276a (Davis-Bacon Act). 

The specified wage rates are minimum rates only, and are not representations that qualified labor 
adequate to perform the work is available locally at the prevailing wage rates. The County is not bound to 
pay—and will not consider—any claims for additional compensation made by any contractor because the 
contractor pays wages in excess of the applicable minimum rate contained in the Contract Documents. 
The “Prevailing Wage Schedule”  is not a representation that quantities of qualified labor adequate to 
perform the work may be found locally at the specified wage rates.

For classifications not shown, workers shall not be paid less than the wage indicated for laborers. The 
contractor shall notify each worker commencing work on the project the worker ’s job classification and 
the established minimum wage rate required to be paid, as well as the actual amount being paid. The 
notice must be delivered to and signed in acknowledgement of receipt by the employee and must list 
both the monetary wages and fringe benefits to be paid or furnished for each classification in which the 
worker is assigned duties. When requested by the County, competent evidence of compliance with the 
Texas Prevailing Wage Law shall be furnished by contractor. A copy of each worker wage rate 
notification shall be submitted to the County with the Application for Payment for the period during which 
the worker began on-site activities.

Should the contractor at any time become aware that a particular skill or trade not reflected on the 
County ’s “Prevailing Wage Schedule” will be or is being employed in the work, whether by the contractor 
or by a subcontractor, the contractor shall promptly inform the County and shall specify a wage rate for 
that skill or trade, which shall bind the contractor.

The contractor and any subcontractor shall pay to the County a penalty of sixty dollars ($60.00) for each 
worker employed for each calendar day, or portion thereof, that the worker is paid less than the wage 
rates stipulated in the “Prevailing Wage Schedule” or any supplement thereto. The contractor and each 
subcontractor shall keep, or cause to be kept, an accurate record showing the names and occupations 
of all workers employed in connection with the work, and showing the actual per diem wages paid to 
each worker, which records shall be open at all reasonable hours for the inspection by the County.

Within thirty-one (31) days of receipt of information concerning a violation of the Texas Government Code 
Chapter 2258, the County shall make an initial determination as to whether good cause exists to believe 
a violation occurred. The County ’s decision on the initial determination shall be reduced to writing and 
sent to the contractor or subcontractor against whom the violation was alleged, and to the affected 
worker. When a good cause finding is made, the County shall retain the full amounts claimed by the 
claimant or claimants as the difference between wages paid and wages due under the “Prevailing Wage 
Schedule” and any supplements thereto, together with the applicable penalties, such amounts being 
subtracted from successive progress payments pending a final decision on the violation.

After the County makes its initial determination, the affected contractor or subcontractor and worker have 
fourteen (14) calendar days in which to resolve the issue of whether a violation occurred, including the 
amount that should be retained by the County or paid to the affected worker. If the contractor or 
subcontractor and affected worker reach an agreement concerning the worker ’s claim, the contractor 
shall promptly notify the County in a written document signed by the worker. It the contractor or 

Subcontractor and affected worker do not agree before the fifteenth (15 th) calendar day after the County
determination, the contractor or subcontractor and affected worker must participate in binding arbitration 
in accordance with the Texas General Arbitration Act, Chapter 171, (Texas Civil Practice and Remedies 
Code). The parties to the arbitration have ten (10) calendar days after the expiration of the fifteen (15) 

calendar days referred to above, to agree on an arbitrator; if by the eleventh (11 th) calendar day there is 
no agreement to an arbitrator, a district court shall appoint an arbitrator on the petition of any of the 
parties to the arbitration.

If an arbitrator determines that a violation has occurred, the arbitrator shall assess and award against the 
contractor or subcontractor the amount of penalty as provided above and the amount owed the worker. 
The County may use any amounts retained hereunder to pay the worker the amount as designated in the 
arbitration award. If the County has not retained enough from the contractor or subcontractor to pay the 
worker in accordance with the arbitration award, the worker has a right of action against the contractor 
and subcontractor as appropriate, and the surety of either to receive the amount owed, attorneys ’  fees 
and court costs. The contractor shall promptly furnish a copy of the arbitration award to the County.

Money retained pursuant to the provisions above shall be used to pay the claimant or claimants the 
difference between the amount the worker received in wages for labor on the project at the rate paid by 
the contractor or subcontractor and the amount the worker would have received at the general prevailing 
wage rate as provided by the agreement of the claimant and the contractor or subcontractor affected, or 
in the arbitrator ’s award. The full statutory penalty of sixty dollars ($60.00) per calendar day of violation 
per worker shall be retained by Williamson County to offset its administrative costs, pursuant to Texas 
Government Code, Section, 2258.023. Any retained funds in excess of these amounts shall be paid to 
the contractor on the earlier of the next progress payment or final payment. Provided, however, that the 
County shall have no duty to release any funds to either the claimant or the contractor until it has 
received the notices of agreement or the arbitration award as provided under the provision herein-above.

4.43 CONFIDENTALITY

The Respondent expressly agrees that it will not use any direct or incidental confidential information that 
may be obtained while working in a governmental setting for its own benefit, and agrees that it will not 
access unauthorized areas or confidential information and it will not disclose any information to 
unauthorized third parties, and will take care to guard the security of the information at all times.

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 358



5

6

3 4

Williamson County – Request for Proposal (RFP)

SECTION 1 - DEFINITIONS 

Addendum/Addenda – means any written or graphic instruments issued by the County prior to the 
consideration of Proposals which modify or interpret the Proposal Documents by additions, deletions, 
clarifications, or corrections.

Agreement/Ensuing Agreement(s) – means the Successful Respondent may be required by the 
County to sign an additional Agreement containing terms necessary to ensure compliance with the RFP 
and the Respondent ’s Proposal.  Such Ensuing Agreement(s) shall contain the Proposal specifications, 
terms and conditions that are derived from the RFP.

Contract – means this RFP and the Proposal of the Successful Respondent shall become a Contract 
between the Successful Respondent and the County once the Successful Respondent ’s Proposal is 
properly accepted by the Williamson County Commissioners Court (sometimes referred to herein as the 
Commissioner ’s Court”).

Commissioner ’s Court – means the Williamson County Commissioners Court. 

County – means Williamson County, a political subdivision of the State of Texas.

Executive Summary – means the document submitted by Respondent that represents a concise 
summary of the contents of the Proposal. It does not include any information concerning costs. 

Proposal Documents – means the Legal Notice, RFP including attachments, and any Addenda issued 
by the County prior to the consideration of any Proposals.

Proposal – means the complete, properly signed document, and ALL required forms and documentation 
listed in the proposal package which have been submitted in accordance with this RFP package. A 
Proposal submitted in accordance with this RFP is irrevocable during the specified time period for 
evaluation and acceptance of Proposals, unless a waiver is obtained from the Williamson County 
Purchasing Agent.

Respondent – means a person or entity who submits a Proposal in response to this RFP.

Request for Proposals (RFP) – means this document, together with the attachments thereto and any 
future Addenda issued by the County.

Successful Respondent– means the responsible Respondent who, in the County ’s sole opinion, 
submits the Proposal which is in the best interest of the County, taking into account factors identified 
herein, and to whom the County intends to award the Contract.

SECTION 2 - RESPONSE FORMAT AND SUBMISSION

2.1 INTRODUCTION

Each Proposal submitted in response to this RFP should clearly reference the numbered sections of this 
RFP that require a response.  Failure to arrange the Proposal as requested may result in the 
disqualification of the Proposal.

Though there is not a page limit for Proposals, to save natural resources including paper, and to allow the 
County staff to efficiently evaluate all submitted Proposals, the County requests that Proposals be 
orderly, concise, but comprehensive in providing the requested information.  Conciseness and clarity of 
content are emphasized and encouraged.  If mailed or delivered in person, please limit additional, non
requested information.

Please provide your Proposal response using:

A. 8 ½” x 11” pages, inclusive of any cover letter or supporting materials.

B. The least amount of plastic/laminate or other non-recyclable binding materials.

C. Single-sided printing.

Vague and general Proposals will be considered non-responsive, and may, at the County ’s sole 
discretion, result in disqualification. Proposals must be legible and complete.  Failure to provide the 
required information may result in the disqualification of the Proposal. All pages of the Proposal should 
be numbered and the Proposal should contain an organized, paginated table of contents corresponding 
to the sections and pages of the Proposal.

2.2 ORGANIZATION OF PROPOSAL CONTENTS AND TABLE OF CONTENTS 

Each Proposal should be submitted with a table of contents that clearly identifies and denotes the 
location of all enclosures of the Proposal. The table of contents should follow the RFP ’s structure as 
much as is practical.

Each Proposal should be organized in the manner described below:

A. Transmittal Letter. Please see Section 2.3, Transmittal Letter, for more information. 

B. Table of Contents. 

C. Executive Summary. Please see Section 2.4, Executive Summary. 

D. Proposal Response to Criteria. (Please see the sections in this RFP package that list the 
Specifications & Cost Proposal, Experience and Qualifications, References, and Implementation 
Strategy to respond to our criteria in a clear and concise manner) 

E. Price Sheet. 

F. References: Identification of three (3) references within the last four (4) years, for which the 
Respondent is providing, or has provided, the goods and/or services (public sector) of the type 
requested in this RFP. Include the name, position/title, and telephone number of a contact person 
at each entity. 

G.  Conflict of Interest Questionnaire. 

H. Proposal Affidavit (Signature Page).

I. Attach your entities sample Contract, if applicable, for the County ’s review and consideration. This 
should include any additional terms or conditions. The County is not required to use the sample 
Contract submitted. 

2.3 TRANSMITTAL LETTER

The Respondent should submit a Transmittal Letter that provides the following information: 

A. Name and address of individual or business entity submitting the Proposal. 

B. Respondent ’s type of business entity (i.e., Corporation, General Partnership, Limited Partnership, 
LLC, etc.).  See Section 3.5, Signature of Respondent, for more information. 

C. Place of incorporation or organization, if applicable.

D. Name and location of major offices and other facilities that relate to the Respondent
performance under the terms of this RFP.

E. Name, physical address, email address, business and fax number of the Respondent ’s principal 
contact person regarding all contractual matters relating to this RFP.

F. The Respondent ’s Federal Employer Identification Number.

G. A commitment by the Respondent to provide the services required by the County;

H. A statement that the Proposal is valid for the time specified on page three (3), under the section 
named Prices Good for, of this Proposal packet. Any Proposal containing a term of less than the 
required amount, may at the County ’s sole discretion, be rejected as non-responsive.

I. If the Proposal being submitted will have an effect on air quality for the County (as it relates to any 
state, federal, or voluntary air quality standard), then the Respondent is encouraged to provide
information in narrative indicating the anticipated air quality impact. See Section 4.40, Air Quality 
for more information. 

The Transmittal Letter should be signed by a person legally authorized to bind the Respondent to the
representations in the Transmittal Letter and the Proposal.  In the case of a joint Proposal, each party 
must sign the Transmittal Letter.

2.4 EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

The Respondent should provide an Executive Summary of its Proposal that asserts that the Respondent 
is providing in its response all of the requirements of this RFP.  The Executive Summary should not 
include any information concerning the cost of the Proposal, but instead must represent a full and 
concise summary of the contents of the Proposal.  It is recommended the Executive Summary include 
the following information: 

A. Identify any goods and/or services that are provided beyond those specifically requested.  If the 
Respondent is providing services and/or goods that do not meet the specific requirements of this 
RFP, but in the opinion of the Respondent are equivalent or superior to those specifically 
requested, any such differences should be noted in the Executive Summary. However, the 
Respondent must realize that failure to provide the goods and/or services specifically required, at 
the County ’s sole discretion, may result in disqualification of the Proposal.

B. Indicate why the Respondent believes that it is the most qualified Respondent to provide the 
services described in this RFP.  The Successful Respondent must demonstrate extensive 
experience and understanding of the intent of this project.  The Respondent should describe in 
detail the current and historical experience the Respondent and its subcontractors have that 
would be relevant to completing the project.  References must contain the name of key personnel 
and telephone numbers for each contact, as described in Section 3.14, References.  

C. Briefly state why the Respondent believes its proposed goods and/or services best meet the 
County ’s needs and RFP requirements, and the Respondent also should concisely describe any 
additional features, aspects, or advantages of its goods and/or services in any relevant area not 
covered elsewhere in its Proposal.

2.5 CONFLICT OF INTEREST

No public official shall have interest in a contract, in accordance with Vernon ’s Texas Codes Annotated, 
Local Government Code, Title 5, Subtitle C, Chapter 171, as amended. 

As of January 1, 2006, all Respondents are responsible for complying with Local Government Code, Title 
5, Subtitle C, Chapter 176.  Additional information may be obtained from the County’s website at the 
following link: 

http://www.wilco.org/CountyDepartments/Purchasing/ConflictofInterestDisclosure/tabid/689/language/en
US/Default.aspx

Each Respondent must disclose any existing or potential conflict of interest relative to the performance of 
the requirements of this RFP.  Examples of potential conflicts of interest may include an existing 
business or personal relationship between the Respondent, its principal, or any affiliate or 
subcontractor with the County or any other entity or person involved in any way with the project 
that is subject to this RFP.  Similarly, any personal or business relationship between the Respondent, 
the principals, or any affiliate or subcontractor with any employee, or official of the County or its suppliers 
must be disclosed.  Any such relationship that might be perceived or represented as a conflict must be 
disclosed. Failure to disclose any such relationship or reveal personal relationships with the County 
employees or officials may be cause for termination. 

The County will decide if an actual or perceived conflict should result in Proposal disqualification. 

By submitting a Proposal in response to this RFP, all Respondents affirm they have not given, nor intend 
to give, at any time hereafter, any economic opportunity, future employment, gift, loan, gratuity, special 
discount, trip, favor, or service to a the County public servant or any employee, official or representative 
of same, in connection with this procurement. 

Each Respondent must provide a Conflict of Interest Statement with their Proposal Package.  

Package may be deemed incomplete without this form.  

2.6 CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PARTIES – FORM 1295

As of January 1, 2016, all Respondents are responsible for complying with the Texas Government Code, 
Section 2252.908.  The law states that the County may not enter into certain contracts with a 
Respondent unless the Respondent submits a disclosure of interested parties to the County at the time 
the Respondent submits the signed contract.  The law applies only to a contract of the County on or after 
January 1, 2016 that either:

A. Requires an action or vote by the Commissioners Court before the contract may be signed (all 
contracts that fall under the jurisdiction of the Commissioners Court approval, such as contracts 
resulting from an Initiation for Bid (IFB), RFP, Request for Qualifications (RFQ), etc., excluding, 
but not limited to, certain Juvenile Service contracts, contracts funded with Sheriff ’s seized fun 
monies, etc.); or

B. Has a value of at least $1,000,000. 

By January 1, 2016, the Texas Ethics Commission will make available on its website, a new filing 
application that must be used to file Form 1295.  Information regarding how to use the filing application is 
available on the Texas Ethics Commission website at the following link:

https://www.ethics.state.tx.us/whatsnew/elf_info_form1295.htm

A Respondent must:

A. Use the online application to process the required information on Form 1295.

B. Print a copy of the form which will contain a unique certification number.

C. An authorized agent of the Respondent must sign the printed copy of the form.

D. Have the form notarized.

E. File the completed Form 1295 and certification of filing (scanning and emailing form is sufficient) 
with Williamson County Purchasing Agent at the time the signed Contract is submitted for 
approval.

After the Commissioners Court award of the contract, the County shall notify the Texas Ethics 
Commission, using the Texas Ethics Commission ’s filing application, of the receipt of the filed Form 
1295 and certification of filing not later than the 30th day after the date the contract binds all parties to the 
contract. The Texas Ethics Commission will post the completed Form 1295 to its website within seven 
business days after receiving notice from the County.

2.7 PROPOSAL SUBMITTAL DEADLINE

The Proposal is due no later than the submittal date and time set forth in the Public Announcement and 
General Information listed in this RFP package.  Contents of each Proposal shall be submitted in 
accordance with this RFP.

2.8 ETHICS

The Respondent shall not accept or offer gifts or anything of value, nor enter into any business 
arrangement with any employee, official or agent of the County.

2.9 DELIVERY OF PROPOSALS

The County uses BidSync to distribute and receive bids and Proposals.  It is preferred that Proposals
be submitted electronically through BidSync; however, Respondents can submit a hard copy.  

Refer to www.bidsync.com for further information on how to submit electronically.

If mailed or delivered in person, Proposal and Proposal Addenda are to be delivered in sealed envelope
on or before the submittal deadline, as noted in the Public Announcement and General Information listed 
in this RFP package, to:

            Williamson County Purchasing Department
            Attn: Proposal Name and Number
            901 South Austin Avenue
            Georgetown, Texas 78626

Also, all Respondents should list their Name and Address, and the Date of the Proposal opening on the
outside of the box or envelope and note “Sealed Proposal Enclosed.” Williamson County will not accept 
any Proposals after the submittal deadline, and shall return such Proposals unopened to the 
Respondent.  The County will not accept any responsibility for Proposals being delivered by third party 
carriers. 

Proposals will be opened publicly; however, in a manner to avoid public disclosure of contents, only 
names of Respondents will be read aloud: no pricing will be announced at the opening. 

SECTION 3 - INSTRUCTIONS AND GENERAL REQUIREMENTS

3.1 INSTRUCTIONS

Read this document carefully, and follow all instructions and requirements.  All Respondents are 
responsible for fulfilling all requirements and specifications.  Be sure to have a clear understanding of this
RFP.

General requirements apply to all advertised RFPs; however, these may be superseded, in whole or in 
part, by the proposal specifications, Addenda and modifications issued as a part of this RFP.  Be sure 
your Proposal package is complete.

3.2 AMBIGUITY, CONFLICT, OR OTHER ERRORS IN THIS RFP

If a Respondent discovers any ambiguity, conflict, discrepancy, omission or other error in this RFP, the 
Respondent shall immediately notify the County Purchasing Department of such error in writing and
request modification or clarification of the document.

Modifications will be made by issuing Addenda. If the Respondent fails to notify the County prior to the
date and time fixed for submission of Proposals of an error or ambiguity in the RFP known to the
Respondent, or an error or ambiguity that reasonably should have been known to the Respondent, then 
the Respondent shall be deemed to have waived the error or ambiguity or its later resolution.

The County may also modify the RFP, no later than forty-eight (48) hours prior to the date and time fixed
for submission of Proposals, by issuance of an Addendum.  All Addenda will be numbered consecutively, 
beginning with one (1).

3.3 NOTIFICATION OF MOST CURRENT ADDRESS

All Respondents in receipt of this RFP shall notify the Williamson County Purchasing Department of any
address changes, contact person changes, and/or telephone number changes no later than forty-eight 
(48) hours prior to the date and time fixed for submission of Proposals.

3.4 SIGNATURE OF RESPONDENT

A Transmittal Letter, which shall be considered an integral part of the Proposal as stated in Section 2.3, 
Transmittal Letter, shall be signed by an individual who is authorized to bind the Respondent
contractually.

A. If the Respondent is a Corporation or Limited Liability Company, the legal name of the Corporation
or Limited Liability Company shall be provided together with the signature of the officer or officers 
authorized to sign on behalf of such entity.

B. If the Respondent is a General Partnership, the true name of the firm shall be provided with the
signature of each partner authorized to sign.

C. If the Respondent is a Limited Partnership, the name of the Limited Partner ’s General Partner
shall be provided with the signature of the officer authorized to sign on behalf of the General
Partner.

D. If the Respondent is a Sole Proprietor(s) (individual), each Sole Proprietor(s) shall sign.

E. If signature is by an agent, other than the Sole Proprietor(s) or an officer of a Corporation, Limited 
Liability Company, General Partner or a member of a General Partnership, a power of attorney
equivalent document must be submitted to the Williamson County Purchasing Department.

3.5 ASSUMED BUSINESS NAME

If the Respondent operates business under an Assumed Business Name, the Respondent must have
file with the Williamson County Clerk a current Assumed Name Certificate and provide a file marked copy 
of same prior to contract award.

3.6 ECONOMY OF PRESENTATION

Proposals should not contain promotional or display materials, except as they may directly answer in 
whole or in part questions contained in the RFP.  Such exhibits shall be clearly marked with the 
applicable reference number of the question in the RFP.  Proposals must address the technical 
requirements as specified in the RFP.  All questions posed by the RFP must be answered concisely and 
clearly. Proposals that do not address each criterion may be, at the sole discretion of the County, 
rejected and not considered.

3.7 PROPOSAL OBLIGATION 

The contents of the RFP, Proposal, and any clarification thereof submitted by the Successful
Respondent shall become part of the contractual obligation and incorporated by reference into the 
Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s).

3.8 COMPLIANCE WITH RFP SPECIFICATIONS

It is intended that this RFP describe the requirements and the Proposal format in sufficient detail to 
secure comparable Proposal.  Failure to comply with all provisions of the RFP may, at the sole discretion 
of the County, result in disqualification.

3.9 EVALUATION 

The County reserves the right to use all pertinent information (also learned from sources other than 
disclosed in the RFP process) that might affect the County ’s judgment as to the appropriateness of
award to the best evaluated Respondent. This information may be appended to the Proposal evaluation
process results. Information on a Respondent from reliable sources, and not within the Respondent
Proposal, may also be noted and made part of the evaluation fi le.  The County shall have sole 
discretion for determining the reliability of the source.  The County reserves the right to conduct written 
and/or oral discussions/interviews after the Proposal opening.  The purpose of such 
discussions/interviews is to provide clarification and/or additional information to make an award that is in 
the best interest of the County.

3.10 WITHDRAWAL OF PROPOSAL

The Respondent may withdraw its Proposal by submitting a written request with the company letterhead 
and the signature of an authorized individual, as described in Section 3.4, Signature of Respondent, to 
the Williamson County Purchasing Department any time prior to the submission deadline.  

The Respondent may submit a new Proposal prior to the deadline. Alterations of the Proposal in any 
manner will not be considered if submitted after the deadline.  Withdrawal of a Proposal after the deadline 
will be subject to written approval of the Williamson County Purchasing Agent.

3.11 RESPONSIBILITY 

It is expected that a Respondent will be able to affirmatively demonstrate responsibility.  A prospective
Respondent should be able to meet the following requirements:

A. Have adequate financial resources, or the ability to obtain such resources as required;
B. Be able to comply with the required or proposed delivery schedule;
C. Have a satisfactory record of performance that can be determined thru references provided; and 
D. Be otherwise qualified and eligible to receive an award.

The County may request representation and other information sufficient to determine the Respondent
ability to meet these minimum standards listed above.

3.12 PURCHASE ORDERS

If required by the Williamson County Purchasing Department, a purchase order(s) may be generated to 
the Successful Respondent for goods and/or services.  If a purchase order is issued, the purchase order 
number must appear on all itemized invoices and/or requests for payment.

3.13 SILENCE OF SPECIFICATIONS

The apparent silence of any RFP specifications as to any detail or to the apparent omission from it of a 
detailed description concerning any point, shall be regarded as meaning that only the best practices are 
to prevail.  All interpretations of these specifications shall be made on the basis of this statement.

3.14 REFERENCES

Respondents shall furnish a list of contracts where similar responsibilities and goods and/or services 
have been required and/or performed for the past five (5) years, to include names, titles, phone numbers 
and email addresses of reference contacts, contract numbers and dates of performance. 

Also, Respondents shall include a list of any contracts that have been cancelled or terminated within the 
last five (5) years, along with an explanation of the cancellation and the names, email address and phone 
number of a reference person with that institution. 

The County may contact some or all of the references in order to determine the Respondent
performance record on work similar to that described in this RFP.  The County reserves the right to 
contact references other than those provided in the response and to use the information gained from 
them in the evaluation process. 

References should be provided in accordance with this RFP.  Proposal may not be deemed complete 
without the inclusion of requested references.

SECTION 4 - TERMS AND CONDITIONS

4.1 VENUE AND GOVERNING LAW

The Respondent hereby agrees and acknowledges that venue and jurisdiction of any suit, right, or cause 
of action arising out of or in connection with this RFP, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s), shall 
lie exclusively in either Williamson County, Texas or in the Austin Division of the Western Federal District 
of Texas, and the parties hereto expressly consent and submit to such jurisdiction.  Furthermore, except 
to the extent that this RFP, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) is governed by the laws of the 
United States, this RFP, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be governed by and 
construed in accordance with the laws of the State of Texas, excluding, however, its choice of law rules.

4.2 INCORPORATION BY REFERENCE AND PRECEDENCE

A. The Contract shall be derived from the RFP and its Addenda (if applicable), and the Respondent
Proposal.  In the event of a dispute under the Contract, applicable documents will be referred to 
for the purpose of clarification or for additional detail in the following order of precedence:

1. The RFP and its Addenda (if applicable); and 

2. The Respondent ’s Proposal.

B. In the event the County requires that an Ensuing Agreement be executed following award and a 
dispute arises between the terms and conditions of the Ensuing Agreement, the RFP and its 
Addenda (if applicable), and the Respondent ’s Proposal, applicable documents will be referred to 
for the purpose of clarification or for additional detail in the following order of precedence: 

1. The terms and conditions of the Ensuing Agreement;

2. The RFP and its Addenda; and  

3. The Respondent ’s Proposal.

4.3 OWNERSHIP OF PROPOSAL

Each Proposal shall become the property of the County upon submittal and will not be returned to 
Respondents unless received after the submittal deadline.

4.4 DISQUALIFICATION OF RESPONDENT

Upon signing and submittal of the Proposal, a Respondent offering to sell supplies, materials, services, 
or equipment to the County, certifies that the Respondent has not violated the antitrust laws of the State 
of Texas codified in Business & Commerce Code, Section 15.01, or the Federal Antitrust Laws, and has 
not communicated directly or indirectly the offer made to any competitor or any other person engaged
such line of business.  Any or all Proposals may be rejected if the County believes that collusion exists 
among the Respondents.

4.5 FUNDING

The County intends to budget and make sufficient funds available and authorize funds for expenditure to 
finance the costs of the Contract.  All Respondents understand and agree that the County’s payment of 
amounts under the Contract shall be contingent on the County receiving appropriations or other 
expenditure authority sufficient to allow the County, in the exercise of reasonable administrative 
discretion, to make payments under this Contract.

4.6 ASSIGNMENT, SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS 

The Successful Respondent may not assign, sell, or otherwise transfer the Contract or any other rights 
or interests obtained under the Contract without written permission of the Williamson County the 
Commissioners Court.  The Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be binding upon and inure to 
the benefit of the contracting parties hereto and their respective successors and permitted assigns.

4.7 IMPLIED REQUIREMENTS

Products or services not specifically described or required in the RFP, but are necessary to provide the 
functional capabilities described by the Respondent, shall be implied and deemed to be included in the
Proposal.

4.8 TERMINATION

A. Termination for Cause: The County reserves the right to terminate the Contract and/or any 
Ensuing Agreement(s) for default if the Successful Respondent breaches any of the Proposal
specifications, terms and conditions, including warranties of the Respondent, if any, or if the 
Successful Respondent becomes insolvent or commits acts of bankruptcy.  Such right of 
termination is in addition to and not in lieu of any other remedies the County may have at law or
equity or as may otherwise be provided hereunder.  Default may be construed as, but not limited 
to, failure to deliver the proper goods and/or services within the proper amount of time, and/or to 
properly perform any and all other requirements to the County ’s satisfaction, and/or to meet all 
other obligations and requirements.

B. Termination for Convenience: The County may terminate the Contract and/or any Ensuing 
Agreement(s) for convenience and without cause or further liability, upon no less than thirty (30) 
calendar days written notice to the Successful Respondent. The County reserves the right to 
extend this period if it is in the best interest of the County.  In the event the County exercises its 
right to terminate without cause, it is understood and agreed that only the amounts due to the 
Successful Respondent for goods, commodities and/or services provided and expenses incurred 
to and including the date of termination, will be due and payable.  No penalty will be assessed for 
the County ’s termination for convenience.

4.9 NON-PERFORMANCE

It is the objective of the County to obtain complete and satisfactory performance of the requirements set 
forth herein.  In addition to any other remedies available at law, in equity or that may be set out herein, 
failure to perform may result in a deduction of payment equal to the amount of the goods and/or services 
that were not provided and/or performed to the County ’s satisfaction.  

In the event of such non-performance, the County shall have the right, but shall not be obligated, to 
complete the services itself or by others and/or purchase the goods from other sources.  If the County 
elects to acquire the goods or perform the services itself or by others, pursuant to the foregoing, the 
Successful Respondent shall reimburse the County, within ten (10) calendar days of demand, for all 
costs incurred by the County (including, without limitation, applicable, general, and administrative 
expenses, and field overhead, and the cost of necessary equipment, materials, and field labor) in 
correcting the nonperformance which the Successful Respondent fails to meet pursuant to the 
requirements set out herein.  In the event the Successful Respondent refuses to reimburse the County 
as set out in this provision, the County shall have the right to deduct such reimbursement amounts from 
any amounts that may be then owing or that may become owing in the future to the Successful
Respondent.

4.10 PROPRIETARY INFORMATION AND THE TEXAS PUBLIC INFORMATION ACT

All material submitted to the County shall become public property and subject to the Texas Public 
Information Act upon receipt. If a Respondent does not desire proprietary information in the Proposal to 
be disclosed, each page must be clearly identified and marked proprietary at time of submittal or, more 
preferably, all proprietary information may be placed in a folder or appendix and be clearly identified and 
marked as being proprietary.  Failure to clearly identify and mark information as being proprietary as set 
forth under this provision will result in all unmarked information being deemed non-proprietary and 
available to the public.  For all information that has not been clearly identified and marked as proprietary 
by the Respondent, the County may choose to place such information on the County ’s website and/or a 
similar public database without obtaining any type of prior consent from the Respondent.

The County will, to the extent allowed by law, endeavor to protect from public disclosure the information 
that has been identified and marked as proprietary.  The final decision as to what information must be 
disclosed, however, lies with the Texas Attorney General.  

To the extent, if any, that any provision in this RFP or in the Respondent ’s Proposal is in conflict with 
Texas Government Code, Chapter 552, as amended (the “Public Information Act”), the same shall be of 
no force or effect.  Furthermore, it is expressly understood, and agreed, that the County, and its officers 
and employees, may request advice, decisions and opinions of the Attorney General of the State of
Texas in regard to the application of the Public Information Act to any items or data furnished to the 
County as to whether or not the same are available to the public.  It is further understood that that the 
County, and its officers and employees, shall have the right to rely on the advice, decisions and opinions 
of the Attorney General, and that the County, its officers and employees shall have no liability or obligation 
to any party hereto for the disclosure to the public, or to any person or persons, of any items or data 
furnished to the County by a party hereto, in reliance of any advice, decision or opinion of the Attorney 
General of the State of Texas.

4.11 RIGHT TO AUDIT

The Successful Respondent agrees that the County or its duly authorized representatives shall, until the 
expiration of three (3) years after termination or expiration of the services to be performed, have access 
to and the right to examine and photocopy any and all books, documents, papers and records of the 
Successful Respondent, which are directly pertinent to the services to be performed or goods to
delivered for the purposes of making audits, examinations, excerpts and transcriptions.  The Successful 
Respondent agrees that the County shall have access during normal working hours to all necessary 
facilities and shall be provided adequate and appropriate work space in order to conduct audits in 
compliance with the provisions of this section.  The County shall give the Successful Respondent 
reasonable advance notice of intended audits.

4.12 TESTING AND INSPECTIONS

The County reserves the right to inspect and test equipment, supplies, materials and goods for quality 
and compliance with this RFP, and ability to meet the needs of the user.  Demonstration units must be 
available for review.  Should the goods or services fail to meet requirements and/or be unavailable for 
evaluation, the County can deem the Respondent to be in breach and terminate the Contract and/or any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

4.13 PROPOSAL PREPARATION COSTS

The cost of developing Proposals is the sole responsibility of the Respondents and shall not be charged 
to the County.  There is no expressed or implied obligation for the County to reimburse the Respondents 
for any expense incurred in preparing a Proposal in response to this RFP and the County will not 
reimburse the Respondents for such expenses.

4.14 INDEMNIFICATION

The Successful Respondent shall indemnify, defend and save harmless, the County, its officials, 
employees, agents and agent ’s employees from, and against, all claims, liability, and expenses including 
reasonable attorneys ’ fees, arising from activities of the Respondent, its agents, servants or employees, 
performed hereunder that result from the negligent act, error, or omission of the Respondent or any of 
the Respondent ’s agents, servants or employees, as well as all claims of loss or damage to the 
Respondent ’s and the County ’s property, equipment, and/or supplies. 

Furthermore, the County, its officials, employees, agents and agents ’ employees shall not be liable for 
damages to the Successful Respondent arising from any act of any third party, including, but not limited 
to, theft.  The Successful Respondent further agrees to indemnify, defend and save harmless, the 
County from its officials, employee, agents and agents ’ employees against all claims of whatever nature 
arising from any accident, injury, or damage whatsoever, caused to any person, or the property of any 
person, occurring in relation to the Successful Respondent ’s performance of any services requested 
hereunder during the term of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s). 

The Successful Respondent shall timely report all claims, demands, suits, actions, proceedings, liens or 
judgements to the County and shall, upon the receipt of any claim, demand, suit, action, proceeding, lien 

or judgement, not later than the fifteenth (15 th) day of each month; provide the County with a written 
report on each such matter, setting forth the status of each matter, the schedule or planned proceedings 
with respect to each matter and the cooperation or assistance, if any, of the County required by the 
Successful Respondent in the defense of each matter.  The Successful Respondent’s duty to defend, 
indemnify and hold the County harmless shall be absolute.  It shall not abate or end by reason of the 
expiration or termination of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s), unless otherwise agreed by 
the County in writing.  The provisions of this section shall survive the termination of the Contract and shall 
remain in full force and effect with respect to all such matters no matter when they arise. 

In the event of any dispute between the parties, as to whether a claim, demand, suit, action, proceeding, 
lien or judgement, that appears to have been caused by or appears to have arisen out of or in connection 
with acts or omissions of the County, the Respondent shall nevertheless fully defend such claim, 
demand, suit or action, proceeding, lien or judgement, until and unless there is  a determination by a 
court of competent jurisdiction that the acts and omissions of the Respondent are not an issue in the 
matter. 

The Successful Respondent ’s indemnification shall cover, and the Successful Respondent agrees to, 
indemnify the County, in the event the County is found to have been negligent for having selected the 
Successful Respondent to perform the work described in this request.  The provision by the Successful 
Respondent of insurance shall not limit the liability of the Successful Respondent under the Contract 
and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s). 

4.15 WAIVER OF SUBROGATION

The Successful Respondent and the Successful Respondent ’s insurance carrier waive any and all rights 
whatsoever with regard to subrogation against the County as an indirect party to any suit arising out of 
personal or property damages resulting from the Respondent ’s performance under this Contract and any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

4.16 RELATIONSHIP OF THE PARTIES

The Successful Respondent shall be an independent contractor and shall assume all of the rights, 
obligations, liabilities, applicable to it as such independent contractor hereunder and any provisions 
herein which may appear to give the County the right to direct the Successful Respondent as to details of 
doing work herein covered, or to exercise a measure of control over the work, shall be deemed to mean 
that the Successful Respondent shall follow the desires of the County in the results of the work only.  The 
County shall not retain or have the right to control the Successful Respondent ’s means, methods or 
details pertaining to the Successful Respondent ’s performance of the work.  The County and the 
Successful Respondent hereby agree and declare that the Successful Respondent is an independent 
contractor and as such meets the qualifications of an “Independent Contractor” under Texas Workers 
Compensation Act, Texas Labor Code, Section 406.141, that the Successful Respondent is not an 
employee of  the County, and that the Successful Respondent and its employees, agents and 
subcontractors shall not be entitled to workers compensation coverage or any other type of insurance 
coverage held by the County.

4.17 SOLE PROVIDER

The Successful Respondent agrees and acknowledges that it shall not be considered a sole provider of 
the goods and/or services described herein and that the County may contract with other providers of 
such goods and/or services if the County deems, at its sole discretion, that multiple providers of the 
same goods and/or services will serve the best interest of the County.

4.18 FORCE MAJEURE

If the party obligated to perform is prevented from performance by an act of war, order of legal authority, 
act of God, or other unavoidable cause not attributable to the fault or negligence of said party, the other 
party shall grant such party relief from the performance.  The burden of proof for the need of such relief 
shall rest upon the party obligated to perform.  To obtain release based on force majeure, the party 
obligated to perform shall file a written request with the other party.

4.19 SEVERABILITY

If any provision of this RFP, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be held invalid or 
unenforceable by any court of competent jurisdiction, such holding shall not invalidate or render 
unenforceable any other provision thereof, but rather the entire RFP, Contract or any Ensuing Agreement
(s) will be construed as if not containing the particular invalid or unenforceable provision or provisions, 
and the rights and obligation of the parties shall be construed and enforced in accordance therewith.  The 
parties acknowledge that if any provision of this RFP, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) is 
determined to be invalid or unenforceable, it is the desire and intention of each that such provision be 
reformed and construed in such a manner that it will, to the maximum extent practicable, give effect to
the intent of this RFP, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) and be deemed to be validated and
enforceable.

4.20 EQUAL OPPORTUNITY

Neither party shall discriminate against any employee or applicant for employment because of race, 
color, sex, religion or national origin.

4.21 NOTICE

Any notice to be given shall be in writing and may be distributed by personal delivery, or by registered or 
certified mail, return receipt requested, addressed to the proper party, at the following address:

The County:    Williamson County Purchasing Department 
            Attn: Purchasing Agent 
            901 South Austin Avenue 
            Georgetown, Texas 78626

The Respondent: Address set out in Respondent ’s Transmittal Letter

Notices given in accordance with this provision shall be effective upon (1) receipt by the party to which 
notice is given, or (2) on the third (3rd) calendar day following mailing, whichever occurs first.

4.22 SALES AND USE TAX EXEMPTION

The County is a body, corporate and politic, under the laws of the State of Texas and claims exemption 
from sales and use taxes under Texas Tax Code, Section 151.309, as amended, and the services and/or 
goods subject hereof are being secured for use by the County.

4.23 COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS

The County and the Successful Respondent shall comply with all federal, state, and local laws, statutes,
ordinances, rules and regulations, and the orders and decrees of any courts or administrative bodies or 
tribunals in any matter affecting the performance of the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s),
including, without limitation, Workers ’ Compensation laws, salary and wage statutes and regulations, 
licensing laws and regulations.  When required, the Successful Respondent shall furnish the County with 
certification of compliance with said laws, statues, ordinances, rules, regulations, orders, and decrees 
above specified.

4.24 INCORPORATION OF EXHIBITS, APPENDICES AND ATTACHMENTS

All of the Exhibits, Appendices and Attachments referred to herein are incorporated by reference as if set 
forth verbatim herein.  Any conflicting terms in the Contract documents will be resolved at the sole 
discretion of the Commissioners Court.

4.25 NO WAIVER OF IMMUNITIES

Nothing herein shall be deemed to waive, modify or amend any legal defense available at law or in equity 
to the County, its past or present officers, employees, or agents, nor to create any legal rights or claim on 
behalf of any third party.  The County does not waive, modify, or alter to any extent whatsoever the 
availability of the defense of governmental immunity under the laws of the State of Texas and of the 
United States.

4.26 NO WAIVER

The failure or delay of any party to enforce at any time or any period of time any of the provisions of this 
RFP, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall not constitute a present or future waiver of such 
provisions nor the right of either party to enforce each and every provision.  Furthermore, no term or 
provision hereof shall be deemed waived and no breach excused unless such waiver or consent shall be 
in writing and signed by the party claimed to have waived or consented.  Any consent by any party to, or 
waiver of, a breach by the other, whether expressed or implied, shall not constitute a consent to, waiver 
of or excuse for any other, different or subsequent breach.

4.27 CURRENT REVENUES

The obligations of the parties under the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) do not constitute a 
general obligation or indebtedness of the County for which the County is obligated to levy, pledge, or 
collect any of taxation.  It is understood and agreed that the County shall have the right to terminate the 
Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) at the end of any the County fiscal year if the governing body of 
the County does not appropriate sufficient funds as determined by the County ’s budget for the fiscal year 
in question.  The County may effect such termination by giving written notice of termination to the 
Successful Respondent at the end of its then-current fiscal year.

4.28 BINDING EFFECT

This Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties 
and their respective permitted assigns and successors.

4.29 ASSIGNMENT

The Successful Respondent ’s interest and duties hereunder may not be assigned or delegated to a third 
party without the express written consent of the County.

4.30 SAFETY

The Successful Respondent is responsible for initiating, maintaining, and supervising all safety 
precautions and programs in connection with any services to be provided hereunder. The safety program 
shall comply with all applicable requirements of the current federal Occupational Safety and Health Act 
and all other applicable federal, state and local laws and regulations.

4.31 GENERAL OBLIGATIONS AND RELIANCE

The Successful Respondent shall perform all services and/or provide all goods, as well as those
reasonably inferable and necessary for completion and provision of services and/or goods required
hereunder. The Successful Respondent shall keep the County informed of the progress and quality
the services.  The Successful Respondent agrees and acknowledges that the County is relying on the 
Successful Respondent's represented expertise and ability to provide the goods and/or services 
described herein.  The Successful Respondent agrees to use its best efforts, skill, judgment, and abilities
to perform its obligations in accordance with the highest standards used in the profession and to further 
the interests of the County in accordance with the County ’s requirements and procedures.  The 
Successful Respondent ’s duties, as set forth herein, shall at no time be in any way diminished by reason
of any approval by the County, nor shall the Successful Respondent be released from any liability
reason of such approval by the County, it being understood that the County at all times is ultimately 
relying upon the Successful Respondent ’s skill and knowledge in performing the services and providing 
any goods required hereunder.

4.32 CONTRACTUAL DEVELOPMENT

The Commissioners Court may award the Contract on the basis of the initial Proposals received, without
any further or additional discussions.  Therefore, each initial Proposal should contain the Respondent
best terms and offer.  The contents of the RFP and the selected Proposal will become an integral part of 
the Contract, but may be modified, at Williamson County ’s sole discretion, by provisions of an Ensuing 
Agreement.  Therefore, the Respondent must agree to inclusion in an Ensuing Agreement of the 
Proposal specifications, terms and conditions of this RFP.  Williamson County may, at its discretion, opt 
to conduct further discussions with responsible offerors and request the highest ranked firm ’s Best and 
Final Offer (BAFO).

4.33 ENTIRE AGREEMENT

The Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall supersede all prior Agreements, written or oral 
between the Successful Respondent and the County and shall constitute the entire Agreement and 
understanding between the parties with respect to the services and/or goods to be provided.  Each of the 
provisions herein shall be binding upon the parties and may not be waived, modified, amended or altered, 
except by writing signed by the Successful Respondent and the County.

4.34 SURVIVABILITY 

All applicable agreements that were entered into between the Successful Respondent and the County, 
under the terms and conditions of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s), shall survive the 
expiration or termination thereof for ninety (90) days unless a new contract has been awarded.

The County may exercise, by written notice to the Successful Respondent no later than ten (10) calendar 
days of the Contract expiration, this clause for emergency cases only. 

4.35 PAYMENT

The County ’s payment for goods and services shall be governed by the Texas Government Code, 

Chapter 2251.  An invoice shall be deemed overdue the thirty-first (31st) day after the later of the 
following: 

A. The date the County receives the goods under the Contract; 
B. The date the performance of the service under the Contract is completed; or 
C. The date the Williamson County Auditor receives an invoice for the goods or services.  

Interest charges for any overdue payments shall be paid by the County in accordance with Texas 
Government Code, Section 2251.025.  More specifically, the rate of interest that shall accrue on a late 
payment is the rate in effect on September 1 of the County ’s fiscal year in which the payment becomes 
due.  The said rate in effect on September 1 shall be equal to the sum of one (1) percent and the prime 

rate published in the Wall Street Journal on the first (1st) day of July of the preceding fiscal year that does 
not fall on a Saturday or Sunday.

In the event that an error appears in an invoice submitted by the Successful Respondent, the County 
shall notify the Successful Respondent of the error not later than the twenty-first (21st) day after the date 
the County receives the invoice.  If the error is resolved in favor of the Successful Respondent, the 
Successful Respondent shall be entitled to receive interest on the unpaid balance of the invoice 
submitted by the Successful Respondent beginning on the date that the payment for the invoice became 
overdue.  If the error is resolved in favor of the County, the Successful Respondent shall submit a 
corrected invoice that must be paid in accordance within the time set forth above.  The unpaid balance 
accrues interest as provided by the Texas Government Code, Chapter 2251, if the corrected invoice is 
not paid by the appropriate date.

As a minimum, invoices shall include:

A. Name, address, and telephone number of the Successful Respondent and similar information in 
the event the payment is to be made to a different address. 

B. The County Contract, Purchase Order. 

C. Identification of items or service as outlined in the Contract.

D. Quantity or quantities, applicable unit prices, total prices and total amount.

E. Any additional payment information which may be called for by the Contract.

Payment inquiries should be directed to the following address:        

            Williamson County Auditor’s Office, Accounts Payable Department
            Email: accountspayable@wilco.org
            Phone: 512-943-1500

4.36 CONTRACTUAL FORMATION AND ENSUING AGREEMENT

The RFP and the Respondent ’s Proposal, when properly accepted by the Commissioners Court, shall 
constitute a Contract equally binding between the Successful Respondent and the County.  The 
Successful Respondent may be required by Williamson County to sign an additional Agreement 
containing terms necessary to ensure compliance with the RFP and Respondent ’s Proposal.

4.37 LEGAL LIABILITY INFORMATION

The Successful Respondent shall disclose all legal liability information by listing any pending litigation
anticipated litigation that your firm is involved in including, but not limited to, potential or actual legal
matters with private parties and any local, state, federal or international governmental entities. The
County reserves the right to consider legal liability information in the recommendation of any proposed 
contract to the Commissioners Court.

4.38 CONFIDENTIALITY

Respondent expressly agrees that it will not use any direct or incidental confidential information that may
be obtained while working in a governmental setting for its own benefit, and agrees that it will not access
unauthorized areas or confidential information and it will not disclose any information to unauthorized
third parties, and will take care to guard the security of the information at all times.

4.39 INCLEMENT WEATHER

In case of inclement weather or any other unforeseen event causing the County to close for business on 
the date of a Proposal submission deadline, the Proposal closing will automatically be postponed until the 
next business day the County is open.  If inclement weather conditions or any other unforeseen event 
causes delays in carrier service operations, the County may issue an Addendum to all known 
Respondents interested in the project to extend the deadline.  It will be the responsibility of the 
Respondent to notify the County of their interest in the project if these conditions are impacting their 
ability to turn in a submission within the stated deadline.  The County reserves the right to make the final 
judgement call to extend any deadline. 

4.40 AIR QUALITY

In determining the overall best Proposal, the County may, to the extent applicable, exercise the option 
granted to local governments under the Texas Local Government Code, Section 271.907.

This option allows the County to evaluate Proposals and give preference to goods and/or services of
Respondent that demonstrates that the Respondent meets or exceeds any and all state or federal 
environmental standards, including voluntary standards, relating to air quality.  If the Proposal being 
submitted will have an effect on air quality for the County (as it relates to any state, federal, or voluntary 
air quality standard), then the Respondent is encouraged to provide information in narrative indicating the 
anticipated air quality impact.  All Respondents are expected to meet all mandated state and federal air 
quality standards.

4.41 COOPERATIVE PURCHASING PROGRAM 

During the term of the Contract resulting from this RFP, the County would like to afford the same prices, 
terms and conditions to other political subdivisions or public entities.  Another entity’s participation in the 
Contract resulting from this RFP is subject to a properly authorized Purchasing Cooperative Inter- local 
Agreement (ILA) with the County.  Any liability created by purchase orders issued against the Contract 
shall be the sole responsibility of the governmental agency placing the order.

4.42 PREVAILING WAGE RATES

To the extent this procurement is for the construction of a public work, including a building, highway, 
road, excavation, and repair work or other project development or improvement, paid for in whole or in 
part from public funds, without regard to whether the work is done under public supervision or direction, 
Texas Government Code, Chapter 2258, shall apply and the contractor shall pay not less than the wage 
scale of the various classes of labor as shown on the “Prevailing Wage Schedule” provided by the 
County. Pursuant to Texas Government Code, Section 2258.022(a)(2), the County has determined the 
general prevailing rate of the “Prevailing Wage Schedule”  in the locality in which the public work is to be 
performed for each craft or type of worker needed to execute the contract and the prevailing rate for legal 
holiday and overtime work by using the prevailing wage rate as determined by the United States 
Department of Labor in accordance with the United States Code, Section 276a (Davis-Bacon Act). 

The specified wage rates are minimum rates only, and are not representations that qualified labor 
adequate to perform the work is available locally at the prevailing wage rates. The County is not bound to 
pay—and will not consider—any claims for additional compensation made by any contractor because the 
contractor pays wages in excess of the applicable minimum rate contained in the Contract Documents. 
The “Prevailing Wage Schedule”  is not a representation that quantities of qualified labor adequate to 
perform the work may be found locally at the specified wage rates.

For classifications not shown, workers shall not be paid less than the wage indicated for laborers. The 
contractor shall notify each worker commencing work on the project the worker ’s job classification and 
the established minimum wage rate required to be paid, as well as the actual amount being paid. The 
notice must be delivered to and signed in acknowledgement of receipt by the employee and must list 
both the monetary wages and fringe benefits to be paid or furnished for each classification in which the 
worker is assigned duties. When requested by the County, competent evidence of compliance with the 
Texas Prevailing Wage Law shall be furnished by contractor. A copy of each worker wage rate 
notification shall be submitted to the County with the Application for Payment for the period during which 
the worker began on-site activities.

Should the contractor at any time become aware that a particular skill or trade not reflected on the 
County ’s “Prevailing Wage Schedule” will be or is being employed in the work, whether by the contractor 
or by a subcontractor, the contractor shall promptly inform the County and shall specify a wage rate for 
that skill or trade, which shall bind the contractor.

The contractor and any subcontractor shall pay to the County a penalty of sixty dollars ($60.00) for each 
worker employed for each calendar day, or portion thereof, that the worker is paid less than the wage 
rates stipulated in the “Prevailing Wage Schedule” or any supplement thereto. The contractor and each 
subcontractor shall keep, or cause to be kept, an accurate record showing the names and occupations 
of all workers employed in connection with the work, and showing the actual per diem wages paid to 
each worker, which records shall be open at all reasonable hours for the inspection by the County.

Within thirty-one (31) days of receipt of information concerning a violation of the Texas Government Code 
Chapter 2258, the County shall make an initial determination as to whether good cause exists to believe 
a violation occurred. The County ’s decision on the initial determination shall be reduced to writing and 
sent to the contractor or subcontractor against whom the violation was alleged, and to the affected 
worker. When a good cause finding is made, the County shall retain the full amounts claimed by the 
claimant or claimants as the difference between wages paid and wages due under the “Prevailing Wage 
Schedule” and any supplements thereto, together with the applicable penalties, such amounts being 
subtracted from successive progress payments pending a final decision on the violation.

After the County makes its initial determination, the affected contractor or subcontractor and worker have 
fourteen (14) calendar days in which to resolve the issue of whether a violation occurred, including the 
amount that should be retained by the County or paid to the affected worker. If the contractor or 
subcontractor and affected worker reach an agreement concerning the worker ’s claim, the contractor 
shall promptly notify the County in a written document signed by the worker. It the contractor or 

Subcontractor and affected worker do not agree before the fifteenth (15 th) calendar day after the County
determination, the contractor or subcontractor and affected worker must participate in binding arbitration 
in accordance with the Texas General Arbitration Act, Chapter 171, (Texas Civil Practice and Remedies 
Code). The parties to the arbitration have ten (10) calendar days after the expiration of the fifteen (15) 

calendar days referred to above, to agree on an arbitrator; if by the eleventh (11 th) calendar day there is 
no agreement to an arbitrator, a district court shall appoint an arbitrator on the petition of any of the 
parties to the arbitration.

If an arbitrator determines that a violation has occurred, the arbitrator shall assess and award against the 
contractor or subcontractor the amount of penalty as provided above and the amount owed the worker. 
The County may use any amounts retained hereunder to pay the worker the amount as designated in the 
arbitration award. If the County has not retained enough from the contractor or subcontractor to pay the 
worker in accordance with the arbitration award, the worker has a right of action against the contractor 
and subcontractor as appropriate, and the surety of either to receive the amount owed, attorneys ’  fees 
and court costs. The contractor shall promptly furnish a copy of the arbitration award to the County.

Money retained pursuant to the provisions above shall be used to pay the claimant or claimants the 
difference between the amount the worker received in wages for labor on the project at the rate paid by 
the contractor or subcontractor and the amount the worker would have received at the general prevailing 
wage rate as provided by the agreement of the claimant and the contractor or subcontractor affected, or 
in the arbitrator ’s award. The full statutory penalty of sixty dollars ($60.00) per calendar day of violation 
per worker shall be retained by Williamson County to offset its administrative costs, pursuant to Texas 
Government Code, Section, 2258.023. Any retained funds in excess of these amounts shall be paid to 
the contractor on the earlier of the next progress payment or final payment. Provided, however, that the 
County shall have no duty to release any funds to either the claimant or the contractor until it has 
received the notices of agreement or the arbitration award as provided under the provision herein-above.

4.43 CONFIDENTALITY

The Respondent expressly agrees that it will not use any direct or incidental confidential information that 
may be obtained while working in a governmental setting for its own benefit, and agrees that it will not 
access unauthorized areas or confidential information and it will not disclose any information to 
unauthorized third parties, and will take care to guard the security of the information at all times.

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 359



5

6

3 4

Williamson County – Request for Proposal (RFP)

SECTION 1 - DEFINITIONS 

Addendum/Addenda – means any written or graphic instruments issued by the County prior to the 
consideration of Proposals which modify or interpret the Proposal Documents by additions, deletions, 
clarifications, or corrections.

Agreement/Ensuing Agreement(s) – means the Successful Respondent may be required by the 
County to sign an additional Agreement containing terms necessary to ensure compliance with the RFP 
and the Respondent ’s Proposal.  Such Ensuing Agreement(s) shall contain the Proposal specifications, 
terms and conditions that are derived from the RFP.

Contract – means this RFP and the Proposal of the Successful Respondent shall become a Contract 
between the Successful Respondent and the County once the Successful Respondent ’s Proposal is 
properly accepted by the Williamson County Commissioners Court (sometimes referred to herein as the 
Commissioner ’s Court”).

Commissioner ’s Court – means the Williamson County Commissioners Court. 

County – means Williamson County, a political subdivision of the State of Texas.

Executive Summary – means the document submitted by Respondent that represents a concise 
summary of the contents of the Proposal. It does not include any information concerning costs. 

Proposal Documents – means the Legal Notice, RFP including attachments, and any Addenda issued 
by the County prior to the consideration of any Proposals.

Proposal – means the complete, properly signed document, and ALL required forms and documentation 
listed in the proposal package which have been submitted in accordance with this RFP package. A 
Proposal submitted in accordance with this RFP is irrevocable during the specified time period for 
evaluation and acceptance of Proposals, unless a waiver is obtained from the Williamson County 
Purchasing Agent.

Respondent – means a person or entity who submits a Proposal in response to this RFP.

Request for Proposals (RFP) – means this document, together with the attachments thereto and any 
future Addenda issued by the County.

Successful Respondent– means the responsible Respondent who, in the County ’s sole opinion, 
submits the Proposal which is in the best interest of the County, taking into account factors identified 
herein, and to whom the County intends to award the Contract.

SECTION 2 - RESPONSE FORMAT AND SUBMISSION

2.1 INTRODUCTION

Each Proposal submitted in response to this RFP should clearly reference the numbered sections of this 
RFP that require a response.  Failure to arrange the Proposal as requested may result in the 
disqualification of the Proposal.

Though there is not a page limit for Proposals, to save natural resources including paper, and to allow the 
County staff to efficiently evaluate all submitted Proposals, the County requests that Proposals be 
orderly, concise, but comprehensive in providing the requested information.  Conciseness and clarity of 
content are emphasized and encouraged.  If mailed or delivered in person, please limit additional, non
requested information.

Please provide your Proposal response using:

A. 8 ½” x 11” pages, inclusive of any cover letter or supporting materials.

B. The least amount of plastic/laminate or other non-recyclable binding materials.

C. Single-sided printing.

Vague and general Proposals will be considered non-responsive, and may, at the County ’s sole 
discretion, result in disqualification. Proposals must be legible and complete.  Failure to provide the 
required information may result in the disqualification of the Proposal. All pages of the Proposal should 
be numbered and the Proposal should contain an organized, paginated table of contents corresponding 
to the sections and pages of the Proposal.

2.2 ORGANIZATION OF PROPOSAL CONTENTS AND TABLE OF CONTENTS 

Each Proposal should be submitted with a table of contents that clearly identifies and denotes the 
location of all enclosures of the Proposal. The table of contents should follow the RFP ’s structure as 
much as is practical.

Each Proposal should be organized in the manner described below:

A. Transmittal Letter. Please see Section 2.3, Transmittal Letter, for more information. 

B. Table of Contents. 

C. Executive Summary. Please see Section 2.4, Executive Summary. 

D. Proposal Response to Criteria. (Please see the sections in this RFP package that list the 
Specifications & Cost Proposal, Experience and Qualifications, References, and Implementation 
Strategy to respond to our criteria in a clear and concise manner) 

E. Price Sheet. 

F. References: Identification of three (3) references within the last four (4) years, for which the 
Respondent is providing, or has provided, the goods and/or services (public sector) of the type 
requested in this RFP. Include the name, position/title, and telephone number of a contact person 
at each entity. 

G.  Conflict of Interest Questionnaire. 

H. Proposal Affidavit (Signature Page).

I. Attach your entities sample Contract, if applicable, for the County ’s review and consideration. This 
should include any additional terms or conditions. The County is not required to use the sample 
Contract submitted. 

2.3 TRANSMITTAL LETTER

The Respondent should submit a Transmittal Letter that provides the following information: 

A. Name and address of individual or business entity submitting the Proposal. 

B. Respondent ’s type of business entity (i.e., Corporation, General Partnership, Limited Partnership, 
LLC, etc.).  See Section 3.5, Signature of Respondent, for more information. 

C. Place of incorporation or organization, if applicable.

D. Name and location of major offices and other facilities that relate to the Respondent
performance under the terms of this RFP.

E. Name, physical address, email address, business and fax number of the Respondent ’s principal 
contact person regarding all contractual matters relating to this RFP.

F. The Respondent ’s Federal Employer Identification Number.

G. A commitment by the Respondent to provide the services required by the County;

H. A statement that the Proposal is valid for the time specified on page three (3), under the section 
named Prices Good for, of this Proposal packet. Any Proposal containing a term of less than the 
required amount, may at the County ’s sole discretion, be rejected as non-responsive.

I. If the Proposal being submitted will have an effect on air quality for the County (as it relates to any 
state, federal, or voluntary air quality standard), then the Respondent is encouraged to provide
information in narrative indicating the anticipated air quality impact. See Section 4.40, Air Quality 
for more information. 

The Transmittal Letter should be signed by a person legally authorized to bind the Respondent to the
representations in the Transmittal Letter and the Proposal.  In the case of a joint Proposal, each party 
must sign the Transmittal Letter.

2.4 EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

The Respondent should provide an Executive Summary of its Proposal that asserts that the Respondent 
is providing in its response all of the requirements of this RFP.  The Executive Summary should not 
include any information concerning the cost of the Proposal, but instead must represent a full and 
concise summary of the contents of the Proposal.  It is recommended the Executive Summary include 
the following information: 

A. Identify any goods and/or services that are provided beyond those specifically requested.  If the 
Respondent is providing services and/or goods that do not meet the specific requirements of this 
RFP, but in the opinion of the Respondent are equivalent or superior to those specifically 
requested, any such differences should be noted in the Executive Summary. However, the 
Respondent must realize that failure to provide the goods and/or services specifically required, at 
the County ’s sole discretion, may result in disqualification of the Proposal.

B. Indicate why the Respondent believes that it is the most qualified Respondent to provide the 
services described in this RFP.  The Successful Respondent must demonstrate extensive 
experience and understanding of the intent of this project.  The Respondent should describe in 
detail the current and historical experience the Respondent and its subcontractors have that 
would be relevant to completing the project.  References must contain the name of key personnel 
and telephone numbers for each contact, as described in Section 3.14, References.  

C. Briefly state why the Respondent believes its proposed goods and/or services best meet the 
County ’s needs and RFP requirements, and the Respondent also should concisely describe any 
additional features, aspects, or advantages of its goods and/or services in any relevant area not 
covered elsewhere in its Proposal.

2.5 CONFLICT OF INTEREST

No public official shall have interest in a contract, in accordance with Vernon ’s Texas Codes Annotated, 
Local Government Code, Title 5, Subtitle C, Chapter 171, as amended. 

As of January 1, 2006, all Respondents are responsible for complying with Local Government Code, Title 
5, Subtitle C, Chapter 176.  Additional information may be obtained from the County’s website at the 
following link: 

http://www.wilco.org/CountyDepartments/Purchasing/ConflictofInterestDisclosure/tabid/689/language/en
US/Default.aspx

Each Respondent must disclose any existing or potential conflict of interest relative to the performance of 
the requirements of this RFP.  Examples of potential conflicts of interest may include an existing 
business or personal relationship between the Respondent, its principal, or any affiliate or 
subcontractor with the County or any other entity or person involved in any way with the project 
that is subject to this RFP.  Similarly, any personal or business relationship between the Respondent, 
the principals, or any affiliate or subcontractor with any employee, or official of the County or its suppliers 
must be disclosed.  Any such relationship that might be perceived or represented as a conflict must be 
disclosed. Failure to disclose any such relationship or reveal personal relationships with the County 
employees or officials may be cause for termination. 

The County will decide if an actual or perceived conflict should result in Proposal disqualification. 

By submitting a Proposal in response to this RFP, all Respondents affirm they have not given, nor intend 
to give, at any time hereafter, any economic opportunity, future employment, gift, loan, gratuity, special 
discount, trip, favor, or service to a the County public servant or any employee, official or representative 
of same, in connection with this procurement. 

Each Respondent must provide a Conflict of Interest Statement with their Proposal Package.  

Package may be deemed incomplete without this form.  

2.6 CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PARTIES – FORM 1295

As of January 1, 2016, all Respondents are responsible for complying with the Texas Government Code, 
Section 2252.908.  The law states that the County may not enter into certain contracts with a 
Respondent unless the Respondent submits a disclosure of interested parties to the County at the time 
the Respondent submits the signed contract.  The law applies only to a contract of the County on or after 
January 1, 2016 that either:

A. Requires an action or vote by the Commissioners Court before the contract may be signed (all 
contracts that fall under the jurisdiction of the Commissioners Court approval, such as contracts 
resulting from an Initiation for Bid (IFB), RFP, Request for Qualifications (RFQ), etc., excluding, 
but not limited to, certain Juvenile Service contracts, contracts funded with Sheriff ’s seized fun 
monies, etc.); or

B. Has a value of at least $1,000,000. 

By January 1, 2016, the Texas Ethics Commission will make available on its website, a new filing 
application that must be used to file Form 1295.  Information regarding how to use the filing application is 
available on the Texas Ethics Commission website at the following link:

https://www.ethics.state.tx.us/whatsnew/elf_info_form1295.htm

A Respondent must:

A. Use the online application to process the required information on Form 1295.

B. Print a copy of the form which will contain a unique certification number.

C. An authorized agent of the Respondent must sign the printed copy of the form.

D. Have the form notarized.

E. File the completed Form 1295 and certification of filing (scanning and emailing form is sufficient) 
with Williamson County Purchasing Agent at the time the signed Contract is submitted for 
approval.

After the Commissioners Court award of the contract, the County shall notify the Texas Ethics 
Commission, using the Texas Ethics Commission ’s filing application, of the receipt of the filed Form 
1295 and certification of filing not later than the 30th day after the date the contract binds all parties to the 
contract. The Texas Ethics Commission will post the completed Form 1295 to its website within seven 
business days after receiving notice from the County.

2.7 PROPOSAL SUBMITTAL DEADLINE

The Proposal is due no later than the submittal date and time set forth in the Public Announcement and 
General Information listed in this RFP package.  Contents of each Proposal shall be submitted in 
accordance with this RFP.

2.8 ETHICS

The Respondent shall not accept or offer gifts or anything of value, nor enter into any business 
arrangement with any employee, official or agent of the County.

2.9 DELIVERY OF PROPOSALS

The County uses BidSync to distribute and receive bids and Proposals.  It is preferred that Proposals
be submitted electronically through BidSync; however, Respondents can submit a hard copy.  

Refer to www.bidsync.com for further information on how to submit electronically.

If mailed or delivered in person, Proposal and Proposal Addenda are to be delivered in sealed envelope
on or before the submittal deadline, as noted in the Public Announcement and General Information listed 
in this RFP package, to:

            Williamson County Purchasing Department
            Attn: Proposal Name and Number
            901 South Austin Avenue
            Georgetown, Texas 78626

Also, all Respondents should list their Name and Address, and the Date of the Proposal opening on the
outside of the box or envelope and note “Sealed Proposal Enclosed.” Williamson County will not accept 
any Proposals after the submittal deadline, and shall return such Proposals unopened to the 
Respondent.  The County will not accept any responsibility for Proposals being delivered by third party 
carriers. 

Proposals will be opened publicly; however, in a manner to avoid public disclosure of contents, only 
names of Respondents will be read aloud: no pricing will be announced at the opening. 

SECTION 3 - INSTRUCTIONS AND GENERAL REQUIREMENTS

3.1 INSTRUCTIONS

Read this document carefully, and follow all instructions and requirements.  All Respondents are 
responsible for fulfilling all requirements and specifications.  Be sure to have a clear understanding of this
RFP.

General requirements apply to all advertised RFPs; however, these may be superseded, in whole or in 
part, by the proposal specifications, Addenda and modifications issued as a part of this RFP.  Be sure 
your Proposal package is complete.

3.2 AMBIGUITY, CONFLICT, OR OTHER ERRORS IN THIS RFP

If a Respondent discovers any ambiguity, conflict, discrepancy, omission or other error in this RFP, the 
Respondent shall immediately notify the County Purchasing Department of such error in writing and
request modification or clarification of the document.

Modifications will be made by issuing Addenda. If the Respondent fails to notify the County prior to the
date and time fixed for submission of Proposals of an error or ambiguity in the RFP known to the
Respondent, or an error or ambiguity that reasonably should have been known to the Respondent, then 
the Respondent shall be deemed to have waived the error or ambiguity or its later resolution.

The County may also modify the RFP, no later than forty-eight (48) hours prior to the date and time fixed
for submission of Proposals, by issuance of an Addendum.  All Addenda will be numbered consecutively, 
beginning with one (1).

3.3 NOTIFICATION OF MOST CURRENT ADDRESS

All Respondents in receipt of this RFP shall notify the Williamson County Purchasing Department of any
address changes, contact person changes, and/or telephone number changes no later than forty-eight 
(48) hours prior to the date and time fixed for submission of Proposals.

3.4 SIGNATURE OF RESPONDENT

A Transmittal Letter, which shall be considered an integral part of the Proposal as stated in Section 2.3, 
Transmittal Letter, shall be signed by an individual who is authorized to bind the Respondent
contractually.

A. If the Respondent is a Corporation or Limited Liability Company, the legal name of the Corporation
or Limited Liability Company shall be provided together with the signature of the officer or officers 
authorized to sign on behalf of such entity.

B. If the Respondent is a General Partnership, the true name of the firm shall be provided with the
signature of each partner authorized to sign.

C. If the Respondent is a Limited Partnership, the name of the Limited Partner ’s General Partner
shall be provided with the signature of the officer authorized to sign on behalf of the General
Partner.

D. If the Respondent is a Sole Proprietor(s) (individual), each Sole Proprietor(s) shall sign.

E. If signature is by an agent, other than the Sole Proprietor(s) or an officer of a Corporation, Limited 
Liability Company, General Partner or a member of a General Partnership, a power of attorney
equivalent document must be submitted to the Williamson County Purchasing Department.

3.5 ASSUMED BUSINESS NAME

If the Respondent operates business under an Assumed Business Name, the Respondent must have
file with the Williamson County Clerk a current Assumed Name Certificate and provide a file marked copy 
of same prior to contract award.

3.6 ECONOMY OF PRESENTATION

Proposals should not contain promotional or display materials, except as they may directly answer in 
whole or in part questions contained in the RFP.  Such exhibits shall be clearly marked with the 
applicable reference number of the question in the RFP.  Proposals must address the technical 
requirements as specified in the RFP.  All questions posed by the RFP must be answered concisely and 
clearly. Proposals that do not address each criterion may be, at the sole discretion of the County, 
rejected and not considered.

3.7 PROPOSAL OBLIGATION 

The contents of the RFP, Proposal, and any clarification thereof submitted by the Successful
Respondent shall become part of the contractual obligation and incorporated by reference into the 
Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s).

3.8 COMPLIANCE WITH RFP SPECIFICATIONS

It is intended that this RFP describe the requirements and the Proposal format in sufficient detail to 
secure comparable Proposal.  Failure to comply with all provisions of the RFP may, at the sole discretion 
of the County, result in disqualification.

3.9 EVALUATION 

The County reserves the right to use all pertinent information (also learned from sources other than 
disclosed in the RFP process) that might affect the County ’s judgment as to the appropriateness of
award to the best evaluated Respondent. This information may be appended to the Proposal evaluation
process results. Information on a Respondent from reliable sources, and not within the Respondent
Proposal, may also be noted and made part of the evaluation fi le.  The County shall have sole 
discretion for determining the reliability of the source.  The County reserves the right to conduct written 
and/or oral discussions/interviews after the Proposal opening.  The purpose of such 
discussions/interviews is to provide clarification and/or additional information to make an award that is in 
the best interest of the County.

3.10 WITHDRAWAL OF PROPOSAL

The Respondent may withdraw its Proposal by submitting a written request with the company letterhead 
and the signature of an authorized individual, as described in Section 3.4, Signature of Respondent, to 
the Williamson County Purchasing Department any time prior to the submission deadline.  

The Respondent may submit a new Proposal prior to the deadline. Alterations of the Proposal in any 
manner will not be considered if submitted after the deadline.  Withdrawal of a Proposal after the deadline 
will be subject to written approval of the Williamson County Purchasing Agent.

3.11 RESPONSIBILITY 

It is expected that a Respondent will be able to affirmatively demonstrate responsibility.  A prospective
Respondent should be able to meet the following requirements:

A. Have adequate financial resources, or the ability to obtain such resources as required;
B. Be able to comply with the required or proposed delivery schedule;
C. Have a satisfactory record of performance that can be determined thru references provided; and 
D. Be otherwise qualified and eligible to receive an award.

The County may request representation and other information sufficient to determine the Respondent
ability to meet these minimum standards listed above.

3.12 PURCHASE ORDERS

If required by the Williamson County Purchasing Department, a purchase order(s) may be generated to 
the Successful Respondent for goods and/or services.  If a purchase order is issued, the purchase order 
number must appear on all itemized invoices and/or requests for payment.

3.13 SILENCE OF SPECIFICATIONS

The apparent silence of any RFP specifications as to any detail or to the apparent omission from it of a 
detailed description concerning any point, shall be regarded as meaning that only the best practices are 
to prevail.  All interpretations of these specifications shall be made on the basis of this statement.

3.14 REFERENCES

Respondents shall furnish a list of contracts where similar responsibilities and goods and/or services 
have been required and/or performed for the past five (5) years, to include names, titles, phone numbers 
and email addresses of reference contacts, contract numbers and dates of performance. 

Also, Respondents shall include a list of any contracts that have been cancelled or terminated within the 
last five (5) years, along with an explanation of the cancellation and the names, email address and phone 
number of a reference person with that institution. 

The County may contact some or all of the references in order to determine the Respondent
performance record on work similar to that described in this RFP.  The County reserves the right to 
contact references other than those provided in the response and to use the information gained from 
them in the evaluation process. 

References should be provided in accordance with this RFP.  Proposal may not be deemed complete 
without the inclusion of requested references.

SECTION 4 - TERMS AND CONDITIONS

4.1 VENUE AND GOVERNING LAW

The Respondent hereby agrees and acknowledges that venue and jurisdiction of any suit, right, or cause 
of action arising out of or in connection with this RFP, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s), shall 
lie exclusively in either Williamson County, Texas or in the Austin Division of the Western Federal District 
of Texas, and the parties hereto expressly consent and submit to such jurisdiction.  Furthermore, except 
to the extent that this RFP, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) is governed by the laws of the 
United States, this RFP, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be governed by and 
construed in accordance with the laws of the State of Texas, excluding, however, its choice of law rules.

4.2 INCORPORATION BY REFERENCE AND PRECEDENCE

A. The Contract shall be derived from the RFP and its Addenda (if applicable), and the Respondent
Proposal.  In the event of a dispute under the Contract, applicable documents will be referred to 
for the purpose of clarification or for additional detail in the following order of precedence:

1. The RFP and its Addenda (if applicable); and 

2. The Respondent ’s Proposal.

B. In the event the County requires that an Ensuing Agreement be executed following award and a 
dispute arises between the terms and conditions of the Ensuing Agreement, the RFP and its 
Addenda (if applicable), and the Respondent ’s Proposal, applicable documents will be referred to 
for the purpose of clarification or for additional detail in the following order of precedence: 

1. The terms and conditions of the Ensuing Agreement;

2. The RFP and its Addenda; and  

3. The Respondent ’s Proposal.

4.3 OWNERSHIP OF PROPOSAL

Each Proposal shall become the property of the County upon submittal and will not be returned to 
Respondents unless received after the submittal deadline.

4.4 DISQUALIFICATION OF RESPONDENT

Upon signing and submittal of the Proposal, a Respondent offering to sell supplies, materials, services, 
or equipment to the County, certifies that the Respondent has not violated the antitrust laws of the State 
of Texas codified in Business & Commerce Code, Section 15.01, or the Federal Antitrust Laws, and has 
not communicated directly or indirectly the offer made to any competitor or any other person engaged
such line of business.  Any or all Proposals may be rejected if the County believes that collusion exists 
among the Respondents.

4.5 FUNDING

The County intends to budget and make sufficient funds available and authorize funds for expenditure to 
finance the costs of the Contract.  All Respondents understand and agree that the County’s payment of 
amounts under the Contract shall be contingent on the County receiving appropriations or other 
expenditure authority sufficient to allow the County, in the exercise of reasonable administrative 
discretion, to make payments under this Contract.

4.6 ASSIGNMENT, SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS 

The Successful Respondent may not assign, sell, or otherwise transfer the Contract or any other rights 
or interests obtained under the Contract without written permission of the Williamson County the 
Commissioners Court.  The Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be binding upon and inure to 
the benefit of the contracting parties hereto and their respective successors and permitted assigns.

4.7 IMPLIED REQUIREMENTS

Products or services not specifically described or required in the RFP, but are necessary to provide the 
functional capabilities described by the Respondent, shall be implied and deemed to be included in the
Proposal.

4.8 TERMINATION

A. Termination for Cause: The County reserves the right to terminate the Contract and/or any 
Ensuing Agreement(s) for default if the Successful Respondent breaches any of the Proposal
specifications, terms and conditions, including warranties of the Respondent, if any, or if the 
Successful Respondent becomes insolvent or commits acts of bankruptcy.  Such right of 
termination is in addition to and not in lieu of any other remedies the County may have at law or
equity or as may otherwise be provided hereunder.  Default may be construed as, but not limited 
to, failure to deliver the proper goods and/or services within the proper amount of time, and/or to 
properly perform any and all other requirements to the County ’s satisfaction, and/or to meet all 
other obligations and requirements.

B. Termination for Convenience: The County may terminate the Contract and/or any Ensuing 
Agreement(s) for convenience and without cause or further liability, upon no less than thirty (30) 
calendar days written notice to the Successful Respondent. The County reserves the right to 
extend this period if it is in the best interest of the County.  In the event the County exercises its 
right to terminate without cause, it is understood and agreed that only the amounts due to the 
Successful Respondent for goods, commodities and/or services provided and expenses incurred 
to and including the date of termination, will be due and payable.  No penalty will be assessed for 
the County ’s termination for convenience.

4.9 NON-PERFORMANCE

It is the objective of the County to obtain complete and satisfactory performance of the requirements set 
forth herein.  In addition to any other remedies available at law, in equity or that may be set out herein, 
failure to perform may result in a deduction of payment equal to the amount of the goods and/or services 
that were not provided and/or performed to the County ’s satisfaction.  

In the event of such non-performance, the County shall have the right, but shall not be obligated, to 
complete the services itself or by others and/or purchase the goods from other sources.  If the County 
elects to acquire the goods or perform the services itself or by others, pursuant to the foregoing, the 
Successful Respondent shall reimburse the County, within ten (10) calendar days of demand, for all 
costs incurred by the County (including, without limitation, applicable, general, and administrative 
expenses, and field overhead, and the cost of necessary equipment, materials, and field labor) in 
correcting the nonperformance which the Successful Respondent fails to meet pursuant to the 
requirements set out herein.  In the event the Successful Respondent refuses to reimburse the County 
as set out in this provision, the County shall have the right to deduct such reimbursement amounts from 
any amounts that may be then owing or that may become owing in the future to the Successful
Respondent.

4.10 PROPRIETARY INFORMATION AND THE TEXAS PUBLIC INFORMATION ACT

All material submitted to the County shall become public property and subject to the Texas Public 
Information Act upon receipt. If a Respondent does not desire proprietary information in the Proposal to 
be disclosed, each page must be clearly identified and marked proprietary at time of submittal or, more 
preferably, all proprietary information may be placed in a folder or appendix and be clearly identified and 
marked as being proprietary.  Failure to clearly identify and mark information as being proprietary as set 
forth under this provision will result in all unmarked information being deemed non-proprietary and 
available to the public.  For all information that has not been clearly identified and marked as proprietary 
by the Respondent, the County may choose to place such information on the County ’s website and/or a 
similar public database without obtaining any type of prior consent from the Respondent.

The County will, to the extent allowed by law, endeavor to protect from public disclosure the information 
that has been identified and marked as proprietary.  The final decision as to what information must be 
disclosed, however, lies with the Texas Attorney General.  

To the extent, if any, that any provision in this RFP or in the Respondent ’s Proposal is in conflict with 
Texas Government Code, Chapter 552, as amended (the “Public Information Act”), the same shall be of 
no force or effect.  Furthermore, it is expressly understood, and agreed, that the County, and its officers 
and employees, may request advice, decisions and opinions of the Attorney General of the State of
Texas in regard to the application of the Public Information Act to any items or data furnished to the 
County as to whether or not the same are available to the public.  It is further understood that that the 
County, and its officers and employees, shall have the right to rely on the advice, decisions and opinions 
of the Attorney General, and that the County, its officers and employees shall have no liability or obligation 
to any party hereto for the disclosure to the public, or to any person or persons, of any items or data 
furnished to the County by a party hereto, in reliance of any advice, decision or opinion of the Attorney 
General of the State of Texas.

4.11 RIGHT TO AUDIT

The Successful Respondent agrees that the County or its duly authorized representatives shall, until the 
expiration of three (3) years after termination or expiration of the services to be performed, have access 
to and the right to examine and photocopy any and all books, documents, papers and records of the 
Successful Respondent, which are directly pertinent to the services to be performed or goods to
delivered for the purposes of making audits, examinations, excerpts and transcriptions.  The Successful 
Respondent agrees that the County shall have access during normal working hours to all necessary 
facilities and shall be provided adequate and appropriate work space in order to conduct audits in 
compliance with the provisions of this section.  The County shall give the Successful Respondent 
reasonable advance notice of intended audits.

4.12 TESTING AND INSPECTIONS

The County reserves the right to inspect and test equipment, supplies, materials and goods for quality 
and compliance with this RFP, and ability to meet the needs of the user.  Demonstration units must be 
available for review.  Should the goods or services fail to meet requirements and/or be unavailable for 
evaluation, the County can deem the Respondent to be in breach and terminate the Contract and/or any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

4.13 PROPOSAL PREPARATION COSTS

The cost of developing Proposals is the sole responsibility of the Respondents and shall not be charged 
to the County.  There is no expressed or implied obligation for the County to reimburse the Respondents 
for any expense incurred in preparing a Proposal in response to this RFP and the County will not 
reimburse the Respondents for such expenses.

4.14 INDEMNIFICATION

The Successful Respondent shall indemnify, defend and save harmless, the County, its officials, 
employees, agents and agent ’s employees from, and against, all claims, liability, and expenses including 
reasonable attorneys ’ fees, arising from activities of the Respondent, its agents, servants or employees, 
performed hereunder that result from the negligent act, error, or omission of the Respondent or any of 
the Respondent ’s agents, servants or employees, as well as all claims of loss or damage to the 
Respondent ’s and the County ’s property, equipment, and/or supplies. 

Furthermore, the County, its officials, employees, agents and agents ’ employees shall not be liable for 
damages to the Successful Respondent arising from any act of any third party, including, but not limited 
to, theft.  The Successful Respondent further agrees to indemnify, defend and save harmless, the 
County from its officials, employee, agents and agents ’ employees against all claims of whatever nature 
arising from any accident, injury, or damage whatsoever, caused to any person, or the property of any 
person, occurring in relation to the Successful Respondent ’s performance of any services requested 
hereunder during the term of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s). 

The Successful Respondent shall timely report all claims, demands, suits, actions, proceedings, liens or 
judgements to the County and shall, upon the receipt of any claim, demand, suit, action, proceeding, lien 

or judgement, not later than the fifteenth (15 th) day of each month; provide the County with a written 
report on each such matter, setting forth the status of each matter, the schedule or planned proceedings 
with respect to each matter and the cooperation or assistance, if any, of the County required by the 
Successful Respondent in the defense of each matter.  The Successful Respondent’s duty to defend, 
indemnify and hold the County harmless shall be absolute.  It shall not abate or end by reason of the 
expiration or termination of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s), unless otherwise agreed by 
the County in writing.  The provisions of this section shall survive the termination of the Contract and shall 
remain in full force and effect with respect to all such matters no matter when they arise. 

In the event of any dispute between the parties, as to whether a claim, demand, suit, action, proceeding, 
lien or judgement, that appears to have been caused by or appears to have arisen out of or in connection 
with acts or omissions of the County, the Respondent shall nevertheless fully defend such claim, 
demand, suit or action, proceeding, lien or judgement, until and unless there is  a determination by a 
court of competent jurisdiction that the acts and omissions of the Respondent are not an issue in the 
matter. 

The Successful Respondent ’s indemnification shall cover, and the Successful Respondent agrees to, 
indemnify the County, in the event the County is found to have been negligent for having selected the 
Successful Respondent to perform the work described in this request.  The provision by the Successful 
Respondent of insurance shall not limit the liability of the Successful Respondent under the Contract 
and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s). 

4.15 WAIVER OF SUBROGATION

The Successful Respondent and the Successful Respondent ’s insurance carrier waive any and all rights 
whatsoever with regard to subrogation against the County as an indirect party to any suit arising out of 
personal or property damages resulting from the Respondent ’s performance under this Contract and any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

4.16 RELATIONSHIP OF THE PARTIES

The Successful Respondent shall be an independent contractor and shall assume all of the rights, 
obligations, liabilities, applicable to it as such independent contractor hereunder and any provisions 
herein which may appear to give the County the right to direct the Successful Respondent as to details of 
doing work herein covered, or to exercise a measure of control over the work, shall be deemed to mean 
that the Successful Respondent shall follow the desires of the County in the results of the work only.  The 
County shall not retain or have the right to control the Successful Respondent ’s means, methods or 
details pertaining to the Successful Respondent ’s performance of the work.  The County and the 
Successful Respondent hereby agree and declare that the Successful Respondent is an independent 
contractor and as such meets the qualifications of an “Independent Contractor” under Texas Workers 
Compensation Act, Texas Labor Code, Section 406.141, that the Successful Respondent is not an 
employee of  the County, and that the Successful Respondent and its employees, agents and 
subcontractors shall not be entitled to workers compensation coverage or any other type of insurance 
coverage held by the County.

4.17 SOLE PROVIDER

The Successful Respondent agrees and acknowledges that it shall not be considered a sole provider of 
the goods and/or services described herein and that the County may contract with other providers of 
such goods and/or services if the County deems, at its sole discretion, that multiple providers of the 
same goods and/or services will serve the best interest of the County.

4.18 FORCE MAJEURE

If the party obligated to perform is prevented from performance by an act of war, order of legal authority, 
act of God, or other unavoidable cause not attributable to the fault or negligence of said party, the other 
party shall grant such party relief from the performance.  The burden of proof for the need of such relief 
shall rest upon the party obligated to perform.  To obtain release based on force majeure, the party 
obligated to perform shall file a written request with the other party.

4.19 SEVERABILITY

If any provision of this RFP, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be held invalid or 
unenforceable by any court of competent jurisdiction, such holding shall not invalidate or render 
unenforceable any other provision thereof, but rather the entire RFP, Contract or any Ensuing Agreement
(s) will be construed as if not containing the particular invalid or unenforceable provision or provisions, 
and the rights and obligation of the parties shall be construed and enforced in accordance therewith.  The 
parties acknowledge that if any provision of this RFP, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) is 
determined to be invalid or unenforceable, it is the desire and intention of each that such provision be 
reformed and construed in such a manner that it will, to the maximum extent practicable, give effect to
the intent of this RFP, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) and be deemed to be validated and
enforceable.

4.20 EQUAL OPPORTUNITY

Neither party shall discriminate against any employee or applicant for employment because of race, 
color, sex, religion or national origin.

4.21 NOTICE

Any notice to be given shall be in writing and may be distributed by personal delivery, or by registered or 
certified mail, return receipt requested, addressed to the proper party, at the following address:

The County:    Williamson County Purchasing Department 
            Attn: Purchasing Agent 
            901 South Austin Avenue 
            Georgetown, Texas 78626

The Respondent: Address set out in Respondent ’s Transmittal Letter

Notices given in accordance with this provision shall be effective upon (1) receipt by the party to which 
notice is given, or (2) on the third (3rd) calendar day following mailing, whichever occurs first.

4.22 SALES AND USE TAX EXEMPTION

The County is a body, corporate and politic, under the laws of the State of Texas and claims exemption 
from sales and use taxes under Texas Tax Code, Section 151.309, as amended, and the services and/or 
goods subject hereof are being secured for use by the County.

4.23 COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS

The County and the Successful Respondent shall comply with all federal, state, and local laws, statutes,
ordinances, rules and regulations, and the orders and decrees of any courts or administrative bodies or 
tribunals in any matter affecting the performance of the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s),
including, without limitation, Workers ’ Compensation laws, salary and wage statutes and regulations, 
licensing laws and regulations.  When required, the Successful Respondent shall furnish the County with 
certification of compliance with said laws, statues, ordinances, rules, regulations, orders, and decrees 
above specified.

4.24 INCORPORATION OF EXHIBITS, APPENDICES AND ATTACHMENTS

All of the Exhibits, Appendices and Attachments referred to herein are incorporated by reference as if set 
forth verbatim herein.  Any conflicting terms in the Contract documents will be resolved at the sole 
discretion of the Commissioners Court.

4.25 NO WAIVER OF IMMUNITIES

Nothing herein shall be deemed to waive, modify or amend any legal defense available at law or in equity 
to the County, its past or present officers, employees, or agents, nor to create any legal rights or claim on 
behalf of any third party.  The County does not waive, modify, or alter to any extent whatsoever the 
availability of the defense of governmental immunity under the laws of the State of Texas and of the 
United States.

4.26 NO WAIVER

The failure or delay of any party to enforce at any time or any period of time any of the provisions of this 
RFP, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall not constitute a present or future waiver of such 
provisions nor the right of either party to enforce each and every provision.  Furthermore, no term or 
provision hereof shall be deemed waived and no breach excused unless such waiver or consent shall be 
in writing and signed by the party claimed to have waived or consented.  Any consent by any party to, or 
waiver of, a breach by the other, whether expressed or implied, shall not constitute a consent to, waiver 
of or excuse for any other, different or subsequent breach.

4.27 CURRENT REVENUES

The obligations of the parties under the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) do not constitute a 
general obligation or indebtedness of the County for which the County is obligated to levy, pledge, or 
collect any of taxation.  It is understood and agreed that the County shall have the right to terminate the 
Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) at the end of any the County fiscal year if the governing body of 
the County does not appropriate sufficient funds as determined by the County ’s budget for the fiscal year 
in question.  The County may effect such termination by giving written notice of termination to the 
Successful Respondent at the end of its then-current fiscal year.

4.28 BINDING EFFECT

This Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties 
and their respective permitted assigns and successors.

4.29 ASSIGNMENT

The Successful Respondent ’s interest and duties hereunder may not be assigned or delegated to a third 
party without the express written consent of the County.

4.30 SAFETY

The Successful Respondent is responsible for initiating, maintaining, and supervising all safety 
precautions and programs in connection with any services to be provided hereunder. The safety program 
shall comply with all applicable requirements of the current federal Occupational Safety and Health Act 
and all other applicable federal, state and local laws and regulations.

4.31 GENERAL OBLIGATIONS AND RELIANCE

The Successful Respondent shall perform all services and/or provide all goods, as well as those
reasonably inferable and necessary for completion and provision of services and/or goods required
hereunder. The Successful Respondent shall keep the County informed of the progress and quality
the services.  The Successful Respondent agrees and acknowledges that the County is relying on the 
Successful Respondent's represented expertise and ability to provide the goods and/or services 
described herein.  The Successful Respondent agrees to use its best efforts, skill, judgment, and abilities
to perform its obligations in accordance with the highest standards used in the profession and to further 
the interests of the County in accordance with the County ’s requirements and procedures.  The 
Successful Respondent ’s duties, as set forth herein, shall at no time be in any way diminished by reason
of any approval by the County, nor shall the Successful Respondent be released from any liability
reason of such approval by the County, it being understood that the County at all times is ultimately 
relying upon the Successful Respondent ’s skill and knowledge in performing the services and providing 
any goods required hereunder.

4.32 CONTRACTUAL DEVELOPMENT

The Commissioners Court may award the Contract on the basis of the initial Proposals received, without
any further or additional discussions.  Therefore, each initial Proposal should contain the Respondent
best terms and offer.  The contents of the RFP and the selected Proposal will become an integral part of 
the Contract, but may be modified, at Williamson County ’s sole discretion, by provisions of an Ensuing 
Agreement.  Therefore, the Respondent must agree to inclusion in an Ensuing Agreement of the 
Proposal specifications, terms and conditions of this RFP.  Williamson County may, at its discretion, opt 
to conduct further discussions with responsible offerors and request the highest ranked firm ’s Best and 
Final Offer (BAFO).

4.33 ENTIRE AGREEMENT

The Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall supersede all prior Agreements, written or oral 
between the Successful Respondent and the County and shall constitute the entire Agreement and 
understanding between the parties with respect to the services and/or goods to be provided.  Each of the 
provisions herein shall be binding upon the parties and may not be waived, modified, amended or altered, 
except by writing signed by the Successful Respondent and the County.

4.34 SURVIVABILITY 

All applicable agreements that were entered into between the Successful Respondent and the County, 
under the terms and conditions of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s), shall survive the 
expiration or termination thereof for ninety (90) days unless a new contract has been awarded.

The County may exercise, by written notice to the Successful Respondent no later than ten (10) calendar 
days of the Contract expiration, this clause for emergency cases only. 

4.35 PAYMENT

The County ’s payment for goods and services shall be governed by the Texas Government Code, 

Chapter 2251.  An invoice shall be deemed overdue the thirty-first (31st) day after the later of the 
following: 

A. The date the County receives the goods under the Contract; 
B. The date the performance of the service under the Contract is completed; or 
C. The date the Williamson County Auditor receives an invoice for the goods or services.  

Interest charges for any overdue payments shall be paid by the County in accordance with Texas 
Government Code, Section 2251.025.  More specifically, the rate of interest that shall accrue on a late 
payment is the rate in effect on September 1 of the County ’s fiscal year in which the payment becomes 
due.  The said rate in effect on September 1 shall be equal to the sum of one (1) percent and the prime 

rate published in the Wall Street Journal on the first (1st) day of July of the preceding fiscal year that does 
not fall on a Saturday or Sunday.

In the event that an error appears in an invoice submitted by the Successful Respondent, the County 
shall notify the Successful Respondent of the error not later than the twenty-first (21st) day after the date 
the County receives the invoice.  If the error is resolved in favor of the Successful Respondent, the 
Successful Respondent shall be entitled to receive interest on the unpaid balance of the invoice 
submitted by the Successful Respondent beginning on the date that the payment for the invoice became 
overdue.  If the error is resolved in favor of the County, the Successful Respondent shall submit a 
corrected invoice that must be paid in accordance within the time set forth above.  The unpaid balance 
accrues interest as provided by the Texas Government Code, Chapter 2251, if the corrected invoice is 
not paid by the appropriate date.

As a minimum, invoices shall include:

A. Name, address, and telephone number of the Successful Respondent and similar information in 
the event the payment is to be made to a different address. 

B. The County Contract, Purchase Order. 

C. Identification of items or service as outlined in the Contract.

D. Quantity or quantities, applicable unit prices, total prices and total amount.

E. Any additional payment information which may be called for by the Contract.

Payment inquiries should be directed to the following address:        

            Williamson County Auditor’s Office, Accounts Payable Department
            Email: accountspayable@wilco.org
            Phone: 512-943-1500

4.36 CONTRACTUAL FORMATION AND ENSUING AGREEMENT

The RFP and the Respondent ’s Proposal, when properly accepted by the Commissioners Court, shall 
constitute a Contract equally binding between the Successful Respondent and the County.  The 
Successful Respondent may be required by Williamson County to sign an additional Agreement 
containing terms necessary to ensure compliance with the RFP and Respondent ’s Proposal.

4.37 LEGAL LIABILITY INFORMATION

The Successful Respondent shall disclose all legal liability information by listing any pending litigation
anticipated litigation that your firm is involved in including, but not limited to, potential or actual legal
matters with private parties and any local, state, federal or international governmental entities. The
County reserves the right to consider legal liability information in the recommendation of any proposed 
contract to the Commissioners Court.

4.38 CONFIDENTIALITY

Respondent expressly agrees that it will not use any direct or incidental confidential information that may
be obtained while working in a governmental setting for its own benefit, and agrees that it will not access
unauthorized areas or confidential information and it will not disclose any information to unauthorized
third parties, and will take care to guard the security of the information at all times.

4.39 INCLEMENT WEATHER

In case of inclement weather or any other unforeseen event causing the County to close for business on 
the date of a Proposal submission deadline, the Proposal closing will automatically be postponed until the 
next business day the County is open.  If inclement weather conditions or any other unforeseen event 
causes delays in carrier service operations, the County may issue an Addendum to all known 
Respondents interested in the project to extend the deadline.  It will be the responsibility of the 
Respondent to notify the County of their interest in the project if these conditions are impacting their 
ability to turn in a submission within the stated deadline.  The County reserves the right to make the final 
judgement call to extend any deadline. 

4.40 AIR QUALITY

In determining the overall best Proposal, the County may, to the extent applicable, exercise the option 
granted to local governments under the Texas Local Government Code, Section 271.907.

This option allows the County to evaluate Proposals and give preference to goods and/or services of
Respondent that demonstrates that the Respondent meets or exceeds any and all state or federal 
environmental standards, including voluntary standards, relating to air quality.  If the Proposal being 
submitted will have an effect on air quality for the County (as it relates to any state, federal, or voluntary 
air quality standard), then the Respondent is encouraged to provide information in narrative indicating the 
anticipated air quality impact.  All Respondents are expected to meet all mandated state and federal air 
quality standards.

4.41 COOPERATIVE PURCHASING PROGRAM 

During the term of the Contract resulting from this RFP, the County would like to afford the same prices, 
terms and conditions to other political subdivisions or public entities.  Another entity’s participation in the 
Contract resulting from this RFP is subject to a properly authorized Purchasing Cooperative Inter- local 
Agreement (ILA) with the County.  Any liability created by purchase orders issued against the Contract 
shall be the sole responsibility of the governmental agency placing the order.

4.42 PREVAILING WAGE RATES

To the extent this procurement is for the construction of a public work, including a building, highway, 
road, excavation, and repair work or other project development or improvement, paid for in whole or in 
part from public funds, without regard to whether the work is done under public supervision or direction, 
Texas Government Code, Chapter 2258, shall apply and the contractor shall pay not less than the wage 
scale of the various classes of labor as shown on the “Prevailing Wage Schedule” provided by the 
County. Pursuant to Texas Government Code, Section 2258.022(a)(2), the County has determined the 
general prevailing rate of the “Prevailing Wage Schedule”  in the locality in which the public work is to be 
performed for each craft or type of worker needed to execute the contract and the prevailing rate for legal 
holiday and overtime work by using the prevailing wage rate as determined by the United States 
Department of Labor in accordance with the United States Code, Section 276a (Davis-Bacon Act). 

The specified wage rates are minimum rates only, and are not representations that qualified labor 
adequate to perform the work is available locally at the prevailing wage rates. The County is not bound to 
pay—and will not consider—any claims for additional compensation made by any contractor because the 
contractor pays wages in excess of the applicable minimum rate contained in the Contract Documents. 
The “Prevailing Wage Schedule”  is not a representation that quantities of qualified labor adequate to 
perform the work may be found locally at the specified wage rates.

For classifications not shown, workers shall not be paid less than the wage indicated for laborers. The 
contractor shall notify each worker commencing work on the project the worker ’s job classification and 
the established minimum wage rate required to be paid, as well as the actual amount being paid. The 
notice must be delivered to and signed in acknowledgement of receipt by the employee and must list 
both the monetary wages and fringe benefits to be paid or furnished for each classification in which the 
worker is assigned duties. When requested by the County, competent evidence of compliance with the 
Texas Prevailing Wage Law shall be furnished by contractor. A copy of each worker wage rate 
notification shall be submitted to the County with the Application for Payment for the period during which 
the worker began on-site activities.

Should the contractor at any time become aware that a particular skill or trade not reflected on the 
County ’s “Prevailing Wage Schedule” will be or is being employed in the work, whether by the contractor 
or by a subcontractor, the contractor shall promptly inform the County and shall specify a wage rate for 
that skill or trade, which shall bind the contractor.

The contractor and any subcontractor shall pay to the County a penalty of sixty dollars ($60.00) for each 
worker employed for each calendar day, or portion thereof, that the worker is paid less than the wage 
rates stipulated in the “Prevailing Wage Schedule” or any supplement thereto. The contractor and each 
subcontractor shall keep, or cause to be kept, an accurate record showing the names and occupations 
of all workers employed in connection with the work, and showing the actual per diem wages paid to 
each worker, which records shall be open at all reasonable hours for the inspection by the County.

Within thirty-one (31) days of receipt of information concerning a violation of the Texas Government Code 
Chapter 2258, the County shall make an initial determination as to whether good cause exists to believe 
a violation occurred. The County ’s decision on the initial determination shall be reduced to writing and 
sent to the contractor or subcontractor against whom the violation was alleged, and to the affected 
worker. When a good cause finding is made, the County shall retain the full amounts claimed by the 
claimant or claimants as the difference between wages paid and wages due under the “Prevailing Wage 
Schedule” and any supplements thereto, together with the applicable penalties, such amounts being 
subtracted from successive progress payments pending a final decision on the violation.

After the County makes its initial determination, the affected contractor or subcontractor and worker have 
fourteen (14) calendar days in which to resolve the issue of whether a violation occurred, including the 
amount that should be retained by the County or paid to the affected worker. If the contractor or 
subcontractor and affected worker reach an agreement concerning the worker ’s claim, the contractor 
shall promptly notify the County in a written document signed by the worker. It the contractor or 

Subcontractor and affected worker do not agree before the fifteenth (15 th) calendar day after the County
determination, the contractor or subcontractor and affected worker must participate in binding arbitration 
in accordance with the Texas General Arbitration Act, Chapter 171, (Texas Civil Practice and Remedies 
Code). The parties to the arbitration have ten (10) calendar days after the expiration of the fifteen (15) 

calendar days referred to above, to agree on an arbitrator; if by the eleventh (11 th) calendar day there is 
no agreement to an arbitrator, a district court shall appoint an arbitrator on the petition of any of the 
parties to the arbitration.

If an arbitrator determines that a violation has occurred, the arbitrator shall assess and award against the 
contractor or subcontractor the amount of penalty as provided above and the amount owed the worker. 
The County may use any amounts retained hereunder to pay the worker the amount as designated in the 
arbitration award. If the County has not retained enough from the contractor or subcontractor to pay the 
worker in accordance with the arbitration award, the worker has a right of action against the contractor 
and subcontractor as appropriate, and the surety of either to receive the amount owed, attorneys ’  fees 
and court costs. The contractor shall promptly furnish a copy of the arbitration award to the County.

Money retained pursuant to the provisions above shall be used to pay the claimant or claimants the 
difference between the amount the worker received in wages for labor on the project at the rate paid by 
the contractor or subcontractor and the amount the worker would have received at the general prevailing 
wage rate as provided by the agreement of the claimant and the contractor or subcontractor affected, or 
in the arbitrator ’s award. The full statutory penalty of sixty dollars ($60.00) per calendar day of violation 
per worker shall be retained by Williamson County to offset its administrative costs, pursuant to Texas 
Government Code, Section, 2258.023. Any retained funds in excess of these amounts shall be paid to 
the contractor on the earlier of the next progress payment or final payment. Provided, however, that the 
County shall have no duty to release any funds to either the claimant or the contractor until it has 
received the notices of agreement or the arbitration award as provided under the provision herein-above.

4.43 CONFIDENTALITY

The Respondent expressly agrees that it will not use any direct or incidental confidential information that 
may be obtained while working in a governmental setting for its own benefit, and agrees that it will not 
access unauthorized areas or confidential information and it will not disclose any information to 
unauthorized third parties, and will take care to guard the security of the information at all times.

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 360



5

6

3 4

Williamson County – Request for Proposal (RFP)

SECTION 1 - DEFINITIONS 

Addendum/Addenda – means any written or graphic instruments issued by the County prior to the 
consideration of Proposals which modify or interpret the Proposal Documents by additions, deletions, 
clarifications, or corrections.

Agreement/Ensuing Agreement(s) – means the Successful Respondent may be required by the 
County to sign an additional Agreement containing terms necessary to ensure compliance with the RFP 
and the Respondent ’s Proposal.  Such Ensuing Agreement(s) shall contain the Proposal specifications, 
terms and conditions that are derived from the RFP.

Contract – means this RFP and the Proposal of the Successful Respondent shall become a Contract 
between the Successful Respondent and the County once the Successful Respondent ’s Proposal is 
properly accepted by the Williamson County Commissioners Court (sometimes referred to herein as the 
Commissioner ’s Court”).

Commissioner ’s Court – means the Williamson County Commissioners Court. 

County – means Williamson County, a political subdivision of the State of Texas.

Executive Summary – means the document submitted by Respondent that represents a concise 
summary of the contents of the Proposal. It does not include any information concerning costs. 

Proposal Documents – means the Legal Notice, RFP including attachments, and any Addenda issued 
by the County prior to the consideration of any Proposals.

Proposal – means the complete, properly signed document, and ALL required forms and documentation 
listed in the proposal package which have been submitted in accordance with this RFP package. A 
Proposal submitted in accordance with this RFP is irrevocable during the specified time period for 
evaluation and acceptance of Proposals, unless a waiver is obtained from the Williamson County 
Purchasing Agent.

Respondent – means a person or entity who submits a Proposal in response to this RFP.

Request for Proposals (RFP) – means this document, together with the attachments thereto and any 
future Addenda issued by the County.

Successful Respondent– means the responsible Respondent who, in the County ’s sole opinion, 
submits the Proposal which is in the best interest of the County, taking into account factors identified 
herein, and to whom the County intends to award the Contract.

SECTION 2 - RESPONSE FORMAT AND SUBMISSION

2.1 INTRODUCTION

Each Proposal submitted in response to this RFP should clearly reference the numbered sections of this 
RFP that require a response.  Failure to arrange the Proposal as requested may result in the 
disqualification of the Proposal.

Though there is not a page limit for Proposals, to save natural resources including paper, and to allow the 
County staff to efficiently evaluate all submitted Proposals, the County requests that Proposals be 
orderly, concise, but comprehensive in providing the requested information.  Conciseness and clarity of 
content are emphasized and encouraged.  If mailed or delivered in person, please limit additional, non
requested information.

Please provide your Proposal response using:

A. 8 ½” x 11” pages, inclusive of any cover letter or supporting materials.

B. The least amount of plastic/laminate or other non-recyclable binding materials.

C. Single-sided printing.

Vague and general Proposals will be considered non-responsive, and may, at the County ’s sole 
discretion, result in disqualification. Proposals must be legible and complete.  Failure to provide the 
required information may result in the disqualification of the Proposal. All pages of the Proposal should 
be numbered and the Proposal should contain an organized, paginated table of contents corresponding 
to the sections and pages of the Proposal.

2.2 ORGANIZATION OF PROPOSAL CONTENTS AND TABLE OF CONTENTS 

Each Proposal should be submitted with a table of contents that clearly identifies and denotes the 
location of all enclosures of the Proposal. The table of contents should follow the RFP ’s structure as 
much as is practical.

Each Proposal should be organized in the manner described below:

A. Transmittal Letter. Please see Section 2.3, Transmittal Letter, for more information. 

B. Table of Contents. 

C. Executive Summary. Please see Section 2.4, Executive Summary. 

D. Proposal Response to Criteria. (Please see the sections in this RFP package that list the 
Specifications & Cost Proposal, Experience and Qualifications, References, and Implementation 
Strategy to respond to our criteria in a clear and concise manner) 

E. Price Sheet. 

F. References: Identification of three (3) references within the last four (4) years, for which the 
Respondent is providing, or has provided, the goods and/or services (public sector) of the type 
requested in this RFP. Include the name, position/title, and telephone number of a contact person 
at each entity. 

G.  Conflict of Interest Questionnaire. 

H. Proposal Affidavit (Signature Page).

I. Attach your entities sample Contract, if applicable, for the County ’s review and consideration. This 
should include any additional terms or conditions. The County is not required to use the sample 
Contract submitted. 

2.3 TRANSMITTAL LETTER

The Respondent should submit a Transmittal Letter that provides the following information: 

A. Name and address of individual or business entity submitting the Proposal. 

B. Respondent ’s type of business entity (i.e., Corporation, General Partnership, Limited Partnership, 
LLC, etc.).  See Section 3.5, Signature of Respondent, for more information. 

C. Place of incorporation or organization, if applicable.

D. Name and location of major offices and other facilities that relate to the Respondent
performance under the terms of this RFP.

E. Name, physical address, email address, business and fax number of the Respondent ’s principal 
contact person regarding all contractual matters relating to this RFP.

F. The Respondent ’s Federal Employer Identification Number.

G. A commitment by the Respondent to provide the services required by the County;

H. A statement that the Proposal is valid for the time specified on page three (3), under the section 
named Prices Good for, of this Proposal packet. Any Proposal containing a term of less than the 
required amount, may at the County ’s sole discretion, be rejected as non-responsive.

I. If the Proposal being submitted will have an effect on air quality for the County (as it relates to any 
state, federal, or voluntary air quality standard), then the Respondent is encouraged to provide
information in narrative indicating the anticipated air quality impact. See Section 4.40, Air Quality 
for more information. 

The Transmittal Letter should be signed by a person legally authorized to bind the Respondent to the
representations in the Transmittal Letter and the Proposal.  In the case of a joint Proposal, each party 
must sign the Transmittal Letter.

2.4 EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

The Respondent should provide an Executive Summary of its Proposal that asserts that the Respondent 
is providing in its response all of the requirements of this RFP.  The Executive Summary should not 
include any information concerning the cost of the Proposal, but instead must represent a full and 
concise summary of the contents of the Proposal.  It is recommended the Executive Summary include 
the following information: 

A. Identify any goods and/or services that are provided beyond those specifically requested.  If the 
Respondent is providing services and/or goods that do not meet the specific requirements of this 
RFP, but in the opinion of the Respondent are equivalent or superior to those specifically 
requested, any such differences should be noted in the Executive Summary. However, the 
Respondent must realize that failure to provide the goods and/or services specifically required, at 
the County ’s sole discretion, may result in disqualification of the Proposal.

B. Indicate why the Respondent believes that it is the most qualified Respondent to provide the 
services described in this RFP.  The Successful Respondent must demonstrate extensive 
experience and understanding of the intent of this project.  The Respondent should describe in 
detail the current and historical experience the Respondent and its subcontractors have that 
would be relevant to completing the project.  References must contain the name of key personnel 
and telephone numbers for each contact, as described in Section 3.14, References.  

C. Briefly state why the Respondent believes its proposed goods and/or services best meet the 
County ’s needs and RFP requirements, and the Respondent also should concisely describe any 
additional features, aspects, or advantages of its goods and/or services in any relevant area not 
covered elsewhere in its Proposal.

2.5 CONFLICT OF INTEREST

No public official shall have interest in a contract, in accordance with Vernon ’s Texas Codes Annotated, 
Local Government Code, Title 5, Subtitle C, Chapter 171, as amended. 

As of January 1, 2006, all Respondents are responsible for complying with Local Government Code, Title 
5, Subtitle C, Chapter 176.  Additional information may be obtained from the County’s website at the 
following link: 

http://www.wilco.org/CountyDepartments/Purchasing/ConflictofInterestDisclosure/tabid/689/language/en
US/Default.aspx

Each Respondent must disclose any existing or potential conflict of interest relative to the performance of 
the requirements of this RFP.  Examples of potential conflicts of interest may include an existing 
business or personal relationship between the Respondent, its principal, or any affiliate or 
subcontractor with the County or any other entity or person involved in any way with the project 
that is subject to this RFP.  Similarly, any personal or business relationship between the Respondent, 
the principals, or any affiliate or subcontractor with any employee, or official of the County or its suppliers 
must be disclosed.  Any such relationship that might be perceived or represented as a conflict must be 
disclosed. Failure to disclose any such relationship or reveal personal relationships with the County 
employees or officials may be cause for termination. 

The County will decide if an actual or perceived conflict should result in Proposal disqualification. 

By submitting a Proposal in response to this RFP, all Respondents affirm they have not given, nor intend 
to give, at any time hereafter, any economic opportunity, future employment, gift, loan, gratuity, special 
discount, trip, favor, or service to a the County public servant or any employee, official or representative 
of same, in connection with this procurement. 

Each Respondent must provide a Conflict of Interest Statement with their Proposal Package.  

Package may be deemed incomplete without this form.  

2.6 CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PARTIES – FORM 1295

As of January 1, 2016, all Respondents are responsible for complying with the Texas Government Code, 
Section 2252.908.  The law states that the County may not enter into certain contracts with a 
Respondent unless the Respondent submits a disclosure of interested parties to the County at the time 
the Respondent submits the signed contract.  The law applies only to a contract of the County on or after 
January 1, 2016 that either:

A. Requires an action or vote by the Commissioners Court before the contract may be signed (all 
contracts that fall under the jurisdiction of the Commissioners Court approval, such as contracts 
resulting from an Initiation for Bid (IFB), RFP, Request for Qualifications (RFQ), etc., excluding, 
but not limited to, certain Juvenile Service contracts, contracts funded with Sheriff ’s seized fun 
monies, etc.); or

B. Has a value of at least $1,000,000. 

By January 1, 2016, the Texas Ethics Commission will make available on its website, a new filing 
application that must be used to file Form 1295.  Information regarding how to use the filing application is 
available on the Texas Ethics Commission website at the following link:

https://www.ethics.state.tx.us/whatsnew/elf_info_form1295.htm

A Respondent must:

A. Use the online application to process the required information on Form 1295.

B. Print a copy of the form which will contain a unique certification number.

C. An authorized agent of the Respondent must sign the printed copy of the form.

D. Have the form notarized.

E. File the completed Form 1295 and certification of filing (scanning and emailing form is sufficient) 
with Williamson County Purchasing Agent at the time the signed Contract is submitted for 
approval.

After the Commissioners Court award of the contract, the County shall notify the Texas Ethics 
Commission, using the Texas Ethics Commission ’s filing application, of the receipt of the filed Form 
1295 and certification of filing not later than the 30th day after the date the contract binds all parties to the 
contract. The Texas Ethics Commission will post the completed Form 1295 to its website within seven 
business days after receiving notice from the County.

2.7 PROPOSAL SUBMITTAL DEADLINE

The Proposal is due no later than the submittal date and time set forth in the Public Announcement and 
General Information listed in this RFP package.  Contents of each Proposal shall be submitted in 
accordance with this RFP.

2.8 ETHICS

The Respondent shall not accept or offer gifts or anything of value, nor enter into any business 
arrangement with any employee, official or agent of the County.

2.9 DELIVERY OF PROPOSALS

The County uses BidSync to distribute and receive bids and Proposals.  It is preferred that Proposals
be submitted electronically through BidSync; however, Respondents can submit a hard copy.  

Refer to www.bidsync.com for further information on how to submit electronically.

If mailed or delivered in person, Proposal and Proposal Addenda are to be delivered in sealed envelope
on or before the submittal deadline, as noted in the Public Announcement and General Information listed 
in this RFP package, to:

            Williamson County Purchasing Department
            Attn: Proposal Name and Number
            901 South Austin Avenue
            Georgetown, Texas 78626

Also, all Respondents should list their Name and Address, and the Date of the Proposal opening on the
outside of the box or envelope and note “Sealed Proposal Enclosed.” Williamson County will not accept 
any Proposals after the submittal deadline, and shall return such Proposals unopened to the 
Respondent.  The County will not accept any responsibility for Proposals being delivered by third party 
carriers. 

Proposals will be opened publicly; however, in a manner to avoid public disclosure of contents, only 
names of Respondents will be read aloud: no pricing will be announced at the opening. 

SECTION 3 - INSTRUCTIONS AND GENERAL REQUIREMENTS

3.1 INSTRUCTIONS

Read this document carefully, and follow all instructions and requirements.  All Respondents are 
responsible for fulfilling all requirements and specifications.  Be sure to have a clear understanding of this
RFP.

General requirements apply to all advertised RFPs; however, these may be superseded, in whole or in 
part, by the proposal specifications, Addenda and modifications issued as a part of this RFP.  Be sure 
your Proposal package is complete.

3.2 AMBIGUITY, CONFLICT, OR OTHER ERRORS IN THIS RFP

If a Respondent discovers any ambiguity, conflict, discrepancy, omission or other error in this RFP, the 
Respondent shall immediately notify the County Purchasing Department of such error in writing and
request modification or clarification of the document.

Modifications will be made by issuing Addenda. If the Respondent fails to notify the County prior to the
date and time fixed for submission of Proposals of an error or ambiguity in the RFP known to the
Respondent, or an error or ambiguity that reasonably should have been known to the Respondent, then 
the Respondent shall be deemed to have waived the error or ambiguity or its later resolution.

The County may also modify the RFP, no later than forty-eight (48) hours prior to the date and time fixed
for submission of Proposals, by issuance of an Addendum.  All Addenda will be numbered consecutively, 
beginning with one (1).

3.3 NOTIFICATION OF MOST CURRENT ADDRESS

All Respondents in receipt of this RFP shall notify the Williamson County Purchasing Department of any
address changes, contact person changes, and/or telephone number changes no later than forty-eight 
(48) hours prior to the date and time fixed for submission of Proposals.

3.4 SIGNATURE OF RESPONDENT

A Transmittal Letter, which shall be considered an integral part of the Proposal as stated in Section 2.3, 
Transmittal Letter, shall be signed by an individual who is authorized to bind the Respondent
contractually.

A. If the Respondent is a Corporation or Limited Liability Company, the legal name of the Corporation
or Limited Liability Company shall be provided together with the signature of the officer or officers 
authorized to sign on behalf of such entity.

B. If the Respondent is a General Partnership, the true name of the firm shall be provided with the
signature of each partner authorized to sign.

C. If the Respondent is a Limited Partnership, the name of the Limited Partner ’s General Partner
shall be provided with the signature of the officer authorized to sign on behalf of the General
Partner.

D. If the Respondent is a Sole Proprietor(s) (individual), each Sole Proprietor(s) shall sign.

E. If signature is by an agent, other than the Sole Proprietor(s) or an officer of a Corporation, Limited 
Liability Company, General Partner or a member of a General Partnership, a power of attorney
equivalent document must be submitted to the Williamson County Purchasing Department.

3.5 ASSUMED BUSINESS NAME

If the Respondent operates business under an Assumed Business Name, the Respondent must have
file with the Williamson County Clerk a current Assumed Name Certificate and provide a file marked copy 
of same prior to contract award.

3.6 ECONOMY OF PRESENTATION

Proposals should not contain promotional or display materials, except as they may directly answer in 
whole or in part questions contained in the RFP.  Such exhibits shall be clearly marked with the 
applicable reference number of the question in the RFP.  Proposals must address the technical 
requirements as specified in the RFP.  All questions posed by the RFP must be answered concisely and 
clearly. Proposals that do not address each criterion may be, at the sole discretion of the County, 
rejected and not considered.

3.7 PROPOSAL OBLIGATION 

The contents of the RFP, Proposal, and any clarification thereof submitted by the Successful
Respondent shall become part of the contractual obligation and incorporated by reference into the 
Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s).

3.8 COMPLIANCE WITH RFP SPECIFICATIONS

It is intended that this RFP describe the requirements and the Proposal format in sufficient detail to 
secure comparable Proposal.  Failure to comply with all provisions of the RFP may, at the sole discretion 
of the County, result in disqualification.

3.9 EVALUATION 

The County reserves the right to use all pertinent information (also learned from sources other than 
disclosed in the RFP process) that might affect the County ’s judgment as to the appropriateness of
award to the best evaluated Respondent. This information may be appended to the Proposal evaluation
process results. Information on a Respondent from reliable sources, and not within the Respondent
Proposal, may also be noted and made part of the evaluation fi le.  The County shall have sole 
discretion for determining the reliability of the source.  The County reserves the right to conduct written 
and/or oral discussions/interviews after the Proposal opening.  The purpose of such 
discussions/interviews is to provide clarification and/or additional information to make an award that is in 
the best interest of the County.

3.10 WITHDRAWAL OF PROPOSAL

The Respondent may withdraw its Proposal by submitting a written request with the company letterhead 
and the signature of an authorized individual, as described in Section 3.4, Signature of Respondent, to 
the Williamson County Purchasing Department any time prior to the submission deadline.  

The Respondent may submit a new Proposal prior to the deadline. Alterations of the Proposal in any 
manner will not be considered if submitted after the deadline.  Withdrawal of a Proposal after the deadline 
will be subject to written approval of the Williamson County Purchasing Agent.

3.11 RESPONSIBILITY 

It is expected that a Respondent will be able to affirmatively demonstrate responsibility.  A prospective
Respondent should be able to meet the following requirements:

A. Have adequate financial resources, or the ability to obtain such resources as required;
B. Be able to comply with the required or proposed delivery schedule;
C. Have a satisfactory record of performance that can be determined thru references provided; and 
D. Be otherwise qualified and eligible to receive an award.

The County may request representation and other information sufficient to determine the Respondent
ability to meet these minimum standards listed above.

3.12 PURCHASE ORDERS

If required by the Williamson County Purchasing Department, a purchase order(s) may be generated to 
the Successful Respondent for goods and/or services.  If a purchase order is issued, the purchase order 
number must appear on all itemized invoices and/or requests for payment.

3.13 SILENCE OF SPECIFICATIONS

The apparent silence of any RFP specifications as to any detail or to the apparent omission from it of a 
detailed description concerning any point, shall be regarded as meaning that only the best practices are 
to prevail.  All interpretations of these specifications shall be made on the basis of this statement.

3.14 REFERENCES

Respondents shall furnish a list of contracts where similar responsibilities and goods and/or services 
have been required and/or performed for the past five (5) years, to include names, titles, phone numbers 
and email addresses of reference contacts, contract numbers and dates of performance. 

Also, Respondents shall include a list of any contracts that have been cancelled or terminated within the 
last five (5) years, along with an explanation of the cancellation and the names, email address and phone 
number of a reference person with that institution. 

The County may contact some or all of the references in order to determine the Respondent
performance record on work similar to that described in this RFP.  The County reserves the right to 
contact references other than those provided in the response and to use the information gained from 
them in the evaluation process. 

References should be provided in accordance with this RFP.  Proposal may not be deemed complete 
without the inclusion of requested references.

SECTION 4 - TERMS AND CONDITIONS

4.1 VENUE AND GOVERNING LAW

The Respondent hereby agrees and acknowledges that venue and jurisdiction of any suit, right, or cause 
of action arising out of or in connection with this RFP, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s), shall 
lie exclusively in either Williamson County, Texas or in the Austin Division of the Western Federal District 
of Texas, and the parties hereto expressly consent and submit to such jurisdiction.  Furthermore, except 
to the extent that this RFP, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) is governed by the laws of the 
United States, this RFP, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be governed by and 
construed in accordance with the laws of the State of Texas, excluding, however, its choice of law rules.

4.2 INCORPORATION BY REFERENCE AND PRECEDENCE

A. The Contract shall be derived from the RFP and its Addenda (if applicable), and the Respondent
Proposal.  In the event of a dispute under the Contract, applicable documents will be referred to 
for the purpose of clarification or for additional detail in the following order of precedence:

1. The RFP and its Addenda (if applicable); and 

2. The Respondent ’s Proposal.

B. In the event the County requires that an Ensuing Agreement be executed following award and a 
dispute arises between the terms and conditions of the Ensuing Agreement, the RFP and its 
Addenda (if applicable), and the Respondent ’s Proposal, applicable documents will be referred to 
for the purpose of clarification or for additional detail in the following order of precedence: 

1. The terms and conditions of the Ensuing Agreement;

2. The RFP and its Addenda; and  

3. The Respondent ’s Proposal.

4.3 OWNERSHIP OF PROPOSAL

Each Proposal shall become the property of the County upon submittal and will not be returned to 
Respondents unless received after the submittal deadline.

4.4 DISQUALIFICATION OF RESPONDENT

Upon signing and submittal of the Proposal, a Respondent offering to sell supplies, materials, services, 
or equipment to the County, certifies that the Respondent has not violated the antitrust laws of the State 
of Texas codified in Business & Commerce Code, Section 15.01, or the Federal Antitrust Laws, and has 
not communicated directly or indirectly the offer made to any competitor or any other person engaged
such line of business.  Any or all Proposals may be rejected if the County believes that collusion exists 
among the Respondents.

4.5 FUNDING

The County intends to budget and make sufficient funds available and authorize funds for expenditure to 
finance the costs of the Contract.  All Respondents understand and agree that the County’s payment of 
amounts under the Contract shall be contingent on the County receiving appropriations or other 
expenditure authority sufficient to allow the County, in the exercise of reasonable administrative 
discretion, to make payments under this Contract.

4.6 ASSIGNMENT, SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS 

The Successful Respondent may not assign, sell, or otherwise transfer the Contract or any other rights 
or interests obtained under the Contract without written permission of the Williamson County the 
Commissioners Court.  The Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be binding upon and inure to 
the benefit of the contracting parties hereto and their respective successors and permitted assigns.

4.7 IMPLIED REQUIREMENTS

Products or services not specifically described or required in the RFP, but are necessary to provide the 
functional capabilities described by the Respondent, shall be implied and deemed to be included in the
Proposal.

4.8 TERMINATION

A. Termination for Cause: The County reserves the right to terminate the Contract and/or any 
Ensuing Agreement(s) for default if the Successful Respondent breaches any of the Proposal
specifications, terms and conditions, including warranties of the Respondent, if any, or if the 
Successful Respondent becomes insolvent or commits acts of bankruptcy.  Such right of 
termination is in addition to and not in lieu of any other remedies the County may have at law or
equity or as may otherwise be provided hereunder.  Default may be construed as, but not limited 
to, failure to deliver the proper goods and/or services within the proper amount of time, and/or to 
properly perform any and all other requirements to the County ’s satisfaction, and/or to meet all 
other obligations and requirements.

B. Termination for Convenience: The County may terminate the Contract and/or any Ensuing 
Agreement(s) for convenience and without cause or further liability, upon no less than thirty (30) 
calendar days written notice to the Successful Respondent. The County reserves the right to 
extend this period if it is in the best interest of the County.  In the event the County exercises its 
right to terminate without cause, it is understood and agreed that only the amounts due to the 
Successful Respondent for goods, commodities and/or services provided and expenses incurred 
to and including the date of termination, will be due and payable.  No penalty will be assessed for 
the County ’s termination for convenience.

4.9 NON-PERFORMANCE

It is the objective of the County to obtain complete and satisfactory performance of the requirements set 
forth herein.  In addition to any other remedies available at law, in equity or that may be set out herein, 
failure to perform may result in a deduction of payment equal to the amount of the goods and/or services 
that were not provided and/or performed to the County ’s satisfaction.  

In the event of such non-performance, the County shall have the right, but shall not be obligated, to 
complete the services itself or by others and/or purchase the goods from other sources.  If the County 
elects to acquire the goods or perform the services itself or by others, pursuant to the foregoing, the 
Successful Respondent shall reimburse the County, within ten (10) calendar days of demand, for all 
costs incurred by the County (including, without limitation, applicable, general, and administrative 
expenses, and field overhead, and the cost of necessary equipment, materials, and field labor) in 
correcting the nonperformance which the Successful Respondent fails to meet pursuant to the 
requirements set out herein.  In the event the Successful Respondent refuses to reimburse the County 
as set out in this provision, the County shall have the right to deduct such reimbursement amounts from 
any amounts that may be then owing or that may become owing in the future to the Successful
Respondent.

4.10 PROPRIETARY INFORMATION AND THE TEXAS PUBLIC INFORMATION ACT

All material submitted to the County shall become public property and subject to the Texas Public 
Information Act upon receipt. If a Respondent does not desire proprietary information in the Proposal to 
be disclosed, each page must be clearly identified and marked proprietary at time of submittal or, more 
preferably, all proprietary information may be placed in a folder or appendix and be clearly identified and 
marked as being proprietary.  Failure to clearly identify and mark information as being proprietary as set 
forth under this provision will result in all unmarked information being deemed non-proprietary and 
available to the public.  For all information that has not been clearly identified and marked as proprietary 
by the Respondent, the County may choose to place such information on the County ’s website and/or a 
similar public database without obtaining any type of prior consent from the Respondent.

The County will, to the extent allowed by law, endeavor to protect from public disclosure the information 
that has been identified and marked as proprietary.  The final decision as to what information must be 
disclosed, however, lies with the Texas Attorney General.  

To the extent, if any, that any provision in this RFP or in the Respondent ’s Proposal is in conflict with 
Texas Government Code, Chapter 552, as amended (the “Public Information Act”), the same shall be of 
no force or effect.  Furthermore, it is expressly understood, and agreed, that the County, and its officers 
and employees, may request advice, decisions and opinions of the Attorney General of the State of
Texas in regard to the application of the Public Information Act to any items or data furnished to the 
County as to whether or not the same are available to the public.  It is further understood that that the 
County, and its officers and employees, shall have the right to rely on the advice, decisions and opinions 
of the Attorney General, and that the County, its officers and employees shall have no liability or obligation 
to any party hereto for the disclosure to the public, or to any person or persons, of any items or data 
furnished to the County by a party hereto, in reliance of any advice, decision or opinion of the Attorney 
General of the State of Texas.

4.11 RIGHT TO AUDIT

The Successful Respondent agrees that the County or its duly authorized representatives shall, until the 
expiration of three (3) years after termination or expiration of the services to be performed, have access 
to and the right to examine and photocopy any and all books, documents, papers and records of the 
Successful Respondent, which are directly pertinent to the services to be performed or goods to
delivered for the purposes of making audits, examinations, excerpts and transcriptions.  The Successful 
Respondent agrees that the County shall have access during normal working hours to all necessary 
facilities and shall be provided adequate and appropriate work space in order to conduct audits in 
compliance with the provisions of this section.  The County shall give the Successful Respondent 
reasonable advance notice of intended audits.

4.12 TESTING AND INSPECTIONS

The County reserves the right to inspect and test equipment, supplies, materials and goods for quality 
and compliance with this RFP, and ability to meet the needs of the user.  Demonstration units must be 
available for review.  Should the goods or services fail to meet requirements and/or be unavailable for 
evaluation, the County can deem the Respondent to be in breach and terminate the Contract and/or any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

4.13 PROPOSAL PREPARATION COSTS

The cost of developing Proposals is the sole responsibility of the Respondents and shall not be charged 
to the County.  There is no expressed or implied obligation for the County to reimburse the Respondents 
for any expense incurred in preparing a Proposal in response to this RFP and the County will not 
reimburse the Respondents for such expenses.

4.14 INDEMNIFICATION

The Successful Respondent shall indemnify, defend and save harmless, the County, its officials, 
employees, agents and agent ’s employees from, and against, all claims, liability, and expenses including 
reasonable attorneys ’ fees, arising from activities of the Respondent, its agents, servants or employees, 
performed hereunder that result from the negligent act, error, or omission of the Respondent or any of 
the Respondent ’s agents, servants or employees, as well as all claims of loss or damage to the 
Respondent ’s and the County ’s property, equipment, and/or supplies. 

Furthermore, the County, its officials, employees, agents and agents ’ employees shall not be liable for 
damages to the Successful Respondent arising from any act of any third party, including, but not limited 
to, theft.  The Successful Respondent further agrees to indemnify, defend and save harmless, the 
County from its officials, employee, agents and agents ’ employees against all claims of whatever nature 
arising from any accident, injury, or damage whatsoever, caused to any person, or the property of any 
person, occurring in relation to the Successful Respondent ’s performance of any services requested 
hereunder during the term of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s). 

The Successful Respondent shall timely report all claims, demands, suits, actions, proceedings, liens or 
judgements to the County and shall, upon the receipt of any claim, demand, suit, action, proceeding, lien 

or judgement, not later than the fifteenth (15 th) day of each month; provide the County with a written 
report on each such matter, setting forth the status of each matter, the schedule or planned proceedings 
with respect to each matter and the cooperation or assistance, if any, of the County required by the 
Successful Respondent in the defense of each matter.  The Successful Respondent’s duty to defend, 
indemnify and hold the County harmless shall be absolute.  It shall not abate or end by reason of the 
expiration or termination of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s), unless otherwise agreed by 
the County in writing.  The provisions of this section shall survive the termination of the Contract and shall 
remain in full force and effect with respect to all such matters no matter when they arise. 

In the event of any dispute between the parties, as to whether a claim, demand, suit, action, proceeding, 
lien or judgement, that appears to have been caused by or appears to have arisen out of or in connection 
with acts or omissions of the County, the Respondent shall nevertheless fully defend such claim, 
demand, suit or action, proceeding, lien or judgement, until and unless there is  a determination by a 
court of competent jurisdiction that the acts and omissions of the Respondent are not an issue in the 
matter. 

The Successful Respondent ’s indemnification shall cover, and the Successful Respondent agrees to, 
indemnify the County, in the event the County is found to have been negligent for having selected the 
Successful Respondent to perform the work described in this request.  The provision by the Successful 
Respondent of insurance shall not limit the liability of the Successful Respondent under the Contract 
and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s). 

4.15 WAIVER OF SUBROGATION

The Successful Respondent and the Successful Respondent ’s insurance carrier waive any and all rights 
whatsoever with regard to subrogation against the County as an indirect party to any suit arising out of 
personal or property damages resulting from the Respondent ’s performance under this Contract and any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

4.16 RELATIONSHIP OF THE PARTIES

The Successful Respondent shall be an independent contractor and shall assume all of the rights, 
obligations, liabilities, applicable to it as such independent contractor hereunder and any provisions 
herein which may appear to give the County the right to direct the Successful Respondent as to details of 
doing work herein covered, or to exercise a measure of control over the work, shall be deemed to mean 
that the Successful Respondent shall follow the desires of the County in the results of the work only.  The 
County shall not retain or have the right to control the Successful Respondent ’s means, methods or 
details pertaining to the Successful Respondent ’s performance of the work.  The County and the 
Successful Respondent hereby agree and declare that the Successful Respondent is an independent 
contractor and as such meets the qualifications of an “Independent Contractor” under Texas Workers 
Compensation Act, Texas Labor Code, Section 406.141, that the Successful Respondent is not an 
employee of  the County, and that the Successful Respondent and its employees, agents and 
subcontractors shall not be entitled to workers compensation coverage or any other type of insurance 
coverage held by the County.

4.17 SOLE PROVIDER

The Successful Respondent agrees and acknowledges that it shall not be considered a sole provider of 
the goods and/or services described herein and that the County may contract with other providers of 
such goods and/or services if the County deems, at its sole discretion, that multiple providers of the 
same goods and/or services will serve the best interest of the County.

4.18 FORCE MAJEURE

If the party obligated to perform is prevented from performance by an act of war, order of legal authority, 
act of God, or other unavoidable cause not attributable to the fault or negligence of said party, the other 
party shall grant such party relief from the performance.  The burden of proof for the need of such relief 
shall rest upon the party obligated to perform.  To obtain release based on force majeure, the party 
obligated to perform shall file a written request with the other party.

4.19 SEVERABILITY

If any provision of this RFP, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be held invalid or 
unenforceable by any court of competent jurisdiction, such holding shall not invalidate or render 
unenforceable any other provision thereof, but rather the entire RFP, Contract or any Ensuing Agreement
(s) will be construed as if not containing the particular invalid or unenforceable provision or provisions, 
and the rights and obligation of the parties shall be construed and enforced in accordance therewith.  The 
parties acknowledge that if any provision of this RFP, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) is 
determined to be invalid or unenforceable, it is the desire and intention of each that such provision be 
reformed and construed in such a manner that it will, to the maximum extent practicable, give effect to
the intent of this RFP, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) and be deemed to be validated and
enforceable.

4.20 EQUAL OPPORTUNITY

Neither party shall discriminate against any employee or applicant for employment because of race, 
color, sex, religion or national origin.

4.21 NOTICE

Any notice to be given shall be in writing and may be distributed by personal delivery, or by registered or 
certified mail, return receipt requested, addressed to the proper party, at the following address:

The County:    Williamson County Purchasing Department 
            Attn: Purchasing Agent 
            901 South Austin Avenue 
            Georgetown, Texas 78626

The Respondent: Address set out in Respondent ’s Transmittal Letter

Notices given in accordance with this provision shall be effective upon (1) receipt by the party to which 
notice is given, or (2) on the third (3rd) calendar day following mailing, whichever occurs first.

4.22 SALES AND USE TAX EXEMPTION

The County is a body, corporate and politic, under the laws of the State of Texas and claims exemption 
from sales and use taxes under Texas Tax Code, Section 151.309, as amended, and the services and/or 
goods subject hereof are being secured for use by the County.

4.23 COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS

The County and the Successful Respondent shall comply with all federal, state, and local laws, statutes,
ordinances, rules and regulations, and the orders and decrees of any courts or administrative bodies or 
tribunals in any matter affecting the performance of the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s),
including, without limitation, Workers ’ Compensation laws, salary and wage statutes and regulations, 
licensing laws and regulations.  When required, the Successful Respondent shall furnish the County with 
certification of compliance with said laws, statues, ordinances, rules, regulations, orders, and decrees 
above specified.

4.24 INCORPORATION OF EXHIBITS, APPENDICES AND ATTACHMENTS

All of the Exhibits, Appendices and Attachments referred to herein are incorporated by reference as if set 
forth verbatim herein.  Any conflicting terms in the Contract documents will be resolved at the sole 
discretion of the Commissioners Court.

4.25 NO WAIVER OF IMMUNITIES

Nothing herein shall be deemed to waive, modify or amend any legal defense available at law or in equity 
to the County, its past or present officers, employees, or agents, nor to create any legal rights or claim on 
behalf of any third party.  The County does not waive, modify, or alter to any extent whatsoever the 
availability of the defense of governmental immunity under the laws of the State of Texas and of the 
United States.

4.26 NO WAIVER

The failure or delay of any party to enforce at any time or any period of time any of the provisions of this 
RFP, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall not constitute a present or future waiver of such 
provisions nor the right of either party to enforce each and every provision.  Furthermore, no term or 
provision hereof shall be deemed waived and no breach excused unless such waiver or consent shall be 
in writing and signed by the party claimed to have waived or consented.  Any consent by any party to, or 
waiver of, a breach by the other, whether expressed or implied, shall not constitute a consent to, waiver 
of or excuse for any other, different or subsequent breach.

4.27 CURRENT REVENUES

The obligations of the parties under the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) do not constitute a 
general obligation or indebtedness of the County for which the County is obligated to levy, pledge, or 
collect any of taxation.  It is understood and agreed that the County shall have the right to terminate the 
Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) at the end of any the County fiscal year if the governing body of 
the County does not appropriate sufficient funds as determined by the County ’s budget for the fiscal year 
in question.  The County may effect such termination by giving written notice of termination to the 
Successful Respondent at the end of its then-current fiscal year.

4.28 BINDING EFFECT

This Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties 
and their respective permitted assigns and successors.

4.29 ASSIGNMENT

The Successful Respondent ’s interest and duties hereunder may not be assigned or delegated to a third 
party without the express written consent of the County.

4.30 SAFETY

The Successful Respondent is responsible for initiating, maintaining, and supervising all safety 
precautions and programs in connection with any services to be provided hereunder. The safety program 
shall comply with all applicable requirements of the current federal Occupational Safety and Health Act 
and all other applicable federal, state and local laws and regulations.

4.31 GENERAL OBLIGATIONS AND RELIANCE

The Successful Respondent shall perform all services and/or provide all goods, as well as those
reasonably inferable and necessary for completion and provision of services and/or goods required
hereunder. The Successful Respondent shall keep the County informed of the progress and quality
the services.  The Successful Respondent agrees and acknowledges that the County is relying on the 
Successful Respondent's represented expertise and ability to provide the goods and/or services 
described herein.  The Successful Respondent agrees to use its best efforts, skill, judgment, and abilities
to perform its obligations in accordance with the highest standards used in the profession and to further 
the interests of the County in accordance with the County ’s requirements and procedures.  The 
Successful Respondent ’s duties, as set forth herein, shall at no time be in any way diminished by reason
of any approval by the County, nor shall the Successful Respondent be released from any liability
reason of such approval by the County, it being understood that the County at all times is ultimately 
relying upon the Successful Respondent ’s skill and knowledge in performing the services and providing 
any goods required hereunder.

4.32 CONTRACTUAL DEVELOPMENT

The Commissioners Court may award the Contract on the basis of the initial Proposals received, without
any further or additional discussions.  Therefore, each initial Proposal should contain the Respondent
best terms and offer.  The contents of the RFP and the selected Proposal will become an integral part of 
the Contract, but may be modified, at Williamson County ’s sole discretion, by provisions of an Ensuing 
Agreement.  Therefore, the Respondent must agree to inclusion in an Ensuing Agreement of the 
Proposal specifications, terms and conditions of this RFP.  Williamson County may, at its discretion, opt 
to conduct further discussions with responsible offerors and request the highest ranked firm ’s Best and 
Final Offer (BAFO).

4.33 ENTIRE AGREEMENT

The Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall supersede all prior Agreements, written or oral 
between the Successful Respondent and the County and shall constitute the entire Agreement and 
understanding between the parties with respect to the services and/or goods to be provided.  Each of the 
provisions herein shall be binding upon the parties and may not be waived, modified, amended or altered, 
except by writing signed by the Successful Respondent and the County.

4.34 SURVIVABILITY 

All applicable agreements that were entered into between the Successful Respondent and the County, 
under the terms and conditions of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s), shall survive the 
expiration or termination thereof for ninety (90) days unless a new contract has been awarded.

The County may exercise, by written notice to the Successful Respondent no later than ten (10) calendar 
days of the Contract expiration, this clause for emergency cases only. 

4.35 PAYMENT

The County ’s payment for goods and services shall be governed by the Texas Government Code, 

Chapter 2251.  An invoice shall be deemed overdue the thirty-first (31st) day after the later of the 
following: 

A. The date the County receives the goods under the Contract; 
B. The date the performance of the service under the Contract is completed; or 
C. The date the Williamson County Auditor receives an invoice for the goods or services.  

Interest charges for any overdue payments shall be paid by the County in accordance with Texas 
Government Code, Section 2251.025.  More specifically, the rate of interest that shall accrue on a late 
payment is the rate in effect on September 1 of the County ’s fiscal year in which the payment becomes 
due.  The said rate in effect on September 1 shall be equal to the sum of one (1) percent and the prime 

rate published in the Wall Street Journal on the first (1st) day of July of the preceding fiscal year that does 
not fall on a Saturday or Sunday.

In the event that an error appears in an invoice submitted by the Successful Respondent, the County 
shall notify the Successful Respondent of the error not later than the twenty-first (21st) day after the date 
the County receives the invoice.  If the error is resolved in favor of the Successful Respondent, the 
Successful Respondent shall be entitled to receive interest on the unpaid balance of the invoice 
submitted by the Successful Respondent beginning on the date that the payment for the invoice became 
overdue.  If the error is resolved in favor of the County, the Successful Respondent shall submit a 
corrected invoice that must be paid in accordance within the time set forth above.  The unpaid balance 
accrues interest as provided by the Texas Government Code, Chapter 2251, if the corrected invoice is 
not paid by the appropriate date.

As a minimum, invoices shall include:

A. Name, address, and telephone number of the Successful Respondent and similar information in 
the event the payment is to be made to a different address. 

B. The County Contract, Purchase Order. 

C. Identification of items or service as outlined in the Contract.

D. Quantity or quantities, applicable unit prices, total prices and total amount.

E. Any additional payment information which may be called for by the Contract.

Payment inquiries should be directed to the following address:        

            Williamson County Auditor’s Office, Accounts Payable Department
            Email: accountspayable@wilco.org
            Phone: 512-943-1500

4.36 CONTRACTUAL FORMATION AND ENSUING AGREEMENT

The RFP and the Respondent ’s Proposal, when properly accepted by the Commissioners Court, shall 
constitute a Contract equally binding between the Successful Respondent and the County.  The 
Successful Respondent may be required by Williamson County to sign an additional Agreement 
containing terms necessary to ensure compliance with the RFP and Respondent ’s Proposal.

4.37 LEGAL LIABILITY INFORMATION

The Successful Respondent shall disclose all legal liability information by listing any pending litigation
anticipated litigation that your firm is involved in including, but not limited to, potential or actual legal
matters with private parties and any local, state, federal or international governmental entities. The
County reserves the right to consider legal liability information in the recommendation of any proposed 
contract to the Commissioners Court.

4.38 CONFIDENTIALITY

Respondent expressly agrees that it will not use any direct or incidental confidential information that may
be obtained while working in a governmental setting for its own benefit, and agrees that it will not access
unauthorized areas or confidential information and it will not disclose any information to unauthorized
third parties, and will take care to guard the security of the information at all times.

4.39 INCLEMENT WEATHER

In case of inclement weather or any other unforeseen event causing the County to close for business on 
the date of a Proposal submission deadline, the Proposal closing will automatically be postponed until the 
next business day the County is open.  If inclement weather conditions or any other unforeseen event 
causes delays in carrier service operations, the County may issue an Addendum to all known 
Respondents interested in the project to extend the deadline.  It will be the responsibility of the 
Respondent to notify the County of their interest in the project if these conditions are impacting their 
ability to turn in a submission within the stated deadline.  The County reserves the right to make the final 
judgement call to extend any deadline. 

4.40 AIR QUALITY

In determining the overall best Proposal, the County may, to the extent applicable, exercise the option 
granted to local governments under the Texas Local Government Code, Section 271.907.

This option allows the County to evaluate Proposals and give preference to goods and/or services of
Respondent that demonstrates that the Respondent meets or exceeds any and all state or federal 
environmental standards, including voluntary standards, relating to air quality.  If the Proposal being 
submitted will have an effect on air quality for the County (as it relates to any state, federal, or voluntary 
air quality standard), then the Respondent is encouraged to provide information in narrative indicating the 
anticipated air quality impact.  All Respondents are expected to meet all mandated state and federal air 
quality standards.

4.41 COOPERATIVE PURCHASING PROGRAM 

During the term of the Contract resulting from this RFP, the County would like to afford the same prices, 
terms and conditions to other political subdivisions or public entities.  Another entity’s participation in the 
Contract resulting from this RFP is subject to a properly authorized Purchasing Cooperative Inter- local 
Agreement (ILA) with the County.  Any liability created by purchase orders issued against the Contract 
shall be the sole responsibility of the governmental agency placing the order.

4.42 PREVAILING WAGE RATES

To the extent this procurement is for the construction of a public work, including a building, highway, 
road, excavation, and repair work or other project development or improvement, paid for in whole or in 
part from public funds, without regard to whether the work is done under public supervision or direction, 
Texas Government Code, Chapter 2258, shall apply and the contractor shall pay not less than the wage 
scale of the various classes of labor as shown on the “Prevailing Wage Schedule” provided by the 
County. Pursuant to Texas Government Code, Section 2258.022(a)(2), the County has determined the 
general prevailing rate of the “Prevailing Wage Schedule”  in the locality in which the public work is to be 
performed for each craft or type of worker needed to execute the contract and the prevailing rate for legal 
holiday and overtime work by using the prevailing wage rate as determined by the United States 
Department of Labor in accordance with the United States Code, Section 276a (Davis-Bacon Act). 

The specified wage rates are minimum rates only, and are not representations that qualified labor 
adequate to perform the work is available locally at the prevailing wage rates. The County is not bound to 
pay—and will not consider—any claims for additional compensation made by any contractor because the 
contractor pays wages in excess of the applicable minimum rate contained in the Contract Documents. 
The “Prevailing Wage Schedule”  is not a representation that quantities of qualified labor adequate to 
perform the work may be found locally at the specified wage rates.

For classifications not shown, workers shall not be paid less than the wage indicated for laborers. The 
contractor shall notify each worker commencing work on the project the worker ’s job classification and 
the established minimum wage rate required to be paid, as well as the actual amount being paid. The 
notice must be delivered to and signed in acknowledgement of receipt by the employee and must list 
both the monetary wages and fringe benefits to be paid or furnished for each classification in which the 
worker is assigned duties. When requested by the County, competent evidence of compliance with the 
Texas Prevailing Wage Law shall be furnished by contractor. A copy of each worker wage rate 
notification shall be submitted to the County with the Application for Payment for the period during which 
the worker began on-site activities.

Should the contractor at any time become aware that a particular skill or trade not reflected on the 
County ’s “Prevailing Wage Schedule” will be or is being employed in the work, whether by the contractor 
or by a subcontractor, the contractor shall promptly inform the County and shall specify a wage rate for 
that skill or trade, which shall bind the contractor.

The contractor and any subcontractor shall pay to the County a penalty of sixty dollars ($60.00) for each 
worker employed for each calendar day, or portion thereof, that the worker is paid less than the wage 
rates stipulated in the “Prevailing Wage Schedule” or any supplement thereto. The contractor and each 
subcontractor shall keep, or cause to be kept, an accurate record showing the names and occupations 
of all workers employed in connection with the work, and showing the actual per diem wages paid to 
each worker, which records shall be open at all reasonable hours for the inspection by the County.

Within thirty-one (31) days of receipt of information concerning a violation of the Texas Government Code 
Chapter 2258, the County shall make an initial determination as to whether good cause exists to believe 
a violation occurred. The County ’s decision on the initial determination shall be reduced to writing and 
sent to the contractor or subcontractor against whom the violation was alleged, and to the affected 
worker. When a good cause finding is made, the County shall retain the full amounts claimed by the 
claimant or claimants as the difference between wages paid and wages due under the “Prevailing Wage 
Schedule” and any supplements thereto, together with the applicable penalties, such amounts being 
subtracted from successive progress payments pending a final decision on the violation.

After the County makes its initial determination, the affected contractor or subcontractor and worker have 
fourteen (14) calendar days in which to resolve the issue of whether a violation occurred, including the 
amount that should be retained by the County or paid to the affected worker. If the contractor or 
subcontractor and affected worker reach an agreement concerning the worker ’s claim, the contractor 
shall promptly notify the County in a written document signed by the worker. It the contractor or 

Subcontractor and affected worker do not agree before the fifteenth (15 th) calendar day after the County
determination, the contractor or subcontractor and affected worker must participate in binding arbitration 
in accordance with the Texas General Arbitration Act, Chapter 171, (Texas Civil Practice and Remedies 
Code). The parties to the arbitration have ten (10) calendar days after the expiration of the fifteen (15) 

calendar days referred to above, to agree on an arbitrator; if by the eleventh (11 th) calendar day there is 
no agreement to an arbitrator, a district court shall appoint an arbitrator on the petition of any of the 
parties to the arbitration.

If an arbitrator determines that a violation has occurred, the arbitrator shall assess and award against the 
contractor or subcontractor the amount of penalty as provided above and the amount owed the worker. 
The County may use any amounts retained hereunder to pay the worker the amount as designated in the 
arbitration award. If the County has not retained enough from the contractor or subcontractor to pay the 
worker in accordance with the arbitration award, the worker has a right of action against the contractor 
and subcontractor as appropriate, and the surety of either to receive the amount owed, attorneys ’  fees 
and court costs. The contractor shall promptly furnish a copy of the arbitration award to the County.

Money retained pursuant to the provisions above shall be used to pay the claimant or claimants the 
difference between the amount the worker received in wages for labor on the project at the rate paid by 
the contractor or subcontractor and the amount the worker would have received at the general prevailing 
wage rate as provided by the agreement of the claimant and the contractor or subcontractor affected, or 
in the arbitrator ’s award. The full statutory penalty of sixty dollars ($60.00) per calendar day of violation 
per worker shall be retained by Williamson County to offset its administrative costs, pursuant to Texas 
Government Code, Section, 2258.023. Any retained funds in excess of these amounts shall be paid to 
the contractor on the earlier of the next progress payment or final payment. Provided, however, that the 
County shall have no duty to release any funds to either the claimant or the contractor until it has 
received the notices of agreement or the arbitration award as provided under the provision herein-above.

4.43 CONFIDENTALITY

The Respondent expressly agrees that it will not use any direct or incidental confidential information that 
may be obtained while working in a governmental setting for its own benefit, and agrees that it will not 
access unauthorized areas or confidential information and it will not disclose any information to 
unauthorized third parties, and will take care to guard the security of the information at all times.

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 361



5

6

3 4

Williamson County – Request for Proposal (RFP)

SECTION 1 - DEFINITIONS 

Addendum/Addenda – means any written or graphic instruments issued by the County prior to the 
consideration of Proposals which modify or interpret the Proposal Documents by additions, deletions, 
clarifications, or corrections.

Agreement/Ensuing Agreement(s) – means the Successful Respondent may be required by the 
County to sign an additional Agreement containing terms necessary to ensure compliance with the RFP 
and the Respondent ’s Proposal.  Such Ensuing Agreement(s) shall contain the Proposal specifications, 
terms and conditions that are derived from the RFP.

Contract – means this RFP and the Proposal of the Successful Respondent shall become a Contract 
between the Successful Respondent and the County once the Successful Respondent ’s Proposal is 
properly accepted by the Williamson County Commissioners Court (sometimes referred to herein as the 
Commissioner ’s Court”).

Commissioner ’s Court – means the Williamson County Commissioners Court. 

County – means Williamson County, a political subdivision of the State of Texas.

Executive Summary – means the document submitted by Respondent that represents a concise 
summary of the contents of the Proposal. It does not include any information concerning costs. 

Proposal Documents – means the Legal Notice, RFP including attachments, and any Addenda issued 
by the County prior to the consideration of any Proposals.

Proposal – means the complete, properly signed document, and ALL required forms and documentation 
listed in the proposal package which have been submitted in accordance with this RFP package. A 
Proposal submitted in accordance with this RFP is irrevocable during the specified time period for 
evaluation and acceptance of Proposals, unless a waiver is obtained from the Williamson County 
Purchasing Agent.

Respondent – means a person or entity who submits a Proposal in response to this RFP.

Request for Proposals (RFP) – means this document, together with the attachments thereto and any 
future Addenda issued by the County.

Successful Respondent– means the responsible Respondent who, in the County ’s sole opinion, 
submits the Proposal which is in the best interest of the County, taking into account factors identified 
herein, and to whom the County intends to award the Contract.

SECTION 2 - RESPONSE FORMAT AND SUBMISSION

2.1 INTRODUCTION

Each Proposal submitted in response to this RFP should clearly reference the numbered sections of this 
RFP that require a response.  Failure to arrange the Proposal as requested may result in the 
disqualification of the Proposal.

Though there is not a page limit for Proposals, to save natural resources including paper, and to allow the 
County staff to efficiently evaluate all submitted Proposals, the County requests that Proposals be 
orderly, concise, but comprehensive in providing the requested information.  Conciseness and clarity of 
content are emphasized and encouraged.  If mailed or delivered in person, please limit additional, non
requested information.

Please provide your Proposal response using:

A. 8 ½” x 11” pages, inclusive of any cover letter or supporting materials.

B. The least amount of plastic/laminate or other non-recyclable binding materials.

C. Single-sided printing.

Vague and general Proposals will be considered non-responsive, and may, at the County ’s sole 
discretion, result in disqualification. Proposals must be legible and complete.  Failure to provide the 
required information may result in the disqualification of the Proposal. All pages of the Proposal should 
be numbered and the Proposal should contain an organized, paginated table of contents corresponding 
to the sections and pages of the Proposal.

2.2 ORGANIZATION OF PROPOSAL CONTENTS AND TABLE OF CONTENTS 

Each Proposal should be submitted with a table of contents that clearly identifies and denotes the 
location of all enclosures of the Proposal. The table of contents should follow the RFP ’s structure as 
much as is practical.

Each Proposal should be organized in the manner described below:

A. Transmittal Letter. Please see Section 2.3, Transmittal Letter, for more information. 

B. Table of Contents. 

C. Executive Summary. Please see Section 2.4, Executive Summary. 

D. Proposal Response to Criteria. (Please see the sections in this RFP package that list the 
Specifications & Cost Proposal, Experience and Qualifications, References, and Implementation 
Strategy to respond to our criteria in a clear and concise manner) 

E. Price Sheet. 

F. References: Identification of three (3) references within the last four (4) years, for which the 
Respondent is providing, or has provided, the goods and/or services (public sector) of the type 
requested in this RFP. Include the name, position/title, and telephone number of a contact person 
at each entity. 

G.  Conflict of Interest Questionnaire. 

H. Proposal Affidavit (Signature Page).

I. Attach your entities sample Contract, if applicable, for the County ’s review and consideration. This 
should include any additional terms or conditions. The County is not required to use the sample 
Contract submitted. 

2.3 TRANSMITTAL LETTER

The Respondent should submit a Transmittal Letter that provides the following information: 

A. Name and address of individual or business entity submitting the Proposal. 

B. Respondent ’s type of business entity (i.e., Corporation, General Partnership, Limited Partnership, 
LLC, etc.).  See Section 3.5, Signature of Respondent, for more information. 

C. Place of incorporation or organization, if applicable.

D. Name and location of major offices and other facilities that relate to the Respondent
performance under the terms of this RFP.

E. Name, physical address, email address, business and fax number of the Respondent ’s principal 
contact person regarding all contractual matters relating to this RFP.

F. The Respondent ’s Federal Employer Identification Number.

G. A commitment by the Respondent to provide the services required by the County;

H. A statement that the Proposal is valid for the time specified on page three (3), under the section 
named Prices Good for, of this Proposal packet. Any Proposal containing a term of less than the 
required amount, may at the County ’s sole discretion, be rejected as non-responsive.

I. If the Proposal being submitted will have an effect on air quality for the County (as it relates to any 
state, federal, or voluntary air quality standard), then the Respondent is encouraged to provide
information in narrative indicating the anticipated air quality impact. See Section 4.40, Air Quality 
for more information. 

The Transmittal Letter should be signed by a person legally authorized to bind the Respondent to the
representations in the Transmittal Letter and the Proposal.  In the case of a joint Proposal, each party 
must sign the Transmittal Letter.

2.4 EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

The Respondent should provide an Executive Summary of its Proposal that asserts that the Respondent 
is providing in its response all of the requirements of this RFP.  The Executive Summary should not 
include any information concerning the cost of the Proposal, but instead must represent a full and 
concise summary of the contents of the Proposal.  It is recommended the Executive Summary include 
the following information: 

A. Identify any goods and/or services that are provided beyond those specifically requested.  If the 
Respondent is providing services and/or goods that do not meet the specific requirements of this 
RFP, but in the opinion of the Respondent are equivalent or superior to those specifically 
requested, any such differences should be noted in the Executive Summary. However, the 
Respondent must realize that failure to provide the goods and/or services specifically required, at 
the County ’s sole discretion, may result in disqualification of the Proposal.

B. Indicate why the Respondent believes that it is the most qualified Respondent to provide the 
services described in this RFP.  The Successful Respondent must demonstrate extensive 
experience and understanding of the intent of this project.  The Respondent should describe in 
detail the current and historical experience the Respondent and its subcontractors have that 
would be relevant to completing the project.  References must contain the name of key personnel 
and telephone numbers for each contact, as described in Section 3.14, References.  

C. Briefly state why the Respondent believes its proposed goods and/or services best meet the 
County ’s needs and RFP requirements, and the Respondent also should concisely describe any 
additional features, aspects, or advantages of its goods and/or services in any relevant area not 
covered elsewhere in its Proposal.

2.5 CONFLICT OF INTEREST

No public official shall have interest in a contract, in accordance with Vernon ’s Texas Codes Annotated, 
Local Government Code, Title 5, Subtitle C, Chapter 171, as amended. 

As of January 1, 2006, all Respondents are responsible for complying with Local Government Code, Title 
5, Subtitle C, Chapter 176.  Additional information may be obtained from the County’s website at the 
following link: 

http://www.wilco.org/CountyDepartments/Purchasing/ConflictofInterestDisclosure/tabid/689/language/en
US/Default.aspx

Each Respondent must disclose any existing or potential conflict of interest relative to the performance of 
the requirements of this RFP.  Examples of potential conflicts of interest may include an existing 
business or personal relationship between the Respondent, its principal, or any affiliate or 
subcontractor with the County or any other entity or person involved in any way with the project 
that is subject to this RFP.  Similarly, any personal or business relationship between the Respondent, 
the principals, or any affiliate or subcontractor with any employee, or official of the County or its suppliers 
must be disclosed.  Any such relationship that might be perceived or represented as a conflict must be 
disclosed. Failure to disclose any such relationship or reveal personal relationships with the County 
employees or officials may be cause for termination. 

The County will decide if an actual or perceived conflict should result in Proposal disqualification. 

By submitting a Proposal in response to this RFP, all Respondents affirm they have not given, nor intend 
to give, at any time hereafter, any economic opportunity, future employment, gift, loan, gratuity, special 
discount, trip, favor, or service to a the County public servant or any employee, official or representative 
of same, in connection with this procurement. 

Each Respondent must provide a Conflict of Interest Statement with their Proposal Package.  

Package may be deemed incomplete without this form.  

2.6 CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PARTIES – FORM 1295

As of January 1, 2016, all Respondents are responsible for complying with the Texas Government Code, 
Section 2252.908.  The law states that the County may not enter into certain contracts with a 
Respondent unless the Respondent submits a disclosure of interested parties to the County at the time 
the Respondent submits the signed contract.  The law applies only to a contract of the County on or after 
January 1, 2016 that either:

A. Requires an action or vote by the Commissioners Court before the contract may be signed (all 
contracts that fall under the jurisdiction of the Commissioners Court approval, such as contracts 
resulting from an Initiation for Bid (IFB), RFP, Request for Qualifications (RFQ), etc., excluding, 
but not limited to, certain Juvenile Service contracts, contracts funded with Sheriff ’s seized fun 
monies, etc.); or

B. Has a value of at least $1,000,000. 

By January 1, 2016, the Texas Ethics Commission will make available on its website, a new filing 
application that must be used to file Form 1295.  Information regarding how to use the filing application is 
available on the Texas Ethics Commission website at the following link:

https://www.ethics.state.tx.us/whatsnew/elf_info_form1295.htm

A Respondent must:

A. Use the online application to process the required information on Form 1295.

B. Print a copy of the form which will contain a unique certification number.

C. An authorized agent of the Respondent must sign the printed copy of the form.

D. Have the form notarized.

E. File the completed Form 1295 and certification of filing (scanning and emailing form is sufficient) 
with Williamson County Purchasing Agent at the time the signed Contract is submitted for 
approval.

After the Commissioners Court award of the contract, the County shall notify the Texas Ethics 
Commission, using the Texas Ethics Commission ’s filing application, of the receipt of the filed Form 
1295 and certification of filing not later than the 30th day after the date the contract binds all parties to the 
contract. The Texas Ethics Commission will post the completed Form 1295 to its website within seven 
business days after receiving notice from the County.

2.7 PROPOSAL SUBMITTAL DEADLINE

The Proposal is due no later than the submittal date and time set forth in the Public Announcement and 
General Information listed in this RFP package.  Contents of each Proposal shall be submitted in 
accordance with this RFP.

2.8 ETHICS

The Respondent shall not accept or offer gifts or anything of value, nor enter into any business 
arrangement with any employee, official or agent of the County.

2.9 DELIVERY OF PROPOSALS

The County uses BidSync to distribute and receive bids and Proposals.  It is preferred that Proposals
be submitted electronically through BidSync; however, Respondents can submit a hard copy.  

Refer to www.bidsync.com for further information on how to submit electronically.

If mailed or delivered in person, Proposal and Proposal Addenda are to be delivered in sealed envelope
on or before the submittal deadline, as noted in the Public Announcement and General Information listed 
in this RFP package, to:

            Williamson County Purchasing Department
            Attn: Proposal Name and Number
            901 South Austin Avenue
            Georgetown, Texas 78626

Also, all Respondents should list their Name and Address, and the Date of the Proposal opening on the
outside of the box or envelope and note “Sealed Proposal Enclosed.” Williamson County will not accept 
any Proposals after the submittal deadline, and shall return such Proposals unopened to the 
Respondent.  The County will not accept any responsibility for Proposals being delivered by third party 
carriers. 

Proposals will be opened publicly; however, in a manner to avoid public disclosure of contents, only 
names of Respondents will be read aloud: no pricing will be announced at the opening. 

SECTION 3 - INSTRUCTIONS AND GENERAL REQUIREMENTS

3.1 INSTRUCTIONS

Read this document carefully, and follow all instructions and requirements.  All Respondents are 
responsible for fulfilling all requirements and specifications.  Be sure to have a clear understanding of this
RFP.

General requirements apply to all advertised RFPs; however, these may be superseded, in whole or in 
part, by the proposal specifications, Addenda and modifications issued as a part of this RFP.  Be sure 
your Proposal package is complete.

3.2 AMBIGUITY, CONFLICT, OR OTHER ERRORS IN THIS RFP

If a Respondent discovers any ambiguity, conflict, discrepancy, omission or other error in this RFP, the 
Respondent shall immediately notify the County Purchasing Department of such error in writing and
request modification or clarification of the document.

Modifications will be made by issuing Addenda. If the Respondent fails to notify the County prior to the
date and time fixed for submission of Proposals of an error or ambiguity in the RFP known to the
Respondent, or an error or ambiguity that reasonably should have been known to the Respondent, then 
the Respondent shall be deemed to have waived the error or ambiguity or its later resolution.

The County may also modify the RFP, no later than forty-eight (48) hours prior to the date and time fixed
for submission of Proposals, by issuance of an Addendum.  All Addenda will be numbered consecutively, 
beginning with one (1).

3.3 NOTIFICATION OF MOST CURRENT ADDRESS

All Respondents in receipt of this RFP shall notify the Williamson County Purchasing Department of any
address changes, contact person changes, and/or telephone number changes no later than forty-eight 
(48) hours prior to the date and time fixed for submission of Proposals.

3.4 SIGNATURE OF RESPONDENT

A Transmittal Letter, which shall be considered an integral part of the Proposal as stated in Section 2.3, 
Transmittal Letter, shall be signed by an individual who is authorized to bind the Respondent
contractually.

A. If the Respondent is a Corporation or Limited Liability Company, the legal name of the Corporation
or Limited Liability Company shall be provided together with the signature of the officer or officers 
authorized to sign on behalf of such entity.

B. If the Respondent is a General Partnership, the true name of the firm shall be provided with the
signature of each partner authorized to sign.

C. If the Respondent is a Limited Partnership, the name of the Limited Partner ’s General Partner
shall be provided with the signature of the officer authorized to sign on behalf of the General
Partner.

D. If the Respondent is a Sole Proprietor(s) (individual), each Sole Proprietor(s) shall sign.

E. If signature is by an agent, other than the Sole Proprietor(s) or an officer of a Corporation, Limited 
Liability Company, General Partner or a member of a General Partnership, a power of attorney
equivalent document must be submitted to the Williamson County Purchasing Department.

3.5 ASSUMED BUSINESS NAME

If the Respondent operates business under an Assumed Business Name, the Respondent must have
file with the Williamson County Clerk a current Assumed Name Certificate and provide a file marked copy 
of same prior to contract award.

3.6 ECONOMY OF PRESENTATION

Proposals should not contain promotional or display materials, except as they may directly answer in 
whole or in part questions contained in the RFP.  Such exhibits shall be clearly marked with the 
applicable reference number of the question in the RFP.  Proposals must address the technical 
requirements as specified in the RFP.  All questions posed by the RFP must be answered concisely and 
clearly. Proposals that do not address each criterion may be, at the sole discretion of the County, 
rejected and not considered.

3.7 PROPOSAL OBLIGATION 

The contents of the RFP, Proposal, and any clarification thereof submitted by the Successful
Respondent shall become part of the contractual obligation and incorporated by reference into the 
Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s).

3.8 COMPLIANCE WITH RFP SPECIFICATIONS

It is intended that this RFP describe the requirements and the Proposal format in sufficient detail to 
secure comparable Proposal.  Failure to comply with all provisions of the RFP may, at the sole discretion 
of the County, result in disqualification.

3.9 EVALUATION 

The County reserves the right to use all pertinent information (also learned from sources other than 
disclosed in the RFP process) that might affect the County ’s judgment as to the appropriateness of
award to the best evaluated Respondent. This information may be appended to the Proposal evaluation
process results. Information on a Respondent from reliable sources, and not within the Respondent
Proposal, may also be noted and made part of the evaluation fi le.  The County shall have sole 
discretion for determining the reliability of the source.  The County reserves the right to conduct written 
and/or oral discussions/interviews after the Proposal opening.  The purpose of such 
discussions/interviews is to provide clarification and/or additional information to make an award that is in 
the best interest of the County.

3.10 WITHDRAWAL OF PROPOSAL

The Respondent may withdraw its Proposal by submitting a written request with the company letterhead 
and the signature of an authorized individual, as described in Section 3.4, Signature of Respondent, to 
the Williamson County Purchasing Department any time prior to the submission deadline.  

The Respondent may submit a new Proposal prior to the deadline. Alterations of the Proposal in any 
manner will not be considered if submitted after the deadline.  Withdrawal of a Proposal after the deadline 
will be subject to written approval of the Williamson County Purchasing Agent.

3.11 RESPONSIBILITY 

It is expected that a Respondent will be able to affirmatively demonstrate responsibility.  A prospective
Respondent should be able to meet the following requirements:

A. Have adequate financial resources, or the ability to obtain such resources as required;
B. Be able to comply with the required or proposed delivery schedule;
C. Have a satisfactory record of performance that can be determined thru references provided; and 
D. Be otherwise qualified and eligible to receive an award.

The County may request representation and other information sufficient to determine the Respondent
ability to meet these minimum standards listed above.

3.12 PURCHASE ORDERS

If required by the Williamson County Purchasing Department, a purchase order(s) may be generated to 
the Successful Respondent for goods and/or services.  If a purchase order is issued, the purchase order 
number must appear on all itemized invoices and/or requests for payment.

3.13 SILENCE OF SPECIFICATIONS

The apparent silence of any RFP specifications as to any detail or to the apparent omission from it of a 
detailed description concerning any point, shall be regarded as meaning that only the best practices are 
to prevail.  All interpretations of these specifications shall be made on the basis of this statement.

3.14 REFERENCES

Respondents shall furnish a list of contracts where similar responsibilities and goods and/or services 
have been required and/or performed for the past five (5) years, to include names, titles, phone numbers 
and email addresses of reference contacts, contract numbers and dates of performance. 

Also, Respondents shall include a list of any contracts that have been cancelled or terminated within the 
last five (5) years, along with an explanation of the cancellation and the names, email address and phone 
number of a reference person with that institution. 

The County may contact some or all of the references in order to determine the Respondent
performance record on work similar to that described in this RFP.  The County reserves the right to 
contact references other than those provided in the response and to use the information gained from 
them in the evaluation process. 

References should be provided in accordance with this RFP.  Proposal may not be deemed complete 
without the inclusion of requested references.

SECTION 4 - TERMS AND CONDITIONS

4.1 VENUE AND GOVERNING LAW

The Respondent hereby agrees and acknowledges that venue and jurisdiction of any suit, right, or cause 
of action arising out of or in connection with this RFP, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s), shall 
lie exclusively in either Williamson County, Texas or in the Austin Division of the Western Federal District 
of Texas, and the parties hereto expressly consent and submit to such jurisdiction.  Furthermore, except 
to the extent that this RFP, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) is governed by the laws of the 
United States, this RFP, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be governed by and 
construed in accordance with the laws of the State of Texas, excluding, however, its choice of law rules.

4.2 INCORPORATION BY REFERENCE AND PRECEDENCE

A. The Contract shall be derived from the RFP and its Addenda (if applicable), and the Respondent
Proposal.  In the event of a dispute under the Contract, applicable documents will be referred to 
for the purpose of clarification or for additional detail in the following order of precedence:

1. The RFP and its Addenda (if applicable); and 

2. The Respondent ’s Proposal.

B. In the event the County requires that an Ensuing Agreement be executed following award and a 
dispute arises between the terms and conditions of the Ensuing Agreement, the RFP and its 
Addenda (if applicable), and the Respondent ’s Proposal, applicable documents will be referred to 
for the purpose of clarification or for additional detail in the following order of precedence: 

1. The terms and conditions of the Ensuing Agreement;

2. The RFP and its Addenda; and  

3. The Respondent ’s Proposal.

4.3 OWNERSHIP OF PROPOSAL

Each Proposal shall become the property of the County upon submittal and will not be returned to 
Respondents unless received after the submittal deadline.

4.4 DISQUALIFICATION OF RESPONDENT

Upon signing and submittal of the Proposal, a Respondent offering to sell supplies, materials, services, 
or equipment to the County, certifies that the Respondent has not violated the antitrust laws of the State 
of Texas codified in Business & Commerce Code, Section 15.01, or the Federal Antitrust Laws, and has 
not communicated directly or indirectly the offer made to any competitor or any other person engaged
such line of business.  Any or all Proposals may be rejected if the County believes that collusion exists 
among the Respondents.

4.5 FUNDING

The County intends to budget and make sufficient funds available and authorize funds for expenditure to 
finance the costs of the Contract.  All Respondents understand and agree that the County’s payment of 
amounts under the Contract shall be contingent on the County receiving appropriations or other 
expenditure authority sufficient to allow the County, in the exercise of reasonable administrative 
discretion, to make payments under this Contract.

4.6 ASSIGNMENT, SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS 

The Successful Respondent may not assign, sell, or otherwise transfer the Contract or any other rights 
or interests obtained under the Contract without written permission of the Williamson County the 
Commissioners Court.  The Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be binding upon and inure to 
the benefit of the contracting parties hereto and their respective successors and permitted assigns.

4.7 IMPLIED REQUIREMENTS

Products or services not specifically described or required in the RFP, but are necessary to provide the 
functional capabilities described by the Respondent, shall be implied and deemed to be included in the
Proposal.

4.8 TERMINATION

A. Termination for Cause: The County reserves the right to terminate the Contract and/or any 
Ensuing Agreement(s) for default if the Successful Respondent breaches any of the Proposal
specifications, terms and conditions, including warranties of the Respondent, if any, or if the 
Successful Respondent becomes insolvent or commits acts of bankruptcy.  Such right of 
termination is in addition to and not in lieu of any other remedies the County may have at law or
equity or as may otherwise be provided hereunder.  Default may be construed as, but not limited 
to, failure to deliver the proper goods and/or services within the proper amount of time, and/or to 
properly perform any and all other requirements to the County ’s satisfaction, and/or to meet all 
other obligations and requirements.

B. Termination for Convenience: The County may terminate the Contract and/or any Ensuing 
Agreement(s) for convenience and without cause or further liability, upon no less than thirty (30) 
calendar days written notice to the Successful Respondent. The County reserves the right to 
extend this period if it is in the best interest of the County.  In the event the County exercises its 
right to terminate without cause, it is understood and agreed that only the amounts due to the 
Successful Respondent for goods, commodities and/or services provided and expenses incurred 
to and including the date of termination, will be due and payable.  No penalty will be assessed for 
the County ’s termination for convenience.

4.9 NON-PERFORMANCE

It is the objective of the County to obtain complete and satisfactory performance of the requirements set 
forth herein.  In addition to any other remedies available at law, in equity or that may be set out herein, 
failure to perform may result in a deduction of payment equal to the amount of the goods and/or services 
that were not provided and/or performed to the County ’s satisfaction.  

In the event of such non-performance, the County shall have the right, but shall not be obligated, to 
complete the services itself or by others and/or purchase the goods from other sources.  If the County 
elects to acquire the goods or perform the services itself or by others, pursuant to the foregoing, the 
Successful Respondent shall reimburse the County, within ten (10) calendar days of demand, for all 
costs incurred by the County (including, without limitation, applicable, general, and administrative 
expenses, and field overhead, and the cost of necessary equipment, materials, and field labor) in 
correcting the nonperformance which the Successful Respondent fails to meet pursuant to the 
requirements set out herein.  In the event the Successful Respondent refuses to reimburse the County 
as set out in this provision, the County shall have the right to deduct such reimbursement amounts from 
any amounts that may be then owing or that may become owing in the future to the Successful
Respondent.

4.10 PROPRIETARY INFORMATION AND THE TEXAS PUBLIC INFORMATION ACT

All material submitted to the County shall become public property and subject to the Texas Public 
Information Act upon receipt. If a Respondent does not desire proprietary information in the Proposal to 
be disclosed, each page must be clearly identified and marked proprietary at time of submittal or, more 
preferably, all proprietary information may be placed in a folder or appendix and be clearly identified and 
marked as being proprietary.  Failure to clearly identify and mark information as being proprietary as set 
forth under this provision will result in all unmarked information being deemed non-proprietary and 
available to the public.  For all information that has not been clearly identified and marked as proprietary 
by the Respondent, the County may choose to place such information on the County ’s website and/or a 
similar public database without obtaining any type of prior consent from the Respondent.

The County will, to the extent allowed by law, endeavor to protect from public disclosure the information 
that has been identified and marked as proprietary.  The final decision as to what information must be 
disclosed, however, lies with the Texas Attorney General.  

To the extent, if any, that any provision in this RFP or in the Respondent ’s Proposal is in conflict with 
Texas Government Code, Chapter 552, as amended (the “Public Information Act”), the same shall be of 
no force or effect.  Furthermore, it is expressly understood, and agreed, that the County, and its officers 
and employees, may request advice, decisions and opinions of the Attorney General of the State of
Texas in regard to the application of the Public Information Act to any items or data furnished to the 
County as to whether or not the same are available to the public.  It is further understood that that the 
County, and its officers and employees, shall have the right to rely on the advice, decisions and opinions 
of the Attorney General, and that the County, its officers and employees shall have no liability or obligation 
to any party hereto for the disclosure to the public, or to any person or persons, of any items or data 
furnished to the County by a party hereto, in reliance of any advice, decision or opinion of the Attorney 
General of the State of Texas.

4.11 RIGHT TO AUDIT

The Successful Respondent agrees that the County or its duly authorized representatives shall, until the 
expiration of three (3) years after termination or expiration of the services to be performed, have access 
to and the right to examine and photocopy any and all books, documents, papers and records of the 
Successful Respondent, which are directly pertinent to the services to be performed or goods to
delivered for the purposes of making audits, examinations, excerpts and transcriptions.  The Successful 
Respondent agrees that the County shall have access during normal working hours to all necessary 
facilities and shall be provided adequate and appropriate work space in order to conduct audits in 
compliance with the provisions of this section.  The County shall give the Successful Respondent 
reasonable advance notice of intended audits.

4.12 TESTING AND INSPECTIONS

The County reserves the right to inspect and test equipment, supplies, materials and goods for quality 
and compliance with this RFP, and ability to meet the needs of the user.  Demonstration units must be 
available for review.  Should the goods or services fail to meet requirements and/or be unavailable for 
evaluation, the County can deem the Respondent to be in breach and terminate the Contract and/or any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

4.13 PROPOSAL PREPARATION COSTS

The cost of developing Proposals is the sole responsibility of the Respondents and shall not be charged 
to the County.  There is no expressed or implied obligation for the County to reimburse the Respondents 
for any expense incurred in preparing a Proposal in response to this RFP and the County will not 
reimburse the Respondents for such expenses.

4.14 INDEMNIFICATION

The Successful Respondent shall indemnify, defend and save harmless, the County, its officials, 
employees, agents and agent ’s employees from, and against, all claims, liability, and expenses including 
reasonable attorneys ’ fees, arising from activities of the Respondent, its agents, servants or employees, 
performed hereunder that result from the negligent act, error, or omission of the Respondent or any of 
the Respondent ’s agents, servants or employees, as well as all claims of loss or damage to the 
Respondent ’s and the County ’s property, equipment, and/or supplies. 

Furthermore, the County, its officials, employees, agents and agents ’ employees shall not be liable for 
damages to the Successful Respondent arising from any act of any third party, including, but not limited 
to, theft.  The Successful Respondent further agrees to indemnify, defend and save harmless, the 
County from its officials, employee, agents and agents ’ employees against all claims of whatever nature 
arising from any accident, injury, or damage whatsoever, caused to any person, or the property of any 
person, occurring in relation to the Successful Respondent ’s performance of any services requested 
hereunder during the term of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s). 

The Successful Respondent shall timely report all claims, demands, suits, actions, proceedings, liens or 
judgements to the County and shall, upon the receipt of any claim, demand, suit, action, proceeding, lien 

or judgement, not later than the fifteenth (15 th) day of each month; provide the County with a written 
report on each such matter, setting forth the status of each matter, the schedule or planned proceedings 
with respect to each matter and the cooperation or assistance, if any, of the County required by the 
Successful Respondent in the defense of each matter.  The Successful Respondent’s duty to defend, 
indemnify and hold the County harmless shall be absolute.  It shall not abate or end by reason of the 
expiration or termination of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s), unless otherwise agreed by 
the County in writing.  The provisions of this section shall survive the termination of the Contract and shall 
remain in full force and effect with respect to all such matters no matter when they arise. 

In the event of any dispute between the parties, as to whether a claim, demand, suit, action, proceeding, 
lien or judgement, that appears to have been caused by or appears to have arisen out of or in connection 
with acts or omissions of the County, the Respondent shall nevertheless fully defend such claim, 
demand, suit or action, proceeding, lien or judgement, until and unless there is  a determination by a 
court of competent jurisdiction that the acts and omissions of the Respondent are not an issue in the 
matter. 

The Successful Respondent ’s indemnification shall cover, and the Successful Respondent agrees to, 
indemnify the County, in the event the County is found to have been negligent for having selected the 
Successful Respondent to perform the work described in this request.  The provision by the Successful 
Respondent of insurance shall not limit the liability of the Successful Respondent under the Contract 
and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s). 

4.15 WAIVER OF SUBROGATION

The Successful Respondent and the Successful Respondent ’s insurance carrier waive any and all rights 
whatsoever with regard to subrogation against the County as an indirect party to any suit arising out of 
personal or property damages resulting from the Respondent ’s performance under this Contract and any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

4.16 RELATIONSHIP OF THE PARTIES

The Successful Respondent shall be an independent contractor and shall assume all of the rights, 
obligations, liabilities, applicable to it as such independent contractor hereunder and any provisions 
herein which may appear to give the County the right to direct the Successful Respondent as to details of 
doing work herein covered, or to exercise a measure of control over the work, shall be deemed to mean 
that the Successful Respondent shall follow the desires of the County in the results of the work only.  The 
County shall not retain or have the right to control the Successful Respondent ’s means, methods or 
details pertaining to the Successful Respondent ’s performance of the work.  The County and the 
Successful Respondent hereby agree and declare that the Successful Respondent is an independent 
contractor and as such meets the qualifications of an “Independent Contractor” under Texas Workers 
Compensation Act, Texas Labor Code, Section 406.141, that the Successful Respondent is not an 
employee of  the County, and that the Successful Respondent and its employees, agents and 
subcontractors shall not be entitled to workers compensation coverage or any other type of insurance 
coverage held by the County.

4.17 SOLE PROVIDER

The Successful Respondent agrees and acknowledges that it shall not be considered a sole provider of 
the goods and/or services described herein and that the County may contract with other providers of 
such goods and/or services if the County deems, at its sole discretion, that multiple providers of the 
same goods and/or services will serve the best interest of the County.

4.18 FORCE MAJEURE

If the party obligated to perform is prevented from performance by an act of war, order of legal authority, 
act of God, or other unavoidable cause not attributable to the fault or negligence of said party, the other 
party shall grant such party relief from the performance.  The burden of proof for the need of such relief 
shall rest upon the party obligated to perform.  To obtain release based on force majeure, the party 
obligated to perform shall file a written request with the other party.

4.19 SEVERABILITY

If any provision of this RFP, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be held invalid or 
unenforceable by any court of competent jurisdiction, such holding shall not invalidate or render 
unenforceable any other provision thereof, but rather the entire RFP, Contract or any Ensuing Agreement
(s) will be construed as if not containing the particular invalid or unenforceable provision or provisions, 
and the rights and obligation of the parties shall be construed and enforced in accordance therewith.  The 
parties acknowledge that if any provision of this RFP, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) is 
determined to be invalid or unenforceable, it is the desire and intention of each that such provision be 
reformed and construed in such a manner that it will, to the maximum extent practicable, give effect to
the intent of this RFP, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) and be deemed to be validated and
enforceable.

4.20 EQUAL OPPORTUNITY

Neither party shall discriminate against any employee or applicant for employment because of race, 
color, sex, religion or national origin.

4.21 NOTICE

Any notice to be given shall be in writing and may be distributed by personal delivery, or by registered or 
certified mail, return receipt requested, addressed to the proper party, at the following address:

The County:    Williamson County Purchasing Department 
            Attn: Purchasing Agent 
            901 South Austin Avenue 
            Georgetown, Texas 78626

The Respondent: Address set out in Respondent ’s Transmittal Letter

Notices given in accordance with this provision shall be effective upon (1) receipt by the party to which 
notice is given, or (2) on the third (3rd) calendar day following mailing, whichever occurs first.

4.22 SALES AND USE TAX EXEMPTION

The County is a body, corporate and politic, under the laws of the State of Texas and claims exemption 
from sales and use taxes under Texas Tax Code, Section 151.309, as amended, and the services and/or 
goods subject hereof are being secured for use by the County.

4.23 COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS

The County and the Successful Respondent shall comply with all federal, state, and local laws, statutes,
ordinances, rules and regulations, and the orders and decrees of any courts or administrative bodies or 
tribunals in any matter affecting the performance of the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s),
including, without limitation, Workers ’ Compensation laws, salary and wage statutes and regulations, 
licensing laws and regulations.  When required, the Successful Respondent shall furnish the County with 
certification of compliance with said laws, statues, ordinances, rules, regulations, orders, and decrees 
above specified.

4.24 INCORPORATION OF EXHIBITS, APPENDICES AND ATTACHMENTS

All of the Exhibits, Appendices and Attachments referred to herein are incorporated by reference as if set 
forth verbatim herein.  Any conflicting terms in the Contract documents will be resolved at the sole 
discretion of the Commissioners Court.

4.25 NO WAIVER OF IMMUNITIES

Nothing herein shall be deemed to waive, modify or amend any legal defense available at law or in equity 
to the County, its past or present officers, employees, or agents, nor to create any legal rights or claim on 
behalf of any third party.  The County does not waive, modify, or alter to any extent whatsoever the 
availability of the defense of governmental immunity under the laws of the State of Texas and of the 
United States.

4.26 NO WAIVER

The failure or delay of any party to enforce at any time or any period of time any of the provisions of this 
RFP, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall not constitute a present or future waiver of such 
provisions nor the right of either party to enforce each and every provision.  Furthermore, no term or 
provision hereof shall be deemed waived and no breach excused unless such waiver or consent shall be 
in writing and signed by the party claimed to have waived or consented.  Any consent by any party to, or 
waiver of, a breach by the other, whether expressed or implied, shall not constitute a consent to, waiver 
of or excuse for any other, different or subsequent breach.

4.27 CURRENT REVENUES

The obligations of the parties under the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) do not constitute a 
general obligation or indebtedness of the County for which the County is obligated to levy, pledge, or 
collect any of taxation.  It is understood and agreed that the County shall have the right to terminate the 
Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) at the end of any the County fiscal year if the governing body of 
the County does not appropriate sufficient funds as determined by the County ’s budget for the fiscal year 
in question.  The County may effect such termination by giving written notice of termination to the 
Successful Respondent at the end of its then-current fiscal year.

4.28 BINDING EFFECT

This Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties 
and their respective permitted assigns and successors.

4.29 ASSIGNMENT

The Successful Respondent ’s interest and duties hereunder may not be assigned or delegated to a third 
party without the express written consent of the County.

4.30 SAFETY

The Successful Respondent is responsible for initiating, maintaining, and supervising all safety 
precautions and programs in connection with any services to be provided hereunder. The safety program 
shall comply with all applicable requirements of the current federal Occupational Safety and Health Act 
and all other applicable federal, state and local laws and regulations.

4.31 GENERAL OBLIGATIONS AND RELIANCE

The Successful Respondent shall perform all services and/or provide all goods, as well as those
reasonably inferable and necessary for completion and provision of services and/or goods required
hereunder. The Successful Respondent shall keep the County informed of the progress and quality
the services.  The Successful Respondent agrees and acknowledges that the County is relying on the 
Successful Respondent's represented expertise and ability to provide the goods and/or services 
described herein.  The Successful Respondent agrees to use its best efforts, skill, judgment, and abilities
to perform its obligations in accordance with the highest standards used in the profession and to further 
the interests of the County in accordance with the County ’s requirements and procedures.  The 
Successful Respondent ’s duties, as set forth herein, shall at no time be in any way diminished by reason
of any approval by the County, nor shall the Successful Respondent be released from any liability
reason of such approval by the County, it being understood that the County at all times is ultimately 
relying upon the Successful Respondent ’s skill and knowledge in performing the services and providing 
any goods required hereunder.

4.32 CONTRACTUAL DEVELOPMENT

The Commissioners Court may award the Contract on the basis of the initial Proposals received, without
any further or additional discussions.  Therefore, each initial Proposal should contain the Respondent
best terms and offer.  The contents of the RFP and the selected Proposal will become an integral part of 
the Contract, but may be modified, at Williamson County ’s sole discretion, by provisions of an Ensuing 
Agreement.  Therefore, the Respondent must agree to inclusion in an Ensuing Agreement of the 
Proposal specifications, terms and conditions of this RFP.  Williamson County may, at its discretion, opt 
to conduct further discussions with responsible offerors and request the highest ranked firm ’s Best and 
Final Offer (BAFO).

4.33 ENTIRE AGREEMENT

The Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall supersede all prior Agreements, written or oral 
between the Successful Respondent and the County and shall constitute the entire Agreement and 
understanding between the parties with respect to the services and/or goods to be provided.  Each of the 
provisions herein shall be binding upon the parties and may not be waived, modified, amended or altered, 
except by writing signed by the Successful Respondent and the County.

4.34 SURVIVABILITY 

All applicable agreements that were entered into between the Successful Respondent and the County, 
under the terms and conditions of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s), shall survive the 
expiration or termination thereof for ninety (90) days unless a new contract has been awarded.

The County may exercise, by written notice to the Successful Respondent no later than ten (10) calendar 
days of the Contract expiration, this clause for emergency cases only. 

4.35 PAYMENT

The County ’s payment for goods and services shall be governed by the Texas Government Code, 

Chapter 2251.  An invoice shall be deemed overdue the thirty-first (31st) day after the later of the 
following: 

A. The date the County receives the goods under the Contract; 
B. The date the performance of the service under the Contract is completed; or 
C. The date the Williamson County Auditor receives an invoice for the goods or services.  

Interest charges for any overdue payments shall be paid by the County in accordance with Texas 
Government Code, Section 2251.025.  More specifically, the rate of interest that shall accrue on a late 
payment is the rate in effect on September 1 of the County ’s fiscal year in which the payment becomes 
due.  The said rate in effect on September 1 shall be equal to the sum of one (1) percent and the prime 

rate published in the Wall Street Journal on the first (1st) day of July of the preceding fiscal year that does 
not fall on a Saturday or Sunday.

In the event that an error appears in an invoice submitted by the Successful Respondent, the County 
shall notify the Successful Respondent of the error not later than the twenty-first (21st) day after the date 
the County receives the invoice.  If the error is resolved in favor of the Successful Respondent, the 
Successful Respondent shall be entitled to receive interest on the unpaid balance of the invoice 
submitted by the Successful Respondent beginning on the date that the payment for the invoice became 
overdue.  If the error is resolved in favor of the County, the Successful Respondent shall submit a 
corrected invoice that must be paid in accordance within the time set forth above.  The unpaid balance 
accrues interest as provided by the Texas Government Code, Chapter 2251, if the corrected invoice is 
not paid by the appropriate date.

As a minimum, invoices shall include:

A. Name, address, and telephone number of the Successful Respondent and similar information in 
the event the payment is to be made to a different address. 

B. The County Contract, Purchase Order. 

C. Identification of items or service as outlined in the Contract.

D. Quantity or quantities, applicable unit prices, total prices and total amount.

E. Any additional payment information which may be called for by the Contract.

Payment inquiries should be directed to the following address:        

            Williamson County Auditor’s Office, Accounts Payable Department
            Email: accountspayable@wilco.org
            Phone: 512-943-1500

4.36 CONTRACTUAL FORMATION AND ENSUING AGREEMENT

The RFP and the Respondent ’s Proposal, when properly accepted by the Commissioners Court, shall 
constitute a Contract equally binding between the Successful Respondent and the County.  The 
Successful Respondent may be required by Williamson County to sign an additional Agreement 
containing terms necessary to ensure compliance with the RFP and Respondent ’s Proposal.

4.37 LEGAL LIABILITY INFORMATION

The Successful Respondent shall disclose all legal liability information by listing any pending litigation
anticipated litigation that your firm is involved in including, but not limited to, potential or actual legal
matters with private parties and any local, state, federal or international governmental entities. The
County reserves the right to consider legal liability information in the recommendation of any proposed 
contract to the Commissioners Court.

4.38 CONFIDENTIALITY

Respondent expressly agrees that it will not use any direct or incidental confidential information that may
be obtained while working in a governmental setting for its own benefit, and agrees that it will not access
unauthorized areas or confidential information and it will not disclose any information to unauthorized
third parties, and will take care to guard the security of the information at all times.

4.39 INCLEMENT WEATHER

In case of inclement weather or any other unforeseen event causing the County to close for business on 
the date of a Proposal submission deadline, the Proposal closing will automatically be postponed until the 
next business day the County is open.  If inclement weather conditions or any other unforeseen event 
causes delays in carrier service operations, the County may issue an Addendum to all known 
Respondents interested in the project to extend the deadline.  It will be the responsibility of the 
Respondent to notify the County of their interest in the project if these conditions are impacting their 
ability to turn in a submission within the stated deadline.  The County reserves the right to make the final 
judgement call to extend any deadline. 

4.40 AIR QUALITY

In determining the overall best Proposal, the County may, to the extent applicable, exercise the option 
granted to local governments under the Texas Local Government Code, Section 271.907.

This option allows the County to evaluate Proposals and give preference to goods and/or services of
Respondent that demonstrates that the Respondent meets or exceeds any and all state or federal 
environmental standards, including voluntary standards, relating to air quality.  If the Proposal being 
submitted will have an effect on air quality for the County (as it relates to any state, federal, or voluntary 
air quality standard), then the Respondent is encouraged to provide information in narrative indicating the 
anticipated air quality impact.  All Respondents are expected to meet all mandated state and federal air 
quality standards.

4.41 COOPERATIVE PURCHASING PROGRAM 

During the term of the Contract resulting from this RFP, the County would like to afford the same prices, 
terms and conditions to other political subdivisions or public entities.  Another entity’s participation in the 
Contract resulting from this RFP is subject to a properly authorized Purchasing Cooperative Inter- local 
Agreement (ILA) with the County.  Any liability created by purchase orders issued against the Contract 
shall be the sole responsibility of the governmental agency placing the order.

4.42 PREVAILING WAGE RATES

To the extent this procurement is for the construction of a public work, including a building, highway, 
road, excavation, and repair work or other project development or improvement, paid for in whole or in 
part from public funds, without regard to whether the work is done under public supervision or direction, 
Texas Government Code, Chapter 2258, shall apply and the contractor shall pay not less than the wage 
scale of the various classes of labor as shown on the “Prevailing Wage Schedule” provided by the 
County. Pursuant to Texas Government Code, Section 2258.022(a)(2), the County has determined the 
general prevailing rate of the “Prevailing Wage Schedule”  in the locality in which the public work is to be 
performed for each craft or type of worker needed to execute the contract and the prevailing rate for legal 
holiday and overtime work by using the prevailing wage rate as determined by the United States 
Department of Labor in accordance with the United States Code, Section 276a (Davis-Bacon Act). 

The specified wage rates are minimum rates only, and are not representations that qualified labor 
adequate to perform the work is available locally at the prevailing wage rates. The County is not bound to 
pay—and will not consider—any claims for additional compensation made by any contractor because the 
contractor pays wages in excess of the applicable minimum rate contained in the Contract Documents. 
The “Prevailing Wage Schedule”  is not a representation that quantities of qualified labor adequate to 
perform the work may be found locally at the specified wage rates.

For classifications not shown, workers shall not be paid less than the wage indicated for laborers. The 
contractor shall notify each worker commencing work on the project the worker ’s job classification and 
the established minimum wage rate required to be paid, as well as the actual amount being paid. The 
notice must be delivered to and signed in acknowledgement of receipt by the employee and must list 
both the monetary wages and fringe benefits to be paid or furnished for each classification in which the 
worker is assigned duties. When requested by the County, competent evidence of compliance with the 
Texas Prevailing Wage Law shall be furnished by contractor. A copy of each worker wage rate 
notification shall be submitted to the County with the Application for Payment for the period during which 
the worker began on-site activities.

Should the contractor at any time become aware that a particular skill or trade not reflected on the 
County ’s “Prevailing Wage Schedule” will be or is being employed in the work, whether by the contractor 
or by a subcontractor, the contractor shall promptly inform the County and shall specify a wage rate for 
that skill or trade, which shall bind the contractor.

The contractor and any subcontractor shall pay to the County a penalty of sixty dollars ($60.00) for each 
worker employed for each calendar day, or portion thereof, that the worker is paid less than the wage 
rates stipulated in the “Prevailing Wage Schedule” or any supplement thereto. The contractor and each 
subcontractor shall keep, or cause to be kept, an accurate record showing the names and occupations 
of all workers employed in connection with the work, and showing the actual per diem wages paid to 
each worker, which records shall be open at all reasonable hours for the inspection by the County.

Within thirty-one (31) days of receipt of information concerning a violation of the Texas Government Code 
Chapter 2258, the County shall make an initial determination as to whether good cause exists to believe 
a violation occurred. The County ’s decision on the initial determination shall be reduced to writing and 
sent to the contractor or subcontractor against whom the violation was alleged, and to the affected 
worker. When a good cause finding is made, the County shall retain the full amounts claimed by the 
claimant or claimants as the difference between wages paid and wages due under the “Prevailing Wage 
Schedule” and any supplements thereto, together with the applicable penalties, such amounts being 
subtracted from successive progress payments pending a final decision on the violation.

After the County makes its initial determination, the affected contractor or subcontractor and worker have 
fourteen (14) calendar days in which to resolve the issue of whether a violation occurred, including the 
amount that should be retained by the County or paid to the affected worker. If the contractor or 
subcontractor and affected worker reach an agreement concerning the worker ’s claim, the contractor 
shall promptly notify the County in a written document signed by the worker. It the contractor or 

Subcontractor and affected worker do not agree before the fifteenth (15 th) calendar day after the County
determination, the contractor or subcontractor and affected worker must participate in binding arbitration 
in accordance with the Texas General Arbitration Act, Chapter 171, (Texas Civil Practice and Remedies 
Code). The parties to the arbitration have ten (10) calendar days after the expiration of the fifteen (15) 

calendar days referred to above, to agree on an arbitrator; if by the eleventh (11 th) calendar day there is 
no agreement to an arbitrator, a district court shall appoint an arbitrator on the petition of any of the 
parties to the arbitration.

If an arbitrator determines that a violation has occurred, the arbitrator shall assess and award against the 
contractor or subcontractor the amount of penalty as provided above and the amount owed the worker. 
The County may use any amounts retained hereunder to pay the worker the amount as designated in the 
arbitration award. If the County has not retained enough from the contractor or subcontractor to pay the 
worker in accordance with the arbitration award, the worker has a right of action against the contractor 
and subcontractor as appropriate, and the surety of either to receive the amount owed, attorneys ’  fees 
and court costs. The contractor shall promptly furnish a copy of the arbitration award to the County.

Money retained pursuant to the provisions above shall be used to pay the claimant or claimants the 
difference between the amount the worker received in wages for labor on the project at the rate paid by 
the contractor or subcontractor and the amount the worker would have received at the general prevailing 
wage rate as provided by the agreement of the claimant and the contractor or subcontractor affected, or 
in the arbitrator ’s award. The full statutory penalty of sixty dollars ($60.00) per calendar day of violation 
per worker shall be retained by Williamson County to offset its administrative costs, pursuant to Texas 
Government Code, Section, 2258.023. Any retained funds in excess of these amounts shall be paid to 
the contractor on the earlier of the next progress payment or final payment. Provided, however, that the 
County shall have no duty to release any funds to either the claimant or the contractor until it has 
received the notices of agreement or the arbitration award as provided under the provision herein-above.

4.43 CONFIDENTALITY

The Respondent expressly agrees that it will not use any direct or incidental confidential information that 
may be obtained while working in a governmental setting for its own benefit, and agrees that it will not 
access unauthorized areas or confidential information and it will not disclose any information to 
unauthorized third parties, and will take care to guard the security of the information at all times.

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 362



5

6

3 4

Williamson County – Request for Proposal (RFP)

SECTION 1 - DEFINITIONS 

Addendum/Addenda – means any written or graphic instruments issued by the County prior to the 
consideration of Proposals which modify or interpret the Proposal Documents by additions, deletions, 
clarifications, or corrections.

Agreement/Ensuing Agreement(s) – means the Successful Respondent may be required by the 
County to sign an additional Agreement containing terms necessary to ensure compliance with the RFP 
and the Respondent ’s Proposal.  Such Ensuing Agreement(s) shall contain the Proposal specifications, 
terms and conditions that are derived from the RFP.

Contract – means this RFP and the Proposal of the Successful Respondent shall become a Contract 
between the Successful Respondent and the County once the Successful Respondent ’s Proposal is 
properly accepted by the Williamson County Commissioners Court (sometimes referred to herein as the 
Commissioner ’s Court”).

Commissioner ’s Court – means the Williamson County Commissioners Court. 

County – means Williamson County, a political subdivision of the State of Texas.

Executive Summary – means the document submitted by Respondent that represents a concise 
summary of the contents of the Proposal. It does not include any information concerning costs. 

Proposal Documents – means the Legal Notice, RFP including attachments, and any Addenda issued 
by the County prior to the consideration of any Proposals.

Proposal – means the complete, properly signed document, and ALL required forms and documentation 
listed in the proposal package which have been submitted in accordance with this RFP package. A 
Proposal submitted in accordance with this RFP is irrevocable during the specified time period for 
evaluation and acceptance of Proposals, unless a waiver is obtained from the Williamson County 
Purchasing Agent.

Respondent – means a person or entity who submits a Proposal in response to this RFP.

Request for Proposals (RFP) – means this document, together with the attachments thereto and any 
future Addenda issued by the County.

Successful Respondent– means the responsible Respondent who, in the County ’s sole opinion, 
submits the Proposal which is in the best interest of the County, taking into account factors identified 
herein, and to whom the County intends to award the Contract.

SECTION 2 - RESPONSE FORMAT AND SUBMISSION

2.1 INTRODUCTION

Each Proposal submitted in response to this RFP should clearly reference the numbered sections of this 
RFP that require a response.  Failure to arrange the Proposal as requested may result in the 
disqualification of the Proposal.

Though there is not a page limit for Proposals, to save natural resources including paper, and to allow the 
County staff to efficiently evaluate all submitted Proposals, the County requests that Proposals be 
orderly, concise, but comprehensive in providing the requested information.  Conciseness and clarity of 
content are emphasized and encouraged.  If mailed or delivered in person, please limit additional, non
requested information.

Please provide your Proposal response using:

A. 8 ½” x 11” pages, inclusive of any cover letter or supporting materials.

B. The least amount of plastic/laminate or other non-recyclable binding materials.

C. Single-sided printing.

Vague and general Proposals will be considered non-responsive, and may, at the County ’s sole 
discretion, result in disqualification. Proposals must be legible and complete.  Failure to provide the 
required information may result in the disqualification of the Proposal. All pages of the Proposal should 
be numbered and the Proposal should contain an organized, paginated table of contents corresponding 
to the sections and pages of the Proposal.

2.2 ORGANIZATION OF PROPOSAL CONTENTS AND TABLE OF CONTENTS 

Each Proposal should be submitted with a table of contents that clearly identifies and denotes the 
location of all enclosures of the Proposal. The table of contents should follow the RFP ’s structure as 
much as is practical.

Each Proposal should be organized in the manner described below:

A. Transmittal Letter. Please see Section 2.3, Transmittal Letter, for more information. 

B. Table of Contents. 

C. Executive Summary. Please see Section 2.4, Executive Summary. 

D. Proposal Response to Criteria. (Please see the sections in this RFP package that list the 
Specifications & Cost Proposal, Experience and Qualifications, References, and Implementation 
Strategy to respond to our criteria in a clear and concise manner) 

E. Price Sheet. 

F. References: Identification of three (3) references within the last four (4) years, for which the 
Respondent is providing, or has provided, the goods and/or services (public sector) of the type 
requested in this RFP. Include the name, position/title, and telephone number of a contact person 
at each entity. 

G.  Conflict of Interest Questionnaire. 

H. Proposal Affidavit (Signature Page).

I. Attach your entities sample Contract, if applicable, for the County ’s review and consideration. This 
should include any additional terms or conditions. The County is not required to use the sample 
Contract submitted. 

2.3 TRANSMITTAL LETTER

The Respondent should submit a Transmittal Letter that provides the following information: 

A. Name and address of individual or business entity submitting the Proposal. 

B. Respondent ’s type of business entity (i.e., Corporation, General Partnership, Limited Partnership, 
LLC, etc.).  See Section 3.5, Signature of Respondent, for more information. 

C. Place of incorporation or organization, if applicable.

D. Name and location of major offices and other facilities that relate to the Respondent
performance under the terms of this RFP.

E. Name, physical address, email address, business and fax number of the Respondent ’s principal 
contact person regarding all contractual matters relating to this RFP.

F. The Respondent ’s Federal Employer Identification Number.

G. A commitment by the Respondent to provide the services required by the County;

H. A statement that the Proposal is valid for the time specified on page three (3), under the section 
named Prices Good for, of this Proposal packet. Any Proposal containing a term of less than the 
required amount, may at the County ’s sole discretion, be rejected as non-responsive.

I. If the Proposal being submitted will have an effect on air quality for the County (as it relates to any 
state, federal, or voluntary air quality standard), then the Respondent is encouraged to provide
information in narrative indicating the anticipated air quality impact. See Section 4.40, Air Quality 
for more information. 

The Transmittal Letter should be signed by a person legally authorized to bind the Respondent to the
representations in the Transmittal Letter and the Proposal.  In the case of a joint Proposal, each party 
must sign the Transmittal Letter.

2.4 EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

The Respondent should provide an Executive Summary of its Proposal that asserts that the Respondent 
is providing in its response all of the requirements of this RFP.  The Executive Summary should not 
include any information concerning the cost of the Proposal, but instead must represent a full and 
concise summary of the contents of the Proposal.  It is recommended the Executive Summary include 
the following information: 

A. Identify any goods and/or services that are provided beyond those specifically requested.  If the 
Respondent is providing services and/or goods that do not meet the specific requirements of this 
RFP, but in the opinion of the Respondent are equivalent or superior to those specifically 
requested, any such differences should be noted in the Executive Summary. However, the 
Respondent must realize that failure to provide the goods and/or services specifically required, at 
the County ’s sole discretion, may result in disqualification of the Proposal.

B. Indicate why the Respondent believes that it is the most qualified Respondent to provide the 
services described in this RFP.  The Successful Respondent must demonstrate extensive 
experience and understanding of the intent of this project.  The Respondent should describe in 
detail the current and historical experience the Respondent and its subcontractors have that 
would be relevant to completing the project.  References must contain the name of key personnel 
and telephone numbers for each contact, as described in Section 3.14, References.  

C. Briefly state why the Respondent believes its proposed goods and/or services best meet the 
County ’s needs and RFP requirements, and the Respondent also should concisely describe any 
additional features, aspects, or advantages of its goods and/or services in any relevant area not 
covered elsewhere in its Proposal.

2.5 CONFLICT OF INTEREST

No public official shall have interest in a contract, in accordance with Vernon ’s Texas Codes Annotated, 
Local Government Code, Title 5, Subtitle C, Chapter 171, as amended. 

As of January 1, 2006, all Respondents are responsible for complying with Local Government Code, Title 
5, Subtitle C, Chapter 176.  Additional information may be obtained from the County’s website at the 
following link: 

http://www.wilco.org/CountyDepartments/Purchasing/ConflictofInterestDisclosure/tabid/689/language/en
US/Default.aspx

Each Respondent must disclose any existing or potential conflict of interest relative to the performance of 
the requirements of this RFP.  Examples of potential conflicts of interest may include an existing 
business or personal relationship between the Respondent, its principal, or any affiliate or 
subcontractor with the County or any other entity or person involved in any way with the project 
that is subject to this RFP.  Similarly, any personal or business relationship between the Respondent, 
the principals, or any affiliate or subcontractor with any employee, or official of the County or its suppliers 
must be disclosed.  Any such relationship that might be perceived or represented as a conflict must be 
disclosed. Failure to disclose any such relationship or reveal personal relationships with the County 
employees or officials may be cause for termination. 

The County will decide if an actual or perceived conflict should result in Proposal disqualification. 

By submitting a Proposal in response to this RFP, all Respondents affirm they have not given, nor intend 
to give, at any time hereafter, any economic opportunity, future employment, gift, loan, gratuity, special 
discount, trip, favor, or service to a the County public servant or any employee, official or representative 
of same, in connection with this procurement. 

Each Respondent must provide a Conflict of Interest Statement with their Proposal Package.  

Package may be deemed incomplete without this form.  

2.6 CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PARTIES – FORM 1295

As of January 1, 2016, all Respondents are responsible for complying with the Texas Government Code, 
Section 2252.908.  The law states that the County may not enter into certain contracts with a 
Respondent unless the Respondent submits a disclosure of interested parties to the County at the time 
the Respondent submits the signed contract.  The law applies only to a contract of the County on or after 
January 1, 2016 that either:

A. Requires an action or vote by the Commissioners Court before the contract may be signed (all 
contracts that fall under the jurisdiction of the Commissioners Court approval, such as contracts 
resulting from an Initiation for Bid (IFB), RFP, Request for Qualifications (RFQ), etc., excluding, 
but not limited to, certain Juvenile Service contracts, contracts funded with Sheriff ’s seized fun 
monies, etc.); or

B. Has a value of at least $1,000,000. 

By January 1, 2016, the Texas Ethics Commission will make available on its website, a new filing 
application that must be used to file Form 1295.  Information regarding how to use the filing application is 
available on the Texas Ethics Commission website at the following link:

https://www.ethics.state.tx.us/whatsnew/elf_info_form1295.htm

A Respondent must:

A. Use the online application to process the required information on Form 1295.

B. Print a copy of the form which will contain a unique certification number.

C. An authorized agent of the Respondent must sign the printed copy of the form.

D. Have the form notarized.

E. File the completed Form 1295 and certification of filing (scanning and emailing form is sufficient) 
with Williamson County Purchasing Agent at the time the signed Contract is submitted for 
approval.

After the Commissioners Court award of the contract, the County shall notify the Texas Ethics 
Commission, using the Texas Ethics Commission ’s filing application, of the receipt of the filed Form 
1295 and certification of filing not later than the 30th day after the date the contract binds all parties to the 
contract. The Texas Ethics Commission will post the completed Form 1295 to its website within seven 
business days after receiving notice from the County.

2.7 PROPOSAL SUBMITTAL DEADLINE

The Proposal is due no later than the submittal date and time set forth in the Public Announcement and 
General Information listed in this RFP package.  Contents of each Proposal shall be submitted in 
accordance with this RFP.

2.8 ETHICS

The Respondent shall not accept or offer gifts or anything of value, nor enter into any business 
arrangement with any employee, official or agent of the County.

2.9 DELIVERY OF PROPOSALS

The County uses BidSync to distribute and receive bids and Proposals.  It is preferred that Proposals
be submitted electronically through BidSync; however, Respondents can submit a hard copy.  

Refer to www.bidsync.com for further information on how to submit electronically.

If mailed or delivered in person, Proposal and Proposal Addenda are to be delivered in sealed envelope
on or before the submittal deadline, as noted in the Public Announcement and General Information listed 
in this RFP package, to:

            Williamson County Purchasing Department
            Attn: Proposal Name and Number
            901 South Austin Avenue
            Georgetown, Texas 78626

Also, all Respondents should list their Name and Address, and the Date of the Proposal opening on the
outside of the box or envelope and note “Sealed Proposal Enclosed.” Williamson County will not accept 
any Proposals after the submittal deadline, and shall return such Proposals unopened to the 
Respondent.  The County will not accept any responsibility for Proposals being delivered by third party 
carriers. 

Proposals will be opened publicly; however, in a manner to avoid public disclosure of contents, only 
names of Respondents will be read aloud: no pricing will be announced at the opening. 

SECTION 3 - INSTRUCTIONS AND GENERAL REQUIREMENTS

3.1 INSTRUCTIONS

Read this document carefully, and follow all instructions and requirements.  All Respondents are 
responsible for fulfilling all requirements and specifications.  Be sure to have a clear understanding of this
RFP.

General requirements apply to all advertised RFPs; however, these may be superseded, in whole or in 
part, by the proposal specifications, Addenda and modifications issued as a part of this RFP.  Be sure 
your Proposal package is complete.

3.2 AMBIGUITY, CONFLICT, OR OTHER ERRORS IN THIS RFP

If a Respondent discovers any ambiguity, conflict, discrepancy, omission or other error in this RFP, the 
Respondent shall immediately notify the County Purchasing Department of such error in writing and
request modification or clarification of the document.

Modifications will be made by issuing Addenda. If the Respondent fails to notify the County prior to the
date and time fixed for submission of Proposals of an error or ambiguity in the RFP known to the
Respondent, or an error or ambiguity that reasonably should have been known to the Respondent, then 
the Respondent shall be deemed to have waived the error or ambiguity or its later resolution.

The County may also modify the RFP, no later than forty-eight (48) hours prior to the date and time fixed
for submission of Proposals, by issuance of an Addendum.  All Addenda will be numbered consecutively, 
beginning with one (1).

3.3 NOTIFICATION OF MOST CURRENT ADDRESS

All Respondents in receipt of this RFP shall notify the Williamson County Purchasing Department of any
address changes, contact person changes, and/or telephone number changes no later than forty-eight 
(48) hours prior to the date and time fixed for submission of Proposals.

3.4 SIGNATURE OF RESPONDENT

A Transmittal Letter, which shall be considered an integral part of the Proposal as stated in Section 2.3, 
Transmittal Letter, shall be signed by an individual who is authorized to bind the Respondent
contractually.

A. If the Respondent is a Corporation or Limited Liability Company, the legal name of the Corporation
or Limited Liability Company shall be provided together with the signature of the officer or officers 
authorized to sign on behalf of such entity.

B. If the Respondent is a General Partnership, the true name of the firm shall be provided with the
signature of each partner authorized to sign.

C. If the Respondent is a Limited Partnership, the name of the Limited Partner ’s General Partner
shall be provided with the signature of the officer authorized to sign on behalf of the General
Partner.

D. If the Respondent is a Sole Proprietor(s) (individual), each Sole Proprietor(s) shall sign.

E. If signature is by an agent, other than the Sole Proprietor(s) or an officer of a Corporation, Limited 
Liability Company, General Partner or a member of a General Partnership, a power of attorney
equivalent document must be submitted to the Williamson County Purchasing Department.

3.5 ASSUMED BUSINESS NAME

If the Respondent operates business under an Assumed Business Name, the Respondent must have
file with the Williamson County Clerk a current Assumed Name Certificate and provide a file marked copy 
of same prior to contract award.

3.6 ECONOMY OF PRESENTATION

Proposals should not contain promotional or display materials, except as they may directly answer in 
whole or in part questions contained in the RFP.  Such exhibits shall be clearly marked with the 
applicable reference number of the question in the RFP.  Proposals must address the technical 
requirements as specified in the RFP.  All questions posed by the RFP must be answered concisely and 
clearly. Proposals that do not address each criterion may be, at the sole discretion of the County, 
rejected and not considered.

3.7 PROPOSAL OBLIGATION 

The contents of the RFP, Proposal, and any clarification thereof submitted by the Successful
Respondent shall become part of the contractual obligation and incorporated by reference into the 
Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s).

3.8 COMPLIANCE WITH RFP SPECIFICATIONS

It is intended that this RFP describe the requirements and the Proposal format in sufficient detail to 
secure comparable Proposal.  Failure to comply with all provisions of the RFP may, at the sole discretion 
of the County, result in disqualification.

3.9 EVALUATION 

The County reserves the right to use all pertinent information (also learned from sources other than 
disclosed in the RFP process) that might affect the County ’s judgment as to the appropriateness of
award to the best evaluated Respondent. This information may be appended to the Proposal evaluation
process results. Information on a Respondent from reliable sources, and not within the Respondent
Proposal, may also be noted and made part of the evaluation fi le.  The County shall have sole 
discretion for determining the reliability of the source.  The County reserves the right to conduct written 
and/or oral discussions/interviews after the Proposal opening.  The purpose of such 
discussions/interviews is to provide clarification and/or additional information to make an award that is in 
the best interest of the County.

3.10 WITHDRAWAL OF PROPOSAL

The Respondent may withdraw its Proposal by submitting a written request with the company letterhead 
and the signature of an authorized individual, as described in Section 3.4, Signature of Respondent, to 
the Williamson County Purchasing Department any time prior to the submission deadline.  

The Respondent may submit a new Proposal prior to the deadline. Alterations of the Proposal in any 
manner will not be considered if submitted after the deadline.  Withdrawal of a Proposal after the deadline 
will be subject to written approval of the Williamson County Purchasing Agent.

3.11 RESPONSIBILITY 

It is expected that a Respondent will be able to affirmatively demonstrate responsibility.  A prospective
Respondent should be able to meet the following requirements:

A. Have adequate financial resources, or the ability to obtain such resources as required;
B. Be able to comply with the required or proposed delivery schedule;
C. Have a satisfactory record of performance that can be determined thru references provided; and 
D. Be otherwise qualified and eligible to receive an award.

The County may request representation and other information sufficient to determine the Respondent
ability to meet these minimum standards listed above.

3.12 PURCHASE ORDERS

If required by the Williamson County Purchasing Department, a purchase order(s) may be generated to 
the Successful Respondent for goods and/or services.  If a purchase order is issued, the purchase order 
number must appear on all itemized invoices and/or requests for payment.

3.13 SILENCE OF SPECIFICATIONS

The apparent silence of any RFP specifications as to any detail or to the apparent omission from it of a 
detailed description concerning any point, shall be regarded as meaning that only the best practices are 
to prevail.  All interpretations of these specifications shall be made on the basis of this statement.

3.14 REFERENCES

Respondents shall furnish a list of contracts where similar responsibilities and goods and/or services 
have been required and/or performed for the past five (5) years, to include names, titles, phone numbers 
and email addresses of reference contacts, contract numbers and dates of performance. 

Also, Respondents shall include a list of any contracts that have been cancelled or terminated within the 
last five (5) years, along with an explanation of the cancellation and the names, email address and phone 
number of a reference person with that institution. 

The County may contact some or all of the references in order to determine the Respondent
performance record on work similar to that described in this RFP.  The County reserves the right to 
contact references other than those provided in the response and to use the information gained from 
them in the evaluation process. 

References should be provided in accordance with this RFP.  Proposal may not be deemed complete 
without the inclusion of requested references.

SECTION 4 - TERMS AND CONDITIONS

4.1 VENUE AND GOVERNING LAW

The Respondent hereby agrees and acknowledges that venue and jurisdiction of any suit, right, or cause 
of action arising out of or in connection with this RFP, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s), shall 
lie exclusively in either Williamson County, Texas or in the Austin Division of the Western Federal District 
of Texas, and the parties hereto expressly consent and submit to such jurisdiction.  Furthermore, except 
to the extent that this RFP, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) is governed by the laws of the 
United States, this RFP, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be governed by and 
construed in accordance with the laws of the State of Texas, excluding, however, its choice of law rules.

4.2 INCORPORATION BY REFERENCE AND PRECEDENCE

A. The Contract shall be derived from the RFP and its Addenda (if applicable), and the Respondent
Proposal.  In the event of a dispute under the Contract, applicable documents will be referred to 
for the purpose of clarification or for additional detail in the following order of precedence:

1. The RFP and its Addenda (if applicable); and 

2. The Respondent ’s Proposal.

B. In the event the County requires that an Ensuing Agreement be executed following award and a 
dispute arises between the terms and conditions of the Ensuing Agreement, the RFP and its 
Addenda (if applicable), and the Respondent ’s Proposal, applicable documents will be referred to 
for the purpose of clarification or for additional detail in the following order of precedence: 

1. The terms and conditions of the Ensuing Agreement;

2. The RFP and its Addenda; and  

3. The Respondent ’s Proposal.

4.3 OWNERSHIP OF PROPOSAL

Each Proposal shall become the property of the County upon submittal and will not be returned to 
Respondents unless received after the submittal deadline.

4.4 DISQUALIFICATION OF RESPONDENT

Upon signing and submittal of the Proposal, a Respondent offering to sell supplies, materials, services, 
or equipment to the County, certifies that the Respondent has not violated the antitrust laws of the State 
of Texas codified in Business & Commerce Code, Section 15.01, or the Federal Antitrust Laws, and has 
not communicated directly or indirectly the offer made to any competitor or any other person engaged
such line of business.  Any or all Proposals may be rejected if the County believes that collusion exists 
among the Respondents.

4.5 FUNDING

The County intends to budget and make sufficient funds available and authorize funds for expenditure to 
finance the costs of the Contract.  All Respondents understand and agree that the County’s payment of 
amounts under the Contract shall be contingent on the County receiving appropriations or other 
expenditure authority sufficient to allow the County, in the exercise of reasonable administrative 
discretion, to make payments under this Contract.

4.6 ASSIGNMENT, SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS 

The Successful Respondent may not assign, sell, or otherwise transfer the Contract or any other rights 
or interests obtained under the Contract without written permission of the Williamson County the 
Commissioners Court.  The Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be binding upon and inure to 
the benefit of the contracting parties hereto and their respective successors and permitted assigns.

4.7 IMPLIED REQUIREMENTS

Products or services not specifically described or required in the RFP, but are necessary to provide the 
functional capabilities described by the Respondent, shall be implied and deemed to be included in the
Proposal.

4.8 TERMINATION

A. Termination for Cause: The County reserves the right to terminate the Contract and/or any 
Ensuing Agreement(s) for default if the Successful Respondent breaches any of the Proposal
specifications, terms and conditions, including warranties of the Respondent, if any, or if the 
Successful Respondent becomes insolvent or commits acts of bankruptcy.  Such right of 
termination is in addition to and not in lieu of any other remedies the County may have at law or
equity or as may otherwise be provided hereunder.  Default may be construed as, but not limited 
to, failure to deliver the proper goods and/or services within the proper amount of time, and/or to 
properly perform any and all other requirements to the County ’s satisfaction, and/or to meet all 
other obligations and requirements.

B. Termination for Convenience: The County may terminate the Contract and/or any Ensuing 
Agreement(s) for convenience and without cause or further liability, upon no less than thirty (30) 
calendar days written notice to the Successful Respondent. The County reserves the right to 
extend this period if it is in the best interest of the County.  In the event the County exercises its 
right to terminate without cause, it is understood and agreed that only the amounts due to the 
Successful Respondent for goods, commodities and/or services provided and expenses incurred 
to and including the date of termination, will be due and payable.  No penalty will be assessed for 
the County ’s termination for convenience.

4.9 NON-PERFORMANCE

It is the objective of the County to obtain complete and satisfactory performance of the requirements set 
forth herein.  In addition to any other remedies available at law, in equity or that may be set out herein, 
failure to perform may result in a deduction of payment equal to the amount of the goods and/or services 
that were not provided and/or performed to the County ’s satisfaction.  

In the event of such non-performance, the County shall have the right, but shall not be obligated, to 
complete the services itself or by others and/or purchase the goods from other sources.  If the County 
elects to acquire the goods or perform the services itself or by others, pursuant to the foregoing, the 
Successful Respondent shall reimburse the County, within ten (10) calendar days of demand, for all 
costs incurred by the County (including, without limitation, applicable, general, and administrative 
expenses, and field overhead, and the cost of necessary equipment, materials, and field labor) in 
correcting the nonperformance which the Successful Respondent fails to meet pursuant to the 
requirements set out herein.  In the event the Successful Respondent refuses to reimburse the County 
as set out in this provision, the County shall have the right to deduct such reimbursement amounts from 
any amounts that may be then owing or that may become owing in the future to the Successful
Respondent.

4.10 PROPRIETARY INFORMATION AND THE TEXAS PUBLIC INFORMATION ACT

All material submitted to the County shall become public property and subject to the Texas Public 
Information Act upon receipt. If a Respondent does not desire proprietary information in the Proposal to 
be disclosed, each page must be clearly identified and marked proprietary at time of submittal or, more 
preferably, all proprietary information may be placed in a folder or appendix and be clearly identified and 
marked as being proprietary.  Failure to clearly identify and mark information as being proprietary as set 
forth under this provision will result in all unmarked information being deemed non-proprietary and 
available to the public.  For all information that has not been clearly identified and marked as proprietary 
by the Respondent, the County may choose to place such information on the County ’s website and/or a 
similar public database without obtaining any type of prior consent from the Respondent.

The County will, to the extent allowed by law, endeavor to protect from public disclosure the information 
that has been identified and marked as proprietary.  The final decision as to what information must be 
disclosed, however, lies with the Texas Attorney General.  

To the extent, if any, that any provision in this RFP or in the Respondent ’s Proposal is in conflict with 
Texas Government Code, Chapter 552, as amended (the “Public Information Act”), the same shall be of 
no force or effect.  Furthermore, it is expressly understood, and agreed, that the County, and its officers 
and employees, may request advice, decisions and opinions of the Attorney General of the State of
Texas in regard to the application of the Public Information Act to any items or data furnished to the 
County as to whether or not the same are available to the public.  It is further understood that that the 
County, and its officers and employees, shall have the right to rely on the advice, decisions and opinions 
of the Attorney General, and that the County, its officers and employees shall have no liability or obligation 
to any party hereto for the disclosure to the public, or to any person or persons, of any items or data 
furnished to the County by a party hereto, in reliance of any advice, decision or opinion of the Attorney 
General of the State of Texas.

4.11 RIGHT TO AUDIT

The Successful Respondent agrees that the County or its duly authorized representatives shall, until the 
expiration of three (3) years after termination or expiration of the services to be performed, have access 
to and the right to examine and photocopy any and all books, documents, papers and records of the 
Successful Respondent, which are directly pertinent to the services to be performed or goods to
delivered for the purposes of making audits, examinations, excerpts and transcriptions.  The Successful 
Respondent agrees that the County shall have access during normal working hours to all necessary 
facilities and shall be provided adequate and appropriate work space in order to conduct audits in 
compliance with the provisions of this section.  The County shall give the Successful Respondent 
reasonable advance notice of intended audits.

4.12 TESTING AND INSPECTIONS

The County reserves the right to inspect and test equipment, supplies, materials and goods for quality 
and compliance with this RFP, and ability to meet the needs of the user.  Demonstration units must be 
available for review.  Should the goods or services fail to meet requirements and/or be unavailable for 
evaluation, the County can deem the Respondent to be in breach and terminate the Contract and/or any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

4.13 PROPOSAL PREPARATION COSTS

The cost of developing Proposals is the sole responsibility of the Respondents and shall not be charged 
to the County.  There is no expressed or implied obligation for the County to reimburse the Respondents 
for any expense incurred in preparing a Proposal in response to this RFP and the County will not 
reimburse the Respondents for such expenses.

4.14 INDEMNIFICATION

The Successful Respondent shall indemnify, defend and save harmless, the County, its officials, 
employees, agents and agent ’s employees from, and against, all claims, liability, and expenses including 
reasonable attorneys ’ fees, arising from activities of the Respondent, its agents, servants or employees, 
performed hereunder that result from the negligent act, error, or omission of the Respondent or any of 
the Respondent ’s agents, servants or employees, as well as all claims of loss or damage to the 
Respondent ’s and the County ’s property, equipment, and/or supplies. 

Furthermore, the County, its officials, employees, agents and agents ’ employees shall not be liable for 
damages to the Successful Respondent arising from any act of any third party, including, but not limited 
to, theft.  The Successful Respondent further agrees to indemnify, defend and save harmless, the 
County from its officials, employee, agents and agents ’ employees against all claims of whatever nature 
arising from any accident, injury, or damage whatsoever, caused to any person, or the property of any 
person, occurring in relation to the Successful Respondent ’s performance of any services requested 
hereunder during the term of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s). 

The Successful Respondent shall timely report all claims, demands, suits, actions, proceedings, liens or 
judgements to the County and shall, upon the receipt of any claim, demand, suit, action, proceeding, lien 

or judgement, not later than the fifteenth (15 th) day of each month; provide the County with a written 
report on each such matter, setting forth the status of each matter, the schedule or planned proceedings 
with respect to each matter and the cooperation or assistance, if any, of the County required by the 
Successful Respondent in the defense of each matter.  The Successful Respondent’s duty to defend, 
indemnify and hold the County harmless shall be absolute.  It shall not abate or end by reason of the 
expiration or termination of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s), unless otherwise agreed by 
the County in writing.  The provisions of this section shall survive the termination of the Contract and shall 
remain in full force and effect with respect to all such matters no matter when they arise. 

In the event of any dispute between the parties, as to whether a claim, demand, suit, action, proceeding, 
lien or judgement, that appears to have been caused by or appears to have arisen out of or in connection 
with acts or omissions of the County, the Respondent shall nevertheless fully defend such claim, 
demand, suit or action, proceeding, lien or judgement, until and unless there is  a determination by a 
court of competent jurisdiction that the acts and omissions of the Respondent are not an issue in the 
matter. 

The Successful Respondent ’s indemnification shall cover, and the Successful Respondent agrees to, 
indemnify the County, in the event the County is found to have been negligent for having selected the 
Successful Respondent to perform the work described in this request.  The provision by the Successful 
Respondent of insurance shall not limit the liability of the Successful Respondent under the Contract 
and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s). 

4.15 WAIVER OF SUBROGATION

The Successful Respondent and the Successful Respondent ’s insurance carrier waive any and all rights 
whatsoever with regard to subrogation against the County as an indirect party to any suit arising out of 
personal or property damages resulting from the Respondent ’s performance under this Contract and any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

4.16 RELATIONSHIP OF THE PARTIES

The Successful Respondent shall be an independent contractor and shall assume all of the rights, 
obligations, liabilities, applicable to it as such independent contractor hereunder and any provisions 
herein which may appear to give the County the right to direct the Successful Respondent as to details of 
doing work herein covered, or to exercise a measure of control over the work, shall be deemed to mean 
that the Successful Respondent shall follow the desires of the County in the results of the work only.  The 
County shall not retain or have the right to control the Successful Respondent ’s means, methods or 
details pertaining to the Successful Respondent ’s performance of the work.  The County and the 
Successful Respondent hereby agree and declare that the Successful Respondent is an independent 
contractor and as such meets the qualifications of an “Independent Contractor” under Texas Workers 
Compensation Act, Texas Labor Code, Section 406.141, that the Successful Respondent is not an 
employee of  the County, and that the Successful Respondent and its employees, agents and 
subcontractors shall not be entitled to workers compensation coverage or any other type of insurance 
coverage held by the County.

4.17 SOLE PROVIDER

The Successful Respondent agrees and acknowledges that it shall not be considered a sole provider of 
the goods and/or services described herein and that the County may contract with other providers of 
such goods and/or services if the County deems, at its sole discretion, that multiple providers of the 
same goods and/or services will serve the best interest of the County.

4.18 FORCE MAJEURE

If the party obligated to perform is prevented from performance by an act of war, order of legal authority, 
act of God, or other unavoidable cause not attributable to the fault or negligence of said party, the other 
party shall grant such party relief from the performance.  The burden of proof for the need of such relief 
shall rest upon the party obligated to perform.  To obtain release based on force majeure, the party 
obligated to perform shall file a written request with the other party.

4.19 SEVERABILITY

If any provision of this RFP, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be held invalid or 
unenforceable by any court of competent jurisdiction, such holding shall not invalidate or render 
unenforceable any other provision thereof, but rather the entire RFP, Contract or any Ensuing Agreement
(s) will be construed as if not containing the particular invalid or unenforceable provision or provisions, 
and the rights and obligation of the parties shall be construed and enforced in accordance therewith.  The 
parties acknowledge that if any provision of this RFP, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) is 
determined to be invalid or unenforceable, it is the desire and intention of each that such provision be 
reformed and construed in such a manner that it will, to the maximum extent practicable, give effect to
the intent of this RFP, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) and be deemed to be validated and
enforceable.

4.20 EQUAL OPPORTUNITY

Neither party shall discriminate against any employee or applicant for employment because of race, 
color, sex, religion or national origin.

4.21 NOTICE

Any notice to be given shall be in writing and may be distributed by personal delivery, or by registered or 
certified mail, return receipt requested, addressed to the proper party, at the following address:

The County:    Williamson County Purchasing Department 
            Attn: Purchasing Agent 
            901 South Austin Avenue 
            Georgetown, Texas 78626

The Respondent: Address set out in Respondent ’s Transmittal Letter

Notices given in accordance with this provision shall be effective upon (1) receipt by the party to which 
notice is given, or (2) on the third (3rd) calendar day following mailing, whichever occurs first.

4.22 SALES AND USE TAX EXEMPTION

The County is a body, corporate and politic, under the laws of the State of Texas and claims exemption 
from sales and use taxes under Texas Tax Code, Section 151.309, as amended, and the services and/or 
goods subject hereof are being secured for use by the County.

4.23 COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS

The County and the Successful Respondent shall comply with all federal, state, and local laws, statutes,
ordinances, rules and regulations, and the orders and decrees of any courts or administrative bodies or 
tribunals in any matter affecting the performance of the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s),
including, without limitation, Workers ’ Compensation laws, salary and wage statutes and regulations, 
licensing laws and regulations.  When required, the Successful Respondent shall furnish the County with 
certification of compliance with said laws, statues, ordinances, rules, regulations, orders, and decrees 
above specified.

4.24 INCORPORATION OF EXHIBITS, APPENDICES AND ATTACHMENTS

All of the Exhibits, Appendices and Attachments referred to herein are incorporated by reference as if set 
forth verbatim herein.  Any conflicting terms in the Contract documents will be resolved at the sole 
discretion of the Commissioners Court.

4.25 NO WAIVER OF IMMUNITIES

Nothing herein shall be deemed to waive, modify or amend any legal defense available at law or in equity 
to the County, its past or present officers, employees, or agents, nor to create any legal rights or claim on 
behalf of any third party.  The County does not waive, modify, or alter to any extent whatsoever the 
availability of the defense of governmental immunity under the laws of the State of Texas and of the 
United States.

4.26 NO WAIVER

The failure or delay of any party to enforce at any time or any period of time any of the provisions of this 
RFP, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall not constitute a present or future waiver of such 
provisions nor the right of either party to enforce each and every provision.  Furthermore, no term or 
provision hereof shall be deemed waived and no breach excused unless such waiver or consent shall be 
in writing and signed by the party claimed to have waived or consented.  Any consent by any party to, or 
waiver of, a breach by the other, whether expressed or implied, shall not constitute a consent to, waiver 
of or excuse for any other, different or subsequent breach.

4.27 CURRENT REVENUES

The obligations of the parties under the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) do not constitute a 
general obligation or indebtedness of the County for which the County is obligated to levy, pledge, or 
collect any of taxation.  It is understood and agreed that the County shall have the right to terminate the 
Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) at the end of any the County fiscal year if the governing body of 
the County does not appropriate sufficient funds as determined by the County ’s budget for the fiscal year 
in question.  The County may effect such termination by giving written notice of termination to the 
Successful Respondent at the end of its then-current fiscal year.

4.28 BINDING EFFECT

This Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties 
and their respective permitted assigns and successors.

4.29 ASSIGNMENT

The Successful Respondent ’s interest and duties hereunder may not be assigned or delegated to a third 
party without the express written consent of the County.

4.30 SAFETY

The Successful Respondent is responsible for initiating, maintaining, and supervising all safety 
precautions and programs in connection with any services to be provided hereunder. The safety program 
shall comply with all applicable requirements of the current federal Occupational Safety and Health Act 
and all other applicable federal, state and local laws and regulations.

4.31 GENERAL OBLIGATIONS AND RELIANCE

The Successful Respondent shall perform all services and/or provide all goods, as well as those
reasonably inferable and necessary for completion and provision of services and/or goods required
hereunder. The Successful Respondent shall keep the County informed of the progress and quality
the services.  The Successful Respondent agrees and acknowledges that the County is relying on the 
Successful Respondent's represented expertise and ability to provide the goods and/or services 
described herein.  The Successful Respondent agrees to use its best efforts, skill, judgment, and abilities
to perform its obligations in accordance with the highest standards used in the profession and to further 
the interests of the County in accordance with the County ’s requirements and procedures.  The 
Successful Respondent ’s duties, as set forth herein, shall at no time be in any way diminished by reason
of any approval by the County, nor shall the Successful Respondent be released from any liability
reason of such approval by the County, it being understood that the County at all times is ultimately 
relying upon the Successful Respondent ’s skill and knowledge in performing the services and providing 
any goods required hereunder.

4.32 CONTRACTUAL DEVELOPMENT

The Commissioners Court may award the Contract on the basis of the initial Proposals received, without
any further or additional discussions.  Therefore, each initial Proposal should contain the Respondent
best terms and offer.  The contents of the RFP and the selected Proposal will become an integral part of 
the Contract, but may be modified, at Williamson County ’s sole discretion, by provisions of an Ensuing 
Agreement.  Therefore, the Respondent must agree to inclusion in an Ensuing Agreement of the 
Proposal specifications, terms and conditions of this RFP.  Williamson County may, at its discretion, opt 
to conduct further discussions with responsible offerors and request the highest ranked firm ’s Best and 
Final Offer (BAFO).

4.33 ENTIRE AGREEMENT

The Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall supersede all prior Agreements, written or oral 
between the Successful Respondent and the County and shall constitute the entire Agreement and 
understanding between the parties with respect to the services and/or goods to be provided.  Each of the 
provisions herein shall be binding upon the parties and may not be waived, modified, amended or altered, 
except by writing signed by the Successful Respondent and the County.

4.34 SURVIVABILITY 

All applicable agreements that were entered into between the Successful Respondent and the County, 
under the terms and conditions of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s), shall survive the 
expiration or termination thereof for ninety (90) days unless a new contract has been awarded.

The County may exercise, by written notice to the Successful Respondent no later than ten (10) calendar 
days of the Contract expiration, this clause for emergency cases only. 

4.35 PAYMENT

The County ’s payment for goods and services shall be governed by the Texas Government Code, 

Chapter 2251.  An invoice shall be deemed overdue the thirty-first (31st) day after the later of the 
following: 

A. The date the County receives the goods under the Contract; 
B. The date the performance of the service under the Contract is completed; or 
C. The date the Williamson County Auditor receives an invoice for the goods or services.  

Interest charges for any overdue payments shall be paid by the County in accordance with Texas 
Government Code, Section 2251.025.  More specifically, the rate of interest that shall accrue on a late 
payment is the rate in effect on September 1 of the County ’s fiscal year in which the payment becomes 
due.  The said rate in effect on September 1 shall be equal to the sum of one (1) percent and the prime 

rate published in the Wall Street Journal on the first (1st) day of July of the preceding fiscal year that does 
not fall on a Saturday or Sunday.

In the event that an error appears in an invoice submitted by the Successful Respondent, the County 
shall notify the Successful Respondent of the error not later than the twenty-first (21st) day after the date 
the County receives the invoice.  If the error is resolved in favor of the Successful Respondent, the 
Successful Respondent shall be entitled to receive interest on the unpaid balance of the invoice 
submitted by the Successful Respondent beginning on the date that the payment for the invoice became 
overdue.  If the error is resolved in favor of the County, the Successful Respondent shall submit a 
corrected invoice that must be paid in accordance within the time set forth above.  The unpaid balance 
accrues interest as provided by the Texas Government Code, Chapter 2251, if the corrected invoice is 
not paid by the appropriate date.

As a minimum, invoices shall include:

A. Name, address, and telephone number of the Successful Respondent and similar information in 
the event the payment is to be made to a different address. 

B. The County Contract, Purchase Order. 

C. Identification of items or service as outlined in the Contract.

D. Quantity or quantities, applicable unit prices, total prices and total amount.

E. Any additional payment information which may be called for by the Contract.

Payment inquiries should be directed to the following address:        

            Williamson County Auditor’s Office, Accounts Payable Department
            Email: accountspayable@wilco.org
            Phone: 512-943-1500

4.36 CONTRACTUAL FORMATION AND ENSUING AGREEMENT

The RFP and the Respondent ’s Proposal, when properly accepted by the Commissioners Court, shall 
constitute a Contract equally binding between the Successful Respondent and the County.  The 
Successful Respondent may be required by Williamson County to sign an additional Agreement 
containing terms necessary to ensure compliance with the RFP and Respondent ’s Proposal.

4.37 LEGAL LIABILITY INFORMATION

The Successful Respondent shall disclose all legal liability information by listing any pending litigation
anticipated litigation that your firm is involved in including, but not limited to, potential or actual legal
matters with private parties and any local, state, federal or international governmental entities. The
County reserves the right to consider legal liability information in the recommendation of any proposed 
contract to the Commissioners Court.

4.38 CONFIDENTIALITY

Respondent expressly agrees that it will not use any direct or incidental confidential information that may
be obtained while working in a governmental setting for its own benefit, and agrees that it will not access
unauthorized areas or confidential information and it will not disclose any information to unauthorized
third parties, and will take care to guard the security of the information at all times.

4.39 INCLEMENT WEATHER

In case of inclement weather or any other unforeseen event causing the County to close for business on 
the date of a Proposal submission deadline, the Proposal closing will automatically be postponed until the 
next business day the County is open.  If inclement weather conditions or any other unforeseen event 
causes delays in carrier service operations, the County may issue an Addendum to all known 
Respondents interested in the project to extend the deadline.  It will be the responsibility of the 
Respondent to notify the County of their interest in the project if these conditions are impacting their 
ability to turn in a submission within the stated deadline.  The County reserves the right to make the final 
judgement call to extend any deadline. 

4.40 AIR QUALITY

In determining the overall best Proposal, the County may, to the extent applicable, exercise the option 
granted to local governments under the Texas Local Government Code, Section 271.907.

This option allows the County to evaluate Proposals and give preference to goods and/or services of
Respondent that demonstrates that the Respondent meets or exceeds any and all state or federal 
environmental standards, including voluntary standards, relating to air quality.  If the Proposal being 
submitted will have an effect on air quality for the County (as it relates to any state, federal, or voluntary 
air quality standard), then the Respondent is encouraged to provide information in narrative indicating the 
anticipated air quality impact.  All Respondents are expected to meet all mandated state and federal air 
quality standards.

4.41 COOPERATIVE PURCHASING PROGRAM 

During the term of the Contract resulting from this RFP, the County would like to afford the same prices, 
terms and conditions to other political subdivisions or public entities.  Another entity’s participation in the 
Contract resulting from this RFP is subject to a properly authorized Purchasing Cooperative Inter- local 
Agreement (ILA) with the County.  Any liability created by purchase orders issued against the Contract 
shall be the sole responsibility of the governmental agency placing the order.

4.42 PREVAILING WAGE RATES

To the extent this procurement is for the construction of a public work, including a building, highway, 
road, excavation, and repair work or other project development or improvement, paid for in whole or in 
part from public funds, without regard to whether the work is done under public supervision or direction, 
Texas Government Code, Chapter 2258, shall apply and the contractor shall pay not less than the wage 
scale of the various classes of labor as shown on the “Prevailing Wage Schedule” provided by the 
County. Pursuant to Texas Government Code, Section 2258.022(a)(2), the County has determined the 
general prevailing rate of the “Prevailing Wage Schedule”  in the locality in which the public work is to be 
performed for each craft or type of worker needed to execute the contract and the prevailing rate for legal 
holiday and overtime work by using the prevailing wage rate as determined by the United States 
Department of Labor in accordance with the United States Code, Section 276a (Davis-Bacon Act). 

The specified wage rates are minimum rates only, and are not representations that qualified labor 
adequate to perform the work is available locally at the prevailing wage rates. The County is not bound to 
pay—and will not consider—any claims for additional compensation made by any contractor because the 
contractor pays wages in excess of the applicable minimum rate contained in the Contract Documents. 
The “Prevailing Wage Schedule”  is not a representation that quantities of qualified labor adequate to 
perform the work may be found locally at the specified wage rates.

For classifications not shown, workers shall not be paid less than the wage indicated for laborers. The 
contractor shall notify each worker commencing work on the project the worker ’s job classification and 
the established minimum wage rate required to be paid, as well as the actual amount being paid. The 
notice must be delivered to and signed in acknowledgement of receipt by the employee and must list 
both the monetary wages and fringe benefits to be paid or furnished for each classification in which the 
worker is assigned duties. When requested by the County, competent evidence of compliance with the 
Texas Prevailing Wage Law shall be furnished by contractor. A copy of each worker wage rate 
notification shall be submitted to the County with the Application for Payment for the period during which 
the worker began on-site activities.

Should the contractor at any time become aware that a particular skill or trade not reflected on the 
County ’s “Prevailing Wage Schedule” will be or is being employed in the work, whether by the contractor 
or by a subcontractor, the contractor shall promptly inform the County and shall specify a wage rate for 
that skill or trade, which shall bind the contractor.

The contractor and any subcontractor shall pay to the County a penalty of sixty dollars ($60.00) for each 
worker employed for each calendar day, or portion thereof, that the worker is paid less than the wage 
rates stipulated in the “Prevailing Wage Schedule” or any supplement thereto. The contractor and each 
subcontractor shall keep, or cause to be kept, an accurate record showing the names and occupations 
of all workers employed in connection with the work, and showing the actual per diem wages paid to 
each worker, which records shall be open at all reasonable hours for the inspection by the County.

Within thirty-one (31) days of receipt of information concerning a violation of the Texas Government Code 
Chapter 2258, the County shall make an initial determination as to whether good cause exists to believe 
a violation occurred. The County ’s decision on the initial determination shall be reduced to writing and 
sent to the contractor or subcontractor against whom the violation was alleged, and to the affected 
worker. When a good cause finding is made, the County shall retain the full amounts claimed by the 
claimant or claimants as the difference between wages paid and wages due under the “Prevailing Wage 
Schedule” and any supplements thereto, together with the applicable penalties, such amounts being 
subtracted from successive progress payments pending a final decision on the violation.

After the County makes its initial determination, the affected contractor or subcontractor and worker have 
fourteen (14) calendar days in which to resolve the issue of whether a violation occurred, including the 
amount that should be retained by the County or paid to the affected worker. If the contractor or 
subcontractor and affected worker reach an agreement concerning the worker ’s claim, the contractor 
shall promptly notify the County in a written document signed by the worker. It the contractor or 

Subcontractor and affected worker do not agree before the fifteenth (15 th) calendar day after the County
determination, the contractor or subcontractor and affected worker must participate in binding arbitration 
in accordance with the Texas General Arbitration Act, Chapter 171, (Texas Civil Practice and Remedies 
Code). The parties to the arbitration have ten (10) calendar days after the expiration of the fifteen (15) 

calendar days referred to above, to agree on an arbitrator; if by the eleventh (11 th) calendar day there is 
no agreement to an arbitrator, a district court shall appoint an arbitrator on the petition of any of the 
parties to the arbitration.

If an arbitrator determines that a violation has occurred, the arbitrator shall assess and award against the 
contractor or subcontractor the amount of penalty as provided above and the amount owed the worker. 
The County may use any amounts retained hereunder to pay the worker the amount as designated in the 
arbitration award. If the County has not retained enough from the contractor or subcontractor to pay the 
worker in accordance with the arbitration award, the worker has a right of action against the contractor 
and subcontractor as appropriate, and the surety of either to receive the amount owed, attorneys ’  fees 
and court costs. The contractor shall promptly furnish a copy of the arbitration award to the County.

Money retained pursuant to the provisions above shall be used to pay the claimant or claimants the 
difference between the amount the worker received in wages for labor on the project at the rate paid by 
the contractor or subcontractor and the amount the worker would have received at the general prevailing 
wage rate as provided by the agreement of the claimant and the contractor or subcontractor affected, or 
in the arbitrator ’s award. The full statutory penalty of sixty dollars ($60.00) per calendar day of violation 
per worker shall be retained by Williamson County to offset its administrative costs, pursuant to Texas 
Government Code, Section, 2258.023. Any retained funds in excess of these amounts shall be paid to 
the contractor on the earlier of the next progress payment or final payment. Provided, however, that the 
County shall have no duty to release any funds to either the claimant or the contractor until it has 
received the notices of agreement or the arbitration award as provided under the provision herein-above.

4.43 CONFIDENTALITY

The Respondent expressly agrees that it will not use any direct or incidental confidential information that 
may be obtained while working in a governmental setting for its own benefit, and agrees that it will not 
access unauthorized areas or confidential information and it will not disclose any information to 
unauthorized third parties, and will take care to guard the security of the information at all times.

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 363



5

6

3 4

Williamson County – Request for Proposal (RFP)

SECTION 1 - DEFINITIONS 

Addendum/Addenda – means any written or graphic instruments issued by the County prior to the 
consideration of Proposals which modify or interpret the Proposal Documents by additions, deletions, 
clarifications, or corrections.

Agreement/Ensuing Agreement(s) – means the Successful Respondent may be required by the 
County to sign an additional Agreement containing terms necessary to ensure compliance with the RFP 
and the Respondent ’s Proposal.  Such Ensuing Agreement(s) shall contain the Proposal specifications, 
terms and conditions that are derived from the RFP.

Contract – means this RFP and the Proposal of the Successful Respondent shall become a Contract 
between the Successful Respondent and the County once the Successful Respondent ’s Proposal is 
properly accepted by the Williamson County Commissioners Court (sometimes referred to herein as the 
Commissioner ’s Court”).

Commissioner ’s Court – means the Williamson County Commissioners Court. 

County – means Williamson County, a political subdivision of the State of Texas.

Executive Summary – means the document submitted by Respondent that represents a concise 
summary of the contents of the Proposal. It does not include any information concerning costs. 

Proposal Documents – means the Legal Notice, RFP including attachments, and any Addenda issued 
by the County prior to the consideration of any Proposals.

Proposal – means the complete, properly signed document, and ALL required forms and documentation 
listed in the proposal package which have been submitted in accordance with this RFP package. A 
Proposal submitted in accordance with this RFP is irrevocable during the specified time period for 
evaluation and acceptance of Proposals, unless a waiver is obtained from the Williamson County 
Purchasing Agent.

Respondent – means a person or entity who submits a Proposal in response to this RFP.

Request for Proposals (RFP) – means this document, together with the attachments thereto and any 
future Addenda issued by the County.

Successful Respondent– means the responsible Respondent who, in the County ’s sole opinion, 
submits the Proposal which is in the best interest of the County, taking into account factors identified 
herein, and to whom the County intends to award the Contract.

SECTION 2 - RESPONSE FORMAT AND SUBMISSION

2.1 INTRODUCTION

Each Proposal submitted in response to this RFP should clearly reference the numbered sections of this 
RFP that require a response.  Failure to arrange the Proposal as requested may result in the 
disqualification of the Proposal.

Though there is not a page limit for Proposals, to save natural resources including paper, and to allow the 
County staff to efficiently evaluate all submitted Proposals, the County requests that Proposals be 
orderly, concise, but comprehensive in providing the requested information.  Conciseness and clarity of 
content are emphasized and encouraged.  If mailed or delivered in person, please limit additional, non
requested information.

Please provide your Proposal response using:

A. 8 ½” x 11” pages, inclusive of any cover letter or supporting materials.

B. The least amount of plastic/laminate or other non-recyclable binding materials.

C. Single-sided printing.

Vague and general Proposals will be considered non-responsive, and may, at the County ’s sole 
discretion, result in disqualification. Proposals must be legible and complete.  Failure to provide the 
required information may result in the disqualification of the Proposal. All pages of the Proposal should 
be numbered and the Proposal should contain an organized, paginated table of contents corresponding 
to the sections and pages of the Proposal.

2.2 ORGANIZATION OF PROPOSAL CONTENTS AND TABLE OF CONTENTS 

Each Proposal should be submitted with a table of contents that clearly identifies and denotes the 
location of all enclosures of the Proposal. The table of contents should follow the RFP ’s structure as 
much as is practical.

Each Proposal should be organized in the manner described below:

A. Transmittal Letter. Please see Section 2.3, Transmittal Letter, for more information. 

B. Table of Contents. 

C. Executive Summary. Please see Section 2.4, Executive Summary. 

D. Proposal Response to Criteria. (Please see the sections in this RFP package that list the 
Specifications & Cost Proposal, Experience and Qualifications, References, and Implementation 
Strategy to respond to our criteria in a clear and concise manner) 

E. Price Sheet. 

F. References: Identification of three (3) references within the last four (4) years, for which the 
Respondent is providing, or has provided, the goods and/or services (public sector) of the type 
requested in this RFP. Include the name, position/title, and telephone number of a contact person 
at each entity. 

G.  Conflict of Interest Questionnaire. 

H. Proposal Affidavit (Signature Page).

I. Attach your entities sample Contract, if applicable, for the County ’s review and consideration. This 
should include any additional terms or conditions. The County is not required to use the sample 
Contract submitted. 

2.3 TRANSMITTAL LETTER

The Respondent should submit a Transmittal Letter that provides the following information: 

A. Name and address of individual or business entity submitting the Proposal. 

B. Respondent ’s type of business entity (i.e., Corporation, General Partnership, Limited Partnership, 
LLC, etc.).  See Section 3.5, Signature of Respondent, for more information. 

C. Place of incorporation or organization, if applicable.

D. Name and location of major offices and other facilities that relate to the Respondent
performance under the terms of this RFP.

E. Name, physical address, email address, business and fax number of the Respondent ’s principal 
contact person regarding all contractual matters relating to this RFP.

F. The Respondent ’s Federal Employer Identification Number.

G. A commitment by the Respondent to provide the services required by the County;

H. A statement that the Proposal is valid for the time specified on page three (3), under the section 
named Prices Good for, of this Proposal packet. Any Proposal containing a term of less than the 
required amount, may at the County ’s sole discretion, be rejected as non-responsive.

I. If the Proposal being submitted will have an effect on air quality for the County (as it relates to any 
state, federal, or voluntary air quality standard), then the Respondent is encouraged to provide
information in narrative indicating the anticipated air quality impact. See Section 4.40, Air Quality 
for more information. 

The Transmittal Letter should be signed by a person legally authorized to bind the Respondent to the
representations in the Transmittal Letter and the Proposal.  In the case of a joint Proposal, each party 
must sign the Transmittal Letter.

2.4 EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

The Respondent should provide an Executive Summary of its Proposal that asserts that the Respondent 
is providing in its response all of the requirements of this RFP.  The Executive Summary should not 
include any information concerning the cost of the Proposal, but instead must represent a full and 
concise summary of the contents of the Proposal.  It is recommended the Executive Summary include 
the following information: 

A. Identify any goods and/or services that are provided beyond those specifically requested.  If the 
Respondent is providing services and/or goods that do not meet the specific requirements of this 
RFP, but in the opinion of the Respondent are equivalent or superior to those specifically 
requested, any such differences should be noted in the Executive Summary. However, the 
Respondent must realize that failure to provide the goods and/or services specifically required, at 
the County ’s sole discretion, may result in disqualification of the Proposal.

B. Indicate why the Respondent believes that it is the most qualified Respondent to provide the 
services described in this RFP.  The Successful Respondent must demonstrate extensive 
experience and understanding of the intent of this project.  The Respondent should describe in 
detail the current and historical experience the Respondent and its subcontractors have that 
would be relevant to completing the project.  References must contain the name of key personnel 
and telephone numbers for each contact, as described in Section 3.14, References.  

C. Briefly state why the Respondent believes its proposed goods and/or services best meet the 
County ’s needs and RFP requirements, and the Respondent also should concisely describe any 
additional features, aspects, or advantages of its goods and/or services in any relevant area not 
covered elsewhere in its Proposal.

2.5 CONFLICT OF INTEREST

No public official shall have interest in a contract, in accordance with Vernon ’s Texas Codes Annotated, 
Local Government Code, Title 5, Subtitle C, Chapter 171, as amended. 

As of January 1, 2006, all Respondents are responsible for complying with Local Government Code, Title 
5, Subtitle C, Chapter 176.  Additional information may be obtained from the County’s website at the 
following link: 

http://www.wilco.org/CountyDepartments/Purchasing/ConflictofInterestDisclosure/tabid/689/language/en
US/Default.aspx

Each Respondent must disclose any existing or potential conflict of interest relative to the performance of 
the requirements of this RFP.  Examples of potential conflicts of interest may include an existing 
business or personal relationship between the Respondent, its principal, or any affiliate or 
subcontractor with the County or any other entity or person involved in any way with the project 
that is subject to this RFP.  Similarly, any personal or business relationship between the Respondent, 
the principals, or any affiliate or subcontractor with any employee, or official of the County or its suppliers 
must be disclosed.  Any such relationship that might be perceived or represented as a conflict must be 
disclosed. Failure to disclose any such relationship or reveal personal relationships with the County 
employees or officials may be cause for termination. 

The County will decide if an actual or perceived conflict should result in Proposal disqualification. 

By submitting a Proposal in response to this RFP, all Respondents affirm they have not given, nor intend 
to give, at any time hereafter, any economic opportunity, future employment, gift, loan, gratuity, special 
discount, trip, favor, or service to a the County public servant or any employee, official or representative 
of same, in connection with this procurement. 

Each Respondent must provide a Conflict of Interest Statement with their Proposal Package.  

Package may be deemed incomplete without this form.  

2.6 CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PARTIES – FORM 1295

As of January 1, 2016, all Respondents are responsible for complying with the Texas Government Code, 
Section 2252.908.  The law states that the County may not enter into certain contracts with a 
Respondent unless the Respondent submits a disclosure of interested parties to the County at the time 
the Respondent submits the signed contract.  The law applies only to a contract of the County on or after 
January 1, 2016 that either:

A. Requires an action or vote by the Commissioners Court before the contract may be signed (all 
contracts that fall under the jurisdiction of the Commissioners Court approval, such as contracts 
resulting from an Initiation for Bid (IFB), RFP, Request for Qualifications (RFQ), etc., excluding, 
but not limited to, certain Juvenile Service contracts, contracts funded with Sheriff ’s seized fun 
monies, etc.); or

B. Has a value of at least $1,000,000. 

By January 1, 2016, the Texas Ethics Commission will make available on its website, a new filing 
application that must be used to file Form 1295.  Information regarding how to use the filing application is 
available on the Texas Ethics Commission website at the following link:

https://www.ethics.state.tx.us/whatsnew/elf_info_form1295.htm

A Respondent must:

A. Use the online application to process the required information on Form 1295.

B. Print a copy of the form which will contain a unique certification number.

C. An authorized agent of the Respondent must sign the printed copy of the form.

D. Have the form notarized.

E. File the completed Form 1295 and certification of filing (scanning and emailing form is sufficient) 
with Williamson County Purchasing Agent at the time the signed Contract is submitted for 
approval.

After the Commissioners Court award of the contract, the County shall notify the Texas Ethics 
Commission, using the Texas Ethics Commission ’s filing application, of the receipt of the filed Form 
1295 and certification of filing not later than the 30th day after the date the contract binds all parties to the 
contract. The Texas Ethics Commission will post the completed Form 1295 to its website within seven 
business days after receiving notice from the County.

2.7 PROPOSAL SUBMITTAL DEADLINE

The Proposal is due no later than the submittal date and time set forth in the Public Announcement and 
General Information listed in this RFP package.  Contents of each Proposal shall be submitted in 
accordance with this RFP.

2.8 ETHICS

The Respondent shall not accept or offer gifts or anything of value, nor enter into any business 
arrangement with any employee, official or agent of the County.

2.9 DELIVERY OF PROPOSALS

The County uses BidSync to distribute and receive bids and Proposals.  It is preferred that Proposals
be submitted electronically through BidSync; however, Respondents can submit a hard copy.  

Refer to www.bidsync.com for further information on how to submit electronically.

If mailed or delivered in person, Proposal and Proposal Addenda are to be delivered in sealed envelope
on or before the submittal deadline, as noted in the Public Announcement and General Information listed 
in this RFP package, to:

            Williamson County Purchasing Department
            Attn: Proposal Name and Number
            901 South Austin Avenue
            Georgetown, Texas 78626

Also, all Respondents should list their Name and Address, and the Date of the Proposal opening on the
outside of the box or envelope and note “Sealed Proposal Enclosed.” Williamson County will not accept 
any Proposals after the submittal deadline, and shall return such Proposals unopened to the 
Respondent.  The County will not accept any responsibility for Proposals being delivered by third party 
carriers. 

Proposals will be opened publicly; however, in a manner to avoid public disclosure of contents, only 
names of Respondents will be read aloud: no pricing will be announced at the opening. 

SECTION 3 - INSTRUCTIONS AND GENERAL REQUIREMENTS

3.1 INSTRUCTIONS

Read this document carefully, and follow all instructions and requirements.  All Respondents are 
responsible for fulfilling all requirements and specifications.  Be sure to have a clear understanding of this
RFP.

General requirements apply to all advertised RFPs; however, these may be superseded, in whole or in 
part, by the proposal specifications, Addenda and modifications issued as a part of this RFP.  Be sure 
your Proposal package is complete.

3.2 AMBIGUITY, CONFLICT, OR OTHER ERRORS IN THIS RFP

If a Respondent discovers any ambiguity, conflict, discrepancy, omission or other error in this RFP, the 
Respondent shall immediately notify the County Purchasing Department of such error in writing and
request modification or clarification of the document.

Modifications will be made by issuing Addenda. If the Respondent fails to notify the County prior to the
date and time fixed for submission of Proposals of an error or ambiguity in the RFP known to the
Respondent, or an error or ambiguity that reasonably should have been known to the Respondent, then 
the Respondent shall be deemed to have waived the error or ambiguity or its later resolution.

The County may also modify the RFP, no later than forty-eight (48) hours prior to the date and time fixed
for submission of Proposals, by issuance of an Addendum.  All Addenda will be numbered consecutively, 
beginning with one (1).

3.3 NOTIFICATION OF MOST CURRENT ADDRESS

All Respondents in receipt of this RFP shall notify the Williamson County Purchasing Department of any
address changes, contact person changes, and/or telephone number changes no later than forty-eight 
(48) hours prior to the date and time fixed for submission of Proposals.

3.4 SIGNATURE OF RESPONDENT

A Transmittal Letter, which shall be considered an integral part of the Proposal as stated in Section 2.3, 
Transmittal Letter, shall be signed by an individual who is authorized to bind the Respondent
contractually.

A. If the Respondent is a Corporation or Limited Liability Company, the legal name of the Corporation
or Limited Liability Company shall be provided together with the signature of the officer or officers 
authorized to sign on behalf of such entity.

B. If the Respondent is a General Partnership, the true name of the firm shall be provided with the
signature of each partner authorized to sign.

C. If the Respondent is a Limited Partnership, the name of the Limited Partner ’s General Partner
shall be provided with the signature of the officer authorized to sign on behalf of the General
Partner.

D. If the Respondent is a Sole Proprietor(s) (individual), each Sole Proprietor(s) shall sign.

E. If signature is by an agent, other than the Sole Proprietor(s) or an officer of a Corporation, Limited 
Liability Company, General Partner or a member of a General Partnership, a power of attorney
equivalent document must be submitted to the Williamson County Purchasing Department.

3.5 ASSUMED BUSINESS NAME

If the Respondent operates business under an Assumed Business Name, the Respondent must have
file with the Williamson County Clerk a current Assumed Name Certificate and provide a file marked copy 
of same prior to contract award.

3.6 ECONOMY OF PRESENTATION

Proposals should not contain promotional or display materials, except as they may directly answer in 
whole or in part questions contained in the RFP.  Such exhibits shall be clearly marked with the 
applicable reference number of the question in the RFP.  Proposals must address the technical 
requirements as specified in the RFP.  All questions posed by the RFP must be answered concisely and 
clearly. Proposals that do not address each criterion may be, at the sole discretion of the County, 
rejected and not considered.

3.7 PROPOSAL OBLIGATION 

The contents of the RFP, Proposal, and any clarification thereof submitted by the Successful
Respondent shall become part of the contractual obligation and incorporated by reference into the 
Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s).

3.8 COMPLIANCE WITH RFP SPECIFICATIONS

It is intended that this RFP describe the requirements and the Proposal format in sufficient detail to 
secure comparable Proposal.  Failure to comply with all provisions of the RFP may, at the sole discretion 
of the County, result in disqualification.

3.9 EVALUATION 

The County reserves the right to use all pertinent information (also learned from sources other than 
disclosed in the RFP process) that might affect the County ’s judgment as to the appropriateness of
award to the best evaluated Respondent. This information may be appended to the Proposal evaluation
process results. Information on a Respondent from reliable sources, and not within the Respondent
Proposal, may also be noted and made part of the evaluation fi le.  The County shall have sole 
discretion for determining the reliability of the source.  The County reserves the right to conduct written 
and/or oral discussions/interviews after the Proposal opening.  The purpose of such 
discussions/interviews is to provide clarification and/or additional information to make an award that is in 
the best interest of the County.

3.10 WITHDRAWAL OF PROPOSAL

The Respondent may withdraw its Proposal by submitting a written request with the company letterhead 
and the signature of an authorized individual, as described in Section 3.4, Signature of Respondent, to 
the Williamson County Purchasing Department any time prior to the submission deadline.  

The Respondent may submit a new Proposal prior to the deadline. Alterations of the Proposal in any 
manner will not be considered if submitted after the deadline.  Withdrawal of a Proposal after the deadline 
will be subject to written approval of the Williamson County Purchasing Agent.

3.11 RESPONSIBILITY 

It is expected that a Respondent will be able to affirmatively demonstrate responsibility.  A prospective
Respondent should be able to meet the following requirements:

A. Have adequate financial resources, or the ability to obtain such resources as required;
B. Be able to comply with the required or proposed delivery schedule;
C. Have a satisfactory record of performance that can be determined thru references provided; and 
D. Be otherwise qualified and eligible to receive an award.

The County may request representation and other information sufficient to determine the Respondent
ability to meet these minimum standards listed above.

3.12 PURCHASE ORDERS

If required by the Williamson County Purchasing Department, a purchase order(s) may be generated to 
the Successful Respondent for goods and/or services.  If a purchase order is issued, the purchase order 
number must appear on all itemized invoices and/or requests for payment.

3.13 SILENCE OF SPECIFICATIONS

The apparent silence of any RFP specifications as to any detail or to the apparent omission from it of a 
detailed description concerning any point, shall be regarded as meaning that only the best practices are 
to prevail.  All interpretations of these specifications shall be made on the basis of this statement.

3.14 REFERENCES

Respondents shall furnish a list of contracts where similar responsibilities and goods and/or services 
have been required and/or performed for the past five (5) years, to include names, titles, phone numbers 
and email addresses of reference contacts, contract numbers and dates of performance. 

Also, Respondents shall include a list of any contracts that have been cancelled or terminated within the 
last five (5) years, along with an explanation of the cancellation and the names, email address and phone 
number of a reference person with that institution. 

The County may contact some or all of the references in order to determine the Respondent
performance record on work similar to that described in this RFP.  The County reserves the right to 
contact references other than those provided in the response and to use the information gained from 
them in the evaluation process. 

References should be provided in accordance with this RFP.  Proposal may not be deemed complete 
without the inclusion of requested references.

SECTION 4 - TERMS AND CONDITIONS

4.1 VENUE AND GOVERNING LAW

The Respondent hereby agrees and acknowledges that venue and jurisdiction of any suit, right, or cause 
of action arising out of or in connection with this RFP, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s), shall 
lie exclusively in either Williamson County, Texas or in the Austin Division of the Western Federal District 
of Texas, and the parties hereto expressly consent and submit to such jurisdiction.  Furthermore, except 
to the extent that this RFP, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) is governed by the laws of the 
United States, this RFP, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be governed by and 
construed in accordance with the laws of the State of Texas, excluding, however, its choice of law rules.

4.2 INCORPORATION BY REFERENCE AND PRECEDENCE

A. The Contract shall be derived from the RFP and its Addenda (if applicable), and the Respondent
Proposal.  In the event of a dispute under the Contract, applicable documents will be referred to 
for the purpose of clarification or for additional detail in the following order of precedence:

1. The RFP and its Addenda (if applicable); and 

2. The Respondent ’s Proposal.

B. In the event the County requires that an Ensuing Agreement be executed following award and a 
dispute arises between the terms and conditions of the Ensuing Agreement, the RFP and its 
Addenda (if applicable), and the Respondent ’s Proposal, applicable documents will be referred to 
for the purpose of clarification or for additional detail in the following order of precedence: 

1. The terms and conditions of the Ensuing Agreement;

2. The RFP and its Addenda; and  

3. The Respondent ’s Proposal.

4.3 OWNERSHIP OF PROPOSAL

Each Proposal shall become the property of the County upon submittal and will not be returned to 
Respondents unless received after the submittal deadline.

4.4 DISQUALIFICATION OF RESPONDENT

Upon signing and submittal of the Proposal, a Respondent offering to sell supplies, materials, services, 
or equipment to the County, certifies that the Respondent has not violated the antitrust laws of the State 
of Texas codified in Business & Commerce Code, Section 15.01, or the Federal Antitrust Laws, and has 
not communicated directly or indirectly the offer made to any competitor or any other person engaged
such line of business.  Any or all Proposals may be rejected if the County believes that collusion exists 
among the Respondents.

4.5 FUNDING

The County intends to budget and make sufficient funds available and authorize funds for expenditure to 
finance the costs of the Contract.  All Respondents understand and agree that the County’s payment of 
amounts under the Contract shall be contingent on the County receiving appropriations or other 
expenditure authority sufficient to allow the County, in the exercise of reasonable administrative 
discretion, to make payments under this Contract.

4.6 ASSIGNMENT, SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS 

The Successful Respondent may not assign, sell, or otherwise transfer the Contract or any other rights 
or interests obtained under the Contract without written permission of the Williamson County the 
Commissioners Court.  The Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be binding upon and inure to 
the benefit of the contracting parties hereto and their respective successors and permitted assigns.

4.7 IMPLIED REQUIREMENTS

Products or services not specifically described or required in the RFP, but are necessary to provide the 
functional capabilities described by the Respondent, shall be implied and deemed to be included in the
Proposal.

4.8 TERMINATION

A. Termination for Cause: The County reserves the right to terminate the Contract and/or any 
Ensuing Agreement(s) for default if the Successful Respondent breaches any of the Proposal
specifications, terms and conditions, including warranties of the Respondent, if any, or if the 
Successful Respondent becomes insolvent or commits acts of bankruptcy.  Such right of 
termination is in addition to and not in lieu of any other remedies the County may have at law or
equity or as may otherwise be provided hereunder.  Default may be construed as, but not limited 
to, failure to deliver the proper goods and/or services within the proper amount of time, and/or to 
properly perform any and all other requirements to the County ’s satisfaction, and/or to meet all 
other obligations and requirements.

B. Termination for Convenience: The County may terminate the Contract and/or any Ensuing 
Agreement(s) for convenience and without cause or further liability, upon no less than thirty (30) 
calendar days written notice to the Successful Respondent. The County reserves the right to 
extend this period if it is in the best interest of the County.  In the event the County exercises its 
right to terminate without cause, it is understood and agreed that only the amounts due to the 
Successful Respondent for goods, commodities and/or services provided and expenses incurred 
to and including the date of termination, will be due and payable.  No penalty will be assessed for 
the County ’s termination for convenience.

4.9 NON-PERFORMANCE

It is the objective of the County to obtain complete and satisfactory performance of the requirements set 
forth herein.  In addition to any other remedies available at law, in equity or that may be set out herein, 
failure to perform may result in a deduction of payment equal to the amount of the goods and/or services 
that were not provided and/or performed to the County ’s satisfaction.  

In the event of such non-performance, the County shall have the right, but shall not be obligated, to 
complete the services itself or by others and/or purchase the goods from other sources.  If the County 
elects to acquire the goods or perform the services itself or by others, pursuant to the foregoing, the 
Successful Respondent shall reimburse the County, within ten (10) calendar days of demand, for all 
costs incurred by the County (including, without limitation, applicable, general, and administrative 
expenses, and field overhead, and the cost of necessary equipment, materials, and field labor) in 
correcting the nonperformance which the Successful Respondent fails to meet pursuant to the 
requirements set out herein.  In the event the Successful Respondent refuses to reimburse the County 
as set out in this provision, the County shall have the right to deduct such reimbursement amounts from 
any amounts that may be then owing or that may become owing in the future to the Successful
Respondent.

4.10 PROPRIETARY INFORMATION AND THE TEXAS PUBLIC INFORMATION ACT

All material submitted to the County shall become public property and subject to the Texas Public 
Information Act upon receipt. If a Respondent does not desire proprietary information in the Proposal to 
be disclosed, each page must be clearly identified and marked proprietary at time of submittal or, more 
preferably, all proprietary information may be placed in a folder or appendix and be clearly identified and 
marked as being proprietary.  Failure to clearly identify and mark information as being proprietary as set 
forth under this provision will result in all unmarked information being deemed non-proprietary and 
available to the public.  For all information that has not been clearly identified and marked as proprietary 
by the Respondent, the County may choose to place such information on the County ’s website and/or a 
similar public database without obtaining any type of prior consent from the Respondent.

The County will, to the extent allowed by law, endeavor to protect from public disclosure the information 
that has been identified and marked as proprietary.  The final decision as to what information must be 
disclosed, however, lies with the Texas Attorney General.  

To the extent, if any, that any provision in this RFP or in the Respondent ’s Proposal is in conflict with 
Texas Government Code, Chapter 552, as amended (the “Public Information Act”), the same shall be of 
no force or effect.  Furthermore, it is expressly understood, and agreed, that the County, and its officers 
and employees, may request advice, decisions and opinions of the Attorney General of the State of
Texas in regard to the application of the Public Information Act to any items or data furnished to the 
County as to whether or not the same are available to the public.  It is further understood that that the 
County, and its officers and employees, shall have the right to rely on the advice, decisions and opinions 
of the Attorney General, and that the County, its officers and employees shall have no liability or obligation 
to any party hereto for the disclosure to the public, or to any person or persons, of any items or data 
furnished to the County by a party hereto, in reliance of any advice, decision or opinion of the Attorney 
General of the State of Texas.

4.11 RIGHT TO AUDIT

The Successful Respondent agrees that the County or its duly authorized representatives shall, until the 
expiration of three (3) years after termination or expiration of the services to be performed, have access 
to and the right to examine and photocopy any and all books, documents, papers and records of the 
Successful Respondent, which are directly pertinent to the services to be performed or goods to
delivered for the purposes of making audits, examinations, excerpts and transcriptions.  The Successful 
Respondent agrees that the County shall have access during normal working hours to all necessary 
facilities and shall be provided adequate and appropriate work space in order to conduct audits in 
compliance with the provisions of this section.  The County shall give the Successful Respondent 
reasonable advance notice of intended audits.

4.12 TESTING AND INSPECTIONS

The County reserves the right to inspect and test equipment, supplies, materials and goods for quality 
and compliance with this RFP, and ability to meet the needs of the user.  Demonstration units must be 
available for review.  Should the goods or services fail to meet requirements and/or be unavailable for 
evaluation, the County can deem the Respondent to be in breach and terminate the Contract and/or any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

4.13 PROPOSAL PREPARATION COSTS

The cost of developing Proposals is the sole responsibility of the Respondents and shall not be charged 
to the County.  There is no expressed or implied obligation for the County to reimburse the Respondents 
for any expense incurred in preparing a Proposal in response to this RFP and the County will not 
reimburse the Respondents for such expenses.

4.14 INDEMNIFICATION

The Successful Respondent shall indemnify, defend and save harmless, the County, its officials, 
employees, agents and agent ’s employees from, and against, all claims, liability, and expenses including 
reasonable attorneys ’ fees, arising from activities of the Respondent, its agents, servants or employees, 
performed hereunder that result from the negligent act, error, or omission of the Respondent or any of 
the Respondent ’s agents, servants or employees, as well as all claims of loss or damage to the 
Respondent ’s and the County ’s property, equipment, and/or supplies. 

Furthermore, the County, its officials, employees, agents and agents ’ employees shall not be liable for 
damages to the Successful Respondent arising from any act of any third party, including, but not limited 
to, theft.  The Successful Respondent further agrees to indemnify, defend and save harmless, the 
County from its officials, employee, agents and agents ’ employees against all claims of whatever nature 
arising from any accident, injury, or damage whatsoever, caused to any person, or the property of any 
person, occurring in relation to the Successful Respondent ’s performance of any services requested 
hereunder during the term of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s). 

The Successful Respondent shall timely report all claims, demands, suits, actions, proceedings, liens or 
judgements to the County and shall, upon the receipt of any claim, demand, suit, action, proceeding, lien 

or judgement, not later than the fifteenth (15 th) day of each month; provide the County with a written 
report on each such matter, setting forth the status of each matter, the schedule or planned proceedings 
with respect to each matter and the cooperation or assistance, if any, of the County required by the 
Successful Respondent in the defense of each matter.  The Successful Respondent’s duty to defend, 
indemnify and hold the County harmless shall be absolute.  It shall not abate or end by reason of the 
expiration or termination of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s), unless otherwise agreed by 
the County in writing.  The provisions of this section shall survive the termination of the Contract and shall 
remain in full force and effect with respect to all such matters no matter when they arise. 

In the event of any dispute between the parties, as to whether a claim, demand, suit, action, proceeding, 
lien or judgement, that appears to have been caused by or appears to have arisen out of or in connection 
with acts or omissions of the County, the Respondent shall nevertheless fully defend such claim, 
demand, suit or action, proceeding, lien or judgement, until and unless there is  a determination by a 
court of competent jurisdiction that the acts and omissions of the Respondent are not an issue in the 
matter. 

The Successful Respondent ’s indemnification shall cover, and the Successful Respondent agrees to, 
indemnify the County, in the event the County is found to have been negligent for having selected the 
Successful Respondent to perform the work described in this request.  The provision by the Successful 
Respondent of insurance shall not limit the liability of the Successful Respondent under the Contract 
and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s). 

4.15 WAIVER OF SUBROGATION

The Successful Respondent and the Successful Respondent ’s insurance carrier waive any and all rights 
whatsoever with regard to subrogation against the County as an indirect party to any suit arising out of 
personal or property damages resulting from the Respondent ’s performance under this Contract and any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

4.16 RELATIONSHIP OF THE PARTIES

The Successful Respondent shall be an independent contractor and shall assume all of the rights, 
obligations, liabilities, applicable to it as such independent contractor hereunder and any provisions 
herein which may appear to give the County the right to direct the Successful Respondent as to details of 
doing work herein covered, or to exercise a measure of control over the work, shall be deemed to mean 
that the Successful Respondent shall follow the desires of the County in the results of the work only.  The 
County shall not retain or have the right to control the Successful Respondent ’s means, methods or 
details pertaining to the Successful Respondent ’s performance of the work.  The County and the 
Successful Respondent hereby agree and declare that the Successful Respondent is an independent 
contractor and as such meets the qualifications of an “Independent Contractor” under Texas Workers 
Compensation Act, Texas Labor Code, Section 406.141, that the Successful Respondent is not an 
employee of  the County, and that the Successful Respondent and its employees, agents and 
subcontractors shall not be entitled to workers compensation coverage or any other type of insurance 
coverage held by the County.

4.17 SOLE PROVIDER

The Successful Respondent agrees and acknowledges that it shall not be considered a sole provider of 
the goods and/or services described herein and that the County may contract with other providers of 
such goods and/or services if the County deems, at its sole discretion, that multiple providers of the 
same goods and/or services will serve the best interest of the County.

4.18 FORCE MAJEURE

If the party obligated to perform is prevented from performance by an act of war, order of legal authority, 
act of God, or other unavoidable cause not attributable to the fault or negligence of said party, the other 
party shall grant such party relief from the performance.  The burden of proof for the need of such relief 
shall rest upon the party obligated to perform.  To obtain release based on force majeure, the party 
obligated to perform shall file a written request with the other party.

4.19 SEVERABILITY

If any provision of this RFP, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be held invalid or 
unenforceable by any court of competent jurisdiction, such holding shall not invalidate or render 
unenforceable any other provision thereof, but rather the entire RFP, Contract or any Ensuing Agreement
(s) will be construed as if not containing the particular invalid or unenforceable provision or provisions, 
and the rights and obligation of the parties shall be construed and enforced in accordance therewith.  The 
parties acknowledge that if any provision of this RFP, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) is 
determined to be invalid or unenforceable, it is the desire and intention of each that such provision be 
reformed and construed in such a manner that it will, to the maximum extent practicable, give effect to
the intent of this RFP, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) and be deemed to be validated and
enforceable.

4.20 EQUAL OPPORTUNITY

Neither party shall discriminate against any employee or applicant for employment because of race, 
color, sex, religion or national origin.

4.21 NOTICE

Any notice to be given shall be in writing and may be distributed by personal delivery, or by registered or 
certified mail, return receipt requested, addressed to the proper party, at the following address:

The County:    Williamson County Purchasing Department 
            Attn: Purchasing Agent 
            901 South Austin Avenue 
            Georgetown, Texas 78626

The Respondent: Address set out in Respondent ’s Transmittal Letter

Notices given in accordance with this provision shall be effective upon (1) receipt by the party to which 
notice is given, or (2) on the third (3rd) calendar day following mailing, whichever occurs first.

4.22 SALES AND USE TAX EXEMPTION

The County is a body, corporate and politic, under the laws of the State of Texas and claims exemption 
from sales and use taxes under Texas Tax Code, Section 151.309, as amended, and the services and/or 
goods subject hereof are being secured for use by the County.

4.23 COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS

The County and the Successful Respondent shall comply with all federal, state, and local laws, statutes,
ordinances, rules and regulations, and the orders and decrees of any courts or administrative bodies or 
tribunals in any matter affecting the performance of the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s),
including, without limitation, Workers ’ Compensation laws, salary and wage statutes and regulations, 
licensing laws and regulations.  When required, the Successful Respondent shall furnish the County with 
certification of compliance with said laws, statues, ordinances, rules, regulations, orders, and decrees 
above specified.

4.24 INCORPORATION OF EXHIBITS, APPENDICES AND ATTACHMENTS

All of the Exhibits, Appendices and Attachments referred to herein are incorporated by reference as if set 
forth verbatim herein.  Any conflicting terms in the Contract documents will be resolved at the sole 
discretion of the Commissioners Court.

4.25 NO WAIVER OF IMMUNITIES

Nothing herein shall be deemed to waive, modify or amend any legal defense available at law or in equity 
to the County, its past or present officers, employees, or agents, nor to create any legal rights or claim on 
behalf of any third party.  The County does not waive, modify, or alter to any extent whatsoever the 
availability of the defense of governmental immunity under the laws of the State of Texas and of the 
United States.

4.26 NO WAIVER

The failure or delay of any party to enforce at any time or any period of time any of the provisions of this 
RFP, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall not constitute a present or future waiver of such 
provisions nor the right of either party to enforce each and every provision.  Furthermore, no term or 
provision hereof shall be deemed waived and no breach excused unless such waiver or consent shall be 
in writing and signed by the party claimed to have waived or consented.  Any consent by any party to, or 
waiver of, a breach by the other, whether expressed or implied, shall not constitute a consent to, waiver 
of or excuse for any other, different or subsequent breach.

4.27 CURRENT REVENUES

The obligations of the parties under the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) do not constitute a 
general obligation or indebtedness of the County for which the County is obligated to levy, pledge, or 
collect any of taxation.  It is understood and agreed that the County shall have the right to terminate the 
Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) at the end of any the County fiscal year if the governing body of 
the County does not appropriate sufficient funds as determined by the County ’s budget for the fiscal year 
in question.  The County may effect such termination by giving written notice of termination to the 
Successful Respondent at the end of its then-current fiscal year.

4.28 BINDING EFFECT

This Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties 
and their respective permitted assigns and successors.

4.29 ASSIGNMENT

The Successful Respondent ’s interest and duties hereunder may not be assigned or delegated to a third 
party without the express written consent of the County.

4.30 SAFETY

The Successful Respondent is responsible for initiating, maintaining, and supervising all safety 
precautions and programs in connection with any services to be provided hereunder. The safety program 
shall comply with all applicable requirements of the current federal Occupational Safety and Health Act 
and all other applicable federal, state and local laws and regulations.

4.31 GENERAL OBLIGATIONS AND RELIANCE

The Successful Respondent shall perform all services and/or provide all goods, as well as those
reasonably inferable and necessary for completion and provision of services and/or goods required
hereunder. The Successful Respondent shall keep the County informed of the progress and quality
the services.  The Successful Respondent agrees and acknowledges that the County is relying on the 
Successful Respondent's represented expertise and ability to provide the goods and/or services 
described herein.  The Successful Respondent agrees to use its best efforts, skill, judgment, and abilities
to perform its obligations in accordance with the highest standards used in the profession and to further 
the interests of the County in accordance with the County ’s requirements and procedures.  The 
Successful Respondent ’s duties, as set forth herein, shall at no time be in any way diminished by reason
of any approval by the County, nor shall the Successful Respondent be released from any liability
reason of such approval by the County, it being understood that the County at all times is ultimately 
relying upon the Successful Respondent ’s skill and knowledge in performing the services and providing 
any goods required hereunder.

4.32 CONTRACTUAL DEVELOPMENT

The Commissioners Court may award the Contract on the basis of the initial Proposals received, without
any further or additional discussions.  Therefore, each initial Proposal should contain the Respondent
best terms and offer.  The contents of the RFP and the selected Proposal will become an integral part of 
the Contract, but may be modified, at Williamson County ’s sole discretion, by provisions of an Ensuing 
Agreement.  Therefore, the Respondent must agree to inclusion in an Ensuing Agreement of the 
Proposal specifications, terms and conditions of this RFP.  Williamson County may, at its discretion, opt 
to conduct further discussions with responsible offerors and request the highest ranked firm ’s Best and 
Final Offer (BAFO).

4.33 ENTIRE AGREEMENT

The Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall supersede all prior Agreements, written or oral 
between the Successful Respondent and the County and shall constitute the entire Agreement and 
understanding between the parties with respect to the services and/or goods to be provided.  Each of the 
provisions herein shall be binding upon the parties and may not be waived, modified, amended or altered, 
except by writing signed by the Successful Respondent and the County.

4.34 SURVIVABILITY 

All applicable agreements that were entered into between the Successful Respondent and the County, 
under the terms and conditions of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s), shall survive the 
expiration or termination thereof for ninety (90) days unless a new contract has been awarded.

The County may exercise, by written notice to the Successful Respondent no later than ten (10) calendar 
days of the Contract expiration, this clause for emergency cases only. 

4.35 PAYMENT

The County ’s payment for goods and services shall be governed by the Texas Government Code, 

Chapter 2251.  An invoice shall be deemed overdue the thirty-first (31st) day after the later of the 
following: 

A. The date the County receives the goods under the Contract; 
B. The date the performance of the service under the Contract is completed; or 
C. The date the Williamson County Auditor receives an invoice for the goods or services.  

Interest charges for any overdue payments shall be paid by the County in accordance with Texas 
Government Code, Section 2251.025.  More specifically, the rate of interest that shall accrue on a late 
payment is the rate in effect on September 1 of the County ’s fiscal year in which the payment becomes 
due.  The said rate in effect on September 1 shall be equal to the sum of one (1) percent and the prime 

rate published in the Wall Street Journal on the first (1st) day of July of the preceding fiscal year that does 
not fall on a Saturday or Sunday.

In the event that an error appears in an invoice submitted by the Successful Respondent, the County 
shall notify the Successful Respondent of the error not later than the twenty-first (21st) day after the date 
the County receives the invoice.  If the error is resolved in favor of the Successful Respondent, the 
Successful Respondent shall be entitled to receive interest on the unpaid balance of the invoice 
submitted by the Successful Respondent beginning on the date that the payment for the invoice became 
overdue.  If the error is resolved in favor of the County, the Successful Respondent shall submit a 
corrected invoice that must be paid in accordance within the time set forth above.  The unpaid balance 
accrues interest as provided by the Texas Government Code, Chapter 2251, if the corrected invoice is 
not paid by the appropriate date.

As a minimum, invoices shall include:

A. Name, address, and telephone number of the Successful Respondent and similar information in 
the event the payment is to be made to a different address. 

B. The County Contract, Purchase Order. 

C. Identification of items or service as outlined in the Contract.

D. Quantity or quantities, applicable unit prices, total prices and total amount.

E. Any additional payment information which may be called for by the Contract.

Payment inquiries should be directed to the following address:        

            Williamson County Auditor’s Office, Accounts Payable Department
            Email: accountspayable@wilco.org
            Phone: 512-943-1500

4.36 CONTRACTUAL FORMATION AND ENSUING AGREEMENT

The RFP and the Respondent ’s Proposal, when properly accepted by the Commissioners Court, shall 
constitute a Contract equally binding between the Successful Respondent and the County.  The 
Successful Respondent may be required by Williamson County to sign an additional Agreement 
containing terms necessary to ensure compliance with the RFP and Respondent ’s Proposal.

4.37 LEGAL LIABILITY INFORMATION

The Successful Respondent shall disclose all legal liability information by listing any pending litigation
anticipated litigation that your firm is involved in including, but not limited to, potential or actual legal
matters with private parties and any local, state, federal or international governmental entities. The
County reserves the right to consider legal liability information in the recommendation of any proposed 
contract to the Commissioners Court.

4.38 CONFIDENTIALITY

Respondent expressly agrees that it will not use any direct or incidental confidential information that may
be obtained while working in a governmental setting for its own benefit, and agrees that it will not access
unauthorized areas or confidential information and it will not disclose any information to unauthorized
third parties, and will take care to guard the security of the information at all times.

4.39 INCLEMENT WEATHER

In case of inclement weather or any other unforeseen event causing the County to close for business on 
the date of a Proposal submission deadline, the Proposal closing will automatically be postponed until the 
next business day the County is open.  If inclement weather conditions or any other unforeseen event 
causes delays in carrier service operations, the County may issue an Addendum to all known 
Respondents interested in the project to extend the deadline.  It will be the responsibility of the 
Respondent to notify the County of their interest in the project if these conditions are impacting their 
ability to turn in a submission within the stated deadline.  The County reserves the right to make the final 
judgement call to extend any deadline. 

4.40 AIR QUALITY

In determining the overall best Proposal, the County may, to the extent applicable, exercise the option 
granted to local governments under the Texas Local Government Code, Section 271.907.

This option allows the County to evaluate Proposals and give preference to goods and/or services of
Respondent that demonstrates that the Respondent meets or exceeds any and all state or federal 
environmental standards, including voluntary standards, relating to air quality.  If the Proposal being 
submitted will have an effect on air quality for the County (as it relates to any state, federal, or voluntary 
air quality standard), then the Respondent is encouraged to provide information in narrative indicating the 
anticipated air quality impact.  All Respondents are expected to meet all mandated state and federal air 
quality standards.

4.41 COOPERATIVE PURCHASING PROGRAM 

During the term of the Contract resulting from this RFP, the County would like to afford the same prices, 
terms and conditions to other political subdivisions or public entities.  Another entity’s participation in the 
Contract resulting from this RFP is subject to a properly authorized Purchasing Cooperative Inter- local 
Agreement (ILA) with the County.  Any liability created by purchase orders issued against the Contract 
shall be the sole responsibility of the governmental agency placing the order.

4.42 PREVAILING WAGE RATES

To the extent this procurement is for the construction of a public work, including a building, highway, 
road, excavation, and repair work or other project development or improvement, paid for in whole or in 
part from public funds, without regard to whether the work is done under public supervision or direction, 
Texas Government Code, Chapter 2258, shall apply and the contractor shall pay not less than the wage 
scale of the various classes of labor as shown on the “Prevailing Wage Schedule” provided by the 
County. Pursuant to Texas Government Code, Section 2258.022(a)(2), the County has determined the 
general prevailing rate of the “Prevailing Wage Schedule”  in the locality in which the public work is to be 
performed for each craft or type of worker needed to execute the contract and the prevailing rate for legal 
holiday and overtime work by using the prevailing wage rate as determined by the United States 
Department of Labor in accordance with the United States Code, Section 276a (Davis-Bacon Act). 

The specified wage rates are minimum rates only, and are not representations that qualified labor 
adequate to perform the work is available locally at the prevailing wage rates. The County is not bound to 
pay—and will not consider—any claims for additional compensation made by any contractor because the 
contractor pays wages in excess of the applicable minimum rate contained in the Contract Documents. 
The “Prevailing Wage Schedule”  is not a representation that quantities of qualified labor adequate to 
perform the work may be found locally at the specified wage rates.

For classifications not shown, workers shall not be paid less than the wage indicated for laborers. The 
contractor shall notify each worker commencing work on the project the worker ’s job classification and 
the established minimum wage rate required to be paid, as well as the actual amount being paid. The 
notice must be delivered to and signed in acknowledgement of receipt by the employee and must list 
both the monetary wages and fringe benefits to be paid or furnished for each classification in which the 
worker is assigned duties. When requested by the County, competent evidence of compliance with the 
Texas Prevailing Wage Law shall be furnished by contractor. A copy of each worker wage rate 
notification shall be submitted to the County with the Application for Payment for the period during which 
the worker began on-site activities.

Should the contractor at any time become aware that a particular skill or trade not reflected on the 
County ’s “Prevailing Wage Schedule” will be or is being employed in the work, whether by the contractor 
or by a subcontractor, the contractor shall promptly inform the County and shall specify a wage rate for 
that skill or trade, which shall bind the contractor.

The contractor and any subcontractor shall pay to the County a penalty of sixty dollars ($60.00) for each 
worker employed for each calendar day, or portion thereof, that the worker is paid less than the wage 
rates stipulated in the “Prevailing Wage Schedule” or any supplement thereto. The contractor and each 
subcontractor shall keep, or cause to be kept, an accurate record showing the names and occupations 
of all workers employed in connection with the work, and showing the actual per diem wages paid to 
each worker, which records shall be open at all reasonable hours for the inspection by the County.

Within thirty-one (31) days of receipt of information concerning a violation of the Texas Government Code 
Chapter 2258, the County shall make an initial determination as to whether good cause exists to believe 
a violation occurred. The County ’s decision on the initial determination shall be reduced to writing and 
sent to the contractor or subcontractor against whom the violation was alleged, and to the affected 
worker. When a good cause finding is made, the County shall retain the full amounts claimed by the 
claimant or claimants as the difference between wages paid and wages due under the “Prevailing Wage 
Schedule” and any supplements thereto, together with the applicable penalties, such amounts being 
subtracted from successive progress payments pending a final decision on the violation.

After the County makes its initial determination, the affected contractor or subcontractor and worker have 
fourteen (14) calendar days in which to resolve the issue of whether a violation occurred, including the 
amount that should be retained by the County or paid to the affected worker. If the contractor or 
subcontractor and affected worker reach an agreement concerning the worker ’s claim, the contractor 
shall promptly notify the County in a written document signed by the worker. It the contractor or 

Subcontractor and affected worker do not agree before the fifteenth (15 th) calendar day after the County
determination, the contractor or subcontractor and affected worker must participate in binding arbitration 
in accordance with the Texas General Arbitration Act, Chapter 171, (Texas Civil Practice and Remedies 
Code). The parties to the arbitration have ten (10) calendar days after the expiration of the fifteen (15) 

calendar days referred to above, to agree on an arbitrator; if by the eleventh (11 th) calendar day there is 
no agreement to an arbitrator, a district court shall appoint an arbitrator on the petition of any of the 
parties to the arbitration.

If an arbitrator determines that a violation has occurred, the arbitrator shall assess and award against the 
contractor or subcontractor the amount of penalty as provided above and the amount owed the worker. 
The County may use any amounts retained hereunder to pay the worker the amount as designated in the 
arbitration award. If the County has not retained enough from the contractor or subcontractor to pay the 
worker in accordance with the arbitration award, the worker has a right of action against the contractor 
and subcontractor as appropriate, and the surety of either to receive the amount owed, attorneys ’  fees 
and court costs. The contractor shall promptly furnish a copy of the arbitration award to the County.

Money retained pursuant to the provisions above shall be used to pay the claimant or claimants the 
difference between the amount the worker received in wages for labor on the project at the rate paid by 
the contractor or subcontractor and the amount the worker would have received at the general prevailing 
wage rate as provided by the agreement of the claimant and the contractor or subcontractor affected, or 
in the arbitrator ’s award. The full statutory penalty of sixty dollars ($60.00) per calendar day of violation 
per worker shall be retained by Williamson County to offset its administrative costs, pursuant to Texas 
Government Code, Section, 2258.023. Any retained funds in excess of these amounts shall be paid to 
the contractor on the earlier of the next progress payment or final payment. Provided, however, that the 
County shall have no duty to release any funds to either the claimant or the contractor until it has 
received the notices of agreement or the arbitration award as provided under the provision herein-above.

4.43 CONFIDENTALITY

The Respondent expressly agrees that it will not use any direct or incidental confidential information that 
may be obtained while working in a governmental setting for its own benefit, and agrees that it will not 
access unauthorized areas or confidential information and it will not disclose any information to 
unauthorized third parties, and will take care to guard the security of the information at all times.

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 364



5

6

3 4

Williamson County – Request for Proposal (RFP)

SECTION 1 - DEFINITIONS 

Addendum/Addenda – means any written or graphic instruments issued by the County prior to the 
consideration of Proposals which modify or interpret the Proposal Documents by additions, deletions, 
clarifications, or corrections.

Agreement/Ensuing Agreement(s) – means the Successful Respondent may be required by the 
County to sign an additional Agreement containing terms necessary to ensure compliance with the RFP 
and the Respondent ’s Proposal.  Such Ensuing Agreement(s) shall contain the Proposal specifications, 
terms and conditions that are derived from the RFP.

Contract – means this RFP and the Proposal of the Successful Respondent shall become a Contract 
between the Successful Respondent and the County once the Successful Respondent ’s Proposal is 
properly accepted by the Williamson County Commissioners Court (sometimes referred to herein as the 
Commissioner ’s Court”).

Commissioner ’s Court – means the Williamson County Commissioners Court. 

County – means Williamson County, a political subdivision of the State of Texas.

Executive Summary – means the document submitted by Respondent that represents a concise 
summary of the contents of the Proposal. It does not include any information concerning costs. 

Proposal Documents – means the Legal Notice, RFP including attachments, and any Addenda issued 
by the County prior to the consideration of any Proposals.

Proposal – means the complete, properly signed document, and ALL required forms and documentation 
listed in the proposal package which have been submitted in accordance with this RFP package. A 
Proposal submitted in accordance with this RFP is irrevocable during the specified time period for 
evaluation and acceptance of Proposals, unless a waiver is obtained from the Williamson County 
Purchasing Agent.

Respondent – means a person or entity who submits a Proposal in response to this RFP.

Request for Proposals (RFP) – means this document, together with the attachments thereto and any 
future Addenda issued by the County.

Successful Respondent– means the responsible Respondent who, in the County ’s sole opinion, 
submits the Proposal which is in the best interest of the County, taking into account factors identified 
herein, and to whom the County intends to award the Contract.

SECTION 2 - RESPONSE FORMAT AND SUBMISSION

2.1 INTRODUCTION

Each Proposal submitted in response to this RFP should clearly reference the numbered sections of this 
RFP that require a response.  Failure to arrange the Proposal as requested may result in the 
disqualification of the Proposal.

Though there is not a page limit for Proposals, to save natural resources including paper, and to allow the 
County staff to efficiently evaluate all submitted Proposals, the County requests that Proposals be 
orderly, concise, but comprehensive in providing the requested information.  Conciseness and clarity of 
content are emphasized and encouraged.  If mailed or delivered in person, please limit additional, non
requested information.

Please provide your Proposal response using:

A. 8 ½” x 11” pages, inclusive of any cover letter or supporting materials.

B. The least amount of plastic/laminate or other non-recyclable binding materials.

C. Single-sided printing.

Vague and general Proposals will be considered non-responsive, and may, at the County ’s sole 
discretion, result in disqualification. Proposals must be legible and complete.  Failure to provide the 
required information may result in the disqualification of the Proposal. All pages of the Proposal should 
be numbered and the Proposal should contain an organized, paginated table of contents corresponding 
to the sections and pages of the Proposal.

2.2 ORGANIZATION OF PROPOSAL CONTENTS AND TABLE OF CONTENTS 

Each Proposal should be submitted with a table of contents that clearly identifies and denotes the 
location of all enclosures of the Proposal. The table of contents should follow the RFP ’s structure as 
much as is practical.

Each Proposal should be organized in the manner described below:

A. Transmittal Letter. Please see Section 2.3, Transmittal Letter, for more information. 

B. Table of Contents. 

C. Executive Summary. Please see Section 2.4, Executive Summary. 

D. Proposal Response to Criteria. (Please see the sections in this RFP package that list the 
Specifications & Cost Proposal, Experience and Qualifications, References, and Implementation 
Strategy to respond to our criteria in a clear and concise manner) 

E. Price Sheet. 

F. References: Identification of three (3) references within the last four (4) years, for which the 
Respondent is providing, or has provided, the goods and/or services (public sector) of the type 
requested in this RFP. Include the name, position/title, and telephone number of a contact person 
at each entity. 

G.  Conflict of Interest Questionnaire. 

H. Proposal Affidavit (Signature Page).

I. Attach your entities sample Contract, if applicable, for the County ’s review and consideration. This 
should include any additional terms or conditions. The County is not required to use the sample 
Contract submitted. 

2.3 TRANSMITTAL LETTER

The Respondent should submit a Transmittal Letter that provides the following information: 

A. Name and address of individual or business entity submitting the Proposal. 

B. Respondent ’s type of business entity (i.e., Corporation, General Partnership, Limited Partnership, 
LLC, etc.).  See Section 3.5, Signature of Respondent, for more information. 

C. Place of incorporation or organization, if applicable.

D. Name and location of major offices and other facilities that relate to the Respondent
performance under the terms of this RFP.

E. Name, physical address, email address, business and fax number of the Respondent ’s principal 
contact person regarding all contractual matters relating to this RFP.

F. The Respondent ’s Federal Employer Identification Number.

G. A commitment by the Respondent to provide the services required by the County;

H. A statement that the Proposal is valid for the time specified on page three (3), under the section 
named Prices Good for, of this Proposal packet. Any Proposal containing a term of less than the 
required amount, may at the County ’s sole discretion, be rejected as non-responsive.

I. If the Proposal being submitted will have an effect on air quality for the County (as it relates to any 
state, federal, or voluntary air quality standard), then the Respondent is encouraged to provide
information in narrative indicating the anticipated air quality impact. See Section 4.40, Air Quality 
for more information. 

The Transmittal Letter should be signed by a person legally authorized to bind the Respondent to the
representations in the Transmittal Letter and the Proposal.  In the case of a joint Proposal, each party 
must sign the Transmittal Letter.

2.4 EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

The Respondent should provide an Executive Summary of its Proposal that asserts that the Respondent 
is providing in its response all of the requirements of this RFP.  The Executive Summary should not 
include any information concerning the cost of the Proposal, but instead must represent a full and 
concise summary of the contents of the Proposal.  It is recommended the Executive Summary include 
the following information: 

A. Identify any goods and/or services that are provided beyond those specifically requested.  If the 
Respondent is providing services and/or goods that do not meet the specific requirements of this 
RFP, but in the opinion of the Respondent are equivalent or superior to those specifically 
requested, any such differences should be noted in the Executive Summary. However, the 
Respondent must realize that failure to provide the goods and/or services specifically required, at 
the County ’s sole discretion, may result in disqualification of the Proposal.

B. Indicate why the Respondent believes that it is the most qualified Respondent to provide the 
services described in this RFP.  The Successful Respondent must demonstrate extensive 
experience and understanding of the intent of this project.  The Respondent should describe in 
detail the current and historical experience the Respondent and its subcontractors have that 
would be relevant to completing the project.  References must contain the name of key personnel 
and telephone numbers for each contact, as described in Section 3.14, References.  

C. Briefly state why the Respondent believes its proposed goods and/or services best meet the 
County ’s needs and RFP requirements, and the Respondent also should concisely describe any 
additional features, aspects, or advantages of its goods and/or services in any relevant area not 
covered elsewhere in its Proposal.

2.5 CONFLICT OF INTEREST

No public official shall have interest in a contract, in accordance with Vernon ’s Texas Codes Annotated, 
Local Government Code, Title 5, Subtitle C, Chapter 171, as amended. 

As of January 1, 2006, all Respondents are responsible for complying with Local Government Code, Title 
5, Subtitle C, Chapter 176.  Additional information may be obtained from the County’s website at the 
following link: 

http://www.wilco.org/CountyDepartments/Purchasing/ConflictofInterestDisclosure/tabid/689/language/en
US/Default.aspx

Each Respondent must disclose any existing or potential conflict of interest relative to the performance of 
the requirements of this RFP.  Examples of potential conflicts of interest may include an existing 
business or personal relationship between the Respondent, its principal, or any affiliate or 
subcontractor with the County or any other entity or person involved in any way with the project 
that is subject to this RFP.  Similarly, any personal or business relationship between the Respondent, 
the principals, or any affiliate or subcontractor with any employee, or official of the County or its suppliers 
must be disclosed.  Any such relationship that might be perceived or represented as a conflict must be 
disclosed. Failure to disclose any such relationship or reveal personal relationships with the County 
employees or officials may be cause for termination. 

The County will decide if an actual or perceived conflict should result in Proposal disqualification. 

By submitting a Proposal in response to this RFP, all Respondents affirm they have not given, nor intend 
to give, at any time hereafter, any economic opportunity, future employment, gift, loan, gratuity, special 
discount, trip, favor, or service to a the County public servant or any employee, official or representative 
of same, in connection with this procurement. 

Each Respondent must provide a Conflict of Interest Statement with their Proposal Package.  

Package may be deemed incomplete without this form.  

2.6 CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PARTIES – FORM 1295

As of January 1, 2016, all Respondents are responsible for complying with the Texas Government Code, 
Section 2252.908.  The law states that the County may not enter into certain contracts with a 
Respondent unless the Respondent submits a disclosure of interested parties to the County at the time 
the Respondent submits the signed contract.  The law applies only to a contract of the County on or after 
January 1, 2016 that either:

A. Requires an action or vote by the Commissioners Court before the contract may be signed (all 
contracts that fall under the jurisdiction of the Commissioners Court approval, such as contracts 
resulting from an Initiation for Bid (IFB), RFP, Request for Qualifications (RFQ), etc., excluding, 
but not limited to, certain Juvenile Service contracts, contracts funded with Sheriff ’s seized fun 
monies, etc.); or

B. Has a value of at least $1,000,000. 

By January 1, 2016, the Texas Ethics Commission will make available on its website, a new filing 
application that must be used to file Form 1295.  Information regarding how to use the filing application is 
available on the Texas Ethics Commission website at the following link:

https://www.ethics.state.tx.us/whatsnew/elf_info_form1295.htm

A Respondent must:

A. Use the online application to process the required information on Form 1295.

B. Print a copy of the form which will contain a unique certification number.

C. An authorized agent of the Respondent must sign the printed copy of the form.

D. Have the form notarized.

E. File the completed Form 1295 and certification of filing (scanning and emailing form is sufficient) 
with Williamson County Purchasing Agent at the time the signed Contract is submitted for 
approval.

After the Commissioners Court award of the contract, the County shall notify the Texas Ethics 
Commission, using the Texas Ethics Commission ’s filing application, of the receipt of the filed Form 
1295 and certification of filing not later than the 30th day after the date the contract binds all parties to the 
contract. The Texas Ethics Commission will post the completed Form 1295 to its website within seven 
business days after receiving notice from the County.

2.7 PROPOSAL SUBMITTAL DEADLINE

The Proposal is due no later than the submittal date and time set forth in the Public Announcement and 
General Information listed in this RFP package.  Contents of each Proposal shall be submitted in 
accordance with this RFP.

2.8 ETHICS

The Respondent shall not accept or offer gifts or anything of value, nor enter into any business 
arrangement with any employee, official or agent of the County.

2.9 DELIVERY OF PROPOSALS

The County uses BidSync to distribute and receive bids and Proposals.  It is preferred that Proposals
be submitted electronically through BidSync; however, Respondents can submit a hard copy.  

Refer to www.bidsync.com for further information on how to submit electronically.

If mailed or delivered in person, Proposal and Proposal Addenda are to be delivered in sealed envelope
on or before the submittal deadline, as noted in the Public Announcement and General Information listed 
in this RFP package, to:

            Williamson County Purchasing Department
            Attn: Proposal Name and Number
            901 South Austin Avenue
            Georgetown, Texas 78626

Also, all Respondents should list their Name and Address, and the Date of the Proposal opening on the
outside of the box or envelope and note “Sealed Proposal Enclosed.” Williamson County will not accept 
any Proposals after the submittal deadline, and shall return such Proposals unopened to the 
Respondent.  The County will not accept any responsibility for Proposals being delivered by third party 
carriers. 

Proposals will be opened publicly; however, in a manner to avoid public disclosure of contents, only 
names of Respondents will be read aloud: no pricing will be announced at the opening. 

SECTION 3 - INSTRUCTIONS AND GENERAL REQUIREMENTS

3.1 INSTRUCTIONS

Read this document carefully, and follow all instructions and requirements.  All Respondents are 
responsible for fulfilling all requirements and specifications.  Be sure to have a clear understanding of this
RFP.

General requirements apply to all advertised RFPs; however, these may be superseded, in whole or in 
part, by the proposal specifications, Addenda and modifications issued as a part of this RFP.  Be sure 
your Proposal package is complete.

3.2 AMBIGUITY, CONFLICT, OR OTHER ERRORS IN THIS RFP

If a Respondent discovers any ambiguity, conflict, discrepancy, omission or other error in this RFP, the 
Respondent shall immediately notify the County Purchasing Department of such error in writing and
request modification or clarification of the document.

Modifications will be made by issuing Addenda. If the Respondent fails to notify the County prior to the
date and time fixed for submission of Proposals of an error or ambiguity in the RFP known to the
Respondent, or an error or ambiguity that reasonably should have been known to the Respondent, then 
the Respondent shall be deemed to have waived the error or ambiguity or its later resolution.

The County may also modify the RFP, no later than forty-eight (48) hours prior to the date and time fixed
for submission of Proposals, by issuance of an Addendum.  All Addenda will be numbered consecutively, 
beginning with one (1).

3.3 NOTIFICATION OF MOST CURRENT ADDRESS

All Respondents in receipt of this RFP shall notify the Williamson County Purchasing Department of any
address changes, contact person changes, and/or telephone number changes no later than forty-eight 
(48) hours prior to the date and time fixed for submission of Proposals.

3.4 SIGNATURE OF RESPONDENT

A Transmittal Letter, which shall be considered an integral part of the Proposal as stated in Section 2.3, 
Transmittal Letter, shall be signed by an individual who is authorized to bind the Respondent
contractually.

A. If the Respondent is a Corporation or Limited Liability Company, the legal name of the Corporation
or Limited Liability Company shall be provided together with the signature of the officer or officers 
authorized to sign on behalf of such entity.

B. If the Respondent is a General Partnership, the true name of the firm shall be provided with the
signature of each partner authorized to sign.

C. If the Respondent is a Limited Partnership, the name of the Limited Partner ’s General Partner
shall be provided with the signature of the officer authorized to sign on behalf of the General
Partner.

D. If the Respondent is a Sole Proprietor(s) (individual), each Sole Proprietor(s) shall sign.

E. If signature is by an agent, other than the Sole Proprietor(s) or an officer of a Corporation, Limited 
Liability Company, General Partner or a member of a General Partnership, a power of attorney
equivalent document must be submitted to the Williamson County Purchasing Department.

3.5 ASSUMED BUSINESS NAME

If the Respondent operates business under an Assumed Business Name, the Respondent must have
file with the Williamson County Clerk a current Assumed Name Certificate and provide a file marked copy 
of same prior to contract award.

3.6 ECONOMY OF PRESENTATION

Proposals should not contain promotional or display materials, except as they may directly answer in 
whole or in part questions contained in the RFP.  Such exhibits shall be clearly marked with the 
applicable reference number of the question in the RFP.  Proposals must address the technical 
requirements as specified in the RFP.  All questions posed by the RFP must be answered concisely and 
clearly. Proposals that do not address each criterion may be, at the sole discretion of the County, 
rejected and not considered.

3.7 PROPOSAL OBLIGATION 

The contents of the RFP, Proposal, and any clarification thereof submitted by the Successful
Respondent shall become part of the contractual obligation and incorporated by reference into the 
Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s).

3.8 COMPLIANCE WITH RFP SPECIFICATIONS

It is intended that this RFP describe the requirements and the Proposal format in sufficient detail to 
secure comparable Proposal.  Failure to comply with all provisions of the RFP may, at the sole discretion 
of the County, result in disqualification.

3.9 EVALUATION 

The County reserves the right to use all pertinent information (also learned from sources other than 
disclosed in the RFP process) that might affect the County ’s judgment as to the appropriateness of
award to the best evaluated Respondent. This information may be appended to the Proposal evaluation
process results. Information on a Respondent from reliable sources, and not within the Respondent
Proposal, may also be noted and made part of the evaluation fi le.  The County shall have sole 
discretion for determining the reliability of the source.  The County reserves the right to conduct written 
and/or oral discussions/interviews after the Proposal opening.  The purpose of such 
discussions/interviews is to provide clarification and/or additional information to make an award that is in 
the best interest of the County.

3.10 WITHDRAWAL OF PROPOSAL

The Respondent may withdraw its Proposal by submitting a written request with the company letterhead 
and the signature of an authorized individual, as described in Section 3.4, Signature of Respondent, to 
the Williamson County Purchasing Department any time prior to the submission deadline.  

The Respondent may submit a new Proposal prior to the deadline. Alterations of the Proposal in any 
manner will not be considered if submitted after the deadline.  Withdrawal of a Proposal after the deadline 
will be subject to written approval of the Williamson County Purchasing Agent.

3.11 RESPONSIBILITY 

It is expected that a Respondent will be able to affirmatively demonstrate responsibility.  A prospective
Respondent should be able to meet the following requirements:

A. Have adequate financial resources, or the ability to obtain such resources as required;
B. Be able to comply with the required or proposed delivery schedule;
C. Have a satisfactory record of performance that can be determined thru references provided; and 
D. Be otherwise qualified and eligible to receive an award.

The County may request representation and other information sufficient to determine the Respondent
ability to meet these minimum standards listed above.

3.12 PURCHASE ORDERS

If required by the Williamson County Purchasing Department, a purchase order(s) may be generated to 
the Successful Respondent for goods and/or services.  If a purchase order is issued, the purchase order 
number must appear on all itemized invoices and/or requests for payment.

3.13 SILENCE OF SPECIFICATIONS

The apparent silence of any RFP specifications as to any detail or to the apparent omission from it of a 
detailed description concerning any point, shall be regarded as meaning that only the best practices are 
to prevail.  All interpretations of these specifications shall be made on the basis of this statement.

3.14 REFERENCES

Respondents shall furnish a list of contracts where similar responsibilities and goods and/or services 
have been required and/or performed for the past five (5) years, to include names, titles, phone numbers 
and email addresses of reference contacts, contract numbers and dates of performance. 

Also, Respondents shall include a list of any contracts that have been cancelled or terminated within the 
last five (5) years, along with an explanation of the cancellation and the names, email address and phone 
number of a reference person with that institution. 

The County may contact some or all of the references in order to determine the Respondent
performance record on work similar to that described in this RFP.  The County reserves the right to 
contact references other than those provided in the response and to use the information gained from 
them in the evaluation process. 

References should be provided in accordance with this RFP.  Proposal may not be deemed complete 
without the inclusion of requested references.

SECTION 4 - TERMS AND CONDITIONS

4.1 VENUE AND GOVERNING LAW

The Respondent hereby agrees and acknowledges that venue and jurisdiction of any suit, right, or cause 
of action arising out of or in connection with this RFP, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s), shall 
lie exclusively in either Williamson County, Texas or in the Austin Division of the Western Federal District 
of Texas, and the parties hereto expressly consent and submit to such jurisdiction.  Furthermore, except 
to the extent that this RFP, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) is governed by the laws of the 
United States, this RFP, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be governed by and 
construed in accordance with the laws of the State of Texas, excluding, however, its choice of law rules.

4.2 INCORPORATION BY REFERENCE AND PRECEDENCE

A. The Contract shall be derived from the RFP and its Addenda (if applicable), and the Respondent
Proposal.  In the event of a dispute under the Contract, applicable documents will be referred to 
for the purpose of clarification or for additional detail in the following order of precedence:

1. The RFP and its Addenda (if applicable); and 

2. The Respondent ’s Proposal.

B. In the event the County requires that an Ensuing Agreement be executed following award and a 
dispute arises between the terms and conditions of the Ensuing Agreement, the RFP and its 
Addenda (if applicable), and the Respondent ’s Proposal, applicable documents will be referred to 
for the purpose of clarification or for additional detail in the following order of precedence: 

1. The terms and conditions of the Ensuing Agreement;

2. The RFP and its Addenda; and  

3. The Respondent ’s Proposal.

4.3 OWNERSHIP OF PROPOSAL

Each Proposal shall become the property of the County upon submittal and will not be returned to 
Respondents unless received after the submittal deadline.

4.4 DISQUALIFICATION OF RESPONDENT

Upon signing and submittal of the Proposal, a Respondent offering to sell supplies, materials, services, 
or equipment to the County, certifies that the Respondent has not violated the antitrust laws of the State 
of Texas codified in Business & Commerce Code, Section 15.01, or the Federal Antitrust Laws, and has 
not communicated directly or indirectly the offer made to any competitor or any other person engaged
such line of business.  Any or all Proposals may be rejected if the County believes that collusion exists 
among the Respondents.

4.5 FUNDING

The County intends to budget and make sufficient funds available and authorize funds for expenditure to 
finance the costs of the Contract.  All Respondents understand and agree that the County’s payment of 
amounts under the Contract shall be contingent on the County receiving appropriations or other 
expenditure authority sufficient to allow the County, in the exercise of reasonable administrative 
discretion, to make payments under this Contract.

4.6 ASSIGNMENT, SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS 

The Successful Respondent may not assign, sell, or otherwise transfer the Contract or any other rights 
or interests obtained under the Contract without written permission of the Williamson County the 
Commissioners Court.  The Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be binding upon and inure to 
the benefit of the contracting parties hereto and their respective successors and permitted assigns.

4.7 IMPLIED REQUIREMENTS

Products or services not specifically described or required in the RFP, but are necessary to provide the 
functional capabilities described by the Respondent, shall be implied and deemed to be included in the
Proposal.

4.8 TERMINATION

A. Termination for Cause: The County reserves the right to terminate the Contract and/or any 
Ensuing Agreement(s) for default if the Successful Respondent breaches any of the Proposal
specifications, terms and conditions, including warranties of the Respondent, if any, or if the 
Successful Respondent becomes insolvent or commits acts of bankruptcy.  Such right of 
termination is in addition to and not in lieu of any other remedies the County may have at law or
equity or as may otherwise be provided hereunder.  Default may be construed as, but not limited 
to, failure to deliver the proper goods and/or services within the proper amount of time, and/or to 
properly perform any and all other requirements to the County ’s satisfaction, and/or to meet all 
other obligations and requirements.

B. Termination for Convenience: The County may terminate the Contract and/or any Ensuing 
Agreement(s) for convenience and without cause or further liability, upon no less than thirty (30) 
calendar days written notice to the Successful Respondent. The County reserves the right to 
extend this period if it is in the best interest of the County.  In the event the County exercises its 
right to terminate without cause, it is understood and agreed that only the amounts due to the 
Successful Respondent for goods, commodities and/or services provided and expenses incurred 
to and including the date of termination, will be due and payable.  No penalty will be assessed for 
the County ’s termination for convenience.

4.9 NON-PERFORMANCE

It is the objective of the County to obtain complete and satisfactory performance of the requirements set 
forth herein.  In addition to any other remedies available at law, in equity or that may be set out herein, 
failure to perform may result in a deduction of payment equal to the amount of the goods and/or services 
that were not provided and/or performed to the County ’s satisfaction.  

In the event of such non-performance, the County shall have the right, but shall not be obligated, to 
complete the services itself or by others and/or purchase the goods from other sources.  If the County 
elects to acquire the goods or perform the services itself or by others, pursuant to the foregoing, the 
Successful Respondent shall reimburse the County, within ten (10) calendar days of demand, for all 
costs incurred by the County (including, without limitation, applicable, general, and administrative 
expenses, and field overhead, and the cost of necessary equipment, materials, and field labor) in 
correcting the nonperformance which the Successful Respondent fails to meet pursuant to the 
requirements set out herein.  In the event the Successful Respondent refuses to reimburse the County 
as set out in this provision, the County shall have the right to deduct such reimbursement amounts from 
any amounts that may be then owing or that may become owing in the future to the Successful
Respondent.

4.10 PROPRIETARY INFORMATION AND THE TEXAS PUBLIC INFORMATION ACT

All material submitted to the County shall become public property and subject to the Texas Public 
Information Act upon receipt. If a Respondent does not desire proprietary information in the Proposal to 
be disclosed, each page must be clearly identified and marked proprietary at time of submittal or, more 
preferably, all proprietary information may be placed in a folder or appendix and be clearly identified and 
marked as being proprietary.  Failure to clearly identify and mark information as being proprietary as set 
forth under this provision will result in all unmarked information being deemed non-proprietary and 
available to the public.  For all information that has not been clearly identified and marked as proprietary 
by the Respondent, the County may choose to place such information on the County ’s website and/or a 
similar public database without obtaining any type of prior consent from the Respondent.

The County will, to the extent allowed by law, endeavor to protect from public disclosure the information 
that has been identified and marked as proprietary.  The final decision as to what information must be 
disclosed, however, lies with the Texas Attorney General.  

To the extent, if any, that any provision in this RFP or in the Respondent ’s Proposal is in conflict with 
Texas Government Code, Chapter 552, as amended (the “Public Information Act”), the same shall be of 
no force or effect.  Furthermore, it is expressly understood, and agreed, that the County, and its officers 
and employees, may request advice, decisions and opinions of the Attorney General of the State of
Texas in regard to the application of the Public Information Act to any items or data furnished to the 
County as to whether or not the same are available to the public.  It is further understood that that the 
County, and its officers and employees, shall have the right to rely on the advice, decisions and opinions 
of the Attorney General, and that the County, its officers and employees shall have no liability or obligation 
to any party hereto for the disclosure to the public, or to any person or persons, of any items or data 
furnished to the County by a party hereto, in reliance of any advice, decision or opinion of the Attorney 
General of the State of Texas.

4.11 RIGHT TO AUDIT

The Successful Respondent agrees that the County or its duly authorized representatives shall, until the 
expiration of three (3) years after termination or expiration of the services to be performed, have access 
to and the right to examine and photocopy any and all books, documents, papers and records of the 
Successful Respondent, which are directly pertinent to the services to be performed or goods to
delivered for the purposes of making audits, examinations, excerpts and transcriptions.  The Successful 
Respondent agrees that the County shall have access during normal working hours to all necessary 
facilities and shall be provided adequate and appropriate work space in order to conduct audits in 
compliance with the provisions of this section.  The County shall give the Successful Respondent 
reasonable advance notice of intended audits.

4.12 TESTING AND INSPECTIONS

The County reserves the right to inspect and test equipment, supplies, materials and goods for quality 
and compliance with this RFP, and ability to meet the needs of the user.  Demonstration units must be 
available for review.  Should the goods or services fail to meet requirements and/or be unavailable for 
evaluation, the County can deem the Respondent to be in breach and terminate the Contract and/or any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

4.13 PROPOSAL PREPARATION COSTS

The cost of developing Proposals is the sole responsibility of the Respondents and shall not be charged 
to the County.  There is no expressed or implied obligation for the County to reimburse the Respondents 
for any expense incurred in preparing a Proposal in response to this RFP and the County will not 
reimburse the Respondents for such expenses.

4.14 INDEMNIFICATION

The Successful Respondent shall indemnify, defend and save harmless, the County, its officials, 
employees, agents and agent ’s employees from, and against, all claims, liability, and expenses including 
reasonable attorneys ’ fees, arising from activities of the Respondent, its agents, servants or employees, 
performed hereunder that result from the negligent act, error, or omission of the Respondent or any of 
the Respondent ’s agents, servants or employees, as well as all claims of loss or damage to the 
Respondent ’s and the County ’s property, equipment, and/or supplies. 

Furthermore, the County, its officials, employees, agents and agents ’ employees shall not be liable for 
damages to the Successful Respondent arising from any act of any third party, including, but not limited 
to, theft.  The Successful Respondent further agrees to indemnify, defend and save harmless, the 
County from its officials, employee, agents and agents ’ employees against all claims of whatever nature 
arising from any accident, injury, or damage whatsoever, caused to any person, or the property of any 
person, occurring in relation to the Successful Respondent ’s performance of any services requested 
hereunder during the term of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s). 

The Successful Respondent shall timely report all claims, demands, suits, actions, proceedings, liens or 
judgements to the County and shall, upon the receipt of any claim, demand, suit, action, proceeding, lien 

or judgement, not later than the fifteenth (15 th) day of each month; provide the County with a written 
report on each such matter, setting forth the status of each matter, the schedule or planned proceedings 
with respect to each matter and the cooperation or assistance, if any, of the County required by the 
Successful Respondent in the defense of each matter.  The Successful Respondent’s duty to defend, 
indemnify and hold the County harmless shall be absolute.  It shall not abate or end by reason of the 
expiration or termination of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s), unless otherwise agreed by 
the County in writing.  The provisions of this section shall survive the termination of the Contract and shall 
remain in full force and effect with respect to all such matters no matter when they arise. 

In the event of any dispute between the parties, as to whether a claim, demand, suit, action, proceeding, 
lien or judgement, that appears to have been caused by or appears to have arisen out of or in connection 
with acts or omissions of the County, the Respondent shall nevertheless fully defend such claim, 
demand, suit or action, proceeding, lien or judgement, until and unless there is  a determination by a 
court of competent jurisdiction that the acts and omissions of the Respondent are not an issue in the 
matter. 

The Successful Respondent ’s indemnification shall cover, and the Successful Respondent agrees to, 
indemnify the County, in the event the County is found to have been negligent for having selected the 
Successful Respondent to perform the work described in this request.  The provision by the Successful 
Respondent of insurance shall not limit the liability of the Successful Respondent under the Contract 
and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s). 

4.15 WAIVER OF SUBROGATION

The Successful Respondent and the Successful Respondent ’s insurance carrier waive any and all rights 
whatsoever with regard to subrogation against the County as an indirect party to any suit arising out of 
personal or property damages resulting from the Respondent ’s performance under this Contract and any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

4.16 RELATIONSHIP OF THE PARTIES

The Successful Respondent shall be an independent contractor and shall assume all of the rights, 
obligations, liabilities, applicable to it as such independent contractor hereunder and any provisions 
herein which may appear to give the County the right to direct the Successful Respondent as to details of 
doing work herein covered, or to exercise a measure of control over the work, shall be deemed to mean 
that the Successful Respondent shall follow the desires of the County in the results of the work only.  The 
County shall not retain or have the right to control the Successful Respondent ’s means, methods or 
details pertaining to the Successful Respondent ’s performance of the work.  The County and the 
Successful Respondent hereby agree and declare that the Successful Respondent is an independent 
contractor and as such meets the qualifications of an “Independent Contractor” under Texas Workers 
Compensation Act, Texas Labor Code, Section 406.141, that the Successful Respondent is not an 
employee of  the County, and that the Successful Respondent and its employees, agents and 
subcontractors shall not be entitled to workers compensation coverage or any other type of insurance 
coverage held by the County.

4.17 SOLE PROVIDER

The Successful Respondent agrees and acknowledges that it shall not be considered a sole provider of 
the goods and/or services described herein and that the County may contract with other providers of 
such goods and/or services if the County deems, at its sole discretion, that multiple providers of the 
same goods and/or services will serve the best interest of the County.

4.18 FORCE MAJEURE

If the party obligated to perform is prevented from performance by an act of war, order of legal authority, 
act of God, or other unavoidable cause not attributable to the fault or negligence of said party, the other 
party shall grant such party relief from the performance.  The burden of proof for the need of such relief 
shall rest upon the party obligated to perform.  To obtain release based on force majeure, the party 
obligated to perform shall file a written request with the other party.

4.19 SEVERABILITY

If any provision of this RFP, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be held invalid or 
unenforceable by any court of competent jurisdiction, such holding shall not invalidate or render 
unenforceable any other provision thereof, but rather the entire RFP, Contract or any Ensuing Agreement
(s) will be construed as if not containing the particular invalid or unenforceable provision or provisions, 
and the rights and obligation of the parties shall be construed and enforced in accordance therewith.  The 
parties acknowledge that if any provision of this RFP, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) is 
determined to be invalid or unenforceable, it is the desire and intention of each that such provision be 
reformed and construed in such a manner that it will, to the maximum extent practicable, give effect to
the intent of this RFP, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) and be deemed to be validated and
enforceable.

4.20 EQUAL OPPORTUNITY

Neither party shall discriminate against any employee or applicant for employment because of race, 
color, sex, religion or national origin.

4.21 NOTICE

Any notice to be given shall be in writing and may be distributed by personal delivery, or by registered or 
certified mail, return receipt requested, addressed to the proper party, at the following address:

The County:    Williamson County Purchasing Department 
            Attn: Purchasing Agent 
            901 South Austin Avenue 
            Georgetown, Texas 78626

The Respondent: Address set out in Respondent ’s Transmittal Letter

Notices given in accordance with this provision shall be effective upon (1) receipt by the party to which 
notice is given, or (2) on the third (3rd) calendar day following mailing, whichever occurs first.

4.22 SALES AND USE TAX EXEMPTION

The County is a body, corporate and politic, under the laws of the State of Texas and claims exemption 
from sales and use taxes under Texas Tax Code, Section 151.309, as amended, and the services and/or 
goods subject hereof are being secured for use by the County.

4.23 COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS

The County and the Successful Respondent shall comply with all federal, state, and local laws, statutes,
ordinances, rules and regulations, and the orders and decrees of any courts or administrative bodies or 
tribunals in any matter affecting the performance of the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s),
including, without limitation, Workers ’ Compensation laws, salary and wage statutes and regulations, 
licensing laws and regulations.  When required, the Successful Respondent shall furnish the County with 
certification of compliance with said laws, statues, ordinances, rules, regulations, orders, and decrees 
above specified.

4.24 INCORPORATION OF EXHIBITS, APPENDICES AND ATTACHMENTS

All of the Exhibits, Appendices and Attachments referred to herein are incorporated by reference as if set 
forth verbatim herein.  Any conflicting terms in the Contract documents will be resolved at the sole 
discretion of the Commissioners Court.

4.25 NO WAIVER OF IMMUNITIES

Nothing herein shall be deemed to waive, modify or amend any legal defense available at law or in equity 
to the County, its past or present officers, employees, or agents, nor to create any legal rights or claim on 
behalf of any third party.  The County does not waive, modify, or alter to any extent whatsoever the 
availability of the defense of governmental immunity under the laws of the State of Texas and of the 
United States.

4.26 NO WAIVER

The failure or delay of any party to enforce at any time or any period of time any of the provisions of this 
RFP, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall not constitute a present or future waiver of such 
provisions nor the right of either party to enforce each and every provision.  Furthermore, no term or 
provision hereof shall be deemed waived and no breach excused unless such waiver or consent shall be 
in writing and signed by the party claimed to have waived or consented.  Any consent by any party to, or 
waiver of, a breach by the other, whether expressed or implied, shall not constitute a consent to, waiver 
of or excuse for any other, different or subsequent breach.

4.27 CURRENT REVENUES

The obligations of the parties under the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) do not constitute a 
general obligation or indebtedness of the County for which the County is obligated to levy, pledge, or 
collect any of taxation.  It is understood and agreed that the County shall have the right to terminate the 
Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) at the end of any the County fiscal year if the governing body of 
the County does not appropriate sufficient funds as determined by the County ’s budget for the fiscal year 
in question.  The County may effect such termination by giving written notice of termination to the 
Successful Respondent at the end of its then-current fiscal year.

4.28 BINDING EFFECT

This Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties 
and their respective permitted assigns and successors.

4.29 ASSIGNMENT

The Successful Respondent ’s interest and duties hereunder may not be assigned or delegated to a third 
party without the express written consent of the County.

4.30 SAFETY

The Successful Respondent is responsible for initiating, maintaining, and supervising all safety 
precautions and programs in connection with any services to be provided hereunder. The safety program 
shall comply with all applicable requirements of the current federal Occupational Safety and Health Act 
and all other applicable federal, state and local laws and regulations.

4.31 GENERAL OBLIGATIONS AND RELIANCE

The Successful Respondent shall perform all services and/or provide all goods, as well as those
reasonably inferable and necessary for completion and provision of services and/or goods required
hereunder. The Successful Respondent shall keep the County informed of the progress and quality
the services.  The Successful Respondent agrees and acknowledges that the County is relying on the 
Successful Respondent's represented expertise and ability to provide the goods and/or services 
described herein.  The Successful Respondent agrees to use its best efforts, skill, judgment, and abilities
to perform its obligations in accordance with the highest standards used in the profession and to further 
the interests of the County in accordance with the County ’s requirements and procedures.  The 
Successful Respondent ’s duties, as set forth herein, shall at no time be in any way diminished by reason
of any approval by the County, nor shall the Successful Respondent be released from any liability
reason of such approval by the County, it being understood that the County at all times is ultimately 
relying upon the Successful Respondent ’s skill and knowledge in performing the services and providing 
any goods required hereunder.

4.32 CONTRACTUAL DEVELOPMENT

The Commissioners Court may award the Contract on the basis of the initial Proposals received, without
any further or additional discussions.  Therefore, each initial Proposal should contain the Respondent
best terms and offer.  The contents of the RFP and the selected Proposal will become an integral part of 
the Contract, but may be modified, at Williamson County ’s sole discretion, by provisions of an Ensuing 
Agreement.  Therefore, the Respondent must agree to inclusion in an Ensuing Agreement of the 
Proposal specifications, terms and conditions of this RFP.  Williamson County may, at its discretion, opt 
to conduct further discussions with responsible offerors and request the highest ranked firm ’s Best and 
Final Offer (BAFO).

4.33 ENTIRE AGREEMENT

The Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall supersede all prior Agreements, written or oral 
between the Successful Respondent and the County and shall constitute the entire Agreement and 
understanding between the parties with respect to the services and/or goods to be provided.  Each of the 
provisions herein shall be binding upon the parties and may not be waived, modified, amended or altered, 
except by writing signed by the Successful Respondent and the County.

4.34 SURVIVABILITY 

All applicable agreements that were entered into between the Successful Respondent and the County, 
under the terms and conditions of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s), shall survive the 
expiration or termination thereof for ninety (90) days unless a new contract has been awarded.

The County may exercise, by written notice to the Successful Respondent no later than ten (10) calendar 
days of the Contract expiration, this clause for emergency cases only. 

4.35 PAYMENT

The County ’s payment for goods and services shall be governed by the Texas Government Code, 

Chapter 2251.  An invoice shall be deemed overdue the thirty-first (31st) day after the later of the 
following: 

A. The date the County receives the goods under the Contract; 
B. The date the performance of the service under the Contract is completed; or 
C. The date the Williamson County Auditor receives an invoice for the goods or services.  

Interest charges for any overdue payments shall be paid by the County in accordance with Texas 
Government Code, Section 2251.025.  More specifically, the rate of interest that shall accrue on a late 
payment is the rate in effect on September 1 of the County ’s fiscal year in which the payment becomes 
due.  The said rate in effect on September 1 shall be equal to the sum of one (1) percent and the prime 

rate published in the Wall Street Journal on the first (1st) day of July of the preceding fiscal year that does 
not fall on a Saturday or Sunday.

In the event that an error appears in an invoice submitted by the Successful Respondent, the County 
shall notify the Successful Respondent of the error not later than the twenty-first (21st) day after the date 
the County receives the invoice.  If the error is resolved in favor of the Successful Respondent, the 
Successful Respondent shall be entitled to receive interest on the unpaid balance of the invoice 
submitted by the Successful Respondent beginning on the date that the payment for the invoice became 
overdue.  If the error is resolved in favor of the County, the Successful Respondent shall submit a 
corrected invoice that must be paid in accordance within the time set forth above.  The unpaid balance 
accrues interest as provided by the Texas Government Code, Chapter 2251, if the corrected invoice is 
not paid by the appropriate date.

As a minimum, invoices shall include:

A. Name, address, and telephone number of the Successful Respondent and similar information in 
the event the payment is to be made to a different address. 

B. The County Contract, Purchase Order. 

C. Identification of items or service as outlined in the Contract.

D. Quantity or quantities, applicable unit prices, total prices and total amount.

E. Any additional payment information which may be called for by the Contract.

Payment inquiries should be directed to the following address:        

            Williamson County Auditor’s Office, Accounts Payable Department
            Email: accountspayable@wilco.org
            Phone: 512-943-1500

4.36 CONTRACTUAL FORMATION AND ENSUING AGREEMENT

The RFP and the Respondent ’s Proposal, when properly accepted by the Commissioners Court, shall 
constitute a Contract equally binding between the Successful Respondent and the County.  The 
Successful Respondent may be required by Williamson County to sign an additional Agreement 
containing terms necessary to ensure compliance with the RFP and Respondent ’s Proposal.

4.37 LEGAL LIABILITY INFORMATION

The Successful Respondent shall disclose all legal liability information by listing any pending litigation
anticipated litigation that your firm is involved in including, but not limited to, potential or actual legal
matters with private parties and any local, state, federal or international governmental entities. The
County reserves the right to consider legal liability information in the recommendation of any proposed 
contract to the Commissioners Court.

4.38 CONFIDENTIALITY

Respondent expressly agrees that it will not use any direct or incidental confidential information that may
be obtained while working in a governmental setting for its own benefit, and agrees that it will not access
unauthorized areas or confidential information and it will not disclose any information to unauthorized
third parties, and will take care to guard the security of the information at all times.

4.39 INCLEMENT WEATHER

In case of inclement weather or any other unforeseen event causing the County to close for business on 
the date of a Proposal submission deadline, the Proposal closing will automatically be postponed until the 
next business day the County is open.  If inclement weather conditions or any other unforeseen event 
causes delays in carrier service operations, the County may issue an Addendum to all known 
Respondents interested in the project to extend the deadline.  It will be the responsibility of the 
Respondent to notify the County of their interest in the project if these conditions are impacting their 
ability to turn in a submission within the stated deadline.  The County reserves the right to make the final 
judgement call to extend any deadline. 

4.40 AIR QUALITY

In determining the overall best Proposal, the County may, to the extent applicable, exercise the option 
granted to local governments under the Texas Local Government Code, Section 271.907.

This option allows the County to evaluate Proposals and give preference to goods and/or services of
Respondent that demonstrates that the Respondent meets or exceeds any and all state or federal 
environmental standards, including voluntary standards, relating to air quality.  If the Proposal being 
submitted will have an effect on air quality for the County (as it relates to any state, federal, or voluntary 
air quality standard), then the Respondent is encouraged to provide information in narrative indicating the 
anticipated air quality impact.  All Respondents are expected to meet all mandated state and federal air 
quality standards.

4.41 COOPERATIVE PURCHASING PROGRAM 

During the term of the Contract resulting from this RFP, the County would like to afford the same prices, 
terms and conditions to other political subdivisions or public entities.  Another entity’s participation in the 
Contract resulting from this RFP is subject to a properly authorized Purchasing Cooperative Inter- local 
Agreement (ILA) with the County.  Any liability created by purchase orders issued against the Contract 
shall be the sole responsibility of the governmental agency placing the order.

4.42 PREVAILING WAGE RATES

To the extent this procurement is for the construction of a public work, including a building, highway, 
road, excavation, and repair work or other project development or improvement, paid for in whole or in 
part from public funds, without regard to whether the work is done under public supervision or direction, 
Texas Government Code, Chapter 2258, shall apply and the contractor shall pay not less than the wage 
scale of the various classes of labor as shown on the “Prevailing Wage Schedule” provided by the 
County. Pursuant to Texas Government Code, Section 2258.022(a)(2), the County has determined the 
general prevailing rate of the “Prevailing Wage Schedule”  in the locality in which the public work is to be 
performed for each craft or type of worker needed to execute the contract and the prevailing rate for legal 
holiday and overtime work by using the prevailing wage rate as determined by the United States 
Department of Labor in accordance with the United States Code, Section 276a (Davis-Bacon Act). 

The specified wage rates are minimum rates only, and are not representations that qualified labor 
adequate to perform the work is available locally at the prevailing wage rates. The County is not bound to 
pay—and will not consider—any claims for additional compensation made by any contractor because the 
contractor pays wages in excess of the applicable minimum rate contained in the Contract Documents. 
The “Prevailing Wage Schedule”  is not a representation that quantities of qualified labor adequate to 
perform the work may be found locally at the specified wage rates.

For classifications not shown, workers shall not be paid less than the wage indicated for laborers. The 
contractor shall notify each worker commencing work on the project the worker ’s job classification and 
the established minimum wage rate required to be paid, as well as the actual amount being paid. The 
notice must be delivered to and signed in acknowledgement of receipt by the employee and must list 
both the monetary wages and fringe benefits to be paid or furnished for each classification in which the 
worker is assigned duties. When requested by the County, competent evidence of compliance with the 
Texas Prevailing Wage Law shall be furnished by contractor. A copy of each worker wage rate 
notification shall be submitted to the County with the Application for Payment for the period during which 
the worker began on-site activities.

Should the contractor at any time become aware that a particular skill or trade not reflected on the 
County ’s “Prevailing Wage Schedule” will be or is being employed in the work, whether by the contractor 
or by a subcontractor, the contractor shall promptly inform the County and shall specify a wage rate for 
that skill or trade, which shall bind the contractor.

The contractor and any subcontractor shall pay to the County a penalty of sixty dollars ($60.00) for each 
worker employed for each calendar day, or portion thereof, that the worker is paid less than the wage 
rates stipulated in the “Prevailing Wage Schedule” or any supplement thereto. The contractor and each 
subcontractor shall keep, or cause to be kept, an accurate record showing the names and occupations 
of all workers employed in connection with the work, and showing the actual per diem wages paid to 
each worker, which records shall be open at all reasonable hours for the inspection by the County.

Within thirty-one (31) days of receipt of information concerning a violation of the Texas Government Code 
Chapter 2258, the County shall make an initial determination as to whether good cause exists to believe 
a violation occurred. The County ’s decision on the initial determination shall be reduced to writing and 
sent to the contractor or subcontractor against whom the violation was alleged, and to the affected 
worker. When a good cause finding is made, the County shall retain the full amounts claimed by the 
claimant or claimants as the difference between wages paid and wages due under the “Prevailing Wage 
Schedule” and any supplements thereto, together with the applicable penalties, such amounts being 
subtracted from successive progress payments pending a final decision on the violation.

After the County makes its initial determination, the affected contractor or subcontractor and worker have 
fourteen (14) calendar days in which to resolve the issue of whether a violation occurred, including the 
amount that should be retained by the County or paid to the affected worker. If the contractor or 
subcontractor and affected worker reach an agreement concerning the worker ’s claim, the contractor 
shall promptly notify the County in a written document signed by the worker. It the contractor or 

Subcontractor and affected worker do not agree before the fifteenth (15 th) calendar day after the County
determination, the contractor or subcontractor and affected worker must participate in binding arbitration 
in accordance with the Texas General Arbitration Act, Chapter 171, (Texas Civil Practice and Remedies 
Code). The parties to the arbitration have ten (10) calendar days after the expiration of the fifteen (15) 

calendar days referred to above, to agree on an arbitrator; if by the eleventh (11 th) calendar day there is 
no agreement to an arbitrator, a district court shall appoint an arbitrator on the petition of any of the 
parties to the arbitration.

If an arbitrator determines that a violation has occurred, the arbitrator shall assess and award against the 
contractor or subcontractor the amount of penalty as provided above and the amount owed the worker. 
The County may use any amounts retained hereunder to pay the worker the amount as designated in the 
arbitration award. If the County has not retained enough from the contractor or subcontractor to pay the 
worker in accordance with the arbitration award, the worker has a right of action against the contractor 
and subcontractor as appropriate, and the surety of either to receive the amount owed, attorneys ’  fees 
and court costs. The contractor shall promptly furnish a copy of the arbitration award to the County.

Money retained pursuant to the provisions above shall be used to pay the claimant or claimants the 
difference between the amount the worker received in wages for labor on the project at the rate paid by 
the contractor or subcontractor and the amount the worker would have received at the general prevailing 
wage rate as provided by the agreement of the claimant and the contractor or subcontractor affected, or 
in the arbitrator ’s award. The full statutory penalty of sixty dollars ($60.00) per calendar day of violation 
per worker shall be retained by Williamson County to offset its administrative costs, pursuant to Texas 
Government Code, Section, 2258.023. Any retained funds in excess of these amounts shall be paid to 
the contractor on the earlier of the next progress payment or final payment. Provided, however, that the 
County shall have no duty to release any funds to either the claimant or the contractor until it has 
received the notices of agreement or the arbitration award as provided under the provision herein-above.

4.43 CONFIDENTALITY

The Respondent expressly agrees that it will not use any direct or incidental confidential information that 
may be obtained while working in a governmental setting for its own benefit, and agrees that it will not 
access unauthorized areas or confidential information and it will not disclose any information to 
unauthorized third parties, and will take care to guard the security of the information at all times.

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 365



5

6

3 4

Williamson County – Request for Proposal (RFP)

SECTION 1 - DEFINITIONS 

Addendum/Addenda – means any written or graphic instruments issued by the County prior to the 
consideration of Proposals which modify or interpret the Proposal Documents by additions, deletions, 
clarifications, or corrections.

Agreement/Ensuing Agreement(s) – means the Successful Respondent may be required by the 
County to sign an additional Agreement containing terms necessary to ensure compliance with the RFP 
and the Respondent ’s Proposal.  Such Ensuing Agreement(s) shall contain the Proposal specifications, 
terms and conditions that are derived from the RFP.

Contract – means this RFP and the Proposal of the Successful Respondent shall become a Contract 
between the Successful Respondent and the County once the Successful Respondent ’s Proposal is 
properly accepted by the Williamson County Commissioners Court (sometimes referred to herein as the 
Commissioner ’s Court”).

Commissioner ’s Court – means the Williamson County Commissioners Court. 

County – means Williamson County, a political subdivision of the State of Texas.

Executive Summary – means the document submitted by Respondent that represents a concise 
summary of the contents of the Proposal. It does not include any information concerning costs. 

Proposal Documents – means the Legal Notice, RFP including attachments, and any Addenda issued 
by the County prior to the consideration of any Proposals.

Proposal – means the complete, properly signed document, and ALL required forms and documentation 
listed in the proposal package which have been submitted in accordance with this RFP package. A 
Proposal submitted in accordance with this RFP is irrevocable during the specified time period for 
evaluation and acceptance of Proposals, unless a waiver is obtained from the Williamson County 
Purchasing Agent.

Respondent – means a person or entity who submits a Proposal in response to this RFP.

Request for Proposals (RFP) – means this document, together with the attachments thereto and any 
future Addenda issued by the County.

Successful Respondent– means the responsible Respondent who, in the County ’s sole opinion, 
submits the Proposal which is in the best interest of the County, taking into account factors identified 
herein, and to whom the County intends to award the Contract.

SECTION 2 - RESPONSE FORMAT AND SUBMISSION

2.1 INTRODUCTION

Each Proposal submitted in response to this RFP should clearly reference the numbered sections of this 
RFP that require a response.  Failure to arrange the Proposal as requested may result in the 
disqualification of the Proposal.

Though there is not a page limit for Proposals, to save natural resources including paper, and to allow the 
County staff to efficiently evaluate all submitted Proposals, the County requests that Proposals be 
orderly, concise, but comprehensive in providing the requested information.  Conciseness and clarity of 
content are emphasized and encouraged.  If mailed or delivered in person, please limit additional, non
requested information.

Please provide your Proposal response using:

A. 8 ½” x 11” pages, inclusive of any cover letter or supporting materials.

B. The least amount of plastic/laminate or other non-recyclable binding materials.

C. Single-sided printing.

Vague and general Proposals will be considered non-responsive, and may, at the County ’s sole 
discretion, result in disqualification. Proposals must be legible and complete.  Failure to provide the 
required information may result in the disqualification of the Proposal. All pages of the Proposal should 
be numbered and the Proposal should contain an organized, paginated table of contents corresponding 
to the sections and pages of the Proposal.

2.2 ORGANIZATION OF PROPOSAL CONTENTS AND TABLE OF CONTENTS 

Each Proposal should be submitted with a table of contents that clearly identifies and denotes the 
location of all enclosures of the Proposal. The table of contents should follow the RFP ’s structure as 
much as is practical.

Each Proposal should be organized in the manner described below:

A. Transmittal Letter. Please see Section 2.3, Transmittal Letter, for more information. 

B. Table of Contents. 

C. Executive Summary. Please see Section 2.4, Executive Summary. 

D. Proposal Response to Criteria. (Please see the sections in this RFP package that list the 
Specifications & Cost Proposal, Experience and Qualifications, References, and Implementation 
Strategy to respond to our criteria in a clear and concise manner) 

E. Price Sheet. 

F. References: Identification of three (3) references within the last four (4) years, for which the 
Respondent is providing, or has provided, the goods and/or services (public sector) of the type 
requested in this RFP. Include the name, position/title, and telephone number of a contact person 
at each entity. 

G.  Conflict of Interest Questionnaire. 

H. Proposal Affidavit (Signature Page).

I. Attach your entities sample Contract, if applicable, for the County ’s review and consideration. This 
should include any additional terms or conditions. The County is not required to use the sample 
Contract submitted. 

2.3 TRANSMITTAL LETTER

The Respondent should submit a Transmittal Letter that provides the following information: 

A. Name and address of individual or business entity submitting the Proposal. 

B. Respondent ’s type of business entity (i.e., Corporation, General Partnership, Limited Partnership, 
LLC, etc.).  See Section 3.5, Signature of Respondent, for more information. 

C. Place of incorporation or organization, if applicable.

D. Name and location of major offices and other facilities that relate to the Respondent
performance under the terms of this RFP.

E. Name, physical address, email address, business and fax number of the Respondent ’s principal 
contact person regarding all contractual matters relating to this RFP.

F. The Respondent ’s Federal Employer Identification Number.

G. A commitment by the Respondent to provide the services required by the County;

H. A statement that the Proposal is valid for the time specified on page three (3), under the section 
named Prices Good for, of this Proposal packet. Any Proposal containing a term of less than the 
required amount, may at the County ’s sole discretion, be rejected as non-responsive.

I. If the Proposal being submitted will have an effect on air quality for the County (as it relates to any 
state, federal, or voluntary air quality standard), then the Respondent is encouraged to provide
information in narrative indicating the anticipated air quality impact. See Section 4.40, Air Quality 
for more information. 

The Transmittal Letter should be signed by a person legally authorized to bind the Respondent to the
representations in the Transmittal Letter and the Proposal.  In the case of a joint Proposal, each party 
must sign the Transmittal Letter.

2.4 EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

The Respondent should provide an Executive Summary of its Proposal that asserts that the Respondent 
is providing in its response all of the requirements of this RFP.  The Executive Summary should not 
include any information concerning the cost of the Proposal, but instead must represent a full and 
concise summary of the contents of the Proposal.  It is recommended the Executive Summary include 
the following information: 

A. Identify any goods and/or services that are provided beyond those specifically requested.  If the 
Respondent is providing services and/or goods that do not meet the specific requirements of this 
RFP, but in the opinion of the Respondent are equivalent or superior to those specifically 
requested, any such differences should be noted in the Executive Summary. However, the 
Respondent must realize that failure to provide the goods and/or services specifically required, at 
the County ’s sole discretion, may result in disqualification of the Proposal.

B. Indicate why the Respondent believes that it is the most qualified Respondent to provide the 
services described in this RFP.  The Successful Respondent must demonstrate extensive 
experience and understanding of the intent of this project.  The Respondent should describe in 
detail the current and historical experience the Respondent and its subcontractors have that 
would be relevant to completing the project.  References must contain the name of key personnel 
and telephone numbers for each contact, as described in Section 3.14, References.  

C. Briefly state why the Respondent believes its proposed goods and/or services best meet the 
County ’s needs and RFP requirements, and the Respondent also should concisely describe any 
additional features, aspects, or advantages of its goods and/or services in any relevant area not 
covered elsewhere in its Proposal.

2.5 CONFLICT OF INTEREST

No public official shall have interest in a contract, in accordance with Vernon ’s Texas Codes Annotated, 
Local Government Code, Title 5, Subtitle C, Chapter 171, as amended. 

As of January 1, 2006, all Respondents are responsible for complying with Local Government Code, Title 
5, Subtitle C, Chapter 176.  Additional information may be obtained from the County’s website at the 
following link: 

http://www.wilco.org/CountyDepartments/Purchasing/ConflictofInterestDisclosure/tabid/689/language/en
US/Default.aspx

Each Respondent must disclose any existing or potential conflict of interest relative to the performance of 
the requirements of this RFP.  Examples of potential conflicts of interest may include an existing 
business or personal relationship between the Respondent, its principal, or any affiliate or 
subcontractor with the County or any other entity or person involved in any way with the project 
that is subject to this RFP.  Similarly, any personal or business relationship between the Respondent, 
the principals, or any affiliate or subcontractor with any employee, or official of the County or its suppliers 
must be disclosed.  Any such relationship that might be perceived or represented as a conflict must be 
disclosed. Failure to disclose any such relationship or reveal personal relationships with the County 
employees or officials may be cause for termination. 

The County will decide if an actual or perceived conflict should result in Proposal disqualification. 

By submitting a Proposal in response to this RFP, all Respondents affirm they have not given, nor intend 
to give, at any time hereafter, any economic opportunity, future employment, gift, loan, gratuity, special 
discount, trip, favor, or service to a the County public servant or any employee, official or representative 
of same, in connection with this procurement. 

Each Respondent must provide a Conflict of Interest Statement with their Proposal Package.  

Package may be deemed incomplete without this form.  

2.6 CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PARTIES – FORM 1295

As of January 1, 2016, all Respondents are responsible for complying with the Texas Government Code, 
Section 2252.908.  The law states that the County may not enter into certain contracts with a 
Respondent unless the Respondent submits a disclosure of interested parties to the County at the time 
the Respondent submits the signed contract.  The law applies only to a contract of the County on or after 
January 1, 2016 that either:

A. Requires an action or vote by the Commissioners Court before the contract may be signed (all 
contracts that fall under the jurisdiction of the Commissioners Court approval, such as contracts 
resulting from an Initiation for Bid (IFB), RFP, Request for Qualifications (RFQ), etc., excluding, 
but not limited to, certain Juvenile Service contracts, contracts funded with Sheriff ’s seized fun 
monies, etc.); or

B. Has a value of at least $1,000,000. 

By January 1, 2016, the Texas Ethics Commission will make available on its website, a new filing 
application that must be used to file Form 1295.  Information regarding how to use the filing application is 
available on the Texas Ethics Commission website at the following link:

https://www.ethics.state.tx.us/whatsnew/elf_info_form1295.htm

A Respondent must:

A. Use the online application to process the required information on Form 1295.

B. Print a copy of the form which will contain a unique certification number.

C. An authorized agent of the Respondent must sign the printed copy of the form.

D. Have the form notarized.

E. File the completed Form 1295 and certification of filing (scanning and emailing form is sufficient) 
with Williamson County Purchasing Agent at the time the signed Contract is submitted for 
approval.

After the Commissioners Court award of the contract, the County shall notify the Texas Ethics 
Commission, using the Texas Ethics Commission ’s filing application, of the receipt of the filed Form 
1295 and certification of filing not later than the 30th day after the date the contract binds all parties to the 
contract. The Texas Ethics Commission will post the completed Form 1295 to its website within seven 
business days after receiving notice from the County.

2.7 PROPOSAL SUBMITTAL DEADLINE

The Proposal is due no later than the submittal date and time set forth in the Public Announcement and 
General Information listed in this RFP package.  Contents of each Proposal shall be submitted in 
accordance with this RFP.

2.8 ETHICS

The Respondent shall not accept or offer gifts or anything of value, nor enter into any business 
arrangement with any employee, official or agent of the County.

2.9 DELIVERY OF PROPOSALS

The County uses BidSync to distribute and receive bids and Proposals.  It is preferred that Proposals
be submitted electronically through BidSync; however, Respondents can submit a hard copy.  

Refer to www.bidsync.com for further information on how to submit electronically.

If mailed or delivered in person, Proposal and Proposal Addenda are to be delivered in sealed envelope
on or before the submittal deadline, as noted in the Public Announcement and General Information listed 
in this RFP package, to:

            Williamson County Purchasing Department
            Attn: Proposal Name and Number
            901 South Austin Avenue
            Georgetown, Texas 78626

Also, all Respondents should list their Name and Address, and the Date of the Proposal opening on the
outside of the box or envelope and note “Sealed Proposal Enclosed.” Williamson County will not accept 
any Proposals after the submittal deadline, and shall return such Proposals unopened to the 
Respondent.  The County will not accept any responsibility for Proposals being delivered by third party 
carriers. 

Proposals will be opened publicly; however, in a manner to avoid public disclosure of contents, only 
names of Respondents will be read aloud: no pricing will be announced at the opening. 

SECTION 3 - INSTRUCTIONS AND GENERAL REQUIREMENTS

3.1 INSTRUCTIONS

Read this document carefully, and follow all instructions and requirements.  All Respondents are 
responsible for fulfilling all requirements and specifications.  Be sure to have a clear understanding of this
RFP.

General requirements apply to all advertised RFPs; however, these may be superseded, in whole or in 
part, by the proposal specifications, Addenda and modifications issued as a part of this RFP.  Be sure 
your Proposal package is complete.

3.2 AMBIGUITY, CONFLICT, OR OTHER ERRORS IN THIS RFP

If a Respondent discovers any ambiguity, conflict, discrepancy, omission or other error in this RFP, the 
Respondent shall immediately notify the County Purchasing Department of such error in writing and
request modification or clarification of the document.

Modifications will be made by issuing Addenda. If the Respondent fails to notify the County prior to the
date and time fixed for submission of Proposals of an error or ambiguity in the RFP known to the
Respondent, or an error or ambiguity that reasonably should have been known to the Respondent, then 
the Respondent shall be deemed to have waived the error or ambiguity or its later resolution.

The County may also modify the RFP, no later than forty-eight (48) hours prior to the date and time fixed
for submission of Proposals, by issuance of an Addendum.  All Addenda will be numbered consecutively, 
beginning with one (1).

3.3 NOTIFICATION OF MOST CURRENT ADDRESS

All Respondents in receipt of this RFP shall notify the Williamson County Purchasing Department of any
address changes, contact person changes, and/or telephone number changes no later than forty-eight 
(48) hours prior to the date and time fixed for submission of Proposals.

3.4 SIGNATURE OF RESPONDENT

A Transmittal Letter, which shall be considered an integral part of the Proposal as stated in Section 2.3, 
Transmittal Letter, shall be signed by an individual who is authorized to bind the Respondent
contractually.

A. If the Respondent is a Corporation or Limited Liability Company, the legal name of the Corporation
or Limited Liability Company shall be provided together with the signature of the officer or officers 
authorized to sign on behalf of such entity.

B. If the Respondent is a General Partnership, the true name of the firm shall be provided with the
signature of each partner authorized to sign.

C. If the Respondent is a Limited Partnership, the name of the Limited Partner ’s General Partner
shall be provided with the signature of the officer authorized to sign on behalf of the General
Partner.

D. If the Respondent is a Sole Proprietor(s) (individual), each Sole Proprietor(s) shall sign.

E. If signature is by an agent, other than the Sole Proprietor(s) or an officer of a Corporation, Limited 
Liability Company, General Partner or a member of a General Partnership, a power of attorney
equivalent document must be submitted to the Williamson County Purchasing Department.

3.5 ASSUMED BUSINESS NAME

If the Respondent operates business under an Assumed Business Name, the Respondent must have
file with the Williamson County Clerk a current Assumed Name Certificate and provide a file marked copy 
of same prior to contract award.

3.6 ECONOMY OF PRESENTATION

Proposals should not contain promotional or display materials, except as they may directly answer in 
whole or in part questions contained in the RFP.  Such exhibits shall be clearly marked with the 
applicable reference number of the question in the RFP.  Proposals must address the technical 
requirements as specified in the RFP.  All questions posed by the RFP must be answered concisely and 
clearly. Proposals that do not address each criterion may be, at the sole discretion of the County, 
rejected and not considered.

3.7 PROPOSAL OBLIGATION 

The contents of the RFP, Proposal, and any clarification thereof submitted by the Successful
Respondent shall become part of the contractual obligation and incorporated by reference into the 
Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s).

3.8 COMPLIANCE WITH RFP SPECIFICATIONS

It is intended that this RFP describe the requirements and the Proposal format in sufficient detail to 
secure comparable Proposal.  Failure to comply with all provisions of the RFP may, at the sole discretion 
of the County, result in disqualification.

3.9 EVALUATION 

The County reserves the right to use all pertinent information (also learned from sources other than 
disclosed in the RFP process) that might affect the County ’s judgment as to the appropriateness of
award to the best evaluated Respondent. This information may be appended to the Proposal evaluation
process results. Information on a Respondent from reliable sources, and not within the Respondent
Proposal, may also be noted and made part of the evaluation fi le.  The County shall have sole 
discretion for determining the reliability of the source.  The County reserves the right to conduct written 
and/or oral discussions/interviews after the Proposal opening.  The purpose of such 
discussions/interviews is to provide clarification and/or additional information to make an award that is in 
the best interest of the County.

3.10 WITHDRAWAL OF PROPOSAL

The Respondent may withdraw its Proposal by submitting a written request with the company letterhead 
and the signature of an authorized individual, as described in Section 3.4, Signature of Respondent, to 
the Williamson County Purchasing Department any time prior to the submission deadline.  

The Respondent may submit a new Proposal prior to the deadline. Alterations of the Proposal in any 
manner will not be considered if submitted after the deadline.  Withdrawal of a Proposal after the deadline 
will be subject to written approval of the Williamson County Purchasing Agent.

3.11 RESPONSIBILITY 

It is expected that a Respondent will be able to affirmatively demonstrate responsibility.  A prospective
Respondent should be able to meet the following requirements:

A. Have adequate financial resources, or the ability to obtain such resources as required;
B. Be able to comply with the required or proposed delivery schedule;
C. Have a satisfactory record of performance that can be determined thru references provided; and 
D. Be otherwise qualified and eligible to receive an award.

The County may request representation and other information sufficient to determine the Respondent
ability to meet these minimum standards listed above.

3.12 PURCHASE ORDERS

If required by the Williamson County Purchasing Department, a purchase order(s) may be generated to 
the Successful Respondent for goods and/or services.  If a purchase order is issued, the purchase order 
number must appear on all itemized invoices and/or requests for payment.

3.13 SILENCE OF SPECIFICATIONS

The apparent silence of any RFP specifications as to any detail or to the apparent omission from it of a 
detailed description concerning any point, shall be regarded as meaning that only the best practices are 
to prevail.  All interpretations of these specifications shall be made on the basis of this statement.

3.14 REFERENCES

Respondents shall furnish a list of contracts where similar responsibilities and goods and/or services 
have been required and/or performed for the past five (5) years, to include names, titles, phone numbers 
and email addresses of reference contacts, contract numbers and dates of performance. 

Also, Respondents shall include a list of any contracts that have been cancelled or terminated within the 
last five (5) years, along with an explanation of the cancellation and the names, email address and phone 
number of a reference person with that institution. 

The County may contact some or all of the references in order to determine the Respondent
performance record on work similar to that described in this RFP.  The County reserves the right to 
contact references other than those provided in the response and to use the information gained from 
them in the evaluation process. 

References should be provided in accordance with this RFP.  Proposal may not be deemed complete 
without the inclusion of requested references.

SECTION 4 - TERMS AND CONDITIONS

4.1 VENUE AND GOVERNING LAW

The Respondent hereby agrees and acknowledges that venue and jurisdiction of any suit, right, or cause 
of action arising out of or in connection with this RFP, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s), shall 
lie exclusively in either Williamson County, Texas or in the Austin Division of the Western Federal District 
of Texas, and the parties hereto expressly consent and submit to such jurisdiction.  Furthermore, except 
to the extent that this RFP, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) is governed by the laws of the 
United States, this RFP, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be governed by and 
construed in accordance with the laws of the State of Texas, excluding, however, its choice of law rules.

4.2 INCORPORATION BY REFERENCE AND PRECEDENCE

A. The Contract shall be derived from the RFP and its Addenda (if applicable), and the Respondent
Proposal.  In the event of a dispute under the Contract, applicable documents will be referred to 
for the purpose of clarification or for additional detail in the following order of precedence:

1. The RFP and its Addenda (if applicable); and 

2. The Respondent ’s Proposal.

B. In the event the County requires that an Ensuing Agreement be executed following award and a 
dispute arises between the terms and conditions of the Ensuing Agreement, the RFP and its 
Addenda (if applicable), and the Respondent ’s Proposal, applicable documents will be referred to 
for the purpose of clarification or for additional detail in the following order of precedence: 

1. The terms and conditions of the Ensuing Agreement;

2. The RFP and its Addenda; and  

3. The Respondent ’s Proposal.

4.3 OWNERSHIP OF PROPOSAL

Each Proposal shall become the property of the County upon submittal and will not be returned to 
Respondents unless received after the submittal deadline.

4.4 DISQUALIFICATION OF RESPONDENT

Upon signing and submittal of the Proposal, a Respondent offering to sell supplies, materials, services, 
or equipment to the County, certifies that the Respondent has not violated the antitrust laws of the State 
of Texas codified in Business & Commerce Code, Section 15.01, or the Federal Antitrust Laws, and has 
not communicated directly or indirectly the offer made to any competitor or any other person engaged
such line of business.  Any or all Proposals may be rejected if the County believes that collusion exists 
among the Respondents.

4.5 FUNDING

The County intends to budget and make sufficient funds available and authorize funds for expenditure to 
finance the costs of the Contract.  All Respondents understand and agree that the County’s payment of 
amounts under the Contract shall be contingent on the County receiving appropriations or other 
expenditure authority sufficient to allow the County, in the exercise of reasonable administrative 
discretion, to make payments under this Contract.

4.6 ASSIGNMENT, SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS 

The Successful Respondent may not assign, sell, or otherwise transfer the Contract or any other rights 
or interests obtained under the Contract without written permission of the Williamson County the 
Commissioners Court.  The Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be binding upon and inure to 
the benefit of the contracting parties hereto and their respective successors and permitted assigns.

4.7 IMPLIED REQUIREMENTS

Products or services not specifically described or required in the RFP, but are necessary to provide the 
functional capabilities described by the Respondent, shall be implied and deemed to be included in the
Proposal.

4.8 TERMINATION

A. Termination for Cause: The County reserves the right to terminate the Contract and/or any 
Ensuing Agreement(s) for default if the Successful Respondent breaches any of the Proposal
specifications, terms and conditions, including warranties of the Respondent, if any, or if the 
Successful Respondent becomes insolvent or commits acts of bankruptcy.  Such right of 
termination is in addition to and not in lieu of any other remedies the County may have at law or
equity or as may otherwise be provided hereunder.  Default may be construed as, but not limited 
to, failure to deliver the proper goods and/or services within the proper amount of time, and/or to 
properly perform any and all other requirements to the County ’s satisfaction, and/or to meet all 
other obligations and requirements.

B. Termination for Convenience: The County may terminate the Contract and/or any Ensuing 
Agreement(s) for convenience and without cause or further liability, upon no less than thirty (30) 
calendar days written notice to the Successful Respondent. The County reserves the right to 
extend this period if it is in the best interest of the County.  In the event the County exercises its 
right to terminate without cause, it is understood and agreed that only the amounts due to the 
Successful Respondent for goods, commodities and/or services provided and expenses incurred 
to and including the date of termination, will be due and payable.  No penalty will be assessed for 
the County ’s termination for convenience.

4.9 NON-PERFORMANCE

It is the objective of the County to obtain complete and satisfactory performance of the requirements set 
forth herein.  In addition to any other remedies available at law, in equity or that may be set out herein, 
failure to perform may result in a deduction of payment equal to the amount of the goods and/or services 
that were not provided and/or performed to the County ’s satisfaction.  

In the event of such non-performance, the County shall have the right, but shall not be obligated, to 
complete the services itself or by others and/or purchase the goods from other sources.  If the County 
elects to acquire the goods or perform the services itself or by others, pursuant to the foregoing, the 
Successful Respondent shall reimburse the County, within ten (10) calendar days of demand, for all 
costs incurred by the County (including, without limitation, applicable, general, and administrative 
expenses, and field overhead, and the cost of necessary equipment, materials, and field labor) in 
correcting the nonperformance which the Successful Respondent fails to meet pursuant to the 
requirements set out herein.  In the event the Successful Respondent refuses to reimburse the County 
as set out in this provision, the County shall have the right to deduct such reimbursement amounts from 
any amounts that may be then owing or that may become owing in the future to the Successful
Respondent.

4.10 PROPRIETARY INFORMATION AND THE TEXAS PUBLIC INFORMATION ACT

All material submitted to the County shall become public property and subject to the Texas Public 
Information Act upon receipt. If a Respondent does not desire proprietary information in the Proposal to 
be disclosed, each page must be clearly identified and marked proprietary at time of submittal or, more 
preferably, all proprietary information may be placed in a folder or appendix and be clearly identified and 
marked as being proprietary.  Failure to clearly identify and mark information as being proprietary as set 
forth under this provision will result in all unmarked information being deemed non-proprietary and 
available to the public.  For all information that has not been clearly identified and marked as proprietary 
by the Respondent, the County may choose to place such information on the County ’s website and/or a 
similar public database without obtaining any type of prior consent from the Respondent.

The County will, to the extent allowed by law, endeavor to protect from public disclosure the information 
that has been identified and marked as proprietary.  The final decision as to what information must be 
disclosed, however, lies with the Texas Attorney General.  

To the extent, if any, that any provision in this RFP or in the Respondent ’s Proposal is in conflict with 
Texas Government Code, Chapter 552, as amended (the “Public Information Act”), the same shall be of 
no force or effect.  Furthermore, it is expressly understood, and agreed, that the County, and its officers 
and employees, may request advice, decisions and opinions of the Attorney General of the State of
Texas in regard to the application of the Public Information Act to any items or data furnished to the 
County as to whether or not the same are available to the public.  It is further understood that that the 
County, and its officers and employees, shall have the right to rely on the advice, decisions and opinions 
of the Attorney General, and that the County, its officers and employees shall have no liability or obligation 
to any party hereto for the disclosure to the public, or to any person or persons, of any items or data 
furnished to the County by a party hereto, in reliance of any advice, decision or opinion of the Attorney 
General of the State of Texas.

4.11 RIGHT TO AUDIT

The Successful Respondent agrees that the County or its duly authorized representatives shall, until the 
expiration of three (3) years after termination or expiration of the services to be performed, have access 
to and the right to examine and photocopy any and all books, documents, papers and records of the 
Successful Respondent, which are directly pertinent to the services to be performed or goods to
delivered for the purposes of making audits, examinations, excerpts and transcriptions.  The Successful 
Respondent agrees that the County shall have access during normal working hours to all necessary 
facilities and shall be provided adequate and appropriate work space in order to conduct audits in 
compliance with the provisions of this section.  The County shall give the Successful Respondent 
reasonable advance notice of intended audits.

4.12 TESTING AND INSPECTIONS

The County reserves the right to inspect and test equipment, supplies, materials and goods for quality 
and compliance with this RFP, and ability to meet the needs of the user.  Demonstration units must be 
available for review.  Should the goods or services fail to meet requirements and/or be unavailable for 
evaluation, the County can deem the Respondent to be in breach and terminate the Contract and/or any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

4.13 PROPOSAL PREPARATION COSTS

The cost of developing Proposals is the sole responsibility of the Respondents and shall not be charged 
to the County.  There is no expressed or implied obligation for the County to reimburse the Respondents 
for any expense incurred in preparing a Proposal in response to this RFP and the County will not 
reimburse the Respondents for such expenses.

4.14 INDEMNIFICATION

The Successful Respondent shall indemnify, defend and save harmless, the County, its officials, 
employees, agents and agent ’s employees from, and against, all claims, liability, and expenses including 
reasonable attorneys ’ fees, arising from activities of the Respondent, its agents, servants or employees, 
performed hereunder that result from the negligent act, error, or omission of the Respondent or any of 
the Respondent ’s agents, servants or employees, as well as all claims of loss or damage to the 
Respondent ’s and the County ’s property, equipment, and/or supplies. 

Furthermore, the County, its officials, employees, agents and agents ’ employees shall not be liable for 
damages to the Successful Respondent arising from any act of any third party, including, but not limited 
to, theft.  The Successful Respondent further agrees to indemnify, defend and save harmless, the 
County from its officials, employee, agents and agents ’ employees against all claims of whatever nature 
arising from any accident, injury, or damage whatsoever, caused to any person, or the property of any 
person, occurring in relation to the Successful Respondent ’s performance of any services requested 
hereunder during the term of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s). 

The Successful Respondent shall timely report all claims, demands, suits, actions, proceedings, liens or 
judgements to the County and shall, upon the receipt of any claim, demand, suit, action, proceeding, lien 

or judgement, not later than the fifteenth (15 th) day of each month; provide the County with a written 
report on each such matter, setting forth the status of each matter, the schedule or planned proceedings 
with respect to each matter and the cooperation or assistance, if any, of the County required by the 
Successful Respondent in the defense of each matter.  The Successful Respondent’s duty to defend, 
indemnify and hold the County harmless shall be absolute.  It shall not abate or end by reason of the 
expiration or termination of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s), unless otherwise agreed by 
the County in writing.  The provisions of this section shall survive the termination of the Contract and shall 
remain in full force and effect with respect to all such matters no matter when they arise. 

In the event of any dispute between the parties, as to whether a claim, demand, suit, action, proceeding, 
lien or judgement, that appears to have been caused by or appears to have arisen out of or in connection 
with acts or omissions of the County, the Respondent shall nevertheless fully defend such claim, 
demand, suit or action, proceeding, lien or judgement, until and unless there is  a determination by a 
court of competent jurisdiction that the acts and omissions of the Respondent are not an issue in the 
matter. 

The Successful Respondent ’s indemnification shall cover, and the Successful Respondent agrees to, 
indemnify the County, in the event the County is found to have been negligent for having selected the 
Successful Respondent to perform the work described in this request.  The provision by the Successful 
Respondent of insurance shall not limit the liability of the Successful Respondent under the Contract 
and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s). 

4.15 WAIVER OF SUBROGATION

The Successful Respondent and the Successful Respondent ’s insurance carrier waive any and all rights 
whatsoever with regard to subrogation against the County as an indirect party to any suit arising out of 
personal or property damages resulting from the Respondent ’s performance under this Contract and any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

4.16 RELATIONSHIP OF THE PARTIES

The Successful Respondent shall be an independent contractor and shall assume all of the rights, 
obligations, liabilities, applicable to it as such independent contractor hereunder and any provisions 
herein which may appear to give the County the right to direct the Successful Respondent as to details of 
doing work herein covered, or to exercise a measure of control over the work, shall be deemed to mean 
that the Successful Respondent shall follow the desires of the County in the results of the work only.  The 
County shall not retain or have the right to control the Successful Respondent ’s means, methods or 
details pertaining to the Successful Respondent ’s performance of the work.  The County and the 
Successful Respondent hereby agree and declare that the Successful Respondent is an independent 
contractor and as such meets the qualifications of an “Independent Contractor” under Texas Workers 
Compensation Act, Texas Labor Code, Section 406.141, that the Successful Respondent is not an 
employee of  the County, and that the Successful Respondent and its employees, agents and 
subcontractors shall not be entitled to workers compensation coverage or any other type of insurance 
coverage held by the County.

4.17 SOLE PROVIDER

The Successful Respondent agrees and acknowledges that it shall not be considered a sole provider of 
the goods and/or services described herein and that the County may contract with other providers of 
such goods and/or services if the County deems, at its sole discretion, that multiple providers of the 
same goods and/or services will serve the best interest of the County.

4.18 FORCE MAJEURE

If the party obligated to perform is prevented from performance by an act of war, order of legal authority, 
act of God, or other unavoidable cause not attributable to the fault or negligence of said party, the other 
party shall grant such party relief from the performance.  The burden of proof for the need of such relief 
shall rest upon the party obligated to perform.  To obtain release based on force majeure, the party 
obligated to perform shall file a written request with the other party.

4.19 SEVERABILITY

If any provision of this RFP, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be held invalid or 
unenforceable by any court of competent jurisdiction, such holding shall not invalidate or render 
unenforceable any other provision thereof, but rather the entire RFP, Contract or any Ensuing Agreement
(s) will be construed as if not containing the particular invalid or unenforceable provision or provisions, 
and the rights and obligation of the parties shall be construed and enforced in accordance therewith.  The 
parties acknowledge that if any provision of this RFP, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) is 
determined to be invalid or unenforceable, it is the desire and intention of each that such provision be 
reformed and construed in such a manner that it will, to the maximum extent practicable, give effect to
the intent of this RFP, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) and be deemed to be validated and
enforceable.

4.20 EQUAL OPPORTUNITY

Neither party shall discriminate against any employee or applicant for employment because of race, 
color, sex, religion or national origin.

4.21 NOTICE

Any notice to be given shall be in writing and may be distributed by personal delivery, or by registered or 
certified mail, return receipt requested, addressed to the proper party, at the following address:

The County:    Williamson County Purchasing Department 
            Attn: Purchasing Agent 
            901 South Austin Avenue 
            Georgetown, Texas 78626

The Respondent: Address set out in Respondent ’s Transmittal Letter

Notices given in accordance with this provision shall be effective upon (1) receipt by the party to which 
notice is given, or (2) on the third (3rd) calendar day following mailing, whichever occurs first.

4.22 SALES AND USE TAX EXEMPTION

The County is a body, corporate and politic, under the laws of the State of Texas and claims exemption 
from sales and use taxes under Texas Tax Code, Section 151.309, as amended, and the services and/or 
goods subject hereof are being secured for use by the County.

4.23 COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS

The County and the Successful Respondent shall comply with all federal, state, and local laws, statutes,
ordinances, rules and regulations, and the orders and decrees of any courts or administrative bodies or 
tribunals in any matter affecting the performance of the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s),
including, without limitation, Workers ’ Compensation laws, salary and wage statutes and regulations, 
licensing laws and regulations.  When required, the Successful Respondent shall furnish the County with 
certification of compliance with said laws, statues, ordinances, rules, regulations, orders, and decrees 
above specified.

4.24 INCORPORATION OF EXHIBITS, APPENDICES AND ATTACHMENTS

All of the Exhibits, Appendices and Attachments referred to herein are incorporated by reference as if set 
forth verbatim herein.  Any conflicting terms in the Contract documents will be resolved at the sole 
discretion of the Commissioners Court.

4.25 NO WAIVER OF IMMUNITIES

Nothing herein shall be deemed to waive, modify or amend any legal defense available at law or in equity 
to the County, its past or present officers, employees, or agents, nor to create any legal rights or claim on 
behalf of any third party.  The County does not waive, modify, or alter to any extent whatsoever the 
availability of the defense of governmental immunity under the laws of the State of Texas and of the 
United States.

4.26 NO WAIVER

The failure or delay of any party to enforce at any time or any period of time any of the provisions of this 
RFP, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall not constitute a present or future waiver of such 
provisions nor the right of either party to enforce each and every provision.  Furthermore, no term or 
provision hereof shall be deemed waived and no breach excused unless such waiver or consent shall be 
in writing and signed by the party claimed to have waived or consented.  Any consent by any party to, or 
waiver of, a breach by the other, whether expressed or implied, shall not constitute a consent to, waiver 
of or excuse for any other, different or subsequent breach.

4.27 CURRENT REVENUES

The obligations of the parties under the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) do not constitute a 
general obligation or indebtedness of the County for which the County is obligated to levy, pledge, or 
collect any of taxation.  It is understood and agreed that the County shall have the right to terminate the 
Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) at the end of any the County fiscal year if the governing body of 
the County does not appropriate sufficient funds as determined by the County ’s budget for the fiscal year 
in question.  The County may effect such termination by giving written notice of termination to the 
Successful Respondent at the end of its then-current fiscal year.

4.28 BINDING EFFECT

This Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties 
and their respective permitted assigns and successors.

4.29 ASSIGNMENT

The Successful Respondent ’s interest and duties hereunder may not be assigned or delegated to a third 
party without the express written consent of the County.

4.30 SAFETY

The Successful Respondent is responsible for initiating, maintaining, and supervising all safety 
precautions and programs in connection with any services to be provided hereunder. The safety program 
shall comply with all applicable requirements of the current federal Occupational Safety and Health Act 
and all other applicable federal, state and local laws and regulations.

4.31 GENERAL OBLIGATIONS AND RELIANCE

The Successful Respondent shall perform all services and/or provide all goods, as well as those
reasonably inferable and necessary for completion and provision of services and/or goods required
hereunder. The Successful Respondent shall keep the County informed of the progress and quality
the services.  The Successful Respondent agrees and acknowledges that the County is relying on the 
Successful Respondent's represented expertise and ability to provide the goods and/or services 
described herein.  The Successful Respondent agrees to use its best efforts, skill, judgment, and abilities
to perform its obligations in accordance with the highest standards used in the profession and to further 
the interests of the County in accordance with the County ’s requirements and procedures.  The 
Successful Respondent ’s duties, as set forth herein, shall at no time be in any way diminished by reason
of any approval by the County, nor shall the Successful Respondent be released from any liability
reason of such approval by the County, it being understood that the County at all times is ultimately 
relying upon the Successful Respondent ’s skill and knowledge in performing the services and providing 
any goods required hereunder.

4.32 CONTRACTUAL DEVELOPMENT

The Commissioners Court may award the Contract on the basis of the initial Proposals received, without
any further or additional discussions.  Therefore, each initial Proposal should contain the Respondent
best terms and offer.  The contents of the RFP and the selected Proposal will become an integral part of 
the Contract, but may be modified, at Williamson County ’s sole discretion, by provisions of an Ensuing 
Agreement.  Therefore, the Respondent must agree to inclusion in an Ensuing Agreement of the 
Proposal specifications, terms and conditions of this RFP.  Williamson County may, at its discretion, opt 
to conduct further discussions with responsible offerors and request the highest ranked firm ’s Best and 
Final Offer (BAFO).

4.33 ENTIRE AGREEMENT

The Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall supersede all prior Agreements, written or oral 
between the Successful Respondent and the County and shall constitute the entire Agreement and 
understanding between the parties with respect to the services and/or goods to be provided.  Each of the 
provisions herein shall be binding upon the parties and may not be waived, modified, amended or altered, 
except by writing signed by the Successful Respondent and the County.

4.34 SURVIVABILITY 

All applicable agreements that were entered into between the Successful Respondent and the County, 
under the terms and conditions of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s), shall survive the 
expiration or termination thereof for ninety (90) days unless a new contract has been awarded.

The County may exercise, by written notice to the Successful Respondent no later than ten (10) calendar 
days of the Contract expiration, this clause for emergency cases only. 

4.35 PAYMENT

The County ’s payment for goods and services shall be governed by the Texas Government Code, 

Chapter 2251.  An invoice shall be deemed overdue the thirty-first (31st) day after the later of the 
following: 

A. The date the County receives the goods under the Contract; 
B. The date the performance of the service under the Contract is completed; or 
C. The date the Williamson County Auditor receives an invoice for the goods or services.  

Interest charges for any overdue payments shall be paid by the County in accordance with Texas 
Government Code, Section 2251.025.  More specifically, the rate of interest that shall accrue on a late 
payment is the rate in effect on September 1 of the County ’s fiscal year in which the payment becomes 
due.  The said rate in effect on September 1 shall be equal to the sum of one (1) percent and the prime 

rate published in the Wall Street Journal on the first (1st) day of July of the preceding fiscal year that does 
not fall on a Saturday or Sunday.

In the event that an error appears in an invoice submitted by the Successful Respondent, the County 
shall notify the Successful Respondent of the error not later than the twenty-first (21st) day after the date 
the County receives the invoice.  If the error is resolved in favor of the Successful Respondent, the 
Successful Respondent shall be entitled to receive interest on the unpaid balance of the invoice 
submitted by the Successful Respondent beginning on the date that the payment for the invoice became 
overdue.  If the error is resolved in favor of the County, the Successful Respondent shall submit a 
corrected invoice that must be paid in accordance within the time set forth above.  The unpaid balance 
accrues interest as provided by the Texas Government Code, Chapter 2251, if the corrected invoice is 
not paid by the appropriate date.

As a minimum, invoices shall include:

A. Name, address, and telephone number of the Successful Respondent and similar information in 
the event the payment is to be made to a different address. 

B. The County Contract, Purchase Order. 

C. Identification of items or service as outlined in the Contract.

D. Quantity or quantities, applicable unit prices, total prices and total amount.

E. Any additional payment information which may be called for by the Contract.

Payment inquiries should be directed to the following address:        

            Williamson County Auditor’s Office, Accounts Payable Department
            Email: accountspayable@wilco.org
            Phone: 512-943-1500

4.36 CONTRACTUAL FORMATION AND ENSUING AGREEMENT

The RFP and the Respondent ’s Proposal, when properly accepted by the Commissioners Court, shall 
constitute a Contract equally binding between the Successful Respondent and the County.  The 
Successful Respondent may be required by Williamson County to sign an additional Agreement 
containing terms necessary to ensure compliance with the RFP and Respondent ’s Proposal.

4.37 LEGAL LIABILITY INFORMATION

The Successful Respondent shall disclose all legal liability information by listing any pending litigation
anticipated litigation that your firm is involved in including, but not limited to, potential or actual legal
matters with private parties and any local, state, federal or international governmental entities. The
County reserves the right to consider legal liability information in the recommendation of any proposed 
contract to the Commissioners Court.

4.38 CONFIDENTIALITY

Respondent expressly agrees that it will not use any direct or incidental confidential information that may
be obtained while working in a governmental setting for its own benefit, and agrees that it will not access
unauthorized areas or confidential information and it will not disclose any information to unauthorized
third parties, and will take care to guard the security of the information at all times.

4.39 INCLEMENT WEATHER

In case of inclement weather or any other unforeseen event causing the County to close for business on 
the date of a Proposal submission deadline, the Proposal closing will automatically be postponed until the 
next business day the County is open.  If inclement weather conditions or any other unforeseen event 
causes delays in carrier service operations, the County may issue an Addendum to all known 
Respondents interested in the project to extend the deadline.  It will be the responsibility of the 
Respondent to notify the County of their interest in the project if these conditions are impacting their 
ability to turn in a submission within the stated deadline.  The County reserves the right to make the final 
judgement call to extend any deadline. 

4.40 AIR QUALITY

In determining the overall best Proposal, the County may, to the extent applicable, exercise the option 
granted to local governments under the Texas Local Government Code, Section 271.907.

This option allows the County to evaluate Proposals and give preference to goods and/or services of
Respondent that demonstrates that the Respondent meets or exceeds any and all state or federal 
environmental standards, including voluntary standards, relating to air quality.  If the Proposal being 
submitted will have an effect on air quality for the County (as it relates to any state, federal, or voluntary 
air quality standard), then the Respondent is encouraged to provide information in narrative indicating the 
anticipated air quality impact.  All Respondents are expected to meet all mandated state and federal air 
quality standards.

4.41 COOPERATIVE PURCHASING PROGRAM 

During the term of the Contract resulting from this RFP, the County would like to afford the same prices, 
terms and conditions to other political subdivisions or public entities.  Another entity’s participation in the 
Contract resulting from this RFP is subject to a properly authorized Purchasing Cooperative Inter- local 
Agreement (ILA) with the County.  Any liability created by purchase orders issued against the Contract 
shall be the sole responsibility of the governmental agency placing the order.

4.42 PREVAILING WAGE RATES

To the extent this procurement is for the construction of a public work, including a building, highway, 
road, excavation, and repair work or other project development or improvement, paid for in whole or in 
part from public funds, without regard to whether the work is done under public supervision or direction, 
Texas Government Code, Chapter 2258, shall apply and the contractor shall pay not less than the wage 
scale of the various classes of labor as shown on the “Prevailing Wage Schedule” provided by the 
County. Pursuant to Texas Government Code, Section 2258.022(a)(2), the County has determined the 
general prevailing rate of the “Prevailing Wage Schedule”  in the locality in which the public work is to be 
performed for each craft or type of worker needed to execute the contract and the prevailing rate for legal 
holiday and overtime work by using the prevailing wage rate as determined by the United States 
Department of Labor in accordance with the United States Code, Section 276a (Davis-Bacon Act). 

The specified wage rates are minimum rates only, and are not representations that qualified labor 
adequate to perform the work is available locally at the prevailing wage rates. The County is not bound to 
pay—and will not consider—any claims for additional compensation made by any contractor because the 
contractor pays wages in excess of the applicable minimum rate contained in the Contract Documents. 
The “Prevailing Wage Schedule”  is not a representation that quantities of qualified labor adequate to 
perform the work may be found locally at the specified wage rates.

For classifications not shown, workers shall not be paid less than the wage indicated for laborers. The 
contractor shall notify each worker commencing work on the project the worker ’s job classification and 
the established minimum wage rate required to be paid, as well as the actual amount being paid. The 
notice must be delivered to and signed in acknowledgement of receipt by the employee and must list 
both the monetary wages and fringe benefits to be paid or furnished for each classification in which the 
worker is assigned duties. When requested by the County, competent evidence of compliance with the 
Texas Prevailing Wage Law shall be furnished by contractor. A copy of each worker wage rate 
notification shall be submitted to the County with the Application for Payment for the period during which 
the worker began on-site activities.

Should the contractor at any time become aware that a particular skill or trade not reflected on the 
County ’s “Prevailing Wage Schedule” will be or is being employed in the work, whether by the contractor 
or by a subcontractor, the contractor shall promptly inform the County and shall specify a wage rate for 
that skill or trade, which shall bind the contractor.

The contractor and any subcontractor shall pay to the County a penalty of sixty dollars ($60.00) for each 
worker employed for each calendar day, or portion thereof, that the worker is paid less than the wage 
rates stipulated in the “Prevailing Wage Schedule” or any supplement thereto. The contractor and each 
subcontractor shall keep, or cause to be kept, an accurate record showing the names and occupations 
of all workers employed in connection with the work, and showing the actual per diem wages paid to 
each worker, which records shall be open at all reasonable hours for the inspection by the County.

Within thirty-one (31) days of receipt of information concerning a violation of the Texas Government Code 
Chapter 2258, the County shall make an initial determination as to whether good cause exists to believe 
a violation occurred. The County ’s decision on the initial determination shall be reduced to writing and 
sent to the contractor or subcontractor against whom the violation was alleged, and to the affected 
worker. When a good cause finding is made, the County shall retain the full amounts claimed by the 
claimant or claimants as the difference between wages paid and wages due under the “Prevailing Wage 
Schedule” and any supplements thereto, together with the applicable penalties, such amounts being 
subtracted from successive progress payments pending a final decision on the violation.

After the County makes its initial determination, the affected contractor or subcontractor and worker have 
fourteen (14) calendar days in which to resolve the issue of whether a violation occurred, including the 
amount that should be retained by the County or paid to the affected worker. If the contractor or 
subcontractor and affected worker reach an agreement concerning the worker ’s claim, the contractor 
shall promptly notify the County in a written document signed by the worker. It the contractor or 

Subcontractor and affected worker do not agree before the fifteenth (15 th) calendar day after the County
determination, the contractor or subcontractor and affected worker must participate in binding arbitration 
in accordance with the Texas General Arbitration Act, Chapter 171, (Texas Civil Practice and Remedies 
Code). The parties to the arbitration have ten (10) calendar days after the expiration of the fifteen (15) 

calendar days referred to above, to agree on an arbitrator; if by the eleventh (11 th) calendar day there is 
no agreement to an arbitrator, a district court shall appoint an arbitrator on the petition of any of the 
parties to the arbitration.

If an arbitrator determines that a violation has occurred, the arbitrator shall assess and award against the 
contractor or subcontractor the amount of penalty as provided above and the amount owed the worker. 
The County may use any amounts retained hereunder to pay the worker the amount as designated in the 
arbitration award. If the County has not retained enough from the contractor or subcontractor to pay the 
worker in accordance with the arbitration award, the worker has a right of action against the contractor 
and subcontractor as appropriate, and the surety of either to receive the amount owed, attorneys ’  fees 
and court costs. The contractor shall promptly furnish a copy of the arbitration award to the County.

Money retained pursuant to the provisions above shall be used to pay the claimant or claimants the 
difference between the amount the worker received in wages for labor on the project at the rate paid by 
the contractor or subcontractor and the amount the worker would have received at the general prevailing 
wage rate as provided by the agreement of the claimant and the contractor or subcontractor affected, or 
in the arbitrator ’s award. The full statutory penalty of sixty dollars ($60.00) per calendar day of violation 
per worker shall be retained by Williamson County to offset its administrative costs, pursuant to Texas 
Government Code, Section, 2258.023. Any retained funds in excess of these amounts shall be paid to 
the contractor on the earlier of the next progress payment or final payment. Provided, however, that the 
County shall have no duty to release any funds to either the claimant or the contractor until it has 
received the notices of agreement or the arbitration award as provided under the provision herein-above.

4.43 CONFIDENTALITY

The Respondent expressly agrees that it will not use any direct or incidental confidential information that 
may be obtained while working in a governmental setting for its own benefit, and agrees that it will not 
access unauthorized areas or confidential information and it will not disclose any information to 
unauthorized third parties, and will take care to guard the security of the information at all times.

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 366



5

6

3 4

Williamson County – Request for Proposal (RFP)

SECTION 1 - DEFINITIONS 

Addendum/Addenda – means any written or graphic instruments issued by the County prior to the 
consideration of Proposals which modify or interpret the Proposal Documents by additions, deletions, 
clarifications, or corrections.

Agreement/Ensuing Agreement(s) – means the Successful Respondent may be required by the 
County to sign an additional Agreement containing terms necessary to ensure compliance with the RFP 
and the Respondent ’s Proposal.  Such Ensuing Agreement(s) shall contain the Proposal specifications, 
terms and conditions that are derived from the RFP.

Contract – means this RFP and the Proposal of the Successful Respondent shall become a Contract 
between the Successful Respondent and the County once the Successful Respondent ’s Proposal is 
properly accepted by the Williamson County Commissioners Court (sometimes referred to herein as the 
Commissioner ’s Court”).

Commissioner ’s Court – means the Williamson County Commissioners Court. 

County – means Williamson County, a political subdivision of the State of Texas.

Executive Summary – means the document submitted by Respondent that represents a concise 
summary of the contents of the Proposal. It does not include any information concerning costs. 

Proposal Documents – means the Legal Notice, RFP including attachments, and any Addenda issued 
by the County prior to the consideration of any Proposals.

Proposal – means the complete, properly signed document, and ALL required forms and documentation 
listed in the proposal package which have been submitted in accordance with this RFP package. A 
Proposal submitted in accordance with this RFP is irrevocable during the specified time period for 
evaluation and acceptance of Proposals, unless a waiver is obtained from the Williamson County 
Purchasing Agent.

Respondent – means a person or entity who submits a Proposal in response to this RFP.

Request for Proposals (RFP) – means this document, together with the attachments thereto and any 
future Addenda issued by the County.

Successful Respondent– means the responsible Respondent who, in the County ’s sole opinion, 
submits the Proposal which is in the best interest of the County, taking into account factors identified 
herein, and to whom the County intends to award the Contract.

SECTION 2 - RESPONSE FORMAT AND SUBMISSION

2.1 INTRODUCTION

Each Proposal submitted in response to this RFP should clearly reference the numbered sections of this 
RFP that require a response.  Failure to arrange the Proposal as requested may result in the 
disqualification of the Proposal.

Though there is not a page limit for Proposals, to save natural resources including paper, and to allow the 
County staff to efficiently evaluate all submitted Proposals, the County requests that Proposals be 
orderly, concise, but comprehensive in providing the requested information.  Conciseness and clarity of 
content are emphasized and encouraged.  If mailed or delivered in person, please limit additional, non
requested information.

Please provide your Proposal response using:

A. 8 ½” x 11” pages, inclusive of any cover letter or supporting materials.

B. The least amount of plastic/laminate or other non-recyclable binding materials.

C. Single-sided printing.

Vague and general Proposals will be considered non-responsive, and may, at the County ’s sole 
discretion, result in disqualification. Proposals must be legible and complete.  Failure to provide the 
required information may result in the disqualification of the Proposal. All pages of the Proposal should 
be numbered and the Proposal should contain an organized, paginated table of contents corresponding 
to the sections and pages of the Proposal.

2.2 ORGANIZATION OF PROPOSAL CONTENTS AND TABLE OF CONTENTS 

Each Proposal should be submitted with a table of contents that clearly identifies and denotes the 
location of all enclosures of the Proposal. The table of contents should follow the RFP ’s structure as 
much as is practical.

Each Proposal should be organized in the manner described below:

A. Transmittal Letter. Please see Section 2.3, Transmittal Letter, for more information. 

B. Table of Contents. 

C. Executive Summary. Please see Section 2.4, Executive Summary. 

D. Proposal Response to Criteria. (Please see the sections in this RFP package that list the 
Specifications & Cost Proposal, Experience and Qualifications, References, and Implementation 
Strategy to respond to our criteria in a clear and concise manner) 

E. Price Sheet. 

F. References: Identification of three (3) references within the last four (4) years, for which the 
Respondent is providing, or has provided, the goods and/or services (public sector) of the type 
requested in this RFP. Include the name, position/title, and telephone number of a contact person 
at each entity. 

G.  Conflict of Interest Questionnaire. 

H. Proposal Affidavit (Signature Page).

I. Attach your entities sample Contract, if applicable, for the County ’s review and consideration. This 
should include any additional terms or conditions. The County is not required to use the sample 
Contract submitted. 

2.3 TRANSMITTAL LETTER

The Respondent should submit a Transmittal Letter that provides the following information: 

A. Name and address of individual or business entity submitting the Proposal. 

B. Respondent ’s type of business entity (i.e., Corporation, General Partnership, Limited Partnership, 
LLC, etc.).  See Section 3.5, Signature of Respondent, for more information. 

C. Place of incorporation or organization, if applicable.

D. Name and location of major offices and other facilities that relate to the Respondent
performance under the terms of this RFP.

E. Name, physical address, email address, business and fax number of the Respondent ’s principal 
contact person regarding all contractual matters relating to this RFP.

F. The Respondent ’s Federal Employer Identification Number.

G. A commitment by the Respondent to provide the services required by the County;

H. A statement that the Proposal is valid for the time specified on page three (3), under the section 
named Prices Good for, of this Proposal packet. Any Proposal containing a term of less than the 
required amount, may at the County ’s sole discretion, be rejected as non-responsive.

I. If the Proposal being submitted will have an effect on air quality for the County (as it relates to any 
state, federal, or voluntary air quality standard), then the Respondent is encouraged to provide
information in narrative indicating the anticipated air quality impact. See Section 4.40, Air Quality 
for more information. 

The Transmittal Letter should be signed by a person legally authorized to bind the Respondent to the
representations in the Transmittal Letter and the Proposal.  In the case of a joint Proposal, each party 
must sign the Transmittal Letter.

2.4 EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

The Respondent should provide an Executive Summary of its Proposal that asserts that the Respondent 
is providing in its response all of the requirements of this RFP.  The Executive Summary should not 
include any information concerning the cost of the Proposal, but instead must represent a full and 
concise summary of the contents of the Proposal.  It is recommended the Executive Summary include 
the following information: 

A. Identify any goods and/or services that are provided beyond those specifically requested.  If the 
Respondent is providing services and/or goods that do not meet the specific requirements of this 
RFP, but in the opinion of the Respondent are equivalent or superior to those specifically 
requested, any such differences should be noted in the Executive Summary. However, the 
Respondent must realize that failure to provide the goods and/or services specifically required, at 
the County ’s sole discretion, may result in disqualification of the Proposal.

B. Indicate why the Respondent believes that it is the most qualified Respondent to provide the 
services described in this RFP.  The Successful Respondent must demonstrate extensive 
experience and understanding of the intent of this project.  The Respondent should describe in 
detail the current and historical experience the Respondent and its subcontractors have that 
would be relevant to completing the project.  References must contain the name of key personnel 
and telephone numbers for each contact, as described in Section 3.14, References.  

C. Briefly state why the Respondent believes its proposed goods and/or services best meet the 
County ’s needs and RFP requirements, and the Respondent also should concisely describe any 
additional features, aspects, or advantages of its goods and/or services in any relevant area not 
covered elsewhere in its Proposal.

2.5 CONFLICT OF INTEREST

No public official shall have interest in a contract, in accordance with Vernon ’s Texas Codes Annotated, 
Local Government Code, Title 5, Subtitle C, Chapter 171, as amended. 

As of January 1, 2006, all Respondents are responsible for complying with Local Government Code, Title 
5, Subtitle C, Chapter 176.  Additional information may be obtained from the County’s website at the 
following link: 

http://www.wilco.org/CountyDepartments/Purchasing/ConflictofInterestDisclosure/tabid/689/language/en
US/Default.aspx

Each Respondent must disclose any existing or potential conflict of interest relative to the performance of 
the requirements of this RFP.  Examples of potential conflicts of interest may include an existing 
business or personal relationship between the Respondent, its principal, or any affiliate or 
subcontractor with the County or any other entity or person involved in any way with the project 
that is subject to this RFP.  Similarly, any personal or business relationship between the Respondent, 
the principals, or any affiliate or subcontractor with any employee, or official of the County or its suppliers 
must be disclosed.  Any such relationship that might be perceived or represented as a conflict must be 
disclosed. Failure to disclose any such relationship or reveal personal relationships with the County 
employees or officials may be cause for termination. 

The County will decide if an actual or perceived conflict should result in Proposal disqualification. 

By submitting a Proposal in response to this RFP, all Respondents affirm they have not given, nor intend 
to give, at any time hereafter, any economic opportunity, future employment, gift, loan, gratuity, special 
discount, trip, favor, or service to a the County public servant or any employee, official or representative 
of same, in connection with this procurement. 

Each Respondent must provide a Conflict of Interest Statement with their Proposal Package.  

Package may be deemed incomplete without this form.  

2.6 CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PARTIES – FORM 1295

As of January 1, 2016, all Respondents are responsible for complying with the Texas Government Code, 
Section 2252.908.  The law states that the County may not enter into certain contracts with a 
Respondent unless the Respondent submits a disclosure of interested parties to the County at the time 
the Respondent submits the signed contract.  The law applies only to a contract of the County on or after 
January 1, 2016 that either:

A. Requires an action or vote by the Commissioners Court before the contract may be signed (all 
contracts that fall under the jurisdiction of the Commissioners Court approval, such as contracts 
resulting from an Initiation for Bid (IFB), RFP, Request for Qualifications (RFQ), etc., excluding, 
but not limited to, certain Juvenile Service contracts, contracts funded with Sheriff ’s seized fun 
monies, etc.); or

B. Has a value of at least $1,000,000. 

By January 1, 2016, the Texas Ethics Commission will make available on its website, a new filing 
application that must be used to file Form 1295.  Information regarding how to use the filing application is 
available on the Texas Ethics Commission website at the following link:

https://www.ethics.state.tx.us/whatsnew/elf_info_form1295.htm

A Respondent must:

A. Use the online application to process the required information on Form 1295.

B. Print a copy of the form which will contain a unique certification number.

C. An authorized agent of the Respondent must sign the printed copy of the form.

D. Have the form notarized.

E. File the completed Form 1295 and certification of filing (scanning and emailing form is sufficient) 
with Williamson County Purchasing Agent at the time the signed Contract is submitted for 
approval.

After the Commissioners Court award of the contract, the County shall notify the Texas Ethics 
Commission, using the Texas Ethics Commission ’s filing application, of the receipt of the filed Form 
1295 and certification of filing not later than the 30th day after the date the contract binds all parties to the 
contract. The Texas Ethics Commission will post the completed Form 1295 to its website within seven 
business days after receiving notice from the County.

2.7 PROPOSAL SUBMITTAL DEADLINE

The Proposal is due no later than the submittal date and time set forth in the Public Announcement and 
General Information listed in this RFP package.  Contents of each Proposal shall be submitted in 
accordance with this RFP.

2.8 ETHICS

The Respondent shall not accept or offer gifts or anything of value, nor enter into any business 
arrangement with any employee, official or agent of the County.

2.9 DELIVERY OF PROPOSALS

The County uses BidSync to distribute and receive bids and Proposals.  It is preferred that Proposals
be submitted electronically through BidSync; however, Respondents can submit a hard copy.  

Refer to www.bidsync.com for further information on how to submit electronically.

If mailed or delivered in person, Proposal and Proposal Addenda are to be delivered in sealed envelope
on or before the submittal deadline, as noted in the Public Announcement and General Information listed 
in this RFP package, to:

            Williamson County Purchasing Department
            Attn: Proposal Name and Number
            901 South Austin Avenue
            Georgetown, Texas 78626

Also, all Respondents should list their Name and Address, and the Date of the Proposal opening on the
outside of the box or envelope and note “Sealed Proposal Enclosed.” Williamson County will not accept 
any Proposals after the submittal deadline, and shall return such Proposals unopened to the 
Respondent.  The County will not accept any responsibility for Proposals being delivered by third party 
carriers. 

Proposals will be opened publicly; however, in a manner to avoid public disclosure of contents, only 
names of Respondents will be read aloud: no pricing will be announced at the opening. 

SECTION 3 - INSTRUCTIONS AND GENERAL REQUIREMENTS

3.1 INSTRUCTIONS

Read this document carefully, and follow all instructions and requirements.  All Respondents are 
responsible for fulfilling all requirements and specifications.  Be sure to have a clear understanding of this
RFP.

General requirements apply to all advertised RFPs; however, these may be superseded, in whole or in 
part, by the proposal specifications, Addenda and modifications issued as a part of this RFP.  Be sure 
your Proposal package is complete.

3.2 AMBIGUITY, CONFLICT, OR OTHER ERRORS IN THIS RFP

If a Respondent discovers any ambiguity, conflict, discrepancy, omission or other error in this RFP, the 
Respondent shall immediately notify the County Purchasing Department of such error in writing and
request modification or clarification of the document.

Modifications will be made by issuing Addenda. If the Respondent fails to notify the County prior to the
date and time fixed for submission of Proposals of an error or ambiguity in the RFP known to the
Respondent, or an error or ambiguity that reasonably should have been known to the Respondent, then 
the Respondent shall be deemed to have waived the error or ambiguity or its later resolution.

The County may also modify the RFP, no later than forty-eight (48) hours prior to the date and time fixed
for submission of Proposals, by issuance of an Addendum.  All Addenda will be numbered consecutively, 
beginning with one (1).

3.3 NOTIFICATION OF MOST CURRENT ADDRESS

All Respondents in receipt of this RFP shall notify the Williamson County Purchasing Department of any
address changes, contact person changes, and/or telephone number changes no later than forty-eight 
(48) hours prior to the date and time fixed for submission of Proposals.

3.4 SIGNATURE OF RESPONDENT

A Transmittal Letter, which shall be considered an integral part of the Proposal as stated in Section 2.3, 
Transmittal Letter, shall be signed by an individual who is authorized to bind the Respondent
contractually.

A. If the Respondent is a Corporation or Limited Liability Company, the legal name of the Corporation
or Limited Liability Company shall be provided together with the signature of the officer or officers 
authorized to sign on behalf of such entity.

B. If the Respondent is a General Partnership, the true name of the firm shall be provided with the
signature of each partner authorized to sign.

C. If the Respondent is a Limited Partnership, the name of the Limited Partner ’s General Partner
shall be provided with the signature of the officer authorized to sign on behalf of the General
Partner.

D. If the Respondent is a Sole Proprietor(s) (individual), each Sole Proprietor(s) shall sign.

E. If signature is by an agent, other than the Sole Proprietor(s) or an officer of a Corporation, Limited 
Liability Company, General Partner or a member of a General Partnership, a power of attorney
equivalent document must be submitted to the Williamson County Purchasing Department.

3.5 ASSUMED BUSINESS NAME

If the Respondent operates business under an Assumed Business Name, the Respondent must have
file with the Williamson County Clerk a current Assumed Name Certificate and provide a file marked copy 
of same prior to contract award.

3.6 ECONOMY OF PRESENTATION

Proposals should not contain promotional or display materials, except as they may directly answer in 
whole or in part questions contained in the RFP.  Such exhibits shall be clearly marked with the 
applicable reference number of the question in the RFP.  Proposals must address the technical 
requirements as specified in the RFP.  All questions posed by the RFP must be answered concisely and 
clearly. Proposals that do not address each criterion may be, at the sole discretion of the County, 
rejected and not considered.

3.7 PROPOSAL OBLIGATION 

The contents of the RFP, Proposal, and any clarification thereof submitted by the Successful
Respondent shall become part of the contractual obligation and incorporated by reference into the 
Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s).

3.8 COMPLIANCE WITH RFP SPECIFICATIONS

It is intended that this RFP describe the requirements and the Proposal format in sufficient detail to 
secure comparable Proposal.  Failure to comply with all provisions of the RFP may, at the sole discretion 
of the County, result in disqualification.

3.9 EVALUATION 

The County reserves the right to use all pertinent information (also learned from sources other than 
disclosed in the RFP process) that might affect the County ’s judgment as to the appropriateness of
award to the best evaluated Respondent. This information may be appended to the Proposal evaluation
process results. Information on a Respondent from reliable sources, and not within the Respondent
Proposal, may also be noted and made part of the evaluation fi le.  The County shall have sole 
discretion for determining the reliability of the source.  The County reserves the right to conduct written 
and/or oral discussions/interviews after the Proposal opening.  The purpose of such 
discussions/interviews is to provide clarification and/or additional information to make an award that is in 
the best interest of the County.

3.10 WITHDRAWAL OF PROPOSAL

The Respondent may withdraw its Proposal by submitting a written request with the company letterhead 
and the signature of an authorized individual, as described in Section 3.4, Signature of Respondent, to 
the Williamson County Purchasing Department any time prior to the submission deadline.  

The Respondent may submit a new Proposal prior to the deadline. Alterations of the Proposal in any 
manner will not be considered if submitted after the deadline.  Withdrawal of a Proposal after the deadline 
will be subject to written approval of the Williamson County Purchasing Agent.

3.11 RESPONSIBILITY 

It is expected that a Respondent will be able to affirmatively demonstrate responsibility.  A prospective
Respondent should be able to meet the following requirements:

A. Have adequate financial resources, or the ability to obtain such resources as required;
B. Be able to comply with the required or proposed delivery schedule;
C. Have a satisfactory record of performance that can be determined thru references provided; and 
D. Be otherwise qualified and eligible to receive an award.

The County may request representation and other information sufficient to determine the Respondent
ability to meet these minimum standards listed above.

3.12 PURCHASE ORDERS

If required by the Williamson County Purchasing Department, a purchase order(s) may be generated to 
the Successful Respondent for goods and/or services.  If a purchase order is issued, the purchase order 
number must appear on all itemized invoices and/or requests for payment.

3.13 SILENCE OF SPECIFICATIONS

The apparent silence of any RFP specifications as to any detail or to the apparent omission from it of a 
detailed description concerning any point, shall be regarded as meaning that only the best practices are 
to prevail.  All interpretations of these specifications shall be made on the basis of this statement.

3.14 REFERENCES

Respondents shall furnish a list of contracts where similar responsibilities and goods and/or services 
have been required and/or performed for the past five (5) years, to include names, titles, phone numbers 
and email addresses of reference contacts, contract numbers and dates of performance. 

Also, Respondents shall include a list of any contracts that have been cancelled or terminated within the 
last five (5) years, along with an explanation of the cancellation and the names, email address and phone 
number of a reference person with that institution. 

The County may contact some or all of the references in order to determine the Respondent
performance record on work similar to that described in this RFP.  The County reserves the right to 
contact references other than those provided in the response and to use the information gained from 
them in the evaluation process. 

References should be provided in accordance with this RFP.  Proposal may not be deemed complete 
without the inclusion of requested references.

SECTION 4 - TERMS AND CONDITIONS

4.1 VENUE AND GOVERNING LAW

The Respondent hereby agrees and acknowledges that venue and jurisdiction of any suit, right, or cause 
of action arising out of or in connection with this RFP, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s), shall 
lie exclusively in either Williamson County, Texas or in the Austin Division of the Western Federal District 
of Texas, and the parties hereto expressly consent and submit to such jurisdiction.  Furthermore, except 
to the extent that this RFP, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) is governed by the laws of the 
United States, this RFP, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be governed by and 
construed in accordance with the laws of the State of Texas, excluding, however, its choice of law rules.

4.2 INCORPORATION BY REFERENCE AND PRECEDENCE

A. The Contract shall be derived from the RFP and its Addenda (if applicable), and the Respondent
Proposal.  In the event of a dispute under the Contract, applicable documents will be referred to 
for the purpose of clarification or for additional detail in the following order of precedence:

1. The RFP and its Addenda (if applicable); and 

2. The Respondent ’s Proposal.

B. In the event the County requires that an Ensuing Agreement be executed following award and a 
dispute arises between the terms and conditions of the Ensuing Agreement, the RFP and its 
Addenda (if applicable), and the Respondent ’s Proposal, applicable documents will be referred to 
for the purpose of clarification or for additional detail in the following order of precedence: 

1. The terms and conditions of the Ensuing Agreement;

2. The RFP and its Addenda; and  

3. The Respondent ’s Proposal.

4.3 OWNERSHIP OF PROPOSAL

Each Proposal shall become the property of the County upon submittal and will not be returned to 
Respondents unless received after the submittal deadline.

4.4 DISQUALIFICATION OF RESPONDENT

Upon signing and submittal of the Proposal, a Respondent offering to sell supplies, materials, services, 
or equipment to the County, certifies that the Respondent has not violated the antitrust laws of the State 
of Texas codified in Business & Commerce Code, Section 15.01, or the Federal Antitrust Laws, and has 
not communicated directly or indirectly the offer made to any competitor or any other person engaged
such line of business.  Any or all Proposals may be rejected if the County believes that collusion exists 
among the Respondents.

4.5 FUNDING

The County intends to budget and make sufficient funds available and authorize funds for expenditure to 
finance the costs of the Contract.  All Respondents understand and agree that the County’s payment of 
amounts under the Contract shall be contingent on the County receiving appropriations or other 
expenditure authority sufficient to allow the County, in the exercise of reasonable administrative 
discretion, to make payments under this Contract.

4.6 ASSIGNMENT, SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS 

The Successful Respondent may not assign, sell, or otherwise transfer the Contract or any other rights 
or interests obtained under the Contract without written permission of the Williamson County the 
Commissioners Court.  The Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be binding upon and inure to 
the benefit of the contracting parties hereto and their respective successors and permitted assigns.

4.7 IMPLIED REQUIREMENTS

Products or services not specifically described or required in the RFP, but are necessary to provide the 
functional capabilities described by the Respondent, shall be implied and deemed to be included in the
Proposal.

4.8 TERMINATION

A. Termination for Cause: The County reserves the right to terminate the Contract and/or any 
Ensuing Agreement(s) for default if the Successful Respondent breaches any of the Proposal
specifications, terms and conditions, including warranties of the Respondent, if any, or if the 
Successful Respondent becomes insolvent or commits acts of bankruptcy.  Such right of 
termination is in addition to and not in lieu of any other remedies the County may have at law or
equity or as may otherwise be provided hereunder.  Default may be construed as, but not limited 
to, failure to deliver the proper goods and/or services within the proper amount of time, and/or to 
properly perform any and all other requirements to the County ’s satisfaction, and/or to meet all 
other obligations and requirements.

B. Termination for Convenience: The County may terminate the Contract and/or any Ensuing 
Agreement(s) for convenience and without cause or further liability, upon no less than thirty (30) 
calendar days written notice to the Successful Respondent. The County reserves the right to 
extend this period if it is in the best interest of the County.  In the event the County exercises its 
right to terminate without cause, it is understood and agreed that only the amounts due to the 
Successful Respondent for goods, commodities and/or services provided and expenses incurred 
to and including the date of termination, will be due and payable.  No penalty will be assessed for 
the County ’s termination for convenience.

4.9 NON-PERFORMANCE

It is the objective of the County to obtain complete and satisfactory performance of the requirements set 
forth herein.  In addition to any other remedies available at law, in equity or that may be set out herein, 
failure to perform may result in a deduction of payment equal to the amount of the goods and/or services 
that were not provided and/or performed to the County ’s satisfaction.  

In the event of such non-performance, the County shall have the right, but shall not be obligated, to 
complete the services itself or by others and/or purchase the goods from other sources.  If the County 
elects to acquire the goods or perform the services itself or by others, pursuant to the foregoing, the 
Successful Respondent shall reimburse the County, within ten (10) calendar days of demand, for all 
costs incurred by the County (including, without limitation, applicable, general, and administrative 
expenses, and field overhead, and the cost of necessary equipment, materials, and field labor) in 
correcting the nonperformance which the Successful Respondent fails to meet pursuant to the 
requirements set out herein.  In the event the Successful Respondent refuses to reimburse the County 
as set out in this provision, the County shall have the right to deduct such reimbursement amounts from 
any amounts that may be then owing or that may become owing in the future to the Successful
Respondent.

4.10 PROPRIETARY INFORMATION AND THE TEXAS PUBLIC INFORMATION ACT

All material submitted to the County shall become public property and subject to the Texas Public 
Information Act upon receipt. If a Respondent does not desire proprietary information in the Proposal to 
be disclosed, each page must be clearly identified and marked proprietary at time of submittal or, more 
preferably, all proprietary information may be placed in a folder or appendix and be clearly identified and 
marked as being proprietary.  Failure to clearly identify and mark information as being proprietary as set 
forth under this provision will result in all unmarked information being deemed non-proprietary and 
available to the public.  For all information that has not been clearly identified and marked as proprietary 
by the Respondent, the County may choose to place such information on the County ’s website and/or a 
similar public database without obtaining any type of prior consent from the Respondent.

The County will, to the extent allowed by law, endeavor to protect from public disclosure the information 
that has been identified and marked as proprietary.  The final decision as to what information must be 
disclosed, however, lies with the Texas Attorney General.  

To the extent, if any, that any provision in this RFP or in the Respondent ’s Proposal is in conflict with 
Texas Government Code, Chapter 552, as amended (the “Public Information Act”), the same shall be of 
no force or effect.  Furthermore, it is expressly understood, and agreed, that the County, and its officers 
and employees, may request advice, decisions and opinions of the Attorney General of the State of
Texas in regard to the application of the Public Information Act to any items or data furnished to the 
County as to whether or not the same are available to the public.  It is further understood that that the 
County, and its officers and employees, shall have the right to rely on the advice, decisions and opinions 
of the Attorney General, and that the County, its officers and employees shall have no liability or obligation 
to any party hereto for the disclosure to the public, or to any person or persons, of any items or data 
furnished to the County by a party hereto, in reliance of any advice, decision or opinion of the Attorney 
General of the State of Texas.

4.11 RIGHT TO AUDIT

The Successful Respondent agrees that the County or its duly authorized representatives shall, until the 
expiration of three (3) years after termination or expiration of the services to be performed, have access 
to and the right to examine and photocopy any and all books, documents, papers and records of the 
Successful Respondent, which are directly pertinent to the services to be performed or goods to
delivered for the purposes of making audits, examinations, excerpts and transcriptions.  The Successful 
Respondent agrees that the County shall have access during normal working hours to all necessary 
facilities and shall be provided adequate and appropriate work space in order to conduct audits in 
compliance with the provisions of this section.  The County shall give the Successful Respondent 
reasonable advance notice of intended audits.

4.12 TESTING AND INSPECTIONS

The County reserves the right to inspect and test equipment, supplies, materials and goods for quality 
and compliance with this RFP, and ability to meet the needs of the user.  Demonstration units must be 
available for review.  Should the goods or services fail to meet requirements and/or be unavailable for 
evaluation, the County can deem the Respondent to be in breach and terminate the Contract and/or any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

4.13 PROPOSAL PREPARATION COSTS

The cost of developing Proposals is the sole responsibility of the Respondents and shall not be charged 
to the County.  There is no expressed or implied obligation for the County to reimburse the Respondents 
for any expense incurred in preparing a Proposal in response to this RFP and the County will not 
reimburse the Respondents for such expenses.

4.14 INDEMNIFICATION

The Successful Respondent shall indemnify, defend and save harmless, the County, its officials, 
employees, agents and agent ’s employees from, and against, all claims, liability, and expenses including 
reasonable attorneys ’ fees, arising from activities of the Respondent, its agents, servants or employees, 
performed hereunder that result from the negligent act, error, or omission of the Respondent or any of 
the Respondent ’s agents, servants or employees, as well as all claims of loss or damage to the 
Respondent ’s and the County ’s property, equipment, and/or supplies. 

Furthermore, the County, its officials, employees, agents and agents ’ employees shall not be liable for 
damages to the Successful Respondent arising from any act of any third party, including, but not limited 
to, theft.  The Successful Respondent further agrees to indemnify, defend and save harmless, the 
County from its officials, employee, agents and agents ’ employees against all claims of whatever nature 
arising from any accident, injury, or damage whatsoever, caused to any person, or the property of any 
person, occurring in relation to the Successful Respondent ’s performance of any services requested 
hereunder during the term of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s). 

The Successful Respondent shall timely report all claims, demands, suits, actions, proceedings, liens or 
judgements to the County and shall, upon the receipt of any claim, demand, suit, action, proceeding, lien 

or judgement, not later than the fifteenth (15 th) day of each month; provide the County with a written 
report on each such matter, setting forth the status of each matter, the schedule or planned proceedings 
with respect to each matter and the cooperation or assistance, if any, of the County required by the 
Successful Respondent in the defense of each matter.  The Successful Respondent’s duty to defend, 
indemnify and hold the County harmless shall be absolute.  It shall not abate or end by reason of the 
expiration or termination of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s), unless otherwise agreed by 
the County in writing.  The provisions of this section shall survive the termination of the Contract and shall 
remain in full force and effect with respect to all such matters no matter when they arise. 

In the event of any dispute between the parties, as to whether a claim, demand, suit, action, proceeding, 
lien or judgement, that appears to have been caused by or appears to have arisen out of or in connection 
with acts or omissions of the County, the Respondent shall nevertheless fully defend such claim, 
demand, suit or action, proceeding, lien or judgement, until and unless there is  a determination by a 
court of competent jurisdiction that the acts and omissions of the Respondent are not an issue in the 
matter. 

The Successful Respondent ’s indemnification shall cover, and the Successful Respondent agrees to, 
indemnify the County, in the event the County is found to have been negligent for having selected the 
Successful Respondent to perform the work described in this request.  The provision by the Successful 
Respondent of insurance shall not limit the liability of the Successful Respondent under the Contract 
and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s). 

4.15 WAIVER OF SUBROGATION

The Successful Respondent and the Successful Respondent ’s insurance carrier waive any and all rights 
whatsoever with regard to subrogation against the County as an indirect party to any suit arising out of 
personal or property damages resulting from the Respondent ’s performance under this Contract and any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

4.16 RELATIONSHIP OF THE PARTIES

The Successful Respondent shall be an independent contractor and shall assume all of the rights, 
obligations, liabilities, applicable to it as such independent contractor hereunder and any provisions 
herein which may appear to give the County the right to direct the Successful Respondent as to details of 
doing work herein covered, or to exercise a measure of control over the work, shall be deemed to mean 
that the Successful Respondent shall follow the desires of the County in the results of the work only.  The 
County shall not retain or have the right to control the Successful Respondent ’s means, methods or 
details pertaining to the Successful Respondent ’s performance of the work.  The County and the 
Successful Respondent hereby agree and declare that the Successful Respondent is an independent 
contractor and as such meets the qualifications of an “Independent Contractor” under Texas Workers 
Compensation Act, Texas Labor Code, Section 406.141, that the Successful Respondent is not an 
employee of  the County, and that the Successful Respondent and its employees, agents and 
subcontractors shall not be entitled to workers compensation coverage or any other type of insurance 
coverage held by the County.

4.17 SOLE PROVIDER

The Successful Respondent agrees and acknowledges that it shall not be considered a sole provider of 
the goods and/or services described herein and that the County may contract with other providers of 
such goods and/or services if the County deems, at its sole discretion, that multiple providers of the 
same goods and/or services will serve the best interest of the County.

4.18 FORCE MAJEURE

If the party obligated to perform is prevented from performance by an act of war, order of legal authority, 
act of God, or other unavoidable cause not attributable to the fault or negligence of said party, the other 
party shall grant such party relief from the performance.  The burden of proof for the need of such relief 
shall rest upon the party obligated to perform.  To obtain release based on force majeure, the party 
obligated to perform shall file a written request with the other party.

4.19 SEVERABILITY

If any provision of this RFP, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be held invalid or 
unenforceable by any court of competent jurisdiction, such holding shall not invalidate or render 
unenforceable any other provision thereof, but rather the entire RFP, Contract or any Ensuing Agreement
(s) will be construed as if not containing the particular invalid or unenforceable provision or provisions, 
and the rights and obligation of the parties shall be construed and enforced in accordance therewith.  The 
parties acknowledge that if any provision of this RFP, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) is 
determined to be invalid or unenforceable, it is the desire and intention of each that such provision be 
reformed and construed in such a manner that it will, to the maximum extent practicable, give effect to
the intent of this RFP, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) and be deemed to be validated and
enforceable.

4.20 EQUAL OPPORTUNITY

Neither party shall discriminate against any employee or applicant for employment because of race, 
color, sex, religion or national origin.

4.21 NOTICE

Any notice to be given shall be in writing and may be distributed by personal delivery, or by registered or 
certified mail, return receipt requested, addressed to the proper party, at the following address:

The County:    Williamson County Purchasing Department 
            Attn: Purchasing Agent 
            901 South Austin Avenue 
            Georgetown, Texas 78626

The Respondent: Address set out in Respondent ’s Transmittal Letter

Notices given in accordance with this provision shall be effective upon (1) receipt by the party to which 
notice is given, or (2) on the third (3rd) calendar day following mailing, whichever occurs first.

4.22 SALES AND USE TAX EXEMPTION

The County is a body, corporate and politic, under the laws of the State of Texas and claims exemption 
from sales and use taxes under Texas Tax Code, Section 151.309, as amended, and the services and/or 
goods subject hereof are being secured for use by the County.

4.23 COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS

The County and the Successful Respondent shall comply with all federal, state, and local laws, statutes,
ordinances, rules and regulations, and the orders and decrees of any courts or administrative bodies or 
tribunals in any matter affecting the performance of the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s),
including, without limitation, Workers ’ Compensation laws, salary and wage statutes and regulations, 
licensing laws and regulations.  When required, the Successful Respondent shall furnish the County with 
certification of compliance with said laws, statues, ordinances, rules, regulations, orders, and decrees 
above specified.

4.24 INCORPORATION OF EXHIBITS, APPENDICES AND ATTACHMENTS

All of the Exhibits, Appendices and Attachments referred to herein are incorporated by reference as if set 
forth verbatim herein.  Any conflicting terms in the Contract documents will be resolved at the sole 
discretion of the Commissioners Court.

4.25 NO WAIVER OF IMMUNITIES

Nothing herein shall be deemed to waive, modify or amend any legal defense available at law or in equity 
to the County, its past or present officers, employees, or agents, nor to create any legal rights or claim on 
behalf of any third party.  The County does not waive, modify, or alter to any extent whatsoever the 
availability of the defense of governmental immunity under the laws of the State of Texas and of the 
United States.

4.26 NO WAIVER

The failure or delay of any party to enforce at any time or any period of time any of the provisions of this 
RFP, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall not constitute a present or future waiver of such 
provisions nor the right of either party to enforce each and every provision.  Furthermore, no term or 
provision hereof shall be deemed waived and no breach excused unless such waiver or consent shall be 
in writing and signed by the party claimed to have waived or consented.  Any consent by any party to, or 
waiver of, a breach by the other, whether expressed or implied, shall not constitute a consent to, waiver 
of or excuse for any other, different or subsequent breach.

4.27 CURRENT REVENUES

The obligations of the parties under the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) do not constitute a 
general obligation or indebtedness of the County for which the County is obligated to levy, pledge, or 
collect any of taxation.  It is understood and agreed that the County shall have the right to terminate the 
Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) at the end of any the County fiscal year if the governing body of 
the County does not appropriate sufficient funds as determined by the County ’s budget for the fiscal year 
in question.  The County may effect such termination by giving written notice of termination to the 
Successful Respondent at the end of its then-current fiscal year.

4.28 BINDING EFFECT

This Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties 
and their respective permitted assigns and successors.

4.29 ASSIGNMENT

The Successful Respondent ’s interest and duties hereunder may not be assigned or delegated to a third 
party without the express written consent of the County.

4.30 SAFETY

The Successful Respondent is responsible for initiating, maintaining, and supervising all safety 
precautions and programs in connection with any services to be provided hereunder. The safety program 
shall comply with all applicable requirements of the current federal Occupational Safety and Health Act 
and all other applicable federal, state and local laws and regulations.

4.31 GENERAL OBLIGATIONS AND RELIANCE

The Successful Respondent shall perform all services and/or provide all goods, as well as those
reasonably inferable and necessary for completion and provision of services and/or goods required
hereunder. The Successful Respondent shall keep the County informed of the progress and quality
the services.  The Successful Respondent agrees and acknowledges that the County is relying on the 
Successful Respondent's represented expertise and ability to provide the goods and/or services 
described herein.  The Successful Respondent agrees to use its best efforts, skill, judgment, and abilities
to perform its obligations in accordance with the highest standards used in the profession and to further 
the interests of the County in accordance with the County ’s requirements and procedures.  The 
Successful Respondent ’s duties, as set forth herein, shall at no time be in any way diminished by reason
of any approval by the County, nor shall the Successful Respondent be released from any liability
reason of such approval by the County, it being understood that the County at all times is ultimately 
relying upon the Successful Respondent ’s skill and knowledge in performing the services and providing 
any goods required hereunder.

4.32 CONTRACTUAL DEVELOPMENT

The Commissioners Court may award the Contract on the basis of the initial Proposals received, without
any further or additional discussions.  Therefore, each initial Proposal should contain the Respondent
best terms and offer.  The contents of the RFP and the selected Proposal will become an integral part of 
the Contract, but may be modified, at Williamson County ’s sole discretion, by provisions of an Ensuing 
Agreement.  Therefore, the Respondent must agree to inclusion in an Ensuing Agreement of the 
Proposal specifications, terms and conditions of this RFP.  Williamson County may, at its discretion, opt 
to conduct further discussions with responsible offerors and request the highest ranked firm ’s Best and 
Final Offer (BAFO).

4.33 ENTIRE AGREEMENT

The Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall supersede all prior Agreements, written or oral 
between the Successful Respondent and the County and shall constitute the entire Agreement and 
understanding between the parties with respect to the services and/or goods to be provided.  Each of the 
provisions herein shall be binding upon the parties and may not be waived, modified, amended or altered, 
except by writing signed by the Successful Respondent and the County.

4.34 SURVIVABILITY 

All applicable agreements that were entered into between the Successful Respondent and the County, 
under the terms and conditions of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s), shall survive the 
expiration or termination thereof for ninety (90) days unless a new contract has been awarded.

The County may exercise, by written notice to the Successful Respondent no later than ten (10) calendar 
days of the Contract expiration, this clause for emergency cases only. 

4.35 PAYMENT

The County ’s payment for goods and services shall be governed by the Texas Government Code, 

Chapter 2251.  An invoice shall be deemed overdue the thirty-first (31st) day after the later of the 
following: 

A. The date the County receives the goods under the Contract; 
B. The date the performance of the service under the Contract is completed; or 
C. The date the Williamson County Auditor receives an invoice for the goods or services.  

Interest charges for any overdue payments shall be paid by the County in accordance with Texas 
Government Code, Section 2251.025.  More specifically, the rate of interest that shall accrue on a late 
payment is the rate in effect on September 1 of the County ’s fiscal year in which the payment becomes 
due.  The said rate in effect on September 1 shall be equal to the sum of one (1) percent and the prime 

rate published in the Wall Street Journal on the first (1st) day of July of the preceding fiscal year that does 
not fall on a Saturday or Sunday.

In the event that an error appears in an invoice submitted by the Successful Respondent, the County 
shall notify the Successful Respondent of the error not later than the twenty-first (21st) day after the date 
the County receives the invoice.  If the error is resolved in favor of the Successful Respondent, the 
Successful Respondent shall be entitled to receive interest on the unpaid balance of the invoice 
submitted by the Successful Respondent beginning on the date that the payment for the invoice became 
overdue.  If the error is resolved in favor of the County, the Successful Respondent shall submit a 
corrected invoice that must be paid in accordance within the time set forth above.  The unpaid balance 
accrues interest as provided by the Texas Government Code, Chapter 2251, if the corrected invoice is 
not paid by the appropriate date.

As a minimum, invoices shall include:

A. Name, address, and telephone number of the Successful Respondent and similar information in 
the event the payment is to be made to a different address. 

B. The County Contract, Purchase Order. 

C. Identification of items or service as outlined in the Contract.

D. Quantity or quantities, applicable unit prices, total prices and total amount.

E. Any additional payment information which may be called for by the Contract.

Payment inquiries should be directed to the following address:        

            Williamson County Auditor’s Office, Accounts Payable Department
            Email: accountspayable@wilco.org
            Phone: 512-943-1500

4.36 CONTRACTUAL FORMATION AND ENSUING AGREEMENT

The RFP and the Respondent ’s Proposal, when properly accepted by the Commissioners Court, shall 
constitute a Contract equally binding between the Successful Respondent and the County.  The 
Successful Respondent may be required by Williamson County to sign an additional Agreement 
containing terms necessary to ensure compliance with the RFP and Respondent ’s Proposal.

4.37 LEGAL LIABILITY INFORMATION

The Successful Respondent shall disclose all legal liability information by listing any pending litigation
anticipated litigation that your firm is involved in including, but not limited to, potential or actual legal
matters with private parties and any local, state, federal or international governmental entities. The
County reserves the right to consider legal liability information in the recommendation of any proposed 
contract to the Commissioners Court.

4.38 CONFIDENTIALITY

Respondent expressly agrees that it will not use any direct or incidental confidential information that may
be obtained while working in a governmental setting for its own benefit, and agrees that it will not access
unauthorized areas or confidential information and it will not disclose any information to unauthorized
third parties, and will take care to guard the security of the information at all times.

4.39 INCLEMENT WEATHER

In case of inclement weather or any other unforeseen event causing the County to close for business on 
the date of a Proposal submission deadline, the Proposal closing will automatically be postponed until the 
next business day the County is open.  If inclement weather conditions or any other unforeseen event 
causes delays in carrier service operations, the County may issue an Addendum to all known 
Respondents interested in the project to extend the deadline.  It will be the responsibility of the 
Respondent to notify the County of their interest in the project if these conditions are impacting their 
ability to turn in a submission within the stated deadline.  The County reserves the right to make the final 
judgement call to extend any deadline. 

4.40 AIR QUALITY

In determining the overall best Proposal, the County may, to the extent applicable, exercise the option 
granted to local governments under the Texas Local Government Code, Section 271.907.

This option allows the County to evaluate Proposals and give preference to goods and/or services of
Respondent that demonstrates that the Respondent meets or exceeds any and all state or federal 
environmental standards, including voluntary standards, relating to air quality.  If the Proposal being 
submitted will have an effect on air quality for the County (as it relates to any state, federal, or voluntary 
air quality standard), then the Respondent is encouraged to provide information in narrative indicating the 
anticipated air quality impact.  All Respondents are expected to meet all mandated state and federal air 
quality standards.

4.41 COOPERATIVE PURCHASING PROGRAM 

During the term of the Contract resulting from this RFP, the County would like to afford the same prices, 
terms and conditions to other political subdivisions or public entities.  Another entity’s participation in the 
Contract resulting from this RFP is subject to a properly authorized Purchasing Cooperative Inter- local 
Agreement (ILA) with the County.  Any liability created by purchase orders issued against the Contract 
shall be the sole responsibility of the governmental agency placing the order.

4.42 PREVAILING WAGE RATES

To the extent this procurement is for the construction of a public work, including a building, highway, 
road, excavation, and repair work or other project development or improvement, paid for in whole or in 
part from public funds, without regard to whether the work is done under public supervision or direction, 
Texas Government Code, Chapter 2258, shall apply and the contractor shall pay not less than the wage 
scale of the various classes of labor as shown on the “Prevailing Wage Schedule” provided by the 
County. Pursuant to Texas Government Code, Section 2258.022(a)(2), the County has determined the 
general prevailing rate of the “Prevailing Wage Schedule”  in the locality in which the public work is to be 
performed for each craft or type of worker needed to execute the contract and the prevailing rate for legal 
holiday and overtime work by using the prevailing wage rate as determined by the United States 
Department of Labor in accordance with the United States Code, Section 276a (Davis-Bacon Act). 

The specified wage rates are minimum rates only, and are not representations that qualified labor 
adequate to perform the work is available locally at the prevailing wage rates. The County is not bound to 
pay—and will not consider—any claims for additional compensation made by any contractor because the 
contractor pays wages in excess of the applicable minimum rate contained in the Contract Documents. 
The “Prevailing Wage Schedule”  is not a representation that quantities of qualified labor adequate to 
perform the work may be found locally at the specified wage rates.

For classifications not shown, workers shall not be paid less than the wage indicated for laborers. The 
contractor shall notify each worker commencing work on the project the worker ’s job classification and 
the established minimum wage rate required to be paid, as well as the actual amount being paid. The 
notice must be delivered to and signed in acknowledgement of receipt by the employee and must list 
both the monetary wages and fringe benefits to be paid or furnished for each classification in which the 
worker is assigned duties. When requested by the County, competent evidence of compliance with the 
Texas Prevailing Wage Law shall be furnished by contractor. A copy of each worker wage rate 
notification shall be submitted to the County with the Application for Payment for the period during which 
the worker began on-site activities.

Should the contractor at any time become aware that a particular skill or trade not reflected on the 
County ’s “Prevailing Wage Schedule” will be or is being employed in the work, whether by the contractor 
or by a subcontractor, the contractor shall promptly inform the County and shall specify a wage rate for 
that skill or trade, which shall bind the contractor.

The contractor and any subcontractor shall pay to the County a penalty of sixty dollars ($60.00) for each 
worker employed for each calendar day, or portion thereof, that the worker is paid less than the wage 
rates stipulated in the “Prevailing Wage Schedule” or any supplement thereto. The contractor and each 
subcontractor shall keep, or cause to be kept, an accurate record showing the names and occupations 
of all workers employed in connection with the work, and showing the actual per diem wages paid to 
each worker, which records shall be open at all reasonable hours for the inspection by the County.

Within thirty-one (31) days of receipt of information concerning a violation of the Texas Government Code 
Chapter 2258, the County shall make an initial determination as to whether good cause exists to believe 
a violation occurred. The County ’s decision on the initial determination shall be reduced to writing and 
sent to the contractor or subcontractor against whom the violation was alleged, and to the affected 
worker. When a good cause finding is made, the County shall retain the full amounts claimed by the 
claimant or claimants as the difference between wages paid and wages due under the “Prevailing Wage 
Schedule” and any supplements thereto, together with the applicable penalties, such amounts being 
subtracted from successive progress payments pending a final decision on the violation.

After the County makes its initial determination, the affected contractor or subcontractor and worker have 
fourteen (14) calendar days in which to resolve the issue of whether a violation occurred, including the 
amount that should be retained by the County or paid to the affected worker. If the contractor or 
subcontractor and affected worker reach an agreement concerning the worker ’s claim, the contractor 
shall promptly notify the County in a written document signed by the worker. It the contractor or 

Subcontractor and affected worker do not agree before the fifteenth (15 th) calendar day after the County
determination, the contractor or subcontractor and affected worker must participate in binding arbitration 
in accordance with the Texas General Arbitration Act, Chapter 171, (Texas Civil Practice and Remedies 
Code). The parties to the arbitration have ten (10) calendar days after the expiration of the fifteen (15) 

calendar days referred to above, to agree on an arbitrator; if by the eleventh (11 th) calendar day there is 
no agreement to an arbitrator, a district court shall appoint an arbitrator on the petition of any of the 
parties to the arbitration.

If an arbitrator determines that a violation has occurred, the arbitrator shall assess and award against the 
contractor or subcontractor the amount of penalty as provided above and the amount owed the worker. 
The County may use any amounts retained hereunder to pay the worker the amount as designated in the 
arbitration award. If the County has not retained enough from the contractor or subcontractor to pay the 
worker in accordance with the arbitration award, the worker has a right of action against the contractor 
and subcontractor as appropriate, and the surety of either to receive the amount owed, attorneys ’  fees 
and court costs. The contractor shall promptly furnish a copy of the arbitration award to the County.

Money retained pursuant to the provisions above shall be used to pay the claimant or claimants the 
difference between the amount the worker received in wages for labor on the project at the rate paid by 
the contractor or subcontractor and the amount the worker would have received at the general prevailing 
wage rate as provided by the agreement of the claimant and the contractor or subcontractor affected, or 
in the arbitrator ’s award. The full statutory penalty of sixty dollars ($60.00) per calendar day of violation 
per worker shall be retained by Williamson County to offset its administrative costs, pursuant to Texas 
Government Code, Section, 2258.023. Any retained funds in excess of these amounts shall be paid to 
the contractor on the earlier of the next progress payment or final payment. Provided, however, that the 
County shall have no duty to release any funds to either the claimant or the contractor until it has 
received the notices of agreement or the arbitration award as provided under the provision herein-above.

4.43 CONFIDENTALITY

The Respondent expressly agrees that it will not use any direct or incidental confidential information that 
may be obtained while working in a governmental setting for its own benefit, and agrees that it will not 
access unauthorized areas or confidential information and it will not disclose any information to 
unauthorized third parties, and will take care to guard the security of the information at all times.

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 367



5

6

3 4

Williamson County – Request for Proposal (RFP)

SECTION 1 - DEFINITIONS 

Addendum/Addenda – means any written or graphic instruments issued by the County prior to the 
consideration of Proposals which modify or interpret the Proposal Documents by additions, deletions, 
clarifications, or corrections.

Agreement/Ensuing Agreement(s) – means the Successful Respondent may be required by the 
County to sign an additional Agreement containing terms necessary to ensure compliance with the RFP 
and the Respondent ’s Proposal.  Such Ensuing Agreement(s) shall contain the Proposal specifications, 
terms and conditions that are derived from the RFP.

Contract – means this RFP and the Proposal of the Successful Respondent shall become a Contract 
between the Successful Respondent and the County once the Successful Respondent ’s Proposal is 
properly accepted by the Williamson County Commissioners Court (sometimes referred to herein as the 
Commissioner ’s Court”).

Commissioner ’s Court – means the Williamson County Commissioners Court. 

County – means Williamson County, a political subdivision of the State of Texas.

Executive Summary – means the document submitted by Respondent that represents a concise 
summary of the contents of the Proposal. It does not include any information concerning costs. 

Proposal Documents – means the Legal Notice, RFP including attachments, and any Addenda issued 
by the County prior to the consideration of any Proposals.

Proposal – means the complete, properly signed document, and ALL required forms and documentation 
listed in the proposal package which have been submitted in accordance with this RFP package. A 
Proposal submitted in accordance with this RFP is irrevocable during the specified time period for 
evaluation and acceptance of Proposals, unless a waiver is obtained from the Williamson County 
Purchasing Agent.

Respondent – means a person or entity who submits a Proposal in response to this RFP.

Request for Proposals (RFP) – means this document, together with the attachments thereto and any 
future Addenda issued by the County.

Successful Respondent– means the responsible Respondent who, in the County ’s sole opinion, 
submits the Proposal which is in the best interest of the County, taking into account factors identified 
herein, and to whom the County intends to award the Contract.

SECTION 2 - RESPONSE FORMAT AND SUBMISSION

2.1 INTRODUCTION

Each Proposal submitted in response to this RFP should clearly reference the numbered sections of this 
RFP that require a response.  Failure to arrange the Proposal as requested may result in the 
disqualification of the Proposal.

Though there is not a page limit for Proposals, to save natural resources including paper, and to allow the 
County staff to efficiently evaluate all submitted Proposals, the County requests that Proposals be 
orderly, concise, but comprehensive in providing the requested information.  Conciseness and clarity of 
content are emphasized and encouraged.  If mailed or delivered in person, please limit additional, non
requested information.

Please provide your Proposal response using:

A. 8 ½” x 11” pages, inclusive of any cover letter or supporting materials.

B. The least amount of plastic/laminate or other non-recyclable binding materials.

C. Single-sided printing.

Vague and general Proposals will be considered non-responsive, and may, at the County ’s sole 
discretion, result in disqualification. Proposals must be legible and complete.  Failure to provide the 
required information may result in the disqualification of the Proposal. All pages of the Proposal should 
be numbered and the Proposal should contain an organized, paginated table of contents corresponding 
to the sections and pages of the Proposal.

2.2 ORGANIZATION OF PROPOSAL CONTENTS AND TABLE OF CONTENTS 

Each Proposal should be submitted with a table of contents that clearly identifies and denotes the 
location of all enclosures of the Proposal. The table of contents should follow the RFP ’s structure as 
much as is practical.

Each Proposal should be organized in the manner described below:

A. Transmittal Letter. Please see Section 2.3, Transmittal Letter, for more information. 

B. Table of Contents. 

C. Executive Summary. Please see Section 2.4, Executive Summary. 

D. Proposal Response to Criteria. (Please see the sections in this RFP package that list the 
Specifications & Cost Proposal, Experience and Qualifications, References, and Implementation 
Strategy to respond to our criteria in a clear and concise manner) 

E. Price Sheet. 

F. References: Identification of three (3) references within the last four (4) years, for which the 
Respondent is providing, or has provided, the goods and/or services (public sector) of the type 
requested in this RFP. Include the name, position/title, and telephone number of a contact person 
at each entity. 

G.  Conflict of Interest Questionnaire. 

H. Proposal Affidavit (Signature Page).

I. Attach your entities sample Contract, if applicable, for the County ’s review and consideration. This 
should include any additional terms or conditions. The County is not required to use the sample 
Contract submitted. 

2.3 TRANSMITTAL LETTER

The Respondent should submit a Transmittal Letter that provides the following information: 

A. Name and address of individual or business entity submitting the Proposal. 

B. Respondent ’s type of business entity (i.e., Corporation, General Partnership, Limited Partnership, 
LLC, etc.).  See Section 3.5, Signature of Respondent, for more information. 

C. Place of incorporation or organization, if applicable.

D. Name and location of major offices and other facilities that relate to the Respondent
performance under the terms of this RFP.

E. Name, physical address, email address, business and fax number of the Respondent ’s principal 
contact person regarding all contractual matters relating to this RFP.

F. The Respondent ’s Federal Employer Identification Number.

G. A commitment by the Respondent to provide the services required by the County;

H. A statement that the Proposal is valid for the time specified on page three (3), under the section 
named Prices Good for, of this Proposal packet. Any Proposal containing a term of less than the 
required amount, may at the County ’s sole discretion, be rejected as non-responsive.

I. If the Proposal being submitted will have an effect on air quality for the County (as it relates to any 
state, federal, or voluntary air quality standard), then the Respondent is encouraged to provide
information in narrative indicating the anticipated air quality impact. See Section 4.40, Air Quality 
for more information. 

The Transmittal Letter should be signed by a person legally authorized to bind the Respondent to the
representations in the Transmittal Letter and the Proposal.  In the case of a joint Proposal, each party 
must sign the Transmittal Letter.

2.4 EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

The Respondent should provide an Executive Summary of its Proposal that asserts that the Respondent 
is providing in its response all of the requirements of this RFP.  The Executive Summary should not 
include any information concerning the cost of the Proposal, but instead must represent a full and 
concise summary of the contents of the Proposal.  It is recommended the Executive Summary include 
the following information: 

A. Identify any goods and/or services that are provided beyond those specifically requested.  If the 
Respondent is providing services and/or goods that do not meet the specific requirements of this 
RFP, but in the opinion of the Respondent are equivalent or superior to those specifically 
requested, any such differences should be noted in the Executive Summary. However, the 
Respondent must realize that failure to provide the goods and/or services specifically required, at 
the County ’s sole discretion, may result in disqualification of the Proposal.

B. Indicate why the Respondent believes that it is the most qualified Respondent to provide the 
services described in this RFP.  The Successful Respondent must demonstrate extensive 
experience and understanding of the intent of this project.  The Respondent should describe in 
detail the current and historical experience the Respondent and its subcontractors have that 
would be relevant to completing the project.  References must contain the name of key personnel 
and telephone numbers for each contact, as described in Section 3.14, References.  

C. Briefly state why the Respondent believes its proposed goods and/or services best meet the 
County ’s needs and RFP requirements, and the Respondent also should concisely describe any 
additional features, aspects, or advantages of its goods and/or services in any relevant area not 
covered elsewhere in its Proposal.

2.5 CONFLICT OF INTEREST

No public official shall have interest in a contract, in accordance with Vernon ’s Texas Codes Annotated, 
Local Government Code, Title 5, Subtitle C, Chapter 171, as amended. 

As of January 1, 2006, all Respondents are responsible for complying with Local Government Code, Title 
5, Subtitle C, Chapter 176.  Additional information may be obtained from the County’s website at the 
following link: 

http://www.wilco.org/CountyDepartments/Purchasing/ConflictofInterestDisclosure/tabid/689/language/en
US/Default.aspx

Each Respondent must disclose any existing or potential conflict of interest relative to the performance of 
the requirements of this RFP.  Examples of potential conflicts of interest may include an existing 
business or personal relationship between the Respondent, its principal, or any affiliate or 
subcontractor with the County or any other entity or person involved in any way with the project 
that is subject to this RFP.  Similarly, any personal or business relationship between the Respondent, 
the principals, or any affiliate or subcontractor with any employee, or official of the County or its suppliers 
must be disclosed.  Any such relationship that might be perceived or represented as a conflict must be 
disclosed. Failure to disclose any such relationship or reveal personal relationships with the County 
employees or officials may be cause for termination. 

The County will decide if an actual or perceived conflict should result in Proposal disqualification. 

By submitting a Proposal in response to this RFP, all Respondents affirm they have not given, nor intend 
to give, at any time hereafter, any economic opportunity, future employment, gift, loan, gratuity, special 
discount, trip, favor, or service to a the County public servant or any employee, official or representative 
of same, in connection with this procurement. 

Each Respondent must provide a Conflict of Interest Statement with their Proposal Package.  

Package may be deemed incomplete without this form.  

2.6 CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PARTIES – FORM 1295

As of January 1, 2016, all Respondents are responsible for complying with the Texas Government Code, 
Section 2252.908.  The law states that the County may not enter into certain contracts with a 
Respondent unless the Respondent submits a disclosure of interested parties to the County at the time 
the Respondent submits the signed contract.  The law applies only to a contract of the County on or after 
January 1, 2016 that either:

A. Requires an action or vote by the Commissioners Court before the contract may be signed (all 
contracts that fall under the jurisdiction of the Commissioners Court approval, such as contracts 
resulting from an Initiation for Bid (IFB), RFP, Request for Qualifications (RFQ), etc., excluding, 
but not limited to, certain Juvenile Service contracts, contracts funded with Sheriff ’s seized fun 
monies, etc.); or

B. Has a value of at least $1,000,000. 

By January 1, 2016, the Texas Ethics Commission will make available on its website, a new filing 
application that must be used to file Form 1295.  Information regarding how to use the filing application is 
available on the Texas Ethics Commission website at the following link:

https://www.ethics.state.tx.us/whatsnew/elf_info_form1295.htm

A Respondent must:

A. Use the online application to process the required information on Form 1295.

B. Print a copy of the form which will contain a unique certification number.

C. An authorized agent of the Respondent must sign the printed copy of the form.

D. Have the form notarized.

E. File the completed Form 1295 and certification of filing (scanning and emailing form is sufficient) 
with Williamson County Purchasing Agent at the time the signed Contract is submitted for 
approval.

After the Commissioners Court award of the contract, the County shall notify the Texas Ethics 
Commission, using the Texas Ethics Commission ’s filing application, of the receipt of the filed Form 
1295 and certification of filing not later than the 30th day after the date the contract binds all parties to the 
contract. The Texas Ethics Commission will post the completed Form 1295 to its website within seven 
business days after receiving notice from the County.

2.7 PROPOSAL SUBMITTAL DEADLINE

The Proposal is due no later than the submittal date and time set forth in the Public Announcement and 
General Information listed in this RFP package.  Contents of each Proposal shall be submitted in 
accordance with this RFP.

2.8 ETHICS

The Respondent shall not accept or offer gifts or anything of value, nor enter into any business 
arrangement with any employee, official or agent of the County.

2.9 DELIVERY OF PROPOSALS

The County uses BidSync to distribute and receive bids and Proposals.  It is preferred that Proposals
be submitted electronically through BidSync; however, Respondents can submit a hard copy.  

Refer to www.bidsync.com for further information on how to submit electronically.

If mailed or delivered in person, Proposal and Proposal Addenda are to be delivered in sealed envelope
on or before the submittal deadline, as noted in the Public Announcement and General Information listed 
in this RFP package, to:

            Williamson County Purchasing Department
            Attn: Proposal Name and Number
            901 South Austin Avenue
            Georgetown, Texas 78626

Also, all Respondents should list their Name and Address, and the Date of the Proposal opening on the
outside of the box or envelope and note “Sealed Proposal Enclosed.” Williamson County will not accept 
any Proposals after the submittal deadline, and shall return such Proposals unopened to the 
Respondent.  The County will not accept any responsibility for Proposals being delivered by third party 
carriers. 

Proposals will be opened publicly; however, in a manner to avoid public disclosure of contents, only 
names of Respondents will be read aloud: no pricing will be announced at the opening. 

SECTION 3 - INSTRUCTIONS AND GENERAL REQUIREMENTS

3.1 INSTRUCTIONS

Read this document carefully, and follow all instructions and requirements.  All Respondents are 
responsible for fulfilling all requirements and specifications.  Be sure to have a clear understanding of this
RFP.

General requirements apply to all advertised RFPs; however, these may be superseded, in whole or in 
part, by the proposal specifications, Addenda and modifications issued as a part of this RFP.  Be sure 
your Proposal package is complete.

3.2 AMBIGUITY, CONFLICT, OR OTHER ERRORS IN THIS RFP

If a Respondent discovers any ambiguity, conflict, discrepancy, omission or other error in this RFP, the 
Respondent shall immediately notify the County Purchasing Department of such error in writing and
request modification or clarification of the document.

Modifications will be made by issuing Addenda. If the Respondent fails to notify the County prior to the
date and time fixed for submission of Proposals of an error or ambiguity in the RFP known to the
Respondent, or an error or ambiguity that reasonably should have been known to the Respondent, then 
the Respondent shall be deemed to have waived the error or ambiguity or its later resolution.

The County may also modify the RFP, no later than forty-eight (48) hours prior to the date and time fixed
for submission of Proposals, by issuance of an Addendum.  All Addenda will be numbered consecutively, 
beginning with one (1).

3.3 NOTIFICATION OF MOST CURRENT ADDRESS

All Respondents in receipt of this RFP shall notify the Williamson County Purchasing Department of any
address changes, contact person changes, and/or telephone number changes no later than forty-eight 
(48) hours prior to the date and time fixed for submission of Proposals.

3.4 SIGNATURE OF RESPONDENT

A Transmittal Letter, which shall be considered an integral part of the Proposal as stated in Section 2.3, 
Transmittal Letter, shall be signed by an individual who is authorized to bind the Respondent
contractually.

A. If the Respondent is a Corporation or Limited Liability Company, the legal name of the Corporation
or Limited Liability Company shall be provided together with the signature of the officer or officers 
authorized to sign on behalf of such entity.

B. If the Respondent is a General Partnership, the true name of the firm shall be provided with the
signature of each partner authorized to sign.

C. If the Respondent is a Limited Partnership, the name of the Limited Partner ’s General Partner
shall be provided with the signature of the officer authorized to sign on behalf of the General
Partner.

D. If the Respondent is a Sole Proprietor(s) (individual), each Sole Proprietor(s) shall sign.

E. If signature is by an agent, other than the Sole Proprietor(s) or an officer of a Corporation, Limited 
Liability Company, General Partner or a member of a General Partnership, a power of attorney
equivalent document must be submitted to the Williamson County Purchasing Department.

3.5 ASSUMED BUSINESS NAME

If the Respondent operates business under an Assumed Business Name, the Respondent must have
file with the Williamson County Clerk a current Assumed Name Certificate and provide a file marked copy 
of same prior to contract award.

3.6 ECONOMY OF PRESENTATION

Proposals should not contain promotional or display materials, except as they may directly answer in 
whole or in part questions contained in the RFP.  Such exhibits shall be clearly marked with the 
applicable reference number of the question in the RFP.  Proposals must address the technical 
requirements as specified in the RFP.  All questions posed by the RFP must be answered concisely and 
clearly. Proposals that do not address each criterion may be, at the sole discretion of the County, 
rejected and not considered.

3.7 PROPOSAL OBLIGATION 

The contents of the RFP, Proposal, and any clarification thereof submitted by the Successful
Respondent shall become part of the contractual obligation and incorporated by reference into the 
Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s).

3.8 COMPLIANCE WITH RFP SPECIFICATIONS

It is intended that this RFP describe the requirements and the Proposal format in sufficient detail to 
secure comparable Proposal.  Failure to comply with all provisions of the RFP may, at the sole discretion 
of the County, result in disqualification.

3.9 EVALUATION 

The County reserves the right to use all pertinent information (also learned from sources other than 
disclosed in the RFP process) that might affect the County ’s judgment as to the appropriateness of
award to the best evaluated Respondent. This information may be appended to the Proposal evaluation
process results. Information on a Respondent from reliable sources, and not within the Respondent
Proposal, may also be noted and made part of the evaluation fi le.  The County shall have sole 
discretion for determining the reliability of the source.  The County reserves the right to conduct written 
and/or oral discussions/interviews after the Proposal opening.  The purpose of such 
discussions/interviews is to provide clarification and/or additional information to make an award that is in 
the best interest of the County.

3.10 WITHDRAWAL OF PROPOSAL

The Respondent may withdraw its Proposal by submitting a written request with the company letterhead 
and the signature of an authorized individual, as described in Section 3.4, Signature of Respondent, to 
the Williamson County Purchasing Department any time prior to the submission deadline.  

The Respondent may submit a new Proposal prior to the deadline. Alterations of the Proposal in any 
manner will not be considered if submitted after the deadline.  Withdrawal of a Proposal after the deadline 
will be subject to written approval of the Williamson County Purchasing Agent.

3.11 RESPONSIBILITY 

It is expected that a Respondent will be able to affirmatively demonstrate responsibility.  A prospective
Respondent should be able to meet the following requirements:

A. Have adequate financial resources, or the ability to obtain such resources as required;
B. Be able to comply with the required or proposed delivery schedule;
C. Have a satisfactory record of performance that can be determined thru references provided; and 
D. Be otherwise qualified and eligible to receive an award.

The County may request representation and other information sufficient to determine the Respondent
ability to meet these minimum standards listed above.

3.12 PURCHASE ORDERS

If required by the Williamson County Purchasing Department, a purchase order(s) may be generated to 
the Successful Respondent for goods and/or services.  If a purchase order is issued, the purchase order 
number must appear on all itemized invoices and/or requests for payment.

3.13 SILENCE OF SPECIFICATIONS

The apparent silence of any RFP specifications as to any detail or to the apparent omission from it of a 
detailed description concerning any point, shall be regarded as meaning that only the best practices are 
to prevail.  All interpretations of these specifications shall be made on the basis of this statement.

3.14 REFERENCES

Respondents shall furnish a list of contracts where similar responsibilities and goods and/or services 
have been required and/or performed for the past five (5) years, to include names, titles, phone numbers 
and email addresses of reference contacts, contract numbers and dates of performance. 

Also, Respondents shall include a list of any contracts that have been cancelled or terminated within the 
last five (5) years, along with an explanation of the cancellation and the names, email address and phone 
number of a reference person with that institution. 

The County may contact some or all of the references in order to determine the Respondent
performance record on work similar to that described in this RFP.  The County reserves the right to 
contact references other than those provided in the response and to use the information gained from 
them in the evaluation process. 

References should be provided in accordance with this RFP.  Proposal may not be deemed complete 
without the inclusion of requested references.

SECTION 4 - TERMS AND CONDITIONS

4.1 VENUE AND GOVERNING LAW

The Respondent hereby agrees and acknowledges that venue and jurisdiction of any suit, right, or cause 
of action arising out of or in connection with this RFP, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s), shall 
lie exclusively in either Williamson County, Texas or in the Austin Division of the Western Federal District 
of Texas, and the parties hereto expressly consent and submit to such jurisdiction.  Furthermore, except 
to the extent that this RFP, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) is governed by the laws of the 
United States, this RFP, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be governed by and 
construed in accordance with the laws of the State of Texas, excluding, however, its choice of law rules.

4.2 INCORPORATION BY REFERENCE AND PRECEDENCE

A. The Contract shall be derived from the RFP and its Addenda (if applicable), and the Respondent
Proposal.  In the event of a dispute under the Contract, applicable documents will be referred to 
for the purpose of clarification or for additional detail in the following order of precedence:

1. The RFP and its Addenda (if applicable); and 

2. The Respondent ’s Proposal.

B. In the event the County requires that an Ensuing Agreement be executed following award and a 
dispute arises between the terms and conditions of the Ensuing Agreement, the RFP and its 
Addenda (if applicable), and the Respondent ’s Proposal, applicable documents will be referred to 
for the purpose of clarification or for additional detail in the following order of precedence: 

1. The terms and conditions of the Ensuing Agreement;

2. The RFP and its Addenda; and  

3. The Respondent ’s Proposal.

4.3 OWNERSHIP OF PROPOSAL

Each Proposal shall become the property of the County upon submittal and will not be returned to 
Respondents unless received after the submittal deadline.

4.4 DISQUALIFICATION OF RESPONDENT

Upon signing and submittal of the Proposal, a Respondent offering to sell supplies, materials, services, 
or equipment to the County, certifies that the Respondent has not violated the antitrust laws of the State 
of Texas codified in Business & Commerce Code, Section 15.01, or the Federal Antitrust Laws, and has 
not communicated directly or indirectly the offer made to any competitor or any other person engaged
such line of business.  Any or all Proposals may be rejected if the County believes that collusion exists 
among the Respondents.

4.5 FUNDING

The County intends to budget and make sufficient funds available and authorize funds for expenditure to 
finance the costs of the Contract.  All Respondents understand and agree that the County’s payment of 
amounts under the Contract shall be contingent on the County receiving appropriations or other 
expenditure authority sufficient to allow the County, in the exercise of reasonable administrative 
discretion, to make payments under this Contract.

4.6 ASSIGNMENT, SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS 

The Successful Respondent may not assign, sell, or otherwise transfer the Contract or any other rights 
or interests obtained under the Contract without written permission of the Williamson County the 
Commissioners Court.  The Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be binding upon and inure to 
the benefit of the contracting parties hereto and their respective successors and permitted assigns.

4.7 IMPLIED REQUIREMENTS

Products or services not specifically described or required in the RFP, but are necessary to provide the 
functional capabilities described by the Respondent, shall be implied and deemed to be included in the
Proposal.

4.8 TERMINATION

A. Termination for Cause: The County reserves the right to terminate the Contract and/or any 
Ensuing Agreement(s) for default if the Successful Respondent breaches any of the Proposal
specifications, terms and conditions, including warranties of the Respondent, if any, or if the 
Successful Respondent becomes insolvent or commits acts of bankruptcy.  Such right of 
termination is in addition to and not in lieu of any other remedies the County may have at law or
equity or as may otherwise be provided hereunder.  Default may be construed as, but not limited 
to, failure to deliver the proper goods and/or services within the proper amount of time, and/or to 
properly perform any and all other requirements to the County ’s satisfaction, and/or to meet all 
other obligations and requirements.

B. Termination for Convenience: The County may terminate the Contract and/or any Ensuing 
Agreement(s) for convenience and without cause or further liability, upon no less than thirty (30) 
calendar days written notice to the Successful Respondent. The County reserves the right to 
extend this period if it is in the best interest of the County.  In the event the County exercises its 
right to terminate without cause, it is understood and agreed that only the amounts due to the 
Successful Respondent for goods, commodities and/or services provided and expenses incurred 
to and including the date of termination, will be due and payable.  No penalty will be assessed for 
the County ’s termination for convenience.

4.9 NON-PERFORMANCE

It is the objective of the County to obtain complete and satisfactory performance of the requirements set 
forth herein.  In addition to any other remedies available at law, in equity or that may be set out herein, 
failure to perform may result in a deduction of payment equal to the amount of the goods and/or services 
that were not provided and/or performed to the County ’s satisfaction.  

In the event of such non-performance, the County shall have the right, but shall not be obligated, to 
complete the services itself or by others and/or purchase the goods from other sources.  If the County 
elects to acquire the goods or perform the services itself or by others, pursuant to the foregoing, the 
Successful Respondent shall reimburse the County, within ten (10) calendar days of demand, for all 
costs incurred by the County (including, without limitation, applicable, general, and administrative 
expenses, and field overhead, and the cost of necessary equipment, materials, and field labor) in 
correcting the nonperformance which the Successful Respondent fails to meet pursuant to the 
requirements set out herein.  In the event the Successful Respondent refuses to reimburse the County 
as set out in this provision, the County shall have the right to deduct such reimbursement amounts from 
any amounts that may be then owing or that may become owing in the future to the Successful
Respondent.

4.10 PROPRIETARY INFORMATION AND THE TEXAS PUBLIC INFORMATION ACT

All material submitted to the County shall become public property and subject to the Texas Public 
Information Act upon receipt. If a Respondent does not desire proprietary information in the Proposal to 
be disclosed, each page must be clearly identified and marked proprietary at time of submittal or, more 
preferably, all proprietary information may be placed in a folder or appendix and be clearly identified and 
marked as being proprietary.  Failure to clearly identify and mark information as being proprietary as set 
forth under this provision will result in all unmarked information being deemed non-proprietary and 
available to the public.  For all information that has not been clearly identified and marked as proprietary 
by the Respondent, the County may choose to place such information on the County ’s website and/or a 
similar public database without obtaining any type of prior consent from the Respondent.

The County will, to the extent allowed by law, endeavor to protect from public disclosure the information 
that has been identified and marked as proprietary.  The final decision as to what information must be 
disclosed, however, lies with the Texas Attorney General.  

To the extent, if any, that any provision in this RFP or in the Respondent ’s Proposal is in conflict with 
Texas Government Code, Chapter 552, as amended (the “Public Information Act”), the same shall be of 
no force or effect.  Furthermore, it is expressly understood, and agreed, that the County, and its officers 
and employees, may request advice, decisions and opinions of the Attorney General of the State of
Texas in regard to the application of the Public Information Act to any items or data furnished to the 
County as to whether or not the same are available to the public.  It is further understood that that the 
County, and its officers and employees, shall have the right to rely on the advice, decisions and opinions 
of the Attorney General, and that the County, its officers and employees shall have no liability or obligation 
to any party hereto for the disclosure to the public, or to any person or persons, of any items or data 
furnished to the County by a party hereto, in reliance of any advice, decision or opinion of the Attorney 
General of the State of Texas.

4.11 RIGHT TO AUDIT

The Successful Respondent agrees that the County or its duly authorized representatives shall, until the 
expiration of three (3) years after termination or expiration of the services to be performed, have access 
to and the right to examine and photocopy any and all books, documents, papers and records of the 
Successful Respondent, which are directly pertinent to the services to be performed or goods to
delivered for the purposes of making audits, examinations, excerpts and transcriptions.  The Successful 
Respondent agrees that the County shall have access during normal working hours to all necessary 
facilities and shall be provided adequate and appropriate work space in order to conduct audits in 
compliance with the provisions of this section.  The County shall give the Successful Respondent 
reasonable advance notice of intended audits.

4.12 TESTING AND INSPECTIONS

The County reserves the right to inspect and test equipment, supplies, materials and goods for quality 
and compliance with this RFP, and ability to meet the needs of the user.  Demonstration units must be 
available for review.  Should the goods or services fail to meet requirements and/or be unavailable for 
evaluation, the County can deem the Respondent to be in breach and terminate the Contract and/or any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

4.13 PROPOSAL PREPARATION COSTS

The cost of developing Proposals is the sole responsibility of the Respondents and shall not be charged 
to the County.  There is no expressed or implied obligation for the County to reimburse the Respondents 
for any expense incurred in preparing a Proposal in response to this RFP and the County will not 
reimburse the Respondents for such expenses.

4.14 INDEMNIFICATION

The Successful Respondent shall indemnify, defend and save harmless, the County, its officials, 
employees, agents and agent ’s employees from, and against, all claims, liability, and expenses including 
reasonable attorneys ’ fees, arising from activities of the Respondent, its agents, servants or employees, 
performed hereunder that result from the negligent act, error, or omission of the Respondent or any of 
the Respondent ’s agents, servants or employees, as well as all claims of loss or damage to the 
Respondent ’s and the County ’s property, equipment, and/or supplies. 

Furthermore, the County, its officials, employees, agents and agents ’ employees shall not be liable for 
damages to the Successful Respondent arising from any act of any third party, including, but not limited 
to, theft.  The Successful Respondent further agrees to indemnify, defend and save harmless, the 
County from its officials, employee, agents and agents ’ employees against all claims of whatever nature 
arising from any accident, injury, or damage whatsoever, caused to any person, or the property of any 
person, occurring in relation to the Successful Respondent ’s performance of any services requested 
hereunder during the term of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s). 

The Successful Respondent shall timely report all claims, demands, suits, actions, proceedings, liens or 
judgements to the County and shall, upon the receipt of any claim, demand, suit, action, proceeding, lien 

or judgement, not later than the fifteenth (15 th) day of each month; provide the County with a written 
report on each such matter, setting forth the status of each matter, the schedule or planned proceedings 
with respect to each matter and the cooperation or assistance, if any, of the County required by the 
Successful Respondent in the defense of each matter.  The Successful Respondent’s duty to defend, 
indemnify and hold the County harmless shall be absolute.  It shall not abate or end by reason of the 
expiration or termination of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s), unless otherwise agreed by 
the County in writing.  The provisions of this section shall survive the termination of the Contract and shall 
remain in full force and effect with respect to all such matters no matter when they arise. 

In the event of any dispute between the parties, as to whether a claim, demand, suit, action, proceeding, 
lien or judgement, that appears to have been caused by or appears to have arisen out of or in connection 
with acts or omissions of the County, the Respondent shall nevertheless fully defend such claim, 
demand, suit or action, proceeding, lien or judgement, until and unless there is  a determination by a 
court of competent jurisdiction that the acts and omissions of the Respondent are not an issue in the 
matter. 

The Successful Respondent ’s indemnification shall cover, and the Successful Respondent agrees to, 
indemnify the County, in the event the County is found to have been negligent for having selected the 
Successful Respondent to perform the work described in this request.  The provision by the Successful 
Respondent of insurance shall not limit the liability of the Successful Respondent under the Contract 
and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s). 

4.15 WAIVER OF SUBROGATION

The Successful Respondent and the Successful Respondent ’s insurance carrier waive any and all rights 
whatsoever with regard to subrogation against the County as an indirect party to any suit arising out of 
personal or property damages resulting from the Respondent ’s performance under this Contract and any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

4.16 RELATIONSHIP OF THE PARTIES

The Successful Respondent shall be an independent contractor and shall assume all of the rights, 
obligations, liabilities, applicable to it as such independent contractor hereunder and any provisions 
herein which may appear to give the County the right to direct the Successful Respondent as to details of 
doing work herein covered, or to exercise a measure of control over the work, shall be deemed to mean 
that the Successful Respondent shall follow the desires of the County in the results of the work only.  The 
County shall not retain or have the right to control the Successful Respondent ’s means, methods or 
details pertaining to the Successful Respondent ’s performance of the work.  The County and the 
Successful Respondent hereby agree and declare that the Successful Respondent is an independent 
contractor and as such meets the qualifications of an “Independent Contractor” under Texas Workers 
Compensation Act, Texas Labor Code, Section 406.141, that the Successful Respondent is not an 
employee of  the County, and that the Successful Respondent and its employees, agents and 
subcontractors shall not be entitled to workers compensation coverage or any other type of insurance 
coverage held by the County.

4.17 SOLE PROVIDER

The Successful Respondent agrees and acknowledges that it shall not be considered a sole provider of 
the goods and/or services described herein and that the County may contract with other providers of 
such goods and/or services if the County deems, at its sole discretion, that multiple providers of the 
same goods and/or services will serve the best interest of the County.

4.18 FORCE MAJEURE

If the party obligated to perform is prevented from performance by an act of war, order of legal authority, 
act of God, or other unavoidable cause not attributable to the fault or negligence of said party, the other 
party shall grant such party relief from the performance.  The burden of proof for the need of such relief 
shall rest upon the party obligated to perform.  To obtain release based on force majeure, the party 
obligated to perform shall file a written request with the other party.

4.19 SEVERABILITY

If any provision of this RFP, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be held invalid or 
unenforceable by any court of competent jurisdiction, such holding shall not invalidate or render 
unenforceable any other provision thereof, but rather the entire RFP, Contract or any Ensuing Agreement
(s) will be construed as if not containing the particular invalid or unenforceable provision or provisions, 
and the rights and obligation of the parties shall be construed and enforced in accordance therewith.  The 
parties acknowledge that if any provision of this RFP, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) is 
determined to be invalid or unenforceable, it is the desire and intention of each that such provision be 
reformed and construed in such a manner that it will, to the maximum extent practicable, give effect to
the intent of this RFP, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) and be deemed to be validated and
enforceable.

4.20 EQUAL OPPORTUNITY

Neither party shall discriminate against any employee or applicant for employment because of race, 
color, sex, religion or national origin.

4.21 NOTICE

Any notice to be given shall be in writing and may be distributed by personal delivery, or by registered or 
certified mail, return receipt requested, addressed to the proper party, at the following address:

The County:    Williamson County Purchasing Department 
            Attn: Purchasing Agent 
            901 South Austin Avenue 
            Georgetown, Texas 78626

The Respondent: Address set out in Respondent ’s Transmittal Letter

Notices given in accordance with this provision shall be effective upon (1) receipt by the party to which 
notice is given, or (2) on the third (3rd) calendar day following mailing, whichever occurs first.

4.22 SALES AND USE TAX EXEMPTION

The County is a body, corporate and politic, under the laws of the State of Texas and claims exemption 
from sales and use taxes under Texas Tax Code, Section 151.309, as amended, and the services and/or 
goods subject hereof are being secured for use by the County.

4.23 COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS

The County and the Successful Respondent shall comply with all federal, state, and local laws, statutes,
ordinances, rules and regulations, and the orders and decrees of any courts or administrative bodies or 
tribunals in any matter affecting the performance of the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s),
including, without limitation, Workers ’ Compensation laws, salary and wage statutes and regulations, 
licensing laws and regulations.  When required, the Successful Respondent shall furnish the County with 
certification of compliance with said laws, statues, ordinances, rules, regulations, orders, and decrees 
above specified.

4.24 INCORPORATION OF EXHIBITS, APPENDICES AND ATTACHMENTS

All of the Exhibits, Appendices and Attachments referred to herein are incorporated by reference as if set 
forth verbatim herein.  Any conflicting terms in the Contract documents will be resolved at the sole 
discretion of the Commissioners Court.

4.25 NO WAIVER OF IMMUNITIES

Nothing herein shall be deemed to waive, modify or amend any legal defense available at law or in equity 
to the County, its past or present officers, employees, or agents, nor to create any legal rights or claim on 
behalf of any third party.  The County does not waive, modify, or alter to any extent whatsoever the 
availability of the defense of governmental immunity under the laws of the State of Texas and of the 
United States.

4.26 NO WAIVER

The failure or delay of any party to enforce at any time or any period of time any of the provisions of this 
RFP, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall not constitute a present or future waiver of such 
provisions nor the right of either party to enforce each and every provision.  Furthermore, no term or 
provision hereof shall be deemed waived and no breach excused unless such waiver or consent shall be 
in writing and signed by the party claimed to have waived or consented.  Any consent by any party to, or 
waiver of, a breach by the other, whether expressed or implied, shall not constitute a consent to, waiver 
of or excuse for any other, different or subsequent breach.

4.27 CURRENT REVENUES

The obligations of the parties under the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) do not constitute a 
general obligation or indebtedness of the County for which the County is obligated to levy, pledge, or 
collect any of taxation.  It is understood and agreed that the County shall have the right to terminate the 
Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) at the end of any the County fiscal year if the governing body of 
the County does not appropriate sufficient funds as determined by the County ’s budget for the fiscal year 
in question.  The County may effect such termination by giving written notice of termination to the 
Successful Respondent at the end of its then-current fiscal year.

4.28 BINDING EFFECT

This Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties 
and their respective permitted assigns and successors.

4.29 ASSIGNMENT

The Successful Respondent ’s interest and duties hereunder may not be assigned or delegated to a third 
party without the express written consent of the County.

4.30 SAFETY

The Successful Respondent is responsible for initiating, maintaining, and supervising all safety 
precautions and programs in connection with any services to be provided hereunder. The safety program 
shall comply with all applicable requirements of the current federal Occupational Safety and Health Act 
and all other applicable federal, state and local laws and regulations.

4.31 GENERAL OBLIGATIONS AND RELIANCE

The Successful Respondent shall perform all services and/or provide all goods, as well as those
reasonably inferable and necessary for completion and provision of services and/or goods required
hereunder. The Successful Respondent shall keep the County informed of the progress and quality
the services.  The Successful Respondent agrees and acknowledges that the County is relying on the 
Successful Respondent's represented expertise and ability to provide the goods and/or services 
described herein.  The Successful Respondent agrees to use its best efforts, skill, judgment, and abilities
to perform its obligations in accordance with the highest standards used in the profession and to further 
the interests of the County in accordance with the County ’s requirements and procedures.  The 
Successful Respondent ’s duties, as set forth herein, shall at no time be in any way diminished by reason
of any approval by the County, nor shall the Successful Respondent be released from any liability
reason of such approval by the County, it being understood that the County at all times is ultimately 
relying upon the Successful Respondent ’s skill and knowledge in performing the services and providing 
any goods required hereunder.

4.32 CONTRACTUAL DEVELOPMENT

The Commissioners Court may award the Contract on the basis of the initial Proposals received, without
any further or additional discussions.  Therefore, each initial Proposal should contain the Respondent
best terms and offer.  The contents of the RFP and the selected Proposal will become an integral part of 
the Contract, but may be modified, at Williamson County ’s sole discretion, by provisions of an Ensuing 
Agreement.  Therefore, the Respondent must agree to inclusion in an Ensuing Agreement of the 
Proposal specifications, terms and conditions of this RFP.  Williamson County may, at its discretion, opt 
to conduct further discussions with responsible offerors and request the highest ranked firm ’s Best and 
Final Offer (BAFO).

4.33 ENTIRE AGREEMENT

The Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall supersede all prior Agreements, written or oral 
between the Successful Respondent and the County and shall constitute the entire Agreement and 
understanding between the parties with respect to the services and/or goods to be provided.  Each of the 
provisions herein shall be binding upon the parties and may not be waived, modified, amended or altered, 
except by writing signed by the Successful Respondent and the County.

4.34 SURVIVABILITY 

All applicable agreements that were entered into between the Successful Respondent and the County, 
under the terms and conditions of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s), shall survive the 
expiration or termination thereof for ninety (90) days unless a new contract has been awarded.

The County may exercise, by written notice to the Successful Respondent no later than ten (10) calendar 
days of the Contract expiration, this clause for emergency cases only. 

4.35 PAYMENT

The County ’s payment for goods and services shall be governed by the Texas Government Code, 

Chapter 2251.  An invoice shall be deemed overdue the thirty-first (31st) day after the later of the 
following: 

A. The date the County receives the goods under the Contract; 
B. The date the performance of the service under the Contract is completed; or 
C. The date the Williamson County Auditor receives an invoice for the goods or services.  

Interest charges for any overdue payments shall be paid by the County in accordance with Texas 
Government Code, Section 2251.025.  More specifically, the rate of interest that shall accrue on a late 
payment is the rate in effect on September 1 of the County ’s fiscal year in which the payment becomes 
due.  The said rate in effect on September 1 shall be equal to the sum of one (1) percent and the prime 

rate published in the Wall Street Journal on the first (1st) day of July of the preceding fiscal year that does 
not fall on a Saturday or Sunday.

In the event that an error appears in an invoice submitted by the Successful Respondent, the County 
shall notify the Successful Respondent of the error not later than the twenty-first (21st) day after the date 
the County receives the invoice.  If the error is resolved in favor of the Successful Respondent, the 
Successful Respondent shall be entitled to receive interest on the unpaid balance of the invoice 
submitted by the Successful Respondent beginning on the date that the payment for the invoice became 
overdue.  If the error is resolved in favor of the County, the Successful Respondent shall submit a 
corrected invoice that must be paid in accordance within the time set forth above.  The unpaid balance 
accrues interest as provided by the Texas Government Code, Chapter 2251, if the corrected invoice is 
not paid by the appropriate date.

As a minimum, invoices shall include:

A. Name, address, and telephone number of the Successful Respondent and similar information in 
the event the payment is to be made to a different address. 

B. The County Contract, Purchase Order. 

C. Identification of items or service as outlined in the Contract.

D. Quantity or quantities, applicable unit prices, total prices and total amount.

E. Any additional payment information which may be called for by the Contract.

Payment inquiries should be directed to the following address:        

            Williamson County Auditor’s Office, Accounts Payable Department
            Email: accountspayable@wilco.org
            Phone: 512-943-1500

4.36 CONTRACTUAL FORMATION AND ENSUING AGREEMENT

The RFP and the Respondent ’s Proposal, when properly accepted by the Commissioners Court, shall 
constitute a Contract equally binding between the Successful Respondent and the County.  The 
Successful Respondent may be required by Williamson County to sign an additional Agreement 
containing terms necessary to ensure compliance with the RFP and Respondent ’s Proposal.

4.37 LEGAL LIABILITY INFORMATION

The Successful Respondent shall disclose all legal liability information by listing any pending litigation
anticipated litigation that your firm is involved in including, but not limited to, potential or actual legal
matters with private parties and any local, state, federal or international governmental entities. The
County reserves the right to consider legal liability information in the recommendation of any proposed 
contract to the Commissioners Court.

4.38 CONFIDENTIALITY

Respondent expressly agrees that it will not use any direct or incidental confidential information that may
be obtained while working in a governmental setting for its own benefit, and agrees that it will not access
unauthorized areas or confidential information and it will not disclose any information to unauthorized
third parties, and will take care to guard the security of the information at all times.

4.39 INCLEMENT WEATHER

In case of inclement weather or any other unforeseen event causing the County to close for business on 
the date of a Proposal submission deadline, the Proposal closing will automatically be postponed until the 
next business day the County is open.  If inclement weather conditions or any other unforeseen event 
causes delays in carrier service operations, the County may issue an Addendum to all known 
Respondents interested in the project to extend the deadline.  It will be the responsibility of the 
Respondent to notify the County of their interest in the project if these conditions are impacting their 
ability to turn in a submission within the stated deadline.  The County reserves the right to make the final 
judgement call to extend any deadline. 

4.40 AIR QUALITY

In determining the overall best Proposal, the County may, to the extent applicable, exercise the option 
granted to local governments under the Texas Local Government Code, Section 271.907.

This option allows the County to evaluate Proposals and give preference to goods and/or services of
Respondent that demonstrates that the Respondent meets or exceeds any and all state or federal 
environmental standards, including voluntary standards, relating to air quality.  If the Proposal being 
submitted will have an effect on air quality for the County (as it relates to any state, federal, or voluntary 
air quality standard), then the Respondent is encouraged to provide information in narrative indicating the 
anticipated air quality impact.  All Respondents are expected to meet all mandated state and federal air 
quality standards.

4.41 COOPERATIVE PURCHASING PROGRAM 

During the term of the Contract resulting from this RFP, the County would like to afford the same prices, 
terms and conditions to other political subdivisions or public entities.  Another entity’s participation in the 
Contract resulting from this RFP is subject to a properly authorized Purchasing Cooperative Inter- local 
Agreement (ILA) with the County.  Any liability created by purchase orders issued against the Contract 
shall be the sole responsibility of the governmental agency placing the order.

4.42 PREVAILING WAGE RATES

To the extent this procurement is for the construction of a public work, including a building, highway, 
road, excavation, and repair work or other project development or improvement, paid for in whole or in 
part from public funds, without regard to whether the work is done under public supervision or direction, 
Texas Government Code, Chapter 2258, shall apply and the contractor shall pay not less than the wage 
scale of the various classes of labor as shown on the “Prevailing Wage Schedule” provided by the 
County. Pursuant to Texas Government Code, Section 2258.022(a)(2), the County has determined the 
general prevailing rate of the “Prevailing Wage Schedule”  in the locality in which the public work is to be 
performed for each craft or type of worker needed to execute the contract and the prevailing rate for legal 
holiday and overtime work by using the prevailing wage rate as determined by the United States 
Department of Labor in accordance with the United States Code, Section 276a (Davis-Bacon Act). 

The specified wage rates are minimum rates only, and are not representations that qualified labor 
adequate to perform the work is available locally at the prevailing wage rates. The County is not bound to 
pay—and will not consider—any claims for additional compensation made by any contractor because the 
contractor pays wages in excess of the applicable minimum rate contained in the Contract Documents. 
The “Prevailing Wage Schedule”  is not a representation that quantities of qualified labor adequate to 
perform the work may be found locally at the specified wage rates.

For classifications not shown, workers shall not be paid less than the wage indicated for laborers. The 
contractor shall notify each worker commencing work on the project the worker ’s job classification and 
the established minimum wage rate required to be paid, as well as the actual amount being paid. The 
notice must be delivered to and signed in acknowledgement of receipt by the employee and must list 
both the monetary wages and fringe benefits to be paid or furnished for each classification in which the 
worker is assigned duties. When requested by the County, competent evidence of compliance with the 
Texas Prevailing Wage Law shall be furnished by contractor. A copy of each worker wage rate 
notification shall be submitted to the County with the Application for Payment for the period during which 
the worker began on-site activities.

Should the contractor at any time become aware that a particular skill or trade not reflected on the 
County ’s “Prevailing Wage Schedule” will be or is being employed in the work, whether by the contractor 
or by a subcontractor, the contractor shall promptly inform the County and shall specify a wage rate for 
that skill or trade, which shall bind the contractor.

The contractor and any subcontractor shall pay to the County a penalty of sixty dollars ($60.00) for each 
worker employed for each calendar day, or portion thereof, that the worker is paid less than the wage 
rates stipulated in the “Prevailing Wage Schedule” or any supplement thereto. The contractor and each 
subcontractor shall keep, or cause to be kept, an accurate record showing the names and occupations 
of all workers employed in connection with the work, and showing the actual per diem wages paid to 
each worker, which records shall be open at all reasonable hours for the inspection by the County.

Within thirty-one (31) days of receipt of information concerning a violation of the Texas Government Code 
Chapter 2258, the County shall make an initial determination as to whether good cause exists to believe 
a violation occurred. The County ’s decision on the initial determination shall be reduced to writing and 
sent to the contractor or subcontractor against whom the violation was alleged, and to the affected 
worker. When a good cause finding is made, the County shall retain the full amounts claimed by the 
claimant or claimants as the difference between wages paid and wages due under the “Prevailing Wage 
Schedule” and any supplements thereto, together with the applicable penalties, such amounts being 
subtracted from successive progress payments pending a final decision on the violation.

After the County makes its initial determination, the affected contractor or subcontractor and worker have 
fourteen (14) calendar days in which to resolve the issue of whether a violation occurred, including the 
amount that should be retained by the County or paid to the affected worker. If the contractor or 
subcontractor and affected worker reach an agreement concerning the worker ’s claim, the contractor 
shall promptly notify the County in a written document signed by the worker. It the contractor or 

Subcontractor and affected worker do not agree before the fifteenth (15 th) calendar day after the County
determination, the contractor or subcontractor and affected worker must participate in binding arbitration 
in accordance with the Texas General Arbitration Act, Chapter 171, (Texas Civil Practice and Remedies 
Code). The parties to the arbitration have ten (10) calendar days after the expiration of the fifteen (15) 

calendar days referred to above, to agree on an arbitrator; if by the eleventh (11 th) calendar day there is 
no agreement to an arbitrator, a district court shall appoint an arbitrator on the petition of any of the 
parties to the arbitration.

If an arbitrator determines that a violation has occurred, the arbitrator shall assess and award against the 
contractor or subcontractor the amount of penalty as provided above and the amount owed the worker. 
The County may use any amounts retained hereunder to pay the worker the amount as designated in the 
arbitration award. If the County has not retained enough from the contractor or subcontractor to pay the 
worker in accordance with the arbitration award, the worker has a right of action against the contractor 
and subcontractor as appropriate, and the surety of either to receive the amount owed, attorneys ’  fees 
and court costs. The contractor shall promptly furnish a copy of the arbitration award to the County.

Money retained pursuant to the provisions above shall be used to pay the claimant or claimants the 
difference between the amount the worker received in wages for labor on the project at the rate paid by 
the contractor or subcontractor and the amount the worker would have received at the general prevailing 
wage rate as provided by the agreement of the claimant and the contractor or subcontractor affected, or 
in the arbitrator ’s award. The full statutory penalty of sixty dollars ($60.00) per calendar day of violation 
per worker shall be retained by Williamson County to offset its administrative costs, pursuant to Texas 
Government Code, Section, 2258.023. Any retained funds in excess of these amounts shall be paid to 
the contractor on the earlier of the next progress payment or final payment. Provided, however, that the 
County shall have no duty to release any funds to either the claimant or the contractor until it has 
received the notices of agreement or the arbitration award as provided under the provision herein-above.

4.43 CONFIDENTALITY

The Respondent expressly agrees that it will not use any direct or incidental confidential information that 
may be obtained while working in a governmental setting for its own benefit, and agrees that it will not 
access unauthorized areas or confidential information and it will not disclose any information to 
unauthorized third parties, and will take care to guard the security of the information at all times.

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 368



5

6

3 4

Williamson County – Request for Proposal (RFP)

SECTION 1 - DEFINITIONS 

Addendum/Addenda – means any written or graphic instruments issued by the County prior to the 
consideration of Proposals which modify or interpret the Proposal Documents by additions, deletions, 
clarifications, or corrections.

Agreement/Ensuing Agreement(s) – means the Successful Respondent may be required by the 
County to sign an additional Agreement containing terms necessary to ensure compliance with the RFP 
and the Respondent ’s Proposal.  Such Ensuing Agreement(s) shall contain the Proposal specifications, 
terms and conditions that are derived from the RFP.

Contract – means this RFP and the Proposal of the Successful Respondent shall become a Contract 
between the Successful Respondent and the County once the Successful Respondent ’s Proposal is 
properly accepted by the Williamson County Commissioners Court (sometimes referred to herein as the 
Commissioner ’s Court”).

Commissioner ’s Court – means the Williamson County Commissioners Court. 

County – means Williamson County, a political subdivision of the State of Texas.

Executive Summary – means the document submitted by Respondent that represents a concise 
summary of the contents of the Proposal. It does not include any information concerning costs. 

Proposal Documents – means the Legal Notice, RFP including attachments, and any Addenda issued 
by the County prior to the consideration of any Proposals.

Proposal – means the complete, properly signed document, and ALL required forms and documentation 
listed in the proposal package which have been submitted in accordance with this RFP package. A 
Proposal submitted in accordance with this RFP is irrevocable during the specified time period for 
evaluation and acceptance of Proposals, unless a waiver is obtained from the Williamson County 
Purchasing Agent.

Respondent – means a person or entity who submits a Proposal in response to this RFP.

Request for Proposals (RFP) – means this document, together with the attachments thereto and any 
future Addenda issued by the County.

Successful Respondent– means the responsible Respondent who, in the County ’s sole opinion, 
submits the Proposal which is in the best interest of the County, taking into account factors identified 
herein, and to whom the County intends to award the Contract.

SECTION 2 - RESPONSE FORMAT AND SUBMISSION

2.1 INTRODUCTION

Each Proposal submitted in response to this RFP should clearly reference the numbered sections of this 
RFP that require a response.  Failure to arrange the Proposal as requested may result in the 
disqualification of the Proposal.

Though there is not a page limit for Proposals, to save natural resources including paper, and to allow the 
County staff to efficiently evaluate all submitted Proposals, the County requests that Proposals be 
orderly, concise, but comprehensive in providing the requested information.  Conciseness and clarity of 
content are emphasized and encouraged.  If mailed or delivered in person, please limit additional, non
requested information.

Please provide your Proposal response using:

A. 8 ½” x 11” pages, inclusive of any cover letter or supporting materials.

B. The least amount of plastic/laminate or other non-recyclable binding materials.

C. Single-sided printing.

Vague and general Proposals will be considered non-responsive, and may, at the County ’s sole 
discretion, result in disqualification. Proposals must be legible and complete.  Failure to provide the 
required information may result in the disqualification of the Proposal. All pages of the Proposal should 
be numbered and the Proposal should contain an organized, paginated table of contents corresponding 
to the sections and pages of the Proposal.

2.2 ORGANIZATION OF PROPOSAL CONTENTS AND TABLE OF CONTENTS 

Each Proposal should be submitted with a table of contents that clearly identifies and denotes the 
location of all enclosures of the Proposal. The table of contents should follow the RFP ’s structure as 
much as is practical.

Each Proposal should be organized in the manner described below:

A. Transmittal Letter. Please see Section 2.3, Transmittal Letter, for more information. 

B. Table of Contents. 

C. Executive Summary. Please see Section 2.4, Executive Summary. 

D. Proposal Response to Criteria. (Please see the sections in this RFP package that list the 
Specifications & Cost Proposal, Experience and Qualifications, References, and Implementation 
Strategy to respond to our criteria in a clear and concise manner) 

E. Price Sheet. 

F. References: Identification of three (3) references within the last four (4) years, for which the 
Respondent is providing, or has provided, the goods and/or services (public sector) of the type 
requested in this RFP. Include the name, position/title, and telephone number of a contact person 
at each entity. 

G.  Conflict of Interest Questionnaire. 

H. Proposal Affidavit (Signature Page).

I. Attach your entities sample Contract, if applicable, for the County ’s review and consideration. This 
should include any additional terms or conditions. The County is not required to use the sample 
Contract submitted. 

2.3 TRANSMITTAL LETTER

The Respondent should submit a Transmittal Letter that provides the following information: 

A. Name and address of individual or business entity submitting the Proposal. 

B. Respondent ’s type of business entity (i.e., Corporation, General Partnership, Limited Partnership, 
LLC, etc.).  See Section 3.5, Signature of Respondent, for more information. 

C. Place of incorporation or organization, if applicable.

D. Name and location of major offices and other facilities that relate to the Respondent
performance under the terms of this RFP.

E. Name, physical address, email address, business and fax number of the Respondent ’s principal 
contact person regarding all contractual matters relating to this RFP.

F. The Respondent ’s Federal Employer Identification Number.

G. A commitment by the Respondent to provide the services required by the County;

H. A statement that the Proposal is valid for the time specified on page three (3), under the section 
named Prices Good for, of this Proposal packet. Any Proposal containing a term of less than the 
required amount, may at the County ’s sole discretion, be rejected as non-responsive.

I. If the Proposal being submitted will have an effect on air quality for the County (as it relates to any 
state, federal, or voluntary air quality standard), then the Respondent is encouraged to provide
information in narrative indicating the anticipated air quality impact. See Section 4.40, Air Quality 
for more information. 

The Transmittal Letter should be signed by a person legally authorized to bind the Respondent to the
representations in the Transmittal Letter and the Proposal.  In the case of a joint Proposal, each party 
must sign the Transmittal Letter.

2.4 EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

The Respondent should provide an Executive Summary of its Proposal that asserts that the Respondent 
is providing in its response all of the requirements of this RFP.  The Executive Summary should not 
include any information concerning the cost of the Proposal, but instead must represent a full and 
concise summary of the contents of the Proposal.  It is recommended the Executive Summary include 
the following information: 

A. Identify any goods and/or services that are provided beyond those specifically requested.  If the 
Respondent is providing services and/or goods that do not meet the specific requirements of this 
RFP, but in the opinion of the Respondent are equivalent or superior to those specifically 
requested, any such differences should be noted in the Executive Summary. However, the 
Respondent must realize that failure to provide the goods and/or services specifically required, at 
the County ’s sole discretion, may result in disqualification of the Proposal.

B. Indicate why the Respondent believes that it is the most qualified Respondent to provide the 
services described in this RFP.  The Successful Respondent must demonstrate extensive 
experience and understanding of the intent of this project.  The Respondent should describe in 
detail the current and historical experience the Respondent and its subcontractors have that 
would be relevant to completing the project.  References must contain the name of key personnel 
and telephone numbers for each contact, as described in Section 3.14, References.  

C. Briefly state why the Respondent believes its proposed goods and/or services best meet the 
County ’s needs and RFP requirements, and the Respondent also should concisely describe any 
additional features, aspects, or advantages of its goods and/or services in any relevant area not 
covered elsewhere in its Proposal.

2.5 CONFLICT OF INTEREST

No public official shall have interest in a contract, in accordance with Vernon ’s Texas Codes Annotated, 
Local Government Code, Title 5, Subtitle C, Chapter 171, as amended. 

As of January 1, 2006, all Respondents are responsible for complying with Local Government Code, Title 
5, Subtitle C, Chapter 176.  Additional information may be obtained from the County’s website at the 
following link: 

http://www.wilco.org/CountyDepartments/Purchasing/ConflictofInterestDisclosure/tabid/689/language/en
US/Default.aspx

Each Respondent must disclose any existing or potential conflict of interest relative to the performance of 
the requirements of this RFP.  Examples of potential conflicts of interest may include an existing 
business or personal relationship between the Respondent, its principal, or any affiliate or 
subcontractor with the County or any other entity or person involved in any way with the project 
that is subject to this RFP.  Similarly, any personal or business relationship between the Respondent, 
the principals, or any affiliate or subcontractor with any employee, or official of the County or its suppliers 
must be disclosed.  Any such relationship that might be perceived or represented as a conflict must be 
disclosed. Failure to disclose any such relationship or reveal personal relationships with the County 
employees or officials may be cause for termination. 

The County will decide if an actual or perceived conflict should result in Proposal disqualification. 

By submitting a Proposal in response to this RFP, all Respondents affirm they have not given, nor intend 
to give, at any time hereafter, any economic opportunity, future employment, gift, loan, gratuity, special 
discount, trip, favor, or service to a the County public servant or any employee, official or representative 
of same, in connection with this procurement. 

Each Respondent must provide a Conflict of Interest Statement with their Proposal Package.  

Package may be deemed incomplete without this form.  

2.6 CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PARTIES – FORM 1295

As of January 1, 2016, all Respondents are responsible for complying with the Texas Government Code, 
Section 2252.908.  The law states that the County may not enter into certain contracts with a 
Respondent unless the Respondent submits a disclosure of interested parties to the County at the time 
the Respondent submits the signed contract.  The law applies only to a contract of the County on or after 
January 1, 2016 that either:

A. Requires an action or vote by the Commissioners Court before the contract may be signed (all 
contracts that fall under the jurisdiction of the Commissioners Court approval, such as contracts 
resulting from an Initiation for Bid (IFB), RFP, Request for Qualifications (RFQ), etc., excluding, 
but not limited to, certain Juvenile Service contracts, contracts funded with Sheriff ’s seized fun 
monies, etc.); or

B. Has a value of at least $1,000,000. 

By January 1, 2016, the Texas Ethics Commission will make available on its website, a new filing 
application that must be used to file Form 1295.  Information regarding how to use the filing application is 
available on the Texas Ethics Commission website at the following link:

https://www.ethics.state.tx.us/whatsnew/elf_info_form1295.htm

A Respondent must:

A. Use the online application to process the required information on Form 1295.

B. Print a copy of the form which will contain a unique certification number.

C. An authorized agent of the Respondent must sign the printed copy of the form.

D. Have the form notarized.

E. File the completed Form 1295 and certification of filing (scanning and emailing form is sufficient) 
with Williamson County Purchasing Agent at the time the signed Contract is submitted for 
approval.

After the Commissioners Court award of the contract, the County shall notify the Texas Ethics 
Commission, using the Texas Ethics Commission ’s filing application, of the receipt of the filed Form 
1295 and certification of filing not later than the 30th day after the date the contract binds all parties to the 
contract. The Texas Ethics Commission will post the completed Form 1295 to its website within seven 
business days after receiving notice from the County.

2.7 PROPOSAL SUBMITTAL DEADLINE

The Proposal is due no later than the submittal date and time set forth in the Public Announcement and 
General Information listed in this RFP package.  Contents of each Proposal shall be submitted in 
accordance with this RFP.

2.8 ETHICS

The Respondent shall not accept or offer gifts or anything of value, nor enter into any business 
arrangement with any employee, official or agent of the County.

2.9 DELIVERY OF PROPOSALS

The County uses BidSync to distribute and receive bids and Proposals.  It is preferred that Proposals
be submitted electronically through BidSync; however, Respondents can submit a hard copy.  

Refer to www.bidsync.com for further information on how to submit electronically.

If mailed or delivered in person, Proposal and Proposal Addenda are to be delivered in sealed envelope
on or before the submittal deadline, as noted in the Public Announcement and General Information listed 
in this RFP package, to:

            Williamson County Purchasing Department
            Attn: Proposal Name and Number
            901 South Austin Avenue
            Georgetown, Texas 78626

Also, all Respondents should list their Name and Address, and the Date of the Proposal opening on the
outside of the box or envelope and note “Sealed Proposal Enclosed.” Williamson County will not accept 
any Proposals after the submittal deadline, and shall return such Proposals unopened to the 
Respondent.  The County will not accept any responsibility for Proposals being delivered by third party 
carriers. 

Proposals will be opened publicly; however, in a manner to avoid public disclosure of contents, only 
names of Respondents will be read aloud: no pricing will be announced at the opening. 

SECTION 3 - INSTRUCTIONS AND GENERAL REQUIREMENTS

3.1 INSTRUCTIONS

Read this document carefully, and follow all instructions and requirements.  All Respondents are 
responsible for fulfilling all requirements and specifications.  Be sure to have a clear understanding of this
RFP.

General requirements apply to all advertised RFPs; however, these may be superseded, in whole or in 
part, by the proposal specifications, Addenda and modifications issued as a part of this RFP.  Be sure 
your Proposal package is complete.

3.2 AMBIGUITY, CONFLICT, OR OTHER ERRORS IN THIS RFP

If a Respondent discovers any ambiguity, conflict, discrepancy, omission or other error in this RFP, the 
Respondent shall immediately notify the County Purchasing Department of such error in writing and
request modification or clarification of the document.

Modifications will be made by issuing Addenda. If the Respondent fails to notify the County prior to the
date and time fixed for submission of Proposals of an error or ambiguity in the RFP known to the
Respondent, or an error or ambiguity that reasonably should have been known to the Respondent, then 
the Respondent shall be deemed to have waived the error or ambiguity or its later resolution.

The County may also modify the RFP, no later than forty-eight (48) hours prior to the date and time fixed
for submission of Proposals, by issuance of an Addendum.  All Addenda will be numbered consecutively, 
beginning with one (1).

3.3 NOTIFICATION OF MOST CURRENT ADDRESS

All Respondents in receipt of this RFP shall notify the Williamson County Purchasing Department of any
address changes, contact person changes, and/or telephone number changes no later than forty-eight 
(48) hours prior to the date and time fixed for submission of Proposals.

3.4 SIGNATURE OF RESPONDENT

A Transmittal Letter, which shall be considered an integral part of the Proposal as stated in Section 2.3, 
Transmittal Letter, shall be signed by an individual who is authorized to bind the Respondent
contractually.

A. If the Respondent is a Corporation or Limited Liability Company, the legal name of the Corporation
or Limited Liability Company shall be provided together with the signature of the officer or officers 
authorized to sign on behalf of such entity.

B. If the Respondent is a General Partnership, the true name of the firm shall be provided with the
signature of each partner authorized to sign.

C. If the Respondent is a Limited Partnership, the name of the Limited Partner ’s General Partner
shall be provided with the signature of the officer authorized to sign on behalf of the General
Partner.

D. If the Respondent is a Sole Proprietor(s) (individual), each Sole Proprietor(s) shall sign.

E. If signature is by an agent, other than the Sole Proprietor(s) or an officer of a Corporation, Limited 
Liability Company, General Partner or a member of a General Partnership, a power of attorney
equivalent document must be submitted to the Williamson County Purchasing Department.

3.5 ASSUMED BUSINESS NAME

If the Respondent operates business under an Assumed Business Name, the Respondent must have
file with the Williamson County Clerk a current Assumed Name Certificate and provide a file marked copy 
of same prior to contract award.

3.6 ECONOMY OF PRESENTATION

Proposals should not contain promotional or display materials, except as they may directly answer in 
whole or in part questions contained in the RFP.  Such exhibits shall be clearly marked with the 
applicable reference number of the question in the RFP.  Proposals must address the technical 
requirements as specified in the RFP.  All questions posed by the RFP must be answered concisely and 
clearly. Proposals that do not address each criterion may be, at the sole discretion of the County, 
rejected and not considered.

3.7 PROPOSAL OBLIGATION 

The contents of the RFP, Proposal, and any clarification thereof submitted by the Successful
Respondent shall become part of the contractual obligation and incorporated by reference into the 
Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s).

3.8 COMPLIANCE WITH RFP SPECIFICATIONS

It is intended that this RFP describe the requirements and the Proposal format in sufficient detail to 
secure comparable Proposal.  Failure to comply with all provisions of the RFP may, at the sole discretion 
of the County, result in disqualification.

3.9 EVALUATION 

The County reserves the right to use all pertinent information (also learned from sources other than 
disclosed in the RFP process) that might affect the County ’s judgment as to the appropriateness of
award to the best evaluated Respondent. This information may be appended to the Proposal evaluation
process results. Information on a Respondent from reliable sources, and not within the Respondent
Proposal, may also be noted and made part of the evaluation fi le.  The County shall have sole 
discretion for determining the reliability of the source.  The County reserves the right to conduct written 
and/or oral discussions/interviews after the Proposal opening.  The purpose of such 
discussions/interviews is to provide clarification and/or additional information to make an award that is in 
the best interest of the County.

3.10 WITHDRAWAL OF PROPOSAL

The Respondent may withdraw its Proposal by submitting a written request with the company letterhead 
and the signature of an authorized individual, as described in Section 3.4, Signature of Respondent, to 
the Williamson County Purchasing Department any time prior to the submission deadline.  

The Respondent may submit a new Proposal prior to the deadline. Alterations of the Proposal in any 
manner will not be considered if submitted after the deadline.  Withdrawal of a Proposal after the deadline 
will be subject to written approval of the Williamson County Purchasing Agent.

3.11 RESPONSIBILITY 

It is expected that a Respondent will be able to affirmatively demonstrate responsibility.  A prospective
Respondent should be able to meet the following requirements:

A. Have adequate financial resources, or the ability to obtain such resources as required;
B. Be able to comply with the required or proposed delivery schedule;
C. Have a satisfactory record of performance that can be determined thru references provided; and 
D. Be otherwise qualified and eligible to receive an award.

The County may request representation and other information sufficient to determine the Respondent
ability to meet these minimum standards listed above.

3.12 PURCHASE ORDERS

If required by the Williamson County Purchasing Department, a purchase order(s) may be generated to 
the Successful Respondent for goods and/or services.  If a purchase order is issued, the purchase order 
number must appear on all itemized invoices and/or requests for payment.

3.13 SILENCE OF SPECIFICATIONS

The apparent silence of any RFP specifications as to any detail or to the apparent omission from it of a 
detailed description concerning any point, shall be regarded as meaning that only the best practices are 
to prevail.  All interpretations of these specifications shall be made on the basis of this statement.

3.14 REFERENCES

Respondents shall furnish a list of contracts where similar responsibilities and goods and/or services 
have been required and/or performed for the past five (5) years, to include names, titles, phone numbers 
and email addresses of reference contacts, contract numbers and dates of performance. 

Also, Respondents shall include a list of any contracts that have been cancelled or terminated within the 
last five (5) years, along with an explanation of the cancellation and the names, email address and phone 
number of a reference person with that institution. 

The County may contact some or all of the references in order to determine the Respondent
performance record on work similar to that described in this RFP.  The County reserves the right to 
contact references other than those provided in the response and to use the information gained from 
them in the evaluation process. 

References should be provided in accordance with this RFP.  Proposal may not be deemed complete 
without the inclusion of requested references.

SECTION 4 - TERMS AND CONDITIONS

4.1 VENUE AND GOVERNING LAW

The Respondent hereby agrees and acknowledges that venue and jurisdiction of any suit, right, or cause 
of action arising out of or in connection with this RFP, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s), shall 
lie exclusively in either Williamson County, Texas or in the Austin Division of the Western Federal District 
of Texas, and the parties hereto expressly consent and submit to such jurisdiction.  Furthermore, except 
to the extent that this RFP, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) is governed by the laws of the 
United States, this RFP, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be governed by and 
construed in accordance with the laws of the State of Texas, excluding, however, its choice of law rules.

4.2 INCORPORATION BY REFERENCE AND PRECEDENCE

A. The Contract shall be derived from the RFP and its Addenda (if applicable), and the Respondent
Proposal.  In the event of a dispute under the Contract, applicable documents will be referred to 
for the purpose of clarification or for additional detail in the following order of precedence:

1. The RFP and its Addenda (if applicable); and 

2. The Respondent ’s Proposal.

B. In the event the County requires that an Ensuing Agreement be executed following award and a 
dispute arises between the terms and conditions of the Ensuing Agreement, the RFP and its 
Addenda (if applicable), and the Respondent ’s Proposal, applicable documents will be referred to 
for the purpose of clarification or for additional detail in the following order of precedence: 

1. The terms and conditions of the Ensuing Agreement;

2. The RFP and its Addenda; and  

3. The Respondent ’s Proposal.

4.3 OWNERSHIP OF PROPOSAL

Each Proposal shall become the property of the County upon submittal and will not be returned to 
Respondents unless received after the submittal deadline.

4.4 DISQUALIFICATION OF RESPONDENT

Upon signing and submittal of the Proposal, a Respondent offering to sell supplies, materials, services, 
or equipment to the County, certifies that the Respondent has not violated the antitrust laws of the State 
of Texas codified in Business & Commerce Code, Section 15.01, or the Federal Antitrust Laws, and has 
not communicated directly or indirectly the offer made to any competitor or any other person engaged
such line of business.  Any or all Proposals may be rejected if the County believes that collusion exists 
among the Respondents.

4.5 FUNDING

The County intends to budget and make sufficient funds available and authorize funds for expenditure to 
finance the costs of the Contract.  All Respondents understand and agree that the County’s payment of 
amounts under the Contract shall be contingent on the County receiving appropriations or other 
expenditure authority sufficient to allow the County, in the exercise of reasonable administrative 
discretion, to make payments under this Contract.

4.6 ASSIGNMENT, SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS 

The Successful Respondent may not assign, sell, or otherwise transfer the Contract or any other rights 
or interests obtained under the Contract without written permission of the Williamson County the 
Commissioners Court.  The Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be binding upon and inure to 
the benefit of the contracting parties hereto and their respective successors and permitted assigns.

4.7 IMPLIED REQUIREMENTS

Products or services not specifically described or required in the RFP, but are necessary to provide the 
functional capabilities described by the Respondent, shall be implied and deemed to be included in the
Proposal.

4.8 TERMINATION

A. Termination for Cause: The County reserves the right to terminate the Contract and/or any 
Ensuing Agreement(s) for default if the Successful Respondent breaches any of the Proposal
specifications, terms and conditions, including warranties of the Respondent, if any, or if the 
Successful Respondent becomes insolvent or commits acts of bankruptcy.  Such right of 
termination is in addition to and not in lieu of any other remedies the County may have at law or
equity or as may otherwise be provided hereunder.  Default may be construed as, but not limited 
to, failure to deliver the proper goods and/or services within the proper amount of time, and/or to 
properly perform any and all other requirements to the County ’s satisfaction, and/or to meet all 
other obligations and requirements.

B. Termination for Convenience: The County may terminate the Contract and/or any Ensuing 
Agreement(s) for convenience and without cause or further liability, upon no less than thirty (30) 
calendar days written notice to the Successful Respondent. The County reserves the right to 
extend this period if it is in the best interest of the County.  In the event the County exercises its 
right to terminate without cause, it is understood and agreed that only the amounts due to the 
Successful Respondent for goods, commodities and/or services provided and expenses incurred 
to and including the date of termination, will be due and payable.  No penalty will be assessed for 
the County ’s termination for convenience.

4.9 NON-PERFORMANCE

It is the objective of the County to obtain complete and satisfactory performance of the requirements set 
forth herein.  In addition to any other remedies available at law, in equity or that may be set out herein, 
failure to perform may result in a deduction of payment equal to the amount of the goods and/or services 
that were not provided and/or performed to the County ’s satisfaction.  

In the event of such non-performance, the County shall have the right, but shall not be obligated, to 
complete the services itself or by others and/or purchase the goods from other sources.  If the County 
elects to acquire the goods or perform the services itself or by others, pursuant to the foregoing, the 
Successful Respondent shall reimburse the County, within ten (10) calendar days of demand, for all 
costs incurred by the County (including, without limitation, applicable, general, and administrative 
expenses, and field overhead, and the cost of necessary equipment, materials, and field labor) in 
correcting the nonperformance which the Successful Respondent fails to meet pursuant to the 
requirements set out herein.  In the event the Successful Respondent refuses to reimburse the County 
as set out in this provision, the County shall have the right to deduct such reimbursement amounts from 
any amounts that may be then owing or that may become owing in the future to the Successful
Respondent.

4.10 PROPRIETARY INFORMATION AND THE TEXAS PUBLIC INFORMATION ACT

All material submitted to the County shall become public property and subject to the Texas Public 
Information Act upon receipt. If a Respondent does not desire proprietary information in the Proposal to 
be disclosed, each page must be clearly identified and marked proprietary at time of submittal or, more 
preferably, all proprietary information may be placed in a folder or appendix and be clearly identified and 
marked as being proprietary.  Failure to clearly identify and mark information as being proprietary as set 
forth under this provision will result in all unmarked information being deemed non-proprietary and 
available to the public.  For all information that has not been clearly identified and marked as proprietary 
by the Respondent, the County may choose to place such information on the County ’s website and/or a 
similar public database without obtaining any type of prior consent from the Respondent.

The County will, to the extent allowed by law, endeavor to protect from public disclosure the information 
that has been identified and marked as proprietary.  The final decision as to what information must be 
disclosed, however, lies with the Texas Attorney General.  

To the extent, if any, that any provision in this RFP or in the Respondent ’s Proposal is in conflict with 
Texas Government Code, Chapter 552, as amended (the “Public Information Act”), the same shall be of 
no force or effect.  Furthermore, it is expressly understood, and agreed, that the County, and its officers 
and employees, may request advice, decisions and opinions of the Attorney General of the State of
Texas in regard to the application of the Public Information Act to any items or data furnished to the 
County as to whether or not the same are available to the public.  It is further understood that that the 
County, and its officers and employees, shall have the right to rely on the advice, decisions and opinions 
of the Attorney General, and that the County, its officers and employees shall have no liability or obligation 
to any party hereto for the disclosure to the public, or to any person or persons, of any items or data 
furnished to the County by a party hereto, in reliance of any advice, decision or opinion of the Attorney 
General of the State of Texas.

4.11 RIGHT TO AUDIT

The Successful Respondent agrees that the County or its duly authorized representatives shall, until the 
expiration of three (3) years after termination or expiration of the services to be performed, have access 
to and the right to examine and photocopy any and all books, documents, papers and records of the 
Successful Respondent, which are directly pertinent to the services to be performed or goods to
delivered for the purposes of making audits, examinations, excerpts and transcriptions.  The Successful 
Respondent agrees that the County shall have access during normal working hours to all necessary 
facilities and shall be provided adequate and appropriate work space in order to conduct audits in 
compliance with the provisions of this section.  The County shall give the Successful Respondent 
reasonable advance notice of intended audits.

4.12 TESTING AND INSPECTIONS

The County reserves the right to inspect and test equipment, supplies, materials and goods for quality 
and compliance with this RFP, and ability to meet the needs of the user.  Demonstration units must be 
available for review.  Should the goods or services fail to meet requirements and/or be unavailable for 
evaluation, the County can deem the Respondent to be in breach and terminate the Contract and/or any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

4.13 PROPOSAL PREPARATION COSTS

The cost of developing Proposals is the sole responsibility of the Respondents and shall not be charged 
to the County.  There is no expressed or implied obligation for the County to reimburse the Respondents 
for any expense incurred in preparing a Proposal in response to this RFP and the County will not 
reimburse the Respondents for such expenses.

4.14 INDEMNIFICATION

The Successful Respondent shall indemnify, defend and save harmless, the County, its officials, 
employees, agents and agent ’s employees from, and against, all claims, liability, and expenses including 
reasonable attorneys ’ fees, arising from activities of the Respondent, its agents, servants or employees, 
performed hereunder that result from the negligent act, error, or omission of the Respondent or any of 
the Respondent ’s agents, servants or employees, as well as all claims of loss or damage to the 
Respondent ’s and the County ’s property, equipment, and/or supplies. 

Furthermore, the County, its officials, employees, agents and agents ’ employees shall not be liable for 
damages to the Successful Respondent arising from any act of any third party, including, but not limited 
to, theft.  The Successful Respondent further agrees to indemnify, defend and save harmless, the 
County from its officials, employee, agents and agents ’ employees against all claims of whatever nature 
arising from any accident, injury, or damage whatsoever, caused to any person, or the property of any 
person, occurring in relation to the Successful Respondent ’s performance of any services requested 
hereunder during the term of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s). 

The Successful Respondent shall timely report all claims, demands, suits, actions, proceedings, liens or 
judgements to the County and shall, upon the receipt of any claim, demand, suit, action, proceeding, lien 

or judgement, not later than the fifteenth (15 th) day of each month; provide the County with a written 
report on each such matter, setting forth the status of each matter, the schedule or planned proceedings 
with respect to each matter and the cooperation or assistance, if any, of the County required by the 
Successful Respondent in the defense of each matter.  The Successful Respondent’s duty to defend, 
indemnify and hold the County harmless shall be absolute.  It shall not abate or end by reason of the 
expiration or termination of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s), unless otherwise agreed by 
the County in writing.  The provisions of this section shall survive the termination of the Contract and shall 
remain in full force and effect with respect to all such matters no matter when they arise. 

In the event of any dispute between the parties, as to whether a claim, demand, suit, action, proceeding, 
lien or judgement, that appears to have been caused by or appears to have arisen out of or in connection 
with acts or omissions of the County, the Respondent shall nevertheless fully defend such claim, 
demand, suit or action, proceeding, lien or judgement, until and unless there is  a determination by a 
court of competent jurisdiction that the acts and omissions of the Respondent are not an issue in the 
matter. 

The Successful Respondent ’s indemnification shall cover, and the Successful Respondent agrees to, 
indemnify the County, in the event the County is found to have been negligent for having selected the 
Successful Respondent to perform the work described in this request.  The provision by the Successful 
Respondent of insurance shall not limit the liability of the Successful Respondent under the Contract 
and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s). 

4.15 WAIVER OF SUBROGATION

The Successful Respondent and the Successful Respondent ’s insurance carrier waive any and all rights 
whatsoever with regard to subrogation against the County as an indirect party to any suit arising out of 
personal or property damages resulting from the Respondent ’s performance under this Contract and any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

4.16 RELATIONSHIP OF THE PARTIES

The Successful Respondent shall be an independent contractor and shall assume all of the rights, 
obligations, liabilities, applicable to it as such independent contractor hereunder and any provisions 
herein which may appear to give the County the right to direct the Successful Respondent as to details of 
doing work herein covered, or to exercise a measure of control over the work, shall be deemed to mean 
that the Successful Respondent shall follow the desires of the County in the results of the work only.  The 
County shall not retain or have the right to control the Successful Respondent ’s means, methods or 
details pertaining to the Successful Respondent ’s performance of the work.  The County and the 
Successful Respondent hereby agree and declare that the Successful Respondent is an independent 
contractor and as such meets the qualifications of an “Independent Contractor” under Texas Workers 
Compensation Act, Texas Labor Code, Section 406.141, that the Successful Respondent is not an 
employee of  the County, and that the Successful Respondent and its employees, agents and 
subcontractors shall not be entitled to workers compensation coverage or any other type of insurance 
coverage held by the County.

4.17 SOLE PROVIDER

The Successful Respondent agrees and acknowledges that it shall not be considered a sole provider of 
the goods and/or services described herein and that the County may contract with other providers of 
such goods and/or services if the County deems, at its sole discretion, that multiple providers of the 
same goods and/or services will serve the best interest of the County.

4.18 FORCE MAJEURE

If the party obligated to perform is prevented from performance by an act of war, order of legal authority, 
act of God, or other unavoidable cause not attributable to the fault or negligence of said party, the other 
party shall grant such party relief from the performance.  The burden of proof for the need of such relief 
shall rest upon the party obligated to perform.  To obtain release based on force majeure, the party 
obligated to perform shall file a written request with the other party.

4.19 SEVERABILITY

If any provision of this RFP, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be held invalid or 
unenforceable by any court of competent jurisdiction, such holding shall not invalidate or render 
unenforceable any other provision thereof, but rather the entire RFP, Contract or any Ensuing Agreement
(s) will be construed as if not containing the particular invalid or unenforceable provision or provisions, 
and the rights and obligation of the parties shall be construed and enforced in accordance therewith.  The 
parties acknowledge that if any provision of this RFP, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) is 
determined to be invalid or unenforceable, it is the desire and intention of each that such provision be 
reformed and construed in such a manner that it will, to the maximum extent practicable, give effect to
the intent of this RFP, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) and be deemed to be validated and
enforceable.

4.20 EQUAL OPPORTUNITY

Neither party shall discriminate against any employee or applicant for employment because of race, 
color, sex, religion or national origin.

4.21 NOTICE

Any notice to be given shall be in writing and may be distributed by personal delivery, or by registered or 
certified mail, return receipt requested, addressed to the proper party, at the following address:

The County:    Williamson County Purchasing Department 
            Attn: Purchasing Agent 
            901 South Austin Avenue 
            Georgetown, Texas 78626

The Respondent: Address set out in Respondent ’s Transmittal Letter

Notices given in accordance with this provision shall be effective upon (1) receipt by the party to which 
notice is given, or (2) on the third (3rd) calendar day following mailing, whichever occurs first.

4.22 SALES AND USE TAX EXEMPTION

The County is a body, corporate and politic, under the laws of the State of Texas and claims exemption 
from sales and use taxes under Texas Tax Code, Section 151.309, as amended, and the services and/or 
goods subject hereof are being secured for use by the County.

4.23 COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS

The County and the Successful Respondent shall comply with all federal, state, and local laws, statutes,
ordinances, rules and regulations, and the orders and decrees of any courts or administrative bodies or 
tribunals in any matter affecting the performance of the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s),
including, without limitation, Workers ’ Compensation laws, salary and wage statutes and regulations, 
licensing laws and regulations.  When required, the Successful Respondent shall furnish the County with 
certification of compliance with said laws, statues, ordinances, rules, regulations, orders, and decrees 
above specified.

4.24 INCORPORATION OF EXHIBITS, APPENDICES AND ATTACHMENTS

All of the Exhibits, Appendices and Attachments referred to herein are incorporated by reference as if set 
forth verbatim herein.  Any conflicting terms in the Contract documents will be resolved at the sole 
discretion of the Commissioners Court.

4.25 NO WAIVER OF IMMUNITIES

Nothing herein shall be deemed to waive, modify or amend any legal defense available at law or in equity 
to the County, its past or present officers, employees, or agents, nor to create any legal rights or claim on 
behalf of any third party.  The County does not waive, modify, or alter to any extent whatsoever the 
availability of the defense of governmental immunity under the laws of the State of Texas and of the 
United States.

4.26 NO WAIVER

The failure or delay of any party to enforce at any time or any period of time any of the provisions of this 
RFP, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall not constitute a present or future waiver of such 
provisions nor the right of either party to enforce each and every provision.  Furthermore, no term or 
provision hereof shall be deemed waived and no breach excused unless such waiver or consent shall be 
in writing and signed by the party claimed to have waived or consented.  Any consent by any party to, or 
waiver of, a breach by the other, whether expressed or implied, shall not constitute a consent to, waiver 
of or excuse for any other, different or subsequent breach.

4.27 CURRENT REVENUES

The obligations of the parties under the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) do not constitute a 
general obligation or indebtedness of the County for which the County is obligated to levy, pledge, or 
collect any of taxation.  It is understood and agreed that the County shall have the right to terminate the 
Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) at the end of any the County fiscal year if the governing body of 
the County does not appropriate sufficient funds as determined by the County ’s budget for the fiscal year 
in question.  The County may effect such termination by giving written notice of termination to the 
Successful Respondent at the end of its then-current fiscal year.

4.28 BINDING EFFECT

This Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties 
and their respective permitted assigns and successors.

4.29 ASSIGNMENT

The Successful Respondent ’s interest and duties hereunder may not be assigned or delegated to a third 
party without the express written consent of the County.

4.30 SAFETY

The Successful Respondent is responsible for initiating, maintaining, and supervising all safety 
precautions and programs in connection with any services to be provided hereunder. The safety program 
shall comply with all applicable requirements of the current federal Occupational Safety and Health Act 
and all other applicable federal, state and local laws and regulations.

4.31 GENERAL OBLIGATIONS AND RELIANCE

The Successful Respondent shall perform all services and/or provide all goods, as well as those
reasonably inferable and necessary for completion and provision of services and/or goods required
hereunder. The Successful Respondent shall keep the County informed of the progress and quality
the services.  The Successful Respondent agrees and acknowledges that the County is relying on the 
Successful Respondent's represented expertise and ability to provide the goods and/or services 
described herein.  The Successful Respondent agrees to use its best efforts, skill, judgment, and abilities
to perform its obligations in accordance with the highest standards used in the profession and to further 
the interests of the County in accordance with the County ’s requirements and procedures.  The 
Successful Respondent ’s duties, as set forth herein, shall at no time be in any way diminished by reason
of any approval by the County, nor shall the Successful Respondent be released from any liability
reason of such approval by the County, it being understood that the County at all times is ultimately 
relying upon the Successful Respondent ’s skill and knowledge in performing the services and providing 
any goods required hereunder.

4.32 CONTRACTUAL DEVELOPMENT

The Commissioners Court may award the Contract on the basis of the initial Proposals received, without
any further or additional discussions.  Therefore, each initial Proposal should contain the Respondent
best terms and offer.  The contents of the RFP and the selected Proposal will become an integral part of 
the Contract, but may be modified, at Williamson County ’s sole discretion, by provisions of an Ensuing 
Agreement.  Therefore, the Respondent must agree to inclusion in an Ensuing Agreement of the 
Proposal specifications, terms and conditions of this RFP.  Williamson County may, at its discretion, opt 
to conduct further discussions with responsible offerors and request the highest ranked firm ’s Best and 
Final Offer (BAFO).

4.33 ENTIRE AGREEMENT

The Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall supersede all prior Agreements, written or oral 
between the Successful Respondent and the County and shall constitute the entire Agreement and 
understanding between the parties with respect to the services and/or goods to be provided.  Each of the 
provisions herein shall be binding upon the parties and may not be waived, modified, amended or altered, 
except by writing signed by the Successful Respondent and the County.

4.34 SURVIVABILITY 

All applicable agreements that were entered into between the Successful Respondent and the County, 
under the terms and conditions of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s), shall survive the 
expiration or termination thereof for ninety (90) days unless a new contract has been awarded.

The County may exercise, by written notice to the Successful Respondent no later than ten (10) calendar 
days of the Contract expiration, this clause for emergency cases only. 

4.35 PAYMENT

The County ’s payment for goods and services shall be governed by the Texas Government Code, 

Chapter 2251.  An invoice shall be deemed overdue the thirty-first (31st) day after the later of the 
following: 

A. The date the County receives the goods under the Contract; 
B. The date the performance of the service under the Contract is completed; or 
C. The date the Williamson County Auditor receives an invoice for the goods or services.  

Interest charges for any overdue payments shall be paid by the County in accordance with Texas 
Government Code, Section 2251.025.  More specifically, the rate of interest that shall accrue on a late 
payment is the rate in effect on September 1 of the County ’s fiscal year in which the payment becomes 
due.  The said rate in effect on September 1 shall be equal to the sum of one (1) percent and the prime 

rate published in the Wall Street Journal on the first (1st) day of July of the preceding fiscal year that does 
not fall on a Saturday or Sunday.

In the event that an error appears in an invoice submitted by the Successful Respondent, the County 
shall notify the Successful Respondent of the error not later than the twenty-first (21st) day after the date 
the County receives the invoice.  If the error is resolved in favor of the Successful Respondent, the 
Successful Respondent shall be entitled to receive interest on the unpaid balance of the invoice 
submitted by the Successful Respondent beginning on the date that the payment for the invoice became 
overdue.  If the error is resolved in favor of the County, the Successful Respondent shall submit a 
corrected invoice that must be paid in accordance within the time set forth above.  The unpaid balance 
accrues interest as provided by the Texas Government Code, Chapter 2251, if the corrected invoice is 
not paid by the appropriate date.

As a minimum, invoices shall include:

A. Name, address, and telephone number of the Successful Respondent and similar information in 
the event the payment is to be made to a different address. 

B. The County Contract, Purchase Order. 

C. Identification of items or service as outlined in the Contract.

D. Quantity or quantities, applicable unit prices, total prices and total amount.

E. Any additional payment information which may be called for by the Contract.

Payment inquiries should be directed to the following address:        

            Williamson County Auditor’s Office, Accounts Payable Department
            Email: accountspayable@wilco.org
            Phone: 512-943-1500

4.36 CONTRACTUAL FORMATION AND ENSUING AGREEMENT

The RFP and the Respondent ’s Proposal, when properly accepted by the Commissioners Court, shall 
constitute a Contract equally binding between the Successful Respondent and the County.  The 
Successful Respondent may be required by Williamson County to sign an additional Agreement 
containing terms necessary to ensure compliance with the RFP and Respondent ’s Proposal.

4.37 LEGAL LIABILITY INFORMATION

The Successful Respondent shall disclose all legal liability information by listing any pending litigation
anticipated litigation that your firm is involved in including, but not limited to, potential or actual legal
matters with private parties and any local, state, federal or international governmental entities. The
County reserves the right to consider legal liability information in the recommendation of any proposed 
contract to the Commissioners Court.

4.38 CONFIDENTIALITY

Respondent expressly agrees that it will not use any direct or incidental confidential information that may
be obtained while working in a governmental setting for its own benefit, and agrees that it will not access
unauthorized areas or confidential information and it will not disclose any information to unauthorized
third parties, and will take care to guard the security of the information at all times.

4.39 INCLEMENT WEATHER

In case of inclement weather or any other unforeseen event causing the County to close for business on 
the date of a Proposal submission deadline, the Proposal closing will automatically be postponed until the 
next business day the County is open.  If inclement weather conditions or any other unforeseen event 
causes delays in carrier service operations, the County may issue an Addendum to all known 
Respondents interested in the project to extend the deadline.  It will be the responsibility of the 
Respondent to notify the County of their interest in the project if these conditions are impacting their 
ability to turn in a submission within the stated deadline.  The County reserves the right to make the final 
judgement call to extend any deadline. 

4.40 AIR QUALITY

In determining the overall best Proposal, the County may, to the extent applicable, exercise the option 
granted to local governments under the Texas Local Government Code, Section 271.907.

This option allows the County to evaluate Proposals and give preference to goods and/or services of
Respondent that demonstrates that the Respondent meets or exceeds any and all state or federal 
environmental standards, including voluntary standards, relating to air quality.  If the Proposal being 
submitted will have an effect on air quality for the County (as it relates to any state, federal, or voluntary 
air quality standard), then the Respondent is encouraged to provide information in narrative indicating the 
anticipated air quality impact.  All Respondents are expected to meet all mandated state and federal air 
quality standards.

4.41 COOPERATIVE PURCHASING PROGRAM 

During the term of the Contract resulting from this RFP, the County would like to afford the same prices, 
terms and conditions to other political subdivisions or public entities.  Another entity’s participation in the 
Contract resulting from this RFP is subject to a properly authorized Purchasing Cooperative Inter- local 
Agreement (ILA) with the County.  Any liability created by purchase orders issued against the Contract 
shall be the sole responsibility of the governmental agency placing the order.

4.42 PREVAILING WAGE RATES

To the extent this procurement is for the construction of a public work, including a building, highway, 
road, excavation, and repair work or other project development or improvement, paid for in whole or in 
part from public funds, without regard to whether the work is done under public supervision or direction, 
Texas Government Code, Chapter 2258, shall apply and the contractor shall pay not less than the wage 
scale of the various classes of labor as shown on the “Prevailing Wage Schedule” provided by the 
County. Pursuant to Texas Government Code, Section 2258.022(a)(2), the County has determined the 
general prevailing rate of the “Prevailing Wage Schedule”  in the locality in which the public work is to be 
performed for each craft or type of worker needed to execute the contract and the prevailing rate for legal 
holiday and overtime work by using the prevailing wage rate as determined by the United States 
Department of Labor in accordance with the United States Code, Section 276a (Davis-Bacon Act). 

The specified wage rates are minimum rates only, and are not representations that qualified labor 
adequate to perform the work is available locally at the prevailing wage rates. The County is not bound to 
pay—and will not consider—any claims for additional compensation made by any contractor because the 
contractor pays wages in excess of the applicable minimum rate contained in the Contract Documents. 
The “Prevailing Wage Schedule”  is not a representation that quantities of qualified labor adequate to 
perform the work may be found locally at the specified wage rates.

For classifications not shown, workers shall not be paid less than the wage indicated for laborers. The 
contractor shall notify each worker commencing work on the project the worker ’s job classification and 
the established minimum wage rate required to be paid, as well as the actual amount being paid. The 
notice must be delivered to and signed in acknowledgement of receipt by the employee and must list 
both the monetary wages and fringe benefits to be paid or furnished for each classification in which the 
worker is assigned duties. When requested by the County, competent evidence of compliance with the 
Texas Prevailing Wage Law shall be furnished by contractor. A copy of each worker wage rate 
notification shall be submitted to the County with the Application for Payment for the period during which 
the worker began on-site activities.

Should the contractor at any time become aware that a particular skill or trade not reflected on the 
County ’s “Prevailing Wage Schedule” will be or is being employed in the work, whether by the contractor 
or by a subcontractor, the contractor shall promptly inform the County and shall specify a wage rate for 
that skill or trade, which shall bind the contractor.

The contractor and any subcontractor shall pay to the County a penalty of sixty dollars ($60.00) for each 
worker employed for each calendar day, or portion thereof, that the worker is paid less than the wage 
rates stipulated in the “Prevailing Wage Schedule” or any supplement thereto. The contractor and each 
subcontractor shall keep, or cause to be kept, an accurate record showing the names and occupations 
of all workers employed in connection with the work, and showing the actual per diem wages paid to 
each worker, which records shall be open at all reasonable hours for the inspection by the County.

Within thirty-one (31) days of receipt of information concerning a violation of the Texas Government Code 
Chapter 2258, the County shall make an initial determination as to whether good cause exists to believe 
a violation occurred. The County ’s decision on the initial determination shall be reduced to writing and 
sent to the contractor or subcontractor against whom the violation was alleged, and to the affected 
worker. When a good cause finding is made, the County shall retain the full amounts claimed by the 
claimant or claimants as the difference between wages paid and wages due under the “Prevailing Wage 
Schedule” and any supplements thereto, together with the applicable penalties, such amounts being 
subtracted from successive progress payments pending a final decision on the violation.

After the County makes its initial determination, the affected contractor or subcontractor and worker have 
fourteen (14) calendar days in which to resolve the issue of whether a violation occurred, including the 
amount that should be retained by the County or paid to the affected worker. If the contractor or 
subcontractor and affected worker reach an agreement concerning the worker ’s claim, the contractor 
shall promptly notify the County in a written document signed by the worker. It the contractor or 

Subcontractor and affected worker do not agree before the fifteenth (15 th) calendar day after the County
determination, the contractor or subcontractor and affected worker must participate in binding arbitration 
in accordance with the Texas General Arbitration Act, Chapter 171, (Texas Civil Practice and Remedies 
Code). The parties to the arbitration have ten (10) calendar days after the expiration of the fifteen (15) 

calendar days referred to above, to agree on an arbitrator; if by the eleventh (11 th) calendar day there is 
no agreement to an arbitrator, a district court shall appoint an arbitrator on the petition of any of the 
parties to the arbitration.

If an arbitrator determines that a violation has occurred, the arbitrator shall assess and award against the 
contractor or subcontractor the amount of penalty as provided above and the amount owed the worker. 
The County may use any amounts retained hereunder to pay the worker the amount as designated in the 
arbitration award. If the County has not retained enough from the contractor or subcontractor to pay the 
worker in accordance with the arbitration award, the worker has a right of action against the contractor 
and subcontractor as appropriate, and the surety of either to receive the amount owed, attorneys ’  fees 
and court costs. The contractor shall promptly furnish a copy of the arbitration award to the County.

Money retained pursuant to the provisions above shall be used to pay the claimant or claimants the 
difference between the amount the worker received in wages for labor on the project at the rate paid by 
the contractor or subcontractor and the amount the worker would have received at the general prevailing 
wage rate as provided by the agreement of the claimant and the contractor or subcontractor affected, or 
in the arbitrator ’s award. The full statutory penalty of sixty dollars ($60.00) per calendar day of violation 
per worker shall be retained by Williamson County to offset its administrative costs, pursuant to Texas 
Government Code, Section, 2258.023. Any retained funds in excess of these amounts shall be paid to 
the contractor on the earlier of the next progress payment or final payment. Provided, however, that the 
County shall have no duty to release any funds to either the claimant or the contractor until it has 
received the notices of agreement or the arbitration award as provided under the provision herein-above.

4.43 CONFIDENTALITY

The Respondent expressly agrees that it will not use any direct or incidental confidential information that 
may be obtained while working in a governmental setting for its own benefit, and agrees that it will not 
access unauthorized areas or confidential information and it will not disclose any information to 
unauthorized third parties, and will take care to guard the security of the information at all times.

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 369



5

6

3 4

Williamson County – Request for Proposal (RFP)

SECTION 1 - DEFINITIONS 

Addendum/Addenda – means any written or graphic instruments issued by the County prior to the 
consideration of Proposals which modify or interpret the Proposal Documents by additions, deletions, 
clarifications, or corrections.

Agreement/Ensuing Agreement(s) – means the Successful Respondent may be required by the 
County to sign an additional Agreement containing terms necessary to ensure compliance with the RFP 
and the Respondent ’s Proposal.  Such Ensuing Agreement(s) shall contain the Proposal specifications, 
terms and conditions that are derived from the RFP.

Contract – means this RFP and the Proposal of the Successful Respondent shall become a Contract 
between the Successful Respondent and the County once the Successful Respondent ’s Proposal is 
properly accepted by the Williamson County Commissioners Court (sometimes referred to herein as the 
Commissioner ’s Court”).

Commissioner ’s Court – means the Williamson County Commissioners Court. 

County – means Williamson County, a political subdivision of the State of Texas.

Executive Summary – means the document submitted by Respondent that represents a concise 
summary of the contents of the Proposal. It does not include any information concerning costs. 

Proposal Documents – means the Legal Notice, RFP including attachments, and any Addenda issued 
by the County prior to the consideration of any Proposals.

Proposal – means the complete, properly signed document, and ALL required forms and documentation 
listed in the proposal package which have been submitted in accordance with this RFP package. A 
Proposal submitted in accordance with this RFP is irrevocable during the specified time period for 
evaluation and acceptance of Proposals, unless a waiver is obtained from the Williamson County 
Purchasing Agent.

Respondent – means a person or entity who submits a Proposal in response to this RFP.

Request for Proposals (RFP) – means this document, together with the attachments thereto and any 
future Addenda issued by the County.

Successful Respondent– means the responsible Respondent who, in the County ’s sole opinion, 
submits the Proposal which is in the best interest of the County, taking into account factors identified 
herein, and to whom the County intends to award the Contract.

SECTION 2 - RESPONSE FORMAT AND SUBMISSION

2.1 INTRODUCTION

Each Proposal submitted in response to this RFP should clearly reference the numbered sections of this 
RFP that require a response.  Failure to arrange the Proposal as requested may result in the 
disqualification of the Proposal.

Though there is not a page limit for Proposals, to save natural resources including paper, and to allow the 
County staff to efficiently evaluate all submitted Proposals, the County requests that Proposals be 
orderly, concise, but comprehensive in providing the requested information.  Conciseness and clarity of 
content are emphasized and encouraged.  If mailed or delivered in person, please limit additional, non
requested information.

Please provide your Proposal response using:

A. 8 ½” x 11” pages, inclusive of any cover letter or supporting materials.

B. The least amount of plastic/laminate or other non-recyclable binding materials.

C. Single-sided printing.

Vague and general Proposals will be considered non-responsive, and may, at the County ’s sole 
discretion, result in disqualification. Proposals must be legible and complete.  Failure to provide the 
required information may result in the disqualification of the Proposal. All pages of the Proposal should 
be numbered and the Proposal should contain an organized, paginated table of contents corresponding 
to the sections and pages of the Proposal.

2.2 ORGANIZATION OF PROPOSAL CONTENTS AND TABLE OF CONTENTS 

Each Proposal should be submitted with a table of contents that clearly identifies and denotes the 
location of all enclosures of the Proposal. The table of contents should follow the RFP ’s structure as 
much as is practical.

Each Proposal should be organized in the manner described below:

A. Transmittal Letter. Please see Section 2.3, Transmittal Letter, for more information. 

B. Table of Contents. 

C. Executive Summary. Please see Section 2.4, Executive Summary. 

D. Proposal Response to Criteria. (Please see the sections in this RFP package that list the 
Specifications & Cost Proposal, Experience and Qualifications, References, and Implementation 
Strategy to respond to our criteria in a clear and concise manner) 

E. Price Sheet. 

F. References: Identification of three (3) references within the last four (4) years, for which the 
Respondent is providing, or has provided, the goods and/or services (public sector) of the type 
requested in this RFP. Include the name, position/title, and telephone number of a contact person 
at each entity. 

G.  Conflict of Interest Questionnaire. 

H. Proposal Affidavit (Signature Page).

I. Attach your entities sample Contract, if applicable, for the County ’s review and consideration. This 
should include any additional terms or conditions. The County is not required to use the sample 
Contract submitted. 

2.3 TRANSMITTAL LETTER

The Respondent should submit a Transmittal Letter that provides the following information: 

A. Name and address of individual or business entity submitting the Proposal. 

B. Respondent ’s type of business entity (i.e., Corporation, General Partnership, Limited Partnership, 
LLC, etc.).  See Section 3.5, Signature of Respondent, for more information. 

C. Place of incorporation or organization, if applicable.

D. Name and location of major offices and other facilities that relate to the Respondent
performance under the terms of this RFP.

E. Name, physical address, email address, business and fax number of the Respondent ’s principal 
contact person regarding all contractual matters relating to this RFP.

F. The Respondent ’s Federal Employer Identification Number.

G. A commitment by the Respondent to provide the services required by the County;

H. A statement that the Proposal is valid for the time specified on page three (3), under the section 
named Prices Good for, of this Proposal packet. Any Proposal containing a term of less than the 
required amount, may at the County ’s sole discretion, be rejected as non-responsive.

I. If the Proposal being submitted will have an effect on air quality for the County (as it relates to any 
state, federal, or voluntary air quality standard), then the Respondent is encouraged to provide
information in narrative indicating the anticipated air quality impact. See Section 4.40, Air Quality 
for more information. 

The Transmittal Letter should be signed by a person legally authorized to bind the Respondent to the
representations in the Transmittal Letter and the Proposal.  In the case of a joint Proposal, each party 
must sign the Transmittal Letter.

2.4 EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

The Respondent should provide an Executive Summary of its Proposal that asserts that the Respondent 
is providing in its response all of the requirements of this RFP.  The Executive Summary should not 
include any information concerning the cost of the Proposal, but instead must represent a full and 
concise summary of the contents of the Proposal.  It is recommended the Executive Summary include 
the following information: 

A. Identify any goods and/or services that are provided beyond those specifically requested.  If the 
Respondent is providing services and/or goods that do not meet the specific requirements of this 
RFP, but in the opinion of the Respondent are equivalent or superior to those specifically 
requested, any such differences should be noted in the Executive Summary. However, the 
Respondent must realize that failure to provide the goods and/or services specifically required, at 
the County ’s sole discretion, may result in disqualification of the Proposal.

B. Indicate why the Respondent believes that it is the most qualified Respondent to provide the 
services described in this RFP.  The Successful Respondent must demonstrate extensive 
experience and understanding of the intent of this project.  The Respondent should describe in 
detail the current and historical experience the Respondent and its subcontractors have that 
would be relevant to completing the project.  References must contain the name of key personnel 
and telephone numbers for each contact, as described in Section 3.14, References.  

C. Briefly state why the Respondent believes its proposed goods and/or services best meet the 
County ’s needs and RFP requirements, and the Respondent also should concisely describe any 
additional features, aspects, or advantages of its goods and/or services in any relevant area not 
covered elsewhere in its Proposal.

2.5 CONFLICT OF INTEREST

No public official shall have interest in a contract, in accordance with Vernon ’s Texas Codes Annotated, 
Local Government Code, Title 5, Subtitle C, Chapter 171, as amended. 

As of January 1, 2006, all Respondents are responsible for complying with Local Government Code, Title 
5, Subtitle C, Chapter 176.  Additional information may be obtained from the County’s website at the 
following link: 

http://www.wilco.org/CountyDepartments/Purchasing/ConflictofInterestDisclosure/tabid/689/language/en
US/Default.aspx

Each Respondent must disclose any existing or potential conflict of interest relative to the performance of 
the requirements of this RFP.  Examples of potential conflicts of interest may include an existing 
business or personal relationship between the Respondent, its principal, or any affiliate or 
subcontractor with the County or any other entity or person involved in any way with the project 
that is subject to this RFP.  Similarly, any personal or business relationship between the Respondent, 
the principals, or any affiliate or subcontractor with any employee, or official of the County or its suppliers 
must be disclosed.  Any such relationship that might be perceived or represented as a conflict must be 
disclosed. Failure to disclose any such relationship or reveal personal relationships with the County 
employees or officials may be cause for termination. 

The County will decide if an actual or perceived conflict should result in Proposal disqualification. 

By submitting a Proposal in response to this RFP, all Respondents affirm they have not given, nor intend 
to give, at any time hereafter, any economic opportunity, future employment, gift, loan, gratuity, special 
discount, trip, favor, or service to a the County public servant or any employee, official or representative 
of same, in connection with this procurement. 

Each Respondent must provide a Conflict of Interest Statement with their Proposal Package.  

Package may be deemed incomplete without this form.  

2.6 CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PARTIES – FORM 1295

As of January 1, 2016, all Respondents are responsible for complying with the Texas Government Code, 
Section 2252.908.  The law states that the County may not enter into certain contracts with a 
Respondent unless the Respondent submits a disclosure of interested parties to the County at the time 
the Respondent submits the signed contract.  The law applies only to a contract of the County on or after 
January 1, 2016 that either:

A. Requires an action or vote by the Commissioners Court before the contract may be signed (all 
contracts that fall under the jurisdiction of the Commissioners Court approval, such as contracts 
resulting from an Initiation for Bid (IFB), RFP, Request for Qualifications (RFQ), etc., excluding, 
but not limited to, certain Juvenile Service contracts, contracts funded with Sheriff ’s seized fun 
monies, etc.); or

B. Has a value of at least $1,000,000. 

By January 1, 2016, the Texas Ethics Commission will make available on its website, a new filing 
application that must be used to file Form 1295.  Information regarding how to use the filing application is 
available on the Texas Ethics Commission website at the following link:

https://www.ethics.state.tx.us/whatsnew/elf_info_form1295.htm

A Respondent must:

A. Use the online application to process the required information on Form 1295.

B. Print a copy of the form which will contain a unique certification number.

C. An authorized agent of the Respondent must sign the printed copy of the form.

D. Have the form notarized.

E. File the completed Form 1295 and certification of filing (scanning and emailing form is sufficient) 
with Williamson County Purchasing Agent at the time the signed Contract is submitted for 
approval.

After the Commissioners Court award of the contract, the County shall notify the Texas Ethics 
Commission, using the Texas Ethics Commission ’s filing application, of the receipt of the filed Form 
1295 and certification of filing not later than the 30th day after the date the contract binds all parties to the 
contract. The Texas Ethics Commission will post the completed Form 1295 to its website within seven 
business days after receiving notice from the County.

2.7 PROPOSAL SUBMITTAL DEADLINE

The Proposal is due no later than the submittal date and time set forth in the Public Announcement and 
General Information listed in this RFP package.  Contents of each Proposal shall be submitted in 
accordance with this RFP.

2.8 ETHICS

The Respondent shall not accept or offer gifts or anything of value, nor enter into any business 
arrangement with any employee, official or agent of the County.

2.9 DELIVERY OF PROPOSALS

The County uses BidSync to distribute and receive bids and Proposals.  It is preferred that Proposals
be submitted electronically through BidSync; however, Respondents can submit a hard copy.  

Refer to www.bidsync.com for further information on how to submit electronically.

If mailed or delivered in person, Proposal and Proposal Addenda are to be delivered in sealed envelope
on or before the submittal deadline, as noted in the Public Announcement and General Information listed 
in this RFP package, to:

            Williamson County Purchasing Department
            Attn: Proposal Name and Number
            901 South Austin Avenue
            Georgetown, Texas 78626

Also, all Respondents should list their Name and Address, and the Date of the Proposal opening on the
outside of the box or envelope and note “Sealed Proposal Enclosed.” Williamson County will not accept 
any Proposals after the submittal deadline, and shall return such Proposals unopened to the 
Respondent.  The County will not accept any responsibility for Proposals being delivered by third party 
carriers. 

Proposals will be opened publicly; however, in a manner to avoid public disclosure of contents, only 
names of Respondents will be read aloud: no pricing will be announced at the opening. 

SECTION 3 - INSTRUCTIONS AND GENERAL REQUIREMENTS

3.1 INSTRUCTIONS

Read this document carefully, and follow all instructions and requirements.  All Respondents are 
responsible for fulfilling all requirements and specifications.  Be sure to have a clear understanding of this
RFP.

General requirements apply to all advertised RFPs; however, these may be superseded, in whole or in 
part, by the proposal specifications, Addenda and modifications issued as a part of this RFP.  Be sure 
your Proposal package is complete.

3.2 AMBIGUITY, CONFLICT, OR OTHER ERRORS IN THIS RFP

If a Respondent discovers any ambiguity, conflict, discrepancy, omission or other error in this RFP, the 
Respondent shall immediately notify the County Purchasing Department of such error in writing and
request modification or clarification of the document.

Modifications will be made by issuing Addenda. If the Respondent fails to notify the County prior to the
date and time fixed for submission of Proposals of an error or ambiguity in the RFP known to the
Respondent, or an error or ambiguity that reasonably should have been known to the Respondent, then 
the Respondent shall be deemed to have waived the error or ambiguity or its later resolution.

The County may also modify the RFP, no later than forty-eight (48) hours prior to the date and time fixed
for submission of Proposals, by issuance of an Addendum.  All Addenda will be numbered consecutively, 
beginning with one (1).

3.3 NOTIFICATION OF MOST CURRENT ADDRESS

All Respondents in receipt of this RFP shall notify the Williamson County Purchasing Department of any
address changes, contact person changes, and/or telephone number changes no later than forty-eight 
(48) hours prior to the date and time fixed for submission of Proposals.

3.4 SIGNATURE OF RESPONDENT

A Transmittal Letter, which shall be considered an integral part of the Proposal as stated in Section 2.3, 
Transmittal Letter, shall be signed by an individual who is authorized to bind the Respondent
contractually.

A. If the Respondent is a Corporation or Limited Liability Company, the legal name of the Corporation
or Limited Liability Company shall be provided together with the signature of the officer or officers 
authorized to sign on behalf of such entity.

B. If the Respondent is a General Partnership, the true name of the firm shall be provided with the
signature of each partner authorized to sign.

C. If the Respondent is a Limited Partnership, the name of the Limited Partner ’s General Partner
shall be provided with the signature of the officer authorized to sign on behalf of the General
Partner.

D. If the Respondent is a Sole Proprietor(s) (individual), each Sole Proprietor(s) shall sign.

E. If signature is by an agent, other than the Sole Proprietor(s) or an officer of a Corporation, Limited 
Liability Company, General Partner or a member of a General Partnership, a power of attorney
equivalent document must be submitted to the Williamson County Purchasing Department.

3.5 ASSUMED BUSINESS NAME

If the Respondent operates business under an Assumed Business Name, the Respondent must have
file with the Williamson County Clerk a current Assumed Name Certificate and provide a file marked copy 
of same prior to contract award.

3.6 ECONOMY OF PRESENTATION

Proposals should not contain promotional or display materials, except as they may directly answer in 
whole or in part questions contained in the RFP.  Such exhibits shall be clearly marked with the 
applicable reference number of the question in the RFP.  Proposals must address the technical 
requirements as specified in the RFP.  All questions posed by the RFP must be answered concisely and 
clearly. Proposals that do not address each criterion may be, at the sole discretion of the County, 
rejected and not considered.

3.7 PROPOSAL OBLIGATION 

The contents of the RFP, Proposal, and any clarification thereof submitted by the Successful
Respondent shall become part of the contractual obligation and incorporated by reference into the 
Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s).

3.8 COMPLIANCE WITH RFP SPECIFICATIONS

It is intended that this RFP describe the requirements and the Proposal format in sufficient detail to 
secure comparable Proposal.  Failure to comply with all provisions of the RFP may, at the sole discretion 
of the County, result in disqualification.

3.9 EVALUATION 

The County reserves the right to use all pertinent information (also learned from sources other than 
disclosed in the RFP process) that might affect the County ’s judgment as to the appropriateness of
award to the best evaluated Respondent. This information may be appended to the Proposal evaluation
process results. Information on a Respondent from reliable sources, and not within the Respondent
Proposal, may also be noted and made part of the evaluation fi le.  The County shall have sole 
discretion for determining the reliability of the source.  The County reserves the right to conduct written 
and/or oral discussions/interviews after the Proposal opening.  The purpose of such 
discussions/interviews is to provide clarification and/or additional information to make an award that is in 
the best interest of the County.

3.10 WITHDRAWAL OF PROPOSAL

The Respondent may withdraw its Proposal by submitting a written request with the company letterhead 
and the signature of an authorized individual, as described in Section 3.4, Signature of Respondent, to 
the Williamson County Purchasing Department any time prior to the submission deadline.  

The Respondent may submit a new Proposal prior to the deadline. Alterations of the Proposal in any 
manner will not be considered if submitted after the deadline.  Withdrawal of a Proposal after the deadline 
will be subject to written approval of the Williamson County Purchasing Agent.

3.11 RESPONSIBILITY 

It is expected that a Respondent will be able to affirmatively demonstrate responsibility.  A prospective
Respondent should be able to meet the following requirements:

A. Have adequate financial resources, or the ability to obtain such resources as required;
B. Be able to comply with the required or proposed delivery schedule;
C. Have a satisfactory record of performance that can be determined thru references provided; and 
D. Be otherwise qualified and eligible to receive an award.

The County may request representation and other information sufficient to determine the Respondent
ability to meet these minimum standards listed above.

3.12 PURCHASE ORDERS

If required by the Williamson County Purchasing Department, a purchase order(s) may be generated to 
the Successful Respondent for goods and/or services.  If a purchase order is issued, the purchase order 
number must appear on all itemized invoices and/or requests for payment.

3.13 SILENCE OF SPECIFICATIONS

The apparent silence of any RFP specifications as to any detail or to the apparent omission from it of a 
detailed description concerning any point, shall be regarded as meaning that only the best practices are 
to prevail.  All interpretations of these specifications shall be made on the basis of this statement.

3.14 REFERENCES

Respondents shall furnish a list of contracts where similar responsibilities and goods and/or services 
have been required and/or performed for the past five (5) years, to include names, titles, phone numbers 
and email addresses of reference contacts, contract numbers and dates of performance. 

Also, Respondents shall include a list of any contracts that have been cancelled or terminated within the 
last five (5) years, along with an explanation of the cancellation and the names, email address and phone 
number of a reference person with that institution. 

The County may contact some or all of the references in order to determine the Respondent
performance record on work similar to that described in this RFP.  The County reserves the right to 
contact references other than those provided in the response and to use the information gained from 
them in the evaluation process. 

References should be provided in accordance with this RFP.  Proposal may not be deemed complete 
without the inclusion of requested references.

SECTION 4 - TERMS AND CONDITIONS

4.1 VENUE AND GOVERNING LAW

The Respondent hereby agrees and acknowledges that venue and jurisdiction of any suit, right, or cause 
of action arising out of or in connection with this RFP, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s), shall 
lie exclusively in either Williamson County, Texas or in the Austin Division of the Western Federal District 
of Texas, and the parties hereto expressly consent and submit to such jurisdiction.  Furthermore, except 
to the extent that this RFP, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) is governed by the laws of the 
United States, this RFP, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be governed by and 
construed in accordance with the laws of the State of Texas, excluding, however, its choice of law rules.

4.2 INCORPORATION BY REFERENCE AND PRECEDENCE

A. The Contract shall be derived from the RFP and its Addenda (if applicable), and the Respondent
Proposal.  In the event of a dispute under the Contract, applicable documents will be referred to 
for the purpose of clarification or for additional detail in the following order of precedence:

1. The RFP and its Addenda (if applicable); and 

2. The Respondent ’s Proposal.

B. In the event the County requires that an Ensuing Agreement be executed following award and a 
dispute arises between the terms and conditions of the Ensuing Agreement, the RFP and its 
Addenda (if applicable), and the Respondent ’s Proposal, applicable documents will be referred to 
for the purpose of clarification or for additional detail in the following order of precedence: 

1. The terms and conditions of the Ensuing Agreement;

2. The RFP and its Addenda; and  

3. The Respondent ’s Proposal.

4.3 OWNERSHIP OF PROPOSAL

Each Proposal shall become the property of the County upon submittal and will not be returned to 
Respondents unless received after the submittal deadline.

4.4 DISQUALIFICATION OF RESPONDENT

Upon signing and submittal of the Proposal, a Respondent offering to sell supplies, materials, services, 
or equipment to the County, certifies that the Respondent has not violated the antitrust laws of the State 
of Texas codified in Business & Commerce Code, Section 15.01, or the Federal Antitrust Laws, and has 
not communicated directly or indirectly the offer made to any competitor or any other person engaged
such line of business.  Any or all Proposals may be rejected if the County believes that collusion exists 
among the Respondents.

4.5 FUNDING

The County intends to budget and make sufficient funds available and authorize funds for expenditure to 
finance the costs of the Contract.  All Respondents understand and agree that the County’s payment of 
amounts under the Contract shall be contingent on the County receiving appropriations or other 
expenditure authority sufficient to allow the County, in the exercise of reasonable administrative 
discretion, to make payments under this Contract.

4.6 ASSIGNMENT, SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS 

The Successful Respondent may not assign, sell, or otherwise transfer the Contract or any other rights 
or interests obtained under the Contract without written permission of the Williamson County the 
Commissioners Court.  The Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be binding upon and inure to 
the benefit of the contracting parties hereto and their respective successors and permitted assigns.

4.7 IMPLIED REQUIREMENTS

Products or services not specifically described or required in the RFP, but are necessary to provide the 
functional capabilities described by the Respondent, shall be implied and deemed to be included in the
Proposal.

4.8 TERMINATION

A. Termination for Cause: The County reserves the right to terminate the Contract and/or any 
Ensuing Agreement(s) for default if the Successful Respondent breaches any of the Proposal
specifications, terms and conditions, including warranties of the Respondent, if any, or if the 
Successful Respondent becomes insolvent or commits acts of bankruptcy.  Such right of 
termination is in addition to and not in lieu of any other remedies the County may have at law or
equity or as may otherwise be provided hereunder.  Default may be construed as, but not limited 
to, failure to deliver the proper goods and/or services within the proper amount of time, and/or to 
properly perform any and all other requirements to the County ’s satisfaction, and/or to meet all 
other obligations and requirements.

B. Termination for Convenience: The County may terminate the Contract and/or any Ensuing 
Agreement(s) for convenience and without cause or further liability, upon no less than thirty (30) 
calendar days written notice to the Successful Respondent. The County reserves the right to 
extend this period if it is in the best interest of the County.  In the event the County exercises its 
right to terminate without cause, it is understood and agreed that only the amounts due to the 
Successful Respondent for goods, commodities and/or services provided and expenses incurred 
to and including the date of termination, will be due and payable.  No penalty will be assessed for 
the County ’s termination for convenience.

4.9 NON-PERFORMANCE

It is the objective of the County to obtain complete and satisfactory performance of the requirements set 
forth herein.  In addition to any other remedies available at law, in equity or that may be set out herein, 
failure to perform may result in a deduction of payment equal to the amount of the goods and/or services 
that were not provided and/or performed to the County ’s satisfaction.  

In the event of such non-performance, the County shall have the right, but shall not be obligated, to 
complete the services itself or by others and/or purchase the goods from other sources.  If the County 
elects to acquire the goods or perform the services itself or by others, pursuant to the foregoing, the 
Successful Respondent shall reimburse the County, within ten (10) calendar days of demand, for all 
costs incurred by the County (including, without limitation, applicable, general, and administrative 
expenses, and field overhead, and the cost of necessary equipment, materials, and field labor) in 
correcting the nonperformance which the Successful Respondent fails to meet pursuant to the 
requirements set out herein.  In the event the Successful Respondent refuses to reimburse the County 
as set out in this provision, the County shall have the right to deduct such reimbursement amounts from 
any amounts that may be then owing or that may become owing in the future to the Successful
Respondent.

4.10 PROPRIETARY INFORMATION AND THE TEXAS PUBLIC INFORMATION ACT

All material submitted to the County shall become public property and subject to the Texas Public 
Information Act upon receipt. If a Respondent does not desire proprietary information in the Proposal to 
be disclosed, each page must be clearly identified and marked proprietary at time of submittal or, more 
preferably, all proprietary information may be placed in a folder or appendix and be clearly identified and 
marked as being proprietary.  Failure to clearly identify and mark information as being proprietary as set 
forth under this provision will result in all unmarked information being deemed non-proprietary and 
available to the public.  For all information that has not been clearly identified and marked as proprietary 
by the Respondent, the County may choose to place such information on the County ’s website and/or a 
similar public database without obtaining any type of prior consent from the Respondent.

The County will, to the extent allowed by law, endeavor to protect from public disclosure the information 
that has been identified and marked as proprietary.  The final decision as to what information must be 
disclosed, however, lies with the Texas Attorney General.  

To the extent, if any, that any provision in this RFP or in the Respondent ’s Proposal is in conflict with 
Texas Government Code, Chapter 552, as amended (the “Public Information Act”), the same shall be of 
no force or effect.  Furthermore, it is expressly understood, and agreed, that the County, and its officers 
and employees, may request advice, decisions and opinions of the Attorney General of the State of
Texas in regard to the application of the Public Information Act to any items or data furnished to the 
County as to whether or not the same are available to the public.  It is further understood that that the 
County, and its officers and employees, shall have the right to rely on the advice, decisions and opinions 
of the Attorney General, and that the County, its officers and employees shall have no liability or obligation 
to any party hereto for the disclosure to the public, or to any person or persons, of any items or data 
furnished to the County by a party hereto, in reliance of any advice, decision or opinion of the Attorney 
General of the State of Texas.

4.11 RIGHT TO AUDIT

The Successful Respondent agrees that the County or its duly authorized representatives shall, until the 
expiration of three (3) years after termination or expiration of the services to be performed, have access 
to and the right to examine and photocopy any and all books, documents, papers and records of the 
Successful Respondent, which are directly pertinent to the services to be performed or goods to
delivered for the purposes of making audits, examinations, excerpts and transcriptions.  The Successful 
Respondent agrees that the County shall have access during normal working hours to all necessary 
facilities and shall be provided adequate and appropriate work space in order to conduct audits in 
compliance with the provisions of this section.  The County shall give the Successful Respondent 
reasonable advance notice of intended audits.

4.12 TESTING AND INSPECTIONS

The County reserves the right to inspect and test equipment, supplies, materials and goods for quality 
and compliance with this RFP, and ability to meet the needs of the user.  Demonstration units must be 
available for review.  Should the goods or services fail to meet requirements and/or be unavailable for 
evaluation, the County can deem the Respondent to be in breach and terminate the Contract and/or any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

4.13 PROPOSAL PREPARATION COSTS

The cost of developing Proposals is the sole responsibility of the Respondents and shall not be charged 
to the County.  There is no expressed or implied obligation for the County to reimburse the Respondents 
for any expense incurred in preparing a Proposal in response to this RFP and the County will not 
reimburse the Respondents for such expenses.

4.14 INDEMNIFICATION

The Successful Respondent shall indemnify, defend and save harmless, the County, its officials, 
employees, agents and agent ’s employees from, and against, all claims, liability, and expenses including 
reasonable attorneys ’ fees, arising from activities of the Respondent, its agents, servants or employees, 
performed hereunder that result from the negligent act, error, or omission of the Respondent or any of 
the Respondent ’s agents, servants or employees, as well as all claims of loss or damage to the 
Respondent ’s and the County ’s property, equipment, and/or supplies. 

Furthermore, the County, its officials, employees, agents and agents ’ employees shall not be liable for 
damages to the Successful Respondent arising from any act of any third party, including, but not limited 
to, theft.  The Successful Respondent further agrees to indemnify, defend and save harmless, the 
County from its officials, employee, agents and agents ’ employees against all claims of whatever nature 
arising from any accident, injury, or damage whatsoever, caused to any person, or the property of any 
person, occurring in relation to the Successful Respondent ’s performance of any services requested 
hereunder during the term of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s). 

The Successful Respondent shall timely report all claims, demands, suits, actions, proceedings, liens or 
judgements to the County and shall, upon the receipt of any claim, demand, suit, action, proceeding, lien 

or judgement, not later than the fifteenth (15 th) day of each month; provide the County with a written 
report on each such matter, setting forth the status of each matter, the schedule or planned proceedings 
with respect to each matter and the cooperation or assistance, if any, of the County required by the 
Successful Respondent in the defense of each matter.  The Successful Respondent’s duty to defend, 
indemnify and hold the County harmless shall be absolute.  It shall not abate or end by reason of the 
expiration or termination of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s), unless otherwise agreed by 
the County in writing.  The provisions of this section shall survive the termination of the Contract and shall 
remain in full force and effect with respect to all such matters no matter when they arise. 

In the event of any dispute between the parties, as to whether a claim, demand, suit, action, proceeding, 
lien or judgement, that appears to have been caused by or appears to have arisen out of or in connection 
with acts or omissions of the County, the Respondent shall nevertheless fully defend such claim, 
demand, suit or action, proceeding, lien or judgement, until and unless there is  a determination by a 
court of competent jurisdiction that the acts and omissions of the Respondent are not an issue in the 
matter. 

The Successful Respondent ’s indemnification shall cover, and the Successful Respondent agrees to, 
indemnify the County, in the event the County is found to have been negligent for having selected the 
Successful Respondent to perform the work described in this request.  The provision by the Successful 
Respondent of insurance shall not limit the liability of the Successful Respondent under the Contract 
and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s). 

4.15 WAIVER OF SUBROGATION

The Successful Respondent and the Successful Respondent ’s insurance carrier waive any and all rights 
whatsoever with regard to subrogation against the County as an indirect party to any suit arising out of 
personal or property damages resulting from the Respondent ’s performance under this Contract and any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

4.16 RELATIONSHIP OF THE PARTIES

The Successful Respondent shall be an independent contractor and shall assume all of the rights, 
obligations, liabilities, applicable to it as such independent contractor hereunder and any provisions 
herein which may appear to give the County the right to direct the Successful Respondent as to details of 
doing work herein covered, or to exercise a measure of control over the work, shall be deemed to mean 
that the Successful Respondent shall follow the desires of the County in the results of the work only.  The 
County shall not retain or have the right to control the Successful Respondent ’s means, methods or 
details pertaining to the Successful Respondent ’s performance of the work.  The County and the 
Successful Respondent hereby agree and declare that the Successful Respondent is an independent 
contractor and as such meets the qualifications of an “Independent Contractor” under Texas Workers 
Compensation Act, Texas Labor Code, Section 406.141, that the Successful Respondent is not an 
employee of  the County, and that the Successful Respondent and its employees, agents and 
subcontractors shall not be entitled to workers compensation coverage or any other type of insurance 
coverage held by the County.

4.17 SOLE PROVIDER

The Successful Respondent agrees and acknowledges that it shall not be considered a sole provider of 
the goods and/or services described herein and that the County may contract with other providers of 
such goods and/or services if the County deems, at its sole discretion, that multiple providers of the 
same goods and/or services will serve the best interest of the County.

4.18 FORCE MAJEURE

If the party obligated to perform is prevented from performance by an act of war, order of legal authority, 
act of God, or other unavoidable cause not attributable to the fault or negligence of said party, the other 
party shall grant such party relief from the performance.  The burden of proof for the need of such relief 
shall rest upon the party obligated to perform.  To obtain release based on force majeure, the party 
obligated to perform shall file a written request with the other party.

4.19 SEVERABILITY

If any provision of this RFP, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be held invalid or 
unenforceable by any court of competent jurisdiction, such holding shall not invalidate or render 
unenforceable any other provision thereof, but rather the entire RFP, Contract or any Ensuing Agreement
(s) will be construed as if not containing the particular invalid or unenforceable provision or provisions, 
and the rights and obligation of the parties shall be construed and enforced in accordance therewith.  The 
parties acknowledge that if any provision of this RFP, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) is 
determined to be invalid or unenforceable, it is the desire and intention of each that such provision be 
reformed and construed in such a manner that it will, to the maximum extent practicable, give effect to
the intent of this RFP, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) and be deemed to be validated and
enforceable.

4.20 EQUAL OPPORTUNITY

Neither party shall discriminate against any employee or applicant for employment because of race, 
color, sex, religion or national origin.

4.21 NOTICE

Any notice to be given shall be in writing and may be distributed by personal delivery, or by registered or 
certified mail, return receipt requested, addressed to the proper party, at the following address:

The County:    Williamson County Purchasing Department 
            Attn: Purchasing Agent 
            901 South Austin Avenue 
            Georgetown, Texas 78626

The Respondent: Address set out in Respondent ’s Transmittal Letter

Notices given in accordance with this provision shall be effective upon (1) receipt by the party to which 
notice is given, or (2) on the third (3rd) calendar day following mailing, whichever occurs first.

4.22 SALES AND USE TAX EXEMPTION

The County is a body, corporate and politic, under the laws of the State of Texas and claims exemption 
from sales and use taxes under Texas Tax Code, Section 151.309, as amended, and the services and/or 
goods subject hereof are being secured for use by the County.

4.23 COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS

The County and the Successful Respondent shall comply with all federal, state, and local laws, statutes,
ordinances, rules and regulations, and the orders and decrees of any courts or administrative bodies or 
tribunals in any matter affecting the performance of the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s),
including, without limitation, Workers ’ Compensation laws, salary and wage statutes and regulations, 
licensing laws and regulations.  When required, the Successful Respondent shall furnish the County with 
certification of compliance with said laws, statues, ordinances, rules, regulations, orders, and decrees 
above specified.

4.24 INCORPORATION OF EXHIBITS, APPENDICES AND ATTACHMENTS

All of the Exhibits, Appendices and Attachments referred to herein are incorporated by reference as if set 
forth verbatim herein.  Any conflicting terms in the Contract documents will be resolved at the sole 
discretion of the Commissioners Court.

4.25 NO WAIVER OF IMMUNITIES

Nothing herein shall be deemed to waive, modify or amend any legal defense available at law or in equity 
to the County, its past or present officers, employees, or agents, nor to create any legal rights or claim on 
behalf of any third party.  The County does not waive, modify, or alter to any extent whatsoever the 
availability of the defense of governmental immunity under the laws of the State of Texas and of the 
United States.

4.26 NO WAIVER

The failure or delay of any party to enforce at any time or any period of time any of the provisions of this 
RFP, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall not constitute a present or future waiver of such 
provisions nor the right of either party to enforce each and every provision.  Furthermore, no term or 
provision hereof shall be deemed waived and no breach excused unless such waiver or consent shall be 
in writing and signed by the party claimed to have waived or consented.  Any consent by any party to, or 
waiver of, a breach by the other, whether expressed or implied, shall not constitute a consent to, waiver 
of or excuse for any other, different or subsequent breach.

4.27 CURRENT REVENUES

The obligations of the parties under the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) do not constitute a 
general obligation or indebtedness of the County for which the County is obligated to levy, pledge, or 
collect any of taxation.  It is understood and agreed that the County shall have the right to terminate the 
Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) at the end of any the County fiscal year if the governing body of 
the County does not appropriate sufficient funds as determined by the County ’s budget for the fiscal year 
in question.  The County may effect such termination by giving written notice of termination to the 
Successful Respondent at the end of its then-current fiscal year.

4.28 BINDING EFFECT

This Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties 
and their respective permitted assigns and successors.

4.29 ASSIGNMENT

The Successful Respondent ’s interest and duties hereunder may not be assigned or delegated to a third 
party without the express written consent of the County.

4.30 SAFETY

The Successful Respondent is responsible for initiating, maintaining, and supervising all safety 
precautions and programs in connection with any services to be provided hereunder. The safety program 
shall comply with all applicable requirements of the current federal Occupational Safety and Health Act 
and all other applicable federal, state and local laws and regulations.

4.31 GENERAL OBLIGATIONS AND RELIANCE

The Successful Respondent shall perform all services and/or provide all goods, as well as those
reasonably inferable and necessary for completion and provision of services and/or goods required
hereunder. The Successful Respondent shall keep the County informed of the progress and quality
the services.  The Successful Respondent agrees and acknowledges that the County is relying on the 
Successful Respondent's represented expertise and ability to provide the goods and/or services 
described herein.  The Successful Respondent agrees to use its best efforts, skill, judgment, and abilities
to perform its obligations in accordance with the highest standards used in the profession and to further 
the interests of the County in accordance with the County ’s requirements and procedures.  The 
Successful Respondent ’s duties, as set forth herein, shall at no time be in any way diminished by reason
of any approval by the County, nor shall the Successful Respondent be released from any liability
reason of such approval by the County, it being understood that the County at all times is ultimately 
relying upon the Successful Respondent ’s skill and knowledge in performing the services and providing 
any goods required hereunder.

4.32 CONTRACTUAL DEVELOPMENT

The Commissioners Court may award the Contract on the basis of the initial Proposals received, without
any further or additional discussions.  Therefore, each initial Proposal should contain the Respondent
best terms and offer.  The contents of the RFP and the selected Proposal will become an integral part of 
the Contract, but may be modified, at Williamson County ’s sole discretion, by provisions of an Ensuing 
Agreement.  Therefore, the Respondent must agree to inclusion in an Ensuing Agreement of the 
Proposal specifications, terms and conditions of this RFP.  Williamson County may, at its discretion, opt 
to conduct further discussions with responsible offerors and request the highest ranked firm ’s Best and 
Final Offer (BAFO).

4.33 ENTIRE AGREEMENT

The Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall supersede all prior Agreements, written or oral 
between the Successful Respondent and the County and shall constitute the entire Agreement and 
understanding between the parties with respect to the services and/or goods to be provided.  Each of the 
provisions herein shall be binding upon the parties and may not be waived, modified, amended or altered, 
except by writing signed by the Successful Respondent and the County.

4.34 SURVIVABILITY 

All applicable agreements that were entered into between the Successful Respondent and the County, 
under the terms and conditions of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s), shall survive the 
expiration or termination thereof for ninety (90) days unless a new contract has been awarded.

The County may exercise, by written notice to the Successful Respondent no later than ten (10) calendar 
days of the Contract expiration, this clause for emergency cases only. 

4.35 PAYMENT

The County ’s payment for goods and services shall be governed by the Texas Government Code, 

Chapter 2251.  An invoice shall be deemed overdue the thirty-first (31st) day after the later of the 
following: 

A. The date the County receives the goods under the Contract; 
B. The date the performance of the service under the Contract is completed; or 
C. The date the Williamson County Auditor receives an invoice for the goods or services.  

Interest charges for any overdue payments shall be paid by the County in accordance with Texas 
Government Code, Section 2251.025.  More specifically, the rate of interest that shall accrue on a late 
payment is the rate in effect on September 1 of the County ’s fiscal year in which the payment becomes 
due.  The said rate in effect on September 1 shall be equal to the sum of one (1) percent and the prime 

rate published in the Wall Street Journal on the first (1st) day of July of the preceding fiscal year that does 
not fall on a Saturday or Sunday.

In the event that an error appears in an invoice submitted by the Successful Respondent, the County 
shall notify the Successful Respondent of the error not later than the twenty-first (21st) day after the date 
the County receives the invoice.  If the error is resolved in favor of the Successful Respondent, the 
Successful Respondent shall be entitled to receive interest on the unpaid balance of the invoice 
submitted by the Successful Respondent beginning on the date that the payment for the invoice became 
overdue.  If the error is resolved in favor of the County, the Successful Respondent shall submit a 
corrected invoice that must be paid in accordance within the time set forth above.  The unpaid balance 
accrues interest as provided by the Texas Government Code, Chapter 2251, if the corrected invoice is 
not paid by the appropriate date.

As a minimum, invoices shall include:

A. Name, address, and telephone number of the Successful Respondent and similar information in 
the event the payment is to be made to a different address. 

B. The County Contract, Purchase Order. 

C. Identification of items or service as outlined in the Contract.

D. Quantity or quantities, applicable unit prices, total prices and total amount.

E. Any additional payment information which may be called for by the Contract.

Payment inquiries should be directed to the following address:        

            Williamson County Auditor’s Office, Accounts Payable Department
            Email: accountspayable@wilco.org
            Phone: 512-943-1500

4.36 CONTRACTUAL FORMATION AND ENSUING AGREEMENT

The RFP and the Respondent ’s Proposal, when properly accepted by the Commissioners Court, shall 
constitute a Contract equally binding between the Successful Respondent and the County.  The 
Successful Respondent may be required by Williamson County to sign an additional Agreement 
containing terms necessary to ensure compliance with the RFP and Respondent ’s Proposal.

4.37 LEGAL LIABILITY INFORMATION

The Successful Respondent shall disclose all legal liability information by listing any pending litigation
anticipated litigation that your firm is involved in including, but not limited to, potential or actual legal
matters with private parties and any local, state, federal or international governmental entities. The
County reserves the right to consider legal liability information in the recommendation of any proposed 
contract to the Commissioners Court.

4.38 CONFIDENTIALITY

Respondent expressly agrees that it will not use any direct or incidental confidential information that may
be obtained while working in a governmental setting for its own benefit, and agrees that it will not access
unauthorized areas or confidential information and it will not disclose any information to unauthorized
third parties, and will take care to guard the security of the information at all times.

4.39 INCLEMENT WEATHER

In case of inclement weather or any other unforeseen event causing the County to close for business on 
the date of a Proposal submission deadline, the Proposal closing will automatically be postponed until the 
next business day the County is open.  If inclement weather conditions or any other unforeseen event 
causes delays in carrier service operations, the County may issue an Addendum to all known 
Respondents interested in the project to extend the deadline.  It will be the responsibility of the 
Respondent to notify the County of their interest in the project if these conditions are impacting their 
ability to turn in a submission within the stated deadline.  The County reserves the right to make the final 
judgement call to extend any deadline. 

4.40 AIR QUALITY

In determining the overall best Proposal, the County may, to the extent applicable, exercise the option 
granted to local governments under the Texas Local Government Code, Section 271.907.

This option allows the County to evaluate Proposals and give preference to goods and/or services of
Respondent that demonstrates that the Respondent meets or exceeds any and all state or federal 
environmental standards, including voluntary standards, relating to air quality.  If the Proposal being 
submitted will have an effect on air quality for the County (as it relates to any state, federal, or voluntary 
air quality standard), then the Respondent is encouraged to provide information in narrative indicating the 
anticipated air quality impact.  All Respondents are expected to meet all mandated state and federal air 
quality standards.

4.41 COOPERATIVE PURCHASING PROGRAM 

During the term of the Contract resulting from this RFP, the County would like to afford the same prices, 
terms and conditions to other political subdivisions or public entities.  Another entity’s participation in the 
Contract resulting from this RFP is subject to a properly authorized Purchasing Cooperative Inter- local 
Agreement (ILA) with the County.  Any liability created by purchase orders issued against the Contract 
shall be the sole responsibility of the governmental agency placing the order.

4.42 PREVAILING WAGE RATES

To the extent this procurement is for the construction of a public work, including a building, highway, 
road, excavation, and repair work or other project development or improvement, paid for in whole or in 
part from public funds, without regard to whether the work is done under public supervision or direction, 
Texas Government Code, Chapter 2258, shall apply and the contractor shall pay not less than the wage 
scale of the various classes of labor as shown on the “Prevailing Wage Schedule” provided by the 
County. Pursuant to Texas Government Code, Section 2258.022(a)(2), the County has determined the 
general prevailing rate of the “Prevailing Wage Schedule”  in the locality in which the public work is to be 
performed for each craft or type of worker needed to execute the contract and the prevailing rate for legal 
holiday and overtime work by using the prevailing wage rate as determined by the United States 
Department of Labor in accordance with the United States Code, Section 276a (Davis-Bacon Act). 

The specified wage rates are minimum rates only, and are not representations that qualified labor 
adequate to perform the work is available locally at the prevailing wage rates. The County is not bound to 
pay—and will not consider—any claims for additional compensation made by any contractor because the 
contractor pays wages in excess of the applicable minimum rate contained in the Contract Documents. 
The “Prevailing Wage Schedule”  is not a representation that quantities of qualified labor adequate to 
perform the work may be found locally at the specified wage rates.

For classifications not shown, workers shall not be paid less than the wage indicated for laborers. The 
contractor shall notify each worker commencing work on the project the worker ’s job classification and 
the established minimum wage rate required to be paid, as well as the actual amount being paid. The 
notice must be delivered to and signed in acknowledgement of receipt by the employee and must list 
both the monetary wages and fringe benefits to be paid or furnished for each classification in which the 
worker is assigned duties. When requested by the County, competent evidence of compliance with the 
Texas Prevailing Wage Law shall be furnished by contractor. A copy of each worker wage rate 
notification shall be submitted to the County with the Application for Payment for the period during which 
the worker began on-site activities.

Should the contractor at any time become aware that a particular skill or trade not reflected on the 
County ’s “Prevailing Wage Schedule” will be or is being employed in the work, whether by the contractor 
or by a subcontractor, the contractor shall promptly inform the County and shall specify a wage rate for 
that skill or trade, which shall bind the contractor.

The contractor and any subcontractor shall pay to the County a penalty of sixty dollars ($60.00) for each 
worker employed for each calendar day, or portion thereof, that the worker is paid less than the wage 
rates stipulated in the “Prevailing Wage Schedule” or any supplement thereto. The contractor and each 
subcontractor shall keep, or cause to be kept, an accurate record showing the names and occupations 
of all workers employed in connection with the work, and showing the actual per diem wages paid to 
each worker, which records shall be open at all reasonable hours for the inspection by the County.

Within thirty-one (31) days of receipt of information concerning a violation of the Texas Government Code 
Chapter 2258, the County shall make an initial determination as to whether good cause exists to believe 
a violation occurred. The County ’s decision on the initial determination shall be reduced to writing and 
sent to the contractor or subcontractor against whom the violation was alleged, and to the affected 
worker. When a good cause finding is made, the County shall retain the full amounts claimed by the 
claimant or claimants as the difference between wages paid and wages due under the “Prevailing Wage 
Schedule” and any supplements thereto, together with the applicable penalties, such amounts being 
subtracted from successive progress payments pending a final decision on the violation.

After the County makes its initial determination, the affected contractor or subcontractor and worker have 
fourteen (14) calendar days in which to resolve the issue of whether a violation occurred, including the 
amount that should be retained by the County or paid to the affected worker. If the contractor or 
subcontractor and affected worker reach an agreement concerning the worker ’s claim, the contractor 
shall promptly notify the County in a written document signed by the worker. It the contractor or 

Subcontractor and affected worker do not agree before the fifteenth (15 th) calendar day after the County
determination, the contractor or subcontractor and affected worker must participate in binding arbitration 
in accordance with the Texas General Arbitration Act, Chapter 171, (Texas Civil Practice and Remedies 
Code). The parties to the arbitration have ten (10) calendar days after the expiration of the fifteen (15) 

calendar days referred to above, to agree on an arbitrator; if by the eleventh (11 th) calendar day there is 
no agreement to an arbitrator, a district court shall appoint an arbitrator on the petition of any of the 
parties to the arbitration.

If an arbitrator determines that a violation has occurred, the arbitrator shall assess and award against the 
contractor or subcontractor the amount of penalty as provided above and the amount owed the worker. 
The County may use any amounts retained hereunder to pay the worker the amount as designated in the 
arbitration award. If the County has not retained enough from the contractor or subcontractor to pay the 
worker in accordance with the arbitration award, the worker has a right of action against the contractor 
and subcontractor as appropriate, and the surety of either to receive the amount owed, attorneys ’  fees 
and court costs. The contractor shall promptly furnish a copy of the arbitration award to the County.

Money retained pursuant to the provisions above shall be used to pay the claimant or claimants the 
difference between the amount the worker received in wages for labor on the project at the rate paid by 
the contractor or subcontractor and the amount the worker would have received at the general prevailing 
wage rate as provided by the agreement of the claimant and the contractor or subcontractor affected, or 
in the arbitrator ’s award. The full statutory penalty of sixty dollars ($60.00) per calendar day of violation 
per worker shall be retained by Williamson County to offset its administrative costs, pursuant to Texas 
Government Code, Section, 2258.023. Any retained funds in excess of these amounts shall be paid to 
the contractor on the earlier of the next progress payment or final payment. Provided, however, that the 
County shall have no duty to release any funds to either the claimant or the contractor until it has 
received the notices of agreement or the arbitration award as provided under the provision herein-above.

4.43 CONFIDENTALITY

The Respondent expressly agrees that it will not use any direct or incidental confidential information that 
may be obtained while working in a governmental setting for its own benefit, and agrees that it will not 
access unauthorized areas or confidential information and it will not disclose any information to 
unauthorized third parties, and will take care to guard the security of the information at all times.

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 370



5

6

3 4

Williamson County – Request for Proposal (RFP)

SECTION 1 - DEFINITIONS 

Addendum/Addenda – means any written or graphic instruments issued by the County prior to the 
consideration of Proposals which modify or interpret the Proposal Documents by additions, deletions, 
clarifications, or corrections.

Agreement/Ensuing Agreement(s) – means the Successful Respondent may be required by the 
County to sign an additional Agreement containing terms necessary to ensure compliance with the RFP 
and the Respondent ’s Proposal.  Such Ensuing Agreement(s) shall contain the Proposal specifications, 
terms and conditions that are derived from the RFP.

Contract – means this RFP and the Proposal of the Successful Respondent shall become a Contract 
between the Successful Respondent and the County once the Successful Respondent ’s Proposal is 
properly accepted by the Williamson County Commissioners Court (sometimes referred to herein as the 
Commissioner ’s Court”).

Commissioner ’s Court – means the Williamson County Commissioners Court. 

County – means Williamson County, a political subdivision of the State of Texas.

Executive Summary – means the document submitted by Respondent that represents a concise 
summary of the contents of the Proposal. It does not include any information concerning costs. 

Proposal Documents – means the Legal Notice, RFP including attachments, and any Addenda issued 
by the County prior to the consideration of any Proposals.

Proposal – means the complete, properly signed document, and ALL required forms and documentation 
listed in the proposal package which have been submitted in accordance with this RFP package. A 
Proposal submitted in accordance with this RFP is irrevocable during the specified time period for 
evaluation and acceptance of Proposals, unless a waiver is obtained from the Williamson County 
Purchasing Agent.

Respondent – means a person or entity who submits a Proposal in response to this RFP.

Request for Proposals (RFP) – means this document, together with the attachments thereto and any 
future Addenda issued by the County.

Successful Respondent– means the responsible Respondent who, in the County ’s sole opinion, 
submits the Proposal which is in the best interest of the County, taking into account factors identified 
herein, and to whom the County intends to award the Contract.

SECTION 2 - RESPONSE FORMAT AND SUBMISSION

2.1 INTRODUCTION

Each Proposal submitted in response to this RFP should clearly reference the numbered sections of this 
RFP that require a response.  Failure to arrange the Proposal as requested may result in the 
disqualification of the Proposal.

Though there is not a page limit for Proposals, to save natural resources including paper, and to allow the 
County staff to efficiently evaluate all submitted Proposals, the County requests that Proposals be 
orderly, concise, but comprehensive in providing the requested information.  Conciseness and clarity of 
content are emphasized and encouraged.  If mailed or delivered in person, please limit additional, non
requested information.

Please provide your Proposal response using:

A. 8 ½” x 11” pages, inclusive of any cover letter or supporting materials.

B. The least amount of plastic/laminate or other non-recyclable binding materials.

C. Single-sided printing.

Vague and general Proposals will be considered non-responsive, and may, at the County ’s sole 
discretion, result in disqualification. Proposals must be legible and complete.  Failure to provide the 
required information may result in the disqualification of the Proposal. All pages of the Proposal should 
be numbered and the Proposal should contain an organized, paginated table of contents corresponding 
to the sections and pages of the Proposal.

2.2 ORGANIZATION OF PROPOSAL CONTENTS AND TABLE OF CONTENTS 

Each Proposal should be submitted with a table of contents that clearly identifies and denotes the 
location of all enclosures of the Proposal. The table of contents should follow the RFP ’s structure as 
much as is practical.

Each Proposal should be organized in the manner described below:

A. Transmittal Letter. Please see Section 2.3, Transmittal Letter, for more information. 

B. Table of Contents. 

C. Executive Summary. Please see Section 2.4, Executive Summary. 

D. Proposal Response to Criteria. (Please see the sections in this RFP package that list the 
Specifications & Cost Proposal, Experience and Qualifications, References, and Implementation 
Strategy to respond to our criteria in a clear and concise manner) 

E. Price Sheet. 

F. References: Identification of three (3) references within the last four (4) years, for which the 
Respondent is providing, or has provided, the goods and/or services (public sector) of the type 
requested in this RFP. Include the name, position/title, and telephone number of a contact person 
at each entity. 

G.  Conflict of Interest Questionnaire. 

H. Proposal Affidavit (Signature Page).

I. Attach your entities sample Contract, if applicable, for the County ’s review and consideration. This 
should include any additional terms or conditions. The County is not required to use the sample 
Contract submitted. 

2.3 TRANSMITTAL LETTER

The Respondent should submit a Transmittal Letter that provides the following information: 

A. Name and address of individual or business entity submitting the Proposal. 

B. Respondent ’s type of business entity (i.e., Corporation, General Partnership, Limited Partnership, 
LLC, etc.).  See Section 3.5, Signature of Respondent, for more information. 

C. Place of incorporation or organization, if applicable.

D. Name and location of major offices and other facilities that relate to the Respondent
performance under the terms of this RFP.

E. Name, physical address, email address, business and fax number of the Respondent ’s principal 
contact person regarding all contractual matters relating to this RFP.

F. The Respondent ’s Federal Employer Identification Number.

G. A commitment by the Respondent to provide the services required by the County;

H. A statement that the Proposal is valid for the time specified on page three (3), under the section 
named Prices Good for, of this Proposal packet. Any Proposal containing a term of less than the 
required amount, may at the County ’s sole discretion, be rejected as non-responsive.

I. If the Proposal being submitted will have an effect on air quality for the County (as it relates to any 
state, federal, or voluntary air quality standard), then the Respondent is encouraged to provide
information in narrative indicating the anticipated air quality impact. See Section 4.40, Air Quality 
for more information. 

The Transmittal Letter should be signed by a person legally authorized to bind the Respondent to the
representations in the Transmittal Letter and the Proposal.  In the case of a joint Proposal, each party 
must sign the Transmittal Letter.

2.4 EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

The Respondent should provide an Executive Summary of its Proposal that asserts that the Respondent 
is providing in its response all of the requirements of this RFP.  The Executive Summary should not 
include any information concerning the cost of the Proposal, but instead must represent a full and 
concise summary of the contents of the Proposal.  It is recommended the Executive Summary include 
the following information: 

A. Identify any goods and/or services that are provided beyond those specifically requested.  If the 
Respondent is providing services and/or goods that do not meet the specific requirements of this 
RFP, but in the opinion of the Respondent are equivalent or superior to those specifically 
requested, any such differences should be noted in the Executive Summary. However, the 
Respondent must realize that failure to provide the goods and/or services specifically required, at 
the County ’s sole discretion, may result in disqualification of the Proposal.

B. Indicate why the Respondent believes that it is the most qualified Respondent to provide the 
services described in this RFP.  The Successful Respondent must demonstrate extensive 
experience and understanding of the intent of this project.  The Respondent should describe in 
detail the current and historical experience the Respondent and its subcontractors have that 
would be relevant to completing the project.  References must contain the name of key personnel 
and telephone numbers for each contact, as described in Section 3.14, References.  

C. Briefly state why the Respondent believes its proposed goods and/or services best meet the 
County ’s needs and RFP requirements, and the Respondent also should concisely describe any 
additional features, aspects, or advantages of its goods and/or services in any relevant area not 
covered elsewhere in its Proposal.

2.5 CONFLICT OF INTEREST

No public official shall have interest in a contract, in accordance with Vernon ’s Texas Codes Annotated, 
Local Government Code, Title 5, Subtitle C, Chapter 171, as amended. 

As of January 1, 2006, all Respondents are responsible for complying with Local Government Code, Title 
5, Subtitle C, Chapter 176.  Additional information may be obtained from the County’s website at the 
following link: 

http://www.wilco.org/CountyDepartments/Purchasing/ConflictofInterestDisclosure/tabid/689/language/en
US/Default.aspx

Each Respondent must disclose any existing or potential conflict of interest relative to the performance of 
the requirements of this RFP.  Examples of potential conflicts of interest may include an existing 
business or personal relationship between the Respondent, its principal, or any affiliate or 
subcontractor with the County or any other entity or person involved in any way with the project 
that is subject to this RFP.  Similarly, any personal or business relationship between the Respondent, 
the principals, or any affiliate or subcontractor with any employee, or official of the County or its suppliers 
must be disclosed.  Any such relationship that might be perceived or represented as a conflict must be 
disclosed. Failure to disclose any such relationship or reveal personal relationships with the County 
employees or officials may be cause for termination. 

The County will decide if an actual or perceived conflict should result in Proposal disqualification. 

By submitting a Proposal in response to this RFP, all Respondents affirm they have not given, nor intend 
to give, at any time hereafter, any economic opportunity, future employment, gift, loan, gratuity, special 
discount, trip, favor, or service to a the County public servant or any employee, official or representative 
of same, in connection with this procurement. 

Each Respondent must provide a Conflict of Interest Statement with their Proposal Package.  

Package may be deemed incomplete without this form.  

2.6 CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PARTIES – FORM 1295

As of January 1, 2016, all Respondents are responsible for complying with the Texas Government Code, 
Section 2252.908.  The law states that the County may not enter into certain contracts with a 
Respondent unless the Respondent submits a disclosure of interested parties to the County at the time 
the Respondent submits the signed contract.  The law applies only to a contract of the County on or after 
January 1, 2016 that either:

A. Requires an action or vote by the Commissioners Court before the contract may be signed (all 
contracts that fall under the jurisdiction of the Commissioners Court approval, such as contracts 
resulting from an Initiation for Bid (IFB), RFP, Request for Qualifications (RFQ), etc., excluding, 
but not limited to, certain Juvenile Service contracts, contracts funded with Sheriff ’s seized fun 
monies, etc.); or

B. Has a value of at least $1,000,000. 

By January 1, 2016, the Texas Ethics Commission will make available on its website, a new filing 
application that must be used to file Form 1295.  Information regarding how to use the filing application is 
available on the Texas Ethics Commission website at the following link:

https://www.ethics.state.tx.us/whatsnew/elf_info_form1295.htm

A Respondent must:

A. Use the online application to process the required information on Form 1295.

B. Print a copy of the form which will contain a unique certification number.

C. An authorized agent of the Respondent must sign the printed copy of the form.

D. Have the form notarized.

E. File the completed Form 1295 and certification of filing (scanning and emailing form is sufficient) 
with Williamson County Purchasing Agent at the time the signed Contract is submitted for 
approval.

After the Commissioners Court award of the contract, the County shall notify the Texas Ethics 
Commission, using the Texas Ethics Commission ’s filing application, of the receipt of the filed Form 
1295 and certification of filing not later than the 30th day after the date the contract binds all parties to the 
contract. The Texas Ethics Commission will post the completed Form 1295 to its website within seven 
business days after receiving notice from the County.

2.7 PROPOSAL SUBMITTAL DEADLINE

The Proposal is due no later than the submittal date and time set forth in the Public Announcement and 
General Information listed in this RFP package.  Contents of each Proposal shall be submitted in 
accordance with this RFP.

2.8 ETHICS

The Respondent shall not accept or offer gifts or anything of value, nor enter into any business 
arrangement with any employee, official or agent of the County.

2.9 DELIVERY OF PROPOSALS

The County uses BidSync to distribute and receive bids and Proposals.  It is preferred that Proposals
be submitted electronically through BidSync; however, Respondents can submit a hard copy.  

Refer to www.bidsync.com for further information on how to submit electronically.

If mailed or delivered in person, Proposal and Proposal Addenda are to be delivered in sealed envelope
on or before the submittal deadline, as noted in the Public Announcement and General Information listed 
in this RFP package, to:

            Williamson County Purchasing Department
            Attn: Proposal Name and Number
            901 South Austin Avenue
            Georgetown, Texas 78626

Also, all Respondents should list their Name and Address, and the Date of the Proposal opening on the
outside of the box or envelope and note “Sealed Proposal Enclosed.” Williamson County will not accept 
any Proposals after the submittal deadline, and shall return such Proposals unopened to the 
Respondent.  The County will not accept any responsibility for Proposals being delivered by third party 
carriers. 

Proposals will be opened publicly; however, in a manner to avoid public disclosure of contents, only 
names of Respondents will be read aloud: no pricing will be announced at the opening. 

SECTION 3 - INSTRUCTIONS AND GENERAL REQUIREMENTS

3.1 INSTRUCTIONS

Read this document carefully, and follow all instructions and requirements.  All Respondents are 
responsible for fulfilling all requirements and specifications.  Be sure to have a clear understanding of this
RFP.

General requirements apply to all advertised RFPs; however, these may be superseded, in whole or in 
part, by the proposal specifications, Addenda and modifications issued as a part of this RFP.  Be sure 
your Proposal package is complete.

3.2 AMBIGUITY, CONFLICT, OR OTHER ERRORS IN THIS RFP

If a Respondent discovers any ambiguity, conflict, discrepancy, omission or other error in this RFP, the 
Respondent shall immediately notify the County Purchasing Department of such error in writing and
request modification or clarification of the document.

Modifications will be made by issuing Addenda. If the Respondent fails to notify the County prior to the
date and time fixed for submission of Proposals of an error or ambiguity in the RFP known to the
Respondent, or an error or ambiguity that reasonably should have been known to the Respondent, then 
the Respondent shall be deemed to have waived the error or ambiguity or its later resolution.

The County may also modify the RFP, no later than forty-eight (48) hours prior to the date and time fixed
for submission of Proposals, by issuance of an Addendum.  All Addenda will be numbered consecutively, 
beginning with one (1).

3.3 NOTIFICATION OF MOST CURRENT ADDRESS

All Respondents in receipt of this RFP shall notify the Williamson County Purchasing Department of any
address changes, contact person changes, and/or telephone number changes no later than forty-eight 
(48) hours prior to the date and time fixed for submission of Proposals.

3.4 SIGNATURE OF RESPONDENT

A Transmittal Letter, which shall be considered an integral part of the Proposal as stated in Section 2.3, 
Transmittal Letter, shall be signed by an individual who is authorized to bind the Respondent
contractually.

A. If the Respondent is a Corporation or Limited Liability Company, the legal name of the Corporation
or Limited Liability Company shall be provided together with the signature of the officer or officers 
authorized to sign on behalf of such entity.

B. If the Respondent is a General Partnership, the true name of the firm shall be provided with the
signature of each partner authorized to sign.

C. If the Respondent is a Limited Partnership, the name of the Limited Partner ’s General Partner
shall be provided with the signature of the officer authorized to sign on behalf of the General
Partner.

D. If the Respondent is a Sole Proprietor(s) (individual), each Sole Proprietor(s) shall sign.

E. If signature is by an agent, other than the Sole Proprietor(s) or an officer of a Corporation, Limited 
Liability Company, General Partner or a member of a General Partnership, a power of attorney
equivalent document must be submitted to the Williamson County Purchasing Department.

3.5 ASSUMED BUSINESS NAME

If the Respondent operates business under an Assumed Business Name, the Respondent must have
file with the Williamson County Clerk a current Assumed Name Certificate and provide a file marked copy 
of same prior to contract award.

3.6 ECONOMY OF PRESENTATION

Proposals should not contain promotional or display materials, except as they may directly answer in 
whole or in part questions contained in the RFP.  Such exhibits shall be clearly marked with the 
applicable reference number of the question in the RFP.  Proposals must address the technical 
requirements as specified in the RFP.  All questions posed by the RFP must be answered concisely and 
clearly. Proposals that do not address each criterion may be, at the sole discretion of the County, 
rejected and not considered.

3.7 PROPOSAL OBLIGATION 

The contents of the RFP, Proposal, and any clarification thereof submitted by the Successful
Respondent shall become part of the contractual obligation and incorporated by reference into the 
Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s).

3.8 COMPLIANCE WITH RFP SPECIFICATIONS

It is intended that this RFP describe the requirements and the Proposal format in sufficient detail to 
secure comparable Proposal.  Failure to comply with all provisions of the RFP may, at the sole discretion 
of the County, result in disqualification.

3.9 EVALUATION 

The County reserves the right to use all pertinent information (also learned from sources other than 
disclosed in the RFP process) that might affect the County ’s judgment as to the appropriateness of
award to the best evaluated Respondent. This information may be appended to the Proposal evaluation
process results. Information on a Respondent from reliable sources, and not within the Respondent
Proposal, may also be noted and made part of the evaluation fi le.  The County shall have sole 
discretion for determining the reliability of the source.  The County reserves the right to conduct written 
and/or oral discussions/interviews after the Proposal opening.  The purpose of such 
discussions/interviews is to provide clarification and/or additional information to make an award that is in 
the best interest of the County.

3.10 WITHDRAWAL OF PROPOSAL

The Respondent may withdraw its Proposal by submitting a written request with the company letterhead 
and the signature of an authorized individual, as described in Section 3.4, Signature of Respondent, to 
the Williamson County Purchasing Department any time prior to the submission deadline.  

The Respondent may submit a new Proposal prior to the deadline. Alterations of the Proposal in any 
manner will not be considered if submitted after the deadline.  Withdrawal of a Proposal after the deadline 
will be subject to written approval of the Williamson County Purchasing Agent.

3.11 RESPONSIBILITY 

It is expected that a Respondent will be able to affirmatively demonstrate responsibility.  A prospective
Respondent should be able to meet the following requirements:

A. Have adequate financial resources, or the ability to obtain such resources as required;
B. Be able to comply with the required or proposed delivery schedule;
C. Have a satisfactory record of performance that can be determined thru references provided; and 
D. Be otherwise qualified and eligible to receive an award.

The County may request representation and other information sufficient to determine the Respondent
ability to meet these minimum standards listed above.

3.12 PURCHASE ORDERS

If required by the Williamson County Purchasing Department, a purchase order(s) may be generated to 
the Successful Respondent for goods and/or services.  If a purchase order is issued, the purchase order 
number must appear on all itemized invoices and/or requests for payment.

3.13 SILENCE OF SPECIFICATIONS

The apparent silence of any RFP specifications as to any detail or to the apparent omission from it of a 
detailed description concerning any point, shall be regarded as meaning that only the best practices are 
to prevail.  All interpretations of these specifications shall be made on the basis of this statement.

3.14 REFERENCES

Respondents shall furnish a list of contracts where similar responsibilities and goods and/or services 
have been required and/or performed for the past five (5) years, to include names, titles, phone numbers 
and email addresses of reference contacts, contract numbers and dates of performance. 

Also, Respondents shall include a list of any contracts that have been cancelled or terminated within the 
last five (5) years, along with an explanation of the cancellation and the names, email address and phone 
number of a reference person with that institution. 

The County may contact some or all of the references in order to determine the Respondent
performance record on work similar to that described in this RFP.  The County reserves the right to 
contact references other than those provided in the response and to use the information gained from 
them in the evaluation process. 

References should be provided in accordance with this RFP.  Proposal may not be deemed complete 
without the inclusion of requested references.

SECTION 4 - TERMS AND CONDITIONS

4.1 VENUE AND GOVERNING LAW

The Respondent hereby agrees and acknowledges that venue and jurisdiction of any suit, right, or cause 
of action arising out of or in connection with this RFP, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s), shall 
lie exclusively in either Williamson County, Texas or in the Austin Division of the Western Federal District 
of Texas, and the parties hereto expressly consent and submit to such jurisdiction.  Furthermore, except 
to the extent that this RFP, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) is governed by the laws of the 
United States, this RFP, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be governed by and 
construed in accordance with the laws of the State of Texas, excluding, however, its choice of law rules.

4.2 INCORPORATION BY REFERENCE AND PRECEDENCE

A. The Contract shall be derived from the RFP and its Addenda (if applicable), and the Respondent
Proposal.  In the event of a dispute under the Contract, applicable documents will be referred to 
for the purpose of clarification or for additional detail in the following order of precedence:

1. The RFP and its Addenda (if applicable); and 

2. The Respondent ’s Proposal.

B. In the event the County requires that an Ensuing Agreement be executed following award and a 
dispute arises between the terms and conditions of the Ensuing Agreement, the RFP and its 
Addenda (if applicable), and the Respondent ’s Proposal, applicable documents will be referred to 
for the purpose of clarification or for additional detail in the following order of precedence: 

1. The terms and conditions of the Ensuing Agreement;

2. The RFP and its Addenda; and  

3. The Respondent ’s Proposal.

4.3 OWNERSHIP OF PROPOSAL

Each Proposal shall become the property of the County upon submittal and will not be returned to 
Respondents unless received after the submittal deadline.

4.4 DISQUALIFICATION OF RESPONDENT

Upon signing and submittal of the Proposal, a Respondent offering to sell supplies, materials, services, 
or equipment to the County, certifies that the Respondent has not violated the antitrust laws of the State 
of Texas codified in Business & Commerce Code, Section 15.01, or the Federal Antitrust Laws, and has 
not communicated directly or indirectly the offer made to any competitor or any other person engaged
such line of business.  Any or all Proposals may be rejected if the County believes that collusion exists 
among the Respondents.

4.5 FUNDING

The County intends to budget and make sufficient funds available and authorize funds for expenditure to 
finance the costs of the Contract.  All Respondents understand and agree that the County’s payment of 
amounts under the Contract shall be contingent on the County receiving appropriations or other 
expenditure authority sufficient to allow the County, in the exercise of reasonable administrative 
discretion, to make payments under this Contract.

4.6 ASSIGNMENT, SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS 

The Successful Respondent may not assign, sell, or otherwise transfer the Contract or any other rights 
or interests obtained under the Contract without written permission of the Williamson County the 
Commissioners Court.  The Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be binding upon and inure to 
the benefit of the contracting parties hereto and their respective successors and permitted assigns.

4.7 IMPLIED REQUIREMENTS

Products or services not specifically described or required in the RFP, but are necessary to provide the 
functional capabilities described by the Respondent, shall be implied and deemed to be included in the
Proposal.

4.8 TERMINATION

A. Termination for Cause: The County reserves the right to terminate the Contract and/or any 
Ensuing Agreement(s) for default if the Successful Respondent breaches any of the Proposal
specifications, terms and conditions, including warranties of the Respondent, if any, or if the 
Successful Respondent becomes insolvent or commits acts of bankruptcy.  Such right of 
termination is in addition to and not in lieu of any other remedies the County may have at law or
equity or as may otherwise be provided hereunder.  Default may be construed as, but not limited 
to, failure to deliver the proper goods and/or services within the proper amount of time, and/or to 
properly perform any and all other requirements to the County ’s satisfaction, and/or to meet all 
other obligations and requirements.

B. Termination for Convenience: The County may terminate the Contract and/or any Ensuing 
Agreement(s) for convenience and without cause or further liability, upon no less than thirty (30) 
calendar days written notice to the Successful Respondent. The County reserves the right to 
extend this period if it is in the best interest of the County.  In the event the County exercises its 
right to terminate without cause, it is understood and agreed that only the amounts due to the 
Successful Respondent for goods, commodities and/or services provided and expenses incurred 
to and including the date of termination, will be due and payable.  No penalty will be assessed for 
the County ’s termination for convenience.

4.9 NON-PERFORMANCE

It is the objective of the County to obtain complete and satisfactory performance of the requirements set 
forth herein.  In addition to any other remedies available at law, in equity or that may be set out herein, 
failure to perform may result in a deduction of payment equal to the amount of the goods and/or services 
that were not provided and/or performed to the County ’s satisfaction.  

In the event of such non-performance, the County shall have the right, but shall not be obligated, to 
complete the services itself or by others and/or purchase the goods from other sources.  If the County 
elects to acquire the goods or perform the services itself or by others, pursuant to the foregoing, the 
Successful Respondent shall reimburse the County, within ten (10) calendar days of demand, for all 
costs incurred by the County (including, without limitation, applicable, general, and administrative 
expenses, and field overhead, and the cost of necessary equipment, materials, and field labor) in 
correcting the nonperformance which the Successful Respondent fails to meet pursuant to the 
requirements set out herein.  In the event the Successful Respondent refuses to reimburse the County 
as set out in this provision, the County shall have the right to deduct such reimbursement amounts from 
any amounts that may be then owing or that may become owing in the future to the Successful
Respondent.

4.10 PROPRIETARY INFORMATION AND THE TEXAS PUBLIC INFORMATION ACT

All material submitted to the County shall become public property and subject to the Texas Public 
Information Act upon receipt. If a Respondent does not desire proprietary information in the Proposal to 
be disclosed, each page must be clearly identified and marked proprietary at time of submittal or, more 
preferably, all proprietary information may be placed in a folder or appendix and be clearly identified and 
marked as being proprietary.  Failure to clearly identify and mark information as being proprietary as set 
forth under this provision will result in all unmarked information being deemed non-proprietary and 
available to the public.  For all information that has not been clearly identified and marked as proprietary 
by the Respondent, the County may choose to place such information on the County ’s website and/or a 
similar public database without obtaining any type of prior consent from the Respondent.

The County will, to the extent allowed by law, endeavor to protect from public disclosure the information 
that has been identified and marked as proprietary.  The final decision as to what information must be 
disclosed, however, lies with the Texas Attorney General.  

To the extent, if any, that any provision in this RFP or in the Respondent ’s Proposal is in conflict with 
Texas Government Code, Chapter 552, as amended (the “Public Information Act”), the same shall be of 
no force or effect.  Furthermore, it is expressly understood, and agreed, that the County, and its officers 
and employees, may request advice, decisions and opinions of the Attorney General of the State of
Texas in regard to the application of the Public Information Act to any items or data furnished to the 
County as to whether or not the same are available to the public.  It is further understood that that the 
County, and its officers and employees, shall have the right to rely on the advice, decisions and opinions 
of the Attorney General, and that the County, its officers and employees shall have no liability or obligation 
to any party hereto for the disclosure to the public, or to any person or persons, of any items or data 
furnished to the County by a party hereto, in reliance of any advice, decision or opinion of the Attorney 
General of the State of Texas.

4.11 RIGHT TO AUDIT

The Successful Respondent agrees that the County or its duly authorized representatives shall, until the 
expiration of three (3) years after termination or expiration of the services to be performed, have access 
to and the right to examine and photocopy any and all books, documents, papers and records of the 
Successful Respondent, which are directly pertinent to the services to be performed or goods to
delivered for the purposes of making audits, examinations, excerpts and transcriptions.  The Successful 
Respondent agrees that the County shall have access during normal working hours to all necessary 
facilities and shall be provided adequate and appropriate work space in order to conduct audits in 
compliance with the provisions of this section.  The County shall give the Successful Respondent 
reasonable advance notice of intended audits.

4.12 TESTING AND INSPECTIONS

The County reserves the right to inspect and test equipment, supplies, materials and goods for quality 
and compliance with this RFP, and ability to meet the needs of the user.  Demonstration units must be 
available for review.  Should the goods or services fail to meet requirements and/or be unavailable for 
evaluation, the County can deem the Respondent to be in breach and terminate the Contract and/or any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

4.13 PROPOSAL PREPARATION COSTS

The cost of developing Proposals is the sole responsibility of the Respondents and shall not be charged 
to the County.  There is no expressed or implied obligation for the County to reimburse the Respondents 
for any expense incurred in preparing a Proposal in response to this RFP and the County will not 
reimburse the Respondents for such expenses.

4.14 INDEMNIFICATION

The Successful Respondent shall indemnify, defend and save harmless, the County, its officials, 
employees, agents and agent ’s employees from, and against, all claims, liability, and expenses including 
reasonable attorneys ’ fees, arising from activities of the Respondent, its agents, servants or employees, 
performed hereunder that result from the negligent act, error, or omission of the Respondent or any of 
the Respondent ’s agents, servants or employees, as well as all claims of loss or damage to the 
Respondent ’s and the County ’s property, equipment, and/or supplies. 

Furthermore, the County, its officials, employees, agents and agents ’ employees shall not be liable for 
damages to the Successful Respondent arising from any act of any third party, including, but not limited 
to, theft.  The Successful Respondent further agrees to indemnify, defend and save harmless, the 
County from its officials, employee, agents and agents ’ employees against all claims of whatever nature 
arising from any accident, injury, or damage whatsoever, caused to any person, or the property of any 
person, occurring in relation to the Successful Respondent ’s performance of any services requested 
hereunder during the term of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s). 

The Successful Respondent shall timely report all claims, demands, suits, actions, proceedings, liens or 
judgements to the County and shall, upon the receipt of any claim, demand, suit, action, proceeding, lien 

or judgement, not later than the fifteenth (15 th) day of each month; provide the County with a written 
report on each such matter, setting forth the status of each matter, the schedule or planned proceedings 
with respect to each matter and the cooperation or assistance, if any, of the County required by the 
Successful Respondent in the defense of each matter.  The Successful Respondent’s duty to defend, 
indemnify and hold the County harmless shall be absolute.  It shall not abate or end by reason of the 
expiration or termination of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s), unless otherwise agreed by 
the County in writing.  The provisions of this section shall survive the termination of the Contract and shall 
remain in full force and effect with respect to all such matters no matter when they arise. 

In the event of any dispute between the parties, as to whether a claim, demand, suit, action, proceeding, 
lien or judgement, that appears to have been caused by or appears to have arisen out of or in connection 
with acts or omissions of the County, the Respondent shall nevertheless fully defend such claim, 
demand, suit or action, proceeding, lien or judgement, until and unless there is  a determination by a 
court of competent jurisdiction that the acts and omissions of the Respondent are not an issue in the 
matter. 

The Successful Respondent ’s indemnification shall cover, and the Successful Respondent agrees to, 
indemnify the County, in the event the County is found to have been negligent for having selected the 
Successful Respondent to perform the work described in this request.  The provision by the Successful 
Respondent of insurance shall not limit the liability of the Successful Respondent under the Contract 
and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s). 

4.15 WAIVER OF SUBROGATION

The Successful Respondent and the Successful Respondent ’s insurance carrier waive any and all rights 
whatsoever with regard to subrogation against the County as an indirect party to any suit arising out of 
personal or property damages resulting from the Respondent ’s performance under this Contract and any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

4.16 RELATIONSHIP OF THE PARTIES

The Successful Respondent shall be an independent contractor and shall assume all of the rights, 
obligations, liabilities, applicable to it as such independent contractor hereunder and any provisions 
herein which may appear to give the County the right to direct the Successful Respondent as to details of 
doing work herein covered, or to exercise a measure of control over the work, shall be deemed to mean 
that the Successful Respondent shall follow the desires of the County in the results of the work only.  The 
County shall not retain or have the right to control the Successful Respondent ’s means, methods or 
details pertaining to the Successful Respondent ’s performance of the work.  The County and the 
Successful Respondent hereby agree and declare that the Successful Respondent is an independent 
contractor and as such meets the qualifications of an “Independent Contractor” under Texas Workers 
Compensation Act, Texas Labor Code, Section 406.141, that the Successful Respondent is not an 
employee of  the County, and that the Successful Respondent and its employees, agents and 
subcontractors shall not be entitled to workers compensation coverage or any other type of insurance 
coverage held by the County.

4.17 SOLE PROVIDER

The Successful Respondent agrees and acknowledges that it shall not be considered a sole provider of 
the goods and/or services described herein and that the County may contract with other providers of 
such goods and/or services if the County deems, at its sole discretion, that multiple providers of the 
same goods and/or services will serve the best interest of the County.

4.18 FORCE MAJEURE

If the party obligated to perform is prevented from performance by an act of war, order of legal authority, 
act of God, or other unavoidable cause not attributable to the fault or negligence of said party, the other 
party shall grant such party relief from the performance.  The burden of proof for the need of such relief 
shall rest upon the party obligated to perform.  To obtain release based on force majeure, the party 
obligated to perform shall file a written request with the other party.

4.19 SEVERABILITY

If any provision of this RFP, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be held invalid or 
unenforceable by any court of competent jurisdiction, such holding shall not invalidate or render 
unenforceable any other provision thereof, but rather the entire RFP, Contract or any Ensuing Agreement
(s) will be construed as if not containing the particular invalid or unenforceable provision or provisions, 
and the rights and obligation of the parties shall be construed and enforced in accordance therewith.  The 
parties acknowledge that if any provision of this RFP, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) is 
determined to be invalid or unenforceable, it is the desire and intention of each that such provision be 
reformed and construed in such a manner that it will, to the maximum extent practicable, give effect to
the intent of this RFP, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) and be deemed to be validated and
enforceable.

4.20 EQUAL OPPORTUNITY

Neither party shall discriminate against any employee or applicant for employment because of race, 
color, sex, religion or national origin.

4.21 NOTICE

Any notice to be given shall be in writing and may be distributed by personal delivery, or by registered or 
certified mail, return receipt requested, addressed to the proper party, at the following address:

The County:    Williamson County Purchasing Department 
            Attn: Purchasing Agent 
            901 South Austin Avenue 
            Georgetown, Texas 78626

The Respondent: Address set out in Respondent ’s Transmittal Letter

Notices given in accordance with this provision shall be effective upon (1) receipt by the party to which 
notice is given, or (2) on the third (3rd) calendar day following mailing, whichever occurs first.

4.22 SALES AND USE TAX EXEMPTION

The County is a body, corporate and politic, under the laws of the State of Texas and claims exemption 
from sales and use taxes under Texas Tax Code, Section 151.309, as amended, and the services and/or 
goods subject hereof are being secured for use by the County.

4.23 COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS

The County and the Successful Respondent shall comply with all federal, state, and local laws, statutes,
ordinances, rules and regulations, and the orders and decrees of any courts or administrative bodies or 
tribunals in any matter affecting the performance of the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s),
including, without limitation, Workers ’ Compensation laws, salary and wage statutes and regulations, 
licensing laws and regulations.  When required, the Successful Respondent shall furnish the County with 
certification of compliance with said laws, statues, ordinances, rules, regulations, orders, and decrees 
above specified.

4.24 INCORPORATION OF EXHIBITS, APPENDICES AND ATTACHMENTS

All of the Exhibits, Appendices and Attachments referred to herein are incorporated by reference as if set 
forth verbatim herein.  Any conflicting terms in the Contract documents will be resolved at the sole 
discretion of the Commissioners Court.

4.25 NO WAIVER OF IMMUNITIES

Nothing herein shall be deemed to waive, modify or amend any legal defense available at law or in equity 
to the County, its past or present officers, employees, or agents, nor to create any legal rights or claim on 
behalf of any third party.  The County does not waive, modify, or alter to any extent whatsoever the 
availability of the defense of governmental immunity under the laws of the State of Texas and of the 
United States.

4.26 NO WAIVER

The failure or delay of any party to enforce at any time or any period of time any of the provisions of this 
RFP, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall not constitute a present or future waiver of such 
provisions nor the right of either party to enforce each and every provision.  Furthermore, no term or 
provision hereof shall be deemed waived and no breach excused unless such waiver or consent shall be 
in writing and signed by the party claimed to have waived or consented.  Any consent by any party to, or 
waiver of, a breach by the other, whether expressed or implied, shall not constitute a consent to, waiver 
of or excuse for any other, different or subsequent breach.

4.27 CURRENT REVENUES

The obligations of the parties under the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) do not constitute a 
general obligation or indebtedness of the County for which the County is obligated to levy, pledge, or 
collect any of taxation.  It is understood and agreed that the County shall have the right to terminate the 
Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) at the end of any the County fiscal year if the governing body of 
the County does not appropriate sufficient funds as determined by the County ’s budget for the fiscal year 
in question.  The County may effect such termination by giving written notice of termination to the 
Successful Respondent at the end of its then-current fiscal year.

4.28 BINDING EFFECT

This Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties 
and their respective permitted assigns and successors.

4.29 ASSIGNMENT

The Successful Respondent ’s interest and duties hereunder may not be assigned or delegated to a third 
party without the express written consent of the County.

4.30 SAFETY

The Successful Respondent is responsible for initiating, maintaining, and supervising all safety 
precautions and programs in connection with any services to be provided hereunder. The safety program 
shall comply with all applicable requirements of the current federal Occupational Safety and Health Act 
and all other applicable federal, state and local laws and regulations.

4.31 GENERAL OBLIGATIONS AND RELIANCE

The Successful Respondent shall perform all services and/or provide all goods, as well as those
reasonably inferable and necessary for completion and provision of services and/or goods required
hereunder. The Successful Respondent shall keep the County informed of the progress and quality
the services.  The Successful Respondent agrees and acknowledges that the County is relying on the 
Successful Respondent's represented expertise and ability to provide the goods and/or services 
described herein.  The Successful Respondent agrees to use its best efforts, skill, judgment, and abilities
to perform its obligations in accordance with the highest standards used in the profession and to further 
the interests of the County in accordance with the County ’s requirements and procedures.  The 
Successful Respondent ’s duties, as set forth herein, shall at no time be in any way diminished by reason
of any approval by the County, nor shall the Successful Respondent be released from any liability
reason of such approval by the County, it being understood that the County at all times is ultimately 
relying upon the Successful Respondent ’s skill and knowledge in performing the services and providing 
any goods required hereunder.

4.32 CONTRACTUAL DEVELOPMENT

The Commissioners Court may award the Contract on the basis of the initial Proposals received, without
any further or additional discussions.  Therefore, each initial Proposal should contain the Respondent
best terms and offer.  The contents of the RFP and the selected Proposal will become an integral part of 
the Contract, but may be modified, at Williamson County ’s sole discretion, by provisions of an Ensuing 
Agreement.  Therefore, the Respondent must agree to inclusion in an Ensuing Agreement of the 
Proposal specifications, terms and conditions of this RFP.  Williamson County may, at its discretion, opt 
to conduct further discussions with responsible offerors and request the highest ranked firm ’s Best and 
Final Offer (BAFO).

4.33 ENTIRE AGREEMENT

The Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall supersede all prior Agreements, written or oral 
between the Successful Respondent and the County and shall constitute the entire Agreement and 
understanding between the parties with respect to the services and/or goods to be provided.  Each of the 
provisions herein shall be binding upon the parties and may not be waived, modified, amended or altered, 
except by writing signed by the Successful Respondent and the County.

4.34 SURVIVABILITY 

All applicable agreements that were entered into between the Successful Respondent and the County, 
under the terms and conditions of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s), shall survive the 
expiration or termination thereof for ninety (90) days unless a new contract has been awarded.

The County may exercise, by written notice to the Successful Respondent no later than ten (10) calendar 
days of the Contract expiration, this clause for emergency cases only. 

4.35 PAYMENT

The County ’s payment for goods and services shall be governed by the Texas Government Code, 

Chapter 2251.  An invoice shall be deemed overdue the thirty-first (31st) day after the later of the 
following: 

A. The date the County receives the goods under the Contract; 
B. The date the performance of the service under the Contract is completed; or 
C. The date the Williamson County Auditor receives an invoice for the goods or services.  

Interest charges for any overdue payments shall be paid by the County in accordance with Texas 
Government Code, Section 2251.025.  More specifically, the rate of interest that shall accrue on a late 
payment is the rate in effect on September 1 of the County ’s fiscal year in which the payment becomes 
due.  The said rate in effect on September 1 shall be equal to the sum of one (1) percent and the prime 

rate published in the Wall Street Journal on the first (1st) day of July of the preceding fiscal year that does 
not fall on a Saturday or Sunday.

In the event that an error appears in an invoice submitted by the Successful Respondent, the County 
shall notify the Successful Respondent of the error not later than the twenty-first (21st) day after the date 
the County receives the invoice.  If the error is resolved in favor of the Successful Respondent, the 
Successful Respondent shall be entitled to receive interest on the unpaid balance of the invoice 
submitted by the Successful Respondent beginning on the date that the payment for the invoice became 
overdue.  If the error is resolved in favor of the County, the Successful Respondent shall submit a 
corrected invoice that must be paid in accordance within the time set forth above.  The unpaid balance 
accrues interest as provided by the Texas Government Code, Chapter 2251, if the corrected invoice is 
not paid by the appropriate date.

As a minimum, invoices shall include:

A. Name, address, and telephone number of the Successful Respondent and similar information in 
the event the payment is to be made to a different address. 

B. The County Contract, Purchase Order. 

C. Identification of items or service as outlined in the Contract.

D. Quantity or quantities, applicable unit prices, total prices and total amount.

E. Any additional payment information which may be called for by the Contract.

Payment inquiries should be directed to the following address:        

            Williamson County Auditor’s Office, Accounts Payable Department
            Email: accountspayable@wilco.org
            Phone: 512-943-1500

4.36 CONTRACTUAL FORMATION AND ENSUING AGREEMENT

The RFP and the Respondent ’s Proposal, when properly accepted by the Commissioners Court, shall 
constitute a Contract equally binding between the Successful Respondent and the County.  The 
Successful Respondent may be required by Williamson County to sign an additional Agreement 
containing terms necessary to ensure compliance with the RFP and Respondent ’s Proposal.

4.37 LEGAL LIABILITY INFORMATION

The Successful Respondent shall disclose all legal liability information by listing any pending litigation
anticipated litigation that your firm is involved in including, but not limited to, potential or actual legal
matters with private parties and any local, state, federal or international governmental entities. The
County reserves the right to consider legal liability information in the recommendation of any proposed 
contract to the Commissioners Court.

4.38 CONFIDENTIALITY

Respondent expressly agrees that it will not use any direct or incidental confidential information that may
be obtained while working in a governmental setting for its own benefit, and agrees that it will not access
unauthorized areas or confidential information and it will not disclose any information to unauthorized
third parties, and will take care to guard the security of the information at all times.

4.39 INCLEMENT WEATHER

In case of inclement weather or any other unforeseen event causing the County to close for business on 
the date of a Proposal submission deadline, the Proposal closing will automatically be postponed until the 
next business day the County is open.  If inclement weather conditions or any other unforeseen event 
causes delays in carrier service operations, the County may issue an Addendum to all known 
Respondents interested in the project to extend the deadline.  It will be the responsibility of the 
Respondent to notify the County of their interest in the project if these conditions are impacting their 
ability to turn in a submission within the stated deadline.  The County reserves the right to make the final 
judgement call to extend any deadline. 

4.40 AIR QUALITY

In determining the overall best Proposal, the County may, to the extent applicable, exercise the option 
granted to local governments under the Texas Local Government Code, Section 271.907.

This option allows the County to evaluate Proposals and give preference to goods and/or services of
Respondent that demonstrates that the Respondent meets or exceeds any and all state or federal 
environmental standards, including voluntary standards, relating to air quality.  If the Proposal being 
submitted will have an effect on air quality for the County (as it relates to any state, federal, or voluntary 
air quality standard), then the Respondent is encouraged to provide information in narrative indicating the 
anticipated air quality impact.  All Respondents are expected to meet all mandated state and federal air 
quality standards.

4.41 COOPERATIVE PURCHASING PROGRAM 

During the term of the Contract resulting from this RFP, the County would like to afford the same prices, 
terms and conditions to other political subdivisions or public entities.  Another entity’s participation in the 
Contract resulting from this RFP is subject to a properly authorized Purchasing Cooperative Inter- local 
Agreement (ILA) with the County.  Any liability created by purchase orders issued against the Contract 
shall be the sole responsibility of the governmental agency placing the order.

4.42 PREVAILING WAGE RATES

To the extent this procurement is for the construction of a public work, including a building, highway, 
road, excavation, and repair work or other project development or improvement, paid for in whole or in 
part from public funds, without regard to whether the work is done under public supervision or direction, 
Texas Government Code, Chapter 2258, shall apply and the contractor shall pay not less than the wage 
scale of the various classes of labor as shown on the “Prevailing Wage Schedule” provided by the 
County. Pursuant to Texas Government Code, Section 2258.022(a)(2), the County has determined the 
general prevailing rate of the “Prevailing Wage Schedule”  in the locality in which the public work is to be 
performed for each craft or type of worker needed to execute the contract and the prevailing rate for legal 
holiday and overtime work by using the prevailing wage rate as determined by the United States 
Department of Labor in accordance with the United States Code, Section 276a (Davis-Bacon Act). 

The specified wage rates are minimum rates only, and are not representations that qualified labor 
adequate to perform the work is available locally at the prevailing wage rates. The County is not bound to 
pay—and will not consider—any claims for additional compensation made by any contractor because the 
contractor pays wages in excess of the applicable minimum rate contained in the Contract Documents. 
The “Prevailing Wage Schedule”  is not a representation that quantities of qualified labor adequate to 
perform the work may be found locally at the specified wage rates.

For classifications not shown, workers shall not be paid less than the wage indicated for laborers. The 
contractor shall notify each worker commencing work on the project the worker ’s job classification and 
the established minimum wage rate required to be paid, as well as the actual amount being paid. The 
notice must be delivered to and signed in acknowledgement of receipt by the employee and must list 
both the monetary wages and fringe benefits to be paid or furnished for each classification in which the 
worker is assigned duties. When requested by the County, competent evidence of compliance with the 
Texas Prevailing Wage Law shall be furnished by contractor. A copy of each worker wage rate 
notification shall be submitted to the County with the Application for Payment for the period during which 
the worker began on-site activities.

Should the contractor at any time become aware that a particular skill or trade not reflected on the 
County ’s “Prevailing Wage Schedule” will be or is being employed in the work, whether by the contractor 
or by a subcontractor, the contractor shall promptly inform the County and shall specify a wage rate for 
that skill or trade, which shall bind the contractor.

The contractor and any subcontractor shall pay to the County a penalty of sixty dollars ($60.00) for each 
worker employed for each calendar day, or portion thereof, that the worker is paid less than the wage 
rates stipulated in the “Prevailing Wage Schedule” or any supplement thereto. The contractor and each 
subcontractor shall keep, or cause to be kept, an accurate record showing the names and occupations 
of all workers employed in connection with the work, and showing the actual per diem wages paid to 
each worker, which records shall be open at all reasonable hours for the inspection by the County.

Within thirty-one (31) days of receipt of information concerning a violation of the Texas Government Code 
Chapter 2258, the County shall make an initial determination as to whether good cause exists to believe 
a violation occurred. The County ’s decision on the initial determination shall be reduced to writing and 
sent to the contractor or subcontractor against whom the violation was alleged, and to the affected 
worker. When a good cause finding is made, the County shall retain the full amounts claimed by the 
claimant or claimants as the difference between wages paid and wages due under the “Prevailing Wage 
Schedule” and any supplements thereto, together with the applicable penalties, such amounts being 
subtracted from successive progress payments pending a final decision on the violation.

After the County makes its initial determination, the affected contractor or subcontractor and worker have 
fourteen (14) calendar days in which to resolve the issue of whether a violation occurred, including the 
amount that should be retained by the County or paid to the affected worker. If the contractor or 
subcontractor and affected worker reach an agreement concerning the worker ’s claim, the contractor 
shall promptly notify the County in a written document signed by the worker. It the contractor or 

Subcontractor and affected worker do not agree before the fifteenth (15 th) calendar day after the County
determination, the contractor or subcontractor and affected worker must participate in binding arbitration 
in accordance with the Texas General Arbitration Act, Chapter 171, (Texas Civil Practice and Remedies 
Code). The parties to the arbitration have ten (10) calendar days after the expiration of the fifteen (15) 

calendar days referred to above, to agree on an arbitrator; if by the eleventh (11 th) calendar day there is 
no agreement to an arbitrator, a district court shall appoint an arbitrator on the petition of any of the 
parties to the arbitration.

If an arbitrator determines that a violation has occurred, the arbitrator shall assess and award against the 
contractor or subcontractor the amount of penalty as provided above and the amount owed the worker. 
The County may use any amounts retained hereunder to pay the worker the amount as designated in the 
arbitration award. If the County has not retained enough from the contractor or subcontractor to pay the 
worker in accordance with the arbitration award, the worker has a right of action against the contractor 
and subcontractor as appropriate, and the surety of either to receive the amount owed, attorneys ’  fees 
and court costs. The contractor shall promptly furnish a copy of the arbitration award to the County.

Money retained pursuant to the provisions above shall be used to pay the claimant or claimants the 
difference between the amount the worker received in wages for labor on the project at the rate paid by 
the contractor or subcontractor and the amount the worker would have received at the general prevailing 
wage rate as provided by the agreement of the claimant and the contractor or subcontractor affected, or 
in the arbitrator ’s award. The full statutory penalty of sixty dollars ($60.00) per calendar day of violation 
per worker shall be retained by Williamson County to offset its administrative costs, pursuant to Texas 
Government Code, Section, 2258.023. Any retained funds in excess of these amounts shall be paid to 
the contractor on the earlier of the next progress payment or final payment. Provided, however, that the 
County shall have no duty to release any funds to either the claimant or the contractor until it has 
received the notices of agreement or the arbitration award as provided under the provision herein-above.

4.43 CONFIDENTALITY

The Respondent expressly agrees that it will not use any direct or incidental confidential information that 
may be obtained while working in a governmental setting for its own benefit, and agrees that it will not 
access unauthorized areas or confidential information and it will not disclose any information to 
unauthorized third parties, and will take care to guard the security of the information at all times.

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 371



5

6

3 4

Williamson County – Request for Proposal (RFP)

SECTION 1 - DEFINITIONS 

Addendum/Addenda – means any written or graphic instruments issued by the County prior to the 
consideration of Proposals which modify or interpret the Proposal Documents by additions, deletions, 
clarifications, or corrections.

Agreement/Ensuing Agreement(s) – means the Successful Respondent may be required by the 
County to sign an additional Agreement containing terms necessary to ensure compliance with the RFP 
and the Respondent ’s Proposal.  Such Ensuing Agreement(s) shall contain the Proposal specifications, 
terms and conditions that are derived from the RFP.

Contract – means this RFP and the Proposal of the Successful Respondent shall become a Contract 
between the Successful Respondent and the County once the Successful Respondent ’s Proposal is 
properly accepted by the Williamson County Commissioners Court (sometimes referred to herein as the 
Commissioner ’s Court”).

Commissioner ’s Court – means the Williamson County Commissioners Court. 

County – means Williamson County, a political subdivision of the State of Texas.

Executive Summary – means the document submitted by Respondent that represents a concise 
summary of the contents of the Proposal. It does not include any information concerning costs. 

Proposal Documents – means the Legal Notice, RFP including attachments, and any Addenda issued 
by the County prior to the consideration of any Proposals.

Proposal – means the complete, properly signed document, and ALL required forms and documentation 
listed in the proposal package which have been submitted in accordance with this RFP package. A 
Proposal submitted in accordance with this RFP is irrevocable during the specified time period for 
evaluation and acceptance of Proposals, unless a waiver is obtained from the Williamson County 
Purchasing Agent.

Respondent – means a person or entity who submits a Proposal in response to this RFP.

Request for Proposals (RFP) – means this document, together with the attachments thereto and any 
future Addenda issued by the County.

Successful Respondent– means the responsible Respondent who, in the County ’s sole opinion, 
submits the Proposal which is in the best interest of the County, taking into account factors identified 
herein, and to whom the County intends to award the Contract.

SECTION 2 - RESPONSE FORMAT AND SUBMISSION

2.1 INTRODUCTION

Each Proposal submitted in response to this RFP should clearly reference the numbered sections of this 
RFP that require a response.  Failure to arrange the Proposal as requested may result in the 
disqualification of the Proposal.

Though there is not a page limit for Proposals, to save natural resources including paper, and to allow the 
County staff to efficiently evaluate all submitted Proposals, the County requests that Proposals be 
orderly, concise, but comprehensive in providing the requested information.  Conciseness and clarity of 
content are emphasized and encouraged.  If mailed or delivered in person, please limit additional, non
requested information.

Please provide your Proposal response using:

A. 8 ½” x 11” pages, inclusive of any cover letter or supporting materials.

B. The least amount of plastic/laminate or other non-recyclable binding materials.

C. Single-sided printing.

Vague and general Proposals will be considered non-responsive, and may, at the County ’s sole 
discretion, result in disqualification. Proposals must be legible and complete.  Failure to provide the 
required information may result in the disqualification of the Proposal. All pages of the Proposal should 
be numbered and the Proposal should contain an organized, paginated table of contents corresponding 
to the sections and pages of the Proposal.

2.2 ORGANIZATION OF PROPOSAL CONTENTS AND TABLE OF CONTENTS 

Each Proposal should be submitted with a table of contents that clearly identifies and denotes the 
location of all enclosures of the Proposal. The table of contents should follow the RFP ’s structure as 
much as is practical.

Each Proposal should be organized in the manner described below:

A. Transmittal Letter. Please see Section 2.3, Transmittal Letter, for more information. 

B. Table of Contents. 

C. Executive Summary. Please see Section 2.4, Executive Summary. 

D. Proposal Response to Criteria. (Please see the sections in this RFP package that list the 
Specifications & Cost Proposal, Experience and Qualifications, References, and Implementation 
Strategy to respond to our criteria in a clear and concise manner) 

E. Price Sheet. 

F. References: Identification of three (3) references within the last four (4) years, for which the 
Respondent is providing, or has provided, the goods and/or services (public sector) of the type 
requested in this RFP. Include the name, position/title, and telephone number of a contact person 
at each entity. 

G.  Conflict of Interest Questionnaire. 

H. Proposal Affidavit (Signature Page).

I. Attach your entities sample Contract, if applicable, for the County ’s review and consideration. This 
should include any additional terms or conditions. The County is not required to use the sample 
Contract submitted. 

2.3 TRANSMITTAL LETTER

The Respondent should submit a Transmittal Letter that provides the following information: 

A. Name and address of individual or business entity submitting the Proposal. 

B. Respondent ’s type of business entity (i.e., Corporation, General Partnership, Limited Partnership, 
LLC, etc.).  See Section 3.5, Signature of Respondent, for more information. 

C. Place of incorporation or organization, if applicable.

D. Name and location of major offices and other facilities that relate to the Respondent
performance under the terms of this RFP.

E. Name, physical address, email address, business and fax number of the Respondent ’s principal 
contact person regarding all contractual matters relating to this RFP.

F. The Respondent ’s Federal Employer Identification Number.

G. A commitment by the Respondent to provide the services required by the County;

H. A statement that the Proposal is valid for the time specified on page three (3), under the section 
named Prices Good for, of this Proposal packet. Any Proposal containing a term of less than the 
required amount, may at the County ’s sole discretion, be rejected as non-responsive.

I. If the Proposal being submitted will have an effect on air quality for the County (as it relates to any 
state, federal, or voluntary air quality standard), then the Respondent is encouraged to provide
information in narrative indicating the anticipated air quality impact. See Section 4.40, Air Quality 
for more information. 

The Transmittal Letter should be signed by a person legally authorized to bind the Respondent to the
representations in the Transmittal Letter and the Proposal.  In the case of a joint Proposal, each party 
must sign the Transmittal Letter.

2.4 EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

The Respondent should provide an Executive Summary of its Proposal that asserts that the Respondent 
is providing in its response all of the requirements of this RFP.  The Executive Summary should not 
include any information concerning the cost of the Proposal, but instead must represent a full and 
concise summary of the contents of the Proposal.  It is recommended the Executive Summary include 
the following information: 

A. Identify any goods and/or services that are provided beyond those specifically requested.  If the 
Respondent is providing services and/or goods that do not meet the specific requirements of this 
RFP, but in the opinion of the Respondent are equivalent or superior to those specifically 
requested, any such differences should be noted in the Executive Summary. However, the 
Respondent must realize that failure to provide the goods and/or services specifically required, at 
the County ’s sole discretion, may result in disqualification of the Proposal.

B. Indicate why the Respondent believes that it is the most qualified Respondent to provide the 
services described in this RFP.  The Successful Respondent must demonstrate extensive 
experience and understanding of the intent of this project.  The Respondent should describe in 
detail the current and historical experience the Respondent and its subcontractors have that 
would be relevant to completing the project.  References must contain the name of key personnel 
and telephone numbers for each contact, as described in Section 3.14, References.  

C. Briefly state why the Respondent believes its proposed goods and/or services best meet the 
County ’s needs and RFP requirements, and the Respondent also should concisely describe any 
additional features, aspects, or advantages of its goods and/or services in any relevant area not 
covered elsewhere in its Proposal.

2.5 CONFLICT OF INTEREST

No public official shall have interest in a contract, in accordance with Vernon ’s Texas Codes Annotated, 
Local Government Code, Title 5, Subtitle C, Chapter 171, as amended. 

As of January 1, 2006, all Respondents are responsible for complying with Local Government Code, Title 
5, Subtitle C, Chapter 176.  Additional information may be obtained from the County’s website at the 
following link: 

http://www.wilco.org/CountyDepartments/Purchasing/ConflictofInterestDisclosure/tabid/689/language/en
US/Default.aspx

Each Respondent must disclose any existing or potential conflict of interest relative to the performance of 
the requirements of this RFP.  Examples of potential conflicts of interest may include an existing 
business or personal relationship between the Respondent, its principal, or any affiliate or 
subcontractor with the County or any other entity or person involved in any way with the project 
that is subject to this RFP.  Similarly, any personal or business relationship between the Respondent, 
the principals, or any affiliate or subcontractor with any employee, or official of the County or its suppliers 
must be disclosed.  Any such relationship that might be perceived or represented as a conflict must be 
disclosed. Failure to disclose any such relationship or reveal personal relationships with the County 
employees or officials may be cause for termination. 

The County will decide if an actual or perceived conflict should result in Proposal disqualification. 

By submitting a Proposal in response to this RFP, all Respondents affirm they have not given, nor intend 
to give, at any time hereafter, any economic opportunity, future employment, gift, loan, gratuity, special 
discount, trip, favor, or service to a the County public servant or any employee, official or representative 
of same, in connection with this procurement. 

Each Respondent must provide a Conflict of Interest Statement with their Proposal Package.  

Package may be deemed incomplete without this form.  

2.6 CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PARTIES – FORM 1295

As of January 1, 2016, all Respondents are responsible for complying with the Texas Government Code, 
Section 2252.908.  The law states that the County may not enter into certain contracts with a 
Respondent unless the Respondent submits a disclosure of interested parties to the County at the time 
the Respondent submits the signed contract.  The law applies only to a contract of the County on or after 
January 1, 2016 that either:

A. Requires an action or vote by the Commissioners Court before the contract may be signed (all 
contracts that fall under the jurisdiction of the Commissioners Court approval, such as contracts 
resulting from an Initiation for Bid (IFB), RFP, Request for Qualifications (RFQ), etc., excluding, 
but not limited to, certain Juvenile Service contracts, contracts funded with Sheriff ’s seized fun 
monies, etc.); or

B. Has a value of at least $1,000,000. 

By January 1, 2016, the Texas Ethics Commission will make available on its website, a new filing 
application that must be used to file Form 1295.  Information regarding how to use the filing application is 
available on the Texas Ethics Commission website at the following link:

https://www.ethics.state.tx.us/whatsnew/elf_info_form1295.htm

A Respondent must:

A. Use the online application to process the required information on Form 1295.

B. Print a copy of the form which will contain a unique certification number.

C. An authorized agent of the Respondent must sign the printed copy of the form.

D. Have the form notarized.

E. File the completed Form 1295 and certification of filing (scanning and emailing form is sufficient) 
with Williamson County Purchasing Agent at the time the signed Contract is submitted for 
approval.

After the Commissioners Court award of the contract, the County shall notify the Texas Ethics 
Commission, using the Texas Ethics Commission ’s filing application, of the receipt of the filed Form 
1295 and certification of filing not later than the 30th day after the date the contract binds all parties to the 
contract. The Texas Ethics Commission will post the completed Form 1295 to its website within seven 
business days after receiving notice from the County.

2.7 PROPOSAL SUBMITTAL DEADLINE

The Proposal is due no later than the submittal date and time set forth in the Public Announcement and 
General Information listed in this RFP package.  Contents of each Proposal shall be submitted in 
accordance with this RFP.

2.8 ETHICS

The Respondent shall not accept or offer gifts or anything of value, nor enter into any business 
arrangement with any employee, official or agent of the County.

2.9 DELIVERY OF PROPOSALS

The County uses BidSync to distribute and receive bids and Proposals.  It is preferred that Proposals
be submitted electronically through BidSync; however, Respondents can submit a hard copy.  

Refer to www.bidsync.com for further information on how to submit electronically.

If mailed or delivered in person, Proposal and Proposal Addenda are to be delivered in sealed envelope
on or before the submittal deadline, as noted in the Public Announcement and General Information listed 
in this RFP package, to:

            Williamson County Purchasing Department
            Attn: Proposal Name and Number
            901 South Austin Avenue
            Georgetown, Texas 78626

Also, all Respondents should list their Name and Address, and the Date of the Proposal opening on the
outside of the box or envelope and note “Sealed Proposal Enclosed.” Williamson County will not accept 
any Proposals after the submittal deadline, and shall return such Proposals unopened to the 
Respondent.  The County will not accept any responsibility for Proposals being delivered by third party 
carriers. 

Proposals will be opened publicly; however, in a manner to avoid public disclosure of contents, only 
names of Respondents will be read aloud: no pricing will be announced at the opening. 

SECTION 3 - INSTRUCTIONS AND GENERAL REQUIREMENTS

3.1 INSTRUCTIONS

Read this document carefully, and follow all instructions and requirements.  All Respondents are 
responsible for fulfilling all requirements and specifications.  Be sure to have a clear understanding of this
RFP.

General requirements apply to all advertised RFPs; however, these may be superseded, in whole or in 
part, by the proposal specifications, Addenda and modifications issued as a part of this RFP.  Be sure 
your Proposal package is complete.

3.2 AMBIGUITY, CONFLICT, OR OTHER ERRORS IN THIS RFP

If a Respondent discovers any ambiguity, conflict, discrepancy, omission or other error in this RFP, the 
Respondent shall immediately notify the County Purchasing Department of such error in writing and
request modification or clarification of the document.

Modifications will be made by issuing Addenda. If the Respondent fails to notify the County prior to the
date and time fixed for submission of Proposals of an error or ambiguity in the RFP known to the
Respondent, or an error or ambiguity that reasonably should have been known to the Respondent, then 
the Respondent shall be deemed to have waived the error or ambiguity or its later resolution.

The County may also modify the RFP, no later than forty-eight (48) hours prior to the date and time fixed
for submission of Proposals, by issuance of an Addendum.  All Addenda will be numbered consecutively, 
beginning with one (1).

3.3 NOTIFICATION OF MOST CURRENT ADDRESS

All Respondents in receipt of this RFP shall notify the Williamson County Purchasing Department of any
address changes, contact person changes, and/or telephone number changes no later than forty-eight 
(48) hours prior to the date and time fixed for submission of Proposals.

3.4 SIGNATURE OF RESPONDENT

A Transmittal Letter, which shall be considered an integral part of the Proposal as stated in Section 2.3, 
Transmittal Letter, shall be signed by an individual who is authorized to bind the Respondent
contractually.

A. If the Respondent is a Corporation or Limited Liability Company, the legal name of the Corporation
or Limited Liability Company shall be provided together with the signature of the officer or officers 
authorized to sign on behalf of such entity.

B. If the Respondent is a General Partnership, the true name of the firm shall be provided with the
signature of each partner authorized to sign.

C. If the Respondent is a Limited Partnership, the name of the Limited Partner ’s General Partner
shall be provided with the signature of the officer authorized to sign on behalf of the General
Partner.

D. If the Respondent is a Sole Proprietor(s) (individual), each Sole Proprietor(s) shall sign.

E. If signature is by an agent, other than the Sole Proprietor(s) or an officer of a Corporation, Limited 
Liability Company, General Partner or a member of a General Partnership, a power of attorney
equivalent document must be submitted to the Williamson County Purchasing Department.

3.5 ASSUMED BUSINESS NAME

If the Respondent operates business under an Assumed Business Name, the Respondent must have
file with the Williamson County Clerk a current Assumed Name Certificate and provide a file marked copy 
of same prior to contract award.

3.6 ECONOMY OF PRESENTATION

Proposals should not contain promotional or display materials, except as they may directly answer in 
whole or in part questions contained in the RFP.  Such exhibits shall be clearly marked with the 
applicable reference number of the question in the RFP.  Proposals must address the technical 
requirements as specified in the RFP.  All questions posed by the RFP must be answered concisely and 
clearly. Proposals that do not address each criterion may be, at the sole discretion of the County, 
rejected and not considered.

3.7 PROPOSAL OBLIGATION 

The contents of the RFP, Proposal, and any clarification thereof submitted by the Successful
Respondent shall become part of the contractual obligation and incorporated by reference into the 
Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s).

3.8 COMPLIANCE WITH RFP SPECIFICATIONS

It is intended that this RFP describe the requirements and the Proposal format in sufficient detail to 
secure comparable Proposal.  Failure to comply with all provisions of the RFP may, at the sole discretion 
of the County, result in disqualification.

3.9 EVALUATION 

The County reserves the right to use all pertinent information (also learned from sources other than 
disclosed in the RFP process) that might affect the County ’s judgment as to the appropriateness of
award to the best evaluated Respondent. This information may be appended to the Proposal evaluation
process results. Information on a Respondent from reliable sources, and not within the Respondent
Proposal, may also be noted and made part of the evaluation fi le.  The County shall have sole 
discretion for determining the reliability of the source.  The County reserves the right to conduct written 
and/or oral discussions/interviews after the Proposal opening.  The purpose of such 
discussions/interviews is to provide clarification and/or additional information to make an award that is in 
the best interest of the County.

3.10 WITHDRAWAL OF PROPOSAL

The Respondent may withdraw its Proposal by submitting a written request with the company letterhead 
and the signature of an authorized individual, as described in Section 3.4, Signature of Respondent, to 
the Williamson County Purchasing Department any time prior to the submission deadline.  

The Respondent may submit a new Proposal prior to the deadline. Alterations of the Proposal in any 
manner will not be considered if submitted after the deadline.  Withdrawal of a Proposal after the deadline 
will be subject to written approval of the Williamson County Purchasing Agent.

3.11 RESPONSIBILITY 

It is expected that a Respondent will be able to affirmatively demonstrate responsibility.  A prospective
Respondent should be able to meet the following requirements:

A. Have adequate financial resources, or the ability to obtain such resources as required;
B. Be able to comply with the required or proposed delivery schedule;
C. Have a satisfactory record of performance that can be determined thru references provided; and 
D. Be otherwise qualified and eligible to receive an award.

The County may request representation and other information sufficient to determine the Respondent
ability to meet these minimum standards listed above.

3.12 PURCHASE ORDERS

If required by the Williamson County Purchasing Department, a purchase order(s) may be generated to 
the Successful Respondent for goods and/or services.  If a purchase order is issued, the purchase order 
number must appear on all itemized invoices and/or requests for payment.

3.13 SILENCE OF SPECIFICATIONS

The apparent silence of any RFP specifications as to any detail or to the apparent omission from it of a 
detailed description concerning any point, shall be regarded as meaning that only the best practices are 
to prevail.  All interpretations of these specifications shall be made on the basis of this statement.

3.14 REFERENCES

Respondents shall furnish a list of contracts where similar responsibilities and goods and/or services 
have been required and/or performed for the past five (5) years, to include names, titles, phone numbers 
and email addresses of reference contacts, contract numbers and dates of performance. 

Also, Respondents shall include a list of any contracts that have been cancelled or terminated within the 
last five (5) years, along with an explanation of the cancellation and the names, email address and phone 
number of a reference person with that institution. 

The County may contact some or all of the references in order to determine the Respondent
performance record on work similar to that described in this RFP.  The County reserves the right to 
contact references other than those provided in the response and to use the information gained from 
them in the evaluation process. 

References should be provided in accordance with this RFP.  Proposal may not be deemed complete 
without the inclusion of requested references.

SECTION 4 - TERMS AND CONDITIONS

4.1 VENUE AND GOVERNING LAW

The Respondent hereby agrees and acknowledges that venue and jurisdiction of any suit, right, or cause 
of action arising out of or in connection with this RFP, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s), shall 
lie exclusively in either Williamson County, Texas or in the Austin Division of the Western Federal District 
of Texas, and the parties hereto expressly consent and submit to such jurisdiction.  Furthermore, except 
to the extent that this RFP, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) is governed by the laws of the 
United States, this RFP, the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be governed by and 
construed in accordance with the laws of the State of Texas, excluding, however, its choice of law rules.

4.2 INCORPORATION BY REFERENCE AND PRECEDENCE

A. The Contract shall be derived from the RFP and its Addenda (if applicable), and the Respondent
Proposal.  In the event of a dispute under the Contract, applicable documents will be referred to 
for the purpose of clarification or for additional detail in the following order of precedence:

1. The RFP and its Addenda (if applicable); and 

2. The Respondent ’s Proposal.

B. In the event the County requires that an Ensuing Agreement be executed following award and a 
dispute arises between the terms and conditions of the Ensuing Agreement, the RFP and its 
Addenda (if applicable), and the Respondent ’s Proposal, applicable documents will be referred to 
for the purpose of clarification or for additional detail in the following order of precedence: 

1. The terms and conditions of the Ensuing Agreement;

2. The RFP and its Addenda; and  

3. The Respondent ’s Proposal.

4.3 OWNERSHIP OF PROPOSAL

Each Proposal shall become the property of the County upon submittal and will not be returned to 
Respondents unless received after the submittal deadline.

4.4 DISQUALIFICATION OF RESPONDENT

Upon signing and submittal of the Proposal, a Respondent offering to sell supplies, materials, services, 
or equipment to the County, certifies that the Respondent has not violated the antitrust laws of the State 
of Texas codified in Business & Commerce Code, Section 15.01, or the Federal Antitrust Laws, and has 
not communicated directly or indirectly the offer made to any competitor or any other person engaged
such line of business.  Any or all Proposals may be rejected if the County believes that collusion exists 
among the Respondents.

4.5 FUNDING

The County intends to budget and make sufficient funds available and authorize funds for expenditure to 
finance the costs of the Contract.  All Respondents understand and agree that the County’s payment of 
amounts under the Contract shall be contingent on the County receiving appropriations or other 
expenditure authority sufficient to allow the County, in the exercise of reasonable administrative 
discretion, to make payments under this Contract.

4.6 ASSIGNMENT, SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS 

The Successful Respondent may not assign, sell, or otherwise transfer the Contract or any other rights 
or interests obtained under the Contract without written permission of the Williamson County the 
Commissioners Court.  The Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be binding upon and inure to 
the benefit of the contracting parties hereto and their respective successors and permitted assigns.

4.7 IMPLIED REQUIREMENTS

Products or services not specifically described or required in the RFP, but are necessary to provide the 
functional capabilities described by the Respondent, shall be implied and deemed to be included in the
Proposal.

4.8 TERMINATION

A. Termination for Cause: The County reserves the right to terminate the Contract and/or any 
Ensuing Agreement(s) for default if the Successful Respondent breaches any of the Proposal
specifications, terms and conditions, including warranties of the Respondent, if any, or if the 
Successful Respondent becomes insolvent or commits acts of bankruptcy.  Such right of 
termination is in addition to and not in lieu of any other remedies the County may have at law or
equity or as may otherwise be provided hereunder.  Default may be construed as, but not limited 
to, failure to deliver the proper goods and/or services within the proper amount of time, and/or to 
properly perform any and all other requirements to the County ’s satisfaction, and/or to meet all 
other obligations and requirements.

B. Termination for Convenience: The County may terminate the Contract and/or any Ensuing 
Agreement(s) for convenience and without cause or further liability, upon no less than thirty (30) 
calendar days written notice to the Successful Respondent. The County reserves the right to 
extend this period if it is in the best interest of the County.  In the event the County exercises its 
right to terminate without cause, it is understood and agreed that only the amounts due to the 
Successful Respondent for goods, commodities and/or services provided and expenses incurred 
to and including the date of termination, will be due and payable.  No penalty will be assessed for 
the County ’s termination for convenience.

4.9 NON-PERFORMANCE

It is the objective of the County to obtain complete and satisfactory performance of the requirements set 
forth herein.  In addition to any other remedies available at law, in equity or that may be set out herein, 
failure to perform may result in a deduction of payment equal to the amount of the goods and/or services 
that were not provided and/or performed to the County ’s satisfaction.  

In the event of such non-performance, the County shall have the right, but shall not be obligated, to 
complete the services itself or by others and/or purchase the goods from other sources.  If the County 
elects to acquire the goods or perform the services itself or by others, pursuant to the foregoing, the 
Successful Respondent shall reimburse the County, within ten (10) calendar days of demand, for all 
costs incurred by the County (including, without limitation, applicable, general, and administrative 
expenses, and field overhead, and the cost of necessary equipment, materials, and field labor) in 
correcting the nonperformance which the Successful Respondent fails to meet pursuant to the 
requirements set out herein.  In the event the Successful Respondent refuses to reimburse the County 
as set out in this provision, the County shall have the right to deduct such reimbursement amounts from 
any amounts that may be then owing or that may become owing in the future to the Successful
Respondent.

4.10 PROPRIETARY INFORMATION AND THE TEXAS PUBLIC INFORMATION ACT

All material submitted to the County shall become public property and subject to the Texas Public 
Information Act upon receipt. If a Respondent does not desire proprietary information in the Proposal to 
be disclosed, each page must be clearly identified and marked proprietary at time of submittal or, more 
preferably, all proprietary information may be placed in a folder or appendix and be clearly identified and 
marked as being proprietary.  Failure to clearly identify and mark information as being proprietary as set 
forth under this provision will result in all unmarked information being deemed non-proprietary and 
available to the public.  For all information that has not been clearly identified and marked as proprietary 
by the Respondent, the County may choose to place such information on the County ’s website and/or a 
similar public database without obtaining any type of prior consent from the Respondent.

The County will, to the extent allowed by law, endeavor to protect from public disclosure the information 
that has been identified and marked as proprietary.  The final decision as to what information must be 
disclosed, however, lies with the Texas Attorney General.  

To the extent, if any, that any provision in this RFP or in the Respondent ’s Proposal is in conflict with 
Texas Government Code, Chapter 552, as amended (the “Public Information Act”), the same shall be of 
no force or effect.  Furthermore, it is expressly understood, and agreed, that the County, and its officers 
and employees, may request advice, decisions and opinions of the Attorney General of the State of
Texas in regard to the application of the Public Information Act to any items or data furnished to the 
County as to whether or not the same are available to the public.  It is further understood that that the 
County, and its officers and employees, shall have the right to rely on the advice, decisions and opinions 
of the Attorney General, and that the County, its officers and employees shall have no liability or obligation 
to any party hereto for the disclosure to the public, or to any person or persons, of any items or data 
furnished to the County by a party hereto, in reliance of any advice, decision or opinion of the Attorney 
General of the State of Texas.

4.11 RIGHT TO AUDIT

The Successful Respondent agrees that the County or its duly authorized representatives shall, until the 
expiration of three (3) years after termination or expiration of the services to be performed, have access 
to and the right to examine and photocopy any and all books, documents, papers and records of the 
Successful Respondent, which are directly pertinent to the services to be performed or goods to
delivered for the purposes of making audits, examinations, excerpts and transcriptions.  The Successful 
Respondent agrees that the County shall have access during normal working hours to all necessary 
facilities and shall be provided adequate and appropriate work space in order to conduct audits in 
compliance with the provisions of this section.  The County shall give the Successful Respondent 
reasonable advance notice of intended audits.

4.12 TESTING AND INSPECTIONS

The County reserves the right to inspect and test equipment, supplies, materials and goods for quality 
and compliance with this RFP, and ability to meet the needs of the user.  Demonstration units must be 
available for review.  Should the goods or services fail to meet requirements and/or be unavailable for 
evaluation, the County can deem the Respondent to be in breach and terminate the Contract and/or any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

4.13 PROPOSAL PREPARATION COSTS

The cost of developing Proposals is the sole responsibility of the Respondents and shall not be charged 
to the County.  There is no expressed or implied obligation for the County to reimburse the Respondents 
for any expense incurred in preparing a Proposal in response to this RFP and the County will not 
reimburse the Respondents for such expenses.

4.14 INDEMNIFICATION

The Successful Respondent shall indemnify, defend and save harmless, the County, its officials, 
employees, agents and agent ’s employees from, and against, all claims, liability, and expenses including 
reasonable attorneys ’ fees, arising from activities of the Respondent, its agents, servants or employees, 
performed hereunder that result from the negligent act, error, or omission of the Respondent or any of 
the Respondent ’s agents, servants or employees, as well as all claims of loss or damage to the 
Respondent ’s and the County ’s property, equipment, and/or supplies. 

Furthermore, the County, its officials, employees, agents and agents ’ employees shall not be liable for 
damages to the Successful Respondent arising from any act of any third party, including, but not limited 
to, theft.  The Successful Respondent further agrees to indemnify, defend and save harmless, the 
County from its officials, employee, agents and agents ’ employees against all claims of whatever nature 
arising from any accident, injury, or damage whatsoever, caused to any person, or the property of any 
person, occurring in relation to the Successful Respondent ’s performance of any services requested 
hereunder during the term of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s). 

The Successful Respondent shall timely report all claims, demands, suits, actions, proceedings, liens or 
judgements to the County and shall, upon the receipt of any claim, demand, suit, action, proceeding, lien 

or judgement, not later than the fifteenth (15 th) day of each month; provide the County with a written 
report on each such matter, setting forth the status of each matter, the schedule or planned proceedings 
with respect to each matter and the cooperation or assistance, if any, of the County required by the 
Successful Respondent in the defense of each matter.  The Successful Respondent’s duty to defend, 
indemnify and hold the County harmless shall be absolute.  It shall not abate or end by reason of the 
expiration or termination of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s), unless otherwise agreed by 
the County in writing.  The provisions of this section shall survive the termination of the Contract and shall 
remain in full force and effect with respect to all such matters no matter when they arise. 

In the event of any dispute between the parties, as to whether a claim, demand, suit, action, proceeding, 
lien or judgement, that appears to have been caused by or appears to have arisen out of or in connection 
with acts or omissions of the County, the Respondent shall nevertheless fully defend such claim, 
demand, suit or action, proceeding, lien or judgement, until and unless there is  a determination by a 
court of competent jurisdiction that the acts and omissions of the Respondent are not an issue in the 
matter. 

The Successful Respondent ’s indemnification shall cover, and the Successful Respondent agrees to, 
indemnify the County, in the event the County is found to have been negligent for having selected the 
Successful Respondent to perform the work described in this request.  The provision by the Successful 
Respondent of insurance shall not limit the liability of the Successful Respondent under the Contract 
and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s). 

4.15 WAIVER OF SUBROGATION

The Successful Respondent and the Successful Respondent ’s insurance carrier waive any and all rights 
whatsoever with regard to subrogation against the County as an indirect party to any suit arising out of 
personal or property damages resulting from the Respondent ’s performance under this Contract and any 
Ensuing Agreement(s).

4.16 RELATIONSHIP OF THE PARTIES

The Successful Respondent shall be an independent contractor and shall assume all of the rights, 
obligations, liabilities, applicable to it as such independent contractor hereunder and any provisions 
herein which may appear to give the County the right to direct the Successful Respondent as to details of 
doing work herein covered, or to exercise a measure of control over the work, shall be deemed to mean 
that the Successful Respondent shall follow the desires of the County in the results of the work only.  The 
County shall not retain or have the right to control the Successful Respondent ’s means, methods or 
details pertaining to the Successful Respondent ’s performance of the work.  The County and the 
Successful Respondent hereby agree and declare that the Successful Respondent is an independent 
contractor and as such meets the qualifications of an “Independent Contractor” under Texas Workers 
Compensation Act, Texas Labor Code, Section 406.141, that the Successful Respondent is not an 
employee of  the County, and that the Successful Respondent and its employees, agents and 
subcontractors shall not be entitled to workers compensation coverage or any other type of insurance 
coverage held by the County.

4.17 SOLE PROVIDER

The Successful Respondent agrees and acknowledges that it shall not be considered a sole provider of 
the goods and/or services described herein and that the County may contract with other providers of 
such goods and/or services if the County deems, at its sole discretion, that multiple providers of the 
same goods and/or services will serve the best interest of the County.

4.18 FORCE MAJEURE

If the party obligated to perform is prevented from performance by an act of war, order of legal authority, 
act of God, or other unavoidable cause not attributable to the fault or negligence of said party, the other 
party shall grant such party relief from the performance.  The burden of proof for the need of such relief 
shall rest upon the party obligated to perform.  To obtain release based on force majeure, the party 
obligated to perform shall file a written request with the other party.

4.19 SEVERABILITY

If any provision of this RFP, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be held invalid or 
unenforceable by any court of competent jurisdiction, such holding shall not invalidate or render 
unenforceable any other provision thereof, but rather the entire RFP, Contract or any Ensuing Agreement
(s) will be construed as if not containing the particular invalid or unenforceable provision or provisions, 
and the rights and obligation of the parties shall be construed and enforced in accordance therewith.  The 
parties acknowledge that if any provision of this RFP, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) is 
determined to be invalid or unenforceable, it is the desire and intention of each that such provision be 
reformed and construed in such a manner that it will, to the maximum extent practicable, give effect to
the intent of this RFP, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) and be deemed to be validated and
enforceable.

4.20 EQUAL OPPORTUNITY

Neither party shall discriminate against any employee or applicant for employment because of race, 
color, sex, religion or national origin.

4.21 NOTICE

Any notice to be given shall be in writing and may be distributed by personal delivery, or by registered or 
certified mail, return receipt requested, addressed to the proper party, at the following address:

The County:    Williamson County Purchasing Department 
            Attn: Purchasing Agent 
            901 South Austin Avenue 
            Georgetown, Texas 78626

The Respondent: Address set out in Respondent ’s Transmittal Letter

Notices given in accordance with this provision shall be effective upon (1) receipt by the party to which 
notice is given, or (2) on the third (3rd) calendar day following mailing, whichever occurs first.

4.22 SALES AND USE TAX EXEMPTION

The County is a body, corporate and politic, under the laws of the State of Texas and claims exemption 
from sales and use taxes under Texas Tax Code, Section 151.309, as amended, and the services and/or 
goods subject hereof are being secured for use by the County.

4.23 COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS

The County and the Successful Respondent shall comply with all federal, state, and local laws, statutes,
ordinances, rules and regulations, and the orders and decrees of any courts or administrative bodies or 
tribunals in any matter affecting the performance of the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s),
including, without limitation, Workers ’ Compensation laws, salary and wage statutes and regulations, 
licensing laws and regulations.  When required, the Successful Respondent shall furnish the County with 
certification of compliance with said laws, statues, ordinances, rules, regulations, orders, and decrees 
above specified.

4.24 INCORPORATION OF EXHIBITS, APPENDICES AND ATTACHMENTS

All of the Exhibits, Appendices and Attachments referred to herein are incorporated by reference as if set 
forth verbatim herein.  Any conflicting terms in the Contract documents will be resolved at the sole 
discretion of the Commissioners Court.

4.25 NO WAIVER OF IMMUNITIES

Nothing herein shall be deemed to waive, modify or amend any legal defense available at law or in equity 
to the County, its past or present officers, employees, or agents, nor to create any legal rights or claim on 
behalf of any third party.  The County does not waive, modify, or alter to any extent whatsoever the 
availability of the defense of governmental immunity under the laws of the State of Texas and of the 
United States.

4.26 NO WAIVER

The failure or delay of any party to enforce at any time or any period of time any of the provisions of this 
RFP, the Contract or any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall not constitute a present or future waiver of such 
provisions nor the right of either party to enforce each and every provision.  Furthermore, no term or 
provision hereof shall be deemed waived and no breach excused unless such waiver or consent shall be 
in writing and signed by the party claimed to have waived or consented.  Any consent by any party to, or 
waiver of, a breach by the other, whether expressed or implied, shall not constitute a consent to, waiver 
of or excuse for any other, different or subsequent breach.

4.27 CURRENT REVENUES

The obligations of the parties under the Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) do not constitute a 
general obligation or indebtedness of the County for which the County is obligated to levy, pledge, or 
collect any of taxation.  It is understood and agreed that the County shall have the right to terminate the 
Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) at the end of any the County fiscal year if the governing body of 
the County does not appropriate sufficient funds as determined by the County ’s budget for the fiscal year 
in question.  The County may effect such termination by giving written notice of termination to the 
Successful Respondent at the end of its then-current fiscal year.

4.28 BINDING EFFECT

This Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties 
and their respective permitted assigns and successors.

4.29 ASSIGNMENT

The Successful Respondent ’s interest and duties hereunder may not be assigned or delegated to a third 
party without the express written consent of the County.

4.30 SAFETY

The Successful Respondent is responsible for initiating, maintaining, and supervising all safety 
precautions and programs in connection with any services to be provided hereunder. The safety program 
shall comply with all applicable requirements of the current federal Occupational Safety and Health Act 
and all other applicable federal, state and local laws and regulations.

4.31 GENERAL OBLIGATIONS AND RELIANCE

The Successful Respondent shall perform all services and/or provide all goods, as well as those
reasonably inferable and necessary for completion and provision of services and/or goods required
hereunder. The Successful Respondent shall keep the County informed of the progress and quality
the services.  The Successful Respondent agrees and acknowledges that the County is relying on the 
Successful Respondent's represented expertise and ability to provide the goods and/or services 
described herein.  The Successful Respondent agrees to use its best efforts, skill, judgment, and abilities
to perform its obligations in accordance with the highest standards used in the profession and to further 
the interests of the County in accordance with the County ’s requirements and procedures.  The 
Successful Respondent ’s duties, as set forth herein, shall at no time be in any way diminished by reason
of any approval by the County, nor shall the Successful Respondent be released from any liability
reason of such approval by the County, it being understood that the County at all times is ultimately 
relying upon the Successful Respondent ’s skill and knowledge in performing the services and providing 
any goods required hereunder.

4.32 CONTRACTUAL DEVELOPMENT

The Commissioners Court may award the Contract on the basis of the initial Proposals received, without
any further or additional discussions.  Therefore, each initial Proposal should contain the Respondent
best terms and offer.  The contents of the RFP and the selected Proposal will become an integral part of 
the Contract, but may be modified, at Williamson County ’s sole discretion, by provisions of an Ensuing 
Agreement.  Therefore, the Respondent must agree to inclusion in an Ensuing Agreement of the 
Proposal specifications, terms and conditions of this RFP.  Williamson County may, at its discretion, opt 
to conduct further discussions with responsible offerors and request the highest ranked firm ’s Best and 
Final Offer (BAFO).

4.33 ENTIRE AGREEMENT

The Contract and any Ensuing Agreement(s) shall supersede all prior Agreements, written or oral 
between the Successful Respondent and the County and shall constitute the entire Agreement and 
understanding between the parties with respect to the services and/or goods to be provided.  Each of the 
provisions herein shall be binding upon the parties and may not be waived, modified, amended or altered, 
except by writing signed by the Successful Respondent and the County.

4.34 SURVIVABILITY 

All applicable agreements that were entered into between the Successful Respondent and the County, 
under the terms and conditions of the Contract and/or any Ensuing Agreement(s), shall survive the 
expiration or termination thereof for ninety (90) days unless a new contract has been awarded.

The County may exercise, by written notice to the Successful Respondent no later than ten (10) calendar 
days of the Contract expiration, this clause for emergency cases only. 

4.35 PAYMENT

The County ’s payment for goods and services shall be governed by the Texas Government Code, 

Chapter 2251.  An invoice shall be deemed overdue the thirty-first (31st) day after the later of the 
following: 

A. The date the County receives the goods under the Contract; 
B. The date the performance of the service under the Contract is completed; or 
C. The date the Williamson County Auditor receives an invoice for the goods or services.  

Interest charges for any overdue payments shall be paid by the County in accordance with Texas 
Government Code, Section 2251.025.  More specifically, the rate of interest that shall accrue on a late 
payment is the rate in effect on September 1 of the County ’s fiscal year in which the payment becomes 
due.  The said rate in effect on September 1 shall be equal to the sum of one (1) percent and the prime 

rate published in the Wall Street Journal on the first (1st) day of July of the preceding fiscal year that does 
not fall on a Saturday or Sunday.

In the event that an error appears in an invoice submitted by the Successful Respondent, the County 
shall notify the Successful Respondent of the error not later than the twenty-first (21st) day after the date 
the County receives the invoice.  If the error is resolved in favor of the Successful Respondent, the 
Successful Respondent shall be entitled to receive interest on the unpaid balance of the invoice 
submitted by the Successful Respondent beginning on the date that the payment for the invoice became 
overdue.  If the error is resolved in favor of the County, the Successful Respondent shall submit a 
corrected invoice that must be paid in accordance within the time set forth above.  The unpaid balance 
accrues interest as provided by the Texas Government Code, Chapter 2251, if the corrected invoice is 
not paid by the appropriate date.

As a minimum, invoices shall include:

A. Name, address, and telephone number of the Successful Respondent and similar information in 
the event the payment is to be made to a different address. 

B. The County Contract, Purchase Order. 

C. Identification of items or service as outlined in the Contract.

D. Quantity or quantities, applicable unit prices, total prices and total amount.

E. Any additional payment information which may be called for by the Contract.

Payment inquiries should be directed to the following address:        

            Williamson County Auditor’s Office, Accounts Payable Department
            Email: accountspayable@wilco.org
            Phone: 512-943-1500

4.36 CONTRACTUAL FORMATION AND ENSUING AGREEMENT

The RFP and the Respondent ’s Proposal, when properly accepted by the Commissioners Court, shall 
constitute a Contract equally binding between the Successful Respondent and the County.  The 
Successful Respondent may be required by Williamson County to sign an additional Agreement 
containing terms necessary to ensure compliance with the RFP and Respondent ’s Proposal.

4.37 LEGAL LIABILITY INFORMATION

The Successful Respondent shall disclose all legal liability information by listing any pending litigation
anticipated litigation that your firm is involved in including, but not limited to, potential or actual legal
matters with private parties and any local, state, federal or international governmental entities. The
County reserves the right to consider legal liability information in the recommendation of any proposed 
contract to the Commissioners Court.

4.38 CONFIDENTIALITY

Respondent expressly agrees that it will not use any direct or incidental confidential information that may
be obtained while working in a governmental setting for its own benefit, and agrees that it will not access
unauthorized areas or confidential information and it will not disclose any information to unauthorized
third parties, and will take care to guard the security of the information at all times.

4.39 INCLEMENT WEATHER

In case of inclement weather or any other unforeseen event causing the County to close for business on 
the date of a Proposal submission deadline, the Proposal closing will automatically be postponed until the 
next business day the County is open.  If inclement weather conditions or any other unforeseen event 
causes delays in carrier service operations, the County may issue an Addendum to all known 
Respondents interested in the project to extend the deadline.  It will be the responsibility of the 
Respondent to notify the County of their interest in the project if these conditions are impacting their 
ability to turn in a submission within the stated deadline.  The County reserves the right to make the final 
judgement call to extend any deadline. 

4.40 AIR QUALITY

In determining the overall best Proposal, the County may, to the extent applicable, exercise the option 
granted to local governments under the Texas Local Government Code, Section 271.907.

This option allows the County to evaluate Proposals and give preference to goods and/or services of
Respondent that demonstrates that the Respondent meets or exceeds any and all state or federal 
environmental standards, including voluntary standards, relating to air quality.  If the Proposal being 
submitted will have an effect on air quality for the County (as it relates to any state, federal, or voluntary 
air quality standard), then the Respondent is encouraged to provide information in narrative indicating the 
anticipated air quality impact.  All Respondents are expected to meet all mandated state and federal air 
quality standards.

4.41 COOPERATIVE PURCHASING PROGRAM 

During the term of the Contract resulting from this RFP, the County would like to afford the same prices, 
terms and conditions to other political subdivisions or public entities.  Another entity’s participation in the 
Contract resulting from this RFP is subject to a properly authorized Purchasing Cooperative Inter- local 
Agreement (ILA) with the County.  Any liability created by purchase orders issued against the Contract 
shall be the sole responsibility of the governmental agency placing the order.

4.42 PREVAILING WAGE RATES

To the extent this procurement is for the construction of a public work, including a building, highway, 
road, excavation, and repair work or other project development or improvement, paid for in whole or in 
part from public funds, without regard to whether the work is done under public supervision or direction, 
Texas Government Code, Chapter 2258, shall apply and the contractor shall pay not less than the wage 
scale of the various classes of labor as shown on the “Prevailing Wage Schedule” provided by the 
County. Pursuant to Texas Government Code, Section 2258.022(a)(2), the County has determined the 
general prevailing rate of the “Prevailing Wage Schedule”  in the locality in which the public work is to be 
performed for each craft or type of worker needed to execute the contract and the prevailing rate for legal 
holiday and overtime work by using the prevailing wage rate as determined by the United States 
Department of Labor in accordance with the United States Code, Section 276a (Davis-Bacon Act). 

The specified wage rates are minimum rates only, and are not representations that qualified labor 
adequate to perform the work is available locally at the prevailing wage rates. The County is not bound to 
pay—and will not consider—any claims for additional compensation made by any contractor because the 
contractor pays wages in excess of the applicable minimum rate contained in the Contract Documents. 
The “Prevailing Wage Schedule”  is not a representation that quantities of qualified labor adequate to 
perform the work may be found locally at the specified wage rates.

For classifications not shown, workers shall not be paid less than the wage indicated for laborers. The 
contractor shall notify each worker commencing work on the project the worker ’s job classification and 
the established minimum wage rate required to be paid, as well as the actual amount being paid. The 
notice must be delivered to and signed in acknowledgement of receipt by the employee and must list 
both the monetary wages and fringe benefits to be paid or furnished for each classification in which the 
worker is assigned duties. When requested by the County, competent evidence of compliance with the 
Texas Prevailing Wage Law shall be furnished by contractor. A copy of each worker wage rate 
notification shall be submitted to the County with the Application for Payment for the period during which 
the worker began on-site activities.

Should the contractor at any time become aware that a particular skill or trade not reflected on the 
County ’s “Prevailing Wage Schedule” will be or is being employed in the work, whether by the contractor 
or by a subcontractor, the contractor shall promptly inform the County and shall specify a wage rate for 
that skill or trade, which shall bind the contractor.

The contractor and any subcontractor shall pay to the County a penalty of sixty dollars ($60.00) for each 
worker employed for each calendar day, or portion thereof, that the worker is paid less than the wage 
rates stipulated in the “Prevailing Wage Schedule” or any supplement thereto. The contractor and each 
subcontractor shall keep, or cause to be kept, an accurate record showing the names and occupations 
of all workers employed in connection with the work, and showing the actual per diem wages paid to 
each worker, which records shall be open at all reasonable hours for the inspection by the County.

Within thirty-one (31) days of receipt of information concerning a violation of the Texas Government Code 
Chapter 2258, the County shall make an initial determination as to whether good cause exists to believe 
a violation occurred. The County ’s decision on the initial determination shall be reduced to writing and 
sent to the contractor or subcontractor against whom the violation was alleged, and to the affected 
worker. When a good cause finding is made, the County shall retain the full amounts claimed by the 
claimant or claimants as the difference between wages paid and wages due under the “Prevailing Wage 
Schedule” and any supplements thereto, together with the applicable penalties, such amounts being 
subtracted from successive progress payments pending a final decision on the violation.

After the County makes its initial determination, the affected contractor or subcontractor and worker have 
fourteen (14) calendar days in which to resolve the issue of whether a violation occurred, including the 
amount that should be retained by the County or paid to the affected worker. If the contractor or 
subcontractor and affected worker reach an agreement concerning the worker ’s claim, the contractor 
shall promptly notify the County in a written document signed by the worker. It the contractor or 

Subcontractor and affected worker do not agree before the fifteenth (15 th) calendar day after the County
determination, the contractor or subcontractor and affected worker must participate in binding arbitration 
in accordance with the Texas General Arbitration Act, Chapter 171, (Texas Civil Practice and Remedies 
Code). The parties to the arbitration have ten (10) calendar days after the expiration of the fifteen (15) 

calendar days referred to above, to agree on an arbitrator; if by the eleventh (11 th) calendar day there is 
no agreement to an arbitrator, a district court shall appoint an arbitrator on the petition of any of the 
parties to the arbitration.

If an arbitrator determines that a violation has occurred, the arbitrator shall assess and award against the 
contractor or subcontractor the amount of penalty as provided above and the amount owed the worker. 
The County may use any amounts retained hereunder to pay the worker the amount as designated in the 
arbitration award. If the County has not retained enough from the contractor or subcontractor to pay the 
worker in accordance with the arbitration award, the worker has a right of action against the contractor 
and subcontractor as appropriate, and the surety of either to receive the amount owed, attorneys ’  fees 
and court costs. The contractor shall promptly furnish a copy of the arbitration award to the County.

Money retained pursuant to the provisions above shall be used to pay the claimant or claimants the 
difference between the amount the worker received in wages for labor on the project at the rate paid by 
the contractor or subcontractor and the amount the worker would have received at the general prevailing 
wage rate as provided by the agreement of the claimant and the contractor or subcontractor affected, or 
in the arbitrator ’s award. The full statutory penalty of sixty dollars ($60.00) per calendar day of violation 
per worker shall be retained by Williamson County to offset its administrative costs, pursuant to Texas 
Government Code, Section, 2258.023. Any retained funds in excess of these amounts shall be paid to 
the contractor on the earlier of the next progress payment or final payment. Provided, however, that the 
County shall have no duty to release any funds to either the claimant or the contractor until it has 
received the notices of agreement or the arbitration award as provided under the provision herein-above.

4.43 CONFIDENTALITY

The Respondent expressly agrees that it will not use any direct or incidental confidential information that 
may be obtained while working in a governmental setting for its own benefit, and agrees that it will not 
access unauthorized areas or confidential information and it will not disclose any information to 
unauthorized third parties, and will take care to guard the security of the information at all times.

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 372



5

6

3 4

List the last three (3) companies or governmental agencies, where the same or similar goods and/or 
services as contained in this RFP package, were recently provided by Respondent.

Reference 1

Client Name:                                                         Location:

Contact Name:                                                      Title:

Phone:                                                                  E-mail

Contract Date To:                  Contract Date From:             Contract Value: $

Scope of Work:

Reference 2

Client Name:                                                         Location:

Contact Name:                                                      Title:

Phone:                                                                  E-mail

Contract Date To:                  Contract Date From:             Contract Value: $

Scope of Work:

Reference 3

Client Name:                                                         Location:

Contact Name:                                                      Title:

Phone:                                                                  E-mail

Contract Date To:                  Contract Date From:             Contract Value: $

Scope of Work:

55

66

55

66

55

66

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 373



5

6

3 4

List the last three (3) companies or governmental agencies, where the same or similar goods and/or 
services as contained in this RFP package, were recently provided by Respondent.

Reference 1

Client Name:                                                         Location:

Contact Name:                                                      Title:

Phone:                                                                  E-mail

Contract Date To:                  Contract Date From:             Contract Value: $

Scope of Work:

Reference 2

Client Name:                                                         Location:

Contact Name:                                                      Title:

Phone:                                                                  E-mail

Contract Date To:                  Contract Date From:             Contract Value: $

Scope of Work:

Reference 3

Client Name:                                                         Location:

Contact Name:                                                      Title:

Phone:                                                                  E-mail

Contract Date To:                  Contract Date From:             Contract Value: $

Scope of Work:

55

66

55

66

55

66

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 374



5

6

CONFLICT OF INTEREST QUESTIONNAIRE
For vendor or other person doing business with local governmental entity

Form 
CIQ

This questionnaire is being filed in accordance with chapter 176 of the Local 
Government Code by a person doing business with the governmental entity.

By law this questionnaire must be filed with the records administrator of the 
local government not later than the 7th business day after the date the person 

becomes aware of facts that require the statement to be filed. See Section 
176.006, Local Government Code.

A person commits an offense if the person violates Section 176.006, Local 
Government Code. An offense under this section is a Class C misdemeanor.

   Date Received 

OFFICE USE ONLY

1 Name of person doing business with local governmental entity.

2
Check this box if you are filing an update to a previously filed questionnaire.

(The law requires that you file an updated completed questionnaire with the appropriate filing authority not later 

than September 1 of the year for which an activity described in Section 176.006(a), Local Government Code, is 

pending and not later than the 7th business day after the date the originally filed questionnaire becomes 

incomplete or inaccurate.)

3
Describe each affiliation or business relationship with an employee or contractor of the local governmental 

entity who makes recommendations to a local government officer of the local governmental entity with 
respect to expenditure of money.

55

66

4
Describe each affiliation or business relationship with a person who is a local government officer and who 
appoints or employs a local government officer of the local governmental entity that is the subject of this 

questionnaire.

55

66

CONFLICT OF INTEREST QUESTIONNAIRE
For vendor or other person doing business with local governmental 

entity

Form 
CIQ

Page 2

5 Name of local government officer with whom filer has affiliation or business relationship. 
(Complete this section only if the answer to A, B, or C is YES.)

This section, item 5 including subparts A, B, C & D, must be completed for each officer with whom the filer 
has affiliation or other relationship. Attach additional pages to this Form CIQ as necessary.

A. Is the local government officer named in this section receiving or likely to receive taxable income from 
the filer of the questionnaire?

Yes No

B. Is the filer of the questionnaire receiving or likely to receive taxable income from or at the direction of the 
local government officer named in this section AND the taxable income is not from the local 

governmental entity?

Yes No

C. Is the filer of this questionnaire affiliated with a corporation or other business entity that the local 
government officer serves as an officer or director, or holds an ownership of 10 percent or more?

Yes No

D. Describe each affiliation or business relationship.

6. Describe any other affiliation or business relationship that might cause conflict of interest:

55

66

55

66

7

Signature of person doing business with the governmental entity Date

Signature not required if completing in BIDSYNC electronically.

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 375



5

6

CONFLICT OF INTEREST QUESTIONNAIRE
For vendor or other person doing business with local governmental entity

Form 
CIQ

This questionnaire is being filed in accordance with chapter 176 of the Local 
Government Code by a person doing business with the governmental entity.

By law this questionnaire must be filed with the records administrator of the 
local government not later than the 7th business day after the date the person 

becomes aware of facts that require the statement to be filed. See Section 
176.006, Local Government Code.

A person commits an offense if the person violates Section 176.006, Local 
Government Code. An offense under this section is a Class C misdemeanor.

   Date Received 

OFFICE USE ONLY

1 Name of person doing business with local governmental entity.

2
Check this box if you are filing an update to a previously filed questionnaire.

(The law requires that you file an updated completed questionnaire with the appropriate filing authority not later 

than September 1 of the year for which an activity described in Section 176.006(a), Local Government Code, is 

pending and not later than the 7th business day after the date the originally filed questionnaire becomes 

incomplete or inaccurate.)

3
Describe each affiliation or business relationship with an employee or contractor of the local governmental 

entity who makes recommendations to a local government officer of the local governmental entity with 
respect to expenditure of money.

55

66

4
Describe each affiliation or business relationship with a person who is a local government officer and who 
appoints or employs a local government officer of the local governmental entity that is the subject of this 

questionnaire.

55

66

CONFLICT OF INTEREST QUESTIONNAIRE
For vendor or other person doing business with local governmental 

entity

Form 
CIQ

Page 2

5 Name of local government officer with whom filer has affiliation or business relationship. 
(Complete this section only if the answer to A, B, or C is YES.)

This section, item 5 including subparts A, B, C & D, must be completed for each officer with whom the filer 
has affiliation or other relationship. Attach additional pages to this Form CIQ as necessary.

A. Is the local government officer named in this section receiving or likely to receive taxable income from 
the filer of the questionnaire?

Yes No

B. Is the filer of the questionnaire receiving or likely to receive taxable income from or at the direction of the 
local government officer named in this section AND the taxable income is not from the local 

governmental entity?

Yes No

C. Is the filer of this questionnaire affiliated with a corporation or other business entity that the local 
government officer serves as an officer or director, or holds an ownership of 10 percent or more?

Yes No

D. Describe each affiliation or business relationship.

6. Describe any other affiliation or business relationship that might cause conflict of interest:

55

66

55

66

7

Signature of person doing business with the governmental entity Date

Signature not required if completing in BIDSYNC electronically.

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 376



5

6

PROPOSAL AFFIDAVIT

This form must be completed, signed, notarized and returned with Proposal package

The undersigned certi fies that the RFP and the Respondent ’s Proposal have been carefully reviewed and are
submitted as correct and final.  Respondent further certi fies and agrees to furnish any and/or all goods and/or
services upon which prices are extended at the price Proposal, and upon the condit ions contained in the RFP.

I hereby cert i fy that the foregoing Proposal has not been prepared in collusion with any other Respondent or
other person or persons engaged in the same line of business prior to the official opening of this Proposal.
Further, I certi fy that the Respondent is not now, nor has been for the past six (6) months, directly or indirectly
concerned in any pool or agreement or combination, to control the price of services/commodities Proposal on,
or to influence any person or persons to submit a Proposal or not to submit a Proposal thereon. ”

Cooperative Purchasing Program
Check one of the following options below . A non-affirmative Proposal will in no way have a negative impact 
on the County ’s evaluation of the Proposal.

*If no box is checked, the Respondent agrees to make best efforts in good faith to offer the quoted 
prices to all authorized entities.*

SIGNATURE AND NOTARY NOT REQUIRED IF COMPLETING IN BIDSYNC ELECTRONICALLY.

Name of Respondent:

Address of Respondent:

Email:

Telephone:

Printed Name of Person Submitting 
Affidavit:

Signature of Person Submitting 
Affidavit:

I will offer the quoted prices to all authorized entities during the term of the County ’s Contract.

I will not offer the quoted prices to all authorized entities.

BEFORE ME, the undersigned authority, a Notary Public, personally appeared 

(Name of Signer), who after being by me duly sworn, did depose and say: “I, , 

(Name of Signer) am a duly author ized officer of/agent for (Name of Respondent) 

and have been duly author ized to execute the foregoing on behalf of the said 

(Name of Respondent).

SUBSCRIBED AND SWORN to before me by the above-named 

on this the day of , 20 .

Notary Public in and for

The State of 

The County of 

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 377



Page 1 of 40 
 

 
 

UNIFORM GENERAL CONDITIONS 
FOR WILLIAMSON COUNTY 

 
TABLE OF ARTICLES 
 
1 GENERAL PROVISIONS 
2 OWNER 
3 CONTRACTOR 
4 ARCHITECT 
5 SUBCONTRACTORS 
6 CONSTRUCTION BY OWNER OR BY SEPARATE CONTRACTORS 
7 CHANGES IN THE WORK 
8 TIME 
9 PAYMENTS AND COMPLETION 
10 PROTECTION OF PERSONS AND PROPERTY 
11 INSURANCE AND BONDS 
12 UNCOVERING AND CORRECTION OF WORK 
13 MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS 
14 TERMINATION OR SUSPENSION OF THE CONTRACT 
15 CLAIMS AND DISPUTES 
 
 
ARTICLE 1   GENERAL PROVISIONS 
§ 1.1 BASIC DEFINITIONS 
§ 1.1.1 THE CONTRACT DOCUMENTS 
The Contract Documents are enumerated in the Agreement between the Owner and Contractor 
(hereinafter the Agreement) and consist of the Agreement, Conditions of the Contract as revised, 
Drawings, Specifications, Addenda issued prior to execution of the Contract, other documents listed in the 
Agreement and Modifications issued after execution of the Contract. A Modification is (1) a written 
amendment to the Contract signed by both parties, (2) a Change Order, (3) a Construction Change 
Directive or (4) a written order for a minor change in the Work issued by the Owner or the Architect. 
Unless specifically enumerated in the Agreement, the Contract Documents do not include the 
advertisement or invitation to bid, Instructions to Bidders, sample forms, other information furnished by 
the Owner in anticipation of receiving bids or proposals, the Contractor’s bid or proposal, or portions of 
Addenda relating to bidding requirements. 
 
§ 1.1.2 THE CONTRACT 
The Contract Documents form the Contract for Construction. The Contract represents the entire and 
integrated agreement between the parties hereto and supersedes prior negotiations, representations or 
agreements, either written or oral. The Contract may be amended or modified only by a Modification. The 
Contract Documents shall not be construed to create a contractual relationship of any kind (1) between 
the Contractor and the Architect or the Architect’s consultants, (2) between the Owner and a 
Subcontractor or a Sub-subcontractor, (3) between the Owner and the Architect or the Architect’s 
consultants or (4) between any persons or entities other than the Owner and the Contractor.  
 

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 378



Page 2 of 40 
 

§ 1.1.3 THE WORK 
The term “Work” means the construction and services required by the Contract Documents, whether 
completed or partially completed, and includes all other labor, materials, equipment and services provided 
or to be provided by the Contractor to fulfill the Contractor’s obligations. The Work may constitute the 
whole or a part of the Project. 
 
§ 1.1.4 THE PROJECT 
The Project is the total construction of which the Work performed under the Contract Documents may be 
the whole or a part and which may include construction by the Owner and by separate contractors. 
 
§ 1.1.5 THE DRAWINGS 
The Drawings are the graphic and pictorial portions of the Contract Documents showing the design, 
location and dimensions of the Work, generally including plans, elevations, sections, details, schedules 
and diagrams. 
 
§ 1.1.6 THE SPECIFICATIONS 
The Specifications are that portion of the Contract Documents consisting of the written requirements for 
materials, equipment, systems, standards and workmanship for the Work, and performance of related 
services. 
 
§ 1.1.7 INSTRUMENTS OF SERVICE 
Instruments of Service are representations, in any medium of expression now known or later developed, 
of the tangible and intangible creative work performed by the Architect and the Architect’s consultants 
under their respective professional services agreements. Instruments of Service may include, without 
limitation, studies, surveys, models, sketches, drawings, specifications, and other similar materials. 
 
§ 1.1.8 KNOWLEDGE: The terms "knowledge," "recognize," and "discover," their respective derivatives, 
and similar terms in the Contract Documents, as used in reference to the Contractor, shall be interpreted 
to mean that which the Contractor knows (or should know), recognizes (or should recognize), and 
discovers (or should discover) in exercising the care, skill, and diligence required by the Contract 
Documents.  Analogously, the expression "reasonably inferable" and similar terms in the Contract 
Documents shall be interpreted to mean reasonably inferable by a contractor familiar with the Project and 
exercising the care, skill, and diligence required of the Contractor by the Contract Documents.§1.1.10 
PRODUCT: Materials, systems, and equipment incorporated or to be incorporated in the Work. 
 
§1.1.9 PROVIDE: Furnish and install and shall include, without limitation, labor, materials, equipment, 
transportation, services and other items required to complete the referenced tasks.  
 
§1.1.02 FURNISH: Pay for, deliver (or receive), unload, inspect, and store products, materials, 
equipment, and accessories as specified while retaining care, custody and control until received for 
installation based on a signed receipt. 
 
§ 1.1.11 INSTALL: Receive, unload, inspect, and store as specified while retaining care, custody and 
control; set or place in position, make required connections; and adjust and test as specified in the 
Contract Documents for satisfactory performance and operation. 
 
§ 1.2 CORRELATION AND INTENT OF THE CONTRACT DOCUMENTS 
§ 1.2.1 The intent of the Contract Documents is to include all items necessary for the proper execution 
and completion of the Work by the Contractor. The Contract Documents are complementary, and what is 
required by one shall be as binding as if required by all; performance by the Contractor shall be required 
only to the extent consistent with the Contract Documents and reasonably inferable from them as being 
necessary to produce the intended results. In the event of inconsistencies within or between parts of the 
Contract Documents, or between the Contract Documents and applicable standards, codes, and 
ordinances, the Contractor shall (i) provide the better quality or greater quantity of Work or (ii) comply with 
the more stringent requirement; either or both in accordance with the Owner or the Architect’s 

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 379



Page 3 of 40 
 

interpretation.  The terms and conditions of this Section 1.2.1, however, shall not relieve the Contractor of 
any of the obligations set forth in the Contract Documents. 
 
§ 1.2.2 Organization of the Specifications into divisions, sections and articles, and arrangement of 
Drawings shall not control the Contractor in dividing the Work among Subcontractors or in establishing 
the extent of Work to be performed by any trade. 
 
§ 1.2.3 Unless otherwise stated in the Contract Documents, words that have well-known technical or 
construction industry meanings are used in the Contract Documents in accordance with such recognized 
meanings. 
 
§ 1.2.3.1 Whenever a product is specified in accordance with a Federal Specification, an ASTM Standard, 
an American National Standards Institute Specification, or other Association Standard, the Contractor, if 
required by the Specifications or if requested by the Owner, shall present evidence from the manufacture, 
certifying the product complies with the particular Standard or Specification.  When required by the 
Contract Documents, supporting data shall be submitted to substantiate compliance. 
 
§ 1.2.3.2 Whenever a product is specified or shown by describing proprietary items, model numbers, 
catalog numbers, manufacturer, trade names, or similar reference, no substitutions may be made unless 
accepted in strict accordance with the Substitution requirements stated in the Specifications or, if no 
Substitution requirements are stated in the Specifications, in accordance with the requirements stated 
elsewhere in the Contract Documents. Where two or more products are shown or specified, the 
Contractor has the option to use either of those shown or specified. 
 
§ 1.3 CAPITALIZATION 
Terms capitalized in these General Conditions include those that are (1) specifically defined, (2) the titles 
of numbered articles or (3) the titles of other documents published by the American Institute of Architects. 
 
§ 1.4 INTERPRETATION 
In the interest of brevity the Contract Documents frequently omit modifying words such as “all” and “any” 
and articles such as “the” and “an,” but the fact that a modifier or an article is absent from one statement 
and appears in another is not intended to affect the interpretation of either statement. 
 
§ 1.5 USE OF DRAWINGS AND OTHER INSTRUMENTS OF SERVICE 
§ 1.5.1 The Architect and the Architect’s consultants shall be deemed the authors and owners of their 
respective Instruments of Service, including the Drawings and Specifications, and will retain all common 
law, statutory and other reserved rights, including copyrights, except as provided in the Owner-Architect 
Agreement. The Contractor, Subcontractors, Sub-subcontractors, and material or equipment suppliers 
shall not own or claim a copyright in the Instruments of Service. Submittal or distribution to meet official 
regulatory requirements or for other purposes in connection with this Project is not to be construed as 
publication in derogation of the Architect’s or Architect’s consultants’ reserved rights. 
 
§ 1.5.2 The Contractor, Subcontractors, Sub-subcontractors and material or equipment suppliers are 
authorized to use and reproduce the Instruments of Service provided to them solely and exclusively for 
execution of the Work. All copies made under this authorization shall bear the copyright notice, if any, 
shown on the Instruments of Service. The Contractor, Subcontractors, Sub-subcontractors, and material 
or equipment suppliers may not use the Instruments of Service on other projects or for additions to this 
Project outside the scope of the Work without the specific written consent of the Owner, Architect and the 
Architect’s consultants.  
 
§ 1.6 TRANSMISSION OF DATA IN DIGITAL FORM 
If the parties intend to transmit Instruments of Service or any other information or documentation in digital 
form, they shall establish the necessary protocols governing such transmissions in writing, unless 
otherwise already provided in the Agreement or the Contract Documents. 
 
 

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 380



Page 4 of 40 
 

ARTICLE 2   OWNER 
§ 2.1 GENERAL 
The Owner means Williamson County acting through any duly authorized representative as provided in 
the Agreement, and is referred to throughout the Contract Documents as if singular in number. The 
Owner shall designate in writing a representative who shall have express authority to bind the Owner with 
respect to all matters requiring the Owner’s approval or authorization (“Owner’s Designated 
Representative”). The term “Owner” means the Owner or the Owner’s authorized representative. 
 
§ 2.2 OWNER 
§ 2.2.1 Appropriation of Funds by Owner.  Owner believes it has sufficient funds currently available and 
authorized for expenditure to finance the costs of the Agreement between Owner and Contractor.  
Contractor understands and agrees that the Owner’s payment of amounts under the Agreement between 
Owner and Contractor is contingent on the Owner receiving appropriations or other expenditure authority 
sufficient to allow the Owner, in the exercise of reasonable administrative discretion, to continue to make 
payments under the Agreement.   
 
§ 2.2.2 Unless specifically stated otherwise in the Contract Documents, Contractor shall secure and pay 
for necessary permits, approvals, assessments, and charges required for construction, use or occupancy 
of permanent structures or for permanent changes in existing facilities. 
 
§ 2.2.3 The Owner shall furnish surveys describing physical characteristics, legal limitations and utility 
locations for the site of the Project, and a legal description of the site. Except for surveys or grade 
information, the Contractor shall compare the information furnished by the Owner, including, but not 
limited to, soil tests, with visibly observable physical conditions and the Contract Documents and, on the 
basis of such review, promptly report to the Owner and the Architect any known conflicts, errors or 
omissions. The Contractor shall be entitled to rely on the accuracy of information furnished by the Owner 
but shall exercise proper precautions relating to the safe performance of the Work. 
 
§ 2.2.4 The Owner shall furnish information or services required of the Owner by the Contract Documents 
with reasonable promptness. The Owner shall also furnish any other information or services under the 
Owner’s control and relevant to the Contractor’s performance of the Work with reasonable promptness 
after receiving the Contractor’s written request for such information or services. 
 
§ 2.2.5 Unless otherwise provided in the Contract Documents, the Owner shall furnish to the Contractor 
one copy of the Contract Documents for purposes of making reproductions. 
 
§ 2.3 OWNER’S RIGHT TO STOP THE WORK 
If the Contractor fails to correct Work that is not in accordance with the requirements of the Contract 
Documents as required by Section 12.2 or repeatedly fails to carry out Work in accordance with the 
Contract Documents, the Owner may issue a written order to the Contractor to stop the Work, or any 
portion thereof, until the cause for such order has been eliminated; however, the right of the Owner to 
stop the Work shall not give rise to a duty on the part of the Owner to exercise this right for the benefit of 
the Contractor or any other person or entity. 
 
§ 2.4 OWNER’S RIGHT TO CARRY OUT THE WORK 
If the Contractor defaults or neglects to carry out the Work in accordance with the Contract Documents 
and fails within a ten-day period after receipt of written notice from the Owner to commence and continue 
correction of such default or neglect with diligence and promptness, the Owner may, without prejudice to 
other remedies the Owner may have, correct such deficiencies. In such case an appropriate Change 
Order shall be issued deducting from payments then or thereafter due the Contractor the reasonable cost 
of correcting such deficiencies, including Owner’s expenses and compensation for the Architect’s 
additional services made necessary by such default, neglect or failure. Such action by the Owner and 
amounts charged to the Contractor are both subject to prior approval of the Architect. If payments then or 
thereafter due the Contractor are not sufficient to cover such amounts, the Contractor shall pay the 
difference to the Owner. 
 

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 381



Page 5 of 40 
 

§2.5 EXTENT OF OWNER RIGHTS 
§ 2.5.1 The rights stated in this Article 2 and elsewhere in the Contract Documents are cumulative and 
not in limitation of any rights of the Owner (i) granted in the Contract Documents, (ii) at law, or (iii) in 
equity. 
 
§ 2.5.2 In no event shall the Owner have control over, charge of, or any responsibility for construction 
means, methods, techniques, sequences, or procedures or for safety precautions and programs in 
connection with the Work, notwithstanding any of the rights and authority granted the Owner in the 
Contract Documents. 
 
§ 2.6 OWNER’S RIGHT TO RECORDS 
§ 2.6.1 The Contractor’s records, which shall include but not be limited to accounting records, written 
policies and procedures, subcontractor files (including proposals of successful bidders), original 
estimates, estimating work sheets, correspondence, schedules, change order files (including 
documentation covering negotiated settlements), and any other supporting evidence necessary to 
substantiate charges related to this contract (all foregoing hereinafter referred to as "records") and shall 
be open to inspection and subject to audit and/or reproduction, during normal working hours, by Owner’s 
agent or its authorized representative to the extent necessary to adequately permit evaluation and 
verification of any invoices, payments or claims submitted by the Contractor or any of his payees. Such 
records subject to examination shall also include, but not be limited to, those records necessary to 
evaluate and verify direct and indirect costs (including overhead allocations) as they may apply to costs 
associated with this Contract. 
 
§ 2.6.2 For the purpose of such audits, inspections, examinations and evaluations, the Owner’s agent, or 
authorized representatives shall have access to said records from the effective date of this Contract for 
the duration of Work and until three (3) years (or longer if required by law) after the date of final payment 
by Owner to Contractor. 
 
§ 2.6.3 Owner’s agent or its authorized representative shall have access during normal business hours to 
the Contractor’s facilities, shall have access to all necessary records and shall be provided adequate and 
appropriate work space, in order to conduct audits in compliance with this Article 2.6. Owner’s agent or 
authorized representative shall give auditees reasonable advance notice of intended audits. 
 
§ 2.6.4 Contractor shall require all subcontractors, insurance agents, and material suppliers (payees) with 
cost plus contracts, if permitted, and not fixed price contracts to comply with the provisions of this Article 
by insertion of the requirements hereof in a written contract agreement between Contractor and payee. 
Failure to obtain such written contracts which include such provisions shall be reason to exclude some or 
all of the related payee’s costs from amounts payable to the Contractor pursuant to this contract. 
 
ARTICLE 3   CONTRACTOR 
§ 3.1 GENERAL 
§ 3.1.1 The Contractor is the person or entity identified as such in the Agreement and is referred to 
throughout the Contract Documents as if singular in number. The Contractor shall be lawfully licensed, if 
required in the jurisdiction where the Project is located. The Contractor shall designate in writing a 
representative who shall have express authority to bind the Contractor with respect to all matters under 
this Contract. The term “Contractor” means the Contractor or the Contractor’s authorized representative, 
and if these General Conditions are used in conjunction with the Agreement between Owner and 
Construction Manager-At-Risk, the term “Contractor” shall mean the Construction Manager. 
 
§ 3.1.2 The Contractor shall perform the Work in strict accordance with the Contract Documents. 
 
§ 3.1.3 The Contractor shall not be relieved of obligations to perform the Work in accordance with the 
Contract Documents either by activities or duties of the Architect in the Architect’s administration of the 
Contract, or by tests, inspections or approvals required or performed by persons or entities other than the 
Contractor. 
 

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 382



Page 6 of 40 
 

§ 3.2 REVIEW OF CONTRACT DOCUMENTS AND FIELD CONDITIONS BY CONTRACTOR 
§ 3.2.1 Execution of the Contract by the Contractor is a representation that the Contractor has visited the 
site, become generally familiar with local conditions under which the Work is to be performed and 
correlated personal observations with requirements of the Contract Documents.  Prior to execution of the 
Agreement, the Contractor and each Subcontractor shall have evaluated and satisfied themselves as to 
the observable conditions and limitations under which the Work is to be performed, including, without 
limitation, (i) the location, condition, layout, and nature of the Project site and surrounding areas, (ii) 
generally prevailing climatic conditions, (iii) anticipated labor supply and costs, (iv) availability and cost of 
materials, tools, and equipment, and (v) other similar issues.  The Owner assumes no responsibility or 
liability for the physical condition or safety of the Project site or any improvements located on the Project 
site.  Except as set forth in Section 10.3, the Contractor shall be solely responsible for providing a safe 
place for the performance of the Work.  The Owner shall not be required to make any adjustment in either 
the Contract Sum or the Contract Time in connection with any failure by the Contractor or any 
Subcontractor to have complied with the requirements of this Section 3.2.1. 
 
§ 3.2.2 Because the Contract Documents are complementary, the Contractor shall, before starting each 
portion of the Work, carefully study and compare the various Contract Documents relative to that portion 
of the Work, as well as the information furnished by the Owner pursuant to Section 2.2.3, shall take field 
measurements of any existing conditions related to that portion of the Work, and shall observe any 
conditions at the site affecting it. These obligations are for the purpose of facilitating coordination and 
construction by the Contractor and are not for the purpose of discovering errors, omissions, or 
inconsistencies in the Contract Documents; however, the Contractor shall promptly report to the Owner 
and Architect any errors, inconsistencies or omissions discovered by or made known to the Contractor as 
a request for information. It is recognized that the Contractor’s review is made in the Contractor’s capacity 
as a contractor and not as a licensed design professional, unless otherwise specifically provided in the 
Contract Documents. It is the intent of the Contract Documents to describe a functionally complete project 
(or part thereof) to be constructed in accordance with the Contract Documents. Any labor, documentation, 
services, materials, or equipment that reasonably may be inferred from the Contract Documents or from 
prevailing custom or trade usage as being required to produce the indicated result will be provided 
whether or not specifically called for, at no additional cost to Owner. The Contractor shall verify the 
accuracy of elevations, dimensions, locations, and field measurements.  In all cases of the 
interconnection of its Work with existing or other Work, the Contractor shall verify at the site all 
dimensions relating to such existing or other Work.   
 

.1  All of Contractor’s work shall conform to the Contract Documents. Contractor shall be 
responsible for the details of the Work necessary to carry out the intent of the drawings and 
specifications, or which are customarily performed.  When more detailed information is 
required for performance of the Work or when an interpretation of the Contract Documents is 
requested, the Contractor shall submit a written request for information to the Architect or 
Owner (as required), and the Owner or Architect shall furnish such information or 
interpretation.  Where only part of the Work is indicated, similar parts shall be considered 
repetitive.  Where any detail is shown and components thereof are fully described, similar 
details not fully described shall be considered to incorporate the fully described details and 
components.   

 
.2  The Contractor has had an opportunity to examine, and has carefully examined, all of the 

Contract Documents and Project site, and has fully acquainted itself with the scope of work, 
design, availability of materials, existing facilities, access, general topography, soil structure, 
subsurface conditions, obstructions, and all other conditions pertaining to the Work, the site of 
the Work, and its surrounding; that it has made necessary investigations to a full 
understanding of the difficulties which may be encountered in performing the Work; and that 
anything in any Contract Documents, or in any representations, statements, or information 
made or furnished by Owner or its representatives notwithstanding, Contractor will complete 
the Work for the compensation stated in the Agreement.  In addition thereto, Contractor 
represents that it is fully qualified to do the Work in accordance with the terms of this 
Agreement in the time specified. 

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 383



Page 7 of 40 
 

 
§ 3.2.3 The Contractor is not required to ascertain that the Contract Documents are in accordance with 
applicable laws, statutes, ordinances, codes, rules and regulations, or lawful orders of public authorities, 
but the Contractor shall promptly report to the Owner and the Architect any nonconformity discovered by 
or made known to the Contractor as a request for information. 
 
§ 3.2.4 If the Contractor believes that additional cost or time is involved because of clarifications or 
instructions the Architect issues in response to the Contractor’s notices or requests for information 
pursuant to Sections 3.2.2 or 3.2.3, the Contractor shall make Claims as provided in Article 15.  
 
§ 3.3 SUPERVISION AND CONSTRUCTION PROCEDURES 
§ 3.3.1 The Contractor shall supervise and direct the Work, using the Contractor’s best skill and attention. 
The Contractor shall be solely responsible for, and have control over, construction means, methods, 
techniques, sequences and procedures and for coordinating all portions of the Work under the Contract, 
unless the Contract Documents give other specific instructions concerning these matters. If the Contract 
Documents give specific instructions concerning construction means, methods, techniques, sequences or 
procedures, the Contractor shall evaluate the jobsite safety thereof and, except as stated below, shall be 
fully and solely responsible for the jobsite safety of such means, methods, techniques, sequences or 
procedures. If the Contractor determines that such means, methods, techniques, sequences or 
procedures may not be safe, the Contractor shall give timely written notice to the Owner and Architect 
and shall not proceed with that portion of the Work without further written instructions from the Architect. If 
the Contractor is then instructed to proceed with the required means, methods, techniques, sequences or 
procedures without acceptance of changes proposed by the Contractor, the Owner shall be solely 
responsible for any loss or damage arising solely from those Owner-required means, methods, 
techniques, sequences or procedures.  
 
§ 3.3.2 The Contractor shall be responsible to the Owner for acts and omissions of the Contractor’s 
employees, Subcontractors and their agents and employees, and other persons or entities performing 
portions of the Work for, or on behalf of, the Contractor or any of its Subcontractors. 
 
§ 3.3.3 The Contractor shall be responsible for inspection of portions of Work already performed to 
determine that such portions are in proper condition to receive subsequent Work. 
 
§ 3.3.4 Inspection of the progress, quantity, or quality of the Work done by the Owner, any Owner’s 
representative, any governmental agency, or the Architect, or any inspector, shall not relieve the 
Contractor of any responsibility for the compliance of the Work with the Contract Documents. The Owner 
or its approved representative (heretofore referred to as Owner’s representative) shall have access to the 
worksite and all Work. No supervision or inspection by the Owner’s representative, nor the authority to act 
nor any other actions taken by the Owner’s representative shall relieve the Contractor of any of its 
obligations under the Contract Documents nor give rise to any duty on the part of the Owner. 
 
§ 3.4 LABOR AND MATERIALS 
§ 3.4.1 Unless otherwise provided in the Contract Documents, the Contractor shall provide and pay for 
labor, materials, equipment, tools, construction equipment and machinery, water, heat, utilities, 
transportation, and other facilities and services necessary for proper execution and completion of the 
Work, whether temporary or permanent and whether or not incorporated or to be incorporated in the 
Work. 
 
§ 3.4.1.1 Duty to Pay Prevailing Wage Rates. The Contractor shall pay not less than the wage scale of 
the various classes of labor as shown on the “Prevailing Wage Schedule” provided by the Owner.  The 
specified wage rates are minimum rates only, and are not representations that qualified labor adequate to 
perform the Work is available locally at the prevailing wage rates.  The Owner is not bound to pay—and 
will not consider—any claims for additional compensation made by any Contractor because the 
Contractor pays wages in excess of the applicable minimum rate contained in the Contract Documents.  
The “Prevailing Wage Schedule” is not a representation that quantities of qualified labor adequate to 
perform the Work may be found locally at the specified wage rates. 

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 384



Page 8 of 40 
 

 
.1  For classifications not shown, workers shall not be paid less than the wage indicated for 

Laborers.  The Contractor shall notify each worker commencing work on the Project the 
worker’s job classification and the established minimum wage rate required to be paid, as 
well as the actual amount being paid.  The notice must be delivered to and signed in 
acknowledgement of receipt by the employee and must list both the monetary wages and 
fringe benefits to be paid or furnished for each classification in which the worker is 
assigned duties.  When requested by Owner, competent evidence of compliance with the 
Texas Prevailing Wage Law shall be furnished by Contractor. 

  
.2 A copy of each worker wage rate notification shall be submitted to the Owner with the 

Application for Payment for the period during which the worker began on-site activities. 
 
§ 3.4.1.2 Prevailing Wage Schedule. The “Prevailing Wage Schedule” shall be determined by the Owner 
in compliance with Chapter 2258, Texas Government Code.  Should the Contractor at any time become 
aware that a particular skill or trade not reflected on the Owner’s Prevailing Wage Schedule will be or is 
being employed in the Work, whether by the Contractor or by a subcontractor, the Contractor shall 
promptly inform the Owner and shall specify a wage rate for that skill or trade, which shall bind the 
Contractor. 
 
§ 3.4.1.3 Penalty for Violation.  The Contractor and any Subcontractor shall pay to the Owner a penalty of 
sixty dollars ($60.00) for each worker employed for each calendar day, or portion thereof, that the worker 
is paid less than the wage rates stipulated in the Prevailing Wage Schedule or any supplement thereto 
pursuant to §3.4.1.2. The Contractor and each Subcontractor shall keep, or cause to be kept, an accurate 
record showing the names and occupations of all workers employed in connection with the Work, and 
showing the actual per diem wages paid to each worker, which records shall be open at all reasonable 
hours for the inspection by the Owner. 
 
§ 3.4.1.4 Complaints of Violations of Prevailing Wage Rates.  Within 31 days of receipt of information 
concerning a violation of Chapter 2258 of the Texas Government Code, the Owner shall make an initial 
determination as to whether good cause exists to believe a violation occurred.  The Owner’s decision on 
the initial determination shall be reduced to writing and sent to the Contractor or Subcontractor against 
whom the violation was alleged, and to the affected worker.  When a good cause finding is made, the 
Owner shall retain the full amounts claimed by the claimant or claimants as the difference between wages 
paid and wages due under the Prevailing Wage Schedule and any supplements thereto, together with the 
applicable penalties, such amounts being subtracted from successive progress payments pending a final 
decision on the violation. 
 
§ 3.4.1.5 Arbitration Required if Violation not Resolved.  After the Owner makes its initial determination, 
the affected Contractor or Subcontractor and worker have 14 days in which to resolve the issue of 
whether a violation occurred, including the amount that should be retained by Owner or paid to the 
affected worker.  If the Contractor or Subcontractor and affected worker reach an agreement concerning 
the worker’s claim, the Contractor shall promptly notify the Owner in a written document signed by the 
worker. It the Contractor or Subcontractor and affected worker do not agree before the 15th day after the 
Owner’s determination, the Contractor or Subcontractor and affected worker must participate in binding 
arbitration in accordance with the Texas General Arbitration Act, Chapter 171, Tex. Civ. Prac. & Rem. 
Code.  The parties to the arbitration have 10 days after the expiration of the 15 days referred to above, to 
agree on an arbitrator; if by the 11th day there is no agreement to an arbitrator, a district court shall 
appoint an arbitrator on the petition of any of the parties to the arbitration. 
 
§ 3.4.1.6 Arbitration Award.  If an arbitrator determines that a violation has occurred, the arbitrator shall 
assess and award against the Contractor or Subcontractor the amount of penalty as provided in this 
Article 3.4 and the amount owed the worker.  The Owner may use any amounts retained hereunder to 
pay the worker the amount as designated in the arbitration award.  If the Owner has not retained enough 
from the Contractor or Subcontractor to pay the worker in accordance with the arbitration award, the 
worker has a right of action against the Contractor and Subcontractor as appropriate, and the surety of 

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 385



Page 9 of 40 
 

either to receive the amount owed, attorneys’ fees and court costs. The Contractor shall promptly furnish 
a copy of the arbitration award to the Owner. 
 
§ 3.4.1.7 Prevailing Wage Retainage. Money retained pursuant to this Article 3.4 shall be used to pay the 
claimant or claimants the difference between the amount the worker received in wages for labor on the 
Project at the rate paid by the Contractor or Subcontractor and the amount the worker would have 
received at the general prevailing wage rate as provided by the agreement of the claimant and the 
Contractor or Subcontractor affected, or in the arbitrator’s award. The full statutory penalty of $60.00 per 
day of violation per worker shall be retained by the Owner to offset its administrative costs, pursuant to 
Texas Government Code §2258.023. Any retained funds in excess of these amounts shall be paid to the 
Contractor on the earlier of the next progress payment or final payment. Provided, however, that the 
Owner shall have no duty to release any funds to either the claimant or the Contractor until it has received 
the notices of agreement or the arbitration award as provided under §§3.4.2 and 3.4.3. 
 
§ 3.4.1.8 No Extension of Time.  If the Owner determines that good cause exists to believe a violation has 
occurred, the Contractor shall not be entitled to an extension of time for any delay arising directly or 
indirectly from of the procedures set forth in this Article 3.4. 
 
§ 3.4.2 Except in the case of minor changes in the Work authorized by the Owner or Architect in 
accordance with Sections 3.12.8 or 7.4, the Contractor may make substitutions only with the consent of 
the Owner, after evaluation by the Architect and in accordance with a Change Order or Construction 
Change Directive. If the Contractor desires to submit an alternate product or method in lieu of what has 
been specified or shown in the Contract Documents, the Contractor shall comply with the Substitution 
requirements listed in the Specifications, or if there are no Substitution requirements listed in the 
Specifications, then the following provisions apply: 
 
§ 3.4.2.1  The Contractor  must submit to the Architect and the Owner  (i) a full explanation of the 
proposed substitution and submittal of all supporting data, including technical information, catalog cuts, 
warranties, test results, installation instructions, operating procedures, and other like information 
necessary for a complete evaluation of the substitution; (ii) the adjustment, if any, in the Contract Sum, in 
the event the substitution is acceptable; (iii) the adjustment, if any, in the time of completion of the 
Contract and the construction schedule in the event the substitution is acceptable; and (v) a statement 
indicating Contractor accepts the warranty and correction obligations in connection with the proposed 
substitution as if originally specified by the Architect.  Proposals for substitutions shall be to the Architect 
in sufficient time to allow the Architect no less than ten (10) working days for review. No substitutions will 
be considered or allowed without the Contractor’s submittal of complete substantiating data and 
information as stated hereinbefore.  
 
§ 3.4.3 The Contractor shall enforce strict discipline and good order among the Contractor’s employees 
and other persons carrying out the Work. The Contractor shall not permit employment of unfit persons or 
persons not properly skilled in tasks assigned to them. 
 
§ 3.4.4 The Contractor shall only employ or use labor in connection with the Work capable of working 
harmoniously with all trades, crafts, and any other individuals associated with the Project.   
 
§ 3.4.5. In case the progress of the Work is affected by any undue delay in furnishing or installing any 
items or materials or equipment required under the Contract Documents because of such conflict 
involving any such labor agreement or regulation, the Owner may require that other material or equipment 
of equal kind and quality be provided pursuant to a Change Order or Construction Change Directive. 
 
§ 3.5 WARRANTY 
§ 3.5.1 The Contractor warrants to the Owner:  (1) that materials and equipment furnished under the 
Contract will be of good quality and new unless the Contract Documents require or permit otherwise; (2) 
that the Work will conform to the requirements of the Contract Documents and will be free from defects, 
except for those inherent in the quality of the Work the Contract Documents require or  permit; (3) that the 
Work will be done strictly in accordance with the Contract Documents; (4) that all products are installed 

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 386



Page 10 of 40 
 

per the manufacturer’s instructions, and in such a way that the manufacturer’s warranties are preserved, 
including the use of a manufacturer-certified installer, if required by the manufacturer; (5) and that the 
Work, when finally completed, will provide a complete Project that meets the intent of the Contract 
Documents. The Contractor represents and warrants to the Owner that its materials and workmanship, 
including without limitation, construction means, methods, procedures and techniques necessary to 
perform the  Work, use of materials, selection of equipment and requirements of product manufacturers 
are and shall be consistent with: (1) good and sound practices within the construction industry; (2) 
generally prevailing and accepted industry standards applicable to the Work; (3) requirements of any 
warranties applicable to the Work subject to Paragraph 3.2.3.  Work, materials, or equipment not 
conforming to these requirements shall be considered defective, and promptly after written notification of 
non-conformance shall be repaired or replaced by Contractor with Work conforming to this warranty. The 
Contractor’s warranty excludes remedy for damage or defect caused by abuse, alterations to the Work 
not executed by the Contractor, improper or insufficient maintenance, improper operation, or normal wear 
and tear and normal usage. If required by the Owner or Architect, the Contractor shall furnish satisfactory 
evidence as to the kind and quality of materials and equipment. 
 
§ 3.5.1.1 Contractor further warrants that all materials or equipment of a category or classification will be 
a product of the same manufacturer and such materials or equipment shall be of the same lot, batch or 
type and that such materials and equipment will be as specified. 
 
§ 3.5.2 The Contractor agrees to assign to the Owner at the time of final completion of the Work any and 
all manufacturer’s warranties relating to materials and labor used  in the Work and further agrees to 
perform the Work in such manner so as to preserve any and all such manufacturer’s warranties. 
 
§ 3.6 TAXES 
State Sales and Use Taxes.  Sales, use or similar taxes imposed by a governmental authority that are 
related to the Work and for which the Contractor is liable; provided, however, Owner is a body corporate 
and politic under the laws of the State of Texas and claims exemption from sales and use taxes under 
Texas Tax Code Ann. § 151.309, as amended, and the services and materials subject of the Agreement 
are being secured for use by Owner.  Exemption certificates will be provided to Contractor upon request.  
As a precondition to the Owner reimbursing Contractor for allowable sales and use taxes, Contractor 
must, on its own, first attempt to use such tax exemption certificates in order to assert the exemption.  In 
the event Contractor’s efforts to use the tax exemption certificate is unsuccessful and provided that 
under the laws of the State of Texas an exemption from sales and use taxes is allowed, Owner will 
reimburse Contractor for such sales and use taxes upon Contractor providing sufficient and satisfactory 
documentation to the Williamson County Auditor. 

 
§ 3.7 PERMITS, FEES, NOTICES, AND COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS 
§ 3.7.1 Unless otherwise provided, the Contractor shall secure, pay for, and, as soon as practicable, 
furnish the Owner with copies or certificates of all permits and fees, licenses, and inspections necessary 
for the proper execution and completion of the Work, including, without limitation, all building permits. All 
connection charges, assessments, or inspection fees as may be imposed by any municipal agency or 
utility company are included in the Contract Sum and shall be the Contractor’s responsibility. 
 
§ 3.7.2 The Contractor shall comply with and give notices required by applicable laws, statutes, 
ordinances, codes, rules and regulations, and lawful orders of public authorities applicable to 
performance of the Work. 
 
§ 3.7.3 If the Contractor performs Work knowing it to be contrary to applicable laws, statutes, ordinances, 
codes, rules and regulations, or lawful orders of public authorities, the Contractor shall assume 
appropriate responsibility for such Work and shall bear the costs attributable to correction and damages 
resulting therefrom. 
 
§ 3.7.4 Concealed or Unknown Conditions. If the Contractor encounters conditions at the site that are (1) 
subsurface or otherwise concealed physical conditions that differ materially from those indicated in the 
Contract Documents or (2) unknown physical conditions of an unusual nature, that differ materially from 

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 387



Page 11 of 40 
 

those ordinarily found to exist and generally recognized as inherent in construction activities of the 
character provided for in the Contract Documents, the Contractor shall promptly provide notice to the 
Owner and the Architect before conditions are disturbed and in no event later than 21 days after first 
observance of the conditions. The Owner will promptly investigate such conditions and, if the Owner 
determines that they differ materially and cause an increase or decrease in the Contractor’s cost of, or 
time required for, performance of any part of the Work, will authorize an equitable adjustment in the 
Contract Sum or Contract Time, or both. If the Owner determines that the conditions at the site are not 
materially different from those indicated in the Contract Documents and that no change in the terms of the 
Contract is justified, the Owner shall promptly notify the Contractor in writing, stating the reasons. If the 
Contractor disputes the Owner’s determination, the Contractor party may assert a Claim as provided in 
Article 15.  
 
§ 3.7.5 If, in the course of the Work, the Contractor encounters human remains or recognizes the 
existence of burial markers, archaeological sites or wetlands not indicated in the Contract Documents, the 
Contractor shall immediately suspend any operations that would affect them and shall notify the Owner 
and Architect. Upon receipt of such notice, the Owner shall promptly take any action necessary to obtain 
governmental authorization required to resume the operations. The Contractor shall continue to suspend 
such operations until otherwise instructed by the Owner but shall continue with all other operations that 
do not affect those remains or features. Requests for adjustments in the Contract Sum and Contract Time 
arising from the existence of such remains or features may be made as provided in Article 15. 
 
§ 3.8 ALLOWANCES 
§ 3.8.1 The Contractor shall include in the Contract Sum all allowances stated in the Contract 
Documents. Items covered by allowances shall be supplied for such amounts and by such persons or 
entities as the Owner may direct, but the Contractor shall not be required to employ persons or entities to 
whom the Contractor has reasonable objection. 
 
§ 3.8.2 Unless otherwise provided in the Contract Documents, 

.1 allowances shall cover the cost to the Contractor of materials and equipment delivered at 
the site and all required taxes, less applicable trade discounts; 

.2 Contractor’s costs for unloading and handling at the site, labor, installation costs, 
overhead, profit and other expenses contemplated for stated allowance amounts shall be 
included in the Contract Sum but not in the allowances; and 

.3 whenever costs are more than or less than allowances, the Contractor shall, prior to 
purchasing any such materials, notify the Owner in writing of the cost and whether such 
cost will exceed the amount of the allowance.  If Owner authorizes Contractor to proceed, 
after receiving the Contractor’s estimate of the total cost, then the Contract Sum shall be 
adjusted accordingly by Change Order. The amount of the Change Order shall reflect (1) 
the difference between actual costs and the allowances under Section 3.8.2.1 and (2) 
changes in Contractor’s costs under Section 3.8.2.2. 

 
§ 3.9 SUPERINTENDENT 
§ 3.9.1 The Contractor shall employ a competent superintendent and necessary assistants who shall be 
in attendance at the Project site during performance of the Work. The superintendent shall represent the 
Contractor, and communications given to the superintendent or Contractor’s project manager shall be as 
binding as if given to the Contractor. Important oral communications shall be immediately confirmed in 
writing. 
 
§ 3.9.2 The Contractor, as soon as practicable after award of the Contract, shall furnish in writing to the 
Owner through the Architect the name and qualifications of a proposed superintendent. The Owner or 
Architect may reply within 14 days to the Contractor in writing stating (1) whether the Owner or the 
Architect has reasonable objection to the proposed superintendent or (2) that the Owner and Architect 
require additional time to review. Failure of the Owner or Architect to reply within the 14 day period shall 
constitute notice of no reasonable objection.  
 

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 388



Page 12 of 40 
 

§ 3.9.3 The Contractor shall not employ a proposed superintendent to whom the Owner or Architect has 
made reasonable and timely objection. The Contractor shall not change the superintendent without the 
Owner’s consent, which shall not unreasonably be withheld or delayed.  
 
§ 3.10 CONTRACTOR’S CONSTRUCTION SCHEDULES 
§ 3.10.1 The Contractor, as provided in the Agreement, shall prepare and submit for the Owner’s and 
Architect’s information a Contractor’s construction schedule for the Work. The schedule shall not exceed 
time limits current under the Contract Documents, shall be revised at appropriate intervals as required by 
the conditions of the Work and Project, shall be related to the entire Project to the extent required by the 
Contract Documents, and shall provide for expeditious and practicable execution of the Work. 
 
§ 3.10.2 The Contractor shall prepare a submittal schedule, promptly after being awarded the Contract 
and thereafter as necessary to maintain a current submittal schedule, and shall submit the schedule(s) for 
the Architect’s approval. The Architect’s approval shall not unreasonably be delayed or withheld. The 
submittal schedule shall (1) be coordinated with the Contractor’s construction schedule, and (2) allow the 
Architect reasonable time to review submittals. If the Contractor fails to submit a submittal schedule, the 
Contractor shall not be entitled to any increase in Contract Sum or extension of Contract Time based on 
the time required for review of submittals. 
 
§ 3.10.3 The Contractor shall perform the Work in general accordance with the most recent schedules 
submitted to the Owner and Architect.  
 
§ 3.10.4 The construction schedule shall be a detailed precedence-style critical path management 
("CPM") schedule in a format satisfactory to the Owner that shall (i) provide a graphic representation of all 
activities and events that will occur during performance of the Work; (ii) identify each phase of 
construction and occupancy; and (iii) set forth dates that are critical in ensuring the timely and orderly 
completion of the Work in accordance with the requirements of the Contract Documents (hereinafter 
referred to as the "Milestone Date"). Upon review and acceptance by the Owner of the Milestone Dates, 
the construction schedule shall be deemed part of the Contract Documents. If not accepted, the 
construction schedule shall be promptly revised by the Contractor in accordance with the 
recommendations of the Owner and resubmitted for acceptance. The Contractor shall monitor the 
progress of the Work for conformance with the requirements of the construction schedule and shall 
promptly advise the Owner of any delays or potential delays. The accepted construction schedule shall be 
updated to reflect actual conditions as set forth in section 3.10.1 or if requested by the Owner. In the 
event any progress report indicates any delays, the Contractor shall propose an affirmative plan to correct 
the delay, including overtime and/or additional labor, if necessary. In no event shall any progress report 
constitute an adjustment in the Contract Time, any Milestone date, or the Contract Sum unless any such 
adjustment is agreed to by the Owner and authorize pursuant to a Change Order. 
 
§ 3.10.5 In the event the Owner determines that the performance of the Work, as of a Milestone Date, 
has not progressed or reach the level of completion required by the Contract Documents, the Owner shall 
have the right to order the Contractor to take corrective measures necessary to expedite the progress of 
construction, including without limitation, (i) working additional shifts or overtime, (ii) supplying additional 
manpower, equipment, and facilities, and (iii) other similar measures. Such measures so continue until 
the progress of the Work complies with the stage of completion required by the Contract Documents. The 
Owner’s right to require such measures is solely for the purpose of ensuring the Contractors compliance 
with the construction schedule. 
 
§ 3.11 DOCUMENTS AT THE SITE 
The Contractor shall maintain at the site for the Owner one copy of the Drawings, Specifications, 
Addenda, Change Orders and other Modifications, in good order and marked currently to indicate field 
changes and selections made during construction, and one copy of approved Shop Drawings, Product 
Data, Samples and similar required submittals. These shall be available to the Architect and shall be 
delivered to the Architect for submittal to the Owner upon completion of the Work as a record of the Work 
as constructed.  
 

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 389



Page 13 of 40 
 

§ 3.12 SHOP DRAWINGS, PRODUCT DATA AND SAMPLES 
§ 3.12.1 Shop Drawings are drawings, diagrams, schedules and other data specially prepared for the 
Work by the Contractor or a Subcontractor, Sub-subcontractor, manufacturer, supplier or distributor to 
illustrate some portion of the Work. 
 
§ 3.12.2 Product Data are illustrations, standard schedules, performance charts, instructions, brochures, 
diagrams and other information furnished by the Contractor to illustrate materials or equipment for some 
portion of the Work.  
 
§ 3.12.3 Samples are physical examples that illustrate materials, equipment or workmanship and 
establish standards by which the Work will be judged. 
 
§ 3.12.4 Shop Drawings, Product Data, Samples and similar submittals are not Contract Documents. 
Their purpose is to demonstrate the way by which the Contractor proposes to conform to the information 
given and the design concept expressed in the Contract Documents for those portions of the Work for 
which the Contract Documents require submittals. Review by the Architect is subject to the limitations of 
Section 4.2.7. Informational submittals upon which the Architect is not expected to take responsive action 
may be so identified in the Contract Documents. Submittals that are not required by the Contract 
Documents may be returned by the Architect without action. 
 
§ 3.12.5 The Contractor shall review for compliance with the Contract Documents, approve and submit to 
the Architect Shop Drawings, Product Data, Samples and similar submittals required by the Contract 
Documents in accordance with the submittal schedule approved by the Architect or, in the absence of an 
approved submittal schedule, with reasonable promptness and in such sequence as to cause no delay in 
the Work or in the activities of the Owner or of separate contractors. 
 
§ 3.12.6 By submitting Shop Drawings, Product Data, Samples and similar submittals, the Contractor 
represents to the Owner and Architect that the Contractor has (1) reviewed and approved them, (2) 
determined and verified materials, field measurements and field construction criteria related thereto, or 
will do so and (3) checked and coordinated the information contained within such submittals with the 
requirements of the Work and of the Contract Documents. 
 
§ 3.12.7 The Contractor shall perform no portion of the Work for which the Contract Documents require 
submittal and review of Shop Drawings, Product Data, Samples or similar submittals until the respective 
submittal has been approved by the Architect. 
 
§ 3.12.8 The Work shall be in accordance with approved submittals except that the Contractor shall not 
be relieved of responsibility for deviations from requirements of the Contract Documents by the Architect’s 
approval of Shop Drawings, Product Data, Samples or similar submittals unless the Contractor has 
specifically informed the Architect in writing of such deviation at the time of submittal and (1) the Architect 
has given written approval to the specific deviation as a minor change in the Work, or (2) a Change Order 
or Construction Change Directive has been issued authorizing the deviation. The Contractor shall not be 
relieved of responsibility for errors or omissions in Shop Drawings, Product Data, Samples or similar 
submittals by the Architect’s approval thereof. 
 
§ 3.12.9 The Contractor shall direct specific attention, in writing or on resubmitted Shop Drawings, 
Product Data, Samples or similar submittals, to revisions other than those requested by the Architect on 
previous submittals. In the absence of such written notice, the Architect’s approval of a resubmission shall 
not apply to such revisions. 
 
§ 3.12.10 The Contractor shall not be required to provide professional services that constitute the practice 
of architecture or engineering unless such services are specifically required by the Contract Documents 
for a portion of the Work or unless the Contractor needs to provide such services in order to carry out the 
Contractor’s responsibilities for construction means, methods, techniques, sequences and procedures. 
The Contractor shall not be required to provide professional services in violation of applicable law. If 
professional design services or certifications by a design professional related to systems, materials or 

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 390



Page 14 of 40 
 

equipment are specifically required of the Contractor by the Contract Documents, the Owner and the 
Architect will specify all performance and design criteria that such services must satisfy. The Contractor 
shall cause such services or certifications to be provided by a properly licensed design professional, 
whose signature and seal shall appear on all drawings, calculations, specifications, certifications, Shop 
Drawings and other submittals prepared by such professional. Shop Drawings and other submittals 
related to the Work designed or certified by such professional, if prepared by others, shall bear such 
professional’s written approval when submitted to the Architect. The Owner and the Architect shall be 
entitled to rely upon the adequacy, accuracy and completeness of the services, certifications and 
approvals performed or provided by such design professionals, provided the Owner and Architect have 
specified to the Contractor all performance and design criteria that such services must satisfy. Pursuant to 
this Section 3.12.10, the Architect will review, approve or take other appropriate action on submittals only 
for the limited purpose of checking for conformance with information given and the design concept 
expressed in the Contract Documents. The Contractor shall not be responsible for the adequacy of the 
performance and design criteria specified in the Contract Documents. 
 
§ 3.13 USE OF SITE 
The Contractor shall confine operations at the site to areas permitted by applicable laws, statutes, 
ordinances, codes, rules and regulations, and lawful orders of public authorities and the Contract 
Documents and shall not unreasonably encumber the site with materials or equipment. 
 
§ 3.14 CUTTING AND PATCHING 
§ 3.14.1 The Contractor shall be responsible for cutting, fitting or patching required to complete the Work 
or to make its parts fit together properly as required by the Contract Documents. All areas requiring 
cutting, fitting and patching shall be restored to the condition existing prior to the cutting, fitting and 
patching, unless otherwise required by the Contract Documents.  
 
§ 3.14.2 The Contractor shall not damage or endanger a portion of the Work or fully or partially completed 
construction of the Owner or separate contractors by cutting, patching or otherwise altering such 
construction, or by excavation. The Contractor shall not cut or otherwise alter such construction by the 
Owner or a separate contractor except with written consent of the Owner and of such separate contractor; 
such consent shall not be unreasonably withheld. The Contractor shall not unreasonably withhold from 
the Owner or a separate contractor the Contractor’s consent to cutting or otherwise altering the Work. 
 
§ 3.15 CLEANING UP 
§ 3.15.1 The Contractor shall keep the premises and surrounding area free from accumulation of waste 
materials or rubbish caused by operations under the Contract. At completion of the Work, the Contractor 
shall remove waste materials, rubbish, the Contractor’s tools, construction equipment, machinery and 
surplus materials from and about the Project. 
 
§ 3.15.2 If the Contractor fails to clean up as provided in the Contract Documents, the Owner may do so 
and Owner shall be entitled to reimbursement from the Contractor. 
 
§ 3.16 ACCESS TO WORK 
The Owner and Architect shall, at all times, have access to the Work in preparation and progress 
wherever located. 
 
§ 3.17 ROYALTIES, PATENTS AND COPYRIGHTS 
The Contractor shall pay all royalties and license fees. The Contractor shall defend suits or claims for 
infringement of copyrights and patent rights and shall hold the Owner and Architect harmless from loss on 
account thereof, but shall not be responsible for such defense or loss when a particular design, process 
or product of a particular manufacturer or manufacturers is required by the Contract Documents, or where 
the copyright violations are contained in Drawings, Specifications or other documents prepared by the 
Owner or Architect. However, if the Contractor has reason to believe that the required design, process or 
product is an infringement of a copyright or a patent, the Contractor shall be responsible for such loss 
unless such information is promptly furnished to the Architect. 
 

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 391



Page 15 of 40 
 

§ 3.18 INDEMNIFICATION 
§ 3.18.1 INDEMNITY – OTHER THAN EMPLOYEE PERSONAL INJURY CLAIMS.  TO THE FULLEST 
EXTENT PERMITTED BY LAW, CONTRACTOR SHALL INDEMNIFY, DEFEND, AND HOLD 
HARMLESS OWNER, ITS EMPLOYEES, AND ASSIGNS (THE "INDEMNIFIED PARTIES" OR 
“INDEMNITEES”) FROM AND AGAINST CLAIMS, DAMAGES, LOSSES AND EXPENSES, 
INCLUDING BUT NOT LIMITED TO ATTORNEYS’ FEES, ARISING OUT OF OR ALLEGED TO BE 
RESULTING FROM THE PERFORMANCE OF THIS AGREEMENT, TO THE EXTENT CAUSED BY 
THE NEGLIGENT OR WILLFUL ACTS OR OMISSIONS OF THE CONTRACTOR, 
SUBCONTRACTORS, SUB-SUBCONTRACTORS, OR ANYONE DIRECTLY OR INDIRECTLY 
EMPLOYED BY THEM OR ANYONE FOR WHOSE ACTS THEY MAY BE LIABLE. CONTRACTOR 
SHALL NOT BE REQUIRED TO INDEMNIFY, HOLD HARMLESS OR DEFEND THE INDEMNIFIED 
PARTIES AGAINST A CLAIM CAUSED BY THE NEGLIGENCE OR FAULT, OR THE BREACH OR 
VIOLATION OF A STATUTE, ORDINANCE, GOVERNMENTAL REGULATION, STANDARD, OR RULE 
OF THE INDEMNITEE, OR OTHER PARTY OTHER THAN CONTRACTOR OR ITS AGENT, 
EMPLOYEE, OR SUBCONTRACTOR OF ANY TIER, EXCEPT THAT CONTRACTOR SHALL 
INDEMNIFY, HOLD HARMLESS AND DEFEND THE INDEMNIFIED  PARTIES AGAINST ANY 
CLAIMS FOR THE BODILY INJURY OR DEATH OF AN EMPLOYEE OF CONTRACTOR, ITS 
AGENTS, OR IT SUBCONTRACTORS OF ANY TIER. 
 
§3.18.2 INDEMNITY – EMPLOYEE PERSONAL INJURY CLAIMS.   TO THE FULLEST EXTENT 
PERMITTED BY LAW, CONTRACTOR SHALL INDEMNIFY, DEFEND, AND HOLD HARMLESS THE 
INDEMNIFIED PARTIES AND SHALL ASSUME ENTIRE RESPONSIBILITY AND LIABILITY (OTHER 
THAN AS A RESULT OF AN INDEMNIFIED PARTY’S GROSS NEGLIGENCE) FOR ANY CLAIM OR 
ACTION BASED ON OR ARISING OUT OF THE PERSONAL INJURY, INCLUDING THE DEATH, OF 
ANY EMPLOYEE OF THE CONTRACTOR, SUBCONTRACTORS,  OR ANY SUB-SUBCONTRACTOR, 
OR OF ANY OTHER ENTITY FOR WHOSE ACTS THEY MAY BE LIABLE, WHICH OCCURRED OR 
WAS ALLEGED TO HAVE OCCURRED ON THE PROJECT SITE OR IN CONNECTION WITH THE 
PERFORMANCE OF THE WORK OF THIS AGREEMENT.  CONTRACTOR HEREBY INDEMNIFIES 
THE INDEMNIFIED PARTIES EVEN TO THE EXTENT THAT SUCH PERSONAL INJURY WAS 
CAUSED OR ALLEGED TO HAVE BEEN CAUSED BY THE COMPARATIVE OR CONCURRENT 
NEGLIGENCE OF THE STRICT LIABILITY OF ANY INDEMNIFIED PARTY.  THIS INDEMNIFICATION 
SHALL NOT BE LIMITED TO DAMAGES, COMPENSATION, OR BENEFITS PAYABLE UNDER 
INSURANCE POLICIES, WORKERS COMPENSATION ACTS, DISABILITY BENEFITS ACTS, OR 
OTHER EMPLOYEES BENEFIT ACTS. 
 
§3.18.3   THE CONTRACTOR’S INDEMNITY OBLIGATIONS UNDER THIS SECTION 3.18 SHALL 
ALSO SPECIFICALLY INCLUDE, WITHOUT LIMITATION, ALL FINES, PENALTIES, DAMAGES, 
LIABILITY, COSTS, EXPENSES (INCLUDING, WITHOUT LIMITATION, REASONABLE ATTORNEYS’ 
FEES) ARISING OUT OF, OR IN CONNECTION WITH, ANY (I) VIOLATION OF OR FAILURE TO 
COMPLY WITH ANY LAW, STATUTE, ORDINANCE, RULE, REGULATION, CODE OR 
REQUIREMENT OF A PUBLIC AUTHORITY THAT BEARS UPON THE PERFORMANCE OF THE 
WORK BY THE CONTRACTOR, A SUBCONTRACTOR, OR ANY PERSON OR ENTITY FOR WHOM 
EITHER IS RESPONSIBLE, (II) MEANS, METHODS, PROCEDURES, TECHNIQUES, OR 
SEQUENCES OF EXECUTION OR PERFORMANCE OF THE WORK, AND (III) FAILURE TO SECURE 
AND PAY FOR PERMITS, FEES, APPROVALS, LICENSES, AND INSPECTIONS AS REQUIRED 
UNDER THE CONTRACT DOCUMENTS, OR ANY VIOLATION OF ANY PERMIT OR OTHER 
APPROVAL OF A PUBLIC AUTHORITY APPLICABLE TO THE WORK, BY THE CONTRACTOR, A 
SUBCONTRACTOR, OR ANY PERSON OR ENTITY FOR WHOM EITHER IS RESPONSIBLE. 
 
ARTICLE 4   ARCHITECT 
§ 4.1 GENERAL 
§ 4.1.1 The Owner shall retain an architect lawfully licensed to practice architecture or an entity lawfully 
practicing architecture in the jurisdiction where the Project is located. That person or entity is identified as 
the Architect in the Agreement and is referred to throughout the Contract Documents as if singular in 
number.  
 

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 392



Page 16 of 40 
 

§ 4.1.2 Duties, responsibilities and limitations of authority of the Architect as set forth in the Contract 
Documents shall not be restricted, modified or extended without written consent of the Owner, Contractor 
and Architect. Consent shall not be unreasonably withheld. 
 
§ 4.2 ADMINISTRATION OF THE CONTRACT 
§ 4.2.1 The Architect will provide administration of the Contract as described in the Owner-Architect 
Agreement. The Architect will have authority to act on behalf of the Owner only to the extent provided in 
the Contract Documents. 
 
§ 4.2.2 The Architect will visit the site at intervals appropriate to the stage of construction, or as otherwise 
agreed with the Owner, to become generally familiar with the progress and quality of the portion of the 
Work completed, and to determine in general if the Work observed is being performed in a manner 
indicating that the Work, when fully completed, will be in accordance with the Contract Documents. 
However, the Architect will not be required to make exhaustive or continuous on-site inspections to check 
the quality or quantity of the Work. The Architect will not have control over, charge of, or responsibility for, 
the construction means, methods, techniques, sequences or procedures, or for the safety precautions 
and programs in connection with the Work, since these are solely the Contractor’s rights and 
responsibilities under the Contract Documents, except as provided in Section 3.3.1. 
 
§ 4.2.3 On the basis of the site visits, the Architect will keep the Owner reasonably informed about the 
progress and quality of the portion of the Work completed, and report to the Owner (1) known deviations 
from the Contract Documents and from the most recent construction schedule submitted by the 
Contractor, and (2) defects and deficiencies observed in the Work. The Architect will not be responsible 
for the Contractor’s failure to perform the Work in accordance with the requirements of the Contract 
Documents. The Architect will not have control over or charge of and will not be responsible for acts or 
omissions of the Contractor, Subcontractors, or their agents or employees, or any other persons or 
entities performing portions of the Work. 
 
§ 4.2.4 COMMUNICATIONS AND CONTRACT ADMINISTRATION 
Except as otherwise provided in the Contract Documents or when direct communications have been 
specially authorized, the Owner and Contractor shall endeavor to relate relevant communications 
between Owner and Architect to the Architect. Communications by and with the Architect’s consultants 
shall be through the Architect. Communications by and with Subcontractors and material suppliers shall 
be through the Contractor. Communications by and with separate contractors shall be through the Owner. 
 
§ 4.2.5 If included in Architect’s scope of work, the agreement between Owner and Architect, or if 
requested by the Owner, the Architect will review and certify the amounts due the Contractor and will 
issue Certificates for Payment in such amounts based on the Architect’s evaluations of the Contractor’s 
Applications for Payment. 
 
§ 4.2.6 To the extent permitted by the agreement between Owner and Architect, the Architect has 
authority to reject Work that does not conform to the Contract Documents. Whenever the Architect 
considers it necessary or advisable, the Architect, in consultation with the Owner, will have authority to 
require inspection or testing of the Work in accordance with Sections 13.5.2 and 13.5.3, whether or not 
such Work is fabricated, installed or completed. However, neither this authority of the Architect nor a 
decision made in good faith either to exercise or not to exercise such authority shall give rise to a duty or 
responsibility of the Architect or the Owner to the Contractor, Subcontractors, material and equipment 
suppliers, their agents or employees, or other persons or entities performing portions of the Work. 
 
§ 4.2.7 To the extent provided in the agreement between Owner and Architect, the Architect will review 
and approve, or take other appropriate action upon, the Contractor’s submittals such as Shop Drawings, 
Product Data and Samples, but only for the limited purpose of checking for conformance with information 
given and the design concept expressed in the Contract Documents. The Architect’s action will be taken 
in accordance with the submittal schedule approved by the Owner and Architect or, in the absence of an 
approved submittal schedule, with reasonable promptness while allowing sufficient time in the Architect’s 
professional judgment to permit adequate review. Review of such submittals is not conducted for the 

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 393



Page 17 of 40 
 

purpose of determining the accuracy and completeness of other details such as dimensions and 
quantities, or for substantiating instructions for installation or performance of equipment or systems, all of 
which remain the responsibility of the Contractor as required by the Contract Documents. The Architect’s 
review of the Contractor’s submittals shall not relieve the Contractor of the obligations under Sections 3.3, 
3.5 and 3.12. The Architect’s review shall not constitute approval of safety precautions or, unless 
otherwise specifically stated by the Architect, of any construction means, methods, techniques, 
sequences or procedures. The Architect’s approval of a specific item shall not indicate approval of an 
assembly of which the item is a component.  
 
§ 4.2.8 If requested by Owner, the Architect will prepare Change Orders and Construction Change 
Directives with the Owner’s prior written consent, but the Architect may authorize minor changes in the 
Work as provided in the agreement between Owner and Architect, or in Section 7.4 of these General 
Conditions. If requested by Owner, the Architect will investigate and make determinations and 
recommendations regarding concealed and unknown conditions as provided in Section 3.7.4. 
 
§ 4.2.9 If requested by Owner, the Architect will conduct inspections to determine the date or dates of 
Substantial Completion and the date of final completion; issue Certificates of Substantial Completion 
pursuant to Section 9.8; receive and forward to the Owner, for the Owner’s review and records, written 
warranties and related documents required by the Contract and assembled by the Contractor pursuant to 
Section 9.10; and issue a final Certificate for Payment pursuant to Section 9.10. 
 
§ 4.2.10 If the Owner and Architect agree, the Architect will provide one or more project representatives 
to assist in carrying out the Architect’s responsibilities at the site. The duties, responsibilities and 
limitations of authority of such project representatives shall be as set forth in an exhibit to be incorporated 
in the Contract Documents. 
 
§ 4.2.11 If requested by Owner, the Architect will interpret and decide matters concerning performance 
under, and requirements of, the Contract Documents on written request of either the Owner or Contractor. 
The Architect’s response to such requests will be made in writing within any time limits agreed upon or 
otherwise with reasonable promptness.  
 
§ 4.2.12 Interpretations and decisions of the Architect will be consistent with the intent of, and reasonably 
inferable from, the Contract Documents and will be in writing or in the form of drawings. 
 
§ 4.2.13 The Architect’s decisions on matters relating to aesthetic effect will be final if consistent with the 
intent expressed in the Contract Documents, and if approved by Owner. 
 
§ 4.2.14 The Architect will review and respond to requests for information about the Contract Documents. 
The Architect’s response to such requests will be made in writing within any time limits agreed upon or 
otherwise with reasonable promptness. If appropriate, the Architect will prepare and issue supplemental 
Drawings and Specifications in response to the requests for information. 
 
ARTICLE 5   SUBCONTRACTORS 
§ 5.1 DEFINITIONS 
§ 5.1.1 A Subcontractor is a person or entity who has a direct contract with the Contractor to perform a 
portion of the Work at the site. The term “Subcontractor” is referred to throughout the Contract Documents 
as if singular in number and means a Subcontractor or an authorized representative of the Subcontractor. 
The term “Subcontractor” does not include a separate contractor or subcontractors of a separate 
contractor. 
 
§ 5.1.2 A Sub-subcontractor is a person or entity who has a direct or indirect contract with a 
Subcontractor to perform a portion of the Work at the site. The term “Sub-subcontractor” is referred to 
throughout the Contract Documents as if singular in number and means a Sub-subcontractor or an 
authorized representative of the Sub-subcontractor. 
 
§ 5.2 AWARD OF SUBCONTRACTS  

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 394



Page 18 of 40 
 

§ 5.2.1 For Construction Manager-At-Risk Agreements.  The Construction Manager shall publicly 
advertise for bids or proposals and receive bids or proposals from trade contractors or Subcontractors for 
the performance of all major elements of the work other than the minor work that may be included in the 
general conditions.  The Construction Manager may seek to perform portions of the work itself if: 
 

(A)  the Construction Manager submits its bid or proposal for those portions of the Work in the 
same manner as all other trade contractors or Subcontractors; and 

 
(B)  the Owner determines that the Construction Manager’s bid or proposal provides the best 
value for the Owner. 

 
§ 5.2.1.1 REVIEW OF BIDS OR PROPOSALS.  Construction Manager shall review all trade contractor or 
Subcontractor bids or proposals in a manner that does not disclose the contents of the bid or proposal 
during the selection process to a person not employed by the Construction Manger, Architect, Engineer, 
or Owner.  All bids or proposals shall be made available to the Owner on request and to the public after 
the later of the award of the contract or the seventh day after the date of final selection of bids or 
proposals.  If the Construction Manager reviews, evaluates, and recommends to the Owner a bid or 
proposal from a trade contractor or subcontractor but the Owner requires another bid or proposal to be 
accepted, the Owner shall compensate the Construction Manager by a change in the Contract Sum, 
Contract Time, or Cost of the Work for any additional cost and risk that the Construction manager incurs 
because of the Owner’s requirement that another bid or proposal be accepted.   
 
§ 5.2.2 The Contractor shall not contract with a proposed Subcontractor, person, or entity to whom the 
Owner has made reasonable objection. The Contractor shall not be required to contract with anyone to 
whom the Contractor has made a reasonable objection. 
 
§ 5.2.3 If the Owner has reasonable objection to a person or entity proposed by the Contractor, the 
Contractor shall propose another to whom the Owner has no reasonable objection. If the proposed but 
rejected Subcontractor was reasonably capable of performing the Work, the Contract Sum and Contract 
Time may be increased or decreased by the difference, if any, occasioned by such change, and an 
appropriate Change Order shall be issued before commencement of the substitute Subcontractor’s Work. 
However, no increase in the Contract Sum or Contract Time shall be allowed for such change unless the 
Contractor has acted promptly and responsively in submitting names as required. 
 
§ 5.2.4 The Contractor shall not substitute a Subcontractor, person, or entity previously selected if the 
Owner makes reasonable objection to such substitution. 
 
§ 5.3 SUBCONTRACTUAL RELATIONS 
§ 5.3.1 By appropriate written agreement, the Contractor shall require each Subcontractor, to the extent 
of the Work to be performed by the Subcontractor, to be bound to the Contractor by terms of the Contract 
Documents, and to assume toward the Contractor all the obligations and responsibilities, including the 
responsibility for safety of the Subcontractor’s Work, which the Contractor, by these Documents, assumes 
toward the Owner. Each subcontract agreement shall preserve and protect the rights of the Owner and 
Architect under the Contract Documents with respect to the Work to be performed by the Subcontractor 
so that subcontracting thereof will not prejudice such rights, and shall allow to the Subcontractor, unless 
specifically provided otherwise in the subcontract agreement, the benefit of all rights, remedies and 
redress against the Contractor that the Contractor, by the Contract Documents, has against the Owner. 
Where appropriate, the Contractor shall require each Subcontractor to enter into similar agreements with 
Sub-subcontractors. The Contractor shall make available to each proposed Subcontractor, prior to the 
execution of the subcontract agreement, copies of the Contract Documents to which the Subcontractor 
will be bound, and, upon written request of the Subcontractor, identify to the Subcontractor terms and 
conditions of the proposed subcontract agreement that may be at variance with the Contract Documents. 
Subcontractors will similarly make copies of applicable portions of such documents available to their 
respective proposed Sub-subcontractors. 
 

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 395



Page 19 of 40 
 

§ 5.3.2 All subcontracts shall be in writing and, if requested, Contractor shall provide Owner with copies of 
executed subcontracts. 
 
§ 5.4 CONTINGENT ASSIGNMENT OF SUBCONTRACTS 
§ 5.4.1 This Contract is for Owner’s benefit, its successors and assigns who, as well as Contractor, may 
directly enforce all rights and warranties, express or implied herein, but Subcontractors shall have 
recourse only against Contractor and not against Owner. Owner may rely solely upon Contractor for 
enforcement of all Subcontracts. To effect such purpose, Contractor assigns to Owner all right to bring 
any actions against subcontractors and material vendors without waiver by Owner of his right against 
Contractor because of defaults, delays and effects for which a subcontractor or material vendor may also 
be liable, said assignment being effective only if: 
 
 .1 Contractor is in default under the Contract Documents; or 
 

.2 Owner has terminated the Contract in accordance with the Contract Documents; and 
 

.3 Only for those subcontract agreements which the Owner accepts by notifying the 
Subcontractor and Contractor in writing; and 

 
.4 The assignment is subject to the prior rights of the surety, if any, obligated under any bond 
relating to the Contract. 

 
§ 5.4.2 Upon such assignment, if the Work has been suspended for more than 30 days, the 
Subcontractor’s compensation may be equitably adjusted for increases in cost resulting from the 
suspension. 
 
§ 5.4.3 Upon such assignment to the Owner under this Section 5.4, the Owner may further assign the 
subcontract to a successor contractor or other entity. If the Owner assigns the subcontract to a successor 
contractor or other entity, the Owner shall nevertheless remain legally responsible for all of the successor 
contractor’s obligations under the subcontract.  
 
§5.4.4 The Architect and the Owner shall have the right to request from any Subcontractor at any time 
during the course of construction, a notarized affidavit stating the amount of monies which have been 
paid to the Subcontractor as of any certain stipulated date. 
 
ARTICLE 6   CONSTRUCTION BY OWNER OR BY SEPARATE CONTRACTORS 
§ 6.1 OWNER’S RIGHT TO PERFORM CONSTRUCTION AND TO AWARD SEPARATE CONTRACTS 
§ 6.1.1 The Owner reserves the right to perform construction or operations related to the Project with the 
Owner’s own forces, and to award separate contracts in connection with other portions of the Project or 
other construction or operations on the site under Conditions of the Contract identical or substantially 
similar to these including those portions related to insurance and waiver of subrogation. If the Contractor 
claims that delay or additional cost is involved because of such action by the Owner, the Contractor shall 
make such Claim as provided in Article 15. 
 
§ 6.1.2 When separate contracts are awarded for different portions of the Project or other construction or 
operations on the site, the term “Contractor” in the Contract Documents in each case shall mean the 
Contractor who executes each separate Owner-Contractor Agreement. 
 
§ 6.1.3 The Contractor shall participate with other separate contractors and the Owner in reviewing their 
construction schedules. The Contractor shall make any revisions to the construction schedule deemed 
necessary after a joint review and mutual agreement. The construction schedules shall then constitute the 
schedules to be used by the Contractor, separate contractors and the Owner until subsequently revised. 
 
§ 6.2 MUTUAL RESPONSIBILITY 
§ 6.2.1 The Contractor shall afford the Owner and separate contractors reasonable opportunity for 
introduction and storage of their materials and equipment and performance of their activities, and shall 

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 396



Page 20 of 40 
 

connect and coordinate the Contractor’s construction and operations with theirs as required by the 
Contract Documents. 
 
§ 6.2.2 If part of the Contractor’s Work depends for proper execution or results upon construction or 
operations by the Owner or a separate contractor, the Contractor shall, prior to proceeding with that 
portion of the Work, promptly report to the Architect and the Owner apparent discrepancies or defects in 
such other construction that would render it unsuitable for such proper execution and results. Failure of 
the Contractor so to report shall constitute an acknowledgment that the Owner’s or separate contractor’s 
completed or partially completed construction is fit and proper to receive the Contractor’s Work, except as 
to defects not then reasonably discoverable. 
 
§ 6.2.3 The Contractor shall reimburse the Owner for costs the Owner incurs that are payable to a 
separate contractor because of the Contractor’s delays, improperly timed activities or defective 
construction. The Owner shall be responsible to the Contractor for costs the Contractor incurs because of 
a separate contractor’s delays, improperly timed activities, damage to the Work or defective construction. 
 
§ 6.2.4 The Contractor shall promptly remedy damage the Contractor wrongfully causes to completed or 
partially completed construction or to property of the Owner, separate contractors as provided in Section 
10.2.5. 
 
§ 6.2.5 The Owner and each separate contractor shall have the same responsibilities for cutting and 
patching as are described for the Contractor in Section 3.14. 
 
§ 6.3 OWNER’S RIGHT TO CLEAN UP 
If a dispute arises among the Contractor, separate contractors and the Owner as to the responsibility 
under their respective contracts for maintaining the premises and surrounding area free from waste 
materials and rubbish, the Owner may clean up and allocate the cost among those responsible. 
 
ARTICLE 7   CHANGES IN THE WORK 
§ 7.1 GENERAL 
§ 7.1.1 Changes in the Work may be accomplished after execution of the Contract, and without 
invalidating the Contract, by Change Order, Construction Change Directive or order for a minor change in 
the Work, subject to the limitations stated in this Article 7 and elsewhere in the Contract Documents. 
 
§ 7.1.2 A Change Order shall be based upon agreement among the Owner, Contractor and Architect; a 
Construction Change Directive requires agreement by the Owner and Architect and may or may not be 
agreed to by the Contractor; an order for a minor change in the Work may be issued by the Owner or 
Architect alone. 
 
§ 7.1.3 Changes in the Work shall be performed under applicable provisions of the Contract Documents, 
and the Contractor shall proceed promptly, unless otherwise provided in the Change Order, Construction 
Change Directive or order for a minor change in the Work.  Except as permitted in Section 7.3 and 
Section 9.7.2, a change in the Contract Sum or the Contract Time shall be accomplished only by Change 
Order. Accordingly, no course of conduct or dealings between the parties, nor express or implied 
acceptance of alterations or additions to the Work, and no claim that Owner has been unjustly enriched 
by any alteration of or addition to the Work, whether or not there is, in fact, any unjust enrichment to the 
Work, shall be the basis of any Claim to an increase in any amounts due under the Contract Documents 
or a change in any time period provided for in the Contract Documents. 
 
§ 7.2 CHANGE ORDERS 
§ 7.2.1 A Change Order is a written instrument signed by the Owner, Contractor and Architect stating 
their agreement upon all of the following: 

.1 The change in the Work; 

.2 The amount of the adjustment, if any, in the Contract Sum; and 

.3 The extent of the adjustment, if any, in the Contract Time. 
 

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 397



Page 21 of 40 
 

§ 7.2.2 Contractor’s Change Order shall set forth in clear and precise detail breakdowns of labor and 
materials for all trades involved and the estimated impact on the dates of Substantial Completion. 
Contractor shall furnish supporting data as reasonably requested by Owner.  
 
§ 7.2.3 Agreement on any Change Order shall constitute a final settlement of all matters relating to the 
change in the Work that is the subject of the Change Order, including, but not limited to, all direct and 
indirect costs associated with such change and any and all adjustments to the Contract Sum and the 
construction schedule. 
 
§ 7.3 CONSTRUCTION CHANGE DIRECTIVES 
§ 7.3.1 A Construction Change Directive is a written order signed by the Owner and Architect, directing a 
change in the Work prior to agreement on adjustment, if any, in the Contract Sum or Contract Time, or 
both. The Owner may by Construction Change Directive, without invalidating the Contract, order changes 
in the Work within the general scope of the Contract consisting of additions, deletions or other revisions, 
the Contract Sum and Contract Time being adjusted accordingly. 
 
§ 7.3.2 A Construction Change Directive shall be used in the absence of total agreement on the terms of 
a Change Order.  
 
§ 7.3.3 If the Construction Change Directive provides for an adjustment to the Contract Sum, the 
adjustment shall be based on one of the following methods: 

.1 Mutual acceptance of a lump sum properly itemized and supported by sufficient 
substantiating data to permit evaluation; 

.2 Unit prices stated in the Contract Documents or subsequently agreed upon; 

.3 Cost to be determined in a manner agreed upon by the parties and a mutually acceptable 
fixed or percentage fee; or 

.4 As provided in Section 7.3.7. 
 
§ 7.3.4 If unit prices are stated in the Contract Documents or subsequently agreed upon, and if quantities 
originally contemplated are materially changed in a proposed Change Order or Construction Change 
Directive so that application of such unit prices to quantities of Work proposed will cause substantial 
inequity to the Owner or Contractor, the applicable unit prices shall be equitably adjusted. 
 
§ 7.3.5 Upon receipt of a Construction Change Directive, the Contractor shall promptly proceed with the 
change in the Work involved and advise the Architect of the Contractor’s agreement or disagreement with 
the method, if any, provided in the Construction Change Directive for determining the proposed 
adjustment in the Contract Sum or Contract Time. 
 
§ 7.3.6 A Construction Change Directive signed by the Contractor indicates the Contractor’s agreement 
therewith, including adjustment in Contract Sum and Contract Time or the method for determining them. 
Such agreement shall be effective immediately and shall be recorded as a Change Order. 
 
§ 7.3.7 If the Contractor does not respond promptly or disagrees with the method for adjustment in the 
Contract Sum, the Owner shall determine the method and the adjustment on the basis of reasonable 
expenditures and savings of those performing the Work attributable to the change, including, in case of 
an increase in the Contract Sum, an amount for overhead and profit as set forth in the Agreement, or if no 
such amount is set forth in the Agreement, a reasonable amount. In such case, and also under Section 
7.3.3.3, the Contractor shall keep and present, in such form as the Owner or Architect may prescribe, an 
itemized accounting together with appropriate supporting data. Unless otherwise provided in the Contract 
Documents, costs for the purposes of this Section 7.3.7 shall be limited to the following: 

.1 Costs of labor, including social security, old age and unemployment insurance, fringe 
benefits required by agreement or custom, and workers’ compensation insurance; 

.2 Costs of materials, supplies and equipment, including cost of transportation, whether 
incorporated or consumed; 

.3 Rental costs of machinery and equipment, exclusive of hand tools, whether rented from 
the Contractor or others; 

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 398



Page 22 of 40 
 

.4 Costs of premiums for all bonds and insurance, permit fees, and sales, use or similar 
taxes related to the Work; and 

.5 Additional costs of supervision and field office personnel directly attributable to the 
change. 

 
§ 7.3.8 The amount of credit to be allowed by the Contractor to the Owner for a deletion or change that 
results in a net decrease in the Contract Sum shall be actual net cost as confirmed by the Owner or the 
Architect. When both additions and credits covering related Work or substitutions are involved in a 
change, the allowance for overhead and profit shall be figured on the basis of net increase, if any, with 
respect to that change. 
 
§ 7.3.9 Pending final determination of the total cost of a Construction Change Directive to the Owner, the 
Contractor may request payment for Work completed under the Construction Change Directive in 
Applications for Payment. The Owner will make an interim determination for purposes of monthly 
certification for payment for those costs and certify for payment the amount that the Owner determines to 
be reasonably justified. The Owner’s interim determination of cost shall adjust the Contract Sum on the 
same basis as a Change Order, subject to the right of Contractor to disagree and assert a Claim in 
accordance with Article 15.  
 
§ 7.3.10 When the Owner and Contractor agree with a determination made concerning the adjustments in 
the Contract Sum and Contract Time, or otherwise reach agreement upon the adjustments, such 
agreement shall be effective immediately and the Architect will prepare a Change Order. Change Orders 
may be issued for all or any part of a Construction Change Directive. 
 
§ 7.4 MINOR CHANGES IN THE WORK 
If permitted in the agreement between Owner and Architect, the Architect has authority to order minor 
changes in the Work not involving adjustment in the Contract Sum or extension of the Contract Time and 
not inconsistent with the intent of the Contract Documents.  
 
ARTICLE 8   TIME 
§ 8.1 DEFINITIONS 
§ 8.1.1 Unless otherwise provided, Contract Time is the period of time, including authorized adjustments, 
allotted in the Contract Documents for Substantial Completion of the Work. 
 
§ 8.1.2 The date of commencement of the Work is the date established in the Agreement. 
 
§ 8.1.3 The date of Substantial Completion is the date certified by the Architect in accordance with 
Section 9.8. 
 
§ 8.1.4 The term “day” as used in the Contract Documents shall mean calendar day unless otherwise 
specifically defined. 
 
§ 8.2 PROGRESS AND COMPLETION 
§ 8.2.1 Time limits stated in the Contract Documents are of the essence of the Contract and are a 
material element of the Contract. By executing the Agreement the Contractor confirms that the Contract 
Time is a reasonable period for performing the Work. 
 
§ 8.2.2 The Contractor shall not knowingly, except by agreement or instruction of the Owner in writing, 
prematurely commence operations on the site or elsewhere prior to the effective date of insurance 
required by Article 11 to be furnished by the Contractor and Owner. The date of commencement of the 
Work shall not be changed by the effective date of such insurance.  
 
§ 8.2.3 The Contractor shall proceed expeditiously with adequate forces and shall achieve Substantial 
Completion within the Contract Time. 
 
§ 8.3 DELAYS AND EXTENSIONS OF TIME 

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 399



Page 23 of 40 
 

§ 8.3.1 If the Contractor is delayed at any time in the commencement or progress of the Work by an act 
or neglect of the Owner or Architect, or of an employee of either, or of a separate contractor employed by 
the Owner; or by changes ordered in the Work; or by labor disputes, fire, unusual delay in deliveries, 
unavoidable casualties or other causes beyond the Contractor’s control; or by delay authorized by the 
Owner pending mediation and arbitration; or by other causes that the Architect and Owner determines 
may justify delay, then the Contract Time shall be extended by Change Order to the extent such delay will 
prevent the Contractor from achieving Substantial Completion within the Contract Time and if the 
performance of the Work is not, was not, or would not have been delayed by any other cause for which 
the Contractor is not entitled to an extension in the Contract Time under the Contract Documents. The 
Contractor further acknowledges and agrees that adjustments in the Contract Time will be permitted for a 
delay only to the extent such delay (i) is not caused, or could not have been anticipated, by the 
Contractor, and (ii) could not be limited or avoided by the Contractor’s timely notice to the Owner of the 
delay or reasonable likelihood that a delay will occur.  
 
§ 8.3.2 Claims relating to time shall be made in accordance with applicable provisions of Article 15.  
 
§ 8.3.3 Notwithstanding anything contained in the Contract Documents to the contrary, the Contractor’s 
sole remedy for any (1) delay in the commencement, prosecution or completion of the Work, (2) 
hindrance or obstruction in the performance of the Work, (3) loss of productivity, or (4) other similar claims 
(collectively referred in this Subparagraph 8.3.3 as “Delay or Delays”), whether or not such Delays are 
foreseeable, shall be an extension of time in which to complete the Work. In no event shall the Contractor 
be entitled to any other compensation or recovery of any damages, costs, or attorneys’ fees, caused by 
any Delays, unknown site conditions, errors, inconsistencies, or omissions in the Drawings and 
Specifications, or concealed or unknown conditions, including, without limitation, consequential damages, 
lost opportunity costs, impact damages or other similar damages; provided however that Contractor may 
be entitled to additional time as provided under Section 8.3.1. 
 
§ 8.3.4 If the Contractor submits a progress report indicating, or otherwise expresses an intention to 
achieve, completion of the Work prior to any completion date required by the Contract Documents or 
expiration of the Contract Time, no liability of the Owner to the Contractor for any failure of the Contractor 
to so complete the Work shall be created or implied. 
 
§ 8.3.5 Owner shall have the right to occupy, without prejudice to rights of either party, any completed or 
substantially completed portions of the Work, notwithstanding the fact that time for completion of entire 
Work, or portions thereof, may not be expired.  Occupancy and use by Owner shall not constitute, in 
itself, acceptance of the Work. 
 
ARTICLE 9   PAYMENTS AND COMPLETION 
§ 9.1 CONTRACT SUM 
The Contract Sum is stated in the Agreement and, including authorized adjustments, is the total amount 
payable by the Owner to the Contractor for performance of the Work under the Contract Documents. 
 
§ 9.2 SCHEDULE OF VALUES 
Where the Contract is based on a stipulated sum or Guaranteed Maximum Price, the Contractor shall 
submit to the Owner and Architect, before the first Application for Payment, a schedule of values 
allocating the entire Contract Sum to the various portions of the Work and prepared in such form and 
supported by such data to substantiate its accuracy as the Owner may require. This schedule, unless 
objected to by the Owner, shall be used as a basis for reviewing the Contractor’s Applications for 
Payment. 
 
§ 9.3 APPLICATIONS FOR PAYMENT 
§ 9.3.1 As provided in the Agreement and in the Contract Documents, the Contractor shall submit to the 
Owner and Architect an itemized Application for Payment prepared in accordance with the schedule of 
values, if required under Section 9.2., for completed portions of the Work. Such application shall be 
notarized, if required, and supported by such data substantiating the Contractor’s right to payment as the 

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 400



Page 24 of 40 
 

Owner or Architect may require, such as copies of requisitions from Subcontractors and material 
suppliers, and shall reflect retainage if provided for in the Contract Documents. 
 
§ 9.3.1.1 As provided in Section 7.3.9, such applications may include requests for payment on account of 
changes in the Work that have been properly authorized by Construction Change Directives, or by interim 
determinations of the Owner or the Architect, but not yet included in Change Orders. 
 
§ 9.3.1.2 Applications for Payment shall not include requests for payment for portions of the Work for 
which the Contractor does not intend to pay a Subcontractor or material supplier, unless such Work has 
been performed by others whom the Contractor intends to pay.  
 
§ 9.3.1.3 If requested by Owner or required elsewhere in the Contract Documents, Each Application for 
Payment shall be accompanied by the following, all in a form and substance satisfactory to the Owner: 
 

(i) With each Application for Payment: a current Sworn Statement from the Contractor 
setting forth all Subcontractors and all material suppliers with whom the Contractor has 
subcontracted, the amount of each such subcontract, the amount requested for any 
Subcontractor or material supplier in the Application for Payment, and the amount to be 
paid to the Contractor from such progress payment; 

(ii) With each Application for Payment: a duly executed Conditional Waiver and Release on 
Progress Payment from the Contractor and Subcontractors establishing receipt of 
payment or satisfaction of the payment requested by the Contractor in the current 
Application for Payment; 

(iii) Commencing with the second Application for Payment submitted by the Contractor, a 
duly executed Unconditional Waiver and Release on Progress Payment from Contractor 
and all Subcontractors, material suppliers and, where appropriate, lower tier 
subcontractors that have billed more than $5,000 on a single application of payment, 
establishing receipt of payment or satisfaction of payment of all amounts requested on 
behalf of such entities and disbursed prior to submittal by the Contractor of the current 
Application for Payment; 

(iv) With the Final Application for Payment: Contractor shall submit a Conditional Waiver and 
Release on Final Payment as required by Texas Property Code 53.284.  Upon receipt of 
final payment, Contractor shall submit an Unconditional Waiver and Release on Final 
Payment as required by Texas Property Code 53.284; and 

(v) Such other information, documentation, and materials as the Owner, or the title insurer 
may require in order to ensure that Owner’s property is free of lien claims.  Such other 
documents may include, without limitation, original copies of lien or bond claim releases 
suitable for filing with the County Clerk in Williamson County, Texas. 

 
§ 9.3.2 Unless otherwise provided in the Contract Documents, payments shall be made on account of 
materials and equipment delivered and suitably stored at the site for subsequent incorporation in the 
Work. If approved in advance by the Owner, payment may similarly be made for materials and equipment 
suitably stored off the site at a location agreed upon in writing. Payment for materials and equipment 
stored on or off the site shall be conditioned upon compliance by the Contractor with procedures 
satisfactory to the Owner to establish the Owner’s title to such materials and equipment or otherwise 
protect the Owner’s interest, and shall include the costs of applicable insurance, storage and 
transportation to the site for such materials and equipment stored off the site. 
 
§ 9.3.3 The Contractor warrants that title to all Work covered by an Application for Payment will pass to 
the Owner no later than the time of payment. The Contractor further warrants that upon submittal of an 
Application for Payment all Work for which Certificates for Payment have been previously issued and 
payments received from the Owner shall, to the best of the Contractor’s knowledge, information and 
belief, be free and clear of liens, bond claims, claims, security interests or encumbrances in favor of the 
Contractor, Subcontractors, material suppliers, or other persons or entities making a claim by reason of 
having provided labor, materials and equipment relating to the Work. 
 

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 401



Page 25 of 40 
 

§ 9.3.3.1 The Contractor further expressly undertakes to defend Owner, at the Contractor’s sole expense, 
against any actions, lawsuits, or proceedings brought against Owner as a result of liens filed against the 
Work, the site of any of the Work, the Project site and any improvements thereon, or any portion of the 
property of any of Owner (referred to collectively as "liens" in this Section 9.3.3), provide the Owner has 
paid Contractor pursuant to the requirements of the Contract Documents.   The Contractor hereby agrees 
to indemnify and hold Owner harmless against any such liens or claims of lien and agrees to pay any 
judgment or lien resulting from any such actions, lawsuits, or proceedings. 
 
§ 9.3.3.2 The Owner shall release any payments withheld due to a lien or bond claims if the Contractor 
obtains security acceptable to the Owner, however, the Contractor shall not be relieved of any 
responsibilities or obligations under this Section 9.3.3, including, without limitation, the duty to defend and 
indemnify Owner.   
 
§ 9.3.3.3 Retainage.  The Owner shall withhold from each progress payment, as retainage, five percent 
(5%) of the total earned amount. Retainage so withheld shall be managed in conformance with 
Subchapter B, Chapter 2252 of the Texas Government Code.  Any request for reduction or release of 
retainage shall be accompanied by written consent of the Contractor’s Surety. No such request shall be 
made until the Contractor has earned at least sixty-five percent (65%) of the total Contract Price. 
 
§ 9.3.3.4 For purposes of Texas Government Code § 2251.021 (a)(2), the date the performance of 
service is completed is the date when the Owner’s representative approves the Application for Payment. 
 
§ 9.4 CERTIFICATES FOR PAYMENT 
§ 9.4.1 The Architect will, within seven days after receipt of the Contractor’s Application for Payment, 
either issue to the Owner a Certificate for Payment, with a copy to the Contractor, for such amount as the 
Architect determines is properly due, or notify the Contractor and Owner in writing of the Architect’s 
reasons for withholding certification in whole or in part as provided in Section 9.5.1. 
 
§ 9.4.2 The issuance of a Certificate for Payment will constitute a representation by the Architect to the 
Owner, based on the Architect’s evaluation of the Work and the data comprising the Application for 
Payment, that, to the best of the Architect’s knowledge, information and belief, the Work has progressed 
to the point indicated and that the quality of the Work is in accordance with the Contract Documents. The 
foregoing representations are subject to an evaluation of the Work for conformance with the Contract 
Documents upon Substantial Completion, to results of subsequent tests and inspections, to correction of 
minor deviations from the Contract Documents prior to completion and to specific qualifications expressed 
by the Architect. The issuance of a Certificate for Payment will further constitute a representation that the 
Contractor is entitled to payment in the amount certified. However, the issuance of a Certificate for 
Payment will not be a representation that the Architect has (1) made exhaustive or continuous on-site 
inspections to check the quality or quantity of the Work, (2) reviewed construction means, methods, 
techniques, sequences or procedures, (3) reviewed copies of requisitions received from Subcontractors 
and material suppliers and other data requested by the Owner to substantiate the Contractor’s right to 
payment, or (4) made examination to ascertain how or for what purpose the Contractor has used money 
previously paid on account of the Contract Sum. 
 
§ 9.5 DECISIONS TO WITHHOLD CERTIFICATION 
§ 9.5.1 The Owner or Architect may withhold a Certificate for Payment in whole or in part, to the extent 
reasonably necessary to protect the Owner, if in the Owner or Architect’s opinion the representations to 
the Owner required by Section 9.4.2 cannot be made. If the Owner or Architect is unable to certify 
payment in the amount of the Application, the Owner or Architect will notify the Contractor. If the 
Contractor and Architect, or Contractor and Owner, as the case may be, cannot agree on a revised 
amount, the Architect will promptly issue a Certificate for Payment for the amount that can be certified. 
The Owner or Architect may also withhold a Certificate for Payment or, because of subsequently 
discovered evidence, may nullify the whole or a part of a Certificate for Payment previously issued, to 
such extent as may be necessary in the Owner or Architect’s opinion to protect the Owner from loss for 
which the Contractor is responsible, including loss resulting from acts and omissions described in Section 
3.3.2, because of 

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 402



Page 26 of 40 
 

.1 defective Work not remedied; 

.2 third party claims filed or reasonable evidence indicating probable filing of such claims; 

.3 failure of the Contractor to make payments properly to Subcontractors or for labor, 
materials or equipment; 

.4 reasonable evidence that the Work cannot be completed for the unpaid balance of the 
Contract Sum; 

.5 damage to the Owner or a separate contractor; 

.6 failure to maintain the scheduled progress, or reasonable evidence that the Work will not 
be completed within the Contract Time;  

.7 failure to comply with the requirements of Texas Government Code Chapter 2258 
(Prevailing Wage Law);  

.8 failure to include sufficient documentation to support the amount of payment requested 
for the Project;  

.9 failure to obtain, maintain, or renew insurance coverage for payment/performance bonds 
required by the Contract Documents; or 

.10 repeated failure to carry out the Work in accordance with the Contract Documents.  
 
§ 9.5.2 When the above reasons for withholding certification are removed, certification will be made for 
amounts previously withheld. 
 
§ 9.6 PROGRESS PAYMENTS 
§ 9.6.1 The Owner shall make payment in the manner and within the time provided in the Contract 
Documents and in accordance with Chapter 2251 of the Texas Government Code. 
 
§ 9.6.2 The Contractor shall pay each Subcontractor no later than 10 days after receipt of payment from 
the Owner the amount to which the Subcontractor is entitled, reflecting percentages actually retained from 
payments to the Contractor on account of the Subcontractor’s portion of the Work. The Contractor shall, 
by appropriate agreement with each Subcontractor, require each Subcontractor to make payments to 
Sub-subcontractors in a similar manner. 
 
§ 9.6.3 The Owner has the right to request written evidence from the Contractor that the Contractor has 
properly paid Subcontractors and material and equipment suppliers amounts paid by the Owner to the 
Contractor for subcontracted Work. If the Contractor fails to furnish such evidence within seven days, the 
Owner shall have the right to contact Subcontractors to ascertain whether they have been properly paid. 
Neither the Owner nor Architect shall have an obligation to pay or to see to the payment of money to a 
Subcontractor, except as may otherwise be required by law. 
 
§ 9.6.4 Contractor payments to material and equipment suppliers shall be treated in a manner similar to 
that provided in Sections 9.6.2. 
 
§ 9.6.5 A Certificate for Payment, a progress payment, or partial or entire use or occupancy of the Project 
by the Owner shall not constitute acceptance of Work not in accordance with the Contract Documents. 
 
§ 9.7 FAILURE OF PAYMENT 
§ 9.7.1 If the Architect is required to issue Certificates for Payment and, through no fault of the 
Contractor, the Architect fails to timely issue Certificates for Payment in the time permitted in the Contract 
Documents,  or if the Owner does not pay the Contractor by the date established in the Contract 
Documents, then the Contractor may, upon twenty-one days’ written notice to the Owner and Architect, 
stop the Work until payment of the amount owing has been received. 
 
§ 9.7.2 If the Owner is entitled to reimbursement or payment from the Contractor under or pursuant to the 
Contract Documents, such payment shall be made promptly upon demand by the Owner. 
Notwithstanding anything contained in the Contract Documents to the contrary, if the Contractor fails to 
promptly make any payment due the Owner, or if the Owner incurs any costs and expenses to cure any 
default of the Contractor or to correct defective work, the Owner shall have an absolute right to offset 
such amount against  the Contract Sum and may, in the Owner’s sole discretion, elect either to (i) deduct 

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 403



Page 27 of 40 
 

an amount equal to that which the Owner is entitled from any payment then or thereafter due the 
Contractor from the Owner, or (ii) issue a written notice to the Contractor reducing the Contract Sum by 
an amount equal to that which the Owner is entitled. 
 
§ 9.8 SUBSTANTIAL COMPLETION 
§ 9.8.1 Substantial Completion is the stage in the progress of the Work when the Work or designated 
portion thereof is sufficiently complete in accordance with the Contract Documents so that the Owner can 
occupy or utilize the Work for its intended use; provided, however, that as a condition precedent to 
Substantial Completion, the Owner has received all certificates of occupancy and any other permits, 
approvals, licenses, and other documents from any governmental authority having jurisdiction thereof 
necessary for the beneficial occupancy of the Project. 
 
§ 9.8.2 When the Contractor considers that the Work, or a portion thereof which the Owner agrees to 
accept separately, is substantially complete, the Contractor shall prepare and submit to the Owner and 
Architect a comprehensive list of items to be completed or corrected prior to final payment (punch list). 
Failure to include an item on the punch list does not alter the responsibility of the Contractor to complete 
all Work in accordance with the Contract Documents. 
 
§ 9.8.3 Upon receipt of the Contractor’s punch list, the Owner and Architect will examine the Work to 
determine whether the Work or designated portion thereof is substantially complete. If the Owner and/or 
Architect’s examination discloses any item, whether or not included on the Contractor’s punch list, that is 
not sufficiently complete in accordance with the Contract Documents, the Contractor shall, before 
issuance of the Certificate of Substantial Completion, complete or correct such item upon notification by 
the Owner or Architect. In such case, the Contractor shall then submit a request for another examination 
by the Owner or Architect to determine Substantial Completion. 
 
§ 9.8.4 When the Work or designated portion thereof is substantially complete, the Architect, if required 
by the Contract Documents, or Owner will prepare a Certificate of Substantial Completion that shall 
establish the date of Substantial Completion, shall establish responsibilities of the Owner and Contractor 
for security, maintenance, heat, utilities, damage to the Work and insurance, and shall fix the time within 
which the Contractor shall finish all items on the list accompanying the Certificate. Unless otherwise 
provided, Contractor shall complete all items on the punch list within 30 days of Substantial Completion.  
Warranties required by the Contract Documents shall commence on the date of Substantial Completion of 
the Work or designated portion thereof unless otherwise provided in the Certificate of Substantial 
Completion. 
 
§ 9.8.5 The Certificate of Substantial Completion shall be submitted to the Owner and Contractor for their 
written acceptance of responsibilities assigned to them in such Certificate. Upon such acceptance and 
consent of surety, if any, the Owner shall make payment of retainage. 
 
§ 9.9 PARTIAL OCCUPANCY OR USE 
§ 9.9.1 The Owner may occupy or use any completed or partially completed portion of the Work at any 
stage when such portion is designated by separate agreement with the Contractor, provided such 
occupancy or use is consented to by the insurer as required under Section 11.3.1.5, the surety, and 
authorized by public authorities having jurisdiction over the Project. Such partial occupancy or use may 
commence whether or not the portion is substantially complete, provided the Owner and Contractor have 
accepted in writing the responsibilities assigned to each of them for payments, retainage, if any, security, 
maintenance, heat, utilities, damage to the Work and insurance, and have agreed in writing concerning 
the period for correction of the Work and commencement of warranties required by the Contract 
Documents. When the Contractor considers a portion substantially complete, the Contractor shall prepare 
and submit a list to the Architect as provided under Section 9.8.2. Consent of the Contractor to partial 
occupancy or use shall not be unreasonably withheld.  
 
§ 9.9.2 Immediately prior to partial occupancy or use, the Owner, Contractor and Architect shall jointly 
inspect the area to be occupied or portion of the Work to be used in order to determine and record the 
condition of the Work. 

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 404



Page 28 of 40 
 

 
§ 9.9.3 Partial occupancy or use of a portion or portions of the Work shall not constitute acceptance of 
Work not complying with the requirements of the Contract Documents. 
 
§ 9.10 FINAL COMPLETION AND FINAL PAYMENT 
§ 9.10.1 Upon receipt of the Contractor’s written notice that the Work is ready for final inspection and 
acceptance and upon receipt of a final Application for Payment, the Owner and Architect will make such 
inspection and, when the Owner and Architect find the Work acceptable under the Contract Documents 
and the Contract fully performed, the Architect will issue a final Certificate for Payment stating that to the 
best of the Architect’s knowledge, information and belief, and on the basis of the Architect’s on-site visits 
and inspections, the Work has been completed in accordance with terms and conditions of the Contract 
Documents and that the entire balance found to be due the Contractor and noted in the final Certificate is 
due and payable. The Architect’s final Certificate for Payment will constitute a further representation that 
conditions listed in Section 9.10.2 as precedent to the Contractor’s being entitled to final payment have 
been fulfilled. All warranties and guarantees required under or pursuant to the Contract Documents shall 
be assembled and delivered by the Contractor to the Architect as part of the final Application for Payment. 
The final Certificate for Payment will not be issued by the Architect until all warranties and guarantees 
have been received and accepted by the Owner. 
 
§ 9.10.2 Neither final payment nor any remaining retained percentage shall become due until the 
Contractor submits to the Owner and Architect (1) an affidavit that payrolls, bills for materials and 
equipment, and other indebtedness connected with the Work have been paid or otherwise satisfied, 
within the period of time required by Chapter 2251 of the Texas Government Code, (2) a certificate 
evidencing that insurance required by the Contract Documents to remain in force after final payment is 
currently in effect and will not be canceled or allowed to expire until at least 30 days’ prior written notice 
has been given to the Owner, (3) a written statement that the Contractor knows of no substantial reason 
that the insurance will not be renewable to cover the period required by the Contract Documents, (4) 
consent of surety to final payment and (5) other data establishing payment or satisfaction of obligations, 
such as receipts, unconditional full and final releases and waivers of liens, claims, security interests or 
encumbrances arising out of the Contract, to the extent and in such form as may be designated by the 
Owner.  
 
§ 9.10.3 The making of final payment shall constitute a waiver of Claims by the Owner except those 
arising from 

.1 Claims, security interests or encumbrances arising out of the Contract and unsettled; 

.2 failure of the Work to comply with the requirements of the Contract Documents; or 

.3 terms of warranties required by the Contract Documents. 
 
§ 9.10.4 Acceptance of final payment by the Contractor, a Subcontractor or material supplier shall 
constitute a waiver of claims by that payee except those previously made in writing and identified by that 
payee as unsettled at the time of final Application for Payment. 
 
ARTICLE 10   PROTECTION OF PERSONS AND PROPERTY 
§ 10.1 SAFETY PRECAUTIONS AND PROGRAMS 
The Contractor shall be responsible for initiating, maintaining and supervising all safety precautions and 
programs in connection with the performance of the Contract.  
 
§ 10.2 SAFETY OF PERSONS AND PROPERTY 
§ 10.2.1 The Contractor shall take reasonable precautions for safety of, and shall provide reasonable 
protection to prevent damage, injury or loss to 

.1 employees on the Work and other persons who may be affected thereby; 

.2 the Work and materials and equipment to be incorporated therein, whether in storage on 
or off the site, under care, custody or control of the Contractor or the Contractor’s 
Subcontractors or Sub-subcontractors; and 

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 405



Page 29 of 40 
 

.3 other property at the site or adjacent thereto, such as trees, shrubs, lawns, walks, 
pavements, roadways, structures and utilities not designated for removal, relocation or 
replacement in the course of construction. 

 
§ 10.2.2 The Contractor shall comply with and give notices required by applicable laws, statutes, 
ordinances, codes, rules and regulations, and lawful orders of public authorities bearing on safety of 
persons or property or their protection from damage, injury or loss. Notwithstanding any language to the 
contrary, the Owner shall not have any responsibility for job site inspections or safety recommendations. 
Any inspections or observations by the Owner or the Architect are solely for the benefit of the Owner and 
shall not create any duties or obligations to anyone else. 
 
§ 10.2.3 The Contractor shall erect and maintain, as required by existing conditions and performance of 
the Contract, reasonable safeguards for safety and protection, including posting danger signs and other 
warnings against hazards, promulgating safety regulations and notifying owners and users of adjacent 
sites and utilities.   
 
§ 10.2.4 When use or storage of explosives or other hazardous materials or equipment or unusual 
methods are necessary for execution of the Work, the Contractor shall exercise utmost care and carry on 
such activities under supervision of properly qualified personnel. 
 
§ 10.2.5 The Contractor shall promptly remedy damage and loss (other than damage or loss insured 
under property insurance required by the Contract Documents) to property referred to in Sections 
10.2.1.2 and 10.2.1.3 caused in whole or in part by the Contractor, a Subcontractor, a Sub-subcontractor, 
or anyone directly or indirectly employed by any of them, or by anyone for whose acts they may be liable 
and for which the Contractor is responsible under Sections 10.2.1.2 and 10.2.1.3, except damage or loss 
attributable to acts or omissions of the Owner or Architect or anyone directly or indirectly employed by 
either of them, or by anyone for whose acts either of them may be liable, and not attributable to the fault 
or negligence of the Contractor. The foregoing obligations of the Contractor are in addition to the 
Contractor’s obligations under Section 3.18. 
 
§ 10.2.6 The Contractor shall designate a responsible member of the Contractor’s organization at the site 
whose duty shall be the prevention of accidents. This person shall be the Contractor’s superintendent 
unless otherwise designated by the Contractor in writing to the Owner and Architect. 
 
§ 10.2.7 The Contractor shall not permit any part of the construction or site to be loaded so as to cause 
damage or create an unsafe condition. 
 
§ 10.2.8 INJURY OR DAMAGE TO PERSON OR PROPERTY 
If either party suffers injury or damage to person or property because of an act or omission of the other 
party, or of others for whose acts such party is legally responsible, written notice of such injury or 
damage, whether or not insured, shall be given to the other party within a reasonable time not exceeding 
21 days after discovery. The notice shall provide sufficient detail to enable the other party to investigate 
the matter.  
 
§ 10.2.9 When all or a portion of the Work is suspended for any reason, the Contractor shall securely 
fasten down all covering and fully protect the Work, as necessary, from injury or damage by any cause. 
 
§ 10.2.10 The Contractor shall promptly report in writing to the Owner and Architect all accidents arising 
out of or in connection with the Work that cause death, personal injury, or property damage. 
 
§ 10.3 HAZARDOUS MATERIALS 
§ 10.3.1 The Contractor is responsible for compliance with any requirements included in the Contract 
Documents regarding hazardous materials. If the Contractor encounters a hazardous material or 
substance not addressed in the Contract Documents and if reasonable precautions will be inadequate to 
prevent foreseeable bodily injury or death to persons resulting from a material or substance, including but 
not limited to asbestos or polychlorinated biphenyl (PCB), encountered on the site by the Contractor, the 

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 406



Page 30 of 40 
 

Contractor shall, upon recognizing the condition, immediately stop Work in the affected area and report 
the condition to the Owner and Architect in writing. 
 
§ 10.3.2 Upon receipt of the Contractor’s written notice, the Owner shall obtain the services of a licensed 
laboratory to verify the presence or absence of the material or substance reported by the Contractor and, 
in the event such material or substance is found to be present, to cause it to be rendered harmless. When 
the material or substance has been rendered harmless, Work in the affected area shall resume upon 
written notice from the Owner. 
 
§ 10.3.4 The Owner shall not be responsible under this Section 10.3 for materials or substances the 
Contractor brings to the site unless such materials or substances are expressly required by the Contract 
Documents. The Owner shall be responsible for materials or substances expressly required by the 
Contract Documents, except to the extent of the Contractor’s fault or negligence in the use and handling 
of such materials or substances. 
 
§ 10.3.5 The Contractor shall indemnify the Owner for the cost and expense the Owner incurs (1) for 
remediation of a material or substance the Contractor brings to the site or negligently handles, or (2) 
where the Contractor fails to perform its obligations under Section 10.3.1, except to the extent that the 
cost and expense are due to the Owner’s fault or negligence. 
 
§ 10.4 EMERGENCIES 
In an emergency affecting safety of persons or property, the Contractor shall act, at the Contractor’s 
discretion, to prevent threatened damage, injury or loss. Additional compensation or extension of time, if 
any, claimed by the Contractor on account of an emergency shall be determined as provided in Article 15 
and Article 7. 
 
ARTICLE 11   INSURANCE AND BONDS 
§ 11.1 CONTRACTOR’S LIABILITY INSURANCE 
§ 11.1.1 The Contractor shall purchase from and maintain in a company or companies lawfully authorized 
to do business in the jurisdiction in which the Project is located such insurance as will protect the 
Contractor from claims set forth below which may arise out of or result from the Contractor’s operations 
and completed operations under the Contract and for which the Contractor may be legally liable, whether 
such operations be by the Contractor or by a Subcontractor or by anyone directly or indirectly employed 
by any of them, or by anyone for whose acts any of them may be liable: 
 

.1 Claims under workers’ compensation, disability benefit and other similar employee 
benefit acts that are applicable to the Work to be performed; 

.2 Claims for damages because of bodily injury, occupational sickness or disease, or death 
of the Contractor’s employees; 

.3 Claims for damages because of bodily injury, sickness or disease, or death of any person 
other than the Contractor’s employees; 

.4 Claims for damages insured by usual personal injury liability coverage; 

.5 Claims for damages, other than to the Work itself, because of injury to or destruction of 
tangible property, including loss of use resulting therefrom; 

.6 Claims for damages because of bodily injury, death of a person or property damage 
arising out of ownership, maintenance or use of a motor vehicle; 

.7 Claims for bodily injury or property damage arising out of completed operations, which 
coverage shall be maintained for no less than four (4) years following final payment; and 

.8 Claims involving contractual liability insurance applicable to the Contractor’s obligations 
under Section 3.18. 

 
§ 11.1.2 The insurance required by Section 11.1.1 shall be written for not less than limits of liability 
specified in the Agreement or the Contract Documents. Coverages, whether written on an occurrence or 
claims-made basis, shall be maintained without interruption from the date of commencement of the Work 
until the date of final payment and termination of any coverage required to be maintained after final 
payment, and, with respect to the Contractor’s completed operations coverage, until the expiration of the 

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 407



Page 31 of 40 
 

period for correction of Work or for such other period for maintenance of completed operations coverage 
as specified in the Contract Documents. 
 
§ 11.1.3 Unless otherwise provided, copies of the insurance policies, in form acceptable to the Owner, 
shall provided to Owner within 30 days of Owner’s request. Except as otherwise provided, all of the 
policies provided shall name Owner as an additional insured, and such policies shall immediately deliver 
to Owner copies of all such insurance policies, together with certificates by the insurer evidencing 
Owner’s coverage there under. Each policy of insurance obtained by Contractor pursuant to the Contract 
Documents shall provide, by endorsement or otherwise (i) that such policy shall not be canceled, 
endorsed, altered or reissued to effect a change in coverage for any reason or to any extent whatsoever 
unless the insurer shall have first given Owner and Lender at least thirty (30) days prior written notice 
thereof, and (ii) that Owner may, but shall not be obligated to, make premium payments to prevent the 
cancellation, endorsement, alteration or reissuance of such policy and such payments shall be accepted 
by the insurer to prevent the same. Such policies shall provide, by endorsement or otherwise, that 
Contractor shall be solely responsible for the payment of all premiums under the policies, and that Owner 
shall have no obligation for the payment thereof, notwithstanding that Owner is named as additional 
insured under the policy. Any insured loss or claim of loss shall be adjusted to the Owner, and any 
settlement payments shall be made payable to the Owner as a trustee for the insureds, as their interests 
may appear. Upon the occurrence of an insured loss or claim of loss, monies received will be held by 
Owner who shall make distribution in accordance with an agreement to be reached in such event 
between Owner and Contractor. If the parties are unable to agree between themselves on the settlement 
of the loss, such dispute shall be resolved in accordance with section 15, below, but the Work of the 
Project shall nevertheless progress during any such period of dispute without prejudice to the rights of 
any party to the dispute. The Contractor shall be responsible for any loss within the deductible area of the 
policy. If Owner is damaged by the failure of Contractor to purchase or maintain such insurance, then 
Contractor shall bear all costs properly attributable thereto. The Contractor shall affect and maintain 
similar property insurance on portions of the Work stored off the site or in transit when such portions of 
the Work are to be included. Such property insurance shall be maintained, unless otherwise provided in 
the Contract Documents or otherwise agreed in writing by all persons and entities who are beneficiaries 
of such insurance, until Final Completion of the Project. 
 
§ 11.1.4 The Contractor shall cause the commercial liability coverage required by the Contract 
Documents to include (1) the Owner as additional insureds for claims caused in whole or in part by the 
Contractor’s negligent acts or omissions during the Contractor’s operations; and (2) the Owner as an 
additional insured for claims caused in whole or in part by the Contractor’s negligent acts or omissions 
during the Contractor’s completed operations. 
 
§ 11.2 OWNER’S LIABILITY INSURANCE 
The Owner shall be responsible for purchasing and maintaining the Owner’s usual liability insurance. 
 
§ 11.3 PROPERTY INSURANCE 
§ 11.3.1 Unless otherwise provided in the Contract Documents, the Contractor shall purchase and 
maintain, in a company or companies lawfully authorized to do business in the jurisdiction in which the 
Project is located, property insurance written on a builder’s risk “all-risk” or equivalent policy form in the 
amount of the initial Contract Sum, plus value of subsequent Contract Modifications and cost of materials 
supplied or installed by others, comprising total value for the entire Project at the site on a replacement 
cost basis without optional deductibles. Such property insurance shall be maintained, unless otherwise 
provided in the Contract Documents or otherwise agreed in writing by all persons and entities who are 
beneficiaries of such insurance, until final payment has been made as provided in Section 9.10 or until no 
person or entity other than the Owner has an insurable interest in the property required by this Section 
11.3 to be covered, whichever is later. This insurance shall include interests of the Owner, the Contractor, 
Subcontractors and Sub-subcontractors in the Project. 
 
§ 11.3.1.1 Property insurance shall be on an “all-risk” or equivalent policy form and shall include, without 
limitation, insurance against the perils of fire (with extended coverage) and physical loss or damage 
including, without duplication of coverage, theft, vandalism, malicious mischief, collapse, earthquake, 

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 408



Page 32 of 40 
 

flood, windstorm, falsework, testing and startup, temporary buildings and debris removal including 
demolition occasioned by enforcement of any applicable legal requirements, and shall cover reasonable 
compensation for Architect’s and Contractor’s services and expenses required as a result of such insured 
loss as well as coverage for building materials while in transit or building materials suitably stored at a 
temporary location. Property insurance provided by the Contractor shall not cover any tools, apparatus, 
machinery, scaffolding, hoists, forms, staging, shoring, and other similar items commonly referred to as 
construction equipment that may be on the site and the capital value of which is not included in the Work. 
The Contractor shall make its own arrangements for any insurance it may require on such construction 
equipment. Any such policy obtained by the Contractor under this Section 11.3.1 shall include a waiver of 
subrogation in accordance with the requirements of Section 11.3.4. 
 
§ 11.3.1.2 If the Contractor does not intend to purchase such property insurance required by the Contract 
and with all of the coverages in the amount described above, the Contractor shall so inform the Owner in 
writing prior to commencement of the Work. If the Owner is damaged by the failure or neglect of the 
Contractor to purchase or maintain insurance as described above, without so notifying the Owner in 
writing, then the Contractor shall bear all reasonable costs properly attributable thereto. 
 
§ 11.3.1.3 Contractor shall be responsible for any deductibles to the extent that the loss arose out of or 
was cause by Contractor’s negligence or breach of the Agreement.  
 
§ 11.3.1.4 This property insurance shall cover portions of the Work stored off the site, and also portions of 
the Work in transit. 
 
§ 11.3.1.5 Partial occupancy or use in accordance with Section 9.9 shall not commence until the 
insurance company or companies providing property insurance have consented to such partial occupancy 
or use by endorsement or otherwise. The Owner and the Contractor shall take reasonable steps to obtain 
consent of the insurance company or companies and shall, without mutual written consent, take no action 
with respect to partial occupancy or use that would cause cancellation, lapse or reduction of insurance. 
 
§ 11.3.4 WAIVERS OF SUBROGATION 
The Owner and Contractor waive all rights against (1) each other and any of their subcontractors, sub-
subcontractors, agents and employees, each of the other, and (2) the Architect, Architect’s consultants, 
separate contractors described in Article 6, if any, and any of their subcontractors, sub-subcontractors, 
agents and employees, for damages caused by fire or other causes of loss to the extent of actual 
recovery of any insurance proceeds under any property insurance obtained pursuant to this Section 11.3 
or other property insurance applicable to the Work, except such rights as they have to proceeds of such 
insurance. However, this waiver shall not apply to property insurance purchased by Owner after 
completion of the Work or Final Payment, whichever comes first. The Owner or Contractor, as 
appropriate, shall require of the Architect, Architect’s consultants, separate contractors described in 
Article 6, if any, and the subcontractors, sub-subcontractors, agents and employees of any of them, by 
appropriate agreements, written where legally required for validity, similar waivers each in favor of other 
parties enumerated herein. The policies shall provide such waivers of subrogation by endorsement or 
otherwise. A waiver of subrogation shall be effective as to a person or entity even though that person or 
entity would otherwise have a duty of indemnification, contractual or otherwise, did not pay the insurance 
premium directly or indirectly, and whether or not the person or entity had an insurable interest in the 
property damaged. 
 
§ 11.3.5 A loss insured under the property insurance shall be adjusted in good faith and made payable to 
the Owner in good faith for the insureds, as their interests may appear. The Contractor shall pay 
Subcontractors their just shares of insurance proceeds received by the Contractor, and by appropriate 
agreements, written where legally required for validity, shall require Subcontractors to make payments to 
their Sub-subcontractors in similar manner. 
 
§ 11.4 PERFORMANCE BOND AND PAYMENT BOND  
§ 11.4.1 The Contractor is required to tender to Owner, prior to commencing the Work, performance and 
payment bonds, as required by law.  In the event Contractor fails to provide such bonds within the time 

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 409



Page 33 of 40 
 

provided by the Agreement, Owner may immediately, upon notice of such failure, or within a reasonable 
time thereafter, at its sole option and discretion: (1) void this Agreement in its entirety; or (2) procure such 
bonds on behalf of the Contractor, deducting such amounts from the Contract Price.  In the event Owner 
voids the Agreement under this section, Contractor may forfeit its bid bond. 
 
§ 11.4.2 A Performance Bond is required if the Contract Price is in excess of $50,000.  The performance 
bond is solely for the protection of the Owner, in the full amount of the Contract Price and conditioned on 
the faithful performance of the Work in accordance with the Contract Documents.  The form of the bond 
shall be approved by the Owner. 
 
§ 11.4.3 A Payment Bond is required if the Contract Price is in excess of $25,000.  A payment bond is 
payable to the Owner, in the full amount of the Contract Price and solely for the protection and use of 
payment bond beneficiaries who have a direct contractual relationship with the Contractor or a supplier of 
required materials or labor.  The form of bond shall be approved by the Owner. 
 
§ 11.4.5 Corporate sureties authorized to issue bonds shall be qualified and comply with relevant 
provisions of the Texas Insurance Code. 
 
§ 11.4.6 Each bond shall be executed by a corporate surety or sureties authorized to do business in the 
State of Texas and acceptable to the Owner.  If any bond is for more than 10 percent of the surety’s 
capital and surplus, the Owner may require certification that the company has reinsured the excess 
portion with one or more reinsurers authorized, accredited, or trusteed to do business in the State.  A 
reinsurer may not reinsure for more than 10 percent of its capital and surplus.  If a surety upon a bond 
loses its authority to do business in the State, the Contractor shall within thirty (30) days after such loss 
furnish a replacement bond at no added cost to the Owner. 
 
§ 11.4.7 Each bond shall be accompanied by a valid Power-of-Attorney (issued by the surety company 
and attached, signed and sealed with the corporate embosses seal, to the bond) authorizing the attorney 
in fact who signs the bond to commit the company to the terms of the bond, and stating any limit in the 
amount for which the attorney can issue a single bond. 
 
§ 11.4.8 The process of requiring and accepting bonds and making claims thereunder shall be conducted 
in compliance with Chapter 2253, Texas Government Code.   If for any reason a statutory payment or 
performance bond is not honored by the surety, the Contractor shall fully indemnify and hold the Owner 
harmless of and from any costs, losses, obligations or liabilities it incurs as a result. 
 
§ 11.4.9 Owner shall furnish certified copies of a payment bond and the related Agreement between 
Owner and Contractor to any qualified person seeking copies who complies with §2253.026, Texas 
Government Code.   
 
§ 11.4.10 Claims on Payment Bonds.  Claims on payment bonds must be sent directly to the Contractor 
and its surety in accordance with § 2253.041, Texas Government Code.  All Payment Bond claimants are 
cautioned that no lien exists on the funds unpaid to the Contractor on such contract, and that reliance on 
notices sent to the Owner may result in loss of their rights against the Contractor and/or its surety.  The 
Owner is not responsible in any manner to a claimant for collection of unpaid bills, and accepts no such 
responsibility because of any representation by any agent or employee. 
 
§ 11.4.11 Payment Claims when Payment Bond not Required.  When the value of the Agreement 
between Owner and the Contractor is less than $25,000.00, claimants and their rights are governed by 
Texas Property Code, §§ 53.231 – 53.239.  These provisions set out the requirements for filing a valid 
lien on funds unpaid to the Contractor as of the time of filing the claim, actions necessary to release the 
lien and satisfaction of such claims. 
 
§11.4.12 Sureties shall be listed on the Department of the Treasury’s Listing of Approved Sureties stating 
companies holding Certificates of Authority as acceptable sureties on Federal Bonds and acceptable 
reinsuring companies (Department Circular 570).  

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 410



Page 34 of 40 
 

 
§ 11.5 GENERAL REQUIREMENTS 
§ 11.5.1 Unless otherwise provided in the Contract Documents, all insurance coverage procured by the 
Contractor shall be provided by insurance companies having policy holder ratings no lower than "A" and 
financial ratings not lower than "XII" in the Best’s Insurance Guide, the latest edition in effect as of the 
date of the Contract, and subsequently in effect at the time of renewal of any policies required by the 
Contract Documents. 
 
§  11.5.2 If the Owner is damaged by failure of the Contractor to purchase or maintain insurance required 
under Article 11, then the Contractor shall bear all reasonable costs (including attorneys’ fees and court 
and settlement expenses) properly attributable thereto. 
 
ARTICLE 12   UNCOVERING AND CORRECTION OF WORK 
§ 12.1 UNCOVERING OF WORK 
§ 12.1.1 If a portion of the Work is covered contrary to the Owner or Architect’s request or to requirements 
specifically expressed in the Contract Documents, it must, if requested in writing by the Owner or 
Architect, be uncovered for examination and be replaced at the Contractor’s expense without change in 
the Contract Time. If prior to the date of Substantial Completion the Contractor, a Subcontractor, or 
anyone for whom either is responsible uses or damages any portion of the Work (other than start-up), 
including, without limitation, mechanical, electrical, plumbing, and other building systems, machinery, 
equipment, or other mechanical device, the Contractor shall cause such item to be restored to "like new" 
condition at no expense to the Owner. 
 
§ 12.1.2 If a portion of the Work has been covered that the Owner or Architect has not specifically 
requested to examine prior to its being covered, the Owner or Architect may request to see such Work 
and it shall be uncovered by the Contractor. If such Work is in accordance with the Contract Documents, 
costs of uncovering and replacement shall, by appropriate Change Order, be at the Owner’s expense. If 
such Work is not in accordance with the Contract Documents, such costs and the cost of correction shall 
be at the Contractor’s expense unless the condition was caused by the Owner or a separate contractor in 
which event the Owner shall be responsible for payment of such costs. 
 
§ 12.2 CORRECTION OF WORK 
§ 12.2.1 The Contractor shall promptly correct Work rejected by the Owner or Architect or failing to 
conform to the requirements of the Contract Documents, whether discovered before or after Substantial 
Completion and whether or not fabricated, installed or completed. Costs of correcting such rejected Work, 
including additional testing and inspections, the cost of uncovering and replacement, and compensation 
for the Architect’s services and expenses made necessary thereby, shall be at the Contractor’s expense. 
 
§ 12.2.2 AFTER SUBSTANTIAL COMPLETION 
§ 12.2.2.1 In addition to the Contractor’s obligations under Section 3.5, if, within one year after the date of 
Substantial Completion of the Work or designated portion thereof or after the date for commencement of 
warranties established under Section 9.9.1, or by terms of an applicable special warranty required by the 
Contract Documents, any of the Work is found to be not in accordance with the requirements of the 
Contract Documents, the Contractor shall correct it promptly after receipt of written notice from the Owner 
to do so. The Owner shall give such notice promptly after discovery of the condition. If the Contractor fails 
to correct nonconforming Work within a reasonable time during that period after receipt of notice from the 
Owner or Architect, the Owner may correct it in accordance with Section 2.4. 
 
§ 12.2.2.2 The one-year period for correction of Work shall be extended with respect to portions of Work 
first performed after Substantial Completion by the period of time between Substantial Completion and 
the actual completion of that portion of the Work. 
 
§ 12.2.3 The Contractor shall remove from the site portions of the Work that are not in accordance with 
the requirements of the Contract Documents and are neither corrected by the Contractor nor accepted by 
the Owner. 
 

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 411



Page 35 of 40 
 

§ 12.2.4 The Contractor shall bear the cost of correcting destroyed or damaged construction, whether 
completed or partially completed, of the Owner or separate contractors caused by the Contractor’s 
correction or removal of Work that is not in accordance with the requirements of the Contract Documents. 
 
§ 12.2.5 Nothing contained in this Section 12.2 shall be construed to establish a period of limitation with 
respect to other obligations the Contractor has under the Contract Documents. Establishment of the one-
year period for correction of Work as described in Section 12.2.2 relates only to the specific obligation of 
the Contractor to correct the Work, and has no relationship to the time within which the obligation to 
comply with the Contract Documents may be sought to be enforced, nor to the time within which 
proceedings may be commenced to establish the Contractor’s liability with respect to the Contractor’s 
obligations other than specifically to correct the Work. 
 
§ 12.3 ACCEPTANCE OF NONCONFORMING WORK 
If the Owner prefers to accept Work that is not in accordance with the requirements of the Contract 
Documents, the Owner may do so instead of requiring its removal and correction, in which case the 
Contract Sum will be reduced as appropriate and equitable. Such adjustment shall be effected whether or 
not final payment has been made. 
 
ARTICLE 13   MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS 
§ 13.1 GOVERNING LAW 
The Contract shall be governed by the law of Williamson County, Texas. 
 
§ 13.2 SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS 
§ 13.2.1 The Owner and Contractor respectively bind themselves, their partners, successors, assigns and 
legal representatives to covenants, agreements and obligations contained in the Contract Documents. 
Except as provided in the Contract Documents or by law, neither party to the Contract shall assign the 
Contract as a whole without written consent of the other. If either party attempts to make such an 
assignment without such consent, that party shall nevertheless remain legally responsible for all 
obligations under the Contract. 
 
§ 13.3 WRITTEN NOTICE 
Written notice shall be deemed to have been duly served if delivered in person to the individual, to a 
member of the firm or entity, or to an officer of the corporation for which it was intended; or if delivered at, 
or sent by registered or certified mail or by courier service providing proof of delivery to, the last business 
address known to the party giving notice.  
 
§ 13.4 RIGHTS AND REMEDIES 
§ 13.4.1 Except as expressly provided in the Contract Documents, duties and obligations imposed by the 
Contract Documents and rights and remedies available thereunder shall be in addition to and not a 
limitation of duties, obligations, rights and remedies otherwise imposed or available by law. 
 
§ 13.4.2 No action or failure to act by the Owner, Architect or Contractor shall constitute a waiver of a 
right or duty afforded them under the Contract, nor shall such action or failure to act constitute approval of 
or acquiescence in a breach there under, except as may be specifically agreed in writing. 
 
§ 13.5 TESTS AND INSPECTIONS 
§ 13.5.1 Tests, inspections and approvals of portions of the Work shall be made as required by the 
Contract Documents and by applicable laws, statutes, ordinances, codes, rules and regulations or lawful 
orders of public authorities. Unless otherwise provided, the Contractor shall make arrangements for such 
tests, inspections and approvals with an independent testing laboratory or entity acceptable to the Owner, 
or with the appropriate public authority. The Contractor shall give the Owner and Architect timely notice of 
when and where tests and inspections are to be made so that the Owner and Architect may be present 
for such procedures. The Owner shall bear costs of tests, inspections, or approvals where building codes 
or applicable laws or regulations prohibit the Owner from delegating their cost to the Contractor. 
 

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 412



Page 36 of 40 
 

§ 13.5.2 If the Architect, Owner, or public authorities having jurisdiction determine that portions of the 
Work require additional testing, inspection or approval not included under Section 13.5.1, the Architect 
will, upon written authorization from the Owner, instruct the Contractor to make arrangements for such 
additional testing, inspection or approval by an entity acceptable to the Owner, and the Contractor shall 
give timely notice to the Owner and Architect of when and where tests and inspections are to be made so 
that the Owner and Architect may be present for such procedures. 
 
§ 13.5.3 If such procedures for testing, inspection or approval under Sections 13.5.1 and 13.5.2 reveal 
failure of the portions of the Work to comply with requirements established by the Contract Documents, all 
costs made necessary by such failure including those of repeated procedures and compensation for the 
Architect’s services and expenses shall be at the Contractor’s expense.  The Contractor also agrees the 
cost of testing services related to remedial operations performed to correct deficiencies in the Work, shall 
be borne by the Contractor. 
 
§ 13.5.4 Required certificates of testing, inspection or approval shall, unless otherwise required by the 
Contract Documents, be secured by the Contractor and promptly delivered to the Owner and Architect. 
 
§ 13.5.5 If the Architect is to observe tests, inspections or approvals required by the Contract Documents, 
the Architect will do so promptly and, where practicable, at the normal place of testing. 
 
§ 13.5.6 Tests or inspections conducted pursuant to the Contract Documents shall be made promptly to 
avoid unreasonable delay in the Work. 
 
§ 13.6 INTEREST 
The rate of interest that accrues on an overdue payment is the rate in effect on September 1 of the fiscal 
year in which the payment becomes overdue.  The rate in effect on September 1 is equal to the sum of: 
(1)  one percent; and 
(2)  the prime rate as published in the Wall Street Journal on the first day of July of the preceding fiscal 
year that does not fall on a Saturday or Sunday pursuant to §2251.025 of the Texas Government Code. 
 
§ 13.7 TIME LIMITS ON CLAIMS 
The Owner and Contractor shall commence all claims and causes of action, whether in contract, tort, 
breach of warranty or otherwise, against the other arising out of or related to the Contract in accordance 
with the time limits provided by law. Nothing herein shall be construed as shortening the period of time 
Owner has for commencing claims to less than what is required by law.     
 
§ 13.8 Application To Subcontracts 
Any specific requirement in this Contract that the responsibilities or obligations of Contractor also apply to 
a Subcontractor is added for emphasis and are also hereby deemed to include a Subcontractor of any 
tier. The omission of a reference to a Subcontractor in connection with any of Contractor’s responsibilities 
or obligations shall not be construed to diminish, abrogate or limit any responsibilities or obligations of a 
Subcontractor of any tier under the Contract Documents or the applicable subcontract. 
 
§ 13.10 GENERAL PROVISIONS 
§ 13.10.1 All personal pronouns used in this Contract, whether used in the masculine, feminine, or neuter 
gender, shall include all other genders; and the singular shall included the plural and vice versa.  Titles of 
articles, sections, and subsections are for convenience only and neither limit nor amplify the provisions of 
this Contract.  The use herein of the word "including," when following any general statement, term, or 
matter, shall not be construed to limit such statement, term, or matter to the specific items or matters set 
forth immediately following such word or to similar items or matters, whether or not non-limiting language 
(such words as "without limitation," or "but not limited to," or words of similar import) is used with 
reference thereto, but rather shall be deemed to refer to all other items or matters that could reasonably 
fall within the broadest possible scope of such general statement, term, or matter. 
 
§ 13.10.2 Wherever possible, each provision of this Agreement shall be interpreted in a manner as to be 
effective and valid under applicable law. If, however, any provision of this Agreement, or portion thereof, 

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 413



Page 37 of 40 
 

is prohibited by law or found invalid under any law, only such provision or portion thereof  shall be 
ineffective, without in any manner invalidating or affecting the remaining provisions of this Agreement or 
valid portions of such provision, which are hereby deemed servable. 
 
§ 13.11 NO ORAL WAIVER 
The Provisions of the Contract Documents shall not be changed, amended, waived, or otherwise modified 
in any respect except by a writing signed by Owner.  No person is authorized on behalf of Owner to orally 
change, amend, waive, or otherwise modify the terms of the Contract Documents or any of the 
Contractor’s duties or obligations under or arising out of the Contract Documents.  Any change, waiver, 
approval, or consent granted to the Contractor shall be limited to the specific matters stated in the writing 
signed by Owner, and shall not relieve Contractor of any other of the duties and obligations under the 
Contract Documents.  No "constructive" changes shall be allowed. 
 
§ 13.12 Texas Public Information Act.  To the extent, if any, that any provision in the Contract Documents 
is in conflict with Tex. Gov’t Code 552.001 et seq., as amended (the “Public Information Act”), the same 
shall be of no force or effect.  Furthermore, it is expressly understood and agreed that Owner, its officers 
and employees may request advice, decisions and opinions of the Attorney General of the State of Texas 
in regard to the application of the Public Information Act to any information or data furnished to Owner 
whether or not the same are available to the public.  It is further understood that Owner, its officers and 
employees shall have the right to rely on the advice, decisions and opinions of the Attorney General, and 
that Owner, its officers and employees shall have no liability or obligation to Contractor for the disclosure 
to the public, or to any person or persons, of any software or a part thereof, or other items or data 
furnished to Owner by Contractor in reliance of any advice, decision or opinion of the Attorney General of 
the State of Texas. 
 
§ 13.13 Equal Opportunity in Employment.  The Contractor agrees that during the performance of the 
Agreement it will not discriminate against any employee or applicant for employment because of race, 
color, religion, sex, or national origin. The Parties will take affirmative action to ensure that applicants are 
employed, and that employees are treated during employment, without regard to their race, color, religion, 
sex or national origin. Such action shall include, but not be limited to the following: employment, 
upgrading, demotion, or transfer; termination; rates of pay or other forms of compensation, and selection 
for training, including apprenticeship.  
 
ARTICLE 14   TERMINATION OR SUSPENSION OF THE CONTRACT 
§ 14.1 TERMINATION BY THE CONTRACTOR 
§ 14.1.1 The Contractor may terminate the Contract if the Work is stopped for a period of 90 consecutive 
days through no act or fault of the Contractor or a Subcontractor, Sub-subcontractor or their agents or 
employees or any other persons or entities performing portions of the Work under direct or indirect 
contract with the Contractor, for any of the following reasons: 

.1 Issuance of an order of a court or other public authority having jurisdiction that requires 
all Work to be stopped;  

.2 An act of government, such as a declaration of national emergency that requires all Work 
to be stopped; or 

.3 Because the Architect has not issued a Certificate for Payment and has not notified the 
Contractor of the reason for withholding certification as provided in Section 9.4.1, or 
because the Owner has not made payment on an undisputed Certificate for Payment 
within the time stated in the Contract Documents.  

 
§ 14.1.2 The Contractor may terminate the Contract if, through no act or fault of the Contractor or a 
Subcontractor, Sub-subcontractor or their agents or employees or any other persons or entities 
performing portions of the Work under direct or indirect contract with the Contractor, repeated 
suspensions, delays or interruptions of the entire Work by the Owner as described in Section 14.3 
constitute in the aggregate more than 100 percent of the total number of days scheduled for completion, 
or 120 days in any 365-day period, whichever is less. 
 

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 414



Page 38 of 40 
 

§ 14.1.3 If one of the reasons described in Section 14.1.1 or 14.1.2 exists, the Contractor may, upon 30 
days’ written notice to the Owner and Architect, terminate the Contract and recover from the Owner 
payment for Work executed, including reasonable overhead and profit, costs incurred by reason of such 
termination, and damages.  
 
§ 14.2 TERMINATION BY THE OWNER FOR CAUSE 
§ 14.2.1 The Owner may terminate the Contract if the Contractor 

.1        fails to commence the Work in accordance with the provisions of this Contract, 

.2        fails to prosecute the Work to completion thereof in a diligent, efficient, timely, 
workmanlike, skillful and careful manner and in strict accordance with the provisions of the 
Contract, 

.3        fails to use an adequate amount or quality of personnel or equipment to complete the 
Work without undue delay, 

.4        fails to perform any of its obligations under the Contract, 

.5        fails to make prompt payments when due to its Subcontractors and Suppliers, or as 
required by Texas Government Code 2251, 

.6        files any petition or other pleading seeking any relief under any provisions of the Federal 
Bankruptcy Act, as amended, or any other federal or state statute or law providing for 
reorganization of debts or other relief from creditors, permits a receiver or other person to 
be appointed on account of its insolvency or financial condition, or becomes insolvent, 

.7        creates any situation or state of facts which would authorize or permit an involuntary 
petition in bankruptcy to be filed against Contractor, or 

.8        has not met or in Owner’s opinion will not meet the dates of Substantial Completion set 
forth in the Contract Documents. 

 
§ 14.2.2 When any of the above reasons exist, the Owner, in its sole and absolute discretion, may without 
prejudice to any other rights or remedies of the Owner and after giving the Contractor and the 
Contractor’s surety, if any, 30 days’ written notice, terminate employment of the Contractor and may, 
subject to any prior rights of the surety: 

.1 Exclude the Contractor from the site and take possession of all materials, equipment, 
tools, and construction equipment and machinery thereon owned by the Contractor; 

.2 Accept assignment of subcontracts pursuant to Section 5.4; and 

.3 Finish the Work by whatever reasonable method the Owner may deem expedient. Upon 
written request of the Contractor, the Owner shall furnish to the Contractor a detailed 
accounting of the costs incurred by the Owner in finishing the Work. 

 
§ 14.2.3 When the Owner terminates the Contract for one of the reasons stated in Section 14.2.1, the 
Contractor shall not be entitled to receive further payment until the Work is finished.  In the event that a 
final decision under section 15, below, is rendered that sufficient cause did not exist for termination under 
this section 14.2, then the termination shall be considered a termination for convenience, under section 
14.4, below.   
 
§ 14.2.4 If the unpaid balance of the Contract Sum exceeds costs of finishing the Work, including 
compensation for the Architect’s services and expenses made necessary thereby, and other damages 
and costs incurred by the Owner in finishing the Work and not expressly waived, such excess shall be 
paid to the Contractor. If such costs and damages exceed the unpaid balance, the Contractor shall pay 
the difference to the Owner. 
 
§ 14.3 SUSPENSION BY THE OWNER FOR CONVENIENCE 
§ 14.3.1 The Owner may, without cause, order the Contractor in writing to suspend, delay or interrupt the 
Work in whole or in part for such period of time as the Owner may determine. 
 
§ 14.3.2 The Contract Sum and Contract Time shall be adjusted for increases in the cost and time caused 
by suspension, delay or interruption as described in Section 14.3.1. Adjustment of the Contract Sum shall 
include profit. No adjustment shall be made to the extent 

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 415



Page 39 of 40 
 

.1 that performance is, was or would have been so suspended, delayed or interrupted by 
another cause for which the Contractor is responsible; or 

.2 that an equitable adjustment is made or denied under another provision of the Contract. 
 
§ 14.4 TERMINATION BY THE OWNER FOR CONVENIENCE 
§ 14.4.1 The Owner may, at any time, terminate the Contract for the Owner’s convenience and without 
cause. 
 
§ 14.4.2 Upon receipt of written notice from the Owner of such termination for the Owner’s convenience, 
the Contractor shall 

.1 cease operations as directed by the Owner in the notice; 

.2 take actions necessary, or that the Owner may direct, for the protection and preservation 
of the Work; and 

.3 except for Work directed to be performed prior to the effective date of termination stated 
in the notice, terminate all existing subcontracts and purchase orders and enter into no 
further subcontracts and purchase orders. 

 
§ 14.4.3 Upon such termination, the Contractor shall recover the amounts provided in Section 10.1.3 of 
the Agreement.  
 
ARTICLE 15   CLAIMS AND DISPUTES 
§ 15.1 CLAIMS 
§ 15.1.1 DEFINITION 
A Claim is a demand or assertion by one of the parties seeking, as a matter of right, payment of money, 
or other relief with respect to the terms of the Contract. The term “Claim” also includes other disputes and 
matters in question between the Owner and Contractor arising out of or relating to the Contract. The 
responsibility to substantiate Claims shall rest with the party making the Claim. 
 
§ 15.1.2 NOTICE OF CLAIMS 
Claims for events arising during the performance of the Work by Contractor must be initiated by written 
notice to the other party with a copy sent to the Architect; provided, however, that the claimant shall use 
its best efforts to furnish the other party, as expeditiously as possible, with notice of any Claim including, 
without limitation, those in connection with concealed or unknown conditions, once such claim is 
recognized, and shall take steps to mitigate the alleged or potential damages, delay, or other adverse 
consequences arising out of the condition that is the cause of such a Claim. Claims by Contractor must 
be initiated within 10 business days after occurrence of the event giving rise to such Claim or within 10 
business days after the claimant first recognizes the condition giving rise to the Claim, whichever is later. 
Claims may also be reserved in writing within the time limits set forth in this Section 15.1.2.  Any notice of 
Claim or reservation of Claim must clearly identify the alleged cause and the nature of the Claim and 
include data and information available to the claimant that will facilitate prompt verification and evaluation 
of the Claim.  
 
§ 15.1.3 CONTINUING CONTRACT PERFORMANCE 
Pending final resolution of a Claim, except as otherwise agreed in writing or as provided in Section 9.7 
and Article 14, the Contractor shall proceed diligently with performance of the Contract and the Owner 
shall continue to make payments in accordance with the Contract Documents. The Architect will prepare 
Change Orders and issue Certificates for Payment in accordance with the Contract Documents.  
 
§ 15.1.4 CLAIMS FOR ADDITIONAL COST 
If the Contractor wishes to make a Claim for an increase in the Contract Sum, written notice as provided 
herein shall be given before proceeding to execute the Work. Prior notice is not required for Claims 
relating to an emergency endangering life or property arising under Section 10.4. 
 
§ 15.1.5 CLAIMS FOR ADDITIONAL TIME 

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 416



Page 40 of 40 
 

§ 15.1.5.1 If the Contractor wishes to make a Claim for an increase in the Contract Time, written notice as 
provided herein shall be given. The Contractor’s Claim shall include an estimate of cost and of probable 
effect of delay on progress of the Work. In the case of a continuing delay, only one Claim is necessary. 
 
§ 15.1.5.2 If adverse weather conditions are the basis for a Claim for additional time, such Claim shall be 
documented by data substantiating that weather conditions were abnormal for the period of time, could 
not have been reasonably anticipated and had an adverse effect on the scheduled construction. 
 
§ 15.3 MEDIATION 
§ 15.3.1 Claims, disputes, or other matters in controversy arising out of or related to the Contract except 
those waived shall be subject to mediation as a condition precedent to seeking redress in a court of 
competent jurisdiction.  
 
§ 15.3.2 The parties shall endeavor to resolve their Claims by mediation, which shall consist of a single 
mediator who is knowledgeable about the subject matter of the Agreement.  A request for mediation shall 
be made in writing, delivered to the other party to the Contract. 
 
§ 15.3.3 The parties shall share the mediator’s fee and any filing fees equally. The mediation shall be 
held in Williamson County, Texas. Agreements reached in mediation shall be enforceable as settlement 
agreements in any court having jurisdiction thereof.  
 
§15.3.4 All disputes not resolved through mediation shall be decided in litigation in Williamson County, 
Texas. 
 
§ 15.3.5 No waiver of Immunity.  Nothing in the Contract Documents shall be deemed to waive, modify or 
amend any legal defense available at law or in equity to Owner, its past or present officers, employees, or 
agents, nor to create any legal rights or claim on behalf of any third party.  Owner does not waive, modify, 
or alter to any extent whatsoever the availability of the defense of governmental immunity under the laws 
of the State of Texas and of the United States. 
 

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 417



Page 1 of 21 

 
 

AGREEMENT 
BETWEEN OWNER AND CONTRACTOR 

 
 

The Owner:   Williamson County 
    710 Main Street, Ste. 101 
    Georgetown, Texas 78626 
     
and Contractor  __________________________ 

__________________________    
__________________________ _______________ 

     
 
for the Project:  Williamson County Texas Avenue Facility 

(RFP 1701-139 WCCHD Office Renovations)  
355 Texas Avenue 
Round Rock, Texas 

        
 
Architect:   Haddon+Cowan Architects 

2301 E. Riverside Drive 
Building A, Suite 80 
Austin, Texas 78741 
 

AGREEMENT, this Agreement Between Owner and Contractor (hereinafter called 
“Agreement”) is entered into effective as of the date indicated herein below and all 
attachments (the “Effective Date”), by and between Williamson County a political 
subdivision of the State of Texas (hereinafter called the “Owner”) and 
_________________________ (hereinafter called “Contractor”). 
 
WHEREAS, the Owner desires to retain a Contractor for the Williamson County Texas 
Avenue Facility [RFP 1701-139 WCCHD Office Renovations] (hereinafter called the 
“Project”),  
 
WHEREAS, the Owner desires a Contractor who will render, diligently and competently 
in accordance with the highest standards used in the profession, all Contractor services 
which shall be necessary or advisable for the expeditious, economical and satisfactory 
completion of the Project, and 

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 418



  

 
NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual undertakings herein contained, the 
parties hereto agree as follows: 
 
ARTICLE 1  SCOPE OF WORK 
 
The Contractor has overall responsibility for and shall provide complete construction 
services and furnish all materials, equipment, tools and labor as necessary or reasonably 
inferable to complete the Work, or any phase of the Work, in accordance with the 
Specifications and Drawings for the Project and the Owner’s requirements. The 
Specifications and Drawings were prepared for Williamson County by the Architect. The 
Contractor shall do everything required by the Contract Documents. 
 
ARTICLE 2  CONTRACT DOCUMENTS 

 
2.1 The Contract Documents consist of the following, which are incorporated by 

reference for all purposes: 
 
a. This Agreement and all exhibits and attachments listed, contained or 

referenced in this Agreement; 
b. The Uniform General Conditions for Williamson County (“General Conditions”); 
c. The Supplementary or Special Conditions, if any; 
d. All Addenda issued prior to the Effective Date of this Agreement; 
e. The Bid/Proposal Documents as defined by the Invitation for Bidders/Request 

for Proposals; 
f. All Change Orders issued after the Effective Date of this Agreement;  
g. Minimum Insurance Coverages and Minimum Coverage Amounts, which is 

attached here to as Exhibit 1;  
h. Williamson County Vendor Reimbursement Policy, which is attached here to 

as Exhibit 2; and 
i. The Drawings, Specifications, details and other documents developed by 

Architect to describe the Project and accepted by Owner, which are attached 
hereto Exhibit 3. 
 

2.2 The Contract Documents form the entire and integrated Contract and Agreement 
between Owner and Contractor and supersede all prior negotiations, representations or 
agreements, written or oral.  Contractor acknowledges receipt of all Contract Documents 
as of the date of its execution hereof. 
 
2.3 The term “Contractor” shall be interchangeable with the terms “Proposer,” “Bidder,” 
Respondent” and “General Contractor” or other similar terms as appropriate in the Contract 
Documents. 
 
ARTICLE 3  CONTRACT TIME 
 
The Owner shall provide a Notice to Proceed in which a date for commencement of the 

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 419



  

work shall be started. The Contractor shall achieve Substantial Completion of the Work 
within One Hundred Eighty (180) calendar days after such commencement date, as such 
completion date may be extended by approved Change Orders.  Unless otherwise 
specified in writing, Contractor shall achieve Final Completion within Thirty (30) calendar 
days of Substantial Completion.  The time set forth for completion of the work is an 
essential element of the Contract. 

 
ARTICLE 4  CONTRACTOR REPRESENTATIONS 
 
4.1 In order to induce Owner to enter into this Agreement, Contractor makes 

the following representations: 
 

A. Contractor has examined and carefully studied the Contract 
Documents and the other related data identified in the Bid/Proposal 
Documents. 
 

B. Contractor has visited the Site and become familiar with and is 
satisfied as to the general, local, and Site conditions that may affect 
cost, progress, and performance of the Work. 
 

C. Contractor is familiar with and is satisfied as to all federal, state, and 
local laws and regulations that may affect cost, progress, and 
performance of the Work. 

 
D. Contractor has considered the information known to Contractor; 

information commonly known to contractors doing business in the 
locality of the Site; information and observations obtained from visits 
to the Site; the Contract Documents; and the Site-related reports and 
drawings identified in the Contract Documents, with respect to the 
effect of such information, observations, and documents on (1) the 
cost, progress, and performance of the Work; (2) the means, 
methods, techniques, sequences, and procedures of construction to 
be employed by Contractor, including any specific means, methods, 
techniques, sequences, and procedures of construction expressly 
required by the Contract Documents; and (3) Contractor’s safety 
precautions and programs.  

 
E. Based on the information and observations referred to in Paragraph 

4.1.D above, Contractor does not consider that further examinations, 
investigations, explorations, tests, studies, or data are necessary for 
the performance of the Work at the Contract Price, within the 
Contract Times, and in accordance with the other terms and 
conditions of the Contract Documents. 

 

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 420



  

F. Contractor is aware of the general nature of work to be performed by 
Owner and others at the Site that relates to the Work as indicated in 
the Contract Documents. 

 
G. Contractor has given Architect written notice of all conflicts, errors, 

ambiguities, or discrepancies that Contractor has discovered in the 
Contract Documents, and the written resolution thereof by Architect 
is acceptable to Contractor. 

 
H. The Contract Documents are generally sufficient to indicate and 

convey understanding of all terms and conditions for performance 
and furnishing of the Work. 

 
 

ARTICLE 5 THE CONTRACT PRICE; OWNER’S CONSTRUCTION CONTINGENCY  
 
5.1 Contract Price.  Owner shall pay Contractor for completion of the Work in 
accordance with the Contract Documents a lump sum amount of:  

$_____________________ 
 

5.2 Contract Payments.  Method and terms of payment of the Contract Price shall be 
in accordance with the Contract Documents. 
 
5.3 Owner’s Construction Contingency.  The following lump sum amount shall 
serve as the Owner’s Construction Contingency from which changes in the Work are to 
be paid in accordance with the General Conditions:   
 
$___________________ 
 
The Owner’s Construction Contingency is controlled solely by the Owner.  Expenditures 
from the Owner’s Construction Contingency must be made by Change Order issued by 
the Architect and approved by the Owner in accordance with the General Conditions.  
Contractor shall not be entitled to any compensation from the any unused amounts of the 
Owner’s Construction Contingency. 
 
ARTICLE 6  TIME 

 
6.1 TIME LIMITS STATED IN THE CONTRACT DOCUMENTS ARE OF THE ESSENCE OF THIS 

AGREEMENT.   
 
6.2 Unless otherwise approved in writing, the Owner and the Contractor shall perform 
their respective obligations under the Contract Documents as expeditiously as is consistent 
with reasonable skill and care and the orderly progress of the Work. 
 
6.3 Liquidated Damages.  Contractor and Owner recognize that time is of the 
essence and that Owner will suffer financial loss if the Work is not completed within the 

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 421



  

times specified in Article 3 above, plus any extensions thereof allowed in accordance with 
the General Conditions. The parties also recognize the delays, expense, and difficulties 
involved in proving in a legal proceeding the actual loss suffered by Owner if the Work is 
not completed on time.  Accordingly, instead of requiring any such proof, for each 
consecutive calendar day after the date of Substantial Completion that the Work is not 
substantially completed, the Owner may deduct the amount of: 
 

Five Hundred Dollars per calendar day ($500.00/calendar day) 

from any money due or that becomes due the Contractor, not as a penalty but as 
liquidated damages representing the parties' estimate at the time of contract execution of 
the damages that the Owner will sustain for late completion.  The parties stipulate and 
agree that calculating Owner’s actual damages for late completion of the Project would 
be impractical, unduly burdensome, and cause unnecessary delay and that the amounts 
of daily liquidated damages set forth are reasonable.  Contractor expressly agrees that 
the amounts of daily liquidated damages are a reasonable forecast of the actual damages 
Owner will incur due to any such delay. 
 
ARTICLE 7  NOTICES 

 
Notices of claims, disputes or other legal notices shall be in writing and shall be deemed to 
have been given when delivered in person to the representative of the Contractor or Owner 
for whom it is intended, as set out below or sent by U. S. Mail to the representative of the 
Contractor or Owner for whom it is intended, as set out below.  Mail notices are deemed 
effective upon receipt or on the third business day after the date of mailing, whichever is 
sooner.   
 
If to Owner:  Williamson County Judge 
  710 Main Street, Ste. 101 
  Georgetown, Texas 78626 
 
  
 
with copy to:  Hal C. Hawes 
  General Counsel to the  
  Williamson County Commissioners Court 
  710 Main Street, Suite 102 
  Georgetown, Texas 78626 

 
If to Contractor:   __________________________ 

__________________________ 
__________________________ _________ 
 

 
The parties may make reasonable changes in the person or place designated for receipt 
of notices upon advance written notice to the other party. 

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 422



  

 
ARTICLE 8  PARTY REPRESENTATIVES 
 
The Owner’s Designated Representative (sometimes referred to as the “ODR”) authorized 
to act in the Owner's behalf with respect to the Project is: 
 

Bob Lubecker, Project Manager 
Williamson County Facilities 
3101 SE Inner Loop 
Georgetown, TX 78626 
Phone: 512-943-1625 

 
 
The Contractor’s designated representative authorized to act on the Contractor’s behalf 
and bind the Contractor with respect to the Project is: 
 

__________________________ 
__________________________ 
__________________________ _________ 

 Phone (512) _____________ 
 Fax (512) _______________ 

 
The parties may make reasonable changes in their designated representatives upon 
advance written notice to the other party. 
 
ARTICLE 9  ENTIRE AGREEMENT 
 
This Agreement supersedes all prior agreements, written or oral, between Contractor and 
Owner and shall constitute the entire agreement and understanding between the parties 
with respect to the Project. This Agreement and the terms of the Contact Documents shall 
be binding upon the parties and may not be waived, modified, amended or altered except 
by a writing signed by Contractor and Owner. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 423



  

 
 
BY SIGNING BELOW, the Parties have executed and bound themselves to this Agreement 
to be effective as of the date of the last party’s execution below (the “Effective Date”). 
 
WILLIAMSON COUNTY 
Williamson County, Texas, 
 

 ________________________, a 
Texas _______________________, 

By:      
               
Printed Name:       
 
Title:          
 
Date:  _________________ ____, 20____ 
 

By:      
               
Printed Name:       
 
Title:          
 
Date:  _________________ ____, 20____ 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 424



  

EXHIBIT 1 
 

Minimum Insurance Coverages  

and  

Minimum Coverage Amounts 

 
A. All policies of insurance provided by the Contractor must comply with the requirements 

of this Exhibit, the Contract Documents and the laws of the State of Texas. 
 
B. The Contractor shall provide and maintain, until the Work covered in the Agreement 

Between Owner and Contractor is completed and accepted by the Owner, the 
minimum insurance coverages in the minimum amounts as described below.  
Coverage shall be written on an occurrence basis by companies authorized and 
admitted to do business in the State of Texas and rated A- or better by A.M. Best 
Company, or otherwise acceptable to Owner. 

 
  Type of Coverage    Limits of Liability 

 
1. Worker's Compensation   Statutory 
 
2. Employer's Liability 

Bodily Injury by Accident   $500,000 Ea. Accident 
Bodily Injury by Disease   $500,000 Ea. Employee 
Bodily Injury by Disease   $500,000 Policy Limit 

 
3. Comprehensive general liability including completed operations and 

contractual liability insurance for bodily injury, death, or property damages 
in the following amounts: 

 
COVERAGE    PER OCCURRENCE 
 
Comprehensive   
General Liability    $1,000,000 
(including premises, 
completed operations 
and contractual)    

   
Aggregate policy limits:   $2,000,000 

 
4. Comprehensive automobile and auto liability insurance (covering owned, 

hired, leased and non-owned vehicles): 
 

COVERAGE   PER PERSON       PER OCCURRENCE 
   

Bodily injury  
(including death)    $1,000,000  $1,000,000 

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 425



  

 
Property damage       $1,000,000  $1,000,000 

   
Aggregate policy limits   No aggregate limit 

 
5. Builder’s Risk Insurance (all risks) 

An all risk policy, in the amount equal at all times to 100% of the Contract 
Price or Contract Sum. The policy shall be issued in the name of the 
Contractor and shall name its Subcontractors as additional insureds.  The 
Owner shall be named as a loss payee on the policy.  The builders risk 
policy shall have endorsements as follow: 
 
a. This insurance shall be specific as to coverage and not considered 
as contributing insurance with any permanent insurance maintained on the 
present premises.  If off-site storage is permitted, coverage shall include 
transit and storage in an amount sufficient to protect property being 
transported or stored. 
 
b. This insurance shall be on an “all-risk” or equivalent policy form and 
shall include, without limitation, insurance against the perils of fire (with 
extended coverage) and physical loss or damage including, without 
duplication of coverage, caused by certified acts of terrorism as defined in 
the Terrorism Risk Insurance Act, theft, vandalism, malicious mischief, 
collapse, earthquake, flood, windstorm, falsework, testing and startup, 
temporary buildings and debris removal including demolition occasioned by 
enforcement of any applicable legal requirements, and shall cover 
reasonable compensation for Architect’s and Contractor’s services and 
expenses required as a result of such insured loss as well as coverage for 
building materials while in transit or building materials suitably stored at a 
temporary location. Property insurance provided by the Contractor shall not 
cover any tools, apparatus, machinery, scaffolding, hoists, forms, staging, 
shoring, and other similar items commonly referred to as construction 
equipment that may be on the site and the capital value of which is not 
included in the Work. The Contractor shall make its own arrangements for 
any insurance it may require on such construction equipment. Any such 
policy obtained by the Contractor under this section shall include a waiver 
of subrogation in accordance with the requirements of Section 11.3.4 of the 
General Conditions. 
 
C. For renovation projects and or portions of work contained within an 
existing structure, the Owner waives subrogation for damage by fire to 
existing building structure(s), if the Builder’s Risk Policy has been endorsed 
to include coverage for existing building structure(s) in the amount 
described in the Special Conditions.  However, Contractor shall not be 
required to obtain such an endorsement unless specifically required by the 

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 426



  

Special Conditions in the Contract Documents.  The aforementioned waiver 
of subrogation shall not be effective unless such endorsement is obtained. 

 
6. Flood insurance when specified in Supplementary General Conditions or 

Special Conditions. 
 
7. Umbrella coverage in the amount of not less than $5,000,000. 

 
 
C. Workers' Compensation Insurance Coverage: 
 

a. Definitions: 
 

(1) Certificate of coverage ("certificate") - A copy of a certificate of 
insurance, a certificate of authority to self-insure issued by the Texas 
Workers' Compensation Commission, or a coverage agreement (TWCC-
81, TWCC-82, TWCC-83, or TWCC-84), showing statutory workers' 
compensation insurance coverage for the person's or entity's employees 
providing services on a project, for the duration of the Project. 
(2) Duration of the Project - includes the time from the beginning of the 
work on the Project until the Contractor's/person's work on the Project has 
been completed and accepted by the Owner. 
(3) Coverage – Workers’ compensation insurance meeting the statutory 
requirements of the Texas Labor Code, §401.011(44). 
(4) Persons providing services on the Project ("subcontractor") - 
includes all persons or entities performing all or part of the services the 
Contractor has undertaken to perform on the Project, regardless of whether 
that person contracted directly with the Contractor and regardless of 
whether that person has employees. This includes, without limitation, 
independent contractors, subcontractors, leasing companies, motor 
carriers, owner-operators, employees of any such entity, or employees of 
any entity which furnishes persons to provide services on the Project.  
"Services" include, without limitation, providing, hauling, or delivering 
equipment or materials, or providing labor, transportation, or other service 
related to a project.  "Services" does not include activities unrelated to the 
Project, such as food/beverage vendors, office supply deliveries, and 
delivery of portable toilets. 
 

b. The Contractor shall provide coverage, based on proper reporting of 
classification codes and payroll amounts and filing of any coverage 
agreements, which meets the statutory requirements of Texas Labor Code, 
§401.011(44) for all employees of the Contractor providing services on the 
Project, for the duration of the Project. 

c. The Contractor must provide a certificate of coverage prior to execution of the 
Agreement Between Owner and Contractor, and in no event later than ten (10) 

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 427



  

days from Notice of Award.  Failure to provide the insurance in a timely fashion 
may result in loss of Contractor’s bid bond. 

d. If the coverage period shown on the Contractor’s current certificate of coverage 
ends during the duration of the Project, the Contractor must, prior to the end of 
the coverage period, file a new certificate of coverage with the Owner showing 
that coverage has been extended. 

e. The Contractor shall obtain from each person providing services on a project, 
and provide to the Owner: 

 
(1) a certificate of coverage, prior to that person beginning work on the 
Project, so the Owner will have on file certificates of coverage showing 
coverage for all persons providing services on the Project; and 
(2) no later than seven days after receipt by the Contractor, a new 
certificate of coverage showing extension of coverage, if the coverage 
period shown on the current certificate of coverage ends during the duration 
of the Project. 

 
f. The Contractor shall retain all required certificates of coverage for the duration 

of the Project and for one year thereafter. 
g. The Contractor shall notify the Owner in writing by certified mail or personal 

delivery, within 10 days after the Contractor knew or should have known, of any 
change that materially affects the provision of coverage of any person providing 
services on the Project. 

h. The Contractor shall post on each project site a notice, in the text, form and 
manner prescribed by the Texas Workers’ Compensation Commission, 
informing all persons providing services on the Project that they are required to 
be covered, and stating how a person may verify coverage and report lack of 
coverage. 

 
i. The Contractor shall contractually require each person with who it contracts to 

provide services on a project, to: 
 

(1) provide coverage, based on proper reporting of classification codes 
and payroll amounts and filing of any coverage agreements, which meets 
the statutory requirements of Texas labor Code, Section 401.011(44) for all 
of its employees providing services on the Project, for the duration of the 
Project; 
(2) provide to the Contractor, prior to that person beginning work on the 
Project, a certificate of coverage showing that coverage is being provided 
for all employees of the person providing services on the Project, for the 
duration of the Project; 
(3) provide the Contractor, prior to the end of the coverage period, a new 
certificate of coverage showing extension of coverage, if the coverage 
period shown on the current certificate of coverage ends during the duration 
of the Project; 

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 428



  

(4) obtain from each other person with whom it contracts, and provide to 
the Contractor: 

 
a. a certificate of coverage, prior to the other person beginning 
work on the Project; and 
b. a new certificate of coverage showing extension of coverage, 
prior to the end of the coverage period, if the coverage period shown 
on the current certificate of coverage ends during the duration of the 
Project; 

 
(5) retain all required certificate of coverage on file for the duration of the 
Project and for one year thereafter; 
(6) notify the Owner in writing by certified mail or personal delivery, 
within 10 days after the person knew or should have known, of any change 
that materially affects the provision of coverage of any person providing 
services on the Project; and 
(7) contractually require each person with whom it contracts, to perform 
as required by paragraphs (1)-(7), with the certificates of coverage to be 
provided to the person for whom they are providing services. 

 
j. By signing the Agreement Between Owner and Contractor or providing or 

causing to be provided a certificate of coverage, the Contractor is representing 
to the Owner that all employees of the Contractor who will provide services on 
the Project will be covered by workers' compensation coverage for the duration 
of the Project, that the coverage will be based on proper reporting of 
classification codes and payroll amounts, and that all coverage agreements will 
be filed with the appropriate insurance carrier or, in the case of a self-insured, 
with the commission's Division of Self-Insurance Regulation.  Providing false 
or misleading information may subject the Contractor to administrative 
penalties, criminal penalties, civil penalties, or other civil actions. 

k. The Contractor's failure to comply with any of these provisions is a breach of 
contract by the Contractor which entitles the Owner to declare the Agreement 
Between Owner and Contractor void if the Contractor does not remedy the 
breach within ten days after receipt of notice of breach from the Owner. 

 
 
D. If insurance policies are not written for the amounts specified in this Exhibit, Contractor 

shall carry Umbrella or Excess Liability Insurance for any differences in amounts 
specified.  If Excess Liability Insurance is provided, it shall follow the form of primary 
coverage. 

 
E. The furnishing of the above listed insurance coverage, as may be modified by the 

Contract Documents, must be tendered prior to execution of the Agreement Between 
Owner and Contractor, and in no event later than ten (10) days from Notice of Award.  
Failure to provide the insurance in a timely fashion may result in loss of Contractor’s 
bid bond. 

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 429



  

 
F. Owner shall be entitled, upon request and without expense, to receive copies of the 

policies and all endorsements as they apply to the limits set out in this Exhibit. 
 
G. Contractor shall be responsible for payment of premiums for all of the insurance 

coverages required under this Exhibit. Contractor further agrees that for each claim, 
suit or action made against insurance provided hereunder, with respect to all matters 
for which the Contractor is responsible hereunder, Contractor shall be solely 
responsible for all deductibles and self-insured retentions. Any deductibles or self-
insured retentions over $75,000 in the Contractor’s insurance must be declared and 
approved in writing by Owner in advance. 

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 430



Version January 18, 2017  

 
Exhibit 2 

 
Williamson County 

 Vendor Reimbursement Policy 
 

The purpose of this Williamson County Vendor Reimbursement Policy (“Policy”) is 
to provide clear guidelines to vendors on Williamson County’s expectations and 
requirements regarding allowable reimbursable expenditures and required backup.  
The Policy will also minimize conflicts related to invoice payments and define non-
reimbursable items. This Policy is considered a guideline and is not a contract.   
 
This Policy may be altered, deleted or amended, at any time and without prior notice 
to vendors, by action of the Williamson County Commissioners Court. 
Unenforceable provisions of this Policy, as imposed by applicable law, regulations, 
or judicial decisions, shall be deemed to be deleted.  Any revisions to this Policy will 
be distributed to all current vendors doing business with the County. 

 
1. Invoices and Affidavits 

1.1 Invoices must adequately describe the goods or services provided to 
County and include all required backup (i.e. reimbursable expenses, 
mileage log, timesheets, receipts detailing expenses incurred etc.) that is 
in a form acceptable to the Williamson County Auditor. Invoices that do 
not adequately describe the goods or services provided to County or 
contain backup that is satisfactory to the Williamson County Auditor will 
be returned to vendor for revisions and the provision above relating to 
invoice errors resolved in favor of the County shall control as to the 
required actions of vendor and when such invoice must be paid by the 
County. 

1.2 In the event an invoice includes charges based upon hourly billing rates 
for services or any other rates based upon the amount of time worked by 
an individual or individuals in performing services, whether the charges 
are being billed directly to the County or whether they are the basis of 
invoices from subcontractors for which the vendor seeks reimbursement 
from the County, the charges shall be accompanied by an affidavit signed 
by an officer or principal of the vendor certifying that the work was 
performed, it was authorized by the County and that all information 
contained in the invoice that is being submitted is true and correct. 

1.3 Upon County’s request, vendor must submit all bills paid affidavits 
wherein vendor must swear and affirm that vendor has paid each of its 
subcontractors, laborers, suppliers and material in full for all labor and 
materials provided to vendor for or in connection with services and work 
performed for County and, further, vendor must swear and affirm that 
vendor is not aware of any unpaid bills, claims, demands, or causes of 
action by any of its subcontractors, laborers, suppliers, or material for or 

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 431



Version January 18, 2017  

in connection with the furnishing of labor or materials, or both, for services 
and work performed for County.   
 

2. Travel Reimbursement 
2.1 The County will only cover costs associated with travel on vendors outside 

a 50 mile radius from Williamson County, Texas. 
2.2 The County will only cover costs associated with travel as documented 

work for County. If a vendor is also doing business for another client, the 
travel costs must be split in proportion to the amount of work actually 
performed for County and the other client. The only allowable travel 
expense will be for the specific days worked for Williamson County. 

2.3 No advance payments will be made to vendor for travel expenditures. The 
travel expenditure may only be reimbursed after the expenditure/trip has 
already occurred and vendor has provided the Williamson County Auditor 
with all necessary and required backup. 

2.4 Vendors must submit all travel reimbursement requests on each 
employee in full.  Specifically, a travel reimbursement request must 
include all related travel reimbursement expenses relating to a particular 
trip for which vendor seeks reimbursement.  Partial travel reimbursement 
requests will not be accepted (i.e. vendor should not submit hotel and 
mileage one month then the next month submit rental car and airfare).  If 
the travel reimbursement appears incomplete, the invoice will be sent 
back to the vendor to be submitted when all information is ready to submit 
in full. 

2.5 Reimbursement for transportation costs will be at the most reasonable 
means of transportation (i.e.: airline costs will be reimbursed for coach 
rate, rental car costs will only be reimbursed if rental car travel was most 
reasonable means of travel as compared to travel by air). 

2.6 The County will not be responsible for, nor will the County reimburse 
additional charges due to personal preference or personal convenience 
of individual traveling. 

2.7 The County will not reimburse airfare costs if airfare costs were higher 
than costs of mileage reimbursement.  

2.8 Additional expenses associated with travel that is extended to save costs 
(i.e. Saturday night stay) may be reimbursed if costs of airfare would  be 
less than the cost of additional expenses (lodging, meals, car rental, 
mileage) if the trip had not been extended. Documentation satisfactory to 
the Williamson County Auditor will be required to justify expenditure. 

2.9 County will only reimburse travel expense to necessary personnel of the 
vendor (i.e. no spouse, friends or family members). 

2.10 Except as otherwise set forth herein, a vendor must provide a paid receipt 
for all expenses. If a receipt cannot be obtained, a written sworn 
statement of the expense from the vendor may be substituted for the 
receipt.  

2.11 Sales tax for meals and hotel stays are the only sales taxes that will be 
reimbursed.  Sales tax on goods purchased will not be reimbursed.  A 

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 432



Version January 18, 2017  

sales tax exemption form is available from the Williamson County 
Auditor’s Office upon request. 

2.12 The County will not pay for any late charges on reimbursable items. It is 
the responsibility of the vendor to pay the invoice first and seek 
reimbursement from the County. 
 

3. Meals 
3.1 Meal reimbursements are limited to a maximum of $50.00 per day on 

overnight travel.  On day travel (travel that does not require an overnight 
stay), meal reimbursements are limited to a maximum of $20.00 per day. 
The travel must be outside the Williamson County, Texas line by a 50 mile 
radius. 

3.2 Receipts are required on meal reimbursement amounts up to the 
maximum per day amount stated for overnight or day travel. If receipts 
are not presented, the vendor can request per diem (per diem limits refer 
to 3.2). However, a vendor cannot combine per diem and meal receipts. 
Only one method shall be allowed. 

3.3 Meals are reimbursable only for vendors who do not have the necessary 
personnel located within a 50 mile radius of Williamson County, Texas 
that are capable of carrying the vendor’s obligations to County.  Meals will 
not be reimbursed to vendors who are located within a 50 mile radius of 
Williamson County, Texas.  

3.4 County will not reimburse for alcoholic beverages.  
3.5 Tips are reimbursable but must be reasonable to limitation of meal 

allowance  
3.6 No meals purchased for entertainment purposes will be allowed. 
3.7 Meal reimbursement must be substantiated with a hotel receipt. 
 
 

 
4. Lodging 

4.1 Hotel accommodations require an itemized hotel folio as a receipt. The 
lodging receipt should include name of the motel/hotel, number of 
occupant(s), goods or services for each individual charge (room rental, 
food, tax, etc.) and the name of the occupant(s). Credit card receipts or 
any other form of receipt are not acceptable. 

4.2 Vendors will be reimbursed for a single room rate charge plus any 
applicable tax. If a single room is not available, the vendor must provide 
documentation to prove that a single room was not available in order to 
justify the expense over and above the single room rate. A vendor may 
also be required to provide additional documentation if a particular room 
rate appears to be excessive. 

4.3 Personal telephone charges, whether local or long distance, will not be 
reimbursed.  
 
 

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 433



Version January 18, 2017  

 
5. Airfare 

5.1 The County will only reimburse up to a coach price fare for air travel. 
5.2 The County will exclude any additional charges due to personal 

preference or personal convenience of the individual traveling (i.e. early 
bird check in, seat preference charges, airline upgrades, etc. will not be 
an allowable reimbursement) 

5.3 Air travel expenses must be supported with receipt copy of an airline ticket 
or an itinerary with actual ticket price paid. If tickets are purchased through 
a website, vendor must submit a copy of the webpage showing the ticket 
price if no paper ticket was issued.  

5.4 Cancellation and/or change flight fees may be reimbursed by the County 
but vendor must provide the Williamson County Auditor with 
documentation in writing from a County department head providing 
authorization for the change.  

5.5 The County will not reimburse vendor for tickets purchased with frequent 
flyer miles. 
 

6. Car Rental 
6.1 Vendors that must travel may rent a car at their destination when it is less 

expensive than other transportation such as taxis, airport shuttles or 
public transportation such as buses or subways. 

6.2 Cars rented must be economy or mid-size. Luxury vehicle rentals will not 
be reimbursed.  Any rental costs over and above the cost of a mid-size 
rental will be adjusted. 

6.3 Vendors will be reimbursed for rental cars if the rental car cost would have 
been less than the mileage reimbursement cost (based on the distance 
from vendor’s point of origin to Williamson County, Texas) had the vendor 
driven vendor’s car. 

6.4 Vendors must return a car rental with appropriate fuel levels as required 
by rental agreement to avoid the car rental company from adding fuel 
charges. 

6.5 Rental agreement and credit card receipt must be provided to County as 
back up for the request for reimbursement. 

6.6 Insurance purchased when renting vehicle may also be reimbursed. 
6.7 Car Rental optional extras such as GPS, roadside assistance, and 

administrative fees on Tolls will not be reimbursed. 
 

7. Personal Car Usage 
7.1 Personal vehicle usage will be reimbursed in an amount equal to the 

standard mileage rate allowed by the IRS. 
7.2 Per code of Federal Regulations, Title 26, Subtitle A, Chapter 1, 

Subchapter B, Part IX, Section 274(d), all expense reimbursement 
requests must include the following: 
7.2.1.1 Date 
7.2.1.2 Destination 

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 434



Version January 18, 2017  

7.2.1.3 Purpose 
7.2.1.4 Name of traveler(s) 
7.2.1.5 Correspondence that verifies business purpose of the 

expense 
7.3 The mileage for a personal vehicle must document the date, location of 

travel to/from, number of miles traveled and purpose of trip. 
7.4 Mileage will be reimbursed on the basis of the most commonly used route. 
7.5 Reimbursement for mileage shall not exceed the cost of a round trip 

coach airfare.  
7.6 Reimbursement for mileage shall be prohibited between place of 

residence and usual place of work. 
7.7 Mileage should be calculated from employee’s regular place of work or 

their residence, whichever is the shorter distance when traveling to a 
meeting or traveling to Williamson County, Texas for vendors who are 
located outside of Williamson County, Texas by at least a 50 mile radius. 

7.8 When more than one person travels in same vehicle, only one person 
may claim mileage reimbursement. 

7.9 Tolls, if reasonable, are reimbursable. Receipts are required for 
reimbursement. If a receipt is not obtainable, then written documentation 
of expense must be submitted for reimbursement (administrative fees on 
Tolls will not be reimbursed). 

7.10 Parking fees, if reasonable are reimbursable for meetings and hotel stays. 
For vendors who contract with a third party for visitor parking at vendor’s 
place of business, Williamson County will not reimburse a vendor based 
on a percentage of its contracted visitor parking fees. Rather, Williamson 
County will reimburse Vendor for visitor parking on an individual basis for 
each time a visitor uses Vendor’s visitor parking. Receipts are required 
for reimbursement.  If a receipt is not obtainable, then written 
documentation of expense must be submitted for reimbursement. 

7.11 Operating and maintenance expenses as well as other personal 
expenses, such as parking tickets, traffic violations, and car repairs and 
collision damage are not reimbursable. 
 

8. Other Expenses 
8.1 Taxi fare, bus tickets, conference registrations, parking, etc. must have a 

proper original receipt.   
 

9. Repayment of Nonreimbursable Expense. 
Vendors must, upon demand, immediately repay County for all inappropriately 
reimbursed expenses whenever an audit or subsequent review of any expense 
reimbursement documentation finds that such expense was reimbursed contrary to 
these guidelines and this Policy. Williamson County reserves the right to retain any 
amounts that are due or that become due to a vendor in order to collect any 
inappropriately reimbursed expenses that a vendor was paid. 
 
 

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 435



Version January 18, 2017  

 
10. Non-Reimbursable Expenses 

In addition to the non-reimbursable items set forth above in this Policy, the 
following is a non-exhaustive list of expenses that will not be reimbursed by 
Williamson County: 
 
10.1 Alcoholic beverages/tobacco products 
10.2 Personal phone calls 
10.3 Laundry service 
10.4 Valet service (excludes hotel valet) 
10.5 Movie rentals 
10.6 Damage to personal items 
10.7 Flowers/plants 
10.8 Greeting cards 
10.9 Fines and/or penalties 
10.10 Entertainment, personal clothing, personal sundries and services  
10.11 Transportation/mileage to places of entertainment or similar personal 

activities 
10.12 Upgrades to airfare, hotel and/or car rental 
10.13 Airport parking above the most affordable rate available 
10.14 Excessive weight baggage fees or cost associated with more than two 

airline bags 
10.15 Auto repairs 
10.16 Babysitter fees, kennel costs, pet or house-sitting fees 
10.17 Saunas, massages or exercise facilities 
10.18 Credit card delinquency fees or service fees 
10.19 Doctor bills, prescription and other medical services 
10.20 Hand tools 
10.21 Safety Equipment (hard hats, safety vests, etc.) 
10.22 Office Supplies 
10.23 Lifetime memberships to any association 
10.24 Donations to other entities 
10.25 Any items that could be construed as campaigning 
10.26 Community outreach items exceeding $2 per item 
10.27 Sales tax on goods purchased 
10.28 Any other expenses which Williamson County deems, in its sole 

discretion, to be inappropriate or unnecessary expenditures. 
 
  
 
 
 

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 436



  

 
 
 
 
 

EXHIBIT 3 –DRAWINGS AND SPECIFICATIONS 
 

FOR 
 

WILLIAMSON COUNTY TEXAS AVENUE FACILITY 
(RFP 1701-139 WCCHD OFFICE RENOVATIONS) 

355 TEXAS AVENUE 
ROUND ROCK, TEXAS 

 
Haddon+Cowan Architects 

2301 E. Riverside Drive 
Building A, Suite 80 
Austin, Texas 78741 

 
LIST OF DRAWINGS 

  
DWG DRAWING TITLE ISSUE DATE 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  
 

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 437



  

TABLE OF CONTENTS 
For 

TECHNICAL SPECIFICATION SECTIONS 
______________________________________________________________________
________ 
 
DIVISION 1  
 

END OF TECHNICAL SPECIFICATIONS 

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 438



55

66

Question and Answers for Bid #1704 -153 - Renovations to 355 Texas Avenue 

Facility in Round Rock, TX 

Overall Bid Questions

There are no questions associated with this bid.   

Bid 1704-153Williamson County, Texas

4/12/2017 10:23 AM p. 439



   

Commissioners Court - Regular Session   24.           
Meeting Date: 04/18/2017  

Animal Shelter Donations BA 04-18-2017
Submitted For: Melanie Denny  Submitted By: Angela Schmidt, County Auditor
Department: County Auditor
Agenda Category: Regular Agenda Items

Information
Agenda Item
Discuss, consider and take appropriate action on an order declaring an emergency and a grave necessity due to
unforeseeable circumstances and approve budget amendment acknowledging additional revenues for Animal
Shelter Donations:

Background
This is for donation collections from January 2017 through March 2017.

Fiscal Impact

From/To Acct No. Description Amount
0546.0000.367404 Animal Shelter Donations $20,278.17

0546.0000.367440 Jane's Fund Donations $18,090.69

0546.0000.367441 ASPCA Donations $0.00

0546.0000.367442 Play Yard Donation $140.00

0546.0000.367443 Heart Worm Trmt Donations $6,791.78

0546.0000.367445 Sit Team Donations $405.00

0546.0000.370150 Sale of Pet Care Products $543.31

Attachments
No file(s) attached.

Form Review
Inbox Reviewed By Date
County Judge Exec Asst. Wendy Coco 04/12/2017 08:51 AM
Form Started By: Angela Schmidt Started On: 04/10/2017 04:07 PM
Final Approval Date: 04/12/2017 



   

Commissioners Court - Regular Session   25.           
Meeting Date: 04/18/2017  

Animal Shelter Donations BA 04-18-2017
Submitted For: Melanie Denny  Submitted By: Angela Schmidt, County Auditor
Department: County Auditor
Agenda Category: Regular Agenda Items

Information
Agenda Item
Discuss, consider and take appropriate action on an order declaring an emergency and a grave necessity due to
unforeseeable circumstances and approve budget amendment acknowledging additional expenditures for the use
of Animal Shelter Donations:

Background
This is for donation collections from January 2017 through March 2017.

Fiscal Impact

From/To Acct No. Description Amount
0546.0546.003510 Purchase for Resale $543.31

0546.0546.003670 Use of Donations $20,278.17

0546.0546.004100 Professional Services $18,090.69

0546.0546.004109 Special Needs $0.00

0546.0546.004232 Training $405.00

0546.0546.004509 Facility Enhancements $140.00

0546.0546.004975 Animal Medical Care $6,791.78

Attachments
No file(s) attached.

Form Review
Inbox Reviewed By Date
County Judge Exec Asst. Wendy Coco 04/12/2017 08:51 AM
Form Started By: Angela Schmidt Started On: 04/10/2017 04:22 PM
Final Approval Date: 04/12/2017 



   

Commissioners Court - Regular Session   26.           
Meeting Date: 04/18/2017  

Park Donations BA 04-18-2017
Submitted For: Melanie Denny  Submitted By: Angela Schmidt, County Auditor
Department: County Auditor
Agenda Category: Regular Agenda Items

Information
Agenda Item
Discuss, consider and take appropriate action on an order declaring an emergency and a grave necessity due to
unforeseeable circumstances and approve budget amendment to acknowledge additional revenues for Park
Donations:

Background
Donations include $271.80 for firewood from various patrons.

Fiscal Impact

From/To Acct No. Description Amount
0100.0000.367403 Park Donations $271.80

Attachments
No file(s) attached.

Form Review
Inbox Reviewed By Date
County Judge Exec Asst. Wendy Coco 04/12/2017 08:51 AM
Form Started By: Angela Schmidt Started On: 04/11/2017 03:49 PM
Final Approval Date: 04/12/2017 



   

Commissioners Court - Regular Session   27.           
Meeting Date: 04/18/2017  

Park Donations BA 04-18-2017
Submitted For: Melanie Denny  Submitted By: Angela Schmidt, County Auditor
Department: County Auditor
Agenda Category: Regular Agenda Items

Information
Agenda Item
Discuss, consider and take appropriate action on an order declaring an emergency and a grave necessity due to
unforeseeable circumstances and approve a budget amendment to acknowledge additional expenditures for Park
Donations:

Background
Donations include $271.80 for firewood from various patrons.

Fiscal Impact

From/To Acct No. Description Amount
0100.0510.003670 Use of Donations $271.80

Attachments
No file(s) attached.

Form Review
Inbox Reviewed By Date
County Judge Exec Asst. Wendy Coco 04/12/2017 08:51 AM
Form Started By: Angela Schmidt Started On: 04/11/2017 03:52 PM
Final Approval Date: 04/12/2017 



   

Commissioners Court - Regular Session   28.           
Meeting Date: 04/18/2017  

Williamson County EMS Trauma Distribution Funds transfer
Submitted For: Michael Knipstein  Submitted By: Theresia Carter, EMS
Department: EMS
Agenda Category: Regular Agenda Items

Information
Agenda Item
Consider an order declaring an emergency and grave necessity due to unforeseeable circumstances and approve a
budget amendment for the Williamson County EMS share of the FY 16 Capital Area Trauma Advisory Council
(CATRAC) Trauma System Funds.

Background
CATRAC Trauma Distribution Funds for FY 16, WCEMS participation in the Department of State Health Services
(DSHS) trauma registry.

Fiscal Impact

From/To Acct No. Description Amount
0100.0000.333220 Payment from Other Entities $25523.18

Attachments
No file(s) attached.

Form Review
Inbox Reviewed By Date
County Judge Exec Asst. Wendy Coco 04/12/2017 09:48 AM
Form Started By: Theresia Carter Started On: 04/12/2017 09:02 AM
Final Approval Date: 04/12/2017 



   

Commissioners Court - Regular Session   29.           
Meeting Date: 04/18/2017  

Williamson County EMS Trauma Distribution funds FY 16
Submitted For: Michael Knipstein  Submitted By: Theresia Carter, EMS
Department: EMS
Agenda Category: Regular Agenda Items

Information
Agenda Item
Discuss, consider and take appropriate action on an order declaring an emergency and a grave necessity due to
unforeseeable circumstances and approve a budget amendment to acknowledge additional expenditures for EMS.

Background
CATRAC trauma distribution funding from FY 16 for participation in the Department of State Health Services
trauma registry.

Fiscal Impact

From/To Acct No. Description Amount
0100.0540.004232 Training, Conf. & Seminars $4400.00

0100.0540.003311 Uniforms $4176.00

0100.0540.005000 Capital Outlay $12779.61

0100.0540.004350 Printed Mat. & Binding $1097.98

0100.0540.003010 Computer Equipment $2313.85

0100.0540.003001 Small Equip & Tools $755.74

Attachments
No file(s) attached.

Form Review
Inbox Reviewed By Date
County Judge Exec Asst. Wendy Coco 04/12/2017 09:48 AM
Form Started By: Theresia Carter Started On: 04/12/2017 09:13 AM
Final Approval Date: 04/12/2017 



   

Commissioners Court - Regular Session   30.           
Meeting Date: 04/18/2017  

Economic Development
Submitted For: Charlie Crossfield  Submitted By: Charlie Crossfield, Road Bond
Department: Road Bond
Agenda Category: Executive Session

Information
Agenda Item
Discussion regarding economic development negotiations pursuant to Texas Government Code, Section 551.087:
a) Business prospect(s) that may locate or expand within Williamson County.
b) Discuss Pearson Road District.
c) Discuss North Woods Road District.
d) Project Columbus Balbo
e) Mega Site

Background

Fiscal Impact

From/To Acct No. Description Amount

Attachments
No file(s) attached.

Form Review
Inbox Reviewed By Date
County Judge Exec Asst. Wendy Coco 04/12/2017 08:51 AM
Form Started By: Charlie Crossfield Started On: 04/12/2017 08:42 AM
Final Approval Date: 04/12/2017 



   

Commissioners Court - Regular Session   31.           
Meeting Date: 04/18/2017  

Executive Session
Submitted For: Charlie Crossfield  Submitted By: Charlie Crossfield, Road Bond
Department: Road Bond
Agenda Category: Executive Session

Information
Agenda Item
Discuss real estate matters (EXECUTIVE SESSION as per VTCA Govt. Code sec. 551.072 Deliberation Regarding
Real Estate Property if deliberation in an open meeting would have a detrimental effect on the position of the
governmental body in negotiations with third person.)
A. Real Estate Owned by Third Parties
1. Preliminary discussions relating to proposed or potential purchase or lease of property owned by third parties
a) Discuss the acquisition of real property for right-of-way for Mays St. Extension 
b) Discuss the acquisition of real property for SW 183 and SH 29 Loop. 
c) Discuss the acquisition of real property for CR 176 at RM 2243
d) Discuss the acquisition of real property with endangered species for mitigation purposes.
e) Discuss the acquisition of real property: CR 101
f) Discuss the acquisition of real property: CR 111
g) Discuss the acquisition of real property for CR 278 at Bagdad Rd.
h) Discuss the acquisition of real property for proposed CR 110 project. (All sections)
i) Discuss the acquisition of real property for County Facilities.
j) Discuss the acquisition of real property on CR 305. 
k) Discuss the acquisition of Easement interests for the Brushy Creek Trail Project. 
l) Discuss acquisition of property located at NEC of Toll 130 and Gattis School Rd. 
m) Discuss the acquisition of a drainage easement for CR 108.
n) Discuss easement acquisitions from San Gabriel River Ranch Subdivision.
o) Discuss the acquisition of real property for CR 258.
p) Discuss the acquisition of real property for Lakeline Blvd.
q) Discuss the acquisition of real property for US 183.
r) Discuss the acquisition of real property for Hairy Man Rd. 
s) Discuss the acquisition of real property for SW Bypass.
t) Discuss the acquisition of real property for Crossroad Acres.

B. Property or Real Estate owned by Williamson County
1). Preliminary discussions relating to proposed or potential sale or lease of property owned by the County
a) Discuss County owned real estate containing underground water rights and interests.
b) Discuss possible sale of 183 A excess right of way
c) Discuss proposed sale of real estate of Blue Springs Blvd
d) Discuss transfer of right of way for Westinghouse Rd. to the City of Georgetown.
e) Discuss wastewater easements in Berry Springs Park
f) Discuss Development Agreement with Ashby Capital Investments, LLC
g) Discuss sale of County property on Ronald Reagan Blvd.
h) Discuss abandonment of County property on CR 123. 

C. Consider intervention in lawsuit regarding de-listing of Bone Cave harvestman. 

Background

Fiscal Impact

From/To Acct No. Description Amount



Attachments
No file(s) attached.

Form Review
Inbox Reviewed By Date
County Judge Exec Asst. Wendy Coco 04/12/2017 08:51 AM
Form Started By: Charlie Crossfield Started On: 04/12/2017 08:41 AM
Final Approval Date: 04/12/2017 


	Agenda
	Compensation Items
	ATT_Comp Item
	Asset Transfer
	ATT_Asset Auction
	ATT_Asset Auction 1
	ATT_Asset Auction 2
	Asset Transfer 4-18-2017
	ATT_Asset Transfer
	Asset Destruction 4-18-2017
	ATT_Asset Destruction
	Vehicle Reimbursement Agreement for County Sheriff
	ATT_City National Bank
	Austin Regional Intelligence Center Interlocal Cooperation Agreement for County Sheriff
	ATT_Original ARIC ILA
	ATT_Original ARIC Sustainment Funding ILA
	ATT_New Amendment Two ARIC ILA
	ATT_New Amendment Two ARIC Sustainment Funding
	ATT_Amendment One ARIC ILA
	ATT_Amendment One ARIC Sustainment Funding
	Road Bond and Pass Through Financing Construction Summary Report
	ATT_April 2017 CSR
	Discuss consider and take appropriate action on the Department of Infrastructure projects and issues update
	Stantec Neenah Avenue Widening Contract Amendment No 1
	ATT_Neenah-Stantec-ContractAmendment1
	ATT_Neenah-Stantec-Supp4WA1
	North Campus Facility - Oncor Easement Agreement
	ATT_Oncor Easement Agreement
	2013 Road Bond Budget Transfer
	ATT_2013 Road Bond Budget Transfer
	CR 258 Contract
	ATT_Tribar Contract
	00376303.PDF
	Binder2.pdf
	Tribar - Exhibit A (00375422xA08F8) (003).PDF
	Tribar - Exhibit B (00375423xA08F8).PDF
	Tribar - Exhibit C (00376252xA08F8).PDF

	Tribar - Exhibit A (00375422xA08F8) (003).PDF
	Tribar - Exhibit C (00376252xA08F8).PDF
	Tribar - Exhibit B (00375423xA08F8).PDF

	CR 101 Contract
	ATT_Anderson Contract
	Advertisement Approval IFB 1704-156 Crack Seal
	ATT_Bid Packet
	Advertisement Approval IFB 1704-157 Milling And Overlay RR Blvd
	ATT_Bid Packet
	Cul-De-Sac Fog Seal
	ATT_Agreement for Construction Svcs - Cul-De-Sac
	ARTICLE 4  SUBSTANTIAL AND FINAL COMPLETION:
	4.1 Commencement of Work.  Contractor shall commence the Work upon instruction to do so from the Owner and Construction shall be deemed to have commenced on the date of such instruction.
	4.2 Substantial Completion. “Substantial Completion” means the stage in the progress of the Work when the Work, or designated portions thereof, may still require minor modifications or adjustments but, in the Owner’s opinion, the Work has progressed t...
	4.3 Final Completion. The Work shall be fully and finally completed on or before TBD (20 days from work authorization); provided, however, Owner may extend said time period in the event bad weather affects the progress of the Work.  Owner shall, at it...
	ARTICLE 5  PAYMENT:
	ARTICLE 6 CONTRACTOR’S GENERAL RESPONSIBILITIES AND COVENANTS:
	ARTICLE 9 BONDS
	ARTICLE 10 TERMINATION
	ARTICLE 11 MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS

	Award Payroll Services for Elections
	ATT_Evins contract
	ATT_scoring
	ATT_summary
	ATT_comparison emp vs contr
	Sungard quotes
	ATT_Sungard 1
	ATT_Sungard 2
	Advertisement for rebid Renovations for 355 Texas Avenue
	ATT_RFP packet
	Animal Shelter Donations BA 04-18-2017
	Animal Shelter Donations BA 04-18-2017
	Park Donations BA 04-18-2017
	Park Donations BA 04-18-2017
	Williamson County EMS Trauma Distribution Funds transfer
	Williamson County EMS Trauma Distribution funds FY 16
	Economic Development
	Executive Session

